
-1-

CITY OF ONTARIO 
DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 

AGENDA 

August 7, 2023

 All documents for public review are on file in the Planning Department located in
City Hall at 303 East “B” St., Ontario, CA  91764 and on the city’s website at 

ontarioca.gov/Agendas/DAB  

MEETING WILL BE HELD AT 1:30 PM IN ONTARIO CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
LOCATED AT 303 East “B” St. 

Scott Ochoa, City Manager 
Scott Murphy, Executive Director, Community Development Agency 
Jennifer McLain Hiramoto, Economic Development Director 
James Caro, Building Official 
Rudy Zeledon, Planning Director  
Khoi Do, City Engineer 
Chief Michael Lorenz, Police Department 
Fire Marshal Paul Ehrman, Fire Department 
Scott Burton, Utilities General Manager 
Angela Magana, Community Improvement Manager 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Citizens wishing to address the Development Advisory Board on any matter that is not on the agenda 
may do so at this time.  Please state your name and address clearly for the record and limit your remarks 
to five minutes. 

Please note that while the Development Advisory Board values your comments, the members cannot 
respond nor take action until such time as the matter may appear on the forthcoming agenda. 

AGENDA ITEMS 



 
 

-2- 

For each of the items listed below the public will be provided an opportunity to speak. After a staff report is 
provided, the chairperson will open the public hearing. At that time the applicant will be allowed five (5) minutes 
to make a presentation on the case. Members of the public will then be allowed five (5) minutes each to speak.  
The Development Advisory Board may ask the speakers questions relative to the case and the testimony provided.  
The question period will not count against your time limit. After all persons have spoken, the applicant will be 
allowed three minutes to summarize or rebut any public testimony. The chairperson will then close the public 
hearing portion of the hearing and deliberate the matter. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS 
 
A. MINUTES APPROVAL 
 

Development Advisory Board Minutes of July 17, 2023, approved as written. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS  

 
B. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR 

FILE NO. PDEV21-041: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct 362 
multiple-family dwellings, consisting of 182 Motor Court homes and 180 Rowtown homes 
on 22.2 acres of land located at the southeast corner of Ontario Ranch Road and Archibald 
Avenue, within Planning Area 7 (PA-7) and Planning Area 8 (PA-8) of the Grand Park 
Specific Plan. The environmental impacts of this project were previously analyzed in the 
Grand Park Specific Plan (PSP12-001) Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse 
No. 2012061057), certified by City Council on January 21, 2014. This application 
introduces no new significant environmental impacts. All previously adopted mitigation 
measures shall be a condition of project approval and are incorporated herein by reference. 
The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International 
Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the 
Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP). The project site is 
also located within the Airport Influence area of Chino Airport and is consistent with the 
policies and criteria set forth within the 2011 California Airport Land Use Planning 
Handbook published by the California Department of Transportation, Division of 
Aeronautics (APNs: 0218-241-51, 0218-241-52, 0218-241-53 and 0218-241-54); 
submitted by Lennar Homes of California, Inc. Planning Commission action is 
required. 

 
1. CEQA Determination    

 
No action necessary – use of previous EIR 
       

2. File No. PDEV21-041  (Development Plan) 
 

Motion to recommend Approval/Denial 
 

C. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT, TENTATIVE TRACT MAP AND 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE NOS. PMTT22-018 AND PDEV22-
026: A public hearing to consider: [1] Tentative Tract Map No. 20557 (File No. PMTT22-
018) subdividing 3.9 acres of land into a single parcel for condominium purposes; and [2] 
a Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-026) for the construction of 70 multiple-family 
dwellings located at 2037 and 2055 South Fern Avenue, within the MDR-18 (Medium 
Density Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) zoning district. The project is categorically 
exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 



 
 

-3- 

pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, In-fill Development Projects) of the CEQA 
Guidelines. The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and 
criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan.; (APNs: 1050-
591-01 and 1050-591-02) submitted by Melia Homes. Planning Commission action is 
required. 

 
1. CEQA Determination    

 
No action necessary – Exempt:  CEQA Guidelines Section § 15332  
  

2. File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 (Tentative Tract Map and 
Development Plan)  

 
Motion to recommend Approval/Denial 
 

D. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR 
FILE NO. PDEV22-027: A public hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct 
346 apartment units and 5,400 square feet of commercial space on 9.4 acres of land, located 
at the northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Avenue, within the Mixed Use – 
Neighborhood Hub 8e – Euclid and Walnut (MU-NH 8e) zoning district. An Addendum 
to The Ontario Plan 2050 Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (State 
Clearinghouse No. 2021070364), which was certified by the City Council on August 16, 
2022, was prepared. This application introduces no new significant environmental impacts. 
The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International 
Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the 
Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APNs: 1051-271-67, 1051-
271-06, and 1051-271-66) submitted by Legacy/Collier Residential LLC. Planning 
Commission action is required. 

 
1. CEQA Determination    

 
Motion to recommend Approval/Denial the use of an Addendum to a previous EIR 

     
2. File No. PDEV22-027 (Development Plan)  

 
        Motion to recommend Approval/Denial 
 
E. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR 

FILE NO. PDEV22-050: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct one 
industrial building totaling 167,174 square feet on 6.98 acres of land located at 1600 East 
Francis Street, within the General Industrial (IG) zoning district. An Addendum to The 
Ontario Plan 2050 Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 
2021070364), certified by the City Council on August 16, 2022, was prepared. This 
application introduces no new significant environmental impacts. The proposed project is 
located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and was 
evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Ontario 
International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP); (APNs: 113-381-03, 113-
381-04, 113-381-05 & 113-381-06) submitted by DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway, 
LLC. Planning Commission action is required. 

 





 

CITY OF ONTARIO 

Development Advisory Board 

Minutes 

July 17, 2023 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 

Rudy Zeledon, Chairman, Planning Department  
Elda Zavala, Community Improvement 
Karen Khukoyan, Economic Development Agency 
Khoi Do, Engineering Department 
Paul Ehrman, Fire Department  
Christy Stevens, Municipal Utilities Company  
Heather Lugo, Police Department  

BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT 

James Caro, Building Department 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT 

Raymond Lee, Engineering Department Fred Addison, Engineering Department 
Gwen Berendsen, Planning Department Angela Truong, Engineering Department 
Lorena Mejia, Planning Department Kim Ruddins, Planning Department 
Jeff Tang, Engineering Department Edmelynne Hutter, Planning Department 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

No person from the public wished to speak. 

CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS 

A. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Motion to approve the minutes of the June 19, 2023 meeting of the
Development Advisory Board was made by Mr. Ehrman; seconded by Ms. Stevens; and approved
unanimously by those present (7-0).

PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 

B. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE
NO. PDEV21-048: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct a 2,304 square foot
commercial building for a fast-food restaurant (Del Taco) with a drive-thru facility on 0.67 acres
of land, located at 2938 South Milliken Avenue within the Community Commercial zoning district.
The environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in conjunction with an
Addendum to The Ontario Plan Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No.
2008101140) for File Nos. PGPA19-007, PSPA19-010 and PZC19-002. The proposed project is
located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and

Item A - 1 of 3



Development Advisory Board Minutes 
July 17, 2023 
 

found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use 
Compatibility Plan; (APN: 1083-361-22) submitted by Del Taco, LLC. 

 
Mr. Zeledon opened the public hearing. 
 
Jennifer Dorgan, the representative for the project, was present. 
 
Mr. Zeledon asked if she had reviewed all the Conditions of Approval and if she had any questions. 
 
Ms. Dorgan stated she had reviewed and was good with the Conditions of Approval as stated, except for 
they were still working on condition 4.3 of the Fire Department Conditions, regarding fire sprinkling. 
 
Mr. Ehrman stated he would look at the code and if capacity was for over 50, and they could work it out. 
 
As there was no one wishing to speak on this item, Mr. Zeledon closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion to approve File No. PDEV21-048, subject to the conditions and the fire condition being worked 
out, was made by Mr. Ehrman; seconded by Mr. Do; and approved unanimously by those present (7-0). 
 
C. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 

NO. PDEV21-034: A hearing to consider a  Development Plan to construct a 33,363 square foot 
industrial building on 1.4 acres of land located at 621 South Mountain Avenue, within the IL (Light 
Industrial) zoning district. The Project is categorically exempt from the requirements of the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, In-fill 
Development Projects) of the CEQA Guidelines. The proposed project is located within the Airport 
Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with 
the policies and criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APNs: 
1011-182-10 and 1011-182-15) submitted by Golden Opportunity Zone Fund, LLC. Planning 
Commission action is required.  

 
Mr. Zeledon opened the public hearing. 
 
Ms. Mejia the project Planner stated the applicant was not here, but they had agreed to the condtions of 
approval. 
 
As there was no one wishing to speak on this item, Mr. Zeledon closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion to recommend approval of File No. PDEV21-034, subject to conditions, to the Planning 
Commission, was made by Mr. Do; seconded by Ms. Lugo; and approved unanimously by those present 
(7-0). 
 
D. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 

NO. PDEV22-053: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct 88 single-family 
residential units and 210 multiple-family residential units on 23.58 acres of land located on the 
southeast corner of Ontario Ranch Road and Haven Avenue, within the Mixed-Use District 
Planning Area 4B (Stand-Alone Residential Overlay) of the Rich Haven Specific Plan. The 
environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in conjunction with the Rich Haven 
Specific Plan Amendment (File No. PSPA22-001), for which an Environmental Impact Report 
(State Clearinghouse No. 2022100425) was certified by the City Council on June 20, 2023. This 
application introduces no new significant environmental impacts. The proposed project is located 
within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and found to 

Item A - 2 of 3



Item A - 3 of 3



Page 1 of 65 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV21-041 

DESCRIPTION:  A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct 362 multiple-
family dwellings, consisting of 182 Auto Court (Green Court) townhomes and 180 
Rowtown Homes on 22.2 acres of land located at the southeast corner of Ontario Ranch 
Road and Archibald Avenue, within Planning Area 7 (PA-7) and Planning Area 8 (PA-8) 
of the Grand Park Specific Plan (APNs: 0218-241-51, 0218-241-52, 0218-241-53 and 0218-
241-54); submitted by Lennar Homes of California, Inc. Planning Commission action is
required.

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

LENNAR HOMES OF CALIFORNIA, INC., (herein after referred to as "Applicant") has 
filed an application requesting approval of a Development Plan, File No. PDEV21-041, as 
described in the subject of this Decision (herein after referred to as "Application" or 
"Project"). 

PROJECT SETTING: The Project site is comprised of 22.2 acres of land located at the 
southeast corner of Ontario Ranch Road and Archibald Avenue, within Planning Area 7 
(PA-7) and Planning Area 8 (PA-8) of the Grand Park Specific Plan and is depicted in 
Exhibit A: Project Location Map, attached. The property to the north of the Project site is 
located within Planning Area 7 (PA-7) of The Avenue Specific Plan and is developed with 
a Southern California Edison transfer station and residential development. The property 
to the south is within The Great Park land use designation of The Grand Park Specific Plan 
and is currently vacant. The property to the east is within the High School land use 
designation of the Grand Park Specific Plan and is currently vacant. The property to the 
west is within the Planning Area 21 (PA-21 Commercial) land use designation of the 
Parkside Specific Plan and is developed with a fire station and vacant land. Existing land 
uses, Policy Plan (general plan) and zoning designations, and specific plan land uses on 
and surrounding the project site are as follows: 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

August 7, 2023 

Item B - 1 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 65 

 Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Specific Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Site: 
Vacant  

(Former Dairy) 
MDR (Medium Density 

Residential) 
Grand Park Specific 

Plan 
Planning Area 7 & 8 
(18 to 25 du/acre) 

North: 

Residential 
Development & 

Southern California 
Edison Substation  

LDR (Low Density 
Residential) 

The Avenue Specific 
Plan Planning Area 7  

South: 
Vacant  

(Future Site of the 
Great Park) 

OS-R (Open Space-
Parkland) 

Grand Park Specific 
Plan  Great Park 

East: 
 Vacant 

(Future Site of High 
School) 

PS (Public School) Grand Park Specific 
Plan  

Planning Area 10 (High 
School) 

West: Fire Station & Vacant 
Land 

MDR Medium Density 
Residential, MU (Mixed 
Use), PF (Public Facility) 

Parkside Specific Plan Planning Area 21 (PA-
21) -Commercial 

 
PROJECT ANALYSIS:  
 
(1) Background — On January 21, 2014, the Grand Park Specific Plan (File No. PSP12-
001) and related Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 2012061057) 
were approved by the City Council. The Grand Park Specific Plan established the land 
use designation, development standards, and design guidelines for the 320-acre Specific 
Plan area, which includes the potential development of 1,327 residential dwelling units, 
parks, trails and reserved sites for the development of a new high school by the Chaffey 
Joint Union High School District, a new elementary school, and a portion of the Great 
Park, a public community park. (see Exhibit B: Grand Park Specific Plan Land Use Map, 
attached).   
 
On October 24, 2017, the Planning Commission approved a Tentative Tract Map, File No. 
PMTT16-021 (TPM 19787), to subdivide 76.68-acres of land, that included the Project Site 
and a reminder parcel (portion of the Great Park) into four parcels and two lettered lots 
for public road purposes. The subdivision, referred to as an “A Map,” facilitated the 
backbone infrastructure improvements for such items as streets, sewer, water, and storm 
drain facilities. The approved map allowed the extension of Grand Park Street, from 
Archibald Avenue, along the westerly edge of the Project site. The approved map also 
extended Broadway Avenue from Ontario Ranch Road to Grand Park Street. 

 
On August 24, 2021, the Planning Commission approved a Tentative Tract Map (File No. 
PMTT21-007 (TTM 20399)) to subdivide 24.51 acres of land into 30 numbered lots and 6 
lettered lots for public streets, landscape neighborhood edges and common open 
space purposes. The approved tract map would facilitate and accommodate the future 
development of 362 multiple-family dwellings and associated recreation and landscape 
amenities on the Project site located within Planning Areas 7 (PA-7) and Planning Area 8 
(PA-8) (18-25 du/ac) of the Grand Park Specific Plan. 

Item B - 2 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 65 

On November 5, 2021, the Applicant submitted a Development Plan (File No. PDEV21-
041) for the Project site to construct 362 multiple-family dwellings, consisting of 182 Auto 
Court (Green Court) townhomes and 180 Rowtown Homes on 22.2 acres of land.  
 
(2) Site Design/Building Layout — The Project site is located on the southeast corner 
of Ontario Ranch Road and Archibald Avenue. The Project site has four street frontages 
that include, Archibald Avenue (west property line), Ontario Ranch Road (north property 
line), Grand Park Street (south property line) and Broadway Avenue (east property line). 
The proposed Development Plan will allow for the construction of 182 Auto Court (Green 
Court) townhomes within 13 buildings and 180 Rowtown Homes within 33 buildings (see 
Exhibit C: Site Plan, attached). The development is proposed at a density of 18.29 
dwellings per acre, which complies with the Grand Park Specific Plan PA-7 and PA-8 and 
use districts density range of 18 to 25 dwellings per acre. The Auto Court buildings are 
sited along the north, west and southwest areas of the Project site, with the Rowtowns 
sited at center, east and southeast areas of the site. The buildings will be served by an 
internal drive aisle that loops around the center of the site. The 362 multiple-family 
dwellings will provide for 26 one-bedroom units, 52 two-bedroom units and 284 three-
bedroom units and are described below:   
   

(a) 14 Plex Auto Court (Green Court) The 14-unit Green Court product comprise 
the northern and western portion of the site along both Ontario Ranch Road and 
Archibald Avenue frontage and includes 13 Buildings for a total of 182 multi-family units 
on 9.7 acres. A total of six floor plans and two architectural styles are proposed with 
garage access from an auto court and main entrances of units fronting the street or 
paseo. The primary access into each unit will be from a paseo landscaped with accent 
trees and landscape planters to provide visual interest and promote pedestrian mobility. 
All plans incorporate various design features such as horizontal and vertical building 
articulation, varied entry designs, private patios, second floor laundry facilities, and 
second floor decks/balconies. All homes will have a two-car garage, with the exception 
of Plan 1, which will have a one-car garage. The proposed floor plans are further 
described below: 

 
• Plan 1: 891 square feet, 1 bedroom, 1.5 bath, and one-car garage. 
• Plan 2: 1,483 square feet, 2 bedrooms, 2.5 baths, and two-car tandem 

garage. 
• Plan 3: 1,384 square feet, 3 bedrooms, 3.0 baths, and two-car garage. 
• Plan 4: 1,782 square feet, 3 bedrooms, 2.5 baths, and two-car garage. 
• Plan 5: 1,924 square feet, 3 bedrooms, 2.5 baths, and two-car garage. 
• Plan 6: 1,802 square feet, 3 bedrooms, 2.5 baths, and two-car garage. 

 
(b) Rowtown Homes – The four, five and six-plex Rowtown Home product 

comprise the central and southeastern portion of the site, with frontage along Broadway 
Avenue and Grand Park Street and includes 33 Buildings for a total of 188 multi-family 
units on 10.1.  The rectangular buildings will have garage access and face a public road, 
private interior road, or green paseo common open space. Each Rowtown Home 
product is characterized by a private lane constructed with decorative pavers that 

Item B - 3 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 65 

provides both garage and front entry access to each unit. There are three distinct floor 
plans proposed for the Rowtown Home product, with three elevations per plan and each 
unit incorporates an 18-foot minimum driveway in addition to the required 2-car garage, 
providing a total of four parking spaces for each unit. The varied entryways in 
combination with the various architectural styles create an attractive diverse streetscape 
along both the private lane and the public street. Enhanced architectural treatment was 
required for properties located on corner lots and for units adjacent to public streets. All 
three plans have an open concept, with the main living and kitchen areas oriented 
towards the rear yards, providing opportunities to extend the living areas into outdoor 
patio rooms. The proposed floor plans are further described below: 

 
Four, Five, Six Plex Product  

• Plan 1: 1,404 square feet, 2 bedrooms, 2.5 bath (optional Loft), and two-car 
garage. 

• Plan 2: 1,515 square feet, 3 bedrooms, 2.5 baths, and two-car garage. 
• Plan 3: 1,661 square feet, 3 bedrooms, 2.5 baths, and two-car garage. 

 
(c) Recreation Building - The one-story recreational building (Building 47) is 

located along the southeast portion of the site. The recreation building is 2,225 square 
feet and will provide a kitchen, gathering studio, lobby, restrooms and storage space 
(see Exhibit G: Recreation Building, attached).   
 
(3) Site Access/Circulation — Primary access to the Project will be provided by one 
entry driveway from Grand Park Street and one from Broadway Avenue. In addition, 
several pedestrian linkages around the Project site will be provided to facilitate access 
to the public streets.  Interior community vehicular access will be provided by a two-way, 
24-foot wide internal drive aisle that loops around the center area of the site providing 
access to park/recreations areas and all buildings.  
 
(4) Parking — The Project has provided off-street parking pursuant to the multiple-
family dwelling parking standards specified in the Development Code. The number of 
off-street parking spaces provided exceeds the minimum parking requirement for the 
Project. The off-street parking calculations for the Project are summarized in the table 
below: 
 

Parking Summary 

Type of Use No. Units  Parking Ratio Spaces 
Required 

Spaces 
Provided 

1-bedroom  26 1.75 spaces per dwelling, including 
one space in garage or carport  45.5 46 

2-bedroom  52 2 spaces per dwelling, including 
one space in a garage or carport 104 104 

3-bedroom  284 2.5 spaces per dwelling, including 
one space in a garage or carport 710 710 

Item B - 4 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 65 

Parking Summary 

Type of Use No. Units  Parking Ratio Spaces 
Required 

Spaces 
Provided 

Guest Parking (private roads)  

Portion of dwellings < 50: 0.25 
spaces per dwelling; 
Portion of 50 to 100 dwellings: 0.20 
spaces per dwelling; 
Portion of dwellings > 100: 0.17 
spaces per dwelling 

62 91 

TOTAL 362 

104 required garage spaces will 
be tandem parking (11%). Total of 
12% tandem parking is permitted, 

or 114 spaces. 

931 951 

 
(5) Architecture — The proposed development incorporates the Prairie Modern, 
Urban Farmhouse, Modern Monterey and Transitional architectural styles (see Exhibit H: 
Architecture Styles Elevation Assignment, attached). The proposed architectural styles 
complement one another through the overall scale, massing, proportions to the site, and 
the special attention given to the incorporation of colors, materials and architectural 
details. The proposed designs are consistent with the design guidelines of the Grand Park 
Specific Plan. Each architectural style will include the following: 
 

• Prairie Modern: Varying gable and hipped low pitched roof lines, concrete flat tile 
roofing; horizontal fiber cement siding, decorative exterior sconce lighting, metal 
sectional garage doors, covered front entry, decorative windows and door trims, 
a combination of stucco and cement siding exterior, recessed and pop-out 
elements, decorative wrought iron at second story balconies, decorative window 
and door framing and a variety of colors in the exterior color pallet.  
 

• Urban Farmhouse: Varying front, side gabled and hipped roof lines, concrete flat 
tile roof, horizontal siding, decorative horizontal and vertical reveal lines, inset and 
pop-outs, decorative vents under gable ends, fiber cement siding, stucco exterior, 
covered front entry, decorative window and door trims, brick veneer, decorative 
exterior sconce, decorative cement siding below gable ends, metal sectional 
garage doors, decorative metal railings at second story balconies, and a variety 
of colors in the exterior color pallet.  
 

• Modern Monterey:  Simple-hipped, side-gabled and front gable roof lines, smooth 
stucco finish, concrete flat tile roof, brick veneer , decorative window and door 
trim, smooth stucco and foam paneling at second floor, decorative sill trim at key 
areas, decorative exterior lighting, covered front entry, cantilevered architectural 
elements, exposed rafter tails, first story shed roofs, and a variety of colors in the 
exterior color pallet. 

 
• Transitional: Front and side gabled roof lines, stucco exterior finish, concrete “S” tile 

roofing, stucco sill trim, brick veneer at primary entrance, first story shed tile roofs, 

Item B - 5 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 65 

decorative trim around windows and doors, decorative vents below gabled roof 
ends, decorative exterior sconce lighting, insets and pop-outs, combination of 
stucco and board and batten exterior finish, covered front porches, metal 
sectional garage doors, and a variety of colors in the exterior color pallet. 

 
The architectural designs provide a variety of materials based on the architectural style 
and product type (see Exhibits H to SS: Color Perspectives and Elevations, attached).   
 
(6) Open Space — The Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan requires new 
developments to provide a minimum of 2-acres of private park per 1,000 residents. The 
proposed project is required to provide 2.44 acres of park to meet the minimum Policy 
Plan private park requirement. To satisfy the park requirement, the Applicant is proposing 
to provide 2.70-acres, composed of two community parks. The larger 2.3-acres 
community park, located toward the southeast portion of the site will feature a 
recreational building, pool, spa, outdoor furniture, sails, canopies, basketball court, picnic 
tables, children play equipment, small soccer field, pedestrian trails and open space. The 
0.41-acres smaller community park located towards the southeast corner of the site has 
been designated as a dog park. The dog park will be secured with a 6-foot tall decorative 
tube steel fence (see Exhibit D to F, Landscape Plans, attached). 
 
(7) Landscaping — A 35-foot wide landscape neighborhood edge, plus a 15-foot 
wide rights-of-way (sidewalk with parkway) will be provided along the north and west 
property lines (Ontario Ranch Road and Archibald Avenue). A 14-foot wide average 
landscape setback, plus 13-foot wide rights-of-way (sidewalk with landscaped parkway) 
will be provided along the south property line (Grand Park Street), and a 10-foot wide 
landscape setback, plus a 13-foot wide right-of-way (sidewalk and landscaped 
parkway) along the east property line (Broadway Avenue) will be provided. The Rowtown 
Homes will feature landscaped parkways and interior landscaped paseos, which include 
accent trees and 3.5-foot-high tubular steel fencing with entry gate designs that will 
complement the architectural style of each corresponding unit. The private lanes and 
auto courts are designed with finger planters to soften the massing of the garages. The 
landscape installation will be the responsibility of the builder and maintenance will be the 
responsibility of the homeowner’s association. The cluster product will be provided with 
front yard/private lane courtyard landscaping (lawn, shrubs, and trees) and an 
automatic irrigation system to be installed by the developer. The homeowners will be 
responsible for all rear yard landscape improvements (Exhibit E — Typical Landscape 
Plan, attached). 
 
(8) Signage — All project signage is required to comply with sign regulations provided 
in Ontario Development Code Division 8.1 and the Grand Park Specific Plan. Prior to the 
issuance of a Building Permit for the installation of any new on-site signage, the Applicant 
is required to submit Sign Plans for Planning Department review and approval. 
 
(9) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — Public utilities (water and sewer) are available to serve 
the Project. Furthermore, the Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water Quality 
Management Plan ("PWQMP"), which establishes the Project's compliance with storm 

Item B - 6 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 65 

water discharge/water quality requirements. The PWQMP includes site design measures 
that capture runoff and pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces and 
maximizes low impact development ("LID") best management practices ("BMPs"), such 
as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP proposes 
the use of the Mill Creek wetlands. Any overflow drainage will be conveyed to the public 
street by way of parkway drains and culverts. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: Public notification is not be required, as the Development Advisory 
Board is acting in its capacity as an advisory body to the Planning Commission. Public 
notification is required prior to the Planning Commission hearing on the Project. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: As of the preparation of this Decision, Planning Department staff has 
not received any written or verbal communications from the owners of properties 
surrounding the project site or from the public in general, regarding the subject 
application. 
 
AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 
preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are included 
with this Decision. 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 
that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the recommending body for the Project, the Development Advisory 
Board has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with 
the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within 
the ONT ALUCP. On August 2, 2022, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and 
adopted a Development Code Amendment to establish the Chino Airport ("CNO") 
Overlay Zoning District ("OZD") and Reference I, Chino Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
("CNO ALUCP"). The CNO OZD and CNO ALUCP established the Airport Influence Area 

Item B - 7 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 65 

for Chino Airport, solely within the City of Ontario, and limits future land uses and 
development within the Airport Influence Area, as they relate to safety, airspace 
protection, and overflight impacts of current and future airport activity. The CNO ALUCP 
is consistent with policies and criteria set forth within the Caltrans 2011 California Airport 
Land Use Planning Handbook. The proposed Project is located within the Airport 
Influence Area of Chino Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the 
California Airport Land Use Planning Handbook and the CNO ALUCP. As the 
recommending body for the Project, the Development Advisory Board has reviewed and 
considered the facts and information contained in the Application and supporting 
documentation against the CNO ALUCP compatibility factors, including Safety, Airspace 
Protection, Overflight. As a result, the Development Advisory Board, therefore, finds and 
determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with the conditions of 
approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within the California 
Airport Land Use Planning Handbook and the Chino ALUCP. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN: The proposed project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan ("TOP"). More 
specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed project are 
as follows: 
 
(1) City Council Goals. 
 

 Invest in the Growth and Evolution of the City's Economy 
 Operate in a Businesslike Manner 
 Focus Resources in Ontario's Commercial and Residential Neighborhoods 
 Ensure the Development of a Well Planned, Balanced, and Self-Sustaining 

Community in the New Model Colony 
 
(2) Vision. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 
 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

 
(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 
 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

Item B - 8 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 9 of 65 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 

 
Land Use Element: 

 
 Goal LU-1 Balance: A community that has a spectrum of housing types and 

price ranges that match the jobs in the City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 
 

 LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth in strategic locations that 
help create place and identity, maximize available and planned infrastructure, foster the 
development of transit, and support the expansion of the active and multimodal 
transportation networks throughout the City. 
 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 
residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

 Goal LU-2 Compatibility: Compatibility between a wide range of uses and a 
resultant urban patterns and forms. 
 

 LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We require infrastructure to be 
aesthetically pleasing and in context with the community character. 
 

Housing Element: 
 

 Goal H-2 Housing Supply & Diversity: Diversity of types of quality housing that 
are affordable to a range of household income levels, accommodate changing 
demographics, and support and reinforce the economic sustainability of Ontario. 
 

 H-2.4 Ontario Ranch. We support a premier lifestyle community in the 
Ontario Ranch, distinguished by diverse housing, highest design quality, and cohesive 
and highly amenitized neighborhoods. 
 

 H-2.5 Housing Design. We require architectural excellence through 
adherence to City design guidelines, thoughtful site planning, environmentally 
sustainable practices, and other best practices. 
 

 Goal H-5 Special Needs: A full range of housing types and community services 
that meet the special housing needs for all individuals and families in Ontario, regardless 
of income level, age, or other status. 
 

Item B - 9 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 10 of 65 

 H-5.2 Family Housing. We support the development of larger rental 
apartments that are appropriate for families with children, including, as feasible, the 
provision of services, recreation, and other amenities. 
 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-1 Complete Community: A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life. 
 

 CE-1.6 Diversity of Housing. We collaborate with residents, housing 
providers, and the development community to provide housing opportunities for every 
stage of life; we plan for a variety of housing types and price points to encourage the 
development of housing supportive of our efforts to attract business in growing sectors of 
the community while being respectful of existing viable uses. 
 

 Goal CE-2 Placemaking: A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, corridors, 
and centers where people choose to be. 
 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards: Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 
 

Community Design Element: 
 

Item B - 10 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 11 of 65 

 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity: A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the City being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

 CD-1.2 Place Types. We establish Place Types in urban, mixed use, and 
transit-oriented areas to foster the City's identity as a premier community and require new 
development within each Place Type to incorporate prescribed urban patterns, forms, 
and placemaking priorities. 
 

 CD-1.3 Existing Neighborhoods. We require the existing character of viable 
residential and non-residential neighborhoods be preserved, protected, and enhanced. 
 

 Goal CD-2 Design Quality: A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

 CD-2.2 Neighborhood Design. We create distinct residential neighborhoods 
that promote a sense of community and identity by emphasizing access, connectivity, 
livability, and social interaction through such elements as: 
 

• A pattern of smaller, walkable blocks that promote activity, safety, and 
access to nearby amenities and services; 

• Varied parcel sizes and lot configurations to accommodate a diversity 
of housing types; 

• Traffic calming measures to slow traffic and promote walkability while 
maintaining acceptable traffic flows and emergency evacuation access; 

• Floor plans that encourage views onto the street and de-emphasize the 
visual and physical dominance of garages (introducing the front porch as the "outdoor 
living room"), as appropriate; and 

• Landscaped parkways, with sidewalks separated from the curb and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, and aesthetics for all users. 

Item B - 11 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 12 of 65 

 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 
design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 
 

 CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible space design into new and 
existing developments to ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on pathways, 
corridors, and open space and at building entrances and parking areas by avoiding 
physically and visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and accessibility, and using 
lighting. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

 CD-2.10 Parking Areas. We require all development, including single-family 
residential, to minimize the visual impact of surface, structured, and garage parking areas 
visible from the public realm in an aesthetically pleasing, safe and environmentally 
sensitive manner. Examples include: 
 

• Surface parking: Shade trees, pervious surfaces, urban run-off capture 
and infiltration, and pedestrian paths to guide users through the parking field; 

• Structured parking: facade articulation, screening, appropriate lighting, 
and landscaping; and 

• Garage parking: providing access to single-family residential garages 
through alley access, recessing garages from the frontage to emphasize front doors or 
active living spaces. 
 

 CD-2.11 Entry Statements. We encourage the inclusion of amenities, 
signage, and landscaping at the entry to neighborhoods, commercial centers, mixed 
use areas, industrial developments, and public places that reinforce them as uniquely 
identifiable places. 
 

 CD-2.12 Site and Building Signage. We encourage the use of sign programs 
that utilize complementary materials, colors, and themes. Project signage should be 
designed to effectively communicate and direct users to various aspects of the 
development and complement the character of the structures. 
 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 
 

 Goal CD-3 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-Oriented Place Types: Vibrant urban 
environments that are organized around intense buildings, pedestrian and transit areas, 

Item B - 12 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 13 of 65 

public plazas, and linkages between and within developments that are conveniently 
located, visually appealing and safe during all hours. 
 

 CD-3.2 Comfortable, Human-Scale Public Realm. We require that public 
spaces, including streets, parks, and plazas on both public and private property be 
designed to maximize safety, comfort and aesthetics and connect to the citywide 
pedestrian, vehicular, and bicycle networks. 
 

 CD-3.3 Complete and Connected Network. We require that pedestrian, 
vehicular, and bicycle circulation on both public and private property be coordinated 
to provide connections internally and externally to adjacent neighborhoods and 
properties (existing and planned) through a system of local roads and trails that promote 
walking and biking to nearby destinations (including existing and planned parks, 
commercial areas, and transit stops) and are designed to maximize safety, comfort, and 
aesthetics. 
 

 CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. We require appropriate 
building and site design that complements existing development, respects the intent and 
identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate transitions and connections 
between adjacent uses to ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate level 
of privacy for each use, and minimize potential conflicts. 
 

 CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively pedestrian streetscapes by 
requiring primary building, business, and residential entrances, outdoor dining, and 
storefronts be located on ground floors adjacent to sidewalks or public spaces and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, aesthetics, and the intended functionality (as 
defined by the Place Type). 
 

 CD-3.6 Managed Infrastructure. We collaborate with developers and 
property owners to facilitate development that realizes the envisioned character and 
functionality of the Place Type through the use of green and shared infrastructure within 
each Place Type. 
 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 
 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The project is consistent with the Housing Element of 
the Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the project site is not 

Item B - 13 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 14 of 65 

one of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 
(Housing Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 
 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA") and an initial study 
has been prepared to determine possible environmental impacts; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Grand Park Specific Plan (PSP12-001) Environmental Impact Report 
(State Clearinghouse No. 2012061057) was certified on January 21, 2014 (hereinafter 
referred to as "Certified EIR"), in which development and use of the Project site was 
discussed; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Grand Park Specific Plan (PSP12-001) Environmental Impact Report 
(State Clearinghouse No. 2012061057) was certified by the City Council on January 21, 
2014 ("Certified EIR") in conjunction with File No. PSP12-001, in which development and 
use of the Project site was discussed; and 
 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of this Project were thoroughly analyzed in 
the Certified EIR, which concluded that implementation of the Project could result in a 
number of significant effects on the environment and identified mitigation measures that 
would reduce each of those significant effects to a less-than-significant level; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City's "Local Guidelines for the Implementation of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental 
assessment in situations where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately 
analyzed; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and make recommendation to the Planning Commission on the 
subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

Item B - 14 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 15 of 65 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 
and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 
criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 
Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 
procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, as the first action on the Project, on August 7, 2023, the DAB issued a 
Decision recommending the Planning Commission approve and find that the proposed 
Project introduces no new significant environmental impacts and applying all previously 
adopted mitigation measures to the Project, which were incorporated by reference; and 
 

WHEREAS, on August 7, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a hearing 
on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 
 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the recommending 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation. Based upon the facts and 
information contained in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation, the 
DAB finds as follows: 
 
(1) The environmental impacts of this Project were previously reviewed in conjunction 
with File No. PSP12-001, the Grand Park Specific Plan for which an Environmental Impact 
Report (State Clearinghouse No. 2012061057), was certified and adopted by the City 
Council on January 21, 2014. 
 
(2) The previous Certified EIR contains a complete and accurate reporting of the 
environmental impacts associated with the Project; and 
 
(3) The previous Certified EIR was completed in compliance with CEQA and the 
Guidelines promulgated thereunder, and the City of Ontario Local CEQA Guidelines; and 
 

Item B - 15 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 16 of 65 

(4) The previous Certified EIR reflects the independent judgment of the Planning 
Commission; and 
 
(5) The proposed Project will introduce no new significant environmental impacts 
beyond those previously analyzed in the previous Certified EIR, and all mitigation 
measures previously adopted with the Certified EIR, are incorporated herein by this 
reference. 
 

SECTION 2: Subsequent or Supplemental Environmental Review Not Required. 
Based on the information presented to the DAB, and the specific findings set forth in 
Section 1, above, the DAB finds that the preparation of a subsequent or supplemental 
Certified EIR is not required for the Project, as the Project: 
 
(1) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 
due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(2) Does not constitute substantial changes to the Certified EIR that will require major 
revisions to the Certified EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental 
effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; 
and 
 
(3) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 
due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(4) Does not contain new information of substantial importance that was not known 
and could not have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time 
the Certified EIR was certified/adopted, that shows any of the following: 
 

(a) The Project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the 
Certified EIR; or 

 
(b) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe 

than shown in the Certified EIR; or 
 
(c) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible 

would in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
of the Project, but the City declined to adopt such measures; or 

 
(d) Mitigation measures or alternatives considerably different from those 

analyzed in the Certified EIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
on the environment, but which the City declined to adopt. 
 

Item B - 16 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 17 of 65 

SECTION 3: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the recommending body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 
properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

SECTION 4: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 
above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 and 3, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 
 

(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the 
goals, policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City 
Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within 
the MDR (Medium Density Residential) land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, 
and Planning Area 7 (PA-7) and Planning Area 8 (PA-8) of the Grand Park Specific Plan. 
The development standards and conditions under which the proposed Project will be 
constructed and maintained, is consistent with the goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of 
the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities components of The 
Ontario Plan. The proposed development is consistent with the goals, policies, plans, and 
exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities components 
of The Ontario Plan, as the Project will contribute to the establishment of a dynamic, 
progressive city containing distinct neighborhoods and districts that foster a positive 
sense of identity and belonging among residents, visitors, and businesses (Goal CD1). 
Furthermore, the Project will promote the City’s policy to take actions that are consistent 
with the City being a leading urban center in Southern California, while recognizing the 
diverse character of our existing viable neighborhoods (Policy CD1-1); and 

 
(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in 

relation to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical 
constraint identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is 
located. The Project has been designed consistent with the requirements of the City of 
Ontario Development Code and Planning Area 7 (PA-7) and Planning Area 8 (PA-8) of 
the Grand Park Specific Plan, including standards relative to the particular land use 
proposed (362 multiple-family dwellings at a density of 18.29 dwellings per acre), as-well-
as building intensity, building and parking setbacks, building height, number of off-street 
parking and loading spaces, on-site and off-site landscaping, and fences, walls and 
obstructions; and 

 
(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the 

quality of existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards 
necessary to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required 

Item B - 17 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 18 of 65 

of the proposed Project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain 
safeguards, and impose certain conditions of approval, which have been established to 
ensure that: [i] the purposes of the Grand Park Specific Plan are maintained; [ii] the 
Project will not endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; [iii] the Project will 
not result in any significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will be in harmony with 
the area in which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full conformity with the Vision, 
City Council Priorities and Policy Plan components of The Ontario Plan, and the Grand 
Park Specific Plan; and 

 
(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards 

and design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of the Ontario Development Code 
and the Grand Park Specific Plan  that are applicable to the proposed Project, including 
building intensity, building and parking setbacks, building height, amount of off-street 
parking and loading spaces, parking lot dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle 
parking, on-site landscaping, and fences and walls, as-well-as those development 
standards and guidelines specifically related to the particular land use being proposed 
(362 new multiple-family dwellings). As a result of this review, the Development Advisory 
Board has determined that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with the 
conditions of approval, will be consistent with the development standards and guidelines 
described in the Ontario Development Code and the Grand Park Specific Plan. 
 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 4, above, the DAB hereby recommends the 
Planning Commission APPROVES the Application subject to each and every condition set 
forth in the Conditions of Approval included as Attachment A of this Decision, and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, 
action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to 
attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the 
applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall 
cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
  

Item B - 18 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 19 of 65 

 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
 

  

Item B - 19 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 20 of 65 

 
Exhibit A: PROJECT LOCATION MAP 

 
  

  

Item B - 20 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 21 of 65 

Exhibit B: GRAND PARK SPECIFIC PLAN LAND USE MAP 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SITE 

Item B - 21 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 22 of 65 

 
Exhibit C: SITE PLAN 

 

  

Item B - 22 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 23 of 65 

Exhibit D: LANDSCAPE PLAN 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Item B - 23 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 24 of 65 

Exhibit E:  COMMUNITY PARKS 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 24 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 25 of 65 

 
Exhibit F:  RECREATIONAL AREA  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Item B - 25 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 26 of 65 

Exhibit G:  RECREATIONAL BUILDING  
 
 

 
 
 
  

Item B - 26 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 27 of 65 

 
Exhibit H: ARCHITECTURE STYLE ELEVATION ASSIGNMENT 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 27 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 28 of 65 

 
Exhibit I: ELEVATIONS URBAN FARMHOUSE  14-PLEX AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) 

 
 

   

Item B - 28 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 29 of 65 

 
Exhibit J: ELEVATIONS TYPICAL URBAN FARMHOUSE 14-PLEX AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Item B - 29 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 30 of 65 

 
Exhibit K: ELEVATIONS TYPICAL URBAN FARMHOUSE 14-PLEX AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Item B - 30 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 31 of 65 

 
Exhibit L: ELEVATIONS TYPICAL URBAN FARMHOUSE  14-PLEX AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Item B - 31 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 32 of 65 

 
Exhibit M: TYPICAL 14-PLEX AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) 1ST FLOOR PLAN 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 32 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 33 of 65 

 
Exhibit N: TYPICAL 14-PLEX AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) 2ND FLOOR PLAN 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 33 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 34 of 65 

 
Exhibit O: PERSPECTIVE OF PRAIRIE MODERN  14-PLEX AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 34 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 35 of 65 

 
Exhibit P: ELEVATIONS PRAIRIE MODERN  14-PLEX AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 35 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 36 of 65 

 
 

Exhibit Q: ELEVATIONS PRAIRIE MODERN  14-PLEX AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 36 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 37 of 65 

Exhibit R: ELEVATIONS PRAIRIE MODERN  14-PLEX AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Item B - 37 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 38 of 65 

Exhibit S: AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) FLOOR PLAN 1 to 3 
 

 

                                                                           
 

  

FIRST FLOOR 

SECOND FLOOR 

Item B - 38 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 39 of 65 

Exhibit T: AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) FLOOR PLAN 2 - FIRST FLOOR 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item B - 39 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 40 of 65 

 
 

Exhibit U: AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) FLOOR PLAN 2 - SECOND FLOOR 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Item B - 40 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 41 of 65 

 
 

Exhibit V: AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) FLOOR PLAN 4 AND 5 
 
 
 

                     
 
 
 
 
 

  

FIRST FLOOR SECOND FLOOR 

Item B - 41 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 42 of 65 

 
Exhibit W: AUTO COURT (GREEN COURT) FLOOR PLAN 6 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

SECOND FLOOR FIRST FLOOR 

Item B - 42 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 43 of 65 

 
Exhibit X: PERSPECTIVE OF TRANSITION STYLE  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 43 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 44 of 65 

 
 

Exhibit Y: ELEVATIONS TRANSITIONAL STYLE 4-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 44 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 45 of 65 

 
Exhibit Z: ELEVATIONS TRANSITIONAL STYLE 4-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 45 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 46 of 65 

 
Exhibit AA: ELEVATIONS TRANSITIONAL STYLE 5-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 46 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 47 of 65 

Exhibit BB: ELEVATIONS TRANSITIONAL STYLE 5-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 47 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 48 of 65 

 
Exhibit CC: ELEVATIONS TRANSITIONAL STYLE  6-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Item B - 48 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 49 of 65 

 
Exhibit DD: ELEVATIONS TRANSITIONAL STYLE  6-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 49 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 50 of 65 

 
Exhibit EE: ELEVATIONS TRANSITIONAL STYLE  6-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 50 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 51 of 65 

 
Exhibit FF: PERSPECTIVE OF MODERN MONTEREY 4-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 51 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 52 of 65 

 
Exhibit GG: ELEVATIONS MODERN MONTEREY 4-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 52 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 53 of 65 

 
Exhibit HH: ELEVATIONS MODERN MONTEREY 4-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 53 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 54 of 65 

Exhibit II: TYPICAL 1ST & 2ND FLOOR PLAN 4-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FIRST FLOOR 

SECOND FLOOR 

Item B - 54 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 55 of 65 

 
Exhibit JJ: ELEVATIONS MODERN MONTEREY 5-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 
 

 
 

  

Item B - 55 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 56 of 65 

Exhibit KK: ELEVATIONS MODERN MONTEREY 5-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 56 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 57 of 65 

 
Exhibit LL: TYPICAL 1ST & 2ND FLOOR PLAN 5-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

FIRST FLOOR 

SECOND FLOOR 

Item B - 57 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 58 of 65 

Exhibit MM: ELEVATIONS MODERN MONTEREY 6-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item B - 58 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 59 of 65 

 
Exhibit NN: ELEVATIONS MODERN MONTEREY 6-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Item B - 59 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 60 of 65 

 
Exhibit OO: ELEVATIONS MODERN MONTEREY 6-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Item B - 60 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 61 of 65 

 
Exhibit PP: TYPICAL 1ST & 2ND FLOOR PLAN 6-PLEX ROWTOWNHOMES 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

FIRST FLOOR 

SECOND FLOOR 

Item B - 61 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 62 of 65 

 
Exhibit QQ:  ROWTOWNHOMES PLAN 1 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Item B - 62 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 63 of 65 

 
 

Exhibit RR: ROWTOWNHOMES PLAN 2 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Item B - 63 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 64 of 65 

 
Exhibit SS: ROWTOWNHOMES PLAN 3 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Item B - 64 of 87



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-041 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 65 of 65 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Attachment A: Conditions of Approval 

 
(Conditions of Approval follow this page) 

 

Item B - 65 of 87



Item B - 66 of 87



Item B - 67 of 87



Item B - 68 of 87



Item B - 69 of 87



Item B - 70 of 87



Item B - 71 of 87



Item B - 72 of 87



Item B - 73 of 87



Item B - 74 of 87



Item B - 75 of 87



Item B - 76 of 87



Item B - 77 of 87



Item B - 78 of 87



Item B - 79 of 87



Item B - 80 of 87



Item B - 81 of 87



Item B - 82 of 87



Item B - 83 of 87



Item B - 84 of 87



Item B - 85 of 87



Item B - 86 of 87



Item B - 87 of 87



Page 1 of 31 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

FILE NOS.: PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 

DESCRIPTION: A public hearing to consider a Tentative Tract Map No. 20557 (File 
No. PMTT22-018) subdividing 3.9 acres of land into a single parcel for condominium 
purposes and a Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-026) for the construction of 70 
multiple-family dwellings located at 2037 and 2055 South Fern Avenue, within the MDR-
18 (Medium Density Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) zoning district. APNS: 1050-591-01 
and 1050-591-02; submitted by Melia Homes. Planning Commission action is required. 

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

MELIA HOMES, (herein after referred to as "Applicant") has filed an application 
requesting approval of Tentative Parcel Map No. 20557, File No. PMTT22-018, and a 
Development Plan, File No. PDEV22-026, as described in the subject of this Decision 
(herein after referred to as "Application" or "Project"). 

PROJECT SETTING: The Project site is comprised of 2 parcels encompassing 3.9 acres of 
land located at 2037 and 2055 South Fern Avenue, which is depicted in Exhibit A: Project 
Location Map, attached. The Project site is developed with 2 single-family residences, 
associated accessory structures including garages, a workshop and shed and 
agricultural features including livestock enclosures, fencing and feeding containers. A 12-
foot-wide public utilities easement exists along the southern boundary of the site. 

On the same block, north, south and southeast of the Project site are single-family 
residences with related agricultural uses, east of the Project site are multiple-family 
residences. West of the Project site are single-family residences. Existing land uses, Policy 
Plan (general plan) and zoning designations on and surrounding the Project site are as 
follows: 

Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Site: Single-Family Residential Medium Density Residential MDR-18 (Medium Density 
Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) 

North: Single-Family 
Residential/Agricultural Medium Density Residential MDR-18 (Medium Density 

Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

August 7, 2023 

Item C - 1 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 31 

 Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

South: Single-Family 
Residential/Agricultural Medium Density Residential MDR-18 (Medium Density 

Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) 

East: Multiple-Family Residential Medium Density Residential MDR-18 (Medium Density 
Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) 

West: Single-Family Residential Low Density Residential LDR-5 (Low Density Residential-2.1 
to 5.0 Dus/Acre) 

 
(1) Background — On May 19, 2022, Tentative Tract Map No. 20557 (File No. PMTT22-
018) and Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-026) applications were submitted to 
subdivide 3.9 acres of land into a single parcel for condominium purposes and for the 
construction of 70 multiple-family dwellings.  
 
(2) Tentative Parcel Map No. 20557 (File No. PMTT22-018) — Proposed Tentative Parcel 
Map No. 20557 (Exhibit B: Tentative Tract Map) will consolidate 2 parcels of land into a 
single lot for condominium purposes, creating a 3.9-acre parcel for development and 
possible future sale of 70 attached townhouse condominium units. The proposed map 
will be required to provide Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions (“CC&R’s”), which will 
establish the rules, regulations, rights, and responsibilities of the property owner’s 
association and condominium unit owners. 

 
(3) Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-026) —  
 

(a) Site Design/Building Layout —The Project proposes the construction of 13 
detached buildings in a motor court layout consisting of: four, mixed story (2 and 3-story) 
5-plex buildings (Type A); four, 3-story 5-plex buildings (Type B); and five 3-story 6-plex 
buildings (Type C) for a total of 70 townhome units, at a density of 17.94 dwelling units per 
acre. The site design is depicted in Exhibit C: Site Plan. The proposed walk-up row town 
style buildings (Type A) will have four 2-story units with an overall height of 27 feet, the 
remaining 66 units will be 3-story with an overall height of 38 feet. The buildings are 
arranged with private garages oriented towards a 26-foot-wide drive aisle that circulates 
throughout the site. The buildings are oriented with front entries facing Fern Avenue, a 
common walkway or an amenity. 
 
The Type A buildings are setback approximately 20 feet from Fern Avenue and are 
equally divided on the site by a gated 26-foot wide, 2-way driveway. Type B buildings are 
situated north and south of the centrally located recreation area and Type C buildings 
are located at the rear of the site. Building entries that are oriented towards interior and 
rear property lines are setback a minimum of 15 feet. Building entries that front onto the 
recreation area are setback a minimum of 10 feet and building separation is a minimum 
of 15 feet.  
 
The units will provide 2, 3 and 4-bedroom townhome units with 2.5 and 3.5 bathrooms, as 
depicted in Exhibit D: Floorplans. All units will have private balconies ranging in size from 
64 to 97 square feet and the Plan 3 units will have a private yard. Private garages are 

Item C - 2 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 31 

located at the rear of the units on the ground floor and will have direct access to a den 
or a first-floor bedroom for Plans 1, 2 and 4. The primary living space is located on the 
second floor for Plans 1, 2 and 4 and on the first floor for Plan 3, and are equipped with 
kitchen, dining and living areas. Bedrooms are located on the upper floors. The dwelling 
unit summary by floor plan is as follows: 
 

                           Residential Floor Plans  

Plan 
No. 

Area 
(in SF) 

No. Bedrooms No. Baths Private Open 
Space (in SF) 

No. of Units 

1 1,602 2 bedrooms 2.5 baths 65 26 

2 1,794 3 bedrooms 3.5 baths 64 22 

3 1,822 4 bedrooms 2.5 baths 85 4 

4 1,971 4 bedrooms 3.5 baths 97 18 

TOTAL RESIDENTIAL UNITS  70 

  
(b) Site Access/Circulation — Vehicular access to the site will be through a 

gated entrance along the east side of Fern Avenue by means of a 26-foot-wide, 2-way 
driveway. The 7-foot-tall, gated entrance will be setback 83 feet from Fern Avenue. The 
gated driveway will have a landscaped median with adequate turn around for vehicles. 
A 6-foot-tall split-face block wall will be constructed along the project perimeter and will 
be setback a minimum of 20-feet from Fern Avenue. Pedestrian access to the site is also 
taken from Fern Avenue via two, 5-foot-wide walkways secured by 5.5-foot-tall 
decorative metal pedestrian gates. There is a 15-foot-wide landscaped area 
incorporating a 5-foot pedestrian pathway along the perimeter of the site that connects 
to common open spaces throughout the site, including the amenities at the center of 
the site, and to front entries. Four units that front onto Fern Avenue will have direct access 
to the public sidewalk. The 26-foot-wide interior drive aisle provides access to each 
residence, parking spaces, and trash enclosures and meets emergency access 
requirements. 
 
The Project will complete public right-of-way improvements along the project frontage, 
including new curb and gutter, landscaped parkways and sidewalks connecting to 
existing sidewalks to the north and south of the Project site. Two 6-foot-high gates on the 
east and west ends of the south boundary of the site will provide access to the existing 
12-foot-wide public utilities easement located along the southern edge of the site. 
 

(c) Parking — The Project will provide140 parking spaces within private garages 
and 39 uncovered guest parking spaces will be dispersed throughout the Project site, 
meeting the minimum off-street parking requirement. The off-street parking calculations 
for the Project are summarized in the table below: 
 

Type of Use Parking Ratio Spaces Required Spaces Provided 

Two Bedroom Unit 2.0 spaces per unit 52 52 

Item C - 3 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 31 

Type of Use Parking Ratio Spaces Required Spaces Provided 

Three Bedroom Unit 2.5 spaces per unit 110 110 

Guest Units 1-50 .25 spaces per unit 13 13 

Guest Units 51-70 .20 spaces per unit 4 4 

TOTAL  179 179 

 
(d) Architecture — The Project will be designed in a contemporary 

Mediterranean Revival style, as depicted in Exhibit E: Exterior Elevations and Exhibit F: 
Project Renderings. The 2 and 3-story buildings will feature stucco exteriors and low pitch 
tile roofs. The buildings are designed in 3 variations each with decorative iron railings, 
shutters, lights fixtures and accent tiles. The Project illustrates the type of high-quality 
residential architecture promoted by the Development Code. This is exemplified through 
the use of: 

 
• Articulation in the building footprints, incorporating vertical and 

horizontal changes in the exterior building walls (combination of recessed or projected 
wall areas and cantilevered upper stories above garages); and 

• Articulation in the building roof lines and placement of second story 
balconies, which serve to break up large expanses of building wall; and 

• Recessed windows and trim; and  
• Architectural details, such as the use of recessed entryways, stucco 

finishes, decorative tiles at gable ends, awnings, trim above the front entries and windows 
to enhance openings, and decorative garage doors with windows.  
 

(e) Landscaping — Perimeter landscaping in the front, side, and rear yards, 
and throughout the interior of the Project provides for an overall landscape coverage of 
22 percent, meeting the minimum Development Code requirements. A variety of accent 
and shade trees in 24-inch, 36-inch, and 48-inch box and 15-gallon sizes, as well as shrubs, 
groundcover, and vines will be planted in a variety of species throughout the site to 
create landscape areas that are aesthetically pleasing while having low or moderate 
water usage. Decorative paving and lighting will be provided at entries, pedestrian 
walkways, and other key locations throughout the Project, as depicted in Exhibit G: 
Landscape Plan, attached. Landscaping in the 12-foot-wide public utilities easement 
along the southern boundary will be limited to decomposed granite to allow for 
maintenance vehicles to access and service a sewer manhole at the southeast corner 
of the site. The adjacent low patio walls will be setback from the easement ranging from 
a minimum of 18 inches to 2.5 feet of planter space to provide a buffer between the 
hardscape materials. The landscape areas adjacent to and outside of the easement will 
be enhanced with trees, shrubs, and groundcovers. Private patio spaces will include small 
patio trees. 

 
(f) Open Space — Approximately 35,000 square feet of common open space 

is provided throughout the site and includes passive and active recreation areas. The 
recreation area, which is centrally located on the site, will feature a pool and spa, 
common lawn area for open play, bench seating, shade structures, dining furniture and 

Item C - 4 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 31 

barbeques, and is detailed in Exhibit H: Amenities Plan. Additionally, 12,941 square feet 
of private open space will be provided. Each 3-story townhome will have a private 
balcony and courtyard, and the 2-story townhomes will have private yard space and 
front porches. Open space is detailed in Exhibit I: Open Space Plan. A total of 35,000 
square feet of private and common open space is required for the Project and a total of 
48,350 square feet has been provided, exceeding the minimum standards as shown in 
the Open Space Summary below. 
 

OPEN SPACE SUMMARY 

Open Space Total Area Required 
(in SF) 

Total Area Provided 
(in SF) 

Common Open Space 21,000 35,409 
Private Open Space 14,000 12,941 

TOTAL 35,000 48,350 
 

(g) Signage — All project signage is required to comply with sign regulations 
provided in Ontario Development Code Division 8.1. Prior to the issuance of a Building 
Permit for the installation of any new on-site signage, the Applicant is required to submit 
Sign Plans for Planning Department review and approval. 
 

(h) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — Public utilities (water and sewer) are available 
to serve the Project. Furthermore, the Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water 
Quality Management Plan ("PWQMP"), which establishes the Project's compliance with 
storm water discharge/water quality requirements. The PWQMP includes site design 
measures that capture runoff and pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces 
and maximizes low impact development ("LID") best management practices ("BMPs"), 
such as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP 
proposes the use of infiltration chambers at the west end of the site. Any overflow 
drainage will be conveyed to the public street by way of parkway drains and culverts. A 
12-foot-wide public utilities easement along the southern boundary will be limited to 
decomposed granite to allow for maintenance vehicles to access and service a sewer 
manhole at the southeast corner of the site. 

 
(4) Community Meeting — In November 2022, a “Notice of Application Received” 
was sent to neighboring property owners notifying them of the proposed Project. Ninety 
notices were sent out, 5 calls were received by staff and 3 of those callers also sent written 
correspondence in regard to the Project. The respondents had concerns regarding 
traffic, parking, property values and the potential use of the units as rental properties.  
 
On July 13, 2023, a neighborhood meeting was held to receive comments regarding the 
Project from surrounding property owners. Ninety notices were sent out, no calls were 
received by staff leading up to the meeting. A total of 6 neighboring property owners 
and 1 applicant representative attended the meeting. The residents questions raised 
included concerns about property values, existing traffic and parking issues, flooding and 

Item C - 5 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 31 

trash pick-up. Staff and the Applicant responded to all questions and concerns. 
Additionally, staff provided contact information for several City departments for residents 
to report existing or future concerns.  
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: Public notification is not required, as the Development Advisory 
Board is acting in its capacity as an advisory body to the Planning Commission. Public 
notification is required prior to the Planning Commission hearing on the Project. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: As of the preparation of this Decision, Planning Department staff has 
received 3 written communications from the owners of properties surrounding the project 
opposing the subject application due to concerns regarding traffic, parking, property 
values and the potential use of the units as rental properties.  
 
AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 
preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are included 
with this Decision. 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 
that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the recommending body for the Project, the Development Advisory 
Board has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with 
the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within 
the ONT ALUCP. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN: The proposed project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan ("TOP"). More 
specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed project are 
as follows: 

Item C - 6 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 31 

(1) City Council Goals. 
 

 Operate in a Businesslike Manner 
 Focus Resources in Ontario's Commercial and Residential Neighborhoods 
 Invest in the City's Infrastructure (Water, Streets, Sewers, Parks, Storm Drains 

and Public Facilities) 
 
(2) Vision. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 
 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

 
(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 
 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 

 
Land Use Element: 

 
 Goal LU-1 Balance: A community that has a spectrum of housing types and 

price ranges that match the jobs in the City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 
 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 
residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

 Goal LU-2 Compatibility: Compatibility between a wide range of uses and a 
resultant urban patterns and forms. 
 

 LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We require infrastructure to be 
aesthetically pleasing and in context with the community character. 
 

Housing Element: 

Item C - 7 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 31 

 Goal H-2 Housing Supply & Diversity: Diversity of types of quality housing that 
are affordable to a range of household income levels, accommodate changing 
demographics, and support and reinforce the economic sustainability of Ontario. 
 

 H-2.5 Housing Design. We require architectural excellence through 
adherence to City design guidelines, thoughtful site planning, environmentally 
sustainable practices, and other best practices. 
 

 Goal H-5 Special Needs: A full range of housing types and community services 
that meet the special housing needs for all individuals and families in Ontario, regardless 
of income level, age, or other status. 
 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-1 Complete Community: A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life. 
 

 CE-1.6 Diversity of Housing. We collaborate with residents, housing 
providers, and the development community to provide housing opportunities for every 
stage of life; we plan for a variety of housing types and price points to encourage the 
development of housing supportive of our efforts to attract business in growing sectors of 
the community while being respectful of existing viable uses. 
 

 Goal CE-2 Placemaking: A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, corridors, 
and centers where people choose to be. 
 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

Item C - 8 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 9 of 31 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards: Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 
 

Community Design Element: 
 

 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity: A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the City being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

 CD-1.3 Existing Neighborhoods. We require the existing character of viable 
residential and non-residential neighborhoods be preserved, protected, and enhanced. 
 

 Goal CD-2 Design Quality: A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 
design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 
 

 CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible space design into new and 
existing developments to ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on pathways, 
corridors, and open space and at building entrances and parking areas by avoiding 

Item C - 9 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 10 of 31 

physically and visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and accessibility, and using 
lighting. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

 CD-2.10 Parking Areas. We require all development, including single-family 
residential, to minimize the visual impact of surface, structured, and garage parking areas 
visible from the public realm in an aesthetically pleasing, safe and environmentally 
sensitive manner. Examples include: 
 

• Surface parking: Shade trees, pervious surfaces, urban run-off capture 
and infiltration, and pedestrian paths to guide users through the parking field; 

• Structured parking: facade articulation, screening, appropriate lighting, 
and landscaping; and 

• Garage parking: providing access to single-family residential garages 
through alley access, recessing garages from the frontage to emphasize front doors or 
active living spaces. 
 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 
 

 CD-3.3 Complete and Connected Network. We require that pedestrian, 
vehicular, and bicycle circulation on both public and private property be coordinated 
to provide connections internally and externally to adjacent neighborhoods and 
properties (existing and planned) through a system of local roads and trails that promote 
walking and biking to nearby destinations (including existing and planned parks, 
commercial areas, and transit stops) and are designed to maximize safety, comfort, and 
aesthetics. 
 

 CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. We require appropriate 
building and site design that complements existing development, respects the intent and 
identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate transitions and connections 
between adjacent uses to ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate level 
of privacy for each use, and minimize potential conflicts. 
 

 CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively pedestrian streetscapes by 
requiring primary building, business, and residential entrances, outdoor dining, and 
storefronts be located on ground floors adjacent to sidewalks or public spaces and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, aesthetics, and the intended functionality (as 
defined by the Place Type). 
 

Item C - 10 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 11 of 31 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 
 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The project is consistent with the Housing Element of 
the Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the project site is not 
one of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 
(Housing Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 
 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA") and an initial study 
has been prepared to determine possible environmental impacts; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to a categorical exemption 

(listed in CEQA Guidelines Article 19, commencing with Section 15300) and the 
application of that categorical exemption is not barred by one of the exceptions set forth 
in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and make recommendation to the Planning Commission on the 
subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 

Item C - 11 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 12 of 31 

and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 
criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 
Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 
procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, on August 7, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a hearing 
on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 
 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the recommending 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the administrative record for the Project, including all written and oral evidence 
provided during the comment period. Based upon the facts and information contained 
in the administrative record, including all written and oral evidence presented to the DAB, 
the DAB finds as follows: 
 
(1) The Project is categorically exempt from the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, In-fill 
Development Projects) of the CEQA Guidelines, and meets all of the following conditions: 
 

(a) The proposed Project is consistent with the applicable general plan 
designation and all applicable general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning 
designation and regulations. The proposed Project is located within the Medium Density 
Residential land use designation of the Policy Plan (general plan) Land Use Map, and the 
MDR-18 (Medium Density Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) zoning district. The 
proposed Project is consistent with all applicable Policy Plan policies, as well as with the 
requirements of the MDR-18 (Medium Density Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) zoning 
district. 

 
(b) The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no 

more than five acres substantially surrounded by urban uses. The Project is proposed 
within the established boundaries of the City of Ontario, on a project site totaling 3.9-

Item C - 12 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 13 of 31 

acres of land, which is surrounded by established development on all sides and consists 
of a mix of multiple and single-family residential, and agricultural land uses. 

 
(c) The Project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened 

species. The site is located in an urbanized area, is developed with two single-family 
residences, related parking and structures and ornamental landscaping. In addition, the 
site includes disturbed areas that include livestock enclosures, fencing, and feeding 
containers. The entire Project site has been disturbed by previous development and does 
not contain any sensitive habitat, endangered, rare, or threatened species or habitat 
that could support sensitive species.  

 
(d) Approval of the Project would not result in any significant effects relating to 

traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality. The residential development is similar to, and of 
no greater impact than other allowed uses and development projects within the MDR-
18 (Medium Density Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) zoning district. The Project would 
not result in any significant impacts through implementation of required state, regional, 
and local development and performance standards, and as demonstrated in the Air 
Quality and GHG and Traffic analysis and the Preliminary Water Quality Management 
Plan ("PWQMP") prepared for the Project. 

 
(e) The site is adequately served by all required utilities and public services. All 

necessary wet and dry utilities are within the public street and are readily available for 
connection; and 
 
(2) The application of the categorical exemption is not barred by one of the 
exceptions set forth in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2; and 
 
(3) The determination of CEQA exemption reflects the independent judgment of the 
DAB. 
 

SECTION 2: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the recommending body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 
properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

SECTION 3: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 
above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 and 2, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 
 

 

Item C - 13 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 14 of 31 

Development Plan 
 
(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council 
Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within the 
medium density residential land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the 
MDR-18 (Medium Density Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) zoning district. The 
development standards and conditions under which the proposed Project will be 
constructed and maintained, is consistent with the goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of 
the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities components of The 
Ontario Plan; and 
 
(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation 
to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint 
identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The 
Project has been designed consistent with the requirements of the City of Ontario 
Development Code and the MDR-18 (Medium Density Residential—11.1 to 18.0 
DUs/Acre) zoning district, including standards relative to the particular land use proposed 
(residential), as-well-as building intensity, building and parking setbacks, building height, 
number of off-street parking and loading spaces, on-site and off-site landscaping, and 
fences, walls and obstructions; and 
 
(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary 
to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the 
proposed Project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, 
and impose certain conditions of approval, which have been established to ensure that: 
[i] the purposes of the Development Code are maintained; [ii] the Project will not 
endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; [iii] the Project will not result in any 
significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will be in harmony with the area in 
which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full conformity with the Vision, City Council 
Priorities and Policy Plan components of The Ontario Plan; and 
 
(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 
design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of the Development Code that are 
applicable to the proposed Project, including building intensity, building and parking 
setbacks, building height, amount of off-street parking and loading spaces, parking lot 
dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle parking, on-site landscaping, and fences 
and walls, as-well-as those development standards and guidelines specifically related to 
the particular land use being proposed (residential). As a result of this review, the 
Development Advisory Board has determined that the Project, when implemented in 
conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the development 
standards and guidelines described in the Development Code. 
 

Item C - 14 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 15 of 31 

Tentative Parcel or Tract Maps 
 
(1) The proposed Tentative Tract/Parcel Map is consistent with the goals, policies, 
plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities 
components of The Ontario Plan, and applicable area and specific plans, and planned 
unit developments. The proposed Tentative Tract/Parcel Map is located within the 
medium density residential land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the 
MDR-18 (Medium Density Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) zoning district. The 
proposed subdivision is consistent with the goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, 
Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan, as 
the Project will contribute to providing "a spectrum of housing types and price ranges 
that match the jobs in the City, and that make it possible for people to live and work in 
Ontario and maintain a quality of life" (Goal LU-1). Furthermore, the Project will promote 
the City's policy to "incorporate a variety of land uses and building types in our land use 
planning efforts that result in a complete community where residents at all stages of life, 
employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of choices of where they can live, 
work, shop, and recreate within Ontario" (Policy LU-1.6 Complete Community). 
 
(2) The design or improvement of the proposed Tentative Tract/Parcel Map is 
consistent with the goals, policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General 
Plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan, and applicable specific 
plans and planned unit developments. The proposed Tentative Tract/Parcel Map is 
located within the medium density residential land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use 
Map, and the MDR-18 (Medium Density Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) zoning district. 
The proposed design or improvement of the subdivision is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council 
Priorities components of The Ontario Plan, as the Project will contribute to providing "[a] 
high level of design quality resulting in neighborhoods, commercial areas, public spaces, 
parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, functional, human-scale, and distinct" 
(Goal CD-2). Furthermore, the Project will promote the City's policy to "create distinct 
residential neighborhoods that promote a sense of community and identity by 
emphasizing access, connectivity, livability, and social interaction through such elements 
as: 
 
 Varied parcel sizes and lot configurations to accommodate a diversity of housing 

types; and 
 Floor plans that encourage views onto the street and de-emphasize the visual and 

physical dominance of garages (introducing the front porch as the "outdoor living 
room"), as appropriate; and 
 Landscaped parkways, with sidewalks separated from the curb and designed to 

maximize safety, comfort, and aesthetics for all users." (Policy CD-2.2 Neighborhood 
Design). 
 
(3) The site is physically suitable for the type of development proposed. The Project 
site meets the minimum lot area and dimensions of the MDR-18 (Medium Density 
Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) zoning district and is physically suitable for the type of 

Item C - 15 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 16 of 31 

residential development proposed in terms of zoning, land use and development activity 
proposed, and existing and proposed site conditions. 
 
(4) The site is physically suitable for the density/intensity of development proposed. 
The Project site is proposed for residential development at a density of 17.94 DUs/acre. 
The Project site meets the minimum lot area and dimensions of the MDR-18 (Medium 
Density Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) zoning district and is physically suitable for this 
proposed density / intensity of development. 
 
(5) The design of the subdivision or the proposed improvements thereon, are not likely 
to cause substantial environmental damage, or substantially and avoidably injure fish or 
wildlife, or their habitat. The Project site is not located in an area that has been identified 
as containing species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status species in 
local or regional plans, policies or regulations or by the California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife or the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, nor does the site contain any riparian habitat 
or other sensitive natural community, and no wetland habitat is present on site; therefore, 
the design of the subdivision, or improvements proposed thereon, are not likely to cause 
substantial environmental damage, or substantially and avoidably injure fish or wildlife, or 
their habitat. 
 
(6) The design of the subdivision, or the type of improvements thereon, are not likely 
to cause serious public health problems. The design of the proposed subdivision, and the 
residential improvements existing or proposed on the Project site, are not likely to cause 
serious public health problems, as the Project is not anticipated to involve the transport, 
use, or disposal of hazardous materials during either construction or Project 
implementation, include the use of hazardous materials or volatile fuels, nor are there any 
known stationary commercial or industrial land uses within close proximity to the subject 
site that use/store hazardous materials to the extent that they would pose a significant 
hazard to visitors or occupants to the Project site. 
 
(7) The design of the subdivision, or the type of improvements thereon, will not conflict 
with easements acquired by the public at large for access through, or use of property 
within, the proposed subdivision. The proposed subdivision has provided for all necessary 
public easements and dedications for access through, or use of property within, the 
proposed subdivision. Furthermore, all such public easements and dedications have 
been designed pursuant to: (a) the requirements of the Policy Plan component of The 
Ontario Plan and applicable area plans; (b) applicable specific plans or planned unit 
developments; (c) applicable provisions of the City of Ontario Development Code; (d) 
applicable master plans and design guidelines of the City; and (e) applicable Standard 
Drawings of the City. 
 

SECTION 4: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 3, above, the DAB hereby recommends the 
Planning Commission APPROVES the Application subject to each and every condition set 
forth in the Conditions of Approval included as Attachment A of this Decision, and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

Item C - 16 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 17 of 31 

SECTION 5: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify, 
and hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any 
claim, action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or 
employees to attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall 
promptly notify the applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of 
Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 6: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 
 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
 

 

Item C - 17 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 18 of 31 

 
Exhibit A: PROJECT LOCATION MAP 

 

 

Project Site 

Item C - 18 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 19 of 31 

Exhibit B: TENTATIVE TRACT MAP 
 

  

Item C - 19 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 20 of 31 

Exhibit C: SITE PLAN 
 

 

N 

Item C - 20 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 21 of 31 

Exhibit D: FLOOR PLANS 
 

 
  

Item C - 21 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 22 of 31 

Exhibit D: FLOOR PLANS CONTINUED 
 

 

Item C - 22 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 23 of 31 

Exhibit E: ELEVATIONS 
 
 

 
Building “A” Elevations 

  

Item C - 23 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 24 of 31 

Exhibit E: ELEVATIONS CONTINUED  
 

 
 

Building “B” Elevations 
  

Item C - 24 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 25 of 31 

Exhibit E: ELEVATIONS CONTINUED  
 

 
 

Building “C” Elevations 
 

  

Item C - 25 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 26 of 31 

Exhibit F: PROJECT RENDERINGS 
 

 
  

Item C - 26 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 27 of 31 

Exhibit G: LANDSCAPE PLAN  
 

  

Item C - 27 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 28 of 31 

Exhibit H: AMENITIES PLAN 
 

 
  

Item C - 28 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 29 of 31 

Exhibit I: OPEN SPACE PLAN 
 

Item C - 29 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 30 of 31 

Exhibit J: SITE PHOTOS 
 

 
Site (2055 S. Fern Avenue) – View looking east 

 

 
Site (2037 S. Fern Avenue) – View looking east 

 
 
   

Item C - 30 of 63



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File Nos. PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 31 of 31 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A: Conditions of Approval 
 

(Conditions of Approval follow this page) 
 

Item C - 31 of 63



Page 1 of 6 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

LAND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

Date Prepared: 8/7/2023 

File Nos: PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 

Project Description: A Tentative Tract Map No. 20557 (File No. PMTT22-018) subdividing 3.9 acres 
of land into a single parcel for condominium purposes and a Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-
026) for the construction of 70 multiple-family dwellings located at 2037 and 2055 South Fern
Avenue, within the MDR-18 (Medium Density Residential—11.1 to 18.0 DUs/Acre) zoning district;
(APNs: 1050-591-01 and 1050-591-02); submitted by Melia Homes.

Prepared By: Elly Antuna, Associate Planner 
Phone: 909.395.2414 (direct) 
Email: eantuna@ontarioca.gov 

The Planning Department, Land Development Section, conditions of approval applicable 
to the above-described Project, are listed below. The Project shall comply with each condition of 
approval listed below: 

1.0 Standard Conditions of Approval. The project shall comply with the Standard Conditions 
for New Development, adopted by City Council Resolution No. 2017-027 on April 18, 2017. A copy 
of the Standard Conditions for New Development may be obtained from the Planning 
Department or City Clerk/Records Management Department. 

2.0 Special Conditions of Approval. In addition to the Standard Conditions for New 
Development identified in condition no. 1.0, above, the project shall comply with the following 
special conditions of approval: 

2.1 Time Limits. 

(a) Tentative Tract Map approval shall become null and void 2 years following
the effective date of application approval, unless the final tract map has been recorded, or a 
time extension has been approved by the Planning Commission pursuant to Development Code 
Section 2.02.025 (Time Limits and Extensions). This Permit does not supersede any individual time 
limits specified herein for performance of specific conditions or improvements. 

(b) Development Plan approval shall become null and void 2 years following
the effective date of application approval, unless a building permit is issued and construction is 
commenced, and diligently pursued toward completion, or a time extension has been approved 
by the Planning Director. This condition does not supersede any individual time limits specified 
herein, or any other departmental conditions of approval applicable to the Project, for the 
performance of specific conditions or improvements. 

2.2 Subdivision Map. 

Item C - 32 of 63



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 

Page 2 of 6 

(a) The Final Tract Map shall be in conformance with the approved Tentative
Tract/Parcel Map on file with the City. Variations rom the approved Tentative Tract/Parcel Map 
may be reviewed and approved by the Planning Department. A substantial variation from the 
approved Tentative Tract Map may require review and approval by the Planning Commission, as 
determined by the Planning Director. 

(b) Tentative Tract Map approval shall be subject to all conditions,
requirements and recommendations from all other departments/agencies provided on the 
attached reports/memorandums. 

(c) The subject Tentative Tract Map for condominium purposes shall require the
recordation of a condominium plan concurrent with the recordation of the Final Tract/Parcel Map 
and CC&Rs. 

(d) Pursuant to California Government Section 66474.9, the subdivider agrees
that it will defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Ontario or its agents, officers and 
employees from any claim, action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers 
or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by 
its City Council, Planning Commission or other authorized board or officer of this subdivision, which 
action is brought within the time period provided for in Government Code Section 66499.37. The 
City of Ontario shall promptly notify the subdivider of any such claim, action or proceeding and 
the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 

2.3 General Requirements. The Project shall comply with the following general 
requirements: 

(a) All construction documentation shall be coordinated for consistency,
including, but not limited to, architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, landscape 
and irrigation, grading, utility and street improvement plans. All such plans shall be consistent with 
the approved entitlement plans on file with the Planning Department. 

(b) The project site shall be developed in conformance with the approved
plans on file with the City. Any variation from the approved plans must be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Department prior to building permit issuance. 

(c) The herein-listed conditions of approval from all City departments shall be
included in the construction plan set for project, which shall be maintained on site during project 
construction. 

2.4 Landscaping.  

(a) The Project shall provide and continuously maintain landscaping and
irrigation systems in compliance with the provisions of Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping). 

(b) Comply with the conditions of approval of the Planning Department;
Landscape Planning Division. 

Item C - 33 of 63



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 

Page 3 of 6 

(c) Landscaping shall not be installed until the Landscape and Irrigation
Construction Documentation Plans required by Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping) have been approved by the Landscape Planning Division. 

(d) Changes to approved Landscape and Irrigation Construction
Documentation Plans, which affect the character or quantity of the plant material or irrigation 
system design, shall be resubmitted for approval of the revision by the Landscape Planning 
Division, prior to the commencement of the changes. 

2.5 Walls and Fences. All Project walls and fences shall comply with the requirements 
of Ontario Development Code Division 6.02 (Walls, Fences and Obstructions). 

(a) Access gates fronting Fern Avenue (pedestrian, driveway, easement
access) shall be constructed of decorative tube steel. 

(b) Block walls shall be constructed of split-face block with a decorative
cement cap. 

(c) Block walls fronting Fern Avenue shall be setback a minimum of 18-inches
from adjacent building wall plane. 

2.6 Parking, Circulation and Access. 

(a) The Project shall comply with the applicable off-street parking, loading and
lighting requirements of City of Ontario Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading). 

(b) All drive approaches shall be provided with an enhanced pavement
treatment. The enhanced paving shall extend from the back of the approach apron, into the site, 
to the first intersecting drive aisle or parking space. 

(c) Areas provided to meet the City’s parking requirements, including off-street
parking and loading spaces, access drives, and maneuvering areas, shall not be used for the 
outdoor storage of materials and equipment, nor shall it be used for any other purpose than 
parking. 

(d) The required number of off-street parking spaces and/or loading spaces
shall be provided at the time of site and/or building occupancy. All parking and loading spaces 
shall be maintained in good condition for the duration of the building or use. 

(e) Parking spaces specifically designated and conveniently located for use
by the physically disabled shall be provided pursuant to current accessibility regulations 
contained in State law (CCR Title 24, Part 2, Chapters 2B71, and CVC Section 22507.8). 

2.7 Site Lighting. 

(a) All off-street parking facilities shall be provided with nighttime security
lighting pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code Section 4-11.08 (Special Residential Building 
Provisions) and Section 4-11.09 (Special Commercial/Industrial Building Provisions), designed to 

Item C - 34 of 63



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 

Page 4 of 6 

confine emitted light to the parking areas. Parking facilities shall be lighted from sunset until sunrise, 
daily, and shall be operated by a photocell switch. 

(b) Unless intended as part of a master lighting program, no operation, activity,
or lighting fixture shall create illumination on any adjacent property. 

2.8 Mechanical and Rooftop Equipment. 

(a) All ground-mounted utility equipment and structures, such as tanks,
transformers, HVAC equipment, and backflow prevention devices, shall be located out of view 
from a public street, or adequately screened through the use of landscaping and/or decorative 
low garden walls. 

2.9 Security Standards. The Project shall comply with all applicable requirements of 
Ontario Municipal Code Title 4 (Public Safety), Chapter 11 (Security Standards for Buildings). 

2.10 Signs. 

(a) All Project signage shall comply with the requirements of Ontario
Development Code Division 8.1 (Sign Regulations). 

2.11 Sound Attenuation. The Project shall be constructed and operated in a manner so 
as not to exceed the maximum interior and exterior noise levels set forth in Ontario Municipal Code 
Title 5 (Public Welfare, Morals, and Conduct), Chapter 29 (Noise). 

2.12 Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&Rs)/Mutual Access and Maintenance 
Agreements. 

(a) CC&Rs shall be prepared for the Project and shall be recorded prior to the
issuance of a building permit. 

(b) The CC&Rs shall be in a form and contain provisions satisfactory to the City.
The articles of incorporation for the property owners association and the CC&Rs shall be reviewed 
and approved by the City. 

(c) CC&Rs shall ensure garages remain clear and open for parking and are not
utilized for storage that prohibits the ability to park a vehicle. 

(d) CC&Rs shall ensure reciprocal parking and access between parcels, and
common maintenance of: 

(i) Landscaping and irrigation systems within common areas;
(ii) Landscaping and irrigation systems within parkways adjacent to the

project site, including that portion of any public highway right-of-way between the property line 
or right-of-way boundary line and the curb line and also the area enclosed within the curb lines 
of a median divider (Ontario Municipal Code Section 7-3.03), pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code 
Section 5-22-02; 

(iii) Shared parking facilities and access drives; and
(iv) Utility and drainage easements.

Item C - 35 of 63



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 

Page 5 of 6 

(e) CC&Rs shall include authorization for the City’s local law enforcement
officers to enforce City and State traffic and penal codes within the project area. 

(f) The CC&Rs shall grant the City of Ontario the right of enforcement of the
CC&R provisions. 

(g) A specific methodology/procedure shall be established within the CC&Rs
for enforcement of its provisions by the City of Ontario, if adequate maintenance of the 
development does not occur, such as, but not limited to, provisions that would grant the City the 
right of access to correct maintenance issues and assess the property owners association for all 
costs incurred. 

2.13 Disclosure Statements. 

(a) A copy of the Public Report from the Department of Real Estate, prepared
for the subdivision pursuant to Business and Professions Code Section 11000 et seq., shall be 
provided to each prospective buyer of the residential units and shall include a statement to the 
effect that: 

(i) This tract is subject to noise from the Ontario International Airport
and may be more severely impacted in the future. 

(ii) Some of the property adjacent to this tract is zoned for agricultural
uses and there could be fly, odor, or related problems due to the proximity of animals. 

(iii) The area south of Riverside Drive lies within the San Bernardino
County Agricultural Preserve. Dairies currently existing in that area are likely to remain for the 
foreseeable future. 

2.14 Environmental Requirements. 

(a) If human remains are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction activities, the area shall not be disturbed until any required 
investigation is completed by the County Coroner and Native American consultation has been 
completed (if deemed applicable). 

(b) If any archeological or paleontological resources are found during project
grading/excavation/construction, the area shall not be disturbed until the significance of the 
resource is determined. If determined to be significant, the resource shall be recovered by a 
qualified archeologist or paleontologist consistent with current standards and guidelines, or other 
appropriate measures implemented. 

2.15 Indemnification. The applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, 
the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul 
any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by its City Council, Planning Commission or other 
authorized board or officer. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the applicant of any such 
claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 

2.16 Additional Fees. 

Item C - 36 of 63



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PMTT22-018 (TTM 20557) and PDEV22-026 

Page 6 of 6 

(a) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of Exemption
(“NOE”) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be paid by check, 
made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded to the San 
Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable environmental 
forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”). 
The filing of a NOE is voluntary; however, failure to provide said fee within the time specified will 
result in the extension of the statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit from 30 days to 
180 days. 

(b) After the Project’s entitlement approval, and prior to issuance of final
building permits, the Planning Department’s Plan Check and Inspection fees shall be paid at the 
rate established by resolution of the City Council. 

2.17 Final Occupancy. The Project Architect of record will certify that construction of 
each building site and the exterior elevations of each structure shall be completed in compliance 
with the approved plans. Any deviation to approved plans shall require a resubmittal to the 
Planning Department for review and approval prior to construction. The Occupancy Release 
Request Form/Architect Certificate of Compliance shall be provided prior to final occupancy. 
After the receipt of this Certification, the Planning Department will conduct a final site and exterior 
elevations inspection. The Owner’s Representative and Contractor shall be present. 

2.18 Additional Requirements. 

(a) Stucco siding shall be a 16/20 or better sand finish.

(b) Windows shall be hung or fixed style.

(c) Windows shall be recessed a minimum of 2 inches.

(d) Second story projections shall be cantilevered a minimum of 1 foot 6 inches.

(e) Garage doors shall be recessed a minimum of 6 inches.

(f) Metal awnings and metal finishes shall have a power coated or anodized
finish. Paint application on metal should be avoided. 

(g) The use of manufactured materials, such as synthetic, cast, and cultured
materials is allowed, provided the materials are identical in appearance and of equal or greater 
durability to the natural materials they are intended to emulate. 

(h) All building drainage gutters, down spouts, vents, etc., shall be completely
concealed from public view or shall be architecturally compatible (decorative) with the exterior 
building design and color. 

Item C - 37 of 63



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
 
TO:  Elly Antuna, Associate Planner 
  Planning Department 
 
FROM:  Paul Ehrman, Sr. Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 
  Fire Department 
 
DATE:  June 28, 2022 
 
SUBJECT: PMTT22-018 - A Tentative Tract Map for Common Interest Subdivision 

purposes, to subdivide 3.9 acres of land into a single parcel for 
condominium purposes to facilitate the construction of 70 multiple-family 
dwellings on approximately 3.9 acres of land located at 2037 and 2055 
South Fern Avenue, within the MDR18 (Medium Density Residential - 11.1 
to 18.0 du/ac) zoning district (APNs: 1050-591-01 and 1050-591-02). 
Related File: PDEV22-026. 

 
 

   The plan does adequately address Fire Department requirements at this time.  

   No comments. See PDEV22-026. 

Item C - 38 of 63



 
 
 

TO: Elly Antuna, Associate Planner 
Planning Department 

 
FROM: Paul Ehrman, Sr. Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 

Fire Department 
 

DATE: June 28, 2022 
 

SUBJECT: PDEV22-026 - A Development Plan approval to construct 70 multiple- 
family dwellings on approximately 3.9 acres of land located at 2037 and 
2055 South Fern Avenue, within the MDR18 (Medium Density Residential 
- 11.1 to 18.0 du/ac) zoning district (APNs: 1050-591-01 and 1050-591-02). 
Related File(s): PMTT22-018. 

 
 

  The plan does adequately address Fire Department requirements at this time. 

  Standard Conditions of Approval apply, as stated below. 
 
 
 
 

SITE AND BUILDING FEATURES: 
 

A. 2019 CBC Type of Construction: Type V-B 
 

B. Type of Roof Materials: Ordinary 
 

C. Ground Floor Area(s): Varies, Multiple Buildings 
 

D. Number of Stories: Varies 
 

E. Total Square Footage: Varies, Approximately 10,000 Sq. Ft. per Building. 
 

F. 2019 CBC Occupancy Classification(s): R-3 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

Item C - 39 of 63



2 of 4  

 

 CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1.0  GENERAL 
 

 1.1 The following are the Ontario Fire Department (“Fire Department”) requirements for this 
development project, based on the current edition of the California Fire Code (CFC), and the 
current versions of the Fire Prevention Standards (“Standards.”) It is recommended that the 
applicant or developer transmit a copy of these requirements to the on-site contractor(s) and 
that all questions or concerns be directed to the Bureau of Fire Prevention, at (909) 395-2029. 
For copies of Ontario Fire Department Standards please access the City of Ontario web site at 
www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention. 

 
 1.2 These Fire Department conditions of approval are to be included on any and all construction 

drawings. 

2.0  FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS 
 

 2.1 Fire Department vehicle access roadways shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all portions of 
the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved. Roadways 
shall be paved with an all-weather surface and shall be a minimum of twenty-four (24) ft. wide. 
See Standard #B-004. 

 
 2.2 In order to allow for adequate turning radius for emergency fire apparatus, all turns shall be 

designed to meet the minimum twenty-five feet (25’) inside and forty-five feet (45’) outside 
turning radius per Standard #B-005. 

 
 2.3 Fire Department access roadways that exceed one hundred and fifty feet (150’) in length shall 

have an approved turn-around per Standard #B-002. 
 

 2.4 Access drive aisles which cross property lines shall be provided with CC&Rs, access 
easements, or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected 
properties, and copies of same shall be provided at the time of building plan check. 

 
 2.5 "No Parking-Fire Lane" signs and /or red painted curbs with lettering are required to be instal- 

led in interior access roadways, in locations where vehicle parking would obstruct the 
minimum clear width requirement. Installation shall be per Standard #B-001. 

 
 2.6 Security gates or other barriers on fire access roadways shall be provided with a Knox brand 

key switch or padlock to allow Fire Department access. See Standards #B-003, B-004 and H- 
001. 

 
 2.7 Any time PRIOR to on-site combustible construction and/or storage, a minimum twenty-four 

(24) ft. wide circulating all weather access roads shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all 
portions of the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved by 
fire department and other emergency services. 

Item C - 40 of 63

http://www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention


3 of 4  

 

3.0  WATER SUPPLY 
 

 3.1 The required fire flow per Fire Department standards, based on the 2019 California Fire Code, 
Appendix B, is 1500 gallons per minute (g.p.m.) for 2 hours at a minimum of 20 pounds per 
square inch (p.s.i.) residual operating pressure. 

 
 3.2 Off-site (public) fire hydrants are required to be installed on all frontage streets, at a minimum 

spacing of three hundred foot (300’) apart, per Engineering Department specifications. 
 

 3.4 The water supply, including water mains and fire hydrants, shall be tested and approved by the 
Engineering Department and Fire Department prior to combustible construction to assure 
availability and reliability for firefighting purposes. 

4.0  FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS 
 

 4.1 On-site private fire hydrants are required per Standard #D-005, and identified in accordance 
with Standard #D-002. Installation and locations(s) are subject to the approval of the Fire 
Department. An application with detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit 
shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work being done. 

 4.2 Underground fire mains which cross property lines shall be provided with CC & R, easements, 
or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected properties, and 
copies of same shall be provided at the time of fire department plan check. The shared use of 
private fire mains or fire pumps is allowable only between immediately adjacent properties 
and shall not cross any public street. 

 4.3 An automatic fire sprinkler system is required. The system design shall be in accordance with 
National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 13 which may be NFPA 13D system. 
All new fire sprinkler systems, except those in single family dwellings, which contain twenty 
(20) sprinkler heads or more shall be monitored by an approved listed supervising station. 
An application along with detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit shall 
be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work being done. 

 4.4 Wood frame buildings that are to be sprinkled shall have these systems in service (but    
not necessarily finaled) before the building is enclosed. 
 

5.0 BUILDING CONSTRUCTION FEATURES 
 

 5.1 The developer/general contractor is to be responsible for reasonable periodic cleanup of the 
development during construction to avoid hazardous accumulations of combustible trash and 
debris both on and off the site. 

 
 5.2 Approved numbers or addresses shall be placed on all new and existing buildings in such a 

position as to be plainly visible and legible from the street or road fronting the property. Multi- 
tenant or building projects shall have addresses and/or suite numbers provided on the rear of 
the building. Address numbers shall contrast with their background. See Section 9-1 6.06 of 
the Ontario Municipal Code and Standards #H-003 and #H-002. 

Item C - 41 of 63



4 of 4  

 5.3 Single station smoke alarms and carbon monoxide alarms are required to be installed per the 
California Building Code and the California Fire Code. 

 5.4 Multiple unit building complexes shall have building directories provided at the main entrances. 
The directories shall be designed to the requirements of the Fire Department, see Section 9-1 
6.06 of the Ontario Municipal Code and Standard #H-003.  

 5.5 All residential chimneys shall be equipped with an approved spark arrester meeting the 
requirements of the California Building Code. 

 5.6 Knox ® brand key-box(es) shall be installed in location(s) acceptable to the Fire Department. 
All Knox boxes shall be monitored for tamper by the building fire alarm system. See Standard 
#H-001 for specific requirements. 

 

Note: Multiple hydrants shall be required for the proposed project, due to the distance off of Fern 
Avenue. 

Item C - 42 of 63



CITY OF ONTARIO 
LANDSCAPE PLANNING DIVISION 

303 East “B” Street, Ontario, CA 91764 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Sign Off 

 
11/2/2022 

Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Planner Date 

Reviewer’s Name:  
Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Planner 

Phone: 
(909) 395-2615 

 D.A.B. File No.:                                           
PDEV22-026 & PMTT22-018 

Case Planner: 
Elly Antuna 

Project Name and Location:  
70 Multiple-family dwellings 
2037 & 2055 South Fern 
Applicant/Representative: 
Chad Brown, VP Planning & Development Chad@Melia-homes.com (949) 417-6264 
8951 Research Drive, #100 
Irvine, CA 92618 
 
 
 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated 09/27/2022)) meet the Standard Conditions for New 
Development and have been approved considering that the following conditions 
below be met upon submittal of the landscape construction documents. 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated have not been approved. Corrections noted below are 
required before Preliminary Landscape Plan approval. 

A RESPONSE SHEET IS REQUIRED WITH RESUBMITTAL OR PLANS WILL BE RETURNED AS 
INCOMPLETE. 
Landscape construction plans with plan check number may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov. 
DIGITAL SUBMITTALS MUST BE 10MB OR LESS.  
Civil/ Site Plans 
1. Coordinate with the City of Ontario Parks and Maintenance Department – Philip Marino, 

Parks and Maintenance Manager (909) 395-2610 to relocate existing Heritage Tree #737 
Phoenix canariensis, Canary Island Palm. 

2. Before permit issuance, stormwater infiltration devices located in landscape areas shall be 
reviewed and plans approved by the Landscape Planning Division. Any stormwater devices 
in parkway areas shall not displace street trees. 

3. Locate utilities, including light standards, fire hydrants, water, drain, and sewer lines to not 
conflict with required tree locations—coordinate civil plans with landscape plans. 

4. Note for compaction to be no greater than 85% in landscape areas. All finished grades at 1 
½” below finished surfaces. Slopes to be maximum 3:1. 

5. Dimension, show and call out for step-outs at parking spaces adjacent to planters; a 12” wide 
monolithic concrete curb, DG paving or pavers with edging.  

6. Add Note to Grading Plans: Landscape areas where compaction has occurred due to grading 
activities and where trees or stormwater infiltration areas are located shall be loosened by 
soil fracturing. For trees, a 12’x12’x18” deep area; for stormwater infiltration, the entire area 
shall be loosened. Add the following information on the plans: The backhoe method of soil 
fracturing shall be used to break up compaction. A 4” layer of Compost is spread over the soil 
surface before fracturing is begun. The backhoe shall dig into the soil lifting and then drop the 
soil immediately back into the hole. The bucket then moves to the adjacent soil and repeats. 
The Compost falls into the spaces between the soil chunks created. Fracturing shall leave 
the soil surface quite rough with large soil clods. These must be broken by additional tilling. 
Tilling in more Compost to the surface after fracturing per the soil report will help create an A 
horizon soil. Imported or reused Topsoil can be added on top of the fractured soil as needed 

Item C - 43 of 63

mailto:Chad@Melia-homes.com
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


for grading. The Landscape Architect shall be present during this process and provide 
certification of the soil fracturing. For additional reference, see Urban Tree Foundation – 
Planting Soil Specifications. 

 
Landscape Plans 
7. Show backflow devices with 36” high strappy leaf shrub screening and trash enclosures and 

transformers, a 4’-5’ high evergreen hedge screening. Do not encircle utility; show as masses 
and duplicate masses in other locations at regular intervals. 

8. Locate light standards, fire hydrants, water, and sewer lines to not conflict with required tree 
locations. Coordinate civil plans with landscape plans 

9. Show all utilities on the landscape plans. Coordinate, so utilities are clear of tree locations. 
10. Show turf block at the PUE access drive entries to deter vehicles from pulling in and soften 

the streetscape.  
11. Replace invasive, high water use, short-lived, high maintenance, or poor performing plants 

Nassella (invasive) consider Festuca mairei, Lavandula (short-lived) consider Salvia 
clevelandii, Bougainvillea (sensitive to frost) consider Distictis, Macfadyena (difficult to 
maintain) consider Gelsemium sempervirens 

12. Patio spaces shall be designed with a small patio tree, hose bib, anti-siphon valve, and a 
controller such as the battery operated Hunter Node. 

13. Landscape construction plans shall meet the requirements of the Landscape Development 
Guidelines. See http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards 

14. After a project’s entitlement approval, the applicant shall pay all applicable fees for landscape 
plan check and inspections at a rate established by resolution of the City Council. Landscape 
construction plans with building permit number for plan check may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 

Item C - 44 of 63

http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Project File No.:

Address:

APN:

Existing Land 
Use:

Proposed Land 
Use:

Site Acreage:

ONT-IAC Project Review:

This proposed Project is: Exempt from the ALUCP Consistent Consistent with Conditions Inconsistent

Reviewed By:

Date:

Contact Info:

Project Planner:

CD No.:

PALU No.:

The project is impacted by the following ONT ALUCP Compatibility Zones: 

Safety Noise Impact Airspace Protection

Zone 1

Zone 1A

Zone 2

Zone 3

Zone 4

Zone 5

75+ dB CNEL

70 - 75 dB CNEL

65 - 70 dB CNEL

60 - 65 dB CNEL

High Terrain Zone Avigation Easement 
Dedication

Real Estate Transaction

Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3 Zone 4 Zone 5

CONSISTENCY DETERMINATION

Airspace Avigation 
Easement Area

Allowable 
Height:

The project is impacted by the following Chino ALUCP Safety Zones: 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 1

Zone 6

Allowable Height:

PDEV22-026 & PMTT22-018

2037 & 2055 South Fern Avenue

1050-591-01 & 02

Single Family Homes

Development Plan to construct 70 MF units & Tentative Tract Map to subdivide 3.9
acres for condominium purposes

3.9

N/A

ONT

The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport (ONT) and was
evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP)
for ONT.

✔

✔

Lorena Mejia

909-395-2276

Elly Antuna

1/30/2023

2022-060

N/A

38 FT

200 FT +

Item C - 45 of 63



CD No.:

PALU No.:

PROJECT CONDITIONS

AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 2

New Residential land uses are required to have a Recorded Overflight Notification appearing on the Property Deed
and Title incorporating the following language:

(NOTICE OF AIRPORT IN VICINITY: This property is presently located in the vicinity of an airport, within what is
known as an airport influence area. For that reason, the property may be subject to some of the annoyances or
inconveniences associated with proximity to airport operations (for example: noise, vibration, or odors). Individual
sensitivities to those annoyances can vary from person to person. You may wish to consider what airport annoyances,
if any, are associated with the property before you complete your purchase and determine whether they are acceptable
to you.)

2022-060

Item C - 46 of 63



Last Revised:  7/17/2023 

 
 

ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT  
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
(Land Development Division, Environmental Section, Traffic & Transportation Division, Ontario Municipal Utilities 

Company and Broadband Operations & Investment and Revenue Resources Department Conditions incorporated) 
 

                 DEVELOPMENT    PARCEL MAP        TRACT MAP 
                     PLAN 
       OTHER                        FOR CONDOMINIUM PURPOSES 

 
 

PROJECT FILE NO. TM-20557 
 

RELATED FILE NO(S). PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026 
 

 ORIGINAL     REVISED: __/__/__ 

 
CITY PROJECT ENGINEER & PHONE NO: David Zurita (909) 395-2155 

 
CITY PROJECT PLANNER & PHONE NO:   
 

Elly Antuna (909) 395-2414 

DAB MEETING DATE: 
 

August 7, 2023 

PROJECT NAME / DESCRIPTION: 
 

A Tentative Tract Map for Common 
Interest Subdivision purposes, to 
subdivide 3.9 acres of land into 1 parcel 
and 70 common lots. 
A Development Plan to construct 70 
multifamily dwellings within the MDR18 
zoning district. 
 

LOCATION: 
 

2037 & 2055 S Fern Avenue 
(APN: 1050-591-01, -02) 

APPLICANT: Melia Homes Inc. 

REVIEWED BY: 
 
 
 
APPROVED BY: 

 
__________________        ____________ 
Raymond Lee, P.E.                  Date 
Assistant City Engineer 
 
__________________        ____________ 
Khoi Do, P.E.                           Date 
City Engineer 

Item C - 47 of 63



Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 2 of 14  

THIS PROJECT SHALL COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN THE GENERAL STANDARD 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL (RESOLUTION NO. 2017-027) AND THE 
PROJECT SPECIFIC CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL SPECIFIED HEREIN. ONLY APPLICABLE CONDITIONS OF 
APPROVAL ARE CHECKED. THE APPLICANT SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE COMPLETION OF ALL 
APPLICABLE CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL PRIOR TO FINAL MAP OR PARCEL MAP APPROVAL, ISSUANCE OF 
PERMITS AND/OR OCCUPANCY CLEARANCE, AS SPECIFIED IN THIS REPORT. 
 
1. PRIOR TO FINAL MAP OR PARCEL MAP APPROVAL, APPLICANT SHALL: Check When  

Complete 
 

 
 
1.01 

 
Dedicate to the City of Ontario, the right-of-way, described below: 
 
____________ feet on _______________________________________________________________ 
 
Property line corner ‘cut-back’ required at the intersection of __________________________________ 
and___________________________________________. 

 
 

 1.02 Dedicate to the City of Ontario, the following easement(s):  ___________________________________ 
 
__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 1.03 Restrict vehicular access to the site as follows:   ____________________________ 
 

 

 1.04 Vacate the following street(s) and/or easement(s): 
A. All interfering on-site easements shall be quitclaimed, vacated, and/or submit non-

interference letter from affected owner/utility company. 
 

 

 1.05 Submit a copy of a recorded private reciprocal use agreement or easement. The agreement or 
easement shall ensure, at a minimum, common ingress and egress and joint maintenance of all 
common access areas and drive aisles. 
 

 

 1.06 Provide (original document) Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&Rs) as applicable to 
the project and as approved by the City Attorney and the Engineering and Planning 
Departments, ready for recordation with the County of San Bernardino. The CC&Rs shall 
provide for, but not be limited to, common ingress and egress, joint maintenance responsibility 
for all common access improvements, common facilities, parking areas, utilities, median and 
landscaping improvements and drive approaches, in addition to maintenance requirements 
established in the Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP), as applicable to the project. The 
CC&Rs shall also address the maintenance and repair responsibility for public 
improvements/utilities (sewer, water, storm drain, recycled water, etc.) located within open 
space/easements. In the event of any maintenance or repair of these facilities, the City shall 
only restore disturbed areas to current City Standards. 
 

 

 1.07 For all development occurring south of the Pomona Freeway (60-Freeway) and within the specified 
boundary limits (per Boundary Map found at http://tceplumecleanup.com/), the property 
developer/owner is made aware of the South Archibald Trichloroethylene (TCE) Plume “Disclosure 
Letter”.  Property owner may wish to provide this Letter as part of the Real Estate Transfer Disclosure 
requirements under California Civil Code Section 1102 et seq.  This may include notifications in the 
Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&Rs) or other documents related to property transfer and 
disclosures.  Additional information on the plume is available from the Santa Ana Regional Water 
Quality Control Board at http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report?global_id=T10000004658. 
 

 

 1.08 File an application for Reapportionment of Assessment, together with payment of a reapportionment 
processing fee, for each existing assessment district listed below. Contact the Financial Services 
Department at (909) 395-2124 regarding this requirement. 
         

(1) ___________________________________ 
 
(2) ___________________________________ 

 

 

Item C - 48 of 63

http://tceplumecleanup.com/
http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report?global_id=T10000004658


Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 3 of 14  

 1.09 Prepare a fully executed Subdivision Agreement (on City approved format and forms) with 
accompanying security as required, or complete all public improvements. 
 

 

 1.10 Provide a monument bond (i.e. cash deposit) in an amount calculated by the City’s approved 
cost estimate spreadsheet (available for download on the City’s website: www.ontarioca.gov) or 
as specified in writing by the applicant’s Registered Engineer or Licensed Land Surveyor of 
Record and approved by the City Engineer, whichever is greater. 
 

 

 1.11 Provide a preliminary title report current to within 30 days. 
 

 

 1.12 File an application, together with an initial deposit (if required), to establish a Community Facilities 
District (CFD) pursuant to the Mello-Roos Community Facilities District Act of 1982.  The application 
and fee shall be submitted a minimum of four (4) months prior to final subdivision map approval, and 
the CFD shall be established prior to final subdivision map approval or issuance of building permits, 
whichever occurs first. The CFD shall be established upon the subject property to provide funding for 
various City services. An annual special tax shall be levied upon each parcel or lot in an amount to be 
determined. The special tax will be collected along with annual property taxes.  The City shall be the 
sole lead agency in the formation of any CFD.  Contact Investment and Revenue Resources at (909) 
395-2341 to initiate the CFD application process. 
 

 

 
 
 
 

1.13 Ontario Ranch Developments:  
 

 1) Provide evidence of final cancellation of Williamson Act contracts associated with this tract, prior 
to approval of any final subdivision map. Cancellation of contracts shall have been approved by the City 
Council. 
 

  2) Provide evidence of sufficient storm water capacity availability equivalents (Certificate of Storm 
Water Treatment Equivalents).  
 

  3) Provide evidence of sufficient water availability equivalents (Certificate of Net MDD Availability). 
 

 
 
 
 

 1.14 Other conditions: ____________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
2. PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF ANY PERMITS,  APPLICANT SHALL:  

 A. GENERAL  
(Permits includes Grading, Building, Demolition and Encroachment)  

 

 
 

 
2.01 

 
Record Tract Map No. 20557 pursuant to the Subdivision Map Act and in accordance with the 
City of Ontario Municipal Code.  
 

 

 2.02 Submit a PDF of the recorded map to the City Engineer’s office. 
 

 

 2.03 Note that the subject parcel is a recognized parcel in the City of Ontario per ____________.  
 

 

 2.04 Note that the subject parcel is an ‘unrecognized’ parcel in the City of Ontario and shall require a 
Certificate of Compliance to be processed unless a deed is provided confirming the existence of 
the parcel prior to the date of March 4, 1972.  
 

 

 2.05 Apply for a: 
 

 Certificate of Compliance with a Record of Survey; 
 

 Lot Line Adjustment (Record a Conforming Deed with the County of San Bernardino within six 
months of the recordation of the Lot Line Adjustment to conform the new LLA legal description. Submit 
a copy of the recorded Conforming Deed to the Engineering Department.); 
 

 Make a Dedication of Easement. 

 

Item C - 49 of 63

http://www.ontarioca.gov/


Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 4 of 14  

 2.06 Provide (original document) Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&R’s), as applicable to the 
project, and as approved by the City Attorney and the Engineering and Planning Departments, ready 
for recordation with the County of San Bernardino. The CC&R’s shall provide for, but not be limited to, 
common ingress and egress, joint maintenance of all common access improvements, common 
facilities, parking areas, utilities and drive approaches in addition to maintenance requirements 
established in the Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP), as applicable to the project.  
 

 

 2.07 For all development occurring south of the Pomona Freeway (60-Freeway) and within the specified 
boundary limits (per Boundary Map found at http://tceplumecleanup.com/), the property 
developer/owner is made aware of the South Archibald Trichloroethylene (TCE) Plume “Disclosure 
Letter”.  Property owner may wish to provide this Letter as part of the Real Estate Transfer Disclosure 
requirements under California Civil Code Section 1102 et seq.  This may include notifications in the 
Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&Rs) or other documents related to property transfer and 
disclosures.  Additional information on the plume is available from the Santa Ana Regional Water 
Quality Control Board at http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report?global_id=T10000004658. 
 

 

 2.08 Submit a soils/geology report.  
 

 

 2.09 Other Agency Permit/Approval:  Submit a copy of the approved permit and/or other form of approval of 
the project from the following agency or agencies:   
 
       State of California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) 
       San Bernardino County Road Department (SBCRD) 
         San Bernardino County Flood Control District (SBCFCD) 
         Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) 
         Cucamonga Valley Water District (CVWD) for sewer/water service 
         United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) 
         California Department of Fish & Game 
         Inland Empire Utilities Agency (IEUA) 
         Other: ______________________________________  
 

 

 2.10 Dedicate to the City of Ontario the right-of-way described below: 
 
____________  feet on _______________________________________________________________ 
 
Property line corner ‘cut-back’ required at the intersection of __________________________________ 
and __________________________________________.  
 

 

 2.11 Dedicate to the City of Ontario the following easement(s):____________________________________ 
 
__________________________________________________________________________________  
 

 

 2.12 Vacate the following street(s) and/or easement(s): 
A. All interfering on-site easements shall be quitclaimed, vacated, and/or submit non-interference 

letter from affected owner/utility company. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.13 Ontario Ranch Developments: 

 1) Submit a copy of the permit from the San Bernardino County Health Department to the 
Engineering Department and the Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (OMUC) for the 
destruction/abandonment of the on-site water well. The well shall be destroyed/abandoned in 
accordance with the San Bernardino County Health Department guidelines.  

 2)  Make a formal request to the City of Ontario Engineering Department for the proposed temporary 
use of an existing agricultural water well for purposes other than agriculture, such as grading, dust 
control, etc. Upon approval, the Applicant shall enter into an agreement with the City of Ontario and pay 
any applicable fees as set forth by said agreement. 

 3) Design proposed retaining walls to retain up to a maximum of three (3) feet of earth. In no case 

 

Item C - 50 of 63

http://tceplumecleanup.com/
http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report?global_id=T10000004658


Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 5 of 14  

shall a wall exceed an overall height of nine (9) feet (i.e. maximum 6-foot high wall on top of a 
maximum 3-foot high retaining wall.  

 2.14 Submit a security deposit to the Engineering Department to guarantee construction of the public 
improvements required herein valued at 100% of the approved construction cost estimate. Security 
deposit shall be in accordance with the City of Ontario Municipal Code. Security deposit will be eligible 
for release, in accordance with City procedure, upon completion and acceptance of said public 
improvements. 
 

 

 2.15 The applicant/developer shall submit all necessary survey documents prepared by a Licensed 
Surveyor registered in the State of California detailing all existing survey monuments in and 
around the project site.  These documents are to be reviewed and approved by the City Survey 
Office. 
 

 

 2.16 Pay all Development Impact Fees (DIF) to the Building Department. Storm Drain Development 
Impact Fee shall be paid to the Building Department. Final fee shall be determined based on the 
approved site plan and the DIF rate at the time of payment. 
 

 

 2.17 Other conditions: ____________________________________________________________________  
 

Item C - 51 of 63



Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 6 of 14  

 
 B.  PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 

(See attached Exhibit ‘A’ for plan check submittal requirements.) 
 

 
 

 
2.18 

 
Design and construct full public improvements in accordance with the City of Ontario Municipal 
Code, current City standards and specifications, master plans and the adopted specific plan for 
the area, if any. These public improvements shall include, but not be limited to, the following 
(checked boxes): 
  

Improvement  Fern Avenue Street 2 Street 3 Street 4 

 
Curb and Gutter 

 

 New; 20-ft. 
       from C/L  

 Replace 
       damaged 

 Remove 
       and replace    
 

 New; ___ ft. 
       from C/L              

 Replace 
       damaged 

 Remove 
       and replace  
     
 

 New; ___ ft. 
       from C/L              

 Replace 
       damaged 

 Remove 
       and replace 
    
   

 New; ___ ft. 
       from C/L              

 Replace 
       damaged 

 Remove 
       and replace 
   

 
AC Pavement 

 

Replacement 
 Widen ____ 

additional feet 
along frontage, 
including pavm’t 
transitions 

 Replacement 
 Widen ____ 

additional feet 
along frontage, 
including pavm’t 
transitions 

 Replacement 
 Widen ____ 

additional feet 
along frontage, 
including pavm’t 
transitions  
   

 Replacement 
 Widen ____ 

additional feet 
along frontage, 
including pavm’t 
transitions  
   

 
PCC Pavement 

(Truck Route 
Only) 

 New 
 Modify  

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify  

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify 

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify 

       existing 
 

 
Drive Approach 

 

 New 
 Abandon 

unused drive 
approaches 

 New 
 Remove  

      and replace 

 New 
 Remove  

       and replace 

 New 
 Remove  

       and replace 

 
Sidewalk 

 

 New 
 Remove  

       and replace  

 New 
 Remove 

       and replace 
 

 New 
 Remove 

       and replace 
 

 New 
 Remove 

       and replace 

 
ADA Access 

Ramp 
 

 New 
 Remove 

       and replace 
 

 New 
 Remove 

       and replace 

 New 
 Remove 

       and replace  

 New 
 Remove 

       and replace  

 
Parkway 

 

 Trees 
Landscaping     

      (w/irrigation) 

 Trees 
 Landscaping     

      (w/irrigation) 
 

 Trees 
 Landscaping     

      (w/irrigation) 

 Trees 
 Landscaping     

(w/irrigation) 
 

 
Raised 

Landscaped 
Median 

 

 New 
 Remove 

       and replace   
 

 New 
 Remove 

       and replace   
  
      

 New 
 Remove 

       and replace   
  
    
      

 New 
 Remove  

       and replace   
     

 
Fire Hydrant 

 New 
 Relocation 

 

 New / 
Upgrade 
 Relocation 

 

 New / 
Upgrade 
 Relocation 

 

 New / 
Upgrade 
 Relocation 

 

 

Item C - 52 of 63



Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 7 of 14  

 
Sewer 

(see Sec. 2.C) 

 Main 
 Lateral 

 

 Main 
 Lateral 

 Main 
 Lateral  

 

 Main 
 Lateral 

 
Water 

(see Sec. 2.D) 

 Main 
 Services 

 

 Main 
 Service  

 Main 
 Service  

 Main 
 Service 

Recycled  Water 
(see Sec. 2.E) 

 Main 
 Service 

 Main 
 Service 

 Main 
 Service 

 Main 
 Service 

Traffic Signal 
System 

(see Sec. 2.F) 

 New 
 Modify 

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify 

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify  

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify  

       existing 
 

Traffic Signing 
and Striping 

(see Sec. 2.F) 

 New 
 Modify  

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify  

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify 

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify  

       existing 
 

Street Light  
(see Sec. 2.F) 

 New 
 Relocation 

 

 New / 
Upgrade 
 Relocation 

 

 New / 
Upgrade 
 Relocation 

 

 New / 
Upgrade 
 Relocation 

 

Bus Stop Pad or 
Turn-out 

(see Sec. 2.F) 

 New 
 Modify  

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify  

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify 

       existing 
 

 New 
 Modify 

       existing 
 

Storm Drain 
(see Sec. 2G) 

 Main 
 Lateral 

 

 Main 
 Lateral 

 

 Main 
 Lateral 

 

 Main 
 Lateral 

 

Fiber Optics 
(see Sec. 2K) 

 Conduit / 
Appurtenances 

 Conduit / 
Appurtenances 

 Conduit / 
Appurtenances 

 Conduit / 
Appurtenances 

 
Overhead 
Utilities 

 

 Underground 
 Remove 

conflicting pole 

 Underground 
 Relocate 

 Underground 
 Relocate 

 Underground 
 Relocate 

 
Removal of 

Improvements 
 

______________ 
______________ 
______________ 
 

______________ 
______________ 
______________ 

______________ 
______________ 
______________ 

______________ 
______________ 
______________ 

 
Other 

Improvements 
 

 All-way 
Stop2.39.B 

 

______________ 
______________ 
______________ 

______________    
______________ 
______________ 

______________ 
______________ 
______________ 

 
Specific notes for improvements listed in item no. 2.18, above: 

A. Existing power pole along project frontage must be removed to accommodate 
proposed drive approach.  

B. Abandoned drive approaches are to be replaced with full height curb and gutter per 
City Standard.  
 

 2.19 Construct a 2" asphalt concrete (AC) grind and overlay on the following street(s): 
A. Fern Avenue along the entire project frontage, curb to curb.  

 

 

 2.20 Reconstruction of the full pavement structural section, per City of Ontario Standard Drawing number  

Item C - 53 of 63



Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 8 of 14  

1011, may be required based on the existing pavement condition and final street design.  Minimum 
limits of reconstruction shall be along property frontage, from street centerline to curb/gutter. 
 

 2.21 Make arrangements with the Cucamonga Valley Water District (CVWD) to provide    water service  
 sewer service to the site. This property is within the area served by the CVWD and Applicant shall 

provide documentation to the City verifying that all required CVWD fees have been paid. 
 

 

 2.22 Overhead utilities shall be under-grounded, in accordance with Title 7 of the City’s Municipal Code 
(Ordinance No. 2804 and 2892).  Developer may pay in-lieu fee, approximately _________, for 
undergrounding of utilities in accordance with Section 7-7.302.e of the City’s Municipal Code. 
 

 

 2.23 Other conditions: ____________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 C.  SEWER   

 2.24 An 8-inch sewer main is available for connection by this project in Fern Avenue.  
(Ref: Sewer Drawing Number: S13107) 
 

 

 2.25 Design and construct a sewer main extension. A sewer main is not available for direct connection. The 
closest main is approximately _____ feet away. 
 

 

 2.26 Submit documentation that shows expected peak loading values for modeling the impact of the subject 
project to the existing sewer system. The project site is within a deficient public sewer system area. 
Applicant shall be responsible for all costs associated with the preparation of the model. Based on the 
results of the analysis, Applicant may be required to mitigate the project impact to the deficient public 
sewer system, including, but not limited to, upgrading of existing sewer main(s), construction of new 
sewer main(s) or diversion of sewer discharge to another sewer. 
 

 

 2.27 Other conditions:  
A. See Exhibit B for OMUC Conditions of Approval.  

 

 

 D.  WATER   

 2.28 An 8-inch water main is available for connection by this project in Fern Avenue. 
(Ref: Water Drawing Number: W11201) 
 

 

 2.29 Design and construct a water main extension. A water main is not available for direct connection. The 
closest main is approximately _____ feet away. 
 

 

 2.30 Other conditions:  
A. See Exhibit B for OMUC Conditions of Approval.  

 

 

 E.  RECYCLED WATER   

 2.31 A ______inch recycled water main is available for connection by this project in ___________________.   
(Ref: Recycled Water Drawing Number:__________) 
 

 

 2.32 Design and construct an on-site recycled water system for this project. A recycled water main does 
exist in the vicinity of this project.  
 

 

 2.33 Design and construct an on-site recycled water ready system for this project. A recycled water main 
does not currently exist in the vicinity of this project but is planned for the near future. If Applicant would 
like to connect to this recycled water main when it becomes available, the cost for the connection shall 
be borne solely by the Applicant.  
 

 

 2.34 Submit one (1) electronic copy, in PDF format, of the Engineering Report (ER), for the use of recycled 
water to OMUC’s Water Quality Programs at OMUCWQPlanCheck@ontarioca.gov for review and 
subsequent submittal to the California State Water Board (Division of Drinking Water) for final approval. 
 
Note: Review and approval process may take up to three (3) months.  Contact the OMUC’s Water 
Quality Programs at (909) 395-2678 or email OMUCWQPlanCheck@ontarioca.gov regarding this 
requirement. 
 

 

Item C - 54 of 63

mailto:OMUCWQPlanCheck@ontarioca.gov
mailto:OMUCWQPlanCheck@ontarioca.gov


Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 9 of 14  

 2.35 Submit one (1) electronic copy, in PDF format, of the Landscape Plans (on-site & off-site) to OMUC’s 
Water Quality Programs at OMUCWQPlanCheck@ontarioca.gov for review and approval. 
 

 

 2.36 Other conditions: ____________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 F.  TRAFFIC / TRANSPORTATION   

 2.37 Submit a focused traffic impact study, prepared and signed by a Traffic/Civil Engineer registered in the 
State of California. The study shall address, but not be limited to, the following issues as required by 
the City Engineer:  
 1.  On-site and off-site circulation  
 2.  Traffic level of service (LOS) at ‘build-out’ and future years  
 3.  Impact at specific intersections as selected by the City Engineer 
 

 

 2.38 New traffic signal installations shall be added to Southern California Edison (SCE) customer account 
number # 2-20-044-3877. 
 

 

 2.39 Other conditions:  
A. The Applicant/Developer shall be responsible to design and construct all-way stop 

improvements at the intersection of Fern Avenue and Philadelphia Street, including 
street improvements, crosswalk improvements, and signing/striping improvements 
necessary to accommodate the all-way stop installation based on by the Fern Avenue 
and Philadelphia Street Level of Service Analysis and Traffic Control Assessment 
memo submitted by EPD Solutions, Inc. dated 6/12/23. 
 

B. On-street parking to be restricted for 40-feet on either side of proposed driveway on 
Fern Avenue for sight distance. 
 

C. The Applicant/Developer shall be responsible to design and construct street 
improvements along property frontage in accordance with conditions issued by City’s 
Land Development Division.  These, and all other street improvements required herein, 
shall include, but not be limited to, concrete curb and gutter, sidewalk, LED street 
lights, signing and striping, and parkway landscaping. 
 

D. Design and construct proposed driveway in accordance with City of Ontario Standard 
Drawing No. 1204 for Commercial Driveway.  
 

E. The Applicant/Developer shall be responsible to design and construct in-fill public 
street lights and a potential new service along its project frontage on Fern Avenue.  
Street lighting shall be LED-type and in accordance with City’s approved Material List 
LED Luminaires. The applicant/developer shall also install smart nodes on all new 
street light fixtures.  
 

F. All landscaping, block walls, and other obstructions shall be compatible with the 
stopping sight distance requirements per City of Ontario Standard Drawing No. 1309. 
 

G. The Applicant/Developer’s engineer-of-record shall meet with City Engineering staff 
prior to starting signing/striping and street lighting design plans. 

 

 

 G.  DRAINAGE / HYDROLOGY   

 2.40 A ______inch storm drain main is available to accept flows from this project in ___________________.   
(Ref: Storm Drain Drawing Number: __________) 
 

 

 2.41 Submit a hydrology study and drainage analysis, prepared and signed by a Civil Engineer 
registered in the State of California. The study shall be prepared in accordance with the San 
Bernardino County Hydrology Manual and City of Ontario standards and guidelines. Additional 
drainage facilities, including, but not limited to, improvements beyond the project frontage, may 
be required to be designed and constructed, by Applicant, as a result of the findings of this 
study. 
 

 

Item C - 55 of 63

mailto:OMUCWQPlanCheck@ontarioca.gov


Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 10 of 14  

 2.42 An adequate drainage facility to accept additional runoff from the site does not currently exist 
downstream of the project.  Design and construct a storm water detention facility on the project 
site. 100-year post-development peak flow shall be attenuated such that it does not exceed 80% 
of pre-development peak flows, in accordance with the approved hydrology study and 
improvement plans. 
 

 

 2.43 Submit a copy of a recorded private drainage easement or drainage acceptance agreement to the 
Engineering Department for the acceptance of any increase to volume and/or concentration of historical 
drainage flows onto adjacent property, prior to approval of the grading plan for the project. 
 

 

 2.44 Comply with the City of Ontario Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance (Ordinance No. 2409). The 
project site or a portion of the project site is within the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) as indicated 
on the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) and is subject to flooding during a 100-year frequency storm. 
The site plan shall be subject to the provisions of the National Flood Insurance Program. 
 

 

 2.45 Other conditions:  
A. The applicant/developer shall pay a fee (approximately $208,778) in-lieu of constructing 

the 66-inch storm drain line (B-11; SNAN-VII-2b) in Fern Avenue along the project 
frontage (330.22-ft). The final in-lieu fee shall be determined by the City Engineer.  

 

 

 H.  STORM WATER QUALITY / NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE AND ELIMINATION SYSTEM 
(NPDES)  

  

 2.46 401 Water Quality Certification/404 Permit – Submit a copy of any applicable 401 Certification or 404 
Permit for the subject project to the City project engineer. Development that will affect any body of 
surface water (i.e. lake, creek, open drainage channel, etc.) may require a 401 Water Quality 
Certification from the California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Santa Ana Region (RWQCB) 
and a 404 Permit from the United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). The groups of water 
bodies classified in these requirements are perennial (flow year round) and ephemeral (flow during rain 
conditions, only) and include, but are not limited to, direct connections into San Bernardino County 
Flood Control District (SBCFCD) channels.  
If a 401 Certification and/or a 404 Permit are not required, a letter confirming this from Applicant’s 
engineer shall be submitted. 
Contact information: USACE (Los Angeles District) (213) 452-3414; RWQCB  (951) 782-4130. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

2.47 Submit a Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP). This plan shall be approved by the 
Engineering Department prior to approval of any grading plan. The WQMP shall be submitted, 
utilizing the current San Bernardino County Stormwater Program template, available at: 
http://www.sbcounty.gov/dpw/land/npdes.asp.   

 

 

 2.46 
 

Other conditions: ____________________________________________________________________   
 

 
 

2.48 Design and construct a Connector Pipe Trash Screen or equivalent Trash Treatment Control Device, 
per catch basin located within or accepting flows tributary of a Priority Land Use (PLU) area that meets 
the Full Capture System definition and specifications, and is on the Certified List of the State Water 
Resources Control Board. The device shall be adequately sized per catch basin and include a deflector 
screen with vector control access for abatement application, vertical support bars, and removable 
component to facilitate maintenance and cleaning. 
 

 
 

 2.49 
 

Other conditions:  
A. Activities resulting in land disturbance of one acre or more is required to obtain 

coverage under the Construction General Permit (CGP). The owner is the legally 
responsible person (LRP) of the site and shall have a Stormwatter Pollution Prevention 
Plan (SWPPP) developer and submitted through the SMARTS website: 
https://smarts.waterboards.ca.gov/smarts/faces/SwSmartsLogin.xhtml 

 
 

 

Item C - 56 of 63

http://www.sbcounty.gov/dpw/land/npdes.asp
https://smarts.waterboards.ca.gov/smarts/faces/SwSmartsLogin.xhtml


Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 11 of 14  

 J.  SPECIAL DISTRICTS   

 2.50 File an application, together with an initial deposit (if required), to establish a Community Facilities 
District (CFD) pursuant to the Mello-Roos Community Facilities District Act of 1982.  The application 
and fee shall be submitted a minimum of four (4) months prior to final subdivision map approval, and 
the CFD shall be established prior to final subdivision map approval or issuance of building permits, 
whichever occurs first. The CFD shall be established upon the subject property to provide funding for 
various City services.  An annual special tax shall be levied upon each parcel or lot in an amount to be 
determined. The special tax will be collected along with annual property taxes.  The City shall be the 
sole lead agency in the formation of any CFD.  Contact Investment and Revenue Resources at (909) 
395-2341 to initiate the CFD application process. 
 

 

 2.51 Other conditions: ___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
 K.  FIBER OPTIC   

 2.52 A ______ fiber optic line is available for connection by this project in ___________________.   
(Ref: Fiber Optic Drawing Number: __________) 
 

 

 
 

2.53 Design and construct fiber optic system to provide access to the City’s conduit and fiber optic 
system per the City’s Fiber Optic Master Plan. Building entrance conduits shall start from the 
closest OntarioNet hand hole constructed along the project frontage in the ROW and shall 
terminate in the main telecommunications room for each building. Conduit infrastructure shall 
interconnect with the primary and/or secondary backbone fiber optic conduit system at the 
nearest OntarioNet hand hole, if available.  
 

 

 
 

2.54 Refer to the City’s Fiber Optic Master Plan for design and layout guidelines. Contact the 
Broadband Operations Department at (909) 395-2000, regarding this requirement. 
 

 

3. PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF A CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY, APPLICANT SHALL:   
 3.01 Set new monuments in place of any monuments that have been damaged or destroyed as a 

result of construction of the subject project. Monuments shall be set in accordance with City of 
Ontario   standards and to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 
 

 

 3.02 Complete all requirements for recycled water usage. 
 

  1)  Procure from the OMUC a copy of the letter of confirmation from the California Department of 
Public Health (CDPH) that the Engineering Report (ER) has been reviewed and the subject site is 
approved for the use of recycled water. 
 

  2)  Obtain clearance from the OMUC confirming completion of recycled water improvements and 
passing of shutdown tests and cross connection inspection, upon availability/usage of recycled water. 
 

  3)  Complete education training of on-site personnel in the use of recycled water, in accordance 
with the ER, upon availability/usage of recycled water. 
 

 

 3.03 The applicant/developer shall submit all final survey documents prepared by a Licensed 
Surveyor registered in the State of California detailing all survey monuments that have been 
preserved, revised, adjusted or set along with any maps, corner records or Records of Survey 
needed to comply with these Conditions of Approvals and the latest edition of the California 
Professional Land Survey Act.  These documents are to be reviewed and approved by the City 
Survey Office. 
 

 

 3.04 Ontario Ranch Projects:  For developments located at an intersection of any two collector or arterial 
streets, the applicant/developer shall set a monument if one does not already exist at that intersection.  
Contact the City Survey office for information on reference benchmarks, acceptable methodology and 
required submittals. 
 

 

 3.05 Confirm payment of all Development Impact Fees (DIF) to the Building Department. 
 

 

 3.06 Submit electronic copies (PDF and Auto CAD format) of all approved improvement plans, studies  

Item C - 57 of 63



Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 12 of 14  

and reports (i.e. hydrology, traffic, WQMP, etc.). 
 

4. PRIOR TO FINAL ACCEPTANCE, APPLICANT SHALL:   
 4.01 Complete all Conditions of Approval listed under Sections 1-3 above. 

 
 

 4.02 Pay all outstanding fees pursuant to the City of Ontario Municipal Code, including but not 
limited to, plan check fees, inspection fees and Development Impact Fees. 
 

 

 4.03 The applicant/developer shall submit a written request for the City’s final acceptance of the 
project addressed to the City Project Engineer. The request shall include a completed 
Acceptance and Bond Release Checklist, state that all Conditions of Approval have been 
completed and shall be signed by the applicant/developer. Upon receipt of the request, review 
of the request shall be a minimum of 10 business days. Conditions of Approval that are deemed 
incomplete by the City will cause delays in the acceptance process. 
 

 

 4.04 Submit record drawings (PDF) for all public improvements identified within Section 2 of these 
Conditions of Approval. 
 

 

Item C - 58 of 63



Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 13 of 14  

EXHIBIT ‘A’ 
 

ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 
First Plan Check Submittal Checklist 

 

Project Number: PDEV22-026, and Tract Map No. 20557 (PMTT22-018) 
 

The following items are required to be included with the first plan check submittal: 
 

1.    A copy of this check list  
 

2.    Payment of fee for Plan Checking  
 

3.    One (1) copy of Engineering Cost Estimate (on City form) with engineer’s wet signature and stamp. 
 

4.    One (1) copy of project Conditions of Approval 
 

5.    Include a PDF (electronic submittal) of each required improvement plan at every submittal.  
 

6.    Two (2) sets of Potable and Recycled Water demand calculations (include water demand calculations 
showing low, average and peak water demand in GPM for the proposed development and proposed water 
meter size).    

 
7.    Three (3) sets of Public Street improvement plan with street cross-sections 

 
8.    Four (4) sets of Public Water improvement plan (include water demand calculations showing low, average 

and peak water demand in GPM for the proposed development and proposed water meter size)    
 

9.    Four (4) sets of Recycled Water improvement plan (include recycled water demand calculations showing 
low, average and peak water demand in GPM for the proposed development and proposed water meter size 
and an exhibit showing the limits of areas being irrigated by each recycled water meter) 

 
10.    Four (4) sets of Public Sewer improvement plan 

 
11.    Five (5) sets of Public Storm Drain improvement plan 

 
12.    Three (3) sets of Public Street Light improvement plan 

 
13.    Three (3) sets of Signing and Striping improvement plan 

 
14.    Three (3) sets of Fiber Optic plan (include Auto CAD electronic submittal) 

 
15.    Three (3) sets of HOA Landscape improvement plans. Show corner sight line distance per engineering 

standard drawing 1309.  
 

16.   Five (5) sets of CFD Landscape improvement plans. Show corner sight line distance per engineering 
standard drawing 1309.  
 

17.    Three (3) sets of Dry Utility plans within public right-of-way (at a minimum the plans must show 
existing and ultimate right-of-way, curb and gutter, proposed utility location including centerline 
dimensions, wall to wall clearances between proposed utility and adjacent public line, street work 
repaired per Standard Drawing No. 1306.  Include Auto CAD electronic submittal) 

 
18.    Three (3) sets of Traffic Signal improvement plan and One (1) copy of Traffic Signal Specifications with 

modified Special Provisions.  Please contact the Traffic Division at (909) 395-2154 to obtain Traffic Signal 
Specifications.          

 
19.    Two (2) copies of Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP), including one (1) copy of the approved 

Preliminary WQMP (PWQMP). 
 

Item C - 59 of 63



Project File No. TM-20557 [PMTT22-018, PDEV22-026] 
Project Engineer: David Zurita 
DAB Date: August 7, 2023 

Last Revised: 7/17/2023            Page 14 of 14  

20.    One (1) copy of Hydrology/Drainage study 
 

21.    One (1) copy of Soils/Geology report 
 

22.    Payment for Final Map/Parcel Map processing fee  
 

23.    Three (3) copies of Final Map/Parcel Map 
 

24.    One (1) copy of approved Tentative Map 
 

25.    One (1) copy of Preliminary Title Report (current within 30 days) 
 

26.    One (1) copy of Traverse Closure Calculations 
 

27.    One (1) set of supporting documents and maps (legible copies): referenced improvement plans (full 
size), referenced record final maps/parcel maps (full size, 18”x26”), Assessor’s Parcel map (full size, 
11”x17”), recorded documents such as deeds, lot line adjustments, easements, etc. 

 
28.    Two (2) copies of Engineering Report and an electronic file (include PDF format electronic submittal) for 

recycled water   use 
 

29.    Other: _______________________________________ 
 
 

Item C - 60 of 63



 
Page 1 of 3 

S:\OMUC\40000 ENGINEERING\44000 Land Development\P\2022\PDEV22-026, PMTT22-018\PDEV22-026, PMTT22-018 DPR3 (#9317, 
9318) COA.docx 

 

 CITY OF ONTARIO 
 MEMORANDUM   

 

DATE: July 13, 2023 
TO: David Zurita, Engineering Department 
CC: Elly Antuna, Planning Department 
FROM: Heather Young, Utilities Engineering Division 

(QCR) Christy Stevens, Utilities Engineering Division 
SUBJECT: DPR#3 - Utilities Conditions of Approval (COA) (#9317, 9318)   
PROJECT NO.: TM-20557 (PMTT22-018), PDEV22-026 

 
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: 
A Tentative Tract Map for Common Interest Subdivision purposes, to subdivide 3.9 acres of land into a single parcel 
for condominium purposes to facilitate the construction of 70 multiple-family dwellings on approximately 3.9 acres of 
land located at 2037 and 2055 South Fern Avenue, within the MDR18 (Medium Density Residential - 11.1 to 18.0 
du/ac) zoning district (APNs: 1050-591-01 and 1050-591-02). Related File: PDEV22-026. 
 
A Development Plan approval to construct 70 multiple-family dwellings on approximately 3.9 acres of land located at 
2037 and 2055 South Fern Avenue, within the MDR18 (Medium Density Residential - 11.1 to 18.0 du/ac) zoning 
district (APNs: 1050-591-01 and 1050-591-02). Related File(s): PMTT22-018. 

 

OMUC UTILITIES ENGINEERING DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: The Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (OMUC) Utilities Engineering Division 
recommends this application for approval subject to the Conditions of Approval outlined below and compliance with 
the City’s Design Development Guidelines, Specifications Design Criteria, and City Standards. The Applicant shall 
be responsible for the compliance with and the completion of all the following applicable Conditions of Approval 
prior to the following milestones and subject to compliance with City’s Design Development Guidelines, 
Specifications Design Criteria, and City Standards: 

General Conditions: 

1. Standard Conditions of Approval: Project shall comply with the requirements set forth in the Amendment to the 
Standard Conditions of Approval for New Development Projects adopted by the City Council (Resolution No. 
2017-027) on April 18, 2017, or as amended or superseded by Council Resolution; as well as project-specific 
conditions/requirements as outlined below. 

Prior to Issuance of Any Permits (Grading, Building, Demolition and Encroachment), unless other 
timeline milestones are specified by individual conditions below, the Applicant Shall:  

General Conditions (Section 2.A, Other conditions): The Applicant shall comply with the following: 
 

2. Final Utilities Systems Map (USM): Submit a Final Utilities Systems Map (USM) as part of the precise grading 
plan submittal that meets all the City’s USM requirements. These requirements include to show and label all 
existing and proposed utilities (including all appurtenances such as backflow devices, DCDAs, etc.), sizes, 
points of connection, and any easements. The final utility design shall comply with all Division of Drinking Water 
(CCR §64572) Separation Requirements. See Utility Systems Map (USM) Requirements document for details. 

3. Note the following definitions and concepts for Public Utility Improvements and Private Utility Improvements: 
Public Improvements shall be designed per City Public Design Guidelines and City Standards and constructed 
through a City Encroachment Permit; and Private Onsite Improvements shall be designed per Building Code 
and Plumbing Code and constructed through a City Building Permit. 

EXHIBIT B

Item C - 61 of 63



 
Page 2 of 3 

S:\OMUC\40000 ENGINEERING\44000 Land Development\P\2022\PDEV22-026, PMTT22-018\PDEV22-026, PMTT22-018 DPR3 (#9317, 
9318) COA.docx 

a. Public Utility Improvements include the following: water main pipelines and sewer main pipelines; 
sewer laterals connecting to a Public Sewer Main up to the Cleanout (or Manhole) at PL/RoW; water 
services and connected appurtenances (Meters/Meter Boxes, Fire Hydrants, Airvacs, Blowoffs, etc.) 
connecting to a Public Water Main per City Standards; and Fire Services connecting to a Public Water 
Main from the Main up to the DCDA. Public Water Improvements and Public Sewer Improvements are 
required to be designed and constructed through Public Improvement Plans with Plan View and Profile 
View per City Standards, Guidelines, and Requirements. 

b. Private Utility Improvements include the following: onsite water plumbing lines after a Public Meter, or 
after the Fire DCDA and including the DCDA; Backflow Devices and other Cross-Connection 
Prevention; onsite sewer upstream of the Public Sewer Lateral, including the Cleanout (or Manhole) at 
PL/RoW/PUE Edge; Monitoring Manholes and other Wastewater Pretreatment Facilities. Private Onsite 
Utility Improvements are required to be designed and constructed per Building and Plumbing Plans 
with: the Backflows, DCDAs, Cleanout (or Manhole) at PL/RoW/PUE Edge, and Monitoring Manholes 
being designed and constructed through a Precise Grading Plan; and, the other Pretreatment Devices 
(Grease Interceptor, Sand, Oil Interceptors, etc.) and the connections to the buildings and structures 
through a building Plumbing Plan. 

4. Unused Service Abandonment: All adjacent water services (along with connected appurtenances) and sewer 
laterals along the frontages of the project site not used to provide service to this Development Project shall be 
abandoned back to the main in accordance with City Standards and Practices. 

Sanitary Sewer Conditions (Section 2.C): The Applicant shall comply with the following: 

5. Public Sewer Easement: The existing 12-foot public utility easement shall remain for the existing 30-inch public 
sewer main along the southernly project boundary. 

a. Drivable Surface: The surface shall be designed to allow vehicle access. The surface shall be 
decomposed granite and no plantings are allowed within the easement. 

b. Sidewalk Within Easement:  

i. All sidewalks in easement area from units 43 through and including walkway into unit 38 shall 
be reinforced for large vehicle traffic rated loading for needed access within easement. 

ii. Sidewalk within the easement shall be 4-foot widths. 

c. Utility Maintenance Vehicle Access: There shall be gates on the east and west sides of the easement to 
allow for utility maintenance vehicle access. The existing drive approach on the west side of the 
easement shall remain. 

d. Disclosure Notice to Buyer: A disclosure notice shall be provided to buyers of all units prior to sale that 
the 12-foot easement along the southern property line is for the existing 30-inch public sewer main and 
that no plantings will be allowed within the easement. 

e. HOA/Property Management Responsibilities and Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&Rs): 
The HOA CC&Rs shall include that the HOA/Property Management is responsible to repair and replace 
any damaged items, improvements, curbs, sidewalks, etc. located within the 12-foot easement. The 
CC&Rs shall address the existing 12-foot public utility easement (PUE) and contain the following 
restrictions within the PUE: 

i. The PUE shall not contain: 
1. Any storm water quality improvements (infiltration, detention, retention, bioswale, 

etc.);  
2. Any plantings; 
3. Any trees or tree canopy overhangs;  
4. Any private utilities, plumbing lines, private fire system, or irrigation lines; or,  
5. Any permanent structures or overhangs of permanent structures.  

ii. The PUE surface shall be improved, and the surface shall be designed to allow vehicle access 
over and along the full length and width of the utility main by any City maintenance vehicle. 

6. Public Sewer Infrastructure: 

a. Construct two manholes on the existing 30-inch public sewer main located within the 12-foot easement. 
One manhole shall be located perpendicular to the north-south sidewalk between units 39 and 40. The 

Item C - 62 of 63



 
Page 3 of 3 

S:\OMUC\40000 ENGINEERING\44000 Land Development\P\2022\PDEV22-026, PMTT22-018\PDEV22-026, PMTT22-018 DPR3 (#9317, 
9318) COA.docx 

other manhole shall be located perpendicular and centered on the drive lane between units 28 and 29 
on the east side of the property. 

b. The existing sewer manholes shall be protected in place and adjusted to grade. 

7. Sanitary Sewer Service:  

a. Sewer Lateral: The Project’s onsite private sewer system shall discharge wastewater to the Public 
Sanitary Sewer System through a Public Sewer Lateral per Standard #2003 connecting to the existing 
8-inch public sewer main in Fern Avenue. The quantity of Public Sewer Laterals for each building shall 
be limit to the minimum necessary to meet all of the conditions of approved and as limited by the City. 

b. Public Sewer Laterals and Storm Water Quality Improvements: No storm water quality improvements 
(infiltration, detention, retention, bioswale, etc) shall be installed above or with 5 feet of any Public 
Sewer Lateral. 

c. Private Onsite Sewer and Storm Water Quality Improvements: No storm water quality improvements 
(infiltration, detention, retention, bioswale, etc) shall be installed above or within 5 feet of any Private 
Onsite Sewer pipes. 

d. Onsite Sewer: Onsite sewer shall be privately owned and maintained. 

8. Unused Sewer Lateral Abandonment: All unused existing sewer laterals in Fern Avenue fronting the Project 
shall be abandoned back to the main connection. 

Potable Water Conditions (Section 2.D): The Applicant shall comply with the following: 

9. Potable Water Service:  

a. Backflow Prevention:  

i. Each Meter connected to the Public Potable Water System that serves any use that is more 
than one (1) single family residential unit or any non-residential use requires a backflow 
prevention device. A Meter connected to the Public Potable Water System that serves only one 
(1) single family residential unit (and an ADU and/or JADU) in most cases does not require a 
backflow device. 

b. Domestic Service: For domestic water uses: 

i. The Project shall have two (2) domestic water service each with a public master meter 
connected to the Public Potable Water System and have onsite private looping and onsite 
private submetering. 

c. Irrigation Service: For landscape irrigation uses that are not served by Recycled Water, the landscape 
irrigation uses shall have a separate irrigation water service and meter with backflow prevention device 
connected to the Public Potable Water System separate from the domestic water uses and the onsite 
plumbing systems shall be also separate from each other. 

d. Fire Water Service: For onsite private Fire System uses: 

i. Where the domestic water service and meters connected to the Public Potable Water System 
that serves any use that is more than one (1) single family detached residential unit, or any 
non-residential use: if an onsite private fire system is required, then a separate Fire Service 
with Double Check Detector Assembly (DCDA) per City Standard #4208 connected to the 
Public Potable Water System is required, to serve the onsite private fire system. The onsite fire 
system and onsite domestic water plumbing system shall be separate. 

10. Fire Hydrant: Construct one fire hydrant on the east side of Fern Ave fronting the Project, location as required 
by Fire Department.  

11. Unused Potable Water Service Abandonment: All unused existing potable water services in Fern Avenue 
fronting the Project shall be abandoned back to the main connection. 

 

Item C - 63 of 63



Page 1 of 8 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV22-025 (Related File Nos. PUD22-004 and PHP22-015) – SEIR Addendum 

DESCRIPTION: A public hearing to consider the use of an Addendum to The Ontario 
Plan 2050 Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (“Certified SEIR”) for a 
Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-027) to construct 346 apartment units and 5,400 
square feet of commercial space on 9.4 acres of the Project site, located at the 
northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street, within the Mixed Use – 
Neighborhood Hub 8e – Euclid and Walnut (MU-NH 8e) zoning district; submitted by 
Legacy/Collier Residential LLC. Planning Commission action is required.  

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

LEGACY/COLLIER RESIDENTIAL LLC, (herein after referred to as "Applicant") has 
filed a request to consider the use of an Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 (“TOP 2050”) 
Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (“Certified SEIR”) for the approval of a 
Development Plan, File No. PDEV22-027, as described in the subject of this Decision 
(herein after referred to as "Application" or "Project"). The Project has been submitted in 
conjunction with two other applications: 1) the Euclid Walnut Planned Unit Development 
(“PUD”, File No. PUD22-004) to establish the development standards and design 
guidelines for an overall 10.6-acre Project site (subject to recommendation by the 
Planning Commission to the City Council), and 2) a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(PHP22-015) to determine whether the Project site is an historic resource (subject to 
recommendation by the Historic Preservation Subcommittee to the Planning 
Commission/Historic Preservation Commission).  

The Development Advisory Board is only tasked with making a recommendation 
to the Planning Commission for the Addendum and the Development Plan application. 

PROJECT SETTING: The Project site is comprised of 9.4 acres of land located at the 
northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street and is depicted in Figure 1: Project 
Location, below. Existing land uses, Policy Plan (general plan) and zoning designations, 
and specific plan land uses on and surrounding the Project site are as follows: 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

August 7, 2023 

Item D - 1 of 1893



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 – SEIR Addendum 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 8 

 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  

 
The Project to be analyzed by the Development Advisory Board under the Addendum to 
TOP 2050 Subsequent Environmental Impact Report ("Certified SEIR") consists of a 
Development Plan application to construct 346 dwelling units and 5,400 square feet of 
ground-floor commercial space on 9.4 acres of the overall 10.6-acre Project site outlined 
in the PUD. 
 
The Application is a project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (Public 
Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA") and an Initial Study/Addendum has 
been prepared to determine possible environmental impacts. Although the proposed 
project could have a significant effect on the environment, because all potentially 
significant effects have been analyzed adequately in an earlier Certified EIR, and have 
been avoided or mitigated pursuant to that earlier Certified EIR, including revisions or 
mitigation measures that are imposed on the proposed project, nothing further is 
required. The Project will introduce no new significant environmental impacts beyond 
those previously analyzed in the Certified EIR, and all mitigation measures previously 
adopted by the Environmental Impact Report are a condition of project approval and 
are incorporated in the Addendum (see Attachment A—Addendum). 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: The Addendum prepared for the Project included studies and 
assessments (see Appendices A through D to Attachment A – Addendum). A summary 
of each study is as follows: 

 Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Specific Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Site Commercial 

Mixed Use – 
Neighborhood Activity 
Hub, 20.0 – 75.0 du/ac; 

1.0 FAR office/retail 
(MU-NH) 

Mixed Use – 
Neighborhood Hub 8e 

– Euclid and Walnut 
(MU-NH 8e) and Euclid 

Avenue Overlay 

N/A 

North 
Single-family and multi-
family residential, and 

commercial 

Mixed Use – 
Neighborhood Activity 
Hub, 20.0 – 75.0 du/ac; 

1.0 FAR office/retail 
(MU-NH); Medium 

Density, 11.1-25 du/ac 
(MDR) 

Mixed Use – 
Neighborhood Hub 8e 

– Euclid and Walnut 
(MU-NH 8e) and Euclid 

Avenue Overlay 

N/A 

South Single-family residential Low-Density Residential, 
2/1-5.0 du/ac (LDR) 

Low-Density Residential 
(LDR-5) N/A 

East Commercial 
Neighborhood 

Commercial, 0.4 FAR 
(NC) 

Neighborhood 
Commercial (CN) N/A 

West Multi-family residential Medium Density, 11.1-
25 du/ac (MDR) 

Medium-Density 
Residential (MDR-18) N/A 

Item D - 2 of 1893



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 – SEIR Addendum 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 8 

a) Health Risk Assessment (“HRA”) – An HRA was prepared to evaluate 
potential cancerogenic and non-cancerogenic health effects that could result from the 
Project site’s exposure to toxic air contaminant concentrations. The report analyzed the 
Project location and surrounding land uses, proposed development and phasing, and 
existing estimated sources of air toxics in proximity of the Project site using applicable 
guidelines and models. The results of the modeling indicated that the Project site would 
be below SCAQMD’s cancer risk threshold with the installation of required Minimum 
Efficiency Rating Value (MERV) 13 standards. Cancer and non-cancer risks were found 
to not exceed thresholds and no mitigation or further abatement of air toxic 
concentrations is required. Compliance with standard building code requirements would 
be sufficient to reduce potential risks below SCAQMD thresholds. 

 
b) Hydrology & Water Quality Management Plan (“WQMP”) – A preliminary 

hydrology report and WQMP were completed for the Project site. The purpose of the 
hydrology report is to determine whether the storm water runoff from the completed 
Project site will exceed 90 percent of the pre-Project runoff discharge rate for certain 
rainfall events by analyzing existing and proposed drainage alongside soil and 
precipitation-rainfall intensity data. The report found that the proposed development 
discharge rates will be reduced due to reduction of imperviousness and temporary 
detention. Further, the analysis anticipates that there will be no flooding in the site due to 
this development and TOP 2050 SEIR’s existing mitigation measures. The purpose of the 
WQMP is to serve as a tool to improve integration of required water quality elements, 
stormwater management, water conservation, rainwater harvesting and re-use and 
flood management in land use planning. The WQMP included a geotechnical report that 
found no evidence of adverse geological or geotechnical hazards at the site that will 
preclude the development of the Project as currently proposed, and issued 
geotechnical design recommendations accordingly. 

 
c) Trip Generation Analysis – A Trip Generation Analysis was prepared for the 

Project site to analyze the traffic generation forecast potential for the proposed 
demolition of an existing commercial center and construction of a mixed-use residential 
and commercial development. The analysis found that the proposed Project (including 
current Phase 1 and future Phase 2) would result in a lower trip generation forecast when 
compared to the existing/entitled land use (commercial). Therefore, it concluded that 
the proposed Project can be expected to generate trips that would be within the trip 
budget originally approved for the Project site and would not create any new traffic 
impacts. 
 
 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, The Ontario Plan 2050 Supplemental Environmental Impact Report 
(State Clearinghouse No. 2021070364) was certified on August 16, 2022, (hereinafter 
referred to as "Certified SEIR"), in which development and use of the Project site was 
discussed; and 
 

Item D - 3 of 1893



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 – SEIR Addendum 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 8 

WHEREAS, the Planning Director of the City of Ontario prepared and approved for 
attachment to the Certified SEIR, an Addendum to the Certified SEIR (hereinafter referred 
to as "SEIR Addendum") in accordance with the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act of 1970, together with State and local guidelines implementing 
said Act, all as amended to date (collectively referred to as "CEQA"); and 
 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of this Project were thoroughly analyzed in 
the SEIR Addendum, which concluded that implementation of the Project could result in 
a number of significant effects on the environment that were previously analyzed in the 
Certified SEIR, and that the Certified SEIR identified mitigation measures that would 
reduce each of those significant effects to a less-than-significant level; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15164(a), a lead agency 

shall prepare an addendum to a previously certified EIR if some changes or additions are 
necessary to a project, but the preparation of a subsequent or supplemental EIR is not 
required; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City determined that none of the conditions requiring preparation 
of a subsequent or supplemental EIR would occur from the Project, and that preparation 
of an Addendum to the Certified SEIR was appropriate; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Ontario is the lead agency on the Project, and the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") is the recommending 
authority for the requested approval to construct and otherwise undertake the Project; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the DAB has reviewed and considered the SEIR Addendum and related 
documents for the Project, and intends to take actions on the Project in compliance with 
CEQA and state and local guidelines implementing CEQA; and 
 

WHEREAS, the SEIR Addendum and related documents are on file in the City of 
Ontario Planning Department, located at 303 East B Street, Ontario, CA 91764, and are 
available for inspection by any interested person at that location and are, by this 
reference, incorporated into this Resolution as if fully set forth herein; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants 
the DAB the responsibility and authority to review and act, or make recommendation to 
the Planning Commission on the subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which the public notification of environmental actions shall be 
provided and hearing procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and 
procedures have been accomplished pursuant to Development Code requirements; 
and 
 

Item D - 4 of 1893



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 – SEIR Addendum 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 8 

WHEREAS, on August 7, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a hearing 
on the Project, and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the hearing and adoption of this Decision have 
occurred. 
 
 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the recommending 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the Addendum, the initial study, and the administrative record for the Project, including 
all written and oral evidence provided during the comment period. Based upon the facts 
and information contained in the Addendum, the initial study, and the administrative 
record, including all written and oral evidence presented to the DAB, the DAB finds as 
follows: 
 
(1) The environmental impacts of the Project were reviewed in conjunction with an 
Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (State 
Clearinghouse No. 2021070364, certified by the Ontario City Council on August 16, 2022, 
in conjunction with File No. PGPA20-002); and 
 
(2) The EIR Addendum and administrative record have been completed in 
compliance with CEQA, the State CEQA Guidelines, and the City of Ontario Local CEQA 
Guidelines; and 
 
(3) The City's "Guidelines for the Implementation of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental assessment in situations 
where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately analyzed. This Application 
introduces no new significant environmental impacts; and 
 
(4) All previously adopted mitigation measures shall be a condition of Project 
approval, as they are applicable to the Project, and are incorporated herein by this 
reference; and 
 
(5) The SEIR Addendum contains a complete and accurate reporting of the 
environmental impacts associated with the Project, and reflects the independent 
judgment of the Development Advisory Board; and 
 
(6) There is no substantial evidence in the administrative record supporting a fair 
argument that the Project may result in significant environmental impacts. 
 

Item D - 5 of 1893



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 – SEIR Addendum 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 8 

SECTION 2: Subsequent or Supplemental Environmental Review Not Required. 
Based on the SEIR Addendum, all related information presented to the DAB, and the 
specific findings set forth in Section 1, above, the DAB finds that the preparation of a 
subsequent or supplemental Certified SEIR is not required for the Project, as the Project: 
 
(1) Does not constitute substantial changes to the Certified SEIR that will require major 
revisions to the Certified SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental 
effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; 
and 
 
(2) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified SEIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified 
SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(3) Does not contain new information of substantial importance that was not known 
and could not have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time 
the Certified SEIR was certified/adopted, that shows any of the following: 
 

(a) The Project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the 
Certified EIR; or 

 
(b) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe 

than shown in the Certified SEIR; or 
 
(c) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible 

would in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
of the Project, but the City declined to adopt such measures; or 

 
(d) Mitigation measures or alternatives considerably different from those 

analyzed in the Certified SEIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
on the environment, but which the City declined to adopt. 
 

SECTION 3: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the recommending body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 
properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

SECTION 4: Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan ("ALUCP") Compliance. The 
California State Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that 
an Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; 

Item D - 6 of 1893



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 – SEIR Addendum 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 8 

and requires that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be 
consistent with the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 

(1) On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and 
adopted the ONT ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International 
Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los 
Angeles Counties, and limits future land uses and development within the Airport 
Influence Area, as they relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity. As the recommending body for the Project, 
the DAB has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the DAB, therefore, finds and 
determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with the conditions of 
approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within the ONT ALUCP. 
 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. The DAB does hereby find that 
based upon the entire record of proceedings before it, and all information received, that 
there is no substantial evidence that the Project will constitute substantial changes to the 
Certified SEIR, and does hereby recommend the Planning Commission recommend the 
adoption of the SEIR Addendum to the Certified SEIR, included as Attachment A of this 
Decision. 
 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, 
action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to 
attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the 
applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall 
cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August 2023. 

 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
 

Item D - 7 of 1893



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 – SEIR Addendum 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A 
 

Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Supplemental 
Environmental Impact Report 

 
(EIR Addendum follows this page) 

 

Item D - 8 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 1 of 70 

 
 
Project Title/File No.: Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development Mixed-Use Project (File Nos. PDEV22-
027, PUD22-004, and PHP22-015) 
 
Lead Agency: City of Ontario, 303 East “B” Street, Ontario, California 91764, (909) 395-2036 
 
Contact Person:  Alexis Vaughn, Associate Planner, 909.395.2416, Email: avaughn@ontarioca.gov 
 
Project Sponsor: Legacy/Colliers Residential, LLC 
 
Project Location: The 10.6-acre project site is located in southwestern San Bernardino County, within the 
City of Ontario (City) as shown in Figure 1 below.  The City of Ontario is located approximately 40 miles 
from downtown Los Angeles, 20 miles from downtown San Bernardino, and 30 miles from Orange County. 
As illustrated in Figure 2 below, the project site is almost square shaped and located north of W. Walnut 
Street and west of Euclid Avenue in the southwest portion of the City (just south of SR-60). The project site 
includes Assessors’ Parcel Numbers; 1051-271-67, 1051-271-06, 1051-271-66. All full rights-of-way for 
public streets that are required for this project have already been dedicated and granted to the City.  
 

Figure 1: REGIONAL LOCATION MAP 

City of Ontario 
Planning Department 
303 East B Street 
Ontario, California 91764 
Phone: 909.395.2036 
Fax: 909.395.2420 

California Environmental Quality Act 

Addendum to The Ontario Plan 
Environmental Impact Report 

PROJCT SITE 

Item D - 9 of 1893

mailto:avaughn@ontarioca.gov


CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 2 of 70 

 June 28, 2023 
Figure 2: PUD VICINITY MAP 

 
             

  

Item D - 10 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 3 of 70 

General Plan/Zoning. The Ontario Plan (TOP) is the City’s comprehensive plan for the community over 
the next thirty years.  TOP 2050 is the City’s established framework for development and has three policy 
level components, the Vision, a Governance Manual and the Policy Plan. The most current version of TOP 
and its environmental impact report (EIR) are dated August 16, 2022 (State Clearinghouse No. 
2021070364). Figure LU-01 of The Ontario Plan (TOP) 2050 is the City’s current Land Use Plan which 
indicates the project site is designated as Mixed Use but is further classified as a Neighborhood Community 
Hub (NH). The site is currently zoned Mixed-Use (MU-8e) within the Euclid Avenue (EA) overlay corridor 
as shown below: 

General Plan Designation: Existing – Mixed Use Neighborhood Community Hub (MU-NH) 

Proposed – Mixed Use Neighborhood Community Hub (MU-NH) 

Zoning: Existing – Mixed-Use 8e (Euclid and Walnut)  
 
Proposed – Planned Unit Development (PUD) with Commercial/ 
Residential Mixed Use within Euclid Avenue Overlay Zoning District (EA) 

 
The Mixed-Use Neighborhood Hub (MU-NH) designation allows low-rise buildings (3-5 stories) with a 
mixture of retail and residential uses that will create identity and place and serve the surrounding residents. 
This category allows for residential densities ranging from 20 - 75 dwelling units per acre and non-residential 
intensity of 1.00 Floor Area Ratio. 
 
The TOP shows a total of five locations within the City with the MU-NH land use designation. The Future 
Buildout Projections Table of the Land Use Element provides further details for each of these five MU-NH 
sub-areas. The three parcels subject to this PUD make up 10.6 acres (“PUD site”) of the overall 16 acres 
that comprise the “MU-NH” sub-area.  The remaining 5.4 acres of the MU-NH area include approximately 
28,000 square feet of existing businesses (gas station, pre-school, and 2 small businesses) and 15 single 
family homes between the PUD site and the SR-60 Freeway to the north. The PUD site currently contains 
a Carl’s Jr. restaurant, former Kmart Shopping Center, and a strip retail building. The TOP indicates the 
projected buildout for the entire 16 acres of this sub-area will eventually have a total of 369 dwelling units 
and 142,840 square feet of non-residential development. Development of the proposed PUD would slightly 
exceed the total number of residential units for this area under the TOP (369 MF+15 SF=384 total units vs. 
369 projected total units). However, development of the PUD would substantially reduce the amount of 
anticipated non-residential growth in this sub-area (12,000 SF in the PUD plus 28,000 existing = 40,000 SF 
vs. 142,840 SF). Therefore, development of the “PUD project” would result in a 4% increase in residential 
impacts but a 28% decrease in commercial impacts. While this Addendum only covers impacts of the new 
residential and commercial uses currently proposed under the PUD Project described below, the preceding 
analysis demonstrates the anticipated impacts of growth in this MU-NH sub-area with the PUD are 
considered to be equivalent or less than those identified in TOP EIR for this sub-area. 
 
Description of PUD Project: The Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development (PUD) project proposes to 
demolish the existing commercial center and construct a total of 369 apartment units with 12,000 square 
feet (SF) of ground floor retail uses. The PUD project is expected to be completed in two phases. Phase 1 
would leave the existing Carl’s Jr. site in its current condition, demolish the other existing commercial 
structures, and develop 5,400 SF of ground floor retail space and 346 apartment units consisting of 18 
studio units, 190 one-bedroom units, and 138 two-bedroom units. Phase 2 would consist of demolishing 
the existing Carl’s Jr. and constructing an additional 23 apartment units and 6,600 SF of ground floor retail 
space. Table 1 shows the building characteristics of the proposed project as part of the PUD while Figure 
3 shows the proposed zoning of the PUD project. 
 
  

Item D - 11 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 4 of 70 

Table 1: Proposed PUD Project Land Uses 

AREA/TIMING ACRES UNITS SQUARE FEET 
Existing Uses 
   (to be demolished) 

10.6 0 105,050 

Euclid/Walnut PUD 
   Phase 1 
   Phase 2 

10.6 
9.4 
1.2 

369 
346 
23 

12,000 
5,400 
6,600 

Remainder of MU-NH Area 5.4 0 130,840 
 
TOTAL 

 
16.0 

 
369 

 
142,840 

Source: PUD May 2023    NA = acres not applicable due to mixed use development 
 

 
Figure 3: PROPOSED PUD ZONING 

 

 
       Source: PUD May 2023 
 
Planned Unit Development (PUD). The PUD provides planning and design principles, development 
regulations, and performance standards to guide the redevelopment of an existing commercial shopping 
center. The PUD will facilitate mixed-use development of high-density apartments, restaurants, retail shops, 
and other commercial services. The PUD is intended to achieve the City’s goals to economically revitalize 
and aesthetically enhance an underutilized parcel located along the Euclid Avenue corridor.  
 
The PUD is organized to meet the requirements of the Ontario Development Code (ODC) and will replace 
the existing zoning district designation and ODC regulations applicable to the affected properties. The PUD 
site also falls within the “Euclid Avenue Overlay” Zoning District (EA) and any applicable requirements of 
the EA will remain in effect. City staff and private developers will rely on this PUD to determine whether 
future precise plans for development ("Development Plans") adequately meet the City's land use and design 
objectives as outlined in The Ontario Plan (TOP) 2050. 
 
 

Item D - 12 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 5 of 70 

The PUD establishes a singular zoning district of Commercial/Residential Mixed Use consistent with TOP 
2050 MU-NH land use designation. The PUD allows both horizontal and vertical mixed-use buildings with 
a combination of three- and four-story buildings. Buildings with direct Euclid Avenue frontage will contain 
ground-floor commercial uses and residential units directly above. All other buildings will contain residential 
units on all floor levels. A combination of garages, tandem spaces, carports, and surface level parking 
spaces will be provided onsite with gated access limited to residents and residents’ guests. Unrestricted 
access to surface level parking will serve the commercial uses and provide additional resident guest parking 
spaces.  
 
It should be noted the TOP EIR addendum is required in order for the PUD project’s density to exceed the 
TOP 2050 land use assumptions for the site (i.e., Mixed-Use – Neighborhood Activity Hub 8e - Euclid & 
Walnut) which designates the site at 75% of the area at 30 du/ac and 25% of the area at 0.80 FAR retail. 
The proposed PUD would slightly exceed the total number of residential units for this area under the TOP 
(384 total units with PUD vs. 369 projected total units). However, development of the PUD would 
substantially reduce the amount of anticipated non-residential growth in this sub-area (40,000 SF with the 
PUD vs. 142,840 SF under TOP growth). Therefore, development of the “PUD project” would result in a 
4% increase in residential impacts but a 28% decrease in commercial impacts compared to what was 
analyzed in TOP EIR. 
 
Phasing. The PUD project will be completed in two phases. Phase 1 comprises the entire PUD site except 
for the existing drive-thru restaurant site (Carl’s Jr.) which is occupied by an approximately 4,100 square 
foot building and its related site improvements. Phase 1 will require the demolition of a combined 100,950 
square feet of commercial/retail buildings (not including the Carl’s Jr.) and related site improvements. Phase 
I will be redeveloped with two four-story buildings and six three-story buildings, providing a combined total 
of 346 dwelling units; 5,400 square feet of ground floor commercial space, associated on-site parking areas 
for both residential and non-residential land uses, and landscaping and recreational amenities for residents. 
Figure 4 shows the Phase 1 Conceptual Site Plan. 
  
Phase 2 will finish implementation of the total build-out of the area within the PUD project by demolishing 
the Carl’s Jr. restaurant building and related site improvements and replacing them with additional vertical 
mixed-use development, constructing an additional four-story building. Completion of the second phase 
would provide up to an additional 23 dwelling units and up to an additional 6,600 square feet of ground-
floor commercial space, and the associated site improvements. 
 
The PUD is applicable to both phases of the project, which will construct a horizontal and vertical mixed-
use development, with a maximum of 369 dwelling units and up to 12,000 square feet of commercial land 
uses occupying the ground floor of buildings with Euclid Avenue frontage. 
 
Construction. All construction activities, including site demolition, regrading, building construction, paving, 
and the application of architectural coatings, are expected to take approximately 28 months for Phase 1. 
The specific timing of development of Phase 2 has not yet been determined but will include similar activities 
as those listed for Phase 1. The overall construction of the PUD project is consistent with the level of 
development outlined in TOP and its EIR and would only differ by having +4% more units but 28% less 
non-residential square footage with the PUD. While no additional specific information on Phase 2 
construction is presented at this time, overall development and construction of the 10.6-acre MU-NH sub-
area would be similar with or without the PUD in terms of land area developed. 
 
  

Item D - 13 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 6 of 70 

Figure 4: PHASE 1 CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN 

 
 
 
Development Regulations. Development within this PUD will comply with Ontario Development Code 
(ODC) standards and requirements applicable to Multiple-Family Dwellings and Commercial development, 
as determined appropriate by the City Director of Community Development. Table 2 provides a summary 
of development standards for the PUD project. The PUD project will not exceed a maximum 40 dwelling 
units per acre and will not exceed 369 dwelling units upon build-out of Phase 2. The overall building height 
of four-story buildings will not exceed 60 feet and all other buildings will not exceed 50 feet (max. 3 stories), 
inclusive of architectural projections. Non-residential development is subject to a maximum 0.5 floor area 
ratio based upon the net site area.  
 
Access and Improvements.  Vehicular access from the public right of way will be limited to two locations 
along Euclid Avenue and a maximum of three locations along Walnut Street as approved by the City 
Engineer. As determined by the City Engineer, design and construction of street improvements, adjacent 
to the property frontage of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street will be conditioned and may include, but are 
not limited to concrete curb and gutter, sidewalk, LED streetlights, signing and striping, and parkway 
landscaping. 
  

Item D - 14 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 7 of 70 

Table 2: Summary of PUD Development Standards 

DEVELOPMENT STANDARD REQUIREMENT NOTES 
Maximum Intensity – Floor Area Ratio  0.50 FAR Gross building square 

footage of commercial 
space 

Density Range – Minimum and Maximum  20.1 – 40 Up to a maximum of 369 
dwelling units 

Maximum Building Height by Number of 
Stories 
   Four Stories 
   Three Stories 

 
 

60 feet  
50 feet  

Inclusive of architectural 
projections and equipment 
screening 

Building Setbacks – From Right-of-Way 
 

 
10 feet minimum 

 
 

Setbacks – Interior Property Line 
   Buildings Adjacent to Residential  
   Buildings Adjacent to Non-Residential 
   Carport or Trash Enclosure 

 
50 feet minimum 
5 feet minimum 
5 feet minimum 

 

Building Separation 
   Building to Building 
   Building to Drive Aisle or Parking Areas 
   Building to Carport 
   Patio to Patio 

 
25 feet minimum 
5 feet minimum 

25 feet minimum 
15 feet minimum 

Individual driveway depth 
limited to 5 ft. or less, or 18 
ft. or more 

Minimum Number Parking Spaces 
   Ratio for Residential Uses 
   Ratio for Non-Residential Uses 

 
1.2 spaces/bedroom 

1 space/250 square feet 

 
Inclusive of guest spaces 
 

Residential Open Space and Common 
Amenities – Combined Minimum Ratio 
   Minimum Private Open Space Ratio  
   Minimum Common Amenity Ratio 

 
250 square feet/dwelling unit 
50 square feet/dwelling unit 
175 square feet/dwelling unit 

 
 
5 feet min. width and length 
15% maximum indoor 

Residential Storage Units 150 cubic feet/dwelling unit 
minimum 

Does not include closets or 
cabinets interior to the unit 

Source: PUD Table 4-1, Summary of Development Standards 
 
 
 
Grading and Drainage. The PUD site is already developed and essentially flat so its development is not 
expected to require substantial grading and earthwork is generally expected to be balanced onsite (i.e., no 
substantial import or export of soil). Under the PUD, onsite stormwater drainage facilities will be provided 
consistent with the San Bernardino County Stormwater Program's Water Quality Management Plan 
(WQMP) requirements for new development projects. Stormwater capture and infiltration facilities may 
include the utilization of vegetated swales, depressed landscaped basins, pervious concrete pavement or 
underground stormwater retention/infiltration vaults.  
 
Landscaping.  The PUD site will be fully landscaped according to a detailed Landscaping Plan that will be 
submitted with the Development Plan. The Landscaping Plan will specify all landscape and hardscape 
elements of the residential open space and common amenities, as well as the perimeter yards abutting the 
street rights-of-way and all street trees.  The Plan will provide water conservation through low water using 
plant materials, hydro zones, water efficient irrigation and weather-based controllers. Landscaped areas 
will also be used for storm water infiltration through vegetated swales, retention basins, or dry wells as 
needed with appropriate planting materials. The Landscaping Plan will satisfy the requirements of the City’s 
Landscape Development Standards outlined in the ODC. Street trees shall comply with the variety, size, 
and spacing as directed by the City of Ontario Master Street Tree Plan. 
 
Open Space/Recreation. The PUD indicates each residential unit will have 50 square feet of private open 
space (i.e., balcony or patio) and will have 175 square feet per residential unit of common amenities. The 
PUD project proposes a total of 369 units so the overall development will have a minimum of 64,575 square 
feet of common open space amenities. This may include a combination of passive and active, indoor and 

Item D - 15 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 8 of 70 

outdoor spaces, roof top or upper floor decks, as well as landscaped and hardscaped ground surfaces 
providing paseos between or adjacent to buildings. Up to 15 percent of the overall common amenity square 
footage may consist of indoor area and be grouped into a single building that is accessible to all residents; 
providing opportunities for fitness, various lounge/gathering space, business/mail center and similar 
amenities. The remaining common amenities provided shall be in the form of outdoor common areas 
consisting of both programmed and unprogrammed spaces.  Programmed space may provide specific 
amenities such as a dog park, seating/conversational area, outdoor cooking facilities with table seating 
areas, etc. while unprogrammed space may provide passive use, such as landscaped paseos. 
 
Fences and Walls. Exhibit 5-6 in the PUD provides a comprehensive plan for walls and fences that is 
compatible with the proposed building architecture and will not encroach into the public right-of-way. 
 
Lighting. The PUD project includes security and decorative lighting for the new proposed commercial and 
residential buildings, parking areas, and access routes consistent with the PUD and the City’s Development 
Code. The lighting plan shows that all lighting is shielded and directed toward the ground to the extent 
necessary to minimize potential impacts on neighboring residential uses. 
 
Utilities. The PUD project site is already developed so its redevelopment will be served by existing water 
lines and wastewater flows and/or upgraded to satisfy the required capacities as determined by the City 
and its service purveyors/agencies.  
 
Requested Approvals. The PUD project requires approval of the PUD and subsequent approval of site 
plans and improvement plans consistent with the PUD. The project application includes a Development 
Plan (File No. PDEV22-027, a Planned Unit Development (File No. PUD22-004), and an Addendum to the 
EIR prepared for TOP which was certified by the City Council on August 16, 2022. The EIR Addendum will 
allow the PUD project to comply with the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 
 
PUD Objectives.  The proposed PUD will facilitate the redevelopment of the project site with structures 
and related improvements that support both residential and non-residential land uses within the same 
project site.  In addition to facilitating achievement of many City TOP goals and policies, this PUD 
establishes the following objectives: 
  

 Develop and provide new, high-quality rental housing combined with a mixed-use component.  

 Provide transition between new mixed-use development and surrounding residential 
neighborhoods and commercial properties.  

 Provide areas of private and passive open space for each residential unit, as well as community 
gathering and active open spaces.  

 Promote development that is consistent with the MU-NH – Mixed Use Neighborhood Activity Hub 
land use designation.  

 Promote revitalization of commercial uses on the project site by establishing new ground-floor 
retail and similar uses that serve on-site residents and those in surrounding neighborhoods.  

 Provide outdoor gathering places adjacent to commercial storefronts, such as outdoor patio or 
bench seating with inviting/attractive landscape elements.  

 Orient non-residential, ground-floor uses towards Euclid Avenue.  

 Incorporate site design solutions to allow for phased development.  

 Satisfy the build-out projections for residential dwelling units within the MU-NH (Euclid- Walnut) 
sub-area, as defined in TOP 2050. 

 
Project Setting:  The PUD project site consists of approximately 10.6 acres of land within western Ontario. 
The site is almost square in shape and is located at the northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and W. Walnut 
Street just south of the SR-60 Freeway. The site is currently developed with a 4,100-square foot Carl’s Jr. 
drive-through restaurant and 100,950 square feet of commercial buildings including a former Kmart 
building) plus a small retail building with several tenants. The site is relatively flat with elevations ranging 

Item D - 16 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 9 of 70 

from 818 feet above mean sea level (amsl) in the northeast corner down to 810 feet amsl at the southeast 
corner with a gentle slope of less than one percent to the southwest. Runoff from the site generally flows 
toward the adjacent roadways (Euclid to the east and Walnut to the south). 
 
The site is in a built-up urbanized area with existing residential uses to the west, south, and southeast, 
commercial uses to the east, and mixed residential and commercial uses to the north up to the freeway. 
The location and extent of existing land uses are shown in the previous Figure 2.  
 
Project Background: The PUD project site was developed in the later part of the 20th Century with a variety 
of commercial uses, many of which are now vacant. No major planning, development, or environmental 
work has been done in the past 10+ years on this site. However, the City’s TOP and its EIR was most 
recently adopted in 2022 and contain current and accurate environmental information about the project site 
and applicable mitigation as explained below and as summarized at the end of this document.  
 
On August 16, 2022, the Ontario City Council adopted the latest version of TOP, which serves as the City’s 
General Plan under state law and provides a foundation for the City to operate as a municipal corporation. 
The TOP consists of six (6) distinct components: 1) Vision; 2) Governance Manual; 3) Policy Plan; 4) 
Council Priorities; 5) Implementation; and 6) Tracking and Feedback. The Policy Plan component of TOP 
meets the functional and legal mandate of a municipal General Plan and contains nine elements; Land Use, 
Housing, Parks and Recreation, Environmental Resources, Community Economics, Safety, Mobility, 
Community Design and Social Resources. 
 
The City Council certified TOP EIR (SCH # 2021070364) which analyzed the direct and physical changes 
in the environment that would be caused by implementation of TOP; focusing on changes to land use 
associated with the buildout of the proposed land use plan and impacts from population and employment 
growth in the City. The project proposes land uses consistent with TOP 2050.  The significant unavoidable 
adverse impacts that were identified in TOP EIR included: agriculture resources, air quality, cultural 
resources, greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, noise and transportation/traffic. 
 
CEQA requires lead agencies to use the most current and accurate environmental information in analyzing 
project impacts. Therefore, consistent with the requirements of CEQA, the proposed project has been 
analyzed relative to current technical studies and TOP EIR. These uses will be consistent with the 
residential uses to the west, south, and southwest, the commercial uses to the east, and the mixed 
residential and commercial uses to the north.  
 
CEQA Requirements for an Addendum: If changes to a project or its circumstances occur or new 
information becomes available after adoption of an EIR or negative declaration, the lead agency may: (1) 
prepare a subsequent EIR if the criteria of CEQA Guidelines Section 15162(a) are met, (2) prepare a 
subsequent negative declaration, (3) prepare an addendum, or (4) prepare no further documentation. 
(CEQA Guidelines Section 15162(b)). When only minor technical changes or additions to the EIR (or 
negative declaration) are necessary and none of the conditions described in Section 15162 calling for the 
preparation of a subsequent EIR or negative declaration have occurred, CEQA allows the lead agency to 
prepare and adopt an addendum. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15164(b).)   
 
Under Section 15162, a subsequent EIR or negative declaration is required only when:   
 
1) Substantial changes are proposed in the project which will require major revisions of the previous EIR 

or negative declaration due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects;  

 
2) Substantial changes occur with respect to the circumstances under which the project is undertaken 

which will require major revisions of the EIR or negative declaration due to the involvement of any new 
significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified 
significant effects; or 

 
3) New information of substantial importance, which was not known and could not have been known with 

the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time the EIR or negative declaration was adopted, shows 
any of the following: 

Item D - 17 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 10 of 70 

a) The project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the previous EIR or negative 
declaration; 

b) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe than shown in the previous 
EIR; 

c) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible would in fact be feasible and 
would substantially reduce one or more significant effects of the project, but the project proponents 
decline to adopt the mitigation measure or alternative; or 

d) Mitigation measures or alternatives which are considerably different from those analyzed in the 
previous EIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects on the environment, but 
the project proponents decline to adopt the mitigation measure or alternative. 

 
Thus, if the PUD project does not result in any of the circumstances listed in Section 15162 (i.e., no new or 
substantially greater significant impacts), the City may adopt an addendum to TOP EIR. 
 
CEQA Analysis: According to CEQA Guidelines Section 15164, an Addendum to a previously certified EIR 
may be used if some changes or additions are necessary, but none of the conditions described in Section 
15162 requiring the preparation of a subsequent negative declaration or EIR have occurred. The CEQA 
Guidelines require that a brief explanation be provided to support the findings that no subsequent EIR or 
negative declaration are needed for further discretionary approval. These findings are described below: 
 
1)  Required Finding: Substantial changes are not proposed for the project that will require major revisions 

of the previous EIR due to the involvement of new, significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified effects. 

 
Substantial changes are not proposed by the project compared to what is allowed in TOP, and project 
implementation will not require revisions to TOP EIR. TOP EIR analyzed the direct and physical 
changes in the environment that would be caused by TOP; focusing on changes to land use associated 
with the buildout of the proposed land use plan. The site is located within the Mixed Use – Neighborhood 
Community Hub (MU-NH) designation of TOP. The PUD project will provide both mixed uses and be 
an activity hub for the surrounding neighborhoods.  
 
Under TOP, projected buildout of the entire 16 acres of MU-NH overlay property would have a total of 
369 dwelling units and 142,840 square feet of non-residential development. The PUD project proposes 
369 units and approximately 12,000 square feet of the non-residential development on 10.6 acres, 
leaving 130,840 square feet of non-residential development to be built in the remainder of the MU-NH 
area adjacent to the SR-60 Freeway. 
 
Since the anticipated buildout resulting from the PUD project will be equivalent to or less than that 
originally analyzed in TOP EIR, no revisions to TOP EIR are required. 
   
In addition, all previously adopted mitigation measures of TOP EIR are conditions of project approval 
or mitigation measures and are incorporated herein by reference. This document provides an analysis 
of the project and verification that the project will not cause any new or more significant environmental 
impacts. 
 

2) Required Finding: Substantial changes have not occurred with respect to the circumstances under 
which the project is undertaken, that would require major revisions of the previous Environmental 
Impact Report due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of previously identified significant effects. 

 
Substantial changes have not occurred with respect to the circumstances under which the project was 
undertaken, that would require major revisions to TOP EIR. TOP EIR evaluated the site as a mixture 
of land uses up to 369 residential units and 142,840 square feet of non-residential development. The 
PUD project proposes 369 units and approximately 12,000 square feet of the non-residential 
development, leaving 130,840 square feet of non-residential development to be built in the remainder 
of the MU-NH area adjacent to the SR-60 Freeway. 

Item D - 18 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 11 of 70 

 
Therefore, no proposed changes or revisions to TOP EIR are required. In addition, all previously 
adopted TOP EIR mitigation measures are incorporated herein by reference. This document provides 
an analysis of the project and verification that the project will not cause any new or more significant 
environmental impacts. 

 
3) Required Finding. No new information has been provided that would indicate that the proposed project 

would result in one or more significant effects not discussed in the previous EIR.  
 

No new information has been provided that would indicate the proposed project would result in any 
new significant effects not previously discussed in TOP EIR. TOP EIR evaluated the site as a mixture 
of land uses up to 369 residential units and 142,840 square feet of non-residential development. The 
PUD project proposes 369 units and approximately 12,000 square feet of the non-residential 
development, leaving 130,840 square feet of non-residential development to be built in the remainder 
of the MU-NH area adjacent to the SR-60 Freeway. 
 
TOP Figure LU-01, Land Use Plan, and TOP EIR Figure 1-3, Proposed Land Use Plan, indicate the 
proposed PUD project is consistent with the surrounding residential, commercial, and mixed uses. 
Since adoption of the 1992 General Plan, 2022 TOP, and certification of the 2010 TOP EIR, the subject 
site has been planned for a mixture of residential and commercial uses.  
 

Conclusion: TOP EIR, certified by the City Council on August 16, 2022 was prepared as a Program EIR 
in accordance with CEQA, the CEQA Guidelines section 15121(a), and the City’s Rules for the 
Implementation of CEQA. TOP EIR considered the direct physical changes and reasonably foreseeable 
indirect physical changes in the environment that would be caused by TOP. Consequently, TOP EIR 
focused on impacts from changes to land use associated with buildout of the City and impacts from the 
resulting population and employment growth in the City. The proposed project is consistent and compatible 
with existing and planned uses in the surrounding area and would only differ by having +4% more units but 
28% less non-residential square footage with the PUD. While no additional specific information on Phase 
2 construction is presented at this time, overall development and construction of the 10.6-acre MU-NH sub-
area would be similar with or without the PUD in terms of land area developed. The overall construction of 
the PUD project is generally consistent with the level of development outlined in TOP and its EIR The 
amount of development anticipated at PUD project buildout as shown in the previous Table 1 and outlined 
in the Project Description will be equivalent to the development analyzed in TOP EIR. 
 
The proposed PUD differs from the TOP’s assumptions for this project site, so this addendum and 
supplemental studies are required to ensure the project introduces no new significant environmental 
impacts that were identified in TOP EIR. The City's "Guidelines for the Implementation of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental assessment in situations 
where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately analyzed. Should no new significant 
environmental impacts arise as a result of this project and related analyses, all previously adopted 
mitigation measures shall be a condition of project approval.   
 
Accordingly, and based on the conclusions of the previously certified TOP EIR, the analysis in this 
document, CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, including Sections 15164 and 15162, the PUD project will not 
result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in 
TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary, nor is there a need for additional 
mitigation with implementation of the number of conditions of approval required by the City based on the 
results of the site-specific technical studies for burrowing owl and airport safety. 
 
Surrounding Land Uses: The project site is in a built-up urbanized area with existing residential uses to 
the west, south, and southeast, commercial uses to the east, and mixed residential and commercial uses 
to the north up to the freeway. See Table 3 for onsite and surrounding land uses and zoning designations. 
Onsite and surrounding land uses are also shown in the previous Figure 2. 
 

 
 

Item D - 19 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 12 of 70 

Table 3: Existing Land Uses and Zoning Designations 

Location Existing  
Land Uses 

TOP  
Designation 

Zoning  
Designation 

PUD Site Vacant older retail commercial 
and fast-food restaurant 

Mixed Use-Neighborhood 
Community Hub (MU-NH) 

Mixed-Use 8e (Euclid and Walnut)  
within Euclid Avenue Overlay (EA) 

North Mixture of residential and 
commercial uses 

Mixed Use-Neighborhood 
Community Hub (MU-NH) 

Mixed-Use 8e (Euclid and Walnut)  
within Euclid Avenue Overlay (EA) 

South Single Family Residential Low Density  
Residential (2.1-5 du/ac) Low Density Residential (LDR-5) 

East Commercial shopping center Neighborhood  
Commercial (0.4 FAR) 

Neighborhood Commercial (CN)  
within Euclid Avenue Overlay (EA) 

West Multi-Family Residential Medium Density Residential 
(11.1-25 du/ac) Medium Density Residential (MDR-18) 

Source: City Website 2022 and Google Earth 2022    du/ac = dwelling units per acre 
 
 
Other public agencies whose approval is required (e.g., permits, financing approval or participation 
agreement): None 

 
Tribal Consultation: Have California Native American tribes traditionally and culturally affiliated with the 
project area requested consultation pursuant to Public Resources Code section 21080.3.1?  Yes   No 
 

If “yes”, has consultation begun?  Yes      No      Completed 
 
NOTE: Consultation was already conducted as part of TOP EIR and no new consultation is required 
for this Addendum to TOP EIR 
 

Additional Studies: The following additional studies have been or are being prepared in support of the 
analysis in this document regarding potential environmental impacts of the proposed project. These 
studies are in the Appendices to this document and include: 
 

• Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development (PUD) (Appendix A) 
 

• Health Risk Assessment (Appendix B) 
 

• Hydrology and Water Quality (Appendix C) 
 

• Trip Generation (Appendix D) 

 
  

Item D - 20 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 13 of 70 

ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS POTENTIALLY AFFECTED 
 
The environmental factors checked below would be potentially affected by this project, involving at least 
one impact that is a "Potentially Significant Impact" as indicated by the checklist on the following pages. 
 

 Aesthetics  Agriculture/Forestry 
Resources 

 Air Quality 

 Biological Resources  Cultural Resources  Geology / Soils 

 Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions 

 Hazards & Hazardous 
Materials 

 Hydrology / Water Quality 

 Land Use / Planning  Mineral Resources  Noise 

 Population / Housing  Public Services  Recreation 

 Transportation   Utilities / Service Systems  Mandatory Findings of 
Significance 

 Tribal Cultural 
Resources 

 Wildfire  Energy 
 

 
 
DETERMINATION (To be completed by the Lead Agency) 
 
On the basis of this initial evaluation: 

 I find that the proposed project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the environment, and a 
NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared. 

 I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, there will 
not be a significant effect in this case because revisions in the project have been made by or agreed to 
by the project proponent. A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared. 

 I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect on the environment, and an 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required. 

 I find that the proposed project MAY have a "potentially significant" or "potentially significant unless 
mitigated" impact on the environment, but at least one effect 1) has been adequately analyzed in an 
earlier document pursuant to applicable legal standards, and 2) has been addressed by mitigation 
measures based on the earlier analysis as described on attached sheets.  An ENVIRONMENTAL 
IMPACT REPORT is required, but it must analyze only the effects that remain to be addressed. 

 I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, because 
all potentially significant effects (a) have been analyzed adequately in an earlier EIR pursuant to 
applicable standards, and (b) have been avoided or mitigated pursuant to that earlier EIR, including 
revisions or mitigation measures that are imposed upon the proposed project, nothing further is 
required. 

 
  July 5, 2023  
Signature Date 
 
Alexis Vaughn, Associate Planner  City of Ontario  
Printed Name and Title For 
 
 
  

Item D - 21 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 14 of 70 

EVALUATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 

1) A brief explanation is required for all answers except “No Impact” answers that are adequately 
supported by the information sources a lead agency cites in the parentheses following each question. 
A “No Impact” answer is adequately supported if the referenced information sources show that the 
impact simply does not apply to projects like the one involved (e.g., the project falls outside a fault 
rupture zone). A “No Impact” answer should be explained where it is based on project-specific factors 
as well as general standards (e.g., the project will not expose sensitive receptors to pollutants, based 
on a project-specific screening analysis). 

2) All answers must take account of the whole action involved, including off-site as well as on-site, 
cumulative as well as project-level, indirect as well as direct, and construction as well as operational 
impacts. 

3) Once the lead agency has determined that a particular physical impact may occur, then the checklist 
answers must indicate whether the impact is potentially significant, less than significant with mitigation, 
or less than significant. “Potentially Significant Impact” is appropriate if there is substantial evidence 
that an effect is significant. If there are one or more “Potentially Significant Impact” entries when the 
determination is made, an EIR is required. 

4) “Negative Declaration: Less Than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated” applies where the 
incorporation of mitigation measures has reduced an effect from “Potentially Significant Impact” to a 
“Less than Significant Impact.” The lead agency must describe the mitigation measures, and briefly 
explain how they reduce the effect to a less than significant level (mitigation measures from the “Earlier 
Analyses” Section may be cross-referenced). 

5) Earlier analyses may be used where, pursuant to the tiering, program EIR, or other CEQA process, an 
effect has been adequately analyzed in an earlier EIR or Negative Declaration. Section 15063I(3)(D). 
In this case, a brief discussion should identify the following: 

a) Earlier Analyses Used. Identify and state where they are available for review. For this project, 
reference will be made to TOP EIR as appropriate.   

b) Impacts Adequately Addressed. Identify which effects from the above checklist were within the 
scope of and adequately analyzed in an earlier document pursuant to applicable legal standards, 
and state whether such effects were addressed by mitigation measures based on the earlier 
analysis. 

c) Mitigation Measures. For effects that are "Less than Significant with Mitigation Measures 
Incorporated," describe the mitigation measures which were incorporated or refined from the earlier 
document and the extent to which they address site-specific conditions for the project. 

6) Lead agencies are encouraged to incorporate into the checklist references to information sources for 
potential impacts (e.g., general plans, zoning ordinances). Reference to a previously prepared or 
outside document should, where appropriate, include a reference to the page or pages where the 
statement is substantiated. 

7) Supporting Information Sources. A source list should be attached, and other sources used or individuals 
contacted should be cited in the discussion. 

8) This is only a suggested form, and lead agencies are free to use different formats; however, lead 
agencies should normally address the questions from this checklist that are relevant to a project's 
environmental effects in whatever format is selected. 

9) The explanation of each issue should identify: 

a) The significance criteria or threshold, if any, used to evaluate each question; and 

b) The mitigation measure identified, if any, to reduce the impact to less than significance. 

 
 

Item D - 22 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 15 of 70 

Issues 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

Impacts 
Previously 
Analyzed in 
TOP FEIR 

1. AESTHETICS. Would the project:     

a. Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic 
vista? 

    

b. Substantially damage scenic resources, 
including, but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, 
and historic buildings within a state scenic highway? 

    

c. In non-urbanized areas, substantially 
degrade the existing visual character or quality of 
public views of the site and its surroundings?  (Public 
views are those that are experienced from publicly 
accessible vantage point).  If the project is in an 
urbanized area, would the project conflict with 
applicable zoning and other regulations governing 
scenic quality? 

    

d. Create a new source of substantial light or 
glare which would adversely affect day or nighttime 
views in the area? 

    

2. AGRICULTURE AND FOREST RESOURCES. In 
determining whether impacts to agricultural resources 
are significant environmental effects, lead agencies 
may refer to the California Agricultural Land Evaluation 
and Site Assessment Model (1997) prepared by the 
California Department of Conservation as an optional 
model to use in assessing impacts on agriculture and 
farmland. In determining whether impacts to forest 
resources, including timberland, are significant 
environmental effects, lead agencies may refer to 
information compiled by the California Department of 
Forestry and Fire Protection regarding the state’s 
inventory of forest land, including the Forest and 
Range Assessment Project and the Forest Legacy 
Assessment project; and forest carbon measurement 
methodology provided in Forest protocols adopted by 
the California Air Resources Board. Would the project: 

    

a. Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, 
or Farmland of Statewide Importance (Farmland), as 
shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland 
Mapping and Monitoring Program of the California 
Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use? 

    

b. Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural 
use, or a Williamson Act contract? 

    

c. Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause 
rezoning of, forest land (as defined in Public Resources 
Code section 12220(g)), timberland (as defined by 
Public Resources Code section 4526), or timberland 
zoned Timberland Production (as defined by 
Government Code section 51104(g))? 

    

d. Result in the loss of forest land or conversion 
of forest land to non-forest use? 

    

Item D - 23 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 16 of 70 

Issues 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

Impacts 
Previously 
Analyzed in 
TOP FEIR 

e. Involve other changes in the existing 
environment which, due to their location or nature, 
could result in conversion of Farmland, to non-
agricultural use or conversion of forest land to non-
forest use? 

    

3. AIR QUALITY. Where available, the significance 
criteria established by the applicable air quality 
management or air pollution control district may be 
relied upon to make the following determinations. 
Would the project: 

    

a. Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the 
applicable air quality plan? 

    

b. Result in a cumulatively considerable net 
increase of any criteria pollutant for which the project 
region is non-attainment under an applicable federal or 
state ambient air quality standard? 

    

c. Expose sensitive receptors to substantial 
pollutant concentrations? 

    

d. Result in other emissions (such as those 
leading to odors adversely affecting a substantial 
number of people? 

    

4. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES. Would the project:     

a. Have a substantial adverse effect, either 
directly or through habitat modifications, on any 
species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special 
status species in local or regional plans, policies, or 
regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and 
Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

    

b. Have a substantial adverse effect on any 
riparian habitat or other sensitive natural community 
identified in local or regional plans, policies, 
regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and 
Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

    

c. Have a substantial adverse effect on state or 
federally protected wetlands (including, but not limited 
to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct 
removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other 
means? 

    

d. Interfere substantially with the movement of 
any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species 
or with established native resident or migratory wildlife 
corridors, or impede the use of native wildlife nursery 
sites? 

    

e. Conflict with any local policies or ordinances 
protecting biological resources, such as a tree 
preservation policy or ordinance? 

    

f. Conflict with the provisions of an adopted 
Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community 
Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or 
state habitat conservation plan? 
 

    

Item D - 24 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 17 of 70 

Issues 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

Impacts 
Previously 
Analyzed in 
TOP FEIR 

5. CULTURAL RESOURCES. Would the project:     

a. Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of a historical resource pursuant to Section 
15064.5? 

    

b. Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of an archaeological resource pursuant to 
Section 15064.5? 

    

c. Disturb any human remains, including those 
interred outside of dedicated cemeteries? 

    

6. ENERGY. Would the project:     

a. Result in potentially significant environmental 
impact due to wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary 
consumption of energy resources, during project 
construction or operation? 

    

b. Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan 
for renewable energy or energy efficiency? 

    

7. GEOLOGY AND SOILS. Would the project:     

a. Directly or indirectly cause potential 
substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, 
injury or death involving: 

    

i. Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as 
delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State 
Geologist for the area or based on other substantial 
evidence of a known fault?  Refer to Division of Mines 
and Geology Special Publication 42. 

    

ii. Strong seismic ground shaking?     

iii. Seismic-related ground failure, including 
liquefaction? 

    

iv. Landslides?     

b. Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of 
topsoil? 

    

c. Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is 
unstable, or that would become unstable as a result of 
the project, and potentially result in on- or off-site 
landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction or 
collapse? 

    

d. Be located on expansive soil, as defined in 
Table 18 1 B of the Uniform Building Code, creating 
substantial direct or indirect risks to life or property? 

    

e. Have soils incapable of adequately supporting 
the use of septic tanks or alternative waste water 
disposal systems where sewers are not available for 
the disposal of waste water? 

    

f. Directly or indirectly destroy a unique 
paleontological resource or site or unique geologic 
feature? 

    

Item D - 25 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 18 of 70 

Issues 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

Impacts 
Previously 
Analyzed in 
TOP FEIR 

8. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS. Would the 
project: 

    

a. Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either 
directly or indirectly, that may have a significant impact 
on the environment? 

    

b. Conflict with an applicable plan, policy or 
regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing the 
emission of greenhouse gases? 
 

    

9. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. 
Would the project: 

    

a. Create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment through the routine transport, use, or 
disposal of hazardous materials? 

    

b. Create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment through reasonably foreseeable upset 
and accident conditions involving the release of 
hazardous materials into the environment? 

    

c. Emit hazardous emissions or handle 
hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, 
or waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or 
proposed school? 

    

d. Be located on a site which is included on a list 
of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to 
Government Code section 65962.5 and, as a result, 
would it create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment? 

    

e. For a project located within an airport land use 
plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, within 
two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would 
the project result in a safety hazard or excessive noise 
for people residing or working in the project area? 

    

f. Impair implementation of or physically 
interfere with an adopted emergency response plan or 
emergency evacuation plan? 

    

g. Expose people or structures, either directly or 
indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury or death 
involving wildland fires? 

    

10. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY. Would 
the project: 

    

a. Violate any water quality standards or waste 
discharge requirements or otherwise substantially 
degrade surface or ground water quality?  

    

b. Substantially decrease groundwater supplies 
or interfere substantially with groundwater recharge 
such that the project may impede sustainable 
groundwater management of the basin?  

    

Item D - 26 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 19 of 70 

Issues 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

Impacts 
Previously 
Analyzed in 
TOP FEIR 

c. Substantially alter the existing drainage 
pattern of the site or area, including through the 
alteration of the course of a stream or river or through 
the addition of impervious surfaces, in a manner which 
would: 

    

i. result in substantial erosion or 
siltation on- or off-site; 

    

ii. substantially increase the rate or 
amount of surface runoff in a manner which would 
result in flooding on- or offsite; 

    

iii. create or contribute runoff water which 
would exceed the capacity of existing or planned 
stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial 
additional sources of polluted runoff; or 

    

iv. impede or redirect flood flows?     

d. In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk 
release of pollutants due to project inundation? 

    

e. Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a 
water quality control plan or sustainable groundwater 
management plan? 

    

11. LAND USE AND PLANNING. Would the project:     

a. Physically divide an established community?     

b. Cause a significant environmental impact due 
to a conflict with any land use plan, policy, or regulation 
adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an 
environmental effect? 

    

12. MINERAL RESOURCES. Would the project:     

a. Result in the loss of availability of a known 
mineral resource that would be of value to the region 
and the residents of the state? 

    

b. Result in the loss of availability of a locally-
important mineral resource recovery site delineated on 
a local general plan, specific plan or other land use 
plan? 

    

13. NOISE. Would the project result in:     

a. Generation of a substantial temporary or 
permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the 
vicinity of the project in excess of standards established 
in the local general plan or noise ordinance, or 
applicable standards of other agencies? 

    

b. Generation of excessive ground-borne 
vibration or ground-borne noise levels? 

    

c. For a project located within the vicinity of a 
private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, where 
such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of 
a public airport or public use airport, would the project 
expose people residing or working in the project area 
to excessive noise levels? 

    

Item D - 27 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 20 of 70 

Issues 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

Impacts 
Previously 
Analyzed in 
TOP FEIR 

14. POPULATION AND HOUSING. Would the 
project: 

    

a. Induce substantial unplanned population 
growth in an area, either directly (for example, by 
proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly 
(for example, through extension of road or other 
infrastructure)? 

    

b. Displace substantial numbers of existing 
people or housing, necessitating the construction of 
replacement housing elsewhere? 

    

15. PUBLIC SERVICES. Would the project:     

a. Result in substantial adverse physical impacts 
associated with the provision of new or physically 
altered governmental facilities, need for new or 
physically altered governmental facilities, the 
construction of which could cause significant 
environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable 
service ratios, response times or other performance 
objectives for any of the public services: 

    

i. Fire protection?     

ii. Police protection?     

iii. Schools?     

iv. Parks?     

v. Other public facilities?     

16. RECREATION. Would the project:     

a. Increase the use of existing neighborhood and 
regional parks or other recreational facilities such that 
substantial physical deterioration of the facility would 
occur or be accelerated? 

    

b. Does the project include recreational facilities 
or require the construction or expansion of recreational 
facilities which have an adverse physical effect on the 
environment? 

    

17. TRANSPORTATION. Would the project:     

a. Conflict with a program plan, ordinance or 
policy addressing the circulation system, including 
transit, roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities? 

    

b. Would the project conflict or be inconsistent 
with CEQA Guidelines section 15064.3, subdivision 
(b)? 

    

c. Substantially increase hazards due to a 
geometric design feature (e.g., sharp curves or 
dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., 
farm equipment)? 

    

d. Result in inadequate emergency access?     

Item D - 28 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 21 of 70 

Issues 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

Impacts 
Previously 
Analyzed in 
TOP FEIR 

18. TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES. Would the 
project cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of a tribal cultural resource, defined in 
Public Resources Code section 21074 as either a site, 
feature, place, cultural landscape that is geographically 
defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape, 
sacred place, or object with cultural value to a 
California Native American tribe, and that is 

    

a. Listed or eligible for listing in the California 
Register of Historical Resources, or in a local register 
of historical resources as defined in Public Resources 
Code section 5020.1(k)? 

    

b. A resource determined by the lead agency, in 
its discretion and supported by substantial evidence, to 
be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in 
subsection(c) of Public Resources Code section 
5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in subsection 
(c) of Public Resources Code section 5024.1, the lead 
agency shall consider the significance of the resource 
to a California Native American tribe. 

    

19. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS. Would the 
project: 

    

a. Require or result in the relocation or 
construction of new or expanded water, wastewater 
treatment or storm water drainage, electric power, 
natural gas, or telecommunications facilities, the 
construction or relocation of which could cause 
significant environmental effects? 

    

b. Have sufficient water supplies available to 
serve the project and reasonably foreseeable future 
development during normal, dry and multiple dry 
years?   

    

c. Result in a determination by the wastewater 
treatment provider which serves or may serve the 
project that it has adequate capacity to serve the 
project's projected demand in addition to the provider's 
existing commitments? 

    

d. Generate solid waste in excess of State or 
local standards, or in excess of the capacity of local 
infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of 
solid waste reduction goals? 

    

e. Comply with federal, state, and local 
management and reduction statutes and regulations 
related to solid waste? 

    

20. WILDFIRES. If located in or near state 
responsibility areas or lands classified as very high fire 
hazard severity zones, would the project: 

    

a. Substantially impair an adopted emergency 
response plan or emergency evacuation plan? 

    

Item D - 29 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 22 of 70 

Issues 
Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

Impacts 
Previously 
Analyzed in 
TOP FEIR 

b. Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other 
factors, exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby expose 
project occupants to, pollutant concentrations from a 
wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire? 

    

c. Require the installation or maintenance of 
associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, 
emergency water sources, power lines or other utilities) 
that may exacerbate fire risk or that may result in 
temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment? 

    

d. Expose people or structures to significant 
risks, including downslope or downstream flooding or 
landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope 
instability, or drainage changes? 

    

21. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE.     

a. Does the project have the potential to 
substantially degrade the quality of the environment, 
substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife 
species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop 
below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a 
plant or animal community, substantially reduce the 
number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered 
plant or animal or eliminate important examples of the 
major periods of California history or prehistory? 

    

b. Does the project have impacts that are 
individually limited, but cumulatively considerable?  
("Cumulatively considerable" means that the 
incremental effects of a project are considerable when 
viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, 
the effects of other current project, and the effects of 
probable future projects.) 

    

c. Does the project have environmental effects 
which will cause substantial adverse effects on human 
beings, either directly or indirectly? 

    

 
Note:  Authority cited:  Public Resources Code sections 21083, 21083.05, 21083.09.   
 
Reference: Gov. Code section 65088.4; Public Resources Code sections 21073, 21074, 21080(c), 21080.1, 
21080.3, 21080.3.1, 21080.3.2, 21082.3, 21083, 21083.3, 21083.5, 21084.2, 21084.3, 21093, 21094, 21095 and 
21151; Sundstrom v. County of Mendocino (1988) 202 Cal.App.3d 296; Leonoff v. Monterey Board of Supervisors 
(1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 1337; Eureka Citizens for Responsible Govt. v. City of Eureka (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 357; 
Protect the Historic Amador Waterways v. Amador Water Agency (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1099, 1109; San 
Franciscans Upholding the Downtown Plan v. City and County of San Francisco (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 656. 

  

Item D - 30 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 23 of 70 

EXPLANATION OF ISSUES 

1. AESTHETICS. Would the project: 

a. Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concludes… “the scale and design of the City under TOP 2050 would not 
deter views of the San Gabriel Mountains which are the dominant scenic resource in the City of Ontario. 
Regulations such as the City’s Municipal Code and policies [of TOP] would ensure that increased 
development would not impact scenic vistas” (SEIR p. 5.1-5). TOP Policy CD1-5 requires all major north-
south streets be designed and redeveloped to feature views of the San Gabriel Mountains.  

The project site is located at the northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street just south of the SR-
60 Freeway. Surrounding roadways and public areas have views of the mountains to the north. The PUD 
project proposes 3 and 4-story buildings with the taller buildings along the west side of Euclid to 
accommodate commercial uses on the ground floors. The residential uses to the south are across Walnut 
Street from the site so the new buildings would not block public views from this area as well. The future 
buildings would be consistent in terms of mass and height with what is allowed in TOP and current zoning 
although they would be controlled by the PUD.  The new uses are already allowed under TOP and do not 
obstruct views of the San Gabriel Mountains from onsite or surrounding north-south streets. No adverse 
impacts are anticipated in relation to the project. 

Therefore, the project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

b.  Substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings 
and historic buildings within a state scenic highway? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR states “…The Euclid Corridor and the Mission Boulevard Corridor are the 
primary scenic corridors in Ontario. These are not State-designated scenic highways, and Ontario does not 
have any State scenic highways through or in the vicinity of the City” (SEIR 5.1-6). The City is served by 
three freeways: I-10, I-15, and SR-60. I-10 and SR-60 traverse the northern and central portion of the City, 
respectively, in an east–west direction. I-15 traverses the northeastern portion of the City in a north–south 
direction. The project site is just south of SR-60 and west of the I-15 freeway. These segments of I-10, I-
15, and SR-60 have not been officially designated as scenic highways by the California Department of 
Transportation (Caltrans) or the City.  

The project site currently supports commercial buildings of various types and sizes but the largest buildings 
on the west side of the property (former Kmart) are vacant. The site does not contain any visual or scenic 
resources or historic buildings. Therefore, it will not damage any scenic resources and not result in any 
adverse environmental impacts.  

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to the EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

c. In non-urbanized areas, substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of public 
views of the site and its surroundings (Public views are those that are experienced from publicly 
accessible vantage point). If the project is in an urbanized area, would the project conflict with 
applicable zoning and other regulations governing scenic quality? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR characterized this area as having existing commercial development and 
the area contained urban land uses including both residential and commercial development planned on and 
around the project site.  TOP EIR concluded that future development in the City, which includes the mixed 
uses planned on the PUD project site, would not degrade the existing visual character or quality of the site 
or its surroundings and no mitigation was required (SEIR p. 5.1-7).  

 

 

Item D - 31 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 24 of 70 

TOP EIR also states: 

…future development under the [TOP 2050] would still be required to adhere to the City’s 
Development Code, which includes general development requirements for development density, 
screening and setback, signing, landscaping, lighting, height limitations, and other aspects related to 
the aesthetic of the City. Finally…the Development Code is enacted to assist implementation of 
planning, zoning, development, subdivision, and environmental laws and the TOP and to achieve 
the proper arrangement of land uses envisioned in TOP. Because it is the overriding planning 
document for the City, and because it is intended to improve consistency with existing regulations 
and conditions, the…TOP 2050…would not have a significant impact with respect to being 
inconsistent with policies or regulations governing scenic quality. (SEIR p. 5-1-7) 

The project site is located in a completely urbanized area with developed uses surrounding the site. The 
PUD project would introduce new buildings onto the site which would have a suburban/urban appearance 
consistent with newer uses and buildings along the Euclid Avenue corridor to the north. Therefore, the 
project is consistent with TOP land uses and zoning so it would not degrade the existing visual character 
or quality of the site or its surroundings. 

The proposed project will be required to comply with the policies of the Community Design Element of TOP 
Policy Plan and zoning designations on the property, as well as the design requirements of the 
Euclid/Walnut PUD. Therefore, no adverse visual impacts are anticipated, and the project will not result in 
any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. 
No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

d. Create a new source of substantial light or glare that would adversely affect day or nighttime 
views in the area? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded that new development throughout the City would increase 
ambient light levels over time as development occurred, but that compliance with Development Code 
lighting requirements would reduce potential impacts to less than significant levels, and no mitigation was 
required (SEIR p. 6.1-7). 

The project proposes the development of several residential and mixed-use buildings on the site, with the 
mixed uses (retail commercial on the ground floor and residential above) along Euclid Avenue and the 
residential buildings in the central and western portions of the site.  

New development will have architectural and security lighting on buildings and in parking lots, and streets 
will have new lighting installed or existing street lighting continue in place. Pursuant to the requirements of 
the Euclid/Walnut PUD and the City’s Development Code, onsite lighting will be shielded, diffused or 
indirect, to avoid glare to onsite users, pedestrians, and motorists. In addition, lighting fixtures will be 
selected and located to confine the area of illumination to within each building site and minimize light 
spillage. Site lighting plans will be subject to review by the Planning Department and Police Department 
prior to issuance of building permits (pursuant to the City’s Building Security Ordinance). Therefore, no 
adverse impacts are anticipated.  

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.   

  

Item D - 32 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 25 of 70 

2. AGRICULTURE AND FOREST RESOURCES. In determining whether impacts to agricultural 
resources are significant environmental effects, lead agencies may refer to the California Agricultural Land 
Evaluation and Site Assessment (LESA) Model prepared by the California Department of Conservation as 
an optional model to use in assessing impacts on agriculture and farmland.  In determining whether impacts 
to forest resources, including timberland, are significant environmental effects, lead agencies may refer to 
information compiled by the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection regarding the state’s 
inventory of forest land, including the Forest and Range Assessment Project and the Forest Legacy 
Assessment project; and forest carbon measurement methodology provided in Forest Protocols adopted 
by the California Air Resources Board. Would the project: 

a. Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance (Farmland), 
as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program 
(FMMP) of the California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR states that the City is underlain by prime agricultural soils in a number of 
areas but that the City envisions a natural transition of these lands to suburban and urban uses over time 
based on market forces and the desires of property owners. The EIR concluded TOP “… would have no 
direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use” (SEIR p. 
5.2-12). The EIR concluded this because those changes had already been evaluated in the 2010 TOP 
which represents the baseline condition for the 2050 TOP.  TOP EIR did not anticipate these changes to 
be a significant adverse impact and as a result did not recommend mitigation.  

The project site is presently fully developed and does not contain any agricultural uses. Although the 
general area supported agriculture long ago, the site is identified as Urban and Built-up Land on the map 
prepared by the California Resources Agency as part of the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program 
(FMMP). Based on the information above, no adverse environmental impacts from the project related to 
prime farmland are anticipated.  

Therefore, the project will have no significant impacts on agricultural resources and no mitigation is 
required. The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts other than those 
previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are 
necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

b. Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, or a Williamson Act contract? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicates that some areas of the City were used for agriculture in the past, 
including the general project area. However, the City currently has no agricultural land use or zoning 
designations. Figure 5.2-2 of TOP EIR indicates there are a number of Williamson Act contracts in the City 
but they are in the southern portion of the City which also is transitioning to suburban land uses. The project 
area long ago transitioned from agriculture to suburban and urban land uses, and no Williamson Act 
contracts are active in this area at present. In this regard, no significant impacts were anticipated in TOP 
EIR and no mitigation was recommended. 

The PUD project site is not zoned for agricultural use and the site is designated for mixed residential and 
commercial uses which are permitted under TOP. Future development will be consistent with the 
development standards and land uses allowed under TOP and the proposed Euclid/Walnut PUD.  

Therefore, no impacts to agricultural uses are anticipated, nor will there be any conflict with Williamson Act 
contracts. The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

c. Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, forest land (as defined in Public 
Resources Code section 12220(g)), timberland (as defined by Public Resources Code section 
4526), or timberland zoned Timberland Production (as defined by Government Code section 
51104(g)? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicated there were no forest resources in the City, so development of 
planned land uses in the City, including the mixed uses of the PUD project site, would not result in any 
impacts related to rezoning of forest or timberland to non-forest use. 

Item D - 33 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 26 of 70 

The PUD project proposes residential and commercial buildings consistent with the mixed-use land use 
designation in TOP and the Euclid/Walnut PUD. The PUD project would not result in the rezoning of forest 
land, timberland, or land zoned Timberland Production because such land use designations do not exist 
within the City.  

Therefore, no impacts to forest or timberland are anticipated and the PUD project will not result in any new, 
increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No 
changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

d. Result in the loss of forest land or conversion of forest land to non-forest use? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicated there were no forest resources in the City, so development of 
planned land uses, including the mixed uses of the PUD project site, would not result in any impacts related 
to the conversion of forest land to non-forest use (SEIR p. 5.2-13). 

There is currently no land in the City that qualifies as forest land as defined in Public Resources Code 
section 12220(g), including the project site. Neither TOP nor the City’s Zoning Code provide designations 
for forest land anywhere in the City.   

Therefore, the proposed project would not result in the loss or conversion of forest land.  The project will 
not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed 
in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

e. Involve other changes in the existing environment, which, due to their location or nature, could 
individually or cumulatively result in loss of farmland to non-agricultural use or conversion of 
forest land to non-forest use? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicated future development would not conflict with agricultural uses and 
would not result in conversion of farmland to non-agricultural use. It also concluded there is no forest land 
in Ontario, and therefore the project would not result in conversion of forest land to non-forest use (SEIR p. 
5.2-14). TOP envisions a natural transition of these lands to suburban and urban uses over time based on 
market forces and the desires of property owners.  TOP EIR indicated there were no forest resources in 
the City, so development of planned land uses, including the mixed uses of the PUD project site, would not 
result in any cumulative impacts related to loss of forest land. 

Implementation of the PUD project would not result in changes to the existing environment other than those 
previously addressed in TOP EIR. While conversion of farmland increases the potential for adjacent areas 
to also be converted from farmland to urban uses, there are no agricultural uses occurring onsite or in the 
vicinity and the project will not directly or indirectly result in conversion of farmland. No new cumulative 
impacts beyond those identified in TOP EIR would result from project implementation. As a result, the 
project will not result in loss of farmland to non-agricultural use. 

Additionally, there is currently no land in the City that qualifies as forest land as defined in Public Resources 
Code Section 12220(g). Neither TOP nor the City’s Zoning Code provide designations for forest land.  

Based on available data, the proposed PUD project would not result in changes to the existing environment 
that would affect forest land. There will be no impacts and no mitigation is required. The project will not 
result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in 
TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

  

Item D - 34 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 27 of 70 

3. AIR QUALITY. Where available, the significance criteria established by the applicable air quality 
management or air pollution control district may be relied upon to make the following determinations. Would 
the project: 

a. Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan? 

Discussion of Effects: The project site was analyzed in the current (2022) and previous (2010) TOP EIR as 
a mixture of residential and commercial uses, consistent with the surrounding mixture of similar land uses. 
TOP EIR concluded future land uses, including the proposed project, may conflict with or obstruct 
implementation of the 2016 Air Quality Management Plan (AQMP) of the South Coast Air Quality 
Management District (SCAQMD). TOP EIR concluded that future development and the cumulative air 
pollutant emissions would exceed the SCAQMD daily thresholds. As noted in the previous TOP EIR 
(Section 5.3) from 2010, pollutant levels in the City already exceeded Federal and State standards at that 
time. To reduce pollutant levels, the City is actively participating in efforts to enhance air quality by 
implementing control measures in the AQMP for local jurisdictions within the South Coast Air Basin (SCAB). 

TOP EIR in 2022 evaluated the development of a maximum of 369 residential units and approximately 
142,840 square feet of non-residential development on the Overlay Planning Area. The PUD project 
proposes 369 units and approximately 12,000 square feet of non-residential development in Phases 1 and 
2, leaving 130,840 square feet of non-residential development to be built in the remainder of the MU-NH 
area adjacent to the SR-60 Freeway.  

The TOP indicates the projected buildout for the entire 16 acres of this sub-area will eventually have a total 
of 369 dwelling units and 142,840 square feet of non-residential development. Development of the 
proposed PUD would slightly exceed the total number of residential units for this area under the TOP (369 
MF+15 SF=384 total units vs. 369 projected total units). However, development of the PUD would 
substantially reduce the amount of anticipated non-residential growth in this sub-area (12,000 SF in the 
PUD plus 28,000 existing = 40,000 SF vs. 142,840 SF). Therefore, development of the “PUD project” would 
result in a 4% increase in residential impacts but a 28% decrease in commercial impacts. While this 
Addendum only covers impacts of the new residential and commercial uses currently proposed under the 
PUD Project, the anticipated impacts of growth in this MU-NH sub-area with the PUD are considered to be 
equivalent or less than those identified in TOP EIR for this sub-area. The proposed project is therefore 
generally consistent with TOP land use designations upon which the AQMP is based. Furthermore, the 
project is consistent with the City’s participation in the AQMP and will not conflict with or obstruct 
implementation of the plan. The project will be required to implement TOP EIR Mitigation Measures AQ 3-
1, 3-2, and 3-3 which include fugitive dust control measures pursuant to SCAQMD’s Rule 403, use of Tier 
3 construction equipment, proper service and maintenance of construction equipment, limiting nonessential 
idling of construction equipment, use of Super-Compliant volatile organic compounds (VOC) paints for 
coating and architectural surfaces, providing non-vehicular access options, and calculate and reduce any 
significant health risks from future development on nearby sensitive receptors (MM 3-1 through 3-3, 
respectively).   

At the request of City staff, a health risk assessment (HRA) was prepared for the project to determine if air 
pollutant emissions from the nearby freeway would result in any significant impacts to human health 
including cancer and non-cancer related deaths of project residents. The HRA concluded that freeway 
emissions would not result in any significant human health risks for project residents. Minimum Efficiency 
Rating Value (MERV) 13 filters, which are required for the residential buildings by the CalGreen Code, are 
sufficient to reduce risks below SCAQMD thresholds. (see Appendix B).  

Therefore, the project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required but the following measures from TOP EIR are applicable 
to the proposed project: 

AQ 3-1: Prior to discretionary approval by the City of Ontario for development projects subject to CEQA 
(California Environmental Quality Act) review (i.e., nonexempt projects), project applicants shall prepare 
and submit a technical assessment evaluating potential project construction-related air quality impacts to 
the City of Ontario Planning Department for review and approval. The evaluation shall be prepared in 
conformance with South Coast Air Quality Management District (South Coast AQMD) methodology for 
assessing air quality impacts. If construction-related criteria air pollutants are determined to have the 

Item D - 35 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 28 of 70 

potential to exceed the South Coast AQMD–adopted thresholds of significance, the City of Ontario Building 
Department shall require feasible mitigation measures to reduce air quality emissions. Potential measures 
shall be incorporated as conditions of approval for a project and may include: 

• Require fugitive dust control measures that exceed South Coast Air Quality Management District’s Rule 
403, such as:  

− Requiring use of nontoxic soil stabilizers to reduce wind erosion.  

− Applying water every four hours to active soil disturbing activities.  

− Tarping and/or maintaining a minimum of 24 inches of freeboard on trucks hauling dirt, sand, soil, or 
other loose materials.  

• Using construction equipment rated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency as having 
Tier 4 interim or higher exhaust emission limits.  

• Ensuring construction equipment is properly serviced and maintained to the manufacturer’s standards 

• Limiting nonessential idling of construction equipment to no more than five consecutive minutes.  

• Using Super-Compliant VOC paints for coating of architectural surfaces whenever possible. A list of 
Super-Compliant architectural coating manufactures can be found on the South Coast Air Quality 
Management District’s website at: http://www.aqmd.gov/prdas/brochures/SuperCompliant_AIM.pdf. 
These identified measures shall be incorporated into all appropriate construction documents (e.g., 
construction management plans) submitted to the City and shall be verified by the City’s Planning 
Department. 

AQ 3-2: The City of Ontario shall evaluate new development proposals within the City and require all 
developments to include access or linkages to alternative modes of transportation, such as transit stops, 
bike paths, and/or pedestrian paths (e.g., sidewalks). 

AQ 3-3: Prior to discretionary approval by the City of Ontario for development projects subject to CEQA 
(California Environmental Quality Act) review (i.e., nonexempt projects), project applicants shall prepare 
and submit a technical assessment evaluating potential project operation-phase-related air quality impacts 
to the City of Ontario Planning Department for review and approval. The evaluation shall be prepared in 
conformance with South Coast Air Quality Management District (South Coast AQMD) methodology in 
assessing air quality impacts. If operation-related air pollutants are determined to have the potential to 
exceed the South Coast AQMD–adopted thresholds of significance, the City of Ontario Planning 
Department shall require that applicants for new development projects incorporate mitigation measures to 
reduce air pollutant emissions during operational activities. The identified measures shall be included as 
part of the conditions of approval. Possible mitigation measures to reduce long-term emissions could 
include but are not limited to the following:  

• For site-specific development that requires refrigerated vehicles, the construction documents shall 
demonstrate an adequate number of electrical service connections at loading docks for plug-in of the 
anticipated number of refrigerated trailers to reduce idling time and emissions.  

• Applicants for manufacturing and light industrial uses shall consider energy storage and combined heat 
and power in appropriate applications to optimize renewable energy generation systems and avoid peak 
energy use.  

• Site-specific developments with truck delivery and loading areas and truck parking spaces shall include 
signage as a reminder to limit idling of vehicles while parked for loading/unloading in accordance with 
California Air Resources Board Rule 2845 (13 CCR Chapter 10 sec. 2485).  

• Provide changing/shower facilities as specified in Section A5.106.4.3 of CALGreen (Nonresidential 
Voluntary Measures).  

• Provide bicycle parking facilities per Section A4.106.9 of CALGreen (Residential Voluntary Measures).  

• Provide preferential parking spaces for low-emitting, fuel-efficient, and carpool/van vehicles per Section 
A5.106.5.1 of CALGreen (Nonresidential Voluntary Measures).  

• Provide facilities to support electric charging stations per Section A5.106.5.3 and Section A5.106.8.2 of 
CALGreen (Nonresidential Voluntary Measures; Residential Voluntary Measures).  

Item D - 36 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 29 of 70 

• Applicant-provided appliances shall be Energy Star–certified appliances or appliances of equivalent 
energy efficiency (e.g., dishwashers, refrigerators, clothes washers, and dryers). Installation of Energy 
Star–certified or equivalent appliances shall be verified by the City during plan check. 

b. Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the 
project region is non-attainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air quality 
standard? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR in 2022 evaluated the development of a maximum of 369 residential units 
and approximately 142,840 square feet of non-residential development on the Overlay Planning Area. The 
PUD project proposes 369 units and approximately 12,000 square feet of non-residential development in 
Phases 1 and 2, leaving 130,840 square feet of non-residential development to be built in the remainder of 
the MU-NH area adjacent to the SR-60 Freeway. The remainder of the MU-NH area is currently built out 
with 15 single-family dwellings and approximately 28,000 square feet of commercial uses. 

TOP EIR concluded that air pollutant emissions from future development within the City consistent with 
TOP land uses, including the proposed project, would exceed established SCAQMD thresholds. The 
proposed PUD project is within the amount of growth planned for the project site under TOP and would 
make an incremental contribution to the significant air pollutant emissions and impacts identified for TOP. 

As outlined in Section 3.a above, development of the “PUD project” would result in a 4% increase in 
residential impacts but a 28% decrease in commercial impacts from what was analyzed in TOP EIR. While 
this Addendum only covers impacts of the new residential and commercial uses currently proposed under 
the PUD Project, the anticipated impacts of growth in this MU-NH sub-area with the addition of the PUD 
are considered to be generally equivalent or less than those identified in TOP EIR for this sub-area. 

Mitigation Measures AQ 3-1, 3-2, and 3-3 as outlined in Section 3.a have already been adopted by the City 
that would facilitate continued City cooperation with the SCAQMD and Southern California Association of 
Governments (SCAG) to reduce short-term construction emissions, help promote regional air quality 
improvement goals and energy conservation design and development techniques, encourage alternative 
modes of transportation, and implement transportation demand strategies. However, TOP EIR concluded 
that air pollutant impacts would be significant even with implementation of Mitigation Measures MM AQ 3-
1 through 3-3.  

The proposed PUD project would implement MM AQ 3-1 through AQ 3-3 and is generally within the limits 
established for the site in TOP and evaluated in TOP EIR. Therefore, the PUD project itself will not result 
in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the region is in non-attainment 
under an applicable federal or state ambient air quality because the project is consistent with the existing 
TOP land use designation for the site and the overall air quality impacts of TOP have already been 
evaluated in TOP EIR and a Statement of Overriding Considerations was prepared and certified along with 
TOP EIR. 

Due to the size of the PUD project site and the amount of development proposed, construction under either 
Phase 1 or Phase 2 of the PUD, or the combination of both phases, will not exceed the applicable regional 
significance thresholds and less than significant impacts would occur. No mitigation beyond that identified 
in TOP EIR is required. 

The PUD project will comply with Mitigation Measures AQ 3-1 through 3-3 outlined in TOP FEIR as 
recommended by the SCAQMD, resulting in project level impacts that are less than significant with 
mitigation. The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: Implement Mitigation Measures AQ 3-1 through AQ 3-3 as described in Section 3.a above, 
otherwise, no project specific mitigation is required.  

c. Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded that development and operation of new land uses 
accommodated under TOP 2050 proposed land use plan could generate new sources of localized criteria 
air pollutant and Toxic Air Contaminants (TACs) in the City from area/stationary sources and mobile 
sources. 

Item D - 37 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 30 of 70 

The Overlay Planning Area was previously analyzed by TOP EIR as a mixture of residential and commercial 
uses under the MU-MH land use designation. Certain land uses contain persons especially susceptible to 
air pollutants (children, the elderly, sick persons, etc.). These types of “sensitive” land uses include 
residences, day care centers, hospitals, etc. and are referred to as sensitive receptors. The SCAQMD 
recommends that the nearest sensitive receptor be considered when determining the project’s potential to 
cause an individual or cumulatively significant impact. The PUD project does have sensitive receptors west 
and north of the site.  However, the size of the site and anticipated amount of new development is not 
expected to result in significant short- or long-term air quality impacts to nearby sensitive receptors.  

With implementation of TOP EIR Mitigation Measures AQ 3-1 through AQ 3-3, the proposed PUD project 
would not result in any new impacts beyond those identified in TOP EIR and no project specific mitigation 
is required for sensitive receptors. The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different 
impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR 
analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

d. Result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting a substantial 
number of people? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded TOP would have a less than significant direct, indirect, and 
cumulative impacts relating to other emissions, such as those leading to odors (SEIR p. 5.3-47). The subject 
site was previously analyzed by TOP EIR as a mixture of residential and commercial uses which is 
consistent with the existing land uses surrounding the site. The mixed uses proposed on the project site 
will not create objectionable odors. Further, the project shall comply with the policies of the Ontario 
Municipal Code and TOP regarding solid waste storage and disposal which will prevent potential odor 
impacts.  Therefore, no adverse impacts are anticipated. 

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

4. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES. Would the project: 

a. Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, on any 
species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status species in local or regional plans, 
policies, or regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded that “no sensitive plant species have been observed in Ontario, 
and the only such species that are considered potentially present in the City have a low potential due to 
lack of suitable habitat. Therefore, implementation of TOP 2050 would not have substantial adverse impacts 
on sensitive plant species” (SEIR p. 5.4-30). The project site was previously analyzed by TOP EIR as a 
mixture of residential and commercial uses.  

According to TOP EIR, the Overlay Planning Area (including the PUD project site) is located within an area 
that has been identified as having the potential to contain species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or 
special status species in local or regional plans, policies or regulations or by the California Department of 
Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). These species include: the Delhi 
Sands flower-loving fly (DSFLF), coast horned lizard, burrowing owl, and various species of nesting birds 
protected under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act.  The proposed project is consistent with TOP land use 
designation and zoning classification for the site of mixed use (MU) as a Neighborhood Community Hub 
(NH). The project does have a potential to impact nesting birds by removal of landscaping during 
redevelopment. However, governmental database information and TOP EIR indicate there is little or no 
potential for any listed or otherwise sensitive species to be present on the project site. With regulatory 
compliance (e.g., Migratory Bird Treaty Act, Fish and Game codes), TOP EIR concluded that future 
development in the City would not have significant impacts on listed or sensitive species and no mitigation 
was recommended.  

Item D - 38 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 31 of 70 

The PUD project site is currently developed with several commercial buildings. Due to its developed 
condition and surrounding urban land uses, the project site does not contain or support any listed or 
otherwise sensitive species of plants or animals. With regulatory compliance, the PUD project will not result 
in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP 
EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

b. Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural 
community identified in local or regional plans, policies, regulations, or by the California 
Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicated development “of new, previously undeveloped areas of the City 
even though it would result in an increase in land use intensity. Individual projects undergoing 
environmental review under CEQA would be required to determine whether there is potential habitat on-
site for sensitive species. If sensitive species were found on-site, the project proponent would be required 
to consult with the CDFW regarding impacts to sensitive species and ensuing mitigation” (SEIR p. 5.4-31). 
The EIR concluded TOP would have a less than significant direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating 
to riparian habitat or sensitive natural community. In TOP EIR, the Overlay Planning Area, including the 
PUD project site, was previously analyzed as mixed use. TOP EIR does not identify any natural drainage 
features in this portion of the City due to its urbanized condition. With regulatory compliance, the EIR did 
not recommend any specific mitigation for future development relative to jurisdictional features. 

Based on a review of aerial photographs, the site is totally developed and does not contain any riparian 
habitat or other sensitive natural community identified by CDFW or USFWS (GoogleEarth). Therefore, no 
adverse environmental impacts are anticipated. In addition, the project will not result in any new, increased 
or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or 
additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

c. Have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally protected wetlands (including, but not 
limited to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological 
interruption, or other means? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR did not identify any wetland habitat or resources on the project site or in the 
immediate surrounding area due to its urban condition. The EIR stated TOP “would have a less than 
significant direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to state or federally protected wetlands. 
Accordingly, no changes or alterations to the TOP [2050] were required to avoid or substantially lessen any 
significant environmental impacts under those thresholds” (SEIR p. 5.4-33). 

According to aerial photographs, the site is developed and no drainage areas or wetland habitat are present 
on the project site (GoogleEarth). Therefore, project implementation would have no impact on these 
resources. In addition, the project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not 
previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are 
necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

d. Interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife 
species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use 
of native wildlife nursery sites? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR did not identify any drainages or wetland habitat that could support fish on 
the project site, and the site is not located within an identified wildlife movement corridor due to its physical 
condition and development of the surrounding area. 

TOP EIR found that no regional wildlife movement corridors have been identified in the City, so it did not 
result in substantial adverse effects to wildlife movement (SEIR p. 5.4-33). 

According to aerial photographs, the site is developed with no drainages or native vegetation present 
(GoogleEarth). As a result, there are no wildlife corridors connecting this site to other areas. The project 
site and area may support nesting birds but regulatory compliance (e.g., Migratory Bird Treaty Act, Fish 

Item D - 39 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 32 of 70 

and Game codes) will help assure there will be no impacts to migratory birds. With regulatory compliance, 
the project will not interfere with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or 
with established native resident or migratory wildlife. The project will not result in any new, increased or 
substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or 
additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

 e.  Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as a tree 
preservation policy or ordinance? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicates the City includes the Ontario Recovery Unit for the DSFLF with 
21.7 square miles mainly in the eastern and southwestern portions of the City (i.e., not on or adjacent to 
the project site), The EIR concluded TOP would not conflict with the requirements of the DSFLF Ontario 
Recovery Unit (SEIR p. 5.4-34). 

The City does not currently have any specific policies or ordinances protecting biological resources. The 
City’s Development Code requires replacement of trees removed. With implementation of the ODC 
requirements for tree replacement, and its proposed Landscaping Plan, no adverse environmental impacts 
are anticipated. 

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

f. Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan (HCP), Natural 
Community Conservation Plan (NCCP), or other approved local, regional, or state habitat 
conservation plan? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR only acknowledges a small portion of the City that contains an HCP for 
DSFLF but this plan does not apply to the proposed Project, and there are no HCPs or NCCPs to protect 
biological resources that affect the proposed Project site. 

The site is not part of an adopted HCP, NCCP, or other approved habitat conservation plan. As a result, no 
adverse environmental impacts are anticipated.  The project will not result in any new, increased or 
substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or 
additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation required.  

5. CULTURAL RESOURCES. Would the project:  

a. Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource pursuant to 
Section 15064.5? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded that buildout of TOP could result in significant impacts to 
historical resources or paleontological resources but Mitigation Measure 5-1 would reduce impacts to less 
than significant levels (SEIR p. 5.5-23).  The project site was previously analyzed by TOP EIR as a mixture 
of residential and commercial uses.  

The PUD project site is developed with a number of commercial buildings the largest of which is vacant. 
The site does not contain any buildings or structures constructed more than 50 years ago and cannot be 
considered for eligibility for listing in the California Register of Historic Resources.   

The Euclid Avenue (EA) Overlay District was established to recognize, protect, and enhance the visual 
character and quality of Euclid Avenue as a major scenic and historic resource of the City as well as its 
position on the National Register of Historic Places. Properties located within the EA require approval of a 
Certificate of Appropriateness to ensure no adverse impacts to designated historic resources occur as a 
result of new development and buildings.  This PUD includes design criteria within Chapter 5 for site and 
building design that is consistent with the overall character of Euclid Avenue.   

Item D - 40 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 33 of 70 

The public right-of-way of Euclid Avenue from Philadelphia Street north to the I-10 Freeway was designated 
as Local Landmark No. 67 on January 16, 2001 by the Ontario City Council. On August 10, 2005, the public 
right-of-way of Euclid Avenue from Philadelphia Street in Ontario north to 24th Street in Upland was listed 
on the National Register of Historic Places as a significant cultural landscape. One contributing character-
defining feature of the public right-of way is the 60-foot-wide median separating the north/south bound 
vehicular lanes of Euclid Avenue. The Euclid/Walnut PUD project does not alter or affect this feature.  

Several buildings within the proposed PUD project have frontage on Euclid Avenue. However, the PUD site 
is 0.4 mile south of the southern boundary (Philadelphia Street) of this Local Landmark/National Register 
of Historic Places designation. The extended view of the Euclid Avenue corridor, whether viewed northward 
from the parcels or southward towards the parcels of the PUD, is also visually disrupted within the 
immediate foreground view as a result of the Pomona Freeway (SR-60), which is elevated above Euclid 
Avenue. Additionally, the proposed PUD is approximately three miles south of the City’s Downtown Historic 
District.  Based upon the City’s Historic Preservation records, there are no potential or proposed historic 
resources within the immediate surrounding area of the parcels within the PUD project. Therefore, the PUD 
will not alter or affect any designated historical districts or resources in the City.  

In addition, the project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary.  

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

b. Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource 
pursuant to Section 15064.5? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR (Section 5.5) indicates no archeological sites or resources have been 
recorded in the City with the Archeological Information Center at San Bernardino County Museum. The 
CRAs prepared for the project site included a pedestrian survey, a record search, a Sacred Lands File 
(SLF) search, and a review of existing documentation for the project site and surrounding area. The Native 
American Heritage Commission (NAHC) was contacted for a SLF search as part of TOP EIR preparation 
which indicated the project site contained no identified archaeological or tribal resources. 

The NAHC SLF search also did not indicate any archaeological resources or artifacts associated with Tribal 
Cultural Resources (TCRs) were located within the project site. The project site has been highly disturbed 
by modern human activities including agricultural use in the distant past and development for commercial 
uses more recently. It is likely these activities could have displaced potential surface and subsurface 
archaeological resources if any were present. Therefore, it is not anticipated the proposed project will 
impact archaeological or identified TCRs.  

While no adverse impacts to archeological resources are anticipated at this site due to its disturbed nature, 
the project will implement TOP MM CUL 5-2 to ensure that, in the event of unanticipated archeological 
discoveries, construction activities will not continue or will be moved to other parts of the project site and a 
qualified archaeologist shall be contacted to determine significance of these resources. If the find is 
discovered to be historical or unique archaeological resources, as defined in Section 15064.5 of the CEQA 
Guidelines, avoidance or other appropriate measures shall be implemented.  The project will not result in 
any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. 
No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. However, the following mitigation measure from TOP 
EIR is applicable to the project: 

CUL 5-2: In areas of documented or inferred archaeological and/or paleontological resource presence, City 
staff shall require applicants for development permits to provide studies to document the presence/absence 
of such resources. On properties where resources are identified, such studies shall provide a detailed 
mitigation plan, including a monitoring program and recovery and/or in situ preservation plan, based on the 
recommendations of a qualified cultural preservation expert. The mitigation plan shall include the following 
requirements: 

a) Archaeologists and/or paleontologist shall be retained for the project and will be on call during grading 
and other significant ground-disturbing activities. 

Item D - 41 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 34 of 70 

b) Should any cultural resources be discovered, no further grading shall occur in the area of the discovery 
until the Planning Director or designee is satisfied that adequate provisions are in place to protect these 
resources. 

c) Unanticipated discoveries shall be evaluated for significance by a San Bernardino County Certified 
Professional Archaeologist/Paleontologist. If significance criteria are met, then the project shall be required 
to perform data recovery, professional identification, radiocarbon dates, and other special studies; submit 
materials to a museum for permanent curation; and provide a comprehensive final report including catalog 
with museum numbers. 

c. Disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR states there are known Native American gravesites and cemeteries in the 
City, but none on or adjacent to the project site. Future development and grading of sensitive areas may 
disturb human remains, including those outside of formal cemeteries (SEIR p. 5.5-20). 

The proposed PUD project site is developed and the area has been previously and extensively disturbed 
by human activity. No known religious or sacred sites exist within the project area. Thus, human remains 
are not expected to be encountered during any construction activities. However, in the unlikely event that 
human remains are discovered, existing regulations, including Public Resources Code Section 5097.98, 
would afford protection for human remains discovered during development activities. Per state law, in the 
event unanticipated discoveries of human remains are identified during excavation, the area shall not be 
disturbed until any required investigation is completed by the County Coroner and/or Native American 
consultation has been completed, if deemed applicable.  

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. However, the PUD project shall implement TOP EIR 
Mitigation Measure 5-2 as outlined above. 

6. ENERGY Would the project:  

a. Result in potentially significant environmental impact due to wasteful, inefficient, or 
unnecessary consumption of energy resources, during project construction or operation? 

Discussion of Effects: Energy was analyzed at a programmatic level in TOP EIR based on the 2019 
revisions to the CEQA Guidelines. TOP EIR concluded TOP would not result in wasteful, inefficient, or 
unnecessary consumption of fuel use during construction or result in new or a substantial increase in 
magnitude of impacts (SEIR p. 5.6-13). 

Implementation of the project would increase the demand for electricity and natural gas at the project site 
and gasoline consumption in the region during construction and operation, as described below: 

Electricity 

Construction. Temporary electric power would be required for lighting and electronic equipment (e.g., 
computers) located in trailers used by the construction crew. However, the electricity used for such activities 
would be temporary and would have a negligible contribution to the project’s overall energy consumption.  

Operation/Occupancy. The proposed PUD project entails the construction of 369 new apartment units and 
12,000 square feet of new commercial uses which are consistent with TOP land use and zoning 
designations for the property. These commercial and residential buildings will be similar in design and 
operation to existing and planned uses in the surrounding area and will have similar energy use during 
operation to existing commercial businesses and apartments in the City. Operation of the PUD project 
would require electricity for multiple purposes, such as: building heating and cooling, lighting, appliances, 
and electronics.  

The PUD project will be required to comply with the CALGreen Building Code (CBC) commercial and 
residential requirements in effect at the time of development. Typical CBC requirements that would reduce 
electricity consumption include but are not limited to enhanced window insulation, cool-roofing, improved 
efficiency heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) systems, enhanced duct insulation, Energy Star 
commercial appliances, water efficient landscaping and irrigation systems, and water-efficient toilets and 

Item D - 42 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 35 of 70 

faucets. Although electricity consumption would increase at the site with implementation of the project, the 
building envelope, HVAC, lighting, and other systems, would be designed to maximize energy performance. 

With implementation of these various measures, the electricity that would be consumed by the project is 
not considered to be inefficient or wasteful, and impacts would be less than significant. 

Natural Gas 

Construction. Natural gas consumption is not anticipated during construction of the PUD project. Fuels used 
for construction would generally consist of diesel and gasoline, which are discussed in the next subsection.  

Operation/Occupancy. The proposed PUD project is consistent with TOP and zoning designations for the 
site. Planned commercial and residential uses will be similar in size and appearance to existing and planned 
uses in the surrounding area and will have similar natural gas use during operation or occupancy. During 
operation and occupancy, the PUD project would require natural gas consumption for various purposes, 
such as building heating and cooling.  

All future structures developed on the site would be built to the Title 24 CALGreen efficiency requirements 
in effect at the time of development. These requirements include but are not limited to wall, attic, and window 
insulation; high efficiency water heaters, and optimized building orientation. Although natural gas 
consumption would increase at the site under implementation of the project, the building envelope, HVAC, 
lighting, and other systems, would be designed to maximize energy performance. The project would be 
subject to statewide mandatory energy requirements as outlined in the CALGreen Code. For these reasons, 
the natural gas that would be consumed by the project is not considered to be inefficient or wasteful, and 
impacts would be less than significant. 

Diesel and Gasoline Fuel 

Construction. Diesel and gasoline fuels, also referred to as petroleum in this subsection, would be 
consumed throughout construction of the PUD project. Fuel consumed by construction equipment would 
be the primary energy resource consumed over the course of construction, and vehicle miles traveled 
(VMT) associated with the transportation of construction materials (e.g., deliveries to the site) and worker 
trips to and from the site would also result in petroleum consumption. Whereas on-site, heavy-duty 
construction equipment and delivery trucks would predominantly use diesel fuel, construction workers 
would generally rely on gasoline-powered vehicles.  

The project will be required to comply with the California Air Resources Board (CARB) Airborne Toxic 
Control Measures, which restrict heavy-duty diesel vehicle idling to five minutes. Since petroleum use 
during construction would be temporary and required to conduct development activities, it would not be 
wasteful or inefficient, and impacts would be less than significant.   

Operation/Occupancy. Fuel consumption associated with operation of the PUD project’s commercial uses 
and occupancy of the project’s residential uses. As regulatory requirements increase (i.e., become more 
stringent), the amount of petroleum consumed as a result of vehicular trips to and from the project site 
during operation and occupancy is anticipated to decrease over time.  

There are numerous regulations in place that require and encourage fuel efficiency. For example, CARB 
has adopted an approach to passenger vehicles by combining the control of smog-causing pollutants and 
GHG emissions into a single, coordinated package of standards. The approach also includes efforts to 
support and accelerate the number of plug-in hybrids and zero emission vehicles (ZEVs) in California. In 
addition, CARB adopted a regional goal for the SCAG region of reducing per-capita GHG emissions from 
2005 levels by 8% in 2020 and 19% in 2035 for light-duty passenger vehicles. Accordingly, operation of the 
project is expected to decrease the amount of petroleum it consumes in the future due to improvements in 
state-wide fuel economy over time. Although the project would increase petroleum use in the region during 
construction and operation, the use would be a small incremental fraction of the statewide use and due to 
efficiency increases would diminish over time. As such, petroleum consumption associated with the project 
would not be considered to be inefficient or wasteful so its energy-related impacts would be less than 
significant. The project will comply with Title 24 and other applicable state energy conservation regulations 
as recommended in TOP EIR. In November 2014, the City adopted the most current version of the 
Community Climate Action Plan (CCAP) which includes energy conservation that results from 
implementation of the recommended GHG reduction measures. The PUD project will be required to comply 
with applicable portions of the City’s CCAP. Compliance with the CCAP and Title 24 will result in the project 
not having any new, increased or substantially different impacts not considered and addressed in TOP EIR. 

Item D - 43 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 36 of 70 

No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project-specific mitigation is required.  

b. Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy efficiency? 

Discussion of Effects: Energy was analyzed at a programmatic level in TOP EIR based on the 2019 
revisions to the CEQA Guidelines. The EIR determined TOP would have a less than significant direct, 
indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to conflict with or obstruction of a state or local plan for renewable 
energy or energy efficiency (SEIR p. 5.6-14). 

The PUD project would not conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan adopted for the purposes of 
increasing the amount of renewable energy or energy efficiency. The California Title 24 energy efficiency 
standards for residential and non-residential buildings address electricity and natural gas efficiency in 
lighting, water, heating, and air conditioning, as well as the effects of the building envelope (e.g., windows, 
doors, walls and roofs, etc.) on energy consumption. As described above, the project would be required to 
comply with the appropriate Title 24 CALGreen standards current at that time. Since each new building will 
comply with applicable State standards and adhere to the City’s CCAP, which includes energy reductions 
measures, the PUD project would not conflict with nor obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy 
or energy efficiency.  

This impact would be less than significant and the project will not result in any new, increased or 
substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or 
additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

7. GEOLOGY & SOILS. Would the project:  

a. Expose people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of 
loss, injury or death involving: 

i. Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or based on other 
substantial evidence of a known fault? Refer to Division of Mines and Geology Special Publication 
42. 
Discussion of Effects: According to TOP EIR, there are no active faults known on the site and the project 
site is located outside the Fault Rapture Hazard Zone (formerly Alquist-Priolo Zone). TOP EIR (Section 
5.7/Figure 5.7-2) identifies eight active or potentially active fault zones near the City. The EIR determined 
TOP would have a less than significant direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to seismic-related 
hazards (SEIR p. 5.7-19). 

Given that the closest active fault zone is located over ten miles from the PUD project site, fault rupture 
within the project area is not likely. All development will comply with the CBC seismic design standards to 
reduce geologic hazard susceptibility. Therefore, no adverse impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

ii. Strong seismic ground shaking? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR indicates there are no active faults known on the site and the project site 
is located outside the Fault Rapture Hazard Zone (formerly Alquist-Priolo Zone).  TOP EIR (Section 
5.7/Figure 5.7-2) identifies eight active or potentially active fault zones near the City. The closest fault zone 
is located more than eight miles from the Project site.  

The proximity of the PUD project site to the active faults will result in ground shaking during moderate to 
severe seismic events. All construction will comply with the CBC, the Ontario Municipal Code (OMC), TOP 
and all other ordinances adopted by the City related to construction and safety. Therefore, no adverse 
impacts are anticipated.  

Item D - 44 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 37 of 70 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

iii. Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction? 

Discussion of Effects: As identified in TOP EIR (Section 5.7), groundwater saturation of sediments is 
required for earthquake induced liquefaction. In general, groundwater depths shallower than 10 feet to the 
surface can cause the highest liquefaction susceptibility. TOP EIR indicates that depths to groundwater in 
the project site vicinity during the winter months is estimated to be over 200 feet below ground surface. 
Therefore, the liquefaction potential within the project area is minimal. Implementation of TOP strategies in 
the Safety Element regarding seismic building design, the CBC, and the OMC would reduce impacts to a 
less than significant level. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

iv. Landslides? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR did not identify any significant slopes in the City or the project area, so there 
were no impacts related to landslides and no mitigation is needed. 

The project would not expose people or structures to potential adverse effects, including the risk of loss, 
injury, or death involving landslides because the relatively flat topography of the project site (less than one 
percent slope) and the chance of a landslide onsite would be remote. The PUD project proposes 369 new 
apartments and 12,000 square feet of new commercial uses onsite which are consistent with TOP land use 
and zoning designations.  

Therefore, the project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

b. Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded that TOP policies and state regulations would ensure that 
potential impacts from erosion or the loss of topsoil would be less than significant (SEIR p. 5.7-20). 

The project site will not result in significant soil erosion or loss of topsoil because of the previously disturbed 
nature of the project site, its current developed condition (i.e., site is covered by mainly impervious 
surfaces), and implementation of the project-specific Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP)(see 
Appendix C) for water quality control (including erosion). Grading increases the potential for erosion by 
removing protective vegetation, changing natural drainage patterns, and constructing slopes. However, 
compliance with the CBC and review of grading plans by the City Engineer will ensure no significant impacts 
will occur. In addition, the City requires an erosion/dust control plan for projects located within this area. 
Implementation of a WQMP and Best Management Practices (BMPs), consistent with the federal water 
quality permitting requirements of the National Pollution Discharge Elimination Program (NPDES) program, 
the Environmental Resource Element of TOP Policy Plan strategies, the CBC, and the OMC, would reduce 
potential impacts to a less than significant level. 

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

c. Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a 
result of the project, and potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, 
liquefaction or collapse? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR (Section 5.7) indicates that subsidence is generally associated with large 
decreases or withdrawals of water from an aquifer. The project would use domestic water supplies and 
would not withdraw water from the existing aquifer. The EIR states that future projects under TOP could 

Item D - 45 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 38 of 70 

expose structures or persons to potentially significant hazards from lateral spreading, ground subsidence, 
liquefaction, and compressible soils, However, compliance with the CBC and review of grading plans for 
individual projects by the City Engineer would ensure no significant impacts would occur (SEIR p. 5.7-21). 
The City is relatively flat, including the project site, so the risk of landslides is negligible.  

The new commercial and residential buildings would not result in the location of development on a geologic 
unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable because as previously discussed, the potential 
for liquefaction and landslides associated with the project is less than significant. Further, implementation 
of TOP strategies, the CBC and the OMC would reduce impacts to a less than significant level. Therefore, 
the project would not create greater landslide potential impacts than were identified in TOP EIR. 

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

d. Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code (1994), 
creating substantial risks to life or property? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR identified limited soil stability impacts of future development if expansive or 
other soil constraints were present beneath structures.  TOP EIR recommended compliance with the CBC 
and OMC to assure impacts will be less than significant (SEIR p. 5.7-21). 

The majority of Ontario, including the project site, is located on alluvial, and in some areas, aeolian (i.e., 
sandy) soil deposits. These types of soils are not generally considered to be expansive. In addition, specific 
soil conditions beneath each proposed building will be verified and addressed by specific foundation design 
to be confirmed by the City Engineering Department as part of the City’s development permitting process. 
With this regulatory compliance, no adverse impacts will occur. 

Through the City’s development and design review process, the project will not result in any new, increased 
or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or 
additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

e. Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative 
wastewater disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of wastewater? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR states that TOP policies and state regulations would ensure that the 
potential impacts from geology and soils hazards would be less than significant. Wastewater from Ontario 
is treated at wastewater treatment facilities owned and operated by the Inland Empire Utilities Agency 
(IEUA). Use of septic tanks would be limited to existing septic tanks, and new septic tanks would be 
constricted to areas not in practical proximity to existing sewer mains, dependent on approval by the Santa 
Ana Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB) on a case-by-case basis (SEIR p. 5.7-22). 

The PUD project area is served by the local sewer system and the use of alternative systems is not 
necessary. Future sewer service is based on planned land uses and sizing of pipes and treatment facilities 
to accommodate planned growth. Since the project is consistent with TOP land use and zoning designations 
on the site, there will be no significant impacts to the sewage system. 

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

f. Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic 
feature? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR indicates the City is underlain by deposits of Quaternary and Upper-
Pleistocene sediments deposited during the Pliocene and early Pleistocene time, Quaternary Older Alluvial 
sediments may contain significant, nonrenewable, paleontological resources and are, therefore, considered 
to have high sensitivity at depths of 10 feet or more below ground surface. In addition, TOP EIR (Section 
5.5) indicates that only one paleontological resource has been discovered in the City. The project site has 
surficial sediments composed of younger Quaternary Alluvium, derived as alluvial fan deposits from the 

Item D - 46 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 39 of 70 

San Gabriel Mountains to the north or as dune sands. These deposits typically do not contain significant 
vertebrate fossils, at least in the uppermost layers, but they may be underlain by older sedimentary 
materials at estimated depths greater than 10 feet which could contain paleontological resources. 

Project grading may exceed 10 feet in depth in some areas so the project will implement TOP EIR Mitigation 
Measure 5-2, which is included in Section 5, Cultural Resources, as this measure addresses paleontological 
resources. The measure requires that, in the event unanticipated paleontological resources are identified 
during excavation, construction activities will not continue or will be moved to other parts of the project site 
and a qualified paleontologist shall be contacted to determine the significance of these resources.  If the 
find is determined to be significant, avoidance or other appropriate resource protection actions will be taken. 

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: The project will be required to implement TOP EIR Mitigation Measure 5-2. No additional project 
specific mitigation is required.  

8. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS. Would the project: 

a. Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a significant 
impact on the environment? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR determined TOP would have a significant direct, indirect, and cumulative 
impacts relating to the generation of GHG emissions (SEIR p. 5.7-26).  The subject site was previously 
analyzed by TOP EIR as a mixture of residential and commercial uses (i.e., mixed use). The impact of 
buildout of the TOP on the environment due to the emission of GHGs was analyzed in the EIR for the Policy 
Plan of TOP. According to TOP EIR, this impact would be significant and unavoidable and a statement of 
overriding considerations was adopted for this impact. Developing the site with mixed residential and 
commercial uses will not create significantly greater impacts than were identified in TOP EIR.  

The analysis, methodology, and significance determination (thresholds) are based upon the City’s CCAP 
which includes GHG emission inventories (2008 and 2020 forecasts), a year 2020 emission reduction 
target, the goals and policies to reach the target, and TOP EIR Addendum prepared for the CCAP. The City 
will require the PUD project to be consistent and comply with the CCAP. Pursuant to Public Resources 
Code Section 21083.3, this impact need not be analyzed further because: (1) the proposed project would 
result in an impact that was previously analyzed in TOP EIR, which was certified by the City; (2) the 
proposed project would not result in any GHG impacts that were not addressed in TOP EIR; and (3) the 
proposed PUD project is consistent with TOP. The proposed impacts of the PUD project were already 
analyzed in TOP EIR and the project will be built to current energy efficient standards. Potential impacts of 
project implementation will be less than significant and will be supported by compliance with current Title 
24 energy efficiency standards of the California Code of Regulations. No changes or additions to TOP EIR 
analyses are necessary. 

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. Regulatory 
compliance adequately addresses any GHG impacts and there is no need for any project specific mitigation 
measures. 

Mitigation:  No project specific mitigation is required.  

b. Conflict with an applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing 
the emissions of greenhouse gases? 
Discussion of Effects: The EIR determined TOP was consistent with statewide strategies adopted for the 
purpose of reducing GHG emissions including CARB’s Scoping Plan and SCAG’s Connect SoCal (SEIR p. 
5.8-27). The subject site was previously analyzed by TOP EIR as mixed use (residential and commercial). 
By implementing TOP EIR Mitigation Measures AQ 3-1 through 3-3 regarding air pollutant emissions, the 
proposed project is consistent with TOP Goal ER 4 of improving air quality by, among other things, 
implementation of Policy ER 4-3, regarding the reduction of GHG emissions in accordance with regional, 
state and federal regulations. In addition, the proposed project is consistent with the policies outlined in 
Section 5.6.4 of the EIR for TOP, which aims to reduce the City’s contribution of GHG emissions at build-
out by implementing energy efficient design, energy efficient irrigation systems, electric vehicle charging 

Item D - 47 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 40 of 70 

stations, and compliance with Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations. The PUD project will be 
required to comply with the City’s CCAP. Therefore, the proposed PUD project does not conflict with an 
applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing emissions of GHGs. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: Project will implement TOP EIR Mitigation Measures AQ 3-1 through 3-3 but no project specific 
mitigation is required.  

9. HAZARDS & HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. Would the project:  

a. Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, 
use or disposal of hazardous materials? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR determined that implementation of the policies in the Safety Element, in 
addition to existing regulations, would ensure less than significant impacts from transport, use, and/or 
disposal of hazardous materials. It further concluded TOP would have less than significant direct, indirect, 
and cumulative impacts relating to transport, use, and disposal of hazardous materials, release of 
hazardous materials, and emission and handling of hazardous materials, substances, or waste (SEIR p. 
5.9-37). 

The subject site was previously analyzed by TOP EIR as a mixture of residential and commercial uses (i.e., 
mixed use). As a residential and commercial project, the PUD will not involve the transport, use or disposal 
of hazardous materials during either construction or project implementation based on the land use 
restrictions for mixed use in TOP. Therefore, no adverse impacts are anticipated. However, in the unlikely 
event of an accident, implementation of the strategies included in TOP regarding emergency services such 
as police and fire protection will decrease the potential for health and safety risks from hazardous materials 
to less than significant levels.  

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

b. Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable 
upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environment? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded that implementation of the policies in the Safety Element, in 
addition to existing regulations, would ensure that development under TOP would not exacerbate hazards 
associated with existing hazardous materials sites (SEIR p. 5.9-39). 

The subject site was previously analyzed by TOP EIR as mixed use (e.g., residential and commercial uses). 
Since it is not an industrial use, the proposed PUD project would not involve the use of hazardous materials 
or volatile fuels. In addition, there are no known stationary commercial or industrial land uses within close 
proximity to the PUD project site which use or store hazardous materials to the extent that they would pose 
a significant hazard to visitors/occupants to the subject site. Therefore, upset conditions resulting in the 
release of hazardous materials are not anticipated. 

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP FEIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

c. Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances 
or waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded that several hazardous material facilities were within a quarter 
mile of various schools in the City and impacts were potentially significant, such that mitigation was 
recommended. However, the project site is not within a quarter mile of any school sites so there will be no 
impacts and no mitigation is required relative to TOP EIR analysis. 

 

Item D - 48 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 41 of 70 

The PUD involves residential and commercial uses, so it does not involve the use, emissions or handling 
of hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances or waste that would typically be associated with 
industrial uses. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. The PUD project will not result in any new, increased 
or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or 
additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

d. Be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled 
pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a significant hazard 
to the public or the environment? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR identified that implementation of the policies in the Safety Element in 
addition to existing regulations ensured that development of TOP would not exacerbate existing hazards 
associated with existing hazardous materials sites. The EIR concluded TOP would have a less than 
significant direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to location on a site which is included on a list of 
hazard materials. Accordingly, no changes or alterations to the Proposed Project were required to avoid or 
substantially lessen any significant environmental impacts under those thresholds. (Draft SEIR pg. 5.9-39) 

The PUD project site is not listed on the hazardous materials site compiled pursuant to Government Code 
Section 65962.5. Therefore, the project would not create a hazard to the public or the environment and no 
impact is anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

e. For a project located within the safety zone of the airport land use compatibility plan for 
ONT or Chino Airports, would the project result in a safety hazard for people residing or working in 
the project area? 

Discussion of Effects: Sections 5.9 (Hazards and Hazardous Materials) and 5.11 (Land Use and Planning) 
of TOP EIR indicated that with proper land-use planning, aircraft safety risks could be reduced, primarily by 
avoiding incompatible land uses. The FAA and Caltrans Division of Aeronautics provide guidance for land 
use safety near airports. However, the proposed PUD project is not within the hazard or influence zones of 
either the Ontario International Airport to the northeast or the Chino Airport to the south. The PUD project 
will therefore have no impacts relative to airport safety or land use compatibility. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts that were not 
previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are 
necessary, and there is no need for any project specific mitigation measures. 

Mitigation:  No project specific mitigation is required.  

f. Impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency response plan 
or emergency evacuation plan? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded TOP would not interfere with an emergency evacuation plan. 
According to the Vulnerability Analysis conducted as part of TOP, the threat of flood is the City’s greatest 
hazard as large portions of the City are within the flood zone (i.e., the project site is within the 500-year 
flood zone). Figure S-10 of TOP indicates that Haven Avenue to the west, Airport Drive to the north, and 
Jurupa Street to the south are designated evacuation routes in the City. The City's Safety Element, as 
contained within TOP, includes policies and procedures to be administered in the event of a disaster.  TOP 
seeks interdepartmental and inter-jurisdictional coordination and collaboration to be prepared for, respond 
to and recover from disasters or emergencies.  The EIR concluded TOP would have a less than significant 
direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to impairment of or interference with adopted emergency 
response plans or emergency evacuation plans (SEIR p. 5.9-41). 

The project will comply with the requirements of the Ontario Fire Department and all City requirements for 
fire and other emergency access. Because the project is required to comply with all applicable City codes, 
any impacts would be reduced to less than significant levels. 

Item D - 49 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 42 of 70 

The project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered 
and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

g. Expose people or structures, either directly or indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury 
or death involving wildland fires? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicates the City would result in less than significant risks from wildfire 
hazards. The City is outside of the state responsibility area, and California Department of Forestry and Fire 
Protection (CAL FIRE) has determined that the City contains no areas subject to very high wildfire risk. The 
EIR concluded TOP would have a less than significant direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to 
wildland fires (SEIR p. 5.9-42). Figure S-04 from TOP indicates the project site is not within any designated 
wildfire area. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project is residential and commercial in nature and not industrial so it will not result in any new, 
increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No 
changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

10. HYDROLOGY & WATER QUALITY. Would the project:     

a. Violate any water quality standards or waste discharge requirements or otherwise 
substantially degrade surface or ground water quality? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR concluded there would be less than significant impacts related to water 
quality from development activities associated with future development under TOP. Nearly the entire City 
is developed, and implementation of TOP would not substantially alter the amount of developed land in the 
City.  TOP EIR would have a less than significant direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to surface 
or groundwater quality (SEIR p. 5.10-21). 

The PUD project site is already developed and served by City water and sewer service and will not affect 
water quality standards or waste discharge requirements. Discharge of storm water pollutants from areas 
of materials storage, vehicle or equipment fueling, vehicle or equipment maintenance could result in a 
temporary increase in the amount of suspended solids, trash and debris, oil and grease, organic 
compounds, pesticides, nutrients, heavy metals and bacteria pathogens in surface flows during a 
concurrent storm event, thus resulting in surface water quality impacts. The site is required to comply with 
the statewide National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) General Construction Activities 
Stormwater Permit, the San Bernardino County Area-Wide Urban Runoff Permit (MS4 permit) and the 
Ontario Municipal Code (OMC) Title 6, Chapter 6 (Stormwater Drainage System). This compliance would 
reduce any impacts to below a level of significance.  

A Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan (PWQMP) is required to be prepared for the PUD project 
prior to issuance of grading or building permits. The PWQMP will identify how the site will comply with storm 
water discharge and water quality management requirements of the City and the Regional Water Quality 
Control Board. The PWQMP includes site design measures that capture runoff and pollutant transport by 
minimizing impervious surfaces and maximizes low impact development (LID) best management practices 
(BMPs), such as infiltration, biotreatment and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP would include the use of 
underground stormwater infiltration systems for both of the PUD project phases of development.  

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

b. Substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater 
recharge such that the project may impede sustainable groundwater management of the basin? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR identified less than significant impacts related to groundwater recharge 
and supply for TOP. At buildout, TOP is forecast to increase residential units by 25,399 and increase 
nonresidential square footage by 1,092,508 square feet; future development would increase the amount of 
impermeable surfaces in the City and reduce the amount of permeable surfaces available for groundwater 

Item D - 50 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 43 of 70 

recharge. TOP would have a less than significant direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to 
impediment of sustainable groundwater management of the basin (SEIR p. 5.10-23). 

The PUD Project site was previously analyzed by TOP EIR as mixed use (i.e., residential and commercial 
uses). No increases in the current amount of water flow to the project site are anticipated, and the proposed 
project will not deplete groundwater supplies, nor will it interfere with recharge. The water use associated 
with the proposed use of the property was included in TOP EIR analysis. For development of the site, 
grading and excavation is expected to be less than 25 feet and would not reach a depth that could affect 
the existing aquifer, estimated to be over 200 feet below the ground surface. No adverse impacts are 
anticipated.  

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary.  

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

c. Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the 
alteration of the course of a stream or river or through the addition of impervious surfaces, in a 
manner which would: 

i. Result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site;  
Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded that implementation of BMPs outlined in SWPPPs, erosion and 
sediment control plans, WQMPs, and TOP policies would address anticipated erosion and siltation impacts. 
Therefore, development would not result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site (SEIR p. 5.10-24). 

 
The site is already developed and the project hydrology report and PWQMP demonstrate that the project 
will not alter the drainage pattern of the site or area in a manner that would result in erosion, siltation or 
flooding on-or-off site, nor will the proposed PUD project increase the erosion of the PUD project site or 
surrounding areas. The existing drainage pattern of the site will not be altered, and it will have no significant 
impact on downstream hydrology. Stormwater generated by the project will be discharged in compliance 
with the statewide NPDES General Construction Activities Stormwater Permit and San Bernardino County 
MS4 permit requirements. With the full implementation of a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
(SWPPP) developed in compliance with the General Construction Activities Permit requirements, the BMPs 
included in the SWPPP, and a stormwater monitoring program, the project’s potential impact would be 
reduced to below a level of significance. No streams or streambeds are present on the site. No changes in 
erosion off-site are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

ii. Substantially increase the rate or amount of surface runoff water in a manner which would 
result in flooding on- or off-site; 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR states that the current Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) for the City only 
shows small portions of the City adjacent to flood control channels, detention basins, and creeks are within 
the 100-year floodplain. In addition to TOP policies, the OMC, Chapter 13, Flood Damage Prevention 
Program, requires that a development permit be obtained prior to development in a special flood hazard 
area to ensure that the site is reasonably safe from flooding and flood hazards. The City requires that all 
new structures in a special flood hazard area have elevations above the base flood elevation. Therefore, 
with implementation of existing policies, the potential to impede or redirect flood flows was considered less 
than significant (SEIR p. 5.10-25). 

The project hydrology report concludes the proposed PUD project will not increase the flow velocity or 
volume of storm water runoff to cause environmental harm from the site and will not create a burden on 
existing infrastructure. Furthermore, with the implementation of an approved PWQMP developed for the 
site, in compliance with the San Bernardino County MS4 Permit requirements, stormwater runoff volume 
shall be reduced to below a level of significance.  

 

Item D - 51 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 44 of 70 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

iii. Create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned 
stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial additional sources of polluted runoff; 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicates there are three major regional drainage channels that convey 
stormwater runoff from the City’s storm drain system—San Antonio Channel, Cucamonga Channel, and 
Day Creek Channel. There are also several flood retention facilities and spreading basins in the City that 
are used to retain flood flows and recharge the Chino Groundwater Basin. Projects considered for approval 
under TOP would be required to prepare project-specific hydrology and hydraulic studies. The methodology 
for these studies is provided in the San Bernardino County Hydrology Manual, which describes the 
approach for estimating stormwater runoff and peak flow rates, for the 100-year storm event (SEIR 5.10-
26). In addition, TOP EIR stated TOP would have a less than significant direct, indirect, and cumulative 
impacts relating to risk of release of pollutants due to project inundation (SEIR p. 5.10-27). 

The site is already developed and the PUD project simply reconstructs the site with new residential and 
commercial land uses. The site is expected to have approximately 85% impervious surfaces (buildings, 
roofs, parking, sidewalks).   

Pursuant to the requirements of TOP, the City’s Development Code, and the San Bernardino County MS4 
Permit, individual developments must provide site drainage and PWQMP plans according to guidelines 
established by the City’s Engineering Department. The City’s development review process requires a 
project-specific hydro report and a PWQMP to demonstrate that a new development will not have any 
significant drainage or water quality-related impacts. The PUD project will be required to have an approved 
hydro report and PWQMP prior to the issuance of a grading or building permit. 

With this regulatory compliance, the PUD project will not increase offsite runoff or change the overall 
direction of runoff from the site.  

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

iv. Impede or redirect flood flows? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR states that the current FIRM for the City only shows small portions of the 
City adjacent to flood control channels, detention basins, and creeks that are within the 100-year floodplain. 
In addition to TOP policies, the OMC, Chapter 13, Flood Damage Prevention Program, requires that a 
development permit be obtained prior to development in a special flood hazard area to ensure that the site 
is reasonably safe from flooding and flood hazards. However, Figure S-03 of TOP indicates most of the 
project site is not within the 500-year or 100-year flood plains, so there will be no flooding impacts relative 
to the 100-year flood zone. Impacts will be less than significant. 

Urbanization in the areas surrounding the project site have resulted in increased responsiveness of the 
basin to rainfall. The increase in impervious surfaces such as roofs, roads, and parking lots has resulted in 
a decrease in groundwater infiltration and larger storm surges. The project site currently slopes gently to 
the southwest and the existing drainage pattern is characterized by sheet flow in that direction.  
 
The PUD project site is not impacted by offsite flows and is not located in a Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA) Federal Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) Panel designated Flood Zone Risk, and 
according to the USFWS National Wetlands Inventory (NWI) no wetlands or other ponding features exist 
on the property. The project will lead to the conversion of permeable surfaces to impermeable surfaces 
such as parking areas, building roofs, and building foundation areas. The project site would discharge onsite 
flows into a combination of onsite infiltrations basins and existing storm drain facilities. As such, the PUD 
proposed project would not impede or redirect flood flows. With adherence to existing federal, state, and 
local regulation, no changes to the existing flood flows would occur. 
 

Item D - 52 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 45 of 70 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

d. In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk release of pollutants due to project 
inundation? 

Discussion of Effects: Figure S-04 of TOP indicates the project site is not within the inundation zones of 
either the San Antonio Dam to the northwest or overflow of debris basins to the north. Due to its location 
and surrounding conditions, TOP EIR identified less than significant impacts related to flood hazards, 
tsunamis, seiches, or dam inundation (SEIR p. 5.10-27). 

Impacts associated with flooding are primarily related to the construction or placement of structures in areas 
prone to flooding including within an unprotected 100-year flood zone, and in areas susceptible to high 
tides, tsunamis, seiches, mudflows or sea level rise. Specifically, structures placed in flood prone areas, if 
flooded, would be damaged, and could subject people to injury or death. The National Flood Insurance Act 
of 1968 requires the identification of floodplain areas and establishment of flood-risk zones within those 
areas. FEMA administers the programs and coordinates with communities to establish effective floodplain 
management standards. According to FEMA, the project site is not located in a known floodplain as shown 
in Figure S-04 of TOP. The project site is located within a flood hazard area identified as “Zone X”, which 
is defined as an area of minimal flood hazard. The project site is not located within a 100-year or 500-year 
flood hazard zone. Furthermore, this area is not known to flood and is not typically subjected to flooding. 
The project site is developed and does not contain any vegetation associated with riparian features. No 
wetlands have been mapped on the project site according to the National Wetlands Inventory (NWI).  

According to the FEMA, the project is not located in an area that is subject to flood hazard, tsunami, or 
seiche zones. The project site is located over 55 miles northeast of the Pacific Ocean and is not located in 
a mapped tsunami zone. Therefore, the PUD project would not have a significant risk of flood hazard, 
tsunami, seiche zones, release of pollutants due to project inundation.  

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

e. Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable 
groundwater management plan? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR identified less than significant impacts related to water quality or 
groundwater issues. The City’s groundwater supplies are from the Chino Groundwater Basin, which is 
adjudicated and managed by the Chino Basin Watermaster. The Chino Basin is exempt from legislative 
requirements under the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act because it is an adjudicated basin and 
is not required to prepare a groundwater sustainability plan. TOP EIR concluded TOP would have less than 
significant direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to a conflict with or obstruction of a water quality 
control plan or sustainable groundwater management plan (SEIR p. 5-10-27). 

The Regional Water Quality Control Board's Basin Plan is designed to preserve and enhance water quality 
and protect the beneficial uses of all regional waters. Specifically, the Basin Plan (i) designates beneficial 
uses for surface and ground waters, (ii) sets narrative and numerical objectives that must be attained or 
maintained to protect the designated beneficial uses and conform to the state's anti-degradation policy, and 
(iii) describes implementation programs to protect all waters in the region. The project would be required to 
adhere to requirements of the water quality control plan, including all existing regulation and permitting 
requirements. This would include the incorporation of BMPs to protect water quality during construction and 
operational periods. The PUD project would be subject to all existing water quality regulations and 
programs, including all applicable construction permits. Existing TOP policies related to water quality would 
also be applicable to the project. Implementation of these policies, in conjunction with compliance with 
existing regulatory programs, would ensure that water quality impacts related to the project would be less 
than significant. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Item D - 53 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 46 of 70 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

11. LAND USE & PLANNING. Would the project:     

a.  Physically divide an established community? 
Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded TOP policies would prevent conflicting land uses and would not 
divide any established communities. TOP would have less than significant direct, indirect, and cumulative 
impacts relating to physical division of an established community (SEIR p. 5.11-2). 

The project site is developed with commercial buildings but the largest one is currently vacant. Development 
of the PUD project will allow local residents to again circulate on and around the site in a safe and efficient 
manner. It will in fact reconnect the existing surrounding neighborhoods by improving the site and having 
regular ongoing commercial activities along with the residential uses. The project buildings will also be of 
compatible in size and design with surrounding development. No adverse impacts are anticipated.  

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP FEIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

b.  Cause a significant environmental impact due to a conflict with any land use plan, policy, 
or regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR found that buildout of TOP would not conflict with applicable plans adopted 
for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect, including SCAG regional plans and 
policies and the land use compatibility plans for the Ontario International Airport (OIA) and the Chino Airport. 
The project site is just east of the OIA and within its safety and noise impact zones (SEIR p. 5.11-6). 

TOP EIR in 2022 evaluated the development of a maximum of 369 residential units and approximately 
142,840 square feet of non-residential development on the Overlay Planning Area (including the PUD 
project site). The PUD project proposes 369 units and approximately 12,000 square feet of non-residential 
development in Phases 1 and 2, leaving 130,840 square feet of non-residential development to be built in 
the remainder of the MU-NH area adjacent to the SR-60 Freeway. Development of the proposed PUD 
would slightly exceed the total number of residential units for this area under the TOP (369 proposed MF 
units+15 existing SF units = 384 total units vs. 369 TOP projected total units). However, development of 
the PUD would substantially reduce the amount of anticipated non-residential growth in this sub-area 
(12,000 SF in the PUD plus 28,000 existing = 40,000 SF vs. 142,840 SF). Therefore, development of the 
“PUD project” would result in a 4% increase in residential impacts but a 28% decrease in commercial 
impacts. While this Addendum only covers impacts of the new residential and commercial uses currently 
proposed under the PUD Project described below, the preceding analysis demonstrates the anticipated 
impacts of growth in this MU-NH sub-area with the PUD are considered to be equivalent or less than those 
identified in TOP EIR for this sub-area. Therefore, the proposed PUD project is generally consistent with 
the MU land use designation and level of growth estimated for the site under the 2022 TOP and the TOP 
EIR. TOP 2050 has three components: the Vision; a Governance Manual; and the Policy Plan (General 
Plan).  

The Ontario Vision – the central theme adopted by the City Council that motivates the Vision is “A 
sustained, community-wide prosperity which continuously adds value and yields benefits.” Value is 
comprehensive in this regard and is expressed in land, revenues, infrastructure, businesses, education, 
employment, health, community services, recreation, etc. In particular, Ontario is committed to being “A 
Premier Community by Design.” One of the foundations to accomplish this is described in the Vision as 
ensuring that development is “distinctive.” The Euclid/Walnut PUD helps the City in realizing specific 
“Points of Vision” as outlined for “Distinctive Development” as follows: 

• A system of vibrant retail, town, and neighborhood centers responsive to market demands and 
woven into the fabric of the community. 

• A demonstrated ability to attract housing in pursuit of our acknowledged responsibility to balance 
housing with the job growth that drives our quality of life. 

• Superior quality and design of the built environment and open spaces through careful attention to 

Item D - 54 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 47 of 70 

detail at every scale, including public and private spaces and structures. 

The Governance Manual – the purpose of the Manual is to institutionalize Ontario’s approach to 
governance and to provide a “business plan” for the City.  Ontario believes that the job of the City is to 
create, maintain and grow economic value. The overall purpose of the Manual is to guide the City’s 
leadership and to ensure that TOP 2050 is integrated into the City’s daily operations and provide for 
effective administration.  The Euclid/Walnut PUD is established in conformance with the City’s 
requirements and includes an administrative section consistent with provisions contained in the 
Development Code for consideration of “Development Plans.” 

The Policy Plan (General Plan) – The Land Use Element designates the subject parcels within the 
Euclid/Walnut PUD as “MU - Mixed Use.”  Generally, these properties are developed with an intense 
mixture of uses that, when concentrated, create focal points for community activity and identify and 
facilitate walking, biking, and the use of transit.  The MU – Mixed Use land use category accommodates 
a horizontal and/or vertical mixture of retail, service, office, restaurant, entertainment, cultural and 
residential uses. The densities and intensities of the MU – Mixed Use designation represent the intended 
level of anticipated development; however, individual projects may vary depending upon an approved 
master plan, such as a specific plan, or planned unit development.  

Implementation of the PUD project will achieve many City goals and policies outlined in The Policy Plan 
(General Plan).  Those specific goals and polices are evaluated in Table 4. 

Table 4: TOP Consistency Analysis 

TOP Element, Goals, and Policies Consistency Analysis 
Land Use Element 
Goal LU-1 Balance. A community that has a spectrum of 
housing types and price ranges that match the jobs in the 
City and that make it possible for people to live and work 
in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 

Consistent. The PUD project provides 
both apartment units and commercial 
employment to allow people to live and 
work in the City. 

Policy LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth 
in strategic locations that help create place and identity, 
maximize available and planned infrastructure, foster the 
development of transit, and support the expansion of the 
active and multimodal transportation networks 
throughout the City. 

Consistent. The PUD project site has 
underutilized commercial uses and will be 
redeveloped with both housing and retail 
uses. It is adjacent to Euclid Ave. and SR-
60 which facilitates transit. 

Policy LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a 
variety of land uses and building types in our land use 
planning efforts that result in a complete community 
where residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, 
and visitors have a wide spectrum of choices of where 
they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 

Consistent. The PUD project provides 
both apartment units and commercial 
employment to allow people to live and 
work in the City which is one aspect of a 
complete community. 

Goal LU-2 Compatibility. Compatibility between a wide 
range of uses and resultant urban patterns and forms. 

Consistent. The PUD provides 
compatibility for residential uses to the 
west and south, commercial uses to the 
east, and mixed uses to the north. 

Policy LU-2.1 Land Use Decisions. We minimize 
adverse impacts on adjacent properties when 
considering land use and zoning requests. 
Policy LU-2.2 Buffers. We require new uses to provide 
mitigation or buffers between existing uses where 
potential adverse impacts could occur. Additional 
mitigation is required when new uses could negatively 
impact environmental justice areas. 

Consistent. The PUD project has a 
comprehensive wall and fence plan plus 
a landscaping plan to provide adequate 
buffers from adjacent land uses. 

Goal LU-4 Phased Growth. Development that provides 
short-term value only when the opportunity to achieve our 
Vision can be preserved. 

Consistent. The PUD project divides the 
commercial development into two phases 
with most of the apartment units being 
built in Phase 1.  

Item D - 55 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 48 of 70 

Table 4: TOP Consistency Analysis 

TOP Element, Goals, and Policies Consistency Analysis 
Policy LU-4.2 Interim Development. We allow 
development in urban, mixed use, and transit-oriented 
Place Types that is not immediately reflective of our 
ultimate Vision for the Place Type, provided it can be 
modified or replaced when circumstances are right to 
support development aligned with the Place Type Vision. 
We will not allow development that impedes, precludes, 
or compromises our ability to achieve our Vision. 

Consistent. The PUD project divides the 
commercial development into two phases 
with most of the apartment units being 
built in Phase 1.  

Policy LU-4.3 Infrastructure Timing. We require that the 
necessary infrastructure and services be in place prior to 
or concurrently with development. 

Consistent. The PUD requires 
necessary utility and infrastructure to be 
installed prior to or during development of 
new land uses to minimize impacts on 
existing systems.  

Policy LU-4.4 Shared Infrastructure. We encourage and 
facilitate the use of shared infrastructure (including 
shared or managed parking) in urban, mixed use, and 
transit-oriented Place Types. 

Consistent. The PUD project shares 
parking between the residential and 
commercial uses to maximize 
convenience for residents and customers. 

Housing Element 
Goal H-2 Housing Supply & Diversity. Diversity of types 
of quality housing that are affordable to a range of 
household income levels, accommodate changing 
demographics, and support and reinforce the economic 
sustainability of Ontario. 

Consistent. The PUD project provides 
both apartment units and commercial 
employment to allow people to live and 
work in the City. 

Policy H-2.1 Corridor Housing. We revitalize 
transportation corridors by encouraging the production of 
higher density residential and mixed-uses that are 
architecturally, functionally, and aesthetically suited to 
corridors. 

Consistent. The PUD project is within the 
Euclid Avenue corridor and proposes 
higher density apartment units consistent 
with TOP guidelines. 

Policy H-2.5 Housing Design. We require architectural 
excellence through adherence to City design guidelines, 
thoughtful site planning, environmentally sustainable 
practices, and other best practices. 

Consistent. The PUD emphasizes high 
quality design and best practices 
consistent with Euclid Avenue corridor 
design standards. 

Policy H-2.6 Infill Development. We support the 
revitalization of neighborhoods through the construction 
of higher-density residential developments on 
underutilized residential and commercial sites. 

Consistent. The PUD project site has 
underutilized commercial uses and will be 
redeveloped with both housing and retail 
uses consistent with the Euclid Avenue 
Overlay requirements. 

Goal H-3 Governmental Regulations. A City regulatory 
environment that balances the need for creativity and 
excellence in residential design, flexibility and 
predictability in the project approval process, and the 
provision of an adequate supply and prices of housing. 

Consistent. The project includes a PUD 
to emphasize high quality design while 
providing 369 new apartment units 
adjacent to Euclid Avenue and SR-60 for 
transit options. 

Policy H-3.2 Flexible Standards. We allow flexibility in 
the application of residential and mixed-use development 
standards in order to gain benefits such as exceptional 
design quality, economic advantages, sustainability, or 
other benefits that would otherwise be unrealized. 

Consistent. The project includes a PUD 
to best plan for mixed uses on the site 
(i.e., residential and commercial) within 
the Euclid Avenue corridor. 

Environmental Resources Element 
Goal ER-1 Water & Wastewater. A reliable and cost-
effective system that permits the City to manage its 
diverse water resources and needs. 

Consistent. The PUD project will 
redevelop an existing underutilized 
commercial site using existing utilities. 

Policy ER-1.4 Supply-Demand Balance. We require that 
available water supply and demands be balanced. 

Consistent. The PUD project will utilize 
water conservation design and demand 
will be similar to that accounted for in TOP 

Item D - 56 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 49 of 70 

Table 4: TOP Consistency Analysis 

TOP Element, Goals, and Policies Consistency Analysis 
EIR. PUD will reuse an existing 
underutilized infill site.  

Policy ER-1.6 Urban Run-off Quantity. We encourage 
the use of low impact development strategies, including 
green infrastructure, to intercept run-off, slow the 
discharge rate, increase infiltration, and ultimately reduce 
discharge volumes to traditional storm drain systems. 

Consistent. The PUD will encourage low 
impact development through best 
management practices (BMPs) for runoff 
and water conservation as part of its 
Water Quality Management Plan. Policy ER-1.7 Urban Run-off Quality. We require the 

control and management of urban run-off, consistent with 
Regional Water Quality Control Board regulations. 
Policy ER-1.8 Wastewater Management. We require the 
management of wastewater discharge and collection 
consistent with waste discharge requirements adopted 
by the Regional Water Quality Control Board. 

Consistent. The PUD will encourage low 
impact development through BMPs for 
water conservation which helps reduce 
wastewater generation. 

Goal ER-3 Energy. Cost-effective and reliable energy 
system sustained through a combination of low impact 
buildings, site and neighborhood energy conservation, 
and diverse sources of energy generation that 
collectively helps to minimize the region’s carbon 
footprint. 

Consistent. The PUD will encourage low 
impact development through energy 
conservation strategies as outlined in the 
City’s TOP and Community Climate 
Action Plan (CCAP). 

Policy ER-3.3 Building and Site Design. We require new 
construction to incorporate energy efficient building and 
site design strategies, which could include appropriate 
solar orientation, maximum use of natural daylight, 
passive solar, and natural ventilation. 
Goal ER-4 Air Quality. Improved indoor and outdoor air 
quality and reduced locally generated pollutant 
emissions. 

Consistent. The PUD project will 
implement the latest Green Building Code 
guidelines which reduces energy use and 
related air pollutants. It has both 
residential and commercial uses and it is 
next to Euclid Ave. and SR-60 which are 
transit corridors – both conditions will help 
reduce vehicular traffic and associated air 
pollutant and GHG emissions. 

Policy ER-4.1 Land Use. We reduce GHG and other 
local pollutant emissions through compact, mixed use, 
and transit-oriented development and development that 
improves the regional jobs-housing balance. 

Community Economics Element 
Goal CE-1 Complete Community. A complete 
community that provides for all incomes and stages of 
life. 

Consistent. The PUD project provides 
apartment units of various sizes and 
commercial uses/employment to allow 
people to live and work in the City at 
various stages of life. 

Policy CE-1.6 Diversity of Housing. We collaborate with 
residents, housing providers, and the development 
community to provide housing opportunities for every 
stage of life; we plan for a variety of housing types and 
price points to encourage the development of housing 
supportive of our efforts to attract business in growing 
sectors of the community while being respectful of 
existing viable uses. 
Policy CE-1.7 Retail Goods and Services. We seek to 
ensure a mix of retail businesses that provide the full 
continuum of goods and services for the community. 

Consistent. The PUD project provides 
space for various kinds of commercial 
uses and employment. 

Goal CE-2 Placemaking. A City of distinctive 
neighborhoods, districts, corridors, and centers where 
people choose to be. 

Consistent. The PUD project is intended 
to provide a high-quality community hub 
for the surrounding neighborhoods along 
the Euclid Avenue corridor. 

Policy CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new 
development and redevelopment to create unique, high-
quality places that add value to the community. 

Item D - 57 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 50 of 70 

Table 4: TOP Consistency Analysis 

TOP Element, Goals, and Policies Consistency Analysis 
Policy CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those 
proposing new development and redevelopment to 
demonstrate how their projects will create appropriately 
unique, functional, and sustainable places that will 
compete well with their competition within the region. 

Consistent. The PUD demonstrates how 
the project will provide a high-quality 
community hub for the surrounding 
neighborhoods along the Euclid Avenue 
corridor. 

Safety Element 
Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards. Minimized risk of 
injury, loss of life, property damage, and economic and 
social disruption caused by earthquake-induced and 
other geologic hazards. 

Consistent. This TOP EIR Addendum 
demonstrates how the PUD project will 
not have significant seismic or geologic 
risks for future residents and workers. 

Policy S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and 
Standards. We require that all new habitable structures 
be designed in accordance with the most recent 
California Building Code adopted by the City, including 
provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 

Consistent. This TOP EIR Addendum 
demonstrates how the PUD requires CBC 
and OMC compliance which will minimize 
seismic and geologic risks for future 
residents and workers. 

Policy S-1.2 Entitlement and Permitting Process. We 
follow state guidelines and the California Building Code 
to determine when development proposals must conduct 
geotechnical and geological investigations. 

Consistent. TOP EIR already included 
these investigations and PUD project will 
provide a confirmatory project-specific 
analysis prior to the issuance of permits. 

Goal S-2  Flood Hazards. Minimized risk of injury, loss of 
life, property damage and economic and social disruption 
caused by flooding and inundation hazards. 

Consistent. This TOP EIR Addendum, 
and supporting technical reports, 
demonstrate how the PUD is not in a flood 
zone which will minimize flood risks for 
future residents and workers. 

Policy S-2.5 Stormwater Management. We maintain the 
storm drain system to convey a 100-year storm, when 
feasible, and encourage environmental site design 
practices to minimize flooding and increase groundwater 
recharge, including natural drainage, green 
infrastructure, and permeable ground surfaces. 

Consistent. TOP EIR already included 
these investigations and the PUD project 
will have a hydrology report and WQMP 
to confirm it will not increase offsite runoff 
and be a low impact development. 
Consistent with TOP. 

Goal S-3 Fire & Rescue Hazards. Reduced risk of death, 
injury, property damage and economic loss due to fires, 
accidents and normal everyday occurrences through 
prompt and capable emergency response. 
 

Consistent. The PUD project reutilizes 
an existing commercial property in a fully 
developed portion of the City which 
already has adequate services available. 

Policy S-3.1 Prevention Services. We proactively 
mitigate or reduce the negative effects of fire, hazardous 
materials release, and structural collapse by 
implementing the regularly adopted California Fire Code 
and California Building Code. 

Consistent. The City’s development 
review process requires compliance with 
the CFC and CBC prior to the issuance of 
building permits. 

Policy S-3.8 Fire Prevention through Environmental 
Design. We require new development to incorporate fire 
prevention consideration in the design of streetscapes, 
sites, open spaces, and buildings. 

Consistent. The PUD demonstrates the 
project has a number of buildings with 
landscaping and open space that will 
provide adequate fire safety. 

Goal S-4 Noise Hazards. An environment where noise 
does not adversely affect the public’s health, safety, and 
welfare. 

Consistent. TOP EIR already included 
these investigations and  
required subsequent site-specific interior 
noise studies to confirm TOP EIR 
conclusion. PUD will provide the required 
study prior to issuance of building permits 
to demonstrate noise along Euclid 
Avenue will not impact residents.   

Policy S-4.1 Noise Mitigation. We utilize the City’s Noise 
Ordinance, building codes, and subdivision and 

Consistent. The City’s development 
review process requires compliance with 

Item D - 58 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 51 of 70 

Table 4: TOP Consistency Analysis 

TOP Element, Goals, and Policies Consistency Analysis 
development codes to mitigate noise impacts. the CBC and City Noise Ordinance to 

minimize noise impacts along the Euclid 
Avenue corridor. 

Goal S-5 Wind-Related Hazards. Minimize the risk of 
injury, property damage, and economic loss resulting 
from windstorms and wind-related hazards. 

Consistent. The PUD project will 
implement CBC requirements regarding 
wind design for new buildings. 

Policy S-5.1 Dust Control Measures. We require the 
implementation of Best Management Practices for dust 
control at all excavation and grading projects. 

Consistent. The PUD project will 
implement TOP EIR Mitigation Measures 
AQ 3-1 through 3-3 which includes dust 
control measures. 

Goal S-7 Law Enforcement. Residential neighborhoods, 
commercial areas, and industrial districts that are kept 
safe through a multi-faceted approach of prevention, 
suppression, and community involvement in public 
safety. 

Consistent. The City’s development 
review process includes an evaluation by 
the Police Department regarding 
defensible space, crime prevention, and 
police patrol services (i.e., CPTED). 

Policy S-7.4 Crime Prevention through Environmental 
Design (CPTED). We require new development to 
incorporate CPTED in the design of streetscapes, sites, 
open spaces, and buildings. 
 
 
Community Design Element 
Goal CD-1 Image & Identity. A dynamic, progressive city 
containing distinct and complete places that foster a 
positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 

Consistent. The PUD project provides 
both apartment units and commercial 
employment to allow people to live and 
work in the City which enhances the 
feeling of community. 

Policy CD-1.2 Place Types. We establish Place Types in 
urban, mixed use, and transit-oriented areas to foster the 
City's identity as a premier community and require new 
development within each Place Type to incorporate 
prescribed urban patterns, forms, and placemaking 
priorities. 

Consistent. This mixed-use project is 
intended to provide an attractive, high 
quality community hub for the 
surrounding neighborhoods along the 
Euclid Avenue corridor which is 
demonstrated by the PUD document. 

Goal CD-2 Design Quality. A high level of design quality 
resulting in neighborhoods, commercial areas, public 
spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human- scale, and distinct. 
Policy CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. 
We encourage all development projects to convey visual 
interest and character through: 
1. Building volume, massing, and height to provide 
context-appropriate scale and proportion; 
2. A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, 
section, and elevation through all aspects of the building 
and site design and appropriate for its setting; and 
3. Exterior building materials that are articulated, high 
quality, durable, and appropriate for the architectural 
style. 
Policy CD-2.4 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-oriented 
Areas. We establish Place Types to require mixed use, 
urban, and transit-oriented areas to be designed and 
developed as pedestrian oriented areas that are 
integrated with adjacent neighborhoods and promote a 
vibrant, comfortable, and functional environment, as 

Item D - 59 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 52 of 70 

Table 4: TOP Consistency Analysis 

TOP Element, Goals, and Policies Consistency Analysis 
defined for each Place Type. 
Policy CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the 
development community to design and build 
neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, 
landscaping, and buildings to reduce energy demand 
through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building 
form, mechanical and structural systems, building 
materials, and construction techniques. 

Consistent. The PUD will encourage low 
impact development through energy 
conservation strategies as outlined in the 
City’s TOP and Community Climate 
Action Plan (CCAP). 

Policy CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible 
space design into new and existing developments to 
ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on 
pathways, corridors, and open space and at building 
entrances and parking areas by avoiding physically and 
visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and 
accessibility, and using lighting.  

Consistent. The City’s development 
review process includes an evaluation by 
the Police Department regarding 
defensible space, crime prevention, and 
police patrol services (i.e., CPTED). The 
PUD outlines how the project will provide 
or foster these conditions. 

Policy CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage 
durable, sustainable, and drought-tolerant landscaping 
materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create and define public and private spaces, 
and provide shade and environmental benefits. 
 

Consistent. The PUD project has a 
comprehensive Landscaping Plan which 
will utilize native plants, minimize water 
use, and be attractive for project 
residents, workers, and customers. 

Policy CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work 
collaboratively with all stakeholders to ensure a high 
degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely 
processing of all development plans and permits. 

Consistent. The PUD will help expedite 
the development processing for the 
project by providing comprehensive 
development-related information about 
the mixed-use project to be completed in 
two phases. 

Goal CD-3 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-Oriented 
Place Types. Vibrant urban environments that are 
organized around intense buildings, pedestrian and 
transit areas, public plazas, and linkages between and 
within developments that are conveniently located, 
visually appealing and safe during all hours. 

Consistent. This mixed use project is 
intended to provide an attractive, high 
quality community hub with public spaces 
for the project residents, workers, as well 
as surrounding neighborhoods along the 
Euclid Avenue corridor, all of which is 
demonstrated by the PUD document 
including architecture, urban design and 
layout, landscaping and hardscape areas 
with public spaces, and articulation with 
surrounding uses and the Euclid Avenue 
corridor. 

Policy CD-3.1 Unique Identity. We promote 
development that heightens the unique character and 
identity of each Place Type by requiring compatible land 
uses and land planning, site design, and building design 
that promotes an active public realm.  
Policy CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. 
We require appropriate building and site design that 
complements existing development, respects the intent 
and identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate 
transitions and connections between adjacent uses to 
ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate 
level of privacy for each use, and minimize potential 
conflicts. 
Policy CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively 
pedestrian streetscapes by requiring primary building, 
business, and residential entrances, outdoor dining, and 
storefronts be located on ground floors adjacent to 
sidewalks or public spaces and designed to maximize 
safety, comfort, aesthetics, and the intended functionality 
(as defined by the Place Type). 
 

Item D - 60 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 53 of 70 

Table 4: TOP Consistency Analysis 

TOP Element, Goals, and Policies Consistency Analysis 
Policy CD-3.6 Managed Infrastructure. We collaborate 
with developers and property owners to facilitate 
development that realizes the envisioned character and 
functionality of the Place Type through the use of green 
and shared infrastructure within each Place Type. 

Consistent. The PUD project has 
integrated mixed uses with open space 
and landscaping that provides low impact 
development through energy and water 
conservation strategies, as outlined in the 
City’s TOP and Community Climate 
Action Plan (CCAP). 

Source: PUD, September 2022     PUD = Planned Unit Development 

 

Table 4 demonstrates the proposed PUD project is consistent with the various applicable TOP goals and 
policies. Therefore, the PUD project will not conflict with any land use plan, policy, or regulation adopted 
for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect. There will be no impacts and no project 
specific mitigation is required. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

12. MINERAL RESOURCES. Would the project:  

a.  Result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the 
region and the residents of the state? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR indicates there are two areas in Ontario that are designated Mineral 
Resource Zone 2 (MRZ-2) where significant mineral resources are known or are likely. The remainder of 
the City is designated Mineral Resource Zone 3 (MRZ-3), where the significance of mineral deposits is 
unknown. Development in an MRZ-3 area would not result in significant impacts because mineral resources 
of statewide or local importance are not identified on the California Geological Survey’s Production-
Consumption maps (SEIR p. 5.12-6). The project site is not within the portions of the City designated as 
MRZ-2. 

The PUD project site is developed and surrounded by urban land uses in all directions. There are no known 
mineral resources so no impacts are anticipated and no mitigation required. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP FEIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

b.  Result in the loss of availability of a locally important mineral resource recovery site 
delineated on a local general plan, specific plan or other land use plan? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicates there are two areas in Ontario that are designated Mineral 
Resource Zone 2 (MRZ-2) where significant mineral resources are known or are likely. The remainder of 
the City is designated Mineral Resource Zone 3 (MRZ-3), where the significance of mineral deposits is 
unknown. Development in an MRZ-3 area would not result in significant impacts because mineral resources 
of statewide or local importance are not identified on the California Geological Survey’s Production-
Consumption maps (SEIR p. 5.12-6).  

The PUD project site is not within the portions of the City designated as MRZ-2. There are no known mineral 
resources in the area so no impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

 

Item D - 61 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 54 of 70 

13. NOISE. Would the project result in:  

a.  Generation of a substantial temporary or permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the 
vicinity of the project in excess of standards established in the local general plan or noise 
ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR found stationary and transportation noise impacts of future development 
under TOP to be less than significant with implementation of Safety Element Policy S-4.1, Noise Mitigation, 
which utilizes the City’s Noise Ordinance, building codes, and subdivision and development code 
regulations to reduce noise from future development projects (SEIR p. 5.13-32). 

The project site was previously analyzed by TOP EIR as mixed use (with residential and commercial uses). 
Due to the nature of the project, it is not expected to expose people to or generate noise levels in excess 
of the standards established in TOP EIR (Section 5.12). The project site is surrounded on all sides by urban 
development with multi-family residential uses to the west, single family residential uses to the south, and 
mixed uses to the north. The SR-60 Freeway is north of the existing mixed-use area.  

The PUD project proposes residential and commercial development which is consistent with existing 
surrounding land uses. The PUD specifies that a parking management plan will organize loading and 
unloading in proximity to both the residential and non-residential uses to help minimize noise impacts on 
adjacent uses. In addition, noise shall be addressed as part of the parking management plan submitted to 
the Planning Director and trash receptacles/recyclable container storage areas will be provided for all 
residential and commercial uses. Such receptacle/storage area may receive trash from commercial and 
residential sources. The PUD project must also demonstrate compliance with the City’s Noise Ordinance 
through the development review process. 

 TOP EIR evaluated potential noise impacts in the City as the result of future development and 
recommended implementation of Mitigation Measure MM NOI 12-1 to address potential site-specific noise 
impacts along major roadways in the City. With implementation of TOP EIR MM NOI 12-1, potential noise 
impacts of the proposed PUD land uses will be less than significant and no project-specific mitigation is 
required.  

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: The PUD project site is adjacent to Euclid Avenue, a major roadway, and a portion of the site 
falls within the roadway’s 65 dBA CNEL contour. TOP EIR contains Mitigation Measure MM NOI 12-1 to 
address site specific noise impacts along major roadways: 

NOI 12-1: Prior to the issuance of building permits for any project that involves a noise-sensitive use within 
the 65 dBA CNEL contour along major roadways, freeways, railroads, or the Ontario International Airport, 
the project property owner/developers shall retain an acoustical engineer to conduct an acoustic analysis 
and identify, where appropriate, site design features (e.g., setbacks, berms, or sound walls) and/or required 
building acoustical improvements (e.g., sound transmission class rated windows, doors, and attic baffling), 
to ensure compliance with the City’s Noise Compatibility Criteria and the California State Building Code and 
California Noise Insulation Standards (Title 24 and 21 of the California Code of Regulations). 

b.  Generation of excessive ground-borne vibration or ground-borne noise levels? 

Discussion of Effects: The project proposes commercial and residential uses consistent with TOP Policy 
Plan. The site was previously analyzed by the TOP EIR as supporting both residential and commercial uses 
(i.e., mixed use). TOP EIR indicates these types of uses do not normally induce significant ground-borne 
vibrations because they do not typically involve equipment or activities which result in large vibrations (e.g., 
blasting, impact compaction, handling of large boulders, etc.). Therefore, less than significant impacts are 
anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary.   

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

Item D - 62 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 55 of 70 

c.  For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or the noise impact zones of the 
airport land use compatibility plan for ONT and Chino Airports, would the project expose people 
residing or working in the project area to excessive noise levels? 

Discussion of Effects: The Land Use Element of TOP states that all new developments surrounding airports 
should be consistent with the adopted ALUCP and should meet standards and recommendations of Part 
77 of the FAA, adopted through Ordinance 2758 in the Ontario Municipal Code. Section 9.3.e. Hazards and 
Hazardous Materials, indicates the site is not within the hazard or influence area of either the Ontario 
International Airport or the Chino Airport. Therefore, there are no impacts and no mitigation required. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP FEIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

14. POPULATION & HOUSING. Would the project:  

a.  Induce substantial unplanned population growth in an area, either directly (for example, by 
proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of road or 
other infrastructure)? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR identified less than significant impacts associated with population and 
housing increases.  TOP allows the City to accommodate population growth through land use designations, 
goals, and policies that provide a vision and guide growth in the City (SEIR p. 5.14-11).  

The proposed PUD project is consistent with the Mixed-Use TOP land use designation. The project site 
was previously analyzed by TOP EIR with both residential and commercial uses so it would generate 
additional housing and population which was already calculated in TOP EIR.  

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

b.  Displace substantial numbers of existing people or housing, necessitating the construction 
of replacement housing elsewhere? 

Discussion of Effects: The purpose of TOP is to adequately plan and accommodate future growth through 
the distribution, location, balance, and extent of land uses. Implementation of TOP 2050 would 
accommodate population growth through land use designations, goals, and policies that provide a vision 
and guide growth in the City. The EIR concluded TOP would have less than significant direct, indirect, and 
cumulative impacts relating to displacement of people and housing (SEIR p. 5.14-12). The PUD project site 
is all commercial does not contain any existing housing, nor is it designated or zoned for residential uses. 
The PUD will result in the 10.6-acre MU-NH sub-area to exceed its residential growth projection in TOP by 
4% while reducing the planned non-residential growth in the sub-area by 28%, On balance these changes 
are minimal and will not result in any significant housing or growth impacts. 

The PUD project will therefore not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not 
previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are 
necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

15. PUBLIC SERVICES. Would the project:  

a.  Result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new or 
physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental 
facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to 
maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other performance objectives for any of 
the public services: 
 
 

Item D - 63 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 56 of 70 

i. Fire protection? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR determined TOP would result in an increase in development and 
population, which would result in increased demand on fire protection services. The EIR indicated that 
existing facilities and services would not be adequate to meet increased demand from growth under TOP. 
Therefore, the Fire Department was planning on adding facilities and/or services as demand increases. 
With implementation of TOP policies and Fire Department review of new development, impacts will be less 
than significant (SEIR p. 5.15-3). 

The PUD project site is in a developed area currently served by the Ontario Fire Department. The Project 
is consistent with TOP land use designations, and TOP EIR states the City will not require the construction 
of any new fire protection facilities or alteration of any existing facilities or cause a decline in the levels of 
service, which could cause the need to construct new facilities in this portion of the City. Therefore, no 
impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

ii. Police protection? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR determined TOP would result in an increase in development and 
population, which would result in increased demand on police protection services. The EIR indicated that 
existing staffing would not be adequate to meet increased demand from growth under TOP. Therefore, the 
Police Department is planning on adding facilities and/or services as demand increases. With 
implementation of TOP policies and Police Department review of new development, impacts will be less 
than significant (SEIR p. 5.15-7). 

The site was previously developed and is in a developed area currently served by the Ontario Police 
Department. It is not anticipated the project will contribute to the need for construction of any new police 
facilities or alteration of any existing facilities or cause a decline in the levels of service, which could cause 
the need to construct new facilities. No impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No site-specific mitigation is required.  

iii. Schools? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR identified impacts to school facilities and services as less than significant 
upon payment of SB 50 school impact fees (SEIR p. 5.15-14). 

The PUD project proposes mixed uses (i.e., residential apartments and retail commercial uses) which are 
expected to generate school-aged students that require educational facilities or services. The project will 
be required to pay school fees as prescribed by state law prior to the issuance of building permits, which is 
considered adequate mitigation under CEQA. No impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. 

iv. Parks? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP would generate additional residents, increasing the use of existing park and 
recreational facilities. However, TOP EIR concluded this would not result in a significant impact as long as 
development of park facilities keeps pace with the anticipated increase in population from buildout (SEIR 
p. 5-15-14). 

The site is in a developed area currently served by the City in terms of parks and recreational services. The 
project has both a residential and commercial component and will provide onsite recreational amenities. 
Due to the size of the residential portion of the project (369 apartments), the PUD project will not require 
the construction of any new park facilities or alteration of any existing facilities or cause a decline in the 

Item D - 64 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 57 of 70 

levels of service, which could cause the need to construct new facilities. Like all new development under 
TOP, the PUD project will be required to pay a park-related Development Impact Fee (DIF). Therefore, no 
impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

v. Other public facilities? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP would generate additional residents, increasing the use of existing public 
facilities (e.g., libraries).  TOP EIR identified less than significant impacts to library services and facilities 
(SEIR p. 5-15-18). 

The site is in a developed area currently served by the City. Typically, new public facilities are needed to 
serve additional population generated by new housing. The project will generate 369 new apartment units 
which will incrementally increase the need for other public facilities in the future. Due to its size, it is unlikely 
this PUD project will require the construction of any new public facilities or alteration of any existing facilities 
or cause a decline in the levels of service, which could cause the need to construct new facilities. Like all 
new development under TOP, the PUD project will be required to pay established Development Impact 
Fees (DIFs) to the City which factor in the future need for public facilities based on the City’s overall 
population. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

16. RECREATION. Would the project:  

a. Increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities 
such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or be accelerated? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP would generate additional residents, increasing the use of existing park and 
recreational facilities. However, TOP EIR concluded this would not result in a significant impact as long as 
development of park facilities keeps pace with the anticipated increase in population from buildout (SEIR 
p. 5-16-14). 

The project has both a residential and commercial component and will provide onsite recreational 
amenities. Due to the size of the residential portion of the project (369 apartments), the PUD project will not 
require the construction of any new park facilities or alteration of any existing facilities or cause a decline in 
the levels of service, which could cause the need to construct new facilities. Like all new development under 
TOP, the PUD project will be required to pay an appropriate park-related Development Impact Fee (DIF). 
Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

b. Does the project include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of 
recreational facilities that have an adverse physical effect on the environment? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP would generate additional residents, increasing the use of existing park and 
recreational facilities. However, TOP EIR concluded this would not result in a significant impact as long as 
development of park facilities keeps pace with the anticipated increase in population from buildout (SEIR 
p. 5-16-14). 

The project is mixed use with both residential and commercial components. The PUD indicates the project 
will also provide onsite recreational amenities (275 square feet of common amenities per unit). Due to the 
size of the residential portion of the project (369 apartments), the PUD project will not require the 
construction of any new park facilities or alteration of any existing facilities. Like all new development under 

Item D - 65 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 58 of 70 

TOP, the PUD project will be required to pay an appropriate park-related Development Impact Fee (DIF). 
Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

17. TRANSPORTATION. Would the project:  

a. Conflict with a program plan, ordinance or policy addressing the circulation system, 
including transit, roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR found that the recommended TOP circulation plan would comply with 
adopted policies, plans, and programs for alternative transportation, including SCAG’s Connect SoCal 
(SEIR p. 5.17-23) so impacts would be less than significant.  

The subject site was previously analyzed by TOP EIR as supporting mixed use (i.e., 369 higher density 
residential units and 142,840 square feet of commercial uses). The site is bounded by residential uses to 
the west and south, commercial uses to the east, and mixed uses to the north adjacent to SR-60.  

A trip generation study of the existing land uses on the site compared to the proposed PUD project was 
prepared in June 2022 by Linscott Law & Greenspan (LLG) (Appendix D). The study first identified vehicular 
trips that could result from full operation of the existing onsite uses which include a Kmart, Sears Appliance 
Repair Center (although both are currently closed), a Carl’s Junior drive-through restaurant, and a small 
tenant retail commercial building. Next, the study estimated future vehicular trips for the land uses proposed 
in Phases 1 and 2 of the PUD project. Finally, the study compared the two trip generation totals (existing 
vs. proposed uses) to determine if the proposed PUD project will significantly increase traffic generation 
compared to the existing land uses at full utilization. Table 5 provides a summary of the LLG trip generation 
study results.  

Table 5: Trip Generation Comparison 

 
Traffic Condition 

AM 
Peak Hour 

PM 
Peak Hour 

Average Daily 
Traffic (ADT) 

Existing Land Uses (current conditions) 91 61 1,438 
Existing Land Uses (fully utilized) 162 211 4,043 
Euclid/Walnut PUD Project 
   Phase 1 
   Phase 2 
   TOTAL 

 
138 
24 
162 

 
153 
37 
190 

 
1,791 
449 

2,240 

Difference (Total PUD v. Fully Utilized) 

Difference (Total PUD v. Current Conditions) 

0 

71 

-21 

131 

-1,803 

802 
Source: Table 1, Project Traffic Generation Rates and Forecast, LLG 2022 

The LLG trip generation study indicates the proposed PUD project would generate more traffic than the 
underutilized shopping center currently generates (802 daily trips) but would actually generate 
approximately 1,803 less total daily vehicular trips than the shopping center generated at full operation of 
its existing uses (i.e., Kmart, Sears Center, Carl’s Jr, and small retail building fully occupied). The traffic 
analysis prepared for TOP and TOP EIR assumed full buildout of existing and proposed land uses so the 
PUD project would generate less traffic than was assumed and analyzed under TOP EIR. Based on this 
analysis, the PUD project would not result in any greater traffic-related impacts on streets and intersections 
than were already analyzed in TOP EIR. 

Transit. The project area and the City are served by Omnitrans, a public transit agency serving 
various jurisdictions in San Bernardino County. Omnitrans currently operates Route 83 adjacent to the site 
on Euclid Avenue (closest stop is Walnut Street). Omnitrans also regularly reviews and periodically changes 
routes, stops, etc. to address ridership and community demand needs as well as budget limitations. As part 

Item D - 66 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 59 of 70 

of the City’s development review process, the project developer will coordinate with Omnitrans to determine 
if any expanded or additional bus service in the project area as needed.  

In addition, TOP Figure M-03, Public Transit, shows Euclid Avenue currently serves as a Bus Rapid 
Transit (BRT) corridor. Metrolink also operates commuter service on the rail lines 2.3 mile north of the PUD 
project site on the rail line that crosses Euclid Avenue south of Holt Boulevard with an Amtrak station located 
on the east side of Euclid Avenue.   

Bicycles. The project site and surrounding area support mainly residential and commercial uses 
but none of the streets in the area currently contain bicycle lanes. The City’s TOP 2050 Trails and Bikeway 
Systems Map (Figure M-02) shows a Class II on-street bicycle lane planned for Walnut Street both east 
and west of Euclid Avenue, and Euclid Avenue (north of Riverside Drive) is indicated as needing study for 
a possible future Class III bike route. In addition, Euclid Avenue south of Riverside Drive (south of the PUD 
site) is proposed for a future Class I Multipurpose Trail. The PUD project will provide improvements or 
accommodations along its frontage of Walnut Street and Euclid Avenue if needed for these future 
improvements. However, no additional bicycle lanes are currently in place or under construction in the 
surrounding area at present due to its fully developed condition.  

Sidewalks/Trails. The project site is developed but underutilized and sidewalks are in place on 
adjacent and area streets including Euclid Avenue. The PUD project will connect to these existing sidewalks 
and thus provide a complete pedestrian network in this area.  The City’s TOP 2050 Trails and Bikeway 
Systems Map shows Euclid Avenue south of Walnut Street proposed for a future Class I Multipurpose Trail. 
However, at present no trails or other pedestrian-oriented improvements are under construction in the 
immediate surrounding area. 

The PUD project will be developed consistent with the City’s adopted plans for non-vehicular improvements 
as indicated in TOP. The project will install sidewalks on perimeter streets as indicated in the standard City 
street cross sections and will install bus stop infrastructure if directed by Omnitrans during the development 
review process. Therefore, the PUD project will not conflict with a program plan, ordinance or policy 
addressing the circulation system, including transit, roadway, bicycle, and pedestrian facilities. Impacts will 
be less than significant. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation:  No project specific mitigation is required.  

b. Conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines section 15064.3, subdivision (b)? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concludes TOP would result in a significant transportation impact related 
to VMT mainly due to the increase in population accommodated by TOP.  TOP includes goals and policies 
to offset VMT impacts by creating greater access to transit and enhanced alternative transportation modes. 
In addition, projects that are calculated to exceed City-wide VMT levels must develop mitigation plans. 

The City has developed its own “VMT Guidelines for CEQA Assessment of VMT Impacts” dated 2021. In 
addition, the City uses the San Bernardino County Transportation Authority (SBCTA) VMT Screening Tool, 
which allows users to select an assessor’s parcel number (APN) to determine if a project’s location meets 
one or more of the screening thresholds for land use projects identified in the City Guidelines.  

 

The City Guidelines state that certain projects that meet the following VMT screening criteria may be 
presumed to result in a less than significant transportation impact: 

• Transit Priority Area (TPA) Screening  
• Low VMT Area Screening  
• Project Type Screening  

A land use project needs to meet only one of these screening criteria to have a less than significant impact. 

 
 

Item D - 67 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 60 of 70 

TPA Screening. Projects located within a TPA (i.e., within a half-mile of an existing “major transit stop”1 or 
an existing stop along a “high-quality transit corridor”2 may be presumed to have a less than significant 
VMT impact. The Screening Tool indicates the project site is located within a half-mile of an existing major 
transit stop or along a high-quality transit corridor (Euclid Avenue Bus Rapid Transit corridor). Therefore, 
the TPA screening criterion is met. 

Low VMT Area Screening. The City Guidelines cite the OPR Technical Advisory in that “Residential and 
office projects that locate in areas with low VMT and that incorporate similar features (density, mix of uses, 
and transit accessibility) will tend to exhibit similarly low VMT.” The City Guidelines state that projects may 
be presumed to have a less than significant VMT impact if located in an already low VMT generating traffic 
analysis zones (TAZs) that generates a VMT per service population (SP) that is 15% below County of San 
Bernardino Baseline VMT per SP. The Screening Tool uses the sub-regional San Bernardino 
Transportation Analysis Model (SBTAM) to measure VMT performance within individual TAZ’s within the 
region. The Project’s physical location based on parcel number is selected in the Screening Tool to 
determine the TAZ in which the Project will reside (TAZ 53643101). The Project’s TAZ VMT per service 
population was compared to 15% below County of San Bernardino Baseline VMT per SP. The Screening 
Tool was run for production-attraction (PA) VMT per service population and indicates the VMT per SP for 
the PUD site is just under the City’s average for 2022 through 2040, but it does not exceed 15% less than 
that figure in the future. The Screening Tool determined the PUD project is not located within a low VMT 
generating zone for any baseline year from 2022 to 2040. Therefore, the low VMT area screening criterion 
is not met. 

Project Type Screening. The City Guidelines indicate that local-serving retail less than 50,000 square feet 
or other local serving essential services (e.g., day care centers, public schools, medical/dental office 
buildings, etc.) are presumed to have a less than significant impact absent substantial evidence to the 
contrary. The PUD project proposes only 12,000 square feet of local serving uses. Therefore, the Project 
meets that portion of this criterion. The City Guidelines also state that small projects generating fewer than 
110 daily vehicle trips or less may be presumed to have a less than significant VMT impact, subject to 
discretionary approval by the City. A trip generation study was prepared for the PUD project that estimated 
vehicle trips generated by the project’s proposed land uses based on trip generation rates collected by the 
Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition, 2021 (see Threshold 17.a 
above)(LLG 2022). According to the study, the PUD project will generate 2,240 daily vehicle trip-ends per 
day at buildout (see Table 5). Even accounting for the difference of PUD buildout vs. current conditions 
(i.e., operation of 28,000 square feet of existing commercial uses) would still generate 131 PM peak hour 
trips. Therefore, the PUD project generates daily vehicle trips exceeding the 110 daily vehicle trip threshold, 
so the project does not meet this portion of the project type screening criterion.  

Based on this analysis, the PUD project is eligible for screening under the TPA Screening Criteria and the 
first portion of the Project Type Screening Criteria so a detailed VMT analysis is not required (i.e., it has a 
less than significant local VMT impact). Moreover, the PUD project is mixed use and generally consistent 
with TOP’s underlying land use assumptions and buildout projection for this sub-area, so the PUD project 
is also considered to have a less than significant cumulative VMT impact as well. 

The VMT project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation:  No project specific mitigation is required.  

c. Substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design feature (e.g., sharp curves or 
dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR found that circulation improvements under the recommended TOP 
circulation plan would be designed to adequately address potentially hazardous conditions and potential 
conflicting uses (SEIR p. 5.17-26) so impacts would be less than significant.  

 
1 Pub. Resources Code, § 21064.3 (“‘Major transit stop’ means a site containing an existing rail transit station, a ferry terminal served 

by either a bus or rail transit service, or the intersection of two or more major bus routes with a frequency of service interval of 15 
minutes or less during the morning and afternoon peak commute periods.”).   

2 Pub. Resources Code, § 21155 (“For purposes of this section, a high-quality transit corridor means a corridor with fixed route bus 
service with service intervals no longer than 15 minutes during peak commute hours.”).   

Item D - 68 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 61 of 70 

The PUD project is largely surrounded by existing residential and commercial development and the area is 
fully improved with suburban density uses.  All internal streets will be improved with project construction. 
The roads on or adjacent to the site are linear according to the City’s Circulation Element master plan of 
streets in terms of alignment and cross section. The site is also adjacent to Euclid Avenue, a major arterial, 
and the SR-60 Freeway is just north of the site with on- and off-ramps at Euclid Avenue. Therefore, the 
PUD project will not create a substantial increase in hazards due to a design feature. No impacts are 
anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

d. Result in inadequate emergency access? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR found that circulation improvements under the recommended TOP 
circulation plan would be designed to adequately address emergency access (SEIR p. 5.17-26) so impacts 
would be less than significant.  

As shown in Exhibit 2-4, the PUD project site and surrounding area will have standard linear street 
alignments and cross sections which can provide access for all emergency vehicles and will therefore not 
result in inadequate emergency access. No impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

18. TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES. Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of a TCR, defined in Public Resources Code section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, 
cultural landscape that is geographically defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape, sacred 
place, or object with cultural value to a California Native American tribe, and that is: 

a. Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources, or in a local 
register of historical resources as defined in Public Resources Code section 5020.1(k)? 

Discussion of Effects: The subject site was previously analyzed by TOP EIR as supporting mixed use (i.e., 
residential and commercial uses) and is not listed in the California Register of Historic Resources or local 
register of historical resources. TOP EIR concluded that with recommended mitigation potential impacts to 
TCRs were reduced to less than significant levels. TOP EIR also included the required consultation with 
Native American tribal groups and representatives. 

Developing a mixture of residential and commercial uses consistent with TOP and current zoning will not 
create greater impacts on the PUD project site than were identified in TOP EIR. In addition, the Sacred 
Lands File (SLF) Search commissioned through the NAHC failed to indicate known TCRs within the project 
boundaries or within a one-mile radius of the project area.  

The PUD project site has been previously disturbed by human activities including agricultural use from the 
1920’s through the 1950’s. The surrounding area is largely developed and supports infrastructure that would 
have displaced surface and subsurface archaeological resources. Therefore, it is not anticipated the 
proposed PUD project will impact TCRs or Native American artifacts relating to TCRs. However, to err on 
the side of caution, the City will apply TOP EIR Mitigation Measure CUL 5-2 and its standard conditions of 
approval for inadvertent discovery of archaeological resources. In addition, the City will require the 
developer enter into monitoring agreements with interested tribal groups. With this regulatory compliance, 
no significant impacts will occur. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No additional project specific mitigation is required. Mitigation Measure CUL 5-2 from TOP EIR 
shall be implemented. 

Item D - 69 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 62 of 70 

b. A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial 
evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Public 
Resources Code section 5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of Public 
Resources Code section 5024.1, the lead agency shall consider the significance of the 
resource to a California Native American tribe. 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR (Section 5.5) indicates no archeological sites or resources have been 
recorded in the City with the Archeological Information Center at San Bernardino County Museum so there 
were no significant impacts. The CRAs prepared for the project site included a pedestrian survey, a record 
search, a SLF search, and a review of existing documentation for the project site and surrounding area. 
The NAHC was contacted for a SLF search on April 1, 2019, and a response was received on April 15, 
2019, indicating the project site contained no identified archaeological or tribal resources. 

While no adverse impacts to archeological resources are anticipated at this site due to its disturbed nature, 
the PUD project will implement TOP MM CUL 5-2 to help assure there will be no impacts to any unknown 
TCRs, which may be present onsite. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. The project will implement TOP Mitigation Measure 
CUL 5-2. 

19. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS. Would the project: 

a.  Require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded water, wastewater 
treatment or storm water drainage, electric power, natural gas, or telecommunications facilities, the 
construction or relocation of which could cause significant environmental effects? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR stated TOP would result in an overall increase in the number of residential 
dwelling units and non-residential square footage. To accommodate needed infrastructure expansion and 
improvements, the City has prepared a Water Master Plan (WMP) and Capital Improvement Program (CIP). 
The City also requires development impact fees and has construction requirements based on a completed 
evaluation of existing and projected water demands. The City and the Inland Empire Utility Authority (IEUA) 
have made plans for infrastructure expansion and improvement.  TOP EIR concluded TOP would have less 
than significant direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to water supply and delivery systems (SEIR 
p. 5.19-31). TOP EIR indicated the City concluded it could meet projected water demand through 
implementation of the WMP and CIP consistent with the Urban Water Management Plan requirements of 
the State. 

There are existing water and sewer lines in Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street, as well as other utility lines 
or pipelines depending on the service and provider. 

The PUD project is consistent with the land use designation and zoning for the site, and the project is thus 
consistent with the WMP. Therefore, the City has sufficient water supplies to serve the project over the 20-
year life of the WMP, including during multiple dry-year scenarios. 

The proposed PUD project is served by the City water system and has existing water lines available for 
connection in Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street and adequate water supply for the project. The proposed 
project is served by the City sewer system, which has existing sewer lines available for connection from 
Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street. The project’s waste will be treated by the IEUA at the RP-1 treatment 
plant. RP-1 is not at capacity and future development of this project site will not cause RP-1 to exceed 
capacity. TOP EIR indicates increases in RP capacity in the future will be based on designated TOP land 
uses, and the Project is consistent with those designations. The project will therefore not require the 
construction of new unanticipated water or wastewater treatment facilities, or the expansion of existing 
facilities other than that already identified in TOP and TOP EIR. It should be noted the City does not provide 
will serve letters as it is both the land use authority and the water purveyor.  Water and sewer service for 
development projects typically require the owner to complete requirements it specifies to provide adequate 
utility services.  As the project goes through the City’s development review process, the City will issue 
conditions of approval that will specify the developer’s obligations in order to receive water and sewer 
service from the City.  Less than significant impacts are anticipated. 

Item D - 70 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 63 of 70 

TOP EIR stated TOP has the potential to increase sewer flows by 2.55 million gallons per day (mgd) within 
the City and by 166 mgd in the City’s growth areas. TOP EIR concluded TOP would generate additional 
wastewater which would be adequately treated in accordance with the Santa Ana RWQCB and California 
Department of Public Health requirements (SEIR p. 5.19-11).  

The proposed PUD project is served by the City with existing storm drains located in Euclid Avenue and 
Walnut Street. The project is required to meet the requirements of the Ontario Engineering Department 
regarding the size, location, and connectivity of storm drain facilities. Less than significant impacts are 
anticipated. 

As discussed in Section 6 above, the PUD project will have less than significant impacts with regard to 
electric power and natural gas. In addition, telecommunication providers increase service and facilities as 
necessary as area population and land uses expand. Therefore, the PUD project will not have a significant 
impact on telecommunications facilities. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

b. Have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project and reasonably foreseeable 
future development during normal, dry and multiple dry years? In making this determination, the 
City shall consider whether the project is subject to the water supply assessment requirements of 
Water Code Section 10910, et seq. (SB 610), and the requirements of Government Code Section 
664737 (SB 221). 
Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR stated TOP would result in an overall increase in the number of residential 
dwelling units and non-residential square footage. To accommodate needed infrastructure expansion and 
improvements, the City has prepared a WMP and CIP. The City also requires development impact fees and 
has construction requirements based on a completed evaluation of existing and projected water demands. 
The City and the IEUA have made plans for infrastructure expansion and improvement. TOP EIR concluded 
TOP would have less than significant direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to water supply and 
delivery systems (SEIR p. 5.19-31). 

The PUD project is consistent with the mixed-use land use designation and zoning for the site - it will 
increase the residential growth of the MU-NH area by 4% but decrease non-residential growth by 28%. No 
significant change in water use of this area is expected so the PUD project is thus consistent with the WMP. 
Therefore, the City has sufficient water supplies to serve the PUD project over the 20-year life of the WMP, 
including during multiple dry-year scenarios. 

The project site is served by the City water system. It is estimated the project will generate approximately 
926 residents and 50 employees3 who would consume 97,600 gallons of water4 per day (maximum 109 
acre-feet per year) based on 100 gallons per person per day. Since the project site land uses are consistent 
with the TOP, there is currently a sufficient water supply available to the City to serve this project as per the 
findings of the TOP EIR. Less than significant impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

 c. Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider that serves or may serve 
the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project's projected demand in addition to the 
provider's existing commitments? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR stated TOP has the potential to increase sewer flows by 2.55 million gallons 
per day (mgd) within the City and by 1.66 mgd in the City’s unincorporated Planning Area.  TOP EIR 
concluded TOP would generate additional wastewater which would be adequately treated in accordance 
with the Santa Ana RWQCB and California Department of Public Health requirements (SEIR p. 5.19-11).  

 
3 US Census and SCAG data indicates the Project could generate 926 residents (369 units X 2.51 persons/unit) and 50 employees  
4 976 total persons (residents and employees) per day X 100 gallons/day = 97,600 gallons per day 

Item D - 71 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 64 of 70 

It is estimated the PUD project will generate approximately 926 residents and 50 employees3 who would 
generate 48,800 gallons of wastewater5 per day (maximum 0.05 mgd based on 50 gallons per person of 
wastewater generated per day). The project site is served by the City sewer system, which has waste 
treated by the Inland Empire Utility Agency (IEUA) at the RP-1 treatment plant. RP-1 is not at capacity and 
future development of this project site will not cause RP-1 to exceed capacity.  In addition, the project site 
land uses are consistent with TOP and its EIR. Therefore, less than significant impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

d. Generate solid waste in excess of state or local standards, or in excess of the capacity of 
local infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste reduction goals? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicated the City disposes of its solid waste in the Badlands Sanitary 
Landfill or the El Sobrante Landfill. These landfills currently have a combined excess daily capacity of 7,046 
tons/day and have a remaining landfill capacity of 15,750,000 cubic yards for Badlands Sanitary Landfill 
and 144,000,000 cubic yards for El Sobrante Landfill. Both landfills have closure dates beyond 2050. In 
addition, state and local regulations and ordinances regarding the recycling of construction debris and 
organic wastes will further reduce the amount of solid waste transported to these landfills in the future. 
Therefore, TOP EIR concluded that potential impacts were less than significant with continued compliance 
with applicable regulations (SEIR p. 5.19-14). 

It is estimated the PUD project will generate approximately 926 residents and 50 employees who would 
generate 3,318 pounds of waste6 per day (1.7 tons per day) based on 3.4 pounds per person per day.  This 
amount of waste represents 0.02 percent of the combined landfills’ excess capacity (7,046 tons). In addition, 
the City currently contracts with a waste disposal company that transports trash to a landfill with sufficient 
capacity to handle the City’s solid waste disposal. Potential impacts of the PUD project relative to waste 
disposal would be less than significant and consistent with the analysis presented in TOP EIR. 

It should also be noted the parcel within the boundary of the PUD will be defined as a Priority Land Use 
(PLU) which includes residential land uses with at least ten (10) dwelling units per acre, industrial, 
commercial, mixed urban, and public transportation station.  All PLU shall comply with the statewide Trash 
Provisions adopted by the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) and trash requirements in the 
most current San Bernardino County Area-Wide MS4 Permit.  Drainage from the PLU shall be designed 
with conveyance tributary to a Full Trash Capture System which has been approved by the SWRCB. 

Therefore, the PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not 
previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are 
necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation required.  

e. Comply with federal, state, and local management and reduction statutes and regulations 
related to solid waste? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicated that potential impacts related to solid waste reduction would be 
less than significant based on compliance with state and local regulations and ordinances regarding the 
recycling of construction debris and organic wastes will reduce the amount of solid waste transported to the 
two landfills serving the City in the future. Therefore, continued compliance with the applicable regulations, 
would ensure future development under TOP would have less than significant impacts (SEIR p. 5.19-16). 

City development review regulations will require this project comply with federal, state, and local statues 
and regulations regarding solid waste. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

 
5 976 total persons X 50 gallons/day = 48,800 gallons per day 
6  976 residents and employees X 3.4 pounds/day = 3,318 pounds/day or 1.7 tons/day 

Item D - 72 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 65 of 70 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

20. WILDFIRE. If located in or near state responsibility areas or lands classified as very high fire hazard 
severity zones, would the project:  

a. Substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan? 
Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR found that improvements under the recommended TOP circulation plan 
would be designed to adequately address emergency access. In addition, emergency access is included 
as part of the City’s Design Review process for new development. According to the City’s 2018 Local 
Hazard Mitigation Plan (LHMP), interstate highways would serve as major emergency response and 
evacuation routes. Additionally, the Fire Department reviews development applications to ensure that 
adequate emergency accessibility is provided based on local and state guidance. Figure S-10 of the TOP 
indicates that Haven Avenue to the west, Airport Drive to the north, and Jurupa Street to the south are 
designated evacuation routes in the City. The EIR concluded TOP would have a less than significant direct, 
indirect, and cumulative impacts relating to impairment of an adopted emergency response plan or 
emergency evacuation plan (SEIR p. 5.20-15 and p. 5.17-26). 

The PUD project site is not located in or near a state responsibility area, nor is it located in or near lands 
classified as very high fire hazard severity zones. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in the Certified TOP FEIR. No changes or additions to TOP FEIR analyses are 
necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

b. Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby 
expose project occupants to, pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of 
a wildfire? 
Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR indicated the City is outside of the State Responsibility Area and contains 
no areas subject to very high wildfire risk. Therefore, the EIR concluded TOP would result in less-than-
significant risks from wildfire hazards (SEIR p. 5.20-16). 

The PUD project site is not located in or near a State Responsibility Area, nor is it located in or near lands 
classified as very high fire hazard severity zones. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

c. Require the installation or maintenance of associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel 
breaks, emergency water sources, power lines or other utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that 
may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment? 
Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR indicated the City is outside of the State Responsibility Area, and CAL 
FIRE and contains no areas subject to very high wildfire risk. Therefore, the EIR concluded TOP would 
result in less-than-significant risks from wildfire hazards (SEIR p. 5.20-16). In addition, the PUD project site 
is in an urbanized area surrounded by developed residential and commercial buildings so no improvements 
for preventing wildfires are needed either on or adjacent to the site. 

The PUD project site is not located in or near a State Responsibility Area nor is it located in or near lands 
classified as very high fire hazard severity zones. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

d. Expose people or structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream 
flooding or landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage changes? 

Item D - 73 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 66 of 70 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR indicated the City is outside of the State Responsibility Area, and CAL FIRE 
and contains no areas subject to very high wildfire risk. Therefore, the EIR concluded TOP would result in 
less-than-significant risks from wildfire hazards (SEIR p. 5.20-16). In addition, the project site and 
surrounding area are flat so there is little risk from flooding or landslides. 

 
The PUD project site is not located in or near a State Responsibility Area, nor is it located in or near lands 
classified as very high fire hazard severity zones. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.  

21. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE. 
a. Does the project have the potential to substantially degrade the quality of the environment, 

substantially reduce the habitat or a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to 
drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, substantially 
reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal or eliminate 
important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory? 

Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR evaluated the potential impacts of future development under TOP and 
determined impacts related to biological or cultural resources could be reduced to less than significant 
levels by implementing a number of mitigation measures on sites that contain such resources.  

The proposed PUD project does not have the potential to reduce wildlife habitat and threaten a wildlife 
species with implementation of regulatory compliance relative to nesting birds if they are present onsite 
during grading. It will also not threaten any important examples of the major periods of California history or 
prehistory. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated.  

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary.  

Mitigation: No project-specific mitigation is required. The project will implement TOP EIR Mitigation Measure 
CUL 5-2 to reduce impacts on potential archaeological resources. 

b. Does the project have the potential to achieve short-term environmental goals to the 
disadvantage of long-term environmental goals? 

Discussion of Effects: The analysis in TOP EIR, as outlined in Sections 1 through 20 of this document, 
indicate TOP is intended to achieve both the short- and long-term goals of the City in terms of the 
environment. 

The PUD project does not have the potential to achieve short-term environmental goals to the disadvantage 
of long-term environmental goals as it is consistent with TOP land use and zoning designations for the site 
which were analyzed in TOP EIR. The project will implement several short- and long-term goals in TOP by 
development of this mixed-use neighborhood community hub. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts other than those 
previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are 
necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. The project will implement TOP EIR Mitigation 
Measures AQ 3-1 through 3-3 to reduce potential cumulative air quality impacts. 

c. Does the project have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulatively considerable? 
(“Cumulatively considerable” means that the incremental effects of a project are considerable when 
viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the effects of other current project, and the 
effects of probable future projects.) 
Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR concluded that all impacts of TOP could be reduced to less than significant 
levels with implementation of the recommended mitigation measures except for air quality, historical 
resources, noise, and transportation. The EIR further concluded TOP would not make a significant 

Item D - 74 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 67 of 70 

contribution to any cumulatively considerable impacts with the recommended mitigation except for air 
quality.  

The PUD project will make an incremental contribution to cumulatively considerable air pollutant emissions 
both of criteria pollutants and greenhouse gases (GHGs). This mixed-use PUD project will also make 
incremental impacts related to Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) but it meets the screening criteria of the City’s 
VMT Guidelines for CEQA Documents so no additional analysis of VMT impacts is required. TOP EIR 
already examined these impacts and adopted a Statement of Overriding Considerations for the cumulative 
air quality impacts of future development under TOP as well as GHG and VMT impacts. Since the proposed 
PUD project is consistent with TOP land use designations for the site, the potential air quality impacts of 
the project have been previously evaluated in TOP EIR and appropriate mitigation applied (i.e., TOP EIR 
MM AQ 3-1 through 3-3). 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. The project will implement TOP EIR Mitigation 
Measures AQ 3-1 through 3-3. 

d. Does the project have environmental effects that will cause substantial adverse effects on 
human beings, either directly or indirectly? 

Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR concluded that all impacts of TOP could be reduced to less than significant 
levels with implementation of the recommended mitigation measures except for air quality, historical 
resources, noise, and transportation. The air quality and noise impacts may have direct and/or indirect 
adverse effects on humans as development occurs in the City under TOP.  

With implementation of the recommended TOP EIR Mitigation Measures, the PUD project does not have 
environmental effects that will cause substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or 
indirectly. 

The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously 
considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary. 

Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required. The project will implement TOP EIR Mitigation Measure 
NOI 12-1 to reduce noise impacts on project residents from Euclid Ave. traffic. 

EARLIER ANALYSES 

(Earlier analyses may be used where, pursuant to the tiering, program EIR, or other CEQA process, one or 
more effects have been adequately analyzed in an earlier EIR or Negative Declaration. Section 15063 
(c)(3)(D)): 

a) The Ontario Plan Final EIR 2022 

b) The Ontario Plan 2022 

c) City of Ontario Zoning 2021 as amended 

All documents listed above are on file with the City of Ontario Planning Department, 303 East “B” Street, 
Ontario, California 91764, (909) 395-2036. 

 

 

 

 

Item D - 75 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 68 of 70 

SUMMARY OF MITIGATION MEASURES 

The following measures are from TOP EIR for the indicated environmental issue and will be 
implemented by the Euclid/Walnut PUD Project: 

AIR QUALITY 
AQ 3-1: Prior to discretionary approval by the City of Ontario for development projects subject to CEQA 
(California Environmental Quality Act) review (i.e., nonexempt projects), project applicants shall prepare 
and submit a technical assessment evaluating potential project construction-related air quality impacts to 
the City of Ontario Planning Department for review and approval. The evaluation shall be prepared in 
conformance with South Coast Air Quality Management District (South Coast AQMD) methodology for 
assessing air quality impacts. If construction-related criteria air pollutants are determined to have the 
potential to exceed the South Coast AQMD–adopted thresholds of significance, the City of Ontario Building 
Department shall require feasible mitigation measures to reduce air quality emissions. Potential measures 
shall be incorporated as conditions of approval for a project and may include: 

• Require fugitive dust control measures that exceed South Coast Air Quality Management District’s Rule 
403, such as:  

− Requiring use of nontoxic soil stabilizers to reduce wind erosion.  

− Applying water every four hours to active soil disturbing activities.  

− Tarping and/or maintaining a minimum of 24 inches of freeboard on trucks hauling dirt, sand, soil, or 
other loose materials.  

• Using construction equipment rated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency as having 
Tier 4 interim or higher exhaust emission limits.  

• Ensuring construction equipment is properly serviced and maintained to the manufacturer’s standards 

• Limiting nonessential idling of construction equipment to no more than five consecutive minutes.  

• Using Super-Compliant VOC paints for coating of architectural surfaces whenever possible. A list of 
Super-Compliant architectural coating manufactures can be found on the South Coast Air Quality 
Management District’s website at: http://www.aqmd.gov/prdas/brochures/SuperCompliant_AIM.pdf. 
These identified measures shall be incorporated into all appropriate construction documents (e.g., 
construction management plans) submitted to the City and shall be verified by the City’s Planning 
Department. 

AQ 3-2: The City of Ontario shall evaluate new development proposals within the City and require all 
developments to include access or linkages to alternative modes of transportation, such as transit stops, 
bike paths, and/or pedestrian paths (e.g., sidewalks). 

AQ 3-3: Prior to discretionary approval by the City of Ontario for development projects subject to CEQA 
(California Environmental Quality Act) review (i.e., nonexempt projects), project applicants shall prepare 
and submit a technical assessment evaluating potential project operation-phase-related air quality impacts 
to the City of Ontario Planning Department for review and approval. The evaluation shall be prepared in 
conformance with South Coast Air Quality Management District (South Coast AQMD) methodology in 
assessing air quality impacts. If operation-related air pollutants are determined to have the potential to 
exceed the South Coast AQMD–adopted thresholds of significance, the City of Ontario Planning 
Department shall require that applicants for new development projects incorporate mitigation measures to 
reduce air pollutant emissions during operational activities. The identified measures shall be included as 
part of the conditions of approval. Possible mitigation measures to reduce long-term emissions could 
include but are not limited to the following:  

• For site-specific development that requires refrigerated vehicles, the construction documents shall 
demonstrate an adequate number of electrical service connections at loading docks for plug-in of the 
anticipated number of refrigerated trailers to reduce idling time and emissions.  

Item D - 76 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 69 of 70 

• Applicants for manufacturing and light industrial uses shall consider energy storage and combined heat 
and power in appropriate applications to optimize renewable energy generation systems and avoid peak 
energy use.  

• Site-specific developments with truck delivery and loading areas and truck parking spaces shall include 
signage as a reminder to limit idling of vehicles while parked for loading/unloading in accordance with 
California Air Resources Board Rule 2845 (13 CCR Chapter 10 sec. 2485).  

• Provide changing/shower facilities as specified in Section A5.106.4.3 of CALGreen (Nonresidential 
Voluntary Measures).  

• Provide bicycle parking facilities per Section A4.106.9 of CALGreen (Residential Voluntary Measures).  

• Provide preferential parking spaces for low-emitting, fuel-efficient, and carpool/van vehicles per Section 
A5.106.5.1 of CALGreen (Nonresidential Voluntary Measures).  

• Provide facilities to support electric charging stations per Section A5.106.5.3 and Section A5.106.8.2 of 
CALGreen (Nonresidential Voluntary Measures; Residential Voluntary Measures).  

• Applicant-provided appliances shall be Energy Star–certified appliances or appliances of equivalent 
energy efficiency (e.g., dishwashers, refrigerators, clothes washers, and dryers). Installation of Energy 
Star–certified or equivalent appliances shall be verified by the City during plan check. 

CULTURAL RESOURCES 
CUL 5-2: In areas of documented or inferred archaeological and/or paleontological resource presence, City 
staff shall require applicants for development permits to provide studies to document the presence/absence 
of such resources. On properties where resources are identified, such studies shall provide a detailed 
mitigation plan, including a monitoring program and recovery and/or in situ preservation plan, based on the 
recommendations of a qualified cultural preservation expert. The mitigation plan shall include the following 
requirements: 

a) Archaeologists and/or paleontologist shall be retained for the project and will be on call during grading 
and other significant ground-disturbing activities. 

b) Should any cultural resources be discovered, no further grading shall occur in the area of the discovery 
until the Planning Director or designee is satisfied that adequate provisions are in place to protect these 
resources. 

c) Unanticipated discoveries shall be evaluated for significance by a San Bernardino County Certified 
Professional Archaeologist/Paleontologist. If significance criteria are met, then the project shall be required 
to perform data recovery, professional identification, radiocarbon dates, and other special studies; submit 
materials to a museum for permanent curation; and provide a comprehensive final report including catalog 
with museum numbers. 

NOISE 
NOI 12-1: Prior to the issuance of building permits for any project that involves a noise-sensitive use within 
the 65 dBA CNEL contour along major roadways, freeways, railroads, or the Ontario International Airport, 
the project property owner/developers shall retain an acoustical engineer to conduct an acoustic analysis 
and identify, where appropriate, site design features (e.g., setbacks, berms, or sound walls) and/or required 
building acoustical improvements (e.g., sound transmission class rated windows, doors, and attic baffling), 
to ensure compliance with the City’s Noise Compatibility Criteria and the California State Building Code and 
California Noise Insulation Standards (Title 24 and 21 of the California Code of Regulations). 

 

 

 

Item D - 77 of 1893



CEQA Environmental Checklist Form 
File Nos.: PDEV22-027, PUD22-004, PHP22-015  
 

Page 70 of 70 

REFERENCES 

2016 Air Quality Management Plan (AQMP). South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD). 
August 2016. 

The Ontario Plan 2050, Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (SCH# 2021070364), 
Placeworks/City of Ontario. August 2022. 

The Ontario Plan 2050, Placeworks/City of Ontario. August 2022. 

City of Ontario Municipal Code, Title 9, Chapter 1, Development Code, Zoning. City of Ontario, 2022. 

City of Ontario Guidelines for the Implementation of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). City 
of Ontario. 2019.  

Euclid and Walnut Planned Unit Development (PUD), City of Ontario, MIG Inc., June 2023 (Appendix A) 

Euclid and Walnut, Ontario, CA, Legacy Partners, AO Architects.  

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project, Health Risk Assessment Report Per Ontario 
Development Code Table 6.10-3. MIG Inc. June 2023 (Appendix B) 

Hydrology Data (April 2023) and Water Quality Management Plan (June 2023) (Appendix C) 

Trip Generation Assessment for the Euclid Avenue Mixed Use Apartment Project, Ontario, California. 
Linscott Law & Greenspan (LLG). June 23, 2022 (Appendix D) 

Item D - 78 of 1893



Euclid
Walnut

Planned Unit Development

A Project by Legacy Partners

City of Ontario 
PUD 22-004

Addendum Appendix A

Item D - 79 of 1893



Item D - 80 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut
Planned Unit Development

City of Ontario 
PUD 22-004

City Council Approval Date - TBD
City Council Ordinance No. TBD

303 E. B Street

Ontario, CA 91764

(909) 395-2000

ontarioca.gov

Applicant:

Legacy Partners
5141 California Avenue

Suite 100
Irvine, CA 92617

Item D - 81 of 1893



4   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

Table of Contents
Chapter 1: Introduction. 7

Chapter 2: Objectives 11
2.1 Consistency with The Ontario Plan 11
2.2 Euclid Avenue (EA) Overlay District
  and Historic Resources 18
2.3 Euclid/Walnut PUD Objectives 19

Chapter 3: Land Use Plan 21
3.1 Land Use and Zoning 21
3.2 Phasing and Build-Out 22
3.3 Permitted Uses 24

Chapter 4: Development 
Regulations 27

4.1 Intensity 28
4.2 Density 28
4.3 Building Envelope 28
4.4 Vehicle Access 28
4.5 Parking Facilities, Supply and 
  Design 29
4.6 Residential Open Space and 
  Common Amenities 29
4.7 Service Facilities 30
4.8 Signs 30
4.9  Landscape/Hardscape 30
4.10 Fences and Walls 31
4.11 Public Right-of-Way Improvements 31
4.12 Infrastructure 31
4.13 Summary of Development 
  Standards 32

Chapter 5: Design Criteria 35
5.1 Building Orientation 36
5.2 Access and Parking Facilities 36
5.3 Service Facilities 36
5.4 Pedestrian Linkages 37
5.5 Architectural Character 37
5.6 Massing & Scale 37
5.7 Articulation & Fenestration 37
5.8 Architectural Details 37
5.9 Storefronts 41
5.10 Material & Colors 41
5.11 Roofs/Rooftop Equipment 41
5.12 Non-Residential Outdoor Dining
  Areas 41
5.13 Residential Outdoor Space, 
  Common Recreational
  Amenities 41
5.14 Landscape/Hardscape Elements 42

Chapter 6: Administration 47
6.1 Items Not Addressed in PUD 47
6.2 Development Plan and Other
  Applications 48
6.3 Administrative Exceptions 48

Item D - 82 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   5

Exhibit 1-1: 

Exhibit 3-1: 

Exhibit 3-2: 

Exhibit 5-1: 

Exhibit 5-2: 

Exhibit 5-3: 

Exhibit 5-4: 

Exhibit 5-5:

Exhibit 5-6:

Exhibits

Table 3-1: 

Table 4-1: 

Table 5-1: 

Tables

PUD Location Map 8

Land Use/Zoning Map 22

Phase 1 Conceptual Site Plan 23

Architectural Character — Vertical Mixed-Use 38

Architectural Character — Three-Story Residential 39

Architectural Character — Four-Story Residential 40

Typical Common Recreational Amenity 41

Typical Courtyard  41

Fence/Wall Concepts 44

Permitted Uses 24

Summary of Development Standards 32

Master Plant Palette 42

Item D - 83 of 1893



6   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development
Item D - 84 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   7

Introduction

Introduction

The Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) functions as a set of planning and design 
principles, development regulations, and 
performance standards to guide and govern the 
redevelopment of a commercial shopping center 
into a mixed-use development. The project 
site comprises three parcels located on the 
northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Walnut 
Street, as shown on Exhibit 1-1: PUD Location 
Map. This PUD will facilitate development of 
high-density apartments, restaurants, retail 
shops, and other commercial services that 
will achieve the City’s goals to economically 
revitalize and aesthetically enhance an 
underutilized parcel on the Euclid Avenue 
corridor. 

1

Item D - 85 of 1893



8   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

This document is organized to fulfill the requirements for a PUD, as set forth in the Ontario 
Development Code (ODC). The Euclid/Walnut PUD replaces the existing zoning district designation 
and ODC regulations applicable to the affected properties.  The properties also lie within the “EA 
– Euclid Avenue Overlay” district. Any applicable requirements of the overlay district shall remain 
in full force and effect. Unless otherwise defined or stated herein, definitions and interpretations 
contained in the ODC shall apply. City staff and private developers will rely on this PUD to determine 
whether precise plans for development (“Development Plans”) adequately meet the City’s land use 
and design objectives of The Ontario Plan (TOP) 2050. 

Exhibit 1-1: PUD Location Map

Item D - 86 of 1893



This page was intentionally left blank.

Item D - 87 of 1893



10   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development
Item D - 88 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   11

Objectives

Objectives

2.1 Consistency with The Ontario Plan
The Ontario Plan (TOP), the City’s 
comprehensive plan, has undergone a significant 
update to shape the Ontario community 
through 2050. TOP 2050 has three policy level 
components: the Vision, a Governance Manual, 
and the Policy Plan (General Plan).

2

Item D - 89 of 1893



12   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

The Ontario Vision – adopted by the City 
Council envisioning “A sustained, community-
wide prosperity which continuously adds value 
and yields benefits.” Value is comprehensive 
in this regard and is expressed in land, 
revenues, infrastructure, businesses, education, 
employment, health, community services, 
recreation, etc. In particular, Ontario is 
committed to being “A Premier Community by 
Design.” One of the foundations to accomplish 
this is described in the Vision as ensuring 
that development is “distinctive.” The Euclid/
Walnut PUD helps the City realize specific 
“Points of Vision” as outlined for “Distinctive 
Development” as follows:

• A system of vibrant retail, town, and 
neighborhood centers responsive to market 
demands and woven into the fabric of the 
community.

• A demonstrated ability to attract housing in 
pursuit of our acknowledged responsibility to 
balance housing with the job growth that drives 
our quality of life.

• Superior quality and design of the built 
environment and open spaces through careful 
attention to detail at every scale, including 
public and private spaces and structures.

The Governance Manual – institutionalizes 
Ontario’s approach to governance and provides 
a business plan for the City.  Ontario believes the 
City has the obligation to create, maintain, and 
grow economic value. The Manual guides the 
City’s leadership and ensures that TOP 2050 is 
integrated into daily operations and provides for 
effective administration.  The Euclid/Walnut PUD 
is established in conformance with the City’s 
requirements and includes an administrative 
section consistent with provisions contained 
in the ODC for consideration of “Development 
Plans.”

The Policy Plan (General Plan) – includes 
the Land Use Element, which designates 
the subject parcels within the Euclid/Walnut 
PUD as “MU - Mixed Use.”  Generally, these 
properties are developed with a mix of uses 

that, when concentrated, create focal points 
for community activity and facilitate walking, 
biking, and transit use The MU – Mixed Use land 
use category accommodates a horizontal and/or 
vertical mix of retail, service, office, restaurant, 
entertainment, cultural, and residential uses. 
The densities and intensities of the MU – Mixed 
Use designation represent the intended level of 
anticipated development; however, individual 
projects may vary depending upon an approved 
master plan, such as a specific plan or planned 
unit development. 

Within the Land Use Element, the MU – Mixed 
Use designation is broken down into unique 
sub-categories to further refine the type of 
mixed-use development desired by the City. 
The parcels comprising the Euclid/Walnut PUD 
are part of a sub-area categorized as MU-NH 
– Mixed Use Neighborhood Activity Hub. This 
specific designation envisions low-rise (three to 
five stories) buildings, with a mix of retail and 
residential uses that will create identity and 
place, and serve surrounding residents. This 
category allows for residential densities ranging 
from 20 to 75 dwelling units per acre and non-
residential intensity of 1.00 floor area ratio 
(FAR). Five locations within the City have the 
MU-NH land use designation. The Future Build-
out Projections Table of the Land Use Element 
provides details for each of these five MU-NH 
sub-areas. The build-out of the 16-acre “MU-NH 
(Euclid & Walnut)” sub-area is projected to be 
369 dwelling units and 142,840 square feet of 
non-residential development. 

This PUD regulates the redevelopment of 
10.6 acres of this sub-area to create a mixed-
use project providing a total of 369 dwelling 
units and 12,000 non-residential square feet. 
The other 5.4 acres of the sub-area is located 
north of the PUD boundary and currently 
developed with 15 single family dwelling units, 
and approximately 28,000 square feet of non-
residential development. There is a nominal 
increase to the total build-out projection for 
the number of residential dwelling units within 
this sub-area resulting from the combination 
of existing to remain and construction of new 
within the boundaries of this PUD. However, 

Item D - 90 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   13

Objectives

In addition to the requirements of the Land Use 
Element, all mixed-use development is subject 
to specific “Place Types” as defined in the 
Community Design Element, which represent 
the intended outcome and character for each 
area. The Euclid/Walnut PUD falls within Place 
Type 8 (a-e).  Properties with this Place Type 
are considered “Neighborhood Center – Infill” 
development where commercial and residential 
parcels were largely developed in an incremental 
manner prior to 2020.  The Community Design 
Element acknowledges that many properties 
in this Place Type range in size, complexity, 
and relationships with surrounding streets 
and neighborhoods, and that redevelopment 

could result in horizontal or vertical mixed use. 
However, all of these centers are envisioned 
to incorporate site design that prioritizes safe, 
attractive, and well-shaded pedestrian access on 
site, from the public rights-of-way, and from the 
adjacent neighborhoods.

Implementation of the Euclid/Walnut PUD will 
achieve many City goals and policies outlined in 
The Policy Plan (General Plan).  Those specific 
goals and polices are as follows.

Land Use Element

Goal LU-1 Balance

A community that has a spectrum of housing 
types and price ranges that match the jobs in the 
City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of 
life.

• LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth 
in strategic locations that help create place 
and identity, maximize available and planned 
infrastructure, foster the development of 
transit, and support the expansion of the 
active and multimodal transportation networks 
throughout the City.

• LU-1.5 Jobs-Housing Balance. We coordinate 
land use, infrastructure, and transportation 
planning and analysis with regional, county, and 
other local agencies to further regional and 
subregional goals for jobs-housing balance.

• LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate 
a variety of land uses and building types in 
our land use planning efforts that result in a 
complete community where residents at all 
stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors 
have a wide spectrum of choices of where they 
can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario.

it is offset by a significant reduction in 
the build-out of non-residential square 
footage should the existing uses/buildings 
remain unchanged on the 5.4-acre portion. 
Implementation of this PUD would still allow 
for redevelopment of the 5.4 acre portion 
of the sub-area of up to 130,000 of non-
residential square footage, consistent with 
the TOP 2050 build-out projections for this 
sub-area.

Item D - 91 of 1893



14   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

Goal LU-2 Compatibility

Compatibility between a wide range of uses and 
resultant urban patterns and forms.

• LU-2.1 Land Use Decisions. We minimize 
adverse impacts on adjacent properties when 
considering land use and zoning requests.

• LU-2.2 Buffers. We require new uses to provide 
mitigation or buffers between existing uses 
where potential adverse impacts could occur. 
Additional mitigation is required when new uses 
could negatively impact environmental justice 
areas.

Goal LU-4 Phased Growth

Development that provides short-term value 
only when the opportunity to achieve our Vision 
can be preserved.

• LU-4.2 Interim Development. We allow 
development in urban, mixed use, and transit-
oriented Place Types that is not immediately 
reflective of our ultimate Vision for the Place 
Type, provided it can be modified or replaced 
when circumstances are right to support 
development aligned with the Place Type 
Vision. We will not allow development that 
impedes, precludes, or compromises our ability 
to achieve our Vision.

• LU-4.3 Infrastructure Timing. We require that 
the necessary infrastructure and services 
be in place prior to or concurrently with 
development.

• LU-4.4 Shared Infrastructure. We encourage 
and facilitate the use of shared infrastructure 
(including shared or managed parking) in urban, 
mixed use, and transit-oriented Place Types.

Housing Element

Goal H-2 Housing Supply & Diversity

Diversity of types of quality housing that are 
affordable to a range of household income 
levels, accommodate changing demographics, 
and support and reinforce the economic 
sustainability of Ontario.

• H-2.1 Corridor Housing. We revitalize 
transportation corridors by encouraging the 
production of higher density residential and 
mixed-uses that are architecturally, functionally, 
and aesthetically suited to corridors.

• H-2.5 Housing Design. We require architectural 
excellence through adherence to City 
design guidelines, thoughtful site planning, 
environmentally sustainable practices, and 
other best practices.

• H-2.6 Infill Development. We support the 
revitalization of neighborhoods through the 
construction of higher-density residential 
developments on underutilized residential and 
commercial sites.

Goal H-3 Governmental Regulations

A City regulatory environment that balances the 
need for creativity and excellence in residential 
design, flexibility and predictability in the 
project approval process, and the provision of an 
adequate supply and prices of housing.

• H-3.2 Flexible Standards. We allow flexibility in 
the application of residential and mixed-use 
development standards in order to gain benefits 
such as exceptional design quality, economic 
advantages, sustainability, or other benefits 
that would otherwise be unrealized.

Environmental Resources Element

Goal ER-1 Water & Wastewater

A reliable and cost-effective system that permits 
the City to manage its diverse water resources 
and needs.

• ER-1.4 Supply-Demand Balance. We require 
that available water supply and demands be 
balanced.

• ER-1.6 Urban Run-off Quantity. We encourage 
the use of low impact development strategies, 
including green infrastructure, to intercept run-
off, slow the discharge rate, increase infiltration, 
and ultimately reduce discharge volumes to 
traditional storm drain systems.

• ER-1.7 Urban Run-off Quality. We require the 
control and management of urban run-off, 
consistent with Regional Water Quality Control 
Board regulations.

• ER-1.8 Wastewater Management. We require 
the management of wastewater discharge and 
collection consistent with waste discharge 
requirements adopted by the Regional Water 

Item D - 92 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   15

Objectives

Quality Control Board.

Goal ER-3 Energy

Cost-effective and reliable energy system 
sustained through a combination of low impact 
buildings, site and neighborhood energy 
conservation, and diverse sources of energy 
generation that collectively helps to minimize 
the region’s carbon footprint.

• ER-3.3 Building and Site Design. We require new 
construction to incorporate energy efficient 
building and site design strategies, which could 
include appropriate solar orientation, maximum 
use of natural daylight, passive solar, and 
natural ventilation.

Goal ER-4 Air Quality

Improved indoor and outdoor air quality and 
reduced locally generated pollutant emissions.

• ER-4.1 Land Use. We reduce GHG and other local 
pollutant emissions through compact, mixed 
use, and transit-oriented development and 
development that improves the regional jobs-
housing balance.

Community Economics Element

Goal CE-1 Complete Community

A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life.

• CE-1.6 Diversity of Housing. We collaborate 
with residents, housing providers, and the 
development community to provide housing 
opportunities for every stage of life; we plan 
for a variety of housing types and price points 
to encourage the development of housing 
supportive of our efforts to attract business in 
growing sectors of the community while being 
respectful of existing viable uses.

• CE-1.7 Retail Goods and Services. We seek to 
ensure a mix of retail businesses that provide 
the full continuum of goods and services for the 
community.

Goal CE-2 Placemaking

A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, 

corridors, and centers where people choose to 
be.

• CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new 
development and redevelopment to create 
unique, high-quality places that add value to the 
community.

• CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those 
proposing new development and redevelopment 
to demonstrate how their projects will 
create appropriately unique, functional, and 
sustainable places that will compete well with 
their competition within the region.

Safety Element

Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards

Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, property 
damage, and economic and social disruption 
caused by earthquake-induced and other 
geologic hazards.

• S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and 
Standards. We require that all new habitable 
structures be designed in accordance with the 
most recent California Building Code adopted 
by the City, including provisions regarding 
lateral forces and grading.

• S-1.2 Entitlement and Permitting Process. 
We follow state guidelines and the California 
Building Code to determine when development 
proposals must conduct geotechnical and 
geological investigations.

Goal S-2 Flood Hazards

Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, property 
damage and economic and social disruption 
caused by flooding and inundation hazards.

• S-2.5 Stormwater Management. We maintain 
the storm drain system to convey a 100-
year storm, when feasible, and encourage 
environmental site design practices to minimize 
flooding and increase groundwater recharge, 
including natural drainage, green infrastructure, 
and permeable ground surfaces.

Goal S-3 Fire & Rescue Hazards

Reduced risk of death, injury, property damage 
and economic loss due to fires, accidents and 
normal everyday occurrences through prompt 

Item D - 93 of 1893



16   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

and capable emergency response.

• S-3.1 Prevention Services. We proactively 
mitigate or reduce the negative effects of fire, 
hazardous materials release, and structural 
collapse by implementing the regularly adopted 
California Fire Code and California Building 
Code.

• S-3.8 Fire Prevention through Environmental 
Design. We require new development to 
incorporate fire prevention consideration in the 
design of streetscapes, sites, open spaces, and 
buildings.

Goal S-4 Noise Hazards

An environment where noise does not adversely 
affect the public’s health, safety, and welfare.

• S-4.1 Noise Mitigation. We utilize the City’s Noise 
Ordinance, building codes, and subdivision and 
development codes to mitigate noise impacts.

Goal S-5 Wind-Related Hazards

Minimize the risk of injury, property damage, and 
economic loss resulting from windstorms and 
wind-related hazards.

• S-5.1 Dust Control Measures. We require the 
implementation of Best Management Practices 
for dust control at all excavation and grading 
projects.

Goal S-7 Law Enforcement

Residential neighborhoods, commercial areas, 
and industrial districts that are kept safe 
through a multi-faceted approach of prevention, 
suppression, and community involvement in 
public safety.

• S-7.4 Crime Prevention through Environmental 
Design (CPTED). We require new development 
to incorporate CPTED in the design of 
streetscapes, sites, open spaces, and buildings.

Community Design Element

Goal CD-1 Image & Identity

A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense 
of identity and belonging among residents, 
visitors, and businesses.

• CD-1.2 Place Types. We establish Place Types 
in urban, mixed use, and transit-oriented 
areas to foster the City’s identity as a premier 
community and require new development within 
each Place Type to incorporate prescribed 
urban patterns, forms, and placemaking 
priorities.

Goal CD-2 Design Quality

A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, commercial areas, public spaces, 
parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human- scale, and distinct.

• CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. 
We encourage all development projects to 
convey visual interest and character through:

1. Building volume, massing, and height to 
provide context-appropriate scale and 
proportion;

2. A true architectural style which is carried 
out in plan, section, and elevation through all 
aspects of the building and site design and 
appropriate for its setting; and

3. Exterior building materials that are 
articulated, high quality, durable, and 
appropriate for the architectural style.

• CD-2.4 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-oriented 
Areas. We establish Place Types to require 
mixed use, urban, and transit-oriented areas 
to be designed and developed as pedestrian 
oriented areas that are integrated with 
adjacent neighborhoods and promote a vibrant, 
comfortable, and functional environment, as 
defined for each Place Type.

• CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the 
development community to design and build 
neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor 
spaces, landscaping, and buildings to reduce 
energy demand through solar orientation, 
maximum use of natural daylight, passive 
solar and natural ventilation, building form, 
mechanical and structural systems, building 
materials, and construction techniques.

Item D - 94 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   17

Objectives

• CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate 
defensible space design into new and existing 
developments to ensure the maximum safe 
travel and visibility on pathways, corridors, 
and open space and at building entrances 
and parking areas by avoiding physically and 
visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility 
and accessibility, and using lighting. 

• CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage 
durable, sustainable, and drought-tolerant 
landscaping materials and designs that enhance 
the aesthetics of structures, create and define 
public and private spaces, and provide shade 
and environmental benefits.

• CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work 
collaboratively with all stakeholders to ensure a 
high degree of certainty in the efficient review 
and timely processing of all development plans 
and permits.

Goal CD-3 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-Oriented 
Place Types

Vibrant urban environments that are organized 
around intense buildings, pedestrian and transit 
areas, public plazas, and linkages between and 
within developments that are conveniently 
located, visually appealing and safe during all 
hours.

• CD-3.1 Unique Identity. We promote 
development that heightens the unique 
character and identity of each Place Type 
by requiring compatible land uses and land 
planning, site design, and building design that 
promotes an active public realm. 

• CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. 
We require appropriate building and site design 
that complements existing development, 
respects the intent and identity of the Place 
Type, and provides appropriate transitions and 
connections between adjacent uses to ensure 
compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate 
level of privacy for each use, and minimize 
potential conflicts.

• CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively 
pedestrian streetscapes by requiring primary 
building, business, and residential entrances, 
outdoor dining, and storefronts be located 
on ground floors adjacent to sidewalks or 
public spaces and designed to maximize 

CD-3.1 Unique Identity

CD-3.4 Context Aware and 
Appropriate Building Design

CD-3.5 Active Frontages

CD-3.6 Managed Infrastructure

Item D - 95 of 1893



18   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

2.2 Euclid Avenue (EA) Overlay District 
and Historic Resources
The EA Overlay zoning district was established 
to recognize, protect, and enhance the visual 
character and quality of Euclid Avenue as a 
major scenic and historic resource in Ontario 
as well as its position on the National Register 
of Historic Places. Properties located within 
the EA require approval of a Certificate of 
Appropriateness to ensure no adverse impacts 
to designated historic resources occur as a result 
of new development and buildings.  This PUD 
includes design criteria within Chapter 5 for site 
and building design that strengthen the overall 
character of Euclid Avenue.  

The public right-of-way of Euclid Avenue from 
Philadelphia Street northward to the Interstate 
10 was designated as Local Landmark No. 67 on 
January 16, 2001 by the Ontario City Council. On 
August 10, 2005, the public right-of-way of Euclid 
Avenue from Philadelphia Street in Ontario 
northward to 24th Street in Upland was listed 
on the National Register of Historic Places as a 
significant cultural landscape. One contributing 

character defining-feature of the right-of way is 
the 60-foot-wide median separating the north/
southbound vehicular lanes of Euclid Avenue. 
This PUD does not propose to alter or affect this 
character-defining feature. 

Although the parcels within this PUD have 
Euclid Avenue frontage, the location of this 
PUD is separated from the southern boundary 
(Philadelphia Street) of this Local Landmark/
National Register of Historic Places designation 
by a distance of approximately 0.4 miles. The 
extended view of the Euclid Avenue corridor, 
when viewed northward from the parcels or 
southward towards the parcels of this PUD, is 
also visually disrupted within the immediate 
foreground view as a result of the Pomona 
Freeway (SR-60), which is elevated above Euclid 
Avenue. Additionally, this PUD is separated from 
the closest boundary of an historic district, 
the Downtown Historic District, by a distance 
of approximately three miles.  Based upon the 
City’s Historic Preservation records, there are no 
potential or proposed historic resources within 
the immediate surrounding area of the parcels 
within this PUD.

Historic Euclid Avenue

Item D - 96 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   19

Objectives

2.3 Euclid / Walnut PUD Objectives
The Euclid/Walnut PUD establishes a set of planning and design principles, development regulations, 
and performance standards to guide and govern the development of a defined project site.  This 
PUD will facilitate redevelopment of the project site with structures and related improvements 
that support residential and non-residential land uses within the same project site.  In addition 
to facilitating achievement of many City goals and policies as outlined herein, this PUD has the 
following objectives:

 

• Develop and provide new, high-quality rental housing combined with a mixed-use component.

• Provide transition between new mixed-use development and surrounding residential 

neighborhoods and commercial properties.  

• Provide areas of private and passive open space for each residential unit, as well as 

community gathering and active open spaces.

• Promote development that is consistent with the MU-NH – Mixed Use Neighborhood Activity 

Hub land use designation.

• Promote revitalization of commercial uses on the project site by establishing new 

ground-floor retail and similar uses that serve on-site residents and those in surrounding 

neighborhoods.

• Provide outdoor gathering places adjacent to commercial storefronts, such as outdoor patio 

or bench seating with inviting/attractive landscape elements.

• Orient non-residential, ground-floor uses towards Euclid Avenue.

• Incorporate site design solutions to allow for phased development. 

• Satisfy the build-out projections for residential dwelling units within the MU-NH (Euclid-

Walnut) sub-area, as defined in TOP 2050.

Item D - 97 of 1893



20   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development
Item D - 98 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   21

Land Use Plan

Land Use Plan

3.1 Land Use and Zoning
The Euclid/Walnut PUD applies to the parcels 
shown on Exhibit 3-1: Land Use/Zoning Map. The 
map establishes a single zoning district of PUD 
- Planned Unit Development providing for a mix 
of commercial and residential uses consistent 
with TOP 2050 MU-NH land use designation. 
This PUD allows both horizontal and vertical 
mixed-use development in buildings of three and 
four stories. Buildings with direct Euclid Avenue 
frontage will contain ground-floor commercial 
uses and residential units directly above. All 
other buildings will contain residential units 
on all floor levels. A combination of garages, 
tandem spaces, carports, and surface parking 
spaces will be provided, with gated access limited 
to residents and residents’ guests. Unrestricted 
access to surface-level parking will serve the 
commercial uses and provide additional resident 
guest parking spaces. Residents will enjoy a low-
maintenance, urban lifestyle with conveniently 
located shopping, dining, and personal service 
businesses in combination with convenient 
access to established transportation routes and 
employment hubs.

3

Item D - 99 of 1893



22   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

3.2 Phasing and Building Out
Implementation of the land use plan and the 
build-out allowable under this PUD will be 
achieved through two redevelopment phases.  
Exhibit 3-2: Phase 1 Conceptual Site Plan 
illustrates the development plan for the initial 
phase.  

The first phase will retain the fast-food, 
drive-through restaurant use, occupying an 
approximately 4,100-square-foot building and 
its related site improvements. The remaining 
area within the boundaries of this PUD will be 
developed with two four-story buildings and 
six three-story buildings, providing a combined 
total of 346 dwelling units, 5,400 square feet 
of ground-floor commercial space, associated 
on-site parking areas for both residential and 
non-residential land uses, and landscaping and 
recreational amenities for residents1. 

The second phase will implement the full 
build-out of the PUD area with demolition of 
the restaurant and related site improvements;  
replacing them with an additional mixed-use, 
four-story building. Completion of the second 
phase will provide up to an additional 23 dwelling 
units and up to an additional 6,600 square 
feet of ground-floor commercial space, plus 
associated site improvements. 

This PUD, inclusive of all development standards 
and requirements, applies to both phases. 
Ultimate build-out will result in a maximum of 
369 dwelling units and approximately 12,000 
square feet of commercial land uses.

1. Demolition of approximately 100,950 square feet of older commercial buildings will occur before project construction proceeds.

Exhibit 3-1: Land Use/Zoning Map

Item D - 100 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   23

Land Use Plan

Exhibit 3-2: Phase 1 Conceptual Site Plan

Item D - 101 of 1893



24   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

3.3 Permitted Uses
Table 3-1: Permitted Uses lists the allowable land use, activity, or facility permitted within this PUD. 
A land use that is not listed shall be considered a prohibited land use unless otherwise allowed by 
the Zoning Administrator in accordance with the requirements and procedures outlined in the ODC. 
The land uses established in this table are consistent with those listed uses and land use definitions 
of the ODC. The ODC relies upon the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) for 
non-residential land uses, utilizing the NAICS website definitions for each business establishment 
classification. The “Notes or ODC Regulations” column provides reference to the location of 
any specific regulations, operating conditions, and/or development standards applicable to the 
corresponding land use, activity, or facility; as well as exception to any standards or requirement 
as modified within this PUD. The “Permit Type” column symbols shall have the same meaning and 
utilize the same permit type, process, and approvals as contained in the ODC.

Table 3-1: Permitted Uses
Land Uses, Activities, and 
Facilities

Permit Type
“P” - Permitted by Right
“C” - Conditional Use Permit
“A” - Administrative Use Permit

Notes or ODC 
Regulations

Residential

Accessory Dwelling Units P ODC Section 5.03.010

Animal Keeping (accessory)
Household Pets - 4 or fewer pets

P

Community Gardens (accessory) A ODC Section 5.03.410

Home Occupation (accessory) A ODC Section 5.03.240

Multiple-Family Dwellings P

Mixed Uses

Residential Mixed-Use Developments P ODC Section 5.03.285

Non-Residential Uses - Limited to Ground Floor and Euclid Avenue Frontage

Alcoholic Beverage Sales (off-premise) C ODC Section 5.03.025

Art Dealer P

Clothing, Shoes and Jewelry Store P

Consignment Shop P

Convenience Store P

Document Preparation Services P

Drycleaning and Laundry Services - 
Limited to Drop-off and Pick-up

P Drive-thru prohibited

Electronics and Appliance Store P ODC Section 5.03.175

Finance and Insurance Services P Check Cashing, Advanced 
Payday, and Pawnshops 
prohibited

Item D - 102 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   25

Land Use Plan

Table 3-1: Permitted Uses
Land Uses, Activities, and 
Facilities

Permit Type
“P” - Permitted by Right
“C” - Conditional Use Permit
“A” - Administrative Use Permit

Notes or ODC 
Regulations

Florist P

Furniture and Home Furnishings Store P ODC Section 5.03.210

General Merchandise Store P

Health and Personal Care Store P

Investigative and Security Services P

Office Administrative Support 
Services

P

Office Supplies, Stationary and Gift 
Store

P

Personal and Household Goods Repair P

Personal Care Services
With Massage Services

P
A ODC Section 5.03.270

Personal Fitness Training Studio P Limited to 10,000 sq. ft.

Pet Supply Store P Animal Sales prohibited

Pharmacies and Drug Store P Drive-thru prohibited

Police Storefront/Community Services P

Private Mail Centers and Postal 
Supply

P

Professional and Technical Services P Limited to non-medical

Real Estate, Rental, and Leasing 
Services

P

Restaurants, Fast Food
With Drive-Thru

P
P ODC Section 5.03.150

Restaurants, Limited Service
With Alcoholic Beverage Sales
With Live Entertainment

P
C
C

ODC Section 5.03.025
ODC Section 5.03.257

Restaurants, Snack and Nonalcoholic 
Beverage Bar

P

Specialty Food and/or Beverage Store
With Alcoholic Beverage Sales

P
C ODC Section 5.03.025

Sporting Goods, Hobby, Book, and 
Music Store

P

Supermarket and Grocery Store P

Travel Arrangement Services P

Item D - 103 of 1893



26   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development
Item D - 104 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   27

Development Regulations

Development 
Regulations

This section sets forth standards that govern 
the placement, height, and bulk of permitted 
buildings and other structures; establishes 
locational criteria for vehicular access to 
development sites; establishes parking and 
loading requirements; and specifies minimum 
requirements for recreational amenities for 
residential uses. Unless otherwise modified 
herein, development within this PUD 
shall comply with the ODC standards and 
requirements as may apply generally to Multiple-
Family Dwellings and Commercial development, 
as determined appropriate by the Director. 
Table 4-1: Summary of Development Standards 
provides an at-a-glance reference to the 
regulations for the various standards, and is to 
be used in combination with the descriptions and 
specific criteria listed for each of the standards.

4

Item D - 105 of 1893



28   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

served by a drive aisle, up to a maximum 
building setback of 80 feet.

g. The building edge along Walnut Street shall 
provide a minimum setback of 10 feet.

h. Building setbacks shall be measured from 
the ultimate property lines or ultimate 
right-of-way width, whichever is greater. 

i. Placement of buildings and structures shall 
conform with other specifications of Table 
4-1: Summary of Development Standards.

j. Any yard areas provided between the 
buildings and the right-of-way may be 
finished with hardscape, including walls/
fences, or landscape.

4.4 Vehicle Access
Vehicular access from any public right-of-way 
shall be limited to two locations along Euclid 
Avenue and a maximum of three locations along 
Walnut Street, as approved by the City Engineer.

4.1 Intensity
The intensity of non-residential development 
shall not exceed a maximum 0.5 floor area 
ratio (FAR) based upon the net site area. The 
calculation shall be derived by dividing the gross 
square footage of the commercial space of the 
vertical mixed use buildings by the net site area. 
In determining FAR, this square footage should 
not include indoor common amenity space 
or other interior square footage serving the 
residential land uses.

4.2 Density
The density of residential development shall not 
exceed a maximum 40 dwelling units per acre 
based upon the net site area. In no case shall 
the total number of residential units exceed 369 
units upon build-out of Phase 2.

4.3 Building Envelope
a. Non-residential land uses shall be on the 

ground-floor level of vertical mixed-use 
buildings.

b. Residential dwelling units may be located 
on any floor level.

c. The height of four-story  buildings shall not 
exceed 60 feet. The height of three-story 
buildings shall not exceed 50 feet. Height 
shall be measured as specified in the ODC 
and is inclusive of architectural projections. 

d. Any rooftop mechanical venting or 
communications equipment shall be built 
within or otherwise screened by the roof 
structure so that they do not project above 
parapets and are not visible from any public 
right of way, or neighboring building. 

e. The location of vertical mixed-use buildings 
shall be limited to buildings with frontage 
along Euclid Avenue. 

f. The building edge along Euclid Avenue may 
vary. It may occur a minimum of 10 feet 
behind the public right-of-way line or at a 
point that allows for up to two parking bays 

Item D - 106 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   29

Development Regulations

4.5 Parking Facilities, Supply, and 
Design
On-street parking on Euclid Avenue and Walnut 
Street adjacent to this PUD shall not be allowed.

a. Non-residential uses shall be provided with 
parking at a minimum ratio of one parking 
space per 250 gross square feet of building 
area. Such parking shall be located on site, 
and shall be accessible during operating 
hours of the businesses being served.

b. Residential uses shall be provided with 
parking at a minimum ratio of 1.2 parking 
spaces per bedroom in each dwelling unit, 
inclusive of providing guest or unassigned 
parking spaces. Resident parking shall 
be located on site, and may have access 
restricted by gated entrance. Resident 
parking for each dwelling unit or guests of 
that dwelling unit may be provided within 
a garage space, as a tandem space, within 
a carport, as surface level parking, or in 
combination. Tandem spaces are restricted 
to those directly in front of a garage door 
and shall be assigned to the same dwelling 
unit as the garage space.

c. A parking management plan shall be 
submitted for the Planning Director 
approval prior to the issuance of building 
permits. The plan shall address the 
assignment, distribution, and functionality 
of all parking  spaces among the various 
uses, including the use of non-residential 
spaces providing overflow resident guest 
spaces when businesses are closed. 

d. Parking spaces shall not obstruct access to 
building entrances, pedestrian paths, trash 
storage areas, or loading areas.

e. Parking space dimensions, drive aisles, etc. 
shall generally conform to the standards set 
forth in the ODC unless modified herein.

4.6 Residential Open Space and 
Common Amenities
Open space for the residential component shall 
be provided at a minimum ratio of 250 square 
feet per dwelling unit. Such space can be a 
combination of residential private open space 
and common amenities, subject to the following: 

a. A minimum of 50 square feet of individual 
private open space, in the form of balcony 
or patio area directly accessible from the 
interior of each dwelling unit, shall be 
provided. Individual balcony or patio areas 
shall have a minimum dimension for length 
and width of five feet. 

b. Common amenities shall be provided 
at the minimum ratio of 175 square feet 
per dwelling unit. This may include a 
combination of passive and active, indoor 
and outdoor spaces, roof-top or upper 
floor decks, as well as landscaped and 
hardscaped ground surfaces providing 
paseos between or adjacent to buildings. 
Up to 15 percent of the overall common 
amenity square footage may consist 
of indoor area and be grouped into a 
single building that is accessible to all 
residents. Such indoor area shall provide 
opportunities for fitness, lounge/gathering 
space, business/mail center, and similar 
amenities. The remaining common 
amenities provided shall be in the form of 
outdoor common areas consisting of both 
programmed and unprogrammed spaces. 
Programmed space may provide specific 
amenities: such as a dog park, seating/
conversational areas, outdoor cooking 
facilities with table seating areas, etc. 
Unprogrammed space may provide passive 
use such as landscaped paseos.

Item D - 107 of 1893



30   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

4.7 Service Facilities
Service areas and facilities shall comply with the 
following:

a. Loading and unloading in proximity to 
both the residential and non-residential 
uses shall be addressed as part of the 
parking management plan submitted to the 
Planning Director to ensure coordination of 
operational hours and occupancy/vacancy 
of parking areas.  

b. Trash receptacles/recyclable container 
storage areas shall be provided for all 
residential and non-residential uses. Such 
receptacle/storage area may receive trash 
from commercial and residential sources. 
Locations, sizes, and design of such areas 
shall be readily accessible by trash disposal 
company equipment and work crews, as 
approved by the Planning and Public Works 
Directors, in consultation with the trash 
disposal vendor.  

c. Individual storage units shall be provided 
for the occupants of each dwelling unit, 
exclusive of any closets in the units. The 
total amount of cubic feet provided shall 
average 150 cubic feet per dwelling unit. 

4.8 Signs
A Master Sign Program shall be submitted 
for approval by the Planning Director prior to 
issuance of a building permit to provide design 
and standards applicable to both residential and 
non-residential land uses within this PUD. The 
program will include specific sign criteria for 
gated access points. All signs shall comply with 
standards in the ODC. Any signage within the 
Euclid Avenue Caltrans right-of-way will require 
Caltrans review and approval.

4.9 Landscape/Hardscape
a. A detailed plan shall be submitted with the 

Development Plan specifying all landscape 
and hardscape elements of the residential 
open space and common amenities, as well 
as the perimeter yards abutting the street 
rights-of-way and all street trees. 

b. Water conservation shall be provided 
through low water using plant materials, 
hydro zones, water efficient irrigation and 
weather-based controllers as required 
by City codes. Landscaped areas may be 
used for storm water infiltration through 
vegetated swales, retention basins, or dry 
wells as needed with the use of appropriate 
planting materials. 

c. The landscape design shall generally 
satisfy the requirements of the Landscape 
Development Standards outlined in the 
ODC and shall create well-functioning 
spaces within a sustainable design utilizing 
materials as provided in Table 5-1: Master 
Plant Palette.

d. Within parking areas, the following 
landscape areas and standards apply:  

1. For each row of parking spaces located within 
the restricted access (gated) parking areas, 
planter islands of at least six feet in width 
that extend the full length of the abutting 
parking space shall be located at a minimum 
rate of every 15 spaces.  This rate shall be 
increased to every 10 spaces for parking areas 
with unrestricted access and/or adjacent to 
Euclid Avenue.

2. Tree wells, tree diamonds, or center planter 
strips shall be provided to allow for the 
planting of shade trees at a minimum ratio 
of one tree for each five parking spaces. Tree 
wells shall not have a minimum dimension 
less than five feet.

3. All landscape planters within parking 
areas shall be delineated with a six-inch-
wide curb regardless of parking space 
configuration.  The use of a 12-inch-wide curb 
may be provided to allow for a “step area” 
in circumstances where there is increased 
frequency of passengers exiting or entering a 
vehicle.

Item D - 108 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   31

Development Regulations

4.11 Public Right-of-Way Improvements
As determined by the City Engineer, design 
and construction of any street improvements 
adjacent to the property frontage of Euclid 
Avenue and Walnut Street shall be conditioned 
and may include, but not be limited to, concrete 
curb and gutter, sidewalk, LED street lights, 
signing and striping, and parkway landscaping. 
Any improvements within the Euclid Avenue 
Caltrans right-of-way will require Caltrans review 
and approval.

4.12 Infrastructure
The parcels within the boundary of this PUD 
shall be served by existing water lines and 
wastewater flows and/or upgraded to satisfy the 
required capacities as determined by the City 
and its service purveyors/agencies, including the 
Fire Department.

On-site stormwater drainage facilities shall be 
provided consistent with the San Bernardino 
County Stormwater Program’s Water Quality 
Management Plan (WQMP) requirements for new 
development projects. Stormwater capture and 
infiltration facilities may include the utilization 
of vegetated swales, depressed landscaped 
basins, pervious concrete pavement, and/or 
underground stormwater retention/infiltration 
vaults. 

The parcels within the boundary of this PUD are 
considered a Priority Land Use (PLU). A PLU 
shall comply with the statewide Trash Provisions 
adopted by the State Water Resources Control 
Board (SWRCB) and trash requirements in the 
most current San Bernardino County Area-Wide 
MS4 Permit.  Drainage from the PLU shall be 
designed with conveyance tributary to a Full 
Trash Capture System which has been approved 
by the SWRCB.

4. Bordering the Euclid Avenue frontage, a 
minimum 10 foot in depth planter area shall 
be provided between the public right-of-way 
and a parking space oriented perpendicular to 
the right-of-way. 

5. A minimum 20-foot deep planter area shall 
be provided at a driveway between any public 
right-of-way to the first parking space to allow 
for a minimum 20-foot drive aisle throat.

f. Street trees shall comply with the variety, 
size, and spacing as directed by the City of 
Ontario Master Street Tree Plan.

4.10 Fences and Walls
a. Fences and walls shall be an integral design 

or compatible with the building architecture 
and shall comply with the height and 
materials shown in Exhibit 5-6: Fence/Wall 
Concepts. 

b. Fences and walls may be setback zero 
feet from property lines except where 
such fence or wall is required to comply 
with Engineering Corner Sight Distance 
Standards and other applicable standards. 

c. Decorative walls, monuments, and/or other 
similar features shall not encroach into the 
public right-of-way.

Item D - 109 of 1893



32   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

4.13 Summary of Development Standards
Table 4-1: Summary of Development Standards provides the quantitative development standards set 
forth in previous Sections 4.1 through 4.12 and any additional requirements for development within 
this PUD.

Table 4-1: Summary of Development Standards
Development Standard Requirement Notes
Maximum Intensity - Floor Area Ratio 0.50 FAR Gross building square footage of 

commercial space

Density Range - Minimum and Maximum 20.1 - 40 Up to a maximum of 369 
dwelling units

Maximum Building Height by Number of 
Stories

Four Stories
Three Stories

60 ft.
50 ft.

Inclusive of architectural 
projections and equipment 
screening

Building Setbacks - From Right-of-Way 10 ft. minimum

Setbacks - Interior Property Line
Buildings Adjacent to Residential 
Buildings Adjacent to Non-Residential
Carport or Trash Enclosure

50 ft. minimum
5 ft. minimum
5 ft. minimum

Building Separation
Building to Building
Building to Drive Aisle or Parking Areas
Building to Carport
Patio to Patio

25 ft. minimum
5 ft. minimum

25 ft. minimum
15 ft. minimum

Individual driveway depth limited 
to 5 ft. or less, or 18 ft. or more

Minimum Number of Parking Spaces
Ratio for Residential Uses
Ratio for Non-Residential Uses

1.2 spaces/bedroom
1 space/250 sq. ft.

Inclusive of guest spaces

Residential Open Space and Common 
Amenities - Combined Minimum Ratio

Minimum Private Open Space Ratio
Minimum Common Amenity Ratio

250 sq. ft./du
50 sq. ft./du
175 sq. ft./du

5 ft. minimum width and length
15% maximum indoor

Residential Storage Units 150 cubic feet/du minimum Does not include closets or 
cabinets interior to the unit

Item D - 110 of 1893



This page was intentionally left blank.

Item D - 111 of 1893



34   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development
Item D - 112 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   35

Design Criteria

Design Criteria

New development implemented under this PUD 
will generate new uses and design aesthetics 
in a way that fulfills many of the design goals 
and policies discussed previously in Chapter 
2. The Community Design Element in TOP 
2050 outlines specific “Place Types”; this PUD 
is categorized under Place Type 8e, which 
is considered “Neighborhood Center – Infill” 
type development, where the commercial and 
residential parcels were largely developed 
in an incremental manner prior to 2020. 
Redevelopment could result in either horizontal 
or vertical mixed use and are envisioned to 
incorporate site design that prioritizes safe, 
attractive, and well-shaded pedestrian access 
from the public rights-of-way and adjacent 
neighborhoods.

5

Item D - 113 of 1893



36   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

The parcels within this PUD site do not contain 
significant buildings, structures, or locations 
subject to historic preservation. While the first 
phase of development retains an existing fast-
food restaurant structure, this building is not 
considered historic. The new infill development 
will include architecture that creates a dynamic 
visual environment and increases the pedestrian 
experience. The design criteria for the buildings 
provide articulation, dynamic materials and 
colors, and avoid bulky and monotonous 
elevations. Street trees and landscaped street-
facing setback areas will provide opportunities 
to frame the street, create a pleasant pedestrian 
pathway, and minimize the building bulk from the 
public right-of-way. 

The following sections provide guidance to 
City staff and private developers in the design 
of buildings, yards, and streets. Variations 
from strict interpretation of the standards 
are permitted, provided that the integrity of 
the urban design is not compromised. The 
following criteria shall be incorporated into the 
Development Plan for each phase of this PUD, 
subject to final interpretation by the Planning 
Commission.

5.1 Building Orientation
a. Buildings along Euclid Avenue shall provide 

storefronts that invite pedestrian activity.

b. Architectural focal treatments such as taller 
elements, textured surfaces, and unique 
fenestration shall be provided on frontage 
facing public streets.

c. Buildings located at the street corner shall 
be designed to incorporate architectural 
features that respond to the corner location 
by having directed entries and/or tower 
elements.

d. Multiple shop entrances and display 
windows with clear glazing, shall be 
provided along Euclid Avenue facades.

5.2 Access and Parking Facilities
a. Vehicular access and on-site parking shall 

be designed to reduce visual impact along 
Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street.

b. On-site parking facilities serving non-
residential uses shall be readily accessible, 
screened, and separated from the public 
right-of-way views with landscaping, 
including shade trees.

c. On-site parking facilities serving residential 
uses may be located behind gated ingress/
egress points. Gate access points from 
Euclid Avenue shall be set back to allow 
stacking of at least two vehicles, with 
sufficient space configured to allow a 
vehicle to turn around without backing into 
the street. The primary entry gate serving 
residential uses shall be designed to be 
easily recognizable to visitors.

d. Carports and individual garage entries 
shall be designed to be compatible with the 
building architecture and use similar colors, 
materials, and details. 

5.3 Service Facilities
a. Service, loading and, storage facilities 

shall be located away from public streets, 
outdoor spaces, and adjacent residential 
uses.

b. Electrical equipment shall be located on 
the interior of a building. When interior 
locations are not practical, electrical 
equipment shall be enclosed and screened 
from public streets with walls, fencing, and/
or landscaping that allows for sufficient 
ventilation, or buried in vaults.

c. Service areas shall be screened and gated.

d. All types of loading doors within view of 
public streets shall be screened with walls, 
berms, or plant materials.

Item D - 114 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   37

Design Criteria

5.4 Pedestrian Linkages
a. Pedestrian pathways shall be designed 

and located for clear and comfortable on-
site pedestrian circulation. Sidewalks and 
pedestrian paths shall provide convenient 
connections between storefronts, outdoor 
spaces, and parking, as well as portals to 
adjacent residential uses. 

b. Landscape paseos shall be used to reinforce 
pedestrian connections. For instance, 
attractive paving and planting design may 
identify and highlight these connections by 
establishing a visual separation between 
vehicular and pedestrian routes and provide 
passive open space opportunities for 
residents.

5.5 Architectural Character
a. The architectural character shall reflect 

the various styles within the City and 
along Euclid Avenue and shall fit in 
contextually without matching. The use 
of complementing proportions, building 
details, and building materials shall be 
employed.

b. Compatibility between the vertical and 
horizontal mixed-use architecture shall 
be achieved through the use of unifying 
elements such as similar materials and 
colors.

c. A schematic illustration of acceptable 
architectural character is shown in Exhibit 
5.1: Architectural Character - Vertical 
Mixed-Use, Exhibit 5-2: Architectural 
Character - Three Story Residential, and 
Exhibit 5-3: - Four Story Residential.

5.6 Massing & Scale
a. Simple, yet varied massing shall be used, 

with wall openings that create shadow line 
and provide visual relief. 

b. Massing and height of corner elements 
shall be emphasized by using strong and 
identifiable building forms such as taller 
building mass, tower element, or cupola.

c. Building increments shall employ various 
architectural devices such as changes in 
colors/finish material, horizontal breaks and 
offsets, upper building portion reflecting 
the same increment of articulation as the 
ground level, and use of trim and moldings 
at the top of facades that reflect the 
vertical massing of the building.

d. Where buildings will be of varying heights, 
they shall be designed to promote 
transition in massing and avoid abrupt 
changes in scale within the development.

5.7 Articulation & Fenestration
a. Buildings shall have three-dimensional 

qualities.

b. The base and upper levels of a vertical 
mixed use building shall be differentiated 
with features for storefronts such as a 
bulkhead, display windows, and/or transom 
and detailed trim.

c. Buildings shall be articulated on all sides. 
Fenestration, changes in wall plane, 
material, texture, color, etc. shall be used to 
create shadow lines and articulate building 
walls.

d. Highly visible public entrances shall be 
provided where buildings are oriented 
towards Euclid Avenue to provide individual 
shop entrances featuring recesses, 
overhangs, special materials, and/or 
detailing.

Item D - 115 of 1893



38   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

Exhibit 5-1: Architectural Character — Vertical Mixed-Use

Item D - 116 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   39

Design Criteria

Exhibit 5-2: Architectural Character — Three-Story Residential

Exhibit 5-3: Architectural Character — Four-Story Residential

Item D - 117 of 1893



40   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

5.8 Architectural Details
a. Architectural details shall be used to 

enhance a building’s appearance at the 
base, eaves, parapets, and around entries 
and windows.

b. Human-scaled details such as canopies and 
awnings, transparent windows and window 
displays shall be provided facing Euclid 
Avenue.

c. Architectural features and details shall be 
an integral part of the building without an 

appearance of being “tacked on.”

5.9 Storefronts
a. Storefronts for each commercial 

establishment shall have a unifying 
architectural aesthetic, but may include 
alteration of exterior treatments on the 
individual frontage of the space where 
such modifications compliment the overall 
design quality of the development.

b. Storefronts shall incorporate desirable 
building materials such as brick, stone, tile, 
exterior cement plaster, or fiber cement 
siding.

c. Storefront glazing shall be clear glass to 
permit clear views into the interior space. 
The amount of such glass shall provide a 
balance between high visibility into the 
store interior and architectural quality.

d. Entrance doors shall be of a traditional style 
and as transparent as possible.

5.10 Material & Colors
a. Materials shall be those of permanence 

and quality and that unify a building’s 
appearance on all sides.

b. Materials and colors shall accentuate the 
architectural details of the building and 
promote visual harmony. 

c. To create visual interest, at least three 
different building materials shall be used.

5.11 Roof/Rooftop Equipment
a. At least one break in roof plane shall be 

provided on each building

b. Rooftop equipment, including ladders and 
antenna devices, shall be screened so as 
not to be visible from streets and adjacent 
buildings. Methods of rooftop screening 
should be integral to the building’s form.

5.12 Non-Residential Outdoor Dining 
Areas

Outdoor dining areas adjacent to a ground-
level eating or drinking establishment shall be 
oriented toward Euclid Avenue.

5.13 Residential Outdoor Space, 
Common Recreational Amenities

a. Private balcony and/or patio enclosures 
shall consist of materials that are 
complementary to materials and colors 
used on the building elevations. Each 
balcony shall be oriented or enclosed 
sufficiently to increase privacy between 
balconies of adjacent units. 

b. Common outdoor spaces providing passive 
recreation shall include either shade 
elements and/or trees providing shade 
canopy. 

c. Indoor recreation/fitness/community 
facilities shall be of the same architectural 
style and materials that match or 
complement the primary building 
architecture with a layout as shown in 
Exhibit 5-4: Typical Common Recreational 
Amenity.

d. Outdoor seating, tables and umbrellas, 
gazebos, barbecues, natural or artificial 
lawn area, and/or other place-making 
features that are provided shall be 
compatible with the architectural style of 
the buildings with a layout as shown in 
Exhibit 5-5: Typical Courtyard.

Item D - 118 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   41

Design Criteria

Exhibit 5-4: Typical Common Recreational Amenity

Exhibit 5-5: Typical Courtyard

Item D - 119 of 1893



42   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

5.14 Landscape / Hardscape Elements
a. Landscaping elements shall contribute and complement the aesthetic quality and character of 

the public and private spaces. 

b. Table 5-1: Master Plant Palette shall guide the selection of materials for street trees, perimeter 
trees and shrubs, courtyard and common area trees, vines, screening and hedge plants, and 
groundcover. 

c. Landscaping shall be provided to define and enrich courtyards and walkways and shall include 
specimen trees of minimum size 24 inch box. 

d. Hardscaping shall be composed of decorative paving materials and patterns, rather than a 
single, continuous surface. 

e. Fences/walls shall complement the building materials similar to those depicted in Exhibit 5-6: 
Fence/Wall Concepts.

Table 5-1: Master Plant Palette
Botanical Name Common Name Minimum Size

Street Trees
Grevillea robusta Silk Oak (Euclid) 24” Box

Platanus wrightii Arizona Sycamore

Site Trees and Palms
Quercus agrifolia Coast Live Oak 48” Box

Platanus racemosa California Sycamore

Ulmus parvifolia 'True Green' Evergreen Elm

Koelreuteria paniculata Golden Rain Tree 36” Box

Lagerstroemia hybrids 'Muskogee' Crape Myrtle (Lavender)

Chilopsis linearis Desert Willow

Aloe bainesii Tree Aloe 24” Box

Arbutus ‘Marina’ Strawberry Tree

Cercis occidentalis Western Redbud

Platanus acerifolia 'Bloodgood' London Plane Tree (anthracnose 
res.)

Podocarpus gracilior Fern Pine

Quercus wislizeni Interior Live Oak

Tristania conferta Brisbane Box

Phoenix dactylifera Date Palm 16’ Brown Trunk 
Height

Item D - 120 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   43

Design Criteria

Table 5-1: Master Plant Palette
Botanical Name Common Name Minimum Size

Shrubs
Agave 'Blue Flame' Blue Flame Agave 5 Gallon

Agave desmettiana ' Variegata' Variegated Dwarf Century Plant

Alyogne huegelii 'MONleon' Leon's Purple Delight Lilac Hibiscus

Arbutus unedo 'Elfin King' Elfin King Strawberry King

Buxus microphylla japonica Japanese Boxwood 1 Gallon

Calandrinia spectabilis Rock Purslane

Carex tumulicola Foothill Sedge

Carissa grandiflora 'Green Carpet' Natal Plum

Dianella revoluta 'DR5000' Little Rev Flax Lily

Dianella tasmanica 'Silver Streak' Silver Streak Flax Lily

Ilex crenata 'Sky Pencil' Sky Pencil Ilex 5 Gallon

Juniperus scopulorum 'Skyrocket' Skyrocket Juniper

Lantana montevedensis 'Monma' White Lightin' Lantana 1 Gallon

Ligustrum japonicum 'Texanum' Wax Leaf Privet 5 Gallon

Lomandra longifolia 'LM300' Breeze Dwarf Mat Rush

Muhlenbergia capillaris 'Regal Mist' Regal Mist Muhly

Myoporum parvifolium No Common Name 1 Gallon

Philodendron x 'Xanadu' Dwarf Philodendron 5 Gallon

Pittosporum tobira Tobira

Podocarpus elongatus 'Monmal' Icee Blue Yellow-Wood

Prunus caroliniana 'Bright n' Tight' Carolina Cherry

Rhaphiolepis indica 'Clara' Dwarf Indian Hawthorne

Rhaphiolepis x. 'Montic' Majestic Beauty Indian Hawthorne

Rosa 'Flower Carpet var. Noatraum' Pink Carpet Rose 2 Gallon

Rosa f. 'Ice Berg' White Shrub Rose 5 Gallon

Trachelospermum asiaticum Asian Jasmine 1 Gallon

Vines and Espaliers
Clytostoma callistegioides Violet Trumpet Vine 5 Gallon

Distictus buccinatoria Blood Red Trumpet Vine

Ficus pumila (repens) Creeping Fig 1 Gallon

Parthenocissus tricuspidata Boston Ivy

Item D - 121 of 1893



44   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

Exhibit 5-6: Fence/Wall Concepts

Item D - 122 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   45

Design Criteria

Item D - 123 of 1893



46   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development
Item D - 124 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development        |   47

Administration

6Administration

6.1 Items Not Addressed in PUD
Any terms not defined herein and any issues 
affecting the design and development of the 
subject project area not specifically addressed in 
this PUD shall be governed by the provisions of 
the ODC.

Item D - 125 of 1893



48   |        Euclid/Walnut Planned Unit Development

6.2 Development Plan and Other 
Applications
A Development Plan shall be submitted 
for each phase of this PUD for approval by 
the Development Advisory Board and the 
Ontario Planning Commission, pursuant to the 
requirements and procedures outlined in the 
ODC. 

To ensure proper implementation of the EA 
Overlay district, an application for a Certificate 
of Appropriateness shall be submitted in 
conjunction with the Development Plan required 
for each phase of this PUD, pursuant to all 
requirements and procedures outlined in the 
ODC. 

Lot line adjustments or the combining of 
parcels within this PUD shall comply with all 
requirements and procedures outlined in the 
ODC. Such actions may be conditioned for 
compliance as part of the Development Plan 
approval process. 

6.3 Administrative Exceptions
Deviation from the development standards 
set forth in this PUD may be granted up 
to a maximum of 10 percent by the Zoning 
Administrator. Any deviation that is greater 
than 10 percent shall require Variance approval 
pursuant to the requirements and procedures 
outlined in the ODC.

Item D - 126 of 1893



This page was intentionally left blank.

Item D - 127 of 1893



Item D - 128 of 1893



Euclid / Walnut Mixed Use 

Planned Unit Development Project 

Health Risk Assessment Report 
(Per Ontario Development Code Table 6.10-3) 

June 26, 2023 

Prepared for: 

Legacy Partners 
5141 California Avenue, Ste. 100 

Irvine, CA 92617 

Prepared by: 

MIG, Inc. 
1650 Spruce Street, Ste. 106 

Riverside, CA 92507 

Addendum Appendix B

Item D - 129 of 1893



This document is formatted for double-sided printing to conserve natural resources. 

 

Item D - 130 of 1893



Table of Contents Page i 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Table of Contents 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................................................................................ I 
1 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................................. 1 

1.1 Report Organization ........................................................................................................................ 1 
2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK ........................................................................................................ 2-1 

2.1 United States Environmental Protection Agency .......................................................................... 2-1 
2.1.1 Federal Clean Air Act .................................................................................................... 2-1 

2.2 California Air Resources Board .................................................................................................... 2-1 
2.2.1 California Clean Air Act ................................................................................................. 2-1 

2.3 South Coast Air Quality Management District .............................................................................. 2-1 
3 PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING ...................................................... 3-1 

3.1 Project Location and Surrounding Land Uses .............................................................................. 3-1 
3.2 Proposed Development and Phasing ........................................................................................... 3-1 

3.2.1 Phase 1 PUD Development: Legacy Partners ............................................................... 3-1 
3.2.2 Phase 2 PUD Development .......................................................................................... 3-2 

3.3 Sources of Air Toxics in Proximity of the Project Site................................................................... 3-2 
3.3.1 Mobile Source Air Toxics ............................................................................................... 3-2 

3.4 Meteorology and Wind Conditions at the Project Site .................................................................. 3-2 
4 ANALYSIS METHODOLOGY .......................................................................................................... 4-1 

4.1 Mobile Source Emissions ............................................................................................................. 4-1 
4.1.1 Traffic Volumes, Time of Day Splits, and Traffic Speeds .............................................. 4-1 
4.1.2 Mobile Source Emissions and Emissions Rates ............................................................ 4-3 

4.2 AERMOD Dispersion Modeling .................................................................................................... 4-4 
4.2.1 Modeled Sources and Emissions Rates ........................................................................ 4-4 
4.2.2 Meteorological Data Inputs ............................................................................................ 4-5 
4.2.3 Terrain Inputs ................................................................................................................ 4-7 
4.2.4 Modeled Receptors ....................................................................................................... 4-7 

4.3 Health Risk Assessment Methodology ......................................................................................... 4-7 
4.3.1 Mobile Source Health Risk Assessment Methodology .................................................. 4-8 

5 HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT RESULTS ...................................................................................... 5-1 
5.1 Thresholds of Significance ........................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.2 Estimated Health Risks ................................................................................................................ 5-1 

6 REPORT PREPARERS AND REFERENCES .................................................................................. 6-1 
6.1 References................................................................................................................................... 6-1 

 

  

Item D - 131 of 1893



Page ii Table of Contents 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

List of Tables 

Table 4-1. AERMOD Source Parameters ................................................................................................... 4-5 
Table 4-2. Project Receptor Grid Details .................................................................................................... 4-7 
Table 4-3. MSAT Cancer Potency Factors and Reference Exposure Levels ............................................. 4-9 
Table 4-4. Weighted CPFs and RELs for TOG Running (Exhaust) Emissions ......................................... 4-11 
Table 4-5. Weighted CPFs and RELs for TOG Running Loss (Evaporative) Emissions ........................... 4-11 
Table 5-1: SCAQMD Health Risk Thresholds ............................................................................................. 5-1 
Table 5-2: Risks at MEI from Single and Cumulative Sources.................................................................... 5-2 

 
 

List of Figures 

Figure 3-1 Site Aerial .................................................................................................................................. 3-4 
Figure 3-2 Site Plan .................................................................................................................................... 3-5 
Figure 3-3 Wind Rose for Ontario International Airport (2012 to 2016) (Blowing From) ............................. 3-6 
Figure 4-1 Modeled Emission Sources ....................................................................................................... 4-6 
Figure 5-1 Total Annual Average TOG Exhaust Concentrations (µg/m3) ................................................... 5-3 
Figure 5-2 Total Annual Average TOG Evaporative Concentrations (µg/m3) ............................................. 5-4 
Figure 5-3 Total Annual Average DPM Exhaust Concentrations (µg/m3) ................................................... 5-5 

 
 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Traffic Volumes and Mobile Source Emissions Quantification for AERMOD 
Appendix B: AERMOD Output 
Appendix C: Cancer and Non-Cancer Risk Values and Health Risk Calculations 
 
  

Item D - 132 of 1893



Table of Contents Page iii 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

List of Acronyms, Abbreviations, and Symbols 

Acronym / Abbreviation Full Phrase or Description 

AADT Annual Average Daily Traffic 

AERMOD American Meteorological Society/Environmental Protection Agency 
Regulatory Model 

ASF Age Sensitivity Factor 
Benzo[a]pyrene  B[a]P 
BR Breathing Rate 
BW Body Weight 
CAA Federal Clean Air Act 
CAIR Concentration of TAC in air (µg/m3) 
Cal-EPA California Environmental Protection Agency 
CARB California Air Resources Board 
CPF Cancer Potency Factor 
CPFMSAT Cancer Potency Factor for MSAT Inhalant  
CPFW Weighted Cancer Potency Factor  
CT-EMFAC2017 Caltrans Version of EMFAC 
DOSEAIR Daily Inhalation Dose 
DPM Diesel Particulate Matter 
D Distance of roadway segment (mi) 
ED Exposure Duration 
EFR Running emissions factor, based on speed bin (g/veh-mile) 
EFRL Running loss emissions factor (g/veh-hour) 
ER.HR Running emissions (g-hr) 
ERL.HR Running loss emissions (g-hr) 
EMFAC CARB's Emissions Factor Database 
FAH Fraction at Home 
g/s Grams per second 
HVAC Heating ventilation and air conditioning 
kg Kilogram 
L Liters 
MEI Maximally Exposed Individual 
MERV Minimum Efficiency Rating Value  
MPH Miles per Hour 
MSAT Mobile Source Air Toxic 

Item D - 133 of 1893



Page iv Table of Contents 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

List of Acronyms, Abbreviations, and Symbols 

Acronym / Abbreviation Full Phrase or Description 

MSATR Ratio of MSAT to TOG  
NED National Elevation Dataset 
OEHHA California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment 
PeMS Caltrans Performance Measurement System  
POM Polycyclic Organic Material 
REL Reference Exposure Level 
RELMSAT REL for MSAT Inhalant 
Report Health Risk Assessment Report 
SCAQMD South Coast Air Quality Management District 
SR State Route 
TAC Toxic Air Contaminants 
TOG Total Organic Gas 
U.S. EPA United State Environmental Protection Agency 
UTM Universal Transverse Mercator, 
VMT Vehicle Miles Traveled 
VOLHR Vehicle Volume per hour (veh-hr) 
μm Micron 

 

Item D - 134 of 1893



Page S-I 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This Health Risk Assessment Report (Report) evaluates and documents the potential health risk 
impacts that could be posed to the receptors of the proposed Euclid / Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit 
Development Project (Project) from existing sources of mobile source toxic air pollution along State Route 
60 (SR 60), located approximately 665 feet north of the Planned Unit Development’s (PUD) northernmost 
boundary. The Project is located at the northwest corner of Euclid Avenue / Walnut Street intersection in 
the City of Ontario, California 91761 and would accommodate up to 369 dwelling units and 12,000 square 
feet of retail space upon buildout on 10.6 acres. 

The Project includes multifamily residential development, and the City of Ontario (City) has 
determined the Project is subject to the requirements identified in Ontario Development Code Table 6.01-3: 
Multiple-Family Residential Development Standards, which requires multiple-family development projects 
located within proximity of a freeway (as determined by the City’s Zoning Administrator) to prepare a health 
risk assessment. This Report evaluates the potential risks posed by toxic air pollution, consistent with 
guidance and methodology documents maintained by United States Environmental Protection Agency 
(U.S. EPA), Office of Environmental Health and Hazard Assessment (OEHHA), and South Coast Air 
Quality Management District (SCAQMD), and outlines measures, if necessary, that would reduce risks 
below SCAQMD thresholds.   

S.1 PROPOSED PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The Project is a PUD that would accommodate up to 369 multi-family dwelling units and 12,000 
square feet of retail space upon buildout. The 10.6-acre site is located at the northwest corner of Euclid 
Avenue / Walnut Street intersection, and the Project’s northern boundary is approximately 665 feet south of 
SR 60. The Project would be constructed in at least two phases. Phase 1, the details for which are currently 
known, would provide 346 multi-family dwelling units in three- and four-story buildings, with 5,400 square 
feet of ground floor retail space within the four-story building fronting Euclid Avenue. Phase 1 construction 
activities would develop 9.4 acres of the Project site, excluding the southeast corner of the Project site. The 
southeast corner of the Project site is currently developed with a Carl’s Jr. and may be developed in the 
future as Phase 2 of the Project. Phase 2 would accommodate the remaining 23 multi-family residential 
units and up to an additional 6,600 square feet of ground-floor retail space. The first phase of the Project is 
slated to become operational in 2025. 

S.2 HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT RESULTS 

A health risk assessment (HRA) was prepared to evaluate potential cancerogenic and non-
cancerogenic health effects that could result from receptor exposure to toxic air contaminant (TAC) 
concentrations at the Project site. The HRA was prepared in accordance with applicable guidelines from 
the U.S. EPA, the SCAQMD, and OEHHA. Roadway traffic volumes in proximity of the Project site were 
obtained from Caltrans. Mobile Source Air Toxic (MSAT) emissions were estimated using these traffic 
volumes and emission factors derived from the Caltrans version of the California Air Resources Board 
(CARB) Emissions Factor Database (CT-EMFAC2017).1 The U.S. EPA- and SCAQMD-approved American 

 

1 The nine priority MSATs included in the HRA are: 1,3-Butadiene, Acetaldehyde, Acrolein, Benzene, Diesel Particulate 
Matter (DPM), Ethylbenzene, Formaldehyde, Naphthalene, Polycyclic Organic Matter (POM). 

Item D - 135 of 1893



Page II Executive Summary 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Meteorological Society/Environmental Protection Agency Regulatory Model (AERMOD, V. 21112) was 
used to predict pollutant concentrations at the Project site. The AERMOD dispersion model simulates the 
dispersion of pollutant emissions and estimates concentrations of pollutants at specified receptor locations. 

The results of the modeling indicate that the Maximally Exposed Individual (MEI) for cancer risk 
would be located in the northeastern corner of the northeaster building of Phase 1 (i.e., the building with 
retail space on the ground floor) and have a cancer risk of 7.0 excess cancers per million, which would be 
below the SCAQMD’s cancer risk threshold of 10.0 excess cancers per million. This cancer risk estimate 
accounts for Project compliance with Section 120.1(b)(1)(C) of the 2019 Title 24 Building Code, which 
requires that high-density residential buildings be constructed with HVAC system air filters that meet a 
designated efficiency equal to Minimum Efficiency Rating Value (MERV) 13 standards. The MERV 13 filters 
would be capable of removing approximately 90 percent of diesel particulate emissions from SR 60. 
Chronic and acute non-cancer risks for receptors at the site would also be below the SCAQMD non-cancer 
risk thresholds of 1.0. Cancer and non-cancer risks for Phase 2 receptors would be lower, because these 
receptors are further from SR 60 and would be exposed to lower pollutant concentrations. 

As described above, cancer and non-cancer risks would not exceed thresholds and no mitigation 
or further abatement of air toxic concentrations is required. Compliance with standard building code 
requirements would be sufficient to reduce potential risks below SCAQMD thresholds. 

 

Item D - 136 of 1893



 Page 1-1 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

1 INTRODUCTION 

This Health Risk Assessment Report (Report) has been developed for the proposed Euclid / 
Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project (Project) located at the northwest corner of Euclid 
Avenue / Walnut Street intersection in the City of Ontario, California 91761. The Project would 
accommodate up to 369 multi-family dwellings and approximately 12,000 square feet of retail space upon 
buildout on 10.6 acres. 

 The Project would consist of a two-phased Planned Unit Development (PUD). Phase 1 would 
involve constructing 346 multi-family dwelling units and approximately 5,400 square feet of ground-floor 
retail space. Development details associated with Phase 1 are currently known and Legacy Partners is 
proposing to develop this portion of the Project. It is anticipated that this portion of the PUD, which 
comprises 9.4 acres, would become operational in 2025. Phase 2 would consist of an additional 23 multi-
family residential units and up to an additional 6,600 square feet of retail space. This area would be located 
in the southwestern portion of the site. Further planning details for Phase 2 are not currently known at this 
time, but it is anticipated that this portion of the PUD would not be developed for another 15 years. 

The 10.6-acre Project site is located approximately 665 feet south of State Route (SR 60). The 
operation of mobile sources (i.e., cars and trucks) along this roadway produce emissions from fuel 
combustion (i.e., exhaust) and evaporation, and some of these emissions are known Toxic Air 
Contaminants (TACs), as defined by the California Air Resources Board (CARB), that could affect the 
health and safety of Project occupants and visitors to the site. The City of Ontario Development Code Table 
6.01-3: Multiple-Family Residential Development Standards requires multiple-family development projects 
located in proximity of a freeway (as determined by the City’s Zoning Administrator) to prepare a health risk 
assessment. This Report evaluates potential risks from mobile sources on SR 60, consistent with risk 
assessment procedures maintained by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA), 
Office of Environmental Health and Hazard Assessment (OEHHA), and South Coast Air Quality 
Management District (SCAQMD). 

1.1 REPORT ORGANIZATION 

This Report is organized as follows: 
• Chapter 1, Introduction, explains the contents of this Report and its intended use. 
• Chapter 2, Regulatory Framework, provides pertinent background information on the federal, 

state, and local entities that regulate air quality conditions at and near the Project site. 
• Chapter 3, Project Description and Environmental Setting, provides pertinent information 

on the design and operating characteristics of the Project, as well as meteorological conditions 
and sources of toxic air pollution in proximity of the Project site.  

• Chapter 4, Health Risk Assessment Methodology, discloses the methodology used to 
estimate the emissions of mobile sources in proximity of the Project site and the potential risks 
they could pose to future Project receptors. 

• Chapter 5, Health Risk Assessment Results, describes the criteria used to evaluate 
potential health risks, the results of the health risk assessment prepared for the Project, and 
any potential measures necessary reduce risks below the applied thresholds. 

• Chapter 6, Report Preparers and References, lists the individuals involved, and the 
references used, in the preparation of this Report. 

Item D - 137 of 1893



Page 1-2 Introduction 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

Item D - 138 of 1893



Page 2-1 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

2 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

This Report has been prepared to satisfy Ontario Development Code Table 6.01-3: Multiple-Family 
Residential Development Standards, which requires multiple-family development projects located in 
proximity of a freeway (as determined by the City’s Zoning Administrator) to prepare a health risk 
assessment. 

The following provides an overview of the federal, state, and local regulatory entities that oversee and 
regulate air quality emissions in proximity of the Project site. 

2.1 UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 

2.1.1 Federal Clean Air Act 

The Federal Clean Air Act (CAA) defines the United States Environmental Protection Agency’s 
(U.S. EPA) responsibilities for protecting and improving the United States air quality and ozone layer. Key 
components of the CAA include reducing ambient concentrations of air pollutants that cause health and 
aesthetic problems, reducing emission of toxic air pollutants, and stopping production and use of chemicals 
that destroy the ozone. 

2.2 CALIFORNIA AIR RESOURCES BOARD 

2.2.1 California Clean Air Act 

In addition to being subject to Federal requirements, air quality in the State is also governed by 
more stringent regulations under the California Clean Air Act, which was enacted in 1988 to develop plans 
and strategies for attaining the California Ambient Air Quality Standards. The California Air Resources 
Board (CARB), which is part of the California Environmental Protection Agency (Cal-EPA), develops 
Statewide air quality regulations, including industry-specific limits on criteria, toxic, and nuisance pollutants. 

In California, both the Federal and State Clean Air Acts are administered by CARB. It sets all air 
quality standards including emission standards for vehicles, fuels, and consumer goods as well as monitors 
air quality and sets control measures for toxic air contaminants. CARB oversees the functions of local air 
pollution control districts and air quality management districts, which in turn administer air quality activities 
at the regional level. 

2.3 SOUTH COAST AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT 

The SCAQMD is the agency primarily responsible for maintaining air quality and regulating 
emissions of criteria and toxic air pollutants within the South Coast Air Basin (Basin).2 The SCAQMD 
carries out this responsibility by preparing, adopting, and implementing plans, regulations, and rules that 
are designed to achieve attainment of state and national air quality standards.  

 

 
2 the South Coast Air Basin (Basin) which includes Orange County and the non-desert portions of Los Angeles, San 

Bernardino, and Riverside counties. The Basin encompasses approximately 6,745 square miles of coastal plains and is bounded 
by the San Gabriel, San Bernardino, and San Jacinto Mountains to the north and east. 

Item D - 139 of 1893



Item D - 140 of 1893



   Page 3-1 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

3 PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 

The proposed Project consists of a Planned Unit Development (PUD) that would accommodate up 
to 369 multi-family dwelling units and 12,000 square feet of retail space in the City of Ontario, California 
91761. The Project is located at the northwest corner of Euclid Avenue / Walnut Street intersection and 
would be constructed in two phases, with most development occurring in Phase 1. 

3.1 PROJECT LOCATION AND SURROUNDING LAND USES 

The 10.6-acre rectangular Project site is located at the northwest corner of Euclid Avenue / Walnut 
Street intersection in the City of Ontario, California 91761 (see Figure 3-1 for Project location). The site 
consists of three parcels (Assessor Parcel Numbers 041018133, 041018134, and 041018135), and is 
primarily developed as a surface parking lot that once served a commercial shopping center anchored by 
K-Mart (located on the western portion of the Project site), a nail salon and toy store (located in the 
northeastern portion of the Project site), and Carl’s Jr. (located in the southeastern corners of the Project 
site). 

The Project site is surrounded by a preschool, residential land uses, and retail and commercial 
office land uses. These include: 

• North of the Project Site: The “Monty’s Montessori Academy of Ontario” preschool and single-
family and multi-family residential land uses 

• Northwest of the Project Site: Multi-family residential land uses at the “Belcourt Apartments” 
apartment complex 

• West of the Project Site: Various commercial and retail office land uses 
• South of the Project Site: Across Walnut Street, single family residential land uses 
• East of the Project Site: Across Euclid Avenue, various commercial amenities such as “7-

Eleven”, “Victor’s Cleaners and Laundry”, “N8’s Billiards” and then single-family residential land 
uses further to the east beyond the aforementioned non-residential land uses 

3.2 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AND PHASING 

As mentioned above the Project would be comprised of two phases totaling 369 multi-family 
dwelling units and up to 12,000 square feet of retail space. Legacy Partners (Legacy) is proposing to 
construct Phase 1 of the Project, which would consist of 346 multi-family dwelling units and 5,400 square 
feet of ground floor retail space on approximately 9.4 acres of land in the northeast, northwest, and 
southwest portions of the Project site (see Figure 3-2). Phase 2 would consist of an additional 23 multi-
family dwelling units and up to an additional 6,600 square feet of retail space constructed on the remaining 
approximately 1.2 acres of land located in the southeastern portion of the site. Specific details regarding 
Phase 2 development are currently unknown at this time. 

3.2.1 Phase 1 PUD Development: Legacy Partners 

Phase 1 would consist of two, four-story apartment buildings with tuck under garages, one of which 
would have approximately 5,400 square feet of ground-floor retail space, and six, three-story apartment 
buildings with tuck under garages, carports, and surface parking. The four-story building with ground floor 
retail space would be located in the northeastern portion of the site. In addition to the 5,400 square feet of 
retail space, the ground floor of this building would include a mail/parcel facility area, leasing office space, 

Item D - 141 of 1893



Page 3-2 Project Description and Environmental Setting 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

pool court and fitness area, club open space, and sports lounge, while the upper floors would be comprised 
of residential units. A dog park would be located to north of this building. Three (3), three-story multi-family 
buildings would be located west of the ground-floor retail space building (i.e., in the northwestern corner of 
the Project site) and be oriented in a north-south direction. Three (3) additional three-story multi-family 
buildings, also oriented in a north-south direction, would be constructed in the southwest corner of the 
Project site. Finally, a four-story “C” shaped multi-family residential building would be constructed in the 
southeastern portion of the Phase 1 area and adjacent to the Phase 2 area. Each residential dwelling unit 
would have window(s) and/or a balcony that would provide their unit with access to outdoor air. 

3.2.2 Phase 2 PUD Development 

Phase 2 would involve the construction and operation of up to an additional 23 multi-family dwelling 
units and up to an additional 6,600 square feet of retail space. It is anticipated that Phase 2 of the PUD 
would not occur for approximately 15 more years. No additional project-specific details associated with 
Phase 2 are known at this time. 

3.3 SOURCES OF AIR TOXICS IN PROXIMITY OF THE PROJECT SITE 

The Project site is located within 700 feet of SR 60. Vehicles traveling along this freeway produce 
pollutants designated by CARB as TACs. TACs are pollutants that are known, or suspected, to cause 
cancer or other serious health effects.  

3.3.1 Mobile Source Air Toxics 

Operation of fossil-fueled motor vehicles, such as those operating in proximity of the Project site, 
produce emissions through fuel combustion. Mobile Source Air Toxics (MSATs) are a subset of TACs that 
are emitted by mobile sources (i.e., cars and trucks). There are nine priority MSATs, which include: 1,3-
Butadiene, Acetaldehyde, Acrolein, Benzene, Diesel Particulate Matter (DPM), Ethylbenzene, 
Formaldehyde, Naphthalene, Polycyclic Organic Matter (POM). These MSATs (excluding DPM) are a 
fraction of the Total Organic Gas (TOG) emissions from the motor vehicles. 

3.4 METEOROLOGY AND WIND CONDITIONS AT THE PROJECT SITE 

Southwestern San Bernardino County and the broader South Coast Air Basin (Basin) are defined 
by a semi-arid, Mediterranean climate with mild winters and warm summers. The San Gabriel, San 
Bernardino, and San Jacinto Mountains bound the Basin to the north and east trap ambient air and 
pollutants within the Los Angeles and Inland Empire valleys below. The climate of the greater Los Angeles 
region is classified as Mediterranean, but weather conditions within the Basin are dependent on local 
topography and proximity to the Pacific Ocean. The climate is dominated by the Pacific high-pressure 
system that results in generally mild, dry summers and mild, wet winters. This temperate climate is 
occasionally interrupted by extremely hot temperatures during the summer, Santa Ana winds during the fall, 
and storms from the Pacific northwest during the winter. In addition to the basin’s topography and 
geographic location, El Niño and La Niña patterns also have large effects on weather and rainfall received 
between November and March.  

The Pacific high-pressure system drives the prevailing winds in the Basin. The winds tend to blow 
onshore in the daytime and offshore at night. In the summer, an inversion layer is created over the coastal 
areas and increases ozone levels. A temperature inversion is created when a layer of cool air is overlain by 
a layer of warmer air; this can occur over coastal areas when cool, dense air that originates over the ocean 
is blown onto land and flows underneath the warmer, drier air that is present over land. In the winter, areas 

Item D - 142 of 1893



Project Description and Environmental Setting  Page 3-3 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

throughout the Basin often experience a shallow inversion layer that prevents the dispersion of surface 
level air pollutants, resulting in higher concentrations of criteria air pollutants such as CO and NOX. 

Temperatures near the Project site range from a high of 92 degrees Fahrenheit (F) in July and August 
to a low of 40 degrees Fahrenheit in January. Annual precipitation is approximately 20 inches, falling mostly 
from November through March (WRCC, 1980). 

The SCAQMD maintains publicly meteorological data for use in air quality analyses. The Project 
site is approximately 2.5 miles southwest of Ontario International Airport. As shown in Figure 3-3, the 
prevailing wind at Ontario International Airport is generally from the west-southwest, indicating the 
prevailing wind at the Project site is also likely from the west-southwest. 

 
  

Item D - 143 of 1893



Page 3-4 Project Description and Environmental Setting 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Figure 3-1 Site Aerial 

 
  

Item D - 144 of 1893



Project Description and Environmental Setting  Page 3-5 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Figure 3-2 Site Plan 

 
Source: Legacy Partners, 2022 

 
  

Item D - 145 of 1893



Page 3-6 Project Description and Environmental Setting 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Figure 3-3 Wind Rose for Ontario International Airport (2012 to 2016) (Blowing From) 

 
Source: SCAQMD 2017 

 

Item D - 146 of 1893



Page 4-1 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

4 ANALYSIS METHODOLOGY 

This Chapter describes the methodology utilized to estimate emissions, conduct dispersion 
modeling, and assess potential cancer and non-cancer risks at the Project site.  

4.1 MOBILE SOURCE EMISSIONS 

Mobile source emissions were estimated for freeways (including freeway on- and off-ramps) based 
hourly vehicle flow by type of pollutant. 

4.1.1 Traffic Volumes, Time of Day Splits, and Traffic Speeds  

Mobile source emissions were estimated for freeways and (including freeway on- and off-ramps) 
based on hourly vehicle flows. These pieces of information were obtained from several Caltrans sources. 
Specifically, the roadway segments evaluated include: 

• State Route 60 (Eastbound and Westbound) 
• State Route 60 Westbound On-Ramp from Euclid Avenue 
• State Route 60 Eastbound Off-Ramp from Euclid Avenue 
• State Route 60 Eastbound On-Ramp from Euclid Avenue 
• State Route 60 Westbound On-Ramp from Euclid Avenue 
See Appendix A for all details related to traffic volumes, time of day splits, and traffic speeds for the 

various roadway segments. 

Traffic Volumes 
Traffic volumes for the roadway segments evaluated were obtained from the following sources. 

The Project is anticipated to become operational in 2025. Traffic volumes were scaled up by one percent 
each year to derive 2025 volumes from prior years.3 

• State Route 60 traffic volumes (for all vehicles and trucks) were obtained from the Caltrans 
Traffic Census Program, which provided Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) on the California 
Highway System in 2019.4 All traffic vehicle volumes were split evenly between Eastbound and 
Westbound SR 60 (Caltrans, 2022a). 

o All Vehicles. The AADT values for three Caltrans “breakpoints” were evaluated to 
determine the traffic volume on SR 60 north of the Project site; these three 
breakpoints were: Mountain Avenue; Ontario, Jct. Rte. 83; and Grove Avenue. The 
AADT values between Mountain Avenue and the SR 60 / SR 83 junction were 
marginally higher than the AADT values between SR 83 and Grove Avenue (i.e., 
approximately 0.2%) and therefore were applied to the entirety of the portion of SR 
60 modeled.  

 
3 For example, if the data sourced is from 2020, the traffic volume for that year would be scaled up by one percent for 

five years (i.e., approximately a five percent increase). 
4 The 2019 calendar year was selected as the base year for scaling, because it predates the COVID-19 pandemic and 

is considered to be a better reference for what traffic levels may look like in the future, compared to those of recent years that 
have been affected by the COVI-19 pandemic. 

Item D - 147 of 1893



Page 4-2 Analysis Methodology 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

o Trucks. The AADT values on SR 60 east of and west of the SR 60 / SR 83 
junction were averaged to derive the proportion truck traffic volume on SR 60 
adjacent to the Project site.5 

• State Route 60 on- and off-ramp volumes for Euclid Avenue (all vehicles) were calculated 
using the same process as that described for the SR 60 volumes. The ramp segments utilized 
from the Caltrans data were “WB on from Euclid/83,” “EB off to Euclid/83,” “EB on from 
Euclid/83,” and “WB Off to Euclid Ave” (Caltrans 2022a). 

Time of Day Split 
Time of day traffic volume splits were developed for each of the roadway segments utilizing the 

Caltrans Performance Measurement System (PeMS), which collects data from approximately 40,000 
individual detectors spanning the freeway system across all major metropolitan areas of California. Data 
was obtained for the entire 2019 calendar year6 for all vehicles and trucks and then summed for each hour 
to develop the time-of-day splits for the two vehicle categories (Caltrans 2022b).7 The SR 60 Eastbound 
data were obtained from the “Mainline VDS 801356 - EUCLID” segment and the SR 60 Westbound data 
were obtained from the “Mainline VDS 801355 - EUCLID” segment. 

The average daily traffic volumes were multiplied through by the time-of-day splits to derive vehicle 
and truck volumes for each hour of the day. 

Vehicle Speeds 
The rate at which vehicles generate exhaust emissions is in part dependent on the speed at which 

it travels. The following describes the way vehicle speeds were assigned to the various roadway segments.  
• State Route 60 vehicle speeds were derived using the Caltrans PeMS data source. Speed 

averages were taken for each hour across the entire year and then down up to the nearest 
factor of five (e.g., if the average speed was 67 miles per hour, it was rounded down to 65 
miles per hour). The PeMS data source does not distinguish speed by all vehicles and trucks. 
Therefore, truck speeds were limited to a maximum of 55 miles per hour, which is the speed 
limit for vehicles towing a trailer. See Appendix A for a breakdown of hourly speeds for vehicles 
traveling on SR 60. 

• State Route 60 on- and off-ramp vehicle speeds were assumed to be 45 and 5 miles per hour, 
respectively, on a consistent basis. 

 
5 The AADT for trucks was estimated to provide the Caltrans version of the CARB Emissions Factor Database (CT-

EMFAC) with an input. The CT-EMFAC model is described further on in this section. The truck AADT was not used for any other 
purpose. 

6 The 2019 calendar year was selected for vehicle/truck AADT values, because it precedes the COVID-19 pandemic 
and provides a better representation of how travel behaviors between all vehicles and trucks are anticipated to be in the future.  

7 These two sets of splits were developed because vehicles that emit DPM typically have different travel patterns than 
passenger vehicles and therefore the emissions from these vehicles disperse differently (i.e., peak hour volumes for passenger 
vehicles differ from those of trucks and therefore the peak hour emissions for the two types of vehicles would be subject to 
differing meteorological conditions). 

Item D - 148 of 1893



Analysis Methodology  Page 4-3 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

4.1.2 Mobile Source Emissions and Emissions Rates 

The traffic roadways volumes, time of day splits, and vehicle speed derived using the methodology 
described in Section 4.1.1 were utilized in conjunction with emissions factors derived from Caltrans version 
of EMFAC2017, also known as CT-EMFAC2017, to estimate emissions generated by mobile sources in 
proximity of the Project site. CT-EMFAC2017 provides running (exhaust) and running loss (evaporative) 
emission factors for mobile source criteria air pollutants, including TOG, and all nine priority MSATs based 
on the geographic area in which they are occurring, the year they are occurring in, and the makeup of cars 
and trucks on the roadway.  

The CT-EMFAC2017 model was run derive emission factors for the average vehicle mix on 
freeways. The model run specified San Bernardino County as the region and 2025 as the year. For SR 60, 
the traffic mix was developed using the truck AADT described under the “Traffic Volumes” subheading of 
Section 4.1.1.8  

The CT-EMFAC2017 outputs were used to develop three sets of hourly emissions estimates for 
each roadway – one for TOG running (exhaust) emissions, another for TOG running loss (evaporative) 
emissions, and one for DPM running (exhaust) emissions.9 Whereas the running emissions factors 
(grams/vehicle-mile) are based on speed bins in 5 mile per hour increments, the running loss emissions 
factors (grams/vehicle-hour) are independent of the speed of the car. Therefore, running emissions are 
based on the speed of the car across a specified distance, while running loss emissions are based on the 
amount of time the car is on the roadway. In other words, a car will generally produce more emissions 
when moving slowly across a given distance than it would if it were traveling faster.10 The equations for 
calculating hourly running and running loss emissions are presented in Equation 1 and Equation 2 below. 

 

Equation 1: Running (Exhaust) Emissions 

𝐸𝑅.𝐻𝑅 = 𝐸𝐹𝑅 × 𝐷 × 𝑉𝑂𝐿𝐻𝑅 
Where:  

ER.HR = Running emissions (g-hr) 
EFR  = Running emissions factor, based on speed bin (g/veh-mile) 
D = Distance of roadway segment (mi) 

 
8 CT-EMFAC includes two truck categories, Truck 1 and Truck 2, which correspond to medium duty trucks and heavy 

duty trucks, respectively. The truck AADT data provided from the Caltrans Traffic Census Program breaks down trucks by axle. 
Trucks with two axels were assign to the Truck 1 category. Trucks with three or more axels were assigned to the Truck 2 
category. The freeway run of CT-EMFAC has a truck makeup of 12.3%, with 3.1% consisting of Truck 1 and 9.2% consisting of 
Truck 2. 

9 Consistent with the guidance contained in the SCAQMD Health Risk Assessment Guidance for Analyzing Cancer 
Risks from Mobile Source Diesel Emissions white paper, DPM emissions were treated as PM10, even though CT-EMFAC 
provides emission rates for DPM, specifically (SCAQMD 2003). 

10 In addition to having running and running loss emissions scale at different rates, there are two other reasons for 
developing three sets of emission factors for each roadway. The first is that the ratio of MSATs to TOG differs between running 
and running loss emissions factors (see Section 4.3.1 for more information). The second being that the source / release 
characteristics of TOG and DPM differ. For example, the time of day splits between the two pollutants differ (see Section 4.1.1), 
as do the typical heights at which they are released (i.e., TOG is generated by passenger vehicles, which have a relatively low 
release point, while DPM is generated by trucks that have a higher release point; see Section 4.2.1 for more information). 

Item D - 149 of 1893



Page 4-4 Analysis Methodology 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

VOLHR = Vehicle volume per hour (veh-hr) 
 

Equation 2: Running Loss (Evaporative) Emissions 

𝐸𝑅𝐿.𝐻𝑅 = 𝐸𝐹𝑅𝐿 ×
𝐷

𝑀𝑃𝐻
× 𝑉𝑂𝐿𝐻𝑅 

Where:  
ERL.HR = Running loss emissions (g-hr) 
EFRL  = Running loss emissions factor (g/veh-hour) 
D = Distance of roadway segment (mi) 
MPH = Speed of vehicle (mi-hr) 
VOLHR = Vehicle volume per hour (veh-hr) 
The roadway distances utilized for the emission estimation are based on the length of roadway 

source modeled in AERMOD (see Table 4-1). The hourly running and running loss emissions were 
converted to a rate of grams per second (g/s) by diving the hourly rate by 3,600 (i.e., the number of 
seconds in an hour). See Appendix A for details regarding the emissions rates for each roadway segment. 

4.2 AERMOD DISPERSION MODELING 

The U.S. EPA’s AERMOD dispersion model (version 21112) was used to predict pollutant 
concentrations at the Project site. The AERMOD dispersion model is a U.S. EPA-approved and SCAQMD-
recommended model for simulating the dispersion of pollutant emissions and estimating concentrations of 
pollutants at specified receptor locations. AERMOD requires the user to input information on the source(s) 
of pollutants being modeled, the receptors where pollutant concentrations are modeled, and the 
meteorology, terrain, and other factors that affect the potential dispersion of pollutants. Two AERMOD runs 
were completed for the Project. The first modeled TOG emissions as PM2.5, because AERMOD does not 
have a pollutant dispersion option for TOG, and the second modeled DPM as PM10. 

4.2.1 Modeled Sources and Emissions Rates 

Mobile source emissions occurring on roadways in proximity of the Project site were modeled as a 
series of line area sources, as shown in Table 4-1 and depicted in Figure 4-1. An emissions rate for each 
source listed in Table 4-1 was derived using the methodology described in Section 4.1. 
  

Item D - 150 of 1893



Analysis Methodology  Page 4-5 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Table 4-1. AERMOD Source Parameters 

ID Description 
UTM Coordinates(A) Length 

(m) 

Width  

(m) X Y 

ARLN01 SR 60 Westbound Freeway Exhaust(B) 440650.04 3765727.33 1779.1 18.29 
ARLN02 SR 60 Eastbound Freeway Exhaust(B) 438872.22 3765713.80 1778.6 18.29 
ARLN03 SR 60 Westbound On-ramp Exhaust(B) 439895.14 3765792.04 475.1 3.96 
ARLN04 SR 60 Eastbound Off-ramp Exhaust(B) 439895.39 3765645.74 436.3 7.62 
ARLN05 SR 60 Eastbound On-ramp Exhaust(B) 439941.30 3765645.29 508.2 3.96 
ARLN06 SR 60 Westbound Off-ramp Exhaust(B) 440392.61 3765738.84 455 11.58 
ARLN07 SR 60 Westbound Freeway Evaporative 440650.04 3765727.33 1779.1 18.29 
ARLN08 SR 60 Eastbound Freeway Evaporative 438872.22 3765713.80 1778.6 18.29 
ARLN09 SR 60 Westbound On-ramp Evaporative 439895.14 3765792.04 475.1 3.96 
ARLN10 SR 60 Eastbound Off-ramp Evaporative 439895.39 3765645.74 436.3 7.62 
ARLN11 SR 60 Eastbound On-ramp Evaporative 439941.30 3765645.29 508.2 3.96 
ARLN12 SR 60 Westbound Off-ramp Evaporative 440392.61 3765738.84 455 11.58 
See Appendix B 
(A) UTM coordinates represent the initial coordinate of the source. 
(B) These source parameters were the same for the TOG emissions modeling as the DPM emission modeling. 

The TOG emissions sources were assigned a release height of 1.3 meters and an initial vertical 
dimension of 1.2 meters (U.S. EPA 2010). These parameters for the TOG emissions sources are 
representative of the exhaust and evaporative plume height from light-duty vehicles. The DPM emissions 
source were assigned a release height of 3.4 meters and an initial vertical dimension of 3.2 meters. These 
parameters for the DPM emissions sources are representative of the exhaust plume height for heavy-duty 
vehicles (U.S. EPA 2010). 

Each roadway source was modeled to have an emissions rate of 1 gram per second (g/s). 
AERMOD allows users to specify variable emissions factors for sources depending on the temporal interval 
over which emissions are released. These variable emissions factors function as multipliers for the source’s 
base emissions rate (as noted previously, this base emissions rate is 1 g/s). Variable emissions factors 
were assigned to each source for each hour of the day (i.e., 12 AM, 1 AM, 2 AM, etc.) in order to reflect the 
source’s emissions characteristics (i.e., the emissions that would be generated by hourly traffic volumes 
that were derived using the methodology described in Section 4.1.1). 

4.2.2 Meteorological Data Inputs 

AERMOD requires meteorological data as an input for the model. The meteorological data is 
processed using AERMET, a pre-processor to AERMOD. AERMET requires surface meteorological data, 
upper air meteorological data, and surface parameter data such as albedo (reflectivity) and surface 
roughness. 

For the proposed Project, pre-processed surface data was obtained from the SCAQMD for Ontario 
International Airport (KONT) (see Figure 3-3). Upper air data was obtained from Marine Corps Air Station 
Miramar (KNKX), since this is the upper air profile provided by the SCAQMD with the KONT surface data. 
These data sets contained five complete years of meteorological data from January 2012 to December 
2016. The meteorological data was processed using AERMET version 16216 with the adjusted U* option.  

Item D - 151 of 1893



Page 4-6 Analysis Methodology 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Figure 4-1 Modeled Emission Sources 

 
 
  

Item D - 152 of 1893



Analysis Methodology  Page 4-7 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

4.2.3 Terrain Inputs 

The SR 60 overpass with Euclid Avenue is one of the closest portions of SR 60 to Project site. As 
identified in the U.S. EPA’s AERMOD Implementation Guide:  

“For cases in which receptor elevations are lower than the base elevation of the source (i.e., 
receptors that are down-slope of the source), AERMOD will predict concentrations that are less 
than what would be estimated from an otherwise identical flat terrain situation… To avoid 
underestimating concentrations in such situations, it may be reasonable in cases of terrain-
following plumes in sloping terrain to apply the non-DFAULT (sic) option to assume flat, level 
terrain” (U.S. EPA 2022a; pg. 12). 
Consistent with this guidance from the U.S. EPA, the non-regulatory “Flat” terrain option was 

selected, meaning that AERMOD does not account for terrain in the dispersion modeling. 

4.2.4 Modeled Receptors 

Several cartesian receptor grids were generated in proximity of the Project site to evaluate the 
dispersion characteristics of the modeled emissions sources and estimate pollutant concentrations for the 
future receptors that would be located at the Project site. The receptor grids were then converted to 
discrete cartesian receptors. Receptors were modeled at ground level. In general, the receptor grids moved 
from fine resolution to coarse resolution data (i.e., UCART1 had the finest resolution, while UCART3 had 
the coarsest resolution). The details of the receptor grids generated for the Project are presented in Table 
4-2.

Table 4-2. Project Receptor Grid Details 

Grid ID Description 
UTM Coordinates(A)

Grid 
Dimensions 

Spacing 
(m) 

Receptor Height 

(m) X Y 

UCART1 Project Site (Fine) 439769.00 3765400.00 47 x 37 5 0 
UCART2 Project Site (Coarse) 439769.00 3765400.00 9 x 7 30 0 
UCART3 Project Vicinity 439769.00 3765400.00 11 x 11 100 0 
Source: SCAQMD 2020. 
(A) UTM coordinates represent the center coordinate of the grid.

Receptors associated with UCART1 in the roadways and non-occupiable portions of the project 
site were removed, so the fine resolution receptor spacing was tailored to where receptors could be located 
at the Project site (i.e., in landscaped areas, residential units, recreational areas, and at the dog park). In 
total, 1,115 discrete cartesian receptors were modeled. 

4.3 HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY 

Cancer and non-cancer health risks to sensitive receptors at the Project site were estimated using 
the U.S. EPA’s AERMOD dispersion model and recommendations contained in the SCAQMD’s Health Risk 
Assessment Guidance for Analyzing Cancer Risks from Mobile Source Diesel Emissions white paper and 
Supplemental Guidelines for Preparing Risk Assessments for the Air Toxics Hot Spots Information and 
Assessment Act, as well as the California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) Air 
Toxics Hot Spots Program Guidance Manual (SCAQMD 2003 and 2020; OEHHA 2015) for mobile sources 
(i.e., MSAT emissions).  

Item D - 153 of 1893



Page 4-8 Analysis Methodology 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

4.3.1 Mobile Source Health Risk Assessment Methodology 

Cancer Risk 
Cancer risk is the calculated, pollutant-specific estimated probability of developing cancer based 

upon the dose and exposure to a TAC. Cancer risk is determined by calculating the combinatory effects of 
the cancer potency factor (CPF) when inhaling the toxic, the daily inhalation dose, the age group the 
receptor is cohort to, the duration of exposure over a lifetime (70 years), and other factors such as age 
sensitivity and the amount of time spent at the location of exposure. Risks were assessed for the inhalation 
pathway (i.e., breathing) for residential receptors at the Project site. Cancer risk calculations for residential 
receptors are summarized in Equation 3 and Equation 4 below. 

 
Equation 3: Residential Cancer Risk 

𝑅𝐼𝑆𝐾𝐼𝑁𝐻.𝑅𝐸𝑆 = 𝐷𝑂𝑆𝐸𝐴𝐼𝑅.𝑅𝐸𝑆 × 𝐶𝑃𝐹 × 𝐴𝑆𝐹 ×
𝐸𝐷

𝐴𝑇
× 𝐹𝐴𝐻 

Where:  
DOSEAIR = Daily Inhalation Dose (mg/kg-day). See Equation 4. 
CPF = Cancer Potency Factor for Inhalants (mg/kg-day). CPF is expressed as the 95th 

percent upper confidence limit of the slope of the dose response curve under 
continuous lifetime exposure conditions. See Table 4-3 for MSAT CPFs. 

ASF = Age Sensitivity Factor. ASF is a protective coefficient intended to take into account 
increased susceptibility to long-term health effects from early-life exposure to TACs. 
The recommended ASFs are 10 for the third-trimester to birth and two-year age bins, 3 
for the two-year to nine-year and 16-year age bins, and 1 for receptors over 16 years 
of age. 

ED = Exposure Duration (years). Exposure duration characterizes the length of residency 
(30 Years) 

FAH = Fraction at Home. FAH is the percentage of time the receptor is physically at the 
receptor location. The recommended percentages are 85 percent for the third-trimester 
to birth and two-year age bins, 72 percent for the two-year to nine-year and 16-year 
age bins, and 73 for receptors over 16 years of age. 

 
Equation 4: Residential Dose 

𝐷𝑂𝑆𝐸𝐴𝐼𝑅.𝑅𝐸𝑆 = 𝐶𝐴𝐼𝑟 ×
𝐵𝑅

𝐵𝑊
× 𝐴 × 𝐸𝐹 × 10−6 

Where:  
CAIR = Concentration of TAC in air (µg/m3). Concentration of toxic in micrograms per one 

cubic meter of air. The AERMOD program is used in the study to determine 
concentrations of MSATs at surrounding discrete and grid receptor points. 

BR/BW = Breathing Rate ÷ Body Weight (L/kg/day). Daily breathing rate normalized to body 
weight. The 95th percentile breathing rate to body weight ratios are used in this study 
with a recommended 361 L/kg/day for the third-trimester to birth age bin and 1,090 
L/kg/day for the birth to two-years age bin. The 80th percentile breathing rate to body 
weight ratios are used in this study with a recommended 572 for the two-years to 16-

Item D - 154 of 1893



Analysis Methodology  Page 4-9 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

years age bin, 261 L/kg/day for the 16-years to 30-years age bin, and 233 L/kg/day for 
the 16-years to 70-years age bin. 

A = Inhalation Absorption Factor. Is a coefficient that reflects the fraction of chemical 
absorbed in studies used in the development of CPF and Reference Exposure Levels 
(RELs). An absorption factor of one is recommended for all chemicals. 

EF = Exposure Frequency. EF is the ratio of days in a year that a receptor is receiving the 
dose. The recommended EF is 0.96 characterizing an assumed 350 days a year that a 
residential receptor is home for some portion of the day. 

Non-Cancer Risk 
The chronic non-cancer hazard quotient is the calculated pollutant-specific indicator for risk of 

developing an adverse health effect on specific organ system(s) targeted by the identified TAC. The 
potential for exposure to result in chronic non-cancer effects is evaluated by comparing the estimated 
annual average air concentration to the chemical-specific, non-cancer chronic RELs. The same is true for 
evaluating acute non-cancer effects. The REL is a concentration below which there is assumed to be no 
observable adverse health impact to a target organ system. When calculated for a single chemical, the 
comparison yields a ratio termed a hazard quotient. To evaluate the potential for adverse non-cancer health 
effects from simultaneous exposure to multiple chemicals, the hazard quotients for all chemicals are 
summed, yielding a hazard index. For a chronic non-cancer hazard index, the annual average pollutant 
concentration is divided by chronic hazard quotient. For an acute hazard index, the one-hour maximum 
concentration is divided by the acute hazard quotient. Table 4-3 presents the chronic and acute non-cancer 
RELs applicable to MSAT emissions in the vicinity of the Project site. 

Table 4-3. MSAT Cancer Potency Factors and Reference Exposure Levels 

Pollutant CPF Chronic REL Acute REL 

1,3-Butadiene 6.00E-01 2.00E+00 6.60E+02 
Acetaldehyde 1.00E-02 1.40E+02 4.70E+02 
Acrolein -- 3.50E-01 2.50E+00 
Benzene 1.00E-01 3.00E+00 2.70E+01 
Diesel PM 1.10E+00 5.00E+00 -- 
Ethylbenzene 8.70E-03 2.00E+03 0.00E+00 
Formaldehyde 2.10E-02 9.00E+00 5.50E+01 
Naphthalene 1.20E-01 9.00E+00 0.00E+00 
POM 7.95E-01(A) -- -- 
Source: BAAQMD 2021 
(A) The CPF for POM was estimated based on the assumption that POM has a carcinogenic potency equal to 5% of that for pure 

benzo[a]pyrene (B[a]P), which has an inhalation cancer slope factor of 3.9 and an oral cancer slope factor of 12. Combined these 
factors yield a CPF of 15.9 before being multiplied through by the 5%. 

Weighted Cancer and Non-cancer Risk Factors 
As described in Section 4.2, pollutant concentrations were evaluated for three sets of emissions: 

running (exhaust) TOG, running loss (evaporative) TOG, and DPM. With the exception of DPM, emissions 
of MSATs were not directly modeled; rather, TOG was used as a proxy for assessing how MSAT pollutants 

Item D - 155 of 1893



Page 4-10 Analysis Methodology 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

would disperse. The CT-EMFAC2017 provides a breakdown of emissions factors for each MSAT, along 
with TOG. These breakdowns were used to develop ratios between MSAT concentrations and those 
modeled through the TOG emission factor inputs for AERMOD. The emissions factors from the 5 mile per 
hour bin was utilized for the running exhaust emissions factors, because it provided the greatest ratio of 
MSATs to TOG. Equation 5 and Equation 6 present the manner in which MSAT CPFs and RELs were 
weighted per emission TOG. 

 
Equation 5: Weighted Cancer Risk Potency Factor 

𝐶𝑃𝐹𝑊 = ∑ 𝑀𝑆𝐴𝑇𝑅 ×  𝐶𝑃𝐹𝑀𝑆𝐴𝑇  

Where:  
CPFW = Weighted Cancer Potency Factor (mg/kg-day) 
MSATR = Ratio of MSAT to TOG (unitless).  
CPFMSAT = Cancer Potency Factor for MSAT Inhalant (mg/kg-day). See Table 4-3. 

 
Equation 6: Weighted Reference Exposure Level 

𝑅𝐸𝐿𝑊 =  
1

∑ 𝑀𝑆𝐴𝑇𝑅 ×  𝑅𝐸𝐿𝑀𝑆𝐴𝑇
 

Where:  
RELW = Weighted Reference Exposure Level (unitless) 
MSATR = Ratio of MSAT to TOG (unitless).  
RELMSAT = REL for MSAT Inhalant. See Table 4-3. 

 
Table 4-4 and Table 4-5 present the ratio of MSAT to TOG for running (exhaust) and running loss 

(evaporative) emissions, respectively, as well as the weighted CPF and REL values used for the health risk 
assessment.  
  

Item D - 156 of 1893



Analysis Methodology  Page 4-11 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Table 4-4. Weighted CPFs and RELs for TOG Running (Exhaust) Emissions 

Pollutant 
Emissions 
Factor(A) 

Ratio to 
TOG 

CPF 
Chronic 

REL 

Acute 
REL 

Weighted Toxicity Factor 

CPF 
Chronic 

REL 
Acute REL 

TOG 0.187712 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 
1,3-Butadiene 0.000764 0.004070 6.00E-01 2.00E+00 6.60E+02 2.44E-03 2.04E-03 6.17E-06 

Acetaldehyde 0.002473 0.013174 1.00E-02 1.40E+02 4.70E+02 1.32E-04 9.41E-05 2.80E-05 

Acrolein 0.000165 0.000879 0.00E+00 3.50E-01 2.50E+00 0.00E+00 2.51E-03 3.52E-04 

Benzene 0.003663 0.019514 1.00E-01 3.00E+00 2.70E+01 1.95E-03 6.50E-03 7.23E-04 

Ethylbenzene 0.001444 0.007693 8.70E-03 2.00E+03 0.00E+00 6.69E-05 3.85E-06 0.00E+00 

Formaldehyde 0.006140 0.032710 2.10E-02 9.00E+00 5.50E+01 6.87E-04 3.63E-03 5.95E-04 

Naphthalene 0.000127 0.000677 1.20E-01 9.00E+00 0.00E+00 8.12E-05 7.52E-05 0.00E+00 

POM 0.000159 0.000847 7.95E-01 -- -- 6.73E-04 -- -- 

Total 6.03E-03 6.73E+01(B) 5.87E+02(B) 

Source: CT-EMFAC2017; see Appendix C. 
(A) Emissions in grams / veh-mi for 5 mile per hour speed bin. 
(B) Value reflects the inverse of the above REL’s summed. 

 
 

Table 4-5. Weighted CPFs and RELs for TOG Running Loss (Evaporative) Emissions 

Pollutant 
Emissions 
Factor(A) 

Ratio to 
TOG 

CPF 
Chronic 

REL 

Acute 
REL 

Weighted Toxicity Factor 

CPF 
Chronic 

REL 
Acute REL 

TOG 1.275299 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

1,3-Butadiene 0 0.0% 6.00E-01 2.00E+00 6.60E+02 0.00E+00 0.00E+00 0.00E+00 

Benzene 0.012753 1.0% 1.00E-01 3.00E+00 2.70E+01 1.00E-03 3.33E-03 3.70E-04 

Ethylbenzene 0.020915 1.6% 8.70E-03 2.00E+03 0.00E+00 1.43E-04 8.20E-06 0.00E+00 

Naphthalene 0.001785 0.1% 1.20E-01 9.00E+00 0.00E+00 1.68E-04 1.56E-04 0.00E+00 

Total 1.31E-03 2.86E+02(B) 2.70E+03(B) 

Source: CT-EMFAC2017; see Appendix C. 
(A) Emissions in grams / veh-hour. 
(B) Value reflects the inverse of the above REL’s summed. 

 
 

Item D - 157 of 1893



Page 4-12 Analysis Methodology 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

Item D - 158 of 1893



Page 5-1 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

5 HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT RESULTS 

This chapter presents the results of the health risk assessment and compares risks against 
thresholds to determine their significance. 

5.1 THRESHOLDS OF SIGNIFICANCE 

The SCAQMD maintains significance thresholds for cancer and non-cancer health risks. These 
thresholds are presented below in Table 5-1. 

Table 5-1. SCAQMD Health Risk Thresholds 

Risk Category Threshold 

Cancer Risk  Increased cancer risk of >10.0 in a million 

Non-Cancer Risk Increased non-cancer risk of > 1.0 Hazard Index 
(Chronic or Acute) 

Source: SCAQMD 2021 

5.2 ESTIMATED HEALTH RISKS 

Using the average DPM and TOG concentrations derived from AERMOD, the individual residential 
cancer and non-cancer risks were computed using the methodology described in Section 4.3.1. Table 5-2 
presents the cancer and non-cancer risk estimates from each source, as well as the cumulative risk from 
the sources combined at the Maximally Exposed Individuals (MEIs). MEIs have been evaluated Phase 1 
only.11 Whereas only the residential complexes are considered for cancer risk and chronic non-cancer risk, 
because receptors could be there for the 30-year duration assessed in the risk assessment, acute non-
cancer risks are also considered for receptors at the dog park, because receptors at that location could be 
there for 1-hour or more (i.e., the temporal interval over which acute risks are assessed). 

Figure 5-1 and Figure 5-2 present contours of total TOG exhaust and total TOG evaporative 
concentrations, respectively, while Figure 5-3 identifies DPM concentrations. The location of the Phase 1 
MEI for cancer risk and chronic hazard risk would be located at the northeastern corner of the building with 
retail space on the bottom floor, in the northeastern portion of the PUD. The MEI for acute risk would the 
located in the northwestern portion of the Phase 1 dog park.  

The proposed Project would be subject to the California Title 24 Building Code, including Section 
120.1(b)(1)(C), which per the 2019 Title 24 Building Code, requires high-density residential buildings to be 
constructed with HVAC system air filters that meet a designated efficiency equal to Minimum Efficiency 
Rating Value (MERV) 13 standards. As reported by the U.S. EPA, MERV 13 filters are capable of removing 

 
11 As shown further on in the analysis, pollutant concentrations and corresponding risks would be greatest in the 

northern portion of the PUD. If risks for Phase 1 are acceptable, so too would risks for Phase 2. This is because emissions from 
SR 60 (and the on- and off-ramps) are anticipated to decrease in the future as more cars and trucks transition cleaner fuel 
sources (e.g., electric vehicles). 

Item D - 159 of 1893



Page 5-2 Health Risk Assessment Results 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

90 percent of particles between 3 and 10 μm (U.S. EPA 2022b).12 As shown in Table 5-2, the cancer risk 
from SR 60 would be approximately 5.6 excess cancers per million after accounting for the MERV-13 
filtration system. Cumulative cancer risks from SR 60 and vehicles on the on- and off-ramps would be 7.0 
excess cancers per million, which is below the SCAQMD threshold of 10.0 excess cancers per million. 
Cumulative non-cancer risks (chronic and acute) would also be below the SCAQMD thresholds.  

Table 5-2. Risks at MEI from Single and Cumulative Sources 

Source 
Maximum 

Cancer Risk 
(per million) 

Maximum 
Chronic Hazard 

Index 

Maximum 
Acute Hazard 

Index 

State Route 60 Freeway 5.6 0.01 0.01 
State Route 60 On- and Off-ramps 1.4 <0.01 <0.01 

Combined Risks 7.0(A) 0.02 0.02 

SCAQMD Threshold 10.0 1.0 1.0 
Threshold Exceeded? No No No 

Source: SCAQMD 2021 
(A) Approximately 71% of the 7.0 excess cancer risk would be from DPM. 

  

 
12 High-efficiency particulate filters (MERV-13 to HEPA) cannot completely remove TOG from the air, because the 

particles that contribute to TOG emissions are smaller than the particulate matter sizes that the MERV filters are designed to 
capture. 

Item D - 160 of 1893



Health Risk Assessment Results Page 5-3 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Figure 5-1 Total Annual Average TOG Exhaust Concentrations (µg/m3) 

 
  

Item D - 161 of 1893



Page 5-4 Health Risk Assessment Results 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Figure 5-2 Total Annual Average TOG Evaporative Concentrations (µg/m3) 

 
  

Item D - 162 of 1893



Health Risk Assessment Results Page 5-5 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Figure 5-3 Total Annual Average DPM Exhaust Concentrations (µg/m3) 

 
  

Item D - 163 of 1893



Page 5-6 Health Risk Assessment Results 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

This page intentionally left blank.

Item D - 164 of 1893



 Page 6-1 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

6 REPORT PREPARERS AND REFERENCES 

This Health Risk Assessment Report was prepared by MIG under contract to Legacy Partners. 
This Report reflects the independent, objective, professional opinion of MIG.  

MIG 
1650 Spruce Street  
Suite 106 
Riverside, CA 92507  

Chris Dugan, Director of Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas Services 
Phil Gleason, Senior Analyst II 

 
Legacy Partners 
5141 California Avenue 
Suite 100 
Irvine, CA 92617 

 
 
David Pinto, Vice President of Development 

 
City of Ontario, Planning Dept 
303 East B Street 
Ontario, CA 91764 

 
 
Rudy Zeledon, Planning Director 
Alexis Vaughn, Associate Planner 

6.1 REFERENCES 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD). 2021. Regulation 2, Rule 5: New Source Review of 
Toxic Air Contaminants. Updated December 15, 2021. Accessed October 6, 2022. 
https://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/dotgov/files/rules/reg-2-permits/2021-
amendments/documents/20211215_rg0205-pdf.pdf?la=en  

California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). 2022a. Traffic Census Program. Accessed June 30, 
2022. Available online: https://dot.ca.gov/programs/traffic-operations/census  

______2020b. Performance Measurement System (PeMS) Data Source. Accessed July 11, 2022. 
Available online: https://dot.ca.gov/programs/traffic-operations/mpr/pems-source  

Legacy Partners. 2022. Euclid and Walnut Site Plan. October 2022. 

Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) 2015. Air Toxics Hot Spots Program 

Guidance Manual. Sacramento, CA. February 2015. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD). 2003. Health Risk Assessment Guidance for 
Analyzing Cancer Risks from Mobile Source Diesel Emissions white paper. August 2003. 

______2017. Meteorological Data for Dispersion Modeling. AERMOD Table 1. Accessed October 4, 2022. 
https://www.aqmd.gov/home/air-quality/meteorological-data/aermod-table-1  

______2020. AB 2588 and Rule 1402 Supplemental Guidelines (Supplemental Guidelines for Preparing 
Risk Assessments for the Air Toxics “Hot Spots” Information and Assessment Act). October 2020. 

______2021. South Coast AQMD Air Quality Significance Thresholds. April 2019. 
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/scaqmd-air-quality-significance-
thresholds.pdf  

Item D - 165 of 1893

https://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/dotgov/files/rules/reg-2-permits/2021-amendments/documents/20211215_rg0205-pdf.pdf?la=en
https://www.baaqmd.gov/~/media/dotgov/files/rules/reg-2-permits/2021-amendments/documents/20211215_rg0205-pdf.pdf?la=en
https://dot.ca.gov/programs/traffic-operations/census
https://dot.ca.gov/programs/traffic-operations/mpr/pems-source
https://www.aqmd.gov/home/air-quality/meteorological-data/aermod-table-1
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/scaqmd-air-quality-significance-thresholds.pdf
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/scaqmd-air-quality-significance-thresholds.pdf


Page 6-2  Report Preparers and References 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). 2010. Transportation Conformity Guidance for 
Quantitative Hot-spot analyses in PM2.5 and PM10 nonattainment and maintenance areas. EPA-
420-B-10-040. December 2010. 

_______2022a. AERMOD Implementation Guide. June 2022. 
https://gaftp.epa.gov/Air/aqmg/SCRAM/models/preferred/aermod/aermod_implementation_guide.p
df  

_______2022b. Indoor Air Quality (IAQ). “What is a MERV rating?” Web. Updated July 1, 2022. Accessed 
August 8, 2022. Available online: https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/what-merv-rating  

Western Regional Climate Center (WRCC). 1980 “Period of Record Monthly Climate Summary”. Upland 3 
N, California, California (049158). Accessed September 28, 2022. https://wrcc.dri.edu/cgi-
bin/cliMAIN.pl?ca9158 

 
 
 

Item D - 166 of 1893

https://gaftp.epa.gov/Air/aqmg/SCRAM/models/preferred/aermod/aermod_implementation_guide.pdf
https://gaftp.epa.gov/Air/aqmg/SCRAM/models/preferred/aermod/aermod_implementation_guide.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/what-merv-rating
https://wrcc.dri.edu/cgi-bin/cliMAIN.pl?ca9158
https://wrcc.dri.edu/cgi-bin/cliMAIN.pl?ca9158


  Appendix A 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Appendix A 
Traffic Volumes and Mobile Source Emissions Quantification 

for AERMOD 
 

 

Item D - 167 of 1893



Appendix A   

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

 

This page intentionally left blank.

Item D - 168 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project (City of Ontario, CA)
Health Risk Assessment Report

Appendix A: Traffic Volumes and Mobile Source Emissions Quantification for AERMOD

Prepared by: MIG, Inc.

October 2022

Contents:
Sheet 1: AERMOD Source Lengths and Release Height Parameters
Sheet 2: AERMOD Source Emissions Rates
Sheet 3: SR 60 TOG Emissions
Sheet 4: SR 60 On- and Off-ramp TOG Emissions
Sheet 5: SR 60 DPM Emissions
Sheet 6: SR 60 On- and Off-ramp DPM Emissions
Sheet 7: CT-EMFAC2017 Emission Factors
Sheet 8: Caltrans All Vehicle AADT Data
Sheet 9: Caltrans Truck AADT Data
Sheet 10: Caltrans All Vehicle on- and Off-ramp AADT Data

Item D - 169 of 1893



This page intentionally left blank.

Item D - 170 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project
Health Risk Assessment Report

Appendix A

Sheet 1: AERMOD Source Lengths and Release Height Parameters

Table 1-1: AERMOD Source Parameters

Source Description
Length (m) Width (m) TOG Height

TOG Int Vert 

Dim
DPM Height

DPM Int Vert 

Dim

ARLN01 SR 60 WB TOG Exh 1779.1 18.29 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN02 SR 60 EB TOG Exh 1778.6 18.29 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN03 SR 60 WB On-ramp TOG Exh 475.1 3.96 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN04 SR 60 EB Off-Ramp TOG Exh 436.3 7.62 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN05 SR 60 EB On-ramp TOG Exh 508.2 3.96 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN06 SR 60 WB Off-Ramp TOG Exh 455 11.58 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN07 SR 60 WB TOG Exh 1779.1 18.29 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN08 SR 60 EB TOG Evap 1778.6 18.29 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN09 SR 60 WB On-ramp TOG Evap 475.1 3.96 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN10 SR 60 EB Off-Ramp TOG Evap 436.3 7.62 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN11 SR 60 EB On-ramp TOG Evap 508.2 3.96 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN12 SR 60 WB Off-Ramp TOG Evap 455 11.58 1.3 1.2 -- --
ARLN13 SR 60 WB DPM Exh -- -- -- -- 3.4 3.2
ARLN14 SR 60 EB DPM Exh -- -- -- -- 3.4 3.2
ARLN15 SR 60 WB On-ramp DPM Exh -- -- -- -- 3.4 3.2
ARLN16 SR 60 EB Off-Ramp DPM Exh -- -- -- -- 3.4 3.2
ARLN17 SR 60 EB On-ramp DPM Exh -- -- -- -- 3.4 3.2
ARLN18 SR 60 WB Off-Ramp DPM Exh -- -- -- -- 3.4 3.2

MIG, Inc. October 2022

Item D - 171 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project
Health Risk Assessment Report

Appendix A

Sheet 2: AERMOD Source Emissions Rates

Table 2-1: TOG Exhaust Emission Rates for AERMOD

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB 1.44E-02 1.99E-02 2.03E-02 3.12E-02 6.47E-02 7.49E-02 8.43E-02 9.15E-02 9.01E-02 8.89E-02 9.00E-02 9.23E-02 9.43E-02 9.64E-02 9.98E-02 1.02E-01 1.03E-01 1.00E-01 8.86E-02 7.29E-02 6.26E-02 5.93E-02 4.91E-02 3.61E-02
SR 60 EB 1.72E-02 1.24E-02 1.08E-02 1.26E-02 2.03E-02 3.40E-02 4.31E-02 4.57E-02 4.39E-02 4.14E-02 4.20E-02 4.39E-02 4.63E-02 4.83E-02 5.01E-02 4.91E-02 5.08E-02 5.06E-02 4.72E-02 4.59E-02 4.17E-02 4.08E-02 3.34E-02 2.48E-02
SR 60 WB On-ramp 2.51E-03 1.97E-03 2.01E-03 3.09E-03 6.42E-03 7.58E-03 8.54E-03 9.11E-03 8.96E-03 8.84E-03 8.96E-03 9.18E-03 9.38E-03 9.59E-03 9.93E-03 1.01E-02 1.02E-02 1.01E-02 8.97E-03 7.24E-03 6.34E-03 5.89E-03 4.87E-03 3.58E-03
SR 60 EB Off-Ramp 2.61E-03 1.88E-03 1.65E-03 1.92E-03 3.09E-03 5.18E-03 7.27E-03 8.11E-03 7.80E-03 7.34E-03 7.45E-03 7.79E-03 8.22E-03 8.57E-03 8.85E-03 8.68E-03 8.52E-03 8.49E-03 8.37E-03 7.75E-03 7.03E-03 6.21E-03 5.08E-03 3.78E-03
SR 60 EB On-ramp 4.01E-03 2.88E-03 2.53E-03 2.94E-03 4.74E-03 7.94E-03 1.11E-02 1.24E-02 1.20E-02 1.13E-02 1.14E-02 1.19E-02 1.26E-02 1.31E-02 1.36E-02 1.33E-02 1.31E-02 1.30E-02 1.28E-02 1.19E-02 1.08E-02 9.51E-03 7.79E-03 5.80E-03
SR 60 WB Off-Ramp 4.02E-04 3.16E-04 3.22E-04 4.95E-04 1.03E-03 1.21E-03 1.37E-03 1.46E-03 1.44E-03 1.42E-03 1.43E-03 1.47E-03 1.50E-03 1.54E-03 1.59E-03 1.62E-03 1.64E-03 1.62E-03 1.44E-03 1.16E-03 1.02E-03 9.42E-04 7.81E-04 5.74E-04

Table 2-2: TOG Evaporative Emission Rates for AERMOD

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB 1.09E-02 8.55E-03 8.71E-03 1.34E-02 2.78E-02 3.56E-02 4.01E-02 4.67E-02 4.59E-02 4.53E-02 4.59E-02 4.70E-02 4.81E-02 4.91E-02 5.09E-02 5.19E-02 5.24E-02 4.76E-02 4.21E-02 3.14E-02 2.98E-02 2.55E-02 2.11E-02 1.55E-02
SR 60 EB 1.30E-02 9.32E-03 8.17E-03 9.51E-03 1.53E-02 2.57E-02 3.90E-02 4.75E-02 4.56E-02 4.30E-02 4.36E-02 4.56E-02 4.81E-02 5.02E-02 5.70E-02 5.59E-02 6.10E-02 6.08E-02 4.90E-02 4.16E-02 3.77E-02 3.07E-02 2.52E-02 1.87E-02
SR 60 WB On-ramp 3.41E-03 2.68E-03 2.73E-03 4.20E-03 8.72E-03 1.03E-02 1.16E-02 1.24E-02 1.22E-02 1.20E-02 1.22E-02 1.25E-02 1.27E-02 1.30E-02 1.35E-02 1.38E-02 1.39E-02 1.38E-02 1.22E-02 9.83E-03 8.61E-03 8.00E-03 6.62E-03 4.87E-03
SR 60 EB Off-Ramp 3.95E-04 2.84E-04 2.49E-04 2.90E-04 4.66E-04 7.82E-04 1.10E-03 1.22E-03 1.18E-03 1.11E-03 1.12E-03 1.18E-03 1.24E-03 1.29E-03 1.34E-03 1.31E-03 1.29E-03 1.28E-03 1.26E-03 1.17E-03 1.06E-03 9.37E-04 7.67E-04 5.71E-04
SR 60 EB On-ramp 5.45E-03 3.92E-03 3.43E-03 4.00E-03 6.44E-03 1.08E-02 1.51E-02 1.69E-02 1.62E-02 1.53E-02 1.55E-02 1.62E-02 1.71E-02 1.78E-02 1.84E-02 1.81E-02 1.77E-02 1.77E-02 1.74E-02 1.61E-02 1.46E-02 1.29E-02 1.06E-02 7.88E-03
SR 60 WB Off-Ramp 4.82E-04 3.79E-04 3.86E-04 5.94E-04 1.23E-03 1.46E-03 1.64E-03 1.75E-03 1.72E-03 1.70E-03 1.72E-03 1.76E-03 1.80E-03 1.84E-03 1.91E-03 1.94E-03 1.96E-03 1.95E-03 1.72E-03 1.39E-03 1.22E-03 1.13E-03 9.37E-04 6.89E-04

Table 2-3: DPM Emission Rates for AERMOD

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB 9.57E-04 6.59E-04 5.79E-04 1.03E-03 2.94E-03 4.68E-03 5.27E-03 6.01E-03 6.49E-03 6.66E-03 6.88E-03 7.25E-03 7.07E-03 6.83E-03 6.62E-03 6.43E-03 6.19E-03 6.05E-03 4.94E-03 3.85E-03 3.48E-03 3.02E-03 2.24E-03 1.43E-03
SR 60 EB 2.74E-03 2.71E-03 2.64E-03 2.72E-03 3.39E-03 4.30E-03 5.41E-03 5.02E-03 5.91E-03 7.06E-03 7.47E-03 7.31E-03 6.90E-03 6.30E-03 4.30E-03 3.33E-03 2.60E-03 2.35E-03 3.29E-03 4.02E-03 4.26E-03 3.98E-03 3.80E-03 3.14E-03
SR 60 WB On-ramp 8.17E-05 5.63E-05 4.94E-05 8.80E-05 2.51E-04 8.80E-05 4.50E-04 5.13E-04 5.54E-04 5.68E-04 5.87E-04 6.18E-04 6.03E-04 5.82E-04 5.65E-04 5.48E-04 5.28E-04 5.16E-04 4.21E-04 3.29E-04 2.97E-04 2.58E-04 1.91E-04 1.22E-04
SR 60 EB Off-Ramp 4.51E-05 4.46E-05 4.33E-05 4.47E-05 5.58E-05 7.08E-05 8.90E-05 8.25E-05 9.71E-05 1.16E-04 1.23E-04 1.20E-04 1.13E-04 1.04E-04 8.15E-05 6.30E-05 5.48E-05 4.97E-05 5.41E-05 6.62E-05 7.01E-05 6.55E-05 6.25E-05 5.16E-05
SR 60 EB On-ramp 3.14E-04 3.10E-04 3.01E-04 3.11E-04 3.88E-04 1.08E-04 6.19E-04 5.74E-04 6.76E-04 8.08E-04 8.55E-04 8.36E-04 7.89E-04 7.20E-04 5.67E-04 4.38E-04 3.81E-04 3.45E-04 3.76E-04 4.60E-04 4.88E-04 4.56E-04 4.35E-04 3.59E-04
SR 60 WB Off-Ramp 2.29E-05 1.58E-05 1.39E-05 2.47E-05 7.04E-05 1.12E-04 1.26E-04 1.44E-04 1.55E-04 1.59E-04 1.65E-04 1.73E-04 1.69E-04 1.63E-04 1.58E-04 1.54E-04 1.48E-04 1.45E-04 1.18E-04 9.23E-05 8.34E-05 7.23E-05 5.35E-05 3.42E-05

TOG Running (Exhaust) Emissions (g/s)

Segment

Segment

DPM Running (Exhaust) Emissions (g/s)

Segment
Running Loss (Evap) Emissions (g/s)

MIG, Inc. October 2022

Item D - 172 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project
Health Risk Assessment Report

Appendix A

Sheet 3: SR 60 TOG Emissions

Table 3-1: SR 60 AADT Information

All Veh AADT 2019 2025

SR 60 235,000     249,457     
Assumes 1% Traffic Growth per year 

Table 3-2: SR 60 Hourly Vehicle Volumes and Speed (TOG)

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 (WB) 1.45% 1.14% 1.16% 1.78% 3.70% 4.37% 4.92% 5.25% 5.17% 5.10% 5.17% 5.29% 5.41% 5.53% 5.73% 5.84% 5.89% 5.84% 5.17% 4.17% 3.66% 3.39% 2.81% 2.07%
SR 60 (EB) 1.72% 1.24% 1.09% 1.27% 2.04% 3.42% 4.79% 5.35% 5.14% 4.84% 4.91% 5.14% 5.42% 5.65% 5.84% 5.73% 5.62% 5.60% 5.52% 5.11% 4.63% 4.09% 3.35% 2.49%
Veh-Hr (WB) 1,805         1,418         1,445         2,224         4,614         5,454         6,139         6,551         6,445         6,360         6,442         6,603         6,746         6,895         7,145         7,278         7,352         7,284         6,449         5,205         4,559         4,233         3,506         2,577         
Veh-Hr (EB) 2,151         1,547         1,356         1,579         2,541         4,262         5,980         6,670         6,413         6,037         6,125         6,406         6,764         7,048         7,283         7,141         7,006         6,983         6,887         6,372         5,780         5,105         4,182         3,111         
WB Speed 65 65 65 65 65 60 60 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 60 60 65 60 65 65 65
EB Speed 65 65 65 65 65 65 60 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 50 50 45 45 55 60 60 65 65 65

Table 3-3: SR 60 Segment Distances 

Distance (Mi) WB SR 60 EB SR 60

Segment distance 1.11 1.11

Table 3-4: SR 60 TOG Running (Exhaust) Emissions per Hour

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB 5.19E+01 4.08E+01 4.16E+01 6.39E+01 1.33E+02 1.42E+02 1.59E+02 1.62E+02 1.59E+02 1.57E+02 1.59E+02 1.63E+02 1.66E+02 1.70E+02 1.76E+02 1.80E+02 1.81E+02 1.89E+02 1.67E+02 1.50E+02 1.18E+02 1.22E+02 1.01E+02 7.41E+01
SR 60 EB 6.18E+01 4.45E+01 3.90E+01 4.54E+01 7.31E+01 1.23E+02 1.55E+02 1.65E+02 1.58E+02 1.49E+02 1.51E+02 1.58E+02 1.67E+02 1.74E+02 1.80E+02 1.77E+02 1.83E+02 1.82E+02 1.70E+02 1.65E+02 1.50E+02 1.47E+02 1.20E+02 8.94E+01

Table 3-5: SR 60 TOG Running Loss (Evap) Emissions per Hour

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB 3.91E+01 3.07E+01 3.13E+01 4.82E+01 1.00E+02 1.28E+02 1.44E+02 1.68E+02 1.65E+02 1.63E+02 1.65E+02 1.69E+02 1.73E+02 1.77E+02 1.83E+02 1.87E+02 1.88E+02 1.71E+02 1.52E+02 1.13E+02 1.07E+02 9.18E+01 7.60E+01 5.59E+01
SR 60 EB 4.66E+01 3.36E+01 2.94E+01 3.42E+01 5.51E+01 9.24E+01 1.40E+02 1.71E+02 1.64E+02 1.55E+02 1.57E+02 1.64E+02 1.73E+02 1.81E+02 2.05E+02 2.01E+02 2.19E+02 2.19E+02 1.76E+02 1.50E+02 1.36E+02 1.11E+02 9.07E+01 6.75E+01

Table 3-6: SR 60 TOG Running (Exhaust) Emissions per Second

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB 1.44E-02 1.99E-02 2.03E-02 3.12E-02 6.47E-02 7.49E-02 8.43E-02 9.15E-02 9.01E-02 8.89E-02 9.00E-02 9.23E-02 9.43E-02 9.64E-02 9.98E-02 1.02E-01 1.03E-01 1.00E-01 8.86E-02 7.29E-02 6.26E-02 5.93E-02 4.91E-02 3.61E-02
SR 60 EB 1.72E-02 1.24E-02 1.08E-02 1.26E-02 2.03E-02 3.40E-02 4.31E-02 4.57E-02 4.39E-02 4.14E-02 4.20E-02 4.39E-02 4.63E-02 4.83E-02 5.01E-02 4.91E-02 5.08E-02 5.06E-02 4.72E-02 4.59E-02 4.17E-02 4.08E-02 3.34E-02 2.48E-02

Table 3-6: SR 60 TOG Running Loss (Evap) Emissions per Second

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB 1.09E-02 8.55E-03 8.71E-03 1.34E-02 2.78E-02 3.56E-02 4.01E-02 4.67E-02 4.59E-02 4.53E-02 4.59E-02 4.70E-02 4.81E-02 4.91E-02 5.09E-02 5.19E-02 5.24E-02 4.76E-02 4.21E-02 3.14E-02 2.98E-02 2.55E-02 2.11E-02 1.55E-02
SR 60 EB 1.30E-02 9.32E-03 8.17E-03 9.51E-03 1.53E-02 2.57E-02 3.90E-02 4.75E-02 4.56E-02 4.30E-02 4.36E-02 4.56E-02 4.81E-02 5.02E-02 5.70E-02 5.59E-02 6.10E-02 6.08E-02 4.90E-02 4.16E-02 3.77E-02 3.07E-02 2.52E-02 1.87E-02

Roadway Segment

Roadway Segement

Roadway Segement

Roadway Segement

Roadway Segement

TOG Running Loss (Evap) Emissions (g) by Hour of Day

TOG Running (Exhaust) Emissions (g) by Hour of Day

Vehicle Volumes and Speed by Hour

Running (Exhaust) Emissions (g/s)

Running Loss (Evap) Emissions (g/s)

MIG, Inc. October 2022

Item D - 173 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project
Health Risk Assessment Report

Appendix A

Sheet 4: SR 60 On- and Off-ramp TOG Emissions

Table 4-1: SR 60 On- and Off-Ramp AADT Information for Euclid Avenue

SR 60 WB On-ramp (Euclid)
SR 60 EB Off-Ramp (Euclid)
SR 60 EB On-ramp (Euclid)
SR 60 WB Off-Ramp (Euclid)
Assumes 1% Traffic Growth per year 

Table 4-2: SR 60 East- and Westbound On- and Off-Ramps at Eucalid - Hourly Vehicle Volumes and Speed (Cars)

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

Car Breakdown (WB) 1.45% 1.14% 1.16% 1.78% 3.70% 4.37% 4.92% 5.25% 5.17% 5.10% 5.17% 5.29% 5.41% 5.53% 5.73% 5.84% 5.89% 5.84% 5.17% 4.17% 3.66% 3.39% 2.81% 2.07%
Car Breakdown (EB) 1.72% 1.24% 1.09% 1.27% 2.04% 3.42% 4.79% 5.35% 5.14% 4.84% 4.91% 5.14% 5.42% 5.65% 5.84% 5.73% 5.62% 5.60% 5.52% 5.11% 4.63% 4.09% 3.35% 2.49%
SR 60 WB On-ramp Vol (TOG) 163             128             131             201             417             493             555             592             582             574             582             597             609             623             645             657             664             658             583             470             412             382             317             233             
SR 60 EB Off-Ramp Vol (TOG) 185             133             117             136             219             366             514             574             551             519             527             551             582             606             626             614             602             600             592             548             497             439             360             267             
SR 60 EB On-ramp Vol (TOG) 243             175             153             179             288             482             677             755             726             683             693             725             766             798             824             808             793             790             779             721             654             578             473             352             
SR 60 WB Off-Ramp Vol (TOG) 217             170             173             267             554             655             737             786             774             764             773             793             810             828             858             874             883             874             774             625             547             508             421             309             
On-ramp Speed 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Off-ramp Speed 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45

Table 4-3: SR 60 East- and Westbound On- and Off-Ramps at Eucalid - Segment Distances 

Distance (Mi)

Segment

Table 4-4: SR 60 East- and Westbound On- and Off-Ramps at Eucalid - TOG Running (Exhaust) Emissions per Hour

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB Car On-ramp 9.03E+00 7.10E+00 7.23E+00 1.11E+01 2.31E+01 2.73E+01 3.07E+01 3.28E+01 3.23E+01 3.18E+01 3.22E+01 3.31E+01 3.38E+01 3.45E+01 3.58E+01 3.64E+01 3.68E+01 3.65E+01 3.23E+01 2.61E+01 2.28E+01 2.12E+01 1.75E+01 1.29E+01
SR 60 EB Car Off-Ramp 9.41E+00 6.77E+00 5.93E+00 6.91E+00 1.11E+01 1.86E+01 2.62E+01 2.92E+01 2.81E+01 2.64E+01 2.68E+01 2.80E+01 2.96E+01 3.08E+01 3.19E+01 3.13E+01 3.07E+01 3.06E+01 3.01E+01 2.79E+01 2.53E+01 2.23E+01 1.83E+01 1.36E+01
SR 60 EB Car On-ramp 1.44E+01 1.04E+01 9.10E+00 1.06E+01 1.70E+01 2.86E+01 4.01E+01 4.48E+01 4.30E+01 4.05E+01 4.11E+01 4.30E+01 4.54E+01 4.73E+01 4.89E+01 4.79E+01 4.70E+01 4.68E+01 4.62E+01 4.28E+01 3.88E+01 3.43E+01 2.81E+01 2.09E+01
SR 60 WB Car Off-Ramp 1.45E+00 1.14E+00 1.16E+00 1.78E+00 3.70E+00 4.37E+00 4.92E+00 5.25E+00 5.17E+00 5.10E+00 5.16E+00 5.29E+00 5.41E+00 5.53E+00 5.73E+00 5.83E+00 5.89E+00 5.84E+00 5.17E+00 4.17E+00 3.65E+00 3.39E+00 2.81E+00 2.07E+00

Table 4-5: SR 60 East- and Westbound On- and Off-Ramps at Eucalid - TOG Running Loss (Evap) Emissions per Hour

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB Car On-ramp 1.23E+01 9.64E+00 9.83E+00 1.51E+01 3.14E+01 3.71E+01 4.18E+01 4.46E+01 4.38E+01 4.33E+01 4.38E+01 4.49E+01 4.59E+01 4.69E+01 4.86E+01 4.95E+01 5.00E+01 4.95E+01 4.39E+01 3.54E+01 3.10E+01 2.88E+01 2.38E+01 1.75E+01
SR 60 EB Car Off-Ramp 1.42E+00 1.02E+00 8.96E-01 1.04E+00 1.68E+00 2.82E+00 3.95E+00 4.41E+00 4.24E+00 3.99E+00 4.05E+00 4.23E+00 4.47E+00 4.66E+00 4.81E+00 4.72E+00 4.63E+00 4.61E+00 4.55E+00 4.21E+00 3.82E+00 3.37E+00 2.76E+00 2.06E+00
SR 60 EB Car On-ramp 1.96E+01 1.41E+01 1.24E+01 1.44E+01 2.32E+01 3.89E+01 5.45E+01 6.08E+01 5.85E+01 5.50E+01 5.58E+01 5.84E+01 6.17E+01 6.43E+01 6.64E+01 6.51E+01 6.39E+01 6.37E+01 6.28E+01 5.81E+01 5.27E+01 4.65E+01 3.81E+01 2.84E+01
SR 60 WB Car Off-Ramp 1.74E+00 1.36E+00 1.39E+00 2.14E+00 4.44E+00 5.25E+00 5.91E+00 6.30E+00 6.20E+00 6.12E+00 6.20E+00 6.35E+00 6.49E+00 6.63E+00 6.87E+00 7.00E+00 7.07E+00 7.01E+00 6.20E+00 5.01E+00 4.39E+00 4.07E+00 3.37E+00 2.48E+00

Table 4-6: SR 60 East- and Westbound On- and Off-Ramps at Eucalid - TOG Running (Exhaust) Emissions per Second

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB Car On-ramp 2.51E-03 1.97E-03 2.01E-03 3.09E-03 6.42E-03 7.58E-03 8.54E-03 9.11E-03 8.96E-03 8.84E-03 8.96E-03 9.18E-03 9.38E-03 9.59E-03 9.93E-03 1.01E-02 1.02E-02 1.01E-02 8.97E-03 7.24E-03 6.34E-03 5.89E-03 4.87E-03 3.58E-03
SR 60 EB Car Off-Ramp 2.61E-03 1.88E-03 1.65E-03 1.92E-03 3.09E-03 5.18E-03 7.27E-03 8.11E-03 7.80E-03 7.34E-03 7.45E-03 7.79E-03 8.22E-03 8.57E-03 8.85E-03 8.68E-03 8.52E-03 8.49E-03 8.37E-03 7.75E-03 7.03E-03 6.21E-03 5.08E-03 3.78E-03
SR 60 EB Car On-ramp 4.01E-03 2.88E-03 2.53E-03 2.94E-03 4.74E-03 7.94E-03 1.11E-02 1.24E-02 1.20E-02 1.13E-02 1.14E-02 1.19E-02 1.26E-02 1.31E-02 1.36E-02 1.33E-02 1.31E-02 1.30E-02 1.28E-02 1.19E-02 1.08E-02 9.51E-03 7.79E-03 5.80E-03
SR 60 WB Car Off-Ramp 4.02E-04 3.16E-04 3.22E-04 4.95E-04 1.03E-03 1.21E-03 1.37E-03 1.46E-03 1.44E-03 1.42E-03 1.43E-03 1.47E-03 1.50E-03 1.54E-03 1.59E-03 1.62E-03 1.64E-03 1.62E-03 1.44E-03 1.16E-03 1.02E-03 9.42E-04 7.81E-04 5.74E-04

Table 4-7: SR 60 East- and Westbound On- and Off-Ramps at Eucalid - TOG Running Loss (Evap) Emissions per Second

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB Car On-ramp 3.41E-03 2.68E-03 2.73E-03 4.20E-03 8.72E-03 1.03E-02 1.16E-02 1.24E-02 1.22E-02 1.20E-02 1.22E-02 1.25E-02 1.27E-02 1.30E-02 1.35E-02 1.38E-02 1.39E-02 1.38E-02 1.22E-02 9.83E-03 8.61E-03 8.00E-03 6.62E-03 4.87E-03
SR 60 EB Car Off-Ramp 3.95E-04 2.84E-04 2.49E-04 2.90E-04 4.66E-04 7.82E-04 1.10E-03 1.22E-03 1.18E-03 1.11E-03 1.12E-03 1.18E-03 1.24E-03 1.29E-03 1.34E-03 1.31E-03 1.29E-03 1.28E-03 1.26E-03 1.17E-03 1.06E-03 9.37E-04 7.67E-04 5.71E-04
SR 60 EB Car On-ramp 5.45E-03 3.92E-03 3.43E-03 4.00E-03 6.44E-03 1.08E-02 1.51E-02 1.69E-02 1.62E-02 1.53E-02 1.55E-02 1.62E-02 1.71E-02 1.78E-02 1.84E-02 1.81E-02 1.77E-02 1.77E-02 1.74E-02 1.61E-02 1.46E-02 1.29E-02 1.06E-02 7.88E-03
SR 60 WB Car Off-Ramp 4.82E-04 3.79E-04 3.86E-04 5.94E-04 1.23E-03 1.46E-03 1.64E-03 1.75E-03 1.72E-03 1.70E-03 1.72E-03 1.76E-03 1.80E-03 1.84E-03 1.91E-03 1.94E-03 1.96E-03 1.95E-03 1.72E-03 1.39E-03 1.22E-03 1.13E-03 9.37E-04 6.89E-04

2018 13,967                                                      14,975                                                      
2018 13,168                                                      14,118                                                      
2018 10,004                                                      10,726                                                      

Caltrans Data 2025

Roadway Segment

Roadway Segment

Roadway Segment

Running Loss (Evap) Emissions (g/s)

Roadway Segment

Running (Exhaust) Emissions (g/s)

Running Loss (Evap) Emissions (g) by Hour of Day

Running (Exhaust) Emissions (g) by Hour of Day

Roadway Segment

0.27
SR 60 EB Off

0.30
SR 60 WB On

SR 60 Off- and On-ramp Vehicle Volumes and Speed by Hour

SR 60 EB On SR 60 WB Off

0.32 0.28

Segment Year

All (Trucks+Cars) ADT Volume

2015 10,200                                                      11,267                                                      

MIG, Inc. October 2022

Item D - 174 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project
Health Risk Assessment Report

Appendix A

Sheet 5: I-280 DPM Emissions

Table 5-1: SR 60 AADT Information

All Veh AADT 2019 2025

SR 60 235,000     249,457     
Assumes 1% Traffic Growth per year 

Table 5-2: SR 60 Hourly Vehicle Volumes and Speed (DPM)

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 (WB) 0.89% 0.61% 0.54% 0.96% 2.73% 4.35% 4.90% 5.59% 6.04% 6.19% 6.40% 6.74% 6.57% 6.35% 6.16% 5.98% 5.75% 5.62% 4.59% 3.58% 3.24% 2.81% 2.08% 1.33%
SR 60 (EB) 2.55% 2.52% 2.45% 2.53% 3.15% 4.00% 5.03% 4.67% 5.49% 6.57% 6.95% 6.80% 6.42% 5.86% 4.61% 3.56% 3.10% 2.81% 3.06% 3.74% 3.97% 3.71% 3.53% 2.92%
Veh-Hr (WB) 1,110         765             671             1,196         3,411         5,430         6,115         6,969         7,529         7,723         7,981         8,405         8,199         7,916         7,678         7,455         7,177         7,012         5,727         4,470         4,040         3,502         2,593         1,655         
Veh-Hr (EB) 3,183         3,144         3,057         3,154         3,933         4,992         6,280         5,820         6,852         8,191         8,671         8,480         8,006         7,308         5,749         4,442         3,865         3,503         3,814         4,669         4,947         4,622         4,408         3,637         
WB Speed 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55
EB Speed 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 50 50 45 45 55 55 55 55 55 55

Table 5-3: SR 60 Segment Distances 

Distance (Mi) WB SR 60 EB SR 60

Segment Distance 1.1 1.1

Table 5-4: SR 60 DPM Running (Exhaust) Emissions per Hour

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB 3.45E+00 2.37E+00 2.08E+00 3.71E+00 1.06E+01 1.69E+01 1.90E+01 2.16E+01 2.34E+01 2.40E+01 2.48E+01 2.61E+01 2.55E+01 2.46E+01 2.38E+01 2.31E+01 2.23E+01 2.18E+01 1.78E+01 1.39E+01 1.25E+01 1.09E+01 8.05E+00 5.14E+00
SR 60 EB 9.88E+00 9.76E+00 9.49E+00 9.79E+00 1.22E+01 1.55E+01 1.95E+01 1.81E+01 2.13E+01 2.54E+01 2.69E+01 2.63E+01 2.48E+01 2.27E+01 1.55E+01 1.20E+01 9.35E+00 8.48E+00 1.18E+01 1.45E+01 1.54E+01 1.43E+01 1.37E+01 1.13E+01

Table 5-5: SR 60 DPM Running (Exhaust) Emissions per Second

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB 9.57E-04 6.59E-04 5.79E-04 1.03E-03 2.94E-03 4.68E-03 5.27E-03 6.01E-03 6.49E-03 6.66E-03 6.88E-03 7.25E-03 7.07E-03 6.83E-03 6.62E-03 6.43E-03 6.19E-03 6.05E-03 4.94E-03 3.85E-03 3.48E-03 3.02E-03 2.24E-03 1.43E-03
SR 60 EB 2.74E-03 2.71E-03 2.64E-03 2.72E-03 3.39E-03 4.30E-03 5.41E-03 5.02E-03 5.91E-03 7.06E-03 7.47E-03 7.31E-03 6.90E-03 6.30E-03 4.30E-03 3.33E-03 2.60E-03 2.35E-03 3.29E-03 4.02E-03 4.26E-03 3.98E-03 3.80E-03 3.14E-03

Vehicle Volumes and Speed by Hour

Diesel PM Running Emissions (g) by Hour of Day

Diesel PM Running (Exhaust) Emissions (g/s)

Roadway Segment

Roadway Segement

Roadway Segement

MIG, Inc. October 2022

Item D - 175 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project
Health Risk Assessment Report

Appendix A

Sheet 6: SR 60 On- and Off-ramp DPM Emissions

Table 6-1: SR 60 On- and Off-Ramp AADT Information for Euclid Avenue

SR 60 WB On-ramp (Euclid)
SR 60 EB Off-Ramp (Euclid)
SR 60 EB On-ramp (Euclid)
SR 60 WB Off-Ramp (Euclid)
Assumes 1% Traffic Growth per year 

Table 6-2: SR 60 On- and Off-Ramp Hourly Vehicle Volumes and Speed

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

Truck Breakdown (WB) 0.89% 0.61% 0.54% 0.96% 2.73% 4.35% 4.90% 5.59% 6.04% 6.19% 6.40% 6.74% 6.57% 6.35% 6.16% 5.98% 5.75% 5.62% 4.59% 3.58% 3.24% 2.81% 2.08% 1.33%
Truck Breakdown (EB) 2.55% 2.52% 2.45% 2.53% 3.15% 4.00% 5.03% 4.67% 5.49% 6.57% 6.95% 6.80% 6.42% 5.86% 4.61% 3.56% 3.10% 2.81% 3.06% 3.74% 3.97% 3.71% 3.53% 2.92%
SR 60 WB On-ramp Vol (DPM) 100             69               61               108             308             490             552             630             680             698             721             759             741             715             694             673             648             633             517             404             365             316             234             149             
SR 60 EB Off-Ramp Vol (DPM) 274             270             263             271             338             429             540             500             589             704             746             729             688             628             494             382             332             301             328             401             425             397             379             313             
SR 60 EB On-ramp Vol (DPM) 360             356             346             357             445             565             711             659             776             927             981             960             906             827             651             503             438             397             432             528             560             523             499             412             
SR 60 WB Off-Ramp Vol (DPM) 133             92               81               144             409             652             734             837             904             927             958             1,009         984             950             922             895             862             842             688             537             485             420             311             199             
On-ramp Speed 5 5 5 5 5 45 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Off-ramp Speed 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45

Table 6-3: SR 60 On- and Off-Ramp Segment Distances 

Distance (Mi)

Segment Distance

Table 6-4: SR 60 East- and Westbound On- and Off-Ramps at Eucalid - DPM Running (Exhaust) Emissions per Hour

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB On-ramp (Euclid) 2.94E-01 2.03E-01 1.78E-01 3.17E-01 9.03E-01 3.17E-01 1.62E+00 1.85E+00 1.99E+00 2.05E+00 2.11E+00 2.23E+00 2.17E+00 2.10E+00 2.03E+00 1.97E+00 1.90E+00 1.86E+00 1.52E+00 1.18E+00 1.07E+00 9.27E-01 6.87E-01 4.38E-01
SR 60 EB Off-Ramp (Euclid) 1.62E-01 1.60E-01 1.56E-01 1.61E-01 2.01E-01 2.55E-01 3.20E-01 2.97E-01 3.50E-01 4.18E-01 4.42E-01 4.33E-01 4.09E-01 3.73E-01 2.93E-01 2.27E-01 1.97E-01 1.79E-01 1.95E-01 2.38E-01 2.52E-01 2.36E-01 2.25E-01 1.86E-01
SR 60 EB On-ramp (Euclid) 1.13E+00 1.12E+00 1.09E+00 1.12E+00 1.40E+00 3.91E-01 2.23E+00 2.07E+00 2.43E+00 2.91E+00 3.08E+00 3.01E+00 2.84E+00 2.59E+00 2.04E+00 1.58E+00 1.37E+00 1.24E+00 1.35E+00 1.66E+00 1.76E+00 1.64E+00 1.56E+00 1.29E+00
SR 60 WB Off-Ramp (Euclid) 8.25E-02 5.68E-02 4.99E-02 8.89E-02 2.53E-01 4.03E-01 4.54E-01 5.18E-01 5.59E-01 5.74E-01 5.93E-01 6.25E-01 6.09E-01 5.88E-01 5.70E-01 5.54E-01 5.33E-01 5.21E-01 4.26E-01 3.32E-01 3.00E-01 2.60E-01 1.93E-01 1.23E-01

Table 6-5: SR 60 R 60 East- and Westbound On- and Off-Ramps at Eucalid - DPM Running (Exhaust) Emissions per Second

12:00 AM 1:00 AM 2:00 AM 3:00 AM 4:00 AM 5:00 AM 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM

SR 60 WB On-ramp (Euclid) 8.17E-05 5.63E-05 4.94E-05 8.80E-05 2.51E-04 8.80E-05 4.50E-04 5.13E-04 5.54E-04 5.68E-04 5.87E-04 6.18E-04 6.03E-04 5.82E-04 5.65E-04 5.48E-04 5.28E-04 5.16E-04 4.21E-04 3.29E-04 2.97E-04 2.58E-04 1.91E-04 1.22E-04
SR 60 EB Off-Ramp (Euclid) 4.51E-05 4.46E-05 4.33E-05 4.47E-05 5.58E-05 7.08E-05 8.90E-05 8.25E-05 9.71E-05 1.16E-04 1.23E-04 1.20E-04 1.13E-04 1.04E-04 8.15E-05 6.30E-05 5.48E-05 4.97E-05 5.41E-05 6.62E-05 7.01E-05 6.55E-05 6.25E-05 5.16E-05
SR 60 EB On-ramp (Euclid) 3.14E-04 3.10E-04 3.01E-04 3.11E-04 3.88E-04 1.08E-04 6.19E-04 5.74E-04 6.76E-04 8.08E-04 8.55E-04 8.36E-04 7.89E-04 7.20E-04 5.67E-04 4.38E-04 3.81E-04 3.45E-04 3.76E-04 4.60E-04 4.88E-04 4.56E-04 4.35E-04 3.59E-04
SR 60 WB Off-Ramp (Euclid) 2.29E-05 1.58E-05 1.39E-05 2.47E-05 7.04E-05 1.12E-04 1.26E-04 1.44E-04 1.55E-04 1.59E-04 1.65E-04 1.73E-04 1.69E-04 1.63E-04 1.58E-04 1.54E-04 1.48E-04 1.45E-04 1.18E-04 9.23E-05 8.34E-05 7.23E-05 5.35E-05 3.42E-05

Segment Caltrans Data 2025Year

2015

Roadway Segment

Roadway Segment

Roadway Segment

SR 60 WB On SR 60 EB Off

0.30 0.27

Diesel PM Running (Exhaust) Emissions (g/s)

Diesel PM Running (Exhaust) Emissions (g) by Hour of Day

SR 60 Off- and On-ramp Vehicle Volumes and Speed by Hour

SR 60 EB On SR 60 WB Off

0.32 0.28

2018
2018
2018

All (Trucks+Cars) ADT Volume

10,004                                                      
13,168                                                      
13,967                                                      

10,726                                                      
14,118                                                      
14,975                                                      

11,267                                                      10,200                                                      

MIG, Inc. October 2022

Item D - 176 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project
Health Risk Assessment Report

Appendix A

Sheet 7: CT-EMFAC2017 Emission Factors

Freeway

Vehicle Category VMT Fraction    Diesel VMT Fraction Gas VMT Fraction
                Across Category Within Category Within Category 
         Truck 1 0.031 0.526 0.474
         Truck 2 0.092 0.942 0.027
       Non-Truck 0.877 0.012 0.965

Fleet Average Running Exhaust Emission Factors (grams/veh-mile)

Pollutant Name 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75
PM2.5 0.009208 0.006192 0.004301 0.003155 0.002481 0.002108 0.001944 0.001937 0.002061 0.002302 0.002654 0.003120 0.003707 0.003810 0.003810
PM10 0.00993 0.006664 0.004624 0.003388 0.002659 0.002255 0.002074 0.002062 0.002189 0.002439 0.002808 0.003297 0.003916 0.004026 0.004026
TOG 0.187712 0.127375 0.084894 0.059673 0.045314 0.036153 0.030056 0.026062 0.023615 0.022411 0.022320 0.023486 0.026013 0.027927 0.028308
ROG 0.120321 0.079002 0.051353 0.035256 0.026437 0.020996 0.017499 0.015319 0.014111 0.013694 0.014008 0.015110 0.017141 0.018705 0.019040
1,3-Butadiene 0.000764 0.000494 0.000332 0.000234 0.000176 0.000140 0.000117 0.000103 0.000095 0.000092 0.000094 0.000101 0.000115 0.000124 0.000124
Acetaldehyde 0.002473 0.001701 0.000973 0.000579 0.000427 0.000342 0.000285 0.000248 0.000228 0.000221 0.000229 0.000251 0.000286 0.000319 0.000319
Acrolein 0.000165 0.000106 0.000072 0.000052 0.000039 0.000031 0.000026 0.000023 0.000021 0.000020 0.000021 0.000022 0.000025 0.000027 0.000027
Benzene 0.003663 0.002383 0.001574 0.001094 0.000820 0.000651 0.000544 0.000477 0.000441 0.000428 0.000439 0.000472 0.000533 0.000579 0.000579
Diesel PM 0.001991 0.001637 0.001274 0.001035 0.000914 0.000888 0.000942 0.001072 0.001274 0.001546 0.001889 0.002302 0.002710 0.002732 0.002732
Ethylbenzene 0.001444 0.000932 0.000628 0.000444 0.000334 0.000265 0.000221 0.000194 0.000180 0.000175 0.000179 0.000192 0.000217 0.000235 0.000235
Formaldehyde 0.006140 0.004167 0.002468 0.001531 0.001133 0.000905 0.000754 0.000659 0.000606 0.000589 0.000607 0.000662 0.000752 0.000832 0.000832
Naphthalene 0.000127 0.000087 0.000058 0.000041 0.000031 0.000025 0.000021 0.000018 0.000016 0.000015 0.000014 0.000015 0.000017 0.000018 0.000016
POM 0.000159 0.000105 0.000068 0.000046 0.000034 0.000027 0.000023 0.000020 0.000019 0.000018 0.000019 0.000020 0.000023 0.000025 0.000025

Fleet Average Running Loss Emission Factors (grams/veh-hour)

Pollutant Name Emission Factor
TOG 1.275299
ROG 1.275299
1,3-Butadiene 0
Benzene 0.012753
Ethylbenzene 0.020915
Naphthalene 0.001785

Emissions Factor by Speed (mph)

MIG, Inc. October 2022

Item D - 177 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project
Health Risk Assessment Report

Appendix A

Sheet 8: Caltrans All Vehicle AADT Data
D

IS
TR

IC
T

R
O

U
TE

R
TE

_S
FX

C
O

U
N

TY

PM
_P

FX PM

PM
_S

FX DESCRIPTION

BA
C

K_
PE

AK
_H

O
U

R

BA
C

K_
PE

AK
_M

AD
T

BA
C

K_
AA

D
T

AH
EA

D
_P

EA
K_

H
O

U
R

AH
EA

D
_P

EA
K_

M
AD

T

AH
EA

D
_A

AD
T

08 060 SBD R 3.602 MOUNTAIN AVENUE 15900 246000 238000 15700 243000 235000
08 060 SBD R 4.580 ONTARIO, JCT. RTE. 83 15700 243000 235000 15600 242000 234000
08 060 SBD R 5.855 GROVE AVENUE 15600 242000 234000 15200 236000 228000

MIG, Inc. October 2022

Item D - 178 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project
Health Risk Assessment Report

Appendix A

Sheet 9: Caltrans Truck AADT Data
R

TE

R
TE

_S
FX

D
IS

T

C
N

TY

PO
ST

M
IL

E_
PF

X

PO
ST

M
IL

E

PO
ST

M
IL

E_
SF

X

LE
G

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

VE
H

IC
LE

_A
AD

T_
TO

TA
L

TR
U

C
K_

AA
D

T_
TO

TA
L

TR
K_

PE
R

C
EN

T_
TO

T

TR
K_

2_
AX

LE

TR
K_

3_
AX

LE

TR
K_

4_
AX

LE

TR
K_

5_
AX

LE

TR
K_

2_
AX

LE
_P

C
T

TR
K_

3_
AX

LE
_P

C
T

TR
K_

4_
AX

LE
_P

C
T

TR
K_

5_
AX

LE
_P

C
T

EA
L

YE
AR

_V
ER

ES
T

060 08 SBD R 4.580 B ONTARIO, JCT. RTE. 83 235000 28764 12.24 7,231 2,871 903 17,759 25.14 9.98 3.14 61.74 6,777 04 E
060 08 SBD R 4.580 A ONTARIO, JCT. RTE. 83 234000 28642 12.24 7,201 2,858 899 17,684 25.14 9.98 3.14 61.74 6,748 04 E

MIG, Inc. October 2022

Item D - 179 of 1893



Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project
Health Risk Assessment Report

Appendix A

Sheet 10: Caltrans All Vehicle On- and Off-ramp AADT Data
D

IS
TR

IC
T

C
O

U
N

TY

R
O

U
TE

R
TE

_S
FX

PM
_P

FX

PM

PM
_S

FX

DESCRIPTION

YR
_2

01
1

YR
_2

01
2

YR
_2

01
3

YR
_2

01
4

YR
_2

01
5

YR
_2

01
6

YR
_2

01
7

YR
_2

01
8

YR
_2

01
9

YR
_2

02
0

08 SBD 060 R 4.387 WB ON FR EUCLID/83 10200
08 SBD 060 R 4.388 EB OFF TO EUCLID/83 10004
08 SBD 060 R 4.789 EB ON FR EUCLID/83 13168
08 SBD 060 R 4.806 WB OFF TO EUCLID AVE 13967

MIG, Inc. October 2022

Item D - 180 of 1893



Appendix B 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Appendix B 
AERMOD Output 

Item D - 181 of 1893



Appendix B 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

This page intentionally left blank. 

Item D - 182 of 1893



Appendix B

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Appendix B is comprised of 1,230 pages and is available in electronic format upon request.

Item D - 183 of 1893



Appendix B 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

This page intentionally left blank.

Item D - 184 of 1893



Appendix C 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Appendix C 
Cancer and Non-Cancer Risk Values and Health Risk 

Calculations 

Item D - 185 of 1893



Appendix C 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project June 26, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

This page intentionally left blank. 

Item D - 186 of 1893



Appendix C: Health Risk Assessment Calculations
Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project 
Health Risk Assessment Report
Summary of Cancer and Non-Cancer Risks

Uncontrolled (i.e., Without Filtration) Total Excess Risk at MEI

DPM TOG Exh TOG Evap
SR 60 Freeway 19.5 1.3 0.2 21.0 0.01 0.01
SR 60 On- and Off-ramps 3.8 0.5 0.1 4.4 0.00 0.00
Cumulative Risk 23.3 1.8 0.3 25.4 0.02 0.02

Controlled (i.e., with MERV 13 Filter) Total Excess Risk at MEI

DPM TOG Exh TOG Evap
SR 60 Freeway 4.1 1.3 0.2 5.6 0.01 0.01
SR 60 On- and Off-ramps 0.8 0.5 0.1 1.4 0.00 0.00
Cumulative Risk 5.0 1.8 0.3 7.0 0.02 0.02

10.0 1.0 1.0
No No No

Acute Hazard 
Index

Chronic Hazard 
Index

Cancer Risk (Per Million) TotalSource

MERV13 Particle Removal Effectiveness (3 to 10 μm)
79%

Acute Hazard 
IndexSource Cancer Risk (Per Million) Total Chronic Hazard 

Index

Note: The methodology for the HRA requires quantifying “uncontrolled” risks at receptor locations before “controlled” risks 
can be quantified. The “uncontrolled” risks reflect those that would occur at the site if no air filtration were to occur at all. 
The “uncontrolled” scenario is a hypothetical / non-realistic scenario, because the building would be required to install 
HVAC system air filters that meet a designated efficiency equal to Minimum Efficiency Rating Value (MERV) 13 standards, 
consistent with Section 120.1(b)(1)(C) of the California Title 24 Building Code. This is described on pages 5-1 and 5-2 of 
the Report. 

In contrast, the "controlled" risks reflect those that would actually occur at the site under implementation of the project with 
the operation of the HVAC system. The “uncontrolled”  risks are used as the baseline to assess how much the MERV-13 
air filters would reduce risks (i.e., by 79%, after conservatively accounting for some non-controlled exposure from outdoor 
recreation and residents having their windows open for part of the day, as shown between the "uncontrolled" and 
"controlled" tables above).

Threshold Exceeded?

Note: Assumes 90% base reduction, two hours of outdoor exposure per day, and one hour of exposure from open 
windows.

Threshold

Item D - 187 of 1893



Appendix C: Health Risk Assessment Calculations
Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project 
Health Risk Assessment Report
Weighted Risk Factor Calculations

Summary of Fleet Average Running Exhaust Emission Factors (grams/veh-mile)

CPF Chronic REL Acute REL
Freeway 6.03E-03 6.73E+01 5.87E+02

Summary of Fleet Average Running Loss Emission Factors (grams/veh-hour)

CPF Chronic REL Acute REL
Freeway 1.31E-03 2.86E+02 2.70E+03

Freeway
Fleet Average Running Exhaust Emission Factors (grams/veh-mile)

Emissions 
Factor by 

Speed 
5 CPF Chronic REL Acute REL

TOG 0.187712 -- -- -- -- -- -- --
1,3-Butadiene 0.000764 0.004070 6.00E-01 2.00E+00 6.60E+02 2.44E-03 2.04E-03 6.17E-06
Acetaldehyde 0.002473 0.013174 1.00E-02 1.40E+02 4.70E+02 1.32E-04 9.41E-05 2.80E-05
Acrolein 0.000165 0.000879 0.00E+00 3.50E-01 2.50E+00 0.00E+00 2.51E-03 3.52E-04
Benzene 0.003663 0.019514 1.00E-01 3.00E+00 2.70E+01 1.95E-03 6.50E-03 7.23E-04
Diesel PM 0.001991 -- -- -- -- -- -- --
Ethylbenzene 0.001444 0.007693 8.70E-03 2.00E+03 0.00E+00 6.69E-05 3.85E-06 0.00E+00
Formaldehyde 0.006140 0.032710 2.10E-02 9.00E+00 5.50E+01 6.87E-04 3.63E-03 5.95E-04
Naphthalene 0.000127 0.000677 1.20E-01 9.00E+00 0.00E+00 8.12E-05 7.52E-05 0.00E+00
POM 0.000159 0.000847 7.95E-01 -- -- 6.73E-04 -- --

6.03E-03 6.73E+01 5.87E+02

Fleet Average Running Loss Emission Factors (grams/veh-hour)

CPF Chronic REL Acute REL
TOG 1.275299 -- -- -- -- -- -- --
1,3-Butadiene 0 0.0% 6.00E-01 2.00E+00 6.60E+02 0.00E+00 0.00E+00 0.00E+00
Benzene 0.012753 1.0% 1.00E-01 3.00E+00 2.70E+01 1.00E-03 3.33E-03 3.70E-04
Ethylbenzene 0.020915 1.6% 8.70E-03 2.00E+03 0.00E+00 1.43E-04 8.20E-06 0.00E+00
Naphthalene 0.001785 0.1% 1.20E-01 9.00E+00 0.00E+00 1.68E-04 1.56E-04 0.00E+00

1.31E-03 2.86E+02 2.70E+03

Weighted per TOG% of TOG

Weighted per TOG
Pollutant Name CPF Chronic REL Acute REL% of TOG

CPF Chronic REL

Roadway 

Roadway 

Weighted per TOG

Weighted per TOG

Total

Total

Acute RELPollutant Name Emission 
Factor

Item D - 188 of 1893



Appendix C: Health Risk Assessment Calculations
Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project 
Health Risk Assessment Report
SR 60 Freeway Uncontrolled (i.e., Without Filtration) Health Risk Calculations

METHODOLOGY
Dose (Air) = Cair x DBR x A x EF x CF

Where: Cair Chemical concentration in air (µg/m3)
DBR: Daily breathing rate (L/kg-day)

A: Inhalation adsorption factor (unitless)
EF: Exposure Frequency, days at home / days in year (unitless)
CF: 10^-6 Conversion Factor (m3/L and mg/µg)

Cancer Risk (per million) = Dose (Air) x CPF x ASF x (ED/AT) x FAH x 1,000,000

Where: Dose: Dose of chemical in the air (µg/m3)
CPF: Cancer Potency Factor (mg/kg-day)-1

ASF: Age Sensitivity Factor
ED: Exposure Duration (years)
AT: Averaging Time for lifetime cancer risks

FAH: Fraction of daily time spent at home

Risk Parameter Values by Age Bin

0-2 Years 2-16 Years 16-30 Years 16-70 Years
DBR 1090 572 261 233

A 1 1 1 1
EF 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96
CF 1.00E-06 1.00E-06 1.00E-06 1.00E-06

ASF 10 3 1 1
ED 2 14 14 54
AT 70 70 70 70

FAH 0.85 0.72 0.73 0.73

Risk Factors
Pollutant CPF Chronic REL Acute

DPM 1.1 5 0
Veh TOG Exh 6.03E-03 6.73E+01 5.87E+02
Veh TOG Evap 1.31E-03 2.86E+02 2.70E+03

AERMOD Modeled Annual Concentrations (MEI)

Conc. X Y
DPM 0.033 439859 3765470
Veh TOG Exh 0.40777 439859 3765470
Veh TOG Evap 0.247 439859 3765470

AERMOD Modeled Maximum 1-HR Concentrations (MEI)

Conc. X Y
Veh TOG Exh 5.44130 439789 3765475
Veh TOG Evap 4.07794 439789 3765475

0.96
1.00E-06

10
0.25
70

Variable Residential Age Bin
3rd Trimester

361
1

MEI

0.85

MEI

Item D - 189 of 1893



Chronic Risk Assessment at MEI
Pollutant Threshold Exceeded?
DPM -- --
Veh TOG Exh -- --
Veh TOG Evap -- --

1.0 No

1-HR Risk Assessment at MEI
Pollutant Threshold Exceeded?
Veh TOG Exh -- --
Veh TOG Evap -- --

1.0 No

DPM Dose @ MEI
Age Group Cair x BR A EF CF Dose

3rd Trimester 0.033 361 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 1.14E-05
0-2 Years 0.033 1090 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 3.45E-05

2-16 Years 0.033 572 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 1.81E-05
16-30 Years 0.033 261 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 8.26E-06
30-70 Years 0.033 233 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 7.37E-06

DPM Excess Risk at MEI
Age Group Dose CPF ASF ED AT FAH Conversion Risk
3rd Trimester 1.14E-05 1.1 10 0.25 70 0.85 1,000,000 0.4

0-2 Years 3.45E-05 1.1 10 1.00 70 0.85 1,000,000 4.6
2-16 Years 1.81E-05 1.1 3 1.00 70 0.72 1,000,000 0.6

16-30 Years 8.26E-06 1.1 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.1
30-70 Years 7.37E-06 1.1 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.1

TOG Exh Dose @ MEI
Age Group Cair x BR A EF CF Dose

3rd Trimester 0.40777 361 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 1.41E-04
0-2 Years 0.40777 1090 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 4.26E-04

2-16 Years 0.40777 572 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 2.24E-04
16-30 Years 0.40777 261 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 1.02E-04
30-70 Years 0.40777 233 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 9.11E-05

TOG Exh Excess Risk at MEI
Age Group Dose CPF ASF ED AT FAH Conversion Risk
3rd Trimester 1.41E-04 6.03E-03 10 0.25 70 0.85 1,000,000 0.0

0-2 Years 4.26E-04 6.03E-03 10 1.00 70 0.85 1,000,000 0.3
2-16 Years 2.24E-04 6.03E-03 3 1.00 70 0.72 1,000,000 0.0

16-30 Years 1.02E-04 6.03E-03 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.0
30-70 Years 9.11E-05 6.03E-03 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.0

TOG Evap Dose @ MEI
Age Group Cair x BR A EF CF Dose

3rd Trimester 0.247 361 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 8.55E-05
0-2 Years 0.247 1090 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 2.58E-04

2-16 Years 0.247 572 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 1.35E-04
16-30 Years 0.247 261 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 6.18E-05
30-70 Years 0.247 233 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 5.52E-05

TOG Evap Excess Risk at MEI
Age Group Dose CPF ASF ED AT FAH Conversion Risk
3rd Trimester 8.55E-05 1.31E-03 10 0.25 70 0.85 1,000,000 0.0

0-2 Years 2.58E-04 1.31E-03 10 1.00 70 0.85 1,000,000 0.0
2-16 Years 1.35E-04 1.31E-03 3 1.00 70 0.72 1,000,000 0.0

16-30 Years 6.18E-05 1.31E-03 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.0
30-70 Years 5.52E-05 1.31E-03 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.0

Annual AERMOD Conc.

0.25 0.00
0.01

Chronic Hazard Index
0.03 0.01
0.41

Hazard Index
0.004.07794
0.01

5.4413 0.01

Hazard Index 0.01

1-HR AERMOD Conc. 1-HR Hazard Index

Item D - 190 of 1893



Total Excess Risk at MEI (Cumulative, Based on Age at Start of Construction)

DPM TOG Exh TOG Evap
0 -0.25 - 0 2025 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.4
1 0-1 2026 4.6 0.3 0.0 5.0
2 1-2 2027 4.6 0.3 0.0 5.0
3 2-3 2028 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
4 3-4 2029 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
5 4-5 2030 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
6 5-6 2031 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
7 6-7 2032 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
8 7-8 2033 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
9 8-9 2034 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
10 9-10 2035 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
11 10-11 2036 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
12 11-12 2037 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
13 12-13 2038 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
14 13-14 2039 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
15 14-15 2040 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
16 15-16 2041 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.7
17 16-17 2042 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
18 17-18 2043 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
19 18-19 2044 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
20 19-20 2045 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
21 20-21 2046 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
22 21-22 2047 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
23 22-23 2048 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
24 23-24 2049 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
25 24-25 2050 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
26 25-26 2051 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
27 26-27 2052 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
28 27-28 2053 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
29 28-29 2054 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
30 29-30 2055 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

19.5 1.3 0.2 21.0

Cancer Risk (Per Million) TotalExposure Duration 
(Years)Exposure Year YearAge

0.25
1

Cumulative Life

1
1

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

1

1
1
1
1

1
1
1
1
1

1
1
1
1

1

Item D - 191 of 1893



Appendix C: Health Risk Assessment Calculations
Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project 
Health Risk Assessment Report
SR 60 On- and Off-ramp Uncontrolled (i.e., Without Filtration) Health Risk Calculations

METHODOLOGY
Dose (Air) = Cair x DBR x A x EF x CF

Where: Cair Chemical concentration in air (µg/m3)
DBR: Daily breathing rate (L/kg-day)

A: Inhalation adsorption factor (unitless)
EF: Exposure Frequency, days at home / days in year (unitless)
CF: 10^-6 Conversion Factor (m3/L and mg/µg)

Cancer Risk (per million) = Dose (Air) x CPF x ASF x (ED/AT) x FAH x 1,000,000

Where: Dose: Dose of chemical in the air (µg/m3)
CPF: Cancer Potency Factor (mg/kg-day)-1

ASF: Age Sensitivity Factor
ED: Exposure Duration (years)
AT: Averaging Time for lifetime cancer risks

FAH: Fraction of daily time spent at home

Risk Parameter Values by Age Bin

0-2 Years 2-16 Years 16-30 Years 16-70 Years
DBR 1090 572 261 233

A 1 1 1 1
EF 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96
CF 1.00E-06 1.00E-06 1.00E-06 1.00E-06

ASF 10 3 1 1
ED 2 14 14 54
AT 70 70 70 70

FAH 0.85 0.72 0.73 0.73

Risk Factors
Pollutant CPF Chronic REL Acute

DPM 1.1 5 0
Veh TOG Exh 6.03E-03 6.73E+01 5.87E+02
Veh TOG Evap 1.31E-03 2.86E+02 2.70E+03

AERMOD Modeled Annual Concentrations (MEI)

Conc. X Y
DPM 0.00645 439859 3765470
Veh TOG Exh 0.1432 439859 3765470
Veh TOG Evap 0.12991 439859 3765470

AERMOD Modeled Maximum 1-HR Concentrations (MEI)

Conc. X Y
Veh TOG Exh 2.32951 439789 3765475
Veh TOG Evap 2.53377 439789 3765475

1.00E-06
10

0.25
70

0.85

MEI

MEI

0.96

Variable Residential Age Bin
3rd Trimester

361
1

Item D - 192 of 1893



Chronic Risk Assessment at MEI
Pollutant Threshold Exceeded?
DPM -- --
Veh TOG Exh -- --
Veh TOG Evap -- --

1.0 No

1-HR Risk Assessment at MEI
Pollutant Threshold Exceeded?
Veh TOG Exh -- --
Veh TOG Evap -- --

1.0 No

DPM Dose @ MEI
Age Group Cair x BR A EF CF Dose

3rd Trimester 0.00645 361 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 2.23E-06
0-2 Years 0.00645 1090 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 6.74E-06

2-16 Years 0.00645 572 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 3.54E-06
16-30 Years 0.00645 261 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 1.61E-06
30-70 Years 0.00645 233 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 1.44E-06

DPM Excess Risk at MEI
Age Group Dose CPF ASF ED AT FAH Conversion Risk
3rd Trimester 2.23E-06 1.1 10 0.25 70 0.85 1,000,000 0.1

0-2 Years 6.74E-06 1.1 10 1.00 70 0.85 1,000,000 0.9
2-16 Years 3.54E-06 1.1 3 1.00 70 0.72 1,000,000 0.1

16-30 Years 1.61E-06 1.1 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.0
30-70 Years 1.44E-06 1.1 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.0

TOG Exh Dose @ MEI
Age Group Cair x BR A EF CF Dose

3rd Trimester 0.14320 361 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 4.96E-05
0-2 Years 0.14320 1090 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 1.50E-04

2-16 Years 0.14320 572 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 7.85E-05
16-30 Years 0.14320 261 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 3.58E-05
30-70 Years 0.14320 233 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 3.20E-05

TOG Exh Excess Risk at MEI
Age Group Dose CPF ASF ED AT FAH Conversion Risk
3rd Trimester 4.96E-05 6.03E-03 10 0.25 70 0.85 1,000,000 0.0

0-2 Years 1.50E-04 6.03E-03 10 1.00 70 0.85 1,000,000 0.1
2-16 Years 7.85E-05 6.03E-03 3 1.00 70 0.72 1,000,000 0.0

16-30 Years 3.58E-05 6.03E-03 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.0
30-70 Years 3.20E-05 6.03E-03 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.0

TOG Evap Dose @ MEI
Age Group Cair x BR A EF CF Dose

3rd Trimester 0.12991 361 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 4.50E-05
0-2 Years 0.12991 1090 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 1.36E-04

2-16 Years 0.12991 572 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 7.13E-05
16-30 Years 0.12991 261 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 3.25E-05
30-70 Years 0.12991 233 1 0.96 1.00E-06 = 2.90E-05

TOG Evap Excess Risk at MEI
Age Group Dose CPF ASF ED AT FAH Conversion Risk
3rd Trimester 4.50E-05 1.31E-03 10 0.25 70 0.85 1,000,000 0.0

0-2 Years 1.36E-04 1.31E-03 10 1.00 70 0.85 1,000,000 0.0
2-16 Years 7.13E-05 1.31E-03 3 1.00 70 0.72 1,000,000 0.0

16-30 Years 3.25E-05 1.31E-03 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.0
30-70 Years 2.90E-05 1.31E-03 1 1.00 70 0.73 1,000,000 0.0

Hazard Index 0.00

2.32951 0.00
2.53377 0.00

0.13 0.00
Hazard Index 0.00

1-HR AERMOD Conc. 1-HR Hazard Index

0.14 0.00

Annual AERMOD Conc. Chronic Hazard Index
0.01 0.00

Item D - 193 of 1893



Total Excess Risk at MEI (Cumulative, Based on Age at Start of Construction)

DPM TOG Exh TOG Evap
0 -0.25 - 0 2025 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
1 0-1 2026 0.9 0.1 0.0 1.0
2 1-2 2027 0.9 0.1 0.0 1.0
3 2-3 2028 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
4 3-4 2029 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
5 4-5 2030 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
6 5-6 2031 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
7 6-7 2032 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
8 7-8 2033 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
9 8-9 2034 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
10 9-10 2035 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
11 10-11 2036 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
12 11-12 2037 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
13 12-13 2038 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
14 13-14 2039 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
15 14-15 2040 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
16 15-16 2041 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
17 16-17 2042 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
18 17-18 2043 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
19 18-19 2044 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
20 19-20 2045 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
21 20-21 2046 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
22 21-22 2047 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
23 22-23 2048 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
24 23-24 2049 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
25 24-25 2050 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
26 25-26 2051 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
27 26-27 2052 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
28 27-28 2053 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
29 28-29 2054 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
30 29-30 2055 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

3.8 0.5 0.1 4.4

1
1
1

Cumulative Life

1
1
1
1
1
1

1

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

1

Cancer Risk (Per Million) Total

0.25
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

Exposure Year Exposure Duration 
(Years) Age Year

Item D - 194 of 1893



Appendix B 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project February 24, 2023
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Appendix B 
AERMOD Output 

Item D - 195 of 1893



Appendix B 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project February 24, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

This page intentionally left blank. 

Item D - 196 of 1893



PRELIMINARY HYDROLOGY REPORT 

EUCLID-WALNUT 

ONTARIO, CA 

NW Corner of E. Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street 
Ontario, California 

Prepared For 
L E G A R Y  P A R T N E R S  

5 1 4 1  C a l i f o r n i a  A v e n u e ,  S u i t e  1 0 0

I r v i n e ,  C A   9 2 6 1 7  

P h  9 4 9 . 9 3 0 . 7 7 1 2  

Prepared By 
Moyenuddin Sirajee, P.E. 
Fuscoe Engineering, Inc. 
2850 Inland Empire Blvd. Building B 
Ontario, California, 91764 
909.581.0676 
www.fuscoe.com 

Project Manager: 
Carolina Gonzalez 

Date Prepared: September 2022 
Revision 1   : April 2023 
Job Number: 424-027 

R

F U L L C I R C L E T H I N K I N G

E N G I N E E R I N G
FUSCOE

Addendum Appendix C

Item D - 197 of 1893



EUCLID AND WALNUT  1 APN 1051-271-66-0

PRELIMINARY HYDROLOGY REPORT 

EUCLID-WALNUT 

Located at NW corner of E. Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street 

in the 

City of Ontario 

County of San Bernardino, California 

Prepared for: 

LEGACY PARTNERS 

5141 California Avenue, Suite 100 

Irvine, CA 92617 

949.930.7712 

Prepared by: 

FUSCOE ENGINEERING, INC. 

2850 Inland Empire Blvd.  Building B 

Ontario, CA 91764 

909.581.0676 

Date Created:    September 2022 

Revised         :    April 2023 

Item D - 198 of 1893



 EUCLID AND WALNUT                                          2 APN 1051-271-66-0  

Table of Contents 

1.0 INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................. 3 

1.1 GEOGRAPHIC SETTING ................................................................................................. 3 

1.2 PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT ............................................................................................ 3 

1.3 REFERENCES .................................................................................................................. 3 

1.3 PROJECT SITE LOCATION MAP ...................................................................................... 4 

1.4 SOIL & PRECIPITATION DATA ......................................................................................... 4 

2.0 EXISTING TOPOGRAPHIC & HYDROLOGIC CONDITIONS ............................................... 5 

2.1 EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY ................................................................................................ 5 

2.2 EXISTING DRAINAGE SYSTEM ......................................................................................... 5 

3.0 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AND DRAINAGE FACILITIES ................................................... 5 

3.1 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT ............................................................................................ 5 

3.2 PROPOSED DRAINAGE FACILITY .................................................................................... 6 

4.0 HYDROLOGY AND HYDRAULIC STUDY ............................................................................ 7 

4.1 METHODOLOGY .......................................................................................................... 7 

5.0 RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS ......................................................................................... 7 

6.0 APPENDICES .......................................................................................................................... 9 

 

Appendix 1 Soil Classification and Maps 

Appendix 2 NOAA Precipitation Data 

Appendix 3 Rational Method Pre and Post Development (Q100-24H & Q10-24H)  

Appendix 4 Hydrology Maps Pre and Post Development Plan  

Appendix 5 Unit Hydrograph and Routing Calculation and Proposed Temporary Detention system  

Appendix 6 Supporting Documents (MPD Map) 

Appendix 7 Soil’s Report 

Item D - 199 of 1893



EUCLID AND WALNUT  3 APN 1051-271-66-0

 1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 GEOGRAPHIC SETTING 

The proposed Euclid-Walnut project is located at the northwest corner of East Euclid Avenue 

and Walnut Street. It is currently developed commercial area with a gross land area of 

approximately 9.60 Acres. This specific site is part of APN 1051-271-66-0 in the City of 

Ontario, CA. The approximate latitude and longitude of the project is 34.027414 and  -

117.652412 respectively. The total disturbed area for this development is approximately 9.83 

Ac.  For additional detail see Project Site Location or Vicinity Map on paragraph 1.3 next 

page. 

1.2 PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 

The proposed Euclid and Walnut development will include the construction of an apartment 

complex with its amenities, drive aisles , landscaping, parking areas and dry/wet utilities.  The 

purpose of this report is to determine the storm water runoff from the completed project site 

will not exceed 90% of the pre-project runoff discharge rate for the 24-hour design storm for 

10-year and 100-year return frequency rainfall events. Sizing of all on-site and off-site

drainage pipes and structures will not be part of this preliminary report. 

1.3 REFERENCES 

• San Bernardino County Hydrology Manual 1986

• The Urban Drainage Design Manual (Federal Highway Administration)

Item D - 200 of 1893



 EUCLID AND WALNUT                                          4 APN 1051-271-66-0  

1.3 PROJECT SITE LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.4 SOIL & PRECIPITATION-RAINFALL INTENSITY DATA  

Per the Geotechnical Exploration Report conducted Leighton and Associates, Inc under Project 

No. 13493.001 dated May 13, 2022, the site is underlain by a relatively thin mantle of 

undocumented artificial fill materials overlaying Ouatemary-aged young alluvial fan deposits. 

Groundwater was not encountered during the subsurface exploration to the maximum depth 

of 51.5 feet. Therefore, groundwater is not expected to pose a constraint during or after 

construction. Percolation testing was also performed and concluded that the site is marginally 

feasible for stormwater infiltration.  

 

The Precipitation and Rainfall Intensity Data for this site was obtained from NOAA web site.  

 

Item D - 201 of 1893



 EUCLID AND WALNUT                                          5 APN 1051-271-66-0  

 

2.0 EXISTING TOPOGRAPHIC & HYDROLOGIC 
CONDITIONS 

2.1 EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY 

The project site is currently a developed commercial site with approximately 93.3% 

imperviousness. It is slightly elevated from northeast to southwest with elevations ranging from 

825 to 809 feet above mean sea level (amsl). The ground surface cover consisted of 

commercial buildings, asphalt pavement and some landscaped areas. West and North of the 

property are currently commercial and residential areas. East of the property is bounded by 

Euclid Avenue while at the southern portion by Walnut Street.  

2.2 EXISTING DRAINAGE SYSTEM 

Per City of Ontario Master Plan of Drainage (MPD) this project lies within the drainage 

subbasins E12, draining to system EULD-VII-1 on the east and subbasin E15, draining to 

system FERN-VII-1 on the west. Currently there is no existing drainage facilities on site. 

Therefore, runoff generating from the site surface flows into the adjacent public street. Runoff 

generating from easterly portion of the site (Area DA-1 per Pre-Development drainage Map, 

this report) sheet flows from northeast location then it drains to a valley gutter at the mid-

portion of the property. It then goes along to a parkway drain that runs to the public street 

(Walnut Street) gutter from east to west direction. Similarly, runoff generating from the rest of 

the site (Area DA-2 per Pre-Development drainage Map, this report) sheet flows and then 

drain through an onsite valley gutter located on the west side of the site, draining south, 

towards Walnut street through the existing concrete driveway approach. Therefore, in existing 

condition the entire site drain into the existing MPD drainage system FERN-VII-1 located on 

the west side of the project. See Appendix 4 for the existing drainage map. 

 

3.0 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AND DRAINAGE 
FACILITIES 

3.1 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

The proposed development will include the construction of an apartment complex, drive 

aisles, landscaping and parking areas. In addition, the development will include installation of 

Item D - 202 of 1893



 EUCLID AND WALNUT                                          6 APN 1051-271-66-0  

appropriate drainage facilities and other utilities. Post development imperviousness will be 

80% using proposed Land Use Development type (Apartment) per SBC Hydrology manual. 

3.2 PROPOSED DRAINAGE FACILITY 

As mentioned earlier that per Master Plan of Drainage (MPD) this project lies within the 

drainage subbasin E12, draining to system EULD-VII-1 on the east and subbasin E15, 

draining to system FERN-VII-1 on the west. The proposed drainage improvement will have 

storm drain system which will mimic MPD drainage pattern as practically as possible. On site 

runoff will be intercepted by series of catch basins which then drain into the proposed 

underground Modular wetland (Proprietary Bioretention Systems to mitigate Water Quality 

requirements) and then into underground storm drain system. The drainage area DA-9 (Per  

Post-Development drainage Map, this report) will drain toward east into the proposed 24-inch 

SD system, an extension of EULD-VII-1, per MPD. The remaining site will drain to south into 

Walnut Street and then drain westward into the system FERN-VII-1 per MPD. Due to site’s low 

infiltration capacity all the water quality runoff needs to be treated with proprietary Bioretention 

system. These systems are underground and therefore the storm drain system need to be 

underground. As there is no underground storm drain system on the south to receive runoff 

from drainage area draining toward south, therefore 100-year runoff generating from some of 

the drainage area needed to be pumped out to the street on the south. Therefore, it has been 

proposed to collect runoff generating from the drainage area as designated by DA-1 thru DA-

3 as well as water quality flow from the drainage areas DA-4 to DA-8 temporarily into an 

underground detention facility and pump these out into Walnut Street. The pumping will begin 

as soon as the detention facility start to receive runoff from these drainage areas. The 

pumping capacity generally are far lower than the 100-year runoff rate. Therefore, an 

underground storage facility is required. It will be sized based on the delta flow between 100-

years flow and the to be installed pumping capacity. A preliminary calculation using a pump 

system with 230-gpm (0.51cfs) pumping capacity will require a 1.08 acre-ft of onsite storage. 

The location and layout of the detention facility and pump system can be found in Post-

Development Drainage Map in Appendix 4 of this report. The proposed storm drain system 

will be designed to capture 100yr storm events. Additionally, this specific project site is a 

HCOC Exempt area per County of San Bernardino Storm Water Facility Mapping Tool. Pre 

and Post development Maps are shown in the Hydrology Map in Appendix 4. 

 

Item D - 203 of 1893



EUCLID AND WALNUT  7 APN 1051-271-66-0

4.0 HYDROLOGY AND HYDRAULIC STUDY 

4.1 METHODOLOGY 

The hydrology study was performed under the guidelines of the San Bernardino County (SBC) 

Hydrology Manual. Rational method was used to calculate peak runoff rates as prescribed by 

the San Bernardino County Hydrology Manual. 

Computer programs were used: 

• Rational Method, Unit Hydrograph &

Flood Hydrograph Routing; CIVILD

Results of the analysis are included in this report on Appendix 3. 

5.0 RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS 

Based on the calculations, it was determined that the proposed development discharge rates 

for 100-year storm event decreased from 34.85 cfs to 25.86 due to the reduction of 

imperviousness and temporary detention. It is anticipated that there will be no flooding in the 

site due to this development and mitigation measures.  Rational Method calculation, Unit 

Hydrograph calculation and Routing Calculation for pre and post development condition 

shown on Appendix 3.  

PRE-DEVELOPED CONDITIONS 100 YEAR 24HR STORM EVENT 

Drainage 

Area 
Remarks 

Area 

(acre) 

Soil 

Type 

Q100Y 

24H 

(cfs) 

DA-1 Discharging to Location Node 1.02 6.8 A / B 25.06 

DA-2 Discharging to Location Node 2.02 2.8 A / B 9.79 

Total Site Leaving site at S/W corner on Walnut St. 9.6 A / B 34.85 

Item D - 204 of 1893



 EUCLID AND WALNUT                                          8 APN 1051-271-66-0  

POST-DEVELOPED CONDITIONS 100 YEAR 24HR STORM EVENT 

 (BEFORE DETENTION) 

 

Drainage 

Area 

 

Remarks 

 

Area 

(acre) 

Soil 

Type 

Q100Y 

24H 

(cfs) 

DA-1 to DA-3 Discharging to Location Node 1.05 4.73 A / B 17.71 

DA-4 Discharging to Location Node 4.02 1.32 B 4.63 

DA-5 Discharging to Location Node 5.02 0.54 B 2.45 

DA-6 Discharging to Location Node 6.02 0.41 B 1.85 

DA-7.1 Discharging to Parkway Drain-4 0.75 B 3.44 

DA-7.2 Discharging to Parkway Drain-5 0.19 B 0.92 

DA-8 Discharging to Location Node 8.03 0.69 B 3.28 

DA-9 Discharging to Location Node 9.04 0.97 A / B 4.18 

Total Site  9.6 A / B 38.46 

 

POST-DEVELOPED CONDITIONS 100 YEAR 24HR STORM EVENT 

(AFTER DETENTION) 

 

Drainage 

Area 

 

Remarks 

 

Area 

(acre) 

Soil 

Type 

Q100Y 

24H 

(cfs) 

DA-1 to DA-3 Discharging to Location Node 1.05 4.73 A / B 5.11 

DA-4 Discharging to Location Node 4.02 1.32 B 4.63 

DA-5 Discharging to Location Node 5.02 0.54 B 2.45 

DA-6 Discharging to Location Node 6.02 0.41 B 1.85 

DA-7.1 Discharging to Parkway Drain-4 0.75 B 3.44 

DA-7.2 Discharging to Parkway Drain-5 0.19 B 0.92 

DA-8 Discharging to Location Node 8.03 0.69 B 3.28 

DA-9 Discharging to Location Node 9.04 0.97 A / B 4.18 

Total Site  9.6 A / B 25.86 

 

Item D - 205 of 1893



 EUCLID AND WALNUT                                          9 APN 1051-271-66-0  

CONCLUSION: 

 

PRE-CONSTRUCTION VS. POST-CONSTRUCTION FLOW SUMMARY  

Discharge 

Location 

Pre-

Development 

Flow rate, 

Q100Y-24H 

Post-

Development  

Flow rate  

 Q100Y-24H 

 
 

Conclusion 

 LEAVING SITE  34.85 cfs  

 

 

 

LEAVING SITE  25.86 cfs 

Post Development flow 

decreased to 74% of Pre-

Development 

 
 
6.0 APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 Soil Classification and Maps 

Appendix 2 NOAA Precipitation Data 

Appendix 3 Rational Method Pre and Post Development (Q100-24H & Q10-24H)  

Appendix 4 Hydrology Maps Pre and Post Development Plan  

Appendix 5 Unit Hydrograph and Routing Calculation and Proposed Temporary Detention system  

Appendix 6 Supporting Documents (MPD Map) 

Appendix 7 Soil’s Report 

 

 

Item D - 206 of 1893



APPENDIX 1 

 
 

SOIL CLASSIFICATION AND MAPS 
 

Item D - 207 of 1893



Hydrologic Soil Group—San Bernardino County Southwestern Part, California

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

3/20/2023
Page 1 of 4

37
65

29
0

37
65

32
0

37
65

35
0

37
65

38
0

37
65

41
0

37
65

44
0

37
65

47
0

37
65

50
0

37
65

29
0

37
65

32
0

37
65

35
0

37
65

38
0

37
65

41
0

37
65

44
0

37
65

47
0

37
65

50
0

439600 439630 439660 439690 439720 439750 439780 439810 439840 439870 439900 439930

439600 439630 439660 439690 439720 439750 439780 439810 439840 439870 439900 439930

34°  1' 42'' N
11

7°
  3

9'
 1

5'
' W

34°  1' 42'' N

11
7°

  3
9'

 1
'' W

34°  1' 35'' N

11
7°

  3
9'

 1
5'
' W

34°  1' 35'' N

11
7°

  3
9'

 1
'' W

N

Map projection: Web Mercator   Corner coordinates: WGS84   Edge tics: UTM Zone 11N WGS84
0 50 100 200 300

Feet
0 20 40 80 120

Meters
Map Scale: 1:1,650 if printed on A landscape (11" x 8.5") sheet.

Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.

Item D - 208 of 1893



APPENDIX 2 

NOAA PRECIPITATION DATA 

Item D - 209 of 1893



������������	
��������
����������
����������������������
�����������
�����
����������	� �!"#
����$������%��!��"��#

&��'��������(����
)*+,-./01*2345*678+
))*+,-./01*93:3

;�<�=�;>&�<;<=�=<���?>&@�&��A�&�=<B�=&�

37CD7*E0.F/7G*37.7H*IF0JKG*37.7H*L0FMG*NFOOF7C*LFC0.G*P7K-CQ-*67FJ7.F7G*I0R,.7H*67.JFCG*37CS.7
E7TO,TF/G*5+H7CF*4,UG*V7.O*W.U87O-XG*I7O0*9C.-HG*Y0CQOFC*Z7CG*6F/H70O*Z0XJ7G*W7C*[H7,G*:0,\\.0U

],CCFCG*I7CF0O*].0̂ 0.G*NF_VH-7C*VH0CG*WU0*E7.KUR,XG*̀,HC*Z7./H,7C

abccG*a7JF,C7O*d07JH0.*30.TF/0G*3FOT0.*38.FCQG*67.UO7CS

EYeJ7R-O7.*f*EYeQ.78HF/7O*f*678+ege70.F7O+

;?���h���

;i�%h�����j�����j����j�����������k���l�����������m��n�o p�����������������'����q������n��r�

i������
�'���$�����������������'���ql����r

� � " � �" " �  �  "  �   

"%���
 ����

stutvwxtuyzy{
 ��"�

stuy|wxtuy}~{
 ��oo

stuy��xtu|z|{
 ���!

stuyv�xtu|vy{
 ���o

stu|�txtu���{
 ����

stu|~~xtuz|~{
 ���!

stu|wvxtuz}v{
 �	 �

stu�tyxtu~~v{
 �	��

stu�|wxtu���{
 �" �

stu�z~xtuw~y{

� %���
 ���!

stuy�vxtu|t|{
 ���o

stuy}|xtu|�~{
 ����

stu|�}xtu�zw{
 ��	 

stu|}txtuzyw{
 �	�	

stu�|vxtu~|~{
 �	! 

stu���xtu�tv{
 �"��

stuzttxtuwty{
 �"�"

stuz�yxtu}t|{
 ���	

stuz�vxtuv~t{
 �!��

stuzvzxyut}{

�"%���
 �� �

stuy�}xtu|zz{
 ���	

stu||txtu�|t{
 ��	�

stu|}wxtuz|t{
 �	��

stu��vxtu~tz{
 �"  

stu�v}xtu��~{
 �"��

stuzz|xtuw�w{
 ���!

stuz}�xtu}zw{
 �! !

stu~|yxtuv�v{
 �� �

stu~�wxyuy~{
 ��!�

stu~v}xyu�t{

� %���
 �� "

stu|~~xtu�wt{
 �	 �

stu��zxtuz}~{
 �"�	

stuz�~xtu���{
 ����

stu~yzxtuw�z{
 �!"�

stu�t�xtuv�y{
 ��� 

stu�wtxyuy|{
 �o�	

stuw�|xyu|}{
�� !

stuwvtxyuzw{
����

stu}~vxyuwz{
����

stuvt~xyuvw{

� %���
 �	"�

stu�}yxtu~~|{
 �"o�

stuzv}xtuw|z{
 �!��

stu�~txtuv~t{
 �o� 

stuw�wxyuyz{
����

stuvttxyuzz{
����

syuttxyu�w{
��		

syutvxyuv|{
��� 

syuy}x|uyv{
����

syu|}x|u�t{
��o�

syu�~x|uvz{

�%n�
 ����

stu~wtxtu}|�{
 ��o	

stuwz~xyut}{
����

stuv�~xyuzy{
���!

syuy�xyu�}{
���"

syu�yx|utv{
���"

syuzzx|uzt{
�� �

syu~�x|uwz{
����

syu��x�utv{
��"�

syuw}x�u�y{
��!�

syu}�xzutz{

�%n�
 ��"�

stuwy�xyutz{
����

stuv��xyu��{
��	"

syu|yxyuww{
��!�

syuzyx|uyt{
�� "

syu��x|u�t{
��� 

syuwvx|uv}{
��"	

syuv�x�u�}{
��!�

s|ut~x�u}y{
��� 

s|uyvxzuz�{
����

s|u|wxzuvz{

�%n�
���o

stuvv�xyuzz{
��"�

syu�txyu}v{
�� �

syu�wx|uz~{
���!

syuv~x|uvt{
����

s|u|~x�u~v{
����

s|uz�xzuyt{
��	o

s|u�~xzu�z{
����

s|u}yx~u|�{
	��	

s|uvvx�ut�{
	�""

s�uytx�uw~{

��%n�
��""

syu|vxyu}}{
�� �

syu�vx|uz~{
����

s|uy}x�uyv{
��� 

s|u~~x�uwv{
��!�

s|uv~xzuwy{
	��!

s�u|zx~uzt{
	���

s�u~tx�uyz{
"� �

s�uw�x�uvz{
"��	

s�uv}x}ut}{
�� �

szuyzxvut|{

�	%n�
�� �

syuwvx|u��{
���"

s|u�~x�ut�{
��	!

s�ut�xzut|{
	���

s�u�yxzu}|{
"�  

szu|�x�ut�{
"���

szu�vx�uv�{
����

s~uy|xwuv�{
��o�

s~u~txvut~{
!���

s~uv�xytu�{
��"�

s�u|�xyyuv{

�%��l
��	�

s|uy�x|uw}{
����

s|u}~x�uw�{
	���

s�u}txzuvv{
"��o

szu~zx�ut�{
��	 

s~uz|xwuw|{
!��	

s�ut}xvut�{
���o

s�uwyxytuz{
o���

swu�yxy|ut{
� ��

s}ut~xyzu�{
���!

s}u~~xy�u�{

�%��l
��"�

s|u|}x|uvw{
��" 

s�uytxzutz{
	�!�

szuywx~uz}{
"�!"

s~ut�x�uwy{
!���

s�ut�x}u��{
���!

s�u}�xytu|{
o�	 

swu�|xyyuv{
� ��

s}u�~xy�uw{
����

svu|wxy�u~{
����

svuv|xy}uv{

	%��l
��!!

s|uz~x�u|t{
��� 

s�u��xzu�}{
"���

szu~~x~uv}{
��� 

s~u~yxwu�~{
!���

s�u��xvuz}{
o� o

swu~zxyyu|{
� �	

s}u�vxy�uy{
���!

svu|yxy~uy{
���"

sytu|xy}u�{
�"� 

syyutx|tuv{

!%��l
����

s|u}~x�uwy{
	�	�

s�uvyx~uyy{
�� �

s~u�|x�uv}{
!��"

s�uz�x}u~}{
o��!

swuw�xyyuy{
� ��

s}uw}xy�ut{
��� 

svuw~xy~u|{
����

sytuwxywu�{
�"��

syyu}x|yuy{
�!��

sy|u�x|zuy{

� %��l
��"�

s�uyyxzut~{
	��"

szu|}x~u~v{
����

s~u}�xwu�~{
�� �

swut~xvuzy{
� ��

s}u~yxy|uy{
����

svu�|xyzu�{
����

sytuwxy�u�{
�	��

syyuwxyvu|{
�!��

sy|uvx|�ut{
����

sy�u}x|�u�{

� %��l
	���

s�uwwxzuvy{
"�o	

s~u|~x�u}�{
���o

swu||xvuz}{
� � 

s}uwvxyyuw{
����

sytuwxy~u|{
�	��

sy|uyxy}ut{
���!

sy�u~x|yut{
����

syzuvx|zuz{
����

sy�u~x|vuz{
�	��

sywuwx��uw{

� %��l
"�  

szuz�x~uww{
!� �

s�uyvx}utv{
o�!�

s}u~wxyyu|{
��� 

sytu~xyzut{
�"��

sy|u}xy}u�{
�!�!

syzu�x|yuw{
� ��

sy�uzx|~u~{
��� 

sy}uyx|vu}{
����

s|tu�x��u|{
�o�o

s|yuvxzyuw{

	"%��l
"�o!

s~u|vx�u}v{
���"

swu�}xvu�z{
����

sytu|xy�uz{
�	�	

sy|u�xy�u}{
����

sy~u~x||uy{
���"

sywu}x|�u~{
�	�o

s|tuyx�yu�{
���	

s||uzx��u}{
���"

s|~uzxz~u|{
�!��

s|wu~x~|u~{

� %��l
��o	

s�uyzx}utt{
o���

s}u~txyyuy{
���	

syyu}xy~u~{
����

syzu~xyvu�{
����

sy}utx|~u�{
�"��

s|tu}x�tu}{
�o��

s|�u�x��uw{
����

s|�uzxz�u~{
�o�o

s�tu|x~�u}{
	"��

s��utx��ut{

y*E.0/F8FJ7JF,C*\.0�-0C/U*sEY{*0+JFM7J0+*FC*JHF+*J7RO0*7.0*R7+0S*,C*\.0�-0C/U*7C7OU+F+*,\*87.JF7O*S-.7JF,C*+0.F0+*sEI3{u

a-MR0.+*FC*87.0CJH0+F+*7.0*EY*0+JFM7J0+*7J*O,̂ 0.*7CS*-880.*R,-CS+*,\*JH0*vt�*/,C\FS0C/0*FCJ0.T7Ou*WH0*8.,R7RFOFJU*JH7J*8.0/F8FJ7JF,C*\.0�-0C/U*0+JFM7J0+*s\,.
7*QFT0C*S-.7JF,C*7CS*7T0.7Q0*.0/-..0C/0*FCJ0.T7O{*̂FOO*R0*Q.07J0.*JH7C*JH0*-880.*R,-CS*s,.*O0++*JH7C*JH0*O,̂ 0.*R,-CS{*F+*~�u*2+JFM7J0+*7J*-880.*R,-CS+*7.0*C,J
/H0/X0S*7Q7FC+J*8.,R7RO0*M7�FM-M*8.0/F8FJ7JF,C*sE6E{*0+JFM7J0+*7CS*M7U*R0*HFQH0.*JH7C*/-..0CJOU*T7OFS*E6E*T7O-0+u

EO07+0*.0\0.*J,*abcc*cJO7+*yz*S,/-M0CJ*\,.*M,.0*FC\,.M7JF,Cu

]7/X*J,*W,8

;?�$��jn����

Item D - 210 of 1893



����������

���
���
��

��
����
������
��

Item D - 211 of 1893



�����������	����
�

��������������

���������������
��

�

�
���

��


�

�
�����

���


�

�
�����

���


Item D - 212 of 1893



�����������

	
���������������������
���������������������������������������������

����������������
�����
�������������������
����� ���������!�"�#�$

�����
���"%�&���'(�'

)*�������+,�!�
�-)*�������.����-"��

���������

/

0
12234

5246

Item D - 213 of 1893



APPENDIX 3 

RATIONAL METHOD: PRE AND POST 
DEVELOPMENT (Q100-24HR & Q10-24HR) 

PARKWAY CULVERT CALCULATION 

Item D - 214 of 1893



   San Bernardino County Rational Hydrology Program

       (Hydrology Manual Date - August 1986)

  CIVILCADD/CIVILDESIGN  Engineering Software, (c) 1989-2005 Version 7.1
  Rational Hydrology Study        Date: 04/19/23
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
 RATIONAL, EUCLID AND WALNUT
 100-YEAR EVENT
 PRE CONSTRUCTION
 FUSCOE ENGINEERING
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------

 Program License Serial Number 6049

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
  *********   Hydrology Study Control Information **********

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
 Rational hydrology study storm event year is   100.0
 Computed rainfall intensity:
 Storm year =   100.00   1 hour rainfall =     1.440 (In.)
 Slope used for rainfall intensity curve b =  0.6000
 Soil antecedent moisture condition (AMC) = 2

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.010 to Point/Station        1.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Soil classification AP and SCS  values input by user
 USER INPUT of soil data for subarea        
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 95.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.0700     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.007(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   898.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   824.100(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   812.000(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =    12.100(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01347  s(%)=       1.35
 TC = k(0.292)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =   10.482 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      4.102(In/Hr) for a   100.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.898
 Subarea runoff =     25.062(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        6.800(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.070
 Initial area Fm value =    0.007(In/Hr)

Item D - 215 of 1893



++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++

Process from Point/Station        2.010 to Point/Station        2.020

**** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****

______________________________________________________________________

Soil classification AP and SCS  values input by user

USER INPUT of soil data for subarea  

SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 95.00

Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.0500     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.005(In/Hr)

Initial subarea data:

Initial area flow distance =  879.000(Ft.)

Top (of initial area) elevation =  817.000(Ft.)

Bottom (of initial area) elevation =  810.300(Ft.)

Difference in elevation =  6.700(Ft.)

Slope =    0.00762  s(%)=  0.76

TC = k(0.287)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2

Initial area time of concentration =  11.450 min.

Rainfall intensity =      3.890(In/Hr) for a   100.0 year storm

Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.899

Subarea runoff =      9.791(CFS)

Total initial stream area =        2.800(Ac.)

Pervious area fraction = 0.050

Initial area Fm value =    0.005(In/Hr)

End of computations, Total Study Area =            9.60 (Ac.)
 The following figures may

 be used for a unit hydrograph study of the same area.
 Note: These figures do not consider reduced effective area

 effects caused by confluences in the rational equation.

 Area averaged pervious area fraction(Ap) = 0.064

Area averaged SCS curve number =  95.0

Item D - 216 of 1893



   San Bernardino County Rational Hydrology Program

       (Hydrology Manual Date - August 1986)

  CIVILCADD/CIVILDESIGN  Engineering Software, (c) 1989-2005 Version 7.1
  Rational Hydrology Study        Date: 04/25/23
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
 RATIONAL, EUCLID AND WALNUT
 100-YEAR EVENT
 POST CONSTRUCTION
 FUSCOE ENGINEERING
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------

 Program License Serial Number 6049

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
  *********   Hydrology Study Control Information **********

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
 Rational hydrology study storm event year is   100.0
 Computed rainfall intensity:
 Storm year =   100.00   1 hour rainfall =     1.440 (In.)
 Slope used for rainfall intensity curve b =  0.6000
 Soil antecedent moisture condition (AMC) = 2

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.010 to Point/Station        1.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.480
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 0.520
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 44.48
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.174(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   595.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   821.000(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   814.800(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     6.200(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01042  s(%)=       1.04
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =   10.394 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      4.123(In/Hr) for a   100.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.862
 Subarea runoff =      6.290(CFS)

Item D - 217 of 1893



 Total initial stream area =        1.770(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.174(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.020 to Point/Station        1.030
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   810.700(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   810.300(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =    63.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     6.290(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     6.290(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =   11.65(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   17.20(In.)
 Critical Depth =   11.63(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      5.20(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.20 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =    10.60 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.030 to Point/Station        1.040
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   809.000(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   806.300(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =   346.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     6.290(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     6.290(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =   10.86(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   17.61(In.)
 Critical Depth =   11.63(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      5.64(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    1.02 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =    11.62 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.030 to Point/Station        1.040
 **** CONFLUENCE OF MAIN STREAMS ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 The following data inside Main Stream is listed:
 In Main Stream number: 1
 Stream flow area =      1.770(Ac.)
 Runoff from this stream =      6.290(CFS)
 Time of concentration =   11.62 min.

Item D - 218 of 1893



 Rainfall intensity =     3.856(In/Hr)
 Area averaged loss rate (Fm) =    0.1744(In/Hr)
 Area averaged Pervious ratio (Ap) = 0.2000
 Program is now starting with Main Stream No. 2

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.010 to Point/Station        2.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   376.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   820.100(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   815.600(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     4.500(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01197  s(%)=       1.20
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =    8.414 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      4.680(In/Hr) for a   100.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.872
 Subarea runoff =      5.957(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        1.460(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.020 to Point/Station        2.030
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   809.600(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   809.200(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =    77.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     5.957(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     5.957(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =   12.02(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   16.95(In.)
 Critical Depth =   11.31(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      4.74(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.27 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     8.68 min.

Item D - 219 of 1893



 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.030 to Point/Station        2.040
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   807.800(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   806.500(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =   262.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     5.957(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     5.957(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =   12.23(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   16.80(In.)
 Critical Depth =   11.31(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      4.66(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.94 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     9.62 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.030 to Point/Station        2.040
 **** CONFLUENCE OF MINOR STREAMS ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Along Main Stream number: 2 in normal stream number 1
 Stream flow area =      1.460(Ac.)
 Runoff from this stream =      5.957(CFS)
 Time of concentration =    9.62 min.
 Rainfall intensity =     4.318(In/Hr)
 Area averaged loss rate (Fm) =    0.1468(In/Hr)
 Area averaged Pervious ratio (Ap) = 0.2000

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        3.010 to Point/Station        3.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   293.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   817.700(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   815.100(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     2.600(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.00887  s(%)=       0.89
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2

Item D - 220 of 1893



 Initial area time of concentration =    8.085 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      4.793(In/Hr) for a   100.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.872
 Subarea runoff =      6.273(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        1.500(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        3.020 to Point/Station        3.030
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   810.100(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   809.200(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =   181.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     6.273(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     6.273(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =   12.70(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   16.41(In.)
 Critical Depth =   11.62(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      4.70(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.64 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     8.73 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        3.030 to Point/Station        2.040
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   807.900(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   806.500(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =    16.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     6.273(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     6.273(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =    5.48(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   16.57(In.)
 Critical Depth =   11.62(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =     13.76(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.02 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     8.75 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        3.030 to Point/Station        2.040
 **** CONFLUENCE OF MINOR STREAMS ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Along Main Stream number: 2 in normal stream number 2

Item D - 221 of 1893



Stream flow area =  1.500(Ac.)

Runoff from this stream =  6.273(CFS)

Time of concentration =  8.75 min.

Rainfall intensity =  4.573(In/Hr)

Area averaged loss rate (Fm) =  0.1468(In/Hr)

Area averaged Pervious ratio (Ap) = 0.2000

Summary of stream data:

Stream Flow rate  Area  TC     Fm   Rainfall Intensity

 No.    (CFS)  (Ac.)  (min) (In/Hr)  (In/Hr)

1  5.96  1.460  9.62  0.147  4.318

2  6.27  1.500  8.75  0.147  4.573

Qmax(1) =

 1.000 *  1.000 *  5.957) +

 0.942 *  1.000 *  6.273) + =  11.869

Qmax(2) =

 1.061 *  0.909 *  5.957) +

 1.000 *  1.000 *  6.273) + =  12.018

Total of 2 streams to confluence:

Flow rates before confluence point:

  5.957       6.273

Maximum flow rates at confluence using above data:

  11.869       12.018

Area of streams before confluence:

  1.460        1.500

Effective area values after confluence:

  2.960        2.827

Results of confluence:

Total flow rate =     12.018(CFS)

Time of concentration =     8.746 min.

Effective stream area after confluence =  2.827(Ac.)

Study area average Pervious fraction(Ap) =  0.200

Study area average soil loss rate(Fm) =  0.147(In/Hr)

Study area total (this main stream) =   2.96(Ac.)

++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++

Process from Point/Station        2.040 to Point/Station        1.040

**** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****

______________________________________________________________________

Upstream point/station elevation =  806.500(Ft.)

Downstream point/station elevation =  806.300(Ft.)

Pipe length  =    42.00(Ft.)  Manning's N = 0.013

No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =  12.018(CFS)

Given pipe size =     24.00(In.)

Calculated individual pipe flow  =  12.018(CFS)

Normal flow depth in pipe =  15.80(In.)

Item D - 222 of 1893



 Flow top width inside pipe =   22.77(In.)
 Critical Depth =   14.94(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      5.48(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.13 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     8.87 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.040 to Point/Station        1.040
 **** CONFLUENCE OF MAIN STREAMS ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 The following data inside Main Stream is listed:
 In Main Stream number: 2
 Stream flow area =      2.827(Ac.)
 Runoff from this stream =     12.018(CFS)
 Time of concentration =    8.87 min.
 Rainfall intensity =     4.533(In/Hr)
 Area averaged loss rate (Fm) =    0.1468(In/Hr)
 Area averaged Pervious ratio (Ap) = 0.2000
 Summary of stream data:

 Stream Flow rate    Area    TC     Fm       Rainfall Intensity
  No.    (CFS)   (Ac.)       (min) (In/Hr)     (In/Hr)

 1      6.29     1.770     11.62    0.174      3.856
 2     12.02     2.827      8.87    0.147      4.533
 Qmax(1) =
     1.000 *    1.000 *     6.290) +
     0.846 *    1.000 *    12.018) + =      16.453
 Qmax(2) =
     1.184 *    0.764 *     6.290) +
     1.000 *    1.000 *    12.018) + =      17.705

 Total of 2 main streams to confluence:
 Flow rates before confluence point:
        7.290      13.018
 Maximum flow rates at confluence using above data:
        16.453       17.705
 Area of streams before confluence:
         1.770        2.827
 Effective area values after confluence:
         4.597        4.179

 Results of confluence:
 Total flow rate =     17.705(CFS)
 Time of concentration =     8.874 min.
 Effective stream area after confluence  =      4.179(Ac.)
 Study area average Pervious fraction(Ap) =  0.200

Item D - 223 of 1893



 Study area average soil loss rate(Fm) =    0.157(In/Hr)
 Study area total =       4.60(Ac.)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.040 to Point/Station        1.050
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   806.300(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   805.800(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =   100.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =    17.705(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     30.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =    17.705(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =   16.92(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   29.75(In.)
 Critical Depth =   17.09(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      6.20(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.27 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     9.14 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        4.010 to Point/Station        4.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   641.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   816.000(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   809.400(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     6.600(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01030  s(%)=       1.03
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =   10.734 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      4.044(In/Hr) for a   100.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.867
 Subarea runoff =      4.630(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        1.320(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++

Item D - 224 of 1893



 Process from Point/Station        5.010 to Point/Station        5.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   269.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   813.700(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   809.800(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     3.900(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01450  s(%)=       1.45
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =    7.082 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      5.190(In/Hr) for a   100.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.875
 Subarea runoff =      2.451(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        0.540(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        6.010 to Point/Station        6.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   269.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   813.900(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   810.200(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     3.700(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01375  s(%)=       1.38
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =    7.157 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      5.157(In/Hr) for a   100.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.874
 Subarea runoff =      1.849(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        0.410(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200

Item D - 225 of 1893



 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        7.010 to Point/Station        7.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   284.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   816.200(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   810.700(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     5.500(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01937  s(%)=       1.94
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =    6.831 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      5.304(In/Hr) for a   100.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.875
 Subarea runoff =      4.363(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        0.940(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        8.010 to Point/Station        8.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   204.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   817.400(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   814.900(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     2.500(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01225  s(%)=       1.23
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =    6.557 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      5.435(In/Hr) for a   100.0 year storm

Item D - 226 of 1893



 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.876
 Subarea runoff =      3.284(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        0.690(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        8.020 to Point/Station        8.030
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   812.700(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   811.900(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =   110.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     3.284(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     12.00(In.)
 NOTE: Normal flow is pressure flow in user selected pipe size.
 The approximate hydraulic grade line above the pipe invert is
      0.542(Ft.)  at the headworks or inlet of the pipe(s)
  Pipe friction loss =      0.934(Ft.)
   Minor friction loss =      0.407(Ft.) K-factor =   1.50
 Pipe flow velocity =      4.18(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.44 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     7.00 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        9.010 to Point/Station        9.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.850
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 0.150
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 35.60
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.191(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   340.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   824.000(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   818.400(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     5.600(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01647  s(%)=       1.65
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =    7.582 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      4.982(In/Hr) for a   100.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.866
 Subarea runoff =      4.182(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        0.970(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200

Item D - 227 of 1893



 Initial area Fm value =    0.191(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        9.020 to Point/Station        9.030
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   815.300(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   815.200(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =    30.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     4.182(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     4.182(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =   10.99(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   17.55(In.)
 Critical Depth =    9.41(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      3.70(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.14 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     7.72 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        9.030 to Point/Station        9.040
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   813.800(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   813.600(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =    49.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     4.182(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     4.182(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =   10.29(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   17.81(In.)
 Critical Depth =    9.41(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      4.00(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.20 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     7.92 min.
 End of computations, Total Study Area =            9.60 (Ac.)
  The following figures may
  be used for a unit hydrograph study of the same area.
  Note: These figures do not consider reduced effective area
  effects caused by confluences in the rational equation.

  Area averaged pervious area fraction(Ap) = 0.200
 Area averaged SCS curve number =  51.8

Item D - 228 of 1893



   San Bernardino County Rational Hydrology Program

       (Hydrology Manual Date - August 1986)

  CIVILCADD/CIVILDESIGN  Engineering Software, (c) 1989-2005 Version 7.1
  Rational Hydrology Study        Date: 04/26/23
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
 RATIONAL, EUCLID AND WALNUT
 10-YEAR EVENT
 PRE CONSTRUCTION
 FUSCOE ENGINEERING
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------

 Program License Serial Number 6049

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
  *********   Hydrology Study Control Information **********

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
 Rational hydrology study storm event year is    10.0
 Computed rainfall intensity:
 Storm year =    10.00   1 hour rainfall =     0.930 (In.)
 Slope used for rainfall intensity curve b =  0.6000
 Soil antecedent moisture condition (AMC) = 2

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.010 to Point/Station        1.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Soil classification AP and SCS  values input by user
 USER INPUT of soil data for subarea        
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 95.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.0700     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.007(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   898.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   824.100(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   812.000(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =    12.100(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01347  s(%)=       1.35
 TC = k(0.292)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =   10.482 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      2.649(In/Hr) for a    10.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.898
 Subarea runoff =     16.171(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        6.800(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.070
 Initial area Fm value =    0.007(In/Hr)

Item D - 229 of 1893



 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.010 to Point/Station        2.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Soil classification AP and SCS  values input by user
 USER INPUT of soil data for subarea        
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 95.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.0500     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.005(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   879.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   817.000(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   810.300(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     6.700(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.00762  s(%)=       0.76
 TC = k(0.287)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =   11.450 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      2.512(In/Hr) for a    10.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.898
 Subarea runoff =      6.319(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        2.800(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.050
 Initial area Fm value =    0.005(In/Hr)
 End of computations, Total Study Area =            9.60 (Ac.)
  The following figures may
  be used for a unit hydrograph study of the same area.
  Note: These figures do not consider reduced effective area
  effects caused by confluences in the rational equation.

  Area averaged pervious area fraction(Ap) = 0.064
 Area averaged SCS curve number =  95.0

Item D - 230 of 1893



   San Bernardino County Rational Hydrology Program

       (Hydrology Manual Date - August 1986)

  CIVILCADD/CIVILDESIGN  Engineering Software, (c) 1989-2005 Version 7.1
  Rational Hydrology Study        Date: 04/26/23
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
 RATIONAL, EUCLID AND WALNUT
 10-YEAR EVENT
 POST CONSTRUCTION
 FUSCOE ENGINEERING
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------

 Program License Serial Number 6049

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
  *********   Hydrology Study Control Information **********

 ------------------------------------------------------------------------
 Rational hydrology study storm event year is    10.0
 Computed rainfall intensity:
 Storm year =    10.00   1 hour rainfall =     0.930 (In.)
 Slope used for rainfall intensity curve b =  0.6000
 Soil antecedent moisture condition (AMC) = 2

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.010 to Point/Station        1.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.480
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 0.520
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 44.48
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.174(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   595.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   821.000(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   814.800(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     6.200(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01042  s(%)=       1.04
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =   10.394 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      2.663(In/Hr) for a    10.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.841
 Subarea runoff =      3.964(CFS)

Item D - 231 of 1893



 Total initial stream area =        1.770(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.174(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.020 to Point/Station        1.030
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   810.700(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   810.300(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =    63.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     3.964(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     3.964(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =    8.72(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   17.99(In.)
 Critical Depth =    9.14(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      4.67(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.22 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =    10.62 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.030 to Point/Station        1.040
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   809.000(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   806.300(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =   346.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     3.964(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     3.964(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =    8.21(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   17.93(In.)
 Critical Depth =    9.14(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      5.04(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    1.14 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =    11.76 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.030 to Point/Station        1.040
 **** CONFLUENCE OF MAIN STREAMS ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 The following data inside Main Stream is listed:
 In Main Stream number: 1
 Stream flow area =      1.770(Ac.)
 Runoff from this stream =      3.964(CFS)
 Time of concentration =   11.76 min.

Item D - 232 of 1893



 Rainfall intensity =     2.472(In/Hr)
 Area averaged loss rate (Fm) =    0.1744(In/Hr)
 Area averaged Pervious ratio (Ap) = 0.2000
 Program is now starting with Main Stream No. 2

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.010 to Point/Station        2.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   376.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   820.100(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   815.600(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     4.500(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01197  s(%)=       1.20
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =    8.414 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      3.022(In/Hr) for a    10.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.856
 Subarea runoff =      3.779(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        1.460(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.020 to Point/Station        2.030
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   809.600(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   809.200(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =    77.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     3.779(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     3.779(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =    8.99(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   18.00(In.)
 Critical Depth =    8.92(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      4.28(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.30 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     8.71 min.

Item D - 233 of 1893



 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.030 to Point/Station        2.040
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   807.800(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   806.500(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =   262.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     3.779(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     3.779(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =    9.12(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   18.00(In.)
 Critical Depth =    8.92(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      4.21(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    1.04 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     9.75 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.030 to Point/Station        2.040
 **** CONFLUENCE OF MINOR STREAMS ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Along Main Stream number: 2 in normal stream number 1
 Stream flow area =      1.460(Ac.)
 Runoff from this stream =      3.779(CFS)
 Time of concentration =    9.75 min.
 Rainfall intensity =     2.767(In/Hr)
 Area averaged loss rate (Fm) =    0.1468(In/Hr)
 Area averaged Pervious ratio (Ap) = 0.2000

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        3.010 to Point/Station        3.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   293.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   817.700(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   815.100(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     2.600(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.00887  s(%)=       0.89
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2

Item D - 234 of 1893



 Initial area time of concentration =    8.085 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      3.096(In/Hr) for a    10.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.857
 Subarea runoff =      3.981(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        1.500(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        3.020 to Point/Station        3.030
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   810.100(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   809.200(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =   181.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     3.981(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     3.981(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =    9.40(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   17.98(In.)
 Critical Depth =    9.15(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      4.27(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.71 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     8.79 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        3.030 to Point/Station        2.040
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   807.900(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   806.500(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =    16.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     3.981(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     3.981(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =    4.35(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   15.41(In.)
 Critical Depth =    9.15(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =     12.08(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.02 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     8.81 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        3.030 to Point/Station        2.040
 **** CONFLUENCE OF MINOR STREAMS ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Along Main Stream number: 2 in normal stream number 2

Item D - 235 of 1893



 Stream flow area =      1.500(Ac.)
 Runoff from this stream =      3.981(CFS)
 Time of concentration =    8.81 min.
 Rainfall intensity =     2.940(In/Hr)
 Area averaged loss rate (Fm) =    0.1468(In/Hr)
 Area averaged Pervious ratio (Ap) = 0.2000
 Summary of stream data:

 Stream Flow rate    Area    TC     Fm       Rainfall Intensity
  No.    (CFS)   (Ac.)       (min) (In/Hr)     (In/Hr)

 1      3.78     1.460      9.75    0.147      2.767
 2      3.98     1.500      8.81    0.147      2.940
 Qmax(1) =
     1.000 *    1.000 *     3.779) +
     0.938 *    1.000 *     3.981) + =       7.513
 Qmax(2) =
     1.066 *    0.904 *     3.779) +
     1.000 *    1.000 *     3.981) + =       7.622

 Total of 2 streams to confluence:
 Flow rates before confluence point:
        3.779       3.981
 Maximum flow rates at confluence using above data:
         7.513        7.622
 Area of streams before confluence:
         1.460        1.500
 Effective area values after confluence:
         2.960        2.820
 Results of confluence:
 Total flow rate =      7.622(CFS)
 Time of concentration =     8.814 min.
 Effective stream area after confluence =      2.820(Ac.)
 Study area average Pervious fraction(Ap) =  0.200
 Study area average soil loss rate(Fm) =    0.147(In/Hr)
 Study area total (this main stream) =       2.96(Ac.)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.040 to Point/Station        1.040
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   806.500(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   806.300(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =    42.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     7.622(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     24.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     7.622(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =   11.84(In.)

Item D - 236 of 1893



 Flow top width inside pipe =   24.00(In.)
 Critical Depth =   11.78(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      4.94(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.14 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     8.96 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        2.040 to Point/Station        1.040
 **** CONFLUENCE OF MAIN STREAMS ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 The following data inside Main Stream is listed:
 In Main Stream number: 2
 Stream flow area =      2.820(Ac.)
 Runoff from this stream =      7.622(CFS)
 Time of concentration =    8.96 min.
 Rainfall intensity =     2.912(In/Hr)
 Area averaged loss rate (Fm) =    0.1468(In/Hr)
 Area averaged Pervious ratio (Ap) = 0.2000
 Summary of stream data:

 Stream Flow rate    Area    TC     Fm       Rainfall Intensity
  No.    (CFS)   (Ac.)       (min) (In/Hr)     (In/Hr)

 1      3.96     1.770     11.76    0.174      2.472
 2      7.62     2.820      8.96    0.147      2.912
 Qmax(1) =
     1.000 *    1.000 *     3.964) +
     0.841 *    1.000 *     7.622) + =      10.375
 Qmax(2) =
     1.191 *    0.761 *     3.964) +
     1.000 *    1.000 *     7.622) + =      11.217

 Total of 2 main streams to confluence:
 Flow rates before confluence point:
        4.964       8.622
 Maximum flow rates at confluence using above data:
        10.375       11.217
 Area of streams before confluence:
         1.770        2.820
 Effective area values after confluence:
         4.590        4.167

 Results of confluence:
 Total flow rate =     11.217(CFS)
 Time of concentration =     8.955 min.
 Effective stream area after confluence  =      4.167(Ac.)
 Study area average Pervious fraction(Ap) =  0.200

Item D - 237 of 1893



 Study area average soil loss rate(Fm) =    0.157(In/Hr)
 Study area total =       4.59(Ac.)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.040 to Point/Station        1.050
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   806.300(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   805.800(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =   100.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =    11.217(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     30.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =    11.217(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =   12.95(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   29.72(In.)
 Critical Depth =   13.45(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      5.53(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.30 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     9.26 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        4.010 to Point/Station        4.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   641.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   816.000(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   809.400(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     6.600(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01030  s(%)=       1.03
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =   10.734 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      2.612(In/Hr) for a    10.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.849
 Subarea runoff =      2.928(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        1.320(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++

Item D - 238 of 1893



 Process from Point/Station        5.010 to Point/Station        5.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   269.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   813.700(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   809.800(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     3.900(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01450  s(%)=       1.45
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =    7.082 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      3.352(In/Hr) for a    10.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.861
 Subarea runoff =      1.558(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        0.540(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        6.010 to Point/Station        6.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   269.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   813.900(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   810.200(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     3.700(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01375  s(%)=       1.38
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =    7.157 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      3.331(In/Hr) for a    10.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.860
 Subarea runoff =      1.175(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        0.410(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200

Item D - 239 of 1893



 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        7.010 to Point/Station        7.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   284.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   816.200(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   810.700(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     5.500(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01937  s(%)=       1.94
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =    6.831 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      3.425(In/Hr) for a    10.0 year storm
 Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.861
 Subarea runoff =      2.774(CFS)
 Total initial stream area =        0.940(Ac.)
 Pervious area fraction = 0.200
 Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        8.010 to Point/Station        8.020
 **** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 APARTMENT subarea type                      
 Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group B = 1.000
 Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000
 Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000
 SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 56.00
 Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.147(In/Hr)
 Initial subarea data:
 Initial area flow distance =   204.000(Ft.)
 Top (of initial area) elevation =   817.400(Ft.)
 Bottom (of initial area) elevation =   814.900(Ft.)
 Difference in elevation =     2.500(Ft.)
 Slope =    0.01225  s(%)=       1.23
 TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2
 Initial area time of concentration =    6.557 min.
 Rainfall intensity =      3.510(In/Hr) for a    10.0 year storm

Item D - 240 of 1893



Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.862

Subarea runoff =      2.089(CFS)

Total initial stream area =        0.690(Ac.)

Pervious area fraction = 0.200

Initial area Fm value =    0.147(In/Hr)

++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++

Process from Point/Station        8.020 to Point/Station        8.030

**** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****

______________________________________________________________________

Upstream point/station elevation =  812.700(Ft.)

Downstream point/station elevation =  811.900(Ft.)

Pipe length  =   110.00(Ft.)  Manning's N = 0.013

No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =  2.089(CFS)

Given pipe size =     12.00(In.)

Calculated individual pipe flow  =  2.089(CFS)

Normal flow depth in pipe =   7.31(In.)

Flow top width inside pipe =  11.71(In.)

Critical Depth =  7.41(In.)

Pipe flow velocity =  4.17(Ft/s)

Travel time through pipe =   0.44 min.

Time of concentration (TC) =  7.00 min.

++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++

Process from Point/Station        9.010 to Point/Station        9.020

**** INITIAL AREA EVALUATION ****

______________________________________________________________________

APARTMENT subarea type  

Decimal fraction soil group A = 0.850

Decimal fraction soil group B = 0.150

Decimal fraction soil group C = 0.000

Decimal fraction soil group D = 0.000

SCS curve number for soil(AMC 2)  = 35.60

Pervious ratio(Ap) = 0.2000     Max loss rate(Fm)=     0.191(In/Hr)

Initial subarea data:

Initial area flow distance =  340.000(Ft.)

Top (of initial area) elevation =  824.000(Ft.)

Bottom (of initial area) elevation =  818.400(Ft.)

Difference in elevation =  5.600(Ft.)

Slope =    0.01647  s(%)=  1.65

TC = k(0.324)*[(length^3)/(elevation change)]^0.2

Initial area time of concentration =    7.582 min.

Rainfall intensity =      3.217(In/Hr) for a    10.0 year storm

Effective runoff coefficient used for area (Q=KCIA) is C = 0.847

Subarea runoff =      2.642(CFS)

Total initial stream area =        0.970(Ac.)

Pervious area fraction = 0.200

Initial area Fm value =    0.191(In/Hr)

Item D - 241 of 1893



 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        9.020 to Point/Station        9.030
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   815.300(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   815.200(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =    30.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     2.642(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     2.642(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =    8.31(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   17.95(In.)
 Critical Depth =    7.38(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      3.31(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.15 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     7.73 min.

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        9.030 to Point/Station        9.040
 **** PIPEFLOW TRAVEL TIME (User specified size) ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 Upstream point/station elevation =   813.800(Ft.)
 Downstream point/station elevation =   813.600(Ft.)
 Pipe length  =    49.00(Ft.)   Manning's N = 0.013
 No. of pipes = 1  Required pipe flow  =     2.642(CFS)
 Given pipe size =     18.00(In.)
 Calculated individual pipe flow  =     2.642(CFS)
 Normal flow depth in pipe =    7.85(In.)
 Flow top width inside pipe =   17.85(In.)
 Critical Depth =    7.38(In.)
 Pipe flow velocity =      3.57(Ft/s)
 Travel time through pipe =    0.23 min.
 Time of concentration (TC) =     7.96 min.
 End of computations, Total Study Area =            9.60 (Ac.)
  The following figures may
  be used for a unit hydrograph study of the same area.
  Note: These figures do not consider reduced effective area
  effects caused by confluences in the rational equation.

  Area averaged pervious area fraction(Ap) = 0.200
 Area averaged SCS curve number =  51.8

Item D - 242 of 1893



Worksheet for PARKWAY DRAIN-1

Project Description

Manning 
Formula

Friction Method

Full Flow 
Capacity

Solve For

Input Data

0.015Roughness Coefficient

ft/ft0.020Channel Slope

in3.0Normal Depth

ft0.3Height

ft6.00Bottom Width

cfs5.11Discharge

Results

ft²1.5Flow Area

ft12.5Wetted Perimeter

in1.4Hydraulic Radius

ft6.00Top Width

in3.0Critical Depth

%100.0Percent Full

ft/ft0.020Critical Slope

ft/s3.41Velocity

ft0.18Velocity Head

ft0.43Specific Energy

1.202Froude Number

cfs5.11Discharge Full

ft/ft0.020Slope Full

CriticalFlow Type

GVF Input Data

in0.0Downstream Depth

ft0.0Length

0Number Of Steps

GVF Output Data

in0.0Upstream Depth

N/AProfile Description

ft0.00Profile Headloss

%0.0Average End Depth Over Rise

%100.0Normal Depth Over Rise

ft/sInfinityDownstream Velocity

ft/sInfinityUpstream Velocity

in3.0Normal Depth

in3.0Critical Depth

ft/ft0.020Channel Slope

ft/ft0.020Critical Slope

Page 1 of 127 Siemon Company Drive Suite 200 W  
Watertown, CT 06795 USA  +1-203-755-1666

4/26/2023

FlowMaster
[10.03.00.03]

Bentley Systems, Inc.  Haestad Methods Solution  
Center424-027-Hydraulics.fm8

Item D - 243 of 1893



APPENDIX 4 

 
 

HYDROLOGY MAPS:  
PRE AND POST DEVELOPMENT PLANS 

 
 

 

Item D - 244 of 1893



WALNUT    STREET 

EU
C

LI
D

   
AV

EN
U

E

GNIREENE IGN

f   u   l   l      c   i   r   c   l   e      t   h   i   n   k   i   n   g

Scale:
Exhibit Date:

N
          EUCLID AND WALNUT MIXED USE

         AND WALNUT STREET

          PROJECT SITE

        ONTARIO, CA

1" = 40'
4-26-2023 NW CORNER OF E. EUCLID

60

PROJECT
LOCATION

PRE DEVELOPMENT DRAINAGE MAP
WALNUT & EUCLID MIXED USE

ONTARIO, CA

LEGEND

Item D - 245 of 1893



WALNUT    STREET 

EU
C

LI
D

   
AV

EN
U

E

FRONT

TRANSFORMER

FRONT

TRANSFORMER

FRONT

TRANSFORM
ER

FRONT

TRANSFORMER

EU
C

LI
D

   
AV

EN
U

E

WALNUT    STREET 

GNIREENE IGN

f   u   l   l      c   i   r   c   l   e      t   h   i   n   k   i   n   g

Scale:
Exhibit Date:

N
          EUCLID AND WALNUT MIXED USE

         AND WALNUT STREET

          PROJECT SITE

        ONTARIO, CA

1" = 40'
4-26-2023 NW CORNER OF E. EUCLID

60

PROJECT
LOCATION

LEGEND

POST DEVELOPMENT DRAINAGE MAP
WALNUT & EUCLID MIXED USE

ONTARIO, CA

Item D - 246 of 1893



 

 

APPENDIX 5 

 
 

UNIT HYDROGRAPH, ROUTING CALCULATION 
AND TEMPORARY DETENTION SYSTEM 

 

 

 

 

 

Item D - 247 of 1893



  U n i t   H y d r o g r a p h    A n a l y s i s

  Copyright (c) CIVILCADD/CIVILDESIGN, 1989 - 2004, Version 7.0

   Study date  04/25/23

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------

 San Bernardino County Synthetic Unit Hydrology Method
   Manual date - August 1986

 Program License Serial Number 6049

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------
 UNIT HYDROGRAPH, DRAIN-1
 100-YEAR EVENT
 POST CONSTRUCTION
 EUCLID AND WALNUT
 --------------------------------------------------------------------

  Storm Event Year = 100

  Antecedent Moisture Condition = 2

  English (in-lb) Input Units Used

  English Rainfall Data (Inches) Input Values Used

  English Units used in output format

 Area averaged rainfall intensity isohyetal data:
  Sub-Area        Duration        Isohyetal
  (Ac.)            (hours)         (In)
 Rainfall data for year 100
       4.73            1           1.44
 --------------------------------------------------------------------
 Rainfall data for year 100
       4.73            6           3.49
 --------------------------------------------------------------------
 Rainfall data for year 100
       4.73           24           6.32
 --------------------------------------------------------------------
 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++

Item D - 248 of 1893



 ******** Area-averaged max loss rate, Fm ********

 SCS curve  SCS curve     Area     Area     Fp(Fig C6)    Ap      Fm
 No.(AMCII) NO.(AMC 2)    (Ac.)    Fraction     (In/Hr)  (dec.)   (In/Hr)
  51.8      51.8          4.73      1.000     0.788    0.200    0.158

 Area-averaged adjusted loss rate Fm (In/Hr) =  0.158

 ********* Area-Averaged low loss rate fraction, Yb **********

 Area       Area          SCS CN    SCS CN      S     Pervious
  (Ac.)      Fract         (AMC2)    (AMC2)           Yield Fr
      0.95   0.200         51.8      51.8       9.31     0.229
      3.78   0.800         98.0      98.0       0.20     0.962

 Area-averaged catchment yield fraction, Y =  0.816
 Area-averaged low loss fraction, Yb =  0.184
 User entry of time of concentration  =   0.145 (hours)
 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Watershed area =       4.73(Ac.)
 Catchment Lag time =   0.116 hours
 Unit interval =   5.000 minutes
 Unit interval percentage of lag time = 71.8391
 Hydrograph baseflow =     0.00(CFS)
 Average maximum watershed loss rate(Fm) =  0.158(In/Hr)
 Average low loss rate fraction (Yb) = 0.184 (decimal)
 VALLEY DEVELOPED S-Graph Selected
 Computed peak 5-minute rainfall =  0.533(In)
 Computed peak 30-minute rainfall =  1.091(In)
 Specified peak 1-hour rainfall =  1.440(In)
 Computed peak 3-hour rainfall =  2.478(In)
 Specified peak 6-hour rainfall =  3.490(In)
 Specified peak 24-hour rainfall =  6.320(In)

 Rainfall depth area reduction factors:
 Using a total area of       4.73(Ac.) (Ref: fig. E-4)

 5-minute factor = 1.000     Adjusted rainfall =  0.533(In)
 30-minute factor = 1.000    Adjusted rainfall =  1.091(In)
 1-hour factor = 1.000       Adjusted rainfall =  1.440(In)
 3-hour factor = 1.000       Adjusted rainfall =  2.478(In)
 6-hour factor = 1.000       Adjusted rainfall =  3.490(In)
 24-hour factor = 1.000      Adjusted rainfall =  6.320(In)
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------

    U n i t  H y d r o g r a p h 
 +++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++

Item D - 249 of 1893



 Interval          'S' Graph          Unit Hydrograph
 Number            Mean values             ((CFS))
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------
   (K =        57.20 (CFS))

   1                9.222                   5.275
   2               55.464                  26.452
   3               90.385                  19.976
   4               98.145                   4.439
   5              100.000                   1.061
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------
 Peak Unit   Adjusted mass rainfall  Unit rainfall
 Number              (In)                (In)
   1              0.5328               0.5328
   2              0.7031               0.1702
   3              0.8269               0.1238
   4              0.9277               0.1008
   5              1.0143               0.0866
   6              1.0911               0.0767
   7              1.1605               0.0694
   8              1.2241               0.0637
   9              1.2832               0.0591
  10              1.3384               0.0552
  11              1.3904               0.0520
  12              1.4397               0.0492
  13              1.4978               0.0581
  14              1.5537               0.0559
  15              1.6075               0.0539
  16              1.6597               0.0521
  17              1.7101               0.0505
  18              1.7591               0.0490
  19              1.8068               0.0476
  20              1.8532               0.0464
  21              1.8984               0.0452
  22              1.9426               0.0442
  23              1.9857               0.0432
  24              2.0279               0.0422
  25              2.0692               0.0413
  26              2.1097               0.0405
  27              2.1495               0.0397
  28              2.1885               0.0390
  29              2.2267               0.0383
  30              2.2644               0.0376
  31              2.3014               0.0370
  32              2.3378               0.0364
  33              2.3736               0.0358
  34              2.4089               0.0353
  35              2.4436               0.0348
  36              2.4779               0.0343
  37              2.5117               0.0338

Item D - 250 of 1893



  38              2.5450               0.0333
  39              2.5779               0.0329
  40              2.6103               0.0324
  41              2.6423               0.0320
  42              2.6740               0.0316
  43              2.7053               0.0313
  44              2.7362               0.0309
  45              2.7667               0.0306
  46              2.7969               0.0302
  47              2.8268               0.0299
  48              2.8564               0.0296
  49              2.8856               0.0292
  50              2.9146               0.0289
  51              2.9432               0.0287
  52              2.9716               0.0284
  53              2.9997               0.0281
  54              3.0275               0.0278
  55              3.0551               0.0276
  56              3.0824               0.0273
  57              3.1095               0.0271
  58              3.1363               0.0268
  59              3.1629               0.0266
  60              3.1893               0.0264
  61              3.2155               0.0262
  62              3.2414               0.0259
  63              3.2671               0.0257
  64              3.2926               0.0255
  65              3.3180               0.0253
  66              3.3431               0.0251
  67              3.3680               0.0249
  68              3.3928               0.0247
  69              3.4173               0.0246
  70              3.4417               0.0244
  71              3.4659               0.0242
  72              3.4899               0.0240
  73              3.5106               0.0207
  74              3.5311               0.0205
  75              3.5515               0.0204
  76              3.5717               0.0202
  77              3.5918               0.0201
  78              3.6117               0.0199
  79              3.6314               0.0198
  80              3.6511               0.0196
  81              3.6705               0.0195
  82              3.6899               0.0193
  83              3.7091               0.0192
  84              3.7282               0.0191
  85              3.7471               0.0189
  86              3.7659               0.0188
  87              3.7846               0.0187

Item D - 251 of 1893



  88              3.8032               0.0186
  89              3.8217               0.0185
  90              3.8400               0.0183
  91              3.8582               0.0182
  92              3.8763               0.0181
  93              3.8943               0.0180
  94              3.9122               0.0179
  95              3.9300               0.0178
  96              3.9476               0.0177
  97              3.9652               0.0176
  98              3.9827               0.0175
  99              4.0000               0.0174
 100              4.0173               0.0173
 101              4.0344               0.0172
 102              4.0515               0.0171
 103              4.0685               0.0170
 104              4.0853               0.0169
 105              4.1021               0.0168
 106              4.1188               0.0167
 107              4.1354               0.0166
 108              4.1519               0.0165
 109              4.1683               0.0164
 110              4.1847               0.0163
 111              4.2009               0.0163
 112              4.2171               0.0162
 113              4.2332               0.0161
 114              4.2492               0.0160
 115              4.2651               0.0159
 116              4.2810               0.0158
 117              4.2967               0.0158
 118              4.3124               0.0157
 119              4.3281               0.0156
 120              4.3436               0.0155
 121              4.3591               0.0155
 122              4.3745               0.0154
 123              4.3898               0.0153
 124              4.4050               0.0153
 125              4.4202               0.0152
 126              4.4353               0.0151
 127              4.4504               0.0150
 128              4.4653               0.0150
 129              4.4803               0.0149
 130              4.4951               0.0148
 131              4.5099               0.0148
 132              4.5246               0.0147
 133              4.5392               0.0147
 134              4.5538               0.0146
 135              4.5684               0.0145
 136              4.5828               0.0145
 137              4.5972               0.0144

Item D - 252 of 1893



 138              4.6116               0.0143
 139              4.6259               0.0143
 140              4.6401               0.0142
 141              4.6543               0.0142
 142              4.6684               0.0141
 143              4.6824               0.0141
 144              4.6964               0.0140
 145              4.7104               0.0139
 146              4.7242               0.0139
 147              4.7381               0.0138
 148              4.7519               0.0138
 149              4.7656               0.0137
 150              4.7793               0.0137
 151              4.7929               0.0136
 152              4.8065               0.0136
 153              4.8200               0.0135
 154              4.8334               0.0135
 155              4.8469               0.0134
 156              4.8602               0.0134
 157              4.8736               0.0133
 158              4.8868               0.0133
 159              4.9001               0.0132
 160              4.9132               0.0132
 161              4.9264               0.0131
 162              4.9394               0.0131
 163              4.9525               0.0130
 164              4.9655               0.0130
 165              4.9784               0.0129
 166              4.9913               0.0129
 167              5.0042               0.0129
 168              5.0170               0.0128
 169              5.0298               0.0128
 170              5.0425               0.0127
 171              5.0552               0.0127
 172              5.0678               0.0126
 173              5.0804               0.0126
 174              5.0930               0.0126
 175              5.1055               0.0125
 176              5.1180               0.0125
 177              5.1304               0.0124
 178              5.1428               0.0124
 179              5.1552               0.0124
 180              5.1675               0.0123
 181              5.1798               0.0123
 182              5.1920               0.0122
 183              5.2042               0.0122
 184              5.2164               0.0122
 185              5.2285               0.0121
 186              5.2406               0.0121
 187              5.2526               0.0121

Item D - 253 of 1893



 188              5.2646               0.0120
 189              5.2766               0.0120
 190              5.2886               0.0119
 191              5.3005               0.0119
 192              5.3123               0.0119
 193              5.3242               0.0118
 194              5.3360               0.0118
 195              5.3477               0.0118
 196              5.3595               0.0117
 197              5.3712               0.0117
 198              5.3828               0.0117
 199              5.3944               0.0116
 200              5.4060               0.0116
 201              5.4176               0.0116
 202              5.4291               0.0115
 203              5.4406               0.0115
 204              5.4521               0.0115
 205              5.4635               0.0114
 206              5.4749               0.0114
 207              5.4863               0.0114
 208              5.4976               0.0113
 209              5.5089               0.0113
 210              5.5202               0.0113
 211              5.5315               0.0112
 212              5.5427               0.0112
 213              5.5539               0.0112
 214              5.5650               0.0112
 215              5.5761               0.0111
 216              5.5872               0.0111
 217              5.5983               0.0111
 218              5.6093               0.0110
 219              5.6203               0.0110
 220              5.6313               0.0110
 221              5.6423               0.0110
 222              5.6532               0.0109
 223              5.6641               0.0109
 224              5.6749               0.0109
 225              5.6858               0.0108
 226              5.6966               0.0108
 227              5.7074               0.0108
 228              5.7181               0.0108
 229              5.7289               0.0107
 230              5.7396               0.0107
 231              5.7502               0.0107
 232              5.7609               0.0106
 233              5.7715               0.0106
 234              5.7821               0.0106
 235              5.7927               0.0106
 236              5.8032               0.0105
 237              5.8138               0.0105

Item D - 254 of 1893



 238              5.8243               0.0105
 239              5.8347               0.0105
 240              5.8452               0.0104
 241              5.8556               0.0104
 242              5.8660               0.0104
 243              5.8764               0.0104
 244              5.8867               0.0103
 245              5.8970               0.0103
 246              5.9073               0.0103
 247              5.9176               0.0103
 248              5.9278               0.0103
 249              5.9381               0.0102
 250              5.9483               0.0102
 251              5.9585               0.0102
 252              5.9686               0.0102
 253              5.9787               0.0101
 254              5.9889               0.0101
 255              5.9989               0.0101
 256              6.0090               0.0101
 257              6.0191               0.0100
 258              6.0291               0.0100
 259              6.0391               0.0100
 260              6.0491               0.0100
 261              6.0590               0.0100
 262              6.0689               0.0099
 263              6.0789               0.0099
 264              6.0887               0.0099
 265              6.0986               0.0099
 266              6.1085               0.0098
 267              6.1183               0.0098
 268              6.1281               0.0098
 269              6.1379               0.0098
 270              6.1476               0.0098
 271              6.1574               0.0097
 272              6.1671               0.0097
 273              6.1768               0.0097
 274              6.1865               0.0097
 275              6.1961               0.0097
 276              6.2058               0.0096
 277              6.2154               0.0096
 278              6.2250               0.0096
 279              6.2346               0.0096
 280              6.2442               0.0096
 281              6.2537               0.0095
 282              6.2632               0.0095
 283              6.2727               0.0095
 284              6.2822               0.0095
 285              6.2917               0.0095
 286              6.3011               0.0094
 287              6.3106               0.0094

Item D - 255 of 1893



 288              6.3200               0.0094
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------
 Unit              Unit            Unit              Effective
 Period            Rainfall        Soil-Loss         Rainfall
 (number)            (In)          (In)                 (In)
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------
   1              0.0094           0.0017              0.0077
   2              0.0094           0.0017              0.0077
   3              0.0095           0.0017              0.0077
   4              0.0095           0.0017              0.0077
   5              0.0095           0.0018              0.0078
   6              0.0095           0.0018              0.0078
   7              0.0096           0.0018              0.0078
   8              0.0096           0.0018              0.0078
   9              0.0096           0.0018              0.0079
  10              0.0097           0.0018              0.0079
  11              0.0097           0.0018              0.0079
  12              0.0097           0.0018              0.0079
  13              0.0098           0.0018              0.0080
  14              0.0098           0.0018              0.0080
  15              0.0098           0.0018              0.0080
  16              0.0098           0.0018              0.0080
  17              0.0099           0.0018              0.0081
  18              0.0099           0.0018              0.0081
  19              0.0100           0.0018              0.0081
  20              0.0100           0.0018              0.0081
  21              0.0100           0.0018              0.0082
  22              0.0100           0.0019              0.0082
  23              0.0101           0.0019              0.0082
  24              0.0101           0.0019              0.0082
  25              0.0102           0.0019              0.0083
  26              0.0102           0.0019              0.0083
  27              0.0102           0.0019              0.0083
  28              0.0103           0.0019              0.0084
  29              0.0103           0.0019              0.0084
  30              0.0103           0.0019              0.0084
  31              0.0104           0.0019              0.0085
  32              0.0104           0.0019              0.0085
  33              0.0104           0.0019              0.0085
  34              0.0105           0.0019              0.0085
  35              0.0105           0.0019              0.0086
  36              0.0105           0.0019              0.0086
  37              0.0106           0.0020              0.0086
  38              0.0106           0.0020              0.0087
  39              0.0107           0.0020              0.0087
  40              0.0107           0.0020              0.0087
  41              0.0108           0.0020              0.0088
  42              0.0108           0.0020              0.0088
  43              0.0108           0.0020              0.0088
  44              0.0109           0.0020              0.0089

Item D - 256 of 1893



  45              0.0109           0.0020              0.0089
  46              0.0110           0.0020              0.0089
  47              0.0110           0.0020              0.0090
  48              0.0110           0.0020              0.0090
  49              0.0111           0.0020              0.0090
  50              0.0111           0.0021              0.0091
  51              0.0112           0.0021              0.0091
  52              0.0112           0.0021              0.0091
  53              0.0113           0.0021              0.0092
  54              0.0113           0.0021              0.0092
  55              0.0114           0.0021              0.0093
  56              0.0114           0.0021              0.0093
  57              0.0115           0.0021              0.0093
  58              0.0115           0.0021              0.0094
  59              0.0116           0.0021              0.0094
  60              0.0116           0.0021              0.0095
  61              0.0117           0.0022              0.0095
  62              0.0117           0.0022              0.0095
  63              0.0118           0.0022              0.0096
  64              0.0118           0.0022              0.0096
  65              0.0119           0.0022              0.0097
  66              0.0119           0.0022              0.0097
  67              0.0120           0.0022              0.0098
  68              0.0120           0.0022              0.0098
  69              0.0121           0.0022              0.0099
  70              0.0121           0.0022              0.0099
  71              0.0122           0.0023              0.0100
  72              0.0122           0.0023              0.0100
  73              0.0123           0.0023              0.0100
  74              0.0124           0.0023              0.0101
  75              0.0124           0.0023              0.0101
  76              0.0125           0.0023              0.0102
  77              0.0126           0.0023              0.0102
  78              0.0126           0.0023              0.0103
  79              0.0127           0.0023              0.0103
  80              0.0127           0.0023              0.0104
  81              0.0128           0.0024              0.0105
  82              0.0129           0.0024              0.0105
  83              0.0129           0.0024              0.0106
  84              0.0130           0.0024              0.0106
  85              0.0131           0.0024              0.0107
  86              0.0131           0.0024              0.0107
  87              0.0132           0.0024              0.0108
  88              0.0133           0.0024              0.0108
  89              0.0134           0.0025              0.0109
  90              0.0134           0.0025              0.0109
  91              0.0135           0.0025              0.0110
  92              0.0136           0.0025              0.0111
  93              0.0137           0.0025              0.0112
  94              0.0137           0.0025              0.0112

Item D - 257 of 1893



  95              0.0138           0.0026              0.0113
  96              0.0139           0.0026              0.0113
  97              0.0140           0.0026              0.0114
  98              0.0141           0.0026              0.0115
  99              0.0142           0.0026              0.0116
 100              0.0142           0.0026              0.0116
 101              0.0143           0.0026              0.0117
 102              0.0144           0.0027              0.0117
 103              0.0145           0.0027              0.0118
 104              0.0146           0.0027              0.0119
 105              0.0147           0.0027              0.0120
 106              0.0148           0.0027              0.0121
 107              0.0149           0.0028              0.0122
 108              0.0150           0.0028              0.0122
 109              0.0151           0.0028              0.0123
 110              0.0152           0.0028              0.0124
 111              0.0153           0.0028              0.0125
 112              0.0154           0.0028              0.0126
 113              0.0155           0.0029              0.0127
 114              0.0156           0.0029              0.0127
 115              0.0158           0.0029              0.0129
 116              0.0158           0.0029              0.0129
 117              0.0160           0.0030              0.0131
 118              0.0161           0.0030              0.0131
 119              0.0163           0.0030              0.0133
 120              0.0163           0.0030              0.0133
 121              0.0165           0.0030              0.0135
 122              0.0166           0.0031              0.0135
 123              0.0168           0.0031              0.0137
 124              0.0169           0.0031              0.0138
 125              0.0171           0.0031              0.0139
 126              0.0172           0.0032              0.0140
 127              0.0174           0.0032              0.0142
 128              0.0175           0.0032              0.0142
 129              0.0177           0.0033              0.0144
 130              0.0178           0.0033              0.0145
 131              0.0180           0.0033              0.0147
 132              0.0181           0.0033              0.0148
 133              0.0183           0.0034              0.0150
 134              0.0185           0.0034              0.0150
 135              0.0187           0.0034              0.0152
 136              0.0188           0.0035              0.0153
 137              0.0191           0.0035              0.0156
 138              0.0192           0.0035              0.0157
 139              0.0195           0.0036              0.0159
 140              0.0196           0.0036              0.0160
 141              0.0199           0.0037              0.0162
 142              0.0201           0.0037              0.0164
 143              0.0204           0.0038              0.0166
 144              0.0205           0.0038              0.0167

Item D - 258 of 1893



145  0.0240  0.0044  0.0196
146  0.0242  0.0045  0.0197
147  0.0246  0.0045  0.0200
148  0.0247  0.0046  0.0202
149  0.0251  0.0046  0.0205
150  0.0253  0.0047  0.0206
151  0.0257  0.0047  0.0210
152  0.0259  0.0048  0.0212
153  0.0264  0.0049  0.0215
154  0.0266  0.0049  0.0217
155  0.0271  0.0050  0.0221
156  0.0273  0.0050  0.0223
157  0.0278  0.0051  0.0227
158  0.0281  0.0052  0.0229
159  0.0287  0.0053  0.0234
160  0.0289  0.0053  0.0236
161  0.0296  0.0055  0.0241
162  0.0299  0.0055  0.0244
163  0.0306  0.0056  0.0249
164  0.0309  0.0057  0.0252
165  0.0316  0.0058  0.0258
166  0.0320  0.0059  0.0261
167  0.0329  0.0061  0.0268
168  0.0333  0.0061  0.0272
169  0.0343  0.0063  0.0279
170  0.0348  0.0064  0.0283
171  0.0358  0.0066  0.0292
172  0.0364  0.0067  0.0297
173  0.0376  0.0069  0.0307
174  0.0383  0.0071  0.0312
175  0.0397  0.0073  0.0324
176  0.0405  0.0075  0.0330
177  0.0422  0.0078  0.0344
178  0.0432  0.0080  0.0352
179  0.0452  0.0083  0.0369
180  0.0464  0.0086  0.0378
181  0.0490  0.0090  0.0400
182  0.0505  0.0093  0.0412
183  0.0539  0.0099  0.0440
184  0.0559  0.0103  0.0456
185  0.0492  0.0091  0.0402
186  0.0520  0.0096  0.0424
187  0.0591  0.0109  0.0482
188  0.0637  0.0117  0.0519
189  0.0767  0.0131  0.0636
190  0.0866  0.0131  0.0735
191  0.1238  0.0131  0.1107
192  0.1702  0.0131  0.1571
193  0.5328  0.0131  0.5197
194  0.1008  0.0131  0.0877

Item D - 259 of 1893



 195              0.0694           0.0128              0.0566
 196              0.0552           0.0102              0.0450
 197              0.0581           0.0107              0.0474
 198              0.0521           0.0096              0.0425
 199              0.0476           0.0088              0.0389
 200              0.0442           0.0081              0.0360
 201              0.0413           0.0076              0.0337
 202              0.0390           0.0072              0.0318
 203              0.0370           0.0068              0.0302
 204              0.0353           0.0065              0.0288
 205              0.0338           0.0062              0.0275
 206              0.0324           0.0060              0.0265
 207              0.0313           0.0058              0.0255
 208              0.0302           0.0056              0.0246
 209              0.0292           0.0054              0.0239
 210              0.0284           0.0052              0.0231
 211              0.0276           0.0051              0.0225
 212              0.0268           0.0050              0.0219
 213              0.0262           0.0048              0.0213
 214              0.0255           0.0047              0.0208
 215              0.0249           0.0046              0.0203
 216              0.0244           0.0045              0.0199
 217              0.0207           0.0038              0.0169
 218              0.0202           0.0037              0.0165
 219              0.0198           0.0036              0.0161
 220              0.0193           0.0036              0.0158
 221              0.0189           0.0035              0.0155
 222              0.0186           0.0034              0.0151
 223              0.0182           0.0034              0.0149
 224              0.0179           0.0033              0.0146
 225              0.0176           0.0032              0.0143
 226              0.0173           0.0032              0.0141
 227              0.0170           0.0031              0.0138
 228              0.0167           0.0031              0.0136
 229              0.0164           0.0030              0.0134
 230              0.0162           0.0030              0.0132
 231              0.0159           0.0029              0.0130
 232              0.0157           0.0029              0.0128
 233              0.0155           0.0029              0.0126
 234              0.0153           0.0028              0.0124
 235              0.0150           0.0028              0.0123
 236              0.0148           0.0027              0.0121
 237              0.0147           0.0027              0.0119
 238              0.0145           0.0027              0.0118
 239              0.0143           0.0026              0.0116
 240              0.0141           0.0026              0.0115
 241              0.0139           0.0026              0.0114
 242              0.0138           0.0025              0.0112
 243              0.0136           0.0025              0.0111
 244              0.0135           0.0025              0.0110

Item D - 260 of 1893



 245              0.0133           0.0025              0.0109
 246              0.0132           0.0024              0.0107
 247              0.0130           0.0024              0.0106
 248              0.0129           0.0024              0.0105
 249              0.0128           0.0024              0.0104
 250              0.0126           0.0023              0.0103
 251              0.0125           0.0023              0.0102
 252              0.0124           0.0023              0.0101
 253              0.0123           0.0023              0.0100
 254              0.0122           0.0022              0.0099
 255              0.0121           0.0022              0.0098
 256              0.0119           0.0022              0.0097
 257              0.0118           0.0022              0.0097
 258              0.0117           0.0022              0.0096
 259              0.0116           0.0021              0.0095
 260              0.0115           0.0021              0.0094
 261              0.0114           0.0021              0.0093
 262              0.0113           0.0021              0.0092
 263              0.0112           0.0021              0.0092
 264              0.0112           0.0021              0.0091
 265              0.0111           0.0020              0.0090
 266              0.0110           0.0020              0.0090
 267              0.0109           0.0020              0.0089
 268              0.0108           0.0020              0.0088
 269              0.0107           0.0020              0.0088
 270              0.0106           0.0020              0.0087
 271              0.0106           0.0020              0.0086
 272              0.0105           0.0019              0.0086
 273              0.0104           0.0019              0.0085
 274              0.0103           0.0019              0.0084
 275              0.0103           0.0019              0.0084
 276              0.0102           0.0019              0.0083
 277              0.0101           0.0019              0.0083
 278              0.0101           0.0019              0.0082
 279              0.0100           0.0018              0.0082
 280              0.0099           0.0018              0.0081
 281              0.0099           0.0018              0.0080
 282              0.0098           0.0018              0.0080
 283              0.0097           0.0018              0.0079
 284              0.0097           0.0018              0.0079
 285              0.0096           0.0018              0.0078
 286              0.0096           0.0018              0.0078
 287              0.0095           0.0018              0.0078
 288              0.0094           0.0017              0.0077
 --------------------------------------------------------------------
 --------------------------------------------------------------------
 Total soil rain loss =      1.04(In)
 Total effective rainfall =      5.28(In)
 Peak flow rate in flood hydrograph =     17.92(CFS)
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------

Item D - 261 of 1893



 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
                     24 - H O U R    S T O R M
                R u n o f f      H y d r o g r a p h
 --------------------------------------------------------------------
             Hydrograph in   5   Minute intervals ((CFS))

 --------------------------------------------------------------------
  Time(h+m) Volume Ac.Ft   Q(CFS)  0        5.0      10.0      15.0      20.0
  -----------------------------------------------------------------------
    0+ 5       0.0003      0.04  Q         |         |         |         | 
    0+10       0.0020      0.24  Q         |         |         |         | 
    0+15       0.0047      0.40  Q         |         |         |         | 
    0+20       0.0077      0.43  Q         |         |         |         | 
    0+25       0.0107      0.44  Q         |         |         |         | 
    0+30       0.0138      0.44  Q         |         |         |         | 
    0+35       0.0168      0.44  Q         |         |         |         | 
    0+40       0.0199      0.45  Q         |         |         |         | 
    0+45       0.0230      0.45  Q         |         |         |         | 
    0+50       0.0261      0.45  Q         |         |         |         | 
    0+55       0.0292      0.45  Q         |         |         |         | 
    1+ 0       0.0323      0.45  Q         |         |         |         | 
    1+ 5       0.0354      0.45  Q         |         |         |         | 
    1+10       0.0385      0.45  Q         |         |         |         | 
    1+15       0.0417      0.46  Q         |         |         |         | 
    1+20       0.0448      0.46  Q         |         |         |         | 
    1+25       0.0480      0.46  Q         |         |         |         | 
    1+30       0.0512      0.46  Q         |         |         |         | 
    1+35       0.0543      0.46  QV        |         |         |         | 
    1+40       0.0575      0.46  QV        |         |         |         | 
    1+45       0.0607      0.46  QV        |         |         |         | 
    1+50       0.0640      0.47  QV        |         |         |         | 
    1+55       0.0672      0.47  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+ 0       0.0704      0.47  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+ 5       0.0737      0.47  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+10       0.0769      0.47  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+15       0.0802      0.47  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+20       0.0835      0.48  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+25       0.0868      0.48  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+30       0.0901      0.48  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+35       0.0934      0.48  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+40       0.0967      0.48  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+45       0.1000      0.48  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+50       0.1034      0.49  QV        |         |         |         | 
    2+55       0.1067      0.49  Q V       |         |         |         | 
    3+ 0       0.1101      0.49  Q V       |         |         |         | 
    3+ 5       0.1135      0.49  Q V       |         |         |         | 
    3+10       0.1169      0.49  Q V       |         |         |         | 
    3+15       0.1203      0.50  Q V       |         |         |         | 
    3+20       0.1237      0.50  Q V       |         |         |         | 
    3+25       0.1272      0.50  Q V       |         |         |         | 

Item D - 262 of 1893



    3+30       0.1306      0.50  |QV       |         |         |         | 
    3+35       0.1341      0.50  |QV       |         |         |         | 
    3+40       0.1375      0.50  |QV       |         |         |         | 
    3+45       0.1410      0.51  |QV       |         |         |         | 
    3+50       0.1445      0.51  |QV       |         |         |         | 
    3+55       0.1480      0.51  |QV       |         |         |         | 
    4+ 0       0.1516      0.51  |QV       |         |         |         | 
    4+ 5       0.1551      0.51  |QV       |         |         |         | 
    4+10       0.1587      0.52  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    4+15       0.1622      0.52  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    4+20       0.1658      0.52  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    4+25       0.1694      0.52  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    4+30       0.1730      0.52  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    4+35       0.1767      0.53  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    4+40       0.1803      0.53  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    4+45       0.1840      0.53  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    4+50       0.1876      0.53  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    4+55       0.1913      0.54  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    5+ 0       0.1950      0.54  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    5+ 5       0.1987      0.54  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    5+10       0.2025      0.54  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    5+15       0.2062      0.54  |Q V      |         |         |         | 
    5+20       0.2100      0.55  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    5+25       0.2138      0.55  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    5+30       0.2176      0.55  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    5+35       0.2214      0.55  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    5+40       0.2253      0.56  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    5+45       0.2291      0.56  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    5+50       0.2330      0.56  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    5+55       0.2369      0.56  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    6+ 0       0.2408      0.57  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    6+ 5       0.2447      0.57  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    6+10       0.2487      0.57  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    6+15       0.2526      0.58  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    6+20       0.2566      0.58  |Q  V     |         |         |         | 
    6+25       0.2606      0.58  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    6+30       0.2646      0.58  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    6+35       0.2687      0.59  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    6+40       0.2727      0.59  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    6+45       0.2768      0.59  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    6+50       0.2809      0.60  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    6+55       0.2850      0.60  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    7+ 0       0.2892      0.60  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    7+ 5       0.2934      0.61  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    7+10       0.2975      0.61  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    7+15       0.3018      0.61  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    7+20       0.3060      0.61  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    7+25       0.3102      0.62  |Q   V    |         |         |         | 
    7+30       0.3145      0.62  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 
    7+35       0.3188      0.62  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 

Item D - 263 of 1893



    7+40       0.3232      0.63  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 
    7+45       0.3275      0.63  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 
    7+50       0.3319      0.64  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 
    7+55       0.3363      0.64  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 
    8+ 0       0.3407      0.64  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 
    8+ 5       0.3452      0.65  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 
    8+10       0.3497      0.65  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 
    8+15       0.3542      0.65  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 
    8+20       0.3587      0.66  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 
    8+25       0.3633      0.66  |Q    V   |         |         |         | 
    8+30       0.3679      0.67  |Q     V  |         |         |         | 
    8+35       0.3725      0.67  |Q     V  |         |         |         | 
    8+40       0.3771      0.68  |Q     V  |         |         |         | 
    8+45       0.3818      0.68  |Q     V  |         |         |         | 
    8+50       0.3865      0.68  |Q     V  |         |         |         | 
    8+55       0.3912      0.69  |Q     V  |         |         |         | 
    9+ 0       0.3960      0.69  |Q     V  |         |         |         | 
    9+ 5       0.4008      0.70  |Q     V  |         |         |         | 
    9+10       0.4057      0.70  |Q     V  |         |         |         | 
    9+15       0.4105      0.71  |Q     V  |         |         |         | 
    9+20       0.4154      0.71  |Q     V  |         |         |         | 
    9+25       0.4204      0.72  |Q      V |         |         |         | 
    9+30       0.4253      0.72  |Q      V |         |         |         | 
    9+35       0.4303      0.73  |Q      V |         |         |         | 
    9+40       0.4354      0.73  |Q      V |         |         |         | 
    9+45       0.4405      0.74  |Q      V |         |         |         | 
    9+50       0.4456      0.74  |Q      V |         |         |         | 
    9+55       0.4507      0.75  |Q      V |         |         |         | 
   10+ 0       0.4559      0.75  |Q      V |         |         |         | 
   10+ 5       0.4612      0.76  |Q      V |         |         |         | 
   10+10       0.4665      0.77  |Q      V |         |         |         | 
   10+15       0.4718      0.77  |Q       V|         |         |         | 
   10+20       0.4771      0.78  |Q       V|         |         |         | 
   10+25       0.4825      0.79  |Q       V|         |         |         | 
   10+30       0.4880      0.79  |Q       V|         |         |         | 
   10+35       0.4935      0.80  |Q       V|         |         |         | 
   10+40       0.4990      0.81  |Q       V|         |         |         | 
   10+45       0.5046      0.81  |Q       V|         |         |         | 
   10+50       0.5103      0.82  |Q       V|         |         |         | 
   10+55       0.5160      0.83  |Q       V|         |         |         | 
   11+ 0       0.5217      0.83  |Q        V         |         |         | 
   11+ 5       0.5275      0.84  |Q        V         |         |         | 
   11+10       0.5334      0.85  |Q        V         |         |         | 
   11+15       0.5393      0.86  |Q        V         |         |         | 
   11+20       0.5453      0.87  |Q        V         |         |         | 
   11+25       0.5513      0.88  |Q        V         |         |         | 
   11+30       0.5574      0.88  |Q        V         |         |         | 
   11+35       0.5635      0.89  |Q        V         |         |         | 
   11+40       0.5698      0.90  |Q        V         |         |         | 
   11+45       0.5760      0.91  |Q        |V        |         |         | 

Item D - 264 of 1893



   11+50       0.5824      0.92  |Q        |V        |         |         | 
   11+55       0.5888      0.93  |Q        |V        |         |         | 
   12+ 0       0.5953      0.94  |Q        |V        |         |         | 
   12+ 5       0.6020      0.97  |Q        |V        |         |         | 
   12+10       0.6092      1.05  | Q       |V        |         |         | 
   12+15       0.6168      1.11  | Q       |V        |         |         | 
   12+20       0.6247      1.14  | Q       | V       |         |         | 
   12+25       0.6326      1.15  | Q       | V       |         |         | 
   12+30       0.6406      1.16  | Q       | V       |         |         | 
   12+35       0.6487      1.18  | Q       | V       |         |         | 
   12+40       0.6569      1.19  | Q       | V       |         |         | 
   12+45       0.6652      1.21  | Q       | V       |         |         | 
   12+50       0.6736      1.22  | Q       | V       |         |         | 
   12+55       0.6821      1.24  | Q       |  V      |         |         | 
   13+ 0       0.6908      1.25  | Q       |  V      |         |         | 
   13+ 5       0.6995      1.27  | Q       |  V      |         |         | 
   13+10       0.7084      1.29  | Q       |  V      |         |         | 
   13+15       0.7174      1.31  | Q       |  V      |         |         | 
   13+20       0.7265      1.32  | Q       |  V      |         |         | 
   13+25       0.7357      1.34  | Q       |   V     |         |         | 
   13+30       0.7452      1.37  | Q       |   V     |         |         | 
   13+35       0.7547      1.39  | Q       |   V     |         |         | 
   13+40       0.7644      1.41  | Q       |   V     |         |         | 
   13+45       0.7743      1.43  | Q       |   V     |         |         | 
   13+50       0.7844      1.46  | Q       |    V    |         |         | 
   13+55       0.7946      1.49  | Q       |    V    |         |         | 
   14+ 0       0.8050      1.52  |  Q      |    V    |         |         | 
   14+ 5       0.8157      1.54  |  Q      |    V    |         |         | 
   14+10       0.8265      1.58  |  Q      |    V    |         |         | 
   14+15       0.8376      1.61  |  Q      |     V   |         |         | 
   14+20       0.8490      1.65  |  Q      |     V   |         |         | 
   14+25       0.8606      1.69  |  Q      |     V   |         |         | 
   14+30       0.8725      1.73  |  Q      |     V   |         |         | 
   14+35       0.8847      1.77  |  Q      |      V  |         |         | 
   14+40       0.8973      1.82  |  Q      |      V  |         |         | 
   14+45       0.9102      1.87  |  Q      |      V  |         |         | 
   14+50       0.9235      1.93  |  Q      |      V  |         |         | 
   14+55       0.9372      1.99  |  Q      |       V |         |         | 
   15+ 0       0.9515      2.07  |   Q     |       V |         |         | 
   15+ 5       0.9662      2.14  |   Q     |       V |         |         | 
   15+10       0.9816      2.23  |   Q     |       V |         |         | 
   15+15       0.9976      2.33  |   Q     |        V|         |         | 
   15+20       1.0144      2.44  |   Q     |        V|         |         | 
   15+25       1.0318      2.52  |    Q    |        V|         |         | 
   15+30       1.0485      2.44  |   Q     |         V         |         | 
   15+35       1.0653      2.43  |   Q     |         V         |         | 
   15+40       1.0833      2.62  |    Q    |         V         |         | 
   15+45       1.1033      2.90  |    Q    |         |V        |         | 
   15+50       1.1265      3.37  |     Q   |         |V        |         | 
   15+55       1.1546      4.08  |       Q |         | V       |         | 

Item D - 265 of 1893



   16+ 0       1.1929      5.56  |         |Q        | V       |         | 
   16+ 5       1.2583      9.50  |         |        Q|   V     |         | 
   16+10       1.3817     17.92  |         |         |     V   |    Q    | 
   16+15       1.4769     13.82  |         |         |      QV |         | 
   16+20       1.5179      5.96  |         |Q        |        V|         | 
   16+25       1.5421      3.51  |      Q  |         |        V|         | 
   16+30       1.5609      2.72  |    Q    |         |         V         | 
   16+35       1.5783      2.54  |    Q    |         |         V         | 
   16+40       1.5943      2.32  |   Q     |         |         V         | 
   16+45       1.6091      2.15  |   Q     |         |         V         | 
   16+50       1.6229      2.00  |  Q      |         |         |V        | 
   16+55       1.6358      1.87  |  Q      |         |         |V        | 
   17+ 0       1.6480      1.77  |  Q      |         |         |V        | 
   17+ 5       1.6596      1.69  |  Q      |         |         |V        | 
   17+10       1.6707      1.61  |  Q      |         |         | V       | 
   17+15       1.6813      1.54  |  Q      |         |         | V       | 
   17+20       1.6916      1.49  | Q       |         |         | V       | 
   17+25       1.7014      1.43  | Q       |         |         | V       | 
   17+30       1.7110      1.39  | Q       |         |         | V       | 
   17+35       1.7202      1.34  | Q       |         |         |  V      | 
   17+40       1.7292      1.30  | Q       |         |         |  V      | 
   17+45       1.7380      1.27  | Q       |         |         |  V      | 
   17+50       1.7465      1.24  | Q       |         |         |  V      | 
   17+55       1.7548      1.20  | Q       |         |         |  V      | 
   18+ 0       1.7629      1.18  | Q       |         |         |  V      | 
   18+ 5       1.7707      1.14  | Q       |         |         |   V     | 
   18+10       1.7779      1.04  | Q       |         |         |   V     | 
   18+15       1.7845      0.97  |Q        |         |         |   V     | 
   18+20       1.7910      0.93  |Q        |         |         |   V     | 
   18+25       1.7973      0.91  |Q        |         |         |   V     | 
   18+30       1.8034      0.89  |Q        |         |         |   V     | 
   18+35       1.8094      0.87  |Q        |         |         |   V     | 
   18+40       1.8153      0.86  |Q        |         |         |   V     | 
   18+45       1.8211      0.84  |Q        |         |         |    V    | 
   18+50       1.8268      0.83  |Q        |         |         |    V    | 
   18+55       1.8324      0.81  |Q        |         |         |    V    | 
   19+ 0       1.8379      0.80  |Q        |         |         |    V    | 
   19+ 5       1.8433      0.78  |Q        |         |         |    V    | 
   19+10       1.8486      0.77  |Q        |         |         |    V    | 
   19+15       1.8539      0.76  |Q        |         |         |    V    | 
   19+20       1.8590      0.75  |Q        |         |         |    V    | 
   19+25       1.8641      0.74  |Q        |         |         |    V    | 
   19+30       1.8691      0.73  |Q        |         |         |    V    | 
   19+35       1.8740      0.72  |Q        |         |         |     V   | 
   19+40       1.8789      0.71  |Q        |         |         |     V   | 
   19+45       1.8837      0.70  |Q        |         |         |     V   | 
   19+50       1.8884      0.69  |Q        |         |         |     V   | 
   19+55       1.8931      0.68  |Q        |         |         |     V   | 
   20+ 0       1.8977      0.67  |Q        |         |         |     V   | 
   20+ 5       1.9023      0.66  |Q        |         |         |     V   | 

Item D - 266 of 1893



   20+10       1.9068      0.65  |Q        |         |         |     V   | 
   20+15       1.9112      0.65  |Q        |         |         |     V   | 
   20+20       1.9156      0.64  |Q        |         |         |     V   | 
   20+25       1.9200      0.63  |Q        |         |         |     V   | 
   20+30       1.9243      0.62  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   20+35       1.9286      0.62  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   20+40       1.9328      0.61  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   20+45       1.9369      0.60  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   20+50       1.9411      0.60  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   20+55       1.9451      0.59  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   21+ 0       1.9492      0.59  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   21+ 5       1.9532      0.58  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   21+10       1.9571      0.58  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   21+15       1.9611      0.57  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   21+20       1.9650      0.56  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   21+25       1.9688      0.56  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   21+30       1.9726      0.55  |Q        |         |         |      V  | 
   21+35       1.9764      0.55  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   21+40       1.9802      0.54  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   21+45       1.9839      0.54  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   21+50       1.9876      0.54  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   21+55       1.9912      0.53  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   22+ 0       1.9949      0.53  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   22+ 5       1.9985      0.52  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   22+10       2.0020      0.52  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   22+15       2.0056      0.51  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   22+20       2.0091      0.51  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   22+25       2.0126      0.51  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   22+30       2.0160      0.50  |Q        |         |         |       V | 
   22+35       2.0195      0.50  Q         |         |         |       V | 
   22+40       2.0229      0.49  Q         |         |         |       V | 
   22+45       2.0262      0.49  Q         |         |         |       V | 
   22+50       2.0296      0.49  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   22+55       2.0329      0.48  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+ 0       2.0363      0.48  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+ 5       2.0395      0.48  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+10       2.0428      0.47  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+15       2.0461      0.47  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+20       2.0493      0.47  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+25       2.0525      0.46  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+30       2.0557      0.46  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+35       2.0588      0.46  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+40       2.0620      0.46  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+45       2.0651      0.45  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+50       2.0682      0.45  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   23+55       2.0713      0.45  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   24+ 0       2.0743      0.44  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   24+ 5       2.0771      0.40  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   24+10       2.0784      0.20  Q         |         |         |        V| 
   24+15       2.0787      0.04  Q         |         |         |        V| 

Item D - 267 of 1893



   24+20       2.0788      0.01  Q         |         |         |        V| 
-----------------------------------------------------------------------

Item D - 268 of 1893



                      FLOOD HYDROGRAPH ROUTING PROGRAM
             Copyright (c) CIVILCADD/CIVILDESIGN, 1989 - 2005
                         Study date: 04/25/23

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------

 ROUTING CALCULATION
 DA-1 TO DA-3
 PUMP CAPACITY 0.51 CFS
 EUCLID AND WALNUT
 --------------------------------------------------------------------

 Program License Serial Number 6049

 --------------------------------------------------------------------
 ********************* HYDROGRAPH INFORMATION **********************

   From study/file name: 424027UHPOST1.rte
 ****************************HYDROGRAPH DATA****************************
   Number of intervals =   292
   Time interval =    5.0 (Min.)
   Maximum/Peak flow rate =       17.918 (CFS)
   Total volume =       2.079 (Ac.Ft)
  Status of hydrographs being held in storage
             Stream 1  Stream 2  Stream 3  Stream 4  Stream 5
  Peak (CFS)      0.000     0.000     0.000     0.000     0.000
  Vol (Ac.Ft)      0.000     0.000     0.000     0.000     0.000
 ***********************************************************************

 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
 Process from Point/Station        1.050 to Point/Station        1.060
 **** FLOWBY BASIN ROUTING OR SPLIT FLOW ****
 ______________________________________________________________________
 All flow in excess of     0.51(CFS) is diverted
 into stream number 1
 Total volume of excess flow diverted into flowby
 basin (stream number 1 ) is       1.08(Ac.Ft)
 ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
                   P R I N T  O F  S T O R M
                R u n o f f      H y d r o g r a p h
 --------------------------------------------------------------------
             Hydrograph in   5   Minute intervals (CFS)

 --------------------------------------------------------------------

Item D - 269 of 1893



  Time(h+m) Volume(Ac.Ft)   Q(CFS)  0        0.1       0.3       0.4       0.5
  -----------------------------------------------------------------------
    0+ 5       0.0003      0.04  V  Q      |         |         |         | 
    0+10       0.0020      0.24  V         |        Q|         |         | 
    0+15       0.0047      0.40  V         |         |         |Q        | 
    0+20       0.0077      0.43  V         |         |         |  Q      | 
    0+25       0.0107      0.44  V         |         |         |   Q     | 
    0+30       0.0138      0.44  V         |         |         |   Q     | 
    0+35       0.0168      0.44  V         |         |         |   Q     | 
    0+40       0.0199      0.45  V         |         |         |   Q     | 
    0+45       0.0230      0.45  V         |         |         |    Q    | 
    0+50       0.0261      0.45   V        |         |         |    Q    | 
    0+55       0.0292      0.45  |V        |         |         |    Q    | 
    1+ 0       0.0323      0.45  |V        |         |         |    Q    | 
    1+ 5       0.0354      0.45  |V        |         |         |    Q    | 
    1+10       0.0385      0.45  |V        |         |         |    Q    | 
    1+15       0.0417      0.46  |V        |         |         |    Q    | 
    1+20       0.0448      0.46  |V        |         |         |    Q    | 
    1+25       0.0480      0.46  |V        |         |         |    Q    | 
    1+30       0.0512      0.46  | V       |         |         |     Q   | 
    1+35       0.0543      0.46  | V       |         |         |     Q   | 
    1+40       0.0575      0.46  | V       |         |         |     Q   | 
    1+45       0.0607      0.46  | V       |         |         |     Q   | 
    1+50       0.0640      0.47  | V       |         |         |     Q   | 
    1+55       0.0672      0.47  | V       |         |         |     Q   | 
    2+ 0       0.0704      0.47  | V       |         |         |     Q   | 
    2+ 5       0.0737      0.47  | V       |         |         |     Q   | 
    2+10       0.0769      0.47  |  V      |         |         |      Q  | 
    2+15       0.0802      0.47  |  V      |         |         |      Q  | 
    2+20       0.0835      0.48  |  V      |         |         |      Q  | 
    2+25       0.0868      0.48  |  V      |         |         |      Q  | 
    2+30       0.0901      0.48  |  V      |         |         |      Q  | 
    2+35       0.0934      0.48  |  V      |         |         |      Q  | 
    2+40       0.0967      0.48  |  V      |         |         |      Q  | 
    2+45       0.1000      0.48  |   V     |         |         |      Q  | 
    2+50       0.1034      0.49  |   V     |         |         |       Q | 
    2+55       0.1067      0.49  |   V     |         |         |       Q | 
    3+ 0       0.1101      0.49  |   V     |         |         |       Q | 
    3+ 5       0.1135      0.49  |   V     |         |         |       Q | 
    3+10       0.1169      0.49  |   V     |         |         |       Q | 
    3+15       0.1203      0.50  |   V     |         |         |       Q | 
    3+20       0.1237      0.50  |   V     |         |         |       Q | 
    3+25       0.1272      0.50  |    V    |         |         |        Q| 
    3+30       0.1306      0.50  |    V    |         |         |        Q| 
    3+35       0.1341      0.50  |    V    |         |         |        Q| 
    3+40       0.1375      0.50  |    V    |         |         |        Q| 
    3+45       0.1410      0.51  |    V    |         |         |        Q| 
    3+50       0.1445      0.51  |    V    |         |         |        Q| 
    3+55       0.1480      0.51  |    V    |         |         |         Q 
    4+ 0       0.1516      0.51  |     V   |         |         |         Q 

Item D - 270 of 1893



    4+ 5       0.1551      0.51  |     V   |         |         |         Q 
    4+10       0.1586      0.51  |     V   |         |         |         Q 
    4+15       0.1621      0.51  |     V   |         |         |         Q 
    4+20       0.1656      0.51  |     V   |         |         |         Q 
    4+25       0.1691      0.51  |     V   |         |         |         Q 
    4+30       0.1726      0.51  |     V   |         |         |         Q 
    4+35       0.1761      0.51  |      V  |         |         |         Q 
    4+40       0.1797      0.51  |      V  |         |         |         Q 
    4+45       0.1832      0.51  |      V  |         |         |         Q 
    4+50       0.1867      0.51  |      V  |         |         |         Q 
    4+55       0.1902      0.51  |      V  |         |         |         Q 
    5+ 0       0.1937      0.51  |      V  |         |         |         Q 
    5+ 5       0.1972      0.51  |      V  |         |         |         Q 
    5+10       0.2007      0.51  |       V |         |         |         Q 
    5+15       0.2042      0.51  |       V |         |         |         Q 
    5+20       0.2077      0.51  |       V |         |         |         Q 
    5+25       0.2113      0.51  |       V |         |         |         Q 
    5+30       0.2148      0.51  |       V |         |         |         Q 
    5+35       0.2183      0.51  |       V |         |         |         Q 
    5+40       0.2218      0.51  |       V |         |         |         Q 
    5+45       0.2253      0.51  |        V|         |         |         Q 
    5+50       0.2288      0.51  |        V|         |         |         Q 
    5+55       0.2323      0.51  |        V|         |         |         Q 
    6+ 0       0.2358      0.51  |        V|         |         |         Q 
    6+ 5       0.2394      0.51  |        V|         |         |         Q 
    6+10       0.2429      0.51  |        V|         |         |         Q 
    6+15       0.2464      0.51  |        V|         |         |         Q 
    6+20       0.2499      0.51  |         V         |         |         Q 
    6+25       0.2534      0.51  |         V         |         |         Q 
    6+30       0.2569      0.51  |         V         |         |         Q 
    6+35       0.2604      0.51  |         V         |         |         Q 
    6+40       0.2639      0.51  |         V         |         |         Q 
    6+45       0.2675      0.51  |         V         |         |         Q 
    6+50       0.2710      0.51  |         V         |         |         Q 
    6+55       0.2745      0.51  |          V        |         |         Q 
    7+ 0       0.2780      0.51  |         |V        |         |         Q 
    7+ 5       0.2815      0.51  |         |V        |         |         Q 
    7+10       0.2850      0.51  |         |V        |         |         Q 
    7+15       0.2885      0.51  |         |V        |         |         Q 
    7+20       0.2920      0.51  |         |V        |         |         Q 
    7+25       0.2956      0.51  |         |V        |         |         Q 
    7+30       0.2991      0.51  |         | V       |         |         Q 
    7+35       0.3026      0.51  |         | V       |         |         Q 
    7+40       0.3061      0.51  |         | V       |         |         Q 
    7+45       0.3096      0.51  |         | V       |         |         Q 
    7+50       0.3131      0.51  |         | V       |         |         Q 
    7+55       0.3166      0.51  |         | V       |         |         Q 
    8+ 0       0.3201      0.51  |         | V       |         |         Q 
    8+ 5       0.3237      0.51  |         |  V      |         |         Q 
    8+10       0.3272      0.51  |         |  V      |         |         Q 

Item D - 271 of 1893



    8+15       0.3307      0.51  |         |  V      |         |         Q 
    8+20       0.3342      0.51  |         |  V      |         |         Q 
    8+25       0.3377      0.51  |         |  V      |         |         Q 
    8+30       0.3412      0.51  |         |  V      |         |         Q 
    8+35       0.3447      0.51  |         |  V      |         |         Q 
    8+40       0.3482      0.51  |         |   V     |         |         Q 
    8+45       0.3518      0.51  |         |   V     |         |         Q 
    8+50       0.3553      0.51  |         |   V     |         |         Q 
    8+55       0.3588      0.51  |         |   V     |         |         Q 
    9+ 0       0.3623      0.51  |         |   V     |         |         Q 
    9+ 5       0.3658      0.51  |         |   V     |         |         Q 
    9+10       0.3693      0.51  |         |   V     |         |         Q 
    9+15       0.3728      0.51  |         |    V    |         |         Q 
    9+20       0.3763      0.51  |         |    V    |         |         Q 
    9+25       0.3799      0.51  |         |    V    |         |         Q 
    9+30       0.3834      0.51  |         |    V    |         |         Q 
    9+35       0.3869      0.51  |         |    V    |         |         Q 
    9+40       0.3904      0.51  |         |    V    |         |         Q 
    9+45       0.3939      0.51  |         |    V    |         |         Q 
    9+50       0.3974      0.51  |         |    V    |         |         Q 
    9+55       0.4009      0.51  |         |     V   |         |         Q 
   10+ 0       0.4044      0.51  |         |     V   |         |         Q 
   10+ 5       0.4080      0.51  |         |     V   |         |         Q 
   10+10       0.4115      0.51  |         |     V   |         |         Q 
   10+15       0.4150      0.51  |         |     V   |         |         Q 
   10+20       0.4185      0.51  |         |     V   |         |         Q 
   10+25       0.4220      0.51  |         |     V   |         |         Q 
   10+30       0.4255      0.51  |         |      V  |         |         Q 
   10+35       0.4290      0.51  |         |      V  |         |         Q 
   10+40       0.4325      0.51  |         |      V  |         |         Q 
   10+45       0.4361      0.51  |         |      V  |         |         Q 
   10+50       0.4396      0.51  |         |      V  |         |         Q 
   10+55       0.4431      0.51  |         |      V  |         |         Q 
   11+ 0       0.4466      0.51  |         |      V  |         |         Q 
   11+ 5       0.4501      0.51  |         |       V |         |         Q 
   11+10       0.4536      0.51  |         |       V |         |         Q 
   11+15       0.4571      0.51  |         |       V |         |         Q 
   11+20       0.4606      0.51  |         |       V |         |         Q 
   11+25       0.4642      0.51  |         |       V |         |         Q 
   11+30       0.4677      0.51  |         |       V |         |         Q 
   11+35       0.4712      0.51  |         |       V |         |         Q 
   11+40       0.4747      0.51  |         |        V|         |         Q 
   11+45       0.4782      0.51  |         |        V|         |         Q 
   11+50       0.4817      0.51  |         |        V|         |         Q 
   11+55       0.4852      0.51  |         |        V|         |         Q 
   12+ 0       0.4887      0.51  |         |        V|         |         Q 
   12+ 5       0.4923      0.51  |         |        V|         |         Q 
   12+10       0.4958      0.51  |         |        V|         |         Q 
   12+15       0.4993      0.51  |         |         V         |         Q 
   12+20       0.5028      0.51  |         |         V         |         Q 

Item D - 272 of 1893



   12+25       0.5063      0.51  |         |         V         |         Q 
   12+30       0.5098      0.51  |         |         V         |         Q 
   12+35       0.5133      0.51  |         |         V         |         Q 
   12+40       0.5168      0.51  |         |         V         |         Q 
   12+45       0.5204      0.51  |         |         V         |         Q 
   12+50       0.5239      0.51  |         |          V        |         Q 
   12+55       0.5274      0.51  |         |         |V        |         Q 
   13+ 0       0.5309      0.51  |         |         |V        |         Q 
   13+ 5       0.5344      0.51  |         |         |V        |         Q 
   13+10       0.5379      0.51  |         |         |V        |         Q 
   13+15       0.5414      0.51  |         |         |V        |         Q 
   13+20       0.5449      0.51  |         |         |V        |         Q 
   13+25       0.5485      0.51  |         |         | V       |         Q 
   13+30       0.5520      0.51  |         |         | V       |         Q 
   13+35       0.5555      0.51  |         |         | V       |         Q 
   13+40       0.5590      0.51  |         |         | V       |         Q 
   13+45       0.5625      0.51  |         |         | V       |         Q 
   13+50       0.5660      0.51  |         |         | V       |         Q 
   13+55       0.5695      0.51  |         |         | V       |         Q 
   14+ 0       0.5730      0.51  |         |         |  V      |         Q 
   14+ 5       0.5766      0.51  |         |         |  V      |         Q 
   14+10       0.5801      0.51  |         |         |  V      |         Q 
   14+15       0.5836      0.51  |         |         |  V      |         Q 
   14+20       0.5871      0.51  |         |         |  V      |         Q 
   14+25       0.5906      0.51  |         |         |  V      |         Q 
   14+30       0.5941      0.51  |         |         |  V      |         Q 
   14+35       0.5976      0.51  |         |         |   V     |         Q 
   14+40       0.6011      0.51  |         |         |   V     |         Q 
   14+45       0.6047      0.51  |         |         |   V     |         Q 
   14+50       0.6082      0.51  |         |         |   V     |         Q 
   14+55       0.6117      0.51  |         |         |   V     |         Q 
   15+ 0       0.6152      0.51  |         |         |   V     |         Q 
   15+ 5       0.6187      0.51  |         |         |   V     |         Q 
   15+10       0.6222      0.51  |         |         |    V    |         Q 
   15+15       0.6257      0.51  |         |         |    V    |         Q 
   15+20       0.6292      0.51  |         |         |    V    |         Q 
   15+25       0.6327      0.51  |         |         |    V    |         Q 
   15+30       0.6363      0.51  |         |         |    V    |         Q 
   15+35       0.6398      0.51  |         |         |    V    |         Q 
   15+40       0.6433      0.51  |         |         |    V    |         Q 
   15+45       0.6468      0.51  |         |         |     V   |         Q 
   15+50       0.6503      0.51  |         |         |     V   |         Q 
   15+55       0.6538      0.51  |         |         |     V   |         Q 
   16+ 0       0.6573      0.51  |         |         |     V   |         Q 
   16+ 5       0.6608      0.51  |         |         |     V   |         Q 
   16+10       0.6644      0.51  |         |         |     V   |         Q 
   16+15       0.6679      0.51  |         |         |     V   |         Q 
   16+20       0.6714      0.51  |         |         |      V  |         Q 
   16+25       0.6749      0.51  |         |         |      V  |         Q 
   16+30       0.6784      0.51  |         |         |      V  |         Q 

Item D - 273 of 1893



   16+35       0.6819      0.51  |         |         |      V  |         Q 
   16+40       0.6854      0.51  |         |         |      V  |         Q 
   16+45       0.6889      0.51  |         |         |      V  |         Q 
   16+50       0.6925      0.51  |         |         |      V  |         Q 
   16+55       0.6960      0.51  |         |         |       V |         Q 
   17+ 0       0.6995      0.51  |         |         |       V |         Q 
   17+ 5       0.7030      0.51  |         |         |       V |         Q 
   17+10       0.7065      0.51  |         |         |       V |         Q 
   17+15       0.7100      0.51  |         |         |       V |         Q 
   17+20       0.7135      0.51  |         |         |       V |         Q 
   17+25       0.7170      0.51  |         |         |       V |         Q 
   17+30       0.7206      0.51  |         |         |       V |         Q 
   17+35       0.7241      0.51  |         |         |        V|         Q 
   17+40       0.7276      0.51  |         |         |        V|         Q 
   17+45       0.7311      0.51  |         |         |        V|         Q 
   17+50       0.7346      0.51  |         |         |        V|         Q 
   17+55       0.7381      0.51  |         |         |        V|         Q 
   18+ 0       0.7416      0.51  |         |         |        V|         Q 
   18+ 5       0.7451      0.51  |         |         |        V|         Q 
   18+10       0.7487      0.51  |         |         |         V         Q 
   18+15       0.7522      0.51  |         |         |         V         Q 
   18+20       0.7557      0.51  |         |         |         V         Q 
   18+25       0.7592      0.51  |         |         |         V         Q 
   18+30       0.7627      0.51  |         |         |         V         Q 
   18+35       0.7662      0.51  |         |         |         V         Q 
   18+40       0.7697      0.51  |         |         |         V         Q 
   18+45       0.7732      0.51  |         |         |         |V        Q 
   18+50       0.7768      0.51  |         |         |         |V        Q 
   18+55       0.7803      0.51  |         |         |         |V        Q 
   19+ 0       0.7838      0.51  |         |         |         |V        Q 
   19+ 5       0.7873      0.51  |         |         |         |V        Q 
   19+10       0.7908      0.51  |         |         |         |V        Q 
   19+15       0.7943      0.51  |         |         |         |V        Q 
   19+20       0.7978      0.51  |         |         |         | V       Q 
   19+25       0.8013      0.51  |         |         |         | V       Q 
   19+30       0.8049      0.51  |         |         |         | V       Q 
   19+35       0.8084      0.51  |         |         |         | V       Q 
   19+40       0.8119      0.51  |         |         |         | V       Q 
   19+45       0.8154      0.51  |         |         |         | V       Q 
   19+50       0.8189      0.51  |         |         |         | V       Q 
   19+55       0.8224      0.51  |         |         |         |  V      Q 
   20+ 0       0.8259      0.51  |         |         |         |  V      Q 
   20+ 5       0.8294      0.51  |         |         |         |  V      Q 
   20+10       0.8330      0.51  |         |         |         |  V      Q 
   20+15       0.8365      0.51  |         |         |         |  V      Q 
   20+20       0.8400      0.51  |         |         |         |  V      Q 
   20+25       0.8435      0.51  |         |         |         |  V      Q 
   20+30       0.8470      0.51  |         |         |         |   V     Q 
   20+35       0.8505      0.51  |         |         |         |   V     Q 
   20+40       0.8540      0.51  |         |         |         |   V     Q 

Item D - 274 of 1893



   20+45       0.8575      0.51  |         |         |         |   V     Q 
   20+50       0.8611      0.51  |         |         |         |   V     Q 
   20+55       0.8646      0.51  |         |         |         |   V     Q 
   21+ 0       0.8681      0.51  |         |         |         |   V     Q 
   21+ 5       0.8716      0.51  |         |         |         |    V    Q 
   21+10       0.8751      0.51  |         |         |         |    V    Q 
   21+15       0.8786      0.51  |         |         |         |    V    Q 
   21+20       0.8821      0.51  |         |         |         |    V    Q 
   21+25       0.8856      0.51  |         |         |         |    V    Q 
   21+30       0.8892      0.51  |         |         |         |    V    Q 
   21+35       0.8927      0.51  |         |         |         |    V    Q 
   21+40       0.8962      0.51  |         |         |         |     V   Q 
   21+45       0.8997      0.51  |         |         |         |     V   Q 
   21+50       0.9032      0.51  |         |         |         |     V   Q 
   21+55       0.9067      0.51  |         |         |         |     V   Q 
   22+ 0       0.9102      0.51  |         |         |         |     V   Q 
   22+ 5       0.9137      0.51  |         |         |         |     V   Q 
   22+10       0.9173      0.51  |         |         |         |     V   Q 
   22+15       0.9208      0.51  |         |         |         |      V  Q 
   22+20       0.9243      0.51  |         |         |         |      V  Q 
   22+25       0.9278      0.51  |         |         |         |      V Q| 
   22+30       0.9312      0.50  |         |         |         |      V Q| 
   22+35       0.9347      0.50  |         |         |         |      V Q| 
   22+40       0.9381      0.49  |         |         |         |      VQ | 
   22+45       0.9414      0.49  |         |         |         |      VQ | 
   22+50       0.9448      0.49  |         |         |         |       Q | 
   22+55       0.9481      0.48  |         |         |         |      QV | 
   23+ 0       0.9515      0.48  |         |         |         |      QV | 
   23+ 5       0.9547      0.48  |         |         |         |      QV | 
   23+10       0.9580      0.47  |         |         |         |      QV | 
   23+15       0.9613      0.47  |         |         |         |     Q V | 
   23+20       0.9645      0.47  |         |         |         |     Q V | 
   23+25       0.9677      0.46  |         |         |         |     Q V | 
   23+30       0.9709      0.46  |         |         |         |     Q  V| 
   23+35       0.9740      0.46  |         |         |         |    Q   V| 
   23+40       0.9772      0.46  |         |         |         |    Q   V| 
   23+45       0.9803      0.45  |         |         |         |    Q   V| 
   23+50       0.9834      0.45  |         |         |         |    Q   V| 
   23+55       0.9865      0.45  |         |         |         |    Q   V| 
   24+ 0       0.9895      0.44  |         |         |         |   Q    V| 
   24+ 5       0.9923      0.40  |         |         |         |Q       V| 
   24+10       0.9936      0.20  |         |    Q    |         |        V| 
   24+15       0.9939      0.04  |  Q      |         |         |        V| 
   24+20       0.9940      0.01  Q         |         |         |        V| 
-----------------------------------------------------------------------
 ****************************HYDROGRAPH DATA****************************
   Number of intervals =   292
   Time interval =    5.0 (Min.)
   Maximum/Peak flow rate =        0.510 (CFS)
   Total volume =       0.994 (Ac.Ft)

Item D - 275 of 1893



  Status of hydrographs being held in storage
             Stream 1  Stream 2  Stream 3  Stream 4  Stream 5
  Peak (CFS)     17.408     0.000     0.000     0.000     0.000
  Vol (Ac.Ft)      1.085     0.000     0.000     0.000     0.000
 ***********************************************************************

 --------------------------------------------------------------------

Item D - 276 of 1893



Item D - 277 of 1893



Item D - 278 of 1893



Item D - 279 of 1893



Item D - 280 of 1893



APPENDIX 6 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENT (MPD MAP) 

Item D - 281 of 1893



IV

V

VI

VII
IX

XIV

VIII

30"

36"42"

36"

42"

42
"

36"

48
"

66
"

36"

30
"

30
"

42"

84
"

96
"

2-
6x

6

36"

72
"

72
"

84
"

90
" 30

"

90
"

42
"

36
"

48
"

10
8"

10
8"

30"

30"

108"

13
x9

2-
9x

7

24"

10X9

10
8"

42"

24
"

36
"

42
"

66
"

84
"

84
"

24"

84
"

24"

54
"

60
"

66
"

24"

24
" 78

"

36
"

24"

24"

24"

66"

66
"

36
"

42"

60"

24"

66"

24
"

54"

84" 84"

42
"

36"

54"

60
"

42
"

84" 96" 102"

42"

72"

96"

36"

30
"

72" 78"

30
"

60"

36"

54
"

36
"

48
"

42
"

66
"

30
"

54
"

72
"

30"

48"

120"

78
"

54"

30
"

36"

36
"

42"

42"

90"

60"

60"

96
"

10
2"

9x
7.

5

48"

36"

60
"

66
"

24
"

42
"

36
"

66
"

42
"

54
"

30
"

48
"

30
"

42
"

30"

60
"

72
"

78
"

84
"

60
"

36
"

48
"

48
"42

"

36
"

60
"

72
"

60
"

78
"

72
"

78
"

42"

54
"

42
"

48
"

60
"

48
"

66
"

72
"

60
" 60

"

66
"

66
"

42
"

30"36"

48
"

60
"

66
"

120" 132" (P)108"

60
"

30
"

42
"

30
"

30
"

48
"

60
"

36
" 48

"
66

"

42
"

48
"

54
"

72"

48"

48" 54"

72
"

54
"

48"

66
"

48"

72
"

60"

36
"

96
"

96"

60"

36"

36
"

36
"

78" 96" 102"

54"

66"

96
"

48"

13
2"

84"

54
"

48
"

54"

90"

36"

24
"

48"

90" 108"

60"

78"

24
"

54"

36"

30
"

24" 24" 24" 24" 24"

30"54"54"

72"
84"

42"48"

30
"

9x
7.

5
9x

7.
5

30"

36
"

36"

42"

36
"

84"

30
"

48
"

36"

120"

120"

24
"

87"

54
"

24"

48" 66"
66"

42
"

78"

48
"

54" 48"

42
"

66"

8th ST
BASINS

GROVE AVE
BASIN

ELY BASINS

RIVERSIDE DR
STORM DRAIN 2

ELY BASINS

EAST STATE ST
STORM DRAIN

EAST STATE ST
STORM DRAIN

FRANCIS ST
STORM DRAIN

WEST STATE STREET
STORM DRAIN

CHINO STORM DRAIN

MAGNOLIA
STORM DRAIN

 CYPRESS
CHANNEL

SULTANA
CYPRESS
STORM DRAIN

EAST STATE STREET
STORM DRAIN

RIVERSIDE DR
STORM DRAIN 1

RIVERSIDE DR
STORM DRAIN 1

LOWER
CUCAMONGA
SPREADING
GROUNDS

X"

X

project site

Item D - 282 of 1893



APPENDIX 7 

SOILS REPORT 

Item D - 283 of 1893



GEOTECHNICAL EXPLORATION REPORT 
PROPOSED EUCLID AND WALNUT 

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT 
112 WALNUT STREET, 2502 AND 2530 EUCLID AVENUE 

ONTARIO, CALIFORNIA 

Prepared For LEGACY/COLLIER RESIDENTIAL, LLC 
5154 CALIFORNIA AVENUE 
IRVINE, CALIFORNIA 92617 

Prepared By LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
17781 COWAN 
IRVINE, CALIFORNIA 92614 

Project No. 13493.001 

May 13, 2022 

Item D - 284 of 1893



May 13, 2022 
Project No. 13493.001 

Legacy/Collier Residential, LLC 
5154 California Avenue 
Irvine, California 92617 

Attention: Mr. David Pinto 

Subject: Geotechnical Exploration Report
Proposed “Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use” Development
112 Walnut Street, 2502 and 2530 Euclid Avenue
Ontario, San Bernardino County, California 

In accordance with our March 30, 2022 proposal, Leighton and Associates, Inc. submits this 
geotechnical engineering report for the proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development 
located at 112 Walnut Street, 2502 and 2530 Euclid Avenue in the City of Ontario, California.  The 
purpose of our study was to evaluate the subsurface soil and groundwater conditions at the site to 
provide geotechnical recommendations for the design and construction of the proposed concept as 
currently planned. The results of our exploration, findings, conclusions and recommendations are 
presented in this report.  

The recommendations presented in this report are considered to be preliminary and subject to 
revision based upon the limited information regarding the proposed development.  Upon review of 
project design concept plans, revision to the recommendations may be considered necessary.  In 
addition, revision to design recommendations may be necessary upon review by the local building 
official or their designated, third party technical reviewer. 

We sincerely appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you.  If you have any questions or if we 
can be of further service, please contact us at (866) LEIGHTON; directly at the phone extensions or 
e-mail as listed below.

Respectfully submitted, 

LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 

Eric M. Holliday, PG, 9219   John E. Haertle, PE, GE 2352 
Senior Project Geologist Principal Engineer 
Ext 4252, eholliday@leightongroup.com Ext: 4268, jhaertle@leightongroup.com 

EMH/JEH/ lr 

Item D - 285 of 1893

mailto:eholliday@leightongroup.com
mailto:jhaertle@leightongroup.com


Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

TOC Page i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section Page

1.0 INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................. 1 

1.1 Site Description .......................................................................................... 1 
1.2 Proposed Development ............................................................................. 1 

1.2.1 Structural Loads .............................................................................. 2 
1.2.2 Finish Floor Elevations .................................................................... 2 
1.2.3 Pavement ........................................................................................ 2 
1.2.4 Ancillary Improvements ................................................................... 3 

1.3 Purpose and Scope ................................................................................... 3 

2.0 GEOTECHNICAL FINDINGS ............................................................................... 6 

2.1 Regional Geologic Setting ......................................................................... 6 
2.2 Surficial Geology ........................................................................................ 6 
2.3 Subsurface Soil Conditions ........................................................................ 6 

2.3.1 Undocumented Artificial Fill (Afu) .................................................... 7 
2.3.2 Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Fan Deposits (Qyf) ...................... 7 

2.4 Engineering Properties .............................................................................. 7 

2.4.1 Expansive Soil Characteristics ........................................................ 7 
2.4.2 Soil Corrosivity ................................................................................ 8 
2.4.3 Soil Compressibility ......................................................................... 8 
2.4.4 Shear Strength ................................................................................ 9 
2.4.5 Excavation Characteristics .............................................................. 9 

2.5 Groundwater Conditions ............................................................................ 9 
2.6 Infiltration ................................................................................................. 10 

3.0 SEISMIC AND GEOLOGIC  HAZARDS ............................................................ 12 

3.1 Surface Fault Rupture .............................................................................. 12 
3.2 Regional Faulting ..................................................................................... 12 
3.3 Strong Ground Shaking ........................................................................... 12 
3.4 Liquefaction Potential............................................................................... 14 
3.5 Seismically-Induced Settlement ............................................................... 14 
3.6 Lateral Spreading .................................................................................... 15 
3.7 Earthquake-Induced Landsliding ............................................................. 16 
3.8 Flooding ................................................................................................... 16 
3.9 Seiches and Tsunamis............................................................................. 16 
3.10 Methane ................................................................................................... 17 

4.0 FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS ...................................................................... 18 

5.0 GEOTECHNICAL DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS .......................................... 19 

Item D - 286 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

TOC Page ii 

5.1 Earthwork ................................................................................................. 19 

5.1.1 Site Preparation ............................................................................ 20 
5.1.2 Removals and Overexcavations .................................................... 20 
5.1.3 Subgrade Preparation ................................................................... 21 
5.1.4 Fill Placement and Compaction..................................................... 22 
5.1.5 Shrinkage and Bulking .................................................................. 22 
5.1.6 Reuse of Concrete and Asphalt Rubble ........................................ 23 

5.2 Foundation Design ................................................................................... 24 

5.2.1 Vertical Load Bearing Capacity ..................................................... 24 
5.2.2 Lateral Load Resistance ............................................................... 25 
5.2.3 Settlement Estimate ...................................................................... 26 

5.3 Slab-on-Grade Floors .............................................................................. 26 
5.4 Temporary Excavations ........................................................................... 27 
5.5 Trench Backfill ......................................................................................... 28 
5.6 Soil Corrosivity ......................................................................................... 29 
5.7 Cement Type ........................................................................................... 30 
5.8 Elevator Pit Wall Design .......................................................................... 31 
5.9 Pavements ............................................................................................... 31 

5.9.1 Pavement Subgrades .................................................................... 31 
5.9.2 Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) Pavement Sections .................................. 31 
5.9.3 Portland Cement Concrete (PCC) Pavements .............................. 33 

5.10 Concrete Flatwork and Exterior Slabs...................................................... 33 
Surface .................................................................................................... 34 

5.11 Drainage .................................................................................................. 34 
5.12 Additional Geotechnical Services ............................................................ 35 

6.0 LIMITATIONS ..................................................................................................... 36 

7.0 REFERENCES ................................................................................................... 38 

Tables 

Table 1 – Measured (Unfactored) Infiltration Rate ........................................................ 10 
Table 2 – 2019 CBC Based Ground Motion Parameters (Mapped Values) .................. 13 
Table 3 – Seismically-Induced Settlement - MCEG Seismic Event ................................ 15 
Table 4 – Soil Corrosivity as a Function of Resistivity ................................................... 29 
Table 5 – Summary of Corrosivity Testing .................................................................... 30 
Table 6 – Asphalt Pavement Sections ........................................................................... 32 

Item D - 287 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

TOC Page iii 

Attachments 

Important Information About Your Geotechnical Engineering Report  Rear of Text 

Figure 1 – Site Location Map Rear of Text 
Figure 2 – Geotechnical Map Rear of Text 
Figure 3 – Regional Geology Map Rear of Text 
Figure 4 – Regional Fault Map and Historical Seismicity Map Rear of Text 
Figure 5 – Flood Hazard Zone Map Rear of Text 
Figure 6 – Dam Inundation Map Rear of Text 
Figure 7 – Retaining Wall Backfill and Subdrain Detail (EI≤50) Rear of Text 

Appendix A – Exploration Logs 
Appendix B – Percolation Test Data 
Appendix C – Laboratory Test Results 
Appendix D – General Earthworks and Grading Recommendations 

Item D - 288 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 1 

1.0  INTRODUCTION

1.1 Site Description

The project site is a rectangular parcel of land, approximately 10.6-acres in size, 
located at the northwest corner of Walnut Street and Euclid Avenue in the city of 
Ontario, California. The site consists of the properties located at the street 
addresses of 112 W. Walnut Street, and 2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue.  The 
site is bordered by Euclid Avenue on the east, Walnut Street to the south, and 
residential development on the west and north.  The southeastern region of the 
property is occupied by an existing Carl’s Jr. restaurant.   The site location (latitude 
34.0275°, longitude -117.6524°) and immediate vicinity are shown on Figure 1, 
Site Location Map.   

Based on visual site reconnaissance and review of the Alta/NSPS Land Title 
Survey prepared by Hillwig-Goodrow Inc., the site is currently occupied by a large 
rectangular-shaped structure formerly used as a K-Mart store located in the 
western portion of the site, and a strip mall retail development in the northeast 
region.  The remainder of the site was generally paved with asphalt concrete and 
served as the parking lot for the development.  The property is relatively flat, 
generally level with the adjacent roadways with site elevations (EL.) ranging from 
approximately EL. +823 feet above mean sea level (msl) in the northeastern region 
to approximately EL. +812 feet msl in the southwest region.  

Based on review of historic aerial photographs (NETR, 2021), the project site 
appears to have a similar configuration dating back to at least 1985. The strip mall 
located in the northeast corner of the site was constructed between 1980 and 1985 
and the K-Mart and Carl’s Jr. structures were constructed at some point between 
1966 and 1980. Prior to at least 1966, the site seems to have been used for 
agricultural purposes. 

1.2 Proposed Development

Our understanding of the proposed development is based on review of the Euclid 
and Walnut Mixed Use Site Plan Options A and B, Scale 1” = 100’, dated March 
10, 2022, prepared by AO Architects (AOA, 2022). The development conceptually 
consists of two options for a proposed mixed-use development with 3- to 4-story 
residential and commercial structures: 

Item D - 289 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 2 

• Option A includes a total of 346 residential units in 8 structures with 5,000
square feet of commercial development. In the Option A development scheme
it appears the existing Carl’s Jr. restaurant in the southeast corner of the site
will remain.

• Option B consists of full-site development with 376 residential units in 10
structures with 11,400 square feet of commercial development.

We understand the current preferred option for development is Option A and, 
therefore, is the development scheme that serves as the basis for the geotechnical 
recommendations presented in this report.  Ancillary improvements will include 
pavement for vehicle access and parking, landscaping, utility infrastructure, and 
flatwork. 

1.2.1 Structural Loads

Information regarding total building height, finish floor elevations, and 
proposed loading conditions were not readily available at the time of this 
report. However, we understand that subterranean levels are not currently 
planned.  Based upon the type of development planned for project site and 
our experience with similar developments, the buildings have been 
assumed to consist of wood frame structures supported by load bearing wall 
and isolated columns.  Structural loads have been assumed to be a 
maximum of 3 kips per lineal foot for bearing walls and 40 kips for columns, 
Should additional design information become available, it should be 
provided to Leighton for review.  

1.2.2 Finish Floor Elevations

The finish first floor elevations of the proposed structures have been 
assumed to be within 1 to 2 feet of existing grade with floor elevations 
established or minimize cut and fill required on site.  The actual quantity of 
cut and fill will be dependent upon the actual floor elevations determined by 
the project civil engineer and the quantity of overexcavation required to 
prepare building pad areas.  

1.2.3 Pavement

Pavements proposed for the development are expected to be primarily 
subjected to automobiles and occasional heavy truck traffic. Pavement 

Item D - 290 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 3 

recommendations have been based upon a Traffic Index of 4.0 for 
automobile parking stalls; 5.0 for general purpose drive aisles; and 6.0 for 
areas subject to heavy trucks. Pavement recommendations have been 
based upon a twenty-year design life.  

1.2.4 Ancillary Improvements

Based on email correspondence with Mr. Steve Ellis with Fuscoe 
Engineering, Inc., we understand preliminary infiltration system design is 
considering an invert depth of 15 feet below ground surface (bgs) along the 
southern property line.  

1.3 Purpose and Scope

The purpose of our geotechnical exploration was to evaluate the subsurface 
conditions at the site relative to the proposed development concept and provide 
geotechnical recommendations to aid in the design and construction for the project 
as currently planned.  The scope of this geotechnical exploration included the 
following tasks:  

• Background Review – We reviewed readily available in-house geotechnical
reports, literature, aerial photographs, and maps relevant to the site.  We
evaluated geological hazards and potential geotechnical issues that may
significantly impact the site.  The documents reviewed are listed in Section 7.0.

• Pre-Field Exploration Activities – A site visit was performed by a member of our
technical staff to mark the proposed exploration locations. Underground
Service Alert (USA) was notified to identify and mark the locations of existing
underground utilities prior to our subsurface exploration.

• Field Exploration – Our subsurface exploration was performed on April 6, 2022
and included drilling, logging, and sampling of five (5) hollow-stem auger
borings (designated LB-1 through LB-5) to approximate depths ranging from
25 to 51½ feet below the existing ground surface (bgs).  One (1) additional
boring (designated LP-2) was drilled to an approximate depth of 20 feet bgs for
subsequent percolation testing.  To supplement the hollow-stem auger borings,
four (4) Cone Penetrometer Test (CPT) soundings (designated CPT-1 through
CPT-4) were advanced to depths of approximately 50 feet bgs. The
approximate locations of the explorations are shown on Figure 2, Geotechnical
Map.  The boring and CPT logs are presented in Appendix A, Exploration Logs.

Item D - 291 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 4 

During drilling of the hollow-stem auger borings both bulk and drive samples 
were obtained from the borings for geotechnical laboratory testing.  Driven ring 
samples were collected from the borings using a Modified California ring-lined 
sampler conducted in accordance with ASTM Test Method D 3550. 
Representative samples were also collected by conducting the Standard 
Penetration Test (SPT) within the borings in accordance with ASTM Test 
Method D 1586.  Samples were collected at 5-foot intervals throughout the 
depth of exploration.  In both test methods, the sampler is driven below the 
bottom of the borehole by a 140-pound weight (hammer) free-falling 30 inches. 
The drilling rig was equipped with an automatic hammer to provide greater 
consistency in the drop height and striking frequency.  The number of blows to 
drive the sampler the final 12-inches of the 18-inch drive interval is termed the 
“blowcount” or SPT N-value.  The N-values provide a measure of relative 
density in granular (non-cohesive) soils and comparative consistency in 
cohesive soils. The number of blows per 6 inches of penetration was recorded 
on the boring logs included in Appendix A, Exploration Logs.   

The borings were logged in the field by a geologist from our firm.  Each soil 
sample collected was reviewed and described in accordance with the Unified 
Soil Classification System (USCS).  The samples were sealed and packaged 
for transportation to our laboratory.  After completion of drilling, the borings 
were backfilled with soil cuttings and patched with cold-mix asphalt concrete at 
the surface.      

• Percolation Testing – Boring LB-4 /LP-1 and LP-2 were converted to temporary
percolation test wells upon completion of drilling and sampling.  The test wells
consisted of 2-inch diameter slotted (0.020”) PVC well casing surrounded by
#3 Monterey Sand placed in the annulus of the borehole within the test zone.
In-situ percolation testing was performed in general accordance with the
County of San Bernardino guidelines. The results of the percolation testing are
presented in Appendix B, Percolation Test Data.  Additional details regarding
the field percolation tests and results are presented in Section 2.4.1, Infiltration.
Upon completion of the percolation testing, the well casing was removed from
each boring and the borings were backfilled with soil cuttings and patched at
the surface with cold-mix asphalt concrete to match existing site conditions.

• Laboratory Testing – Laboratory tests were performed on selected soil samples
obtained from the borings during our field exploration.  The laboratory testing

Item D - 292 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 5 

program was designed to evaluate the physical and engineering characteristics 
of the onsite soil.  Tests performed during this exploration included:  

˗ In- situ Moisture Content and Dry Density (ASTM D2216 and ASTM D2937); 

˗ Atterberg Limits (ASTM D 4318) 

˗ Direct Shear (ASTM D 3080) 

˗ Consolidation (ASTM D 2435); 

˗ One Dimensional Swell or Settlement (ASTM D 4546) 

˗ Maximum Dry Density (ASTM D 1557); 

˗ Particle Size Distribution (ASTM D 6913); 

˗ Expansion Index (ASTM D 4829); 

˗ R-value (DOT CA Test 301)

˗ Sand Equivalent Test (DOT CA Test 217); and 

˗ Corrosivity Suite – pH, Sulfate, Chloride, and Resistivity (California Test 
Methods 417, 422, and 532/643). 

Results of the in-situ moisture content and dry density testing are presented on 
the boring logs in Appendix A.  Other laboratory test results are presented in 
Appendix C, Laboratory Test Results  

• Engineering Analysis – The data obtained from our background review and field
exploration were evaluated and analyzed to develop recommendations for the
proposed development.

• Report Preparation – This report presents our findings, conclusions, and
recommendations for the proposed development.

Item D - 293 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 6 

2.0  GEOTECHNICAL FINDINGS

2.1 Regional Geologic Setting

The project site is located in the Chino Basin in the northern portion of the 
Peninsular Ranges geomorphic province of California.  Major structural features 
surround this region, including the Cucamonga fault and the San Gabriel 
Mountains to the north, the Chino fault and Puente/Chino Hills to the west, and the 
San Jacinto fault to the east.  This is an area of large-scale crustal disturbance as 
the relatively northwestward moving Peninsular Ranges province collides with the 
Transverse Ranges province (San Gabriel Mountains) to the north. Several active 
and potentially active faults have been mapped in the region and are believed to 
accommodate compression associated with this collision.  The Sierra Madre fault, 
a major structural feature along the southern flank of the San Gabriel Mountains, 
is located approximately 8.3 miles north of the site.  This fault, as well as other 
faults in the region, has the potential for generating strong ground motions at the 
project site.  Further discussion of faulting relative to the site is provided in Section 
3.0, Seismic and Geologic Hazards. 

The site is located in an area underlain by thick accumulations of alluvial sand, silt, 
gravel, cobbles, and boulders eroded from the mountains and deposited in the site 
vicinity by the Santa Ana River and smaller tributaries such as the San Antonio 
Creek and Cucamonga Creek (Morton and Miller, 2006; Dibblee, 2002).    

2.2 Surficial Geology

The Quaternary age deposits that cover the floor and margins of the Chino Basin 
are composed primarily of unconsolidated recent (Holocene) young alluvial fan 
deposits consisting predominately of sands and gravels derived from the 
surrounding mountains and hills with finer clays and silts deposited into the basin 
over the broad floodplain.  The surficial geologic units mapped in the vicinity of the 
project site are shown on Figure 3, Regional Geology Map.   

2.3 Subsurface Soil Conditions

Based on our subsurface explorations, the site is underlain by a relatively thin 
mantle of undocumented artificial fill materials (Afu) overlying Quaternary-aged 
(Holocene) young alluvial fan deposits (Qyf).   

Item D - 294 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 7 

A general description of the encountered soils is presented as follows: 

2.3.1 Undocumented Artificial Fill (Afu)

The artificial fill encountered in our borings extended to a depth of 
approximately 5 feet below grade and likely associated with the existing site 
improvements.  In general, the encountered fill soils consist primarily of 
sandy silt and silty sand.  Localized thicker accumulations of fill materials 
may be present between explored locations, particularly beneath the 
existing buildings.   

2.3.2 Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Fan Deposits (Qyf)

Below the mantle of artificial fill material, Quaternary-aged young alluvial 
fan deposits were encountered in the borings to the maximum depth 
explored (approximately 51½  feet). As encountered, this younger alluvial 
unit consists of stiff to very stiff sandy silt, silty clay, and clay; interbedded 
with medium dense to dense silty sand, sand with silt, and sand with gravel. 
Although relatively variable across the site, in general, fine-grained material 
is more prevalent in the upper 15 to 25 feet with coarser grained material 
becoming more frequent at depths of 25 feet or greater.   

Detailed descriptions of the subsurface soils encountered in the borings are 
presented on the logs included in Appendix A.  The locations of the borings are 
shown on Figure 2, Geotechnical Location Map.  

2.4 Engineering Properties

The results of laboratory testing are presented in Appendix C of this report. 
Discussion regarding select engineering properties of these soils are described in 
the following sections based upon the results of the laboratory testing program. 

2.4.1 Expansive Soil Characteristics

Expansive soils contain significant amounts of clay particles that swell 
considerably when wetted and which shrink when dried.  Foundations 
constructed on these soils are subject to uplifting forces caused by the 
swelling.  Without proper mitigation measures, heaving and cracking of both 
building foundations and slabs-on-grade could result. 

Item D - 295 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 8 

One (1) near-surface bulk soil sample collected from Boring LB-1 was 
tested for expansion potential.  The test results indicate an Expansion Index 
(EI) value of 18, corresponding to a “Very Low” expansion potential.  The 
Expansion Index laboratory test results are included in Appendix C of this 
report.   

Variance in expansion potential of onsite soil is anticipated; therefore, 
additional testing is recommended upon completion of site grading and 
excavation to confirm the expansion potential presented in this report. For 
purposes of this report and based upon visual characterization of alluvial 
materials at approximate foundation depth, low expansion potential of site 
materials may be considered to support design and verified upon 
completion of earthwork grading.     

2.4.2 Soil Corrosivity

One (1) near-surface bulk soil sample collected from Boring LB-3 was 
tested for corrosivity to assess corrosion potential to buried concrete.  The 
chemical analysis test results for the onsite soil from our geotechnical 
exploration are included in Appendix C of this report.   

The test results indicate a soluble sulfate concentration of 266 parts per 
million (ppm), chloride content of 40 ppm, pH 7.92, and a minimum 
resistivity value of 1,335 ohm-cm. 

The results of the resistivity tests indicate the underlying soil is severely 
corrosive to buried ferrous metals per ASTM STP 1013.  Based on the 
measured water-soluble sulfate contents from the soil samples, concrete in 
contact with the soil is expected to have negligible exposure to sulfate attack 
per ACI 318 (ACI, 2014).  The samples tested for water-soluble chloride 
content indicate a low potential for corrosion of steel in concrete due to the 
chloride content of the soil. 

2.4.3 Soil Compressibility

Three (3) samples of the onsite soils recovered from the borings were 
subjected to consolidation testing to evaluate the compressibility of these 
materials under assumed loads representative of anticipated structural 
bearing stresses.  The results of testing indicate these soils exhibit a low 

Item D - 296 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 9 

compressibility potential.  The results of testing are presented in Appendix 
C. 

2.4.4 Shear Strength

Evaluation of the shear strength characteristics of the soils included 
laboratory direct shear testing.  The results of testing are included in 
Appendix C that provide values of angle of internal friction (ø) and cohesion 
(c) for use in geotechnical analysis.

2.4.5 Excavation Characteristics

Based on our subsurface explorations performed at the site and our 
experience from grading jobs in the vicinity of the site, we anticipate the 
onsite artificial fill and alluvial materials can generally be excavated using 
conventional excavation equipment in good operating condition.   

The soils within the planned excavation depths are variable, and locally 
consist of layers that contain granular, unconsolidated soils with little or no 
cementation and few fines.  These materials are prone to cave in or collapse 
in unshored excavations.  See Section 5.4, Temporary Excavations for 
additional information on soil type and excavation characteristics. 

2.5 Groundwater Conditions

Groundwater was not encountered during our subsurface exploration to the 
maximum depth of 51.5 feet bgs.  Based on review of the Chino Basin Optimum 
Basin Management Plan 2008 State of the Basin Report (Wildermuth, 2009), 
groundwater depth at the site is anticipated to be on the order of approximately 
225 feet bgs.  Review of available information from the California Department of 
Water Resources (DWR, 2022) for a nearby groundwater monitoring well located 
approximately 1.8 miles northwest of the project site (State Well # 
01S07W29A001S) indicates the shallowest groundwater level measured for a 
monitoring period between October 1959 and September 2021 was approximately 
214 feet bgs in 1959; with the most recent groundwater levels documented to be 
on the order of 250 feet bgs. 

Based on these findings, groundwater is not expected to pose a constraint during 
or after construction.  Fluctuations of the groundwater level, localized zones of 
perched water, and an increase in soil moisture, should be anticipated during and 

Item D - 297 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 10 

following the rainy seasons or periods of locally intense rainfall or storm water 
runoff, or from stormwater infiltration. 

2.6 Infiltration

Percolation testing was performed in temporary wells installed within borings LB-
4/LP-1 and LP-2 located in the southern region of the site with test zone at depths 
of 17 to 22 feet bgs and 15 to 20 feet bgs, respectively. The percolation tests were 
conducted in general accordance with the San Bernardino County Technical 
Guidance Document (TGD) for Water Quality Management Plans (2013).  Results 
of the percolation testing are presented in Appendix B.  The test locations and tested 
depth intervals are shown on Figure 2.  

A boring percolation test is useful for field measurements of the infiltration rate of 
soils, and is suited for testing when the design depth of the infiltration device is 
deeper than current existing grades, especially in areas where it is difficult to dig test 
pits, or where the depths of these test pits would be considerably deep.  At the 
subject site, testing consisted of advancing the borings to the anticipated depth for 
the invert of the proposed infiltration devices.  

The Percolation Test Procedure (falling-head test method) as outlined in the County 
Guidelines was implemented at each percolation test well location. The infiltration 
rate was calculated by dividing the rate of discharge by the infiltration surface area, 
or flow area.  The volume of discharge was calculated by adding the total volume of 
water that dropped within the PVC pipe and within the annulus, and incorporating a 
porosity reduction factor to account for the porosity of the annulus material.  The 
flow area was based on the average water height within the test well.   

Detailed results of the field testing data and measured infiltration rate for the test 
well are presented in Appendix B.  The test results are summarized in the table 
below:  

Table 1 – Measured (Unfactored) Infiltration Rate

Test Well
Designation

Approximate Depth of
Test Zone (feet bgs)

Measured
Infiltration Rate

(inches per hour)
LB-4/LP-1 17 to 22 0.32 

LP-2 15 to 20 0.69 

Item D - 298 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 11 

Based on the results of our field percolation testing that was performed at the site, 
the measured (unfactored) infiltration rates for the two (2) tests performed were 
0.32 inches per hour (LB-4/LP-1) and 0.69 inches per hour (LP-2), respectively.  
According to the San Bernardino County Technical Guidance Document (TGD) for 
Water Quality Management Plans (2013), the measured infiltration rate at both test 
well locations technically exceeds the minimum feasibility criteria of 0.3 inch per 
hour. However, implementation of a minimum factor of safety of 2.0 as required for 
the design infiltration rate indicates the depth and location tested for LB-4/LP-1 is 
considered infeasible for infiltration.  

In consideration of the general greater prevalence of coarse-grained material at 
the site below depths of 25 feet or deeper, a more feasible infiltration rate may be 
achieved in percolation testing performed at depths greater than those tested 
during this exploration.  

Item D - 299 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 12 

3.0 SEISMIC AND GEOLOGIC  HAZARDS

Depending upon the geographic location and geologic setting of a particular site in 
southern California, seismic-related hazards can include surface fault rupture; 
strong ground shaking; seismically-induced landslides; liquefaction and associated 
effects such as settlement and/or lateral spreading; and seiches, tsunamis and/or 
flooding depending upon the proximity of bodies of water.  The following sections 
discuss each of these hazards and potential effect upon this site. 

3.1 Surface Fault Rupture

Known surface faults in the region are mapped on Figure 4, Regional Surface Fault 
and Historical Seismicity Map. Review of available literature indicates that no 
known active faults have been mapped across the site, and the site is not located 
within a currently established Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone (Bryant and 
Hart, 2007).  Therefore, a surface fault rupture hazard evaluation is not mandated 
for this site. Given an absence of known faults, potential risk for surface fault 
rupture at this site is low.  

3.2 Regional Faulting

The location of the closest active faults to the site was evaluated using the United 
States Geological Survey (USGS) Earthquake Hazards Program National Seismic 
Hazard Maps (USGS, 2008b).  The closest active faults to the site with the potential 
for surface fault rupture are the Chino fault, San Jose fault, Cucamonga fault and 
Sierra Madre fault, located approximately 4.7 miles, 6.0 miles, 7.9 miles and 8.3 
miles from the site, respectively.  The San Andreas fault, which is the largest active 
fault in California, is approximately 20.3 miles northeast of the site on the north 
side of the San Gabriel Mountains.  As discussed, major regional faults with 
surface expression in proximity to the site are shown on Figure 4, Regional Fault 
and Historic Seismicity Map.  

3.3 Strong Ground Shaking

The principal seismic hazard to the site is ground shaking resulting from an 
earthquake occurring along any of several major active and potentially active faults 
in southern California (Figure 4).  The intensity of ground shaking at a given 
location depends primarily upon the earthquake magnitude, the distance from the 
source, and the site response characteristics.  Accordingly, design of the project 
should be performed in accordance with all applicable current codes and standards 

Item D - 300 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 13 

utilizing the appropriate seismic design parameters to reduce seismic risk as 
defined by California Geological Survey (CGS) Chapter 2 of Special Publication 
117A (CGS, 2008).  The 2019 edition of the California Building Code (CBC) is the 
current edition of the code.  Through compliance with these regulatory 
requirements and the utilization of appropriate seismic design parameters selected 
by the design professionals, potential effects relating to seismic shaking can be 
reduced.  

The following code-based seismic parameters should be considered for design 
under the 2019 CBC: 

Table 2 – 2019 CBC Based Ground Motion Parameters (Mapped Values)

Categorization/Coefficient Code-Based
Site Latitude 34.0275° 

Site Longitude -117.6523°
Site Class D 

Mapped Spectral Response Acceleration at Short Period (0.2 sec), SS 1.5 g 
Mapped Spectral Response Acceleration at Long Period (1 sec), S1 0.579 g 

Short Period (0.2 sec) Site Coefficient, Fa 1.0 
Long Period (1 sec) Site Coefficient, Fv 1.72* 

Adjusted Spectral Response Acceleration at Short Period (0.2 sec), SMS 1.5 g 
Adjusted Spectral Response Acceleration at Long Period (1 sec), SM1 0.996* 

Design Spectral Response Acceleration at Short Period (0.2 sec), SDS 1.0 g 
Design Spectral Response Acceleration at Long Period (1 sec), SD1 0.664* 

Site Coefficient for Peak Ground Acceleration, FPGA 1.1 
Peak Ground Acceleration adjusted for Site Class effects, PGAM 0.644 g 

1. All were derived from the ASCE 7 Hazard Tool web page:  https://asce7hazardtool.online/
2. All coefficients in units of g (spectral acceleration)
3. *Requires Cs calculation, see Note below.

Based on Table 1613.2.3(2) of the 2019 CBC, the long period site coefficient (Fv) 
should be determined in accordance with Section 11.4.8 of ASCE 7-16 since the 
mapped spectral response acceleration at 1 second is greater than 0.2g for Site 
Class D.  In accordance with Section 11.4.8 of ASCE 7-16, a site-specific seismic 
analysis is required; however, the values provided herein may be utilized if design 

Item D - 301 of 1893

https://asce7hazardtool.online/


Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 14 

is performed in accordance with exception (2) in Section 11.4.8 of ASCE 7-16, with 
special requirements for the seismic response coefficient (Cs) as noted below. 
The project structural engineer should review the seismic parameters.  

Note:  Long period coefficient (Fv) of 1.7 may be utilized for calculation of Ts, provided 
that the value of the Seismic Response Coefficient (Cs) is determined by Equation 12.8-
2 for values of the fundamental period of the building (T) less than or equal to 1.5Ts, and 
taken as 1.5 times the value computed in accordance with either equation 12.8-3 for T 
greater than 1.5 Ts and less than or equal to TL or equation 12.8-4 for T greater than TL. 

3.4 Liquefaction Potential

The term liquefaction is generally referenced to loss of strength and stiffness in soils 
due to build-up of pore water pressure when subject to cyclic or monotonic loading. 
Both sandy and clayey soils are susceptible to loss of strength and stiffness. 
Because of the difference in strength characteristic and methods for evaluating 
strength loss potential for granular and clayey soils, the term liquefaction is used for 
granular soils while cyclic softening is used for fine-grained soils (i.e. clays and 
plastic silts). 

In general, adverse effects of liquefaction or cyclic softening include excessive 
ground settlement, loss of bearing support for structural foundations, and 
seismically-induced lateral ground deformations such as lateral spreading. 
Depending upon the relative thickness of the liquefied strata with respect to overlying 
non-liquefiable soils, other potentially adverse effects such as ground oscillation and 
ground fissuring may occur. 

As regionally mapped on the California Geological Survey Earthquake Zones of 
Required Investigation (EZRIM) for the Ontario Quadrangle (CGS, 200) and shown 
on Figure 4, Seismic Hazard Zone Map, the site is not within an area potentially 
susceptible to liquefaction.    In addition, review of the San Bernardino County 
Geologic Hazard Overlays map FH27C (2010), the project site is not located within 
a County liquefaction susceptibility zone.  The historically shallowest groundwater 
level recorded by DWR near the site is 214 feet bgs and the recent recorded depth 
to groundwater is greater than 200 feet bgs.  Based on these findings, liquefaction 
is not considered a hazard at the site.      

3.5 Seismically-Induced Settlement

Seismically-induced settlement consists of dynamic settlement of unsaturated soil 
(above groundwater) and liquefaction-induced settlement (below groundwater). 

Item D - 302 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 15 

These settlements occur primarily within low density sandy soil due to reduction in 
volume during and shortly after an earthquake event.  

As previously discussed, the site is not considered susceptible to the occurrence of 
liquefaction.  Therefore, seismically-induced settlement will consist solely of 
densification of non-saturated soils upon exposure to strong ground shaking. 
Evaluation of the potential for such seismically-induced settlements to occur was 
performed for the Geomean Maximum Considered Event (MCEG) and the 
associated ground motion that corresponds to a 2,475 year average return period 
(ARP) for the CPT soundings that were advanced to a depth of 50 feet below grade. 
The results of the analysis are presented below: 

Table 3 – Seismically-Induced Settlement - MCEG Seismic Event

Design Scenario CPT
I.D.

Settlement (inches) 

PGA MW Liquefaction(1) Non-Liquefaction(2) Total

0.64 6.78 CPT-1 No Liquefaction 0.23 0.23 

CPT-2 No Liquefaction 0.09 0.09 

CPT-3A No Liquefaction 0.16 0.16 

CPT-4 No Liquefaction 0.45 0.45 

Notes: (1) Liquefaction-induced settlement; Design Groundwater below depth of 50 feet
(2) Non-liquefaction induced (“dry sand”) settlement

The results of the analysis indicated the magnitude of seismically-induced 
settlement under the MCEG scenario will be less than ½ to 1 inch.  Based on the 
general consistency in soil conditions as depicted by the test borings conducted at 
the site, the differential settlement is estimated to be approximately ½ inch over a 
distance of at least 40 feet, which results in an angular distortion less than 0.0021 
in./in., which is anticipated to be within tolerable levels for structural design.   

3.6 Lateral Spreading

Liquefaction may also cause lateral spreading.  For lateral spreading to occur, the 
liquefiable zone must be continuous, unconstrained laterally, and free to move along 
gently sloping ground toward an unconfined area.  Since the site is relatively flat and 
constrained laterally and liquefaction is not considered a hazard at the site, 
earthquake-induced lateral spreading is also not considered a hazard at the site. 

Item D - 303 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 16 

3.7 Earthquake-Induced Landsliding

As regionally mapped on the California Geological Survey Earthquake Zones of 
Required Investigation for the Torrance Quadrangle (CGS, March 25, 1999) and 
shown on Figure 4, Seismic Hazard Zone Map, the site is not located within an 
area potentially susceptible to liquefaction (CGS, 2000a).  Review of the San 
Bernardino County Geologic Hazard Overlays map FH27C (2010) indicates the 
project site is not located within a County landslide susceptibility zone.  The project 
site is relatively flat with no significant slopes on or immediately adjacent. It is our 
opinion that seismically-induced landsliding is not considered a hazard at the site. 

3.8 Flooding

According to a Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) flood insurance 
rate map (FEMA, 2015), the project site is located within a flood hazard area 
identified as “Zone X”, which is defined as an area of minimal flood hazard. 
Regionally, storm runoff flow is generally directed to the southwest.  As shown on 
Figure 5, Flood Hazard Zone Map, the site is not located within a 100-year or 500-
year flood hazard zone. 

Earthquake-induced flooding can be caused by failure of dams or other water-
retaining structures as a result of earthquakes.  As shown on Figure 6, Dam 
Inundation Map, the site is mapped within an inundation zone associated with San 
Antonio Dam.  Catastrophic failure of this dam is expected to be a very unlikely event 
in that dam safety regulations exist and are enforced by the DOSD, Army Corps of 
Engineers and Department of Water Resources.  Inspectors may require dam 
owners to perform work, maintenance or implement controls if issues are found with 
the safety of the dam. Due to the location and distance of the site from San Antonio 
Dam, along with the unlikely failure of the dam, the potential for earthquake-induced 
flooding to occur due to a failure of this dam is considered low.   

3.9 Seiches and Tsunamis

Seiches are large waves generated in enclosed bodies of water in response to 
ground shaking.  Tsunamis are waves generated in large bodies of water by fault 
displacement or major ground movement.  Based on the absence of an enclosed 
water body near the site and the inland location of the site, seiche and tsunami 
risks at the site are considered negligible. 

Item D - 304 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 17 

3.10 Methane

Based on review of State of California Geologic Energy Management Division 
(CalGEM) records, the project site is not located within an oil field boundary 
(CalGEM, 2021).  The nearest documented oil well to the site is located 
approximately 0.6 miles southwest of the site (API# 0407100083; Donald B. 
Lamont, Donald B. Lamont Lease, Well No. 1) and is reported as a plugged dry 
hole  (CalGEM, 2021).  Based on these findings, the potential for methane hazard 
at the site is low.    

Item D - 305 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 18 

4.0    FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

No evidence of adverse geological or geotechnical hazards was noted at the site that will 
preclude the development of the project as currently planned.  Presented below is a 
summary of findings based upon the results of our geotechnical exploration of the site. 
Geotechnical recommendations for design and construction are presented in Section 4.0 
of this report.  

• The potential for surface fault rupture is considered to be low since the site is not 
located in a designated Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone.   

• The site may be subjected to strong ground shaking during the design life of the 
proposed development due to the proximity of several active faults in the vicinity of the 
site.  The Chino fault, located approximately 4.7 miles southwest of the site is the 
nearest active fault to the site with a potential for surface rupture and generation of 
strong ground shaking.  However, strong ground shaking may occur at the site due to 
seismic activity on one of a number of faults in the area.       

• The site is not located within an area shown as susceptible to liquefaction according 
to the CGS Earthquake Zones of Required Investigation Map for the Ontario 
Quadrangle or the San Bernardino County Geologic Hazard Overlays map FH27C. 
Given the lack of shallow groundwater underlying the site, the potential for liquefaction 
is considered low.   

• Groundwater was not encountered to the maximum depth explored of 51½ feet bgs. 
Recent nearby groundwater levels as documented by the California Department of 
Water Resources indicate the depth to groundwater is likely on the order of greater 
than 200 feet bgs.  Groundwater is not anticipated to be a constraint to site grading or 
construction.  

• At a minimum, development of the site for support of the proposed mixed-use 
development should include overexcavation and recompaction of the existing artificial 
fill materials as well as a portion of the underlying native soils to develop a layer of 
structural compacted fill to provide foundation support.   

• The results of the infiltration testing performed at the site indicate stormwater 
infiltration is marginally feasible based on the tested locations and depths.      

• The proposed structures may be supported by a shallow foundation system supported 
on structural compacted fill underlain by suitable bearing native soils. 

Item D - 306 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 19 

5.0  GEOTECHNICAL DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon this study, we conclude that the proposed development for the subject site 
is feasible from a geotechnical standpoint, provided that the recommendations presented 
in this report are properly incorporated in design and construction. Geotechnical 
recommendations for the proposed development are presented in the following sections 
and are intended to provide sufficient geotechnical information to develop the project 
plans in accordance with 2019 CBC requirements.    The following recommendations may 
be superseded by more restrictive requirements of the architect, structural engineer, 
and/or local building official. 

The recommendations below are based upon the exhibited geotechnical engineering 
properties of the soils and their anticipated response both during and after construction.  
The recommendations are also based upon proper field observation and testing during 
construction.  The project geotechnical engineer should be notified of suspected 
variances in field conditions to determine the effect upon the recommendations 
subsequently presented.  These recommendations are considered minimal and may be 
superseded by more restrictive requirements of the civil and structural engineers, the City 
of Ontario, the County of San Bernardino and other governing agencies. 

Leighton should review the grading plans, foundation plans and project specifications as 
they become available to verify that the recommendations presented in this report have 
been incorporated into the plans for this project. 

5.1 Earthwork 

All site grading should be performed in accordance with the project specifications 
that are prepared by the appropriate design professional.  The guide specifications 
presented in Appendix D, General Earthwork and Grading Recommendations may 
be used as a guideline in developing the project specifications. 
 
Earthwork and grading operations are recommended to be observed and 
appropriate testing be performed by representatives of the geotechnical engineer 
to verify that the site is properly prepared, the selected fill materials are 
satisfactory, and that placement and compaction of fills has been performed in 
accordance with our recommendations and the project specifications.   
 

Item D - 307 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 20 

5.1.1 Site Preparation 

Initial preparation of the site should include demolition and removal of the 
existing facility from the project site including all foundations, slabs and 
underground structures.  Existing utilities not planned for reuse with the 
proposed development should be either removed in their entirety, properly 
abandoned in-place, or rerouted around the development area to preserve 
their function. Disposal of all debris and remnants of the existing 
development should be performed in accordance with the type of material 
and local regulations. 
 
The existing development includes a relatively large paved parking lot that 
consists of asphalt concrete.  Based upon the conditions encountered at the 
test boring locations, the thickness of the existing asphalt concrete ranged 
from 2½ to 5 inches underlain by base course that ranged from 3 to 12 
inches in thickness.  Reuse of the pavement with the proposed development 
will require consideration of proposed finish grades and the need to 
construct an asphalt overlay to prolong the service life of the pavement.  
Recommendations for reuse of the pavement can be provided upon 
request.  However, for purposes of this report, the existing pavement is 
assumed to not be salvaged for reuse and will be removed from the site.  If 
properly processed during demolition and removal, the pavement may be 
reused as the base course for construction of new pavement.   
 
Upon completion of demolition and site clearing activities, the soils should 
be carefully observed for the removal of all unsuitable deposits.  All 
undocumented fill or man-made debris, unsuitable native soils and former 
foundation remnants should be excavated and removed from the proposed 
building/structure footprint prior to fill placement.  

5.1.2 Removals and Overexcavations 

The recommended depths of overexcavation presented below have been 
based upon the assumed structural loads and the recommended allowable 
bearing pressure.  The actual depth recommended for preparation of 
foundation areas may be revised depending upon the actual footing sizes 
that result from structural design of the foundations.  Consequently, the 
recommendations for building pad preparation/overexcavation should be 
reviewed by the geotechnical engineer as foundation design proceeds. 

Item D - 308 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 21 

 
To provide uniform foundation support and reduce the potential for 
excessive static settlement, all existing undocumented fill and any 
unsuitable soil, as deemed by the geotechnical engineer, should be 
removed to expose suitable native soils and replaced as engineered fill 
below the proposed building and other structural improvements.  Based on 
our field explorations, we estimate removals of existing undocumented fill 
will be approximately 5 feet below existing grade across most of the site.  
Localized areas are anticipated to require deeper removals, in particular 
beneath the existing buildings and in areas of existing utilities.   
 
Removals should be performed such that all undocumented fill is removed 
and replaced as engineered fill.  In addition, overexcavations should be 
performed such that a minimum of 4 feet of engineered fill is established 
below the proposed building foundation elements and the at-grade slabs of 
the buildings.  The lateral extent of overexcavation beyond foundations 
should be equal to the depth of overexcavation below the proposed 
foundations as measured at the excavation subgrade.   
 
The depth of overexcavation in non-structural areas planned for new 
pavement construction is recommended to be 2 feet below the current 
grade or planned subgrade elevation to develop a suitable bearing 
subgrade for pavement support.  Deeper overexcavations in localized areas 
may be recommended during grading by a representative of the 
geotechnical engineer depending on observed subsurface conditions. 

5.1.3 Subgrade Preparation 

All excavation bottoms or removal bottoms should be observed by a 
representative of the geotechnical engineer prior to placement of fill or other 
improvements to determine that geotechnically suitable soil is exposed.  
Excavation bottoms observed to be suitable for fill placement or other 
improvements should be scarified to a depth of at least 8 inches, moisture-
conditioned as necessary to achieve a moisture content of at least 2 
percentage points above the optimum moisture content, and then compacted 
to a minimum of 90 percent of the maximum dry density as determined by 
ASTM Test Method D 1557 (Modified Proctor). 

Item D - 309 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 22 

5.1.4 Fill Placement and Compaction 

The onsite soil, free of organic material, cobbles, boulders, rubble, and rock 
less than 3 inches in largest dimension, is suitable to be used as structural 
fill.  All fill soil should be placed in loose lifts no greater than 8 inches in 
thickness, moisture-conditioned as necessary to a moisture content 1 to 2 
percentage points above optimum moisture content and compacted using 
proper equipment to the minimum standard as noted below, unless stated 
otherwise in the specific sections. 

• Fill soil should be moisture-conditioned and compacted to a minimum of 
90 percent relative compaction as determined by ASTM Test Method 
D1557. 

• Subgrade exposures should be moisture-conditioned and compacted to 
a minimum of 90 percent relative compaction as determined by ASTM 
Test Method D1557 

• Base course material should be compacted to a minimum of 95 percent 
relative compaction. 

• Utility trench backfill is discussed in Section 5.5. 

Material imported to the site for use as fill should be reviewed and approved 
by the geotechnical engineer prior to import to the site and placement as fill.  
Imported soils should be very low in expansion potential (EI less than 20); 
non-corrosive to metals and concrete; and be free of hazardous 
substances. 
 
When grading is interrupted by heavy rains, fill operations should not be 
resumed until the moisture content and the dry density of the placed fill are 
satisfactory. 

5.1.5 Shrinkage and Bulking 

The change in volume of excavated and recompacted soil varies according 
to soil type and location.  This volume change is represented as a 
percentage increase (bulking) or decrease (shrinkage) in volume of fill after 
removal and recompaction.  Field and laboratory data used in our 
calculations included laboratory-measured maximum dry density for the 

Item D - 310 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 23 

general soil type encountered at the subject site, the measured in-place 
densities of near surface soils encountered and our experience.   

Earthwork operations are generally anticipated to be limited to soils to a 
depth of 5 to 6 feet below current grade with some additional overexcavation 
in localized areas of the site where unsuitable bearing/very loose relative 
density soils may be encountered in the southern to southwestern region of 
the site.  Data regarding the in-place density of the near surface soils could 
not be collected due to the manner in which field exploration was 
encountered whereby the soils to a depth of 5 feet at the boring locations 
were pre-drilled by use of a hand auger to protect against damaging buried 
utilities. Therefore, earthwork quantities (shrinkage/bulking) are primarily 
based upon experience with similar materials at other project sites and the 
limited available data from soils recovered from a depth of 6 feet.    

On a preliminary basis, the existing fill materials requiring removal and 
recompaction are anticipated to exhibit volume shrinkage on the order of of 
10 to 15 percent.  The estimated shrinkage does not include material losses 
due to removal of organic material or other unsuitable bearing materials 
(debris, rubble, oversize material greater than 6-inches) and the actual 
shrinkage that occurs during grading may vary throughout the site.   

5.1.6 Reuse of Concrete and Asphalt Rubble   

If encountered during site clearing and/or during preparation activities, 
construction rubble (i.e., Portland cement concrete and asphalt concrete) 
may be incorporated in the proposed development.  For use as structural 
fill, the processed material should be crushed to develop a relatively well-
graded mixture with a maximum particle size of 3-inch nominal 
diameter.  Concrete rubble should be free of rebar and processed asphalt 
pavement rubble may be used if mixed with the existing base course (where 
present).  Processed material may be used as structural fill if uniformly 
mixed with onsite soils in proportion of 1 part processed material to 3 parts 
soil.  For use as pavement base course, rubble should be crushed to satisfy 
gradation requirements of Section 200-2.4 of the Standard Specifications 
for Public Works Construction, (SSPWC, “Greenbook”).  Such materials 
must be free of and segregated from any hazardous materials and/or 
organic material of any kind.   

Item D - 311 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 24 

5.2 Foundation Design  

Preparation of the building areas should be performed as described in Section 5.1 
of this report.  Upon completion of building pad preparation, the soils that will 
provide support of the foundations are expected to consist of properly moisture-
conditioned structural compacted fill that exhibits very low to low expansion 
potential underlain by suitable bearing native soils. 

5.2.1 Vertical Load Bearing Capacity 

The proposed structures are recommended to be supported by a shallow 
foundation system in which continuous strip footings are used for wall 
support and isolated square pad footings for column support.  Footings to 
support the proposed buildings are recommended to be designed for a 
maximum net allowable soil bearing pressure of 2,500 pounds per square 
foot (psf) for continuous strip footings for wall support and 3,000 psf for 
isolated square pad footings for column support.    
 
The foundations for ancillary structures separate from the proposed 
buildings are recommend to be designed for a  maximum 2,000 pounds per 
square foot (psf) for continuous strip footings for wall support and 2,500 psf 
for isolated square pad footings for column support. The recommended 
bearing pressures assume the foundations will be supported by a layer of 
structural compacted fill that is a minimum 2 feet in thickness below 
foundations and extends laterally distance of at least 2 feet beyond the 
edges of the foundations.  
  
The allowable bearing values may be increased by one-third when 
considering short-term seismic or wind loads.  The recommended bearing 
pressure is net so the unit weight of concrete may be assumed to be 50 pcf 
when calculating the component of load demand due to foundation weight; 
the weight of soil backfill can be neglected when determining the downward 
loads. 
 
The recommended allowable bearing pressures stated above have been 
based upon specific minimum footing sizes and embedment depths:   

• Minimum widths for foundations are recommended to be 18 inches for 
continuous strip footings and 24 inches for square pad footings.   

Item D - 312 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 25 

• Minimum footing embedment depth for the isolated exterior footings and 
the footings for the exterior walls is recommended to be 18 inches.    

• The minimum embedment depth for interior footings is recommended to 
be 18 inches.   

• The minimum embedment depth for ancillary structures is 18 inches 
below adjacent subgrade elevation. 

The depth of embedment should be determined from the finish subgrade 
elevation adjacent to the building for the perimeter footings and the finish 
pad grade within the structure for interior footings. Additional foundation 
embedment depth may be considered for foundations located close to 
property lines to protect foundations from being undermined due future 
excavation that may be performed on the adjacent properties. 

Determination of the minimum steel reinforcement requirements of the 
continuous strip and isolated square pad footings should be performed by 
the structural engineer.   
 
The foundation bearing soils are recommended to be evaluated by the 
geotechnical engineer prior to placing reinforcing steel.  Evaluation is 
intended to verify suitable bearing conditions to support the footings and the 
footing excavations are generally in compliance with foundation plans. 

5.2.2 Lateral Load Resistance  

Lateral loads may be resisted by friction acting along the bottoms of the 
footings and passive resistance of the soil adjacent to the vertical sides of 
the foundations provided the foundations are poured neat against properly 
compacted fill or undisturbed native soils.  Resistance to lateral load may 
be calculated on the basis of an allowable frictional coefficient of 0.30 and 
allowable passive resistance equal to an equivalent fluid density of 
250 pounds-per-cubic-foot (pcf) to a maximum of 2,500 psf.  No reduction 
will be needed to any of the above two components for computing the total 
resistance to lateral loads.  The use of passive resistance in lateral load 
analysis requires the foundations to be cast against vertical, undisturbed 
trench walls or any voids along the footing be backfilled with structural 
compacted fill. 

Item D - 313 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 26 

5.2.3 Settlement Estimate 

Estimated post-construction total and differential settlement under the 
assumed loading conditions and preparation of the building areas as 
described in this report are estimated to be on the order of 1 inch and ½ 
inch, respectively.  The differential settlement is expected to occur over a 
minimum span of 30 feet, thereby resulting in an angular distortion less than 
0.002, which is expected to be within tolerable limits for the proposed 
structures.    
 
Settlement is a function of footing size and contact bearing pressure. As a 
result, differential settlement can be expected between adjacent columns or 
walls where a large differential loading condition exists.  Leighton should 
review the settlement estimates when final foundation plans and loads for 
the proposed structures become available. 

5.3 Slab-on-Grade Floors 

Upon completion of the recommended building pad preparation, the subgrades of 
the slabs supported on grade are anticipated to consist of newly placed structural 
compacted fill, which is generally expected to consist of the existing soils that have 
been overexcavated and recompacted under engineering controlled conditions.  
 
Based upon the anticipated subgrade conditions, the floor slabs of the proposed 
buildings that will be supported on grade may be designed and constructed as a 
mat on elastic foundation using a modulus of subgrade reaction (kv1) of 100 pounds 
per cubic inch (pci).  These slabs are recommended to be a minimum of 4 inches 
in thickness and include No. 3 rebar placed at center of the slab at 18 inches on-
center in each direction based on geotechnical considerations.  Increase in the 
slab thickness and/or reinforcing may be necessary due to structural engineering 
considerations as determined by the structural engineer.  
 
The slabs may are recommended to be underlain by a minimum 4-inch thick 
coarse granular material to serve as a working mat during construction and serve 
as a capillary moisture break.    
 
Interior slabs-on-grade are recommended to be underlain by a synthetic sheeting 
to serve as a retarder to moisture vapor transmission in areas where moisture-
sensitive floor coverings are used (such as vinyl, tile, or carpet) or storage areas 

Item D - 314 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 27 

for personal possessions.  Prior to installing the synthetic sheeting, the exposed 
subgrade surface should be clear of all extruding rock and gravel that could 
damage the sheeting.  The sheeting should be evaluated for the presence of 
punctures or tears by the installer prior to pouring concrete.  Installation of the 
sheeting should include proper overlap and taping of seams.  
 
Appropriate synthetic sheeting should be determined by others qualified in 
evaluating and mitigating moisture vapor transmission through concrete slabs.  Our 
firm does not practice in the field of moisture vapor transmission evaluation, since 
this is not specifically a geotechnical issue.  Therefore, we recommend that a 
qualified person, such as the flooring subcontractor and/or structural engineer, be 
consulted with to evaluate the general and specific moisture vapor transmission 
paths and any impact on the proposed construction with respect to the storage 
facility and retail areas.  That person should provide recommendations for 
mitigation of the potential adverse effects of moisture vapor transmission on 
various components of the structures as deemed appropriate. 
 
Care should be taken to avoid slab curling if slabs are poured in hot weather.  
Frequent construction joints should be provided to minimize the potential for 
cracking.  Slabs should be designed and constructed as promulgated by the 
Portland Cement Association (PCA).  Prior to the slab pour, all utility trenches 
should be properly backfilled and compacted.  Differential settlement of this 
material could result in movement and distress to hardscape and other 
improvements.  The need to repair cracks, etc. should be anticipated. 

5.4 Temporary Excavations 

All temporary excavations, including utility trenches, retaining wall excavations, 
and other excavations should be performed in accordance with project plans, 
specifications and all Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) 
requirements.  
 
Temporary excavations should be treated in accordance with the State of 
California version of OSHA excavation regulations, Construction Safety Orders for 
Excavation General Requirements, Article 6, Section 1541, effective October 1, 
1995.  The sides of excavations should be shored or sloped in accordance with 
OSHA regulations.  OSHA allows the sides of unbraced excavations, up to a 
maximum height of 20 feet, to be cut to a ¾H:1V (horizontal:vertical) slope for Type 
A soils, 1H:1V for Type B soils, and 1½H:1V for Type C soils. Onsite sandy soils 

Item D - 315 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 28 

are to be considered Type C soils which are subject to collapse in shallow 
unbraced excavations (i.e., approximately 3 to 4 feet in vertical height). 
 
OSHA regulations are applicable in areas with no restriction of surrounding ground 
deformations.  Shoring should be designed for areas with deformation restrictions.  
The soil type should be verified or revised based on geotechnical observation and 
testing during construction, as soil classifications may vary over short horizontal 
distances.   
 
Typical cantilever shoring should be designed based on an active fluid pressure of 
38 pcf, assuming level ground above the shoring.  If excavations are braced at the 
top and at specific design intervals, the active pressure may then be approximated 
by a rectangular soil pressure distribution with the pressure per foot of width equal 
to 25H psf, where H is equal to the depth of the excavation being shored. 
 
Heavy construction loads, such as those resulting from stockpiles and heavy 
machinery, should be kept a minimum distance equivalent to the excavation height 
or 5 feet, whichever is greater, from the excavation unless the excavation is shored 
and these surcharges are considered in the design of the shoring system.  
Excavations that extend below an imaginary plane inclined at 45 degrees below 
the edge of any adjacent existing site foundation should be properly shored to 
maintain support of the adjacent structures. 

5.5 Trench Backfill 

Utility trenches should be backfilled with compacted fill in accordance with Sections 
306-1.2 and 306-1.3 of the Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction, 
(SSPWC, “Greenbook”), 2018 Edition.  Utility trenches can be backfilled with onsite 
material free of rubble, debris, organic and oversized material up to 3 inches in 
largest dimension.  Prior to backfilling trenches, pipes should be bedded in and 
covered with either: 

• Granular Bedding:  a) ½-inch open grade aggregate; or b) a uniform sand 
material with a Sand Equivalent (SE) greater than or equal to (≥) 30, passing 
the No. 4 U.S. Standard Sieve (or as specified by the pipe manufacturer). 
Testing to evaluate the Sand Equivalent (SE) of representative samples of the 
near surface soils indicated SE values below 30, thereby indicating the on-site 
soils may not be suitable for reuse in this manner. 

 

Item D - 316 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 29 

• CLSM:  Controlled Low Strength Material (CLSM) conforming to Section 201-
6 of the SSPWC.  CLSM bedding should be placed to 1 foot (0.3 m) over the 
top of the conduit, and vibrated.   

Pipe bedding should extend at least 4 inches below the pipeline invert and at least 
12 inches over the top of the pipeline.  The bedding and shading sand is 
recommended to be densified in place by vibratory, lightweight compaction 
equipment.  Jetting or hydro-consolidation may be suitable for this project site 
where utility trenches will be underlain by the silty sands, typically present in the 
upper 5 to 10 feet.     

Trench backfill over the pipe bedding zone may consist of native and clean fill soils.  
All backfill should be placed in thin lifts (appropriate for the type of compaction 
equipment), moisture conditioned above optimum, and mechanically compacted 
to at least 90 percent relative compaction, relative to the ASTM D 1557 laboratory 
maximum density.  

5.6 Soil Corrosivity 

In general, soil resistivity, which is a measure of how easily electrical current flows 
through soils, is the most influential factor for corrosion to ferrous metals.  The 
following table presents an approximate relationship between soil resistivity and 
soil corrosiveness. 
 

Table 4 – Soil Corrosivity as a Function of Resistivity 

Soil Resistivity  
(ohm-cm) 

Classification of  
Soil Corrosiveness 

0 to 900 Very severe corrosion 
900 to 2,300 Severely corrosive 

2,300 to 5,000 Moderately corrosive 

5,000 to 10,000 Mildly corrosive 
10,000 to >100,000 Very mildly corrosive 

Note: 1 ASTM STP 1013 titled Effects of Soil Characteristics on Corrosion (February, 1989). 

 
In addition to resistivity, the concentration of chloride ions can also be used to 
evaluate corrosive potential to steel, either in the form of reinforcement protected 
by concrete cover or plain steel substructures, such as steel pipes.  As a general 
guideline, the chloride threshold adopted by Caltrans is a concentration of 500 ppm 

Item D - 317 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 30 

or greater as determined by California Test 532.  Concentrations of chloride ions 
above the stated concentration or other characteristics such as soil resistivity or 
redox potential may warrant special corrosion protection measures.  The results of 
corrosivity testing are summarized in the following table. 

Table 5 – Summary of Corrosivity Testing 

Test Parameter Test Results 
LB-3 @ 0’-5’ General Classification of Hazard 

Water-Soluble Sulfate in Soil 
(ppm) 260 Negligible sulfate exposure to 

buried concrete 
Water-Soluble Chloride in Soil 
(ppm) 40 Non-corrosive to buried reinforced 

concrete 

pH 7.92 Moderately alkaline 

Minimum Resistivity 
(saturated, ohm-cm) 1,335 Severely corrosive to buried ferrous 

pipes  

 
The results of the resistivity tests indicate the underlying soil is moderately 
corrosive to buried ferrous metals per ASTM STP 1013. The samples tested for 
water-soluble chloride content indicate a low potential for corrosion of steel in 
concrete due to the chloride content of the soil. 
  
Based on the test results, ferrous pipes buried in moist to wet site earth materials 
should be avoided by using high-density polyethylene (HDPE), polyvinyl chloride 
(PVC) and/or other non-ferrous pipe when possible provided the pipe walls 
possess sufficient strength for the embedment and external loading to which the 
pipe will be subjected.  Ferrous pipe can also be protected by polyethylene bags, 
tape or coatings, di-electric fittings or other means to separate pipe from on-site 
soils.  If buried ferrous pipes are planned for this site, further corrosivity testing of 
soil samples should be performed upon completion of rough grading and specific 
corrosion protection measures should be recommended by a qualified corrosion 
engineer. 

5.7 Cement Type  

In general, soil environments that are detrimental to concrete have high 
concentrations of soluble sulfates and/or pH values of less than 5.5.  Section 4.3 
of ACI 318 (ACI, 2014) provides specific guidelines for the concrete mix-design 
when the soluble sulfate content of the soil exceeds 0.1 percent by weight or 1,000 
parts per million (ppm). 

Item D - 318 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 31 

 
The results of laboratory testing indicated concentrations of soluble sulfate less 
than 0.1 percent.  The test results indicate a sulfate Exposure Class designation 
of “S0” appears to be appropriate for the project site based upon criteria presented 
in ACI 318.  However, if the concrete is expected to be in contact with reclaimed 
water, Type V cement and a water/cement ratio of 0.45 should be used.  Samples 
should be collected from the compacted fill subgrade upon completion of grading 
to confirm the initial findings of this exploration. 

5.8 Elevator Pit Wall Design 

The proposed development is not expected to include new earth retaining 
structures due to the generally level topographic relief of the site and no below 
grade levels associated with the buildings.  However, in consideration that the 
buildings will be multi-stories in height, the buildings are anticipated to include 
elevators. In the anticipation that elevator equipment will include below-grade pits 
to house the mechanical workings, design of the pit walls should include provisions 
to resist the lateral load of the adjacent soils.  Based on the recommended building 
pad parathion and the anticipated soil conditions, design of the pit walls is 
recommended to be based upon an equivalent lateral earth pressure of  60 psf per 
foot of retained height.    

5.9 Pavements 

5.9.1 Pavement Subgrades 

The pavement subgrades should be prepared as described in Section 5.1 
of this report.  In accordance with the recommendations, preparation of the 
subgrade within the areas of new pavement construction are recommended 
to be overexcavated to a depth of 2 feet below the current grade or planned 
subgrade elevation, or to the depth of undocumented fill whichever is 
greater, to allow placement of a minimum of 2 feet of structural fill to develop 
a suitable bearing subgrade for pavement support.   

5.9.2 Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) Pavement Sections  

Asphalt pavements are anticipated to be feasible for the proposed 
development.  Based on the anticipated subgrade conditions and the results 
of laboratory testing conducted on one bulk sample of the near surface soils 

Item D - 319 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 32 

(LB-1), the following recommendations for pavement design have been 
based upon a design R-value of 30 for the anticipated subgrade.  R-value 
tests should be performed upon completion of grading to verify the design 
value is appropriate for the actual subgrade conditions.  Based on the 
design procedures outlined in the current Caltrans Highway Design Manual 
and using an R-value of 78 for the pavement base course, the following 
flexible pavement sections may be used for Traffic Index values that 
correspond to various levels of vehicle traffic. 

Table 6 – Asphalt Pavement Sections 

Traffic Index 
Asphalt Concrete 

(inches) 
Base Course (inches) 

CAB CMB 

4 or less 3 5 6 
5.0 3 6 7 
6.0 4 7 8 

Notes: CAB – Crushed Aggregate Base Course; Caltrans Class 2, Section 26 or SSPWC 
Section 200-2.2 

 CMB – Crushed Miscellaneous Base Course; SSPWC Section  200-2.4 

 
The asphalt concrete should conform to the specifications outlined in 
Section 203-6 of the Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction 
(SSPWC, a.k.a. “Greenbook”), and asphalt concrete construction methods 
should meet the requirements of Section 302-5 of the Green Book. 

The base course should conform to requirements of Section 26 of State of 
California Department of Transportation Standard Specifications (Caltrans), 
latest edition, or meet the specifications for untreated base as defined in 
Section 200-2.2 of the SSPWC (Greenbook).  As an alternate, the base 
course may comply with the specifications for Crushed Miscellaneous Base 
per SSPWC Section 200-2.4 with an appropriate increase in thickness. 

Prior to placement of the base course, the subgrade soil should be 
processed to a minimum depth of 8 inches, moisture-conditioned to 1 to 2 
percent above optimum moisture content, and recompacted to a minimum 
of 95 percent relative compaction.  Base course should be placed in thin 
lifts, moisture conditioned, as necessary, and compacted to a minimum of 
95 percent relative compaction (ASTM D1557).      

Item D - 320 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 33 

5.9.3 Portland Cement Concrete (PCC) Pavements 

Portland cement concrete is recommended for areas of the development 
subjected to large loads and truck loading/unloading areas.  In such areas, 
a minimum 6-inch thick Portland Concrete Cement (PCC) pavement section 
reinforced is recommended.   Reinforcement is recommended to consist of 
No. 4 rebar at a maximum on-center spaced at 16 inches in each direction.  
The recommended PCC pavement section was based on the procedures 
described in the Guide for Design and Construction of Concrete Parking 
Lots by the American Concrete Institute (ACI 330R-08).   
 
All PCC pavements should have a minimum 28-day concrete compressive 
strength of 3,000 pounds-per-square-inch (psi).  The reinforcement should 
be evaluated by the civil/structural engineer to accommodate any additional 
structural loading requirements.  Control joints are recommended to be 
installed at a maximum on-center spacing of 12 feet for 6-inch thick slabs, 
and should form square panels. 
 
Concrete pavement may be underlain by a minimum 4-inch thick layer of 
compacted granular base to serve as a leveling mat for construction and to 
assist in load transfer at construction joints. 
  
Integral curbs should be used at the perimeter of PCC pavement.  
Longitudinal joints should be avoided near curbs and gutters.  Use of 
concrete cutoff or edge barriers should be considered at the perimeter of 
common parking or driveway areas when abutting either open (unfinished) or 
landscaped areas.

5.10 Concrete Flatwork and Exterior Slabs 

Exterior concrete slabs-on-grade should have a minimum thickness of 4 inches.  
Common Type II cement should be adequate for concrete flatwork not exposed 
to recycled water.  Type V cement and a water:cement ratio of 0.45 should be 
used for concrete exposed to recycled water.   

Concrete flatwork should be placed on compacted fill.  If this material has been 
disturbed or dried out, the subgrade soil to a depth of 12 inches should be moisture 
conditioned to 1 to 2 percent above optimum moisture content and recompacted 
to minimum 90 percent relative compaction.   

Item D - 321 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 34 

Exterior concrete driveways, ramps, curbs, gutters, sidewalks often crack.  
Inclusion of joints at frequent intervals and reinforcement will help control the 
locations of the cracks, and thus reduce the unsightly appearance.  Construction 
or weakened plane joints should be spaced at intervals of 6 feet or less for 
sidewalks, curbs and gutters.  The spacing may be increased to 10 feet for ramps 
and driveways.  If cracking occurs, repairs may be needed to mitigate the trip 
hazard and/or improve the appearance. 

Minor cracking of concrete after curing due to expansion, drying and shrinkage is 
normal and should be expected. However, cracking is often aggravated by a high 
water-to-cement ratio, high concrete temperature at the time of placement, small 
nominal aggregate size, and rapid moisture loss due to hot, dry, and/or windy 
weather conditions during placement and curing.  Cracking due to temperature and 
moisture fluctuations can also be expected.   

The use of low-slump concrete or low water/cement ratios can reduce the potential 
for shrinkage cracking. Inclusion of joints at frequent intervals and reinforcement 
will help control the locations of the cracks, and thus improve aesthetics.  Control 
joints should be spaced at intervals no more than 10 feet.  If cracking occurs, 
repairs may be needed to mitigate the trip hazard and/or improve the appearance. 

Slab cracking and/or uneven slab surfaces may result due to the presence of fill if 
the fill is left in place below the slabs.  Slab distortion may result in tripping hazards.  
Standard methods to mitigate trip hazards include the following: 

• Saw Cutting 
• Grinding 
• Patching and ramping 
• Removing and replacement 

A regular maintenance program should be implemented to mitigate trip hazards 
and comply with safety requirements. 

5.11 Surface Drainage  

Positive drainage of surface water away from structures is very important.  Water 
should not be allowed to pond adjacent to buildings or new site improvements. 
Positive drainage may be accomplished by providing drainage away at a minimum 
of 2 percent for earthen surfaces for a lateral distance of at least five feet and 
further maintained by a swale or drainage path at a gradient of at least 1 percent.  

Item D - 322 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 35 

Where necessary, drainage paths may be shortened by the use of area drains and 
collector pipes.  Eave gutters are recommended and should reduce water 
infiltration into the subgrade materials.  Downspouts should be connected to 
appropriate outlet devices. 
Irrigation of landscaping should be controlled to maintain, as much as possible, 
consistent moisture content sufficient to provide healthy plant growth without over 
watering. 

5.12 Additional Geotechnical Services  

Leighton should review the grading plans, foundation plans, and specifications 
when they are available to verify that the recommendations presented in this report 
have been properly interpreted and incorporated. 
 
Geotechnical observation and testing should be provided during the following 
activities: 
 
• Grading and excavation of the site; 

• Subgrade Preparation; 

• Compaction of all fill materials; 

• Utility trench backfilling and compaction; 

• Footing excavation and slab-on-grade preparation; 

• Pavement subgrade and base preparation;  

• Placement of asphalt concrete and/or concrete; and 

• When conditions are encountered on site that are not consistent with the 
conditions described in this report. 

Item D - 323 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 36 

6.0 LIMITATIONS 

This report was prepared using the degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised, under 
similar circumstances, by reputable geotechnical consultants practicing at this time in San 
Bernardino County.  We do not make any warranty, either express or implied.  
 
As in many projects, conditions revealed in excavations may be at variance with 
preliminary findings.  If this occurs, the changed conditions must be evaluated by the 
geotechnical consultant and additional recommendations be developed as needed. 
 
The identification and testing of hazardous, toxic or contaminated materials was outside 
the scope of Leighton's work.  Should such materials be encountered at any time, or their 
existence be suspected, all measures stipulated in local, County, State and Federal 
regulations, as applicable, should be implemented. 
 
This report is issued with the understanding that it is the responsibility of the owner, or of 
his representative, to ensure that the information and recommendations contained herein 
are brought to the attention of the necessary design consultants for the project and 
incorporated into the plans; and that the necessary steps are taken to see that the 
contractors carry out such recommendations in the field. 
 
Changes in the conditions of a property can occur with the passage of time, whether due 
to natural processes or the work of man on the subject or adjacent properties.  In addition, 
changes in standards of practice may occur from legislation or the broadening of 
knowledge.  Accordingly, the findings of this report may at some future time be invalidated 
wholly or partially by changes outside Leighton’s control. 
 
The conclusions and recommendations in this report are based in part upon data that 
were obtained from a necessarily limited number of observations, site visits, excavations, 
samples and tests.  Such information can be obtained only with respect to the specific 
locations explored, and therefore may not completely define all subsurface conditions 
throughout the site.  The nature of many sites is that differing geotechnical or geological 
conditions can occur within small distances and under varying climatic conditions.  
Furthermore, changes in subsurface conditions can and do occur over time.  Therefore, 
the findings, conclusions and recommendations presented in this report can be relied 
upon only if Leighton has the opportunity to perform additional investigation of the site, 
finalize and complete the conclusions and recommendations presented in this report, and 
finally to observe the subsurface conditions during grading and construction of the project, 
in order to verify that our preliminary findings are representative of the site. 

Item D - 324 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 37 

This report is intended only for the use of Legacy/Collier Residential, LLC and its design 
consultants, and only as related expressly to evaluation of the feasibility of developing the 
subject site with the proposed development and for preliminary planning and design. 

If parties other than Leighton are engaged to provide construction geotechnical services, 
they must be notified that they will be required to assume complete responsibility for the 
geotechnical phase of the project by concurring with the findings and recommendations 
in this report or by providing alternative recommendations. 

Any persons using this report for bidding or construction purposes should perform such 
independent explorations as they deem necessary to satisfy themselves as to the surface 
and subsurface conditions to be encountered and the procedures to be used in the 
performance of work on the subject site. 

  

Item D - 325 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 38 

7.0 REFERENCES 

American Concrete Institute (ACI), 2014, Building Code Requirements for Structural 
Concrete (ACI 318-14) and Commentary, an ACI Standard, reported by ACI 
Committee 318. 

American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE), 2017, Minimum Design Loads for Buildings 
and Other Structures, ASCE/SEI 7-16, with Supplement 1, Effective December 12, 
2018. 

Bray, J.D. and Sancio, R.B., 2006, Assessment of the Liquefaction Susceptibility of Fine-
Grained Soils, Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering, 
American Society of Civil Engineers, September 2006, V. 132, No. 9, pp. 1165-
1177. 

Bryant, W.A., and Hart, E.W., 2007, Fault Rupture Hazard Zones in California, Alquist-
Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act with Index to Earthquake Zones Maps, 
Department of Conservation, California Geological Survey, Special Publication 42, 
2007 Interim Revision. 

California Building Standards Commission, 2019, 2019 California Building Code (CBC), 
California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 2, Volume 2 of 2, Based on 2018 
International Building Code, Effective January 1, 2020. 

California Department of Conservation, Geologic Energy Management Division 
(CalGEM), 2021, Interactive Wellfinder Website, 
https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/doggr/wellfinder/ 

California Geological Survey (CGS; formerly California Division of Mines and Geology, 
CDMG), 2000a, Seismic Hazards Zones, Ontario Quadrangle, Official Map 
Released November 17, 2000. 

 , 2000b, Seismic Hazard Zone Report for the Ontario 7.5-Minute Quadrangle, Los 
Angeles County, California, Seismic Hazard Zone Report No. 040. 

_____, 2000c, CD-ROM containing digital images of Official Maps of Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zones that affect the Southern Region, DMG CD 2000-003 2000. 

 , 2008, Special Publication 117A, Guidelines for Evaluating and Mitigating Seismic 
Hazards in California.  

 , 2018, Earthquake Fault Zones, A Guide for Government Agencies, Property 
Owners / Developers, and Geoscience Practitioners for Assessing Fault Rupture 
Hazards in California, Special Publication 42, Revised 2018.  

Item D - 326 of 1893

https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/doggr/wellfinder/


Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 39 

San Bernardino County, 2010, Land Use Services, General Plan, Geologic Hazard 
Overlays, map FH27 C – Ontario, scale 1:14,400, dated march 9, 2010. 

 , 2013, Technical Guidance Document for Water Quality Management Plans, 
Prepared by CDM Smith, Inc. for the County of San Bernardino Areawide 
Stormwater Program, dated June 7, 2013. 

Dibblee, T.W. Jr., 2002, Geologic Map of the San Dimas and Ontario Quadrangles, Los 
Angeles and San Bernardino Counties, California, Dibblee Geological Foundation 
Map No. DF-91. 

Federal Emergency Management Agency, 2015, Flood Insurance Rate Map, City of 
Ontario, Map Number 06071C8620H, dated August 8, 2008. 

Jennings, C.W., 2010, Fault Activity Map of California, California Geological Survey, 
Geologic Data Map No. 6, map scale 1:750,000. 

Morton D.M., and Miller, F.K., 2006, Geologic Map of the San Bernardino and Santa Ana, 
30’ x 60’ Quadrangles, California, USGS Open File Report 2006-1217. 

Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC (NETR), 2021, Historic Aerials by NETR 
Online, website: http://www.historicaerials.com/aerials. 

United States Geological Survey (USGS), 2018, Ontario Quadrangle, California, 7.5 
Minute Series Topographic Map, map scale 1:24,000.  

 , 2008a, Unified Hazard Tool for Deaggregations, 
https://earthquake.usgs.gov/hazards/interactive/ 

 , 2008b, National Seismic Hazard Maps – Fault Parameters, 
https://earthquake.usgs.gov/cfusion/hazfaults_2008_search/query_main.cfm 

 , 2021a, Interactive Fault Map, http://earthquake.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults/map/ 

 , 2021b, Interactive Geologic Map, http://ngmdb.usgs.gov/maps/MapView/ 

Wildermuth Environmental, Inc., 2009, Chino Basin Optimum Basin Management Program, 
2008 State of the Basin Report, Final Report, Prepared for Chino Basin 
Watermaster, dated November, 2009.  

  

Item D - 327 of 1893

http://www.historicaerials.com/aerials
https://earthquake.usgs.gov/hazards/interactive/
https://earthquake.usgs.gov/cfusion/hazfaults_2008_search/query_main.cfm
http://earthquake.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults/map/
http://ngmdb.usgs.gov/maps/MapView/


FIGURES 

Item D - 328 of 1893



³
0 2,000 4,000

Feet

Scale:1 " = 2,000 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F01_SLM_2022-04-19.mxd on 4/14/2022 2:00:06 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date: May 2022
SITE LOCATION MAP

Proposed Euclid and
Walnut Mixed-Use Development
2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue

Ontario, California

Approximate 
Site Boundary

FIGURE 1

Reference: © 2022 Microsoft Corporation ©
2022 Maxar ©CNES (2022) Distribution Airbus

Item D - 329 of 1893



&<

&<

&<

&<

&< &(

!(#

!(#

!(#
!(#

LP-2
T.D.20'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

Perc Test
Interval 15-20'

CPT-2
T.D.50.2'

CPT-1
T.D.50.4'

CPT-4
T.D.50.1' CPT-3/3A

T.D.35.8/50.7'

LB-2
T.D.26.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-1
T.D.51.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-5
T.D.26.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-3
T.D.26.5'

LP-1/LB-4
T.D.25'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'
Perc Test
Interval 17-22'

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F02_GM_2022-04-20.mxd on 4/19/2022 11:14:24 AM Author: KVM (btran)

GEOTECHNICAL MAP
Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue
Ontario, California

³
0 100 200

Feet

Scale:

Base Map: Option A Site Plan, Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use
Sheet 01, Dated: 03/10/2022
by AO Architecture Design Relationships

1 " = 100 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Date: May 2022

FIGURE 2

LB-5

LP-2

CPT-4

LEGEND

&<
Approximate location of hollow-stem auger boring
showing total depth (T.D.) and depth to earth units
in feet below ground surface.

&(
Approximate location of percolation test well
showing percolation test interval in feet
below ground surface.

!(#
Approximate location of cone penetrometer test sounding
showing total depth (T.D.) in feet below ground surface

Approximate Site Boundary

Artificial Fill

Quaternary Young Alluvial Fan Deposits

Afu

Qyf

W A L N U T   S T R E E T 

EUCLID 
AVENUE

Item D - 330 of 1893



?zE

?¼E

Qyf3

Qyf

Scale:

Basemap: USGS Topo Map Service from Esri, 2021
Reference: USGS Geologic Map of the Sotuthern 
California GIS Compilation by CGS, Lancaster, et al., 2012

1 " = 2,000 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F03_RGM_2022-04-19.mxd on 4/14/2022 2:02:07 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date: May 2022
REGIONAL GEOLOGY MAP

Approximate
Site Location

LEGEND

Qyf, Young Alluvial Fan Deposits

Proposed Euclid and
Walnut Mixed-Use Development
2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue

Ontario, California

FIGURE 3

³
0 2,000 4,000

Feet

Item D - 331 of 1893



³
0 5 10

Miles

Scale:

Base Map: ESRI ArcGIS Online 2022
Reference: maps.conservation.ca.gov

1 " = 5 miles

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F04_RFHSM_2022-04-19.mxd on 4/14/2022 2:03:52 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date: May 2022
REGIONAL FAULTS AND 

HISTORIC SEISMICITY MAP
Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue
Ontario, California

Approximate 
Site Location

LEGEND
Fault activity
Recency of Movement

Historic (<200 years)

Holocene (<11,700 years)

Late Quaternary (last 700,000 years)

Quaternary (<1.6M years)

Historical Earthquakes (≥M3.5)
! 3.5 - 3.99

! 4.0 - 4.99

! 5.0 - 5.99

! 6.0 - 6.99

FIGURE 4

Item D - 332 of 1893



Scale:

Base Map: San Bernardino County Land Use Plan
General Plan, Geologic Hazard Overlays, FH27 C Ontario

1 " = 5,000 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F05_SHM_2022-04-20.mxd on 4/20/2022 1:12:49 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date: May 2022
SEISMIC HAZARD MAP

Proposed Euclid and
Walnut Mixed-Use Development
2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue

Ontario, California

Approximate 
Site Location

FIGURE 5

³
0 5,000 10,000

Feet

Item D - 333 of 1893



?zE

³
0 2,000 4,000

Feet

Scale:

Base Map: ESRI ArcGIS Online 2022
Reference: FEMA, DWR

1 " = 2,000 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F06_FHM_2022-04-19.mxd on 4/14/2022 2:10:26 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date: May 2022
FLOOD HAZARD ZONE MAP

Approximate 
Site Location

LEGEND
100-Year Floodplains

500-Year Floodplains

Proposed Euclid and
Walnut Mixed-Use Development
2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue

Ontario, California

FIGURE 6

Item D - 334 of 1893



!"̀$

?zE

³
0 4,000 8,000

Feet

Scale:

Base Map: ESRI ArcGIS Online 2022
Reference: FEMA, DWR

1 " = 4,000 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F07_DIM_2022-04-19.mxd on 4/14/2022 2:17:09 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date:May 2022
DAM INUNDATION MAP

Approximate 
Site Location

LEGEND

San Antonio 1986 Revision

Proposed Euclid and
Walnut Mixed-Use Development
2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue

Ontario, California

FIGURE 7

Item D - 335 of 1893



RETAINING WALL BACKFILL AND SUBDRAIN DETAIL 

WITH PROPER
SURFACE DRAINAGE

SLOPE
OR LEVEL

CLASS 2 PERMEABLE
WEEP HOLE

WATERPROOFING
(SEE GENERAL NOTES)

LEVEL OR
SLOPE

12"

FILTER MATERIAL

NATIVE

¼ TO 1½ INCH SIZE GRAVEL
WRAPPED IN FILTER FABRIC

LEVEL OR
SLOPE

WEEP HOLE

SLOPE
OR LEVEL

12"

WITH PROPER
SURFACE DRAINAGE

4 INCH DIAMETER
PERFORATED PIPE

 (SEE NOTE 3)

FILTER FABRIC

OPTION 1: PIPE SURROUNDED WITH
CLASS 2 PERMEABLE MATERIAL OPTION 2: GRAVEL WRAPPED

IN FILTER FABRIC

SUBDRAIN OPTIONS AND BACKFILL WHEN NATIVE MATERIAL HAS EXPANSION INDEX OF <50

Sieve Size
1"

3/4"
3/8"
No. 4
No. 8
No. 30
No. 50
No. 200

Percent Passing
100

90-100
40-100
25-40
18-33
5-15
0-7
0-3

Class 2 Filter Permeable Material Gradation
Per Caltrans Specifications

(SEE NOTE 5)

12" MINIMUM

(SEE GRADATION)

WATERPROOFING
(SEE GENERAL NOTES)

(SEE NOTE 4)

12" MINIMUM

NATIVE

FOR WALLS 6 FEET OR LESS IN HEIGHT

(SEE NOTE 5)

WHEN NATIVE MATERIAL HAS EXPANSION INDEX OF <50

GENERAL NOTES:

* Waterproofing should be provided where moisture nuisance problem through the wall is undesirable.
* Water proofing of the walls is not under purview of the geotechnical engineer
* All drains should have a gradient of 1 percent minimum
*Outlet portion of the subdrain should have a 4-inch diameter solid pipe discharged into a suitable disposal area designed by the project
engineer. The subdrain pipe should be accessible for maintenance (rodding)
*Other subdrain backfill options are subject to the review by the geotechnical engineer and modification of design parameters.

Notes:
1) Sand should have a sand equivalent of 30 or greater and may be densified by water jetting.
2) 1 Cu. ft. per ft. of 1/4- to 1 1/2-inch size gravel wrapped in filter fabric
3) Pipe type should be ASTM D1527 Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene (ABS) SDR35 or ASTM D1785 Polyvinyl Chloride plastic (PVC), Schedule
40, Armco A2000 PVC, or approved equivalent.  Pipe should be installed with perforations down. Perforations should be 3/8 inch in diameter
placed at the ends of a 120-degree arc in two rows at 3-inch on center (staggered)
4) Filter fabric should be Mirafi 140NC or approved equivalent.
5) Weephole should be 3-inch minimum diameter and provided at 10-foot maximum intervals.  If exposure is permitted, weepholes should be
located 12 inches above finished grade.  If exposure is not permitted such as for a wall adjacent to a sidewalk/curb, a pipe under the sidewalk
to be discharged through the curb face or equivalent should be provided. For a basement-type wall, a proper subdrain outlet system should be
provided.
6) Retaining wall plans should be reviewed and approved by the geotechnical engineer.
7) Walls over six feet in height are subject to a special review by the geotechnical engineer and modifications to the above requirements.

 V
:\D

R
AF

TI
N

G
\T

EM
PL

AT
ES

\S
TA

N
D

AR
D

-F
IG

U
R

ES
\A

LL
-S

TA
N

D
AR

D
-F

IG
U

R
ES

.D
W

G
 (0

8-
02

-2
1 

9:
07

:3
5A

M
)  

Pl
ot

te
d 

by
: b

tra
n

FIGURE 8
Item D - 336 of 1893



APPENDIX A  
 

EXPLORATION LOGS 
 

  

Item D - 337 of 1893



ML-SM

ML/CL

ML-SM

CL-ML

SC

SP

@Surface: 2.5 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 4.5 -inches Base
Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.58': Sandy SILT, olive brown, moist, low plasticity, very fine

to fine sand, slightly micaceous; grades to Silty SAND,
medium brown, moist, very fine to fine sand, slightly
micaceous @ ~4'

<Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Silty CLAY, stiff, olive brown, moist, low plasticity, iron

oxidation staining, slightly micaceous, few fine sand

PP=2.50 TSF )>>
@7.5': Sandy SILT, very stiff, medium olive brown, moist, very

fine sand, low plasticity, slightly micaceous, slightly
laminated; grades to Clayey SILT with sand, grayish brown,
moist, low plasticity, iron oxidation staining, slightly
micaceous, few fine sand

@10': Silty CLAY, very stiff, gray, moist, low to medium
plasticity, iron oxidation staining/veins, few fine sand, trace
subrounded gravel, slightly laminated

PP>4.5 TSF

@15': Silty CLAY, stiff, medium brown, moist, medium plasticity,
iron oxidation staining, slightly micaceous; grades to Sandy
CLAY, medium brown, moist, medium plasticity, very fine to
fine sand, slightly micaceous, iron oxidation staining

PP=4.25 TSF

@20': Clayey SAND, medium dense, mottled medium brown to
orange, low plasticity, predominately fine sand, little medium
sand, slightly micaceous, slightly laminated, trace fine
subrounded gravel

PP>4.50 TSF

@25': SAND with Silt, medium dense, yellowish brown, slightly
moist, predominately fine sand, poorly-graded, little medium
sand, slightly micaceous

95

89

112

120

9

31

16

12

B-1

R-1

R-2

R-3

R-4

R-5

R-6

EI, RV

CN

CO

4
7
9

7
11
13

4
9
15

4
8
12

8
18
22

12
16
27

805'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling,  Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

805

800

795

790

785

780

775

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-1

Item D - 338 of 1893



@30': SAND with gravel, medium dense, orange brown, slightly
moist, fine to coarse sand, few fine subrounded gravel,
slightly micaceous

@35': SAND with Silt, Very dense, yellowish brown,
predominately fine sand, little medium to coarse sand, poorly
graded, few fine subangular to subrounded gravel

@40': SAND, dense, medium brown, slightly moist,
predominately fine sand, little medium to coarse sand, trace
to few fine subangular to subrounded gravel, slightly
micaceous

@45': Very dense, medium brown to orange brown, few fine
subrounded gravel

@50': Very dense, little subrounded granitic gravel

Total Depth: 51.5' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Backfilled with soil cuttings
Patched with cold-mix asphalt concrete

115

4

4

2

3

S-7

R-8

S-9

R-10

S-11

CO

9
12
14

11
24

50/4"

8
12
19

47
50/3"

35
39

50/4"

805'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  2  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling,  Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

775

770

765

760

755

750

745

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-1

Item D - 339 of 1893



ML-SM

ML-SM

SP

CL/SM

SP-ML

ML-SM

CL-SC

SP

@Surface: 4 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 5 -inches Base

Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.75': Sandy SILT, olive brown, moist, low plasticity, very fine

sand, slightly micaceous, some debris (asphalt)

<Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Clayey SAND, medium dense, olive gray, very moist, low

plasticity, very fine to fine sand, slightly micaceous, pinhole
pores; grades to Silty SAND with gravel, light to medium
brown, predominately fine sand, few medium sand, fine
subangular granitic gravel )>>

@7.5': SAND, medium dense, grayish brown, moist, very fine to
fine sand, slightly micaceous, little iron oxidation staining

@10': CLAY, stiff, olive gray, moist, lean, low plasticity,
extensive iron oxidation staining, few very fine sand, slightly
micaceous; grades to Silty SAND, light orange brown, very
fine sand, slightly micaceous

@15': SAND with silt, medium dense, light gray, slightly moist,
very fine to fine sand, micaceous; interbedded with Clayey
SILT, medium brown, moist, low plasticity, laminated, iron
oxidation staining

@20': Sandy SILT, very stiff, medium brown, moist, low
plasticity, very fine sand, micaceous; grades to Sandy CLAY,
medium brown, moist, low plasticity, very fine to fine sand,
trace subrounded gravel

PP = 3.50

@25': Sandy CLAY, very stiff, medium brown, moist, low
plasticity, very fine to fine sand, micaceous, some silt

PP > 4.50 TSF
@26': SAND with silt,  orange brown, dry to slightly moist, very

fine to fine sand, few medium sand, slightly micaceous
Total Depth: 26.5' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Backfilled with soil cuttings

101

103

112

108

3

4

16

10

B-1

R-1

R-2

R-3

R-4

R-5

R-6

DS, MD,
SE

CN

CN, AL

3
8
16

6
11
11

4
8
12

10
10
11

7
11
17

10
15
24

807'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

805

800

795

790

785

780

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-2

Item D - 340 of 1893



Patched with cold-mix asphalt concrete

807'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  2  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

775

770

765

760

755

750

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-2

Item D - 341 of 1893



SM

SM

CL-SC

CL

SC

@Surface: 3.5 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 12 -inches Base

Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@1.3': Silty SAND, olive brown, slightly moist, very fine to fine

sand, few medium sand, trace coarse sand, non-plastic, few
debris (asphalt)

<Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Silty SAND, medium dense, medium brown, moist, very

fine to fine sand, slightly laminated, slightly micaceous )>>

@7.5': Silty SAND, medium dense, olive, slightly moist, fine
sand, low plasticity, iron oxidation staining, carbonate veins;
grades to SAND, yellowish brown, slightly moist, very fine to
fine sand

@10': Silty CLAY, very stiff, grayish brown, slightly moist, low to
medium plasticity, trace very fine sand, iron oxidation staining

PP > 4.50 TSF

@15': Very stiff, slightly laminated

PP = 4.25 TSF

@20': Clayey SAND, medium dense, orange brown, slightly
moist, low plasticity, fine sand, trace medium to coarse sand,
slightly laminated, iron oxidation staining

PP = 4.50 TSF

@25': Medium dense, higher sand content, pinhole pores

PP > 4.50 TSF

Total Depth: 26.5' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Backfilled with soil cuttings
Patched with cold-mix asphalt concrete

111

90

87

122

114

8

26

35

12

14

B-1

R-1

R-2

R-3

R-4

R-5

R-6

CR, MD

DS

7
9
11

7
12
15

10
16
26

5
9
17

12
16
27

7
10
17

808'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  1

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

805

800

795

790

785

780

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-3

Item D - 342 of 1893



SM

SM-ML

ML-SM

CL-ML

SC

@Surface: 5 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 3 -inches Base
Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.67': Silty SAND, olive brown, slightly moist, very fine to fine

sand, few medium sand, trace coarse sand, trace debris
(asphalt)

<Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Silty SAND, medium dense, medium brown, slightly moist,

very fine to fine sand, trace coarse sand, nonplastic, slightly
micaceous; grades to Sandy SILT, yellowish brown, slightly
moist, very fine sand, no to low plasticity, slightly
micaceous )>>

@7.5': Sandy SILT, very stiff, grayish brown, slightly moist, very
fine sand, low plasticity, iron oxidation staining; grades to
Sandy SILT, yellowish brown

@10': Silty CLAY, very stiff, grayish brown to tan, moist, low
plasticity, slightly laminated, trace very fine sand; grades to
SAND, tan to yellowish brown, slightly moist, very fine to fine
sand, slightly micaceous

@15': Silty CLAY, very stiff, grayish brown, moist, low to
medium plasticity, iron oxidation staining, some very fine to
fine sand, slightly laminated

@20': Very stiff, few to little very fine to fine sand, slightly
laminated

@25': Clayey SAND, dense, olive brown, moist, predominately
fine sand, trace to few medium to coarse sand, low plasticity,
slightly micaceous; grades to orange, iron oxidation stained
Clayey SAND, slightly laminated

Total Depth: 26.5' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Backfilled with soil cuttings
Patched with cold-mix asphalt concrete

B-1

R-1

R-2

R-3

R-4

R-5

R-6

SE

5
7
9

9
16
16

6
11
16

5
10
21

6
9
19

10
18
28

807'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  1

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

805

800

795

790

785

780

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-5

Item D - 343 of 1893



ML-SM

SM-ML

ML-CL

SP

SM

ML-SM

@Surface: 3 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 7 -inches Base

Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.83': Sandy SILT, olive brown, moist, low plasticity, very fine

sand, slightly micaceous; grades to Silty SAND, medium
brown, moist, very fine to fine sand, trace medium sand,
slightly micaceous @ ~4'

Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Silty SAND, very loose, medium brown, moist, very fine to

fine sand, slightly micaceous, nonplastic

@10': Clayey Sandy SILT, medium stiff, moist, low plasticity,
very fine sand, slightly micaceous; grades to Silty CLAY with
sand, gray, moist, low to medium plasticity, very fine sand,
micaceous, extensive iron oxidation staining

@15': Silty SAND, medium dense, grayish brown, slightly moist,
prodominately fine sand, some clay, trace medium to coarse
sand, trace fine subrounded gravel, slightly micaceous

@18.5': Sandy SILT, very stiff, olive brown, slightly moist, low
plasticity, very fine to fine sand, iron oxidation staining,
slightly micaceous

PP > 4.50 TSF

@23.5': Sandy CLAY, stiff to medium dense, orange mottled
with brown, low plasticity, very fine to fine sand, slightly
micaceous

Total Depth: 25' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Temporary percolation well installed; screened from 17 - 22' bgs
Upon completion of percolation testing, boring was backfilled

with soil cuttings and patched with cold-mix asphalt

104

119

5

12

B-1

S-1

S-2

R-3

R-4

S-5

, SA

, SA

SA

2
2
2

2
3
4

6
9
11

8
13
21

5
6
7

805'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  1

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

805

800

795

790

785

780

775

* * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-1

Item D - 344 of 1893



SM-ML

SM

ML/CL

SM

@Surface: 3.5 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 4 -inches Base
Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.62': Silty SAND to Sandy SILT, olive brown, slightly moist,

very fine to fine sand, low to no plasticity, slightly micaceous

<Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Silty SAND, very loose, medium to dark brown, moist, very

fine to fine sand, trace coarse sand to fine subrounded
gravel )>>

@10': Sandy SILT, medium stiff, mottled with gray and light
brown, slightly moist, low plasticity, very fine sand, slightly
micaceous; grades to Silty CLAY, grayish brown, moist, low
to medium plasticity, iron oxidation staining, laminated

@15': Silty CLAY, stiff, olive brown, moist, low plasticity, very
fine sand, slightly micaceous, laminated, iron oxidation
staining

@18.5': Silty SAND, medium dense, olive brown, moist, very
fine to fine sand, low to no plasticity, little iron oxidation
staining, trace pinhole pores

Total Depth: 20' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Temporary percolation well installed; screened from 15 - 20' bgs
Upon completion of percolation testing, boring was backfilled

with soil cuttings and patched with cold-mix asphalt

91

115

25

7

B-1

S-1

S-2

R-3

R-4

, SA

, SA

4
2
2

2
2
3

4
6
9

12
16
26

804'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  1

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

800

795

790

785

780

775

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-2

Item D - 345 of 1893



 
 

 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 

OF  

CONE  PENETRATION TEST DATA 
 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  

 
 

 

KEHOE TESTING & ENGINEERING  
5415 Industrial Drive 

Huntington Beach, CA  92649-1518 
Office (714) 901-7270 / Fax (714) 901-7289 

www.kehoetesting.com 

Project: 
 

Legacy-Ontario 
2530 W. Walnut Street 

Ontario, CA 
April 7, 2022 

 
 

Prepared for: 

 
Mr. Eric Holliday 

Leighton & Associates 
17781 Cowan 

Irvine, CA  92614-6009 
Office (800) 253-4567 / Fax (949) 250-1114 

 
 
 

Item D - 346 of 1893



    

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
2. SUMMARY OF FIELD WORK 
 
3. FIELD EQUIPMENT & PROCEDURES     
 
4. CONE PENETRATION TEST DATA & INTERPRETATION 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 
 

• CPT Plots 
• CPT Classification/Soil Behavior Chart 
• Summary of Shear Wave Velocities 
• CPT Data Files (sent via email) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item D - 347 of 1893



    

 
 
 
 
 
 

SUMMARY 
 

OF 
CONE PENETRATION TEST DATA 

 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
This report presents the results of a Cone Penetration Test (CPT) program carried out for the 
Legacy-Ontario project located at 2530 W. Walnut Street in Ontario, California.  The work was 
performed by Kehoe Testing & Engineering (KTE) on April 7, 2022.  The scope of work was 
performed as directed by Leighton & Associates personnel. 
 
2. SUMMARY OF FIELD WORK 
 
The fieldwork consisted of performing CPT soundings at five locations to determine the soil 
lithology.  A summary is provided in TABLE 2.1. 
 

 

 
LOCATION 

 

DEPTH OF 
 CPT (ft) 

 

 
COMMENTS/NOTES: 

CPT-1 50  
CPT-2 50  
CPT-3 35 Refusal 

CPT-3A 50  
LB-4 50  

TABLE 2.1  -  Summary of CPT Soundings 
 
3. FIELD EQUIPMENT & PROCEDURES 
 
The CPT soundings were carried out by KTE using an integrated electronic cone system 
manufactured by Vertek.  The CPT soundings were performed in accordance with ASTM 
standards (D5778).  The cone penetrometers were pushed using a 30-ton CPT rig.  The cone 
used during the program was a 15 cm^2 cone with a cone net area ratio of 0.83.  The following 
parameters were recorded at approximately 2.5 cm depth intervals: 
 

• Cone Resistance (qc) • Inclination 
• Sleeve Friction (fs) • Penetration Speed 
• Dynamic Pore Pressure (u)  

 

Item D - 348 of 1893



    

At location CPT-1, shear wave measurements were obtained at approximately 5-foot intervals.  
The shear wave is generated using an air-actuated hammer, which is located inside the front 
jack of the CPT rig.  The cone has a triaxial geophone, which recorded the shear wave signal 
generated by the air hammer. 
 
The above parameters were recorded and viewed in real time using a laptop computer.  Data is 
stored at the KTE office for up to 2 years for future analysis and reference.  A complete set of 
baseline readings was taken prior to each sounding to determine temperature shifts and any 
zero load offsets.  Monitoring base line readings ensures that the cone electronics are operating 
properly.  
 
4. CONE PENETRATION TEST DATA & INTERPRETATION 
 
The Cone Penetration Test data is presented in graphical form in the attached Appendix.  These 
plots were generated using the CPeT-IT program.  Penetration depths are referenced to ground 
surface.  The soil behavior type on the CPT plots is derived from the attached CPT SBT plot 
(Robertson, “Interpretation of Cone Penetration Test…”, 2009) and presents major soil lithologic 
changes.  The stratigraphic interpretation is based on relationships between cone resistance 
(qc), sleeve friction (fs), and penetration pore pressure (u).  The friction ratio (Rf), which is 
sleeve friction divided by cone resistance, is a calculated parameter that is used along with cone 
resistance to infer soil behavior type.  Generally, cohesive soils (clays) have high friction ratios, 
low cone resistance and generate excess pore water pressures.  Cohesionless soils (sands) 
have lower friction ratios, high cone bearing and generate little (or negative) excess pore water 
pressures. 
 
The CPT data files have also been provided.  These files can be imported in CPeT-IT (software 
by GeoLogismiki) and other programs to calculate various geotechnical parameters. 
 
It should be noted that it is not always possible to clearly identify a soil type based on qc, fs and 
u.  In these situations, experience, judgement and an assessment of the pore pressure data 
should be used to infer the soil behavior type. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this information, please do not hesitate to call our office at 
(714) 901-7270. 
  
Sincerely, 
 

KEHOE TESTING & ENGINEERING 
 
 
 
 

Steven P. Kehoe 
President               
 
04/14/22-kd-4039 
 

Item D - 349 of 1893



    

 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 
 
 

Item D - 350 of 1893



Project: Leighton & Associates / Legacy

Kehoe Testing and Engineering

714-901-7270
steve@kehoetesting.com
www.kehoetesting.com

Total depth: 50.40 ft, Date: 4/7/20222530 W. Walnut St, Ontario, CA

 CPT-1

Location:

Cone resistance

Tip resistance (tsf)
6005004003002001000

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

5 0

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Cone resistance Sleeve friction

Friction (tsf)
1086420

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Sleeve friction Pore pressure u

Pressure (psi)
20100-10-20

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Pore pressure u Friction ratio

Rf (%)
876543210

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)
50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Friction ratio Soil Behaviour Type

SBT (Robertson, 2010)
181614121086420

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

5 0

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Soil Behaviour Type

Sand & silty sand
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay

Silty sand & sandy silt

Sand & silty sand
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay
Clay
Clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt

Sand & silty sand

Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay

Sand & silty sand

Silty sand & sandy silt
Silty sand & sandy silt

Sand & silty sand

Sand
Sand & silty sand
Sand
Sand
Sand

CPeT-IT v.2.3.1.9 - CPTU data presentation & interpretation software - Report created on: 4/8/2022, 11:45:56 AM 1
Project file: C:\CPT Project Data\Leighton-Ontario4-22\CPT Report\CPeT.cpt

Item D - 351 of 1893



Project: Leighton & Associates / Legacy

Kehoe Testing and Engineering

714-901-7270
steve@kehoetesting.com
www.kehoetesting.com

Total depth: 50.20 ft, Date: 4/7/20222530 W. Walnut St, Ontario, CA

 CPT-2

Location:

Cone resistance

Tip resistance (tsf)
6005004003002001000

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

5 0

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Cone resistance Sleeve friction

Friction (tsf)
1086420

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Sleeve friction Pore pressure u

Pressure (psi)
20100-10-20

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Pore pressure u Friction ratio

Rf (%)
876543210

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)
50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Friction ratio Soil Behaviour Type

SBT (Robertson, 2010)
181614121086420

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

5 0

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Soil Behaviour Type

Sand & silty sand

Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay
Very dense/stiff soil

Clay & silty clay

Silty sand & sandy silt
Sand & silty sand

Silty sand & sandy silt

Very dense/stiff soil

Very dense/stiff soil
Very dense/stiff soil

Very dense/stiff soil
Silty sand & sandy silt

Sand & silty sand

Silty sand & sandy silt
Very dense/stiff soil

Very dense/stiff soil

Very dense/stiff soil
Very dense/stiff soil
Very dense/stiff soil

Very dense/stiff soil

Sand & silty sand

Very dense/stiff soil
Very dense/stiff soil

Very dense/stiff soil

Silty sand & sandy silt

CPeT-IT v.2.3.1.9 - CPTU data presentation & interpretation software - Report created on: 4/8/2022, 11:45:57 AM 2
Project file: C:\CPT Project Data\Leighton-Ontario4-22\CPT Report\CPeT.cpt

Item D - 352 of 1893



Project: Leighton & Associates / Legacy

Kehoe Testing and Engineering

714-901-7270
steve@kehoetesting.com
www.kehoetesting.com

Total depth: 35.84 ft, Date: 4/7/20222530 W. Walnut St, Ontario, CA

 CPT-3

Location:

Cone resistance

Tip resistance (tsf)
6005004003002001000

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

5 0

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Cone resistance Sleeve friction

Friction (tsf)
1086420

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Sleeve friction Pore pressure u

Pressure (psi)
20100-10-20

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Pore pressure u Friction ratio

Rf (%)
876543210

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)
50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Friction ratio Soil Behaviour Type

SBT (Robertson, 2010)
181614121086420

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

5 0

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Soil Behaviour Type

Sand & silty sand
Silty sand & sandy silt

Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay
Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay

Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay
Clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay
Clay & silty clay
Clay
Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Sand & silty sand

Clay
Silty sand & sandy silt

Sand & silty sand
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay

Sand & silty sand

CPeT-IT v.2.3.1.9 - CPTU data presentation & interpretation software - Report created on: 4/8/2022, 11:45:57 AM 3
Project file: C:\CPT Project Data\Leighton-Ontario4-22\CPT Report\CPeT.cpt

Item D - 353 of 1893



Project: Leighton & Associates / Legacy

Kehoe Testing and Engineering

714-901-7270
steve@kehoetesting.com
www.kehoetesting.com

Total depth: 50.66 ft, Date: 4/7/20222530 W. Walnut St, Ontario, CA

 CPT-3A

Location:

Cone resistance

Tip resistance (tsf)
6005004003002001000

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

5 0

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Cone resistance Sleeve friction

Friction (tsf)
1086420

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Sleeve friction Pore pressure u

Pressure (psi)
20100-10-20

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Pore pressure u Friction ratio

Rf (%)
876543210

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)
50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Friction ratio Soil Behaviour Type

SBT (Robertson, 2010)
181614121086420

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

5 0

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Soil Behaviour Type

Sand & silty sand

Silty sand & sandy silt

Clay & silty clay
Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay

Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay
Clay & silty clay
Clay & silty clay

Clay & silty clay
Clay
Clay & silty clay

Silty sand & sandy silt

Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Silty sand & sandy silt
Silty sand & sandy silt

Sand & silty sand
Silty sand & sandy silt
Silty sand & sandy silt

Sand & silty sand

Silty sand & sandy silt
Very dense/stiff soil
Very dense/stiff soil
Very dense/stiff soil
Silty sand & sandy silt

Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay

Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay
Clay & silty clay
Clay & silty clay

CPeT-IT v.2.3.1.9 - CPTU data presentation & interpretation software - Report created on: 4/8/2022, 11:45:58 AM 4
Project file: C:\CPT Project Data\Leighton-Ontario4-22\CPT Report\CPeT.cpt

Item D - 354 of 1893



Project: Leighton & Associates / Legacy

Kehoe Testing and Engineering

714-901-7270
steve@kehoetesting.com
www.kehoetesting.com

Total depth: 50.14 ft, Date: 4/7/20222530 W. Walnut St, Ontario, CA

 LB-4

Location:

Cone resistance

Tip resistance (tsf)
6005004003002001000

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

5 0

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Cone resistance Sleeve friction

Friction (tsf)
1086420

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Sleeve friction Pore pressure u

Pressure (psi)
20100-10-20

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Pore pressure u Friction ratio

Rf (%)
876543210

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)
50

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Friction ratio Soil Behaviour Type

SBT (Robertson, 2010)
181614121086420

D
e
p
th

 (
ft

)

5 0

48

46

44

42

40

38

36

34

32

30

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Soil Behaviour Type

Sand

Sand & silty sand

Silty sand & sandy silt

Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay
Clay & silty clay
Clay & silty clay
Clay
Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay

Clay & silty clay
Clay & silty clay

Silty sand & sandy silt

Sand & silty sand
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay
Silty sand & sandy silt

Sand & silty sand
Clay & silty clay
Sand & silty sand
Sand & silty sand
Silty sand & sandy silt
Sand & silty sand
Silty sand & sandy silt
Clay & silty clay

Silty sand & sandy silt

Sand & silty sand
Silty sand & sandy silt
Silty sand & sandy silt
Sand & silty sand
Silty sand & sandy silt

Silty sand & sandy silt

CPeT-IT v.2.3.1.9 - CPTU data presentation & interpretation software - Report created on: 4/8/2022, 11:45:58 AM 5
Project file: C:\CPT Project Data\Leighton-Ontario4-22\CPT Report\CPeT.cpt

Item D - 355 of 1893



 

Item D - 356 of 1893



Leighton & Associates
Legacy
Ontario, CA

CPT Shear Wave Measurements

S-Wave Interval
Tip Geophone Travel S-Wave Velocity S-Wave

Depth Depth Distance Arrival from Surface Velocity
Location (ft) (ft) (ft) (msec) (ft/sec) (ft/sec)

CPT-1 5.09 4.09 4.55 4.80 949
10.14 9.14 9.36 10.26 912 880
15.03 14.03 14.17 16.16 877 816
20.01 19.01 19.11 21.42 892 940
25.10 24.10 24.18 26.42 915 1014
30.05 29.05 29.12 31.16 934 1041
35.07 34.07 34.13 36.20 943 994
40.03 39.03 39.08 40.12 974 1263
45.14 44.14 44.19 44.64 990 1129
50.03 49.03 49.07 48.80 1006 1174

Shear Wave Source Offset - 2 ft

S-Wave Velocity from Surface = Travel Distance/S-Wave Arrival
Interval S-Wave Velocity = (Travel Dist2-Travel Dist1)/(Time2-Time1)

Item D - 357 of 1893



APPENDIX B 
 

PERCOLATION TEST DATA 
 

  

Item D - 358 of 1893



Project Number: 13493.001 Test Hole Number: LP-1
Project Name: Legacy - Collier Date Excavated:
Earth Description: Alluvium Date Tested:
Liquid Description: Tap water Depth of boring (ft): 23.5
Tested By:  LFO/KD Radius of boring (in): 4
Time Interval Standard Radius of casing (in): 1
Start Time for Pre-Soak: 8:34 Length of slotted of casing (ft): 5
Start Time for Standard: 9:31 Depth to Initial Water Depth (ft): 16.9

25 Porosity of Annulus Material, n : 0.35
10 Bentonite Plug at Bottom: No

Reading Time
Time Interval, 

Δt (min.)

Initial/Final 
Depth to 

Water (ft.)

Initial/Final 
Water Height, 

H0/Hf            

(in.)

Total Water 
Drop, Δd (in.)

Percolation 
Rate (min./in.)

Infiltration 
Rate (in./hr.)

8:34 16.93 78.8
8:59 17.61 70.7
9:04 16.99 78.1
9:29 17.61 70.7
9:31 16.94 78.7
9:41 17.43 72.8
9:43 17.00 78.0
9:53 17.42 73.0
9:55 17.00 78.0

10:05 17.44 72.7
10:06 17.00 78.0
10:16 17.44 72.7
10:18 17.00 78.0
10:28 17.45 72.6
10:30 17.00 78.0
10:40 17.44 72.7

Infiltration Rate, I (Last Reading) = 0.32 in./hr.

Boring Percolation Test Data Sheet

4/6/2022
4/7/2022

Standard Time Interval 
Between Readings, mins:

Percolation Data

1 25 8.2 3.06 0.20

2 25 7.4 3.36 0.18

3 10 5.9 1.70 0.35

4 10 5.0 1.98 0.30

5 10 5.3 1.89 0.32

6 10 5.3 1.89 0.32

7 10 5.4 1.85 0.33

8 10 5.3 1.89 0.32

Infiltration Rate (I) = Discharge Volume/Surface Area of Test Section/Time Interval

Item D - 359 of 1893



Project Number: 13493.001 Test Hole Number: LP-2
Project Name: Legacy - Collier Date Excavated:
Earth Description: Alluvium Date Tested:
Liquid Description: Tap water Depth of boring (ft): 20
Tested By:  LFO/KD Radius of boring (in): 4
Time Interval Standard Radius of casing (in): 1
Start Time for Pre-Soak: 7:25 Length of slotted of casing (ft): 5
Start Time for Standard: 8:27 Depth to Initial Water Depth (ft): 15.05

25 Porosity of Annulus Material, n : 0.35
10 Bentonite Plug at Bottom: No

Reading Time
Time Interval, 

Δt (min.)

Initial/Final 
Depth to 

Water (ft.)

Initial/Final 
Water Height, 

H0/Hf            

(in.)

Total Water 
Drop, Δd (in.)

Percolation 
Rate (min./in.)

Infiltration 
Rate (in./hr.)

7:25 15.05 59.4
7:50 15.06 59.3
7:55 15.20 57.6
8:20 16.55 41.4
8:27 15.08 59.0
8:37 15.75 51.0
8:39 15.05 59.4
8:49 15.78 50.6
8:56 15.08 59.0
9:06 15.75 51.0
9:08 15.08 59.0
9:18 15.50 54.0
9:21 15.08 59.0
9:31 15.78 50.6
9:34 15.08 59.0
9:44 15.78 50.6

Infiltration Rate, I (Last Reading) = 0.69 in./hr.

Percolation Data

Boring Percolation Test Data Sheet

4/6/2022
4/7/2022

Standard Time Interval 
Between Readings, mins:

1 25 0.1 208.33 0.00

2 25 16.2 1.54 0.59

3 10 8.0 1.24 0.66

5 10 8.0 1.24 0.66

4 10 8.8 1.14 0.72

6 10 5.0 1.98 0.40

7 10 8.4 1.19 0.69

Infiltration Rate (I) = Discharge Volume/Surface Area of Test Section/Time Interval

8 10 8.4 1.19 0.69

Item D - 360 of 1893



APPENDIX C 
 

LABORATORY TEST RESULTS 

Item D - 361 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: GB/JD Date: 04/13/22
Project No.: Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/26/22
Boring No.: Depth (ft.):
Sample No.: Sample Type:
Soil Identification:

Sample Diameter (in.): 2.415
Sample Thickness (in.): 1.000
Weight of Sample + ring (g): 185.47
Weight of Ring (g): 45.70
Height after consol. (in.): 0.9695
Before Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 169.15
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 153.14
Weight of Container (g): 65.19
Initial Moisture Content (%) 18.2
Initial Dry Density (pcf) 98.3
Initial Saturation (%): 68
Initial Vertical Reading (in.) 0.0773
After Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 254.24
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 229.01
Weight of Container (g): 59.14
Final Moisture Content (%) 20.32
Final  Dry Density (pcf): 106.5
Final Saturation (%): 94
Final Vertical Reading (in.) 0.1103
Specific Gravity (assumed): 2.71
Water Density (pcf): 62.43

0.10 0.0777 0.9996 0.00 0.04 0.720 0.04
0.25 0.0812 0.9962 0.03 0.39 0.714 0.36
0.50 0.0834 0.9940 0.08 0.61 0.711 0.53
1.00 0.0869 0.9905 0.15 0.95 0.707 0.80
2.00 0.0905 0.9868 0.25 1.32 0.702 1.07
2.00 0.0917 0.9856 0.25 1.44 0.700 1.19
4.00 0.0982 0.9791 0.36 2.09 0.691 1.73
8.00 0.1092 0.9681 0.49 3.19 0.674 2.70
16.00 0.1274 0.9500 0.64 5.01 0.645 4.37
4.00 0.1222 0.9552 0.47 4.49 0.651 4.02
1.00 0.1172 0.9602 0.34 3.99 0.658 3.65
0.25 0.1103 0.9670 0.25 3.30 0.668 3.05

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION 

ASTM D 2435

13493.001

Deformation 
% of Sample 

Thickness
Square 
Root of 
Time

Final 
Reading   

(in.)

Apparent 
Thickness  

(in.)

Load 
Compliance 

(%)

PROPERTIES of SOILS

Ring

Void      
Ratio

Olive silty clay (CL-ML)

Time Readings 

Elapsed  
Time (min)

5.0

Pressure   
(p)       

(ksf) Dial Rdgs. 
(in.)Date

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

LB-1
R-1

Time

Corrected 
Deforma-
tion (%)

0.640

0.650

0.660

0.670

0.680

0.690

0.700

0.710

0.720

0.730

0.10 1.00 10.00 100.

Vo
id

 R
at

io

Pressure, p (ksf)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Consol LB-1, R-1 @ 5

Item D - 362 of 1893



Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final

Soil Identification:

Boring      
No.

Sample     
No.

Depth      
(ft.)

Moisture 
Content (%) 

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION  
PROPERTIES of SOILS                       

ASTM D 2435       

20.3 106.5LB-1 R-1 18.2

Olive silty clay (CL-ML)

Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

04-22

13493.001

Time Readings 

0.668 68 9498.3

Degree of 
Saturation (%)Dry Density (pcf)  

0.720

Void Ratio

5

0.0000

0.1000

0.2000

0.3000

0.4000

0.5000

0.6000

0.7000

0.8000

0.9000

1.0000
0.1 1.0

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
D

ia
l R

ea
di

ng
 (i

n.
)

Log of Time (min.)

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

4.50

5.00
0.10 1.00 10.00 100.00

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
(%

)

Pressure, p (ksf)

0.0000

0.2000

0.4000

0.6000

0.8000

1.0000

1.2000
0.0 10.0

Square Root of Time (min.1/2)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Item D - 363 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: GB/JD Date: 04/13/22
Project No.: Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/26/22
Boring No.: Depth (ft.):
Sample No.: Sample Type:
Soil Identification:

Sample Diameter (in.): 2.415
Sample Thickness (in.): 1.000
Weight of Sample + ring (g): 199.47
Weight of Ring (g): 44.89
Height after consol. (in.): 0.9819
Before Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 189.19
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 178.43
Weight of Container (g): 59.52
Initial Moisture Content (%) 9.0
Initial Dry Density (pcf) 117.9
Initial Saturation (%): 56
Initial Vertical Reading (in.) 0.0958
After Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 269.21
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 253.05
Weight of Container (g): 66.12
Final Moisture Content (%) 11.38
Final  Dry Density (pcf): 120.3
Final Saturation (%): 76
Final Vertical Reading (in.) 0.1178
Specific Gravity (assumed): 2.71
Water Density (pcf): 62.43

0.10 0.0960 0.9998 0.00 0.02 0.435 0.02
0.25 0.0974 0.9984 0.06 0.16 0.434 0.10
0.50 0.0988 0.9970 0.14 0.30 0.433 0.16
1.00 0.1015 0.9943 0.24 0.57 0.430 0.33
2.00 0.1043 0.9916 0.36 0.84 0.428 0.48
2.00 0.1051 0.9907 0.36 0.93 0.427 0.57
4.00 0.1102 0.9856 0.50 1.44 0.422 0.94
8.00 0.1170 0.9788 0.66 2.12 0.414 1.46
16.00 0.1275 0.9684 0.86 3.17 0.402 2.31
4.00 0.1240 0.9718 0.67 2.82 0.404 2.15
1.00 0.1210 0.9748 0.51 2.52 0.406 2.01
0.25 0.1178 0.9780 0.39 2.20 0.409 1.81

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION 

ASTM D 2435

13493.001

Deformation 
% of Sample 

Thickness
Square 
Root of 
Time

Final 
Reading   

(in.)

Apparent 
Thickness  

(in.)

Load 
Compliance 

(%)

PROPERTIES of SOILS

Ring

Void      
Ratio

Olive gray silty, clayey sand (SC-SM)

Time Readings 

Elapsed  
Time (min)

5.0

Pressure   
(p)       

(ksf) Dial Rdgs. 
(in.)Date

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

LB-2
R-1

Time

Corrected 
Deforma-
tion (%)

0.400

0.405

0.410

0.415

0.420

0.425

0.430

0.435

0.440

0.10 1.00 10.00 100.

Vo
id

 R
at

io

Pressure, p (ksf)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Consol LB-2, R-1 @ 5

Item D - 364 of 1893



Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final

Soil Identification:

Boring      
No.

Sample     
No.

Depth      
(ft.)

Moisture 
Content (%) 

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION  
PROPERTIES of SOILS                       

ASTM D 2435       

11.4 120.3LB-2 R-1 9.0

Olive gray silty, clayey sand (SC-SM)

Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

04-22

13493.001

Time Readings 

0.409 56 76117.9

Degree of 
Saturation (%)Dry Density (pcf)  

0.435

Void Ratio

5

0.0000

0.1000

0.2000

0.3000

0.4000

0.5000

0.6000

0.7000

0.8000

0.9000

1.0000
0.1 1.0

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
D

ia
l R

ea
di

ng
 (i

n.
)

Log of Time (min.)

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50
0.10 1.00 10.00 100.00

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
(%

)

Pressure, p (ksf)

0.0000

0.2000

0.4000

0.6000

0.8000

1.0000

1.2000
0.0 10.0

Square Root of Time (min.1/2)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Item D - 365 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: GB/JD Date: 04/13/22
Project No.: Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/26/22
Boring No.: Depth (ft.):
Sample No.: Sample Type:
Soil Identification:

Sample Diameter (in.): 2.415
Sample Thickness (in.): 1.000
Weight of Sample + ring (g): 193.07
Weight of Ring (g): 45.55
Height after consol. (in.): 0.9656
Before Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 263.34
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 214.46
Weight of Container (g): 55.13
Initial Moisture Content (%) 30.7
Initial Dry Density (pcf) 93.9
Initial Saturation (%): 100
Initial Vertical Reading (in.) 0.0902
After Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 253.11
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 222.45
Weight of Container (g): 61.21
Final Moisture Content (%) 26.50
Final  Dry Density (pcf): 99.6
Final Saturation (%): 99
Final Vertical Reading (in.) 0.1293
Specific Gravity (assumed): 2.79
Water Density (pcf): 62.43

0.10 0.0911 0.9991 0.00 0.09 0.854 0.09
0.25 0.0978 0.9924 0.11 0.76 0.843 0.65
0.50 0.1021 0.9882 0.25 1.19 0.838 0.94
1.00 0.1082 0.9820 0.43 1.80 0.830 1.37
2.00 0.1140 0.9762 0.58 2.38 0.822 1.80
2.00 0.1130 0.9773 0.58 2.28 0.824 1.70
4.00 0.1196 0.9706 0.72 2.94 0.814 2.22
8.00 0.1355 0.9547 0.88 4.53 0.788 3.65
16.00 0.1602 0.9301 1.07 7.00 0.745 5.93
4.00 0.1523 0.9379 0.89 6.21 0.757 5.32
1.00 0.1409 0.9493 0.72 5.07 0.775 4.35
0.25 0.1293 0.9609 0.47 3.91 0.791 3.44

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION 

ASTM D 2435

13493.001

Deformation 
% of Sample 

Thickness
Square 
Root of 
Time

Final 
Reading   

(in.)

Apparent 
Thickness  

(in.)

Load 
Compliance 

(%)

PROPERTIES of SOILS

Ring

Void      
Ratio

Olive gray lean clay (CL)

Time Readings 

Elapsed  
Time (min)

10.0

Pressure   
(p)       

(ksf) Dial Rdgs. 
(in.)Date

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

LB-2
R-3

Time

Corrected 
Deforma-
tion (%)

0.720

0.740

0.760

0.780

0.800

0.820

0.840

0.860

0.880

0.10 1.00 10.00 100.

Vo
id

 R
at

io

Pressure, p (ksf)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Consol LB-2, R-3 @ 10

Item D - 366 of 1893



Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final

Soil Identification:

Boring      
No.

Sample     
No.

Depth      
(ft.)

Moisture 
Content (%) 

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION  
PROPERTIES of SOILS                       

ASTM D 2435       

26.5 99.6LB-2 R-3 30.7

Olive gray lean clay (CL)

Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

04-22

13493.001

Time Readings 

0.791 100 9993.9

Degree of 
Saturation (%)Dry Density (pcf)  

0.855

Void Ratio

10

0.0000

0.1000

0.2000

0.3000

0.4000

0.5000

0.6000

0.7000

0.8000

0.9000

1.0000
0.1 1.0

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
D

ia
l R

ea
di

ng
 (i

n.
)

Log of Time (min.)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00
0.10 1.00 10.00 100.00

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
(%

)

Pressure, p (ksf)

0.0000

0.2000

0.4000

0.6000

0.8000

1.0000

1.2000
0.0 10.0

Square Root of Time (min.1/2)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Item D - 367 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By : G. Berdy Date: 04/13/22

Project No. : 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22

Boring No. LB-3

Sample No. B-1

Sample Depth (ft) 0-5

168.20

168.07

52.00

0.11

100.19

8

3

860

7:15/8:00

45

24.5192

24.5129

0.0063

259.25

260

ml of Extract For Titration      (B) 15

ml of AgNO3 Soln. Used in Titration (C) 0.4

PPM of Chloride (C -0.2) * 100 * 30 / B 40

PPM of Chloride, Dry Wt. Basis 40

7.92
20.3

TESTS for SULFATE CONTENT
CHLORIDE CONTENT and pH of SOILS

SULFATE CONTENT, DOT California Test 417, Part II

pH TEST, DOT California Test  643

Furnace Temperature (°C)

Weight of Container (g)

Crucible No.

Wt. of Crucible + Residue (g)      

Dry Weight of Soil + Container (g)

Olive brown 
(SM)

Wet Weight of Soil + Container (g)

Temperature  °C
pH Value

Duration of Combustion (min)

Soil Identification:

Time In / Time Out

Wt. of  Residue (g) (A)      

CHLORIDE CONTENT, DOT California Test 422

Wt. of Crucible (g)      

PPM of Sulfate, Dry Weight Basis
PPM of Sulfate (A) x 41150

Moisture Content (%)

Beaker No.

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Weight of Soaked Soil (g)

Item D - 368 of 1893



Project Name: Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario C Tested By : Date:
Project No. : Checked By: A. Santos Date:
Boring No.: Depth (ft.) :     
Sample No. :
Soil Identification:*
*California Test 643 requires soil specimens to consist only of portions of samples passing through the No. 8 US Standard Sieve before 
resistivity testing.  Therefore, this test method may not be representative for coarser materials. 

Wt. of Container     (g)23.14 1500

0.11
168.20

Moisture Content (%)  (MCi)
Wet Wt. of Soil + Cont. (g)

Specimen 
No.

1
2

Water 
Added (ml)  

(Wa)

30

Adjusted 
Moisture 
Content   

(MC) Dry Wt. of Soil + Cont. (g)
1500

1.000

Chloride Content
(ohm-cm)

46.18

Moisture Content Sulfate Content

5

Min. Resistivity

DOT CA Test 643DOT CA Test 417 Part II DOT CA Test 422

(%) (ppm) (ppm)

DOT CA Test 643

4

40
50
60

130.403 135038.50
1350

1335 34.4 260 40 7.92 20.3

SOIL RESISTIVITY TEST
DOT CA TEST 643

Temp. (°C)pH
Soil pH

1350
1350

168.07
52.00

MC =(((1+Mci/100)x(Wa/Wt+1))-1)x100

04/19/22
04/25/22

0-5
13493.001
LB-3

G. Berdy

B-1

Container No.
Initial Soil Wt. (g)   (Wt)
Box Constant1450 1450

Olive brown (SM)

Resistance 
Reading 
(ohm)

30.82

Soil 
Resistivity 
(ohm-cm)

1300

1350

1400

1450

1500

1550

20.0 25.0 30.0 35.0 40.0 45.0 50.0

So
il 

R
es

is
tiv

ity
 (o

hm
-c

m
)

Moisture Content (%)

Item D - 369 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: G. Bathala Date: 04/18/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: Sample Type: 90% Remold
Sample No.: Depth (ft.): 0-5
Soil Identification:

2.415 2.415 2.415
1.000 1.000 1.000
197.98 198.21 198.62
45.38 45.43 45.60

Before Shearing
169.35 169.35 169.35
155.92 155.92 155.92
56.15 56.15 56.15
0.2545 0.2729 0.0000
0.2651 0.2858 -0.0224

After Shearing
211.09 212.06 191.55
190.82 191.76 171.67
58.12 58.19 38.35
2.70 2.70 2.70
62.43 62.43 62.43

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

LB-2

Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

Sample Diameter(in):

Weight of Wet Sample+Cont.(gm):

Vertical Rdg.(in): Final
Vertical Rdg.(in): Initial

Sample Thickness(in.):
Weight of Sample + ring(gm):

B-1

DIRECT  SHEAR  TEST
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

Water Density(pcf):
Specific Gravity (Assumed):
Weight of Container(gm):
Weight of Dry Sample+Cont.(gm):

Weight of Ring(gm):

Weight of Container(gm):
Weight of Dry Sample+Cont.(gm):
Weight of Wet Sample+Cont.(gm):

DS LB-2, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 370 of 1893



Normal Stress (kip/ft²)
Peak Shear Stress  (kip/ft²)
Shear Stress @ End of Test (ksf)
Deformation Rate  (in./min.)

Initial Sample Height (in.)
Diameter (in.)
Initial Moisture Content (%)
Dry Density (pcf)
Saturation (%)
Soil Height Before Shearing (in.)
Final Moisture Content (%)

04-22

Project No.: 13493.001

Sample Type:

90% Remold

Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)
71.7

0.9894
15.3

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

DIRECT SHEAR TEST RESULTS  
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

72.3
0.9776
14.9

1.000
0.893
0.729
0.0017

1.000
2.415

1.000
2.415

2.000
1.405
1.405
0.0017

4.000
2.719
2.719
0.0017

71.9
0.9871
15.2

Soil Identification: 13.46
112.0

13.46
111.9 112.2

1.000
2.415
13.46

Boring No.
Sample No.
Depth (ft)

LB-2
B-1
0-5

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0 0.1 0.2 0.3

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Horizontal Deformation (in.)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0.00 1.00 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00 7.00 8.00

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Normal Stress (ksf)

DS LB-2, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 371 of 1893



Normal Stress (kip/ft²)
Peak Shear Stress  (kip/ft²)
Shear Stress @ End of Test (ksf)

Sample Type: 90% Remold Deformation Rate  (in./min.)

Initial Sample Height (in.)
Diameter (in.)
Initial Moisture Content (%)

Strength Parameters Dry Density (pcf)
C (psf)  (o) Saturation (%)

Peak 236 32 Soil Height Before Shearing (in.)
Ultimate 72 34 Final Moisture Content (%)

1.405
1.405

Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

Boring No.
Sample No.
Depth (ft)

LB-2
B-1
0-5

71.9

13.46
112.0

0.0017

4.000
2.719
2.719
0.0017

72.3

2.000

0.9776

13.46

14.9

1.000
2.415

0.9871
15.2

112.2

1.000
2.415

DIRECT SHEAR TEST RESULTS  
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

1.000
0.893
0.729
0.0017

13.46
111.9

2.415
Soil Identification:

04-22

Project No.: 13493.001

71.7
0.9894

1.000

15.3

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0 0.1 0.2 0.3

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Horizontal Deformation (in.)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0.00 1.00 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00 7.00 8.00

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Normal Stress (ksf)

DS LB-2, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 372 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: G. Bathala Date: 04/19/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: Sample Type: Ring
Sample No.: Depth (ft.): 7.5
Soil Identification:

2.415 2.415 2.415
1.000 1.000 1.000
177.41 181.99 182.19
43.72 45.58 45.95

Before Shearing
182.62 182.62 182.62
178.05 178.05 178.05
58.18 58.18 58.18
0.0000 0.2562 0.2637
-0.0126 0.2707 0.2918

After Shearing
208.16 204.29 212.34
188.26 184.44 192.59
66.34 58.11 67.16
2.70 2.70 2.70
62.43 62.43 62.43

DIRECT  SHEAR  TEST
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

Water Density(pcf):
Specific Gravity (Assumed):
Weight of Container(gm):
Weight of Dry Sample+Cont.(gm):

Weight of Ring(gm):

Weight of Container(gm):
Weight of Dry Sample+Cont.(gm):
Weight of Wet Sample+Cont.(gm):

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

LB-3

Olive silty sand (SM)

Sample Diameter(in):

Weight of Wet Sample+Cont.(gm):

Vertical Rdg.(in): Final
Vertical Rdg.(in): Initial

Sample Thickness(in.):
Weight of Sample + ring(gm):

R-2

DS LB-3, R-2 @ 7.5

Item D - 373 of 1893



Normal Stress (kip/ft²)
Peak Shear Stress  (kip/ft²)
Shear Stress @ End of Test (ksf)
Deformation Rate  (in./min.)

Initial Sample Height (in.)
Diameter (in.)
Initial Moisture Content (%)
Dry Density (pcf)
Saturation (%)
Soil Height Before Shearing (in.)
Final Moisture Content (%)

109.1

1.000
2.415
3.81

Boring No.
Sample No.
Depth (ft)

LB-3
R-2
7.5

19.0
0.9855
15.7

Soil Identification: 3.81
109.3

3.81
107.1

1.364
0.0033

4.000
2.858
2.704
0.0033

1.000
0.773
0.688
0.0033

1.000
2.415

1.000
2.415

2.000
1.544

17.9
0.9874
16.3

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

DIRECT SHEAR TEST RESULTS  
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

18.9
0.9719
15.7

04-22

Project No.: 13493.001

Sample Type:

Ring

Olive silty sand (SM)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0 0.1 0.2 0.3

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Horizontal Deformation (in.)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0.00 1.00 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00 7.00 8.00

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Normal Stress (ksf)

DS LB-3, R-2 @ 7.5

Item D - 374 of 1893



Normal Stress (kip/ft²)
Peak Shear Stress  (kip/ft²)
Shear Stress @ End of Test (ksf)

Sample Type: Ring Deformation Rate  (in./min.)

Initial Sample Height (in.)
Diameter (in.)
Initial Moisture Content (%)

Strength Parameters Dry Density (pcf)
C (psf)  (o) Saturation (%)

Peak 116 35 Soil Height Before Shearing (in.)
Ultimate 18 34 Final Moisture Content (%)

04-22

Project No.: 13493.001

17.9
0.9874

1.000

16.3

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

DIRECT SHEAR TEST RESULTS  
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

1.000
0.773
0.688
0.0033

3.81
107.1

2.415
Soil Identification:

0.9719

3.81

15.7

1.000
2.415

0.9855
15.7

109.1

1.000
2.415

19.0

3.81
109.3

0.0033

4.000
2.858
2.704
0.0033

18.9

2.000
1.544
1.364

Olive silty sand (SM)

Boring No.
Sample No.
Depth (ft)

LB-3
R-2
7.5

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0 0.1 0.2 0.3

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Horizontal Deformation (in.)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0.00 1.00 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00 7.00 8.00

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Normal Stress (ksf)

DS LB-3, R-2 @ 7.5

Item D - 375 of 1893



Tested By: G. Berdy Date: 04/13/22
Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Depth (ft.):

Dry Wt. of Soil + Cont.         (g)
Wt. of Container No.            (g)
Dry Wt. of Soil                     (g)
Weight Soil Retained on #4 Sieve
Percent Passing # 4 

SPECIMEN  INUNDATION in distilled water for the period of 24 h or expansion rate < 0.0002 in./h

1100

Expansion Index (EI meas)   = ((Final Rdg - Initial Rdg) / Initial Thick.) x 1000 18

1.0

0.6030
04/14/22 9:53 1.0 1351 0.6030
04/14/22 5:42 1.0

Add Distilled Water to the Specimen
04/13/22 11:59 1.0 37 0.6000

10
04/13/22 11:12 1.0 0 0.5855

0.585504/13/22 11:22

Degree of Saturation (%) [ S meas] 49.0 96.3

Date Time Pressure  (psi) Elapsed Time         
(min.)

Dial Readings        
(in.)

Total Porosity 0.331 0.343
Pore Volume                  (cc)  68.6 72.2

Dry Density                    (pcf) 112.7 110.8
Void Ratio   0.496 0.522

Moisture Content            (%) 9.00 18.61
Wet Density                   (pcf) 122.9 131.4

Dry Wt. of Soil + Cont.    (g) 751.90 575.77
Wt. of Container             (g) 0.00 202.10

Container No. O O
Wet Wt. of Soil + Cont.   (g) 819.60 645.30

Wt. of Mold                    (g) 202.10 0.00
Specific Gravity (Assumed) 2.70 2.70

Specimen Height            (in.) 1.0000 1.0175
Wt. Comp. Soil + Mold    (g) 609.40 443.20

Specimen Diameter        (in.) 4.01 4.01

100.00

MOLDED SPECIMEN Before Test After Test

1000.00
0.00

1000.00
0.00

0-5
Sample No.: B-1
Soil Identification: Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

Project No.: 13493.001
Boring No.:

EXPANSION INDEX of SOILS
ASTM D 4829

Project Name:

LB-1

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Item D - 376 of 1893



LB-1 7.5 9.3 94.6

LB-1 10.0 31.0 88.6

LB-1 15.0 15.7 111.5

LB-1 20.0 12.2 120.1

LB-1 30.0 3.6

LB-1 40.0 4.4

LB-1 45.0 2.0 114.9

LB-1 50.0 3.2

LB-2 7.5 3.0 101.4

LB-2 15.0 4.0 102.8

LB-2 20.0 15.7 111.9

LB-2 25.0 10.4 108.4

LB-3 5.0 7.7 110.6

LB-3 10.0 26.3 90.1

LB-3 15.0 35.1 87.0

LB-3 20.0 12.5 121.7

LB-3 25.0 13.9 113.8

LP-1 15.0 5.0 104.3

LP-1 18.5 12.4 119.3

LP-2 15.0 25.4 91.0

LP-2 18.5 7.3 115.0

Class-
ification

Water
Content

(%)

Dry
Density

(pcf)

Liquid
Limit

Plastic
Limit

Plasticity
Index

Maximum
Size
(mm)

%<#200
Sieve

Satur-
ation
(%)

Void
RatioDepth

Summary of Laboratory Results

Sheet  1  of  1

Borehole

Figure No. 1

Project Name:

Project Number:

Date:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

5/4/2022 11:49:57 AM

U
S

_L
A

B
_S

U
M

M
A

R
Y

  
13

49
3

.0
01

 B
O

R
IN

G
 L

O
G

S
.G

P
J 

 R
O

C
K

LO
G

20
12

.G
D

T
  5

/4
/2

2

Item D - 377 of 1893



Tested By: J. Gonzalez Date: 04/12/22
Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/13/22

LB-2 Depth (ft.): 0-5

Preparation Method: X   Moist  Mechanical Ram
  Dry  Manual Ram

       Mold Volume (ft³) 0.03330         Ram Weight = 10 lb.;   Drop = 18 in.

1 2 3 4 5 6
3861 3920 3880
1826 1826 1826
2035 2094 2054

462.6 478.9 498.0
423.8 429.5 437.3
37.9 36.3 39.6

10.05 12.56 15.26
134.7 138.6 136.0
122.4 123.2 118.0

123.5 11.5

PROCEDURE USED

X    Procedure A
Soil Passing No. 4 (4.75 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   4 in. (101.6 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  25  (twenty-five)
May be used if +#4 is 20% or less 

   Procedure B
Soil Passing 3/8 in. (9.5 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   4 in. (101.6 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  25  (twenty-five)
Use if +#4 is >20% and +3/8 in. is
 20% or less

   Procedure C
Soil Passing 3/4 in. (19.0 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   6 in. (152.4 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  56  (fifty-six)
Use if +3/8 in. is >20% and +¾ in.
  is <30%

Particle-Size Distribution:

GR:SA:FI
Atterberg Limits:

LL,PL,PI

Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

13493.001

TEST NO.

Soil Identification:
Sample No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

MODIFIED PROCTOR COMPACTION TEST
 ASTM D 1557

Project No.:
Boring No.:

Weight of Container            (g)
Dry Weight of Soil + Cont.   (g)

Weight of Mold              (g)
Wt. Compacted Soil + Mold (g)

B-1

Project Name:

  Optimum Moisture Content (%)                Maximum Dry Density (pcf)

Net Weight of Soil          (g)

Wet Density                  (pcf)
Dry Density                   (pcf)

Moisture Content            (%)

Wet Weight of Soil + Cont.  (g)

110.0

115.0

120.0

125.0

130.0

0.0 5.0 10.0 15.0 20.

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

 (p
cf

)

Moisture Content (%)

SP. GR. = 2.70
SP. GR. = 2.75
SP. GR. = 2.80

XX

MX LB-2, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 378 of 1893



Tested By: J. Gonzalez Date: 04/13/22
Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22

LB-3 Depth (ft.): 0-5

Preparation Method: X   Moist  Mechanical Ram
  Dry  Manual Ram

       Mold Volume (ft³) 0.03330         Ram Weight = 10 lb.;   Drop = 18 in.

1 2 3 4 5 6
3839 3913 3850
1826 1826 1826
2013 2087 2024

499.8 520.0 518.3
469.3 477.3 466.0
41.0 39.1 37.8

7.12 9.74 12.21
133.3 138.2 134.0
124.4 125.9 119.4

126.4 9.0

PROCEDURE USED

X    Procedure A
Soil Passing No. 4 (4.75 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   4 in. (101.6 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  25  (twenty-five)
May be used if +#4 is 20% or less 

   Procedure B
Soil Passing 3/8 in. (9.5 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   4 in. (101.6 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  25  (twenty-five)
Use if +#4 is >20% and +3/8 in. is
 20% or less

   Procedure C
Soil Passing 3/4 in. (19.0 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   6 in. (152.4 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  56  (fifty-six)
Use if +3/8 in. is >20% and +¾ in.
  is <30%

Particle-Size Distribution:

GR:SA:FI
Atterberg Limits:

LL,PL,PI

Olive brown silty sand (SM)

13493.001

TEST NO.

Soil Identification:
Sample No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

MODIFIED PROCTOR COMPACTION TEST
 ASTM D 1557

Project No.:
Boring No.:

Weight of Container            (g)
Dry Weight of Soil + Cont.   (g)

Weight of Mold (g)
Wt. Compacted Soil + Mold (g)

B-1

Project Name:

  Optimum Moisture Content (%)Maximum Dry Density (pcf)

Net Weight of Soil          (g)

Wet Density (pcf)
Dry Density (pcf)

Moisture Content            (%)

Wet Weight of Soil + Cont.  (g)

110.0

115.0

120.0

125.0

130.0

0.0 5.0 10.0 15.0 20.

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

 (p
cf

)

Moisture Content (%)

SP. GR. = 2.55
SP. GR. = 2.60
SP. GR. = 2.65

XX

MX LB-3, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 379 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: J. Domingo Date: 04/22/22
Project No. : Input By: G. Bathala Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: Checked By: A. Santos
Sample No.: Depth (ft.) 10.0
Soil Identification:

1 2 1 2 3 4
26 21 16

8.64 8.87 20.09 21.49 20.68
7.38 7.61 14.48 15.38 14.70
1.06 1.07 1.11 1.03 1.00

19.94 19.27 41.96 42.58 43.65

42
20
22
CL

PI at "A" - Line  =  0.73(LL-20)  16.06
One - Point Liquid Limit Calculation

LL =Wn(N/25)

PROCEDURES USED

  Wet Preparation
   Multipoint  - Wet

X   Dry Preparation
   Multipoint  - Dry 

X    Procedure A
   Multipoint  Test

   Procedure B
   One-point  Test

Olive gray lean clay (CL)

ATTERBERG LIMITS
 ASTM D 4318

13493.001
LB-2
R-3

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Onratio CA

Dry Wt. of Soil + Cont. (g)
Wt. of Container         (g)
Moisture Content (%) [Wn]

TEST
NO.

Liquid Limit
Plastic Limit
Plasticity Index
Classification

Number of Blows        [N]
Wet Wt. of Soil + Cont. (g)

           LIQUID LIMIT      PLASTIC LIMIT

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Pl
as

tic
ity

 In
de

x 
(P

I)

Liquid Limit (LL)

0.121

CL or OL

ML or OL
MH or OH

For classification of fine-
grained soils and fine-
grained fraction of coarse-
grained soils

"A" Line

7
4

CH or OH

CL- ML

40

41

42

43

44

45

10 100

M
oi

st
ur

e 
C

on
te

nt
 (%

)

Number of Blows

20            25         30                 40            50          60       70     80     90       

Item D - 380 of 1893



Project Name: Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Project No.: 13493.001

Summary of Pocket Penetrometer Test Results
Tested by: S. Felter Date: 04/19/22
Prepared by: G. Bathala Date: 04/22/22

Boring No. Sample No. Depth (ft.) Readings Remarks

LB-1 R-2 7.5 2.50
R-3 10 >4.50
R-4 15 4.25
R-5 20 >4.50
R-10 45 3.50

LB-2 R-2 7.5 1.75
R-4 15 3.75
R-5 20 3.50
R-6 25 >4.50

LB-3 R-1 5 >4.50
R-3 10 >4.50
R-4 15 4.25
R-5 20 4.50
R-6 25 >4.50

LP-1 R-3 15 2.75
R-4 18.5 >4.50

LP-2 R-3 15 >4.50
R-4 18.5 >4.50

Item D - 381 of 1893



PROJECT NAME: PROJECT NUMBER: 13493.001
BORING NUMBER: LB-1 DEPTH (FT.): 0-5
SAMPLE NUMBER: B-1 TECHNICIAN: O. Figueroa
SAMPLE DESCRIPTION: Olive brown sandy silt s(ML) DATE COMPLETED: 4/13/2022

TEST SPECIMEN a b c
MOISTURE AT COMPACTION % 12.7 13.7 14.6
HEIGHT OF SAMPLE, Inches 2.45 2.50 2.53
DRY DENSITY, pcf 120.2 118.7 116.2
COMPACTOR PRESSURE, psi 325 250 150
EXUDATION PRESSURE, psi 564 302 139
EXPANSION, Inches x 10exp-4 51 35 25
STABILITY Ph 2,000 lbs (160 psi) 28 36 46
TURNS DISPLACEMENT 4.60 5.13 5.45
R-VALUE UNCORRECTED 72 63 53
R-VALUE CORRECTED 72 63 53

DESIGN CALCULATION DATA a b c
GRAVEL EQUIVALENT FACTOR 1.0 1.0 1.0
TRAFFIC INDEX 5.0 5.0 5.0
STABILOMETER THICKNESS, ft. 0.45 0.59 0.75
EXPANSION PRESSURE THICKNESS, ft. 1.70 1.17 0.83

EXPANSION PRESSURE CHART EXUDATION PRESSURE CHART

R-VALUE BY EXPANSION: 50
R-VALUE BY EXUDATION: 63
EQUILIBRIUM R-VALUE: 50

R-VALUE TEST RESULTS
DOT CA Test 301

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use Ontario CA

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

0.00 0.50 1.00 1.50 2.00 2.50 3.00 3.50 4.00

C
O

VE
R

 T
H

IC
KN

ES
S 

BY
 S

TA
BI

LO
M

ET
ER

 in
 fe

et

COVER THICKNESS BY EXPANSION in feet

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

0100200300400500600700800

R
-V

AL
U

E

EXUDATION PRESSURE (psi)

Item D - 382 of 1893



Project Name: Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA Tested By: A Santos Date: 04/25/22

Project No. : Input By: J. Ward Date: 04/25/22

11:20 11:30 11:33 11:53 13.5 1.2 9
11:24 11:34 11:37 11:57 13.4 1.1 9
11:28 11:38 11:41 12:01 13.5 1.1 9

13:40 13:50 13:53 14:13 12.6 1.4 12
13:44 13:54 13:57 14:17 12.6 1.4 12
13:48 13:58 14:01 14:21 12.7 1.3 11

T1 = Starting Time T3 = Settlement Starting Time Sand Equivalent = R2 / R1 * 100

T2 = ( T1 + 10 min) Begin Agitation T4 = ( T3 + 20 min) Take Clay Reading (R1) Record SE as Next Higher Integer 

(131 cycles in 45 sec)            and Sand Reading (R2)

Olive brown silty sand 
(SM)LB-5

R2

SAND EQUIVALENT TEST
DOT CA Test 217

Boring No. Sample No. Depth (ft.)

12

13493.001

Average    
SE

Olive brown sandy silt 
s(ML)B-1

B-1

Soil Type SER1

0-5

LB-2 90-5

T1 T4T2 T3

SE LB-2 & LB-5, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 383 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: S. Felter Date: 04/20/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: LP-1 Depth (feet): 15.0
Sample No.: R-3
Soil Identification: Grayish brown silty sand (SM)

2 0.0
712.3 0.0
110.0 1.0
602.3 0.0

2
582.3
110.0
472.3

(in.) (mm.)

1 1/2" 37.5
1" 25.0

3/4" 19.0
1/2" 12.5
3/8" 9.5
#4 4.75
#8 2.36
#16 1.18
#30 0.600
#50 0.300
#100 0.150
#200 0.075

GRAVEL: 0 %
SAND: 77 %
FINES: 23 %
GROUP SYMBOL: SM

Remarks:

After Wet Sieve

Cumulative Weight                
Dry Soil Retained (g)

17.0

22.9
343.0 43.1

100.0
99.8

97.2
99.4

Wt. of Dry Soil + Cont.       (g)

Container No.

464.2

72.3
54.5

PAN

Cc = (D30)²/(D60*D10) =

0.0
1.2

166.8

Cu = D60/D10 =

3.6

91.0

Wt. of Container            (g)

Moisture Content of Total Air - Dry Soil

Wt. of Container No._____  (g) 
Wt. of Air-Dried Soil + Cont.(g)

U. S. Sieve Size Percent Passing  (%)

Wt. of Air-Dry Soil + Cont.  (g)

Moisture Content (%)

Wt. of Dry Soil + Container (g) 
Wt. of Container                 (g) 
Dry Wt. of Soil Retained on # 200 Sieve  (g)

Dry Wt. of Soil              (g)

Container No.:

PARTICLE-SIZE DISTRIBUTION (GRADATION)
of SOILS USING SIEVE ANALYSIS

ASTM D 6913

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Item D - 384 of 1893



U.S. STANDARD SIEVE NUMBER

15.0

FINE CLAY  COARSE COARSE MEDIUM

13493.001Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CAProject Name:

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE OPENING

SAND
SILT     FINE

HYDROMETER
     3.0"      1 1/2"       3/4"        3/8"        #4           #8         #16        #30        #50        #100       #200

GRAVEL FINES

LP-1 Sample No.:

 PARTICLE - SIZE 
DISTRIBUTION               
ASTM D 6913

Soil Identification: Grayish brown silty sand (SM)

SM

GR:SA:FI : (%)

Boring No.:

Soil Type :Depth (feet):

0 : 77 : 23

R-3

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

PE
R

C
EN

T 
FI

N
ER

 B
Y 

W
EI

G
H

T

PARTICLE - SIZE (mm)

"

Sieve LP-1, R-3 @ 15

Item D - 385 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: S. Felter Date: 04/20/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: LP-1 Depth (feet): 18.5
Sample No.: R-4
Soil Identification: Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

9545 0.0
774.5 0.0
106.2 1.0
668.3 0.0

9545
426.4
106.2
320.2

(in.) (mm.)

1 1/2" 37.5
1" 25.0

3/4" 19.0
1/2" 12.5
3/8" 9.5
#4 4.75
#8 2.36
#16 1.18
#30 0.600
#50 0.300
#100 0.150
#200 0.075

GRAVEL: 0 %
SAND: 47 %
FINES: 53 %
GROUP SYMBOL: s(ML)

Remarks:

Container No.:

PARTICLE-SIZE DISTRIBUTION (GRADATION)
of SOILS USING SIEVE ANALYSIS

ASTM D 6913

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed Use, Ontario CA

Moisture Content (%)

Wt. of Dry Soil + Container (g) 
Wt. of Container                 (g) 
Dry Wt. of Soil Retained on # 200 Sieve  (g)

Dry Wt. of Soil              (g)

93.8

Wt. of Container            (g)

Moisture Content of Total Air - Dry Soil

Wt. of Container No._____  (g) 
Wt. of Air-Dried Soil + Cont.(g)

U. S. Sieve Size Percent Passing  (%)

Wt. of Air-Dry Soil + Cont.  (g)

PAN

Cc = (D30)²/(D60*D10) =

0.0
2.9

106.5

Cu = D60/D10 =

8.0

Wt. of Dry Soil + Cont.       (g)

Container No.

315.8

84.1
41.7
15.3

52.7
206.4 69.1

100.0
99.6

97.7
98.8

After Wet Sieve

Cumulative Weight                
Dry Soil Retained (g)

Item D - 386 of 1893



0 : 47 : 53

R-4

Soil Type :Depth (feet):
 PARTICLE - SIZE 

DISTRIBUTION               
ASTM D 6913

Soil Identification: Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

s(ML)

GR:SA:FI : (%)

Boring No.:

GRAVEL FINES

LP-1 Sample No.:
Project Name:

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE OPENING

SAND
SILT     FINE

HYDROMETER
     3.0"      1 1/2"       3/4"        3/8"        #4           #8         #16        #30        #50        #100       #200

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE NUMBER

18.5

FINE CLAY  COARSE COARSE MEDIUM

13493.001Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed Use, Ontario CA

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

PE
R

C
EN

T 
FI

N
ER

 B
Y 

W
EI

G
H

T

PARTICLE - SIZE (mm)

"

Sieve LP-1, R-4 @ 18.5

Item D - 387 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: S. Felter Date: 04/19/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: LP-1 Depth (feet): 23.5
Sample No.: S-5
Soil Identification: Brown sandy lean clay s(CL)

969 0.0
538.7 0.0
109.4 1.0
429.3 0.0

969
344.3
109.4
234.9

(in.) (mm.)

1 1/2" 37.5
1" 25.0

3/4" 19.0
1/2" 12.5
3/8" 9.5
#4 4.75
#8 2.36
#16 1.18
#30 0.600
#50 0.300
#100 0.150
#200 0.075

GRAVEL: 0 %
SAND: 51 %
FINES: 49 %
GROUP SYMBOL: s(CL)

Remarks:

Container No.:

PARTICLE-SIZE DISTRIBUTION (GRADATION)
of SOILS USING SIEVE ANALYSIS

ASTM D 6913

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Moisture Content (%)

Wt. of Dry Soil + Container (g) 
Wt. of Container                 (g) 
Dry Wt. of Soil Retained on # 200 Sieve  (g)

Dry Wt. of Soil              (g)

91.6

Wt. of Container            (g)

Moisture Content of Total Air - Dry Soil

Wt. of Container No._____  (g) 
Wt. of Air-Dried Soil + Cont.(g)

U. S. Sieve Size Percent Passing  (%)

Wt. of Air-Dry Soil + Cont.  (g)

PAN

Cc = (D30)²/(D60*D10) =

0.0
1.1

83.7

Cu = D60/D10 =

4.2

Wt. of Dry Soil + Cont.       (g)

Container No.

220.7

80.5
36.0
12.8

48.6
148.7 65.4

100.0
99.7

97.0
99.0

After Wet Sieve

Cumulative Weight                
Dry Soil Retained (g)

Item D - 388 of 1893



0 : 51 : 49

S-5

Soil Type :Depth (feet):
 PARTICLE - SIZE 

DISTRIBUTION               
ASTM D 6913

Soil Identification: Brown sandy lean clay s(CL)

s(CL)

GR:SA:FI : (%)

Boring No.:

GRAVEL FINES

LP-1 Sample No.:
Project Name:

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE OPENING

SAND
SILT     FINE

HYDROMETER
     3.0"      1 1/2"       3/4"        3/8"        #4           #8         #16        #30        #50        #100       #200

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE NUMBER

23.5

FINE CLAY  COARSE COARSE MEDIUM

13493.001Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

PE
R

C
EN

T 
FI

N
ER

 B
Y 

W
EI

G
H

T

PARTICLE - SIZE (mm)

"

Sieve LP-1, S-5 @ 23.5

Item D - 389 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: S. Felter Date: 04/19/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: LP-2 Depth (feet): 15.0
Sample No.: R-3
Soil Identification: Olive brown silty clay (CL-ML)

V-1 0.0
635.6 0.0
108.7 1.0
526.9 0.0

V-1
139.2
108.7
30.5

(in.) (mm.)

1 1/2" 37.5
1" 25.0

3/4" 19.0
1/2" 12.5
3/8" 9.5
#4 4.75
#8 2.36
#16 1.18
#30 0.600
#50 0.300
#100 0.150
#200 0.075

GRAVEL: 0 %
SAND: 5 %
FINES: 95 %
GROUP SYMBOL: CL-ML

Remarks:

Container No.:

PARTICLE-SIZE DISTRIBUTION (GRADATION)
of SOILS USING SIEVE ANALYSIS

ASTM D 6913

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Moisture Content (%)

Wt. of Dry Soil + Container (g) 
Wt. of Container                 (g) 
Dry Wt. of Soil Retained on # 200 Sieve  (g)

Dry Wt. of Soil              (g)

99.9

Wt. of Container            (g)

Moisture Content of Total Air - Dry Soil

Wt. of Container No._____  (g) 
Wt. of Air-Dried Soil + Cont.(g)

U. S. Sieve Size Percent Passing  (%)

Wt. of Air-Dry Soil + Cont.  (g)

PAN

Cc = (D30)²/(D60*D10) =

4.4

Cu = D60/D10 =

Wt. of Dry Soil + Cont.       (g)

Container No.

28.4

99.2
0.4
0.0

94.6
12.6 97.6

100.0

After Wet Sieve

Cumulative Weight                
Dry Soil Retained (g)

Item D - 390 of 1893



0 : 5 : 95

R-3

Soil Type :Depth (feet):
 PARTICLE - SIZE 

DISTRIBUTION               
ASTM D 6913

Soil Identification: Olive brown silty clay (CL-ML)

CL-ML

GR:SA:FI : (%)

Boring No.:

GRAVEL FINES

LP-2 Sample No.:
Project Name:

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE OPENING

SAND
SILT     FINE

HYDROMETER
     3.0"      1 1/2"       3/4"        3/8"        #4           #8         #16        #30        #50        #100       #200

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE NUMBER

15.0

FINE CLAY  COARSE COARSE MEDIUM

13493.001Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

PE
R

C
EN

T 
FI

N
ER

 B
Y 

W
EI

G
H

T

PARTICLE - SIZE (mm)

"

Sieve LP-2, R-3 @ 15

Item D - 391 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: S. Felter Date: 04/20/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: LP-2 Depth (feet): 18.5
Sample No.: R-4
Soil Identification: Olive brown silty sand (SM)

R-2 0.0
799.6 0.0
107.7 1.0
691.9 0.0

R-2
576.0
107.7
468.3

(in.) (mm.)

1 1/2" 37.5
1" 25.0

3/4" 19.0
1/2" 12.5
3/8" 9.5
#4 4.75
#8 2.36
#16 1.18
#30 0.600
#50 0.300
#100 0.150
#200 0.075

GRAVEL: 0 %
SAND: 67 %
FINES: 33 %
GROUP SYMBOL: SM

Remarks:

Container No.:

PARTICLE-SIZE DISTRIBUTION (GRADATION)
of SOILS USING SIEVE ANALYSIS

ASTM D 6913

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed Use, Ontario CA

Moisture Content (%)

Wt. of Dry Soil + Container (g) 
Wt. of Container                 (g) 
Dry Wt. of Soil Retained on # 200 Sieve  (g)

Dry Wt. of Soil              (g)

93.7

Wt. of Container            (g)

Moisture Content of Total Air - Dry Soil

Wt. of Container No._____  (g) 
Wt. of Air-Dried Soil + Cont.(g)

U. S. Sieve Size Percent Passing  (%)

Wt. of Air-Dry Soil + Cont.  (g)

PAN

Cc = (D30)²/(D60*D10) =

0.0
0.9

150.5

Cu = D60/D10 =

3.8

Wt. of Dry Soil + Cont.       (g)

Container No.

464.3

78.2
43.5
13.1

32.9
340.6 50.8

100.0
99.9

98.1
99.5

After Wet Sieve

Cumulative Weight                
Dry Soil Retained (g)

Item D - 392 of 1893



0 : 67 : 33

R-4

Soil Type :Depth (feet):
 PARTICLE - SIZE 

DISTRIBUTION               
ASTM D 6913

Soil Identification: Olive brown silty sand (SM)

SM

GR:SA:FI : (%)

Boring No.:

GRAVEL FINES

LP-2 Sample No.:
Project Name:

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE OPENING

SAND
SILT     FINE

HYDROMETER
     3.0"      1 1/2"       3/4"        3/8"        #4           #8         #16        #30        #50        #100       #200

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE NUMBER

18.5

FINE CLAY  COARSE COARSE MEDIUM

13493.001Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed Use, Ontario CA

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

PE
R

C
EN

T 
FI

N
ER

 B
Y 

W
EI

G
H

T

PARTICLE - SIZE (mm)

"

Sieve LP-2, R-4 @ 18.5

Item D - 393 of 1893



 

Project Name: Tested By: G. Bathala Date: 04/18/22
Project No.: Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/26/22
Boring No.: LB-1 Sample Type: Ring
Sample No.: R-6 Depth (ft.) 25.0
Sample Description: Yellowish brown poorly-graded sand with silt (SP-SM)

Initial Dry Density (pcf): 104.9 Final Dry Density (pcf): 107.0
Initial Moisture (%): 3.61 Final Moisture (%) : 18.2
Initial Length (in.): 1.0000 Initial Void Ratio: 0.6072
Initial Dial Reading: 0.3076 Specific Gravity(assumed): 2.70
Diameter(in): 2.415 Initial Saturation (%) 16.0

0.100 0.9999 0.00 -0.01 -0.01

3.000 0.9814 0.52 -1.86 -1.34

H2O 0.9751 0.52 -2.49 -1.97

 Percent Swell (+) / Settlement (-) After Inundation  = -0.64

 

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

Pressure (p)    
(ksf)

0.6070

0.5856

Final Reading    
(in) Void Ratio      

Swell (+) 
Settlement (-)   
% of Sample 

Thickness

Load   
Compliance    

(%)

Apparent 
Thickness      

(in)

ONE-DIMENSIONAL SWELL OR SETTLEMENT
POTENTIAL OF COHESIVE SOILS

ASTM D 4546

13493.001

0.5755

0.3075

0.2890

0.2827

Corrected 
Deformation   

(%)

0.5700

0.5750

0.5800

0.5850

0.5900

0.5950

0.6000

0.6050

0.6100

0.100 1.000 10.000

Vo
id

 R
at

io

Log Pressure (ksf)

Void Ratio - Log Pressure Curve

Inundate with
Tap water

Swell or Settlement LB-1, R-6 @ 25

Item D - 394 of 1893



 

Project Name: Tested By: G. Bathala Date: 04/18/22
Project No.: Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/26/22
Boring No.: LB-1 Sample Type: Ring
Sample No.: R-8 Depth (ft.) 35.0
Sample Description: Yellowish brown poorly-graded sand with silt (SP-SM)

Initial Dry Density (pcf): 110.6 Final Dry Density (pcf): 112.3
Initial Moisture (%): 3.30 Final Moisture (%) : 15.9
Initial Length (in.): 1.0000 Initial Void Ratio: 0.5246
Initial Dial Reading: 0.3373 Specific Gravity(assumed): 2.70
Diameter(in): 2.415 Initial Saturation (%) 17.0

0.100 0.9999 0.00 -0.01 -0.01

4.000 0.9847 0.18 -1.53 -1.35

H2O 0.9825 0.18 -1.75 -1.57

 Percent Swell (+) / Settlement (-) After Inundation  = -0.22

 

ONE-DIMENSIONAL SWELL OR SETTLEMENT
POTENTIAL OF COHESIVE SOILS

ASTM D 4546

13493.001

0.5007

0.3372

0.3220

0.3198

Corrected 
Deformation   

(%)

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

Pressure (p)    
(ksf)

0.5244

0.5040

Final Reading    
(in) Void Ratio      

Swell (+) 
Settlement (-)   
% of Sample 

Thickness

Load   
Compliance    

(%)

Apparent 
Thickness      

(in)

0.4950

0.5000

0.5050

0.5100

0.5150

0.5200

0.5250

0.5300

0.100 1.000 10.000

Vo
id

 R
at

io

Log Pressure (ksf)

Void Ratio - Log Pressure Curve

Inundate with
Tap water

Swell or Settlement LB-1, R-8 @ 35

Item D - 395 of 1893



 

 

APPENDIX D 
 

GENERAL EARTHWORKS AND GRADING 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

Item D - 396 of 1893



i 

APPENDIX D 
LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 

 GENERAL EARTHWORK AND GRADING SPECIFICATIONS FOR ROUGH GRADING 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Section Appendix D Page 

1.0 GENERAL ............................................................................................................ 1 

1.1 Intent .......................................................................................................... 1 
1.2 The Geotechnical Consultant of Record .................................................... 1 
1.3 The Earthwork Contractor .......................................................................... 2 

2.0 PREPARATION OF AREAS TO BE FILLED ........................................................ 2 

2.1 Clearing and Grubbing ............................................................................... 2 
2.2 Processing ................................................................................................. 3 
2.3 Overexcavation .......................................................................................... 3 
2.4 Benching .................................................................................................... 3 
2.5 Evaluation/Acceptance of Fill Areas .......................................................... 4 

3.0 FILL MATERIAL ................................................................................................... 4 

3.1 General ...................................................................................................... 4 
3.2 Oversize ..................................................................................................... 4 
3.3 Import ......................................................................................................... 4 

4.0 FILL PLACEMENT AND COMPACTION .............................................................. 5 

4.1 Fill Layers .................................................................................................. 5 
4.2 Fill Moisture Conditioning ........................................................................... 5 
4.3 Compaction of Fill ...................................................................................... 5 
4.4 Compaction of Fill Slopes .......................................................................... 5 
4.5 Compaction Testing ................................................................................... 5 
4.6 Frequency of Compaction Testing ............................................................. 6 
4.7 Compaction Test Locations ....................................................................... 6 

5.0 SUBDRAIN INSTALLATION ................................................................................. 6 

6.0 EXCAVATION ...................................................................................................... 6 

7.0 TRENCH BACKFILLS .......................................................................................... 7 

7.1 Safety ......................................................................................................... 7 
7.2 Bedding and Backfill .................................................................................. 7 
7.3 Lift Thickness ............................................................................................. 7 
7.4 Observation and Testing ............................................................................ 7 

Item D - 397 of 1893



 

 ii 

  
 TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D) 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Standard Details 
 
A - Keying and Benching Rear of Text 
B - Oversize Rock Disposal Rear of Text 
C - Canyon Subdrains Rear of Text 
D - Buttress or Replacement Fill Subdrains Rear of Text 
E - Transition Lot Fills and Side Hill Fills Rear of Text 
 
 

Item D - 398 of 1893



LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
General Earthwork and Grading Specifications 
 

 D-1 

1.0 GENERAL 

1.1 Intent 

These General Earthwork and Grading Specifications are for the grading 
and earthwork shown on the approved grading plan(s) and/or indicated in 
the geotechnical report(s).  These Specifications are a part of the 
recommendations contained in the geotechnical report(s).  In case of 
conflict, the specific recommendations in the geotechnical report shall 
supersede these more general Specifications.  Observations of the 
earthwork by the project Geotechnical Consultant during the course of 
grading may result in new or revised recommendations that could 
supersede these specifications or the recommendations in the 
geotechnical report(s).   

1.2 The Geotechnical Consultant of Record 

Prior to commencement of work, the owner shall employ the Geotechnical 
Consultant of Record (Geotechnical Consultant).  The Geotechnical 
Consultants shall be responsible for reviewing the approved geotechnical 
report(s) and accepting the adequacy of the preliminary geotechnical 
findings, conclusions, and recommendations prior to the commencement 
of the grading. 

 
  Prior to commencement of grading, the Geotechnical Consultant shall 

review the "work plan" prepared by the Earthwork Contractor (Contractor) 
and schedule sufficient personnel to perform the appropriate level of 
observation, mapping, and compaction testing. 

 
  During the grading and earthwork operations, the Geotechnical Consultant 

shall observe, map, and document the subsurface exposures to verify the 
geotechnical design assumptions.  If the observed conditions are found to 
be significantly different than the interpreted assumptions during the 
design phase, the Geotechnical Consultant shall inform the owner, 
recommend appropriate changes in design to accommodate the observed 
conditions, and notify the review agency where required.  Subsurface 
areas to be geotechnically observed, mapped, elevations recorded, and/or 
tested include natural ground after it has been cleared for receiving fill but 
before fill is placed, bottoms of all "remedial removal" areas, all key 
bottoms, and benches made on sloping ground to receive fill. 

 
  The Geotechnical Consultant shall observe the moisture-conditioning and 

processing of the subgrade and fill materials and perform relative 
compaction testing of fill to determine the attained level of compaction.  

Item D - 399 of 1893



LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
General Earthwork and Grading Specifications 
 

 D-2 

The Geotechnical Consultant shall provide the test results to the owner 
and the Contractor on a routine and frequent basis. 

1.3 The Earthwork Contractor 

The Earthwork Contractor (Contractor) shall be qualified, experienced, 
and knowledgeable in earthwork logistics, preparation and processing of 
ground to receive fill, moisture-conditioning and processing of fill, and 
compacting fill.  The Contractor shall review and accept the plans, 
geotechnical report(s), and these Specifications prior to commencement of 
grading.  The Contractor shall be solely responsible for performing the 
grading in accordance with the plans and specifications. 

 
  The Contractor shall prepare and submit to the owner and the 

Geotechnical Consultant a work plan that indicates the sequence of 
earthwork grading, the number of "spreads" of work and the estimated 
quantities of daily earthwork contemplated for the site prior to 
commencement of grading.  The Contractor shall inform the owner and 
the Geotechnical Consultant of changes in work schedules and updates to 
the work plan at least 24 hours in advance of such changes so that 
appropriate observations and tests can be planned and accomplished.  
The Contractor shall not assume that the Geotechnical Consultant is 
aware of all grading operations. 

 
  The Contractor shall have the sole responsibility to provide adequate 

equipment and methods to accomplish the earthwork in accordance with 
the applicable grading codes and agency ordinances, these 
Specifications, and the recommendations in the approved geotechnical 
report(s) and grading plan(s).  If, in the opinion of the Geotechnical 
Consultant, unsatisfactory conditions, such as unsuitable soil, improper 
moisture condition, inadequate compaction, insufficient buttress key size, 
adverse weather, etc., are resulting in a quality of work less than required 
in these specifications, the Geotechnical Consultant shall reject the work 
and may recommend to the owner that construction be stopped until the 
conditions are rectified. 

2.0 PREPARATION OF AREAS TO BE FILLED 

2.1 Clearing and Grubbing 

Vegetation, such as brush, grass, roots, and other deleterious material 
shall be sufficiently removed and properly disposed of in a method 
acceptable to the owner, governing agencies, and the Geotechnical 
Consultant. 
  

Item D - 400 of 1893



LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
General Earthwork and Grading Specifications 
 

 D-3 

  The Geotechnical Consultant shall evaluate the extent of these removals 
depending on specific site conditions.  Earth fill material shall not contain 
more than 1 percent of organic materials (by volume).  No fill lift shall 
contain more than 5 percent of organic matter.  Nesting of the organic 
materials shall not be allowed. 

 
  If potentially hazardous materials are encountered, the Contractor shall 

stop work in the affected area, and a hazardous material specialist shall 
be informed immediately for proper evaluation and handling of these 
materials prior to continuing to work in that area. 

 
  As presently defined by the State of California, most refined petroleum 

products (gasoline, diesel fuel, motor oil, grease, coolant, etc.) have 
chemical constituents that  are considered to be hazardous waste.   As 
such, the indiscriminate dumping or spillage of these fluids onto the 
ground may constitute a misdemeanor, punishable by fines and/or 
imprisonment, and shall not be allowed. 

2.2 Processing 

Existing ground that has been declared satisfactory for support of fill by 
the Geotechnical Consultant shall be scarified to a minimum depth of 
6 inches.  Existing ground that is not satisfactory shall be overexcavated 
as specified in the following section.  Scarification shall continue until soils 
are broken down and free of large clay lumps or clods and the working 
surface is reasonably uniform, flat, and free of uneven features that would 
inhibit uniform compaction. 

2.3 Overexcavation 

In addition to removals and overexcavations recommended in the 
approved geotechnical report(s) and the grading plan, soft, loose, dry, 
saturated, spongy, organic-rich, highly fractured or otherwise unsuitable 
ground shall be overexcavated to competent ground as evaluated by the 
Geotechnical Consultant during grading. 

2.4 Benching 

Where fills are to be placed on ground with slopes steeper than 5:1 
(horizontal to vertical units), the ground shall be stepped or benched.  
Please see the Standard Details for a graphic illustration.  The lowest 
bench or key shall be a minimum of 15 feet wide and at least 2 feet deep, 
into competent material as evaluated by the Geotechnical Consultant.  
Other benches shall be excavated a minimum height of 4 feet into 
competent material or as otherwise recommended by the Geotechnical 

Item D - 401 of 1893



LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
General Earthwork and Grading Specifications 
 

 D-4 

Consultant.  Fill placed on ground sloping flatter than 5:1 shall also be 
benched or otherwise overexcavated to provide a flat subgrade for the fill.   

2.5 Evaluation/Acceptance of Fill Areas 

All areas to receive fill, including removal and processed areas, key 
bottoms, and benches, shall be observed, mapped, elevations recorded, 
and/or tested prior to being accepted by the Geotechnical Consultant as 
suitable to receive fill.  The Contractor shall obtain a written acceptance 
from the Geotechnical Consultant prior to fill placement.  A licensed 
surveyor shall provide the survey control for determining elevations of 
processed areas, keys, and benches. 

3.0 FILL MATERIAL 

3.1 General 

Material to be used as fill shall be essentially free of organic matter and 
other deleterious substances evaluated and accepted by the Geotechnical 
Consultant prior to placement.  Soils of poor quality, such as those with 
unacceptable gradation, high expansion potential, or low strength shall be 
placed in areas acceptable to the Geotechnical Consultant or mixed with 
other soils to achieve satisfactory fill material. 

3.2 Oversize 

Oversize material defined as rock, or other irreducible material with a 
maximum dimension greater than 8 inches, shall not be buried or placed 
in fill unless location, materials, and placement methods are specifically 
accepted by the Geotechnical Consultant.  Placement operations shall be 
such that nesting of oversized material does not occur and such that 
oversize material is completely surrounded by compacted or densified fill.  
Oversize material shall not be placed within 10 vertical feet of finish grade 
or within 2 feet of future utilities or underground construction. 

3.3 Import 

If importing of fill material is required for grading, proposed import material 
shall meet the requirements of Section 3.1.  The potential import source 
shall be given to the Geotechnical Consultant at least 48 hours (2 working 
days) before importing begins so that its suitability can be determined and 
appropriate tests performed. 

 

Item D - 402 of 1893



LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
General Earthwork and Grading Specifications 
 

 D-5 

4.0 FILL PLACEMENT AND COMPACTION 

4.1 Fill Layers 

Approved fill material shall be placed in areas prepared to receive fill (per 
Section 3.0) in near-horizontal layers not exceeding 8 inches in loose 
thickness.  The Geotechnical Consultant may accept thicker layers if 
testing indicates the grading procedures can adequately compact the 
thicker layers.  Each layer shall be spread evenly and mixed thoroughly to 
attain relative uniformity of material and moisture throughout. 

4.2 Fill Moisture Conditioning 

Fill soils shall be watered, dried back, blended, and/or mixed, as 
necessary to attain a relatively uniform moisture content at or slightly over 
optimum.  Maximum density and optimum soil moisture content tests shall 
be performed in accordance with the American Society of Testing and 
Materials (ASTM Test Method D1557). 

4.3 Compaction of Fill 

After each layer has been moisture-conditioned, mixed, and evenly 
spread, it shall be uniformly compacted to not less than 90 percent of 
maximum dry density (ASTM Test Method D1557).  Compaction 
equipment shall be adequately sized and be either specifically designed 
for soil compaction or of proven reliability to efficiently achieve the 
specified level of compaction with uniformity. 

4.4 Compaction of Fill Slopes 

In addition to normal compaction procedures specified above, compaction 
of slopes shall be accomplished by backrolling of slopes with sheepsfoot 
rollers at increments of 3 to 4 feet in fill elevation, or by other methods 
producing satisfactory results acceptable to the Geotechnical Consultant.  
Upon completion of grading, relative compaction of the fill, out to the slope 
face, shall be at least 90 percent of maximum density per ASTM Test 
Method D1557. 

4.5 Compaction Testing 

Field-tests for moisture content and relative compaction of the fill soils 
shall be performed by the Geotechnical Consultant.  Location and 
frequency of tests shall be at the Consultant's discretion based on field 
conditions encountered.  Compaction test locations will not necessarily be 
selected on a random basis.  Test locations shall be selected to verify 

Item D - 403 of 1893



LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
General Earthwork and Grading Specifications 
 

 D-6 

adequacy of compaction levels in areas that are judged to be prone to 
inadequate compaction (such as close to slope faces and at the 
fill/bedrock benches). 

4.6 Frequency of Compaction Testing 

Tests shall be taken at intervals not exceeding 2 feet in vertical rise and/or 
1,000 cubic yards of compacted fill soils embankment.  In addition, as a 
guideline, at least one test shall be taken on slope faces for each 
5,000 square feet of slope face and/or each 10 feet of vertical height of 
slope.  The Contractor shall assure that fill construction is such that the 
testing schedule can be accomplished by the Geotechnical Consultant.  
The Contractor shall stop or slow down the earthwork construction if these 
minimum standards are not met.   

4.7 Compaction Test Locations 

The Geotechnical Consultant shall document the approximate elevation 
and horizontal coordinates of each test location.  The Contractor shall 
coordinate with the project surveyor to assure that sufficient grade stakes 
are established so that the Geotechnical Consultant can determine the 
test locations with sufficient accuracy.  At a minimum, two grade stakes 
within a horizontal distance of 100 feet and vertically less than 5 feet apart 
from potential test locations shall be provided. 

5.0 SUBDRAIN INSTALLATION 

 Subdrain systems shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
geotechnical report(s), the grading plan, and the Standard Details.  The 
Geotechnical Consultant may recommend additional subdrains and/or changes 
in subdrain extent, location, grade, or material depending on conditions 
encountered during grading.  All subdrains shall be surveyed by a land 
surveyor/civil engineer for line and grade after installation and prior to burial.  
Sufficient time should be allowed by the Contractor for these surveys. 

6.0 EXCAVATION 

 Excavations, as well as over-excavation for remedial purposes, shall be 
evaluated by the Geotechnical Consultant during grading.  Remedial removal 
depths shown on geotechnical plans are estimates only.  The actual extent of 
removal shall be determined by the Geotechnical Consultant based on the field 
evaluation of exposed conditions during grading.  Where fill-over-cut slopes are 
to be graded, the cut portion of the slope shall be made, evaluated, and accepted 
by the Geotechnical Consultant prior to placement of materials for construction of 

Item D - 404 of 1893



LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
General Earthwork and Grading Specifications 
 

 D-7 

the fill portion of the slope, unless otherwise recommended by the Geotechnical 
Consultant. 

7.0 TRENCH BACKFILLS 

7.1 Safety 

The Contractor shall follow all OSHA and Cal/OSHA requirements for 
safety of trench excavations. 

7.2 Bedding and Backfill 

All bedding and backfill of utility trenches shall be performed in 
accordance with the applicable provisions of Standard Specifications of 
Public Works Construction.  Bedding material shall have a Sand 
Equivalent greater than 30 (SE>30).  The bedding shall be placed to 1 foot 
over the top of the conduit and densified by jetting.  Backfill shall be 
placed and densified to a minimum of 90 percent of relative compaction 
from 1 foot above the top of the conduit to the surface. 

 
  The Geotechnical Consultant shall test the trench backfill for relative 

compaction.  At least one test should be made for every 300 feet of trench 
and 2 feet of fill. 

7.3 Lift Thickness 

Lift thickness of trench backfill shall not exceed those allowed in the 
Standard Specifications of Public Works Construction unless the 
Contractor can demonstrate to the Geotechnical Consultant that the fill lift 
can be compacted to the minimum relative compaction by his alternative 
equipment and method. 

7.4 Observation and Testing 

The jetting of the bedding around the conduits shall be observed by the 
Geotechnical Consultant. 

 
 
 

Item D - 405 of 1893



FILL SLOPE 

PROJECTED PLANE 1: 1 
(HORIZONTAL: VERTICAL) 
MAXIMUM FROM TOE 
OF SLOPE TO 
APPROVED GROUND 

EXISTING 
GROUND SURFACE 

FILL-OVER-CUT SLOPE 

-

CUT-OVER-ALL SLOPE 

PROJECTED PLANE 
1 TO 1 MAXIMUM 
FROM TOE OF SLOPE 
TO APPROVED GROUND 

KEYING AND BENCHING 

REMOVE 
UNSUITABLE 
MATERIAL 

REMOVE 
UNSUITABLE 
MATERIAL 

UT FACE SHALL BE 
CONSTRUCTED PRIOR 
TO FILL PLACEMENT 

REMOVE 
UNSUITABLE 
MATERIAL 

BENCHING SHALL BE DONE WHEN SLOPE'S 
ANGLE IS EQUAL TO OR GREATER THAN 5: 1. 
MINIMUM BENCH HEIGHT SHALL BE 4 FEET 
AND MINIMUM FILL WIDTH SHALL BE 9 FEET. 

GENERAL EARTHWORK AND GRADING 

SPECIFICATIONS 

STANDARD DETAILS A 
�Leighton 

Item D - 406 of 1893



FINISH GRADE 

_ - - - - - - ·10•- - - - COMPACTEDFILL:._-_-_-_-_-_-_: 
MIN. - - - - - - - - - - - - - - --------- �---------------

_-_-_-_-_-_ � - �----_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_ - --
-----7- ------ ------- � 
-------v------o.-------o-

--------- -----� -------_-_ - _
-

_
-__ /--_

-
_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_ - _
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_----- ·7-----------------------
------7--------

v
-----

u
----

-------- --- - ------ ----

- -_-_-_-_-,e_-_-_ o-_-_-_ -
- -

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
--: er---_-

- - 10·- - . -7"'- - - - 0 - I-a- - - - - - - - - - - -
_-_-_-r:1J:N.:.... 

_
_

_ 
...-:_- - -_-_-_-_-_-__ 4'MIN. _ -t� _ 15'MIN._-

_.-l
-

-
-_- -

-------p 7=�----n*-------�-��
------- -- ------ - ---------- -- ------ ---

- - - -,,,,�- - -_-..::_-_-_OVERSIZE
--_-_-_-_-_-_-_ - - -

-
-

- - - - /"" - - - - _ _ _ _ WINDROW ___ _ 
�---7--------------

• Oversize rock is larger than 8 inches

in largest dimension.

• Backfill with approved soil jetted or

flooded in place to fill all the voids.

• Do not bury rock within 10 feet of

finish grade.

• Windrow of buried rock shall be

parallel to the finished slope face.

PROFILE ALONG WINDROW 

SECTION A-A' 

JETTED OR FLOODED 

APPROVED SOIL 

-_ ---------------- ----------------_ A' :-::::---::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-� --------_

JETTED OR FLOODED 

APPROVED SOIL 

� 
l 
.� 

�----------------------.---------------.----------,! 

OVERSIZE ROCK DISPOSAL 
GENERAL EARTHWORK AND GRADING 

SPECIFICATIONS 

STANDARD DETAILS B 

L_ ____________ _j_ ________ ____JL__ _____ ___J 

�
I
a. 
E � 
g

Cl 

a: 
Item D - 407 of 1893



NATURAL
GROUND 

/ 

�----------::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-- -�
"'�" ---��--------_:COMPACTED FILL:._-_-_---

�------ - -

TYPICAL 
BENCHING

-----------------
�---.----..o..._

-
_
-

�_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_
-

_�
-
-
-

_
-

�----,,......... 

----�----------::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::-::::0 

SUBDRAIN 
(See Alternates A and B)

FILTER MATERIAL SUBDRAIN ALTERNATE A PERFORATED PIPE SURROUNDED 
WITH FILTER MATERIAL FILTER MATERIAL SHALL BE CLASS 2 PERMEABLE MATERIAL PER STATE OF 

CALIFORNIA STANDARD SPECIFICATION, OR APPROVED ALTERNATE. 
FILTER MATERIAL (9FT 3/FT) CLASS 2 GRADING AS FOLLOWS: 

Sieve Size 
1" 

3/4" 
3/8" 

No.4 
No.8 

No. 30 
No. 50 

No.200 

Percent Passing 
100 

90-100 
40-100 
25-40 
18-33 
5-15 
0-7 
0-3 

SUBDRAIN ALTERNATE A-1 SUBDRAIN ALTERNATE A-2 

ALTERNATE B-1 

PERFORATED PIPE 
6" 0 MIN. 

SUBDRAIN ALTERNATE B

3/4" MAX. GRAVEL OR 

APPROVED EQUIVALENT 

(9FT 3 /FT) 

ALTERNATE B-2 

0 PERFORATED PIPE IS OPTIONAL PER 

GOVERNING AGENCY'S REQUIREMENTS 

DETAIL OF CANYON SUBDRAIN TERMINAL 

DESIGN 
FINISHED GRADE 

10' MIN. BACKFILL 

r- 15' MIN.---i---i--20' MIN. 
5' MIN PERFORATED 

6"0MIN. 

· • 6"0 MIN.----i 

I
NON-PERFORATED 

FILTER FABRIC 
(MIRAFI 140N OR 
APPROVED EQUIVALENT) 

� 
t 
:g 
·e

1------------------,,------------------------,------------g 

CANYON 

SUBDRAIN 

GENERAL EARTHWORK AND GRADING 

SPECIFICATIONS a. 
E 

�g
STANDARD DETAILS C  

L...-----------------''------------------------1--------------' 
c.:

Item D - 408 of 1893



I .1
5' MIN� I 

�- ��,,,..-���� 

OUTLET PIPES 
4"1> NON-PERFORATED PIPE, 

100' MAX. O.C. HORIZONTALLY 
30' MAX. O.C. VERTICALLY 

,,,/ / I 
/ �,---------J 

,,,
,,, / I 

/ ,..r 
,,, ., I / ·�

/// /� ,,, , I �
/ --2% MIN. �

� 
BACKCUT 

/I 

/ /
,,, 

\ 
/ I BENCHING 

// \ /i ,,,// \ /� 
1'± / \ ,-- _J 

J (! �/ _ 2% MIN. \ Jo1 
. 2% MIN. --- / I 

SUBDRAIN ALTERNATE B 

r•-----15' MIN.----·-1
KEY DEPTH KEY WIDTH 

2' MIN. 

SUBDRAIN ALTERNATE A POSillVE SEAL SHOULD BE PROVIDED ----.... 
AT THE JOINT 

CAL TRANS CLASS 2 

,,o���, ;rr��:,��: 
���""MIN 

OUTLET PIPE 
(NON-PERFORATED) 

3/4" ROCK (3FT.3/FT)-----
WRAPPED IN FILTER FABRIC 

T-CONNECTION FROM 
COLLECTION PIPE TO OUTLET PIPE 

• SUBDRAIN INSTALLATION - Subdrain collector pipe shall be installed with perforations down or,
unless otherwise designated by the geotechnical consultant. Outlet pipes shall be non-perforated
pipe. The subdrain pipe shall have at least 8 perforations uniformly spaced per foot. Perforation shall

• 

• 

be 1/4" to 1/2" if drilled holes are used. All subdrain pipes shall have a gradient at least 2% towards the
outlet.

SUBDRAIN PIPE - Subdrain pipe shall be ASTM D2751, ASTM D1527 (Schedule 40) or SDR 23.5 ABS pipe
or ASTM D3034 (Schedule 40) or SDR 23.5 PVC pipe.

All outlet pipe shall be placed in a trench and, after fill is placed above it, rodded to verify integrity.

FILTER FABRIC 
(MIRAFI 140 OR 
APPROVED 
EQUIVALENT) 

� 
I 
.ci 
::, 

"'1 

1-----------------""T"'"------------------.--------------tl 

BUTTRESS OR 

REPLACEMENT FILL 

GENERAL EARTHWORK AND GRADING 

SPECIFICATIONS 

STANDARD DETAILS D 
SUBDRAINS  

� g 

.__ _______________ _._ _______________ __._ _________ __,a: Item D - 409 of 1893



OVERBURDEN 
OR UNSUITABLE 

MATERIAL 

CUT-FILL TRANSITION LOT OVEREXCAVATION 

REMOVE 
UNSUITABLE

\. GROUND \_..- ----

SIDE HILL FILL FOR CUT PAD 

OVEREXCAVATE 
AND RECOMPACT 

(REPLACEMENT FILL) 

/ 

/ 
/ 

----

/ 
/ 

/ 

/ 

4' MIN. <'\(/' 

NATURAL 
GROUND

�__-

__-
---

/ 
/ 

/ 
/ 

/ 
FINISHED CUT PAD 

L...=��.,......-.J.J-------- SEE STANDARD DETAIL FOR SUBDRAINS 
WHEN REQUIRED BY GEOTECHNICAL CONSUL TANT 

KEY 

2'MIN. � 
DEPTH UNWEATHERED BEDROCK OR MATERIAL APPROVED 

BY THE GEOTECHNICAL CONSULTANT 

� 
t .!!!ii= 51 

·� 
1------------------------.---------------"T"""-------------1!!! 

TRANSITION LOT FILLS 

AND SIDE HILL FILLS 

GENERAL EARTHWORK AND GRADING 

SPECIFICATIONS 

STANDARD DETAILS E 

a. 
E 

�g
Leighton 

.__ ___________________ __,_ ______________ _.__ _________ ____.a: Item D - 410 of 1893



 
 

November 29, 2022 
 

Project No. 13493.002 
 
Legacy/Collier Residential, LLC 
5154 California Avenue 
Irvine, California 92617 
 
Attention:  Mr. David Pinto 
 
Subject: Addendum to Geotechnical Exploration Report 
  Infiltration Testing 
 Proposed “Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use” Development 
 112 Walnut Street, 2502 and 2530 Euclid Avenue 
 Ontario, San Bernardino County, California 
 
Reference: Leighton and Associates, Inc., 2022, Geotechnical Exploration Report, 

Proposed “Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use” Development, 112 Walnut Street, 
2502 and 2530 Euclid Avenue, Ontario, California, Project No. 13493.001, 
dated May 13, 2022.  

Introduction 

Per your request, Leighton and Associates, Inc. (Leighton) performed supplemental 
infiltration testing for the subject mixed use development. Additional field infiltration testing 
was performed in coordination with Mr. Steve Ellis of Fuscoe Engineering, Inc. (project 
civil engineer) to target the locations and depths planned for infiltration. While official 
infiltration plans were not available, we understand that stormwater infiltration is intended 
to be achieved utilizing a drywell system to be located in the southern portion of the site 
extending to approximate depths of no greater than 45 feet below ground surface (bgs).  

Purpose and Scope  

Purpose of our exploration was to perform field infiltration tests at the proposed device 
locations and invert depths. The test locations and depths were selected by the project 
civil engineer. Our Scope of Work included the following:  
 
• Pre-Field Exploration Activities – Site reconnaissance performed by a professional 

geologist to mark the proposed infiltration test locations. Underground Service Alert 

Item D - 411 of 1893



Addendum Letter No. 1 Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use-Supplemental Infiltration Testing 13493.002 

2 

(USA) was notified to locate and mark existing underground utilities prior to our 
subsurface exploration. 

• Field Exploration – Our supplemental subsurface exploration was performed on 
August 24, 2022 and included drilling, logging, and sampling of two (2) hollow-stem 
auger borings (designated LP-3 and LP-4) to depths ranging from approximately 40 
to 45 feet below the existing ground surface.    The approximate locations of these 
explorations are shown on Figure 1, Geotechnical Map. The corresponding boring 
logs are presented in Appendix A, Exploration Logs. 

During drilling of the hollow-stem auger borings drive samples were obtained from the 
borings for geotechnical laboratory testing. Sample collection was performed by 
conducting the Standard Penetration Test (SPT) within the borings in accordance with 
ASTM Test Method D 1586. Samples were collected within the proposed test 
infiltration zone at 5-foot intervals. During sampling, the sampler was driven below the 
bottom of the borehole by a 140-pound weight (hammer) free-falling 30 inches. The 
drilling rig was equipped with an automatic hammer to provide greater consistency in 
the drop height and striking frequency. The number of blows to drive the sampler the 
final 12 inches of the 18-inch drive interval is termed the “blowcount” or SPT N-value. 
N-values provide a measure of relative density in granular (non-cohesive) soils and 
comparative consistency in cohesive soils. Number of blows per 6 inches of 
penetration was recorded on the boring logs included in Appendix A.   

The borings were logged in the field by a geologist from our firm. Each soil sample 
collected was reviewed and described in accordance with the Unified Soil 
Classification System (USCS). The samples were sealed and packaged for 
transportation to our laboratory for testing. After completion of drilling, the borings 
were converted to percolation wells for subsequent testing.   

• Percolation Testing – Borings LP-3 and LP-4 (Figure 1) were converted to temporary 
percolation test wells upon completion of drilling and sampling. The test wells 
consisted of 2-inch diameter slotted (0.020-inch) PVC well casing screened within the 
proposed test zone.  In-situ percolation testing was performed in general accordance 
with the County of San Bernardino guidelines  Upon completion of the percolation 
testing, the well casing was removed from each boring and the borings were backfilled 
with soil cuttings and patched at the surface to match existing site conditions.  

• Laboratory Testing – Selected soil samples obtained from our hollow-stem-auger 
borings were tested at our in-house geotechnical laboratory.  This laboratory testing 

Item D - 412 of 1893



Addendum Letter No. 1 Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use-Supplemental Infiltration Testing 13493.002 

3 

program was designed to evaluate the fines content of the soils within the tested zone 
(i.e. soil particles finer than the No. 200 sieve).  .  Results are included in Appendix C.  

• Report Preparation – This report presents our findings, conclusions, and 
recommendations for the proposed infiltration devices. 

Infiltration Testing   

Percolation testing was performed in temporary wells installed within borings LP-3 and LP-
4 located in the southern region of the site with test zone at depths of 25 to 45 feet bgs 
and 25 to 40 feet bgs, respectively. The percolation tests were conducted in general 
accordance with the San Bernardino County Technical Guidance Document (TGD) for 
Water Quality Management Plans (2013).  Results of the percolation testing are presented 
in Appendix B.  The test locations and tested depth intervals are shown on Plate 1.  

 
A boring percolation test is useful for field measurements of the infiltration rate of soils, and 
is suited for testing when the design depth of the infiltration device is deeper than current 
existing grades, especially in areas where it is difficult to dig test pits, or where the depths 
of these test pits would be considerably deep.  At the subject site, testing consisted of 
advancing the borings to the anticipated depth for the invert of the proposed infiltration 
devices.  
 
The Percolation Test Procedure (falling-head test method) as outlined in the County 
Guidelines was implemented at each percolation test well location. The infiltration rate was 
calculated by dividing the rate of discharge by the infiltration surface area, or flow area.  
The volume of discharge was calculated by adding the total volume of water that dropped 
within the PVC pipe and within the annulus, and incorporating a porosity reduction factor to 
account for the porosity of the annulus material.  The flow area was based on the average 
water height within the test well.   
 
Detailed results of the field testing data and measured infiltration rate for the test well are 
presented in Appendix B.  The test results are summarized in the table below:  
 

Table 1 – Measured (Unfactored) Infiltration Rate 

Test Well 
Designation 

Approximate Depth of 
Test Zone (feet bgs) 

Measured  
Infiltration Rate 

(inches per hour) 
LB-3 25 to 45 0.14 
LP-4 25 to 40 0.47 

Item D - 413 of 1893



Addendum Letter No. 1 Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use-Supplemental Infiltration Testing 13493.002 

4 

Based on the results of our field percolation testing that was performed at the site, the 
measured (unfactored) infiltration rates for the two (2) tests performed were 0.14 inches 
per hour (LP-3) and 0.47 inches per hour (LP-2), respectively.  According to the San 
Bernardino County Technical Guidance Document (TGD) for Water Quality Management 
Plans (2013), the measured infiltration rate at the LP-4 well location technically exceeds 
the minimum feasibility criteria of 0.3 inch per hour. However, implementation of a 
minimum factor of safety of 2.0 as required for the design infiltration rate indicates the 
depth and location tested for both wells are considered infeasible for infiltration.  

Closure 

We appreciate the opportunity to work with you on this project.  If you have any questions 
regarding this report, please contact us directly at the phone extensions and/or e-mail 
addresses listed below. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

 
 
 
Eric M. Holliday, PG, 9219     
Senior Project Geologist     
Ext 4252, eholliday@leightongroup.com   

  
 

 
 
John E. Haertle, PE, GE 2352 
Principal Engineer 
Ext: 4268, jhaertle@leightongroup.com 

 
EMH/JEH/lr 
 
Attachments:  Figure 1 – Geotechnical Map  
  Appendix A - Exploration Logs 
  Appendix B - Percolation Test Data 
  Appendix C - Geotechnical Laboratory Testing 
   
Distribution: (1) Addressee 
 

Item D - 414 of 1893

mailto:eholliday@leightongroup.com
mailto:jhaertle@leightongroup.com


&<

&<

&<

&<

&< &(

!(#

!(#

!(#
!(#&( &(

LB-2
T.D.26.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-1
T.D.51.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-5
T.D.26.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-3
T.D.26.5'

LP-1/LB-4
T.D.25'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'
Perc Test
Interval 17-22'

LP-3
T.D.45'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'
Perc Test
Interval 25-45'

LP-4
T.D.40'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

Perc Test
Interval 25-40'

CPT-2
T.D.50.2'

CPT-1
T.D.50.4'

CPT-4
T.D.50.1' CPT-3/3A

T.D.35.8/50.7'

LP-2
T.D.20'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

Perc Test
Interval 15-20'

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\002\Maps\13493-002_F01_GM_2022-11-18.mxd on 11/18/2022 10:57:40 AM Author: KVM (btran)

GEOTECHNICAL MAP
Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue
Ontario, California

³
0 100 200

Feet

Scale:

Base Map: Option A Site Plan, Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use
Sheet 01, Dated: 03/10/2022
by AO Architecture Design Relationships

1 " = 100 '

Project: 13493.002 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Date: November 2022

FIGURE 1

LB-5

LP-2

CPT-4

LEGEND

&<

Approximate location of previous hollow-stem auger boring
showing total depth (T.D.) and depth to earth units
in feet below ground surface. (Leighton, 2022)

&(

Approximate location of previous percolation test well
showing percolation test interval in feet
below ground surface. (Leighton, 2022)

!(#
Approximate location of previous cone penetrometer test sounding
showing total depth (T.D.) in feet below ground surface
(Leighton, 2022)

Approximate Site Boundary

Artificial Fill

Quaternary Young Alluvial Fan Deposits

Afu

Qyf

LP-4 Approximate location of current percolation test well
showing percolation test interval in feet
below ground surface.&(

Item D - 415 of 1893



 

 

APPENDIX A   
Exploration Logs 

 
  

Item D - 416 of 1893



SM

SM-ML

SM

@Surface: 3 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 6 -inches Base

Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.75': Silty SAND, brown, slightly moist, very fine sand, trace

medium to coarse sand and fine subrounded gravel

Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Valley Deposits (Qyf)

@20': Clayey Sandy SILT to Clayey Silty SAND, medium
dense/very stiff, olive brown, slightly moist, very fine sand,
low plasticity, slightly micaceous, friable, pockets of higher
clay content

@25': Silty SAND, medium dense, mottled reddish brown and
grayish brown, slightly moist, very fine sand, nonplastic,
slightly micaceous, friable, grading slightly finer toward
bottom

S-1

S-2 -200

3
7
11

4
8
9

'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

8-24-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 1 - Geotechnical Map

Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

13493.002

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-3

Item D - 417 of 1893



ML

SM

ML

SM-ML

@30': Sandy SILT, very stiff, mottled orange brown and grayish
brown, slightly moist, very fine sand, trace coarse sand,
nonplastic, friable, slightly micaceous

@35': Silty SAND, medium dense, olive brown, moist, very fine
sand, micaceous, friable

@38.5': Sandy SILT, medium dense, brown, moist, very fine
sand, nonplastic, micaceous, friable, trace medium sand

@43.5': Interbedded Clayey Sandy SILT and Silty SAND;
Clayey Sandy SILT, hard, brown, slightly moist, fine to medium

sand, low plasticity, slightly micaceous
Silty SAND, very dense, yellowish brown, slightly moist, very fine

to fine sand, micaceous, nonplastic, friable

Total Depth: 45' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Temporary percolation well installed; screened from 25-45'
Upon completion of percolation testing, boring backfilled with soil

cuttings and patched with asphalt concrete.

S-3

S-4

S-5

S-6

-200

9
11
11

7
11
14

10
11
11

7
14
37

'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

8-24-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  2  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 1 - Geotechnical Map

Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

13493.002

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-3

Item D - 418 of 1893



SM

CL/SM

SM-SC

@Surface: 4 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 5 -inches Base

Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.75': Silty SAND, brown, slightly moist, very fine sand, trace

medium to coarse sand and fine subrounded gravel

Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Valley Deposits (Qyf)

@20': Silty CLAY, stiff, gray-brown, slightly moist, medium
plasticity, few very fine sand; grading to Silty SAND, loose,
brown, slightly moist, very fine sand, some silt, nonplastic,
trace fine subangular gravel

@25': Silty SAND, medium dense, grayish brown to yellowish
brown, slightly moist, very fine to fine sand, slightly
micaceous, some silt; grading to Sandy CLAY/Clayey SAND,
medium dense/stiff, reddish brown, slightly moist, very fine to
fine sand, low plasticity, slightly micaceous

S-1

S-2

-2004
5
5

5
7
8

'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

8-24-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 1 - Geotechnical Map

Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

13493.002

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-4

Item D - 419 of 1893



SM

SP

SM

@30': Silty SAND, medium dense, orange brown, slightly moist,
very fine sand, slightly micaceous, nonplastic, friable

@35': Grading to Silty Gravelly SAND, very dense, whitish tan,
slightly moist, fine to coarse sand, some fine subangular to
subrounded gravel (granitic)

@38.5': Silty SAND, dense, brown, slightly moist, very fine to
fine sand, some silt, nonplastic, slightly micaceous, friable

Total Depth: 40' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Temporary percolation well installed; screened from 25-40'
Upon completion of percolation testing, boring backfilled with soil

cuttings and patched with asphalt concrete.

S-3

S-4

S-5

-200

8
9
12

8
38

50/5"

15
21
25

'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

8-24-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  2  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 1 - Geotechnical Map

Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

13493.002

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-4

Item D - 420 of 1893



 

 

APPENDIX B   
Percolation Test Data  

  

Item D - 421 of 1893



Project Number: 13493.002 Test Hole Number: LP-3
Project Name: Legacy - Collier Date Excavated:
Earth Description: Alluvium Date Tested:
Liquid Description: Tap water Depth of boring (ft): 45
Tested By:  BTM Radius of boring (in): 4
Time Interval Standard Radius of casing (in): 1
Start Time for Pre-Soak: 11:25 Length of slotted of casing (ft): 20
Start Time for Standard: 12:21 Depth to Initial Water Depth (ft): 25.05

Porosity of Annulus Material, n : 1
10 Bentonite Plug at Bottom: No

Reading Time
Time Interval, 

Δt (min.)

Initial/Final 
Depth to 

Water (ft.)

Initial/Final 
Water Height, 

H0/Hf            

(in.)

Total Water 
Drop, Δd (in.)

Percolation 
Rate (min./in.)

Infiltration 
Rate (in./hr.)

11:25 25.05 239.4
11:50 26.51 221.9
11:54 25.00 240.0
12:19 26.28 224.6
12:21 25.00 240.0
12:31 25.53 233.6
12:33 25.00 240.0
12:43 25.45 234.6
12:44 25.00 240.0
12:54 25.38 235.4
12:58 25.00 240.0
13:08 25.35 235.8
13:17 25.00 240.0
13:27 25.26 236.9
13:29 25.00 240.0
13:39 25.24 237.1

Infiltration Rate, I (Last Reading) = 0.14 in./hr.

Boring Percolation Test Data Sheet

8/24/2022
8/24/2022

Standard Time Interval 
Between Readings, mins:

Percolation Data

1 25 17.5 1.43 0.36

2 25 15.4 1.63 0.31

3 10 6.4 1.57 0.32

4 10 5.4 1.85 0.27

5 10 4.6 2.19 0.23

6 10 4.2 2.38 0.21

7 10 3.1 3.21 0.16

8 10 2.9 3.47 0.14

Infiltration Rate (I) = Discharge Volume/Surface Area of Test Section/Time Interval

Item D - 422 of 1893



Project Number: 13493.002 Test Hole Number: LP-4
Project Name: Legacy - Collier Date Excavated:
Earth Description: Alluvium Date Tested:
Liquid Description: Tap water Depth of boring (ft): 40
Tested By:  BTM Radius of boring (in): 4
Time Interval Standard Radius of casing (in): 1
Start Time for Pre-Soak: 10:21 Length of slotted of casing (ft): 15
Start Time for Standard: 11:20 Depth to Initial Water Depth (ft): 25.00

Porosity of Annulus Material, n : 1
10 Bentonite Plug at Bottom: No

Reading Time
Time Interval, 

Δt (min.)

Initial/Final 
Depth to 

Water (ft.)

Initial/Final 
Water Height, 

H0/Hf            

(in.)

Total Water 
Drop, Δd (in.)

Percolation 
Rate (min./in.)

Infiltration 
Rate (in./hr.)

10:21 25.00 180.0
10:46 28.22 141.4
10:51 25.02 179.8
11:16 27.73 147.2
11:20 25.00 180.0
11:30 26.05 167.4
11:32 25.00 180.0
11:42 25.90 169.2
11:46 25.00 180.0
11:56 25.85 169.8
12:00 25.00 180.0
12:10 25.71 171.5
12:13 25.00 180.0
12:23 25.70 171.6
12:27 25.00 180.0
12:37 25.58 173.0
12:38 25.02 179.8
12:48 25.59 172.9
12:50 25.00 180.0
13:00 25.58 173.0

Infiltration Rate, I (Last Reading) = 0.47 in./hr.

Percolation Data

Boring Percolation Test Data Sheet

8/24/2022
8/24/2022

Standard Time Interval 
Between Readings, mins:

1 25 38.6 0.65 1.14

3 10 12.6 0.79 0.86

2 25 32.5 0.77 0.94

5 10 10.2 0.98 0.69

4 10 10.8 0.93 0.73

7 10 8.4 1.19 0.57

6 10 8.5 1.17 0.58

Infiltration Rate (I) = Discharge Volume/Surface Area of Test Section/Time Interval

10 10 7.0 1.44 0.47

8 10 7.0 1.44 0.47

9 10 6.8 1.46 0.46

Item D - 423 of 1893



 

 

APPENDIX C   
Geotechnical Laboratory Testing 

 
 

 

Item D - 424 of 1893



LP-3 LP-3 LP-4 LP-4
S-2 S-4 S-1 S-4
25.0 35.0 20.0 35.0
SPT SPT SPT SPT

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

616.90 794.40 588.90 847.80
108.60 108.50 107.30 108.00
508.30 685.90 481.60 739.80

V-1 927 936 957

A A A A
411.10 609.70 340.00 732.50
108.60 108.50 107.30 108.00
302.50 501.20 232.70 624.50

40.5 26.9 51.7 15.6
59.5 73.1 48.3 84.4

Project Name: Legacy - Ontario
Project No.: 13493.002

Tested By: J. Domingo Date: 09/12/22

Moisture Content (%)

Dry Weight of Soil + Container  (g)

Weight of Container       (g)

Container No.:

Sample Type

Yellowish 
brown silty 
sand (SM)

Weight of Container         (g)

% Passing No. 200 Sieve

Moisture Correction

Weight of Dry Sample  (g)

Dry Weight of Sample + Cont.  (g)

After Wash

Dry Weight of Sample    (g)   

Wet Weight of Soil + Container (g)

Sample Dry Weight Determination

Light olive 
brown silty 
sand (SM)

Light olive 
brown sandy 

silt s(ML)

Light olive 
brown silty 
sand with 

gravel (SM)g

Boring No.
Sample No.

Soil Identification

Depth (ft.)

 PERCENT PASSING                 
No. 200 SIEVE                       
ASTM D 1140

Weight of Sample + Container  (g)

Method  (A or B)

Weight of Container         (g)

% Retained No. 200 Sieve

Passing #200 LP-3 and LP-4

Item D - 425 of 1893



1 

 
 

Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan 
(PWQMP) 

 
For compliance with Santa Ana Regional Water Quality Control Board 

Order Number R8-2010-0036 (NPDES Permit No. CAS618036) 
 

Project Name: EUCLID AND WALNUT MIXED USE 

Ontario Project #: 
 
PDEV22-027 

Applicant Name: LEGACY PARTNERS, CONTACT: DAVID PINTO 

Applicant Address: 5141 CALIFORNIA AVE., STE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617 

Project Address: NW CORNER OF E. EUCLID AND WALNUT STREET 

Project Size (acres): 9.82 ACRES 

Project Description: Redevelopment of existing commercial site 

to residential development 

 
 
 
 
 

                       
Submittal Date: _________________  

Item D - 426 of 1893

cgonzalez
Typewritten Text
June 27, 2023



2 

Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan (PWQMP) 
 

1. Introduction 
 
The Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan (PWQMP) is a planning tool to improve 
integration of required water quality elements, stormwater management, water conservation, 
rainwater harvesting and re-use, and flood management in land use planning and the City’s 
development process. The Preliminary WQMP will assist project applicants and planners in 
properly designing and laying out project sites so that water quality may be incorporated in 
the most effective manner and at the lowest cost for the developer. 
 
The San Bernardino County Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System Permit (MS4 Permit) 
requires project-specific Water Quality Management plans (WQMP) to be prepared for all 
priority new development and significant redevelopment projects listed in Section 2 of this 
document. The MS4 Permit stipulates that the City of Ontario require priority project 
applicants to submit a Preliminary project-specific WQMP, as early as possible, during the 
environmental review or planning phase of a development project and that the Preliminary 
WQMP be approved prior to the issuance of land use entitlement.   

 

2. Priority Projects (requiring a Preliminary WQMP) 
 
Land Use entitlement shall not be issued for any of the listed projects, below, until a 
Preliminary WQMP has been approved by the City’s Engineering Department.  For 
construction projects not going through entitlement, a Preliminary and Final project specific 
WQMP shall be approved, prior to the issuance of construction permits: 
 
Check the appropriate project category below, for this project: 
 

Check 

below 
Project Categories 

� 

1.   All significant re-development projects. Significant re-development is defined as the 
addition or replacement of 5,000 or more square feet of impervious surface on an already 
developed site subject to discretionary approval of the Permittee. Redevelopment does 
not include routine maintenance activities that are conducted to maintain original line and 
grade, hydraulic capacity, original purpose of the facility, or emergency redevelopment 
activity required to protect public health and safety. Where redevelopment results in an 
increase of less than fifty percent of the impervious surfaces of a previously existing 
developed site, and the existing development was not subject to WQMP requirements, 
the numeric sizing criteria discussed below applies only to the addition or replacement, 
and not to the entire developed site.  Where redevelopment results in an increase of fifty 
percent or more of the impervious surfaces of a previously existing developed site, the 
numeric sizing criteria applies to the entire development (new and existing). 

 

2.    New development projects that create 10,000 square feet or more of impervious surface 
(collectively over the entire project site) including commercial, industrial, residential 
housing subdivisions (i.e., detached single family home subdivisions, multi-family 
attached subdivisions or townhomes, condominiums, apartments, etc.), mixed-use, and 
public projects.  This category includes development projects on public and private land, 
which fall under the planning and building authority of the permitting agency. 

Item D - 427 of 1893



3 

Check 

below 
Project Categories 

 3. Automotive repair shops (with SIC codes 5013, 5014, 5541, 7532- 7534, 7536-7539). 

� 
4.    Restaurants and Food Service Establishments where the land area of development is 

5,000 square feet or more. 

 

5.    Developments of 2,500 square feet of impervious surface or more adjacent to (within 200 
feet) or discharging directly into environmentally sensitive areas (ESA’s) such as areas 
designated in the Ocean Plan as areas of special biological significance or waterbodies 
listed on the CWA Section 303(d) list of impaired waters. 

� 
6.    Parking lots of 5,000 square feet or more exposed to storm water.  Parking lot is defined 

as land area or facility for the temporary storage of motor vehicles. 

 
7.    Retail Gasoline Outlets (RGOs) that are either 5,000 sq ft or more or have a projected 

average daily traffic of 100 or more vehicles per day. 

 8.    *This project is not covered under any of the categories listed above. 

 
* If the development is not covered under any of the project categories listed in Section 2, the 
project is not required to design and install Site Design/LID BMPs or Treatment Control BMPs 
to treat the design storm event (Design Capture Volume) described in Section 4. 

 
3. Preliminary WQMP Objectives 
 
Through a combination of Site Design/LID BMPs (where feasible), Source Control, and/or 
Treatment Control BMPs, project-specific WQMPs shall address all identified pollutants and 
hydrologic conditions of concern from new development and significant re-development 
projects for the categories of projects (priority projects) listed in Section 2.  Under each type 
of BMP, listed below, please indicate which BMPs are planned to be implemented and 
included in the Final WQMP for the project: 
 
 
A. Site Design/LID (Low Impact Design) for Reducing Stormwater Runoff: 
 
The MS4 Permit requires each priority development project to infiltrate, harvest and use, 
evapotranspire, or bio-treat the runoff from a 2-yr, 24-hour storm event (Design Capture 
Volume). If site conditions do not permit infiltration, harvest and use, evapotranspiration, 
and/or bio-treatment of the entire Design Capture Volume, at the project site, Site Design/LID 
techniques are required to be implemented to the Maximum Extent Practicable, at the project 
site, and the remainder of the DCV shall be infiltrated, harvested, bio-treated or treated by 
alternative measures. Project applicants shall submit a Preliminary WQMP that documents 
the LID/Site Design BMPs, proposed for the project.  Please indicate, in the table below, 
which Site Design/LID BMPs will be utilized on this project to accomplish this requirement: 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Item D - 428 of 1893



4 

 
Site Design/LID Practice 

 
Planned 

 
Not 

Planned 

Provide at least the minimum effective area required for LID 
BMPs, to comply with the WQMP (see Table 3-1 below). 

 � 

Grade parking lot areas/drive aisles/roof drains to sheet flow 
runoff into landscaped swales, via curb cuts or zero-face 
curbs or otherwise disconnect direct drainage from MS4. 

 � 

Design landscaped areas as swales and grade to accept 
runoff from building roofs, parking lots and project roadways. 

 � 

Install surface retention basins or infiltration trenches to 
receive impervious area runoff. 

 � 

Install pervious pavement in parking stalls, alleys, driveways, 
gutters, walkways, trails or patios. 

 � 

Install underground stormwater retention chambers where 
downstream landscaped areas are limited. 

 � 

Install approved Stormwater Drywells in detention areas.  � 

Construct streets, sidewalks, and parking lot stalls to the 
minimum widths necessary. 

� 
 

Install on-site Biotreatment basins/trenches with underdrains, 
where soil type is poorly draining. 

� 
 

Install “Engineered Soil” to increase uptake/soil storage 
capacity and/or evapotranspiration. 

 � 

Install Rainwater Harvesting/Use Equipment.  � 

Regional LID BMP facilities are installed, off-site, with the 
capacity and conveyances to accept post-development storm 
water runoff from this project and reserved capacity allocation 
credits have been assigned to the project, in a Certificate or 
other legally binding document, attached herein 

 � 

 
Table 3-1 Minimum Effective Area1 Required for LID BMPs (surface + subsurface facilities) 
for Project WQMP to Demonstrate Infeasibility2 (% of site) 
 

Project Type New 
Development 

Re-
Development 

SF/MF Residential < 7 du/ac 10% 5% 

SF/MF Residential < 7 - 18 du/ac 7% 3.5% 

SF/MF Residential > 18 du/ac 5% 2.5% 

Mixed Use, Commercial/Industrial w/FAR< 1.0 10% 5% 

Mixed Use, Commercial/Industrial w/FAR 1.0-2.0 7% 3.5% 

Mixed Use, Commercial/Industrial w/FAR> 2.0 5% 2.5% 

Podium (parking under > 75% of project) 3% 1.5% 

Zoning allowing development to property lines 2% 1% 

Transit Oriented Development3 5% 2.5% 

Parking 5% 2.5% 

Item D - 429 of 1893



5 

1  “Effective area” is defined as land area which 1) is suitable for a retention/infiltration BMP 
(based on infeasibility criteria) and 2) is located down-gradient from building roof or paved 
areas, so that it may receive gravity flow runoff. 
2  Criteria only required if the project WQMP seeks to demonstrate that the full DCV cannot 
be feasibly managed on-site. 
3  Transit oriented development is defined as a project with development center within one 
half mile of a mass transit center. 
Key:  du/ac = dwelling units/acre, FAR = Floor Area Ratio = ratio of gross floor area of 
building to gross lot area, MF = Multi Family, SF = Single Family 

 
B. Source Control BMPs – The following BMPs are designed to control stormwater 

pollutants and runoff water at the location where it is generated. Please indicate which of 
the listed BMPs are planned to be implemented for the project: 
 

Source Control BMPs Planned Not 
Planned 

Minimize non-stormwater site runoff through efficient 
irrigation system design and controllers. 

� 
 

Minimize trash and debris in storm runoff through a regular 
parking lot, storage yard and roadway sweeping program. 

� 
 

Provide proper covers/roofs and secondary containment for 
outside material storage & work areas. 

 � 

Provide solid roofs over all trash enclosures. �  

Site Owner(s)/Property Manager/HOA or POA will be 
familiar with the project WQMP and stormwater BMPs. 

� 
 

Owner or HOA or POA to provide Education/Training of site 
occupants and employees on stormwater BMPs. 

�  

Install stormwater placards/stenciled messages with a “No 
Dumping” message on all on-site/off-site storm drain inlets.  

�  

Provide contained equipment/vehicle wash rack areas that 
discharge to sanitary sewer. 

 � 

 
C. Treatment Control BMPs – The following BMPs are designed to control stormwater 

pollutants where it is not feasible to install on-site or off-site Site Design/LID BMPs, with 
the requisite capacity to treat the Design Capture Volume for identified Pollutants of 
Concern or where pretreatment of stormwater runoff is required, ahead of infiltration 
BMPs.  Please indicate which of the listed BMPs are planned to be implemented for the 
project: 

Treatment Control BMP Planned Not 
Planned 

Gravity Separator devices for pretreatment of sediment, 
trash/litter or Oil & Grease 

  � 

Proprietary Biofiltration vaults/devices  � 
 

Media Cartridge Filtration Vaults  � 

Proprietary Filter Inserts for on-site storm drain inlets or 
retention basin/trench overflow drains 

 � 

Item D - 430 of 1893



6 

4. Volume-based calculation (approximate) for sizing on-site or off-site Stormwater 
Retention/Infiltration, Harvest & Re-Use or Biotreatment facilities 
 

1)  After calculating the “Watershed Imperviousness Ratio”, i, which is equal to the percent 
of impervious area in each Drainage Management Area, divided by 100, calculate the 
composite runoff coefficient CBMP for the Drainage Area above using the following 
equation:  

CBMP = 0.858i
3

 – 0.78i
2

 + 0.774i + 0.04  

where:  CBMP = composite runoff coefficient; and, 

i = watershed imperviousness ratio. 

3) Determine the area-averaged “6-hour Mean Storm Rainfall”, P6, for the Drainage Area. 
This is calculated by multiplying the area averaged 2-year 1-hour value (0.5”-0.6”) by 
the appropriate regression coefficient (1.4807).  The 2-yr, 1-hr value for southern 
Ontario is approximately to 0.5” (P6 = 0.5*1.4807 = 0.74 and northern Ontario is 
approximately 0.6” in/hr (P6 = 0.6*1.4807 = 0.89).   

4) Determine the appropriate drawdown time.  Use the regression constant a = 1.582 for 
24 hours and a = 1.963 for 48 hours. Note: Regression constants are provided for both 
24 hour and 48-hour drawdown times; however, 48-hour drawdown times should be 
used in most areas of California. Drawdown times in excess of 48 hours should be 
used with caution as vector breeding can be a problem after water has stood in excess 
of 72 hours. (Use of the 24-hour drawdown time should be limited to drainage areas 
with coarse soils (Class ‘A’ soils that readily drain.) 

5) Calculate the “Maximized Detention Volume”, P0, using the following equation:  

P0 = a · CBMP · P6  

where:  P0 = Maximized Detention Volume, in inches  

a = 1.582 for 24 hour and a = 1.963 for 48-hour drawdown,  

CBMP = composite runoff coefficient; and, 

P6 = 6-hour Mean Storm Rainfall, in inches  

6) Calculate the “Target Capture Volume”, V0, using the following equation:  

V0 = (P0 · A) / 12  

where:  V0 = Target Capture Volume, in acre-feet  

P0 = Maximized Detention Volume, in inches; and, 

A = BMP Drainage Area, in acres  
 
 
 

Item D - 431 of 1893



7

Project Volume-based calculation (approximate) for planned on-site or off-site 
Stormwater Retention/Infiltration, Harvest & Re-Use or Biotreatment facilities: N/A 

Variable Factor/Formula DA1, 
DMA A 

DA2 
DMA B 

DA3 
DMA C 

DA4 
DMA D 

DA5 
DMA E 

Impervious 
surface/total 
surface, ratio 

(i) 

CBMP= runoff 
coefficient 

0.858i
3

–

0.78i
2

+0.774i+ 0.04

P6 **P6 = 2-yr,1-hr 
depth*1.4807 = 

Detention 
Volume (acre 
inches) 

P0 = a * CBMP * P6   = 

Drawdown rate 
of basin/trench 
(a) 

1.963 for 48-hr 
drawdown = 

Project Total 
Area (acre) 

(A) 

Design Capture  
Volume in cu. ft. 

V0 = [(P0 * A)/12] 
*43560 =

Runoff Volume 
infiltrated in first  
3 hours of storm 
(not applicable for 
underground 
systems) 

Vol= in/hr/12 x ft2 of 
infiltration area x 3 
hrs    

Retention 
Volume provided 
in cubic feet. 

Retention capacity of 
basins, trenches, 
underground storage 
or biotreatment basin 

**For P6 value, use site coordinates and NOAA website to determine project’s average 2-yr, 
1-hr rainfall depth, at: http://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/sa/sca_pfds.html .

5. Flow-Based calculation (approximate) for sizing on-site or off-site Biotreatment
facilities and proprietary treatment technology BMPs:

1) After calculating the “Watershed Imperviousness Ratio”, i, which is equal to the percent
of impervious area in each Drainage Management Area divided by 100, calculate the
composite runoff coefficient CBMP for the Drainage Area above using the following
equation:

CBMP = 0.858i
3

– 0.78i
2

+ 0.774i + 0.04

where: CBMP = composite runoff coefficient; and, 

i = watershed imperviousness ratio. 

Item D - 432 of 1893



8 

2) Determine BMP design rainfall intensity, IBMP, using the project site geo-coordinates 
and the NOAA website to determine project’s average 2-yr, 1-hr rainfall intensity, at: 
http://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/sa/sca_pfds.html .Multiply this value by 0.2787 
(regression coefficient for Ontario) and a minimum safety factor of 2.   

4) Calculate the target BMP flowrate, Q, using the following formula (for each DMA <50 
acres*):  

Q = CBMP · IBMP · A 

 Where: Q = flow in cfs (Cubic feet per second) 
   IBMP = BMP design rainfall intensity, in/hr 
   A = Drainage Area in acres 
 
*For DMAs >50 acres, with CBMP <0.5, the project applicant shall use the unit hydrograph 
method specified in the San Bernardino County Hydrology Manual, using the design storm 
pattern with rainfall return frequency such that the peak 1-hr rainfall intensity equals the 85th 
percentile 1-hr rainfall, multiplied by 2. 
 
Project Flow-based calculation (approximate) for planned on-site or off-site flow-based 
Biotreatment facilities or Stormwater Treatment BMPs: 
 

Variable Factor/Formula DA1 
DMA A 

DA2 
DMA B 

DA3 
DMA C 

DA4 
DMA D 

DA5 
DMA E 

Impervious 
surface/ 
total surface, ratio  

(i)  
0.89 

 
0.89 

 
0.89 

 
0.89 

 
0.89 

CBMP= composite 
runoff coefficient 

0.858i
3

+0.78i
2

+0.774i 
+0.04 

0.712 0.712 0.712 0.712 0.712 

IBMP IBMP = 2-yr,1-hr storm 
intensity*0.2787*safety 
factor 

0.333 0.333 0.333 0.333 0.333 

Drainage area 
(ac) 

A = DMA sq ft/43,560 1.77 1.46 1.50 1.32 1.90 

Target BMP 
flowrate 

Q =  CBPM* IBMP * A 

   
0.423 0.348 0.357 0.316 0.453 

 
 
Please see next sheet for additional DRAINAGE AREA Treatment BMPs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item D - 433 of 1893



9 

Project Flow-based calculation (approximate) for planned on-site or off-site flow-based 
Biotreatment facilities or Stormwater Treatment BMPs: (Continued) 
 

Variable Factor/Formula DA6 
DMA A 

DA7 
DMA B 

DA8 
DMA C 

DA9 
DMA D 

DA10 
DMA E 

Impervious 
surface/ 
total surface, ratio  

(i)  
0.89 

 
0.89 

   

CBMP= composite 
runoff coefficient 

0.858i
3

+0.78i
2

+0.774i 
+0.04 

0.712 0.712    

IBMP IBMP = 2-yr,1-hr storm 
intensity*0.2787*safety 
factor 

0.333 0.333    

Drainage area 
(ac) 

A = DMA sq ft/43,560 0.69 0.97    

Target BMP 
flowrate 

Q =  CBPM* IBMP * A 

   
0.165 0.232    

 
 
6. Hydrologic Conditions of Concern (HCOC) and use of the on-line San Bernardino 

County HCOC Map for determining necessary mitigation steps necessary if there 
are HCOCs downstream of a project: 

 
Project applicants may access the on-line HCOC Map at: 
http://permitrack.sbcounty.gov/WAP/. The map will indicate any hydrology concerns with 
downstream waterways that are hydraulically connected to the project and will indicate if 
there are any approved regional projects downstream that could be utilized for off-site 
mitigation of HCOCs.  Please indicate here if the project will or will not be able to 
retain/infilter, harvest and use or biotreat and detain the DCV, on-site, as calculated in 
Section 4 and if there are HCOCs identified downstream of the project: 
 

 

Retain or Harvest/Use the DCV on site? Yes  No � 

Biotreat the DCV but not infilter the runoff? Yes � No  
HCOCs identified downstream of site? Yes  No � 

 
If the entire DCV will not be retained on site, the DCV is biotreated but not infiltered or 
additional detention capacity is needed to address identified HCOCs, downstream of the site, 
please list here, what additional mitigation measures will be utilized (on-site or off-site) to 
address HCOCs (see Section 4.2.1-4.2.3 of the SB County WQMP Technical Guidance): 
 
 NO HCOC EXISTS FOR THIS SITE 

 

 
7. Site Plan and Conceptual Grading/Drainage Plan requirements for submission with 

the Preliminary WQMP: 

Item D - 434 of 1893



10 

 
Provide a Site Plan and Conceptual Grading/Drainage Plan along with this Preliminary 
WQMP, which conceptually shows the proposed locations of buildings, homes, parking lots, 
parks, new paved roadways, landscaped areas, drainage patterns and drainage sub-areas, 
methods of conveyance, proposed retention/infiltration, harvest & use or biotreatment 
facilities that are planned for installation. Where it is determined to be infeasible to capture 
and detain design storm runoff volumes, on-site, please include other design features, as 
described in Section 3, above. Include numbered or lettered notes on the Site Plan with a 
legend detailing other BMPs, as described in Section 3. 
 
8. BMP Maintenance and Funding Mechanism & Description: 
 
BMP Maintenance and funding will be the responsibility of the owner/lessee. 

 

 
9. Acknowledgment: 
  
As the property owner or developer, I understand that this project is required to install and 
implement permanent LID Storm Water Best Management Practices pursuant to the 
requirements of the San Bernardino County MS4 Permit and to document those BMPs in the 
submittal of a Water Quality Management Plan, which is binding on any current or successive 
owners of this property. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10. Exemption Signature: 
  
As the property owner or developer, I understand that this project is not required by the San 
Bernardino County MS4 Permit to install and implement permanent LID Storm Water Best 
Management Practices and will not be required to submit a Water Quality Management Plan. 
 
 

   

 
Signature of Owner or Developer 

                                                             
Date 

 

 

Yes � No  

Item D - 435 of 1893



WQMP PLAN AND DRAINAGE PLAN 

 
 

•  Vicinity Map 

•  Site Plan, Drainage Flow and LID BMP Plan 

•             Conceptual Grading Plan (For reference only) 

           

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Item D - 436 of 1893



WH

WH

E

WATER GAS

FRONT

TRANSFORMER

FRONT

TRANSFORMER

FRONT

TRANSFORM
ER

FRONT

TRANSFORMER

WALNUT    STREET 

EU
C

LI
D

   
AV

EN
U

E

N15

S4

S4

S4

S4

S4

S4 S4S4

S4

S4

S4 S4 S4

N15 N15

N15

N15

N15

N15

N15

N15

N15

N15

S4

Scale:
Exhibit Date:

N
          EUCLID AND WALNUT MIXED USE

         AND WALNUT STREET

          PWQMP EXHIBIT-OPTION 2

        ONTARIO, CA

1" = 40'
 06.27.23 NW CORNER OF E. EUCLID

60

PROJECT
LOCATION

LEGEND
PROJECT BOUNDARY
DRAINAGE AREA BOUNDARY
FLOW DIRECTION (SURFACE)
FLOW DIRECTION (PIPE)
PROPOSED STORM DRAIN LINE
(PUBLIC)
PROPOSED STORM DRAIN LINE
(PRIVATE)
CATCH BASIN STENCILING AND
COMMON AREA CATCH BASIN
INSPECTION

N15 STREET VACUUMING AND
CLEANING

S4 EFFICIENT IRRIGATION

LANDSCAPE AREA

ROOF

PAVEMENT/HARDSCAPE

DRAINAGE AREA ID AND
ACREAGE

UNDERGROUND
RETENTION/INFILTRATION
CHAMBERS
MODULAR WETLAND BY CONTECH
(PROPRIETARY BIO RETENTION
BASIN)

PROPOSED STORM DRAIN
DRAINING TO MODULAR WETLAND

R

F U L L C I R C L E T H I N K I N G

E N G I N E E R I N G
FUSCOE

Item D - 437 of 1893



FRONT

TRANSFORMER

FRONT

TRANSFORMER

FRONT

TRANSFORM
ER

FRONT

TRANSFORMER

WH

WH

E

WATER GAS

G
L 

16
.2

5
G

L 
16

.5
0

G
L 

16
.7

5

FF=17.67FF=17.67

FF=17.67

FF=16.92

FF=16.17

FF=16.17

GL 17.00 GL 17.00

G
L 

12
.0

0
G

L 
12

. 0
8

G
L 

12
.1

7
G

L 
12

.2
5

G
L 

12
.3

3
G

L 
12

.4
2

FF=12.75

FF=12.75

FF=12.75

FF=12.75

FF=12.75

GL 12.42 GL 13.08

FF=13.75

FF=13.75

FF=13.75

FF=13.75

FF=13.75 G
L 

13
.0

0
G

L 
13

.0
8

G
L 

13
.1

7
G

L 
13

.2
5

G
L 

13
.3

3
G

L 
13

.4
2

G
L 

13
.5

0
G

L 
13

.5
8

G
L 

13
.6

7
G

L 
13

.7
5

G
L 

13
.8

3
G

L 
13

.9
2 GL 14.08

FF=14.25

FF=14.25

FF=14.25

FF=14.25

FF=14.25

WALNUT STREET

EU
C

LI
D

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 A

VE
N

U
E

GL 16.00 GL 16.00 GL 16.00

G
L 

15
.4

2
G

L 
15

.5
0

G
L 

15
.5

8
G

L 
15

.6
7

G
L 

15
.7

5
G

L 
15

.8
3

GL 18.50 GL 18.50 GL 19.25 GL 19.25 GL 19.25 GL 20.00 GL 20.00GL 19.25

G
L 

20
.0

0
G

L 
20

.0
0

FF=18.67

FF
=1

8.
67 FF=19.42 FF=20.17 FF=20.17

FF=20.17

FF=20.17

FF=20.17

FF=18.67FF=16.17

FF=16.17

FF=16.17

FF=16.17

FF=16.17 FF=17.17

FF=17.17

FF=17.17

FF=17.17

FF=17.17 G
L 

16
.4

2
G

L 
16

.5
0

G
L 

16
.5

8
G

L 
16

.6
7

G
L 

16
.7

5
G

L 
16

.8
3

GL 15.83
GL 16.50

G
L 

16
.9

2
G

L 
17

.0
0

G
L 

17
.0

8
G

L 
17

.1
7

G
L 

17
.2

5
G

L 
17

.3
3

FF=17.67

FF=17.67

FF=17.67

FF=17.67

FF=17.67

CLCL

C L
C L

D

A

C

E

B

EXISTING
CARL'S JR.

RESTAURANT

NOT A PART

GL 17.00

TRASH

TRASH

TR
AS

H

POOL

3
C1

4
C

5
C1

8
C

7
C1

6
C

2
B

1
A

U
SP

S

FREEWAY

PROJECT
LOCATION

CONCEPTUAL GRADING PLAN FOR ONTARIO APARTMENTS
IN THE CITY OF ONTARIO, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

C1

EARTHWORK QUANTITY ESTIMATE
CUT (C.Y.) FILL (C.Y.)

R

F U L L C I R C L E T H I N K I N G

E N G I N E E R I N G
FUSCOE

Item D - 438 of 1893



C2

A SECTION A

EUCLID AVENUE

B SECTION B

WALNUT STREET

C SECTION C

D SECTION D

E SECTION E

R

F U L L C I R C L E T H I N K I N G

E N G I N E E R I N G
FUSCOE

Item D - 439 of 1893



BMP SIZING CALCULATIONS 
 

 

• Precipitation Data 

 

• Treatment control BMP sizing calculations (Proposed Modular Wetland by 

Contech) for DA-1 through DA-7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item D - 440 of 1893



������������	
��������
����������
����������������������
�����������
�����
����������	� �!"#
����$������%��!��"��#

&��'��������(����
)*+,-./01*2345*678+
))*+,-./01*93:3

;�<�=�;>&�<;<=�=<���?>&@�&��A�&�=<B�=&�

37CD7*E0.F/7G*37.7H*IF0JKG*37.7H*L0FMG*NFOOF7C*LFC0.G*P7K-CQ-*67FJ7.F7G*I0R,.7H*67.JFCG*37CS.7
E7TO,TF/G*5+H7CF*4,UG*V7.O*W.U87O-XG*I7O0*9C.-HG*Y0CQOFC*Z7CG*6F/H70O*Z0XJ7G*W7C*[H7,G*:0,\\.0U

],CCFCG*I7CF0O*].0̂ 0.G*NF_VH-7C*VH0CG*WU0*E7.KUR,XG*̀,HC*Z7./H,7C

abccG*a7JF,C7O*d07JH0.*30.TF/0G*3FOT0.*38.FCQG*67.UO7CS

EYeJ7R-O7.*f*EYeQ.78HF/7O*f*678+ege70.F7O+

;?���h���

;i�%h�����j�����j����j�����������k���l�����������m��n�o p�����������������'����q������n��r�

i������
�'���$�����������������'���ql����r

� � " � �" " �  �  "  �   

"%���
 ����

stutvwxtuyzy{
 ��"�

stuy|wxtuy}~{
 ��oo

stuy��xtu|z|{
 ���!

stuyv�xtu|vy{
 ���o

stu|�txtu���{
 ����

stu|~~xtuz|~{
 ���!

stu|wvxtuz}v{
 �	 �

stu�tyxtu~~v{
 �	��

stu�|wxtu���{
 �" �

stu�z~xtuw~y{

� %���
 ���!

stuy�vxtu|t|{
 ���o

stuy}|xtu|�~{
 ����

stu|�}xtu�zw{
 ��	 

stu|}txtuzyw{
 �	�	

stu�|vxtu~|~{
 �	! 

stu���xtu�tv{
 �"��

stuzttxtuwty{
 �"�"

stuz�yxtu}t|{
 ���	

stuz�vxtuv~t{
 �!��

stuzvzxyut}{

�"%���
 �� �

stuy�}xtu|zz{
 ���	

stu||txtu�|t{
 ��	�

stu|}wxtuz|t{
 �	��

stu��vxtu~tz{
 �"  

stu�v}xtu��~{
 �"��

stuzz|xtuw�w{
 ���!

stuz}�xtu}zw{
 �! !

stu~|yxtuv�v{
 �� �

stu~�wxyuy~{
 ��!�

stu~v}xyu�t{

� %���
 �� "

stu|~~xtu�wt{
 �	 �

stu��zxtuz}~{
 �"�	

stuz�~xtu���{
 ����

stu~yzxtuw�z{
 �!"�

stu�t�xtuv�y{
 ��� 

stu�wtxyuy|{
 �o�	

stuw�|xyu|}{
�� !

stuwvtxyuzw{
����

stu}~vxyuwz{
����

stuvt~xyuvw{

� %���
 �	"�

stu�}yxtu~~|{
 �"o�

stuzv}xtuw|z{
 �!��

stu�~txtuv~t{
 �o� 

stuw�wxyuyz{
����

stuvttxyuzz{
����

syuttxyu�w{
��		

syutvxyuv|{
��� 

syuy}x|uyv{
����

syu|}x|u�t{
��o�

syu�~x|uvz{

�%n�
 ����

stu~wtxtu}|�{
 ��o	

stuwz~xyut}{
����

stuv�~xyuzy{
���!

syuy�xyu�}{
���"

syu�yx|utv{
���"

syuzzx|uzt{
�� �

syu~�x|uwz{
����

syu��x�utv{
��"�

syuw}x�u�y{
��!�

syu}�xzutz{

�%n�
 ��"�

stuwy�xyutz{
����

stuv��xyu��{
��	"

syu|yxyuww{
��!�

syuzyx|uyt{
�� "

syu��x|u�t{
��� 

syuwvx|uv}{
��"	

syuv�x�u�}{
��!�

s|ut~x�u}y{
��� 

s|uyvxzuz�{
����

s|u|wxzuvz{

�%n�
���o

stuvv�xyuzz{
��"�

syu�txyu}v{
�� �

syu�wx|uz~{
���!

syuv~x|uvt{
����

s|u|~x�u~v{
����

s|uz�xzuyt{
��	o

s|u�~xzu�z{
����

s|u}yx~u|�{
	��	

s|uvvx�ut�{
	�""

s�uytx�uw~{

��%n�
��""

syu|vxyu}}{
�� �

syu�vx|uz~{
����

s|uy}x�uyv{
��� 

s|u~~x�uwv{
��!�

s|uv~xzuwy{
	��!

s�u|zx~uzt{
	���

s�u~tx�uyz{
"� �

s�uw�x�uvz{
"��	

s�uv}x}ut}{
�� �

szuyzxvut|{

�	%n�
�� �

syuwvx|u��{
���"

s|u�~x�ut�{
��	!

s�ut�xzut|{
	���

s�u�yxzu}|{
"�  

szu|�x�ut�{
"���

szu�vx�uv�{
����

s~uy|xwuv�{
��o�

s~u~txvut~{
!���

s~uv�xytu�{
��"�

s�u|�xyyuv{

�%��l
��	�

s|uy�x|uw}{
����

s|u}~x�uw�{
	���

s�u}txzuvv{
"��o

szu~zx�ut�{
��	 

s~uz|xwuw|{
!��	

s�ut}xvut�{
���o

s�uwyxytuz{
o���

swu�yxy|ut{
� ��

s}ut~xyzu�{
���!

s}u~~xy�u�{

�%��l
��"�

s|u|}x|uvw{
��" 

s�uytxzutz{
	�!�

szuywx~uz}{
"�!"

s~ut�x�uwy{
!���

s�ut�x}u��{
���!

s�u}�xytu|{
o�	 

swu�|xyyuv{
� ��

s}u�~xy�uw{
����

svu|wxy�u~{
����

svuv|xy}uv{

	%��l
��!!

s|uz~x�u|t{
��� 

s�u��xzu�}{
"���

szu~~x~uv}{
��� 

s~u~yxwu�~{
!���

s�u��xvuz}{
o� o

swu~zxyyu|{
� �	

s}u�vxy�uy{
���!

svu|yxy~uy{
���"

sytu|xy}u�{
�"� 

syyutx|tuv{

!%��l
����

s|u}~x�uwy{
	�	�

s�uvyx~uyy{
�� �

s~u�|x�uv}{
!��"

s�uz�x}u~}{
o��!

swuw�xyyuy{
� ��

s}uw}xy�ut{
��� 

svuw~xy~u|{
����

sytuwxywu�{
�"��

syyu}x|yuy{
�!��

sy|u�x|zuy{

� %��l
��"�

s�uyyxzut~{
	��"

szu|}x~u~v{
����

s~u}�xwu�~{
�� �

swut~xvuzy{
� ��

s}u~yxy|uy{
����

svu�|xyzu�{
����

sytuwxy�u�{
�	��

syyuwxyvu|{
�!��

sy|uvx|�ut{
����

sy�u}x|�u�{

� %��l
	���

s�uwwxzuvy{
"�o	

s~u|~x�u}�{
���o

swu||xvuz}{
� � 

s}uwvxyyuw{
����

sytuwxy~u|{
�	��

sy|uyxy}ut{
���!

sy�u~x|yut{
����

syzuvx|zuz{
����

sy�u~x|vuz{
�	��

sywuwx��uw{

� %��l
"�  

szuz�x~uww{
!� �

s�uyvx}utv{
o�!�

s}u~wxyyu|{
��� 

sytu~xyzut{
�"��

sy|u}xy}u�{
�!�!

syzu�x|yuw{
� ��

sy�uzx|~u~{
��� 

sy}uyx|vu}{
����

s|tu�x��u|{
�o�o

s|yuvxzyuw{

	"%��l
"�o!

s~u|vx�u}v{
���"

swu�}xvu�z{
����

sytu|xy�uz{
�	�	

sy|u�xy�u}{
����

sy~u~x||uy{
���"

sywu}x|�u~{
�	�o

s|tuyx�yu�{
���	

s||uzx��u}{
���"

s|~uzxz~u|{
�!��

s|wu~x~|u~{

� %��l
��o	

s�uyzx}utt{
o���

s}u~txyyuy{
���	

syyu}xy~u~{
����

syzu~xyvu�{
����

sy}utx|~u�{
�"��

s|tu}x�tu}{
�o��

s|�u�x��uw{
����

s|�uzxz�u~{
�o�o

s�tu|x~�u}{
	"��

s��utx��ut{

y*E.0/F8FJ7JF,C*\.0�-0C/U*sEY{*0+JFM7J0+*FC*JHF+*J7RO0*7.0*R7+0S*,C*\.0�-0C/U*7C7OU+F+*,\*87.JF7O*S-.7JF,C*+0.F0+*sEI3{u

a-MR0.+*FC*87.0CJH0+F+*7.0*EY*0+JFM7J0+*7J*O,̂ 0.*7CS*-880.*R,-CS+*,\*JH0*vt�*/,C\FS0C/0*FCJ0.T7Ou*WH0*8.,R7RFOFJU*JH7J*8.0/F8FJ7JF,C*\.0�-0C/U*0+JFM7J0+*s\,.
7*QFT0C*S-.7JF,C*7CS*7T0.7Q0*.0/-..0C/0*FCJ0.T7O{*̂FOO*R0*Q.07J0.*JH7C*JH0*-880.*R,-CS*s,.*O0++*JH7C*JH0*O,̂ 0.*R,-CS{*F+*~�u*2+JFM7J0+*7J*-880.*R,-CS+*7.0*C,J
/H0/X0S*7Q7FC+J*8.,R7RO0*M7�FM-M*8.0/F8FJ7JF,C*sE6E{*0+JFM7J0+*7CS*M7U*R0*HFQH0.*JH7C*/-..0CJOU*T7OFS*E6E*T7O-0+u

EO07+0*.0\0.*J,*abcc*cJO7+*yz*S,/-M0CJ*\,.*M,.0*FC\,.M7JF,Cu

]7/X*J,*W,8

;?�$��jn����

Item D - 441 of 1893

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Highlight
��		

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Highlight
 �"o

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Highlight
��	o

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Highlight
���

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Highlight
 �o�



MODULAR WETLAND #1

Tributary Area DA-1 77121 sf Step 1
Pervious area 8483 sf Site condition Area = 1.77 AC
Impervious area 68638 sf Site condition Ibmp= 0.167
Percent Imperviousness 89% Site condition FS= 2
Runoff coefficient= 0.716 Step 3 Required Ibmp= 0.333
P2yr-1hr= 0.598 Step 4 (See Attached) Qbmp = 0.423 cfs Flow control BMP
C1 Valley = 1.4807 Step 5 Modular Wetland MW-1 8X16 ftXft Proposed Size
P6 = 0.885 Step 5 Proposed treatment Capacity 0.462 cfs > Required flow rate
Drawdown Time = 48 hour Step 6
C2 (For 48 hour)= 1.963 Step 7
DCV = 7997 cft Step 7
P0= 1.244

MODULAR WETLAND #2

Tributary Area DA-2 63501 sf Step 1
Pervious area 6985 sf Site condition Area = 1.46 AC
Impervious area 56516 sf Site condition Ibmp= 0.167
Percent Imperviousness 89% Site condition FS= 2
Runoff coefficient= 0.716 Step 3 Required Ibmp= 0.333
P2yr-1hr= 0.598 Step 4 (See Attached) Qbmp = 0.348 cfs Flow control BMP
C1 Valley = 1.4807 Step 5 Modular Wetland MW-2 8X16 ftXft Proposed Size
P6 = 0.885 Step 5 Proposed treatment Capacity 0.462 cfs > Required flow rate
Drawdown Time = 48 hour Step 6
C2 (For 48 hour)= 1.963 Step 7
DCV = 6585 cft Step 7
P0= 1.244

MODULAR WETLAND #3

Tributary Area DA-3 65174 sf Step 1
Pervious area 7169 sf Site condition Area = 1.50 AC
Impervious area 58005 sf Site condition Ibmp= 0.167
Percent Imperviousness 89% Site condition FS= 2
Runoff coefficient= 0.716 Step 3 Required Ibmp= 0.333
P2yr-1hr= 0.598 Step 4 (See Attached) Qbmp = 0.357 cfs Flow control BMP
C1 Valley = 1.4807 Step 5 Modular Wetland MW-3 8X16 ftXft Proposed Size
P6 = 0.885 Step 5 Proposed treatment Capacity 0.462 cfs > Required flow rate
Drawdown Time = 48 hour Step 6
C2 (For 48 hour)= 1.963 Step 7
DCV = 6758 cft Step 7
P0= 1.244

Qbmp Euclid and Walnut, ONTARIO (PWQMP)

Biotreatment (Modular Wetland) Sizing Calculation

Qbmp Euclid and Walnut, ONTARIO (PWQMP)
Biotreatment (Modular Wetland) Sizing Calculation

Qbmp Euclid and Walnut, ONTARIO (PWQMP)

Biotreatment (Modular Wetland) Sizing Calculation

Item D - 442 of 1893



MODULAR WETLAND #4

Tributary Area DA-4 57596 sf Step 1
Pervious area 6336 sf Site condition Area = 1.32 AC
Impervious area 51260 sf Site condition Ibmp= 0.167
Percent Imperviousness 89% Site condition FS= 2
Runoff coefficient= 0.716 Step 3 Required Ibmp= 0.333
P2yr-1hr= 0.598 Step 4 (See Attached) Qbmp = 0.316 cfs Flow control BMP
C1 Valley = 1.4807 Step 5 Modular Wetland MW-4 8X12 ftXft Proposed Size
P6 = 0.885 Step 5 Proposed treatment Capacity 0.346 cfs > Required flow rate
Drawdown Time = 48 hour Step 6
C2 (For 48 hour)= 1.963 Step 7
DCV = 5972 cft Step 7
P0= 1.244

MODULAR WETLAND #5

Tributary Area DA-5 82585 sf Step 1
Pervious area 9084 sf Site condition Area = 1.90 AC
Impervious area 73501 sf Site condition Ibmp= 0.167
Percent Imperviousness 89% Site condition FS= 2
Runoff coefficient= 0.716 Step 3 Required Ibmp= 0.333
P2yr-1hr= 0.598 Step 4 (See Attached) Qbmp = 0.453 cfs Flow control BMP
C1 Valley = 1.4807 Step 5 Modular Wetland MW-5 8X16 ftXft Proposed Size
P6 = 0.885 Step 5 Proposed treatment Capacity 0.462 cfs > Required flow rate
Drawdown Time = 48 hour Step 6
C2 (For 48 hour)= 1.963 Step 7
DCV = 8564 cft Step 7
P0= 1.244

MODULAR WETLAND #6

Tributary Area DA-6 30034 sf Step 1
Pervious area 3304 sf Site condition Area = 0.69 AC
Impervious area 26730 sf Site condition Ibmp= 0.167
Percent Imperviousness 89% Site condition FS= 2
Runoff coefficient= 0.716 Step 3 Required Ibmp= 0.333
P2yr-1hr= 0.598 Step 4 (See Attached) Qbmp = 0.165 cfs Flow control BMP
C1 Valley = 1.4807 Step 5 Modular Wetland MW-6 8X8 ftXft Proposed Size
P6 = 0.885 Step 5 Proposed treatment Capacity 0.231 cfs > Required flow rate
Drawdown Time = 48 hour Step 6
C2 (For 48 hour)= 1.963 Step 7
DCV = 3114 cft Step 7
P0= 1.244

Biotreatment (Modular Wetland) Sizing Calculation

Qbmp Euclid and Walnut, ONTARIO (PWQMP)

Biotreatment (Modular Wetland) Sizing Calculation

Qbmp Euclid and Walnut, ONTARIO (PWQMP)

Biotreatment (Modular Wetland) Sizing Calculation

Qbmp Euclid and Walnut, ONTARIO (PWQMP)

Item D - 443 of 1893



MODULAR WETLAND #7

Tributary Area DA-7 42385 sf Step 1
Pervious area 4662 sf Site condition Area = 0.97 AC
Impervious area 37723 sf Site condition Ibmp= 0.167
Percent Imperviousness 89% Site condition FS= 2
Runoff coefficient= 0.716 Step 3 Required Ibmp= 0.333
P2yr-1hr= 0.598 Step 4 (See Attached) Qbmp = 0.232 cfs Flow control BMP
C1 Valley = 1.4807 Step 5 Modular Wetland MW-6 8X12 ftXft Proposed Size
P6 = 0.885 Step 5 Proposed treatment Capacity 0.346 cfs > Required flow rate
Drawdown Time = 48 hour Step 6
C2 (For 48 hour)= 1.963 Step 7
DCV = 4395 cft Step 7
P0= 1.244

Qbmp Euclid and Walnut, ONTARIO (PWQMP)

Biotreatment (Modular Wetland) Sizing Calculation

Item D - 444 of 1893



     MWS LINEAR 2.0 HGL SIZING MATRIX - 2.1 gpm/sf Prefilter

MWS MODEL SIZE
WETLAND 
PERIMETER 
LENGTH

LOADING 
RATE 

GPM/SF

HGL HEIGHT

SHALLOW MODELS
STANDARD 
HEIGHT 
MODEL

HIGH CAPACITY MODELS

6.04.8 5.0 5.2

SI
D
E 
BY

 S
ID
E 
U
N
IT
S

MWS‐L‐4‐4 6.70 1.0

4.2 4.4 4.63.0 3.2 3.4 3.6 3.8 4.01.8 2.0 2.2 2.4 2.6 5.4 5.6 5.82.81.4 1.6

1.4 1.5 1.6 1.7 1.8 1.90.8 0.9 1.0 1.1 1.2 1.3 2.7 2.8 2.9 3.0 3.1 3.22.0 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6

0.040 0.043 0.046 0.049 0.052 0.0550.022 0.025 0.028 0.031 0.034 0.037 0.077 0.080 0.083 0.086 0.089 0.0920.058 0.062 0.065 0.068 0.071 0.074

1.0

MWS‐L‐4‐6 9.30 1.0 0.030 0.034 0.038 0.043 0.047

3.0 3.1 3.3 3.42.1 2.2 2.4 2.5 2.7 2.81.2 1.3 1.5 1.6 1.8 1.9

0.060 0.064 0.068 0.073

3.9 4.0 4.2 4.3 4.53.6 3.7

0.128

MWS‐L‐4‐6.33 9.30 1.0

0.102 0.107 0.111 0.115 0.120 0.1240.077 0.081 0.085 0.090 0.094 0.0980.051 0.055

1.0 1.0 1.1 1.2 1.4 1.5 1.6 1.60.5 0.6 0.7 0.7 1.4 1.5

0.030 0.034 0.038 0.043 0.047 0.051 0.055 0.060

1.7 1.8 1.9 1.9 2.0 2.11.3 1.30.8 0.9

0.128

MWS‐L‐4‐8 14.80 1.0

0.090 0.094 0.098 0.102 0.107 0.1110.064 0.068 0.073 0.077 0.081 0.085

0.8

0.115 0.120 0.124

0.048 0.054 0.061 0.068 0.075

1.6 1.7 1.7 1.81.7 1.8 1.9 2.0 2.1 1.51.0 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5

0.095 0.102 0.109 0.115

2.1 2.1

0.143 0.149 0.1560.082 0.088

2.2 2.3 2.41.9 2.0

0.204

EN
D
 T
O
 E
N
D
 U
N
IT
S

MWS‐L‐4‐13 18.40 1.0

0.163 0.170 0.177 0.183 0.190 0.1970.122 0.129 0.136

0.9 1.0 1.0 1.10.5 0.6 0.7 2.1 1.4 1.5

0.059 0.068 0.076 0.084 0.093 0.101 0.110

1.6 1.7 1.8 1.9 1.9 2.01.2 1.3 1.3 1.4 1.5 1.60.7 0.8

0.245 0.253

MWS‐L‐4‐15 22.40 1.0

0.169 0.177 0.186 0.194 0.203 0.2110.118 0.127 0.135 0.144 0.152 0.160 0.220 0.228 0.236

1.2 1.3 1.4 1.4 1.5 1.60.6 0.7 0.8 0.9 1.0 1.1 1.5 1.6 1.6 1.7

0.072 0.082 0.093 0.103

1.7 1.81.7 1.8 1.9 2.0 2.1 1.4

0.134 0.144 0.154 0.165 0.175 0.1850.113 0.123 0.257 0.267 0.278 0.288 0.298 0.3080.195 0.206 0.216 0.226 0.236 0.247

0.7

MWS‐L‐4‐17 26.40 1.0 0.085 0.097 0.109 0.121 0.133

2.1 1.5 1.6 1.61.5 1.6 1.7 1.8 1.9 2.00.8 1.0 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4

0.170 0.182 0.194 0.206

1.8 1.9 2.0 2.1 2.11.7 1.8

0.364

MWS‐L‐4‐19 30.40 1.0

0.291 0.303 0.315 0.327 0.339 0.3510.218 0.230 0.242 0.254 0.267 0.2790.145 0.158

1.6 1.7 1.8 2.0 1.5 1.6 1.7 1.80.9 1.0 1.1 1.2 2.4 2.4

0.098 0.112 0.126 0.140 0.153 0.167 0.181 0.195

1.9 2.0 2.0 2.1 2.2 2.32.1 1.51.3 1.5

0.419

MWS‐L‐4‐21 34.40 1.0

0.293 0.307 0.321 0.335 0.349 0.3630.209 0.223 0.237 0.251 0.265 0.279

1.0

0.377 0.391 0.405

0.111 0.126 0.142 0.158 0.174

1.8 1.9 2.0 2.11.9 2.1 1.5 1.6 1.7 1.81.1 1.2 1.4 1.5 1.7 1.8

0.221 0.237 0.253 0.268

2.4 2.5

0.332 0.347 0.3630.189 0.205

2.6 2.7 2.82.2 2.3

0.474

SI
D
E 
BY

 S
ID
E 
U
N
IT
S

MWS‐L‐6‐8 18.80 1.0

0.379 0.395 0.411 0.426 0.442 0.4580.284 0.300 0.316

1.2 1.3 1.4 1.50.7 0.8 0.9 1.4 1.5 1.5

0.060 0.069 0.078 0.086 0.095 0.104 0.112

1.1 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.3 1.41.6 1.7 1.8 1.9 2.0 2.11.0 1.1

0.250 0.259

MWS‐L‐8‐8 29.60 1.0

0.173 0.181 0.190 0.198 0.207 0.2160.121 0.129 0.138 0.147 0.155 0.164 0.224 0.233 0.242

1.5 1.7 1.8 1.9 2.0 2.10.8 1.0 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 2.0 2.1 2.1 2.2

0.095 0.109 0.122 0.136

2.3 2.41.5 1.6 1.7 1.7 1.8 1.9

0.177 0.190 0.204 0.217 0.231 0.2450.149 0.163 0.340 0.353 0.367 0.380 0.394 0.4080.258 0.272 0.285 0.299 0.312 0.326

0.8

MWS‐L‐8‐12 44.40 1.0 0.143 0.163 0.183 0.204 0.224

1.6 1.7 1.7 1.81.7 1.8 1.9 2.0 2.1 1.51.0 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5

0.285 0.306 0.326 0.346

2.1 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.41.9 2.0

0.611

MWS‐L‐8‐16 59.20 1.0

0.489 0.509 0.530 0.550 0.571 0.5910.367 0.387 0.408 0.428 0.448 0.4690.245 0.265

1.5 1.7 1.8 1.9 1.5 1.6 1.7 1.70.8 1.0 1.1 1.2 2.3 2.4

0.190 0.217 0.245 0.272 0.299 0.326 0.353 0.380

1.8 1.9 2.0 2.1 2.1 2.22.0 2.11.3 1.4

0.734 0.761 0.788 0.815

MWS‐L‐8‐20 74.00 1.0

0.571 0.598 0.625 0.652 0.679 0.7060.408 0.435 0.462 0.489 0.516 0.543

1.2 1.3 1.4 1.50.8 2.1 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4

0.238 0.272 0.306 0.340 0.374

1.6 1.7 1.7 1.8 1.9 2.01.7 1.8 1.9 2.0 2.1 1.51.0 1.1

0.679 0.713 0.747 0.7810.408 0.442 0.476 0.509 0.543 0.577

0.8 1.0 1.1 1.2

1.019

MWS‐L‐8‐24 88.80 1.0

0.815 0.849 0.883 0.917 0.951 0.9850.611 0.645

1.5 1.6 1.7 1.71.3 1.4 1.5 1.7 1.8 1.9

0.611 0.652 0.693 0.734 0.774 0.815

2.3 2.4

0.285 0.326 0.367 0.408 0.448 0.489 0.530 0.571

1.8 1.9 2.0 2.1 2.1 2.22.0 2.1

1.101 1.141 1.182 1.2230.856 0.897 0.937 0.978 1.019 1.060

Item D - 445 of 1893

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Line

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Line

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Line

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Ellipse

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Ellipse

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Ellipse



BMP DETAIL 
 

 

 

• Modular Wetland by Bio-Clean Environmental (Contech) 

• List of Certified Trash Full Capture Systems by Water Resources Control 

Board 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item D - 446 of 1893



PLAN VIEW

ELEVATION VIEW
RIGHT END VIEW

LEFT END VIEW

SITE SPECIFIC DATA

GENERAL NOTES

INSTALLATION NOTES

STANDARD DETAIL
STORMWATER BIOFILTRATION SYSTEM

MWS-L-8-12-V-UG
FOR PATENT INFORMATION, GO TO

www.ContechES.com/IP

Item D - 447 of 1893

AutoCAD SHX Text
C/L

AutoCAD SHX Text
C/L

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERTICAL UNDERDRAIN MANIFOLD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRE-FILTER CARTRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATENTED PERIMETER VOID AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLANDMEDIA BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAIN DOWN LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET PIPE SEE NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLET PIPE SEE NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
C/L

AutoCAD SHX Text
C/L

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" MIN. BASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
C/L

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HATCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREATMENT FLOW (CFS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPERATING HEAD (FT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRETREATMENT LOADING RATE (GPM/SF)

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND MEDIA LOADING RATE (GPM/SF)

AutoCAD SHX Text
 PROJECT NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
 PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
 PROJECT LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
 STRUCTURE ID

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREATMENT REQUIRED

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOW BASED (CFS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
 PEAK BYPASS REQUIRED (CFS) - IF APPLICABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPE DATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
I.E.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATERIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIAMETER

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET PIPE 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET PIPE 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLET PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRETREATMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIOFILTRATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DISCHARGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURFACE LOAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
1. MANUFACTURER TO PROVIDE ALL MATERIALS UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. MANUFACTURER TO PROVIDE ALL MATERIALS UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. 2. ALL DIMENSIONS, ELEVATIONS, SPECIFICATIONS AND CAPACITIES ARE SUBJECT TO ALL DIMENSIONS, ELEVATIONS, SPECIFICATIONS AND CAPACITIES ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE. FOR PROJECT SPECIFIC DRAWINGS DETAILING EXACT DIMENSIONS, WEIGHTS AND ACCESSORIES PLEASE CONTACT CONTECH.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE ALL LABOR, EQUIPMENT, MATERIALS AND CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE ALL LABOR, EQUIPMENT, MATERIALS AND INCIDENTALS REQUIRED TO OFFLOAD AND INSTALL THE SYSTEM AND APPURTENANCES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THIS DRAWING AND THE MANUFACTURERS' SPECIFICATIONS, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED IN MANUFACTURER'S CONTRACT. 2. UNIT MUST BE INSTALLED ON LEVEL BASE.  MANUFACTURER UNIT MUST BE INSTALLED ON LEVEL BASE.  MANUFACTURER RECOMMENDS A MINIMUM 6" LEVEL ROCK BASE UNLESS SPECIFIED BY THE PROJECT ENGINEER. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING PROJECT ENGINEER'S RECOMMENDED BASE SPECIFICATIONS. 4. CONTRACTOR TO SUPPLY AND INSTALL ALL EXTERNAL CONNECTING CONTRACTOR TO SUPPLY AND INSTALL ALL EXTERNAL CONNECTING PIPES. ALL PIPES MUST BE FLUSH WITH INSIDE SURFACE OF CONCRETE (PIPES CANNOT INTRUDE BEYOND FLUSH). INVERT OF OUTFLOW PIPE MUST BE FLUSH WITH DISCHARGE CHAMBER FLOOR.  ALL PIPES SHALL BE SEALED WATERTIGHT PER MANUFACTURER'S STANDARD CONNECTION DETAIL. 5. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR INSTALLATION OF ALL PIPES, RISERS, CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR INSTALLATION OF ALL PIPES, RISERS, MANHOLES, AND HATCHES. CONTRACTOR TO USE GROUT AND/OR BRICKS TO MATCH COVERS WITH FINISHED SURFACE UNLESS SPECIFIED OTHERWISE. 6. VEGETATION SUPPLIED AND INSTALLED BY OTHERS. ALL UNITS WITH VEGETATION SUPPLIED AND INSTALLED BY OTHERS. ALL UNITS WITH VEGETATION MUST HAVE DRIP OR SPRAY IRRIGATION SUPPLIED AND INSTALLED BY OTHERS. 7. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR CONTACTING CONTECH FOR ACTIVATION CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR CONTACTING CONTECH FOR ACTIVATION OF UNIT. MANUFACTURER'S WARRANTY IS VOID WITHOUT PROPER ACTIVATION BY A CONTECH REPRESENTATIVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES:

https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands
https://www.conteches.com/modular-wetlands


Page 1 of 10

State Water Resources Control Board

Certified Trash Full Capture Systems Available to the Public  
(Updated October 13, 2022)

Trash Provisions
To qualify as a trash full capture system (System) as described below and satisfy the 
requirements of the Trash Provisions,1 a System installed after December 2, 2015, must 
be certified, prior to installation, by the State Water Resources Control Board (State 
Water Board) Executive Director, or designee, that meets the full capture system 
definition. The Trash Provisions define a full capture system as a treatment control, or 
series of treatment controls, including but not limited to, a multi-benefit project or a low 
impact development control that traps all particles that are 5-millimeter or greater, and 
has a design treatment capacity that is either:

1. Of not less than the peak flow rate resulting from a one-year, one-hour storm event 
(design storm) in the subdrainage area, or

2. Appropriately sized and designed to carry at least the same flows as the 
corresponding storm drain.

Consistent with these requirements, the Systems shall not bypass trash below the 
design storm under maximum operational loading conditions and shall not have a 
diversion structure present upstream such that a portion of the peak flow is not treated 
to trap all particles 5-millimeter or greater. 

Vector Control Accessibility
According to the California Health and Safety Code,2 California landowners are legally 
responsible to abate (eliminate the source of) a public nuisance arising from their 
property, including mosquitoes. Mosquito vector control districts have substantial 
authority to access public and private property, inspect known or suspected sources of 

1 Amendment to the Water Quality Control Plan for Ocean Waters of California to 
Control Trash and Part 1 Trash Provisions of the Water Quality Control Plan for Inland 
Surface Waters, Enclosed Bays, and Estuaries of California adopted by the State 
Water Board.

2 Health & Safety Code sections 2001-2002, 2060-2067, 100170, and 131075.

Item D - 448 of 1893



Certified Trash Full Capture Systems Available to the Public

Page 2 of 10

mosquitoes, abate mosquito sources, and charge the landowner for work performed 
and/or charge fees if a landowner is unwilling or unable to address a mosquito source 
arising from their property. 

If not designed properly, a System may impede the mosquito vector control district’s 
ability to (1) visually inspect the System and/or storm vault for mosquito breeding, and 
(2) apply the appropriate chemical treatment. Moreover, some Systems may create a 
habitat for mosquitoes.

All the Systems in the tables below have been reviewed and approved by the Mosquito 
Vector Control Association of California for vector control accessibility. However, prior to 
installation of any Systems, the local mosquito vector control district should be 
contacted to ensure the installation conforms to the local district’s visual inspection, 
treatment, and vector breeding minimizing guidelines. The Mosquito Vector Control 
Association of California may also be contacted via email at 
Trashtreatment@mvcac.org. 

Certified Trash Full Capture System Tables 

The Systems included in the tables below are: 1) new Systems certified by the State 
Water Board Executive Director after adoption of the Trash Provisions, and 2) legacy 
Systems that were certified pursuant to the Trash Provisions include those full capture 
systems that were listed in Appendix I of the Bay Area-wide Trash Capture 
Demonstration Project, Final Project Report (May 8, 2014). All Systems remain certified 
unless and until they are decertified by the State Water Board’s Executive Director or 
designee. Legacy Systems’ descriptions are included in “fact sheets” that have been 
updated to address the application requirements for new Systems.

The tables do not include the Department of Transportation’s Systems as its Systems 
are not available to the public. Multi-benefit trash treatment systems are listed 
separately on the State Water Board’s Trash Implementation webpage at: 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/stormwater/trash_implementati
on.html. 

Systems are either identified by their application number or, for legacy Systems, by a 
fact sheet alpha numeric designation. 

Please note: Only Systems originally manufactured or distributed by the listed 
applicants are certified full capture systems.

The alphabetical tables of System applicants are divided into two categories:

· Catch Basin Inserts and Other Insert Systems. These Systems typically are 
inserted into existing stormwater infrastructure; and

Item D - 449 of 1893

mailto:Trashtreatment@mvcac.org
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/stormwater/docs/trash_implementation/2022/list-full-capture-by-owner-08-22.pdf


Certified Trash Full Capture Systems Available to the Public

Page 3 of 10

· High Flow Capacity Trash Full Capture Systems. These Systems are generally 
self-contained units that typically are not inserted into existing stormwater 
infrastructure and that are designed to treat trash from large drainage areas.

How to Access Certified System Applications and Legacy System Fact Sheets

Other than those applications pertaining to the Department of Transportation’s certified 
Systems, all certified System applications and legacy System fact sheets may be 
obtained from the California Stormwater Quality Association’s trash webpage at: 
https://www.casqa.org/resources/trash/certified-full-capture-system-trash-treatment-
control-devices. To obtain the Department of Transportation’s certified applications, 
please contact Leo Cosentini (contact information below).

All questions concerning the Trash Provisions and the tables below should be directed 
to Leo Cosentini by email at Leo.Cosentini@waterboards.ca.gov or by phone at 
(916) 341-5524. 

Item D - 450 of 1893

https://www.casqa.org/resources/trash/certified-full-capture-system-trash-treatment-control-devices
https://www.casqa.org/resources/trash/certified-full-capture-system-trash-treatment-control-devices
mailto:Leo.Cosentini@waterboards.ca.gov


Certified Trash Full Capture Systems Available to the Public

Page 8 of 10

TABLE 2. High Flow Capacity Trash Full Capture Systems

Applicant/Owner Full Capture System Name
Date of Application 

Certification and Update 
(if applicable), or Fact 

Sheet Update

Date of Vector 
Control 

Accessibility 
Approval 

Advanced Drainage Systems, 
Inc. Barracuda Hydrodynamic Separator 

Application 21 
06/26/19 

Updated 05/21/21
03/15/19

AquaShield, Inc. Aqua-Swirl® Stormwater Treatment 
System

Application 1 
08/04/17 

Updated 11/06/20
12/03/20

Bio Clean® Environmental 
Services, Inc. Debris Separating Baffle Box Application 6 

03/15/18 07/28/20

Bio Clean® Environmental 
Services, Inc. Bio Clean® Deflective Screening Device Application 20 

06/26/19 07/28/20

Bio Clean® Environmental 
Services, Inc. Modular Wetland System® Application 15 

07/10/18 03/15/19

Coanda Inc. Coanda Trash Screen and Debris Fence
Fact Sheet COA-1 

12/02/15 
Updated 09/10/21

09/07/21

Item D - 451 of 1893

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Highlight
Bio Clean® Environmental Services, Inc.

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Highlight
Modular Wetland System® 

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Highlight
Application 15 07/10/18

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Highlight
03/15/19



INFILTRATION TESTING RESULTS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item D - 452 of 1893



GEOTECHNICAL EXPLORATION REPORT 
PROPOSED EUCLID AND WALNUT 

MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT 
112 WALNUT STREET, 2502 AND 2530 EUCLID AVENUE 

ONTARIO, CALIFORNIA 

Prepared For LEGACY/COLLIER RESIDENTIAL, LLC 
5154 CALIFORNIA AVENUE 
IRVINE, CALIFORNIA 92617 

Prepared By LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
17781 COWAN 
IRVINE, CALIFORNIA 92614 

Project No. 13493.001 

May 13, 2022 

Item D - 453 of 1893



 
 

May 13, 2022 
Project No. 13493.001 

Legacy/Collier Residential, LLC 
5154 California Avenue 
Irvine, California 92617 
 
Attention: Mr. David Pinto 
 
Subject: Geotechnical Exploration Report 
  Proposed “Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use” Development 
  112 Walnut Street, 2502 and 2530 Euclid Avenue 
 Ontario, San Bernardino County, California 
 
 
In accordance with our March 30, 2022 proposal, Leighton and Associates, Inc. submits this 
geotechnical engineering report for the proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development 
located at 112 Walnut Street, 2502 and 2530 Euclid Avenue in the City of Ontario, California.  The 
purpose of our study was to evaluate the subsurface soil and groundwater conditions at the site to 
provide geotechnical recommendations for the design and construction of the proposed concept as 
currently planned. The results of our exploration, findings, conclusions and recommendations are 
presented in this report.  
 
The recommendations presented in this report are considered to be preliminary and subject to 
revision based upon the limited information regarding the proposed development.  Upon review of 
project design concept plans, revision to the recommendations may be considered necessary.  In 
addition, revision to design recommendations may be necessary upon review by the local building 
official or their designated, third party technical reviewer. 
 
We sincerely appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you.  If you have any questions or if we 
can be of further service, please contact us at (866) LEIGHTON; directly at the phone extensions or 
e-mail as listed below. 
  
Respectfully submitted, 

 
LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 

 
 
 
 

 
Eric M. Holliday, PG, 9219      John E. Haertle, PE, GE 2352 
Senior Project Geologist     Principal Engineer 
Ext 4252, eholliday@leightongroup.com    Ext: 4268, jhaertle@leightongroup.com 

 
EMH/JEH/ lr 

Item D - 454 of 1893

mailto:eholliday@leightongroup.com
mailto:jhaertle@leightongroup.com


Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

TOC Page i  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
Section Page 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................. 1 

1.1 Site Description .......................................................................................... 1 
1.2 Proposed Development ............................................................................. 1 

1.2.1 Structural Loads .............................................................................. 2 
1.2.2 Finish Floor Elevations .................................................................... 2 
1.2.3 Pavement ........................................................................................ 2 
1.2.4 Ancillary Improvements ................................................................... 3 

1.3 Purpose and Scope ................................................................................... 3 

2.0 GEOTECHNICAL FINDINGS ............................................................................... 6 

2.1 Regional Geologic Setting ......................................................................... 6 
2.2 Surficial Geology ........................................................................................ 6 
2.3 Subsurface Soil Conditions ........................................................................ 6 

2.3.1 Undocumented Artificial Fill (Afu) .................................................... 7 
2.3.2 Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Fan Deposits (Qyf) ...................... 7 

2.4 Engineering Properties .............................................................................. 7 

2.4.1 Expansive Soil Characteristics ........................................................ 7 
2.4.2 Soil Corrosivity ................................................................................ 8 
2.4.3 Soil Compressibility ......................................................................... 8 
2.4.4 Shear Strength ................................................................................ 9 
2.4.5 Excavation Characteristics .............................................................. 9 

2.5 Groundwater Conditions ............................................................................ 9 
2.6 Infiltration ................................................................................................. 10 

3.0 SEISMIC AND GEOLOGIC  HAZARDS ............................................................ 12 

3.1 Surface Fault Rupture .............................................................................. 12 
3.2 Regional Faulting ..................................................................................... 12 
3.3 Strong Ground Shaking ........................................................................... 12 
3.4 Liquefaction Potential............................................................................... 14 
3.5 Seismically-Induced Settlement ............................................................... 14 
3.6 Lateral Spreading .................................................................................... 15 
3.7 Earthquake-Induced Landsliding ............................................................. 16 
3.8 Flooding ................................................................................................... 16 
3.9 Seiches and Tsunamis............................................................................. 16 
3.10 Methane ................................................................................................... 17 

4.0 FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS ...................................................................... 18 

5.0 GEOTECHNICAL DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS .......................................... 19 

Item D - 455 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 
 

TOC Page ii 

5.1 Earthwork ................................................................................................. 19 

5.1.1 Site Preparation ............................................................................ 20 
5.1.2 Removals and Overexcavations .................................................... 20 
5.1.3 Subgrade Preparation ................................................................... 21 
5.1.4 Fill Placement and Compaction..................................................... 22 
5.1.5 Shrinkage and Bulking .................................................................. 22 
5.1.6 Reuse of Concrete and Asphalt Rubble ........................................ 23 

5.2 Foundation Design ................................................................................... 24 

5.2.1 Vertical Load Bearing Capacity ..................................................... 24 
5.2.2 Lateral Load Resistance ............................................................... 25 
5.2.3 Settlement Estimate ...................................................................... 26 

5.3 Slab-on-Grade Floors .............................................................................. 26 
5.4 Temporary Excavations ........................................................................... 27 
5.5 Trench Backfill ......................................................................................... 28 
5.6 Soil Corrosivity ......................................................................................... 29 
5.7 Cement Type ........................................................................................... 30 
5.8 Elevator Pit Wall Design .......................................................................... 31 
5.9 Pavements ............................................................................................... 31 

5.9.1 Pavement Subgrades .................................................................... 31 
5.9.2 Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) Pavement Sections .................................. 31 
5.9.3 Portland Cement Concrete (PCC) Pavements .............................. 33 

5.10 Concrete Flatwork and Exterior Slabs...................................................... 33 
 Surface .................................................................................................... 34 
5.11 Drainage .................................................................................................. 34 
5.12 Additional Geotechnical Services ............................................................ 35 

6.0 LIMITATIONS ..................................................................................................... 36 

7.0 REFERENCES ................................................................................................... 38 

 
Tables 
 
Table 1 – Measured (Unfactored) Infiltration Rate ........................................................ 10 
Table 2 – 2019 CBC Based Ground Motion Parameters (Mapped Values) .................. 13 
Table 3 – Seismically-Induced Settlement - MCEG Seismic Event ................................ 15 
Table 4 – Soil Corrosivity as a Function of Resistivity ................................................... 29 
Table 5 – Summary of Corrosivity Testing .................................................................... 30 
Table 6 – Asphalt Pavement Sections ........................................................................... 32 
 
  

Item D - 456 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 
 

TOC Page iii 

Attachments 
 
Important Information About Your Geotechnical Engineering Report   Rear of Text 
 
Figure 1 – Site Location Map Rear of Text 
Figure 2 – Geotechnical Map Rear of Text 
Figure 3 – Regional Geology Map Rear of Text 
Figure 4 – Regional Fault Map and Historical Seismicity Map Rear of Text 
Figure 5 – Flood Hazard Zone Map Rear of Text 
Figure 6 – Dam Inundation Map Rear of Text 
Figure 7 – Retaining Wall Backfill and Subdrain Detail (EI≤50) Rear of Text 
 
Appendix A – Exploration Logs 
Appendix B – Percolation Test Data 
Appendix C – Laboratory Test Results 
Appendix D – General Earthworks and Grading Recommendations 

Item D - 457 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 1 

1.0  INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Site Description  

The project site is a rectangular parcel of land, approximately 10.6-acres in size, 
located at the northwest corner of Walnut Street and Euclid Avenue in the city of 
Ontario, California. The site consists of the properties located at the street 
addresses of 112 W. Walnut Street, and 2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue.  The 
site is bordered by Euclid Avenue on the east, Walnut Street to the south, and 
residential development on the west and north.  The southeastern region of the 
property is occupied by an existing Carl’s Jr. restaurant.   The site location (latitude 
34.0275°, longitude -117.6524°) and immediate vicinity are shown on Figure 1, 
Site Location Map.   
 
Based on visual site reconnaissance and review of the Alta/NSPS Land Title 
Survey prepared by Hillwig-Goodrow Inc., the site is currently occupied by a large 
rectangular-shaped structure formerly used as a K-Mart store located in the 
western portion of the site, and a strip mall retail development in the northeast 
region.  The remainder of the site was generally paved with asphalt concrete and 
served as the parking lot for the development.  The property is relatively flat, 
generally level with the adjacent roadways with site elevations (EL.) ranging from 
approximately EL. +823 feet above mean sea level (msl) in the northeastern region 
to approximately EL. +812 feet msl in the southwest region.  
 
Based on review of historic aerial photographs (NETR, 2021), the project site 
appears to have a similar configuration dating back to at least 1985. The strip mall 
located in the northeast corner of the site was constructed between 1980 and 1985 
and the K-Mart and Carl’s Jr. structures were constructed at some point between 
1966 and 1980. Prior to at least 1966, the site seems to have been used for 
agricultural purposes. 

1.2 Proposed Development   

Our understanding of the proposed development is based on review of the Euclid 
and Walnut Mixed Use Site Plan Options A and B, Scale 1” = 100’, dated March 
10, 2022, prepared by AO Architects (AOA, 2022). The development conceptually 
consists of two options for a proposed mixed-use development with 3- to 4-story 
residential and commercial structures: 

Item D - 458 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 2 

• Option A includes a total of 346 residential units in 8 structures with 5,000 
square feet of commercial development. In the Option A development scheme 
it appears the existing Carl’s Jr. restaurant in the southeast corner of the site 
will remain.  

• Option B consists of full-site development with 376 residential units in 10 
structures with 11,400 square feet of commercial development.  

We understand the current preferred option for development is Option A and, 
therefore, is the development scheme that serves as the basis for the geotechnical 
recommendations presented in this report.  Ancillary improvements will include 
pavement for vehicle access and parking, landscaping, utility infrastructure, and 
flatwork. 

1.2.1 Structural Loads 

Information regarding total building height, finish floor elevations, and 
proposed loading conditions were not readily available at the time of this 
report. However, we understand that subterranean levels are not currently 
planned.  Based upon the type of development planned for project site and 
our experience with similar developments, the buildings have been 
assumed to consist of wood frame structures supported by load bearing wall 
and isolated columns.  Structural loads have been assumed to be a 
maximum of 3 kips per lineal foot for bearing walls and 40 kips for columns,  
Should additional design information become available, it should be 
provided to Leighton for review.  

1.2.2 Finish Floor Elevations 

The finish first floor elevations of the proposed structures have been 
assumed to be within 1 to 2 feet of existing grade with floor elevations 
established or minimize cut and fill required on site.  The actual quantity of 
cut and fill will be dependent upon the actual floor elevations determined by 
the project civil engineer and the quantity of overexcavation required to 
prepare building pad areas.  

1.2.3 Pavement 

Pavements proposed for the development are expected to be primarily 
subjected to automobiles and occasional heavy truck traffic. Pavement 

Item D - 459 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 3 

recommendations have been based upon a Traffic Index of 4.0 for 
automobile parking stalls; 5.0 for general purpose drive aisles; and 6.0 for 
areas subject to heavy trucks. Pavement recommendations have been 
based upon a twenty-year design life.  

1.2.4 Ancillary Improvements 

Based on email correspondence with Mr. Steve Ellis with Fuscoe 
Engineering, Inc., we understand preliminary infiltration system design is 
considering an invert depth of 15 feet below ground surface (bgs) along the 
southern property line.  

1.3 Purpose and Scope  

The purpose of our geotechnical exploration was to evaluate the subsurface 
conditions at the site relative to the proposed development concept and provide 
geotechnical recommendations to aid in the design and construction for the project 
as currently planned.  The scope of this geotechnical exploration included the 
following tasks:  
 
• Background Review – We reviewed readily available in-house geotechnical 

reports, literature, aerial photographs, and maps relevant to the site.  We 
evaluated geological hazards and potential geotechnical issues that may 
significantly impact the site.  The documents reviewed are listed in Section 7.0.  

• Pre-Field Exploration Activities – A site visit was performed by a member of our 
technical staff to mark the proposed exploration locations. Underground 
Service Alert (USA) was notified to identify and mark the locations of existing 
underground utilities prior to our subsurface exploration. 

• Field Exploration – Our subsurface exploration was performed on April 6, 2022 
and included drilling, logging, and sampling of five (5) hollow-stem auger 
borings (designated LB-1 through LB-5) to approximate depths ranging from 
25 to 51½ feet below the existing ground surface (bgs).  One (1) additional 
boring (designated LP-2) was drilled to an approximate depth of 20 feet bgs for 
subsequent percolation testing.  To supplement the hollow-stem auger borings, 
four (4) Cone Penetrometer Test (CPT) soundings (designated CPT-1 through 
CPT-4) were advanced to depths of approximately 50 feet bgs. The 
approximate locations of the explorations are shown on Figure 2, Geotechnical 
Map.  The boring and CPT logs are presented in Appendix A, Exploration Logs. 

Item D - 460 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 4 

During drilling of the hollow-stem auger borings both bulk and drive samples 
were obtained from the borings for geotechnical laboratory testing.  Driven ring 
samples were collected from the borings using a Modified California ring-lined 
sampler conducted in accordance with ASTM Test Method D 3550.  
Representative samples were also collected by conducting the Standard 
Penetration Test (SPT) within the borings in accordance with ASTM Test 
Method D 1586.  Samples were collected at 5-foot intervals throughout the 
depth of exploration.  In both test methods, the sampler is driven below the 
bottom of the borehole by a 140-pound weight (hammer) free-falling 30 inches.  
The drilling rig was equipped with an automatic hammer to provide greater 
consistency in the drop height and striking frequency.  The number of blows to 
drive the sampler the final 12-inches of the 18-inch drive interval is termed the 
“blowcount” or SPT N-value.  The N-values provide a measure of relative 
density in granular (non-cohesive) soils and comparative consistency in 
cohesive soils. The number of blows per 6 inches of penetration was recorded 
on the boring logs included in Appendix A, Exploration Logs.   

The borings were logged in the field by a geologist from our firm.  Each soil 
sample collected was reviewed and described in accordance with the Unified 
Soil Classification System (USCS).  The samples were sealed and packaged 
for transportation to our laboratory.  After completion of drilling, the borings 
were backfilled with soil cuttings and patched with cold-mix asphalt concrete at 
the surface.      

• Percolation Testing – Boring LB-4 /LP-1 and LP-2 were converted to temporary 
percolation test wells upon completion of drilling and sampling.  The test wells 
consisted of 2-inch diameter slotted (0.020”) PVC well casing surrounded by 
#3 Monterey Sand placed in the annulus of the borehole within the test zone.  
In-situ percolation testing was performed in general accordance with the 
County of San Bernardino guidelines. The results of the percolation testing are 
presented in Appendix B, Percolation Test Data.  Additional details regarding 
the field percolation tests and results are presented in Section 2.4.1, Infiltration.  
Upon completion of the percolation testing, the well casing was removed from 
each boring and the borings were backfilled with soil cuttings and patched at 
the surface with cold-mix asphalt concrete to match existing site conditions. 

• Laboratory Testing – Laboratory tests were performed on selected soil samples 
obtained from the borings during our field exploration.  The laboratory testing 

Item D - 461 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 5 

program was designed to evaluate the physical and engineering characteristics 
of the onsite soil.  Tests performed during this exploration included:  

˗ In- situ Moisture Content and Dry Density (ASTM D2216 and ASTM D2937); 

˗ Atterberg Limits (ASTM D 4318) 

˗ Direct Shear (ASTM D 3080) 

˗ Consolidation (ASTM D 2435); 

˗ One Dimensional Swell or Settlement (ASTM D 4546) 

˗ Maximum Dry Density (ASTM D 1557); 

˗ Particle Size Distribution (ASTM D 6913); 

˗ Expansion Index (ASTM D 4829);  

˗ R-value (DOT CA Test 301) 

˗ Sand Equivalent Test (DOT CA Test 217); and 

˗ Corrosivity Suite – pH, Sulfate, Chloride, and Resistivity (California Test 
Methods 417, 422, and 532/643). 

Results of the in-situ moisture content and dry density testing are presented on 
the boring logs in Appendix A.  Other laboratory test results are presented in 
Appendix C, Laboratory Test Results  

• Engineering Analysis – The data obtained from our background review and field 
exploration were evaluated and analyzed to develop recommendations for the 
proposed development. 

• Report Preparation – This report presents our findings, conclusions, and 
recommendations for the proposed development. 

  

Item D - 462 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 6 

2.0  GEOTECHNICAL FINDINGS 

2.1 Regional Geologic Setting 

The project site is located in the Chino Basin in the northern portion of the 
Peninsular Ranges geomorphic province of California.  Major structural features 
surround this region, including the Cucamonga fault and the San Gabriel 
Mountains to the north, the Chino fault and Puente/Chino Hills to the west, and the 
San Jacinto fault to the east.  This is an area of large-scale crustal disturbance as 
the relatively northwestward moving Peninsular Ranges province collides with the 
Transverse Ranges province (San Gabriel Mountains) to the north. Several active 
and potentially active faults have been mapped in the region and are believed to 
accommodate compression associated with this collision.  The Sierra Madre fault, 
a major structural feature along the southern flank of the San Gabriel Mountains, 
is located approximately 8.3 miles north of the site.  This fault, as well as other 
faults in the region, has the potential for generating strong ground motions at the 
project site.  Further discussion of faulting relative to the site is provided in Section 
3.0, Seismic and Geologic Hazards. 
 
The site is located in an area underlain by thick accumulations of alluvial sand, silt, 
gravel, cobbles, and boulders eroded from the mountains and deposited in the site 
vicinity by the Santa Ana River and smaller tributaries such as the San Antonio 
Creek and Cucamonga Creek (Morton and Miller, 2006; Dibblee, 2002).    

2.2 Surficial Geology 

The Quaternary age deposits that cover the floor and margins of the Chino Basin 
are composed primarily of unconsolidated recent (Holocene) young alluvial fan 
deposits consisting predominately of sands and gravels derived from the 
surrounding mountains and hills with finer clays and silts deposited into the basin 
over the broad floodplain.  The surficial geologic units mapped in the vicinity of the 
project site are shown on Figure 3, Regional Geology Map.   

2.3 Subsurface Soil Conditions 

Based on our subsurface explorations, the site is underlain by a relatively thin 
mantle of undocumented artificial fill materials (Afu) overlying Quaternary-aged 
(Holocene) young alluvial fan deposits (Qyf).   
 
 

Item D - 463 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 7 

A general description of the encountered soils is presented as follows: 

2.3.1 Undocumented Artificial Fill (Afu)  

The artificial fill encountered in our borings extended to a depth of 
approximately 5 feet below grade and likely associated with the existing site 
improvements.  In general, the encountered fill soils consist primarily of 
sandy silt and silty sand.  Localized thicker accumulations of fill materials 
may be present between explored locations, particularly beneath the 
existing buildings.   

2.3.2 Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Fan Deposits (Qyf)  

Below the mantle of artificial fill material, Quaternary-aged young alluvial 
fan deposits were encountered in the borings to the maximum depth 
explored (approximately 51½  feet). As encountered, this younger alluvial 
unit consists of stiff to very stiff sandy silt, silty clay, and clay; interbedded 
with medium dense to dense silty sand, sand with silt, and sand with gravel.   
Although relatively variable across the site, in general, fine-grained material 
is more prevalent in the upper 15 to 25 feet with coarser grained material 
becoming more frequent at depths of 25 feet or greater.   

 
Detailed descriptions of the subsurface soils encountered in the borings are 
presented on the logs included in Appendix A.  The locations of the borings are 
shown on Figure 2, Geotechnical Location Map.  

2.4 Engineering Properties 

The results of laboratory testing are presented in Appendix C of this report.  
Discussion regarding select engineering properties of these soils are described in 
the following sections based upon the results of the laboratory testing program. 

2.4.1 Expansive Soil Characteristics 

Expansive soils contain significant amounts of clay particles that swell 
considerably when wetted and which shrink when dried.  Foundations 
constructed on these soils are subject to uplifting forces caused by the 
swelling.  Without proper mitigation measures, heaving and cracking of both 
building foundations and slabs-on-grade could result. 

 

Item D - 464 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 8 

One (1) near-surface bulk soil sample collected from Boring LB-1 was 
tested for expansion potential.  The test results indicate an Expansion Index 
(EI) value of 18, corresponding to a “Very Low” expansion potential.  The 
Expansion Index laboratory test results are included in Appendix C of this 
report.   
 
Variance in expansion potential of onsite soil is anticipated; therefore, 
additional testing is recommended upon completion of site grading and 
excavation to confirm the expansion potential presented in this report. For 
purposes of this report and based upon visual characterization of alluvial 
materials at approximate foundation depth, low expansion potential of site 
materials may be considered to support design and verified upon 
completion of earthwork grading.     

2.4.2 Soil Corrosivity  

One (1) near-surface bulk soil sample collected from Boring LB-3 was 
tested for corrosivity to assess corrosion potential to buried concrete.  The 
chemical analysis test results for the onsite soil from our geotechnical 
exploration are included in Appendix C of this report.   
 
The test results indicate a soluble sulfate concentration of 266 parts per 
million (ppm), chloride content of 40 ppm, pH 7.92, and a minimum 
resistivity value of 1,335 ohm-cm. 
 
The results of the resistivity tests indicate the underlying soil is severely 
corrosive to buried ferrous metals per ASTM STP 1013.  Based on the 
measured water-soluble sulfate contents from the soil samples, concrete in 
contact with the soil is expected to have negligible exposure to sulfate attack 
per ACI 318 (ACI, 2014).  The samples tested for water-soluble chloride 
content indicate a low potential for corrosion of steel in concrete due to the 
chloride content of the soil. 

2.4.3 Soil Compressibility  

Three (3) samples of the onsite soils recovered from the borings were 
subjected to consolidation testing to evaluate the compressibility of these 
materials under assumed loads representative of anticipated structural 
bearing stresses.  The results of testing indicate these soils exhibit a low 

Item D - 465 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 9 

compressibility potential.  The results of testing are presented in Appendix 
C. 

2.4.4 Shear Strength  

Evaluation of the shear strength characteristics of the soils included 
laboratory direct shear testing.  The results of testing are included in 
Appendix C that provide values of angle of internal friction (ø) and cohesion 
(c) for use in geotechnical analysis.   

2.4.5 Excavation Characteristics 

Based on our subsurface explorations performed at the site and our 
experience from grading jobs in the vicinity of the site, we anticipate the 
onsite artificial fill and alluvial materials can generally be excavated using 
conventional excavation equipment in good operating condition.   

The soils within the planned excavation depths are variable, and locally 
consist of layers that contain granular, unconsolidated soils with little or no 
cementation and few fines.  These materials are prone to cave in or collapse 
in unshored excavations.  See Section 5.4, Temporary Excavations for 
additional information on soil type and excavation characteristics. 

2.5 Groundwater Conditions 

Groundwater was not encountered during our subsurface exploration to the 
maximum depth of 51.5 feet bgs.  Based on review of the Chino Basin Optimum 
Basin Management Plan 2008 State of the Basin Report (Wildermuth, 2009), 
groundwater depth at the site is anticipated to be on the order of approximately 
225 feet bgs.  Review of available information from the California Department of 
Water Resources (DWR, 2022) for a nearby groundwater monitoring well located 
approximately 1.8 miles northwest of the project site (State Well # 
01S07W29A001S) indicates the shallowest groundwater level measured for a 
monitoring period between October 1959 and September 2021 was approximately 
214 feet bgs in 1959; with the most recent groundwater levels documented to be 
on the order of 250 feet bgs. 
 
Based on these findings, groundwater is not expected to pose a constraint during 
or after construction.  Fluctuations of the groundwater level, localized zones of 
perched water, and an increase in soil moisture, should be anticipated during and 

Item D - 466 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 10 

following the rainy seasons or periods of locally intense rainfall or storm water 
runoff, or from stormwater infiltration. 

2.6 Infiltration 

Percolation testing was performed in temporary wells installed within borings LB-
4/LP-1 and LP-2 located in the southern region of the site with test zone at depths 
of 17 to 22 feet bgs and 15 to 20 feet bgs, respectively. The percolation tests were 
conducted in general accordance with the San Bernardino County Technical 
Guidance Document (TGD) for Water Quality Management Plans (2013).  Results 
of the percolation testing are presented in Appendix B.  The test locations and tested 
depth intervals are shown on Figure 2.  

 
A boring percolation test is useful for field measurements of the infiltration rate of 
soils, and is suited for testing when the design depth of the infiltration device is 
deeper than current existing grades, especially in areas where it is difficult to dig test 
pits, or where the depths of these test pits would be considerably deep.  At the 
subject site, testing consisted of advancing the borings to the anticipated depth for 
the invert of the proposed infiltration devices.  
 
The Percolation Test Procedure (falling-head test method) as outlined in the County 
Guidelines was implemented at each percolation test well location. The infiltration 
rate was calculated by dividing the rate of discharge by the infiltration surface area, 
or flow area.  The volume of discharge was calculated by adding the total volume of 
water that dropped within the PVC pipe and within the annulus, and incorporating a 
porosity reduction factor to account for the porosity of the annulus material.  The 
flow area was based on the average water height within the test well.   
 
Detailed results of the field testing data and measured infiltration rate for the test 
well are presented in Appendix B.  The test results are summarized in the table 
below:  

 
Table 1 – Measured (Unfactored) Infiltration Rate 

Test Well 
Designation 

Approximate Depth of 
Test Zone (feet bgs) 

Measured  
Infiltration Rate 

(inches per hour) 
LB-4/LP-1 17 to 22 0.32 

LP-2 15 to 20 0.69 
 

Item D - 467 of 1893

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Rectangle



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 11 

Based on the results of our field percolation testing that was performed at the site, 
the measured (unfactored) infiltration rates for the two (2) tests performed were 
0.32 inches per hour (LB-4/LP-1) and 0.69 inches per hour (LP-2), respectively.  
According to the San Bernardino County Technical Guidance Document (TGD) for 
Water Quality Management Plans (2013), the measured infiltration rate at both test 
well locations technically exceeds the minimum feasibility criteria of 0.3 inch per 
hour. However, implementation of a minimum factor of safety of 2.0 as required for 
the design infiltration rate indicates the depth and location tested for LB-4/LP-1 is 
considered infeasible for infiltration.  
 
In consideration of the general greater prevalence of coarse-grained material at 
the site below depths of 25 feet or deeper, a more feasible infiltration rate may be 
achieved in percolation testing performed at depths greater than those tested 
during this exploration.  

  

Item D - 468 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 12 

3.0    SEISMIC AND GEOLOGIC  HAZARDS 

Depending upon the geographic location and geologic setting of a particular site in 
southern California, seismic-related hazards can include surface fault rupture; 
strong ground shaking; seismically-induced landslides; liquefaction and associated 
effects such as settlement and/or lateral spreading; and seiches, tsunamis and/or 
flooding depending upon the proximity of bodies of water.  The following sections 
discuss each of these hazards and potential effect upon this site. 

3.1 Surface Fault Rupture 

Known surface faults in the region are mapped on Figure 4, Regional Surface Fault 
and Historical Seismicity Map. Review of available literature indicates that no 
known active faults have been mapped across the site, and the site is not located 
within a currently established Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone (Bryant and 
Hart, 2007).  Therefore, a surface fault rupture hazard evaluation is not mandated 
for this site. Given an absence of known faults, potential risk for surface fault 
rupture at this site is low.  

3.2 Regional Faulting  

The location of the closest active faults to the site was evaluated using the United 
States Geological Survey (USGS) Earthquake Hazards Program National Seismic 
Hazard Maps (USGS, 2008b).  The closest active faults to the site with the potential 
for surface fault rupture are the Chino fault, San Jose fault, Cucamonga fault and 
Sierra Madre fault, located approximately 4.7 miles, 6.0 miles, 7.9 miles and 8.3 
miles from the site, respectively.  The San Andreas fault, which is the largest active 
fault in California, is approximately 20.3 miles northeast of the site on the north 
side of the San Gabriel Mountains.  As discussed, major regional faults with 
surface expression in proximity to the site are shown on Figure 4, Regional Fault 
and Historic Seismicity Map.  

3.3 Strong Ground Shaking 

The principal seismic hazard to the site is ground shaking resulting from an 
earthquake occurring along any of several major active and potentially active faults 
in southern California (Figure 4).  The intensity of ground shaking at a given 
location depends primarily upon the earthquake magnitude, the distance from the 
source, and the site response characteristics.  Accordingly, design of the project 
should be performed in accordance with all applicable current codes and standards 

Item D - 469 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 13 

utilizing the appropriate seismic design parameters to reduce seismic risk as 
defined by California Geological Survey (CGS) Chapter 2 of Special Publication 
117A (CGS, 2008).  The 2019 edition of the California Building Code (CBC) is the 
current edition of the code.  Through compliance with these regulatory 
requirements and the utilization of appropriate seismic design parameters selected 
by the design professionals, potential effects relating to seismic shaking can be 
reduced.  

The following code-based seismic parameters should be considered for design 
under the 2019 CBC: 

Table 2 – 2019 CBC Based Ground Motion Parameters (Mapped Values) 

Categorization/Coefficient Code-Based 
Site Latitude 34.0275° 

Site Longitude -117.6523° 
Site Class D 

Mapped Spectral Response Acceleration at Short Period (0.2 sec), SS 1.5 g 
Mapped Spectral Response Acceleration at Long Period (1 sec), S1 0.579 g 

Short Period (0.2 sec) Site Coefficient, Fa 1.0 
Long Period (1 sec) Site Coefficient, Fv 1.72* 

Adjusted Spectral Response Acceleration at Short Period (0.2 sec), SMS 1.5 g 
Adjusted Spectral Response Acceleration at Long Period (1 sec), SM1 0.996* 

Design Spectral Response Acceleration at Short Period (0.2 sec), SDS 1.0 g 
Design Spectral Response Acceleration at Long Period (1 sec), SD1 0.664* 

Site Coefficient for Peak Ground Acceleration, FPGA 1.1 
Peak Ground Acceleration adjusted for Site Class effects, PGAM 0.644 g 

 

1. All were derived from the ASCE 7 Hazard Tool web page:  https://asce7hazardtool.online/ 
2. All coefficients in units of g (spectral acceleration) 
3. *Requires Cs calculation, see Note below.  

 
Based on Table 1613.2.3(2) of the 2019 CBC, the long period site coefficient (Fv) 
should be determined in accordance with Section 11.4.8 of ASCE 7-16 since the 
mapped spectral response acceleration at 1 second is greater than 0.2g for Site 
Class D.  In accordance with Section 11.4.8 of ASCE 7-16, a site-specific seismic 
analysis is required; however, the values provided herein may be utilized if design 

Item D - 470 of 1893

https://asce7hazardtool.online/


Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 14 

is performed in accordance with exception (2) in Section 11.4.8 of ASCE 7-16, with 
special requirements for the seismic response coefficient (Cs) as noted below.  
The project structural engineer should review the seismic parameters.  

Note:  Long period coefficient (Fv) of 1.7 may be utilized for calculation of Ts, provided 
that the value of the Seismic Response Coefficient (Cs) is determined by Equation 12.8-
2 for values of the fundamental period of the building (T) less than or equal to 1.5Ts, and 
taken as 1.5 times the value computed in accordance with either equation 12.8-3 for T 
greater than 1.5 Ts and less than or equal to TL or equation 12.8-4 for T greater than TL. 

3.4 Liquefaction Potential  

The term liquefaction is generally referenced to loss of strength and stiffness in soils 
due to build-up of pore water pressure when subject to cyclic or monotonic loading.  
Both sandy and clayey soils are susceptible to loss of strength and stiffness.  
Because of the difference in strength characteristic and methods for evaluating 
strength loss potential for granular and clayey soils, the term liquefaction is used for 
granular soils while cyclic softening is used for fine-grained soils (i.e. clays and 
plastic silts). 
 
In general, adverse effects of liquefaction or cyclic softening include excessive 
ground settlement, loss of bearing support for structural foundations, and 
seismically-induced lateral ground deformations such as lateral spreading.  
Depending upon the relative thickness of the liquefied strata with respect to overlying 
non-liquefiable soils, other potentially adverse effects such as ground oscillation and 
ground fissuring may occur. 
 
As regionally mapped on the California Geological Survey Earthquake Zones of 
Required Investigation (EZRIM) for the Ontario Quadrangle (CGS, 200) and shown 
on Figure 4, Seismic Hazard Zone Map, the site is not within an area potentially 
susceptible to liquefaction.    In addition, review of the San Bernardino County 
Geologic Hazard Overlays map FH27C (2010), the project site is not located within 
a County liquefaction susceptibility zone.  The historically shallowest groundwater 
level recorded by DWR near the site is 214 feet bgs and the recent recorded depth 
to groundwater is greater than 200 feet bgs.  Based on these findings, liquefaction 
is not considered a hazard at the site.      

3.5 Seismically-Induced Settlement 

Seismically-induced settlement consists of dynamic settlement of unsaturated soil 
(above groundwater) and liquefaction-induced settlement (below groundwater).  

Item D - 471 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 15 

These settlements occur primarily within low density sandy soil due to reduction in 
volume during and shortly after an earthquake event.  
 
As previously discussed, the site is not considered susceptible to the occurrence of 
liquefaction.  Therefore, seismically-induced settlement will consist solely of 
densification of non-saturated soils upon exposure to strong ground shaking.  
Evaluation of the potential for such seismically-induced settlements to occur was 
performed for the Geomean Maximum Considered Event (MCEG) and the 
associated ground motion that corresponds to a 2,475 year average return period 
(ARP) for the CPT soundings that were advanced to a depth of 50 feet below grade. 
The results of the analysis are presented below: 

Table 3 – Seismically-Induced Settlement - MCEG Seismic Event 

Design Scenario CPT 
I.D. 

Settlement (inches) 

PGA MW Liquefaction(1) Non-Liquefaction(2) Total 

0.64 6.78 CPT-1 No Liquefaction 0.23 0.23 

  CPT-2  No Liquefaction 0.09 0.09 

  CPT-3A No Liquefaction 0.16 0.16 

  CPT-4 No Liquefaction 0.45 0.45 

Notes: (1) Liquefaction-induced settlement; Design Groundwater below depth of 50 feet 

 (2)  Non-liquefaction induced (“dry sand”) settlement 

 
The results of the analysis indicated the magnitude of seismically-induced 
settlement under the MCEG scenario will be less than ½ to 1 inch.  Based on the 
general consistency in soil conditions as depicted by the test borings conducted at 
the site, the differential settlement is estimated to be approximately ½ inch over a 
distance of at least 40 feet, which results in an angular distortion less than 0.0021 
in./in., which is anticipated to be within tolerable levels for structural design.   

3.6 Lateral Spreading 

Liquefaction may also cause lateral spreading.  For lateral spreading to occur, the 
liquefiable zone must be continuous, unconstrained laterally, and free to move along 
gently sloping ground toward an unconfined area.  Since the site is relatively flat and 
constrained laterally and liquefaction is not considered a hazard at the site, 
earthquake-induced lateral spreading is also not considered a hazard at the site. 

Item D - 472 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 16 

3.7 Earthquake-Induced Landsliding  

As regionally mapped on the California Geological Survey Earthquake Zones of 
Required Investigation for the Torrance Quadrangle (CGS, March 25, 1999) and 
shown on Figure 4, Seismic Hazard Zone Map, the site is not located within an 
area potentially susceptible to liquefaction (CGS, 2000a).  Review of the San 
Bernardino County Geologic Hazard Overlays map FH27C (2010) indicates the 
project site is not located within a County landslide susceptibility zone.  The project 
site is relatively flat with no significant slopes on or immediately adjacent. It is our 
opinion that seismically-induced landsliding is not considered a hazard at the site. 

3.8 Flooding  

According to a Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) flood insurance 
rate map (FEMA, 2015), the project site is located within a flood hazard area 
identified as “Zone X”, which is defined as an area of minimal flood hazard.  
Regionally, storm runoff flow is generally directed to the southwest.  As shown on 
Figure 5, Flood Hazard Zone Map, the site is not located within a 100-year or 500-
year flood hazard zone. 

Earthquake-induced flooding can be caused by failure of dams or other water-
retaining structures as a result of earthquakes.  As shown on Figure 6, Dam 
Inundation Map, the site is mapped within an inundation zone associated with San 
Antonio Dam.  Catastrophic failure of this dam is expected to be a very unlikely event 
in that dam safety regulations exist and are enforced by the DOSD, Army Corps of 
Engineers and Department of Water Resources.  Inspectors may require dam 
owners to perform work, maintenance or implement controls if issues are found with 
the safety of the dam. Due to the location and distance of the site from San Antonio 
Dam, along with the unlikely failure of the dam, the potential for earthquake-induced 
flooding to occur due to a failure of this dam is considered low.   

3.9 Seiches and Tsunamis  

Seiches are large waves generated in enclosed bodies of water in response to 
ground shaking.  Tsunamis are waves generated in large bodies of water by fault 
displacement or major ground movement.  Based on the absence of an enclosed 
water body near the site and the inland location of the site, seiche and tsunami 
risks at the site are considered negligible. 

Item D - 473 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 17 

3.10 Methane 

Based on review of State of California Geologic Energy Management Division 
(CalGEM) records, the project site is not located within an oil field boundary 
(CalGEM, 2021).  The nearest documented oil well to the site is located 
approximately 0.6 miles southwest of the site (API# 0407100083; Donald B. 
Lamont, Donald B. Lamont Lease, Well No. 1) and is reported as a plugged dry 
hole  (CalGEM, 2021).  Based on these findings, the potential for methane hazard 
at the site is low.    

  

Item D - 474 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 18 

4.0    FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

No evidence of adverse geological or geotechnical hazards was noted at the site that will 
preclude the development of the project as currently planned.  Presented below is a 
summary of findings based upon the results of our geotechnical exploration of the site. 
Geotechnical recommendations for design and construction are presented in Section 4.0 
of this report.  

• The potential for surface fault rupture is considered to be low since the site is not 
located in a designated Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone.   

• The site may be subjected to strong ground shaking during the design life of the 
proposed development due to the proximity of several active faults in the vicinity of the 
site.  The Chino fault, located approximately 4.7 miles southwest of the site is the 
nearest active fault to the site with a potential for surface rupture and generation of 
strong ground shaking.  However, strong ground shaking may occur at the site due to 
seismic activity on one of a number of faults in the area.       

• The site is not located within an area shown as susceptible to liquefaction according 
to the CGS Earthquake Zones of Required Investigation Map for the Ontario 
Quadrangle or the San Bernardino County Geologic Hazard Overlays map FH27C. 
Given the lack of shallow groundwater underlying the site, the potential for liquefaction 
is considered low.   

• Groundwater was not encountered to the maximum depth explored of 51½ feet bgs. 
Recent nearby groundwater levels as documented by the California Department of 
Water Resources indicate the depth to groundwater is likely on the order of greater 
than 200 feet bgs.  Groundwater is not anticipated to be a constraint to site grading or 
construction.  

• At a minimum, development of the site for support of the proposed mixed-use 
development should include overexcavation and recompaction of the existing artificial 
fill materials as well as a portion of the underlying native soils to develop a layer of 
structural compacted fill to provide foundation support.   

• The results of the infiltration testing performed at the site indicate stormwater 
infiltration is marginally feasible based on the tested locations and depths.      

• The proposed structures may be supported by a shallow foundation system supported 
on structural compacted fill underlain by suitable bearing native soils. 

Item D - 475 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 19 

5.0  GEOTECHNICAL DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based upon this study, we conclude that the proposed development for the subject site 
is feasible from a geotechnical standpoint, provided that the recommendations presented 
in this report are properly incorporated in design and construction. Geotechnical 
recommendations for the proposed development are presented in the following sections 
and are intended to provide sufficient geotechnical information to develop the project 
plans in accordance with 2019 CBC requirements.    The following recommendations may 
be superseded by more restrictive requirements of the architect, structural engineer, 
and/or local building official. 

The recommendations below are based upon the exhibited geotechnical engineering 
properties of the soils and their anticipated response both during and after construction.  
The recommendations are also based upon proper field observation and testing during 
construction.  The project geotechnical engineer should be notified of suspected 
variances in field conditions to determine the effect upon the recommendations 
subsequently presented.  These recommendations are considered minimal and may be 
superseded by more restrictive requirements of the civil and structural engineers, the City 
of Ontario, the County of San Bernardino and other governing agencies. 

Leighton should review the grading plans, foundation plans and project specifications as 
they become available to verify that the recommendations presented in this report have 
been incorporated into the plans for this project. 

5.1 Earthwork 

All site grading should be performed in accordance with the project specifications 
that are prepared by the appropriate design professional.  The guide specifications 
presented in Appendix D, General Earthwork and Grading Recommendations may 
be used as a guideline in developing the project specifications. 
 
Earthwork and grading operations are recommended to be observed and 
appropriate testing be performed by representatives of the geotechnical engineer 
to verify that the site is properly prepared, the selected fill materials are 
satisfactory, and that placement and compaction of fills has been performed in 
accordance with our recommendations and the project specifications.   
 

Item D - 476 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 20 

5.1.1 Site Preparation

Initial preparation of the site should include demolition and removal of the 
existing facility from the project site including all foundations, slabs and 
underground structures.  Existing utilities not planned for reuse with the 
proposed development should be either removed in their entirety, properly 
abandoned in-place, or rerouted around the development area to preserve 
their function. Disposal of all debris and remnants of the existing 
development should be performed in accordance with the type of material 
and local regulations. 

The existing development includes a relatively large paved parking lot that 
consists of asphalt concrete.  Based upon the conditions encountered at the 
test boring locations, the thickness of the existing asphalt concrete ranged 
from 2½ to 5 inches underlain by base course that ranged from 3 to 12 
inches in thickness.  Reuse of the pavement with the proposed development 
will require consideration of proposed finish grades and the need to 
construct an asphalt overlay to prolong the service life of the pavement. 
Recommendations for reuse of the pavement can be provided upon 
request.  However, for purposes of this report, the existing pavement is 
assumed to not be salvaged for reuse and will be removed from the site.  If 
properly processed during demolition and removal, the pavement may be 
reused as the base course for construction of new pavement.   

Upon completion of demolition and site clearing activities, the soils should 
be carefully observed for the removal of all unsuitable deposits.  All 
undocumented fill or man-made debris, unsuitable native soils and former 
foundation remnants should be excavated and removed from the proposed 
building/structure footprint prior to fill placement.  

5.1.2 Removals and Overexcavations

The recommended depths of overexcavation presented below have been 
based upon the assumed structural loads and the recommended allowable 
bearing pressure.  The actual depth recommended for preparation of 
foundation areas may be revised depending upon the actual footing sizes 
that result from structural design of the foundations.  Consequently, the 
recommendations for building pad preparation/overexcavation should be 
reviewed by the geotechnical engineer as foundation design proceeds. 

Item D - 477 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 21 

 
To provide uniform foundation support and reduce the potential for 
excessive static settlement, all existing undocumented fill and any 
unsuitable soil, as deemed by the geotechnical engineer, should be 
removed to expose suitable native soils and replaced as engineered fill 
below the proposed building and other structural improvements.  Based on 
our field explorations, we estimate removals of existing undocumented fill 
will be approximately 5 feet below existing grade across most of the site.  
Localized areas are anticipated to require deeper removals, in particular 
beneath the existing buildings and in areas of existing utilities.   
 
Removals should be performed such that all undocumented fill is removed 
and replaced as engineered fill.  In addition, overexcavations should be 
performed such that a minimum of 4 feet of engineered fill is established 
below the proposed building foundation elements and the at-grade slabs of 
the buildings.  The lateral extent of overexcavation beyond foundations 
should be equal to the depth of overexcavation below the proposed 
foundations as measured at the excavation subgrade.   
 
The depth of overexcavation in non-structural areas planned for new 
pavement construction is recommended to be 2 feet below the current 
grade or planned subgrade elevation to develop a suitable bearing 
subgrade for pavement support.  Deeper overexcavations in localized areas 
may be recommended during grading by a representative of the 
geotechnical engineer depending on observed subsurface conditions. 

5.1.3 Subgrade Preparation 

All excavation bottoms or removal bottoms should be observed by a 
representative of the geotechnical engineer prior to placement of fill or other 
improvements to determine that geotechnically suitable soil is exposed.  
Excavation bottoms observed to be suitable for fill placement or other 
improvements should be scarified to a depth of at least 8 inches, moisture-
conditioned as necessary to achieve a moisture content of at least 2 
percentage points above the optimum moisture content, and then compacted 
to a minimum of 90 percent of the maximum dry density as determined by 
ASTM Test Method D 1557 (Modified Proctor). 

Item D - 478 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 22 

5.1.4 Fill Placement and Compaction 

The onsite soil, free of organic material, cobbles, boulders, rubble, and rock 
less than 3 inches in largest dimension, is suitable to be used as structural 
fill.  All fill soil should be placed in loose lifts no greater than 8 inches in 
thickness, moisture-conditioned as necessary to a moisture content 1 to 2 
percentage points above optimum moisture content and compacted using 
proper equipment to the minimum standard as noted below, unless stated 
otherwise in the specific sections. 

• Fill soil should be moisture-conditioned and compacted to a minimum of 
90 percent relative compaction as determined by ASTM Test Method 
D1557. 

• Subgrade exposures should be moisture-conditioned and compacted to 
a minimum of 90 percent relative compaction as determined by ASTM 
Test Method D1557 

• Base course material should be compacted to a minimum of 95 percent 
relative compaction. 

• Utility trench backfill is discussed in Section 5.5. 

Material imported to the site for use as fill should be reviewed and approved 
by the geotechnical engineer prior to import to the site and placement as fill.  
Imported soils should be very low in expansion potential (EI less than 20); 
non-corrosive to metals and concrete; and be free of hazardous 
substances. 
 
When grading is interrupted by heavy rains, fill operations should not be 
resumed until the moisture content and the dry density of the placed fill are 
satisfactory. 

5.1.5 Shrinkage and Bulking 

The change in volume of excavated and recompacted soil varies according 
to soil type and location.  This volume change is represented as a 
percentage increase (bulking) or decrease (shrinkage) in volume of fill after 
removal and recompaction.  Field and laboratory data used in our 
calculations included laboratory-measured maximum dry density for the 

Item D - 479 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 23 

general soil type encountered at the subject site, the measured in-place 
densities of near surface soils encountered and our experience.   

Earthwork operations are generally anticipated to be limited to soils to a 
depth of 5 to 6 feet below current grade with some additional overexcavation 
in localized areas of the site where unsuitable bearing/very loose relative 
density soils may be encountered in the southern to southwestern region of 
the site.  Data regarding the in-place density of the near surface soils could 
not be collected due to the manner in which field exploration was 
encountered whereby the soils to a depth of 5 feet at the boring locations 
were pre-drilled by use of a hand auger to protect against damaging buried 
utilities. Therefore, earthwork quantities (shrinkage/bulking) are primarily 
based upon experience with similar materials at other project sites and the 
limited available data from soils recovered from a depth of 6 feet.    

On a preliminary basis, the existing fill materials requiring removal and 
recompaction are anticipated to exhibit volume shrinkage on the order of of 
10 to 15 percent.  The estimated shrinkage does not include material losses 
due to removal of organic material or other unsuitable bearing materials 
(debris, rubble, oversize material greater than 6-inches) and the actual 
shrinkage that occurs during grading may vary throughout the site.   

5.1.6 Reuse of Concrete and Asphalt Rubble   

If encountered during site clearing and/or during preparation activities, 
construction rubble (i.e., Portland cement concrete and asphalt concrete) 
may be incorporated in the proposed development.  For use as structural 
fill, the processed material should be crushed to develop a relatively well-
graded mixture with a maximum particle size of 3-inch nominal 
diameter.  Concrete rubble should be free of rebar and processed asphalt 
pavement rubble may be used if mixed with the existing base course (where 
present).  Processed material may be used as structural fill if uniformly 
mixed with onsite soils in proportion of 1 part processed material to 3 parts 
soil.  For use as pavement base course, rubble should be crushed to satisfy 
gradation requirements of Section 200-2.4 of the Standard Specifications 
for Public Works Construction, (SSPWC, “Greenbook”).  Such materials 
must be free of and segregated from any hazardous materials and/or 
organic material of any kind.   

Item D - 480 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 24 

5.2 Foundation Design  

Preparation of the building areas should be performed as described in Section 5.1 
of this report.  Upon completion of building pad preparation, the soils that will 
provide support of the foundations are expected to consist of properly moisture-
conditioned structural compacted fill that exhibits very low to low expansion 
potential underlain by suitable bearing native soils. 

5.2.1 Vertical Load Bearing Capacity 

The proposed structures are recommended to be supported by a shallow 
foundation system in which continuous strip footings are used for wall 
support and isolated square pad footings for column support.  Footings to 
support the proposed buildings are recommended to be designed for a 
maximum net allowable soil bearing pressure of 2,500 pounds per square 
foot (psf) for continuous strip footings for wall support and 3,000 psf for 
isolated square pad footings for column support.    
 
The foundations for ancillary structures separate from the proposed 
buildings are recommend to be designed for a  maximum 2,000 pounds per 
square foot (psf) for continuous strip footings for wall support and 2,500 psf 
for isolated square pad footings for column support. The recommended 
bearing pressures assume the foundations will be supported by a layer of 
structural compacted fill that is a minimum 2 feet in thickness below 
foundations and extends laterally distance of at least 2 feet beyond the 
edges of the foundations.  
  
The allowable bearing values may be increased by one-third when 
considering short-term seismic or wind loads.  The recommended bearing 
pressure is net so the unit weight of concrete may be assumed to be 50 pcf 
when calculating the component of load demand due to foundation weight; 
the weight of soil backfill can be neglected when determining the downward 
loads. 
 
The recommended allowable bearing pressures stated above have been 
based upon specific minimum footing sizes and embedment depths:   

• Minimum widths for foundations are recommended to be 18 inches for 
continuous strip footings and 24 inches for square pad footings.   

Item D - 481 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 25 

• Minimum footing embedment depth for the isolated exterior footings and 
the footings for the exterior walls is recommended to be 18 inches.    

• The minimum embedment depth for interior footings is recommended to 
be 18 inches.   

• The minimum embedment depth for ancillary structures is 18 inches 
below adjacent subgrade elevation. 

The depth of embedment should be determined from the finish subgrade 
elevation adjacent to the building for the perimeter footings and the finish 
pad grade within the structure for interior footings. Additional foundation 
embedment depth may be considered for foundations located close to 
property lines to protect foundations from being undermined due future 
excavation that may be performed on the adjacent properties. 

Determination of the minimum steel reinforcement requirements of the 
continuous strip and isolated square pad footings should be performed by 
the structural engineer.   
 
The foundation bearing soils are recommended to be evaluated by the 
geotechnical engineer prior to placing reinforcing steel.  Evaluation is 
intended to verify suitable bearing conditions to support the footings and the 
footing excavations are generally in compliance with foundation plans. 

5.2.2 Lateral Load Resistance  

Lateral loads may be resisted by friction acting along the bottoms of the 
footings and passive resistance of the soil adjacent to the vertical sides of 
the foundations provided the foundations are poured neat against properly 
compacted fill or undisturbed native soils.  Resistance to lateral load may 
be calculated on the basis of an allowable frictional coefficient of 0.30 and 
allowable passive resistance equal to an equivalent fluid density of 
250 pounds-per-cubic-foot (pcf) to a maximum of 2,500 psf.  No reduction 
will be needed to any of the above two components for computing the total 
resistance to lateral loads.  The use of passive resistance in lateral load 
analysis requires the foundations to be cast against vertical, undisturbed 
trench walls or any voids along the footing be backfilled with structural 
compacted fill. 

Item D - 482 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 26 

5.2.3 Settlement Estimate 

Estimated post-construction total and differential settlement under the 
assumed loading conditions and preparation of the building areas as 
described in this report are estimated to be on the order of 1 inch and ½ 
inch, respectively.  The differential settlement is expected to occur over a 
minimum span of 30 feet, thereby resulting in an angular distortion less than 
0.002, which is expected to be within tolerable limits for the proposed 
structures.    
 
Settlement is a function of footing size and contact bearing pressure. As a 
result, differential settlement can be expected between adjacent columns or 
walls where a large differential loading condition exists.  Leighton should 
review the settlement estimates when final foundation plans and loads for 
the proposed structures become available. 

5.3 Slab-on-Grade Floors 

Upon completion of the recommended building pad preparation, the subgrades of 
the slabs supported on grade are anticipated to consist of newly placed structural 
compacted fill, which is generally expected to consist of the existing soils that have 
been overexcavated and recompacted under engineering controlled conditions.  
 
Based upon the anticipated subgrade conditions, the floor slabs of the proposed 
buildings that will be supported on grade may be designed and constructed as a 
mat on elastic foundation using a modulus of subgrade reaction (kv1) of 100 pounds 
per cubic inch (pci).  These slabs are recommended to be a minimum of 4 inches 
in thickness and include No. 3 rebar placed at center of the slab at 18 inches on-
center in each direction based on geotechnical considerations.  Increase in the 
slab thickness and/or reinforcing may be necessary due to structural engineering 
considerations as determined by the structural engineer.  
 
The slabs may are recommended to be underlain by a minimum 4-inch thick 
coarse granular material to serve as a working mat during construction and serve 
as a capillary moisture break.    
 
Interior slabs-on-grade are recommended to be underlain by a synthetic sheeting 
to serve as a retarder to moisture vapor transmission in areas where moisture-
sensitive floor coverings are used (such as vinyl, tile, or carpet) or storage areas 

Item D - 483 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 27 

for personal possessions.  Prior to installing the synthetic sheeting, the exposed 
subgrade surface should be clear of all extruding rock and gravel that could 
damage the sheeting.  The sheeting should be evaluated for the presence of 
punctures or tears by the installer prior to pouring concrete.  Installation of the 
sheeting should include proper overlap and taping of seams.  
 
Appropriate synthetic sheeting should be determined by others qualified in 
evaluating and mitigating moisture vapor transmission through concrete slabs.  Our 
firm does not practice in the field of moisture vapor transmission evaluation, since 
this is not specifically a geotechnical issue.  Therefore, we recommend that a 
qualified person, such as the flooring subcontractor and/or structural engineer, be 
consulted with to evaluate the general and specific moisture vapor transmission 
paths and any impact on the proposed construction with respect to the storage 
facility and retail areas.  That person should provide recommendations for 
mitigation of the potential adverse effects of moisture vapor transmission on 
various components of the structures as deemed appropriate. 
 
Care should be taken to avoid slab curling if slabs are poured in hot weather.  
Frequent construction joints should be provided to minimize the potential for 
cracking.  Slabs should be designed and constructed as promulgated by the 
Portland Cement Association (PCA).  Prior to the slab pour, all utility trenches 
should be properly backfilled and compacted.  Differential settlement of this 
material could result in movement and distress to hardscape and other 
improvements.  The need to repair cracks, etc. should be anticipated. 

5.4 Temporary Excavations 

All temporary excavations, including utility trenches, retaining wall excavations, 
and other excavations should be performed in accordance with project plans, 
specifications and all Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) 
requirements.  
 
Temporary excavations should be treated in accordance with the State of 
California version of OSHA excavation regulations, Construction Safety Orders for 
Excavation General Requirements, Article 6, Section 1541, effective October 1, 
1995.  The sides of excavations should be shored or sloped in accordance with 
OSHA regulations.  OSHA allows the sides of unbraced excavations, up to a 
maximum height of 20 feet, to be cut to a ¾H:1V (horizontal:vertical) slope for Type 
A soils, 1H:1V for Type B soils, and 1½H:1V for Type C soils. Onsite sandy soils 

Item D - 484 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 28 

are to be considered Type C soils which are subject to collapse in shallow 
unbraced excavations (i.e., approximately 3 to 4 feet in vertical height). 
 
OSHA regulations are applicable in areas with no restriction of surrounding ground 
deformations.  Shoring should be designed for areas with deformation restrictions.  
The soil type should be verified or revised based on geotechnical observation and 
testing during construction, as soil classifications may vary over short horizontal 
distances.   
 
Typical cantilever shoring should be designed based on an active fluid pressure of 
38 pcf, assuming level ground above the shoring.  If excavations are braced at the 
top and at specific design intervals, the active pressure may then be approximated 
by a rectangular soil pressure distribution with the pressure per foot of width equal 
to 25H psf, where H is equal to the depth of the excavation being shored. 
 
Heavy construction loads, such as those resulting from stockpiles and heavy 
machinery, should be kept a minimum distance equivalent to the excavation height 
or 5 feet, whichever is greater, from the excavation unless the excavation is shored 
and these surcharges are considered in the design of the shoring system.  
Excavations that extend below an imaginary plane inclined at 45 degrees below 
the edge of any adjacent existing site foundation should be properly shored to 
maintain support of the adjacent structures. 

5.5 Trench Backfill 

Utility trenches should be backfilled with compacted fill in accordance with Sections 
306-1.2 and 306-1.3 of the Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction, 
(SSPWC, “Greenbook”), 2018 Edition.  Utility trenches can be backfilled with onsite 
material free of rubble, debris, organic and oversized material up to 3 inches in 
largest dimension.  Prior to backfilling trenches, pipes should be bedded in and 
covered with either: 

• Granular Bedding:  a) ½-inch open grade aggregate; or b) a uniform sand 
material with a Sand Equivalent (SE) greater than or equal to (≥) 30, passing 
the No. 4 U.S. Standard Sieve (or as specified by the pipe manufacturer). 
Testing to evaluate the Sand Equivalent (SE) of representative samples of the 
near surface soils indicated SE values below 30, thereby indicating the on-site 
soils may not be suitable for reuse in this manner. 

 

Item D - 485 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 29 

• CLSM:  Controlled Low Strength Material (CLSM) conforming to Section 201-
6 of the SSPWC.  CLSM bedding should be placed to 1 foot (0.3 m) over the 
top of the conduit, and vibrated.   

Pipe bedding should extend at least 4 inches below the pipeline invert and at least 
12 inches over the top of the pipeline.  The bedding and shading sand is 
recommended to be densified in place by vibratory, lightweight compaction 
equipment.  Jetting or hydro-consolidation may be suitable for this project site 
where utility trenches will be underlain by the silty sands, typically present in the 
upper 5 to 10 feet.     

Trench backfill over the pipe bedding zone may consist of native and clean fill soils.  
All backfill should be placed in thin lifts (appropriate for the type of compaction 
equipment), moisture conditioned above optimum, and mechanically compacted 
to at least 90 percent relative compaction, relative to the ASTM D 1557 laboratory 
maximum density.  

5.6 Soil Corrosivity 

In general, soil resistivity, which is a measure of how easily electrical current flows 
through soils, is the most influential factor for corrosion to ferrous metals.  The 
following table presents an approximate relationship between soil resistivity and 
soil corrosiveness. 
 

Table 4 – Soil Corrosivity as a Function of Resistivity 

Soil Resistivity  
(ohm-cm) 

Classification of  
Soil Corrosiveness 

0 to 900 Very severe corrosion 
900 to 2,300 Severely corrosive 

2,300 to 5,000 Moderately corrosive 

5,000 to 10,000 Mildly corrosive 
10,000 to >100,000 Very mildly corrosive 

Note: 1 ASTM STP 1013 titled Effects of Soil Characteristics on Corrosion (February, 1989). 

 
In addition to resistivity, the concentration of chloride ions can also be used to 
evaluate corrosive potential to steel, either in the form of reinforcement protected 
by concrete cover or plain steel substructures, such as steel pipes.  As a general 
guideline, the chloride threshold adopted by Caltrans is a concentration of 500 ppm 

Item D - 486 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 30 

or greater as determined by California Test 532.  Concentrations of chloride ions 
above the stated concentration or other characteristics such as soil resistivity or 
redox potential may warrant special corrosion protection measures.  The results of 
corrosivity testing are summarized in the following table. 

Table 5 – Summary of Corrosivity Testing 

Test Parameter Test Results 
LB-3 @ 0’-5’ General Classification of Hazard 

Water-Soluble Sulfate in Soil 
(ppm) 260 Negligible sulfate exposure to 

buried concrete 
Water-Soluble Chloride in Soil 
(ppm) 40 Non-corrosive to buried reinforced 

concrete 

pH 7.92 Moderately alkaline 

Minimum Resistivity 
(saturated, ohm-cm) 1,335 Severely corrosive to buried ferrous 

pipes  

 
The results of the resistivity tests indicate the underlying soil is moderately 
corrosive to buried ferrous metals per ASTM STP 1013. The samples tested for 
water-soluble chloride content indicate a low potential for corrosion of steel in 
concrete due to the chloride content of the soil. 
  
Based on the test results, ferrous pipes buried in moist to wet site earth materials 
should be avoided by using high-density polyethylene (HDPE), polyvinyl chloride 
(PVC) and/or other non-ferrous pipe when possible provided the pipe walls 
possess sufficient strength for the embedment and external loading to which the 
pipe will be subjected.  Ferrous pipe can also be protected by polyethylene bags, 
tape or coatings, di-electric fittings or other means to separate pipe from on-site 
soils.  If buried ferrous pipes are planned for this site, further corrosivity testing of 
soil samples should be performed upon completion of rough grading and specific 
corrosion protection measures should be recommended by a qualified corrosion 
engineer. 

5.7 Cement Type  

In general, soil environments that are detrimental to concrete have high 
concentrations of soluble sulfates and/or pH values of less than 5.5.  Section 4.3 
of ACI 318 (ACI, 2014) provides specific guidelines for the concrete mix-design 
when the soluble sulfate content of the soil exceeds 0.1 percent by weight or 1,000 
parts per million (ppm). 

Item D - 487 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 31 

The results of laboratory testing indicated concentrations of soluble sulfate less 
than 0.1 percent.  The test results indicate a sulfate Exposure Class designation 
of “S0” appears to be appropriate for the project site based upon criteria presented 
in ACI 318.  However, if the concrete is expected to be in contact with reclaimed 
water, Type V cement and a water/cement ratio of 0.45 should be used.  Samples 
should be collected from the compacted fill subgrade upon completion of grading 
to confirm the initial findings of this exploration. 

5.8 Elevator Pit Wall Design

The proposed development is not expected to include new earth retaining 
structures due to the generally level topographic relief of the site and no below 
grade levels associated with the buildings.  However, in consideration that the 
buildings will be multi-stories in height, the buildings are anticipated to include 
elevators. In the anticipation that elevator equipment will include below-grade pits 
to house the mechanical workings, design of the pit walls should include provisions 
to resist the lateral load of the adjacent soils.  Based on the recommended building 
pad parathion and the anticipated soil conditions, design of the pit walls is 
recommended to be based upon an equivalent lateral earth pressure of  60 psf per 
foot of retained height.    

5.9 Pavements

5.9.1 Pavement Subgrades

The pavement subgrades should be prepared as described in Section 5.1 
of this report.  In accordance with the recommendations, preparation of the 
subgrade within the areas of new pavement construction are recommended 
to be overexcavated to a depth of 2 feet below the current grade or planned 
subgrade elevation, or to the depth of undocumented fill whichever is 
greater, to allow placement of a minimum of 2 feet of structural fill to develop 
a suitable bearing subgrade for pavement support.   

5.9.2 Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) Pavement Sections

Asphalt pavements are anticipated to be feasible for the proposed 
development.  Based on the anticipated subgrade conditions and the results 
of laboratory testing conducted on one bulk sample of the near surface soils 

Item D - 488 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 32 

(LB-1), the following recommendations for pavement design have been 
based upon a design R-value of 30 for the anticipated subgrade.  R-value 
tests should be performed upon completion of grading to verify the design 
value is appropriate for the actual subgrade conditions.  Based on the 
design procedures outlined in the current Caltrans Highway Design Manual 
and using an R-value of 78 for the pavement base course, the following 
flexible pavement sections may be used for Traffic Index values that 
correspond to various levels of vehicle traffic. 

Table 6 – Asphalt Pavement Sections 

Traffic Index 
Asphalt Concrete 

(inches) 
Base Course (inches) 

CAB CMB 

4 or less 3 5 6 
5.0 3 6 7 
6.0 4 7 8 

Notes: CAB – Crushed Aggregate Base Course; Caltrans Class 2, Section 26 or SSPWC 
Section 200-2.2 

 CMB – Crushed Miscellaneous Base Course; SSPWC Section  200-2.4 

 
The asphalt concrete should conform to the specifications outlined in 
Section 203-6 of the Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction 
(SSPWC, a.k.a. “Greenbook”), and asphalt concrete construction methods 
should meet the requirements of Section 302-5 of the Green Book. 

The base course should conform to requirements of Section 26 of State of 
California Department of Transportation Standard Specifications (Caltrans), 
latest edition, or meet the specifications for untreated base as defined in 
Section 200-2.2 of the SSPWC (Greenbook).  As an alternate, the base 
course may comply with the specifications for Crushed Miscellaneous Base 
per SSPWC Section 200-2.4 with an appropriate increase in thickness. 

Prior to placement of the base course, the subgrade soil should be 
processed to a minimum depth of 8 inches, moisture-conditioned to 1 to 2 
percent above optimum moisture content, and recompacted to a minimum 
of 95 percent relative compaction.  Base course should be placed in thin 
lifts, moisture conditioned, as necessary, and compacted to a minimum of 
95 percent relative compaction (ASTM D1557).      

Item D - 489 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 33 

5.9.3 Portland Cement Concrete (PCC) Pavements 

Portland cement concrete is recommended for areas of the development 
subjected to large loads and truck loading/unloading areas.  In such areas, 
a minimum 6-inch thick Portland Concrete Cement (PCC) pavement section 
reinforced is recommended.   Reinforcement is recommended to consist of 
No. 4 rebar at a maximum on-center spaced at 16 inches in each direction.  
The recommended PCC pavement section was based on the procedures 
described in the Guide for Design and Construction of Concrete Parking 
Lots by the American Concrete Institute (ACI 330R-08).   
 
All PCC pavements should have a minimum 28-day concrete compressive 
strength of 3,000 pounds-per-square-inch (psi).  The reinforcement should 
be evaluated by the civil/structural engineer to accommodate any additional 
structural loading requirements.  Control joints are recommended to be 
installed at a maximum on-center spacing of 12 feet for 6-inch thick slabs, 
and should form square panels. 
 
Concrete pavement may be underlain by a minimum 4-inch thick layer of 
compacted granular base to serve as a leveling mat for construction and to 
assist in load transfer at construction joints. 
  
Integral curbs should be used at the perimeter of PCC pavement.  
Longitudinal joints should be avoided near curbs and gutters.  Use of 
concrete cutoff or edge barriers should be considered at the perimeter of 
common parking or driveway areas when abutting either open (unfinished) or 
landscaped areas.

5.10 Concrete Flatwork and Exterior Slabs 

Exterior concrete slabs-on-grade should have a minimum thickness of 4 inches.  
Common Type II cement should be adequate for concrete flatwork not exposed 
to recycled water.  Type V cement and a water:cement ratio of 0.45 should be 
used for concrete exposed to recycled water.   

Concrete flatwork should be placed on compacted fill.  If this material has been 
disturbed or dried out, the subgrade soil to a depth of 12 inches should be moisture 
conditioned to 1 to 2 percent above optimum moisture content and recompacted 
to minimum 90 percent relative compaction.   

Item D - 490 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 34 

Exterior concrete driveways, ramps, curbs, gutters, sidewalks often crack.  
Inclusion of joints at frequent intervals and reinforcement will help control the 
locations of the cracks, and thus reduce the unsightly appearance.  Construction 
or weakened plane joints should be spaced at intervals of 6 feet or less for 
sidewalks, curbs and gutters.  The spacing may be increased to 10 feet for ramps 
and driveways.  If cracking occurs, repairs may be needed to mitigate the trip 
hazard and/or improve the appearance. 

Minor cracking of concrete after curing due to expansion, drying and shrinkage is 
normal and should be expected. However, cracking is often aggravated by a high 
water-to-cement ratio, high concrete temperature at the time of placement, small 
nominal aggregate size, and rapid moisture loss due to hot, dry, and/or windy 
weather conditions during placement and curing.  Cracking due to temperature and 
moisture fluctuations can also be expected.   

The use of low-slump concrete or low water/cement ratios can reduce the potential 
for shrinkage cracking. Inclusion of joints at frequent intervals and reinforcement 
will help control the locations of the cracks, and thus improve aesthetics.  Control 
joints should be spaced at intervals no more than 10 feet.  If cracking occurs, 
repairs may be needed to mitigate the trip hazard and/or improve the appearance. 

Slab cracking and/or uneven slab surfaces may result due to the presence of fill if 
the fill is left in place below the slabs.  Slab distortion may result in tripping hazards.  
Standard methods to mitigate trip hazards include the following: 

• Saw Cutting 
• Grinding 
• Patching and ramping 
• Removing and replacement 

A regular maintenance program should be implemented to mitigate trip hazards 
and comply with safety requirements. 

5.11 Surface Drainage  

Positive drainage of surface water away from structures is very important.  Water 
should not be allowed to pond adjacent to buildings or new site improvements. 
Positive drainage may be accomplished by providing drainage away at a minimum 
of 2 percent for earthen surfaces for a lateral distance of at least five feet and 
further maintained by a swale or drainage path at a gradient of at least 1 percent.  

Item D - 491 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 35 

Where necessary, drainage paths may be shortened by the use of area drains and 
collector pipes.  Eave gutters are recommended and should reduce water 
infiltration into the subgrade materials.  Downspouts should be connected to 
appropriate outlet devices. 
Irrigation of landscaping should be controlled to maintain, as much as possible, 
consistent moisture content sufficient to provide healthy plant growth without over 
watering. 

5.12 Additional Geotechnical Services  

Leighton should review the grading plans, foundation plans, and specifications 
when they are available to verify that the recommendations presented in this report 
have been properly interpreted and incorporated. 
 
Geotechnical observation and testing should be provided during the following 
activities: 
 
• Grading and excavation of the site; 

• Subgrade Preparation; 

• Compaction of all fill materials; 

• Utility trench backfilling and compaction; 

• Footing excavation and slab-on-grade preparation; 

• Pavement subgrade and base preparation;  

• Placement of asphalt concrete and/or concrete; and 

• When conditions are encountered on site that are not consistent with the 
conditions described in this report. 

Item D - 492 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 36 

6.0 LIMITATIONS 

This report was prepared using the degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised, under 
similar circumstances, by reputable geotechnical consultants practicing at this time in San 
Bernardino County.  We do not make any warranty, either express or implied.  
 
As in many projects, conditions revealed in excavations may be at variance with 
preliminary findings.  If this occurs, the changed conditions must be evaluated by the 
geotechnical consultant and additional recommendations be developed as needed. 
 
The identification and testing of hazardous, toxic or contaminated materials was outside 
the scope of Leighton's work.  Should such materials be encountered at any time, or their 
existence be suspected, all measures stipulated in local, County, State and Federal 
regulations, as applicable, should be implemented. 
 
This report is issued with the understanding that it is the responsibility of the owner, or of 
his representative, to ensure that the information and recommendations contained herein 
are brought to the attention of the necessary design consultants for the project and 
incorporated into the plans; and that the necessary steps are taken to see that the 
contractors carry out such recommendations in the field. 
 
Changes in the conditions of a property can occur with the passage of time, whether due 
to natural processes or the work of man on the subject or adjacent properties.  In addition, 
changes in standards of practice may occur from legislation or the broadening of 
knowledge.  Accordingly, the findings of this report may at some future time be invalidated 
wholly or partially by changes outside Leighton’s control. 
 
The conclusions and recommendations in this report are based in part upon data that 
were obtained from a necessarily limited number of observations, site visits, excavations, 
samples and tests.  Such information can be obtained only with respect to the specific 
locations explored, and therefore may not completely define all subsurface conditions 
throughout the site.  The nature of many sites is that differing geotechnical or geological 
conditions can occur within small distances and under varying climatic conditions.  
Furthermore, changes in subsurface conditions can and do occur over time.  Therefore, 
the findings, conclusions and recommendations presented in this report can be relied 
upon only if Leighton has the opportunity to perform additional investigation of the site, 
finalize and complete the conclusions and recommendations presented in this report, and 
finally to observe the subsurface conditions during grading and construction of the project, 
in order to verify that our preliminary findings are representative of the site. 

Item D - 493 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 

Page 37 

This report is intended only for the use of Legacy/Collier Residential, LLC and its design 
consultants, and only as related expressly to evaluation of the feasibility of developing the 
subject site with the proposed development and for preliminary planning and design. 

If parties other than Leighton are engaged to provide construction geotechnical services, 
they must be notified that they will be required to assume complete responsibility for the 
geotechnical phase of the project by concurring with the findings and recommendations 
in this report or by providing alternative recommendations. 

Any persons using this report for bidding or construction purposes should perform such 
independent explorations as they deem necessary to satisfy themselves as to the surface 
and subsurface conditions to be encountered and the procedures to be used in the 
performance of work on the subject site. 

Item D - 494 of 1893



Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 38 

7.0 REFERENCES 

American Concrete Institute (ACI), 2014, Building Code Requirements for Structural 
Concrete (ACI 318-14) and Commentary, an ACI Standard, reported by ACI 
Committee 318. 

American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE), 2017, Minimum Design Loads for Buildings 
and Other Structures, ASCE/SEI 7-16, with Supplement 1, Effective December 12, 
2018. 

Bray, J.D. and Sancio, R.B., 2006, Assessment of the Liquefaction Susceptibility of Fine-
Grained Soils, Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering, 
American Society of Civil Engineers, September 2006, V. 132, No. 9, pp. 1165-
1177. 

Bryant, W.A., and Hart, E.W., 2007, Fault Rupture Hazard Zones in California, Alquist-
Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act with Index to Earthquake Zones Maps, 
Department of Conservation, California Geological Survey, Special Publication 42, 
2007 Interim Revision. 

California Building Standards Commission, 2019, 2019 California Building Code (CBC), 
California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 2, Volume 2 of 2, Based on 2018 
International Building Code, Effective January 1, 2020. 

California Department of Conservation, Geologic Energy Management Division 
(CalGEM), 2021, Interactive Wellfinder Website, 
https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/doggr/wellfinder/ 

California Geological Survey (CGS; formerly California Division of Mines and Geology, 
CDMG), 2000a, Seismic Hazards Zones, Ontario Quadrangle, Official Map 
Released November 17, 2000. 

 , 2000b, Seismic Hazard Zone Report for the Ontario 7.5-Minute Quadrangle, Los 
Angeles County, California, Seismic Hazard Zone Report No. 040. 

_____, 2000c, CD-ROM containing digital images of Official Maps of Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zones that affect the Southern Region, DMG CD 2000-003 2000. 

 , 2008, Special Publication 117A, Guidelines for Evaluating and Mitigating Seismic 
Hazards in California.  

 , 2018, Earthquake Fault Zones, A Guide for Government Agencies, Property 
Owners / Developers, and Geoscience Practitioners for Assessing Fault Rupture 
Hazards in California, Special Publication 42, Revised 2018.  

Item D - 495 of 1893

https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/doggr/wellfinder/


Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Ontario, CA 13493.001 
 

Page 39 

San Bernardino County, 2010, Land Use Services, General Plan, Geologic Hazard 
Overlays, map FH27 C – Ontario, scale 1:14,400, dated march 9, 2010. 

 , 2013, Technical Guidance Document for Water Quality Management Plans, 
Prepared by CDM Smith, Inc. for the County of San Bernardino Areawide 
Stormwater Program, dated June 7, 2013. 

Dibblee, T.W. Jr., 2002, Geologic Map of the San Dimas and Ontario Quadrangles, Los 
Angeles and San Bernardino Counties, California, Dibblee Geological Foundation 
Map No. DF-91. 

Federal Emergency Management Agency, 2015, Flood Insurance Rate Map, City of 
Ontario, Map Number 06071C8620H, dated August 8, 2008. 

Jennings, C.W., 2010, Fault Activity Map of California, California Geological Survey, 
Geologic Data Map No. 6, map scale 1:750,000. 

Morton D.M., and Miller, F.K., 2006, Geologic Map of the San Bernardino and Santa Ana, 
30’ x 60’ Quadrangles, California, USGS Open File Report 2006-1217. 

Nationwide Environmental Title Research, LLC (NETR), 2021, Historic Aerials by NETR 
Online, website: http://www.historicaerials.com/aerials. 

United States Geological Survey (USGS), 2018, Ontario Quadrangle, California, 7.5 
Minute Series Topographic Map, map scale 1:24,000.  

 , 2008a, Unified Hazard Tool for Deaggregations, 
https://earthquake.usgs.gov/hazards/interactive/ 

 , 2008b, National Seismic Hazard Maps – Fault Parameters, 
https://earthquake.usgs.gov/cfusion/hazfaults_2008_search/query_main.cfm 

 , 2021a, Interactive Fault Map, http://earthquake.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults/map/ 

 , 2021b, Interactive Geologic Map, http://ngmdb.usgs.gov/maps/MapView/ 

Wildermuth Environmental, Inc., 2009, Chino Basin Optimum Basin Management Program, 
2008 State of the Basin Report, Final Report, Prepared for Chino Basin 
Watermaster, dated November, 2009.  

  

Item D - 496 of 1893

http://www.historicaerials.com/aerials
https://earthquake.usgs.gov/hazards/interactive/
https://earthquake.usgs.gov/cfusion/hazfaults_2008_search/query_main.cfm
http://earthquake.usgs.gov/hazards/qfaults/map/
http://ngmdb.usgs.gov/maps/MapView/


FIGURES 

Item D - 497 of 1893



³
0 2,000 4,000

Feet

Scale:1 " = 2,000 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F01_SLM_2022-04-19.mxd on 4/14/2022 2:00:06 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date: May 2022
SITE LOCATION MAP

Proposed Euclid and
Walnut Mixed-Use Development
2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue

Ontario, California

Approximate 
Site Boundary

FIGURE 1

Reference: © 2022 Microsoft Corporation ©
2022 Maxar ©CNES (2022) Distribution Airbus

Item D - 498 of 1893



&<

&<

&<

&<

&< &(

!(#

!(#

!(#
!(#

LP-2
T.D.20'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

Perc Test
Interval 15-20'

CPT-2
T.D.50.2'

CPT-1
T.D.50.4'

CPT-4
T.D.50.1' CPT-3/3A

T.D.35.8/50.7'

LB-2
T.D.26.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-1
T.D.51.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-5
T.D.26.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-3
T.D.26.5'

LP-1/LB-4
T.D.25'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'
Perc Test
Interval 17-22'

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F02_GM_2022-04-20.mxd on 4/19/2022 11:14:24 AM Author: KVM (btran)

GEOTECHNICAL MAP
Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue
Ontario, California

³
0 100 200

Feet

Scale:

Base Map: Option A Site Plan, Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use
Sheet 01, Dated: 03/10/2022
by AO Architecture Design Relationships

1 " = 100 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Date: May 2022

FIGURE 2

LB-5

LP-2

CPT-4

LEGEND

&<
Approximate location of hollow-stem auger boring
showing total depth (T.D.) and depth to earth units
in feet below ground surface.

&(
Approximate location of percolation test well
showing percolation test interval in feet
below ground surface.

!(#
Approximate location of cone penetrometer test sounding
showing total depth (T.D.) in feet below ground surface

Approximate Site Boundary

Artificial Fill

Quaternary Young Alluvial Fan Deposits

Afu

Qyf

W A L N U T   S T R E E T 

EUCLID 
AVENUE

Item D - 499 of 1893



?zE

?¼E

Qyf3

Qyf

Scale:

Basemap: USGS Topo Map Service from Esri, 2021
Reference: USGS Geologic Map of the Sotuthern 
California GIS Compilation by CGS, Lancaster, et al., 2012

1 " = 2,000 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F03_RGM_2022-04-19.mxd on 4/14/2022 2:02:07 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date: May 2022
REGIONAL GEOLOGY MAP

Approximate
Site Location

LEGEND

Qyf, Young Alluvial Fan Deposits

Proposed Euclid and
Walnut Mixed-Use Development
2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue

Ontario, California

FIGURE 3

³
0 2,000 4,000

Feet

Item D - 500 of 1893



³
0 5 10

Miles

Scale:

Base Map: ESRI ArcGIS Online 2022
Reference: maps.conservation.ca.gov

1 " = 5 miles

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F04_RFHSM_2022-04-19.mxd on 4/14/2022 2:03:52 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date: May 2022
REGIONAL FAULTS AND 

HISTORIC SEISMICITY MAP
Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue
Ontario, California

Approximate 
Site Location

LEGEND
Fault activity
Recency of Movement

Historic (<200 years)

Holocene (<11,700 years)

Late Quaternary (last 700,000 years)

Quaternary (<1.6M years)

Historical Earthquakes (≥M3.5)
! 3.5 - 3.99

! 4.0 - 4.99

! 5.0 - 5.99

! 6.0 - 6.99

FIGURE 4

Item D - 501 of 1893



Scale:

Base Map: San Bernardino County Land Use Plan
General Plan, Geologic Hazard Overlays, FH27 C Ontario

1 " = 5,000 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F05_SHM_2022-04-20.mxd on 4/20/2022 1:12:49 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date: May 2022
SEISMIC HAZARD MAP

Proposed Euclid and
Walnut Mixed-Use Development
2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue

Ontario, California

Approximate 
Site Location

FIGURE 5

³
0 5,000 10,000

Feet

Item D - 502 of 1893



?zE

³
0 2,000 4,000

Feet

Scale:

Base Map: ESRI ArcGIS Online 2022
Reference: FEMA, DWR

1 " = 2,000 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F06_FHM_2022-04-19.mxd on 4/14/2022 2:10:26 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date: May 2022
FLOOD HAZARD ZONE MAP

Approximate 
Site Location

LEGEND
100-Year Floodplains

500-Year Floodplains

Proposed Euclid and
Walnut Mixed-Use Development
2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue

Ontario, California

FIGURE 6

Item D - 503 of 1893



!"̀$

?zE

³
0 4,000 8,000

Feet

Scale:

Base Map: ESRI ArcGIS Online 2022
Reference: FEMA, DWR

1 " = 4,000 '

Project: 13493.001 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\001\Maps\13493-001_F07_DIM_2022-04-19.mxd on 4/14/2022 2:17:09 PM Author: KVM (btran)

Date:May 2022
DAM INUNDATION MAP

Approximate 
Site Location

LEGEND

San Antonio 1986 Revision

Proposed Euclid and
Walnut Mixed-Use Development
2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue

Ontario, California

FIGURE 7

Item D - 504 of 1893



RETAINING WALL BACKFILL AND SUBDRAIN DETAIL 

WITH PROPER
SURFACE DRAINAGE

SLOPE
OR LEVEL

CLASS 2 PERMEABLE
WEEP HOLE

WATERPROOFING
(SEE GENERAL NOTES)

LEVEL OR
SLOPE

12"

FILTER MATERIAL

NATIVE

¼ TO 1½ INCH SIZE GRAVEL
WRAPPED IN FILTER FABRIC

LEVEL OR
SLOPE

WEEP HOLE

SLOPE
OR LEVEL

12"

WITH PROPER
SURFACE DRAINAGE

4 INCH DIAMETER
PERFORATED PIPE

 (SEE NOTE 3)

FILTER FABRIC

OPTION 1: PIPE SURROUNDED WITH
CLASS 2 PERMEABLE MATERIAL OPTION 2: GRAVEL WRAPPED

IN FILTER FABRIC

SUBDRAIN OPTIONS AND BACKFILL WHEN NATIVE MATERIAL HAS EXPANSION INDEX OF <50

Sieve Size
1"

3/4"
3/8"
No. 4
No. 8
No. 30
No. 50
No. 200

Percent Passing
100

90-100
40-100
25-40
18-33
5-15
0-7
0-3

Class 2 Filter Permeable Material Gradation
Per Caltrans Specifications

(SEE NOTE 5)

12" MINIMUM

(SEE GRADATION)

WATERPROOFING
(SEE GENERAL NOTES)

(SEE NOTE 4)

12" MINIMUM

NATIVE

FOR WALLS 6 FEET OR LESS IN HEIGHT

(SEE NOTE 5)

WHEN NATIVE MATERIAL HAS EXPANSION INDEX OF <50

GENERAL NOTES:

* Waterproofing should be provided where moisture nuisance problem through the wall is undesirable.
* Water proofing of the walls is not under purview of the geotechnical engineer
* All drains should have a gradient of 1 percent minimum
*Outlet portion of the subdrain should have a 4-inch diameter solid pipe discharged into a suitable disposal area designed by the project
engineer. The subdrain pipe should be accessible for maintenance (rodding)
*Other subdrain backfill options are subject to the review by the geotechnical engineer and modification of design parameters.

Notes:
1) Sand should have a sand equivalent of 30 or greater and may be densified by water jetting.
2) 1 Cu. ft. per ft. of 1/4- to 1 1/2-inch size gravel wrapped in filter fabric
3) Pipe type should be ASTM D1527 Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene (ABS) SDR35 or ASTM D1785 Polyvinyl Chloride plastic (PVC), Schedule
40, Armco A2000 PVC, or approved equivalent.  Pipe should be installed with perforations down. Perforations should be 3/8 inch in diameter
placed at the ends of a 120-degree arc in two rows at 3-inch on center (staggered)
4) Filter fabric should be Mirafi 140NC or approved equivalent.
5) Weephole should be 3-inch minimum diameter and provided at 10-foot maximum intervals.  If exposure is permitted, weepholes should be
located 12 inches above finished grade.  If exposure is not permitted such as for a wall adjacent to a sidewalk/curb, a pipe under the sidewalk
to be discharged through the curb face or equivalent should be provided. For a basement-type wall, a proper subdrain outlet system should be
provided.
6) Retaining wall plans should be reviewed and approved by the geotechnical engineer.
7) Walls over six feet in height are subject to a special review by the geotechnical engineer and modifications to the above requirements.

 V
:\D

R
AF

TI
N

G
\T

EM
PL

AT
ES

\S
TA

N
D

AR
D

-F
IG

U
R

ES
\A

LL
-S

TA
N

D
AR

D
-F

IG
U

R
ES

.D
W

G
 (0

8-
02

-2
1 

9:
07

:3
5A

M
)  

Pl
ot

te
d 

by
: b

tra
n

FIGURE 8
Item D - 505 of 1893



APPENDIX A  
 

EXPLORATION LOGS 
 

  

Item D - 506 of 1893



ML-SM

ML/CL

ML-SM

CL-ML

SC

SP

@Surface: 2.5 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 4.5 -inches Base
Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.58': Sandy SILT, olive brown, moist, low plasticity, very fine

to fine sand, slightly micaceous; grades to Silty SAND,
medium brown, moist, very fine to fine sand, slightly
micaceous @ ~4'

<Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Silty CLAY, stiff, olive brown, moist, low plasticity, iron

oxidation staining, slightly micaceous, few fine sand

PP=2.50 TSF )>>
@7.5': Sandy SILT, very stiff, medium olive brown, moist, very

fine sand, low plasticity, slightly micaceous, slightly
laminated; grades to Clayey SILT with sand, grayish brown,
moist, low plasticity, iron oxidation staining, slightly
micaceous, few fine sand

@10': Silty CLAY, very stiff, gray, moist, low to medium
plasticity, iron oxidation staining/veins, few fine sand, trace
subrounded gravel, slightly laminated

PP>4.5 TSF

@15': Silty CLAY, stiff, medium brown, moist, medium plasticity,
iron oxidation staining, slightly micaceous; grades to Sandy
CLAY, medium brown, moist, medium plasticity, very fine to
fine sand, slightly micaceous, iron oxidation staining

PP=4.25 TSF

@20': Clayey SAND, medium dense, mottled medium brown to
orange, low plasticity, predominately fine sand, little medium
sand, slightly micaceous, slightly laminated, trace fine
subrounded gravel

PP>4.50 TSF

@25': SAND with Silt, medium dense, yellowish brown, slightly
moist, predominately fine sand, poorly-graded, little medium
sand, slightly micaceous

95

89

112

120

9

31

16

12

B-1

R-1

R-2

R-3

R-4

R-5

R-6

EI, RV

CN

CO

4
7
9

7
11
13

4
9
15

4
8
12

8
18
22

12
16
27

805'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling,  Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

805

800

795

790

785

780

775

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-1

Item D - 507 of 1893



@30': SAND with gravel, medium dense, orange brown, slightly
moist, fine to coarse sand, few fine subrounded gravel,
slightly micaceous

@35': SAND with Silt, Very dense, yellowish brown,
predominately fine sand, little medium to coarse sand, poorly
graded, few fine subangular to subrounded gravel

@40': SAND, dense, medium brown, slightly moist,
predominately fine sand, little medium to coarse sand, trace
to few fine subangular to subrounded gravel, slightly
micaceous

@45': Very dense, medium brown to orange brown, few fine
subrounded gravel

@50': Very dense, little subrounded granitic gravel

Total Depth: 51.5' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Backfilled with soil cuttings
Patched with cold-mix asphalt concrete

115

4

4

2

3

S-7

R-8

S-9

R-10

S-11

CO

9
12
14

11
24

50/4"

8
12
19

47
50/3"

35
39

50/4"

805'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  2  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling,  Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

775

770

765

760

755

750

745

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-1

Item D - 508 of 1893



ML-SM

ML-SM

SP

CL/SM

SP-ML

ML-SM

CL-SC

SP

@Surface: 4 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 5 -inches Base

Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.75': Sandy SILT, olive brown, moist, low plasticity, very fine

sand, slightly micaceous, some debris (asphalt)

<Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Clayey SAND, medium dense, olive gray, very moist, low

plasticity, very fine to fine sand, slightly micaceous, pinhole
pores; grades to Silty SAND with gravel, light to medium
brown, predominately fine sand, few medium sand, fine
subangular granitic gravel )>>

@7.5': SAND, medium dense, grayish brown, moist, very fine to
fine sand, slightly micaceous, little iron oxidation staining

@10': CLAY, stiff, olive gray, moist, lean, low plasticity,
extensive iron oxidation staining, few very fine sand, slightly
micaceous; grades to Silty SAND, light orange brown, very
fine sand, slightly micaceous

@15': SAND with silt, medium dense, light gray, slightly moist,
very fine to fine sand, micaceous; interbedded with Clayey
SILT, medium brown, moist, low plasticity, laminated, iron
oxidation staining

@20': Sandy SILT, very stiff, medium brown, moist, low
plasticity, very fine sand, micaceous; grades to Sandy CLAY,
medium brown, moist, low plasticity, very fine to fine sand,
trace subrounded gravel

PP = 3.50

@25': Sandy CLAY, very stiff, medium brown, moist, low
plasticity, very fine to fine sand, micaceous, some silt

PP > 4.50 TSF
@26': SAND with silt,  orange brown, dry to slightly moist, very

fine to fine sand, few medium sand, slightly micaceous
Total Depth: 26.5' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Backfilled with soil cuttings

101

103

112

108

3

4

16

10

B-1

R-1

R-2

R-3

R-4

R-5

R-6

DS, MD,
SE

CN

CN, AL

3
8
16

6
11
11

4
8
12

10
10
11

7
11
17

10
15
24

807'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

805

800

795

790

785

780

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-2

Item D - 509 of 1893



Patched with cold-mix asphalt concrete

807'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  2  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

775

770

765

760

755

750

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-2

Item D - 510 of 1893



SM

SM

CL-SC

CL

SC

@Surface: 3.5 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 12 -inches Base

Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@1.3': Silty SAND, olive brown, slightly moist, very fine to fine

sand, few medium sand, trace coarse sand, non-plastic, few
debris (asphalt)

<Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Silty SAND, medium dense, medium brown, moist, very

fine to fine sand, slightly laminated, slightly micaceous )>>

@7.5': Silty SAND, medium dense, olive, slightly moist, fine
sand, low plasticity, iron oxidation staining, carbonate veins;
grades to SAND, yellowish brown, slightly moist, very fine to
fine sand

@10': Silty CLAY, very stiff, grayish brown, slightly moist, low to
medium plasticity, trace very fine sand, iron oxidation staining

PP > 4.50 TSF

@15': Very stiff, slightly laminated

PP = 4.25 TSF

@20': Clayey SAND, medium dense, orange brown, slightly
moist, low plasticity, fine sand, trace medium to coarse sand,
slightly laminated, iron oxidation staining

PP = 4.50 TSF

@25': Medium dense, higher sand content, pinhole pores

PP > 4.50 TSF

Total Depth: 26.5' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Backfilled with soil cuttings
Patched with cold-mix asphalt concrete

111

90

87

122

114

8

26

35

12

14

B-1

R-1

R-2

R-3

R-4

R-5

R-6

CR, MD

DS

7
9
11

7
12
15

10
16
26

5
9
17

12
16
27

7
10
17

808'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  1

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

805

800

795

790

785

780

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-3

Item D - 511 of 1893



SM

SM-ML

ML-SM

CL-ML

SC

@Surface: 5 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 3 -inches Base
Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.67': Silty SAND, olive brown, slightly moist, very fine to fine

sand, few medium sand, trace coarse sand, trace debris
(asphalt)

<Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Silty SAND, medium dense, medium brown, slightly moist,

very fine to fine sand, trace coarse sand, nonplastic, slightly
micaceous; grades to Sandy SILT, yellowish brown, slightly
moist, very fine sand, no to low plasticity, slightly
micaceous )>>

@7.5': Sandy SILT, very stiff, grayish brown, slightly moist, very
fine sand, low plasticity, iron oxidation staining; grades to
Sandy SILT, yellowish brown

@10': Silty CLAY, very stiff, grayish brown to tan, moist, low
plasticity, slightly laminated, trace very fine sand; grades to
SAND, tan to yellowish brown, slightly moist, very fine to fine
sand, slightly micaceous

@15': Silty CLAY, very stiff, grayish brown, moist, low to
medium plasticity, iron oxidation staining, some very fine to
fine sand, slightly laminated

@20': Very stiff, few to little very fine to fine sand, slightly
laminated

@25': Clayey SAND, dense, olive brown, moist, predominately
fine sand, trace to few medium to coarse sand, low plasticity,
slightly micaceous; grades to orange, iron oxidation stained
Clayey SAND, slightly laminated

Total Depth: 26.5' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Backfilled with soil cuttings
Patched with cold-mix asphalt concrete

B-1

R-1

R-2

R-3

R-4

R-5

R-6

SE

5
7
9

9
16
16

6
11
16

5
10
21

6
9
19

10
18
28

807'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  1

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

805

800

795

790

785

780

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LB-5

Item D - 512 of 1893



ML-SM

SM-ML

ML-CL

SP

SM

ML-SM

@Surface: 3 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 7 -inches Base

Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.83': Sandy SILT, olive brown, moist, low plasticity, very fine

sand, slightly micaceous; grades to Silty SAND, medium
brown, moist, very fine to fine sand, trace medium sand,
slightly micaceous @ ~4'

Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Silty SAND, very loose, medium brown, moist, very fine to

fine sand, slightly micaceous, nonplastic

@10': Clayey Sandy SILT, medium stiff, moist, low plasticity,
very fine sand, slightly micaceous; grades to Silty CLAY with
sand, gray, moist, low to medium plasticity, very fine sand,
micaceous, extensive iron oxidation staining

@15': Silty SAND, medium dense, grayish brown, slightly moist,
prodominately fine sand, some clay, trace medium to coarse
sand, trace fine subrounded gravel, slightly micaceous

@18.5': Sandy SILT, very stiff, olive brown, slightly moist, low
plasticity, very fine to fine sand, iron oxidation staining,
slightly micaceous

PP > 4.50 TSF

@23.5': Sandy CLAY, stiff to medium dense, orange mottled
with brown, low plasticity, very fine to fine sand, slightly
micaceous

Total Depth: 25' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Temporary percolation well installed; screened from 17 - 22' bgs
Upon completion of percolation testing, boring was backfilled

with soil cuttings and patched with cold-mix asphalt

104

119

5

12

B-1

S-1

S-2

R-3

R-4

S-5

, SA

, SA

SA

2
2
2

2
3
4

6
9
11

8
13
21

5
6
7

805'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  1

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

805

800

795

790

785

780

775

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-1

Item D - 513 of 1893



SM-ML

SM

ML/CL

SM

@Surface: 3.5 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 4 -inches Base
Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.62': Silty SAND to Sandy SILT, olive brown, slightly moist,

very fine to fine sand, low to no plasticity, slightly micaceous

<Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Deposits (Qyf)
@5': Silty SAND, very loose, medium to dark brown, moist, very

fine to fine sand, trace coarse sand to fine subrounded
gravel )>>

@10': Sandy SILT, medium stiff, mottled with gray and light
brown, slightly moist, low plasticity, very fine sand, slightly
micaceous; grades to Silty CLAY, grayish brown, moist, low
to medium plasticity, iron oxidation staining, laminated

@15': Silty CLAY, stiff, olive brown, moist, low plasticity, very
fine sand, slightly micaceous, laminated, iron oxidation
staining

@18.5': Silty SAND, medium dense, olive brown, moist, very
fine to fine sand, low to no plasticity, little iron oxidation
staining, trace pinhole pores

Total Depth: 20' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Temporary percolation well installed; screened from 15 - 20' bgs
Upon completion of percolation testing, boring was backfilled

with soil cuttings and patched with cold-mix asphalt

91

115

25

7

B-1

S-1

S-2

R-3

R-4

, SA

, SA

4
2
2

2
2
3

4
6
9

12
16
26

804'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

4-6-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  1

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

800

795

790

785

780

775

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 2 - Geotechnical Map

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-2

Item D - 514 of 1893



APPENDIX B 
 

PERCOLATION TEST DATA 
 

  

Item D - 515 of 1893



Project Number: 13493.001 Test Hole Number: LP-1
Project Name: Legacy - Collier Date Excavated:
Earth Description: Alluvium Date Tested:
Liquid Description: Tap water Depth of boring (ft): 23.5
Tested By:  LFO/KD Radius of boring (in): 4
Time Interval Standard Radius of casing (in): 1
Start Time for Pre-Soak: 8:34 Length of slotted of casing (ft): 5
Start Time for Standard: 9:31 Depth to Initial Water Depth (ft): 16.9

25 Porosity of Annulus Material, n : 0.35
10 Bentonite Plug at Bottom: No

Reading Time
Time Interval, 

Δt (min.)

Initial/Final 
Depth to 

Water (ft.)

Initial/Final 
Water Height, 

H0/Hf            

(in.)

Total Water 
Drop, Δd (in.)

Percolation 
Rate (min./in.)

Infiltration 
Rate (in./hr.)

8:34 16.93 78.8
8:59 17.61 70.7
9:04 16.99 78.1
9:29 17.61 70.7
9:31 16.94 78.7
9:41 17.43 72.8
9:43 17.00 78.0
9:53 17.42 73.0
9:55 17.00 78.0

10:05 17.44 72.7
10:06 17.00 78.0
10:16 17.44 72.7
10:18 17.00 78.0
10:28 17.45 72.6
10:30 17.00 78.0
10:40 17.44 72.7

Infiltration Rate, I (Last Reading) = 0.32 in./hr.

Boring Percolation Test Data Sheet

4/6/2022
4/7/2022

Standard Time Interval 
Between Readings, mins:

Percolation Data

1 25 8.2 3.06 0.20

2 25 7.4 3.36 0.18

3 10 5.9 1.70 0.35

4 10 5.0 1.98 0.30

5 10 5.3 1.89 0.32

6 10 5.3 1.89 0.32

7 10 5.4 1.85 0.33

8 10 5.3 1.89 0.32

Infiltration Rate (I) = Discharge Volume/Surface Area of Test Section/Time Interval

Item D - 516 of 1893



Project Number: 13493.001 Test Hole Number: LP-2
Project Name: Legacy - Collier Date Excavated:
Earth Description: Alluvium Date Tested:
Liquid Description: Tap water Depth of boring (ft): 20
Tested By:  LFO/KD Radius of boring (in): 4
Time Interval Standard Radius of casing (in): 1
Start Time for Pre-Soak: 7:25 Length of slotted of casing (ft): 5
Start Time for Standard: 8:27 Depth to Initial Water Depth (ft): 15.05

25 Porosity of Annulus Material, n : 0.35
10 Bentonite Plug at Bottom: No

Reading Time
Time Interval, 

Δt (min.)

Initial/Final 
Depth to 

Water (ft.)

Initial/Final 
Water Height, 

H0/Hf            

(in.)

Total Water 
Drop, Δd (in.)

Percolation 
Rate (min./in.)

Infiltration 
Rate (in./hr.)

7:25 15.05 59.4
7:50 15.06 59.3
7:55 15.20 57.6
8:20 16.55 41.4
8:27 15.08 59.0
8:37 15.75 51.0
8:39 15.05 59.4
8:49 15.78 50.6
8:56 15.08 59.0
9:06 15.75 51.0
9:08 15.08 59.0
9:18 15.50 54.0
9:21 15.08 59.0
9:31 15.78 50.6
9:34 15.08 59.0
9:44 15.78 50.6

Infiltration Rate, I (Last Reading) = 0.69 in./hr.

Percolation Data

Boring Percolation Test Data Sheet

4/6/2022
4/7/2022

Standard Time Interval 
Between Readings, mins:

1 25 0.1 208.33 0.00

2 25 16.2 1.54 0.59

3 10 8.0 1.24 0.66

5 10 8.0 1.24 0.66

4 10 8.8 1.14 0.72

6 10 5.0 1.98 0.40

7 10 8.4 1.19 0.69

Infiltration Rate (I) = Discharge Volume/Surface Area of Test Section/Time Interval

8 10 8.4 1.19 0.69

Item D - 517 of 1893



APPENDIX C 

LABORATORY TEST RESULTS 

Item D - 518 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: GB/JD Date: 04/13/22
Project No.: Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/26/22
Boring No.: Depth (ft.):
Sample No.: Sample Type:
Soil Identification:

Sample Diameter (in.): 2.415
Sample Thickness (in.): 1.000
Weight of Sample + ring (g): 185.47
Weight of Ring (g): 45.70
Height after consol. (in.): 0.9695
Before Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 169.15
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 153.14
Weight of Container (g): 65.19
Initial Moisture Content (%) 18.2
Initial Dry Density (pcf) 98.3
Initial Saturation (%): 68
Initial Vertical Reading (in.) 0.0773
After Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 254.24
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 229.01
Weight of Container (g): 59.14
Final Moisture Content (%) 20.32
Final  Dry Density (pcf): 106.5
Final Saturation (%): 94
Final Vertical Reading (in.) 0.1103
Specific Gravity (assumed): 2.71
Water Density (pcf): 62.43

0.10 0.0777 0.9996 0.00 0.04 0.720 0.04
0.25 0.0812 0.9962 0.03 0.39 0.714 0.36
0.50 0.0834 0.9940 0.08 0.61 0.711 0.53
1.00 0.0869 0.9905 0.15 0.95 0.707 0.80
2.00 0.0905 0.9868 0.25 1.32 0.702 1.07
2.00 0.0917 0.9856 0.25 1.44 0.700 1.19
4.00 0.0982 0.9791 0.36 2.09 0.691 1.73
8.00 0.1092 0.9681 0.49 3.19 0.674 2.70
16.00 0.1274 0.9500 0.64 5.01 0.645 4.37
4.00 0.1222 0.9552 0.47 4.49 0.651 4.02
1.00 0.1172 0.9602 0.34 3.99 0.658 3.65
0.25 0.1103 0.9670 0.25 3.30 0.668 3.05

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION 

ASTM D 2435

13493.001

Deformation 
% of Sample 

Thickness
Square 
Root of 
Time

Final 
Reading   

(in.)

Apparent 
Thickness  

(in.)

Load 
Compliance 

(%)

PROPERTIES of SOILS

Ring

Void      
Ratio

Olive silty clay (CL-ML)

Time Readings 

Elapsed  
Time (min)

5.0

Pressure   
(p)       

(ksf) Dial Rdgs. 
(in.)Date

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

LB-1
R-1

Time

Corrected 
Deforma-
tion (%)

0.640

0.650

0.660

0.670

0.680

0.690

0.700

0.710

0.720

0.730

0.10 1.00 10.00 100.

Vo
id

 R
at

io

Pressure, p (ksf)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Consol LB-1, R-1 @ 5

Item D - 519 of 1893



Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final

Soil Identification:

Boring      
No.

Sample     
No.

Depth      
(ft.)

Moisture 
Content (%) 

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION  
PROPERTIES of SOILS                       

ASTM D 2435       

20.3 106.5LB-1 R-1 18.2

Olive silty clay (CL-ML)

Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

04-22

13493.001

Time Readings 

0.668 68 9498.3

Degree of 
Saturation (%)Dry Density (pcf)  

0.720

Void Ratio

5

0.0000

0.1000

0.2000

0.3000

0.4000

0.5000

0.6000

0.7000

0.8000

0.9000

1.0000
0.1 1.0

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
D

ia
l R

ea
di

ng
 (i

n.
)

Log of Time (min.)

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

4.50

5.00
0.10 1.00 10.00 100.00

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
(%

)

Pressure, p (ksf)

0.0000

0.2000

0.4000

0.6000

0.8000

1.0000

1.2000
0.0 10.0

Square Root of Time (min.1/2)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Item D - 520 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: GB/JD Date: 04/13/22
Project No.: Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/26/22
Boring No.: Depth (ft.):
Sample No.: Sample Type:
Soil Identification:

Sample Diameter (in.): 2.415
Sample Thickness (in.): 1.000
Weight of Sample + ring (g): 199.47
Weight of Ring (g): 44.89
Height after consol. (in.): 0.9819
Before Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 189.19
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 178.43
Weight of Container (g): 59.52
Initial Moisture Content (%) 9.0
Initial Dry Density (pcf) 117.9
Initial Saturation (%): 56
Initial Vertical Reading (in.) 0.0958
After Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 269.21
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 253.05
Weight of Container (g): 66.12
Final Moisture Content (%) 11.38
Final  Dry Density (pcf): 120.3
Final Saturation (%): 76
Final Vertical Reading (in.) 0.1178
Specific Gravity (assumed): 2.71
Water Density (pcf): 62.43

0.10 0.0960 0.9998 0.00 0.02 0.435 0.02
0.25 0.0974 0.9984 0.06 0.16 0.434 0.10
0.50 0.0988 0.9970 0.14 0.30 0.433 0.16
1.00 0.1015 0.9943 0.24 0.57 0.430 0.33
2.00 0.1043 0.9916 0.36 0.84 0.428 0.48
2.00 0.1051 0.9907 0.36 0.93 0.427 0.57
4.00 0.1102 0.9856 0.50 1.44 0.422 0.94
8.00 0.1170 0.9788 0.66 2.12 0.414 1.46
16.00 0.1275 0.9684 0.86 3.17 0.402 2.31
4.00 0.1240 0.9718 0.67 2.82 0.404 2.15
1.00 0.1210 0.9748 0.51 2.52 0.406 2.01
0.25 0.1178 0.9780 0.39 2.20 0.409 1.81

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION 

ASTM D 2435

13493.001

Deformation 
% of Sample 

Thickness
Square 
Root of 
Time

Final 
Reading   

(in.)

Apparent 
Thickness  

(in.)

Load 
Compliance 

(%)

PROPERTIES of SOILS

Ring

Void      
Ratio

Olive gray silty, clayey sand (SC-SM)

Time Readings 

Elapsed  
Time (min)

5.0

Pressure   
(p)       

(ksf) Dial Rdgs. 
(in.)Date

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

LB-2
R-1

Time

Corrected 
Deforma-
tion (%)

0.400

0.405

0.410

0.415

0.420

0.425

0.430

0.435

0.440

0.10 1.00 10.00 100.

Vo
id

 R
at

io

Pressure, p (ksf)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Consol LB-2, R-1 @ 5

Item D - 521 of 1893



Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final

Soil Identification:

Boring      
No.

Sample     
No.

Depth      
(ft.)

Moisture 
Content (%) 

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION  
PROPERTIES of SOILS                       

ASTM D 2435       

11.4 120.3LB-2 R-1 9.0

Olive gray silty, clayey sand (SC-SM)

Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

04-22

13493.001

Time Readings 

0.409 56 76117.9

Degree of 
Saturation (%)Dry Density (pcf)  

0.435

Void Ratio

5

0.0000

0.1000

0.2000

0.3000

0.4000

0.5000

0.6000

0.7000

0.8000

0.9000

1.0000
0.1 1.0

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
D

ia
l R

ea
di

ng
 (i

n.
)

Log of Time (min.)

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50
0.10 1.00 10.00 100.00

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
(%

)

Pressure, p (ksf)

0.0000

0.2000

0.4000

0.6000

0.8000

1.0000

1.2000
0.0 10.0

Square Root of Time (min.1/2)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Item D - 522 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: GB/JD Date: 04/13/22
Project No.: Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/26/22
Boring No.: Depth (ft.):
Sample No.: Sample Type:
Soil Identification:

Sample Diameter (in.): 2.415
Sample Thickness (in.): 1.000
Weight of Sample + ring (g): 193.07
Weight of Ring (g): 45.55
Height after consol. (in.): 0.9656
Before Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 263.34
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 214.46
Weight of Container (g): 55.13
Initial Moisture Content (%) 30.7
Initial Dry Density (pcf) 93.9
Initial Saturation (%): 100
Initial Vertical Reading (in.) 0.0902
After Test
Wt. of Wet Sample+Cont. (g): 253.11
Wt. of Dry Sample+Cont. (g): 222.45
Weight of Container (g): 61.21
Final Moisture Content (%) 26.50
Final  Dry Density (pcf): 99.6
Final Saturation (%): 99
Final Vertical Reading (in.) 0.1293
Specific Gravity (assumed): 2.79
Water Density (pcf): 62.43

0.10 0.0911 0.9991 0.00 0.09 0.854 0.09
0.25 0.0978 0.9924 0.11 0.76 0.843 0.65
0.50 0.1021 0.9882 0.25 1.19 0.838 0.94
1.00 0.1082 0.9820 0.43 1.80 0.830 1.37
2.00 0.1140 0.9762 0.58 2.38 0.822 1.80
2.00 0.1130 0.9773 0.58 2.28 0.824 1.70
4.00 0.1196 0.9706 0.72 2.94 0.814 2.22
8.00 0.1355 0.9547 0.88 4.53 0.788 3.65
16.00 0.1602 0.9301 1.07 7.00 0.745 5.93
4.00 0.1523 0.9379 0.89 6.21 0.757 5.32
1.00 0.1409 0.9493 0.72 5.07 0.775 4.35
0.25 0.1293 0.9609 0.47 3.91 0.791 3.44

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION 

ASTM D 2435

13493.001

Deformation 
% of Sample 

Thickness
Square 
Root of 
Time

Final 
Reading   

(in.)

Apparent 
Thickness  

(in.)

Load 
Compliance 

(%)

PROPERTIES of SOILS

Ring

Void      
Ratio

Olive gray lean clay (CL)

Time Readings 

Elapsed  
Time (min)

10.0

Pressure   
(p)       

(ksf) Dial Rdgs. 
(in.)Date

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

LB-2
R-3

Time

Corrected 
Deforma-
tion (%)

0.720

0.740

0.760

0.780

0.800

0.820

0.840

0.860

0.880

0.10 1.00 10.00 100.

Vo
id

 R
at

io

Pressure, p (ksf)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Consol LB-2, R-3 @ 10

Item D - 523 of 1893



Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final Initial Final

Soil Identification:

Boring      
No.

Sample     
No.

Depth      
(ft.)

Moisture 
Content (%) 

ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION  
PROPERTIES of SOILS                       

ASTM D 2435       

26.5 99.6LB-2 R-3 30.7

Olive gray lean clay (CL)

Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

04-22

13493.001

Time Readings 

0.791 100 9993.9

Degree of 
Saturation (%)Dry Density (pcf)  

0.855

Void Ratio

10

0.0000

0.1000

0.2000

0.3000

0.4000

0.5000

0.6000

0.7000

0.8000

0.9000

1.0000
0.1 1.0

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
D

ia
l R

ea
di

ng
 (i

n.
)

Log of Time (min.)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00
0.10 1.00 10.00 100.00

D
ef

or
m

at
io

n 
(%

)

Pressure, p (ksf)

0.0000

0.2000

0.4000

0.6000

0.8000

1.0000

1.2000
0.0 10.0

Square Root of Time (min.1/2)

Inundate with  
Tap water

Item D - 524 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By : G. Berdy Date: 04/13/22

Project No. : 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22

Boring No. LB-3

Sample No. B-1

Sample Depth (ft) 0-5

168.20

168.07

52.00

0.11

100.19

8

3

860

7:15/8:00

45

24.5192

24.5129

0.0063

259.25

260

ml of Extract For Titration      (B) 15

ml of AgNO3 Soln. Used in Titration (C) 0.4

PPM of Chloride (C -0.2) * 100 * 30 / B 40

PPM of Chloride, Dry Wt. Basis 40

7.92
20.3

TESTS for SULFATE CONTENT
CHLORIDE CONTENT and pH of SOILS

SULFATE CONTENT, DOT California Test 417, Part II

pH TEST, DOT California Test  643

Furnace Temperature (°C)

Weight of Container (g)

Crucible No.

Wt. of Crucible + Residue (g)      

Dry Weight of Soil + Container (g)

Olive brown 
(SM)

Wet Weight of Soil + Container (g)

Temperature  °C
pH Value

Duration of Combustion (min)

Soil Identification:

Time In / Time Out

Wt. of  Residue (g)                     (A)      

CHLORIDE CONTENT, DOT California Test 422

Wt. of Crucible (g)      

PPM of Sulfate, Dry Weight Basis
PPM of Sulfate                 (A) x 41150

Moisture Content (%)

Beaker No.

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Weight of Soaked Soil (g)

Item D - 525 of 1893



Project Name: Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario C Tested By : Date:
Project No. : Checked By: A. Santos Date:
Boring No.: Depth (ft.) :     
Sample No. :
Soil Identification:*
*California Test 643 requires soil specimens to consist only of portions of samples passing through the No. 8 US Standard Sieve before 
resistivity testing.  Therefore, this test method may not be representative for coarser materials. 

Wt. of Container     (g)23.14 1500

0.11
168.20

Moisture Content (%)  (MCi)
Wet Wt. of Soil + Cont. (g)

Specimen 
No.

1
2

Water 
Added (ml)  

(Wa)

30

Adjusted 
Moisture 
Content   

(MC) Dry Wt. of Soil + Cont. (g)
1500

1.000

Chloride Content
(ohm-cm)

46.18

Moisture Content Sulfate Content

5

Min. Resistivity

DOT CA Test 643DOT CA Test 417 Part II DOT CA Test 422

(%) (ppm) (ppm)

DOT CA Test 643

4

40
50
60

130.403 135038.50
1350

1335 34.4 260 40 7.92 20.3

SOIL RESISTIVITY TEST
DOT CA TEST 643

Temp. (°C)pH
Soil pH

1350
1350

168.07
52.00

MC =(((1+Mci/100)x(Wa/Wt+1))-1)x100

04/19/22
04/25/22

0-5
13493.001
LB-3

G. Berdy

B-1

Container No.
Initial Soil Wt. (g)   (Wt)
Box Constant1450 1450

Olive brown (SM)

Resistance 
Reading 
(ohm)

30.82

Soil 
Resistivity 
(ohm-cm)

1300

1350

1400

1450

1500

1550

20.0 25.0 30.0 35.0 40.0 45.0 50.0

So
il 

R
es

is
tiv

ity
 (o

hm
-c

m
)

Moisture Content (%)

Item D - 526 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: G. Bathala Date: 04/18/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: Sample Type: 90% Remold
Sample No.: Depth (ft.): 0-5
Soil Identification:

2.415 2.415 2.415
1.000 1.000 1.000
197.98 198.21 198.62
45.38 45.43 45.60

Before Shearing
169.35 169.35 169.35
155.92 155.92 155.92
56.15 56.15 56.15
0.2545 0.2729 0.0000
0.2651 0.2858 -0.0224

After Shearing
211.09 212.06 191.55
190.82 191.76 171.67
58.12 58.19 38.35
2.70 2.70 2.70
62.43 62.43 62.43

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

LB-2

Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

Sample Diameter(in):

Weight of Wet Sample+Cont.(gm):

Vertical Rdg.(in): Final
Vertical Rdg.(in): Initial

Sample Thickness(in.):
Weight of Sample + ring(gm):

B-1

DIRECT  SHEAR  TEST
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

Water Density(pcf):
Specific Gravity (Assumed):
Weight of Container(gm):
Weight of Dry Sample+Cont.(gm):

Weight of Ring(gm):

Weight of Container(gm):
Weight of Dry Sample+Cont.(gm):
Weight of Wet Sample+Cont.(gm):

DS LB-2, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 527 of 1893



Normal Stress (kip/ft²)
Peak Shear Stress  (kip/ft²)
Shear Stress @ End of Test (ksf)
Deformation Rate  (in./min.)

Initial Sample Height (in.)
Diameter (in.)
Initial Moisture Content (%)
Dry Density (pcf)
Saturation (%)
Soil Height Before Shearing (in.)
Final Moisture Content (%)

04-22

Project No.: 13493.001

Sample Type:

90% Remold

Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)
71.7

0.9894
15.3

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

DIRECT SHEAR TEST RESULTS  
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

72.3
0.9776
14.9

1.000
0.893
0.729
0.0017

1.000
2.415

1.000
2.415

2.000
1.405
1.405
0.0017

4.000
2.719
2.719
0.0017

71.9
0.9871
15.2

Soil Identification: 13.46
112.0

13.46
111.9 112.2

1.000
2.415
13.46

Boring No.
Sample No.
Depth (ft)

LB-2
B-1
0-5

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0 0.1 0.2 0.3

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Horizontal Deformation (in.)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0.00 1.00 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00 7.00 8.00

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Normal Stress (ksf)

DS LB-2, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 528 of 1893



Normal Stress (kip/ft²)
Peak Shear Stress  (kip/ft²)
Shear Stress @ End of Test (ksf)

Sample Type: 90% Remold Deformation Rate  (in./min.)

Initial Sample Height (in.)
Diameter (in.)
Initial Moisture Content (%)

Strength Parameters Dry Density (pcf)
C (psf)  (o) Saturation (%)

Peak 236 32 Soil Height Before Shearing (in.)
Ultimate 72 34 Final Moisture Content (%)

1.405
1.405

Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

Boring No.
Sample No.
Depth (ft)

LB-2
B-1
0-5

71.9

13.46
112.0

0.0017

4.000
2.719
2.719
0.0017

72.3

2.000

0.9776

13.46

14.9

1.000
2.415

0.9871
15.2

112.2

1.000
2.415

DIRECT SHEAR TEST RESULTS  
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

1.000
0.893
0.729
0.0017

13.46
111.9

2.415
Soil Identification:

04-22

Project No.: 13493.001

71.7
0.9894

1.000

15.3

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0 0.1 0.2 0.3

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Horizontal Deformation (in.)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0.00 1.00 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00 7.00 8.00

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Normal Stress (ksf)

DS LB-2, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 529 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: G. Bathala Date: 04/19/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: Sample Type: Ring
Sample No.: Depth (ft.): 7.5
Soil Identification:

2.415 2.415 2.415
1.000 1.000 1.000
177.41 181.99 182.19
43.72 45.58 45.95

Before Shearing
182.62 182.62 182.62
178.05 178.05 178.05
58.18 58.18 58.18
0.0000 0.2562 0.2637
-0.0126 0.2707 0.2918

After Shearing
208.16 204.29 212.34
188.26 184.44 192.59
66.34 58.11 67.16
2.70 2.70 2.70
62.43 62.43 62.43

DIRECT  SHEAR  TEST
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

Water Density(pcf):
Specific Gravity (Assumed):
Weight of Container(gm):
Weight of Dry Sample+Cont.(gm):

Weight of Ring(gm):

Weight of Container(gm):
Weight of Dry Sample+Cont.(gm):
Weight of Wet Sample+Cont.(gm):

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

LB-3

Olive silty sand (SM)

Sample Diameter(in):

Weight of Wet Sample+Cont.(gm):

Vertical Rdg.(in): Final
Vertical Rdg.(in): Initial

Sample Thickness(in.):
Weight of Sample + ring(gm):

R-2

DS LB-3, R-2 @ 7.5

Item D - 530 of 1893



Normal Stress (kip/ft²)
Peak Shear Stress  (kip/ft²)
Shear Stress @ End of Test (ksf)
Deformation Rate  (in./min.)

Initial Sample Height (in.)
Diameter (in.)
Initial Moisture Content (%)
Dry Density (pcf)
Saturation (%)
Soil Height Before Shearing (in.)
Final Moisture Content (%)

109.1

1.000
2.415
3.81

Boring No.
Sample No.
Depth (ft)

LB-3
R-2
7.5

19.0
0.9855
15.7

Soil Identification: 3.81
109.3

3.81
107.1

1.364
0.0033

4.000
2.858
2.704
0.0033

1.000
0.773
0.688
0.0033

1.000
2.415

1.000
2.415

2.000
1.544

17.9
0.9874
16.3

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

DIRECT SHEAR TEST RESULTS  
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

18.9
0.9719
15.7

04-22

Project No.: 13493.001

Sample Type:

Ring

Olive silty sand (SM)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0 0.1 0.2 0.3

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Horizontal Deformation (in.)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0.00 1.00 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00 7.00 8.00

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Normal Stress (ksf)

DS LB-3, R-2 @ 7.5

Item D - 531 of 1893



Normal Stress (kip/ft²)
Peak Shear Stress  (kip/ft²)
Shear Stress @ End of Test (ksf)

Sample Type: Ring Deformation Rate  (in./min.)

Initial Sample Height (in.)
Diameter (in.)
Initial Moisture Content (%)

Strength Parameters Dry Density (pcf)
C (psf)  (o) Saturation (%)

Peak 116 35 Soil Height Before Shearing (in.)
Ultimate 18 34 Final Moisture Content (%)

04-22

Project No.: 13493.001

17.9
0.9874

1.000

16.3

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

DIRECT SHEAR TEST RESULTS  
Consolidated Drained - ASTM D 3080

1.000
0.773
0.688
0.0033

3.81
107.1

2.415
Soil Identification:

0.9719

3.81

15.7

1.000
2.415

0.9855
15.7

109.1

1.000
2.415

19.0

3.81
109.3

0.0033

4.000
2.858
2.704
0.0033

18.9

2.000
1.544
1.364

Olive silty sand (SM)

Boring No.
Sample No.
Depth (ft)

LB-3
R-2
7.5

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0 0.1 0.2 0.3

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Horizontal Deformation (in.)

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

0.00 1.00 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00 7.00 8.00

Sh
ea

r S
tre

ss
 (k

sf
)

Normal Stress (ksf)

DS LB-3, R-2 @ 7.5

Item D - 532 of 1893



Tested By: G. Berdy Date: 04/13/22
Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Depth (ft.):

Dry Wt. of Soil + Cont.         (g)
Wt. of Container No.            (g)
Dry Wt. of Soil                     (g)
Weight Soil Retained on #4 Sieve
Percent Passing # 4 

SPECIMEN  INUNDATION in distilled water for the period of 24 h or expansion rate < 0.0002 in./h

1100

Expansion Index (EI meas)   = ((Final Rdg - Initial Rdg) / Initial Thick.) x 1000 18

1.0

0.6030
04/14/22 9:53 1.0 1351 0.6030
04/14/22 5:42 1.0

Add Distilled Water to the Specimen
04/13/22 11:59 1.0 37 0.6000

10
04/13/22 11:12 1.0 0 0.5855

0.585504/13/22 11:22

Degree of Saturation (%) [ S meas] 49.0 96.3

Date Time Pressure  (psi) Elapsed Time         
(min.)

Dial Readings        
(in.)

Total Porosity 0.331 0.343
Pore Volume                  (cc)  68.6 72.2

Dry Density                    (pcf) 112.7 110.8
Void Ratio   0.496 0.522

Moisture Content            (%) 9.00 18.61
Wet Density                   (pcf) 122.9 131.4

Dry Wt. of Soil + Cont.    (g) 751.90 575.77
Wt. of Container             (g) 0.00 202.10

Container No. O O
Wet Wt. of Soil + Cont.   (g) 819.60 645.30

Wt. of Mold                    (g) 202.10 0.00
Specific Gravity (Assumed) 2.70 2.70

Specimen Height            (in.) 1.0000 1.0175
Wt. Comp. Soil + Mold    (g) 609.40 443.20

Specimen Diameter        (in.) 4.01 4.01

100.00

MOLDED SPECIMEN Before Test After Test

1000.00
0.00

1000.00
0.00

0-5
Sample No.: B-1
Soil Identification: Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

Project No.: 13493.001
Boring No.:

EXPANSION INDEX of SOILS
ASTM D 4829

Project Name:

LB-1

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Item D - 533 of 1893



LB-1 7.5 9.3 94.6

LB-1 10.0 31.0 88.6

LB-1 15.0 15.7 111.5

LB-1 20.0 12.2 120.1

LB-1 30.0 3.6

LB-1 40.0 4.4

LB-1 45.0 2.0 114.9

LB-1 50.0 3.2

LB-2 7.5 3.0 101.4

LB-2 15.0 4.0 102.8

LB-2 20.0 15.7 111.9

LB-2 25.0 10.4 108.4

LB-3 5.0 7.7 110.6

LB-3 10.0 26.3 90.1

LB-3 15.0 35.1 87.0

LB-3 20.0 12.5 121.7

LB-3 25.0 13.9 113.8

LP-1 15.0 5.0 104.3

LP-1 18.5 12.4 119.3

LP-2 15.0 25.4 91.0

LP-2 18.5 7.3 115.0

Class-
ification

Water
Content

(%)

Dry
Density

(pcf)

Liquid
Limit

Plastic
Limit

Plasticity
Index

Maximum
Size
(mm)

%<#200
Sieve

Satur-
ation
(%)

Void
RatioDepth

Summary of Laboratory Results

Sheet  1  of  1

Borehole

Figure No. 1

Project Name:

Project Number:

Date:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Residential Development

13493.001

5/4/2022 11:49:57 AM

U
S

_L
A

B
_S

U
M

M
A

R
Y

  
13

49
3

.0
01

 B
O

R
IN

G
 L

O
G

S
.G

P
J 

 R
O

C
K

LO
G

20
12

.G
D

T
  5

/4
/2

2

Item D - 534 of 1893



Tested By: J. Gonzalez Date: 04/12/22
Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/13/22

LB-2 Depth (ft.): 0-5

Preparation Method: X   Moist  Mechanical Ram
  Dry  Manual Ram

       Mold Volume (ft³) 0.03330         Ram Weight = 10 lb.;   Drop = 18 in.

1 2 3 4 5 6
3861 3920 3880
1826 1826 1826
2035 2094 2054

462.6 478.9 498.0
423.8 429.5 437.3
37.9 36.3 39.6

10.05 12.56 15.26
134.7 138.6 136.0
122.4 123.2 118.0

123.5 11.5

PROCEDURE USED

X    Procedure A
Soil Passing No. 4 (4.75 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   4 in. (101.6 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  25  (twenty-five)
May be used if +#4 is 20% or less 

   Procedure B
Soil Passing 3/8 in. (9.5 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   4 in. (101.6 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  25  (twenty-five)
Use if +#4 is >20% and +3/8 in. is
 20% or less

   Procedure C
Soil Passing 3/4 in. (19.0 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   6 in. (152.4 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  56  (fifty-six)
Use if +3/8 in. is >20% and +¾ in.
  is <30%

Particle-Size Distribution:

GR:SA:FI
Atterberg Limits:

LL,PL,PI

Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

13493.001

TEST NO.

Soil Identification:
Sample No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

MODIFIED PROCTOR COMPACTION TEST
 ASTM D 1557

Project No.:
Boring No.:

Weight of Container            (g)
Dry Weight of Soil + Cont.   (g)

Weight of Mold              (g)
Wt. Compacted Soil + Mold (g)

B-1

Project Name:

  Optimum Moisture Content (%)                Maximum Dry Density (pcf)

Net Weight of Soil          (g)

Wet Density                  (pcf)
Dry Density                   (pcf)

Moisture Content            (%)

Wet Weight of Soil + Cont.  (g)

110.0

115.0

120.0

125.0

130.0

0.0 5.0 10.0 15.0 20.

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

 (p
cf

)

Moisture Content (%)

SP. GR. = 2.70
SP. GR. = 2.75
SP. GR. = 2.80

XX

MX LB-2, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 535 of 1893



Tested By: J. Gonzalez Date: 04/13/22
Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22

LB-3 Depth (ft.): 0-5

Preparation Method: X   Moist  Mechanical Ram
  Dry  Manual Ram

       Mold Volume (ft³) 0.03330         Ram Weight = 10 lb.;   Drop = 18 in.

1 2 3 4 5 6
3839 3913 3850
1826 1826 1826
2013 2087 2024

499.8 520.0 518.3
469.3 477.3 466.0
41.0 39.1 37.8

7.12 9.74 12.21
133.3 138.2 134.0
124.4 125.9 119.4

126.4 9.0

PROCEDURE USED

X    Procedure A
Soil Passing No. 4 (4.75 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   4 in. (101.6 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  25  (twenty-five)
May be used if +#4 is 20% or less 

   Procedure B
Soil Passing 3/8 in. (9.5 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   4 in. (101.6 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  25  (twenty-five)
Use if +#4 is >20% and +3/8 in. is
 20% or less

   Procedure C
Soil Passing 3/4 in. (19.0 mm)  Sieve
Mold :   6 in. (152.4 mm)   diameter
Layers :   5   (Five)
Blows per layer :  56  (fifty-six)
Use if +3/8 in. is >20% and +¾ in.
  is <30%

Particle-Size Distribution:

GR:SA:FI
Atterberg Limits:

LL,PL,PI

Olive brown silty sand (SM)

13493.001

TEST NO.

Soil Identification:
Sample No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

MODIFIED PROCTOR COMPACTION TEST
 ASTM D 1557

Project No.:
Boring No.:

Weight of Container            (g)
Dry Weight of Soil + Cont.   (g)

Weight of Mold              (g)
Wt. Compacted Soil + Mold (g)

B-1

Project Name:

  Optimum Moisture Content (%)                Maximum Dry Density (pcf)

Net Weight of Soil          (g)

Wet Density                  (pcf)
Dry Density                   (pcf)

Moisture Content            (%)

Wet Weight of Soil + Cont.  (g)

110.0

115.0

120.0

125.0

130.0

0.0 5.0 10.0 15.0 20.

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

 (p
cf

)

Moisture Content (%)

SP. GR. = 2.55
SP. GR. = 2.60
SP. GR. = 2.65

XX

MX LB-3, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 536 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: J. Domingo Date: 04/22/22
Project No. : Input By: G. Bathala Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: Checked By: A. Santos
Sample No.: Depth (ft.) 10.0
Soil Identification:

1 2 1 2 3 4
26 21 16

8.64 8.87 20.09 21.49 20.68
7.38 7.61 14.48 15.38 14.70
1.06 1.07 1.11 1.03 1.00

19.94 19.27 41.96 42.58 43.65

42
20
22
CL

PI at "A" - Line  =  0.73(LL-20)  16.06
One - Point Liquid Limit Calculation

LL =Wn(N/25)

PROCEDURES USED

  Wet Preparation
   Multipoint  - Wet

X   Dry Preparation
   Multipoint  - Dry 

X    Procedure A
   Multipoint  Test

   Procedure B
   One-point  Test

Olive gray lean clay (CL)

ATTERBERG LIMITS
 ASTM D 4318

13493.001
LB-2
R-3

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Onratio CA

Dry Wt. of Soil + Cont. (g)
Wt. of Container         (g)
Moisture Content (%) [Wn]

TEST
NO.

Liquid Limit
Plastic Limit
Plasticity Index
Classification

Number of Blows        [N]
Wet Wt. of Soil + Cont. (g)

           LIQUID LIMIT      PLASTIC LIMIT

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Pl
as

tic
ity

 In
de

x 
(P

I)

Liquid Limit (LL)

0.121

CL or OL

ML or OL
MH or OH

For classification of fine-
grained soils and fine-
grained fraction of coarse-
grained soils

"A" Line

7
4

CH or OH

CL- ML

40

41

42

43

44

45

10 100

M
oi

st
ur

e 
C

on
te

nt
 (%

)

Number of Blows

20            25         30                 40            50          60       70     80     90       

Item D - 537 of 1893



Project Name: Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & 
Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Project No.: 13493.001

Summary of Pocket Penetrometer Test Results
Tested by: S. Felter Date: 04/19/22
Prepared by: G. Bathala Date: 04/22/22

Boring No. Sample No. Depth (ft.) Readings Remarks

LB-1 R-2 7.5 2.50
R-3 10 >4.50
R-4 15 4.25
R-5 20 >4.50
R-10 45 3.50

LB-2 R-2 7.5 1.75
R-4 15 3.75
R-5 20 3.50
R-6 25 >4.50

LB-3 R-1 5 >4.50
R-3 10 >4.50
R-4 15 4.25
R-5 20 4.50
R-6 25 >4.50

LP-1 R-3 15 2.75
R-4 18.5 >4.50

LP-2 R-3 15 >4.50
R-4 18.5 >4.50

Item D - 538 of 1893



PROJECT NAME: PROJECT NUMBER: 13493.001
BORING NUMBER: LB-1 DEPTH (FT.): 0-5
SAMPLE NUMBER: B-1 TECHNICIAN: O. Figueroa
SAMPLE DESCRIPTION: Olive brown sandy silt s(ML) DATE COMPLETED: 4/13/2022

TEST SPECIMEN a b c
MOISTURE AT COMPACTION % 12.7 13.7 14.6
HEIGHT OF SAMPLE, Inches 2.45 2.50 2.53
DRY DENSITY, pcf 120.2 118.7 116.2
COMPACTOR PRESSURE, psi 325 250 150
EXUDATION PRESSURE, psi 564 302 139
EXPANSION, Inches x 10exp-4 51 35 25
STABILITY Ph 2,000 lbs (160 psi) 28 36 46
TURNS DISPLACEMENT 4.60 5.13 5.45
R-VALUE UNCORRECTED 72 63 53
R-VALUE CORRECTED 72 63 53

DESIGN CALCULATION DATA a b c
GRAVEL EQUIVALENT FACTOR 1.0 1.0 1.0
TRAFFIC INDEX 5.0 5.0 5.0
STABILOMETER THICKNESS, ft. 0.45 0.59 0.75
EXPANSION PRESSURE THICKNESS, ft. 1.70 1.17 0.83

EXPANSION PRESSURE CHART EXUDATION PRESSURE CHART

R-VALUE BY EXPANSION: 50
R-VALUE BY EXUDATION: 63
EQUILIBRIUM R-VALUE: 50

R-VALUE TEST RESULTS
DOT CA Test 301

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use Ontario CA

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

0.00 0.50 1.00 1.50 2.00 2.50 3.00 3.50 4.00

C
O

VE
R

 T
H

IC
KN

ES
S 

BY
 S

TA
BI

LO
M

ET
ER

 in
 fe

et

COVER THICKNESS BY EXPANSION in feet

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

0100200300400500600700800

R
-V

AL
U

E

EXUDATION PRESSURE (psi)

Item D - 539 of 1893



Project Name: Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-Use, Ontario CA Tested By: A Santos Date: 04/25/22

Project No. : Input By: J. Ward Date: 04/25/22

11:20 11:30 11:33 11:53 13.5 1.2 9
11:24 11:34 11:37 11:57 13.4 1.1 9
11:28 11:38 11:41 12:01 13.5 1.1 9

13:40 13:50 13:53 14:13 12.6 1.4 12
13:44 13:54 13:57 14:17 12.6 1.4 12
13:48 13:58 14:01 14:21 12.7 1.3 11

T1 = Starting Time T3 = Settlement Starting Time Sand Equivalent = R2 / R1 * 100

T2 = ( T1 + 10 min) Begin Agitation T4 = ( T3 + 20 min) Take Clay Reading (R1) Record SE as Next Higher Integer 

(131 cycles in 45 sec)            and Sand Reading (R2)

Olive brown silty sand 
(SM)LB-5

R2

SAND EQUIVALENT TEST
DOT CA Test 217

Boring No. Sample No. Depth (ft.)

12

13493.001

Average    
SE

Olive brown sandy silt 
s(ML)B-1

B-1

Soil Type SER1

0-5

LB-2 90-5

T1 T4T2 T3

SE LB-2 & LB-5, B-1 @ 0-5

Item D - 540 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: S. Felter Date: 04/20/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: LP-1 Depth (feet): 15.0
Sample No.: R-3
Soil Identification: Grayish brown silty sand (SM)

2 0.0
712.3 0.0
110.0 1.0
602.3 0.0

2
582.3
110.0
472.3

(in.) (mm.)

1 1/2" 37.5
1" 25.0

3/4" 19.0
1/2" 12.5
3/8" 9.5
#4 4.75
#8 2.36
#16 1.18
#30 0.600
#50 0.300
#100 0.150
#200 0.075

GRAVEL: 0 %
SAND: 77 %
FINES: 23 %
GROUP SYMBOL: SM

Remarks:

After Wet Sieve

Cumulative Weight                
Dry Soil Retained (g)

17.0

22.9
343.0 43.1

100.0
99.8

97.2
99.4

Wt. of Dry Soil + Cont.       (g)

Container No.

464.2

72.3
54.5

PAN

Cc = (D30)²/(D60*D10) =

0.0
1.2

166.8

Cu = D60/D10 =

3.6

91.0

Wt. of Container            (g)

Moisture Content of Total Air - Dry Soil

Wt. of Container No._____  (g) 
Wt. of Air-Dried Soil + Cont.(g)

U. S. Sieve Size Percent Passing  (%)

Wt. of Air-Dry Soil + Cont.  (g)

Moisture Content (%)

Wt. of Dry Soil + Container (g) 
Wt. of Container                 (g) 
Dry Wt. of Soil Retained on # 200 Sieve  (g)

Dry Wt. of Soil              (g)

Container No.:

PARTICLE-SIZE DISTRIBUTION (GRADATION)
of SOILS USING SIEVE ANALYSIS

ASTM D 6913

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Item D - 541 of 1893



U.S. STANDARD SIEVE NUMBER

15.0

FINE CLAY  COARSE COARSE MEDIUM

13493.001Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CAProject Name:

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE OPENING

SAND
SILT     FINE

HYDROMETER
     3.0"      1 1/2"       3/4"        3/8"        #4           #8         #16        #30        #50        #100       #200

GRAVEL FINES

LP-1 Sample No.:

 PARTICLE - SIZE 
DISTRIBUTION               
ASTM D 6913

Soil Identification: Grayish brown silty sand (SM)

SM

GR:SA:FI : (%)

Boring No.:

Soil Type :Depth (feet):

0 : 77 : 23

R-3

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

PE
R

C
EN

T 
FI

N
ER

 B
Y 

W
EI

G
H

T

PARTICLE - SIZE (mm)

"

Sieve LP-1, R-3 @ 15

Item D - 542 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: S. Felter Date: 04/20/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: LP-1 Depth (feet): 18.5
Sample No.: R-4
Soil Identification: Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

9545 0.0
774.5 0.0
106.2 1.0
668.3 0.0

9545
426.4
106.2
320.2

(in.) (mm.)

1 1/2" 37.5
1" 25.0

3/4" 19.0
1/2" 12.5
3/8" 9.5
#4 4.75
#8 2.36
#16 1.18
#30 0.600
#50 0.300
#100 0.150
#200 0.075

GRAVEL: 0 %
SAND: 47 %
FINES: 53 %
GROUP SYMBOL: s(ML)

Remarks:

Container No.:

PARTICLE-SIZE DISTRIBUTION (GRADATION)
of SOILS USING SIEVE ANALYSIS

ASTM D 6913

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed Use, Ontario CA

Moisture Content (%)

Wt. of Dry Soil + Container (g) 
Wt. of Container                 (g) 
Dry Wt. of Soil Retained on # 200 Sieve  (g)

Dry Wt. of Soil              (g)

93.8

Wt. of Container            (g)

Moisture Content of Total Air - Dry Soil

Wt. of Container No._____  (g) 
Wt. of Air-Dried Soil + Cont.(g)

U. S. Sieve Size Percent Passing  (%)

Wt. of Air-Dry Soil + Cont.  (g)

PAN

Cc = (D30)²/(D60*D10) =

0.0
2.9

106.5

Cu = D60/D10 =

8.0

Wt. of Dry Soil + Cont.       (g)

Container No.

315.8

84.1
41.7
15.3

52.7
206.4 69.1

100.0
99.6

97.7
98.8

After Wet Sieve

Cumulative Weight                
Dry Soil Retained (g)

Item D - 543 of 1893



0 : 47 : 53

R-4

Soil Type :Depth (feet):
 PARTICLE - SIZE 

DISTRIBUTION               
ASTM D 6913

Soil Identification: Olive brown sandy silt s(ML)

s(ML)

GR:SA:FI : (%)

Boring No.:

GRAVEL FINES

LP-1 Sample No.:
Project Name:

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE OPENING

SAND
SILT     FINE

HYDROMETER
     3.0"      1 1/2"       3/4"        3/8"        #4           #8         #16        #30        #50        #100       #200

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE NUMBER

18.5

FINE CLAY  COARSE COARSE MEDIUM

13493.001Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed Use, Ontario CA

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

PE
R

C
EN

T 
FI

N
ER

 B
Y 

W
EI

G
H

T

PARTICLE - SIZE (mm)

"

Sieve LP-1, R-4 @ 18.5

Item D - 544 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: S. Felter Date: 04/19/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: LP-1 Depth (feet): 23.5
Sample No.: S-5
Soil Identification: Brown sandy lean clay s(CL)

969 0.0
538.7 0.0
109.4 1.0
429.3 0.0

969
344.3
109.4
234.9

(in.) (mm.)

1 1/2" 37.5
1" 25.0

3/4" 19.0
1/2" 12.5
3/8" 9.5
#4 4.75
#8 2.36
#16 1.18
#30 0.600
#50 0.300
#100 0.150
#200 0.075

GRAVEL: 0 %
SAND: 51 %
FINES: 49 %
GROUP SYMBOL: s(CL)

Remarks:

Container No.:

PARTICLE-SIZE DISTRIBUTION (GRADATION)
of SOILS USING SIEVE ANALYSIS

ASTM D 6913

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Moisture Content (%)

Wt. of Dry Soil + Container (g) 
Wt. of Container                 (g) 
Dry Wt. of Soil Retained on # 200 Sieve  (g)

Dry Wt. of Soil              (g)

91.6

Wt. of Container            (g)

Moisture Content of Total Air - Dry Soil

Wt. of Container No._____  (g) 
Wt. of Air-Dried Soil + Cont.(g)

U. S. Sieve Size Percent Passing  (%)

Wt. of Air-Dry Soil + Cont.  (g)

PAN

Cc = (D30)²/(D60*D10) =

0.0
1.1

83.7

Cu = D60/D10 =

4.2

Wt. of Dry Soil + Cont.       (g)

Container No.

220.7

80.5
36.0
12.8

48.6
148.7 65.4

100.0
99.7

97.0
99.0

After Wet Sieve

Cumulative Weight                
Dry Soil Retained (g)

Item D - 545 of 1893



0 : 51 : 49

S-5

Soil Type :Depth (feet):
 PARTICLE - SIZE 

DISTRIBUTION               
ASTM D 6913

Soil Identification: Brown sandy lean clay s(CL)

s(CL)

GR:SA:FI : (%)

Boring No.:

GRAVEL FINES

LP-1 Sample No.:
Project Name:

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE OPENING

SAND
SILT     FINE

HYDROMETER
     3.0"      1 1/2"       3/4"        3/8"        #4           #8         #16        #30        #50        #100       #200

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE NUMBER

23.5

FINE CLAY  COARSE COARSE MEDIUM

13493.001Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

PE
R

C
EN

T 
FI

N
ER

 B
Y 

W
EI

G
H

T

PARTICLE - SIZE (mm)

"

Sieve LP-1, S-5 @ 23.5

Item D - 546 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: S. Felter Date: 04/19/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: LP-2 Depth (feet): 15.0
Sample No.: R-3
Soil Identification: Olive brown silty clay (CL-ML)

V-1 0.0
635.6 0.0
108.7 1.0
526.9 0.0

V-1
139.2
108.7
30.5

(in.) (mm.)

1 1/2" 37.5
1" 25.0

3/4" 19.0
1/2" 12.5
3/8" 9.5
#4 4.75
#8 2.36
#16 1.18
#30 0.600
#50 0.300
#100 0.150
#200 0.075

GRAVEL: 0 %
SAND: 5 %
FINES: 95 %
GROUP SYMBOL: CL-ML

Remarks:

Container No.:

PARTICLE-SIZE DISTRIBUTION (GRADATION)
of SOILS USING SIEVE ANALYSIS

ASTM D 6913

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

Moisture Content (%)

Wt. of Dry Soil + Container (g) 
Wt. of Container                 (g) 
Dry Wt. of Soil Retained on # 200 Sieve  (g)

Dry Wt. of Soil              (g)

99.9

Wt. of Container            (g)

Moisture Content of Total Air - Dry Soil

Wt. of Container No._____  (g) 
Wt. of Air-Dried Soil + Cont.(g)

U. S. Sieve Size Percent Passing  (%)

Wt. of Air-Dry Soil + Cont.  (g)

PAN

Cc = (D30)²/(D60*D10) =

4.4

Cu = D60/D10 =

Wt. of Dry Soil + Cont.       (g)

Container No.

28.4

99.2
0.4
0.0

94.6
12.6 97.6

100.0

After Wet Sieve

Cumulative Weight                
Dry Soil Retained (g)

Item D - 547 of 1893



0 : 5 : 95

R-3

Soil Type :Depth (feet):
 PARTICLE - SIZE 

DISTRIBUTION               
ASTM D 6913

Soil Identification: Olive brown silty clay (CL-ML)

CL-ML

GR:SA:FI : (%)

Boring No.:

GRAVEL FINES

LP-2 Sample No.:
Project Name:

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE OPENING

SAND
SILT     FINE

HYDROMETER
     3.0"      1 1/2"       3/4"        3/8"        #4           #8         #16        #30        #50        #100       #200

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE NUMBER

15.0

FINE CLAY  COARSE COARSE MEDIUM

13493.001Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed-Use, Ontario CA

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

PE
R

C
EN

T 
FI

N
ER

 B
Y 

W
EI

G
H

T

PARTICLE - SIZE (mm)

"

Sieve LP-2, R-3 @ 15

Item D - 548 of 1893



Project Name: Tested By: S. Felter Date: 04/20/22
Project No.: 13493.001 Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/25/22
Boring No.: LP-2 Depth (feet): 18.5
Sample No.: R-4
Soil Identification: Olive brown silty sand (SM)

R-2 0.0
799.6 0.0
107.7 1.0
691.9 0.0

R-2
576.0
107.7
468.3

(in.) (mm.)

1 1/2" 37.5
1" 25.0

3/4" 19.0
1/2" 12.5
3/8" 9.5
#4 4.75
#8 2.36
#16 1.18
#30 0.600
#50 0.300
#100 0.150
#200 0.075

GRAVEL: 0 %
SAND: 67 %
FINES: 33 %
GROUP SYMBOL: SM

Remarks:

Container No.:

PARTICLE-SIZE DISTRIBUTION (GRADATION)
of SOILS USING SIEVE ANALYSIS

ASTM D 6913

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed Use, Ontario CA

Moisture Content (%)

Wt. of Dry Soil + Container (g) 
Wt. of Container                 (g) 
Dry Wt. of Soil Retained on # 200 Sieve  (g)

Dry Wt. of Soil              (g)

93.7

Wt. of Container            (g)

Moisture Content of Total Air - Dry Soil

Wt. of Container No._____  (g) 
Wt. of Air-Dried Soil + Cont.(g)

U. S. Sieve Size Percent Passing  (%)

Wt. of Air-Dry Soil + Cont.  (g)

PAN

Cc = (D30)²/(D60*D10) =

0.0
0.9

150.5

Cu = D60/D10 =

3.8

Wt. of Dry Soil + Cont.       (g)

Container No.

464.3

78.2
43.5
13.1

32.9
340.6 50.8

100.0
99.9

98.1
99.5

After Wet Sieve

Cumulative Weight                
Dry Soil Retained (g)

Item D - 549 of 1893



0 : 67 : 33

R-4

Soil Type :Depth (feet):
 PARTICLE - SIZE 

DISTRIBUTION               
ASTM D 6913

Soil Identification: Olive brown silty sand (SM)

SM

GR:SA:FI : (%)

Boring No.:

GRAVEL FINES

LP-2 Sample No.:
Project Name:

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE OPENING

SAND
SILT     FINE

HYDROMETER
     3.0"      1 1/2"       3/4"        3/8"        #4           #8         #16        #30        #50        #100       #200

U.S. STANDARD SIEVE NUMBER

18.5

FINE CLAY  COARSE COARSE MEDIUM

13493.001Project No.:

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut 
Mixed Use, Ontario CA

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

PE
R

C
EN

T 
FI

N
ER

 B
Y 

W
EI

G
H

T

PARTICLE - SIZE (mm)

"

Sieve LP-2, R-4 @ 18.5

Item D - 550 of 1893



 

Project Name: Tested By: G. Bathala Date: 04/18/22
Project No.: Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/26/22
Boring No.: LB-1 Sample Type: Ring
Sample No.: R-6 Depth (ft.) 25.0
Sample Description: Yellowish brown poorly-graded sand with silt (SP-SM)

Initial Dry Density (pcf): 104.9 Final Dry Density (pcf): 107.0
Initial Moisture (%): 3.61 Final Moisture (%) : 18.2
Initial Length (in.): 1.0000 Initial Void Ratio: 0.6072
Initial Dial Reading: 0.3076 Specific Gravity(assumed): 2.70
Diameter(in): 2.415 Initial Saturation (%) 16.0

0.100 0.9999 0.00 -0.01 -0.01

3.000 0.9814 0.52 -1.86 -1.34

H2O 0.9751 0.52 -2.49 -1.97

 Percent Swell (+) / Settlement (-) After Inundation  = -0.64

 

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

Pressure (p)    
(ksf)

0.6070

0.5856

Final Reading    
(in) Void Ratio      

Swell (+) 
Settlement (-)   
% of Sample 

Thickness

Load   
Compliance    

(%)

Apparent 
Thickness      

(in)

ONE-DIMENSIONAL SWELL OR SETTLEMENT
POTENTIAL OF COHESIVE SOILS

ASTM D 4546

13493.001

0.5755

0.3075

0.2890

0.2827

Corrected 
Deformation   

(%)

0.5700

0.5750

0.5800

0.5850

0.5900

0.5950

0.6000

0.6050

0.6100

0.100 1.000 10.000

Vo
id

 R
at

io

Log Pressure (ksf)

Void Ratio - Log Pressure Curve

Inundate with
Tap water

Swell or Settlement LB-1, R-6 @ 25

Item D - 551 of 1893



 

Project Name: Tested By: G. Bathala Date: 04/18/22
Project No.: Checked By: A. Santos Date: 04/26/22
Boring No.: LB-1 Sample Type: Ring
Sample No.: R-8 Depth (ft.) 35.0
Sample Description: Yellowish brown poorly-graded sand with silt (SP-SM)

Initial Dry Density (pcf): 110.6 Final Dry Density (pcf): 112.3
Initial Moisture (%): 3.30 Final Moisture (%) : 15.9
Initial Length (in.): 1.0000 Initial Void Ratio: 0.5246
Initial Dial Reading: 0.3373 Specific Gravity(assumed): 2.70
Diameter(in): 2.415 Initial Saturation (%) 17.0

0.100 0.9999 0.00 -0.01 -0.01

4.000 0.9847 0.18 -1.53 -1.35

H2O 0.9825 0.18 -1.75 -1.57

 Percent Swell (+) / Settlement (-) After Inundation  = -0.22

 

ONE-DIMENSIONAL SWELL OR SETTLEMENT
POTENTIAL OF COHESIVE SOILS

ASTM D 4546

13493.001

0.5007

0.3372

0.3220

0.3198

Corrected 
Deformation   

(%)

Legacy-Collier, Proposed Euclid & Walnut Mixed-
Use, Ontario CA

Pressure (p)    
(ksf)

0.5244

0.5040

Final Reading    
(in) Void Ratio      

Swell (+) 
Settlement (-)   
% of Sample 

Thickness

Load   
Compliance    

(%)

Apparent 
Thickness      

(in)

0.4950

0.5000

0.5050

0.5100

0.5150

0.5200

0.5250

0.5300

0.100 1.000 10.000

Vo
id

 R
at

io

Log Pressure (ksf)

Void Ratio - Log Pressure Curve

Inundate with
Tap water

Swell or Settlement LB-1, R-8 @ 35

Item D - 552 of 1893



 
 

November 29, 2022 
 

Project No. 13493.002 
 
Legacy/Collier Residential, LLC 
5154 California Avenue 
Irvine, California 92617 
 
Attention:  Mr. David Pinto 
 
Subject: Addendum to Geotechnical Exploration Report 
  Infiltration Testing 
 Proposed “Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use” Development 
 112 Walnut Street, 2502 and 2530 Euclid Avenue 
 Ontario, San Bernardino County, California 
 
Reference: Leighton and Associates, Inc., 2022, Geotechnical Exploration Report, 

Proposed “Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use” Development, 112 Walnut Street, 
2502 and 2530 Euclid Avenue, Ontario, California, Project No. 13493.001, 
dated May 13, 2022.  

Introduction 

Per your request, Leighton and Associates, Inc. (Leighton) performed supplemental 
infiltration testing for the subject mixed use development. Additional field infiltration testing 
was performed in coordination with Mr. Steve Ellis of Fuscoe Engineering, Inc. (project 
civil engineer) to target the locations and depths planned for infiltration. While official 
infiltration plans were not available, we understand that stormwater infiltration is intended 
to be achieved utilizing a drywell system to be located in the southern portion of the site 
extending to approximate depths of no greater than 45 feet below ground surface (bgs).  

Purpose and Scope  

Purpose of our exploration was to perform field infiltration tests at the proposed device 
locations and invert depths. The test locations and depths were selected by the project 
civil engineer. Our Scope of Work included the following:  
 
• Pre-Field Exploration Activities – Site reconnaissance performed by a professional 

geologist to mark the proposed infiltration test locations. Underground Service Alert 

Item D - 553 of 1893



Addendum Letter No. 1 Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use-Supplemental Infiltration Testing 13493.002 

2 

(USA) was notified to locate and mark existing underground utilities prior to our 
subsurface exploration. 

• Field Exploration – Our supplemental subsurface exploration was performed on 
August 24, 2022 and included drilling, logging, and sampling of two (2) hollow-stem 
auger borings (designated LP-3 and LP-4) to depths ranging from approximately 40 
to 45 feet below the existing ground surface.    The approximate locations of these 
explorations are shown on Figure 1, Geotechnical Map. The corresponding boring 
logs are presented in Appendix A, Exploration Logs. 

During drilling of the hollow-stem auger borings drive samples were obtained from the 
borings for geotechnical laboratory testing. Sample collection was performed by 
conducting the Standard Penetration Test (SPT) within the borings in accordance with 
ASTM Test Method D 1586. Samples were collected within the proposed test 
infiltration zone at 5-foot intervals. During sampling, the sampler was driven below the 
bottom of the borehole by a 140-pound weight (hammer) free-falling 30 inches. The 
drilling rig was equipped with an automatic hammer to provide greater consistency in 
the drop height and striking frequency. The number of blows to drive the sampler the 
final 12 inches of the 18-inch drive interval is termed the “blowcount” or SPT N-value. 
N-values provide a measure of relative density in granular (non-cohesive) soils and 
comparative consistency in cohesive soils. Number of blows per 6 inches of 
penetration was recorded on the boring logs included in Appendix A.   

The borings were logged in the field by a geologist from our firm. Each soil sample 
collected was reviewed and described in accordance with the Unified Soil 
Classification System (USCS). The samples were sealed and packaged for 
transportation to our laboratory for testing. After completion of drilling, the borings 
were converted to percolation wells for subsequent testing.   

• Percolation Testing – Borings LP-3 and LP-4 (Figure 1) were converted to temporary 
percolation test wells upon completion of drilling and sampling. The test wells 
consisted of 2-inch diameter slotted (0.020-inch) PVC well casing screened within the 
proposed test zone.  In-situ percolation testing was performed in general accordance 
with the County of San Bernardino guidelines  Upon completion of the percolation 
testing, the well casing was removed from each boring and the borings were backfilled 
with soil cuttings and patched at the surface to match existing site conditions.  

• Laboratory Testing – Selected soil samples obtained from our hollow-stem-auger 
borings were tested at our in-house geotechnical laboratory.  This laboratory testing 

Item D - 554 of 1893



Addendum Letter No. 1 Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use-Supplemental Infiltration Testing 13493.002 

3 

program was designed to evaluate the fines content of the soils within the tested zone 
(i.e. soil particles finer than the No. 200 sieve).  .  Results are included in Appendix C.  

• Report Preparation – This report presents our findings, conclusions, and 
recommendations for the proposed infiltration devices. 

Infiltration Testing   

Percolation testing was performed in temporary wells installed within borings LP-3 and LP-
4 located in the southern region of the site with test zone at depths of 25 to 45 feet bgs 
and 25 to 40 feet bgs, respectively. The percolation tests were conducted in general 
accordance with the San Bernardino County Technical Guidance Document (TGD) for 
Water Quality Management Plans (2013).  Results of the percolation testing are presented 
in Appendix B.  The test locations and tested depth intervals are shown on Plate 1.  

 
A boring percolation test is useful for field measurements of the infiltration rate of soils, and 
is suited for testing when the design depth of the infiltration device is deeper than current 
existing grades, especially in areas where it is difficult to dig test pits, or where the depths 
of these test pits would be considerably deep.  At the subject site, testing consisted of 
advancing the borings to the anticipated depth for the invert of the proposed infiltration 
devices.  
 
The Percolation Test Procedure (falling-head test method) as outlined in the County 
Guidelines was implemented at each percolation test well location. The infiltration rate was 
calculated by dividing the rate of discharge by the infiltration surface area, or flow area.  
The volume of discharge was calculated by adding the total volume of water that dropped 
within the PVC pipe and within the annulus, and incorporating a porosity reduction factor to 
account for the porosity of the annulus material.  The flow area was based on the average 
water height within the test well.   
 
Detailed results of the field testing data and measured infiltration rate for the test well are 
presented in Appendix B.  The test results are summarized in the table below:  
 

Table 1 – Measured (Unfactored) Infiltration Rate 

Test Well 
Designation 

Approximate Depth of 
Test Zone (feet bgs) 

Measured  
Infiltration Rate 

(inches per hour) 
LB-3 25 to 45 0.14 
LP-4 25 to 40 0.47 

Item D - 555 of 1893

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Rectangle



Addendum Letter No. 1 Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use-Supplemental Infiltration Testing 13493.002 

4 

Based on the results of our field percolation testing that was performed at the site, the 
measured (unfactored) infiltration rates for the two (2) tests performed were 0.14 inches 
per hour (LP-3) and 0.47 inches per hour (LP-2), respectively.  According to the San 
Bernardino County Technical Guidance Document (TGD) for Water Quality Management 
Plans (2013), the measured infiltration rate at the LP-4 well location technically exceeds 
the minimum feasibility criteria of 0.3 inch per hour. However, implementation of a 
minimum factor of safety of 2.0 as required for the design infiltration rate indicates the 
depth and location tested for both wells are considered infeasible for infiltration.  

Closure 

We appreciate the opportunity to work with you on this project.  If you have any questions 
regarding this report, please contact us directly at the phone extensions and/or e-mail 
addresses listed below. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

LEIGHTON AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

 
 
 
Eric M. Holliday, PG, 9219     
Senior Project Geologist     
Ext 4252, eholliday@leightongroup.com   

  
 

 
 
John E. Haertle, PE, GE 2352 
Principal Engineer 
Ext: 4268, jhaertle@leightongroup.com 

 
EMH/JEH/lr 
 
Attachments:  Figure 1 – Geotechnical Map  
  Appendix A - Exploration Logs 
  Appendix B - Percolation Test Data 
  Appendix C - Geotechnical Laboratory Testing 
   
Distribution: (1) Addressee 
 

Item D - 556 of 1893

mailto:eholliday@leightongroup.com
mailto:jhaertle@leightongroup.com


&<

&<

&<

&<

&< &(

!(#

!(#

!(#
!(#&( &(

LB-2
T.D.26.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-1
T.D.51.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-5
T.D.26.5'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

LB-3
T.D.26.5'

LP-1/LB-4
T.D.25'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'
Perc Test
Interval 17-22'

LP-3
T.D.45'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'
Perc Test
Interval 25-45'

LP-4
T.D.40'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

Perc Test
Interval 25-40'

CPT-2
T.D.50.2'

CPT-1
T.D.50.4'

CPT-4
T.D.50.1' CPT-3/3A

T.D.35.8/50.7'

LP-2
T.D.20'
Afu 0-5'
Qyf@5'

Perc Test
Interval 15-20'

Map Saved as J:\Drafting\13493\002\Maps\13493-002_F01_GM_2022-11-18.mxd on 11/18/2022 10:57:40 AM Author: KVM (btran)

GEOTECHNICAL MAP
Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

2502 and 2530 S. Euclid Avenue
Ontario, California

³
0 100 200

Feet

Scale:

Base Map: Option A Site Plan, Euclid and Walnut Mixed Use
Sheet 01, Dated: 03/10/2022
by AO Architecture Design Relationships

1 " = 100 '

Project: 13493.002 Eng/Geol: JEH/EMH

Date: November 2022

FIGURE 1

LB-5

LP-2

CPT-4

LEGEND

&<

Approximate location of previous hollow-stem auger boring
showing total depth (T.D.) and depth to earth units
in feet below ground surface. (Leighton, 2022)

&(

Approximate location of previous percolation test well
showing percolation test interval in feet
below ground surface. (Leighton, 2022)

!(#
Approximate location of previous cone penetrometer test sounding
showing total depth (T.D.) in feet below ground surface
(Leighton, 2022)

Approximate Site Boundary

Artificial Fill

Quaternary Young Alluvial Fan Deposits

Afu

Qyf

LP-4 Approximate location of current percolation test well
showing percolation test interval in feet
below ground surface.&(

Item D - 557 of 1893



 

 

APPENDIX A   
Exploration Logs 

 
  

Item D - 558 of 1893



SM

SM-ML

SM

@Surface: 3 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 6 -inches Base

Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.75': Silty SAND, brown, slightly moist, very fine sand, trace

medium to coarse sand and fine subrounded gravel

Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Valley Deposits (Qyf)

@20': Clayey Sandy SILT to Clayey Silty SAND, medium
dense/very stiff, olive brown, slightly moist, very fine sand,
low plasticity, slightly micaceous, friable, pockets of higher
clay content

@25': Silty SAND, medium dense, mottled reddish brown and
grayish brown, slightly moist, very fine sand, nonplastic,
slightly micaceous, friable, grading slightly finer toward
bottom

S-1

S-2 -200

3
7
11

4
8
9

'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

8-24-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 1 - Geotechnical Map

Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

13493.002

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-3

Item D - 559 of 1893



ML

SM

ML

SM-ML

@30': Sandy SILT, very stiff, mottled orange brown and grayish
brown, slightly moist, very fine sand, trace coarse sand,
nonplastic, friable, slightly micaceous

@35': Silty SAND, medium dense, olive brown, moist, very fine
sand, micaceous, friable

@38.5': Sandy SILT, medium dense, brown, moist, very fine
sand, nonplastic, micaceous, friable, trace medium sand

@43.5': Interbedded Clayey Sandy SILT and Silty SAND;
Clayey Sandy SILT, hard, brown, slightly moist, fine to medium

sand, low plasticity, slightly micaceous
Silty SAND, very dense, yellowish brown, slightly moist, very fine

to fine sand, micaceous, nonplastic, friable

Total Depth: 45' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Temporary percolation well installed; screened from 25-45'
Upon completion of percolation testing, boring backfilled with soil

cuttings and patched with asphalt concrete.

S-3

S-4

S-5

S-6

-200

9
11
11

7
11
14

10
11
11

7
14
37

'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

8-24-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  2  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 1 - Geotechnical Map

Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

13493.002

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-3

Item D - 560 of 1893



SM

CL/SM

SM-SC

@Surface: 4 -inches Asphalt Concrete over 5 -inches Base

Artificial Fill, undocumented (Afu)
@0.75': Silty SAND, brown, slightly moist, very fine sand, trace

medium to coarse sand and fine subrounded gravel

Quaternary-Aged Young Alluvial Valley Deposits (Qyf)

@20': Silty CLAY, stiff, gray-brown, slightly moist, medium
plasticity, few very fine sand; grading to Silty SAND, loose,
brown, slightly moist, very fine sand, some silt, nonplastic,
trace fine subangular gravel

@25': Silty SAND, medium dense, grayish brown to yellowish
brown, slightly moist, very fine to fine sand, slightly
micaceous, some silt; grading to Sandy CLAY/Clayey SAND,
medium dense/stiff, reddish brown, slightly moist, very fine to
fine sand, low plasticity, slightly micaceous

S-1

S-2

-2004
5
5

5
7
8

'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

8-24-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  1  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 1 - Geotechnical Map

Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

13493.002

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-4

Item D - 561 of 1893



SM

SP

SM

@30': Silty SAND, medium dense, orange brown, slightly moist,
very fine sand, slightly micaceous, nonplastic, friable

@35': Grading to Silty Gravelly SAND, very dense, whitish tan,
slightly moist, fine to coarse sand, some fine subangular to
subrounded gravel (granitic)

@38.5': Silty SAND, dense, brown, slightly moist, very fine to
fine sand, some silt, nonplastic, slightly micaceous, friable

Total Depth: 40' bgs
No groundwater encountered during drilling
Temporary percolation well installed; screened from 25-40'
Upon completion of percolation testing, boring backfilled with soil

cuttings and patched with asphalt concrete.

S-3

S-4

S-5

-200

8
9
12

8
38

50/5"

15
21
25

'

BULK SAMPLE
CORE SAMPLE
GRAB SAMPLE
RING SAMPLE
SPLIT SPOON SAMPLE
TUBE SAMPLE

B
C
G
R
S
T

BTM

Hollow Stem Auger - 140lb  - Autohammer  - 30" Drop

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

S
o

il 
C

la
ss

.

8-24-22

SOIL DESCRIPTION

Sampled By

Drilling Co.Drilling Co.
Project

Project No.

Ground Elevation

D
ep

th

B
lo

w
s

E
le

va
ti

o
n

P
er

 6
 In

ch
es

Page  2  of  2

A
tt

it
u

d
es

SAMPLE TYPES:

Martini Drilling, Corp.

C
o

n
te

n
t,

 %

Logged By

Date Drilled

 * * * This log is a part of a report by Leighton and should not be used as a stand-alone document. * * *

BTM

F
ee

t

S

(U
.S

.C
.S

.)

L
o

g

T
yp

e 
o

f 
T

es
ts

G
ra

p
h

ic

p
cf

Location See Figure 1 - Geotechnical Map

Proposed Euclid and Walnut Mixed-Use Development

13493.002

Drilling Method
8"

F
ee

t

Hole Diameter

M
o

is
tu

re

D
ry

 D
en

si
ty

N

This Soil Description applies only to a location of the exploration at the
time of sampling.  Subsurface conditions may differ at other locations
and may change with time.  The description is a simplification of the
actual conditions encountered.  Transitions between soil types may be
gradual.

TYPE OF TESTS:
-200
AL
CN
CO
CR
CU

% FINES PASSING
ATTERBERG LIMITS
CONSOLIDATION
COLLAPSE
CORROSION
UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL

DS
EI
H
MD
PP
RV

DIRECT SHEAR
EXPANSION INDEX
HYDROMETER
MAXIMUM DENSITY
POCKET PENETROMETER
R VALUE

SA
SE
SG
UC

S
am

p
le

 N
o

.

B
u

lk
D

ri
ve

n

SIEVE ANALYSIS
SAND EQUIVALENT
SPECIFIC GRAVITY
UNCONFINED COMPRESSIVE
STRENGTH

GEOTECHNICAL BORING LOG LP-4

Item D - 562 of 1893



 

 

APPENDIX B   
Percolation Test Data  

  

Item D - 563 of 1893



Project Number: 13493.002 Test Hole Number: LP-3
Project Name: Legacy - Collier Date Excavated:
Earth Description: Alluvium Date Tested:
Liquid Description: Tap water Depth of boring (ft): 45
Tested By:  BTM Radius of boring (in): 4
Time Interval Standard Radius of casing (in): 1
Start Time for Pre-Soak: 11:25 Length of slotted of casing (ft): 20
Start Time for Standard: 12:21 Depth to Initial Water Depth (ft): 25.05

Porosity of Annulus Material, n : 1
10 Bentonite Plug at Bottom: No

Reading Time
Time Interval, 

Δt (min.)

Initial/Final 
Depth to 

Water (ft.)

Initial/Final 
Water Height, 

H0/Hf            

(in.)

Total Water 
Drop, Δd (in.)

Percolation 
Rate (min./in.)

Infiltration 
Rate (in./hr.)

11:25 25.05 239.4
11:50 26.51 221.9
11:54 25.00 240.0
12:19 26.28 224.6
12:21 25.00 240.0
12:31 25.53 233.6
12:33 25.00 240.0
12:43 25.45 234.6
12:44 25.00 240.0
12:54 25.38 235.4
12:58 25.00 240.0
13:08 25.35 235.8
13:17 25.00 240.0
13:27 25.26 236.9
13:29 25.00 240.0
13:39 25.24 237.1

Infiltration Rate, I (Last Reading) = 0.14 in./hr.

Boring Percolation Test Data Sheet

8/24/2022
8/24/2022

Standard Time Interval 
Between Readings, mins:

Percolation Data

1 25 17.5 1.43 0.36

2 25 15.4 1.63 0.31

3 10 6.4 1.57 0.32

4 10 5.4 1.85 0.27

5 10 4.6 2.19 0.23

6 10 4.2 2.38 0.21

7 10 3.1 3.21 0.16

8 10 2.9 3.47 0.14

Infiltration Rate (I) = Discharge Volume/Surface Area of Test Section/Time Interval

Item D - 564 of 1893



Project Number: 13493.002 Test Hole Number: LP-4
Project Name: Legacy - Collier Date Excavated:
Earth Description: Alluvium Date Tested:
Liquid Description: Tap water Depth of boring (ft): 40
Tested By:  BTM Radius of boring (in): 4
Time Interval Standard Radius of casing (in): 1
Start Time for Pre-Soak: 10:21 Length of slotted of casing (ft): 15
Start Time for Standard: 11:20 Depth to Initial Water Depth (ft): 25.00

Porosity of Annulus Material, n : 1
10 Bentonite Plug at Bottom: No

Reading Time
Time Interval, 

Δt (min.)

Initial/Final 
Depth to 

Water (ft.)

Initial/Final 
Water Height, 

H0/Hf            

(in.)

Total Water 
Drop, Δd (in.)

Percolation 
Rate (min./in.)

Infiltration 
Rate (in./hr.)

10:21 25.00 180.0
10:46 28.22 141.4
10:51 25.02 179.8
11:16 27.73 147.2
11:20 25.00 180.0
11:30 26.05 167.4
11:32 25.00 180.0
11:42 25.90 169.2
11:46 25.00 180.0
11:56 25.85 169.8
12:00 25.00 180.0
12:10 25.71 171.5
12:13 25.00 180.0
12:23 25.70 171.6
12:27 25.00 180.0
12:37 25.58 173.0
12:38 25.02 179.8
12:48 25.59 172.9
12:50 25.00 180.0
13:00 25.58 173.0

Infiltration Rate, I (Last Reading) = 0.47 in./hr.

Percolation Data

Boring Percolation Test Data Sheet

8/24/2022
8/24/2022

Standard Time Interval 
Between Readings, mins:

1 25 38.6 0.65 1.14

3 10 12.6 0.79 0.86

2 25 32.5 0.77 0.94

5 10 10.2 0.98 0.69

4 10 10.8 0.93 0.73

7 10 8.4 1.19 0.57

6 10 8.5 1.17 0.58

Infiltration Rate (I) = Discharge Volume/Surface Area of Test Section/Time Interval

10 10 7.0 1.44 0.47

8 10 7.0 1.44 0.47

9 10 6.8 1.46 0.46

Item D - 565 of 1893



 

 

APPENDIX C   
Geotechnical Laboratory Testing 

 
 

 

Item D - 566 of 1893



LP-3 LP-3 LP-4 LP-4
S-2 S-4 S-1 S-4
25.0 35.0 20.0 35.0
SPT SPT SPT SPT

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

616.90 794.40 588.90 847.80
108.60 108.50 107.30 108.00
508.30 685.90 481.60 739.80

V-1 927 936 957

A A A A
411.10 609.70 340.00 732.50
108.60 108.50 107.30 108.00
302.50 501.20 232.70 624.50

40.5 26.9 51.7 15.6
59.5 73.1 48.3 84.4

Project Name: Legacy - Ontario
Project No.: 13493.002

Tested By: J. Domingo Date: 09/12/22

Moisture Content (%)

Dry Weight of Soil + Container  (g)

Weight of Container       (g)

Container No.:

Sample Type

Yellowish 
brown silty 
sand (SM)

Weight of Container         (g)

% Passing No. 200 Sieve

Moisture Correction

Weight of Dry Sample  (g)

Dry Weight of Sample + Cont.  (g)

After Wash

Dry Weight of Sample    (g)   

Wet Weight of Soil + Container (g)

Sample Dry Weight Determination

Light olive 
brown silty 
sand (SM)

Light olive 
brown sandy 

silt s(ML)

Light olive 
brown silty 
sand with 

gravel (SM)g

Boring No.
Sample No.

Soil Identification

Depth (ft.)

 PERCENT PASSING                 
No. 200 SIEVE                       
ASTM D 1140

Weight of Sample + Container  (g)

Method  (A or B)

Weight of Container         (g)

% Retained No. 200 Sieve

Passing #200 LP-3 and LP-4

Item D - 567 of 1893



DESIGN INFILTRATION RATE AND  

FACTOR OF SAFETY CALCULATION 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item D - 568 of 1893



TECHNICAL GUIDANCE DOCUMENT APPENDICES 

VII-31 May 19, 2011

VII.4.1. Site Suitability Considerations

Suitability assessment related considerations include (Table VII.3): 

� Soil assessment methods – the site assessment extent (e.g., number of borings, test pits,
etc.) and the measurement method used to estimate the short-term infiltration rate.

� Predominant soil texture/percent fines – soil texture and the percent of fines can
greatly influence the potential for clogging.

� Site soil variability – site with spatially heterogeneous soils (vertically or horizontally)
as determined from site investigations are more difficult to estimate average properties
for resulting in a higher level of uncertainty associated with initial estimates.

� Depth to seasonal high groundwater/impervious layer – groundwater mounding may
become an issue during excessively wet conditions where shallow aquifers or shallow
clay lenses are present.

Table VII.3: Suitability Assessment Related Considerations for Infiltration Facility Safety 
Factors 

Consideration High Concern Medium Concern Low Concern 

Assessment methods 
(see explanation below) 

Use of soil survey 
maps or simple 
texture analysis to 
estimate short-term 
infiltration rates 

Direct measurement 
of ≥ 20 percent of 
infiltration area with 
localized infiltration 
measurement 
methods (e.g., 
infiltrometer) 

Direct measurement of ≥ 
50 percent of infiltration 
area with localized 
infiltration measurement 
methods  
or 
Use of extensive test pit 
infiltration measurement 
methods 

Texture Class 
Silty and clayey 

soils with significant 
fines 

Loamy soils Granular to slightly loamy 
soils 

Site soil variability 

Highly variable soils 
indicated from site 
assessment or 
limited soil borings 
collected during site 
assessment 

Soil borings/test pits 
indicate moderately 
homogeneous soils 

Multiple soil borings/test 
pits indicate relatively 
homogeneous soils 

Depth to groundwater/ 
impervious layer 

<5 ft below facility 
bottom 

5-10 ft below facility
bottom >10 below facility bottom

Localized infiltration testing refers to methods such as the double ring infiltrometer test (ASTM 
D3385-88) which measure infiltration rates over an area less than 10 sq-ft, may include lateral 

Item D - 569 of 1893



TECHNICAL GUIDANCE DOCUMENT APPENDICES 

VII-33 May 19, 2011

Table VII.4: Design Related Considerations for Infiltration Facility Safety Factors 

Consideration High Concern Medium Concern Low Concern 

Tributary area size Greater than 10 acres. Greater than 2 acres but 
less than 10 acres. 2 acres or less. 

Level of 
pretreatment/ 
expected influent 
sediment loads 

Pretreatment from gross 
solids removal devices 
only, such as 
hydrodynamic 
separators, racks and 
screens AND tributary 
area includes 
landscaped areas, steep 
slopes, high traffic areas, 
or any other areas 
expected to produce 
high sediment, trash, or 
debris loads. 

Good pretreatment with 
BMPs that mitigate coarse 
sediments such as 
vegetated swales AND 
influent sediment loads 
from the tributary area are 
expected to be relatively 
low (e.g., low traffic, mild 
slopes, disconnected 
impervious areas, etc.). 

Excellent pretreatment 
with BMPs that mitigate 
fine sediments such as 
bioretention or media 
filtration OR 
sedimentation or facility 
only treats runoff from 
relatively clean surfaces, 
such as rooftops. 

Redundancy of 
treatment 

No redundancy in BMP 
treatment train. 

Medium redundancy, other 
BMPs available in 
treatment train to maintain 
at least 50% of function of 
facility in event of failure. 

High redundancy, 
multiple components 
capable of operating 
independently and in 
parallel, maintaining at 
least 90% of facility 
functionality in event of 
failure. 

Compaction during 
construction 

Construction of facility 
on a compacted site or 
elevated probability of 
unintended/ indirect 
compaction. 

Medium probability of 
unintended/ indirect 
compaction. 

Heavy equipment 
actively prohibited from 
infiltration areas during 
construction and low 
probability of 
unintended/ indirect 
compaction. 

Item D - 570 of 1893



TECHNICAL GUIDANCE DOCUMENT APPENDICES 

VII-34 May 19, 2011

VII.4.3. Determining Factor of Safety

A factor of safety shall be used. To assist in selecting the appropriate design infiltration rate, the 
measured short term infiltration rate should be adjusted using a weighted average of several 
safety factors using the worksheet shown in Worksheet H below. The design infiltration rate 
would be determined as follows: 

1. For each consideration shown in Table VII.3 and Table VII.4 above, determine whether
the consideration is a high, medium, or low concern.

2. For all high concerns, assign a factor value of 3, for medium concerns, assign a factor
value of 2, and for low concerns assign a factor value of 1.

3. Multiply each of the factors by the corresponding weight to get a product.
4. Sum the products within each factor category to obtain a safety factor for each.
5. Multiply the two safety factors together to get the final combined safety factor. If the

combined safety factor is less than 2, then 2 shall be used as the safety factor.
6. Divide the measured short term infiltration rate by the combined safety factor to obtain

the adjusted design infiltration rate for use in sizing the infiltration facility.

The design infiltration rate shall be used to size BMPs and to evaluate their expected long term 
performance. This rate shall not be less than 2, but may be higher at the discretion of the design 
engineer. 

Item D - 571 of 1893



TECHNICAL GUIDANCE DOCUMENT APPENDICES 

VII-35 May 19, 2011

Worksheet H: Factor of Safety and Design Infiltration Rate and Worksheet 

Factor Category Factor Description 
Assigned 
Weight (w) 

Factor 
Value (v) 

Product (p) 
p = w x v 

A Suitability 
Assessment 

Soil assessment methods 0.25 

Predominant soil texture 0.25 

Site soil variability 0.25 

Depth to groundwater / impervious 
layer 0.25 

Suitability Assessment Safety Factor, SA = �p 

B Design 

Tributary area size 0.25 

Level of pretreatment/ expected 
sediment loads 0.25 

Redundancy 0.25 

Compaction during construction 0.25 

Design Safety Factor, SB = �p 

Combined Safety Factor, STOT= SA x SB  

Measured Infiltration Rate, inch/hr, KM 
(corrected for test-specific bias) 

Design Infiltration Rate, in/hr, KDESIGN = STOT × KM 

Supporting Data 

Briefly describe infiltration test and provide reference to test forms: 

Note: The minimum combined adjustment factor shall not be less than 2.0 and the maximum 
combined adjustment factor shall not exceed 9.0. 

Item D - 572 of 1893

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
2

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
3

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
3

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
3

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
0.50

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
0.75

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
0.75

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
0.75

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
2.75

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
1

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
1

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
2

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
1

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
1.25

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
1.25X2.75

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
3.44

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
0.25

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
0.25

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
0.50

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
0.25

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
@ Test LP2:@ Test LP4: 

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
0.69 in/hr0.47 in/hr

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
Please  see attached Infiltration test report for detail of testing. 

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
0.69/3.440.47/3.44

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
0.20 in/hr0.14 in/hr

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
Area is < 10ac

Moyenuddin Sirajee
Text Box
As the design infiltration rates are less than 0.33 in/hour, the INFILTRATION BMP's are not recommended and not proposed



June 23, 2022 

Benjamin Mount 
Legacy/Colliers Residential, LLC 
5141 California Avenue, Suite 100 
Irvine, CA 92617 
Email: bmount@legacypartners.com 

LLG Reference:  2.22.4563.1 

Subject: Trip Generation Assessment for the 
Euclid Avenue Mixed-Use Apartment Project 
Ontario, California 

Dear Mr. Mount: 

Linscott, Law & Greenspan, Engineers (LLG) is pleased to submit this Trip 
Generation Assessment associated for the Euclid Avenue Mixed-Use Apartment 
Project (hereinafter referred to as “Project”) in the City of Ontario, California.  

This letter summarizes the traffic generation forecast potential for the proposed 
demolition of an existing commercial center consisting of an 11,450 SF strip retail 
center, 4,100 SF fast-food restaurant with drive-through (Carl’s Jr.), and an 89,500 
SF K-Mart/Sears appliance repair shop and the construction of 376 apartment units 
with 10,898 SF of ground floor retail space. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The Project site is a 9.4±-acre parcel of land that is located north of Walnut Street and 
west of Euclid Avenue in the City of Ontario, California. The subject property is 
currently developed with a 11,450 SF strip retail center, 4,100 SF fast-food restaurant 
with drive-through (Carl’s Jr.), and a vacant 89,500 SF K-Mart/Sears appliance repair 
shop. Figure 1, located at the rear of this letter report, presents a Vicinity Map, which 
illustrates the general location of the project and the surrounding street system.   

The Project is proposing to demolish the existing commercial center and construct a 
total of 376 apartment units with 10,898 SF of ground floor retail. The Project is 
expected to be completed in two phases. Phase 1 would leave the existing Carl’s Jr. 
site untouched and includes of the development of 4,500 SF ground floor retail space 
and 346 apartment units consisting of 18 studio units, 190 one-bedroom units, and 
138 two-bedroom units. Phase 2 would consist of replacing the existing Carl’s Jr. 
with additional 30 apartment units and 6,398 SF of ground floor retail space.  

Addendum Appendix D

Item D - 573 of 1893



Mr. Benjamin Mount 
June 23, 2022 
Page 2 

N:\4500\2224563 - Euclid Residential, Ontario\Report\4563 Euclid Avenue Mixed-Use Apartments Trip Generation Letter 06-23-22.doc

The proposed Project will provide a total of 625 parking spaces for the residential 
component and 44 parking spaces for the retail component. Out of the total parking 
provided, Phase 1 will provide 587 residential spaces and 18 retail spaces, and Phase 
2 will provide 38 residential spaces and 26 retail spaces. 

Vehicular access is proposed via two right-turn only driveways located along Euclid 
Avenue and three full access unsignalized driveways located along Walnut Street in 
close proximity to the site’s current driveways. It should be noted that the project is 
proposing gated access to the residential component. 

Figure 2 presents an existing aerial photograph of the Project site. Figure 3 presents 
the proposed site plan for the Project Site.  

PROJECT TRAFFIC CHARACTERISTICS 

Trip Generation Forecast 

Traffic generation is expressed in vehicle trip ends, defined as one-way vehicular 
movements, either entering or exiting the generating land use. Generation factors 
and/or equations used in this analysis are based on information found in the 11th 
Edition of Trip Generation, published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers 
(ITE) [Washington, D.C., 2021]. 

As presented in upper portion of Table 1, the trip generation potential of the proposed 
Project and the existing/entitled land use has been estimated using the average rates 
for the following: 

 ITE Land Use Code 221: Multifamily Housing (Mid-Rise)
 ITE Land Use Code 822: Strip Retail Plaza (<40K)
 ITE Land Use Coed 875: Department Store
 ITE Land Use Code 934: Fast Food Restaurant with Drive-Through Window

The middle portion of Table 1 summarizes the trip generation potential of the 
existing/entitled land uses and the proposed Project for Phase 1. As shown, the 
existing/entitled land use is forecast to generate 2,605 daily trips, with 71 trips (44 
inbound, 27 outbound) produced in the AM peak hour and 150 trips (76 inbound, 74 
outbound) produced in the PM peak hour. The proposed Project is forecast to 
generate 1,791 daily trips, with 138 trips (35 inbound, 103 outbound) produced in the 
AM peak hour and 153 trips (91 inbound, 62 outbound) produced in the PM peak 
hour. Comparison of the trips generated by the proposed Project to the trips generated 
by the existing/entitled land use indicates that the proposed Project will generate 814 

Item D - 574 of 1893



Mr. Benjamin Mount 
June 23, 2022 
Page 3 

N:\4500\2224563 - Euclid Residential, Ontario\Report\4563 Euclid Avenue Mixed-Use Apartments Trip Generation Letter 06-23-22.doc

fewer daily trips, 67 more AM peak hour trips, and 3 fewer PM peak hour trips as part 
of Phase 1. 

The lower portion of Table 1 summarizes the trip generation potential of the 
existing/entitled land use and the proposed Project for Phase 2. As shown, the 
existing/entitled land use is forecast to generate 1,438 daily trips, with 91 trips (46 
inbound, 45 outbound) produced in the AM peak hour and 61 trips (31 inbound, 30 
outbound) produced in the PM peak hour. The proposed Project is forecast to 
generate 449 daily trips, with 24 trips (11 inbound, 13 outbound) produced in the AM 
peak hour and 37 trips (20 inbound, 17 outbound) produced in the PM peak hour. 
Comparison of the trips generated by the proposed Project to the trips generated by 
the existing/entitled land use indicates that the proposed Project will generate 989 
fewer daily trips, 67 fewer AM peak hour trips, and 24 fewer PM peak hour trips as 
part of Phase 2. 

The last row of Table 1 shows the “net” trip generation potential of both Phases 1 and 
2 of the proposed Project combined. As shown, the entirety of the proposed Project is 
forecast to result in 1,803 fewer daily trips, 0 AM peak hour trips, and 21 fewer PM 
peak hour trips when compared to the existing/entitled land uses.  

CONCLUSION 

Based on the findings above, the proposed Project (Phase 1 and 2) results in a lower trip 
generation forecast when compared to the existing/entitled land use. Therefore, it is 
concluded that the proposed Project can be expected to generate trips that would be 
within the trip budget originally approved for the Project site and would not create any 
new traffic impacts. 

* * * * * * * * * * 

Item D - 575 of 1893



Mr. Benjamin Mount 
June 23, 2022 
Page 4 

N:\4500\2224563 - Euclid Residential, Ontario\Report\4563 Euclid Avenue Mixed-Use Apartments Trip Generation Letter 06-23-22.doc

We appreciate the opportunity to be of service on this Project. Should you need 
further assistance, or have any questions regarding this analysis, please call us at 
(949) 825-6175.

Sincerely,  
Linscott, Law & Greenspan, Engineers 

Richard E. Barretto, P.E. 
Principal 

Cc. Shane S. Green, P.E., Senior Transportation Engineer 
Attachments 

Item D - 576 of 1893



Item D - 577 of 1893

AutoCAD SHX Text
EUCLID AVENUE MIXED-USE APARTMENTS, ONTARIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICINITY MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIGURE 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOURCE: GOOGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
n:\4500\2224563 - euclid residential, ontario\dwg\4563 f-1.dwg  LDP  15:35:07  06-09-2022  kopulsky

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
=



Item D - 578 of 1893

AutoCAD SHX Text
EUCLID AVENUE MIXED-USE APARTMENTS, ONTARIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIGURE 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOURCE: GOOGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
n:\4500\2224563 - euclid residential, ontario\dwg\4563 f-2.dwg  LDP  15:49:35  06-09-2022  kopulsky

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
=

AutoCAD SHX Text
EUCLID    AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALNUT     ST



Item D - 579 of 1893



N:\4500\2224563 - Euclid Residential, Ontario\Report\4563 Euclid Avenue Mixed-Use Apartments Trip Generation Letter 06-23-22.doc

TABLE 1 

PROJECT TRAFFIC GENERATION RATES AND FORECAST1 

Project Description 
Daily 

2-Way

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total 

Trip Generation Rates: 

 221: Multifamily Housing (Mid-Rise) (TE/DU) 4.54 23% 77% 0.37 61% 39% 0.39 

 822: Strip Retail Plaza (<40K) (TE/TSF) 54.45 60% 40% 2.36 50% 50% 6.59 

 875: Department Store (TE/TSF) 25.372 64% 36% 0.58 50% 50% 1.95 

 934: Fast Food Restaurant with Drive-Through Window (TE/TSF) 467.48 51% 49% 44.61 52% 48% 33.03 

Phase 1 – Entitled/Existing Land Use Trip Generation: 

 K-Mart (89,500 SF) 2,271 33 19 52 88 87 175 

Pass-by Reduction3 -227 -3 -2 -5 -35 -35 -70

Shopping Plaza Subtotal 2,044 30 17 47 53 52 105 

 Strip Retail (11,450 SF) 623 16 11 27 38 37 75 

Pass-by Reduction3 -62 -2 -1 -3 -15 -15 -30

Shopping Plaza Subtotal 561 14 10 24 23 22 45 

Phase 1 Entitled/Existing Land Use Trip Generation Total 2,605 44 27 71 76 74 150 

Phase 1 – Proposed Project Trip Generation: 

 Apartments (346 DU) 1,571 29 99 128 82 53 135 

 Ground Floor Retail (4,500 SF) 245 7 4 11 15 15 30 

Pass-by Reduction3 -25 -1 0 -1 -6 -6 -12

Ground Floor Retail Subtotal 220 6 4 10 9 9 18 

Phase 1 Proposed Project Trip Generation Total 1,791 35 103 138 91 62 153 

[A] Phase 1 Net Project Trip Generation Total -814 -9 76 67 15 -12 3 

Phase 2 – Entitled/Existing Land Use Trip Generation: 

 Carl’s Jr. (4,100 SF) 1,917 93 90 183 70 65 135 

Pass-by Reduction3 -479 -47 -45 -92 -39 -35 -74

Carl’s Jr. Subtotal 1,438 46 45 91 31 30 61 

Phase 2 Entitled/Existing Land Use Trip Generation Total 1,438 46 45 91 31 30 61 

Phase 2 – Proposed Project Trip Generation: 

 Apartments (30 DU) 136 3 8 11 7 5 12 

 Ground Floor Retail (6,398 SF) 348 9 6 15 21 21 42 

Pass-by Reduction3 -35 -1 -1 -2 -8 -9 -17

Ground Floor Retail Subtotal 313 8 5 13 13 12 25 

Phase 2 Proposed Project Trip Generation Total 449 11 13 24 20 17 37 

[B] Phase 2 Net Project Trip Generation Total -989 -35 -32 -67 -11 -13 -24

Phases 1 and 2 Total Net Project Trip Generation ([A] + [B]) -1,803 -44 44 0 4 -25 -21

Notes: 
TE/TSF = Trip ends per 1,000 SF of development 
TE/DU = Trip ends per dwelling unit 

1 Source: Trip Generation, 11th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), Washington, D.C. (2021). 
2 ITE’s Trip Generation 11th Edition does not provide a Daily trip rate for ITE LU 875 Department Store. Therefore, the daily trip rate has been estimated using the PM peak hour trip rate and the 

relationship between the Daily and PM peak hour trip rates of ITE LU 821 Shopping Plaza (40-150K). 
3 Pass-by trips are trips made as intermediate stops on the way from an origin to a primary trip destination.  Pass-by trips are attracted from traffic passing the site on adjacent streets, which contain 

direct access to the generator. For this analysis, the following pass-by reduction factors were used (Source: Trip Generation, 11th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), Washington, 
D.C. (2021)): 
 ITE LU 822 Strip Retail Plaza (<40K): Daily and AM Peak Hour - Estimated to be 10% / PM Peak Hour – Estimated to be 40% which is consistent with ITE LU 821. 
 ITE LU 875 Department Store: Daily and AM Peak Hour - Estimated to be 10% / PM Peak Hour – Estimated to be 40% which is consistent with ITE LU 821. 
 ITE LU 934 Fast Food Restaurant with Drive-Through Window: Daily - Estimated to be 25% / AM Peak Hour – 50% / PM Peak Hour – 55% 

Item D - 580 of 1893



Appendix B 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project February 24, 2023
Health Risk Assessment Report 

Appendix B 
AERMOD Output 

Item D - 581 of 1893



Appendix B 

Euclid/Walnut Mixed Use Planned Unit Development Project February 24, 2023 
Health Risk Assessment Report 

This page intentionally left blank. 

Item D - 582 of 1893



** Lakes Environmental AERMOD MPI
**
****************************************
**
** AERMOD Input Produced by:
** AERMOD View Ver. 10.2.1
** Lakes Environmental Software Inc.
** Date: 10/5/2022
** File: C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-TOG_20221005
\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-TOG_20221005.ADI
**
****************************************
**
**
****************************************
** AERMOD Control Pathway
****************************************
**
**
CO STARTING
   TITLEONE C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004
\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-

 MODELOPT CONC FLAT
 AVERTIME 1 PERIOD
 URBANOPT 2035210 San_Bernardio_County
 POLLUTID PM_2.5
 RUNORNOT RUN
 ERRORFIL Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-TOG_20221005.err

CO FINISHED
**
****************************************
** AERMOD Source Pathway
****************************************
**
**
SO STARTING
** Source Location **
** Source ID - Type - X Coord. - Y Coord. **
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN01
** DESCRSRC SR 60 WB Freeway TOG Ex
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 18.29
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0000307319
** Nodes = 5
** 440650.044, 3765727.326, 260.07, 1.30
** 440119.780, 3765731.800, 261.41, 1.30
** 439661.922, 3765732.944, 260.96, 1.30

1

Item D - 583 of 1893



** 439171.250, 3765734.039, 252.11, 1.30
** 438870.985, 3765732.123, 258.88, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000012     AREA     440650.121 3765736.471 0.0
   LOCATION A0000013     AREA     440473.366 3765737.962 0.0
   LOCATION A0000014     AREA     440296.612 3765739.454 0.0
   LOCATION A0000015     AREA     440119.803 3765740.945 0.0
   LOCATION A0000016     AREA     439967.184 3765741.327 0.0
   LOCATION A0000017     AREA     439814.564 3765741.708 0.0
   LOCATION A0000018     AREA     439661.942 3765742.089 0.0
   LOCATION A0000019     AREA     439498.385 3765742.454 0.0
   LOCATION A0000020     AREA     439334.828 3765742.819 0.0
   LOCATION A0000021     AREA     439171.191 3765743.184 0.0
   LOCATION A0000022     AREA     439021.059 3765742.226 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN01
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN02
** DESCRSRC SR 60 EB Freeway TOG Ex
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 18.29
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0000307481
** Nodes = 6
** 438872.217, 3765713.798, 258.90, 1.30
** 439571.019, 3765709.354, 260.53, 1.30
** 439744.944, 3765708.790, 261.20, 1.30
** 440090.503, 3765708.356, 261.51, 1.30
** 440405.345, 3765708.356, 260.60, 1.30
** 440650.831, 3765711.094, 260.06, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000001     AREA     438872.159 3765704.654 0.0
   LOCATION A0000002     AREA     439046.860 3765703.543 0.0
   LOCATION A0000003     AREA     439221.560 3765702.432 0.0
   LOCATION A0000004     AREA     439396.261 3765701.321 0.0
   LOCATION A0000005     AREA     439570.990 3765700.210 0.0
   LOCATION A0000006     AREA     439744.932 3765699.646 0.0
   LOCATION A0000007     AREA     439917.712 3765699.429 0.0
   LOCATION A0000008     AREA     440090.503 3765699.212 0.0
   LOCATION A0000009     AREA     440247.924 3765699.212 0.0
   LOCATION A0000010     AREA     440405.447 3765699.212 0.0
   LOCATION A0000011     AREA     440528.190 3765700.581 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN02
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN03
** DESCRSRC SR 60 WB On-Ramp TOG Ex

2

Item D - 584 of 1893



** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 3.96
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0005311802
** Nodes = 6
** 439895.137, 3765792.036, 254.44, 1.30
** 439830.262, 3765782.314, 255.62, 1.30
** 439602.637, 3765750.155, 260.12, 1.30
** 439556.367, 3765746.633, 260.49, 1.30
** 439478.285, 3765744.597, 260.25, 1.30
** 439423.199, 3765742.703, 260.08, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000023     AREA     439894.844 3765793.995 0.0
   LOCATION A0000024     AREA     439862.406 3765789.134 0.0
   LOCATION A0000025     AREA     439829.985 3765784.276 0.0
   LOCATION A0000026     AREA     439792.048 3765778.916 0.0
   LOCATION A0000027     AREA     439754.110 3765773.556 0.0
   LOCATION A0000028     AREA     439716.172 3765768.196 0.0
   LOCATION A0000029     AREA     439678.235 3765762.836 0.0
   LOCATION A0000030     AREA     439640.297 3765757.477 0.0
   LOCATION A0000031     AREA     439602.486 3765752.131 0.0
   LOCATION A0000032     AREA     439579.352 3765750.369 0.0
   LOCATION A0000033     AREA     439556.316 3765748.613 0.0
   LOCATION A0000034     AREA     439517.274 3765747.595 0.0
   LOCATION A0000035     AREA     439478.217 3765746.577 0.0
   LOCATION A0000036     AREA     439450.674 3765745.630 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN03
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN04
** DESCRSRC SR 60 EB Offramp TOG Ex
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 7.62
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0003007914
** Nodes = 5
** 439895.389, 3765645.743, 252.80, 1.30
** 439818.641, 3765660.066, 254.56, 1.30
** 439755.474, 3765672.004, 257.06, 1.30
** 439662.806, 3765681.323, 259.67, 1.30
** 439463.024, 3765701.522, 260.17, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000037     AREA     439896.088 3765649.489 0.0
   LOCATION A0000038     AREA     439857.714 3765656.650 0.0
   LOCATION A0000039     AREA     439819.349 3765663.810 0.0
   LOCATION A0000040     AREA     439755.856 3765675.795 0.0
   LOCATION A0000041     AREA     439709.522 3765680.454 0.0

3

Item D - 585 of 1893



   LOCATION A0000042     AREA     439663.190 3765685.113 0.0
   LOCATION A0000043     AREA     439596.595 3765691.846 0.0
   LOCATION A0000044     AREA     439530.001 3765698.580 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN04
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN05
** DESCRSRC SR 60 EB On-Ramp TOG Ex
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 3.96
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.000496591
** Nodes = 7
** 439941.297, 3765645.292, 253.26, 1.30
** 439993.010, 3765652.773, 253.93, 1.30
** 440155.834, 3765673.927, 258.66, 1.30
** 440268.609, 3765688.074, 259.90, 1.30
** 440322.372, 3765691.635, 260.22, 1.30
** 440354.630, 3765692.689, 260.13, 1.30
** 440446.541, 3765695.419, 259.97, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000045     AREA     439941.581 3765643.331 0.0
   LOCATION A0000046     AREA     439967.437 3765647.072 0.0
   LOCATION A0000047     AREA     439993.265 3765650.809 0.0
   LOCATION A0000048     AREA     440025.830 3765655.039 0.0
   LOCATION A0000049     AREA     440058.395 3765659.270 0.0
   LOCATION A0000050     AREA     440090.960 3765663.501 0.0
   LOCATION A0000051     AREA     440123.524 3765667.732 0.0
   LOCATION A0000052     AREA     440156.081 3765671.961 0.0
   LOCATION A0000053     AREA     440193.672 3765676.677 0.0
   LOCATION A0000054     AREA     440231.264 3765681.392 0.0
   LOCATION A0000055     AREA     440268.740 3765686.097 0.0
   LOCATION A0000056     AREA     440295.621 3765687.877 0.0
   LOCATION A0000057     AREA     440322.437 3765689.655 0.0
   LOCATION A0000058     AREA     440354.688 3765690.708 0.0
   LOCATION A0000059     AREA     440385.325 3765691.619 0.0
   LOCATION A0000060     AREA     440415.962 3765692.529 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN05
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN06
** DESCRSRC SR 60 WB Off-ramp TOG Ex
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 11.58
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0001897523
** Nodes = 6

4

Item D - 586 of 1893



** 440392.606, 3765738.840, 260.54, 1.30
** 440310.837, 3765747.261, 260.35, 1.30
** 440224.880, 3765756.031, 259.69, 1.30
** 440137.544, 3765763.271, 258.13, 1.30
** 440102.580, 3765767.415, 257.28, 1.30
** 439940.966, 3765792.538, 254.87, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000061     AREA     440393.199 3765744.601 0.0
   LOCATION A0000062     AREA     440311.425 3765753.022 0.0
   LOCATION A0000063     AREA     440225.359 3765761.802 0.0
   LOCATION A0000064     AREA     440138.226 3765769.022 0.0
   LOCATION A0000065     AREA     440103.469 3765773.137 0.0
   LOCATION A0000066     AREA     440022.663 3765785.699 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN06
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN07
** DESCRSRC SR 60 WB Freeway TOG Evap
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 18.29
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0000307319
** Nodes = 5
** 440650.040, 3765727.330, 260.07, 1.30
** 440119.780, 3765731.800, 261.41, 1.30
** 439661.920, 3765732.940, 260.96, 1.30
** 439171.250, 3765734.040, 252.11, 1.30
** 438870.980, 3765732.120, 258.88, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000067     AREA     440650.117 3765736.475 0.0
   LOCATION A0000068     AREA     440473.364 3765737.965 0.0
   LOCATION A0000069     AREA     440296.610 3765739.455 0.0
   LOCATION A0000070     AREA     440119.803 3765740.945 0.0
   LOCATION A0000071     AREA     439967.183 3765741.325 0.0
   LOCATION A0000072     AREA     439814.563 3765741.705 0.0
   LOCATION A0000073     AREA     439661.941 3765742.085 0.0
   LOCATION A0000074     AREA     439498.384 3765742.452 0.0
   LOCATION A0000075     AREA     439334.827 3765742.818 0.0
   LOCATION A0000076     AREA     439171.192 3765743.185 0.0
   LOCATION A0000077     AREA     439021.057 3765742.225 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN07
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN08
** DESCRSRC SR EB Freeway TOG Evap
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 18.29

5

Item D - 587 of 1893



** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0000307396
** Nodes = 6
** 438872.220, 3765713.800, 258.90, 1.30
** 439571.020, 3765709.350, 260.53, 1.30
** 439744.940, 3765708.790, 261.20, 1.30
** 440090.500, 3765708.360, 261.51, 1.30
** 440405.350, 3765708.360, 260.60, 1.30
** 440650.830, 3765711.090, 260.06, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000078     AREA     438872.162 3765704.655 0.0
   LOCATION A0000079     AREA     439046.862 3765703.543 0.0
   LOCATION A0000080     AREA     439221.562 3765702.430 0.0
   LOCATION A0000081     AREA     439396.262 3765701.318 0.0
   LOCATION A0000082     AREA     439570.991 3765700.205 0.0
   LOCATION A0000083     AREA     439744.929 3765699.645 0.0
   LOCATION A0000084     AREA     439917.709 3765699.430 0.0
   LOCATION A0000085     AREA     440090.500 3765699.215 0.0
   LOCATION A0000086     AREA     440247.925 3765699.215 0.0
   LOCATION A0000087     AREA     440405.452 3765699.216 0.0
   LOCATION A0000088     AREA     440528.192 3765700.581 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN08
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN09
** DESCRSRC SR 60 WB On-ramp TOG Evap
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 3.96
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0005314996
** Nodes = 6
** 439895.140, 3765792.040, 254.44, 1.30
** 439830.260, 3765782.310, 255.62, 1.30
** 439602.640, 3765750.160, 260.12, 1.30
** 439556.370, 3765746.630, 260.49, 1.30
** 439478.280, 3765744.600, 260.25, 1.30
** 439423.200, 3765742.700, 260.08, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000089     AREA     439894.846 3765793.998 0.0
   LOCATION A0000090     AREA     439862.406 3765789.133 0.0
   LOCATION A0000091     AREA     439829.983 3765784.271 0.0
   LOCATION A0000092     AREA     439792.046 3765778.912 0.0
   LOCATION A0000093     AREA     439754.110 3765773.554 0.0
   LOCATION A0000094     AREA     439716.173 3765768.196 0.0
   LOCATION A0000095     AREA     439678.236 3765762.837 0.0
   LOCATION A0000096     AREA     439640.300 3765757.479 0.0
   LOCATION A0000097     AREA     439602.489 3765752.134 0.0

6

Item D - 588 of 1893



   LOCATION A0000098     AREA     439579.354 3765750.369 0.0
   LOCATION A0000099     AREA     439556.319 3765748.609 0.0
   LOCATION A0000100     AREA     439517.274 3765747.594 0.0
   LOCATION A0000101     AREA     439478.212 3765746.579 0.0
   LOCATION A0000102     AREA     439450.672 3765745.629 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN09
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN10
** DESCRSRC SR 60 EB Off-ramp TOG Evap
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 7.62
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0003007882
** Nodes = 5
** 439895.390, 3765645.740, 252.80, 1.30
** 439818.640, 3765660.070, 254.55, 1.30
** 439755.470, 3765672.000, 257.06, 1.30
** 439662.810, 3765681.320, 259.67, 1.30
** 439463.020, 3765701.520, 260.17, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000103     AREA     439896.089 3765649.485 0.0
   LOCATION A0000104     AREA     439857.714 3765656.650 0.0
   LOCATION A0000105     AREA     439819.347 3765663.814 0.0
   LOCATION A0000106     AREA     439755.851 3765675.791 0.0
   LOCATION A0000107     AREA     439709.521 3765680.451 0.0
   LOCATION A0000108     AREA     439663.193 3765685.111 0.0
   LOCATION A0000109     AREA     439596.597 3765691.844 0.0
   LOCATION A0000110     AREA     439530.000 3765698.577 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN10
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN11
** DESCRSRC SR 60 EB On-ramp TOG Evap
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 3.96
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0004968954
** Nodes = 7
** 439941.300, 3765645.290, 253.26, 1.30
** 439993.010, 3765652.770, 253.93, 1.30
** 440155.830, 3765673.930, 258.66, 1.30
** 440268.610, 3765688.070, 259.90, 1.30
** 440322.370, 3765691.630, 260.22, 1.30
** 440354.630, 3765692.690, 260.13, 1.30
** 440446.540, 3765695.420, 259.97, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------

7

Item D - 589 of 1893



-------
   LOCATION A0000111     AREA     439941.583 3765643.330 0.0
   LOCATION A0000112     AREA     439967.438 3765647.070 0.0
   LOCATION A0000113     AREA     439993.265 3765650.807 0.0
   LOCATION A0000114     AREA     440025.829 3765655.039 0.0
   LOCATION A0000115     AREA     440058.393 3765659.271 0.0
   LOCATION A0000116     AREA     440090.957 3765663.503 0.0
   LOCATION A0000117     AREA     440123.521 3765667.735 0.0
   LOCATION A0000118     AREA     440156.076 3765671.965 0.0
   LOCATION A0000119     AREA     440193.670 3765676.679 0.0
   LOCATION A0000120     AREA     440231.263 3765681.392 0.0
   LOCATION A0000121     AREA     440268.741 3765686.094 0.0
   LOCATION A0000122     AREA     440295.621 3765687.874 0.0
   LOCATION A0000123     AREA     440322.435 3765689.651 0.0
   LOCATION A0000124     AREA     440354.689 3765690.711 0.0
   LOCATION A0000125     AREA     440385.325 3765691.621 0.0
   LOCATION A0000126     AREA     440415.962 3765692.531 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN11
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN12
** DESCRSRC SR 60 WB Off-ramp TOG Evap
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 11.58
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 1.20
** Emission Rate = 0.000189791
** Nodes = 6
** 440392.610, 3765738.840, 260.54, 1.30
** 440310.840, 3765747.260, 260.35, 1.30
** 440224.880, 3765756.030, 259.69, 1.30
** 440137.540, 3765763.270, 258.13, 1.30
** 440102.580, 3765767.410, 257.28, 1.30
** 439940.970, 3765792.540, 254.87, 1.30
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000127     AREA     440393.203 3765744.600 0.0
   LOCATION A0000128     AREA     440311.428 3765753.020 0.0
   LOCATION A0000129     AREA     440225.358 3765761.800 0.0
   LOCATION A0000130     AREA     440138.221 3765769.020 0.0
   LOCATION A0000131     AREA     440103.470 3765773.131 0.0
   LOCATION A0000132     AREA     440022.665 3765785.696 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN12
** Source Parameters **
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN01
   SRCPARAM A0000012     0.0000307319     1.300   176.761    
18.290  -179.517     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000013     0.0000307319     1.300   176.761    
18.290  -179.517     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000014     0.0000307319     1.300   176.761    
18.290  -179.517     1.200

8

Item D - 590 of 1893



   SRCPARAM A0000015     0.0000307319     1.300   152.620    
18.290  -179.857     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000016     0.0000307319     1.300   152.620    
18.290  -179.857     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000017     0.0000307319     1.300   152.620    
18.290  -179.857     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000018     0.0000307319     1.300   163.558    
18.290  -179.872     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000019     0.0000307319     1.300   163.558    
18.290  -179.872     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000020     0.0000307319     1.300   163.558    
18.290  -179.872     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000021     0.0000307319     1.300   150.135    
18.290   179.634     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000022     0.0000307319     1.300   150.135    
18.290   179.634     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN02
   SRCPARAM A0000001     0.0000307481     1.300   174.704    
18.288     0.364     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000002     0.0000307481     1.300   174.704    
18.288     0.364     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000003     0.0000307481     1.300   174.704    
18.288     0.364     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000004     0.0000307481     1.300   174.704    
18.288     0.364     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000005     0.0000307481     1.300   173.925    
18.288     0.186     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000006     0.0000307481     1.300   172.780    
18.288     0.072     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000007     0.0000307481     1.300   172.780    
18.288     0.072     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000008     0.0000307481     1.300   157.421    
18.288     0.000     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000009     0.0000307481     1.300   157.421    
18.288     0.000     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000010     0.0000307481     1.300   122.750    
18.288    -0.639     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000011     0.0000307481     1.300   122.750    
18.288    -0.639     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN03
   SRCPARAM A0000023     0.0005311802     1.300    32.800     
3.962   171.477     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000024     0.0005311802     1.300    32.800     
3.962   171.477     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000025     0.0005311802     1.300    38.314     
3.962   171.958     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000026     0.0005311802     1.300    38.314     
3.962   171.958     1.200

9

Item D - 591 of 1893



   SRCPARAM A0000027     0.0005311802     1.300    38.314     
3.962   171.958     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000028     0.0005311802     1.300    38.314     
3.962   171.958     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000029     0.0005311802     1.300    38.314     
3.962   171.958     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000030     0.0005311802     1.300    38.314     
3.962   171.958     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000031     0.0005311802     1.300    23.202     
3.962   175.647     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000032     0.0005311802     1.300    23.202     
3.962   175.647     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000033     0.0005311802     1.300    39.055     
3.962   178.506     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000034     0.0005311802     1.300    39.055     
3.962   178.506     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000035     0.0005311802     1.300    27.559     
3.962   178.031     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000036     0.0005311802     1.300    27.559     
3.962   178.031     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN04
   SRCPARAM A0000037     0.0003007914     1.300    39.036     
7.620  -169.429     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000038     0.0003007914     1.300    39.036     
7.620  -169.429     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000039     0.0003007914     1.300    64.285     
7.620  -169.298     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000040     0.0003007914     1.300    46.568     
7.620  -174.258     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000041     0.0003007914     1.300    46.568     
7.620  -174.258     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000042     0.0003007914     1.300    66.934     
7.620  -174.227     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000043     0.0003007914     1.300    66.934     
7.620  -174.227     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000044     0.0003007914     1.300    66.934     
7.620  -174.227     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN05
   SRCPARAM A0000045     0.000496591     1.300    26.125     
3.962    -8.232     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000046     0.000496591     1.300    26.125     
3.962    -8.232     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000047     0.000496591     1.300    32.839     
3.962    -7.402     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000048     0.000496591     1.300    32.839     
3.962    -7.402     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000049     0.000496591     1.300    32.839     
3.962    -7.402     1.200

10

Item D - 592 of 1893



   SRCPARAM A0000050     0.000496591     1.300    32.839     
3.962    -7.402     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000051     0.000496591     1.300    32.839     
3.962    -7.402     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000052     0.000496591     1.300    37.886     
3.962    -7.150     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000053     0.000496591     1.300    37.886     
3.962    -7.150     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000054     0.000496591     1.300    37.886     
3.962    -7.150     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000055     0.000496591     1.300    26.940     
3.962    -3.790     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000056     0.000496591     1.300    26.940     
3.962    -3.790     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000057     0.000496591     1.300    32.275     
3.962    -1.871     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000058     0.000496591     1.300    30.651     
3.962    -1.702     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000059     0.000496591     1.300    30.651     
3.962    -1.702     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000060     0.000496591     1.300    30.651     
3.962    -1.702     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN06
   SRCPARAM A0000061     0.0001897523     1.300    82.201    
11.582  -174.121     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000062     0.0001897523     1.300    86.403    
11.582  -174.174     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000063     0.0001897523     1.300    87.635    
11.582  -175.261     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000064     0.0001897523     1.300    35.209    
11.582  -173.241     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000065     0.0001897523     1.300    81.777    
11.582  -171.164     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000066     0.0001897523     1.300    81.777    
11.582  -171.164     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN07
   SRCPARAM A0000067     0.0000307319     1.300   176.760    
18.290  -179.517     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000068     0.0000307319     1.300   176.760    
18.290  -179.517     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000069     0.0000307319     1.300   176.760    
18.290  -179.517     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000070     0.0000307319     1.300   152.620    
18.290  -179.857     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000071     0.0000307319     1.300   152.620    
18.290  -179.857     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000072     0.0000307319     1.300   152.620    
18.290  -179.857     1.200

11

Item D - 593 of 1893



   SRCPARAM A0000073     0.0000307319     1.300   163.557    
18.290  -179.872     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000074     0.0000307319     1.300   163.557    
18.290  -179.872     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000075     0.0000307319     1.300   163.557    
18.290  -179.872     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000076     0.0000307319     1.300   150.138    
18.290   179.634     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000077     0.0000307319     1.300   150.138    
18.290   179.634     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN08
   SRCPARAM A0000078     0.0000307396     1.300   174.704    
18.290     0.365     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000079     0.0000307396     1.300   174.704    
18.290     0.365     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000080     0.0000307396     1.300   174.704    
18.290     0.365     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000081     0.0000307396     1.300   174.704    
18.290     0.365     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000082     0.0000307396     1.300   173.921    
18.290     0.184     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000083     0.0000307396     1.300   172.780    
18.290     0.071     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000084     0.0000307396     1.300   172.780    
18.290     0.071     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000085     0.0000307396     1.300   157.425    
18.290     0.000     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000086     0.0000307396     1.300   157.425    
18.290     0.000     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000087     0.0000307396     1.300   122.748    
18.290    -0.637     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000088     0.0000307396     1.300   122.748    
18.290    -0.637     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN09
   SRCPARAM A0000089     0.0005314996     1.300    32.803     
3.960   171.471     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000090     0.0005314996     1.300    32.803     
3.960   171.471     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000091     0.0005314996     1.300    38.313     
3.960   171.960     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000092     0.0005314996     1.300    38.313     
3.960   171.960     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000093     0.0005314996     1.300    38.313     
3.960   171.960     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000094     0.0005314996     1.300    38.313     
3.960   171.960     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000095     0.0005314996     1.300    38.313     
3.960   171.960     1.200

12

Item D - 594 of 1893



   SRCPARAM A0000096     0.0005314996     1.300    38.313     
3.960   171.960     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000097     0.0005314996     1.300    23.202     
3.960   175.637     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000098     0.0005314996     1.300    23.202     
3.960   175.637     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000099     0.0005314996     1.300    39.058     
3.960   178.511     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000100     0.0005314996     1.300    39.058     
3.960   178.511     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000101     0.0005314996     1.300    27.556     
3.960   178.024     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000102     0.0005314996     1.300    27.556     
3.960   178.024     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN10
   SRCPARAM A0000103     0.0003007882     1.300    39.038     
7.620  -169.424     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000104     0.0003007882     1.300    39.038     
7.620  -169.424     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000105     0.0003007882     1.300    64.287     
7.620  -169.305     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000106     0.0003007882     1.300    46.564     
7.620  -174.256     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000107     0.0003007882     1.300    46.564     
7.620  -174.256     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000108     0.0003007882     1.300    66.936     
7.620  -174.227     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000109     0.0003007882     1.300    66.936     
7.620  -174.227     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000110     0.0003007882     1.300    66.936     
7.620  -174.227     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN11
   SRCPARAM A0000111     0.0004968954     1.300    26.124     
3.960    -8.231     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000112     0.0004968954     1.300    26.124     
3.960    -8.231     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000113     0.0004968954     1.300    32.838     
3.960    -7.405     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000114     0.0004968954     1.300    32.838     
3.960    -7.405     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000115     0.0004968954     1.300    32.838     
3.960    -7.405     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000116     0.0004968954     1.300    32.838     
3.960    -7.405     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000117     0.0004968954     1.300    32.838     
3.960    -7.405     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000118     0.0004968954     1.300    37.888     
3.960    -7.146     1.200

13

Item D - 595 of 1893



   SRCPARAM A0000119     0.0004968954     1.300    37.888     
3.960    -7.146     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000120     0.0004968954     1.300    37.888     
3.960    -7.146     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000121     0.0004968954     1.300    26.939     
3.960    -3.789     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000122     0.0004968954     1.300    26.939     
3.960    -3.789     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000123     0.0004968954     1.300    32.277     
3.960    -1.882     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000124     0.0004968954     1.300    30.650     
3.960    -1.701     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000125     0.0004968954     1.300    30.650     
3.960    -1.701     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000126     0.0004968954     1.300    30.650     
3.960    -1.701     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN12
   SRCPARAM A0000127     0.000189791     1.300    82.202    
11.580  -174.121     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000128     0.000189791     1.300    86.406    
11.580  -174.175     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000129     0.000189791     1.300    87.640    
11.580  -175.261     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000130     0.000189791     1.300    35.204    
11.580  -173.246     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000131     0.000189791     1.300    81.776    
11.580  -171.161     1.200
   SRCPARAM A0000132     0.000189791     1.300    81.776    
11.580  -171.161     1.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   URBANSRC ALL

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN01"
   EMISFACT A0000012     HROFDY 0.0144 0.0199 0.0203 0.0312 
0.0647 0.0749
   EMISFACT A0000012     HROFDY 0.0843 0.0915 0.0901 0.0889 0.09 
0.0923
   EMISFACT A0000012     HROFDY 0.0943 0.0964 0.0998 0.102 0.103 
0.1
   EMISFACT A0000012     HROFDY 0.0886 0.0729 0.0626 0.0593 
0.0491 0.0361
   EMISFACT A0000013     HROFDY 0.0144 0.0199 0.0203 0.0312 
0.0647 0.0749
   EMISFACT A0000013     HROFDY 0.0843 0.0915 0.0901 0.0889 0.09 
0.0923
   EMISFACT A0000013     HROFDY 0.0943 0.0964 0.0998 0.102 0.103 
0.1
   EMISFACT A0000013     HROFDY 0.0886 0.0729 0.0626 0.0593 

14

Item D - 596 of 1893



0.0491 0.0361
   EMISFACT A0000014     HROFDY 0.0144 0.0199 0.0203 0.0312 
0.0647 0.0749
   EMISFACT A0000014     HROFDY 0.0843 0.0915 0.0901 0.0889 0.09 
0.0923
   EMISFACT A0000014     HROFDY 0.0943 0.0964 0.0998 0.102 0.103 
0.1
   EMISFACT A0000014     HROFDY 0.0886 0.0729 0.0626 0.0593 
0.0491 0.0361
   EMISFACT A0000015     HROFDY 0.0144 0.0199 0.0203 0.0312 
0.0647 0.0749
   EMISFACT A0000015     HROFDY 0.0843 0.0915 0.0901 0.0889 0.09 
0.0923
   EMISFACT A0000015     HROFDY 0.0943 0.0964 0.0998 0.102 0.103 
0.1
   EMISFACT A0000015     HROFDY 0.0886 0.0729 0.0626 0.0593 
0.0491 0.0361
   EMISFACT A0000016     HROFDY 0.0144 0.0199 0.0203 0.0312 
0.0647 0.0749
   EMISFACT A0000016     HROFDY 0.0843 0.0915 0.0901 0.0889 0.09 
0.0923
   EMISFACT A0000016     HROFDY 0.0943 0.0964 0.0998 0.102 0.103 
0.1
   EMISFACT A0000016     HROFDY 0.0886 0.0729 0.0626 0.0593 
0.0491 0.0361
   EMISFACT A0000017     HROFDY 0.0144 0.0199 0.0203 0.0312 
0.0647 0.0749
   EMISFACT A0000017     HROFDY 0.0843 0.0915 0.0901 0.0889 0.09 
0.0923
   EMISFACT A0000017     HROFDY 0.0943 0.0964 0.0998 0.102 0.103 
0.1
   EMISFACT A0000017     HROFDY 0.0886 0.0729 0.0626 0.0593 
0.0491 0.0361
   EMISFACT A0000018     HROFDY 0.0144 0.0199 0.0203 0.0312 
0.0647 0.0749
   EMISFACT A0000018     HROFDY 0.0843 0.0915 0.0901 0.0889 0.09 
0.0923
   EMISFACT A0000018     HROFDY 0.0943 0.0964 0.0998 0.102 0.103 
0.1
   EMISFACT A0000018     HROFDY 0.0886 0.0729 0.0626 0.0593 
0.0491 0.0361
   EMISFACT A0000019     HROFDY 0.0144 0.0199 0.0203 0.0312 
0.0647 0.0749
   EMISFACT A0000019     HROFDY 0.0843 0.0915 0.0901 0.0889 0.09 
0.0923
   EMISFACT A0000019     HROFDY 0.0943 0.0964 0.0998 0.102 0.103 
0.1
   EMISFACT A0000019     HROFDY 0.0886 0.0729 0.0626 0.0593 
0.0491 0.0361
   EMISFACT A0000020     HROFDY 0.0144 0.0199 0.0203 0.0312 
0.0647 0.0749
   EMISFACT A0000020     HROFDY 0.0843 0.0915 0.0901 0.0889 0.09 

15

Item D - 597 of 1893



0.0923
   EMISFACT A0000020     HROFDY 0.0943 0.0964 0.0998 0.102 0.103 
0.1
   EMISFACT A0000020     HROFDY 0.0886 0.0729 0.0626 0.0593 
0.0491 0.0361
   EMISFACT A0000021     HROFDY 0.0144 0.0199 0.0203 0.0312 
0.0647 0.0749
   EMISFACT A0000021     HROFDY 0.0843 0.0915 0.0901 0.0889 0.09 
0.0923
   EMISFACT A0000021     HROFDY 0.0943 0.0964 0.0998 0.102 0.103 
0.1
   EMISFACT A0000021     HROFDY 0.0886 0.0729 0.0626 0.0593 
0.0491 0.0361
   EMISFACT A0000022     HROFDY 0.0144 0.0199 0.0203 0.0312 
0.0647 0.0749
   EMISFACT A0000022     HROFDY 0.0843 0.0915 0.0901 0.0889 0.09 
0.0923
   EMISFACT A0000022     HROFDY 0.0943 0.0964 0.0998 0.102 0.103 
0.1
   EMISFACT A0000022     HROFDY 0.0886 0.0729 0.0626 0.0593 
0.0491 0.0361

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN02"
   EMISFACT A0000001     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000001     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000001     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000001     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000002     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000002     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000002     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000002     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000003     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000003     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000003     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000003     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000004     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000004     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439

16

Item D - 598 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000004     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000004     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000005     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000005     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000005     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000005     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000006     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000006     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000006     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000006     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000007     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000007     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000007     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000007     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000008     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000008     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000008     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000008     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000009     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000009     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000009     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000009     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000010     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000010     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000010     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000010     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248

17

Item D - 599 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000011     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000011     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000011     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000011     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN03"
   EMISFACT A0000023     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000023     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000023     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000023     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000024     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000024     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000024     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000024     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000025     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000025     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000025     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000025     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000026     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000026     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000026     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000026     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000027     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000027     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000027     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000027     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000028     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 

18

Item D - 600 of 1893



0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000028     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000028     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000028     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000029     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000029     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000029     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000029     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000030     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000030     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000030     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000030     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000031     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000031     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000031     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000031     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000032     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000032     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000032     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000032     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000033     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000033     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000033     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000033     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000034     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000034     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000034     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 

19

Item D - 601 of 1893



0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000034     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000035     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000035     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000035     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000035     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358
   EMISFACT A0000036     HROFDY 0.00251 0.00197 0.00201 0.00309 
0.00642 0.00758
   EMISFACT A0000036     HROFDY 0.00854 0.00911 0.00896 0.00884 
0.00896 0.00918
   EMISFACT A0000036     HROFDY 0.00938 0.00959 0.00993 0.0101 
0.0102 0.0101
   EMISFACT A0000036     HROFDY 0.00897 0.00724 0.00634 0.00589 
0.00487 0.00358

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN04"
   EMISFACT A0000037     HROFDY 0.00261 0.00188 0.00165 0.00192 
0.00309 0.00518
   EMISFACT A0000037     HROFDY 0.00727 0.00811 0.0078 0.00734 
0.00745 0.00779
   EMISFACT A0000037     HROFDY 0.00822 0.00857 0.00885 0.00868 
0.00852 0.00849
   EMISFACT A0000037     HROFDY 0.00837 0.00775 0.00703 0.00621 
0.00508 0.00378
   EMISFACT A0000038     HROFDY 0.00261 0.00188 0.00165 0.00192 
0.00309 0.00518
   EMISFACT A0000038     HROFDY 0.00727 0.00811 0.0078 0.00734 
0.00745 0.00779
   EMISFACT A0000038     HROFDY 0.00822 0.00857 0.00885 0.00868 
0.00852 0.00849
   EMISFACT A0000038     HROFDY 0.00837 0.00775 0.00703 0.00621 
0.00508 0.00378
   EMISFACT A0000039     HROFDY 0.00261 0.00188 0.00165 0.00192 
0.00309 0.00518
   EMISFACT A0000039     HROFDY 0.00727 0.00811 0.0078 0.00734 
0.00745 0.00779
   EMISFACT A0000039     HROFDY 0.00822 0.00857 0.00885 0.00868 
0.00852 0.00849
   EMISFACT A0000039     HROFDY 0.00837 0.00775 0.00703 0.00621 
0.00508 0.00378
   EMISFACT A0000040     HROFDY 0.00261 0.00188 0.00165 0.00192 
0.00309 0.00518
   EMISFACT A0000040     HROFDY 0.00727 0.00811 0.0078 0.00734 
0.00745 0.00779
   EMISFACT A0000040     HROFDY 0.00822 0.00857 0.00885 0.00868 
0.00852 0.00849

20

Item D - 602 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000040     HROFDY 0.00837 0.00775 0.00703 0.00621 
0.00508 0.00378
   EMISFACT A0000041     HROFDY 0.00261 0.00188 0.00165 0.00192 
0.00309 0.00518
   EMISFACT A0000041     HROFDY 0.00727 0.00811 0.0078 0.00734 
0.00745 0.00779
   EMISFACT A0000041     HROFDY 0.00822 0.00857 0.00885 0.00868 
0.00852 0.00849
   EMISFACT A0000041     HROFDY 0.00837 0.00775 0.00703 0.00621 
0.00508 0.00378
   EMISFACT A0000042     HROFDY 0.00261 0.00188 0.00165 0.00192 
0.00309 0.00518
   EMISFACT A0000042     HROFDY 0.00727 0.00811 0.0078 0.00734 
0.00745 0.00779
   EMISFACT A0000042     HROFDY 0.00822 0.00857 0.00885 0.00868 
0.00852 0.00849
   EMISFACT A0000042     HROFDY 0.00837 0.00775 0.00703 0.00621 
0.00508 0.00378
   EMISFACT A0000043     HROFDY 0.00261 0.00188 0.00165 0.00192 
0.00309 0.00518
   EMISFACT A0000043     HROFDY 0.00727 0.00811 0.0078 0.00734 
0.00745 0.00779
   EMISFACT A0000043     HROFDY 0.00822 0.00857 0.00885 0.00868 
0.00852 0.00849
   EMISFACT A0000043     HROFDY 0.00837 0.00775 0.00703 0.00621 
0.00508 0.00378
   EMISFACT A0000044     HROFDY 0.00261 0.00188 0.00165 0.00192 
0.00309 0.00518
   EMISFACT A0000044     HROFDY 0.00727 0.00811 0.0078 0.00734 
0.00745 0.00779
   EMISFACT A0000044     HROFDY 0.00822 0.00857 0.00885 0.00868 
0.00852 0.00849
   EMISFACT A0000044     HROFDY 0.00837 0.00775 0.00703 0.00621 
0.00508 0.00378

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN05"
   EMISFACT A0000045     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000045     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000045     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000045     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000046     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000046     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000046     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000046     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 

21

Item D - 603 of 1893



0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000047     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000047     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000047     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000047     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000048     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000048     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000048     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000048     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000049     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000049     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000049     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000049     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000050     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000050     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000050     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000050     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000051     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000051     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000051     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000051     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000052     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000052     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000052     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000052     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000053     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000053     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 

22

Item D - 604 of 1893



0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000053     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000053     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000054     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000054     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000054     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000054     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000055     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000055     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000055     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000055     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000056     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000056     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000056     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000056     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000057     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000057     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000057     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000057     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000058     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000058     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000058     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000058     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000059     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000059     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000059     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000059     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 

23

Item D - 605 of 1893



0.00779 0.0058
   EMISFACT A0000060     HROFDY 0.00401 0.00288 0.00253 0.00294 
0.00474 0.00794
   EMISFACT A0000060     HROFDY 0.0111 0.0124 0.012 0.0113 0.0114 
0.0119
   EMISFACT A0000060     HROFDY 0.0126 0.0131 0.0136 0.0133 
0.0131 0.013
   EMISFACT A0000060     HROFDY 0.0128 0.0119 0.0108 0.00951 
0.00779 0.0058

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN06"
   EMISFACT A0000061     HROFDY 0.000402 0.000316 0.000322 
0.000495 0.00103 0.00121
   EMISFACT A0000061     HROFDY 0.00137 0.00146 0.00144 0.00142 
0.00143 0.00147
   EMISFACT A0000061     HROFDY 0.0015 0.00154 0.00159 0.00162 
0.00164 0.00162
   EMISFACT A0000061     HROFDY 0.00144 0.00116 0.00102 0.000942 
0.000781 0.000574
   EMISFACT A0000062     HROFDY 0.000402 0.000316 0.000322 
0.000495 0.00103 0.00121
   EMISFACT A0000062     HROFDY 0.00137 0.00146 0.00144 0.00142 
0.00143 0.00147
   EMISFACT A0000062     HROFDY 0.0015 0.00154 0.00159 0.00162 
0.00164 0.00162
   EMISFACT A0000062     HROFDY 0.00144 0.00116 0.00102 0.000942 
0.000781 0.000574
   EMISFACT A0000063     HROFDY 0.000402 0.000316 0.000322 
0.000495 0.00103 0.00121
   EMISFACT A0000063     HROFDY 0.00137 0.00146 0.00144 0.00142 
0.00143 0.00147
   EMISFACT A0000063     HROFDY 0.0015 0.00154 0.00159 0.00162 
0.00164 0.00162
   EMISFACT A0000063     HROFDY 0.00144 0.00116 0.00102 0.000942 
0.000781 0.000574
   EMISFACT A0000064     HROFDY 0.000402 0.000316 0.000322 
0.000495 0.00103 0.00121
   EMISFACT A0000064     HROFDY 0.00137 0.00146 0.00144 0.00142 
0.00143 0.00147
   EMISFACT A0000064     HROFDY 0.0015 0.00154 0.00159 0.00162 
0.00164 0.00162
   EMISFACT A0000064     HROFDY 0.00144 0.00116 0.00102 0.000942 
0.000781 0.000574
   EMISFACT A0000065     HROFDY 0.000402 0.000316 0.000322 
0.000495 0.00103 0.00121
   EMISFACT A0000065     HROFDY 0.00137 0.00146 0.00144 0.00142 
0.00143 0.00147
   EMISFACT A0000065     HROFDY 0.0015 0.00154 0.00159 0.00162 
0.00164 0.00162
   EMISFACT A0000065     HROFDY 0.00144 0.00116 0.00102 0.000942 
0.000781 0.000574

24

Item D - 606 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000066     HROFDY 0.000402 0.000316 0.000322 
0.000495 0.00103 0.00121
   EMISFACT A0000066     HROFDY 0.00137 0.00146 0.00144 0.00142 
0.00143 0.00147
   EMISFACT A0000066     HROFDY 0.0015 0.00154 0.00159 0.00162 
0.00164 0.00162
   EMISFACT A0000066     HROFDY 0.00144 0.00116 0.00102 0.000942 
0.000781 0.000574

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN07"
   EMISFACT A0000067     HROFDY 0.0109 0.00855 0.00871 0.0134 
0.0278 0.0356
   EMISFACT A0000067     HROFDY 0.0401 0.0467 0.0459 0.0453 
0.0459 0.047
   EMISFACT A0000067     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0491 0.0509 0.0519 
0.0524 0.0476
   EMISFACT A0000067     HROFDY 0.0421 0.0314 0.0298 0.0255 
0.0211 0.0155
   EMISFACT A0000068     HROFDY 0.0109 0.00855 0.00871 0.0134 
0.0278 0.0356
   EMISFACT A0000068     HROFDY 0.0401 0.0467 0.0459 0.0453 
0.0459 0.047
   EMISFACT A0000068     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0491 0.0509 0.0519 
0.0524 0.0476
   EMISFACT A0000068     HROFDY 0.0421 0.0314 0.0298 0.0255 
0.0211 0.0155
   EMISFACT A0000069     HROFDY 0.0109 0.00855 0.00871 0.0134 
0.0278 0.0356
   EMISFACT A0000069     HROFDY 0.0401 0.0467 0.0459 0.0453 
0.0459 0.047
   EMISFACT A0000069     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0491 0.0509 0.0519 
0.0524 0.0476
   EMISFACT A0000069     HROFDY 0.0421 0.0314 0.0298 0.0255 
0.0211 0.0155
   EMISFACT A0000070     HROFDY 0.0109 0.00855 0.00871 0.0134 
0.0278 0.0356
   EMISFACT A0000070     HROFDY 0.0401 0.0467 0.0459 0.0453 
0.0459 0.047
   EMISFACT A0000070     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0491 0.0509 0.0519 
0.0524 0.0476
   EMISFACT A0000070     HROFDY 0.0421 0.0314 0.0298 0.0255 
0.0211 0.0155
   EMISFACT A0000071     HROFDY 0.0109 0.00855 0.00871 0.0134 
0.0278 0.0356
   EMISFACT A0000071     HROFDY 0.0401 0.0467 0.0459 0.0453 
0.0459 0.047
   EMISFACT A0000071     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0491 0.0509 0.0519 
0.0524 0.0476
   EMISFACT A0000071     HROFDY 0.0421 0.0314 0.0298 0.0255 
0.0211 0.0155
   EMISFACT A0000072     HROFDY 0.0109 0.00855 0.00871 0.0134 

25

Item D - 607 of 1893



0.0278 0.0356
   EMISFACT A0000072     HROFDY 0.0401 0.0467 0.0459 0.0453 
0.0459 0.047
   EMISFACT A0000072     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0491 0.0509 0.0519 
0.0524 0.0476
   EMISFACT A0000072     HROFDY 0.0421 0.0314 0.0298 0.0255 
0.0211 0.0155
   EMISFACT A0000073     HROFDY 0.0109 0.00855 0.00871 0.0134 
0.0278 0.0356
   EMISFACT A0000073     HROFDY 0.0401 0.0467 0.0459 0.0453 
0.0459 0.047
   EMISFACT A0000073     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0491 0.0509 0.0519 
0.0524 0.0476
   EMISFACT A0000073     HROFDY 0.0421 0.0314 0.0298 0.0255 
0.0211 0.0155
   EMISFACT A0000074     HROFDY 0.0109 0.00855 0.00871 0.0134 
0.0278 0.0356
   EMISFACT A0000074     HROFDY 0.0401 0.0467 0.0459 0.0453 
0.0459 0.047
   EMISFACT A0000074     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0491 0.0509 0.0519 
0.0524 0.0476
   EMISFACT A0000074     HROFDY 0.0421 0.0314 0.0298 0.0255 
0.0211 0.0155
   EMISFACT A0000075     HROFDY 0.0109 0.00855 0.00871 0.0134 
0.0278 0.0356
   EMISFACT A0000075     HROFDY 0.0401 0.0467 0.0459 0.0453 
0.0459 0.047
   EMISFACT A0000075     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0491 0.0509 0.0519 
0.0524 0.0476
   EMISFACT A0000075     HROFDY 0.0421 0.0314 0.0298 0.0255 
0.0211 0.0155
   EMISFACT A0000076     HROFDY 0.0109 0.00855 0.00871 0.0134 
0.0278 0.0356
   EMISFACT A0000076     HROFDY 0.0401 0.0467 0.0459 0.0453 
0.0459 0.047
   EMISFACT A0000076     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0491 0.0509 0.0519 
0.0524 0.0476
   EMISFACT A0000076     HROFDY 0.0421 0.0314 0.0298 0.0255 
0.0211 0.0155
   EMISFACT A0000077     HROFDY 0.0109 0.00855 0.00871 0.0134 
0.0278 0.0356
   EMISFACT A0000077     HROFDY 0.0401 0.0467 0.0459 0.0453 
0.0459 0.047
   EMISFACT A0000077     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0491 0.0509 0.0519 
0.0524 0.0476
   EMISFACT A0000077     HROFDY 0.0421 0.0314 0.0298 0.0255 
0.0211 0.0155

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN08"
   EMISFACT A0000078     HROFDY 0.013 0.00932 0.00817 0.00951 
0.0153 0.0257

26

Item D - 608 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000078     HROFDY 0.039 0.0475 0.0456 0.043 0.0436 
0.0456
   EMISFACT A0000078     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0502 0.057 0.0559 0.061 
0.0608
   EMISFACT A0000078     HROFDY 0.049 0.0416 0.0377 0.0307 0.0252 
0.0187
   EMISFACT A0000079     HROFDY 0.013 0.00932 0.00817 0.00951 
0.0153 0.0257
   EMISFACT A0000079     HROFDY 0.039 0.0475 0.0456 0.043 0.0436 
0.0456
   EMISFACT A0000079     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0502 0.057 0.0559 0.061 
0.0608
   EMISFACT A0000079     HROFDY 0.049 0.0416 0.0377 0.0307 0.0252 
0.0187
   EMISFACT A0000080     HROFDY 0.013 0.00932 0.00817 0.00951 
0.0153 0.0257
   EMISFACT A0000080     HROFDY 0.039 0.0475 0.0456 0.043 0.0436 
0.0456
   EMISFACT A0000080     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0502 0.057 0.0559 0.061 
0.0608
   EMISFACT A0000080     HROFDY 0.049 0.0416 0.0377 0.0307 0.0252 
0.0187
   EMISFACT A0000081     HROFDY 0.013 0.00932 0.00817 0.00951 
0.0153 0.0257
   EMISFACT A0000081     HROFDY 0.039 0.0475 0.0456 0.043 0.0436 
0.0456
   EMISFACT A0000081     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0502 0.057 0.0559 0.061 
0.0608
   EMISFACT A0000081     HROFDY 0.049 0.0416 0.0377 0.0307 0.0252 
0.0187
   EMISFACT A0000082     HROFDY 0.013 0.00932 0.00817 0.00951 
0.0153 0.0257
   EMISFACT A0000082     HROFDY 0.039 0.0475 0.0456 0.043 0.0436 
0.0456
   EMISFACT A0000082     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0502 0.057 0.0559 0.061 
0.0608
   EMISFACT A0000082     HROFDY 0.049 0.0416 0.0377 0.0307 0.0252 
0.0187
   EMISFACT A0000083     HROFDY 0.013 0.00932 0.00817 0.00951 
0.0153 0.0257
   EMISFACT A0000083     HROFDY 0.039 0.0475 0.0456 0.043 0.0436 
0.0456
   EMISFACT A0000083     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0502 0.057 0.0559 0.061 
0.0608
   EMISFACT A0000083     HROFDY 0.049 0.0416 0.0377 0.0307 0.0252 
0.0187
   EMISFACT A0000084     HROFDY 0.013 0.00932 0.00817 0.00951 
0.0153 0.0257
   EMISFACT A0000084     HROFDY 0.039 0.0475 0.0456 0.043 0.0436 
0.0456
   EMISFACT A0000084     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0502 0.057 0.0559 0.061 
0.0608

27

Item D - 609 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000084     HROFDY 0.049 0.0416 0.0377 0.0307 0.0252 
0.0187
   EMISFACT A0000085     HROFDY 0.013 0.00932 0.00817 0.00951 
0.0153 0.0257
   EMISFACT A0000085     HROFDY 0.039 0.0475 0.0456 0.043 0.0436 
0.0456
   EMISFACT A0000085     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0502 0.057 0.0559 0.061 
0.0608
   EMISFACT A0000085     HROFDY 0.049 0.0416 0.0377 0.0307 0.0252 
0.0187
   EMISFACT A0000086     HROFDY 0.013 0.00932 0.00817 0.00951 
0.0153 0.0257
   EMISFACT A0000086     HROFDY 0.039 0.0475 0.0456 0.043 0.0436 
0.0456
   EMISFACT A0000086     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0502 0.057 0.0559 0.061 
0.0608
   EMISFACT A0000086     HROFDY 0.049 0.0416 0.0377 0.0307 0.0252 
0.0187
   EMISFACT A0000087     HROFDY 0.013 0.00932 0.00817 0.00951 
0.0153 0.0257
   EMISFACT A0000087     HROFDY 0.039 0.0475 0.0456 0.043 0.0436 
0.0456
   EMISFACT A0000087     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0502 0.057 0.0559 0.061 
0.0608
   EMISFACT A0000087     HROFDY 0.049 0.0416 0.0377 0.0307 0.0252 
0.0187
   EMISFACT A0000088     HROFDY 0.013 0.00932 0.00817 0.00951 
0.0153 0.0257
   EMISFACT A0000088     HROFDY 0.039 0.0475 0.0456 0.043 0.0436 
0.0456
   EMISFACT A0000088     HROFDY 0.0481 0.0502 0.057 0.0559 0.061 
0.0608
   EMISFACT A0000088     HROFDY 0.049 0.0416 0.0377 0.0307 0.0252 
0.0187

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN09"
   EMISFACT A0000089     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000089     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000089     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000089     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000090     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000090     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000090     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000090     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 

28

Item D - 610 of 1893



0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000091     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000091     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000091     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000091     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000092     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000092     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000092     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000092     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000093     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000093     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000093     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000093     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000094     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000094     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000094     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000094     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000095     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000095     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000095     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000095     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000096     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000096     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000096     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000096     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000097     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000097     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 

29

Item D - 611 of 1893



0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000097     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000097     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000098     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000098     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000098     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000098     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000099     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000099     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000099     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000099     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000100     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000100     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000100     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000100     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000101     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000101     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000101     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000101     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487
   EMISFACT A0000102     HROFDY 0.00341 0.00268 0.00273 0.0042 
0.00872 0.00114
   EMISFACT A0000102     HROFDY 0.0116 0.0124 0.0122 0.012 0.0122 
0.0125
   EMISFACT A0000102     HROFDY 0.0127 0.013 0.0135 0.0138 0.0139 
0.0138
   EMISFACT A0000102     HROFDY 0.0122 0.00983 0.00861 0.008 
0.00662 0.00487

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN10"
   EMISFACT A0000103     HROFDY 0.000395 0.000284 0.000249 
0.00029 0.000466 0.000782
   EMISFACT A0000103     HROFDY 0.0011 0.00122 0.00118 0.00111 
0.00112 0.00118

30

Item D - 612 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000103     HROFDY 0.00124 0.00129 0.00134 0.00131 
0.00129 0.00128
   EMISFACT A0000103     HROFDY 0.00126 0.00117 0.00106 0.000937 
0.000767 0.000571
   EMISFACT A0000104     HROFDY 0.000395 0.000284 0.000249 
0.00029 0.000466 0.000782
   EMISFACT A0000104     HROFDY 0.0011 0.00122 0.00118 0.00111 
0.00112 0.00118
   EMISFACT A0000104     HROFDY 0.00124 0.00129 0.00134 0.00131 
0.00129 0.00128
   EMISFACT A0000104     HROFDY 0.00126 0.00117 0.00106 0.000937 
0.000767 0.000571
   EMISFACT A0000105     HROFDY 0.000395 0.000284 0.000249 
0.00029 0.000466 0.000782
   EMISFACT A0000105     HROFDY 0.0011 0.00122 0.00118 0.00111 
0.00112 0.00118
   EMISFACT A0000105     HROFDY 0.00124 0.00129 0.00134 0.00131 
0.00129 0.00128
   EMISFACT A0000105     HROFDY 0.00126 0.00117 0.00106 0.000937 
0.000767 0.000571
   EMISFACT A0000106     HROFDY 0.000395 0.000284 0.000249 
0.00029 0.000466 0.000782
   EMISFACT A0000106     HROFDY 0.0011 0.00122 0.00118 0.00111 
0.00112 0.00118
   EMISFACT A0000106     HROFDY 0.00124 0.00129 0.00134 0.00131 
0.00129 0.00128
   EMISFACT A0000106     HROFDY 0.00126 0.00117 0.00106 0.000937 
0.000767 0.000571
   EMISFACT A0000107     HROFDY 0.000395 0.000284 0.000249 
0.00029 0.000466 0.000782
   EMISFACT A0000107     HROFDY 0.0011 0.00122 0.00118 0.00111 
0.00112 0.00118
   EMISFACT A0000107     HROFDY 0.00124 0.00129 0.00134 0.00131 
0.00129 0.00128
   EMISFACT A0000107     HROFDY 0.00126 0.00117 0.00106 0.000937 
0.000767 0.000571
   EMISFACT A0000108     HROFDY 0.000395 0.000284 0.000249 
0.00029 0.000466 0.000782
   EMISFACT A0000108     HROFDY 0.0011 0.00122 0.00118 0.00111 
0.00112 0.00118
   EMISFACT A0000108     HROFDY 0.00124 0.00129 0.00134 0.00131 
0.00129 0.00128
   EMISFACT A0000108     HROFDY 0.00126 0.00117 0.00106 0.000937 
0.000767 0.000571
   EMISFACT A0000109     HROFDY 0.000395 0.000284 0.000249 
0.00029 0.000466 0.000782
   EMISFACT A0000109     HROFDY 0.0011 0.00122 0.00118 0.00111 
0.00112 0.00118
   EMISFACT A0000109     HROFDY 0.00124 0.00129 0.00134 0.00131 
0.00129 0.00128
   EMISFACT A0000109     HROFDY 0.00126 0.00117 0.00106 0.000937 
0.000767 0.000571

31

Item D - 613 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000110     HROFDY 0.000395 0.000284 0.000249 
0.00029 0.000466 0.000782
   EMISFACT A0000110     HROFDY 0.0011 0.00122 0.00118 0.00111 
0.00112 0.00118
   EMISFACT A0000110     HROFDY 0.00124 0.00129 0.00134 0.00131 
0.00129 0.00128
   EMISFACT A0000110     HROFDY 0.00126 0.00117 0.00106 0.000937 
0.000767 0.000571

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN11"
   EMISFACT A0000111     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000111     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000111     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000111     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000112     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000112     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000112     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000112     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000113     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000113     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000113     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000113     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000114     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000114     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000114     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000114     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000115     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000115     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000115     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000115     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000116     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 

32

Item D - 614 of 1893



0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000116     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000116     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000116     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000117     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000117     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000117     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000117     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000118     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000118     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000118     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000118     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000119     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000119     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000119     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000119     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000120     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000120     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000120     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000120     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000121     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000121     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000121     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000121     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000122     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000122     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000122     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 

33

Item D - 615 of 1893



0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000122     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000123     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000123     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000123     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000123     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000124     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000124     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000124     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000124     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000125     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000125     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000125     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000125     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788
   EMISFACT A0000126     HROFDY 0.00545 0.00392 0.00343 0.004 
0.00644 0.0012
   EMISFACT A0000126     HROFDY 0.0151 0.0169 0.0162 0.0153 
0.0155 0.0162
   EMISFACT A0000126     HROFDY 0.0171 0.0178 0.0184 0.0181 
0.0177 0.0177
   EMISFACT A0000126     HROFDY 0.0174 0.0161 0.0146 0.0129 
0.0106 0.00788

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN12"
   EMISFACT A0000127     HROFDY 0.000482 0.000379 0.000386 
0.000594 0.00123 0.00146
   EMISFACT A0000127     HROFDY 0.00164 0.00175 0.00172 0.0017 
0.00172 0.00176
   EMISFACT A0000127     HROFDY 0.0018 0.00184 0.00191 0.00194 
0.00196 0.00195
   EMISFACT A0000127     HROFDY 0.00172 0.00139 0.00122 0.00113 
0.000937 0.000689
   EMISFACT A0000128     HROFDY 0.000482 0.000379 0.000386 
0.000594 0.00123 0.00146
   EMISFACT A0000128     HROFDY 0.00164 0.00175 0.00172 0.0017 
0.00172 0.00176
   EMISFACT A0000128     HROFDY 0.0018 0.00184 0.00191 0.00194 
0.00196 0.00195

34

Item D - 616 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000128     HROFDY 0.00172 0.00139 0.00122 0.00113 
0.000937 0.000689
   EMISFACT A0000129     HROFDY 0.000482 0.000379 0.000386 
0.000594 0.00123 0.00146
   EMISFACT A0000129     HROFDY 0.00164 0.00175 0.00172 0.0017 
0.00172 0.00176
   EMISFACT A0000129     HROFDY 0.0018 0.00184 0.00191 0.00194 
0.00196 0.00195
   EMISFACT A0000129     HROFDY 0.00172 0.00139 0.00122 0.00113 
0.000937 0.000689
   EMISFACT A0000130     HROFDY 0.000482 0.000379 0.000386 
0.000594 0.00123 0.00146
   EMISFACT A0000130     HROFDY 0.00164 0.00175 0.00172 0.0017 
0.00172 0.00176
   EMISFACT A0000130     HROFDY 0.0018 0.00184 0.00191 0.00194 
0.00196 0.00195
   EMISFACT A0000130     HROFDY 0.00172 0.00139 0.00122 0.00113 
0.000937 0.000689
   EMISFACT A0000131     HROFDY 0.000482 0.000379 0.000386 
0.000594 0.00123 0.00146
   EMISFACT A0000131     HROFDY 0.00164 0.00175 0.00172 0.0017 
0.00172 0.00176
   EMISFACT A0000131     HROFDY 0.0018 0.00184 0.00191 0.00194 
0.00196 0.00195
   EMISFACT A0000131     HROFDY 0.00172 0.00139 0.00122 0.00113 
0.000937 0.000689
   EMISFACT A0000132     HROFDY 0.000482 0.000379 0.000386 
0.000594 0.00123 0.00146
   EMISFACT A0000132     HROFDY 0.00164 0.00175 0.00172 0.0017 
0.00172 0.00176
   EMISFACT A0000132     HROFDY 0.0018 0.00184 0.00191 0.00194 
0.00196 0.00195
   EMISFACT A0000132     HROFDY 0.00172 0.00139 0.00122 0.00113 
0.000937 0.000689
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000012 A0000013 A0000014 A0000015 A0000016 
A0000017
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000018 A0000019 A0000020 A0000021 A0000022 
A0000001
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000002 A0000003 A0000004 A0000005 A0000006 
A0000007
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000008 A0000009 A0000010 A0000011 A0000023 
A0000024
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000025 A0000026 A0000027 A0000028 A0000029 
A0000030
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000031 A0000032 A0000033 A0000034 A0000035 
A0000036
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000037 A0000038 A0000039 A0000040 A0000041 
A0000042
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000043 A0000044 A0000045 A0000046 A0000047 
A0000048
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000049 A0000050 A0000051 A0000052 A0000053 
A0000054

35

Item D - 617 of 1893



   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000055 A0000056 A0000057 A0000058 A0000059 
A0000060
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000061 A0000062 A0000063 A0000064 A0000065 
A0000066
   SRCGROUP Evap     A0000067 A0000068 A0000069 A0000070 A0000071 
A0000072
   SRCGROUP Evap     A0000073 A0000074 A0000075 A0000076 A0000077 
A0000078
   SRCGROUP Evap     A0000079 A0000080 A0000081 A0000082 A0000083 
A0000084
   SRCGROUP Evap     A0000085 A0000086 A0000087 A0000088 A0000089 
A0000090
   SRCGROUP Evap     A0000091 A0000092 A0000093 A0000094 A0000095 
A0000096
   SRCGROUP Evap     A0000097 A0000098 A0000099 A0000100 A0000101 
A0000102
   SRCGROUP Evap     A0000103 A0000104 A0000105 A0000106 A0000107 
A0000108
   SRCGROUP Evap     A0000109 A0000110 A0000111 A0000112 A0000113 
A0000114
   SRCGROUP Evap     A0000115 A0000116 A0000117 A0000118 A0000119 
A0000120
   SRCGROUP Evap     A0000121 A0000122 A0000123 A0000124 A0000125 
A0000126
   SRCGROUP Evap     A0000127 A0000128 A0000129 A0000130 A0000131 
A0000132
   SRCGROUP FreeExh  A0000012 A0000013 A0000014 A0000015 A0000016 
A0000017
   SRCGROUP FreeExh  A0000018 A0000019 A0000020 A0000021 A0000022 
A0000001
   SRCGROUP FreeExh  A0000002 A0000003 A0000004 A0000005 A0000006 
A0000007
   SRCGROUP FreeExh  A0000008 A0000009 A0000010 A0000011
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000023 A0000024 A0000025 A0000026 A0000027 
A0000028
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000029 A0000030 A0000031 A0000032 A0000033 
A0000034
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000035 A0000036 A0000037 A0000038 A0000039 
A0000040
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000041 A0000042 A0000043 A0000044 A0000045 
A0000046
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000047 A0000048 A0000049 A0000050 A0000051 
A0000052
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000053 A0000054 A0000055 A0000056 A0000057 
A0000058
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000059 A0000060 A0000061 A0000062 A0000063 
A0000064
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000065 A0000066
   SRCGROUP FreeEvap A0000067 A0000068 A0000069 A0000070 A0000071 
A0000072
   SRCGROUP FreeEvap A0000073 A0000074 A0000075 A0000076 A0000077 
A0000078

36

Item D - 618 of 1893



   SRCGROUP FreeEvap A0000079 A0000080 A0000081 A0000082 A0000083 
A0000084
   SRCGROUP FreeEvap A0000085 A0000086 A0000087 A0000088
   SRCGROUP OnOffEva A0000089 A0000090 A0000091 A0000092 A0000093 
A0000094
   SRCGROUP OnOffEva A0000095 A0000096 A0000097 A0000098 A0000099 
A0000100
   SRCGROUP OnOffEva A0000101 A0000102 A0000103 A0000104 A0000105 
A0000106
   SRCGROUP OnOffEva A0000107 A0000108 A0000109 A0000110 A0000111 
A0000112
   SRCGROUP OnOffEva A0000113 A0000114 A0000115 A0000116 A0000117 
A0000118
   SRCGROUP OnOffEva A0000119 A0000120 A0000121 A0000122 A0000123 
A0000124
   SRCGROUP OnOffEva A0000125 A0000126 A0000127 A0000128 A0000129 
A0000130
   SRCGROUP OnOffEva A0000131 A0000132
   SRCGROUP ALL
SO FINISHED
**
****************************************
** AERMOD Receptor Pathway
****************************************
**
**
RE STARTING
** DESCRREC "UCART01" "Receptors generated from Uniform Cartesian 
Grid"
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439764.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765310.00

37

Item D - 619 of 1893



   DISCCART    439804.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439764.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765315.00

38

Item D - 620 of 1893



   DISCCART    439874.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439764.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765325.00

39

Item D - 621 of 1893



   DISCCART    439729.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439754.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439754.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765330.00

40

Item D - 622 of 1893



   DISCCART    439809.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765340.00

41

Item D - 623 of 1893



   DISCCART    439709.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765345.00

42

Item D - 624 of 1893



   DISCCART    439884.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765355.00

43

Item D - 625 of 1893



   DISCCART    439844.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765365.00

44

Item D - 626 of 1893



   DISCCART    439719.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765370.00

45

Item D - 627 of 1893



   DISCCART    439854.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439754.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765385.00

46

Item D - 628 of 1893



   DISCCART    439819.00   3765385.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439754.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765410.00

47

Item D - 629 of 1893



   DISCCART    439819.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765415.00
  DISCCART    439799.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765420.00

48

Item D - 630 of 1893



   DISCCART    439729.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765425.00

49

Item D - 631 of 1893



   DISCCART    439844.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765435.00

50

Item D - 632 of 1893



   DISCCART    439774.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765445.00

51

Item D - 633 of 1893



   DISCCART    439679.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765450.00

52

Item D - 634 of 1893



   DISCCART    439674.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765465.00

53

Item D - 635 of 1893



   DISCCART    439699.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765475.00

54

Item D - 636 of 1893



   DISCCART    439679.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439754.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765475.00
** DESCRREC "UCART03" "Receptors generated from Uniform Cartesian 
Grid"
   DISCCART    439269.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765100.00

55

Item D - 637 of 1893



   DISCCART    439669.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765600.00

56

Item D - 638 of 1893



   DISCCART    439369.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765900.00
** DESCRREC "UCART02" "Receptors generated from Uniform Cartesian 
Grid"
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765310.00

57

Item D - 639 of 1893



   DISCCART    439859.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765490.00

58

Item D - 640 of 1893



   DISCCART    439799.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765490.00
RE FINISHED
**
****************************************
** AERMOD Meteorology Pathway
****************************************
**
**
ME STARTING
   SURFFILE "C:\Users\sjremote\Desktop\Ontario_PUD-Legacy
\OntarioIntlAirportADJU (1)\KONT_V9_ADJU\KONT_v9.SFC"
   PROFFILE "C:\Users\sjremote\Desktop\Ontario_PUD-Legacy
\OntarioIntlAirportADJU (1)\KONT_V9_ADJU\KONT_v9.PFL"
   SURFDATA 3102 2012 Ontario_Apt
   UAIRDATA 3190 2012
   PROFBASE 289.0 METERS
ME FINISHED
**
****************************************
** AERMOD Output Pathway
****************************************
**
**
OU STARTING
   RECTABLE ALLAVE 1ST
   RECTABLE 1 1ST
** Auto-Generated Plotfiles
   PLOTFILE 1 ALL 1ST ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_20221005.AD
\01H1GALL.PLT 31
   PLOTFILE 1 Exh 1ST ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_20221005.AD
\01H1G001.PLT 32
   PLOTFILE 1 Evap 1ST ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_20221005.AD
\01H1G002.PLT 33
   PLOTFILE 1 FreeExh 1ST ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_
20221005.AD\01H1G003.PLT 34
   PLOTFILE 1 OnOffExh 1ST ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_
20221005.AD\01H1G004.PLT 35
   PLOTFILE 1 FreeEvap 1ST ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_
20221005.AD\01H1G005.PLT 36
   PLOTFILE 1 OnOffEva 1ST ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_
20221005.AD\01H1G006.PLT 37
   PLOTFILE PERIOD ALL ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_20221005.AD
\PE00GALL.PLT 38
   PLOTFILE PERIOD Exh ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_20221005.AD
\PE00G001.PLT 39
   PLOTFILE PERIOD Evap ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_
20221005.AD\PE00G002.PLT 40
   PLOTFILE PERIOD FreeExh ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_
20221005.AD\PE00G003.PLT 41

59

Item D - 641 of 1893



   PLOTFILE PERIOD OnOffExh ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_
20221005.AD\PE00G004.PLT 42
   PLOTFILE PERIOD FreeEvap ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_
20221005.AD\PE00G005.PLT 43
   PLOTFILE PERIOD OnOffEva ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-TOG_
20221005.AD\PE00G006.PLT 44
   SUMMFILE Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-TOG_20221005.sum
OU FINISHED

  *** Message Summary For AERMOD Model Setup ***

  --------- Summary of Total Messages --------
  
A Total of            0 Fatal Error Message(s)
A Total of            2 Warning Message(s)
A Total of            0 Informational Message(s)
  
  
    ******** FATAL ERROR MESSAGES ******** 
               ***  NONE  ***         
  
  
    ********   WARNING MESSAGES   ******** 
ME W186    2290       MEOPEN: THRESH_1MIN 1-min ASOS wind speed 
threshold used           0.50
ME W187    2290       MEOPEN: ADJ_U* Option for Stable Low Winds 
used in AERMET              

***********************************
*** SETUP Finishes Successfully ***
***********************************

60

Item D - 642 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   1
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                            ***     MODEL SETUP 
OPTIONS SUMMARY       ***
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

**Model Is Setup For Calculation of Average CONCentration 
Values.
  
   --  DEPOSITION LOGIC  --
**NO GAS DEPOSITION Data Provided.
**NO PARTICLE DEPOSITION Data Provided.
**Model Uses NO DRY DEPLETION.  DRYDPLT  =  F
**Model Uses NO WET DEPLETION.  WETDPLT  =  F
  
**Model Uses URBAN Dispersion Algorithm for the SBL for   132 
Source(s),
   for Total of    1 Urban Area(s):
   Urban Population =   2035210.0 ;  Urban Roughness Length =  
1.000 m
  
**Model Allows User-Specified Options:
         1. Stack-tip Downwash.
         2. Model Assumes Receptors on FLAT Terrain.
         3. Use Calms Processing Routine.
         4. Use Missing Data Processing Routine.
         5. No Exponential Decay.
         6. Urban Roughness Length of 1.0 Meter Used.
  
**Other Options Specified:
         ADJ_U*   - Use ADJ_U* option for SBL in AERMET
         CCVR_Sub - Meteorological data includes CCVR 
substitutions
         TEMP_Sub - Meteorological data includes TEMP 
substitutions
  
**Model Assumes No FLAGPOLE Receptor Heights.
  
**The User Specified a Pollutant Type of:  PM_2.5  
  
**Model Calculates  1 Short Term Average(s) of:   1-HR
     and Calculates PERIOD Averages
  
**This Run Includes:    132 Source(s);       7 Source Group(s); 

61

Item D - 643 of 1893



and    1115 Receptor(s)

                with:      0 POINT(s), including
                           0 POINTCAP(s) and      0 POINTHOR(s)
                 and:      0 VOLUME source(s)
                 and:    132 AREA type source(s)
                 and:      0 LINE source(s)
                 and:      0 RLINE/RLINEXT source(s)
                 and:      0 OPENPIT source(s)
                 and:      0 BUOYANT LINE source(s) with a total 
of     0 line(s)

  
**Model Set To Continue RUNning After the Setup Testing.

**The AERMET Input Meteorological Data Version Date:  16216
  
**Output Options Selected:
          Model Outputs Tables of PERIOD Averages by Receptor
          Model Outputs Tables of Highest Short Term Values by 
Receptor (RECTABLE Keyword)
          Model Outputs External File(s) of High Values for 
Plotting (PLOTFILE Keyword)
          Model Outputs Separate Summary File of High Ranked 
Values (SUMMFILE Keyword)
  
**NOTE:  The Following Flags May Appear Following CONC Values:  
c for Calm Hours
                                                                 
m for Missing Hours
                                                                 
b for Both Calm and Missing Hours
  
**Misc. Inputs:  Base Elev. for Pot. Temp. Profile (m MSL) =   
289.00 ;  Decay Coef. =    0.000     ;  Rot. Angle =     0.0
                  Emission Units = 
GRAMS/SEC                                ;  Emission Rate Unit 
Factor =   0.10000E+07
                  Output Units   = MICROGRAMS/M**3                         
  
**Approximate Storage Requirements of Model =      4.0 MB of 
RAM.
  
**Input Runstream File:          aermod.inp                                                                                  
**Output Print File:             aermod.out                                                                                  

**Detailed Error/Message File:   Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-TOG_
20221005.err                                                     
**File for Summary of Results:   Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-TOG_
20221005.sum                                                     

62

Item D - 644 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   2
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                                  *** AREA SOURCE 
DATA ***

               NUMBER EMISSION RATE  COORD (SW CORNER)  BASE     
RELEASE  X-DIM     Y-DIM    ORIENT.    INIT.   URBAN  EMISSION 
RATE
   SOURCE       PART.  (GRAMS/SEC       X        Y      ELEV.    
HEIGHT  OF AREA   OF AREA   OF AREA     SZ     SOURCE  SCALAR 
VARY
     ID         CATS.   /METER**2)   (METERS) (METERS) (METERS) 
(METERS) (METERS)  (METERS)   (DEG.)  (METERS)              BY
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-

A0000012         0   0.30732E-04  440650.1 3765736.5   289.0     
1.30    176.76     18.29   -179.52     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000013         0   0.30732E-04  440473.4 3765738.0   289.0     
1.30    176.76     18.29   -179.52     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000014         0   0.30732E-04  440296.6 3765739.5   289.0     
1.30    176.76     18.29   -179.52     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000015         0   0.30732E-04  440119.8 3765740.9   289.0     
1.30    152.62     18.29   -179.86     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000016         0   0.30732E-04  439967.2 3765741.3   289.0     
1.30    152.62     18.29   -179.86     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000017         0   0.30732E-04  439814.6 3765741.7   289.0     
1.30    152.62     18.29   -179.86     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000018         0   0.30732E-04  439661.9 3765742.1   289.0     
1.30    163.56     18.29   -179.87     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000019         0   0.30732E-04  439498.4 3765742.5   289.0     
1.30    163.56     18.29   -179.87     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000020         0   0.30732E-04  439334.8 3765742.8   289.0     
1.30    163.56     18.29   -179.87     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000021         0   0.30732E-04  439171.2 3765743.2   289.0     
1.30    150.13     18.29    179.63     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000022         0   0.30732E-04  439021.1 3765742.2   289.0     
1.30    150.13     18.29    179.63     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000001         0   0.30748E-04  438872.2 3765704.7   289.0     
1.30    174.70     18.29      0.36     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000002         0   0.30748E-04  439046.9 3765703.5   289.0     
1.30    174.70     18.29      0.36     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000003         0   0.30748E-04  439221.6 3765702.4   289.0     

63

Item D - 645 of 1893



1.30    174.70     18.29      0.36     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000004         0   0.30748E-04  439396.3 3765701.3   289.0     
1.30    174.70     18.29      0.36     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000005         0   0.30748E-04  439571.0 3765700.2   289.0     
1.30    173.93     18.29      0.19     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000006         0   0.30748E-04  439744.9 3765699.6   289.0     
1.30    172.78     18.29      0.07     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000007         0   0.30748E-04  439917.7 3765699.4   289.0     
1.30    172.78     18.29      0.07     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000008         0   0.30748E-04  440090.5 3765699.2   289.0     
1.30    157.42     18.29      0.00     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000009         0   0.30748E-04  440247.9 3765699.2   289.0     
1.30    157.42     18.29      0.00     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000010         0   0.30748E-04  440405.4 3765699.2   289.0     
1.30    122.75     18.29     -0.64     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000011         0   0.30748E-04  440528.2 3765700.6   289.0     
1.30    122.75     18.29     -0.64     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000023         0   0.53118E-03  439894.8 3765794.0   289.0     
1.30     32.80      3.96    171.48     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000024         0   0.53118E-03  439862.4 3765789.1   289.0     
1.30     32.80      3.96    171.48     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000025         0   0.53118E-03  439830.0 3765784.3   289.0     
1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000026         0   0.53118E-03  439792.0 3765778.9   289.0     
1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000027         0   0.53118E-03  439754.1 3765773.6   289.0     
1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000028         0   0.53118E-03  439716.2 3765768.2   289.0     
1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000029         0   0.53118E-03  439678.2 3765762.8   289.0     
1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000030         0   0.53118E-03  439640.3 3765757.5   289.0     
1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000031         0   0.53118E-03  439602.5 3765752.1   289.0     
1.30     23.20      3.96    175.65     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000032         0   0.53118E-03  439579.4 3765750.4   289.0     
1.30     23.20      3.96    175.65     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000033         0   0.53118E-03  439556.3 3765748.6   289.0     
1.30     39.05      3.96    178.51     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000034         0   0.53118E-03  439517.3 3765747.6   289.0     
1.30     39.05      3.96    178.51     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000035         0   0.53118E-03  439478.2 3765746.6   289.0     
1.30     27.56      3.96    178.03     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000036         0   0.53118E-03  439450.7 3765745.6   289.0     
1.30     27.56      3.96    178.03     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000037         0   0.30079E-03  439896.1 3765649.5   289.0     
1.30     39.04      7.62   -169.43     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000038         0   0.30079E-03  439857.7 3765656.6   289.0     
1.30     39.04      7.62   -169.43     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000039         0   0.30079E-03  439819.3 3765663.8   289.0     
1.30     64.28      7.62   -169.30     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000040         0   0.30079E-03  439755.9 3765675.8   289.0     

64

Item D - 646 of 1893



1.30     46.57      7.62   -174.26     1.20     YES   HROFDY 

65

Item D - 647 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   3
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                                  *** AREA SOURCE 
DATA ***

               NUMBER EMISSION RATE  COORD (SW CORNER)  BASE     
RELEASE  X-DIM     Y-DIM    ORIENT.    INIT.   URBAN  EMISSION 
RATE
   SOURCE       PART.  (GRAMS/SEC       X        Y      ELEV.    
HEIGHT  OF AREA   OF AREA   OF AREA     SZ     SOURCE  SCALAR 
VARY
     ID         CATS.   /METER**2)   (METERS) (METERS) (METERS) 
(METERS) (METERS)  (METERS)   (DEG.)  (METERS)              BY
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-

A0000041         0   0.30079E-03  439709.5 3765680.5   289.0     
1.30     46.57      7.62   -174.26     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000042         0   0.30079E-03  439663.2 3765685.1   289.0     
1.30     66.93      7.62   -174.23     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000043         0   0.30079E-03  439596.6 3765691.8   289.0     
1.30     66.93      7.62   -174.23     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000044         0   0.30079E-03  439530.0 3765698.6   289.0     
1.30     66.93      7.62   -174.23     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000045         0   0.49659E-03  439941.6 3765643.3   289.0     
1.30     26.12      3.96     -8.23     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000046         0   0.49659E-03  439967.4 3765647.1   289.0     
1.30     26.12      3.96     -8.23     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000047         0   0.49659E-03  439993.3 3765650.8   289.0     
1.30     32.84      3.96     -7.40     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000048         0   0.49659E-03  440025.8 3765655.0   289.0     
1.30     32.84      3.96     -7.40     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000049         0   0.49659E-03  440058.4 3765659.3   289.0     
1.30     32.84      3.96     -7.40     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000050         0   0.49659E-03  440091.0 3765663.5   289.0     
1.30     32.84      3.96     -7.40     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000051         0   0.49659E-03  440123.5 3765667.7   289.0     
1.30     32.84      3.96     -7.40     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000052         0   0.49659E-03  440156.1 3765672.0   289.0     
1.30     37.89      3.96     -7.15     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000053         0   0.49659E-03  440193.7 3765676.7   289.0     
1.30     37.89      3.96     -7.15     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000054         0   0.49659E-03  440231.3 3765681.4   289.0     

66

Item D - 648 of 1893



1.30     37.89      3.96     -7.15     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000055         0   0.49659E-03  440268.7 3765686.1   289.0     
1.30     26.94      3.96     -3.79     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000056         0   0.49659E-03  440295.6 3765687.9   289.0     
1.30     26.94      3.96     -3.79     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000057         0   0.49659E-03  440322.4 3765689.7   289.0     
1.30     32.28      3.96     -1.87     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000058         0   0.49659E-03  440354.7 3765690.7   289.0     
1.30     30.65      3.96     -1.70     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000059         0   0.49659E-03  440385.3 3765691.6   289.0     
1.30     30.65      3.96     -1.70     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000060         0   0.49659E-03  440416.0 3765692.5   289.0     
1.30     30.65      3.96     -1.70     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000061         0   0.18975E-03  440393.2 3765744.6   289.0     
1.30     82.20     11.58   -174.12     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000062         0   0.18975E-03  440311.4 3765753.0   289.0     
1.30     86.40     11.58   -174.17     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000063         0   0.18975E-03  440225.4 3765761.8   289.0     
1.30     87.63     11.58   -175.26     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000064         0   0.18975E-03  440138.2 3765769.0   289.0     
1.30     35.21     11.58   -173.24     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000065         0   0.18975E-03  440103.5 3765773.1   289.0     
1.30     81.78     11.58   -171.16     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000066         0   0.18975E-03  440022.7 3765785.7   289.0     
1.30     81.78     11.58   -171.16     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000067         0   0.30732E-04  440650.1 3765736.5   289.0     
1.30    176.76     18.29   -179.52     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000068         0   0.30732E-04  440473.4 3765738.0   289.0     
1.30    176.76     18.29   -179.52     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000069         0   0.30732E-04  440296.6 3765739.5   289.0     
1.30    176.76     18.29   -179.52     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000070         0   0.30732E-04  440119.8 3765740.9   289.0     
1.30    152.62     18.29   -179.86     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000071         0   0.30732E-04  439967.2 3765741.3   289.0     
1.30    152.62     18.29   -179.86     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000072         0   0.30732E-04  439814.6 3765741.7   289.0     
1.30    152.62     18.29   -179.86     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000073         0   0.30732E-04  439661.9 3765742.1   289.0     
1.30    163.56     18.29   -179.87     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000074         0   0.30732E-04  439498.4 3765742.5   289.0     
1.30    163.56     18.29   -179.87     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000075         0   0.30732E-04  439334.8 3765742.8   289.0     
1.30    163.56     18.29   -179.87     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000076         0   0.30732E-04  439171.2 3765743.2   289.0     
1.30    150.14     18.29    179.63     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000077         0   0.30732E-04  439021.1 3765742.2   289.0     
1.30    150.14     18.29    179.63     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000078         0   0.30740E-04  438872.2 3765704.7   289.0     
1.30    174.70     18.29      0.37     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000079         0   0.30740E-04  439046.9 3765703.5   289.0     
1.30    174.70     18.29      0.37     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000080         0   0.30740E-04  439221.6 3765702.4   289.0     

67

Item D - 649 of 1893



1.30    174.70     18.29      0.37     1.20     YES   HROFDY 

68

Item D - 650 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   4
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                                  *** AREA SOURCE 
DATA ***

               NUMBER EMISSION RATE  COORD (SW CORNER)  BASE     
RELEASE  X-DIM     Y-DIM    ORIENT.    INIT.   URBAN  EMISSION 
RATE
   SOURCE       PART.  (GRAMS/SEC       X        Y      ELEV.    
HEIGHT  OF AREA   OF AREA   OF AREA     SZ     SOURCE  SCALAR 
VARY
     ID         CATS.   /METER**2)   (METERS) (METERS) (METERS) 
(METERS) (METERS)  (METERS)   (DEG.)  (METERS)              BY
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-

A0000081         0   0.30740E-04  439396.3 3765701.3   289.0     
1.30    174.70     18.29      0.37     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000082         0   0.30740E-04  439571.0 3765700.2   289.0     
1.30    173.92     18.29      0.18     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000083         0   0.30740E-04  439744.9 3765699.6   289.0     
1.30    172.78     18.29      0.07     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000084         0   0.30740E-04  439917.7 3765699.4   289.0     
1.30    172.78     18.29      0.07     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000085         0   0.30740E-04  440090.5 3765699.2   289.0     
1.30    157.43     18.29      0.00     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000086         0   0.30740E-04  440247.9 3765699.2   289.0     
1.30    157.43     18.29      0.00     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000087         0   0.30740E-04  440405.5 3765699.2   289.0     
1.30    122.75     18.29     -0.64     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000088         0   0.30740E-04  440528.2 3765700.6   289.0     
1.30    122.75     18.29     -0.64     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000089         0   0.53150E-03  439894.8 3765794.0   289.0     
1.30     32.80      3.96    171.47     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000090         0   0.53150E-03  439862.4 3765789.1   289.0     
1.30     32.80      3.96    171.47     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000091         0   0.53150E-03  439830.0 3765784.3   289.0     
1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000092         0   0.53150E-03  439792.0 3765778.9   289.0     
1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000093         0   0.53150E-03  439754.1 3765773.6   289.0     
1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000094         0   0.53150E-03  439716.2 3765768.2   289.0     

69

Item D - 651 of 1893



1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000095         0   0.53150E-03  439678.2 3765762.8   289.0     
1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000096         0   0.53150E-03  439640.3 3765757.5   289.0     
1.30     38.31      3.96    171.96     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000097         0   0.53150E-03  439602.5 3765752.1   289.0     
1.30     23.20      3.96    175.64     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000098         0   0.53150E-03  439579.4 3765750.4   289.0     
1.30     23.20      3.96    175.64     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000099         0   0.53150E-03  439556.3 3765748.6   289.0     
1.30     39.06      3.96    178.51     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000100         0   0.53150E-03  439517.3 3765747.6   289.0     
1.30     39.06      3.96    178.51     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000101         0   0.53150E-03  439478.2 3765746.6   289.0     
1.30     27.56      3.96    178.02     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000102         0   0.53150E-03  439450.7 3765745.6   289.0     
1.30     27.56      3.96    178.02     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000103         0   0.30079E-03  439896.1 3765649.5   289.0     
1.30     39.04      7.62   -169.42     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000104         0   0.30079E-03  439857.7 3765656.6   289.0     
1.30     39.04      7.62   -169.42     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000105         0   0.30079E-03  439819.3 3765663.8   289.0     
1.30     64.29      7.62   -169.31     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000106         0   0.30079E-03  439755.9 3765675.8   289.0     
1.30     46.56      7.62   -174.26     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000107         0   0.30079E-03  439709.5 3765680.5   289.0     
1.30     46.56      7.62   -174.26     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000108         0   0.30079E-03  439663.2 3765685.1   289.0     
1.30     66.94      7.62   -174.23     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000109         0   0.30079E-03  439596.6 3765691.8   289.0     
1.30     66.94      7.62   -174.23     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000110         0   0.30079E-03  439530.0 3765698.6   289.0     
1.30     66.94      7.62   -174.23     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000111         0   0.49690E-03  439941.6 3765643.3   289.0     
1.30     26.12      3.96     -8.23     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000112         0   0.49690E-03  439967.4 3765647.1   289.0     
1.30     26.12      3.96     -8.23     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000113         0   0.49690E-03  439993.3 3765650.8   289.0     
1.30     32.84      3.96     -7.41     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000114         0   0.49690E-03  440025.8 3765655.0   289.0     
1.30     32.84      3.96     -7.41     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000115         0   0.49690E-03  440058.4 3765659.3   289.0     
1.30     32.84      3.96     -7.41     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000116         0   0.49690E-03  440091.0 3765663.5   289.0     
1.30     32.84      3.96     -7.41     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000117         0   0.49690E-03  440123.5 3765667.7   289.0     
1.30     32.84      3.96     -7.41     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000118         0   0.49690E-03  440156.1 3765672.0   289.0     
1.30     37.89      3.96     -7.15     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000119         0   0.49690E-03  440193.7 3765676.7   289.0     
1.30     37.89      3.96     -7.15     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000120         0   0.49690E-03  440231.3 3765681.4   289.0     

70

Item D - 652 of 1893



1.30     37.89      3.96     -7.15     1.20     YES   HROFDY 

71

Item D - 653 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   5
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                                  *** AREA SOURCE 
DATA ***

               NUMBER EMISSION RATE  COORD (SW CORNER)  BASE     
RELEASE  X-DIM     Y-DIM    ORIENT.    INIT.   URBAN  EMISSION 
RATE
   SOURCE       PART.  (GRAMS/SEC       X        Y      ELEV.    
HEIGHT  OF AREA   OF AREA   OF AREA     SZ     SOURCE  SCALAR 
VARY
     ID         CATS.   /METER**2)   (METERS) (METERS) (METERS) 
(METERS) (METERS)  (METERS)   (DEG.)  (METERS)              BY
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-

A0000121         0   0.49690E-03  440268.7 3765686.1   289.0     
1.30     26.94      3.96     -3.79     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000122         0   0.49690E-03  440295.6 3765687.9   289.0     
1.30     26.94      3.96     -3.79     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000123         0   0.49690E-03  440322.4 3765689.7   289.0     
1.30     32.28      3.96     -1.88     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000124         0   0.49690E-03  440354.7 3765690.7   289.0     
1.30     30.65      3.96     -1.70     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000125         0   0.49690E-03  440385.3 3765691.6   289.0     
1.30     30.65      3.96     -1.70     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000126         0   0.49690E-03  440416.0 3765692.5   289.0     
1.30     30.65      3.96     -1.70     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000127         0   0.18979E-03  440393.2 3765744.6   289.0     
1.30     82.20     11.58   -174.12     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000128         0   0.18979E-03  440311.4 3765753.0   289.0     
1.30     86.41     11.58   -174.17     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000129         0   0.18979E-03  440225.4 3765761.8   289.0     
1.30     87.64     11.58   -175.26     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000130         0   0.18979E-03  440138.2 3765769.0   289.0     
1.30     35.20     11.58   -173.25     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000131         0   0.18979E-03  440103.5 3765773.1   289.0     
1.30     81.78     11.58   -171.16     1.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000132         0   0.18979E-03  440022.7 3765785.7   289.0     
1.30     81.78     11.58   -171.16     1.20     YES   HROFDY 

72

Item D - 654 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   6
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                           *** SOURCE IDs 
DEFINING SOURCE GROUPS ***

SRCGROUP ID                                              SOURCE 
IDs
-----------                                              -------
---

  EXH        A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , 
A0000015    , A0000016    , A0000017    , A0000018    , 
A0000019    ,

             A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , 
A0000001    , A0000002    , A0000003    , A0000004    , 
A0000005    ,

             A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , 
A0000009    , A0000010    , A0000011    , A0000023    , 
A0000024    ,

             A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , A0000031    , 
A0000032    ,

             A0000033    , A0000034    , A0000035    , 
A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , A0000039    , 
A0000040    ,

             A0000041    , A0000042    , A0000043    , 
A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , A0000047    , 
A0000048    ,

             A0000049    , A0000050    , A0000051    , 
A0000052    , A0000053    , A0000054    , A0000055    , 
A0000056    ,

             A0000057    , A0000058    , A0000059    , 
A0000060    , A0000061    , A0000062    , A0000063    , 
A0000064    ,

             A0000065    , A0000066    ,

73

Item D - 655 of 1893



  EVAP       A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , 
A0000070    , A0000071    , A0000072    , A0000073    , 
A0000074    ,

             A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , 
A0000078    , A0000079    , A0000080    , A0000081    , 
A0000082    ,

             A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , 
A0000086    , A0000087    , A0000088    , A0000089    , 
A0000090    ,

             A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , A0000097    , 
A0000098    ,

             A0000099    , A0000100    , A0000101    , 
A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , A0000105    , 
A0000106    ,

             A0000107    , A0000108    , A0000109    , 
A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , A0000113    , 
A0000114    ,

             A0000115    , A0000116    , A0000117    , 
A0000118    , A0000119    , A0000120    , A0000121    , 
A0000122    ,

             A0000123    , A0000124    , A0000125    , 
A0000126    , A0000127    , A0000128    , A0000129    , 
A0000130    ,

             A0000131    , A0000132    ,

  FREEEXH    A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , 
A0000015    , A0000016    , A0000017    , A0000018    , 
A0000019    ,

             A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , 
A0000001    , A0000002    , A0000003    , A0000004    , 
A0000005    ,

74

Item D - 656 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   7
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                           *** SOURCE IDs 
DEFINING SOURCE GROUPS ***

SRCGROUP ID                                              SOURCE 
IDs
-----------                                              -------
---

             A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , 
A0000009    , A0000010    , A0000011    ,

  ONOFFEXH   A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , 
A0000026    , A0000027    , A0000028    , A0000029    , 
A0000030    ,

             A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , 
A0000034    , A0000035    , A0000036    , A0000037    , 
A0000038    ,

             A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , 
A0000042    , A0000043    , A0000044    , A0000045    , 
A0000046    ,

             A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    , A0000051    , A0000052    , A0000053    , 
A0000054    ,

             A0000055    , A0000056    , A0000057    , 
A0000058    , A0000059    , A0000060    , A0000061    , 
A0000062    ,

             A0000063    , A0000064    , A0000065    , 
A0000066    ,

  FREEEVAP   A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , 
A0000070    , A0000071    , A0000072    , A0000073    , 
A0000074    ,

             A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , 
A0000078    , A0000079    , A0000080    , A0000081    , 
A0000082    ,

75

Item D - 657 of 1893



             A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , 
A0000086    , A0000087    , A0000088    ,

  ONOFFEVA   A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , 
A0000092    , A0000093    , A0000094    , A0000095    , 
A0000096    ,

             A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , 
A0000100    , A0000101    , A0000102    , A0000103    , 
A0000104    ,

             A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , 
A0000108    , A0000109    , A0000110    , A0000111    , 
A0000112    ,

             A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    , A0000117    , A0000118    , A0000119    , 
A0000120    ,

             A0000121    , A0000122    , A0000123    , 
A0000124    , A0000125    , A0000126    , A0000127    , 
A0000128    ,

             A0000129    , A0000130    , A0000131    , 
A0000132    ,

  ALL        A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , 
A0000015    , A0000016    , A0000017    , A0000018    , 
A0000019    ,

             A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , 
A0000001    , A0000002    , A0000003    , A0000004    , 
A0000005    ,

             A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , 
A0000009    , A0000010    , A0000011    , A0000023    , 
A0000024    ,

             A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , A0000031    , 
A0000032    ,

76

Item D - 658 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   8
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                           *** SOURCE IDs 
DEFINING SOURCE GROUPS ***

SRCGROUP ID                                              SOURCE 
IDs
-----------                                              -------
---

             A0000033    , A0000034    , A0000035    , 
A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , A0000039    , 
A0000040    ,

             A0000041    , A0000042    , A0000043    , 
A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , A0000047    , 
A0000048    ,

             A0000049    , A0000050    , A0000051    , 
A0000052    , A0000053    , A0000054    , A0000055    , 
A0000056    ,

             A0000057    , A0000058    , A0000059    , 
A0000060    , A0000061    , A0000062    , A0000063    , 
A0000064    ,

             A0000065    , A0000066    , A0000067    , 
A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , A0000071    , 
A0000072    ,

             A0000073    , A0000074    , A0000075    , 
A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , A0000079    , 
A0000080    ,

             A0000081    , A0000082    , A0000083    , 
A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , A0000087    , 
A0000088    ,

             A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , 
A0000092    , A0000093    , A0000094    , A0000095    , 
A0000096    ,

             A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , 

77

Item D - 659 of 1893



A0000100    , A0000101    , A0000102    , A0000103    , 
A0000104    ,

             A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , 
A0000108    , A0000109    , A0000110    , A0000111    , 
A0000112    ,

             A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    , A0000117    , A0000118    , A0000119    , 
A0000120    ,

             A0000121    , A0000122    , A0000123    , 
A0000124    , A0000125    , A0000126    , A0000127    , 
A0000128    ,

             A0000129    , A0000130    , A0000131    , 
A0000132    ,

78

Item D - 660 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   9
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                          *** SOURCE IDs DEFINED 
AS URBAN SOURCES ***

  URBAN ID   URBAN POP                                    SOURCE 
IDs
  --------   ---------                                    -------
---

              2035210.   A0000012    , A0000013    , 
A0000014    , A0000015    , A0000016    , A0000017    , 
A0000018    ,
A0000019    ,

             A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , 
A0000001    , A0000002    , A0000003    , A0000004    , 
A0000005    ,

             A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , 
A0000009    , A0000010    , A0000011    , A0000023    , 
A0000024    ,

             A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , A0000031    , 
A0000032    ,

             A0000033    , A0000034    , A0000035    , 
A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , A0000039    , 
A0000040    ,

             A0000041    , A0000042    , A0000043    , 
A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , A0000047    , 
A0000048    ,

             A0000049    , A0000050    , A0000051    , 
A0000052    , A0000053    , A0000054    , A0000055    , 
A0000056    ,

             A0000057    , A0000058    , A0000059    , 
A0000060    , A0000061    , A0000062    , A0000063    , 
A0000064    ,

79

Item D - 661 of 1893



             A0000065    , A0000066    , A0000067    , 
A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , A0000071    , 
A0000072    ,

             A0000073    , A0000074    , A0000075    , 
A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , A0000079    , 
A0000080    ,

             A0000081    , A0000082    , A0000083    , 
A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , A0000087    , 
A0000088    ,

             A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , 
A0000092    , A0000093    , A0000094    , A0000095    , 
A0000096    ,

             A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , 
A0000100    , A0000101    , A0000102    , A0000103    , 
A0000104    ,

             A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , 
A0000108    , A0000109    , A0000110    , A0000111    , 
A0000112    ,

             A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    , A0000117    , A0000118    , A0000119    , 
A0000120    ,

             A0000121    , A0000122    , A0000123    , 
A0000124    , A0000125    , A0000126    , A0000127    , 
A0000128    ,

             A0000129    , A0000130    , A0000131    , 
A0000132    ,

80

Item D - 662 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  10
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000012     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .14400E-01      2   .19900E-01      3   .20300E-01      
4   .31200E-01      5   .64700E-01      6   .74900E-01
       7   .84300E-01      8   .91500E-01      9   .90100E-01     
10   .88900E-01     11   .90000E-01     12   .92300E-01
      13   .94300E-01     14   .96400E-01     15   .99800E-01     
16   .10200E+00     17   .10300E+00     18   .10000E+00
      19   .88600E-01     20   .72900E-01     21   .62600E-01     
22   .59300E-01     23   .49100E-01     24   .36100E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000013     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .14400E-01      2   .19900E-01      3   .20300E-01      
4   .31200E-01      5   .64700E-01      6   .74900E-01
       7   .84300E-01      8   .91500E-01      9   .90100E-01     
10   .88900E-01     11   .90000E-01     12   .92300E-01
      13   .94300E-01     14   .96400E-01     15   .99800E-01     
16   .10200E+00     17   .10300E+00     18   .10000E+00
      19   .88600E-01     20   .72900E-01     21   .62600E-01     
22   .59300E-01     23   .49100E-01     24   .36100E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000014     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .14400E-01      2   .19900E-01      3   .20300E-01      
4   .31200E-01      5   .64700E-01      6   .74900E-01
       7   .84300E-01      8   .91500E-01      9   .90100E-01     
10   .88900E-01     11   .90000E-01     12   .92300E-01
      13   .94300E-01     14   .96400E-01     15   .99800E-01     
16   .10200E+00     17   .10300E+00     18   .10000E+00
      19   .88600E-01     20   .72900E-01     21   .62600E-01     
22   .59300E-01     23   .49100E-01     24   .36100E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000015     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

81

Item D - 663 of 1893



       1   .14400E-01      2   .19900E-01      3   .20300E-01      
4   .31200E-01      5   .64700E-01      6   .74900E-01
       7   .84300E-01      8   .91500E-01      9   .90100E-01     
10   .88900E-01     11   .90000E-01     12   .92300E-01
      13   .94300E-01     14   .96400E-01     15   .99800E-01     
16   .10200E+00     17   .10300E+00     18   .10000E+00
      19   .88600E-01     20   .72900E-01     21   .62600E-01     
22   .59300E-01     23   .49100E-01     24   .36100E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000016     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .14400E-01      2   .19900E-01      3   .20300E-01      
4   .31200E-01      5   .64700E-01      6   .74900E-01
       7   .84300E-01      8   .91500E-01      9   .90100E-01     
10   .88900E-01     11   .90000E-01     12   .92300E-01
      13   .94300E-01     14   .96400E-01     15   .99800E-01     
16   .10200E+00     17   .10300E+00     18   .10000E+00
      19   .88600E-01     20   .72900E-01     21   .62600E-01     
22   .59300E-01     23   .49100E-01     24   .36100E-01

82

Item D - 664 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  11
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000017     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .14400E-01      2   .19900E-01      3   .20300E-01      
4   .31200E-01      5   .64700E-01      6   .74900E-01
       7   .84300E-01      8   .91500E-01      9   .90100E-01     
10   .88900E-01     11   .90000E-01     12   .92300E-01
      13   .94300E-01     14   .96400E-01     15   .99800E-01     
16   .10200E+00     17   .10300E+00     18   .10000E+00
      19   .88600E-01     20   .72900E-01     21   .62600E-01     
22   .59300E-01     23   .49100E-01     24   .36100E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000018     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .14400E-01      2   .19900E-01      3   .20300E-01      
4   .31200E-01      5   .64700E-01      6   .74900E-01
       7   .84300E-01      8   .91500E-01      9   .90100E-01     
10   .88900E-01     11   .90000E-01     12   .92300E-01
      13   .94300E-01     14   .96400E-01     15   .99800E-01     
16   .10200E+00     17   .10300E+00     18   .10000E+00
      19   .88600E-01     20   .72900E-01     21   .62600E-01     
22   .59300E-01     23   .49100E-01     24   .36100E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000019     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .14400E-01      2   .19900E-01      3   .20300E-01      
4   .31200E-01      5   .64700E-01      6   .74900E-01
       7   .84300E-01      8   .91500E-01      9   .90100E-01     
10   .88900E-01     11   .90000E-01     12   .92300E-01
      13   .94300E-01     14   .96400E-01     15   .99800E-01     
16   .10200E+00     17   .10300E+00     18   .10000E+00
      19   .88600E-01     20   .72900E-01     21   .62600E-01     
22   .59300E-01     23   .49100E-01     24   .36100E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000020     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

83

Item D - 665 of 1893



       1   .14400E-01      2   .19900E-01      3   .20300E-01      
4   .31200E-01      5   .64700E-01      6   .74900E-01
       7   .84300E-01      8   .91500E-01      9   .90100E-01     
10   .88900E-01     11   .90000E-01     12   .92300E-01
      13   .94300E-01     14   .96400E-01     15   .99800E-01     
16   .10200E+00     17   .10300E+00     18   .10000E+00
      19   .88600E-01     20   .72900E-01     21   .62600E-01     
22   .59300E-01     23   .49100E-01     24   .36100E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000021     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .14400E-01      2   .19900E-01      3   .20300E-01      
4   .31200E-01      5   .64700E-01      6   .74900E-01
       7   .84300E-01      8   .91500E-01      9   .90100E-01     
10   .88900E-01     11   .90000E-01     12   .92300E-01
      13   .94300E-01     14   .96400E-01     15   .99800E-01     
16   .10200E+00     17   .10300E+00     18   .10000E+00
      19   .88600E-01     20   .72900E-01     21   .62600E-01     
22   .59300E-01     23   .49100E-01     24   .36100E-01

84

Item D - 666 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  12
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000022     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .14400E-01      2   .19900E-01      3   .20300E-01      
4   .31200E-01      5   .64700E-01      6   .74900E-01
       7   .84300E-01      8   .91500E-01      9   .90100E-01     
10   .88900E-01     11   .90000E-01     12   .92300E-01
      13   .94300E-01     14   .96400E-01     15   .99800E-01     
16   .10200E+00     17   .10300E+00     18   .10000E+00
      19   .88600E-01     20   .72900E-01     21   .62600E-01     
22   .59300E-01     23   .49100E-01     24   .36100E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000001     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000002     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000003     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

85

Item D - 667 of 1893



       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000004     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

86

Item D - 668 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  13
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000005     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000006     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000007     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000008     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

87

Item D - 669 of 1893



       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000009     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

88

Item D - 670 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  14
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000010     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000011     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000023     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000024     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

89

Item D - 671 of 1893



       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000025     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

90

Item D - 672 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  15
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000026     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000027     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000028     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000029     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

91

Item D - 673 of 1893



       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000030     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

92

Item D - 674 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  16
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000031     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000032     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000033     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000034     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

93

Item D - 675 of 1893



       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000035     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

94

Item D - 676 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  17
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000036     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .25100E-02      2   .19700E-02      3   .20100E-02      
4   .30900E-02      5   .64200E-02      6   .75800E-02
       7   .85400E-02      8   .91100E-02      9   .89600E-02     
10   .88400E-02     11   .89600E-02     12   .91800E-02
      13   .93800E-02     14   .95900E-02     15   .99300E-02     
16   .10100E-01     17   .10200E-01     18   .10100E-01
      19   .89700E-02     20   .72400E-02     21   .63400E-02     
22   .58900E-02     23   .48700E-02     24   .35800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000037     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .26100E-02      2   .18800E-02      3   .16500E-02      
4   .19200E-02      5   .30900E-02      6   .51800E-02
       7   .72700E-02      8   .81100E-02      9   .78000E-02     
10   .73400E-02     11   .74500E-02     12   .77900E-02
      13   .82200E-02     14   .85700E-02     15   .88500E-02     
16   .86800E-02     17   .85200E-02     18   .84900E-02
      19   .83700E-02     20   .77500E-02     21   .70300E-02     
22   .62100E-02     23   .50800E-02     24   .37800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000038     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .26100E-02      2   .18800E-02      3   .16500E-02      
4   .19200E-02      5   .30900E-02      6   .51800E-02
       7   .72700E-02      8   .81100E-02      9   .78000E-02     
10   .73400E-02     11   .74500E-02     12   .77900E-02
      13   .82200E-02     14   .85700E-02     15   .88500E-02     
16   .86800E-02     17   .85200E-02     18   .84900E-02
      19   .83700E-02     20   .77500E-02     21   .70300E-02     
22   .62100E-02     23   .50800E-02     24   .37800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000039     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

95

Item D - 677 of 1893



       1   .26100E-02      2   .18800E-02      3   .16500E-02      
4   .19200E-02      5   .30900E-02      6   .51800E-02
       7   .72700E-02      8   .81100E-02      9   .78000E-02     
10   .73400E-02     11   .74500E-02     12   .77900E-02
      13   .82200E-02     14   .85700E-02     15   .88500E-02     
16   .86800E-02     17   .85200E-02     18   .84900E-02
      19   .83700E-02     20   .77500E-02     21   .70300E-02     
22   .62100E-02     23   .50800E-02     24   .37800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000040     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .26100E-02      2   .18800E-02      3   .16500E-02      
4   .19200E-02      5   .30900E-02      6   .51800E-02
       7   .72700E-02      8   .81100E-02      9   .78000E-02     
10   .73400E-02     11   .74500E-02     12   .77900E-02
      13   .82200E-02     14   .85700E-02     15   .88500E-02     
16   .86800E-02     17   .85200E-02     18   .84900E-02
      19   .83700E-02     20   .77500E-02     21   .70300E-02     
22   .62100E-02     23   .50800E-02     24   .37800E-02

96

Item D - 678 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  18
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000041     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .26100E-02      2   .18800E-02      3   .16500E-02      
4   .19200E-02      5   .30900E-02      6   .51800E-02
       7   .72700E-02      8   .81100E-02      9   .78000E-02     
10   .73400E-02     11   .74500E-02     12   .77900E-02
      13   .82200E-02     14   .85700E-02     15   .88500E-02     
16   .86800E-02     17   .85200E-02     18   .84900E-02
      19   .83700E-02     20   .77500E-02     21   .70300E-02     
22   .62100E-02     23   .50800E-02     24   .37800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000042     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .26100E-02      2   .18800E-02      3   .16500E-02      
4   .19200E-02      5   .30900E-02      6   .51800E-02
       7   .72700E-02      8   .81100E-02      9   .78000E-02     
10   .73400E-02     11   .74500E-02     12   .77900E-02
      13   .82200E-02     14   .85700E-02     15   .88500E-02     
16   .86800E-02     17   .85200E-02     18   .84900E-02
      19   .83700E-02     20   .77500E-02     21   .70300E-02     
22   .62100E-02     23   .50800E-02     24   .37800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000043     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .26100E-02      2   .18800E-02      3   .16500E-02      
4   .19200E-02      5   .30900E-02      6   .51800E-02
       7   .72700E-02      8   .81100E-02      9   .78000E-02     
10   .73400E-02     11   .74500E-02     12   .77900E-02
      13   .82200E-02     14   .85700E-02     15   .88500E-02     
16   .86800E-02     17   .85200E-02     18   .84900E-02
      19   .83700E-02     20   .77500E-02     21   .70300E-02     
22   .62100E-02     23   .50800E-02     24   .37800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000044     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

97

Item D - 679 of 1893



       1   .26100E-02      2   .18800E-02      3   .16500E-02      
4   .19200E-02      5   .30900E-02      6   .51800E-02
       7   .72700E-02      8   .81100E-02      9   .78000E-02     
10   .73400E-02     11   .74500E-02     12   .77900E-02
      13   .82200E-02     14   .85700E-02     15   .88500E-02     
16   .86800E-02     17   .85200E-02     18   .84900E-02
      19   .83700E-02     20   .77500E-02     21   .70300E-02     
22   .62100E-02     23   .50800E-02     24   .37800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000045     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

98

Item D - 680 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  19
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000046     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000047     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000048     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000049     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

99

Item D - 681 of 1893



       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000050     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

100

Item D - 682 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  20
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000051     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000052     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000053     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000054     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

101

Item D - 683 of 1893



       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000055     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

102

Item D - 684 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  21
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000056     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000057     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000058     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000059     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

103

Item D - 685 of 1893



       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000060     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40100E-02      2   .28800E-02      3   .25300E-02      
4   .29400E-02      5   .47400E-02      6   .79400E-02
       7   .11100E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12000E-01     
10   .11300E-01     11   .11400E-01     12   .11900E-01
      13   .12600E-01     14   .13100E-01     15   .13600E-01     
16   .13300E-01     17   .13100E-01     18   .13000E-01
      19   .12800E-01     20   .11900E-01     21   .10800E-01     
22   .95100E-02     23   .77900E-02     24   .58000E-02

104

Item D - 686 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  22
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000061     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40200E-03      2   .31600E-03      3   .32200E-03      
4   .49500E-03      5   .10300E-02      6   .12100E-02
       7   .13700E-02      8   .14600E-02      9   .14400E-02     
10   .14200E-02     11   .14300E-02     12   .14700E-02
      13   .15000E-02     14   .15400E-02     15   .15900E-02     
16   .16200E-02     17   .16400E-02     18   .16200E-02
      19   .14400E-02     20   .11600E-02     21   .10200E-02     
22   .94200E-03     23   .78100E-03     24   .57400E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000062     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40200E-03      2   .31600E-03      3   .32200E-03      
4   .49500E-03      5   .10300E-02      6   .12100E-02
       7   .13700E-02      8   .14600E-02      9   .14400E-02     
10   .14200E-02     11   .14300E-02     12   .14700E-02
      13   .15000E-02     14   .15400E-02     15   .15900E-02     
16   .16200E-02     17   .16400E-02     18   .16200E-02
      19   .14400E-02     20   .11600E-02     21   .10200E-02     
22   .94200E-03     23   .78100E-03     24   .57400E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000063     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40200E-03      2   .31600E-03      3   .32200E-03      
4   .49500E-03      5   .10300E-02      6   .12100E-02
       7   .13700E-02      8   .14600E-02      9   .14400E-02     
10   .14200E-02     11   .14300E-02     12   .14700E-02
      13   .15000E-02     14   .15400E-02     15   .15900E-02     
16   .16200E-02     17   .16400E-02     18   .16200E-02
      19   .14400E-02     20   .11600E-02     21   .10200E-02     
22   .94200E-03     23   .78100E-03     24   .57400E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000064     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

105

Item D - 687 of 1893



       1   .40200E-03      2   .31600E-03      3   .32200E-03      
4   .49500E-03      5   .10300E-02      6   .12100E-02
       7   .13700E-02      8   .14600E-02      9   .14400E-02     
10   .14200E-02     11   .14300E-02     12   .14700E-02
      13   .15000E-02     14   .15400E-02     15   .15900E-02     
16   .16200E-02     17   .16400E-02     18   .16200E-02
      19   .14400E-02     20   .11600E-02     21   .10200E-02     
22   .94200E-03     23   .78100E-03     24   .57400E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000065     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40200E-03      2   .31600E-03      3   .32200E-03      
4   .49500E-03      5   .10300E-02      6   .12100E-02
       7   .13700E-02      8   .14600E-02      9   .14400E-02     
10   .14200E-02     11   .14300E-02     12   .14700E-02
      13   .15000E-02     14   .15400E-02     15   .15900E-02     
16   .16200E-02     17   .16400E-02     18   .16200E-02
      19   .14400E-02     20   .11600E-02     21   .10200E-02     
22   .94200E-03     23   .78100E-03     24   .57400E-03

106

Item D - 688 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  23
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000066     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .40200E-03      2   .31600E-03      3   .32200E-03      
4   .49500E-03      5   .10300E-02      6   .12100E-02
       7   .13700E-02      8   .14600E-02      9   .14400E-02     
10   .14200E-02     11   .14300E-02     12   .14700E-02
      13   .15000E-02     14   .15400E-02     15   .15900E-02     
16   .16200E-02     17   .16400E-02     18   .16200E-02
      19   .14400E-02     20   .11600E-02     21   .10200E-02     
22   .94200E-03     23   .78100E-03     24   .57400E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000067     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .10900E-01      2   .85500E-02      3   .87100E-02      
4   .13400E-01      5   .27800E-01      6   .35600E-01
       7   .40100E-01      8   .46700E-01      9   .45900E-01     
10   .45300E-01     11   .45900E-01     12   .47000E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .49100E-01     15   .50900E-01     
16   .51900E-01     17   .52400E-01     18   .47600E-01
      19   .42100E-01     20   .31400E-01     21   .29800E-01     
22   .25500E-01     23   .21100E-01     24   .15500E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000068     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .10900E-01      2   .85500E-02      3   .87100E-02      
4   .13400E-01      5   .27800E-01      6   .35600E-01
       7   .40100E-01      8   .46700E-01      9   .45900E-01     
10   .45300E-01     11   .45900E-01     12   .47000E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .49100E-01     15   .50900E-01     
16   .51900E-01     17   .52400E-01     18   .47600E-01
      19   .42100E-01     20   .31400E-01     21   .29800E-01     
22   .25500E-01     23   .21100E-01     24   .15500E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000069     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

107

Item D - 689 of 1893



       1   .10900E-01      2   .85500E-02      3   .87100E-02      
4   .13400E-01      5   .27800E-01      6   .35600E-01
       7   .40100E-01      8   .46700E-01      9   .45900E-01     
10   .45300E-01     11   .45900E-01     12   .47000E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .49100E-01     15   .50900E-01     
16   .51900E-01     17   .52400E-01     18   .47600E-01
      19   .42100E-01     20   .31400E-01     21   .29800E-01     
22   .25500E-01     23   .21100E-01     24   .15500E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000070     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .10900E-01      2   .85500E-02      3   .87100E-02      
4   .13400E-01      5   .27800E-01      6   .35600E-01
       7   .40100E-01      8   .46700E-01      9   .45900E-01     
10   .45300E-01     11   .45900E-01     12   .47000E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .49100E-01     15   .50900E-01     
16   .51900E-01     17   .52400E-01     18   .47600E-01
      19   .42100E-01     20   .31400E-01     21   .29800E-01     
22   .25500E-01     23   .21100E-01     24   .15500E-01

108

Item D - 690 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  24
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000071     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .10900E-01      2   .85500E-02      3   .87100E-02      
4   .13400E-01      5   .27800E-01      6   .35600E-01
       7   .40100E-01      8   .46700E-01      9   .45900E-01     
10   .45300E-01     11   .45900E-01     12   .47000E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .49100E-01     15   .50900E-01     
16   .51900E-01     17   .52400E-01     18   .47600E-01
      19   .42100E-01     20   .31400E-01     21   .29800E-01     
22   .25500E-01     23   .21100E-01     24   .15500E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000072     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .10900E-01      2   .85500E-02      3   .87100E-02      
4   .13400E-01      5   .27800E-01      6   .35600E-01
       7   .40100E-01      8   .46700E-01      9   .45900E-01     
10   .45300E-01     11   .45900E-01     12   .47000E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .49100E-01     15   .50900E-01     
16   .51900E-01     17   .52400E-01     18   .47600E-01
      19   .42100E-01     20   .31400E-01     21   .29800E-01     
22   .25500E-01     23   .21100E-01     24   .15500E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000073     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .10900E-01      2   .85500E-02      3   .87100E-02      
4   .13400E-01      5   .27800E-01      6   .35600E-01
       7   .40100E-01      8   .46700E-01      9   .45900E-01     
10   .45300E-01     11   .45900E-01     12   .47000E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .49100E-01     15   .50900E-01     
16   .51900E-01     17   .52400E-01     18   .47600E-01
      19   .42100E-01     20   .31400E-01     21   .29800E-01     
22   .25500E-01     23   .21100E-01     24   .15500E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000074     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

109

Item D - 691 of 1893



       1   .10900E-01      2   .85500E-02      3   .87100E-02      
4   .13400E-01      5   .27800E-01      6   .35600E-01
       7   .40100E-01      8   .46700E-01      9   .45900E-01     
10   .45300E-01     11   .45900E-01     12   .47000E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .49100E-01     15   .50900E-01     
16   .51900E-01     17   .52400E-01     18   .47600E-01
      19   .42100E-01     20   .31400E-01     21   .29800E-01     
22   .25500E-01     23   .21100E-01     24   .15500E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000075     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .10900E-01      2   .85500E-02      3   .87100E-02      
4   .13400E-01      5   .27800E-01      6   .35600E-01
       7   .40100E-01      8   .46700E-01      9   .45900E-01     
10   .45300E-01     11   .45900E-01     12   .47000E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .49100E-01     15   .50900E-01     
16   .51900E-01     17   .52400E-01     18   .47600E-01
      19   .42100E-01     20   .31400E-01     21   .29800E-01     
22   .25500E-01     23   .21100E-01     24   .15500E-01

110

Item D - 692 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  25
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000076     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .10900E-01      2   .85500E-02      3   .87100E-02      
4   .13400E-01      5   .27800E-01      6   .35600E-01
       7   .40100E-01      8   .46700E-01      9   .45900E-01     
10   .45300E-01     11   .45900E-01     12   .47000E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .49100E-01     15   .50900E-01     
16   .51900E-01     17   .52400E-01     18   .47600E-01
      19   .42100E-01     20   .31400E-01     21   .29800E-01     
22   .25500E-01     23   .21100E-01     24   .15500E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000077     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .10900E-01      2   .85500E-02      3   .87100E-02      
4   .13400E-01      5   .27800E-01      6   .35600E-01
       7   .40100E-01      8   .46700E-01      9   .45900E-01     
10   .45300E-01     11   .45900E-01     12   .47000E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .49100E-01     15   .50900E-01     
16   .51900E-01     17   .52400E-01     18   .47600E-01
      19   .42100E-01     20   .31400E-01     21   .29800E-01     
22   .25500E-01     23   .21100E-01     24   .15500E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000078     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .13000E-01      2   .93200E-02      3   .81700E-02      
4   .95100E-02      5   .15300E-01      6   .25700E-01
       7   .39000E-01      8   .47500E-01      9   .45600E-01     
10   .43000E-01     11   .43600E-01     12   .45600E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .50200E-01     15   .57000E-01     
16   .55900E-01     17   .61000E-01     18   .60800E-01
      19   .49000E-01     20   .41600E-01     21   .37700E-01     
22   .30700E-01     23   .25200E-01     24   .18700E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000079     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

111

Item D - 693 of 1893



       1   .13000E-01      2   .93200E-02      3   .81700E-02      
4   .95100E-02      5   .15300E-01      6   .25700E-01
       7   .39000E-01      8   .47500E-01      9   .45600E-01     
10   .43000E-01     11   .43600E-01     12   .45600E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .50200E-01     15   .57000E-01     
16   .55900E-01     17   .61000E-01     18   .60800E-01
      19   .49000E-01     20   .41600E-01     21   .37700E-01     
22   .30700E-01     23   .25200E-01     24   .18700E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000080     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .13000E-01      2   .93200E-02      3   .81700E-02      
4   .95100E-02      5   .15300E-01      6   .25700E-01
       7   .39000E-01      8   .47500E-01      9   .45600E-01     
10   .43000E-01     11   .43600E-01     12   .45600E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .50200E-01     15   .57000E-01     
16   .55900E-01     17   .61000E-01     18   .60800E-01
      19   .49000E-01     20   .41600E-01     21   .37700E-01     
22   .30700E-01     23   .25200E-01     24   .18700E-01

112

Item D - 694 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  26
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000081     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .13000E-01      2   .93200E-02      3   .81700E-02      
4   .95100E-02      5   .15300E-01      6   .25700E-01
       7   .39000E-01      8   .47500E-01      9   .45600E-01     
10   .43000E-01     11   .43600E-01     12   .45600E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .50200E-01     15   .57000E-01     
16   .55900E-01     17   .61000E-01     18   .60800E-01
      19   .49000E-01     20   .41600E-01     21   .37700E-01     
22   .30700E-01     23   .25200E-01     24   .18700E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000082     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .13000E-01      2   .93200E-02      3   .81700E-02      
4   .95100E-02      5   .15300E-01      6   .25700E-01
       7   .39000E-01      8   .47500E-01      9   .45600E-01     
10   .43000E-01     11   .43600E-01     12   .45600E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .50200E-01     15   .57000E-01     
16   .55900E-01     17   .61000E-01     18   .60800E-01
      19   .49000E-01     20   .41600E-01     21   .37700E-01     
22   .30700E-01     23   .25200E-01     24   .18700E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000083     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .13000E-01      2   .93200E-02      3   .81700E-02      
4   .95100E-02      5   .15300E-01      6   .25700E-01
       7   .39000E-01      8   .47500E-01      9   .45600E-01     
10   .43000E-01     11   .43600E-01     12   .45600E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .50200E-01     15   .57000E-01     
16   .55900E-01     17   .61000E-01     18   .60800E-01
      19   .49000E-01     20   .41600E-01     21   .37700E-01     
22   .30700E-01     23   .25200E-01     24   .18700E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000084     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

113

Item D - 695 of 1893



       1   .13000E-01      2   .93200E-02      3   .81700E-02      
4   .95100E-02      5   .15300E-01      6   .25700E-01
       7   .39000E-01      8   .47500E-01      9   .45600E-01     
10   .43000E-01     11   .43600E-01     12   .45600E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .50200E-01     15   .57000E-01     
16   .55900E-01     17   .61000E-01     18   .60800E-01
      19   .49000E-01     20   .41600E-01     21   .37700E-01     
22   .30700E-01     23   .25200E-01     24   .18700E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000085     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .13000E-01      2   .93200E-02      3   .81700E-02      
4   .95100E-02      5   .15300E-01      6   .25700E-01
       7   .39000E-01      8   .47500E-01      9   .45600E-01     
10   .43000E-01     11   .43600E-01     12   .45600E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .50200E-01     15   .57000E-01     
16   .55900E-01     17   .61000E-01     18   .60800E-01
      19   .49000E-01     20   .41600E-01     21   .37700E-01     
22   .30700E-01     23   .25200E-01     24   .18700E-01

114

Item D - 696 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  27
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000086     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .13000E-01      2   .93200E-02      3   .81700E-02      
4   .95100E-02      5   .15300E-01      6   .25700E-01
       7   .39000E-01      8   .47500E-01      9   .45600E-01     
10   .43000E-01     11   .43600E-01     12   .45600E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .50200E-01     15   .57000E-01     
16   .55900E-01     17   .61000E-01     18   .60800E-01
      19   .49000E-01     20   .41600E-01     21   .37700E-01     
22   .30700E-01     23   .25200E-01     24   .18700E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000087     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .13000E-01      2   .93200E-02      3   .81700E-02      
4   .95100E-02      5   .15300E-01      6   .25700E-01
       7   .39000E-01      8   .47500E-01      9   .45600E-01     
10   .43000E-01     11   .43600E-01     12   .45600E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .50200E-01     15   .57000E-01     
16   .55900E-01     17   .61000E-01     18   .60800E-01
      19   .49000E-01     20   .41600E-01     21   .37700E-01     
22   .30700E-01     23   .25200E-01     24   .18700E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000088     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .13000E-01      2   .93200E-02      3   .81700E-02      
4   .95100E-02      5   .15300E-01      6   .25700E-01
       7   .39000E-01      8   .47500E-01      9   .45600E-01     
10   .43000E-01     11   .43600E-01     12   .45600E-01
      13   .48100E-01     14   .50200E-01     15   .57000E-01     
16   .55900E-01     17   .61000E-01     18   .60800E-01
      19   .49000E-01     20   .41600E-01     21   .37700E-01     
22   .30700E-01     23   .25200E-01     24   .18700E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000089     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

115

Item D - 697 of 1893



       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000090     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

116

Item D - 698 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  28
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000091     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000092     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000093     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000094     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

117

Item D - 699 of 1893



       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000095     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

118

Item D - 700 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  29
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000096     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000097     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000098     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000099     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

119

Item D - 701 of 1893



       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000100     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

120

Item D - 702 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  30
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000101     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000102     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .34100E-02      2   .26800E-02      3   .27300E-02      
4   .42000E-02      5   .87200E-02      6   .11400E-02
       7   .11600E-01      8   .12400E-01      9   .12200E-01     
10   .12000E-01     11   .12200E-01     12   .12500E-01
      13   .12700E-01     14   .13000E-01     15   .13500E-01     
16   .13800E-01     17   .13900E-01     18   .13800E-01
      19   .12200E-01     20   .98300E-02     21   .86100E-02     
22   .80000E-02     23   .66200E-02     24   .48700E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000103     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .39500E-03      2   .28400E-03      3   .24900E-03      
4   .29000E-03      5   .46600E-03      6   .78200E-03
       7   .11000E-02      8   .12200E-02      9   .11800E-02     
10   .11100E-02     11   .11200E-02     12   .11800E-02
      13   .12400E-02     14   .12900E-02     15   .13400E-02     
16   .13100E-02     17   .12900E-02     18   .12800E-02
      19   .12600E-02     20   .11700E-02     21   .10600E-02     
22   .93700E-03     23   .76700E-03     24   .57100E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000104     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

121

Item D - 703 of 1893



       1   .39500E-03      2   .28400E-03      3   .24900E-03      
4   .29000E-03      5   .46600E-03      6   .78200E-03
       7   .11000E-02      8   .12200E-02      9   .11800E-02     
10   .11100E-02     11   .11200E-02     12   .11800E-02
      13   .12400E-02     14   .12900E-02     15   .13400E-02     
16   .13100E-02     17   .12900E-02     18   .12800E-02
      19   .12600E-02     20   .11700E-02     21   .10600E-02     
22   .93700E-03     23   .76700E-03     24   .57100E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000105     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .39500E-03      2   .28400E-03      3   .24900E-03      
4   .29000E-03      5   .46600E-03      6   .78200E-03
       7   .11000E-02      8   .12200E-02      9   .11800E-02     
10   .11100E-02     11   .11200E-02     12   .11800E-02
      13   .12400E-02     14   .12900E-02     15   .13400E-02     
16   .13100E-02     17   .12900E-02     18   .12800E-02
      19   .12600E-02     20   .11700E-02     21   .10600E-02     
22   .93700E-03     23   .76700E-03     24   .57100E-03

122

Item D - 704 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  31
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000106     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .39500E-03      2   .28400E-03      3   .24900E-03      
4   .29000E-03      5   .46600E-03      6   .78200E-03
       7   .11000E-02      8   .12200E-02      9   .11800E-02     
10   .11100E-02     11   .11200E-02     12   .11800E-02
      13   .12400E-02     14   .12900E-02     15   .13400E-02     
16   .13100E-02     17   .12900E-02     18   .12800E-02
      19   .12600E-02     20   .11700E-02     21   .10600E-02     
22   .93700E-03     23   .76700E-03     24   .57100E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000107     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .39500E-03      2   .28400E-03      3   .24900E-03      
4   .29000E-03      5   .46600E-03      6   .78200E-03
       7   .11000E-02      8   .12200E-02      9   .11800E-02     
10   .11100E-02     11   .11200E-02     12   .11800E-02
      13   .12400E-02     14   .12900E-02     15   .13400E-02     
16   .13100E-02     17   .12900E-02     18   .12800E-02
      19   .12600E-02     20   .11700E-02     21   .10600E-02     
22   .93700E-03     23   .76700E-03     24   .57100E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000108     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .39500E-03      2   .28400E-03      3   .24900E-03      
4   .29000E-03      5   .46600E-03      6   .78200E-03
       7   .11000E-02      8   .12200E-02      9   .11800E-02     
10   .11100E-02     11   .11200E-02     12   .11800E-02
      13   .12400E-02     14   .12900E-02     15   .13400E-02     
16   .13100E-02     17   .12900E-02     18   .12800E-02
      19   .12600E-02     20   .11700E-02     21   .10600E-02     
22   .93700E-03     23   .76700E-03     24   .57100E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000109     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

123

Item D - 705 of 1893



       1   .39500E-03      2   .28400E-03      3   .24900E-03      
4   .29000E-03      5   .46600E-03      6   .78200E-03
       7   .11000E-02      8   .12200E-02      9   .11800E-02     
10   .11100E-02     11   .11200E-02     12   .11800E-02
      13   .12400E-02     14   .12900E-02     15   .13400E-02     
16   .13100E-02     17   .12900E-02     18   .12800E-02
      19   .12600E-02     20   .11700E-02     21   .10600E-02     
22   .93700E-03     23   .76700E-03     24   .57100E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000110     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .39500E-03      2   .28400E-03      3   .24900E-03      
4   .29000E-03      5   .46600E-03      6   .78200E-03
       7   .11000E-02      8   .12200E-02      9   .11800E-02     
10   .11100E-02     11   .11200E-02     12   .11800E-02
      13   .12400E-02     14   .12900E-02     15   .13400E-02     
16   .13100E-02     17   .12900E-02     18   .12800E-02
      19   .12600E-02     20   .11700E-02     21   .10600E-02     
22   .93700E-03     23   .76700E-03     24   .57100E-03

124

Item D - 706 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  32
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000111     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000112     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000113     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000114     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

125

Item D - 707 of 1893



       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000115     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

126

Item D - 708 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  33
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000116     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000117     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000118     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000119     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

127

Item D - 709 of 1893



       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000120     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

128

Item D - 710 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  34
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000121     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000122     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000123     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000124     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

129

Item D - 711 of 1893



       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000125     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

130

Item D - 712 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  35
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000126     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .54500E-02      2   .39200E-02      3   .34300E-02      
4   .40000E-02      5   .64400E-02      6   .12000E-02
       7   .15100E-01      8   .16900E-01      9   .16200E-01     
10   .15300E-01     11   .15500E-01     12   .16200E-01
      13   .17100E-01     14   .17800E-01     15   .18400E-01     
16   .18100E-01     17   .17700E-01     18   .17700E-01
      19   .17400E-01     20   .16100E-01     21   .14600E-01     
22   .12900E-01     23   .10600E-01     24   .78800E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000127     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .48200E-03      2   .37900E-03      3   .38600E-03      
4   .59400E-03      5   .12300E-02      6   .14600E-02
       7   .16400E-02      8   .17500E-02      9   .17200E-02     
10   .17000E-02     11   .17200E-02     12   .17600E-02
      13   .18000E-02     14   .18400E-02     15   .19100E-02     
16   .19400E-02     17   .19600E-02     18   .19500E-02
      19   .17200E-02     20   .13900E-02     21   .12200E-02     
22   .11300E-02     23   .93700E-03     24   .68900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000128     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .48200E-03      2   .37900E-03      3   .38600E-03      
4   .59400E-03      5   .12300E-02      6   .14600E-02
       7   .16400E-02      8   .17500E-02      9   .17200E-02     
10   .17000E-02     11   .17200E-02     12   .17600E-02
      13   .18000E-02     14   .18400E-02     15   .19100E-02     
16   .19400E-02     17   .19600E-02     18   .19500E-02
      19   .17200E-02     20   .13900E-02     21   .12200E-02     
22   .11300E-02     23   .93700E-03     24   .68900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000129     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

131

Item D - 713 of 1893



       1   .48200E-03      2   .37900E-03      3   .38600E-03      
4   .59400E-03      5   .12300E-02      6   .14600E-02
       7   .16400E-02      8   .17500E-02      9   .17200E-02     
10   .17000E-02     11   .17200E-02     12   .17600E-02
      13   .18000E-02     14   .18400E-02     15   .19100E-02     
16   .19400E-02     17   .19600E-02     18   .19500E-02
      19   .17200E-02     20   .13900E-02     21   .12200E-02     
22   .11300E-02     23   .93700E-03     24   .68900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000130     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .48200E-03      2   .37900E-03      3   .38600E-03      
4   .59400E-03      5   .12300E-02      6   .14600E-02
       7   .16400E-02      8   .17500E-02      9   .17200E-02     
10   .17000E-02     11   .17200E-02     12   .17600E-02
      13   .18000E-02     14   .18400E-02     15   .19100E-02     
16   .19400E-02     17   .19600E-02     18   .19500E-02
      19   .17200E-02     20   .13900E-02     21   .12200E-02     
22   .11300E-02     23   .93700E-03     24   .68900E-03

132

Item D - 714 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  36
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000131     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .48200E-03      2   .37900E-03      3   .38600E-03      
4   .59400E-03      5   .12300E-02      6   .14600E-02
       7   .16400E-02      8   .17500E-02      9   .17200E-02     
10   .17000E-02     11   .17200E-02     12   .17600E-02
      13   .18000E-02     14   .18400E-02     15   .19100E-02     
16   .19400E-02     17   .19600E-02     18   .19500E-02
      19   .17200E-02     20   .13900E-02     21   .12200E-02     
22   .11300E-02     23   .93700E-03     24   .68900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000132     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .48200E-03      2   .37900E-03      3   .38600E-03      
4   .59400E-03      5   .12300E-02      6   .14600E-02
       7   .16400E-02      8   .17500E-02      9   .17200E-02     
10   .17000E-02     11   .17200E-02     12   .17600E-02
      13   .18000E-02     14   .18400E-02     15   .19100E-02     
16   .19400E-02     17   .19600E-02     18   .19500E-02
      19   .17200E-02     20   .13900E-02     21   .12200E-02     
22   .11300E-02     23   .93700E-03     24   .68900E-03

133

Item D - 715 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  37
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439674.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439764.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439864.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

134

Item D - 716 of 1893



     ( 439874.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439879.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439884.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439764.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

135

Item D - 717 of 1893



     ( 439729.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

136

Item D - 718 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  38
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439739.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439764.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439864.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439874.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439879.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439884.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

137

Item D - 719 of 1893



     ( 439719.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439754.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439754.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

138

Item D - 720 of 1893



     ( 439804.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

139

Item D - 721 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  39
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439814.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

140

Item D - 722 of 1893



     ( 439849.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

141

Item D - 723 of 1893



     ( 439749.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

142

Item D - 724 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  40
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439779.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

143

Item D - 725 of 1893



     ( 439849.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

144

Item D - 726 of 1893



     ( 439749.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

145

Item D - 727 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  41
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439779.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

146

Item D - 728 of 1893



     ( 439789.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

147

Item D - 729 of 1893



     ( 439684.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

148

Item D - 730 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  42
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439694.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439754.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439864.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439874.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439879.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439884.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

149

Item D - 731 of 1893



     ( 439799.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765385.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765385.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439754.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439834.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

150

Item D - 732 of 1893



     ( 439794.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

151

Item D - 733 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  43
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439804.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439834.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

152

Item D - 734 of 1893



     ( 439819.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439834.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439834.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

153

Item D - 735 of 1893



     ( 439729.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

154

Item D - 736 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  44
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439739.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439834.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

155

Item D - 737 of 1893



     ( 439774.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439834.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439834.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

156

Item D - 738 of 1893



     ( 439679.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

157

Item D - 739 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  45
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439689.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439834.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

158

Item D - 740 of 1893



     ( 439704.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439834.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

159

Item D - 741 of 1893



     ( 439699.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

160

Item D - 742 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  46
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439709.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

161

Item D - 743 of 1893



     ( 439844.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

162

Item D - 744 of 1893



     ( 439814.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

163

Item D - 745 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  47
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439824.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439754.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

164

Item D - 746 of 1893



     ( 439769.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439969.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439269.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439369.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439469.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439569.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439669.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439969.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440069.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440169.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440269.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439969.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439269.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439369.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439469.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439569.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439669.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439969.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440069.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440169.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440269.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439969.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439269.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439369.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

165

Item D - 747 of 1893



     ( 439469.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439569.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

166

Item D - 748 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  48
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439669.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439969.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440069.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440169.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440269.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439969.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439269.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439369.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439469.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439569.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439669.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439969.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440069.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440169.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440269.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

167

Item D - 749 of 1893



     ( 439969.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439269.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439369.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439469.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439569.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439669.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439969.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440069.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440169.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440269.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439969.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439649.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439889.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439649.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439889.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439649.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

168

Item D - 750 of 1893



     ( 439889.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439649.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

169

Item D - 751 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  49
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439679.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439889.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439649.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439889.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439649.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439889.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439649.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439889.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);                                                                     

170

Item D - 752 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  50
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                            *** METEOROLOGICAL 
DAYS SELECTED FOR PROCESSING ***
                                                               (1
=YES; 0=NO)

            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1

                NOTE:  METEOROLOGICAL DATA ACTUALLY PROCESSED 
WILL ALSO DEPEND ON WHAT IS INCLUDED IN THE DATA FILE.

                                  *** UPPER BOUND OF FIRST 
THROUGH FIFTH WIND SPEED CATEGORIES ***
                                                            
(METERS/SEC)

                                                 1.54,   3.09,   
5.14,   8.23,  10.80,

171

Item D - 753 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  51
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                    *** UP TO THE FIRST 24 HOURS 
OF METEOROLOGICAL DATA ***

   Surface file:   C:\Users\sjremote\Desktop\Ontario_PUD-Legacy
\OntarioIntlAirportADJU (1)\KONT_V9_   Met Version:  16216
   Profile file:   C:\Users\sjremote\Desktop\Ontario_PUD-Legacy
\OntarioIntlAirportADJU (1)\KONT_V9_
   Surface format: FREE                                                                                                     
   Profile format: FREE                                                                                                     
   Surface station no.:     3102                  Upper air 
station no.:     3190
                  Name: ONTARIO_APT                                
Name: UNKNOWN                                 
                  Year:   2012                                     
Year:   2012

First 24 hours of scalar data
YR MO DY JDY HR     H0     U*     W*  DT/DZ ZICNV ZIMCH  M-O LEN    
Z0  BOWEN ALBEDO  REF WS   WD     HT  REF TA     HT
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
12 01 01   1 01  -16.4  0.171 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  170.     32.3  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.03   43.    7.9  285.9    2.0
12 01 01   1 02  -18.8  0.194 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  205.     41.3  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.28   34.    7.9  285.4    2.0
12 01 01   1 03  -17.8  0.182 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  187.     36.5  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.15   24.    7.9  282.0    2.0
12 01 01   1 04   -9.4  0.128 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  110.     19.6  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.55   41.    7.9  283.1    2.0
12 01 01   1 05  -16.9  0.173 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  173.     33.0  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.05   39.    7.9  280.4    2.0
12 01 01   1 06   -8.0  0.117 -9.000 -9.000 -999.   97.     17.8  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.43   21.    7.9  282.0    2.0
12 01 01   1 07   -7.6  0.115 -9.000 -9.000 -999.   93.     17.4  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.40   31.    7.9  282.5    2.0
12 01 01   1 08  -13.6  0.184 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  190.     40.5  
0.09   1.12   0.54    2.16   34.    7.9  284.2    2.0
12 01 01   1 09   28.4  0.126  0.300  0.011   33.  108.     -6.2  
0.09   1.12   0.32    1.03   29.    7.9  289.2    2.0
12 01 01   1 10   79.8  0.133  0.607  0.010   99.  116.     -2.6  
0.09   1.12   0.25    0.94  173.    7.9  292.5    2.0
12 01 01   1 11  115.8  0.137  0.932  0.006  246.  121.     -2.0  
0.09   1.12   0.22    0.92  172.    7.9  295.4    2.0

172

Item D - 754 of 1893



12 01 01   1 12  133.7  0.139  1.197  0.005  453.  125.     -1.8  
0.09   1.12   0.21    0.92  146.    7.9  297.5    2.0
12 01 01   1 13  133.2  0.160  1.354  0.005  657.  153.     -2.7  
0.09   1.12   0.21    1.14  117.    7.9  299.9    2.0
12 01 01   1 14  113.5  0.159  1.454  0.005  955.  151.     -3.1  
0.09   1.12   0.23    1.16  285.    7.9  300.9    2.0
12 01 01   1 15   76.2  0.166  1.350  0.005 1138.  163.     -5.3  
0.09   1.12   0.26    1.33   72.    7.9  302.0    2.0
12 01 01   1 16   23.5  0.175  0.925  0.005 1183.  175.    -19.9  
0.09   1.12   0.35    1.65  107.    7.9  301.4    2.0
12 01 01   1 17   -6.1  0.107 -9.000 -9.000 -999.   86.     18.0  
0.09   1.12   0.63    1.31  107.    7.9  298.1    2.0
12 01 01   1 18  -11.1  0.141 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  127.     22.1  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.69   86.    7.9  293.1    2.0
12 01 01   1 19   -3.2  0.076 -9.000 -9.000 -999.   51.     11.8  
0.09   1.12   1.00    0.91   64.    7.9  292.0    2.0
12 01 01   1 20   -2.3  0.066 -9.000 -9.000 -999.   41.     11.2  
0.09   1.12   1.00    0.74   73.    7.9  288.8    2.0
12 01 01   1 21  -10.0  0.133 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  116.     20.5  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.60   14.    7.9  288.1    2.0
12 01 01   1 22  -19.4  0.201 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  216.     44.5  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.36   22.    7.9  287.5    2.0
12 01 01   1 23  -23.7  0.246 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  293.     66.5  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.86   40.    7.9  287.0    2.0
12 01 01   1 24  -12.3  0.147 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  139.     23.8  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.76   40.    7.9  283.8    2.0

First hour of profile data
YR MO DY HR HEIGHT F  WDIR    WSPD AMB_TMP sigmaA  sigmaW  
sigmaV
12 01 01 01    7.9 1   43.    2.03   286.0   
99.0  -99.00  -99.00

F indicates top of profile (=1) or below (=0)

173

Item D - 755 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  52
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439674.00    3765310.00        0.32467                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.32467                         
         439684.00    3765310.00        0.32466                      
439689.00    3765310.00        0.32464                         
         439694.00    3765310.00        0.32462                      
439699.00    3765310.00        0.32458                         
         439704.00    3765310.00        0.32455                      
439709.00    3765310.00        0.32450                         
         439714.00    3765310.00        0.32445                      
439719.00    3765310.00        0.32439                         
         439729.00    3765310.00        0.32425                      
439734.00    3765310.00        0.32417                         
         439739.00    3765310.00        0.32409                      
439744.00    3765310.00        0.32399                         
         439749.00    3765310.00        0.32389                      
439764.00    3765310.00        0.32355                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.32341                      
439774.00    3765310.00        0.32327                         

174

Item D - 756 of 1893



         439779.00    3765310.00        0.32313                      
439784.00    3765310.00        0.32297                         
         439789.00    3765310.00        0.32281                      
439794.00    3765310.00        0.32263                         
         439799.00    3765310.00        0.32245                      
439804.00    3765310.00        0.32226                         
         439809.00    3765310.00        0.32206                      
439814.00    3765310.00        0.32184                         
         439819.00    3765310.00        0.32162                      
439824.00    3765310.00        0.32139                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.32115                      
439839.00    3765310.00        0.32064                         
         439844.00    3765310.00        0.32036                      
439849.00    3765310.00        0.32008                         
         439854.00    3765310.00        0.31978                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.31948                         
         439864.00    3765310.00        0.31916                      
439869.00    3765310.00        0.31883                         
         439874.00    3765310.00        0.31848                      
439879.00    3765310.00        0.31813                         
         439884.00    3765310.00        0.31777                      
439674.00    3765315.00        0.32908                         
         439679.00    3765315.00        0.32908                      
439684.00    3765315.00        0.32908                         
         439689.00    3765315.00        0.32906                      
439694.00    3765315.00        0.32904                         
         439699.00    3765315.00        0.32902                      
439704.00    3765315.00        0.32898                         
         439709.00    3765315.00        0.32894                      
439714.00    3765315.00        0.32889                         
         439719.00    3765315.00        0.32884                      
439729.00    3765315.00        0.32871                         
         439734.00    3765315.00        0.32864                      
439739.00    3765315.00        0.32856                         
         439744.00    3765315.00        0.32847                      
439749.00    3765315.00        0.32837                         
         439764.00    3765315.00        0.32804                      
439769.00    3765315.00        0.32792                         
         439774.00    3765315.00        0.32778                      
439779.00    3765315.00        0.32764                         
         439784.00    3765315.00        0.32749                      
439789.00    3765315.00        0.32733                         
         439794.00    3765315.00        0.32716                      
439799.00    3765315.00        0.32699                         
         439804.00    3765315.00        0.32680                      
439809.00    3765315.00        0.32661                         
         439814.00    3765315.00        0.32640                      
439819.00    3765315.00        0.32618                         
         439824.00    3765315.00        0.32596                      
439829.00    3765315.00        0.32572                         
         439839.00    3765315.00        0.32522                      
439844.00    3765315.00        0.32495                         

175

Item D - 757 of 1893



         439849.00    3765315.00        0.32468                      
439854.00    3765315.00        0.32438                         
         439859.00    3765315.00        0.32408                      
439864.00    3765315.00        0.32377                         
         439869.00    3765315.00        0.32344                      
439874.00    3765315.00        0.32311                         
         439879.00    3765315.00        0.32276                      
439884.00    3765315.00        0.32240                         
         439674.00    3765320.00        0.33359                      
439679.00    3765320.00        0.33360                         

176

Item D - 758 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  53
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765320.00        0.33360                      
439689.00    3765320.00        0.33359                         
         439694.00    3765320.00        0.33357                      
439699.00    3765320.00        0.33355                         
         439704.00    3765320.00        0.33352                      
439709.00    3765320.00        0.33349                         
         439714.00    3765320.00        0.33345                      
439719.00    3765320.00        0.33340                         
         439729.00    3765320.00        0.33328                      
439734.00    3765320.00        0.33321                         
         439739.00    3765320.00        0.33313                      
439744.00    3765320.00        0.33305                         
         439749.00    3765320.00        0.33296                      
439764.00    3765320.00        0.33264                         
         439769.00    3765320.00        0.33253                      
439774.00    3765320.00        0.33239                         
         439779.00    3765320.00        0.33226                      
439784.00    3765320.00        0.33212                         

177

Item D - 759 of 1893



         439789.00    3765320.00        0.33196                      
439794.00    3765320.00        0.33180                         
         439799.00    3765320.00        0.33163                      
439804.00    3765320.00        0.33145                         
         439809.00    3765320.00        0.33126                      
439814.00    3765320.00        0.33106                         
         439819.00    3765320.00        0.33085                      
439824.00    3765320.00        0.33063                         
         439829.00    3765320.00        0.33040                      
439839.00    3765320.00        0.32991                         
         439844.00    3765320.00        0.32965                      
439849.00    3765320.00        0.32938                         
         439854.00    3765320.00        0.32909                      
439859.00    3765320.00        0.32879                         
         439864.00    3765320.00        0.32849                      
439869.00    3765320.00        0.32817                         
         439874.00    3765320.00        0.32784                      
439879.00    3765320.00        0.32750                         
         439884.00    3765320.00        0.32714                      
439674.00    3765325.00        0.33821                         
         439679.00    3765325.00        0.33822                      
439684.00    3765325.00        0.33822                         
         439689.00    3765325.00        0.33822                      
439694.00    3765325.00        0.33821                         
         439699.00    3765325.00        0.33819                      
439704.00    3765325.00        0.33817                         
         439709.00    3765325.00        0.33814                      
439714.00    3765325.00        0.33810                         
         439719.00    3765325.00        0.33806                      
439729.00    3765325.00        0.33795                         
         439734.00    3765325.00        0.33789                      
439739.00    3765325.00        0.33781                         
         439744.00    3765325.00        0.33774                      
439749.00    3765325.00        0.33765                         
         439754.00    3765325.00        0.33756                      
439769.00    3765325.00        0.33724                         
         439774.00    3765325.00        0.33712                      
439779.00    3765325.00        0.33699                         
         439784.00    3765325.00        0.33685                      
439789.00    3765325.00        0.33670                         
         439794.00    3765325.00        0.33655                      
439799.00    3765325.00        0.33638                         
         439804.00    3765325.00        0.33621                      
439809.00    3765325.00        0.33603                         
         439814.00    3765325.00        0.33583                      
439819.00    3765325.00        0.33563                         
         439824.00    3765325.00        0.33541                      
439829.00    3765325.00        0.33519                         
         439839.00    3765325.00        0.33472                      
439844.00    3765325.00        0.33446                         
         439849.00    3765325.00        0.33419                      
439854.00    3765325.00        0.33391                         

178

Item D - 760 of 1893



         439859.00    3765325.00        0.33362                      
439864.00    3765325.00        0.33332                         
         439869.00    3765325.00        0.33301                      
439874.00    3765325.00        0.33268                         
         439879.00    3765325.00        0.33235                      
439884.00    3765325.00        0.33199                         
         439674.00    3765330.00        0.34294                      
439679.00    3765330.00        0.34295                         
         439684.00    3765330.00        0.34296                      
439689.00    3765330.00        0.34296                         

179

Item D - 761 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  54
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439694.00    3765330.00        0.34296                      
439699.00    3765330.00        0.34294                         
         439704.00    3765330.00        0.34293                      
439709.00    3765330.00        0.34290                         
         439714.00    3765330.00        0.34287                      
439719.00    3765330.00        0.34283                         
         439729.00    3765330.00        0.34273                      
439734.00    3765330.00        0.34267                         
         439739.00    3765330.00        0.34261                      
439744.00    3765330.00        0.34253                         
         439749.00    3765330.00        0.34246                      
439754.00    3765330.00        0.34237                         
         439774.00    3765330.00        0.34195                      
439779.00    3765330.00        0.34183                         
         439784.00    3765330.00        0.34169                      
439789.00    3765330.00        0.34156                         
         439794.00    3765330.00        0.34141                      
439799.00    3765330.00        0.34124                         

180

Item D - 762 of 1893



         439804.00    3765330.00        0.34108                      
439809.00    3765330.00        0.34090                         
         439814.00    3765330.00        0.34072                      
439819.00    3765330.00        0.34052                         
         439824.00    3765330.00        0.34031                      
439829.00    3765330.00        0.34009                         
         439839.00    3765330.00        0.33963                      
439844.00    3765330.00        0.33938                         
         439849.00    3765330.00        0.33912                      
439854.00    3765330.00        0.33885                         
         439859.00    3765330.00        0.33857                      
439864.00    3765330.00        0.33827                         
         439869.00    3765330.00        0.33796                      
439874.00    3765330.00        0.33764                         
         439879.00    3765330.00        0.33731                      
439884.00    3765330.00        0.33697                         
         439674.00    3765335.00        0.34778                      
439679.00    3765335.00        0.34780                         
         439684.00    3765335.00        0.34781                      
439689.00    3765335.00        0.34783                         
         439694.00    3765335.00        0.34782                      
439699.00    3765335.00        0.34782                         
         439704.00    3765335.00        0.34780                      
439709.00    3765335.00        0.34778                         
         439714.00    3765335.00        0.34775                      
439719.00    3765335.00        0.34772                         
         439729.00    3765335.00        0.34764                      
439734.00    3765335.00        0.34758                         
         439739.00    3765335.00        0.34752                      
439744.00    3765335.00        0.34745                         
         439749.00    3765335.00        0.34738                      
439774.00    3765335.00        0.34690                         
         439779.00    3765335.00        0.34678                      
439784.00    3765335.00        0.34666                         
         439789.00    3765335.00        0.34652                      
439794.00    3765335.00        0.34638                         
         439839.00    3765335.00        0.34467                      
439844.00    3765335.00        0.34443                         
         439849.00    3765335.00        0.34417                      
439854.00    3765335.00        0.34391                         
         439859.00    3765335.00        0.34363                      
439864.00    3765335.00        0.34334                         
         439869.00    3765335.00        0.34304                      
439874.00    3765335.00        0.34273                         
         439879.00    3765335.00        0.34240                      
439884.00    3765335.00        0.34206                         
         439674.00    3765340.00        0.35274                      
439679.00    3765340.00        0.35277                         
         439684.00    3765340.00        0.35279                      
439689.00    3765340.00        0.35280                         
         439694.00    3765340.00        0.35281                      
439699.00    3765340.00        0.35280                         

181

Item D - 763 of 1893



         439704.00    3765340.00        0.35280                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.35278                         
         439714.00    3765340.00        0.35275                      
439719.00    3765340.00        0.35273                         
         439729.00    3765340.00        0.35265                      
439734.00    3765340.00        0.35260                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.35255                      
439744.00    3765340.00        0.35249                         
         439749.00    3765340.00        0.35242                      
439774.00    3765340.00        0.35197                         

182

Item D - 764 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  55
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439779.00    3765340.00        0.35186                      
439784.00    3765340.00        0.35174                         
         439789.00    3765340.00        0.35162                      
439794.00    3765340.00        0.35148                         
         439839.00    3765340.00        0.34983                      
439844.00    3765340.00        0.34960                         
         439849.00    3765340.00        0.34935                      
439854.00    3765340.00        0.34909                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.34882                      
439864.00    3765340.00        0.34854                         
         439869.00    3765340.00        0.34824                      
439874.00    3765340.00        0.34794                         
         439879.00    3765340.00        0.34762                      
439884.00    3765340.00        0.34728                         
         439674.00    3765345.00        0.35783                      
439679.00    3765345.00        0.35786                         
         439684.00    3765345.00        0.35789                      
439689.00    3765345.00        0.35790                         

183

Item D - 765 of 1893



         439694.00    3765345.00        0.35791                      
439699.00    3765345.00        0.35792                         
         439704.00    3765345.00        0.35791                      
439709.00    3765345.00        0.35790                         
         439714.00    3765345.00        0.35788                      
439719.00    3765345.00        0.35786                         
         439729.00    3765345.00        0.35779                      
439734.00    3765345.00        0.35775                         
         439739.00    3765345.00        0.35770                      
439744.00    3765345.00        0.35764                         
         439749.00    3765345.00        0.35759                      
439774.00    3765345.00        0.35717                         
         439779.00    3765345.00        0.35706                      
439784.00    3765345.00        0.35695                         
         439789.00    3765345.00        0.35683                      
439794.00    3765345.00        0.35670                         
         439839.00    3765345.00        0.35512                      
439844.00    3765345.00        0.35489                         
         439849.00    3765345.00        0.35465                      
439854.00    3765345.00        0.35440                         
         439859.00    3765345.00        0.35414                      
439864.00    3765345.00        0.35386                         
         439869.00    3765345.00        0.35357                      
439874.00    3765345.00        0.35328                         
         439879.00    3765345.00        0.35296                      
439884.00    3765345.00        0.35264                         
         439674.00    3765350.00        0.36305                      
439679.00    3765350.00        0.36309                         
         439684.00    3765350.00        0.36311                      
439689.00    3765350.00        0.36314                         
         439694.00    3765350.00        0.36315                      
439699.00    3765350.00        0.36316                         
         439704.00    3765350.00        0.36316                      
439709.00    3765350.00        0.36315                         
         439714.00    3765350.00        0.36314                      
439719.00    3765350.00        0.36312                         
         439729.00    3765350.00        0.36307                      
439734.00    3765350.00        0.36303                         
         439739.00    3765350.00        0.36299                      
439744.00    3765350.00        0.36294                         
         439749.00    3765350.00        0.36288                      
439774.00    3765350.00        0.36250                         
         439779.00    3765350.00        0.36240                      
439784.00    3765350.00        0.36229                         
         439789.00    3765350.00        0.36218                      
439794.00    3765350.00        0.36205                         
         439839.00    3765350.00        0.36055                      
439844.00    3765350.00        0.36032                         
         439849.00    3765350.00        0.36009                      
439854.00    3765350.00        0.35985                         
         439859.00    3765350.00        0.35959                      
439864.00    3765350.00        0.35932                         

184

Item D - 766 of 1893



         439869.00    3765350.00        0.35905                      
439874.00    3765350.00        0.35875                         
         439879.00    3765350.00        0.35845                      
439884.00    3765350.00        0.35813                         
         439674.00    3765355.00        0.36841                      
439679.00    3765355.00        0.36844                         
         439684.00    3765355.00        0.36848                      
439689.00    3765355.00        0.36850                         
         439694.00    3765355.00        0.36853                      
439699.00    3765355.00        0.36854                         

185

Item D - 767 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  56
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439704.00    3765355.00        0.36854                      
439709.00    3765355.00        0.36854                         
         439714.00    3765355.00        0.36853                      
439719.00    3765355.00        0.36853                         
         439729.00    3765355.00        0.36848                      
439734.00    3765355.00        0.36844                         
         439739.00    3765355.00        0.36841                      
439744.00    3765355.00        0.36836                         
         439749.00    3765355.00        0.36832                      
439774.00    3765355.00        0.36796                         
         439779.00    3765355.00        0.36787                      
439784.00    3765355.00        0.36777                         
         439789.00    3765355.00        0.36766                      
439794.00    3765355.00        0.36755                         
         439839.00    3765355.00        0.36610                      
439844.00    3765355.00        0.36590                         
         439849.00    3765355.00        0.36566                      
439854.00    3765355.00        0.36544                         

186

Item D - 768 of 1893



         439859.00    3765355.00        0.36518                      
439864.00    3765355.00        0.36493                         
         439869.00    3765355.00        0.36465                      
439874.00    3765355.00        0.36437                         
         439879.00    3765355.00        0.36407                      
439884.00    3765355.00        0.36376                         
         439674.00    3765360.00        0.37389                      
439679.00    3765360.00        0.37394                         
         439684.00    3765360.00        0.37398                      
439689.00    3765360.00        0.37401                         
         439694.00    3765360.00        0.37404                      
439699.00    3765360.00        0.37405                         
         439704.00    3765360.00        0.37407                      
439709.00    3765360.00        0.37407                         
         439714.00    3765360.00        0.37407                      
439719.00    3765360.00        0.37406                         
         439729.00    3765360.00        0.37402                      
439734.00    3765360.00        0.37400                         
         439739.00    3765360.00        0.37396                      
439744.00    3765360.00        0.37393                         
         439749.00    3765360.00        0.37388                      
439774.00    3765360.00        0.37356                         
         439779.00    3765360.00        0.37347                      
439784.00    3765360.00        0.37338                         
         439789.00    3765360.00        0.37329                      
439794.00    3765360.00        0.37318                         
         439799.00    3765360.00        0.37306                      
439804.00    3765360.00        0.37293                         
         439809.00    3765360.00        0.37281                      
439814.00    3765360.00        0.37266                         
         439839.00    3765360.00        0.37182                      
439844.00    3765360.00        0.37160                         
         439849.00    3765360.00        0.37139                      
439854.00    3765360.00        0.37116                         
         439859.00    3765360.00        0.37093                      
439864.00    3765360.00        0.37067                         
         439869.00    3765360.00        0.37041                      
439874.00    3765360.00        0.37013                         
         439879.00    3765360.00        0.36984                      
439884.00    3765360.00        0.36954                         
         439674.00    3765365.00        0.37953                      
439679.00    3765365.00        0.37958                         
         439684.00    3765365.00        0.37963                      
439689.00    3765365.00        0.37967                         
         439694.00    3765365.00        0.37969                      
439699.00    3765365.00        0.37972                         
         439704.00    3765365.00        0.37973                      
439709.00    3765365.00        0.37975                         
         439714.00    3765365.00        0.37975                      
439719.00    3765365.00        0.37975                         
         439729.00    3765365.00        0.37972                      
439734.00    3765365.00        0.37970                         

187

Item D - 769 of 1893



         439739.00    3765365.00        0.37968                      
439744.00    3765365.00        0.37964                         
         439749.00    3765365.00        0.37960                      
439774.00    3765365.00        0.37931                         
         439779.00    3765365.00        0.37923                      
439784.00    3765365.00        0.37915                         
         439789.00    3765365.00        0.37905                      
439794.00    3765365.00        0.37896                         
         439799.00    3765365.00        0.37885                      
439804.00    3765365.00        0.37874                         

188

Item D - 770 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  57
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765365.00        0.37861                      
439814.00    3765365.00        0.37848                         
         439839.00    3765365.00        0.37766                      
439844.00    3765365.00        0.37747                         
         439849.00    3765365.00        0.37727                      
439854.00    3765365.00        0.37705                         
         439859.00    3765365.00        0.37682                      
439864.00    3765365.00        0.37657                         
         439869.00    3765365.00        0.37632                      
439874.00    3765365.00        0.37605                         
         439879.00    3765365.00        0.37577                      
439884.00    3765365.00        0.37547                         
         439674.00    3765370.00        0.38533                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.38538                         
         439684.00    3765370.00        0.38544                      
439689.00    3765370.00        0.38547                         
         439694.00    3765370.00        0.38551                      
439699.00    3765370.00        0.38553                         

189

Item D - 771 of 1893



         439704.00    3765370.00        0.38556                      
439709.00    3765370.00        0.38557                         
         439714.00    3765370.00        0.38558                      
439719.00    3765370.00        0.38558                         
         439729.00    3765370.00        0.38557                      
439734.00    3765370.00        0.38555                         
         439739.00    3765370.00        0.38553                      
439744.00    3765370.00        0.38550                         
         439749.00    3765370.00        0.38547                      
439774.00    3765370.00        0.38521                         
         439779.00    3765370.00        0.38514                      
439784.00    3765370.00        0.38506                         
         439789.00    3765370.00        0.38498                      
439794.00    3765370.00        0.38489                         
         439799.00    3765370.00        0.38479                      
439804.00    3765370.00        0.38468                         
         439809.00    3765370.00        0.38457                      
439814.00    3765370.00        0.38444                         
         439839.00    3765370.00        0.38368                      
439844.00    3765370.00        0.38350                         
         439849.00    3765370.00        0.38329                      
439854.00    3765370.00        0.38309                         
         439859.00    3765370.00        0.38287                      
439864.00    3765370.00        0.38263                         
         439869.00    3765370.00        0.38238                      
439874.00    3765370.00        0.38213                         
         439879.00    3765370.00        0.38185                      
439884.00    3765370.00        0.38157                         
         439674.00    3765375.00        0.39127                      
439679.00    3765375.00        0.39134                         
         439684.00    3765375.00        0.39139                      
439689.00    3765375.00        0.39145                         
         439694.00    3765375.00        0.39147                      
439699.00    3765375.00        0.39151                         
         439704.00    3765375.00        0.39154                      
439709.00    3765375.00        0.39156                         
         439714.00    3765375.00        0.39157                      
439719.00    3765375.00        0.39157                         
         439729.00    3765375.00        0.39157                      
439734.00    3765375.00        0.39157                         
         439739.00    3765375.00        0.39154                      
439744.00    3765375.00        0.39153                         
         439749.00    3765375.00        0.39149                      
439754.00    3765375.00        0.39147                         
         439774.00    3765375.00        0.39128                      
439779.00    3765375.00        0.39121                         
         439784.00    3765375.00        0.39114                      
439789.00    3765375.00        0.39106                         
         439794.00    3765375.00        0.39098                      
439799.00    3765375.00        0.39089                         
         439804.00    3765375.00        0.39079                      
439809.00    3765375.00        0.39069                         

190

Item D - 772 of 1893



         439814.00    3765375.00        0.39056                      
439839.00    3765375.00        0.38986                         
         439844.00    3765375.00        0.38967                      
439849.00    3765375.00        0.38950                         
         439854.00    3765375.00        0.38929                      
439859.00    3765375.00        0.38908                         
         439864.00    3765375.00        0.38885                      
439869.00    3765375.00        0.38862                         
         439874.00    3765375.00        0.38837                      
439879.00    3765375.00        0.38810                         

191

Item D - 773 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  58
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439884.00    3765375.00        0.38782                      
439774.00    3765380.00        0.39750                         
         439779.00    3765380.00        0.39745                      
439784.00    3765380.00        0.39738                         
         439789.00    3765380.00        0.39730                      
439794.00    3765380.00        0.39724                         
         439799.00    3765380.00        0.39715                      
439804.00    3765380.00        0.39707                         
         439809.00    3765380.00        0.39696                      
439814.00    3765380.00        0.39687                         
         439769.00    3765385.00        0.40394                      
439819.00    3765385.00        0.40324                         
         439769.00    3765400.00        0.42424                      
439844.00    3765400.00        0.42330                         
         439849.00    3765400.00        0.42317                      
439674.00    3765405.00        0.43074                         
         439714.00    3765405.00        0.43128                      
439719.00    3765405.00        0.43132                         

192

Item D - 774 of 1893



         439734.00    3765405.00        0.43139                      
439749.00    3765405.00        0.43143                         
         439754.00    3765405.00        0.43142                      
439774.00    3765405.00        0.43138                         
         439779.00    3765405.00        0.43138                      
439784.00    3765405.00        0.43135                         
         439789.00    3765405.00        0.43132                      
439794.00    3765405.00        0.43128                         
         439799.00    3765405.00        0.43126                      
439804.00    3765405.00        0.43121                         
         439809.00    3765405.00        0.43116                      
439814.00    3765405.00        0.43112                         
         439819.00    3765405.00        0.43104                      
439824.00    3765405.00        0.43098                         
         439829.00    3765405.00        0.43090                      
439834.00    3765405.00        0.43083                         
         439839.00    3765405.00        0.43072                      
439844.00    3765405.00        0.43063                         
         439849.00    3765405.00        0.43051                      
439854.00    3765405.00        0.43038                         
         439859.00    3765405.00        0.43024                      
439674.00    3765410.00        0.43802                         
         439679.00    3765410.00        0.43813                      
439684.00    3765410.00        0.43822                         
         439689.00    3765410.00        0.43830                      
439694.00    3765410.00        0.43838                         
         439699.00    3765410.00        0.43844                      
439704.00    3765410.00        0.43850                         
         439709.00    3765410.00        0.43856                      
439714.00    3765410.00        0.43861                         
         439719.00    3765410.00        0.43864                      
439729.00    3765410.00        0.43871                         
         439734.00    3765410.00        0.43874                      
439739.00    3765410.00        0.43875                         
         439744.00    3765410.00        0.43878                      
439749.00    3765410.00        0.43878                         
         439774.00    3765410.00        0.43879                      
439779.00    3765410.00        0.43877                         
         439784.00    3765410.00        0.43875                      
439789.00    3765410.00        0.43874                         
         439794.00    3765410.00        0.43871                      
439799.00    3765410.00        0.43869                         
         439804.00    3765410.00        0.43865                      
439809.00    3765410.00        0.43863                         
         439814.00    3765410.00        0.43856                      
439819.00    3765410.00        0.43853                         
         439824.00    3765410.00        0.43847                      
439829.00    3765410.00        0.43841                         
         439834.00    3765410.00        0.43832                      
439839.00    3765410.00        0.43826                         
         439844.00    3765410.00        0.43816                      
439849.00    3765410.00        0.43807                         

193

Item D - 775 of 1893



         439854.00    3765410.00        0.43795                      
439859.00    3765410.00        0.43783                         
         439674.00    3765415.00        0.44553                      
439679.00    3765415.00        0.44564                         
         439684.00    3765415.00        0.44574                      
439689.00    3765415.00        0.44583                         
         439694.00    3765415.00        0.44590                      
439699.00    3765415.00        0.44599                         
         439704.00    3765415.00        0.44605                      
439709.00    3765415.00        0.44611                         

194

Item D - 776 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  59
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439714.00    3765415.00        0.44615                      
439719.00    3765415.00        0.44621                         
         439729.00    3765415.00        0.44629                      
439734.00    3765415.00        0.44630                         
         439739.00    3765415.00        0.44634                      
439744.00    3765415.00        0.44635                         
         439749.00    3765415.00        0.44637                      
439774.00    3765415.00        0.44639                         
         439779.00    3765415.00        0.44639                      
439784.00    3765415.00        0.44639                         
         439789.00    3765415.00        0.44638                      
439794.00    3765415.00        0.44636                         
         439799.00    3765415.00        0.44634                      
439804.00    3765415.00        0.44633                         
         439809.00    3765415.00        0.44629                      
439814.00    3765415.00        0.44628                         
         439819.00    3765415.00        0.44622                      
439824.00    3765415.00        0.44619                         

195

Item D - 777 of 1893



         439829.00    3765415.00        0.44613                      
439834.00    3765415.00        0.44609                         
         439839.00    3765415.00        0.44600                      
439844.00    3765415.00        0.44594                         
         439849.00    3765415.00        0.44585                      
439854.00    3765415.00        0.44576                         
         439859.00    3765415.00        0.44565                      
439674.00    3765420.00        0.45329                         
         439679.00    3765420.00        0.45340                      
439684.00    3765420.00        0.45351                         
         439689.00    3765420.00        0.45359                      
439694.00    3765420.00        0.45369                         
         439699.00    3765420.00        0.45376                      
439704.00    3765420.00        0.45383                         
         439709.00    3765420.00        0.45389                      
439714.00    3765420.00        0.45396                         
         439719.00    3765420.00        0.45400                      
439729.00    3765420.00        0.45408                         
         439734.00    3765420.00        0.45413                      
439739.00    3765420.00        0.45415                         
         439744.00    3765420.00        0.45418                      
439749.00    3765420.00        0.45419                         
         439774.00    3765420.00        0.45426                      
439779.00    3765420.00        0.45426                         
         439784.00    3765420.00        0.45425                      
439789.00    3765420.00        0.45426                         
         439794.00    3765420.00        0.45425                      
439799.00    3765420.00        0.45425                         
         439804.00    3765420.00        0.45423                      
439809.00    3765420.00        0.45423                         
         439814.00    3765420.00        0.45419                      
439819.00    3765420.00        0.45418                         
         439824.00    3765420.00        0.45414                      
439829.00    3765420.00        0.45412                         
         439834.00    3765420.00        0.45406                      
439839.00    3765420.00        0.45403                         
         439844.00    3765420.00        0.45395                      
439849.00    3765420.00        0.45389                         
         439854.00    3765420.00        0.45380                      
439859.00    3765420.00        0.45372                         
         439674.00    3765425.00        0.46128                      
439679.00    3765425.00        0.46141                         
         439684.00    3765425.00        0.46151                      
439689.00    3765425.00        0.46162                         
         439694.00    3765425.00        0.46170                      
439699.00    3765425.00        0.46180                         
         439704.00    3765425.00        0.46187                      
439709.00    3765425.00        0.46195                         
         439714.00    3765425.00        0.46199                      
439719.00    3765425.00        0.46206                         
         439729.00    3765425.00        0.46215                      
439734.00    3765425.00        0.46218                         

196

Item D - 778 of 1893



         439739.00    3765425.00        0.46222                      
439744.00    3765425.00        0.46225                         
         439749.00    3765425.00        0.46228                      
439774.00    3765425.00        0.46236                         
         439779.00    3765425.00        0.46237                      
439784.00    3765425.00        0.46239                         
         439789.00    3765425.00        0.46238                      
439794.00    3765425.00        0.46239                         
         439799.00    3765425.00        0.46239                      
439804.00    3765425.00        0.46240                         

197

Item D - 779 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  60
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765425.00        0.46238                      
439814.00    3765425.00        0.46239                         
         439819.00    3765425.00        0.46236                      
439824.00    3765425.00        0.46237                         
         439829.00    3765425.00        0.46232                      
439834.00    3765425.00        0.46231                         
         439839.00    3765425.00        0.46226                      
439844.00    3765425.00        0.46223                         
         439849.00    3765425.00        0.46217                      
439854.00    3765425.00        0.46211                         
         439859.00    3765425.00        0.46203                      
439674.00    3765430.00        0.46956                         
         439679.00    3765430.00        0.46968                      
439684.00    3765430.00        0.46980                         
         439689.00    3765430.00        0.46990                      
439694.00    3765430.00        0.47001                         
         439699.00    3765430.00        0.47008                      
439704.00    3765430.00        0.47017                         

198

Item D - 780 of 1893



         439709.00    3765430.00        0.47024                      
439714.00    3765430.00        0.47032                         
         439719.00    3765430.00        0.47036                      
439729.00    3765430.00        0.47047                         
         439734.00    3765430.00        0.47051                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.47055                         
         439744.00    3765430.00        0.47059                      
439749.00    3765430.00        0.47062                         
         439774.00    3765430.00        0.47073                      
439779.00    3765430.00        0.47075                         
         439784.00    3765430.00        0.47076                      
439789.00    3765430.00        0.47079                         
         439794.00    3765430.00        0.47079                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.47081                         
         439804.00    3765430.00        0.47081                      
439809.00    3765430.00        0.47084                         
         439814.00    3765430.00        0.47082                      
439819.00    3765430.00        0.47084                         
         439824.00    3765430.00        0.47082                      
439829.00    3765430.00        0.47083                         
         439834.00    3765430.00        0.47080                      
439839.00    3765430.00        0.47080                         
         439844.00    3765430.00        0.47076                      
439849.00    3765430.00        0.47073                         
         439854.00    3765430.00        0.47068                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.47063                         
         439674.00    3765435.00        0.47810                      
439679.00    3765435.00        0.47824                         
         439684.00    3765435.00        0.47835                      
439689.00    3765435.00        0.47847                         
         439694.00    3765435.00        0.47856                      
439699.00    3765435.00        0.47867                         
         439704.00    3765435.00        0.47875                      
439709.00    3765435.00        0.47883                         
         439714.00    3765435.00        0.47890                      
439719.00    3765435.00        0.47897                         
         439729.00    3765435.00        0.47908                      
439734.00    3765435.00        0.47912                         
         439739.00    3765435.00        0.47917                      
439744.00    3765435.00        0.47921                         
         439749.00    3765435.00        0.47924                      
439774.00    3765435.00        0.47938                         
         439779.00    3765435.00        0.47941                      
439784.00    3765435.00        0.47943                         
         439789.00    3765435.00        0.47945                      
439794.00    3765435.00        0.47948                         
         439799.00    3765435.00        0.47950                      
439804.00    3765435.00        0.47952                         
         439809.00    3765435.00        0.47953                      
439814.00    3765435.00        0.47956                         
         439819.00    3765435.00        0.47956                      
439824.00    3765435.00        0.47959                         

199

Item D - 781 of 1893



         439829.00    3765435.00        0.47958                      
439834.00    3765435.00        0.47960                         
         439839.00    3765435.00        0.47958                      
439844.00    3765435.00        0.47959                         
         439849.00    3765435.00        0.47956                      
439854.00    3765435.00        0.47954                         
         439859.00    3765435.00        0.47950                      
439674.00    3765440.00        0.48694                         
         439679.00    3765440.00        0.48708                      
439684.00    3765440.00        0.48721                         

200

Item D - 782 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  61
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439689.00    3765440.00        0.48732                      
439694.00    3765440.00        0.48744                         
         439699.00    3765440.00        0.48753                      
439704.00    3765440.00        0.48763                         
         439709.00    3765440.00        0.48771                      
439714.00    3765440.00        0.48779                         
         439719.00    3765440.00        0.48785                      
439729.00    3765440.00        0.48797                         
         439734.00    3765440.00        0.48802                      
439739.00    3765440.00        0.48807                         
         439744.00    3765440.00        0.48812                      
439749.00    3765440.00        0.48816                         
         439774.00    3765440.00        0.48832                      
439779.00    3765440.00        0.48836                         
         439784.00    3765440.00        0.48838                      
439789.00    3765440.00        0.48842                         
         439794.00    3765440.00        0.48845                      
439799.00    3765440.00        0.48848                         

201

Item D - 783 of 1893



         439804.00    3765440.00        0.48851                      
439809.00    3765440.00        0.48855                         
         439814.00    3765440.00        0.48856                      
439819.00    3765440.00        0.48861                         
         439824.00    3765440.00        0.48862                      
439829.00    3765440.00        0.48866                         
         439834.00    3765440.00        0.48866                      
439839.00    3765440.00        0.48869                         
         439844.00    3765440.00        0.48869                      
439849.00    3765440.00        0.48870                         
         439854.00    3765440.00        0.48869                      
439859.00    3765440.00        0.48868                         
         439674.00    3765445.00        0.49609                      
439679.00    3765445.00        0.49624                         
         439684.00    3765445.00        0.49637                      
439689.00    3765445.00        0.49650                         
         439694.00    3765445.00        0.49661                      
439699.00    3765445.00        0.49672                         
         439704.00    3765445.00        0.49681                      
439709.00    3765445.00        0.49690                         
         439714.00    3765445.00        0.49698                      
439719.00    3765445.00        0.49706                         
         439729.00    3765445.00        0.49718                      
439734.00    3765445.00        0.49724                         
         439739.00    3765445.00        0.49729                      
439744.00    3765445.00        0.49734                         
         439749.00    3765445.00        0.49738                      
439774.00    3765445.00        0.49758                         
         439779.00    3765445.00        0.49761                      
439784.00    3765445.00        0.49766                         
         439789.00    3765445.00        0.49769                      
439794.00    3765445.00        0.49773                         
         439799.00    3765445.00        0.49777                      
439804.00    3765445.00        0.49781                         
         439809.00    3765445.00        0.49785                      
439814.00    3765445.00        0.49790                         
         439819.00    3765445.00        0.49793                      
439824.00    3765445.00        0.49798                         
         439829.00    3765445.00        0.49801                      
439834.00    3765445.00        0.49806                         
         439839.00    3765445.00        0.49809                      
439844.00    3765445.00        0.49812                         
         439849.00    3765445.00        0.49814                      
439854.00    3765445.00        0.49816                         
         439859.00    3765445.00        0.49817                      
439674.00    3765450.00        0.50556                         
         439679.00    3765450.00        0.50571                      
439684.00    3765450.00        0.50586                         
         439689.00    3765450.00        0.50599                      
439694.00    3765450.00        0.50611                         
         439699.00    3765450.00        0.50622                      
439704.00    3765450.00        0.50633                         

202

Item D - 784 of 1893



         439709.00    3765450.00        0.50642                      
439714.00    3765450.00        0.50651                         
         439719.00    3765450.00        0.50658                      
439729.00    3765450.00        0.50672                         
         439734.00    3765450.00        0.50678                      
439739.00    3765450.00        0.50684                         
         439744.00    3765450.00        0.50689                      
439749.00    3765450.00        0.50694                         
         439774.00    3765450.00        0.50715                      
439844.00    3765450.00        0.50787                         

203

Item D - 785 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  62
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439849.00    3765450.00        0.50792                      
439854.00    3765450.00        0.50795                         
         439859.00    3765450.00        0.50799                      
439674.00    3765455.00        0.51538                         
         439679.00    3765455.00        0.51554                      
439684.00    3765455.00        0.51569                         
         439689.00    3765455.00        0.51583                      
439694.00    3765455.00        0.51596                         
         439699.00    3765455.00        0.51608                      
439704.00    3765455.00        0.51618                         
         439709.00    3765455.00        0.51628                      
439714.00    3765455.00        0.51638                         
         439719.00    3765455.00        0.51646                      
439729.00    3765455.00        0.51661                         
         439734.00    3765455.00        0.51667                      
439739.00    3765455.00        0.51673                         
         439744.00    3765455.00        0.51679                      
439749.00    3765455.00        0.51684                         

204

Item D - 786 of 1893



         439844.00    3765455.00        0.51797                      
439849.00    3765455.00        0.51804                         
         439854.00    3765455.00        0.51810                      
439859.00    3765455.00        0.51816                         
         439674.00    3765460.00        0.52556                      
439679.00    3765460.00        0.52573                         
         439684.00    3765460.00        0.52589                      
439689.00    3765460.00        0.52603                         
         439694.00    3765460.00        0.52617                      
439699.00    3765460.00        0.52629                         
         439704.00    3765460.00        0.52641                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.52651                         
         439714.00    3765460.00        0.52661                      
439719.00    3765460.00        0.52670                         
         439729.00    3765460.00        0.52686                      
439734.00    3765460.00        0.52693                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.52700                      
439744.00    3765460.00        0.52705                         
         439749.00    3765460.00        0.52712                      
439789.00    3765460.00        0.52754                         
         439794.00    3765460.00        0.52761                      
439799.00    3765460.00        0.52767                         
         439804.00    3765460.00        0.52774                      
439809.00    3765460.00        0.52782                         
         439814.00    3765460.00        0.52789                      
439819.00    3765460.00        0.52798                         
         439824.00    3765460.00        0.52807                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.52816                         
         439844.00    3765460.00        0.52844                      
439849.00    3765460.00        0.52853                         
         439854.00    3765460.00        0.52862                      
439859.00    3765460.00        0.52870                         
         439674.00    3765465.00        0.53612                      
439679.00    3765465.00        0.53631                         
         439684.00    3765465.00        0.53647                      
439689.00    3765465.00        0.53663                         
         439694.00    3765465.00        0.53676                      
439699.00    3765465.00        0.53690                         
         439704.00    3765465.00        0.53702                      
439709.00    3765465.00        0.53714                         
         439714.00    3765465.00        0.53724                      
439719.00    3765465.00        0.53733                         
         439729.00    3765465.00        0.53750                      
439734.00    3765465.00        0.53758                         
         439739.00    3765465.00        0.53764                      
439744.00    3765465.00        0.53771                         
         439749.00    3765465.00        0.53777                      
439789.00    3765465.00        0.53824                         
         439794.00    3765465.00        0.53831                      
439799.00    3765465.00        0.53839                         
         439804.00    3765465.00        0.53846                      
439809.00    3765465.00        0.53855                         

205

Item D - 787 of 1893



         439814.00    3765465.00        0.53864                      
439819.00    3765465.00        0.53874                         
         439824.00    3765465.00        0.53884                      
439829.00    3765465.00        0.53895                         
         439844.00    3765465.00        0.53929                      
439849.00    3765465.00        0.53941                         
         439854.00    3765465.00        0.53952                      
439859.00    3765465.00        0.53963                         
         439674.00    3765470.00        0.54710                      
439679.00    3765470.00        0.54728                         

206

Item D - 788 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  63
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765470.00        0.54747                      
439689.00    3765470.00        0.54762                         
         439694.00    3765470.00        0.54778                      
439699.00    3765470.00        0.54792                         
         439704.00    3765470.00        0.54805                      
439709.00    3765470.00        0.54816                         
         439714.00    3765470.00        0.54828                      
439719.00    3765470.00        0.54838                         
         439729.00    3765470.00        0.54856                      
439734.00    3765470.00        0.54863                         
         439739.00    3765470.00        0.54871                      
439744.00    3765470.00        0.54878                         
         439749.00    3765470.00        0.54885                      
439789.00    3765470.00        0.54935                         
         439794.00    3765470.00        0.54943                      
439799.00    3765470.00        0.54951                         
         439804.00    3765470.00        0.54960                      
439809.00    3765470.00        0.54969                         

207

Item D - 789 of 1893



         439814.00    3765470.00        0.54979                      
439819.00    3765470.00        0.54990                         
         439824.00    3765470.00        0.55002                      
439829.00    3765470.00        0.55014                         
         439844.00    3765470.00        0.55055                      
439849.00    3765470.00        0.55069                         
         439854.00    3765470.00        0.55084                      
439859.00    3765470.00        0.55097                         
         439674.00    3765475.00        0.55849                      
439679.00    3765475.00        0.55870                         
         439684.00    3765475.00        0.55888                      
439689.00    3765475.00        0.55907                         
         439694.00    3765475.00        0.55922                      
439699.00    3765475.00        0.55938                         
         439704.00    3765475.00        0.55951                      
439709.00    3765475.00        0.55964                         
         439714.00    3765475.00        0.55975                      
439719.00    3765475.00        0.55987                         
         439729.00    3765475.00        0.56005                      
439734.00    3765475.00        0.56014                         
         439739.00    3765475.00        0.56022                      
439744.00    3765475.00        0.56030                         
         439749.00    3765475.00        0.56036                      
439754.00    3765475.00        0.56043                         
         439789.00    3765475.00        0.56090                      
439794.00    3765475.00        0.56098                         
         439799.00    3765475.00        0.56107                      
439804.00    3765475.00        0.56116                         
         439809.00    3765475.00        0.56127                      
439814.00    3765475.00        0.56138                         
         439819.00    3765475.00        0.56150                      
439824.00    3765475.00        0.56164                         
         439829.00    3765475.00        0.56178                      
439269.00    3764900.00        0.14143                         
         439369.00    3764900.00        0.14292                      
439469.00    3764900.00        0.14294                         
         439569.00    3764900.00        0.14145                      
439669.00    3764900.00        0.13844                         
         439769.00    3764900.00        0.13393                      
439869.00    3764900.00        0.12797                         
         439969.00    3764900.00        0.12069                      
440069.00    3764900.00        0.11232                         
         440169.00    3764900.00        0.10323                      
440269.00    3764900.00        0.09391                         
         439269.00    3765000.00        0.16487                      
439369.00    3765000.00        0.16769                         
         439469.00    3765000.00        0.16870                      
439569.00    3765000.00        0.16791                         
         439669.00    3765000.00        0.16532                      
439769.00    3765000.00        0.16086                         
         439869.00    3765000.00        0.15443                      
439969.00    3765000.00        0.14608                         

208

Item D - 790 of 1893



         440069.00    3765000.00        0.13604                      
440169.00    3765000.00        0.12473                         
         440269.00    3765000.00        0.11281                      
439269.00    3765100.00        0.19480                         
         439369.00    3765100.00        0.19950                      
439469.00    3765100.00        0.20196                         
         439569.00    3765100.00        0.20224                      
439669.00    3765100.00        0.20044                         
         439769.00    3765100.00        0.19641                      
439869.00    3765100.00        0.18982                         

209

Item D - 791 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  64
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439969.00    3765100.00        0.18055                      
440069.00    3765100.00        0.16871                         
         440169.00    3765100.00        0.15470                      
440269.00    3765100.00        0.13931                         
         439269.00    3765200.00        0.23442                      
439369.00    3765200.00        0.24200                         
         439469.00    3765200.00        0.24665                      
439569.00    3765200.00        0.24855                         
         439669.00    3765200.00        0.24799                      
439769.00    3765200.00        0.24492                         
         439869.00    3765200.00        0.23875                      
439969.00    3765200.00        0.22902                         
         440069.00    3765200.00        0.21550                      
440169.00    3765200.00        0.19836                         
         440269.00    3765200.00        0.17837                      
439269.00    3765300.00        0.28944                         
         439369.00    3765300.00        0.30196                      
439469.00    3765300.00        0.31037                         

210

Item D - 792 of 1893



         439569.00    3765300.00        0.31486                      
439669.00    3765300.00        0.31616                         
         439769.00    3765300.00        0.31471                      
439869.00    3765300.00        0.30991                         
         439969.00    3765300.00        0.30060                      
440069.00    3765300.00        0.28597                         
         440169.00    3765300.00        0.26562                      
440269.00    3765300.00        0.23971                         
         439269.00    3765400.00        0.37150                      
439369.00    3765400.00        0.39359                         
         439469.00    3765400.00        0.40980                      
439569.00    3765400.00        0.41937                         
         439669.00    3765400.00        0.42358                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.42424                         
         439869.00    3765400.00        0.42254                      
439969.00    3765400.00        0.41548                         
         440069.00    3765400.00        0.40085                      
440169.00    3765400.00        0.37773                         
         440269.00    3765400.00        0.34468                      
439269.00    3765500.00        0.51072                         
         439369.00    3765500.00        0.55371                      
439469.00    3765500.00        0.59006                         
         439569.00    3765500.00        0.61236                      
439669.00    3765500.00        0.62273                         
         439769.00    3765500.00        0.62602                      
439869.00    3765500.00        0.63005                         
         439969.00    3765500.00        0.63278                      
440069.00    3765500.00        0.61996                         
         440169.00    3765500.00        0.59357                      
440269.00    3765500.00        0.55185                         
         439269.00    3765600.00        0.83497                      
439369.00    3765600.00        0.92480                         
         439469.00    3765600.00        1.03675                      
439569.00    3765600.00        1.10543                         
         439669.00    3765600.00        1.14335                      
439769.00    3765600.00        1.17649                         
         439869.00    3765600.00        1.19283                      
439969.00    3765600.00        1.29155                         
         440069.00    3765600.00        1.25952                      
440169.00    3765600.00        1.19682                         
         440269.00    3765600.00        1.12370                      
439269.00    3765700.00        4.20940                         
         439369.00    3765700.00        4.51295                      
439469.00    3765700.00        7.08246                         
         439569.00    3765700.00        7.56523                      
439669.00    3765700.00        6.67604                         
         439769.00    3765700.00        6.28150                      
439869.00    3765700.00        5.91312                         
         439969.00    3765700.00        5.76266                      
440069.00    3765700.00        6.15807                         
         440169.00    3765700.00        6.77010                      
440269.00    3765700.00        8.02168                         

211

Item D - 793 of 1893



         439269.00    3765800.00        1.85507                      
439369.00    3765800.00        1.97273                         
         439469.00    3765800.00        2.18051                      
439569.00    3765800.00        2.50815                         
         439669.00    3765800.00        2.80305                      
439769.00    3765800.00        3.24441                         
         439869.00    3765800.00        4.19210                      
439969.00    3765800.00        2.84239                         
         440069.00    3765800.00        2.53678                      
440169.00    3765800.00        2.45150                         

212

Item D - 794 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  65
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         440269.00    3765800.00        2.43137                      
439269.00    3765900.00        0.60419                         
         439369.00    3765900.00        0.70341                      
439469.00    3765900.00        0.78957                         
         439569.00    3765900.00        0.87542                      
439669.00    3765900.00        0.96396                         
         439769.00    3765900.00        1.04849                      
439869.00    3765900.00        1.11889                         
         439969.00    3765900.00        1.15396                      
440069.00    3765900.00        1.14186                         
         440169.00    3765900.00        1.11763                      
440269.00    3765900.00        1.10044                         
         439649.00    3765310.00        0.32459                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.32467                         
         439709.00    3765310.00        0.32450                      
439739.00    3765310.00        0.32409                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.32341                      
439799.00    3765310.00        0.32245                         

213

Item D - 795 of 1893



         439829.00    3765310.00        0.32115                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.31948                         
         439889.00    3765310.00        0.31739                      
439649.00    3765340.00        0.35251                         
         439679.00    3765340.00        0.35277                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.35278                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.35255                      
439769.00    3765340.00        0.35208                         
         439799.00    3765340.00        0.35133                      
439829.00    3765340.00        0.35027                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.34882                      
439889.00    3765340.00        0.34694                         
         439649.00    3765370.00        0.38492                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.38538                         
         439709.00    3765370.00        0.38557                      
439739.00    3765370.00        0.38553                         
         439769.00    3765370.00        0.38528                      
439799.00    3765370.00        0.38479                         
         439829.00    3765370.00        0.38401                      
439859.00    3765370.00        0.38287                         
         439889.00    3765370.00        0.38126                      
439649.00    3765400.00        0.42310                         
         439679.00    3765400.00        0.42377                      
439709.00    3765400.00        0.42414                         
         439739.00    3765400.00        0.42428                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.42424                         
         439799.00    3765400.00        0.42403                      
439829.00    3765400.00        0.42362                         
         439859.00    3765400.00        0.42288                      
439889.00    3765400.00        0.42168                         
         439649.00    3765430.00        0.46877                      
439679.00    3765430.00        0.46968                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.47024                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.47055                         
         439769.00    3765430.00        0.47072                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.47081                         
         439829.00    3765430.00        0.47083                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.47063                         
         439889.00    3765430.00        0.47000                      
439649.00    3765460.00        0.52450                         
         439679.00    3765460.00        0.52573                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.52651                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.52700                      
439769.00    3765460.00        0.52732                         
         439799.00    3765460.00        0.52767                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.52816                         
         439859.00    3765460.00        0.52870                      
439889.00    3765460.00        0.52896                         
         439649.00    3765490.00        0.59415                      
439679.00    3765490.00        0.59583                         
         439709.00    3765490.00        0.59695                      
439739.00    3765490.00        0.59767                         

214

Item D - 796 of 1893



         439769.00    3765490.00        0.59817                      
439799.00    3765490.00        0.59870                         
         439829.00    3765490.00        0.59959                      
439859.00    3765490.00        0.60104                         
         439889.00    3765490.00        0.60267                                                                                     

215

Item D - 797 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  66
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439674.00    3765310.00        0.21343                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.21367                         
         439684.00    3765310.00        0.21390                      
439689.00    3765310.00        0.21414                         
         439694.00    3765310.00        0.21438                      
439699.00    3765310.00        0.21461                         
         439704.00    3765310.00        0.21484                      
439709.00    3765310.00        0.21506                         
         439714.00    3765310.00        0.21529                      
439719.00    3765310.00        0.21551                         
         439729.00    3765310.00        0.21594                      
439734.00    3765310.00        0.21615                         
         439739.00    3765310.00        0.21636                      
439744.00    3765310.00        0.21656                         
         439749.00    3765310.00        0.21676                      
439764.00    3765310.00        0.21732                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.21749                      
439774.00    3765310.00        0.21766                         

216

Item D - 798 of 1893



         439779.00    3765310.00        0.21782                      
439784.00    3765310.00        0.21797                         
         439789.00    3765310.00        0.21811                      
439794.00    3765310.00        0.21825                         
         439799.00    3765310.00        0.21838                      
439804.00    3765310.00        0.21849                         
         439809.00    3765310.00        0.21860                      
439814.00    3765310.00        0.21870                         
         439819.00    3765310.00        0.21879                      
439824.00    3765310.00        0.21886                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.21894                      
439839.00    3765310.00        0.21904                         
         439844.00    3765310.00        0.21907                      
439849.00    3765310.00        0.21909                         
         439854.00    3765310.00        0.21910                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.21910                         
         439864.00    3765310.00        0.21908                      
439869.00    3765310.00        0.21906                         
         439874.00    3765310.00        0.21901                      
439879.00    3765310.00        0.21896                         
         439884.00    3765310.00        0.21890                      
439674.00    3765315.00        0.21617                         
         439679.00    3765315.00        0.21642                      
439684.00    3765315.00        0.21667                         
         439689.00    3765315.00        0.21691                      
439694.00    3765315.00        0.21715                         
         439699.00    3765315.00        0.21740                      
439704.00    3765315.00        0.21764                         
         439709.00    3765315.00        0.21788                      
439714.00    3765315.00        0.21811                         
         439719.00    3765315.00        0.21835                      
439729.00    3765315.00        0.21880                         
         439734.00    3765315.00        0.21902                      
439739.00    3765315.00        0.21924                         
         439744.00    3765315.00        0.21946                      
439749.00    3765315.00        0.21967                         
         439764.00    3765315.00        0.22026                      
439769.00    3765315.00        0.22045                         
         439774.00    3765315.00        0.22063                      
439779.00    3765315.00        0.22080                         
         439784.00    3765315.00        0.22097                      
439789.00    3765315.00        0.22113                         
         439794.00    3765315.00        0.22127                      
439799.00    3765315.00        0.22141                         
         439804.00    3765315.00        0.22155                      
439809.00    3765315.00        0.22167                         
         439814.00    3765315.00        0.22178                      
439819.00    3765315.00        0.22188                         
         439824.00    3765315.00        0.22198                      
439829.00    3765315.00        0.22206                         
         439839.00    3765315.00        0.22218                      
439844.00    3765315.00        0.22223                         

217

Item D - 799 of 1893



         439849.00    3765315.00        0.22227                      
439854.00    3765315.00        0.22229                         
         439859.00    3765315.00        0.22230                      
439864.00    3765315.00        0.22230                         
         439869.00    3765315.00        0.22228                      
439874.00    3765315.00        0.22225                         
         439879.00    3765315.00        0.22221                      
439884.00    3765315.00        0.22216                         
         439674.00    3765320.00        0.21897                      
439679.00    3765320.00        0.21923                         

218

Item D - 800 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  67
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765320.00        0.21949                      
439689.00    3765320.00        0.21974                         
         439694.00    3765320.00        0.22000                      
439699.00    3765320.00        0.22025                         
         439704.00    3765320.00        0.22050                      
439709.00    3765320.00        0.22075                         
         439714.00    3765320.00        0.22099                      
439719.00    3765320.00        0.22124                         
         439729.00    3765320.00        0.22172                      
439734.00    3765320.00        0.22195                         
         439739.00    3765320.00        0.22218                      
439744.00    3765320.00        0.22241                         
         439749.00    3765320.00        0.22263                      
439764.00    3765320.00        0.22327                         
         439769.00    3765320.00        0.22347                      
439774.00    3765320.00        0.22366                         
         439779.00    3765320.00        0.22385                      
439784.00    3765320.00        0.22403                         

219

Item D - 801 of 1893



         439789.00    3765320.00        0.22420                      
439794.00    3765320.00        0.22436                         
         439799.00    3765320.00        0.22452                      
439804.00    3765320.00        0.22467                         
         439809.00    3765320.00        0.22480                      
439814.00    3765320.00        0.22493                         
         439819.00    3765320.00        0.22505                      
439824.00    3765320.00        0.22516                         
         439829.00    3765320.00        0.22525                      
439839.00    3765320.00        0.22541                         
         439844.00    3765320.00        0.22547                      
439849.00    3765320.00        0.22552                         
         439854.00    3765320.00        0.22555                      
439859.00    3765320.00        0.22557                         
         439864.00    3765320.00        0.22559                      
439869.00    3765320.00        0.22558                         
         439874.00    3765320.00        0.22557                      
439879.00    3765320.00        0.22554                         
         439884.00    3765320.00        0.22549                      
439674.00    3765325.00        0.22183                         
         439679.00    3765325.00        0.22210                      
439684.00    3765325.00        0.22236                         
         439689.00    3765325.00        0.22263                      
439694.00    3765325.00        0.22289                         
         439699.00    3765325.00        0.22316                      
439704.00    3765325.00        0.22342                         
         439709.00    3765325.00        0.22368                      
439714.00    3765325.00        0.22394                         
         439719.00    3765325.00        0.22419                      
439729.00    3765325.00        0.22469                         
         439734.00    3765325.00        0.22494                      
439739.00    3765325.00        0.22518                         
         439744.00    3765325.00        0.22543                      
439749.00    3765325.00        0.22566                         
         439754.00    3765325.00        0.22589                      
439769.00    3765325.00        0.22655                         
         439774.00    3765325.00        0.22676                      
439779.00    3765325.00        0.22697                         
         439784.00    3765325.00        0.22716                      
439789.00    3765325.00        0.22735                         
         439794.00    3765325.00        0.22753                      
439799.00    3765325.00        0.22770                         
         439804.00    3765325.00        0.22785                      
439809.00    3765325.00        0.22801                         
         439814.00    3765325.00        0.22815                      
439819.00    3765325.00        0.22828                         
         439824.00    3765325.00        0.22840                      
439829.00    3765325.00        0.22851                         
         439839.00    3765325.00        0.22870                      
439844.00    3765325.00        0.22878                         
         439849.00    3765325.00        0.22884                      
439854.00    3765325.00        0.22889                         

220

Item D - 802 of 1893



         439859.00    3765325.00        0.22893                      
439864.00    3765325.00        0.22895                         
         439869.00    3765325.00        0.22896                      
439874.00    3765325.00        0.22896                         
         439879.00    3765325.00        0.22894                      
439884.00    3765325.00        0.22891                         
         439674.00    3765330.00        0.22476                      
439679.00    3765330.00        0.22503                         
         439684.00    3765330.00        0.22531                      
439689.00    3765330.00        0.22558                         

221

Item D - 803 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  68
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439694.00    3765330.00        0.22586                      
439699.00    3765330.00        0.22613                         
         439704.00    3765330.00        0.22640                      
439709.00    3765330.00        0.22667                         
         439714.00    3765330.00        0.22694                      
439719.00    3765330.00        0.22721                         
         439729.00    3765330.00        0.22774                      
439734.00    3765330.00        0.22800                         
         439739.00    3765330.00        0.22825                      
439744.00    3765330.00        0.22851                         
         439749.00    3765330.00        0.22876                      
439754.00    3765330.00        0.22900                         
         439774.00    3765330.00        0.22993                      
439779.00    3765330.00        0.23014                         
         439784.00    3765330.00        0.23036                      
439789.00    3765330.00        0.23056                         
         439794.00    3765330.00        0.23075                      
439799.00    3765330.00        0.23094                         

222

Item D - 804 of 1893



         439804.00    3765330.00        0.23112                      
439809.00    3765330.00        0.23129                         
         439814.00    3765330.00        0.23144                      
439819.00    3765330.00        0.23159                         
         439824.00    3765330.00        0.23173                      
439829.00    3765330.00        0.23185                         
         439839.00    3765330.00        0.23207                      
439844.00    3765330.00        0.23216                         
         439849.00    3765330.00        0.23224                      
439854.00    3765330.00        0.23230                         
         439859.00    3765330.00        0.23236                      
439864.00    3765330.00        0.23240                         
         439869.00    3765330.00        0.23242                      
439874.00    3765330.00        0.23243                         
         439879.00    3765330.00        0.23243                      
439884.00    3765330.00        0.23241                         
         439674.00    3765335.00        0.22774                      
439679.00    3765335.00        0.22803                         
         439684.00    3765335.00        0.22831                      
439689.00    3765335.00        0.22860                         
         439694.00    3765335.00        0.22888                      
439699.00    3765335.00        0.22917                         
         439704.00    3765335.00        0.22945                      
439709.00    3765335.00        0.22973                         
         439714.00    3765335.00        0.23001                      
439719.00    3765335.00        0.23029                         
         439729.00    3765335.00        0.23084                      
439734.00    3765335.00        0.23112                         
         439739.00    3765335.00        0.23139                      
439744.00    3765335.00        0.23165                         
         439749.00    3765335.00        0.23192                      
439774.00    3765335.00        0.23316                         
         439779.00    3765335.00        0.23340                      
439784.00    3765335.00        0.23363                         
         439789.00    3765335.00        0.23384                      
439794.00    3765335.00        0.23405                         
         439839.00    3765335.00        0.23552                      
439844.00    3765335.00        0.23563                         
         439849.00    3765335.00        0.23572                      
439854.00    3765335.00        0.23580                         
         439859.00    3765335.00        0.23587                      
439864.00    3765335.00        0.23592                         
         439869.00    3765335.00        0.23596                      
439874.00    3765335.00        0.23599                         
         439879.00    3765335.00        0.23600                      
439884.00    3765335.00        0.23599                         
         439674.00    3765340.00        0.23080                      
439679.00    3765340.00        0.23109                         
         439684.00    3765340.00        0.23139                      
439689.00    3765340.00        0.23168                         
         439694.00    3765340.00        0.23198                      
439699.00    3765340.00        0.23227                         

223

Item D - 805 of 1893



         439704.00    3765340.00        0.23257                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.23286                         
         439714.00    3765340.00        0.23315                      
439719.00    3765340.00        0.23344                         
         439729.00    3765340.00        0.23402                      
439734.00    3765340.00        0.23430                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.23459                      
439744.00    3765340.00        0.23487                         
         439749.00    3765340.00        0.23515                      
439774.00    3765340.00        0.23648                         

224

Item D - 806 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  69
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439779.00    3765340.00        0.23672                      
439784.00    3765340.00        0.23696                         
         439789.00    3765340.00        0.23720                      
439794.00    3765340.00        0.23743                         
         439839.00    3765340.00        0.23905                      
439844.00    3765340.00        0.23917                         
         439849.00    3765340.00        0.23928                      
439854.00    3765340.00        0.23938                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.23946                      
439864.00    3765340.00        0.23954                         
         439869.00    3765340.00        0.23959                      
439874.00    3765340.00        0.23963                         
         439879.00    3765340.00        0.23966                      
439884.00    3765340.00        0.23966                         
         439674.00    3765345.00        0.23392                      
439679.00    3765345.00        0.23423                         
         439684.00    3765345.00        0.23453                      
439689.00    3765345.00        0.23483                         

225

Item D - 807 of 1893



         439694.00    3765345.00        0.23514                      
439699.00    3765345.00        0.23544                         
         439704.00    3765345.00        0.23575                      
439709.00    3765345.00        0.23605                         
         439714.00    3765345.00        0.23636                      
439719.00    3765345.00        0.23666                         
         439729.00    3765345.00        0.23726                      
439734.00    3765345.00        0.23757                         
         439739.00    3765345.00        0.23786                      
439744.00    3765345.00        0.23816                         
         439749.00    3765345.00        0.23845                      
439774.00    3765345.00        0.23986                         
         439779.00    3765345.00        0.24012                      
439784.00    3765345.00        0.24038                         
         439789.00    3765345.00        0.24063                      
439794.00    3765345.00        0.24088                         
         439839.00    3765345.00        0.24266                      
439844.00    3765345.00        0.24281                         
         439849.00    3765345.00        0.24293                      
439854.00    3765345.00        0.24305                         
         439859.00    3765345.00        0.24315                      
439864.00    3765345.00        0.24323                         
         439869.00    3765345.00        0.24330                      
439874.00    3765345.00        0.24336                         
         439879.00    3765345.00        0.24340                      
439884.00    3765345.00        0.24343                         
         439674.00    3765350.00        0.23712                      
439679.00    3765350.00        0.23743                         
         439684.00    3765350.00        0.23774                      
439689.00    3765350.00        0.23806                         
         439694.00    3765350.00        0.23837                      
439699.00    3765350.00        0.23869                         
         439704.00    3765350.00        0.23900                      
439709.00    3765350.00        0.23932                         
         439714.00    3765350.00        0.23964                      
439719.00    3765350.00        0.23995                         
         439729.00    3765350.00        0.24058                      
439734.00    3765350.00        0.24090                         
         439739.00    3765350.00        0.24121                      
439744.00    3765350.00        0.24152                         
         439749.00    3765350.00        0.24183                      
439774.00    3765350.00        0.24332                         
         439779.00    3765350.00        0.24360                      
439784.00    3765350.00        0.24388                         
         439789.00    3765350.00        0.24415                      
439794.00    3765350.00        0.24441                         
         439839.00    3765350.00        0.24637                      
439844.00    3765350.00        0.24652                         
         439849.00    3765350.00        0.24667                      
439854.00    3765350.00        0.24680                         
         439859.00    3765350.00        0.24692                      
439864.00    3765350.00        0.24702                         

226

Item D - 808 of 1893



         439869.00    3765350.00        0.24712                      
439874.00    3765350.00        0.24719                         
         439879.00    3765350.00        0.24725                      
439884.00    3765350.00        0.24729                         
         439674.00    3765355.00        0.24039                      
439679.00    3765355.00        0.24071                         
         439684.00    3765355.00        0.24104                      
439689.00    3765355.00        0.24135                         
         439694.00    3765355.00        0.24169                      
439699.00    3765355.00        0.24201                         

227

Item D - 809 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  70
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439704.00    3765355.00        0.24234                      
439709.00    3765355.00        0.24266                         
         439714.00    3765355.00        0.24299                      
439719.00    3765355.00        0.24332                         
         439729.00    3765355.00        0.24398                      
439734.00    3765355.00        0.24430                         
         439739.00    3765355.00        0.24464                      
439744.00    3765355.00        0.24495                         
         439749.00    3765355.00        0.24528                      
439774.00    3765355.00        0.24685                         
         439779.00    3765355.00        0.24715                      
439784.00    3765355.00        0.24745                         
         439789.00    3765355.00        0.24774                      
439794.00    3765355.00        0.24802                         
         439839.00    3765355.00        0.25015                      
439844.00    3765355.00        0.25034                         
         439849.00    3765355.00        0.25050                      
439854.00    3765355.00        0.25065                         

228

Item D - 810 of 1893



         439859.00    3765355.00        0.25079                      
439864.00    3765355.00        0.25091                         
         439869.00    3765355.00        0.25102                      
439874.00    3765355.00        0.25111                         
         439879.00    3765355.00        0.25119                      
439884.00    3765355.00        0.25125                         
         439674.00    3765360.00        0.24374                      
439679.00    3765360.00        0.24407                         
         439684.00    3765360.00        0.24440                      
439689.00    3765360.00        0.24474                         
         439694.00    3765360.00        0.24507                      
439699.00    3765360.00        0.24541                         
         439704.00    3765360.00        0.24575                      
439709.00    3765360.00        0.24608                         
         439714.00    3765360.00        0.24643                      
439719.00    3765360.00        0.24677                         
         439729.00    3765360.00        0.24745                      
439734.00    3765360.00        0.24779                         
         439739.00    3765360.00        0.24813                      
439744.00    3765360.00        0.24848                         
         439749.00    3765360.00        0.24881                      
439774.00    3765360.00        0.25047                         
         439779.00    3765360.00        0.25079                      
439784.00    3765360.00        0.25111                         
         439789.00    3765360.00        0.25142                      
439794.00    3765360.00        0.25172                         
         439799.00    3765360.00        0.25202                      
439804.00    3765360.00        0.25230                         
         439809.00    3765360.00        0.25258                      
439814.00    3765360.00        0.25285                         
         439839.00    3765360.00        0.25404                      
439844.00    3765360.00        0.25423                         
         439849.00    3765360.00        0.25443                      
439854.00    3765360.00        0.25460                         
         439859.00    3765360.00        0.25476                      
439864.00    3765360.00        0.25490                         
         439869.00    3765360.00        0.25503                      
439874.00    3765360.00        0.25514                         
         439879.00    3765360.00        0.25523                      
439884.00    3765360.00        0.25531                         
         439674.00    3765365.00        0.24717                      
439679.00    3765365.00        0.24751                         
         439684.00    3765365.00        0.24785                      
439689.00    3765365.00        0.24820                         
         439694.00    3765365.00        0.24854                      
439699.00    3765365.00        0.24889                         
         439704.00    3765365.00        0.24923                      
439709.00    3765365.00        0.24959                         
         439714.00    3765365.00        0.24994                      
439719.00    3765365.00        0.25029                         
         439729.00    3765365.00        0.25100                      
439734.00    3765365.00        0.25136                         

229

Item D - 811 of 1893



         439739.00    3765365.00        0.25172                      
439744.00    3765365.00        0.25207                         
         439749.00    3765365.00        0.25243                      
439774.00    3765365.00        0.25418                         
         439779.00    3765365.00        0.25452                      
439784.00    3765365.00        0.25486                         
         439789.00    3765365.00        0.25518                      
439794.00    3765365.00        0.25551                         
         439799.00    3765365.00        0.25582                      
439804.00    3765365.00        0.25613                         

230

Item D - 812 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  71
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765365.00        0.25643                      
439814.00    3765365.00        0.25673                         
         439839.00    3765365.00        0.25802                      
439844.00    3765365.00        0.25824                         
         439849.00    3765365.00        0.25845                      
439854.00    3765365.00        0.25864                         
         439859.00    3765365.00        0.25882                      
439864.00    3765365.00        0.25899                         
         439869.00    3765365.00        0.25914                      
439874.00    3765365.00        0.25926                         
         439879.00    3765365.00        0.25939                      
439884.00    3765365.00        0.25948                         
         439674.00    3765370.00        0.25068                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.25103                         
         439684.00    3765370.00        0.25138                      
439689.00    3765370.00        0.25173                         
         439694.00    3765370.00        0.25209                      
439699.00    3765370.00        0.25245                         

231

Item D - 813 of 1893



         439704.00    3765370.00        0.25281                      
439709.00    3765370.00        0.25317                         
         439714.00    3765370.00        0.25354                      
439719.00    3765370.00        0.25390                         
         439729.00    3765370.00        0.25465                      
439734.00    3765370.00        0.25501                         
         439739.00    3765370.00        0.25539                      
439744.00    3765370.00        0.25576                         
         439749.00    3765370.00        0.25613                      
439774.00    3765370.00        0.25797                         
         439779.00    3765370.00        0.25833                      
439784.00    3765370.00        0.25869                         
         439789.00    3765370.00        0.25904                      
439794.00    3765370.00        0.25938                         
         439799.00    3765370.00        0.25972                      
439804.00    3765370.00        0.26005                         
         439809.00    3765370.00        0.26038                      
439814.00    3765370.00        0.26069                         
         439839.00    3765370.00        0.26210                      
439844.00    3765370.00        0.26235                         
         439849.00    3765370.00        0.26257                      
439854.00    3765370.00        0.26280                         
         439859.00    3765370.00        0.26299                      
439864.00    3765370.00        0.26318                         
         439869.00    3765370.00        0.26335                      
439874.00    3765370.00        0.26351                         
         439879.00    3765370.00        0.26364                      
439884.00    3765370.00        0.26376                         
         439674.00    3765375.00        0.25428                      
439679.00    3765375.00        0.25464                         
         439684.00    3765375.00        0.25500                      
439689.00    3765375.00        0.25537                         
         439694.00    3765375.00        0.25573                      
439699.00    3765375.00        0.25610                         
         439704.00    3765375.00        0.25647                      
439709.00    3765375.00        0.25685                         
         439714.00    3765375.00        0.25722                      
439719.00    3765375.00        0.25760                         
         439729.00    3765375.00        0.25837                      
439734.00    3765375.00        0.25876                         
         439739.00    3765375.00        0.25914                      
439744.00    3765375.00        0.25953                         
         439749.00    3765375.00        0.25992                      
439754.00    3765375.00        0.26032                         
         439774.00    3765375.00        0.26186                      
439779.00    3765375.00        0.26224                         
         439784.00    3765375.00        0.26262                      
439789.00    3765375.00        0.26299                         
         439794.00    3765375.00        0.26335                      
439799.00    3765375.00        0.26372                         
         439804.00    3765375.00        0.26407                      
439809.00    3765375.00        0.26442                         

232

Item D - 814 of 1893



         439814.00    3765375.00        0.26475                      
439839.00    3765375.00        0.26629                         
         439844.00    3765375.00        0.26655                      
439849.00    3765375.00        0.26682                         
         439854.00    3765375.00        0.26705                      
439859.00    3765375.00        0.26728                         
         439864.00    3765375.00        0.26748                      
439869.00    3765375.00        0.26768                         
         439874.00    3765375.00        0.26786                      
439879.00    3765375.00        0.26801                         

233

Item D - 815 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  72
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439884.00    3765375.00        0.26815                      
439774.00    3765380.00        0.26584                         
         439779.00    3765380.00        0.26624                      
439784.00    3765380.00        0.26664                         
         439789.00    3765380.00        0.26703                      
439794.00    3765380.00        0.26743                         
         439799.00    3765380.00        0.26781                      
439804.00    3765380.00        0.26819                         
         439809.00    3765380.00        0.26855                      
439814.00    3765380.00        0.26893                         
         439769.00    3765385.00        0.26949                      
439819.00    3765385.00        0.27358                         
         439769.00    3765400.00        0.28228                      
439844.00    3765400.00        0.28933                         
         439849.00    3765400.00        0.28974                      
439674.00    3765405.00        0.27798                         
         439714.00    3765405.00        0.28138                      
439719.00    3765405.00        0.28184                         

234

Item D - 816 of 1893



         439734.00    3765405.00        0.28326                      
439749.00    3765405.00        0.28473                         
         439754.00    3765405.00        0.28523                      
439774.00    3765405.00        0.28728                         
         439779.00    3765405.00        0.28781                      
439784.00    3765405.00        0.28832                         
         439789.00    3765405.00        0.28884                      
439794.00    3765405.00        0.28937                         
         439799.00    3765405.00        0.28989                      
439804.00    3765405.00        0.29040                         
         439809.00    3765405.00        0.29091                      
439814.00    3765405.00        0.29142                         
         439819.00    3765405.00        0.29192                      
439824.00    3765405.00        0.29241                         
         439829.00    3765405.00        0.29289                      
439834.00    3765405.00        0.29337                         
         439839.00    3765405.00        0.29382                      
439844.00    3765405.00        0.29427                         
         439849.00    3765405.00        0.29471                      
439854.00    3765405.00        0.29512                         
         439859.00    3765405.00        0.29552                      
439674.00    3765410.00        0.28232                         
         439679.00    3765410.00        0.28273                      
439684.00    3765410.00        0.28314                         
         439689.00    3765410.00        0.28356                      
439694.00    3765410.00        0.28400                         
         439699.00    3765410.00        0.28443                      
439704.00    3765410.00        0.28488                         
         439709.00    3765410.00        0.28533                      
439714.00    3765410.00        0.28580                         
         439719.00    3765410.00        0.28626                      
439729.00    3765410.00        0.28723                         
         439734.00    3765410.00        0.28772                      
439739.00    3765410.00        0.28822                         
         439744.00    3765410.00        0.28874                      
439749.00    3765410.00        0.28925                         
         439774.00    3765410.00        0.29192                      
439779.00    3765410.00        0.29246                         
         439784.00    3765410.00        0.29300                      
439789.00    3765410.00        0.29356                         
         439794.00    3765410.00        0.29411                      
439799.00    3765410.00        0.29465                         
         439804.00    3765410.00        0.29520                      
439809.00    3765410.00        0.29575                         
         439814.00    3765410.00        0.29628                      
439819.00    3765410.00        0.29682                         
         439824.00    3765410.00        0.29734                      
439829.00    3765410.00        0.29786                         
         439834.00    3765410.00        0.29836                      
439839.00    3765410.00        0.29887                         
         439844.00    3765410.00        0.29934                      
439849.00    3765410.00        0.29982                         

235

Item D - 817 of 1893



         439854.00    3765410.00        0.30027                      
439859.00    3765410.00        0.30071                         
         439674.00    3765415.00        0.28678                      
439679.00    3765415.00        0.28720                         
         439684.00    3765415.00        0.28762                      
439689.00    3765415.00        0.28806                         
         439694.00    3765415.00        0.28848                      
439699.00    3765415.00        0.28894                         
         439704.00    3765415.00        0.28939                      
439709.00    3765415.00        0.28985                         

236

Item D - 818 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  73
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439714.00    3765415.00        0.29032                      
439719.00    3765415.00        0.29081                         
         439729.00    3765415.00        0.29180                      
439734.00    3765415.00        0.29231                         
         439739.00    3765415.00        0.29283                      
439744.00    3765415.00        0.29335                         
         439749.00    3765415.00        0.29389                      
439774.00    3765415.00        0.29666                         
         439779.00    3765415.00        0.29724                      
439784.00    3765415.00        0.29782                         
         439789.00    3765415.00        0.29839                      
439794.00    3765415.00        0.29897                         
         439799.00    3765415.00        0.29955                      
439804.00    3765415.00        0.30014                         
         439809.00    3765415.00        0.30071                      
439814.00    3765415.00        0.30129                         
         439819.00    3765415.00        0.30185                      
439824.00    3765415.00        0.30241                         

237

Item D - 819 of 1893



         439829.00    3765415.00        0.30296                      
439834.00    3765415.00        0.30352                         
         439839.00    3765415.00        0.30404                      
439844.00    3765415.00        0.30457                         
         439849.00    3765415.00        0.30507                      
439854.00    3765415.00        0.30556                         
         439859.00    3765415.00        0.30604                      
439674.00    3765420.00        0.29139                         
         439679.00    3765420.00        0.29180                      
439684.00    3765420.00        0.29224                         
         439689.00    3765420.00        0.29266                      
439694.00    3765420.00        0.29312                         
         439699.00    3765420.00        0.29357                      
439704.00    3765420.00        0.29403                         
         439709.00    3765420.00        0.29450                      
439714.00    3765420.00        0.29499                         
         439719.00    3765420.00        0.29548                      
439729.00    3765420.00        0.29650                         
         439734.00    3765420.00        0.29703                      
439739.00    3765420.00        0.29756                         
         439744.00    3765420.00        0.29810                      
439749.00    3765420.00        0.29865                         
         439774.00    3765420.00        0.30155                      
439779.00    3765420.00        0.30215                         
         439784.00    3765420.00        0.30275                      
439789.00    3765420.00        0.30336                         
         439794.00    3765420.00        0.30397                      
439799.00    3765420.00        0.30459                         
         439804.00    3765420.00        0.30519                      
439809.00    3765420.00        0.30582                         
         439814.00    3765420.00        0.30641                      
439819.00    3765420.00        0.30703                         
         439824.00    3765420.00        0.30762                      
439829.00    3765420.00        0.30822                         
         439834.00    3765420.00        0.30879                      
439839.00    3765420.00        0.30938                         
         439844.00    3765420.00        0.30993                      
439849.00    3765420.00        0.31048                         
         439854.00    3765420.00        0.31101                      
439859.00    3765420.00        0.31153                         
         439674.00    3765425.00        0.29612                      
439679.00    3765425.00        0.29655                         
         439684.00    3765425.00        0.29698                      
439689.00    3765425.00        0.29743                         
         439694.00    3765425.00        0.29787                      
439699.00    3765425.00        0.29834                         
         439704.00    3765425.00        0.29881                      
439709.00    3765425.00        0.29930                         
         439714.00    3765425.00        0.29978                      
439719.00    3765425.00        0.30030                         
         439729.00    3765425.00        0.30134                      
439734.00    3765425.00        0.30188                         

238

Item D - 820 of 1893



         439739.00    3765425.00        0.30243                      
439744.00    3765425.00        0.30299                         
         439749.00    3765425.00        0.30356                      
439774.00    3765425.00        0.30657                         
         439779.00    3765425.00        0.30719                      
439784.00    3765425.00        0.30783                         
         439789.00    3765425.00        0.30846                      
439794.00    3765425.00        0.30911                         
         439799.00    3765425.00        0.30976                      
439804.00    3765425.00        0.31041                         

239

Item D - 821 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  74
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765425.00        0.31105                      
439814.00    3765425.00        0.31171                         
         439819.00    3765425.00        0.31234                      
439824.00    3765425.00        0.31299                         
         439829.00    3765425.00        0.31361                      
439834.00    3765425.00        0.31425                         
         439839.00    3765425.00        0.31485                      
439844.00    3765425.00        0.31547                         
         439849.00    3765425.00        0.31605                      
439854.00    3765425.00        0.31663                         
         439859.00    3765425.00        0.31718                      
439674.00    3765430.00        0.30101                         
         439679.00    3765430.00        0.30144                      
439684.00    3765430.00        0.30188                         
         439689.00    3765430.00        0.30232                      
439694.00    3765430.00        0.30279                         
         439699.00    3765430.00        0.30325                      
439704.00    3765430.00        0.30374                         

240

Item D - 822 of 1893



         439709.00    3765430.00        0.30422                      
439714.00    3765430.00        0.30473                         
         439719.00    3765430.00        0.30524                      
439729.00    3765430.00        0.30631                         
         439734.00    3765430.00        0.30687                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.30743                         
         439744.00    3765430.00        0.30801                      
439749.00    3765430.00        0.30860                         
         439774.00    3765430.00        0.31173                      
439779.00    3765430.00        0.31238                         
         439784.00    3765430.00        0.31304                      
439789.00    3765430.00        0.31372                         
         439794.00    3765430.00        0.31439                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.31507                         
         439804.00    3765430.00        0.31576                      
439809.00    3765430.00        0.31645                         
         439814.00    3765430.00        0.31713                      
439819.00    3765430.00        0.31782                         
         439824.00    3765430.00        0.31850                      
439829.00    3765430.00        0.31918                         
         439834.00    3765430.00        0.31984                      
439839.00    3765430.00        0.32051                         
         439844.00    3765430.00        0.32115                      
439849.00    3765430.00        0.32179                         
         439854.00    3765430.00        0.32241                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.32302                         
         439674.00    3765435.00        0.30605                      
439679.00    3765435.00        0.30648                         
         439684.00    3765435.00        0.30693                      
439689.00    3765435.00        0.30738                         
         439694.00    3765435.00        0.30784                      
439699.00    3765435.00        0.30832                         
         439704.00    3765435.00        0.30880                      
439709.00    3765435.00        0.30931                         
         439714.00    3765435.00        0.30982                      
439719.00    3765435.00        0.31035                         
         439729.00    3765435.00        0.31144                      
439734.00    3765435.00        0.31201                         
         439739.00    3765435.00        0.31259                      
439744.00    3765435.00        0.31319                         
         439749.00    3765435.00        0.31379                      
439774.00    3765435.00        0.31704                         
         439779.00    3765435.00        0.31772                      
439784.00    3765435.00        0.31842                         
         439789.00    3765435.00        0.31912                      
439794.00    3765435.00        0.31983                         
         439799.00    3765435.00        0.32055                      
439804.00    3765435.00        0.32127                         
         439809.00    3765435.00        0.32199                      
439814.00    3765435.00        0.32273                         
         439819.00    3765435.00        0.32345                      
439824.00    3765435.00        0.32418                         

241

Item D - 823 of 1893



         439829.00    3765435.00        0.32489                      
439834.00    3765435.00        0.32562                         
         439839.00    3765435.00        0.32631                      
439844.00    3765435.00        0.32702                         
         439849.00    3765435.00        0.32770                      
439854.00    3765435.00        0.32837                         
         439859.00    3765435.00        0.32902                      
439674.00    3765440.00        0.31125                         
         439679.00    3765440.00        0.31169                      
439684.00    3765440.00        0.31214                         

242

Item D - 824 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  75
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439689.00    3765440.00        0.31259                      
439694.00    3765440.00        0.31307                         
         439699.00    3765440.00        0.31354                      
439704.00    3765440.00        0.31405                         
         439709.00    3765440.00        0.31455                      
439714.00    3765440.00        0.31507                         
         439719.00    3765440.00        0.31561                      
439729.00    3765440.00        0.31672                         
         439734.00    3765440.00        0.31730                      
439739.00    3765440.00        0.31790                         
         439744.00    3765440.00        0.31851                      
439749.00    3765440.00        0.31914                         
         439774.00    3765440.00        0.32250                      
439779.00    3765440.00        0.32321                         
         439784.00    3765440.00        0.32394                      
439789.00    3765440.00        0.32468                         
         439794.00    3765440.00        0.32542                      
439799.00    3765440.00        0.32618                         

243

Item D - 825 of 1893



         439804.00    3765440.00        0.32694                      
439809.00    3765440.00        0.32771                         
         439814.00    3765440.00        0.32847                      
439819.00    3765440.00        0.32925                         
         439824.00    3765440.00        0.33002                      
439829.00    3765440.00        0.33079                         
         439834.00    3765440.00        0.33155                      
439839.00    3765440.00        0.33231                         
         439844.00    3765440.00        0.33306                      
439849.00    3765440.00        0.33380                         
         439854.00    3765440.00        0.33452                      
439859.00    3765440.00        0.33522                         
         439674.00    3765445.00        0.31663                      
439679.00    3765445.00        0.31707                         
         439684.00    3765445.00        0.31752                      
439689.00    3765445.00        0.31799                         
         439694.00    3765445.00        0.31846                      
439699.00    3765445.00        0.31895                         
         439704.00    3765445.00        0.31944                      
439709.00    3765445.00        0.31996                         
         439714.00    3765445.00        0.32049                      
439719.00    3765445.00        0.32103                         
         439729.00    3765445.00        0.32217                      
439734.00    3765445.00        0.32276                         
         439739.00    3765445.00        0.32338                      
439744.00    3765445.00        0.32400                         
         439749.00    3765445.00        0.32465                      
439774.00    3765445.00        0.32813                         
         439779.00    3765445.00        0.32887                      
439784.00    3765445.00        0.32963                         
         439789.00    3765445.00        0.33040                      
439794.00    3765445.00        0.33118                         
         439799.00    3765445.00        0.33197                      
439804.00    3765445.00        0.33278                         
         439809.00    3765445.00        0.33358                      
439814.00    3765445.00        0.33441                         
         439819.00    3765445.00        0.33522                      
439824.00    3765445.00        0.33604                         
         439829.00    3765445.00        0.33685                      
439834.00    3765445.00        0.33768                         
         439839.00    3765445.00        0.33848                      
439844.00    3765445.00        0.33929                         
         439849.00    3765445.00        0.34007                      
439854.00    3765445.00        0.34086                         
         439859.00    3765445.00        0.34162                      
439674.00    3765450.00        0.32219                         
         439679.00    3765450.00        0.32263                      
439684.00    3765450.00        0.32308                         
         439689.00    3765450.00        0.32355                      
439694.00    3765450.00        0.32403                         
         439699.00    3765450.00        0.32452                      
439704.00    3765450.00        0.32503                         

244

Item D - 826 of 1893



         439709.00    3765450.00        0.32554                      
439714.00    3765450.00        0.32608                         
         439719.00    3765450.00        0.32664                      
439729.00    3765450.00        0.32779                         
         439734.00    3765450.00        0.32840                      
439739.00    3765450.00        0.32902                         
         439744.00    3765450.00        0.32967                      
439749.00    3765450.00        0.33033                         
         439774.00    3765450.00        0.33392                      
439844.00    3765450.00        0.34571                         

245

Item D - 827 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  76
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439849.00    3765450.00        0.34656                      
439854.00    3765450.00        0.34740                         
         439859.00    3765450.00        0.34823                      
439674.00    3765455.00        0.32794                         
         439679.00    3765455.00        0.32838                      
439684.00    3765455.00        0.32884                         
         439689.00    3765455.00        0.32931                      
439694.00    3765455.00        0.32979                         
         439699.00    3765455.00        0.33028                      
439704.00    3765455.00        0.33079                         
         439709.00    3765455.00        0.33132                      
439714.00    3765455.00        0.33186                         
         439719.00    3765455.00        0.33242                      
439729.00    3765455.00        0.33360                         
         439734.00    3765455.00        0.33422                      
439739.00    3765455.00        0.33485                         
         439744.00    3765455.00        0.33551                      
439749.00    3765455.00        0.33619                         

246

Item D - 828 of 1893



         439844.00    3765455.00        0.35234                      
439849.00    3765455.00        0.35325                         
         439854.00    3765455.00        0.35416                      
439859.00    3765455.00        0.35505                         
         439674.00    3765460.00        0.33390                      
439679.00    3765460.00        0.33434                         
         439684.00    3765460.00        0.33480                      
439689.00    3765460.00        0.33526                         
         439694.00    3765460.00        0.33575                      
439699.00    3765460.00        0.33624                         
         439704.00    3765460.00        0.33676                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.33729                         
         439714.00    3765460.00        0.33784                      
439719.00    3765460.00        0.33840                         
         439729.00    3765460.00        0.33960                      
439734.00    3765460.00        0.34023                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.34088                      
439744.00    3765460.00        0.34155                         
         439749.00    3765460.00        0.34225                      
439789.00    3765460.00        0.34863                         
         439794.00    3765460.00        0.34953                      
439799.00    3765460.00        0.35045                         
         439804.00    3765460.00        0.35138                      
439809.00    3765460.00        0.35233                         
         439814.00    3765460.00        0.35328                      
439819.00    3765460.00        0.35426                         
         439824.00    3765460.00        0.35524                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.35623                         
         439844.00    3765460.00        0.35919                      
439849.00    3765460.00        0.36017                         
         439854.00    3765460.00        0.36114                      
439859.00    3765460.00        0.36210                         
         439674.00    3765465.00        0.34007                      
439679.00    3765465.00        0.34051                         
         439684.00    3765465.00        0.34096                      
439689.00    3765465.00        0.34144                         
         439694.00    3765465.00        0.34192                      
439699.00    3765465.00        0.34242                         
         439704.00    3765465.00        0.34294                      
439709.00    3765465.00        0.34347                         
         439714.00    3765465.00        0.34402                      
439719.00    3765465.00        0.34460                         
         439729.00    3765465.00        0.34580                      
439734.00    3765465.00        0.34645                         
         439739.00    3765465.00        0.34710                      
439744.00    3765465.00        0.34779                         
         439749.00    3765465.00        0.34850                      
439789.00    3765465.00        0.35510                         
         439794.00    3765465.00        0.35604                      
439799.00    3765465.00        0.35700                         
         439804.00    3765465.00        0.35797                      
439809.00    3765465.00        0.35897                         

247

Item D - 829 of 1893



         439814.00    3765465.00        0.35998                      
439819.00    3765465.00        0.36101                         
         439824.00    3765465.00        0.36205                      
439829.00    3765465.00        0.36309                         
         439844.00    3765465.00        0.36626                      
439849.00    3765465.00        0.36731                         
         439854.00    3765465.00        0.36835                      
439859.00    3765465.00        0.36938                         
         439674.00    3765470.00        0.34647                      
439679.00    3765470.00        0.34691                         

248

Item D - 830 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  77
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765470.00        0.34737                      
439689.00    3765470.00        0.34783                         
         439694.00    3765470.00        0.34832                      
439699.00    3765470.00        0.34882                         
         439704.00    3765470.00        0.34934                      
439709.00    3765470.00        0.34987                         
         439714.00    3765470.00        0.35043                      
439719.00    3765470.00        0.35101                         
         439729.00    3765470.00        0.35224                      
439734.00    3765470.00        0.35288                         
         439739.00    3765470.00        0.35355                      
439744.00    3765470.00        0.35425                         
         439749.00    3765470.00        0.35498                      
439789.00    3765470.00        0.36178                         
         439794.00    3765470.00        0.36276                      
439799.00    3765470.00        0.36375                         
         439804.00    3765470.00        0.36478                      
439809.00    3765470.00        0.36583                         

249

Item D - 831 of 1893



         439814.00    3765470.00        0.36689                      
439819.00    3765470.00        0.36798                         
         439824.00    3765470.00        0.36908                      
439829.00    3765470.00        0.37019                         
         439844.00    3765470.00        0.37356                      
439849.00    3765470.00        0.37469                         
         439854.00    3765470.00        0.37581                      
439859.00    3765470.00        0.37692                         
         439674.00    3765475.00        0.35311                      
439679.00    3765475.00        0.35356                         
         439684.00    3765475.00        0.35400                      
439689.00    3765475.00        0.35448                         
         439694.00    3765475.00        0.35496                      
439699.00    3765475.00        0.35546                         
         439704.00    3765475.00        0.35598                      
439709.00    3765475.00        0.35652                         
         439714.00    3765475.00        0.35708                      
439719.00    3765475.00        0.35766                         
         439729.00    3765475.00        0.35889                      
439734.00    3765475.00        0.35955                         
         439739.00    3765475.00        0.36023                      
439744.00    3765475.00        0.36094                         
         439749.00    3765475.00        0.36167                      
439754.00    3765475.00        0.36244                         
         439789.00    3765475.00        0.36868                      
439794.00    3765475.00        0.36969                         
         439799.00    3765475.00        0.37074                      
439804.00    3765475.00        0.37181                         
         439809.00    3765475.00        0.37291                      
439814.00    3765475.00        0.37403                         
         439819.00    3765475.00        0.37518                      
439824.00    3765475.00        0.37634                         
         439829.00    3765475.00        0.37752                      
439269.00    3764900.00        0.09144                         
         439369.00    3764900.00        0.09303                      
439469.00    3764900.00        0.09372                         
         439569.00    3764900.00        0.09342                      
439669.00    3764900.00        0.09205                         
         439769.00    3764900.00        0.08956                      
439869.00    3764900.00        0.08595                         
         439969.00    3764900.00        0.08132                      
440069.00    3764900.00        0.07586                         
         440169.00    3764900.00        0.06989                      
440269.00    3764900.00        0.06376                         
         439269.00    3765000.00        0.10608                      
439369.00    3765000.00        0.10868                         
         439469.00    3765000.00        0.11028                      
439569.00    3765000.00        0.11078                         
         439669.00    3765000.00        0.11006                      
439769.00    3765000.00        0.10792                         
         439869.00    3765000.00        0.10420                      
439969.00    3765000.00        0.09894                         

250

Item D - 832 of 1893



         440069.00    3765000.00        0.09235                      
440169.00    3765000.00        0.08483                         
         440269.00    3765000.00        0.07690                      
439269.00    3765100.00        0.12459                         
         439369.00    3765100.00        0.12850                      
439469.00    3765100.00        0.13130                         
         439569.00    3765100.00        0.13298                      
439669.00    3765100.00        0.13341                         
         439769.00    3765100.00        0.13217                      
439869.00    3765100.00        0.12879                         

251

Item D - 833 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  78
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439969.00    3765100.00        0.12312                      
440069.00    3765100.00        0.11531                         
         440169.00    3765100.00        0.10585                      
440269.00    3765100.00        0.09541                         
         439269.00    3765200.00        0.14902                      
439369.00    3765200.00        0.15468                         
         439469.00    3765200.00        0.15903                      
439569.00    3765200.00        0.16230                         
         439669.00    3765200.00        0.16454                      
439769.00    3765200.00        0.16512                         
         439869.00    3765200.00        0.16299                      
439969.00    3765200.00        0.15753                         
         440069.00    3765200.00        0.14869                      
440169.00    3765200.00        0.13688                         
         440269.00    3765200.00        0.12290                      
439269.00    3765300.00        0.18311                         
         439369.00    3765300.00        0.19157                      
439469.00    3765300.00        0.19801                         

252

Item D - 834 of 1893



         439569.00    3765300.00        0.20318                      
439669.00    3765300.00        0.20788                         
         439769.00    3765300.00        0.21176                      
439869.00    3765300.00        0.21282                         
         439969.00    3765300.00        0.20910                      
440069.00    3765300.00        0.19997                         
         440169.00    3765300.00        0.18556                      
440269.00    3765300.00        0.16653                         
         439269.00    3765400.00        0.23447                      
439369.00    3765400.00        0.24842                         
         439469.00    3765400.00        0.25874                      
439569.00    3765400.00        0.26628                         
         439669.00    3765400.00        0.27337                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.28228                         
         439869.00    3765400.00        0.29117                      
439969.00    3765400.00        0.29317                         
         440069.00    3765400.00        0.28575                      
440169.00    3765400.00        0.26880                         
         440269.00    3765400.00        0.24269                      
439269.00    3765500.00        0.32255                         
         439369.00    3765500.00        0.34940                      
439469.00    3765500.00        0.36983                         
         439569.00    3765500.00        0.38223                      
439669.00    3765500.00        0.39015                         
         439769.00    3765500.00        0.40272                      
439869.00    3765500.00        0.43167                         
         439969.00    3765500.00        0.45599                      
440069.00    3765500.00        0.45477                         
         440169.00    3765500.00        0.43473                      
440269.00    3765500.00        0.39902                         
         439269.00    3765600.00        0.53003                      
439369.00    3765600.00        0.59110                         
         439469.00    3765600.00        0.64757                      
439569.00    3765600.00        0.67619                         
         439669.00    3765600.00        0.68610                      
439769.00    3765600.00        0.69464                         
         439869.00    3765600.00        0.75013                      
439969.00    3765600.00        0.99152                         
         440069.00    3765600.00        0.99187                      
440169.00    3765600.00        0.93788                         
         440269.00    3765600.00        0.86769                      
439269.00    3765700.00        3.04476                         
         439369.00    3765700.00        3.30958                      
439469.00    3765700.00        4.07275                         
         439569.00    3765700.00        4.33857                      
439669.00    3765700.00        4.26516                         
         439769.00    3765700.00        4.22817                      
439869.00    3765700.00        4.15175                         
         439969.00    3765700.00        4.29164                      
440069.00    3765700.00        4.99170                         
         440169.00    3765700.00        5.84784                      
440269.00    3765700.00        7.49644                         

253

Item D - 835 of 1893



         439269.00    3765800.00        1.13569                      
439369.00    3765800.00        1.22334                         
         439469.00    3765800.00        1.43259                      
439569.00    3765800.00        1.78112                         
         439669.00    3765800.00        2.08787                      
439769.00    3765800.00        2.62679                         
         439869.00    3765800.00        3.86597                      
439969.00    3765800.00        2.10074                         
         440069.00    3765800.00        1.74667                      
440169.00    3765800.00        1.68548                         

254

Item D - 836 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  79
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         440269.00    3765800.00        1.70829                      
439269.00    3765900.00        0.37802                         
         439369.00    3765900.00        0.44420                      
439469.00    3765900.00        0.50621                         
         439569.00    3765900.00        0.57509                      
439669.00    3765900.00        0.65261                         
         439769.00    3765900.00        0.72950                      
439869.00    3765900.00        0.79633                         
         439969.00    3765900.00        0.82815                      
440069.00    3765900.00        0.80664                         
         440169.00    3765900.00        0.77711                      
440269.00    3765900.00        0.76499                         
         439649.00    3765310.00        0.21221                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.21367                         
         439709.00    3765310.00        0.21506                      
439739.00    3765310.00        0.21636                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.21749                      
439799.00    3765310.00        0.21838                         

255

Item D - 837 of 1893



         439829.00    3765310.00        0.21894                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.21910                         
         439889.00    3765310.00        0.21882                      
439649.00    3765340.00        0.22934                         
         439679.00    3765340.00        0.23109                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.23286                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.23459                      
439769.00    3765340.00        0.23622                         
         439799.00    3765340.00        0.23765                      
439829.00    3765340.00        0.23877                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.23946                      
439889.00    3765340.00        0.23966                         
         439649.00    3765370.00        0.24898                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.25103                         
         439709.00    3765370.00        0.25317                      
439739.00    3765370.00        0.25539                         
         439769.00    3765370.00        0.25761                      
439799.00    3765370.00        0.25972                         
         439829.00    3765370.00        0.26157                      
439859.00    3765370.00        0.26299                         
         439889.00    3765370.00        0.26386                      
439649.00    3765400.00        0.27186                         
         439679.00    3765400.00        0.27416                      
439709.00    3765400.00        0.27665                         
         439739.00    3765400.00        0.27938                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.28228                         
         439799.00    3765400.00        0.28524                      
439829.00    3765400.00        0.28806                         
         439859.00    3765400.00        0.29048                      
439889.00    3765400.00        0.29230                         
         439649.00    3765430.00        0.29898                      
439679.00    3765430.00        0.30144                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.30422                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.30743                         
         439769.00    3765430.00        0.31108                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.31507                         
         439829.00    3765430.00        0.31918                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.32302                         
         439889.00    3765430.00        0.32621                      
439649.00    3765460.00        0.33182                         
         439679.00    3765460.00        0.33434                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.33729                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.34088                      
439769.00    3765460.00        0.34526                         
         439799.00    3765460.00        0.35045                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.35623                         
         439859.00    3765460.00        0.36210                      
439889.00    3765460.00        0.36739                         
         439649.00    3765490.00        0.37266                      
439679.00    3765490.00        0.37510                         
         439709.00    3765490.00        0.37802                      
439739.00    3765490.00        0.38178                         

256

Item D - 838 of 1893



         439769.00    3765490.00        0.38676                      
439799.00    3765490.00        0.39318                         
         439829.00    3765490.00        0.40106                      
439859.00    3765490.00        0.40986                         
         439889.00    3765490.00        0.41850                                                                                     

257

Item D - 839 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  80
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439674.00    3765310.00        0.24726                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.24721                         
         439684.00    3765310.00        0.24715                      
439689.00    3765310.00        0.24709                         
         439694.00    3765310.00        0.24703                      
439699.00    3765310.00        0.24696                         
         439704.00    3765310.00        0.24689                      
439709.00    3765310.00        0.24681                         
         439714.00    3765310.00        0.24673                      
439719.00    3765310.00        0.24665                         
         439729.00    3765310.00        0.24647                      
439734.00    3765310.00        0.24638                         
         439739.00    3765310.00        0.24628                      
439744.00    3765310.00        0.24618                         
         439749.00    3765310.00        0.24607                      
439764.00    3765310.00        0.24572                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.24560                      
439774.00    3765310.00        0.24547                         
         439779.00    3765310.00        0.24534                      
439784.00    3765310.00        0.24520                         

258

Item D - 840 of 1893



         439789.00    3765310.00        0.24506                      
439794.00    3765310.00        0.24492                         
         439799.00    3765310.00        0.24477                      
439804.00    3765310.00        0.24461                         
         439809.00    3765310.00        0.24445                      
439814.00    3765310.00        0.24429                         
         439819.00    3765310.00        0.24412                      
439824.00    3765310.00        0.24395                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.24377                      
439839.00    3765310.00        0.24340                         
         439844.00    3765310.00        0.24321                      
439849.00    3765310.00        0.24301                         
         439854.00    3765310.00        0.24281                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.24260                         
         439864.00    3765310.00        0.24238                      
439869.00    3765310.00        0.24217                         
         439874.00    3765310.00        0.24194                      
439879.00    3765310.00        0.24171                         
         439884.00    3765310.00        0.24148                      
439674.00    3765315.00        0.25048                         
         439679.00    3765315.00        0.25043                      
439684.00    3765315.00        0.25038                         
         439689.00    3765315.00        0.25032                      
439694.00    3765315.00        0.25026                         
         439699.00    3765315.00        0.25020                      
439704.00    3765315.00        0.25013                         
         439709.00    3765315.00        0.25006                      
439714.00    3765315.00        0.24998                         
         439719.00    3765315.00        0.24990                      
439729.00    3765315.00        0.24973                         
         439734.00    3765315.00        0.24964                      
439739.00    3765315.00        0.24954                         
         439744.00    3765315.00        0.24944                      
439749.00    3765315.00        0.24934                         
         439764.00    3765315.00        0.24900                      
439769.00    3765315.00        0.24888                         
         439774.00    3765315.00        0.24875                      
439779.00    3765315.00        0.24862                         
         439784.00    3765315.00        0.24849                      
439789.00    3765315.00        0.24835                         
         439794.00    3765315.00        0.24821                      
439799.00    3765315.00        0.24806                         
         439804.00    3765315.00        0.24791                      
439809.00    3765315.00        0.24775                         
         439814.00    3765315.00        0.24760                      
439819.00    3765315.00        0.24743                         
         439824.00    3765315.00        0.24726                      
439829.00    3765315.00        0.24708                         
         439839.00    3765315.00        0.24672                      
439844.00    3765315.00        0.24653                         
         439849.00    3765315.00        0.24633                      
439854.00    3765315.00        0.24613                         

259

Item D - 841 of 1893



         439859.00    3765315.00        0.24592                      
439864.00    3765315.00        0.24572                         
         439869.00    3765315.00        0.24550                      
439874.00    3765315.00        0.24528                         
         439879.00    3765315.00        0.24505                      
439884.00    3765315.00        0.24482                         
         439674.00    3765320.00        0.25378                      
439679.00    3765320.00        0.25374                         

260

Item D - 842 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  81
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765320.00        0.25369                      
439689.00    3765320.00        0.25363                         
         439694.00    3765320.00        0.25357                      
439699.00    3765320.00        0.25351                         
         439704.00    3765320.00        0.25345                      
439709.00    3765320.00        0.25338                         
         439714.00    3765320.00        0.25330                      
439719.00    3765320.00        0.25323                         
         439729.00    3765320.00        0.25306                      
439734.00    3765320.00        0.25297                         
         439739.00    3765320.00        0.25288                      
439744.00    3765320.00        0.25278                         
         439749.00    3765320.00        0.25268                      
439764.00    3765320.00        0.25235                         
         439769.00    3765320.00        0.25223                      
439774.00    3765320.00        0.25211                         
         439779.00    3765320.00        0.25199                      
439784.00    3765320.00        0.25186                         
         439789.00    3765320.00        0.25172                      
439794.00    3765320.00        0.25158                         

261

Item D - 843 of 1893



         439799.00    3765320.00        0.25144                      
439804.00    3765320.00        0.25129                         
         439809.00    3765320.00        0.25113                      
439814.00    3765320.00        0.25098                         
         439819.00    3765320.00        0.25081                      
439824.00    3765320.00        0.25064                         
         439829.00    3765320.00        0.25047                      
439839.00    3765320.00        0.25011                         
         439844.00    3765320.00        0.24992                      
439849.00    3765320.00        0.24973                         
         439854.00    3765320.00        0.24953                      
439859.00    3765320.00        0.24933                         
         439864.00    3765320.00        0.24912                      
439869.00    3765320.00        0.24891                         
         439874.00    3765320.00        0.24869                      
439879.00    3765320.00        0.24846                         
         439884.00    3765320.00        0.24823                      
439674.00    3765325.00        0.25716                         
         439679.00    3765325.00        0.25712                      
439684.00    3765325.00        0.25707                         
         439689.00    3765325.00        0.25702                      
439694.00    3765325.00        0.25696                         
         439699.00    3765325.00        0.25690                      
439704.00    3765325.00        0.25684                         
         439709.00    3765325.00        0.25677                      
439714.00    3765325.00        0.25671                         
         439719.00    3765325.00        0.25663                      
439729.00    3765325.00        0.25647                         
         439734.00    3765325.00        0.25638                      
439739.00    3765325.00        0.25629                         
         439744.00    3765325.00        0.25620                      
439749.00    3765325.00        0.25610                         
         439754.00    3765325.00        0.25600                      
439769.00    3765325.00        0.25567                         
         439774.00    3765325.00        0.25555                      
439779.00    3765325.00        0.25542                         
         439784.00    3765325.00        0.25529                      
439789.00    3765325.00        0.25516                         
         439794.00    3765325.00        0.25503                      
439799.00    3765325.00        0.25488                         
         439804.00    3765325.00        0.25474                      
439809.00    3765325.00        0.25459                         
         439814.00    3765325.00        0.25443                      
439819.00    3765325.00        0.25427                         
         439824.00    3765325.00        0.25411                      
439829.00    3765325.00        0.25394                         
         439839.00    3765325.00        0.25358                      
439844.00    3765325.00        0.25340                         
         439849.00    3765325.00        0.25321                      
439854.00    3765325.00        0.25301                         
         439859.00    3765325.00        0.25281                      
439864.00    3765325.00        0.25260                         

262

Item D - 844 of 1893



         439869.00    3765325.00        0.25239                      
439874.00    3765325.00        0.25218                         
         439879.00    3765325.00        0.25196                      
439884.00    3765325.00        0.25173                         
         439674.00    3765330.00        0.26061                      
439679.00    3765330.00        0.26057                         
         439684.00    3765330.00        0.26053                      
439689.00    3765330.00        0.26048                         

263

Item D - 845 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  82
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439694.00    3765330.00        0.26043                      
439699.00    3765330.00        0.26037                         
         439704.00    3765330.00        0.26032                      
439709.00    3765330.00        0.26025                         
         439714.00    3765330.00        0.26018                      
439719.00    3765330.00        0.26011                         
         439729.00    3765330.00        0.25996                      
439734.00    3765330.00        0.25988                         
         439739.00    3765330.00        0.25979                      
439744.00    3765330.00        0.25970                         
         439749.00    3765330.00        0.25960                      
439754.00    3765330.00        0.25950                         
         439774.00    3765330.00        0.25906                      
439779.00    3765330.00        0.25894                         
         439784.00    3765330.00        0.25882                      
439789.00    3765330.00        0.25869                         
         439794.00    3765330.00        0.25855                      
439799.00    3765330.00        0.25841                         
         439804.00    3765330.00        0.25827                      
439809.00    3765330.00        0.25812                         

264

Item D - 846 of 1893



         439814.00    3765330.00        0.25797                      
439819.00    3765330.00        0.25781                         
         439824.00    3765330.00        0.25765                      
439829.00    3765330.00        0.25748                         
         439839.00    3765330.00        0.25713                      
439844.00    3765330.00        0.25695                         
         439849.00    3765330.00        0.25676                      
439854.00    3765330.00        0.25657                         
         439859.00    3765330.00        0.25638                      
439864.00    3765330.00        0.25617                         
         439869.00    3765330.00        0.25596                      
439874.00    3765330.00        0.25575                         
         439879.00    3765330.00        0.25553                      
439884.00    3765330.00        0.25531                         
         439674.00    3765335.00        0.26415                      
439679.00    3765335.00        0.26411                         
         439684.00    3765335.00        0.26407                      
439689.00    3765335.00        0.26403                         
         439694.00    3765335.00        0.26398                      
439699.00    3765335.00        0.26393                         
         439704.00    3765335.00        0.26387                      
439709.00    3765335.00        0.26381                         
         439714.00    3765335.00        0.26375                      
439719.00    3765335.00        0.26368                         
         439729.00    3765335.00        0.26353                      
439734.00    3765335.00        0.26345                         
         439739.00    3765335.00        0.26337                      
439744.00    3765335.00        0.26328                         
         439749.00    3765335.00        0.26319                      
439774.00    3765335.00        0.26266                         
         439779.00    3765335.00        0.26255                      
439784.00    3765335.00        0.26242                         
         439789.00    3765335.00        0.26230                      
439794.00    3765335.00        0.26217                         
         439839.00    3765335.00        0.26077                      
439844.00    3765335.00        0.26059                         
         439849.00    3765335.00        0.26041                      
439854.00    3765335.00        0.26022                         
         439859.00    3765335.00        0.26002                      
439864.00    3765335.00        0.25982                         
         439869.00    3765335.00        0.25962                      
439874.00    3765335.00        0.25941                         
         439879.00    3765335.00        0.25919                      
439884.00    3765335.00        0.25897                         
         439674.00    3765340.00        0.26777                      
439679.00    3765340.00        0.26774                         
         439684.00    3765340.00        0.26770                      
439689.00    3765340.00        0.26766                         
         439694.00    3765340.00        0.26762                      
439699.00    3765340.00        0.26756                         
         439704.00    3765340.00        0.26751                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.26746                         

265

Item D - 847 of 1893



         439714.00    3765340.00        0.26740                      
439719.00    3765340.00        0.26733                         
         439729.00    3765340.00        0.26719                      
439734.00    3765340.00        0.26711                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.26703                      
439744.00    3765340.00        0.26695                         
         439749.00    3765340.00        0.26686                      
439774.00    3765340.00        0.26635                         

266

Item D - 848 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  83
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439779.00    3765340.00        0.26624                      
439784.00    3765340.00        0.26612                         
         439789.00    3765340.00        0.26599                      
439794.00    3765340.00        0.26586                         
         439839.00    3765340.00        0.26450                      
439844.00    3765340.00        0.26432                         
         439849.00    3765340.00        0.26414                      
439854.00    3765340.00        0.26395                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.26376                      
439864.00    3765340.00        0.26356                         
         439869.00    3765340.00        0.26336                      
439874.00    3765340.00        0.26315                         
         439879.00    3765340.00        0.26294                      
439884.00    3765340.00        0.26272                         
         439674.00    3765345.00        0.27148                      
439679.00    3765345.00        0.27145                         
         439684.00    3765345.00        0.27142                      
439689.00    3765345.00        0.27138                         
         439694.00    3765345.00        0.27134                      
439699.00    3765345.00        0.27129                         

267

Item D - 849 of 1893



         439704.00    3765345.00        0.27125                      
439709.00    3765345.00        0.27119                         
         439714.00    3765345.00        0.27113                      
439719.00    3765345.00        0.27107                         
         439729.00    3765345.00        0.27094                      
439734.00    3765345.00        0.27086                         
         439739.00    3765345.00        0.27079                      
439744.00    3765345.00        0.27070                         
         439749.00    3765345.00        0.27062                      
439774.00    3765345.00        0.27013                         
         439779.00    3765345.00        0.27002                      
439784.00    3765345.00        0.26990                         
         439789.00    3765345.00        0.26978                      
439794.00    3765345.00        0.26965                         
         439839.00    3765345.00        0.26831                      
439844.00    3765345.00        0.26814                         
         439849.00    3765345.00        0.26796                      
439854.00    3765345.00        0.26778                         
         439859.00    3765345.00        0.26759                      
439864.00    3765345.00        0.26740                         
         439869.00    3765345.00        0.26719                      
439874.00    3765345.00        0.26699                         
         439879.00    3765345.00        0.26677                      
439884.00    3765345.00        0.26656                         
         439674.00    3765350.00        0.27528                      
439679.00    3765350.00        0.27526                         
         439684.00    3765350.00        0.27522                      
439689.00    3765350.00        0.27520                         
         439694.00    3765350.00        0.27515                      
439699.00    3765350.00        0.27512                         
         439704.00    3765350.00        0.27506                      
439709.00    3765350.00        0.27502                         
         439714.00    3765350.00        0.27496                      
439719.00    3765350.00        0.27491                         
         439729.00    3765350.00        0.27478                      
439734.00    3765350.00        0.27471                         
         439739.00    3765350.00        0.27463                      
439744.00    3765350.00        0.27456                         
         439749.00    3765350.00        0.27447                      
439774.00    3765350.00        0.27400                         
         439779.00    3765350.00        0.27389                      
439784.00    3765350.00        0.27378                         
         439789.00    3765350.00        0.27366                      
439794.00    3765350.00        0.27354                         
         439839.00    3765350.00        0.27223                      
439844.00    3765350.00        0.27205                         
         439849.00    3765350.00        0.27188                      
439854.00    3765350.00        0.27170                         
         439859.00    3765350.00        0.27151                      
439864.00    3765350.00        0.27132                         
         439869.00    3765350.00        0.27112                      
439874.00    3765350.00        0.27092                         

268

Item D - 850 of 1893



         439879.00    3765350.00        0.27072                      
439884.00    3765350.00        0.27050                         
         439674.00    3765355.00        0.27919                      
439679.00    3765355.00        0.27916                         
         439684.00    3765355.00        0.27914                      
439689.00    3765355.00        0.27910                         
         439694.00    3765355.00        0.27907                      
439699.00    3765355.00        0.27903                         

269

Item D - 851 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  84
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439704.00    3765355.00        0.27899                      
439709.00    3765355.00        0.27894                         
         439714.00    3765355.00        0.27889                      
439719.00    3765355.00        0.27884                         
         439729.00    3765355.00        0.27872                      
439734.00    3765355.00        0.27864                         
         439739.00    3765355.00        0.27858                      
439744.00    3765355.00        0.27850                         
         439749.00    3765355.00        0.27843                      
439774.00    3765355.00        0.27796                         
         439779.00    3765355.00        0.27786                      
439784.00    3765355.00        0.27775                         
         439789.00    3765355.00        0.27764                      
439794.00    3765355.00        0.27752                         
         439839.00    3765355.00        0.27623                      
439844.00    3765355.00        0.27607                         
         439849.00    3765355.00        0.27589                      
439854.00    3765355.00        0.27572                         
         439859.00    3765355.00        0.27553                      
439864.00    3765355.00        0.27535                         

270

Item D - 852 of 1893



         439869.00    3765355.00        0.27515                      
439874.00    3765355.00        0.27495                         
         439879.00    3765355.00        0.27475                      
439884.00    3765355.00        0.27454                         
         439674.00    3765360.00        0.28318                      
439679.00    3765360.00        0.28316                         
         439684.00    3765360.00        0.28314                      
439689.00    3765360.00        0.28311                         
         439694.00    3765360.00        0.28308                      
439699.00    3765360.00        0.28305                         
         439704.00    3765360.00        0.28301                      
439709.00    3765360.00        0.28296                         
         439714.00    3765360.00        0.28292                      
439719.00    3765360.00        0.28287                         
         439729.00    3765360.00        0.28275                      
439734.00    3765360.00        0.28269                         
         439739.00    3765360.00        0.28262                      
439744.00    3765360.00        0.28256                         
         439749.00    3765360.00        0.28247                      
439774.00    3765360.00        0.28203                         
         439779.00    3765360.00        0.28193                      
439784.00    3765360.00        0.28183                         
         439789.00    3765360.00        0.28172                      
439794.00    3765360.00        0.28160                         
         439799.00    3765360.00        0.28148                      
439804.00    3765360.00        0.28135                         
         439809.00    3765360.00        0.28123                      
439814.00    3765360.00        0.28109                         
         439839.00    3765360.00        0.28035                      
439844.00    3765360.00        0.28018                         
         439849.00    3765360.00        0.28001                      
439854.00    3765360.00        0.27983                         
         439859.00    3765360.00        0.27966                      
439864.00    3765360.00        0.27947                         
         439869.00    3765360.00        0.27928                      
439874.00    3765360.00        0.27909                         
         439879.00    3765360.00        0.27888                      
439884.00    3765360.00        0.27868                         
         439674.00    3765365.00        0.28728                      
439679.00    3765365.00        0.28727                         
         439684.00    3765365.00        0.28725                      
439689.00    3765365.00        0.28723                         
         439694.00    3765365.00        0.28719                      
439699.00    3765365.00        0.28717                         
         439704.00    3765365.00        0.28713                      
439709.00    3765365.00        0.28709                         
         439714.00    3765365.00        0.28705                      
439719.00    3765365.00        0.28701                         
         439729.00    3765365.00        0.28690                      
439734.00    3765365.00        0.28684                         
         439739.00    3765365.00        0.28678                      
439744.00    3765365.00        0.28670                         

271

Item D - 853 of 1893



         439749.00    3765365.00        0.28664                      
439774.00    3765365.00        0.28621                         
         439779.00    3765365.00        0.28611                      
439784.00    3765365.00        0.28601                         
         439789.00    3765365.00        0.28590                      
439794.00    3765365.00        0.28579                         
         439799.00    3765365.00        0.28567                      
439804.00    3765365.00        0.28555                         

272

Item D - 854 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  85
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765365.00        0.28542                      
439814.00    3765365.00        0.28530                         
         439839.00    3765365.00        0.28456                      
439844.00    3765365.00        0.28440                         
         439849.00    3765365.00        0.28423                      
439854.00    3765365.00        0.28406                         
         439859.00    3765365.00        0.28389                      
439864.00    3765365.00        0.28370                         
         439869.00    3765365.00        0.28352                      
439874.00    3765365.00        0.28332                         
         439879.00    3765365.00        0.28313                      
439884.00    3765365.00        0.28292                         
         439674.00    3765370.00        0.29149                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.29147                         
         439684.00    3765370.00        0.29147                      
439689.00    3765370.00        0.29144                         
         439694.00    3765370.00        0.29143                      
439699.00    3765370.00        0.29139                         
         439704.00    3765370.00        0.29137                      
439709.00    3765370.00        0.29133                         

273

Item D - 855 of 1893



         439714.00    3765370.00        0.29129                      
439719.00    3765370.00        0.29124                         
         439729.00    3765370.00        0.29115                      
439734.00    3765370.00        0.29109                         
         439739.00    3765370.00        0.29103                      
439744.00    3765370.00        0.29097                         
         439749.00    3765370.00        0.29090                      
439774.00    3765370.00        0.29049                         
         439779.00    3765370.00        0.29040                      
439784.00    3765370.00        0.29029                         
         439789.00    3765370.00        0.29020                      
439794.00    3765370.00        0.29008                         
         439799.00    3765370.00        0.28997                      
439804.00    3765370.00        0.28985                         
         439809.00    3765370.00        0.28973                      
439814.00    3765370.00        0.28960                         
         439839.00    3765370.00        0.28889                      
439844.00    3765370.00        0.28874                         
         439849.00    3765370.00        0.28857                      
439854.00    3765370.00        0.28840                         
         439859.00    3765370.00        0.28823                      
439864.00    3765370.00        0.28805                         
         439869.00    3765370.00        0.28786                      
439874.00    3765370.00        0.28768                         
         439879.00    3765370.00        0.28747                      
439884.00    3765370.00        0.28728                         
         439674.00    3765375.00        0.29580                      
439679.00    3765375.00        0.29581                         
         439684.00    3765375.00        0.29579                      
439689.00    3765375.00        0.29578                         
         439694.00    3765375.00        0.29576                      
439699.00    3765375.00        0.29573                         
         439704.00    3765375.00        0.29571                      
439709.00    3765375.00        0.29568                         
         439714.00    3765375.00        0.29564                      
439719.00    3765375.00        0.29560                         
         439729.00    3765375.00        0.29551                      
439734.00    3765375.00        0.29547                         
         439739.00    3765375.00        0.29540                      
439744.00    3765375.00        0.29535                         
         439749.00    3765375.00        0.29527                      
439754.00    3765375.00        0.29522                         
         439774.00    3765375.00        0.29490                      
439779.00    3765375.00        0.29480                         
         439784.00    3765375.00        0.29470                      
439789.00    3765375.00        0.29460                         
         439794.00    3765375.00        0.29450                      
439799.00    3765375.00        0.29439                         
         439804.00    3765375.00        0.29427                      
439809.00    3765375.00        0.29416                         
         439814.00    3765375.00        0.29402                      
439839.00    3765375.00        0.29334                         

274

Item D - 856 of 1893



         439844.00    3765375.00        0.29317                      
439849.00    3765375.00        0.29303                         
         439854.00    3765375.00        0.29285                      
439859.00    3765375.00        0.29268                         
         439864.00    3765375.00        0.29250                      
439869.00    3765375.00        0.29233                         
         439874.00    3765375.00        0.29214                      
439879.00    3765375.00        0.29194                         

275

Item D - 857 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  86
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439884.00    3765375.00        0.29174                      
439774.00    3765380.00        0.29940                         
         439779.00    3765380.00        0.29932                      
439784.00    3765380.00        0.29923                         
         439789.00    3765380.00        0.29912                      
439794.00    3765380.00        0.29903                         
         439799.00    3765380.00        0.29892                      
439804.00    3765380.00        0.29882                         
         439809.00    3765380.00        0.29868                      
439814.00    3765380.00        0.29858                         
         439769.00    3765385.00        0.30412                      
439819.00    3765385.00        0.30313                         
         439769.00    3765400.00        0.31883                      
439844.00    3765400.00        0.31731                         
         439849.00    3765400.00        0.31717                      
439674.00    3765405.00        0.32438                         
         439714.00    3765405.00        0.32441                      
439719.00    3765405.00        0.32441                         
         439734.00    3765405.00        0.32433                      
439749.00    3765405.00        0.32423                         

276

Item D - 858 of 1893



         439754.00    3765405.00        0.32418                      
439774.00    3765405.00        0.32395                         
         439779.00    3765405.00        0.32389                      
439784.00    3765405.00        0.32381                         
         439789.00    3765405.00        0.32373                      
439794.00    3765405.00        0.32365                         
         439799.00    3765405.00        0.32357                      
439804.00    3765405.00        0.32347                         
         439809.00    3765405.00        0.32337                      
439814.00    3765405.00        0.32328                         
         439819.00    3765405.00        0.32316                      
439824.00    3765405.00        0.32306                         
         439829.00    3765405.00        0.32294                      
439834.00    3765405.00        0.32282                         
         439839.00    3765405.00        0.32268                      
439844.00    3765405.00        0.32256                         
         439849.00    3765405.00        0.32242                      
439854.00    3765405.00        0.32227                         
         439859.00    3765405.00        0.32212                      
439674.00    3765410.00        0.32963                         
         439679.00    3765410.00        0.32966                      
439684.00    3765410.00        0.32967                         
         439689.00    3765410.00        0.32969                      
439694.00    3765410.00        0.32971                         
         439699.00    3765410.00        0.32970                      
439704.00    3765410.00        0.32972                         
         439709.00    3765410.00        0.32971                      
439714.00    3765410.00        0.32971                         
         439719.00    3765410.00        0.32969                      
439729.00    3765410.00        0.32966                         
         439734.00    3765410.00        0.32965                      
439739.00    3765410.00        0.32961                         
         439744.00    3765410.00        0.32959                      
439749.00    3765410.00        0.32954                         
         439774.00    3765410.00        0.32930                      
439779.00    3765410.00        0.32923                         
         439784.00    3765410.00        0.32916                      
439789.00    3765410.00        0.32909                         
         439794.00    3765410.00        0.32901                      
439799.00    3765410.00        0.32893                         
         439804.00    3765410.00        0.32884                      
439809.00    3765410.00        0.32876                         
         439814.00    3765410.00        0.32864                      
439819.00    3765410.00        0.32856                         
         439824.00    3765410.00        0.32844                      
439829.00    3765410.00        0.32834                         
         439834.00    3765410.00        0.32820                      
439839.00    3765410.00        0.32810                         
         439844.00    3765410.00        0.32795                      
439849.00    3765410.00        0.32783                         
         439854.00    3765410.00        0.32769                      
439859.00    3765410.00        0.32754                         

277

Item D - 859 of 1893



         439674.00    3765415.00        0.33505                      
439679.00    3765415.00        0.33507                         
         439684.00    3765415.00        0.33510                      
439689.00    3765415.00        0.33512                         
         439694.00    3765415.00        0.33513                      
439699.00    3765415.00        0.33515                         
         439704.00    3765415.00        0.33515                      
439709.00    3765415.00        0.33516                         

278

Item D - 860 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  87
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439714.00    3765415.00        0.33515                      
439719.00    3765415.00        0.33516                         
         439729.00    3765415.00        0.33514                      
439734.00    3765415.00        0.33511                         
         439739.00    3765415.00        0.33509                      
439744.00    3765415.00        0.33506                         
         439749.00    3765415.00        0.33504                      
439774.00    3765415.00        0.33480                         
         439779.00    3765415.00        0.33474                      
439784.00    3765415.00        0.33468                         
         439789.00    3765415.00        0.33461                      
439794.00    3765415.00        0.33454                         
         439799.00    3765415.00        0.33446                      
439804.00    3765415.00        0.33438                         
         439809.00    3765415.00        0.33428                      
439814.00    3765415.00        0.33420                         
         439819.00    3765415.00        0.33408                      
439824.00    3765415.00        0.33400                         
         439829.00    3765415.00        0.33387                      
439834.00    3765415.00        0.33378                         

279

Item D - 861 of 1893



         439839.00    3765415.00        0.33364                      
439844.00    3765415.00        0.33353                         
         439849.00    3765415.00        0.33339                      
439854.00    3765415.00        0.33326                         
         439859.00    3765415.00        0.33311                      
439674.00    3765420.00        0.34062                         
         439679.00    3765420.00        0.34066                      
439684.00    3765420.00        0.34069                         
         439689.00    3765420.00        0.34071                      
439694.00    3765420.00        0.34074                         
         439699.00    3765420.00        0.34075                      
439704.00    3765420.00        0.34077                         
         439709.00    3765420.00        0.34077                      
439714.00    3765420.00        0.34079                         
         439719.00    3765420.00        0.34077                      
439729.00    3765420.00        0.34076                         
         439734.00    3765420.00        0.34075                      
439739.00    3765420.00        0.34073                         
         439744.00    3765420.00        0.34071                      
439749.00    3765420.00        0.34068                         
         439774.00    3765420.00        0.34048                      
439779.00    3765420.00        0.34042                         
         439784.00    3765420.00        0.34036                      
439789.00    3765420.00        0.34030                         
         439794.00    3765420.00        0.34023                      
439799.00    3765420.00        0.34016                         
         439804.00    3765420.00        0.34007                      
439809.00    3765420.00        0.34000                         
         439814.00    3765420.00        0.33989                      
439819.00    3765420.00        0.33981                         
         439824.00    3765420.00        0.33970                      
439829.00    3765420.00        0.33961                         
         439834.00    3765420.00        0.33948                      
439839.00    3765420.00        0.33939                         
         439844.00    3765420.00        0.33925                      
439849.00    3765420.00        0.33913                         
         439854.00    3765420.00        0.33900                      
439859.00    3765420.00        0.33886                         
         439674.00    3765425.00        0.34637                      
439679.00    3765425.00        0.34642                         
         439684.00    3765425.00        0.34645                      
439689.00    3765425.00        0.34649                         
         439694.00    3765425.00        0.34650                      
439699.00    3765425.00        0.34654                         
         439704.00    3765425.00        0.34655                      
439709.00    3765425.00        0.34657                         
         439714.00    3765425.00        0.34656                      
439719.00    3765425.00        0.34658                         
         439729.00    3765425.00        0.34658                      
439734.00    3765425.00        0.34656                         
         439739.00    3765425.00        0.34655                      
439744.00    3765425.00        0.34653                         

280

Item D - 862 of 1893



         439749.00    3765425.00        0.34651                      
439774.00    3765425.00        0.34633                         
         439779.00    3765425.00        0.34628                      
439784.00    3765425.00        0.34623                         
         439789.00    3765425.00        0.34615                      
439794.00    3765425.00        0.34610                         
         439799.00    3765425.00        0.34603                      
439804.00    3765425.00        0.34596                         

281

Item D - 863 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  88
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765425.00        0.34586                      
439814.00    3765425.00        0.34580                         
         439819.00    3765425.00        0.34569                      
439824.00    3765425.00        0.34561                         
         439829.00    3765425.00        0.34549                      
439834.00    3765425.00        0.34540                         
         439839.00    3765425.00        0.34527                      
439844.00    3765425.00        0.34517                         
         439849.00    3765425.00        0.34505                      
439854.00    3765425.00        0.34492                         
         439859.00    3765425.00        0.34478                      
439674.00    3765430.00        0.35232                         
         439679.00    3765430.00        0.35235                      
439684.00    3765430.00        0.35240                         
         439689.00    3765430.00        0.35243                      
439694.00    3765430.00        0.35248                         
         439699.00    3765430.00        0.35249                      
439704.00    3765430.00        0.35252                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.35253                      
439714.00    3765430.00        0.35256                         

282

Item D - 864 of 1893



         439719.00    3765430.00        0.35255                      
439729.00    3765430.00        0.35256                         
         439734.00    3765430.00        0.35256                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.35255                         
         439744.00    3765430.00        0.35254                      
439749.00    3765430.00        0.35252                         
         439774.00    3765430.00        0.35236                      
439779.00    3765430.00        0.35232                         
         439784.00    3765430.00        0.35226                      
439789.00    3765430.00        0.35222                         
         439794.00    3765430.00        0.35215                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.35209                         
         439804.00    3765430.00        0.35201                      
439809.00    3765430.00        0.35195                         
         439814.00    3765430.00        0.35185                      
439819.00    3765430.00        0.35178                         
         439824.00    3765430.00        0.35168                      
439829.00    3765430.00        0.35160                         
         439834.00    3765430.00        0.35148                      
439839.00    3765430.00        0.35139                         
         439844.00    3765430.00        0.35126                      
439849.00    3765430.00        0.35115                         
         439854.00    3765430.00        0.35102                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.35090                         
         439674.00    3765435.00        0.35843                      
439679.00    3765435.00        0.35849                         
         439684.00    3765435.00        0.35853                      
439689.00    3765435.00        0.35858                         
         439694.00    3765435.00        0.35861                      
439699.00    3765435.00        0.35865                         
         439704.00    3765435.00        0.35867                      
439709.00    3765435.00        0.35870                         
         439714.00    3765435.00        0.35871                      
439719.00    3765435.00        0.35874                         
         439729.00    3765435.00        0.35875                      
439734.00    3765435.00        0.35875                         
         439739.00    3765435.00        0.35875                      
439744.00    3765435.00        0.35874                         
         439749.00    3765435.00        0.35872                      
439774.00    3765435.00        0.35859                         
         439779.00    3765435.00        0.35855                      
439784.00    3765435.00        0.35851                         
         439789.00    3765435.00        0.35845                      
439794.00    3765435.00        0.35840                         
         439799.00    3765435.00        0.35834                      
439804.00    3765435.00        0.35828                         
         439809.00    3765435.00        0.35820                      
439814.00    3765435.00        0.35813                         
         439819.00    3765435.00        0.35804                      
439824.00    3765435.00        0.35797                         
         439829.00    3765435.00        0.35786                      
439834.00    3765435.00        0.35778                         

283

Item D - 865 of 1893



         439839.00    3765435.00        0.35766                      
439844.00    3765435.00        0.35756                         
         439849.00    3765435.00        0.35744                      
439854.00    3765435.00        0.35733                         
         439859.00    3765435.00        0.35720                      
439674.00    3765440.00        0.36477                         
         439679.00    3765440.00        0.36482                      
439684.00    3765440.00        0.36488                         

284

Item D - 866 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  89
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439689.00    3765440.00        0.36492                      
439694.00    3765440.00        0.36497                         
         439699.00    3765440.00        0.36500                      
439704.00    3765440.00        0.36504                         
         439709.00    3765440.00        0.36506                      
439714.00    3765440.00        0.36509                         
         439719.00    3765440.00        0.36511                      
439729.00    3765440.00        0.36514                         
         439734.00    3765440.00        0.36514                      
439739.00    3765440.00        0.36514                         
         439744.00    3765440.00        0.36514                      
439749.00    3765440.00        0.36514                         
         439774.00    3765440.00        0.36502                      
439779.00    3765440.00        0.36499                         
         439784.00    3765440.00        0.36495                      
439789.00    3765440.00        0.36491                         
         439794.00    3765440.00        0.36485                      
439799.00    3765440.00        0.36480                         
         439804.00    3765440.00        0.36473                      
439809.00    3765440.00        0.36467                         

285

Item D - 867 of 1893



         439814.00    3765440.00        0.36459                      
439819.00    3765440.00        0.36453                         
         439824.00    3765440.00        0.36444                      
439829.00    3765440.00        0.36436                         
         439834.00    3765440.00        0.36425                      
439839.00    3765440.00        0.36417                         
         439844.00    3765440.00        0.36405                      
439849.00    3765440.00        0.36395                         
         439854.00    3765440.00        0.36383                      
439859.00    3765440.00        0.36372                         
         439674.00    3765445.00        0.37131                      
439679.00    3765445.00        0.37137                         
         439684.00    3765445.00        0.37142                      
439689.00    3765445.00        0.37148                         
         439694.00    3765445.00        0.37153                      
439699.00    3765445.00        0.37157                         
         439704.00    3765445.00        0.37161                      
439709.00    3765445.00        0.37165                         
         439714.00    3765445.00        0.37167                      
439719.00    3765445.00        0.37170                         
         439729.00    3765445.00        0.37174                      
439734.00    3765445.00        0.37175                         
         439739.00    3765445.00        0.37176                      
439744.00    3765445.00        0.37176                         
         439749.00    3765445.00        0.37176                      
439774.00    3765445.00        0.37168                         
         439779.00    3765445.00        0.37164                      
439784.00    3765445.00        0.37161                         
         439789.00    3765445.00        0.37157                      
439794.00    3765445.00        0.37153                         
         439799.00    3765445.00        0.37147                      
439804.00    3765445.00        0.37142                         
         439809.00    3765445.00        0.37135                      
439814.00    3765445.00        0.37129                         
         439819.00    3765445.00        0.37121                      
439824.00    3765445.00        0.37114                         
         439829.00    3765445.00        0.37105                      
439834.00    3765445.00        0.37097                         
         439839.00    3765445.00        0.37087                      
439844.00    3765445.00        0.37078                         
         439849.00    3765445.00        0.37066                      
439854.00    3765445.00        0.37056                         
         439859.00    3765445.00        0.37044                      
439674.00    3765450.00        0.37807                         
         439679.00    3765450.00        0.37814                      
439684.00    3765450.00        0.37820                         
         439689.00    3765450.00        0.37826                      
439694.00    3765450.00        0.37831                         
         439699.00    3765450.00        0.37836                      
439704.00    3765450.00        0.37841                         
         439709.00    3765450.00        0.37845                      
439714.00    3765450.00        0.37849                         

286

Item D - 868 of 1893



         439719.00    3765450.00        0.37852                      
439729.00    3765450.00        0.37857                         
         439734.00    3765450.00        0.37858                      
439739.00    3765450.00        0.37859                         
         439744.00    3765450.00        0.37860                      
439749.00    3765450.00        0.37861                         
         439774.00    3765450.00        0.37855                      
439844.00    3765450.00        0.37772                         

287

Item D - 869 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  90
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439849.00    3765450.00        0.37762                      
439854.00    3765450.00        0.37751                         
         439859.00    3765450.00        0.37740                      
439674.00    3765455.00        0.38507                         
         439679.00    3765455.00        0.38514                      
439684.00    3765455.00        0.38521                         
         439689.00    3765455.00        0.38528                      
439694.00    3765455.00        0.38534                         
         439699.00    3765455.00        0.38539                      
439704.00    3765455.00        0.38544                         
         439709.00    3765455.00        0.38549                      
439714.00    3765455.00        0.38553                         
         439719.00    3765455.00        0.38557                      
439729.00    3765455.00        0.38563                         
         439734.00    3765455.00        0.38565                      
439739.00    3765455.00        0.38567                         
         439744.00    3765455.00        0.38568                      
439749.00    3765455.00        0.38569                         
         439844.00    3765455.00        0.38491                      
439849.00    3765455.00        0.38481                         

288

Item D - 870 of 1893



         439854.00    3765455.00        0.38471                      
439859.00    3765455.00        0.38460                         
         439674.00    3765460.00        0.39232                      
439679.00    3765460.00        0.39239                         
         439684.00    3765460.00        0.39247                      
439689.00    3765460.00        0.39254                         
         439694.00    3765460.00        0.39261                      
439699.00    3765460.00        0.39267                         
         439704.00    3765460.00        0.39273                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.39278                         
         439714.00    3765460.00        0.39282                      
439719.00    3765460.00        0.39287                         
         439729.00    3765460.00        0.39295                      
439734.00    3765460.00        0.39297                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.39300                      
439744.00    3765460.00        0.39301                         
         439749.00    3765460.00        0.39303                      
439789.00    3765460.00        0.39297                         
         439794.00    3765460.00        0.39294                      
439799.00    3765460.00        0.39290                         
         439804.00    3765460.00        0.39286                      
439809.00    3765460.00        0.39282                         
         439814.00    3765460.00        0.39276                      
439819.00    3765460.00        0.39271                         
         439824.00    3765460.00        0.39264                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.39258                         
         439844.00    3765460.00        0.39234                      
439849.00    3765460.00        0.39225                         
         439854.00    3765460.00        0.39216                      
439859.00    3765460.00        0.39205                         
         439674.00    3765465.00        0.39982                      
439679.00    3765465.00        0.39991                         
         439684.00    3765465.00        0.39999                      
439689.00    3765465.00        0.40007                         
         439694.00    3765465.00        0.40014                      
439699.00    3765465.00        0.40021                         
         439704.00    3765465.00        0.40027                      
439709.00    3765465.00        0.40033                         
         439714.00    3765465.00        0.40039                      
439719.00    3765465.00        0.40043                         
         439729.00    3765465.00        0.40052                      
439734.00    3765465.00        0.40056                         
         439739.00    3765465.00        0.40058                      
439744.00    3765465.00        0.40061                         
         439749.00    3765465.00        0.40062                      
439789.00    3765465.00        0.40061                         
         439794.00    3765465.00        0.40059                      
439799.00    3765465.00        0.40056                         
         439804.00    3765465.00        0.40052                      
439809.00    3765465.00        0.40048                         
         439814.00    3765465.00        0.40044                      
439819.00    3765465.00        0.40038                         

289

Item D - 871 of 1893



         439824.00    3765465.00        0.40033                      
439829.00    3765465.00        0.40026                         
         439844.00    3765465.00        0.40004                      
439849.00    3765465.00        0.39996                         
         439854.00    3765465.00        0.39987                      
439859.00    3765465.00        0.39978                         
         439674.00    3765470.00        0.40762                      
439679.00    3765470.00        0.40770                         

290

Item D - 872 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  91
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765470.00        0.40780                      
439689.00    3765470.00        0.40787                         
         439694.00    3765470.00        0.40796                      
439699.00    3765470.00        0.40803                         
         439704.00    3765470.00        0.40810                      
439709.00    3765470.00        0.40816                         
         439714.00    3765470.00        0.40822                      
439719.00    3765470.00        0.40828                         
         439729.00    3765470.00        0.40838                      
439734.00    3765470.00        0.40841                         
         439739.00    3765470.00        0.40845                      
439744.00    3765470.00        0.40848                         
         439749.00    3765470.00        0.40852                      
439789.00    3765470.00        0.40854                         
         439794.00    3765470.00        0.40852                      
439799.00    3765470.00        0.40849                         
         439804.00    3765470.00        0.40847                      
439809.00    3765470.00        0.40843                         
         439814.00    3765470.00        0.40839                      
439819.00    3765470.00        0.40834                         

291

Item D - 873 of 1893



         439824.00    3765470.00        0.40829                      
439829.00    3765470.00        0.40823                         
         439844.00    3765470.00        0.40803                      
439849.00    3765470.00        0.40795                         
         439854.00    3765470.00        0.40787                      
439859.00    3765470.00        0.40777                         
         439674.00    3765475.00        0.41568                      
439679.00    3765475.00        0.41579                         
         439684.00    3765475.00        0.41587                      
439689.00    3765475.00        0.41598                         
         439694.00    3765475.00        0.41605                      
439699.00    3765475.00        0.41614                         
         439704.00    3765475.00        0.41621                      
439709.00    3765475.00        0.41629                         
         439714.00    3765475.00        0.41635                      
439719.00    3765475.00        0.41642                         
         439729.00    3765475.00        0.41652                      
439734.00    3765475.00        0.41657                         
         439739.00    3765475.00        0.41661                      
439744.00    3765475.00        0.41665                         
         439749.00    3765475.00        0.41668                      
439754.00    3765475.00        0.41671                         
         439789.00    3765475.00        0.41676                      
439794.00    3765475.00        0.41675                         
         439799.00    3765475.00        0.41673                      
439804.00    3765475.00        0.41670                         
         439809.00    3765475.00        0.41668                      
439814.00    3765475.00        0.41664                         
         439819.00    3765475.00        0.41660                      
439824.00    3765475.00        0.41656                         
         439829.00    3765475.00        0.41650                      
439269.00    3764900.00        0.11272                         
         439369.00    3764900.00        0.11327                      
439469.00    3764900.00        0.11287                         
         439569.00    3764900.00        0.11148                      
439669.00    3764900.00        0.10909                         
         439769.00    3764900.00        0.10568                      
439869.00    3764900.00        0.10126                         
         439969.00    3764900.00        0.09589                      
440069.00    3764900.00        0.08965                         
         440169.00    3764900.00        0.08276                      
440269.00    3764900.00        0.07557                         
         439269.00    3765000.00        0.13139                      
439369.00    3765000.00        0.13256                         
         439469.00    3765000.00        0.13262                      
439569.00    3765000.00        0.13157                         
         439669.00    3765000.00        0.12939                      
439769.00    3765000.00        0.12601                         
         439869.00    3765000.00        0.12135                      
439969.00    3765000.00        0.11538                         
         440069.00    3765000.00        0.10815                      
440169.00    3765000.00        0.09983                         

292

Item D - 874 of 1893



         440269.00    3765000.00        0.09079                      
439269.00    3765100.00        0.15545                         
         439369.00    3765100.00        0.15738                      
439469.00    3765100.00        0.15803                         
         439569.00    3765100.00        0.15747                      
439669.00    3765100.00        0.15566                         
         439769.00    3765100.00        0.15251                      
439869.00    3765100.00        0.14786                         

293

Item D - 875 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  92
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439969.00    3765100.00        0.14152                      
440069.00    3765100.00        0.13338                         
         440169.00    3765100.00        0.12349                      
440269.00    3765100.00        0.11214                         
         439269.00    3765200.00        0.18773                      
439369.00    3765200.00        0.19063                         
         439469.00    3765200.00        0.19207                      
439569.00    3765200.00        0.19216                         
         439669.00    3765200.00        0.19092                      
439769.00    3765200.00        0.18826                         
         439869.00    3765200.00        0.18395                      
439969.00    3765200.00        0.17767                         
         440069.00    3765200.00        0.16900                      
440169.00    3765200.00        0.15761                         
         440269.00    3765200.00        0.14351                      
439269.00    3765300.00        0.23357                         
         439369.00    3765300.00        0.23782                      
439469.00    3765300.00        0.24036                         
         439569.00    3765300.00        0.24142                      
439669.00    3765300.00        0.24107                         

294

Item D - 876 of 1893



         439769.00    3765300.00        0.23926                      
439869.00    3765300.00        0.23572                         
         439969.00    3765300.00        0.23002                      
440069.00    3765300.00        0.22147                         
         440169.00    3765300.00        0.20915                      
440269.00    3765300.00        0.19223                         
         439269.00    3765400.00        0.30461                      
439369.00    3765400.00        0.31095                         
         439469.00    3765400.00        0.31533                      
439569.00    3765400.00        0.31805                         
         439669.00    3765400.00        0.31926                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.31883                         
         439869.00    3765400.00        0.31655                      
439969.00    3765400.00        0.31197                         
         440069.00    3765400.00        0.30429                      
440169.00    3765400.00        0.29215                         
         440269.00    3765400.00        0.27341                      
439269.00    3765500.00        0.43248                         
         439369.00    3765500.00        0.44306                      
439469.00    3765500.00        0.45116                         
         439569.00    3765500.00        0.45706                      
439669.00    3765500.00        0.46098                         
         439769.00    3765500.00        0.46288                      
439869.00    3765500.00        0.46261                         
         439969.00    3765500.00        0.45986                      
440069.00    3765500.00        0.45390                         
         440169.00    3765500.00        0.44334                      
440269.00    3765500.00        0.42515                         
         439269.00    3765600.00        0.75084                      
439369.00    3765600.00        0.77243                         
         439469.00    3765600.00        0.78930                      
439569.00    3765600.00        0.80230                         
         439669.00    3765600.00        0.81192                      
439769.00    3765600.00        0.81854                         
         439869.00    3765600.00        0.82228                      
439969.00    3765600.00        0.82306                         
         440069.00    3765600.00        0.82052                      
440169.00    3765600.00        0.81381                         
         440269.00    3765600.00        0.79979                      
439269.00    3765700.00        4.13462                         
         439369.00    3765700.00        4.32925                      
439469.00    3765700.00        4.52490                         
         439569.00    3765700.00        4.72540                      
439669.00    3765700.00        4.86807                         
         439769.00    3765700.00        4.98531                      
439869.00    3765700.00        5.05422                         
         439969.00    3765700.00        5.11092                      
440069.00    3765700.00        5.16995                         
         440169.00    3765700.00        5.20211                      
440269.00    3765700.00        5.23339                         
         439269.00    3765800.00        1.80341                      
439369.00    3765800.00        1.88088                         

295

Item D - 877 of 1893



         439469.00    3765800.00        1.92794                      
439569.00    3765800.00        1.95799                         
         439669.00    3765800.00        1.97776                      
439769.00    3765800.00        1.99076                         
         439869.00    3765800.00        1.99870                      
439969.00    3765800.00        2.00254                         
         440069.00    3765800.00        2.00199                      
440169.00    3765800.00        1.99518                         

296

Item D - 878 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  93
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         440269.00    3765800.00        1.97689                      
439269.00    3765900.00        0.56991                         
         439369.00    3765900.00        0.65615                      
439469.00    3765900.00        0.71994                         
         439569.00    3765900.00        0.76676                      
439669.00    3765900.00        0.80139                         
         439769.00    3765900.00        0.82715                      
439869.00    3765900.00        0.84626                         
         439969.00    3765900.00        0.86007                      
440069.00    3765900.00        0.86937                         
         440169.00    3765900.00        0.87429                      
440269.00    3765900.00        0.87445                         
         439649.00    3765310.00        0.24747                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.24721                         
         439709.00    3765310.00        0.24681                      
439739.00    3765310.00        0.24628                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.24560                      
439799.00    3765310.00        0.24477                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.24377                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.24260                         

297

Item D - 879 of 1893



         439889.00    3765310.00        0.24124                      
439649.00    3765340.00        0.26788                         
         439679.00    3765340.00        0.26774                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.26746                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.26703                      
439769.00    3765340.00        0.26646                         
         439799.00    3765340.00        0.26573                      
439829.00    3765340.00        0.26483                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.26376                      
439889.00    3765340.00        0.26249                         
         439649.00    3765370.00        0.29149                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.29147                         
         439709.00    3765370.00        0.29133                      
439739.00    3765370.00        0.29103                         
         439769.00    3765370.00        0.29058                      
439799.00    3765370.00        0.28997                         
         439829.00    3765370.00        0.28919                      
439859.00    3765370.00        0.28823                         
         439889.00    3765370.00        0.28707                      
439649.00    3765400.00        0.31915                         
         439679.00    3765400.00        0.31929                      
439709.00    3765400.00        0.31930                         
         439739.00    3765400.00        0.31914                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.31883                         
         439799.00    3765400.00        0.31835                      
439829.00    3765400.00        0.31770                         
         439859.00    3765400.00        0.31687                      
439889.00    3765400.00        0.31584                         
         439649.00    3765430.00        0.35203                      
439679.00    3765430.00        0.35235                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.35253                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.35255                         
         439769.00    3765430.00        0.35241                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.35209                         
         439829.00    3765430.00        0.35160                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.35090                         
         439889.00    3765430.00        0.34999                      
439649.00    3765460.00        0.39185                         
         439679.00    3765460.00        0.39239                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.39278                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.39300                      
439769.00    3765460.00        0.39304                         
         439799.00    3765460.00        0.39290                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.39258                         
         439859.00    3765460.00        0.39205                      
439889.00    3765460.00        0.39132                         
         439649.00    3765490.00        0.44118                      
439679.00    3765490.00        0.44199                         
         439709.00    3765490.00        0.44261                      
439739.00    3765490.00        0.44305                         
         439769.00    3765490.00        0.44333                      
439799.00    3765490.00        0.44341                         

298

Item D - 880 of 1893



         439829.00    3765490.00        0.44329                      
439859.00    3765490.00        0.44297                         
         439889.00    3765490.00        0.44242                                                                                     

299

Item D - 881 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  94
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439674.00    3765310.00        0.07741                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.07746                         
         439684.00    3765310.00        0.07751                      
439689.00    3765310.00        0.07755                         
         439694.00    3765310.00        0.07759                      
439699.00    3765310.00        0.07762                         
         439704.00    3765310.00        0.07766                      
439709.00    3765310.00        0.07769                         
         439714.00    3765310.00        0.07772                      
439719.00    3765310.00        0.07774                         
         439729.00    3765310.00        0.07778                      
439734.00    3765310.00        0.07780                         
         439739.00    3765310.00        0.07781                      
439744.00    3765310.00        0.07782                         
         439749.00    3765310.00        0.07782                      
439764.00    3765310.00        0.07782                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.07781                      
439774.00    3765310.00        0.07780                         

300

Item D - 882 of 1893



         439779.00    3765310.00        0.07779                      
439784.00    3765310.00        0.07777                         
         439789.00    3765310.00        0.07774                      
439794.00    3765310.00        0.07771                         
         439799.00    3765310.00        0.07768                      
439804.00    3765310.00        0.07764                         
         439809.00    3765310.00        0.07760                      
439814.00    3765310.00        0.07755                         
         439819.00    3765310.00        0.07750                      
439824.00    3765310.00        0.07744                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.07738                      
439839.00    3765310.00        0.07724                         
         439844.00    3765310.00        0.07715                      
439849.00    3765310.00        0.07707                         
         439854.00    3765310.00        0.07698                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.07688                         
         439864.00    3765310.00        0.07677                      
439869.00    3765310.00        0.07666                         
         439874.00    3765310.00        0.07654                      
439879.00    3765310.00        0.07642                         
         439884.00    3765310.00        0.07629                      
439674.00    3765315.00        0.07860                         
         439679.00    3765315.00        0.07865                      
439684.00    3765315.00        0.07870                         
         439689.00    3765315.00        0.07874                      
439694.00    3765315.00        0.07878                         
         439699.00    3765315.00        0.07882                      
439704.00    3765315.00        0.07885                         
         439709.00    3765315.00        0.07889                      
439714.00    3765315.00        0.07891                         
         439719.00    3765315.00        0.07894                      
439729.00    3765315.00        0.07898                         
         439734.00    3765315.00        0.07900                      
439739.00    3765315.00        0.07902                         
         439744.00    3765315.00        0.07903                      
439749.00    3765315.00        0.07904                         
         439764.00    3765315.00        0.07904                      
439769.00    3765315.00        0.07904                         
         439774.00    3765315.00        0.07903                      
439779.00    3765315.00        0.07902                         
         439784.00    3765315.00        0.07900                      
439789.00    3765315.00        0.07898                         
         439794.00    3765315.00        0.07895                      
439799.00    3765315.00        0.07892                         
         439804.00    3765315.00        0.07889                      
439809.00    3765315.00        0.07885                         
         439814.00    3765315.00        0.07880                      
439819.00    3765315.00        0.07876                         
         439824.00    3765315.00        0.07870                      
439829.00    3765315.00        0.07864                         
         439839.00    3765315.00        0.07850                      
439844.00    3765315.00        0.07843                         

301

Item D - 883 of 1893



         439849.00    3765315.00        0.07834                      
439854.00    3765315.00        0.07825                         
         439859.00    3765315.00        0.07816                      
439864.00    3765315.00        0.07805                         
         439869.00    3765315.00        0.07795                      
439874.00    3765315.00        0.07783                         
         439879.00    3765315.00        0.07771                      
439884.00    3765315.00        0.07758                         
         439674.00    3765320.00        0.07981                      
439679.00    3765320.00        0.07986                         

302

Item D - 884 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  95
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765320.00        0.07991                      
439689.00    3765320.00        0.07996                         
         439694.00    3765320.00        0.08000                      
439699.00    3765320.00        0.08004                         
         439704.00    3765320.00        0.08008                      
439709.00    3765320.00        0.08011                         
         439714.00    3765320.00        0.08014                      
439719.00    3765320.00        0.08017                         
         439729.00    3765320.00        0.08022                      
439734.00    3765320.00        0.08024                         
         439739.00    3765320.00        0.08025                      
439744.00    3765320.00        0.08027                         
         439749.00    3765320.00        0.08028                      
439764.00    3765320.00        0.08029                         
         439769.00    3765320.00        0.08029                      
439774.00    3765320.00        0.08028                         
         439779.00    3765320.00        0.08027                      
439784.00    3765320.00        0.08026                         

303

Item D - 885 of 1893



         439789.00    3765320.00        0.08024                      
439794.00    3765320.00        0.08022                         
         439799.00    3765320.00        0.08020                      
439804.00    3765320.00        0.08016                         
         439809.00    3765320.00        0.08013                      
439814.00    3765320.00        0.08009                         
         439819.00    3765320.00        0.08004                      
439824.00    3765320.00        0.07999                         
         439829.00    3765320.00        0.07993                      
439839.00    3765320.00        0.07980                         
         439844.00    3765320.00        0.07973                      
439849.00    3765320.00        0.07965                         
         439854.00    3765320.00        0.07956                      
439859.00    3765320.00        0.07947                         
         439864.00    3765320.00        0.07937                      
439869.00    3765320.00        0.07926                         
         439874.00    3765320.00        0.07915                      
439879.00    3765320.00        0.07903                         
         439884.00    3765320.00        0.07891                      
439674.00    3765325.00        0.08105                         
         439679.00    3765325.00        0.08111                      
439684.00    3765325.00        0.08115                         
         439689.00    3765325.00        0.08120                      
439694.00    3765325.00        0.08125                         
         439699.00    3765325.00        0.08129                      
439704.00    3765325.00        0.08133                         
         439709.00    3765325.00        0.08136                      
439714.00    3765325.00        0.08140                         
         439719.00    3765325.00        0.08143                      
439729.00    3765325.00        0.08148                         
         439734.00    3765325.00        0.08150                      
439739.00    3765325.00        0.08152                         
         439744.00    3765325.00        0.08154                      
439749.00    3765325.00        0.08155                         
         439754.00    3765325.00        0.08156                      
439769.00    3765325.00        0.08157                         
         439774.00    3765325.00        0.08157                      
439779.00    3765325.00        0.08156                         
         439784.00    3765325.00        0.08155                      
439789.00    3765325.00        0.08154                         
         439794.00    3765325.00        0.08152                      
439799.00    3765325.00        0.08150                         
         439804.00    3765325.00        0.08147                      
439809.00    3765325.00        0.08144                         
         439814.00    3765325.00        0.08140                      
439819.00    3765325.00        0.08136                         
         439824.00    3765325.00        0.08131                      
439829.00    3765325.00        0.08126                         
         439839.00    3765325.00        0.08113                      
439844.00    3765325.00        0.08106                         
         439849.00    3765325.00        0.08098                      
439854.00    3765325.00        0.08090                         

304

Item D - 886 of 1893



         439859.00    3765325.00        0.08081                      
439864.00    3765325.00        0.08072                         
         439869.00    3765325.00        0.08061                      
439874.00    3765325.00        0.08051                         
         439879.00    3765325.00        0.08039                      
439884.00    3765325.00        0.08027                         
         439674.00    3765330.00        0.08233                      
439679.00    3765330.00        0.08238                         
         439684.00    3765330.00        0.08243                      
439689.00    3765330.00        0.08248                         

305

Item D - 887 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  96
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439694.00    3765330.00        0.08253                      
439699.00    3765330.00        0.08257                         
         439704.00    3765330.00        0.08261                      
439709.00    3765330.00        0.08265                         
         439714.00    3765330.00        0.08268                      
439719.00    3765330.00        0.08272                         
         439729.00    3765330.00        0.08277                      
439734.00    3765330.00        0.08280                         
         439739.00    3765330.00        0.08282                      
439744.00    3765330.00        0.08284                         
         439749.00    3765330.00        0.08285                      
439754.00    3765330.00        0.08287                         
         439774.00    3765330.00        0.08289                      
439779.00    3765330.00        0.08288                         
         439784.00    3765330.00        0.08288                      
439789.00    3765330.00        0.08287                         
         439794.00    3765330.00        0.08285                      
439799.00    3765330.00        0.08283                         

306

Item D - 888 of 1893



         439804.00    3765330.00        0.08281                      
439809.00    3765330.00        0.08278                         
         439814.00    3765330.00        0.08274                      
439819.00    3765330.00        0.08271                         
         439824.00    3765330.00        0.08266                      
439829.00    3765330.00        0.08261                         
         439839.00    3765330.00        0.08250                      
439844.00    3765330.00        0.08243                         
         439849.00    3765330.00        0.08236                      
439854.00    3765330.00        0.08228                         
         439859.00    3765330.00        0.08219                      
439864.00    3765330.00        0.08210                         
         439869.00    3765330.00        0.08200                      
439874.00    3765330.00        0.08189                         
         439879.00    3765330.00        0.08178                      
439884.00    3765330.00        0.08166                         
         439674.00    3765335.00        0.08363                      
439679.00    3765335.00        0.08369                         
         439684.00    3765335.00        0.08374                      
439689.00    3765335.00        0.08380                         
         439694.00    3765335.00        0.08384                      
439699.00    3765335.00        0.08389                         
         439704.00    3765335.00        0.08393                      
439709.00    3765335.00        0.08397                         
         439714.00    3765335.00        0.08401                      
439719.00    3765335.00        0.08404                         
         439729.00    3765335.00        0.08410                      
439734.00    3765335.00        0.08413                         
         439739.00    3765335.00        0.08415                      
439744.00    3765335.00        0.08417                         
         439749.00    3765335.00        0.08419                      
439774.00    3765335.00        0.08424                         
         439779.00    3765335.00        0.08424                      
439784.00    3765335.00        0.08424                         
         439789.00    3765335.00        0.08423                      
439794.00    3765335.00        0.08421                         
         439839.00    3765335.00        0.08390                      
439844.00    3765335.00        0.08383                         
         439849.00    3765335.00        0.08376                      
439854.00    3765335.00        0.08369                         
         439859.00    3765335.00        0.08361                      
439864.00    3765335.00        0.08352                         
         439869.00    3765335.00        0.08342                      
439874.00    3765335.00        0.08332                         
         439879.00    3765335.00        0.08321                      
439884.00    3765335.00        0.08309                         
         439674.00    3765340.00        0.08497                      
439679.00    3765340.00        0.08503                         
         439684.00    3765340.00        0.08509                      
439689.00    3765340.00        0.08514                         
         439694.00    3765340.00        0.08519                      
439699.00    3765340.00        0.08524                         

307

Item D - 889 of 1893



         439704.00    3765340.00        0.08528                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.08532                         
         439714.00    3765340.00        0.08536                      
439719.00    3765340.00        0.08540                         
         439729.00    3765340.00        0.08546                      
439734.00    3765340.00        0.08549                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.08552                      
439744.00    3765340.00        0.08554                         
         439749.00    3765340.00        0.08556                      
439774.00    3765340.00        0.08562                         

308

Item D - 890 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  97
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439779.00    3765340.00        0.08562                      
439784.00    3765340.00        0.08562                         
         439789.00    3765340.00        0.08562                      
439794.00    3765340.00        0.08561                         
         439839.00    3765340.00        0.08533                      
439844.00    3765340.00        0.08527                         
         439849.00    3765340.00        0.08521                      
439854.00    3765340.00        0.08514                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.08506                      
439864.00    3765340.00        0.08497                         
         439869.00    3765340.00        0.08488                      
439874.00    3765340.00        0.08478                         
         439879.00    3765340.00        0.08468                      
439884.00    3765340.00        0.08456                         
         439674.00    3765345.00        0.08635                      
439679.00    3765345.00        0.08641                         
         439684.00    3765345.00        0.08647                      
439689.00    3765345.00        0.08652                         

309

Item D - 891 of 1893



         439694.00    3765345.00        0.08657                      
439699.00    3765345.00        0.08662                         
         439704.00    3765345.00        0.08667                      
439709.00    3765345.00        0.08671                         
         439714.00    3765345.00        0.08675                      
439719.00    3765345.00        0.08679                         
         439729.00    3765345.00        0.08686                      
439734.00    3765345.00        0.08689                         
         439739.00    3765345.00        0.08692                      
439744.00    3765345.00        0.08694                         
         439749.00    3765345.00        0.08697                      
439774.00    3765345.00        0.08704                         
         439779.00    3765345.00        0.08705                      
439784.00    3765345.00        0.08705                         
         439789.00    3765345.00        0.08705                      
439794.00    3765345.00        0.08705                         
         439839.00    3765345.00        0.08680                      
439844.00    3765345.00        0.08675                         
         439849.00    3765345.00        0.08669                      
439854.00    3765345.00        0.08662                         
         439859.00    3765345.00        0.08655                      
439864.00    3765345.00        0.08647                         
         439869.00    3765345.00        0.08638                      
439874.00    3765345.00        0.08629                         
         439879.00    3765345.00        0.08618                      
439884.00    3765345.00        0.08607                         
         439674.00    3765350.00        0.08777                      
439679.00    3765350.00        0.08783                         
         439684.00    3765350.00        0.08789                      
439689.00    3765350.00        0.08794                         
         439694.00    3765350.00        0.08799                      
439699.00    3765350.00        0.08804                         
         439704.00    3765350.00        0.08809                      
439709.00    3765350.00        0.08814                         
         439714.00    3765350.00        0.08818                      
439719.00    3765350.00        0.08822                         
         439729.00    3765350.00        0.08829                      
439734.00    3765350.00        0.08832                         
         439739.00    3765350.00        0.08835                      
439744.00    3765350.00        0.08838                         
         439749.00    3765350.00        0.08840                      
439774.00    3765350.00        0.08850                         
         439779.00    3765350.00        0.08851                      
439784.00    3765350.00        0.08851                         
         439789.00    3765350.00        0.08852                      
439794.00    3765350.00        0.08852                         
         439839.00    3765350.00        0.08832                      
439844.00    3765350.00        0.08827                         
         439849.00    3765350.00        0.08821                      
439854.00    3765350.00        0.08815                         
         439859.00    3765350.00        0.08808                      
439864.00    3765350.00        0.08800                         

310

Item D - 892 of 1893



         439869.00    3765350.00        0.08792                      
439874.00    3765350.00        0.08783                         
         439879.00    3765350.00        0.08773                      
439884.00    3765350.00        0.08763                         
         439674.00    3765355.00        0.08922                      
439679.00    3765355.00        0.08928                         
         439684.00    3765355.00        0.08934                      
439689.00    3765355.00        0.08940                         
         439694.00    3765355.00        0.08945                      
439699.00    3765355.00        0.08951                         

311

Item D - 893 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  98
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439704.00    3765355.00        0.08956                      
439709.00    3765355.00        0.08960                         
         439714.00    3765355.00        0.08964                      
439719.00    3765355.00        0.08969                         
         439729.00    3765355.00        0.08976                      
439734.00    3765355.00        0.08980                         
         439739.00    3765355.00        0.08983                      
439744.00    3765355.00        0.08986                         
         439749.00    3765355.00        0.08989                      
439774.00    3765355.00        0.08999                         
         439779.00    3765355.00        0.09001                      
439784.00    3765355.00        0.09002                         
         439789.00    3765355.00        0.09002                      
439794.00    3765355.00        0.09003                         
         439839.00    3765355.00        0.08987                      
439844.00    3765355.00        0.08983                         
         439849.00    3765355.00        0.08977                      
439854.00    3765355.00        0.08972                         

312

Item D - 894 of 1893



         439859.00    3765355.00        0.08965                      
439864.00    3765355.00        0.08958                         
         439869.00    3765355.00        0.08950                      
439874.00    3765355.00        0.08942                         
         439879.00    3765355.00        0.08932                      
439884.00    3765355.00        0.08922                         
         439674.00    3765360.00        0.09071                      
439679.00    3765360.00        0.09078                         
         439684.00    3765360.00        0.09084                      
439689.00    3765360.00        0.09090                         
         439694.00    3765360.00        0.09096                      
439699.00    3765360.00        0.09101                         
         439704.00    3765360.00        0.09106                      
439709.00    3765360.00        0.09111                         
         439714.00    3765360.00        0.09115                      
439719.00    3765360.00        0.09119                         
         439729.00    3765360.00        0.09127                      
439734.00    3765360.00        0.09131                         
         439739.00    3765360.00        0.09134                      
439744.00    3765360.00        0.09138                         
         439749.00    3765360.00        0.09141                      
439774.00    3765360.00        0.09153                         
         439779.00    3765360.00        0.09154                      
439784.00    3765360.00        0.09156                         
         439789.00    3765360.00        0.09157                      
439794.00    3765360.00        0.09158                         
         439799.00    3765360.00        0.09158                      
439804.00    3765360.00        0.09158                         
         439809.00    3765360.00        0.09158                      
439814.00    3765360.00        0.09157                         
         439839.00    3765360.00        0.09146                      
439844.00    3765360.00        0.09142                         
         439849.00    3765360.00        0.09138                      
439854.00    3765360.00        0.09133                         
         439859.00    3765360.00        0.09127                      
439864.00    3765360.00        0.09120                         
         439869.00    3765360.00        0.09113                      
439874.00    3765360.00        0.09105                         
         439879.00    3765360.00        0.09096                      
439884.00    3765360.00        0.09086                         
         439674.00    3765365.00        0.09225                      
439679.00    3765365.00        0.09232                         
         439684.00    3765365.00        0.09238                      
439689.00    3765365.00        0.09244                         
         439694.00    3765365.00        0.09250                      
439699.00    3765365.00        0.09255                         
         439704.00    3765365.00        0.09260                      
439709.00    3765365.00        0.09265                         
         439714.00    3765365.00        0.09270                      
439719.00    3765365.00        0.09274                         
         439729.00    3765365.00        0.09282                      
439734.00    3765365.00        0.09286                         

313

Item D - 895 of 1893



         439739.00    3765365.00        0.09290                      
439744.00    3765365.00        0.09293                         
         439749.00    3765365.00        0.09297                      
439774.00    3765365.00        0.09310                         
         439779.00    3765365.00        0.09312                      
439784.00    3765365.00        0.09314                         
         439789.00    3765365.00        0.09316                      
439794.00    3765365.00        0.09317                         
         439799.00    3765365.00        0.09318                      
439804.00    3765365.00        0.09318                         

314

Item D - 896 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  99
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765365.00        0.09319                      
439814.00    3765365.00        0.09318                         
         439839.00    3765365.00        0.09310                      
439844.00    3765365.00        0.09307                         
         439849.00    3765365.00        0.09303                      
439854.00    3765365.00        0.09298                         
         439859.00    3765365.00        0.09293                      
439864.00    3765365.00        0.09287                         
         439869.00    3765365.00        0.09280                      
439874.00    3765365.00        0.09273                         
         439879.00    3765365.00        0.09264                      
439884.00    3765365.00        0.09255                         
         439674.00    3765370.00        0.09383                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.09390                         
         439684.00    3765370.00        0.09397                      
439689.00    3765370.00        0.09403                         
         439694.00    3765370.00        0.09409                      
439699.00    3765370.00        0.09414                         

315

Item D - 897 of 1893



         439704.00    3765370.00        0.09419                      
439709.00    3765370.00        0.09424                         
         439714.00    3765370.00        0.09429                      
439719.00    3765370.00        0.09434                         
         439729.00    3765370.00        0.09442                      
439734.00    3765370.00        0.09446                         
         439739.00    3765370.00        0.09450                      
439744.00    3765370.00        0.09454                         
         439749.00    3765370.00        0.09457                      
439774.00    3765370.00        0.09472                         
         439779.00    3765370.00        0.09474                      
439784.00    3765370.00        0.09477                         
         439789.00    3765370.00        0.09478                      
439794.00    3765370.00        0.09480                         
         439799.00    3765370.00        0.09482                      
439804.00    3765370.00        0.09483                         
         439809.00    3765370.00        0.09484                      
439814.00    3765370.00        0.09484                         
         439839.00    3765370.00        0.09479                      
439844.00    3765370.00        0.09476                         
         439849.00    3765370.00        0.09472                      
439854.00    3765370.00        0.09469                         
         439859.00    3765370.00        0.09464                      
439864.00    3765370.00        0.09458                         
         439869.00    3765370.00        0.09452                      
439874.00    3765370.00        0.09445                         
         439879.00    3765370.00        0.09437                      
439884.00    3765370.00        0.09429                         
         439674.00    3765375.00        0.09546                      
439679.00    3765375.00        0.09553                         
         439684.00    3765375.00        0.09560                      
439689.00    3765375.00        0.09566                         
         439694.00    3765375.00        0.09572                      
439699.00    3765375.00        0.09578                         
         439704.00    3765375.00        0.09583                      
439709.00    3765375.00        0.09588                         
         439714.00    3765375.00        0.09593                      
439719.00    3765375.00        0.09597                         
         439729.00    3765375.00        0.09606                      
439734.00    3765375.00        0.09611                         
         439739.00    3765375.00        0.09615                      
439744.00    3765375.00        0.09618                         
         439749.00    3765375.00        0.09622                      
439754.00    3765375.00        0.09625                         
         439774.00    3765375.00        0.09638                      
439779.00    3765375.00        0.09641                         
         439784.00    3765375.00        0.09644                      
439789.00    3765375.00        0.09646                         
         439794.00    3765375.00        0.09648                      
439799.00    3765375.00        0.09650                         
         439804.00    3765375.00        0.09652                      
439809.00    3765375.00        0.09653                         

316

Item D - 898 of 1893



         439814.00    3765375.00        0.09654                      
439839.00    3765375.00        0.09652                         
         439844.00    3765375.00        0.09650                      
439849.00    3765375.00        0.09647                         
         439854.00    3765375.00        0.09644                      
439859.00    3765375.00        0.09640                         
         439864.00    3765375.00        0.09635                      
439869.00    3765375.00        0.09629                         
         439874.00    3765375.00        0.09623                      
439879.00    3765375.00        0.09616                         

317

Item D - 899 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 100
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439884.00    3765375.00        0.09608                      
439774.00    3765380.00        0.09809                         
         439779.00    3765380.00        0.09813                      
439784.00    3765380.00        0.09815                         
         439789.00    3765380.00        0.09818                      
439794.00    3765380.00        0.09821                         
         439799.00    3765380.00        0.09823                      
439804.00    3765380.00        0.09825                         
         439809.00    3765380.00        0.09827                      
439814.00    3765380.00        0.09829                         
         439769.00    3765385.00        0.09982                      
439819.00    3765385.00        0.10011                         
         439769.00    3765400.00        0.10541                      
439844.00    3765400.00        0.10599                         
         439849.00    3765400.00        0.10600                      
439674.00    3765405.00        0.10636                         
         439714.00    3765405.00        0.10686                      
439719.00    3765405.00        0.10692                         

318

Item D - 900 of 1893



         439734.00    3765405.00        0.10706                      
439749.00    3765405.00        0.10720                         
         439754.00    3765405.00        0.10725                      
439774.00    3765405.00        0.10744                         
         439779.00    3765405.00        0.10749                      
439784.00    3765405.00        0.10754                         
         439789.00    3765405.00        0.10759                      
439794.00    3765405.00        0.10764                         
         439799.00    3765405.00        0.10769                      
439804.00    3765405.00        0.10774                         
         439809.00    3765405.00        0.10778                      
439814.00    3765405.00        0.10783                         
         439819.00    3765405.00        0.10788                      
439824.00    3765405.00        0.10792                         
         439829.00    3765405.00        0.10797                      
439834.00    3765405.00        0.10800                         
         439839.00    3765405.00        0.10804                      
439844.00    3765405.00        0.10807                         
         439849.00    3765405.00        0.10809                      
439854.00    3765405.00        0.10811                         
         439859.00    3765405.00        0.10812                      
439674.00    3765410.00        0.10839                         
         439679.00    3765410.00        0.10847                      
439684.00    3765410.00        0.10854                         
         439689.00    3765410.00        0.10861                      
439694.00    3765410.00        0.10867                         
         439699.00    3765410.00        0.10873                      
439704.00    3765410.00        0.10879                         
         439709.00    3765410.00        0.10885                      
439714.00    3765410.00        0.10890                         
         439719.00    3765410.00        0.10895                      
439729.00    3765410.00        0.10905                         
         439734.00    3765410.00        0.10910                      
439739.00    3765410.00        0.10914                         
         439744.00    3765410.00        0.10919                      
439749.00    3765410.00        0.10924                         
         439774.00    3765410.00        0.10948                      
439779.00    3765410.00        0.10954                         
         439784.00    3765410.00        0.10959                      
439789.00    3765410.00        0.10964                         
         439794.00    3765410.00        0.10970                      
439799.00    3765410.00        0.10975                         
         439804.00    3765410.00        0.10981                      
439809.00    3765410.00        0.10987                         
         439814.00    3765410.00        0.10992                      
439819.00    3765410.00        0.10997                         
         439824.00    3765410.00        0.11003                      
439829.00    3765410.00        0.11008                         
         439834.00    3765410.00        0.11012                      
439839.00    3765410.00        0.11017                         
         439844.00    3765410.00        0.11021                      
439849.00    3765410.00        0.11024                         

319

Item D - 901 of 1893



         439854.00    3765410.00        0.11027                      
439859.00    3765410.00        0.11029                         
         439674.00    3765415.00        0.11049                      
439679.00    3765415.00        0.11057                         
         439684.00    3765415.00        0.11064                      
439689.00    3765415.00        0.11071                         
         439694.00    3765415.00        0.11077                      
439699.00    3765415.00        0.11083                         
         439704.00    3765415.00        0.11089                      
439709.00    3765415.00        0.11095                         

320

Item D - 902 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 101
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439714.00    3765415.00        0.11100                      
439719.00    3765415.00        0.11105                         
         439729.00    3765415.00        0.11115                      
439734.00    3765415.00        0.11120                         
         439739.00    3765415.00        0.11125                      
439744.00    3765415.00        0.11129                         
         439749.00    3765415.00        0.11134                      
439774.00    3765415.00        0.11160                         
         439779.00    3765415.00        0.11165                      
439784.00    3765415.00        0.11171                         
         439789.00    3765415.00        0.11177                      
439794.00    3765415.00        0.11183                         
         439799.00    3765415.00        0.11189                      
439804.00    3765415.00        0.11195                         
         439809.00    3765415.00        0.11201                      
439814.00    3765415.00        0.11207                         
         439819.00    3765415.00        0.11214                      
439824.00    3765415.00        0.11220                         

321

Item D - 903 of 1893



         439829.00    3765415.00        0.11226                      
439834.00    3765415.00        0.11231                         
         439839.00    3765415.00        0.11237                      
439844.00    3765415.00        0.11242                         
         439849.00    3765415.00        0.11246                      
439854.00    3765415.00        0.11250                         
         439859.00    3765415.00        0.11254                      
439674.00    3765420.00        0.11266                         
         439679.00    3765420.00        0.11274                      
439684.00    3765420.00        0.11282                         
         439689.00    3765420.00        0.11288                      
439694.00    3765420.00        0.11295                         
         439699.00    3765420.00        0.11301                      
439704.00    3765420.00        0.11307                         
         439709.00    3765420.00        0.11312                      
439714.00    3765420.00        0.11317                         
         439719.00    3765420.00        0.11323                      
439729.00    3765420.00        0.11332                         
         439734.00    3765420.00        0.11337                      
439739.00    3765420.00        0.11342                         
         439744.00    3765420.00        0.11347                      
439749.00    3765420.00        0.11352                         
         439774.00    3765420.00        0.11378                      
439779.00    3765420.00        0.11384                         
         439784.00    3765420.00        0.11390                      
439789.00    3765420.00        0.11396                         
         439794.00    3765420.00        0.11403                      
439799.00    3765420.00        0.11409                         
         439804.00    3765420.00        0.11416                      
439809.00    3765420.00        0.11423                         
         439814.00    3765420.00        0.11430                      
439819.00    3765420.00        0.11437                         
         439824.00    3765420.00        0.11444                      
439829.00    3765420.00        0.11451                         
         439834.00    3765420.00        0.11457                      
439839.00    3765420.00        0.11464                         
         439844.00    3765420.00        0.11470                      
439849.00    3765420.00        0.11476                         
         439854.00    3765420.00        0.11481                      
439859.00    3765420.00        0.11485                         
         439674.00    3765425.00        0.11491                      
439679.00    3765425.00        0.11499                         
         439684.00    3765425.00        0.11507                      
439689.00    3765425.00        0.11514                         
         439694.00    3765425.00        0.11520                      
439699.00    3765425.00        0.11526                         
         439704.00    3765425.00        0.11532                      
439709.00    3765425.00        0.11538                         
         439714.00    3765425.00        0.11543                      
439719.00    3765425.00        0.11548                         
         439729.00    3765425.00        0.11558                      
439734.00    3765425.00        0.11562                         

322

Item D - 904 of 1893



         439739.00    3765425.00        0.11567                      
439744.00    3765425.00        0.11572                         
         439749.00    3765425.00        0.11577                      
439774.00    3765425.00        0.11604                         
         439779.00    3765425.00        0.11610                      
439784.00    3765425.00        0.11616                         
         439789.00    3765425.00        0.11622                      
439794.00    3765425.00        0.11630                         
         439799.00    3765425.00        0.11637                      
439804.00    3765425.00        0.11644                         

323

Item D - 905 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 102
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765425.00        0.11652                      
439814.00    3765425.00        0.11660                         
         439819.00    3765425.00        0.11667                      
439824.00    3765425.00        0.11675                         
         439829.00    3765425.00        0.11683                     
439834.00    3765425.00        0.11691                         
         439839.00    3765425.00        0.11699                      
439844.00    3765425.00        0.11706                         
         439849.00    3765425.00        0.11713                      
439854.00    3765425.00        0.11719                         
         439859.00    3765425.00        0.11725                      
439674.00    3765430.00        0.11724                         
         439679.00    3765430.00        0.11733                      
439684.00    3765430.00        0.11740                         
         439689.00    3765430.00        0.11747                      
439694.00    3765430.00        0.11754                         
         439699.00    3765430.00        0.11760                      
439704.00    3765430.00        0.11766                         

324

Item D - 906 of 1893



         439709.00    3765430.00        0.11771                      
439714.00    3765430.00        0.11776                         
         439719.00    3765430.00        0.11781                      
439729.00    3765430.00        0.11791                         
         439734.00    3765430.00        0.11796                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.11800                         
         439744.00    3765430.00        0.11805                      
439749.00    3765430.00        0.11810                         
         439774.00    3765430.00        0.11837                      
439779.00    3765430.00        0.11843                         
         439784.00    3765430.00        0.11850                      
439789.00    3765430.00        0.11857                         
         439794.00    3765430.00        0.11865                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.11872                         
         439804.00    3765430.00        0.11880                      
439809.00    3765430.00        0.11889                         
         439814.00    3765430.00        0.11897                      
439819.00    3765430.00        0.11906                         
         439824.00    3765430.00        0.11915                      
439829.00    3765430.00        0.11924                         
         439834.00    3765430.00        0.11933                      
439839.00    3765430.00        0.11941                         
         439844.00    3765430.00        0.11950                      
439849.00    3765430.00        0.11958                         
         439854.00    3765430.00        0.11966                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.11973                         
         439674.00    3765435.00        0.11967                      
439679.00    3765435.00        0.11974                         
         439684.00    3765435.00        0.11982                      
439689.00    3765435.00        0.11989                         
         439694.00    3765435.00        0.11996                      
439699.00    3765435.00        0.12002                         
         439704.00    3765435.00        0.12008                      
439709.00    3765435.00        0.12013                         
         439714.00    3765435.00        0.12018                      
439719.00    3765435.00        0.12023                         
         439729.00    3765435.00        0.12033                      
439734.00    3765435.00        0.12037                         
         439739.00    3765435.00        0.12042                      
439744.00    3765435.00        0.12047                         
         439749.00    3765435.00        0.12051                      
439774.00    3765435.00        0.12079                         
         439779.00    3765435.00        0.12086                      
439784.00    3765435.00        0.12093                         
         439789.00    3765435.00        0.12100                      
439794.00    3765435.00        0.12107                         
         439799.00    3765435.00        0.12116                      
439804.00    3765435.00        0.12124                         
         439809.00    3765435.00        0.12133                      
439814.00    3765435.00        0.12143                         
         439819.00    3765435.00        0.12152                      
439824.00    3765435.00        0.12162                         

325

Item D - 907 of 1893



         439829.00    3765435.00        0.12172                      
439834.00    3765435.00        0.12182                         
         439839.00    3765435.00        0.12192                      
439844.00    3765435.00        0.12203                         
         439849.00    3765435.00        0.12212                      
439854.00    3765435.00        0.12221                         
         439859.00    3765435.00        0.12230                      
439674.00    3765440.00        0.12217                         
         439679.00    3765440.00        0.12226                      
439684.00    3765440.00        0.12233                         

326

Item D - 908 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 103
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439689.00    3765440.00        0.12240                      
439694.00    3765440.00        0.12247                         
         439699.00    3765440.00        0.12253                      
439704.00    3765440.00        0.12259                         
         439709.00    3765440.00        0.12265                      
439714.00    3765440.00        0.12269                         
         439719.00    3765440.00        0.12274                      
439729.00    3765440.00        0.12284                         
         439734.00    3765440.00        0.12288                      
439739.00    3765440.00        0.12293                         
         439744.00    3765440.00        0.12297                      
439749.00    3765440.00        0.12302                         
         439774.00    3765440.00        0.12330                      
439779.00    3765440.00        0.12337                         
         439784.00    3765440.00        0.12344                      
439789.00    3765440.00        0.12351                         
         439794.00    3765440.00        0.12360                      
439799.00    3765440.00        0.12368                         

327

Item D - 909 of 1893



         439804.00    3765440.00        0.12377                      
439809.00    3765440.00        0.12387                         
         439814.00    3765440.00        0.12397                      
439819.00    3765440.00        0.12408                         
         439824.00    3765440.00        0.12419                      
439829.00    3765440.00        0.12430                         
         439834.00    3765440.00        0.12441                      
439839.00    3765440.00        0.12452                         
         439844.00    3765440.00        0.12464                      
439849.00    3765440.00        0.12475                         
         439854.00    3765440.00        0.12486                      
439859.00    3765440.00        0.12496                         
         439674.00    3765445.00        0.12478                      
439679.00    3765445.00        0.12487                         
         439684.00    3765445.00        0.12494                      
439689.00    3765445.00        0.12502                         
         439694.00    3765445.00        0.12508                      
439699.00    3765445.00        0.12514                         
         439704.00    3765445.00        0.12520                      
439709.00    3765445.00        0.12525                         
         439714.00    3765445.00        0.12530                      
439719.00    3765445.00        0.12535                         
         439729.00    3765445.00        0.12545                      
439734.00    3765445.00        0.12549                         
         439739.00    3765445.00        0.12553                      
439744.00    3765445.00        0.12558                         
         439749.00    3765445.00        0.12562                      
439774.00    3765445.00        0.12590                         
         439779.00    3765445.00        0.12597                      
439784.00    3765445.00        0.12604                         
         439789.00    3765445.00        0.12612                      
439794.00    3765445.00        0.12621                         
         439799.00    3765445.00        0.12630                      
439804.00    3765445.00        0.12640                         
         439809.00    3765445.00        0.12650                      
439814.00    3765445.00        0.12661                         
         439819.00    3765445.00        0.12672                      
439824.00    3765445.00        0.12684                         
         439829.00    3765445.00        0.12696                      
439834.00    3765445.00        0.12709                         
         439839.00    3765445.00        0.12722                      
439844.00    3765445.00        0.12735                         
         439849.00    3765445.00        0.12747                      
439854.00    3765445.00        0.12760                         
         439859.00    3765445.00        0.12772                      
439674.00    3765450.00        0.12749                         
         439679.00    3765450.00        0.12758                      
439684.00    3765450.00        0.12766                         
         439689.00    3765450.00        0.12773                      
439694.00    3765450.00        0.12780                         
         439699.00    3765450.00        0.12786                      
439704.00    3765450.00        0.12792                         

328

Item D - 910 of 1893



         439709.00    3765450.00        0.12797                      
439714.00    3765450.00        0.12802                         
         439719.00    3765450.00        0.12807                      
439729.00    3765450.00        0.12815                         
         439734.00    3765450.00        0.12820                      
439739.00    3765450.00        0.12824                         
         439744.00    3765450.00        0.12829                      
439749.00    3765450.00        0.12833                         
         439774.00    3765450.00        0.12861                      
439844.00    3765450.00        0.13015                         

329

Item D - 911 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 104
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439849.00    3765450.00        0.13030                      
439854.00    3765450.00        0.13044                         
         439859.00    3765450.00        0.13059                      
439674.00    3765455.00        0.13031                         
         439679.00    3765455.00        0.13040                      
439684.00    3765455.00        0.13048                         
         439689.00    3765455.00        0.13055                      
439694.00    3765455.00        0.13062                         
         439699.00    3765455.00        0.13068                      
439704.00    3765455.00        0.13074                         
         439709.00    3765455.00        0.13079                      
439714.00    3765455.00        0.13084                         
         439719.00    3765455.00        0.13089                      
439729.00    3765455.00        0.13098                         
         439734.00    3765455.00        0.13102                      
439739.00    3765455.00        0.13106                         
         439744.00    3765455.00        0.13110                      
439749.00    3765455.00        0.13115                         

330

Item D - 912 of 1893



         439844.00    3765455.00        0.13307                      
439849.00    3765455.00        0.13323                         
         439854.00    3765455.00        0.13340                      
439859.00    3765455.00        0.13356                         
         439674.00    3765460.00        0.13324                      
439679.00    3765460.00        0.13333                         
         439684.00    3765460.00        0.13342                      
439689.00    3765460.00        0.13349                         
         439694.00    3765460.00        0.13356                      
439699.00    3765460.00        0.13362                         
         439704.00    3765460.00        0.13368                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.13374                         
         439714.00    3765460.00        0.13379                      
439719.00    3765460.00        0.13383                         
         439729.00    3765460.00        0.13392                      
439734.00    3765460.00        0.13396                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.13400                      
439744.00    3765460.00        0.13404                         
         439749.00    3765460.00        0.13408                      
439789.00    3765460.00        0.13457                         
         439794.00    3765460.00        0.13467                      
439799.00    3765460.00        0.13477                         
         439804.00    3765460.00        0.13488                      
439809.00    3765460.00        0.13500                         
         439814.00    3765460.00        0.13513                      
439819.00    3765460.00        0.13527                         
         439824.00    3765460.00        0.13542                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.13558                         
         439844.00    3765460.00        0.13610                      
439849.00    3765460.00        0.13628                         
         439854.00    3765460.00        0.13646                      
439859.00    3765460.00        0.13665                         
         439674.00    3765465.00        0.13630                      
439679.00    3765465.00        0.13639                         
         439684.00    3765465.00        0.13648                      
439689.00    3765465.00        0.13656                         
         439694.00    3765465.00        0.13663                      
439699.00    3765465.00        0.13669                         
         439704.00    3765465.00        0.13675                      
439709.00    3765465.00        0.13680                         
         439714.00    3765465.00        0.13685                      
439719.00    3765465.00        0.13690                         
         439729.00    3765465.00        0.13698                      
439734.00    3765465.00        0.13702                         
         439739.00    3765465.00        0.13706                      
439744.00    3765465.00        0.13710                         
         439749.00    3765465.00        0.13714                      
439789.00    3765465.00        0.13763                         
         439794.00    3765465.00        0.13772                      
439799.00    3765465.00        0.13783                         
         439804.00    3765465.00        0.13794                      
439809.00    3765465.00        0.13807                         

331

Item D - 913 of 1893



         439814.00    3765465.00        0.13820                      
439819.00    3765465.00        0.13835                         
         439824.00    3765465.00        0.13851                      
439829.00    3765465.00        0.13868                         
         439844.00    3765465.00        0.13924                      
439849.00    3765465.00        0.13945                         
         439854.00    3765465.00        0.13965                      
439859.00    3765465.00        0.13986                         
         439674.00    3765470.00        0.13949                      
439679.00    3765470.00        0.13958                         

332

Item D - 914 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 105
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765470.00        0.13967                      
439689.00    3765470.00        0.13975                         
         439694.00    3765470.00        0.13982                      
439699.00    3765470.00        0.13989                         
         439704.00    3765470.00        0.13995                      
439709.00    3765470.00        0.14000                         
         439714.00    3765470.00        0.14006                      
439719.00    3765470.00        0.14010                         
         439729.00    3765470.00        0.14019                      
439734.00    3765470.00        0.14022                         
         439739.00    3765470.00        0.14026                      
439744.00    3765470.00        0.14030                         
         439749.00    3765470.00        0.14034                      
439789.00    3765470.00        0.14081                         
         439794.00    3765470.00        0.14091                      
439799.00    3765470.00        0.14101                         
         439804.00    3765470.00        0.14113                      
439809.00    3765470.00        0.14126                         

333

Item D - 915 of 1893



         439814.00    3765470.00        0.14140                      
439819.00    3765470.00        0.14156                         
         439824.00    3765470.00        0.14173                      
439829.00    3765470.00        0.14191                         
         439844.00    3765470.00        0.14252                      
439849.00    3765470.00        0.14274                         
         439854.00    3765470.00        0.14297                      
439859.00    3765470.00        0.14320                         
         439674.00    3765475.00        0.14281                      
439679.00    3765475.00        0.14291                         
         439684.00    3765475.00        0.14301                      
439689.00    3765475.00        0.14309                         
         439694.00    3765475.00        0.14316                      
439699.00    3765475.00        0.14323                         
         439704.00    3765475.00        0.14329                      
439709.00    3765475.00        0.14335                         
         439714.00    3765475.00        0.14340                      
439719.00    3765475.00        0.14345                         
         439729.00    3765475.00        0.14353                      
439734.00    3765475.00        0.14357                         
         439739.00    3765475.00        0.14361                      
439744.00    3765475.00        0.14364                         
         439749.00    3765475.00        0.14368                      
439754.00    3765475.00        0.14372                         
         439789.00    3765475.00        0.14414                      
439794.00    3765475.00        0.14423                         
         439799.00    3765475.00        0.14434                      
439804.00    3765475.00        0.14446                         
         439809.00    3765475.00        0.14459                      
439814.00    3765475.00        0.14474                         
         439819.00    3765475.00        0.14490                      
439824.00    3765475.00        0.14508                         
         439829.00    3765475.00        0.14527                      
439269.00    3764900.00        0.02871                         
         439369.00    3764900.00        0.02965                      
439469.00    3764900.00        0.03007                         
         439569.00    3764900.00        0.02997                      
439669.00    3764900.00        0.02936                         
         439769.00    3764900.00        0.02825                      
439869.00    3764900.00        0.02670                         
         439969.00    3764900.00        0.02480                      
440069.00    3764900.00        0.02267                         
         440169.00    3764900.00        0.02047                      
440269.00    3764900.00        0.01834                         
         439269.00    3765000.00        0.03348                      
439369.00    3765000.00        0.03513                         
         439469.00    3765000.00        0.03608                      
439569.00    3765000.00        0.03634                         
         439669.00    3765000.00        0.03593                      
439769.00    3765000.00        0.03485                         
         439869.00    3765000.00        0.03307                      
439969.00    3765000.00        0.03069                         

334

Item D - 916 of 1893



         440069.00    3765000.00        0.02789                      
440169.00    3765000.00        0.02491                         
         440269.00    3765000.00        0.02202                      
439269.00    3765100.00        0.03935                         
         439369.00    3765100.00        0.04212                      
439469.00    3765100.00        0.04392                         
         439569.00    3765100.00        0.04477                      
439669.00    3765100.00        0.04478                         
         439769.00    3765100.00        0.04390                      
439869.00    3765100.00        0.04196                         

335

Item D - 917 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 106
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439969.00    3765100.00        0.03903                      
440069.00    3765100.00        0.03532                         
         440169.00    3765100.00        0.03121                      
440269.00    3765100.00        0.02717                         
         439269.00    3765200.00        0.04669                      
439369.00    3765200.00        0.05136                         
         439469.00    3765200.00        0.05458                      
439569.00    3765200.00        0.05639                         
         439669.00    3765200.00        0.05707                      
439769.00    3765200.00        0.05666                         
         439869.00    3765200.00        0.05479                      
439969.00    3765200.00        0.05135                         
         440069.00    3765200.00        0.04650                      
440169.00    3765200.00        0.04076                         
         440269.00    3765200.00        0.03486                      
439269.00    3765300.00        0.05587                         
         439369.00    3765300.00        0.06414                      
439469.00    3765300.00        0.07002                         

336

Item D - 918 of 1893



         439569.00    3765300.00        0.07344                      
439669.00    3765300.00        0.07509                         
         439769.00    3765300.00        0.07545                      
439869.00    3765300.00        0.07419                         
         439969.00    3765300.00        0.07058                      
440069.00    3765300.00        0.06450                         
         440169.00    3765300.00        0.05647                      
440269.00    3765300.00        0.04748                         
         439269.00    3765400.00        0.06689                      
439369.00    3765400.00        0.08264                         
         439469.00    3765400.00        0.09448                      
439569.00    3765400.00        0.10132                         
         439669.00    3765400.00        0.10432                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.10541                         
         439869.00    3765400.00        0.10599                      
439969.00    3765400.00        0.10352                         
         440069.00    3765400.00        0.09656                      
440169.00    3765400.00        0.08558                         
         440269.00    3765400.00        0.07127                      
439269.00    3765500.00        0.07824                         
         439369.00    3765500.00        0.11065                      
439469.00    3765500.00        0.13891                         
         439569.00    3765500.00        0.15530                      
439669.00    3765500.00        0.16175                         
         439769.00    3765500.00        0.16314                      
439869.00    3765500.00        0.16744                         
         439969.00    3765500.00        0.17292                      
440069.00    3765500.00        0.16606                         
         440169.00    3765500.00        0.15023                      
440269.00    3765500.00        0.12670                         
         439269.00    3765600.00        0.08414                      
439369.00    3765600.00        0.15237                         
         439469.00    3765600.00        0.24745                      
439569.00    3765600.00        0.30313                         
         439669.00    3765600.00        0.33142                      
439769.00    3765600.00        0.35795                         
         439869.00    3765600.00        0.37055                      
439969.00    3765600.00        0.46849                         
         440069.00    3765600.00        0.43901                      
440169.00    3765600.00        0.38301                         
         440269.00    3765600.00        0.32391                      
439269.00    3765700.00        0.07478                         
         439369.00    3765700.00        0.18371                      
439469.00    3765700.00        2.55756                         
         439569.00    3765700.00        2.83983                      
439669.00    3765700.00        1.80797                         
         439769.00    3765700.00        1.29619                      
439869.00    3765700.00        0.85891                         
         439969.00    3765700.00        0.65175                      
440069.00    3765700.00        0.98812                         
         440169.00    3765700.00        1.56800                      
440269.00    3765700.00        2.78830                         

337

Item D - 919 of 1893



         439269.00    3765800.00        0.05166                      
439369.00    3765800.00        0.09184                         
         439469.00    3765800.00        0.25257                      
439569.00    3765800.00        0.55015                         
         439669.00    3765800.00        0.82529                      
439769.00    3765800.00        1.25365                         
         439869.00    3765800.00        2.19339                      
439969.00    3765800.00        0.83984                         
         440069.00    3765800.00        0.53479                      
440169.00    3765800.00        0.45632                         

338

Item D - 920 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 107
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         440269.00    3765800.00        0.45448                      
439269.00    3765900.00        0.03428                         
         439369.00    3765900.00        0.04726                      
439469.00    3765900.00        0.06963                         
         439569.00    3765900.00        0.10866                      
439669.00    3765900.00        0.16257                         
         439769.00    3765900.00        0.22134                      
439869.00    3765900.00        0.27263                         
         439969.00    3765900.00        0.29388                      
440069.00    3765900.00        0.27249                         
         440169.00    3765900.00        0.24334                      
440269.00    3765900.00        0.22600                         
         439649.00    3765310.00        0.07713                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.07746                         
         439709.00    3765310.00        0.07769                      
439739.00    3765310.00        0.07781                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.07781                      
439799.00    3765310.00        0.07768                         

339

Item D - 921 of 1893



         439829.00    3765310.00        0.07738                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.07688                         
         439889.00    3765310.00        0.07616                      
439649.00    3765340.00        0.08463                         
         439679.00    3765340.00        0.08503                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.08532                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.08552                      
439769.00    3765340.00        0.08562                         
         439799.00    3765340.00        0.08560                      
439829.00    3765340.00        0.08543                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.08506                      
439889.00    3765340.00        0.08444                         
         439649.00    3765370.00        0.09343                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.09390                         
         439709.00    3765370.00        0.09424                      
439739.00    3765370.00        0.09450                         
         439769.00    3765370.00        0.09469                      
439799.00    3765370.00        0.09482                         
         439829.00    3765370.00        0.09482                      
439859.00    3765370.00        0.09464                         
         439889.00    3765370.00        0.09420                      
439649.00    3765400.00        0.10395                         
         439679.00    3765400.00        0.10447                      
439709.00    3765400.00        0.10484                         
         439739.00    3765400.00        0.10514                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.10541                         
         439799.00    3765400.00        0.10568                      
439829.00    3765400.00        0.10592                         
         439859.00    3765400.00        0.10601                      
439889.00    3765400.00        0.10584                         
         439649.00    3765430.00        0.11674                      
439679.00    3765430.00        0.11733                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.11771                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.11800                         
         439769.00    3765430.00        0.11831                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.11872                         
         439829.00    3765430.00        0.11924                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.11973                         
         439889.00    3765430.00        0.12001                      
439649.00    3765460.00        0.13266                         
         439679.00    3765460.00        0.13333                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.13374                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.13400                      
439769.00    3765460.00        0.13428                         
         439799.00    3765460.00        0.13477                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.13558                         
         439859.00    3765460.00        0.13665                      
439889.00    3765460.00        0.13764                         
         439649.00    3765490.00        0.15297                      
439679.00    3765490.00        0.15384                         
         439709.00    3765490.00        0.15435                      
439739.00    3765490.00        0.15462                         

340

Item D - 922 of 1893



         439769.00    3765490.00        0.15484                      
439799.00    3765490.00        0.15529                         
         439829.00    3765490.00        0.15630                      
439859.00    3765490.00        0.15807                         
         439889.00    3765490.00        0.16025                                                                                     

341

Item D - 923 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 108
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439674.00    3765310.00        0.14832                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.14829                         
         439684.00    3765310.00        0.14826                      
439689.00    3765310.00        0.14824                         
         439694.00    3765310.00        0.14820                      
439699.00    3765310.00        0.14817                         
         439704.00    3765310.00        0.14813                      
439709.00    3765310.00        0.14809                         
         439714.00    3765310.00        0.14805                      
439719.00    3765310.00        0.14800                         
         439729.00    3765310.00        0.14790                      
439734.00    3765310.00        0.14785                         
         439739.00    3765310.00        0.14780                      
439744.00    3765310.00        0.14774                         
         439749.00    3765310.00        0.14768                      
439764.00    3765310.00        0.14749                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.14742                      
439774.00    3765310.00        0.14735                         
         439779.00    3765310.00        0.14727                      
439784.00    3765310.00        0.14719                         

342

Item D - 924 of 1893



         439789.00    3765310.00        0.14711                      
439794.00    3765310.00        0.14703                         
         439799.00    3765310.00        0.14695                      
439804.00    3765310.00        0.14686                         
         439809.00    3765310.00        0.14677                      
439814.00    3765310.00        0.14667                         
         439819.00    3765310.00        0.14658                      
439824.00    3765310.00        0.14648                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.14637                      
439839.00    3765310.00        0.14616                         
         439844.00    3765310.00        0.14605                      
439849.00    3765310.00        0.14593                         
         439854.00    3765310.00        0.14582                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.14570                         
         439864.00    3765310.00        0.14557                      
439869.00    3765310.00        0.14545                         
         439874.00    3765310.00        0.14531                      
439879.00    3765310.00        0.14518                         
         439884.00    3765310.00        0.14504                      
439674.00    3765315.00        0.15028                         
         439679.00    3765315.00        0.15026                      
439684.00    3765315.00        0.15023                         
         439689.00    3765315.00        0.15020                      
439694.00    3765315.00        0.15017                         
         439699.00    3765315.00        0.15014                      
439704.00    3765315.00        0.15010                         
         439709.00    3765315.00        0.15006                      
439714.00    3765315.00        0.15002                         
         439719.00    3765315.00        0.14998                      
439729.00    3765315.00        0.14988                         
         439734.00    3765315.00        0.14983                      
439739.00    3765315.00        0.14978                         
         439744.00    3765315.00        0.14973                      
439749.00    3765315.00        0.14967                         
         439764.00    3765315.00        0.14948                      
439769.00    3765315.00        0.14941                         
         439774.00    3765315.00        0.14934                      
439779.00    3765315.00        0.14927                         
         439784.00    3765315.00        0.14919                      
439789.00    3765315.00        0.14911                         
         439794.00    3765315.00        0.14903                      
439799.00    3765315.00        0.14895                         
         439804.00    3765315.00        0.14886                      
439809.00    3765315.00        0.14877                         
         439814.00    3765315.00        0.14868                      
439819.00    3765315.00        0.14859                         
         439824.00    3765315.00        0.14849                      
439829.00    3765315.00        0.14839                         
         439839.00    3765315.00        0.14818                      
439844.00    3765315.00        0.14807                         
         439849.00    3765315.00        0.14796                      
439854.00    3765315.00        0.14784                         

343

Item D - 925 of 1893



         439859.00    3765315.00        0.14772                      
439864.00    3765315.00        0.14760                         
         439869.00    3765315.00        0.14747                      
439874.00    3765315.00        0.14734                         
         439879.00    3765315.00        0.14721                      
439884.00    3765315.00        0.14708                         
         439674.00    3765320.00        0.15229                      
439679.00    3765320.00        0.15226                         

344

Item D - 926 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 109
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765320.00        0.15224                      
439689.00    3765320.00        0.15221                         
         439694.00    3765320.00        0.15218                      
439699.00    3765320.00        0.15215                         
         439704.00    3765320.00        0.15212                      
439709.00    3765320.00        0.15208                         
         439714.00    3765320.00        0.15204                      
439719.00    3765320.00        0.15200                         
         439729.00    3765320.00        0.15191                      
439734.00    3765320.00        0.15186                         
         439739.00    3765320.00        0.15181                      
439744.00    3765320.00        0.15176                         
         439749.00    3765320.00        0.15170                      
439764.00    3765320.00        0.15152                         
         439769.00    3765320.00        0.15145                      
439774.00    3765320.00        0.15138                         
         439779.00    3765320.00        0.15131                      
439784.00    3765320.00        0.15124                         
         439789.00    3765320.00        0.15116                      
439794.00    3765320.00        0.15108                         

345

Item D - 927 of 1893



         439799.00    3765320.00        0.15100                      
439804.00    3765320.00        0.15092                         
         439809.00    3765320.00        0.15083                      
439814.00    3765320.00        0.15074                         
         439819.00    3765320.00        0.15065                      
439824.00    3765320.00        0.15055                         
         439829.00    3765320.00        0.15045                      
439839.00    3765320.00        0.15024                         
         439844.00    3765320.00        0.15014                      
439849.00    3765320.00        0.15003                         
         439854.00    3765320.00        0.14991                      
439859.00    3765320.00        0.14979                         
         439864.00    3765320.00        0.14967                      
439869.00    3765320.00        0.14955                         
         439874.00    3765320.00        0.14942                      
439879.00    3765320.00        0.14929                         
         439884.00    3765320.00        0.14916                      
439674.00    3765325.00        0.15434                         
         439679.00    3765325.00        0.15432                      
439684.00    3765325.00        0.15429                         
         439689.00    3765325.00        0.15427                      
439694.00    3765325.00        0.15424                         
         439699.00    3765325.00        0.15421                      
439704.00    3765325.00        0.15418                         
         439709.00    3765325.00        0.15415                      
439714.00    3765325.00        0.15411                         
         439719.00    3765325.00        0.15407                      
439729.00    3765325.00        0.15398                         
         439734.00    3765325.00        0.15394                      
439739.00    3765325.00        0.15389                         
         439744.00    3765325.00        0.15384                      
439749.00    3765325.00        0.15378                         
         439754.00    3765325.00        0.15373                      
439769.00    3765325.00        0.15354                         
         439774.00    3765325.00        0.15347                      
439779.00    3765325.00        0.15341                         
         439784.00    3765325.00        0.15333                      
439789.00    3765325.00        0.15326                         
         439794.00    3765325.00        0.15318                      
439799.00    3765325.00        0.15310                         
         439804.00    3765325.00        0.15302                      
439809.00    3765325.00        0.15293                         
         439814.00    3765325.00        0.15284                      
439819.00    3765325.00        0.15275                         
         439824.00    3765325.00        0.15266                      
439829.00    3765325.00        0.15256                         
         439839.00    3765325.00        0.15236                      
439844.00    3765325.00        0.15225                         
         439849.00    3765325.00        0.15214                      
439854.00    3765325.00        0.15203                         
         439859.00    3765325.00        0.15191                      
439864.00    3765325.00        0.15179                         

346

Item D - 928 of 1893



         439869.00    3765325.00        0.15167                      
439874.00    3765325.00        0.15155                         
         439879.00    3765325.00        0.15142                      
439884.00    3765325.00        0.15128                         
         439674.00    3765330.00        0.15644                      
439679.00    3765330.00        0.15642                         
         439684.00    3765330.00        0.15640                      
439689.00    3765330.00        0.15638                         

347

Item D - 929 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 110
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439694.00    3765330.00        0.15635                      
439699.00    3765330.00        0.15632                         
         439704.00    3765330.00        0.15629                      
439709.00    3765330.00        0.15626                         
         439714.00    3765330.00        0.15623                      
439719.00    3765330.00        0.15619                         
         439729.00    3765330.00        0.15611                      
439734.00    3765330.00        0.15606                         
         439739.00    3765330.00        0.15602                      
439744.00    3765330.00        0.15597                         
         439749.00    3765330.00        0.15591                      
439754.00    3765330.00        0.15586                         
         439774.00    3765330.00        0.15562                      
439779.00    3765330.00        0.15555                         
         439784.00    3765330.00        0.15548                      
439789.00    3765330.00        0.15541                         
         439794.00    3765330.00        0.15533                      
439799.00    3765330.00        0.15525                         
         439804.00    3765330.00        0.15517                      
439809.00    3765330.00        0.15509                         

348

Item D - 930 of 1893



         439814.00    3765330.00        0.15500                      
439819.00    3765330.00        0.15491                         
         439824.00    3765330.00        0.15482                      
439829.00    3765330.00        0.15472                         
         439839.00    3765330.00        0.15452                      
439844.00    3765330.00        0.15442                         
         439849.00    3765330.00        0.15431                      
439854.00    3765330.00        0.15420                         
         439859.00    3765330.00        0.15408                      
439864.00    3765330.00        0.15397                         
         439869.00    3765330.00        0.15385                      
439874.00    3765330.00        0.15372                         
         439879.00    3765330.00        0.15360                      
439884.00    3765330.00        0.15347                         
         439674.00    3765335.00        0.15859                      
439679.00    3765335.00        0.15858                         
         439684.00    3765335.00        0.15856                      
439689.00    3765335.00        0.15854                         
         439694.00    3765335.00        0.15851                      
439699.00    3765335.00        0.15849                         
         439704.00    3765335.00        0.15846                      
439709.00    3765335.00        0.15843                         
         439714.00    3765335.00        0.15840                      
439719.00    3765335.00        0.15836                         
         439729.00    3765335.00        0.15828                      
439734.00    3765335.00        0.15824                         
         439739.00    3765335.00        0.15819                      
439744.00    3765335.00        0.15815                         
         439749.00    3765335.00        0.15810                      
439774.00    3765335.00        0.15781                         
         439779.00    3765335.00        0.15774                      
439784.00    3765335.00        0.15767                         
         439789.00    3765335.00        0.15760                      
439794.00    3765335.00        0.15753                         
         439839.00    3765335.00        0.15674                      
439844.00    3765335.00        0.15663                         
         439849.00    3765335.00        0.15653                      
439854.00    3765335.00        0.15642                         
         439859.00    3765335.00        0.15631                      
439864.00    3765335.00        0.15619                         
         439869.00    3765335.00        0.15608                      
439874.00    3765335.00        0.15595                         
         439879.00    3765335.00        0.15583                      
439884.00    3765335.00        0.15570                         
         439674.00    3765340.00        0.16080                      
439679.00    3765340.00        0.16078                         
         439684.00    3765340.00        0.16077                      
439689.00    3765340.00        0.16075                         
         439694.00    3765340.00        0.16073                      
439699.00    3765340.00        0.16070                         
         439704.00    3765340.00        0.16068                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.16065                         

349

Item D - 931 of 1893



         439714.00    3765340.00        0.16062                      
439719.00    3765340.00        0.16058                         
         439729.00    3765340.00        0.16051                      
439734.00    3765340.00        0.16047                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.16043                      
439744.00    3765340.00        0.16038                         
         439749.00    3765340.00        0.16033                      
439774.00    3765340.00        0.16005                         

350

Item D - 932 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 111
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439779.00    3765340.00        0.15999                      
439784.00    3765340.00        0.15992                         
         439789.00    3765340.00        0.15986                      
439794.00    3765340.00        0.15978                         
         439839.00    3765340.00        0.15901                      
439844.00    3765340.00        0.15891                         
         439849.00    3765340.00        0.15880                      
439854.00    3765340.00        0.15870                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.15859                      
439864.00    3765340.00        0.15847                         
         439869.00    3765340.00        0.15836                      
439874.00    3765340.00        0.15823                         
         439879.00    3765340.00        0.15811                      
439884.00    3765340.00        0.15798                         
         439674.00    3765345.00        0.16306                      
439679.00    3765345.00        0.16305                         
         439684.00    3765345.00        0.16303                      
439689.00    3765345.00        0.16301                         
         439694.00    3765345.00        0.16300                      
439699.00    3765345.00        0.16297                         

351

Item D - 933 of 1893



         439704.00    3765345.00        0.16295                      
439709.00    3765345.00        0.16292                         
         439714.00    3765345.00        0.16289                      
439719.00    3765345.00        0.16286                         
         439729.00    3765345.00        0.16279                      
439734.00    3765345.00        0.16276                         
         439739.00    3765345.00        0.16272                      
439744.00    3765345.00        0.16267                         
         439749.00    3765345.00        0.16263                      
439774.00    3765345.00        0.16236                         
         439779.00    3765345.00        0.16230                      
439784.00    3765345.00        0.16223                         
         439789.00    3765345.00        0.16216                      
439794.00    3765345.00        0.16209                         
         439839.00    3765345.00        0.16134                      
439844.00    3765345.00        0.16124                         
         439849.00    3765345.00        0.16113                      
439854.00    3765345.00        0.16103                         
         439859.00    3765345.00        0.16092                      
439864.00    3765345.00        0.16081                         
         439869.00    3765345.00        0.16069                      
439874.00    3765345.00        0.16058                         
         439879.00    3765345.00        0.16045                      
439884.00    3765345.00        0.16033                         
         439674.00    3765350.00        0.16537                      
439679.00    3765350.00        0.16537                         
         439684.00    3765350.00        0.16535                      
439689.00    3765350.00        0.16534                         
         439694.00    3765350.00        0.16532                      
439699.00    3765350.00        0.16530                         
         439704.00    3765350.00        0.16528                      
439709.00    3765350.00        0.16526                         
         439714.00    3765350.00        0.16523                      
439719.00    3765350.00        0.16520                         
         439729.00    3765350.00        0.16513                      
439734.00    3765350.00        0.16510                         
         439739.00    3765350.00        0.16506                      
439744.00    3765350.00        0.16502                         
         439749.00    3765350.00        0.16497                      
439774.00    3765350.00        0.16472                         
         439779.00    3765350.00        0.16466                      
439784.00    3765350.00        0.16460                         
         439789.00    3765350.00        0.16453                      
439794.00    3765350.00        0.16446                         
         439839.00    3765350.00        0.16372                      
439844.00    3765350.00        0.16362                         
         439849.00    3765350.00        0.16353                      
439854.00    3765350.00        0.16342                         
         439859.00    3765350.00        0.16332                      
439864.00    3765350.00        0.16320                         
         439869.00    3765350.00        0.16309                      
439874.00    3765350.00        0.16297                         

352

Item D - 934 of 1893



         439879.00    3765350.00        0.16286                      
439884.00    3765350.00        0.16273                         
         439674.00    3765355.00        0.16775                      
439679.00    3765355.00        0.16774                         
         439684.00    3765355.00        0.16773                      
439689.00    3765355.00        0.16772                         
         439694.00    3765355.00        0.16771                      
439699.00    3765355.00        0.16769                         

353

Item D - 935 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 112
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439704.00    3765355.00        0.16767                      
439709.00    3765355.00        0.16765                         
         439714.00    3765355.00        0.16762                      
439719.00    3765355.00        0.16760                         
         439729.00    3765355.00        0.16754                      
439734.00    3765355.00        0.16750                         
         439739.00    3765355.00        0.16747                      
439744.00    3765355.00        0.16743                         
         439749.00    3765355.00        0.16739                      
439774.00    3765355.00        0.16714                         
         439779.00    3765355.00        0.16708                      
439784.00    3765355.00        0.16702                         
         439789.00    3765355.00        0.16696                      
439794.00    3765355.00        0.16689                         
         439839.00    3765355.00        0.16617                      
439844.00    3765355.00        0.16608                         
         439849.00    3765355.00        0.16597                      
439854.00    3765355.00        0.16588                         
         439859.00    3765355.00        0.16577                      
439864.00    3765355.00        0.16566                         

354

Item D - 936 of 1893



         439869.00    3765355.00        0.16555                      
439874.00    3765355.00        0.16543                         
         439879.00    3765355.00        0.16532                      
439884.00    3765355.00        0.16519                         
         439674.00    3765360.00        0.17019                      
439679.00    3765360.00        0.17018                         
         439684.00    3765360.00        0.17017                      
439689.00    3765360.00        0.17017                         
         439694.00    3765360.00        0.17015                      
439699.00    3765360.00        0.17014                         
         439704.00    3765360.00        0.17012                      
439709.00    3765360.00        0.17010                         
         439714.00    3765360.00        0.17008                      
439719.00    3765360.00        0.17005                         
         439729.00    3765360.00        0.17000                      
439734.00    3765360.00        0.16997                         
         439739.00    3765360.00        0.16993                      
439744.00    3765360.00        0.16990                         
         439749.00    3765360.00        0.16985                      
439774.00    3765360.00        0.16962                         
         439779.00    3765360.00        0.16956                      
439784.00    3765360.00        0.16951                         
         439789.00    3765360.00        0.16945                      
439794.00    3765360.00        0.16938                         
         439799.00    3765360.00        0.16932                      
439804.00    3765360.00        0.16924                         
         439809.00    3765360.00        0.16918                      
439814.00    3765360.00        0.16910                         
         439839.00    3765360.00        0.16868                      
439844.00    3765360.00        0.16858                         
         439849.00    3765360.00        0.16849                      
439854.00    3765360.00        0.16839                         
         439859.00    3765360.00        0.16829                      
439864.00    3765360.00        0.16818                         
         439869.00    3765360.00        0.16807                      
439874.00    3765360.00        0.16796                         
         439879.00    3765360.00        0.16784                      
439884.00    3765360.00        0.16772                         
         439674.00    3765365.00        0.17269                      
439679.00    3765365.00        0.17269                         
         439684.00    3765365.00        0.17268                      
439689.00    3765365.00        0.17268                         
         439694.00    3765365.00        0.17266                      
439699.00    3765365.00        0.17265                         
         439704.00    3765365.00        0.17264                      
439709.00    3765365.00        0.17262                         
         439714.00    3765365.00        0.17260                      
439719.00    3765365.00        0.17258                         
         439729.00    3765365.00        0.17253                      
439734.00    3765365.00        0.17250                         
         439739.00    3765365.00        0.17247                      
439744.00    3765365.00        0.17243                         

355

Item D - 937 of 1893



         439749.00    3765365.00        0.17239                      
439774.00    3765365.00        0.17217                         
         439779.00    3765365.00        0.17211                      
439784.00    3765365.00        0.17206                         
         439789.00    3765365.00        0.17200                      
439794.00    3765365.00        0.17194                         
         439799.00    3765365.00        0.17187                      
439804.00    3765365.00        0.17181                         

356

Item D - 938 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 113
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765365.00        0.17173                      
439814.00    3765365.00        0.17167                         
         439839.00    3765365.00        0.17125                      
439844.00    3765365.00        0.17116                         
         439849.00    3765365.00        0.17107                      
439854.00    3765365.00        0.17097                         
         439859.00    3765365.00        0.17087                      
439864.00    3765365.00        0.17076                         
         439869.00    3765365.00        0.17066                      
439874.00    3765365.00        0.17054                         
         439879.00    3765365.00        0.17044                      
439884.00    3765365.00        0.17031                         
         439674.00    3765370.00        0.17526                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.17526                         
         439684.00    3765370.00        0.17526                      
439689.00    3765370.00        0.17525                         
         439694.00    3765370.00        0.17524                      
439699.00    3765370.00        0.17523                         
         439704.00    3765370.00        0.17522                      
439709.00    3765370.00        0.17521                         

357

Item D - 939 of 1893



         439714.00    3765370.00        0.17519                      
439719.00    3765370.00        0.17517                         
         439729.00    3765370.00        0.17512                      
439734.00    3765370.00        0.17509                         
         439739.00    3765370.00        0.17506                      
439744.00    3765370.00        0.17503                         
         439749.00    3765370.00        0.17500                      
439774.00    3765370.00        0.17478                         
         439779.00    3765370.00        0.17473                      
439784.00    3765370.00        0.17468                         
         439789.00    3765370.00        0.17462                      
439794.00    3765370.00        0.17456                         
         439799.00    3765370.00        0.17450                      
439804.00    3765370.00        0.17444                         
         439809.00    3765370.00        0.17437                      
439814.00    3765370.00        0.17430                         
         439839.00    3765370.00        0.17390                      
439844.00    3765370.00        0.17381                         
         439849.00    3765370.00        0.17371                      
439854.00    3765370.00        0.17362                         
         439859.00    3765370.00        0.17352                      
439864.00    3765370.00        0.17342                         
         439869.00    3765370.00        0.17331                      
439874.00    3765370.00        0.17321                         
         439879.00    3765370.00        0.17309                      
439884.00    3765370.00        0.17298                         
         439674.00    3765375.00        0.17789                      
439679.00    3765375.00        0.17790                         
         439684.00    3765375.00        0.17790                      
439689.00    3765375.00        0.17790                         
         439694.00    3765375.00        0.17789                      
439699.00    3765375.00        0.17788                         
         439704.00    3765375.00        0.17787                      
439709.00    3765375.00        0.17786                         
         439714.00    3765375.00        0.17785                      
439719.00    3765375.00        0.17783                         
         439729.00    3765375.00        0.17778                      
439734.00    3765375.00        0.17777                         
         439739.00    3765375.00        0.17773                      
439744.00    3765375.00        0.17771                         
         439749.00    3765375.00        0.17767                      
439754.00    3765375.00        0.17764                         
         439774.00    3765375.00        0.17747                      
439779.00    3765375.00        0.17742                         
         439784.00    3765375.00        0.17737                      
439789.00    3765375.00        0.17731                         
         439794.00    3765375.00        0.17726                      
439799.00    3765375.00        0.17720                         
         439804.00    3765375.00        0.17713                      
439809.00    3765375.00        0.17707                         
         439814.00    3765375.00        0.17699                      
439839.00    3765375.00        0.17662                         

358

Item D - 940 of 1893



         439844.00    3765375.00        0.17652                      
439849.00    3765375.00        0.17644                         
         439854.00    3765375.00        0.17634                      
439859.00    3765375.00        0.17625                         
         439864.00    3765375.00        0.17614                      
439869.00    3765375.00        0.17605                         
         439874.00    3765375.00        0.17593                      
439879.00    3765375.00        0.17583                         

359

Item D - 941 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 114
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439884.00    3765375.00        0.17571                      
439774.00    3765380.00        0.18023                         
         439779.00    3765380.00        0.18018                      
439784.00    3765380.00        0.18013                         
         439789.00    3765380.00        0.18008                      
439794.00    3765380.00        0.18003                         
         439799.00    3765380.00        0.17997                      
439804.00    3765380.00        0.17991                         
         439809.00    3765380.00        0.17984                      
439814.00    3765380.00        0.17979                         
         439769.00    3765385.00        0.18311                      
439819.00    3765385.00        0.18257                         
         439769.00    3765400.00        0.19211                      
439844.00    3765400.00        0.19129                         
         439849.00    3765400.00        0.19122                      
439674.00    3765405.00        0.19536                         
         439714.00    3765405.00        0.19544                      
439719.00    3765405.00        0.19545                         
         439734.00    3765405.00        0.19543                      
439749.00    3765405.00        0.19538                         

360

Item D - 942 of 1893



         439754.00    3765405.00        0.19536                      
439774.00    3765405.00        0.19525                         
         439779.00    3765405.00        0.19522                      
439784.00    3765405.00        0.19518                         
         439789.00    3765405.00        0.19514                      
439794.00    3765405.00        0.19510                         
         439799.00    3765405.00        0.19506                      
439804.00    3765405.00        0.19501                         
         439809.00    3765405.00        0.19495                      
439814.00    3765405.00        0.19491                         
         439819.00    3765405.00        0.19484                      
439824.00    3765405.00        0.19479                         
         439829.00    3765405.00        0.19472                      
439834.00    3765405.00        0.19466                         
         439839.00    3765405.00        0.19458                      
439844.00    3765405.00        0.19451                         
         439849.00    3765405.00        0.19444                      
439854.00    3765405.00        0.19435                         
         439859.00    3765405.00        0.19427                      
439674.00    3765410.00        0.19858                         
         439679.00    3765410.00        0.19860                      
439684.00    3765410.00        0.19862                         
         439689.00    3765410.00        0.19864                      
439694.00    3765410.00        0.19866                         
         439699.00    3765410.00        0.19866                      
439704.00    3765410.00        0.19868                         
         439709.00    3765410.00        0.19868                      
439714.00    3765410.00        0.19869                         
         439719.00    3765410.00        0.19868                      
439729.00    3765410.00        0.19868                         
         439734.00    3765410.00        0.19868                      
439739.00    3765410.00        0.19867                         
         439744.00    3765410.00        0.19866                      
439749.00    3765410.00        0.19864                         
         439774.00    3765410.00        0.19853                      
439779.00    3765410.00        0.19850                         
         439784.00    3765410.00        0.19846                      
439789.00    3765410.00        0.19843                         
         439794.00    3765410.00        0.19839                      
439799.00    3765410.00        0.19834                         
         439804.00    3765410.00        0.19830                      
439809.00    3765410.00        0.19826                         
         439814.00    3765410.00        0.19819                      
439819.00    3765410.00        0.19815                         
         439824.00    3765410.00        0.19808                      
439829.00    3765410.00        0.19803                         
         439834.00    3765410.00        0.19795                      
439839.00    3765410.00        0.19790                         
         439844.00    3765410.00        0.19782                      
439849.00    3765410.00        0.19775                         
         439854.00    3765410.00        0.19767                      
439859.00    3765410.00        0.19759                         

361

Item D - 943 of 1893



         439674.00    3765415.00        0.20190                      
439679.00    3765415.00        0.20192                         
         439684.00    3765415.00        0.20194                      
439689.00    3765415.00        0.20197                         
         439694.00    3765415.00        0.20198                      
439699.00    3765415.00        0.20200                         
         439704.00    3765415.00        0.20201                      
439709.00    3765415.00        0.20202                         

362

Item D - 944 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 115
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439714.00    3765415.00        0.20202                      
439719.00    3765415.00        0.20204                         
         439729.00    3765415.00        0.20204                      
439734.00    3765415.00        0.20203                         
         439739.00    3765415.00        0.20203                      
439744.00    3765415.00        0.20201                         
         439749.00    3765415.00        0.20201                      
439774.00    3765415.00        0.20190                         
         439779.00    3765415.00        0.20188                      
439784.00    3765415.00        0.20185                         
         439789.00    3765415.00        0.20181                      
439794.00    3765415.00        0.20177                         
         439799.00    3765415.00        0.20174                      
439804.00    3765415.00        0.20169                         
         439809.00    3765415.00        0.20164                      
439814.00    3765415.00        0.20160                         
         439819.00    3765415.00        0.20154                      
439824.00    3765415.00        0.20149                         
         439829.00    3765415.00        0.20143                      
439834.00    3765415.00        0.20138                         

363

Item D - 945 of 1893



         439839.00    3765415.00        0.20130                      
439844.00    3765415.00        0.20124                         
         439849.00    3765415.00        0.20117                      
439854.00    3765415.00        0.20109                         
         439859.00    3765415.00        0.20101                      
439674.00    3765420.00        0.20532                         
         439679.00    3765420.00        0.20535                      
439684.00    3765420.00        0.20537                         
         439689.00    3765420.00        0.20539                      
439694.00    3765420.00        0.20542                         
         439699.00    3765420.00        0.20543                      
439704.00    3765420.00        0.20545                         
         439709.00    3765420.00        0.20546                      
439714.00    3765420.00        0.20548                         
         439719.00    3765420.00        0.20548                      
439729.00    3765420.00        0.20549                         
         439734.00    3765420.00        0.20549                      
439739.00    3765420.00        0.20549                         
         439744.00    3765420.00        0.20548                      
439749.00    3765420.00        0.20547                         
         439774.00    3765420.00        0.20539                      
439779.00    3765420.00        0.20536                         
         439784.00    3765420.00        0.20533                      
439789.00    3765420.00        0.20531                         
         439794.00    3765420.00        0.20527                      
439799.00    3765420.00        0.20523                         
         439804.00    3765420.00        0.20519                      
439809.00    3765420.00        0.20515                         
         439814.00    3765420.00        0.20509                      
439819.00    3765420.00        0.20505                         
         439824.00    3765420.00        0.20500                      
439829.00    3765420.00        0.20495                         
         439834.00    3765420.00        0.20488                      
439839.00    3765420.00        0.20483                         
         439844.00    3765420.00        0.20475                      
439849.00    3765420.00        0.20469                         
         439854.00    3765420.00        0.20461                      
439859.00    3765420.00        0.20454                         
         439674.00    3765425.00        0.20884                      
439679.00    3765425.00        0.20888                         
         439684.00    3765425.00        0.20891                      
439689.00    3765425.00        0.20894                         
         439694.00    3765425.00        0.20895                      
439699.00    3765425.00        0.20898                         
         439704.00    3765425.00        0.20900                      
439709.00    3765425.00        0.20902                         
         439714.00    3765425.00        0.20903                      
439719.00    3765425.00        0.20904                         
         439729.00    3765425.00        0.20905                      
439734.00    3765425.00        0.20906                         
         439739.00    3765425.00        0.20906                      
439744.00    3765425.00        0.20905                         

364

Item D - 946 of 1893



         439749.00    3765425.00        0.20905                      
439774.00    3765425.00        0.20898                         
         439779.00    3765425.00        0.20896                      
439784.00    3765425.00        0.20893                         
         439789.00    3765425.00        0.20890                      
439794.00    3765425.00        0.20887                         
         439799.00    3765425.00        0.20884                      
439804.00    3765425.00        0.20880                         

365

Item D - 947 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 116
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765425.00        0.20875                      
439814.00    3765425.00        0.20872                         
         439819.00    3765425.00        0.20866                      
439824.00    3765425.00        0.20862                         
         439829.00    3765425.00        0.20856                      
439834.00    3765425.00        0.20851                         
         439839.00    3765425.00        0.20844                      
439844.00    3765425.00        0.20839                         
         439849.00    3765425.00        0.20832                      
439854.00    3765425.00        0.20825                         
         439859.00    3765425.00        0.20818                      
439674.00    3765430.00        0.21249                         
         439679.00    3765430.00        0.21253                      
439684.00    3765430.00        0.21256                         
         439689.00    3765430.00        0.21259                      
439694.00    3765430.00        0.21262                         
         439699.00    3765430.00        0.21264                      
439704.00    3765430.00        0.21266                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.21268                      
439714.00    3765430.00        0.21270                         

366

Item D - 948 of 1893



         439719.00    3765430.00        0.21271                      
439729.00    3765430.00        0.21273                         
         439734.00    3765430.00        0.21274                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.21274                         
         439744.00    3765430.00        0.21274                      
439749.00    3765430.00        0.21274                         
         439774.00    3765430.00        0.21269                      
439779.00    3765430.00        0.21267                         
         439784.00    3765430.00        0.21264                      
439789.00    3765430.00        0.21262                         
         439794.00    3765430.00        0.21259                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.21256                         
         439804.00    3765430.00        0.21252                      
439809.00    3765430.00        0.21249                         
         439814.00    3765430.00        0.21244                      
439819.00    3765430.00        0.21241                         
         439824.00    3765430.00        0.21235                      
439829.00    3765430.00        0.21231                         
         439834.00    3765430.00        0.21225                      
439839.00    3765430.00        0.21220                         
         439844.00    3765430.00        0.21213                      
439849.00    3765430.00        0.21207                         
         439854.00    3765430.00        0.21200                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.21194                         
         439674.00    3765435.00        0.21625                      
439679.00    3765435.00        0.21630                         
         439684.00    3765435.00        0.21633                      
439689.00    3765435.00        0.21637                         
         439694.00    3765435.00        0.21639                      
439699.00    3765435.00        0.21642                         
         439704.00    3765435.00        0.21645                      
439709.00    3765435.00        0.21647                         
         439714.00    3765435.00        0.21649                      
439719.00    3765435.00        0.21651                         
         439729.00    3765435.00        0.21654                      
439734.00    3765435.00        0.21655                         
         439739.00    3765435.00        0.21655                      
439744.00    3765435.00        0.21655                         
         439749.00    3765435.00        0.21655                      
439774.00    3765435.00        0.21652                         
         439779.00    3765435.00        0.21650                      
439784.00    3765435.00        0.21648                         
         439789.00    3765435.00        0.21646                      
439794.00    3765435.00        0.21643                         
         439799.00    3765435.00        0.21640                      
439804.00    3765435.00        0.21637                         
         439809.00    3765435.00        0.21634                      
439814.00    3765435.00        0.21630                         
         439819.00    3765435.00        0.21626                      
439824.00    3765435.00        0.21622                         
         439829.00    3765435.00        0.21616                      
439834.00    3765435.00        0.21612                         

367

Item D - 949 of 1893



         439839.00    3765435.00        0.21606                      
439844.00    3765435.00        0.21601                         
         439849.00    3765435.00        0.21594                      
439854.00    3765435.00        0.21588                         
         439859.00    3765435.00        0.21581                      
439674.00    3765440.00        0.22014                         
         439679.00    3765440.00        0.22019                      
439684.00    3765440.00        0.22023                         

368

Item D - 950 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 117
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439689.00    3765440.00        0.22026                      
439694.00    3765440.00        0.22030                         
         439699.00    3765440.00        0.22033                      
439704.00    3765440.00        0.22036                         
         439709.00    3765440.00        0.22039                      
439714.00    3765440.00        0.22041                         
         439719.00    3765440.00        0.22043                      
439729.00    3765440.00        0.22046                         
         439734.00    3765440.00        0.22047                      
439739.00    3765440.00        0.22048                         
         439744.00    3765440.00        0.22049                      
439749.00    3765440.00        0.22050                         
         439774.00    3765440.00        0.22047                      
439779.00    3765440.00        0.22046                         
         439784.00    3765440.00        0.22044                      
439789.00    3765440.00        0.22043                         
         439794.00    3765440.00        0.22040                      
439799.00    3765440.00        0.22038                         
         439804.00    3765440.00        0.22035                      
439809.00    3765440.00        0.22032                         

369

Item D - 951 of 1893



         439814.00    3765440.00        0.22028                      
439819.00    3765440.00        0.22025                         
         439824.00    3765440.00        0.22020                      
439829.00    3765440.00        0.22016                         
         439834.00    3765440.00        0.22011                      
439839.00    3765440.00        0.22006                         
         439844.00    3765440.00        0.22000                      
439849.00    3765440.00        0.21995                         
         439854.00    3765440.00        0.21989                      
439859.00    3765440.00        0.21982                         
         439674.00    3765445.00        0.22417                      
439679.00    3765445.00        0.22422                         
         439684.00    3765445.00        0.22426                      
439689.00    3765445.00        0.22430                         
         439694.00    3765445.00        0.22434                      
439699.00    3765445.00        0.22437                         
         439704.00    3765445.00        0.22440                      
439709.00    3765445.00        0.22444                         
         439714.00    3765445.00        0.22446                      
439719.00    3765445.00        0.22449                         
         439729.00    3765445.00        0.22453                      
439734.00    3765445.00        0.22454                         
         439739.00    3765445.00        0.22456                      
439744.00    3765445.00        0.22457                         
         439749.00    3765445.00        0.22457                      
439774.00    3765445.00        0.22457                         
         439779.00    3765445.00        0.22455                      
439784.00    3765445.00        0.22455                         
         439789.00    3765445.00        0.22453                      
439794.00    3765445.00        0.22451                         
         439799.00    3765445.00        0.22448                      
439804.00    3765445.00        0.22446                         
         439809.00    3765445.00        0.22443                      
439814.00    3765445.00        0.22440                         
         439819.00    3765445.00        0.22436                      
439824.00    3765445.00        0.22433                         
         439829.00    3765445.00        0.22428                      
439834.00    3765445.00        0.22424                         
         439839.00    3765445.00        0.22419                      
439844.00    3765445.00        0.22414                         
         439849.00    3765445.00        0.22408                      
439854.00    3765445.00        0.22403                         
         439859.00    3765445.00        0.22396                      
439674.00    3765450.00        0.22833                         
         439679.00    3765450.00        0.22838                      
439684.00    3765450.00        0.22843                         
         439689.00    3765450.00        0.22847                      
439694.00    3765450.00        0.22851                         
         439699.00    3765450.00        0.22855                      
439704.00    3765450.00        0.22859                         
         439709.00    3765450.00        0.22862                      
439714.00    3765450.00        0.22866                         

370

Item D - 952 of 1893



         439719.00    3765450.00        0.22868                      
439729.00    3765450.00        0.22873                         
         439734.00    3765450.00        0.22875                      
439739.00    3765450.00        0.22877                         
         439744.00    3765450.00        0.22878                      
439749.00    3765450.00        0.22879                         
         439774.00    3765450.00        0.22880                      
439844.00    3765450.00        0.22842                         

371

Item D - 953 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 118
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439849.00    3765450.00        0.22837                      
439854.00    3765450.00        0.22831                         
         439859.00    3765450.00        0.22826                      
439674.00    3765455.00        0.23264                         
         439679.00    3765455.00        0.23270                      
439684.00    3765455.00        0.23275                         
         439689.00    3765455.00        0.23280                      
439694.00    3765455.00        0.23284                         
         439699.00    3765455.00        0.23288                      
439704.00    3765455.00        0.23292                         
         439709.00    3765455.00        0.23296                      
439714.00    3765455.00        0.23300                         
         439719.00    3765455.00        0.23303                      
439729.00    3765455.00        0.23308                         
         439734.00    3765455.00        0.23310                      
439739.00    3765455.00        0.23313                         
         439744.00    3765455.00        0.23314                      
439749.00    3765455.00        0.23316                         
         439844.00    3765455.00        0.23285                      
439849.00    3765455.00        0.23280                         

372

Item D - 954 of 1893



         439854.00    3765455.00        0.23275                      
439859.00    3765455.00        0.23269                         
         439674.00    3765460.00        0.23711                      
439679.00    3765460.00        0.23717                         
         439684.00    3765460.00        0.23722                      
439689.00    3765460.00        0.23727                         
         439694.00    3765460.00        0.23732                      
439699.00    3765460.00        0.23737                         
         439704.00    3765460.00        0.23742                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.23745                         
         439714.00    3765460.00        0.23749                      
439719.00    3765460.00        0.23753                         
         439729.00    3765460.00        0.23759                      
439734.00    3765460.00        0.23762                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.23764                      
439744.00    3765460.00        0.23766                         
         439749.00    3765460.00        0.23768                      
439789.00    3765460.00        0.23772                         
         439794.00    3765460.00        0.23771                      
439799.00    3765460.00        0.23770                         
         439804.00    3765460.00        0.23768                      
439809.00    3765460.00        0.23766                         
         439814.00    3765460.00        0.23764                      
439819.00    3765460.00        0.23762                         
         439824.00    3765460.00        0.23759                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.23756                         
         439844.00    3765460.00        0.23744                      
439849.00    3765460.00        0.23739                         
         439854.00    3765460.00        0.23735                      
439859.00    3765460.00        0.23729                         
         439674.00    3765465.00        0.24174                      
439679.00    3765465.00        0.24181                         
         439684.00    3765465.00        0.24186                      
439689.00    3765465.00        0.24192                         
         439694.00    3765465.00        0.24197                      
439699.00    3765465.00        0.24202                         
         439704.00    3765465.00        0.24207                      
439709.00    3765465.00        0.24212                         
         439714.00    3765465.00        0.24216                      
439719.00    3765465.00        0.24220                         
         439729.00    3765465.00        0.24227                      
439734.00    3765465.00        0.24230                         
         439739.00    3765465.00        0.24232                      
439744.00    3765465.00        0.24235                         
         439749.00    3765465.00        0.24237                      
439789.00    3765465.00        0.24244                         
         439794.00    3765465.00        0.24243                      
439799.00    3765465.00        0.24243                         
         439804.00    3765465.00        0.24241                      
439809.00    3765465.00        0.24240                         
         439814.00    3765465.00        0.24238                      
439819.00    3765465.00        0.24236                         

373

Item D - 955 of 1893



         439824.00    3765465.00        0.24233                      
439829.00    3765465.00        0.24230                         
         439844.00    3765465.00        0.24220                      
439849.00    3765465.00        0.24216                         
         439854.00    3765465.00        0.24211                      
439859.00    3765465.00        0.24206                         
         439674.00    3765470.00        0.24655                      
439679.00    3765470.00        0.24661                         

374

Item D - 956 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 119
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765470.00        0.24668                      
439689.00    3765470.00        0.24673                         
         439694.00    3765470.00        0.24680                      
439699.00    3765470.00        0.24685                         
         439704.00    3765470.00        0.24690                      
439709.00    3765470.00        0.24695                         
         439714.00    3765470.00        0.24700                      
439719.00    3765470.00        0.24704                         
         439729.00    3765470.00        0.24712                      
439734.00    3765470.00        0.24715                         
         439739.00    3765470.00        0.24719                      
439744.00    3765470.00        0.24721                         
         439749.00    3765470.00        0.24724                      
439789.00    3765470.00        0.24733                         
         439794.00    3765470.00        0.24734                      
439799.00    3765470.00        0.24733                         
         439804.00    3765470.00        0.24732                      
439809.00    3765470.00        0.24731                         
         439814.00    3765470.00        0.24729                      
439819.00    3765470.00        0.24727                         

375

Item D - 957 of 1893



         439824.00    3765470.00        0.24725                      
439829.00    3765470.00        0.24723                         
         439844.00    3765470.00        0.24713                      
439849.00    3765470.00        0.24709                         
         439854.00    3765470.00        0.24705                      
439859.00    3765470.00        0.24700                         
         439674.00    3765475.00        0.25153                      
439679.00    3765475.00        0.25161                         
         439684.00    3765475.00        0.25167                      
439689.00    3765475.00        0.25175                         
         439694.00    3765475.00        0.25180                      
439699.00    3765475.00        0.25187                         
         439704.00    3765475.00        0.25192                      
439709.00    3765475.00        0.25197                         
         439714.00    3765475.00        0.25203                      
439719.00    3765475.00        0.25207                         
         439729.00    3765475.00        0.25216                      
439734.00    3765475.00        0.25220                         
         439739.00    3765475.00        0.25223                      
439744.00    3765475.00        0.25227                         
         439749.00    3765475.00        0.25229                      
439754.00    3765475.00        0.25232                         
         439789.00    3765475.00        0.25242                      
439794.00    3765475.00        0.25242                         
         439799.00    3765475.00        0.25242                      
439804.00    3765475.00        0.25241                         
         439809.00    3765475.00        0.25241                      
439814.00    3765475.00        0.25240                         
         439819.00    3765475.00        0.25238                      
439824.00    3765475.00        0.25236                         
         439829.00    3765475.00        0.25234                      
439269.00    3764900.00        0.06694                         
         439369.00    3764900.00        0.06730                      
439469.00    3764900.00        0.06709                         
         439569.00    3764900.00        0.06629                      
439669.00    3764900.00        0.06490                         
         439769.00    3764900.00        0.06291                      
439869.00    3764900.00        0.06032                         
         439969.00    3764900.00        0.05716                      
440069.00    3764900.00        0.05349                         
         440169.00    3764900.00        0.04945                      
440269.00    3764900.00        0.04523                         
         439269.00    3765000.00        0.07813                      
439369.00    3765000.00        0.07886                         
         439469.00    3765000.00        0.07894                      
439569.00    3765000.00        0.07835                         
         439669.00    3765000.00        0.07708                      
439769.00    3765000.00        0.07510                         
         439869.00    3765000.00        0.07237                      
439969.00    3765000.00        0.06886                         
         440069.00    3765000.00        0.06460                      
440169.00    3765000.00        0.05970                         

376

Item D - 958 of 1893



         440269.00    3765000.00        0.05439                      
439269.00    3765100.00        0.09256                         
         439369.00    3765100.00        0.09377                      
439469.00    3765100.00        0.09421                         
         439569.00    3765100.00        0.09392                      
439669.00    3765100.00        0.09289                         
         439769.00    3765100.00        0.09105                      
439869.00    3765100.00        0.08832                         

377

Item D - 959 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 120
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439969.00    3765100.00        0.08459                      
440069.00    3765100.00        0.07979                         
         440169.00    3765100.00        0.07394                      
440269.00    3765100.00        0.06726                         
         439269.00    3765200.00        0.11197                      
439369.00    3765200.00        0.11379                         
         439469.00    3765200.00        0.11472                      
439569.00    3765200.00        0.11484                         
         439669.00    3765200.00        0.11417                      
439769.00    3765200.00        0.11263                         
         439869.00    3765200.00        0.11012                      
439969.00    3765200.00        0.10642                         
         440069.00    3765200.00        0.10129                      
440169.00    3765200.00        0.09455                         
         440269.00    3765200.00        0.08621                      
439269.00    3765300.00        0.13962                         
         439369.00    3765300.00        0.14229                      
439469.00    3765300.00        0.14392                         
         439569.00    3765300.00        0.14466                      
439669.00    3765300.00        0.14456                         

378

Item D - 960 of 1893



         439769.00    3765300.00        0.14356                      
439869.00    3765300.00        0.14152                         
         439969.00    3765300.00        0.13819                      
440069.00    3765300.00        0.13313                         
         440169.00    3765300.00        0.12583                      
440269.00    3765300.00        0.11578                         
         439269.00    3765400.00        0.18272                      
439369.00    3765400.00        0.18672                         
         439469.00    3765400.00        0.18953                      
439569.00    3765400.00        0.19134                         
         439669.00    3765400.00        0.19222                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.19211                         
         439869.00    3765400.00        0.19087                      
439969.00    3765400.00        0.18824                         
         440069.00    3765400.00        0.18373                      
440169.00    3765400.00        0.17654                         
         440269.00    3765400.00        0.16538                      
439269.00    3765500.00        0.26115                         
         439369.00    3765500.00        0.26790                      
439469.00    3765500.00        0.27312                         
         439569.00    3765500.00        0.27697                      
439669.00    3765500.00        0.27960                         
         439769.00    3765500.00        0.28098                      
439869.00    3765500.00        0.28103                         
         439969.00    3765500.00        0.27957                      
440069.00    3765500.00        0.27615                         
         440169.00    3765500.00        0.26992                      
440269.00    3765500.00        0.25909                         
         439269.00    3765600.00        0.46137                      
439369.00    3765600.00        0.47549                         
         439469.00    3765600.00        0.48661                      
439569.00    3765600.00        0.49522                         
         439669.00    3765600.00        0.50162                      
439769.00    3765600.00        0.50609                         
         439869.00    3765600.00        0.50871                      
439969.00    3765600.00        0.50950                         
         440069.00    3765600.00        0.50821                      
440169.00    3765600.00        0.50426                         
         440269.00    3765600.00        0.49585                      
439269.00    3765700.00        2.98095                         
         439369.00    3765700.00        3.14515                      
439469.00    3765700.00        3.31373                         
         439569.00    3765700.00        3.49248                      
439669.00    3765700.00        3.61893                         
         439769.00    3765700.00        3.72200                      
439869.00    3765700.00        3.77977                         
         439969.00    3765700.00        3.82780                      
440069.00    3765700.00        3.87835                         
         440169.00    3765700.00        3.89913                      
440269.00    3765700.00        3.91286                         
         439269.00    3765800.00        1.09061                      
439369.00    3765800.00        1.13970                         

379

Item D - 961 of 1893



         439469.00    3765800.00        1.16949                      
439569.00    3765800.00        1.18842                         
         439669.00    3765800.00        1.20093                      
439769.00    3765800.00        1.20953                         
         439869.00    3765800.00        1.21519                      
439969.00    3765800.00        1.21847                         
         440069.00    3765800.00        1.21911                      
440169.00    3765800.00        1.21623                         

380

Item D - 962 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 121
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         440269.00    3765800.00        1.20733                      
439269.00    3765900.00        0.34806                         
         439369.00    3765900.00        0.40226                      
439469.00    3765900.00        0.44251                         
         439569.00    3765900.00        0.47214                      
439669.00    3765900.00        0.49409                         
         439769.00    3765900.00        0.51049                      
439869.00    3765900.00        0.52275                         
         439969.00    3765900.00        0.53176                      
440069.00    3765900.00        0.53800                         
         440169.00    3765900.00        0.54159                      
440269.00    3765900.00        0.54233                         
         439649.00    3765310.00        0.14842                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.14829                         
         439709.00    3765310.00        0.14809                      
439739.00    3765310.00        0.14780                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.14742                      
439799.00    3765310.00        0.14695                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.14637                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.14570                         

381

Item D - 963 of 1893



         439889.00    3765310.00        0.14491                      
439649.00    3765340.00        0.16084                         
         439679.00    3765340.00        0.16078                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.16065                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.16043                      
439769.00    3765340.00        0.16012                         
         439799.00    3765340.00        0.15971                      
439829.00    3765340.00        0.15920                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.15859                      
439889.00    3765340.00        0.15786                         
         439649.00    3765370.00        0.17522                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.17526                         
         439709.00    3765370.00        0.17521                      
439739.00    3765370.00        0.17506                         
         439769.00    3765370.00        0.17483                      
439799.00    3765370.00        0.17450                         
         439829.00    3765370.00        0.17406                      
439859.00    3765370.00        0.17352                         
         439889.00    3765370.00        0.17286                      
439649.00    3765400.00        0.19212                         
         439679.00    3765400.00        0.19225                      
439709.00    3765400.00        0.19230                         
         439739.00    3765400.00        0.19225                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.19211                         
         439799.00    3765400.00        0.19186                      
439829.00    3765400.00        0.19151                         
         439859.00    3765400.00        0.19105                      
439889.00    3765400.00        0.19047                         
         439649.00    3765430.00        0.21228                      
439679.00    3765430.00        0.21253                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.21268                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.21274                         
         439769.00    3765430.00        0.21271                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.21256                         
         439829.00    3765430.00        0.21231                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.21194                         
         439889.00    3765430.00        0.21144                      
439649.00    3765460.00        0.23678                         
         439679.00    3765460.00        0.23717                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.23745                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.23764                      
439769.00    3765460.00        0.23773                         
         439799.00    3765460.00        0.23770                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.23756                         
         439859.00    3765460.00        0.23729                      
439889.00    3765460.00        0.23690                         
         439649.00    3765490.00        0.26728                      
439679.00    3765490.00        0.26783                         
         439709.00    3765490.00        0.26827                      
439739.00    3765490.00        0.26860                         
         439769.00    3765490.00        0.26884                      
439799.00    3765490.00        0.26895                         

382

Item D - 964 of 1893



         439829.00    3765490.00        0.26894                      
439859.00    3765490.00        0.26880                         
         439889.00    3765490.00        0.26853                                                                                     

383

Item D - 965 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 122
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439674.00    3765310.00        0.06511                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.06537                         
         439684.00    3765310.00        0.06564                      
439689.00    3765310.00        0.06591                         
         439694.00    3765310.00        0.06618                      
439699.00    3765310.00        0.06644                         
         439704.00    3765310.00        0.06671                      
439709.00    3765310.00        0.06698                         
         439714.00    3765310.00        0.06725                      
439719.00    3765310.00        0.06751                         
         439729.00    3765310.00        0.06804                      
439734.00    3765310.00        0.06830                         
         439739.00    3765310.00        0.06857                      
439744.00    3765310.00        0.06882                         
         439749.00    3765310.00        0.06908                      
439764.00    3765310.00        0.06983                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.07007                      
439774.00    3765310.00        0.07031                         

384

Item D - 966 of 1893



         439779.00    3765310.00        0.07055                      
439784.00    3765310.00        0.07077                         
         439789.00    3765310.00        0.07100                      
439794.00    3765310.00        0.07122                         
         439799.00    3765310.00        0.07143                      
439804.00    3765310.00        0.07164                         
         439809.00    3765310.00        0.07184                      
439814.00    3765310.00        0.07203                         
         439819.00    3765310.00        0.07221                      
439824.00    3765310.00        0.07239                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.07256                      
439839.00    3765310.00        0.07288                         
         439844.00    3765310.00        0.07302                      
439849.00    3765310.00        0.07316                         
         439854.00    3765310.00        0.07329                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.07340                         
         439864.00    3765310.00        0.07351                      
439869.00    3765310.00        0.07361                         
         439874.00    3765310.00        0.07370                      
439879.00    3765310.00        0.07378                         
         439884.00    3765310.00        0.07385                      
439674.00    3765315.00        0.06589                         
         439679.00    3765315.00        0.06616                      
439684.00    3765315.00        0.06644                         
         439689.00    3765315.00        0.06671                      
439694.00    3765315.00        0.06699                         
         439699.00    3765315.00        0.06727                      
439704.00    3765315.00        0.06754                         
         439709.00    3765315.00        0.06782                      
439714.00    3765315.00        0.06809                         
         439719.00    3765315.00        0.06837                      
439729.00    3765315.00        0.06892                         
         439734.00    3765315.00        0.06919                      
439739.00    3765315.00        0.06946                         
         439744.00    3765315.00        0.06973                      
439749.00    3765315.00        0.07000                         
         439764.00    3765315.00        0.07078                      
439769.00    3765315.00        0.07104                         
         439774.00    3765315.00        0.07129                      
439779.00    3765315.00        0.07153                         
         439784.00    3765315.00        0.07177                      
439789.00    3765315.00        0.07201                         
         439794.00    3765315.00        0.07224                      
439799.00    3765315.00        0.07246                         
         439804.00    3765315.00        0.07268                      
439809.00    3765315.00        0.07290                         
         439814.00    3765315.00        0.07310                      
439819.00    3765315.00        0.07330                         
         439824.00    3765315.00        0.07349                      
439829.00    3765315.00        0.07367                         
         439839.00    3765315.00        0.07401                      
439844.00    3765315.00        0.07416                         

385

Item D - 967 of 1893



         439849.00    3765315.00        0.07431                      
439854.00    3765315.00        0.07445                         
         439859.00    3765315.00        0.07458                      
439864.00    3765315.00        0.07470                         
         439869.00    3765315.00        0.07481                      
439874.00    3765315.00        0.07491                         
         439879.00    3765315.00        0.07500                      
439884.00    3765315.00        0.07508                         
         439674.00    3765320.00        0.06669                      
439679.00    3765320.00        0.06697                         

386

Item D - 968 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 123
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765320.00        0.06725                      
439689.00    3765320.00        0.06753                         
         439694.00    3765320.00        0.06782                      
439699.00    3765320.00        0.06810                         
         439704.00    3765320.00        0.06838                      
439709.00    3765320.00        0.06867                         
         439714.00    3765320.00        0.06895                      
439719.00    3765320.00        0.06924                         
         439729.00    3765320.00        0.06981                      
439734.00    3765320.00        0.07009                         
         439739.00    3765320.00        0.07037                      
439744.00    3765320.00        0.07065                         
         439749.00    3765320.00        0.07093                      
439764.00    3765320.00        0.07175                         
         439769.00    3765320.00        0.07202                      
439774.00    3765320.00        0.07228                         
         439779.00    3765320.00        0.07254                      
439784.00    3765320.00        0.07279                         

387

Item D - 969 of 1893



         439789.00    3765320.00        0.07304                      
439794.00    3765320.00        0.07328                         
         439799.00    3765320.00        0.07352                      
439804.00    3765320.00        0.07375                         
         439809.00    3765320.00        0.07397                      
439814.00    3765320.00        0.07419                         
         439819.00    3765320.00        0.07440                      
439824.00    3765320.00        0.07461                         
         439829.00    3765320.00        0.07480                      
439839.00    3765320.00        0.07516                         
         439844.00    3765320.00        0.07533                      
439849.00    3765320.00        0.07549                         
         439854.00    3765320.00        0.07564                      
439859.00    3765320.00        0.07578                         
         439864.00    3765320.00        0.07591                      
439869.00    3765320.00        0.07603                         
         439874.00    3765320.00        0.07615                      
439879.00    3765320.00        0.07625                         
         439884.00    3765320.00        0.07634                      
439674.00    3765325.00        0.06749                         
         439679.00    3765325.00        0.06778                      
439684.00    3765325.00        0.06807                         
         439689.00    3765325.00        0.06836                      
439694.00    3765325.00        0.06865                         
         439699.00    3765325.00        0.06895                      
439704.00    3765325.00        0.06924                         
         439709.00    3765325.00        0.06953                      
439714.00    3765325.00        0.06983                         
         439719.00    3765325.00        0.07012                      
439729.00    3765325.00        0.07071                         
         439734.00    3765325.00        0.07100                      
439739.00    3765325.00        0.07130                         
         439744.00    3765325.00        0.07159                      
439749.00    3765325.00        0.07188                         
         439754.00    3765325.00        0.07216                      
439769.00    3765325.00        0.07301                         
         439774.00    3765325.00        0.07329                      
439779.00    3765325.00        0.07356                         
         439784.00    3765325.00        0.07382                      
439789.00    3765325.00        0.07409                         
         439794.00    3765325.00        0.07434                      
439799.00    3765325.00        0.07459                         
         439804.00    3765325.00        0.07484                      
439809.00    3765325.00        0.07508                         
         439814.00    3765325.00        0.07531                      
439819.00    3765325.00        0.07553                         
         439824.00    3765325.00        0.07575                      
439829.00    3765325.00        0.07595                         
         439839.00    3765325.00        0.07635                      
439844.00    3765325.00        0.07652                         
         439849.00    3765325.00        0.07670                      
439854.00    3765325.00        0.07686                         

388

Item D - 970 of 1893



         439859.00    3765325.00        0.07701                      
439864.00    3765325.00        0.07716                         
         439869.00    3765325.00        0.07729                      
439874.00    3765325.00        0.07741                         
         439879.00    3765325.00        0.07752                      
439884.00    3765325.00        0.07763                         
         439674.00    3765330.00        0.06832                      
439679.00    3765330.00        0.06861                         
         439684.00    3765330.00        0.06891                      
439689.00    3765330.00        0.06920                         

389

Item D - 971 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 124
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439694.00    3765330.00        0.06951                      
439699.00    3765330.00        0.06981                         
         439704.00    3765330.00        0.07011                      
439709.00    3765330.00        0.07041                         
         439714.00    3765330.00        0.07071                      
439719.00    3765330.00        0.07102                         
         439729.00    3765330.00        0.07163                      
439734.00    3765330.00        0.07193                         
         439739.00    3765330.00        0.07224                      
439744.00    3765330.00        0.07254                         
         439749.00    3765330.00        0.07284                      
439754.00    3765330.00        0.07314                         
         439774.00    3765330.00        0.07431                      
439779.00    3765330.00        0.07460                         
         439784.00    3765330.00        0.07488                      
439789.00    3765330.00        0.07515                         
         439794.00    3765330.00        0.07542                      
439799.00    3765330.00        0.07569                         

390

Item D - 972 of 1893



         439804.00    3765330.00        0.07595                      
439809.00    3765330.00        0.07620                         
         439814.00    3765330.00        0.07644                      
439819.00    3765330.00        0.07668                         
         439824.00    3765330.00        0.07691                      
439829.00    3765330.00        0.07713                         
         439839.00    3765330.00        0.07755                      
439844.00    3765330.00        0.07774                         
         439849.00    3765330.00        0.07793                      
439854.00    3765330.00        0.07811                         
         439859.00    3765330.00        0.07827                      
439864.00    3765330.00        0.07843                         
         439869.00    3765330.00        0.07857                      
439874.00    3765330.00        0.07871                         
         439879.00    3765330.00        0.07883                      
439884.00    3765330.00        0.07894                         
         439674.00    3765335.00        0.06915                      
439679.00    3765335.00        0.06945                         
         439684.00    3765335.00        0.06976                      
439689.00    3765335.00        0.07006                         
         439694.00    3765335.00        0.07037                      
439699.00    3765335.00        0.07068                         
         439704.00    3765335.00        0.07099                      
439709.00    3765335.00        0.07130                         
         439714.00    3765335.00        0.07162                      
439719.00    3765335.00        0.07193                         
         439729.00    3765335.00        0.07256                      
439734.00    3765335.00        0.07288                         
         439739.00    3765335.00        0.07319                      
439744.00    3765335.00        0.07351                         
         439749.00    3765335.00        0.07382                      
439774.00    3765335.00        0.07536                         
         439779.00    3765335.00        0.07566                      
439784.00    3765335.00        0.07595                         
         439789.00    3765335.00        0.07624                      
439794.00    3765335.00        0.07652                         
         439839.00    3765335.00        0.07878                      
439844.00    3765335.00        0.07899                         
         439849.00    3765335.00        0.07919                      
439854.00    3765335.00        0.07938                         
         439859.00    3765335.00        0.07956                      
439864.00    3765335.00        0.07973                         
         439869.00    3765335.00        0.07989                      
439874.00    3765335.00        0.08004                         
         439879.00    3765335.00        0.08017                      
439884.00    3765335.00        0.08030                         
         439674.00    3765340.00        0.07000                      
439679.00    3765340.00        0.07031                         
         439684.00    3765340.00        0.07062                      
439689.00    3765340.00        0.07093                         
         439694.00    3765340.00        0.07125                      
439699.00    3765340.00        0.07157                         

391

Item D - 973 of 1893



         439704.00    3765340.00        0.07189                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.07221                         
         439714.00    3765340.00        0.07253                      
439719.00    3765340.00        0.07286                         
         439729.00    3765340.00        0.07351                      
439734.00    3765340.00        0.07383                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.07416                      
439744.00    3765340.00        0.07449                         
         439749.00    3765340.00        0.07481                      
439774.00    3765340.00        0.07642                         

392

Item D - 974 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 125
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439779.00    3765340.00        0.07673                      
439784.00    3765340.00        0.07704                         
         439789.00    3765340.00        0.07735                      
439794.00    3765340.00        0.07765                         
         439839.00    3765340.00        0.08004                      
439844.00    3765340.00        0.08026                         
         439849.00    3765340.00        0.08048                      
439854.00    3765340.00        0.08068                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.08088                      
439864.00    3765340.00        0.08106                         
         439869.00    3765340.00        0.08123                      
439874.00    3765340.00        0.08140                         
         439879.00    3765340.00        0.08154                      
439884.00    3765340.00        0.08168                         
         439674.00    3765345.00        0.07086                      
439679.00    3765345.00        0.07118                         
         439684.00    3765345.00        0.07150                      
439689.00    3765345.00        0.07182                         

393

Item D - 975 of 1893



         439694.00    3765345.00        0.07214                      
439699.00    3765345.00        0.07247                         
         439704.00    3765345.00        0.07280                      
439709.00    3765345.00        0.07313                         
         439714.00    3765345.00        0.07346                      
439719.00    3765345.00        0.07380                         
         439729.00    3765345.00        0.07447                      
439734.00    3765345.00        0.07481                         
         439739.00    3765345.00        0.07515                      
439744.00    3765345.00        0.07548                         
         439749.00    3765345.00        0.07583                      
439774.00    3765345.00        0.07750                         
         439779.00    3765345.00        0.07783                      
439784.00    3765345.00        0.07815                         
         439789.00    3765345.00        0.07847                      
439794.00    3765345.00        0.07879                         
         439839.00    3765345.00        0.08133                      
439844.00    3765345.00        0.08157                         
         439849.00    3765345.00        0.08180                      
439854.00    3765345.00        0.08202                         
         439859.00    3765345.00        0.08223                      
439864.00    3765345.00        0.08242                         
         439869.00    3765345.00        0.08261                      
439874.00    3765345.00        0.08279                         
         439879.00    3765345.00        0.08295                      
439884.00    3765345.00        0.08310                         
         439674.00    3765350.00        0.07175                      
439679.00    3765350.00        0.07207                         
         439684.00    3765350.00        0.07239                      
439689.00    3765350.00        0.07272                         
         439694.00    3765350.00        0.07305                      
439699.00    3765350.00        0.07339                         
         439704.00    3765350.00        0.07373                      
439709.00    3765350.00        0.07407                         
         439714.00    3765350.00        0.07441                      
439719.00    3765350.00        0.07475                         
         439729.00    3765350.00        0.07545                      
439734.00    3765350.00        0.07580                         
         439739.00    3765350.00        0.07615                      
439744.00    3765350.00        0.07650                         
         439749.00    3765350.00        0.07685                      
439774.00    3765350.00        0.07860                         
         439779.00    3765350.00        0.07894                      
439784.00    3765350.00        0.07928                         
         439789.00    3765350.00        0.07962                      
439794.00    3765350.00        0.07995                         
         439839.00    3765350.00        0.08264                      
439844.00    3765350.00        0.08290                         
         439849.00    3765350.00        0.08315                      
439854.00    3765350.00        0.08338                         
         439859.00    3765350.00        0.08361                      
439864.00    3765350.00        0.08382                         

394

Item D - 976 of 1893



         439869.00    3765350.00        0.08403                      
439874.00    3765350.00        0.08421                         
         439879.00    3765350.00        0.08439                      
439884.00    3765350.00        0.08456                         
         439674.00    3765355.00        0.07264                      
439679.00    3765355.00        0.07297                         
         439684.00    3765355.00        0.07330                      
439689.00    3765355.00        0.07364                         
         439694.00    3765355.00        0.07398                      
439699.00    3765355.00        0.07432                         

395

Item D - 977 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 126
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439704.00    3765355.00        0.07467                      
439709.00    3765355.00        0.07502                         
         439714.00    3765355.00        0.07537                      
439719.00    3765355.00        0.07572                         
         439729.00    3765355.00        0.07644                      
439734.00    3765355.00        0.07681                         
         439739.00    3765355.00        0.07717                      
439744.00    3765355.00        0.07753                         
         439749.00    3765355.00        0.07790                      
439774.00    3765355.00        0.07972                         
         439779.00    3765355.00        0.08008                      
439784.00    3765355.00        0.08043                         
         439789.00    3765355.00        0.08079                      
439794.00    3765355.00        0.08113                         
         439839.00    3765355.00        0.08399                      
439844.00    3765355.00        0.08426                         
         439849.00    3765355.00        0.08452                      
439854.00    3765355.00        0.08478                         

396

Item D - 978 of 1893



         439859.00    3765355.00        0.08502                      
439864.00    3765355.00        0.08525                         
         439869.00    3765355.00        0.08547                      
439874.00    3765355.00        0.08568                         
         439879.00    3765355.00        0.08587                      
439884.00    3765355.00        0.08606                         
         439674.00    3765360.00        0.07355                      
439679.00    3765360.00        0.07389                         
         439684.00    3765360.00        0.07423                      
439689.00    3765360.00        0.07457                         
         439694.00    3765360.00        0.07492                      
439699.00    3765360.00        0.07527                         
         439704.00    3765360.00        0.07563                      
439709.00    3765360.00        0.07598                         
         439714.00    3765360.00        0.07635                      
439719.00    3765360.00        0.07671                         
         439729.00    3765360.00        0.07745                      
439734.00    3765360.00        0.07783                         
         439739.00    3765360.00        0.07820                      
439744.00    3765360.00        0.07858                         
         439749.00    3765360.00        0.07896                      
439774.00    3765360.00        0.08085                         
         439779.00    3765360.00        0.08123                      
439784.00    3765360.00        0.08160                         
         439789.00    3765360.00        0.08197                      
439794.00    3765360.00        0.08234                         
         439799.00    3765360.00        0.08270                      
439804.00    3765360.00        0.08306                         
         439809.00    3765360.00        0.08341                      
439814.00    3765360.00        0.08375                         
         439839.00    3765360.00        0.08536                      
439844.00    3765360.00        0.08565                         
         439849.00    3765360.00        0.08594                      
439854.00    3765360.00        0.08621                         
         439859.00    3765360.00        0.08647                      
439864.00    3765360.00        0.08672                         
         439869.00    3765360.00        0.08696                      
439874.00    3765360.00        0.08718                         
         439879.00    3765360.00        0.08739                      
439884.00    3765360.00        0.08759                         
         439674.00    3765365.00        0.07448                      
439679.00    3765365.00        0.07482                         
         439684.00    3765365.00        0.07517                      
439689.00    3765365.00        0.07552                         
         439694.00    3765365.00        0.07587                      
439699.00    3765365.00        0.07623                         
         439704.00    3765365.00        0.07660                      
439709.00    3765365.00        0.07697                         
         439714.00    3765365.00        0.07734                      
439719.00    3765365.00        0.07771                         
         439729.00    3765365.00        0.07848                      
439734.00    3765365.00        0.07887                         

397

Item D - 979 of 1893



         439739.00    3765365.00        0.07925                      
439744.00    3765365.00        0.07964                         
         439749.00    3765365.00        0.08004                      
439774.00    3765365.00        0.08201                         
         439779.00    3765365.00        0.08240                      
439784.00    3765365.00        0.08280                         
         439789.00    3765365.00        0.08318                      
439794.00    3765365.00        0.08357                         
         439799.00    3765365.00        0.08395                      
439804.00    3765365.00        0.08433                         

398

Item D - 980 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 127
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765365.00        0.08470                      
439814.00    3765365.00        0.08506                         
         439839.00    3765365.00        0.08676                      
439844.00    3765365.00        0.08708                         
         439849.00    3765365.00        0.08738                      
439854.00    3765365.00        0.08767                         
         439859.00    3765365.00        0.08795                      
439864.00    3765365.00        0.08822                         
         439869.00    3765365.00        0.08848                      
439874.00    3765365.00        0.08872                         
         439879.00    3765365.00        0.08895                      
439884.00    3765365.00        0.08916                         
         439674.00    3765370.00        0.07543                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.07577                         
         439684.00    3765370.00        0.07613                      
439689.00    3765370.00        0.07648                         
         439694.00    3765370.00        0.07685                      
439699.00    3765370.00        0.07722                         

399

Item D - 981 of 1893



         439704.00    3765370.00        0.07759                      
439709.00    3765370.00        0.07797                         
         439714.00    3765370.00        0.07835                      
439719.00    3765370.00        0.07874                         
         439729.00    3765370.00        0.07952                      
439734.00    3765370.00        0.07992                         
         439739.00    3765370.00        0.08032                      
439744.00    3765370.00        0.08073                         
         439749.00    3765370.00        0.08113                      
439774.00    3765370.00        0.08319                         
         439779.00    3765370.00        0.08360                      
439784.00    3765370.00        0.08401                         
         439789.00    3765370.00        0.08442                      
439794.00    3765370.00        0.08482                         
         439799.00    3765370.00        0.08522                      
439804.00    3765370.00        0.08562                         
         439809.00    3765370.00        0.08601                      
439814.00    3765370.00        0.08639                         
         439839.00    3765370.00        0.08820                      
439844.00    3765370.00        0.08854                         
         439849.00    3765370.00        0.08886                      
439854.00    3765370.00        0.08917                         
         439859.00    3765370.00        0.08947                      
439864.00    3765370.00        0.08976                         
         439869.00    3765370.00        0.09004                      
439874.00    3765370.00        0.09030                         
         439879.00    3765370.00        0.09055                      
439884.00    3765370.00        0.09078                         
         439674.00    3765375.00        0.07639                      
439679.00    3765375.00        0.07674                         
         439684.00    3765375.00        0.07710                      
439689.00    3765375.00        0.07747                         
         439694.00    3765375.00        0.07784                      
439699.00    3765375.00        0.07822                         
         439704.00    3765375.00        0.07860                      
439709.00    3765375.00        0.07899                         
         439714.00    3765375.00        0.07938                      
439719.00    3765375.00        0.07977                         
         439729.00    3765375.00        0.08058                      
439734.00    3765375.00        0.08099                         
         439739.00    3765375.00        0.08141                      
439744.00    3765375.00        0.08183                         
         439749.00    3765375.00        0.08225                      
439754.00    3765375.00        0.08267                         
         439774.00    3765375.00        0.08439                      
439779.00    3765375.00        0.08482                         
         439784.00    3765375.00        0.08525                      
439789.00    3765375.00        0.08567                         
         439794.00    3765375.00        0.08610                      
439799.00    3765375.00        0.08652                         
         439804.00    3765375.00        0.08693                      
439809.00    3765375.00        0.08735                         

400

Item D - 982 of 1893



         439814.00    3765375.00        0.08775                      
439839.00    3765375.00        0.08967                         
         439844.00    3765375.00        0.09003                      
439849.00    3765375.00        0.09038                         
         439854.00    3765375.00        0.09071                      
439859.00    3765375.00        0.09103                         
         439864.00    3765375.00        0.09134                      
439869.00    3765375.00        0.09164                         
         439874.00    3765375.00        0.09192                      
439879.00    3765375.00        0.09219                         

401

Item D - 983 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 128
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439884.00    3765375.00        0.09244                      
439774.00    3765380.00        0.08561                         
         439779.00    3765380.00        0.08606                      
439784.00    3765380.00        0.08650                         
         439789.00    3765380.00        0.08695                      
439794.00    3765380.00        0.08740                         
         439799.00    3765380.00        0.08784                      
439804.00    3765380.00        0.08828                         
         439809.00    3765380.00        0.08871                      
439814.00    3765380.00        0.08914                         
         439769.00    3765385.00        0.08638                      
439819.00    3765385.00        0.09100                         
         439769.00    3765400.00        0.09017                      
439844.00    3765400.00        0.09804                         
         439849.00    3765400.00        0.09852                      
439674.00    3765405.00        0.08262                         
         439714.00    3765405.00        0.08594                      
439719.00    3765405.00        0.08640                         

402

Item D - 984 of 1893



         439734.00    3765405.00        0.08783                      
439749.00    3765405.00        0.08935                         
         439754.00    3765405.00        0.08987                      
439774.00    3765405.00        0.09203                         
         439779.00    3765405.00        0.09259                      
439784.00    3765405.00        0.09314                         
         439789.00    3765405.00        0.09370                      
439794.00    3765405.00        0.09427                         
         439799.00    3765405.00        0.09483                      
439804.00    3765405.00        0.09539                         
         439809.00    3765405.00        0.09596                      
439814.00    3765405.00        0.09652                         
         439819.00    3765405.00        0.09707                      
439824.00    3765405.00        0.09763                         
         439829.00    3765405.00        0.09817                      
439834.00    3765405.00        0.09871                         
         439839.00    3765405.00        0.09924                      
439844.00    3765405.00        0.09976                         
         439849.00    3765405.00        0.10027                      
439854.00    3765405.00        0.10077                         
         439859.00    3765405.00        0.10125                      
439674.00    3765410.00        0.08374                         
         439679.00    3765410.00        0.08412                      
439684.00    3765410.00        0.08452                         
         439689.00    3765410.00        0.08493                      
439694.00    3765410.00        0.08534                         
         439699.00    3765410.00        0.08577                      
439704.00    3765410.00        0.08620                         
         439709.00    3765410.00        0.08665                      
439714.00    3765410.00        0.08711                         
         439719.00    3765410.00        0.08758                      
439729.00    3765410.00        0.08854                         
         439734.00    3765410.00        0.08904                      
439739.00    3765410.00        0.08955                         
         439744.00    3765410.00        0.09008                      
439749.00    3765410.00        0.09060                         
         439774.00    3765410.00        0.09338                      
439779.00    3765410.00        0.09396                         
         439784.00    3765410.00        0.09454                      
439789.00    3765410.00        0.09513                         
         439794.00    3765410.00        0.09572                      
439799.00    3765410.00        0.09631                         
         439804.00    3765410.00        0.09690                      
439809.00    3765410.00        0.09750                         
         439814.00    3765410.00        0.09809                      
439819.00    3765410.00        0.09867                         
         439824.00    3765410.00        0.09926                      
439829.00    3765410.00        0.09984                         
         439834.00    3765410.00        0.10041                      
439839.00    3765410.00        0.10097                         
         439844.00    3765410.00        0.10152                      
439849.00    3765410.00        0.10207                         

403

Item D - 985 of 1893



         439854.00    3765410.00        0.10260                      
439859.00    3765410.00        0.10311                         
         439674.00    3765415.00        0.08488                      
439679.00    3765415.00        0.08528                         
         439684.00    3765415.00        0.08567                      
439689.00    3765415.00        0.08609                         
         439694.00    3765415.00        0.08651                      
439699.00    3765415.00        0.08694                         
         439704.00    3765415.00        0.08738                      
439709.00    3765415.00        0.08783                         

404

Item D - 986 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 129
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439714.00    3765415.00        0.08830                      
439719.00    3765415.00        0.08878                         
         439729.00    3765415.00        0.08977                      
439734.00    3765415.00        0.09028                         
         439739.00    3765415.00        0.09080                      
439744.00    3765415.00        0.09134                         
         439749.00    3765415.00        0.09188                      
439774.00    3765415.00        0.09476                         
         439779.00    3765415.00        0.09536                      
439784.00    3765415.00        0.09597                         
         439789.00    3765415.00        0.09658                      
439794.00    3765415.00        0.09720                         
         439799.00    3765415.00        0.09782                      
439804.00    3765415.00        0.09844                         
         439809.00    3765415.00        0.09906                      
439814.00    3765415.00        0.09969                         
         439819.00    3765415.00        0.10031                      
439824.00    3765415.00        0.10092                         

405

Item D - 987 of 1893



         439829.00    3765415.00        0.10154                      
439834.00    3765415.00        0.10214                         
         439839.00    3765415.00        0.10274                      
439844.00    3765415.00        0.10333                         
         439849.00    3765415.00        0.10391                      
439854.00    3765415.00        0.10447                         
         439859.00    3765415.00        0.10503                      
439674.00    3765420.00        0.08607                         
         439679.00    3765420.00        0.08646                      
439684.00    3765420.00        0.08686                         
         439689.00    3765420.00        0.08727                      
439694.00    3765420.00        0.08770                         
         439699.00    3765420.00        0.08814                      
439704.00    3765420.00        0.08858                         
         439709.00    3765420.00        0.08904                      
439714.00    3765420.00        0.08952                         
         439719.00    3765420.00        0.09000                      
439729.00    3765420.00        0.09101                         
         439734.00    3765420.00        0.09154                      
439739.00    3765420.00        0.09207                         
         439744.00    3765420.00        0.09262                      
439749.00    3765420.00        0.09318                         
         439774.00    3765420.00        0.09616                      
439779.00    3765420.00        0.09679                         
         439784.00    3765420.00        0.09742                      
439789.00    3765420.00        0.09806                         
         439794.00    3765420.00        0.09871                      
439799.00    3765420.00        0.09935                         
         439804.00    3765420.00        0.10001                      
439809.00    3765420.00        0.10066                         
         439814.00    3765420.00        0.10132                      
439819.00    3765420.00        0.10197                         
         439824.00    3765420.00        0.10263                      
439829.00    3765420.00        0.10327                         
         439834.00    3765420.00        0.10392                      
439839.00    3765420.00        0.10455                         
         439844.00    3765420.00        0.10518                      
439849.00    3765420.00        0.10579                         
         439854.00    3765420.00        0.10640                      
439859.00    3765420.00        0.10699                         
         439674.00    3765425.00        0.08727                      
439679.00    3765425.00        0.08767                         
         439684.00    3765425.00        0.08807                      
439689.00    3765425.00        0.08849                         
         439694.00    3765425.00        0.08892                      
439699.00    3765425.00        0.08936                         
         439704.00    3765425.00        0.08981                      
439709.00    3765425.00        0.09028                         
         439714.00    3765425.00        0.09076                      
439719.00    3765425.00        0.09125                         
         439729.00    3765425.00        0.09228                      
439734.00    3765425.00        0.09282                         

406

Item D - 988 of 1893



         439739.00    3765425.00        0.09337                      
439744.00    3765425.00        0.09393                         
         439749.00    3765425.00        0.09451                      
439774.00    3765425.00        0.09759                         
         439779.00    3765425.00        0.09824                      
439784.00    3765425.00        0.09890                         
         439789.00    3765425.00        0.09956                      
439794.00    3765425.00        0.10024                         
         439799.00    3765425.00        0.10092                      
439804.00    3765425.00        0.10161                         

407

Item D - 989 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 130
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765425.00        0.10229                      
439814.00    3765425.00        0.10299                         
         439819.00    3765425.00        0.10368                      
439824.00    3765425.00        0.10437                         
         439829.00    3765425.00        0.10505                      
439834.00    3765425.00        0.10573                         
         439839.00    3765425.00        0.10641                      
439844.00    3765425.00        0.10707                         
         439849.00    3765425.00        0.10773                      
439854.00    3765425.00        0.10838                         
         439859.00    3765425.00        0.10901                      
439674.00    3765430.00        0.08852                         
         439679.00    3765430.00        0.08891                      
439684.00    3765430.00        0.08932                         
         439689.00    3765430.00        0.08974                      
439694.00    3765430.00        0.09017                         
         439699.00    3765430.00        0.09061                      
439704.00    3765430.00        0.09107                         

408

Item D - 990 of 1893



         439709.00    3765430.00        0.09154                      
439714.00    3765430.00        0.09203                         
         439719.00    3765430.00        0.09253                      
439729.00    3765430.00        0.09358                         
         439734.00    3765430.00        0.09413                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.09469                         
         439744.00    3765430.00        0.09527                      
439749.00    3765430.00        0.09586                         
         439774.00    3765430.00        0.09904                      
439779.00    3765430.00        0.09972                         
         439784.00    3765430.00        0.10040                      
439789.00    3765430.00        0.10110                         
         439794.00    3765430.00        0.10180                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.10252                         
         439804.00    3765430.00        0.10324                      
439809.00    3765430.00        0.10396                         
         439814.00    3765430.00        0.10469                      
439819.00    3765430.00        0.10541                         
         439824.00    3765430.00        0.10615                      
439829.00    3765430.00        0.10687                         
         439834.00    3765430.00        0.10759                      
439839.00    3765430.00        0.10831                         
         439844.00    3765430.00        0.10902                      
439849.00    3765430.00        0.10972                         
         439854.00    3765430.00        0.11041                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.11108                         
         439674.00    3765435.00        0.08980                      
439679.00    3765435.00        0.09019                         
         439684.00    3765435.00        0.09060                      
439689.00    3765435.00        0.09102                         
         439694.00    3765435.00        0.09145                      
439699.00    3765435.00        0.09190                         
         439704.00    3765435.00        0.09236                      
439709.00    3765435.00        0.09284                         
         439714.00    3765435.00        0.09333                      
439719.00    3765435.00        0.09384                         
         439729.00    3765435.00        0.09491                      
439734.00    3765435.00        0.09546                         
         439739.00    3765435.00        0.09604                      
439744.00    3765435.00        0.09663                         
         439749.00    3765435.00        0.09724                      
439774.00    3765435.00        0.10052                         
         439779.00    3765435.00        0.10122                      
439784.00    3765435.00        0.10193                         
         439789.00    3765435.00        0.10266                      
439794.00    3765435.00        0.10340                         
         439799.00    3765435.00        0.10414                      
439804.00    3765435.00        0.10490                         
         439809.00    3765435.00        0.10566                      
439814.00    3765435.00        0.10642                         
         439819.00    3765435.00        0.10719                      
439824.00    3765435.00        0.10796                         

409

Item D - 991 of 1893



         439829.00    3765435.00        0.10873                      
439834.00    3765435.00        0.10949                         
         439839.00    3765435.00        0.11025                      
439844.00    3765435.00        0.11101                         
         439849.00    3765435.00        0.11176                      
439854.00    3765435.00        0.11249                         
         439859.00    3765435.00        0.11321                      
439674.00    3765440.00        0.09111                         
         439679.00    3765440.00        0.09150                      
439684.00    3765440.00        0.09191                         

410

Item D - 992 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 131
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439689.00    3765440.00        0.09233                      
439694.00    3765440.00        0.09277                         
         439699.00    3765440.00        0.09322                      
439704.00    3765440.00        0.09368                         
         439709.00    3765440.00        0.09417                      
439714.00    3765440.00        0.09466                         
         439719.00    3765440.00        0.09518                      
439729.00    3765440.00        0.09626                         
         439734.00    3765440.00        0.09683                      
439739.00    3765440.00        0.09741                         
         439744.00    3765440.00        0.09802                      
439749.00    3765440.00        0.09864                         
         439774.00    3765440.00        0.10203                      
439779.00    3765440.00        0.10275                         
         439784.00    3765440.00        0.10350                      
439789.00    3765440.00        0.10425                         
         439794.00    3765440.00        0.10502                      
439799.00    3765440.00        0.10580                         

411

Item D - 993 of 1893



         439804.00    3765440.00        0.10659                      
439809.00    3765440.00        0.10739                         
         439814.00    3765440.00        0.10819                      
439819.00    3765440.00        0.10901                         
         439824.00    3765440.00        0.10982                      
439829.00    3765440.00        0.11063                         
         439834.00    3765440.00        0.11144                      
439839.00    3765440.00        0.11225                         
         439844.00    3765440.00        0.11305                      
439849.00    3765440.00        0.11385                         
         439854.00    3765440.00        0.11463                      
439859.00    3765440.00        0.11540                         
         439674.00    3765445.00        0.09246                      
439679.00    3765445.00        0.09286                         
         439684.00    3765445.00        0.09326                      
439689.00    3765445.00        0.09369                         
         439694.00    3765445.00        0.09412                      
439699.00    3765445.00        0.09457                         
         439704.00    3765445.00        0.09504                      
439709.00    3765445.00        0.09553                         
         439714.00    3765445.00        0.09603                      
439719.00    3765445.00        0.09655                         
         439729.00    3765445.00        0.09765                      
439734.00    3765445.00        0.09822                         
         439739.00    3765445.00        0.09882                      
439744.00    3765445.00        0.09944                         
         439749.00    3765445.00        0.10008                      
439774.00    3765445.00        0.10356                         
         439779.00    3765445.00        0.10431                      
439784.00    3765445.00        0.10508                         
         439789.00    3765445.00        0.10587                      
439794.00    3765445.00        0.10667                         
         439799.00    3765445.00        0.10749                      
439804.00    3765445.00        0.10831                         
         439809.00    3765445.00        0.10915                      
439814.00    3765445.00        0.11000                         
         439819.00    3765445.00        0.11086                      
439824.00    3765445.00        0.11171                         
         439829.00    3765445.00        0.11257                      
439834.00    3765445.00        0.11343                         
         439839.00    3765445.00        0.11429                      
439844.00    3765445.00        0.11515                         
         439849.00    3765445.00        0.11599                      
439854.00    3765445.00        0.11683                         
         439859.00    3765445.00        0.11765                      
439674.00    3765450.00        0.09386                         
         439679.00    3765450.00        0.09425                      
439684.00    3765450.00        0.09466                         
         439689.00    3765450.00        0.09508                      
439694.00    3765450.00        0.09551                         
         439699.00    3765450.00        0.09597                      
439704.00    3765450.00        0.09643                         

412

Item D - 994 of 1893



         439709.00    3765450.00        0.09692                      
439714.00    3765450.00        0.09743                         
         439719.00    3765450.00        0.09795                      
439729.00    3765450.00        0.09906                         
         439734.00    3765450.00        0.09965                      
439739.00    3765450.00        0.10026                         
         439744.00    3765450.00        0.10089                      
439749.00    3765450.00        0.10154                         
         439774.00    3765450.00        0.10512                      
439844.00    3765450.00        0.11729                         

413

Item D - 995 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 132
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439849.00    3765450.00        0.11819                      
439854.00    3765450.00        0.11909                         
         439859.00    3765450.00        0.11997                      
439674.00    3765455.00        0.09530                         
         439679.00    3765455.00        0.09569                      
439684.00    3765455.00        0.09609                         
         439689.00    3765455.00        0.09651                      
439694.00    3765455.00        0.09695                         
         439699.00    3765455.00        0.09740                      
439704.00    3765455.00        0.09787                         
         439709.00    3765455.00        0.09836                      
439714.00    3765455.00        0.09887                         
         439719.00    3765455.00        0.09939                      
439729.00    3765455.00        0.10052                         
         439734.00    3765455.00        0.10111                      
439739.00    3765455.00        0.10173                         
         439744.00    3765455.00        0.10237                      
439749.00    3765455.00        0.10304                         

414

Item D - 996 of 1893



         439844.00    3765455.00        0.11949                      
439849.00    3765455.00        0.12045                         
         439854.00    3765455.00        0.12141                      
439859.00    3765455.00        0.12235                         
         439674.00    3765460.00        0.09679                      
439679.00    3765460.00        0.09717                         
         439684.00    3765460.00        0.09757                      
439689.00    3765460.00        0.09799                         
         439694.00    3765460.00        0.09842                      
439699.00    3765460.00        0.09887                         
         439704.00    3765460.00        0.09934                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.09983                         
         439714.00    3765460.00        0.10034                      
439719.00    3765460.00        0.10087                         
         439729.00    3765460.00        0.10201                      
439734.00    3765460.00        0.10261                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.10324                      
439744.00    3765460.00        0.10389                         
         439749.00    3765460.00        0.10456                      
439789.00    3765460.00        0.11092                         
         439794.00    3765460.00        0.11182                      
439799.00    3765460.00        0.11275                         
         439804.00    3765460.00        0.11370                      
439809.00    3765460.00        0.11466                         
         439814.00    3765460.00        0.11564                      
439819.00    3765460.00        0.11664                         
         439824.00    3765460.00        0.11765                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.11867                         
         439844.00    3765460.00        0.12175                      
439849.00    3765460.00        0.12277                         
         439854.00    3765460.00        0.12379                      
439859.00    3765460.00        0.12480                         
         439674.00    3765465.00        0.09833                      
439679.00    3765465.00        0.09871                         
         439684.00    3765465.00        0.09910                      
439689.00    3765465.00        0.09952                         
         439694.00    3765465.00        0.09995                      
439699.00    3765465.00        0.10040                         
         439704.00    3765465.00        0.10087                      
439709.00    3765465.00        0.10135                         
         439714.00    3765465.00        0.10186                      
439719.00    3765465.00        0.10240                         
         439729.00    3765465.00        0.10354                      
439734.00    3765465.00        0.10415                         
         439739.00    3765465.00        0.10478                      
439744.00    3765465.00        0.10544                         
         439749.00    3765465.00        0.10613                      
439789.00    3765465.00        0.11266                         
         439794.00    3765465.00        0.11360                      
439799.00    3765465.00        0.11457                         
         439804.00    3765465.00        0.11556                      
439809.00    3765465.00        0.11657                         

415

Item D - 997 of 1893



         439814.00    3765465.00        0.11760                      
439819.00    3765465.00        0.11865                         
         439824.00    3765465.00        0.11971                      
439829.00    3765465.00        0.12079                         
         439844.00    3765465.00        0.12406                      
439849.00    3765465.00        0.12515                         
         439854.00    3765465.00        0.12624                      
439859.00    3765465.00        0.12732                         
         439674.00    3765470.00        0.09992                      
439679.00    3765470.00        0.10030                         

416

Item D - 998 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 133
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765470.00        0.10069                      
439689.00    3765470.00        0.10110                         
         439694.00    3765470.00        0.10152                      
439699.00    3765470.00        0.10197                         
         439704.00    3765470.00        0.10244                      
439709.00    3765470.00        0.10292                         
         439714.00    3765470.00        0.10344                      
439719.00    3765470.00        0.10397                         
         439729.00    3765470.00        0.10511                      
439734.00    3765470.00        0.10572                         
         439739.00    3765470.00        0.10636                      
439744.00    3765470.00        0.10704                         
         439749.00    3765470.00        0.10774                      
439789.00    3765470.00        0.11445                         
         439794.00    3765470.00        0.11542                      
439799.00    3765470.00        0.11643                         
         439804.00    3765470.00        0.11746                      
439809.00    3765470.00        0.11852                         

417

Item D - 999 of 1893



         439814.00    3765470.00        0.11960                      
439819.00    3765470.00        0.12070                         
         439824.00    3765470.00        0.12182                      
439829.00    3765470.00        0.12296                         
         439844.00    3765470.00        0.12643                      
439849.00    3765470.00        0.12760                         
         439854.00    3765470.00        0.12876                      
439859.00    3765470.00        0.12991                         
         439674.00    3765475.00        0.10157                      
439679.00    3765475.00        0.10194                         
         439684.00    3765475.00        0.10233                      
439689.00    3765475.00        0.10273                         
         439694.00    3765475.00        0.10315                      
439699.00    3765475.00        0.10360                         
         439704.00    3765475.00        0.10406                      
439709.00    3765475.00        0.10454                         
         439714.00    3765475.00        0.10505                      
439719.00    3765475.00        0.10559                         
         439729.00    3765475.00        0.10673                      
439734.00    3765475.00        0.10735                         
         439739.00    3765475.00        0.10800                      
439744.00    3765475.00        0.10867                         
         439749.00    3765475.00        0.10938                      
439754.00    3765475.00        0.11012                         
         439789.00    3765475.00        0.11626                      
439794.00    3765475.00        0.11727                         
         439799.00    3765475.00        0.11832                      
439804.00    3765475.00        0.11940                         
         439809.00    3765475.00        0.12050                      
439814.00    3765475.00        0.12164                         
         439819.00    3765475.00        0.12279                      
439824.00    3765475.00        0.12397                         
         439829.00    3765475.00        0.12518                      
439269.00    3764900.00        0.02450                         
         439369.00    3764900.00        0.02574                      
439469.00    3764900.00        0.02664                         
         439569.00    3764900.00        0.02713                      
439669.00    3764900.00        0.02715                         
         439769.00    3764900.00        0.02665                      
439869.00    3764900.00        0.02563                         
         439969.00    3764900.00        0.02416                      
440069.00    3764900.00        0.02237                         
         440169.00    3764900.00        0.02044                      
440269.00    3764900.00        0.01853                         
         439269.00    3765000.00        0.02795                      
439369.00    3765000.00        0.02982                         
         439469.00    3765000.00        0.03134                      
439569.00    3765000.00        0.03243                         
         439669.00    3765000.00        0.03297                      
439769.00    3765000.00        0.03281                         
         439869.00    3765000.00        0.03183                      
439969.00    3765000.00        0.03008                         

418

Item D - 1000 of 1893



         440069.00    3765000.00        0.02775                      
440169.00    3765000.00        0.02513                         
         440269.00    3765000.00        0.02251                      
439269.00    3765100.00        0.03203                         
         439369.00    3765100.00        0.03473                      
439469.00    3765100.00        0.03709                         
         439569.00    3765100.00        0.03906                      
439669.00    3765100.00        0.04053                         
         439769.00    3765100.00        0.04112                      
439869.00    3765100.00        0.04047                         

419

Item D - 1001 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 134
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439969.00    3765100.00        0.03853                      
440069.00    3765100.00        0.03552                         
         440169.00    3765100.00        0.03191                      
440269.00    3765100.00        0.02815                         
         439269.00    3765200.00        0.03705                      
439369.00    3765200.00        0.04090                         
         439469.00    3765200.00        0.04431                      
439569.00    3765200.00        0.04746                         
         439669.00    3765200.00        0.05037                      
439769.00    3765200.00        0.05248                         
         439869.00    3765200.00        0.05287                      
439969.00    3765200.00        0.05111                         
         440069.00    3765200.00        0.04739                      
440169.00    3765200.00        0.04233                         
         440269.00    3765200.00        0.03668                      
439269.00    3765300.00        0.04349                         
         439369.00    3765300.00        0.04928                      
439469.00    3765300.00        0.05409                         

420

Item D - 1002 of 1893



         439569.00    3765300.00        0.05852                      
439669.00    3765300.00        0.06333                         
         439769.00    3765300.00        0.06819                      
439869.00    3765300.00        0.07130                         
         439969.00    3765300.00        0.07091                      
440069.00    3765300.00        0.06684                         
         440169.00    3765300.00        0.05973                      
440269.00    3765300.00        0.05075                         
         439269.00    3765400.00        0.05175                      
439369.00    3765400.00        0.06170                         
         439469.00    3765400.00        0.06921                      
439569.00    3765400.00        0.07494                         
         439669.00    3765400.00        0.08115                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.09017                         
         439869.00    3765400.00        0.10030                      
439969.00    3765400.00        0.10493                         
         440069.00    3765400.00        0.10202                      
440169.00    3765400.00        0.09226                         
         440269.00    3765400.00        0.07730                      
439269.00    3765500.00        0.06140                         
         439369.00    3765500.00        0.08150                      
439469.00    3765500.00        0.09671                         
         439569.00    3765500.00        0.10526                      
439669.00    3765500.00        0.11056                         
         439769.00    3765500.00        0.12174                      
439869.00    3765500.00        0.15064                         
         439969.00    3765500.00        0.17642                      
440069.00    3765500.00        0.17862                         
         440169.00    3765500.00        0.16481                      
440269.00    3765500.00        0.13993                         
         439269.00    3765600.00        0.06865                      
439369.00    3765600.00        0.11561                         
         439469.00    3765600.00        0.16096                      
439569.00    3765600.00        0.18097                         
         439669.00    3765600.00        0.18447                      
439769.00    3765600.00        0.18856                         
         439869.00    3765600.00        0.24142                      
439969.00    3765600.00        0.48202                         
         440069.00    3765600.00        0.48365                      
440169.00    3765600.00        0.43362                         
         440269.00    3765600.00        0.37185                      
439269.00    3765700.00        0.06381                         
         439369.00    3765700.00        0.16443                      
439469.00    3765700.00        0.75902                         
         439569.00    3765700.00        0.84610                      
439669.00    3765700.00        0.64623                         
         439769.00    3765700.00        0.50617                      
439869.00    3765700.00        0.37198                         
         439969.00    3765700.00        0.46383                      
440069.00    3765700.00        1.11334                         
         440169.00    3765700.00        1.94871                      
440269.00    3765700.00        3.58358                         

421

Item D - 1003 of 1893



         439269.00    3765800.00        0.04509                      
439369.00    3765800.00        0.08363                         
         439469.00    3765800.00        0.26310                      
439569.00    3765800.00        0.59270                         
         439669.00    3765800.00        0.88694                      
439769.00    3765800.00        1.41727                         
         439869.00    3765800.00        2.65078                      
439969.00    3765800.00        0.88228                         
         440069.00    3765800.00        0.52756                      
440169.00    3765800.00        0.46924                         

422

Item D - 1004 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 135
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         440269.00    3765800.00        0.50096                      
439269.00    3765900.00        0.02997                         
         439369.00    3765900.00        0.04194                      
439469.00    3765900.00        0.06370                         
         439569.00    3765900.00        0.10296                      
439669.00    3765900.00        0.15851                         
         439769.00    3765900.00        0.21901                      
439869.00    3765900.00        0.27358                         
         439969.00    3765900.00        0.29639                      
440069.00    3765900.00        0.26864                         
         440169.00    3765900.00        0.23552                      
440269.00    3765900.00        0.22265                         
         439649.00    3765310.00        0.06379                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.06537                         
         439709.00    3765310.00        0.06698                      
439739.00    3765310.00        0.06857                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.07007                      
439799.00    3765310.00        0.07143                         

423

Item D - 1005 of 1893



         439829.00    3765310.00        0.07256                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.07340                         
         439889.00    3765310.00        0.07391                      
439649.00    3765340.00        0.06850                         
         439679.00    3765340.00        0.07031                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.07221                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.07416                      
439769.00    3765340.00        0.07610                         
         439799.00    3765340.00        0.07794                      
439829.00    3765340.00        0.07956                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.08088                      
439889.00    3765340.00        0.08181                         
         439649.00    3765370.00        0.07376                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.07577                         
         439709.00    3765370.00        0.07797                      
439739.00    3765370.00        0.08032                         
         439769.00    3765370.00        0.08278                      
439799.00    3765370.00        0.08522                         
         439829.00    3765370.00        0.08750                      
439859.00    3765370.00        0.08947                         
         439889.00    3765370.00        0.09100                      
439649.00    3765400.00        0.07974                         
         439679.00    3765400.00        0.08190                      
439709.00    3765400.00        0.08435                         
         439739.00    3765400.00        0.08713                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.09017                         
         439799.00    3765400.00        0.09338                      
439829.00    3765400.00        0.09655                         
         439859.00    3765400.00        0.09944                      
439889.00    3765400.00        0.10183                         
         439649.00    3765430.00        0.08670                      
439679.00    3765430.00        0.08891                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.09154                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.09469                         
         439769.00    3765430.00        0.09838                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.10252                         
         439829.00    3765430.00        0.10687                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.11108                         
         439889.00    3765430.00        0.11477                      
439649.00    3765460.00        0.09505                         
         439679.00    3765460.00        0.09717                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.09983                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.10324                      
439769.00    3765460.00        0.10753                         
         439799.00    3765460.00        0.11275                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.11867                         
         439859.00    3765460.00        0.12480                      
439889.00    3765460.00        0.13049                         
         439649.00    3765490.00        0.10539                      
439679.00    3765490.00        0.10727                         
         439709.00    3765490.00        0.10975                      
439739.00    3765490.00        0.11318                         

424

Item D - 1006 of 1893



         439769.00    3765490.00        0.11792                      
439799.00    3765490.00        0.12423                         
         439829.00    3765490.00        0.13212                      
439859.00    3765490.00        0.14106                         
         439889.00    3765490.00        0.14996                                                                                     

425

Item D - 1007 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 136
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439674.00    3765310.00        0.53810                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.53834                         
         439684.00    3765310.00        0.53856                      
439689.00    3765310.00        0.53878                         
         439694.00    3765310.00        0.53899                      
439699.00    3765310.00        0.53919                         
         439704.00    3765310.00        0.53939                      
439709.00    3765310.00        0.53957                         
         439714.00    3765310.00        0.53974                      
439719.00    3765310.00        0.53990                         
         439729.00    3765310.00        0.54020                      
439734.00    3765310.00        0.54033                         
         439739.00    3765310.00        0.54045                      
439744.00    3765310.00        0.54056                         
         439749.00    3765310.00        0.54065                      
439764.00    3765310.00        0.54086                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.54090                      
439774.00    3765310.00        0.54093                         

426

Item D - 1008 of 1893



         439779.00    3765310.00        0.54095                      
439784.00    3765310.00        0.54094                         
         439789.00    3765310.00        0.54092                      
439794.00    3765310.00        0.54088                         
         439799.00    3765310.00        0.54082                      
439804.00    3765310.00        0.54075                         
         439809.00    3765310.00        0.54066                      
439814.00    3765310.00        0.54055                         
         439819.00    3765310.00        0.54041                      
439824.00    3765310.00        0.54025                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.54009                      
439839.00    3765310.00        0.53967                         
         439844.00    3765310.00        0.53943                      
439849.00    3765310.00        0.53917                         
         439854.00    3765310.00        0.53889                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.53858                         
         439864.00    3765310.00        0.53824                      
439869.00    3765310.00        0.53789                         
         439874.00    3765310.00        0.53750                      
439879.00    3765310.00        0.53710                         
         439884.00    3765310.00        0.53667                      
439674.00    3765315.00        0.54525                         
         439679.00    3765315.00        0.54550                      
439684.00    3765315.00        0.54575                         
         439689.00    3765315.00        0.54597                      
439694.00    3765315.00        0.54619                         
         439699.00    3765315.00        0.54642                      
439704.00    3765315.00        0.54662                         
         439709.00    3765315.00        0.54682                      
439714.00    3765315.00        0.54701                         
         439719.00    3765315.00        0.54719                      
439729.00    3765315.00        0.54751                         
         439734.00    3765315.00        0.54766                      
439739.00    3765315.00        0.54780                         
         439744.00    3765315.00        0.54792                      
439749.00    3765315.00        0.54804                         
         439764.00    3765315.00        0.54830                      
439769.00    3765315.00        0.54837                         
         439774.00    3765315.00        0.54841                      
439779.00    3765315.00        0.54844                         
         439784.00    3765315.00        0.54846                      
439789.00    3765315.00        0.54846                         
         439794.00    3765315.00        0.54844                      
439799.00    3765315.00        0.54840                         
         439804.00    3765315.00        0.54835                      
439809.00    3765315.00        0.54828                         
         439814.00    3765315.00        0.54818                      
439819.00    3765315.00        0.54807                         
         439824.00    3765315.00        0.54793                      
439829.00    3765315.00        0.54778                         
         439839.00    3765315.00        0.54740                      
439844.00    3765315.00        0.54718                         

427

Item D - 1009 of 1893



         439849.00    3765315.00        0.54695                      
439854.00    3765315.00        0.54667                         
         439859.00    3765315.00        0.54638                      
439864.00    3765315.00        0.54607                         
         439869.00    3765315.00        0.54572                      
439874.00    3765315.00        0.54536                         
         439879.00    3765315.00        0.54497                      
439884.00    3765315.00        0.54456                         
         439674.00    3765320.00        0.55257                      
439679.00    3765320.00        0.55282                         

428

Item D - 1010 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 137
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765320.00        0.55309                      
439689.00    3765320.00        0.55333                         
         439694.00    3765320.00        0.55357                      
439699.00    3765320.00        0.55380                         
         439704.00    3765320.00        0.55402                      
439709.00    3765320.00        0.55423                         
         439714.00    3765320.00        0.55444                      
439719.00    3765320.00        0.55464                         
         439729.00    3765320.00        0.55500                      
439734.00    3765320.00        0.55516                         
         439739.00    3765320.00        0.55532                      
439744.00    3765320.00        0.55546                         
         439749.00    3765320.00        0.55559                      
439764.00    3765320.00        0.55591                         
         439769.00    3765320.00        0.55600                      
439774.00    3765320.00        0.55606                         
         439779.00    3765320.00        0.55611                      
439784.00    3765320.00        0.55615                         

429

Item D - 1011 of 1893



         439789.00    3765320.00        0.55616                      
439794.00    3765320.00        0.55616                         
         439799.00    3765320.00        0.55616                      
439804.00    3765320.00        0.55612                         
         439809.00    3765320.00        0.55606                      
439814.00    3765320.00        0.55599                         
         439819.00    3765320.00        0.55590                      
439824.00    3765320.00        0.55579                         
         439829.00    3765320.00        0.55565                      
439839.00    3765320.00        0.55532                         
         439844.00    3765320.00        0.55512                      
439849.00    3765320.00        0.55490                         
         439854.00    3765320.00        0.55464                      
439859.00    3765320.00        0.55437                         
         439864.00    3765320.00        0.55408                      
439869.00    3765320.00        0.55375                         
         439874.00    3765320.00        0.55341                      
439879.00    3765320.00        0.55304                         
         439884.00    3765320.00        0.55263                      
439674.00    3765325.00        0.56004                         
         439679.00    3765325.00        0.56033                      
439684.00    3765325.00        0.56058                         
         439689.00    3765325.00        0.56085                      
439694.00    3765325.00        0.56110                         
         439699.00    3765325.00        0.56135                      
439704.00    3765325.00        0.56159                         
         439709.00    3765325.00        0.56182                      
439714.00    3765325.00        0.56204                         
         439719.00    3765325.00        0.56225                      
439729.00    3765325.00        0.56264                         
         439734.00    3765325.00        0.56283                      
439739.00    3765325.00        0.56300                         
         439744.00    3765325.00        0.56317                      
439749.00    3765325.00        0.56332                         
         439754.00    3765325.00        0.56345                      
439769.00    3765325.00        0.56379                         
         439774.00    3765325.00        0.56388                      
439779.00    3765325.00        0.56395                         
         439784.00    3765325.00        0.56400                      
439789.00    3765325.00        0.56405                         
         439794.00    3765325.00        0.56407                      
439799.00    3765325.00        0.56408                         
         439804.00    3765325.00        0.56406                      
439809.00    3765325.00        0.56403                         
         439814.00    3765325.00        0.56399                      
439819.00    3765325.00        0.56391                         
         439824.00    3765325.00        0.56382                      
439829.00    3765325.00        0.56371                         
         439839.00    3765325.00        0.56342                      
439844.00    3765325.00        0.56323                         
         439849.00    3765325.00        0.56303                      
439854.00    3765325.00        0.56280                         

430

Item D - 1012 of 1893



         439859.00    3765325.00        0.56255                      
439864.00    3765325.00        0.56227                         
         439869.00    3765325.00        0.56197                      
439874.00    3765325.00        0.56164                         
         439879.00    3765325.00        0.56129                      
439884.00    3765325.00        0.56090                         
         439674.00    3765330.00        0.56770                      
439679.00    3765330.00        0.56798                         
         439684.00    3765330.00        0.56827                      
439689.00    3765330.00        0.56854                         

431

Item D - 1013 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 138
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439694.00    3765330.00        0.56882                      
439699.00    3765330.00        0.56907                         
         439704.00    3765330.00        0.56933                      
439709.00    3765330.00        0.56958                         
         439714.00    3765330.00        0.56981                      
439719.00    3765330.00        0.57004                         
         439729.00    3765330.00        0.57047                      
439734.00    3765330.00        0.57067                         
         439739.00    3765330.00        0.57087                      
439744.00    3765330.00        0.57104                         
         439749.00    3765330.00        0.57121                      
439754.00    3765330.00        0.57138                         
         439774.00    3765330.00        0.57188                      
439779.00    3765330.00        0.57197                         
         439784.00    3765330.00        0.57205                      
439789.00    3765330.00        0.57212                         
         439794.00    3765330.00        0.57216                      
439799.00    3765330.00        0.57218                         

432

Item D - 1014 of 1893



         439804.00    3765330.00        0.57220                      
439809.00    3765330.00        0.57219                         
         439814.00    3765330.00        0.57216                      
439819.00    3765330.00        0.57211                         
         439824.00    3765330.00        0.57204                      
439829.00    3765330.00        0.57195                         
         439839.00    3765330.00        0.57170                      
439844.00    3765330.00        0.57154                         
         439849.00    3765330.00        0.57136                      
439854.00    3765330.00        0.57116                         
         439859.00    3765330.00        0.57092                      
439864.00    3765330.00        0.57067                         
         439869.00    3765330.00        0.57038                      
439874.00    3765330.00        0.57007                         
         439879.00    3765330.00        0.56974                      
439884.00    3765330.00        0.56938                         
         439674.00    3765335.00        0.57552                      
439679.00    3765335.00        0.57583                         
         439684.00    3765335.00        0.57612                      
439689.00    3765335.00        0.57643                         
         439694.00    3765335.00        0.57670                      
439699.00    3765335.00        0.57698                         
         439704.00    3765335.00        0.57725                      
439709.00    3765335.00        0.57751                         
         439714.00    3765335.00        0.57777                      
439719.00    3765335.00        0.57801                         
         439729.00    3765335.00        0.57848                      
439734.00    3765335.00        0.57870                         
         439739.00    3765335.00        0.57890                      
439744.00    3765335.00        0.57911                         
         439749.00    3765335.00        0.57930                      
439774.00    3765335.00        0.58006                         
         439779.00    3765335.00        0.58018                      
439784.00    3765335.00        0.58029                         
         439789.00    3765335.00        0.58036                      
439794.00    3765335.00        0.58043                         
         439839.00    3765335.00        0.58019                      
439844.00    3765335.00        0.58005                         
         439849.00    3765335.00        0.57990                      
439854.00    3765335.00        0.57971                         
         439859.00    3765335.00        0.57950                      
439864.00    3765335.00        0.57926                         
         439869.00    3765335.00        0.57900                      
439874.00    3765335.00        0.57871                         
         439879.00    3765335.00        0.57840                      
439884.00    3765335.00        0.57805                         
         439674.00    3765340.00        0.58355                      
439679.00    3765340.00        0.58386                         
         439684.00    3765340.00        0.58418                      
439689.00    3765340.00        0.58448                         
         439694.00    3765340.00        0.58478                      
439699.00    3765340.00        0.58507                         

433

Item D - 1015 of 1893



         439704.00    3765340.00        0.58536                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.58563                         
         439714.00    3765340.00        0.58590                      
439719.00    3765340.00        0.58617                         
         439729.00    3765340.00        0.58667                      
439734.00    3765340.00        0.58691                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.58714                      
439744.00    3765340.00        0.58736                         
         439749.00    3765340.00        0.58757                      
439774.00    3765340.00        0.58845                         

434

Item D - 1016 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 139
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439779.00    3765340.00        0.58858                      
439784.00    3765340.00        0.58870                         
         439789.00    3765340.00        0.58882                      
439794.00    3765340.00        0.58891                         
         439839.00    3765340.00        0.58887                      
439844.00    3765340.00        0.58877                         
         439849.00    3765340.00        0.58863                      
439854.00    3765340.00        0.58847                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.58828                      
439864.00    3765340.00        0.58807                         
         439869.00    3765340.00        0.58783                      
439874.00    3765340.00        0.58757                         
         439879.00    3765340.00        0.58727                      
439884.00    3765340.00        0.58694                         
         439674.00    3765345.00        0.59176                      
439679.00    3765345.00        0.59209                         
         439684.00    3765345.00        0.59242                      
439689.00    3765345.00        0.59274                         

435

Item D - 1017 of 1893



         439694.00    3765345.00        0.59305                      
439699.00    3765345.00        0.59336                         
         439704.00    3765345.00        0.59366                      
439709.00    3765345.00        0.59395                         
         439714.00    3765345.00        0.59424                      
439719.00    3765345.00        0.59452                         
         439729.00    3765345.00        0.59506                      
439734.00    3765345.00        0.59532                         
         439739.00    3765345.00        0.59557                      
439744.00    3765345.00        0.59580                         
         439749.00    3765345.00        0.59604                      
439774.00    3765345.00        0.59702                         
         439779.00    3765345.00        0.59719                      
439784.00    3765345.00        0.59733                         
         439789.00    3765345.00        0.59746                      
439794.00    3765345.00        0.59758                         
         439839.00    3765345.00        0.59778                      
439844.00    3765345.00        0.59770                         
         439849.00    3765345.00        0.59758                      
439854.00    3765345.00        0.59745                         
         439859.00    3765345.00        0.59729                      
439864.00    3765345.00        0.59710                         
         439869.00    3765345.00        0.59688                      
439874.00    3765345.00        0.59664                         
         439879.00    3765345.00        0.59636                      
439884.00    3765345.00        0.59607                         
         439674.00    3765350.00        0.60017                      
439679.00    3765350.00        0.60052                         
         439684.00    3765350.00        0.60085                      
439689.00    3765350.00        0.60120                         
         439694.00    3765350.00        0.60152                      
439699.00    3765350.00        0.60185                         
         439704.00    3765350.00        0.60216                      
439709.00    3765350.00        0.60248                         
         439714.00    3765350.00        0.60278                      
439719.00    3765350.00        0.60308                         
         439729.00    3765350.00        0.60365                      
439734.00    3765350.00        0.60393                         
         439739.00    3765350.00        0.60419                      
439744.00    3765350.00        0.60447                         
         439749.00    3765350.00        0.60470                      
439774.00    3765350.00        0.60581                         
         439779.00    3765350.00        0.60600                      
439784.00    3765350.00        0.60617                         
         439789.00    3765350.00        0.60632                      
439794.00    3765350.00        0.60646                         
         439839.00    3765350.00        0.60691                      
439844.00    3765350.00        0.60684                         
         439849.00    3765350.00        0.60677                      
439854.00    3765350.00        0.60665                         
         439859.00    3765350.00        0.60651                      
439864.00    3765350.00        0.60634                         

436

Item D - 1018 of 1893



         439869.00    3765350.00        0.60616                      
439874.00    3765350.00        0.60593                         
         439879.00    3765350.00        0.60570                      
439884.00    3765350.00        0.60542                         
         439674.00    3765355.00        0.60880                      
439679.00    3765355.00        0.60915                         
         439684.00    3765355.00        0.60951                      
439689.00    3765355.00        0.60985                         
         439694.00    3765355.00        0.61021                      
439699.00    3765355.00        0.61055                         

437

Item D - 1019 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 140
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439704.00    3765355.00        0.61088                      
439709.00    3765355.00        0.61121                         
         439714.00    3765355.00        0.61153                      
439719.00    3765355.00        0.61185                         
         439729.00    3765355.00        0.61246                      
439734.00    3765355.00        0.61275                         
         439739.00    3765355.00        0.61305                      
439744.00    3765355.00        0.61331                         
         439749.00    3765355.00        0.61360                      
439774.00    3765355.00        0.61481                         
         439779.00    3765355.00        0.61502                      
439784.00    3765355.00        0.61522                         
         439789.00    3765355.00        0.61540                      
439794.00    3765355.00        0.61557                         
         439839.00    3765355.00        0.61625                      
439844.00    3765355.00        0.61623                         
         439849.00    3765355.00        0.61616                      
439854.00    3765355.00        0.61609                         

438

Item D - 1020 of 1893



         439859.00    3765355.00        0.61597                      
439864.00    3765355.00        0.61584                         
         439869.00    3765355.00        0.61567                      
439874.00    3765355.00        0.61548                         
         439879.00    3765355.00        0.61526                      
439884.00    3765355.00        0.61501                         
         439674.00    3765360.00        0.61763                      
439679.00    3765360.00        0.61801                         
         439684.00    3765360.00        0.61838                      
439689.00    3765360.00        0.61875                         
         439694.00    3765360.00        0.61911                      
439699.00    3765360.00        0.61946                         
         439704.00    3765360.00        0.61981                      
439709.00    3765360.00        0.62015                         
         439714.00    3765360.00        0.62050                      
439719.00    3765360.00        0.62083                         
         439729.00    3765360.00        0.62147                      
439734.00    3765360.00        0.62180                         
         439739.00    3765360.00        0.62210                      
439744.00    3765360.00        0.62241                         
         439749.00    3765360.00        0.62269                      
439774.00    3765360.00        0.62403                         
         439779.00    3765360.00        0.62427                      
439784.00    3765360.00        0.62449                         
         439789.00    3765360.00        0.62471                      
439794.00    3765360.00        0.62490                         
         439799.00    3765360.00        0.62508                      
439804.00    3765360.00        0.62524                         
         439809.00    3765360.00        0.62539                      
439814.00    3765360.00        0.62551                         
         439839.00    3765360.00        0.62586                      
439844.00    3765360.00        0.62583                         
         439849.00    3765360.00        0.62582                      
439854.00    3765360.00        0.62576                         
         439859.00    3765360.00        0.62569                      
439864.00    3765360.00        0.62557                         
         439869.00    3765360.00        0.62543                      
439874.00    3765360.00        0.62527                         
         439879.00    3765360.00        0.62507                      
439884.00    3765360.00        0.62486                         
         439674.00    3765365.00        0.62670                      
439679.00    3765365.00        0.62709                         
         439684.00    3765365.00        0.62748                      
439689.00    3765365.00        0.62787                         
         439694.00    3765365.00        0.62823                      
439699.00    3765365.00        0.62861                         
         439704.00    3765365.00        0.62897                      
439709.00    3765365.00        0.62934                         
         439714.00    3765365.00        0.62969                      
439719.00    3765365.00        0.63004                         
         439729.00    3765365.00        0.63073                      
439734.00    3765365.00        0.63106                         

439

Item D - 1021 of 1893



         439739.00    3765365.00        0.63140                      
439744.00    3765365.00        0.63171                         
         439749.00    3765365.00        0.63203                      
439774.00    3765365.00        0.63349                         
         439779.00    3765365.00        0.63375                      
439784.00    3765365.00        0.63401                         
         439789.00    3765365.00        0.63424                      
439794.00    3765365.00        0.63446                         
         439799.00    3765365.00        0.63467                      
439804.00    3765365.00        0.63487                         

440

Item D - 1022 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 141
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765365.00        0.63503                      
439814.00    3765365.00        0.63521                         
         439839.00    3765365.00        0.63568                      
439844.00    3765365.00        0.63572                         
         439849.00    3765365.00        0.63572                      
439854.00    3765365.00        0.63569                         
         439859.00    3765365.00        0.63564                      
439864.00    3765365.00        0.63556                         
         439869.00    3765365.00        0.63546                      
439874.00    3765365.00        0.63531                         
         439879.00    3765365.00        0.63516                      
439884.00    3765365.00        0.63494                         
         439674.00    3765370.00        0.63601                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.63641                         
         439684.00    3765370.00        0.63682                      
439689.00    3765370.00        0.63720                         
         439694.00    3765370.00        0.63761                      
439699.00    3765370.00        0.63798                         

441

Item D - 1023 of 1893



         439704.00    3765370.00        0.63837                      
439709.00    3765370.00        0.63875                         
         439714.00    3765370.00        0.63912                      
439719.00    3765370.00        0.63949                         
         439729.00    3765370.00        0.64022                      
439734.00    3765370.00        0.64057                         
         439739.00    3765370.00        0.64092                      
439744.00    3765370.00        0.64126                         
         439749.00    3765370.00        0.64160                      
439774.00    3765370.00        0.64318                         
         439779.00    3765370.00        0.64348                      
439784.00    3765370.00        0.64374                         
         439789.00    3765370.00        0.64402                      
439794.00    3765370.00        0.64427                         
         439799.00    3765370.00        0.64451                      
439804.00    3765370.00        0.64473                         
         439809.00    3765370.00        0.64494                      
439814.00    3765370.00        0.64513                         
         439839.00    3765370.00        0.64578                      
439844.00    3765370.00        0.64584                         
         439849.00    3765370.00        0.64587                      
439854.00    3765370.00        0.64589                         
         439859.00    3765370.00        0.64586                      
439864.00    3765370.00        0.64582                         
         439869.00    3765370.00        0.64573                      
439874.00    3765370.00        0.64564                         
         439879.00    3765370.00        0.64548                      
439884.00    3765370.00        0.64533                         
         439674.00    3765375.00        0.64555                      
439679.00    3765375.00        0.64599                         
         439684.00    3765375.00        0.64639                      
439689.00    3765375.00        0.64681                         
         439694.00    3765375.00        0.64720                      
439699.00    3765375.00        0.64761                         
         439704.00    3765375.00        0.64801                      
439709.00    3765375.00        0.64841                         
         439714.00    3765375.00        0.64880                      
439719.00    3765375.00        0.64917                         
         439729.00    3765375.00        0.64994                      
439734.00    3765375.00        0.65034                         
         439739.00    3765375.00        0.65068                      
439744.00    3765375.00        0.65106                         
         439749.00    3765375.00        0.65141                      
439754.00    3765375.00        0.65179                         
         439774.00    3765375.00        0.65314                      
439779.00    3765375.00        0.65345                         
         439784.00    3765375.00        0.65376                      
439789.00    3765375.00        0.65405                         
         439794.00    3765375.00        0.65433                      
439799.00    3765375.00        0.65461                         
         439804.00    3765375.00        0.65486                      
439809.00    3765375.00        0.65510                         

442

Item D - 1024 of 1893



         439814.00    3765375.00        0.65531                      
439839.00    3765375.00        0.65614                         
         439844.00    3765375.00        0.65623                      
439849.00    3765375.00        0.65632                         
         439854.00    3765375.00        0.65634                      
439859.00    3765375.00        0.65636                         
         439864.00    3765375.00        0.65634                      
439869.00    3765375.00        0.65631                         
         439874.00    3765375.00        0.65623                      
439879.00    3765375.00        0.65612                         

443

Item D - 1025 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 142
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439884.00    3765375.00        0.65598                      
439774.00    3765380.00        0.66333                         
         439779.00    3765380.00        0.66369                      
439784.00    3765380.00        0.66402                         
         439789.00    3765380.00        0.66433                      
439794.00    3765380.00        0.66467                         
         439799.00    3765380.00        0.66496                      
439804.00    3765380.00        0.66526                         
         439809.00    3765380.00        0.66551                      
439814.00    3765380.00        0.66580                         
         439769.00    3765385.00        0.67343                      
439819.00    3765385.00        0.67681                         
         439769.00    3765400.00        0.70652                      
439844.00    3765400.00        0.71263                         
         439849.00    3765400.00        0.71291                      
439674.00    3765405.00        0.70872                         
         439714.00    3765405.00        0.71266                      
439719.00    3765405.00        0.71317                         

444

Item D - 1026 of 1893



         439734.00    3765405.00        0.71465                      
439749.00    3765405.00        0.71616                         
         439754.00    3765405.00        0.71665                      
439774.00    3765405.00        0.71866                         
         439779.00    3765405.00        0.71918                      
439784.00    3765405.00        0.71967                         
         439789.00    3765405.00        0.72016                      
439794.00    3765405.00        0.72065                         
         439799.00    3765405.00        0.72115                      
439804.00    3765405.00        0.72161                         
         439809.00    3765405.00        0.72207                      
439814.00    3765405.00        0.72254                         
         439819.00    3765405.00        0.72296                      
439824.00    3765405.00        0.72340                         
         439829.00    3765405.00        0.72379                      
439834.00    3765405.00        0.72419                         
         439839.00    3765405.00        0.72454                      
439844.00    3765405.00        0.72490                         
         439849.00    3765405.00        0.72521                      
439854.00    3765405.00        0.72550                         
         439859.00    3765405.00        0.72576                      
439674.00    3765410.00        0.72034                         
         439679.00    3765410.00        0.72085                      
439684.00    3765410.00        0.72136                         
         439689.00    3765410.00        0.72186                      
439694.00    3765410.00        0.72238                         
         439699.00    3765410.00        0.72287                      
439704.00    3765410.00        0.72338                         
         439709.00    3765410.00        0.72389                      
439714.00    3765410.00        0.72440                         
         439719.00    3765410.00        0.72490                      
439729.00    3765410.00        0.72594                         
         439734.00    3765410.00        0.72646                      
439739.00    3765410.00        0.72697                         
         439744.00    3765410.00        0.72751                      
439749.00    3765410.00        0.72803                         
         439774.00    3765410.00        0.73070                      
439779.00    3765410.00        0.73122                         
         439784.00    3765410.00        0.73175                      
439789.00    3765410.00        0.73229                         
         439794.00    3765410.00        0.73282                      
439799.00    3765410.00        0.73334                         
         439804.00    3765410.00        0.73385                      
439809.00    3765410.00        0.73438                         
         439814.00    3765410.00        0.73484                      
439819.00    3765410.00        0.73535                         
         439824.00    3765410.00        0.73581                      
439829.00    3765410.00        0.73628                         
         439834.00    3765410.00        0.73668                      
439839.00    3765410.00        0.73713                         
         439844.00    3765410.00        0.73750                      
439849.00    3765410.00        0.73788                         

445

Item D - 1027 of 1893



         439854.00    3765410.00        0.73822                      
439859.00    3765410.00        0.73854                         
         439674.00    3765415.00        0.73231                      
439679.00    3765415.00        0.73284                         
         439684.00    3765415.00        0.73335                      
439689.00    3765415.00        0.73389                         
         439694.00    3765415.00        0.73438                      
439699.00    3765415.00        0.73492                         
         439704.00    3765415.00        0.73544                      
439709.00    3765415.00        0.73596                         

446

Item D - 1028 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 143
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439714.00    3765415.00        0.73648                      
439719.00    3765415.00        0.73703                         
         439729.00    3765415.00        0.73809                      
439734.00    3765415.00        0.73861                         
         439739.00    3765415.00        0.73917                      
439744.00    3765415.00        0.73970                         
         439749.00    3765415.00        0.74026                      
439774.00    3765415.00        0.74306                         
         439779.00    3765415.00        0.74363                      
439784.00    3765415.00        0.74421                         
         439789.00    3765415.00        0.74477                      
439794.00    3765415.00        0.74534                         
         439799.00    3765415.00        0.74590                      
439804.00    3765415.00        0.74646                         
         439809.00    3765415.00        0.74699                      
439814.00    3765415.00        0.74757                         
         439819.00    3765415.00        0.74807                      
439824.00    3765415.00        0.74861                         

447

Item D - 1029 of 1893



         439829.00    3765415.00        0.74909                      
439834.00    3765415.00        0.74961                         
         439839.00    3765415.00        0.75004                      
439844.00    3765415.00        0.75051                         
         439849.00    3765415.00        0.75092                      
439854.00    3765415.00        0.75132                         
         439859.00    3765415.00        0.75169                      
439674.00    3765420.00        0.74468                         
         439679.00    3765420.00        0.74520                      
439684.00    3765420.00        0.74574                         
         439689.00    3765420.00        0.74625                      
439694.00    3765420.00        0.74682                         
         439699.00    3765420.00        0.74732                      
439704.00    3765420.00        0.74786                         
         439709.00    3765420.00        0.74839                      
439714.00    3765420.00        0.74895                         
         439719.00    3765420.00        0.74948                      
439729.00    3765420.00        0.75058                         
         439734.00    3765420.00        0.75115                      
439739.00    3765420.00        0.75171                         
         439744.00    3765420.00        0.75228                      
439749.00    3765420.00        0.75285                         
         439774.00    3765420.00        0.75581                      
439779.00    3765420.00        0.75641                         
         439784.00    3765420.00        0.75701                      
439789.00    3765420.00        0.75763                         
         439794.00    3765420.00        0.75822                      
439799.00    3765420.00        0.75883                         
         439804.00    3765420.00        0.75942                      
439809.00    3765420.00        0.76005                         
         439814.00    3765420.00        0.76060                      
439819.00    3765420.00        0.76121                         
         439824.00    3765420.00        0.76176                      
439829.00    3765420.00        0.76234                         
         439834.00    3765420.00        0.76285                      
439839.00    3765420.00        0.76341                         
         439844.00    3765420.00        0.76388                      
439849.00    3765420.00        0.76437                         
         439854.00    3765420.00        0.76482                      
439859.00    3765420.00        0.76525                         
         439674.00    3765425.00        0.75740                      
439679.00    3765425.00        0.75796                         
         439684.00    3765425.00        0.75849                      
439689.00    3765425.00        0.75905                         
         439694.00    3765425.00        0.75957                      
439699.00    3765425.00        0.76014                         
         439704.00    3765425.00        0.76068                      
439709.00    3765425.00        0.76125                         
         439714.00    3765425.00        0.76177                      
439719.00    3765425.00        0.76236                         
         439729.00    3765425.00        0.76349                      
439734.00    3765425.00        0.76406                         

448

Item D - 1030 of 1893



         439739.00    3765425.00        0.76464                      
439744.00    3765425.00        0.76523                         
         439749.00    3765425.00        0.76584                      
439774.00    3765425.00        0.76893                         
         439779.00    3765425.00        0.76957                      
439784.00    3765425.00        0.77022                         
         439789.00    3765425.00        0.77084                      
439794.00    3765425.00        0.77151                         
         439799.00    3765425.00        0.77215                      
439804.00    3765425.00        0.77281                         

449

Item D - 1031 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 144
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765425.00        0.77343                      
439814.00    3765425.00        0.77410                         
         439819.00    3765425.00        0.77470                      
439824.00    3765425.00        0.77535                         
         439829.00    3765425.00        0.77594                      
439834.00    3765425.00        0.77656                         
         439839.00    3765425.00        0.77711                      
439844.00    3765425.00        0.77770                         
         439849.00    3765425.00        0.77823                      
439854.00    3765425.00        0.77874                         
         439859.00    3765425.00        0.77922                      
439674.00    3765430.00        0.77057                         
         439679.00    3765430.00        0.77112                      
439684.00    3765430.00        0.77168                         
         439689.00    3765430.00        0.77222                      
439694.00    3765430.00        0.77280                         
         439699.00    3765430.00        0.77333                      
439704.00    3765430.00        0.77391                         

450

Item D - 1032 of 1893



         439709.00    3765430.00        0.77446                      
439714.00    3765430.00        0.77505                         
         439719.00    3765430.00        0.77561                      
439729.00    3765430.00        0.77678                         
         439734.00    3765430.00        0.77738                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.77798                         
         439744.00    3765430.00        0.77860                      
439749.00    3765430.00        0.77923                         
         439774.00    3765430.00        0.78246                      
439779.00    3765430.00        0.78313                         
         439784.00    3765430.00        0.78381                      
439789.00    3765430.00        0.78451                         
         439794.00    3765430.00        0.78519                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.78588                         
         439804.00    3765430.00        0.78657                      
439809.00    3765430.00        0.78729                         
         439814.00    3765430.00        0.78795                      
439819.00    3765430.00        0.78866                         
         439824.00    3765430.00        0.78932                      
439829.00    3765430.00        0.79001                         
         439834.00    3765430.00        0.79064                      
439839.00    3765430.00        0.79131                         
         439844.00    3765430.00        0.79191                      
439849.00    3765430.00        0.79252                         
         439854.00    3765430.00        0.79309                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.79365                         
         439674.00    3765435.00        0.78415                      
439679.00    3765435.00        0.78472                         
         439684.00    3765435.00        0.78528                      
439689.00    3765435.00        0.78586                         
         439694.00    3765435.00        0.78640                      
439699.00    3765435.00        0.78700                         
         439704.00    3765435.00        0.78755                      
439709.00    3765435.00        0.78814                         
         439714.00    3765435.00        0.78872                      
439719.00    3765435.00        0.78932                         
         439729.00    3765435.00        0.79052                      
439734.00    3765435.00        0.79113                         
         439739.00    3765435.00        0.79176                      
439744.00    3765435.00        0.79239                         
         439749.00    3765435.00        0.79303                      
439774.00    3765435.00        0.79642                         
         439779.00    3765435.00        0.79713                      
439784.00    3765435.00        0.79785                         
         439789.00    3765435.00        0.79857                      
439794.00    3765435.00        0.79931                         
         439799.00    3765435.00        0.80004                      
439804.00    3765435.00        0.80079                         
         439809.00    3765435.00        0.80153                      
439814.00    3765435.00        0.80229                         
         439819.00    3765435.00        0.80301                      
439824.00    3765435.00        0.80377                         

451

Item D - 1033 of 1893



         439829.00    3765435.00        0.80448                      
439834.00    3765435.00        0.80522                         
         439839.00    3765435.00        0.80590                      
439844.00    3765435.00        0.80661                         
         439849.00    3765435.00        0.80726                      
439854.00    3765435.00        0.80792                         
         439859.00    3765435.00        0.80853                      
439674.00    3765440.00        0.79819                         
         439679.00    3765440.00        0.79877                      
439684.00    3765440.00        0.79935                         

452

Item D - 1034 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 145
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439689.00    3765440.00        0.79991                      
439694.00    3765440.00        0.80051                         
         439699.00    3765440.00        0.80107                      
439704.00    3765440.00        0.80168                         
         439709.00    3765440.00        0.80226                      
439714.00    3765440.00        0.80286                         
         439719.00    3765440.00        0.80346                      
439729.00    3765440.00        0.80470                         
         439734.00    3765440.00        0.80533                      
439739.00    3765440.00        0.80597                         
         439744.00    3765440.00        0.80663                      
439749.00    3765440.00        0.80730                         
         439774.00    3765440.00        0.81082                      
439779.00    3765440.00        0.81157                         
         439784.00    3765440.00        0.81232                      
439789.00    3765440.00        0.81309                         
         439794.00    3765440.00        0.81387                      
439799.00    3765440.00        0.81466                         

453

Item D - 1035 of 1893



         439804.00    3765440.00        0.81545                      
439809.00    3765440.00        0.81625                         
         439814.00    3765440.00        0.81703                      
439819.00    3765440.00        0.81786                         
         439824.00    3765440.00        0.81864                      
439829.00    3765440.00        0.81945                         
         439834.00    3765440.00        0.82021                      
439839.00    3765440.00        0.82101                         
         439844.00    3765440.00        0.82175                      
439849.00    3765440.00        0.82250                         
         439854.00    3765440.00        0.82321                      
439859.00    3765440.00        0.82390                         
         439674.00    3765445.00        0.81272                      
439679.00    3765445.00        0.81331                         
         439684.00    3765445.00        0.81388                      
439689.00    3765445.00        0.81448                         
         439694.00    3765445.00        0.81506                      
439699.00    3765445.00        0.81566                         
         439704.00    3765445.00        0.81625                      
439709.00    3765445.00        0.81686                         
         439714.00    3765445.00        0.81747                      
439719.00    3765445.00        0.81809                         
         439729.00    3765445.00        0.81936                      
439734.00    3765445.00        0.82000                         
         439739.00    3765445.00        0.82067                      
439744.00    3765445.00        0.82134                         
         439749.00    3765445.00        0.82203                      
439774.00    3765445.00        0.82571                         
         439779.00    3765445.00        0.82648                      
439784.00    3765445.00        0.82728                         
         439789.00    3765445.00        0.82809                      
439794.00    3765445.00        0.82892                         
         439799.00    3765445.00        0.82974                      
439804.00    3765445.00        0.83059                         
         439809.00    3765445.00        0.83143                      
439814.00    3765445.00        0.83231                         
         439819.00    3765445.00        0.83315                      
439824.00    3765445.00        0.83402                         
         439829.00    3765445.00        0.83487                      
439834.00    3765445.00        0.83574                         
         439839.00    3765445.00        0.83657                      
439844.00    3765445.00        0.83741                         
         439849.00    3765445.00        0.83821                      
439854.00    3765445.00        0.83902                         
         439859.00    3765445.00        0.83978                      
439674.00    3765450.00        0.82775                         
         439679.00    3765450.00        0.82834                      
439684.00    3765450.00        0.82894                         
         439689.00    3765450.00        0.82953                      
439694.00    3765450.00        0.83014                         
         439699.00    3765450.00        0.83074                      
439704.00    3765450.00        0.83135                         

454

Item D - 1036 of 1893



         439709.00    3765450.00        0.83196                      
439714.00    3765450.00        0.83259                         
         439719.00    3765450.00        0.83322                      
439729.00    3765450.00        0.83451                         
         439734.00    3765450.00        0.83518                      
439739.00    3765450.00        0.83586                         
         439744.00    3765450.00        0.83656                      
439749.00    3765450.00        0.83727                         
         439774.00    3765450.00        0.84107                      
439844.00    3765450.00        0.85358                         

455

Item D - 1037 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 146
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439849.00    3765450.00        0.85449                      
439854.00    3765450.00        0.85535                         
         439859.00    3765450.00        0.85622                      
439674.00    3765455.00        0.84331                         
         439679.00    3765455.00        0.84392                      
439684.00    3765455.00        0.84453                         
         439689.00    3765455.00        0.84514                      
439694.00    3765455.00        0.84574                         
         439699.00    3765455.00        0.84636                      
439704.00    3765455.00        0.84697                         
         439709.00    3765455.00        0.84760                      
439714.00    3765455.00        0.84824                         
         439719.00    3765455.00        0.84888                      
439729.00    3765455.00        0.85021                         
         439734.00    3765455.00        0.85089                      
439739.00    3765455.00        0.85158                         
         439744.00    3765455.00        0.85230                      
439749.00    3765455.00        0.85303                         

456

Item D - 1038 of 1893



         439844.00    3765455.00        0.87032                      
439849.00    3765455.00        0.87129                         
         439854.00    3765455.00        0.87226                      
439859.00    3765455.00        0.87320                         
         439674.00    3765460.00        0.85945                      
439679.00    3765460.00        0.86007                         
         439684.00    3765460.00        0.86068                      
439689.00    3765460.00        0.86129                         
         439694.00    3765460.00        0.86192                      
439699.00    3765460.00        0.86253                         
         439704.00    3765460.00        0.86317                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.86380                         
         439714.00    3765460.00        0.86445                      
439719.00    3765460.00        0.86510                         
         439729.00    3765460.00        0.86646                      
439734.00    3765460.00        0.86715                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.86788                      
439744.00    3765460.00        0.86861                         
         439749.00    3765460.00        0.86936                      
439789.00    3765460.00        0.87618                         
         439794.00    3765460.00        0.87714                      
439799.00    3765460.00        0.87812                         
         439804.00    3765460.00        0.87912                      
439809.00    3765460.00        0.88014                         
         439814.00    3765460.00        0.88118                      
439819.00    3765460.00        0.88224                         
         439824.00    3765460.00        0.88330                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.88439                         
         439844.00    3765460.00        0.88763                      
439849.00    3765460.00        0.88869                         
         439854.00    3765460.00        0.88976                      
439859.00    3765460.00        0.89080                         
         439674.00    3765465.00        0.87619                      
439679.00    3765465.00        0.87682                         
         439684.00    3765465.00        0.87743                      
439689.00    3765465.00        0.87807                         
         439694.00    3765465.00        0.87868                      
439699.00    3765465.00        0.87932                         
         439704.00    3765465.00        0.87996                      
439709.00    3765465.00        0.88061                         
         439714.00    3765465.00        0.88126                      
439719.00    3765465.00        0.88193                         
         439729.00    3765465.00        0.88330                      
439734.00    3765465.00        0.88403                         
         439739.00    3765465.00        0.88475                      
439744.00    3765465.00        0.88550                         
         439749.00    3765465.00        0.88627                      
439789.00    3765465.00        0.89334                         
         439794.00    3765465.00        0.89435                      
439799.00    3765465.00        0.89538                         
         439804.00    3765465.00        0.89644                      
439809.00    3765465.00        0.89752                         

457

Item D - 1039 of 1893



         439814.00    3765465.00        0.89862                      
439819.00    3765465.00        0.89975                         
         439824.00    3765465.00        0.90089                      
439829.00    3765465.00        0.90204                         
         439844.00    3765465.00        0.90554                      
439849.00    3765465.00        0.90672                         
         439854.00    3765465.00        0.90787                      
439859.00    3765465.00        0.90902                         
         439674.00    3765470.00        0.89358                      
439679.00    3765470.00        0.89419                         

458

Item D - 1040 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 147
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765470.00        0.89484                      
439689.00    3765470.00        0.89545                         
         439694.00    3765470.00        0.89610                      
439699.00    3765470.00        0.89674                         
         439704.00    3765470.00        0.89739                      
439709.00    3765470.00        0.89804                         
         439714.00    3765470.00        0.89871                      
439719.00    3765470.00        0.89939                         
         439729.00    3765470.00        0.90080                      
439734.00    3765470.00        0.90151                         
         439739.00    3765470.00        0.90227                      
439744.00    3765470.00        0.90303                         
         439749.00    3765470.00        0.90383                      
439789.00    3765470.00        0.91113                         
         439794.00    3765470.00        0.91219                      
439799.00    3765470.00        0.91326                         
         439804.00    3765470.00        0.91438                      
439809.00    3765470.00        0.91552                         

459

Item D - 1041 of 1893



         439814.00    3765470.00        0.91669                      
439819.00    3765470.00        0.91788                         
         439824.00    3765470.00        0.91910                      
439829.00    3765470.00        0.92033                         
         439844.00    3765470.00        0.92412                      
439849.00    3765470.00        0.92538                         
         439854.00    3765470.00        0.92665                      
439859.00    3765470.00        0.92789                         
         439674.00    3765475.00        0.91159                      
439679.00    3765475.00        0.91226                         
         439684.00    3765475.00        0.91288                      
439689.00    3765475.00        0.91354                         
         439694.00    3765475.00        0.91417                      
439699.00    3765475.00        0.91484                         
         439704.00    3765475.00        0.91549                      
439709.00    3765475.00        0.91616                         
         439714.00    3765475.00        0.91683                      
439719.00    3765475.00        0.91752                         
         439729.00    3765475.00        0.91894                      
439734.00    3765475.00        0.91968                         
         439739.00    3765475.00        0.92045                      
439744.00    3765475.00        0.92124                         
         439749.00    3765475.00        0.92203                      
439754.00    3765475.00        0.92288                         
         439789.00    3765475.00        0.92958                      
439794.00    3765475.00        0.93067                         
         439799.00    3765475.00        0.93181                      
439804.00    3765475.00        0.93297                         
         439809.00    3765475.00        0.93418                      
439814.00    3765475.00        0.93542                         
         439819.00    3765475.00        0.93668                      
439824.00    3765475.00        0.93798                         
         439829.00    3765475.00        0.93930                      
439269.00    3764900.00        0.23287                         
         439369.00    3764900.00        0.23596                      
439469.00    3764900.00        0.23666                         
         439569.00    3764900.00        0.23487                      
439669.00    3764900.00        0.23049                         
         439769.00    3764900.00        0.22349                      
439869.00    3764900.00        0.21392                         
         439969.00    3764900.00        0.20201                      
440069.00    3764900.00        0.18818                         
         440169.00    3764900.00        0.17312                      
440269.00    3764900.00        0.15767                         
         439269.00    3765000.00        0.27095                      
439369.00    3765000.00        0.27637                         
         439469.00    3765000.00        0.27898                      
439569.00    3765000.00        0.27869                         
         439669.00    3765000.00        0.27538                      
439769.00    3765000.00        0.26878                         
         439869.00    3765000.00        0.25862                      
439969.00    3765000.00        0.24502                         

460

Item D - 1042 of 1893



         440069.00    3765000.00        0.22839                      
440169.00    3765000.00        0.20957                         
         440269.00    3765000.00        0.18971                      
439269.00    3765100.00        0.31939                         
         439369.00    3765100.00        0.32800                      
439469.00    3765100.00        0.33326                         
         439569.00    3765100.00        0.33523                      
439669.00    3765100.00        0.33386                         
         439769.00    3765100.00        0.32859                      
439869.00    3765100.00        0.31861                         

461

Item D - 1043 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 148
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439969.00    3765100.00        0.30367                      
440069.00    3765100.00        0.28402                         
         440169.00    3765100.00        0.26055                      
440269.00    3765100.00        0.23472                         
         439269.00    3765200.00        0.38343                      
439369.00    3765200.00        0.39668                         
         439469.00    3765200.00        0.40568                      
439569.00    3765200.00        0.41085                         
         439669.00    3765200.00        0.41253                      
439769.00    3765200.00        0.41003                         
         439869.00    3765200.00        0.40173                      
439969.00    3765200.00        0.38655                         
         440069.00    3765200.00        0.36419                      
440169.00    3765200.00        0.33524                         
         440269.00    3765200.00        0.30127                      
439269.00    3765300.00        0.47255                         
         439369.00    3765300.00        0.49353                      
439469.00    3765300.00        0.50839                         

462

Item D - 1044 of 1893



         439569.00    3765300.00        0.51804                      
439669.00    3765300.00        0.52405                         
         439769.00    3765300.00        0.52646                      
439869.00    3765300.00        0.52273                         
         439969.00    3765300.00        0.50970                      
440069.00    3765300.00        0.48594                         
         440169.00    3765300.00        0.45117                      
440269.00    3765300.00        0.40624                         
         439269.00    3765400.00        0.60597                      
439369.00    3765400.00        0.64201                         
         439469.00    3765400.00        0.66855                      
439569.00    3765400.00        0.68565                         
         439669.00    3765400.00        0.69695                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.70652                         
         439869.00    3765400.00        0.71371                      
439969.00    3765400.00        0.70865                         
         440069.00    3765400.00        0.68661                      
440169.00    3765400.00        0.64653                         
         440269.00    3765400.00        0.58737                      
439269.00    3765500.00        0.83327                         
         439369.00    3765500.00        0.90310                      
439469.00    3765500.00        0.95989                         
         439569.00    3765500.00        0.99459                      
439669.00    3765500.00        1.01288                         
         439769.00    3765500.00        1.02874                      
439869.00    3765500.00        1.06171                         
         439969.00    3765500.00        1.08877                      
440069.00    3765500.00        1.07473                         
         440169.00    3765500.00        1.02830                      
440269.00    3765500.00        0.95087                         
         439269.00    3765600.00        1.36500                      
439369.00    3765600.00        1.51590                         
         439469.00    3765600.00        1.68432                      
439569.00    3765600.00        1.78162                         
         439669.00    3765600.00        1.82944                      
439769.00    3765600.00        1.87113                         
         439869.00    3765600.00        1.94297                      
439969.00    3765600.00        2.28307                         
         440069.00    3765600.00        2.25139                      
440169.00    3765600.00        2.13470                         
         440269.00    3765600.00        1.99139                      
439269.00    3765700.00        7.25416                         
         439369.00    3765700.00        7.82253                      
439469.00    3765700.00       11.15521                         
         439569.00    3765700.00       11.90380                      
439669.00    3765700.00       10.94120                         
         439769.00    3765700.00       10.50967                      
439869.00    3765700.00       10.06488                         
         439969.00    3765700.00       10.05430                      
440069.00    3765700.00       11.14977                         
         440169.00    3765700.00       12.61795                      
440269.00    3765700.00       15.51813                         

463

Item D - 1045 of 1893



         439269.00    3765800.00        2.99077                      
439369.00    3765800.00        3.19606                         
         439469.00    3765800.00        3.61311                      
439569.00    3765800.00        4.28926                         
         439669.00    3765800.00        4.89092                      
439769.00    3765800.00        5.87121                         
         439869.00    3765800.00        8.05806                      
439969.00    3765800.00        4.94313                         
         440069.00    3765800.00        4.28344                      
440169.00    3765800.00        4.13698                         

464

Item D - 1046 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 149
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         440269.00    3765800.00        4.13966                      
439269.00    3765900.00        0.98221                         
         439369.00    3765900.00        1.14760                      
439469.00    3765900.00        1.29578                         
         439569.00    3765900.00        1.45052                      
439669.00    3765900.00        1.61656                         
         439769.00    3765900.00        1.77799                      
439869.00    3765900.00        1.91522                         
         439969.00    3765900.00        1.98210                      
440069.00    3765900.00        1.94850                         
         440169.00    3765900.00        1.89475                      
440269.00    3765900.00        1.86543                         
         439649.00    3765310.00        0.53681                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.53834                         
         439709.00    3765310.00        0.53957                      
439739.00    3765310.00        0.54045                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.54090                      
439799.00    3765310.00        0.54082                         

465

Item D - 1047 of 1893



         439829.00    3765310.00        0.54009                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.53858                         
         439889.00    3765310.00        0.53621                      
439649.00    3765340.00        0.58184                         
         439679.00    3765340.00        0.58386                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.58563                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.58714                      
439769.00    3765340.00        0.58830                         
         439799.00    3765340.00        0.58898                      
439829.00    3765340.00        0.58903                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.58828                      
439889.00    3765340.00        0.58660                         
         439649.00    3765370.00        0.63390                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.63641                         
         439709.00    3765370.00        0.63875                      
439739.00    3765370.00        0.64092                         
         439769.00    3765370.00        0.64289                      
439799.00    3765370.00        0.64451                         
         439829.00    3765370.00        0.64558                      
439859.00    3765370.00        0.64586                         
         439889.00    3765370.00        0.64512                      
439649.00    3765400.00        0.69496                         
         439679.00    3765400.00        0.69792                      
439709.00    3765400.00        0.70079                         
         439739.00    3765400.00        0.70365                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.70652                         
         439799.00    3765400.00        0.70927                      
439829.00    3765400.00        0.71168                         
         439859.00    3765400.00        0.71336                      
439889.00    3765400.00        0.71398                         
         439649.00    3765430.00        0.76775                      
439679.00    3765430.00        0.77112                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.77446                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.77798                         
         439769.00    3765430.00        0.78180                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.78588                         
         439829.00    3765430.00        0.79001                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.79365                         
         439889.00    3765430.00        0.79621                      
439649.00    3765460.00        0.85632                         
         439679.00    3765460.00        0.86007                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.86380                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.86788                      
439769.00    3765460.00        0.87258                         
         439799.00    3765460.00        0.87812                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.88439                         
         439859.00    3765460.00        0.89080                      
439889.00    3765460.00        0.89635                         
         439649.00    3765490.00        0.96681                      
439679.00    3765490.00        0.97094                         
         439709.00    3765490.00        0.97497                      
439739.00    3765490.00        0.97946                         

466

Item D - 1048 of 1893



         439769.00    3765490.00        0.98493                      
439799.00    3765490.00        0.99188                         
         439829.00    3765490.00        1.00065                      
439859.00    3765490.00        1.01090                         
         439889.00    3765490.00        1.02117                                                                                     

467

Item D - 1049 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 150
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439674.00   3765310.00        4.80622  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765310.00        4.79062  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765310.00        4.77559  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765310.00        4.75935  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765310.00        4.74398  (12010217)                
439699.00   3765310.00        4.72759  (12010217)          
        439704.00   3765310.00        4.71189  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765310.00        4.69850  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765310.00        4.69178  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765310.00        4.68119  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765310.00        4.66061  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765310.00        4.65045  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765310.00        4.63862  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765310.00        4.62535  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765310.00        4.61261  (12011808)                
439764.00   3765310.00        4.60027  (15010717)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        4.62296  (15010717)                

468

Item D - 1050 of 1893



439774.00   3765310.00        4.64394  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765310.00        4.66491  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765310.00        4.68481  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765310.00        4.70391  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765310.00        4.72243  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765310.00        4.73988  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765310.00        4.75670  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765310.00        4.77290  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765310.00        4.78799  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765310.00        4.80271  (15010717)                
439824.00   3765310.00        4.81596  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        4.83014  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765310.00        4.85418  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765310.00        4.86513  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765310.00        4.87620  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765310.00        4.88503  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765310.00        4.89602  (15010717)          
        439864.00   3765310.00        4.90426  (15010717)                
439869.00   3765310.00        4.91305  (15010717)          
        439874.00   3765310.00        4.92030  (15010717)                
439879.00   3765310.00        4.92816  (15010717)          
        439884.00   3765310.00        4.93499  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765315.00        4.85276  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765315.00        4.83691  (12010217)                
439684.00   3765315.00        4.82170  (12010217)          
        439689.00   3765315.00        4.80536  (12010217)                
439694.00   3765315.00        4.78990  (12010217)          
        439699.00   3765315.00        4.77303  (12010217)                
439704.00   3765315.00        4.76368  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765315.00        4.75553  (13121718)                
439714.00   3765315.00        4.74835  (13121718)          
        439719.00   3765315.00        4.74074  (13121718)                
439729.00   3765315.00        4.72200  (13121718)          
        439734.00   3765315.00        4.71092  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765315.00        4.70041  (13121718)          
        439744.00   3765315.00        4.68859  (13121718)                
439749.00   3765315.00        4.67621  (13121718)          
        439764.00   3765315.00        4.65516  (15010717)                
439769.00   3765315.00        4.67741  (15010717)          
        439774.00   3765315.00        4.69854  (15010717)                
439779.00   3765315.00        4.71890  (15010717)          
        439784.00   3765315.00        4.73931  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765315.00        4.75727  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765315.00        4.77545  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765315.00        4.79306  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765315.00        4.80917  (15010717)                
439809.00   3765315.00        4.82493  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765315.00        4.83983  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765315.00        4.85416  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765315.00        4.86772  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765315.00        4.88038  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765315.00        4.90373  (15010717)                

469

Item D - 1051 of 1893



439844.00   3765315.00        4.91513  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765315.00        4.92499  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765315.00        4.93506  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765315.00        4.94381  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765315.00        4.95333  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765315.00        4.96070  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765315.00        4.96809  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765315.00        4.97601  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765315.00        4.98284  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765320.00        4.90035  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765320.00        4.88586  (12010217)          

470

Item D - 1052 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 151
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765320.00        4.86914  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765320.00        4.85374  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765320.00        4.83675  (12010217)                
439699.00   3765320.00        4.82488  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765320.00        4.81978  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765320.00        4.81509  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765320.00        4.80637  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765320.00        4.79943  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765320.00        4.78318  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765320.00        4.77404  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765320.00        4.76187  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765320.00        4.75238  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765320.00        4.73871  (13121718)                
439764.00   3765320.00        4.71141  (15010717)          
        439769.00   3765320.00        4.73226  (15010717)                
439774.00   3765320.00        4.75425  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765320.00        4.77418  (15010717)                

471

Item D - 1053 of 1893



439784.00   3765320.00        4.79366  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765320.00        4.81182  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765320.00        4.82967  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765320.00        4.84681  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765320.00        4.86291  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765320.00        4.87805  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765320.00        4.89281  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765320.00        4.90667  (15010717)                
439824.00   3765320.00        4.91997  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765320.00        4.93195  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765320.00        4.95494  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765320.00        4.96584  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765320.00        4.97560  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765320.00        4.98578  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765320.00        4.99363  (15010717)          
        439864.00   3765320.00        5.00238  (15010717)                
439869.00   3765320.00        5.01029  (15010717)          
        439874.00   3765320.00        5.01804  (15010717)                
439879.00   3765320.00        5.02389  (15010717)          
        439884.00   3765320.00        5.03125  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765325.00        4.94954  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765325.00        4.93405  (12010217)                
439684.00   3765325.00        4.91797  (12010217)          
        439689.00   3765325.00        4.90220  (12010217)                
439694.00   3765325.00        4.88543  (13121718)          
        439699.00   3765325.00        4.87990  (13121718)                
439704.00   3765325.00        4.87569  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765325.00        4.87054  (13121718)                
439714.00   3765325.00        4.86643  (13121718)          
        439719.00   3765325.00        4.85876  (13121718)                
439729.00   3765325.00        4.84329  (13121718)          
        439734.00   3765325.00        4.83443  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765325.00        4.82682  (13121718)          
        439744.00   3765325.00        4.81402  (13121718)                
439749.00   3765325.00        4.80516  (13121718)          
        439754.00   3765325.00        4.79035  (13121718)                
439769.00   3765325.00        4.78928  (15010717)          
        439774.00   3765325.00        4.81010  (15010717)                
439779.00   3765325.00        4.83052  (15010717)          
        439784.00   3765325.00        4.84892  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765325.00        4.86746  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765325.00        4.88471  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765325.00        4.90127  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765325.00        4.91748  (15010717)                
439809.00   3765325.00        4.93165  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765325.00        4.94632  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765325.00        4.95949  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765325.00        4.97253  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765325.00        4.98461  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765325.00        5.00671  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765325.00        5.01687  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765325.00        5.02674  (15010717)                

472

Item D - 1054 of 1893



439854.00   3765325.00        5.03569  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765325.00        5.04473  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765325.00        5.05179  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765325.00        5.06029  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765325.00        5.06708  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765325.00        5.07333  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765325.00        5.07951  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765330.00        4.99987  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765330.00        4.98352  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765330.00        4.96823  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765330.00        4.95164  (12010217)          

473

Item D - 1055 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 152
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439694.00   3765330.00        4.93755  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765330.00        4.93661  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765330.00        4.93307  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765330.00        4.92805  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765330.00        4.92277  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765330.00        4.91817  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765330.00        4.90459  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765330.00        4.89623  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765330.00        4.88742  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765330.00        4.87954  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765330.00        4.86820  (13121718)                
439754.00   3765330.00        4.85827  (13121718)          
        439774.00   3765330.00        4.86691  (15010717)                
439779.00   3765330.00        4.88764  (15010717)          
        439784.00   3765330.00        4.90559  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765330.00        4.92354  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765330.00        4.94046  (15010717)                

474

Item D - 1056 of 1893



439799.00   3765330.00        4.95710  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765330.00        4.97191  (15010717)                
439809.00   3765330.00        4.98673  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765330.00        5.00037  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765330.00        5.01391  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765330.00        5.02625  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765330.00        5.03826  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765330.00        5.05950  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765330.00        5.06939  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765330.00        5.07876  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765330.00        5.08718  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765330.00        5.09607  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765330.00        5.10341  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765330.00        5.11029  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765330.00        5.11754  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765330.00        5.12426  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765330.00        5.12868  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765335.00        5.05096  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765335.00        5.03514  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765335.00        5.01899  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765335.00        5.00269  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765335.00        4.99205  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765335.00        4.99055  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765335.00        4.98819  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765335.00        4.98671  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765335.00        4.98197  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765335.00        4.97617  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765335.00        4.96550  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765335.00        4.95975  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765335.00        4.95021  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765335.00        4.94226  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765335.00        4.93274  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765335.00        4.92605  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765335.00        4.94451  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765335.00        4.96343  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765335.00        4.98029  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765335.00        4.99757  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765335.00        5.11250  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765335.00        5.12202  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765335.00        5.13147  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765335.00        5.13957  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765335.00        5.14723  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765335.00        5.15585  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765335.00        5.16158  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765335.00        5.16863  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765335.00        5.17483  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765335.00        5.18047  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765340.00        5.10336  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765340.00        5.08731  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765340.00        5.07149  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765340.00        5.05468  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765340.00        5.04964  (13121718)                

475

Item D - 1057 of 1893



439699.00   3765340.00        5.04635  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765340.00        5.04478  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765340.00        5.04222  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765340.00        5.04031  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765340.00        5.03791  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765340.00        5.02674  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765340.00        5.01959  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        5.01535  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765340.00        5.00580  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765340.00        4.99820  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765340.00        4.98533  (15010717)          

476

Item D - 1058 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 153
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439779.00   3765340.00        5.00343  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765340.00        5.02156  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765340.00        5.03873  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765340.00        5.05532  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765340.00        5.16672  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765340.00        5.17605  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765340.00        5.18495  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765340.00        5.19314  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        5.20046  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765340.00        5.20779  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765340.00        5.21508  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765340.00        5.22016  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765340.00        5.22614  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765340.00        5.23273  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765345.00        5.15677  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765345.00        5.14093  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765345.00        5.12501  (12010217)                

477

Item D - 1059 of 1893



439689.00   3765345.00        5.10765  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765345.00        5.10064  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765345.00        5.10258  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765345.00        5.10257  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765345.00        5.09988  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765345.00        5.09779  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765345.00        5.09458  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765345.00        5.08758  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765345.00        5.08297  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765345.00        5.07569  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765345.00        5.07142  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765345.00        5.06283  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765345.00        5.04421  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765345.00        5.06417  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765345.00        5.08038  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765345.00        5.09809  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765345.00        5.11320  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765345.00        5.22204  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765345.00        5.23112  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765345.00        5.23885  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765345.00        5.24747  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765345.00        5.25437  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765345.00        5.26074  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765345.00        5.26791  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765345.00        5.27356  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765345.00        5.27921  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765345.00        5.28417  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765350.00        5.21159  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765350.00        5.19634  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765350.00        5.17922  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765350.00        5.16256  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765350.00        5.15650  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765350.00        5.15658  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765350.00        5.15673  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765350.00        5.15857  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765350.00        5.15689  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765350.00        5.15478  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765350.00        5.14986  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765350.00        5.14512  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765350.00        5.14095  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765350.00        5.13309  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765350.00        5.12912  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765350.00        5.10656  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765350.00        5.12370  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765350.00        5.14189  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765350.00        5.15728  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765350.00        5.17310  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765350.00        5.27801  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765350.00        5.28638  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765350.00        5.29461  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765350.00        5.30177  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765350.00        5.30965  (15010717)                

478

Item D - 1060 of 1893



439864.00   3765350.00        5.31546  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765350.00        5.32136  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765350.00        5.32871  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765350.00        5.33271  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765350.00        5.33775  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765355.00        5.26807  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765355.00        5.25214  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765355.00        5.23554  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765355.00        5.21871  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765355.00        5.21097  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765355.00        5.21384  (13121718)          

479

Item D - 1061 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 154
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439704.00   3765355.00        5.21382  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765355.00        5.21316  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765355.00        5.21486  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765355.00        5.21488  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765355.00        5.20928  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765355.00        5.20761  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765355.00        5.20307  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765355.00        5.20074  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765355.00        5.19161  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765355.00        5.16837  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765355.00        5.18572  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765355.00        5.20316  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765355.00        5.21842  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765355.00        5.23379  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765355.00        5.33438  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765355.00        5.34321  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765355.00        5.35133  (15010717)                

480

Item D - 1062 of 1893



439854.00   3765355.00        5.35760  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765355.00        5.36517  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765355.00        5.37124  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765355.00        5.37702  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765355.00        5.38211  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765355.00        5.38793  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765355.00        5.39246  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765360.00        5.35165  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765360.00        5.33658  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765360.00        5.32170  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765360.00        5.30373  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765360.00        5.28669  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765360.00        5.26723  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765360.00        5.27108  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765360.00        5.27282  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765360.00        5.27178  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765360.00        5.27291  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765360.00        5.27327  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765360.00        5.26929  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765360.00        5.26706  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765360.00        5.26213  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765360.00        5.26043  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765360.00        5.23100  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765360.00        5.24969  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765360.00        5.26454  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765360.00        5.28152  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765360.00        5.29429  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765360.00        5.30906  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765360.00        5.32148  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765360.00        5.33417  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765360.00        5.34496  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765360.00        5.39270  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765360.00        5.40098  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765360.00        5.40842  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765360.00        5.41538  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765360.00        5.42100  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765360.00        5.42810  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765360.00        5.43335  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765360.00        5.43829  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765360.00        5.44337  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765360.00        5.44815  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765365.00        5.44073  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765365.00        5.42622  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765365.00        5.41159  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765365.00        5.39656  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765365.00        5.38023  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765365.00        5.36344  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765365.00        5.34403  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765365.00        5.32890  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765365.00        5.33272  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765365.00        5.33250  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765365.00        5.33271  (13121718)                

481

Item D - 1063 of 1893



439734.00   3765365.00        5.33328  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765365.00        5.33168  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765365.00        5.32787  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765365.00        5.32403  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765365.00        5.29627  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765365.00        5.31208  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765365.00        5.32935  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765365.00        5.34283  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765365.00        5.35804  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765365.00        5.37086  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765365.00        5.38344  (15010717)          

482

Item D - 1064 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 155
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765365.00        5.39522  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765365.00        5.40561  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765365.00        5.45198  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765365.00        5.45900  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765365.00        5.46624  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765365.00        5.47288  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765365.00        5.47922  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765365.00        5.48511  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765365.00        5.49030  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765365.00        5.49621  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765365.00        5.49977  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765365.00        5.50476  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765370.00        5.52913  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00        5.51709  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765370.00        5.50310  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765370.00        5.48819  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765370.00        5.47358  (12011417)                

483

Item D - 1065 of 1893



439699.00   3765370.00        5.45728  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765370.00        5.44217  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765370.00        5.42264  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765370.00        5.40367  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765370.00        5.39224  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765370.00        5.39377  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765370.00        5.39486  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765370.00        5.39378  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765370.00        5.39489  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765370.00        5.39053  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765370.00        5.36546  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765370.00        5.37776  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765370.00        5.39305  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765370.00        5.40736  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765370.00        5.42154  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765370.00        5.43404  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765370.00        5.44658  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765370.00        5.45652  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765370.00        5.46844  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765370.00        5.51175  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765370.00        5.51960  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765370.00        5.52549  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765370.00        5.53239  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765370.00        5.53871  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765370.00        5.54365  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765370.00        5.54931  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765370.00        5.55377  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765370.00        5.55903  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765370.00        5.56206  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765375.00        5.61757  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765375.00        5.60613  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765375.00        5.59447  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765375.00        5.58212  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765375.00        5.56715  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765375.00        5.55218  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765375.00        5.53612  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765375.00        5.52089  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765375.00        5.50271  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765375.00        5.48447  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765375.00        5.45843  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765375.00        5.45736  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765375.00        5.45895  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765375.00        5.45641  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765375.00        5.45877  (13121718)                
439754.00   3765375.00        5.45501  (13121718)          
        439774.00   3765375.00        5.43743  (13121718)                
439779.00   3765375.00        5.44502  (15010717)          
        439784.00   3765375.00        5.45778  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765375.00        5.47380  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765375.00        5.48536  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765375.00        5.49953  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765375.00        5.50913  (15010717)                

484

Item D - 1066 of 1893



439809.00   3765375.00        5.52140  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765375.00        5.53054  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765375.00        5.57340  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765375.00        5.58020  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765375.00        5.58669  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765375.00        5.59302  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765375.00        5.59833  (15010717)          
        439864.00   3765375.00        5.60393  (15010717)                
439869.00   3765375.00        5.60834  (15010717)          
        439874.00   3765375.00        5.61336  (15010717)                
439879.00   3765375.00        5.61762  (15010717)          

485

Item D - 1067 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 156
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439884.00   3765375.00        5.62143  (15010717)                
439774.00   3765380.00        5.50932  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765380.00        5.51090  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765380.00        5.52701  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765380.00        5.53798  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765380.00        5.55308  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765380.00        5.56306  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765380.00        5.57511  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765380.00        5.58508  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765380.00        5.59547  (15010717)          
        439769.00   3765385.00        5.58677  (13121718)                
439819.00   3765385.00        5.66851  (15010717)          
        439769.00   3765400.00        5.81101  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765400.00        5.90403  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765400.00        5.90818  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765405.00        6.14460  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765405.00        6.09757  (12011417)                

486

Item D - 1068 of 1893



439719.00   3765405.00        6.08786  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765405.00        6.05022  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765405.00        6.00486  (12011417)          
        439754.00   3765405.00        5.98650  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765405.00        5.90468  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765405.00        5.88021  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765405.00        5.87970  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765405.00        5.89034  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765405.00        5.90112  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765405.00        5.91050  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765405.00        5.91864  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765405.00        5.92784  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765405.00        5.93456  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765405.00        5.94402  (15010717)                
439824.00   3765405.00        5.94848  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765405.00        5.95649  (15010717)                
439834.00   3765405.00        5.96027  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765405.00        5.96884  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765405.00        5.97177  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765405.00        5.97863  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765405.00        5.98121  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765405.00        5.98816  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765410.00        6.23092  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765410.00        6.22950  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765410.00        6.22873  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765410.00        6.22494  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765410.00        6.22138  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765410.00        6.21571  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765410.00        6.21171  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765410.00        6.20509  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765410.00        6.19748  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765410.00        6.18798  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765410.00        6.16940  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765410.00        6.15796  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765410.00        6.14370  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765410.00        6.12923  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765410.00        6.11459  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765410.00        6.02213  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765410.00        6.00027  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765410.00        5.97619  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765410.00        5.96450  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765410.00        5.97625  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765410.00        5.98347  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765410.00        5.99380  (15010717)                
439809.00   3765410.00        5.99889  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765410.00        6.00914  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765410.00        6.01345  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765410.00        6.02266  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765410.00        6.02601  (15010717)          
        439834.00   3765410.00        6.03430  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765410.00        6.03672  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765410.00        6.04460  (15010717)                

487

Item D - 1069 of 1893



439849.00   3765410.00        6.04693  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765410.00        6.05372  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765410.00        6.05638  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765415.00        6.31834  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765415.00        6.31813  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765415.00        6.31661  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765415.00        6.31672  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765415.00        6.31429  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765415.00        6.31171  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765415.00        6.30649  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765415.00        6.30220  (12011417)          

488

Item D - 1070 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 157
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439714.00   3765415.00        6.29665  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765415.00        6.29028  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765415.00        6.27248  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765415.00        6.26267  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765415.00        6.25205  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765415.00        6.23986  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765415.00        6.22617  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765415.00        6.13941  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765415.00        6.11892  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765415.00        6.09798  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765415.00        6.07491  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765415.00        6.04996  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765415.00        6.06049  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765415.00        6.06579  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765415.00        6.07651  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765415.00        6.08004  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765415.00        6.08903  (15010717)                

489

Item D - 1071 of 1893



439824.00   3765415.00        6.09291  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765415.00        6.10121  (15010717)                
439834.00   3765415.00        6.10498  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765415.00        6.11137  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765415.00        6.11472  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765415.00        6.12053  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765415.00        6.12473  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765415.00        6.12908  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765420.00        6.40360  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765420.00        6.40630  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765420.00        6.40704  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765420.00        6.40671  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765420.00        6.40558  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765420.00        6.40522  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765420.00        6.40338  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765420.00        6.40001  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765420.00        6.39576  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765420.00        6.39004  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765420.00        6.37827  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765420.00        6.36957  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765420.00        6.35857  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765420.00        6.34822  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765420.00        6.33777  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765420.00        6.25975  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765420.00        6.24000  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765420.00        6.21832  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765420.00        6.19764  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765420.00        6.17583  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765420.00        6.15117  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765420.00        6.14414  (15010717)                
439809.00   3765420.00        6.15013  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765420.00        6.15823  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765420.00        6.16292  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765420.00        6.16931  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765420.00        6.17509  (15010717)          
        439834.00   3765420.00        6.18011  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765420.00        6.18520  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765420.00        6.18983  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765420.00        6.19474  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765420.00        6.19846  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765420.00        6.20386  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765425.00        6.49080  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765425.00        6.49246  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765425.00        6.49584  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765425.00        6.49831  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765425.00        6.49916  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765425.00        6.49855  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765425.00        6.49749  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765425.00        6.49730  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765425.00        6.49520  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765425.00        6.49195  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765425.00        6.48145  (12011417)                

490

Item D - 1072 of 1893



439734.00   3765425.00        6.47546  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765425.00        6.46881  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765425.00        6.45858  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765425.00        6.44816  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765425.00        6.37867  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765425.00        6.36177  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765425.00        6.34259  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765425.00        6.32205  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765425.00        6.29951  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765425.00        6.27808  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765425.00        6.25437  (12011417)          

491

Item D - 1073 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 158
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765425.00        6.22939  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765425.00        6.23534  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765425.00        6.24064  (15010717)                
439824.00   3765425.00        6.24735  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765425.00        6.25107  (15010717)                
439834.00   3765425.00        6.25782  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765425.00        6.26035  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765425.00        6.26730  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765425.00        6.26981  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765425.00        6.27599  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765425.00        6.27784  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765430.00        6.57625  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765430.00        6.58147  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765430.00        6.58408  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765430.00        6.58727  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765430.00        6.59009  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765430.00        6.59307  (12011417)                

492

Item D - 1074 of 1893



439704.00   3765430.00        6.59401  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        6.59378  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765430.00        6.59284  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765430.00        6.59225  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765430.00        6.58658  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765430.00        6.58122  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        6.57493  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765430.00        6.56913  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765430.00        6.56167  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765430.00        6.50073  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765430.00        6.48349  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765430.00        6.46604  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765430.00        6.44764  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765430.00        6.42851  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765430.00        6.40583  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765430.00        6.38289  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765430.00        6.36009  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765430.00        6.33531  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765430.00        6.32120  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765430.00        6.32419  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765430.00        6.33159  (15010717)          
        439834.00   3765430.00        6.33392  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765430.00        6.34162  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765430.00        6.34234  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765430.00        6.34992  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765430.00        6.35133  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765430.00        6.35829  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765435.00        6.66228  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765435.00        6.66723  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765435.00        6.67384  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765435.00        6.67883  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765435.00        6.68258  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765435.00        6.68507  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765435.00        6.68849  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765435.00        6.69137  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765435.00        6.69275  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765435.00        6.69216  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765435.00        6.69046  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765435.00        6.68862  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765435.00        6.68422  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765435.00        6.67817  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765435.00        6.67283  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765435.00        6.62163  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765435.00        6.60812  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765435.00        6.59220  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765435.00        6.57370  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765435.00        6.55525  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765435.00        6.53637  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765435.00        6.51518  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765435.00        6.49160  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765435.00        6.46758  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765435.00        6.44365  (12011417)                

493

Item D - 1075 of 1893



439824.00   3765435.00        6.41879  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765435.00        6.40929  (15010717)                
439834.00   3765435.00        6.41688  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765435.00        6.41875  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765435.00        6.42605  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765435.00        6.42710  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765435.00        6.43413  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765435.00        6.43616  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765440.00        6.74892  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765440.00        6.75625  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765440.00        6.76115  (12011417)          

494

Item D - 1076 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 159
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439689.00   3765440.00        6.76730  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765440.00        6.77402  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765440.00        6.77963  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765440.00        6.78377  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765440.00        6.78642  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765440.00        6.79054  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765440.00        6.79298  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765440.00        6.79439  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765440.00        6.79359  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765440.00        6.79194  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765440.00        6.78975  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765440.00        6.78566  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765440.00        6.74417  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765440.00        6.73102  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765440.00        6.71758  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765440.00        6.70300  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765440.00        6.68590  (12011417)                

495

Item D - 1077 of 1893



439799.00   3765440.00        6.66619  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765440.00        6.64708  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765440.00        6.62688  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765440.00        6.60437  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765440.00        6.57960  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765440.00        6.55446  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765440.00        6.53009  (12011417)          
        439834.00   3765440.00        6.50369  (12011417)                
439839.00   3765440.00        6.50375  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765440.00        6.50635  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765440.00        6.51193  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765440.00        6.51552  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765440.00        6.52029  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765445.00        6.83390  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765445.00        6.84328  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765445.00        6.85139  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765445.00        6.85920  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765445.00        6.86420  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765445.00        6.87147  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765445.00        6.87863  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765445.00        6.88495  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765445.00        6.88835  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765445.00        6.89201  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765445.00        6.89867  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765445.00        6.90115  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765445.00        6.89962  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765445.00        6.89931  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765445.00        6.89731  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765445.00        6.86760  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765445.00        6.85745  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765445.00        6.84499  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765445.00        6.83024  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765445.00        6.81661  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765445.00        6.80000  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765445.00        6.78183  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765445.00        6.76092  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765445.00        6.74113  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765445.00        6.71921  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765445.00        6.69633  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765445.00        6.66946  (12011417)                
439834.00   3765445.00        6.64389  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765445.00        6.61852  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765445.00        6.59247  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765445.00        6.59669  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765445.00        6.60119  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765445.00        6.60545  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765450.00        6.92216  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765450.00        6.93016  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765450.00        6.93884  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765450.00        6.94834  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765450.00        6.95762  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765450.00        6.96523  (12011417)                

496

Item D - 1078 of 1893



439704.00   3765450.00        6.97227  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765450.00        6.97907  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765450.00        6.98754  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765450.00        6.99276  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765450.00        7.00146  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765450.00        7.00595  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765450.00        7.00880  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765450.00        7.01041  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765450.00        7.01003  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765450.00        6.99008  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765450.00        6.73600  (12011417)          

497

Item D - 1079 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 160
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439849.00   3765450.00        6.70820  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765450.00        6.68941  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765450.00        6.69138  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765455.00        7.00704  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765455.00        7.01906  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765455.00        7.02899  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765455.00        7.03913  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765455.00        7.04727  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765455.00        7.05830  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765455.00        7.06787  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765455.00        7.07701  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765455.00        7.08421  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765455.00        7.09183  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765455.00        7.10633  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765455.00        7.11201  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765455.00        7.11507  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765455.00        7.12035  (12011417)                

498

Item D - 1080 of 1893



439749.00   3765455.00        7.12245  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765455.00        6.88554  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765455.00        6.85741  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765455.00        6.82910  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765455.00        6.80196  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765460.00        7.09678  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765460.00        7.10569  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765460.00        7.11790  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765460.00        7.12893  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765460.00        7.14162  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765460.00        7.15096  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765460.00        7.16099  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        7.17247  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765460.00        7.18331  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765460.00        7.19314  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765460.00        7.20872  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765460.00        7.21721  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        7.22458  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765460.00        7.22983  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765460.00        7.23440  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765460.00        7.22474  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765460.00        7.21538  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765460.00        7.20505  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765460.00        7.19341  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765460.00        7.17972  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765460.00        7.16330  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765460.00        7.14505  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765460.00        7.12749  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        7.10695  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765460.00        7.03641  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765460.00        7.01063  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765460.00        6.98501  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765460.00        6.95384  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765465.00        7.18306  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765465.00        7.19686  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765465.00        7.20832  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765465.00        7.22047  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765465.00        7.23177  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765465.00        7.24607  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765465.00        7.25777  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765465.00        7.26888  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765465.00        7.27932  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765465.00        7.29183  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765465.00        7.31355  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765465.00        7.32204  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765465.00        7.33024  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765465.00        7.34044  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765465.00        7.34673  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765465.00        7.35675  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765465.00        7.35138  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765465.00        7.34321  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765465.00        7.33247  (12011417)                

499

Item D - 1081 of 1893



439809.00   3765465.00        7.32088  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765465.00        7.30807  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765465.00        7.29300  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765465.00        7.27532  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765465.00        7.25501  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765465.00        7.19085  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765465.00        7.16399  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765465.00        7.13949  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765465.00        7.11335  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765470.00        7.27547  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765470.00        7.28567  (12011417)          

500

Item D - 1082 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 161
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765470.00        7.29965  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765470.00        7.31276  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765470.00        7.32699  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765470.00        7.33847  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765470.00        7.35199  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765470.00        7.36583  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765470.00        7.37924  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765470.00        7.39130  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765470.00        7.41558  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765470.00        7.42855  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765470.00        7.43892  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765470.00        7.44937  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765470.00        7.45779  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765470.00        7.48991  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765470.00        7.48687  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765470.00        7.48153  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765470.00        7.47488  (12011417)                

501

Item D - 1083 of 1893



439809.00   3765470.00        7.46599  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765470.00        7.45289  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765470.00        7.44105  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765470.00        7.42564  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765470.00        7.41016  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765470.00        7.34728  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765470.00        7.32520  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765470.00        7.29919  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765470.00        7.27173  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765475.00        7.36588  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765475.00        7.37894  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765475.00        7.39379  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765475.00        7.40499  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765475.00        7.42040  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765475.00        7.43450  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765475.00        7.44969  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765475.00        7.46235  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765475.00        7.47638  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765475.00        7.49174  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765475.00        7.52011  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765475.00        7.53115  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765475.00        7.54691  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765475.00        7.55783  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765475.00        7.57207  (12011417)                
439754.00   3765475.00        7.58080  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765475.00        7.62507  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765475.00        7.62430  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765475.00        7.62225  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765475.00        7.61713  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765475.00        7.61095  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765475.00        7.60333  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765475.00        7.59158  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765475.00        7.57872  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765475.00        7.56238  (12011417)                
439269.00   3764900.00        2.97087  (12010217)          
        439369.00   3764900.00        3.07668  (12010217)                
439469.00   3764900.00        3.04623  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3764900.00        2.95377  (12010217)                
439669.00   3764900.00        2.88814  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3764900.00        2.88485  (12010217)                
439869.00   3764900.00        2.88747  (12010217)          
        439969.00   3764900.00        2.81715  (12010217)                
440069.00   3764900.00        2.89558  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3764900.00        2.99345  (15010717)                
440269.00   3764900.00        3.00251  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765000.00        3.25836  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765000.00        3.36620  (12010217)          
        439469.00   3765000.00        3.36719  (12010217)                
439569.00   3765000.00        3.26121  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765000.00        3.15697  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765000.00        3.14168  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765000.00        3.17226  (12010217)                

502

Item D - 1084 of 1893



439969.00   3765000.00        3.14178  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765000.00        3.26769  (15010717)                
440169.00   3765000.00        3.30441  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765000.00        3.26504  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765100.00        3.67937  (13120808)          
        439369.00   3765100.00        3.71144  (12010217)                
439469.00   3765100.00        3.76894  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3765100.00        3.66393  (12010217)                
439669.00   3765100.00        3.51008  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765100.00        3.48842  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765100.00        3.51503  (12010217)          

503

Item D - 1085 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 162
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439969.00   3765100.00        3.59595  (15010717)                
440069.00   3765100.00        3.68584  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3765100.00        3.64905  (15010717)                
440269.00   3765100.00        3.59995  (13121617)          
        439269.00   3765200.00        4.17879  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765200.00        4.13881  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765200.00        4.28020  (12010217)                
439569.00   3765200.00        4.20085  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765200.00        4.00256  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765200.00        3.97139  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765200.00        3.99629  (15010717)                
439969.00   3765200.00        4.17378  (15010717)          
        440069.00   3765200.00        4.16495  (15010717)                
440169.00   3765200.00        4.09008  (13121617)          
        440269.00   3765200.00        4.00315  (13121617)                
439269.00   3765300.00        5.02021  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765300.00        4.93067  (12011417)                

504

Item D - 1086 of 1893



439469.00   3765300.00        4.96615  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3765300.00        4.93597  (12010217)                
439669.00   3765300.00        4.73012  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765300.00        4.53191  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765300.00        4.81818  (15010717)          
        439969.00   3765300.00        4.88794  (15010717)                
440069.00   3765300.00        4.78366  (13121617)          
        440169.00   3765300.00        4.65320  (13121617)                
440269.00   3765300.00        4.74019  (15113017)          
        439269.00   3765400.00        6.28944  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765400.00        6.11194  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765400.00        6.01219  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765400.00        6.03626  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765400.00        6.06112  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        5.81101  (12011417)          
        439869.00   3765400.00        5.92634  (15010717)                
439969.00   3765400.00        5.86005  (15010717)          
        440069.00   3765400.00        5.74292  (15113017)                
440169.00   3765400.00        5.80414  (15113017)          
        440269.00   3765400.00        5.77875  (15113017)                
439269.00   3765500.00        8.37509  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765500.00        8.28211  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765500.00        7.98044  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765500.00        7.80175  (12010217)                
439669.00   3765500.00        7.84573  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765500.00        8.21963  (12011417)                
439869.00   3765500.00        8.27613  (12011417)          
        439969.00   3765500.00        7.70639  (15113017)                
440069.00   3765500.00        7.56986  (15113017)          
        440169.00   3765500.00        7.68656  (12011608)                
440269.00   3765500.00        7.69585  (12011608)          
        439269.00   3765600.00       11.93099  (12101307)                
439369.00   3765600.00       12.78097  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765600.00       12.90728  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765600.00       12.48171  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765600.00       12.08891  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765600.00       12.14326  (12111318)          
        439869.00   3765600.00       13.07918  (12111318)                
439969.00   3765600.00       14.34372  (12011417)          
        440069.00   3765600.00       13.45690  (14101107)                
440169.00   3765600.00       13.61672  (14101107)          
        440269.00   3765600.00       13.49207  (15112218)                
439269.00   3765700.00       38.72172  (14012908)          
        439369.00   3765700.00       41.71967  (14012908)                
439469.00   3765700.00       64.80176  (14012908)          
        439569.00   3765700.00       45.37790  (14120118)                
439669.00   3765700.00       43.65966  (14101107)          
        439769.00   3765700.00       43.36961  (14101107)                
439869.00   3765700.00       43.00590  (14101107)          
        439969.00   3765700.00       42.99646  (14101107)                
440069.00   3765700.00       42.79688  (12101207)          
        440169.00   3765700.00       43.88667  (12101207)                

505

Item D - 1087 of 1893



440269.00   3765700.00       47.73044  (12101207)          
        439269.00   3765800.00       18.24251  (12111317)                
439369.00   3765800.00       19.16371  (12111317)          
        439469.00   3765800.00       19.00569  (15120818)                
439569.00   3765800.00       18.86644  (15120818)          
        439669.00   3765800.00       19.46034  (13111217)                
439769.00   3765800.00       21.82387  (13111217)          
        439869.00   3765800.00       27.48026  (13111217)                
439969.00   3765800.00       19.36738  (15120418)          
        440069.00   3765800.00       17.00581  (15120418)                
440169.00   3765800.00       16.25707  (15120418)          

506

Item D - 1088 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 163
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        440269.00   3765800.00       16.24944  (15120418)                
439269.00   3765900.00       10.25288  (15120818)          
        439369.00   3765900.00       10.15744  (15120818)                
439469.00   3765900.00        9.93477  (15120818)          
        439569.00   3765900.00        9.68519  (15120818)                
439669.00   3765900.00        9.46283  (15112217)          
        439769.00   3765900.00        9.81099  (13111217)                
439869.00   3765900.00       10.50865  (13111217)          
        439969.00   3765900.00       10.64239  (13111217)                
440069.00   3765900.00       10.28217  (12011717)          
        440169.00   3765900.00        9.80618  (12011717)                
440269.00   3765900.00        9.41116  (12011717)          
        439649.00   3765310.00        4.87629  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765310.00        4.79062  (12010217)          
        439709.00   3765310.00        4.69850  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765310.00        4.63862  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        4.62296  (15010717)                

507

Item D - 1089 of 1893



439799.00   3765310.00        4.73988  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        4.83014  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765310.00        4.89602  (15010717)          
        439889.00   3765310.00        4.94112  (15010717)                
439649.00   3765340.00        5.17460  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765340.00        5.08731  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765340.00        5.04222  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        5.01535  (13121718)                
439769.00   3765340.00        4.96480  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765340.00        5.07010  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765340.00        5.14669  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        5.20046  (15010717)                
439889.00   3765340.00        5.23656  (15010717)          
        439649.00   3765370.00        5.57992  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00        5.51709  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765370.00        5.42264  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765370.00        5.39378  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765370.00        5.37300  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765370.00        5.43404  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765370.00        5.49535  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765370.00        5.53871  (15010717)          
        439889.00   3765370.00        5.56558  (15010717)                
439649.00   3765400.00        6.06862  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765400.00        6.05206  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765400.00        6.00934  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765400.00        5.92967  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        5.81101  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765400.00        5.83919  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765400.00        5.88509  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765400.00        5.91806  (15010717)                
439889.00   3765400.00        5.93992  (15010717)          
        439649.00   3765430.00        6.54926  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765430.00        6.58147  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        6.59378  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        6.57493  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765430.00        6.51528  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765430.00        6.40583  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765430.00        6.33159  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765430.00        6.35829  (15010717)          
        439889.00   3765430.00        6.37641  (15010717)                
439649.00   3765460.00        7.04202  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765460.00        7.10569  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        7.17247  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        7.22458  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765460.00        7.24141  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765460.00        7.20505  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        7.10695  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765460.00        6.95384  (12011417)                
439889.00   3765460.00        6.89519  (15010717)          
        439649.00   3765490.00        7.59356  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765490.00        7.66667  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765490.00        7.76249  (12011417)                

508

Item D - 1090 of 1893



439739.00   3765490.00        7.87108  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765490.00        7.97472  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765490.00        8.04495  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765490.00        8.04340  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765490.00        7.94983  (12011417)          
        439889.00   3765490.00        7.79856  (12011417)                                                                           

509

Item D - 1091 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 164
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439674.00   3765310.00        4.20365  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765310.00        4.20586  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765310.00        4.20572  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765310.00        4.20698  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765310.00        4.20522  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765310.00        4.20166  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765310.00        4.19804  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765310.00        4.19288  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765310.00        4.18822  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765310.00        4.17941  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765310.00        4.16201  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765310.00        4.15263  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765310.00        4.14087  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765310.00        4.12844  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765310.00        4.11495  (13121718)                
439764.00   3765310.00        4.11098  (15111218)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        4.11152  (15111218)                

510

Item D - 1092 of 1893



439774.00   3765310.00        4.11402  (15111218)          
        439779.00   3765310.00        4.11315  (15111218)                
439784.00   3765310.00        4.11225  (15111218)          
        439789.00   3765310.00        4.10945  (15111218)                
439794.00   3765310.00        4.10622  (15111218)          
        439799.00   3765310.00        4.10787  (13121618)                
439804.00   3765310.00        4.11639  (13121618)          
        439809.00   3765310.00        4.12406  (13121618)                
439814.00   3765310.00        4.13011  (13121618)          
        439819.00   3765310.00        4.13515  (13121618)                
439824.00   3765310.00        4.13952  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        4.15061  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765310.00        4.16869  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765310.00        4.17567  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765310.00        4.18052  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765310.00        4.18527  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765310.00        4.18703  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765310.00        4.18872  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765310.00        4.19015  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765310.00        4.18892  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765310.00        4.18816  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765310.00        4.18626  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765315.00        4.24842  (13121718)          
        439679.00   3765315.00        4.25053  (13121718)                
439684.00   3765315.00        4.25269  (13121718)          
        439689.00   3765315.00        4.25226  (13121718)                
439694.00   3765315.00        4.25381  (13121718)          
        439699.00   3765315.00        4.25250  (13121718)                
439704.00   3765315.00        4.24979  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765315.00        4.24515  (13121718)                
439714.00   3765315.00        4.24066  (13121718)          
        439719.00   3765315.00        4.23539  (13121718)                
439729.00   3765315.00        4.21988  (13121718)          
        439734.00   3765315.00        4.20994  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765315.00        4.20046  (13121718)          
        439744.00   3765315.00        4.18843  (13121718)                
439749.00   3765315.00        4.17653  (13121718)          
        439764.00   3765315.00        4.14808  (15111218)                
439769.00   3765315.00        4.15324  (15111218)          
        439774.00   3765315.00        4.15380  (15111218)                
439779.00   3765315.00        4.15588  (15111218)          
        439784.00   3765315.00        4.15460  (15111218)                
439789.00   3765315.00        4.15398  (15111218)          
        439794.00   3765315.00        4.15033  (15111218)                
439799.00   3765315.00        4.14726  (15111218)          
        439804.00   3765315.00        4.15119  (13121618)                
439809.00   3765315.00        4.15929  (13121618)          
        439814.00   3765315.00        4.16669  (13121618)                
439819.00   3765315.00        4.17195  (13121618)          
        439824.00   3765315.00        4.17623  (13121618)                
439829.00   3765315.00        4.18442  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765315.00        4.20451  (13120808)                

511

Item D - 1093 of 1893



439844.00   3765315.00        4.21105  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765315.00        4.21905  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765315.00        4.22200  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765315.00        4.22609  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765315.00        4.22793  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765315.00        4.22910  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765315.00        4.22902  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765315.00        4.22856  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765315.00        4.22689  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765320.00        4.28852  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765320.00        4.29466  (13121718)          

512

Item D - 1094 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 165
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765320.00        4.29789  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765320.00        4.30105  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765320.00        4.30029  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765320.00        4.30173  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765320.00        4.30060  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765320.00        4.29902  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765320.00        4.29375  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765320.00        4.28953  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765320.00        4.27704  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765320.00        4.26945  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765320.00        4.25863  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765320.00        4.24995  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765320.00        4.23653  (13121718)                
439764.00   3765320.00        4.19770  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765320.00        4.19159  (15111218)                
439774.00   3765320.00        4.19596  (15111218)          
        439779.00   3765320.00        4.19710  (15111218)                

513

Item D - 1095 of 1893



439784.00   3765320.00        4.19811  (15111218)          
        439789.00   3765320.00        4.19698  (15111218)                
439794.00   3765320.00        4.19617  (15111218)          
        439799.00   3765320.00        4.19252  (15111218)                
439804.00   3765320.00        4.18845  (15111218)          
        439809.00   3765320.00        4.19508  (13121618)                
439814.00   3765320.00        4.20273  (13121618)          
        439819.00   3765320.00        4.20914  (13121618)                
439824.00   3765320.00        4.21536  (13121618)          
        439829.00   3765320.00        4.21826  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765320.00        4.23989  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765320.00        4.24933  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765320.00        4.25501  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765320.00        4.26121  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765320.00        4.26492  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765320.00        4.26813  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765320.00        4.26860  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765320.00        4.27091  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765320.00        4.26895  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765320.00        4.26775  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765325.00        4.33186  (13121718)          
        439679.00   3765325.00        4.33651  (13121718)                
439684.00   3765325.00        4.34229  (13121718)          
        439689.00   3765325.00        4.34565  (13121718)                
439694.00   3765325.00        4.35020  (13121718)          
        439699.00   3765325.00        4.34971  (13121718)                
439704.00   3765325.00        4.35060  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765325.00        4.34934  (13121718)                
439714.00   3765325.00        4.34862  (13121718)          
        439719.00   3765325.00        4.34380  (13121718)                
439729.00   3765325.00        4.33365  (13121718)          
        439734.00   3765325.00        4.32672  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765325.00        4.31955  (13121718)          
        439744.00   3765325.00        4.30847  (13121718)                
439749.00   3765325.00        4.30020  (13121718)          
        439754.00   3765325.00        4.28605  (13121718)                
439769.00   3765325.00        4.24767  (13121718)          
        439774.00   3765325.00        4.23609  (15111218)                
439779.00   3765325.00        4.23928  (15111218)          
        439784.00   3765325.00        4.24094  (15111218)                
439789.00   3765325.00        4.24165  (15111218)          
        439794.00   3765325.00        4.24015  (15111218)                
439799.00   3765325.00        4.23895  (15111218)          
        439804.00   3765325.00        4.23533  (15111218)                
439809.00   3765325.00        4.23104  (15111218)          
        439814.00   3765325.00        4.23975  (13121618)                
439819.00   3765325.00        4.24790  (13121618)          
        439824.00   3765325.00        4.25349  (13121618)                
439829.00   3765325.00        4.25857  (13121618)          
        439839.00   3765325.00        4.27687  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765325.00        4.28588  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765325.00        4.29341  (13120808)                

514

Item D - 1096 of 1893



439854.00   3765325.00        4.30012  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765325.00        4.30486  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765325.00        4.30728  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765325.00        4.31079  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765325.00        4.31041  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765325.00        4.31151  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765325.00        4.30997  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765330.00        4.37197  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765330.00        4.38039  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765330.00        4.38604  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765330.00        4.39100  (13121718)          

515

Item D - 1097 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 166
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439694.00   3765330.00        4.39476  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765330.00        4.39971  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765330.00        4.40046  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765330.00        4.40107  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765330.00        4.39931  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765330.00        4.39900  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765330.00        4.39069  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765330.00        4.38416  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765330.00        4.37783  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765330.00        4.37024  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765330.00        4.36005  (13121718)                
439754.00   3765330.00        4.35080  (13121718)          
        439774.00   3765330.00        4.29822  (13121718)                
439779.00   3765330.00        4.28179  (13121718)          
        439784.00   3765330.00        4.28396  (15111218)                
439789.00   3765330.00        4.28577  (15111218)          
        439794.00   3765330.00        4.28616  (15111218)                

516

Item D - 1098 of 1893



439799.00   3765330.00        4.28454  (15111218)          
        439804.00   3765330.00        4.28291  (15111218)                
439809.00   3765330.00        4.27889  (15111218)          
        439814.00   3765330.00        4.27743  (13121618)                
439819.00   3765330.00        4.28542  (13121618)          
        439824.00   3765330.00        4.29262  (13121618)                
439829.00   3765330.00        4.29860  (13121618)          
        439839.00   3765330.00        4.31378  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765330.00        4.32316  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765330.00        4.33314  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765330.00        4.33895  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765330.00        4.34504  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765330.00        4.34890  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765330.00        4.35080  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765330.00        4.35338  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765330.00        4.35314  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765330.00        4.35376  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765335.00        4.41245  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765335.00        4.42082  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765335.00        4.42900  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765335.00        4.43722  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765335.00        4.44109  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765335.00        4.44538  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765335.00        4.44967  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765335.00        4.45191  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765335.00        4.45287  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765335.00        4.45061  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765335.00        4.44639  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765335.00        4.44350  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765335.00        4.43593  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765335.00        4.43019  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765335.00        4.42180  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765335.00        4.36372  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765335.00        4.34994  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765335.00        4.33365  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765335.00        4.33002  (15111218)                
439794.00   3765335.00        4.33154  (15111218)          
        439839.00   3765335.00        4.34994  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765335.00        4.36253  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765335.00        4.37115  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765335.00        4.38008  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765335.00        4.38507  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765335.00        4.39133  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765335.00        4.39350  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765335.00        4.39578  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765335.00        4.39710  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765335.00        4.39628  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765340.00        4.49676  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765340.00        4.47831  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765340.00        4.47132  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765340.00        4.47865  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765340.00        4.48858  (13121718)                

517

Item D - 1099 of 1893



439699.00   3765340.00        4.49308  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765340.00        4.49748  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765340.00        4.50141  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765340.00        4.50405  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765340.00        4.50627  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765340.00        4.50348  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765340.00        4.49905  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        4.49684  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765340.00        4.48948  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765340.00        4.48372  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765340.00        4.43115  (13121718)          

518

Item D - 1100 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 167
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439779.00   3765340.00        4.41652  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765340.00        4.40266  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765340.00        4.38670  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765340.00        4.37703  (15111218)          
        439839.00   3765340.00        4.39042  (13121618)                
439844.00   3765340.00        4.40037  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765340.00        4.41192  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765340.00        4.41960  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        4.42823  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765340.00        4.43218  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765340.00        4.43770  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765340.00        4.43881  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765340.00        4.44123  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765340.00        4.44059  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765345.00        4.57888  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765345.00        4.56386  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765345.00        4.54591  (12011417)                

519

Item D - 1101 of 1893



439689.00   3765345.00        4.52790  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765345.00        4.53033  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765345.00        4.53986  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765345.00        4.54668  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765345.00        4.55080  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765345.00        4.55462  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765345.00        4.55691  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765345.00        4.55795  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765345.00        4.55740  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765345.00        4.55327  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765345.00        4.55110  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765345.00        4.54417  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765345.00        4.49795  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765345.00        4.48554  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765345.00        4.47103  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765345.00        4.45613  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765345.00        4.44092  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765345.00        4.43409  (13121618)                
439844.00   3765345.00        4.43996  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765345.00        4.45131  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765345.00        4.46221  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765345.00        4.46905  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765345.00        4.47620  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765345.00        4.47970  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765345.00        4.48512  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765345.00        4.48475  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765345.00        4.48751  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765350.00        4.66167  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765350.00        4.64671  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765350.00        4.63217  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765350.00        4.61460  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765350.00        4.59709  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765350.00        4.58362  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765350.00        4.59228  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765350.00        4.60057  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765350.00        4.60565  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765350.00        4.60943  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765350.00        4.61469  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765350.00        4.61353  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765350.00        4.61315  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765350.00        4.60875  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765350.00        4.60703  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765350.00        4.56482  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765350.00        4.55378  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765350.00        4.54094  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765350.00        4.52703  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765350.00        4.51134  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765350.00        4.47714  (13121618)                
439844.00   3765350.00        4.48285  (13121618)          
        439849.00   3765350.00        4.49223  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765350.00        4.50344  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765350.00        4.51249  (13120808)                

520

Item D - 1102 of 1893



439864.00   3765350.00        4.51924  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765350.00        4.52572  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765350.00        4.52836  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765350.00        4.53258  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765350.00        4.53227  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765355.00        4.74435  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765355.00        4.73131  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765355.00        4.71616  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765355.00        4.70164  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765355.00        4.68465  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765355.00        4.66771  (12011417)          

521

Item D - 1103 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 168
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439704.00   3765355.00        4.64772  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765355.00        4.64661  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765355.00        4.65504  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765355.00        4.66174  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765355.00        4.66779  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765355.00        4.67054  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765355.00        4.67011  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765355.00        4.67038  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765355.00        4.66522  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765355.00        4.63379  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765355.00        4.62200  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765355.00        4.61041  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765355.00        4.59784  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765355.00        4.58365  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765355.00        4.52190  (13121618)                
439844.00   3765355.00        4.52740  (13121618)          
        439849.00   3765355.00        4.53398  (13120808)                

522

Item D - 1104 of 1893



439854.00   3765355.00        4.54559  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765355.00        4.55639  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765355.00        4.56438  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765355.00        4.57047  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765355.00        4.57496  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765355.00        4.57807  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765355.00        4.58032  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765360.00        4.82576  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765360.00        4.81431  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765360.00        4.80254  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765360.00        4.78762  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765360.00        4.77308  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765360.00        4.75572  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765360.00        4.73954  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765360.00        4.71990  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765360.00        4.70317  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765360.00        4.71088  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765360.00        4.72343  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765360.00        4.72595  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765360.00        4.72779  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765360.00        4.72789  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765360.00        4.72838  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765360.00        4.70075  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765360.00        4.69158  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765360.00        4.68090  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765360.00        4.66811  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765360.00        4.65584  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765360.00        4.64166  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765360.00        4.62628  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765360.00        4.60930  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765360.00        4.59241  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765360.00        4.56650  (13121618)                
439844.00   3765360.00        4.57345  (13121618)          
        439849.00   3765360.00        4.57964  (13121618)                
439854.00   3765360.00        4.58945  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765360.00        4.59965  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765360.00        4.60976  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765360.00        4.61615  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765360.00        4.62258  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765360.00        4.62560  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765360.00        4.62881  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765365.00        4.90670  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765365.00        4.89686  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765365.00        4.88603  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765365.00        4.87434  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765365.00        4.86074  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765365.00        4.84646  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765365.00        4.82923  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765365.00        4.81254  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765365.00        4.79372  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765365.00        4.77469  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765365.00        4.77631  (13121718)                

523

Item D - 1105 of 1893



439734.00   3765365.00        4.78195  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765365.00        4.78603  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765365.00        4.78681  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765365.00        4.78754  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765365.00        4.76930  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765365.00        4.76076  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765365.00        4.75122  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765365.00        4.74054  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765365.00        4.72800  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765365.00        4.71506  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765365.00        4.70075  (13121718)          

524

Item D - 1106 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 169
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765365.00        4.68558  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765365.00        4.66883  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765365.00        4.61652  (15111218)                
439844.00   3765365.00        4.62075  (13121618)          
        439849.00   3765365.00        4.62586  (13121618)                
439854.00   3765365.00        4.63204  (13121618)          
        439859.00   3765365.00        4.64585  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765365.00        4.65486  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765365.00        4.66468  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765365.00        4.66944  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765365.00        4.67552  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765365.00        4.67710  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765370.00        4.98691  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00        4.97953  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765370.00        4.97011  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765370.00        4.95927  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765370.00        4.94812  (12011417)                

525

Item D - 1107 of 1893



439699.00   3765370.00        4.93460  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765370.00        4.92175  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765370.00        4.90464  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765370.00        4.88761  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765370.00        4.86861  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765370.00        4.82862  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765370.00        4.83620  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765370.00        4.84129  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765370.00        4.84711  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765370.00        4.84784  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765370.00        4.83619  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765370.00        4.83061  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765370.00        4.82175  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765370.00        4.81210  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765370.00        4.80155  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765370.00        4.78935  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765370.00        4.77552  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765370.00        4.76132  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765370.00        4.74609  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765370.00        4.67537  (15111218)                
439844.00   3765370.00        4.66911  (15111218)          
        439849.00   3765370.00        4.67516  (13121618)                
439854.00   3765370.00        4.68020  (13121618)          
        439859.00   3765370.00        4.68980  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765370.00        4.70336  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765370.00        4.71011  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765370.00        4.72014  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765370.00        4.72325  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765370.00        4.72855  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765375.00        5.06589  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765375.00        5.06013  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765375.00        5.05351  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765375.00        5.04554  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765375.00        5.03482  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765375.00        5.02345  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765375.00        5.01043  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765375.00        4.99754  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765375.00        4.98148  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765375.00        4.96512  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765375.00        4.92723  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765375.00        4.90627  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765375.00        4.89818  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765375.00        4.90231  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765375.00        4.90931  (13121718)                
439754.00   3765375.00        4.91050  (13121718)          
        439774.00   3765375.00        4.90516  (13121718)                
439779.00   3765375.00        4.89931  (13121718)          
        439784.00   3765375.00        4.89313  (13121718)                
439789.00   3765375.00        4.88463  (13121718)          
        439794.00   3765375.00        4.87467  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765375.00        4.86375  (13121718)          
        439804.00   3765375.00        4.85198  (13121718)                

526

Item D - 1108 of 1893



439809.00   3765375.00        4.83828  (13121718)          
        439814.00   3765375.00        4.82338  (13121718)                
439839.00   3765375.00        4.73454  (13121718)          
        439844.00   3765375.00        4.72832  (15111218)                
439849.00   3765375.00        4.72343  (13121618)          
        439854.00   3765375.00        4.73084  (13121618)                
439859.00   3765375.00        4.73680  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765375.00        4.74857  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765375.00        4.76177  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765375.00        4.76760  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765375.00        4.77595  (13120808)          

527

Item D - 1109 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 170
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439884.00   3765375.00        4.77871  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765380.00        4.97278  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765380.00        4.96938  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765380.00        4.96396  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765380.00        4.95725  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765380.00        4.94868  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765380.00        4.93889  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765380.00        4.92754  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765380.00        4.91614  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765380.00        4.90186  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765385.00        5.04212  (13121718)                
439819.00   3765385.00        4.96693  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765400.00        5.27891  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765400.00        5.14042  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765400.00        5.12475  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765405.00        5.51188  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765405.00        5.53580  (12011417)                

528

Item D - 1110 of 1893



439719.00   3765405.00        5.53136  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765405.00        5.50662  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765405.00        5.46756  (12011417)          
        439754.00   3765405.00        5.45097  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765405.00        5.36931  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765405.00        5.34440  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765405.00        5.32228  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765405.00        5.32320  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765405.00        5.32453  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765405.00        5.32123  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765405.00        5.31863  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765405.00        5.31180  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765405.00        5.30572  (13121718)          
        439819.00   3765405.00        5.29540  (13121718)                
439824.00   3765405.00        5.28573  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765405.00        5.27295  (13121718)                
439834.00   3765405.00        5.26097  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765405.00        5.24505  (13121718)                
439844.00   3765405.00        5.22960  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765405.00        5.21202  (13121718)                
439854.00   3765405.00        5.19645  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765405.00        5.17528  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765410.00        5.57975  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765410.00        5.59097  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765410.00        5.60162  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765410.00        5.60897  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765410.00        5.61617  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765410.00        5.62040  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765410.00        5.62486  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765410.00        5.62605  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765410.00        5.62588  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765410.00        5.62317  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765410.00        5.61455  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765410.00        5.60721  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765410.00        5.59738  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765410.00        5.58556  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765410.00        5.57312  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765410.00        5.48415  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765410.00        5.46159  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765410.00        5.43734  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765410.00        5.41182  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765410.00        5.39887  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765410.00        5.40049  (13121718)          
        439804.00   3765410.00        5.39710  (13121718)                
439809.00   3765410.00        5.39407  (13121718)          
        439814.00   3765410.00        5.38716  (13121718)                
439819.00   3765410.00        5.38098  (13121718)          
        439824.00   3765410.00        5.37070  (13121718)                
439829.00   3765410.00        5.36057  (13121718)          
        439834.00   3765410.00        5.34783  (13121718)                
439839.00   3765410.00        5.33509  (13121718)          
        439844.00   3765410.00        5.31940  (13121718)                

529

Item D - 1111 of 1893



439849.00   3765410.00        5.30376  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765410.00        5.28555  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765410.00        5.26956  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765415.00        5.64534  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765415.00        5.65959  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765415.00        5.67187  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765415.00        5.68404  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765415.00        5.69318  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765415.00        5.70115  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765415.00        5.70654  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765415.00        5.71143  (12011417)          

530

Item D - 1112 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 171
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439714.00   3765415.00        5.71389  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765415.00        5.71505  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765415.00        5.71038  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765415.00        5.70524  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765415.00        5.69860  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765415.00        5.69039  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765415.00        5.67986  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765415.00        5.59919  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765415.00        5.57827  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765415.00        5.55650  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765415.00        5.53247  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765415.00        5.50674  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765415.00        5.47984  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765415.00        5.47803  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765415.00        5.47477  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765415.00        5.47178  (13121718)          
        439819.00   3765415.00        5.46530  (13121718)                

531

Item D - 1113 of 1893



439824.00   3765415.00        5.45754  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765415.00        5.44853  (13121718)                
439834.00   3765415.00        5.43780  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765415.00        5.42450  (13121718)                
439844.00   3765415.00        5.41126  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765415.00        5.39576  (13121718)                
439854.00   3765415.00        5.38019  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765415.00        5.36136  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765420.00        5.70825  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765420.00        5.72605  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765420.00        5.74101  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765420.00        5.75515  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765420.00        5.76730  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765420.00        5.77908  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765420.00        5.78794  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765420.00        5.79525  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765420.00        5.80077  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765420.00        5.80393  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765420.00        5.80631  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765420.00        5.80415  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765420.00        5.79899  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765420.00        5.79233  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765420.00        5.78555  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765420.00        5.71632  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765420.00        5.69707  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765420.00        5.67538  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765420.00        5.65355  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765420.00        5.63026  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765420.00        5.60450  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765420.00        5.57737  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765420.00        5.55807  (13121718)          
        439814.00   3765420.00        5.55497  (13121718)                
439819.00   3765420.00        5.55194  (13121718)          
        439824.00   3765420.00        5.54540  (13121718)                
439829.00   3765420.00        5.53747  (13121718)          
        439834.00   3765420.00        5.52796  (13121718)                
439839.00   3765420.00        5.51670  (13121718)          
        439844.00   3765420.00        5.50406  (13121718)                
439849.00   3765420.00        5.48939  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765420.00        5.47398  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765420.00        5.45867  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765425.00        5.76923  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765425.00        5.78832  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765425.00        5.80799  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765425.00        5.82518  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765425.00        5.84050  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765425.00        5.85384  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765425.00        5.86605  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765425.00        5.87704  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765425.00        5.88589  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765425.00        5.89266  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765425.00        5.89972  (12011417)                

532

Item D - 1114 of 1893



439734.00   3765425.00        5.90029  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765425.00        5.90010  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765425.00        5.89587  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765425.00        5.89018  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765425.00        5.83252  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765425.00        5.81583  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765425.00        5.79670  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765425.00        5.77633  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765425.00        5.75305  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765425.00        5.72996  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765425.00        5.70466  (12011417)          

533

Item D - 1115 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 172
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765425.00        5.67801  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765425.00        5.64927  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765425.00        5.63779  (13121718)                
439824.00   3765425.00        5.63373  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765425.00        5.62789  (13121718)                
439834.00   3765425.00        5.61966  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765425.00        5.60988  (13121718)                
439844.00   3765425.00        5.59843  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765425.00        5.58539  (13121718)                
439854.00   3765425.00        5.57030  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765425.00        5.55429  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765430.00        5.82689  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765430.00        5.85031  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765430.00        5.87056  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765430.00        5.89136  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765430.00        5.91011  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765430.00        5.92800  (12011417)                

534

Item D - 1116 of 1893



439704.00   3765430.00        5.94270  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        5.95652  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765430.00        5.96790  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765430.00        5.97860  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765430.00        5.99284  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765430.00        5.99631  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        5.99728  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765430.00        5.99768  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765430.00        5.99563  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765430.00        5.95108  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765430.00        5.93540  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765430.00        5.91801  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765430.00        5.89958  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765430.00        5.87959  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765430.00        5.85677  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765430.00        5.83244  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765430.00        5.80773  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765430.00        5.78087  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765430.00        5.75285  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765430.00        5.72353  (13121718)                
439829.00   3765430.00        5.71872  (13121718)          
        439834.00   3765430.00        5.71277  (13121718)                
439839.00   3765430.00        5.70393  (13121718)          
        439844.00   3765430.00        5.69409  (13121718)                
439849.00   3765430.00        5.68189  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765430.00        5.66891  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765430.00        5.65392  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765435.00        5.88193  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765435.00        5.90738  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765435.00        5.93280  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765435.00        5.95600  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765435.00        5.97762  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765435.00        5.99752  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765435.00        6.01669  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765435.00        6.03417  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765435.00        6.04928  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765435.00        6.06209  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765435.00        6.08311  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765435.00        6.09082  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765435.00        6.09584  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765435.00        6.09787  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765435.00        6.09895  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765435.00        6.06816  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765435.00        6.05600  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765435.00        6.04163  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765435.00        6.02379  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765435.00        6.00507  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765435.00        5.98516  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765435.00        5.96305  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765435.00        5.93834  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765435.00        5.91304  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765435.00        5.88653  (12011417)                

535

Item D - 1117 of 1893



439824.00   3765435.00        5.85894  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765435.00        5.82893  (12011417)                
439834.00   3765435.00        5.80691  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765435.00        5.79993  (13121718)                
439844.00   3765435.00        5.79121  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765435.00        5.78096  (13121718)                
439854.00   3765435.00        5.76791  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765435.00        5.75447  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765440.00        5.93455  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765440.00        5.96319  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765440.00        5.98984  (12011417)          

536

Item D - 1118 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 173
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439689.00   3765440.00        6.01639  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765440.00        6.04240  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765440.00        6.06591  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765440.00        6.08795  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765440.00        6.10771  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765440.00        6.12741  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765440.00        6.14397  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765440.00        6.17181  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765440.00        6.18255  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765440.00        6.19094  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765440.00        6.19777  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765440.00        6.20203  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765440.00        6.18665  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765440.00        6.17613  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765440.00        6.16382  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765440.00        6.15018  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765440.00        6.13342  (12011417)                

537

Item D - 1119 of 1893



439799.00   3765440.00        6.11412  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765440.00        6.09394  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765440.00        6.07235  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765440.00        6.04822  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765440.00        6.02225  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765440.00        5.99506  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765440.00        5.96771  (12011417)          
        439834.00   3765440.00        5.93846  (12011417)                
439839.00   3765440.00        5.90717  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765440.00        5.89046  (13121718)                
439849.00   3765440.00        5.88102  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765440.00        5.87085  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765440.00        5.85697  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765445.00        5.98289  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765445.00        6.01541  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765445.00        6.04569  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765445.00        6.07544  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765445.00        6.10216  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765445.00        6.13026  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765445.00        6.15624  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765445.00        6.18089  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765445.00        6.20193  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765445.00        6.22269  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765445.00        6.25831  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765445.00        6.27352  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765445.00        6.28479  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765445.00        6.29520  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765445.00        6.30226  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765445.00        6.30431  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765445.00        6.29724  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765445.00        6.28820  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765445.00        6.27505  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765445.00        6.26212  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765445.00        6.24551  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765445.00        6.22745  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765445.00        6.20598  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765445.00        6.18473  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765445.00        6.16068  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765445.00        6.13569  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765445.00        6.10710  (12011417)                
439834.00   3765445.00        6.07916  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765445.00        6.05053  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765445.00        6.01950  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765445.00        5.98718  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765445.00        5.97249  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765445.00        5.96290  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765450.00        6.02985  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765450.00        6.06333  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765450.00        6.09684  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765450.00        6.12991  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765450.00        6.16185  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765450.00        6.19147  (12011417)                

538

Item D - 1120 of 1893



439704.00   3765450.00        6.22056  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765450.00        6.24778  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765450.00        6.27552  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765450.00        6.29886  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765450.00        6.34148  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765450.00        6.36066  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765450.00        6.37694  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765450.00        6.39110  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765450.00        6.40238  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765450.00        6.42159  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765450.00        6.16562  (12011417)          

539

Item D - 1121 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 174
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439849.00   3765450.00        6.13443  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765450.00        6.10321  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765450.00        6.06899  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765455.00        6.07155  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765455.00        6.10951  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765455.00        6.14564  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765455.00        6.18133  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765455.00        6.21529  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765455.00        6.24991  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765455.00        6.28283  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765455.00        6.31394  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765455.00        6.34332  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765455.00        6.37158  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765455.00        6.42289  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765455.00        6.44573  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765455.00        6.46503  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765455.00        6.48428  (12011417)                

540

Item D - 1122 of 1893



439749.00   3765455.00        6.49911  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765455.00        6.31450  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765455.00        6.28403  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765455.00        6.25275  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765455.00        6.22182  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765460.00        6.11230  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765460.00        6.15062  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765460.00        6.19059  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765460.00        6.22896  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765460.00        6.26800  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765460.00        6.30396  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765460.00        6.33972  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        6.37573  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765460.00        6.40968  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765460.00        6.44186  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765460.00        6.50021  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765460.00        6.52701  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        6.55221  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765460.00        6.57399  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765460.00        6.59433  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765460.00        6.65676  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765460.00        6.65209  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765460.00        6.64348  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765460.00        6.63370  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765460.00        6.62028  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765460.00        6.60497  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765460.00        6.58581  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765460.00        6.56700  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        6.54414  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765460.00        6.46677  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765460.00        6.43723  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765460.00        6.40850  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765460.00        6.37422  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765465.00        6.14745  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765465.00        6.19088  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765465.00        6.23202  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765465.00        6.27394  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765465.00        6.31448  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765465.00        6.35606  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765465.00        6.39560  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765465.00        6.43301  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765465.00        6.47033  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765465.00        6.50685  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765465.00        6.57450  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765465.00        6.60550  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765465.00        6.63332  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765465.00        6.66236  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765465.00        6.68532  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765465.00        6.78330  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765465.00        6.78211  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765465.00        6.77822  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765465.00        6.77034  (12011417)                

541

Item D - 1123 of 1893



439809.00   3765465.00        6.76046  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765465.00        6.74782  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765465.00        6.73289  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765465.00        6.71469  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765465.00        6.69350  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765465.00        6.62156  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765465.00        6.59270  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765465.00        6.56412  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765465.00        6.53488  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765470.00        6.18344  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765470.00        6.22594  (12011417)          

542

Item D - 1124 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 175
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765470.00        6.27100  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765470.00        6.31497  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765470.00        6.35972  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765470.00        6.40214  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765470.00        6.44515  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765470.00        6.48792  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765470.00        6.52880  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765470.00        6.56849  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765470.00        6.64430  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765470.00        6.68049  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765470.00        6.71372  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765470.00        6.74517  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765470.00        6.77412  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765470.00        6.90898  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765470.00        6.91302  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765470.00        6.91166  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765470.00        6.90910  (12011417)                

543

Item D - 1125 of 1893



439809.00   3765470.00        6.90219  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765470.00        6.89236  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765470.00        6.87999  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765470.00        6.86497  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765470.00        6.84786  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765470.00        6.77988  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765470.00        6.75415  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765470.00        6.72548  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765470.00        6.69459  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765475.00        6.21367  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765475.00        6.25976  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765475.00        6.30738  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765475.00        6.35218  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765475.00        6.40003  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765475.00        6.44595  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765475.00        6.49305  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765475.00        6.53664  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765475.00        6.58222  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765475.00        6.62606  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765475.00        6.71051  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765475.00        6.74929  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765475.00        6.78948  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765475.00        6.82461  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765475.00        6.86026  (12011417)                
439754.00   3765475.00        6.89081  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765475.00        7.03478  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765475.00        7.04195  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765475.00        7.04709  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765475.00        7.04751  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765475.00        7.04451  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765475.00        7.03934  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765475.00        7.02957  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765475.00        7.01748  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765475.00        7.00120  (12011417)                
439269.00   3764900.00        2.26883  (12010217)          
        439369.00   3764900.00        2.32826  (12010217)                
439469.00   3764900.00        2.33864  (13121618)          
        439569.00   3764900.00        2.40492  (13120808)                
439669.00   3764900.00        2.39228  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3764900.00        2.49239  (12010217)                
439869.00   3764900.00        2.56135  (12010217)          
        439969.00   3764900.00        2.49107  (12010217)                
440069.00   3764900.00        2.26374  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3764900.00        2.29152  (12121717)                
440269.00   3764900.00        2.33441  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765000.00        2.52866  (13121718)                
439369.00   3765000.00        2.55194  (12010217)          
        439469.00   3765000.00        2.55029  (15111218)                
439569.00   3765000.00        2.61294  (13121618)          
        439669.00   3765000.00        2.69018  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765000.00        2.68031  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765000.00        2.81692  (12010217)                

544

Item D - 1126 of 1893



439969.00   3765000.00        2.80057  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765000.00        2.62153  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765000.00        2.51545  (12121717)          
        440269.00   3765000.00        2.60696  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765100.00        2.83308  (13121718)          
        439369.00   3765100.00        2.88636  (13121718)                
439469.00   3765100.00        2.84538  (13121718)          
        439569.00   3765100.00        2.90121  (15111218)                
439669.00   3765100.00        2.96718  (13121618)          
        439769.00   3765100.00        3.03215  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765100.00        3.11662  (12010217)          

545

Item D - 1127 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 176
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439969.00   3765100.00        3.16265  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765100.00        3.03647  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765100.00        2.83242  (15010717)                
440269.00   3765100.00        2.95842  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765200.00        3.43205  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765200.00        3.42292  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765200.00        3.33629  (13121718)                
439569.00   3765200.00        3.37807  (13121718)          
        439669.00   3765200.00        3.37210  (15111218)                
439769.00   3765200.00        3.45650  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765200.00        3.48320  (12010217)                
439969.00   3765200.00        3.61328  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765200.00        3.53502  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765200.00        3.27704  (12010217)          
        440269.00   3765200.00        3.42852  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765300.00        3.91214  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765300.00        4.01072  (12011417)                

546

Item D - 1128 of 1893



439469.00   3765300.00        4.16100  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765300.00        4.17043  (12011417)                
439669.00   3765300.00        4.11482  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765300.00        4.03333  (15111218)                
439869.00   3765300.00        4.11281  (13120808)          
        439969.00   3765300.00        4.22900  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765300.00        4.18335  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765300.00        4.00050  (12010217)                
440269.00   3765300.00        4.05902  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765400.00        4.70222  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765400.00        4.59715  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765400.00        4.70698  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765400.00        5.08080  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765400.00        5.43417  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        5.27891  (12011417)          
        439869.00   3765400.00        5.04605  (13121718)                
439969.00   3765400.00        5.18170  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765400.00        5.13807  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765400.00        5.00741  (12010217)          
        440269.00   3765400.00        4.93714  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765500.00        6.38059  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765500.00        6.12426  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765500.00        5.80236  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3765500.00        5.92510  (12111318)                
439669.00   3765500.00        6.31511  (12111318)          
        439769.00   3765500.00        7.44022  (12011417)                
439869.00   3765500.00        7.70848  (12011417)          
        439969.00   3765500.00        6.97693  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765500.00        6.86275  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765500.00        6.69653  (12010217)                
440269.00   3765500.00        6.65742  (15113017)          
        439269.00   3765600.00        9.25759  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765600.00        9.82959  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765600.00        9.53965  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765600.00        8.82329  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765600.00        8.71555  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765600.00        9.47435  (12111318)          
        439869.00   3765600.00       12.63496  (12111318)                
439969.00   3765600.00       14.10435  (12011417)          
        440069.00   3765600.00       12.64241  (12011417)                
440169.00   3765600.00       11.41122  (15112218)          
        440269.00   3765600.00       11.69157  (15112218)                
439269.00   3765700.00       33.25245  (14120118)          
        439369.00   3765700.00       35.95023  (16121918)                
439469.00   3765700.00       41.11105  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765700.00       39.29646  (12011417)                
439669.00   3765700.00       37.94666  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765700.00       37.72060  (15112218)                
439869.00   3765700.00       37.94103  (14012117)          
        439969.00   3765700.00       38.40239  (14120118)                
440069.00   3765700.00       39.34749  (14120118)          
        440169.00   3765700.00       40.99246  (14120118)                

547

Item D - 1129 of 1893



440269.00   3765700.00       44.95572  (14120118)          
        439269.00   3765800.00       13.93840  (12111317)                
439369.00   3765800.00       15.43680  (12111317)          
        439469.00   3765800.00       15.51166  (12111317)                
439569.00   3765800.00       15.97378  (12111317)          
        439669.00   3765800.00       17.00163  (15120818)                
439769.00   3765800.00       19.58230  (15120818)          
        439869.00   3765800.00       26.80093  (13111217)                
439969.00   3765800.00       16.09687  (14121418)          
        440069.00   3765800.00       12.99105  (14121418)                
440169.00   3765800.00       12.55724  (15112217)          

548

Item D - 1130 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 177
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EVAP     ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , A0000089    , A0000090    , 
A0000091    , A0000092    , A0000093    , 
A0000094    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        440269.00   3765800.00       13.45956  (13111217)                
439269.00   3765900.00        7.94782  (15120818)          
        439369.00   3765900.00        8.14089  (15120818)                
439469.00   3765900.00        8.27114  (15120818)          
        439569.00   3765900.00        8.32374  (15120818)                
439669.00   3765900.00        8.38585  (15112217)          
        439769.00   3765900.00        7.86510  (13111218)                
439869.00   3765900.00        8.50095  (13111217)          
        439969.00   3765900.00        8.60629  (13111217)                
440069.00   3765900.00        8.29356  (12011717)          
        440169.00   3765900.00        7.52624  (12011717)                
440269.00   3765900.00        7.02371  (12011717)          
        439649.00   3765310.00        4.18052  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765310.00        4.20586  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765310.00        4.19288  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765310.00        4.14087  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        4.11152  (15111218)                

549

Item D - 1131 of 1893



439799.00   3765310.00        4.10787  (13121618)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        4.15061  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765310.00        4.18703  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765310.00        4.18375  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765340.00        4.56653  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765340.00        4.47831  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765340.00        4.50141  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        4.49684  (13121718)                
439769.00   3765340.00        4.44349  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765340.00        4.37801  (15111218)                
439829.00   3765340.00        4.37974  (13121618)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        4.42823  (13120808)                
439889.00   3765340.00        4.44093  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765370.00        5.00516  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00        4.97953  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765370.00        4.90464  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765370.00        4.84129  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765370.00        4.84257  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765370.00        4.78935  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765370.00        4.69322  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765370.00        4.68980  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765370.00        4.72982  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765400.00        5.39114  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765400.00        5.44715  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765400.00        5.45072  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765400.00        5.39379  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        5.27891  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765400.00        5.24472  (13121718)                
439829.00   3765400.00        5.18857  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765400.00        5.08655  (13121718)                
439889.00   3765400.00        5.06190  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765430.00        5.69806  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765430.00        5.85031  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        5.95652  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        5.99728  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765430.00        5.96373  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765430.00        5.85677  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765430.00        5.71872  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765430.00        5.65392  (13121718)          
        439889.00   3765430.00        5.54429  (13121718)                
439649.00   3765460.00        5.91281  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765460.00        6.15062  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        6.37573  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        6.55221  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765460.00        6.64799  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765460.00        6.64348  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        6.54414  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765460.00        6.37422  (12011417)                
439889.00   3765460.00        6.20978  (13121718)          
        439649.00   3765490.00        6.06152  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765490.00        6.34426  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765490.00        6.66442  (12011417)                

550

Item D - 1132 of 1893



439739.00   3765490.00        6.98809  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765490.00        7.26624  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765490.00        7.44319  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765490.00        7.48076  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765490.00        7.38232  (12011417)          
        439889.00   3765490.00        7.20575  (12011417)                                                                           

551

Item D - 1133 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 178
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439674.00   3765310.00        3.46749  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765310.00        3.46458  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765310.00        3.45958  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765310.00        3.45775  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765310.00        3.45340  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765310.00        3.44869  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765310.00        3.44389  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765310.00        3.43971  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765310.00        3.43637  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765310.00        3.43602  (12010217)          
        439729.00   3765310.00        3.43629  (12010217)                
439734.00   3765310.00        3.43584  (12010217)          
        439739.00   3765310.00        3.43657  (12010217)                
439744.00   3765310.00        3.43589  (12010217)          
        439749.00   3765310.00        3.43669  (12010217)                
439764.00   3765310.00        3.43602  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        3.43692  (12010217)                
439774.00   3765310.00        3.43643  (12010217)          
        439779.00   3765310.00        3.43712  (12010217)                

552

Item D - 1134 of 1893



439784.00   3765310.00        3.43633  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765310.00        3.43722  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765310.00        3.43677  (12010217)          
        439799.00   3765310.00        3.43708  (12010217)                
439804.00   3765310.00        3.43673  (12010217)          
        439809.00   3765310.00        3.43731  (12010217)                
439814.00   3765310.00        3.43663  (12010217)          
        439819.00   3765310.00        3.43714  (12010217)                
439824.00   3765310.00        3.43673  (12010217)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        3.43700  (12010217)                
439839.00   3765310.00        3.43697  (12010217)          
        439844.00   3765310.00        3.43694  (12010217)                
439849.00   3765310.00        3.43686  (12010217)          
        439854.00   3765310.00        3.43732  (12010217)                
439859.00   3765310.00        3.43676  (12010217)          
        439864.00   3765310.00        3.43713  (12010217)                
439869.00   3765310.00        3.43664  (12010217)          
        439874.00   3765310.00        3.43744  (12010217)                
439879.00   3765310.00        3.43647  (12010217)          
        439884.00   3765310.00        3.43762  (12010217)                
439674.00   3765315.00        3.50435  (13121718)          
        439679.00   3765315.00        3.50016  (13121718)                
439684.00   3765315.00        3.49690  (13121718)          
        439689.00   3765315.00        3.49139  (13121718)                
439694.00   3765315.00        3.48954  (13121718)          
        439699.00   3765315.00        3.48560  (13121718)                
439704.00   3765315.00        3.48162  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765315.00        3.47608  (13121718)                
439714.00   3765315.00        3.47224  (13121718)          
        439719.00   3765315.00        3.46818  (13121718)                
439729.00   3765315.00        3.46481  (12010217)          
        439734.00   3765315.00        3.46520  (12010217)                
439739.00   3765315.00        3.46490  (12010217)          
        439744.00   3765315.00        3.46529  (12010217)                
439749.00   3765315.00        3.46474  (12010217)          
        439764.00   3765315.00        3.46515  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765315.00        3.46514  (12010217)          
        439774.00   3765315.00        3.46519  (12010217)                
439779.00   3765315.00        3.46545  (12010217)          
        439784.00   3765315.00        3.46479  (12010217)                
439789.00   3765315.00        3.46551  (12010217)          
        439794.00   3765315.00        3.46514  (12010217)                
439799.00   3765315.00        3.46564  (12010217)          
        439804.00   3765315.00        3.46511  (12010217)                
439809.00   3765315.00        3.46592  (12010217)          
        439814.00   3765315.00        3.46514  (12010217)                
439819.00   3765315.00        3.46604  (12010217)          
        439824.00   3765315.00        3.46537  (12010217)                
439829.00   3765315.00        3.46581  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765315.00        3.46588  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765315.00        3.46553  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765315.00        3.46574  (12010217)                

553

Item D - 1135 of 1893



439854.00   3765315.00        3.46586  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765315.00        3.46581  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765315.00        3.46568  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765315.00        3.46576  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765315.00        3.46597  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765315.00        3.46543  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765315.00        3.46565  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765320.00        3.53780  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765320.00        3.53604  (13121718)          

554

Item D - 1136 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 179
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765320.00        3.53257  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765320.00        3.53026  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765320.00        3.52435  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765320.00        3.52216  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765320.00        3.51812  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765320.00        3.51525  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765320.00        3.50938  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765320.00        3.50548  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765320.00        3.49693  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765320.00        3.49436  (12010217)          
        439739.00   3765320.00        3.49378  (12010217)                
439744.00   3765320.00        3.49457  (12010217)          
        439749.00   3765320.00        3.49382  (12010217)                
439764.00   3765320.00        3.49463  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765320.00        3.49414  (12010217)                
439774.00   3765320.00        3.49492  (12010217)          
        439779.00   3765320.00        3.49452  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765320.00        3.49499  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765320.00        3.49447  (12010217)                

555

Item D - 1137 of 1893



439794.00   3765320.00        3.49512  (12010217)          
        439799.00   3765320.00        3.49445  (12010217)                
439804.00   3765320.00        3.49502  (12010217)          
        439809.00   3765320.00        3.49453  (12010217)                
439814.00   3765320.00        3.49491  (12010217)          
        439819.00   3765320.00        3.49475  (12010217)                
439824.00   3765320.00        3.49482  (12010217)          
        439829.00   3765320.00        3.49462  (12010217)                
439839.00   3765320.00        3.49510  (12010217)          
        439844.00   3765320.00        3.49458  (12010217)                
439849.00   3765320.00        3.49512  (12010217)          
        439854.00   3765320.00        3.49456  (12010217)                
439859.00   3765320.00        3.49532  (12010217)          
        439864.00   3765320.00        3.49448  (12010217)                
439869.00   3765320.00        3.49538  (12010217)          
        439874.00   3765320.00        3.49479  (12010217)                
439879.00   3765320.00        3.49528  (12010217)          
        439884.00   3765320.00        3.49476  (12010217)                
439674.00   3765325.00        3.57611  (13121718)          
        439679.00   3765325.00        3.57135  (13121718)                
439684.00   3765325.00        3.56884  (13121718)          
        439689.00   3765325.00        3.56501  (13121718)                
439694.00   3765325.00        3.56375  (13121718)          
        439699.00   3765325.00        3.55844  (13121718)                
439704.00   3765325.00        3.55501  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765325.00        3.55109  (13121718)                
439714.00   3765325.00        3.54852  (13121718)          
        439719.00   3765325.00        3.54358  (13121718)                
439729.00   3765325.00        3.53489  (13121718)          
        439734.00   3765325.00        3.53002  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765325.00        3.52704  (13121718)          
        439744.00   3765325.00        3.52393  (12010217)                
439749.00   3765325.00        3.52444  (12010217)          
        439754.00   3765325.00        3.52406  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765325.00        3.52412  (12010217)          
        439774.00   3765325.00        3.52445  (12010217)                
439779.00   3765325.00        3.52405  (12010217)          
        439784.00   3765325.00        3.52471  (12010217)                
439789.00   3765325.00        3.52420  (12010217)          
        439794.00   3765325.00        3.52471  (12010217)                
439799.00   3765325.00        3.52449  (12010217)          
        439804.00   3765325.00        3.52493  (12010217)                
439809.00   3765325.00        3.52439  (12010217)          
        439814.00   3765325.00        3.52490  (12010217)                
439819.00   3765325.00        3.52483  (12010217)          
        439824.00   3765325.00        3.52472  (12010217)                
439829.00   3765325.00        3.52466  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765325.00        3.52505  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765325.00        3.52464  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765325.00        3.52516  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765325.00        3.52493  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765325.00        3.52512  (12010217)                

556

Item D - 1138 of 1893



439864.00   3765325.00        3.52481  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765325.00        3.52485  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765325.00        3.52471  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765325.00        3.52492  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765325.00        3.52467  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765330.00        3.61112  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765330.00        3.60972  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765330.00        3.60588  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765330.00        3.60204  (13121718)          

557

Item D - 1139 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 180
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439694.00   3765330.00        3.59857  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765330.00        3.59696  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765330.00        3.59337  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765330.00        3.58897  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765330.00        3.58504  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765330.00        3.58184  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765330.00        3.57364  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765330.00        3.56915  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765330.00        3.56443  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765330.00        3.56118  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765330.00        3.55540  (13121718)                
439754.00   3765330.00        3.55452  (12010217)          
        439774.00   3765330.00        3.55470  (12010217)                
439779.00   3765330.00        3.55502  (12010217)          
        439784.00   3765330.00        3.55499  (12010217)                
439789.00   3765330.00        3.55526  (12010217)          
        439794.00   3765330.00        3.55461  (12010217)                
439799.00   3765330.00        3.55558  (12010217)          
        439804.00   3765330.00        3.55505  (12010217)                

558

Item D - 1140 of 1893



439809.00   3765330.00        3.55514  (12010217)          
        439814.00   3765330.00        3.55517  (12010217)                
439819.00   3765330.00        3.55551  (12010217)          
        439824.00   3765330.00        3.55519  (12010217)                
439829.00   3765330.00        3.55490  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765330.00        3.55502  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765330.00        3.55543  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765330.00        3.55506  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765330.00        3.55571  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765330.00        3.55477  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765330.00        3.55597  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765330.00        3.55506  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765330.00        3.55568  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765330.00        3.55524  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765330.00        3.55561  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765335.00        3.64863  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765335.00        3.64535  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765335.00        3.64268  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765335.00        3.64161  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765335.00        3.63612  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765335.00        3.63333  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765335.00        3.63018  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765335.00        3.62851  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765335.00        3.62395  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765335.00        3.61949  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765335.00        3.61274  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765335.00        3.60960  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765335.00        3.60388  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765335.00        3.60015  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765335.00        3.59530  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765335.00        3.58583  (12010217)          
        439779.00   3765335.00        3.58617  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765335.00        3.58620  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765335.00        3.58632  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765335.00        3.58599  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765335.00        3.58640  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765335.00        3.58682  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765335.00        3.58663  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765335.00        3.58671  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765335.00        3.58651  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765335.00        3.58693  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765335.00        3.58660  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765335.00        3.58664  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765335.00        3.58659  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765335.00        3.58687  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765340.00        3.70633  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765340.00        3.69462  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765340.00        3.68393  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765340.00        3.67629  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765340.00        3.67692  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765340.00        3.67169  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765340.00        3.66878  (13121718)                

559

Item D - 1141 of 1893



439709.00   3765340.00        3.66523  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765340.00        3.66316  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765340.00        3.66059  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765340.00        3.65202  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765340.00        3.64745  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        3.64574  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765340.00        3.63965  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765340.00        3.63630  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765340.00        3.61780  (12010217)          

560

Item D - 1142 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                              
PAGE 181
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439779.00   3765340.00        3.61795  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765340.00        3.61822  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765340.00        3.61798  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765340.00        3.61808  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765340.00        3.61861  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765340.00        3.61821  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765340.00        3.61898  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765340.00        3.61811  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        3.61889  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765340.00        3.61840  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765340.00        3.61873  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765340.00        3.61824  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765340.00        3.61880  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765340.00        3.61843  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765345.00        3.76232  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765345.00        3.75266  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765345.00        3.74124  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765345.00        3.73053  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765345.00        3.71845  (12011417)                

561

Item D - 1143 of 1893



439699.00   3765345.00        3.71125  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765345.00        3.70875  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765345.00        3.70453  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765345.00        3.70128  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765345.00        3.69786  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765345.00        3.69150  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765345.00        3.68833  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765345.00        3.68343  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765345.00        3.68183  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765345.00        3.67651  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765345.00        3.65465  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765345.00        3.65070  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765345.00        3.65060  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765345.00        3.65058  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765345.00        3.65052  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765345.00        3.65071  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765345.00        3.65131  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765345.00        3.65101  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765345.00        3.65089  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765345.00        3.65114  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765345.00        3.65134  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765345.00        3.65097  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765345.00        3.65125  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765345.00        3.65140  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765345.00        3.65097  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765350.00        3.81948  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765350.00        3.80907  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765350.00        3.79950  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765350.00        3.78852  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765350.00        3.77826  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765350.00        3.76640  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765350.00        3.75538  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765350.00        3.74522  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765350.00        3.74171  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765350.00        3.73828  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765350.00        3.73278  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765350.00        3.72866  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765350.00        3.72574  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765350.00        3.72010  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765350.00        3.71891  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765350.00        3.69593  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765350.00        3.69286  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765350.00        3.68674  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765350.00        3.68398  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765350.00        3.68428  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765350.00        3.68413  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765350.00        3.68489  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765350.00        3.68434  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765350.00        3.68461  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765350.00        3.68452  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765350.00        3.68474  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765350.00        3.68434  (12010217)                

562

Item D - 1144 of 1893



439874.00   3765350.00        3.68485  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765350.00        3.68468  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765350.00        3.68465  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765355.00        3.87713  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765355.00        3.86760  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765355.00        3.85682  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765355.00        3.84729  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765355.00        3.83664  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765355.00        3.82688  (12011417)          

563

Item D - 1145 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 182
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439704.00   3765355.00        3.81490  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765355.00        3.80391  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765355.00        3.79186  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765355.00        3.78075  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765355.00        3.77150  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765355.00        3.76971  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765355.00        3.76574  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765355.00        3.76455  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765355.00        3.75743  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765355.00        3.73969  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765355.00        3.73434  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765355.00        3.73056  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765355.00        3.72624  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765355.00        3.72044  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765355.00        3.71889  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765355.00        3.71854  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765355.00        3.71868  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765355.00        3.71851  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765355.00        3.71888  (12010217)                

564

Item D - 1146 of 1893



439864.00   3765355.00        3.71841  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765355.00        3.71872  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765355.00        3.71869  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765355.00        3.71863  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765355.00        3.71863  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765360.00        3.93439  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765360.00        3.92489  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765360.00        3.91642  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765360.00        3.90569  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765360.00        3.89602  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765360.00        3.88508  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765360.00        3.87564  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765360.00        3.86419  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765360.00        3.85355  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765360.00        3.84164  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765360.00        3.81800  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765360.00        3.81005  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765360.00        3.80783  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765360.00        3.80320  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765360.00        3.80268  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765360.00        3.78316  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765360.00        3.77811  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765360.00        3.77443  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765360.00        3.76855  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765360.00        3.76581  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765360.00        3.75991  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765360.00        3.75492  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765360.00        3.75359  (12010217)                
439814.00   3765360.00        3.75288  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765360.00        3.75355  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765360.00        3.75333  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765360.00        3.75340  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765360.00        3.75374  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765360.00        3.75351  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765360.00        3.75364  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765360.00        3.75372  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765360.00        3.75380  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765360.00        3.75347  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765360.00        3.75375  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765365.00        3.99249  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765365.00        3.98312  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765365.00        3.97393  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765365.00        3.96501  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765365.00        3.95544  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765365.00        3.94614  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765365.00        3.93502  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765365.00        3.92514  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765365.00        3.91435  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765365.00        3.90436  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765365.00        3.88087  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765365.00        3.86858  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765365.00        3.85716  (12011417)                

565

Item D - 1147 of 1893



439744.00   3765365.00        3.84648  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765365.00        3.84290  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765365.00        3.82600  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765365.00        3.82308  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765365.00        3.81807  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765365.00        3.81452  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765365.00        3.80865  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765365.00        3.80536  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765365.00        3.80046  (13121718)          

566

Item D - 1148 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 183
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765365.00        3.79540  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765365.00        3.78954  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765365.00        3.78951  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765365.00        3.78911  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765365.00        3.78953  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765365.00        3.78946  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765365.00        3.78925  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765365.00        3.78937  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765365.00        3.78975  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765365.00        3.78940  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765365.00        3.78928  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765365.00        3.78972  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765370.00        4.05045  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00        4.04228  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765370.00        4.03326  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765370.00        4.02383  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765370.00        4.01522  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765370.00        4.00543  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765370.00        3.99736  (12011417)                

567

Item D - 1149 of 1893



439709.00   3765370.00        3.98616  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765370.00        3.97582  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765370.00        3.96506  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765370.00        3.94364  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765370.00        3.93241  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765370.00        3.92025  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765370.00        3.90882  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765370.00        3.89740  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765370.00        3.87018  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765370.00        3.86659  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765370.00        3.86319  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765370.00        3.85890  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765370.00        3.85532  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765370.00        3.84980  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765370.00        3.84571  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765370.00        3.84128  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765370.00        3.83694  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765370.00        3.82568  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765370.00        3.82587  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765370.00        3.82616  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765370.00        3.82589  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765370.00        3.82593  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765370.00        3.82599  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765370.00        3.82632  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765370.00        3.82596  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765370.00        3.82622  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765370.00        3.82609  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765375.00        4.10891  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765375.00        4.10083  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765375.00        4.09250  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765375.00        4.08480  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765375.00        4.07495  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765375.00        4.06620  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765375.00        4.05651  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765375.00        4.04820  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765375.00        4.03786  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765375.00        4.02819  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765375.00        4.00736  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765375.00        3.99642  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765375.00        3.98513  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765375.00        3.97311  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765375.00        3.96120  (12011417)                
439754.00   3765375.00        3.95050  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765375.00        3.91518  (13121718)                
439779.00   3765375.00        3.91192  (13121718)          
        439784.00   3765375.00        3.90757  (13121718)                
439789.00   3765375.00        3.90456  (13121718)          
        439794.00   3765375.00        3.90019  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765375.00        3.89720  (13121718)          
        439804.00   3765375.00        3.89185  (13121718)                
439809.00   3765375.00        3.88770  (13121718)          
        439814.00   3765375.00        3.88275  (13121718)                

568

Item D - 1150 of 1893



439839.00   3765375.00        3.86311  (12010217)          
        439844.00   3765375.00        3.86369  (12010217)                
439849.00   3765375.00        3.86344  (12010217)          
        439854.00   3765375.00        3.86356  (12010217)                
439859.00   3765375.00        3.86328  (12010217)          
        439864.00   3765375.00        3.86396  (12010217)                
439869.00   3765375.00        3.86338  (12010217)          
        439874.00   3765375.00        3.86380  (12010217)                
439879.00   3765375.00        3.86366  (12010217)          

569

Item D - 1151 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 184
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439884.00   3765375.00        3.86372  (12010217)                
439774.00   3765380.00        3.96557  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765380.00        3.95687  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765380.00        3.95439  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765380.00        3.94996  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765380.00        3.94659  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765380.00        3.94231  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765380.00        3.93917  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765380.00        3.93550  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765380.00        3.92999  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765385.00        4.04686  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765385.00        3.97372  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765400.00        4.25268  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765400.00        4.10194  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765400.00        4.10007  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765405.00        4.47068  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765405.00        4.41767  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765405.00        4.41040  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765405.00        4.38591  (12011417)                

570

Item D - 1152 of 1893



439749.00   3765405.00        4.36110  (12011417)          
        439754.00   3765405.00        4.35120  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765405.00        4.31270  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765405.00        4.30086  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765405.00        4.29126  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765405.00        4.28090  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765405.00        4.26839  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765405.00        4.25583  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765405.00        4.24422  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765405.00        4.23257  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765405.00        4.21960  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765405.00        4.20536  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765405.00        4.19170  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765405.00        4.17756  (12011417)                
439834.00   3765405.00        4.16486  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765405.00        4.15774  (13121718)                
439844.00   3765405.00        4.15543  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765405.00        4.15024  (13121718)                
439854.00   3765405.00        4.14860  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765405.00        4.14010  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765410.00        4.53241  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765410.00        4.52694  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765410.00        4.52232  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765410.00        4.51578  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765410.00        4.50966  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765410.00        4.50255  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765410.00        4.49708  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765410.00        4.49043  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765410.00        4.48330  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765410.00        4.47540  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765410.00        4.46193  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765410.00        4.45454  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765410.00        4.44515  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765410.00        4.43670  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765410.00        4.42891  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765410.00        4.38354  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765410.00        4.37382  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765410.00        4.36198  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765410.00        4.35153  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765410.00        4.34143  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765410.00        4.33066  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765410.00        4.31846  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765410.00        4.30592  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765410.00        4.29353  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765410.00        4.28216  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765410.00        4.26842  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765410.00        4.25493  (12011417)          
        439834.00   3765410.00        4.24030  (12011417)                
439839.00   3765410.00        4.22802  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765410.00        4.21243  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765410.00        4.20443  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765410.00        4.19921  (13121718)                

571

Item D - 1153 of 1893



439859.00   3765410.00        4.19816  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765415.00        4.59692  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765415.00        4.59117  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765415.00        4.58482  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765415.00        4.58045  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765415.00        4.57432  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765415.00        4.56882  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765415.00        4.56164  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765415.00        4.55565  (12011417)          

572

Item D - 1154 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 185
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439714.00   3765415.00        4.54940  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765415.00        4.54282  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765415.00        4.52779  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765415.00        4.52099  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765415.00        4.51406  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765415.00        4.50617  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765415.00        4.49795  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765415.00        4.45347  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765415.00        4.44451  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765415.00        4.43545  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765415.00        4.42542  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765415.00        4.41376  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765415.00        4.40288  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765415.00        4.39276  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765415.00        4.38245  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765415.00        4.36961  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765415.00        4.35627  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765415.00        4.34517  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765415.00        4.33234  (12011417)                

573

Item D - 1155 of 1893



439834.00   3765415.00        4.31981  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765415.00        4.30495  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765415.00        4.29202  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765415.00        4.27722  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765415.00        4.26404  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765415.00        4.24939  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765420.00        4.65963  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765420.00        4.65592  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765420.00        4.65092  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765420.00        4.64490  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765420.00        4.63897  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765420.00        4.63383  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765420.00        4.62852  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765420.00        4.62240  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765420.00        4.61594  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765420.00        4.60921  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765420.00        4.59718  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765420.00        4.58965  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765420.00        4.58128  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765420.00        4.57466  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765420.00        4.56800  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765420.00        4.52677  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765420.00        4.51696  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765420.00        4.50658  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765420.00        4.49805  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765420.00        4.48946  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765420.00        4.47849  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765420.00        4.46679  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765420.00        4.45627  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765420.00        4.44583  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765420.00        4.43518  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765420.00        4.42177  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765420.00        4.40954  (12011417)          
        439834.00   3765420.00        4.39720  (12011417)                
439839.00   3765420.00        4.38603  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765420.00        4.37130  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765420.00        4.35810  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765420.00        4.34336  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765420.00        4.32975  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765425.00        4.72592  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765425.00        4.72012  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765425.00        4.71587  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765425.00        4.71192  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765425.00        4.70651  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765425.00        4.70060  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765425.00        4.69429  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765425.00        4.68993  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765425.00        4.68400  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765425.00        4.67801  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765425.00        4.66492  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765425.00        4.65877  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765425.00        4.65261  (12011417)                

574

Item D - 1156 of 1893



439744.00   3765425.00        4.64457  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765425.00        4.63724  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765425.00        4.59799  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765425.00        4.59047  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765425.00        4.58171  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765425.00        4.57192  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765425.00        4.56159  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765425.00        4.55326  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765425.00        4.54376  (12011417)          

575

Item D - 1157 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 186
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765425.00        4.53335  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765425.00        4.52137  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765425.00        4.51064  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765425.00        4.50096  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765425.00        4.48895  (12011417)                
439834.00   3765425.00        4.47668  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765425.00        4.46313  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765425.00        4.45232  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765425.00        4.43872  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765425.00        4.42598  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765425.00        4.41078  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765430.00        4.79161  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765430.00        4.78807  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765430.00        4.78254  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765430.00        4.77745  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765430.00        4.77279  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765430.00        4.76859  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765430.00        4.76360  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        4.75751  (12011417)                

576

Item D - 1158 of 1893



439714.00   3765430.00        4.75191  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765430.00        4.74688  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765430.00        4.73497  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765430.00        4.72823  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        4.72159  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765430.00        4.71585  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765430.00        4.70982  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765430.00        4.67246  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765430.00        4.66304  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765430.00        4.65516  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765430.00        4.64705  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765430.00        4.63917  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765430.00        4.62830  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765430.00        4.61856  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765430.00        4.60991  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765430.00        4.60034  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765430.00        4.58970  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765430.00        4.57758  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765430.00        4.56752  (12011417)          
        439834.00   3765430.00        4.55659  (12011417)                
439839.00   3765430.00        4.54600  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765430.00        4.53199  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765430.00        4.52000  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765430.00        4.50747  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765430.00        4.49464  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765435.00        4.85856  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765435.00        4.85383  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765435.00        4.85108  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765435.00        4.84705  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765435.00        4.84204  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765435.00        4.83624  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765435.00        4.83194  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765435.00        4.82759  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765435.00        4.82233  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765435.00        4.81636  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765435.00        4.80567  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765435.00        4.80016  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765435.00        4.79365  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765435.00        4.78645  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765435.00        4.78105  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765435.00        4.74599  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765435.00        4.73924  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765435.00        4.73103  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765435.00        4.72156  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765435.00        4.71361  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765435.00        4.70590  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765435.00        4.69723  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765435.00        4.68666  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765435.00        4.67671  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765435.00        4.66777  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765435.00        4.65914  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765435.00        4.64746  (12011417)                

577

Item D - 1159 of 1893



439834.00   3765435.00        4.63603  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765435.00        4.62504  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765435.00        4.61516  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765435.00        4.60267  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765435.00        4.59007  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765435.00        4.57671  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765440.00        4.92779  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765440.00        4.92453  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765440.00        4.91867  (12011417)          

578

Item D - 1160 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 187
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439689.00   3765440.00        4.91463  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765440.00        4.91114  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765440.00        4.90752  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765440.00        4.90234  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765440.00        4.89676  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765440.00        4.89269  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765440.00        4.88783  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765440.00        4.87687  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765440.00        4.87148  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765440.00        4.86578  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765440.00        4.86068  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765440.00        4.85455  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765440.00        4.82099  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765440.00        4.81320  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765440.00        4.80639  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765440.00        4.79967  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765440.00        4.79157  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765440.00        4.78202  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765440.00        4.77401  (12011417)                

579

Item D - 1161 of 1893



439809.00   3765440.00        4.76639  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765440.00        4.75749  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765440.00        4.74676  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765440.00        4.73680  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765440.00        4.72839  (12011417)          
        439834.00   3765440.00        4.71899  (12011417)                
439839.00   3765440.00        4.70791  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765440.00        4.69581  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765440.00        4.68529  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765440.00        4.67442  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765440.00        4.66249  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765445.00        4.99632  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765445.00        4.99375  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765445.00        4.99076  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765445.00        4.98702  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765445.00        4.98108  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765445.00        4.97718  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765445.00        4.97402  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765445.00        4.97018  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765445.00        4.96449  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765445.00        4.95917  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765445.00        4.95019  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765445.00        4.94600  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765445.00        4.93893  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765445.00        4.93382  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765445.00        4.92846  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765445.00        4.89785  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765445.00        4.89145  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765445.00        4.88364  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765445.00        4.87521  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765445.00        4.86923  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765445.00        4.86191  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765445.00        4.85382  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765445.00        4.84401  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765445.00        4.83652  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765445.00        4.82852  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765445.00        4.82011  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765445.00        4.80879  (12011417)                
439834.00   3765445.00        4.79914  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765445.00        4.79070  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765445.00        4.78059  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765445.00        4.76942  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765445.00        4.75747  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765445.00        4.74708  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765450.00        5.06948  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765450.00        5.06490  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765450.00        5.06072  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765450.00        5.05763  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765450.00        5.05497  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765450.00        5.05061  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765450.00        5.04585  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765450.00        5.04124  (12011417)                

580

Item D - 1162 of 1893



439714.00   3765450.00        5.03858  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765450.00        5.03366  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765450.00        5.02369  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765450.00        5.01955  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765450.00        5.01512  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765450.00        5.00983  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765450.00        5.00389  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765450.00        4.97372  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765450.00        4.86383  (12011417)          

581

Item D - 1163 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 188
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439849.00   3765450.00        4.85385  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765450.00        4.84515  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765450.00        4.83289  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765455.00        5.14003  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765455.00        5.13870  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765455.00        5.13521  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765455.00        5.13184  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765455.00        5.12641  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765455.00        5.12436  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765455.00        5.12083  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765455.00        5.11766  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765455.00        5.11215  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765455.00        5.10800  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765455.00        5.10023  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765455.00        5.09595  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765455.00        5.08954  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765455.00        5.08665  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765455.00        5.08107  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765455.00        4.95026  (12011417)                

582

Item D - 1164 of 1893



439849.00   3765455.00        4.93959  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765455.00        4.92910  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765455.00        4.92069  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765460.00        5.21695  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765460.00        5.21105  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765460.00        5.20908  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765460.00        5.20579  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765460.00        5.20438  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765460.00        5.19930  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765460.00        5.19523  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        5.19244  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765460.00        5.18974  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765460.00        5.18603  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765460.00        5.17631  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765460.00        5.17300  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        5.16897  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765460.00        5.16373  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765460.00        5.15916  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765460.00        5.11672  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765460.00        5.10927  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765460.00        5.10319  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765460.00        5.09721  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765460.00        5.09083  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765460.00        5.08307  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765460.00        5.07474  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765460.00        5.06845  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        5.06112  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765460.00        5.03578  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765460.00        5.02720  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765460.00        5.01924  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765460.00        5.00692  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765465.00        5.29064  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765465.00        5.28967  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765465.00        5.28612  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765465.00        5.28282  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765465.00        5.27878  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765465.00        5.27773  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765465.00        5.27452  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765465.00        5.27040  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765465.00        5.26587  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765465.00        5.26336  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765465.00        5.25645  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765465.00        5.25124  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765465.00        5.24677  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765465.00        5.24417  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765465.00        5.23915  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765465.00        5.19866  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765465.00        5.19357  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765465.00        5.18715  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765465.00        5.17996  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765465.00        5.17368  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765465.00        5.16786  (12011417)                

583

Item D - 1165 of 1893



439819.00   3765465.00        5.16180  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765465.00        5.15404  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765465.00        5.14542  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765465.00        5.12396  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765465.00        5.11366  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765465.00        5.10620  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765465.00        5.09791  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765470.00        5.37111  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765470.00        5.36597  (12011417)          

584

Item D - 1166 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 189
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765470.00        5.36446  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765470.00        5.36185  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765470.00        5.35989  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765470.00        5.35526  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765470.00        5.35212  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765470.00        5.34999  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765470.00        5.34702  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765470.00        5.34338  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765470.00        5.33586  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765470.00        5.33312  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765470.00        5.32878  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765470.00        5.32500  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765470.00        5.31977  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765470.00        5.28253  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765470.00        5.27720  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765470.00        5.27173  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765470.00        5.26648  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765470.00        5.26108  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765470.00        5.25264  (12011417)                

585

Item D - 1167 of 1893



439819.00   3765470.00        5.24762  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765470.00        5.24093  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765470.00        5.23575  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765470.00        5.21201  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765470.00        5.20579  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765470.00        5.19673  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765470.00        5.18724  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765475.00        5.45064  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765475.00        5.44786  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765475.00        5.44655  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765475.00        5.44130  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765475.00        5.43989  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765475.00        5.43724  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765475.00        5.43519  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765475.00        5.43074  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765475.00        5.42722  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765475.00        5.42501  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765475.00        5.41919  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765475.00        5.41353  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765475.00        5.41234  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765475.00        5.40733  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765475.00        5.40562  (12011417)                
439754.00   3765475.00        5.39941  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765475.00        5.36996  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765475.00        5.36454  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765475.00        5.35925  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765475.00        5.35307  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765475.00        5.34778  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765475.00        5.34319  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765475.00        5.33635  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765475.00        5.33002  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765475.00        5.32215  (12011417)                
439269.00   3764900.00        2.15231  (12010217)          
        439369.00   3764900.00        2.15300  (12010217)                
439469.00   3764900.00        2.15364  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3764900.00        2.15398  (12010217)                
439669.00   3764900.00        2.15410  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3764900.00        2.15347  (12010217)                
439869.00   3764900.00        2.15052  (12010217)          
        439969.00   3764900.00        2.13639  (12010217)                
440069.00   3764900.00        2.12087  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3764900.00        2.12224  (15010717)                
440269.00   3764900.00        2.12246  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765000.00        2.34808  (12010217)                
439369.00   3765000.00        2.34910  (12010217)          
        439469.00   3765000.00        2.34998  (12010217)                
439569.00   3765000.00        2.35070  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765000.00        2.35090  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765000.00        2.35074  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765000.00        2.34998  (12010217)                
439969.00   3765000.00        2.34513  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765000.00        2.31890  (12010217)                

586

Item D - 1168 of 1893



440169.00   3765000.00        2.31558  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765000.00        2.31588  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765100.00        2.63341  (13121718)          
        439369.00   3765100.00        2.59688  (12010217)                
439469.00   3765100.00        2.59857  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3765100.00        2.59962  (12010217)                
439669.00   3765100.00        2.59938  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765100.00        2.59945  (12010217)                
439869.00   3765100.00        2.59977  (12010217)          

587

Item D - 1169 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 190
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439969.00   3765100.00        2.59907  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765100.00        2.59135  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765100.00        2.55959  (15010717)                
440269.00   3765100.00        2.55989  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765200.00        3.12490  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765200.00        3.00073  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765200.00        2.95491  (13121718)                
439569.00   3765200.00        2.92538  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765200.00        2.92617  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765200.00        2.92787  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765200.00        2.92611  (12010217)                
439969.00   3765200.00        2.92742  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765200.00        2.92601  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765200.00        2.91069  (12010217)          
        440269.00   3765200.00        2.88117  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765300.00        3.77719  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765300.00        3.72511  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765300.00        3.63748  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765300.00        3.49597  (12011417)                

588

Item D - 1170 of 1893



439669.00   3765300.00        3.40116  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765300.00        3.38076  (12010217)                
439869.00   3765300.00        3.38158  (12010217)          
        439969.00   3765300.00        3.38142  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765300.00        3.38264  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765300.00        3.38272  (12010217)                
440269.00   3765300.00        3.34725  (12010217)          
        439269.00   3765400.00        4.59771  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765400.00        4.58475  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765400.00        4.55645  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765400.00        4.50564  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765400.00        4.41529  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        4.25268  (12011417)          
        439869.00   3765400.00        4.08148  (13121718)                
439969.00   3765400.00        4.06617  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765400.00        4.06804  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765400.00        4.07220  (12010217)          
        440269.00   3765400.00        4.07227  (12010217)                
439269.00   3765500.00        5.91526  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765500.00        5.91931  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765500.00        5.91925  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765500.00        5.91062  (12011417)                
439669.00   3765500.00        5.88816  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765500.00        5.84489  (12011417)                
439869.00   3765500.00        5.75777  (12011417)          
        439969.00   3765500.00        5.58220  (12011417)                
440069.00   3765500.00        5.26401  (13121718)          
        440169.00   3765500.00        5.28732  (15011517)                
440269.00   3765500.00        5.32218  (14101107)          
        439269.00   3765600.00        8.84043  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765600.00        8.86101  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765600.00        8.88224  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765600.00        8.89574  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765600.00        8.90653  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765600.00        8.90775  (12011417)          
        439869.00   3765600.00        8.89479  (12011417)                
439969.00   3765600.00        8.86778  (12011417)          
        440069.00   3765600.00        8.86536  (14101107)                
440169.00   3765600.00        9.05202  (15112218)          
        440269.00   3765600.00        9.21264  (15112218)                
439269.00   3765700.00       33.98259  (14012908)          
        439369.00   3765700.00       34.81738  (14012908)                
439469.00   3765700.00       35.90648  (14101107)          
        439569.00   3765700.00       37.60073  (14101107)                
439669.00   3765700.00       38.56289  (14101107)          
        439769.00   3765700.00       39.30767  (14101107)                
439869.00   3765700.00       39.63476  (14101107)          
        439969.00   3765700.00       40.12018  (14101107)                
440069.00   3765700.00       40.48740  (14101107)          
        440169.00   3765700.00       40.70908  (14101107)                
440269.00   3765700.00       41.07030  (14101107)          
        439269.00   3765800.00       13.84038  (12111317)                

589

Item D - 1171 of 1893



439369.00   3765800.00       13.66514  (12111317)          
        439469.00   3765800.00       13.46774  (12111317)                
439569.00   3765800.00       13.36472  (12011717)          
        439669.00   3765800.00       13.43111  (12011717)                
439769.00   3765800.00       13.46468  (12011717)          
        439869.00   3765800.00       13.47434  (12011717)                
439969.00   3765800.00       13.47719  (12011717)          
        440069.00   3765800.00       13.47122  (12011717)                
440169.00   3765800.00       13.47424  (15120418)          

590

Item D - 1172 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 191
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        440269.00   3765800.00       13.44919  (15120418)                
439269.00   3765900.00        7.22045  (15120818)          
        439369.00   3765900.00        7.18030  (15120818)                
439469.00   3765900.00        7.12899  (15120818)          
        439569.00   3765900.00        7.08221  (13111217)                
439669.00   3765900.00        7.09373  (13111217)          
        439769.00   3765900.00        7.09283  (13111217)                
439869.00   3765900.00        7.18720  (12011717)          
        439969.00   3765900.00        7.29639  (12011717)                
440069.00   3765900.00        7.36866  (12011717)          
        440169.00   3765900.00        7.41706  (12011717)                
440269.00   3765900.00        7.44916  (12011717)          
        439649.00   3765310.00        3.48563  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765310.00        3.46458  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765310.00        3.43971  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765310.00        3.43657  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        3.43692  (12010217)                
439799.00   3765310.00        3.43708  (12010217)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        3.43700  (12010217)                

591

Item D - 1173 of 1893



439859.00   3765310.00        3.43676  (12010217)          
        439889.00   3765310.00        3.43678  (12010217)                
439649.00   3765340.00        3.75698  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765340.00        3.69462  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765340.00        3.66523  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        3.64574  (13121718)                
439769.00   3765340.00        3.61781  (12010217)          
        439799.00   3765340.00        3.61835  (12010217)                
439829.00   3765340.00        3.61883  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        3.61889  (12010217)                
439889.00   3765340.00        3.61855  (12010217)          
        439649.00   3765370.00        4.08946  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00        4.04228  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765370.00        3.98616  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765370.00        3.92025  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765370.00        3.87421  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765370.00        3.84980  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765370.00        3.82572  (12010217)                
439859.00   3765370.00        3.82593  (12010217)          
        439889.00   3765370.00        3.82612  (12010217)                
439649.00   3765400.00        4.43766  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765400.00        4.40164  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765400.00        4.36092  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765400.00        4.31153  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        4.25268  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765400.00        4.18431  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765400.00        4.11597  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765400.00        4.09133  (13121718)                
439889.00   3765400.00        4.06641  (12010217)          
        439649.00   3765430.00        4.81186  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765430.00        4.78807  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        4.75751  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        4.72159  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765430.00        4.68035  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765430.00        4.62830  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765430.00        4.56752  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765430.00        4.49464  (12011417)          
        439889.00   3765430.00        4.40587  (12011417)                
439649.00   3765460.00        5.22976  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765460.00        5.21105  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        5.19244  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        5.16897  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765460.00        5.13881  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765460.00        5.10319  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        5.06112  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765460.00        5.00692  (12011417)                
439889.00   3765460.00        4.94433  (12011417)          
        439649.00   3765490.00        5.71423  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765490.00        5.70253  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765490.00        5.69011  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765490.00        5.67478  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765490.00        5.65410  (12011417)                

592

Item D - 1174 of 1893



439799.00   3765490.00        5.63025  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765490.00        5.60234  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765490.00        5.56590  (12011417)          
        439889.00   3765490.00        5.52525  (12011417)                                                                           

593

Item D - 1175 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 192
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439674.00   3765310.00        1.46381  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765310.00        1.46388  (12121717)          
        439684.00   3765310.00        1.46385  (12121717)                
439689.00   3765310.00        1.46361  (12121717)          
        439694.00   3765310.00        1.46320  (12121717)                
439699.00   3765310.00        1.46264  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765310.00        1.46196  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765310.00        1.46133  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765310.00        1.46030  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765310.00        1.45907  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765310.00        1.45596  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765310.00        1.45400  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765310.00        1.45176  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765310.00        1.44926  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765310.00        1.44630  (12121717)                
439764.00   3765310.00        1.43407  (12121717)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        1.42892  (12121717)                

594

Item D - 1176 of 1893



439774.00   3765310.00        1.42311  (12121717)          
        439779.00   3765310.00        1.42053  (13012419)                
439784.00   3765310.00        1.42234  (13012419)          
        439789.00   3765310.00        1.42386  (13012419)                
439794.00   3765310.00        1.42580  (13012419)          
        439799.00   3765310.00        1.42664  (13012419)                
439804.00   3765310.00        1.42766  (13012419)          
        439809.00   3765310.00        1.42913  (13012419)                
439814.00   3765310.00        1.42955  (13012419)          
        439819.00   3765310.00        1.43017  (13012419)                
439824.00   3765310.00        1.43711  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        1.45069  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765310.00        1.47457  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765310.00        1.48615  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765310.00        1.49651  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765310.00        1.50620  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765310.00        1.51626  (15010717)          
        439864.00   3765310.00        1.52513  (15010717)                
439869.00   3765310.00        1.53317  (15010717)          
        439874.00   3765310.00        1.54125  (15010717)                
439879.00   3765310.00        1.54881  (15010717)          
        439884.00   3765310.00        1.55543  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765315.00        1.47659  (12121717)          
        439679.00   3765315.00        1.47664  (12121717)                
439684.00   3765315.00        1.47657  (12121717)          
        439689.00   3765315.00        1.47633  (12121717)                
439694.00   3765315.00        1.47597  (12121717)          
        439699.00   3765315.00        1.47538  (12121717)                
439704.00   3765315.00        1.47479  (12121717)          
        439709.00   3765315.00        1.47408  (12121717)                
439714.00   3765315.00        1.47317  (12121717)          
        439719.00   3765315.00        1.47195  (12121717)                
439729.00   3765315.00        1.46897  (12121717)          
        439734.00   3765315.00        1.46709  (12121717)                
439739.00   3765315.00        1.46483  (12121717)          
        439744.00   3765315.00        1.46243  (12121717)                
439749.00   3765315.00        1.45945  (12121717)          
        439764.00   3765315.00        1.44748  (12121717)                
439769.00   3765315.00        1.44236  (12121717)          
        439774.00   3765315.00        1.43659  (12121717)                
439779.00   3765315.00        1.43370  (13012419)          
        439784.00   3765315.00        1.43591  (13012419)                
439789.00   3765315.00        1.43729  (13012419)          
        439794.00   3765315.00        1.43876  (13012419)                
439799.00   3765315.00        1.44024  (13012419)          
        439804.00   3765315.00        1.44067  (13012419)                
439809.00   3765315.00        1.44192  (13012419)          
        439814.00   3765315.00        1.44278  (13012419)                
439819.00   3765315.00        1.44707  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765315.00        1.46041  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765315.00        1.47338  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765315.00        1.49666  (15010717)                

595

Item D - 1177 of 1893



439844.00   3765315.00        1.50755  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765315.00        1.51810  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765315.00        1.52754  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765315.00        1.53645  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765315.00        1.54586  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765315.00        1.55343  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765315.00        1.56046  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765315.00        1.56862  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765315.00        1.57489  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765320.00        1.48960  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765320.00        1.48965  (12121717)          

596

Item D - 1178 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 193
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765320.00        1.48955  (12121717)                
439689.00   3765320.00        1.48934  (12121717)          
        439694.00   3765320.00        1.48894  (12121717)                
439699.00   3765320.00        1.48841  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765320.00        1.48789  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765320.00        1.48709  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765320.00        1.48625  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765320.00        1.48514  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765320.00        1.48228  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765320.00        1.48033  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765320.00        1.47820  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765320.00        1.47588  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765320.00        1.47289  (12121717)                
439764.00   3765320.00        1.46116  (12121717)          
        439769.00   3765320.00        1.45611  (12121717)                
439774.00   3765320.00        1.45042  (12121717)          
        439779.00   3765320.00        1.44749  (13012419)                

597

Item D - 1179 of 1893



439784.00   3765320.00        1.44915  (13012419)          
        439789.00   3765320.00        1.45103  (13012419)                
439794.00   3765320.00        1.45195  (13012419)          
        439799.00   3765320.00        1.45343  (13012419)                
439804.00   3765320.00        1.45434  (13012419)          
        439809.00   3765320.00        1.45480  (13012419)                
439814.00   3765320.00        1.45706  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765320.00        1.47091  (15010717)                
439824.00   3765320.00        1.48407  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765320.00        1.49633  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765320.00        1.51918  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765320.00        1.52961  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765320.00        1.53983  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765320.00        1.54932  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765320.00        1.55785  (15010717)          
        439864.00   3765320.00        1.56624  (15010717)                
439869.00   3765320.00        1.57435  (15010717)          
        439874.00   3765320.00        1.58135  (15010717)                
439879.00   3765320.00        1.58810  (15010717)          
        439884.00   3765320.00        1.59493  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765325.00        1.50293  (12121717)          
        439679.00   3765325.00        1.50291  (12121717)                
439684.00   3765325.00        1.50279  (12121717)          
        439689.00   3765325.00        1.50264  (12121717)                
439694.00   3765325.00        1.50223  (12121717)          
        439699.00   3765325.00        1.50172  (12121717)                
439704.00   3765325.00        1.50122  (12121717)          
        439709.00   3765325.00        1.50042  (12121717)                
439714.00   3765325.00        1.49957  (12121717)          
        439719.00   3765325.00        1.49856  (12121717)                
439729.00   3765325.00        1.49583  (12121717)          
        439734.00   3765325.00        1.49388  (12121717)                
439739.00   3765325.00        1.49186  (12121717)          
        439744.00   3765325.00        1.48956  (12121717)                
439749.00   3765325.00        1.48673  (12121717)          
        439754.00   3765325.00        1.48343  (12121717)                
439769.00   3765325.00        1.47028  (12121717)          
        439774.00   3765325.00        1.46453  (12121717)                
439779.00   3765325.00        1.46182  (13012419)          
        439784.00   3765325.00        1.46287  (13012419)                
439789.00   3765325.00        1.46453  (13012419)          
        439794.00   3765325.00        1.46596  (13012419)                
439799.00   3765325.00        1.46674  (13012419)          
        439804.00   3765325.00        1.46803  (13012419)                
439809.00   3765325.00        1.46846  (13012419)          
        439814.00   3765325.00        1.48128  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765325.00        1.49476  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765325.00        1.50758  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765325.00        1.51969  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765325.00        1.54162  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765325.00        1.55189  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765325.00        1.56125  (15010717)                

598

Item D - 1180 of 1893



439854.00   3765325.00        1.57064  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765325.00        1.57915  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765325.00        1.58661  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765325.00        1.59473  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765325.00        1.60174  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765325.00        1.60779  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765325.00        1.61431  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765330.00        1.51649  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765330.00        1.51648  (12121717)          
        439684.00   3765330.00        1.51633  (12121717)                
439689.00   3765330.00        1.51615  (12121717)          

599

Item D - 1181 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 194
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439694.00   3765330.00        1.51580  (12121717)                
439699.00   3765330.00        1.51537  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765330.00        1.51481  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765330.00        1.51408  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765330.00        1.51319  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765330.00        1.51227  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765330.00        1.50962  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765330.00        1.50786  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765330.00        1.50582  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765330.00        1.50351  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765330.00        1.50081  (12121717)                
439754.00   3765330.00        1.49765  (12121717)          
        439774.00   3765330.00        1.47897  (12121717)                
439779.00   3765330.00        1.47570  (13012419)          
        439784.00   3765330.00        1.47739  (13012419)                
439789.00   3765330.00        1.47810  (13012419)          
        439794.00   3765330.00        1.47991  (13012419)                

600

Item D - 1182 of 1893



439799.00   3765330.00        1.48087  (13012419)          
        439804.00   3765330.00        1.48155  (13012419)                
439809.00   3765330.00        1.49209  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765330.00        1.50577  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765330.00        1.51886  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765330.00        1.53135  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765330.00        1.54321  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765330.00        1.56434  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765330.00        1.57446  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765330.00        1.58341  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765330.00        1.59208  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765330.00        1.60073  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765330.00        1.60826  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765330.00        1.61504  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765330.00        1.62236  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765330.00        1.62865  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765330.00        1.63374  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765335.00        1.53036  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765335.00        1.53031  (12121717)          
        439684.00   3765335.00        1.53021  (12121717)                
439689.00   3765335.00        1.52994  (12121717)          
        439694.00   3765335.00        1.52968  (12121717)                
439699.00   3765335.00        1.52930  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765335.00        1.52867  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765335.00        1.52801  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765335.00        1.52714  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765335.00        1.52626  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765335.00        1.52367  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765335.00        1.52208  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765335.00        1.52008  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765335.00        1.51772  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765335.00        1.51518  (12121717)                
439774.00   3765335.00        1.49373  (12121717)          
        439779.00   3765335.00        1.48962  (13012419)                
439784.00   3765335.00        1.49170  (13012419)          
        439789.00   3765335.00        1.49281  (13012419)                
439794.00   3765335.00        1.49361  (13012419)          
        439839.00   3765335.00        1.58692  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765335.00        1.59671  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765335.00        1.60582  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765335.00        1.61368  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765335.00        1.62194  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765335.00        1.62977  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765335.00        1.63597  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765335.00        1.64242  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765335.00        1.64911  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765335.00        1.65424  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765340.00        1.54455  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765340.00        1.54445  (12121717)          
        439684.00   3765340.00        1.54435  (12121717)                
439689.00   3765340.00        1.54408  (12121717)          
        439694.00   3765340.00        1.54385  (12121717)                

601

Item D - 1183 of 1893



439699.00   3765340.00        1.54346  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765340.00        1.54288  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765340.00        1.54225  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765340.00        1.54142  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765340.00        1.54053  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765340.00        1.53808  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765340.00        1.53659  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        1.53463  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765340.00        1.53238  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765340.00        1.52987  (12121717)                
439774.00   3765340.00        1.50885  (12121717)          

602

Item D - 1184 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 195
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439779.00   3765340.00        1.50467  (13012419)                
439784.00   3765340.00        1.50571  (13012419)          
        439789.00   3765340.00        1.50760  (13012419)                
439794.00   3765340.00        1.50819  (13012419)          
        439839.00   3765340.00        1.61007  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765340.00        1.61927  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765340.00        1.62791  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765340.00        1.63609  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        1.64353  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765340.00        1.65076  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765340.00        1.65772  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765340.00        1.66330  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765340.00        1.66910  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765340.00        1.67536  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765345.00        1.55906  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765345.00        1.55896  (12121717)          
        439684.00   3765345.00        1.55878  (12121717)                

603

Item D - 1185 of 1893



439689.00   3765345.00        1.55857  (12121717)          
        439694.00   3765345.00        1.55832  (12121717)                
439699.00   3765345.00        1.55793  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765345.00        1.55741  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765345.00        1.55676  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765345.00        1.55606  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765345.00        1.55513  (12121717)         
        439729.00   3765345.00        1.55288  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765345.00        1.55137  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765345.00        1.54952  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765345.00        1.54738  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765345.00        1.54493  (12121717)                
439774.00   3765345.00        1.52437  (12121717)          
        439779.00   3765345.00        1.51967  (13012419)                
439784.00   3765345.00        1.52075  (13012419)          
        439789.00   3765345.00        1.52203  (13012419)                
439794.00   3765345.00        1.52541  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765345.00        1.63360  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765345.00        1.64204  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765345.00        1.65026  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765345.00        1.65843  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765345.00        1.66546  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765345.00        1.67214  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765345.00        1.67876  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765345.00        1.68476  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765345.00        1.68998  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765345.00        1.69518  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765350.00        1.57385  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765350.00        1.57377  (12121717)          
        439684.00   3765350.00        1.57356  (12121717)                
439689.00   3765350.00        1.57340  (12121717)          
        439694.00   3765350.00        1.57313  (12121717)                
439699.00   3765350.00        1.57276  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765350.00        1.57227  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765350.00        1.57165  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765350.00        1.57099  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765350.00        1.57011  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765350.00        1.56805  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765350.00        1.56642  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765350.00        1.56472  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765350.00        1.56267  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765350.00        1.56030  (12121717)                
439774.00   3765350.00        1.54032  (12121717)          
        439779.00   3765350.00        1.53449  (13012419)                
439784.00   3765350.00        1.53616  (13012419)          
        439789.00   3765350.00        1.53699  (13012419)                
439794.00   3765350.00        1.55230  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765350.00        1.65660  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765350.00        1.66533  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765350.00        1.67302  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765350.00        1.68039  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765350.00        1.68801  (15010717)                

604

Item D - 1186 of 1893



439864.00   3765350.00        1.69400  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765350.00        1.69993  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765350.00        1.70644  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765350.00        1.71131  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765350.00        1.71575  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765355.00        1.58896  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765355.00        1.58893  (12121717)          
        439684.00   3765355.00        1.58871  (12121717)                
439689.00   3765355.00        1.58858  (12121717)          
        439694.00   3765355.00        1.58827  (12121717)                
439699.00   3765355.00        1.58793  (12121717)          

605

Item D - 1187 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 196
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439704.00   3765355.00        1.58745  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765355.00        1.58692  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765355.00        1.58626  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765355.00        1.58546  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765355.00        1.58344  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765355.00        1.58193  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765355.00        1.58024  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765355.00        1.57836  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765355.00        1.57598  (12121717)                
439774.00   3765355.00        1.55657  (12121717)          
        439779.00   3765355.00        1.55044  (12121717)                
439784.00   3765355.00        1.55130  (13012419)          
        439789.00   3765355.00        1.56458  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765355.00        1.57914  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765355.00        1.67998  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765355.00        1.68844  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765355.00        1.69598  (15010717)                

606

Item D - 1188 of 1893



439854.00   3765355.00        1.70317  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765355.00        1.70976  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765355.00        1.71637  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765355.00        1.72195  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765355.00        1.72705  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765355.00        1.73286  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765355.00        1.73727  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765360.00        1.60448  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765360.00        1.60442  (12121717)          
        439684.00   3765360.00        1.60427  (12121717)                
439689.00   3765360.00        1.60406  (12121717)          
        439694.00   3765360.00        1.60382  (12121717)                
439699.00   3765360.00        1.60339  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765360.00        1.60303  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765360.00        1.60253  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765360.00        1.60187  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765360.00        1.60113  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765360.00        1.59910  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765360.00        1.59780  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765360.00        1.59615  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765360.00        1.59433  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765360.00        1.59208  (12121717)                
439774.00   3765360.00        1.57319  (12121717)          
        439779.00   3765360.00        1.56707  (12121717)                
439784.00   3765360.00        1.57667  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765360.00        1.59246  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765360.00        1.60675  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765360.00        1.62017  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765360.00        1.63322  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765360.00        1.64516  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765360.00        1.65672  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765360.00        1.70396  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765360.00        1.71150  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765360.00        1.71923  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765360.00        1.72622  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765360.00        1.73234  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765360.00        1.73862  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765360.00        1.74445  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765360.00        1.74923  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765360.00        1.75380  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765360.00        1.75907  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765365.00        1.62032  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765365.00        1.62030  (12121717)          
        439684.00   3765365.00        1.62017  (12121717)                
439689.00   3765365.00        1.61993  (12121717)          
        439694.00   3765365.00        1.61967  (12121717)                
439699.00   3765365.00        1.61931  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765365.00        1.61895  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765365.00        1.61849  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765365.00        1.61787  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765365.00        1.61715  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765365.00        1.61521  (12121717)                

607

Item D - 1189 of 1893



439734.00   3765365.00        1.61405  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765365.00        1.61252  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765365.00        1.61065  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765365.00        1.60855  (12121717)                
439774.00   3765365.00        1.59018  (12121717)          
        439779.00   3765365.00        1.58958  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765365.00        1.60539  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765365.00        1.62009  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765365.00        1.63461  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765365.00        1.64755  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765365.00        1.65972  (15010717)          

608

Item D - 1190 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 197
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765365.00        1.67163  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765365.00        1.68240  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765365.00        1.72796  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765365.00        1.73535  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765365.00        1.74226  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765365.00        1.74911  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765365.00        1.75550  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765365.00        1.76087  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765365.00        1.76635  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765365.00        1.77182  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765365.00        1.77566  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765365.00        1.77987  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765370.00        1.63654  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765370.00        1.63653  (12121717)          
        439684.00   3765370.00        1.63648  (12121717)                
439689.00   3765370.00        1.63623  (12121717)          
        439694.00   3765370.00        1.63592  (12121717)                

609

Item D - 1191 of 1893



439699.00   3765370.00        1.63562  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765370.00        1.63525  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765370.00        1.63483  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765370.00        1.63431  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765370.00        1.63359  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765370.00        1.63176  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765370.00        1.63061  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765370.00        1.62926  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765370.00        1.62739  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765370.00        1.62542  (12121717)                
439774.00   3765370.00        1.60761  (12121717)          
        439779.00   3765370.00        1.61859  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765370.00        1.63426  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765370.00        1.64858  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765370.00        1.66195  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765370.00        1.67500  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765370.00        1.68681  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765370.00        1.69784  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765370.00        1.70854  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765370.00        1.75208  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765370.00        1.75952  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765370.00        1.76597  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765370.00        1.77239  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765370.00        1.77845  (15010717)                
439864.00   3765370.00        1.78390  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765370.00        1.78890  (15010717)                
439874.00   3765370.00        1.79382  (15010717)          
        439879.00   3765370.00        1.79859  (15010717)                
439884.00   3765370.00        1.80195  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765375.00        1.65315  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765375.00        1.65323  (12121717)          
        439684.00   3765375.00        1.65318  (12121717)                
439689.00   3765375.00        1.65292  (12121717)          
        439694.00   3765375.00        1.65262  (12121717)                
439699.00   3765375.00        1.65234  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765375.00        1.65194  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765375.00        1.65153  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765375.00        1.65107  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765375.00        1.65047  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765375.00        1.64877  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765375.00        1.64763  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765375.00        1.64632  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765375.00        1.64463  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765375.00        1.64270  (12121717)                
439754.00   3765375.00        1.64037  (12121717)          
        439774.00   3765375.00        1.63281  (15010717)                
439779.00   3765375.00        1.64851  (15010717)          
        439784.00   3765375.00        1.66285  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765375.00        1.67735  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765375.00        1.69000  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765375.00        1.70242  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765375.00        1.71415  (15010717)                

610

Item D - 1192 of 1893



439809.00   3765375.00        1.72478  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765375.00        1.73490  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765375.00        1.77646  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765375.00        1.78354  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765375.00        1.79038  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765375.00        1.79605  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765375.00        1.80152  (15010717)          
        439864.00   3765375.00        1.80720  (15010717)                
439869.00   3765375.00        1.81180  (15010717)          
        439874.00   3765375.00        1.81642  (15010717)                
439879.00   3765375.00        1.82069  (15010717)          

611

Item D - 1193 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 198
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439884.00   3765375.00        1.82469  (15010717)                
439774.00   3765380.00        1.66270  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765380.00        1.67845  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765380.00        1.69276  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765380.00        1.70562  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765380.00        1.71876  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765380.00        1.73016  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765380.00        1.74129  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765380.00        1.75204  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765380.00        1.76141  (15010717)          
        439769.00   3765385.00        1.67782  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765385.00        1.79701  (15010717)          
        439769.00   3765400.00        1.77325  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765400.00        1.90922  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765400.00        1.91438  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765405.00        1.80270  (12010217)          
        439714.00   3765405.00        1.76137  (12121717)                

612

Item D - 1194 of 1893



439719.00   3765405.00        1.76098  (12121717)          
        439734.00   3765405.00        1.75934  (12121717)                
439749.00   3765405.00        1.75613  (12121717)          
        439754.00   3765405.00        1.75862  (15010717)                
439774.00   3765405.00        1.81911  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765405.00        1.83170  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765405.00        1.84343  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765405.00        1.85453  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765405.00        1.86451  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765405.00        1.87369  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765405.00        1.88254  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765405.00        1.89085  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765405.00        1.89849  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765405.00        1.90606  (15010717)                
439824.00   3765405.00        1.91246  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765405.00        1.91866  (15010717)                
439834.00   3765405.00        1.92469  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765405.00        1.93017  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765405.00        1.93568  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765405.00        1.94039  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765405.00        1.94500  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765405.00        1.94963  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765410.00        1.83099  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765410.00        1.81595  (12010217)                
439684.00   3765410.00        1.80023  (12010217)          
        439689.00   3765410.00        1.78383  (12010217)                
439694.00   3765410.00        1.78239  (12121717)          
        439699.00   3765410.00        1.78223  (12121717)                
439704.00   3765410.00        1.78201  (12121717)          
        439709.00   3765410.00        1.78182  (12121717)                
439714.00   3765410.00        1.78148  (12121717)          
        439719.00   3765410.00        1.78117  (12121717)                
439729.00   3765410.00        1.78039  (12121717)          
        439734.00   3765410.00        1.77975  (12121717)                
439739.00   3765410.00        1.77896  (12121717)          
        439744.00   3765410.00        1.77806  (12121717)                
439749.00   3765410.00        1.77679  (12121717)          
        439774.00   3765410.00        1.85092  (15010717)                
439779.00   3765410.00        1.86345  (15010717)          
        439784.00   3765410.00        1.87465  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765410.00        1.88507  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765410.00        1.89496  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765410.00        1.90376  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765410.00        1.91208  (15010717)                
439809.00   3765410.00        1.91964  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765410.00        1.92716  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765410.00        1.93385  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765410.00        1.94044  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765410.00        1.94655  (15010717)          
        439834.00   3765410.00        1.95172  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765410.00        1.95715  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765410.00        1.96225  (15010717)                

613

Item D - 1195 of 1893



439849.00   3765410.00        1.96693  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765410.00        1.97165  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765410.00        1.97577  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765415.00        1.86016  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765415.00        1.84541  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765415.00        1.82976  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765415.00        1.81343  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765415.00        1.80306  (12121717)                
439699.00   3765415.00        1.80292  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765415.00        1.80272  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765415.00        1.80253  (12121717)          

614

Item D - 1196 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 199
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439714.00   3765415.00        1.80229  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765415.00        1.80205  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765415.00        1.80132  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765415.00        1.80087  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765415.00        1.80018  (12121717)                
439744.00   3765415.00        1.79928  (12121717)          
        439749.00   3765415.00        1.81164  (15010717)                
439774.00   3765415.00        1.88399  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765415.00        1.89506  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765415.00        1.90585  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765415.00        1.91576  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765415.00        1.92493  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765415.00        1.93378  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765415.00        1.94173  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765415.00        1.94928  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765415.00        1.95582  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765415.00        1.96226  (15010717)                

615

Item D - 1197 of 1893



439824.00   3765415.00        1.96838  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765415.00        1.97415  (15010717)                
439834.00   3765415.00        1.97986  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765415.00        1.98461  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765415.00        1.98941  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765415.00        1.99399  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765415.00        1.99875  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765415.00        2.00295  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765420.00        1.88978  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765420.00        1.87567  (12010217)                
439684.00   3765420.00        1.86027  (12010217)          
        439689.00   3765420.00        1.84391  (12010217)                
439694.00   3765420.00        1.82654  (12010217)          
        439699.00   3765420.00        1.82424  (12121717)                
439704.00   3765420.00        1.82405  (12121717)          
        439709.00   3765420.00        1.82385  (12121717)                
439714.00   3765420.00        1.82368  (12121717)          
        439719.00   3765420.00        1.82344  (12121717)                
439729.00   3765420.00        1.82284  (12121717)          
        439734.00   3765420.00        1.82250  (12121717)                
439739.00   3765420.00        1.82191  (12121717)          
        439744.00   3765420.00        1.83035  (15010717)                
439749.00   3765420.00        1.84745  (15010717)          
        439774.00   3765420.00        1.91694  (15010717)                
439779.00   3765420.00        1.92797  (15010717)          
        439784.00   3765420.00        1.93785  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765420.00        1.94701  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765420.00        1.95593  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765420.00        1.96385  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765420.00        1.97154  (15010717)                
439809.00   3765420.00        1.97882  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765420.00        1.98541  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765420.00        1.99148  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765420.00        1.99702  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765420.00        2.00259  (15010717)          
        439834.00   3765420.00        2.00769  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765420.00        2.01279  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765420.00        2.01747  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765420.00        2.02188  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765420.00        2.02633  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765420.00        2.03040  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765425.00        1.92057  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765425.00        1.90603  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765425.00        1.89124  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765425.00        1.87503  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765425.00        1.85810  (12010217)                
439699.00   3765425.00        1.84612  (12121717)          
        439704.00   3765425.00        1.84601  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765425.00        1.84585  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765425.00        1.84571  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765425.00        1.84549  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765425.00        1.84499  (12121717)                

616

Item D - 1198 of 1893



439734.00   3765425.00        1.84469  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765425.00        1.85048  (15010717)                
439744.00   3765425.00        1.86829  (15010717)          
        439749.00   3765425.00        1.88426  (15010717)                
439774.00   3765425.00        1.95003  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765425.00        1.96091  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765425.00        1.97051  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765425.00        1.97950  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765425.00        1.98749  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765425.00        1.99515  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765425.00        2.00216  (15010717)          

617

Item D - 1199 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 200
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765425.00        2.00863  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765425.00        2.01514  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765425.00        2.02110  (15010717)                
439824.00   3765425.00        2.02671  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765425.00        2.03182  (15010717)                
439834.00   3765425.00        2.03661  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765425.00        2.04121  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765425.00        2.04592  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765425.00        2.05040  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765425.00        2.05458  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765425.00        2.05855  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765430.00        1.95171  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765430.00        1.93770  (12010217)                
439684.00   3765430.00        1.92268  (12010217)          
        439689.00   3765430.00        1.90686  (12010217)                
439694.00   3765430.00        1.89027  (12010217)          
        439699.00   3765430.00        1.87247  (12010217)                

618

Item D - 1200 of 1893



439704.00   3765430.00        1.86864  (12121717)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        1.86851  (12121717)                
439714.00   3765430.00        1.86839  (12121717)          
        439719.00   3765430.00        1.86828  (12121717)                
439729.00   3765430.00        1.86788  (12121717)          
        439734.00   3765430.00        1.86967  (15010717)                
439739.00   3765430.00        1.88829  (15010717)          
        439744.00   3765430.00        1.90544  (15010717)                
439749.00   3765430.00        1.92154  (15010717)          
        439774.00   3765430.00        1.98398  (15010717)                
439779.00   3765430.00        1.99357  (15010717)          
        439784.00   3765430.00        2.00310  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765430.00        2.01144  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765430.00        2.01959  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765430.00        2.02687  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765430.00        2.03326  (15010717)                
439809.00   3765430.00        2.03963  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765430.00        2.04524  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765430.00        2.05088  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765430.00        2.05618  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765430.00        2.06116  (15010717)          
        439834.00   3765430.00        2.06617  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765430.00        2.07060  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765430.00        2.07460  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765430.00        2.07894  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765430.00        2.08326  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765430.00        2.08725  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765435.00        1.98353  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765435.00        1.96996  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765435.00        1.95529  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765435.00        1.94008  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765435.00        1.92325  (12010217)                
439699.00   3765435.00        1.90579  (12010217)          
        439704.00   3765435.00        1.89195  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765435.00        1.89186  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765435.00        1.89179  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765435.00        1.89169  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765435.00        1.89140  (12121717)                
439734.00   3765435.00        1.90960  (15010717)          
        439739.00   3765435.00        1.92665  (15010717)                
439744.00   3765435.00        1.94286  (15010717)          
        439749.00   3765435.00        1.95800  (15010717)                
439774.00   3765435.00        2.01828  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765435.00        2.02750  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765435.00        2.03596  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765435.00        2.04408  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765435.00        2.05102  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765435.00        2.05823  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765435.00        2.06503  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765435.00        2.07071  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765435.00        2.07653  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765435.00        2.08153  (15010717)                

619

Item D - 1201 of 1893



439824.00   3765435.00        2.08618  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765435.00        2.09115  (15010717)                
439834.00   3765435.00        2.09564  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765435.00        2.10031  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765435.00        2.10461  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765435.00        2.10860  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765435.00        2.11283  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765435.00        2.11667  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765440.00        2.01662  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765440.00        2.00298  (12010217)                
439684.00   3765440.00        1.98865  (12010217)          

620

Item D - 1202 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 201
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439689.00   3765440.00        1.97335  (12010217)                
439694.00   3765440.00        1.95727  (12010217)          
        439699.00   3765440.00        1.94012  (12010217)                
439704.00   3765440.00        1.92159  (12010217)          
        439709.00   3765440.00        1.91596  (12121717)                
439714.00   3765440.00        1.91593  (12121717)          
        439719.00   3765440.00        1.91591  (12121717)                
439729.00   3765440.00        1.93114  (15010717)          
        439734.00   3765440.00        1.94959  (15010717)                
439739.00   3765440.00        1.96646  (15010717)          
        439744.00   3765440.00        1.98160  (15010717)                
439749.00   3765440.00        1.99588  (15010717)          
        439774.00   3765440.00        2.05295  (15010717)                
439779.00   3765440.00        2.06174  (15010717)          
        439784.00   3765440.00        2.07011  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765440.00        2.07726  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765440.00        2.08407  (15010717)                

621

Item D - 1203 of 1893



439799.00   3765440.00        2.09038  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765440.00        2.09651  (15010717)                
439809.00   3765440.00        2.10225  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765440.00        2.10739  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765440.00        2.11276  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765440.00        2.11772  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765440.00        2.12191  (15010717)          
        439834.00   3765440.00        2.12647  (15010717)                
439839.00   3765440.00        2.13078  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765440.00        2.13505  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765440.00        2.13944  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765440.00        2.14355  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765440.00        2.14744  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765445.00        2.04990  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765445.00        2.03696  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765445.00        2.02318  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765445.00        2.00793  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765445.00        1.99206  (12010217)                
439699.00   3765445.00        1.97485  (12010217)          
        439704.00   3765445.00        1.95689  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765445.00        1.94089  (12121717)          
        439714.00   3765445.00        1.94085  (12121717)                
439719.00   3765445.00        1.94084  (12121717)          
        439729.00   3765445.00        1.97234  (15010717)                
439734.00   3765445.00        1.98953  (15010717)          
        439739.00   3765445.00        2.00598  (15010717)                
439744.00   3765445.00        2.02124  (15010717)          
        439749.00   3765445.00        2.03495  (15010717)                
439774.00   3765445.00        2.08804  (15010717)          
        439779.00   3765445.00        2.09630  (15010717)                
439784.00   3765445.00        2.10423  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765445.00        2.11176  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765445.00        2.11810  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765445.00        2.12421  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765445.00        2.12969  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765445.00        2.13476  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765445.00        2.13986  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765445.00        2.14448  (15010717)                
439824.00   3765445.00        2.14919  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765445.00        2.15420  (15010717)                
439834.00   3765445.00        2.15842  (15010717)          
        439839.00   3765445.00        2.16264  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765445.00        2.16673  (15010717)          
        439849.00   3765445.00        2.17081  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765445.00        2.17511  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765445.00        2.17900  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765450.00        2.08450  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765450.00        2.07181  (12010217)                
439684.00   3765450.00        2.05785  (12010217)          
        439689.00   3765450.00        2.04334  (12010217)                
439694.00   3765450.00        2.02772  (12010217)          
        439699.00   3765450.00        2.01108  (12010217)                

622

Item D - 1204 of 1893



439704.00   3765450.00        1.99349  (12010217)          
        439709.00   3765450.00        1.97430  (12010217)                
439714.00   3765450.00        1.96664  (12121717)          
        439719.00   3765450.00        1.97695  (15010717)                
439729.00   3765450.00        2.01410  (15010717)          
        439734.00   3765450.00        2.03105  (15010717)                
439739.00   3765450.00        2.04630  (15010717)          
        439744.00   3765450.00        2.06024  (15010717)                
439749.00   3765450.00        2.07331  (15010717)          
        439774.00   3765450.00        2.12438  (15010717)                
439844.00   3765450.00        2.19929  (15010717)          

623

Item D - 1205 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 202
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439849.00   3765450.00        2.20326  (15010717)                
439854.00   3765450.00        2.20708  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765450.00        2.21084  (15010717)                
439674.00   3765455.00        2.12004  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765455.00        2.10741  (12010217)                
439684.00   3765455.00        2.09402  (12010217)          
        439689.00   3765455.00        2.07988  (12010217)                
439694.00   3765455.00        2.06436  (12010217)          
        439699.00   3765455.00        2.04809  (12010217)                
439704.00   3765455.00        2.03049  (12010217)          
        439709.00   3765455.00        2.01218  (12010217)                
439714.00   3765455.00        2.00078  (15010717)          
        439719.00   3765455.00        2.02061  (15010717)                
439729.00   3765455.00        2.05721  (15010717)          
        439734.00   3765455.00        2.07256  (15010717)                
439739.00   3765455.00        2.08762  (15010717)          
        439744.00   3765455.00        2.10101  (15010717)                

624

Item D - 1206 of 1893



439749.00   3765455.00        2.11303  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765455.00        2.23210  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765455.00        2.23629  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765455.00        2.24078  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765455.00        2.24449  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765460.00        2.15644  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765460.00        2.14415  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765460.00        2.13125  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765460.00        2.11698  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765460.00        2.10214  (12010217)                
439699.00   3765460.00        2.08618  (12010217)          
        439704.00   3765460.00        2.06900  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765460.00        2.05078  (12010217)          
        439714.00   3765460.00        2.04608  (15010717)                
439719.00   3765460.00        2.06548  (15010717)          
        439729.00   3765460.00        2.09955  (15010717)                
439734.00   3765460.00        2.11517  (15010717)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        2.12868  (15010717)                
439744.00   3765460.00        2.14208  (15010717)          
        439749.00   3765460.00        2.15373  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765460.00        2.21735  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765460.00        2.22308  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765460.00        2.22754  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765460.00        2.23228  (15010717)                
439809.00   3765460.00        2.23691  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765460.00        2.24121  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765460.00        2.24560  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765460.00        2.24962  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765460.00        2.25393  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765460.00        2.26654  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765460.00        2.27084  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765460.00        2.27502  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765460.00        2.27919  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765465.00        2.19366  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765465.00        2.18208  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765465.00        2.16924  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765465.00        2.15553  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765465.00        2.14089  (12010217)                
439699.00   3765465.00        2.12508  (12010217)          
        439704.00   3765465.00        2.10842  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765465.00        2.09054  (12010217)          
        439714.00   3765465.00        2.09263  (15010717)                
439719.00   3765465.00        2.11080  (15010717)          
        439729.00   3765465.00        2.14402  (15010717)                
439734.00   3765465.00        2.15775  (15010717)          
        439739.00   3765465.00        2.17123  (15010717)                
439744.00   3765465.00        2.18291  (15010717)          
        439749.00   3765465.00        2.19363  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765465.00        2.25288  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765465.00        2.25842  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765465.00        2.26327  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765465.00        2.26767  (15010717)                

625

Item D - 1207 of 1893



439809.00   3765465.00        2.27285  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765465.00        2.27739  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765465.00        2.28075  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765465.00        2.28501  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765465.00        2.28931  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765465.00        2.30182  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765465.00        2.30630  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765465.00        2.31091  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765465.00        2.31488  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765470.00        2.23241  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765470.00        2.22087  (12010217)          

626

Item D - 1208 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 203
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765470.00        2.20841  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765470.00        2.19514  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765470.00        2.18048  (12010217)                
439699.00   3765470.00        2.16552  (12010217)          
        439704.00   3765470.00        2.14915  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765470.00        2.13157  (12010217)          
        439714.00   3765470.00        2.13961  (15010717)                
439719.00   3765470.00        2.15728  (15010717)          
        439729.00   3765470.00        2.18840  (15010717)                
439734.00   3765470.00        2.20224  (15010717)          
        439739.00   3765470.00        2.21387  (15010717)                
439744.00   3765470.00        2.22548  (15010717)          
        439749.00   3765470.00        2.23584  (15010717)                
439789.00   3765470.00        2.29137  (15010717)          
        439794.00   3765470.00        2.29602  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765470.00        2.30032  (15010717)          
        439804.00   3765470.00        2.30492  (15010717)                

627

Item D - 1209 of 1893



439809.00   3765470.00        2.30913  (15010717)          
        439814.00   3765470.00        2.31314  (15010717)                
439819.00   3765470.00        2.31736  (15010717)          
        439824.00   3765470.00        2.32170  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765470.00        2.32625  (15010717)          
        439844.00   3765470.00        2.33875  (15010717)                
439849.00   3765470.00        2.34303  (15010717)          
        439854.00   3765470.00        2.34756  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765470.00        2.35210  (15010717)          
        439674.00   3765475.00        2.27189  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765475.00        2.26072  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765475.00        2.24885  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765475.00        2.23574  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765475.00        2.22200  (12010217)                
439699.00   3765475.00        2.20698  (12010217)          
        439704.00   3765475.00        2.19071  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765475.00        2.17383  (12010217)          
        439714.00   3765475.00        2.18744  (15010717)                
439719.00   3765475.00        2.20418  (15010717)          
        439729.00   3765475.00        2.23383  (15010717)                
439734.00   3765475.00        2.24604  (15010717)          
        439739.00   3765475.00        2.25803  (15010717)                
439744.00   3765475.00        2.26867  (15010717)          
        439749.00   3765475.00        2.27853  (15010717)                
439754.00   3765475.00        2.28724  (15010717)          
        439789.00   3765475.00        2.32951  (15010717)                
439794.00   3765475.00        2.33461  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765475.00        2.33932  (15010717)                
439804.00   3765475.00        2.34321  (15010717)          
        439809.00   3765475.00        2.34714  (15010717)                
439814.00   3765475.00        2.35137  (15010717)          
        439819.00   3765475.00        2.35515  (15010717)                
439824.00   3765475.00        2.35946  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765475.00        2.36379  (15010717)                
439269.00   3764900.00        0.82108  (12120908)          
        439369.00   3764900.00        0.92368  (12010217)                
439469.00   3764900.00        0.89259  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3764900.00        0.85298  (15010918)                
439669.00   3764900.00        0.86385  (12121717)          
        439769.00   3764900.00        0.83973  (12121717)                
439869.00   3764900.00        0.79156  (13012419)          
        439969.00   3764900.00        0.82699  (13012419)                
440069.00   3764900.00        0.77552  (14011819)          
        440169.00   3764900.00        0.87121  (15010717)                
440269.00   3764900.00        0.88005  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765000.00        0.95963  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765000.00        1.01711  (12010217)          
        439469.00   3765000.00        1.01721  (12010217)                
439569.00   3765000.00        0.94562  (15010918)          
        439669.00   3765000.00        0.96153  (12121717)                
439769.00   3765000.00        0.92777  (12121717)          
        439869.00   3765000.00        0.91149  (13012419)                

628

Item D - 1210 of 1893



439969.00   3765000.00        0.90597  (13012419)          
        440069.00   3765000.00        0.95267  (15010717)                
440169.00   3765000.00        0.98883  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765000.00        0.97136  (13121617)                
439269.00   3765100.00        1.13847  (13120808)          
        439369.00   3765100.00        1.11456  (12010217)                
439469.00   3765100.00        1.17037  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3765100.00        1.06431  (12010217)                
439669.00   3765100.00        1.08143  (12121717)          
        439769.00   3765100.00        1.04012  (12121717)                
439869.00   3765100.00        1.04310  (13012419)          

629

Item D - 1211 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 204
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439969.00   3765100.00        1.03653  (15010717)                
440069.00   3765100.00        1.12612  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3765100.00        1.10214  (13121617)                
440269.00   3765100.00        1.08389  (13121617)          
        439269.00   3765200.00        1.32083  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765200.00        1.27914  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765200.00        1.35637  (12010217)                
439569.00   3765200.00        1.27547  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765200.00        1.23382  (12121717)                
439769.00   3765200.00        1.19031  (12121717)          
        439869.00   3765200.00        1.19553  (13012419)                
439969.00   3765200.00        1.29392  (15010717)          
        440069.00   3765200.00        1.28370  (15010717)                
440169.00   3765200.00        1.25916  (13121617)          
        440269.00   3765200.00        1.19003  (16010608)                
439269.00   3765300.00        1.46905  (14100607)          
        439369.00   3765300.00        1.58113  (13120808)                

630

Item D - 1212 of 1893



439469.00   3765300.00        1.58924  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3765300.00        1.55771  (12010217)                
439669.00   3765300.00        1.43882  (12121717)          
        439769.00   3765300.00        1.40265  (12121717)                
439869.00   3765300.00        1.49334  (15010717)          
        439969.00   3765300.00        1.56245  (15010717)                
440069.00   3765300.00        1.51568  (13121617)          
        440169.00   3765300.00        1.41047  (16010608)                
440269.00   3765300.00        1.39578  (15113017)          
        439269.00   3765400.00        1.79798  (13121718)                
439369.00   3765400.00        1.91687  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765400.00        1.91840  (13120808)                
439569.00   3765400.00        1.94457  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765400.00        1.78937  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765400.00        1.77325  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765400.00        1.93205  (15010717)                
439969.00   3765400.00        1.92177  (13121617)          
        440069.00   3765400.00        1.75260  (16010608)                
440169.00   3765400.00        1.78863  (15113017)          
        440269.00   3765400.00        1.75926  (15113017)                
439269.00   3765500.00        2.45983  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765500.00        2.46736  (13121718)                
439469.00   3765500.00        2.57652  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3765500.00        2.56457  (12010217)                
439669.00   3765500.00        2.49889  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765500.00        2.52588  (15010717)                
439869.00   3765500.00        2.62439  (15010717)          
        439969.00   3765500.00        2.54522  (15113017)                
440069.00   3765500.00        2.40790  (15113017)          
        440169.00   3765500.00        2.44253  (12011608)                
440269.00   3765500.00        2.43780  (12011608)          
        439269.00   3765600.00        3.13308  (12111318)                
439369.00   3765600.00        3.91996  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765600.00        4.02504  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765600.00        4.08047  (13120808)          
        439669.00   3765600.00        4.12557  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765600.00        4.21553  (15010717)          
        439869.00   3765600.00        4.92488  (15010717)                
439969.00   3765600.00        5.47594  (12011417)          
        440069.00   3765600.00        4.72130  (12011608)                
440169.00   3765600.00        4.57951  (14101107)          
        440269.00   3765600.00        4.27960  (14101107)                
439269.00   3765700.00        4.73913  (14012908)          
        439369.00   3765700.00        6.90229  (14012908)                
439469.00   3765700.00       29.56830  (14101007)          
        439569.00   3765700.00       13.65650  (13111217)                
439669.00   3765700.00        7.83900  (12011908)          
        439769.00   3765700.00        5.68142  (14121418)                
439869.00   3765700.00        4.39712  (14121418)          
        439969.00   3765700.00        4.88116  (12111317)                
440069.00   3765700.00        6.04430  (15120818)          
        440169.00   3765700.00        8.87945  (13111217)                

631

Item D - 1213 of 1893



440269.00   3765700.00       15.27275  (13111217)          
        439269.00   3765800.00        4.40214  (12111317)                
439369.00   3765800.00        5.75688  (12100707)          
        439469.00   3765800.00        5.91963  (15120818)                
439569.00   3765800.00        5.82962  (15120818)          
        439669.00   3765800.00        6.46856  (13111218)                
439769.00   3765800.00        8.85238  (13111217)          
        439869.00   3765800.00       14.53752  (13111217)                
439969.00   3765800.00        6.40108  (14121418)          
        440069.00   3765800.00        4.02892  (14121418)                
440169.00   3765800.00        3.25499  (13111218)          

632

Item D - 1214 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 205
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        440269.00   3765800.00        3.46389  (13111217)                
439269.00   3765900.00        3.03243  (15120818)          
        439369.00   3765900.00        3.08651  (15112217)                
439469.00   3765900.00        3.04673  (13111218)          
        439569.00   3765900.00        2.99123  (13111218)                
439669.00   3765900.00        2.88461  (13111218)          
        439769.00   3765900.00        2.98339  (12122117)                
439869.00   3765900.00        3.41569  (13111217)          
        439969.00   3765900.00        3.55475  (13111217)                
440069.00   3765900.00        2.91351  (12011717)          
        440169.00   3765900.00        2.38912  (12011717)                
440269.00   3765900.00        1.99784  (15120418)          
        439649.00   3765310.00        1.46115  (12121717)                
439679.00   3765310.00        1.46388  (12121717)          
        439709.00   3765310.00        1.46133  (12121717)                
439739.00   3765310.00        1.45176  (12121717)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        1.42892  (12121717)                

633

Item D - 1215 of 1893



439799.00   3765310.00        1.42664  (13012419)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        1.45069  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765310.00        1.51626  (15010717)          
        439889.00   3765310.00        1.56188  (15010717)                
439649.00   3765340.00        1.55820  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765340.00        1.54445  (12121717)                
439709.00   3765340.00        1.54225  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        1.53463  (12121717)                
439769.00   3765340.00        1.51436  (12121717)          
        439799.00   3765340.00        1.51408  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765340.00        1.59019  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        1.64353  (15010717)                
439889.00   3765340.00        1.67951  (15010717)          
        439649.00   3765370.00        1.69022  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765370.00        1.63653  (12121717)          
        439709.00   3765370.00        1.63483  (12121717)                
439739.00   3765370.00        1.62926  (12121717)          
        439769.00   3765370.00        1.61264  (12121717)                
439799.00   3765370.00        1.67500  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765370.00        1.73644  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765370.00        1.77845  (15010717)          
        439889.00   3765370.00        1.80529  (15010717)                
439649.00   3765400.00        1.83953  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765400.00        1.75959  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765400.00        1.74205  (12121717)          
        439739.00   3765400.00        1.73844  (12121717)                
439769.00   3765400.00        1.77325  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765400.00        1.84462  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765400.00        1.89163  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765400.00        1.92416  (15010717)                
439889.00   3765400.00        1.94508  (15010717)          
        439649.00   3765430.00        2.00947  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765430.00        1.93770  (12010217)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        1.86851  (12121717)                
439739.00   3765430.00        1.88829  (15010717)          
        439769.00   3765430.00        1.97352  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765430.00        2.02687  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765430.00        2.06116  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765430.00        2.08725  (15010717)          
        439889.00   3765430.00        2.10542  (15010717)                
439649.00   3765460.00        2.20549  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765460.00        2.14415  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765460.00        2.05078  (12010217)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        2.12868  (15010717)                
439769.00   3765460.00        2.19003  (15010717)          
        439799.00   3765460.00        2.22754  (15010717)                
439829.00   3765460.00        2.25393  (15010717)          
        439859.00   3765460.00        2.27919  (15010717)                
439889.00   3765460.00        2.29761  (15010717)          
        439649.00   3765490.00        2.43819  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765490.00        2.38844  (12010217)          
        439709.00   3765490.00        2.32058  (15010717)                

634

Item D - 1216 of 1893



439739.00   3765490.00        2.39457  (15010717)          
        439769.00   3765490.00        2.43487  (15010717)                
439799.00   3765490.00        2.46051  (15010717)          
        439829.00   3765490.00        2.48616  (15010717)                
439859.00   3765490.00        2.51765  (15010717)          
        439889.00   3765490.00        2.54095  (15010717)                                                                           

635

Item D - 1217 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 206
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439674.00   3765310.00        2.55455  (12010217)                
439679.00   3765310.00        2.55416  (12010217)          
        439684.00   3765310.00        2.55472  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765310.00        2.55433  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765310.00        2.55483  (12010217)                
439699.00   3765310.00        2.55430  (12010217)          
        439704.00   3765310.00        2.55489  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765310.00        2.55462  (12010217)          
        439714.00   3765310.00        2.55471  (12010217)                
439719.00   3765310.00        2.55462  (12010217)          
        439729.00   3765310.00        2.55487  (12010217)                
439734.00   3765310.00        2.55454  (12010217)          
        439739.00   3765310.00        2.55498  (12010217)                
439744.00   3765310.00        2.55460  (12010217)          
        439749.00   3765310.00        2.55513  (12010217)                
439764.00   3765310.00        2.55469  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        2.55530  (12010217)                
439774.00   3765310.00        2.55498  (12010217)          
        439779.00   3765310.00        2.55543  (12010217)                

636

Item D - 1218 of 1893



439784.00   3765310.00        2.55488  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765310.00        2.55555  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765310.00        2.55523  (12010217)          
        439799.00   3765310.00        2.55536  (12010217)                
439804.00   3765310.00        2.55520  (12010217)          
        439809.00   3765310.00        2.55559  (12010217)                
439814.00   3765310.00        2.55514  (12010217)          
        439819.00   3765310.00        2.55557  (12010217)                
439824.00   3765310.00        2.55527  (12010217)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        2.55546  (12010217)                
439839.00   3765310.00        2.55552  (12010217)          
        439844.00   3765310.00        2.55543  (12010217)                
439849.00   3765310.00        2.55539  (12010217)          
        439854.00   3765310.00        2.55568  (12010217)                
439859.00   3765310.00        2.55547  (12010217)          
        439864.00   3765310.00        2.55550  (12010217)                
439869.00   3765310.00        2.55538  (12010217)          
        439874.00   3765310.00        2.55576  (12010217)                
439879.00   3765310.00        2.55530  (12010217)          
        439884.00   3765310.00        2.55592  (12010217)                
439674.00   3765315.00        2.57599  (12010217)          
        439679.00   3765315.00        2.57572  (12010217)                
439684.00   3765315.00        2.57581  (12010217)          
        439689.00   3765315.00        2.57592  (12010217)                
439694.00   3765315.00        2.57607  (12010217)          
        439699.00   3765315.00        2.57588  (12010217)                
439704.00   3765315.00        2.57622  (12010217)          
        439709.00   3765315.00        2.57622  (12010217)                
439714.00   3765315.00        2.57618  (12010217)          
        439719.00   3765315.00        2.57617  (12010217)                
439729.00   3765315.00        2.57644  (12010217)          
        439734.00   3765315.00        2.57650  (12010217)                
439739.00   3765315.00        2.57648  (12010217)          
        439744.00   3765315.00        2.57657  (12010217)                
439749.00   3765315.00        2.57630  (12010217)          
        439764.00   3765315.00        2.57651  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765315.00        2.57659  (12010217)          
        439774.00   3765315.00        2.57667  (12010217)                
439779.00   3765315.00        2.57674  (12010217)          
        439784.00   3765315.00        2.57641  (12010217)                
439789.00   3765315.00        2.57677  (12010217)          
        439794.00   3765315.00        2.57670  (12010217)                
439799.00   3765315.00        2.57682  (12010217)          
        439804.00   3765315.00        2.57673  (12010217)                
439809.00   3765315.00        2.57705  (12010217)          
        439814.00   3765315.00        2.57665  (12010217)                
439819.00   3765315.00        2.57715  (12010217)          
        439824.00   3765315.00        2.57688  (12010217)                
439829.00   3765315.00        2.57697  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765315.00        2.57713  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765315.00        2.57701  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765315.00        2.57701  (12010217)                

637

Item D - 1219 of 1893



439854.00   3765315.00        2.57719  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765315.00        2.57713  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765315.00        2.57707  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765315.00        2.57715  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765315.00        2.57734  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765315.00        2.57691  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765315.00        2.57720  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765320.00        2.60987  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765320.00        2.60012  (12011417)          

638

Item D - 1220 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 207
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765320.00        2.59762  (12010217)                
439689.00   3765320.00        2.59843  (12010217)          
        439694.00   3765320.00        2.59800  (12010217)                
439699.00   3765320.00        2.59804  (12010217)          
        439704.00   3765320.00        2.59813  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765320.00        2.59817  (12010217)          
        439714.00   3765320.00        2.59820  (12010217)                
439719.00   3765320.00        2.59812  (12010217)          
        439729.00   3765320.00        2.59807  (12010217)                
439734.00   3765320.00        2.59857  (12010217)          
        439739.00   3765320.00        2.59820  (12010217)                
439744.00   3765320.00        2.59869  (12010217)          
        439749.00   3765320.00        2.59816  (12010217)                
439764.00   3765320.00        2.59868  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765320.00        2.59846  (12010217)                
439774.00   3765320.00        2.59898  (12010217)          
        439779.00   3765320.00        2.59863  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765320.00        2.59901  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765320.00        2.59868  (12010217)                

639

Item D - 1221 of 1893



439794.00   3765320.00        2.59907  (12010217)          
        439799.00   3765320.00        2.59869  (12010217)                
439804.00   3765320.00        2.59905  (12010217)          
        439809.00   3765320.00        2.59874  (12010217)                
439814.00   3765320.00        2.59890  (12010217)          
        439819.00   3765320.00        2.59896  (12010217)                
439824.00   3765320.00        2.59900  (12010217)          
        439829.00   3765320.00        2.59875  (12010217)                
439839.00   3765320.00        2.59917  (12010217)          
        439844.00   3765320.00        2.59885  (12010217)                
439849.00   3765320.00        2.59917  (12010217)          
        439854.00   3765320.00        2.59892  (12010217)                
439859.00   3765320.00        2.59931  (12010217)          
        439864.00   3765320.00        2.59891  (12010217)                
439869.00   3765320.00        2.59938  (12010217)          
        439874.00   3765320.00        2.59914  (12010217)                
439879.00   3765320.00        2.59923  (12010217)          
        439884.00   3765320.00        2.59922  (12010217)                
439674.00   3765325.00        2.65071  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765325.00        2.64245  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765325.00        2.63310  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765325.00        2.62415  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765325.00        2.62047  (12010217)          
        439699.00   3765325.00        2.62048  (12010217)                
439704.00   3765325.00        2.62069  (12010217)          
        439709.00   3765325.00        2.62073  (12010217)                
439714.00   3765325.00        2.62065  (12010217)          
        439719.00   3765325.00        2.62097  (12010217)                
439729.00   3765325.00        2.62084  (12010217)          
        439734.00   3765325.00        2.62082  (12010217)                
439739.00   3765325.00        2.62115  (12010217)          
        439744.00   3765325.00        2.62083  (12010217)                
439749.00   3765325.00        2.62115  (12010217)          
        439754.00   3765325.00        2.62097  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765325.00        2.62109  (12010217)          
        439774.00   3765325.00        2.62120  (12010217)                
439779.00   3765325.00        2.62100  (12010217)          
        439784.00   3765325.00        2.62139  (12010217)                
439789.00   3765325.00        2.62119  (12010217)          
        439794.00   3765325.00        2.62126  (12010217)                
439799.00   3765325.00        2.62141  (12010217)          
        439804.00   3765325.00        2.62151  (12010217)                
439809.00   3765325.00        2.62132  (12010217)          
        439814.00   3765325.00        2.62146  (12010217)                
439819.00   3765325.00        2.62166  (12010217)          
        439824.00   3765325.00        2.62144  (12010217)                
439829.00   3765325.00        2.62142  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765325.00        2.62180  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765325.00        2.62135  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765325.00        2.62189  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765325.00        2.62162  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765325.00        2.62180  (12010217)                

640

Item D - 1222 of 1893



439864.00   3765325.00        2.62158  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765325.00        2.62177  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765325.00        2.62153  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765325.00        2.62174  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765325.00        2.62161  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765330.00        2.69296  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765330.00        2.68398  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765330.00        2.67601  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765330.00        2.66654  (12011417)          

641

Item D - 1223 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 208
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439694.00   3765330.00        2.65803  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765330.00        2.64814  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765330.00        2.64366  (12010217)                
439709.00   3765330.00        2.64359  (12010217)          
        439714.00   3765330.00        2.64350  (12010217)                
439719.00   3765330.00        2.64398  (12010217)          
        439729.00   3765330.00        2.64383  (12010217)                
439734.00   3765330.00        2.64376  (12010217)          
        439739.00   3765330.00        2.64409  (12010217)                
439744.00   3765330.00        2.64365  (12010217)          
        439749.00   3765330.00        2.64415  (12010217)                
439754.00   3765330.00        2.64393  (12010217)          
        439774.00   3765330.00        2.64403  (12010217)                
439779.00   3765330.00        2.64414  (12010217)          
        439784.00   3765330.00        2.64434  (12010217)                
439789.00   3765330.00        2.64438  (12010217)          
        439794.00   3765330.00        2.64397  (12010217)                
439799.00   3765330.00        2.64461  (12010217)          
        439804.00   3765330.00        2.64439  (12010217)                

642

Item D - 1224 of 1893



439809.00   3765330.00        2.64422  (12010217)          
        439814.00   3765330.00        2.64442  (12010217)                
439819.00   3765330.00        2.64457  (12010217)          
        439824.00   3765330.00        2.64446  (12010217)                
439829.00   3765330.00        2.64422  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765330.00        2.64433  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765330.00        2.64454  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765330.00        2.64446  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765330.00        2.64481  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765330.00        2.64415  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765330.00        2.64504  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765330.00        2.64449  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765330.00        2.64475  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765330.00        2.64453  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765330.00        2.64487  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765335.00        2.73436  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765335.00        2.72701  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765335.00        2.71792  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765335.00        2.70995  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765335.00        2.70098  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765335.00        2.69242  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765335.00        2.68261  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765335.00        2.67352  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765335.00        2.66729  (12010217)                
439719.00   3765335.00        2.66719  (12010217)          
        439729.00   3765335.00        2.66708  (12010217)                
439734.00   3765335.00        2.66750  (12010217)          
        439739.00   3765335.00        2.66729  (12010217)                
439744.00   3765335.00        2.66753  (12010217)          
        439749.00   3765335.00        2.66752  (12010217)                
439774.00   3765335.00        2.66754  (12010217)          
        439779.00   3765335.00        2.66767  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765335.00        2.66791  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765335.00        2.66777  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765335.00        2.66762  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765335.00        2.66793  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765335.00        2.66832  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765335.00        2.66819  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765335.00        2.66830  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765335.00        2.66793  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765335.00        2.66857  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765335.00        2.66817  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765335.00        2.66825  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765335.00        2.66820  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765335.00        2.66853  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765340.00        2.77716  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765340.00        2.76870  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765340.00        2.76128  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765340.00        2.75253  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765340.00        2.74466  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765340.00        2.73537  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765340.00        2.72727  (12011417)                

643

Item D - 1225 of 1893



439709.00   3765340.00        2.71759  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765340.00        2.70860  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765340.00        2.69869  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765340.00        2.69132  (12010217)                
439734.00   3765340.00        2.69138  (12010217)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        2.69121  (12010217)                
439744.00   3765340.00        2.69142  (12010217)          
        439749.00   3765340.00        2.69161  (12010217)                
439774.00   3765340.00        2.69143  (12010217)          

644

Item D - 1226 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 209
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439779.00   3765340.00        2.69181  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765340.00        2.69184  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765340.00        2.69174  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765340.00        2.69174  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765340.00        2.69214  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765340.00        2.69195  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765340.00        2.69257  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765340.00        2.69183  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        2.69245  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765340.00        2.69214  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765340.00        2.69242  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765340.00        2.69191  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765340.00        2.69255  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765340.00        2.69213  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765345.00        2.81877  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765345.00        2.81189  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765345.00        2.80366  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765345.00        2.79621  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765345.00        2.78741  (12011417)                

645

Item D - 1227 of 1893



439699.00   3765345.00        2.77989  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765345.00        2.77074  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765345.00        2.76254  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765345.00        2.75313  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765345.00        2.74440  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765345.00        2.72519  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765345.00        2.71590  (12010217)          
        439739.00   3765345.00        2.71569  (12010217)                
439744.00   3765345.00        2.71614  (12010217)          
        439749.00   3765345.00        2.71619  (12010217)                
439774.00   3765345.00        2.71613  (12010217)          
        439779.00   3765345.00        2.71642  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765345.00        2.71635  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765345.00        2.71617  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765345.00        2.71639  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765345.00        2.71634  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765345.00        2.71696  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765345.00        2.71666  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765345.00        2.71653  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765345.00        2.71679  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765345.00        2.71697  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765345.00        2.71661  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765345.00        2.71692  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765345.00        2.71709  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765345.00        2.71668  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765350.00        2.86130  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765350.00        2.85390  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765350.00        2.84718  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765350.00        2.83903  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765350.00        2.83187  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765350.00        2.82335  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765350.00        2.81569  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765350.00        2.80669  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765350.00        2.79893  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765350.00        2.78907  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765350.00        2.77095  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765350.00        2.76158  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765350.00        2.75179  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765350.00        2.74146  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765350.00        2.74117  (12010217)                
439774.00   3765350.00        2.74150  (12010217)          
        439779.00   3765350.00        2.74152  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765350.00        2.74148  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765350.00        2.74144  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765350.00        2.74179  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765350.00        2.74164  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765350.00        2.74232  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765350.00        2.74173  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765350.00        2.74207  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765350.00        2.74200  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765350.00        2.74224  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765350.00        2.74170  (12010217)                

646

Item D - 1228 of 1893



439874.00   3765350.00        2.74244  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765350.00        2.74209  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765350.00        2.74211  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765355.00        2.90411  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765355.00        2.89737  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765355.00        2.88961  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765355.00        2.88306  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765355.00        2.87522  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765355.00        2.86821  (12011417)          

647

Item D - 1229 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 210
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439704.00   3765355.00        2.85965  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765355.00        2.85219  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765355.00        2.84321  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765355.00        2.83539  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765355.00        2.81736  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765355.00        2.80797  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765355.00        2.79881  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765355.00        2.78946  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765355.00        2.77891  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765355.00        2.76724  (12010217)          
        439779.00   3765355.00        2.76731  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765355.00        2.76689  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765355.00        2.76743  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765355.00        2.76751  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765355.00        2.76799  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765355.00        2.76758  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765355.00        2.76767  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765355.00        2.76751  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765355.00        2.76804  (12010217)                

648

Item D - 1230 of 1893



439864.00   3765355.00        2.76738  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765355.00        2.76785  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765355.00        2.76777  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765355.00        2.76784  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765355.00        2.76761  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765360.00        2.94687  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765360.00        2.93991  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765360.00        2.93395  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765360.00        2.92633  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765360.00        2.91952  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765360.00        2.91167  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765360.00        2.90505  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765360.00        2.89651  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765360.00        2.88923  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765360.00        2.88063  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765360.00        2.86369  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765360.00        2.85513  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765360.00        2.84566  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765360.00        2.83629  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765360.00        2.82756  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765360.00        2.79365  (12010217)          
        439779.00   3765360.00        2.79359  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765360.00        2.79326  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765360.00        2.79389  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765360.00        2.79356  (12010217)          
        439799.00   3765360.00        2.79351  (12010217)                
439804.00   3765360.00        2.79365  (12010217)          
        439809.00   3765360.00        2.79394  (12010217)                
439814.00   3765360.00        2.79351  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765360.00        2.79404  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765360.00        2.79392  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765360.00        2.79377  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765360.00        2.79428  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765360.00        2.79403  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765360.00        2.79403  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765360.00        2.79418  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765360.00        2.79432  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765360.00        2.79395  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765360.00        2.79426  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765365.00        2.98980  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765365.00        2.98344  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765365.00        2.97685  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765365.00        2.97053  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765365.00        2.96352  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765365.00        2.95713  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765365.00        2.94907  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765365.00        2.94232  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765365.00        2.93426  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765365.00        2.92716  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765365.00        2.91061  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765365.00        2.90165  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765365.00        2.89333  (12011417)                

649

Item D - 1231 of 1893



439744.00   3765365.00        2.88452  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765365.00        2.87483  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765365.00        2.82584  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765365.00        2.82019  (12010217)                
439784.00   3765365.00        2.82055  (12010217)          
        439789.00   3765365.00        2.82054  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765365.00        2.82053  (12010217)          
        439799.00   3765365.00        2.82045  (12010217)                
439804.00   3765365.00        2.82101  (12010217)          

650

Item D - 1232 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 211
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765365.00        2.82050  (12010217)                
439814.00   3765365.00        2.82072  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765365.00        2.82113  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765365.00        2.82088  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765365.00        2.82107  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765365.00        2.82127  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765365.00        2.82089  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765365.00        2.82119  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765365.00        2.82136  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765365.00        2.82120  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765365.00        2.82094  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765365.00        2.82160  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765370.00        3.03323  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00        3.02721  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765370.00        3.02097  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765370.00        3.01435  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765370.00        3.00837  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765370.00        3.00105  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765370.00        2.99544  (12011417)                

651

Item D - 1233 of 1893



439709.00   3765370.00        2.98752  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765370.00        2.98036  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765370.00        2.97238  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765370.00        2.95720  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765370.00        2.94911  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765370.00        2.94050  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765370.00        2.93215  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765370.00        2.92416  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765370.00        2.87601  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765370.00        2.86587  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765370.00        2.85473  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765370.00        2.84815  (12010217)                
439794.00   3765370.00        2.84836  (12010217)          
        439799.00   3765370.00        2.84835  (12010217)                
439804.00   3765370.00        2.84863  (12010217)          
        439809.00   3765370.00        2.84824  (12010217)                
439814.00   3765370.00        2.84857  (12010217)          
        439839.00   3765370.00        2.84854  (12010217)                
439844.00   3765370.00        2.84850  (12010217)          
        439849.00   3765370.00        2.84906  (12010217)                
439854.00   3765370.00        2.84856  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765370.00        2.84876  (12010217)                
439864.00   3765370.00        2.84870  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765370.00        2.84914  (12010217)                
439874.00   3765370.00        2.84857  (12010217)          
        439879.00   3765370.00        2.84906  (12010217)                
439884.00   3765370.00        2.84894  (12010217)          
        439674.00   3765375.00        3.07668  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765375.00        3.07107  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765375.00        3.06495  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765375.00        3.05966  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765375.00        3.05260  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765375.00        3.04664  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765375.00        3.03958  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765375.00        3.03374  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765375.00        3.02623  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765375.00        3.01960  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765375.00        3.00462  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765375.00        2.99677  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765375.00        2.98859  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765375.00        2.98013  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765375.00        2.97158  (12011417)                
439754.00   3765375.00        2.96405  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765375.00        2.92703  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765375.00        2.91692  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765375.00        2.90703  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765375.00        2.89578  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765375.00        2.88540  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765375.00        2.87693  (12010217)          
        439804.00   3765375.00        2.87647  (12010217)                
439809.00   3765375.00        2.87664  (12010217)          
        439814.00   3765375.00        2.87689  (12010217)                

652

Item D - 1234 of 1893



439839.00   3765375.00        2.87665  (12010217)          
        439844.00   3765375.00        2.87722  (12010217)                
439849.00   3765375.00        2.87703  (12010217)          
        439854.00   3765375.00        2.87706  (12010217)                
439859.00   3765375.00        2.87684  (12010217)          
        439864.00   3765375.00        2.87753  (12010217)                
439869.00   3765375.00        2.87692  (12010217)          
        439874.00   3765375.00        2.87728  (12010217)                
439879.00   3765375.00        2.87727  (12010217)          

653

Item D - 1235 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 212
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439884.00   3765375.00        2.87731  (12010217)                
439774.00   3765380.00        2.97671  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765380.00        2.96778  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765380.00        2.95814  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765380.00        2.94872  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765380.00        2.93782  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765380.00        2.92710  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765380.00        2.91632  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765380.00        2.90585  (12010217)                
439814.00   3765380.00        2.90578  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765385.00        3.03681  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765385.00        2.93719  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765400.00        3.19028  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765400.00        3.04926  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765400.00        3.03821  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765405.00        3.34671  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765405.00        3.30965  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765405.00        3.30431  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765405.00        3.28734  (12011417)                

654

Item D - 1236 of 1893



439749.00   3765405.00        3.26957  (12011417)          
        439754.00   3765405.00        3.26286  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765405.00        3.23542  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765405.00        3.22697  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765405.00        3.22004  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765405.00        3.21270  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765405.00        3.20378  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765405.00        3.19497  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765405.00        3.18666  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765405.00        3.17822  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765405.00        3.16878  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765405.00        3.15897  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765405.00        3.14904  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765405.00        3.13922  (12011417)                
439834.00   3765405.00        3.12962  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765405.00        3.11838  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765405.00        3.10756  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765405.00        3.09640  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765405.00        3.08545  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765405.00        3.07316  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765410.00        3.39310  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765410.00        3.38934  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765410.00        3.38576  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765410.00        3.38115  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765410.00        3.37716  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765410.00        3.37228  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765410.00        3.36828  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765410.00        3.36346  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765410.00        3.35856  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765410.00        3.35328  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765410.00        3.34341  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765410.00        3.33823  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765410.00        3.33206  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765410.00        3.32582  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765410.00        3.32042  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765410.00        3.28827  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765410.00        3.28133  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765410.00        3.27304  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765410.00        3.26554  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765410.00        3.25829  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765410.00        3.25069  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765410.00        3.24193  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765410.00        3.23314  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765410.00        3.22445  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765410.00        3.21597  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765410.00        3.20615  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765410.00        3.19662  (12011417)          
        439834.00   3765410.00        3.18653  (12011417)                
439839.00   3765410.00        3.17731  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765410.00        3.16634  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765410.00        3.15599  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765410.00        3.14432  (12011417)                

655

Item D - 1237 of 1893



439859.00   3765410.00        3.13354  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765415.00        3.44104  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765415.00        3.43719  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765415.00        3.43300  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765415.00        3.42981  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765415.00        3.42542  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765415.00        3.42143  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765415.00        3.41673  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765415.00        3.41261  (12011417)          

656

Item D - 1238 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 213
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439714.00   3765415.00        3.40797  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765415.00        3.40328  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765415.00        3.39313  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765415.00        3.38811  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765415.00        3.38304  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765415.00        3.37771  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765415.00        3.37203  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765415.00        3.34048  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765415.00        3.33414  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765415.00        3.32773  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765415.00        3.32071  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765415.00        3.31241  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765415.00        3.30469  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765415.00        3.29738  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765415.00        3.29007  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765415.00        3.28094  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765415.00        3.27173  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765415.00        3.26349  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765415.00        3.25446  (12011417)                

657

Item D - 1239 of 1893



439834.00   3765415.00        3.24511  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765415.00        3.23506  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765415.00        3.22558  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765415.00        3.21521  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765415.00        3.20527  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765415.00        3.19373  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765420.00        3.48846  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765420.00        3.48581  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765420.00        3.48200  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765420.00        3.47808  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765420.00        3.47408  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765420.00        3.47055  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765420.00        3.46639  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765420.00        3.46232  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765420.00        3.45794  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765420.00        3.45341  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765420.00        3.44467  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765420.00        3.43958  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765420.00        3.43396  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765420.00        3.42882  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765420.00        3.42424  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765420.00        3.39530  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765420.00        3.38841  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765420.00        3.38100  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765420.00        3.37493  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765420.00        3.36890  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765420.00        3.36111  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765420.00        3.35281  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765420.00        3.34541  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765420.00        3.33793  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765420.00        3.33025  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765420.00        3.32085  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765420.00        3.31217  (12011417)          
        439834.00   3765420.00        3.30345  (12011417)                
439839.00   3765420.00        3.29509  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765420.00        3.28463  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765420.00        3.27533  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765420.00        3.26509  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765420.00        3.25508  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765425.00        3.53769  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765425.00        3.53401  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765425.00        3.53114  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765425.00        3.52821  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765425.00        3.52428  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765425.00        3.52038  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765425.00        3.51625  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765425.00        3.51300  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765425.00        3.50871  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765425.00        3.50461  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765425.00        3.49573  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765425.00        3.49100  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765425.00        3.48686  (12011417)                

658

Item D - 1240 of 1893



439744.00   3765425.00        3.48148  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765425.00        3.47634  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765425.00        3.44847  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765425.00        3.44318  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765425.00        3.43705  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765425.00        3.43030  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765425.00        3.42288  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765425.00        3.41690  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765425.00        3.41027  (12011417)          

659

Item D - 1241 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 214
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765425.00        3.40287  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765425.00        3.39449  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765425.00        3.38688  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765425.00        3.37978  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765425.00        3.37131  (12011417)                
439834.00   3765425.00        3.36258  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765425.00        3.35313  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765425.00        3.34526  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765425.00        3.33553  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765425.00        3.32624  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765425.00        3.31580  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765430.00        3.58727  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765430.00        3.58484  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765430.00        3.58076  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765430.00        3.57767  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765430.00        3.57444  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765430.00        3.57140  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765430.00        3.56760  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        3.56380  (12011417)                

660

Item D - 1242 of 1893



439714.00   3765430.00        3.55992  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765430.00        3.55638  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765430.00        3.54802  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765430.00        3.54355  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        3.53878  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765430.00        3.53460  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765430.00        3.53031  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765430.00        3.50434  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765430.00        3.49773  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765430.00        3.49202  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765430.00        3.48639  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765430.00        3.48082  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765430.00        3.47330  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765430.00        3.46626  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765430.00        3.46014  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765430.00        3.45347  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765430.00        3.44588  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765430.00        3.43739  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765430.00        3.43021  (12011417)          
        439834.00   3765430.00        3.42246  (12011417)                
439839.00   3765430.00        3.41457  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765430.00        3.40479  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765430.00        3.39645  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765430.00        3.38748  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765430.00        3.37821  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765435.00        3.63745  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765435.00        3.63434  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765435.00        3.63245  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765435.00        3.62955  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765435.00        3.62609  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765435.00        3.62237  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765435.00        3.61938  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765435.00        3.61622  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765435.00        3.61235  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765435.00        3.60855  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765435.00        3.60108  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765435.00        3.59687  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765435.00        3.59280  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765435.00        3.58787  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765435.00        3.58403  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765435.00        3.55935  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765435.00        3.55450  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765435.00        3.54906  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765435.00        3.54221  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765435.00        3.53660  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765435.00        3.53107  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765435.00        3.52520  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765435.00        3.51754  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765435.00        3.51077  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765435.00        3.50422  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765435.00        3.49819  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765435.00        3.48981  (12011417)                

661

Item D - 1243 of 1893



439834.00   3765435.00        3.48197  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765435.00        3.47407  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765435.00        3.46703  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765435.00        3.45773  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765435.00        3.44923  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765435.00        3.43971  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765440.00        3.68953  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765440.00        3.68723  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765440.00        3.68323  (12011417)          

662

Item D - 1244 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 215
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439689.00   3765440.00        3.68072  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765440.00        3.67834  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765440.00        3.67556  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765440.00        3.67204  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765440.00        3.66839  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765440.00        3.66568  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765440.00        3.66193  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765440.00        3.65454  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765440.00        3.65108  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765440.00        3.64673  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765440.00        3.64316  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765440.00        3.63909  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765440.00        3.61581  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765440.00        3.61039  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765440.00        3.60524  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765440.00        3.60078  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765440.00        3.59496  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765440.00        3.58840  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765440.00        3.58252  (12011417)                

663

Item D - 1245 of 1893



439809.00   3765440.00        3.57730  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765440.00        3.57100  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765440.00        3.56359  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765440.00        3.55663  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765440.00        3.55052  (12011417)          
        439834.00   3765440.00        3.54385  (12011417)                
439839.00   3765440.00        3.53590  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765440.00        3.52761  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765440.00        3.52017  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765440.00        3.51216  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765440.00        3.50363  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765445.00        3.74128  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765445.00        3.73952  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765445.00        3.73741  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765445.00        3.73475  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765445.00        3.73077  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765445.00        3.72842  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765445.00        3.72597  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765445.00        3.72331  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765445.00        3.71923  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765445.00        3.71605  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765445.00        3.70953  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765445.00        3.70653  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765445.00        3.70208  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765445.00        3.69859  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765445.00        3.69448  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765445.00        3.67321  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765445.00        3.66858  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765445.00        3.66368  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765445.00        3.65732  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765445.00        3.65331  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765445.00        3.64804  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765445.00        3.64274  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765445.00        3.63555  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765445.00        3.63033  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765445.00        3.62456  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765445.00        3.61881  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765445.00        3.61087  (12011417)                
439834.00   3765445.00        3.60413  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765445.00        3.59805  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765445.00        3.59091  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765445.00        3.58292  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765445.00        3.57473  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765445.00        3.56718  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765450.00        3.79622  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765450.00        3.79297  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765450.00        3.79030  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765450.00        3.78810  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765450.00        3.78638  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765450.00        3.78306  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765450.00        3.78020  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765450.00        3.77691  (12011417)                

664

Item D - 1246 of 1893



439714.00   3765450.00        3.77533  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765450.00        3.77150  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765450.00        3.76517  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765450.00        3.76220  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765450.00        3.75905  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765450.00        3.75531  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765450.00        3.75140  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765450.00        3.73066  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765450.00        3.65362  (12011417)          

665

Item D - 1247 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 216
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439849.00   3765450.00        3.64628  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765450.00        3.64026  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765450.00        3.63131  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765455.00        3.84959  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765455.00        3.84873  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765455.00        3.84618  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765455.00        3.84392  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765455.00        3.84021  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765455.00        3.83889  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765455.00        3.83642  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765455.00        3.83416  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765455.00        3.83058  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765455.00        3.82805  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765455.00        3.82223  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765455.00        3.81967  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765455.00        3.81525  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765455.00        3.81351  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765455.00        3.80910  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765455.00        3.71788  (12011417)                

666

Item D - 1248 of 1893



439849.00   3765455.00        3.71076  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765455.00        3.70331  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765455.00        3.69745  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765460.00        3.90743  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765460.00        3.90330  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765460.00        3.90226  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765460.00        3.89977  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765460.00        3.89900  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765460.00        3.89529  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765460.00        3.89276  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        3.89102  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765460.00        3.88903  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765460.00        3.88634  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765460.00        3.88020  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765460.00        3.87757  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        3.87481  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765460.00        3.87097  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765460.00        3.86857  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765460.00        3.83886  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765460.00        3.83423  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765460.00        3.82928  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765460.00        3.82554  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765460.00        3.82063  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765460.00        3.81607  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765460.00        3.80955  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765460.00        3.80533  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        3.79982  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765460.00        3.78251  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765460.00        3.77597  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765460.00        3.77087  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765460.00        3.76181  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765465.00        3.96311  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765465.00        3.96275  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765465.00        3.96013  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765465.00        3.95812  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765465.00        3.95557  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765465.00        3.95459  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765465.00        3.95275  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765465.00        3.94934  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765465.00        3.94700  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765465.00        3.94474  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765465.00        3.93983  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765465.00        3.93698  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765465.00        3.93349  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765465.00        3.93222  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765465.00        3.92791  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765465.00        3.90085  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765465.00        3.89689  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765465.00        3.89289  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765465.00        3.88779  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765465.00        3.88349  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765465.00        3.87897  (12011417)                

667

Item D - 1249 of 1893



439819.00   3765465.00        3.87536  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765465.00        3.86983  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765465.00        3.86380  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765465.00        3.84851  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765465.00        3.84172  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765465.00        3.83593  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765465.00        3.83057  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765470.00        4.02408  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765470.00        4.02056  (12011417)          

668

Item D - 1250 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 217
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765470.00        4.01960  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765470.00        4.01786  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765470.00        4.01647  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765470.00        4.01362  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765470.00        4.01120  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765470.00        4.01016  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765470.00        4.00755  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765470.00        4.00550  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765470.00        4.00055  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765470.00        3.99827  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765470.00        3.99548  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765470.00        3.99280  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765470.00        3.98970  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765470.00        3.96370  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765470.00        3.96081  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765470.00        3.95618  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765470.00        3.95301  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765470.00        3.94889  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765470.00        3.94380  (12011417)                

669

Item D - 1251 of 1893



439819.00   3765470.00        3.93943  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765470.00        3.93537  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765470.00        3.93150  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765470.00        3.91518  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765470.00        3.91051  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765470.00        3.90452  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765470.00        3.89766  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765475.00        4.08422  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765475.00        4.08232  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765475.00        4.08165  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765475.00        4.07794  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765475.00        4.07728  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765475.00        4.07515  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765475.00        4.07421  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765475.00        4.07051  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765475.00        4.06907  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765475.00        4.06672  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765475.00        4.06278  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765475.00        4.05964  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765475.00        4.05881  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765475.00        4.05545  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765475.00        4.05390  (12011417)                
439754.00   3765475.00        4.04996  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765475.00        4.02966  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765475.00        4.02583  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765475.00        4.02271  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765475.00        4.01868  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765475.00        4.01443  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765475.00        4.01147  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765475.00        4.00679  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765475.00        4.00250  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765475.00        3.99685  (12011417)                
439269.00   3764900.00        1.59313  (12010217)          
        439369.00   3764900.00        1.59387  (12010217)                
439469.00   3764900.00        1.59448  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3764900.00        1.59485  (12010217)                
439669.00   3764900.00        1.59504  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3764900.00        1.59476  (12010217)                
439869.00   3764900.00        1.59287  (12010217)          
        439969.00   3764900.00        1.58293  (12010217)                
440069.00   3764900.00        1.57060  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3764900.00        1.57140  (15010717)                
440269.00   3764900.00        1.57120  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765000.00        1.73893  (12010217)                
439369.00   3765000.00        1.73990  (12010217)          
        439469.00   3765000.00        1.74077  (12010217)                
439569.00   3765000.00        1.74143  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765000.00        1.74173  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765000.00        1.74174  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765000.00        1.74137  (12010217)                
439969.00   3765000.00        1.73810  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765000.00        1.71952  (12010217)                

670

Item D - 1252 of 1893



440169.00   3765000.00        1.71545  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765000.00        1.71533  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765100.00        1.92354  (12010217)          
        439369.00   3765100.00        1.92497  (12010217)                
439469.00   3765100.00        1.92653  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3765100.00        1.92735  (12010217)                
439669.00   3765100.00        1.92702  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765100.00        1.92728  (12010217)                
439869.00   3765100.00        1.92793  (12010217)          

671

Item D - 1253 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 218
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439969.00   3765100.00        1.92757  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765100.00        1.92202  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765100.00        1.89733  (15010717)                
440269.00   3765100.00        1.89746  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765200.00        2.32933  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765200.00        2.24074  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765200.00        2.16966  (12010217)                
439569.00   3765200.00        2.17095  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765200.00        2.17185  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765200.00        2.17304  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765200.00        2.17210  (12010217)                
439969.00   3765200.00        2.17298  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765200.00        2.17234  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765200.00        2.16174  (12010217)          
        440269.00   3765200.00        2.13750  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765300.00        2.81323  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765300.00        2.77726  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765300.00        2.71621  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765300.00        2.61553  (12011417)                

672

Item D - 1254 of 1893



439669.00   3765300.00        2.51256  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765300.00        2.51309  (12010217)                
439869.00   3765300.00        2.51373  (12010217)          
        439969.00   3765300.00        2.51399  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765300.00        2.51484  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765300.00        2.51482  (12010217)                
440269.00   3765300.00        2.49002  (12010217)          
        439269.00   3765400.00        3.42826  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765400.00        3.42067  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765400.00        3.40193  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765400.00        3.36749  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765400.00        3.30478  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        3.19028  (12011417)          
        439869.00   3765400.00        3.03036  (12010217)                
439969.00   3765400.00        3.03077  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765400.00        3.03215  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765400.00        3.03448  (12010217)          
        440269.00   3765400.00        3.03462  (12010217)                
439269.00   3765500.00        4.42698  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765500.00        4.43305  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765500.00        4.43524  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765500.00        4.43017  (12011417)                
439669.00   3765500.00        4.41633  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765500.00        4.38858  (12011417)                
439869.00   3765500.00        4.32918  (12011417)          
        439969.00   3765500.00        4.20654  (12011417)                
440069.00   3765500.00        3.94868  (12011417)          
        440169.00   3765500.00        3.96209  (15011517)                
440269.00   3765500.00        3.97306  (15011517)          
        439269.00   3765600.00        6.69317  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765600.00        6.71505  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765600.00        6.73794  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765600.00        6.75121  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765600.00        6.76146  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765600.00        6.76414  (12011417)          
        439869.00   3765600.00        6.75825  (12011417)                
439969.00   3765600.00        6.74373  (12011417)          
        440069.00   3765600.00        6.70982  (12011417)                
440169.00   3765600.00        6.76288  (15112218)          
        440269.00   3765600.00        6.87235  (15112218)                
439269.00   3765700.00       29.73991  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765700.00       30.85846  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765700.00       32.06369  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765700.00       33.12662  (12011417)                
439669.00   3765700.00       33.58885  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765700.00       34.05400  (14012117)                
439869.00   3765700.00       34.75595  (14012117)          
        439969.00   3765700.00       35.10332  (14012117)                
440069.00   3765700.00       35.72513  (14012117)          
        440169.00   3765700.00       35.88035  (14012117)                
440269.00   3765700.00       36.07950  (14012117)          
        439269.00   3765800.00        9.75068  (12111317)                

673

Item D - 1255 of 1893



439369.00   3765800.00        9.61181  (12111317)          
        439469.00   3765800.00        9.45847  (12111317)                
439569.00   3765800.00        9.40731  (12011717)          
        439669.00   3765800.00        9.46029  (12011717)                
439769.00   3765800.00        9.49141  (12011717)          
        439869.00   3765800.00        9.50597  (12011717)                
439969.00   3765800.00        9.51648  (12011717)          
        440069.00   3765800.00        9.51897  (12011717)                
440169.00   3765800.00        9.51567  (12011717)          

674

Item D - 1256 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 219
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEVAP ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000067    , A0000068    , A0000069    , A0000070    , 
A0000071    , 
                 A0000072    , A0000073    , A0000074    , 
A0000075    , A0000076    , A0000077    , A0000078    , 
A0000079    , 
                 A0000080    , A0000081    , A0000082    , 
A0000083    , A0000084    , A0000085    , A0000086    , 
A0000087    , 
                 A0000088    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        440269.00   3765800.00        9.48893  (12011717)                
439269.00   3765900.00        5.08837  (15120818)          
        439369.00   3765900.00        5.05555  (15120818)                
439469.00   3765900.00        5.08184  (13111217)          
        439569.00   3765900.00        5.11793  (13111217)                
439669.00   3765900.00        5.12750  (13111217)          
        439769.00   3765900.00        5.12785  (13111217)                
439869.00   3765900.00        5.17412  (12011717)          
        439969.00   3765900.00        5.26036  (12011717)                
440069.00   3765900.00        5.31836  (12011717)          
        440169.00   3765900.00        5.35788  (12011717)                
440269.00   3765900.00        5.38569  (12011717)          
        439649.00   3765310.00        2.57118  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765310.00        2.55416  (12010217)          
        439709.00   3765310.00        2.55462  (12010217)                
439739.00   3765310.00        2.55498  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        2.55530  (12010217)                
439799.00   3765310.00        2.55536  (12010217)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        2.55546  (12010217)                

675

Item D - 1257 of 1893



439859.00   3765310.00        2.55547  (12010217)          
        439889.00   3765310.00        2.55553  (12010217)                
439649.00   3765340.00        2.81345  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765340.00        2.76870  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765340.00        2.71759  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        2.69121  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765340.00        2.69169  (12010217)          
        439799.00   3765340.00        2.69212  (12010217)                
439829.00   3765340.00        2.69251  (12010217)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        2.69245  (12010217)                
439889.00   3765340.00        2.69234  (12010217)          
        439649.00   3765370.00        3.06101  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00        3.02721  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765370.00        2.98752  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765370.00        2.94050  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765370.00        2.88690  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765370.00        2.84835  (12010217)          
        439829.00   3765370.00        2.84859  (12010217)                
439859.00   3765370.00        2.84876  (12010217)          
        439889.00   3765370.00        2.84885  (12010217)                
439649.00   3765400.00        3.32055  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765400.00        3.29552  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765400.00        3.26663  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765400.00        3.23210  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        3.19028  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765400.00        3.14150  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765400.00        3.08253  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765400.00        3.03012  (12010217)                
439889.00   3765400.00        3.03055  (12010217)          
        439649.00   3765430.00        3.60122  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765430.00        3.58484  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        3.56380  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        3.53878  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765430.00        3.50979  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765430.00        3.47330  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765430.00        3.43021  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765430.00        3.37821  (12011417)          
        439889.00   3765430.00        3.31501  (12011417)                
439649.00   3765460.00        3.91586  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765460.00        3.90330  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        3.89102  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        3.87481  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765460.00        3.85440  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765460.00        3.82928  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        3.79982  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765460.00        3.76181  (12011417)                
439889.00   3765460.00        3.71779  (12011417)          
        439649.00   3765490.00        4.28335  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765490.00        4.27579  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765490.00        4.26721  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765490.00        4.25700  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765490.00        4.24412  (12011417)                

676

Item D - 1258 of 1893



439799.00   3765490.00        4.22790  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765490.00        4.20854  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765490.00        4.18360  (12011417)          
        439889.00   3765490.00        4.15516  (12011417)                                                                           

677

Item D - 1259 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 220
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439674.00   3765310.00        1.67734  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765310.00        1.68121  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765310.00        1.68456  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765310.00        1.68675  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765310.00        1.68829  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765310.00        1.68794  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765310.00        1.68731  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765310.00        1.68979  (12011808)          
        439714.00   3765310.00        1.69826  (12011808)                
439719.00   3765310.00        1.70623  (12011808)          
        439729.00   3765310.00        1.71762  (12011808)                
439734.00   3765310.00        1.72174  (12011808)          
        439739.00   3765310.00        1.72526  (12011808)                
439744.00   3765310.00        1.72719  (12011808)          
        439749.00   3765310.00        1.72782  (12011808)                
439764.00   3765310.00        1.72449  (12011808)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        1.72095  (12011808)                

678

Item D - 1260 of 1893



439774.00   3765310.00        1.71669  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765310.00        1.71678  (15111218)                
439784.00   3765310.00        1.71679  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765310.00        1.72380  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765310.00        1.72930  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765310.00        1.73488  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765310.00        1.75492  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765310.00        1.77350  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765310.00        1.78985  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765310.00        1.80467  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765310.00        1.81772  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        1.82908  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765310.00        1.84728  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765310.00        1.85383  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765310.00        1.85924  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765310.00        1.86364  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765310.00        1.86571  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765310.00        1.86757  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765310.00        1.86855  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765310.00        1.86776  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765310.00        1.86671  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765310.00        1.86510  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765315.00        1.69468  (13121718)          
        439679.00   3765315.00        1.70029  (13121718)                
439684.00   3765315.00        1.70423  (13121718)          
        439689.00   3765315.00        1.70791  (13121718)                
439694.00   3765315.00        1.71011  (13121718)          
        439699.00   3765315.00        1.71192  (13121718)                
439704.00   3765315.00        1.71191  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765315.00        1.71102  (13121718)                
439714.00   3765315.00        1.71243  (12011808)          
        439719.00   3765315.00        1.72133  (12011808)                
439729.00   3765315.00        1.73555  (12011808)          
        439734.00   3765315.00        1.74065  (12011808)                
439739.00   3765315.00        1.74521  (12011808)          
        439744.00   3765315.00        1.74846  (12011808)                
439749.00   3765315.00        1.75055  (12011808)          
        439764.00   3765315.00        1.74959  (12011808)                
439769.00   3765315.00        1.74734  (12011808)          
        439774.00   3765315.00        1.74379  (12011808)                
439779.00   3765315.00        1.73921  (12011808)          
        439784.00   3765315.00        1.73773  (15111218)                
439789.00   3765315.00        1.73848  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765315.00        1.74526  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765315.00        1.75071  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765315.00        1.76314  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765315.00        1.78274  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765315.00        1.80042  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765315.00        1.81660  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765315.00        1.83105  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765315.00        1.84300  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765315.00        1.86302  (13120808)                

679

Item D - 1261 of 1893



439844.00   3765315.00        1.87070  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765315.00        1.87733  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765315.00        1.88135  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765315.00        1.88473  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765315.00        1.88736  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765315.00        1.88806  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765315.00        1.88816  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765315.00        1.88782  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765315.00        1.88588  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765320.00        1.71092  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765320.00        1.71765  (13121718)          

680

Item D - 1262 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 221
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765320.00        1.72374  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765320.00        1.72813  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765320.00        1.73182  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765320.00        1.73419  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765320.00        1.73593  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765320.00        1.73647  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765320.00        1.73528  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765320.00        1.73571  (12011808)          
        439729.00   3765320.00        1.75263  (12011808)                
439734.00   3765320.00        1.75959  (12011808)          
        439739.00   3765320.00        1.76441  (12011808)                
439744.00   3765320.00        1.76913  (12011808)          
        439749.00   3765320.00        1.77221  (12011808)                
439764.00   3765320.00        1.77428  (12011808)          
        439769.00   3765320.00        1.77328  (12011808)                
439774.00   3765320.00        1.77054  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765320.00        1.76712  (12011808)                

681

Item D - 1263 of 1893



439784.00   3765320.00        1.76246  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765320.00        1.75907  (15111218)                
439794.00   3765320.00        1.76087  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765320.00        1.76719  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765320.00        1.77208  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765320.00        1.79145  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765320.00        1.81099  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765320.00        1.82831  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765320.00        1.84346  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765320.00        1.85738  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765320.00        1.87917  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765320.00        1.88796  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765320.00        1.89457  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765320.00        1.89961  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765320.00        1.90446  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765320.00        1.90661  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765320.00        1.90820  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765320.00        1.90947  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765320.00        1.90826  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765320.00        1.90684  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765325.00        1.72619  (13121718)          
        439679.00   3765325.00        1.73431  (13121718)                
439684.00   3765325.00        1.74139  (13121718)          
        439689.00   3765325.00        1.74756  (13121718)                
439694.00   3765325.00        1.75268  (13121718)          
        439699.00   3765325.00        1.75633  (13121718)                
439704.00   3765325.00        1.75899  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765325.00        1.76053  (13121718)                
439714.00   3765325.00        1.76139  (13121718)          
        439719.00   3765325.00        1.76041  (13121718)                
439729.00   3765325.00        1.76920  (12011808)          
        439734.00   3765325.00        1.77690  (12011808)                
439739.00   3765325.00        1.78393  (12011808)          
        439744.00   3765325.00        1.78907  (12011808)                
439749.00   3765325.00        1.79370  (12011808)          
        439754.00   3765325.00        1.79649  (12011808)                
439769.00   3765325.00        1.79870  (12011808)          
        439774.00   3765325.00        1.79720  (12011808)                
439779.00   3765325.00        1.79430  (12011808)          
        439784.00   3765325.00        1.79088  (12011808)                
439789.00   3765325.00        1.78612  (12011808)          
        439794.00   3765325.00        1.78089  (15111218)                
439799.00   3765325.00        1.78348  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765325.00        1.78962  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765325.00        1.80029  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765325.00        1.82076  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765325.00        1.83929  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765325.00        1.85623  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765325.00        1.87111  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765325.00        1.89527  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765325.00        1.90444  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765325.00        1.91213  (13120808)                

682

Item D - 1264 of 1893



439854.00   3765325.00        1.91908  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765325.00        1.92315  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765325.00        1.92647  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765325.00        1.92918  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765325.00        1.92955  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765325.00        1.92968  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765325.00        1.92918  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765330.00        1.74064  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765330.00        1.75007  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765330.00        1.75845  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765330.00        1.76584  (13121718)          

683

Item D - 1265 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 222
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439694.00   3765330.00        1.77211  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765330.00        1.77754  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765330.00        1.78159  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765330.00        1.78442  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765330.00        1.78584  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765330.00        1.78684  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765330.00        1.78458  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765330.00        1.79397  (12011808)          
        439739.00   3765330.00        1.80171  (12011808)                
439744.00   3765330.00        1.80880  (12011808)          
        439749.00   3765330.00        1.81444  (12011808)                
439754.00   3765330.00        1.81852  (12011808)          
        439774.00   3765330.00        1.82359  (12011808)                
439779.00   3765330.00        1.82194  (12011808)          
        439784.00   3765330.00        1.81880  (12011808)                
439789.00   3765330.00        1.81507  (12011808)          
        439794.00   3765330.00        1.81007  (12011808)                

684

Item D - 1266 of 1893



439799.00   3765330.00        1.80377  (12011808)          
        439804.00   3765330.00        1.80648  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765330.00        1.81228  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765330.00        1.83012  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765330.00        1.85043  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765330.00        1.86870  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765330.00        1.88463  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765330.00        1.91100  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765330.00        1.92146  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765330.00        1.93052  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765330.00        1.93714  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765330.00        1.94280  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765330.00        1.94668  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765330.00        1.94916  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765330.00        1.95124  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765330.00        1.95149  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765330.00        1.95099  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765335.00        1.75329  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765335.00        1.76438  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765335.00        1.77439  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765335.00        1.78338  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765335.00        1.79089  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765335.00        1.79741  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765335.00        1.80297  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765335.00        1.80726  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765335.00        1.81057  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765335.00        1.81205  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765335.00        1.81224  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765335.00        1.81104  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765335.00        1.81945  (12011808)                
439744.00   3765335.00        1.82740  (12011808)          
        439749.00   3765335.00        1.83414  (12011808)                
439774.00   3765335.00        1.84966  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765335.00        1.84932  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765335.00        1.84689  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765335.00        1.84385  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765335.00        1.84005  (12011808)          
        439839.00   3765335.00        1.92723  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765335.00        1.93812  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765335.00        1.94820  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765335.00        1.95598  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765335.00        1.96214  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765335.00        1.96747  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765335.00        1.97029  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765335.00        1.97249  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765335.00        1.97378  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765335.00        1.97318  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765340.00        1.76486  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765340.00        1.77730  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765340.00        1.78884  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765340.00        1.79927  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765340.00        1.80866  (13121718)                

685

Item D - 1267 of 1893



439699.00   3765340.00        1.81675  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765340.00        1.82339  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765340.00        1.82922  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765340.00        1.83354  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765340.00        1.83728  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765340.00        1.83995  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765340.00        1.83899  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        1.83783  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765340.00        1.84559  (12011808)          
        439749.00   3765340.00        1.85390  (12011808)                
439774.00   3765340.00        1.87549  (12011808)          

686

Item D - 1268 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 223
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439779.00   3765340.00        1.87554  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765340.00        1.87522  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765340.00        1.87297  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765340.00        1.86945  (12011808)          
        439839.00   3765340.00        1.94234  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765340.00        1.95562  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765340.00        1.96604  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765340.00        1.97504  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        1.98229  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765340.00        1.98769  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765340.00        1.99178  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765340.00        1.99418  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765340.00        1.99572  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765340.00        1.99597  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765345.00        1.77495  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765345.00        1.78906  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765345.00        1.80219  (13121718)                

687

Item D - 1269 of 1893



439689.00   3765345.00        1.81395  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765345.00        1.82480  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765345.00        1.83444  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765345.00        1.84330  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765345.00        1.85025  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765345.00        1.85624  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765345.00        1.86062  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765345.00        1.86649  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765345.00        1.86747  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765345.00        1.86676  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765345.00        1.86531  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765345.00        1.87239  (12011808)                
439774.00   3765345.00        1.90078  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765345.00        1.90230  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765345.00        1.90249  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765345.00        1.90158  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765345.00        1.89948  (12011808)          
        439839.00   3765345.00        1.95808  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765345.00        1.97250  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765345.00        1.98401  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765345.00        1.99416  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765345.00        2.00239  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765345.00        2.00807  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765345.00        2.01301  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765345.00        2.01672  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765345.00        2.01830  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765345.00        2.01942  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765350.00        1.80037  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765350.00        1.79910  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765350.00        1.81384  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765350.00        1.82772  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765350.00        1.83977  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765350.00        1.85117  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765350.00        1.86107  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765350.00        1.87029  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765350.00        1.87775  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765350.00        1.88396  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765350.00        1.89236  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765350.00        1.89468  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765350.00        1.89586  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765350.00        1.89538  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765350.00        1.89373  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765350.00        1.92581  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765350.00        1.92852  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765350.00        1.92983  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765350.00        1.92999  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765350.00        1.92879  (12011808)          
        439839.00   3765350.00        1.97384  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765350.00        1.98873  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765350.00        2.00203  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765350.00        2.01327  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765350.00        2.02202  (13120808)                

688

Item D - 1270 of 1893



439864.00   3765350.00        2.02963  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765350.00        2.03510  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765350.00        2.03894  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765350.00        2.04157  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765350.00        2.04291  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765355.00        1.84024  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765355.00        1.83394  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765355.00        1.82655  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765355.00        1.83926  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765355.00        1.85373  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765355.00        1.86646  (13121718)          

689

Item D - 1271 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 224
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439704.00   3765355.00        1.87832  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765355.00        1.88846  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765355.00        1.89803  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765355.00        1.90591  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765355.00        1.91741  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765355.00        1.92119  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765355.00        1.92359  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765355.00        1.92481  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765355.00        1.92458  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765355.00        1.94996  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765355.00        1.95415  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765355.00        1.95700  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765355.00        1.95822  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765355.00        1.95816  (12011808)          
        439839.00   3765355.00        1.98853  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765355.00        2.00519  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765355.00        2.02010  (13120808)                

690

Item D - 1272 of 1893



439854.00   3765355.00        2.03240  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765355.00        2.04256  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765355.00        2.05107  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765355.00        2.05731  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765355.00        2.06128  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765355.00        2.06497  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765355.00        2.06657  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765360.00        1.87889  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765360.00        1.87440  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765360.00        1.86859  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765360.00        1.86128  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765360.00        1.86537  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765360.00        1.88044  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765360.00        1.89365  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765360.00        1.90638  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765360.00        1.91680  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765360.00        1.92660  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765360.00        1.94161  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765360.00        1.94715  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765360.00        1.95068  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765360.00        1.95349  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765360.00        1.95462  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765360.00        1.97393  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765360.00        1.97945  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765360.00        1.98325  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765360.00        1.98619  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765360.00        1.98729  (12011808)          
        439799.00   3765360.00        1.98713  (12011808)                
439804.00   3765360.00        1.98526  (12011808)          
        439809.00   3765360.00        1.98249  (12011808)                
439814.00   3765360.00        1.97825  (12011808)          
        439839.00   3765360.00        2.00371  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765360.00        2.02206  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765360.00        2.03797  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765360.00        2.05139  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765360.00        2.06296  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765360.00        2.07184  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765360.00        2.07939  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765360.00        2.08497  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765360.00        2.08875  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765360.00        2.09131  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765365.00        1.91689  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765365.00        1.91341  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765365.00        1.90918  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765365.00        1.90381  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765365.00        1.89722  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765365.00        1.89231  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765365.00        1.90802  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765365.00        1.92168  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765365.00        1.93483  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765365.00        1.94609  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765365.00        1.96433  (13121718)                

691

Item D - 1273 of 1893



439734.00   3765365.00        1.97143  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765365.00        1.97761  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765365.00        1.98134  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765365.00        1.98414  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765365.00        1.99688  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765365.00        2.00402  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765365.00        2.00995  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765365.00        2.01326  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765365.00        2.01594  (12011808)          
        439799.00   3765365.00        2.01721  (12011808)                
439804.00   3765365.00        2.01694  (12011808)          

692

Item D - 1274 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 225
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765365.00        2.01457  (12011808)                
439814.00   3765365.00        2.01137  (12011808)          
        439839.00   3765365.00        2.01810  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765365.00        2.03832  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765365.00        2.05573  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765365.00        2.07031  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765365.00        2.08324  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765365.00        2.09391  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765365.00        2.10205  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765365.00        2.10887  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765365.00        2.11297  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765365.00        2.11591  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765370.00        1.95368  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00        1.95232  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765370.00        1.94914  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765370.00        1.94492  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765370.00        1.93975  (12011417)                

693

Item D - 1275 of 1893



439699.00   3765370.00        1.93355  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765370.00        1.92631  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765370.00        1.93646  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765370.00        1.95048  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765370.00        1.96416  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765370.00        1.98636  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765370.00        1.99501  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765370.00        2.00225  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765370.00        2.00865  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765370.00        2.01287  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765370.00        2.01945  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765370.00        2.02822  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765370.00        2.03511  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765370.00        2.04062  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765370.00        2.04464  (12011808)          
        439799.00   3765370.00        2.04668  (12011808)                
439804.00   3765370.00        2.04739  (12011808)          
        439809.00   3765370.00        2.04726  (12011808)                
439814.00   3765370.00        2.04505  (12011808)          
        439839.00   3765370.00        2.03218  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765370.00        2.05418  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765370.00        2.07340  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765370.00        2.08983  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765370.00        2.10408  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765370.00        2.11562  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765370.00        2.12449  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765370.00        2.13227  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765370.00        2.13769  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765370.00        2.14119  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765375.00        1.98921  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765375.00        1.98906  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765375.00        1.98856  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765375.00        1.98589  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765375.00        1.98222  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765375.00        1.97681  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765375.00        1.97085  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765375.00        1.96380  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765375.00        1.96579  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765375.00        1.98036  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765375.00        2.00659  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765375.00        2.01759  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765375.00        2.02689  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765375.00        2.03394  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765375.00        2.04061  (13121718)                
439754.00   3765375.00        2.04523  (13121718)          
        439774.00   3765375.00        2.04784  (13121718)                
439779.00   3765375.00        2.05154  (12011808)          
        439784.00   3765375.00        2.06034  (12011808)                
439789.00   3765375.00        2.06725  (12011808)          
        439794.00   3765375.00        2.07221  (12011808)                
439799.00   3765375.00        2.07646  (12011808)          
        439804.00   3765375.00        2.07842  (12011808)                

694

Item D - 1276 of 1893



439809.00   3765375.00        2.07900  (12011808)          
        439814.00   3765375.00        2.07803  (12011808)                
439839.00   3765375.00        2.05283  (12011808)          
        439844.00   3765375.00        2.06990  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765375.00        2.09098  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765375.00        2.10935  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765375.00        2.12404  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765375.00        2.13717  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765375.00        2.14822  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765375.00        2.15626  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765375.00        2.16277  (13120808)          

695

Item D - 1277 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 226
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439884.00   3765375.00        2.16740  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765380.00        2.08258  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765380.00        2.08108  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765380.00        2.08441  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765380.00        2.09330  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765380.00        2.10029  (12011808)          
        439799.00   3765380.00        2.10520  (12011808)                
439804.00   3765380.00        2.10898  (12011808)          
        439809.00   3765380.00        2.11111  (12011808)                
439814.00   3765380.00        2.11122  (12011808)          
        439769.00   3765385.00        2.11556  (13121718)                
439819.00   3765385.00        2.14455  (12011808)          
        439769.00   3765400.00        2.20886  (13121718)                
439844.00   3765400.00        2.24224  (12011808)          
        439849.00   3765400.00        2.23633  (12011808)                
439674.00   3765405.00        2.16517  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765405.00        2.22615  (12011417)                

696

Item D - 1278 of 1893



439719.00   3765405.00        2.22705  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765405.00        2.21927  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765405.00        2.19799  (12011417)          
        439754.00   3765405.00        2.19751  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765405.00        2.24730  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765405.00        2.25485  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765405.00        2.26040  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765405.00        2.26444  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765405.00        2.26586  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765405.00        2.26537  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765405.00        2.26350  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765405.00        2.26547  (12011808)                
439814.00   3765405.00        2.27397  (12011808)          
        439819.00   3765405.00        2.28036  (12011808)                
439824.00   3765405.00        2.28480  (12011808)          
        439829.00   3765405.00        2.28725  (12011808)                
439834.00   3765405.00        2.28735  (12011808)          
        439839.00   3765405.00        2.28575  (12011808)                
439844.00   3765405.00        2.28290  (12011808)          
        439849.00   3765405.00        2.27843  (12011808)                
439854.00   3765405.00        2.27206  (12011808)          
        439859.00   3765405.00        2.26446  (12011808)                
439674.00   3765410.00        2.18665  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765410.00        2.20164  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765410.00        2.21586  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765410.00        2.22782  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765410.00        2.23901  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765410.00        2.24812  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765410.00        2.25658  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765410.00        2.26259  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765410.00        2.26732  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765410.00        2.26989  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765410.00        2.27113  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765410.00        2.26898  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765410.00        2.26532  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765410.00        2.25975  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765410.00        2.25270  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765410.00        2.27725  (13121718)                
439779.00   3765410.00        2.28715  (13121718)          
        439784.00   3765410.00        2.29481  (13121718)                
439789.00   3765410.00        2.30038  (13121718)          
        439794.00   3765410.00        2.30414  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765410.00        2.30629  (13121718)          
        439804.00   3765410.00        2.30563  (13121718)                
439809.00   3765410.00        2.30332  (13121718)          
        439814.00   3765410.00        2.30569  (12011808)                
439819.00   3765410.00        2.31361  (12011808)          
        439824.00   3765410.00        2.31959  (12011808)                
439829.00   3765410.00        2.32388  (12011808)          
        439834.00   3765410.00        2.32605  (12011808)                
439839.00   3765410.00        2.32591  (12011808)          
        439844.00   3765410.00        2.32391  (12011808)                

697

Item D - 1279 of 1893



439849.00   3765410.00        2.32025  (12011808)          
        439854.00   3765410.00        2.31517  (12011808)                
439859.00   3765410.00        2.30889  (12011808)          
        439674.00   3765415.00        2.20430  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765415.00        2.22240  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765415.00        2.23887  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765415.00        2.25422  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765415.00        2.26776  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765415.00        2.27973  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765415.00        2.28981  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765415.00        2.29882  (12011417)          

698

Item D - 1280 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 227
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439714.00   3765415.00        2.30592  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765415.00        2.31177  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765415.00        2.31725  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765415.00        2.31713  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765415.00        2.31556  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765415.00        2.31268  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765415.00        2.30783  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765415.00        2.30576  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765415.00        2.31786  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765415.00        2.32826  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765415.00        2.33635  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765415.00        2.34173  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765415.00        2.34548  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765415.00        2.34745  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765415.00        2.34690  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765415.00        2.34468  (13121718)          
        439819.00   3765415.00        2.34661  (12011808)                

699

Item D - 1281 of 1893



439824.00   3765415.00        2.35482  (12011808)          
        439829.00   3765415.00        2.36064  (12011808)                
439834.00   3765415.00        2.36394  (12011808)          
        439839.00   3765415.00        2.36569  (12011808)                
439844.00   3765415.00        2.36552  (12011808)          
        439849.00   3765415.00        2.36298  (12011808)                
439854.00   3765415.00        2.35872  (12011808)          
        439859.00   3765415.00        2.35333  (12011808)                
439674.00   3765420.00        2.21979  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765420.00        2.24024  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765420.00        2.25901  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765420.00        2.27706  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765420.00        2.29322  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765420.00        2.30853  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765420.00        2.32155  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765420.00        2.33293  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765420.00        2.34283  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765420.00        2.35053  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765420.00        2.36164  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765420.00        2.36457  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765420.00        2.36503  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765420.00        2.36351  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765420.00        2.36131  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765420.00        2.33279  (13121718)                
439779.00   3765420.00        2.34792  (13121718)          
        439784.00   3765420.00        2.36005  (13121718)                
439789.00   3765420.00        2.37067  (13121718)          
        439794.00   3765420.00        2.37886  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765420.00        2.38486  (13121718)          
        439804.00   3765420.00        2.38826  (13121718)                
439809.00   3765420.00        2.38988  (13121718)          
        439814.00   3765420.00        2.38955  (13121718)                
439819.00   3765420.00        2.38734  (13121718)          
        439824.00   3765420.00        2.38913  (12011808)                
439829.00   3765420.00        2.39688  (12011808)          
        439834.00   3765420.00        2.40287  (12011808)                
439839.00   3765420.00        2.40580  (12011808)          
        439844.00   3765420.00        2.40682  (12011808)                
439849.00   3765420.00        2.40578  (12011808)          
        439854.00   3765420.00        2.40315  (12011808)                
439859.00   3765420.00        2.39877  (12011808)          
        439674.00   3765425.00        2.23154  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765425.00        2.25431  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765425.00        2.27685  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765425.00        2.29696  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765425.00        2.31622  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765425.00        2.33346  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765425.00        2.34980  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765425.00        2.36404  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765425.00        2.37719  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765425.00        2.38805  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765425.00        2.40399  (12011417)                

700

Item D - 1282 of 1893



439734.00   3765425.00        2.40929  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765425.00        2.41324  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765425.00        2.41439  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765425.00        2.41384  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765425.00        2.38405  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765425.00        2.37554  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765425.00        2.39145  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765425.00        2.40414  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765425.00        2.41443  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765425.00        2.42309  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765425.00        2.42908  (13121718)          

701

Item D - 1283 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 228
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765425.00        2.43295  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765425.00        2.43411  (13121718)          
        439819.00   3765425.00        2.43349  (13121718)                
439824.00   3765425.00        2.43067  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765425.00        2.43296  (12011808)                
439834.00   3765425.00        2.44062  (12011808)          
        439839.00   3765425.00        2.44596  (12011808)                
439844.00   3765425.00        2.44866  (12011808)          
        439849.00   3765425.00        2.44923  (12011808)                
439854.00   3765425.00        2.44770  (12011808)          
        439859.00   3765425.00        2.44461  (12011808)                
439674.00   3765430.00        2.25440  (12112508)          
        439679.00   3765430.00        2.26547  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765430.00        2.28980  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765430.00        2.31370  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765430.00        2.33567  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765430.00        2.35660  (12011417)                

702

Item D - 1284 of 1893



439704.00   3765430.00        2.37510  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        2.39272  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765430.00        2.40797  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765430.00        2.42222  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765430.00        2.44482  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765430.00        2.45276  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        2.45850  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765430.00        2.46308  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765430.00        2.46532  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765430.00        2.44674  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765430.00        2.43767  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765430.00        2.42599  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765430.00        2.43615  (13121718)          
        439794.00   3765430.00        2.44984  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765430.00        2.46037  (13121718)          
        439804.00   3765430.00        2.46874  (13121718)                
439809.00   3765430.00        2.47482  (13121718)          
        439814.00   3765430.00        2.47889  (13121718)                
439819.00   3765430.00        2.48012  (13121718)          
        439824.00   3765430.00        2.47904  (13121718)                
439829.00   3765430.00        2.47591  (13121718)          
        439834.00   3765430.00        2.47859  (12011808)                
439839.00   3765430.00        2.48606  (12011808)          
        439844.00   3765430.00        2.49058  (12011808)                
439849.00   3765430.00        2.49306  (12011808)          
        439854.00   3765430.00        2.49295  (12011808)                
439859.00   3765430.00        2.49071  (12011808)          
        439674.00   3765435.00        2.29100  (12112508)                
439679.00   3765435.00        2.30038  (12112508)          
        439684.00   3765435.00        2.30904  (12112508)                
439689.00   3765435.00        2.32645  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765435.00        2.35153  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765435.00        2.37515  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765435.00        2.39731  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765435.00        2.41794  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765435.00        2.43693  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765435.00        2.45355  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765435.00        2.48203  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765435.00        2.49395  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765435.00        2.50304  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765435.00        2.51000  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765435.00        2.51492  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765435.00        2.50881  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765435.00        2.50151  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765435.00        2.49257  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765435.00        2.48158  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765435.00        2.48259  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765435.00        2.49694  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765435.00        2.50814  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765435.00        2.51625  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765435.00        2.52250  (13121718)          
        439819.00   3765435.00        2.52625  (13121718)                

703

Item D - 1285 of 1893



439824.00   3765435.00        2.52737  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765435.00        2.52646  (13121718)                
439834.00   3765435.00        2.52307  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765435.00        2.52570  (12011808)                
439844.00   3765435.00        2.53268  (12011808)          
        439849.00   3765435.00        2.53687  (12011808)                
439854.00   3765435.00        2.53865  (12011808)          
        439859.00   3765435.00        2.53820  (12011808)                
439674.00   3765440.00        2.32369  (12112508)          
        439679.00   3765440.00        2.33716  (12112508)                
439684.00   3765440.00        2.34803  (12112508)          

704

Item D - 1286 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 229
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439689.00   3765440.00        2.35786  (12112508)                
439694.00   3765440.00        2.36550  (12112508)          
        439699.00   3765440.00        2.39035  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765440.00        2.41592  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765440.00        2.43932  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765440.00        2.46173  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765440.00        2.48204  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765440.00        2.51726  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765440.00        2.53147  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765440.00        2.54420  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765440.00        2.55461  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765440.00        2.56294  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765440.00        2.57084  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765440.00        2.56574  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765440.00        2.55857  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765440.00        2.54941  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765440.00        2.53846  (12011417)                

705

Item D - 1287 of 1893



439799.00   3765440.00        2.53120  (13121718)          
        439804.00   3765440.00        2.54569  (13121718)                
439809.00   3765440.00        2.55740  (13121718)          
        439814.00   3765440.00        2.56596  (13121718)                
439819.00   3765440.00        2.57202  (13121718)          
        439824.00   3765440.00        2.57510  (13121718)                
439829.00   3765440.00        2.57633  (13121718)          
        439834.00   3765440.00        2.57525  (13121718)                
439839.00   3765440.00        2.57113  (13121718)          
        439844.00   3765440.00        2.57463  (12011808)                
439849.00   3765440.00        2.58086  (12011808)          
        439854.00   3765440.00        2.58447  (12011808)                
439859.00   3765440.00        2.58558  (12011808)          
        439674.00   3765445.00        2.35292  (12112508)                
439679.00   3765445.00        2.36889  (12112508)          
        439684.00   3765445.00        2.38337  (12112508)                
439689.00   3765445.00        2.39661  (12112508)          
        439694.00   3765445.00        2.40801  (12112508)                
439699.00   3765445.00        2.41729  (12112508)          
        439704.00   3765445.00        2.43027  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765445.00        2.45758  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765445.00        2.48271  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765445.00        2.50664  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765445.00        2.54878  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765445.00        2.56699  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765445.00        2.58272  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765445.00        2.59661  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765445.00        2.60777  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765445.00        2.63110  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765445.00        2.62866  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765445.00        2.62451  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765445.00        2.61772  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765445.00        2.60881  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765445.00        2.59747  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765445.00        2.58472  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765445.00        2.59654  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765445.00        2.60828  (13121718)          
        439819.00   3765445.00        2.61735  (13121718)                
439824.00   3765445.00        2.62328  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765445.00        2.62658  (13121718)                
439834.00   3765445.00        2.62701  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765445.00        2.62560  (13121718)                
439844.00   3765445.00        2.62164  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765445.00        2.62534  (12011808)                
439854.00   3765445.00        2.63100  (12011808)          
        439859.00   3765445.00        2.63442  (12011808)                
439674.00   3765450.00        2.37860  (12112508)          
        439679.00   3765450.00        2.39731  (12112508)                
439684.00   3765450.00        2.41517  (12112508)          
        439689.00   3765450.00        2.43083  (12112508)                
439694.00   3765450.00        2.44585  (12112508)          
        439699.00   3765450.00        2.45869  (12112508)                

706

Item D - 1288 of 1893



439704.00   3765450.00        2.47030  (12112508)          
        439709.00   3765450.00        2.47940  (12112508)                
439714.00   3765450.00        2.50018  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765450.00        2.52736  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765450.00        2.57631  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765450.00        2.59846  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765450.00        2.61789  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765450.00        2.63579  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765450.00        2.65098  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765450.00        2.69093  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765450.00        2.67765  (13121718)          

707

Item D - 1289 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 230
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439849.00   3765450.00        2.67351  (13121718)                
439854.00   3765450.00        2.67709  (12011808)          
        439859.00   3765450.00        2.68231  (12011808)                
439674.00   3765455.00        2.39824  (12112508)          
        439679.00   3765455.00        2.42096  (12112508)                
439684.00   3765455.00        2.44227  (12112508)          
        439689.00   3765455.00        2.46225  (12112508)                
439694.00   3765455.00        2.48023  (12112508)          
        439699.00   3765455.00        2.49639  (12112508)                
439704.00   3765455.00        2.51092  (12112508)          
        439709.00   3765455.00        2.52399  (12112508)                
439714.00   3765455.00        2.53501  (12112508)          
        439719.00   3765455.00        2.54439  (12112508)                
439729.00   3765455.00        2.60066  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765455.00        2.62607  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765455.00        2.64978  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765455.00        2.67077  (12011417)                

708

Item D - 1290 of 1893



439749.00   3765455.00        2.69001  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765455.00        2.73500  (13121718)                
439849.00   3765455.00        2.73207  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765455.00        2.72737  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765455.00        2.73189  (12011808)          
        439674.00   3765460.00        2.41408  (12112508)                
439679.00   3765460.00        2.44027  (12112508)          
        439684.00   3765460.00        2.46420  (12112508)                
439689.00   3765460.00        2.48771  (12112508)          
        439694.00   3765460.00        2.50932  (12112508)                
439699.00   3765460.00        2.53013  (12112508)          
        439704.00   3765460.00        2.54836  (12112508)                
439709.00   3765460.00        2.56499  (12112508)          
        439714.00   3765460.00        2.57913  (12112508)                
439719.00   3765460.00        2.59204  (12112508)          
        439729.00   3765460.00        2.62001  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765460.00        2.64944  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        2.67740  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765460.00        2.70302  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765460.00        2.72576  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765460.00        2.81790  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765460.00        2.81786  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765460.00        2.81420  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765460.00        2.80816  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765460.00        2.79965  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765460.00        2.78891  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765460.00        2.77626  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765460.00        2.76273  (13121718)                
439829.00   3765460.00        2.77481  (13121718)          
        439844.00   3765460.00        2.79202  (13121718)                
439849.00   3765460.00        2.79178  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765460.00        2.78818  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765460.00        2.78324  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765465.00        2.42425  (12112508)                
439679.00   3765465.00        2.45354  (12112508)          
        439684.00   3765465.00        2.48220  (12112508)                
439689.00   3765465.00        2.50900  (12112508)          
        439694.00   3765465.00        2.53418  (12112508)                
439699.00   3765465.00        2.55792  (12112508)          
        439704.00   3765465.00        2.58019  (12112508)                
439709.00   3765465.00        2.60098  (12112508)          
        439714.00   3765465.00        2.62005  (12112508)                
439719.00   3765465.00        2.63651  (12112508)          
        439729.00   3765465.00        2.66308  (12112508)                
439734.00   3765465.00        2.67385  (12112508)          
        439739.00   3765465.00        2.69983  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765465.00        2.73013  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765465.00        2.75741  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765465.00        2.88245  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765465.00        2.88522  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765465.00        2.88533  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765465.00        2.88254  (12011417)                

709

Item D - 1291 of 1893



439809.00   3765465.00        2.87698  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765465.00        2.86885  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765465.00        2.85753  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765465.00        2.84485  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765465.00        2.82970  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765465.00        2.84915  (13121718)                
439849.00   3765465.00        2.85144  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765465.00        2.85084  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765465.00        2.84700  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765470.00        2.42937  (12112508)                
439679.00   3765470.00        2.46161  (12112508)          

710

Item D - 1292 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 231
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765470.00        2.49342  (12112508)                
439689.00   3765470.00        2.52366  (12112508)          
        439694.00   3765470.00        2.55358  (12112508)                
439699.00   3765470.00        2.58132  (12112508)          
        439704.00   3765470.00        2.60790  (12112508)                
439709.00   3765470.00        2.63187  (12112508)          
        439714.00   3765470.00        2.65497  (12112508)                
439719.00   3765470.00        2.67560  (12112508)          
        439729.00   3765470.00        2.71173  (12112508)                
439734.00   3765470.00        2.72602  (12112508)          
        439739.00   3765470.00        2.73826  (12112508)                
439744.00   3765470.00        2.75236  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765470.00        2.78442  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765470.00        2.94527  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765470.00        2.95221  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765470.00        2.95548  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765470.00        2.95609  (12011417)                

711

Item D - 1293 of 1893



439809.00   3765470.00        2.95331  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765470.00        2.94856  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765470.00        2.94056  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765470.00        2.92960  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765470.00        2.91637  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765470.00        2.90682  (13121718)                
439849.00   3765470.00        2.91174  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765470.00        2.91407  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765470.00        2.91174  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765475.00        2.42774  (12112508)                
439679.00   3765475.00        2.46445  (12112508)          
        439684.00   3765475.00        2.49973  (12112508)                
439689.00   3765475.00        2.53377  (12112508)          
        439694.00   3765475.00        2.56661  (12112508)                
439699.00   3765475.00        2.59821  (12112508)          
        439704.00   3765475.00        2.62866  (12112508)                
439709.00   3765475.00        2.65784  (12112508)          
        439714.00   3765475.00        2.68536  (12112508)                
439719.00   3765475.00        2.71036  (12112508)          
        439729.00   3765475.00        2.75456  (12112508)                
439734.00   3765475.00        2.77327  (12112508)          
        439739.00   3765475.00        2.79063  (12112508)                
439744.00   3765475.00        2.80488  (12112508)          
        439749.00   3765475.00        2.81643  (12112508)                
439754.00   3765475.00        2.84085  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765475.00        3.00512  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765475.00        3.01611  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765475.00        3.02438  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765475.00        3.02883  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765475.00        3.03008  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765475.00        3.02787  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765475.00        3.02278  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765475.00        3.01498  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765475.00        3.00436  (12011417)                
439269.00   3764900.00        0.79417  (13020408)          
        439369.00   3764900.00        0.82197  (15111218)                
439469.00   3764900.00        0.87465  (14100607)          
        439569.00   3764900.00        0.95929  (13120808)                
439669.00   3764900.00        0.96176  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3764900.00        0.89762  (12010217)                
439869.00   3764900.00        0.96847  (12010217)          
        439969.00   3764900.00        0.90814  (12010217)                
440069.00   3764900.00        0.89198  (13123108)          
        440169.00   3764900.00        0.87850  (12121717)                
440269.00   3764900.00        0.84493  (12111319)          
        439269.00   3765000.00        0.87515  (13121718)                
439369.00   3765000.00        0.90742  (13020408)          
        439469.00   3765000.00        0.94567  (15111218)                
439569.00   3765000.00        1.00530  (14100607)          
        439669.00   3765000.00        1.11113  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765000.00        1.05361  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765000.00        1.07555  (12010217)                

712

Item D - 1294 of 1893



439969.00   3765000.00        1.06247  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765000.00        0.99046  (13123108)                
440169.00   3765000.00        0.97236  (12121717)          
        440269.00   3765000.00        0.94132  (13012419)                
439269.00   3765100.00        0.95594  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765100.00        1.01369  (13121718)                
439469.00   3765100.00        1.05630  (13020408)          
        439569.00   3765100.00        1.11184  (15111218)                
439669.00   3765100.00        1.19549  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765100.00        1.28400  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765100.00        1.18869  (12010217)          

713

Item D - 1295 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 232
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439969.00   3765100.00        1.23508  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765100.00        1.11448  (13123108)          
        440169.00   3765100.00        1.09006  (12121717)                
440269.00   3765100.00        1.07380  (13012419)          
        439269.00   3765200.00        1.10272  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765200.00        1.18217  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765200.00        1.19330  (14010708)                
439569.00   3765200.00        1.28295  (13121718)          
        439669.00   3765200.00        1.34339  (15111218)                
439769.00   3765200.00        1.48215  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765200.00        1.47316  (13120808)                
439969.00   3765200.00        1.44030  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765200.00        1.36268  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765200.00        1.25521  (13123108)          
        440269.00   3765200.00        1.29102  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765300.00        1.18560  (13121618)          
        439369.00   3765300.00        1.31066  (12112508)                

714

Item D - 1296 of 1893



439469.00   3765300.00        1.44479  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765300.00        1.55490  (12011417)                
439669.00   3765300.00        1.63665  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765300.00        1.67592  (15111218)                
439869.00   3765300.00        1.82906  (13120808)          
        439969.00   3765300.00        1.71501  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765300.00        1.66851  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765300.00        1.48568  (12010217)                
440269.00   3765300.00        1.58569  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765400.00        1.43292  (15111218)                
439369.00   3765400.00        1.49162  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765400.00        1.53169  (12111318)                
439569.00   3765400.00        1.86199  (12112508)          
        439669.00   3765400.00        2.12939  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        2.20886  (13121718)          
        439869.00   3765400.00        2.26703  (13120808)                
439969.00   3765400.00        2.26317  (13120808)          
        440069.00   3765400.00        2.10592  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765400.00        1.98168  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765400.00        1.96814  (13121617)                
439269.00   3765500.00        1.95361  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765500.00        1.90023  (15111218)                
439469.00   3765500.00        1.92041  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3765500.00        1.99726  (12010708)                
439669.00   3765500.00        2.50914  (12111318)          
        439769.00   3765500.00        3.17174  (12112508)                
439869.00   3765500.00        3.37930  (12011417)          
        439969.00   3765500.00        3.23930  (13120808)                
440069.00   3765500.00        3.03135  (13120808)          
        440169.00   3765500.00        2.77679  (16010608)                
440269.00   3765500.00        2.78974  (15113017)          
        439269.00   3765600.00        2.66387  (12111318)                
439369.00   3765600.00        3.11454  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765600.00        2.91895  (13121718)                
439569.00   3765600.00        2.78500  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765600.00        3.00827  (16121918)                
439769.00   3765600.00        4.16378  (13121208)          
        439869.00   3765600.00        6.41011  (12111318)                
439969.00   3765600.00        7.36062  (12011417)          
        440069.00   3765600.00        5.93789  (13120808)                
440169.00   3765600.00        5.47126  (12011608)          
        440269.00   3765600.00        4.88882  (14101107)                
439269.00   3765700.00        4.44473  (14012908)          
        439369.00   3765700.00        6.09058  (16121918)                
439469.00   3765700.00        9.30488  (12101307)          
        439569.00   3765700.00        6.16985  (12011417)                
439669.00   3765700.00        4.70317  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3765700.00        3.99213  (12010217)                
439869.00   3765700.00        5.29710  (12111317)          
        439969.00   3765700.00        6.62654  (15120818)                
440069.00   3765700.00        8.23024  (15120818)          
        440169.00   3765700.00       11.96012  (13111217)                

715

Item D - 1297 of 1893



440269.00   3765700.00       20.62437  (13111217)          
        439269.00   3765800.00        4.18772  (12111317)                
439369.00   3765800.00        5.82499  (12111317)          
        439469.00   3765800.00        6.05319  (12111317)                
439569.00   3765800.00        6.68819  (12111317)          
        439669.00   3765800.00        8.09639  (15120818)                
439769.00   3765800.00       10.72225  (15120818)          
        439869.00   3765800.00       17.66955  (13111217)                
439969.00   3765800.00        7.53330  (14121418)          
        440069.00   3765800.00        4.37011  (13111218)                
440169.00   3765800.00        4.30415  (13111218)          

716

Item D - 1298 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 233
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEVA ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000089    , A0000090    , A0000091    , A0000092    , 
A0000093    , 
                 A0000094    , A0000095    , A0000096    , 
A0000097    , A0000098    , A0000099    , A0000100    , 
A0000101    , 
                 A0000102    , A0000103    , A0000104    , 
A0000105    , A0000106    , A0000107    , A0000108    , 
A0000109    , 
                 A0000110    , A0000111    , A0000112    , 
A0000113    , A0000114    , A0000115    , 
A0000116    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        440269.00   3765800.00        4.42246  (13111217)                
439269.00   3765900.00        2.93442  (12100707)          
        439369.00   3765900.00        3.08534  (15120818)                
439469.00   3765900.00        3.25678  (15120818)          
        439569.00   3765900.00        3.36571  (15120818)                
439669.00   3765900.00        3.48176  (15112217)          
        439769.00   3765900.00        3.31195  (13111218)                
439869.00   3765900.00        3.37187  (13111217)          
        439969.00   3765900.00        3.47892  (13111217)                
440069.00   3765900.00        2.97520  (12011717)          
        440169.00   3765900.00        2.29522  (12120419)                
440269.00   3765900.00        2.45150  (12122117)          
        439649.00   3765310.00        1.64144  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765310.00        1.68121  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765310.00        1.68979  (12011808)                
439739.00   3765310.00        1.72526  (12011808)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        1.72095  (12011808)                

717

Item D - 1299 of 1893



439799.00   3765310.00        1.73488  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        1.82908  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765310.00        1.86571  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765310.00        1.86191  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765340.00        1.75309  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765340.00        1.77730  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765340.00        1.82922  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        1.83783  (13121718)                
439769.00   3765340.00        1.87378  (12011808)          
        439799.00   3765340.00        1.86509  (12011808)                
439829.00   3765340.00        1.91134  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        1.98229  (13120808)                
439889.00   3765340.00        1.99557  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765370.00        1.94415  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00        1.95232  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765370.00        1.93646  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765370.00        2.00225  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765370.00        2.01560  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765370.00        2.04668  (12011808)          
        439829.00   3765370.00        2.03042  (12011808)                
439859.00   3765370.00        2.10408  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765370.00        2.14372  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765400.00        2.07059  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765400.00        2.15163  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765400.00        2.18409  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765400.00        2.16169  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        2.20886  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765400.00        2.22476  (13121718)                
439829.00   3765400.00        2.25007  (12011808)          
        439859.00   3765400.00        2.22712  (13120808)                
439889.00   3765400.00        2.31090  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765430.00        2.19840  (12112508)                
439679.00   3765430.00        2.26547  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        2.39272  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        2.45850  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765430.00        2.45393  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765430.00        2.46037  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765430.00        2.47591  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765430.00        2.49071  (12011808)          
        439889.00   3765430.00        2.50140  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765460.00        2.26860  (12112508)          
        439679.00   3765460.00        2.44027  (12112508)                
439709.00   3765460.00        2.56499  (12112508)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        2.67740  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765460.00        2.79359  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765460.00        2.81420  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        2.77481  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765460.00        2.78324  (13121718)                
439889.00   3765460.00        2.77983  (12011808)          
        439649.00   3765490.00        2.36470  (12111318)                
439679.00   3765490.00        2.47452  (12111318)          
        439709.00   3765490.00        2.69628  (12112508)                

718

Item D - 1300 of 1893



439739.00   3765490.00        2.91465  (12112508)          
        439769.00   3765490.00        3.05171  (12112508)                
439799.00   3765490.00        3.21528  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765490.00        3.27223  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765490.00        3.19872  (12011417)          
        439889.00   3765490.00        3.17488  (12011808)                                                                           

719

Item D - 1301 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 234
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439674.00   3765310.00        8.94148  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765310.00        8.94050  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765310.00        8.93483  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765310.00        8.93321  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765310.00        8.92577  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765310.00        8.91506  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765310.00        8.90421  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765310.00        8.89138  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765310.00        8.88001  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765310.00        8.86060  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765310.00        8.82261  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765310.00        8.80309  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765310.00        8.77948  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765310.00        8.75379  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765310.00        8.72696  (13121718)                
439764.00   3765310.00        8.68617  (15111218)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        8.68414  (15111218)                

720

Item D - 1302 of 1893



439774.00   3765310.00        8.68817  (15111218)          
        439779.00   3765310.00        8.68386  (15111218)                
439784.00   3765310.00        8.68202  (15111218)          
        439789.00   3765310.00        8.67523  (15111218)                
439794.00   3765310.00        8.69225  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765310.00        8.72730  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765310.00        8.75566  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765310.00        8.78535  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765310.00        8.81014  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765310.00        8.83316  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765310.00        8.85418  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        8.87117  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765310.00        8.89955  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765310.00        8.91113  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765310.00        8.91809  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765310.00        8.92588  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765310.00        8.92811  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765310.00        8.93035  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765310.00        8.93298  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765310.00        8.93005  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765310.00        8.92897  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765310.00        8.92496  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765315.00        9.03918  (13121718)          
        439679.00   3765315.00        9.03763  (13121718)                
439684.00   3765315.00        9.03629  (13121718)          
        439689.00   3765315.00        9.03005  (13121718)                
439694.00   3765315.00        9.02871  (13121718)          
        439699.00   3765315.00        9.02239  (13121718)                
439704.00   3765315.00        9.01347  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765315.00        9.00067  (13121718)                
439714.00   3765315.00        8.98900  (13121718)          
        439719.00   3765315.00        8.97613  (13121718)                
439729.00   3765315.00        8.94189  (13121718)          
        439734.00   3765315.00        8.92086  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765315.00        8.90087  (13121718)          
        439744.00   3765315.00        8.87702  (13121718)                
439749.00   3765315.00        8.85274  (13121718)          
        439764.00   3765315.00        8.76627  (13121718)                
439769.00   3765315.00        8.77182  (15111218)          
        439774.00   3765315.00        8.77024  (15111218)                
439779.00   3765315.00        8.77321  (15111218)          
        439784.00   3765315.00        8.76870  (15111218)                
439789.00   3765315.00        8.76695  (15111218)          
        439794.00   3765315.00        8.75913  (15111218)                
439799.00   3765315.00        8.78610  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765315.00        8.82141  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765315.00        8.84930  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765315.00        8.87809  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765315.00        8.90272  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765315.00        8.92427  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765315.00        8.94451  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765315.00        8.97649  (13120808)                

721

Item D - 1303 of 1893



439844.00   3765315.00        8.98545  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765315.00        8.99980  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765315.00        9.00300  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765315.00        9.01028  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765315.00        9.01213  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765315.00        9.01432  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765315.00        9.01372  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765315.00        9.01239  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765315.00        9.00964  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765320.00        9.12814  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765320.00        9.13375  (13121718)          

722

Item D - 1304 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 235
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765320.00        9.13441  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765320.00        9.13530  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765320.00        9.12838  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765320.00        9.12662  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765320.00        9.12038  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765320.00        9.11411  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765320.00        9.10012  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765320.00        9.08896  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765320.00        9.06023  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765320.00        9.04349  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765320.00        9.02050  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765320.00        9.00233  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765320.00        8.97523  (13121718)                
439764.00   3765320.00        8.89798  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765320.00        8.86462  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765320.00        8.85803  (15111218)          
        439779.00   3765320.00        8.85846  (15111218)                

723

Item D - 1305 of 1893



439784.00   3765320.00        8.85890  (15111218)          
        439789.00   3765320.00        8.85536  (15111218)                
439794.00   3765320.00        8.85261  (15111218)          
        439799.00   3765320.00        8.84882  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765320.00        8.88285  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765320.00        8.91604  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765320.00        8.94572  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765320.00        8.97322  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765320.00        8.99619  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765320.00        9.01769  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765320.00        9.05156  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765320.00        9.06728  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765320.00        9.07511  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765320.00        9.08633  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765320.00        9.09094  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765320.00        9.09705  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765320.00        9.09624  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765320.00        9.10102  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765320.00        9.09664  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765320.00        9.09433  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765325.00        9.22503  (13121718)          
        439679.00   3765325.00        9.22667  (13121718)                
439684.00   3765325.00        9.23134  (13121718)          
        439689.00   3765325.00        9.23183  (13121718)                
439694.00   3765325.00        9.23563  (13121718)          
        439699.00   3765325.00        9.22961  (13121718)                
439704.00   3765325.00        9.22628  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765325.00        9.21988  (13121718)                
439714.00   3765325.00        9.21506  (13121718)          
        439719.00   3765325.00        9.20257  (13121718)                
439729.00   3765325.00        9.17693  (13121718)          
        439734.00   3765325.00        9.16115  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765325.00        9.14638  (13121718)          
        439744.00   3765325.00        9.12249  (13121718)                
439749.00   3765325.00        9.10536  (13121718)          
        439754.00   3765325.00        9.07640  (13121718)                
439769.00   3765325.00        9.00063  (13121718)          
        439774.00   3765325.00        8.96717  (13121718)                
439779.00   3765325.00        8.94547  (15111218)          
        439784.00   3765325.00        8.94763  (15111218)                
439789.00   3765325.00        8.94701  (15111218)          
        439794.00   3765325.00        8.94362  (15111218)                
439799.00   3765325.00        8.93987  (15111218)          
        439804.00   3765325.00        8.94678  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765325.00        8.98170  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765325.00        9.01410  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765325.00        9.04218  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765325.00        9.07029  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765325.00        9.09175  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765325.00        9.13084  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765325.00        9.14522  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765325.00        9.15687  (13120808)                

724

Item D - 1306 of 1893



439854.00   3765325.00        9.16734  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765325.00        9.17544  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765325.00        9.17833  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765325.00        9.18468  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765325.00        9.18299  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765325.00        9.18563  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765325.00        9.18167  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765330.00        9.31499  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765330.00        9.32449  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765330.00        9.32822  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765330.00        9.33091  (13121718)          

725

Item D - 1307 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 236
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439694.00   3765330.00        9.33231  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765330.00        9.33632  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765330.00        9.33353  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765330.00        9.32912  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765330.00        9.32208  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765330.00        9.31717  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765330.00        9.29529  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765330.00        9.28039  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765330.00        9.26525  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765330.00        9.24978  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765330.00        9.22825  (13121718)                
439754.00   3765330.00        9.20907  (13121718)          
        439774.00   3765330.00        9.10432  (13121718)                
439779.00   3765330.00        9.07245  (13121718)          
        439784.00   3765330.00        9.03967  (13121718)                
439789.00   3765330.00        9.03886  (15111218)          
        439794.00   3765330.00        9.03770  (15111218)                

726

Item D - 1308 of 1893



439799.00   3765330.00        9.03418  (15111218)          
        439804.00   3765330.00        9.02999  (15111218)                
439809.00   3765330.00        9.04740  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765330.00        9.08173  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765330.00        9.11449  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765330.00        9.14141  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765330.00        9.16849  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765330.00        9.21077  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765330.00        9.22419  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765330.00        9.24141  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765330.00        9.24939  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765330.00        9.25990  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765330.00        9.26573  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765330.00        9.26808  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765330.00        9.27277  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765330.00        9.27143  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765330.00        9.27345  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765335.00        9.40376  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765335.00        9.41535  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765335.00        9.42371  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765335.00        9.43325  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765335.00        9.43314  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765335.00        9.43594  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765335.00        9.43787  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765335.00        9.43862  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765335.00        9.43484  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765335.00        9.42677  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765335.00        9.41189  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765335.00        9.40325  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765335.00        9.38614  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765335.00        9.37245  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765335.00        9.35455  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765335.00        9.23815  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765335.00        9.21063  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765335.00        9.17927  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765335.00        9.14569  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765335.00        9.13157  (15111218)          
        439839.00   3765335.00        9.28750  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765335.00        9.30943  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765335.00        9.32147  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765335.00        9.33722  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765335.00        9.34372  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765335.00        9.35493  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765335.00        9.35750  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765335.00        9.36097  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765335.00        9.36323  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765335.00        9.36096  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765340.00        9.50005  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765340.00        9.50542  (13121718)          
        439684.00   3765340.00        9.51906  (13121718)                
439689.00   3765340.00        9.52495  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765340.00        9.53822  (13121718)                

727

Item D - 1309 of 1893



439699.00   3765340.00        9.53942  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765340.00        9.54226  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765340.00        9.54363  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765340.00        9.54437  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765340.00        9.54418  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765340.00        9.53022  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765340.00        9.51864  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        9.51219  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765340.00        9.49527  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765340.00        9.48192  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765340.00        9.37430  (13121718)          

728

Item D - 1310 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 237
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439779.00   3765340.00        9.34613  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765340.00        9.31887  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765340.00        9.28847  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765340.00        9.25488  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765340.00        9.37021  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765340.00        9.38947  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765340.00        9.40906  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765340.00        9.41998  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        9.43525  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765340.00        9.44020  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765340.00        9.45032  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765340.00        9.45071  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765340.00        9.45519  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765340.00        9.45354  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765345.00        9.66384  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765345.00        9.63153  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765345.00        9.61150  (13121718)                

729

Item D - 1311 of 1893



439689.00   3765345.00        9.62417  (13121718)          
        439694.00   3765345.00        9.63097  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765345.00        9.64244  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765345.00        9.64925  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765345.00        9.65068  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765345.00        9.65241  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765345.00        9.65149  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765345.00        9.64553  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765345.00        9.64037  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765345.00        9.62896  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765345.00        9.62252  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765345.00        9.60700  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765345.00        9.51112  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765345.00        9.48562  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765345.00        9.45781  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765345.00        9.42848  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765345.00        9.40024  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765345.00        9.45220  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765345.00        9.47446  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765345.00        9.49284  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765345.00        9.51067  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765345.00        9.52059  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765345.00        9.53340  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765345.00        9.53770  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765345.00        9.54793  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765345.00        9.54551  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765345.00        9.55114  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765350.00        9.83553  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765350.00        9.80280  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765350.00        9.77127  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765350.00        9.73434  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765350.00        9.73173  (13121718)                
439699.00   3765350.00        9.74020  (13121718)          
        439704.00   3765350.00        9.74901  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765350.00        9.75914  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765350.00        9.76254  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765350.00        9.76421  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765350.00        9.76455  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765350.00        9.75865  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765350.00        9.75411  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765350.00        9.74184  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765350.00        9.73615  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765350.00        9.64661  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765350.00        9.62550  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765350.00        9.59936  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765350.00        9.57233  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765350.00        9.54163  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765350.00        9.53385  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765350.00        9.55981  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765350.00        9.57990  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765350.00        9.59857  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765350.00        9.61282  (13120808)                

730

Item D - 1312 of 1893



439864.00   3765350.00        9.62323  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765350.00        9.63467  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765350.00        9.63762  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765350.00        9.64592  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765350.00        9.64349  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765355.00       10.00764  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765355.00        9.97835  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765355.00        9.94514  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765355.00        9.91356  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765355.00        9.87769  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765355.00        9.84372  (13121718)          

731

Item D - 1313 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 238
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439704.00   3765355.00        9.85223  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765355.00        9.85977  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765355.00        9.86990  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765355.00        9.87662  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765355.00        9.87707  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765355.00        9.87816  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765355.00        9.87317  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765355.00        9.87112  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765355.00        9.85683  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765355.00        9.78689  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765355.00        9.76337  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765355.00        9.74077  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765355.00        9.71653  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765355.00        9.68821  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765355.00        9.62016  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765355.00        9.64352  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765355.00        9.67010  (13120808)                

732

Item D - 1314 of 1893



439854.00   3765355.00        9.68768  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765355.00        9.70604  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765355.00        9.71827  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765355.00        9.72810  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765355.00        9.73576  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765355.00        9.73993  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765355.00        9.74462  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765360.00       10.17741  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765360.00       10.15089  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765360.00       10.12424  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765360.00       10.09134  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765360.00       10.05977  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765360.00       10.02296  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765360.00        9.98898  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765360.00        9.96773  (13121718)          
        439714.00   3765360.00        9.97495  (13121718)                
439719.00   3765360.00        9.98379  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765360.00        9.99670  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765360.00        9.99524  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765360.00        9.99485  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765360.00        9.99002  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765360.00        9.98880  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765360.00        9.92475  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765360.00        9.90480  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765360.00        9.88403  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765360.00        9.85797  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765360.00        9.83540  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765360.00        9.80707  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765360.00        9.77763  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765360.00        9.74467  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765360.00        9.71312  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765360.00        9.70255  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765360.00        9.73420  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765360.00        9.75627  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765360.00        9.78198  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765360.00        9.79718  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765360.00        9.81465  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765360.00        9.82399  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765360.00        9.83508  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765360.00        9.83967  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765360.00        9.84467  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765365.00       10.34743  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765365.00       10.32308  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765365.00       10.29762  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765365.00       10.27090  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765365.00       10.24097  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765365.00       10.20991  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765365.00       10.17326  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765365.00       10.13803  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765365.00       10.09932  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765365.00       10.09419  (13121718)          
        439729.00   3765365.00       10.10902  (13121718)                

733

Item D - 1315 of 1893



439734.00   3765365.00       10.11523  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765365.00       10.11771  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765365.00       10.11468  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765365.00       10.11157  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765365.00       10.06334  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765365.00       10.04699  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765365.00       10.02666  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765365.00       10.00601  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765365.00        9.98015  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765365.00        9.95621  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765365.00        9.92842  (13121718)          

734

Item D - 1316 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 239
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765365.00        9.89927  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765365.00        9.86673  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765365.00        9.78870  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765365.00        9.82029  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765365.00        9.85078  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765365.00        9.86985  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765365.00        9.89598  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765365.00        9.90910  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765365.00        9.92654  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765365.00        9.93269  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765365.00        9.94394  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765365.00        9.94562  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765370.00       10.51604  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00       10.49661  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765370.00       10.47321  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765370.00       10.44746  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765370.00       10.42170  (12011417)                

735

Item D - 1317 of 1893



439699.00   3765370.00       10.39188  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765370.00       10.36392  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765370.00       10.32728  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765370.00       10.29128  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765370.00       10.25223  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765370.00       10.22173  (13121718)                
439734.00   3765370.00       10.23106  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765370.00       10.23506  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765370.00       10.24200  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765370.00       10.23837  (13121718)                
439774.00   3765370.00       10.20165  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765370.00       10.18818  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765370.00       10.17097  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765370.00       10.15102  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765370.00       10.13070  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765370.00       10.10542  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765370.00       10.07956  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765370.00       10.05217  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765370.00       10.02353  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765370.00        9.87527  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765370.00        9.91124  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765370.00        9.94014  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765370.00        9.96941  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765370.00        9.98867  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765370.00       10.01250  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765370.00       10.02154  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765370.00       10.03980  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765370.00       10.04291  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765370.00       10.05321  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765375.00       10.68346  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765375.00       10.66625  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765375.00       10.64798  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765375.00       10.62767  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765375.00       10.60197  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765375.00       10.57563  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765375.00       10.54655  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765375.00       10.51844  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765375.00       10.48419  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765375.00       10.44960  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765375.00       10.37178  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765375.00       10.34693  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765375.00       10.35714  (13121718)                
439744.00   3765375.00       10.35872  (13121718)          
        439749.00   3765375.00       10.36808  (13121718)                
439754.00   3765375.00       10.36551  (13121718)          
        439774.00   3765375.00       10.34259  (13121718)                
439779.00   3765375.00       10.33022  (13121718)          
        439784.00   3765375.00       10.31541  (13121718)                
439789.00   3765375.00       10.29875  (13121718)          
        439794.00   3765375.00       10.27827  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765375.00       10.25799  (13121718)          
        439804.00   3765375.00       10.23356  (13121718)                

736

Item D - 1318 of 1893



439809.00   3765375.00       10.20762  (13121718)          
        439814.00   3765375.00       10.17881  (13121718)                
439839.00   3765375.00       10.01055  (13121718)          
        439844.00   3765375.00       10.00021  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765375.00       10.03583  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765375.00       10.06391  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765375.00       10.08934  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765375.00       10.10770  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765375.00       10.13095  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765375.00       10.13859  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765375.00       10.15390  (13120808)          

737

Item D - 1319 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 240
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439884.00   3765375.00       10.15667  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765380.00       10.48209  (13121718)          
        439779.00   3765380.00       10.47275  (13121718)                
439784.00   3765380.00       10.46168  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765380.00       10.44625  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765380.00       10.42911  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765380.00       10.40881  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765380.00       10.38769  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765380.00       10.36521  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765380.00       10.33736  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765385.00       10.62889  (13121718)                
439819.00   3765385.00       10.47046  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765400.00       11.08992  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765400.00       10.82953  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765400.00       10.80113  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765405.00       11.65648  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765405.00       11.63336  (12011417)                

738

Item D - 1320 of 1893



439719.00   3765405.00       11.61922  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765405.00       11.55684  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765405.00       11.47242  (12011417)          
        439754.00   3765405.00       11.43747  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765405.00       11.27399  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765405.00       11.22461  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765405.00       11.19996  (13121718)          
        439789.00   3765405.00       11.19652  (13121718)                
439794.00   3765405.00       11.19695  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765405.00       11.18754  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765405.00       11.18218  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765405.00       11.16666  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765405.00       11.15439  (13121718)          
        439819.00   3765405.00       11.13350  (13121718)                
439824.00   3765405.00       11.11569  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765405.00       11.09116  (13121718)                
439834.00   3765405.00       11.06821  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765405.00       11.03729  (13121718)                
439844.00   3765405.00       11.00937  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765405.00       10.97614  (13121718)                
439854.00   3765405.00       10.94794  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765405.00       10.90662  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765410.00       11.81067  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765410.00       11.82048  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765410.00       11.83035  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765410.00       11.83391  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765410.00       11.83754  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765410.00       11.83612  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765410.00       11.83657  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765410.00       11.83114  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765410.00       11.82337  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765410.00       11.81115  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765410.00       11.78394  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765410.00       11.76517  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765410.00       11.74108  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765410.00       11.71480  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765410.00       11.68771  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765410.00       11.50628  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765410.00       11.46185  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765410.00       11.41352  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765410.00       11.36379  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765410.00       11.34994  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765410.00       11.35075  (13121718)          
        439804.00   3765410.00       11.34078  (13121718)                
439809.00   3765410.00       11.33446  (13121718)          
        439814.00   3765410.00       11.31985  (13121718)                
439819.00   3765410.00       11.30705  (13121718)          
        439824.00   3765410.00       11.28648  (13121718)                
439829.00   3765410.00       11.26699  (13121718)          
        439834.00   3765410.00       11.24343  (13121718)                
439839.00   3765410.00       11.21957  (13121718)          
        439844.00   3765410.00       11.18921  (13121718)                

739

Item D - 1321 of 1893



439849.00   3765410.00       11.16043  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765410.00       11.12626  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765410.00       11.09775  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765415.00       11.96369  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765415.00       11.97772  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765415.00       11.98848  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765415.00       12.00076  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765415.00       12.00747  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765415.00       12.01286  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765415.00       12.01303  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765415.00       12.01363  (12011417)          

740

Item D - 1322 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 241
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439714.00   3765415.00       12.01053  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765415.00       12.00534  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765415.00       11.98286  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765415.00       11.96791  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765415.00       11.95066  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765415.00       11.93025  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765415.00       11.90603  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765415.00       11.73861  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765415.00       11.69719  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765415.00       11.65448  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765415.00       11.60738  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765415.00       11.55669  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765415.00       11.50820  (13121718)                
439804.00   3765415.00       11.50779  (13121718)          
        439809.00   3765415.00       11.49801  (13121718)                
439814.00   3765415.00       11.49110  (13121718)          
        439819.00   3765415.00       11.47787  (13121718)                

741

Item D - 1323 of 1893



439824.00   3765415.00       11.46277  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765415.00       11.44474  (13121718)                
439834.00   3765415.00       11.42384  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765415.00       11.39922  (13121718)                
439844.00   3765415.00       11.37468  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765415.00       11.34544  (13121718)                
439854.00   3765415.00       11.31623  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765415.00       11.28064  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765420.00       12.11184  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765420.00       12.13235  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765420.00       12.14805  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765420.00       12.16186  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765420.00       12.17289  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765420.00       12.18431  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765420.00       12.19132  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765420.00       12.19526  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765420.00       12.19653  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765420.00       12.19397  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765420.00       12.18458  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765420.00       12.17372  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765420.00       12.15756  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765420.00       12.14056  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765420.00       12.12333  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765420.00       11.97608  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765420.00       11.93706  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765420.00       11.89371  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765420.00       11.85120  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765420.00       11.80609  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765420.00       11.75567  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765420.00       11.70255  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765420.00       11.66944  (13121718)          
        439814.00   3765420.00       11.66061  (13121718)                
439819.00   3765420.00       11.65323  (13121718)          
        439824.00   3765420.00       11.63968  (13121718)                
439829.00   3765420.00       11.62461  (13121718)          
        439834.00   3765420.00       11.60663  (13121718)                
439839.00   3765420.00       11.58414  (13121718)          
        439844.00   3765420.00       11.56073  (13121718)                
439849.00   3765420.00       11.53337  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765420.00       11.50528  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765420.00       11.47637  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765425.00       12.26003  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765425.00       12.28078  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765425.00       12.30383  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765425.00       12.32349  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765425.00       12.33966  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765425.00       12.35240  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765425.00       12.36354  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765425.00       12.37434  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765425.00       12.38109  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765425.00       12.38461  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765425.00       12.38117  (12011417)                

742

Item D - 1324 of 1893



439734.00   3765425.00       12.37575  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765425.00       12.36891  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765425.00       12.35445  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765425.00       12.33834  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765425.00       12.21119  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765425.00       12.17760  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765425.00       12.13929  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765425.00       12.09838  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765425.00       12.05256  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765425.00       12.00804  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765425.00       11.95903  (12011417)          

743

Item D - 1325 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 242
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765425.00       11.90740  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765425.00       11.85141  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765425.00       11.82839  (13121718)                
439824.00   3765425.00       11.81885  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765425.00       11.80692  (13121718)                
439834.00   3765425.00       11.79048  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765425.00       11.77297  (13121718)                
439844.00   3765425.00       11.75046  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765425.00       11.72633  (13121718)                
439854.00   3765425.00       11.69743  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765425.00       11.66868  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765430.00       12.40314  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765430.00       12.43178  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765430.00       12.45464  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765430.00       12.47864  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765430.00       12.50020  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765430.00       12.52107  (12011417)                

744

Item D - 1326 of 1893



439704.00   3765430.00       12.53671  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00       12.55030  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765430.00       12.56073  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765430.00       12.57085  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765430.00       12.57942  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765430.00       12.57754  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00       12.57222  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765430.00       12.56681  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765430.00       12.55730  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765430.00       12.45181  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765430.00       12.41889  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765430.00       12.38405  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765430.00       12.34723  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765430.00       12.30809  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765430.00       12.26260  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765430.00       12.21533  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765430.00       12.16782  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765430.00       12.11618  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765430.00       12.06216  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765430.00       12.00365  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765430.00       11.99104  (13121718)          
        439834.00   3765430.00       11.97932  (13121718)                
439839.00   3765430.00       11.96093  (13121718)          
        439844.00   3765430.00       11.94347  (13121718)                
439849.00   3765430.00       11.92017  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765430.00       11.89651  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765430.00       11.86745  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765435.00       12.54422  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765435.00       12.57462  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765435.00       12.60664  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765435.00       12.63483  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765435.00       12.66020  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765435.00       12.68259  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765435.00       12.70518  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765435.00       12.72554  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765435.00       12.74203  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765435.00       12.75426  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765435.00       12.77357  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765435.00       12.77944  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765435.00       12.78005  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765435.00       12.77605  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765435.00       12.77178  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765435.00       12.68979  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765435.00       12.66413  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765435.00       12.63383  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765435.00       12.59749  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765435.00       12.56032  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765435.00       12.52152  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765435.00       12.47824  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765435.00       12.42994  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765435.00       12.38062  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765435.00       12.33018  (12011417)                

745

Item D - 1327 of 1893



439824.00   3765435.00       12.27774  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765435.00       12.21980  (12011417)                
439834.00   3765435.00       12.16899  (13121718)          
        439839.00   3765435.00       12.15631  (13121718)                
439844.00   3765435.00       12.13781  (13121718)          
        439849.00   3765435.00       12.11921  (13121718)                
439854.00   3765435.00       12.09444  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765435.00       12.07044  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765440.00       12.68348  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765440.00       12.71943  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765440.00       12.75099  (12011417)          

746

Item D - 1328 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 243
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439689.00   3765440.00       12.78369  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765440.00       12.81642  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765440.00       12.84554  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765440.00       12.87172  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765440.00       12.89413  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765440.00       12.91795  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765440.00       12.93695  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765440.00       12.96619  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765440.00       12.97614  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765440.00       12.98288  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765440.00       12.98752  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765440.00       12.98770  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765440.00       12.93082  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765440.00       12.90715  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765440.00       12.88140  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765440.00       12.85318  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765440.00       12.81932  (12011417)                

747

Item D - 1329 of 1893



439799.00   3765440.00       12.78031  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765440.00       12.74102  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765440.00       12.69923  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765440.00       12.65259  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765440.00       12.60185  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765440.00       12.54951  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765440.00       12.49780  (12011417)          
        439834.00   3765440.00       12.44216  (12011417)                
439839.00   3765440.00       12.38234  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765440.00       12.33922  (13121718)                
439849.00   3765440.00       12.32009  (13121718)          
        439854.00   3765440.00       12.30155  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765440.00       12.27462  (13121718)          
        439674.00   3765445.00       12.81680  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765445.00       12.85868  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765445.00       12.89708  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765445.00       12.93464  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765445.00       12.96636  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765445.00       13.00173  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765445.00       13.03487  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765445.00       13.06584  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765445.00       13.09029  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765445.00       13.11470  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765445.00       13.15699  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765445.00       13.17467  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765445.00       13.18441  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765445.00       13.19451  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765445.00       13.19956  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765445.00       13.17191  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765445.00       13.15469  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765445.00       13.13319  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765445.00       13.10529  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765445.00       13.07873  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765445.00       13.04550  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765445.00       13.00929  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765445.00       12.96690  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765445.00       12.92585  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765445.00       12.87989  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765445.00       12.83202  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765445.00       12.77656  (12011417)                
439834.00   3765445.00       12.72305  (12011417)          
        439839.00   3765445.00       12.66905  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765445.00       12.61005  (12011417)          
        439849.00   3765445.00       12.54837  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765445.00       12.50543  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765445.00       12.48826  (13121718)                
439674.00   3765450.00       12.95201  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765450.00       12.99350  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765450.00       13.03569  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765450.00       13.07825  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765450.00       13.11947  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765450.00       13.15670  (12011417)                

748

Item D - 1330 of 1893



439704.00   3765450.00       13.19283  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765450.00       13.22685  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765450.00       13.26305  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765450.00       13.29162  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765450.00       13.34294  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765450.00       13.36661  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765450.00       13.38574  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765450.00       13.40151  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765450.00       13.41241  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765450.00       13.41167  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765450.00       12.90162  (12011417)          

749

Item D - 1331 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 244
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439849.00   3765450.00       12.84264  (12011417)                
439854.00   3765450.00       12.78386  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765450.00       12.71746  (12011417)                
439674.00   3765455.00       13.07859  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765455.00       13.12857  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765455.00       13.17463  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765455.00       13.22047  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765455.00       13.26257  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765455.00       13.30822  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765455.00       13.35069  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765455.00       13.39095  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765455.00       13.42753  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765455.00       13.46341  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765455.00       13.52922  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765455.00       13.55774  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765455.00       13.58010  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765455.00       13.60463  (12011417)                

750

Item D - 1332 of 1893



439749.00   3765455.00       13.62156  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765455.00       13.20004  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765455.00       13.14144  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765455.00       13.08185  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765455.00       13.02378  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765460.00       13.20907  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765460.00       13.25630  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765460.00       13.30850  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765460.00       13.35790  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765460.00       13.40962  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765460.00       13.45491  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765460.00       13.50071  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00       13.54820  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765460.00       13.59299  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765460.00       13.63499  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765460.00       13.70893  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765460.00       13.74422  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00       13.77679  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765460.00       13.80382  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765460.00       13.82873  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765460.00       13.88150  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765460.00       13.86747  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765460.00       13.84853  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765460.00       13.82710  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765460.00       13.80000  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765460.00       13.76827  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765460.00       13.73086  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765460.00       13.69449  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00       13.65109  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765460.00       13.50317  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765460.00       13.44786  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765460.00       13.39352  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765460.00       13.32807  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765465.00       13.33050  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765465.00       13.38774  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765465.00       13.44034  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765465.00       13.49441  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765465.00       13.54625  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765465.00       13.60213  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765465.00       13.65338  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765465.00       13.70190  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765465.00       13.74965  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765465.00       13.79868  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765465.00       13.88805  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765465.00       13.92754  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765465.00       13.96356  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765465.00       14.00279  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765465.00       14.03205  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765465.00       14.14005  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765465.00       14.13349  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765465.00       14.12143  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765465.00       14.10280  (12011417)                

751

Item D - 1333 of 1893



439809.00   3765465.00       14.08134  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765465.00       14.05589  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765465.00       14.02590  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765465.00       13.99000  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765465.00       13.94851  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765465.00       13.81242  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765465.00       13.75670  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765465.00       13.70362  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765465.00       13.64823  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765470.00       13.45891  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765470.00       13.51161  (12011417)          

752

Item D - 1334 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 245
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765470.00       13.57065  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765470.00       13.62773  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765470.00       13.68671  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765470.00       13.74061  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765470.00       13.79714  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765470.00       13.85375  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765470.00       13.90804  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765470.00       13.95979  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765470.00       14.05988  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765470.00       14.10904  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765470.00       14.15265  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765470.00       14.19454  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765470.00       14.23191  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765470.00       14.39889  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765470.00       14.39989  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765470.00       14.39319  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765470.00       14.38398  (12011417)                

753

Item D - 1335 of 1893



439809.00   3765470.00       14.36819  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765470.00       14.34525  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765470.00       14.32104  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765470.00       14.29061  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765470.00       14.25802  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765470.00       14.12716  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765470.00       14.07935  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765470.00       14.02467  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765470.00       13.96632  (12011417)          
        439674.00   3765475.00       13.57954  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765475.00       13.63871  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765475.00       13.70117  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765475.00      13.75717  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765475.00       13.82043  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765475.00       13.88045  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765475.00       13.94273  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765475.00       13.99899  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765475.00       14.05860  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765475.00       14.11780  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765475.00       14.23062  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765475.00       14.28044  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765475.00       14.33639  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765475.00       14.38245  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765475.00       14.43233  (12011417)                
439754.00   3765475.00       14.47161  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765475.00       14.65984  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765475.00       14.66625  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765475.00       14.66933  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765475.00       14.66463  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765475.00       14.65546  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765475.00       14.64267  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765475.00       14.62115  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765475.00       14.59620  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765475.00       14.56358  (12011417)                
439269.00   3764900.00        5.23970  (12010217)          
        439369.00   3764900.00        5.40494  (12010217)                
439469.00   3764900.00        5.34940  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3764900.00        5.24901  (13120808)                
439669.00   3764900.00        5.24749  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3764900.00        5.37724  (12010217)                
439869.00   3764900.00        5.44881  (12010217)          
        439969.00   3764900.00        5.30822  (12010217)                
440069.00   3764900.00        5.04877  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3764900.00        5.24369  (15010717)                
440269.00   3764900.00        5.33691  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765000.00        5.62687  (12010217)                
439369.00   3765000.00        5.91815  (12010217)          
        439469.00   3765000.00        5.89876  (12010217)                
439569.00   3765000.00        5.73761  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765000.00        5.81925  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765000.00        5.82199  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765000.00        5.98918  (12010217)                

754

Item D - 1336 of 1893



439969.00   3765000.00        5.94235  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765000.00        5.69558  (15010717)                
440169.00   3765000.00        5.81519  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765000.00        5.87200  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765100.00        6.33489  (13121718)          
        439369.00   3765100.00        6.53585  (12010217)                
439469.00   3765100.00        6.60071  (12010217)          
        439569.00   3765100.00        6.40722  (12010217)                
439669.00   3765100.00        6.41884  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765100.00        6.52057  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765100.00        6.63166  (12010217)          

755

Item D - 1337 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 246
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439969.00   3765100.00        6.68793  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765100.00        6.46162  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765100.00        6.48147  (15010717)                
440269.00   3765100.00        6.53289  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765200.00        7.56141  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765200.00        7.39246  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765200.00        7.50361  (12010217)                
439569.00   3765200.00        7.32720  (12010217)          
        439669.00   3765200.00        7.17737  (15111218)                
439769.00   3765200.00        7.42789  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765200.00        7.43094  (12010217)                
439969.00   3765200.00        7.62070  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765200.00        7.48094  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765200.00        7.33625  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765200.00        7.40953  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765300.00        8.93236  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765300.00        8.94140  (12011417)                

756

Item D - 1338 of 1893



439469.00   3765300.00        9.01623  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765300.00        8.86352  (12011417)                
439669.00   3765300.00        8.75374  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765300.00        8.52193  (15111218)                
439869.00   3765300.00        8.77214  (13120808)          
        439969.00   3765300.00        8.89562  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765300.00        8.81503  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765300.00        8.57046  (15010717)                
440269.00   3765300.00        8.62552  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765400.00       10.99166  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765400.00       10.70909  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765400.00       10.71917  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765400.00       11.11706  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765400.00       11.49530  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00       11.08992  (12011417)          
        439869.00   3765400.00       10.67406  (13120808)                
439969.00   3765400.00       10.85775  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765400.00       10.78214  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765400.00       10.55563  (12010217)          
        440269.00   3765400.00       10.53546  (15113017)                
439269.00   3765500.00       14.75567  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765500.00       14.40637  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765500.00       13.76469  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765500.00       13.62256  (12010217)                
439669.00   3765500.00       14.13475  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765500.00       15.65985  (12011417)                
439869.00   3765500.00       15.98461  (12011417)          
        439969.00   3765500.00       14.61442  (12011417)                
440069.00   3765500.00       14.30474  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765500.00       14.03692  (15113017)                
440269.00   3765500.00       14.09782  (15011517)          
        439269.00   3765600.00       20.99381  (12111318)                
439369.00   3765600.00       22.61056  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765600.00       22.44693  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765600.00       21.29361  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765600.00       20.80445  (12010217)                
439769.00   3765600.00       21.61761  (12111318)          
        439869.00   3765600.00       25.71414  (12111318)                
439969.00   3765600.00       28.44807  (12011417)          
        440069.00   3765600.00       25.87661  (12011417)                
440169.00   3765600.00       25.00441  (15112218)          
        440269.00   3765600.00       25.18364  (15112218)                
439269.00   3765700.00       70.62459  (14120118)          
        439369.00   3765700.00       76.31866  (16121918)                
439469.00   3765700.00      102.62547  (14120118)          
        439569.00   3765700.00       82.54507  (14120118)                
439669.00   3765700.00       79.13982  (15112218)          
        439769.00   3765700.00       79.26666  (15112218)                
439869.00   3765700.00       79.69381  (14012117)          
        439969.00   3765700.00       79.77437  (14012117)                
440069.00   3765700.00       80.40730  (14012117)          
        440169.00   3765700.00       81.28138  (14120118)                

757

Item D - 1339 of 1893



440269.00   3765700.00       87.66309  (14120118)          
        439269.00   3765800.00       32.18092  (12111317)                
439369.00   3765800.00       34.60051  (12111317)          
        439469.00   3765800.00       34.20689  (12111317)                
439569.00   3765800.00       34.49399  (12111317)          
        439669.00   3765800.00       36.37473  (15120818)                
439769.00   3765800.00       40.82967  (13111217)          
        439869.00   3765800.00       54.28118  (13111217)                
439969.00   3765800.00       35.13925  (14121418)          
        440069.00   3765800.00       29.93616  (14121418)                
440169.00   3765800.00       28.16121  (13111217)          

758

Item D - 1340 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 247
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        440269.00   3765800.00       29.68409  (13111217)                
439269.00   3765900.00       18.20071  (15120818)          
        439369.00   3765900.00       18.29832  (15120818)                
439469.00   3765900.00       18.20591  (15120818)          
        439569.00   3765900.00       18.00893  (15120818)                
439669.00   3765900.00       17.84868  (15112217)          
        439769.00   3765900.00       17.64899  (13111217)                
439869.00   3765900.00       19.00960  (13111217)          
        439969.00   3765900.00       19.24868  (13111217)                
440069.00   3765900.00       18.57573  (12011717)          
        440169.00   3765900.00       17.33242  (12011717)                
440269.00   3765900.00       16.43487  (12011717)          
        439649.00   3765310.00        8.93023  (13121718)                
439679.00   3765310.00        8.94050  (13121718)          
        439709.00   3765310.00        8.89138  (13121718)                
439739.00   3765310.00        8.77948  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        8.68414  (15111218)                

759

Item D - 1341 of 1893



439799.00   3765310.00        8.72730  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        8.87117  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765310.00        8.92811  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765310.00        8.92130  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765340.00        9.64874  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765340.00        9.50542  (13121718)                
439709.00   3765340.00        9.54363  (13121718)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        9.51219  (13121718)                
439769.00   3765340.00        9.39935  (13121718)          
        439799.00   3765340.00        9.22573  (15111218)                
439829.00   3765340.00        9.32089  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        9.43525  (13120808)                
439889.00   3765340.00        9.45381  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765370.00       10.58508  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765370.00       10.49661  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765370.00       10.32728  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765370.00       10.23506  (13121718)          
        439769.00   3765370.00       10.21557  (13121718)                
439799.00   3765370.00       10.10542  (13121718)          
        439829.00   3765370.00        9.92290  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765370.00        9.98867  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765370.00       10.05406  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765400.00       11.45976  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765400.00       11.49920  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765400.00       11.46006  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765400.00       11.32346  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00       11.08992  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765400.00       11.03246  (13121718)                
439829.00   3765400.00       10.92070  (13121718)          
        439859.00   3765400.00       10.73033  (13121718)                
439889.00   3765400.00       10.74523  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765430.00       12.24732  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765430.00       12.43178  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00       12.55030  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00       12.57222  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765430.00       12.47901  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765430.00       12.26260  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765430.00       11.99104  (13121718)                
439859.00   3765430.00       11.86745  (13121718)          
        439889.00   3765430.00       11.66666  (13121718)                
439649.00   3765460.00       12.95483  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765460.00       13.25630  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00       13.54820  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00       13.77679  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765460.00       13.88940  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765460.00       13.84853  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00       13.65109  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765460.00       13.32807  (12011417)                
439889.00   3765460.00       12.99695  (13121718)          
        439649.00   3765490.00       13.65508  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765490.00       14.01093  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765490.00       14.42691  (12011417)                

760

Item D - 1342 of 1893



439739.00   3765490.00       14.85917  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765490.00       15.24096  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765490.00       15.48813  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765490.00       15.52416  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765490.00       15.33214  (12011417)          
        439889.00   3765490.00       15.00431  (12011417)                                                                           

761

Item D - 1343 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 248
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                        *** THE SUMMARY OF 
MAXIMUM PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) RESULTS ***

                                    ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

                                                                                                             
NETWORK
GROUP ID                       AVERAGE CONC                
RECEPTOR  (XR, YR, ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)  OF TYPE  GRID-ID
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

EXH       1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS       8.02168 AT (  440269.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS       7.56523 AT (  439569.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS       7.08246 AT (  439469.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       6.77010 AT (  440169.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       6.67604 AT (  439669.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       6.28150 AT (  439769.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       6.15807 AT (  440069.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       5.91312 AT (  439869.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       5.76266 AT (  439969.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
         10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.51295 AT (  439369.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

EVAP      1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS       7.49644 AT (  440269.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS       5.84784 AT (  440169.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.99170 AT (  440069.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.33857 AT (  439569.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

762

Item D - 1344 of 1893



          5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.29164 AT (  439969.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.26516 AT (  439669.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.22817 AT (  439769.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.15175 AT (  439869.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.07275 AT (  439469.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
         10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.86597 AT (  439869.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

FREEEXH   1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS       5.23339 AT (  440269.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS       5.20211 AT (  440169.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS       5.16995 AT (  440069.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       5.11092 AT (  439969.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       5.05422 AT (  439869.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.98531 AT (  439769.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.86807 AT (  439669.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.72540 AT (  439569.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.52490 AT (  439469.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
         10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       4.32925 AT (  439369.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

ONOFFEXH  1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.83983 AT (  439569.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.78830 AT (  440269.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.55756 AT (  439469.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.19339 AT (  439869.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.80797 AT (  439669.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.56800 AT (  440169.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.29619 AT (  439769.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.25365 AT (  439769.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.98812 AT (  440069.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

763

Item D - 1345 of 1893



         10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.85891 AT (  439869.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

764

Item D - 1346 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 249
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                        *** THE SUMMARY OF 
MAXIMUM PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) RESULTS ***

                                    ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

                                                                                                             
NETWORK
GROUP ID                       AVERAGE CONC                
RECEPTOR  (XR, YR, ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)  OF TYPE  GRID-ID
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

FREEEVAP  1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.91286 AT (  440269.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.89913 AT (  440169.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.87835 AT (  440069.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.82780 AT (  439969.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.77977 AT (  439869.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.72200 AT (  439769.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.61893 AT (  439669.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.49248 AT (  439569.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.31373 AT (  439469.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
         10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.14515 AT (  439369.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

ONOFFEVA  1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS       3.58358 AT (  440269.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.65078 AT (  439869.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.94871 AT (  440169.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.41727 AT (  439769.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

765

Item D - 1347 of 1893



          5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.11334 AT (  440069.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.88694 AT (  439669.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.88228 AT (  439969.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.84610 AT (  439569.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.75902 AT (  439469.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
         10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.64623 AT (  439669.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

ALL       1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS      15.51813 AT (  440269.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS      12.61795 AT (  440169.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS      11.90380 AT (  439569.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS      11.15521 AT (  439469.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS      11.14977 AT (  440069.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS      10.94120 AT (  439669.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS      10.50967 AT (  439769.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS      10.06488 AT (  439869.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS      10.05430 AT (  439969.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
         10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       8.05806 AT (  439869.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

*** RECEPTOR TYPES:  GC = GRIDCART
                      GP = GRIDPOLR
                      DC = DISCCART
                      DP = DISCPOLR

766

Item D - 1348 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 250
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                                *** THE SUMMARY 
OF HIGHEST  1-HR RESULTS ***

                                    ** CONC OF PM_2.5   IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

                                                      DATE                                                                    
NETWORK
GROUP ID                          AVERAGE CONC     (YYMMDDHH)             
RECEPTOR  (XR, YR, ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)    OF TYPE  GRID-ID
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
  
EXH      HIGH   1ST HIGH VALUE IS      64.80176  ON 14012908: AT 
(  439469.00,  3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
  
EVAP     HIGH   1ST HIGH VALUE IS      44.95572  ON 14120118: AT 
(  440269.00,  3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
  
FREEEXH  HIGH   1ST HIGH VALUE IS      41.07030  ON 14101107: AT 
(  440269.00,  3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
  
ONOFFEXH HIGH   1ST HIGH VALUE IS      29.56830  ON 14101007: AT 
(  439469.00,  3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
  
FREEEVAP HIGH   1ST HIGH VALUE IS      36.07950  ON 14012117: AT 
(  440269.00,  3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
  
ONOFFEVA HIGH   1ST HIGH VALUE IS      20.62437  ON 13111217: AT 
(  440269.00,  3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
  
ALL      HIGH   1ST HIGH VALUE IS     102.62547  ON 14120118: AT 
(  439469.00,  3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

*** RECEPTOR TYPES:  GC = GRIDCART
                      GP = GRIDPOLR
                      DC = DISCCART
                      DP = DISCPOLR

767

Item D - 1349 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        08:30:01
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 251
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

*** Message Summary : AERMOD Model Execution ***

  --------- Summary of Total Messages --------
  
A Total of            0 Fatal Error Message(s)
A Total of            2 Warning Message(s)
A Total of         1628 Informational Message(s)

A Total of        43848 Hours Were Processed

A Total of         1278 Calm Hours Identified

A Total of          350 Missing Hours Identified (  0.80 
Percent)
  
  
    ******** FATAL ERROR MESSAGES ******** 
               ***  NONE  ***         
  
  
    ********   WARNING MESSAGES   ******** 
ME W186    2290       MEOPEN: THRESH_1MIN 1-min ASOS wind speed 
threshold used           0.50
ME W187    2290       MEOPEN: ADJ_U* Option for Stable Low Winds 
used in AERMET              

    ************************************
    *** AERMOD Finishes Successfully ***
    ************************************

768

Item D - 1350 of 1893



** Lakes Environmental AERMOD MPI
**
****************************************
**
** AERMOD Input Produced by:
** AERMOD View Ver. 10.2.1
** Lakes Environmental Software Inc.
** Date: 10/5/2022
** File: C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-DPM_20221005
\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-DPM_20221005.ADI
**
****************************************
**
**
****************************************
** AERMOD Control Pathway
****************************************
**
**
CO STARTING
   TITLEONE C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004
\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-
   MODELOPT CONC FLAT
   AVERTIME 1 PERIOD
   URBANOPT 2035210 San_Bernardio_County
   POLLUTID PM_10
   RUNORNOT RUN
   ERRORFIL Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-DPM_20221005.err
CO FINISHED
**
****************************************
** AERMOD Source Pathway
****************************************
**
**
SO STARTING
** Source Location **
** Source ID - Type - X Coord. - Y Coord. **
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN01
** DESCRSRC SR 60 WB Freeway DPM Ex
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 18.29
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 3.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0000307319
** Nodes = 5
** 440650.044, 3765727.326, 260.07, 3.40
** 440119.780, 3765731.800, 261.41, 3.40
** 439661.922, 3765732.944, 260.96, 3.40

1

Item D - 1351 of 1893



** 439171.250, 3765734.039, 252.11, 3.40
** 438870.985, 3765732.123, 258.88, 3.40
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000012     AREA     440650.121 3765736.471 0.0
   LOCATION A0000013     AREA     440473.366 3765737.962 0.0
   LOCATION A0000014     AREA     440296.612 3765739.454 0.0
   LOCATION A0000015     AREA     440119.803 3765740.945 0.0
   LOCATION A0000016     AREA     439967.184 3765741.327 0.0
   LOCATION A0000017     AREA     439814.564 3765741.708 0.0
   LOCATION A0000018     AREA     439661.942 3765742.089 0.0
   LOCATION A0000019     AREA     439498.385 3765742.454 0.0
   LOCATION A0000020     AREA     439334.828 3765742.819 0.0
   LOCATION A0000021     AREA     439171.191 3765743.184 0.0
   LOCATION A0000022     AREA     439021.059 3765742.226 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN01
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN02
** DESCRSRC SR 60 EB Freeway DPM Ex
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 18.29
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 3.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0000307481
** Nodes = 6
** 438872.217, 3765713.798, 258.90, 3.40
** 439571.019, 3765709.354, 260.53, 3.40
** 439744.944, 3765708.790, 261.20, 3.40
** 440090.503, 3765708.356, 261.51, 3.40
** 440405.345, 3765708.356, 260.60, 3.40
** 440650.831, 3765711.094, 260.06, 3.40
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000001     AREA     438872.159 3765704.654 0.0
   LOCATION A0000002     AREA     439046.860 3765703.543 0.0
   LOCATION A0000003     AREA     439221.560 3765702.432 0.0
   LOCATION A0000004     AREA     439396.261 3765701.321 0.0
   LOCATION A0000005     AREA     439570.990 3765700.210 0.0
   LOCATION A0000006     AREA     439744.932 3765699.646 0.0
   LOCATION A0000007     AREA     439917.712 3765699.429 0.0
   LOCATION A0000008     AREA     440090.503 3765699.212 0.0
   LOCATION A0000009     AREA     440247.924 3765699.212 0.0
   LOCATION A0000010     AREA     440405.447 3765699.212 0.0
   LOCATION A0000011     AREA     440528.190 3765700.581 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN02
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN03
** DESCRSRC SR 60 WB On-Ramp DPM Ex

2

Item D - 1352 of 1893



** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 3.96
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 3.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0005311802
** Nodes = 6
** 439895.137, 3765792.036, 254.44, 3.40
** 439830.262, 3765782.314, 255.62, 3.40
** 439602.637, 3765750.155, 260.12, 3.40
** 439556.367, 3765746.633, 260.49, 3.40
** 439478.285, 3765744.597, 260.25, 3.40
** 439423.199, 3765742.703, 260.08, 3.40
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000023     AREA     439894.844 3765793.995 0.0
   LOCATION A0000024     AREA     439862.406 3765789.134 0.0
   LOCATION A0000025     AREA     439829.985 3765784.276 0.0
   LOCATION A0000026     AREA     439792.048 3765778.916 0.0
   LOCATION A0000027     AREA     439754.110 3765773.556 0.0
   LOCATION A0000028     AREA     439716.172 3765768.196 0.0
   LOCATION A0000029     AREA     439678.235 3765762.836 0.0
   LOCATION A0000030     AREA     439640.297 3765757.477 0.0
   LOCATION A0000031     AREA     439602.486 3765752.131 0.0
   LOCATION A0000032     AREA     439579.352 3765750.369 0.0
   LOCATION A0000033     AREA     439556.316 3765748.613 0.0
   LOCATION A0000034     AREA     439517.274 3765747.595 0.0
   LOCATION A0000035     AREA     439478.217 3765746.577 0.0
   LOCATION A0000036     AREA     439450.674 3765745.630 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN03
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN04
** DESCRSRC SR 60 EB Offramp DPM Ex
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 7.62
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 3.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0003007914
** Nodes = 5
** 439895.389, 3765645.743, 252.80, 3.40
** 439818.641, 3765660.066, 254.56, 3.40
** 439755.474, 3765672.004, 257.06, 3.40
** 439662.806, 3765681.323, 259.67, 3.40
** 439463.024, 3765701.522, 260.17, 3.40
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000037     AREA     439896.088 3765649.489 0.0
   LOCATION A0000038     AREA     439857.714 3765656.650 0.0
   LOCATION A0000039     AREA     439819.349 3765663.810 0.0
   LOCATION A0000040     AREA     439755.856 3765675.795 0.0
   LOCATION A0000041     AREA     439709.522 3765680.454 0.0

3

Item D - 1353 of 1893



   LOCATION A0000042     AREA     439663.190 3765685.113 0.0
   LOCATION A0000043     AREA     439596.595 3765691.846 0.0
   LOCATION A0000044     AREA     439530.001 3765698.580 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN04
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN05
** DESCRSRC SR 60 EB On-Ramp DPM Ex
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 3.96
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 3.20
** Emission Rate = 0.000496591
** Nodes = 7
** 439941.297, 3765645.292, 253.26, 3.40
** 439993.010, 3765652.773, 253.93, 3.40
** 440155.834, 3765673.927, 258.66, 3.40
** 440268.609, 3765688.074, 259.90, 3.40
** 440322.372, 3765691.635, 260.22, 3.40
** 440354.630, 3765692.689, 260.13, 3.40
** 440446.541, 3765695.419, 259.97, 3.40
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000045     AREA     439941.581 3765643.331 0.0
   LOCATION A0000046     AREA     439967.437 3765647.072 0.0
   LOCATION A0000047     AREA     439993.265 3765650.809 0.0
   LOCATION A0000048     AREA     440025.830 3765655.039 0.0
   LOCATION A0000049     AREA     440058.395 3765659.270 0.0
   LOCATION A0000050     AREA     440090.960 3765663.501 0.0
   LOCATION A0000051     AREA     440123.524 3765667.732 0.0
   LOCATION A0000052     AREA     440156.081 3765671.961 0.0
   LOCATION A0000053     AREA     440193.672 3765676.677 0.0
   LOCATION A0000054     AREA     440231.264 3765681.392 0.0
   LOCATION A0000055     AREA     440268.740 3765686.097 0.0
   LOCATION A0000056     AREA     440295.621 3765687.877 0.0
   LOCATION A0000057     AREA     440322.437 3765689.655 0.0
   LOCATION A0000058     AREA     440354.688 3765690.708 0.0
   LOCATION A0000059     AREA     440385.325 3765691.619 0.0
   LOCATION A0000060     AREA     440415.962 3765692.529 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN05
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** Line Source Represented by Area Sources
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN06
** DESCRSRC SR 60 WB Off-ramp DPM Ex
** PREFIX
** Length of Side = 11.58
** Ratio = 10
** Vertical Dimension = 3.20
** Emission Rate = 0.0001897523
** Nodes = 6

4

Item D - 1354 of 1893



** 440392.606, 3765738.840, 260.54, 3.40
** 440310.837, 3765747.261, 260.35, 3.40
** 440224.880, 3765756.031, 259.69, 3.40
** 440137.544, 3765763.271, 258.13, 3.40
** 440102.580, 3765767.415, 257.28, 3.40
** 439940.966, 3765792.538, 254.87, 3.40
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   LOCATION A0000061     AREA     440393.199 3765744.601 0.0
   LOCATION A0000062     AREA     440311.425 3765753.022 0.0
   LOCATION A0000063     AREA     440225.359 3765761.802 0.0
   LOCATION A0000064     AREA     440138.226 3765769.022 0.0
   LOCATION A0000065     AREA     440103.469 3765773.137 0.0
   LOCATION A0000066     AREA     440022.663 3765785.699 0.0
** End of LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN06
** Source Parameters **
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN01
   SRCPARAM A0000012     0.0000307319     3.400   176.761    
18.290  -179.517     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000013     0.0000307319     3.400   176.761    
18.290  -179.517     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000014     0.0000307319     3.400   176.761    
18.290  -179.517     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000015     0.0000307319     3.400   152.620    
18.290  -179.857     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000016     0.0000307319     3.400   152.620    
18.290  -179.857     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000017     0.0000307319     3.400   152.620    
18.290  -179.857     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000018     0.0000307319     3.400   163.558    
18.290  -179.872     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000019     0.0000307319     3.400   163.558    
18.290  -179.872     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000020     0.0000307319     3.400   163.558    
18.290  -179.872     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000021     0.0000307319     3.400   150.135    
18.290   179.634     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000022     0.0000307319     3.400   150.135    
18.290   179.634     3.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN02
   SRCPARAM A0000001     0.0000307481     3.400   174.704    
18.288     0.364     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000002     0.0000307481     3.400   174.704    
18.288     0.364     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000003     0.0000307481     3.400   174.704    
18.288     0.364     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000004     0.0000307481     3.400   174.704    
18.288     0.364     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000005     0.0000307481     3.400   173.925    
18.288     0.186     3.200

5

Item D - 1355 of 1893



   SRCPARAM A0000006     0.0000307481     3.400   172.780    
18.288     0.072     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000007     0.0000307481     3.400   172.780    
18.288     0.072     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000008     0.0000307481     3.400   157.421    
18.288     0.000     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000009     0.0000307481     3.400   157.421    
18.288     0.000     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000010     0.0000307481     3.400   122.750    
18.288    -0.639     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000011     0.0000307481     3.400   122.750    
18.288    -0.639     3.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN03
   SRCPARAM A0000023     0.0005311802     3.400    32.800     
3.962   171.477     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000024     0.0005311802     3.400    32.800     
3.962   171.477     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000025     0.0005311802     3.400    38.314     
3.962   171.958     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000026     0.0005311802     3.400    38.314     
3.962   171.958     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000027     0.0005311802     3.400    38.314     
3.962   171.958     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000028     0.0005311802     3.400    38.314     
3.962   171.958     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000029     0.0005311802     3.400    38.314     
3.962   171.958     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000030     0.0005311802     3.400    38.314     
3.962   171.958     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000031     0.0005311802     3.400    23.202     
3.962   175.647     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000032     0.0005311802     3.400    23.202     
3.962   175.647     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000033     0.0005311802     3.400    39.055     
3.962   178.506     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000034     0.0005311802     3.400    39.055     
3.962   178.506     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000035     0.0005311802     3.400    27.559     
3.962   178.031     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000036     0.0005311802     3.400    27.559     
3.962   178.031     3.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN04
   SRCPARAM A0000037     0.0003007914     3.400    39.036     
7.620  -169.429     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000038     0.0003007914     3.400    39.036     
7.620  -169.429     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000039     0.0003007914     3.400    64.285     
7.620  -169.298     3.200

6

Item D - 1356 of 1893



   SRCPARAM A0000040     0.0003007914     3.400    46.568     
7.620  -174.258     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000041     0.0003007914     3.400    46.568     
7.620  -174.258     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000042     0.0003007914     3.400    66.934     
7.620  -174.227     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000043     0.0003007914     3.400    66.934     
7.620  -174.227     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000044     0.0003007914     3.400    66.934     
7.620  -174.227     3.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN05
   SRCPARAM A0000045     0.000496591     3.400    26.125     
3.962    -8.232     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000046     0.000496591     3.400    26.125     
3.962    -8.232     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000047     0.000496591     3.400    32.839     
3.962    -7.402     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000048     0.000496591     3.400    32.839     
3.962    -7.402     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000049     0.000496591     3.400    32.839     
3.962    -7.402     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000050     0.000496591     3.400    32.839     
3.962    -7.402     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000051     0.000496591     3.400    32.839     
3.962    -7.402     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000052     0.000496591     3.400    37.886     
3.962    -7.150     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000053     0.000496591     3.400    37.886     
3.962    -7.150     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000054     0.000496591     3.400    37.886     
3.962    -7.150     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000055     0.000496591     3.400    26.940     
3.962    -3.790     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000056     0.000496591     3.400    26.940     
3.962    -3.790     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000057     0.000496591     3.400    32.275     
3.962    -1.871     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000058     0.000496591     3.400    30.651     
3.962    -1.702     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000059     0.000496591     3.400    30.651     
3.962    -1.702     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000060     0.000496591     3.400    30.651     
3.962    -1.702     3.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
** LINE AREA Source ID = ARLN06
   SRCPARAM A0000061     0.0001897523     3.400    82.201    
11.582  -174.121     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000062     0.0001897523     3.400    86.403    
11.582  -174.174     3.200

7

Item D - 1357 of 1893



   SRCPARAM A0000063     0.0001897523     3.400    87.635    
11.582  -175.261     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000064     0.0001897523     3.400    35.209    
11.582  -173.241     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000065     0.0001897523     3.400    81.777    
11.582  -171.164     3.200
   SRCPARAM A0000066     0.0001897523     3.400    81.777    
11.582  -171.164     3.200
** --------------------------------------------------------------
-------
   URBANSRC ALL

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN01"
   EMISFACT A0000012     HROFDY 0.00274 0.00271 0.00264 0.00272 
0.00339 0.0043
   EMISFACT A0000012     HROFDY 0.00541 0.00502 0.00591 0.00706 
0.00747 0.00731
   EMISFACT A0000012     HROFDY 0.0069 0.0063 0.00496 0.00383 
0.00289 0.00262
   EMISFACT A0000012     HROFDY 0.00329 0.00402 0.00426 0.00398 
0.0038 0.00314
   EMISFACT A0000013     HROFDY 0.00274 0.00271 0.00264 0.00272 
0.00339 0.0043
   EMISFACT A0000013     HROFDY 0.00541 0.00502 0.00591 0.00706 
0.00747 0.00731
   EMISFACT A0000013     HROFDY 0.0069 0.0063 0.00496 0.00383 
0.00289 0.00262
   EMISFACT A0000013     HROFDY 0.00329 0.00402 0.00426 0.00398 
0.0038 0.00314
   EMISFACT A0000014     HROFDY 0.00274 0.00271 0.00264 0.00272 
0.00339 0.0043
   EMISFACT A0000014     HROFDY 0.00541 0.00502 0.00591 0.00706 
0.00747 0.00731
   EMISFACT A0000014     HROFDY 0.0069 0.0063 0.00496 0.00383 
0.00289 0.00262
   EMISFACT A0000014     HROFDY 0.00329 0.00402 0.00426 0.00398 
0.0038 0.00314
   EMISFACT A0000015     HROFDY 0.00274 0.00271 0.00264 0.00272 
0.00339 0.0043
   EMISFACT A0000015     HROFDY 0.00541 0.00502 0.00591 0.00706 
0.00747 0.00731
   EMISFACT A0000015     HROFDY 0.0069 0.0063 0.00496 0.00383 
0.00289 0.00262
   EMISFACT A0000015     HROFDY 0.00329 0.00402 0.00426 0.00398 
0.0038 0.00314
   EMISFACT A0000016     HROFDY 0.00274 0.00271 0.00264 0.00272 
0.00339 0.0043
   EMISFACT A0000016     HROFDY 0.00541 0.00502 0.00591 0.00706 
0.00747 0.00731
   EMISFACT A0000016     HROFDY 0.0069 0.0063 0.00496 0.00383 
0.00289 0.00262

8

Item D - 1358 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000016     HROFDY 0.00329 0.00402 0.00426 0.00398 
0.0038 0.00314
   EMISFACT A0000017     HROFDY 0.00274 0.00271 0.00264 0.00272 
0.00339 0.0043
   EMISFACT A0000017     HROFDY 0.00541 0.00502 0.00591 0.00706 
0.00747 0.00731
   EMISFACT A0000017     HROFDY 0.0069 0.0063 0.00496 0.00383 
0.00289 0.00262
   EMISFACT A0000017     HROFDY 0.00329 0.00402 0.00426 0.00398 
0.0038 0.00314
   EMISFACT A0000018     HROFDY 0.00274 0.00271 0.00264 0.00272 
0.00339 0.0043
   EMISFACT A0000018     HROFDY 0.00541 0.00502 0.00591 0.00706 
0.00747 0.00731
   EMISFACT A0000018     HROFDY 0.0069 0.0063 0.00496 0.00383 
0.00289 0.00262
   EMISFACT A0000018     HROFDY 0.00329 0.00402 0.00426 0.00398 
0.0038 0.00314
   EMISFACT A0000019     HROFDY 0.00274 0.00271 0.00264 0.00272 
0.00339 0.0043
   EMISFACT A0000019     HROFDY 0.00541 0.00502 0.00591 0.00706 
0.00747 0.00731
   EMISFACT A0000019     HROFDY 0.0069 0.0063 0.00496 0.00383 
0.00289 0.00262
   EMISFACT A0000019     HROFDY 0.00329 0.00402 0.00426 0.00398 
0.0038 0.00314
   EMISFACT A0000020     HROFDY 0.00274 0.00271 0.00264 0.00272 
0.00339 0.0043
   EMISFACT A0000020     HROFDY 0.00541 0.00502 0.00591 0.00706 
0.00747 0.00731
   EMISFACT A0000020     HROFDY 0.0069 0.0063 0.00496 0.00383 
0.00289 0.00262
   EMISFACT A0000020     HROFDY 0.00329 0.00402 0.00426 0.00398 
0.0038 0.00314
   EMISFACT A0000021     HROFDY 0.00274 0.00271 0.00264 0.00272 
0.00339 0.0043
   EMISFACT A0000021     HROFDY 0.00541 0.00502 0.00591 0.00706 
0.00747 0.00731
   EMISFACT A0000021     HROFDY 0.0069 0.0063 0.00496 0.00383 
0.00289 0.00262
   EMISFACT A0000021     HROFDY 0.00329 0.00402 0.00426 0.00398 
0.0038 0.00314
   EMISFACT A0000022     HROFDY 0.00274 0.00271 0.00264 0.00272 
0.00339 0.0043
   EMISFACT A0000022     HROFDY 0.00541 0.00502 0.00591 0.00706 
0.00747 0.00731
   EMISFACT A0000022     HROFDY 0.0069 0.0063 0.00496 0.00383 
0.00289 0.00262
   EMISFACT A0000022     HROFDY 0.00329 0.00402 0.00426 0.00398 
0.0038 0.00314

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"

9

Item D - 1359 of 1893



** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN02"
   EMISFACT A0000001     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000001     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000001     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000001     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000002     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000002     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000002     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000002     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000003     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000003     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000003     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000003     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000004     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000004     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000004     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000004     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000005     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000005     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000005     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000005     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000006     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000006     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000006     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000006     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000007     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000007     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 

10

Item D - 1360 of 1893



0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000007     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000007     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000008     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000008     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000008     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000008     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000009     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000009     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000009     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000009     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000010     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000010     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000010     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000010     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248
   EMISFACT A0000011     HROFDY 0.0172 0.0124 0.0108 0.0126 
0.0203 0.034
   EMISFACT A0000011     HROFDY 0.0431 0.0457 0.0439 0.0414 0.042 
0.0439
   EMISFACT A0000011     HROFDY 0.0463 0.0483 0.0501 0.0491 
0.0508 0.0506
   EMISFACT A0000011     HROFDY 0.0472 0.0459 0.0417 0.0408 
0.0334 0.0248

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN03"
   EMISFACT A0000023     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000023     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000023     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000023     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000024     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000024     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618

11

Item D - 1361 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000024     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000024     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000025     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000025     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000025     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000025     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000026     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000026     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000026     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000026     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000027     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000027     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000027     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000027     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000028     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000028     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000028     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000028     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000029     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000029     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000029     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000029     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000030     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000030     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000030     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000030     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122

12

Item D - 1362 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000031     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000031     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000031     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000031     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000032     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000032     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000032     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000032     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000033     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000033     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000033     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000033     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000034     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000034     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000034     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000034     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000035     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000035     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000035     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000035     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122
   EMISFACT A0000036     HROFDY 0.0000817 0.0000563 0.0000494 
0.000088 0.000251 0.000399
   EMISFACT A0000036     HROFDY 0.00045 0.000513 0.000554 
0.000568 0.000587 0.000618
   EMISFACT A0000036     HROFDY 0.000603 0.000582 0.000565 
0.000548 0.000528 0.000516
   EMISFACT A0000036     HROFDY 0.000421 0.000329 0.000297 
0.000258 0.000191 0.000122

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN04"
   EMISFACT A0000037     HROFDY 0.0000451 0.0000446 0.0000433 

13

Item D - 1363 of 1893



0.0000447 0.0000558 0.0000708
   EMISFACT A0000037     HROFDY 0.000089 0.0000825 0.0000971 
0.000116 0.000123 0.00012
   EMISFACT A0000037     HROFDY 0.000113 0.000104 0.0000815 
0.000063 0.0000548 0.0000497
   EMISFACT A0000037     HROFDY 0.0000541 0.0000662 0.0000701 
0.0000655 0.0000625 0.0000516
   EMISFACT A0000038     HROFDY 0.0000451 0.0000446 0.0000433 
0.0000447 0.0000558 0.0000708
   EMISFACT A0000038     HROFDY 0.000089 0.0000825 0.0000971 
0.000116 0.000123 0.00012
   EMISFACT A0000038     HROFDY 0.000113 0.000104 0.0000815 
0.000063 0.0000548 0.0000497
   EMISFACT A0000038     HROFDY 0.0000541 0.0000662 0.0000701 
0.0000655 0.0000625 0.0000516
   EMISFACT A0000039     HROFDY 0.0000451 0.0000446 0.0000433 
0.0000447 0.0000558 0.0000708
   EMISFACT A0000039     HROFDY 0.000089 0.0000825 0.0000971 
0.000116 0.000123 0.00012
   EMISFACT A0000039     HROFDY 0.000113 0.000104 0.0000815 
0.000063 0.0000548 0.0000497
   EMISFACT A0000039     HROFDY 0.0000541 0.0000662 0.0000701 
0.0000655 0.0000625 0.0000516
   EMISFACT A0000040     HROFDY 0.0000451 0.0000446 0.0000433 
0.0000447 0.0000558 0.0000708
   EMISFACT A0000040     HROFDY 0.000089 0.0000825 0.0000971 
0.000116 0.000123 0.00012
   EMISFACT A0000040     HROFDY 0.000113 0.000104 0.0000815 
0.000063 0.0000548 0.0000497
   EMISFACT A0000040     HROFDY 0.0000541 0.0000662 0.0000701 
0.0000655 0.0000625 0.0000516
   EMISFACT A0000041     HROFDY 0.0000451 0.0000446 0.0000433 
0.0000447 0.0000558 0.0000708
   EMISFACT A0000041     HROFDY 0.000089 0.0000825 0.0000971 
0.000116 0.000123 0.00012
   EMISFACT A0000041     HROFDY 0.000113 0.000104 0.0000815 
0.000063 0.0000548 0.0000497
   EMISFACT A0000041     HROFDY 0.0000541 0.0000662 0.0000701 
0.0000655 0.0000625 0.0000516
   EMISFACT A0000042     HROFDY 0.0000451 0.0000446 0.0000433 
0.0000447 0.0000558 0.0000708
   EMISFACT A0000042     HROFDY 0.000089 0.0000825 0.0000971 
0.000116 0.000123 0.00012
   EMISFACT A0000042     HROFDY 0.000113 0.000104 0.0000815 
0.000063 0.0000548 0.0000497
   EMISFACT A0000042     HROFDY 0.0000541 0.0000662 0.0000701 
0.0000655 0.0000625 0.0000516
   EMISFACT A0000043     HROFDY 0.0000451 0.0000446 0.0000433 
0.0000447 0.0000558 0.0000708
   EMISFACT A0000043     HROFDY 0.000089 0.0000825 0.0000971 
0.000116 0.000123 0.00012
   EMISFACT A0000043     HROFDY 0.000113 0.000104 0.0000815 

14

Item D - 1364 of 1893



0.000063 0.0000548 0.0000497
   EMISFACT A0000043     HROFDY 0.0000541 0.0000662 0.0000701 
0.0000655 0.0000625 0.0000516
   EMISFACT A0000044     HROFDY 0.0000451 0.0000446 0.0000433 
0.0000447 0.0000558 0.0000708
   EMISFACT A0000044     HROFDY 0.000089 0.0000825 0.0000971 
0.000116 0.000123 0.00012
   EMISFACT A0000044     HROFDY 0.000113 0.000104 0.0000815 
0.000063 0.0000548 0.0000497
   EMISFACT A0000044     HROFDY 0.0000541 0.0000662 0.0000701 
0.0000655 0.0000625 0.0000516

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN05"
   EMISFACT A0000045     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000045     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000045     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000045     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000046     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000046     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000046     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000046     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000047     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000047     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000047     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000047     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000048     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000048     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000048     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000048     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000049     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000049     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000049     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345

15

Item D - 1365 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000049     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000050     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000050     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000050     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000050     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000051     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000051     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000051     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000051     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000052     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000052     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000052     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000052     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000053     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000053     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000053     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000053     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000054     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000054     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000054     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000054     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000055     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000055     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000055     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000055     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000056     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492

16

Item D - 1366 of 1893



   EMISFACT A0000056     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000056     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000056     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000057     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000057     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000057     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000057     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000058     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000058     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000058     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000058     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000059     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000059     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000059     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000059     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359
   EMISFACT A0000060     HROFDY 0.000314 0.00031 0.000301 
0.000311 0.000388 0.000492
   EMISFACT A0000060     HROFDY 0.000619 0.000574 0.000676 
0.000808 0.000855 0.000836
   EMISFACT A0000060     HROFDY 0.000789 0.00072 0.000567 
0.000438 0.000381 0.000345
   EMISFACT A0000060     HROFDY 0.000376 0.00046 0.000488 
0.000456 0.000435 0.000359

** Variable Emissions Type: "By Hour-of-Day (HROFDY)"
** Variable Emission Scenario: "ARLN06"
   EMISFACT A0000061     HROFDY 0.0000229 0.0000158 0.0000139 
0.0000247 0.0000704 0.000112
   EMISFACT A0000061     HROFDY 0.000126 0.000144 0.000155 
0.000159 0.000165 0.000173
   EMISFACT A0000061     HROFDY 0.000169 0.000163 0.000158 
0.000154 0.000148 0.000145
   EMISFACT A0000061     HROFDY 0.000118 0.0000923 0.0000834 
0.0000723 0.0000535 0.0000342
   EMISFACT A0000062     HROFDY 0.0000229 0.0000158 0.0000139 
0.0000247 0.0000704 0.000112
   EMISFACT A0000062     HROFDY 0.000126 0.000144 0.000155 

17

Item D - 1367 of 1893



0.000159 0.000165 0.000173
   EMISFACT A0000062     HROFDY 0.000169 0.000163 0.000158 
0.000154 0.000148 0.000145
   EMISFACT A0000062     HROFDY 0.000118 0.0000923 0.0000834 
0.0000723 0.0000535 0.0000342
   EMISFACT A0000063     HROFDY 0.0000229 0.0000158 0.0000139 
0.0000247 0.0000704 0.000112
   EMISFACT A0000063     HROFDY 0.000126 0.000144 0.000155 
0.000159 0.000165 0.000173
   EMISFACT A0000063     HROFDY 0.000169 0.000163 0.000158 
0.000154 0.000148 0.000145
   EMISFACT A0000063     HROFDY 0.000118 0.0000923 0.0000834 
0.0000723 0.0000535 0.0000342
   EMISFACT A0000064     HROFDY 0.0000229 0.0000158 0.0000139 
0.0000247 0.0000704 0.000112
   EMISFACT A0000064     HROFDY 0.000126 0.000144 0.000155 
0.000159 0.000165 0.000173
   EMISFACT A0000064     HROFDY 0.000169 0.000163 0.000158 
0.000154 0.000148 0.000145
   EMISFACT A0000064     HROFDY 0.000118 0.0000923 0.0000834 
0.0000723 0.0000535 0.0000342
   EMISFACT A0000065     HROFDY 0.0000229 0.0000158 0.0000139 
0.0000247 0.0000704 0.000112
   EMISFACT A0000065     HROFDY 0.000126 0.000144 0.000155 
0.000159 0.000165 0.000173
   EMISFACT A0000065     HROFDY 0.000169 0.000163 0.000158 
0.000154 0.000148 0.000145
   EMISFACT A0000065     HROFDY 0.000118 0.0000923 0.0000834 
0.0000723 0.0000535 0.0000342
   EMISFACT A0000066     HROFDY 0.0000229 0.0000158 0.0000139 
0.0000247 0.0000704 0.000112
   EMISFACT A0000066     HROFDY 0.000126 0.000144 0.000155 
0.000159 0.000165 0.000173
   EMISFACT A0000066     HROFDY 0.000169 0.000163 0.000158 
0.000154 0.000148 0.000145
   EMISFACT A0000066     HROFDY 0.000118 0.0000923 0.0000834 
0.0000723 0.0000535 0.0000342
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000012 A0000013 A0000014 A0000015 A0000016 
A0000017
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000018 A0000019 A0000020 A0000021 A0000022 
A0000001
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000002 A0000003 A0000004 A0000005 A0000006 
A0000007
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000008 A0000009 A0000010 A0000011 A0000023 
A0000024
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000025 A0000026 A0000027 A0000028 A0000029 
A0000030
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000031 A0000032 A0000033 A0000034 A0000035 
A0000036
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000037 A0000038 A0000039 A0000040 A0000041 
A0000042
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000043 A0000044 A0000045 A0000046 A0000047 

18

Item D - 1368 of 1893



A0000048
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000049 A0000050 A0000051 A0000052 A0000053 
A0000054
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000055 A0000056 A0000057 A0000058 A0000059 
A0000060
   SRCGROUP Exh      A0000061 A0000062 A0000063 A0000064 A0000065 
A0000066
   SRCGROUP FreeExh  A0000012 A0000013 A0000014 A0000015 A0000016 
A0000017
   SRCGROUP FreeExh  A0000018 A0000019 A0000020 A0000021 A0000022 
A0000001
   SRCGROUP FreeExh  A0000002 A0000003 A0000004 A0000005 A0000006 
A0000007
   SRCGROUP FreeExh  A0000008 A0000009 A0000010 A0000011
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000023 A0000024 A0000025 A0000026 A0000027 
A0000028
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000029 A0000030 A0000031 A0000032 A0000033 
A0000034
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000035 A0000036 A0000037 A0000038 A0000039 
A0000040
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000041 A0000042 A0000043 A0000044 A0000045 
A0000046
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000047 A0000048 A0000049 A0000050 A0000051 
A0000052
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000053 A0000054 A0000055 A0000056 A0000057 
A0000058
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000059 A0000060 A0000061 A0000062 A0000063 
A0000064
   SRCGROUP OnOffExh A0000065 A0000066
   SRCGROUP ALL
SO FINISHED
**
****************************************
** AERMOD Receptor Pathway
****************************************
**
**
RE STARTING
** DESCRREC "UCART01" "Receptors generated from Uniform Cartesian 
Grid"
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765310.00

19

Item D - 1369 of 1893



   DISCCART    439739.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439764.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439764.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765315.00

20

Item D - 1370 of 1893



   DISCCART    439814.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765315.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439764.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765320.00

21

Item D - 1371 of 1893



   DISCCART    439884.00   3765320.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439754.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765325.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765330.00

22

Item D - 1372 of 1893



   DISCCART    439739.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439754.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765330.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765335.00

23

Item D - 1373 of 1893



   DISCCART    439869.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765335.00
  DISCCART    439879.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765335.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765345.00

24

Item D - 1374 of 1893



   DISCCART    439789.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765345.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765350.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765355.00

25

Item D - 1375 of 1893



   DISCCART    439729.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765355.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765360.00

26

Item D - 1376 of 1893



   DISCCART    439879.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765360.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765365.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765370.00

27

Item D - 1377 of 1893



   DISCCART    439779.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439884.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439754.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439864.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439874.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439879.00   3765375.00

28

Item D - 1378 of 1893



   DISCCART    439884.00   3765375.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765380.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765385.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765385.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439754.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765405.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765410.00

29

Item D - 1379 of 1893



   DISCCART    439744.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765410.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765415.00

30

Item D - 1380 of 1893



   DISCCART    439859.00   3765415.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765420.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765425.00

31

Item D - 1381 of 1893



   DISCCART    439789.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765425.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765435.00

32

Item D - 1382 of 1893



   DISCCART    439694.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765435.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765440.00

33

Item D - 1383 of 1893



   DISCCART    439814.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765440.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439779.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439784.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439834.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439839.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765445.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765450.00

34

Item D - 1384 of 1893



   DISCCART    439719.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439774.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765450.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765455.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765460.00

35

Item D - 1385 of 1893



   DISCCART    439824.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765465.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765470.00

36

Item D - 1386 of 1893



   DISCCART    439804.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439844.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439849.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439854.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765470.00
   DISCCART    439674.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439684.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439689.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439694.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439699.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439704.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439714.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439719.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439729.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439734.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439744.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439749.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439754.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439789.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439794.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439804.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439809.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439814.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439819.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439824.00   3765475.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765475.00
** DESCRREC "UCART03" "Receptors generated from Uniform Cartesian 
Grid"
   DISCCART    439269.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3764900.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765000.00

37

Item D - 1387 of 1893



   DISCCART    439669.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765000.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765100.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765200.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765300.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765500.00

38

Item D - 1388 of 1893



   DISCCART    439369.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765500.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765600.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765700.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    440169.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765800.00
   DISCCART    439269.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439369.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439469.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439569.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439669.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439869.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    439969.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    440069.00   3765900.00

39

Item D - 1389 of 1893



   DISCCART    440169.00   3765900.00
   DISCCART    440269.00   3765900.00
** DESCRREC "UCART02" "Receptors generated from Uniform Cartesian 
Grid"
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765310.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765340.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765370.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765400.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765430.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765460.00

40

Item D - 1390 of 1893



   DISCCART    439739.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765460.00
   DISCCART    439649.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439679.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439709.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439739.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439769.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439799.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439829.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439859.00   3765490.00
   DISCCART    439889.00   3765490.00
RE FINISHED
**
****************************************
** AERMOD Meteorology Pathway
****************************************
**
**
ME STARTING
   SURFFILE "C:\Users\sjremote\Desktop\Ontario_PUD-Legacy
\OntarioIntlAirportADJU (1)\KONT_V9_ADJU\KONT_v9.SFC"
   PROFFILE "C:\Users\sjremote\Desktop\Ontario_PUD-Legacy
\OntarioIntlAirportADJU (1)\KONT_V9_ADJU\KONT_v9.PFL"
   SURFDATA 3102 2012 Ontario_Apt
   UAIRDATA 3190 2012
   PROFBASE 289.0 METERS
ME FINISHED
**
****************************************
** AERMOD Output Pathway
****************************************
**
**
OU STARTING
   RECTABLE ALLAVE 1ST
   RECTABLE 1 1ST
** Auto-Generated Plotfiles
   PLOTFILE 1 ALL 1ST ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-DPM_20221005.AD
\01H1GALL.PLT 31
   PLOTFILE 1 Exh 1ST ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-DPM_20221005.AD
\01H1G001.PLT 32
   PLOTFILE 1 FreeExh 1ST ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-DPM_
20221005.AD\01H1G002.PLT 33
   PLOTFILE 1 OnOffExh 1ST ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-DPM_
20221005.AD\01H1G003.PLT 34
   PLOTFILE PERIOD ALL ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-DPM_20221005.AD
\PE00GALL.PLT 35
   PLOTFILE PERIOD Exh ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-DPM_20221005.AD

41

Item D - 1391 of 1893



\PE00G001.PLT 36
   PLOTFILE PERIOD FreeExh ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-DPM_
20221005.AD\PE00G002.PLT 37
   PLOTFILE PERIOD OnOffExh ONTARIO_PUD-LEGACY_OPS-HRA-DPM_
20221005.AD\PE00G003.PLT 38
   SUMMFILE Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-DPM_20221005.sum
OU FINISHED

  *** Message Summary For AERMOD Model Setup ***

  --------- Summary of Total Messages --------
  
A Total of            0 Fatal Error Message(s)
A Total of            2 Warning Message(s)
A Total of            0 Informational Message(s)
  
  
    ******** FATAL ERROR MESSAGES ******** 
               ***  NONE  ***         
  
  
    ********   WARNING MESSAGES   ******** 
ME W186    1734       MEOPEN: THRESH_1MIN 1-min ASOS wind speed 
threshold used           0.50
ME W187    1734       MEOPEN: ADJ_U* Option for Stable Low Winds 
used in AERMET              

***********************************
*** SETUP Finishes Successfully ***
***********************************

42

Item D - 1392 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   1
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                            ***     MODEL SETUP 
OPTIONS SUMMARY       ***
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

**Model Is Setup For Calculation of Average CONCentration 
Values.
  
   --  DEPOSITION LOGIC  --
**NO GAS DEPOSITION Data Provided.
**NO PARTICLE DEPOSITION Data Provided.
**Model Uses NO DRY DEPLETION.  DRYDPLT  =  F
**Model Uses NO WET DEPLETION.  WETDPLT  =  F
  
**Model Uses URBAN Dispersion Algorithm for the SBL for    66 
Source(s),
   for Total of    1 Urban Area(s):
   Urban Population =   2035210.0 ;  Urban Roughness Length =  
1.000 m
  
**Model Allows User-Specified Options:
         1. Stack-tip Downwash.
         2. Model Assumes Receptors on FLAT Terrain.
         3. Use Calms Processing Routine.
         4. Use Missing Data Processing Routine.
         5. No Exponential Decay.
         6. Urban Roughness Length of 1.0 Meter Used.
  
**Other Options Specified:
         ADJ_U*   - Use ADJ_U* option for SBL in AERMET
         CCVR_Sub - Meteorological data includes CCVR 
substitutions
         TEMP_Sub - Meteorological data includes TEMP 
substitutions
  
**Model Assumes No FLAGPOLE Receptor Heights.
  
**The User Specified a Pollutant Type of:  PM_10   
  
**Model Calculates  1 Short Term Average(s) of:   1-HR
     and Calculates PERIOD Averages
  
**This Run Includes:     66 Source(s);       4 Source Group(s); 

43

Item D - 1393 of 1893



and    1115 Receptor(s)

                with:      0 POINT(s), including
                           0 POINTCAP(s) and      0 POINTHOR(s)
                 and:      0 VOLUME source(s)
                 and:     66 AREA type source(s)
                 and:      0 LINE source(s)
                 and:      0 RLINE/RLINEXT source(s)
                 and:      0 OPENPIT source(s)
                 and:      0 BUOYANT LINE source(s) with a total 
of     0 line(s)

  
**Model Set To Continue RUNning After the Setup Testing.

**The AERMET Input Meteorological Data Version Date:  16216
  
**Output Options Selected:
          Model Outputs Tables of PERIOD Averages by Receptor
          Model Outputs Tables of Highest Short Term Values by 
Receptor (RECTABLE Keyword)
          Model Outputs External File(s) of High Values for 
Plotting (PLOTFILE Keyword)
          Model Outputs Separate Summary File of High Ranked 
Values (SUMMFILE Keyword)
  
**NOTE:  The Following Flags May Appear Following CONC Values:  
c for Calm Hours
                                                                 
m for Missing Hours
                                                                 
b for Both Calm and Missing Hours
  
**Misc. Inputs:  Base Elev. for Pot. Temp. Profile (m MSL) =   
289.00 ;  Decay Coef. =    0.000     ;  Rot. Angle =     0.0
                  Emission Units = 
GRAMS/SEC                                ;  Emission Rate Unit 
Factor =   0.10000E+07
                  Output Units   = MICROGRAMS/M**3                         
  
**Approximate Storage Requirements of Model =      3.8 MB of 
RAM.
  
**Input Runstream File:          aermod.inp                                                                                  
**Output Print File:             aermod.out                                                                                  

**Detailed Error/Message File:   Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-DPM_
20221005.err                                                     
**File for Summary of Results:   Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops-HRA-DPM_
20221005.sum                                                     

44

Item D - 1394 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   2
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                                  *** AREA SOURCE 
DATA ***

               NUMBER EMISSION RATE  COORD (SW CORNER)  BASE     
RELEASE  X-DIM     Y-DIM    ORIENT.    INIT.   URBAN  EMISSION 
RATE
   SOURCE       PART.  (GRAMS/SEC       X        Y      ELEV.    
HEIGHT  OF AREA   OF AREA   OF AREA     SZ     SOURCE  SCALAR 
VARY
     ID         CATS.   /METER**2)   (METERS) (METERS) (METERS) 
(METERS) (METERS)  (METERS)   (DEG.)  (METERS)              BY
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-

A0000012         0   0.30732E-04  440650.1 3765736.5   289.0     
3.40    176.76     18.29   -179.52     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000013         0   0.30732E-04  440473.4 3765738.0   289.0     
3.40    176.76     18.29   -179.52     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000014         0   0.30732E-04  440296.6 3765739.5   289.0     
3.40    176.76     18.29   -179.52     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000015         0   0.30732E-04  440119.8 3765740.9   289.0     
3.40    152.62     18.29   -179.86     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000016         0   0.30732E-04  439967.2 3765741.3   289.0     
3.40    152.62     18.29   -179.86     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000017         0   0.30732E-04  439814.6 3765741.7   289.0     
3.40    152.62     18.29   -179.86     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000018         0   0.30732E-04  439661.9 3765742.1   289.0     
3.40    163.56     18.29   -179.87     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000019         0   0.30732E-04  439498.4 3765742.5   289.0     
3.40    163.56     18.29   -179.87     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000020         0   0.30732E-04  439334.8 3765742.8   289.0     
3.40    163.56     18.29   -179.87     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000021         0   0.30732E-04  439171.2 3765743.2   289.0     
3.40    150.13     18.29    179.63     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000022         0   0.30732E-04  439021.1 3765742.2   289.0     
3.40    150.13     18.29    179.63     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000001         0   0.30748E-04  438872.2 3765704.7   289.0     
3.40    174.70     18.29      0.36     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000002         0   0.30748E-04  439046.9 3765703.5   289.0     
3.40    174.70     18.29      0.36     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000003         0   0.30748E-04  439221.6 3765702.4   289.0     

45

Item D - 1395 of 1893



3.40    174.70     18.29      0.36     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000004         0   0.30748E-04  439396.3 3765701.3   289.0     
3.40    174.70     18.29      0.36     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000005         0   0.30748E-04  439571.0 3765700.2   289.0     
3.40    173.93     18.29      0.19     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000006         0   0.30748E-04  439744.9 3765699.6   289.0     
3.40    172.78     18.29      0.07     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000007         0   0.30748E-04  439917.7 3765699.4   289.0     
3.40    172.78     18.29      0.07     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000008         0   0.30748E-04  440090.5 3765699.2   289.0     
3.40    157.42     18.29      0.00     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000009         0   0.30748E-04  440247.9 3765699.2   289.0     
3.40    157.42     18.29      0.00     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000010         0   0.30748E-04  440405.4 3765699.2   289.0     
3.40    122.75     18.29     -0.64     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000011         0   0.30748E-04  440528.2 3765700.6   289.0     
3.40    122.75     18.29     -0.64     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000023         0   0.53118E-03  439894.8 3765794.0   289.0     
3.40     32.80      3.96    171.48     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000024         0   0.53118E-03  439862.4 3765789.1   289.0     
3.40     32.80      3.96    171.48     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000025         0   0.53118E-03  439830.0 3765784.3   289.0     
3.40     38.31      3.96    171.96     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000026         0   0.53118E-03  439792.0 3765778.9   289.0     
3.40     38.31      3.96    171.96     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000027         0   0.53118E-03  439754.1 3765773.6   289.0     
3.40     38.31      3.96    171.96     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000028         0   0.53118E-03  439716.2 3765768.2   289.0     
3.40     38.31      3.96    171.96     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000029         0   0.53118E-03  439678.2 3765762.8   289.0     
3.40     38.31      3.96    171.96     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000030         0   0.53118E-03  439640.3 3765757.5   289.0     
3.40     38.31      3.96    171.96     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000031         0   0.53118E-03  439602.5 3765752.1   289.0     
3.40     23.20      3.96    175.65     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000032         0   0.53118E-03  439579.4 3765750.4   289.0     
3.40     23.20      3.96    175.65     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000033         0   0.53118E-03  439556.3 3765748.6   289.0     
3.40     39.05      3.96    178.51     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000034         0   0.53118E-03  439517.3 3765747.6   289.0     
3.40     39.05      3.96    178.51     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000035         0   0.53118E-03  439478.2 3765746.6   289.0     
3.40     27.56      3.96    178.03     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000036         0   0.53118E-03  439450.7 3765745.6   289.0     
3.40     27.56      3.96    178.03     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000037         0   0.30079E-03  439896.1 3765649.5   289.0     
3.40     39.04      7.62   -169.43     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000038         0   0.30079E-03  439857.7 3765656.6   289.0     
3.40     39.04      7.62   -169.43     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000039         0   0.30079E-03  439819.3 3765663.8   289.0     
3.40     64.28      7.62   -169.30     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000040         0   0.30079E-03  439755.9 3765675.8   289.0     

46

Item D - 1396 of 1893



3.40     46.57      7.62   -174.26     3.20     YES   HROFDY 

47

Item D - 1397 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   3
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                                  *** AREA SOURCE 
DATA ***

               NUMBER EMISSION RATE  COORD (SW CORNER)  BASE     
RELEASE  X-DIM     Y-DIM    ORIENT.    INIT.   URBAN  EMISSION 
RATE
   SOURCE       PART.  (GRAMS/SEC       X        Y      ELEV.    
HEIGHT  OF AREA   OF AREA   OF AREA     SZ     SOURCE  SCALAR 
VARY
     ID         CATS.   /METER**2)   (METERS) (METERS) (METERS) 
(METERS) (METERS)  (METERS)   (DEG.)  (METERS)              BY
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-

A0000041         0   0.30079E-03  439709.5 3765680.5   289.0     
3.40     46.57      7.62   -174.26     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000042         0   0.30079E-03  439663.2 3765685.1   289.0     
3.40     66.93      7.62   -174.23     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000043         0   0.30079E-03  439596.6 3765691.8   289.0     
3.40     66.93      7.62   -174.23     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000044         0   0.30079E-03  439530.0 3765698.6   289.0     
3.40     66.93      7.62   -174.23     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000045         0   0.49659E-03  439941.6 3765643.3   289.0     
3.40     26.12      3.96     -8.23    3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000046         0   0.49659E-03  439967.4 3765647.1   289.0     
3.40     26.12      3.96     -8.23     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000047         0   0.49659E-03  439993.3 3765650.8   289.0     
3.40     32.84      3.96     -7.40     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000048         0   0.49659E-03  440025.8 3765655.0   289.0     
3.40     32.84      3.96     -7.40     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000049         0   0.49659E-03  440058.4 3765659.3   289.0     
3.40     32.84      3.96     -7.40     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000050         0   0.49659E-03  440091.0 3765663.5   289.0     
3.40     32.84      3.96     -7.40     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000051         0   0.49659E-03  440123.5 3765667.7   289.0     
3.40     32.84      3.96     -7.40     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000052         0   0.49659E-03  440156.1 3765672.0   289.0     
3.40     37.89      3.96     -7.15     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000053         0   0.49659E-03  440193.7 3765676.7   289.0     
3.40     37.89      3.96     -7.15     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000054         0   0.49659E-03  440231.3 3765681.4   289.0     

48

Item D - 1398 of 1893



3.40     37.89      3.96     -7.15     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000055         0   0.49659E-03  440268.7 3765686.1   289.0     
3.40     26.94      3.96     -3.79     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000056         0   0.49659E-03  440295.6 3765687.9   289.0     
3.40     26.94      3.96     -3.79     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000057         0   0.49659E-03  440322.4 3765689.7   289.0     
3.40     32.28      3.96     -1.87     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000058         0   0.49659E-03  440354.7 3765690.7   289.0     
3.40     30.65      3.96     -1.70     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000059         0   0.49659E-03  440385.3 3765691.6   289.0     
3.40     30.65      3.96     -1.70     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000060         0   0.49659E-03  440416.0 3765692.5   289.0     
3.40     30.65      3.96     -1.70     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000061         0   0.18975E-03  440393.2 3765744.6   289.0     
3.40     82.20     11.58   -174.12     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000062         0   0.18975E-03  440311.4 3765753.0   289.0     
3.40     86.40     11.58   -174.17     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000063         0   0.18975E-03  440225.4 3765761.8   289.0     
3.40     87.63     11.58   -175.26     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000064         0   0.18975E-03  440138.2 3765769.0   289.0     
3.40     35.21     11.58   -173.24     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000065         0   0.18975E-03  440103.5 3765773.1   289.0     
3.40     81.78     11.58   -171.16     3.20     YES   HROFDY 
A0000066         0   0.18975E-03  440022.7 3765785.7   289.0     
3.40     81.78     11.58   -171.16     3.20     YES   HROFDY 

49

Item D - 1399 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   4
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                           *** SOURCE IDs 
DEFINING SOURCE GROUPS ***

SRCGROUP ID                                              SOURCE 
IDs
-----------                                              -------
---

  EXH        A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , 
A0000015    , A0000016    , A0000017    , A0000018    , 
A0000019    ,

             A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , 
A0000001    , A0000002    , A0000003    , A0000004    , 
A0000005    ,

             A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , 
A0000009    , A0000010    , A0000011    , A0000023    , 
A0000024    ,

             A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , A0000031    , 
A0000032    ,

             A0000033    , A0000034    , A0000035    , 
A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , A0000039    , 
A0000040    ,

             A0000041    , A0000042    , A0000043    , 
A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , A0000047    , 
A0000048    ,

             A0000049    , A0000050    , A0000051    , 
A0000052    , A0000053    , A0000054    , A0000055    , 
A0000056    ,

             A0000057    , A0000058    , A0000059    , 
A0000060    , A0000061    , A0000062    , A0000063    , 
A0000064    ,

             A0000065    , A0000066    ,

50

Item D - 1400 of 1893



  FREEEXH    A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , 
A0000015    , A0000016    , A0000017    , A0000018    , 
A0000019    ,

             A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , 
A0000001    , A0000002    , A0000003    , A0000004    , 
A0000005    ,

             A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , 
A0000009    , A0000010    , A0000011    ,

  ONOFFEXH   A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , 
A0000026    , A0000027    , A0000028    , A0000029    , 
A0000030    ,

             A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , 
A0000034    , A0000035    , A0000036    , A0000037    , 
A0000038    ,

             A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , 
A0000042    , A0000043    , A0000044    , A0000045    , 
A0000046    ,

             A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    , A0000051    , A0000052    , A0000053    , 
A0000054    ,

             A0000055    , A0000056    , A0000057    , 
A0000058    , A0000059    , A0000060    , A0000061    , 
A0000062    ,

             A0000063    , A0000064    , A0000065    , 
A0000066    ,

  ALL        A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , 
A0000015    , A0000016    , A0000017    , A0000018    , 
A0000019    ,

             A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , 
A0000001    , A0000002    , A0000003    , A0000004    , 
A0000005    ,

51

Item D - 1401 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   5
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                           *** SOURCE IDs 
DEFINING SOURCE GROUPS ***

SRCGROUP ID                                              SOURCE 
IDs
-----------                                              -------
---

             A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , 
A0000009    , A0000010    , A0000011    , A0000023    , 
A0000024    ,

             A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , A0000031    , 
A0000032    ,

             A0000033    , A0000034    , A0000035    , 
A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , A0000039    , 
A0000040    ,

             A0000041    , A0000042    , A0000043    , 
A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , A0000047    , 
A0000048    ,

             A0000049    , A0000050    , A0000051    , 
A0000052    , A0000053    , A0000054    , A0000055    , 
A0000056    ,

             A0000057    , A0000058    , A0000059    , 
A0000060    , A0000061    , A0000062    , A0000063    , 
A0000064    ,

             A0000065    , A0000066    ,

52

Item D - 1402 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   6
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                          *** SOURCE IDs DEFINED 
AS URBAN SOURCES ***

  URBAN ID   URBAN POP                                    SOURCE 
IDs
  --------   ---------                                    -------
---

              2035210.   A0000012    , A0000013    , 
A0000014    , A0000015    , A0000016    , A0000017    , 
A0000018    ,
A0000019    ,

             A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , 
A0000001    , A0000002    , A0000003    , A0000004    , 
A0000005    ,

             A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , 
A0000009    , A0000010    , A0000011    , A0000023    , 
A0000024    ,

             A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , A0000031    , 
A0000032    ,

             A0000033    , A0000034    , A0000035    , 
A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , A0000039    , 
A0000040    ,

             A0000041    , A0000042    , A0000043    , 
A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , A0000047    , 
A0000048    ,

             A0000049    , A0000050    , A0000051    , 
A0000052    , A0000053    , A0000054    , A0000055    , 
A0000056    ,

             A0000057    , A0000058    , A0000059    , 
A0000060    , A0000061    , A0000062    , A0000063    , 
A0000064    ,

53

Item D - 1403 of 1893



             A0000065    , A0000066    ,

54

Item D - 1404 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   7
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000012     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .27400E-02      2   .27100E-02      3   .26400E-02      
4   .27200E-02      5   .33900E-02      6   .43000E-02
       7   .54100E-02      8   .50200E-02      9   .59100E-02     
10   .70600E-02     11   .74700E-02     12   .73100E-02
      13   .69000E-02     14   .63000E-02     15   .49600E-02     
16   .38300E-02     17   .28900E-02     18   .26200E-02
      19   .32900E-02     20   .40200E-02     21   .42600E-02     
22   .39800E-02     23   .38000E-02     24   .31400E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000013     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .27400E-02      2   .27100E-02      3   .26400E-02      
4   .27200E-02      5   .33900E-02      6   .43000E-02
       7   .54100E-02      8   .50200E-02      9   .59100E-02     
10   .70600E-02     11   .74700E-02     12   .73100E-02
      13   .69000E-02     14   .63000E-02     15   .49600E-02     
16   .38300E-02     17   .28900E-02     18   .26200E-02
      19   .32900E-02     20   .40200E-02     21   .42600E-02     
22   .39800E-02     23   .38000E-02     24   .31400E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000014     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .27400E-02      2   .27100E-02      3   .26400E-02      
4   .27200E-02      5   .33900E-02      6   .43000E-02
       7   .54100E-02      8   .50200E-02      9   .59100E-02     
10   .70600E-02     11   .74700E-02     12   .73100E-02
      13   .69000E-02     14   .63000E-02     15   .49600E-02     
16   .38300E-02     17   .28900E-02     18   .26200E-02
      19   .32900E-02     20   .40200E-02     21   .42600E-02     
22   .39800E-02     23   .38000E-02     24   .31400E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000015     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

55

Item D - 1405 of 1893



       1   .27400E-02      2   .27100E-02      3   .26400E-02      
4   .27200E-02      5   .33900E-02      6   .43000E-02
       7   .54100E-02      8   .50200E-02      9   .59100E-02     
10   .70600E-02     11   .74700E-02     12   .73100E-02
      13   .69000E-02     14   .63000E-02     15   .49600E-02     
16   .38300E-02     17   .28900E-02     18   .26200E-02
      19   .32900E-02     20   .40200E-02     21   .42600E-02     
22   .39800E-02     23   .38000E-02     24   .31400E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000016     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .27400E-02      2   .27100E-02      3   .26400E-02      
4   .27200E-02      5   .33900E-02      6   .43000E-02
       7   .54100E-02      8   .50200E-02      9   .59100E-02     
10   .70600E-02     11   .74700E-02     12   .73100E-02
      13   .69000E-02     14   .63000E-02     15   .49600E-02     
16   .38300E-02     17   .28900E-02     18   .26200E-02
      19   .32900E-02     20   .40200E-02     21   .42600E-02     
22   .39800E-02     23   .38000E-02     24   .31400E-02

56

Item D - 1406 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   8
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000017     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .27400E-02      2   .27100E-02      3   .26400E-02      
4   .27200E-02      5   .33900E-02      6   .43000E-02
       7   .54100E-02      8   .50200E-02      9   .59100E-02     
10   .70600E-02     11   .74700E-02     12   .73100E-02
      13   .69000E-02     14   .63000E-02     15   .49600E-02     
16   .38300E-02     17   .28900E-02     18   .26200E-02
      19   .32900E-02     20   .40200E-02     21   .42600E-02     
22   .39800E-02     23   .38000E-02     24   .31400E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000018     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .27400E-02      2   .27100E-02      3   .26400E-02      
4   .27200E-02      5   .33900E-02      6   .43000E-02
       7   .54100E-02      8   .50200E-02      9   .59100E-02     
10   .70600E-02     11   .74700E-02     12   .73100E-02
      13   .69000E-02     14   .63000E-02     15   .49600E-02     
16   .38300E-02     17   .28900E-02     18   .26200E-02
      19   .32900E-02     20   .40200E-02     21   .42600E-02     
22   .39800E-02     23   .38000E-02     24   .31400E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000019     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .27400E-02      2   .27100E-02      3   .26400E-02      
4   .27200E-02      5   .33900E-02      6   .43000E-02
       7   .54100E-02      8   .50200E-02      9   .59100E-02     
10   .70600E-02     11   .74700E-02     12   .73100E-02
      13   .69000E-02     14   .63000E-02     15   .49600E-02     
16   .38300E-02     17   .28900E-02     18   .26200E-02
      19   .32900E-02     20   .40200E-02     21   .42600E-02     
22   .39800E-02     23   .38000E-02     24   .31400E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000020     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

57

Item D - 1407 of 1893



       1   .27400E-02      2   .27100E-02      3   .26400E-02      
4   .27200E-02      5   .33900E-02      6   .43000E-02
       7   .54100E-02      8   .50200E-02      9   .59100E-02     
10   .70600E-02     11   .74700E-02     12   .73100E-02
      13   .69000E-02     14   .63000E-02     15   .49600E-02     
16   .38300E-02     17   .28900E-02     18   .26200E-02
      19   .32900E-02     20   .40200E-02     21   .42600E-02     
22   .39800E-02     23   .38000E-02     24   .31400E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000021     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .27400E-02      2   .27100E-02      3   .26400E-02      
4   .27200E-02      5   .33900E-02      6   .43000E-02
       7   .54100E-02      8   .50200E-02      9   .59100E-02     
10   .70600E-02     11   .74700E-02     12   .73100E-02
      13   .69000E-02     14   .63000E-02     15   .49600E-02     
16   .38300E-02     17   .28900E-02     18   .26200E-02
      19   .32900E-02     20   .40200E-02     21   .42600E-02     
22   .39800E-02     23   .38000E-02     24   .31400E-02

58

Item D - 1408 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE   9
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000022     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .27400E-02      2   .27100E-02      3   .26400E-02      
4   .27200E-02      5   .33900E-02      6   .43000E-02
       7   .54100E-02      8   .50200E-02      9   .59100E-02     
10   .70600E-02     11   .74700E-02     12   .73100E-02
      13   .69000E-02     14   .63000E-02     15   .49600E-02     
16   .38300E-02     17   .28900E-02     18   .26200E-02
      19   .32900E-02     20   .40200E-02     21   .42600E-02     
22   .39800E-02     23   .38000E-02     24   .31400E-02

SOURCE ID = A0000001     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000002     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000003     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

59

Item D - 1409 of 1893



       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000004     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

60

Item D - 1410 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  10
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000005     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000006     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000007     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000008     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

61

Item D - 1411 of 1893



       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000009     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

62

Item D - 1412 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  11
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000010     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000011     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .17200E-01      2   .12400E-01      3   .10800E-01      
4   .12600E-01      5   .20300E-01      6   .34000E-01
       7   .43100E-01      8   .45700E-01      9   .43900E-01     
10   .41400E-01     11   .42000E-01     12   .43900E-01
      13   .46300E-01     14   .48300E-01     15   .50100E-01     
16   .49100E-01     17   .50800E-01     18   .50600E-01
      19   .47200E-01     20   .45900E-01     21   .41700E-01     
22   .40800E-01     23   .33400E-01     24   .24800E-01

SOURCE ID = A0000023     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000024     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

63

Item D - 1413 of 1893



       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000025     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

64

Item D - 1414 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  12
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000026     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000027     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000028     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000029     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

65

Item D - 1415 of 1893



       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000030     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

66

Item D - 1416 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  13
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000031     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000032     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000033     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000034     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

67

Item D - 1417 of 1893



       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000035     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

68

Item D - 1418 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  14
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000036     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .81700E-04      2   .56300E-04      3   .49400E-04      
4   .88000E-04      5   .25100E-03      6   .39900E-03
       7   .45000E-03      8   .51300E-03      9   .55400E-03     
10   .56800E-03     11   .58700E-03     12   .61800E-03
      13   .60300E-03     14   .58200E-03     15   .56500E-03     
16   .54800E-03     17   .52800E-03     18   .51600E-03
      19   .42100E-03     20   .32900E-03     21   .29700E-03     
22   .25800E-03     23   .19100E-03     24   .12200E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000037     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .45100E-04      2   .44600E-04      3   .43300E-04      
4   .44700E-04      5   .55800E-04      6   .70800E-04
       7   .89000E-04      8   .82500E-04      9   .97100E-04     
10   .11600E-03     11   .12300E-03     12   .12000E-03
      13   .11300E-03     14   .10400E-03     15   .81500E-04     
16   .63000E-04     17   .54800E-04     18   .49700E-04
      19   .54100E-04     20   .66200E-04     21   .70100E-04     
22   .65500E-04     23   .62500E-04     24   .51600E-04

SOURCE ID = A0000038     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .45100E-04      2   .44600E-04      3   .43300E-04      
4   .44700E-04      5   .55800E-04      6   .70800E-04
       7   .89000E-04      8   .82500E-04      9   .97100E-04     
10   .11600E-03     11   .12300E-03     12   .12000E-03
      13   .11300E-03     14   .10400E-03     15   .81500E-04     
16   .63000E-04     17   .54800E-04     18   .49700E-04
      19   .54100E-04     20   .66200E-04     21   .70100E-04     
22   .65500E-04     23   .62500E-04     24   .51600E-04

SOURCE ID = A0000039     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

69

Item D - 1419 of 1893



       1   .45100E-04      2   .44600E-04      3   .43300E-04      
4   .44700E-04      5   .55800E-04      6   .70800E-04
       7   .89000E-04      8   .82500E-04      9   .97100E-04     
10   .11600E-03     11   .12300E-03     12   .12000E-03
      13   .11300E-03     14   .10400E-03     15   .81500E-04     
16   .63000E-04     17   .54800E-04     18   .49700E-04
      19   .54100E-04     20   .66200E-04     21   .70100E-04     
22   .65500E-04     23   .62500E-04     24   .51600E-04

SOURCE ID = A0000040     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .45100E-04      2   .44600E-04      3   .43300E-04      
4   .44700E-04      5   .55800E-04      6   .70800E-04
       7   .89000E-04      8   .82500E-04      9   .97100E-04     
10   .11600E-03     11   .12300E-03     12   .12000E-03
      13   .11300E-03     14   .10400E-03     15   .81500E-04     
16   .63000E-04     17   .54800E-04     18   .49700E-04
      19   .54100E-04     20   .66200E-04     21   .70100E-04     
22   .65500E-04     23   .62500E-04     24   .51600E-04

70

Item D - 1420 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  15
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000041     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .45100E-04      2   .44600E-04      3   .43300E-04      
4   .44700E-04      5   .55800E-04      6   .70800E-04
       7   .89000E-04      8   .82500E-04      9   .97100E-04     
10   .11600E-03     11   .12300E-03     12   .12000E-03
      13   .11300E-03     14   .10400E-03     15   .81500E-04     
16   .63000E-04     17   .54800E-04     18   .49700E-04
      19   .54100E-04     20   .66200E-04     21   .70100E-04     
22   .65500E-04     23   .62500E-04     24   .51600E-04

SOURCE ID = A0000042     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .45100E-04      2   .44600E-04      3   .43300E-04      
4   .44700E-04      5   .55800E-04      6   .70800E-04
       7   .89000E-04      8   .82500E-04      9   .97100E-04     
10   .11600E-03     11   .12300E-03     12   .12000E-03
      13   .11300E-03     14   .10400E-03     15   .81500E-04     
16   .63000E-04     17   .54800E-04     18   .49700E-04
      19   .54100E-04     20   .66200E-04     21   .70100E-04     
22   .65500E-04     23   .62500E-04     24   .51600E-04

SOURCE ID = A0000043     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .45100E-04      2   .44600E-04      3   .43300E-04      
4   .44700E-04      5   .55800E-04      6   .70800E-04
       7   .89000E-04      8   .82500E-04      9   .97100E-04     
10   .11600E-03     11   .12300E-03     12   .12000E-03
      13   .11300E-03     14   .10400E-03     15   .81500E-04     
16   .63000E-04     17   .54800E-04     18   .49700E-04
      19   .54100E-04     20   .66200E-04     21   .70100E-04     
22   .65500E-04     23   .62500E-04     24   .51600E-04

SOURCE ID = A0000044     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

71

Item D - 1421 of 1893



       1   .45100E-04      2   .44600E-04      3   .43300E-04      
4   .44700E-04      5   .55800E-04      6   .70800E-04
       7   .89000E-04      8   .82500E-04      9   .97100E-04     
10   .11600E-03     11   .12300E-03     12   .12000E-03
      13   .11300E-03     14   .10400E-03     15   .81500E-04     
16   .63000E-04     17   .54800E-04     18   .49700E-04
      19   .54100E-04     20   .66200E-04     21   .70100E-04     
22   .65500E-04     23   .62500E-04     24   .51600E-04

SOURCE ID = A0000045     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

72

Item D - 1422 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  16
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000046     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000047     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000048     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000049     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

73

Item D - 1423 of 1893



       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000050     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

74

Item D - 1424 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  17
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000051     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000052     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000053     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000054     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

75

Item D - 1425 of 1893



       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000055     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

76

Item D - 1426 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  18
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000056     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000057     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000058     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000059     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

77

Item D - 1427 of 1893



       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

SOURCE ID = A0000060     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .31400E-03      2   .31000E-03      3   .30100E-03      
4   .31100E-03      5   .38800E-03      6   .49200E-03
       7   .61900E-03      8   .57400E-03      9   .67600E-03     
10   .80800E-03     11   .85500E-03     12   .83600E-03
      13   .78900E-03     14   .72000E-03     15   .56700E-03     
16   .43800E-03     17   .38100E-03     18   .34500E-03
      19   .37600E-03     20   .46000E-03     21   .48800E-03     
22   .45600E-03     23   .43500E-03     24   .35900E-03

78

Item D - 1428 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  19
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000061     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .22900E-04      2   .15800E-04      3   .13900E-04      
4   .24700E-04      5   .70400E-04      6   .11200E-03
       7   .12600E-03      8   .14400E-03      9   .15500E-03     
10   .15900E-03     11   .16500E-03     12   .17300E-03
      13   .16900E-03     14   .16300E-03     15   .15800E-03     
16   .15400E-03     17   .14800E-03     18   .14500E-03
      19   .11800E-03     20   .92300E-04     21   .83400E-04     
22   .72300E-04     23   .53500E-04     24   .34200E-04

SOURCE ID = A0000062     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .22900E-04      2   .15800E-04      3   .13900E-04      
4   .24700E-04      5   .70400E-04      6   .11200E-03
       7   .12600E-03      8   .14400E-03      9   .15500E-03     
10   .15900E-03     11   .16500E-03     12   .17300E-03
      13   .16900E-03     14   .16300E-03     15   .15800E-03     
16   .15400E-03     17   .14800E-03     18   .14500E-03
      19   .11800E-03     20   .92300E-04     21   .83400E-04     
22   .72300E-04     23   .53500E-04     24   .34200E-04

SOURCE ID = A0000063     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .22900E-04      2   .15800E-04      3   .13900E-04      
4   .24700E-04      5   .70400E-04      6   .11200E-03
       7   .12600E-03      8   .14400E-03      9   .15500E-03     
10   .15900E-03     11   .16500E-03     12   .17300E-03
      13   .16900E-03     14   .16300E-03     15   .15800E-03     
16   .15400E-03     17   .14800E-03     18   .14500E-03
      19   .11800E-03     20   .92300E-04     21   .83400E-04     
22   .72300E-04     23   .53500E-04     24   .34200E-04

SOURCE ID = A0000064     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :

79

Item D - 1429 of 1893



       1   .22900E-04      2   .15800E-04      3   .13900E-04      
4   .24700E-04      5   .70400E-04      6   .11200E-03
       7   .12600E-03      8   .14400E-03      9   .15500E-03     
10   .15900E-03     11   .16500E-03     12   .17300E-03
      13   .16900E-03     14   .16300E-03     15   .15800E-03     
16   .15400E-03     17   .14800E-03     18   .14500E-03
      19   .11800E-03     20   .92300E-04     21   .83400E-04     
22   .72300E-04     23   .53500E-04     24   .34200E-04

SOURCE ID = A0000065     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .22900E-04      2   .15800E-04      3   .13900E-04      
4   .24700E-04      5   .70400E-04      6   .11200E-03
       7   .12600E-03      8   .14400E-03      9   .15500E-03     
10   .15900E-03     11   .16500E-03     12   .17300E-03
      13   .16900E-03     14   .16300E-03     15   .15800E-03     
16   .15400E-03     17   .14800E-03     18   .14500E-03
      19   .11800E-03     20   .92300E-04     21   .83400E-04     
22   .72300E-04     23   .53500E-04     24   .34200E-04

80

Item D - 1430 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  20
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                            * SOURCE EMISSION RATE SCALARS WHICH 
VARY FOR EACH HOUR OF THE DAY *

     HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      
HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR      HOUR    SCALAR
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

SOURCE ID = A0000066     ; SOURCE TYPE = AREA     :
       1   .22900E-04      2   .15800E-04      3   .13900E-04      
4   .24700E-04      5   .70400E-04      6   .11200E-03
       7   .12600E-03      8   .14400E-03      9   .15500E-03     
10   .15900E-03     11   .16500E-03     12   .17300E-03
      13   .16900E-03     14   .16300E-03     15   .15800E-03     
16   .15400E-03     17   .14800E-03     18   .14500E-03
      19   .11800E-03     20   .92300E-04     21   .83400E-04     
22   .72300E-04     23   .53500E-04     24   .34200E-04

81

Item D - 1431 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  21
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439674.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439764.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439864.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

82

Item D - 1432 of 1893



     ( 439874.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439879.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439884.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439764.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765315.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

83

Item D - 1433 of 1893



     ( 439729.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

84

Item D - 1434 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  22
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439739.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439764.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439864.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439874.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439879.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439884.0, 3765320.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

85

Item D - 1435 of 1893



     ( 439719.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439754.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765325.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439754.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

86

Item D - 1436 of 1893



     ( 439804.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

87

Item D - 1437 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  23
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439814.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765330.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

88

Item D - 1438 of 1893



     ( 439849.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765335.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

89

Item D - 1439 of 1893



     ( 439749.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

90

Item D - 1440 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  24
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439779.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765345.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

91

Item D - 1441 of 1893



     ( 439849.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765350.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765355.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

92

Item D - 1442 of 1893



     ( 439749.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

93

Item D - 1443 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  25
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439779.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765360.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

94

Item D - 1444 of 1893



     ( 439789.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765365.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439864.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439874.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439879.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439884.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

95

Item D - 1445 of 1893



     ( 439684.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

96

Item D - 1446 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  26
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439694.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439754.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439864.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439874.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439879.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439884.0, 3765375.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

97

Item D - 1447 of 1893



     ( 439799.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765380.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765385.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765385.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439754.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439834.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765405.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

98

Item D - 1448 of 1893



     ( 439794.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

99

Item D - 1449 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  27
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439804.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439834.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765410.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

100

Item D - 1450 of 1893



     ( 439819.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439834.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765415.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439834.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765420.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

101

Item D - 1451 of 1893



     ( 439729.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

102

Item D - 1452 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  28
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439739.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439834.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765425.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

103

Item D - 1453 of 1893



     ( 439774.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439834.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439834.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765435.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

104

Item D - 1454 of 1893



     ( 439679.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

105

Item D - 1455 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  29
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439689.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439779.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439784.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439834.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439839.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765440.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

106

Item D - 1456 of 1893



     ( 439704.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439774.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439779.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439784.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439834.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439839.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765445.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439699.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439774.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439844.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439849.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439854.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765450.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439674.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439684.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439689.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439694.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

107

Item D - 1457 of 1893



     ( 439699.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439704.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

108

Item D - 1458 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  30
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439709.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439714.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439719.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439729.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439734.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439744.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439749.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765455.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

109

Item D - 1459 of 1893



     ( 439844.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439814.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439824.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765465.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439789.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439794.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439804.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439809.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

110

Item D - 1460 of 1893



     ( 439814.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439819.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

111

Item D - 1461 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  31
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439824.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439844.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439849.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439854.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765470.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439674.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439684.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439689.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439694.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439699.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439704.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439714.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439719.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439729.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439734.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439744.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439749.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439754.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439789.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439794.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439804.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439809.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439814.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439819.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439824.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765475.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

112

Item D - 1462 of 1893



     ( 439769.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439969.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3764900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439269.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439369.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439469.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439569.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439669.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439969.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440069.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440169.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440269.0, 3765000.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439969.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3765100.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439269.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439369.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439469.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439569.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439669.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439969.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440069.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440169.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440269.0, 3765200.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439969.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3765300.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439269.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439369.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

113

Item D - 1463 of 1893



     ( 439469.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439569.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

114

Item D - 1464 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  32
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439669.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439969.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440069.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440169.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440269.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439969.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3765500.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439269.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439369.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439469.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439569.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439669.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439969.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440069.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440169.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440269.0, 3765600.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

115

Item D - 1465 of 1893



     ( 439969.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3765700.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439269.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439369.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439469.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439569.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439669.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439869.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439969.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440069.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440169.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440269.0, 3765800.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439269.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439369.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439469.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439569.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439669.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439869.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439969.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440069.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 440169.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 440269.0, 3765900.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439649.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439889.0, 3765310.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439649.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439889.0, 3765340.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439649.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

116

Item D - 1466 of 1893



     ( 439889.0, 3765370.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439649.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      

117

Item D - 1467 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  33
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTORS ***
                                           (X-COORD, Y-COORD, 
ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)
                                                           
(METERS)

     ( 439679.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439889.0, 3765400.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439649.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439889.0, 3765430.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439649.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439679.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439709.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439739.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439769.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439799.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439829.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439859.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439889.0, 3765460.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439649.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439679.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439709.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439739.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439769.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439799.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439829.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);         
( 439859.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);      
     ( 439889.0, 3765490.0,     289.0,     289.0,       0.0);                                                                     

118

Item D - 1468 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  34
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                            *** METEOROLOGICAL 
DAYS SELECTED FOR PROCESSING ***
                                                               (1
=YES; 0=NO)

            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 
1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
            1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1

                NOTE:  METEOROLOGICAL DATA ACTUALLY PROCESSED 
WILL ALSO DEPEND ON WHAT IS INCLUDED IN THE DATA FILE.

                                  *** UPPER BOUND OF FIRST 
THROUGH FIFTH WIND SPEED CATEGORIES ***
                                                            
(METERS/SEC)

                                                 1.54,   3.09,   
5.14,   8.23,  10.80,

119

Item D - 1469 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  35
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                    *** UP TO THE FIRST 24 HOURS 
OF METEOROLOGICAL DATA ***

   Surface file:   C:\Users\sjremote\Desktop\Ontario_PUD-Legacy
\OntarioIntlAirportADJU (1)\KONT_V9_   Met Version:  16216
   Profile file:   C:\Users\sjremote\Desktop\Ontario_PUD-Legacy
\OntarioIntlAirportADJU (1)\KONT_V9_
   Surface format: FREE                                                                                                     
   Profile format: FREE                                                                                                     
   Surface station no.:     3102                  Upper air 
station no.:     3190
                  Name: ONTARIO_APT                                
Name: UNKNOWN                                 
                  Year:   2012                                     
Year:   2012

First 24 hours of scalar data
YR MO DY JDY HR     H0     U*     W*  DT/DZ ZICNV ZIMCH  M-O LEN    
Z0  BOWEN ALBEDO  REF WS   WD     HT  REF TA     HT
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
12 01 01   1 01  -16.4  0.171 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  170.     32.3  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.03   43.    7.9  285.9    2.0
12 01 01   1 02  -18.8  0.194 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  205.     41.3  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.28   34.    7.9  285.4    2.0
12 01 01   1 03  -17.8  0.182 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  187.     36.5  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.15   24.    7.9  282.0    2.0
12 01 01   1 04   -9.4  0.128 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  110.     19.6  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.55   41.    7.9  283.1    2.0
12 01 01   1 05  -16.9  0.173 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  173.     33.0  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.05   39.    7.9  280.4    2.0
12 01 01   1 06   -8.0  0.117 -9.000 -9.000 -999.   97.     17.8  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.43   21.    7.9  282.0    2.0
12 01 01   1 07   -7.6  0.115 -9.000 -9.000 -999.   93.     17.4  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.40   31.    7.9  282.5    2.0
12 01 01   1 08  -13.6  0.184 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  190.     40.5  
0.09   1.12   0.54    2.16   34.    7.9  284.2    2.0
12 01 01   1 09   28.4  0.126  0.300  0.011   33.  108.     -6.2  
0.09   1.12   0.32    1.03   29.    7.9  289.2    2.0
12 01 01   1 10   79.8  0.133  0.607  0.010   99.  116.     -2.6  
0.09   1.12   0.25    0.94  173.    7.9  292.5    2.0
12 01 01   1 11  115.8  0.137  0.932  0.006  246.  121.     -2.0  
0.09   1.12   0.22    0.92  172.    7.9  295.4    2.0

120

Item D - 1470 of 1893



12 01 01   1 12  133.7  0.139  1.197  0.005  453.  125.     -1.8  
0.09   1.12   0.21    0.92  146.    7.9  297.5    2.0
12 01 01   1 13  133.2  0.160  1.354  0.005  657.  153.     -2.7  
0.09   1.12   0.21    1.14  117.    7.9  299.9    2.0
12 01 01   1 14  113.5  0.159  1.454  0.005  955.  151.     -3.1  
0.09   1.12   0.23    1.16  285.    7.9  300.9    2.0
12 01 01   1 15   76.2  0.166  1.350  0.005 1138.  163.     -5.3  
0.09   1.12   0.26    1.33   72.    7.9  302.0    2.0
12 01 01   1 16   23.5  0.175  0.925  0.005 1183.  175.    -19.9  
0.09   1.12   0.35    1.65  107.    7.9  301.4    2.0
12 01 01   1 17   -6.1  0.107 -9.000 -9.000 -999.   86.     18.0  
0.09   1.12   0.63    1.31  107.    7.9  298.1    2.0
12 01 01   1 18  -11.1  0.141 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  127.     22.1  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.69   86.    7.9  293.1    2.0
12 01 01   1 19   -3.2  0.076 -9.000 -9.000 -999.   51.     11.8  
0.09   1.12   1.00    0.91   64.    7.9  292.0    2.0
12 01 01   1 20   -2.3  0.066 -9.000 -9.000 -999.   41.     11.2  
0.09   1.12   1.00    0.74   73.    7.9  288.8    2.0
12 01 01   1 21  -10.0  0.133 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  116.     20.5  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.60   14.    7.9  288.1    2.0
12 01 01   1 22  -19.4  0.201 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  216.     44.5  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.36   22.    7.9  287.5    2.0
12 01 01   1 23  -23.7  0.246 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  293.     66.5  
0.09   1.12   1.00    2.86   40.    7.9  287.0    2.0
12 01 01   1 24  -12.3  0.147 -9.000 -9.000 -999.  139.     23.8  
0.09   1.12   1.00    1.76   40.    7.9  283.8    2.0

First hour of profile data
YR MO DY HR HEIGHT F  WDIR    WSPD AMB_TMP sigmaA  sigmaW  
sigmaV
12 01 01 01    7.9 1   43.    2.03   286.0   
99.0  -99.00  -99.00

F indicates top of profile (=1) or below (=0)

121

Item D - 1471 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  36
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439674.00    3765310.00        0.10334                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.10335                         
         439684.00    3765310.00        0.10335                      
439689.00    3765310.00        0.10335                         
         439694.00    3765310.00        0.10335                      
439699.00    3765310.00        0.10335                         
         439704.00    3765310.00        0.10334                      
439709.00    3765310.00        0.10334                         
         439714.00    3765310.00        0.10333                      
439719.00    3765310.00        0.10332                         
         439729.00    3765310.00        0.10330                      
439734.00    3765310.00        0.10329                         
         439739.00    3765310.00        0.10327                      
439744.00    3765310.00        0.10325                         
         439749.00    3765310.00        0.10324                      
439764.00    3765310.00        0.10317                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.10314                      
439774.00    3765310.00        0.10312                         

122

Item D - 1472 of 1893



         439779.00    3765310.00        0.10309                      
439784.00    3765310.00        0.10305                         
         439789.00    3765310.00        0.10302                      
439794.00    3765310.00        0.10298                         
         439799.00    3765310.00        0.10295                      
439804.00    3765310.00        0.10291                         
         439809.00    3765310.00        0.10286                      
439814.00    3765310.00        0.10282                         
         439819.00    3765310.00        0.10277                      
439824.00    3765310.00        0.10272                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.10267                      
439839.00    3765310.00        0.10256                         
         439844.00    3765310.00        0.10250                      
439849.00    3765310.00        0.10244                         
         439854.00    3765310.00        0.10238                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.10231                         
         439864.00    3765310.00        0.10224                      
439869.00    3765310.00        0.10217                         
         439874.00    3765310.00        0.10209                      
439879.00    3765310.00        0.10202                         
         439884.00    3765310.00        0.10194                      
439674.00    3765315.00        0.10472                         
         439679.00    3765315.00        0.10472                      
439684.00    3765315.00        0.10473                         
         439689.00    3765315.00        0.10473                      
439694.00    3765315.00        0.10473                         
         439699.00    3765315.00        0.10473                      
439704.00    3765315.00        0.10473                         
         439709.00    3765315.00        0.10472                      
439714.00    3765315.00        0.10472                         
         439719.00    3765315.00        0.10471                      
439729.00    3765315.00        0.10469                         
         439734.00    3765315.00        0.10468                      
439739.00    3765315.00        0.10467                         
         439744.00    3765315.00        0.10465                      
439749.00    3765315.00        0.10464                         
         439764.00    3765315.00        0.10458                      
439769.00    3765315.00        0.10455                         
         439774.00    3765315.00        0.10453                      
439779.00    3765315.00        0.10450                         
         439784.00    3765315.00        0.10447                      
439789.00    3765315.00        0.10444                         
         439794.00    3765315.00        0.10440                      
439799.00    3765315.00        0.10437                         
         439804.00    3765315.00        0.10433                      
439809.00    3765315.00        0.10429                         
         439814.00    3765315.00        0.10424                      
439819.00    3765315.00        0.10420                         
         439824.00    3765315.00        0.10415                      
439829.00    3765315.00        0.10410                         
         439839.00    3765315.00        0.10400                      
439844.00    3765315.00        0.10394                         

123

Item D - 1473 of 1893



         439849.00    3765315.00        0.10388                      
439854.00    3765315.00        0.10382                         
         439859.00    3765315.00        0.10375                      
439864.00    3765315.00        0.10368                         
         439869.00    3765315.00        0.10361                      
439874.00    3765315.00        0.10354                         
         439879.00    3765315.00        0.10346                      
439884.00    3765315.00        0.10339                         
         439674.00    3765320.00        0.10612                      
439679.00    3765320.00        0.10613                         

124

Item D - 1474 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  37
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765320.00        0.10614                      
439689.00    3765320.00        0.10614                         
         439694.00    3765320.00        0.10614                      
439699.00    3765320.00        0.10614                         
         439704.00    3765320.00        0.10614                      
439709.00    3765320.00        0.10614                         
         439714.00    3765320.00        0.10614                      
439719.00    3765320.00        0.10613                         
         439729.00    3765320.00        0.10612                      
439734.00    3765320.00        0.10611                         
         439739.00    3765320.00        0.10610                      
439744.00    3765320.00        0.10609                         
         439749.00    3765320.00        0.10607                      
439764.00    3765320.00        0.10602                         
         439769.00    3765320.00        0.10599                      
439774.00    3765320.00        0.10597                         
         439779.00    3765320.00        0.10594                      
439784.00    3765320.00        0.10592                         

125

Item D - 1475 of 1893



         439789.00    3765320.00        0.10589                      
439794.00    3765320.00        0.10585                         
         439799.00    3765320.00        0.10582                      
439804.00    3765320.00        0.10578                         
         439809.00    3765320.00        0.10574                      
439814.00    3765320.00        0.10570                         
         439819.00    3765320.00        0.10566                      
439824.00    3765320.00        0.10561                         
         439829.00    3765320.00        0.10557                      
439839.00    3765320.00        0.10546                         
         439844.00    3765320.00        0.10541                      
439849.00    3765320.00        0.10535                         
         439854.00    3765320.00        0.10529                      
439859.00    3765320.00        0.10523                         
         439864.00    3765320.00        0.10516                      
439869.00    3765320.00        0.10509                         
         439874.00    3765320.00        0.10502                      
439879.00    3765320.00        0.10495                         
         439884.00    3765320.00        0.10487                      
439674.00    3765325.00        0.10756                         
         439679.00    3765325.00        0.10757                      
439684.00    3765325.00        0.10758                         
         439689.00    3765325.00        0.10758                      
439694.00    3765325.00        0.10759                         
         439699.00    3765325.00        0.10759                      
439704.00    3765325.00        0.10759                         
         439709.00    3765325.00        0.10760                      
439714.00    3765325.00        0.10759                         
         439719.00    3765325.00        0.10759                      
439729.00    3765325.00        0.10758                         
         439734.00    3765325.00        0.10757                      
439739.00    3765325.00        0.10756                         
         439744.00    3765325.00        0.10755                      
439749.00    3765325.00        0.10754                         
         439754.00    3765325.00        0.10752                      
439769.00    3765325.00        0.10747                         
         439774.00    3765325.00        0.10745                      
439779.00    3765325.00        0.10742                         
         439784.00    3765325.00        0.10740                      
439789.00    3765325.00        0.10737                         
         439794.00    3765325.00        0.10734                      
439799.00    3765325.00        0.10731                         
         439804.00    3765325.00        0.10727                      
439809.00    3765325.00        0.10724                         
         439814.00    3765325.00        0.10720                      
439819.00    3765325.00        0.10716                         
         439824.00    3765325.00        0.10711                      
439829.00    3765325.00        0.10707                         
         439839.00    3765325.00        0.10697                      
439844.00    3765325.00        0.10691                         
         439849.00    3765325.00        0.10686                      
439854.00    3765325.00        0.10680                         

126

Item D - 1476 of 1893



         439859.00    3765325.00        0.10674                      
439864.00    3765325.00        0.10667                         
         439869.00    3765325.00        0.10661                      
439874.00    3765325.00        0.10654                         
         439879.00    3765325.00        0.10647                      
439884.00    3765325.00        0.10639                         
         439674.00    3765330.00        0.10903                      
439679.00    3765330.00        0.10905                         
         439684.00    3765330.00        0.10906                      
439689.00    3765330.00        0.10906                         

127

Item D - 1477 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  38
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439694.00    3765330.00        0.10907                      
439699.00    3765330.00        0.10908                         
         439704.00    3765330.00        0.10908                      
439709.00    3765330.00        0.10908                         
         439714.00    3765330.00        0.10908                      
439719.00    3765330.00        0.10908                         
         439729.00    3765330.00        0.10908                      
439734.00    3765330.00        0.10907                         
         439739.00    3765330.00        0.10906                      
439744.00    3765330.00        0.10905                         
         439749.00    3765330.00        0.10904                      
439754.00    3765330.00        0.10903                         
         439774.00    3765330.00        0.10896                      
439779.00    3765330.00        0.10894                         
         439784.00    3765330.00        0.10891                      
439789.00    3765330.00        0.10889                         
         439794.00    3765330.00        0.10886                      
439799.00    3765330.00        0.10883                         

128

Item D - 1478 of 1893



         439804.00    3765330.00        0.10880                      
439809.00    3765330.00        0.10876                         
         439814.00    3765330.00        0.10873                      
439819.00    3765330.00        0.10869                         
         439824.00    3765330.00        0.10865                      
439829.00    3765330.00        0.10860                         
         439839.00    3765330.00        0.10851                      
439844.00    3765330.00        0.10846                         
         439849.00    3765330.00        0.10840                      
439854.00    3765330.00        0.10835                         
         439859.00    3765330.00        0.10829                      
439864.00    3765330.00        0.10822                         
         439869.00    3765330.00        0.10816                      
439874.00    3765330.00        0.10809                         
         439879.00    3765330.00        0.10802                      
439884.00    3765330.00        0.10795                         
         439674.00    3765335.00        0.11054                      
439679.00    3765335.00        0.11056                         
         439684.00    3765335.00        0.11057                      
439689.00    3765335.00        0.11058                         
         439694.00    3765335.00        0.11059                      
439699.00    3765335.00        0.11060                         
         439704.00    3765335.00        0.11060                      
439709.00    3765335.00        0.11061                         
         439714.00    3765335.00        0.11061                      
439719.00    3765335.00        0.11061                         
         439729.00    3765335.00        0.11061                      
439734.00    3765335.00        0.11060                         
         439739.00    3765335.00        0.11060                      
439744.00    3765335.00        0.11059                         
         439749.00    3765335.00        0.11058                      
439774.00    3765335.00        0.11051                         
         439779.00    3765335.00        0.11049                      
439784.00    3765335.00        0.11047                         
         439789.00    3765335.00        0.11044                      
439794.00    3765335.00        0.11042                         
         439839.00    3765335.00        0.11008                      
439844.00    3765335.00        0.11003                         
         439849.00    3765335.00        0.10998                      
439854.00    3765335.00        0.10993                         
         439859.00    3765335.00        0.10987                      
439864.00    3765335.00        0.10981                         
         439869.00    3765335.00        0.10975                      
439874.00    3765335.00        0.10968                         
         439879.00    3765335.00        0.10961                      
439884.00    3765335.00        0.10954                         
         439674.00    3765340.00        0.11209                      
439679.00    3765340.00        0.11211                         
         439684.00    3765340.00        0.11212                      
439689.00    3765340.00        0.11213                         
         439694.00    3765340.00        0.11214                      
439699.00    3765340.00        0.11215                         

129

Item D - 1479 of 1893



         439704.00    3765340.00        0.11216                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.11217                         
         439714.00    3765340.00        0.11217                      
439719.00    3765340.00        0.11217                         
         439729.00    3765340.00        0.11218                      
439734.00    3765340.00        0.11217                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.11217                      
439744.00    3765340.00        0.11217                         
         439749.00    3765340.00        0.11216                      
439774.00    3765340.00        0.11210                         

130

Item D - 1480 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  39
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439779.00    3765340.00        0.11208                      
439784.00    3765340.00        0.11206                         
         439789.00    3765340.00        0.11204                      
439794.00    3765340.00        0.11202                         
         439839.00    3765340.00        0.11170                      
439844.00    3765340.00        0.11165                         
         439849.00    3765340.00        0.11160                      
439854.00    3765340.00        0.11155                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.11150                      
439864.00    3765340.00        0.11144                         
         439869.00    3765340.00        0.11138                      
439874.00    3765340.00        0.11131                         
         439879.00    3765340.00        0.11125                      
439884.00    3765340.00        0.11118                         
         439674.00    3765345.00        0.11368                      
439679.00    3765345.00        0.11369                         
         439684.00    3765345.00        0.11371                      
439689.00    3765345.00        0.11372                         

131

Item D - 1481 of 1893



         439694.00    3765345.00        0.11374                      
439699.00    3765345.00        0.11375                         
         439704.00    3765345.00        0.11376                      
439709.00    3765345.00        0.11377                         
         439714.00    3765345.00        0.11377                      
439719.00    3765345.00        0.11378                         
         439729.00    3765345.00        0.11378                      
439734.00    3765345.00        0.11378                         
         439739.00    3765345.00        0.11378                      
439744.00    3765345.00        0.11378                         
         439749.00    3765345.00        0.11378                      
439774.00    3765345.00        0.11373                         
         439779.00    3765345.00        0.11371                      
439784.00    3765345.00        0.11369                         
         439789.00    3765345.00        0.11367                      
439794.00    3765345.00        0.11365                         
         439839.00    3765345.00        0.11336                      
439844.00    3765345.00        0.11331                         
         439849.00    3765345.00        0.11327                      
439854.00    3765345.00        0.11322                         
         439859.00    3765345.00        0.11316                      
439864.00    3765345.00        0.11311                         
         439869.00    3765345.00        0.11305                      
439874.00    3765345.00        0.11299                         
         439879.00    3765345.00        0.11292                      
439884.00    3765345.00        0.11285                         
         439674.00    3765350.00        0.11530                      
439679.00    3765350.00        0.11532                         
         439684.00    3765350.00        0.11534                      
439689.00    3765350.00        0.11535                         
         439694.00    3765350.00        0.11537                      
439699.00    3765350.00        0.11538                         
         439704.00    3765350.00        0.11539                      
439709.00    3765350.00        0.11540                         
         439714.00    3765350.00        0.11541                      
439719.00    3765350.00        0.11542                         
         439729.00    3765350.00        0.11543                      
439734.00    3765350.00        0.11543                         
         439739.00    3765350.00        0.11544                      
439744.00    3765350.00        0.11543                         
         439749.00    3765350.00        0.11543                      
439774.00    3765350.00        0.11539                         
         439779.00    3765350.00        0.11538                      
439784.00    3765350.00        0.11537                         
         439789.00    3765350.00        0.11535                      
439794.00    3765350.00        0.11533                         
         439839.00    3765350.00        0.11506                      
439844.00    3765350.00        0.11501                         
         439849.00    3765350.00        0.11497                      
439854.00    3765350.00        0.11492                         
         439859.00    3765350.00        0.11487                      
439864.00    3765350.00        0.11482                         

132

Item D - 1482 of 1893



         439869.00    3765350.00        0.11476                      
439874.00    3765350.00        0.11470                         
         439879.00    3765350.00        0.11464                      
439884.00    3765350.00        0.11457                         
         439674.00    3765355.00        0.11697                      
439679.00    3765355.00        0.11699                         
         439684.00    3765355.00        0.11701                      
439689.00    3765355.00        0.11703                         
         439694.00    3765355.00        0.11704                      
439699.00    3765355.00        0.11706                         

133

Item D - 1483 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  40
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439704.00    3765355.00        0.11707                      
439709.00    3765355.00        0.11709                         
         439714.00    3765355.00        0.11710                      
439719.00    3765355.00        0.11711                         
         439729.00    3765355.00        0.11712                      
439734.00    3765355.00        0.11713                         
         439739.00    3765355.00        0.11713                      
439744.00    3765355.00        0.11713                         
         439749.00    3765355.00        0.11713                      
439774.00    3765355.00        0.11711                         
         439779.00    3765355.00        0.11710                      
439784.00    3765355.00        0.11708                         
         439789.00    3765355.00        0.11707                      
439794.00    3765355.00        0.11705                         
         439839.00    3765355.00        0.11680                      
439844.00    3765355.00        0.11676                         
         439849.00    3765355.00        0.11672                      
439854.00    3765355.00        0.11667                         

134

Item D - 1484 of 1893



         439859.00    3765355.00        0.11662                      
439864.00    3765355.00        0.11657                         
         439869.00    3765355.00        0.11652                      
439874.00    3765355.00        0.11646                         
         439879.00    3765355.00        0.11640                      
439884.00    3765355.00        0.11634                         
         439674.00    3765360.00        0.11868                      
439679.00    3765360.00        0.11870                         
         439684.00    3765360.00        0.11872                      
439689.00    3765360.00        0.11874                         
         439694.00    3765360.00        0.11876                      
439699.00    3765360.00        0.11878                         
         439704.00    3765360.00        0.11880                      
439709.00    3765360.00        0.11881                         
         439714.00    3765360.00        0.11883                      
439719.00    3765360.00        0.11884                         
         439729.00    3765360.00        0.11886                      
439734.00    3765360.00        0.11886                         
         439739.00    3765360.00        0.11887                      
439744.00    3765360.00        0.11887                         
         439749.00    3765360.00        0.11888                      
439774.00    3765360.00        0.11886                         
         439779.00    3765360.00        0.11885                      
439784.00    3765360.00        0.11884                         
         439789.00    3765360.00        0.11883                      
439794.00    3765360.00        0.11882                         
         439799.00    3765360.00        0.11880                      
439804.00    3765360.00        0.11878                         
         439809.00    3765360.00        0.11876                      
439814.00    3765360.00        0.11874                         
         439839.00    3765360.00        0.11859                      
439844.00    3765360.00        0.11855                         
         439849.00    3765360.00        0.11851                      
439854.00    3765360.00        0.11847                         
         439859.00    3765360.00        0.11842                      
439864.00    3765360.00        0.11837                         
         439869.00    3765360.00        0.11832                      
439874.00    3765360.00        0.11827                         
         439879.00    3765360.00        0.11821                      
439884.00    3765360.00        0.11815                         
         439674.00    3765365.00        0.12043                      
439679.00    3765365.00        0.12046                         
         439684.00    3765365.00        0.12048                      
439689.00    3765365.00        0.12051                         
         439694.00    3765365.00        0.12053                      
439699.00    3765365.00        0.12055                         
         439704.00    3765365.00        0.12057                      
439709.00    3765365.00        0.12058                         
         439714.00    3765365.00        0.12060                      
439719.00    3765365.00        0.12061                         
         439729.00    3765365.00        0.12064                      
439734.00    3765365.00        0.12065                         

135

Item D - 1485 of 1893



         439739.00    3765365.00        0.12066                      
439744.00    3765365.00        0.12066                         
         439749.00    3765365.00        0.12067                      
439774.00    3765365.00        0.12066                         
         439779.00    3765365.00        0.12066                      
439784.00    3765365.00        0.12065                         
         439789.00    3765365.00        0.12064                      
439794.00    3765365.00        0.12063                         
         439799.00    3765365.00        0.12062                      
439804.00    3765365.00        0.12060                         

136

Item D - 1486 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  41
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765365.00        0.12058                      
439814.00    3765365.00        0.12056                         
         439839.00    3765365.00        0.12042                      
439844.00    3765365.00        0.12039                         
         439849.00    3765365.00        0.12035                      
439854.00    3765365.00        0.12031                         
         439859.00    3765365.00        0.12027                      
439864.00    3765365.00        0.12022                         
         439869.00    3765365.00        0.12017                      
439874.00    3765365.00        0.12012                         
         439879.00    3765365.00        0.12006                      
439884.00    3765365.00        0.12001                         
         439674.00    3765370.00        0.12224                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.12226                         
         439684.00    3765370.00        0.12229                      
439689.00    3765370.00        0.12232                         
         439694.00    3765370.00        0.12234                      
439699.00    3765370.00        0.12236                         

137

Item D - 1487 of 1893



         439704.00    3765370.00        0.12238                      
439709.00    3765370.00        0.12240                         
         439714.00    3765370.00        0.12242                      
439719.00    3765370.00        0.12244                         
         439729.00    3765370.00        0.12247                      
439734.00    3765370.00        0.12248                         
         439739.00    3765370.00        0.12249                      
439744.00    3765370.00        0.12250                         
         439749.00    3765370.00        0.12250                      
439774.00    3765370.00        0.12251                         
         439779.00    3765370.00        0.12251                      
439784.00    3765370.00        0.12251                         
         439789.00    3765370.00        0.12250                      
439794.00    3765370.00        0.12249                         
         439799.00    3765370.00        0.12248                      
439804.00    3765370.00        0.12247                         
         439809.00    3765370.00        0.12245                      
439814.00    3765370.00        0.12243                         
         439839.00    3765370.00        0.12231                      
439844.00    3765370.00        0.12228                         
         439849.00    3765370.00        0.12224                      
439854.00    3765370.00        0.12220                         
         439859.00    3765370.00        0.12216                      
439864.00    3765370.00        0.12212                         
         439869.00    3765370.00        0.12207                      
439874.00    3765370.00        0.12202                         
         439879.00    3765370.00        0.12197                      
439884.00    3765370.00        0.12191                         
         439674.00    3765375.00        0.12409                      
439679.00    3765375.00        0.12412                         
         439684.00    3765375.00        0.12415                      
439689.00    3765375.00        0.12417                         
         439694.00    3765375.00        0.12420                      
439699.00    3765375.00        0.12423                         
         439704.00    3765375.00        0.12425                      
439709.00    3765375.00        0.12427                         
         439714.00    3765375.00        0.12429                      
439719.00    3765375.00        0.12431                         
         439729.00    3765375.00        0.12434                      
439734.00    3765375.00        0.12436                         
         439739.00    3765375.00        0.12437                      
439744.00    3765375.00        0.12438                         
         439749.00    3765375.00        0.12439                      
439754.00    3765375.00        0.12440                         
         439774.00    3765375.00        0.12442                      
439779.00    3765375.00        0.12442                         
         439784.00    3765375.00        0.12441                      
439789.00    3765375.00        0.12441                         
         439794.00    3765375.00        0.12440                      
439799.00    3765375.00        0.12439                         
         439804.00    3765375.00        0.12438                      
439809.00    3765375.00        0.12437                         

138

Item D - 1488 of 1893



         439814.00    3765375.00        0.12435                      
439839.00    3765375.00        0.12424                         
         439844.00    3765375.00        0.12421                      
439849.00    3765375.00        0.12418                         
         439854.00    3765375.00        0.12415                      
439859.00    3765375.00        0.12411                         
         439864.00    3765375.00        0.12407                      
439869.00    3765375.00        0.12402                         
         439874.00    3765375.00        0.12398                      
439879.00    3765375.00        0.12393                         

139

Item D - 1489 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  42
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439884.00    3765375.00        0.12388                      
439774.00    3765380.00        0.12637                         
         439779.00    3765380.00        0.12637                      
439784.00    3765380.00        0.12637                         
         439789.00    3765380.00        0.12637                      
439794.00    3765380.00        0.12637                         
         439799.00    3765380.00        0.12636                      
439804.00    3765380.00        0.12635                         
         439809.00    3765380.00        0.12634                      
439814.00    3765380.00        0.12633                         
         439769.00    3765385.00        0.12837                      
439819.00    3765385.00        0.12835                         
         439769.00    3765400.00        0.13474                      
439844.00    3765400.00        0.13476                         
         439849.00    3765400.00        0.13475                      
439674.00    3765405.00        0.13636                         
         439714.00    3765405.00        0.13668                      
439719.00    3765405.00        0.13672                         

140

Item D - 1490 of 1893



         439734.00    3765405.00        0.13681                      
439749.00    3765405.00        0.13689                         
         439754.00    3765405.00        0.13692                      
439774.00    3765405.00        0.13700                         
         439779.00    3765405.00        0.13702                      
439784.00    3765405.00        0.13704                         
         439789.00    3765405.00        0.13705                      
439794.00    3765405.00        0.13706                         
         439799.00    3765405.00        0.13707                      
439804.00    3765405.00        0.13708                         
         439809.00    3765405.00        0.13709                      
439814.00    3765405.00        0.13709                         
         439819.00    3765405.00        0.13709                      
439824.00    3765405.00        0.13709                         
         439829.00    3765405.00        0.13709                      
439834.00    3765405.00        0.13708                         
         439839.00    3765405.00        0.13707                      
439844.00    3765405.00        0.13706                         
         439849.00    3765405.00        0.13705                      
439854.00    3765405.00        0.13703                         
         439859.00    3765405.00        0.13701                      
439674.00    3765410.00        0.13862                         
         439679.00    3765410.00        0.13867                      
439684.00    3765410.00        0.13872                         
         439689.00    3765410.00        0.13876                      
439694.00    3765410.00        0.13880                         
         439699.00    3765410.00        0.13885                      
439704.00    3765410.00        0.13889                         
         439709.00    3765410.00        0.13893                      
439714.00    3765410.00        0.13897                         
         439719.00    3765410.00        0.13900                      
439729.00    3765410.00        0.13907                         
         439734.00    3765410.00        0.13911                      
439739.00    3765410.00        0.13914                         
         439744.00    3765410.00        0.13917                      
439749.00    3765410.00        0.13920                         
         439774.00    3765410.00        0.13932                      
439779.00    3765410.00        0.13934                         
         439784.00    3765410.00        0.13936                      
439789.00    3765410.00        0.13938                         
         439794.00    3765410.00        0.13940                      
439799.00    3765410.00        0.13941                         
         439804.00    3765410.00        0.13942                      
439809.00    3765410.00        0.13943                         
         439814.00    3765410.00        0.13944                      
439819.00    3765410.00        0.13944                         
         439824.00    3765410.00        0.13944                      
439829.00    3765410.00        0.13944                         
         439834.00    3765410.00        0.13944                      
439839.00    3765410.00        0.13944                         
         439844.00    3765410.00        0.13943                      
439849.00    3765410.00        0.13942                         

141

Item D - 1491 of 1893



         439854.00    3765410.00        0.13941                      
439859.00    3765410.00        0.13939                         
         439674.00    3765415.00        0.14095                      
439679.00    3765415.00        0.14100                         
         439684.00    3765415.00        0.14105                      
439689.00    3765415.00        0.14110                         
         439694.00    3765415.00        0.14115                      
439699.00    3765415.00        0.14119                         
         439704.00    3765415.00        0.14124                      
439709.00    3765415.00        0.14128                         

142

Item D - 1492 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  43
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439714.00    3765415.00        0.14132                      
439719.00    3765415.00        0.14136                         
         439729.00    3765415.00        0.14144                      
439734.00    3765415.00        0.14147                         
         439739.00    3765415.00        0.14151                      
439744.00    3765415.00        0.14154                         
         439749.00    3765415.00        0.14158                      
439774.00    3765415.00        0.14172                         
         439779.00    3765415.00        0.14174                      
439784.00    3765415.00        0.14176                         
         439789.00    3765415.00        0.14178                      
439794.00    3765415.00        0.14180                         
         439799.00    3765415.00        0.14182                      
439804.00    3765415.00        0.14183                         
         439809.00    3765415.00        0.14185                      
439814.00    3765415.00        0.14186                         
         439819.00    3765415.00        0.14186                      
439824.00    3765415.00        0.14187                         

143

Item D - 1493 of 1893



         439829.00    3765415.00        0.14188                      
439834.00    3765415.00        0.14188                         
         439839.00    3765415.00        0.14188                      
439844.00    3765415.00        0.14187                         
         439849.00    3765415.00        0.14187                      
439854.00    3765415.00        0.14186                         
         439859.00    3765415.00        0.14185                      
439674.00    3765420.00        0.14336                         
         439679.00    3765420.00        0.14341                      
439684.00    3765420.00        0.14347                         
         439689.00    3765420.00        0.14352                      
439694.00    3765420.00        0.14357                         
         439699.00    3765420.00        0.14361                      
439704.00    3765420.00        0.14366                         
         439709.00    3765420.00        0.14371                      
439714.00    3765420.00        0.14375                         
         439719.00    3765420.00        0.14379                      
439729.00    3765420.00        0.14388                         
         439734.00    3765420.00        0.14392                      
439739.00    3765420.00        0.14395                         
         439744.00    3765420.00        0.14399                      
439749.00    3765420.00        0.14403                         
         439774.00    3765420.00        0.14418                      
439779.00    3765420.00        0.14421                         
         439784.00    3765420.00        0.14423                      
439789.00    3765420.00        0.14426                         
         439794.00    3765420.00        0.14428                      
439799.00    3765420.00        0.14430                         
         439804.00    3765420.00        0.14432                      
439809.00    3765420.00        0.14434                         
         439814.00    3765420.00        0.14435                      
439819.00    3765420.00        0.14436                         
         439824.00    3765420.00        0.14437                      
439829.00    3765420.00        0.14438                         
         439834.00    3765420.00        0.14439                      
439839.00    3765420.00        0.14439                         
         439844.00    3765420.00        0.14439                      
439849.00    3765420.00        0.14439                         
         439854.00    3765420.00        0.14439                      
439859.00    3765420.00        0.14438                         
         439674.00    3765425.00        0.14584                      
439679.00    3765425.00        0.14590                         
         439684.00    3765425.00        0.14596                      
439689.00    3765425.00        0.14601                         
         439694.00    3765425.00        0.14606                      
439699.00    3765425.00        0.14611                         
         439704.00    3765425.00        0.14616                      
439709.00    3765425.00        0.14621                         
         439714.00    3765425.00        0.14626                      
439719.00    3765425.00        0.14630                         
         439729.00    3765425.00        0.14639                      
439734.00    3765425.00        0.14643                         

144

Item D - 1494 of 1893



         439739.00    3765425.00        0.14648                      
439744.00    3765425.00        0.14652                         
         439749.00    3765425.00        0.14656                      
439774.00    3765425.00        0.14673                         
         439779.00    3765425.00        0.14676                      
439784.00    3765425.00        0.14679                         
         439789.00    3765425.00        0.14682                      
439794.00    3765425.00        0.14684                         
         439799.00    3765425.00        0.14686                      
439804.00    3765425.00        0.14689                         

145

Item D - 1495 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  44
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765425.00        0.14691                      
439814.00    3765425.00        0.14693                         
         439819.00    3765425.00        0.14694                      
439824.00    3765425.00        0.14696                         
         439829.00    3765425.00        0.14697                      
439834.00    3765425.00        0.14698                         
         439839.00    3765425.00        0.14699                      
439844.00    3765425.00        0.14699                         
         439849.00    3765425.00        0.14699                      
439854.00    3765425.00        0.14699                         
         439859.00    3765425.00        0.14699                      
439674.00    3765430.00        0.14841                         
         439679.00    3765430.00        0.14847                      
439684.00    3765430.00        0.14853                         
         439689.00    3765430.00        0.14858                      
439694.00    3765430.00        0.14864                         
         439699.00    3765430.00        0.14869                      
439704.00    3765430.00        0.14874                         

146

Item D - 1496 of 1893



         439709.00    3765430.00        0.14880                      
439714.00    3765430.00        0.14885                         
         439719.00    3765430.00        0.14890                      
439729.00    3765430.00        0.14899                         
         439734.00    3765430.00        0.14904                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.14908                         
         439744.00    3765430.00        0.14912                      
439749.00    3765430.00        0.14917                         
         439774.00    3765430.00        0.14936                      
439779.00    3765430.00        0.14939                         
         439784.00    3765430.00        0.14942                      
439789.00    3765430.00        0.14945                         
         439794.00    3765430.00        0.14948                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.14951                         
         439804.00    3765430.00        0.14954                      
439809.00    3765430.00        0.14956                         
         439814.00    3765430.00        0.14958                      
439819.00    3765430.00        0.14961                         
         439824.00    3765430.00        0.14962                      
439829.00    3765430.00        0.14964                         
         439834.00    3765430.00        0.14965                      
439839.00    3765430.00        0.14967                         
         439844.00    3765430.00        0.14967                      
439849.00    3765430.00        0.14968                         
         439854.00    3765430.00        0.14968                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.14968                         
         439674.00    3765435.00        0.15106                      
439679.00    3765435.00        0.15112                         
         439684.00    3765435.00        0.15118                      
439689.00    3765435.00        0.15124                         
         439694.00    3765435.00        0.15130                      
439699.00    3765435.00        0.15136                         
         439704.00    3765435.00        0.15141                      
439709.00    3765435.00        0.15147                         
         439714.00    3765435.00        0.15152                      
439719.00    3765435.00        0.15158                         
         439729.00    3765435.00        0.15168                      
439734.00    3765435.00        0.15172                         
         439739.00    3765435.00        0.15177                      
439744.00    3765435.00        0.15182                         
         439749.00    3765435.00        0.15186                      
439774.00    3765435.00        0.15207                         
         439779.00    3765435.00        0.15211                      
439784.00    3765435.00        0.15215                         
         439789.00    3765435.00        0.15218                      
439794.00    3765435.00        0.15221                         
         439799.00    3765435.00        0.15225                      
439804.00    3765435.00        0.15228                         
         439809.00    3765435.00        0.15230                      
439814.00    3765435.00        0.15233                         
         439819.00    3765435.00        0.15236                      
439824.00    3765435.00        0.15238                         

147

Item D - 1497 of 1893



         439829.00    3765435.00        0.15240                      
439834.00    3765435.00        0.15242                         
         439839.00    3765435.00        0.15243                      
439844.00    3765435.00        0.15245                         
         439849.00    3765435.00        0.15246                      
439854.00    3765435.00        0.15247                         
         439859.00    3765435.00        0.15247                      
439674.00    3765440.00        0.15380                         
         439679.00    3765440.00        0.15387                      
439684.00    3765440.00        0.15393                         

148

Item D - 1498 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  45
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439689.00    3765440.00        0.15399                      
439694.00    3765440.00        0.15406                         
         439699.00    3765440.00        0.15412                      
439704.00    3765440.00        0.15417                         
         439709.00    3765440.00        0.15423                      
439714.00    3765440.00        0.15429                         
         439719.00    3765440.00        0.15434                      
439729.00    3765440.00        0.15445                         
         439734.00    3765440.00        0.15450                      
439739.00    3765440.00        0.15455                         
         439744.00    3765440.00        0.15460                      
439749.00    3765440.00        0.15465                         
         439774.00    3765440.00        0.15488                      
439779.00    3765440.00        0.15492                         
         439784.00    3765440.00        0.15496                      
439789.00    3765440.00        0.15500                         
         439794.00    3765440.00        0.15504                      
439799.00    3765440.00        0.15507                         

149

Item D - 1499 of 1893



         439804.00    3765440.00        0.15511                      
439809.00    3765440.00        0.15514                         
         439814.00    3765440.00        0.15517                      
439819.00    3765440.00        0.15520                         
         439824.00    3765440.00        0.15523                      
439829.00    3765440.00        0.15525                         
         439834.00    3765440.00        0.15527                      
439839.00    3765440.00        0.15529                         
         439844.00    3765440.00        0.15531                      
439849.00    3765440.00        0.15533                         
         439854.00    3765440.00        0.15534                      
439859.00    3765440.00        0.15535                         
         439674.00    3765445.00        0.15664                      
439679.00    3765445.00        0.15671                         
         439684.00    3765445.00        0.15677                      
439689.00    3765445.00        0.15684                         
         439694.00    3765445.00        0.15690                      
439699.00    3765445.00        0.15697                         
         439704.00    3765445.00        0.15703                      
439709.00    3765445.00        0.15709                         
         439714.00    3765445.00        0.15715                      
439719.00    3765445.00        0.15721                         
         439729.00    3765445.00        0.15732                      
439734.00    3765445.00        0.15738                         
         439739.00    3765445.00        0.15743                      
439744.00    3765445.00        0.15749                         
         439749.00    3765445.00        0.15754                      
439774.00    3765445.00        0.15778                         
         439779.00    3765445.00        0.15783                      
439784.00    3765445.00        0.15787                         
         439789.00    3765445.00        0.15791                      
439794.00    3765445.00        0.15795                         
         439799.00    3765445.00        0.15800                      
439804.00    3765445.00        0.15803                         
         439809.00    3765445.00        0.15807                      
439814.00    3765445.00        0.15810                         
         439819.00    3765445.00        0.15814                      
439824.00    3765445.00        0.15817                         
         439829.00    3765445.00        0.15820                      
439834.00    3765445.00        0.15823                         
         439839.00    3765445.00        0.15825                      
439844.00    3765445.00        0.15828                         
         439849.00    3765445.00        0.15830                      
439854.00    3765445.00        0.15831                         
         439859.00    3765445.00        0.15833                      
439674.00    3765450.00        0.15958                         
         439679.00    3765450.00        0.15965                      
439684.00    3765450.00        0.15972                         
         439689.00    3765450.00        0.15979                      
439694.00    3765450.00        0.15985                         
         439699.00    3765450.00        0.15992                      
439704.00    3765450.00        0.15999                         

150

Item D - 1500 of 1893



         439709.00    3765450.00        0.16005                      
439714.00    3765450.00        0.16011                         
         439719.00    3765450.00        0.16017                      
439729.00    3765450.00        0.16030                         
         439734.00    3765450.00        0.16035                      
439739.00    3765450.00        0.16041                         
         439744.00    3765450.00        0.16047                      
439749.00    3765450.00        0.16052                         
         439774.00    3765450.00        0.16079                      
439844.00    3765450.00        0.16134                         

151

Item D - 1501 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  46
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439849.00    3765450.00        0.16137                      
439854.00    3765450.00        0.16139                         
         439859.00    3765450.00        0.16141                      
439674.00    3765455.00        0.16262                         
         439679.00    3765455.00        0.16269                      
439684.00    3765455.00        0.16277                         
         439689.00    3765455.00        0.16284                      
439694.00    3765455.00        0.16291                         
         439699.00    3765455.00        0.16298                      
439704.00    3765455.00        0.16305                         
         439709.00    3765455.00        0.16311                      
439714.00    3765455.00        0.16318                         
         439719.00    3765455.00        0.16325                      
439729.00    3765455.00        0.16337                         
         439734.00    3765455.00        0.16344                      
439739.00    3765455.00        0.16350                         
         439744.00    3765455.00        0.16356                      
439749.00    3765455.00        0.16362                         

152

Item D - 1502 of 1893



         439844.00    3765455.00        0.16452                      
439849.00    3765455.00        0.16455                         
         439854.00    3765455.00        0.16458                      
439859.00    3765455.00        0.16460                         
         439674.00    3765460.00        0.16577                      
439679.00    3765460.00        0.16585                         
         439684.00    3765460.00        0.16593                      
439689.00    3765460.00        0.16600                         
         439694.00    3765460.00        0.16608                      
439699.00    3765460.00        0.16615                         
         439704.00    3765460.00        0.16622                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.16629                         
         439714.00    3765460.00        0.16636                      
439719.00    3765460.00        0.16643                         
         439729.00    3765460.00        0.16656                      
439734.00    3765460.00        0.16663                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.16670                      
439744.00    3765460.00        0.16676                         
         439749.00    3765460.00        0.16682                      
439789.00    3765460.00        0.16729                         
         439794.00    3765460.00        0.16735                      
439799.00    3765460.00        0.16740                         
         439804.00    3765460.00        0.16745                      
439809.00    3765460.00        0.16750                         
         439814.00    3765460.00        0.16755                      
439819.00    3765460.00        0.16760                         
         439824.00    3765460.00        0.16764                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.16769                         
         439844.00    3765460.00        0.16781                      
439849.00    3765460.00        0.16785                         
         439854.00    3765460.00        0.16788                      
439859.00    3765460.00        0.16791                         
         439674.00    3765465.00        0.16904                      
439679.00    3765465.00        0.16913                         
         439684.00    3765465.00        0.16921                      
439689.00    3765465.00        0.16928                         
         439694.00    3765465.00        0.16936                      
439699.00    3765465.00        0.16944                         
         439704.00    3765465.00        0.16951                      
439709.00    3765465.00        0.16959                         
         439714.00    3765465.00        0.16966                      
439719.00    3765465.00        0.16973                         
         439729.00    3765465.00        0.16988                      
439734.00    3765465.00        0.16994                         
         439739.00    3765465.00        0.17001                      
439744.00    3765465.00        0.17008                         
         439749.00    3765465.00        0.17015                      
439789.00    3765465.00        0.17065                         
         439794.00    3765465.00        0.17071                      
439799.00    3765465.00        0.17076                         
         439804.00    3765465.00        0.17082                      
439809.00    3765465.00        0.17088                         

153

Item D - 1503 of 1893



         439814.00    3765465.00        0.17093                      
439819.00    3765465.00        0.17098                         
         439824.00    3765465.00        0.17104                      
439829.00    3765465.00        0.17109                         
         439844.00    3765465.00        0.17123                      
439849.00    3765465.00        0.17127                         
         439854.00    3765465.00        0.17131                      
439859.00    3765465.00        0.17134                         
         439674.00    3765470.00        0.17244                      
439679.00    3765470.00        0.17253                         

154

Item D - 1504 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  47
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765470.00        0.17261                      
439689.00    3765470.00        0.17269                         
         439694.00    3765470.00        0.17277                      
439699.00    3765470.00        0.17285                         
         439704.00    3765470.00        0.17293                      
439709.00    3765470.00        0.17301                         
         439714.00    3765470.00        0.17309                      
439719.00    3765470.00        0.17316                         
         439729.00    3765470.00        0.17331                      
439734.00    3765470.00        0.17338                         
         439739.00    3765470.00        0.17346                      
439744.00    3765470.00        0.17353                         
         439749.00    3765470.00        0.17360                      
439789.00    3765470.00        0.17413                         
         439794.00    3765470.00        0.17420                      
439799.00    3765470.00        0.17426                         
         439804.00    3765470.00        0.17432                      
439809.00    3765470.00        0.17438                         

155

Item D - 1505 of 1893



         439814.00    3765470.00        0.17444                      
439819.00    3765470.00        0.17450                         
         439824.00    3765470.00        0.17456                      
439829.00    3765470.00        0.17461                         
         439844.00    3765470.00        0.17477                      
439849.00    3765470.00        0.17482                         
         439854.00    3765470.00        0.17486                      
439859.00    3765470.00        0.17491                         
         439674.00    3765475.00        0.17597                      
439679.00    3765475.00        0.17606                         
         439684.00    3765475.00        0.17615                      
439689.00    3765475.00        0.17623                         
         439694.00    3765475.00        0.17632                      
439699.00    3765475.00        0.17640                         
         439704.00    3765475.00        0.17648                      
439709.00    3765475.00        0.17656                         
         439714.00    3765475.00        0.17665                      
439719.00    3765475.00        0.17673                         
         439729.00    3765475.00        0.17688                      
439734.00    3765475.00        0.17696                         
         439739.00    3765475.00        0.17703                      
439744.00    3765475.00        0.17711                         
         439749.00    3765475.00        0.17718                      
439754.00    3765475.00        0.17726                         
         439789.00    3765475.00        0.17775                      
439794.00    3765475.00        0.17782                         
         439799.00    3765475.00        0.17789                      
439804.00    3765475.00        0.17795                         
         439809.00    3765475.00        0.17802                      
439814.00    3765475.00        0.17808                         
         439819.00    3765475.00        0.17815                      
439824.00    3765475.00        0.17821                         
         439829.00    3765475.00        0.17827                      
439269.00    3764900.00        0.04606                         
         439369.00    3764900.00        0.04642                      
439469.00    3764900.00        0.04639                         
         439569.00    3764900.00        0.04597                      
439669.00    3764900.00        0.04512                         
         439769.00    3764900.00        0.04385                      
439869.00    3764900.00        0.04214                         
         439969.00    3764900.00        0.04002                      
440069.00    3764900.00        0.03753                         
         440169.00    3764900.00        0.03475                      
440269.00    3764900.00        0.03183                         
         439269.00    3765000.00        0.05372                      
439369.00    3765000.00        0.05436                         
         439469.00    3765000.00        0.05456                      
439569.00    3765000.00        0.05430                         
         439669.00    3765000.00        0.05356                      
439769.00    3765000.00        0.05232                         
         439869.00    3765000.00        0.05055                      
439969.00    3765000.00        0.04821                         

156

Item D - 1506 of 1893



         440069.00    3765000.00        0.04534                      
440169.00    3765000.00        0.04199                         
         440269.00    3765000.00        0.03833                      
439269.00    3765100.00        0.06359                         
         439369.00    3765100.00        0.06461                      
439469.00    3765100.00        0.06510                         
         439569.00    3765100.00        0.06509                      
439669.00    3765100.00        0.06456                         
         439769.00    3765100.00        0.06346                      
439869.00    3765100.00        0.06172                         

157

Item D - 1507 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  48
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439969.00    3765100.00        0.05926                      
440069.00    3765100.00        0.05603                         
         440169.00    3765100.00        0.05206                      
440269.00    3765100.00        0.04746                         
         439269.00    3765200.00        0.07686                      
439369.00    3765200.00        0.07837                         
         439469.00    3765200.00        0.07926                      
439569.00    3765200.00        0.07961                         
         439669.00    3765200.00        0.07941                      
439769.00    3765200.00        0.07861                         
         439869.00    3765200.00        0.07708                      
439969.00    3765200.00        0.07466                         
         440069.00    3765200.00        0.07121                      
440169.00    3765200.00        0.06661                         
         440269.00    3765200.00        0.06089                      
439269.00    3765300.00        0.09575                         
         439369.00    3765300.00        0.09797                      
439469.00    3765300.00        0.09947                         

158

Item D - 1508 of 1893



         439569.00    3765300.00        0.10035                      
439669.00    3765300.00        0.10068                         
         439769.00    3765300.00        0.10042                      
439869.00    3765300.00        0.09937                         
         439969.00    3765300.00        0.09727                      
440069.00    3765300.00        0.09384                         
         440169.00    3765300.00        0.08878                      
440269.00    3765300.00        0.08184                         
         439269.00    3765400.00        0.12516                      
439369.00    3765400.00        0.12859                         
         439469.00    3765400.00        0.13115                      
439569.00    3765400.00        0.13295                         
         439669.00    3765400.00        0.13412                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.13474                         
         439869.00    3765400.00        0.13465                      
439969.00    3765400.00        0.13333                         
         440069.00    3765400.00        0.13031                      
440169.00    3765400.00        0.12517                         
         440269.00    3765400.00        0.11721                      
439269.00    3765500.00        0.17876                         
         439369.00    3765500.00        0.18478                      
439469.00    3765500.00        0.18961                         
         439569.00    3765500.00        0.19322                      
439669.00    3765500.00        0.19582                         
         439769.00    3765500.00        0.19781                      
439869.00    3765500.00        0.19964                         
         439969.00    3765500.00        0.20029                      
440069.00    3765500.00        0.19829                         
         440169.00    3765500.00        0.19359                      
440269.00    3765500.00        0.18527                         
         439269.00    3765600.00        0.31632                      
439369.00    3765600.00        0.32940                         
         439469.00    3765600.00        0.34044                      
439569.00    3765600.00        0.34849                         
         439669.00    3765600.00        0.35423                      
439769.00    3765600.00        0.35865                         
         439869.00    3765600.00        0.36362                      
439969.00    3765600.00        0.37453                         
         440069.00    3765600.00        0.37423                      
440169.00    3765600.00        0.36957                         
         440269.00    3765600.00        0.36104                      
439269.00    3765700.00        1.67000                         
         439369.00    3765700.00        1.75481                      
439469.00    3765700.00        1.85402                         
         439569.00    3765700.00        1.93748                      
439669.00    3765700.00        1.99410                         
         439769.00    3765700.00        2.03560                      
439869.00    3765700.00        2.05444                         
         439969.00    3765700.00        2.07937                      
440069.00    3765700.00        2.11887                         
         440169.00    3765700.00        2.14786                      
440269.00    3765700.00        2.18082                         

159

Item D - 1509 of 1893



         439269.00    3765800.00        0.55059                      
439369.00    3765800.00        0.58078                         
         439469.00    3765800.00        0.60591                      
439569.00    3765800.00        0.62930                         
         439669.00    3765800.00        0.64728                      
439769.00    3765800.00        0.66861                         
         439869.00    3765800.00        0.69784                      
439969.00    3765800.00        0.66347                         
         440069.00    3765800.00        0.65659                      
440169.00    3765800.00        0.65426                         

160

Item D - 1510 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  49
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         440269.00    3765800.00        0.65258                      
439269.00    3765900.00        0.20138                         
         439369.00    3765900.00        0.23137                      
439469.00    3765900.00        0.25454                         
         439569.00    3765900.00        0.27290                      
439669.00    3765900.00        0.28770                         
         439769.00    3765900.00        0.29954                      
439869.00    3765900.00        0.30880                         
         439969.00    3765900.00        0.31495                      
440069.00    3765900.00        0.31797                         
         440169.00    3765900.00        0.31964                      
440269.00    3765900.00        0.32025                         
         439649.00    3765310.00        0.10330                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.10335                         
         439709.00    3765310.00        0.10334                      
439739.00    3765310.00        0.10327                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.10314                      
439799.00    3765310.00        0.10295                         

161

Item D - 1511 of 1893



         439829.00    3765310.00        0.10267                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.10231                         
         439889.00    3765310.00        0.10185                      
439649.00    3765340.00        0.11199                         
         439679.00    3765340.00        0.11211                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.11217                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.11217                      
439769.00    3765340.00        0.11211                         
         439799.00    3765340.00        0.11199                      
439829.00    3765340.00        0.11179                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.11150                      
439889.00    3765340.00        0.11111                         
         439649.00    3765370.00        0.12208                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.12226                         
         439709.00    3765370.00        0.12240                      
439739.00    3765370.00        0.12249                         
         439769.00    3765370.00        0.12252                      
439799.00    3765370.00        0.12248                         
         439829.00    3765370.00        0.12237                      
439859.00    3765370.00        0.12216                         
         439889.00    3765370.00        0.12186                      
439649.00    3765400.00        0.13393                         
         439679.00    3765400.00        0.13420                      
439709.00    3765400.00        0.13443                         
         439739.00    3765400.00        0.13461                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.13474                         
         439799.00    3765400.00        0.13480                      
439829.00    3765400.00        0.13480                         
         439859.00    3765400.00        0.13471                      
439889.00    3765400.00        0.13450                         
         439649.00    3765430.00        0.14810                      
439679.00    3765430.00        0.14847                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.14880                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.14908                         
         439769.00    3765430.00        0.14932                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.14951                         
         439829.00    3765430.00        0.14964                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.14968                         
         439889.00    3765430.00        0.14962                      
439649.00    3765460.00        0.16536                         
         439679.00    3765460.00        0.16585                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.16629                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.16670                      
439769.00    3765460.00        0.16706                         
         439799.00    3765460.00        0.16740                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.16769                         
         439859.00    3765460.00        0.16791                      
439889.00    3765460.00        0.16803                         
         439649.00    3765490.00        0.18692                      
439679.00    3765490.00        0.18754                         
         439709.00    3765490.00        0.18812                      
439739.00    3765490.00        0.18865                         

162

Item D - 1512 of 1893



         439769.00    3765490.00        0.18917                      
439799.00    3765490.00        0.18967                         
         439829.00    3765490.00        0.19015                      
439859.00    3765490.00        0.19061                         
         439889.00    3765490.00        0.19098                                                                                     

163

Item D - 1513 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  50
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439674.00    3765310.00        0.10015                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.10014                         
         439684.00    3765310.00        0.10013                      
439689.00    3765310.00        0.10011                         
         439694.00    3765310.00        0.10010                      
439699.00    3765310.00        0.10008                         
         439704.00    3765310.00        0.10006                      
439709.00    3765310.00        0.10004                         
         439714.00    3765310.00        0.10002                      
439719.00    3765310.00        0.09999                         
         439729.00    3765310.00        0.09994                      
439734.00    3765310.00        0.09991                         
         439739.00    3765310.00        0.09988                      
439744.00    3765310.00        0.09985                         
         439749.00    3765310.00        0.09982                      
439764.00    3765310.00        0.09971                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.09967                      
439774.00    3765310.00        0.09962                         
         439779.00    3765310.00        0.09958                      
439784.00    3765310.00        0.09953                         

164

Item D - 1514 of 1893



         439789.00    3765310.00        0.09949                      
439794.00    3765310.00        0.09944                         
         439799.00    3765310.00        0.09939                      
439804.00    3765310.00        0.09933                         
         439809.00    3765310.00        0.09928                      
439814.00    3765310.00        0.09922                         
         439819.00    3765310.00        0.09916                      
439824.00    3765310.00        0.09910                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.09904                      
439839.00    3765310.00        0.09891                         
         439844.00    3765310.00        0.09884                      
439849.00    3765310.00        0.09877                         
         439854.00    3765310.00        0.09870                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.09862                         
         439864.00    3765310.00        0.09854                      
439869.00    3765310.00        0.09847                         
         439874.00    3765310.00        0.09838                      
439879.00    3765310.00        0.09830                         
         439884.00    3765310.00        0.09821                      
439674.00    3765315.00        0.10149                         
         439679.00    3765315.00        0.10148                      
439684.00    3765315.00        0.10147                         
         439689.00    3765315.00        0.10145                      
439694.00    3765315.00        0.10144                         
         439699.00    3765315.00        0.10142                      
439704.00    3765315.00        0.10141                         
         439709.00    3765315.00        0.10139                      
439714.00    3765315.00        0.10137                         
         439719.00    3765315.00        0.10134                      
439729.00    3765315.00        0.10129                         
         439734.00    3765315.00        0.10127                      
439739.00    3765315.00        0.10124                         
         439744.00    3765315.00        0.10121                      
439749.00    3765315.00        0.10117                         
         439764.00    3765315.00        0.10107                      
439769.00    3765315.00        0.10103                         
         439774.00    3765315.00        0.10099                      
439779.00    3765315.00        0.10095                         
         439784.00    3765315.00        0.10090                      
439789.00    3765315.00        0.10085                         
         439794.00    3765315.00        0.10081                      
439799.00    3765315.00        0.10076                         
         439804.00    3765315.00        0.10070                      
439809.00    3765315.00        0.10065                         
         439814.00    3765315.00        0.10060                      
439819.00    3765315.00        0.10054                         
         439824.00    3765315.00        0.10048                      
439829.00    3765315.00        0.10042                         
         439839.00    3765315.00        0.10029                      
439844.00    3765315.00        0.10022                         
         439849.00    3765315.00        0.10015                      
439854.00    3765315.00        0.10008                         

165

Item D - 1515 of 1893



         439859.00    3765315.00        0.10001                      
439864.00    3765315.00        0.09993                         
         439869.00    3765315.00        0.09985                      
439874.00    3765315.00        0.09977                         
         439879.00    3765315.00        0.09969                      
439884.00    3765315.00        0.09961                         
         439674.00    3765320.00        0.10286                      
439679.00    3765320.00        0.10285                         

166

Item D - 1516 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  51
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765320.00        0.10284                      
439689.00    3765320.00        0.10283                         
         439694.00    3765320.00        0.10281                      
439699.00    3765320.00        0.10280                         
         439704.00    3765320.00        0.10278                      
439709.00    3765320.00        0.10276                         
         439714.00    3765320.00        0.10275                      
439719.00    3765320.00        0.10272                         
         439729.00    3765320.00        0.10268                      
439734.00    3765320.00        0.10265                         
         439739.00    3765320.00        0.10262                      
439744.00    3765320.00        0.10260                         
         439749.00    3765320.00        0.10256                      
439764.00    3765320.00        0.10246                         
         439769.00    3765320.00        0.10242                      
439774.00    3765320.00        0.10238                         
         439779.00    3765320.00        0.10234                      
439784.00    3765320.00        0.10230                         
         439789.00    3765320.00        0.10225                      
439794.00    3765320.00        0.10221                         

167

Item D - 1517 of 1893



         439799.00    3765320.00        0.10216                      
439804.00    3765320.00        0.10211                         
         439809.00    3765320.00        0.10206                      
439814.00    3765320.00        0.10200                         
         439819.00    3765320.00        0.10194                      
439824.00    3765320.00        0.10189                         
         439829.00    3765320.00        0.10183                      
439839.00    3765320.00        0.10170                         
         439844.00    3765320.00        0.10163                      
439849.00    3765320.00        0.10157                         
         439854.00    3765320.00        0.10150                      
439859.00    3765320.00        0.10142                         
         439864.00    3765320.00        0.10135                      
439869.00    3765320.00        0.10127                         
         439874.00    3765320.00        0.10119                      
439879.00    3765320.00        0.10111                         
         439884.00    3765320.00        0.10103                      
439674.00    3765325.00        0.10426                         
         439679.00    3765325.00        0.10425                      
439684.00    3765325.00        0.10424                         
         439689.00    3765325.00        0.10423                      
439694.00    3765325.00        0.10422                         
         439699.00    3765325.00        0.10421                      
439704.00    3765325.00        0.10419                         
         439709.00    3765325.00        0.10418                      
439714.00    3765325.00        0.10416                         
         439719.00    3765325.00        0.10414                      
439729.00    3765325.00        0.10409                         
         439734.00    3765325.00        0.10407                      
439739.00    3765325.00        0.10404                         
         439744.00    3765325.00        0.10402                      
439749.00    3765325.00        0.10399                         
         439754.00    3765325.00        0.10396                      
439769.00    3765325.00        0.10385                         
         439774.00    3765325.00        0.10381                      
439779.00    3765325.00        0.10377                         
         439784.00    3765325.00        0.10373                      
439789.00    3765325.00        0.10369                         
         439794.00    3765325.00        0.10364                      
439799.00    3765325.00        0.10359                         
         439804.00    3765325.00        0.10355                      
439809.00    3765325.00        0.10349                         
         439814.00    3765325.00        0.10344                      
439819.00    3765325.00        0.10339                         
         439824.00    3765325.00        0.10333                      
439829.00    3765325.00        0.10327                         
         439839.00    3765325.00        0.10315                      
439844.00    3765325.00        0.10308                         
         439849.00    3765325.00        0.10301                      
439854.00    3765325.00        0.10294                         
         439859.00    3765325.00        0.10287                      
439864.00    3765325.00        0.10280                         

168

Item D - 1518 of 1893



         439869.00    3765325.00        0.10272                      
439874.00    3765325.00        0.10265                         
         439879.00    3765325.00        0.10257                      
439884.00    3765325.00        0.10248                         
         439674.00    3765330.00        0.10569                      
439679.00    3765330.00        0.10569                         
         439684.00    3765330.00        0.10568                      
439689.00    3765330.00        0.10567                         

169

Item D - 1519 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  52
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439694.00    3765330.00        0.10566                      
439699.00    3765330.00        0.10565                         
         439704.00    3765330.00        0.10564                      
439709.00    3765330.00        0.10562                         
         439714.00    3765330.00        0.10560                      
439719.00    3765330.00        0.10559                         
         439729.00    3765330.00        0.10555                      
439734.00    3765330.00        0.10552                         
         439739.00    3765330.00        0.10550                      
439744.00    3765330.00        0.10547                         
         439749.00    3765330.00        0.10544                      
439754.00    3765330.00        0.10541                         
         439774.00    3765330.00        0.10528                      
439779.00    3765330.00        0.10524                         
         439784.00    3765330.00        0.10520                      
439789.00    3765330.00        0.10516                         
         439794.00    3765330.00        0.10511                      
439799.00    3765330.00        0.10506                         
         439804.00    3765330.00        0.10502                      
439809.00    3765330.00        0.10497                         

170

Item D - 1520 of 1893



         439814.00    3765330.00        0.10492                      
439819.00    3765330.00        0.10486                         
         439824.00    3765330.00        0.10481                      
439829.00    3765330.00        0.10475                         
         439839.00    3765330.00        0.10463                      
439844.00    3765330.00        0.10456                         
         439849.00    3765330.00        0.10450                      
439854.00    3765330.00        0.10443                         
         439859.00    3765330.00        0.10436                      
439864.00    3765330.00        0.10429                         
         439869.00    3765330.00        0.10421                      
439874.00    3765330.00        0.10414                         
         439879.00    3765330.00        0.10406                      
439884.00    3765330.00        0.10398                         
         439674.00    3765335.00        0.10716                      
439679.00    3765335.00        0.10716                         
         439684.00    3765335.00        0.10715                      
439689.00    3765335.00        0.10714                         
         439694.00    3765335.00        0.10714                      
439699.00    3765335.00        0.10713                         
         439704.00    3765335.00        0.10712                      
439709.00    3765335.00        0.10710                         
         439714.00    3765335.00        0.10709                      
439719.00    3765335.00        0.10707                         
         439729.00    3765335.00        0.10703                      
439734.00    3765335.00        0.10701                         
         439739.00    3765335.00        0.10699                      
439744.00    3765335.00        0.10696                         
         439749.00    3765335.00        0.10694                      
439774.00    3765335.00        0.10678                         
         439779.00    3765335.00        0.10674                      
439784.00    3765335.00        0.10670                         
         439789.00    3765335.00        0.10666                      
439794.00    3765335.00        0.10662                         
         439839.00    3765335.00        0.10614                      
439844.00    3765335.00        0.10608                         
         439849.00    3765335.00        0.10602                      
439854.00    3765335.00        0.10595                         
         439859.00    3765335.00        0.10588                      
439864.00    3765335.00        0.10581                         
         439869.00    3765335.00        0.10574                      
439874.00    3765335.00        0.10566                         
         439879.00    3765335.00        0.10558                      
439884.00    3765335.00        0.10550                         
         439674.00    3765340.00        0.10867                      
439679.00    3765340.00        0.10866                         
         439684.00    3765340.00        0.10866                      
439689.00    3765340.00        0.10866                         
         439694.00    3765340.00        0.10865                      
439699.00    3765340.00        0.10864                         
         439704.00    3765340.00        0.10863                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.10862                         

171

Item D - 1521 of 1893



         439714.00    3765340.00        0.10861                      
439719.00    3765340.00        0.10859                         
         439729.00    3765340.00        0.10856                      
439734.00    3765340.00        0.10854                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.10851                      
439744.00    3765340.00        0.10849                         
         439749.00    3765340.00        0.10847                      
439774.00    3765340.00        0.10831                         

172

Item D - 1522 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  53
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439779.00    3765340.00        0.10828                      
439784.00    3765340.00        0.10824                         
         439789.00    3765340.00        0.10820                      
439794.00    3765340.00        0.10816                         
         439839.00    3765340.00        0.10770                      
439844.00    3765340.00        0.10764                         
         439849.00    3765340.00        0.10757                      
439854.00    3765340.00        0.10751                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.10744                      
439864.00    3765340.00        0.10737                         
         439869.00    3765340.00        0.10730                      
439874.00    3765340.00        0.10723                         
         439879.00    3765340.00        0.10715                      
439884.00    3765340.00        0.10707                         
         439674.00    3765345.00        0.11021                      
439679.00    3765345.00        0.11021                         
         439684.00    3765345.00        0.11021                      
439689.00    3765345.00        0.11021                         
         439694.00    3765345.00        0.11020                      
439699.00    3765345.00        0.11019                         

173

Item D - 1523 of 1893



         439704.00    3765345.00        0.11018                      
439709.00    3765345.00        0.11017                         
         439714.00    3765345.00        0.11016                      
439719.00    3765345.00        0.11015                         
         439729.00    3765345.00        0.11012                      
439734.00    3765345.00        0.11010                         
         439739.00    3765345.00        0.11008                      
439744.00    3765345.00        0.11006                         
         439749.00    3765345.00        0.11003                      
439774.00    3765345.00        0.10989                         
         439779.00    3765345.00        0.10985                      
439784.00    3765345.00        0.10982                         
         439789.00    3765345.00        0.10978                      
439794.00    3765345.00        0.10974                         
         439839.00    3765345.00        0.10929                      
439844.00    3765345.00        0.10923                         
         439849.00    3765345.00        0.10917                      
439854.00    3765345.00        0.10911                         
         439859.00    3765345.00        0.10904                      
439864.00    3765345.00        0.10897                         
         439869.00    3765345.00        0.10890                      
439874.00    3765345.00        0.10883                         
         439879.00    3765345.00        0.10875                      
439884.00    3765345.00        0.10868                         
         439674.00    3765350.00        0.11180                      
439679.00    3765350.00        0.11180                         
         439684.00    3765350.00        0.11180                      
439689.00    3765350.00        0.11179                         
         439694.00    3765350.00        0.11179                      
439699.00    3765350.00        0.11178                         
         439704.00    3765350.00        0.11178                      
439709.00    3765350.00        0.11177                         
         439714.00    3765350.00        0.11176                      
439719.00    3765350.00        0.11175                         
         439729.00    3765350.00        0.11172                      
439734.00    3765350.00        0.11170                         
         439739.00    3765350.00        0.11168                      
439744.00    3765350.00        0.11166                         
         439749.00    3765350.00        0.11164                      
439774.00    3765350.00        0.11150                         
         439779.00    3765350.00        0.11147                      
439784.00    3765350.00        0.11144                         
         439789.00    3765350.00        0.11140                      
439794.00    3765350.00        0.11136                         
         439839.00    3765350.00        0.11093                      
439844.00    3765350.00        0.11087                         
         439849.00    3765350.00        0.11081                      
439854.00    3765350.00        0.11075                         
         439859.00    3765350.00        0.11068                      
439864.00    3765350.00        0.11061                         
         439869.00    3765350.00        0.11054                      
439874.00    3765350.00        0.11047                         

174

Item D - 1524 of 1893



         439879.00    3765350.00        0.11040                      
439884.00    3765350.00        0.11032                         
         439674.00    3765355.00        0.11342                      
439679.00    3765355.00        0.11342                         
         439684.00    3765355.00        0.11342                      
439689.00    3765355.00        0.11342                         
         439694.00    3765355.00        0.11342                      
439699.00    3765355.00        0.11342                         

175

Item D - 1525 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  54
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439704.00    3765355.00        0.11341                      
439709.00    3765355.00        0.11341                         
         439714.00    3765355.00        0.11340                      
439719.00    3765355.00        0.11339                         
         439729.00    3765355.00        0.11336                      
439734.00    3765355.00        0.11335                         
         439739.00    3765355.00        0.11333                      
439744.00    3765355.00        0.11331                         
         439749.00    3765355.00        0.11329                      
439774.00    3765355.00        0.11316                         
         439779.00    3765355.00        0.11313                      
439784.00    3765355.00        0.11310                         
         439789.00    3765355.00        0.11306                      
439794.00    3765355.00        0.11303                         
         439839.00    3765355.00        0.11260                      
439844.00    3765355.00        0.11255                         
         439849.00    3765355.00        0.11249                      
439854.00    3765355.00        0.11243                         
         439859.00    3765355.00        0.11236                      
439864.00    3765355.00        0.11230                         

176

Item D - 1526 of 1893



         439869.00    3765355.00        0.11223                      
439874.00    3765355.00        0.11216                         
         439879.00    3765355.00        0.11209                      
439884.00    3765355.00        0.11201                         
         439674.00    3765360.00        0.11509                      
439679.00    3765360.00        0.11509                         
         439684.00    3765360.00        0.11509                      
439689.00    3765360.00        0.11510                         
         439694.00    3765360.00        0.11510                      
439699.00    3765360.00        0.11509                         
         439704.00    3765360.00        0.11509                      
439709.00    3765360.00        0.11509                         
         439714.00    3765360.00        0.11508                      
439719.00    3765360.00        0.11507                         
         439729.00    3765360.00        0.11505                      
439734.00    3765360.00        0.11504                         
         439739.00    3765360.00        0.11502                      
439744.00    3765360.00        0.11500                         
         439749.00    3765360.00        0.11498                      
439774.00    3765360.00        0.11486                         
         439779.00    3765360.00        0.11483                      
439784.00    3765360.00        0.11480                         
         439789.00    3765360.00        0.11477                      
439794.00    3765360.00        0.11473                         
         439799.00    3765360.00        0.11470                      
439804.00    3765360.00        0.11466                         
         439809.00    3765360.00        0.11462                      
439814.00    3765360.00        0.11457                         
         439839.00    3765360.00        0.11433                      
439844.00    3765360.00        0.11427                         
         439849.00    3765360.00        0.11421                      
439854.00    3765360.00        0.11415                         
         439859.00    3765360.00        0.11409                      
439864.00    3765360.00        0.11403                         
         439869.00    3765360.00        0.11396                      
439874.00    3765360.00        0.11389                         
         439879.00    3765360.00        0.11382                      
439884.00    3765360.00        0.11375                         
         439674.00    3765365.00        0.11680                      
439679.00    3765365.00        0.11680                         
         439684.00    3765365.00        0.11681                      
439689.00    3765365.00        0.11681                         
         439694.00    3765365.00        0.11681                      
439699.00    3765365.00        0.11681                         
         439704.00    3765365.00        0.11681                      
439709.00    3765365.00        0.11681                         
         439714.00    3765365.00        0.11680                      
439719.00    3765365.00        0.11680                         
         439729.00    3765365.00        0.11678                      
439734.00    3765365.00        0.11677                         
         439739.00    3765365.00        0.11675                      
439744.00    3765365.00        0.11674                         

177

Item D - 1527 of 1893



         439749.00    3765365.00        0.11672                      
439774.00    3765365.00        0.11661                         
         439779.00    3765365.00        0.11658                      
439784.00    3765365.00        0.11655                         
         439789.00    3765365.00        0.11652                      
439794.00    3765365.00        0.11649                         
         439799.00    3765365.00        0.11645                      
439804.00    3765365.00        0.11641                         

178

Item D - 1528 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  55
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765365.00        0.11637                      
439814.00    3765365.00        0.11633                         
         439839.00    3765365.00        0.11609                      
439844.00    3765365.00        0.11604                         
         439849.00    3765365.00        0.11598                      
439854.00    3765365.00        0.11592                         
         439859.00    3765365.00        0.11586                      
439864.00    3765365.00        0.11580                         
         439869.00    3765365.00        0.11574                      
439874.00    3765365.00        0.11567                         
         439879.00    3765365.00        0.11560                      
439884.00    3765365.00        0.11553                         
         439674.00    3765370.00        0.11856                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.11856                         
         439684.00    3765370.00        0.11857                      
439689.00    3765370.00        0.11858                         
         439694.00    3765370.00        0.11858                      
439699.00    3765370.00        0.11858                         
         439704.00    3765370.00        0.11858                      
439709.00    3765370.00        0.11858                         

179

Item D - 1529 of 1893



         439714.00    3765370.00        0.11858                      
439719.00    3765370.00        0.11857                         
         439729.00    3765370.00        0.11856                      
439734.00    3765370.00        0.11855                         
         439739.00    3765370.00        0.11854                      
439744.00    3765370.00        0.11852                         
         439749.00    3765370.00        0.11851                      
439774.00    3765370.00        0.11840                         
         439779.00    3765370.00        0.11838                      
439784.00    3765370.00        0.11835                         
         439789.00    3765370.00        0.11832                      
439794.00    3765370.00        0.11829                         
         439799.00    3765370.00        0.11825                      
439804.00    3765370.00        0.11822                         
         439809.00    3765370.00        0.11818                      
439814.00    3765370.00        0.11814                         
         439839.00    3765370.00        0.11791                      
439844.00    3765370.00        0.11786                         
         439849.00    3765370.00        0.11780                      
439854.00    3765370.00        0.11774                         
         439859.00    3765370.00        0.11769                      
439864.00    3765370.00        0.11762                         
         439869.00    3765370.00        0.11756                      
439874.00    3765370.00        0.11750                         
         439879.00    3765370.00        0.11743                      
439884.00    3765370.00        0.11736                         
         439674.00    3765375.00        0.12036                      
439679.00    3765375.00        0.12037                         
         439684.00    3765375.00        0.12038                      
439689.00    3765375.00        0.12039                         
         439694.00    3765375.00        0.12039                      
439699.00    3765375.00        0.12040                         
         439704.00    3765375.00        0.12040                      
439709.00    3765375.00        0.12040                         
         439714.00    3765375.00        0.12040                      
439719.00    3765375.00        0.12040                         
         439729.00    3765375.00        0.12038                      
439734.00    3765375.00        0.12038                         
         439739.00    3765375.00        0.12037                      
439744.00    3765375.00        0.12035                         
         439749.00    3765375.00        0.12034                      
439754.00    3765375.00        0.12033                         
         439774.00    3765375.00        0.12025                      
439779.00    3765375.00        0.12022                         
         439784.00    3765375.00        0.12019                      
439789.00    3765375.00        0.12017                         
         439794.00    3765375.00        0.12014                      
439799.00    3765375.00        0.12010                         
         439804.00    3765375.00        0.12007                      
439809.00    3765375.00        0.12003                         
         439814.00    3765375.00        0.11999                      
439839.00    3765375.00        0.11977                         

180

Item D - 1530 of 1893



         439844.00    3765375.00        0.11972                      
439849.00    3765375.00        0.11967                         
         439854.00    3765375.00        0.11961                      
439859.00    3765375.00        0.11956                         
         439864.00    3765375.00        0.11950                      
439869.00    3765375.00        0.11943                         
         439874.00    3765375.00        0.11937                      
439879.00    3765375.00        0.11930                         

181

Item D - 1531 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  56
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439884.00    3765375.00        0.11924                      
439774.00    3765380.00        0.12214                         
         439779.00    3765380.00        0.12212                      
439784.00    3765380.00        0.12209                         
         439789.00    3765380.00        0.12207                      
439794.00    3765380.00        0.12204                         
         439799.00    3765380.00        0.12201                      
439804.00    3765380.00        0.12197                         
         439809.00    3765380.00        0.12194                      
439814.00    3765380.00        0.12190                         
         439769.00    3765385.00        0.12411                      
439819.00    3765385.00        0.12383                         
         439769.00    3765400.00        0.13029                      
439844.00    3765400.00        0.12988                         
         439849.00    3765400.00        0.12984                      
439674.00    3765405.00        0.13234                         
         439714.00    3765405.00        0.13247                      
439719.00    3765405.00        0.13248                         
         439734.00    3765405.00        0.13250                      
439749.00    3765405.00        0.13250                         

182

Item D - 1532 of 1893



         439754.00    3765405.00        0.13250                      
439774.00    3765405.00        0.13246                         
         439779.00    3765405.00        0.13245                      
439784.00    3765405.00        0.13244                         
         439789.00    3765405.00        0.13242                      
439794.00    3765405.00        0.13240                         
         439799.00    3765405.00        0.13238                      
439804.00    3765405.00        0.13235                         
         439809.00    3765405.00        0.13233                      
439814.00    3765405.00        0.13230                         
         439819.00    3765405.00        0.13227                      
439824.00    3765405.00        0.13224                         
         439829.00    3765405.00        0.13221                      
439834.00    3765405.00        0.13217                         
         439839.00    3765405.00        0.13213                      
439844.00    3765405.00        0.13209                         
         439849.00    3765405.00        0.13205                      
439854.00    3765405.00        0.13201                         
         439859.00    3765405.00        0.13196                      
439674.00    3765410.00        0.13454                         
         439679.00    3765410.00        0.13457                      
439684.00    3765410.00        0.13460                         
         439689.00    3765410.00        0.13462                      
439694.00    3765410.00        0.13464                         
         439699.00    3765410.00        0.13466                      
439704.00    3765410.00        0.13467                         
         439709.00    3765410.00        0.13469                      
439714.00    3765410.00        0.13470                         
         439719.00    3765410.00        0.13471                      
439729.00    3765410.00        0.13473                         
         439734.00    3765410.00        0.13474                      
439739.00    3765410.00        0.13474                         
         439744.00    3765410.00        0.13474                      
439749.00    3765410.00        0.13474                         
         439774.00    3765410.00        0.13472                      
439779.00    3765410.00        0.13471                         
         439784.00    3765410.00        0.13469                      
439789.00    3765410.00        0.13468                         
         439794.00    3765410.00        0.13466                      
439799.00    3765410.00        0.13464                         
         439804.00    3765410.00        0.13462                      
439809.00    3765410.00        0.13460                         
         439814.00    3765410.00        0.13457                      
439819.00    3765410.00        0.13455                         
         439824.00    3765410.00        0.13452                      
439829.00    3765410.00        0.13448                         
         439834.00    3765410.00        0.13445                      
439839.00    3765410.00        0.13442                         
         439844.00    3765410.00        0.13438                      
439849.00    3765410.00        0.13434                         
         439854.00    3765410.00        0.13429                      
439859.00    3765410.00        0.13425                         

183

Item D - 1533 of 1893



         439674.00    3765415.00        0.13682                      
439679.00    3765415.00        0.13685                         
         439684.00    3765415.00        0.13688                      
439689.00    3765415.00        0.13690                         
         439694.00    3765415.00        0.13693                      
439699.00    3765415.00        0.13695                         
         439704.00    3765415.00        0.13697                      
439709.00    3765415.00        0.13698                         

184

Item D - 1534 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  57
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439714.00    3765415.00        0.13700                      
439719.00    3765415.00        0.13701                         
         439729.00    3765415.00        0.13704                      
439734.00    3765415.00        0.13704                         
         439739.00    3765415.00        0.13705                      
439744.00    3765415.00        0.13705                         
         439749.00    3765415.00        0.13706                      
439774.00    3765415.00        0.13704                         
         439779.00    3765415.00        0.13703                      
439784.00    3765415.00        0.13702                         
         439789.00    3765415.00        0.13701                      
439794.00    3765415.00        0.13700                         
         439799.00    3765415.00        0.13698                      
439804.00    3765415.00        0.13696                         
         439809.00    3765415.00        0.13694                      
439814.00    3765415.00        0.13691                         
         439819.00    3765415.00        0.13689                      
439824.00    3765415.00        0.13686                         
         439829.00    3765415.00        0.13683                      
439834.00    3765415.00        0.13680                         

185

Item D - 1535 of 1893



         439839.00    3765415.00        0.13677                      
439844.00    3765415.00        0.13673                         
         439849.00    3765415.00        0.13669                      
439854.00    3765415.00        0.13665                         
         439859.00    3765415.00        0.13661                      
439674.00    3765420.00        0.13917                         
         439679.00    3765420.00        0.13921                      
439684.00    3765420.00        0.13923                         
         439689.00    3765420.00        0.13926                      
439694.00    3765420.00        0.13929                         
         439699.00    3765420.00        0.13931                      
439704.00    3765420.00        0.13933                         
         439709.00    3765420.00        0.13935                      
439714.00    3765420.00        0.13937                         
         439719.00    3765420.00        0.13939                      
439729.00    3765420.00        0.13941                         
         439734.00    3765420.00        0.13942                      
439739.00    3765420.00        0.13943                         
         439744.00    3765420.00        0.13944                      
439749.00    3765420.00        0.13944                         
         439774.00    3765420.00        0.13944                      
439779.00    3765420.00        0.13943                         
         439784.00    3765420.00        0.13942                      
439789.00    3765420.00        0.13941                         
         439794.00    3765420.00        0.13940                      
439799.00    3765420.00        0.13939                         
         439804.00    3765420.00        0.13937                      
439809.00    3765420.00        0.13935                         
         439814.00    3765420.00        0.13933                      
439819.00    3765420.00        0.13931                         
         439824.00    3765420.00        0.13928                      
439829.00    3765420.00        0.13925                         
         439834.00    3765420.00        0.13923                      
439839.00    3765420.00        0.13919                         
         439844.00    3765420.00        0.13916                      
439849.00    3765420.00        0.13912                         
         439854.00    3765420.00        0.13908                      
439859.00    3765420.00        0.13904                         
         439674.00    3765425.00        0.14160                      
439679.00    3765425.00        0.14163                         
         439684.00    3765425.00        0.14167                      
439689.00    3765425.00        0.14170                         
         439694.00    3765425.00        0.14172                      
439699.00    3765425.00        0.14175                         
         439704.00    3765425.00        0.14177                      
439709.00    3765425.00        0.14180                         
         439714.00    3765425.00        0.14182                      
439719.00    3765425.00        0.14184                         
         439729.00    3765425.00        0.14187                      
439734.00    3765425.00        0.14188                         
         439739.00    3765425.00        0.14189                      
439744.00    3765425.00        0.14190                         

186

Item D - 1536 of 1893



         439749.00    3765425.00        0.14191                      
439774.00    3765425.00        0.14192                         
         439779.00    3765425.00        0.14191                      
439784.00    3765425.00        0.14191                         
         439789.00    3765425.00        0.14190                      
439794.00    3765425.00        0.14189                         
         439799.00    3765425.00        0.14187                      
439804.00    3765425.00        0.14186                         

187

Item D - 1537 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  58
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765425.00        0.14184                      
439814.00    3765425.00        0.14182                         
         439819.00    3765425.00        0.14180                      
439824.00    3765425.00        0.14178                         
         439829.00    3765425.00        0.14175                      
439834.00    3765425.00        0.14173                         
         439839.00    3765425.00        0.14170                      
439844.00    3765425.00        0.14167                         
         439849.00    3765425.00        0.14163                      
439854.00    3765425.00        0.14159                         
         439859.00    3765425.00        0.14156                      
439674.00    3765430.00        0.14411                         
         439679.00    3765430.00        0.14414                      
439684.00    3765430.00        0.14418                         
         439689.00    3765430.00        0.14421                      
439694.00    3765430.00        0.14424                         
         439699.00    3765430.00        0.14427                      
439704.00    3765430.00        0.14430                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.14432                      
439714.00    3765430.00        0.14434                         

188

Item D - 1538 of 1893



         439719.00    3765430.00        0.14437                      
439729.00    3765430.00        0.14440                         
         439734.00    3765430.00        0.14442                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.14443                         
         439744.00    3765430.00        0.14444                      
439749.00    3765430.00        0.14445                         
         439774.00    3765430.00        0.14447                      
439779.00    3765430.00        0.14447                         
         439784.00    3765430.00        0.14447                      
439789.00    3765430.00        0.14446                         
         439794.00    3765430.00        0.14445                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.14444                         
         439804.00    3765430.00        0.14443                      
439809.00    3765430.00        0.14442                         
         439814.00    3765430.00        0.14440                      
439819.00    3765430.00        0.14438                         
         439824.00    3765430.00        0.14436                      
439829.00    3765430.00        0.14434                         
         439834.00    3765430.00        0.14431                      
439839.00    3765430.00        0.14428                         
         439844.00    3765430.00        0.14425                      
439849.00    3765430.00        0.14422                         
         439854.00    3765430.00        0.14419                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.14415                         
         439674.00    3765435.00        0.14670                      
439679.00    3765435.00        0.14674                         
         439684.00    3765435.00        0.14677                      
439689.00    3765435.00        0.14681                         
         439694.00    3765435.00        0.14684                      
439699.00    3765435.00        0.14687                         
         439704.00    3765435.00        0.14690                      
439709.00    3765435.00        0.14693                         
         439714.00    3765435.00        0.14696                      
439719.00    3765435.00        0.14698                         
         439729.00    3765435.00        0.14702                      
439734.00    3765435.00        0.14704                         
         439739.00    3765435.00        0.14706                      
439744.00    3765435.00        0.14707                         
         439749.00    3765435.00        0.14708                      
439774.00    3765435.00        0.14712                         
         439779.00    3765435.00        0.14712                      
439784.00    3765435.00        0.14711                         
         439789.00    3765435.00        0.14711                      
439794.00    3765435.00        0.14710                         
         439799.00    3765435.00        0.14710                      
439804.00    3765435.00        0.14709                         
         439809.00    3765435.00        0.14707                      
439814.00    3765435.00        0.14706                         
         439819.00    3765435.00        0.14704                      
439824.00    3765435.00        0.14703                         
         439829.00    3765435.00        0.14700                      
439834.00    3765435.00        0.14698                         

189

Item D - 1539 of 1893



         439839.00    3765435.00        0.14696                      
439844.00    3765435.00        0.14693                         
         439849.00    3765435.00        0.14690                      
439854.00    3765435.00        0.14687                         
         439859.00    3765435.00        0.14683                      
439674.00    3765440.00        0.14938                         
         439679.00    3765440.00        0.14942                      
439684.00    3765440.00        0.14946                         

190

Item D - 1540 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  59
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439689.00    3765440.00        0.14950                      
439694.00    3765440.00        0.14953                         
         439699.00    3765440.00        0.14957                      
439704.00    3765440.00        0.14960                         
         439709.00    3765440.00        0.14963                      
439714.00    3765440.00        0.14966                         
         439719.00    3765440.00        0.14968                      
439729.00    3765440.00        0.14973                         
         439734.00    3765440.00        0.14975                      
439739.00    3765440.00        0.14977                         
         439744.00    3765440.00        0.14979                      
439749.00    3765440.00        0.14980                         
         439774.00    3765440.00        0.14985                      
439779.00    3765440.00        0.14985                         
         439784.00    3765440.00        0.14985                      
439789.00    3765440.00        0.14985                         
         439794.00    3765440.00        0.14985                      
439799.00    3765440.00        0.14984                         
         439804.00    3765440.00        0.14983                      
439809.00    3765440.00        0.14982                         

191

Item D - 1541 of 1893



         439814.00    3765440.00        0.14981                      
439819.00    3765440.00        0.14980                         
         439824.00    3765440.00        0.14978                      
439829.00    3765440.00        0.14976                         
         439834.00    3765440.00        0.14974                      
439839.00    3765440.00        0.14972                         
         439844.00    3765440.00        0.14970                      
439849.00    3765440.00        0.14967                         
         439854.00    3765440.00        0.14964                      
439859.00    3765440.00        0.14961                         
         439674.00    3765445.00        0.15215                      
439679.00    3765445.00        0.15219                         
         439684.00    3765445.00        0.15224                      
439689.00    3765445.00        0.15228                         
         439694.00    3765445.00        0.15232                      
439699.00    3765445.00        0.15235                         
         439704.00    3765445.00        0.15239                      
439709.00    3765445.00        0.15242                         
         439714.00    3765445.00        0.15245                      
439719.00    3765445.00        0.15248                         
         439729.00    3765445.00        0.15254                      
439734.00    3765445.00        0.15256                         
         439739.00    3765445.00        0.15258                      
439744.00    3765445.00        0.15260                         
         439749.00    3765445.00        0.15262                      
439774.00    3765445.00        0.15268                         
         439779.00    3765445.00        0.15268                      
439784.00    3765445.00        0.15268                         
         439789.00    3765445.00        0.15269                      
439794.00    3765445.00        0.15268                         
         439799.00    3765445.00        0.15268                      
439804.00    3765445.00        0.15268                         
         439809.00    3765445.00        0.15267                      
439814.00    3765445.00        0.15266                         
         439819.00    3765445.00        0.15265                      
439824.00    3765445.00        0.15263                         
         439829.00    3765445.00        0.15262                      
439834.00    3765445.00        0.15260                         
         439839.00    3765445.00        0.15258                      
439844.00    3765445.00        0.15256                         
         439849.00    3765445.00        0.15253                      
439854.00    3765445.00        0.15250                         
         439859.00    3765445.00        0.15247                      
439674.00    3765450.00        0.15502                         
         439679.00    3765450.00        0.15507                      
439684.00    3765450.00        0.15511                         
         439689.00    3765450.00        0.15516                      
439694.00    3765450.00        0.15520                         
         439699.00    3765450.00        0.15524                      
439704.00    3765450.00        0.15528                         
         439709.00    3765450.00        0.15531                      
439714.00    3765450.00        0.15535                         

192

Item D - 1542 of 1893



         439719.00    3765450.00        0.15538                      
439729.00    3765450.00        0.15544                         
         439734.00    3765450.00        0.15546                      
439739.00    3765450.00        0.15549                         
         439744.00    3765450.00        0.15551                      
439749.00    3765450.00        0.15553                         
         439774.00    3765450.00        0.15560                      
439844.00    3765450.00        0.15552                         

193

Item D - 1543 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  60
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439849.00    3765450.00        0.15550                      
439854.00    3765450.00        0.15547                         
         439859.00    3765450.00        0.15544                      
439674.00    3765455.00        0.15799                         
         439679.00    3765455.00        0.15805                      
439684.00    3765455.00        0.15809                         
         439689.00    3765455.00        0.15814                      
439694.00    3765455.00        0.15819                         
         439699.00    3765455.00        0.15823                      
439704.00    3765455.00        0.15827                         
         439709.00    3765455.00        0.15831                      
439714.00    3765455.00        0.15835                         
         439719.00    3765455.00        0.15838                      
439729.00    3765455.00        0.15845                         
         439734.00    3765455.00        0.15847                      
439739.00    3765455.00        0.15850                         
         439744.00    3765455.00        0.15853                      
439749.00    3765455.00        0.15855                         
         439844.00    3765455.00        0.15859                      
439849.00    3765455.00        0.15857                         

194

Item D - 1544 of 1893



         439854.00    3765455.00        0.15855                      
439859.00    3765455.00        0.15852                         
         439674.00    3765460.00        0.16108                      
439679.00    3765460.00        0.16113                         
         439684.00    3765460.00        0.16118                      
439689.00    3765460.00        0.16123                         
         439694.00    3765460.00        0.16128                      
439699.00    3765460.00        0.16133                         
         439704.00    3765460.00        0.16137                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.16141                         
         439714.00    3765460.00        0.16145                      
439719.00    3765460.00        0.16149                         
         439729.00    3765460.00        0.16156                      
439734.00    3765460.00        0.16160                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.16163                      
439744.00    3765460.00        0.16165                         
         439749.00    3765460.00        0.16168                      
439789.00    3765460.00        0.16181                         
         439794.00    3765460.00        0.16182                      
439799.00    3765460.00        0.16183                         
         439804.00    3765460.00        0.16183                      
439809.00    3765460.00        0.16183                         
         439814.00    3765460.00        0.16183                      
439819.00    3765460.00        0.16182                         
         439824.00    3765460.00        0.16182                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.16181                         
         439844.00    3765460.00        0.16177                      
439849.00    3765460.00        0.16175                         
         439854.00    3765460.00        0.16173                      
439859.00    3765460.00        0.16171                         
         439674.00    3765465.00        0.16428                      
439679.00    3765465.00        0.16434                         
         439684.00    3765465.00        0.16439                      
439689.00    3765465.00        0.16444                         
         439694.00    3765465.00        0.16450                      
439699.00    3765465.00        0.16454                         
         439704.00    3765465.00        0.16459                      
439709.00    3765465.00        0.16464                         
         439714.00    3765465.00        0.16468                      
439719.00    3765465.00        0.16472                         
         439729.00    3765465.00        0.16480                      
439734.00    3765465.00        0.16483                         
         439739.00    3765465.00        0.16487                      
439744.00    3765465.00        0.16490                         
         439749.00    3765465.00        0.16493                      
439789.00    3765465.00        0.16508                         
         439794.00    3765465.00        0.16509                      
439799.00    3765465.00        0.16510                         
         439804.00    3765465.00        0.16511                      
439809.00    3765465.00        0.16511                         
         439814.00    3765465.00        0.16511                      
439819.00    3765465.00        0.16511                         

195

Item D - 1545 of 1893



         439824.00    3765465.00        0.16511                      
439829.00    3765465.00        0.16510                         
         439844.00    3765465.00        0.16507                      
439849.00    3765465.00        0.16505                         
         439854.00    3765465.00        0.16504                      
439859.00    3765465.00        0.16502                         
         439674.00    3765470.00        0.16760                      
439679.00    3765470.00        0.16766                         

196

Item D - 1546 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  61
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765470.00        0.16772                      
439689.00    3765470.00        0.16778                         
         439694.00    3765470.00        0.16783                      
439699.00    3765470.00        0.16788                         
         439704.00    3765470.00        0.16793                      
439709.00    3765470.00        0.16798                         
         439714.00    3765470.00        0.16803                      
439719.00    3765470.00        0.16808                         
         439729.00    3765470.00        0.16816                      
439734.00    3765470.00        0.16820                         
         439739.00    3765470.00        0.16823                      
439744.00    3765470.00        0.16827                         
         439749.00    3765470.00        0.16830                      
439789.00    3765470.00        0.16848                         
         439794.00    3765470.00        0.16849                      
439799.00    3765470.00        0.16850                         
         439804.00    3765470.00        0.16851                      
439809.00    3765470.00        0.16852                         
         439814.00    3765470.00        0.16852                      
439819.00    3765470.00        0.16852                         

197

Item D - 1547 of 1893



         439824.00    3765470.00        0.16852                      
439829.00    3765470.00        0.16852                         
         439844.00    3765470.00        0.16850                      
439849.00    3765470.00        0.16848                         
         439854.00    3765470.00        0.16847                      
439859.00    3765470.00        0.16845                         
         439674.00    3765475.00        0.17105                      
439679.00    3765475.00        0.17112                         
         439684.00    3765475.00        0.17118                      
439689.00    3765475.00        0.17124                         
         439694.00    3765475.00        0.17130                      
439699.00    3765475.00        0.17135                         
         439704.00    3765475.00        0.17141                      
439709.00    3765475.00        0.17146                         
         439714.00    3765475.00        0.17151                      
439719.00    3765475.00        0.17156                         
         439729.00    3765475.00        0.17165                      
439734.00    3765475.00        0.17169                         
         439739.00    3765475.00        0.17173                      
439744.00    3765475.00        0.17177                         
         439749.00    3765475.00        0.17180                      
439754.00    3765475.00        0.17183                         
         439789.00    3765475.00        0.17201                      
439794.00    3765475.00        0.17202                         
         439799.00    3765475.00        0.17204                      
439804.00    3765475.00        0.17205                         
         439809.00    3765475.00        0.17206                      
439814.00    3765475.00        0.17206                         
         439819.00    3765475.00        0.17207                      
439824.00    3765475.00        0.17207                         
         439829.00    3765475.00        0.17207                      
439269.00    3764900.00        0.04488                         
         439369.00    3764900.00        0.04516                      
439469.00    3764900.00        0.04507                         
         439569.00    3764900.00        0.04460                      
439669.00    3764900.00        0.04374                         
         439769.00    3764900.00        0.04249                      
439869.00    3764900.00        0.04083                         
         439969.00    3764900.00        0.03879                      
440069.00    3764900.00        0.03640                         
         440169.00    3764900.00        0.03373                      
440269.00    3764900.00        0.03092                         
         439269.00    3765000.00        0.05238                      
439369.00    3765000.00        0.05292                         
         439469.00    3765000.00        0.05302                      
439569.00    3765000.00        0.05269                         
         439669.00    3765000.00        0.05190                      
439769.00    3765000.00        0.05066                         
         439869.00    3765000.00        0.04892                      
439969.00    3765000.00        0.04668                         
         440069.00    3765000.00        0.04393                      
440169.00    3765000.00        0.04073                         

198

Item D - 1548 of 1893



         440269.00    3765000.00        0.03722                      
439269.00    3765100.00        0.06207                         
         439369.00    3765100.00        0.06294                      
439469.00    3765100.00        0.06330                         
         439569.00    3765100.00        0.06316                      
439669.00    3765100.00        0.06253                         
         439769.00    3765100.00        0.06138                      
439869.00    3765100.00        0.05966                         

199

Item D - 1549 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  62
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439969.00    3765100.00        0.05729                      
440069.00    3765100.00        0.05423                         
         440169.00    3765100.00        0.05045                      
440269.00    3765100.00        0.04607                         
         439269.00    3765200.00        0.07513                      
439369.00    3765200.00        0.07643                         
         439469.00    3765200.00        0.07713                      
439569.00    3765200.00        0.07729                         
         439669.00    3765200.00        0.07692                      
439769.00    3765200.00        0.07598                         
         439869.00    3765200.00        0.07440                      
439969.00    3765200.00        0.07206                         
         440069.00    3765200.00        0.06880                      
440169.00    3765200.00        0.06448                         
         440269.00    3765200.00        0.05907                      
439269.00    3765300.00        0.09375                         
         439369.00    3765300.00        0.09566                      
439469.00    3765300.00        0.09689                         
         439569.00    3765300.00        0.09752                      
439669.00    3765300.00        0.09758                         

200

Item D - 1550 of 1893



         439769.00    3765300.00        0.09703                      
439869.00    3765300.00        0.09579                         
         439969.00    3765300.00        0.09367                      
440069.00    3765300.00        0.09044                         
         440169.00    3765300.00        0.08577                      
440269.00    3765300.00        0.07931                         
         439269.00    3765400.00        0.12284                      
439369.00    3765400.00        0.12577                         
         439469.00    3765400.00        0.12791                      
439569.00    3765400.00        0.12937                         
         439669.00    3765400.00        0.13017                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.13029                         
         439869.00    3765400.00        0.12964                      
439969.00    3765400.00        0.12803                         
         440069.00    3765400.00        0.12517                      
440169.00    3765400.00        0.12053                         
         440269.00    3765400.00        0.11336                      
439269.00    3765500.00        0.17606                         
         439369.00    3765500.00        0.18117                      
439469.00    3765500.00        0.18521                         
         439569.00    3765500.00        0.18830                      
439669.00    3765500.00        0.19049                         
         439769.00    3765500.00        0.19179                      
439869.00    3765500.00        0.19217                         
         439969.00    3765500.00        0.19148                      
440069.00    3765500.00        0.18942                         
         440169.00    3765500.00        0.18542                      
440269.00    3765500.00        0.17836                         
         439269.00    3765600.00        0.31335                      
439369.00    3765600.00        0.32449                         
         439469.00    3765600.00        0.33334                      
439569.00    3765600.00        0.34028                         
         439669.00    3765600.00        0.34548                      
439769.00    3765600.00        0.34917                         
         439869.00    3765600.00        0.35147                      
439969.00    3765600.00        0.35246                         
         440069.00    3765600.00        0.35191                      
440169.00    3765600.00        0.34931                         
         440269.00    3765600.00        0.34361                      
439269.00    3765700.00        1.66725                         
         439369.00    3765700.00        1.74831                      
439469.00    3765700.00        1.82739                         
         439569.00    3765700.00        1.90454                      
439669.00    3765700.00        1.96641                         
         439769.00    3765700.00        2.01278                      
439869.00    3765700.00        2.03652                         
         439969.00    3765700.00        2.05764                      
440069.00    3765700.00        2.07627                         
         440169.00    3765700.00        2.08198                      
440269.00    3765700.00        2.08072                         
         439269.00    3765800.00        0.54859                      
439369.00    3765800.00        0.57719                         

201

Item D - 1551 of 1893



         439469.00    3765800.00        0.59530                      
439569.00    3765800.00        0.60721                         
         439669.00    3765800.00        0.61549                      
439769.00    3765800.00        0.62173                         
         439869.00    3765800.00        0.62640                      
439969.00    3765800.00        0.62970                         
         440069.00    3765800.00        0.63144                      
440169.00    3765800.00        0.63147                         

202

Item D - 1552 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  63
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         440269.00    3765800.00        0.62942                      
439269.00    3765900.00        0.20001                         
         439369.00    3765900.00        0.22948                      
439469.00    3765900.00        0.25167                         
         439569.00    3765900.00        0.26832                      
439669.00    3765900.00        0.28089                         
         439769.00    3765900.00        0.29047                      
439869.00    3765900.00        0.29780                         
         439969.00    3765900.00        0.30332                      
440069.00    3765900.00        0.30727                         
         440169.00    3765900.00        0.30970                      
440269.00    3765900.00        0.31052                         
         439649.00    3765310.00        0.10018                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.10014                         
         439709.00    3765310.00        0.10004                      
439739.00    3765310.00        0.09988                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.09967                      
439799.00    3765310.00        0.09939                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.09904                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.09862                         

203

Item D - 1553 of 1893



         439889.00    3765310.00        0.09813                      
439649.00    3765340.00        0.10866                         
         439679.00    3765340.00        0.10866                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.10862                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.10851                      
439769.00    3765340.00        0.10835                         
         439799.00    3765340.00        0.10812                      
439829.00    3765340.00        0.10782                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.10744                      
439889.00    3765340.00        0.10699                         
         439649.00    3765370.00        0.11849                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.11856                         
         439709.00    3765370.00        0.11858                      
439739.00    3765370.00        0.11854                         
         439769.00    3765370.00        0.11843                      
439799.00    3765370.00        0.11825                         
         439829.00    3765370.00        0.11801                      
439859.00    3765370.00        0.11769                         
         439889.00    3765370.00        0.11728                      
439649.00    3765400.00        0.13006                         
         439679.00    3765400.00        0.13021                      
439709.00    3765400.00        0.13030                         
         439739.00    3765400.00        0.13033                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.13029                         
         439799.00    3765400.00        0.13018                      
439829.00    3765400.00        0.13000                         
         439859.00    3765400.00        0.12974                      
439889.00    3765400.00        0.12940                         
         439649.00    3765430.00        0.14390                      
439679.00    3765430.00        0.14414                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.14432                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.14443                         
         439769.00    3765430.00        0.14447                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.14444                         
         439829.00    3765430.00        0.14434                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.14415                         
         439889.00    3765430.00        0.14388                      
439649.00    3765460.00        0.16078                         
         439679.00    3765460.00        0.16113                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.16141                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.16163                      
439769.00    3765460.00        0.16176                         
         439799.00    3765460.00        0.16183                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.16181                         
         439859.00    3765460.00        0.16171                      
439889.00    3765460.00        0.16152                         
         439649.00    3765490.00        0.18186                      
439679.00    3765490.00        0.18235                         
         439709.00    3765490.00        0.18276                      
439739.00    3765490.00        0.18309                         
         439769.00    3765490.00        0.18335                      
439799.00    3765490.00        0.18352                         

204

Item D - 1554 of 1893



         439829.00    3765490.00        0.18361                      
439859.00    3765490.00        0.18361                         
         439889.00    3765490.00        0.18352                                                                                     

205

Item D - 1555 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  64
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439674.00    3765310.00        0.00319                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.00321                         
         439684.00    3765310.00        0.00322                      
439689.00    3765310.00        0.00324                         
         439694.00    3765310.00        0.00325                      
439699.00    3765310.00        0.00327                         
         439704.00    3765310.00        0.00328                      
439709.00    3765310.00        0.00330                         
         439714.00    3765310.00        0.00331                      
439719.00    3765310.00        0.00333                         
         439729.00    3765310.00        0.00336                      
439734.00    3765310.00        0.00337                         
         439739.00    3765310.00        0.00339                      
439744.00    3765310.00        0.00340                         
         439749.00    3765310.00        0.00342                      
439764.00    3765310.00        0.00346                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.00348                      
439774.00    3765310.00        0.00349                         

206

Item D - 1556 of 1893



         439779.00    3765310.00        0.00351                      
439784.00    3765310.00        0.00352                         
         439789.00    3765310.00        0.00353                      
439794.00    3765310.00        0.00355                         
         439799.00    3765310.00        0.00356                      
439804.00    3765310.00        0.00357                         
         439809.00    3765310.00        0.00358                      
439814.00    3765310.00        0.00360                         
         439819.00    3765310.00        0.00361                      
439824.00    3765310.00        0.00362                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.00363                      
439839.00    3765310.00        0.00365                         
         439844.00    3765310.00        0.00366                      
439849.00    3765310.00        0.00367                         
         439854.00    3765310.00        0.00368                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.00369                         
         439864.00    3765310.00        0.00370                      
439869.00    3765310.00        0.00370                         
         439874.00    3765310.00        0.00371                      
439879.00    3765310.00        0.00372                         
         439884.00    3765310.00        0.00372                      
439674.00    3765315.00        0.00323                         
         439679.00    3765315.00        0.00324                      
439684.00    3765315.00        0.00326                         
         439689.00    3765315.00        0.00328                      
439694.00    3765315.00        0.00329                         
         439699.00    3765315.00        0.00331                      
439704.00    3765315.00        0.00332                         
         439709.00    3765315.00        0.00334                      
439714.00    3765315.00        0.00335                         
         439719.00    3765315.00        0.00337                      
439729.00    3765315.00        0.00340                         
         439734.00    3765315.00        0.00342                      
439739.00    3765315.00        0.00343                         
         439744.00    3765315.00        0.00345                      
439749.00    3765315.00        0.00346                         
         439764.00    3765315.00        0.00351                      
439769.00    3765315.00        0.00352                         
         439774.00    3765315.00        0.00354                      
439779.00    3765315.00        0.00355                         
         439784.00    3765315.00        0.00357                      
439789.00    3765315.00        0.00358                         
         439794.00    3765315.00        0.00360                      
439799.00    3765315.00        0.00361                         
         439804.00    3765315.00        0.00362                      
439809.00    3765315.00        0.00364                         
         439814.00    3765315.00        0.00365                      
439819.00    3765315.00        0.00366                         
         439824.00    3765315.00        0.00367                      
439829.00    3765315.00        0.00368                         
         439839.00    3765315.00        0.00371                      
439844.00    3765315.00        0.00372                         

207

Item D - 1557 of 1893



         439849.00    3765315.00        0.00373                      
439854.00    3765315.00        0.00374                         
         439859.00    3765315.00        0.00375                      
439864.00    3765315.00        0.00375                         
         439869.00    3765315.00        0.00376                      
439874.00    3765315.00        0.00377                         
         439879.00    3765315.00        0.00378                      
439884.00    3765315.00        0.00378                         
         439674.00    3765320.00        0.00327                      
439679.00    3765320.00        0.00328                         

208

Item D - 1558 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  65
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765320.00        0.00330                      
439689.00    3765320.00        0.00331                         
         439694.00    3765320.00        0.00333                      
439699.00    3765320.00        0.00335                         
         439704.00    3765320.00        0.00336                      
439709.00    3765320.00        0.00338                         
         439714.00    3765320.00        0.00339                      
439719.00    3765320.00        0.00341                         
         439729.00    3765320.00        0.00344                      
439734.00    3765320.00        0.00346                         
         439739.00    3765320.00        0.00348                      
439744.00    3765320.00        0.00349                         
         439749.00    3765320.00        0.00351                      
439764.00    3765320.00        0.00355                         
         439769.00    3765320.00        0.00357                      
439774.00    3765320.00        0.00359                         
         439779.00    3765320.00        0.00360                      
439784.00    3765320.00        0.00362                         

209

Item D - 1559 of 1893



         439789.00    3765320.00        0.00363                      
439794.00    3765320.00        0.00365                         
         439799.00    3765320.00        0.00366                      
439804.00    3765320.00        0.00367                         
         439809.00    3765320.00        0.00369                      
439814.00    3765320.00        0.00370                         
         439819.00    3765320.00        0.00371                      
439824.00    3765320.00        0.00373                         
         439829.00    3765320.00        0.00374                      
439839.00    3765320.00        0.00376                         
         439844.00    3765320.00        0.00377                      
439849.00    3765320.00        0.00378                         
         439854.00    3765320.00        0.00379                      
439859.00    3765320.00        0.00380                         
         439864.00    3765320.00        0.00381                      
439869.00    3765320.00        0.00382                         
         439874.00    3765320.00        0.00383                      
439879.00    3765320.00        0.00384                         
         439884.00    3765320.00        0.00384                      
439674.00    3765325.00        0.00330                         
         439679.00    3765325.00        0.00332                      
439684.00    3765325.00        0.00334                         
         439689.00    3765325.00        0.00335                      
439694.00    3765325.00        0.00337                         
         439699.00    3765325.00        0.00339                      
439704.00    3765325.00        0.00340                         
         439709.00    3765325.00        0.00342                      
439714.00    3765325.00        0.00344                         
         439719.00    3765325.00        0.00345                      
439729.00    3765325.00        0.00349                         
         439734.00    3765325.00        0.00350                      
439739.00    3765325.00        0.00352                         
         439744.00    3765325.00        0.00354                      
439749.00    3765325.00        0.00355                         
         439754.00    3765325.00        0.00357                      
439769.00    3765325.00        0.00362                         
         439774.00    3765325.00        0.00363                      
439779.00    3765325.00        0.00365                         
         439784.00    3765325.00        0.00367                      
439789.00    3765325.00        0.00368                         
         439794.00    3765325.00        0.00370                      
439799.00    3765325.00        0.00371                         
         439804.00    3765325.00        0.00373                      
439809.00    3765325.00        0.00374                         
         439814.00    3765325.00        0.00376                      
439819.00    3765325.00        0.00377                         
         439824.00    3765325.00        0.00378                      
439829.00    3765325.00        0.00380                         
         439839.00    3765325.00        0.00382                      
439844.00    3765325.00        0.00383                         
         439849.00    3765325.00        0.00384                      
439854.00    3765325.00        0.00385                         

210

Item D - 1560 of 1893



         439859.00    3765325.00        0.00386                      
439864.00    3765325.00        0.00387                         
         439869.00    3765325.00        0.00388                      
439874.00    3765325.00        0.00389                         
         439879.00    3765325.00        0.00390                      
439884.00    3765325.00        0.00391                         
         439674.00    3765330.00        0.00334                      
439679.00    3765330.00        0.00336                         
         439684.00    3765330.00        0.00338                      
439689.00    3765330.00        0.00339                         

211

Item D - 1561 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  66
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439694.00    3765330.00        0.00341                      
439699.00    3765330.00        0.00343                         
         439704.00    3765330.00        0.00344                      
439709.00    3765330.00        0.00346                         
         439714.00    3765330.00        0.00348                      
439719.00    3765330.00        0.00350                         
         439729.00    3765330.00        0.00353                      
439734.00    3765330.00        0.00355                         
         439739.00    3765330.00        0.00356                      
439744.00    3765330.00        0.00358                         
         439749.00    3765330.00        0.00360                      
439754.00    3765330.00        0.00362                         
         439774.00    3765330.00        0.00368                      
439779.00    3765330.00        0.00370                         
         439784.00    3765330.00        0.00372                      
439789.00    3765330.00        0.00373                         
         439794.00    3765330.00        0.00375                      
439799.00    3765330.00        0.00377                         

212

Item D - 1562 of 1893



         439804.00    3765330.00        0.00378                      
439809.00    3765330.00        0.00380                         
         439814.00    3765330.00        0.00381                      
439819.00    3765330.00        0.00383                         
         439824.00    3765330.00        0.00384                      
439829.00    3765330.00        0.00385                         
         439839.00    3765330.00        0.00388                      
439844.00    3765330.00        0.00389                         
         439849.00    3765330.00        0.00390                      
439854.00    3765330.00        0.00392                         
         439859.00    3765330.00        0.00393                      
439864.00    3765330.00        0.00394                         
         439869.00    3765330.00        0.00395                      
439874.00    3765330.00        0.00396                         
         439879.00    3765330.00        0.00396                      
439884.00    3765330.00        0.00397                         
         439674.00    3765335.00        0.00338                      
439679.00    3765335.00        0.00340                         
         439684.00    3765335.00        0.00342                      
439689.00    3765335.00        0.00343                         
         439694.00    3765335.00        0.00345                      
439699.00    3765335.00        0.00347                         
         439704.00    3765335.00        0.00349                      
439709.00    3765335.00        0.00350                         
         439714.00    3765335.00        0.00352                      
439719.00    3765335.00        0.00354                         
         439729.00    3765335.00        0.00357                      
439734.00    3765335.00        0.00359                         
         439739.00    3765335.00        0.00361                      
439744.00    3765335.00        0.00363                         
         439749.00    3765335.00        0.00365                      
439774.00    3765335.00        0.00373                         
         439779.00    3765335.00        0.00375                      
439784.00    3765335.00        0.00377                         
         439789.00    3765335.00        0.00379                      
439794.00    3765335.00        0.00380                         
         439839.00    3765335.00        0.00394                      
439844.00    3765335.00        0.00395                         
         439849.00    3765335.00        0.00397                      
439854.00    3765335.00        0.00398                         
         439859.00    3765335.00        0.00399                      
439864.00    3765335.00        0.00400                         
         439869.00    3765335.00        0.00401                      
439874.00    3765335.00        0.00402                         
         439879.00    3765335.00        0.00403                      
439884.00    3765335.00        0.00404                         
         439674.00    3765340.00        0.00342                      
439679.00    3765340.00        0.00344                         
         439684.00    3765340.00        0.00346                      
439689.00    3765340.00        0.00348                         
         439694.00    3765340.00        0.00349                      
439699.00    3765340.00        0.00351                         

213

Item D - 1563 of 1893



         439704.00    3765340.00        0.00353                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.00355                         
         439714.00    3765340.00        0.00356                      
439719.00    3765340.00        0.00358                         
         439729.00    3765340.00        0.00362                      
439734.00    3765340.00        0.00364                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.00366                      
439744.00    3765340.00        0.00368                         
         439749.00    3765340.00        0.00369                      
439774.00    3765340.00        0.00379                         

214

Item D - 1564 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  67
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439779.00    3765340.00        0.00380                      
439784.00    3765340.00        0.00382                         
         439789.00    3765340.00        0.00384                      
439794.00    3765340.00        0.00386                         
         439839.00    3765340.00        0.00400                      
439844.00    3765340.00        0.00402                         
         439849.00    3765340.00        0.00403                      
439854.00    3765340.00        0.00404                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.00405                      
439864.00    3765340.00        0.00407                         
         439869.00    3765340.00        0.00408                      
439874.00    3765340.00        0.00409                         
         439879.00    3765340.00        0.00410                      
439884.00    3765340.00        0.00411                         
         439674.00    3765345.00        0.00346                      
439679.00    3765345.00        0.00348                         
         439684.00    3765345.00        0.00350                      
439689.00    3765345.00        0.00352                         

215

Item D - 1565 of 1893



         439694.00    3765345.00        0.00354                      
439699.00    3765345.00        0.00355                         
         439704.00    3765345.00        0.00357                      
439709.00    3765345.00        0.00359                         
         439714.00    3765345.00        0.00361                      
439719.00    3765345.00        0.00363                         
         439729.00    3765345.00        0.00367                      
439734.00    3765345.00        0.00368                         
         439739.00    3765345.00        0.00370                      
439744.00    3765345.00        0.00372                         
         439749.00    3765345.00        0.00374                      
439774.00    3765345.00        0.00384                         
         439779.00    3765345.00        0.00386                      
439784.00    3765345.00        0.00388                         
         439789.00    3765345.00        0.00389                      
439794.00    3765345.00        0.00391                         
         439839.00    3765345.00        0.00406                      
439844.00    3765345.00        0.00408                         
         439849.00    3765345.00        0.00409                      
439854.00    3765345.00        0.00411                         
         439859.00    3765345.00        0.00412                      
439864.00    3765345.00        0.00413                         
         439869.00    3765345.00        0.00415                      
439874.00    3765345.00        0.00416                         
         439879.00    3765345.00        0.00417                      
439884.00    3765345.00        0.00418                         
         439674.00    3765350.00        0.00351                      
439679.00    3765350.00        0.00352                         
         439684.00    3765350.00        0.00354                      
439689.00    3765350.00        0.00356                         
         439694.00    3765350.00        0.00358                      
439699.00    3765350.00        0.00360                         
         439704.00    3765350.00        0.00362                      
439709.00    3765350.00        0.00364                         
         439714.00    3765350.00        0.00365                      
439719.00    3765350.00        0.00367                         
         439729.00    3765350.00        0.00371                      
439734.00    3765350.00        0.00373                         
         439739.00    3765350.00        0.00375                      
439744.00    3765350.00        0.00377                         
         439749.00    3765350.00        0.00379                      
439774.00    3765350.00        0.00389                         
         439779.00    3765350.00        0.00391                      
439784.00    3765350.00        0.00393                         
         439789.00    3765350.00        0.00395                      
439794.00    3765350.00        0.00397                         
         439839.00    3765350.00        0.00413                      
439844.00    3765350.00        0.00414                         
         439849.00    3765350.00        0.00416                      
439854.00    3765350.00        0.00417                         
         439859.00    3765350.00        0.00419                      
439864.00    3765350.00        0.00420                         

216

Item D - 1566 of 1893



         439869.00    3765350.00        0.00422                      
439874.00    3765350.00        0.00423                         
         439879.00    3765350.00        0.00424                      
439884.00    3765350.00        0.00425                         
         439674.00    3765355.00        0.00355                      
439679.00    3765355.00        0.00357                         
         439684.00    3765355.00        0.00359                      
439689.00    3765355.00        0.00360                         
         439694.00    3765355.00        0.00362                      
439699.00    3765355.00        0.00364                         

217

Item D - 1567 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  68
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439704.00    3765355.00        0.00366                      
439709.00    3765355.00        0.00368                         
         439714.00    3765355.00        0.00370                      
439719.00    3765355.00        0.00372                         
         439729.00    3765355.00        0.00376                      
439734.00    3765355.00        0.00378                         
         439739.00    3765355.00        0.00380                      
439744.00    3765355.00        0.00382                         
         439749.00    3765355.00        0.00384                      
439774.00    3765355.00        0.00394                         
         439779.00    3765355.00        0.00397                      
439784.00    3765355.00        0.00399                         
         439789.00    3765355.00        0.00401                      
439794.00    3765355.00        0.00403                         
         439839.00    3765355.00        0.00419                      
439844.00    3765355.00        0.00421                         
         439849.00    3765355.00        0.00423                      
439854.00    3765355.00        0.00424                         

218

Item D - 1568 of 1893



         439859.00    3765355.00        0.00426                      
439864.00    3765355.00        0.00427                         
         439869.00    3765355.00        0.00429                      
439874.00    3765355.00        0.00430                         
         439879.00    3765355.00        0.00431                      
439884.00    3765355.00        0.00432                         
         439674.00    3765360.00        0.00359                      
439679.00    3765360.00        0.00361                         
         439684.00    3765360.00        0.00363                      
439689.00    3765360.00        0.00365                         
         439694.00    3765360.00        0.00367                      
439699.00    3765360.00        0.00369                         
         439704.00    3765360.00        0.00371                      
439709.00    3765360.00        0.00373                         
         439714.00    3765360.00        0.00375                      
439719.00    3765360.00        0.00377                         
         439729.00    3765360.00        0.00381                      
439734.00    3765360.00        0.00383                         
         439739.00    3765360.00        0.00385                      
439744.00    3765360.00        0.00387                         
         439749.00    3765360.00        0.00389                      
439774.00    3765360.00        0.00400                         
         439779.00    3765360.00        0.00402                      
439784.00    3765360.00        0.00404                         
         439789.00    3765360.00        0.00406                      
439794.00    3765360.00        0.00408                         
         439799.00    3765360.00        0.00411                      
439804.00    3765360.00        0.00413                         
         439809.00    3765360.00        0.00415                      
439814.00    3765360.00        0.00417                         
         439839.00    3765360.00        0.00426                      
439844.00    3765360.00        0.00428                         
         439849.00    3765360.00        0.00430                      
439854.00    3765360.00        0.00431                         
         439859.00    3765360.00        0.00433                      
439864.00    3765360.00        0.00434                         
         439869.00    3765360.00        0.00436                      
439874.00    3765360.00        0.00437                         
         439879.00    3765360.00        0.00439                      
439884.00    3765360.00        0.00440                         
         439674.00    3765365.00        0.00364                      
439679.00    3765365.00        0.00365                         
         439684.00    3765365.00        0.00367                      
439689.00    3765365.00        0.00369                         
         439694.00    3765365.00        0.00371                      
439699.00    3765365.00        0.00373                         
         439704.00    3765365.00        0.00375                      
439709.00    3765365.00        0.00377                         
         439714.00    3765365.00        0.00379                      
439719.00    3765365.00        0.00382                         
         439729.00    3765365.00        0.00386                      
439734.00    3765365.00        0.00388                         

219

Item D - 1569 of 1893



         439739.00    3765365.00        0.00390                      
439744.00    3765365.00        0.00392                         
         439749.00    3765365.00        0.00394                      
439774.00    3765365.00        0.00406                         
         439779.00    3765365.00        0.00408                      
439784.00    3765365.00        0.00410                         
         439789.00    3765365.00        0.00412                      
439794.00    3765365.00        0.00414                         
         439799.00    3765365.00        0.00417                      
439804.00    3765365.00        0.00419                         

220

Item D - 1570 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  69
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765365.00        0.00421                      
439814.00    3765365.00        0.00423                         
         439839.00    3765365.00        0.00433                      
439844.00    3765365.00        0.00435                         
         439849.00    3765365.00        0.00437                      
439854.00    3765365.00        0.00439                         
         439859.00    3765365.00        0.00440                      
439864.00    3765365.00        0.00442                         
         439869.00    3765365.00        0.00443                      
439874.00    3765365.00        0.00445                         
         439879.00    3765365.00        0.00446                      
439884.00    3765365.00        0.00448                         
         439674.00    3765370.00        0.00368                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.00370                         
         439684.00    3765370.00        0.00372                      
439689.00    3765370.00        0.00374                         
         439694.00    3765370.00        0.00376                      
439699.00    3765370.00        0.00378                         

221

Item D - 1571 of 1893



         439704.00    3765370.00        0.00380                      
439709.00    3765370.00        0.00382                         
         439714.00    3765370.00        0.00384                      
439719.00    3765370.00        0.00386                         
         439729.00    3765370.00        0.00391                      
439734.00    3765370.00        0.00393                         
         439739.00    3765370.00        0.00395                      
439744.00    3765370.00        0.00397                         
         439749.00    3765370.00        0.00400                      
439774.00    3765370.00        0.00411                         
         439779.00    3765370.00        0.00414                      
439784.00    3765370.00        0.00416                         
         439789.00    3765370.00        0.00418                      
439794.00    3765370.00        0.00420                         
         439799.00    3765370.00        0.00423                      
439804.00    3765370.00        0.00425                         
         439809.00    3765370.00        0.00427                      
439814.00    3765370.00        0.00429                         
         439839.00    3765370.00        0.00440                      
439844.00    3765370.00        0.00442                         
         439849.00    3765370.00        0.00444                      
439854.00    3765370.00        0.00446                         
         439859.00    3765370.00        0.00448                      
439864.00    3765370.00        0.00449                         
         439869.00    3765370.00        0.00451                      
439874.00    3765370.00        0.00453                         
         439879.00    3765370.00        0.00454                      
439884.00    3765370.00        0.00456                         
         439674.00    3765375.00        0.00373                      
439679.00    3765375.00        0.00375                         
         439684.00    3765375.00        0.00377                      
439689.00    3765375.00        0.00379                         
         439694.00    3765375.00        0.00381                      
439699.00    3765375.00        0.00383                         
         439704.00    3765375.00        0.00385                      
439709.00    3765375.00        0.00387                         
         439714.00    3765375.00        0.00389                      
439719.00    3765375.00        0.00391                         
         439729.00    3765375.00        0.00396                      
439734.00    3765375.00        0.00398                         
         439739.00    3765375.00        0.00400                      
439744.00    3765375.00        0.00403                         
         439749.00    3765375.00        0.00405                      
439754.00    3765375.00        0.00407                         
         439774.00    3765375.00        0.00417                      
439779.00    3765375.00        0.00419                         
         439784.00    3765375.00        0.00422                      
439789.00    3765375.00        0.00424                         
         439794.00    3765375.00        0.00427                      
439799.00    3765375.00        0.00429                         
         439804.00    3765375.00        0.00431                      
439809.00    3765375.00        0.00434                         

222

Item D - 1572 of 1893



         439814.00    3765375.00        0.00436                      
439839.00    3765375.00        0.00447                         
         439844.00    3765375.00        0.00449                      
439849.00    3765375.00        0.00451                         
         439854.00    3765375.00        0.00453                      
439859.00    3765375.00        0.00455                         
         439864.00    3765375.00        0.00457                      
439869.00    3765375.00        0.00459                         
         439874.00    3765375.00        0.00461                      
439879.00    3765375.00        0.00462                         

223

Item D - 1573 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  70
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439884.00    3765375.00        0.00464                      
439774.00    3765380.00        0.00423                         
         439779.00    3765380.00        0.00425                      
439784.00    3765380.00        0.00428                         
         439789.00    3765380.00        0.00430                      
439794.00    3765380.00        0.00433                         
         439799.00    3765380.00        0.00435                      
439804.00    3765380.00        0.00438                         
         439809.00    3765380.00        0.00440                      
439814.00    3765380.00        0.00443                         
         439769.00    3765385.00        0.00426                      
439819.00    3765385.00        0.00452                         
         439769.00    3765400.00        0.00445                      
439844.00    3765400.00        0.00488                         
         439849.00    3765400.00        0.00491                      
439674.00    3765405.00        0.00402                         
         439714.00    3765405.00        0.00421                      
439719.00    3765405.00        0.00423                         

224

Item D - 1574 of 1893



         439734.00    3765405.00        0.00431                      
439749.00    3765405.00        0.00439                         
         439754.00    3765405.00        0.00442                      
439774.00    3765405.00        0.00454                         
         439779.00    3765405.00        0.00457                      
439784.00    3765405.00        0.00460                         
         439789.00    3765405.00        0.00463                      
439794.00    3765405.00        0.00466                         
         439799.00    3765405.00        0.00469                      
439804.00    3765405.00        0.00472                         
         439809.00    3765405.00        0.00476                      
439814.00    3765405.00        0.00479                         
         439819.00    3765405.00        0.00482                      
439824.00    3765405.00        0.00485                         
         439829.00    3765405.00        0.00488                      
439834.00    3765405.00        0.00491                         
         439839.00    3765405.00        0.00494                      
439844.00    3765405.00        0.00497                         
         439849.00    3765405.00        0.00500                      
439854.00    3765405.00        0.00503                         
         439859.00    3765405.00        0.00505                      
439674.00    3765410.00        0.00408                         
         439679.00    3765410.00        0.00410                      
439684.00    3765410.00        0.00412                         
         439689.00    3765410.00        0.00414                      
439694.00    3765410.00        0.00417                         
         439699.00    3765410.00        0.00419                      
439704.00    3765410.00        0.00421                         
         439709.00    3765410.00        0.00424                      
439714.00    3765410.00        0.00426                         
         439719.00    3765410.00        0.00429                      
439729.00    3765410.00        0.00434                         
         439734.00    3765410.00        0.00437                      
439739.00    3765410.00        0.00440                         
         439744.00    3765410.00        0.00443                      
439749.00    3765410.00        0.00446                         
         439774.00    3765410.00        0.00461                      
439779.00    3765410.00        0.00464                         
         439784.00    3765410.00        0.00467                      
439789.00    3765410.00        0.00470                         
         439794.00    3765410.00        0.00473                      
439799.00    3765410.00        0.00477                         
         439804.00    3765410.00        0.00480                      
439809.00    3765410.00        0.00483                         
         439814.00    3765410.00        0.00486                      
439819.00    3765410.00        0.00490                         
         439824.00    3765410.00        0.00493                      
439829.00    3765410.00        0.00496                         
         439834.00    3765410.00        0.00499                      
439839.00    3765410.00        0.00502                         
         439844.00    3765410.00        0.00505                      
439849.00    3765410.00        0.00509                         

225

Item D - 1575 of 1893



         439854.00    3765410.00        0.00512                      
439859.00    3765410.00        0.00515                         
         439674.00    3765415.00        0.00413                      
439679.00    3765415.00        0.00415                         
         439684.00    3765415.00        0.00418                      
439689.00    3765415.00        0.00420                         
         439694.00    3765415.00        0.00422                      
439699.00    3765415.00        0.00425                         
         439704.00    3765415.00        0.00427                      
439709.00    3765415.00        0.00430                         

226

Item D - 1576 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  71
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439714.00    3765415.00        0.00432                      
439719.00    3765415.00        0.00435                         
         439729.00    3765415.00        0.00440                      
439734.00    3765415.00        0.00443                         
         439739.00    3765415.00        0.00446                      
439744.00    3765415.00        0.00449                         
         439749.00    3765415.00        0.00452                      
439774.00    3765415.00        0.00467                         
         439779.00    3765415.00        0.00471                      
439784.00    3765415.00        0.00474                         
         439789.00    3765415.00        0.00477                      
439794.00    3765415.00        0.00481                         
         439799.00    3765415.00        0.00484                      
439804.00    3765415.00        0.00487                         
         439809.00    3765415.00        0.00491                      
439814.00    3765415.00        0.00494                         
         439819.00    3765415.00        0.00498                      
439824.00    3765415.00        0.00501                         

227

Item D - 1577 of 1893



         439829.00    3765415.00        0.00504                      
439834.00    3765415.00        0.00508                         
         439839.00    3765415.00        0.00511                      
439844.00    3765415.00        0.00514                         
         439849.00    3765415.00        0.00518                      
439854.00    3765415.00        0.00521                         
         439859.00    3765415.00        0.00524                      
439674.00    3765420.00        0.00419                         
         439679.00    3765420.00        0.00421                      
439684.00    3765420.00        0.00423                         
         439689.00    3765420.00        0.00426                      
439694.00    3765420.00        0.00428                         
         439699.00    3765420.00        0.00430                      
439704.00    3765420.00        0.00433                         
         439709.00    3765420.00        0.00435                      
439714.00    3765420.00        0.00438                         
         439719.00    3765420.00        0.00441                      
439729.00    3765420.00        0.00446                         
         439734.00    3765420.00        0.00449                      
439739.00    3765420.00        0.00452                         
         439744.00    3765420.00        0.00455                      
439749.00    3765420.00        0.00458                         
         439774.00    3765420.00        0.00474                      
439779.00    3765420.00        0.00478                         
         439784.00    3765420.00        0.00481                      
439789.00    3765420.00        0.00484                         
         439794.00    3765420.00        0.00488                      
439799.00    3765420.00        0.00491                         
         439804.00    3765420.00        0.00495                      
439809.00    3765420.00        0.00498                         
         439814.00    3765420.00        0.00502                      
439819.00    3765420.00        0.00506                         
         439824.00    3765420.00        0.00509                      
439829.00    3765420.00        0.00513                         
         439834.00    3765420.00        0.00516                      
439839.00    3765420.00        0.00520                         
         439844.00    3765420.00        0.00523                      
439849.00    3765420.00        0.00527                         
         439854.00    3765420.00        0.00530                      
439859.00    3765420.00        0.00533                         
         439674.00    3765425.00        0.00424                      
439679.00    3765425.00        0.00427                         
         439684.00    3765425.00        0.00429                      
439689.00    3765425.00        0.00431                         
         439694.00    3765425.00        0.00434                      
439699.00    3765425.00        0.00436                         
         439704.00    3765425.00        0.00439                      
439709.00    3765425.00        0.00441                         
         439714.00    3765425.00        0.00444                      
439719.00    3765425.00        0.00447                         
         439729.00    3765425.00        0.00453                      
439734.00    3765425.00        0.00455                         

228

Item D - 1578 of 1893



         439739.00    3765425.00        0.00458                      
439744.00    3765425.00        0.00461                         
         439749.00    3765425.00        0.00465                      
439774.00    3765425.00        0.00481                         
         439779.00    3765425.00        0.00485                      
439784.00    3765425.00        0.00488                         
         439789.00    3765425.00        0.00492                      
439794.00    3765425.00        0.00495                         
         439799.00    3765425.00        0.00499                      
439804.00    3765425.00        0.00503                         

229

Item D - 1579 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  72
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765425.00        0.00506                      
439814.00    3765425.00        0.00510                         
         439819.00    3765425.00        0.00514                      
439824.00    3765425.00        0.00518                         
         439829.00    3765425.00        0.00521                      
439834.00    3765425.00        0.00525                         
         439839.00    3765425.00        0.00529                      
439844.00    3765425.00        0.00533                         
         439849.00    3765425.00        0.00536                      
439854.00    3765425.00        0.00540                         
         439859.00    3765425.00        0.00543                      
439674.00    3765430.00        0.00430                         
         439679.00    3765430.00        0.00433                      
439684.00    3765430.00        0.00435                         
         439689.00    3765430.00        0.00437                      
439694.00    3765430.00        0.00440                         
         439699.00    3765430.00        0.00442                      
439704.00    3765430.00        0.00445                         

230

Item D - 1580 of 1893



         439709.00    3765430.00        0.00448                      
439714.00    3765430.00        0.00450                         
         439719.00    3765430.00        0.00453                      
439729.00    3765430.00        0.00459                         
         439734.00    3765430.00        0.00462                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.00465                         
         439744.00    3765430.00        0.00468                      
439749.00    3765430.00        0.00471                         
         439774.00    3765430.00        0.00488                      
439779.00    3765430.00        0.00492                         
         439784.00    3765430.00        0.00496                      
439789.00    3765430.00        0.00499                         
         439794.00    3765430.00        0.00503                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.00507                         
         439804.00    3765430.00        0.00511                      
439809.00    3765430.00        0.00515                         
         439814.00    3765430.00        0.00519                      
439819.00    3765430.00        0.00522                         
         439824.00    3765430.00        0.00526                      
439829.00    3765430.00        0.00530                         
         439834.00    3765430.00        0.00534                      
439839.00    3765430.00        0.00538                         
         439844.00    3765430.00        0.00542                      
439849.00    3765430.00        0.00546                         
         439854.00    3765430.00        0.00550                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.00553                         
         439674.00    3765435.00        0.00436                      
439679.00    3765435.00        0.00439                         
         439684.00    3765435.00        0.00441                      
439689.00    3765435.00        0.00443                         
         439694.00    3765435.00        0.00446                      
439699.00    3765435.00        0.00449                         
         439704.00    3765435.00        0.00451                      
439709.00    3765435.00        0.00454                         
         439714.00    3765435.00        0.00457                      
439719.00    3765435.00        0.00459                         
         439729.00    3765435.00        0.00465                      
439734.00    3765435.00        0.00468                         
         439739.00    3765435.00        0.00471                      
439744.00    3765435.00        0.00475                         
         439749.00    3765435.00        0.00478                      
439774.00    3765435.00        0.00496                         
         439779.00    3765435.00        0.00499                      
439784.00    3765435.00        0.00503                         
         439789.00    3765435.00        0.00507                      
439794.00    3765435.00        0.00511                         
         439799.00    3765435.00        0.00515                      
439804.00    3765435.00        0.00519                         
         439809.00    3765435.00        0.00523                      
439814.00    3765435.00        0.00527                         
         439819.00    3765435.00        0.00531                      
439824.00    3765435.00        0.00535                         

231

Item D - 1581 of 1893



         439829.00    3765435.00        0.00539                      
439834.00    3765435.00        0.00544                         
         439839.00    3765435.00        0.00548                      
439844.00    3765435.00        0.00552                         
         439849.00    3765435.00        0.00556                      
439854.00    3765435.00        0.00560                         
         439859.00    3765435.00        0.00564                      
439674.00    3765440.00        0.00443                         
         439679.00    3765440.00        0.00445                      
439684.00    3765440.00        0.00447                         

232

Item D - 1582 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  73
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439689.00    3765440.00        0.00450                      
439694.00    3765440.00        0.00452                         
         439699.00    3765440.00        0.00455                      
439704.00    3765440.00        0.00458                         
         439709.00    3765440.00        0.00460                      
439714.00    3765440.00        0.00463                         
         439719.00    3765440.00        0.00466                      
439729.00    3765440.00        0.00472                         
         439734.00    3765440.00        0.00475                      
439739.00    3765440.00        0.00478                         
         439744.00    3765440.00        0.00482                      
439749.00    3765440.00        0.00485                         
         439774.00    3765440.00        0.00503                      
439779.00    3765440.00        0.00507                         
         439784.00    3765440.00        0.00511                      
439789.00    3765440.00        0.00515                         
         439794.00    3765440.00        0.00519                      
439799.00    3765440.00        0.00523                         

233

Item D - 1583 of 1893



         439804.00    3765440.00        0.00527                      
439809.00    3765440.00        0.00531                         
         439814.00    3765440.00        0.00536                      
439819.00    3765440.00        0.00540                         
         439824.00    3765440.00        0.00544                      
439829.00    3765440.00        0.00549                         
         439834.00    3765440.00        0.00553                      
439839.00    3765440.00        0.00557                         
         439844.00    3765440.00        0.00562                      
439849.00    3765440.00        0.00566                         
         439854.00    3765440.00        0.00570                      
439859.00    3765440.00        0.00575                         
         439674.00    3765445.00        0.00449                      
439679.00    3765445.00        0.00451                         
         439684.00    3765445.00        0.00454                      
439689.00    3765445.00        0.00456                         
         439694.00    3765445.00        0.00459                      
439699.00    3765445.00        0.00461                         
         439704.00    3765445.00        0.00464                      
439709.00    3765445.00        0.00467                         
         439714.00    3765445.00        0.00470                      
439719.00    3765445.00        0.00473                         
         439729.00    3765445.00        0.00479                      
439734.00    3765445.00        0.00482                         
         439739.00    3765445.00        0.00485                      
439744.00    3765445.00        0.00489                         
         439749.00    3765445.00        0.00492                      
439774.00    3765445.00        0.00511                         
         439779.00    3765445.00        0.00515                      
439784.00    3765445.00        0.00519                         
         439789.00    3765445.00        0.00523                      
439794.00    3765445.00        0.00527                         
         439799.00    3765445.00        0.00531                      
439804.00    3765445.00        0.00536                         
         439809.00    3765445.00        0.00540                      
439814.00    3765445.00        0.00545                         
         439819.00    3765445.00        0.00549                      
439824.00    3765445.00        0.00554                         
         439829.00    3765445.00        0.00558                      
439834.00    3765445.00        0.00563                         
         439839.00    3765445.00        0.00567                      
439844.00    3765445.00        0.00572                         
         439849.00    3765445.00        0.00577                      
439854.00    3765445.00        0.00581                         
         439859.00    3765445.00        0.00586                      
439674.00    3765450.00        0.00456                         
         439679.00    3765450.00        0.00458                      
439684.00    3765450.00        0.00460                         
         439689.00    3765450.00        0.00463                      
439694.00    3765450.00        0.00465                         
         439699.00    3765450.00        0.00468                      
439704.00    3765450.00        0.00471                         

234

Item D - 1584 of 1893



         439709.00    3765450.00        0.00474                      
439714.00    3765450.00        0.00476                         
         439719.00    3765450.00        0.00479                      
439729.00    3765450.00        0.00486                         
         439734.00    3765450.00        0.00489                      
439739.00    3765450.00        0.00492                         
         439744.00    3765450.00        0.00496                      
439749.00    3765450.00        0.00499                         
         439774.00    3765450.00        0.00518                      
439844.00    3765450.00        0.00582                         

235

Item D - 1585 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  74
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439849.00    3765450.00        0.00587                      
439854.00    3765450.00        0.00592                         
         439859.00    3765450.00        0.00597                      
439674.00    3765455.00        0.00462                         
         439679.00    3765455.00        0.00465                      
439684.00    3765455.00        0.00467                         
         439689.00    3765455.00        0.00470                      
439694.00    3765455.00        0.00472                         
         439699.00    3765455.00        0.00475                      
439704.00    3765455.00        0.00478                         
         439709.00    3765455.00        0.00481                      
439714.00    3765455.00        0.00483                         
         439719.00    3765455.00        0.00486                      
439729.00    3765455.00        0.00493                         
         439734.00    3765455.00        0.00496                      
439739.00    3765455.00        0.00499                         
         439744.00    3765455.00        0.00503                      
439749.00    3765455.00        0.00507                         

236

Item D - 1586 of 1893



         439844.00    3765455.00        0.00593                      
439849.00    3765455.00        0.00598                         
         439854.00    3765455.00        0.00603                      
439859.00    3765455.00        0.00608                         
         439674.00    3765460.00        0.00469                      
439679.00    3765460.00        0.00472                         
         439684.00    3765460.00        0.00474                      
439689.00    3765460.00        0.00477                         
         439694.00    3765460.00        0.00479                      
439699.00    3765460.00        0.00482                         
         439704.00    3765460.00        0.00485                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.00488                         
         439714.00    3765460.00        0.00491                      
439719.00    3765460.00        0.00494                         
         439729.00    3765460.00        0.00500                      
439734.00    3765460.00        0.00503                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.00507                      
439744.00    3765460.00        0.00510                         
         439749.00    3765460.00        0.00514                      
439789.00    3765460.00        0.00548                         
         439794.00    3765460.00        0.00552                      
439799.00    3765460.00        0.00557                         
         439804.00    3765460.00        0.00562                      
439809.00    3765460.00        0.00567                         
         439814.00    3765460.00        0.00572                      
439819.00    3765460.00        0.00578                         
         439824.00    3765460.00        0.00583                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.00588                         
         439844.00    3765460.00        0.00604                      
439849.00    3765460.00        0.00610                         
         439854.00    3765460.00        0.00615                      
439859.00    3765460.00        0.00620                         
         439674.00    3765465.00        0.00477                      
439679.00    3765465.00        0.00479                         
         439684.00    3765465.00        0.00481                      
439689.00    3765465.00        0.00484                         
         439694.00    3765465.00        0.00487                      
439699.00    3765465.00        0.00489                         
         439704.00    3765465.00        0.00492                      
439709.00    3765465.00        0.00495                         
         439714.00    3765465.00        0.00498                      
439719.00    3765465.00        0.00501                         
         439729.00    3765465.00        0.00508                      
439734.00    3765465.00        0.00511                         
         439739.00    3765465.00        0.00515                      
439744.00    3765465.00        0.00518                         
         439749.00    3765465.00        0.00522                      
439789.00    3765465.00        0.00556                         
         439794.00    3765465.00        0.00561                      
439799.00    3765465.00        0.00566                         
         439804.00    3765465.00        0.00571                      
439809.00    3765465.00        0.00577                         

237

Item D - 1587 of 1893



         439814.00    3765465.00        0.00582                      
439819.00    3765465.00        0.00587                         
         439824.00    3765465.00        0.00593                      
439829.00    3765465.00        0.00599                         
         439844.00    3765465.00        0.00616                      
439849.00    3765465.00        0.00621                         
         439854.00    3765465.00        0.00627                      
439859.00    3765465.00        0.00633                         
         439674.00    3765470.00        0.00484                      
439679.00    3765470.00        0.00487                         

238

Item D - 1588 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  75
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765470.00        0.00489                      
439689.00    3765470.00        0.00492                         
         439694.00    3765470.00        0.00494                      
439699.00    3765470.00        0.00497                         
         439704.00    3765470.00        0.00500                      
439709.00    3765470.00        0.00503                         
         439714.00    3765470.00        0.00506                      
439719.00    3765470.00        0.00509                         
         439729.00    3765470.00        0.00515                      
439734.00    3765470.00        0.00519                         
         439739.00    3765470.00        0.00522                      
439744.00    3765470.00        0.00526                         
         439749.00    3765470.00        0.00530                      
439789.00    3765470.00        0.00565                         
         439794.00    3765470.00        0.00570                      
439799.00    3765470.00        0.00576                         
         439804.00    3765470.00        0.00581                      
439809.00    3765470.00        0.00586                         

239

Item D - 1589 of 1893



         439814.00    3765470.00        0.00592                      
439819.00    3765470.00        0.00598                         
         439824.00    3765470.00        0.00603                      
439829.00    3765470.00        0.00609                         
         439844.00    3765470.00        0.00627                      
439849.00    3765470.00        0.00633                         
         439854.00    3765470.00        0.00639                      
439859.00    3765470.00        0.00645                         
         439674.00    3765475.00        0.00492                      
439679.00    3765475.00        0.00494                         
         439684.00    3765475.00        0.00497                      
439689.00    3765475.00        0.00499                         
         439694.00    3765475.00        0.00502                      
439699.00    3765475.00        0.00505                         
         439704.00    3765475.00        0.00508                      
439709.00    3765475.00        0.00511                         
         439714.00    3765475.00        0.00514                      
439719.00    3765475.00        0.00517                         
         439729.00    3765475.00        0.00523                      
439734.00    3765475.00        0.00527                         
         439739.00    3765475.00        0.00530                      
439744.00    3765475.00        0.00534                         
         439749.00    3765475.00        0.00538                      
439754.00    3765475.00        0.00542                         
         439789.00    3765475.00        0.00574                      
439794.00    3765475.00        0.00580                         
         439799.00    3765475.00        0.00585                      
439804.00    3765475.00        0.00591                         
         439809.00    3765475.00        0.00596                      
439814.00    3765475.00        0.00602                         
         439819.00    3765475.00        0.00608                      
439824.00    3765475.00        0.00614                         
         439829.00    3765475.00        0.00620                      
439269.00    3764900.00        0.00118                         
         439369.00    3764900.00        0.00126                      
439469.00    3764900.00        0.00132                         
         439569.00    3764900.00        0.00136                      
439669.00    3764900.00        0.00138                         
         439769.00    3764900.00        0.00136                      
439869.00    3764900.00        0.00131                         
         439969.00    3764900.00        0.00123                      
440069.00    3764900.00        0.00113                         
         440169.00    3764900.00        0.00102                      
440269.00    3764900.00        0.00091                         
         439269.00    3765000.00        0.00134                      
439369.00    3765000.00        0.00145                         
         439469.00    3765000.00        0.00154                      
439569.00    3765000.00        0.00162                         
         439669.00    3765000.00        0.00166                      
439769.00    3765000.00        0.00167                         
         439869.00    3765000.00        0.00163                      
439969.00    3765000.00        0.00153                         

240

Item D - 1590 of 1893



         440069.00    3765000.00        0.00141                      
440169.00    3765000.00        0.00126                         
         440269.00    3765000.00        0.00111                      
439269.00    3765100.00        0.00152                         
         439369.00    3765100.00        0.00167                      
439469.00    3765100.00        0.00180                         
         439569.00    3765100.00        0.00193                      
439669.00    3765100.00        0.00203                         
         439769.00    3765100.00        0.00208                      
439869.00    3765100.00        0.00206                         

241

Item D - 1591 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  76
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439969.00    3765100.00        0.00197                      
440069.00    3765100.00        0.00181                         
         440169.00    3765100.00        0.00160                      
440269.00    3765100.00        0.00139                         
         439269.00    3765200.00        0.00173                      
439369.00    3765200.00        0.00194                         
         439469.00    3765200.00        0.00214                      
439569.00    3765200.00        0.00232                         
         439669.00    3765200.00        0.00249                      
439769.00    3765200.00        0.00263                         
         439869.00    3765200.00        0.00268                      
439969.00    3765200.00        0.00260                         
         440069.00    3765200.00        0.00241                      
440169.00    3765200.00        0.00214                         
         440269.00    3765200.00        0.00182                      
439269.00    3765300.00        0.00200                         
         439369.00    3765300.00        0.00231                      
439469.00    3765300.00        0.00258                         

242

Item D - 1592 of 1893



         439569.00    3765300.00        0.00283                      
439669.00    3765300.00        0.00311                         
         439769.00    3765300.00        0.00339                      
439869.00    3765300.00        0.00359                         
         439969.00    3765300.00        0.00360                      
440069.00    3765300.00        0.00340                         
         440169.00    3765300.00        0.00302                      
440269.00    3765300.00        0.00253                         
         439269.00    3765400.00        0.00233                      
439369.00    3765400.00        0.00282                         
         439469.00    3765400.00        0.00324                      
439569.00    3765400.00        0.00358                         
         439669.00    3765400.00        0.00395                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.00445                         
         439869.00    3765400.00        0.00502                      
439969.00    3765400.00        0.00530                         
         440069.00    3765400.00        0.00515                      
440169.00    3765400.00        0.00464                         
         440269.00    3765400.00        0.00386                      
439269.00    3765500.00        0.00270                         
         439369.00    3765500.00        0.00362                      
439469.00    3765500.00        0.00441                         
         439569.00    3765500.00        0.00492                      
439669.00    3765500.00        0.00533                         
         439769.00    3765500.00        0.00602                      
439869.00    3765500.00        0.00747                         
         439969.00    3765500.00        0.00881                      
440069.00    3765500.00        0.00887                         
         440169.00    3765500.00        0.00817                      
440269.00    3765500.00        0.00691                         
         439269.00    3765600.00        0.00296                      
439369.00    3765600.00        0.00491                         
         439469.00    3765600.00        0.00709                      
439569.00    3765600.00        0.00822                         
         439669.00    3765600.00        0.00875                      
439769.00    3765600.00        0.00948                         
         439869.00    3765600.00        0.01214                      
439969.00    3765600.00        0.02207                         
         440069.00    3765600.00        0.02232                      
440169.00    3765600.00        0.02025                         
         440269.00    3765600.00        0.01743                      
439269.00    3765700.00        0.00274                         
         439369.00    3765700.00        0.00650                      
439469.00    3765700.00        0.02663                         
         439569.00    3765700.00        0.03295                      
439669.00    3765700.00        0.02769                         
         439769.00    3765700.00        0.02282                      
439869.00    3765700.00        0.01792                         
         439969.00    3765700.00        0.02173                      
440069.00    3765700.00        0.04260                         
         440169.00    3765700.00        0.06589                      
440269.00    3765700.00        0.10010                         

243

Item D - 1593 of 1893



         439269.00    3765800.00        0.00200                      
439369.00    3765800.00        0.00359                         
         439469.00    3765800.00        0.01061                      
439569.00    3765800.00        0.02209                         
         439669.00    3765800.00        0.03178                      
439769.00    3765800.00        0.04688                         
         439869.00    3765800.00        0.07144                      
439969.00    3765800.00        0.03377                         
         440069.00    3765800.00        0.02516                      
440169.00    3765800.00        0.02279                         

244

Item D - 1594 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  77
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         440269.00    3765800.00        0.02315                      
439269.00    3765900.00        0.00137                         
         439369.00    3765900.00        0.00190                      
439469.00    3765900.00        0.00287                         
         439569.00    3765900.00        0.00458                      
439669.00    3765900.00        0.00681                         
         439769.00    3765900.00        0.00906                      
439869.00    3765900.00        0.01100                         
         439969.00    3765900.00        0.01163                      
440069.00    3765900.00        0.01070                         
         440169.00    3765900.00        0.00994                      
440269.00    3765900.00        0.00973                         
         439649.00    3765310.00        0.00312                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.00321                         
         439709.00    3765310.00        0.00330                      
439739.00    3765310.00        0.00339                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.00348                      
439799.00    3765310.00        0.00356                         

245

Item D - 1595 of 1893



         439829.00    3765310.00        0.00363                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.00369                         
         439889.00    3765310.00        0.00373                      
439649.00    3765340.00        0.00334                         
         439679.00    3765340.00        0.00344                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.00355                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.00366                      
439769.00    3765340.00        0.00377                         
         439799.00    3765340.00        0.00387                      
439829.00    3765340.00        0.00397                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.00405                      
439889.00    3765340.00        0.00412                         
         439649.00    3765370.00        0.00359                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.00370                         
         439709.00    3765370.00        0.00382                      
439739.00    3765370.00        0.00395                         
         439769.00    3765370.00        0.00409                      
439799.00    3765370.00        0.00423                         
         439829.00    3765370.00        0.00436                      
439859.00    3765370.00        0.00448                         
         439889.00    3765370.00        0.00457                      
439649.00    3765400.00        0.00387                         
         439679.00    3765400.00        0.00399                      
439709.00    3765400.00        0.00413                         
         439739.00    3765400.00        0.00428                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.00445                         
         439799.00    3765400.00        0.00462                      
439829.00    3765400.00        0.00480                         
         439859.00    3765400.00        0.00497                      
439889.00    3765400.00        0.00511                         
         439649.00    3765430.00        0.00419                      
439679.00    3765430.00        0.00433                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.00448                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.00465                         
         439769.00    3765430.00        0.00485                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.00507                         
         439829.00    3765430.00        0.00530                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.00553                         
         439889.00    3765430.00        0.00574                      
439649.00    3765460.00        0.00458                         
         439679.00    3765460.00        0.00472                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.00488                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.00507                      
439769.00    3765460.00        0.00530                         
         439799.00    3765460.00        0.00557                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.00588                         
         439859.00    3765460.00        0.00620                      
439889.00    3765460.00        0.00651                         
         439649.00    3765490.00        0.00506                      
439679.00    3765490.00        0.00519                         
         439709.00    3765490.00        0.00536                      
439739.00    3765490.00        0.00556                         

246

Item D - 1596 of 1893



         439769.00    3765490.00        0.00582                      
439799.00    3765490.00        0.00615                         
         439829.00    3765490.00        0.00655                      
439859.00    3765490.00        0.00700                         
         439889.00    3765490.00        0.00746                                                                                     

247

Item D - 1597 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  78
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439674.00    3765310.00        0.10334                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.10335                         
         439684.00    3765310.00        0.10335                      
439689.00    3765310.00        0.10335                         
         439694.00    3765310.00        0.10335                      
439699.00    3765310.00        0.10335                         
         439704.00    3765310.00        0.10334                      
439709.00    3765310.00        0.10334                         
         439714.00    3765310.00        0.10333                      
439719.00    3765310.00        0.10332                         
         439729.00    3765310.00        0.10330                      
439734.00    3765310.00        0.10329                         
         439739.00    3765310.00        0.10327                      
439744.00    3765310.00        0.10325                         
         439749.00    3765310.00        0.10324                      
439764.00    3765310.00        0.10317                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.10314                      
439774.00    3765310.00        0.10312                         

248

Item D - 1598 of 1893



         439779.00    3765310.00        0.10309                      
439784.00    3765310.00        0.10305                         
         439789.00    3765310.00        0.10302                      
439794.00    3765310.00        0.10298                         
         439799.00    3765310.00        0.10295                      
439804.00    3765310.00        0.10291                         
         439809.00    3765310.00        0.10286                      
439814.00    3765310.00        0.10282                         
         439819.00    3765310.00        0.10277                      
439824.00    3765310.00        0.10272                         
         439829.00    3765310.00        0.10267                      
439839.00    3765310.00        0.10256                         
         439844.00    3765310.00        0.10250                      
439849.00    3765310.00        0.10244                         
         439854.00    3765310.00        0.10238                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.10231                         
         439864.00    3765310.00        0.10224                      
439869.00    3765310.00        0.10217                         
         439874.00    3765310.00        0.10209                      
439879.00    3765310.00        0.10202                         
         439884.00    3765310.00        0.10194                      
439674.00    3765315.00        0.10472                         
         439679.00    3765315.00        0.10472                      
439684.00    3765315.00        0.10473                         
         439689.00    3765315.00        0.10473                      
439694.00    3765315.00        0.10473                         
         439699.00    3765315.00        0.10473                      
439704.00    3765315.00        0.10473                         
         439709.00    3765315.00        0.10472                      
439714.00    3765315.00        0.10472                         
         439719.00    3765315.00        0.10471                      
439729.00    3765315.00        0.10469                         
         439734.00    3765315.00        0.10468                      
439739.00    3765315.00        0.10467                         
         439744.00    3765315.00        0.10465                      
439749.00    3765315.00        0.10464                         
         439764.00    3765315.00        0.10458                      
439769.00    3765315.00        0.10455                         
         439774.00    3765315.00        0.10453                      
439779.00    3765315.00        0.10450                         
         439784.00    3765315.00        0.10447                      
439789.00    3765315.00        0.10444                         
         439794.00    3765315.00        0.10440                      
439799.00    3765315.00        0.10437                         
         439804.00    3765315.00        0.10433                      
439809.00    3765315.00        0.10429                         
         439814.00    3765315.00        0.10424                      
439819.00    3765315.00        0.10420                         
         439824.00    3765315.00        0.10415                      
439829.00    3765315.00        0.10410                         
         439839.00    3765315.00        0.10400                      
439844.00    3765315.00        0.10394                         

249

Item D - 1599 of 1893



         439849.00    3765315.00        0.10388                      
439854.00    3765315.00        0.10382                         
         439859.00    3765315.00        0.10375                      
439864.00    3765315.00        0.10368                         
         439869.00    3765315.00        0.10361                      
439874.00    3765315.00        0.10354                         
         439879.00    3765315.00        0.10346                      
439884.00    3765315.00        0.10339                         
         439674.00    3765320.00        0.10612                      
439679.00    3765320.00        0.10613                         

250

Item D - 1600 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  79
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765320.00        0.10614                      
439689.00    3765320.00        0.10614                         
         439694.00    3765320.00        0.10614                      
439699.00    3765320.00        0.10614                         
         439704.00    3765320.00        0.10614                      
439709.00    3765320.00        0.10614                         
         439714.00    3765320.00        0.10614                      
439719.00    3765320.00        0.10613                         
         439729.00    3765320.00        0.10612                      
439734.00    3765320.00        0.10611                         
         439739.00    3765320.00        0.10610                      
439744.00    3765320.00        0.10609                         
         439749.00    3765320.00        0.10607                      
439764.00    3765320.00        0.10602                         
         439769.00    3765320.00        0.10599                      
439774.00    3765320.00        0.10597                         
         439779.00    3765320.00        0.10594                      
439784.00    3765320.00        0.10592                         

251

Item D - 1601 of 1893



         439789.00    3765320.00        0.10589                      
439794.00    3765320.00        0.10585                         
         439799.00    3765320.00        0.10582                      
439804.00    3765320.00        0.10578                         
         439809.00    3765320.00        0.10574                      
439814.00    3765320.00        0.10570                         
         439819.00    3765320.00        0.10566                      
439824.00    3765320.00        0.10561                         
         439829.00    3765320.00        0.10557                      
439839.00    3765320.00        0.10546                         
         439844.00    3765320.00        0.10541                      
439849.00    3765320.00        0.10535                         
         439854.00    3765320.00        0.10529                      
439859.00    3765320.00        0.10523                         
         439864.00    3765320.00        0.10516                      
439869.00    3765320.00        0.10509                         
         439874.00    3765320.00        0.10502                      
439879.00    3765320.00        0.10495                         
         439884.00    3765320.00        0.10487                      
439674.00    3765325.00        0.10756                         
         439679.00    3765325.00        0.10757                      
439684.00    3765325.00        0.10758                         
         439689.00    3765325.00        0.10758                      
439694.00    3765325.00        0.10759                         
         439699.00    3765325.00        0.10759                      
439704.00    3765325.00        0.10759                         
         439709.00    3765325.00        0.10760                      
439714.00    3765325.00        0.10759                         
         439719.00    3765325.00        0.10759                      
439729.00    3765325.00        0.10758                         
         439734.00    3765325.00        0.10757                      
439739.00    3765325.00        0.10756                         
         439744.00    3765325.00        0.10755                      
439749.00    3765325.00        0.10754                         
         439754.00    3765325.00        0.10752                      
439769.00    3765325.00        0.10747                         
         439774.00    3765325.00        0.10745                      
439779.00    3765325.00        0.10742                         
         439784.00    3765325.00        0.10740                      
439789.00    3765325.00        0.10737                         
         439794.00    3765325.00        0.10734                      
439799.00    3765325.00        0.10731                         
         439804.00    3765325.00        0.10727                      
439809.00    3765325.00        0.10724                         
         439814.00    3765325.00        0.10720                      
439819.00    3765325.00        0.10716                         
         439824.00    3765325.00        0.10711                      
439829.00    3765325.00        0.10707                         
         439839.00    3765325.00        0.10697                      
439844.00    3765325.00        0.10691                         
         439849.00    3765325.00        0.10686                      
439854.00    3765325.00        0.10680                         

252

Item D - 1602 of 1893



         439859.00    3765325.00        0.10674                      
439864.00    3765325.00        0.10667                         
         439869.00    3765325.00        0.10661                      
439874.00    3765325.00        0.10654                         
         439879.00    3765325.00        0.10647                      
439884.00    3765325.00        0.10639                         
         439674.00    3765330.00        0.10903                      
439679.00    3765330.00        0.10905                         
         439684.00    3765330.00        0.10906                      
439689.00    3765330.00        0.10906                         

253

Item D - 1603 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  80
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439694.00    3765330.00        0.10907                      
439699.00    3765330.00        0.10908                         
         439704.00    3765330.00        0.10908                      
439709.00    3765330.00        0.10908                         
         439714.00    3765330.00        0.10908                      
439719.00    3765330.00        0.10908                         
         439729.00    3765330.00        0.10908                      
439734.00    3765330.00        0.10907                         
         439739.00    3765330.00        0.10906                      
439744.00    3765330.00        0.10905                         
         439749.00    3765330.00        0.10904                      
439754.00    3765330.00        0.10903                         
         439774.00    3765330.00        0.10896                      
439779.00    3765330.00        0.10894                         
         439784.00    3765330.00        0.10891                      
439789.00    3765330.00        0.10889                         
         439794.00    3765330.00        0.10886                      
439799.00    3765330.00        0.10883                         

254

Item D - 1604 of 1893



         439804.00    3765330.00        0.10880                      
439809.00    3765330.00        0.10876                         
         439814.00    3765330.00        0.10873                      
439819.00    3765330.00        0.10869                         
         439824.00    3765330.00        0.10865                      
439829.00    3765330.00        0.10860                         
         439839.00    3765330.00        0.10851                      
439844.00    3765330.00        0.10846                         
         439849.00    3765330.00        0.10840                      
439854.00    3765330.00        0.10835                         
         439859.00    3765330.00        0.10829                      
439864.00    3765330.00        0.10822                         
         439869.00    3765330.00        0.10816                      
439874.00    3765330.00        0.10809                         
         439879.00    3765330.00        0.10802                      
439884.00    3765330.00        0.10795                         
         439674.00    3765335.00        0.11054                      
439679.00    3765335.00        0.11056                         
         439684.00    3765335.00        0.11057                      
439689.00    3765335.00        0.11058                         
         439694.00    3765335.00        0.11059                      
439699.00    3765335.00        0.11060                         
         439704.00    3765335.00        0.11060                      
439709.00    3765335.00        0.11061                         
         439714.00    3765335.00        0.11061                      
439719.00    3765335.00        0.11061                         
         439729.00    3765335.00        0.11061                      
439734.00    3765335.00        0.11060                         
         439739.00    3765335.00        0.11060                      
439744.00    3765335.00        0.11059                         
         439749.00    3765335.00        0.11058                      
439774.00    3765335.00        0.11051                         
         439779.00    3765335.00        0.11049                      
439784.00    3765335.00        0.11047                         
         439789.00    3765335.00        0.11044                      
439794.00    3765335.00        0.11042                         
         439839.00    3765335.00        0.11008                      
439844.00    3765335.00        0.11003                         
         439849.00    3765335.00        0.10998                      
439854.00    3765335.00        0.10993                         
         439859.00    3765335.00        0.10987                      
439864.00    3765335.00        0.10981                         
         439869.00    3765335.00        0.10975                      
439874.00    3765335.00        0.10968                         
         439879.00    3765335.00        0.10961                      
439884.00    3765335.00        0.10954                         
         439674.00    3765340.00        0.11209                      
439679.00    3765340.00        0.11211                         
         439684.00    3765340.00        0.11212                      
439689.00    3765340.00        0.11213                         
         439694.00    3765340.00        0.11214                      
439699.00    3765340.00        0.11215                         

255

Item D - 1605 of 1893



         439704.00    3765340.00        0.11216                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.11217                         
         439714.00    3765340.00        0.11217                      
439719.00    3765340.00        0.11217                         
         439729.00    3765340.00        0.11218                      
439734.00    3765340.00        0.11217                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.11217                      
439744.00    3765340.00        0.11217                         
         439749.00    3765340.00        0.11216                      
439774.00    3765340.00        0.11210                         

256

Item D - 1606 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  81
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439779.00    3765340.00        0.11208                      
439784.00    3765340.00        0.11206                         
         439789.00    3765340.00        0.11204                      
439794.00    3765340.00        0.11202                         
         439839.00    3765340.00        0.11170                      
439844.00    3765340.00        0.11165                         
         439849.00    3765340.00        0.11160                      
439854.00    3765340.00        0.11155                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.11150                      
439864.00    3765340.00        0.11144                         
         439869.00    3765340.00        0.11138                      
439874.00    3765340.00        0.11131                         
         439879.00    3765340.00        0.11125                      
439884.00    3765340.00        0.11118                         
         439674.00    3765345.00        0.11368                      
439679.00    3765345.00        0.11369                         
         439684.00    3765345.00        0.11371                      
439689.00    3765345.00        0.11372                         

257

Item D - 1607 of 1893



         439694.00    3765345.00        0.11374                      
439699.00    3765345.00        0.11375                         
         439704.00    3765345.00        0.11376                      
439709.00    3765345.00        0.11377                         
         439714.00    3765345.00        0.11377                      
439719.00    3765345.00        0.11378                         
         439729.00    3765345.00        0.11378                      
439734.00    3765345.00        0.11378                         
         439739.00    3765345.00        0.11378                      
439744.00    3765345.00        0.11378                         
         439749.00    3765345.00        0.11378                      
439774.00    3765345.00        0.11373                         
         439779.00    3765345.00        0.11371                      
439784.00    3765345.00        0.11369                         
         439789.00    3765345.00        0.11367                      
439794.00    3765345.00        0.11365                         
         439839.00    3765345.00        0.11336                      
439844.00    3765345.00        0.11331                         
         439849.00    3765345.00        0.11327                      
439854.00    3765345.00        0.11322                         
         439859.00    3765345.00        0.11316                      
439864.00    3765345.00        0.11311                         
         439869.00    3765345.00        0.11305                      
439874.00    3765345.00        0.11299                         
         439879.00    3765345.00        0.11292                      
439884.00    3765345.00        0.11285                         
         439674.00    3765350.00        0.11530                      
439679.00    3765350.00        0.11532                         
         439684.00    3765350.00        0.11534                      
439689.00    3765350.00        0.11535                         
         439694.00    3765350.00        0.11537                      
439699.00    3765350.00        0.11538                         
         439704.00    3765350.00        0.11539                      
439709.00    3765350.00        0.11540                         
         439714.00    3765350.00        0.11541                      
439719.00    3765350.00        0.11542                         
         439729.00    3765350.00        0.11543                      
439734.00    3765350.00        0.11543                         
         439739.00    3765350.00        0.11544                      
439744.00    3765350.00        0.11543                         
         439749.00    3765350.00        0.11543                      
439774.00    3765350.00        0.11539                         
         439779.00    3765350.00        0.11538                      
439784.00    3765350.00        0.11537                         
         439789.00    3765350.00        0.11535                      
439794.00    3765350.00        0.11533                         
         439839.00    3765350.00        0.11506                      
439844.00    3765350.00        0.11501                         
         439849.00    3765350.00        0.11497                      
439854.00    3765350.00        0.11492                         
         439859.00    3765350.00        0.11487                      
439864.00    3765350.00        0.11482                         

258

Item D - 1608 of 1893



         439869.00    3765350.00        0.11476                      
439874.00    3765350.00        0.11470                         
         439879.00    3765350.00        0.11464                      
439884.00    3765350.00        0.11457                         
         439674.00    3765355.00        0.11697                      
439679.00    3765355.00        0.11699                         
         439684.00    3765355.00        0.11701                      
439689.00    3765355.00        0.11703                         
         439694.00    3765355.00        0.11704                      
439699.00    3765355.00        0.11706                         

259

Item D - 1609 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  82
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439704.00    3765355.00        0.11707                      
439709.00    3765355.00        0.11709                         
         439714.00    3765355.00        0.11710                      
439719.00    3765355.00        0.11711                         
         439729.00    3765355.00        0.11712                      
439734.00    3765355.00        0.11713                         
         439739.00    3765355.00        0.11713                      
439744.00    3765355.00        0.11713                         
         439749.00    3765355.00        0.11713                      
439774.00    3765355.00        0.11711                         
         439779.00    3765355.00        0.11710                      
439784.00    3765355.00        0.11708                         
         439789.00    3765355.00        0.11707                      
439794.00    3765355.00        0.11705                         
         439839.00    3765355.00        0.11680                      
439844.00    3765355.00        0.11676                         
         439849.00    3765355.00        0.11672                      
439854.00    3765355.00        0.11667                         

260

Item D - 1610 of 1893



         439859.00    3765355.00        0.11662                      
439864.00    3765355.00        0.11657                         
         439869.00    3765355.00        0.11652                      
439874.00    3765355.00        0.11646                         
         439879.00    3765355.00        0.11640                      
439884.00    3765355.00        0.11634                         
         439674.00    3765360.00        0.11868                      
439679.00    3765360.00        0.11870                         
         439684.00    3765360.00        0.11872                      
439689.00    3765360.00        0.11874                         
         439694.00    3765360.00        0.11876                      
439699.00    3765360.00        0.11878                         
         439704.00    3765360.00        0.11880                      
439709.00    3765360.00        0.11881                         
         439714.00    3765360.00        0.11883                      
439719.00    3765360.00        0.11884                         
         439729.00    3765360.00        0.11886                      
439734.00    3765360.00        0.11886                         
         439739.00    3765360.00        0.11887                      
439744.00    3765360.00        0.11887                         
         439749.00    3765360.00        0.11888                      
439774.00    3765360.00        0.11886                         
         439779.00    3765360.00        0.11885                      
439784.00    3765360.00        0.11884                         
         439789.00    3765360.00        0.11883                      
439794.00    3765360.00        0.11882                         
         439799.00    3765360.00        0.11880                      
439804.00    3765360.00        0.11878                         
         439809.00    3765360.00        0.11876                      
439814.00    3765360.00        0.11874                         
         439839.00    3765360.00        0.11859                      
439844.00    3765360.00        0.11855                         
         439849.00    3765360.00        0.11851                      
439854.00    3765360.00        0.11847                         
         439859.00    3765360.00        0.11842                      
439864.00    3765360.00        0.11837                         
         439869.00    3765360.00        0.11832                      
439874.00    3765360.00        0.11827                         
         439879.00    3765360.00        0.11821                      
439884.00    3765360.00        0.11815                         
         439674.00    3765365.00        0.12043                      
439679.00    3765365.00        0.12046                         
         439684.00    3765365.00        0.12048                      
439689.00    3765365.00        0.12051                         
         439694.00    3765365.00        0.12053                      
439699.00    3765365.00        0.12055                         
         439704.00    3765365.00        0.12057                      
439709.00    3765365.00        0.12058                         
         439714.00    3765365.00        0.12060                      
439719.00    3765365.00        0.12061                         
         439729.00    3765365.00        0.12064                      
439734.00    3765365.00        0.12065                         

261

Item D - 1611 of 1893



         439739.00    3765365.00        0.12066                      
439744.00    3765365.00        0.12066                         
         439749.00    3765365.00        0.12067                      
439774.00    3765365.00        0.12066                         
         439779.00    3765365.00        0.12066                      
439784.00    3765365.00        0.12065                         
         439789.00    3765365.00        0.12064                      
439794.00    3765365.00        0.12063                         
         439799.00    3765365.00        0.12062                      
439804.00    3765365.00        0.12060                         

262

Item D - 1612 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  83
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765365.00        0.12058                      
439814.00    3765365.00        0.12056                         
         439839.00    3765365.00        0.12042                      
439844.00    3765365.00        0.12039                         
         439849.00    3765365.00        0.12035                      
439854.00    3765365.00        0.12031                         
         439859.00    3765365.00        0.12027                      
439864.00    3765365.00        0.12022                         
         439869.00    3765365.00        0.12017                      
439874.00    3765365.00        0.12012                         
         439879.00    3765365.00        0.12006                      
439884.00    3765365.00        0.12001                         
         439674.00    3765370.00        0.12224                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.12226                         
         439684.00    3765370.00        0.12229                      
439689.00    3765370.00        0.12232                         
         439694.00    3765370.00        0.12234                      
439699.00    3765370.00        0.12236                         

263

Item D - 1613 of 1893



         439704.00    3765370.00        0.12238                      
439709.00    3765370.00        0.12240                         
         439714.00    3765370.00        0.12242                      
439719.00    3765370.00        0.12244                         
         439729.00    3765370.00        0.12247                      
439734.00    3765370.00        0.12248                         
         439739.00    3765370.00        0.12249                      
439744.00    3765370.00        0.12250                         
         439749.00    3765370.00        0.12250                      
439774.00    3765370.00        0.12251                         
         439779.00    3765370.00        0.12251                      
439784.00    3765370.00        0.12251                         
         439789.00    3765370.00        0.12250                      
439794.00    3765370.00        0.12249                         
         439799.00    3765370.00        0.12248                      
439804.00    3765370.00        0.12247                         
         439809.00    3765370.00        0.12245                      
439814.00    3765370.00        0.12243                         
         439839.00    3765370.00        0.12231                      
439844.00    3765370.00        0.12228                         
         439849.00    3765370.00        0.12224                      
439854.00    3765370.00        0.12220                         
         439859.00    3765370.00        0.12216                      
439864.00    3765370.00        0.12212                         
         439869.00    3765370.00        0.12207                      
439874.00    3765370.00        0.12202                         
         439879.00    3765370.00        0.12197                      
439884.00    3765370.00        0.12191                         
         439674.00    3765375.00        0.12409                      
439679.00    3765375.00        0.12412                         
         439684.00    3765375.00        0.12415                      
439689.00    3765375.00        0.12417                         
         439694.00    3765375.00        0.12420                      
439699.00    3765375.00        0.12423                         
         439704.00    3765375.00        0.12425                      
439709.00    3765375.00        0.12427                         
         439714.00    3765375.00        0.12429                      
439719.00    3765375.00        0.12431                         
         439729.00    3765375.00        0.12434                      
439734.00    3765375.00        0.12436                         
         439739.00    3765375.00        0.12437                      
439744.00    3765375.00        0.12438                         
         439749.00    3765375.00        0.12439                      
439754.00    3765375.00        0.12440                         
         439774.00    3765375.00        0.12442                      
439779.00    3765375.00        0.12442                         
         439784.00    3765375.00        0.12441                      
439789.00    3765375.00        0.12441                         
         439794.00    3765375.00        0.12440                      
439799.00    3765375.00        0.12439                         
         439804.00    3765375.00        0.12438                      
439809.00    3765375.00        0.12437                         

264

Item D - 1614 of 1893



         439814.00    3765375.00        0.12435                      
439839.00    3765375.00        0.12424                         
         439844.00    3765375.00        0.12421                      
439849.00    3765375.00        0.12418                         
         439854.00    3765375.00        0.12415                      
439859.00    3765375.00        0.12411                         
         439864.00    3765375.00        0.12407                      
439869.00    3765375.00        0.12402                         
         439874.00    3765375.00        0.12398                      
439879.00    3765375.00        0.12393                         

265

Item D - 1615 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  84
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439884.00    3765375.00        0.12388                      
439774.00    3765380.00        0.12637                         
         439779.00    3765380.00        0.12637                      
439784.00    3765380.00        0.12637                         
         439789.00    3765380.00        0.12637                      
439794.00    3765380.00        0.12637                         
         439799.00    3765380.00        0.12636                      
439804.00    3765380.00        0.12635                         
         439809.00    3765380.00        0.12634                      
439814.00    3765380.00        0.12633                         
         439769.00    3765385.00        0.12837                      
439819.00    3765385.00        0.12835                         
         439769.00    3765400.00        0.13474                      
439844.00    3765400.00        0.13476                         
         439849.00    3765400.00        0.13475                      
439674.00    3765405.00        0.13636                         
         439714.00    3765405.00        0.13668                      
439719.00    3765405.00        0.13672                         

266

Item D - 1616 of 1893



         439734.00    3765405.00        0.13681                      
439749.00    3765405.00        0.13689                         
         439754.00    3765405.00        0.13692                      
439774.00    3765405.00        0.13700                         
         439779.00    3765405.00        0.13702                      
439784.00    3765405.00        0.13704                         
         439789.00    3765405.00        0.13705                      
439794.00    3765405.00        0.13706                         
         439799.00    3765405.00        0.13707                      
439804.00    3765405.00        0.13708                         
         439809.00    3765405.00        0.13709                      
439814.00    3765405.00        0.13709                         
         439819.00    3765405.00        0.13709                      
439824.00    3765405.00        0.13709                         
         439829.00    3765405.00        0.13709                      
439834.00    3765405.00        0.13708                         
         439839.00    3765405.00        0.13707                      
439844.00    3765405.00        0.13706                         
         439849.00    3765405.00        0.13705                      
439854.00    3765405.00        0.13703                         
         439859.00    3765405.00        0.13701                      
439674.00    3765410.00        0.13862                         
         439679.00    3765410.00        0.13867                      
439684.00    3765410.00        0.13872                         
         439689.00    3765410.00        0.13876                      
439694.00    3765410.00        0.13880                         
         439699.00    3765410.00        0.13885                      
439704.00    3765410.00        0.13889                         
         439709.00    3765410.00        0.13893                      
439714.00    3765410.00        0.13897                         
         439719.00    3765410.00        0.13900                      
439729.00    3765410.00        0.13907                         
         439734.00    3765410.00        0.13911                      
439739.00    3765410.00        0.13914                         
         439744.00    3765410.00        0.13917                      
439749.00    3765410.00        0.13920                         
         439774.00    3765410.00        0.13932                      
439779.00    3765410.00        0.13934                         
         439784.00    3765410.00        0.13936                      
439789.00    3765410.00        0.13938                         
         439794.00    3765410.00        0.13940                      
439799.00    3765410.00        0.13941                         
         439804.00    3765410.00        0.13942                      
439809.00    3765410.00        0.13943                         
         439814.00    3765410.00        0.13944                      
439819.00    3765410.00        0.13944                         
         439824.00    3765410.00        0.13944                      
439829.00    3765410.00        0.13944                         
         439834.00    3765410.00        0.13944                      
439839.00    3765410.00        0.13944                         
         439844.00    3765410.00        0.13943                      
439849.00    3765410.00        0.13942                         

267

Item D - 1617 of 1893



         439854.00    3765410.00        0.13941                      
439859.00    3765410.00        0.13939                         
         439674.00    3765415.00        0.14095                      
439679.00    3765415.00        0.14100                         
         439684.00    3765415.00        0.14105                      
439689.00    3765415.00        0.14110                         
         439694.00    3765415.00        0.14115                      
439699.00    3765415.00        0.14119                         
         439704.00    3765415.00        0.14124                      
439709.00    3765415.00        0.14128                         

268

Item D - 1618 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  85
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439714.00    3765415.00        0.14132                      
439719.00    3765415.00        0.14136                         
         439729.00    3765415.00        0.14144                      
439734.00    3765415.00        0.14147                         
         439739.00    3765415.00        0.14151                      
439744.00    3765415.00        0.14154                         
         439749.00    3765415.00        0.14158                      
439774.00    3765415.00        0.14172                         
         439779.00    3765415.00        0.14174                      
439784.00    3765415.00        0.14176                         
         439789.00    3765415.00        0.14178                      
439794.00    3765415.00        0.14180                         
         439799.00    3765415.00        0.14182                      
439804.00    3765415.00        0.14183                         
         439809.00    3765415.00        0.14185                      
439814.00    3765415.00        0.14186                         
         439819.00    3765415.00        0.14186                      
439824.00    3765415.00        0.14187                         

269

Item D - 1619 of 1893



         439829.00    3765415.00        0.14188                      
439834.00    3765415.00        0.14188                         
         439839.00    3765415.00        0.14188                      
439844.00    3765415.00        0.14187                         
         439849.00    3765415.00        0.14187                      
439854.00    3765415.00        0.14186                         
         439859.00    3765415.00        0.14185                      
439674.00    3765420.00        0.14336                         
         439679.00    3765420.00        0.14341                      
439684.00    3765420.00        0.14347                         
         439689.00    3765420.00        0.14352                      
439694.00    3765420.00        0.14357                         
         439699.00    3765420.00        0.14361                      
439704.00    3765420.00        0.14366                         
         439709.00    3765420.00        0.14371                      
439714.00    3765420.00        0.14375                         
         439719.00    3765420.00        0.14379                      
439729.00    3765420.00        0.14388                         
         439734.00    3765420.00        0.14392                      
439739.00    3765420.00        0.14395                         
         439744.00    3765420.00        0.14399                      
439749.00    3765420.00        0.14403                         
         439774.00    3765420.00        0.14418                      
439779.00    3765420.00        0.14421                         
         439784.00    3765420.00        0.14423                      
439789.00    3765420.00        0.14426                         
         439794.00    3765420.00        0.14428                      
439799.00    3765420.00        0.14430                         
         439804.00    3765420.00        0.14432                      
439809.00    3765420.00        0.14434                         
         439814.00    3765420.00        0.14435                      
439819.00    3765420.00        0.14436                         
         439824.00    3765420.00        0.14437                      
439829.00    3765420.00        0.14438                         
         439834.00    3765420.00        0.14439                      
439839.00    3765420.00        0.14439                         
         439844.00    3765420.00        0.14439                      
439849.00    3765420.00        0.14439                         
         439854.00    3765420.00        0.14439                      
439859.00    3765420.00        0.14438                         
         439674.00    3765425.00        0.14584                      
439679.00    3765425.00        0.14590                         
         439684.00    3765425.00        0.14596                      
439689.00    3765425.00        0.14601                         
         439694.00    3765425.00        0.14606                      
439699.00    3765425.00        0.14611                         
         439704.00    3765425.00        0.14616                      
439709.00    3765425.00        0.14621                         
         439714.00    3765425.00        0.14626                      
439719.00    3765425.00        0.14630                         
         439729.00    3765425.00        0.14639                      
439734.00    3765425.00        0.14643                         

270

Item D - 1620 of 1893



         439739.00    3765425.00        0.14648                      
439744.00    3765425.00        0.14652                         
         439749.00    3765425.00        0.14656                      
439774.00    3765425.00        0.14673                         
         439779.00    3765425.00        0.14676                      
439784.00    3765425.00        0.14679                         
         439789.00    3765425.00        0.14682                      
439794.00    3765425.00        0.14684                         
         439799.00    3765425.00        0.14686                      
439804.00    3765425.00        0.14689                         

271

Item D - 1621 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  86
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439809.00    3765425.00        0.14691                      
439814.00    3765425.00        0.14693                         
         439819.00    3765425.00        0.14694                      
439824.00    3765425.00        0.14696                         
         439829.00    3765425.00        0.14697                      
439834.00    3765425.00        0.14698                         
         439839.00    3765425.00        0.14699                      
439844.00    3765425.00        0.14699                         
         439849.00    3765425.00        0.14699                      
439854.00    3765425.00        0.14699                         
         439859.00    3765425.00        0.14699                      
439674.00    3765430.00        0.14841                         
         439679.00    3765430.00        0.14847                      
439684.00    3765430.00        0.14853                         
         439689.00    3765430.00        0.14858                      
439694.00    3765430.00        0.14864                         
         439699.00    3765430.00        0.14869                      
439704.00    3765430.00        0.14874                         

272

Item D - 1622 of 1893



         439709.00    3765430.00        0.14880                      
439714.00    3765430.00        0.14885                         
         439719.00    3765430.00        0.14890                      
439729.00    3765430.00        0.14899                         
         439734.00    3765430.00        0.14904                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.14908                         
         439744.00    3765430.00        0.14912                      
439749.00    3765430.00        0.14917                         
         439774.00    3765430.00        0.14936                      
439779.00    3765430.00        0.14939                         
         439784.00    3765430.00        0.14942                      
439789.00    3765430.00        0.14945                         
         439794.00    3765430.00        0.14948                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.14951                         
         439804.00    3765430.00        0.14954                      
439809.00    3765430.00        0.14956                         
         439814.00    3765430.00        0.14958                      
439819.00    3765430.00        0.14961                         
         439824.00    3765430.00        0.14962                      
439829.00    3765430.00        0.14964                         
         439834.00    3765430.00        0.14965                      
439839.00    3765430.00        0.14967                         
         439844.00    3765430.00        0.14967                      
439849.00    3765430.00        0.14968                         
         439854.00    3765430.00        0.14968                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.14968                         
         439674.00    3765435.00        0.15106                      
439679.00    3765435.00        0.15112                         
         439684.00    3765435.00        0.15118                      
439689.00    3765435.00        0.15124                         
         439694.00    3765435.00        0.15130                      
439699.00    3765435.00        0.15136                         
         439704.00    3765435.00        0.15141                      
439709.00    3765435.00        0.15147                         
         439714.00    3765435.00        0.15152                      
439719.00    3765435.00        0.15158                         
         439729.00    3765435.00        0.15168                      
439734.00    3765435.00        0.15172                         
         439739.00    3765435.00        0.15177                      
439744.00    3765435.00        0.15182                         
         439749.00    3765435.00        0.15186                      
439774.00    3765435.00        0.15207                         
         439779.00    3765435.00        0.15211                      
439784.00    3765435.00        0.15215                         
         439789.00    3765435.00        0.15218                      
439794.00    3765435.00        0.15221                         
         439799.00    3765435.00        0.15225                      
439804.00    3765435.00        0.15228                         
         439809.00    3765435.00        0.15230                      
439814.00    3765435.00        0.15233                         
         439819.00    3765435.00        0.15236                      
439824.00    3765435.00        0.15238                         

273

Item D - 1623 of 1893



         439829.00    3765435.00        0.15240                      
439834.00    3765435.00        0.15242                         
         439839.00    3765435.00        0.15243                      
439844.00    3765435.00        0.15245                         
         439849.00    3765435.00        0.15246                      
439854.00    3765435.00        0.15247                         
         439859.00    3765435.00        0.15247                      
439674.00    3765440.00        0.15380                         
         439679.00    3765440.00        0.15387                      
439684.00    3765440.00        0.15393                         

274

Item D - 1624 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  87
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439689.00    3765440.00        0.15399                      
439694.00    3765440.00        0.15406                         
         439699.00    3765440.00        0.15412                      
439704.00    3765440.00        0.15417                         
         439709.00    3765440.00        0.15423                      
439714.00    3765440.00        0.15429                         
         439719.00    3765440.00        0.15434                      
439729.00    3765440.00        0.15445                         
         439734.00    3765440.00        0.15450                      
439739.00    3765440.00        0.15455                         
         439744.00    3765440.00        0.15460                      
439749.00    3765440.00        0.15465                         
         439774.00    3765440.00        0.15488                      
439779.00    3765440.00        0.15492                         
         439784.00    3765440.00        0.15496                      
439789.00    3765440.00        0.15500                         
         439794.00    3765440.00        0.15504                      
439799.00    3765440.00        0.15507                         

275

Item D - 1625 of 1893



         439804.00    3765440.00        0.15511                      
439809.00    3765440.00        0.15514                         
         439814.00    3765440.00        0.15517                      
439819.00    3765440.00        0.15520                         
         439824.00    3765440.00        0.15523                      
439829.00    3765440.00        0.15525                         
         439834.00    3765440.00        0.15527                      
439839.00    3765440.00        0.15529                         
         439844.00    3765440.00        0.15531                      
439849.00    3765440.00        0.15533                         
         439854.00    3765440.00        0.15534                      
439859.00    3765440.00        0.15535                         
         439674.00    3765445.00        0.15664                      
439679.00    3765445.00        0.15671                         
         439684.00    3765445.00        0.15677                      
439689.00    3765445.00        0.15684                         
         439694.00    3765445.00        0.15690                      
439699.00    3765445.00        0.15697                         
         439704.00    3765445.00        0.15703                      
439709.00    3765445.00        0.15709                         
         439714.00    3765445.00        0.15715                      
439719.00    3765445.00        0.15721                         
         439729.00    3765445.00        0.15732                      
439734.00    3765445.00        0.15738                         
         439739.00    3765445.00        0.15743                      
439744.00    3765445.00        0.15749                         
         439749.00    3765445.00        0.15754                      
439774.00    3765445.00        0.15778                         
         439779.00    3765445.00        0.15783                      
439784.00    3765445.00        0.15787                         
         439789.00    3765445.00        0.15791                      
439794.00    3765445.00        0.15795                         
         439799.00    3765445.00        0.15800                      
439804.00    3765445.00        0.15803                         
         439809.00    3765445.00        0.15807                      
439814.00    3765445.00        0.15810                         
         439819.00    3765445.00        0.15814                      
439824.00    3765445.00        0.15817                         
         439829.00    3765445.00        0.15820                      
439834.00    3765445.00        0.15823                         
         439839.00    3765445.00        0.15825                      
439844.00    3765445.00        0.15828                         
         439849.00    3765445.00        0.15830                      
439854.00    3765445.00        0.15831                         
         439859.00    3765445.00        0.15833                      
439674.00    3765450.00        0.15958                         
         439679.00    3765450.00        0.15965                      
439684.00    3765450.00        0.15972                         
         439689.00    3765450.00        0.15979                      
439694.00    3765450.00        0.15985                         
         439699.00    3765450.00        0.15992                      
439704.00    3765450.00        0.15999                         

276

Item D - 1626 of 1893



         439709.00    3765450.00        0.16005                      
439714.00    3765450.00        0.16011                         
         439719.00    3765450.00        0.16017                      
439729.00    3765450.00        0.16030                         
         439734.00    3765450.00        0.16035                      
439739.00    3765450.00        0.16041                         
         439744.00    3765450.00        0.16047                      
439749.00    3765450.00        0.16052                         
         439774.00    3765450.00        0.16079                      
439844.00    3765450.00        0.16134                         

277

Item D - 1627 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  88
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439849.00    3765450.00        0.16137                      
439854.00    3765450.00        0.16139                         
         439859.00    3765450.00        0.16141                      
439674.00    3765455.00        0.16262                         
         439679.00    3765455.00        0.16269                      
439684.00    3765455.00        0.16277                         
         439689.00    3765455.00        0.16284                      
439694.00    3765455.00        0.16291                         
         439699.00    3765455.00        0.16298                      
439704.00    3765455.00        0.16305                         
         439709.00    3765455.00        0.16311                      
439714.00    3765455.00        0.16318                         
         439719.00    3765455.00        0.16325                      
439729.00    3765455.00        0.16337                         
         439734.00    3765455.00        0.16344                      
439739.00    3765455.00        0.16350                         
         439744.00    3765455.00        0.16356                      
439749.00    3765455.00        0.16362                         

278

Item D - 1628 of 1893



         439844.00    3765455.00        0.16452                      
439849.00    3765455.00        0.16455                         
         439854.00    3765455.00        0.16458                      
439859.00    3765455.00        0.16460                         
         439674.00    3765460.00        0.16577                      
439679.00    3765460.00        0.16585                         
         439684.00    3765460.00        0.16593                      
439689.00    3765460.00        0.16600                         
         439694.00    3765460.00        0.16608                      
439699.00    3765460.00        0.16615                         
         439704.00    3765460.00        0.16622                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.16629                         
         439714.00    3765460.00        0.16636                      
439719.00    3765460.00        0.16643                         
         439729.00    3765460.00        0.16656                      
439734.00    3765460.00        0.16663                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.16670                      
439744.00    3765460.00        0.16676                         
         439749.00    3765460.00        0.16682                      
439789.00    3765460.00        0.16729                         
         439794.00    3765460.00        0.16735                      
439799.00    3765460.00        0.16740                         
         439804.00    3765460.00        0.16745                      
439809.00    3765460.00        0.16750                         
         439814.00    3765460.00        0.16755                      
439819.00    3765460.00        0.16760                         
         439824.00    3765460.00        0.16764                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.16769                         
         439844.00    3765460.00        0.16781                      
439849.00    3765460.00        0.16785                         
         439854.00    3765460.00        0.16788                      
439859.00    3765460.00        0.16791                         
         439674.00    3765465.00        0.16904                      
439679.00    3765465.00        0.16913                         
         439684.00    3765465.00        0.16921                      
439689.00    3765465.00        0.16928                         
         439694.00    3765465.00        0.16936                      
439699.00    3765465.00        0.16944                         
         439704.00    3765465.00        0.16951                      
439709.00    3765465.00        0.16959                         
         439714.00    3765465.00        0.16966                      
439719.00    3765465.00        0.16973                         
         439729.00    3765465.00        0.16988                      
439734.00    3765465.00        0.16994                         
         439739.00    3765465.00        0.17001                      
439744.00    3765465.00        0.17008                         
         439749.00    3765465.00        0.17015                      
439789.00    3765465.00        0.17065                         
         439794.00    3765465.00        0.17071                      
439799.00    3765465.00        0.17076                         
         439804.00    3765465.00        0.17082                      
439809.00    3765465.00        0.17088                         

279

Item D - 1629 of 1893



         439814.00    3765465.00        0.17093                      
439819.00    3765465.00        0.17098                         
         439824.00    3765465.00        0.17104                      
439829.00    3765465.00        0.17109                         
         439844.00    3765465.00        0.17123                      
439849.00    3765465.00        0.17127                         
         439854.00    3765465.00        0.17131                      
439859.00    3765465.00        0.17134                         
         439674.00    3765470.00        0.17244                      
439679.00    3765470.00        0.17253                         

280

Item D - 1630 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  89
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439684.00    3765470.00        0.17261                      
439689.00    3765470.00        0.17269                         
         439694.00    3765470.00        0.17277                      
439699.00    3765470.00        0.17285                         
         439704.00    3765470.00        0.17293                      
439709.00    3765470.00        0.17301                         
         439714.00    3765470.00        0.17309                      
439719.00    3765470.00        0.17316                         
         439729.00    3765470.00        0.17331                      
439734.00    3765470.00        0.17338                         
         439739.00    3765470.00        0.17346                      
439744.00    3765470.00        0.17353                         
         439749.00    3765470.00        0.17360                      
439789.00    3765470.00        0.17413                         
         439794.00    3765470.00        0.17420                      
439799.00    3765470.00        0.17426                         
         439804.00    3765470.00        0.17432                      
439809.00    3765470.00        0.17438                         

281

Item D - 1631 of 1893



         439814.00    3765470.00        0.17444                      
439819.00    3765470.00        0.17450                         
         439824.00    3765470.00        0.17456                      
439829.00    3765470.00        0.17461                         
         439844.00    3765470.00        0.17477                      
439849.00    3765470.00        0.17482                         
         439854.00    3765470.00        0.17486                      
439859.00    3765470.00        0.17491                         
         439674.00    3765475.00        0.17597                      
439679.00    3765475.00        0.17606                         
         439684.00    3765475.00        0.17615                      
439689.00    3765475.00        0.17623                         
         439694.00    3765475.00        0.17632                      
439699.00    3765475.00        0.17640                         
         439704.00    3765475.00        0.17648                      
439709.00    3765475.00        0.17656                         
         439714.00    3765475.00        0.17665                      
439719.00    3765475.00        0.17673                         
         439729.00    3765475.00        0.17688                      
439734.00    3765475.00        0.17696                         
         439739.00    3765475.00        0.17703                      
439744.00    3765475.00        0.17711                         
         439749.00    3765475.00        0.17718                      
439754.00    3765475.00        0.17726                         
         439789.00    3765475.00        0.17775                      
439794.00    3765475.00        0.17782                         
         439799.00    3765475.00        0.17789                      
439804.00    3765475.00        0.17795                         
         439809.00    3765475.00        0.17802                      
439814.00    3765475.00        0.17808                         
         439819.00    3765475.00        0.17815                      
439824.00    3765475.00        0.17821                         
         439829.00    3765475.00        0.17827                      
439269.00    3764900.00        0.04606                         
         439369.00    3764900.00        0.04642                      
439469.00    3764900.00        0.04639                         
         439569.00    3764900.00        0.04597                      
439669.00    3764900.00        0.04512                         
         439769.00    3764900.00        0.04385                      
439869.00    3764900.00        0.04214                         
         439969.00    3764900.00        0.04002                      
440069.00    3764900.00        0.03753                         
         440169.00    3764900.00        0.03475                      
440269.00    3764900.00        0.03183                         
         439269.00    3765000.00        0.05372                      
439369.00    3765000.00        0.05436                         
         439469.00    3765000.00        0.05456                      
439569.00    3765000.00        0.05430                         
         439669.00    3765000.00        0.05356                      
439769.00    3765000.00        0.05232                         
         439869.00    3765000.00        0.05055                      
439969.00    3765000.00        0.04821                         

282

Item D - 1632 of 1893



         440069.00    3765000.00        0.04534                      
440169.00    3765000.00        0.04199                         
         440269.00    3765000.00        0.03833                      
439269.00    3765100.00        0.06359                         
         439369.00    3765100.00        0.06461                      
439469.00    3765100.00        0.06510                         
         439569.00    3765100.00        0.06509                      
439669.00    3765100.00        0.06456                         
         439769.00    3765100.00        0.06346                      
439869.00    3765100.00        0.06172                         

283

Item D - 1633 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  90
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         439969.00    3765100.00        0.05926                      
440069.00    3765100.00        0.05603                         
         440169.00    3765100.00        0.05206                      
440269.00    3765100.00        0.04746                         
         439269.00    3765200.00        0.07686                      
439369.00    3765200.00        0.07837                         
         439469.00    3765200.00        0.07926                      
439569.00    3765200.00        0.07961                         
         439669.00    3765200.00        0.07941                      
439769.00    3765200.00        0.07861                         
         439869.00    3765200.00        0.07708                      
439969.00    3765200.00        0.07466                         
         440069.00    3765200.00        0.07121                      
440169.00    3765200.00        0.06661                         
         440269.00    3765200.00        0.06089                      
439269.00    3765300.00        0.09575                         
         439369.00    3765300.00        0.09797                      
439469.00    3765300.00        0.09947                         

284

Item D - 1634 of 1893



         439569.00    3765300.00        0.10035                      
439669.00    3765300.00        0.10068                         
         439769.00    3765300.00        0.10042                      
439869.00    3765300.00        0.09937                         
         439969.00    3765300.00        0.09727                      
440069.00    3765300.00        0.09384                         
         440169.00    3765300.00        0.08878                      
440269.00    3765300.00        0.08184                         
         439269.00    3765400.00        0.12516                      
439369.00    3765400.00        0.12859                         
         439469.00    3765400.00        0.13115                      
439569.00    3765400.00        0.13295                         
         439669.00    3765400.00        0.13412                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.13474                         
         439869.00    3765400.00        0.13465                      
439969.00    3765400.00        0.13333                         
         440069.00    3765400.00        0.13031                      
440169.00    3765400.00        0.12517                         
         440269.00    3765400.00        0.11721                      
439269.00    3765500.00        0.17876                         
         439369.00    3765500.00        0.18478                      
439469.00    3765500.00        0.18961                         
         439569.00    3765500.00        0.19322                      
439669.00    3765500.00        0.19582                         
         439769.00    3765500.00        0.19781                      
439869.00    3765500.00        0.19964                         
         439969.00    3765500.00        0.20029                      
440069.00    3765500.00        0.19829                         
         440169.00    3765500.00        0.19359                      
440269.00    3765500.00        0.18527                         
         439269.00    3765600.00        0.31632                      
439369.00    3765600.00        0.32940                         
         439469.00    3765600.00        0.34044                      
439569.00    3765600.00        0.34849                         
         439669.00    3765600.00        0.35423                      
439769.00    3765600.00        0.35865                         
         439869.00    3765600.00        0.36362                      
439969.00    3765600.00        0.37453                         
         440069.00    3765600.00        0.37423                      
440169.00    3765600.00        0.36957                         
         440269.00    3765600.00        0.36104                      
439269.00    3765700.00        1.67000                         
         439369.00    3765700.00        1.75481                      
439469.00    3765700.00        1.85402                         
         439569.00    3765700.00        1.93748                      
439669.00    3765700.00        1.99410                         
         439769.00    3765700.00        2.03560                      
439869.00    3765700.00        2.05444                         
         439969.00    3765700.00        2.07937                      
440069.00    3765700.00        2.11887                         
         440169.00    3765700.00        2.14786                      
440269.00    3765700.00        2.18082                         

285

Item D - 1635 of 1893



         439269.00    3765800.00        0.55059                      
439369.00    3765800.00        0.58078                         
         439469.00    3765800.00        0.60591                      
439569.00    3765800.00        0.62930                         
         439669.00    3765800.00        0.64728                      
439769.00    3765800.00        0.66861                         
         439869.00    3765800.00        0.69784                      
439969.00    3765800.00        0.66347                         
         440069.00    3765800.00        0.65659                      
440169.00    3765800.00        0.65426                         

286

Item D - 1636 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  91
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP: ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

       X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC                       
X-COORD (M)   Y-COORD (M)        CONC
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
         440269.00    3765800.00        0.65258                      
439269.00    3765900.00        0.20138                         
         439369.00    3765900.00        0.23137                      
439469.00    3765900.00        0.25454                         
         439569.00    3765900.00        0.27290                      
439669.00    3765900.00        0.28770                         
         439769.00    3765900.00        0.29954                      
439869.00    3765900.00        0.30880                         
         439969.00    3765900.00        0.31495                      
440069.00    3765900.00        0.31797                         
         440169.00    3765900.00        0.31964                      
440269.00    3765900.00        0.32025                         
         439649.00    3765310.00        0.10330                      
439679.00    3765310.00        0.10335                         
         439709.00    3765310.00        0.10334                      
439739.00    3765310.00        0.10327                         
         439769.00    3765310.00        0.10314                      
439799.00    3765310.00        0.10295                         

287

Item D - 1637 of 1893



         439829.00    3765310.00        0.10267                      
439859.00    3765310.00        0.10231                         
         439889.00    3765310.00        0.10185                      
439649.00    3765340.00        0.11199                         
         439679.00    3765340.00        0.11211                      
439709.00    3765340.00        0.11217                         
         439739.00    3765340.00        0.11217                      
439769.00    3765340.00        0.11211                         
         439799.00    3765340.00        0.11199                      
439829.00    3765340.00        0.11179                         
         439859.00    3765340.00        0.11150                      
439889.00    3765340.00        0.11111                         
         439649.00    3765370.00        0.12208                      
439679.00    3765370.00        0.12226                         
         439709.00    3765370.00        0.12240                      
439739.00    3765370.00        0.12249                         
         439769.00    3765370.00        0.12252                      
439799.00    3765370.00        0.12248                         
         439829.00    3765370.00        0.12237                      
439859.00    3765370.00        0.12216                         
         439889.00    3765370.00        0.12186                      
439649.00    3765400.00        0.13393                         
         439679.00    3765400.00        0.13420                      
439709.00    3765400.00        0.13443                         
         439739.00    3765400.00        0.13461                      
439769.00    3765400.00        0.13474                         
         439799.00    3765400.00        0.13480                      
439829.00    3765400.00        0.13480                         
         439859.00    3765400.00        0.13471                      
439889.00    3765400.00        0.13450                         
         439649.00    3765430.00        0.14810                      
439679.00    3765430.00        0.14847                         
         439709.00    3765430.00        0.14880                      
439739.00    3765430.00        0.14908                         
         439769.00    3765430.00        0.14932                      
439799.00    3765430.00        0.14951                         
         439829.00    3765430.00        0.14964                      
439859.00    3765430.00        0.14968                         
         439889.00    3765430.00        0.14962                      
439649.00    3765460.00        0.16536                         
         439679.00    3765460.00        0.16585                      
439709.00    3765460.00        0.16629                         
         439739.00    3765460.00        0.16670                      
439769.00    3765460.00        0.16706                         
         439799.00    3765460.00        0.16740                      
439829.00    3765460.00        0.16769                         
         439859.00    3765460.00        0.16791                      
439889.00    3765460.00        0.16803                         
         439649.00    3765490.00        0.18692                      
439679.00    3765490.00        0.18754                         
         439709.00    3765490.00        0.18812                      
439739.00    3765490.00        0.18865                         

288

Item D - 1638 of 1893



         439769.00    3765490.00        0.18917                      
439799.00    3765490.00        0.18967                         
         439829.00    3765490.00        0.19015                      
439859.00    3765490.00        0.19061                         
         439889.00    3765490.00        0.19098                                                                                     

289

Item D - 1639 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  92
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439674.00   3765310.00        1.31612  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765310.00        1.31670  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765310.00        1.31705  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765310.00        1.31782  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765310.00        1.31803  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765310.00        1.31894  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765310.00        1.31920  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765310.00        1.32027  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765310.00        1.32024  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765310.00        1.32148  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765310.00        1.32258  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765310.00        1.32296  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765310.00        1.32370  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765310.00        1.32434  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765310.00        1.32490  (13120808)                
439764.00   3765310.00        1.32726  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        1.32752  (13120808)                

290

Item D - 1640 of 1893



439774.00   3765310.00        1.32859  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765310.00        1.32889  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765310.00        1.32992  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765310.00        1.33004  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765310.00        1.33092  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765310.00        1.33138  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765310.00        1.33171  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765310.00        1.33224  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765310.00        1.33253  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765310.00        1.33326  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765310.00        1.33321  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        1.33388  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765310.00        1.33458  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765310.00        1.33421  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765310.00        1.33489  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765310.00        1.33438  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765310.00        1.33500  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765310.00        1.33445  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765310.00        1.33451  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765310.00        1.33440  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765310.00        1.33413  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765310.00        1.33419  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765315.00        1.32690  (13120808)          
        439679.00   3765315.00        1.32790  (13120808)                
439684.00   3765315.00        1.32777  (13120808)          
        439689.00   3765315.00        1.32893  (13120808)                
439694.00   3765315.00        1.32893  (13120808)          
        439699.00   3765315.00        1.32961  (13120808)                
439704.00   3765315.00        1.33012  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765315.00        1.33071  (13120808)                
439714.00   3765315.00        1.33148  (13120808)          
        439719.00   3765315.00        1.33173  (13120808)                
439729.00   3765315.00        1.33318  (13120808)          
        439734.00   3765315.00        1.33411  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765315.00        1.33443  (13120808)          
        439744.00   3765315.00        1.33565  (13120808)                
439749.00   3765315.00        1.33592  (13120808)          
        439764.00   3765315.00        1.33823  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765315.00        1.33881  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765315.00        1.33935  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765315.00        1.34020  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765315.00        1.34061  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765315.00        1.34153  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765315.00        1.34174  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765315.00        1.34274  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765315.00        1.34295  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765315.00        1.34398  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765315.00        1.34391  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765315.00        1.34486  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765315.00        1.34489  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765315.00        1.34540  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765315.00        1.34572  (13120808)                

291

Item D - 1641 of 1893



439844.00   3765315.00        1.34618  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765315.00        1.34603  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765315.00        1.34633  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765315.00        1.34623  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765315.00        1.34661  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765315.00        1.34627  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765315.00        1.34651  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765315.00        1.34605  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765315.00        1.34646  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765320.00        1.33823  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765320.00        1.33856  (13120808)          

292

Item D - 1642 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  93
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765320.00        1.33904  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765320.00        1.33944  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765320.00        1.34029  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765320.00        1.34055  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765320.00        1.34142  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765320.00        1.34158  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765320.00        1.34294  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765320.00        1.34292  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765320.00        1.34427  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765320.00        1.34523  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765320.00        1.34572  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765320.00        1.34643  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765320.00        1.34715  (13120808)                
439764.00   3765320.00        1.34917  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765320.00        1.35023  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765320.00        1.35066  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765320.00        1.35174  (13120808)                

293

Item D - 1643 of 1893



439784.00   3765320.00        1.35197  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765320.00        1.35316  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765320.00        1.35331  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765320.00        1.35415  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765320.00        1.35449  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765320.00        1.35519  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765320.00        1.35568  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765320.00        1.35610  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765320.00        1.35667  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765320.00        1.35692  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765320.00        1.35748  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765320.00        1.35817  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765320.00        1.35800  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765320.00        1.35861  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765320.00        1.35823  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765320.00        1.35853  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765320.00        1.35847  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765320.00        1.35833  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765320.00        1.35833  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765320.00        1.35809  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765325.00        1.34958  (13120808)          
        439679.00   3765325.00        1.34997  (13120808)                
439684.00   3765325.00        1.35058  (13120808)          
        439689.00   3765325.00        1.35082  (13120808)                
439694.00   3765325.00        1.35145  (13120808)          
        439699.00   3765325.00        1.35212  (13120808)                
439704.00   3765325.00        1.35248  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765325.00        1.35321  (13120808)                
439714.00   3765325.00        1.35367  (13120808)          
        439719.00   3765325.00        1.35448  (13120808)                
439729.00   3765325.00        1.35586  (13120808)          
        439734.00   3765325.00        1.35627  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765325.00        1.35747  (13120808)          
        439744.00   3765325.00        1.35785  (13120808)                
439749.00   3765325.00        1.35883  (13120808)          
        439754.00   3765325.00        1.35925  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765325.00        1.36165  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765325.00        1.36226  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765325.00        1.36296  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765325.00        1.36375  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765325.00        1.36430  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765325.00        1.36514  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765325.00        1.36562  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765325.00        1.36653  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765325.00        1.36680  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765325.00        1.36769  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765325.00        1.36800  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765325.00        1.36876  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765325.00        1.36889  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765325.00        1.36970  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765325.00        1.36997  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765325.00        1.37023  (13120808)                

294

Item D - 1644 of 1893



439854.00   3765325.00        1.37042  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765325.00        1.37062  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765325.00        1.37059  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765325.00        1.37086  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765325.00        1.37063  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765325.00        1.37093  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765325.00        1.37041  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765330.00        1.36097  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765330.00        1.36130  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765330.00        1.36198  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765330.00        1.36246  (13120808)          

295

Item D - 1645 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  94
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439694.00   3765330.00        1.36278  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765330.00        1.36353  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765330.00        1.36396  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765330.00        1.36499  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765330.00        1.36520  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765330.00        1.36616  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765330.00        1.36754  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765330.00        1.36805  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765330.00        1.36870  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765330.00        1.36958  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765330.00        1.37026  (13120808)                
439754.00   3765330.00        1.37112  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765330.00        1.37429  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765330.00        1.37461  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765330.00        1.37595  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765330.00        1.37618  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765330.00        1.37722  (13120808)                

296

Item D - 1646 of 1893



439799.00   3765330.00        1.37753  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765330.00        1.37849  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765330.00        1.37888  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765330.00        1.37957  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765330.00        1.38010  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765330.00        1.38069  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765330.00        1.38122  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765330.00        1.38211  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765330.00        1.38229  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765330.00        1.38288  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765330.00        1.38277  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765330.00        1.38323  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765330.00        1.38324  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765330.00        1.38323  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765330.00        1.38337  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765330.00        1.38333  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765330.00        1.38324  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765335.00        1.37292  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765335.00        1.37324  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765335.00        1.37362  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765335.00        1.37434  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765335.00        1.37473  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765335.00        1.37529  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765335.00        1.37567  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765335.00        1.37655  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765335.00        1.37711  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765335.00        1.37777  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765335.00        1.37918  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765335.00        1.38007  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765335.00        1.38058  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765335.00        1.38132  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765335.00        1.38213  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765335.00        1.38613  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765335.00        1.38685  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765335.00        1.38754  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765335.00        1.38848  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765335.00        1.38916  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765335.00        1.39456  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765335.00        1.39484  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765335.00        1.39534  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765335.00        1.39555  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765335.00        1.39570  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765335.00        1.39607  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765335.00        1.39591  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765335.00        1.39628  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765335.00        1.39603  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765335.00        1.39648  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765340.00        1.38492  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765340.00        1.38545  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765340.00        1.38575  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765340.00        1.38612  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765340.00        1.38688  (13120808)                

297

Item D - 1647 of 1893



439699.00   3765340.00        1.38718  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765340.00        1.38802  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765340.00        1.38828  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765340.00        1.38932  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765340.00        1.38983  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765340.00        1.39116  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765340.00        1.39211  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        1.39287  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765340.00        1.39346  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765340.00        1.39425  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765340.00        1.39816  (13120808)          

298

Item D - 1648 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  95
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439779.00   3765340.00        1.39948  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765340.00        1.39982  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765340.00        1.40080  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765340.00        1.40141  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765340.00        1.40723  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765340.00        1.40792  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765340.00        1.40814  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765340.00        1.40867  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        1.40874  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765340.00        1.40913  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765340.00        1.40916  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765340.00        1.40939  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765340.00        1.40915  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765340.00        1.40940  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765345.00        1.39736  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765345.00        1.39767  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765345.00        1.39832  (13120808)                

299

Item D - 1649 of 1893



439689.00   3765345.00        1.39860  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765345.00        1.39929  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765345.00        1.39942  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765345.00        1.40043  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765345.00        1.40056  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765345.00        1.40155  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765345.00        1.40214  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765345.00        1.40350  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765345.00        1.40432  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765345.00        1.40501  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765345.00        1.40599  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765345.00        1.40677  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765345.00        1.41072  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765345.00        1.41175  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765345.00        1.41273  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765345.00        1.41332  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765345.00        1.41414  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765345.00        1.42026  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765345.00        1.42095  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765345.00        1.42138  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765345.00        1.42167  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765345.00        1.42214  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765345.00        1.42217  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765345.00        1.42267  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765345.00        1.42256  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765345.00        1.42302  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765345.00        1.42277  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765350.00        1.41020  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765350.00        1.41050  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765350.00        1.41061  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765350.00        1.41121  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765350.00        1.41175  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765350.00        1.41237  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765350.00        1.41270  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765350.00        1.41346  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765350.00        1.41403  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765350.00        1.41480  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765350.00        1.41626  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765350.00        1.41695  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765350.00        1.41777  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765350.00        1.41853  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765350.00        1.41937  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765350.00        1.42368  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765350.00        1.42449  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765350.00        1.42546  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765350.00        1.42636  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765350.00        1.42723  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765350.00        1.43369  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765350.00        1.43417  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765350.00        1.43492  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765350.00        1.43518  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765350.00        1.43562  (13120808)                

300

Item D - 1650 of 1893



439864.00   3765350.00        1.43586  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765350.00        1.43637  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765350.00        1.43611  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765350.00        1.43654  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765350.00        1.43653  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765355.00        1.42294  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765355.00        1.42365  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765355.00        1.42382  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765355.00        1.42425  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765355.00        1.42441  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765355.00        1.42554  (13120808)          

301

Item D - 1651 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  96
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439704.00   3765355.00        1.42553  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765355.00        1.42624  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765355.00        1.42691  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765355.00        1.42775  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765355.00        1.42894  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765355.00        1.42972  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765355.00        1.43066  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765355.00        1.43159  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765355.00        1.43222  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765355.00        1.43686  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765355.00        1.43768  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765355.00        1.43864  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765355.00        1.43951  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765355.00        1.44054  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765355.00        1.44730  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765355.00        1.44779  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765355.00        1.44849  (13120808)                

302

Item D - 1652 of 1893



439854.00   3765355.00        1.44913  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765355.00        1.44922  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765355.00        1.44963  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765355.00        1.45009  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765355.00        1.45044  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765355.00        1.45049  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765355.00        1.45048  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765360.00        1.43629  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765360.00        1.43659  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765360.00        1.43719  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765360.00        1.43748  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765360.00        1.43779  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765360.00        1.43844  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765360.00        1.43912  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765360.00        1.43957  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765360.00        1.43996  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765360.00        1.44072  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765360.00        1.44219  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765360.00        1.44296  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765360.00        1.44379  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765360.00        1.44483  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765360.00        1.44544  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765360.00        1.45009  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765360.00        1.45097  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765360.00        1.45205  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765360.00        1.45317  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765360.00        1.45390  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765360.00        1.45480  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765360.00        1.45575  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765360.00        1.45668  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765360.00        1.45742  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765360.00        1.46128  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765360.00        1.46175  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765360.00        1.46239  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765360.00        1.46320  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765360.00        1.46353  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765360.00        1.46392  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765360.00        1.46395  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765360.00        1.46469  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765360.00        1.46480  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765360.00        1.46482  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765365.00        1.44994  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765365.00        1.45032  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765365.00        1.45087  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765365.00        1.45105  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765365.00        1.45165  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765365.00        1.45173  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765365.00        1.45252  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765365.00        1.45331  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765365.00        1.45373  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765365.00        1.45425  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765365.00        1.45586  (13120808)                

303

Item D - 1653 of 1893



439734.00   3765365.00        1.45648  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765365.00        1.45730  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765365.00        1.45806  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765365.00        1.45950  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765365.00        1.46384  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765365.00        1.46480  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765365.00        1.46567  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765365.00        1.46701  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765365.00        1.46761  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765365.00        1.46870  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765365.00        1.46959  (13120808)          

304

Item D - 1654 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  97
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765365.00        1.47059  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765365.00        1.47152  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765365.00        1.47547  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765365.00        1.47616  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765365.00        1.47669  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765365.00        1.47734  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765365.00        1.47785  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765365.00        1.47843  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765365.00        1.47859  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765365.00        1.47913  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765365.00        1.47931  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765365.00        1.47971  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765370.00        1.46394  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765370.00        1.46419  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765370.00        1.46471  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765370.00        1.46498  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765370.00        1.46552  (13120808)                

305

Item D - 1655 of 1893



439699.00   3765370.00        1.46579  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765370.00        1.46644  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765370.00        1.46693  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765370.00        1.46749  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765370.00        1.46841  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765370.00        1.46972  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765370.00        1.47055  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765370.00        1.47127  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765370.00        1.47183  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765370.00        1.47302  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765370.00        1.47807  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765370.00        1.47872  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765370.00        1.47989  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765370.00        1.48072  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765370.00        1.48210  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765370.00        1.48285  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765370.00        1.48390  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765370.00        1.48460  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765370.00        1.48595  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765370.00        1.49008  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765370.00        1.49062  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765370.00        1.49141  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765370.00        1.49209  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765370.00        1.49280  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765370.00        1.49295  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765370.00        1.49362  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765370.00        1.49386  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765370.00        1.49421  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765370.00        1.49459  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765375.00        1.47842  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765375.00        1.47866  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765375.00        1.47895  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765375.00        1.47955  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765375.00        1.47958  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765375.00        1.48000  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765375.00        1.48073  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765375.00        1.48131  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765375.00        1.48172  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765375.00        1.48244  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765375.00        1.48378  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765375.00        1.48461  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765375.00        1.48540  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765375.00        1.48668  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765375.00        1.48719  (13120808)                
439754.00   3765375.00        1.48820  (14100607)          
        439774.00   3765375.00        1.49224  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765375.00        1.49312  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765375.00        1.49436  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765375.00        1.49494  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765375.00        1.49633  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765375.00        1.49742  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765375.00        1.49839  (13120808)                

306

Item D - 1656 of 1893



439809.00   3765375.00        1.49940  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765375.00        1.50043  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765375.00        1.50515  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765375.00        1.50566  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765375.00        1.50627  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765375.00        1.50687  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765375.00        1.50789  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765375.00        1.50824  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765375.00        1.50871  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765375.00        1.50905  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765375.00        1.50969  (13120808)          

307

Item D - 1657 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  98
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439884.00   3765375.00        1.50995  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765380.00        1.50673  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765380.00        1.50818  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765380.00        1.50884  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765380.00        1.51031  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765380.00        1.51106  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765380.00        1.51214  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765380.00        1.51314  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765380.00        1.51442  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765380.00        1.51528  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765385.00        1.52073  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765385.00        1.53170  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765400.00        1.56826  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765400.00        1.58582  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765400.00        1.58694  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765405.00        1.58403  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765405.00        1.57955  (12011808)                

308

Item D - 1658 of 1893



439719.00   3765405.00        1.57922  (12011808)          
        439734.00   3765405.00        1.57966  (12011808)                
439749.00   3765405.00        1.58035  (13120808)          
        439754.00   3765405.00        1.58132  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765405.00        1.58630  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765405.00        1.58746  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765405.00        1.58901  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765405.00        1.59057  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765405.00        1.59135  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765405.00        1.59277  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765405.00        1.59390  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765405.00        1.59508  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765405.00        1.59574  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765405.00        1.59706  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765405.00        1.59833  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765405.00        1.59969  (13120808)                
439834.00   3765405.00        1.60082  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765405.00        1.60212  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765405.00        1.60308  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765405.00        1.60417  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765405.00        1.60529  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765405.00        1.60631  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765410.00        1.60830  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765410.00        1.60634  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765410.00        1.60303  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765410.00        1.60160  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765410.00        1.59839  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765410.00        1.59717  (12011808)                
439704.00   3765410.00        1.59773  (12011808)          
        439709.00   3765410.00        1.59782  (12011808)                
439714.00   3765410.00        1.59797  (12011808)          
        439719.00   3765410.00        1.59819  (12011808)                
439729.00   3765410.00        1.59861  (12011808)          
        439734.00   3765410.00        1.59804  (12011808)                
439739.00   3765410.00        1.59867  (12011808)          
        439744.00   3765410.00        1.59809  (12011808)                
439749.00   3765410.00        1.59895  (12011808)          
        439774.00   3765410.00        1.60330  (14100607)                
439779.00   3765410.00        1.60494  (14100607)          
        439784.00   3765410.00        1.60562  (14100607)                
439789.00   3765410.00        1.60774  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765410.00        1.60905  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765410.00        1.61003  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765410.00        1.61119  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765410.00        1.61246  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765410.00        1.61416  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765410.00        1.61457  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765410.00        1.61585  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765410.00        1.61712  (13120808)          
        439834.00   3765410.00        1.61843  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765410.00        1.61975  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765410.00        1.62087  (13120808)                

309

Item D - 1659 of 1893



439849.00   3765410.00        1.62206  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765410.00        1.62304  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765410.00        1.62411  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765415.00        1.63418  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765415.00        1.63095  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765415.00        1.62937  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765415.00        1.62579  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765415.00        1.62443  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765415.00        1.62118  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765415.00        1.61906  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765415.00        1.61685  (12011808)          

310

Item D - 1660 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE  99
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439714.00   3765415.00        1.61659  (12011808)                
439719.00   3765415.00        1.61727  (12011808)          
        439729.00   3765415.00        1.61737  (12011808)                
439734.00   3765415.00        1.61765  (12011808)          
        439739.00   3765415.00        1.61771  (12011808)                
439744.00   3765415.00        1.61800  (12011808)          
        439749.00   3765415.00        1.61777  (12011808)                
439774.00   3765415.00        1.62103  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765415.00        1.62219  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765415.00        1.62400  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765415.00        1.62461  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765415.00        1.62651  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765415.00        1.62796  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765415.00        1.62938  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765415.00        1.63035  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765415.00        1.63155  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765415.00        1.63324  (14100607)                

311

Item D - 1661 of 1893



439824.00   3765415.00        1.63388  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765415.00        1.63514  (13120808)                
439834.00   3765415.00        1.63636  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765415.00        1.63781  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765415.00        1.63896  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765415.00        1.64032  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765415.00        1.64159  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765415.00        1.64252  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765420.00        1.65883  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765420.00        1.65702  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765420.00        1.65416  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765420.00        1.65278  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765420.00        1.64933  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765420.00        1.64783  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765420.00        1.64468  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765420.00        1.64294  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765420.00        1.63928  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765420.00        1.63693  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765420.00        1.63639  (12011808)          
        439734.00   3765420.00        1.63717  (12011808)                
439739.00   3765420.00        1.63701  (12011808)          
        439744.00   3765420.00        1.63785  (12011808)                
439749.00   3765420.00        1.63734  (12011808)          
        439774.00   3765420.00        1.63858  (14100607)                
439779.00   3765420.00        1.64015  (14100607)          
        439784.00   3765420.00        1.64166  (14100607)                
439789.00   3765420.00        1.64347  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765420.00        1.64448  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765420.00        1.64619  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765420.00        1.64749  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765420.00        1.64892  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765420.00        1.64992  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765420.00        1.65139  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765420.00        1.65274  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765420.00        1.65404  (14100607)          
        439834.00   3765420.00        1.65497  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765420.00        1.65621  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765420.00        1.65778  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765420.00        1.65890  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765420.00        1.66025  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765420.00        1.66150  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765425.00        1.68504  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765425.00        1.68286  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765425.00        1.68072  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765425.00        1.67819  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765425.00        1.67681  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765425.00        1.67365  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765425.00        1.67212  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765425.00        1.66861  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765425.00        1.66724  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765425.00        1.66366  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765425.00        1.65837  (12011417)                

312

Item D - 1662 of 1893



439734.00   3765425.00        1.65690  (12011808)          
        439739.00   3765425.00        1.65766  (12011808)                
439744.00   3765425.00        1.65728  (12011808)          
        439749.00   3765425.00        1.65863  (12011808)                
439774.00   3765425.00        1.65841  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765425.00        1.65888  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765425.00        1.66011  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765425.00        1.66180  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765425.00        1.66359  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765425.00        1.66482  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765425.00        1.66634  (14100607)          

313

Item D - 1663 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 100
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765425.00        1.66760  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765425.00        1.66956  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765425.00        1.67041  (14100607)                
439824.00   3765425.00        1.67198  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765425.00        1.67291  (14100607)                
439834.00   3765425.00        1.67452  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765425.00        1.67540  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765425.00        1.67694  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765425.00        1.67820  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765425.00        1.67962  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765425.00        1.68086  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765430.00        1.71166  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765430.00        1.70940  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765430.00        1.70752  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765430.00        1.70522  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765430.00        1.70285  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765430.00        1.70128  (12011417)                

314

Item D - 1664 of 1893



439704.00   3765430.00        1.69835  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        1.69707  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765430.00        1.69314  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765430.00        1.69204  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765430.00        1.68659  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765430.00        1.68308  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        1.68119  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765430.00        1.67867  (12011808)                
439749.00   3765430.00        1.67841  (12011808)          
        439774.00   3765430.00        1.68072  (12011808)                
439779.00   3765430.00        1.67941  (12011808)          
        439784.00   3765430.00        1.68045  (12011808)                
439789.00   3765430.00        1.68068  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765430.00        1.68227  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765430.00        1.68418  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765430.00        1.68582  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765430.00        1.68731  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765430.00        1.68842  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765430.00        1.69041  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765430.00        1.69156  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765430.00        1.69291  (14100607)          
        439834.00   3765430.00        1.69385  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765430.00        1.69572  (14100607)          
        439844.00   3765430.00        1.69653  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765430.00        1.69819  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765430.00        1.69944  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765430.00        1.70109  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765435.00        1.73801  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765435.00        1.73663  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765435.00        1.73442  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765435.00        1.73262  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765435.00        1.73051  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765435.00        1.72792  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765435.00        1.72647  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765435.00        1.72347  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765435.00        1.72262  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765435.00        1.71852  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765435.00        1.71390  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765435.00        1.71260  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765435.00        1.70873  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765435.00        1.70712  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765435.00        1.70350  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765435.00        1.70117  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765435.00        1.70258  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765435.00        1.70167  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765435.00        1.70253  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765435.00        1.70215  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765435.00        1.70377  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765435.00        1.70563  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765435.00        1.70727  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765435.00        1.70878  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765435.00        1.71017  (14100607)                

315

Item D - 1665 of 1893



439824.00   3765435.00        1.71181  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765435.00        1.71352  (14100607)                
439834.00   3765435.00        1.71479  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765435.00        1.71559  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765435.00        1.71745  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765435.00        1.71842  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765435.00        1.72000  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765435.00        1.72117  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765440.00        1.76621  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765440.00        1.76348  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765440.00        1.76245  (12011417)          

316

Item D - 1666 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 101
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439689.00   3765440.00        1.75977  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765440.00        1.75838  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765440.00        1.75638  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765440.00        1.75389  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765440.00        1.75229  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765440.00        1.74953  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765440.00        1.74876  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765440.00        1.74398  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765440.00        1.74010  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765440.00        1.73916  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765440.00        1.73489  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765440.00        1.73362  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765440.00        1.72363  (12011808)                
439779.00   3765440.00        1.72400  (12011808)          
        439784.00   3765440.00        1.72475  (12011808)                
439789.00   3765440.00        1.72472  (12011808)          
        439794.00   3765440.00        1.72524  (12011808)                

317

Item D - 1667 of 1893



439799.00   3765440.00        1.72453  (12011808)          
        439804.00   3765440.00        1.72587  (12011808)                
439809.00   3765440.00        1.72756  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765440.00        1.72946  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765440.00        1.73106  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765440.00        1.73269  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765440.00        1.73402  (14100607)          
        439834.00   3765440.00        1.73569  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765440.00        1.73716  (14100607)          
        439844.00   3765440.00        1.73833  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765440.00        1.73947  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765440.00        1.74096  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765440.00        1.74266  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765445.00        1.79292  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765445.00        1.79243  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765445.00        1.78980  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765445.00        1.78880  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765445.00        1.78626  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765445.00        1.78496  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765445.00        1.78286  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765445.00        1.78076  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765445.00        1.77915  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765445.00        1.77608  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765445.00        1.77187  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765445.00        1.77081  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765445.00        1.76687  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765445.00        1.76632  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765445.00        1.76206  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765445.00        1.74872  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765445.00        1.74647  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765445.00        1.74756  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765445.00        1.74740  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765445.00        1.74847  (12011808)          
        439799.00   3765445.00        1.74854  (12011808)                
439804.00   3765445.00        1.74830  (12011808)          
        439809.00   3765445.00        1.74919  (12011808)                
439814.00   3765445.00        1.75040  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765445.00        1.75224  (14100607)                
439824.00   3765445.00        1.75402  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765445.00        1.75563  (14100607)                
439834.00   3765445.00        1.75700  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765445.00        1.75874  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765445.00        1.76005  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765445.00        1.76184  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765445.00        1.76265  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765445.00        1.76445  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765450.00        1.82235  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765450.00        1.81987  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765450.00        1.81950  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765450.00        1.81686  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765450.00        1.81579  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765450.00        1.81346  (12011417)                

318

Item D - 1668 of 1893



439704.00   3765450.00        1.81242  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765450.00        1.81005  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765450.00        1.80806  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765450.00        1.80653  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765450.00        1.80285  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765450.00        1.79944  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765450.00        1.79865  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765450.00        1.79459  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765450.00        1.79413  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765450.00        1.78012  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765450.00        1.78274  (14100607)          

319

Item D - 1669 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 102
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439849.00   3765450.00        1.78406  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765450.00        1.78545  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765450.00        1.78648  (14100607)                
439674.00   3765455.00        1.85042  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765455.00        1.85012  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765455.00        1.84763  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765455.00        1.84713  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765455.00        1.84468  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765455.00        1.84366  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765455.00        1.84145  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765455.00        1.84017  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765455.00        1.83815  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765455.00        1.83610  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765455.00        1.83192  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765455.00        1.83127  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765455.00        1.82790  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765455.00        1.82713  (12011417)                

320

Item D - 1670 of 1893



439749.00   3765455.00        1.82347  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765455.00        1.80561  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765455.00        1.80707  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765455.00        1.80889  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765455.00        1.81036  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765460.00        1.88097  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765460.00        1.87852  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765460.00        1.87840  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765460.00        1.87621  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765460.00        1.87561  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765460.00        1.87294  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765460.00        1.87271  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        1.87026  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765460.00        1.86903  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765460.00        1.86716  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765460.00        1.86390  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765460.00        1.86129  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        1.86032  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765460.00        1.85725  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765460.00        1.85651  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765460.00        1.83622  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765460.00        1.83344  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765460.00        1.82996  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765460.00        1.82763  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765460.00        1.82364  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765460.00        1.82310  (12011808)                
439819.00   3765460.00        1.82443  (12011808)          
        439824.00   3765460.00        1.82320  (12011808)                
439829.00   3765460.00        1.82431  (12011808)          
        439844.00   3765460.00        1.82912  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765460.00        1.83164  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765460.00        1.83310  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765460.00        1.83409  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765465.00        1.91085  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765465.00        1.91008  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765465.00        1.90774  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765465.00        1.90774  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765465.00        1.90564  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765465.00        1.90508  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765465.00        1.90272  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765465.00        1.90226  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765465.00        1.89991  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765465.00        1.89894  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765465.00        1.89471  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765465.00        1.89387  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765465.00        1.89152  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765465.00        1.89037  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765465.00        1.88750  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765465.00        1.86972  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765465.00        1.86698  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765465.00        1.86449  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765465.00        1.86110  (12011417)                

321

Item D - 1671 of 1893



439809.00   3765465.00        1.85871  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765465.00        1.85455  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765465.00        1.85252  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765465.00        1.85125  (12011808)                
439829.00   3765465.00        1.85036  (12011808)          
        439844.00   3765465.00        1.85435  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765465.00        1.85569  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765465.00        1.85761  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765465.00        1.85972  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765470.00        1.94250  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765470.00        1.94058  (12011417)          

322

Item D - 1672 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 103
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765470.00        1.93994  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765470.00        1.93815  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765470.00        1.93787  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765470.00        1.93591  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765470.00        1.93538  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765470.00        1.93304  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765470.00        1.93276  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765470.00        1.93045  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765470.00        1.92778  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765470.00        1.92561  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765470.00        1.92467  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765470.00        1.92253  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765470.00        1.92150  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765470.00        1.90425  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765470.00        1.90157  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765470.00        1.89872  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765470.00        1.89660  (12011417)                

323

Item D - 1673 of 1893



439809.00   3765470.00        1.89286  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765470.00        1.89066  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765470.00        1.88695  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765470.00        1.88465  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765470.00        1.88045  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765470.00        1.87916  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765470.00        1.88121  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765470.00        1.88322  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765470.00        1.88545  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765475.00        1.97380  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765475.00        1.97335  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765475.00        1.97137  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765475.00        1.97123  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765475.00        1.96926  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765475.00        1.96920  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765475.00        1.96705  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765475.00        1.96659  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765475.00        1.96460  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765475.00        1.96409  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765475.00        1.96099  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765475.00        1.95936  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765475.00        1.95751  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765475.00        1.95664  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765475.00        1.95449  (12011417)                
439754.00   3765475.00        1.95348  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765475.00        1.93922  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765475.00        1.93712  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765475.00        1.93433  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765475.00        1.93159  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765475.00        1.92962  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765475.00        1.92596  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765475.00        1.92369  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765475.00        1.92022  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765475.00        1.91807  (12011417)                
439269.00   3764900.00        0.81860  (13120808)          
        439369.00   3764900.00        0.81738  (13120808)                
439469.00   3764900.00        0.81421  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3764900.00        0.80580  (13120808)                
439669.00   3764900.00        0.78696  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3764900.00        0.78488  (12010217)                
439869.00   3764900.00        0.77825  (12010217)          
        439969.00   3764900.00        0.75971  (12010217)                
440069.00   3764900.00        0.76638  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3764900.00        0.77186  (15010717)                
440269.00   3764900.00        0.77514  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765000.00        0.89521  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765000.00        0.89461  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765000.00        0.89407  (13120808)                
439569.00   3765000.00        0.89240  (13120808)          
        439669.00   3765000.00        0.88376  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765000.00        0.85967  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765000.00        0.85734  (12010217)                

324

Item D - 1674 of 1893



439969.00   3765000.00        0.84706  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765000.00        0.84339  (15010717)                
440169.00   3765000.00        0.84664  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765000.00        0.84848  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765100.00        0.99136  (13120808)          
        439369.00   3765100.00        0.99107  (13120808)                
439469.00   3765100.00        0.99051  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3765100.00        0.99203  (13120808)                
439669.00   3765100.00        0.99228  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765100.00        0.98315  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765100.00        0.95380  (13120808)          

325

Item D - 1675 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 104
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439969.00   3765100.00        0.94992  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765100.00        0.93766  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3765100.00        0.93990  (15010717)                
440269.00   3765100.00        0.94031  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765200.00        1.11783  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765200.00        1.11904  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765200.00        1.11696  (13120808)                
439569.00   3765200.00        1.11716  (13120808)          
        439669.00   3765200.00        1.12179  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765200.00        1.12546  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765200.00        1.11526  (13120808)                
439969.00   3765200.00        1.07910  (13120808)          
        440069.00   3765200.00        1.07036  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765200.00        1.06123  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765200.00        1.06152  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765300.00        1.33818  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765300.00        1.30845  (12011417)                

326

Item D - 1676 of 1893



439469.00   3765300.00        1.29458  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3765300.00        1.29112  (13120808)                
439669.00   3765300.00        1.29474  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765300.00        1.30661  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765300.00        1.31146  (13120808)          
        439969.00   3765300.00        1.29756  (13120808)                
440069.00   3765300.00        1.25571  (13120808)          
        440169.00   3765300.00        1.23672  (12010217)                
440269.00   3765300.00        1.23086  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765400.00        1.67154  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765400.00        1.65476  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765400.00        1.63212  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765400.00        1.60324  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765400.00        1.56211  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        1.56826  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765400.00        1.59038  (13120808)                
439969.00   3765400.00        1.59150  (13120808)          
        440069.00   3765400.00        1.57499  (13120808)                
440169.00   3765400.00        1.52549  (13120808)          
        440269.00   3765400.00        1.52387  (12011608)                
439269.00   3765500.00        2.19780  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765500.00        2.19361  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765500.00        2.18060  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765500.00        2.16371  (12011417)                
439669.00   3765500.00        2.14880  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765500.00        2.13312  (12011417)                
439869.00   3765500.00        2.09228  (12011417)          
        439969.00   3765500.00        2.08853  (13120808)                
440069.00   3765500.00        2.08038  (13120808)          
        440169.00   3765500.00        2.06199  (13120808)                
440269.00   3765500.00        2.06692  (12011608)          
        439269.00   3765600.00        3.48269  (12101307)                
439369.00   3765600.00        3.46847  (12101307)          
        439469.00   3765600.00        3.43151  (12101307)                
439569.00   3765600.00        3.38714  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765600.00        3.37011  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765600.00        3.36283  (12011417)          
        439869.00   3765600.00        3.39883  (12011417)                
439969.00   3765600.00        3.42312  (12011417)          
        440069.00   3765600.00        3.53049  (14101107)                
440169.00   3765600.00        3.61368  (14101107)          
        440269.00   3765600.00        3.66595  (14101107)                
439269.00   3765700.00       14.56472  (12101307)          
        439369.00   3765700.00       15.07590  (12101307)                
439469.00   3765700.00       15.66274  (12101307)          
        439569.00   3765700.00       16.04418  (14101107)                
439669.00   3765700.00       16.42742  (14101107)          
        439769.00   3765700.00       16.65484  (14101107)                
439869.00   3765700.00       16.87478  (14101107)          
        439969.00   3765700.00       16.90265  (14101107)                
440069.00   3765700.00       17.19848  (12101207)          
        440169.00   3765700.00       17.28501  (12101207)                

327

Item D - 1677 of 1893



440269.00   3765700.00       17.52593  (12101207)          
        439269.00   3765800.00        4.32810  (12100707)                
439369.00   3765800.00        4.36921  (12100707)          
        439469.00   3765800.00        4.34561  (12100707)                
439569.00   3765800.00        4.31596  (12100707)          
        439669.00   3765800.00        4.30851  (12100707)                
439769.00   3765800.00        4.31304  (12100707)          
        439869.00   3765800.00        4.38199  (13111217)                
439969.00   3765800.00        4.12393  (12011717)          
        440069.00   3765800.00        4.06776  (12011717)                
440169.00   3765800.00        4.06044  (12011717)          

328

Item D - 1678 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 105
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  EXH      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        440269.00   3765800.00        4.07663  (12011717)                
439269.00   3765900.00        2.49048  (12100707)          
        439369.00   3765900.00        2.44857  (12100707)                
439469.00   3765900.00        2.39490  (12100707)          
        439569.00   3765900.00        2.32766  (12100707)                
439669.00   3765900.00        2.34570  (13111217)          
        439769.00   3765900.00        2.39147  (13111217)                
439869.00   3765900.00        2.42311  (13111217)          
        439969.00   3765900.00        2.42579  (13111217)                
440069.00   3765900.00        2.39105  (13111217)          
        440169.00   3765900.00        2.38063  (13111217)                
440269.00   3765900.00        2.39922  (12011717)          
        439649.00   3765310.00        1.31420  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765310.00        1.31670  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765310.00        1.32027  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765310.00        1.32370  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        1.32752  (13120808)                

329

Item D - 1679 of 1893



439799.00   3765310.00        1.33138  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        1.33388  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765310.00        1.33500  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765310.00        1.33348  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765340.00        1.38371  (13120808)          
        439679.00   3765340.00        1.38545  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765340.00        1.38828  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        1.39287  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765340.00        1.39757  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765340.00        1.40256  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765340.00        1.40612  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        1.40874  (13120808)                
439889.00   3765340.00        1.40931  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765370.00        1.46317  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765370.00        1.46419  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765370.00        1.46693  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765370.00        1.47127  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765370.00        1.47678  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765370.00        1.48285  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765370.00        1.48834  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765370.00        1.49280  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765370.00        1.49469  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765400.00        1.57213  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765400.00        1.56119  (12011808)                
439709.00   3765400.00        1.56142  (12011808)          
        439739.00   3765400.00        1.56204  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765400.00        1.56826  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765400.00        1.57546  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765400.00        1.58255  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765400.00        1.58877  (13120808)                
439889.00   3765400.00        1.59279  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765430.00        1.71989  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765430.00        1.70940  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        1.69707  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        1.68119  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765430.00        1.67905  (12011808)                
439799.00   3765430.00        1.68418  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765430.00        1.69291  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765430.00        1.70109  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765430.00        1.70744  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765460.00        1.88705  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765460.00        1.87852  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        1.87026  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        1.86032  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765460.00        1.84734  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765460.00        1.82996  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        1.82431  (12011808)          
        439859.00   3765460.00        1.83409  (14100607)                
439889.00   3765460.00        1.84365  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765490.00        2.08024  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765490.00        2.07413  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765490.00        2.06936  (12011417)                

330

Item D - 1680 of 1893



439739.00   3765490.00        2.06333  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765490.00        2.05619  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765490.00        2.04596  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765490.00        2.03231  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765490.00        2.01424  (12011417)          
        439889.00   3765490.00        2.01037  (13120808)                                                                           

331

Item D - 1681 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 106
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439674.00   3765310.00        1.27030  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765310.00        1.27044  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765310.00        1.27032  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765310.00        1.27059  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765310.00        1.27028  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765310.00        1.27063  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765310.00        1.27034  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765310.00        1.27081  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765310.00        1.27017  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765310.00        1.27079  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765310.00        1.27058  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765310.00        1.27029  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765310.00        1.27035  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765310.00        1.27030  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765310.00        1.27016  (13120808)                
439764.00   3765310.00        1.27046  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        1.27002  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765310.00        1.27043  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765310.00        1.27006  (13120808)                

332

Item D - 1682 of 1893



439784.00   3765310.00        1.27045  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765310.00        1.26993  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765310.00        1.27020  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765310.00        1.27007  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765310.00        1.26984  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765310.00        1.26982  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765310.00        1.26960  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765310.00        1.26985  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765310.00        1.26937  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        1.26960  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765310.00        1.26959  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765310.00        1.26891  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765310.00        1.26933  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765310.00        1.26858  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765310.00        1.26901  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765310.00        1.26831  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765310.00        1.26826  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765310.00        1.26806  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765310.00        1.26775  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765310.00        1.26781  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765315.00        1.28111  (13120808)          
        439679.00   3765315.00        1.28166  (13120808)                
439684.00   3765315.00        1.28109  (13120808)          
        439689.00   3765315.00        1.28173  (13120808)                
439694.00   3765315.00        1.28122  (13120808)          
        439699.00   3765315.00        1.28136  (13120808)                
439704.00   3765315.00        1.28128  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765315.00        1.28129  (13120808)                
439714.00   3765315.00        1.28144  (13120808)          
        439719.00   3765315.00        1.28106  (13120808)                
439729.00   3765315.00        1.28119  (13120808)          
        439734.00   3765315.00        1.28142  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765315.00        1.28105  (13120808)          
        439744.00   3765315.00        1.28157  (13120808)                
439749.00   3765315.00        1.28112  (13120808)          
        439764.00   3765315.00        1.28129  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765315.00        1.28116  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765315.00        1.28100  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765315.00        1.28117  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765315.00        1.28090  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765315.00        1.28117  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765315.00        1.28072  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765315.00        1.28111  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765315.00        1.28071  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765315.00        1.28118  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765315.00        1.28057  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765315.00        1.28101  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765315.00        1.28057  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765315.00        1.28062  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765315.00        1.28015  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765315.00        1.28030  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765315.00        1.27984  (13120808)                

333

Item D - 1683 of 1893



439854.00   3765315.00        1.27989  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765315.00        1.27957  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765315.00        1.27976  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765315.00        1.27930  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765315.00        1.27943  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765315.00        1.27890  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765315.00        1.27929  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765320.00        1.29245  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765320.00        1.29235  (13120808)          

334

Item D - 1684 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 107
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765320.00        1.29237  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765320.00        1.29228  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765320.00        1.29262  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765320.00        1.29234  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765320.00        1.29263  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765320.00        1.29220  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765320.00        1.29293  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765320.00        1.29227  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765320.00        1.29228  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765320.00        1.29254  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765320.00        1.29232  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765320.00        1.29232  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765320.00        1.29232  (13120808)                
439764.00   3765320.00        1.29212  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765320.00        1.29244  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765320.00        1.29215  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765320.00        1.29251  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765320.00        1.29204  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765320.00        1.29254  (13120808)                

335

Item D - 1685 of 1893



439794.00   3765320.00        1.29202  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765320.00        1.29220  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765320.00        1.29191  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765320.00        1.29201  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765320.00        1.29192  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765320.00        1.29181  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765320.00        1.29185  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765320.00        1.29165  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765320.00        1.29136  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765320.00        1.29169  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765320.00        1.29119  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765320.00        1.29151  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765320.00        1.29088  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765320.00        1.29098  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765320.00        1.29076  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765320.00        1.29049  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765320.00        1.29041  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765320.00        1.29013  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765325.00        1.30382  (13120808)          
        439679.00   3765325.00        1.30377  (13120808)                
439684.00   3765325.00        1.30394  (13120808)          
        439689.00   3765325.00        1.30371  (13120808)                
439694.00   3765325.00        1.30382  (13120808)          
        439699.00   3765325.00        1.30395  (13120808)                
439704.00   3765325.00        1.30374  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765325.00        1.30387  (13120808)                
439714.00   3765325.00        1.30371  (13120808)          
        439719.00   3765325.00        1.30388  (13120808)                
439729.00   3765325.00        1.30390  (13120808)          
        439734.00   3765325.00        1.30360  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765325.00        1.30406  (13120808)          
        439744.00   3765325.00        1.30372  (13120808)                
439749.00   3765325.00        1.30394  (13120808)          
        439754.00   3765325.00        1.30362  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765325.00        1.30374  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765325.00        1.30360  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765325.00        1.30355  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765325.00        1.30361  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765325.00        1.30344  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765325.00        1.30358  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765325.00        1.30338  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765325.00        1.30363  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765325.00        1.30325  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765325.00        1.30355  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765325.00        1.30328  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765325.00        1.30349  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765325.00        1.30312  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765325.00        1.30302  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765325.00        1.30289  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765325.00        1.30280  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765325.00        1.30267  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765325.00        1.30259  (13120808)                

336

Item D - 1686 of 1893



439864.00   3765325.00        1.30234  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765325.00        1.30241  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765325.00        1.30204  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765325.00        1.30223  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765325.00        1.30165  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765330.00        1.31522  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765330.00        1.31515  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765330.00        1.31537  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765330.00        1.31538  (13120808)          

337

Item D - 1687 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 108
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439694.00   3765330.00        1.31519  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765330.00        1.31541  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765330.00        1.31527  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765330.00        1.31569  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765330.00        1.31530  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765330.00        1.31559  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765330.00        1.31562  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765330.00        1.31540  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765330.00        1.31532  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765330.00        1.31544  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765330.00        1.31537  (13120808)                
439754.00   3765330.00        1.31544  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765330.00        1.31549  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765330.00        1.31504  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765330.00        1.31561  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765330.00        1.31511  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765330.00        1.31540  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765330.00        1.31501  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765330.00        1.31527  (13120808)                

338

Item D - 1688 of 1893



439809.00   3765330.00        1.31499  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765330.00        1.31503  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765330.00        1.31494  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765330.00        1.31497  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765330.00        1.31494  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765330.00        1.31487  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765330.00        1.31461  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765330.00        1.31483  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765330.00        1.31437  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765330.00        1.31452  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765330.00        1.31429  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765330.00        1.31404  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765330.00        1.31402  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765330.00        1.31384  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765330.00        1.31365  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765335.00        1.32717  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765335.00        1.32710  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765335.00        1.32705  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765335.00        1.32731  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765335.00        1.32720  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765335.00        1.32722  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765335.00        1.32705  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765335.00        1.32731  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765335.00        1.32725  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765335.00        1.32727  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765335.00        1.32730  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765335.00        1.32745  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765335.00        1.32722  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765335.00        1.32720  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765335.00        1.32724  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765335.00        1.32721  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765335.00        1.32713  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765335.00        1.32703  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765335.00        1.32719  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765335.00        1.32710  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765335.00        1.32675  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765335.00        1.32658  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765335.00        1.32666  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765335.00        1.32649  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765335.00        1.32632  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765335.00        1.32638  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765335.00        1.32599  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765335.00        1.32617  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765335.00        1.32575  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765335.00        1.32608  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765340.00        1.33918  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765340.00        1.33932  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765340.00        1.33922  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765340.00        1.33911  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765340.00        1.33940  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765340.00        1.33917  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765340.00        1.33945  (13120808)                

339

Item D - 1689 of 1893



439709.00   3765340.00        1.33913  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765340.00        1.33952  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765340.00        1.33939  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765340.00        1.33932  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765340.00        1.33954  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        1.33954  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765340.00        1.33936  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765340.00        1.33934  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765340.00        1.33915  (13120808)          

340

Item D - 1690 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 109
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439779.00   3765340.00        1.33963  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765340.00        1.33916  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765340.00        1.33930  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765340.00        1.33914  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765340.00        1.33889  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765340.00        1.33907  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765340.00        1.33883  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765340.00        1.33896  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        1.33866  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765340.00        1.33873  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765340.00        1.33851  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765340.00        1.33849  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765340.00        1.33808  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765340.00        1.33819  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765345.00        1.35163  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765345.00        1.35156  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765345.00        1.35180  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765345.00        1.35164  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765345.00        1.35184  (13120808)                

341

Item D - 1691 of 1893



439699.00   3765345.00        1.35147  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765345.00        1.35191  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765345.00        1.35147  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765345.00        1.35183  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765345.00        1.35177  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765345.00        1.35172  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765345.00        1.35182  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765345.00        1.35173  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765345.00        1.35193  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765345.00        1.35189  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765345.00        1.35162  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765345.00        1.35179  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765345.00        1.35192  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765345.00        1.35166  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765345.00        1.35164  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765345.00        1.35137  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765345.00        1.35151  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765345.00        1.35147  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765345.00        1.35131  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765345.00        1.35137  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765345.00        1.35106  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765345.00        1.35125  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765345.00        1.35089  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765345.00        1.35113  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765345.00        1.35073  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765350.00        1.36445  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765350.00        1.36440  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765350.00        1.36411  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765350.00        1.36431  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765350.00        1.36435  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765350.00        1.36447  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765350.00        1.36426  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765350.00        1.36442  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765350.00        1.36439  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765350.00        1.36450  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765350.00        1.36456  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765350.00        1.36451  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765350.00        1.36455  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765350.00        1.36452  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765350.00        1.36453  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765350.00        1.36450  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765350.00        1.36444  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765350.00        1.36451  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765350.00        1.36455  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765350.00        1.36453  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765350.00        1.36424  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765350.00        1.36416  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765350.00        1.36439  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765350.00        1.36415  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765350.00        1.36416  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765350.00        1.36402  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765350.00        1.36419  (13120808)                

342

Item D - 1692 of 1893



439874.00   3765350.00        1.36366  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765350.00        1.36384  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765350.00        1.36364  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765355.00        1.37717  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765355.00        1.37754  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765355.00        1.37735  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765355.00        1.37735  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765355.00        1.37707  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765355.00        1.37769  (13120808)          

343

Item D - 1693 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 110
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439704.00   3765355.00        1.37716  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765355.00        1.37728  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765355.00        1.37736  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765355.00        1.37753  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765355.00        1.37732  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765355.00        1.37734  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765355.00        1.37751  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765355.00        1.37763  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765355.00        1.37744  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765355.00        1.37763  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765355.00        1.37754  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765355.00        1.37759  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765355.00        1.37755  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765355.00        1.37768  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765355.00        1.37731  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765355.00        1.37721  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765355.00        1.37733  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765355.00        1.37745  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765355.00        1.37708  (13120808)                

344

Item D - 1694 of 1893



439864.00   3765355.00        1.37707  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765355.00        1.37715  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765355.00        1.37718  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765355.00        1.37697  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765355.00        1.37674  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765360.00        1.39051  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765360.00        1.39049  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765360.00        1.39073  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765360.00        1.39061  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765360.00        1.39049  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765360.00        1.39064  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765360.00        1.39080  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765360.00        1.39069  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765360.00        1.39047  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765360.00        1.39060  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765360.00        1.39067  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765360.00        1.39068  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765360.00        1.39073  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765360.00        1.39094  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765360.00        1.39071  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765360.00        1.39083  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765360.00        1.39077  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765360.00        1.39090  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765360.00        1.39108  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765360.00        1.39087  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765360.00        1.39084  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765360.00        1.39089  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765360.00        1.39092  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765360.00        1.39080  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765360.00        1.39078  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765360.00        1.39060  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765360.00        1.39062  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765360.00        1.39088  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765360.00        1.39069  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765360.00        1.39062  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765360.00        1.39026  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765360.00        1.39064  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765360.00        1.39044  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765360.00        1.39022  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765365.00        1.40410  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765365.00        1.40419  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765365.00        1.40441  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765365.00        1.40421  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765365.00        1.40438  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765365.00        1.40400  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765365.00        1.40427  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765365.00        1.40450  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765365.00        1.40433  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765365.00        1.40421  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765365.00        1.40443  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765365.00        1.40430  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765365.00        1.40433  (13120808)                

345

Item D - 1695 of 1893



439744.00   3765365.00        1.40427  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765365.00        1.40471  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765365.00        1.40457  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765365.00        1.40455  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765365.00        1.40445  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765365.00        1.40481  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765365.00        1.40445  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765365.00        1.40457  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765365.00        1.40451  (13120808)          

346

Item D - 1696 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 111
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765365.00        1.40457  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765365.00        1.40461  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765365.00        1.40446  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765365.00        1.40443  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765365.00        1.40433  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765365.00        1.40436  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765365.00        1.40433  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765365.00        1.40441  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765365.00        1.40413  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765365.00        1.40427  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765365.00        1.40413  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765365.00        1.40423  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765370.00        1.41804  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765370.00        1.41803  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765370.00        1.41824  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765370.00        1.41815  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765370.00        1.41828  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765370.00        1.41812  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765370.00        1.41827  (13120808)                

347

Item D - 1697 of 1893



439709.00   3765370.00        1.41822  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765370.00        1.41819  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765370.00        1.41846  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765370.00        1.41839  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765370.00        1.41848  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765370.00        1.41839  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765370.00        1.41813  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765370.00        1.41845  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765370.00        1.41862  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765370.00        1.41844  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765370.00        1.41862  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765370.00        1.41843  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765370.00        1.41881  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765370.00        1.41856  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765370.00        1.41862  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765370.00        1.41835  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765370.00        1.41874  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765370.00        1.41855  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765370.00        1.41835  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765370.00        1.41845  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765370.00        1.41846  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765370.00        1.41858  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765370.00        1.41820  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765370.00        1.41838  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765370.00        1.41819  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765370.00        1.41817  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765370.00        1.41825  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765375.00        1.43247  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765375.00        1.43247  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765375.00        1.43246  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765375.00        1.43273  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765375.00        1.43236  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765375.00        1.43236  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765375.00        1.43261  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765375.00        1.43267  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765375.00        1.43250  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765375.00        1.43261  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765375.00        1.43257  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765375.00        1.43265  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765375.00        1.43264  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765375.00        1.43282  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765375.00        1.43272  (13120808)                
439754.00   3765375.00        1.43276  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765375.00        1.43299  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765375.00        1.43285  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765375.00        1.43305  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765375.00        1.43260  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765375.00        1.43294  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765375.00        1.43298  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765375.00        1.43293  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765375.00        1.43292  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765375.00        1.43297  (13120808)                

348

Item D - 1698 of 1893



439839.00   3765375.00        1.43311  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765375.00        1.43284  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765375.00        1.43269  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765375.00        1.43261  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765375.00        1.43299  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765375.00        1.43275  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765375.00        1.43270  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765375.00        1.43258  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765375.00        1.43280  (13120808)          

349

Item D - 1699 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 112
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439884.00   3765375.00        1.43271  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765380.00        1.44738  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765380.00        1.44767  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765380.00        1.44752  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765380.00        1.44772  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765380.00        1.44758  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765380.00        1.44761  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765380.00        1.44752  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765380.00        1.44774  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765380.00        1.44756  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765385.00        1.46255  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765385.00        1.46269  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765400.00        1.51022  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765400.00        1.51040  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765400.00        1.51051  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765405.00        1.53776  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765405.00        1.52661  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765405.00        1.52665  (13120808)          
        439734.00   3765405.00        1.52664  (13120808)                

350

Item D - 1700 of 1893



439749.00   3765405.00        1.52678  (13120808)          
        439754.00   3765405.00        1.52681  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765405.00        1.52702  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765405.00        1.52698  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765405.00        1.52692  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765405.00        1.52695  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765405.00        1.52709  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765405.00        1.52699  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765405.00        1.52704  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765405.00        1.52717  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765405.00        1.52712  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765405.00        1.52717  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765405.00        1.52718  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765405.00        1.52731  (13120808)                
439834.00   3765405.00        1.52723  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765405.00        1.52734  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765405.00        1.52719  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765405.00        1.52721  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765405.00        1.52728  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765405.00        1.52735  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765410.00        1.56145  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765410.00        1.55928  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765410.00        1.55579  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765410.00        1.55419  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765410.00        1.55079  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765410.00        1.54803  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765410.00        1.54483  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765410.00        1.54384  (13120808)                
439714.00   3765410.00        1.54397  (13120808)          
        439719.00   3765410.00        1.54380  (13120808)                
439729.00   3765410.00        1.54405  (13120808)          
        439734.00   3765410.00        1.54398  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765410.00        1.54390  (13120808)          
        439744.00   3765410.00        1.54415  (13120808)                
439749.00   3765410.00        1.54403  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765410.00        1.54423  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765410.00        1.54422  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765410.00        1.54401  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765410.00        1.54430  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765410.00        1.54426  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765410.00        1.54429  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765410.00        1.54416  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765410.00        1.54449  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765410.00        1.54432  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765410.00        1.54437  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765410.00        1.54429  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765410.00        1.54447  (13120808)          
        439834.00   3765410.00        1.54450  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765410.00        1.54460  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765410.00        1.54451  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765410.00        1.54457  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765410.00        1.54445  (13120808)                

351

Item D - 1701 of 1893



439859.00   3765410.00        1.54450  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765415.00        1.58675  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765415.00        1.58330  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765415.00        1.58151  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765415.00        1.57771  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765415.00        1.57617  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765415.00        1.57272  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765415.00        1.57043  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765415.00        1.56685  (12011417)          

352

Item D - 1702 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 113
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439714.00   3765415.00        1.56426  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765415.00        1.56176  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765415.00        1.56172  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765415.00        1.56165  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765415.00        1.56195  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765415.00        1.56154  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765415.00        1.56183  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765415.00        1.56190  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765415.00        1.56188  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765415.00        1.56192  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765415.00        1.56203  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765415.00        1.56198  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765415.00        1.56200  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765415.00        1.56224  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765415.00        1.56183  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765415.00        1.56215  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765415.00        1.56221  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765415.00        1.56203  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765415.00        1.56223  (13120808)                

353

Item D - 1703 of 1893



439834.00   3765415.00        1.56213  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765415.00        1.56227  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765415.00        1.56216  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765415.00        1.56231  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765415.00        1.56243  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765415.00        1.56224  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765420.00        1.61088  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765420.00        1.60882  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765420.00        1.60571  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765420.00        1.60409  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765420.00        1.60040  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765420.00        1.59870  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765420.00        1.59533  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765420.00        1.59341  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765420.00        1.58957  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765420.00        1.58705  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765420.00        1.58111  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765420.00        1.58012  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765420.00        1.57977  (13120808)          
        439744.00   3765420.00        1.58009  (13120808)                
439749.00   3765420.00        1.58005  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765420.00        1.58002  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765420.00        1.58010  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765420.00        1.58026  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765420.00        1.58019  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765420.00        1.58015  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765420.00        1.58039  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765420.00        1.58017  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765420.00        1.58045  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765420.00        1.58022  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765420.00        1.58049  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765420.00        1.58029  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765420.00        1.58033  (13120808)          
        439834.00   3765420.00        1.58041  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765420.00        1.58032  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765420.00        1.58057  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765420.00        1.58040  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765420.00        1.58051  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765420.00        1.58060  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765425.00        1.63656  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765425.00        1.63412  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765425.00        1.63171  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765425.00        1.62891  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765425.00        1.62727  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765425.00        1.62386  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765425.00        1.62209  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765425.00        1.61835  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765425.00        1.61677  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765425.00        1.61300  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765425.00        1.60737  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765425.00        1.60471  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765425.00        1.60150  (12011417)                

354

Item D - 1704 of 1893



439744.00   3765425.00        1.59861  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765425.00        1.59894  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765425.00        1.59892  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765425.00        1.59917  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765425.00        1.59871  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765425.00        1.59890  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765425.00        1.59908  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765425.00        1.59903  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765425.00        1.59907  (13120808)          

355

Item D - 1705 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 114
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765425.00        1.59888  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765425.00        1.59939  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765425.00        1.59897  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765425.00        1.59955  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765425.00        1.59904  (13120808)                
439834.00   3765425.00        1.59956  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765425.00        1.59920  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765425.00        1.59932  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765425.00        1.59922  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765425.00        1.59934  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765425.00        1.59933  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765430.00        1.66271  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765430.00        1.66013  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765430.00        1.65797  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765430.00        1.65538  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765430.00        1.65272  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765430.00        1.65087  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765430.00        1.64767  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        1.64612  (12011417)                

356

Item D - 1706 of 1893



439714.00   3765430.00        1.64195  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765430.00        1.64060  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765430.00        1.63474  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765430.00        1.63106  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        1.62900  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765430.00        1.62561  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765430.00        1.62250  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765430.00        1.61832  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765430.00        1.61825  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765430.00        1.61859  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765430.00        1.61819  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765430.00        1.61858  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765430.00        1.61813  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765430.00        1.61844  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765430.00        1.61837  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765430.00        1.61822  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765430.00        1.61858  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765430.00        1.61832  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765430.00        1.61868  (13120808)          
        439834.00   3765430.00        1.61826  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765430.00        1.61885  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765430.00        1.61853  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765430.00        1.61877  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765430.00        1.61863  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765430.00        1.61893  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765435.00        1.68860  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765435.00        1.68691  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765435.00        1.68435  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765435.00        1.68222  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765435.00        1.67981  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765435.00        1.67690  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765435.00        1.67516  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765435.00        1.67187  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765435.00        1.67073  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765435.00        1.66636  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765435.00        1.66124  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765435.00        1.65972  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765435.00        1.65565  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765435.00        1.65386  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765435.00        1.65008  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765435.00        1.63818  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765435.00        1.63818  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765435.00        1.63816  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765435.00        1.63858  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765435.00        1.63794  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765435.00        1.63847  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765435.00        1.63809  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765435.00        1.63856  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765435.00        1.63820  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765435.00        1.63844  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765435.00        1.63832  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765435.00        1.63855  (13120808)                

357

Item D - 1707 of 1893



439834.00   3765435.00        1.63850  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765435.00        1.63829  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765435.00        1.63867  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765435.00        1.63857  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765435.00        1.63866  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765435.00        1.63844  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765440.00        1.71639  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765440.00        1.71329  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765440.00        1.71193  (12011417)          

358

Item D - 1708 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 115
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439689.00   3765440.00        1.70889  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765440.00        1.70714  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765440.00        1.70480  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765440.00        1.70197  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765440.00        1.70005  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765440.00        1.69698  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765440.00        1.69590  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765440.00        1.69053  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765440.00        1.68639  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765440.00        1.68521  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765440.00        1.68071  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765440.00        1.67925  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765440.00        1.66336  (12011417)                
439779.00   3765440.00        1.65986  (12011417)          
        439784.00   3765440.00        1.65869  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765440.00        1.65858  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765440.00        1.65901  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765440.00        1.65864  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765440.00        1.65894  (13120808)                

359

Item D - 1709 of 1893



439809.00   3765440.00        1.65854  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765440.00        1.65943  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765440.00        1.65869  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765440.00        1.65921  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765440.00        1.65885  (13120808)          
        439834.00   3765440.00        1.65925  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765440.00        1.65910  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765440.00        1.65898  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765440.00        1.65912  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765440.00        1.65914  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765440.00        1.65935  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765445.00        1.74269  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765445.00        1.74183  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765445.00        1.73882  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765445.00        1.73744  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765445.00        1.73453  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765445.00        1.73285  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765445.00        1.73039  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765445.00        1.72793  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765445.00        1.72594  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765445.00        1.72255  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765445.00        1.71768  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765445.00        1.71632  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765445.00        1.71209  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765445.00        1.71127  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765445.00        1.70676  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765445.00        1.69257  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765445.00        1.68972  (12011417)                
439784.00   3765445.00        1.68617  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765445.00        1.68339  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765445.00        1.68012  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765445.00        1.68015  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765445.00        1.67988  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765445.00        1.68027  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765445.00        1.67988  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765445.00        1.68066  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765445.00        1.67997  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765445.00        1.68050  (13120808)                
439834.00   3765445.00        1.68005  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765445.00        1.68053  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765445.00        1.68030  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765445.00        1.68031  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765445.00        1.68038  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765445.00        1.68058  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765450.00        1.77178  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765450.00        1.76888  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765450.00        1.76811  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765450.00        1.76506  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765450.00        1.76359  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765450.00        1.76087  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765450.00        1.75942  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765450.00        1.75665  (12011417)                

360

Item D - 1710 of 1893



439714.00   3765450.00        1.75428  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765450.00        1.75235  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765450.00        1.74793  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765450.00        1.74419  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765450.00        1.74306  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765450.00        1.73869  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765450.00        1.73794  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765450.00        1.72282  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765450.00        1.70274  (13120808)          

361

Item D - 1711 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 116
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439849.00   3765450.00        1.70212  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765450.00        1.70258  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765450.00        1.70205  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765455.00        1.79951  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765455.00        1.79879  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765455.00        1.79587  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765455.00        1.79494  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765455.00        1.79206  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765455.00        1.79059  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765455.00        1.78796  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765455.00        1.78625  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765455.00        1.78380  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765455.00        1.78133  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765455.00        1.77634  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765455.00        1.77528  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765455.00        1.77153  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765455.00        1.77040  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765455.00        1.76641  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765455.00        1.72468  (13120808)                

362

Item D - 1712 of 1893



439849.00   3765455.00        1.72524  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765455.00        1.72463  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765455.00        1.72535  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765460.00        1.82975  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765460.00        1.82686  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765460.00        1.82631  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765460.00        1.82366  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765460.00        1.82259  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765460.00        1.81948  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765460.00        1.81877  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        1.81585  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765460.00        1.81415  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765460.00        1.81182  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765460.00        1.80768  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765460.00        1.80464  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        1.80324  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765460.00        1.79975  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765460.00        1.79862  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765460.00        1.77609  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765460.00        1.77317  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765460.00        1.76960  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765460.00        1.76722  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765460.00        1.76321  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765460.00        1.76074  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765460.00        1.75654  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765460.00        1.75421  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        1.74959  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765460.00        1.74834  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765460.00        1.74829  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765460.00        1.74857  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765460.00        1.74824  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765465.00        1.85937  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765465.00        1.85814  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765465.00        1.85534  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765465.00        1.85485  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765465.00        1.85228  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765465.00        1.85122  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765465.00        1.84837  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765465.00        1.84741  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765465.00        1.84456  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765465.00        1.84309  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765465.00        1.83787  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765465.00        1.83657  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765465.00        1.83375  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765465.00        1.83214  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765465.00        1.82883  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765465.00        1.80835  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765465.00        1.80542  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765465.00        1.80277  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765465.00        1.79927  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765465.00        1.79681  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765465.00        1.79261  (12011417)                

363

Item D - 1713 of 1893



439819.00   3765465.00        1.79061  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765465.00        1.78637  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765465.00        1.78397  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765465.00        1.77247  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765465.00        1.77263  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765465.00        1.77285  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765465.00        1.77249  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765470.00        1.89079  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765470.00        1.88839  (12011417)          

364

Item D - 1714 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 117
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765470.00        1.88727  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765470.00        1.88498  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765470.00        1.88419  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765470.00        1.88171  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765470.00        1.88066  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765470.00        1.87779  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765470.00        1.87698  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765470.00        1.87414  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765470.00        1.87040  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765470.00        1.86770  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765470.00        1.86625  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765470.00        1.86360  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765470.00        1.86208  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765470.00        1.84168  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765470.00        1.83872  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765470.00        1.83566  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765470.00        1.83336  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765470.00        1.82949  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765470.00        1.82719  (12011417)                

365

Item D - 1715 of 1893



439819.00   3765470.00        1.82345  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765470.00        1.82116  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765470.00        1.81703  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765470.00        1.80770  (12011417)                
439849.00   3765470.00        1.80347  (12011417)          
        439854.00   3765470.00        1.79979  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765470.00        1.79817  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765475.00        1.92187  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765475.00        1.92094  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765475.00        1.91846  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765475.00        1.91780  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765475.00        1.91531  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765475.00        1.91471  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765475.00        1.91201  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765475.00        1.91098  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765475.00        1.90843  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765475.00        1.90735  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765475.00        1.90311  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765475.00        1.90092  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765475.00        1.89850  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765475.00        1.89707  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765475.00        1.89437  (12011417)                
439754.00   3765475.00        1.89283  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765475.00        1.87544  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765475.00        1.87303  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765475.00        1.86995  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765475.00        1.86697  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765475.00        1.86481  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765475.00        1.86098  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765475.00        1.85860  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765475.00        1.85508  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765475.00        1.85293  (12011417)                
439269.00   3764900.00        0.78813  (13120808)          
        439369.00   3764900.00        0.78646  (13120808)                
439469.00   3764900.00        0.78208  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3764900.00        0.77259  (13120808)                
439669.00   3764900.00        0.76251  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3764900.00        0.76045  (12010217)                
439869.00   3764900.00        0.75431  (12010217)          
        439969.00   3764900.00        0.74042  (15010717)                
440069.00   3764900.00        0.74611  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3764900.00        0.74873  (15010717)                
440269.00   3764900.00        0.75012  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765000.00        0.86208  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765000.00        0.86170  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765000.00        0.86017  (13120808)                
439569.00   3765000.00        0.85612  (13120808)          
        439669.00   3765000.00        0.84593  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765000.00        0.83292  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765000.00        0.83019  (12010217)                
439969.00   3765000.00        0.82132  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765000.00        0.81870  (15010717)                

366

Item D - 1716 of 1893



440169.00   3765000.00        0.81959  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765000.00        0.81998  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765100.00        0.95439  (13120808)          
        439369.00   3765100.00        0.95497  (13120808)                
439469.00   3765100.00        0.95482  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3765100.00        0.95385  (13120808)                
439669.00   3765100.00        0.94988  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765100.00        0.93927  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765100.00        0.92313  (12010217)          

367

Item D - 1717 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 118
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439969.00   3765100.00        0.91944  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765100.00        0.90805  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3765100.00        0.90855  (15010717)                
440269.00   3765100.00        0.90788  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765200.00        1.07590  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765200.00        1.07742  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765200.00        1.07788  (13120808)                
439569.00   3765200.00        1.07775  (13120808)          
        439669.00   3765200.00        1.07676  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765200.00        1.07388  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765200.00        1.06394  (13120808)                
439969.00   3765200.00        1.04234  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765200.00        1.03689  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765200.00        1.02482  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765200.00        1.02428  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765300.00        1.30206  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765300.00        1.27438  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765300.00        1.24816  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3765300.00        1.24873  (13120808)                

368

Item D - 1718 of 1893



439669.00   3765300.00        1.24931  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765300.00        1.24946  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765300.00        1.24665  (13120808)          
        439969.00   3765300.00        1.23741  (13120808)                
440069.00   3765300.00        1.20925  (12010217)          
        440169.00   3765300.00        1.20108  (12010217)                
440269.00   3765300.00        1.18723  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765400.00        1.62294  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765400.00        1.61087  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765400.00        1.59119  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765400.00        1.56135  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765400.00        1.51660  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        1.51022  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765400.00        1.51047  (13120808)                
439969.00   3765400.00        1.50924  (13120808)          
        440069.00   3765400.00        1.50243  (13120808)                
440169.00   3765400.00        1.47151  (13120808)          
        440269.00   3765400.00        1.47451  (12011608)                
439269.00   3765500.00        2.12851  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765500.00        2.12831  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765500.00        2.12447  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765500.00        2.11418  (12011417)                
439669.00   3765500.00        2.09663  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765500.00        2.06718  (12011417)                
439869.00   3765500.00        2.01795  (12011417)          
        439969.00   3765500.00        1.96994  (13120808)                
440069.00   3765500.00        1.97016  (13120808)          
        440169.00   3765500.00        1.96703  (13120808)                
440269.00   3765500.00        1.97582  (12011608)          
        439269.00   3765600.00        3.38216  (12101307)                
439369.00   3765600.00        3.35982  (12101307)          
        439469.00   3765600.00        3.32827  (12101307)                
439569.00   3765600.00        3.30321  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765600.00        3.30542  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765600.00        3.29868  (12011417)          
        439869.00   3765600.00        3.28666  (12011417)                
439969.00   3765600.00        3.29213  (14101107)          
        440069.00   3765600.00        3.36797  (14101107)                
440169.00   3765600.00        3.43126  (14101107)          
        440269.00   3765600.00        3.48360  (14101107)                
439269.00   3765700.00       14.46400  (12101307)          
        439369.00   3765700.00       14.87799  (12101307)                
439469.00   3765700.00       15.29784  (12101307)          
        439569.00   3765700.00       15.87124  (14101107)                
439669.00   3765700.00       16.25774  (14101107)          
        439769.00   3765700.00       16.50261  (14101107)                
439869.00   3765700.00       16.73890  (14101107)          
        439969.00   3765700.00       16.78309  (14101107)                
440069.00   3765700.00       17.07709  (12101207)          
        440169.00   3765700.00       17.08460  (12101207)                
440269.00   3765700.00       17.12930  (12101207)          
        439269.00   3765800.00        4.21408  (12100707)                

369

Item D - 1719 of 1893



439369.00   3765800.00        4.16890  (12100707)          
        439469.00   3765800.00        4.12125  (12100707)                
439569.00   3765800.00        4.07404  (12100707)          
        439669.00   3765800.00        4.02035  (12100707)                
439769.00   3765800.00        3.95669  (12100707)          
        439869.00   3765800.00        3.88241  (12011717)                
439969.00   3765800.00        3.91066  (12011717)          
        440069.00   3765800.00        3.93224  (12011717)                
440169.00   3765800.00        3.94773  (12011717)          

370

Item D - 1720 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 119
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  FREEEXH  ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        440269.00   3765800.00        3.95991  (12011717)                
439269.00   3765900.00        2.38141  (12100707)          
        439369.00   3765900.00        2.33400  (12100707)                
439469.00   3765900.00        2.27911  (12100707)          
        439569.00   3765900.00        2.25388  (13111217)                
439669.00   3765900.00        2.28003  (13111217)          
        439769.00   3765900.00        2.29606  (13111217)                
439869.00   3765900.00        2.30377  (13111217)          
        439969.00   3765900.00        2.31008  (13111217)                
440069.00   3765900.00        2.31386  (13111217)          
        440169.00   3765900.00        2.31703  (13111217)                
440269.00   3765900.00        2.33252  (12011717)          
        439649.00   3765310.00        1.27016  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765310.00        1.27044  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765310.00        1.27081  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765310.00        1.27035  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        1.27002  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765310.00        1.27007  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        1.26960  (13120808)                

371

Item D - 1721 of 1893



439859.00   3765310.00        1.26901  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765310.00        1.26713  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765340.00        1.33934  (13120808)          
        439679.00   3765340.00        1.33932  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765340.00        1.33913  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        1.33954  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765340.00        1.33938  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765340.00        1.33949  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765340.00        1.33888  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        1.33866  (13120808)                
439889.00   3765340.00        1.33800  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765370.00        1.41799  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765370.00        1.41803  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765370.00        1.41822  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765370.00        1.41839  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765370.00        1.41847  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765370.00        1.41856  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765370.00        1.41842  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765370.00        1.41858  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765370.00        1.41807  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765400.00        1.52731  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765400.00        1.51137  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765400.00        1.50984  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765400.00        1.50998  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765400.00        1.51022  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765400.00        1.51040  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765400.00        1.51045  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765400.00        1.51046  (13120808)                
439889.00   3765400.00        1.51049  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765430.00        1.67246  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765430.00        1.66013  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        1.64612  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        1.62900  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765430.00        1.61798  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765430.00        1.61813  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765430.00        1.61868  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765430.00        1.61893  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765430.00        1.61897  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765460.00        1.83786  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765460.00        1.82686  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        1.81585  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        1.80324  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765460.00        1.78812  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765460.00        1.76960  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        1.74959  (12011417)          
        439859.00   3765460.00        1.74824  (13120808)                
439889.00   3765460.00        1.74855  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765490.00        2.02994  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765490.00        2.02121  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765490.00        2.01295  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765490.00        2.00287  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765490.00        1.99158  (12011417)                

372

Item D - 1722 of 1893



439799.00   3765490.00        1.97783  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765490.00        1.96204  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765490.00        1.94396  (12011417)          
        439889.00   3765490.00        1.92300  (12011417)                                                                           

373

Item D - 1723 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 120
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439674.00   3765310.00        0.05503  (13101107)                
439679.00   3765310.00        0.05563  (14100607)          
        439684.00   3765310.00        0.05634  (14100607)                
439689.00   3765310.00        0.05708  (14100607)          
        439694.00   3765310.00        0.05781  (14100607)                
439699.00   3765310.00        0.05854  (14100607)          
        439704.00   3765310.00        0.05926  (14100607)                
439709.00   3765310.00        0.06000  (14100607)          
        439714.00   3765310.00        0.06071  (14100607)                
439719.00   3765310.00        0.06142  (14100607)          
        439729.00   3765310.00        0.06279  (14100607)                
439734.00   3765310.00        0.06346  (14100607)          
        439739.00   3765310.00        0.06410  (14100607)                
439744.00   3765310.00        0.06474  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765310.00        0.06532  (14100607)                
439764.00   3765310.00        0.06698  (14100607)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        0.06745  (14100607)                

374

Item D - 1724 of 1893



439774.00   3765310.00        0.06790  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765310.00        0.06831  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765310.00        0.06870  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765310.00        0.06903  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765310.00        0.06932  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765310.00        0.06959  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765310.00        0.06980  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765310.00        0.07000  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765310.00        0.07011  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765310.00        0.07022  (14100607)                
439824.00   3765310.00        0.07027  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        0.07029  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765310.00        0.07019  (14100607)          
        439844.00   3765310.00        0.07009  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765310.00        0.06996  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765310.00        0.06978  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765310.00        0.06954  (14100607)          
        439864.00   3765310.00        0.06931  (14100607)                
439869.00   3765310.00        0.06903  (14100607)          
        439874.00   3765310.00        0.06873  (14100607)                
439879.00   3765310.00        0.06839  (14100607)          
        439884.00   3765310.00        0.06802  (14100607)                
439674.00   3765315.00        0.05554  (13101107)          
        439679.00   3765315.00        0.05577  (13101107)                
439684.00   3765315.00        0.05629  (14100607)          
        439689.00   3765315.00        0.05702  (14100607)                
439694.00   3765315.00        0.05778  (14100607)          
        439699.00   3765315.00        0.05854  (14100607)                
439704.00   3765315.00        0.05930  (14100607)          
        439709.00   3765315.00        0.06004  (14100607)                
439714.00   3765315.00        0.06079  (14100607)          
        439719.00   3765315.00        0.06152  (14100607)                
439729.00   3765315.00        0.06295  (14100607)          
        439734.00   3765315.00        0.06366  (14100607)                
439739.00   3765315.00        0.06433  (14100607)          
        439744.00   3765315.00        0.06500  (14100607)                
439749.00   3765315.00        0.06564  (14100607)          
        439764.00   3765315.00        0.06738  (14100607)                
439769.00   3765315.00        0.06791  (14100607)          
        439774.00   3765315.00        0.06840  (14100607)                
439779.00   3765315.00        0.06884  (14100607)          
        439784.00   3765315.00        0.06926  (14100607)                
439789.00   3765315.00        0.06964  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765315.00        0.06999  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765315.00        0.07027  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765315.00        0.07053  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765315.00        0.07074  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765315.00        0.07092  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765315.00        0.07104  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765315.00        0.07112  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765315.00        0.07116  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765315.00        0.07113  (14100607)                

375

Item D - 1725 of 1893



439844.00   3765315.00        0.07105  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765315.00        0.07093  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765315.00        0.07078  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765315.00        0.07059  (14100607)                
439864.00   3765315.00        0.07036  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765315.00        0.07009  (14100607)                
439874.00   3765315.00        0.06981  (14100607)          
        439879.00   3765315.00        0.06949  (14100607)                
439884.00   3765315.00        0.06913  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765320.00        0.05604  (13101107)                
439679.00   3765320.00        0.05629  (13101107)          

376

Item D - 1726 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 121
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765320.00        0.05654  (13101107)                
439689.00   3765320.00        0.05697  (14100607)          
        439694.00   3765320.00        0.05774  (14100607)                
439699.00   3765320.00        0.05851  (14100607)          
        439704.00   3765320.00        0.05929  (14100607)                
439709.00   3765320.00        0.06007  (14100607)          
        439714.00   3765320.00        0.06084  (14100607)                
439719.00   3765320.00        0.06160  (14100607)          
        439729.00   3765320.00        0.06312  (14100607)                
439734.00   3765320.00        0.06383  (14100607)          
        439739.00   3765320.00        0.06456  (14100607)                
439744.00   3765320.00        0.06524  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765320.00        0.06593  (14100607)                
439764.00   3765320.00        0.06778  (14100607)          
        439769.00   3765320.00        0.06835  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765320.00        0.06887  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765320.00        0.06939  (14100607)                

377

Item D - 1727 of 1893



439784.00   3765320.00        0.06982  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765320.00        0.07024  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765320.00        0.07062  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765320.00        0.07095  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765320.00        0.07125  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765320.00        0.07148  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765320.00        0.07170  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765320.00        0.07185  (14100607)                
439824.00   3765320.00        0.07198  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765320.00        0.07204  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765320.00        0.07207  (14100607)          
        439844.00   3765320.00        0.07202  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765320.00        0.07192  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765320.00        0.07179  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765320.00        0.07162  (14100607)          
        439864.00   3765320.00        0.07141  (14100607)                
439869.00   3765320.00        0.07117  (14100607)          
        439874.00   3765320.00        0.07088  (14100607)                
439879.00   3765320.00        0.07059  (14100607)          
        439884.00   3765320.00        0.07026  (14100607)                
439674.00   3765325.00        0.05652  (13101107)          
        439679.00   3765325.00        0.05681  (13101107)                
439684.00   3765325.00        0.05706  (13101107)          
        439689.00   3765325.00        0.05732  (13101107)                
439694.00   3765325.00        0.05767  (14100607)          
        439699.00   3765325.00        0.05847  (14100607)                
439704.00   3765325.00        0.05927  (14100607)          
        439709.00   3765325.00        0.06008  (14100607)                
439714.00   3765325.00        0.06087  (14100607)          
        439719.00   3765325.00        0.06167  (14100607)                
439729.00   3765325.00        0.06322  (14100607)          
        439734.00   3765325.00        0.06399  (14100607)                
439739.00   3765325.00        0.06474  (14100607)          
        439744.00   3765325.00        0.06548  (14100607)                
439749.00   3765325.00        0.06618  (14100607)          
        439754.00   3765325.00        0.06688  (14100607)                
439769.00   3765325.00        0.06876  (14100607)          
        439774.00   3765325.00        0.06934  (14100607)                
439779.00   3765325.00        0.06987  (14100607)          
        439784.00   3765325.00        0.07038  (14100607)                
439789.00   3765325.00        0.07082  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765325.00        0.07124  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765325.00        0.07162  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765325.00        0.07195  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765325.00        0.07224  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765325.00        0.07246  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765325.00        0.07267  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765325.00        0.07282  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765325.00        0.07293  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765325.00        0.07300  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765325.00        0.07298  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765325.00        0.07293  (14100607)                

378

Item D - 1728 of 1893



439854.00   3765325.00        0.07281  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765325.00        0.07266  (14100607)                
439864.00   3765325.00        0.07248  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765325.00        0.07226  (14100607)                
439874.00   3765325.00        0.07201  (14100607)          
        439879.00   3765325.00        0.07170  (14100607)                
439884.00   3765325.00        0.07139  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765330.00        0.05708  (15102007)                
439679.00   3765330.00        0.05729  (13101107)          
        439684.00   3765330.00        0.05760  (13101107)                
439689.00   3765330.00        0.05786  (13101107)          

379

Item D - 1729 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 122
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439694.00   3765330.00        0.05813  (13101107)                
439699.00   3765330.00        0.05840  (14100607)          
        439704.00   3765330.00        0.05923  (14100607)                
439709.00   3765330.00        0.06004  (14100607)          
        439714.00   3765330.00        0.06089  (14100607)                
439719.00   3765330.00        0.06169  (14100607)          
        439729.00   3765330.00        0.06331  (14100607)                
439734.00   3765330.00        0.06413  (14100607)          
        439739.00   3765330.00        0.06490  (14100607)                
439744.00   3765330.00        0.06568  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765330.00        0.06642  (14100607)                
439754.00   3765330.00        0.06715  (14100607)          
        439774.00   3765330.00        0.06979  (14100607)                
439779.00   3765330.00        0.07035  (14100607)          
        439784.00   3765330.00        0.07090  (14100607)                
439789.00   3765330.00        0.07139  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765330.00        0.07186  (14100607)                

380

Item D - 1730 of 1893



439799.00   3765330.00        0.07226  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765330.00        0.07264  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765330.00        0.07296  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765330.00        0.07324  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765330.00        0.07349  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765330.00        0.07366  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765330.00        0.07380  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765330.00        0.07394  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765330.00        0.07395  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765330.00        0.07391  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765330.00        0.07384  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765330.00        0.07372  (14100607)                
439864.00   3765330.00        0.07355  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765330.00        0.07333  (14100607)                
439874.00   3765330.00        0.07311  (14100607)          
        439879.00   3765330.00        0.07285  (14100607)                
439884.00   3765330.00        0.07253  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765335.00        0.05787  (15102007)                
439679.00   3765335.00        0.05795  (15102007)          
        439684.00   3765335.00        0.05807  (13101107)                
439689.00   3765335.00        0.05840  (13101107)          
        439694.00   3765335.00        0.05868  (13101107)                
439699.00   3765335.00        0.05896  (13101107)          
        439704.00   3765335.00        0.05920  (13101107)                
439709.00   3765335.00        0.06000  (14100607)          
        439714.00   3765335.00        0.06085  (14100607)                
439719.00   3765335.00        0.06171  (14100607)          
        439729.00   3765335.00        0.06341  (14100607)                
439734.00   3765335.00        0.06423  (14100607)          
        439739.00   3765335.00        0.06505  (14100607)                
439744.00   3765335.00        0.06585  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765335.00        0.06664  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765335.00        0.07020  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765335.00        0.07084  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765335.00        0.07139  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765335.00        0.07195  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765335.00        0.07245  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765335.00        0.07489  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765335.00        0.07494  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765335.00        0.07491  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765335.00        0.07487  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765335.00        0.07477  (14100607)                
439864.00   3765335.00        0.07463  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765335.00        0.07445  (14100607)                
439874.00   3765335.00        0.07423  (14100607)          
        439879.00   3765335.00        0.07398  (14100607)                
439884.00   3765335.00        0.07370  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765340.00        0.05864  (15102007)                
439679.00   3765340.00        0.05877  (15102007)          
        439684.00   3765340.00        0.05886  (15102007)                
439689.00   3765340.00        0.05894  (15102007)          
        439694.00   3765340.00        0.05922  (13101107)                

381

Item D - 1731 of 1893



439699.00   3765340.00        0.05952  (13101107)          
        439704.00   3765340.00        0.05982  (13101107)                
439709.00   3765340.00        0.06006  (13101107)          
        439714.00   3765340.00        0.06081  (14100607)                
439719.00   3765340.00        0.06170  (14100607)          
        439729.00   3765340.00        0.06344  (14100607)                
439734.00   3765340.00        0.06430  (14100607)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        0.06516  (14100607)                
439744.00   3765340.00        0.06600  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765340.00        0.06682  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765340.00        0.07060  (14100607)          

382

Item D - 1732 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 123
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439779.00   3765340.00        0.07127  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765340.00        0.07191  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765340.00        0.07249  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765340.00        0.07303  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765340.00        0.07583  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765340.00        0.07589  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765340.00        0.07594  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765340.00        0.07590  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        0.07583  (14100607)                
439864.00   3765340.00        0.07572  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765340.00        0.07557  (14100607)                
439874.00   3765340.00        0.07536  (14100607)          
        439879.00   3765340.00        0.07513  (14100607)                
439884.00   3765340.00        0.07486  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765345.00        0.05939  (15102007)                
439679.00   3765345.00        0.05955  (15102007)          
        439684.00   3765345.00        0.05969  (15102007)                

383

Item D - 1733 of 1893



439689.00   3765345.00        0.05979  (15102007)          
        439694.00   3765345.00        0.05988  (15102007)                
439699.00   3765345.00        0.06006  (13101107)          
        439704.00   3765345.00        0.06039  (13101107)                
439709.00   3765345.00        0.06070  (13101107)          
        439714.00   3765345.00        0.06095  (13101107)                
439719.00   3765345.00        0.06165  (14100607)          
        439729.00   3765345.00        0.06346  (14100607)                
439734.00   3765345.00        0.06436  (14100607)          
        439739.00   3765345.00        0.06524  (14100607)                
439744.00   3765345.00        0.06613  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765345.00        0.06699  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765345.00        0.07100  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765345.00        0.07168  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765345.00        0.07238  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765345.00        0.07300  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765345.00        0.07361  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765345.00        0.07678  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765345.00        0.07687  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765345.00        0.07694  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765345.00        0.07695  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765345.00        0.07690  (14100607)                
439864.00   3765345.00        0.07682  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765345.00        0.07668  (14100607)                
439874.00   3765345.00        0.07651  (14100607)          
        439879.00   3765345.00        0.07630  (14100607)                
439884.00   3765345.00        0.07605  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765350.00        0.06010  (15102007)                
439679.00   3765350.00        0.06030  (15102007)          
        439684.00   3765350.00        0.06047  (15102007)                
439689.00   3765350.00        0.06064  (15102007)          
        439694.00   3765350.00        0.06074  (15102007)                
439699.00   3765350.00        0.06085  (15102007)          
        439704.00   3765350.00        0.06093  (13101107)                
439709.00   3765350.00        0.06127  (13101107)          
        439714.00   3765350.00        0.06160  (13101107)                
439719.00   3765350.00        0.06187  (13101107)          
        439729.00   3765350.00        0.06346  (14100607)                
439734.00   3765350.00        0.06438  (14100607)          
        439739.00   3765350.00        0.06530  (14100607)                
439744.00   3765350.00        0.06622  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765350.00        0.06713  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765350.00        0.07134  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765350.00        0.07211  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765350.00        0.07281  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765350.00        0.07350  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765350.00        0.07414  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765350.00        0.07773  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765350.00        0.07788  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765350.00        0.07794  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765350.00        0.07799  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765350.00        0.07798  (14100607)                

384

Item D - 1734 of 1893



439864.00   3765350.00        0.07792  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765350.00        0.07781  (14100607)                
439874.00   3765350.00        0.07767  (14100607)          
        439879.00   3765350.00        0.07747  (14100607)                
439884.00   3765350.00        0.07725  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765355.00        0.06079  (15102007)                
439679.00   3765355.00        0.06103  (15102007)          
        439684.00   3765355.00        0.06123  (15102007)                
439689.00   3765355.00        0.06142  (15102007)          
        439694.00   3765355.00        0.06160  (15102007)                
439699.00   3765355.00        0.06173  (15102007)          

385

Item D - 1735 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 124
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439704.00   3765355.00        0.06185  (15102007)                
439709.00   3765355.00        0.06192  (15102007)          
        439714.00   3765355.00        0.06218  (13101107)                
439719.00   3765355.00        0.06252  (13101107)          
        439729.00   3765355.00        0.06340  (14100607)                
439734.00   3765355.00        0.06438  (14100607)          
        439739.00   3765355.00        0.06533  (14100607)                
439744.00   3765355.00        0.06629  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765355.00        0.06723  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765355.00        0.07166  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765355.00        0.07247  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765355.00        0.07324  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765355.00        0.07398  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765355.00        0.07465  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765355.00        0.07867  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765355.00        0.07884  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765355.00        0.07898  (14100607)                

386

Item D - 1736 of 1893



439854.00   3765355.00        0.07905  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765355.00        0.07906  (14100607)                
439864.00   3765355.00        0.07904  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765355.00        0.07897  (14100607)                
439874.00   3765355.00        0.07883  (14100607)          
        439879.00   3765355.00        0.07867  (14100607)                
439884.00   3765355.00        0.07845  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765360.00        0.06148  (15102007)                
439679.00   3765360.00        0.06173  (15102007)          
        439684.00   3765360.00        0.06198  (15102007)                
439689.00   3765360.00        0.06220  (15102007)          
        439694.00   3765360.00        0.06240  (15102007)                
439699.00   3765360.00        0.06259  (15102007)          
        439704.00   3765360.00        0.06274  (15102007)                
439709.00   3765360.00        0.06288  (15102007)          
        439714.00   3765360.00        0.06296  (15102007)                
439719.00   3765360.00        0.06313  (13101107)          
        439729.00   3765360.00        0.06378  (13101107)                
439734.00   3765360.00        0.06434  (14100607)          
        439739.00   3765360.00        0.06533  (14100607)                
439744.00   3765360.00        0.06632  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765360.00        0.06731  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765360.00        0.07197  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765360.00        0.07282  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765360.00        0.07365  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765360.00        0.07442  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765360.00        0.07518  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765360.00        0.07586  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765360.00        0.07652  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765360.00        0.07712  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765360.00        0.07768  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765360.00        0.07962  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765360.00        0.07982  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765360.00        0.08000  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765360.00        0.08010  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765360.00        0.08016  (14100607)                
439864.00   3765360.00        0.08016  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765360.00        0.08012  (14100607)                
439874.00   3765360.00        0.08001  (14100607)          
        439879.00   3765360.00        0.07987  (14100607)                
439884.00   3765360.00        0.07968  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765365.00        0.06209  (15102007)                
439679.00   3765365.00        0.06242  (15102007)          
        439684.00   3765365.00        0.06270  (15102007)                
439689.00   3765365.00        0.06296  (15102007)          
        439694.00   3765365.00        0.06320  (15102007)                
439699.00   3765365.00        0.06340  (15102007)          
        439704.00   3765365.00        0.06361  (15102007)                
439709.00   3765365.00        0.06377  (15102007)          
        439714.00   3765365.00        0.06392  (15102007)                
439719.00   3765365.00        0.06403  (15102007)          
        439729.00   3765365.00        0.06444  (13101107)                

387

Item D - 1737 of 1893



439734.00   3765365.00        0.06479  (13101107)          
        439739.00   3765365.00        0.06531  (14100607)                
439744.00   3765365.00        0.06632  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765365.00        0.06736  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765365.00        0.07224  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765365.00        0.07315  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765365.00        0.07401  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765365.00        0.07486  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765365.00        0.07565  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765365.00        0.07640  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765365.00        0.07711  (14100607)          

388

Item D - 1738 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 125
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765365.00        0.07776  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765365.00        0.07838  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765365.00        0.08056  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765365.00        0.08082  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765365.00        0.08101  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765365.00        0.08116  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765365.00        0.08126  (14100607)                
439864.00   3765365.00        0.08130  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765365.00        0.08127  (14100607)                
439874.00   3765365.00        0.08121  (14100607)          
        439879.00   3765365.00        0.08108  (14100607)                
439884.00   3765365.00        0.08093  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765370.00        0.06270  (15102007)                
439679.00   3765370.00        0.06304  (15102007)          
        439684.00   3765370.00        0.06338  (15102007)                
439689.00   3765370.00        0.06368  (15102007)          
        439694.00   3765370.00        0.06397  (15102007)                

389

Item D - 1739 of 1893



439699.00   3765370.00        0.06422  (15102007)          
        439704.00   3765370.00        0.06445  (15102007)                
439709.00   3765370.00        0.06466  (15102007)          
        439714.00   3765370.00        0.06483  (15102007)                
439719.00   3765370.00        0.06500  (15102007)          
        439729.00   3765370.00        0.06521  (15102007)                
439734.00   3765370.00        0.06545  (13101107)          
        439739.00   3765370.00        0.06581  (13101107)                
439744.00   3765370.00        0.06631  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765370.00        0.06734  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765370.00        0.07249  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765370.00        0.07344  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765370.00        0.07436  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765370.00        0.07526  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765370.00        0.07610  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765370.00        0.07692  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765370.00        0.07767  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765370.00        0.07840  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765370.00        0.07905  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765370.00        0.08150  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765370.00        0.08180  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765370.00        0.08204  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765370.00        0.08224  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765370.00        0.08236  (14100607)                
439864.00   3765370.00        0.08244  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765370.00        0.08245  (14100607)                
439874.00   3765370.00        0.08243  (14100607)          
        439879.00   3765370.00        0.08232  (14100607)                
439884.00   3765370.00        0.08218  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765375.00        0.06328  (15102007)                
439679.00   3765375.00        0.06366  (15102007)          
        439684.00   3765375.00        0.06402  (15102007)                
439689.00   3765375.00        0.06437  (15102007)          
        439694.00   3765375.00        0.06469  (15102007)                
439699.00   3765375.00        0.06500  (15102007)          
        439704.00   3765375.00        0.06528  (15102007)                
439709.00   3765375.00        0.06552  (15102007)          
        439714.00   3765375.00        0.06575  (15102007)                
439719.00   3765375.00        0.06592  (15102007)          
        439729.00   3765375.00        0.06623  (15102007)                
439734.00   3765375.00        0.06635  (15102007)          
        439739.00   3765375.00        0.06651  (13101107)                
439744.00   3765375.00        0.06687  (13101107)          
        439749.00   3765375.00        0.06734  (14100607)                
439754.00   3765375.00        0.06842  (14100607)          
        439774.00   3765375.00        0.07268  (14100607)                
439779.00   3765375.00        0.07369  (14100607)          
        439784.00   3765375.00        0.07469  (14100607)                
439789.00   3765375.00        0.07562  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765375.00        0.07654  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765375.00        0.07740  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765375.00        0.07823  (14100607)                

390

Item D - 1740 of 1893



439809.00   3765375.00        0.07899  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765375.00        0.07970  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765375.00        0.08242  (14100607)          
        439844.00   3765375.00        0.08278  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765375.00        0.08308  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765375.00        0.08330  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765375.00        0.08347  (14100607)          
        439864.00   3765375.00        0.08359  (14100607)                
439869.00   3765375.00        0.08364  (14100607)          
        439874.00   3765375.00        0.08363  (14100607)                
439879.00   3765375.00        0.08358  (14100607)          

391

Item D - 1741 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 126
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439884.00   3765375.00        0.08345  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765380.00        0.07286  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765380.00        0.07394  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765380.00        0.07496  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765380.00        0.07597  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765380.00        0.07694  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765380.00        0.07785  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765380.00        0.07875  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765380.00        0.07956  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765380.00        0.08037  (14100607)          
        439769.00   3765385.00        0.07185  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765385.00        0.08175  (14100607)          
        439769.00   3765400.00        0.07277  (15102007)                
439844.00   3765400.00        0.08761  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765400.00        0.08819  (14100607)                
439674.00   3765405.00        0.06587  (15102007)          
        439714.00   3765405.00        0.07048  (15102007)                

392

Item D - 1742 of 1893



439719.00   3765405.00        0.07097  (15102007)          
        439734.00   3765405.00        0.07229  (15102007)                
439749.00   3765405.00        0.07328  (15102007)          
        439754.00   3765405.00        0.07355  (15102007)                
439774.00   3765405.00        0.07415  (15102007)          
        439779.00   3765405.00        0.07450  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765405.00        0.07582  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765405.00        0.07716  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765405.00        0.07842  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765405.00        0.07968  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765405.00        0.08089  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765405.00        0.08206  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765405.00        0.08319  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765405.00        0.08425  (14100607)                
439824.00   3765405.00        0.08524  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765405.00        0.08619  (14100607)                
439834.00   3765405.00        0.08706  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765405.00        0.08784  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765405.00        0.08858  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765405.00        0.08921  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765405.00        0.08977  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765405.00        0.09024  (14100607)                
439674.00   3765410.00        0.06614  (15102007)          
        439679.00   3765410.00        0.06681  (15102007)                
439684.00   3765410.00        0.06746  (15102007)          
        439689.00   3765410.00        0.06811  (15102007)                
439694.00   3765410.00        0.06874  (15102007)          
        439699.00   3765410.00        0.06936  (15102007)                
439704.00   3765410.00        0.06998  (15102007)          
        439709.00   3765410.00        0.07056  (15102007)                
439714.00   3765410.00        0.07114  (15102007)          
        439719.00   3765410.00        0.07167  (15102007)                
439729.00   3765410.00        0.07268  (15102007)          
        439734.00   3765410.00        0.07315  (15102007)                
439739.00   3765410.00        0.07359  (15102007)          
        439744.00   3765410.00        0.07399  (15102007)                
439749.00   3765410.00        0.07434  (15102007)          
        439774.00   3765410.00        0.07552  (15102007)                
439779.00   3765410.00        0.07561  (15102007)          
        439784.00   3765410.00        0.07588  (14100607)                
439789.00   3765410.00        0.07725  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765410.00        0.07861  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765410.00        0.07994  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765410.00        0.08120  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765410.00        0.08246  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765410.00        0.08366  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765410.00        0.08479  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765410.00        0.08589  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765410.00        0.08689  (14100607)          
        439834.00   3765410.00        0.08784  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765410.00        0.08871  (14100607)          
        439844.00   3765410.00        0.08951  (14100607)                

393

Item D - 1743 of 1893



439849.00   3765410.00        0.09021  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765410.00        0.09084  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765410.00        0.09140  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765415.00        0.06694  (13032007)                
439679.00   3765415.00        0.06707  (15102007)          
        439684.00   3765415.00        0.06778  (15102007)                
439689.00   3765415.00        0.06846  (15102007)          
        439694.00   3765415.00        0.06914  (15102007)                
439699.00   3765415.00        0.06981  (15102007)          
        439704.00   3765415.00        0.07046  (15102007)                
439709.00   3765415.00        0.07111  (15102007)          

394

Item D - 1744 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 127
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439714.00   3765415.00        0.07172  (15102007)                
439719.00   3765415.00        0.07234  (15102007)          
        439729.00   3765415.00        0.07346  (15102007)                
439734.00   3765415.00        0.07398  (15102007)          
        439739.00   3765415.00        0.07446  (15102007)                
439744.00   3765415.00        0.07493  (15102007)          
        439749.00   3765415.00        0.07535  (15102007)                
439774.00   3765415.00        0.07683  (15102007)          
        439779.00   3765415.00        0.07700  (15102007)                
439784.00   3765415.00        0.07711  (15102007)          
        439789.00   3765415.00        0.07732  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765415.00        0.07876  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765415.00        0.08012  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765415.00        0.08150  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765415.00        0.08282  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765415.00        0.08409  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765415.00        0.08532  (14100607)                

395

Item D - 1745 of 1893



439824.00   3765415.00        0.08648  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765415.00        0.08758  (14100607)                
439834.00   3765415.00        0.08861  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765415.00        0.08955  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765415.00        0.09041  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765415.00        0.09123  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765415.00        0.09192  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765415.00        0.09253  (14100607)                
439674.00   3765420.00        0.06828  (13032007)          
        439679.00   3765420.00        0.06840  (13032007)                
439684.00   3765420.00        0.06851  (13032007)          
        439689.00   3765420.00        0.06877  (15102007)                
439694.00   3765420.00        0.06949  (15102007)          
        439699.00   3765420.00        0.07021  (15102007)                
439704.00   3765420.00        0.07092  (15102007)          
        439709.00   3765420.00        0.07159  (15102007)                
439714.00   3765420.00        0.07228  (15102007)          
        439719.00   3765420.00        0.07292  (15102007)                
439729.00   3765420.00        0.07418  (15102007)          
        439734.00   3765420.00        0.07477  (15102007)                
439739.00   3765420.00        0.07532  (15102007)          
        439744.00   3765420.00        0.07583  (15102007)                
439749.00   3765420.00        0.07632  (15102007)          
        439774.00   3765420.00        0.07813  (15102007)                
439779.00   3765420.00        0.07834  (15102007)          
        439784.00   3765420.00        0.07853  (15102007)                
439789.00   3765420.00        0.07865  (15102007)          
        439794.00   3765420.00        0.07882  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765420.00        0.08032  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765420.00        0.08172  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765420.00        0.08313  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765420.00        0.08449  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765420.00        0.08580  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765420.00        0.08705  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765420.00        0.08824  (14100607)          
        439834.00   3765420.00        0.08933  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765420.00        0.09038  (14100607)          
        439844.00   3765420.00        0.09134  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765420.00        0.09220  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765420.00        0.09298  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765420.00        0.09367  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765425.00        0.06957  (13032007)                
439679.00   3765425.00        0.06976  (13032007)          
        439684.00   3765425.00        0.06990  (13032007)                
439689.00   3765425.00        0.07004  (13032007)          
        439694.00   3765425.00        0.07013  (13032007)                
439699.00   3765425.00        0.07054  (15102007)          
        439704.00   3765425.00        0.07130  (15102007)                
439709.00   3765425.00        0.07205  (15102007)          
        439714.00   3765425.00        0.07276  (15102007)                
439719.00   3765425.00        0.07349  (15102007)          
        439729.00   3765425.00        0.07485  (15102007)                

396

Item D - 1746 of 1893



439734.00   3765425.00        0.07549  (15102007)          
        439739.00   3765425.00        0.07612  (15102007)                
439744.00   3765425.00        0.07671  (15102007)          
        439749.00   3765425.00        0.07725  (15102007)                
439774.00   3765425.00        0.07941  (15102007)          
        439779.00   3765425.00        0.07970  (15102007)                
439784.00   3765425.00        0.07992  (15102007)          
        439789.00   3765425.00        0.08012  (15102007)                
439794.00   3765425.00        0.08025  (15102007)          
        439799.00   3765425.00        0.08040  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765425.00        0.08192  (14100607)          

397

Item D - 1747 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 128
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765425.00        0.08340  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765425.00        0.08483  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765425.00        0.08624  (14100607)                
439824.00   3765425.00        0.08757  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765425.00        0.08884  (14100607)                
439834.00   3765425.00        0.09006  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765425.00        0.09118  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765425.00        0.09221  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765425.00        0.09317  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765425.00        0.09405  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765425.00        0.09481  (14100607)                
439674.00   3765430.00        0.07082  (13032007)          
        439679.00   3765430.00        0.07104  (13032007)                
439684.00   3765430.00        0.07127  (13032007)          
        439689.00   3765430.00        0.07143  (13032007)                
439694.00   3765430.00        0.07160  (13032007)          
        439699.00   3765430.00        0.07174  (13032007)                

398

Item D - 1748 of 1893



439704.00   3765430.00        0.07182  (13032007)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        0.07242  (15102007)                
439714.00   3765430.00        0.07322  (15102007)          
        439719.00   3765430.00        0.07397  (15102007)                
439729.00   3765430.00        0.07545  (15102007)          
        439734.00   3765430.00        0.07616  (15102007)                
439739.00   3765430.00        0.07684  (15102007)          
        439744.00   3765430.00        0.07750  (15102007)                
439749.00   3765430.00        0.07814  (15102007)          
        439774.00   3765430.00        0.08064  (15102007)                
439779.00   3765430.00        0.08100  (15102007)          
        439784.00   3765430.00        0.08133  (15102007)                
439789.00   3765430.00        0.08157  (15102007)          
        439794.00   3765430.00        0.08177  (15102007)                
439799.00   3765430.00        0.08191  (15102007)          
        439804.00   3765430.00        0.08206  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765430.00        0.08361  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765430.00        0.08516  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765430.00        0.08662  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765430.00        0.08805  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765430.00        0.08944  (14100607)          
        439834.00   3765430.00        0.09072  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765430.00        0.09194  (14100607)          
        439844.00   3765430.00        0.09308  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765430.00        0.09414  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765430.00        0.09508  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765430.00        0.09594  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765435.00        0.07205  (13032007)                
439679.00   3765435.00        0.07233  (13032007)          
        439684.00   3765435.00        0.07256  (13032007)                
439689.00   3765435.00        0.07281  (13032007)          
        439694.00   3765435.00        0.07302  (13032007)                
439699.00   3765435.00        0.07320  (13032007)          
        439704.00   3765435.00        0.07338  (13032007)                
439709.00   3765435.00        0.07350  (13032007)          
        439714.00   3765435.00        0.07361  (13032007)                
439719.00   3765435.00        0.07441  (15102007)          
        439729.00   3765435.00        0.07602  (15102007)                
439734.00   3765435.00        0.07678  (15102007)          
        439739.00   3765435.00        0.07753  (15102007)                
439744.00   3765435.00        0.07825  (15102007)          
        439749.00   3765435.00        0.07894  (15102007)                
439774.00   3765435.00        0.08182  (15102007)          
        439779.00   3765435.00        0.08227  (15102007)                
439784.00   3765435.00        0.08265  (15102007)          
        439789.00   3765435.00        0.08300  (15102007)                
439794.00   3765435.00        0.08328  (15102007)          
        439799.00   3765435.00        0.08350  (15102007)                
439804.00   3765435.00        0.08364  (15102007)          
        439809.00   3765435.00        0.08379  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765435.00        0.08539  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765435.00        0.08698  (14100607)                

399

Item D - 1749 of 1893



439824.00   3765435.00        0.08851  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765435.00        0.08996  (14100607)                
439834.00   3765435.00        0.09135  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765435.00        0.09269  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765435.00        0.09393  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765435.00        0.09506  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765435.00        0.09611  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765435.00        0.09707  (14100607)                
439674.00   3765440.00        0.07322  (13032007)          
        439679.00   3765440.00        0.07355  (13032007)                
439684.00   3765440.00        0.07387  (13032007)          

400

Item D - 1750 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 129
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439689.00   3765440.00        0.07414  (13032007)                
439694.00   3765440.00        0.07440 (13032007)          
        439699.00   3765440.00        0.07466  (13032007)                
439704.00   3765440.00        0.07486  (13032007)          
        439709.00   3765440.00        0.07507  (13032007)                
439714.00   3765440.00        0.07522  (13032007)          
        439719.00   3765440.00        0.07536  (13032007)                
439729.00   3765440.00        0.07649  (15102007)          
        439734.00   3765440.00        0.07733  (15102007)                
439739.00   3765440.00        0.07815  (15102007)          
        439744.00   3765440.00        0.07895  (15102007)                
439749.00   3765440.00        0.07971  (15102007)          
        439774.00   3765440.00        0.08300  (15102007)                
439779.00   3765440.00        0.08350  (15102007)          
        439784.00   3765440.00        0.08397  (15102007)                
439789.00   3765440.00        0.08438  (15102007)          
        439794.00   3765440.00        0.08474  (15102007)                

401

Item D - 1751 of 1893



439799.00   3765440.00        0.08504  (15102007)          
        439804.00   3765440.00        0.08528  (15102007)                
439809.00   3765440.00        0.08545  (15102007)          
        439814.00   3765440.00        0.08560  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765440.00        0.08727  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765440.00        0.08889  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765440.00        0.09046  (14100607)          
        439834.00   3765440.00        0.09198  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765440.00        0.09338  (14100607)          
        439844.00   3765440.00        0.09472  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765440.00        0.09598  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765440.00        0.09714  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765440.00        0.09817  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765445.00        0.07433  (13032007)                
439679.00   3765445.00        0.07473  (13032007)          
        439684.00   3765445.00        0.07508  (13032007)                
439689.00   3765445.00        0.07545  (13032007)          
        439694.00   3765445.00        0.07577  (13032007)                
439699.00   3765445.00        0.07606  (13032007)          
        439704.00   3765445.00        0.07634  (13032007)                
439709.00   3765445.00        0.07658  (13032007)          
        439714.00   3765445.00        0.07680  (13032007)                
439719.00   3765445.00        0.07700  (13032007)          
        439729.00   3765445.00        0.07731  (13032007)                
439734.00   3765445.00        0.07782  (15102007)          
        439739.00   3765445.00        0.07870  (15102007)                
439744.00   3765445.00        0.07957  (15102007)          
        439749.00   3765445.00        0.08041  (15102007)                
439774.00   3765445.00        0.08408  (15102007)          
        439779.00   3765445.00        0.08470  (15102007)                
439784.00   3765445.00        0.08525  (15102007)          
        439789.00   3765445.00        0.08575  (15102007)                
439794.00   3765445.00        0.08618  (15102007)          
        439799.00   3765445.00        0.08656  (15102007)                
439804.00   3765445.00        0.08687  (15102007)          
        439809.00   3765445.00        0.08712  (15102007)                
439814.00   3765445.00        0.08732  (15102007)          
        439819.00   3765445.00        0.08750  (14100607)                
439824.00   3765445.00        0.08923  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765445.00        0.09090  (14100607)                
439834.00   3765445.00        0.09250  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765445.00        0.09405  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765445.00        0.09551  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765445.00        0.09687  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765445.00        0.09811  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765445.00        0.09928  (14100607)                
439674.00   3765450.00        0.07541  (13032007)          
        439679.00   3765450.00        0.07583  (13032007)                
439684.00   3765450.00        0.07627  (13032007)          
        439689.00   3765450.00        0.07666  (13032007)                
439694.00   3765450.00        0.07705  (13032007)          
        439699.00   3765450.00        0.07744  (13032007)                

402

Item D - 1752 of 1893



439704.00   3765450.00        0.07776  (13032007)          
        439709.00   3765450.00        0.07809  (13032007)                
439714.00   3765450.00        0.07837  (13032007)          
        439719.00   3765450.00        0.07861  (13032007)                
439729.00   3765450.00        0.07902  (13032007)          
        439734.00   3765450.00        0.07920  (13032007)                
439739.00   3765450.00        0.07932  (13032007)          
        439744.00   3765450.00        0.08012  (15102007)                
439749.00   3765450.00        0.08104  (15102007)          
        439774.00   3765450.00        0.08513  (15102007)                
439844.00   3765450.00        0.09623  (14100607)          

403

Item D - 1753 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 130
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439849.00   3765450.00        0.09771  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765450.00        0.09909  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765450.00        0.10035  (14100607)                
439674.00   3765455.00        0.07644  (13032007)          
        439679.00   3765455.00        0.07694  (13032007)                
439684.00   3765455.00        0.07740  (13032007)          
        439689.00   3765455.00        0.07786  (13032007)                
439694.00   3765455.00        0.07831  (13032007)          
        439699.00   3765455.00        0.07871  (13032007)                
439704.00   3765455.00        0.07914  (13032007)          
        439709.00   3765455.00        0.07951  (13032007)                
439714.00   3765455.00        0.07987  (13032007)          
        439719.00   3765455.00        0.08021  (13032007)                
439729.00   3765455.00        0.08076  (13032007)          
        439734.00   3765455.00        0.08097  (13032007)                
439739.00   3765455.00        0.08118  (13032007)          
        439744.00   3765455.00        0.08133  (13032007)                

404

Item D - 1754 of 1893



439749.00   3765455.00        0.08159  (15102007)          
        439844.00   3765455.00        0.09694  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765455.00        0.09853  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765455.00        0.10003  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765455.00        0.10141  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765460.00        0.07739  (13032007)                
439679.00   3765460.00        0.07792  (13032007)          
        439684.00   3765460.00        0.07848  (13032007)                
439689.00   3765460.00        0.07901  (13032007)          
        439694.00   3765460.00        0.07950  (13032007)                
439699.00   3765460.00        0.08000  (13032007)          
        439704.00   3765460.00        0.08044  (13032007)                
439709.00   3765460.00        0.08089  (13032007)          
        439714.00   3765460.00        0.08132  (13032007)                
439719.00   3765460.00        0.08171  (13032007)          
        439729.00   3765460.00        0.08242  (13032007)                
439734.00   3765460.00        0.08274  (13032007)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        0.08301  (13032007)                
439744.00   3765460.00        0.08322  (13032007)          
        439749.00   3765460.00        0.08342  (13032007)                
439789.00   3765460.00        0.08952  (15102007)          
        439794.00   3765460.00        0.09025  (15102007)                
439799.00   3765460.00        0.09089  (15102007)          
        439804.00   3765460.00        0.09149  (15102007)                
439809.00   3765460.00        0.09203  (15102007)          
        439814.00   3765460.00        0.09248  (15102007)                
439819.00   3765460.00        0.09288  (15102007)          
        439824.00   3765460.00        0.09316  (15102007)                
439829.00   3765460.00        0.09337  (15102007)          
        439844.00   3765460.00        0.09756  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765460.00        0.09930  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765460.00        0.10093  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765460.00        0.10246  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765465.00        0.07827  (13032007)                
439679.00   3765465.00        0.07888  (13032007)          
        439684.00   3765465.00        0.07946  (13032007)                
439689.00   3765465.00        0.08004  (13032007)          
        439694.00   3765465.00        0.08063  (13032007)                
439699.00   3765465.00        0.08117  (13032007)          
        439704.00   3765465.00        0.08172  (13032007)                
439709.00   3765465.00        0.08224  (13032007)          
        439714.00   3765465.00        0.08271  (13032007)                
439719.00   3765465.00        0.08319  (13032007)          
        439729.00   3765465.00        0.08404  (13032007)                
439734.00   3765465.00        0.08442  (13032007)          
        439739.00   3765465.00        0.08477  (13032007)                
439744.00   3765465.00        0.08510  (13032007)          
        439749.00   3765465.00        0.08536  (13032007)                
439789.00   3765465.00        0.09065  (15102007)          
        439794.00   3765465.00        0.09148  (15102007)                
439799.00   3765465.00        0.09227  (15102007)          
        439804.00   3765465.00        0.09295  (15102007)                

405

Item D - 1755 of 1893



439809.00   3765465.00        0.09359  (15102007)          
        439814.00   3765465.00        0.09415  (15102007)                
439819.00   3765465.00        0.09461  (15102007)          
        439824.00   3765465.00        0.09504  (15102007)                
439829.00   3765465.00        0.09536  (15102007)          
        439844.00   3765465.00        0.09816  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765465.00        0.10003  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765465.00        0.10180  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765465.00        0.10345  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765470.00        0.07927  (12093007)                
439679.00   3765470.00        0.07978  (12093007)          

406

Item D - 1756 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 131
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765470.00        0.08041  (13032007)                
439689.00   3765470.00        0.08105  (13032007)          
        439694.00   3765470.00        0.08166  (13032007)                
439699.00   3765470.00        0.08229  (13032007)          
        439704.00   3765470.00        0.08289  (13032007)                
439709.00   3765470.00        0.08348  (13032007)          
        439714.00   3765470.00        0.08407  (13032007)                
439719.00   3765470.00        0.08460  (13032007)          
        439729.00   3765470.00        0.08561  (13032007)                
439734.00   3765470.00        0.08605  (13032007)          
        439739.00   3765470.00        0.08649  (13032007)                
439744.00   3765470.00        0.08688  (13032007)          
        439749.00   3765470.00        0.08725  (13032007)                
439789.00   3765470.00        0.09172  (15102007)          
        439794.00   3765470.00        0.09265  (15102007)                
439799.00   3765470.00        0.09352  (15102007)          
        439804.00   3765470.00        0.09437  (15102007)                

407

Item D - 1757 of 1893



439809.00   3765470.00        0.09511  (15102007)          
        439814.00   3765470.00        0.09578  (15102007)                
439819.00   3765470.00        0.09637  (15102007)          
        439824.00   3765470.00        0.09686  (15102007)                
439829.00   3765470.00        0.09730  (15102007)          
        439844.00   3765470.00        0.09866  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765470.00        0.10069  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765470.00        0.10261  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765470.00        0.10442  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765475.00        0.08038  (12093007)                
439679.00   3765475.00        0.08094  (12093007)          
        439684.00   3765475.00        0.08151  (12093007)                
439689.00   3765475.00        0.08204  (12093007)          
        439694.00   3765475.00        0.08268  (13032007)                
439699.00   3765475.00        0.08334  (13032007)          
        439704.00   3765475.00        0.08400  (13032007)                
439709.00   3765475.00        0.08467  (13032007)          
        439714.00   3765475.00        0.08529  (13032007)                
439719.00   3765475.00        0.08593  (13032007)          
        439729.00   3765475.00        0.08710  (13032007)                
439734.00   3765475.00        0.08767  (13032007)          
        439739.00   3765475.00        0.08815  (13032007)                
439744.00   3765475.00        0.08865  (13032007)          
        439749.00   3765475.00        0.08908  (13032007)                
439754.00   3765475.00        0.08949  (13032007)          
        439789.00   3765475.00        0.09271  (15102007)                
439794.00   3765475.00        0.09377  (15102007)          
        439799.00   3765475.00        0.09474  (15102007)                
439804.00   3765475.00        0.09568  (15102007)          
        439809.00   3765475.00        0.09656  (15102007)                
439814.00   3765475.00        0.09736  (15102007)          
        439819.00   3765475.00        0.09808  (15102007)                
439824.00   3765475.00        0.09870  (15102007)          
        439829.00   3765475.00        0.09922  (15102007)                
439269.00   3764900.00        0.03146  (14100607)          
        439369.00   3764900.00        0.03301  (14100607)                
439469.00   3764900.00        0.03382  (14100607)          
        439569.00   3764900.00        0.03321  (13120808)                
439669.00   3764900.00        0.03222  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3764900.00        0.03135  (13102607)                
439869.00   3764900.00        0.03325  (13101207)          
        439969.00   3764900.00        0.03552  (13101207)                
440069.00   3764900.00        0.03508  (12032207)          
        440169.00   3764900.00        0.03293  (13102707)                
440269.00   3764900.00        0.03378  (14102507)          
        439269.00   3765000.00        0.03313  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765000.00        0.03469  (14100607)          
        439469.00   3765000.00        0.03734  (14100607)                
439569.00   3765000.00        0.03875  (14100607)          
        439669.00   3765000.00        0.03783  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765000.00        0.03571  (13032507)          
        439869.00   3765000.00        0.03625  (13102607)                

408

Item D - 1758 of 1893



439969.00   3765000.00        0.03961  (13101207)          
        440069.00   3765000.00        0.03988  (12032207)                
440169.00   3765000.00        0.03699  (13102707)          
        440269.00   3765000.00        0.03789  (14102507)                
439269.00   3765100.00        0.03697  (13120808)          
        439369.00   3765100.00        0.03610  (13120808)                
439469.00   3765100.00        0.03891  (14100607)          
        439569.00   3765100.00        0.04339  (14100607)                
439669.00   3765100.00        0.04543  (14100607)          
        439769.00   3765100.00        0.04388  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765100.00        0.04104  (13102607)          

409

Item D - 1759 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 132
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439969.00   3765100.00        0.04453  (13101207)                
440069.00   3765100.00        0.04572  (12032207)          
        440169.00   3765100.00        0.04211  (13102707)                
440269.00   3765100.00        0.04302  (14102507)          
        439269.00   3765200.00        0.04193  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765200.00        0.04163  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765200.00        0.04052  (12011808)                
439569.00   3765200.00        0.04490  (14100607)          
        439669.00   3765200.00        0.05236  (14100607)                
439769.00   3765200.00        0.05456  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765200.00        0.05132  (13120808)                
439969.00   3765200.00        0.05083  (13101207)          
        440069.00   3765200.00        0.05338  (13101207)                
440169.00   3765200.00        0.04989  (12032207)          
        440269.00   3765200.00        0.04954  (14102507)                
439269.00   3765300.00        0.04692  (13120808)          
        439369.00   3765300.00        0.05023  (13120808)                

410

Item D - 1760 of 1893



439469.00   3765300.00        0.04642  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3765300.00        0.05031  (15102007)                
439669.00   3765300.00        0.05436  (14100607)          
        439769.00   3765300.00        0.06648  (14100607)                
439869.00   3765300.00        0.06693  (14100607)          
        439969.00   3765300.00        0.06015  (13120808)                
440069.00   3765300.00        0.06393  (13101207)          
        440169.00   3765300.00        0.06060  (12032207)                
440269.00   3765300.00        0.05822  (14102507)          
        439269.00   3765400.00        0.05650  (12011808)                
439369.00   3765400.00        0.06175  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765400.00        0.06005  (13120808)                
439569.00   3765400.00        0.05996  (13032007)          
        439669.00   3765400.00        0.06494  (15102007)                
439769.00   3765400.00        0.07277  (15102007)          
        439869.00   3765400.00        0.08972  (14100607)                
439969.00   3765400.00        0.08425  (14100607)          
        440069.00   3765400.00        0.07999  (13101207)                
440169.00   3765400.00        0.07678  (13101207)          
        440269.00   3765400.00        0.07111  (14102507)                
439269.00   3765500.00        0.07304  (12112508)          
        439369.00   3765500.00        0.07668  (12011808)                
439469.00   3765500.00        0.08196  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3765500.00        0.07458  (13120808)                
439669.00   3765500.00        0.08631  (13092507)          
        439769.00   3765500.00        0.10069  (13032007)                
439869.00   3765500.00        0.11446  (14100607)          
        439969.00   3765500.00        0.12770  (14100607)                
440069.00   3765500.00        0.11493  (14100607)          
        440169.00   3765500.00        0.10491  (13101207)                
440269.00   3765500.00        0.09865  (14012707)          
        439269.00   3765600.00        0.10053  (12101307)                
439369.00   3765600.00        0.11445  (12112508)          
        439469.00   3765600.00        0.12197  (13120808)                
439569.00   3765600.00        0.12010  (13120808)          
        439669.00   3765600.00        0.10585  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765600.00        0.13404  (12101307)          
        439869.00   3765600.00        0.21237  (13092507)                
439969.00   3765600.00        0.26503  (14100607)          
        440069.00   3765600.00        0.22845  (14100607)                
440169.00   3765600.00        0.19644  (14100607)          
        440269.00   3765600.00        0.18235  (14101107)                
439269.00   3765700.00        0.15311  (14012908)          
        439369.00   3765700.00        0.22285  (14012908)                
439469.00   3765700.00        0.36489  (12101307)          
        439569.00   3765700.00        0.22139  (12101307)                
439669.00   3765700.00        0.18334  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765700.00        0.15224  (14101107)                
439869.00   3765700.00        0.17982  (14101007)          
        439969.00   3765700.00        0.25248  (12100707)                
440069.00   3765700.00        0.30579  (12100707)          
        440169.00   3765700.00        0.39705  (12100707)                

411

Item D - 1761 of 1893



440269.00   3765700.00        0.56725  (12100707)          
        439269.00   3765800.00        0.14001  (13021408)                
439369.00   3765800.00        0.20031  (12100707)          
        439469.00   3765800.00        0.22437  (12100707)                
439569.00   3765800.00        0.24192  (12100707)          
        439669.00   3765800.00        0.28816  (12100707)                
439769.00   3765800.00        0.35635  (12100707)          
        439869.00   3765800.00        0.51964  (13111217)                
439969.00   3765800.00        0.23629  (12100707)          
        440069.00   3765800.00        0.17804  (12092507)                
440169.00   3765800.00        0.17697  (15033007)          

412

Item D - 1762 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 133
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ONOFFEXH ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000023    , A0000024    , A0000025    , A0000026    , 
A0000027    , 
                 A0000028    , A0000029    , A0000030    , 
A0000031    , A0000032    , A0000033    , A0000034    , 
A0000035    , 
                 A0000036    , A0000037    , A0000038    , 
A0000039    , A0000040    , A0000041    , A0000042    , 
A0000043    , 
                 A0000044    , A0000045    , A0000046    , 
A0000047    , A0000048    , A0000049    , 
A0000050    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        440269.00   3765800.00        0.18035  (15033007)                
439269.00   3765900.00        0.10907  (12100707)          
        439369.00   3765900.00        0.11457  (12100707)                
439469.00   3765900.00        0.11579  (12100707)          
        439569.00   3765900.00        0.11814  (12011908)                
439669.00   3765900.00        0.11436  (12011908)          
        439769.00   3765900.00        0.10787  (15110207)                
439869.00   3765900.00        0.11934  (13111217)          
        439969.00   3765900.00        0.11572  (13111217)                
440069.00   3765900.00        0.09870  (12092507)          
        440169.00   3765900.00        0.09981  (12092507)                
440269.00   3765900.00        0.10581  (15033007)          
        439649.00   3765310.00        0.05378  (13101107)                
439679.00   3765310.00        0.05563  (14100607)          
        439709.00   3765310.00        0.06000  (14100607)                
439739.00   3765310.00        0.06410  (14100607)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        0.06745  (14100607)                

413

Item D - 1763 of 1893



439799.00   3765310.00        0.06959  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        0.07029  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765310.00        0.06954  (14100607)          
        439889.00   3765310.00        0.06763  (14100607)                
439649.00   3765340.00        0.05771  (15102007)          
        439679.00   3765340.00        0.05877  (15102007)                
439709.00   3765340.00        0.06006  (13101107)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        0.06516  (14100607)                
439769.00   3765340.00        0.06991  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765340.00        0.07354  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765340.00        0.07556  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        0.07583  (14100607)                
439889.00   3765340.00        0.07457  (14100607)          
        439649.00   3765370.00        0.06074  (15102007)                
439679.00   3765370.00        0.06304  (15102007)          
        439709.00   3765370.00        0.06466  (15102007)                
439739.00   3765370.00        0.06581  (13101107)          
        439769.00   3765370.00        0.07148  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765370.00        0.07692  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765370.00        0.08069  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765370.00        0.08236  (14100607)          
        439889.00   3765370.00        0.08201  (14100607)                
439649.00   3765400.00        0.06272  (13032007)          
        439679.00   3765400.00        0.06613  (15102007)                
439709.00   3765400.00        0.06932  (15102007)          
        439739.00   3765400.00        0.07168  (15102007)                
439769.00   3765400.00        0.07277  (15102007)          
        439799.00   3765400.00        0.07938  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765400.00        0.08545  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765400.00        0.08910  (14100607)                
439889.00   3765400.00        0.09009  (14100607)          
        439649.00   3765430.00        0.06943  (13032007)                
439679.00   3765430.00        0.07104  (13032007)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        0.07242  (15102007)                
439739.00   3765430.00        0.07684  (15102007)          
        439769.00   3765430.00        0.08022  (15102007)                
439799.00   3765430.00        0.08191  (15102007)          
        439829.00   3765430.00        0.08944  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765430.00        0.09594  (14100607)          
        439889.00   3765430.00        0.09896  (14100607)                
439649.00   3765460.00        0.07469  (12093007)          
        439679.00   3765460.00        0.07792  (13032007)                
439709.00   3765460.00        0.08089  (13032007)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        0.08301  (13032007)                
439769.00   3765460.00        0.08610  (15102007)          
        439799.00   3765460.00        0.09089  (15102007)                
439829.00   3765460.00        0.09337  (15102007)          
        439859.00   3765460.00        0.10246  (14100607)                
439889.00   3765460.00        0.10880  (14100607)          
        439649.00   3765490.00        0.08148  (13092507)                
439679.00   3765490.00        0.08482  (13092507)          
        439709.00   3765490.00        0.08835  (12093007)                

414

Item D - 1764 of 1893



439739.00   3765490.00        0.09271  (13032007)          
        439769.00   3765490.00        0.09680  (13032007)                
439799.00   3765490.00        0.09915  (13032007)          
        439829.00   3765490.00        0.10480  (15102007)                
439859.00   3765490.00        0.10821  (15102007)          
        439889.00   3765490.00        0.11962  (14100607)                                                                           

415

Item D - 1765 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 134
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439674.00   3765310.00        1.31612  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765310.00        1.31670  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765310.00        1.31705  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765310.00        1.31782  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765310.00        1.31803  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765310.00        1.31894  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765310.00        1.31920  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765310.00        1.32027  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765310.00        1.32024  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765310.00        1.32148  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765310.00        1.32258  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765310.00        1.32296  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765310.00        1.32370  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765310.00        1.32434  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765310.00        1.32490  (13120808)                
439764.00   3765310.00        1.32726  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        1.32752  (13120808)                

416

Item D - 1766 of 1893



439774.00   3765310.00        1.32859  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765310.00        1.32889  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765310.00        1.32992  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765310.00        1.33004  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765310.00        1.33092  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765310.00        1.33138  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765310.00        1.33171  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765310.00        1.33224  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765310.00        1.33253  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765310.00        1.33326  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765310.00        1.33321  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        1.33388  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765310.00        1.33458  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765310.00        1.33421  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765310.00        1.33489  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765310.00        1.33438  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765310.00        1.33500  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765310.00        1.33445  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765310.00        1.33451  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765310.00        1.33440  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765310.00        1.33413  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765310.00        1.33419  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765315.00        1.32690  (13120808)          
        439679.00   3765315.00        1.32790  (13120808)                
439684.00   3765315.00        1.32777  (13120808)          
        439689.00   3765315.00        1.32893  (13120808)                
439694.00   3765315.00        1.32893  (13120808)          
        439699.00   3765315.00        1.32961  (13120808)                
439704.00   3765315.00        1.33012  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765315.00        1.33071  (13120808)                
439714.00   3765315.00        1.33148  (13120808)          
        439719.00   3765315.00        1.33173  (13120808)                
439729.00   3765315.00        1.33318  (13120808)          
        439734.00   3765315.00        1.33411  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765315.00        1.33443  (13120808)          
        439744.00   3765315.00        1.33565  (13120808)                
439749.00   3765315.00        1.33592  (13120808)          
        439764.00   3765315.00        1.33823  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765315.00        1.33881  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765315.00        1.33935  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765315.00        1.34020  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765315.00        1.34061  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765315.00        1.34153  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765315.00        1.34174  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765315.00        1.34274  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765315.00        1.34295  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765315.00        1.34398  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765315.00        1.34391  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765315.00        1.34486  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765315.00        1.34489  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765315.00        1.34540  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765315.00        1.34572  (13120808)                

417

Item D - 1767 of 1893



439844.00   3765315.00        1.34618  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765315.00        1.34603  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765315.00        1.34633  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765315.00        1.34623  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765315.00        1.34661  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765315.00        1.34627  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765315.00        1.34651  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765315.00        1.34605  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765315.00        1.34646  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765320.00        1.33823  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765320.00        1.33856  (13120808)          

418

Item D - 1768 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 135
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765320.00        1.33904  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765320.00        1.33944  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765320.00        1.34029  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765320.00        1.34055  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765320.00        1.34142  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765320.00        1.34158  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765320.00        1.34294  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765320.00        1.34292  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765320.00        1.34427  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765320.00        1.34523  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765320.00        1.34572  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765320.00        1.34643  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765320.00        1.34715  (13120808)                
439764.00   3765320.00        1.34917  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765320.00        1.35023  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765320.00        1.35066  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765320.00        1.35174  (13120808)                

419

Item D - 1769 of 1893



439784.00   3765320.00        1.35197  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765320.00        1.35316  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765320.00        1.35331  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765320.00        1.35415  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765320.00        1.35449  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765320.00        1.35519  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765320.00        1.35568  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765320.00        1.35610  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765320.00        1.35667  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765320.00        1.35692  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765320.00        1.35748  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765320.00        1.35817  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765320.00        1.35800  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765320.00        1.35861  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765320.00        1.35823  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765320.00        1.35853  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765320.00        1.35847  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765320.00        1.35833  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765320.00        1.35833  (13120808)          
        439884.00   3765320.00        1.35809  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765325.00        1.34958  (13120808)          
        439679.00   3765325.00        1.34997  (13120808)                
439684.00   3765325.00        1.35058  (13120808)          
        439689.00   3765325.00        1.35082  (13120808)                
439694.00   3765325.00        1.35145  (13120808)          
        439699.00   3765325.00        1.35212  (13120808)                
439704.00   3765325.00        1.35248  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765325.00        1.35321  (13120808)                
439714.00   3765325.00        1.35367  (13120808)          
        439719.00   3765325.00        1.35448  (13120808)                
439729.00   3765325.00        1.35586  (13120808)          
        439734.00   3765325.00        1.35627  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765325.00        1.35747  (13120808)          
        439744.00   3765325.00        1.35785  (13120808)                
439749.00   3765325.00        1.35883  (13120808)          
        439754.00   3765325.00        1.35925  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765325.00        1.36165  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765325.00        1.36226  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765325.00        1.36296  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765325.00        1.36375  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765325.00        1.36430  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765325.00        1.36514  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765325.00        1.36562  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765325.00        1.36653  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765325.00        1.36680  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765325.00        1.36769  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765325.00        1.36800  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765325.00        1.36876  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765325.00        1.36889  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765325.00        1.36970  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765325.00        1.36997  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765325.00        1.37023  (13120808)                

420

Item D - 1770 of 1893



439854.00   3765325.00        1.37042  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765325.00        1.37062  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765325.00        1.37059  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765325.00        1.37086  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765325.00        1.37063  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765325.00        1.37093  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765325.00        1.37041  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765330.00        1.36097  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765330.00        1.36130  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765330.00        1.36198  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765330.00        1.36246  (13120808)          

421

Item D - 1771 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 136
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439694.00   3765330.00        1.36278  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765330.00        1.36353  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765330.00        1.36396  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765330.00        1.36499  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765330.00        1.36520  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765330.00        1.36616  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765330.00        1.36754  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765330.00        1.36805  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765330.00        1.36870  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765330.00        1.36958  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765330.00        1.37026  (13120808)                
439754.00   3765330.00        1.37112  (13120808)          
        439774.00   3765330.00        1.37429  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765330.00        1.37461  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765330.00        1.37595  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765330.00        1.37618  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765330.00       1.37722  (13120808)                

422

Item D - 1772 of 1893



439799.00   3765330.00        1.37753  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765330.00        1.37849  (13120808)                
439809.00   3765330.00        1.37888  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765330.00        1.37957  (13120808)                
439819.00   3765330.00        1.38010  (13120808)          
        439824.00   3765330.00        1.38069  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765330.00        1.38122  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765330.00        1.38211  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765330.00        1.38229  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765330.00        1.38288  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765330.00        1.38277  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765330.00        1.38323  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765330.00        1.38324  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765330.00        1.38323  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765330.00        1.38337  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765330.00        1.38333  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765330.00        1.38324  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765335.00        1.37292  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765335.00        1.37324  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765335.00        1.37362  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765335.00        1.37434  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765335.00        1.37473  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765335.00        1.37529  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765335.00        1.37567  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765335.00        1.37655  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765335.00        1.37711  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765335.00        1.37777  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765335.00        1.37918  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765335.00        1.38007  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765335.00        1.38058  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765335.00        1.38132  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765335.00        1.38213  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765335.00        1.38613  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765335.00        1.38685  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765335.00        1.38754  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765335.00        1.38848  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765335.00        1.38916  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765335.00        1.39456  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765335.00        1.39484  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765335.00        1.39534  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765335.00        1.39555  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765335.00        1.39570  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765335.00        1.39607  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765335.00        1.39591  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765335.00        1.39628  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765335.00        1.39603  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765335.00        1.39648  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765340.00        1.38492  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765340.00        1.38545  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765340.00        1.38575  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765340.00        1.38612  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765340.00        1.38688  (13120808)                

423

Item D - 1773 of 1893



439699.00   3765340.00        1.38718  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765340.00        1.38802  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765340.00        1.38828  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765340.00        1.38932  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765340.00        1.38983  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765340.00        1.39116  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765340.00        1.39211  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        1.39287  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765340.00        1.39346  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765340.00        1.39425  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765340.00        1.39816  (13120808)          

424

Item D - 1774 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 137
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439779.00   3765340.00        1.39948  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765340.00        1.39982  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765340.00        1.40080  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765340.00        1.40141  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765340.00        1.40723  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765340.00        1.40792  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765340.00        1.40814  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765340.00        1.40867  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        1.40874  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765340.00        1.40913  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765340.00        1.40916  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765340.00        1.40939  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765340.00        1.40915  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765340.00        1.40940  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765345.00        1.39736  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765345.00        1.39767  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765345.00        1.39832  (13120808)                

425

Item D - 1775 of 1893



439689.00   3765345.00        1.39860  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765345.00        1.39929  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765345.00        1.39942  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765345.00        1.40043  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765345.00        1.40056  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765345.00        1.40155  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765345.00        1.40214  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765345.00        1.40350  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765345.00        1.40432  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765345.00        1.40501  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765345.00        1.40599  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765345.00        1.40677  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765345.00        1.41072  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765345.00        1.41175  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765345.00        1.41273  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765345.00        1.41332  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765345.00        1.41414  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765345.00        1.42026  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765345.00        1.42095  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765345.00        1.42138  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765345.00        1.42167  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765345.00        1.42214  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765345.00        1.42217  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765345.00        1.42267  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765345.00        1.42256  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765345.00        1.42302  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765345.00        1.42277  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765350.00        1.41020  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765350.00        1.41050  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765350.00        1.41061  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765350.00        1.41121  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765350.00        1.41175  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765350.00        1.41237  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765350.00        1.41270  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765350.00        1.41346  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765350.00        1.41403  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765350.00        1.41480  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765350.00        1.41626  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765350.00        1.41695  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765350.00        1.41777  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765350.00        1.41853  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765350.00        1.41937  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765350.00        1.42368  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765350.00        1.42449  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765350.00        1.42546  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765350.00        1.42636  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765350.00        1.42723  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765350.00        1.43369  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765350.00        1.43417  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765350.00        1.43492  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765350.00        1.43518  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765350.00        1.43562  (13120808)                

426

Item D - 1776 of 1893



439864.00   3765350.00        1.43586  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765350.00        1.43637  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765350.00        1.43611  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765350.00        1.43654  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765350.00        1.43653  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765355.00        1.42294  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765355.00        1.42365  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765355.00        1.42382  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765355.00        1.42425  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765355.00        1.42441  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765355.00        1.42554  (13120808)          

427

Item D - 1777 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 138
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439704.00   3765355.00        1.42553  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765355.00        1.42624  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765355.00        1.42691  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765355.00        1.42775  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765355.00        1.42894  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765355.00        1.42972  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765355.00        1.43066  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765355.00        1.43159  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765355.00        1.43222  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765355.00        1.43686  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765355.00        1.43768  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765355.00        1.43864  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765355.00        1.43951  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765355.00        1.44054  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765355.00        1.44730  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765355.00        1.44779  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765355.00        1.44849  (13120808)                

428

Item D - 1778 of 1893



439854.00   3765355.00        1.44913  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765355.00        1.44922  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765355.00        1.44963  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765355.00        1.45009  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765355.00        1.45044  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765355.00        1.45049  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765355.00        1.45048  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765360.00        1.43629  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765360.00        1.43659  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765360.00        1.43719  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765360.00        1.43748  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765360.00        1.43779  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765360.00        1.43844  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765360.00        1.43912  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765360.00        1.43957  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765360.00        1.43996  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765360.00        1.44072  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765360.00        1.44219  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765360.00        1.44296  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765360.00        1.44379  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765360.00        1.44483  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765360.00        1.44544  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765360.00        1.45009  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765360.00        1.45097  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765360.00        1.45205  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765360.00        1.45317  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765360.00        1.45390  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765360.00        1.45480  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765360.00        1.45575  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765360.00        1.45668  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765360.00        1.45742  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765360.00        1.46128  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765360.00        1.46175  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765360.00        1.46239  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765360.00        1.46320  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765360.00        1.46353  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765360.00        1.46392  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765360.00        1.46395  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765360.00        1.46469  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765360.00        1.46480  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765360.00        1.46482  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765365.00        1.44994  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765365.00        1.45032  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765365.00        1.45087  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765365.00        1.45105  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765365.00        1.45165  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765365.00        1.45173  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765365.00        1.45252  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765365.00        1.45331  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765365.00        1.45373  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765365.00        1.45425  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765365.00        1.45586  (13120808)                

429

Item D - 1779 of 1893



439734.00   3765365.00        1.45648  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765365.00        1.45730  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765365.00        1.45806  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765365.00        1.45950  (14100607)                
439774.00   3765365.00        1.46384  (13120808)          
        439779.00   3765365.00        1.46480  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765365.00        1.46567  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765365.00        1.46701  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765365.00        1.46761  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765365.00        1.46870  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765365.00        1.46959  (13120808)          

430

Item D - 1780 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 139
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765365.00        1.47059  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765365.00        1.47152  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765365.00        1.47547  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765365.00        1.47616  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765365.00        1.47669  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765365.00        1.47734  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765365.00        1.47785  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765365.00        1.47843  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765365.00        1.47859  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765365.00        1.47913  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765365.00        1.47931  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765365.00        1.47971  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765370.00        1.46394  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765370.00        1.46419  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765370.00        1.46471  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765370.00        1.46498  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765370.00        1.46552  (13120808)                

431

Item D - 1781 of 1893



439699.00   3765370.00        1.46579  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765370.00        1.46644  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765370.00        1.46693  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765370.00        1.46749  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765370.00        1.46841  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765370.00        1.46972  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765370.00        1.47055  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765370.00        1.47127  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765370.00        1.47183  (13120808)          
        439749.00   3765370.00        1.47302  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765370.00        1.47807  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765370.00        1.47872  (13120808)                
439784.00   3765370.00        1.47989  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765370.00        1.48072  (13120808)                
439794.00   3765370.00        1.48210  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765370.00        1.48285  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765370.00        1.48390  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765370.00        1.48460  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765370.00        1.48595  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765370.00        1.49008  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765370.00        1.49062  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765370.00        1.49141  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765370.00        1.49209  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765370.00        1.49280  (13120808)                
439864.00   3765370.00        1.49295  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765370.00        1.49362  (13120808)                
439874.00   3765370.00        1.49386  (13120808)          
        439879.00   3765370.00        1.49421  (13120808)                
439884.00   3765370.00        1.49459  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765375.00        1.47842  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765375.00        1.47866  (13120808)          
        439684.00   3765375.00        1.47895  (13120808)                
439689.00   3765375.00        1.47955  (13120808)          
        439694.00   3765375.00        1.47958  (13120808)                
439699.00   3765375.00        1.48000  (13120808)          
        439704.00   3765375.00        1.48073  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765375.00        1.48131  (13120808)          
        439714.00   3765375.00        1.48172  (13120808)                
439719.00   3765375.00        1.48244  (13120808)          
        439729.00   3765375.00        1.48378  (13120808)                
439734.00   3765375.00        1.48461  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765375.00        1.48540  (13120808)                
439744.00   3765375.00        1.48668  (14100607)          
        439749.00   3765375.00        1.48719  (13120808)                
439754.00   3765375.00        1.48820  (14100607)          
        439774.00   3765375.00        1.49224  (13120808)                
439779.00   3765375.00        1.49312  (13120808)          
        439784.00   3765375.00        1.49436  (13120808)                
439789.00   3765375.00        1.49494  (13120808)          
        439794.00   3765375.00        1.49633  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765375.00        1.49742  (13120808)          
        439804.00   3765375.00        1.49839  (13120808)                

432

Item D - 1782 of 1893



439809.00   3765375.00        1.49940  (13120808)          
        439814.00   3765375.00        1.50043  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765375.00        1.50515  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765375.00        1.50566  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765375.00        1.50627  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765375.00        1.50687  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765375.00        1.50789  (13120808)          
        439864.00   3765375.00        1.50824  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765375.00        1.50871  (13120808)          
        439874.00   3765375.00        1.50905  (13120808)                
439879.00   3765375.00        1.50969  (13120808)          

433

Item D - 1783 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 140
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439884.00   3765375.00        1.50995  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765380.00        1.50673  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765380.00        1.50818  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765380.00        1.50884  (13120808)          
        439789.00   3765380.00        1.51031  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765380.00        1.51106  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765380.00        1.51214  (13120808)                
439804.00   3765380.00        1.51314  (13120808)          
        439809.00   3765380.00        1.51442  (13120808)                
439814.00   3765380.00        1.51528  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765385.00        1.52073  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765385.00        1.53170  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765400.00        1.56826  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765400.00        1.58582  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765400.00        1.58694  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765405.00        1.58403  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765405.00        1.57955  (12011808)                

434

Item D - 1784 of 1893



439719.00   3765405.00        1.57922  (12011808)          
        439734.00   3765405.00        1.57966  (12011808)                
439749.00   3765405.00        1.58035  (13120808)          
        439754.00   3765405.00        1.58132  (13120808)                
439774.00   3765405.00        1.58630  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765405.00        1.58746  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765405.00        1.58901  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765405.00        1.59057  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765405.00        1.59135  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765405.00        1.59277  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765405.00        1.59390  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765405.00        1.59508  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765405.00        1.59574  (13120808)          
        439819.00   3765405.00        1.59706  (13120808)                
439824.00   3765405.00        1.59833  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765405.00        1.59969  (13120808)                
439834.00   3765405.00        1.60082  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765405.00        1.60212  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765405.00        1.60308  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765405.00        1.60417  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765405.00        1.60529  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765405.00        1.60631  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765410.00        1.60830  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765410.00        1.60634  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765410.00        1.60303  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765410.00        1.60160  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765410.00        1.59839  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765410.00        1.59717  (12011808)                
439704.00   3765410.00        1.59773  (12011808)          
        439709.00   3765410.00        1.59782  (12011808)                
439714.00   3765410.00        1.59797  (12011808)          
        439719.00   3765410.00        1.59819  (12011808)                
439729.00   3765410.00        1.59861  (12011808)          
        439734.00   3765410.00        1.59804  (12011808)                
439739.00   3765410.00        1.59867  (12011808)          
        439744.00   3765410.00        1.59809  (12011808)                
439749.00   3765410.00        1.59895  (12011808)          
        439774.00   3765410.00        1.60330  (14100607)                
439779.00   3765410.00        1.60494  (14100607)          
        439784.00   3765410.00        1.60562  (14100607)                
439789.00   3765410.00        1.60774  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765410.00        1.60905  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765410.00        1.61003  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765410.00        1.61119  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765410.00        1.61246  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765410.00        1.61416  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765410.00        1.61457  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765410.00        1.61585  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765410.00        1.61712  (13120808)          
        439834.00   3765410.00        1.61843  (13120808)                
439839.00   3765410.00        1.61975  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765410.00        1.62087  (13120808)                

435

Item D - 1785 of 1893



439849.00   3765410.00        1.62206  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765410.00        1.62304  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765410.00        1.62411  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765415.00        1.63418  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765415.00        1.63095  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765415.00        1.62937  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765415.00        1.62579  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765415.00        1.62443  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765415.00        1.62118  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765415.00        1.61906  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765415.00        1.61685  (12011808)          

436

Item D - 1786 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 141
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439714.00   3765415.00        1.61659  (12011808)                
439719.00   3765415.00        1.61727  (12011808)          
        439729.00   3765415.00        1.61737  (12011808)                
439734.00   3765415.00        1.61765  (12011808)          
        439739.00   3765415.00        1.61771  (12011808)                
439744.00   3765415.00        1.61800  (12011808)          
        439749.00   3765415.00        1.61777  (12011808)                
439774.00   3765415.00        1.62103  (14100607)          
        439779.00   3765415.00        1.62219  (14100607)                
439784.00   3765415.00        1.62400  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765415.00        1.62461  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765415.00        1.62651  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765415.00        1.62796  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765415.00        1.62938  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765415.00        1.63035  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765415.00        1.63155  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765415.00        1.63324  (14100607)                

437

Item D - 1787 of 1893



439824.00   3765415.00        1.63388  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765415.00        1.63514  (13120808)                
439834.00   3765415.00        1.63636  (13120808)          
        439839.00   3765415.00        1.63781  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765415.00        1.63896  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765415.00        1.64032  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765415.00        1.64159  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765415.00        1.64252  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765420.00        1.65883  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765420.00        1.65702  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765420.00        1.65416  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765420.00        1.65278  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765420.00        1.64933  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765420.00        1.64783  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765420.00        1.64468  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765420.00        1.64294  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765420.00        1.63928  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765420.00        1.63693  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765420.00        1.63639  (12011808)          
        439734.00   3765420.00        1.63717  (12011808)                
439739.00   3765420.00        1.63701  (12011808)          
        439744.00   3765420.00        1.63785  (12011808)                
439749.00   3765420.00        1.63734  (12011808)          
        439774.00   3765420.00        1.63858  (14100607)                
439779.00   3765420.00        1.64015  (14100607)          
        439784.00   3765420.00        1.64166  (14100607)                
439789.00   3765420.00        1.64347  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765420.00        1.64448  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765420.00        1.64619  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765420.00        1.64749  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765420.00        1.64892  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765420.00        1.64992  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765420.00        1.65139  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765420.00        1.65274  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765420.00        1.65404  (14100607)          
        439834.00   3765420.00        1.65497  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765420.00        1.65621  (13120808)          
        439844.00   3765420.00        1.65778  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765420.00        1.65890  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765420.00        1.66025  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765420.00        1.66150  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765425.00        1.68504  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765425.00        1.68286  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765425.00        1.68072  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765425.00        1.67819  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765425.00        1.67681  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765425.00        1.67365  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765425.00        1.67212  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765425.00        1.66861  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765425.00        1.66724  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765425.00        1.66366  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765425.00        1.65837  (12011417)                

438

Item D - 1788 of 1893



439734.00   3765425.00        1.65690  (12011808)          
        439739.00   3765425.00        1.65766  (12011808)                
439744.00   3765425.00        1.65728  (12011808)          
        439749.00   3765425.00        1.65863  (12011808)                
439774.00   3765425.00        1.65841  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765425.00        1.65888  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765425.00        1.66011  (14100607)          
        439789.00   3765425.00        1.66180  (14100607)                
439794.00   3765425.00        1.66359  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765425.00        1.66482  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765425.00        1.66634  (14100607)          

439

Item D - 1789 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 142
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439809.00   3765425.00        1.66760  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765425.00        1.66956  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765425.00        1.67041  (14100607)                
439824.00   3765425.00        1.67198  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765425.00        1.67291  (14100607)                
439834.00   3765425.00        1.67452  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765425.00        1.67540  (13120808)                
439844.00   3765425.00        1.67694  (13120808)          
        439849.00   3765425.00        1.67820  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765425.00        1.67962  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765425.00        1.68086  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765430.00        1.71166  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765430.00        1.70940  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765430.00        1.70752  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765430.00        1.70522  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765430.00        1.70285  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765430.00        1.70128  (12011417)                

440

Item D - 1790 of 1893



439704.00   3765430.00        1.69835  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        1.69707  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765430.00        1.69314  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765430.00        1.69204  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765430.00        1.68659  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765430.00        1.68308  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        1.68119  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765430.00        1.67867  (12011808)                
439749.00   3765430.00        1.67841  (12011808)          
        439774.00   3765430.00        1.68072  (12011808)                
439779.00   3765430.00        1.67941  (12011808)          
        439784.00   3765430.00        1.68045  (12011808)                
439789.00   3765430.00        1.68068  (14100607)          
        439794.00   3765430.00        1.68227  (14100607)                
439799.00   3765430.00        1.68418  (14100607)          
        439804.00   3765430.00        1.68582  (14100607)                
439809.00   3765430.00        1.68731  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765430.00        1.68842  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765430.00        1.69041  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765430.00        1.69156  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765430.00        1.69291  (14100607)          
        439834.00   3765430.00        1.69385  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765430.00        1.69572  (14100607)          
        439844.00   3765430.00        1.69653  (13120808)                
439849.00   3765430.00        1.69819  (13120808)          
        439854.00   3765430.00        1.69944  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765430.00        1.70109  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765435.00        1.73801  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765435.00        1.73663  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765435.00        1.73442  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765435.00        1.73262  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765435.00        1.73051  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765435.00        1.72792  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765435.00        1.72647  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765435.00        1.72347  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765435.00        1.72262  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765435.00        1.71852  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765435.00        1.71390  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765435.00        1.71260  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765435.00        1.70873  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765435.00        1.70712  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765435.00        1.70350  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765435.00        1.70117  (12011808)          
        439779.00   3765435.00        1.70258  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765435.00        1.70167  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765435.00        1.70253  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765435.00        1.70215  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765435.00        1.70377  (14100607)                
439804.00   3765435.00        1.70563  (14100607)          
        439809.00   3765435.00        1.70727  (14100607)                
439814.00   3765435.00        1.70878  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765435.00        1.71017  (14100607)                

441

Item D - 1791 of 1893



439824.00   3765435.00        1.71181  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765435.00        1.71352  (14100607)                
439834.00   3765435.00        1.71479  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765435.00        1.71559  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765435.00        1.71745  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765435.00        1.71842  (13120808)                
439854.00   3765435.00        1.72000  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765435.00        1.72117  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765440.00        1.76621  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765440.00        1.76348  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765440.00        1.76245  (12011417)          

442

Item D - 1792 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 143
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439689.00   3765440.00        1.75977  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765440.00        1.75838  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765440.00        1.75638  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765440.00        1.75389  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765440.00        1.75229  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765440.00        1.74953  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765440.00        1.74876  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765440.00        1.74398  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765440.00        1.74010  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765440.00        1.73916  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765440.00        1.73489  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765440.00        1.73362  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765440.00        1.72363  (12011808)                
439779.00   3765440.00        1.72400  (12011808)          
        439784.00   3765440.00        1.72475  (12011808)                
439789.00   3765440.00        1.72472  (12011808)          
        439794.00   3765440.00        1.72524  (12011808)                

443

Item D - 1793 of 1893



439799.00   3765440.00        1.72453  (12011808)          
        439804.00   3765440.00        1.72587  (12011808)                
439809.00   3765440.00        1.72756  (14100607)          
        439814.00   3765440.00        1.72946  (14100607)                
439819.00   3765440.00        1.73106  (14100607)          
        439824.00   3765440.00        1.73269  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765440.00        1.73402  (14100607)          
        439834.00   3765440.00        1.73569  (14100607)                
439839.00   3765440.00        1.73716  (14100607)          
        439844.00   3765440.00        1.73833  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765440.00        1.73947  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765440.00        1.74096  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765440.00        1.74266  (13120808)          
        439674.00   3765445.00        1.79292  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765445.00        1.79243  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765445.00        1.78980  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765445.00        1.78880  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765445.00        1.78626  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765445.00        1.78496  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765445.00        1.78286  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765445.00        1.78076  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765445.00        1.77915  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765445.00        1.77608  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765445.00        1.77187  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765445.00        1.77081  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765445.00        1.76687  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765445.00        1.76632  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765445.00        1.76206  (12011417)                
439774.00   3765445.00        1.74872  (12011417)          
        439779.00   3765445.00        1.74647  (12011808)                
439784.00   3765445.00        1.74756  (12011808)          
        439789.00   3765445.00        1.74740  (12011808)                
439794.00   3765445.00        1.74847  (12011808)          
        439799.00   3765445.00        1.74854  (12011808)                
439804.00   3765445.00        1.74830  (12011808)          
        439809.00   3765445.00        1.74919  (12011808)                
439814.00   3765445.00        1.75040  (14100607)          
        439819.00   3765445.00        1.75224  (14100607)                
439824.00   3765445.00        1.75402  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765445.00        1.75563  (14100607)                
439834.00   3765445.00        1.75700  (14100607)          
        439839.00   3765445.00        1.75874  (14100607)                
439844.00   3765445.00        1.76005  (14100607)          
        439849.00   3765445.00        1.76184  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765445.00        1.76265  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765445.00        1.76445  (13120808)                
439674.00   3765450.00        1.82235  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765450.00        1.81987  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765450.00        1.81950  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765450.00        1.81686  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765450.00        1.81579  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765450.00        1.81346  (12011417)                

444

Item D - 1794 of 1893



439704.00   3765450.00        1.81242  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765450.00        1.81005  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765450.00        1.80806  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765450.00        1.80653  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765450.00        1.80285  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765450.00        1.79944  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765450.00        1.79865  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765450.00        1.79459  (12011417)                
439749.00   3765450.00        1.79413  (12011417)          
        439774.00   3765450.00        1.78012  (12011417)                
439844.00   3765450.00        1.78274  (14100607)          

445

Item D - 1795 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 144
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439849.00   3765450.00        1.78406  (14100607)                
439854.00   3765450.00        1.78545  (14100607)          
        439859.00   3765450.00        1.78648  (14100607)                
439674.00   3765455.00        1.85042  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765455.00        1.85012  (12011417)                
439684.00   3765455.00        1.84763  (12011417)          
        439689.00   3765455.00        1.84713  (12011417)                
439694.00   3765455.00        1.84468  (12011417)          
        439699.00   3765455.00        1.84366  (12011417)                
439704.00   3765455.00        1.84145  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765455.00        1.84017  (12011417)                
439714.00   3765455.00        1.83815  (12011417)          
        439719.00   3765455.00        1.83610  (12011417)                
439729.00   3765455.00        1.83192  (12011417)          
        439734.00   3765455.00        1.83127  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765455.00        1.82790  (12011417)          
        439744.00   3765455.00        1.82713  (12011417)                

446

Item D - 1796 of 1893



439749.00   3765455.00        1.82347  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765455.00        1.80561  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765455.00        1.80707  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765455.00        1.80889  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765455.00        1.81036  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765460.00        1.88097  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765460.00        1.87852  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765460.00        1.87840  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765460.00        1.87621  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765460.00        1.87561  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765460.00        1.87294  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765460.00        1.87271  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        1.87026  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765460.00        1.86903  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765460.00        1.86716  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765460.00        1.86390  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765460.00        1.86129  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        1.86032  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765460.00        1.85725  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765460.00        1.85651  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765460.00        1.83622  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765460.00        1.83344  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765460.00        1.82996  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765460.00        1.82763  (12011417)                
439809.00   3765460.00        1.82364  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765460.00        1.82310  (12011808)                
439819.00   3765460.00        1.82443  (12011808)          
        439824.00   3765460.00        1.82320  (12011808)                
439829.00   3765460.00        1.82431  (12011808)          
        439844.00   3765460.00        1.82912  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765460.00        1.83164  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765460.00        1.83310  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765460.00        1.83409  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765465.00        1.91085  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765465.00        1.91008  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765465.00        1.90774  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765465.00        1.90774  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765465.00        1.90564  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765465.00        1.90508  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765465.00        1.90272  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765465.00        1.90226  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765465.00        1.89991  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765465.00        1.89894  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765465.00        1.89471  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765465.00        1.89387  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765465.00        1.89152  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765465.00        1.89037  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765465.00        1.88750  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765465.00        1.86972  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765465.00        1.86698  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765465.00        1.86449  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765465.00        1.86110  (12011417)                

447

Item D - 1797 of 1893



439809.00   3765465.00        1.85871  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765465.00        1.85455  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765465.00        1.85252  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765465.00        1.85125  (12011808)                
439829.00   3765465.00        1.85036  (12011808)          
        439844.00   3765465.00        1.85435  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765465.00        1.85569  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765465.00        1.85761  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765465.00        1.85972  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765470.00        1.94250  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765470.00        1.94058  (12011417)          

448

Item D - 1798 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 145
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439684.00   3765470.00        1.93994  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765470.00        1.93815  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765470.00        1.93787  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765470.00        1.93591  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765470.00        1.93538  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765470.00        1.93304  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765470.00        1.93276  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765470.00        1.93045  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765470.00        1.92778  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765470.00        1.92561  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765470.00        1.92467  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765470.00        1.92253  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765470.00        1.92150  (12011417)                
439789.00   3765470.00        1.90425  (12011417)          
        439794.00   3765470.00        1.90157  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765470.00        1.89872  (12011417)          
        439804.00   3765470.00        1.89660  (12011417)                

449

Item D - 1799 of 1893



439809.00   3765470.00        1.89286  (12011417)          
        439814.00   3765470.00        1.89066  (12011417)                
439819.00   3765470.00        1.88695  (12011417)          
        439824.00   3765470.00        1.88465  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765470.00        1.88045  (12011417)          
        439844.00   3765470.00        1.87916  (14100607)                
439849.00   3765470.00        1.88121  (14100607)          
        439854.00   3765470.00        1.88322  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765470.00        1.88545  (14100607)          
        439674.00   3765475.00        1.97380  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765475.00        1.97335  (12011417)          
        439684.00   3765475.00        1.97137  (12011417)                
439689.00   3765475.00        1.97123  (12011417)          
        439694.00   3765475.00        1.96926  (12011417)                
439699.00   3765475.00        1.96920  (12011417)          
        439704.00   3765475.00        1.96705  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765475.00        1.96659  (12011417)          
        439714.00   3765475.00        1.96460  (12011417)                
439719.00   3765475.00        1.96409  (12011417)          
        439729.00   3765475.00        1.96099  (12011417)                
439734.00   3765475.00        1.95936  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765475.00        1.95751  (12011417)                
439744.00   3765475.00        1.95664  (12011417)          
        439749.00   3765475.00        1.95449  (12011417)                
439754.00   3765475.00        1.95348  (12011417)          
        439789.00   3765475.00        1.93922  (12011417)                
439794.00   3765475.00        1.93712  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765475.00        1.93433  (12011417)                
439804.00   3765475.00        1.93159  (12011417)          
        439809.00   3765475.00        1.92962  (12011417)                
439814.00   3765475.00        1.92596  (12011417)          
        439819.00   3765475.00        1.92369  (12011417)                
439824.00   3765475.00        1.92022  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765475.00        1.91807  (12011417)                
439269.00   3764900.00        0.81860  (13120808)          
        439369.00   3764900.00        0.81738  (13120808)                
439469.00   3764900.00        0.81421  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3764900.00        0.80580  (13120808)                
439669.00   3764900.00        0.78696  (12010217)          
        439769.00   3764900.00        0.78488  (12010217)                
439869.00   3764900.00        0.77825  (12010217)          
        439969.00   3764900.00        0.75971  (12010217)                
440069.00   3764900.00        0.76638  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3764900.00        0.77186  (15010717)                
440269.00   3764900.00        0.77514  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765000.00        0.89521  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765000.00        0.89461  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765000.00        0.89407  (13120808)                
439569.00   3765000.00        0.89240  (13120808)          
        439669.00   3765000.00        0.88376  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765000.00        0.85967  (12010217)          
        439869.00   3765000.00        0.85734  (12010217)                

450

Item D - 1800 of 1893



439969.00   3765000.00        0.84706  (12010217)          
        440069.00   3765000.00        0.84339  (15010717)                
440169.00   3765000.00        0.84664  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765000.00        0.84848  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765100.00        0.99136  (13120808)          
        439369.00   3765100.00        0.99107  (13120808)                
439469.00   3765100.00        0.99051  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3765100.00        0.99203  (13120808)                
439669.00   3765100.00        0.99228  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765100.00        0.98315  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765100.00        0.95380  (13120808)          

451

Item D - 1801 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 146
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        439969.00   3765100.00        0.94992  (12010217)                
440069.00   3765100.00        0.93766  (15010717)          
        440169.00   3765100.00        0.93990  (15010717)                
440269.00   3765100.00        0.94031  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765200.00        1.11783  (13120808)                
439369.00   3765200.00        1.11904  (13120808)          
        439469.00   3765200.00        1.11696  (13120808)                
439569.00   3765200.00        1.11716  (13120808)          
        439669.00   3765200.00        1.12179  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765200.00        1.12546  (13120808)          
        439869.00   3765200.00        1.11526  (13120808)                
439969.00   3765200.00        1.07910  (13120808)          
        440069.00   3765200.00        1.07036  (12010217)                
440169.00   3765200.00        1.06123  (15010717)          
        440269.00   3765200.00        1.06152  (15010717)                
439269.00   3765300.00        1.33818  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765300.00        1.30845  (12011417)                

452

Item D - 1802 of 1893



439469.00   3765300.00        1.29458  (13120808)          
        439569.00   3765300.00        1.29112  (13120808)                
439669.00   3765300.00        1.29474  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765300.00        1.30661  (13120808)                
439869.00   3765300.00        1.31146  (13120808)          
        439969.00   3765300.00        1.29756  (13120808)                
440069.00   3765300.00        1.25571  (13120808)          
        440169.00   3765300.00        1.23672  (12010217)                
440269.00   3765300.00        1.23086  (15010717)          
        439269.00   3765400.00        1.67154  (12011417)                
439369.00   3765400.00        1.65476  (12011417)          
        439469.00   3765400.00        1.63212  (12011417)                
439569.00   3765400.00        1.60324  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765400.00        1.56211  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765400.00        1.56826  (14100607)          
        439869.00   3765400.00        1.59038  (13120808)                
439969.00   3765400.00        1.59150  (13120808)          
        440069.00   3765400.00        1.57499  (13120808)                
440169.00   3765400.00        1.52549  (13120808)          
        440269.00   3765400.00        1.52387  (12011608)                
439269.00   3765500.00        2.19780  (12011417)          
        439369.00   3765500.00        2.19361  (12011417)                
439469.00   3765500.00        2.18060  (12011417)          
        439569.00   3765500.00        2.16371  (12011417)                
439669.00   3765500.00        2.14880  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765500.00        2.13312  (12011417)                
439869.00   3765500.00        2.09228  (12011417)          
        439969.00   3765500.00        2.08853  (13120808)                
440069.00   3765500.00        2.08038  (13120808)          
        440169.00   3765500.00        2.06199  (13120808)                
440269.00   3765500.00        2.06692  (12011608)          
        439269.00   3765600.00        3.48269  (12101307)                
439369.00   3765600.00        3.46847  (12101307)          
        439469.00   3765600.00        3.43151  (12101307)                
439569.00   3765600.00        3.38714  (12011417)          
        439669.00   3765600.00        3.37011  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765600.00        3.36283  (12011417)          
        439869.00   3765600.00        3.39883  (12011417)                
439969.00   3765600.00        3.42312  (12011417)          
        440069.00   3765600.00        3.53049  (14101107)                
440169.00   3765600.00        3.61368  (14101107)          
        440269.00   3765600.00        3.66595  (14101107)                
439269.00   3765700.00       14.56472  (12101307)          
        439369.00   3765700.00       15.07590  (12101307)                
439469.00   3765700.00       15.66274  (12101307)          
        439569.00   3765700.00       16.04418  (14101107)                
439669.00   3765700.00       16.42742  (14101107)          
        439769.00   3765700.00       16.65484  (14101107)                
439869.00   3765700.00       16.87478  (14101107)          
        439969.00   3765700.00       16.90265  (14101107)                
440069.00   3765700.00       17.19848  (12101207)          
        440169.00   3765700.00       17.28501  (12101207)                

453

Item D - 1803 of 1893



440269.00   3765700.00       17.52593  (12101207)          
        439269.00   3765800.00        4.32810  (12100707)                
439369.00   3765800.00        4.36921  (12100707)          
        439469.00   3765800.00        4.34561  (12100707)                
439569.00   3765800.00        4.31596  (12100707)          
        439669.00   3765800.00        4.30851  (12100707)                
439769.00   3765800.00        4.31304  (12100707)          
        439869.00   3765800.00        4.38199  (13111217)                
439969.00   3765800.00        4.12393  (12011717)          
        440069.00   3765800.00        4.06776  (12011717)                
440169.00   3765800.00        4.06044  (12011717)          

454

Item D - 1804 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 147
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                              *** THE   1ST HIGHEST  1-HR AVERAGE 
CONCENTRATION   VALUES FOR SOURCE GROUP:  ALL      ***
                                  INCLUDING SOURCE(S):     
A0000012    , A0000013    , A0000014    , A0000015    , 
A0000016    , 
                 A0000017    , A0000018    , A0000019    , 
A0000020    , A0000021    , A0000022    , A0000001    , 
A0000002    , 
                 A0000003    , A0000004    , A0000005    , 
A0000006    , A0000007    , A0000008    , A0000009    , 
A0000010    , 
                 A0000011    , A0000023    , A0000024    , 
A0000025    , A0000026    , A0000027    , 
A0000028    ,  . . .      , 

                                             *** DISCRETE 
CARTESIAN RECEPTOR POINTS ***

                                        ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

      X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)              
X-COORD (M)  Y-COORD (M)        CONC     (YYMMDDHH)
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
-
        440269.00   3765800.00        4.07663  (12011717)                
439269.00   3765900.00        2.49048  (12100707)          
        439369.00   3765900.00        2.44857  (12100707)                
439469.00   3765900.00        2.39490  (12100707)          
        439569.00   3765900.00        2.32766  (12100707)                
439669.00   3765900.00        2.34570  (13111217)          
        439769.00   3765900.00        2.39147  (13111217)                
439869.00   3765900.00        2.42311  (13111217)          
        439969.00   3765900.00        2.42579  (13111217)                
440069.00   3765900.00        2.39105  (13111217)          
        440169.00   3765900.00        2.38063  (13111217)                
440269.00   3765900.00        2.39922  (12011717)          
        439649.00   3765310.00        1.31420  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765310.00        1.31670  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765310.00        1.32027  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765310.00        1.32370  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765310.00        1.32752  (13120808)                

455

Item D - 1805 of 1893



439799.00   3765310.00        1.33138  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765310.00        1.33388  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765310.00        1.33500  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765310.00        1.33348  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765340.00        1.38371  (13120808)          
        439679.00   3765340.00        1.38545  (13120808)                
439709.00   3765340.00        1.38828  (13120808)          
        439739.00   3765340.00        1.39287  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765340.00        1.39757  (13120808)          
        439799.00   3765340.00        1.40256  (13120808)                
439829.00   3765340.00        1.40612  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765340.00        1.40874  (13120808)                
439889.00   3765340.00        1.40931  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765370.00        1.46317  (13120808)                
439679.00   3765370.00        1.46419  (13120808)          
        439709.00   3765370.00        1.46693  (13120808)                
439739.00   3765370.00        1.47127  (13120808)          
        439769.00   3765370.00        1.47678  (13120808)                
439799.00   3765370.00        1.48285  (13120808)          
        439829.00   3765370.00        1.48834  (13120808)                
439859.00   3765370.00        1.49280  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765370.00        1.49469  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765400.00        1.57213  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765400.00        1.56119  (12011808)                
439709.00   3765400.00        1.56142  (12011808)          
        439739.00   3765400.00        1.56204  (13120808)                
439769.00   3765400.00        1.56826  (14100607)          
        439799.00   3765400.00        1.57546  (14100607)                
439829.00   3765400.00        1.58255  (13120808)          
        439859.00   3765400.00        1.58877  (13120808)                
439889.00   3765400.00        1.59279  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765430.00        1.71989  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765430.00        1.70940  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765430.00        1.69707  (12011417)                
439739.00   3765430.00        1.68119  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765430.00        1.67905  (12011808)                
439799.00   3765430.00        1.68418  (14100607)          
        439829.00   3765430.00        1.69291  (14100607)                
439859.00   3765430.00        1.70109  (13120808)          
        439889.00   3765430.00        1.70744  (13120808)                
439649.00   3765460.00        1.88705  (12011417)          
        439679.00   3765460.00        1.87852  (12011417)                
439709.00   3765460.00        1.87026  (12011417)          
        439739.00   3765460.00        1.86032  (12011417)                
439769.00   3765460.00        1.84734  (12011417)          
        439799.00   3765460.00        1.82996  (12011417)                
439829.00   3765460.00        1.82431  (12011808)          
        439859.00   3765460.00        1.83409  (14100607)                
439889.00   3765460.00        1.84365  (13120808)          
        439649.00   3765490.00        2.08024  (12011417)                
439679.00   3765490.00        2.07413  (12011417)          
        439709.00   3765490.00        2.06936  (12011417)                

456

Item D - 1806 of 1893



439739.00   3765490.00        2.06333  (12011417)          
        439769.00   3765490.00        2.05619  (12011417)                
439799.00   3765490.00        2.04596  (12011417)          
        439829.00   3765490.00        2.03231  (12011417)                
439859.00   3765490.00        2.01424  (12011417)          
        439889.00   3765490.00        2.01037  (13120808)                                                                           

457

Item D - 1807 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 148
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                        *** THE SUMMARY OF 
MAXIMUM PERIOD ( 43848 HRS) RESULTS ***

                                    ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

                                                                                                             
NETWORK
GROUP ID                       AVERAGE CONC                
RECEPTOR  (XR, YR, ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)  OF TYPE  GRID-ID
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

EXH       1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.18082 AT (  440269.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.14786 AT (  440169.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.11887 AT (  440069.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.07937 AT (  439969.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.05444 AT (  439869.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.03560 AT (  439769.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.99410 AT (  439669.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.93748 AT (  439569.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.85402 AT (  439469.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
         10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.75481 AT (  439369.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

FREEEXH   1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.08198 AT (  440169.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.08072 AT (  440269.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.07627 AT (  440069.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.05764 AT (  439969.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

458

Item D - 1808 of 1893



          5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.03652 AT (  439869.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.01278 AT (  439769.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.96641 AT (  439669.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.90454 AT (  439569.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.82739 AT (  439469.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
         10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.74831 AT (  439369.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

ONOFFEXH  1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.10010 AT (  440269.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.07144 AT (  439869.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.06589 AT (  440169.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.04688 AT (  439769.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.04260 AT (  440069.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.03377 AT (  439969.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.03295 AT (  439569.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.03178 AT (  439669.00,  
3765800.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.02769 AT (  439669.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
         10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       0.02663 AT (  439469.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

ALL       1ST HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.18082 AT (  440269.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          2ND HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.14786 AT (  440169.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          3RD HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.11887 AT (  440069.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          4TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.07937 AT (  439969.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          5TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.05444 AT (  439869.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          6TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       2.03560 AT (  439769.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          7TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.99410 AT (  439669.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          8TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.93748 AT (  439569.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
          9TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.85402 AT (  439469.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

459

Item D - 1809 of 1893



         10TH HIGHEST VALUE IS       1.75481 AT (  439369.00,  
3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

*** RECEPTOR TYPES:  GC = GRIDCART
                      GP = GRIDPOLR
                      DC = DISCCART
                      DP = DISCPOLR

460

Item D - 1810 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 149
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

                                                *** THE SUMMARY 
OF HIGHEST  1-HR RESULTS ***

                                    ** CONC OF PM_10    IN 
MICROGRAMS/M**3                          **

                                                      DATE                                                                    
NETWORK
GROUP ID                          AVERAGE CONC     (YYMMDDHH)             
RECEPTOR  (XR, YR, ZELEV, ZHILL, ZFLAG)    OF TYPE  GRID-ID
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
  
EXH      HIGH   1ST HIGH VALUE IS      17.52593  ON 12101207: AT 
(  440269.00,  3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
  
FREEEXH  HIGH   1ST HIGH VALUE IS      17.12930  ON 12101207: AT 
(  440269.00,  3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
  
ONOFFEXH HIGH   1ST HIGH VALUE IS       0.56725  ON 12100707: AT 
(  440269.00,  3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          
  
ALL      HIGH   1ST HIGH VALUE IS      17.52593  ON 12101207: AT 
(  440269.00,  3765700.00,   289.00,   289.00,    0.00)  DC          

*** RECEPTOR TYPES:  GC = GRIDCART
                      GP = GRIDPOLR
                      DC = DISCCART
                      DP = DISCPOLR

461

Item D - 1811 of 1893



*** AERMOD - VERSION 21112  ***   *** C:\Lakes\Ontario_PUD-
Legacy_Ops-HRA_20221004\Ontario_PUD-Legacy_Ops- ***        
10/05/22
*** AERMET - VERSION  16216 ***   ***                                                                      
***        12:31:02
                                                                                                                       
PAGE 150
*** MODELOPTs:    NonDFAULT  CONC  FLAT  URBAN  ADJ_U*

*** Message Summary : AERMOD Model Execution ***

  --------- Summary of Total Messages --------
  
A Total of            0 Fatal Error Message(s)
A Total of            2 Warning Message(s)
A Total of         1628 Informational Message(s)

A Total of        43848 Hours Were Processed

A Total of         1278 Calm Hours Identified

A Total of          350 Missing Hours Identified (  0.80 
Percent)
  
  
    ******** FATAL ERROR MESSAGES ******** 
               ***  NONE  ***         
  
  
    ********   WARNING MESSAGES   ******** 
ME W186    1734       MEOPEN: THRESH_1MIN 1-min ASOS wind speed 
threshold used           0.50
ME W187    1734       MEOPEN: ADJ_U* Option for Stable Low Winds 
used in AERMET              

    ************************************
    *** AERMOD Finishes Successfully ***
    ************************************

462

Item D - 1812 of 1893



Page 1 of 22 
 

 
DECISION NO.: [insert #] 
 
FILE NO.: PDEV22-027 
 
DESCRIPTION: A public hearing for a Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-027) to 
construct 346 apartment units and 5,400 square feet of commercial space on 9.4 acres 
of the Project site, located at the northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street, 
within the Mixed Use – Neighborhood Hub 8e – Euclid and Walnut (MU-NH 8e) zoning 
district; submitted by Legacy/Collier Residential LLC. Planning Commission action is 
required. 
 
 
 

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 
 

LEGACY/COLLIER RESIDENTIAL LLC, (herein after referred to as "Applicant") has 
filed a request to consider the use of an Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 (“TOP 2050”) 
Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (“Certified SEIR”) for the approval of a 
Development Plan, File No. PDEV22-027, as described in the subject of this Decision 
(herein after referred to as "Application" or "Project"). The Project has been submitted in 
conjunction with two other applications: 1) the Euclid Walnut Planned Unit Development 
(“PUD”, File No. PUD22-004) to establish the development standards and design 
guidelines for an overall 10.6-acre Project site (subject to recommendation by the 
Planning Commission to the City Council), and 2) a Certificate of Appropriateness 
(PHP22-015) to determine whether the Project site is an historic resource (subject to 
recommendation by the Historic Preservation Subcommittee to the Planning 
Commission/Historic Preservation Commission).  

 
The Development Advisory Board is only tasked with making a recommendation 

to the Planning Commission for the Addendum and the Development Plan application. 
A courtesy summary of the PUD and Certificate of Appropriateness has been included 
herein for reference to assist the Development Advisory Board in their review of and 
recommendation to the Planning Commission of the Development Plan and Addendum, 
as described in this report. 
 
PROJECT SETTING: The Project site is comprised of 9.4 acres of land located at the 
northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street and is depicted in Figure 1: Project 
Location, below. Existing land uses, Policy Plan (general plan) and zoning designations, 
and specific plan land uses on and surrounding the Project site are as follows: 
 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

 
August 7, 2023 

Item D - 1813 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 22 

PROJECT ANALYSIS:  
 

 
(1) Background — On 
August 16, 2022, the 
Ontario City Council 
certified The Ontario Plan 
2050 (“TOP”) 
Supplemental 
Environmental Impact 
Report (“SEIR”, State 
Clearinghouse No. 
2021070364) in 
conjunction with File No. 
PGPA20-002. The SEIR 
analyzed the Project site 
and 5.4 acres of land to 
the north of the Project 
site, also located within 
the same mixed-use 
district, and established 
guidelines for 
development. These 
guidelines include, but 
are not limited to, 

 Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Specific Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Site Commercial 

Mixed Use – 
Neighborhood Activity 
Hub, 20.0 – 75.0 du/ac; 

1.0 FAR office/retail 
(MU-NH) 

Mixed Use – 
Neighborhood Hub 8e 

– Euclid and Walnut 
(MU-NH 8e) and Euclid 

Avenue Overlay 

N/A 

North 
Single-family and multi-
family residential, and 

commercial 

Mixed Use – 
Neighborhood Activity 
Hub, 20.0 – 75.0 du/ac; 

1.0 FAR office/retail 
(MU-NH); Medium 

Density, 11.1-25 du/ac 
(MDR) 

Mixed Use – 
Neighborhood Hub 8e 

– Euclid and Walnut 
(MU-NH 8e) and Euclid 

Avenue Overlay 

N/A 

South Single-family residential Low-Density Residential, 
2/1-5.0 du/ac (LDR) 

Low-Density Residential 
(LDR-5) N/A 

East Commercial 
Neighborhood 

Commercial, 0.4 FAR 
(NC) 

Neighborhood 
Commercial (CN) N/A 

West Multi-family residential Medium Density, 11.1-
25 du/ac (MDR) 

Medium-Density 
Residential (MDR-18) 

N/A 
 

 

Figure 1: Project Location 

Item D - 1814 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 22 

general land use (mixed-use residential and commercial), maximum density and 
development intensity (20-75 dwelling units per acre and 1.0 non-residential floor area 
ratio (“FAR”), respectively), and assumed dwelling units and commercial square footage 
(369 SF and 142,840 SF, respectively). An Addendum to the SEIR was submitted in 
conjunction with the Project and discussed within the Environmental Review section of 
the related agenda report (see Attachment A to the Development Advisory Board 
Decision package for the Addendum). 
 
On May 25, 2022, the Applicant filed a Development Plan application (File No. PDEV22-
027) to construct 346 dwelling units and 5,400 square feet of ground-floor commercial 
space on 9.4 acres of the overall 10.6-acre Project site. A comprehensive Development 
Plan set, including the site plan, elevations, floor plans, landscape plan, renderings, colors 
and materials, and development summary sheet, is attached to this report as 
“Attachment A – Development Plan Set.” The request was submitted in conjunction with 
a Certificate of Appropriateness application (File No. PHP22-015), to determine whether 
historic resources are within the Project site, and a Planned Unit Development (“PUD”) 
application (File No. PUD22-004), to establish the development standards and design 
guidelines for the Project site to facilitate its two phases of development.  
 
(2) Site Design / Building Layout — The Project proposes the construction of eight 
buildings consisting of 346 apartment units, at a density of 36.7 dwelling units per acre 
and 5,400 square feet of ground-floor commercial, at an intensity of 0.01 FAR. Buildings 1 
and 2 are four-stories and will be oriented toward Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street and 
Buildings 3 to 8 are three-story buildings located interior to the site. The buildings are 
largely oriented in a linear north-south direction, aside from Building 1, which is an L-
shaped building and Building 2, which is a C-shaped building. Four of the three-story 
buildings face onto a courtyard/paseo with active and passive recreational facilities 
such as cornhole and patio furniture. The major recreational facilities are located within 
or adjacent to Building 1, toward the northeast corner of the Project site. The Project will 
provide a range of dwelling types, including studio, one-bedroom, and two-bedroom 
apartments (See Attachment A – Development Plan Set, page 1 for the site plan; pages 
4, 5, 6, 8, 10, 11, and 12 for the floor plans; and pages 13 and 14 for the landscape plan 
and courtyard/paseo sample). 
 
(3) Site Access/Circulation — The commercial portion of the Project will have direct 
access from Euclid Avenue, and the residential portion of the Project will have gated 
entry access points for both vehicles and pedestrians from Euclid Avenue and Walnut 
Street. Pedestrian circulation is provided throughout the Project site via sidewalks and 
decorative drive aisle crossings. Vehicular circulation is provided throughout the site to 
serve both the residential and commercial land uses. Residents and their guests will have 
access to assigned private parking facilities, including garages, carports, and uncovered 
spaces. Commercial circulation is limited to the easterly Project boundary, along Euclid 
Avenue, and includes shared vehicular access to the existing Carl’s Jr. drive-thru 
restaurant located at the Project site’s southeast corner. 
 

Item D - 1815 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 22 

(4) Parking — The number of off-street parking spaces provided exceeds the minimum 
parking requirement for the Project. The off-street parking calculations and provisions for 
the Project are summarized below and in detail within Attachment A – Development Plan 
Set. 
 

Parking Summary 

Type of Use Number of 
Bedrooms 

Building 
Area (in SF) Parking Ratio Spaces 

Required 
Spaces 

Provided 

Residential 
Units 483 N/A 1.2 spaces per bedroom (inclusive 

of guest spaces) 580 582 

Commercial N/A 5,400 SF 1 space/250 sq. ft. 22 24 

TOTAL    602 606 

 
The Project is designed to provide a total of 582 private residential parking spaces on-site 
(including 18 tandem uncovered spaces behind garage spaces for assignment to the 
same user), and 24 retail and visitor public spaces. No on-street parking is permitted 
adjacent to the Project site. Per the provisions of the PUD, a parking management plan 
shall be submitted for Planning Department review and approval, to accompany a 
rental/lease agreement for the site’s residents and businesses. 
 
(5) Architecture — The buildings are designed in a contemporary architectural style, 
as depicted in the elevations, renderings, and materials summary provided in 
Attachment A – Development Plan Set on sheets 2, 3, 7, 9 (elevations), 15 through 17 
(renderings), and 18 (materials summary). An assortment of complementary colors, 
materials, and textures are proposed, including exterior plaster, fiber cement lap siding, 
fiber cement trim boards, stone veneer, metal awnings and trellises, and aluminum 
storefront windows. The color palette largely consists of neutral earth tones but also 
includes a pop of vibrant color accent panels for each building in orange, yellow, or 
green. The residential units feature balconies and a rooftop deck will be provided for 
Building 1, located at the northeast corner of the Project site.  
 
Building 1, which fronts onto Euclid Avenue, will be unique in that it will feature ground-
floor retail storefronts. The storefronts will include metal awnings and trellises to provide 
visual interest at the retail tenant entries. Buildings 2 through 8 will also be consistent with 
and complementary to Building 1, featuring stone veneer accents along the ground floor 
and stucco and fiber cement siding along the upper floors. The residential balconies will 
also feature contemporary metal railings. 
 
(6) Common Open Space, Amenities, and Landscaping – Approximately 67,404 
square feet of common open space and indoor and outdoor recreation amenities are 
provided throughout the site, including a pool court, dog park, landscaped paseos, 
courtyards, club, fitness room, sports lounge, roof deck, and leasing lounge. Additional 
on-site amenities for residential tenants include private open space (minimum of 50 
square feet per dwelling unit) and private storage units (minimum of 150 cubic feet per 
dwelling unit). Common and private open space and amenities exceed the minimum 

Item D - 1816 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 22 

requirement of 60,550 square feet, with 67,404 square feet provided at a ratio of 195 
square feet per dwelling unit. 
 
Pursuant to Ontario Development Code Sections 6.01.010 and 6.05, all areas of a 
multiple-family development project not covered by structures, drive aisles, off-street 
parking facilities, or hardscape shall be fully landscaped and provided with a permanent 
automatic irrigation system prior to Certificate of Occupancy issuance. Landscaping is 
provided for these unpaved areas, including the full length of the Project street frontages, 
along pedestrian walkways and recreation areas, and throughout the parking lot, for a 
total of 52,971 square feet (12.9 percent) of landscape coverage for the Project site. A 
variety of accent and shade trees in 24- to 60-inch box sizes, as well as one- to five-gallon 
shrubs, groundcovers, and vines, will be planted throughout the site. Decorative paving 
and lighting will be provided at entries, pedestrian walkways, and other key locations 
throughout the Project site, as depicted in Attachment A – Development Plan Set, pages 
13 and 14. 
 
(7) Signage —All Project signage is required to comply with the sign regulations 
provided in Ontario Development Code Division 8.1 and the PUD. Prior to the issuance of 
a Building Permit for the installation of any new on-site signage, the Applicant is required 
to submit a Master Sign Program for the Project site and Sign Plans for the proposed signs 
for Planning Department review and approval. 
 
(8) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — Public utilities (water and sewer) are available to serve 
the Project. Furthermore, the Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water Quality 
Management Plan ("PWQMP"), which establishes the Project's compliance with storm 
water discharge/water quality requirements. The PWQMP includes site design measures 
that capture runoff and pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces and 
maximizes low impact development ("LID") best management practices ("BMPs"), such 
as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP proposes 
the minimized use of impervious hardscape in conjunction with on-site biotreatment 
basins/trenches with underdrains, where the soil type is poorly draining. Any overflow 
drainage will be conveyed to the public street by way of parkway drains and culverts. 

 
(9) Related Files – The Project was filed in conjunction with two other applications, a 
Certificate of Appropriateness and the Euclid Walnut PUD. While the Ontario 
Development Code only requires the Development Advisory Board to make 
recommendation to the Planning Commission on the subject Development Plan 
application, a courtesy overview of the other Project files is provided below. 

 
(a) Certificate of Appropriateness (File No. PHP22-015) – Section 6.01.035 

(Overlay Zoning Districts) of the Ontario Development Code requires Certificate of 
Appropriateness approval for Development Plans located within the Euclid Avenue (EA) 
Overlay district. The intent of the EA Overlay district is not to create a false sense of history 
with any new development along the Euclid Avenue Corridor, but rather to ensure that 
new development does not cause an adverse effect on the character-defining features 
of Euclid Avenue, such as the 60-foot-wide landscaped median, rock curbs, and King’s 

Item D - 1817 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 22 

Standard lampposts. Additionally, all new construction should be compatible with the 
surrounding developments in site design, massing, and scale. Although the Project site 
has not been found to be an historic resource, as proposed, the Project continues to 
illustrate the type of high-quality mixed-use development and architecture found 
throughout the EA Overlay district in both the historic and non-historic sections of the 
Corridor. 
 
The Project site has not been found to be a historic resource, as it does not have any 
historic-eligible structures on-site. Further, is located approximately three miles south of 
the Downtown Historic District and half a mile south of the historic landmarked portion of 
the Euclid Avenue Corridor, which starts at Philadelphia Street at the south and extends 
north to 24th Street in the City of Upland. Lastly, the site lacks many of the character-
defining features of the landmarked portion of the Euclid Avenue Corridor, including the 
rock curbs and King’s Standard lampposts. In reviewing a Certificate of Appropriateness, 
certain findings must be met, which the proposed Project adequately accommodates.  

 
(b) Planned Unit Development (File No. PUD22-004) - The MU-NH 8e zoning 

district and the EA Overlay district require the preparation and approval of a PUD to 
establish the development standards and design guidelines for the site. The proposed 
Euclid Walnut PUD identifies certain components to ensure the Project’s consistency with 
The Ontario Plan, including its Vision, Governance Manual, and Policy Plan (General 
Plan). The PUD also outlines the land use plan, development regulations, and design 
criteria for the site. The Project, as described in the sections above, has been designed 
to be consistent with these standards. 
 
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING: A neighborhood meeting regarding File No. PZC22-001, a 
Policy Plan (General Plan) zoning consistency project that included the Project site, was 
held on February 22, 2023. Several members of the public attended and requested 
additional information about the Project, including the Project’s scope of work, 
conceptual site planning and building design, and traffic. City staff provided additional 
information to the community members at the meeting and considered their input during 
Project review. Further, a community member who provided contact information was 
added to the public notification list for the Project. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: Public notification is not required, as the Development Advisory 
Board is acting in its capacity as an advisory body to the Planning Commission. Public 
notification is required prior to the Planning Commission hearing on the Project. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: As of the preparation of this Agenda Report, Planning Department 
staff has not received any written or verbal communications from the owners or 
occupants of properties surrounding the Project site or from the public in general, aside 
from the above-mentioned neighborhood meeting, regarding the subject application. 
 
AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 

Item D - 1818 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 22 

preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are included 
with this Decision. 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 
that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the recommending body for the Project, the Development Advisory 
Board has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with 
the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within 
the ONT ALUCP. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN: The proposed Project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan ("TOP"). More 
specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed project are 
as follows: 
 
(1) City Council Goals. 
 

 Invest in the Growth and Evolution of the City's Economy 
 Operate in a Businesslike Manner 
 Focus Resources in Ontario's Commercial and Residential Neighborhoods 

 
(2) Vision. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 
 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

 

Item D - 1819 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 22 

(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 
 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 
 

Land Use Element: 
 

 Goal LU-1 Balance. A community that has a spectrum of housing types and 
price ranges that match the jobs in the City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 
 

 LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth in strategic locations that 
help create place and identity, maximize available and planned infrastructure, foster the 
development of transit, and support the expansion of the active and multimodal 
transportation networks throughout the City. 

 
 LU-1.5 Jobs-Housing Balance. We coordinate land use, infrastructure, and 

transportation planning and analysis with regional, county, and other local agencies to 
further regional and sub-regional goals for jobs-housing balance. 
 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 
residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

 Goal LU-2 Compatibility. Compatibility between a wide range of uses and a 
resultant urban patterns and forms. 
 

 LU-2.1 Land Use Decisions. We minimize adverse impacts on adjacent 
properties when considering land use and zoning requests. 
 

 LU-2.2 Buffers. We require new uses to provide mitigation or buffers between 
existing uses where potential adverse impacts could occur. Additional mitigation is 
required when new uses could negatively impact environmental justice areas. 
 

 LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We require infrastructure to be 
aesthetically pleasing and in context with the community character. 
 

Item D - 1820 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 9 of 22 

 Goal LU-4 Phased Growth. Development that provides short-term value only 
when the opportunity to achieve our Vision can be preserved. 
 

 LU-4.2 Interim Development. We allow development in urban, mixed use, 
and transit-oriented Place Types that is not immediately reflective of our ultimate Vision 
for the Place Type, provided it can be modified or replaced when circumstances are 
right to support development aligned with the Place Type Vision. We will not allow 
development that impedes, precludes, or compromises our ability to achieve our Vision. 

 
 LU-4.3 Infrastructure Timing. We require that the necessary infrastructure 

and services be in place prior to or concurrently with development. 
 
 LU-4.4 Shared Infrastructure. We encourage and facilitate the use of shared 

infrastructure (including shared or managed parking) in urban, mixed use, and transit-
oriented Place Types. 
 

Housing Element: 
 

 Goal H-2 Housing Supply & Diversity. Diversity of types of quality housing that 
are affordable to a range of household income levels, accommodate changing 
demographics, and support and reinforce the economic sustainability of Ontario. 
 

 H-2.1 Corridor Housing. We revitalize transportation corridors by 
encouraging the production of higher density residential and mixed-uses that are 
architecturally, functionally, and aesthetically suited to corridors.  
 

 H-2.5 Housing Design. We require architectural excellence through 
adherence to City design guidelines, thoughtful site planning, environmentally 
sustainable practices, and other best practices. 

 
 H-2.6 Infill Development. We support the revitalization of neighborhoods 

through the construction of higher-density residential developments on underutilized 
residential and commercial sites. 
 

 Goal H-3 Governmental Regulations. A City regulatory environment that 
balances the need for creativity and excellence in residential design, flexibility and 
predictability in the project approval process, and the provision of an adequate supply 
and prices of housing. 
 

 H-3.2 Flexible Standards. We allow flexibility in the application of residential 
and mixed-use development standards in order to gain benefits such as exceptional 
design quality, economic advantages, sustainability, or other benefits that would 
otherwise be unrealized. 
 

Item D - 1821 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 10 of 22 

 Goal H-5 Special Needs. A full range of housing types and community services 
that meet the special housing needs for all individuals and families in Ontario, regardless 
of income level, age, or other status. 
 

 H-5.2 Family Housing. We support the development of larger rental 
apartments that are appropriate for families with children, including, as feasible, the 
provision of services, recreation, and other amenities. 
 

Environmental Resources Element: 
 

 Goal ER-1 Water & Wastewater. A reliable and cost-effective system that 
permits the City to manage its diverse water resources and needs. 
 

 ER-1.4 Supply-Demand Balance. We require that available water supply 
and demands be balanced. 

 
 ER-1.6 Urban Run-off Quantity. We encourage the use of low impact 

development strategies, including green infrastructure, to intercept run-off, slow the 
discharge rate, increase infiltration, and ultimately reduce discharge volumes to 
traditional storm drain systems. 

 
 ER-1.7 Urban Run-off Quality. We require control and management of 

urban run-off, consistent with Regional Water Quality Control Board regulations. 
 
 ER-1.8 Wastewater Management. We require the management of 

wastewater discharge and collection consistent with waste discharge requirements 
adopted by the Regional Water Quality Control Board. 
 

Energy Element: 
 
 Goal ER-3 Energy. Cost-effective and reliable energy system sustained through 

a combination of low-impact buildings, site and neighborhood energy conservation, and 
diverse sources of energy generation that collectively helps to minimize the region’s 
carbon footprint. 
 

 ER-3.3 Building and Site Design. We require new construction to incorporate 
energy-efficient building and site design strategies, which could include appropriate 
solar orientation, maximum use of natural daylight, passive solar, and natural ventilation. 
 

 Goal ER-4 Air Quality. Improved indoor and outdoor air quality and reduced 
locally-generated pollutant emissions. 
 

 ER-4.1 Land Use. We reduce GHG and other local pollutant emissions 
through compact, mixed use, and transit-oriented development and development that 
improves the regional jobs-housing balance. 
 

Item D - 1822 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 11 of 22 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-1 Complete Community. A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life. 
 

 CE-1.6 Diversity of Housing. We collaborate with residents, housing 
providers, and the development community to provide housing opportunities for every 
stage of life; we plan for a variety of housing types and price points to encourage the 
development of housing supportive of our efforts to attract business in growing sectors of 
the community while being respectful of existing viable uses. 

 
 CE-1.7 Retail Goods and Services. We seek to ensure a mix of retail 

businesses that provide the full continuum of goods and services for the community. 
 

 Goal CE-2 Placemaking. A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, corridors, 
and centers where people choose to be. 
 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards. Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 

 
 S-1.2 Entitlement and Permitting Process. We follow state guidelines and the 

California Building Code to determine when development proposals must conduct 
geotechnical and geological investigations. 

Item D - 1823 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 12 of 22 

 Goal S-2 Flood Hazards. Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, property damage, 
and economic and social disruption caused by flooding and inundation hazards. 

 
 S-2.5 Stormwater Management. We maintain the storm drain system to 

convey a 100-year storm, when feasible, and encourage environmental site design 
practices to minimize flooding and increase groundwater recharge, including natural 
drainage, green infrastructure, and permeable ground surfaces.  
 

 Goal S-3 Fire & Rescue Hazards. Reduced risk of death, injury, property 
damage, and economic loss due to fires, accidents and normal everyday occurrences 
through prompt and capable emergency response. 

 
 S-3.1 Prevention Services. We proactively mitigate or reduce the negative 

effects of fire, hazardous materials release, and structural collapse by implementing the 
regularly-adopted California Fire Code and California Building Code.  

 
 S-3.8 Fire Prevention. through Environmental Design. We require new 

development to incorporate fire prevention consideration in the design of streetscapes, 
sites, open spaces, and buildings. 
 

 Goal S-4 Noise Hazards. An environment where noise does not adversely affect 
the public’s health, safety, and welfare. 

 
 S-4.1 Noise Mitigation. We utilize the City’s Noise Ordinance, building codes, 

and subdivision and development codes to mitigate noise impacts.  
 

 Goal S-5 Wind-Related Hazards. Minimize the risk of injury, property damage, 
and economic loss resulting from windstorms and wind-related hazards. 

 
 S-5.1 Dust Control Measures. We require the implementation of Best 

Management Practices for dust control at all excavation and grading projects.  
 

 Goal S-7 Law Enforcement. Residential neighborhoods, commercial areas, 
and industrial districts that are kept safe through a multi-faceted approach of prevention, 
suppression, and community involvement in public safety. 

 
 S-7.4 Crime Prevention through Environmental Design (CPTED). We require 

new development to incorporate CPTED in the design of streetscapes, sites, open spaces, 
and buildings.  
 

Community Design Element: 
 

 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity. A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

Item D - 1824 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 13 of 22 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the City being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

 CD-1.2 Place Types. We establish Place Types in urban, mixed use, and 
transit-oriented areas to foster the City's identity as a premier community and require new 
development within each Place Type to incorporate prescribed urban patterns, forms, 
and placemaking priorities. 
 

 CD-1.3 Existing Neighborhoods. We require the existing character of viable 
residential and non-residential neighborhoods be preserved, protected, and enhanced. 
 

 Goal CD-2 Design Quality. A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

 CD-2.2 Neighborhood Design. We create distinct residential neighborhoods 
that promote a sense of community and identity by emphasizing access, connectivity, 
livability, and social interaction through such elements as: 
 

• A pattern of smaller, walkable blocks that promote activity, safety, and 
access to nearby amenities and services; 

• Varied parcel sizes and lot configurations to accommodate a diversity 
of housing types; 

• Traffic calming measures to slow traffic and promote walkability while 
maintaining acceptable traffic flows and emergency evacuation access; 

• Floor plans that encourage views onto the street and de-emphasize the 
visual and physical dominance of garages (introducing the front porch as the "outdoor 
living room"), as appropriate; and 

• Landscaped parkways, with sidewalks separated from the curb and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, and aesthetics for all users. 
 

 CD-2.4 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-oriented Areas. We establish Place 
Types to require mixed use, urban, and transit-oriented areas to be designed and 
developed as pedestrian-oriented areas that are integrated with adjacent 

Item D - 1825 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 14 of 22 

neighborhoods and promote a vibrant, comfortable, and functional environment, as 
defined for each Place Type. 

 
 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 

design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 
 

 CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible space design into new and 
existing developments to ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on pathways, 
corridors, and open space and at building entrances and parking areas by avoiding 
physically and visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and accessibility, and using 
lighting. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

 CD-2.10 Parking Areas. We require all development, including single-family 
residential, to minimize the visual impact of surface, structured, and garage parking areas 
visible from the public realm in an aesthetically pleasing, safe and environmentally 
sensitive manner. Examples include: 
 

• Surface parking: Shade trees, pervious surfaces, urban run-off capture 
and infiltration, and pedestrian paths to guide users through the parking field; 

• Structured parking: facade articulation, screening, appropriate lighting, 
and landscaping; and 

• Garage parking: providing access to single-family residential garages 
through alley access, recessing garages from the frontage to emphasize front doors or 
active living spaces. 
 

 CD-2.11 Entry Statements. We encourage the inclusion of amenities, 
signage, and landscaping at the entry to neighborhoods, commercial centers, mixed 
use areas, industrial developments, and public places that reinforce them as uniquely 
identifiable places. 
 

 CD-2.12 Site and Building Signage. We encourage the use of sign programs 
that utilize complementary materials, colors, and themes. Project signage should be 
designed to effectively communicate and direct users to various aspects of the 
development and complement the character of the structures. 
 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 

Item D - 1826 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 15 of 22 

 Goal CD-3 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-Oriented Place Types. Vibrant urban 
environments that are organized around intense buildings, pedestrian and transit areas, 
public plazas, and linkages between and within developments that are conveniently 
located, visually appealing and safe during all hours. 
 

 CD-3.1 Unique Identity. We promote development that heightens the 
unique character and identity of each Place Type by requiring compatible land uses and 
land planning, site design, and building design that promotes an active public realm. 
 

 CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. We require appropriate 
building and site design that complements existing development, respects the intent and 
identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate transitions and connections 
between adjacent uses to ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate level 
of privacy for each use, and minimize potential conflicts. 
 

 CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively pedestrian streetscapes by 
requiring primary building, business, and residential entrances, outdoor dining, and 
storefronts be located on ground floors adjacent to sidewalks or public spaces and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, aesthetics, and the intended functionality (as 
defined by the Place Type). 
 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 
 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the 
Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one 
of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing 
Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 
 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA") and an initial study 
has been prepared to determine possible environmental impacts; and 
 

WHEREAS, The Ontario Plan 2050 Supplemental Environmental Impact Report 
(State Clearinghouse No. 2021070364) was certified on August 16, 2022, (hereinafter 

Item D - 1827 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 16 of 22 

referred to as "Certified SEIR"), in which development and use of the Project site was 
discussed; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Director of the City of Ontario prepared and approved for 
attachment to the Certified SEIR, an Addendum to the Certified SEIR (hereinafter referred 
to as "SEIR Addendum") in accordance with the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act of 1970, together with State and local guidelines implementing 
said Act, all as amended to date (collectively referred to as "CEQA"); and 
 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of this Project were thoroughly analyzed in 
the SEIR Addendum, which concluded that implementation of the Project could result in 
a number of significant effects on the environment that were previously analyzed in the 
Certified SEIR, and that the Certified SEIR identified mitigation measures that would 
reduce each of those significant effects to a less-than-significant level; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City's "Local Guidelines for the Implementation of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental 
assessment in situations where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately 
analyzed; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and make recommendation to the Planning Commission on the 
subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 
and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 
criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 
Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 

Item D - 1828 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 17 of 22 

procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, as the first action on the Project, on August 7, 2023, the DAB issued a 
Decision recommending the Planning Commission approve the Development Plan, File 
No. PDEV22-027, finding that the proposed Project introduces no new significant 
environmental impacts and applying all previously adopted mitigation measures to the 
Project, which were incorporated by reference; and 
 

WHEREAS, on August 7, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a hearing 
on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 
 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the recommending 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the Addendum, the initial study, and the administrative record for the Project, including 
all written and oral evidence provided during the comment period. Based upon the facts 
and information contained in the Addendum, the initial study, and the administrative 
record, including all written and oral evidence presented to the DAB, the DAB finds as 
follows: 
 
(1) The environmental impacts of the Project were reviewed in conjunction with an 
Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (State 
Clearinghouse No. 2021070364, certified by the Ontario City Council on August 16, 2022, 
in conjunction with File No. PGPA20-002); and 
 
(2) The EIR Addendum and administrative record have been completed in 
compliance with CEQA, the State CEQA Guidelines, and the City of Ontario Local CEQA 
Guidelines; and 
 
(3) The City's "Guidelines for the Implementation of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental assessment in situations 
where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately analyzed. This Application 
introduces no new significant environmental impacts; and 
 
(4) All previously adopted mitigation measures shall be a condition of Project 
approval, as they are applicable to the Project, and are incorporated herein by this 
reference; and 
 

Item D - 1829 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 18 of 22 

(5) The SEIR Addendum contains a complete and accurate reporting of the 
environmental impacts associated with the Project, and reflects the independent 
judgment of the Development Advisory Board; and 
 
(6) There is no substantial evidence in the administrative record supporting a fair 
argument that the Project may result in significant environmental impacts. 
 

SECTION 2: Subsequent or Supplemental Environmental Review Not Required. 
Based on the SEIR Addendum, all related information presented to the DAB, and the 
specific findings set forth in Section 1, above, the DAB finds that the preparation of a 
subsequent or supplemental Certified SEIR is not required for the Project, as the Project: 
 
(1) Does not constitute substantial changes to the Certified SEIR that will require major 
revisions to the Certified SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental 
effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; 
and 
 
(2) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified SEIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified 
SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(3) Does not contain new information of substantial importance that was not known 
and could not have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time 
the Certified SEIR was certified/adopted, that shows any of the following: 
 

(a) The Project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the 
Certified EIR; or 

 
(b) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe 

than shown in the Certified SEIR; or 
 
(c) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible 

would in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
of the Project, but the City declined to adopt such measures; or 

 
(d) Mitigation measures or alternatives considerably different from those 

analyzed in the Certified SEIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
on the environment, but which the City declined to adopt. 
 

SECTION 3: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the recommending body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 

Item D - 1830 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 19 of 22 

properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

SECTION 4: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 
above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 through 3, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 
 
(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council 
Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within the 
Mixed Use - Neighborhood Activity Hub: 20.0 to 75.0 du/ac; 1.0 FAR office/retail (MU-NH) 
land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the Mixed Use – Neighborhood Hub 
8e – Euclid and Walnut (MU-NH 8e) zoning district. The development standards and 
conditions under which the proposed Project will be constructed and maintained, is 
consistent with the goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General 
Plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project, 
to be located on blighted, under-developed land, will contribute a well-designed mixed-
use development to the existing residential and commercial neighborhood, as well as 
provide landscape, drainage, parking, sidewalks, and other visual and safety 
improvements; and 
 
(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation 
to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint 
identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The 
Project has been designed consistent with the requirements of the City of Ontario 
Development Code and the Mixed Use – Neighborhood Hub 8e – Euclid and Walnut (MU-
NH 8e) zoning district, including standards relative to the particular land use proposed 
(residential and commercial mixed-use), as-well-as building intensity, building and 
parking setbacks, building height, number of off-street parking and loading spaces, on-
site and off-site landscaping, and fences, walls and obstructions. The Project will raze the 
existing blighted commercial site and replace it with residential and mixed-use buildings 
that will complement the residential and commercial corridor. To be sensitive to the 
existing residential dwelling units to the north and west of the Project site, the buildings 
will be set back approximately 55 to 58 feet from the property line. Additionally, there is 
no scenic viewshed to the north of the Project site, as the CA-60 Freeway overpass is 
located approximately 530 feet north of the project site. As such, the Project will be 
compatible with adjacent developments and will not impact any existing viewsheds; and 
 
(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary 
to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the 
proposed Project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, 
and impose certain conditions of approval, which have been established to ensure that: 
[i] the purposes of the Development Code and the Euclid Walnut Planned Unit 

Item D - 1831 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 20 of 22 

Development are maintained; [ii] the project will not endanger the public health, safety 
or general welfare; [iii] the project will not result in any significant environmental impacts; 
[iv] the project will be in harmony with the area in which it is located; and [v] the project 
will be in full conformity with the Vision, City Council Priorities and Policy Plan components 
of The Ontario Plan, the Development Code and the Euclid Walnut Planned Unit 
Development. With implementation of the Project’s conditions of approval, the Project 
will improve upon the blighted and under-utilized site with a well-designed residential and 
commercial mixed-use community, as well as upgraded paving, infrastructure, and 
landscaping; and 
 
(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 
design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of the Development Code and the 
Euclid Walnut Planned Unit Development that are applicable to the proposed Project, 
including building intensity, building and parking setbacks, building height, amount of off-
street parking and loading spaces, parking lot dimensions, design and landscaping, 
bicycle parking, on-site landscaping, and fences and walls, as well as those 
development standards and guidelines specifically related to the particular land use 
being proposed (residential and commercial mixed-use). As a result of this review, the 
Development Advisory Board has determined that the Project, when implemented in 
conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the development 
standards and guidelines described in the Development Code and the Euclid Walnut 
Planned Unit Development. 
 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 4, above, the DAB hereby recommends the 
Planning Commission APPROVES the Application subject to each and every condition set 
forth in the Conditions of Approval included as Attachment B of this Decision, and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, 
action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to 
attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the 
applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall 
cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 
 

Item D - 1832 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 21 of 22 

 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August 2023. 

 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
 

  

Item D - 1833 of 1893



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-027 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 22 of 22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A: Development Plan Set 
 

(Document to follow this page) 
 

 
 
 

 

Item D - 1834 of 1893



STOR.
151 C.F.

WATER

UP 21R

UP 18R

SLOPE
8.33%

 M
AX.

16.92'
F.F.

-9.0"

DOWN
17.67'

F.F.

SLOPE
8.33%

 M
AX.

16.17'
F.F.

-9.0"

DOWN
16.92'

F.F.

71'-4"
92'-4"

67'-8"

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE
 

GARAGE
 

GARAGE
 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE
 

GARAGE
 

GARAGE
 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GA
RA

GE

 

GA
RA

GE

 

GA
RA

GE

 

JAN

C
A

S
T 

IR
O

N
S

IN
K

S
B

R
O

O
K

FI
E

LD
K

-5
94

2-
5

C
A

S
T 

IR
O

N
S

IN
K

S
B

R
O

O
K

FI
E

LD
K

-5
94

2-
5

LA
VA

TO
R

Y

C
A

S
T 

IR
O

N
S

IN
K

S
B

R
O

O
K

FI
E

LD
K

-5
94

2-
5

C
A

S
T 

IR
O

N
S

IN
K

S
B

R
O

O
K

FI
E

LD
K

-5
94

2-
5

Cu
sto

m

Cu
sto

m
Cu

sto
m

5 x
 5

5 x
 5

Custom Custom

5 x
 5

CustomCustom

HVAC

LOW RETURN

SD

SD

SD

SD

WATER

UP
 1

2R

UP
 1

0R

UP
 1

2R

UP
 1

4R

2S
2P

LIN

DW

W/D 1S1P

CB

FIXED
ISLAND

SD

EP

2S
2P

LI
N

DW

W
/D

1S
1P

CB

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

SD

EP

WATER

I.P
.L

.

I.P
.L.

UP
 1

2R

UP
 1

0R

WATER GAS

EP
HUB

SD

BATH 1
 

EP
HU

B

SD

BA
TH

 1
 

W
.I.

C.  

2S
2P

1S1P

2S
2P

LI
N

GA
RA

GE

 

E

D.1

D

RE
SI

.
MA

IN
S

MAIN

UG
PS MS

A-
2R

M
SA

-2
R

 1
00

0A

HO
US

E
ME

TE
R/

MA
IN

HO
US

E 
DI

ST
.

M
SR

-A
 - 

30
00

A
20

8/
12

0V
, 3

Ø
, 4

W

MSA-1R 1000A

MS
A-

1R

8.
0K

VA
 IN

VE
R

TE
R

20
8-

12
0V

, 1
Ø

UG
PS

LA
RG

E
TE

NA
NT

ME
TE

R

LA
RG

E
TE

NA
NT

ME
TE

R
W

IR
E

W
AY

MA
IN

M
SR

 - 
80

0A
20

8/
12

0V
, 3

Ø
, 4

W

3
ME

TE
R

ST
AC

K

WH WH E

DW

UP
 1

8R

UP
 1

8R

UP 18R

WHWHE

DW

UP
 1

8R

UP
 1

8R
UP 18R

WHWHE

DW

UP
 1

8R

UP
 1

8R
UP 18R

WH WH E

DW

UP
 1

8R

UP
 1

8R

UP 18R

GA
RA

GE

 

GA
RA

GE

 

GA
RA

GE

 

PA
SS

AG
E

 

WHWHE

DW

UP
 1

8R

UP
 1

8R
UP 18R

GA
RA

GE

 

GA
RA

GE

 

GA
RA

GE

 

PA
SS

AG
E

 

WHWHE

DW

UP
 1

8R

UP
 1

8R
UP 18R

GA
RA

GE

 

GA
RA

GE

 

GA
RA

GE

 

PA
SS

AG
E

 

PROJECT
ENTRYGATE

USPS

WALNUT ST.

GATE

GATE

PROJECT
ENTRY

EU
CL

ID
 A

VE
.

POOL COURT

PR
OP

ER
TY

 L
IN

E

CALL
BOX

E.V.A. SI
DE

W
AL

K

SIDEWALK

SIDEWALK

SI
DE

W
AL

K

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

ADD-ON
40.5" x 25" x 75.75"

ADD-ON
40.5" x 25" x 75.75"

ADD-ON
40.5" x 25" x 75.75"

AD
D

-O
N

40
.5

" x
 2

5"
 x

 7
5.

75
"

AD
D

-O
N

40
.5

" x
 2

5"
 x

 7
5.

75
"

AD
D

-O
N

40
.5

" x
 2

5"
 x

 7
5.

75
"

AD
D

-O
N

40
.5

" x
 2

5"
 x

 7
5.

75
"

ADD-ON
40.5" x 25" x 75.75"

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

10T 2P
4CADD-10CS

FRONT

TRANSFORMER

FRONT

TRANSFORMER

FRONT

TRANSFORM
ER

FRONT

TRANSFORMER

2
B

3
C1

4
C

5
C1

8
C

6
C 1

A

7
C1

RETAIL
TRASH

RESIDENT
TRASH

SPORTS LOUNGE
LEASING LOUNGE

OFFICE OFFICEBREAK

CLUB

FITNESS

RETAIL

RETAIL

25
'-1

0"

DENOTES 250' RADIUS FROM
TRASH CHUTE ROOM FOR
BLDG 1

DENOTES 250' RADIUS FROM
TRASH CHUTE ROOM FOR
BLDG 2

DENOTES 250' RADIUS FROM
TRASH ENCLOSURE

DENOTES 250' RADIUS FROM
TRASH ENCLOSURE

EXTERIOR MAIL AREA
SECURED FOR RESIDENT ONLY

DOG PARK

26'-0"

55'-2"

26
'-0

"
25

'-0
"

33'-8"

26'-0"

78'-4"

24'-0"

24
'-0

"

50
'-1

1"

24'-0"

75'-8"

25'-4"
25'-4"

24'-0"

24
'-0

"
24

'-0
"

38'-1"

10
'-0

"
SE

TB
A

C
K

11
'-9

"
SI

D
EW

A
LK

11
'-1

"11
'-1

1"

12
'-8

"

5'-0"
SETBACK

TO PARKING

11
'-8

"

24'-0"

76'-0"

17'-10"
SIDEWALK

10'-8"

20'-0"

26'-0"

26
'-0

"

26'-0"

71
'-1

"

6'
-5

"
SE

TB
A

C
K

TO
 W

A
LL

54
'-8

"

54
'-7

"

26
'-0

"

33'-8"
7'-11"

80'-3"

24'-0"

5'-0"
SETBACK

ALL STRUCTURES AND FOOTINGS
ARE LOCATED OUTSIDE OF THE
SCE EASEMENT

1'
-0

"
SC

E
EA

SE
M

EN
T

ALL STRUCTURES AND FOOTINGS
ARE LOCATED OUTSIDE OF THE
SCE EASEMENT

1'
-0

"
SC

E
EA

SE
M

EN
T

19'-0"
TYP.

9'
-0

"
TY

P.

26'-0"

57'-11"

26'-0"

7'-11"

3'-10"

25'-9"

25'-9"

12
3'

-2
"

3'-10" 3'-10"

11'-7"

8'
-6

"

3'
-4

"

7"

3'
-0

"

7'-5"
3'-10"

26'-0"

3'-10"

R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A1

.2
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

.D
W

G
Tu

es
da

y,
 J

ul
y 

11
, 2

02
3 

11
:4

6:
40

 A
M

A1.2SITE PLAN

NORTH

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

1"=40'-0"
40' 80' 120'0 20'

SITE PLAN SHALL MEET ALL ENGINEERING & NPDES REQUIREMENTS

CARPORT

LEGEND

TRANSFORMER

Item D - 1835 of 1893

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEGERATOR /TAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
3       

AutoCAD SHX Text
813.04

19766
Text Box
PAGE 1



5

52
'-0

"

2 10 3 4 9 219 10 6 7

± 
52

'-0
"

75 31 4 21 91 10103 694 4

1/16"=1'-0"
16' 32' 48'0 8'

KEY MAP

NORTH
N.T.S.

EU
C

LI
D

 A
VE

3

2

1

4

1EAST ELEVATION

2SOUTH ELEVATION

MATERIAL / COLOR LEGEND
EXTERIOR PLASTER

METAL AWNING

VINYL WINDOW

METAL RAILING

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8 SECTIONAL GARAGE DOOR

FOAM TRIM

9 STOREFRONT GLAZING SYSTEM

10 STONE VENEER

FIBER CEMENT TRIM BOARDS

A2.3BUILDING "A" ELEVATIONS

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A2

.3
 - 

A2
.4

  B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
 E

LE
VA

TI
O

N
S.

D
W

G
W

ed
ne

sd
ay

, J
un

e 
28

, 2
02

3 
1:

39
:3

5 
PM

Item D - 1836 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 2



52
'-0

"

1 9 6 5 8 1 312 10 7

55
'-0

"

61761178 49103 2

R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A2

.3
 - 

A2
.4

  B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
 E

LE
VA

TI
O

N
S.

D
W

G
W

ed
ne

sd
ay

, J
un

e 
28

, 2
02

3 
1:

39
:4

5 
PM

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

A2.4BUILDING "A" ELEVATIONS

1"=30'-0"
30' 60' 90'0 15'

KEY MAP

NORTH
N.T.S.

EU
C

LI
D

 A
VE

3

2

1

4

3WEST ELEVATION

4NORTH ELEVATION

MATERIAL / COLOR LEGEND
EXTERIOR PLASTER

METAL AWNING

VINYL WINDOW

METAL RAILING

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8 SECTIONAL GARAGE DOOR

FOAM TRIM

9 STOREFRONT GLAZING SYSTEM

10 STONE VENEER

FIBER CEMENT TRIM BOARDS

Item D - 1837 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 3



STORAGE
162 C.F.

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

STORAGE
162 C.F.

STORAGE
162 C.F.

STORAGE
162 C.F.

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

STORAGE
162 C.F.

STORAGE
162 C.F.

STORAGE

162 C.F.

GARAGE
 

GARAGE
 

GARAGE
 

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

STORAGE

162 C.F.

STORAGE

162 C.F.

STORAGE
162 C.F.

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

STORAGE
162 C.F.

STORAGE
162 C.F.

STORAGE

162 C.F.

GARAGE
 

GARAGE
 

GARAGE
 

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

STORAGE

162 C.F.

STORAGE

162 C.F.

STORAGE
162 C.F.

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

GARAGE

 

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

SL
OP

E
2%

":F
T

STORAGE
162 C.F.

STORAGE
162 C.F.

ST
OR

AG
E

16
2 

C.
F.

GA
RA

GE

 

GA
RA

GE

 

GA
RA

GE

 

SLOPE
2%":FT

SLOPE
2%":FT

SLOPE
2%":FT

ST
OR

AG
E

16
2 

C.
F.

ST
OR

AG
E

16
2 

C.
F.

JAN

CAST IRONSINKSBROOKFIELDK-5942-5

WOMENS
RESTROOM

116

MENS
RESTROOM

115

FITNESS
CENTER

119

STRETCH/YOGA
BARRE ROOM

119

CAST IRONSINKSBROOKFIELDK-5942-5

LEASING

PARCEL
STORAGE

BREAK/
WORK ROOM

SECURITY
CLOSET

LAVATORY

UNISEX
RESTROOM

SOCIAL
LOUNGE

CAST IRONSINKSBROOKFIELDK-5942-5

KITCHEN/
BAR AREA

MEDIA
LOUNGE

CO-WORK

ZOOM 
ROOM

ZOOM 
ROOM

CONFERENCE
ROOM

COLLABORATION
ROOM

OFFICEOFFICE

CAST IRONSINKSBROOKFIELDK-5942-5

SPORTS
LOUNGE

CH:±14'-6"

JANITOR

SHOWERS

STORAGE 2
117

TBD.

CORRIDOR
118

Cu
st

om

Cu
st

om
Cu

st
om

5 
x 

5

5 
x 

5

Custom Custom

5 
x 

5

CustomCustom

HVAC

LOW RETURN

SD

SD

SD

SD

STOR.
222 C.F.

WATER

UP
 1

2R

UP
 1

0R

7
 -

UP
 1

2R

UP
 1

4R7
 -

2S
2P

LIN

DW

W/D 1S1P

CB

FIXED
ISLAND

SD

EP

2S
2P

LI
N

DW

W
/D

1S
1P

CB

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

SD

EP

WATER

STAIR A1
A3.5.1

ELEV. 1
A3.5.5

125

126

127

121

101

102

106

113

115.3

119.1

STAIR A2
A3.5.1

ELEV. 1
A3.5.5

111

123

122

121

120

119

118117116115114113112111110109108107106105104103102101

115.2

115.1

115

102.1

102.2

104.1

123.1

STAIR A1
A3.5.1

126.1

128

STAIR A3
A3.5.2

STAIR A3
A3.5.2

114.1

114.2

111.1

101.1101.2

102.3

102.3

104

113.1113.2

113.3

113.4

119

STOR. 1

A3.4.16

126.2

I.D.F.

A3.4.16

126.3

114.3

114.4

TRASH 1

A3.4.13

114.5

104.2

115.4

UP
 1

2R

UP
 1

0R

7
 -

WATER GAS

LIN

W/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

4) SH

EP
HUB

SD

BATH 1
 

LI
N

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

4)
 S

H

EP
HU

B

SD

BA
TH

 1
 

W
.I.

C.  

2S
2P

1S1P

2S
2P

LI
N

ST
OR

AG
E

16
2 

C.
F.

GA
RA

GE

 

SLOPE
2% MAX IN

ANY DIRECTION

ST
OR

AG
E

16
2 

C.
F.

NO
PARKING

VAN

SLOPE
2%":FT

22
3'

-5
"

81
'-2

"
26

'-6
"

6'
-8

"
34

'-6
"

57
'-0

 1
/2

"
17

'-6
 1

/2
"

6'-9 1/2" 38'-8" 43'-7" 73'-6" 42'-4 1/2" 16'-10"

21'-10" 38'-6" 9'-4"

1

87 9 10

2 3 4 5 6

A

B

C

D

E

H

J

B

C

D

E

J

26
'-6

"
6'

-8
"

34
'-6

"
36

'-1
0"

37
'-9

"

81
'-2

"
26

'-6
"

6'
-8

"
34

'-6
"

57
'-0

 1
/2

"
17

'-6
 1

/2
"

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

21'-10" 38'-6" 9'-4"16'-10"

7

F

G

E

D.1

D

RE
SI

.
MA

IN
S

MAIN

UG
PS MS

A-
2R

M
SA

-2
R

 1
00

0A

HO
US

E
ME

TE
R/

MA
IN

HO
US

E 
DI

ST
.

M
SR

-A
 - 

30
00

A
20

8/
12

0V
, 3

Ø
, 4

W

MSA-1R 1000A

MS
A-

1R

8.
0K

VA
 IN

VE
R

TE
R

20
8-

12
0V

, 1
Ø

UG
PS

LA
RG

E
TE

NA
NT

ME
TE

R

LA
RG

E
TE

NA
NT

ME
TE

R
W

IR
E

W
AY

MA
IN

M
SR

 - 
80

0A
20

8/
12

0V
, 3

Ø
, 4

W

3
ME

TE
R

ST
AC

K

2'
-2

"

1'-0"

8"

1'-6"

AA

EXTERIOR MAIL AREA
SEE LANDSCAPE
PLANS

R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A2

.0
 - 

A2
.2

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
 C

O
M

PO
SI

TE
 P

LA
N

S.
D

W
G

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

un
e 

28
, 2

02
3 

11
:5

5:
47

 A
M A2.0BUILDING "A" COMPOSITE PLANS

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

1/16"=1'-0"
16' 32' 48'0 8'

1ST FLOOR
NORTH

Item D - 1838 of 1893

http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
MIRRORED WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR MAIL AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAIRWELL A2

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEGERATOR /TAP

http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
19766
Text Box
PAGE 4



LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

1S1P

(4
) S

H

2S
2P

LI
N

LI
N1S1P

2S
2P

STOR.
222 C.F.

STOR.

222 C.F.

STORAGE

1S1P

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

2S2P
W

/D

CB

DW

CB

P

FIXED
ISLAND

2S2P

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

64 GAL.
CART

STOR.
234 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
152 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

UP
 1

8R

DN
 2

3R

7
 -

UP
 1

8R

DN
 2

6R

LIN
W/D 1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

P

1S
1P

2S
2P

LI
N

DW

W
/D

1S
1P

CB

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

1S
1P

2S2P

2S2P

1S
1P

2S
2P

LI
N

DW

W
/D

1S
1P

CB

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

1S
1P

2S2P

2S2P

LIN
W/D 1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

PLIN

W/D1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB 1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

PLIN
W/D 1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

P LIN

W/D1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB 1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

P LIN
W/D 1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

P

1S1P

2S
2P

LIN

DW

W/D 1S1P

CB

FIXED
ISLAND

1S1P

2S
2P

LIN

DW

W/D1S1P

CB

FIXED

ISLAND

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW
1S1P

(4
) S

H

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW
1S1P

(4
) S

H

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW
1S1P

(4
) S

H

LIN

W/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

LIN

W/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P
LIN

LIN

1S1P

2S2P

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P
LIN

LIN

1S1P

2S2P

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P

LIN

LIN
1S1P

2S2P

LIN

W
/D

1S1P

DW

FIXED

ISLAND

CBCB
1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

DESK

P
LIN

W
/D

1S1P

DW

FIXED

ISLAND

CBCB
1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

DESK

P

STORAGE

1S1P

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

2S2P
W

/D

CB

DW

CB

P

FIXED

ISLAND

2S2P

UNIT B3-R

A3.1.15

201

UNIT B3

A3.1.15

202

UNIT A2.2

A3.1.4

203

UNIT B1

A3.1.11

204

UNIT A2.1

A3.1.4

205

UNIT A2.1-R

A3.1.4

206

UNIT A2.1-R

A3.1.4

207

UNIT A2.1-R

A3.1.4

209

UNIT B2.1

A3.1.13

211

UNIT A4-R

A3.1.7

210

UNIT A4-R

A3.1.7

212

UNIT A1-R

A3.1.2

213

UNIT A4.1

A3.1.8

214

UNIT B2.2

A3.1.13

215

UNIT A4

A3.1.7

216

UNIT B2.2

A3.1.13

217

UNIT A4-R

A3.1.7

218

UNIT B2.2-R

A3.1.13

219

UNIT A4

A3.1.7

220

221

UNIT A4-R

A3.1.7

222

UNIT A4

A3.1.7

223

STOR. 2

A3.4.16

224

STAIR A1
A3.5.1

225

UNIT B1-R

A3.1.11

226

UNIT B2

A3.1.12

227

UNIT B3

A3.1.13

228

ELEV. 1
A3.5.5

STOR.

A3XX

208

UNIT A1

A3.1.2

UNIT B1-R

A3.1.11

STAIR A2
A3.5.1

ELEV. 1
A3.5.5

STAIR A1
A3.5.1

STAIR A3
A3.5.2

STAIR A3
A3.5.2

STOR. 1

A3.4.16

I.D.F.

A3.4.16

TRASH 1

A3.4.13

UNIT A2-R

A3.1.3

UNIT B2

A3.1.12

226.2

226.3

STOR. 1

A3.4.16

I.D.F.

A3.4.16

226.2

226.3

214.5

LIN

W/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW
1S1P

4) SH

STORAGE

1S1P

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

2S2P
W

/D

CB

DW

CB

P

FIXED
ISLAND

2S2P

UP
 1

8R

DN
 2

3R

11 13

7
 -

LIN

W/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P
LIN

LIN 1S1P

2S2P

22
3'

-5
"

81
'-2

"
26

'-6
"

6'
-8

"
34

'-6
"

57
'-0

 1
/2

"
17

'-6
 1

/2
"

6'-9 1/2" 38'-8" 43'-7" 73'-6" 42'-4 1/2" 16'-10"

21'-10" 38'-6" 9'-4"

1

87 9 10

2 3 4 5 6

A

B

C

D

E

H

J

B

C

D

E

J

26
'-6

"
6'

-8
"

34
'-6

"
36

'-1
0"

37
'-9

"

81
'-2

"
26

'-6
"

6'
-8

"
34

'-6
"

57
'-0

 1
/2

"
17

'-6
 1

/2
"

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

21'-10" 38'-6" 9'-4"16'-10"

7

F

G

E

D.1

D

R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A2

.0
 - 

A2
.2

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
 C

O
M

PO
SI

TE
 P

LA
N

S.
D

W
G

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

un
e 

28
, 2

02
3 

11
:5

6:
03

 A
M A2.1BUILDING "A" COMPOSITE PLANS

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

1/16"=1'-0"
16' 32' 48'0 8'

2ND AND 3RD FLOOR
NORTH

Item D - 1839 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 5



LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

1S1P

(4
) S

H

2S
2P

LI
N

LI
N1S1P

2S
2P

STOR.
222 C.F.

STOR.

222 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

64 GAL.
CART

DN
 1

8R

OPEN TO
BELOW

7"
3'

-8
"

4'
-3

"
3"

2'
-4

"
2'

-4
"

5'
-0

"

1'
-1

0"
6"

6"
1'

-1
0"

NF. N

EA
M

7
 -

13

7'
-2

"
2'

-6
"

UP
 2

1R

DN 18R

NF. N F.

1'
-1

0"
6"

6"
1'

-1
0"

2'
-4

"
5'

-0
"

2'
-4

"

2'
-6

"
7'

-2
"7

 -

LIN

W/D 1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

P

STOR.
234 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
152 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
154 C.F.

1S
1P

2S
2P

LI
N

DW

W
/D

1S
1P

CB

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

1S
1P

2S2P

2S2P

1S
1P

2S
2P

LI
N

DW

W
/D

1S
1P

CB

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

1S
1P

2S2P

2S2P

LIN

W/D 1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

PLIN

W/D1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB 1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

PLIN

W/D 1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

P LIN

W/D1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB 1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

P LIN

W/D 1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

P

LIN

W
/D

1S1P

DW

FIXED

ISLAND

CBCB
1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

DESK

P

1S1P

2S
2P

LIN

DW

W/D 1S1P

CB

FIXED
ISLAND

1S1P

2S
2P

LIN

DW

W/D1S1P

CB

FIXED

ISLAND

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW
1S1P

(4
) S

H

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW
1S1P

(4
) S

H

LIN

W/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

LIN

W/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P
LIN

LIN

1S1P

2S2P

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P
LIN

LIN

1S1P

2S2P

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P

LIN

LIN
1S1P

2S2P

STORAGE

1S1P

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

2S2P
W

/D

CB

DW

CB

P

FIXED
ISLAND

2S2P

STORAGE

1S1P

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

2S2P
W

/D

CB

DW

CB

P

FIXED
ISLAND

2S2P

UNIT B3

A3.1.15

UNIT A2.2

A3.1.4

UNIT B1

A3.1.11

UNIT A2.1

A3.1.4

UNIT A2.1-R

A3.1.4

UNIT A2.1-R

A3.1.4

UNIT A2.1-R

A3.1.4

UNIT B2.1

A3.1.13

UNIT A4-R

A3.1.7

UNIT A4-R

A3.1.7

UNIT A1-R

A3.1.2

UNIT A4.1

A3.1.8

UNIT B2.2

A3.1.13

UNIT A4

A3.1.7

UNIT B2.2

A3.1.13

UNIT A4-R

A3.1.7

UNIT B2.2-R

A3.1.13

UNIT A4

A3.1.7

UNIT A4-R

A3.1.7

UNIT A4

A3.1.7

STOR. 2

A3.4.16

STAIR A1
A3.5.1

UNIT B1-R

A3.1.11
UNIT B2

A3.1.12

UNIT B3

A3.1.13

ELEV. 1
A3.5.5

STOR.

A3XX

UNIT A1

A3.1.2

UNIT B1-R

A3.1.11

ELEV. 1
A3.5.5

428

427

425

424

423 422

426

421

419

420 418 416 414

408

410

412

411

409

407

406

405

403

402

404

413

415417

STAIR A3
A3.5.2

STAIR A3
A3.5.2

ROOF DECK

A3.1.15

401

STOR. 1

A3.4.16

I.D.F.

A3.4.16

TRASH 1

A3.4.13

UNIT A2-R

A3.1.3

UNIT B2

A3.1.12

426.2

426.3

STOR. 1

A3.4.16

I.D.F.

A3.4.16

426.2

426.3

414.5

LIN

W/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW
1S1P

4) SH

LIN

W/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P
LIN

LIN 1S1P

2S2P

DN
 1

8R

OPEN TO
BELOW

7"
3'

-8
"

4'
-3

"
3"

AM

9'
-8

"

1'
-4

"
1'

-4
"

7'
-0

"

7
 -

F.

7'
-2

"
2'

-6
"

LIN

W
/D

1S1P

DW

FIXED

ISLAND

CBCB
1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

DESK

P

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CB CB

DW
1S1P

(4
) S

H

SL
OP

E
8.

33
%

 M
AX

.

UP

+14"

1097 S.F.

SL
OP

E
1/

4:
12

SL
OP

E
1/

4:
12

1/
2:

12
SL

OP
E

RI
DG

E 1/2:12
SLOPE

SL
OP

E
1/

4:
12

SL
OP

E
1/

4:
12

22
3'

-5
"

81
'-2

"
26

'-6
"

6'
-8

"
34

'-6
"

57
'-0

 1
/2

"
17

'-6
 1

/2
"

6'-9 1/2" 38'-8" 43'-7" 73'-6" 42'-4 1/2" 16'-10"

21'-10" 38'-6" 9'-4"

1

87 9 10

2 3 4 5 6

A

B

C

D

E

H

J

B

C

D

E

J

26
'-6

"
6'

-8
"

34
'-6

"
36

'-1
0"

37
'-9

"

81
'-2

"
26

'-6
"

6'
-8

"
34

'-6
"

57
'-0

 1
/2

"
17

'-6
 1

/2
"

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

21'-10" 38'-6" 9'-4"16'-10"

7

F

G

E

D.1

D

R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A2

.0
 - 

A2
.2

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
 C

O
M

PO
SI

TE
 P

LA
N

S.
D

W
G

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

un
e 

28
, 2

02
3 

11
:5

6:
18

 A
M A2.2BUILDING "A" COMPOSITE PLANS

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

1/16"=1'-0"
16' 32' 48'0 8'

4TH FLOOR
NORTH

Item D - 1840 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 6



110 6 735

51
'-1

1"

1 8

7

47
'-8

"

6 1 43 151 1017 3 518

51
'-1

1"

6

75 6 1 3 410

47
'-8

"

4

1EAST ELEVATION2NORTH ELEVATION

3WEST ELEVATION4SOUTH ELEVATION

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

A2.6BUILDING "B" ELEVATIONS

1/16"=1'-0"
16' 32' 48'0 8'

KEY MAP

WALNUT STNORTH
N.T.S.

1

4

3

2

MATERIAL / COLOR LEGEND
EXTERIOR PLASTER

METAL AWNING

VINYL WINDOW

METAL RAILING

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8 SECTIONAL GARAGE DOOR

FOAM TRIM

9 STOREFRONT GLAZING SYSTEM

10 STONE VENEER

FIBER CEMENT TRIM BOARDS

R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A2

.6
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 B

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

S.
D

W
G

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

un
e 

28
, 2

02
3 

1:
55

:3
7 

PM

Item D - 1841 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 7



2'
-2

"

1'
-0

"

1'
-0

"

STOR.
151 C.F.

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

STORAGE

1S1P

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

2S2P
W

/D

CB

DW

CB

P

FIXED
ISLAND

2S2P

STORAGE

1S1P

2S
2P

1S
1P

1S1P

2S2P

2S
2P

W
/D

CB

DW

CB

P

FIXED

ISLAND

2S
2P

LIN

W/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW
1S1P

(4) SH

STOR.
151 C.F.

STOR.
166 C.F.

STOR.
151 C.F.

STOR.
151 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
151 C.F.

WATER

9'-8"

4'-8"5'-0"

UP 21R

7"3'-8"4'-3" 3"

UP 18RING

4'-10" 4'-10"

7'-2" 2'-6"

7" 3'-8" 4'-3"3"

ING
F.
(

9'-8"

ST
OR

AG
E

1S
1P

2S2P

1S1P

1S
1P

2S
2P

2S2P

W/D

CB

DW

CB

P

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

2S2P

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P
LIN

LIN

1S1P

2S2P

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

1S1P

(4
) S

H

2S
2P

LI
N

LI
N1S1P

2S
2P

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

1S1P

(4
) S

H

2S
2P

LI
N

LI
N1S1P

2S
2P

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

1S1P

(4
) S

H

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S
1P

CB
CB

DW

1S
1P

(4) SH

2S2P
LIN

LIN

1S
1P

2S2P

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

1S1P

(4
) S

H

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P

LIN

LIN
1S1P

2S2P

UNIT B3-R

A3.1.15

119

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G101

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G102

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G103

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G104

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G105

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G106

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G107

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G108

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G109

ELECTRICAL 1

A3.4.15

107

108

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G110

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G111

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G112

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G113

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G114

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G115

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G116

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G122

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G121

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G120

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G119

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G118

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G117

UNIT B2.3-R

A3.1.13

101

UNIT A2-R

A3.1.3

104

106

UNIT B2.4

A3.1.13

109

UNIT B3

A3.1.15

110

UNIT A2.1

A3.1.4

111

UNIT B2.5

A3.1.14

113

UNIT B2.5

A3.1.12

115

UNIT A2-R

A3.1.3

116

UNIT A2.1

A3.1.4

117

UNIT B2.4

A3.1.13

120

UNIT B3-R

A3.1.15

122

STAIR B1
A3.5.3

STAIR B2
A3.5.3

UNIT A2

A3.1.3

ELEC. 3

A3.1.16

ELEV.1
A3.5.5

STORAGE 4

A3.4.16

IDF

A3.4.15

107.1

UTILITY

A3.4.16

108.1

IDF

A3.4.16

118.1

STOR.

A3.4.16

118.2

TR.1

A3.4.13

118.3

118

SLOPE
8.33%

 M
AX.

16.92'
F.F.

-9.0"

DOWN
17.67'

F.F.

SLOPE
8.33%

 M
AX.

16.17'
F.F.

-9.0"

DOWN
16.92'

F.F.

231'-4"

71'-4"
92'-4"

67'-8"

172'-6"

38'-4"66'-6"67'-8"

231'-4"

1
2

3
4

ABCD

71'-4"
92'-4"

67'-8"

38'-4"66'-6"67'-8"

1
2

3
4

ABCD

1
2

3
4

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

STORAGE

1S1P

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

2S2P
W

/D

CB

DW

CB

P

FIXED
ISLAND

2S2P

STORAGE

1S1P

2S
2P

1S
1P

1S1P

2S2P

2S
2P

W
/D

CB

DW

CB

P

FIXED

ISLAND

2S
2P

STOR.
277 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

IDF

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
190 C.F.

STOR.
180 C.F.

STOR.
228 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
180 C.F.

9'-8"

1'-10"1'-10" 6'-0"

DN 21R

UP 18R

7"3'-8"4'-3" 3"

64 GAL.
CART

LIN
W/D1S1P

DW

FIXED
ISLAND

CB
CB 1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

DESK

P

LIN

W/D1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB 1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

PLIN
W/D 1S1P

DW

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

P

LIN
W

/D
1S1P

DW

FIXED
ISLAND

CB CB

1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

DESK

P
P

DW

1S1P

LIN

1S1P

2S2P

2S2P

1S1P

2S2P

2S2P

CB

LIN

CB

P

W/D

STOR.
195 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
177 C.F.

STOR.
150 C.F.

ST
OR

AG
E

1S
1P

2S2P

1S1P

1S
1P

2S
2P

2S2P

W/D

CB

DW

CB

P

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

2S2P

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S
1P

CB
CB

DW

1S
1P

(4) SH

2S2P
LIN

LIN

1S
1P

2S2P

LIN

W/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW
1S1P

(4) SH

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

1S1P

(4
) S

H

2S
2P

LI
N

LI
N1S1P

2S
2P

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

1S1P

(4
) S

H

2S
2P

LI
N

LI
N1S1P

2S
2P

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

1S1P

(4
) S

H

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P
LIN

LIN

1S1P

2S2P

LIN

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S1P

CB
CB

DW

1S1P

(4) SH

2S2P

LIN

LIN
1S1P

2S2P

LIN
W/D 1S1P

FI
XE

D
IS

LA
ND

CB
CB1S

1P

1S
1P

2S2P

DE
SK

P

DW

LIN

W/D 1S1P

FIXED
ISLAND

CB
CB1S1P

1S1P

2S2P

DESK

P

DW

LI
N

W/D

LI
N

2S
2P

1S1P

CBCB

DW

1S1P

(4
) S

H

219

UNIT B3-R

A3.1.15

201

UNIT B2.3-R

A3.1.13

204

UNIT A2-R

A3.1.3

209

UNIT B2.4

A3.1.13210

UNIT B3

A3.1.15

211

UNIT A2.1

A3.1.4

213

UNIT B2.5

A3.1.14

215

UNIT B2.5

A3.1.12

216

UNIT A2-R

A3.1.3

217

UNIT A2.1

A3.1.4

220

UNIT B2.4

A3.1.13

222

UNIT B3-R

A3.1.15

202

UNIT A4.2

A3.1.8

203

UNIT A4-R

A3.1.7

205

UNIT A4

A3.1.7

206

UNIT A2

A3.1.3

207

STORAGE 5B

A3.4.16

208

STORAGE 5A

A3.4.16

212

UNIT A4

A3.1.7

214

UNIT B4

A3.1.16

221

UNIT A4.3

A3.1.8

223

UNIT A4.2-R

A3.1.8

IDF

A3.4.15

207.1

IDF

A3.4.16

218.1

TR.1

A3.4.13

218.3

STOR. 6

A3.4.16

218

SING

7'-2" 2'-6"

SING
F.O. 

DN 18R

UP 18R

7" 3'-8" 4'-3"3"

F.O. 

9'-8"

1'-10" 6'-0" 1'-10"

231'-4"

71'-4"
92'-4"

67'-8"
172'-6"

38'-4"66'-6"67'-8"

231'-4"

1
2

3
4

ABCD

71'-4"
92'-4"

67'-8"

38'-4"66'-6"67'-8"

1
2

3
4

ABCD

1
2

3
4

A2.5BUILDING "B" COMPOSITE PLAN 

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

1/16"=1'-0"
16' 32' 48'0 8'

1ST FLOOR2ND - 4TH FLOOR
NORTH

Item D - 1842 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 8



37
'-2

"

65 1 3 8 17

39
'-2

"

7 6 1 3 44 4 5

39
'-2

"

17 8 513

39
'-2

"

1 35 1 7106

R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A2

.8
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 C

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

S.
D

W
G

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

un
e 

28
, 2

02
3 

2:
19

:5
0 

PM A2.8BUILDING "C" ELEVATIONS

1FRONT ELEVATION

1/16"=1'-0"
16' 32' 48'0 8'

KEY MAP

3

2

1

4

2SIDE ELEVATION

3REAR ELEVATION4SIDE ELEVATION

MATERIAL / COLOR LEGEND
EXTERIOR PLASTER

METAL AWNING

VINYL WINDOW

METAL RAILING

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8 SECTIONAL GARAGE DOOR

FOAM TRIM

9 STOREFRONT GLAZING SYSTEM

10 STONE VENEER

FIBER CEMENT TRIM BOARDS

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

Item D - 1843 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 9



1S1P

1S1P

LIN

W/D

DW

CB

2S2P

CB

1S1P

1S1P

LIN

W/D

DW

CB

2S2P

CB

1S1P

1S1P

LIN

W/D

DW

CB

2S2P

CB

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

W
/D

LINEN SHELVES

CBCB

P
DWDW

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S
1P

1S
1P

2S2P

CB
CB

DW
P

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S
1P

1S
1P

2S2P

CB
CB

DW

P

W
/D

LIN

2S2P

1S
1P

1S
1P

2S2P

CB
CB

DW

P

1S1P

2S
2P

2S
2P

W
/D

1S
1P

1S1P

2S
2P

2S
2PCB

DW

CB

P

FIXED

ISLAND

1S1P

2S
2P

W
/D

1S
1P

1S1P

2S
2P

2S
2PCB

DW

CB

P

FIXED

ISLAND

2S
2P

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

W
/D

LINEN SHELVES

CB CB

P
DW

DW

CB

LIN

LIN

W/D

1S1P

CB

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

1/2:12
SLOPE

1S1P

2S
2P

W
/D

1S
1P

1S1P

2S
2P

2S
2P CB

DW

CB

P

FIXED
ISLAND

2S
2P

UP 18R

DN 18R

3'-8" 5'-6"7"

7 -

3"

UP 18R

DN 18R

3'-8" 5'-6"7"

7 -

3"

UP 18R

DN 18R

3'-8"5'-6" 7"

7  -

3"

204

UNIT A6

A3.1.7

203

UNIT B5.1-R

A3.1.18202

UNIT B6-R

A3.1.9

201

UNIT A5-R

A3.1.9

205

UNIT A5-R

A3.1.9

206

UNIT B6-R

A3.1.9

207

UNIT B5-R

A3.1.17

208

UNIT A3.1-R

A3.1.5

209

UNIT A3.2

A3.1.6

210

UNIT B5.1

A3.1.18 211

UNIT B6

A3.1.19

212

UNIT A5

A3.1.9

STORAGE 2

A3.4.16

S112

STAIR C3
A3.5.4

STAIR C2
A3.5.4

STAIR C1
A3.5.4

2

A

B

211'-2"

63
'-0

"

1 2

A

B

211'-2"

63
'-0

"

1

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

LINEN SHELVES

CBCB

P

TV

T

MR

TV

T

MR

TV

T

MR

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P
LINEN SHELVES

CB CB

P

UNIT A6

A3.1.7

304

UNIT B5.1-R

A3.1.18

303UNIT B6-R

A3.1.9

 302

301305

UNIT B6-R

A3.1.9

 306

UNIT B5-R

A3.1.17

307

308
309

UNIT B5.1

A3.1.18

310 UNIT B6

A3.1.19

311

312

STORAGE 2

A3.4.16

S112

DN 18R

OPEN TO
BELOW

3'-8" 5'-6"7"
3"

DN 18R

OPEN TO
BELOW

3'-8" 5'-6"7"
3"

DN 18R

OPEN TO
BELOW

3'-8"5'-6" 7"

3"

304

303

 302

UNIT A5-R

A3.1.9

301

UNIT A5-R

A3.1.9

305

 306

307

UNIT A3.1-R

A3.1.5

308

UNIT A3.2

A3.1.6

309

310

311

UNIT A5

A3.1.9

312

STORAGE 2

A3.4.16

S112

STAIR C3
A3.5.4

STAIR C2
A3.5.4

STAIR C1
A3.5.4

KI
CK

ER
12

:1
2

1/2:12
SLOPE

1/2:12
SLOPE

+7'-0"
T.O.P.

+0"
T.O.R.

+7'-0"

+5'-0"
T.O.P.

+1"
T.O.R.

+4'-11"

+4'-0"
T.O.P.

+2'-8"

+1'-4"
T.O.R.

+5'-0"
T.O.P.

+0"
T.O.R.

+5'-0"

+4'-0"
T.O.P.

+1"
T.O.R.

+3'-11"

SLOPE
1/4:12

SLOPE
1/4:12

SLOPE
1/4:12

SLOPE
1/4:12

SLOPE
1/4:12

SLOPE
1/4:12

SLOPE
1/4:12

SLOPE
1/4:12

SLOPE
1/4:12

SLOPE
1/4:12SLOPE

1/4:12

SLOPE
1/4:12

1/2:12
SLOPE

1/2:12
SLOPE

1/2:12
SLOPE

1/2:12
SLOPE

+0"
T.O.R.

+0"
T.O.R.

+7'-0"
T.O.P.

+7'-0"

+7'-0"
T.O.P.

+7'-0"

+4'-0"
T.O.P.

+1"
T.O.R.

+3'-11"

+4'-0"
T.O.P.

+1"
T.O.R.

+3'-11"

+5'-0"
T.O.P.

+1"
T.O.R.

+4'-11"

+6'-0"
T.O.P.

+0"
T.O.R.

+6-0"

+5'-0"
T.O.P.

+0"
T.O.R.

+5'-0"

+4'-0"
T.O.P.

+1"
T.O.R.

+3'-11"

KICKER
12:12

KICKER
12:12

KICKER
12:12

KICKER
12:12

KICKER
12:12

KICKER
12:12

KICKER
12:12

KICKER
12:12

KI
CK

ER
12

:1
2

KI
CK

ER
12

:1
2

KI
CK

ER
12

:1
2

2

A

B

63
'-0

"

1

W
H

W
H

E

1S1P

1S1P

LIN

W/D

DW

CB

2S2P

CB

1S1P

1S1P

LIN

W/D

DW

CB

2S2P

CB

1S1P

1S1P

LIN

W/D

DW

CB

2S2P

CB

LIN

CB

W/D

P

1S1P 2S2P

CB

DW

(4) SH

LIN

CB

W/D

P

1S1P2S2P

CB

DW

(4) SH

LIN

CB

W/D

P

1S1P2S2P

CB

DW

(4) SH

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

W
/D

LINEN SHELVES

CBCB

P
DWDW

2S2P

1S1P

1S1P

W
/D

LINEN SHELVES

CB CB

P
DW

STOR.
150 C.F.

STOR.
152 C.F.

STOR.
152 C.F.

STOR.
152 C.F.

STOR.
152 C.F.

STOR.
152 C.F.

STOR.
152 C.F.

STOR.
152 C.F.

UP 18R

3'-8"7" 5'-6"
3"

UP 18R

3'-8"7" 5'-6"
3"

UP 18R

3'-8" 7"5'-6"

3"

UNIT A5-R

A3.1.9

101

UNIT A5-R

A3.1.9

105

UNIT A3.1-R

A3.1.5

108

UNIT A3.2

A3.1.6

109 UNIT A5

A3.1.9

112

GARAGE

A3.4.12

G101

GARAGE

A3.4.12

G102

GARAGE

A3.4.12

G103

STORAGE 1

A3.4.16

S104

ELEC. 5

A3.4.16

104

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G105

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G106

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G107

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G108

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G109

GARAGE

A3.4.12

G110

GARAGE

A3.4.12

G111

GARAGE

A3.4.12

G113

GARAGE

A3.4.12

G121

GARAGE

A3.4.12

G120

GARAGE

A3.4.12

G119

GARAGE

A3.4.12

G118

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G114

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G115

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G116

GARAGE

A3.4.11

G117

STORAGE 2

A3.4.16

S112

STAIR C3
A3.5.4

STAIR C2
A3.5.4

STAIR C1
A3.5.4

UNIT S1-R

A3.1.9

102

UNIT S1-R

A3.1.9

106

UNIT S1

A3.1.9

111

IDF

A3.4.16

104.1

UTILITY

A3.4.16

113

A

B

63
'-0

"

2

A

B

211'-2"

63
'-0

"

1

STOR.
171 C.F.

STOR.
171 C.F.

STOR.
171 C.F.

STOR.
171 C.F.

STOR.
171 C.F.

R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A2

.7
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 C

 C
O

M
PO

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
S.

D
W

G
W

ed
ne

sd
ay

, J
un

e 
28

, 2
02

3 
1:

59
:5

0 
PM A2.7BUILDING "C" COMPOSITE PLAN 

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

1/16"=1'-0"
16' 32' 48'0 8'

FIRST FLOOR

SECOND & THIRD FLOOR

ROOF PLAN

Item D - 1844 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 10



L

W/D

CB

CB

UNIT S1:  1BR / 1BA
LIVABLE AREA:  596 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  54 SQ. FT.

P

LIVING
11'-6" X 9'-6"

BALCONY
11'-6" X 5'-2"

SLEEPING
10'-0" X 7'-9"

KITCHEN

BATH
 

ENTRY
 

DINING

W/D

L

REF

CB

CB

UNIT A5:  1BR / 1BA
LIVABLE AREA:  637 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  56 SQ. FT.

LIVING
11'-0" X 13'-4"

BALCONY
10'-10" X 5'-2"

BEDROOM
11'-6" X 11'-0"

KITCHEN

BATH
 

ENTRY
 

UNIT A6A:  1BR / 1BA
LIVABLE AREA:  781 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  61 SQ. FT.

W/D

COAT
REF

P

CB
CB

LIVING
9'-9" X 13'-6"

BALCONY
9'-7" X 6'-4"

BEDROOM
10'-3" X 12'-0"

KITCHEN

W.I.C.
 

BATH
 

ENTRY
 

DINING

W/D

COAT

REF

L

P

L

CB
CB

UNIT A6B:  1BR / 1BA
LIVABLE AREA:  818 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  59 SQ. FT.

LIVING
12'-3" X 13'-6"

BALCONY
9'-3" X 6'-4"

BEDROOM
11'-0" X 12'-0"

KITCHEN

W.I.C.
 

BATH
 

ENTRY
 

DINING

P.
 
 

L.
 
 

HUB

E.
P.

UNIT A1:  1BR / 1BA
LIVABLE AREA:  707 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  69 SQ. FT.

LIVING
11'-8" X 13'-8"

BALCONY
9'-0" X 6'-10"

BEDROOM
11'-4" X 11'-2"

KITCHEN

W.I.C.
 

BATH
 

COAT
 

DINING

STG
 

P.
 
 

L.
 
 

HUB

E.P.

UNIT A2:  1BR / 1BA
LIVABLE AREA:  749 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  71 SQ. FT.

BALCONY
11'-0" X 5'-8"

BEDROOM
11'-2" X 11'-7"

KITCHEN

W.I.C.
 

BATH
 

COAT
 

L
 

LIVING
 12'-11 X 12'-0"

DINING

UNIT A3:  1BR + DEN / 1BA
LIVABLE AREA:  1051 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  65 SQ. FT.

BALCONY
7'-9" X 7'-10"

DEN
14'-6" X 11'-6"

H
U

B

P.
 
 

L.
 
 

LIVING
12'-0" X 12'-0"

BEDROOM
11'-9" X 13'-0"

KITCHEN

W.I.C.
 

BATH
 

DEN
14'-6" X 15'-6"

DINING

COAT
 

UNIT A4:  1BR / 1BA
LIVABLE AREA:  806 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  65 SQ. FT.

H
U

B

LIVING
12'-0" X 12'-0"

BALCONY
7'-9" X 8'-4"

BEDROOM
11'-9" X 13'-0"

W.I.C.
 

KITCHEN

DINING

BATH
 

R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A3

.0
 - 

A3
.1

 U
N

IT
 P

LA
N

S.
D

W
G

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

un
e 

28
, 2

02
3 

2:
00

:0
6 

PM A3.0CONCEPTUAL UNIT PLANS

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

1/8"=1'-0"
24'0 8'4' 16'

Item D - 1845 of 1893

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

19766
Text Box
PAGE 11



P

W/D

REF

36" SHOWER

36" TUB

5 
M

df
 S

H
EL

VE
S

UNIT B5:  2BR / 2BA
LIVABLE AREA:  1011 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  50 SQ. FT.

BEDROOM
11'-0" X 12'-0"

LIVING
11'-8" X 15'-2"

DINING
8'-0" X 8'-4"

BALCONY
7'-10" X 5'-2"

BEDROOM
11'-0" X 12'-6"

KITCHENW.I.C.
 

BATH
 

ENTRY
 

BATH
 

W.I.C.
 

W/D

FIXED
ISLAND

UNIT B6:  2BR / 2BA
LIVABLE AREA:  1130 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  58 SQ. FT.

P

L

W.I.C.
 

W.I.C.
 

BATH
 

BATH
 

BEDROOM
11'-6" X 12'-0"

BEDROOM
11'-0" X 12'-0"

DINING
11'-8" X 11'-8"

LIVING
11'-8" X 14'-0"

KITCHEN

ENTRY
 

BALCONY
11'-0" X 5'-4"

P.
 
 

L.
 
 

HUB

E.
P.

LIVING
11'-8" X 13'-8"

BALCONY
9'-0" X 6'-10"

BEDROOM
11'-4" X 11'-2"

KITCHEN

W.I.C.
 

BATH
 

COAT
 

DINING

STG
 

UNIT B1:  2BR / 2BA
LIVABLE AREA:  989 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  69 SQ. FT.

BEDROOM
11'-0" X 13'-0"

W.I.C.
 

BATH
 

P.
 
 

L.
 
 

HUB

E.P.

BALCONY
11'-0" X 5'-8"

BEDROOM
11'-2" X 11'-7"

KITCHEN

W.I.C.
 

BATH
 

COAT
 

L
 

LIVING
 12'-11 X 12'-0"

DINING

L.
 
 

L.
 
 

UNIT B2:  2BR / 2BA
LIVABLE AREA:  1128 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  71 SQ. FT.

BEDROOM
11'-4" X 13'-3"

W.I.C.
 

BATH
 

W/D

PATIO/BALC.
6'-4" X 9'-6"

BATH 2

ENTRY
 

W.I.C.

W.I.C.

M. BATH

M. BEDROOM
14'-0" X 12'-0"

BEDROOM 2
12'-0" X 12'-0" KITCHEN

 
LIVING

13'-4" X 12'-11"

DINING
11'-0" X 9'-8"

COAT
 

ST.
 

UNIT B3:  2BR / 2BA
LIVABLE AREA:  1284 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  60 SQ. FT.

L.
 
 

H
U

B

E.
P.

P.
 
 

L.
 
 

UNIT B4:  2BR / 2BA
LIVABLE AREA:  1101 SQ. FT.

PATIO/ BALCONY AREA:  61 SQ. FT.

W.I.C.
 

W.I.C.
 

BATH
 

BATH
 

KITCHEN

COAT

DINING
8'-0" X 7'-8"

LIVING
12'-0" X 11'-4"

BEDROOM
11'-8" X 11'-0"BEDROOM

11'-2" X 13'-0"

BALCONY
7'-4" X 8'-4"

R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A3

.0
 - 

A3
.1

 U
N

IT
 P

LA
N

S.
D

W
G

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

un
e 

28
, 2

02
3 

2:
00

:1
0 

PM A3.1CONCEPTUAL UNIT PLANS

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

1/8"=1'-0"
24'0 8'4' 16'

Item D - 1846 of 1893

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
http://www.ketiv.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
VITREOUS CHINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAVATORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHER

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-2355

AutoCAD SHX Text
VITREOUS CHINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAVATORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHER

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-2355

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-1125

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BATHING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACRYLIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
VITREOUS CHINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAVATORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHER

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-2355

http://www.ArchT.com
http://www.ArchT.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

19766
Text Box
PAGE 12



Item D - 1847 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 13



Item D - 1848 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 14



R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A1

.0
 A

1.
1 

PE
R

SP
EC

TI
VE

S.
D

W
G

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

un
e 

28
, 2

02
3 

11
:4

3:
00

 A
M A1.0CONCEPTUAL PERSPECTIVE

1VIEW FROM MAIN ENTRY OFF EUCLID LOOKING NORTHWEST

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

Item D - 1849 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 15



R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A1

.0
 A

1.
1 

PE
R

SP
EC

TI
VE

S.
D

W
G

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

un
e 

28
, 2

02
3 

11
:3

4:
27

 A
M A1.1CONCEPTUAL PERSPECTIVE

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

1VIEW FROM ENTRY OFF WALNUT LOOKING NORTHEAST

Item D - 1850 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 16



R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\2

1-
54

4_
A1

.0
 A

1.
1 

PE
R

SP
EC

TI
VE

S.
D

W
G

W
ed

ne
sd

ay
, J

un
e 

28
, 2

02
3 

11
:3

4:
12

 A
M A1.11CONCEPTUAL PERSPECTIVE

1VIEW FROM WALNUT ST LOOKING NORTHWEST

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

Item D - 1851 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 17



BUILDING A - EUCLID ELEVATIONBUILDING A - EUCLID ELEVATION

EXTERIOR PLASTER
20/30 SAND FINISH
TO MATCH PAINT SPECS

1

8

2 3 4 5

6 7

FOAM TRIMS
SHAPES AND SIZES WILL VARY
TO MATCH PAINT SPECS F  

FIBER CEMENT TRIM BOARDS
SMOOTH
TO MATCH PAINT SPEC F 

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT
PAINT SPEC E

METAL AWNING
STYLE AND DESIGN MAY VARY
TO MATCH PAINT SPEC E

FABRICATED METAL RAILING
TO MATCH PAINT SPEC E

VINYL WINDOWS

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING
SMOOTH
TO MATCH PAINT SPECS C & D 

9 10STONE VENEER METAL TRELLIS
PAINT SPEC D A4.1

A B C ED
PACER WHITE  SW6098
(OR SIMILAR)

MYSTERIOUS MAUVE SW6262
(OR SIMILAR)

STARRY NIGHT SW6540
(OR SIMILAR)

TRICORN BLACK  
SW6258(OR SIMILAR)

IRON ORE  SW7069
(OR SIMILAR)

HIGH REFLECTIVE WHITE  SW7004
(OR SIMILAR)

FORSYTHIA  SW6907
Bldg. B Accent Color

CENTER STAGE  SW6920
Bldg. C Accent Color

NAVEL  SW6887
Bldg. A Accent Color

81 1 99 10 4 227 1 16 651111 113
A G

H
I

B DDE B AE EEADDD FFC

F

G H I

Item D - 1852 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 18



R
:\2

02
1\

20
21

-5
44

 L
EG

AC
Y 

EU
C

LI
D

 &
 W

AL
N

U
T 

O
N

TA
R

IO
\0

3 
D

ES
IG

N
\S

C
H

EM
AT

IC
\C

AD
\~

21
-5

44
_G

1.
1 

PR
O

JE
C

T 
IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

.D
W

G
Th

ur
sd

ay
, J

ul
y 

06
, 2

02
3 

10
:0

6:
03

 A
M

THESE CONCEPTUAL ARCHITECTURAL PLANS ARE FOR PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT PURPOSES ONLY.
REVISIONS MAY BE REQUIRED DUE TO FURTHER REQUIREMENTS, INVESTIGATION FROM GOVERNING
AGENCIES AND BUILDING CODE ANALYSIS. DIMENSIONS SHOWN ARE APPROXIMATE AND ARE BASED
UPON THE INFORMATION AND SURVEYS AVAILABLE. PLEASE REFER TO CIVIL SURVEYS, DRAWINGS
AND EXHIBITS FOR TECHNICAL INFORMATION AND MEASUREMENTS.  PLEASE REFER TO THE
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT'S DRAWINGS AND EXHIBITS FOR ALL LANDSCAPE PLANTING, IRRIGATION,
DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS.

GENERAL DISCLAIMER

LEGACY PARTNERS
5141 CALIFORNIA AVENUE, SUITE 100, IRVINE, CA 92617
949.930.7712

144 NORTH ORANGE ST., ORANGE, CA 92866
(714) 639-9860

AO ARCHITECTS
EUCLID AND WALNUT ONTARIO, CA

DATE: 06-29-23
JOB NO.:  2021-544

G1.1PROJECT SUMMARY, INFORMATION

Item D - 1853 of 1893

19766
Text Box
PAGE 19



Page 1 of 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment B: Conditions of Approval 
 

(Conditions of Approval follow this page) 
 

Item D - 1854 of 1893



 

Page 1 of 8 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

LAND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
Date Prepared: 7/11/2023 
 
File No: PDEV22-027 
 
Related Files: PUD22-004 and PHP22-015 
 
Project Description: A Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-027) to construct 346 apartment units 
and 5,400 square feet of commercial space on 9.4 acres of land, located at the northwest corner 
of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Avenue, within the Mixed Use – Neighborhood Hub 8e – Euclid and 
Walnut (MU-NH 8e) zoning district; (APNs: 1051-271-67, 1051-271-06, and 1051-271-66); submitted 
by Legacy/Collier Residential LLC. 
 
Prepared By: Alexis Vaughn, Associate Planner 

Phone: 909.395.2416 (direct) 
Email: avaughn@ontarioca.gov 

 
 

The Planning Department, Land Development Section, conditions of approval applicable 
to the above-described Project are listed below. The Project shall comply with each condition of 
approval: 
 
1.0 Standard Conditions of Approval. The Project shall comply with the Standard Conditions 
for New Development, adopted by City Council Resolution No. 2017-027 on April 18, 2017. A copy 
of the Standard Conditions for New Development may be obtained from the Planning 
Department or City Clerk/Records Management Department. 
 
2.0 Special Conditions of Approval. In addition to the Standard Conditions for New 
Development identified in condition no. 1.0, above, the Project shall comply with the following 
special conditions of approval: 
 

2.1 Time Limits. 
 

(a) Development Plan approval shall become null and void 2 years following 
the effective date of application approval, unless a building permit is issued and construction is 
commenced, and diligently pursued toward completion, or a time extension has been approved 
by the Planning Director. This condition does not supersede any individual time limits specified 
herein, or any other departmental conditions of approval applicable to the Project, for the 
performance of specific conditions or improvements. 
 

2.2 General Requirements. The Project shall comply with the following general 
requirements: 

 
(a) All construction documentation shall be coordinated for consistency, 

including, but not limited to, architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, landscape 

Item D - 1855 of 1893



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-027 
 
 

Page 2 of 8 

and irrigation, grading, utility and street improvement plans. All such plans shall be consistent with 
the approved entitlement plans on file with the Planning Department. 
 

(b) The Project site shall be developed in conformance with the approved 
plans on file with the City. Any variation from the approved plans must be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Department prior to building permit issuance. 
 

(c) The herein-listed conditions of approval from all City departments shall be 
included in the construction plan set for Project, which shall be maintained on site during Project 
construction. 

 
(d) The Project shall meet all Development and Municipal Code requirements, 

as well as the requirements of the related Euclid Walnut Planned Unit Development (File No. 
PUD22-004) for the Project site. Such requirements include, but are not limited to, development 
intensity, provision of open space and recreational facilities, development standards, public 
safety and welfare, provision of private storage and parking, and landscaping. 
 

2.3 Landscaping.  
 

(a) The Project shall provide and continuously maintain landscaping and 
irrigation systems in compliance with the provisions of Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping). 
 

(b) Comply with the conditions of approval of the Planning Department; 
Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(c) Landscaping shall not be installed until the Landscape and Irrigation 
Construction Documentation Plans required by Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping) have been approved by the Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(d) Changes to approved Landscape and Irrigation Construction 
Documentation Plans, which affect the character or quantity of the plant material or irrigation 
system design, shall be resubmitted for approval of the revision by the Landscape Planning 
Division, prior to the commencement of the changes. 

 
(e) All information/specs regarding hardscape and recreational features shall 

be coordinated into the Project’s construction documents and precise grading plans. 
 

2.4 Walls and Fences.  
 

(a) All Project walls and fences shall comply with the requirements of Ontario 
Development Code Division 6.02 (Walls, Fences and Obstructions) and the related Euclid Walnut 
Planned Unit Development. 

 
(b) No walls, fences, obstructions, or structures shall be constructed within the 

Southern California Edison (SCE) easement without providing written approval from SCE clearly 
outlining said allowance(s), to be provided to the Planning Department and included with the 
building permits for the improvement(s). 
 
 

Item D - 1856 of 1893



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-027 
 
 

Page 3 of 8 

2.5 Parking, Circulation and Access. 
 

(a) The Project shall comply with the applicable off-street parking, loading and 
lighting requirements of City of Ontario Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading). The Project shall also comply with all provisions of the related Euclid Walnut Planned Unit 
Development. 
 

(b) All drive approaches and pedestrian crossings shall be provided with an 
enhanced pavement treatment. The enhanced paving shall extend from the back of the 
approach apron, into the site, to the first intersecting drive aisle or parking space (drive 
approaches) and across drive aisles for all logical pedestrian crossings (at building exits, sidewalk 
connections, etc.). Final design and materials are subject to Planning review and approval at plan 
check submittal. 

 
(c) Tandem parking stalls shall be assigned for use by the resident(s) of one 

singular dwelling unit. 
 

(d) Ample signage shall be provided at the Project’s entry points that clearly 
designate resident-only entrances. 

 
(e) Driveways (leading to garages) shall be 5 feet or less or 18 feet or more in 

length, to discourage parking of vehicles which overhang into the drive aisle. No parking shall be 
allowed in the drive aisles or on any driveway less than 18 feet in length, and parking regulations 
shall be strictly enforced. 

 
(f) Areas provided to meet the City’s parking requirements, including off-street 

parking and loading spaces, access drives, and maneuvering areas, shall not be used for the 
outdoor storage of materials and equipment, nor shall it be used for any other purpose than 
parking. 

 
(g) The required number of off-street parking spaces and/or loading spaces 

shall be provided at the time of site and/or building occupancy. All parking and loading spaces 
shall be maintained in good condition for the duration of the building or use. 

 
(h) Parking spaces specifically designated and conveniently located for use 

by the physically disabled shall be provided pursuant to current accessibility regulations 
contained in State law (CCR Title 24, Part 2, Chapters 2B71, and CVC Section 22507.8). 

 
(i) Bicycle parking facilities, including bicycle racks, lockers, and other secure 

facilities, shall be provided in conjunction with development Projects pursuant to current 
regulations contained in CALGreen (CAC Title 24, Part 11). Final design and placement of bicycle 
parking facilities shall be subject to Planning Department review and approval. 
 

2.6 Outdoor Loading and Storage Areas. 
 

(a) Loading facilities shall be designed and constructed pursuant to 
Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and Loading). 
 

(b) Areas designated for off-street parking, loading, and vehicular circulation 
and maneuvering, shall not be used for the outdoor storage of materials or equipment. 

Item D - 1857 of 1893



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-027 
 
 

Page 4 of 8 

 
2.7 Site Lighting. 

 
(a) All off-street parking facilities shall be provided with nighttime security 

lighting pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code Section 4-11.08 (Special Residential Building 
Provisions) and Section 4-11.09 (Special Commercial/Industrial Building Provisions), designed to 
confine emitted light to the parking areas. Parking facilities shall be lighted from sunset until sunrise, 
daily, and shall be operated by a photocell switch. 
 

(b) Unless intended as part of a master lighting program, no operation, activity, 
or lighting fixture shall create illumination on any adjacent property. 

 
(c) Communal spaces and pedestrian paths of travel shall be safely 

illuminated, by means of decorative bollard, wall, ground, post, standard, or other lighting 
mechanisms. These facilities shall be lighted from sunset until sunrise, daily, and shall be operated 
by a photocell switch or similar. 
 

2.8 Mechanical and Rooftop Equipment. 
 

(a) All exterior roof-mounted mechanical, heating and air conditioning 
equipment, and all appurtenances thereto, shall be completely screened from public view by 
parapet walls or roof screens that are architecturally treated so as to be consistent with the 
building architecture. 
 

(b) All ground-mounted utility equipment and structures, such as tanks, 
transformers, HVAC equipment, and backflow prevention devices, shall be located out of view 
from a public street, or adequately screened through the use of landscaping and/or decorative 
low garden walls. 

 
(c) All roof access ladders shall be located on the inside of the building. 

 
2.9 Security Standards. The Project shall comply with all applicable requirements of 

Ontario Municipal Code Title 4 (Public Safety), Chapter 11 (Security Standards for Buildings). 
 

2.10 Signs.  
 

(a) All Project signage shall comply with the requirements of Ontario 
Development Code Division 8.1 (Sign Regulations) and the related Euclid Walnut Planned Unit 
Development. 
 

(b) On-site posting of public noticing shall be provided pursuant to Code 
Section 2.03.010.C.4, which consists of one or more large, 6-foot-tall, freestanding public 
notification signs. The sign face shall measure 4 feet tall by 8 feet wide, in a format approved by 
the Planning Director. The sign shall be posted no later than ten calendar days prior to the Planning 
Commission hearing date and removed no later than fourteen calendar days following the City 
Council hearing date, unless otherwise required by the Planning Director. The format and 
application are available on the City’s website. 

 

Item D - 1858 of 1893



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-027 
 
 

Page 5 of 8 

(c) Per the provisions of the Euclid Walnut Planned Unit Development, a Master 
Sign Program application shall be submitted to the Planning Department for review and approval 
prior to issuance of building permits for the Project site. 
 

2.11 Sound Attenuation.  
 

(a) The Project shall be constructed and operated in a manner so as not to 
exceed the maximum interior and exterior noise levels set forth in Ontario Municipal Code Title 5 
(Public Welfare, Morals, and Conduct), Chapter 29 (Noise).  

 
(b) All recommendations/requirements of the acoustical report provided for 

the Project shall be applied (including but not limited to building insulation, upgraded windows, 
and heating/cooling filtration systems). Recommendations/requirements shall be clearly 
shown/called out for in the construction documents. 
 

2.12 Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&Rs)/Mutual Access and Maintenance 
Agreements. 
 

(a) CC&Rs shall be updated for the Project site (including, but not limited to, 
amendment of maps/exhibits to reflect the proposed Project and removal of any items no longer 
applicable to the site such as leases for K-Mart) and shall be recorded prior to the issuance of a 
building permit. The CC&Rs shall remain in effect and updated to accommodate Phase 2 
development, at such time that entitlement(s) are submitted for review. 
 

(b) The CC&Rs shall be in a form and contain provisions satisfactory to the City. 
The articles of incorporation for the property owners association and the CC&Rs shall be reviewed 
and approved by the City. The CC&Rs shall include provisions for the following: 

 
(i) Access for residential pass-thru of commercial areas;  
(ii) Reciprocal access between residential areas and parcels;  
(iii) Clauses prohibiting public nuisances, including but not limited to, 

excessive noise, parking of vehicles on driveways to garages that are less than 18 feet in length, 
excessive storage of personal items on balconies, and the hanging of personal items over balcony 
railing (such as clothes lines, towels, etc.); and 

(iv) Personal property storage shall not preclude the intended number 
of vehicles from being parked within the garage. Carports shall not be used for personal property 
storage but solely vehicle parking. 
 

(c) CC&Rs shall ensure reciprocal parking and access between land uses and 
common maintenance of: 
 

(i) Landscaping and irrigation systems within common areas; 
(ii) Landscaping and irrigation systems within parkways adjacent to the 

Project site, including that portion of any public highway right-of-way between the property line 
or right-of-way boundary line and the curb line and also the area enclosed within the curb lines 
of a median divider (Ontario Municipal Code Section 7-3.03), pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code 
Section 5-22-02; 

(iii) Shared parking facilities and access drives; and 
(iv) Utility and drainage easements. 

 

Item D - 1859 of 1893



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-027 
 
 

Page 6 of 8 

(d) CC&Rs shall include authorization for the City’s local law enforcement 
officers to enforce City and State traffic and penal codes within the Project area. 
 

(e) The CC&Rs shall grant the City of Ontario the right of enforcement of the 
CC&R provisions. 
 

(f) A specific methodology/procedure shall be established within the CC&Rs 
for enforcement of its provisions by the City of Ontario, if adequate maintenance of the 
development does not occur, such as, but not limited to, provisions that would grant the City the 
right of access to correct maintenance issues and assess the property owners association for all 
costs incurred. 

 
(g) A parking management plan and any lease agreement/terms shall be 

submitted to the City for review and approval, alongside the CC&Rs.  
 

(h) The CC&Rs application and filing fees are available on the City’s website. 
CC&Rs shall be approved and recorded prior to issuance of a Building permit. 
 

2.13 Disclosure Statements. 
 

(a) A copy of the Public Report from the Department of Real Estate, prepared 
for the residential units pursuant to Business and Professions Code Section 11000 et seq., shall be 
provided to each prospective buyer or renter of the residential units and shall include a statement 
to the effect that: 
 

(i) This site is subject to noise from the Ontario International Airport and 
may be more severely impacted in the future. 

(ii) Some of the property adjacent to this site is zoned for agricultural 
uses and there could be fly, odor, or related problems due to the proximity of animals. 

(iii) The area south of Riverside Drive lies within the San Bernardino 
County Agricultural Preserve. Dairies currently existing in that area are likely to remain for the 
foreseeable future. 
 

2.14 Environmental Requirements.  
 

(a) If human remains are found during Project 
grading/excavation/construction activities, the area shall not be disturbed until any required 
investigation is completed by the County Coroner and Native American consultation has been 
completed (if deemed applicable). 
 

(b) If any archeological or paleontological resources are found during Project 
grading/excavation/construction, the area shall not be disturbed until the significance of the 
resource is determined. If determined to be significant, the resource shall be recovered by a 
qualified archeologist or paleontologist consistent with current standards and guidelines, or other 
appropriate measures implemented. 
 

2.15 Indemnification. The applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, 
the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul 
any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by its City Council, Planning Commission or other 

Item D - 1860 of 1893



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-027 
 
 

Page 7 of 8 

authorized board or officer. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the applicant of any such 
claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

2.16 Additional Fees. 
 

(a) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of 
Determination (“NOD”) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be 
paid by check, made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded 
to the San Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable 
environmental forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (“CEQA”). Failure to provide said fee within the time specified will result in the extension of the 
statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit from 30 days to 180 days. 
 

(b) After the Project’s entitlement approval, and prior to issuance of final 
building permits, the Planning Department’s Plan Check and Inspection fees shall be paid at the 
rate established by resolution of the City Council. 
 

2.17 Related Applications. Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-027) approval shall not 
be final and complete until such time that related File No. PHP22-015 has been approved by the 
Planning Commission and Euclid Walnut Planned Unit Development (File No. PUD22-004) has been 
approved by the City Council. An approved Lot Line Adjustment/Lot Merger is also required prior 
to issuance of Building Permits, pursuant to Engineering Department conditions of approval. 
 

2.18 Public Art. The Project is subject to the requirements of the City’s Public Art 
Ordinance (Ontario Municipal Code Section 5-33.05. Private Art for Public Enjoyment in 
Commercial and Industrial Development Projects). 

 
2.19 Final Occupancy. The Project Architect of record will certify that construction of 

each building site and the exterior elevations of each structure shall be completed in compliance 
with the approved plans. Any deviation to approved plans shall require a resubmittal to the 
Planning Department for review and approval prior to construction. The Occupancy Release 
Request Form/Architect Certificate of Compliance shall be provided prior to final occupancy. 
After the receipt of this Certification, the Planning Department will conduct a final site and exterior 
elevations inspection. The Owner’s Representative and Contractor shall be present. 
 

2.20 Additional Requirements. 
 

(a) Any trash enclosure easily accessible from the public (not inside the gated 
community) shall be provided with decorative mesh screens to close the gap between the roof 
and the walls/doors, so as to prevent potential nuisance activities such as vagrancy, dumping, 
and vandalism.  
 

(b) The residential amenities (such as the pool and deck, fitness room, mail 
area, lounge, and associated recreational facilities) shall be installed and operational prior to 
issuance of a permit for the 173rd dwelling unit. Such facilities will remain operational for use by the 
residents and shall not be removed without adequate replacement elsewhere on site. 
 

(c) Plaster and stucco trims shall be smooth finish, including any foam detailing. 
Textured stucco (such as 20/30 sand finish) is appropriate for body walls. Construction documents 
shall clearly list trim materials, styles/finishes, and colors. 

Item D - 1861 of 1893



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-027 
 
 

Page 8 of 8 

 
(d) All building drainage gutters, down spouts, vents, etc., shall be completely 

concealed from public view or architecturally compatible (decorative) with the exterior building 
design and color.  

 
(e) Exterior building walls accessible to the public (not within a gated and 

secured area) shall be provided with a graffiti-resistant coating or paint to a height of 12 feet. 
 

(f) The applicant shall contact the Ontario Post Office to determine the 
quantity, size, and final location/provision of mailboxes for this Project. 

 
(g) Construction documents and grading plans shall both provide a clear 

legend that calls out all Project features, including but not limited to landscape, general 
hardscape (sidewalks and other concrete), decorative pavement with colors and materials 
(pedestrian crossings and entryway pavement or pavers), artificial turf (such as for the “cornhole” 
recreational area or dog run), etc. Plans shall provide all colors and materials information in the 
plan legends, shall be coordinated for consistency across all documents, and shall not simply refer 
to another sheet or package for said information. 
 

Item D - 1862 of 1893



Item D - 1863 of 1893



Item D - 1864 of 1893



Item D - 1865 of 1893



Item D - 1866 of 1893



Item D - 1867 of 1893



Item D - 1868 of 1893



Item D - 1869 of 1893



Item D - 1870 of 1893



Item D - 1871 of 1893



Item D - 1872 of 1893



Item D - 1873 of 1893



Item D - 1874 of 1893



Item D - 1875 of 1893



Item D - 1876 of 1893



Item D - 1877 of 1893



Item D - 1878 of 1893



Item D - 1879 of 1893



Item D - 1880 of 1893



Item D - 1881 of 1893



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
 
TO:  Alexis Vaughn, Assistant Planner 
  Planning Department 
 
FROM:  Paul Ehrman, Sr. Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 
  Fire Department 
 
DATE:  July 7, 2022 
 
SUBJECT: PDEV22-027 - A Development Plan approval to construct a mixed use 

development consisting of 346 multiple-family dwellings with 6,000 square 
feet of commercial retail space on approximately 10.63 acres of land 
located at the Northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street, 
within the CC (Community Commercial) zoning district (APN(s): 1051-
271-67-0000; 1051-271-06-0000; 1051-271-66-0000). Related File(s): PUD-
22-004. 

 
 

   The plan does NOT adequately address Fire Department requirements at this time 

   Standard Conditions of Approval apply, as stated below. 

 
 
 
SITE AND BUILDING FEATURES: 
 

A. 2019 CBC Type of Construction:  Type V-B 
 

B. Type of Roof Materials:  Ordinary 
 

C. Ground Floor Area(s):  Varies 
 

D. Number of Stories:  3 
 

E. Total Square Footage:  Varies, Multiple Buildings 
   Approximately 20,000 Sq. Ft. Each 

 
F. 2019 CBC Occupancy Classification(s):  R-2 
 

 

Item D - 1882 of 1893



 
2 of 4  

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 

1.0 GENERAL 
 

  1.1 The following are the Ontario Fire Department (“Fire Department”) requirements for this 
development project, based on the current edition of the California Fire Code (CFC), and the 
current versions of the Fire Prevention Standards (“Standards.”) It is recommended that the 
applicant or developer transmit a copy of these requirements to the on-site contractor(s) and 
that all questions or concerns be directed to the Bureau of Fire Prevention, at (909) 395-2029. 
For copies of Ontario Fire Department Standards please access the City of Ontario web site at 
www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention.  

 
  1.2 These Fire Department conditions of approval are to be included on any and all construction 

drawings.  
 
2.0 FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS 
 

  2.1 Fire Department vehicle access roadways shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all portions of 
the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved. Roadways 
shall be paved with an all-weather surface and shall be a minimum of twenty-four (24) ft. wide. 
See Standard #B-004.   

 
  2.2 In order to allow for adequate turning radius for emergency fire apparatus, all turns shall be 

designed to meet the minimum twenty five feet (25’) inside and forty-five feet (45’) outside 
turning radius per Standard #B-005.   

 
  2.3 Fire Department access roadways that exceed one hundred and fifty feet (150’) in length shall 

have an approved turn-around per Standard #B-002.   
 

  2.4 Access drive aisles which cross property lines shall be provided with CC&Rs, access 
easements, or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected 
properties, and copies of same shall be provided at the time of building plan check. 

 
  2.5 "No Parking-Fire Lane" signs and /or red painted curbs with lettering are required to be instal-

led in interior access roadways, in locations where vehicle parking would obstruct the 
minimum clear width requirement. Installation shall be per Standard #B-001.  

 
  2.6 Security gates or other barriers on fire access roadways shall be provided with a Knox brand 

key switch or padlock to allow Fire Department access.  See Standards #B-003, B-004 and H-
001. 

 
  2.7 Any time PRIOR to on-site combustible construction and/or storage, a minimum twenty-four 

(24) ft. wide circulating all weather access roads shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all 
portions of the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved by 
fire department and other emergency services. 
 
 

 

Item D - 1883 of 1893

http://www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention


 
3 of 4  

 

3.0 WATER SUPPLY 
 

  3.1 The required fire flow per Fire Department standards, based on the 2019 California Fire Code, 
Appendix B, is 2000  gallons per minute (g.p.m.) for 4 hours at a minimum of 20 pounds per 
square inch (p.s.i.) residual operating pressure. 

 
  3.2 Off-site (public) fire hydrants are required to be installed on all frontage streets, at a minimum 

spacing of three hundred foot (300’) apart, per Engineering Department specifications.  
 

  3.4 The water supply, including water mains and fire hydrants, shall be tested and approved by the 
Engineering Department and Fire Department prior to combustible construction to assure 
availability and reliability for firefighting purposes.  

 
4.0 FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS 
 

  4.1 On-site private fire hydrants are required per Standard #D-005, and identified in accordance 
with Standard #D-002.  Installation and locations(s) are subject to the approval of the Fire 
Department. An application with detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit 
shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work being done.    

 
  4.2 Underground fire mains which cross property lines shall be provided with CC & R, easements, 

or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected properties, and 
copies of same shall be provided at the time of fire department plan check. The shared use of 
private fire mains or fire pumps is allowable only between immediately adjacent properties 
and shall not cross any public street. 

 
  4.3 An automatic fire sprinkler system is required.  The system design shall be in accordance with 

National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 13. All new fire sprinkler systems, 
except those in single family dwellings, which contain twenty (20) sprinkler heads or more 
shall be monitored by an approved listed supervising station. An application along with 
detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit shall be issued by the Fire 
Department, prior to any work being done.   

 
  4.4 Wood frame buildings that are to be sprinkled shall have these systems in service (but not 

necessarily finaled) before the building is enclosed.  
 

  4.5 Fire Department Connections (FDC) shall be located on the address side of the building within 
one hundred fifty feet (150’) of a public fire hydrant on the same side of the street.  Provide 
identification for all fire sprinkler control valves and fire department connections per Standard 
#D-007. Raised curbs adjacent to Fire Department connection(s) shall be painted red, five feet 
either side, per City standards. 

 
  4.6 A fire alarm system is required.  The system design shall be in accordance with National Fire 

Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 72. An application along with detailed plans shall be 
submitted, and a construction permit shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work 
being done.  

 

Item D - 1884 of 1893



 
4 of 4  

 

  4.7 Portable fire extinguishers are required to be installed prior to occupancy per Standard #C-001.  
Please contact the Fire Prevention Bureau to determine the exact number, type and placement 
required. 
   

5.0 BUILDING CONSTRUCTION FEATURES 
 

  5.1 The developer/general contractor is to be responsible for reasonable periodic cleanup of the 
development during construction to avoid hazardous accumulations of combustible trash and 
debris both on and off the site. 

 
  5.2 Approved numbers or addresses shall be placed on all new and existing buildings in such a 

position as to be plainly visible and legible from the street or road fronting the property.  Multi-
tenant or building projects shall have addresses and/or suite numbers provided on the rear of 
the building.  Address numbers shall contrast with their background. See Section 9-1 6.06 of 
the Ontario Municipal Code and Standards #H-003 and #H-002.  
 

  5.3 Single station smoke alarms and carbon monoxide alarms are required to be installed per the 
California Building Code and the California Fire Code.  
 

  5.4 Multiple unit building complexes shall have building directories provided at the main 
entrances.  The directories shall be designed to the requirements of the Fire Department, see 
Section 9-1 6.06 of the Ontario Municipal Code and Standard #H-003. .  
 

  5.5  All residential chimneys shall be equipped with an approved spark arrester meeting the 
requirements of the California Building Code. 

 
  5.6 Knox ® brand key-box(es) shall be installed in location(s) acceptable to the Fire Department. 

All Knox boxes shall be monitored for tamper by the building fire alarm system. See Standard 
#H-001 for specific requirements. 

 
Note: Site plan shows 2 dead end alleyways on the South side of the project in excess of 150 feet, 
          without a Fire Department turnaround. 

Item D - 1885 of 1893



Item D - 1886 of 1893



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 

 
TO:  Alexis Vaughn, Assistant Planner 

 

FROM:  Officer Tony Galban, Police Department 

 

DATE:  June 22, 2022 

 

SUBJECT: PDEV22-027: A DEVELOPMENT PLAN TO CONSTRUCT A MIXED-

USE DEVELOPMENT CONSISTING OF 346 MULTIPLE-FAMILY 

DWELLINGS WITH 6,000 SQUARE FEET OF COMMERCIAL SPACE 

LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF EUCLID AVENUE 

AND WALNUT STREET. RELATED FILE (S): PUD-22-004 

 
 
The “Standard Conditions of Approval” contained in Resolution No. 2017-027 apply. The 
applicant shall read and be thoroughly familiar with these conditions, including but not limited to, 
the requirements listed below. 
 

• Required lighting for all walkways, driveways, doorways, parking areas, and other areas 
used by the public shall be provided and operate on photosensor at the prescribed foot-
candle levels. This includes but is not limited to areas such as parks, community centers, 
recreation centers/play areas and paseos. LED lighting will be required for all lighting 
fixtures. Optimal lighting for visibility and video color rendering is approximately 3000 
degrees Kelvin. The lighting shall be as close to 3000 degrees Kelvin as possible.  
Photometrics shall be provided to the Police Department. Photometrics shall include the 
types of fixtures proposed and demonstrate that such fixtures meet the vandal-resistant 
requirement. Planned landscaping shall not obstruct lighting. 

• During hours of darkness, all parking lots and carports shall be provided with 
minimum one foot-candle of light, measured on the parking surface. Lighting devices 
shall be fully protected with weather and vandalism resistant covers. 

• Parking garages, stairwells, blind spots and any hidden areas shall have convex mirrors to 
allow for visibility to the areas.  

• The Applicant shall comply with all construction site security requirements as stated in the 
Standard Conditions. This includes the provisions for perimeter lighting, site lighting, 
fencing and/or uniformed security.   

• Rooftop addresses shall be installed on the buildings as stated in the Standard Conditions. 
The numbers shall be at a minimum 3 feet tall and 1 foot wide, in reflective white paint on 
a flat black background, and oriented with the bottom of the numbers towards the addressed 
street. Each building and/ or suite shall be labeled with the corresponding address and letter 
if applicable. 

Item D - 1887 of 1893



• Trash Enclosures shall prohibit public access. Trash enclosures shall remain locked and 
require code, key, fob or remote access. 
  

The Applicant is invited to call Officer Tony Galban at (909) 408-1006 with any questions 
regarding these conditions.  
 

Item D - 1888 of 1893



CITY OF ONTARIO
MEMORANDUM

TO: Scott Murphy, Community Development Director (Copy of memo only)

Rudy Zeledon, Planning Director (Copy of memo only)

Diane Ayala, Advanced Planning Division (Copy of memo only)

Charity Hernandez, Economic Development

James Caro, Building Department

Raymond Lee, Engineering Department

Jamie Richardson, Landscape Planning Division

Dennis Mejia, Municipal Utility Company

Heather Lugo, Police Department

Paul Erhman, Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal

Jay Bautista, Traffic/Transportation Manager

Lorena Mejia, Airport Planning

Jeff Tang, Engineering/NPDES

Angela Magana, Community Improvement (Copy of memo only)

Jimmy Chang, IPA Department

Blaine Ishii, Integrated Waste

FROM: Alexis Vaughn, Associate Planner

DATE: May 31, 2023

SUBJECT: FILE #:  PDEV22-027 Finance Acct#:     

The following project has been resubmitted for review.  Please send one (1) copy and email one (1) copy 

of your DAB report to the Planning Department by .

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  A Development Plan to construct a mixed-use development consisting of 346 

multiple-family dwellings and 6,000 square feet of commercial retail space on approximately 10.63 acres 

of land generally located at the Northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street, within the CC 

(Community Commercial) zoning district (APNs: 1051-271-67, 1051-271-06, and 1051-271-66). Related 

File: PUD-22-004.

The conditions contained in the attached report must be met prior to scheduling for 

Development Advisory Board.

The plan does not adequately address the departmental concerns.

Standard Conditions of Approval apply

Report attached (1 copy and email 1 copy)

No comments

The plan does adequately address the departmental concerns at this time.

See previous report for Conditions

Department Signature Title Date

Revision #3

Item D - 1889 of 1893

18991
Stamp

18991
Stamp

18991
Stamp

18991
Typewritten Text
Landscape Planning Division                                  Sr. Landscape Architect    6/14/2023



CITY OF ONTARIO 
LANDSCAPE PLANNING DIVISION 

303 East “B” Street, Ontario, CA 91764 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Sign Off 

 
6/14/2023 

Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Planner Date 

Reviewer’s Name:  
Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Planner 

Phone: 
(909) 395-2615 

 D.A.B. File No.:                                           
PDEV22-027, PUD22-004 

Case Planner: 
Alexis Vaughn 

Project Name and Location:  
Mixed Use Development/346 multiple-family and commercial retail space 
Northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street 
Applicant/Representative: 
Legacy/Collier Residential LLC – David Pinto dpinto@lagacypartners.com (949) 291-8559 
5141 California Avenue, Suite 100 
Irvine, CA 92617 
 
 
 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated 5/31/2023) meet the Standard Conditions for New 
Development and have been approved considering that the following conditions 
below are met upon the landscape construction documents submittal. 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated) have not been approved. Corrections noted below are 
required before Preliminary Landscape Plan approval. 

A RESPONSE SHEET IS REQUIRED WITH RESUBMITTAL OR PLANS WILL BE RETURNED AS 
INCOMPLETE. 
Landscape construction plans with plan check number may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 
DIGITAL SUBMITTALS MUST BE 10MB OR LESS. Civil/ Site Plans 
1. Adjust the modular wetland 25’ away from the water mainline (along Walnut).  
2. If pumps are required due to inadequate pressure, pumps shall not interfere in landscape 

areas. Alternative locations, such as mechanical rooms, shall be utilized. 
3. Before permit issuance, stormwater infiltration devices located in landscape areas shall be 

reviewed and plans approved by the Landscape Planning Division. Any stormwater devices 
in parkway areas shall not displace street trees.  

4. Show transformers set back 5’ from paving all sides. Coordinate with landscape plans.  
5. Show backflow devices set back 4’ from paving on all sides. Locate on level grade.  
6. Locate utilities, including light standards, fire hydrants, water, drain, and sewer lines to not 

conflict with required tree locations—coordinate civil plans with landscape plans.  
7. Dimension, show and call out for step-outs at parking spaces adjacent to planters; a 12” 

wide monolithic concrete curb, DG paving or pavers with edging.  
Landscape Plans 
8. Provide a hose bib to maintain and clean the artificial turf at the dog park. Use Broad canopy 

evergreens such as Oaks in the dog park for shade.  
9. Show backflow devices with 36” high strappy leaf shrub screening, trash enclosures and 

transformers, and a 4’-5’ high evergreen hedge screening. Do not encircle utility; show as 
masses and duplicate masses in other locations at regular intervals.  

10. Locate light standards, fire hydrants, water, and sewer lines to not conflict with required tree 
locations. Coordinate civil plans with landscape plans.  

11. Show all utilities on the landscape plans. Coordinate so utilities are clear of tree locations.  
12. Show 8’ diameter of mulch only at new trees, 12’ min. at existing trees. Detail irrigation 

dripline outside of mulched root zone.  
13. Designer or developer to provide agronomical soil testing and include a report on landscape 

Item D - 1890 of 1893

mailto:dpinto@lagacypartners.com
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


construction plans. A new report is required for phased projects for each phase or a 
minimum of every six homes in residential developments.  

14. Show minimum on-site tree sizes per the Landscape Development standards; see the 
Landscape Planning website. 5% 48” box, 10% 36 box, 30% 24” box, 55% 15 gallon.  

15. Show 25% of trees as California native (Platanus racemosa, Quercus agrifolia, Quercus 
wislizenii, Quercus douglasii, Cercis occidentalis, etc.) in appropriate locations.  

16. Landscape construction plans shall meet the requirements of the Landscape Development 
Guidelines. See http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards  

17. After a project’s entitlement approval, the applicant shall pay all applicable fees for 
landscape plan check and inspections at a rate established by resolution of the City Council. 
Landscape construction plans with building permit number for plan check may be emailed 
to: landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 

Item D - 1891 of 1893

http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


CITY OF ONTARIO
MEMORANDUM

TO: Scott Murphy, Community Development Director (Copy of memo only)

Rudy Zeledon, Planning Director (Copy of memo only)

Diane Ayala, Advanced Planning Division (Copy of memo only)

Charity Hernandez, Economic Development

James Caro, Building Department

Raymond Lee, Engineering Department

Jamie Richardson, Landscape Planning Division

Dennis Mejia, Municipal Utility Company

Heather Lugo, Police Department

Paul Erhman, Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal

Jay Bautista, Traffic/Transportation Manager

Lorena Mejia, Airport Planning

Jeff Tang, Engineering/NPDES

Angela Magana, Community Improvement (Copy of memo only)

Jimmy Chang, IPA Department

Blaine Ishii, Integrated Waste

FROM: Alexis Vaughn, Associate Planner

DATE: May 31, 2023

SUBJECT: FILE #:  PDEV22-027 Finance Acct#:     

The following project has been resubmitted for review.  Please send one (1) copy and email one (1) copy 

of your DAB report to the Planning Department by .

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  A Development Plan to construct a mixed-use development consisting of 346 

multiple-family dwellings and 6,000 square feet of commercial retail space on approximately 10.63 acres 

of land generally located at the Northwest corner of Euclid Avenue and Walnut Street, within the CC 

(Community Commercial) zoning district (APNs: 1051-271-67, 1051-271-06, and 1051-271-66). Related 

File: PUD-22-004.

The conditions contained in the attached report must be met prior to scheduling for 

Development Advisory Board.

The plan does not adequately address the departmental concerns.

Standard Conditions of Approval apply

Report attached (1 copy and email 1 copy)

No comments

The plan does adequately address the departmental concerns at this time.

See previous report for Conditions

Department Signature Title Date

Revision #3

Item D - 1892 of 1893

Cameron Chadwick
Broken Character
X symbol

Cameron Chadwick
Line

Cameron Chadwick
Broken Character
X symbol

Cameron Chadwick
Line

Cameron Chadwick
CC Blue Signature 2020
Broadband Operations

Cameron Chadwick
Snapshot

Cameron Chadwick
Date blue



AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Project File No.:

Address:

APN:

Existing Land 
Use:

Proposed Land 
Use:

Site Acreage:

ONT-IAC Project Review:

Airport Influence Area:

This proposed Project is: Exempt from the ALUCP Consistent Consistent with Conditions Inconsistent

Reviewed By:

Date:

Contact Info:

Project Planner:

CD No.:

PALU No.:

The project is impacted by the following ONT ALUCP Compatibility Zones: 

Safety Noise Impact Airspace Protection Overflight Notification

Zone 1

Zone 1A

Zone 2

Zone 3

Zone 4

Zone 5

75+ dB CNEL

70 - 75 dB CNEL

65 - 70 dB CNEL

60 - 65 dB CNEL

High Terrain Zone

FAA Notification Surfaces

Avigation Easement 
Dedication
Recorded Overflight 
Notification
Real Estate Transaction
Disclosure

Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3 Zone 4 Zone 5

Airport Planner Signature:

CONSISTENCY DETERMINATION

Proposed Structure Height:

Airspace Avigation 
Easement Area

Allowable 
Height:

Airspace Obstruction 
Surfaces

The project is impacted by the following Chino ALUCP Safety Zones: 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 1

Zone 6

Allowable Height:

PDEV22-027 & PUD22-004

NWC of Euclid Ave and Walnut Street

1051-271-67, 06 & 66

Commercial shopping center with vacant/underutilized buildings

Development Plan to construct 346 multi-family units and 6,000 SF of commercial

10.63

N/A

ONT

The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport (ONT) was evaluated
and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP) for ONT.

✔

Lorena Mejia

909-395-2276

Alexis Vaugn

1/30/2023

2022-051

N/A

55 FT

200 FT+

Item D - 1893 of 1893



Page 1 of 21 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV22-050 

DESCRIPTION: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct one 
industrial building totaling 167,174 square feet on 6.98 acres of land located at 1600 East 
Francis Street, within the General Industrial (IG) zoning district.  APNs: 113-381-03, 113-381-
04, 113-381-05 & 113-381-06); submitted by DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway, LLC. Planning 
Commission action is required.  

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

DPIF3 CA 40 LC AT 60 FREEWAY, LLC, (herein after referred to as "Applicant") has 
filed an application requesting approval of a Development Plan, File No. PDEV22-050, as 
described in the subject of this Decision (herein after referred to as "Application" or 
"Project"). 

PROJECT SETTING: The Project site is comprised of 6.98 acres of land located at 1600 East 
Francis Street, within the IG (General Industrial) zoning district and depicted in Exhibit A: 
Project Location Map, attached. The Project site is comprised of four existing lots, and the 
Applicant has submitted a Lot Line Adjustment application (File No. E202300230) to 
merge the lots into a single lot. The Project site is currently improved with a concrete 
manufacturing business. Adjacent land uses are predominantly characterized by 
industrial, warehouse, and storage facilities, extending in all directions: north, south, east, 
and west. Existing land uses, Policy Plan (general plan) and zoning designations, and 
specific plan land uses on and surrounding the project site are as follows: 

Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Site: Concrete Manufacturing Industrial (IND): 0.55 FAR IG (General Industrial) 

North: Warehouse and Storage Industrial (IND): 0.55 FAR IG (General Industrial) 

South: Warehouse and Storage Industrial (IND): 0.55 FAR IG (General Industrial) 

East: Warehouse and Storage Industrial (IND): 0.55 FAR IG (General Industrial) 

West: Warehouse and Storage Industrial (IND): 0.55 FAR IG (General Industrial) 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

August 7, 2023 

Item E - 1 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 21 

PROJECT ANALYSIS:  
 
(1) Background — On October 27, 2022, the Applicant submitted File No. PDEV22-050, 
a Development Plan to construct a 167,174 square-foot industrial building on the 6.98-
acre Project site. 
 
(2) Site Design/Building Layout — The industrial building is sited north to south, with the 
front of the building facing north along Francis Street and the rear of building facing 
south. The building will have an overall height of 43 feet, below the 55-foot maximum 
height allowed in the IG (General Industrial) zoning district. The building floor plan includes 
6,000 square feet of office space and 161,174 square feet of warehouse space, with a 
floor area ratio ("FAR") of 0.55 (see Exhibit B—Site Plan, attached). The building's main 
entrance is located at the northeast corner of the building along the Francis Street 
frontage. Employee and visitor parking are located along the east side of the building 
and office area. An outdoor employee patio area is proposed at the north and south 
areas of the building’s east elevation. 
 
A yard area designed for tractor-trailer parking, truck maneuvering, loading activities, 
and outdoor staging is proposed along the west side of the building. This area will be 
screened from public view by a combination of landscaping and 14-foot-high tilt-up 
decorative screen walls. The proposed screen walls have been designed to match the 
architecture style (Horizontal and vertical reveal patterns) of the proposed building. 
 
(3) Site Access/Circulation — The Project site will have two points of access by way of 
a 40 and 26-foot-wide driveways off Francis Street. The 40-foot-wide driveway access 
located at the northwest corner of the site will have a gate-controlled system that will 
facilitate truck yard access from Francis Street. The 26-foot driveway, located at the 
northeast corner of the site, will provide convenient internal circulation to accommodate 
standard vehicles, trash trucks, and emergency vehicles. Pursuant to the conditions of 
approval, decorative pavement will be installed at all driveway approaches. This 
decorative treatment will extend from the rear of the driveway apron to the point where 
it intersects with the first drive aisle or parking space. 
 
(4) Parking — The Project has provided off-street parking pursuant to the Warehouse 
and Distribution parking standards specified in the Development Code. The number of 
off-street parking spaces provided meets the minimum parking requirement for the 
Project. The off-street parking calculations for the Project are summarized in the table 
below: 
 
 
 
 
 

Item E - 2 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 21 

Parking Summary 

Type of Use Building 
Area (in SF) Parking Ratio Spaces 

Required 
Spaces 

Provided 

Warehouse/ Distribution 161,174 

One space per 1,000 SF 
(0.001/SF) for portion of GFA 
<20,000 SF, plus 0.5 space per 
1,000 SF (0.0005/SF) for GFA > 
20,000 SF; and 
• One tractor-trailer parking 

space per 4 dock-high 
loading doors: 

• 20 dock-high loading doors 
proposed. 

• 5 tractor-trailer parking 
spaces are provided 

94 94 

Office 6,000 

4 spaces per 1,000 SF (0.004/SF) 
of GFA (parking required when 
"general business offices" and 
other associated uses, exceed 
10 percent of the building GFA 
(16,117 SF of office allowed 
unless additional parking is 
provided) 

0 0 

TOTAL 167,174  94 94 

 
(5) Architecture — The Applicant is proposing a concrete tilt-up industrial building 
incorporating a contemporary industrial architectural style that will feature smooth finish 
concrete surface, formliner concrete, metal panels, inset reveals, storefront windows, 
anodized clear aluminum mullions, and steel canopies (see Exhibit C—Proposed 
Elevations, attached). The Project illustrates the type of high-quality architecture 
promoted by the Development Code, which is exemplified through the use of: 
 
 Articulation in the building footprint, integrating a combination of recessed and 

popped-out metal canopies, vertical and horizontal reveals patterns; 
 Articulation in the building parapet/roofline, accentuating the building's entries 

and breaking up large expanses of building wall; 
 A mix of exterior materials, finishes, and fixtures; 
 Incorporation of base and top treatments defined by changes in color and 

recessed wall areas; and 
 Ensuring consistency in massing, proportion, colors, and architectural detailing 

across all four building elevations. 
 
(6) Landscaping — The Project provides landscaping along Francis Street and around 
the Project perimeter. The Development Code requires a minimum of 10 percent 
landscape coverage, which the Project exceeds at 10.6 percent. The Landscape Plan 
incorporates a combination of tree species such as Toyon, Chinese Flame Tree, Afghan 

Item E - 3 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 21 

Pine, Chinese Pistache, California Sycamore, Coast Live Oak, and Brisbane Box. A variety 
of shrubs and groundcovers are also being provided, which are low water usage and 
drought-tolerant (see Exhibit D—Landscape Plan, attached). 
 
(7) Signage — All project signage is required to comply with sign regulations provided 
in Ontario Development Code Division 8.1. Prior to the issuance of a Building Permit for 
the installation of any new on-site signage, the Applicant is required to submit Sign Plans 
for Planning Department review and approval. 
 
(8) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — Public utilities (water and sewer) are available to serve 
the Project. Furthermore, the Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water Quality 
Management Plan ("PWQMP"), which establishes the Project's compliance with storm 
water discharge/water quality requirements. The PWQMP includes site design measures 
that capture runoff and pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces and 
maximizes low impact development ("LID") best management practices ("BMPs"), such 
as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP proposes 
the use of retention chamber systems. Any overflow drainage will be conveyed to the 
public street by way of parkway drains and culverts. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: Public notification is not required, as the Development Advisory 
Board is acting in its capacity as an advisory body to the Planning Commission. Public 
notification is required prior to the Planning Commission hearing on the Project. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: As of the preparation of this Decision, Planning Department staff has 
not received any written or verbal communications from the owners of properties 
surrounding the project site or from the public in general, regarding the subject 
application. 
 
AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 
preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are included 
with this Decision. 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 
that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the recommending body for the Project, the Development Advisory 

Item E - 4 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 21 

Board has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with 
the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within 
the ONT ALUCP. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN: The proposed Project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan ("TOP"). More 
specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed Project are 
as follows: 
 
(1) City Council Goals. 
 

 Invest in the Growth and Evolution of the City's Economy 
 Operate in a Businesslike Manner 
 Invest in the City's Infrastructure (Water, Streets, Sewers, Parks, Storm Drains 

and Public Facilities) 
 
(2) Vision. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 
 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

 
(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 
 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 
 

Land Use Element: 
 

Item E - 5 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 21 

 Goal LU-1 Balance: A community that has a spectrum of housing types and 
price ranges that match the jobs in the City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 
 

 LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth in strategic locations that 
help create place and identity, maximize available and planned infrastructure, foster the 
development of transit, and support the expansion of the active and multimodal 
transportation networks throughout the City. 
 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 
residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

 Goal LU-2 Compatibility: Compatibility between a wide range of uses and a 
resultant urban patterns and forms. 
 

 LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We require infrastructure to be 
aesthetically pleasing and in context with the community character. 
 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-1 Complete Community: A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life. 
 

 Goal CE-2 Placemaking: A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, corridors, 
and centers where people choose to be. 
 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

Item E - 6 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 21 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards: Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 
 

Community Design Element: 
 

 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity: A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the City being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

 CD-1.3 Existing Neighborhoods. We require the existing character of viable 
residential and non-residential neighborhoods be preserved, protected, and enhanced. 
 

 Goal CD-2 Design Quality: A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 
design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 
 

 CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible space design into new and 
existing developments to ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on pathways, 
corridors, and open space and at building entrances and parking areas by avoiding 

Item E - 7 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 21 

physically and visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and accessibility, and using 
lighting. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

 CD-2.10 Parking Areas. We require all development, including single-family 
residential, to minimize the visual impact of surface, structured, and garage parking areas 
visible from the public realm in an aesthetically pleasing, safe and environmentally 
sensitive manner. Examples include: 
 

• Surface parking: Shade trees, pervious surfaces, urban run-off capture 
and infiltration, and pedestrian paths to guide users through the parking field; 

• Structured parking: facade articulation, screening, appropriate lighting, 
and landscaping; and 

• Garage parking: providing access to single-family residential garages 
through alley access, recessing garages from the frontage to emphasize front doors or 
active living spaces. 
 

 CD-2.11 Entry Statements. We encourage the inclusion of amenities, 
signage, and landscaping at the entry to neighborhoods, commercial centers, mixed 
use areas, industrial developments, and public places that reinforce them as uniquely 
identifiable places. 
 

 CD-2.12 Site and Building Signage. We encourage the use of sign programs 
that utilize complementary materials, colors, and themes. Project signage should be 
designed to effectively communicate and direct users to various aspects of the 
development and complement the character of the structures. 
 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 
 

 CD-3.3 Complete and Connected Network. We require that pedestrian, 
vehicular, and bicycle circulation on both public and private property be coordinated 
to provide connections internally and externally to adjacent neighborhoods and 
properties (existing and planned) through a system of local roads and trails that promote 
walking and biking to nearby destinations (including existing and planned parks, 
commercial areas, and transit stops) and are designed to maximize safety, comfort, and 
aesthetics. 
 

 CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. We require appropriate 
building and site design that complements existing development, respects the intent and 
identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate transitions and connections 

Item E - 8 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 9 of 21 

between adjacent uses to ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate level 
of privacy for each use, and minimize potential conflicts. 
 

 CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively pedestrian streetscapes by 
requiring primary building, business, and residential entrances, outdoor dining, and 
storefronts be located on ground floors adjacent to sidewalks or public spaces and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, aesthetics, and the intended functionality (as 
defined by the Place Type). 
 

 CD-3.6 Managed Infrastructure. We collaborate with developers and 
property owners to facilitate development that realizes the envisioned character and 
functionality of the Place Type through the use of green and shared infrastructure within 
each Place Type. 
 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 
 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The project is consistent with the Housing Element of 
the Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the project site is not 
one of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 
(Housing Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 
 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA") and an initial study 
has been prepared to determine possible environmental impacts; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Ontario Plan 2050 Supplemental Environmental Impact Report 
(State Clearinghouse No. 2021070364) was certified on August 16, 2022 (hereinafter 
referred to as "Certified EIR"), in which development and use of the Project site was 
discussed; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Director of the City of Ontario prepared and approved for 
attachment to the certified Supplemental Environmental Impact Report, an Addendum 
to the Certified SEIR (hereinafter referred to as "EIR Addendum") in accordance with the 
requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act of 1970, together with State and 

Item E - 9 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 10 of 21 

local guidelines implementing said Act, all as amended to date (collectively referred to 
as "CEQA"); and 
 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of this Project were thoroughly analyzed in 
the EIR Addendum, which concluded that implementation of the Project could result in 
a number of significant effects on the environment that were previously analyzed in the 
Certified EIR, and that the Certified EIR identified mitigation measures that would reduce 
each of those significant effects to a less-than-significant level; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City's "Local Guidelines for the Implementation of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental 
assessment in situations where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately 
analyzed; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and make recommendation on the subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 
and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 
criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 
Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 
procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, as the first action on the Project, on August 7, 2023, the DAB issued a 
Decision recommending the Planning Commission adopt the SEIR Addendum, finding 
that the proposed Project introduces no new significant environmental impacts and 

Item E - 10 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 11 of 21 

applying all previously adopted mitigation measures to the Project, which were 
incorporated by reference; and 
 

WHEREAS, on August 7, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a hearing 
on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 
 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the recommending 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the Addendum, the initial study, and the administrative record for the Project, including 
all written and oral evidence provided during the comment period. Based upon the facts 
and information contained in the Addendum, the initial study, and the administrative 
record, including all written and oral evidence presented to the DAB, the DAB finds as 
follows: 
 
(1) The environmental impacts of the Project were reviewed in conjunction with an 
Addendum to Ontario Plan 2050 Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (State 
Clearinghouse No. 2021070364), certified by the Ontario City Council on August 16, 2022; 
and 
 
(2) The EIR Addendum and administrative record have been completed in 
compliance with CEQA, the State CEQA Guidelines, and the City of Ontario Local CEQA 
Guidelines; and 
 
(3) The City's "Guidelines for the Implementation of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental assessment in situations 
where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately analyzed. This Application 
introduces no new significant environmental impacts; and 
 
(4) All previously adopted mitigation measures shall be a condition of project 
approval, as they are applicable to the Project, and are incorporated herein by this 
reference; and 
 
(5) The EIR Addendum contains a complete and accurate reporting of the 
environmental impacts associated with the Project, and reflects the independent 
judgment of the Development Advisory Board; and 
 
(6) There is no substantial evidence in the administrative record supporting a fair 
argument that the Project may result in significant environmental impacts. 

Item E - 11 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 12 of 21 

SECTION 2: Subsequent or Supplemental Environmental Review Not Required. 
Based on the EIR Addendum, all related information presented to the DAB, and the 
specific findings set forth in Section 1, above, the DAB finds that the preparation of a 
subsequent or supplemental Certified EIR is not required for the Project, as the Project: 
 
(1) Does not constitute substantial changes to the Certified EIR that will require major 
revisions to the Certified EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental 
effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; 
and 
 
(2) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 
due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(3) Does not contain new information of substantial importance that was not known 
and could not have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time 
the Certified EIR was certified/adopted, that shows any of the following: 
 

(a) The Project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the 
Certified EIR; or 
 

(b) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe 
than shown in the Certified EIR; or 
 

(c) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible 
would in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
of the Project, but the City declined to adopt such measures; or 
 

(d) Mitigation measures or alternatives considerably different from those 
analyzed in the Certified EIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
on the environment, but which the City declined to adopt. 
 

SECTION 3: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the recommending body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 
properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

SECTION 4: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 

Item E - 12 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 13 of 21 

above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 through 3, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 
 
(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council 
Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within the 
Industrial (IND): 0.55 FAR land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the IG 
(General Industrial) zoning district. The development standards and conditions under 
which the proposed Project will be constructed and maintained, is consistent with the 
goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City 
Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan; and 
 
(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation 
to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint 
identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The 
Project has been designed consistent with the requirements of the City of Ontario 
Development Code and the IG (General Industrial) zoning district, including standards 
relative to the particular land use proposed warehouse and storage, as-well-as building 
intensity, building and parking setbacks, building height, number of off-street parking and 
loading spaces, on-site and off-site landscaping, and fences, walls and obstructions; and 
 
(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary 
to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the 
proposed Project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, 
and imposed certain conditions of approval, which have been established to ensure 
that: [i] the purposes of the Development Code are maintained; [ii] the Project will not 
endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; [iii] the Project will not result in any 
significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will be in harmony with the area in 
which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full conformity with the Vision, City Council 
Priorities and Policy Plan components of The Ontario Plan; and 
 
(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 
design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of the Development Code that are 
applicable to the proposed Project, including building intensity, building and parking 
setbacks, building height, amount of off-street parking and loading spaces, parking lot 
dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle parking, on-site landscaping, and fences 
and walls, as-well-as those development standards and guidelines specifically related to 
the particular land use being proposed warehouse and storage. As a result of this review, 
the Development Advisory Board has determined that the Project, when implemented 
in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the development 
standards and guidelines described in the Development Code. 
 

Item E - 13 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 14 of 21 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 4, above, the DAB hereby recommends the 
Planning Commission APPROVES the Application subject to each and every condition set 
forth in the Conditions of Approval included as Attachment B of this Decision, and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, 
action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to 
attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the 
applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall 
cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 
 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
 

  

Item E - 14 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 15 of 21 

Exhibit A: PROJECT LOCATION MAP 
 

 
 

Project Site  

Item E - 15 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 16 of 21 

Exhibit B: SITE PLAN 

  

N 

Item E - 16 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 17 of 21 

Exhibit C:  PROPOSED ELEVATIONS 
 

 
 
 

Item E - 17 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 18 of 21 

 

 

Item E - 18 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 19 of 21 

Exhibit D:  LANDSCAPE PLAN 
 

 

  

Item E - 19 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 20 of 21 

Exhibit E:  Site Photos 
 

 
Looking Southeast   

 

 
Looking Southwest   

Item E - 20 of 2173



Development Advisory Decision 
File No. PDEV22-050 
August 7, 2023 
 

Page 21 of 21 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A: ADDENDUM  
 

(Addendum follow this page) 
 

Item E - 21 of 2173



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

ADDENDUM TO THE ONTARIO PLAN 
2050 FINAL SUPPLEMENTAL 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT  
SCH No. 2021070364   

 
 

FOR THE  
1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET 
REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

 

Lead Agency: 
City of Ontario 

303 E B St  
Ontario, CA 91764 

 
Project Applicant: 

DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway, LLC 
530 Technology Drive, Suite 100 

Irvine, CA 92614 
 
  

CEQA Consultant: 

 
3333 Michelson Dr., Suite 500 

Irvine, CA 92612 
 

 
July 2023 

Item E - 22 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

2 

This page left intentionally blank. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Item E - 23 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

3 

Contents 

1 INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................. 5 
1.2 PURPOSE AND SCOPE .................................................................................................................................. 5 
2.2 ENVIRONMENTAL PROCEDURES ................................................................................................................. 6 
2.3 PREVIOUS ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTATION ................................................................................... 7 

2 ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING ........................................................................................................... 9 
2.1 PROJECT LOCATION ..................................................................................................................................... 9 
2.2 PREVIOUS ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTATION ................................................................................... 9 
2.3 EXISTING PROJECT SITE ................................................................................................................................ 9 
2.4 EXISTING LAND USES AND ZONING DESIGNATION OF THE PROJECT SITE ..................................... 9 
2.5 SURROUNDING TOP 2050 AND ZONING DESIGNATIONS ................................................................. 9 

3 PROJECT DESCRIPTION ................................................................................................................ 20 
3.1 PROJECT OVERVIEW .................................................................................................................................. 20 
3.2 PROJECT FEATURES ..................................................................................................................................... 20 
3.3 CONSTRUCTION AND PHASING ............................................................................................................. 21 
3.4 OPERATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS ........................................................................................................... 21 
3.5 DISCRETIONARY APPROVALS, PERMITS, AND STUDIES ...................................................................... 21 

4 ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST ...................................................................................................... 28 
4.1 BACKGROUND ............................................................................................................................................ 28 
4.2 ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS POTENTIALLY AFFECTED ........................................................................ 29 
4.3 DETERMINATION: ........................................................................................................................................ 29 
4.4 EVALUATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS ...................................................................................... 30 
4.5 TERMINOLOGY USED IN THE CHECKLIST ............................................................................................... 31 

5 ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS ....................................................................................................... 32 
5.1 AESTHETICS........................................................................................................................................................... 32 
5.2 AGRICULTURE AND FOREST RESOURCES ...................................................................................................... 37 
5.3 AIR QUALITY ......................................................................................................................................................... 41 
5.4 BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES ................................................................................................................................. 54 
5.5 CULTURAL RESOURCES ...................................................................................................................................... 60 
5.6 ENERGY ................................................................................................................................................................. 65 
5.7 GEOLOGY AND SOILS ...................................................................................................................................... 70 
5.8 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS ...................................................................................................................... 78 
5.9 HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS ...................................................................................................... 89 
5.10 HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY ........................................................................................................... 97 
5.11 LAND USE AND PLANNING .......................................................................................................................... 105 
5.12 MINERAL RESOURCES .................................................................................................................................... 115 
5.13 NOISE ................................................................................................................................................................ 117 
5.14 POPULATION AND HOUSING ..................................................................................................................... 126 
5.15 PUBLIC SERVICES............................................................................................................................................. 129 
5.16 RECREATION .................................................................................................................................................... 133 
5.17 TRANSPORTATION ......................................................................................................................................... 135 
5.18 TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES ..................................................................................................................... 142 
5.19 UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS ................................................................................................................ 148 
5.20 WILDFIRE .......................................................................................................................................................... 155 
5.21 MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE ............................................................................................ 159 

6 DOCUMENT PREPARERS AND CONTRIBUTORS .............................................................................. 162 

7 REFERENCES .................................................................................................................................... 163 
 

Item E - 24 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

4 

Tables 
TABLE 1: SURROUNDING EXISTING LAND USE AND ZONING DESIGNATIONS ........................................................................................... 10 
TABLE AES-1: CONSISTENCY WITH IG DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS ......................................................................................................... 34 
TABLE AQ-1: MAXIMUM DAILY REGIONAL CONSTRUCTION EMISSIONS .................................................................................................. 45 
TABLE AQ-2: PROJECT CONSTRUCTION EMISSIONS ................................................................................................................................ 46 
TABLE AQ-3: EXISTING USE AND PROPOSED PROJECT OPERATIONAL EMISSION .................................................................................... 47 
TABLE AQ-4: LOCALIZED SIGNIFICANCE THRESHOLDS .............................................................................................................................. 48 
TABLE AQ-5: LOCALIZED CONSTRUCTION EMISSION ESTIMATES (LBS/DAY) ............................................................................................ 49 
TABLE AQ-6: LOCALIZED OPERATIONAL EMISSION ESTIMATES (LBS/DAY) ............................................................................................... 49 
TABLE E-1: ENERGY CONSUMPTION ESTIMATES DURING PROJECT CONSTRUCTION ................................................................................ 66 
TABLE E-2: ENERGY CONSUMPTION ESTIMATES DURING PROJECT OPERATION ....................................................................................... 67 
TABLE GHG-1: PROJECT OPERATIONAL GHG EMISSIONS ..................................................................................................................... 80 
TABLE GHG-2: PROJECT SELECTED GHG PERFORMANCE STANDARDS ................................................................................................... 82 
TABLE GHG-3: PROJECT CONSISTENCY WITH 2022 CARB SCOPING PLAN ......................................................................................... 83 
TABLE GHG-4: PROJECT CONSISTENCY WITH CONNECT SOCAL ........................................................................................................... 86 
TABLE LU-1: PROJECT CONSISTENCY WITH POLICY PLAN ...................................................................................................................... 106 
TABLE LU-2: RTP/SCS CONSISTENCY ................................................................................................................................................... 113 
TABLE N-1: EXISTING AMBIENT NOISE MEASUREMENTS .......................................................................................................................... 119 
TABLE N-2: MUNICIPAL CODE EXTERIOR NOISE STANDARDS.................................................................................................................. 119 
TABLE N-3: FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION DAYTIME CONSTRUCTION NOISE CRITERIA .................................................................. 120 
TABLE N-4: CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT NOISE EMISSIONS AND USAGE FACTORS .............................................................................. 121 
TABLE N-5: CONSTRUCTION NOISE LEVELS AT NEAREST SENSITIVE RECEPTORS ..................................................................................... 122 
TABLE N-6: OPERATIONAL NOISE LEVELS AT NEARBY SENSITIVE RECEPTORS .......................................................................................... 122 
TABLE N-7: VIBRATION SOURCE AMPLITUDES FOR CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT .................................................................................... 123 
TABLE T-1: TRIP GENERATION COMPARISON .......................................................................................................................................... 138 
TABLE UT-1: WATER SUPPLY AND DEMAND COMPARISON .................................................................................................................... 151 
 

Figures 
FIGURE 2-1: REGIONAL LOCATION ........................................................................................................................................................... 12 
FIGURE 2-2: LOCAL VICINITY .................................................................................................................................................................... 14 
FIGURE 2-3: AERIAL VIEW ........................................................................................................................................................................ 16 
FIGURE 2-4: SITE PHOTOS ........................................................................................................................................................................ 18 
FIGURE 3-1: SITE PLAN ............................................................................................................................................................................. 23 
FIGURE 3-2: ELEVATIONS .......................................................................................................................................................................... 25 
FIGURE 3-3: LANDSCAPE PLAN ................................................................................................................................................................. 27 

Appendix 
Appendix A.  Air Quality, Energy and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis 
Appendix B.  Cultural Resources Assessment 
Appendix C. Geotechnical Investigation 
Appendix D. Paleontological Resources Assessment 
Appendix E.  Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 
Appendix F.  Limited Phase II Environmental Site Assessment 
Appendix G. Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan 
Appendix H. Preliminary Hydrology Study 
Appendix I. Noise and Vibration Analysis 
Appendix J. Vehicle Miles Traveled Assessment 
  

Item E - 25 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

5 

1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.2 PURPOSE AND SCOPE 
 
This document is an Addendum to The Ontario Plan (TOP) 2050 Final Supplemental Environmental Impact 
Report (SEIR) (State Clearinghouse No. 2021070364) (TOP 2050 SEIR) certified by the City of Ontario 
(City) in August 2022. TOP 2050 SEIR, in conjunction with this Addendum, serve as the environmental review 
for the proposed 1600 East Francis Street Warehouse Project. The Project proposes development of a 6.98 
gross-acre site, which would include the demolition of existing structures and construction of a new single-
story warehouse building totaling 167,174 square feet (SF) with associated parking, landscape, and site 
improvements to infrastructure (Project, proposed Project). The Project is subject to City approval of a 
Development Plan Review.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed the environmental impacts associated with the implementation of the update to the 
original TOP, adopted in 2010. TOP 2050 SEIR relied on the findings of the 2009 Draft EIR, 2010 
Recirculated Draft EIR, and 2010 Final EIR (State Clearinghouse No. 2008101140). In April 2009, the City 
of Ontario circulated the 2009 Draft EIR for public review. Six environmental categories (Agricultural 
Resources, Air Quality, Cultural Resources, Global Climate Change, Noise, and Traffic and Transportation) 
had significant and unavoidable impacts that could not be alleviated by mitigation. A Recirculated Draft EIR 
for TOP was released in November 2009 to update and provide additional analysis concerning GHG 
emissions impacts associated with buildout of the TOP. Only two topics were analyzed in the 2009 
Recirculated Draft EIR: Global Climate Change and Additional Project Alternative: 15 percent GHG 
Reduction Alternative. Remaining topics previously analyzed in the 2009 Draft EIR were determined to be 
adequately addressed. Analysis in the 2009 Recirculated Draft EIR found that significant and unavoidable 
impacts identified in the 2009 Draft EIR would remain significant and unavoidable. These determinations 
were reiterated in the 2010 Final EIR, certified on January 27, 2010. However, since certification of the 
2010 Final EIR, the City adopted a Community Climate Action Plan (CCAP), which reduced GHG impacts to 
less than significant with mitigation, as identified in the TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed the Project site as having a land use designation of Industrial (IND) and a zoning 
designation of General Industrial (IG). The IND land use designation provides for a variety of light industrial 
uses, including warehouse/distribution, assembly, light manufacturing, research and development, storage, 
repair facilities, and supporting research and professional office uses developed at a maximum floor area 
ratio (FAR) of 0.55. The IG zoning designation allows for development of general industrial uses at a FAR 
of 0.55. As such, TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed the future development of industrial land uses, which included the 
Project site. Assumptions applied within the TOP 2050 SEIR would translate to the assumption that the 6.98-
acre Project site could be developed with up to 167,227 SF of general industrial uses (approved Project, 
previously approved Project). 
 
Although the site is partially developed for manufacturing, distributing, and wholesaling of building 
materials, development within the Project site is still subject to policies in TOP 2050 SEIR and mitigation 
measures identified in TOP 2050 SEIR, as well as the development regulations in the City’s Municipal Code. 
The TOP 2050 SEIR assumes a FAR of 0.55, which would result in the anticipated future buildout of the site 
with approximately 167,227 SF of general industrial uses. Given that the proposed Project falls within the 
types of Project actions contemplated in the TOP 2050 SEIR, pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 
21167.2, TOP 2050 SEIR must be conclusively presumed to be valid with regard to its use for later activities 
unless any of the circumstances requiring supplemental review exist.1  
 

 
1 See Pub. Resources Code, § 21167.2; Laurel Heights Improvement Ass’n v. Regents of the University of California (1993) 6 Cal.4th 

1112, 1130 (“[a]fter certification, the interests of finality are favored”); Santa Teresa Citizen Action Group v. City of San Jose 
(2003) 114 Cal. App. 4th 689, 705-706.) 

Item E - 26 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

6 

This environmental checklist provides the basis for an Addendum to the previously certified TOP 2050 SEIR 
and serves as the appropriate level of environmental review of the proposed Project, as required pursuant 
to the provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Public Resources Code Section 21000 
et seq.) and the State CEQA Guidelines. This checklist confirms that the Project is within the scope of the 
project analyzed in TOP 2050 SEIR, as provided in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15168, and the 
Addendum augments the analysis in TOP 2050 SEIR as provided in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 
and 15164 and provides the basis for the City’s determination that no supplemental or subsequent EIR is 
required to evaluate the proposed Project. Environmental analysis and mitigation measures from TOP 2050 
SEIR have been incorporated into this Addendum, and applicability of each has been described. In cases 
where mitigation measures from TOP 2050 SEIR have been revised or satisfied by studies prepared for the 
Addendum, it is noted. 
 
Pursuant to the provisions of CEQA and the State CEQA Guidelines, the City, as the Lead Agency, is charged 
with the responsibility of deciding whether to approve the proposed Project. As part of the decision-making 
process, the City is required to review and consider the potential environmental effects that could result from 
construction and operation of the proposed Project. The analysis in this document discusses the impacts 
identified within TOP 2050 SEIR for buildout of the site with 167,227 SF of general industrial uses and 
compares them with the impacts that would result from implementation of the proposed Project’s warehouse 
building totaling 161,174 SF. 
 
Existing Regulatory Requirements (RRs)   
Throughout the analysis of this document, reference is made to requirements that are applied to all 
development on the basis of federal, state, or local law. Existing Regulatory Requirements are collectively 
identified in this document as RRs. Where applicable, RRs are listed to show their effect in reducing potential 
environmental impacts. Additionally, applicable Mitigation Measures from TOP 2050 SEIR are included 
herein and will be incorporated into the Project. As shown throughout the analysis, the Project does not result 
in any new impacts and no additional mitigation measures are required. All references to mitigation measures 
relate only to those from TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
2.2 ENVIRONMENTAL PROCEDURES 
 
Pursuant to CEQA and the State CEQA Guidelines, the City’s review of the Checklist and Addendum will 
determine if approval of the requested discretionary actions and subsequent development could cause a 
change in the conclusions of the certified EIR and disclose any change in circumstances or new information of 
substantial importance that would substantially change the conclusions of TOP 2050 SEIR. This environmental 
Checklist and Addendum provide the City with information to document potential impacts of the proposed 
Project. 
 
Pursuant to Section 21166 of the Public Resources Code and Section 15162 of the State CEQA Guidelines, 
when an EIR has been certified or a negative declaration adopted for a project, no subsequent EIR shall be 
prepared for the project unless the lead agency determines, on the basis of substantial evidence, that one 
or more of the following conditions are met: 

Substantial changes are proposed in the project which will require major revisions of the previous EIR due to 
the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously 
identified significant effects; 

Substantial changes occur with respect to the circumstances under which the project is undertaken which will 
require major revisions of the previous EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or 
a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; or 

New information of substantial importance, which was not known and could not have been known with the 
exercise of reasonable diligence at the time the previous EIR was certified as complete, shows any of the 
following: 

Item E - 27 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

7 

• The project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the previous EIR or negative 
declaration. 

• Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe than identified in the previous 
EIR. 

• Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible would in fact be feasible and 
would substantially reduce one or more significant effects of the project, but the project proponent 
declines to adopt the mitigation measures or alternatives. 

• Mitigation measures or alternatives that are considerably different from those analyzed in the previous 
EIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects on the environment, but the project 
proponent declines to adopt the mitigation measures or alternatives.  

Section 15164 of the State CEQA Guidelines states that an Addendum to an EIR shall be prepared “if some 
changes or additions are necessary, but none of the conditions described in Section 15162 calling for 
preparation of a subsequent EIR have occurred.” Section 15168 of the State CEQA Guidelines states that 
where the later activities involve site specific operations, the agency should use a written Checklist to 
document the evaluation of the site and the activity to determine whether the environmental effects of the 
operation were within the scope of the program EIR. Under Section 15168, where if the agency finds that 
pursuant to Section 15162, no subsequent EIR would be required, the agency can approve the activity as 
being within the scope of the project covered by the program EIR, and no new environmental document is 
required.  
 
In reviewing this Addendum, the question before City decision-makers is not whether TOP 2050 SEIR complies 
with CEQA, but only whether one of the events triggering the need for subsequent environmental review has 
occurred. (A Local & Regional Monitor v. City of Los Angeles (1993) 12 Cal.App.4th 1773; Committee for 
Green Foothills v. Santa Clara County Board of Supervisors (2010) 48 Cal.4th 32.) 
 
This Addendum and the technical studies in support of the analysis evaluates the proposed Project and any 
significant changes to the existing conditions that have occurred since TOP 2050 SEIR was certified. It also 
evaluates any new information of substantial importance that was not known and could not have been known 
with exercise of reasonable diligence at the time that TOP 2050 SEIR was certified. It further examines 
whether, as a result of any changes or any new information, a subsequent EIR may be required. This 
examination includes an analysis of the provisions of Section 21166 of the Public Resources Code and Section 
15162 of the State CEQA Guidelines and their applicability to the proposed Project. This Addendum relies 
on use of the environmental analysis provided herein, which addresses environmental issues on a section-by-
section basis and provides a comparison to the findings in TOP 2050 SEIR.  
 
On the basis of the findings of the certified TOP 2050 SEIR and the provisions of the State CEQA Guidelines, 
the City as the Lead Agency determined that, as documented in this Addendum to the previously certified 
TOP 2050 SEIR, no supplemental or subsequent EIR is required to review the proposed Project.  
 
2.3 PREVIOUS ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTATION 
 
As mandated by CEQA, this Addendum relies on the environmental analysis in TOP 2050 SEIR. A summary 
of the previous environmental documentation and how it relates to the proposed 1600 East Francis Street 
Warehouse Project (proposed Project) is provided below.  
 
TOP 2050 was approved by the City of Ontario in 2022 and serves as an update to TOP 2010 to guide 
the City’s development and conservation for the next 30 years through 2050. TOP 2050 SEIR evaluated the 
buildout of the Project site pursuant to proposed City of Ontario land use and zoning designations. The 
proposed Project site has a TOP 2050 land use designation of IND and a zoning designation of IG. The IG 
zoning designation allows for development of a wide range of manufacturing and assembly activities, 

Item E - 28 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

8 

storage and warehousing activities, and other similar uses developed at a maximum intensity FAR of 0.55. 
TOP 2050 SEIR assumed development of a maximum intensity FAR of 0.55 and approximately 167,227 SF 
of general industrial uses could occur on the 6.98-acre Project site. TOP 2050 SEIR identified that TOP 2050 
would have significant and unavoidable environmental effects related to air quality, cultural resources, noise, 
and transportation. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR also identified seven environmental impact areas for which mitigation measures were 
required to reduce potential environmental impacts to a less than significant level: air quality, cultural 
resources, paleontological resources, greenhouse gas emissions, noise, transportation, and tribal cultural 
resources. 
 
This Addendum incorporates by reference TOP 2050 SEIR and the technical documents that relate to the 
Project or provide additional information concerning the environmental setting of the Project. The information 
within this Addendum is based on the following technical studies and/or planning documents: 

• The Ontario Plan 2050 Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Report State Clearinghouse No. 
2021070364 

• City of Ontario Development Code (https://www.ontarioca.gov/Planning/Applications) 

• City of Ontario Municipal Code 
(https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/ontarioca/latest/ontario_ca/0-0-0-35678) 

• The Ontario Plan (https://www.ontarioca.gov/OntarioPlan) 

• Technical studies, personal communications, and web sites listed in Section 7, References 

• In addition to the websites listed above, all documents are available for review at the City of Ontario 
Planning Department, located at 303 East B Street, Ontario, CA 91764. 

  

Item E - 29 of 2173

https://www.ontarioca.gov/Planning/Applications


  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

9 

2 ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING 
 
2.1 PROJECT LOCATION 
 
The proposed Project is located at 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA 91761. Regional access to the 
Project site is provided by Interstate 10 (I-10), Interstate 15 (I-15), State Route 60 (SR-60) and State Route 
83 (SR-83). Local access to the Project site is provided via East Francis Street. Specifically, the Project site is 
located within Section 33, Township 1 South, Range 7 West, of the Ontario United States Geological Survey 
(USGS) 7.5-minute topographic quadrangle. The existing site and surrounding area are shown in Figure 2-
1, Regional Location, and Figure 2-2, Local Vicinity. 
 
2.2 PREVIOUS ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTATION 
The Project site was previously analyzed in The Ontario Plan (TOP) 2050 Final Supplemental Environmental 
Impact Report (SEIR) (State Clearinghouse No. 2021070364) (TOP 2050 SEIR) certified by the City of 
Ontario (City) in August 2022. TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed the environmental impacts associated with the 
implementation of the update to The Ontario Plan (TOP), adopted in 2010.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed the Project site as having a land use designation of IND and a zoning designation 
of IG. The IG zoning designation allows for development of general industrial uses at a floor area ratio 
(FAR) of 0.55. As such, TOP 2050 SEIR assumed the 6.98-acre Project site could be developed with up to 
167,227 SF of general industrial uses (previous Project, previously approved Project). 
 
2.3 EXISTING PROJECT SITE  
 
The Project site encompasses four parcels totaling approximately 6.98 acres identified as Assessor’s Parcel 
Numbers (APNs) 0113-381-03, -04, -05, and -06. The site is currently developed with industrial land use 
and is occupied by Western States Wholesale, which is a manufacturer, distributor, and wholesaler of 
building materials. The western portion of the site functions as a storage yard, while the eastern portion 
contains one large storage building and six additional structures (cement mixing plant, office, and former 
concrete batch plant) all totaling approximately 29,400 SF. The site is currently accessible from three 
driveways along Francis Street. The Project site’s existing conditions are shown in Figure 2-3, Aerial View 
and Figure 2-4, Site Photos. 
 
2.4 EXISTING LAND USES AND ZONING DESIGNATION OF THE PROJECT SITE  
 
The Project site has a TOP 2050 land use designation of IND and is zoned as IG. The IND land use 
designation accommodates a variety of light industrial uses, including warehousing/distribution, assembly, 
light manufacturing, research and development, storage, repair facilities, and supporting retail and 
professional office uses developed at a maximum FAR of 0.55. The IG zone is intended to allow for a wide 
range of manufacturing and assembly activities, storage and warehousing activities, and other similar uses 
developed at a maximum FAR of 0.55.  
 
2.5 SURROUNDING TOP 2050 AND ZONING DESIGNATIONS 
 
The Project site is located within a predominately developed area. The surrounding land uses are described 
in Table 1. 
 
  

Item E - 30 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

10 

Table 1: Surrounding Existing Land Use and Zoning Designations 

 Existing Land Use TOP 2050 Designation Zoning Designation 

North East Francis Street followed by 
warehousing uses Industrial (IND) General Industrial (IG) 

West Ontario Business Park Industrial (IND) General Industrial (IG) 

South Computer hardware manufacturer 
and metal fabricator Industrial (IND) General Industrial (IG) 

East Francis Business Park  Industrial (IND) General Industrial (IG) 
 
 
  

Item E - 31 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

11 

This page intentionally left blank. 
  

Item E - 32 of 2173



1600 E Francis Street
City of Ontario

Regional Location

Figure 2-1

Item E - 33 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

13 

This page intentionally left blank. 

Item E - 34 of 2173



1600 E Francis Street
City of Ontario

Local Vicinity

Figure 2-2

Item E - 35 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

15 

This page intentionally left blank. 
  

Item E - 36 of 2173



1600 E Francis Street
City of Ontario

Aerial View

Figure 2-3

Item E - 37 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

17 

This page intentionally left blank. 
  

Item E - 38 of 2173



1600 E Francis Street
City of Ontario

View of the northwest driveway on Francis St.

Northeast driveway on Francis St.

Site Photos

Figure 2-4

Item E - 39 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

19 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 
  

Item E - 40 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

20 

3 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

3.1 PROJECT OVERVIEW 
 
The Project proposes to merge the four parcels and demolish the existing buildings/structures, surface 
parking, and related infrastructure and to redevelop the site with a new single-story warehouse building 
totaling 167,174 SF. Additional improvements would include landscaping, utility connections, implementation 
of stormwater facilities, and pavement of parking areas and driveways. 
 
3.2 PROJECT FEATURES 
 
Building Summary and Architecture 
 
The proposed warehouse building would be single-story and approximately 42 feet tall. The warehouse 
building would include approximately 161,174 SF of warehouse space and 6,000 SF of ground floor office 
space. The proposed building would result in a FAR of 0.55. Figure 3-1, Conceptual Site Plan, illustrates the 
proposed site plan. 
 
As shown in Figure 3-2, Elevations, the proposed Project would establish an architectural presence through 
emphasis on building finish materials and consistent material usage and color scheme. The proposed building 
would be gray and white. Cutouts and decorative window facades would be implemented to create a 
variety in scale and texture. The building would be set back from East Francis Street and landscaping would 
be provided along the perimeter of the warehouse and along the perimeter of the property. The building 
layout and use of landscaping, finish materials, and accents on the Project site would create a quality 
architectural presence along East Francis Street. 
 
Parking and Loading Dock Summary 
 
The Project would include 20 loading dock doors and five trailer parking stalls along the west side of the 
building. Additionally, the Project would provide 94 vehicle parking stalls inclusive of four accessible stalls, 
two accessible electric vehicle charging stations, two standard electric vehicle charging stations, and 14 
electric vehicle spaces located on the east side of the building.  
 
Landscaping and Fencing  
 
The proposed Project includes approximately 32,137 SF of ornamental landscaping that would cover 
approximately 10.6 percent of the site, as shown in Figure 3-3, Landscape Plan. Proposed landscaping would 
include 24-inch and 36-inch box trees, various shrubs, and ground covers to screen the proposed building, 
and parking and loading areas from off-site viewpoints. Proposed landscaping extends around the 
perimeter of the warehouse building and in between the parking areas.  
 
The building would include a 14-foot-high concrete screen wall and a 10-foot-high sliding gate at the north 
entrance of the loading dock area. The building would also include 10-foot-high concrete screen walls along 
the west, south, and east perimeters of the site. 
 
Access and Circulation 
 
Access to the proposed Project would be provided via two driveways on East Francis Street. The westernmost 
driveway would be 40-feet-wide and limited to truck access in alignment with the proposed truck court. The 
easternmost driveway would be 26-feet-wide and limited to passenger vehicles in alignment with the 
proposed employee vehicle parking area. The two access driveways would connect to a 26-foot-wide 
internal drive aisle. Trucks would utilize Ontario designated Truck Routes per TOP 2050 SEIR Figure 5.17-1, 

Item E - 41 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

21 

Truck Routes. Access to the truck court and loading dock areas would be controlled through the use of 8-feet-
tall metal gates with knox-box per fire department standards.  
 
Infrastructure Improvements 
 
Water and Sewer Improvements 
 
The Project applicant would install a new 2-inch water line connection to the existing 12-inch diameter water 
line in East Francis Street, as well as install a new 6-inch sewer connection to the existing 30-inch sewer line 
in East Francis Street. 
 
Drainage Improvements 
 
The Project would propose a new storm drain connection and mimic the existing drainage pattern of the site. 
The Project site’s runoff would be collected by various inlets and conveyed to an underground infiltration 
system located underneath the drive aisle in the western portion of the site, which would then discharge to 
the existing storm drain system via proposed storm drain connection. Curbs and gutters would be installed 
around the perimeter of the Project site. 
 
3.3 CONSTRUCTION AND PHASING 
 
Construction activities for the Project would occur over one phase and include demolition, site preparation, 
grading, building construction, paving, and architectural coatings. Grading work of soils is expected to result 
in cut of 24,000 cubic yards (CY) and fill of 19,100 CY of soils for a net export of 4,900 CY of soils. 
Construction is expected to occur over 14 months and would occur within the hours allowable by the City of 
Ontario’s Municipal Code Section 5-29.09 Construction activity noise regulations, which states that 
construction shall occur only between the hours of 7:00 AM and 6:00 PM from Monday through Friday and 
between the hours of 9:00 AM and 6:00 PM on Saturdays and Sundays. 
 
3.4 OPERATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS 
 
The Project would be operated as a dry storage warehouse. No cold storage is proposed. Typical 
operational characteristics include employees traveling to and from the site, delivery of materials and 
supplies to the site, and truck loading and unloading. Operation is assumed to be 24 hours a day, 7 days a 
week.  
 
3.5 DISCRETIONARY APPROVALS, PERMITS, AND STUDIES 
  
The following discretionary approval, permits, and studies are anticipated to be necessary for 
implementation of the proposed Project:  
 
City of Ontario 

• Development Plan Review 
• Lot Merger 

  

Item E - 42 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

22 

 
This page intentionally left blank. 
  

Item E - 43 of 2173



1600 E Francis Street
City of Ontario

Conceptual Site Plan

Figure 3-1

Item E - 44 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

24 

This page intentionally left blank. 
  

Item E - 45 of 2173



Elevations

1600 E Francis Street
C

ity of O
ntario

Figure 3-2

Item E - 46 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

26 

This page intentionally left blank. 
  

Item E - 47 of 2173



C
onceptual Landscape Plan

1600 E Francis Street
C

ity of O
ntario

Figure 3-3

Item E - 48 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

28 

4 ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST 
 
4.1 BACKGROUND 
 

Date: June 2023 
Project Title:  
1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Warehouse Project 
Lead Agency: 
City of Ontario  
303 E B Street, 
Ontario, CA 91764 
Lead Agency Contact:  
Robert Morales, Assistant Planner 
(909) 395-2432 
Rmorales@ontarioca.gov 
Project Location:  
The 6.98 gross-acre site is located within the southeastern portion of the City of Ontario, on four parcels 
at 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario CA 91761 (APNs) 0113-381-03, -04, -05, and -06 
Project Sponsor’s Name and Address: 
DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway, LLC 
530 Technology Drive, Suite 100 
Irvine, CA 92614 
Land Use and Zoning Designation:  
The Project site has a TOP 2050 land use designation of IND and is zoned as IG.  
Project Description:  
The Project proposes to demolish the existing buildings, surface parking, and related infrastructure and 
to redevelop the site with a new single-story warehouse building totaling 167,174 SF. Additional 
improvements would include landscaping, utility connections, implementation of stormwater facilities, and 
pavement of parking areas and driveways. 
Surrounding Land Uses and Setting: 
The Project site is located within a predominately developed area, is developed with a storage yard 
and industrial building, and is surrounded by industrial land uses. 
Other Public Agencies Whose Approval is Required: 
None 

 
 
  

Item E - 49 of 2173

mailto:Rmorales@ontarioca.gov


  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

29 

 
4.2 ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS POTENTIALLY AFFECTED 
 
The subject areas checked below were determined to be new significant environmental effects or to be 
previously identified effects that have a substantial increase in severity either due to a change in project, 
change in circumstances or new information of substantial importance, as indicated by the checklist and 
discussion on the following pages. 
 

 Aesthetics  Agriculture and Forest 
Resources 

 Air Quality 

 Biological Resources  Cultural Resources  Energy 
 Geology/Soils  Greenhouse Gas Emissions  Hazards and Hazardous 

Materials 
 Hydrology/Water Quality  Land Use/Planning  Mineral Resources 
 Noise  Population/Housing  Public Services 
 Recreation  Transportation  Tribal Cultural Resources 
 Utilities/Service Systems  Wildfire  Mandatory Findings of 

Significance 
 
 
4.3 DETERMINATION: 
 
On the basis of this initial evaluation 
 

 No substantial changes are proposed in the project and there are no substantial changes in the 
circumstances under which the project will be undertaken that will require major revisions to the 
previous approved ND or MND or certified EIR due to the involvement of new significant 
environmental effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant 
effects. Also, there is no "new information of substantial importance" as that term is used in CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15162(a)(3). Therefore, the previously adopted ND or MND or previously 
certified EIR adequately discusses the potential impacts of the project without modification. 
 

 The Checklist/Addendum concludes that none of the conditions or circumstances that would require 
preparation of a subsequent or supplemental EIR pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 
21166 and CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 exists in connection with the design of the Project. 
No substantial changes have been proposed to the project described in the Final EIR that require 
major revisions to Final EIR. No new significant environmental effects or substantial increase in the 
severity of previously identified significant environmental effects would occur. The 
Checklist/Addendum also indicates that there have not been any substantial changes with respect 
to the circumstances under which development of the project site, including the project, would be 
undertaken that would require major revisions to the Final EIR. The Checklist/Addendum concludes 
that no substantial changes with respect to circumstances under which the project is undertaken 
have occurred that have not already been accounted for. The Checklist/Addendum also concludes 
that no new information of substantial importance, which was not known and could not have been 
known at the time that the Final EIR was certified, shows that the project would cause or 
substantially worsen significant environmental impacts discussed in the Final EIR, that mitigation 
measures or alternatives found infeasible in the Final EIR would in fact be feasible, or that 
different mitigation measures or alternatives from those analyzed in the Final EIR would 
substantially reduce one or more significant environmental effects found in the Final EIR. 
 

Item E - 50 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

30 

 Substantial changes are proposed in the project or there are substantial changes in the 
circumstances under which the project will be undertaken that will require major revisions to the 
previous ND, MND or EIR due to the involvement of significant new environmental effects or a 
substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects. Or, there is "new 
information of substantial importance," as that term is used in CEQA Guidelines Section 
15162(a)(3). However, all new potentially significant environmental effects or substantial 
increases in the severity of previously identified significant effects are clearly reduced to below 
a level of significance through the incorporation of mitigation measures agreed to by the project 
applicant. Therefore, a Subsequent MND is required. 
 

 Substantial changes are proposed in the project or there are substantial changes in the 
circumstances under which the project will be undertaken that will require major revisions to the 
previous environmental document due to the involvement of significant new environmental effects 
or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects. Or, there is 
"new information of substantial importance," as that term is used in CEQA Guidelines Section 
15162(a)(3). However, only minor changes or additions or changes would be necessary to make 
the previous EIR adequate for the project in the changed situation. Therefore, a Supplemental EIR 
is required. 
 

 Substantial changes are proposed in the project or there are substantial changes in the 
circumstances under which the project will be undertaken that will require major revisions to the 
previous environmental document due to the involvement of significant new environmental effects 
or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects. Or, there is 
"new information of substantial importance," as that term is used in CEQA Guidelines Section 
15162(a)(3) such as one or more significant effects not discussed in the previous EIR. Therefore, 
a SUBSEQUENT EIR is required. 

 
 ___________________________________________________________________________________  

Signature        Date 
 
 ___________________________________________________________________________________  

Printed Name        For 
 
4.4 EVALUATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 
 
The evaluation of environmental impacts in this addendum summarizes conclusions made in TOP 2050 SEIR 
and compares them to the impacts of the proposed 1600 East Francis Street Warehouse Project. Mitigation 
measures referenced are from the Mitigation Monitoring Final adopted as part of TOP 2050 SEIR and are 
described as either being previously implemented, applicable to the proposed Project, or not applicable.  

This comparative analysis has been undertaken pursuant to the provisions of CEQA and the State CEQA 
Guidelines, to provide the factual basis for determining whether the proposed Project, or any new 
information that has come to light that permits or requires the preparation of a subsequent or supplemental 
EIR.  
 
The analysis herein follows the outline and format, and applies the impact thresholds of TOP 2050 SEIR, as 
required by CEQA (Citizens Against Airport Pollution v. City of San Jose (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 788.). As 
discussed previously in Section 1.2 Environmental Procedures, pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 
15162, when an EIR has been previously certified that includes the scope of development of a site or area, 
no subsequent or supplemental EIR shall be prepared for the project unless the lead agency determines that 
one or more of the following three conditions are met: 1) the project would result in new or substantially 
more severe impacts than were disclosed in the previous EIR; 2) changes in the circumstances surrounding the 
project result in new or substantially more severe impacts than were disclosed in the previous EIR; or 3) new 

Item E - 51 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

31 

information has come to light showing that new or substantially more severe impacts than were disclosed in 
the previous EIR will occur. 
 
4.5 TERMINOLOGY USED IN THE CHECKLIST 
 
For each question listed in the Environmental Checklist, a determination of the level of significance of the 
impact is provided. Impacts are categorized in the following categories: 

Substantial Change in Project or Circumstances Resulting in New Significant Effects. A Subsequent EIR is 
required when 1) substantial project changes are proposed or substantial changes to the circumstances under 
which the project is undertaken, and 2) those changes result in new significant environmental effects or a 
substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects, and 3) project changes require 
major revisions of the EIR.2 

New Information Showing Greater Significant Effects than Previous EIR. A Subsequent EIR is required if 
new information of substantial importance, which was not known and could not have been known with the 
exercise of reasonable diligence at the time the EIR was certified, shows 1) the project will have one or more 
significant effects not discussed in the EIR; or 2) significant effects previously examined will be substantially 
more severe than shown in the EIR.3 

New Information Identifying New Mitigation or Alternative to Reduce Significant Effect is Declined. A 
Subsequent EIR is required if new information of substantial importance, which was not known and could not 
have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time the EIR was certified shows 1) 
mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible would in fact be feasible (or new 
mitigation measures or alternatives are considerably different) and would substantially reduce one or more 
significant effects of the project, but the project proponents decline to adopt the mitigation measure or 
alternative.4  

With regard to the foregoing three categories, a Supplement to an EIR can be prepared if the criterion for 
a Subsequent EIR is met, and only minor additions or changes would be necessary to make the EIR adequately 
apply to the proposed Project.5 

Minor Technical Changes or Additions. An Addendum to the EIR is required if only minor technical changes 
or additions are necessary and none of the criteria for a subsequent EIR is met.6 

No Impact. A designation of no impact is given when the proposed Project would have no changes in the 
environment as compared to the original project analyzed in the EIR. 

  

 
2 CEQA Guidelines. California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 3, § 15162, as amended. 
3 CEQA Guidelines. § 15162. 
4 CEQA Guidelines. § 15162. 
5 CEQA Guidelines. § 15163. 
6 CEQA Guidelines. § 15164. 

Item E - 52 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

32 

5 ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS  
This section provides evidence to substantiate the conclusions in the environmental checklist. The section briefly 
summarizes the conclusions of TOP 2050 SEIR, which address development of the area in which the Project 
is located; therefore, the descriptions and conclusions are applicable to the Project site. Following the 
summary of conclusions, is an analysis of the proposed Project’s consistency with the findings contained in 
TOP 2050 SEIR. Mitigation measures referenced herein are from TOP 2050 SEIR. 

 
5.1 AESTHETICS Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project: Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic 
vista? 

     

b) Substantially damage scenic resources, including, 
but not limited to, trees, rock outcroppings, and 
historic buildings within a state scenic highway 

     

c) In nonurbanized areas, substantially degrade the 
existing visual character or quality of public views of 
the site and its surroundings? (Public views are those 
that are experienced from publicly accessible 
vantage point). If the project is in an urbanized area, 
would the project conflict with applicable zoning and 
other regulations governing scenic quality?  

     

d) Create a new source of substantial light or glare 
which would adversely affect day or nighttime views 
in the area? 

     

 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to aesthetics in Section 5.1. TOP 2050 SEIR determined 
implementation of TOP 2050 would not substantially alter scenic vistas in Ontario. While TOP 2050 would 
increase the number of housing units in comparison to TOP 2010, it would not result in significant impacts to 
scenic views in comparison with TOP 2010. Additionally, the scale and design of the City under TOP 2050 
would not deter views of the San Gabriel Mountains (scenic vista). Therefore, impacts would be less than 
significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined that implementation of TOP 2050 would not alter scenic resources within a State 
scenic highway since Ontario does not have any State scenic highways through or in the vicinity of the City.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined implementation of TOP 2050 would not conflict with zoning or other regulations 
governing scenic quality. Future development under TOP 2050 would be required to adhere to the City’s 
Development Code which includes general development requirements for development density, screening 
and setback, signing, landscaping, lighting, height limitations, and other aspects related to the aesthetic of 
the City. TOP 2050 also includes goals and policies to ensure that new development would be compatible 
with the existing community and would be of quality design. Therefore, adherence to the Land Use Element 
and Community Design Element policies described above would reduce visual impacts to a less than 
significant level.   

Item E - 53 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

33 

 
TOP 2050 SEIR also determined that buildout of the TOP 2050 would generate additional light and glare, 
which would be minimized through adherence to the City of Ontario Development Code which contains 
standards addressing lighting through its design policies. Adherence to the City’s Development Code 
standards would be verified by the City during the project review process. Therefore, adherence to the 
design standards of the City of Ontario Development Code would ensure that light and glare from new 
developments would be minimized to a less than significant level.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures 

None. 
 

a) Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista? 
 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts related to scenic vistas would be less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR notes that visual resources within Ontario include views of the San Bernardino and San 
Gabriel Mountains and stretches of open space and undeveloped land south of Riverside Drive.  
 
The Project site is currently developed and occupied by Western States Wholesale, a manufacturer, 
distributor, and wholesaler of building materials. The proposed Project would demolish the existing building 
and associated parking/storage lot to develop one new warehouse building totaling 167,174 SF and 
measuring a maximum of 42 feet in height. 
 
Due to surrounding industrial development, distant views of the surrounding foothills of the San Bernardino 
Mountains are not available from public vantage points on East Francis Street or from the Project site. The 
new warehouse would be set back approximately 20 feet from East Francis Street. Additionally, as discussed 
further under threshold c), the Project would be consistent with the City’s regulatory design requirements and 
guidelines. Thus, the Project would not impact any scenic vistas or protected viewsheds and impacts would 
be less than significant.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the proposed Project when 
compared to those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with 
the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Substantially damage scenic resources, including, trees, rock outcroppings, and historic 
buildings within a state scenic highway?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts related to scenic resources within a state scenic 
highway would be less than significant. 
 
According to TOP 2050 EIR, Ontario does not contain any officially designated state scenic highways. The 
nearest officially designated state scenic highway is Route 142 located approximately eight miles southwest 
in Chino Hills. The Project site is not located within view of a state scenic highway, as there are no designated 
state scenic highways within the vicinity of the site. The Project would not result in impacts to trees, rock 
outcroppings, or historic buildings within a state scenic highway. Therefore, no impacts to scenic resources 
within a state scenic highway would occur.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the proposed Project when 
compared to those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with 
the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 

Item E - 54 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

34 

 
c) In nonurbanized areas, substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of 

public views of the site and its surroundings? (Public views are those that are experienced 
from publicly accessible vantage point). If the project is in an urbanized area, would the 
project conflict with applicable zoning and other regulations governing scenic quality?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined that the project would not have a significant impact with respect 
to being inconsistent with policies or regulations governing scenic quality. 
 
As described previously, the Project site is located within an urbanized area and is surrounded by roadways, 
and industrial uses. The existing character of the Project site and surrounding area is neither unique nor of 
special aesthetic value or quality. The Project would develop the site with a new warehouse building totaling 
167,174 SF. Impacts to visual resources from buildout of the Project site would be less than significant with 
compliance with the City of Ontario Development Standards, TOP 2050, and the Ontario Development 
Code. As detailed in Table AES-1, the Project would be consistent with the development standards for the 
IG zone. Additionally, consistent with TOP 2050 SEIR, the Project would be consistent with Policy CD-2.1 
which encourages development projects to convey visual interest and character through quality building 
design and architecture. As shown in Figure 3-2, Elevations, the proposed Project would establish an 
architectural presence through emphasis on building finish materials and consistent material usage and color 
scheme. The proposed building would be gray and white and include cutouts and decorative window facades 
to create a variety in scale and texture. The building layout and use of landscaping, finish materials, and 
accents on the Project site would create a quality architectural presence along East Francis Street. Therefore, 
the Project would not conflict with an applicable zoning regulation related to scenic quality, and impacts 
would be less than significant. 
 

Table AES-1: Consistency with IG Development Standards 

Development Feature  General Industrial (IG) 
Standard 

Proposed Project  

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 0.55 FAR Consistent.  
0.55 FAR 

Building Height  55 feet maximum Consistent.  
42 feet 

Landscaping Interior Lot: Minimum 10 
percent 
 
 

Consistent.  
32,137 SF (10.6%) 
 
See Figure 3-3, Conceptual 
Landscape Plan.   

Off Street Parking 1) Portion of GFA 20,000 SF 
or Less: One space per 
1,000 SF; 
 
2) Portion of GFA Greater 
Than 20,000 SF: 0.5 space 
per 1,000 SF; 
 
3) Tractor-Trailer Parking: 
One tractor-trailer parking 
space per 4 dock-high 
loading doors 
 

Consistent. 
94 standard stalls; 5 trailer stalls 
 
 

Item E - 55 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

35 

Development Feature  General Industrial (IG) 
Standard 

Proposed Project  

94 standard stalls required; 
5 trailer stalls required 

Walls, Fences and 
Obstructions 

Maximum Height: 14 FT 
 
 

Consistent. The building would 
include a 14-foot-high concrete 
screen wall and a 10-foot-high 
sliding gate at the entrance of 
the truck court. The building 
would also include 10-foot-high 
concrete screen walls along the 
west, south, and east perimeter 
of the site. 

Setback Minimums From Freeway Property Line: 
20 FT 
 

N/A 
 

From Arterial Street 
Property Line: 20 FT 
 

East Francis Street is classified as 
a minor arterial street (4 lanes) 
 
Consistent. The building would 
be set back a minimum of 20 
feet from East Ontario Street.  

From Collector and Local 
Street Property Line: 10 FT 

N/A 

Source: Ontario Development Code Table 6.01-10 and Section 6.02.025 

 
The proposed building and use would be visually compatible with the land uses and buildings adjacent to 
the site because the surrounding uses are also designated IG and therefore have been developed according 
to the same development standards. Thus, the Project would not conflict with applicable development 
standard criteria and other regulations governing scenic quality, nor would the Project degrade the visual 
character of the site and surrounding area. Impacts would be less than significant.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the proposed Project when 
compared to those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

d) Create a new source of substantial light or glare which would adversely affect day or 
nighttime views in the area?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts related to new sources of lighting or glare would be 
less than significant.  
 
The Project site is currently developed with developed with a manufacturer, distributor, and wholesaler of 
building materials and a storage yard which has exterior lighting. The Project would replace existing sources 
of light and introduce new sources of light from new building lighting, exterior lighting, interior lights shining 

Item E - 56 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

36 

through building windows, and headlights from nighttime vehicular trips generated by the Project. The Project 
may slightly increase lighting and glare compared to the existing site condition due to lighting of the truck 
court, however, new landscaping would be provided throughout the Project site that would limit impacts from 
new sources of light and glare. For example, perimeter landscaping, including trees, would limit the spill of 
light onto adjacent properties. Also, as a standard condition of Project approval, the proposed Project would 
be required to comply with lighting standards detailed in Section 6.03.050 of the Ontario Development 
Code, which requires exterior light fixtures to be designed to eliminate adverse impacts of light spillover on 
to adjacent properties and promote safe vehicular and pedestrian access (RR AES-1). Compliance with the 
Municipal Code would be implemented through the construction permitting and plan check process. 
Therefore, impacts associated with new lighting would be less than significant.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the proposed Project when 
compared to those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding aesthetics. There have not been 1) changes 
related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect to the 
circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions of the 
previous EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the 
severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial importance 
relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and could not have 
been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed.  
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
RR AES-1: The proposed Project shall comply with lighting standards detailed in the Ontario Development 
Code Section 6.03.050 which requires exterior light fixtures to be designed to eliminate adverse impacts of 
light spillover on to adjacent properties and promote safe vehicular and pedestrian access. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe aesthetic impacts would result from implementation of the 
proposed Project; therefore, no mitigation measures are required for aesthetics.  
  

Item E - 57 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

37 

5.2 AGRICULTURE AND FOREST 
RESOURCES 

Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

In determining whether impacts to agricultural 
resources are significant environmental effects, lead 
agencies may refer to the California Agricultural 
Land Evaluation and Site Assessment Model (1997) 
prepared by the California Dept. of Conservation as 
an optional model to use in assessing impacts on 
agriculture and farmland. In determining whether 
impacts to forest resources, including timberland, are 
significant environmental effects, lead agencies may 
refer to information compiled by the California 
Department of Forestry and Fire Protection 
regarding the state’s inventory of forest land, 
including the Forest and Range Assessment Project 
and the Forest Legacy Assessment Project; and the 
forest carbon measurement methodology provided 
in Forest Protocols adopted by the California Air 
Resources Board. Would the project: 

Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or 
Farmland of Statewide Importance (Farmland), as 
shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the 
Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the 
California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use?  

     

b) Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, 
or a Williamson Act contract? 

     

c) Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning 
of, forest land (as defined in Public Resources Code 
section 12220(g)), timberland (as defined by Public 
Resources Code section 4526), or timberland zoned 
Timberland Production (as defined by Government 
Code section 51104(g))? 

     

d) Result in the loss of forest land or conversion of 
forest land to non-forest use? 

     

e) Involve other changes in the existing environment 
which, due to their location or nature, could result in 
conversion of Farmland, to non-agricultural use or 
conversion of forest land to non-forest use? 

     

 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to agriculture and forest resources in Section 5.2. TOP 2050 SEIR 
determined TOP 2050 would not convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide 
importance in Ontario to a nonagricultural use because Ontario’s land use plan no longer designates 
agricultural land uses in the City. Therefore, implementation of TOP 2050 would have no impact on land 
zoned for the purposes of agricultural uses.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined TOP 2050 would not conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use or a 
Williamson Act contract because buildout of TOP 2010 resulted in the cancellation or nonrenewal of all 
Williamson Act contracts within the City. Therefore, TOP 2050 would not result in further impacts to 
Williamson Act contract lands.   
 

Item E - 58 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

38 

TOP 2050 SEIR determined TOP 2050 would not conflict with existing zoning for forest land, timberland, or 
timberland zoned Timberland Production, or result in the loss of forest land or conversion of forest land to 
non-forest use. TOP 2050 SEIR explains that there are no land use designations or zoning for forest land, 
timberland, or timberland zoned Timberland Production in the City of Ontario. As such, TOP 2050 would not 
conflict with existing zoning for forest land, timberland, or timberland zoned Timberland Production or result 
in conversion of forest land to non-forest use.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined TOP 2050 would not involve other changes that would result in conversion of 
Farmland to nonagricultural use or conversion of forest land to nonforest use. TOP 2050 would not conflict 
with agricultural uses and would not result in conversion of farmland to nonagricultural use because former 
agriculture areas within Ontario were designated for nonagricultural uses under TOP 2010. Additionally, 
there is no forest land in Ontario, therefore TOP 2050 would not result in conversion of forest land to 
nonforest use. 
 

TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures 

None. 
 

a) Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance, as shown 
on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the 
California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. The Project site is currently developed and occupied by Western States Wholesale which 
is a manufacturer, distributor, and wholesaler of building materials. The western portion of the site functions 
as a storage yard, while the eastern portion contains approximately 29,400 SF of building area and a 
storage area. The Project site is identified as Urban and Built-Up Land by the California Important Farmland 
Finder (California Department of Conservation [CDC] 2022). The site is not designated as Prime, Unique, or 
Farmland of Statewide Importance (CDC 2022). Therefore, the Project would not have impacts related to 
the conversion of Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance to non-
agricultural use.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, or a Williamson Act contract?  
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. The Williamson Act (California Land Conservation Act of 1965) restricts the use of 
agricultural and open space lands to farming and ranching by enabling local governments to contract with 
private landowners for indefinite terms in exchange for reduced property tax assessments. The Project site 
is not zoned for agricultural use or located within an Agricultural Resource Area. Additionally, the Project 
site does not have a Williamson Act contract. As such, the Project would not conflict with existing zoning for 
agricultural use or with an Agricultural Resource Area or Williamson Act contract, and no impacts would 
occur.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

c) Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, forest land (as defined in Public 
Resources Code section 12220(g)), timberland (as defined by Public Resources Code section 

Item E - 59 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

39 

4526), or timberland zoned Timberland Production (as defined by Government Code section 
51104(g))? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. As described above, the Project site is currently developed and occupied by Western 
States Wholesale which is a manufacturer, distributor, and wholesaler of building materials. The western 
portion of the site functions as a storage yard, while the eastern portion contains approximately 29,400 SF 
of building area and a storage area. The site does not contain forest land and there are no forestland 
resources in the vicinity of the Project site. It is not designated or zoned as forest land or timberland or used 
for timberland production. As a result, the Project would not result in impacts on timberland resources.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

d) Result in the loss of forest land or conversion of forest land to non-forest use? 
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. As discussed previously, there are no forest or timberland resources on or in the vicinity of 
the Project site. The proposed Project would not convert forest land to a non-forest use. Therefore, there 
would be no impacts related to the loss of forest land or the conversion of forest land to non-forest uses.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

e) Involve other changes in the existing environment which, due to their location or nature, 
could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use or conversion of forest land 
to non-forest use?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. As previously stated, the Project site is currently developed and occupied by Western 
States Wholesale. The site is not used for agricultural purposes and is not designated or zoned for forest 
land. The Project would not convert farmland to a nonagricultural use or convert forest land to a non-forest 
use. Therefore, no impacts would occur, and the Project would not involve other changes in the existing 
environment which, due to their location or nature, could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural 
use or conversion of forest land to non-forest use.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding agriculture and forest resources. There have 
not been 1) changes related development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects 
or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect 
to the circumstances under which development of the Project site undertaken that require major revisions of 
the previous EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in 
the severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial 

Item E - 60 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

40 

importance relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and 
could not have been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
None. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe agriculture and forest resources impacts would result from the 
Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required for agriculture and forest resources.  
  

Item E - 61 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

41 

5.3 AIR QUALITY Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Where available, the significance criteria 
established by the applicable air quality 
management or air pollution control district may be 
relied upon to make the following determinations. 
Would the project: 

Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the 
applicable air quality plan?  

     

b) Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase 
of any criteria pollutant for which the project region 
is non- attainment under an applicable federal or 
state ambient air quality standard)? 

     

c) Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant 
concentrations?  

     

d) Result in other emissions (such as those leading to 
odors) adversely affecting a substantial number of 
people?  

     

 
The discussion below is based on the Air Quality, Energy and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis, prepared 
by Vista Environmental in March 2023, and included as Appendix A. 
 
Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR 
TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to air quality in Section 5.3. TOP 2050 SEIR determined additional 
population growth forecasted for TOP 2050 and the associated emissions would exceed the assumptions of 
the South Coast Air Quality Management District’s (SCAQMD) Air Quality Management Plan (AQMP). TOP 
2050 SEIR found that cumulative emissions generated from buildout of TOP 2050 would exceed the 
SCAQMD regional and localized thresholds. Therefore, buildout of TOP 2050 could contribute to an increase 
in frequency or severity of air quality violations and delay attainment of the AAQS or interim reductions in 
the AQMP and lead to a significant air quality impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that mitigation measures 
applied to a development project’s construction (Mitigation Measure 3-1) and operational phase (Mitigation 
Measures 3-2 and new Mitigation Measure AQ-1) would reduce impacts associated with consistency with 
the South Coast AQMD.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR found that construction activities associated with future development that would be 
accommodated under TOP 2050 could create short-term emissions in exceedance of the SCAQMD’s 
threshold criteria. TOP 2050 SEIR determined buildout in accordance with TOP 2050 would generate short-
term emissions that would exceed the SCAQMD’s regional significance threshold and cumulatively contribute 
to the nonattainment designations of the South Coast Air Basin (SoCAB). Implementation of Mitigation 
Measure 3-1 and the goals and policies of TOP 2050 would reduce construction-related air pollutant 
emissions to the extent feasible. However, individual projects may still exceed the SCAQMD regional 
significance thresholds and impacts would remain significant and unavoidable. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined buildout in accordance with TOP 2050 would generate long-term emissions that 
would exceed South Coast AQMD’s regional significance thresholds and cumulatively contribute to the 
nonattainment designations of the SoCAB. Mitigation Measure 3-2 and AQ-1, in addition to the goals and 
policies of TOP 2050, would reduce air pollutant emissions to the extent feasible. However, impacts would 
remain significant and unavoidable due to the increase in VOCs from residential development associated 
with TOP 2050 compared to that of TOP 2010. 

Item E - 62 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

42 

Additionally, it was determined that goals and policies in TOP 2050 would promote increased capacity for 
alternative transportation modes. However, TOP 2050 SEIR determined that due to the magnitude of 
residential units that would be developed under TOP 2050, no additional mitigation measures are available 
that would reduce impacts below SCAQMD thresholds. As such, impacts were found to be significant and 
unavoidable. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined operation of industrial and warehousing land uses accommodated under TOP 
2050 could expose sensitive receptors to substantial toxic air contaminant concentrations. Development 
projects that could release toxic air contaminants near existing or planned sensitive receptors would be 
reviewed by SCAQMD which would ensure that health risks are minimized. However, implementation of TOP 
2050 would generate toxic air contaminants that could contribute to elevated levels in the air basin due to 
the increase in industrial land use allowed under TOP 2050 compared to TOP 2010. While individual 
projects would achieve the project-level risk threshold of 10 per million, they would nonetheless contribute 
to the higher levels of cancer risk in the SoCAB; and therefore, result in a cumulatively considerable impact. 
Therefore, the Proposed Project’s cumulative contribution to health risk is significant and unavoidable.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR found that buildout in accordance with TOP 2050 would generate long-term emissions that 
would exceed the SCAQMD’s regional significance thresholds and cumulatively contribute to the 
nonattainment designations of the basin. TOP 2050 SEIR identified that Mitigation Measure 3-2 and AQ-1, 
in addition to the goals and policies of TOP 2050, would reduce air pollutant emissions to the extent feasible. 
However, TOP 2050 SEIR found that impacts would remain significant and unavoidable due to the increase 
in VOCs from residential development associated with TOP 2050. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined TOP 2050 would not result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) 
adversely affecting a substantial number of people. TOP 2050 SEIR found that buildout of industrial uses 
permitted under TOP 2050 could include new sources of odors, however future environmental review would 
be required for these types of industrial projects, which would ensure that sensitive land uses are not exposed 
to objectionable odors. Industrial land uses associated with TOP 2050 also would be required to comply 
with SCAQMD Rule 402. Therefore, impacts from potential odors generated from industrial land uses 
associated with TOP 2050 are considered less than significant. TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts from 
potential odors generated from residential and other nonresidential land uses associated with TOP 2050 
would be less than significant. Additionally, TOP 2050 SEIR identified that construction-related odor 
emissions would be temporary and intermittent and are overall considered less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

Mitigation Measure 3-1: Prior to discretionary approval by the City of Ontario for development projects 
subject to CEQA (California Environmental Quality Act) review (i.e., nonexempt projects), project applicants 
shall prepare and submit a technical assessment evaluating potential project construction-related air quality 
impacts to the City of Ontario Planning Department for review and approval. The evaluation shall be 
prepared in conformance with South Coast Air Quality Management District (South Coast AQMD) 
methodology for assessing air quality impacts. If construction-related criteria air pollutants are determined 
to have the potential to exceed the South Coast AQMD–adopted thresholds of significance, City of Ontario 
Building Department shall require feasible mitigation measures to reduce air quality emissions. Potential 
measures shall be incorporated as conditions of approval for a project and may include: 

• Require fugitive dust control measures that exceed South Coast Air Quality Management District’s 
Rule 403, such as: 
o Requiring use of nontoxic soil stabilizers to reduce wind erosion. 
o Applying water every four hours to active soil disturbing activities. 
o Tarping and/or maintaining a minimum of 24 inches of freeboard on trucks hauling dirt, sand, 

soil, or other loose materials. 

• Using construction equipment rated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency as having 
Tier 4 interim or higher exhaust emission limits. 

Item E - 63 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

43 

• Ensuring construction equipment is properly serviced and maintained to the manufacturer’s standards. 

• Limiting nonessential idling of construction equipment to no more than five consecutive minutes. 

• Using Super-Compliant VOC paints for coating of architectural surfaces whenever possible. A list of 
Super-Compliant architectural coating manufactures can be found on the South Coast Air Quality 
Management District’s website at: http://www.aqmd.gov/prdas/brochures/Super-
Compliant_AIM.pdf. 

These identified measures shall be incorporated into all appropriate construction documents (e.g., construction 
management plans) submitted to the City and shall be verified by the City’s Planning Department. 
 
Mitigation Measure 3-2: The City of Ontario shall evaluate new development proposals within the City and 
require all developments to include access or linkages to alternative modes of transportation, such as transit 
stops, bike paths, and/or pedestrian paths (e.g. sidewalks). 
 
Mitigation Measure AQ 1: Prior to discretionary approval by the City of Ontario for development projects 
subject to CEQA (California Environmental Quality Act) review (i.e., nonexempt projects), project applicants 
shall prepare and submit a technical assessment evaluating potential project operation-phase-related air 
quality impacts to the City of Ontario Planning Department for review and approval. The evaluation shall 
be prepared in conformance with South Coast Air Quality Management District (South Coast AQMD) 
methodology in assessing air quality impacts. If operation-related air pollutants are determined to have the 
potential to exceed the South Coast AQMD–adopted thresholds of significance, the City of Ontario Planning 
Department shall require that applicants for new development projects incorporate mitigation measures to 
reduce air pollutant emissions during operational activities. The identified measures shall be included as part 
of the conditions of approval. Possible mitigation measures to reduce long-term emissions could include, but 
are not limited to the following:  

• For site-specific development that requires refrigerated vehicles, the construction documents shall 
demonstrate an adequate number of electrical service connections at loading docks for plug-in of 
the anticipated number of refrigerated trailers to reduce idling time and emissions. 

• Applicants for manufacturing and light industrial uses shall consider energy storage and combined 
heat and power in appropriate applications to optimize renewable energy generation systems and 
avoid peak energy use. 

• Site-specific developments with truck delivery and loading areas and truck parking spaces shall 
include signage as a reminder to limit idling of vehicles while parked for loading/unloading in 
accordance with California Air Resources Board Rule 2845 (13 CCR Chapter 10 sec. 2485). 

• Provide changing/shower facilities as specified in Section A5.106.4.3 of CALGreen (Nonresidential 
Voluntary Measures). 

• Provide bicycle parking facilities per Section A4.106.9 of CALGreen (Residential Voluntary 
Measures). 

• Provide preferential parking spaces for low-emitting, fuel-efficient, and carpool/van vehicles per 
Section A5.106.5.1 of CALGreen (Nonresidential Voluntary Measures). 

• Provide facilities to support electric charging stations per Section A5.106.5.3 and Section 
A5.106.8.2 of CALGreen (Nonresidential Voluntary Measures; Residential Voluntary Measures). 

• Applicant-provided appliances shall be Energy Star–certified appliances or appliances of 
equivalent energy efficiency (e.g., dishwashers, refrigerators, clothes washers, and dryers). 
Installation of Energy Star–certified or equivalent appliances shall be verified by the City during 
plan check 

  

Item E - 64 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

44 

a) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan?  

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. The Project site is located in the SoCAB which includes parts of San Bernardino, Los Angeles, 
and Riverside Counties and all of Orange County. The SCAQMD and the California Air Resources Board 
(CARB) monitor air quality within the Basin. 
 
Air quality plans describe air pollution control strategies and measures to be implemented by a city, county, 
region, and/or air district. The primary purpose of an air quality plan is to bring an area that does not 
attain federal and State air quality standards into compliance with the requirements of the federal Clean 
Air Act and California Clean Air Act. In addition, air quality plans are developed to ensure that an area 
maintains a healthful level of air quality based on the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) 
and the California Ambient Air Quality Standards (CAAQS). The AQMP is prepared by SCAQMD and the 
Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG). The AQMP provides policies and control measures 
that reduce emissions to attain both State and federal ambient air quality standards. 
 
According to the SCAQMD, a project is consistent with the AQMP if the project is consistent with anticipated 
growth and would not result in an increase in the frequency or severity of existing air quality violations or 
cause or contribute to new violations or delay timely attainment of air quality standards or the interim 
emission reductions specified in the AQMP. The SCAQMD’s CEQA Handbook, identifies two key indicators 
of consistency with the AQMP: 

• Whether a project will result in an increase in the frequency or severity of existing air quality 
violations or cause or contribute to new violations or delay timely attainment of air quality standards 
or the interim emission reductions specified in the AQMP. 

• Whether a project will exceed the assumptions in the AQMP based on the year of project buildout 
and phase. 

 
TOP 2050 SEIR found that TOP 2050 would be inconsistent with the SCAQMD AQMP because buildout 
under the plan would cumulatively contribute to the nonattainment designations of the basin. TOP 2050 SEIR 
found that incorporation of TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures 3-2 and AQ-1 into future development 
projects for the operation phase would reduce criteria air pollutant emissions associated with buildout. 
Additionally, it was determined that goals and policies in TOP 2050 would promote increased capacity for 
alternative transportation modes. However, TOP 2050 SEIR determined that due to the magnitude of 
residential units that would be developed under TOP 2050, no additional mitigation measures are available 
that would reduce impacts below SCAQMD thresholds. As such, impacts were found to be significant and 
unavoidable. 
 
The violations to which Consistency Criterion No. 1 refers are CAAQS and NAAQS. As shown in Table AQ-
1 and Table AQ-2, below, the proposed Project would not exceed the short-term construction standards or 
long-term operational standards and would therefore not violate any air quality standards. Thus, no impact 
would occur, and the Project would be consistent with the first criterion. 
 
Concerning Consistency Criterion No. 2, the AQMP contains air pollutant reduction strategies based on 
SCAG’s latest growth forecasts, and SCAG’s growth forecasts were defined in consultation with local 
governments and with reference to local general plans and specific plans. The Project is consistent with the 
land use designation and development density presented in TOP. The site is within the IG zoning designation 
which accommodates a variety of light industrial uses, including warehousing/distribution, assembly, light 
manufacturing, research and development, storage, repair facilities, and supporting retail and professional 
office uses developed at a maximum FAR of 0.55. TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed buildout of 0.55 FAR on the 
Project site, or approximately 167,227 SF, of general industrial development. The Proposed Project would 
develop a new warehouse building totaling 161,174 SF, resulting in a FAR of 0.55.  
 

Item E - 65 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

45 

As described in the analysis below, the emissions from the Project would be below SCAQMD emissions 
thresholds and would not result in an increase in the frequency or severity of existing air quality violations 
or cause a new violation. Therefore, impacts related to conflict with the AQMP from the proposed Project 
would be less than significant.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be less than those identified in TOP 2050 
SEIR. 
 

b)  Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the 
project region is non- attainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air quality 
standard)? 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined that buildout in accordance with TOP 2050 would generate 
short-term emissions that would exceed the SCAQMD’s regional significance thresholds and cumulatively 
contribute to the nonattainment designations of the basin. TOP 2050 SEIR found that TOP 2050 SEIR 
Mitigation Measure 3-1 and The Ontario Plan 2050 goals and policies would reduce construction-related 
air pollutant emissions to the extent feasible. However, TOP 2050 SEIR determined that individual projects 
accommodated under TOP 2050 may exceed the SCAQMD regional significance thresholds. Therefore, it 
was determined that construction-related regional air quality impacts of developments that would be 
accommodated by TOP 2050 SEIR would be significant and unavoidable. 
 
A Project specific air quality, energy, and greenhouse gas analysis was prepared for the proposed Project 
(provided as Appendix A herein). The analysis quantifies the air quality criteria pollutants7 generated from 
construction and operation of the proposed Project, using CalEEMod, and compared them to SCAQMD 
emissions thresholds.  
 
The Basin is in a non-attainment status for federal ozone standards, federal carbon monoxide standards, 
and state and federal particulate matter standards. Any development in the Basin, including the Project, 
could cumulatively contribute to these pollutant violations. The methodologies from the SCAQMD CEQA Air 
Quality Handbook are used in evaluating Project impacts. SCAQMD has established daily mass thresholds 
for regional pollutant emissions, which are shown in Table AQ-1. Should construction or operation of the 
proposed Project exceed these thresholds a significant impact could occur; however, if estimated emissions 
are less than the thresholds, impacts would be considered less than significant. 
 

Table AQ-1: Maximum Daily Regional Construction Emissions 

Pollutant Construction 
(pounds/day) 

Operations 
(pounds/day) 

VOC 75 55 
NOx 100 55 
CO 550 550 
PM10 150 150 
PM2.5 55 55 
SOx 150 150 
Source: Regional Thresholds presented in this table are based on the SCAQMD 
Air Quality Significance Thresholds, March 2015 

 

 
7 Criteria pollutants are the only air pollutants with national air quality standards that define allowable concentrations of these 
substances in ambient air. Criteria pollutants include carbon monoxide (CO), oxides of nitrogen (NOx), sulfur dioxide (SOx), and 
particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5). Note that ozone is another criteria pollutant; however, in terms of defining significance 
thresholds, ozone is represented as a threshold by its precursor components, oxides of nitrogen (NOx) and reactive organic gases. 

Item E - 66 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

46 

Construction 
Construction activities associated with the proposed Project would generate pollutant emissions from the 
following: (1) demolition of the existing structures and removal of the existing infrastructure and pavement, 
(2) grading, (3) site preparation, (4) building construction, (5) paving, and (6) architectural coating. The 
quantity of emissions generated on a daily basis would vary, depending on the intensity and types of 
construction activities occurring. Construction activities would generate emissions from the demolition of the 
existing buildings onsite totaling 29,400 SF and onsite infrastructure. In addition, the Project would generate 
construction worker vehicle trips to and from the Project site during the estimated 14 months of construction. 
The construction emissions analysis assumes the use of Tier 2 construction equipment and that the proposed 
Project would comply with SCAQMD Rule 403 measures, described below. 
 
It is mandatory for all construction projects to comply with several SCAQMD Rules, including Rule 403 for 
controlling fugitive dust, PM10, and PM2.5 emissions from construction activities. Rule 403 requirements 
include, but are not limited to, applying water in sufficient quantities to prevent the generation of visible 
dust plumes, applying soil binders to uncovered areas, reestablishing ground cover as quickly as possible, 
utilizing a wheel washing system to remove bulk material from tires and vehicle undercarriages before 
vehicles exit the proposed Project site, covering all trucks hauling soil with a fabric cover and maintaining a 
freeboard height of 12-inches, and maintaining effective cover over exposed areas. Compliance with Rule 
403 is included as RR AQ-1. 
 
In addition, implementation of SCAQMD Rule 1113, which governs the volatile organic compound (VOC) 
content in architectural coating, paint, thinners, and solvents is included as RR AQ-2. As shown in Table AQ-
2, CalEEMod results indicate that construction emissions generated by demolition of onsite structure and 
construction of the Project would not exceed SCAQMD regional thresholds. Therefore, construction activities 
would result in a less than significant impact. 
 

Table AQ-2: Project Construction Emissions  

Season and Year of Construction 
Maximum Daily Regional Emissions (pounds/day) 

VOC NOx CO SOx PM10 PM2.5 
Proposed Project 
Summer 2023 4.05 39.9 37.1 0.07 12.4 4.76 
Winter 2023 4.04 39.9 36.7 0.05 11.3 4.76 
Summer 2024 1.59 12.5 19.5 0.03 1.65 0.75 
Winter 2024 50.1 12.6 18.1 0.03 1.65 0.75 
Proposed Project Max Daily 
Emissions 50.1 39.9 37.1 0.07 12.4 4.76 

TOP 2050 SEIR Project 
Summer 2023 4.05 39.9 37.1 0.07 12.4 4.76 
Winter 2023 4.04 39.9 36.7 0.05 11.3 4.76 
Summer 2024 1.59 12.5 19.6 0.03 1.66 0.75 
Winter 2024 50.1 12.6 18.1 0.03 1.66 0.75 
TOP 2050 SEIR Project Max Daily 
Emissions 50.1 39.9 37.1 0.07 12.4 4.76 

Net Difference (Previous – 
Proposed) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

SCAQMD Significance Thresholds 75 100 550 150 150 55 
Emissions Exceed Thresholds? No No No No No No 
Notes: VOC = volatile organic compounds, NOx = oxides of nitrogen, PM10 = particulate matter 10 microns or less in diameter, PM2.5 = particulate 
matter 2.5 microns or less in diameter, CO = carbon monoxide, SOx = sulfur oxides 
Source: Air Quality, Energy and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis (Appendix A) 

 

Item E - 67 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

47 

As such, potential pollutant emissions from construction of the proposed Project would not exceed SCAQMD 
emissions thresholds. Additionally, the Project complies with TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures 3-1 and 
AQ-1 through fulfillment of the preparation of a Project-specific air quality assessment prepared in 
conformance with the SCAQMD (see Appendix A). Therefore, the proposed Project would not lead to new 
or substantially more severe significant impacts associated with construction-related air quality beyond those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Operation 
Implementation of the proposed warehouse use would result in long-term regional emissions of criteria air 
pollutants and ozone precursors associated with area sources, such as natural gas consumption, landscaping, 
applications of architectural coatings, and consumer products. However, operational vehicular emissions 
would generate a majority of the emissions generated from the Project. As detailed previously, 167,227 SF 
of General Industrial uses were analyzed on the Project site in TOP 2050 SEIR. Subsequently, the existing 
Western States Wholesale facility totaling 29,400 SF of building space was constructed. 
 
Operational emissions associated with the previously approved Project were modeled using CalEEMod and 
were compared to those of the proposed Project as presented in Table AQ-3.  
 

Table AQ-3: Existing Use and Proposed Project Operational Emission  

Emission Type 
Pollutant Emissions (lbs/day)  

VOC NOx CO SOx PM10 PM2.5 
Proposed Project Operational Emissions 
Area Sources1 5.21 0.06 7.27 <0.01 0.01 0.01 
Energy Sources2 0.05 0.91 0.77 0.01 0.07 0.07 
Mobile Sources3 1.11 16.40 16.10 0.14 3.19 0.89 
Off-Road Equipment4 <0.01 3.53 35.20 <0.01 <0.01 <0.01 
Total Proposed Project Emissions 6.37 20.90 59.34 0.15 3.27 0.97 
TOP 2050 SEIR Project Operational Emissions 
Area Sources1 5.21 0.06 7.27 <0.01 0.01 0.01 
Energy Sources2 0.07 1.23 1.04 0.01 0.09 0.09 
Mobile Sources3 2.94 29.50 42.30 0.29 6.72 1.75 
Off-Road Equipment4 <0.01 7.91 78.90 <0.01 <0.01 <0.01 
Total TOP 2050 SEIR Project 
Emissions 8.22 38.70 129.51 0.30 6.82 1.85 

Net Operational Emissions (1.85) (17.80) (70.17) (0.15) (3.55) (0.88) 
SCAQMD Thresholds 55 55 550 150 150 55 
Significant? No No No No No No 
1 Area sources consist of emissions from consumer products, architectural coatings, and landscaping equipment. 
2 Energy usage consist of emissions from natural gas usage. 
3 Mobile sources consist of emissions from vehicles and road dust. 
4 Off‐road equipment consists of emissions from forklifts utilized onsite. 
Source: Air Quality, Health Risk, Greenhouse Gas and Energy Analysis (Appendix A) 

 
As shown in Table AQ-3, the Project would not exceed the significance criteria for VOC, NOx, CO, SOx, 
PM10, or PM2.5 and thus would not have a significant impact on regional air quality. Therefore, the Project’s 
operational emissions would not exceed the NAAQS nor the CAAQS and would not result in a cumulatively 
considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant impacts, and impacts would be less than significant. 
Additionally, the proposed Project would also be required to comply with TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation 
Measures 3-2 and AQ-1 through fulfillment of the preparation of a Project-specific air quality study, which 
would further reduce operational emissions generated by the proposed Project. Therefore, the emissions 
generated by the proposed Project would be similar to those identified by TOP 2050 SEIR and impacts 

Item E - 68 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

48 

would remain less than significant. Therefore, the proposed project would not lead to new or more severe 
operational air quality impacts beyond those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be less than those identified in TOP 2050 
SEIR. 
 

c) Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations?  
 
No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined operation of industrial and warehousing land uses 
accommodated under TOP 2050 could expose sensitive receptors to substantial toxic air contaminant 
concentrations and impacts would be significant and unavoidable. 
 
Localized significance thresholds (LSTs) represent the maximum emissions from a project that are not 
expected to cause or contribute to an exceedance of the most stringent applicable federal or state ambient 
air quality standard and are developed based on the ambient concentrations of NOx, CO, PM10, and 
PM2.5 pollutants for each source receptor area (SRA) and distance to the nearest sensitive receptor. The 
Project site is located in SRA 33. Sensitive receptors can include uses such as residences, schools, playgrounds, 
childcare centers, long-term health care facilities, rehabilitation centers, and retirement homes. The nearest 
sensitive receptors to the project site are homes located near the intersection of Locust Street and Sacramento 
Avenue, which are as near as 1,700 feet northeast of the Project site. 
 
The SCAQMD LST Methodology provides Look-Up Tables with different thresholds based on the location 
and size of the project site and distance to the nearest sensitive receptors. The Look-Up Tables include site 
acreage sizes of one-, two-, or five-acre sites, and distances of sensitive receptors for 25 to 500 meters. 
SCAQMD details that the site acreage should be based on the maximum number of acres disturbed on the 
peak day of construction that is calculated on the construction equipment list utilized in the CalEEMod model. 
As detailed in the Air Quality Impact Analysis (Appendix A), the maximum disturbed acreage per day would 
occur during the site preparation phase when 1.5 acres would be disturbed. As such, the 1‐acre and 2‐acre 
thresholds were interpolated in order to develop the threshold for the 1.5‐acre thresholds.  
 
As noted above, the nearest sensitive receptors to the Project site are the homes located as near as 1,700 
feet (518 meters) northeast of the Project site. Emissions of PM10 and PM2.5 are based on a 24‐hour 
standard, thus in order to provide a conservative analysis the 500-meter thresholds were utilized for PM10 
and PM2.5.  For NOx, which is based on a 1‐hour threshold and CO, which is based on an 8‐hour threshold, 
the nearest sensitive receptors are the offsite workers that are located adjacent to the Project site. According 
to LST Methodology, any receptor located closer than 25 meters (82 feet) shall be based on the 25-meter 
thresholds, which was utilized for NOx and CO (Vista 2023). Table AQ-4 presents the localized significance 
thresholds.  
 

Table AQ-4: Localized Significance Thresholds 

Air Pollutant 
Maximum Daily Emissions 

(pounds/day) 
Maximum Daily Emissions 

(pounds/day) 
Construction Operation 

NOx 144 144 
CO 1,048 1,048 

PM10 220 54 
PM2.5 146 35 

Source: SCAQMD 2008: Final Localized Significance Threshold Methodology 
 
Construction 
Localized Significance Analysis. Construction of the Project may expose nearby residential sensitive 
receptors to airborne particulates as well as a small quantity of construction equipment pollutants (i.e., usually 

Item E - 69 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

49 

diesel-fueled vehicles and equipment). Table AQ-5 provides the construction LSTs for the proposed Project. 
As shown in Table AQ-5, with implementation of SCAQMD Rules 403 and 1113 (included as RR AQ-2 and 
RR AQ-3), the maximum daily construction emissions from the proposed Project would not exceed the 
applicable SCAQMD LST thresholds. Therefore, the proposed Project would not lead to new or more severe 
LST impacts beyond those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

Table AQ-5: Localized Construction Emission Estimates (lbs/day) 

Source NOx CO PM10 PM2.5 
On-Site Project Emissions 39.9 37.1 12.4 4.76 

Localized Significance Threshold 144 1,048 220 146 
Threshold Exceeded? No No No No 

Source: Air Quality, Energy and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis (Appendix A) 
 
Operation 
Localized Significance Analysis. Operation of the proposed Project would include emissions from passenger 
cars and trucks traveling to the Project site and from passenger cars and trucks in the parking lots and 
loading areas. Table AQ-6 compares the proposed Project emissions with emissions from previously 
approved TOP 2050 SEIR project. As shown, the operational emissions from the proposed Project would be 
far lower than what was identified in the TOP 2050 SEIR and less than the LST thresholds. Therefore, the 
proposed Project would not result in any new adverse impacts or substantially increase the severity of any 
previously identified impacts. 
 

Table AQ-6: Localized Operational Emission Estimates (lbs/day) 

Source NOx CO PM10 PM2.5 
Proposed Project Onsite Emissions 6.55 45.25 0.48 0.19 

TOP 2050 SEIR Total Onsite Emissions 12.89 92.50 0.94 0.32 
Net Difference (6.34) (47.25) (0.46) (0.13) 

Localized Significance Threshold 144 1,048 54 35 
Threshold Exceeded? No No No No 

Source: Air Quality, Energy and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis (Appendix A) 
 
CO Hotspots. Areas of vehicle congestion have the potential to create pockets of CO called hotspots. These 
pockets have the potential to exceed the state one-hour standard of 20 ppm or the eight-hour standard of 
9 ppm. Because CO is produced in greatest quantities from vehicle combustion and does not readily disperse 
into the atmosphere, adherence to ambient air quality standards is typically demonstrated through an 
analysis of localized CO concentrations. Hotspots are typically produced at intersections, where traffic 
congestion is highest because vehicles queue for longer periods and are subject to reduced speeds.  
 
With the turnover of older vehicles and introduction of cleaner fuels, electric vehicles, and vehicles with stop-
start systems (where the engine shuts down when the vehicle is stopped and restarts when the brake- pedal 
is released), as well as implementation of control technology on industrial facilities, CO concentrations in the 
South Coast Air Basin and the state have steadily declined.  
 
The analysis of CO hotspots compares the volume of traffic that has the potential to generate a CO hotspot 
(exceedance the state one-hour standard of 20 ppm or the eight-hour standard of 9 ppm) and the volume 
of traffic with implementation of the Project. In 2003, the SCAQMD estimated that a project would have to 
increase traffic volumes at a single intersection by more than 44,000 vehicles per hour—or 24,000 vehicles 
per hour where vertical and/or horizontal air does not mix—in order to exceed state standards and 
generate a CO hot spot. 
 
As detailed in Section 5.17, Transportation, shown on Table T-1, the proposed Project would generate 28 
vehicle trips during the AM peak hour. During the PM peak hour, the Project would generate 30 vehicle trips. 
Over a 24-hour period, the Project is forecast to generate approximately 286 daily trips. Thus, the Project 

Item E - 70 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

50 

would not result in an increase in traffic volumes at a single intersection by more than 44,000 vehicles per 
hour—or 24,000 vehicles per hour where vertical and/or horizontal air does not mix and would not generate 
a CO hotspot. Therefore, impacts related to CO hotspots from operation of the proposed Project would be 
less than significant.  
 
Health Risk Assessment. TOP 2050 includes Policy ER‐4.9 (provided below) that details the parameters 
for when a project is required to prepare a quantitative Health Risk Assessment (HRA). 
 

Policy ER-4.9: New Localized Air Pollution Sources Near Existing Sensitive Receptors. We require new 
developments to conduct a Health Risk Assessment for land uses that generate more than 100 trucks 
per day or 40 trucks per day by trucks operating transportation refrigeration units (TRU's) within 1,000 
feet from sensitive land uses (California Health and Safety Code § 42705.5(a)(5)). If the health risk 
assessment determines the new development poses health hazards that increase the incremental cancer 
risk above the threshold established by the South Coast Air Quality Management District (AQMD), we 
will only approve permits upon the condition that adequate mitigation measures are proposed and 
implemented for potential impacts on the sensitive uses around the site and along the route within 
Ontario taken by the trucks to and from freeways. We require new developments that must perform a 
health risk assessment to conduct additional public outreach by sending notifications in multiple 
languages to all residents living within 500 feet, and encourage hosting a public meeting. 
 

As discussed previously, the nearest sensitive receptors to the Project site are homes located near the 
intersection of Locust Street and Sacramento Avenue, which are as near as 1,700 feet northeast of the Project 
site. Therefore, pursuant TOP 2050 Policy ER-4.9, since the distance to the nearest sensitive receptor is 
greater than 1,000 feet, a quantitative HRA is not required to be prepared for the proposed Project, and 
it can be reasonably assumed that a less than significant impact would be created from DPM emissions 
associated with the operation of the proposed Project. Therefore, operation of the proposed project would 
result in a less than significant exposure of sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the proposed Project when 
compared to those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be less than those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

d) Result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting a substantial 
number of people? 

  
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that impacts associated with odors from industrial, residential, and 
other land uses would be less than significant. Additionally, odors from construction activities were found to 
be less than significant.  
 
Standard construction requirements would minimize odor impacts from construction, such as odors associated 
with diesel-powered equipment, materials from demolition activities and asphalt during paving. The 
construction odor emissions would be temporary, short-term, and intermittent in nature and would cease upon 
completion of the respective phase of construction and is thus considered less than significant. Project-
generated refuse would be stored in covered containers and removed at regular intervals in compliance 
with the City’s solid waste regulations. Additionally, the Project would be required to implement California 
Air Resources Board (CARB) Rule 2485 regulations that limit idling to 5 minutes (13 CCR, Chapter 10 Section 
2485), which would reduce odors from the smell of truck exhaust. The Project would also be required to 
comply with SCAQMD Rule 402 (RR AQ-1), which prohibits any persons from discharging air contaminants 
or other materials that may cause injury, detriment, nuisance, or annoyance to the public, to prevent 
occurrences of public nuisances associated with odors. Therefore, odor impacts associated with the Project’s 
construction and operations would not be significant compared to what was previously analyzed and 
determined in TOP 2050 SEIR. 

Item E - 71 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

51 

 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding air quality. There have not been 1) changes 
related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect to the 
circumstances under which development of the Project is undertaken that require major revisions of the 
previous EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the 
severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial importance 
relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and could not have 
been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
RR AQ-1: SCAQMD Rule 402. The construction plans and specifications shall state that the project is required 
to comply with the provisions of South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD) Rule 402. The 
project shall not discharge from any source whatsoever such quantities of air contaminants or other material 
which cause injury, detriment, nuisance, or annoyance to any considerable number of persons or to the public, 
or which endanger the comfort, repose, health or safety of any such persons or the public, or which cause, 
or have a natural tendency to cause, injury or damage to business or property. 
 
RR AQ-2: SCAQMD Rule 403. The following measures shall be incorporated into construction plans and 
specifications as implementation of SCAQMD Rule 403:  

• All clearing, grading, earth-moving, or excavation activities shall cease when winds exceed 25 mph 
per SCAQMD guidelines in order to limit fugitive dust emissions.  

• The contractor shall ensure that all disturbed unpaved roads and disturbed areas within the Project 
are watered at least three (3) times daily during dry weather. Watering, with complete coverage 
of disturbed areas, shall occur at least three times a day, preferably in the mid-morning, afternoon, 
and after work is done for the day.  

• The contractor shall ensure that traffic speeds on unpaved roads and Project site areas are reduced 
to 15 miles per hour or less. 

 
RR AQ-3: SCAQMD Rule 1113. The following measure shall be incorporated into construction plans and 
specifications as implementation of SCAQMD Rule 1113. The Project shall only use “Low-Volatile Organic 
Compounds (VOC)” paints (no more than 50 gram/liter of VOC) consistent with SCAQMD Rule 1113.  
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe air quality impacts would result from the proposed Project; 
therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required for air quality.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures Applicable to the Project 

Item E - 72 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

52 

Mitigation Measure 3-1: Prior to discretionary approval by the City of Ontario for development projects 
subject to CEQA (California Environmental Quality Act) review (i.e., nonexempt projects), project applicants 
shall prepare and submit a technical assessment evaluating potential project construction-related air quality 
impacts to the City of Ontario Planning Department for review and approval. The evaluation shall be 
prepared in conformance with South Coast Air Quality Management District (South Coast AQMD) 
methodology for assessing air quality impacts. If construction-related criteria air pollutants are determined 
to have the potential to exceed the South Coast AQMD–adopted thresholds of significance, City of Ontario 
Building Department shall require feasible mitigation measures to reduce air quality emissions. Potential 
measures shall be incorporated as conditions of approval for a project and may include: 

• Require fugitive dust control measures that exceed South Coast Air Quality Management District’s 
Rule 403, such as: 
o Requiring use of nontoxic soil stabilizers to reduce wind erosion. 
o Applying water every four hours to active soil disturbing activities. 
o Tarping and/or maintaining a minimum of 24 inches of freeboard on trucks hauling dirt, sand, 

soil, or other loose materials. 

• Using construction equipment rated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency as having 
Tier 4 interim or higher exhaust emission limits. 

• Ensuring construction equipment is properly serviced and maintained to the manufacturer’s standards. 

• Limiting nonessential idling of construction equipment to no more than five consecutive minutes. 

• Using Super-Compliant VOC paints for coating of architectural surfaces whenever possible. A list of 
Super-Compliant architectural coating manufactures can be found on the South Coast Air Quality 
Management District’s website at: http://www.aqmd.gov/prdas/brochures/Super-
Compliant_AIM.pdf. 

These identified measures shall be incorporated into all appropriate construction documents (e.g., construction 
management plans) submitted to the City and shall be verified by the City’s Planning Department. 
 
Status: Satisfied through Air Quality, Energy and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis prepared by prepared by 
Vista Environmental, March 2023.  
 
Mitigation Measure AQ 1: Prior to discretionary approval by the City of Ontario for development projects 
subject to CEQA (California Environmental Quality Act) review (i.e., nonexempt projects), project applicants 
shall prepare and submit a technical assessment evaluating potential project operation-phase-related air 
quality impacts to the City of Ontario Planning Department for review and approval. The evaluation shall 
be prepared in conformance with South Coast Air Quality Management District (South Coast AQMD) 
methodology in assessing air quality impacts. If operation-related air pollutants are determined to have the 
potential to exceed the South Coast AQMD–adopted thresholds of significance, the City of Ontario Planning 
Department shall require that applicants for new development projects incorporate mitigation measures to 
reduce air pollutant emissions during operational activities. The identified measures shall be included as part 
of the conditions of approval. Possible mitigation measures to reduce long-term emissions could include, but 
are not limited to the following:  

• For site-specific development that requires refrigerated vehicles, the construction documents shall 
demonstrate an adequate number of electrical service connections at loading docks for plug-in of 
the anticipated number of refrigerated trailers to reduce idling time and emissions. 

• Applicants for manufacturing and light industrial uses shall consider energy storage and combined 
heat and power in appropriate applications to optimize renewable energy generation systems and 
avoid peak energy use. 

• Site-specific developments with truck delivery and loading areas and truck parking spaces shall 
include signage as a reminder to limit idling of vehicles while parked for loading/unloading in 
accordance with California Air Resources Board Rule 2845 (13 CCR Chapter 10 sec. 2485). 

Item E - 73 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

53 

• Provide changing/shower facilities as specified in Section A5.106.4.3 of CALGreen (Nonresidential 
Voluntary Measures). 

• Provide bicycle parking facilities per Section A4.106.9 of CALGreen (Residential Voluntary 
Measures). 

• Provide preferential parking spaces for low-emitting, fuel-efficient, and carpool/van vehicles per 
Section A5.106.5.1 of CALGreen (Nonresidential Voluntary Measures). 

• Provide facilities to support electric charging stations per Section A5.106.5.3 and Section 
A5.106.8.2 of CALGreen (Nonresidential Voluntary Measures; Residential Voluntary Measures). 

• Applicant-provided appliances shall be Energy Star–certified appliances or appliances of 
equivalent energy efficiency (e.g., dishwashers, refrigerators, clothes washers, and dryers). 
Installation of Energy Star–certified or equivalent appliances shall be verified by the City during 
plan check 

 
Status: Satisfied through Air Quality, Energy and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis prepared by prepared by 
Vista Environmental, March 2023.  
  

Item E - 74 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

54 

5.4 BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project: Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly 
or through habitat modifications, on any species 
identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status 
species in local or regional plans, policies, or 
regulations, or by the California Department of Fish 
and Wildlife or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

     

b) Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian 
habitat or other sensitive natural community 
identified in local or regional plans, policies, 
regulations or by the California Department of Fish 
and Wildlife or US Fish and Wildlife Service? 

     

c) Have a substantial adverse effect on federally 
protected wetlands (including, but not limited to, 
marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct 
removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other 
means? 

     

d) Interfere substantially with the movement of any 
native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species 
or with established native resident or migratory 
wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native 
wildlife nursery sites? 

     

e) Conflict with any local policies or ordinances 
protecting biological resources, such as a tree 
preservation policy or ordinance? 

     

f) Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat 
Conservation Plan, Natural Community Conservation 
Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state 
habitat conservation plan? 

     

 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts from buildout of the project area related to biological resources in Section 
5.4. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that compliance with existing regulations would ensure that implementation 
of TOP would not adversely affect sensitive species. Development projects considered for approval under 
TOP 2050 would be required to undergo independent CEQA review. If sensitive species were found during 
the CEQA review process, the project applicant would be required to consult with the California Department 
of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) regarding impacts to sensitive species and subsequent mitigation. Future projects 
that are located within critical habitat for a listed species and are proposed by federal agencies or involve 
federal permits or funding, would be required under the Federal Endangered Species Act to consult with the 
United Stated Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) regarding impacts and mitigation. Projects in Ontario 
Ranch would pay a mitigation fee that would be deposited into a trust fund to be used for the acquisition, 
restoration, rehabilitation, and maintenance of lands deemed to have long-term conservation value. Overall, 
compliance with the requirements of the California and federal Endangered Species Acts, including 
requirements of the USFWS regarding critical habitat; mitigation fees paid by projects in Ontario Ranch; 

Item E - 75 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

55 

and acquisition and management of habitat using those fees would reduce impacts on sensitive animal species 
from implementation of TOP 2050 to a less than significant level. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined compliance with existing regulations would ensure that implementation of TOP 
2050 would not have an adverse impact on riparian or sensitive habitats. TOP 2050 would have similar 
impacts to sensitive habitat as TOP 2010 because it would not result in development of new, previously 
undeveloped areas of the City even though it would result in an increase in land use intensity. Individual 
projects undergoing environmental review under CEQA would be required to determine whether there is 
potential habitat on-site for sensitive species. If sensitive species were found on-site, the project applicant 
would be required to consult with the CDFW regarding impacts to sensitive species and ensuing mitigation. 
Projects in Ontario Ranch would pay a mitigation fee that would be deposited into a trust fund to be used 
for the acquisition, restoration, rehabilitation, and maintenance of lands deemed to have long-term 
conservation value. Overall, projects affecting riparian habitat in the City would be required to mitigate 
potential impacts to riparian areas through the existing permitting process. Therefore, impacts related to 
riparian habitat or sensitive natural communities would be less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined compliance with existing regulations would ensure that implementation of TOP 
2050 would not have an adverse impact on jurisdictional waters. Future projects that have the potential to 
result in an impact to waters of the State would be subject to approval by CDFW and the United States 
Army Corps of Engineers (USACE), require a Section 404 permit under the CQA or consultation with the EPA 
for a Section 7 take permit, and incorporate mitigation in accordance with the applicable permits. Therefore, 
impacts to jurisdictional waters in the City associated with TOP 2050 would be less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined implementation of TOP 2050 would not adversely affect wildlife movement. 
There are trees and shrubs scattered throughout the City that may be used for nesting or roosting by 
migrating birds. However, future projects would be required to comply with the federal MBTA. Therefore, 
TOP 2050 would not cause substantial adverse impacts to migratory birds. Furthermore, although TOP 2050 
would increase land use intensity as compared to TOP 2010, it would not result in development of new, 
previously undeveloped areas of the City. Therefore, buildout of TOP 2050 would not result in significant 
impacts related to wildlife movement. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined development in accordance with TOP 2050 would require compliance with the 
requirements of the Delhi Sans Flower-Loving Fly Ontario Recovery Unit. The Delhi Sands Flower-Loving Fly 
(DSFLF) Ontario Recovery Unit includes 21.7 square miles of Ontario, mostly in the eastern and southwestern 
portions of the City. Projects proposed within the Ontario Recovery Unit would be required to conduct focused 
surveys for DSFLF on the project site and consult with the USFWS regarding mitigation of impacts on any 
DSFLF found, pursuant to Section 7 of the FESA. There is one habitat conservation plan in the City which 
includes a 19-acre area near the intersection of Greystone Drive and the eastern city boundary established 
to protect the DSFLF. Any project proposed for development within this HCP pursuant to TOP 2050 would 
be required to consult with the USFWS regarding project impacts on DSFLF and mitigation of any such 
impacts. Therefore, TOP 2050 would comply with the HCP and impacts would be less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

None.   
  

Item E - 76 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

56 

a) Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, on any 
species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status species in local or regional 
plans, policies, or regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife or U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service?  

 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that TOP 2050 could result in in habitat modification and 
removal, which could result in the introduction of nonnative species of weeds, insects, and domestic animals 
that could adversely impact sensitive species. Furthermore, buildout of the project could develop vacant land, 
which may affect sensitive species. However, regulatory requirements and standard conditions of approval 
would be required upon implementation of subsequent projects, which would reduce potential impacts of 
TOP 2050 on biological resources to less than significant. 
 
The Project site is completely developed, completely disturbed, and located within an urban area that does 
not contain any native flora or fauna habitats. Due to the disturbed status of the site, it does not provide 
habitat that could be utilized by species listed or candidates for listing by the U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
(USFWS), California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW), or California Native Plant Society (CNPS).  
 
The Project site contains shrubs and trees that could be utilized by nesting birds and raptors during the 
nesting bird season of February 1 through September 15. Therefore, the proposed Project has the potential 
to impact active bird nests if vegetation is removed during the nesting season. Nesting birds are protected 
under the federal Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) (United States Code Title 33, Section 703 et seq.; see 
also Code of Federal Regulations Title 50, Part 10) and Section 3503 of the California Fish and Game 
Code. Compliance with these existing regulations, included as RR BIO-1, would ensure potential impacts 
related to nesting avian species and native wildlife nursery sites to a less than significant level. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural 
community identified in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or by the California 
Department of Fish and Wildlife or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that the project would not have substantial adverse impacts on 
jurisdictional waters because projects that have the potential to result in impact to waters of the State would 
be subject to approval by California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) and United States Army 
Corps of Engineers (USACE), require a Section 404 permit under the Clean Water Act (CWA) or consultation 
with the EPA for a Section 7 take permit, and mitigation would be required in accordance with the applicable 
permits. 
 
As described above, the Project site is developed, completely disturbed and contains ornamental 
landscaping and trees. No riparian habitat or sensitive natural communities exist on the site. Therefore, no 
significant impacts related to riparian habitat or other sensitive natural communities identified in local or 
regional plans would result from proposed Project implementation, and no mitigation is required.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

Item E - 77 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

57 

c) Have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally protected wetlands (including, but 
not limited to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological 
interruption, or other means?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that TOP 2050 would not have substantial adverse impacts on 
jurisdictional waters because projects that have the potential to result in impact to waters of the State would 
be subject to approval by California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) and United States Army 
Corps of Engineers (USACE), require a Section 404 permit under the Clean Water Act (CWA) or consultation 
with the EPA for a Section 7 take permit, and mitigation would be required in accordance with the applicable 
permits. 
 
As described previously, the Project site is completely disturbed and developed with urban uses. No natural 
hydrologic features or federally protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of the Clean Water Act 
occur onsite, and the Project site does not meet the Army Corps of Engineers criteria for wetlands and waters 
of the U.S. Therefore, no direct removal, filling, or hydrological interruption of a wetland area would occur 
with development of the Project site.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

d) Interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife 
species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the 
use of native wildlife nursery sites?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that no regional wildlife movement corridors have been identified 
in the City. Therefore, TOP 2050 would not result in substantial adverse effects to wildlife movement. 
 
The Project site does not contain wildlife habitat and is located within a developed urban area. The Project 
area is developed and surrounded by urban developed land uses, including roadways. Therefore, no 
impacts to wildlife corridors would occur. 
 
There is existing ornamental landscaping and trees on the site that have the potential to provide habitat for 
nesting migratory birds. Therefore, there is a potential for the proposed Project to impact related to nesting 
birds, however, adherence to RR BIO-1 would reduce potential impacts to a less than significant level.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

e) Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources?  
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that TOP 2050 would not conflict with local policies or ordinances 
protecting biological resources.  
 
The proposed Project would not conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources. 
As discussed previously, the Project site contains ornamental shrubs and trees. The preservation, removal, 
and planting of parkway trees in the City is addressed in Title 10, Chapter 2, Parkway Tree Regulations, of 
the Ontario Municipal Code. The City defines Parkways as “that portion any public street right-of-way 

Item E - 78 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

58 

between the right-of-way boundary line and the curb line, and also the area enclosed within the curblines 
of a median divider.” The removal or relocation of any parkway trees must receive prior authorization from 
the Public Works Agency of the City through a permitting process. The Project involves the removal of existing 
trees onsite and the planting of new trees, however, all of the trees planned for removal and planting occur 
within the boundaries of the Project. The Project does not include removal or planning of trees in a designated 
parkway, therefore the Project would not conflict with Municipal Code Title 10, Chapter 2 (RR BIO-2). As a 
result, impacts would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

f) Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community 
Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that TOP 2050 would not conflict with the provisions of an 
adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state 
habitat conservation plan. 
 
The Project site is not located within a within any established Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community 
Conservation Plan, or other approved type of habitat conservation plan. Therefore, the Project would not 
be anticipated to conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community 
Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan. No impact would 
occur. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding biological resources. There have not been 
1) changes related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects or a 
substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect to the 
circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions of TOP 
2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the 
severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial importance 
relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and could not have 
been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
RR BIO-1: Migratory Bird Treaty Act. The Project shall comply with the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) 
(United States Code Title 33, Section 703 et seq.; see also Code of Federal Regulations Title 50, Part 10) 
and Section 3503 of the California Fish and Game Code during the avian nesting and breeding season that 

Item E - 79 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

59 

occurs between February 1 and September 15. The provisions of the MBTA prohibits disturbing or destroying 
active nests. 
 
RR BIO-2: Parkway Trees. Removal and or installation of parkway trees shall occur in compliance with the 
City of Ontario Municipal Code Title 10, Chapter 2, Parkway Tree Regulations. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe biological resources impacts would result from implementation 
of the proposed Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required for biological 
resources.  
 
 
  

Item E - 80 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

60 

 
5.5 CULTURAL RESOURCES Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project: Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of a historical resource as defined in 
§15064.5?  

     

b) Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of an archaeological resource pursuant 
to §15064.5?  

     

c) Disturb any human remains, including those 
interred outside of formal cemeteries?  

     

 
The discussion below is based on the Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project, 
prepared by Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. in October 2022 (BFSA 2022a). 

Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to archaeological and historical resources in Section 5.5. TOP 
2050 SEIR found that implementation of TOP 2050 could impact a historic resource. Mitigation Measure 5-
1 would require historic or potentially historic resources to be evaluated for historic significance through the 
City’s Development Code tier system. Major modification or demolition of Tier III resources (Tier III consists of 
all properties that are Designated Historic Landmarks, are contributing structures in Designated Historic 
Districts, or are Eligible Historical Resources, as defined by the Development Code) may be appropriate 
under certain circumstances. If demolition occurs, the City requires historic resources to be documented and 
historic features to be salvaged, and requires a demolition mitigation fee. Therefore, the ordinance does not 
provide a high level of protection for Tier III historic resources. Therefore, impacts would remain significant 
and unavoidable after mitigation. Therefore, TOP 2050 could cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of an historical resource as defined in §15064.5. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR found that buildout of TOP 2050 could impact archeological resources or paleontological 
resources. However, TOP 2050 SEIR identified that existing federal, state, and local regulations in addition 
to Mitigation Measure 5-2 would reduce impacts to archeological resources to less than significant. Therefore, 
TOP 2050 would not cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource 
pursuant to §15064.5. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR found that grading activities in Ontario would comply with PRC Section 5079.98 so as not 
to disturb human remains. Therefore, TOP 2050 would not disturb any human remains, including those 
interred outside of formal cemetaries.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

Mitigation Measures 5-1: Historic or potentially historic resources in the City shall be evaluated for historic 
significance through the City’s tier system prior to the issuance of plan or development approvals Pursuant 
to City’s Development Code (Chapter 4, Permits, Actions, and Decisions, and Chapter 7, Historic 
Preservation), mitigation measures for all Tier III Historic Resources shall include the following: 

Item E - 81 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

61 

a) Each historic resource shall be fully documented and cataloged pursuant to Historic American 
Building Survey/Historic American Engineering Record (HABS/HAER) standards, to provide a record 
of the resource, including, but not limited to: [i] the preparation of site plans, floor plans, exterior 
and interior elevations, and detail drawings of character defining features (such as moldings, stairs, 
etc.); and [ii] photographs of the resource, including the exterior, interior, and interior and exterior 
character defining features (such as moldings, light fixtures, trim patterns, etc.). 

b) A mitigation fee established pursuant to Section 7.01.030 (Historic Preservation Mitigation Fee) shall 
be paid to the City prior to the issuance of a demolition permit for Tier III historic resources. Fees for 
Tier I and II historic resources shall be determined during the Environmental Impact Report process. 
The fees established for Tier III will be used as a reference point for establishing fees for Tier I and 
II historic resources.  

c) A Certificate of Appropriateness shall not be issued for the demolition of an historic  resource, either 
in whole or in part, until such time that a demolition permit application and a replacement structure 
has been approved by the City, and appropriate permits have been issued for its construction, 
unless: [i] a waiver is granted pursuant to Subsection H (Replacement Structure Waiver for Historic 
Resources Located within Industrial Zoning Districts) of Section 4.02.050; [ii] a deferral of the 
replacement structure requirement is granted pursuant to Subsection G (Replacement Structure 
Deferral) of Section 4.02.050; or [iii]  demolition is required pursuant to Section 7.01.050 (Unsafe 
or Dangerous Conditions) of this Development Code. 

d) In an effort to preserve features and artifacts from historic resources, a determination whether items 
within or on the resource should be salvaged must be made by the Planning Department and may 
include the local historical society prior to the issuance of the demolition permit. The applicant shall 
be responsible for the removal, relocation, storage, and donation of such items selected for 
salvaging. The applicant shall provide an inventory of salvaged items to the Planning Department, 
and shall include a list of each item name, description, and dimension (as necessary), and the location 
of each item on a floor plan. 

 
Mitigation Measure 5-2: In areas of documented or inferred from evident archaeological and/or 
paleontological resource presence, City staff shall require applicants for development permits to provide 
studies to document the presence/absence of such resources. On properties where resources are identified, 
such studies shall provide a detailed mitigation plan, including a monitoring program and recovery and/or 
in situ preservation plan, based on the recommendations of a qualified cultural preservation expert. The 
mitigation plan shall include the following requirements:  

a) Archaeologists and/or paleontologist shall be retained for the project and will be on call during 
grading and other significant ground-disturbing activities.  

b) Should any cultural resources be discovered, no further grading shall occur in the area of the 
discovery until the Planning Director or designee is satisfied that adequate provisions are in place 
to protect these resources. 

c) Unanticipated discoveries shall be evaluated for significance by a San Bernardino County Certified 
Professional Archaeologist/Paleontologist. If significance criteria are met, then the project shall be 
required to perform data recovery, professional identification, radiocarbon dates, and other special 
studies; submit materials to a museum for permanent curation; and provide a comprehensive final 
report including a catalog with museum numbers. 

  

Item E - 82 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

62 

a) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource as 
defined in §15064.5?  

 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

 
No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that implementation of TOP 2050 land use plan could threaten 
historic resources classified as Tier III, especially within growth focus areas, and impacts would remain 
significant and unavoidable after mitigation. 
 
According to the State CEQA Guidelines, a historical resource is defined as something that meets one or more 
of the following criteria: (1) listed in, or determined eligible for listing in, the California Register of Historical 
Resources; (2) listed in a local register of historical resources as defined in Public Resources Code (PRC) 
Section 5020.1(k); (3) identified as significant in a historical resources survey meeting the requirements of 
PRC Section 5024.1(g); or (4) determined to be a historical resource by the Project’s Lead Agency. 
Implementation of the proposed Project would not cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of 
a historical resource as defined in Section 15064.5 of the State CEQA Guidelines, as there are no eligible 
historical resources on the Project site. 
 
The California Register of Historical Resources defines a “historical resource” as a resource that meets one 
or more of the following criteria: (1) associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the 
broad patterns or local or regional history of the cultural heritage of California or the United States; (2) 
associated with the lives of persons important to local, California, or national history; (3) embodies the 
distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of construction or represents the work of a 
master or possesses high artistic values; or (4) has yielded, or has the potential to yield, information important 
to the prehistory or history of the local area, California, or the nation.  
 
As part of the Cultural Resources Study, Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. (BFSA) requested a records search 
of a one-mile radius surrounding the Project site from the South Central Coastal Information Center (SCCIC) 
at California State University, Fullerton (CSU Fullerton). The records search identified 14 previous studies 
within one mile of the Project site. Of the 14 previous studies identified, none of them included the Project 
site. Additionally, the records search identified one historic resource recorded within one mile. No resources 
were identified within the Project site.  
 
A review of historic maps, aerial photographs, and San Bernardino County Property Information 
Management System data shows that the Project site did not contain any structures until 1975 . Additionally, 
BFSA reviewed the existing structures for local, state, and federal historic significance and found that none 
of the structures are listed or qualify for listing as historic structures. Given the aerial photographs, literature 
review, and past disturbances to the Project site, there is no potential for historic resources to exist on the 
Project site (BFSA 2022a). Therefore, the Project would not result in a new impact related to an adverse 
change in the significance of a historic resource. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource 
pursuant to §15064.5?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that buildout of TOP 2050 could impact archeological resources or 
paleontological resources. However, TOP 2050 SEIR identified that existing federal, state, and local 
regulations in addition to Mitigation Measure 5-2 would reduce impacts to archeological resources to less 

Item E - 83 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

63 

than significant.  
 
As discussed in response a) above, the Project site has been previously disturbed from past uses that involve 
grading and building construction. Because the site has previously been disturbed, there is reduced potential 
for the Project to impact archeological resources. Additionally, no archaeological resources were identified 
on the Project site or within the vicinity. Therefore, although current development on the Project site restricted 
visibility of the natural ground surface during the field investigation, based upon the documentation of past 
ground disturbance on the Project site, there is little potential for archaeological resources to be disturbed 
by the proposed Project. However, the Project may result in excavation into the underlying alluvial sediments 
where undiscovered archaeological resources could exist, including archaeological resources that are also 
tribal cultural resources. TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measure 5-2 requires the retention of a qualified 
archaeologist during ground disturbing activities in the event that a resource be discovered during ground 
disturbing activities. With implementation of TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measure 5-2, the Project would not 
cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource and impacts would be 
less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 

c) Disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of formal cemeteries?  
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that grading activities in Ontario would comply with PRC Section 
5079.98 so as not to disturb human remains.  
 
The Project site has been previously disturbed, as described above, and has not been previously used as a 
cemetery. It is not anticipated that implementation of the proposed Project would result in the disturbance of 
human remains. However, in the unlikely event that human remains are encountered during earth removal or 
disturbance activities, the California Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5 (included as RR CUL-1) requires 
that disturbance of the site shall halt until the coroner has conducted an investigation into the circumstances, 
manner, and cause of any death, and the recommendations concerning the treatment and disposition of the 
human remains have been made to the person responsible for the excavation or to his or her authorized 
representative. The Coroner would also be contacted pursuant to Sections 5097.98 and 5097.99 of the 
Public Resources Code relative to Native American remains. In the event the Coroner determines the human 
remains to be of Native American descent, the coroner has 24 hours to notify the Native American Heritage 
Commission (NAHC). The NAHC would then be required to contact the most likely descendant of the deceased 
Native American, who would then serve as a consultant on how to proceed with the remains. Compliance 
with the established regulatory framework (i.e., California Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5 and 
Public Resources Code Section 5097.98) would reduce potential impacts involving disturbance to human 
remains would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate proposed Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding cultural resources. There have not 
been 1) changes related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects 
or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect 

Item E - 84 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

64 

to the circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions 
of TOP 2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial 
importance relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and 
could not have been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
RR CUL-1: Should human remains be discovered during Project construction, the Project would be required 
to comply with State Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5, which states that no further disturbance may 
occur in the vicinity of the body until the County Coroner has made a determination of origin and disposition 
pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 5097.98. The County Coroner must be notified of the find 
immediately. If the remains are determined to be prehistoric, the Coroner will notify the Native American 
Heritage Commission, which will determine the identity of and notify a Most Likely Descendant (MLD). With 
the permission of the landowner or his/her authorized representative, the MLD may inspect the site of the 
discovery. The MLD must complete the inspection within 48 hours of notification by the NAHC. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe cultural resources impacts would result from implementation 
of the proposed Project; therefore, no new mitigation measures are required for cultural resources. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures Applicable to the Project 
 
Mitigation Measure 5-2: In areas of documented or inferred from evident archaeological and/or 
paleontological resource presence, City staff shall require applicants for development permits to provide 
studies to document the presence/absence of such resources. On properties where resources are identified, 
such studies shall provide a detailed mitigation plan, including a monitoring program and recovery and/or 
in situ preservation plan, based on the recommendations of a qualified cultural preservation expert. The 
mitigation plan shall include the following requirements:  

a) Archaeologists and/or paleontologist shall be retained for the project and will be on call during 
grading and other significant ground-disturbing activities.  

b) Should any cultural resources be discovered, no further grading shall occur in the area of the 
discovery until the Planning Director or designee is satisfied that adequate provisions are in place 
to protect these resources. 

c) Unanticipated discoveries shall be evaluated for significance by a San Bernardino County Certified 
Professional Archaeologist/Paleontologist. If significance criteria are met, then the project shall be 
required to perform data recovery, professional identification, radiocarbon dates, and other special 
studies; submit materials to a museum for permanent curation; and provide a comprehensive final 
report including a catalog with museum numbers. 

 
Status: Satisfied through Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project, prepared by Brian 
F. Smith and Associates, Inc. in October 2022. 
  

Item E - 85 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

65 

5.6 ENERGY Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project: Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Result in potentially significant environmental 
impacts due to wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary 
consumption of energy resources, during project 
construction or operation?  

     

b) Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for 
renewable energy or energy efficiency?  

     

 
The discussion below is based on the Air Quality, Energy and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis, prepared 
by Vista Environmental in March 2023, and included as Appendix A. 
 
Summary of Impacts Identified in Top 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to energy in Section 5.6. TOP 2050 SEIR determined TOP 2050 
would not result in wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of fuel use during construction and 
operation. TOP 2050 SEIR determined development projects constructed under TOP 2050 would create 
temporary demands for electricity through the use of electric-powered construction equipment. Natural gas 
is not generally required to power construction equipment, and therefore is not anticipated during 
construction phases. Development projects would also temporarily increase demands for energy (diesel fuel 
and gasoline) associated with transportation. Construction contractors would be required to minimize 
nonessential idling of construction equipment during construction in accordance with the California Code of 
Regulations Title 13, Article 4.8, Chapter 9, Section 2449 which would limit wasteful and unnecessary energy 
consumption. Further, the construction processes for future development projects accommodated under TOP 
2050 would be similar to the construction processes of current development projects and projects 
accommodated under TOP. Therefore, construction of projects under TOP 2050 would not result in wasteful, 
inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy during construction and impacts would be less than 
significant. 

Operation of new development projects built under TOP 2050 would create additional demands for 
electricity and natural gas through uses such as heating, cooling, and ventilation of buildings; water heating; 
operation of electrical systems; use of on-site equipment and appliances; and lighting. However, 
developments built under TOP 2050 would be required to comply with the current and future updates to the 
Building Energy Efficiency Standards and CALGreen, which would contribute in reducing the energy 
demands. In addition to an increase in use of electricity and natural gas, TOP 2050 would result in an overall 
increase in VMT and fuel usage for gasoline-, diesel-, compressed natural gas- and electricity-powered 
vehicles.  

Overall, regulatory compliance (e.g., Building Energy Efficiency Standards, CALGreen, RPS, and CAFÉ 
standards) will increase building energy efficiency and vehicle fuel efficiency and reduce building energy 
demand and transportation-related fuel usage. Additionally, TOP 2050 includes policies related to land use 
and transportation planning and design, energy efficiency, public and active transit, and renewable energy 
generation that will contribute to minimizing building and transportation-related energy demands overall 
and demands on nonrenewable sources of energy. Implementation of proposed policies under TOP 2050 
and CCAP in conjunction with regulatory requirements would ensure that energy demand associated with 
growth under TOP 2050 would not be inefficient, wasteful, or unnecessary. Therefore, operation of projects 

Item E - 86 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

66 

under TOP 2050 would not result in wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy during 
construction and impacts would be less than significant. 

TOP 2050 SEIR also found that implementation of TOP 2050 would not conflict with or obstruct a state or 
local plan for renewable energy or energy efficiency. Therefore, impacts related to energy would be less 
than significant. 

TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

None. 
 

a) Result in potentially significant environmental impacts due to wasteful, inefficient, or 
unnecessary consumption of energy resources, during project construction or operation? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact.  

Construction 
During construction of the Project would consume energy in three general forms:  

1) Petroleum-based fuels used to power off-road construction vehicles and equipment on the Project 
site, construction worker travel to and from the Project site, as well as delivery truck trips;  

2) Electricity associated with providing temporary power for lighting and electric equipment; and  
3) Energy used in the production of construction materials, such as asphalt, steel, concrete, pipes, and 

manufactured or processed materials such as lumber and glass.  

Construction activities related to development of the site with industrial uses would be required to comply 
with existing fuel standards, machinery efficiency standards, and California Air Resources Board (CARB) 
requirements that limit idling of trucks. Through compliance with existing standards, the Project would not 
result in demand for fuel greater on a per-development basis than other development projects in Southern 
California. There are no unusual Project characteristics that would cause the use of construction equipment 
that would be less energy efficient compared to other similar construction sites in other parts of the state. In 
addition, the extent of construction activities that would occur are limited to an approximate 14-month 
period, and the demand for construction-related electricity and fuels would be limited to that timeframe. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined that development projects constructed under TOP 2050 would create temporary 
demands for electricity and would also temporarily increase demands for energy associated with 
transportation. TOP 2050 SEIR found that most off-road construction equipment, such as those used during 
demolition and grading, would be gas or diesel powered and that all operation of construction equipment 
would cease upon completion of Project construction. 
 
Furthermore, consistent with TOP 2050 SEIR, construction contractors are required to demonstrate compliance 
with applicable CARB regulations governing the accelerated retrofitting, repowering, or replacement of 
heavy-duty diesel on- and off-road equipment as part of the City’s construction permitting process. In 
addition, compliance with existing CARB idling restrictions would reduce fuel combustion and energy 
consumption.  

Table E-1 summarizes the Project's construction vehicle fuel usage. The fuel usage is based on the vehicle 
type (worker vehicle, vendor vehicle, and haul truck), vehicle miles traveled, and fuel usage factors contained 
in the ARB EMFAC2021 mobile source emission model.  

 Table E-1: Energy Consumption Estimates During Project Construction  

 Gasoline (total gallons) Diesel Fuel (total gallons) 
Off-Road Equipment - 35,485 
On-Road Construction Vehicles 12,001 12,984 

Total Energy Consumption 12,001 48,469 
Source: Air Quality, Energy and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis (Appendix A) 

Item E - 87 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

67 

 
As indicated in Table E-1, the Project would consume approximately 48,469 gallons of diesel fuel and 
approximately 12,001 gallons of gasoline during construction. Construction activities related to development 
of the site for new industrial uses would be permitted to require compliance with existing fuel standards, 
machinery efficiency standards, and CARB requirements that limit idling of trucks. Through compliance with 
existing standards the Project would not result in demand for fuel greater on a per-development basis than 
other development projects in Southern California. There are no unusual project characteristics that would 
cause the use of construction equipment that would be less energy efficient compared with other similar 
construction sites in other parts of the State. Therefore, construction-related fuel consumption by the Project 
would not result in inefficient, wasteful, or unnecessary energy use and impacts would be less than significant. 
 
Operation 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined operation of new development projects accommodated under TOP 2050 would 
create additional demands for electricity and natural gas compared to existing conditions. Once operational, 
the Project would generate demand for electricity, natural gas, as well as gasoline for fuel tanks. 
Operational use of energy includes the heating, cooling, and lighting of the building, water heating, 
operation of electrical systems, parking lot and outdoor lighting, and the transport of electricity, natural gas, 
and water to the areas where they would be utilized. The proposed Project would also result in energy 
usage associated with gasoline and diesel fuel consumed by Project-related vehicle and truck trips. This use 
of energy is typical for urban development, and no operational activities or land uses would occur that 
would result in extraordinary energy consumption. Table E-2 shows the net electricity, natural gas, and fuel 
usage estimates associated with operation of the proposed Project compared to the previously approved 
Project. 
 

Table E-2: Energy Consumption Estimates During Project Operation 

Energy Type Annual Energy Consumption 
Proposed Project Operational Energy Consumption 

Electricity Consumption (kWh/year) 1,358,389 
Natural Gas Consumption (therms/year) 3,406 

Previous Project Operational Energy Consumption 
Electricity Consumption (kWh/year) 3,010,880 
Natural Gas Consumption (therms/year) 3,406 
Net Electricity Consumption -1,652,491 
Net Natural Gas Consumption 0 

Proposed Project Automotive Fuel Consumption 
Gasoline (gallons/year) 30,193 
Diesel Fuel (gallons/year) 213,075 

Previous Project Automotive Fuel Consumption  
Gasoline (gallons/year) 113,294 
Diesel Fuel (gallons/year) 374,258 
Net Gasoline Consumption -83,101 
Net Diesel Fuel Consumption -161,183 
Source: Air Quality, Energy and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis (Appendix A) 

 
As detailed in Table E-2, operation of the proposed Project would use approximately 1,652,491 fewer 
kilowatt-hour (kWh) per year of electricity, approximately 83,101 fewer gallons of diesel, and 
approximately 161,183 fewer gallons of gasoline annually when compared to the previously approved 
TOP 2050 SEIR. Additionally, the proposed Project would have an no change in natural gas consumption 
compared to the previously approved TOP 2050 SEIR. The overall projected energy demand of the 
proposed Project would be lesser than conditions analyzed under the previously approved TOP 2050 SEIR.  
 
Furthermore, the State of California provides a minimum standard for building design and construction 
standards through Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations (CCR). Compliance with Title 24 is 

Item E - 88 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

68 

mandatory at the time new building permits are issued by the City. The City’s administration of the Title 24 
requirements includes review of design components and energy conservation measures that occurs during the 
permitting process, which ensures that all requirements are met. Typical Title 24 measures include insulation; 
use of energy-efficient heating, ventilation and air conditioning equipment (HVAC); energy-efficient indoor 
and outdoor lighting systems; reclamation of heat rejection from refrigeration equipment to generate hot 
water; and incorporation of skylights, etc. In complying with the Title 24 standards, Project impacts related 
to peak energy usage periods would be minimized and impacts on statewide and regional energy needs 
would be reduced. Thus, operation of the Project would not use large amounts of energy or fuel in a wasteful 
manner, and no operational energy impacts would occur.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy efficiency? 
 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. The California Title 24 Building Energy Efficiency Standards are designed to ensure new 
and existing buildings achieve energy efficiency and preserve outdoor and indoor environmental quality. 
These measures (Title 24, Part 6) are listed in the California Code of Regulations. The California Energy 
Commission is responsible for adopting, implementing and updating building energy efficiency. Local city 
and county enforcement agencies have the authority to verify compliance with applicable building codes, 
including energy efficiency. All development is required to comply with the adopted California Energy Code 
(Code of Regulations, Title 24 Part 6), which is ensured through the City’s development permitting process 
included as RR GHG‐1.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the proposed Project when 
compared to those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding energy. There have not been 1) changes 
related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect to the 
circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions of TOP 
2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the 
severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial importance 
relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and could not have 
been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
RR GHG‐1: Title 24 Standards. The Project shall be designed in accordance with the applicable Title 24 
Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and Nonresidential Buildings (California Code of Regulations 
[CCR], Title 24, Part 6). These standards are updated, nominally every three years, to incorporate improved 

Item E - 89 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

69 

energy efficiency technologies and methods. The Building Manager, or designee shall ensure compliance 
prior to the issuance of each building permit.  
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 

No new impacts nor substantially more severe energy impacts would result from implementation of the 
Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required for energy.  
  

Item E - 90 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

70 

5.7 GEOLOGY AND SOILS Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project: Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Expose people or structures to potential 
substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, 
injury, or death involving: 

     

i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as 
delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State 
Geologist for the area or based on other substantial 
evidence of a known fault? Refer to Division of Mines 
and Geology Special Publication 42. 

     

ii) Strong seismic ground shaking?      
iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including 
liquefaction?  

     

iv) Landslides?      
b) Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of 
topsoil? 

     

c) Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is 
unstable, or that would become unstable as a result 
of the project, and potentially result in on- or off-site 
landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction 
or collapse?  

     

d) Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 
18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code (1994), 
creating substantial risks to life or property?  

     

e) Have soils incapable of adequately supporting 
the use of septic tanks or alternative waste water 
disposal systems where sewers are not available for 
the disposal of waste water?  

     

f) Directly or indirectly destroy a unique 
paleontological resource or site or unique geologic 
feature? 

     

 

This section is based on the following reports: 

• Geotechnical Investigation prepared by Southern California Geotechnical in September 2022 (SCG 
2022a) and included as Appendix C  

• Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project, prepared by Brian F. Smith and 
Associates, in October 2022 (BFSA 2022b), and included as Appendix D. 

Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR discussed impacts related to geological, soil and paleontological resources in Section 5.7. 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined TOP 2050 would not expose people or structures to potential substantial 
adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury or death involving rupture of a known earthquake fault, as 
delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for 

Item E - 91 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

71 

the area or based on other substantial evidence of a known fault. The City of Ontario is not within any 
Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone. TOP 2050 SEIR determined TOP 2050 would not expose people or 
structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving 
landslides. According to TOP 2050 SEIR, based on the groundwater levels throughout the City being greater 
than 50 feet below ground surface, there is currently no potential for liquefaction. Additionally, TOP 2050 
SEIR determined buildout in accordance with TOP 2050 would not expose people or structures to potential 
substantial adverse effects, including the risk of loss, injury, or death involving landslides. Overall, TOP 2050 
SEIR found that impacts related to ground shaking, liquefaction, and landslides would be less than significant 
with compliance with the CBC and with implementation of TOP 2050 seismic related policies. 

TOP 2050 SEIR determined buildout in accordance with TOP 2050 would not result in substantial soil erosion 
or the loss of topsoil. TOP 2050 SEIR also determined buildout in accordance with TOP 2050 would not be 
located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a result of the project, 
and potentially result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction or collapse. 
Further, TOP 2050 SEIR determined buildout in accordance with TOP 2050 would not be located on 
expansive soil and would not create substantial risks to life or property. Overall, TOP 2050 SEIR found that 
impacts related to soil erosion, ground subsidence, compressible and expansive soils would be less than 
significant with compliance with the CBC and review of grading plans for individual projects by the City 
Engineer. 

TOP 2050 SEIR determined implementation of TOP 2050 would not result in use of septic tanks or alternative 
waste water disposal systems that would not be supported by soils in the City. TOP 2050 SEIR identified 
that use of septic tanks would be limited to existing septic tanks, and new septic tanks would be restricted to 
areas not in practical proximity to existing sewer mains, dependent on approval by the Santa Ana Regional 
Water Quality Control Board on a case-by-case basis. 

TOP 2050 SEIR found that impacts related to paleontological resources would be less than significant with 
implementation of Mitigation Measure 5-2 which requires that in the event of an unanticipated discovery of 
archaeological or paleontological resources during grading and excavation of the site, a qualified 
archaeologist would assess the find and develop a course of action to preserve the find. 

TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

Mitigation Measure 5-2: In areas of documented or inferred archaeological and/or paleontological 
resource presence, City staff shall require applicants for development permits to provide studies to document 
the presence/absence of such resources. On properties where resources are identified, such studies shall 
provide a detailed mitigation plan, including a monitoring program and recovery and/or in situ preservation 
plan, based on the recommendations of a qualified cultural preservation expert. The mitigation plan shall 
include the following requirements: 

a. Archaeologists and/or paleontologist shall be retained for the project and will be on call during 
grading and other significant ground-disturbing activities. 

b. Should any cultural resources be discovered, no further grading shall occur in the area of the 
discovery until the Planning Director or designee is satisfied that adequate provisions are in place 
to protect these resources. 

c. Unanticipated discoveries shall be evaluated for significance by a San Bernardino County Certified 
Professional Archaeologist/Paleontologist. If significance criteria are met, then the project shall be 
required to perform data recovery, professional identification, radiocarbon dates, and other 
special studies; submit materials to a museum for permanent curation; and provide a comprehensive 
final report including a catalog with museum numbers. 

a) Expose people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of 
loss, injury, or death involving:  

i. Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or based on other 
substantial evidence of a known fault?  

Item E - 92 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

72 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that implementation of TOP 2050 policies and state regulations 
would ensure that the potential impacts from seismic-related hazards would be less than significant. 
 
A Geotechnical Investigation was conducted by Southern California Geotechnical for the Project site (see 
Appendix C). As described in the Geotechnical Investigation, the Project site is not within an Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zone. The closest known active fault zones are the Chino section of the Elsinore Fault Zone, 
located approximately 6.8 miles southwest of the site and the Cucamonga section of the Sierra Madre Fault 
Zone, located approximately 8.6 miles north of the site (California Department of Conservation 2021). As 
the Project site does not contain an earthquake fault, it is not affected by a state-designated Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zone. Thus, impacts would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

ii. Strong seismic ground shaking? 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that implementation of TOP 2050 policies and state regulations 
would ensure that the potential impacts from seismic-related hazards would be less than significant. 
 
Because the closest earthquake fault zones are the Chino section of the Elsinore Fault Zone, located 
approximately 6.8 miles away and the Cucamonga section of the Sierra Madre Fault Zone, located 
approximately 8.6 miles away, moderate to strong ground shaking can be expected at the site. The amount 
of motion can vary depending upon the distance to the fault, the magnitude of the earthquake, and the local 
geology. Greater movement can be expected at sites located closer to an earthquake epicenter, in areas 
that consist of poorly consolidated material such as alluvium, and in response to an earthquake of great 
magnitude. 
 
Structures built in the City are required to be built in compliance with the California Building Code (CBC 
[California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 2]), included in Ontario Municipal Code as Section 8-1.01 (RR 
GEO-1). Compliance with the CBC would ensure earthquake safety based on factors including occupancy 
type, the types of soils onsite, and the probable strength of the ground motion. Compliance with the CBC 
would include the incorporation of 1) seismic safety features to minimize the potential for significant effects 
as a result of earthquakes; 2) proper building footings and foundations; and 3) construction of the building 
structures so that it would withstand the effects of strong ground shaking. Therefore, with CBC compliance, 
the proposed Project would not expose people or structures to potential substantial adverse effects, including 
the risk of loss, injury, or death involving strong seismic ground shaking more than other developments in 
Southern California. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

iii. Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction?  
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that impacts related to liquefaction would be less than significant 
with compliance with the CBC.  
 

Item E - 93 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

73 

Soils that are most susceptible to liquefaction are clean, loose, saturated, and uniformly graded fine-grained 
sands that lie below the groundwater table within approximately 50 feet below ground surface. Lateral 
spreading is a form of seismic ground failure due to liquefaction in a subsurface layer.  
 
As described in the in the Geotechnical Investigation, artificial fill soils were encountered beneath the asphalt 
concrete pavements and generally consist of loose to medium dense silty sands with varying fine gravel 
content.  Native alluvium was encountered beneath the artificial fill soils and generally consist of loose to 
medium dense sands and silty sands with varying fine gravel content. Additionally, as described in the 
Geotechnical Investigation, no groundwater was encountered at the maximum explored depth of 
approximately 25 feet below ground existing site grades. Due to the lack of shallow groundwater and given 
the dense nature of the materials beneath the site, the potential for liquefaction and dynamic settlement to 
occur is considered low (SCG 2022a).  
 
The Project would be required to comply with the CBC, as included in the City’s Municipal Code. Additionally, 
as required by Municipal Code and the CBC, the Project must demonstrate compliance with the Project-
specific geotechnical report, including geotechnical recommendations for the proposed Project prior to the 
issuance of grading permits. Compliance with the CBC and the City’s Municipal Code would reduce impacts 
related to liquefaction. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

iv. Landslides?  
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that implementation of TOP 2050 policies and state regulations 
would ensure that the potential impacts from seismic-related hazards would be less than significant. 
 
As described in the Geotechnical Investigation, the Project site is relatively level with the overall site 
topography sloping downward to the south at a gradient of less than two percent (SCG 2022a). During the 
field investigation no evidence of landslides, deep-seated landslides, or slope instabilities were not observed 
(SCG 2022a). Additionally, there are no mapped landslides in the vicinity of the Project site. Therefore, due 
to the flat topography of the site, there is no potential for landslides or slope instabilities to occur at the site. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

b) Result in soil erosion or the loss of topsoil? 

  
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that impacts related to soil erosion would be less than significant 
with compliance with the CBC and review of grading plans for individual projects by the City Engineer. 

The Project would involve excavation, grading, and construction activities that would disturb soil and leave 
exposed soil on the ground surface. As such, the proposed Project would be required to comply with the 
City’s grading standards and erosion control measures, as verified through the permitting and plan check 
process. Additionally, the Construction General Permit (CGP; Order No. R8-2002-0011) issued by the State 
Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB), regulates construction activities to minimize water pollution, 
including sediment. The proposed Project would be subject to the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES) permitting regulations, including implementation of a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 

Item E - 94 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

74 

(SWPPP), and associated best management practices (BMPs) during grading and construction, which would 
be required during construction permitting of the Project.  
 
Adherence to the BMPs in the SWPPP would reduce, prevent, or minimize soil erosion from Project-related 
grading and construction activities. After completion of construction, the Project site would be developed with 
a warehouse building, parking lot, and landscape improvements, and would not contain exposed soil. Thus, 
the potential for soil erosion or the loss of topsoil would be low. In addition, the City of Ontario requires new 
development projects to prepare a Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP) including Low Impact 
Development BMPs to reduce the potential of erosion and/or sedimentation through site design and structural 
treatment control street sweeping private streets and parking lots, storm drain signage, and use of efficient 
irrigation systems and landscape design. Implementation of the WQMP and BMPs is verified through the 
City’s permitting process. Therefore, the proposed Project would have a less than significant impact related 
to soil erosion. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

c) Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a 
result of the project, and potentially result in on- or offsite landslide, lateral spreading, 
subsidence, liquefaction or collapse?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that impacts related to unstable geologic units and soil would be 
less than significant with compliance with the CBC and review of grading plans for individual projects by the 
City Engineer. 

As described above, the Project site is relatively flat, and does not contain nor is adjacent to any significant 
slope or hillside area. Furthermore, the Project itself would not create slopes on the site. Thus, on or off-site 
landslides would not occur from implementation of the Project.  
  
The Project site is not located on geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a 
result of the Project, and potentially result in on- or offsite landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, or 
collapse (SCG 2022a). Additionally, the Project site is not within a liquefaction hazard area. Prior to issuance 
of grading permits, pursuant to the CBC, the Project must comply with the geotechnical report and its 
recommendations (see RR GEO-2). The report would provide CBC regulations for the proposed development 
to reduce the potential for liquefaction-induced settlement to a less than significant level and would be 
verified by the City through the building plan check and development permitting process, and would reduce 
potential impacts related to liquefaction, settlement, and ground collapse to a less than significant level. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

d) Be located on expansive soil, as defined in in Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code 
(1994), creating substantial risks to life or property?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that impacts related to expansive soils would be less than significant 
with compliance with the CBC and review of grading plans for individual projects by the City Engineer. 
 

Item E - 95 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

75 

Expansive soils contain certain types of clay minerals that shrink or well as the moisture content changes; the 
shrinking or swelling can shift, crack, or break structures built on such soils. Arid or semiarid areas with 
seasonal changes of soil moisture experiences, such as southern California, have a higher potential of 
expansive soils than areas with higher rainfall and more constant soil moisture. 
 
As discussed in the Geotechnical Investigation, near-surface soils encountered at the boring locations consist 
of silty sands, fine sands, and well graded sands. Onsite soils testing indicate that Project site soils have an 
expansion index of less than 10, which is classified as a very low expansion potential (SCG 2022a).  
 
In addition, as described previously, compliance with the CBC would be incorporated into grading plans and 
building specifications as a condition of construction permit approval to ensure that Project structures would 
withstand the effects related to ground movement, including expansive soils. Therefore, impacts would be 
less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

e) Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative 
wastewater disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of 
wastewater? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR identified that use of septic tanks would be limited to existing septic tanks, 
and new septic tanks would be constricted to areas not in practical proximity to existing sewer mains, 
dependent on approval by the Santa Ana Regional Water Quality Control Board on a case-by-case basis. 

The proposed Project would connect to existing sewer lines within East Francis Street. No septic tanks are 
proposed. Therefore, no impact would occur. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

f) Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic 
feature? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR found that impacts related to paleontological resources would be less than 
significant with implementation of Mitigation Measure 5-2 which requires that in the event of an unanticipated 
discovery of archaeological or paleontological resources during grading and excavation of the site, a 
qualified archaeologist would assess the find and develop a course of action to preserve the find. 

A paleontological literature review and collections and records search was conducted for the proposed 
Project through the Division of Geological Sciences at the San Bernardino County Museum (SBCM), the Los 
Angeles County Museum of Natural History (LACM), the Western Science Center (WSC), and with data from 
published and unpublished paleontological literature (Appendix D). Geologic mapping shows that the Project 
site lies in Holocene-aged young alluvial fan deposits underlain by late Pleistocene alluvial fan deposits. The 
paleontological sensitivity of late Pleistocene alluvial sediments is considered High.  
 
Record search results from the SBCM indicated no known fossils are recorded within the Project site or 
immediate vicinity. The closest fossil localities held by the SBCM are located approximately 3.5 miles 
southeast and consist of likely Pleistocene-aged bones from a mastodon and a camel. Mammoth remains 

Item E - 96 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

76 

were also identified farther to the east. Several other fossil localities held by the SBCM were recovered 
nearby in southwestern Fontana. The records search revealed that the LACM holds no known fossil records 
within the Project site or vicinity. Holdings at the WSC record sparse mammalian remails located 
approximately 4.5 miles to the south. All of these localities are late Pleistocene in age (BFSA 2022b). 
 
The Project would demolish the existing building onsite and construct a new tilt-up warehouse building on the 
site. Earthmoving activities, including grading and trenching activities, would have the potential to disturb 
previously unknown paleontological resources if earthmoving activities occur at significant depths below 
previously disturbed soils. Based on the high paleontological sensitivity of the late Pleistocene alluvial fan 
deposits mapped at the Project site, and nearby fossil localities, earth disturbance activities have the 
potential to impact significant paleontological resources. As specified in TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measure 
5-2, in areas of documented or inferred archaeological and/or paleontological resource presence, City 
staff shall require applicants for development permits to provide studies to document the presence/absence 
of such resources. Further, on properties where resources are identified, such studies shall provide a detailed 
mitigation plan, including a monitoring program and recovery and/or in situ preservation plan, based on 
the recommendations of a qualified cultural preservation expert. In compliance with Mitigation Measure 5-
2, the Project Applicant/Developer would be required to follow the recommendations included in the 
Paleontological Assessment prepared for the proposed Project. With implementation TOP 2050 SEIR 
Mitigation Measure 5-2, potential impacts to paleontological resources and unique geologic features would 
be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding geology and soils. There have not been 1) 
changes to the project that require major revisions of TOP 2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new 
significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) 
substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under which the project is undertaken that require major 
revisions of TOP 2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial 
importance relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and 
could not have been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
RR GEO-1: California Building Code. Site development in the City is required to comply with the CBC and 
all state requirements pertaining to geotechnical hazards and constraints, including soil conditions. The CBC 
has been incorporated and adopted in its entirety into the City’s Building Code as Title 8, Chapter 1, Section 
8-1.01 of the Ontario Municipal Code. 
 
RR GEO-2 As required by the current CBC adopted in the City’s Municipal Code, prior to issuance of a 
grading permit, site preparation shall follow the recommendations in the Geotechnical Investigation for 
Proposed Industrial Development Bon View Avenue and California Street, Ontario, California (dated May 16, 
2022), prepared by NOVA Services, Inc., as well as any additional future site-specific, design-level 
geotechnical investigations of the Project. 

Item E - 97 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

77 

Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe geology and soils impacts would result from implementation 
of the Project; therefore, no new mitigation measures are required for geology and soils. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures Applicable to the Project: 

Mitigation Measure 5-2: In areas of documented or inferred archaeological and/or paleontological 
resource presence, City staff shall require applicants for development permits to provide studies to document 
the presence/absence of such resources. On properties where resources are identified, such studies shall 
provide a detailed mitigation plan, including a monitoring program and recovery and/or in situ preservation 
plan, based on the recommendations of a qualified cultural preservation expert. The mitigation plan shall 
include the following requirements: 

a. Archaeologists and/or paleontologist shall be retained for the project and will be on call 
during grading and other significant ground-disturbing activities. 

b. Should any cultural resources be discovered, no further grading shall occur in the area of 
the discovery until the Planning Director or designee is satisfied that adequate provisions 
are in place to protect these resources. 

c. Unanticipated discoveries shall be evaluated for significance by a San Bernardino County 
Certified Professional Archaeologist/Paleontologist. If significance criteria are met, then the 
project shall be required to perform data recovery, professional identification, radiocarbon 
dates, and other special studies; submit materials to a museum for permanent curation; and 
provide a comprehensive final report including a catalog with museum numbers. 

Status: Satisfied through the preparation of the Paleontological Resources Assessment prepared by Brian F. 
Smith and Associates in October 2022. In compliance with the requirements of TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation 
Measure 5-2, Project grading and construction activities shall follow the recommendations in the Paleontological 
Assessment. 
 

  

Item E - 98 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

78 

5.8 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Would the project: 

Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either 
directly or indirectly, that may have a significant 
impact on the environment? 

     

b) Conflict with an applicable plan, policy or 
regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing the 
emissions of greenhouse gases? 

     

      
The discussion below is based on the Air Quality, Energy and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis, prepared 
by Vista Environmental in March 2023, and included as Appendix A. 
 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR evaluated impacts related to generation of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in Section 5.8. 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined buildout of TOP 2050 would not generate GHG emissions, either directly or 
indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the environment. TOP 2050 SEIR determined that with 
implementation of the Community Climate Action Plan (CCAP), the City would achieve the Executive Order 
(EO) S-03-05 GHG emissions reduction targets, resulting in an 80 percent decrease in GHG emissions in the 
City by 2050 from existing conditions, and would make substantial progress toward the State’s carbon 
neutrality goals under EO B-55-18. Therefore, TOP 2050 SEIR determined that TOP 2050, which includes 
the CCAP, would reduce GHG emissions impacts compared to the TOP 2010. As such, impacts were 
determined to be less than significant.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined implementation of TOP 2050 would not conflict with an applicable plan, policy, 
or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

None.  
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

Explanation 

Constituent gases of the Earth’s atmosphere, called atmospheric greenhouse gases (GHGs), play a critical 
role in the Earth’s radiation amount by trapping infrared radiation from the Earth’s surface, which otherwise 
would have escaped to space. Prominent greenhouse gases contributing to this process include carbon 
dioxide (CO2), methane (CH4), ozone (O3), water vapor, nitrous oxide (N2O), and chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs). 
This phenomenon, known as the Greenhouse Effect, is responsible for maintaining a habitable climate. 
Anthropogenic (caused or produced by humans) emissions of these greenhouse gases in excess of natural 
ambient concentrations are responsible for the enhancement of the Greenhouse Effect and have led to a 
trend of unnatural warming of the Earth’s natural climate, known as global warming or climate change. 
Emissions of gases that induce global warming are attributable to human activities associated with 
industrial/manufacturing, agriculture, utilities, transportation, and residential land uses.  
 

Item E - 99 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

79 

Section 15364.5 of the California Code of Regulations defines GHGs to include carbon dioxide, methane, 
nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulfur hexafluoride.  Transportation is responsible 
for 37 percent of the state’s greenhouse gas emissions, followed by electricity generation. Emissions of CO2 
and N2O are byproducts of fossil fuel combustion. Methane, a potent greenhouse gas, results from off-
gassing associated with agricultural practices and landfills. Sinks of CO2, where CO2 is stored outside of the 
atmosphere, include uptake by vegetation and dissolution into the ocean. 
 
California has passed several bills and the Governor has signed at least three executive orders regarding 
greenhouse gases. GHG statues and EO’s include AB 32, SB 1368, EO S-03-05, EO S-20-06 and EO S-01-
07. These regulations require the use of alternative energy, such as solar power. Solar projects produce 
electricity with no GHG emissions and assist in offsetting GHG emissions produced by fossil-fuel-fired power 
plants. 
 

a) Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a significant 
impact on the environment? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. Global climate change (GCC) describes alterations in weather features (e.g., temperature, 
wind patterns, precipitation, and storms) that occur across the Earth as a whole. GCC is not confined to a 
particular project area and is generally accepted as the consequence of global industrialization over the 
last 200 years. A typical project, even a very large one, does not generate enough GHG emissions on its 
own to influence global climate change significantly; hence, the issue of global climate change is, by 
definition, a cumulative environmental impact. 
 
The principal GHGs of concern contributing to the greenhouse effect are CO2, CH4, N2O, 
hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons, and sulfur hexafluoride. GHGs are produced by both direct and 
indirect emissions sources. Direct emissions include consumption of natural gas, heating and cooling of 
buildings, landscaping activities and other equipment used directly by land uses. Indirect emissions include 
the consumption of fossil fuels for vehicle trips, electricity generation, water usage, and solid waste disposal. 
The large majority of GHG emissions generated from residential projects are related to vehicle trips. 
 
In 2022, the City updated its Community Climate Action Plan (CCAP), which outlines a plan to achieve the 
City’s long term GHG reduction targets under Senate Bill 32, Executive Order S-03-05 for year 2050, and 
substantial progress towards the State’s carbon neutrality goals under Executive Order B-55-18. The 2022 
CCAP provides strategies to meet or exceed the State targets of reducing emissions 40 percent below 1990 
levels by 2030 and 80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050. The 2022 CCAP includes Screening Tables that 
require the Project applicant to commit to implementing 100 points or more of mitigation measures into the 
proposed Project in order for the Project to be consistent with the CCAP. Projects that garner a total of 100 
points or greater would not require quantification of project specific GHG emissions. Additionally, consistent 
with CEQA Guidelines, projects that garner a total of 100 points or greater would be determined to have 
a less than significant individual and cumulative impact for GHG emissions. The Project applicant has 
reviewed the Screening Tables and selected 103 points of mitigation to implement into the proposed Project, 
which goes above and beyond the minimum 100 points required (see Appendix D of the Air Quality Impact 
Report). Therefore, the proposed Project would not conflict with the City’s GHG reduction measures that 
includes the 2022 CCAP. As such, the proposed Project’s GHG emissions have been provided for 
informational purposes only. 
 
Similar to TOP 2050, during operations, the proposed warehouse would generate long-term GHG emissions 
from mobile sources (e.g., vehicle trips), area sources (e.g., maintenance activities and landscaping), indirect 
emissions from sources associated with energy consumption, waste sources (land filling and waste disposal), 
and water sources (water supply and conveyance, treatment, and distribution). Natural gas use results in the 
emission of two GHGs: CH4 (the major component of natural gas) and CO2 (from the combustion of natural 
gas). Electricity use can result in GHG production if the electricity is generated by combusting fossil fuel. 

Item E - 100 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

80 

 
Table GHG-1 shows the operational GHG emissions that would result from the operation of the proposed 
warehouse and compares that to the previously approved TOP 2050 project. The large majority of GHG 
emissions generated from operation of the warehouse and the previously approved TOP 2050 project would 
be from vehicle trips.  
 

Table GHG-1: Project Operational GHG Emissions 

Category Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Metric Tons per Year) 
CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e 

Proposed Project 
Mobile Sources 2,479.00 0.18 0.33 2,587.00 
Area Sources 3.39 <0.01 <0.01 3.49 
Energy Usage 396.00 0.04 <0.01 397.00 
Water and Wastewater 53.80 1.25 0.03 94.00 
Solid Waste 14.00 1.40 0.00 49.00 
Refrigeration - - - 107.00 
Off-Road Equipment 92.10 <0.01 <0.01 92.20 
Construction 20.77 <0.01 <0.01 21.13 
Proposed Project Total Emissions 3,059.06 2.87 0.36 3,350.82 
TOP 2050 SEIR Project 
Mobile Sources 5,192.00 0.36 0.67 5,408.00 
Area Sources 3.39 <0.01 <0.01 3.40 
Energy Usage 720.00 0.07 0.01 723.00 
Water and Wastewater 54.30 1.26 0.03 94.80 
Solid Waste 18.50 1.85 0.00 64.60 
Refrigeration - - - 7.21 
Off-Road Equipment 206.00 <0.01 <0.01 206.00 
Construction 20.80 <0.01 <0.01 21.17 
TOP 2050 SEIR Project Total Emissions 6,214.99 3.54 0.71 6,528.18 
Net Difference (3,155.93) (0.67) (0.35) (3,177.35) 
Source: Air Quality, Energy, and Greenhouse Gas Impact Report (Appendix A). 

 
As shown in Table GHG-1, the net change in GHG emissions from implementation of the proposed Project is 
estimated to be negative 3,177.35 MTCO2e. Therefore, the proposed Project would result in fewer MTCO2e 
than the previously approved project. In addition, because the 2022 CCAP does not provide any 
quantitative GHG emissions thresholds to determine significance, this analysis has determined significance 
through a determination if the proposed Project would not conflict with any applicable plan for reducing 
GHG emissions. As detailed below under threshold b), the proposed Project would be consistent with the 
applicable measures in the 2022 CCAP as well as the 2022 CARB Scoping Plan and SCAG’s Connect SoCal. 
Therefore, a less than significant generation of greenhouse gas emissions would occur from development of 
the proposed Project. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the proposed Project when 
compared to those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Conflict with an applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing 
the emissions of greenhouse gases? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact.  
 

Item E - 101 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

81 

The Project would not conflict with an applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of 
reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases. In addition, the Project would comply with regulations imposed 
by the state and the SCAQMD that reduce GHG emissions, as described below: 

• Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006 (AB 32) is applicable to the Project because many of the 
GHG reduction measures outlined in AB 32 (e.g., low carbon fuel standard, advanced clean car 
standards, and cap-and-trade) have been adopted over the last 5 years and implementation 
activities are ongoing. The proposed building would not conflict with fuel and car standards or cap-
and-trade. 

• Pavley Fuel Efficiency Standards (AB 1493) establishes fuel efficiency ratings for new (model year 
2009-2016) passenger cars and light trucks. The Project would develop new residences that would 
not conflict with fuel efficiency standards for vehicles. 

• Title 24 California Code of Regulations (Title 24) establishes energy efficiency requirements for new 
construction that address the energy efficiency of new (and altered) buildings. The Project is required 
to comply with Title 24, which would be verified by the City during the plan check and permitting 
process. 

• Title 17 California Code of Regulations (Low Carbon Fuel Standard [LCFS]) requires carbon content 
of fuel sold in California to be 10 percent less by 2020. Because the LCFS applies to any 
transportation fuel that is sold or supplied in California, all vehicle trips generated by the Project 
would comply with LCFS. 

• California Water Conservation in Landscaping Act of 2006 (AB 1881) provides requirements to 
ensure water efficient landscapes in new development and reduced water waste in existing 
landscapes. The Project is required to comply with AB 1881 landscaping requirements, which would 
be verified by the City during the plan check and permitting process. 

• Emissions from vehicles, which are a main source of operational GHG emissions, would be reduced 
through implementation of federal and state fuel and air quality emissions requirements that are 
implemented by CARB. In addition, as described in the previous response, the Project would not 
result in an exceedance of an air quality standard. 

 
The regulations, plans, and polices adopted for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions that are directly 
applicable to the Project include the latest Title 24 Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and 
Nonresidential Buildings (RR GHG-1) and the Title 24 California Green Building Standards Code (CALGreen) 
(RR GHG-2). The Project would be required to comply with the latest Title 24 Standard at the time of building 
permit issuance. 
 
City of Ontario Community Climate Action Plan 
On August 16, 2022, the City of Ontario adopted the 2022 CCAP in order to update the community’s 
strategic path to reducing GHG emissions beyond 2020, consistent with the State requirements provided in 
Senate Bill 32, Executive Orders S-3-05 and B-55-18, and California Public Resources Code Section 
21083.3. The 2022 CCAP provides strategies to meet or exceed the State targets of reducing emissions 40 
percent below 1990 levels by 2030 and 80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050. TOP 2050 SEIR and the 
2022 CCAP details that the measures provided in the 2022 CCAP are not substantially different than those 
of 2014 CCAP, and therefore there is no change in the environmental impacts associated with the 2022 
CCAP. The 2022 CCAP includes Screening Tables that require the Project applicant to commit to 
implementing 100 points of mitigation measures into the proposed Project. Projects that garner a total of 
100 points or greater would not require quantification of project specific GHG emissions. Additionally, 
consistent with CEQA Guidelines, projects that garner a total of 100 points or greater would be determined 
to have a less than significant individual and cumulative impact for GHG emissions. As demonstrated in Table 
GHG-2, the Project applicant has reviewed the Screening Tables and selected 103 points of mitigation to 
implement into the proposed Project, which goes above and beyond the minimum 100 points required (see 

Item E - 102 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

82 

Appendix D of the Air Quality Impact Report for the full Screening Table). Therefore, the proposed Project 
would not conflict with the City’s GHG reduction measures that includes the 2022 CCAP. 
 

Table GHG-2: Project Selected GHG Performance Standards 

Description Project Feature Project 
Points 

Reduction Measure 1: Building Electrification 
Replacement of gas appliances with 
electric appliance 

The Project would install an electric space heater and 
electric water heather in place of gas appliances. 

13 

Lack of natural gas infrastructure The Project site does not have any natural gas 
infrastructure. 

8 

Reduction Measure 2: Solar Energy Systems for New Warehouse Development 
Installation of battery storage at new 
warehouse/logistics facilities 

The Project includes solar battery storage 
installation with a capacity of 200-599 kW (DC). 

3 

Reduction Measure 5: Transit Oriented Communities (TOCs) 
New development is located in a 
transit oriented community (TOC) 

The Project site is located within ½ mile radius of 
multiple OmniTrans Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) stops 
with a frequency of service interval of 15 minutes 
or less during the morning and afternoon peak 
commute periods. 

7 

Reduction Measure 7: Vehicle Electrification 
Installation of EV charging stations 
for truck parking spaces 

The Project includes installation of Level 2 or higher 
electric vehicle (EV) charging stations at a rate of 
50% or more of planned truck parking spaces.  

15 

Reduction Measure 8: Active Transportation 
Installation or improvement of bicycle 
facilities 

The Project includes bicycle parking facilities with a 
1:20 ratio of bicycle parking to employee vehicle 
parking space. 

2 

Reduction Measure 10: Electric construction equipment19 
Use electric construction equipment 
for a portion of the construction 
project 

Two-thirds (66%) or more of construction equipment 
used for construction (during the building phase, not 
including the grading phase), measured by number 
of hours of operation, would be zero emission 
equipment. 

8 

Reduction Measure 11: Waste diversion 
Site design for nonresidential 
warehouse development includes  
site(s) for green waste/organics and 
recycling collection bins 

Site design allocates sufficient space for storage 
and collection of green waste, organic waste, and 
recyclables. 

20 

Reduction Measure 12: Water conservation 
Implement indoor water efficiency 
measures 

The Project includes installation of water-efficient 
faucets as well as installation of on-demand water 
circulators on sinks. 

3 

Incorporate outdoor water efficiency 
measures 

The Project landscaping consists of drought-tolerant, 
low maintenance plants and would include either a 
drip irrigation system or sprinkler irrigation system 
with a weather-based irrigation controller. 

4 

Additional Recommended Measures 
AR-1: Charging stations for large 
trucks  

The Project includes the installation of one charging 
station for zero emission trucks larger than two-
axles (class 8 and 9, and semitrucks) 

8 

Item E - 103 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

83 

AR-3: Installation of EV charging 
stations for employee vehicle 
parking spaces (select one option) 

The Project includes installation of Level 2 or higher 
EV charging stations at a rate of 5-9% of planned 
employee vehicle parking spaces. 

4 

AR-5: Reflective Paving The Project would utilize high-reflectivity pavement 
for all hardscaped areas, including parking areas, 
walking paths, and patios. 

4 

AR-6: Zero Emission Cargo 
Equipment 

The tenant would be required to use zero emission 
cargo handling equipment for a minimum of 50% 
of all operations. 

4 

Total Points 103 
 
2022 CARB Scoping Plan 
CARB’s 2022 Scoping Plan identifies additional GHG reduction actions and strategies necessary to achieve 
the AB 1279 target of 85 percent below 1990 levels by 2045. These actions and strategies build upon 
those identified in the first update to the Scoping Plan (2013) and in the second update to the Scoping Plan 
(2017). Although a number of these measures are currently established as statewide regulations, some 
measures have not yet been formally proposed or adopted. It is expected that these measures or similar 
actions to reduce GHG emissions will be adopted as required to achieve statewide GHG emissions targets. 
Table GHG-3 provides a discussion of the Project's consistency with the 2022 Scoping Plan.  
 

Table GHG-3: Project Consistency with 2022 CARB Scoping Plan 

AB 32 GHG Inventory Sector (shown in Bold) 
and Scoping Plan Action 

Proposed Project Consistency with Scoping Plan 
Actions  

GHG Emissions Reductions Relative to the SB 32 Target 
40% below 1990 levels by 2030. No Conflict. Senate Bill 32 and Assembly Bill 197 have 

codified this emission target into statute that requires emissions 
reductions for sources covered by the AB 32 inventory, which 
includes new non-residential building construction.  In order to 
achieve these emissions reduction targets the CEC has 
increased the energy-efficiency standards in the most current 
2022 Title 24, Part 6 building energy requirements that 
increases the onsite renewable energy generation 
requirements as well as requires the use of greater insulation 
and more efficient appliances that will reduce GHG emissions.   

Smart Growth / Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) 
VMT per capita reduced 25% below 2019 levels by 
2030, and 30% below 2019 levels by 2045. 

No Conflict. Senate Bill 375 directs each regional MPO 
(SCAG is MPO for project area) to adopt a SCS/RTP that 
meet this reduction target.  The Connect SoCal was prepared 
to meet these reduction targets.  Table GHG-3, below details 
how the proposed Project would not conflict with the Connect 
SoCal. As such, the proposed Project would not conflict with 
this Strategy. 

Light-Duty Vehicle (LDV) Zero-Emission Vehicles (ZEVs) 
100% of LDV sales are ZEV by 2035. No Conflict. Executive Order N-79-20 requires all new LDVs 

sold in California to be zero-emission by the year 2035.    The 
proposed Project would be designed to meet the 2022 Title 
24, Part 6 and Part 11 requirements that require the proposed 
parking lot to include designated spaces for ZEVs and include 
ZEV charging stations.  As such, the proposed Project would not 
conflict with this Strategy. 

Truck ZEVs 

Item E - 104 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

84 

AB 32 GHG Inventory Sector (shown in Bold) 
and Scoping Plan Action 

Proposed Project Consistency with Scoping Plan 
Actions  

100% of medium-duty (MDV)/HDC sales are ZEV by 
2040 (AB 74 University of California Institute of 
Transportation Studies [ITS] report). 

No Conflict. Executive Order N-79-20 requires all new LDVs 
sold in California to be zero-emission by the year 2045. The 
freight trucks associated with the proposed Project would be 
primarily limited to trucks making deliveries to the Project site 
during construction and operation of the Project. No trucks 
would be maintained by the proposed Project or potentially 
charged on the Project site. As such, the proposed Project 
would not conflict with this Strategy.  

Aviation 
20% of aviation fuel demand is met by electricity 
(batteries) or hydrogen (fuel cells) in 2045. 
Sustainable aviation fuel meets most or the rest of the 
aviation fuel demand that has not already transitioned 
to hydrogen or batteries. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not utilize any 
aviation fuel. 

Ocean-going Vessels (OGV) 
2020 OGV At-Berth regulation fully implemented, with 
most OGVs utilizing shore power by 2027. 
25% of OGVs utilize hydrogen fuel cell electric 
technology by 2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not utilize any 
OGVs. 

Port Operations 
100% of cargo handling equipment is zero-emission by 
2037. 
100% of drayage trucks are zero emission by 2035. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not impact any 
operations at any ports. 

Freight and Passenger Rail 
100% of passenger and other locomotive sales are ZEV 
by 2030. 
100% of line haul locomotive sales are ZEV by 2035. 
Line haul and passenger rail rely primarily on hydrogen 
fuel cell technology, and others primarily utilize 
electricity. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not impact any 
freight or passenger rail operations. 

Oil and Gas Extraction 
Reduce oil and gas extraction operations in line with 
petroleum demand by 2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not impact any 
oil and gas extraction activities. 

Petroleum Refining 
CCS on majority of operations by 2030, beginning in 
2028. 
Production reduced in line with petroleum demand. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not impact any 
petroleum refining activities. 

Electricity Generation 
Sector GHG target of 38 million metric tons of carbon 
dioxide equivalent (MMTCO2e) in 2030 and 30 
MMTCO2e in 2035. 
Retail sales load coverage134 
20 gigawatts (GW) of offshore wind by 2045. 
Meet increased demand for electrification without new 
fossil gas-fired resources. 

No Conflict. Senate Bill 100 requires that 100 percent of 
retail sales of electricity be generated by renewable or zero-
carbon source of electricity by December 1, 2045.  The 
proposed Project would be designed to meet the most current 
2022 Title 24, Part 6 building energy requirements that 
increases the onsite renewable energy generation 
requirements as well as requires the use of greater insulation 
and more efficient appliances that will reduce the proposed 
structures electrical usage.   

New Residential and Commercial Buildings 
All electric appliances beginning 2026 (residential) and 
2029 (commercial), contributing to 6 million heat pumps 
installed statewide by 2030. 

No Conflict.  The new 2022 Title 24, Part 6 building energy 
requirements detail that all new structures with built-in 
appliances to be wired for electric appliances, regardless if 

Item E - 105 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

85 

AB 32 GHG Inventory Sector (shown in Bold) 
and Scoping Plan Action 

Proposed Project Consistency with Scoping Plan 
Actions  

natural gas appliances are initially installed.  As such, the 
proposed Project would not conflict with this Strategy. 

Existing Residential Buildings 
80% of appliance sales are electric by 2030 and 
100% of appliance sales are electric by 2035. 
Appliances are replaced at end of life such that by 
2030 there are 3 million all-electric and electric-ready 
homes—and by 2035, 7 million homes—as well as 
contributing to 6 million heat pumps installed statewide 
by 2030. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include any 
existing residential buildings. 

Existing Commercial Buildings 
80% of appliance sales are electric by 2030, and 
100% of appliance sales are electric by 2045. 
Appliances are replaced at end of life, contributing to 
6 million heat pumps installed statewide by 2030. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include any 
existing commercial buildings. 

Food Products 
7.5% of energy demand electrified directly and/or 
indirectly by 2030; 75% by 2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include any 
commercial food production activities.  

Construction Equipment 
25% of energy demand electrified by 2030 and 75% 
electrified by 2045. 

No Conflict.  Executive Order N-79-20 requires all off-road 
vehicles and equipment to transition to 100 percent zero-
emission equipment, where feasible, by 2035.  All construction 
equipment fleets utilized during construction of the proposed 
Project are required to be registered with CARB and meet 
CARB’s current emission reductions regulations, which are 
anticipated to be updated to meet Executive Order N-79-20 
requirements.  As such, the proposed Project would not conflict 
with this Strategy. 

Chemicals and Allied Products; Pulp and Paper 
Electrify 0% of boilers by 2030 and 100% of boilers 
by 2045. 
Hydrogen for 25% of process heat by 2035 and 
100% by 2045. 
Electrify 100% of other energy demand by 2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include any 
pulp and paper production activities.  

Stone, Clay, Glass, and Cement 
CCS on 40% of operations by 2035 and on all facilities 
by 2045. 
Process emissions reduced through alternative materials 
and CCS. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include any 
stone, clay, glass and cement production activities.   

Other Industrial Manufacturing 
0% energy demand electrified by 2030 and 50% by 
2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include any 
other industrial manufacturing activities.   

Combined Heat and Power 
Facilities retire by 2040. Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include any 

existing combined heat and power facilities. 
Agriculture Energy Use 
25% energy demand electrified by 2030 and 75% by 
2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include any 
commercial agriculture activities. 

Low Carbon Fuels for Transportation 
Biomass supply is used to produce conventional and 
advanced biofuels, as well as hydrogen. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include any 
production of fuels for transportation. 

Low Carbon Fuels for Buildings and Industry 

Item E - 106 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

86 

AB 32 GHG Inventory Sector (shown in Bold) 
and Scoping Plan Action 

Proposed Project Consistency with Scoping Plan 
Actions  

In 2030s, biomethane135 blended in pipeline 
Renewable hydrogen blended in fossil gas pipeline at 
7% energy (~20% by volume), ramping up between 
2030 and 2040. 
In 2030s, dedicated hydrogen pipelines constructed to 
serve certain industrial clusters. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include any 
production of fuels for buildings and industry. 

Non-combustion Methane Emissions 
Increase landfill and dairy digester methane capture. 
Some alternative manure management deployed for 
smaller dairies. 
Moderate adoption of enteric strategies by 2030. 
Divert 75% of organic waste from landfills by 2025. 
Oil and gas fugitive methane emissions reduced 50% 
by 2030 and further reductions as infrastructure 
components retire in line with reduced fossil gas 
demand. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include the 
operation of any landfill or dairy. 
 

High GWP Potential Emissions 
Low GWP refrigerants introduced as building 
electrification increases, mitigating HFC emissions. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would not include the 
manufacturing of appliances that use low GWP refrigerants.   

Source: Air Quality, Energy, and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis (Appendix A). 
 
SCAG’s Connect SoCal 
SB 375 requires CARB to set regional targets for GHG emissions reductions from passenger vehicle use. It is 
up to each Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) in the State (SCAG is the MPO for Southern 
California) to adopt a Sustainable Communities Strategy (SCS) to meet the reduction target set by CARB for 
the Southern California region. Connect SoCal is the most current SCS adopted by SCAG and was prepared 
to meet a 2035 GHG emission reduction target of 19 percent reduction over the 2005 per capita emissions 
levels through new initiatives of land use, transportation and technology.  Table GHG-4 provides a discussion 
of the Project's consistency with Connect SoCal. 
 

Table GHG-4: Project Consistency with Connect SoCal 

Goals and Strategies Consistency Assessment 
Connect SoCal Goals 
Goal 1: Encourage regional economic 
prosperity and global competitiveness. 

Not Applicable. This Goal is directed at SCAG and the City and does 
not apply to the proposed Project. This strategy calls on encouraging 
regional economic prosperity and global competitiveness. The 
proposed Project would not interfere with such policymaking. 

Goal 2:  Improve mobility, accessibility, 
reliability, and travel safety for people and 
goods. 

Consistent. The Project proposes to construct a new warehouse in an 
infill development area that will provide jobs to nearby residents in 
an area where there is more housing than jobs and is therefore 
consistent with this Goal. 

Goal 3: Enhance the preservation, security, and 
resilience of the regional transportation system. 

Consistent. The Project would install sidewalks on the Project site, 
adjacent to Francis Street that would be lighted.  The Project would 
improve public safety infrastructure in the vicinity of the Project site by 
providing new lighting within the Project site and around the perimeter.   

Goal 4: Increase person and goods movement 
and travel choices within the transportation 
system. 

Not Applicable. This strategy calls on SCAG to increase person and 
goods movement and travel choices across the transportation system. 
The proposed Project would not interfere with this goal. 

Goal 5: Reduce greenhouse gas emissions and 
improve air quality.  

Consistent. The Project would result in criteria air pollutant and GHG 
emissions during construction and operation. However, emissions would 

Item E - 107 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

87 

Goals and Strategies Consistency Assessment 
not exceed the SCAQMD significance thresholds and would be 
consistent with the 2022 CCAP. 

Goal 6: Support healthy and equitable 
communities.  

Consistent. The Project would be consistent with this Goal by 
facilitating the use of alternative modes of transportation, which would 
aid in reducing car trips and positively impact air quality. The Project 
includes bicycle parking spaces for the employees and customers. The 
Project would encourage pedestrian travel by providing a sidewalk 
on the Project site adjacent to Francis Street.  

Goal 7: Adapt to a changing climate and 
support an integrated regional development 
pattern and transportation network. 

Not Applicable. This goal is directed towards SCAG and does not 
apply to individual development projects.   

Goal 8: Leverage new transportation 
technologies and data-driven solutions that 
result in more efficient travel. 

Not Applicable. This Goal is directed towards SCAG and does not 
apply to the proposed Project. This strategy calls on SCAG to use new 
transportation technologies and data-driven solutions to increase 
efficiency. The proposed Project would not interfere with this goal. 

Goal 9: Encourage development of diverse 
housing types in areas that are supported by 
multiple transportation options. 

Not Applicable. This Goal does not apply to warehouse development 
projects. 

Goal 10: Promote conservation of natural and 
agricultural lands and restoration of habitats. 

Consistent. The Project site does not include any agricultural lands. As 
such, the proposed Project would not interfere with this goal. 

Connect SoCal Strategies 
Strategy 1: Focus growth near destinations and 
mobility options. 

Consistent. The proposed Project would construct a new warehouse in 
an infill development area. The Project would provide pedestrian and 
bicycle connectivity to encourage use of alternative transportation. 

Strategy 2: Promote diverse housing choices. Not Applicable. This Strategy does not apply to warehouse 
development projects. 

Strategy 3: Leverage technology innovations. Not Applicable. This strategy is directed to SCAG and jurisdictions 
and does not apply to the proposed Project. This strategy aims to 
promote low emission technologies, improve access to services through 
technology, and identify ways to incorporate micro power grids into 
communities. The proposed Project would not interfere with this 
strategy. 

Strategy 4: Support implementation of 
sustainability policies. 

Consistent. The proposed Project would incorporate Green Building 
Measures, including water efficient landscaping, efficient lighting, low-
flush toilets, and energy efficient appliances. 

Strategy 5: Promote a Green Region. Consistent. The proposed Project would include 32,137 square feet 
of landscaped area Additionally, the development would emphasize 
sustainable landscaping features that promote more resource efficient 
development.  

Source: Air Quality, Energy, and Greenhouse Gas Impact Report (Appendix A). 
 
As described above, the Project is consistent with the goals and strategies set by the 2022 CCAP, CARB’s 
2022 Scoping Plan, and SCAG’s Connect SoCal. In addition, emissions would not exceed the thresholds set 
by SCAQMD. Therefore, implementation of the Project would not conflict with any applicable plan, policy 
or regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases and impacts would be 
less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the proposed Project when 
compared to those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
  

Item E - 108 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

88 

Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding greenhouse gas emissions. There have not 
been 1) changes related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects 
or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect 
to the circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions 
of TOP 2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial 
importance relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and 
could not have been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
RR GHG‐1: Title 24 Standards. The Project shall be designed in accordance with the applicable Title 24 
Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and Nonresidential Buildings (California Code of Regulations 
[CCR], Title 24, Part 6). These standards are updated, nominally every three years, to incorporate improved 
energy efficiency technologies and methods. The Building Manager, or designee shall ensure compliance 
prior to the issuance of each building permit.  
 
RR GHG‐2: CALGreen Standards. Projects shall be designed in accordance with the applicable California 
Green Building Standards (CALGreen) Code (24 CCR 11). The Building Manager, or designee shall ensure 
compliance prior to the issuance of each building permit. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe greenhouse gas emissions impacts would result from 
implementation of the proposed Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures with respect to 
greenhouse gas emissions impacts are required.  
 
  

Item E - 109 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

89 

5.9 HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS 
MATERIALS 

Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

 
 
 
 
 
Would the project: 

Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment through the routine transport, use, or 
disposal of hazardous materials? 

     

b) Create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment through reasonably foreseeable upset 
and accident conditions involving the release of 
hazardous materials into the environment? 

     

c) Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or 
acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste 
within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed 
school? 

     

d) Be located on a site which is included on a list of 
hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to 
Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, 
would it create a significant hazard to the public or 
the environment? 

     

e) For a project located within an airport land use 
plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, 
within two miles of a public airport or public use 
airport, would the project result in a safety hazard 
for people residing or working in the project area? 

     

f) Impair implementation of or physically interfere 
with an adopted emergency response plan or 
emergency evacuation plan?  

     

g) Expose people or structures, either directly or 
indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury or death 
involving wildland fires?  

     

 
This section is based on the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment conducted by AECOM in September 2022, 
(AECOM 2022a) and included as Appendix E and the Limited Phase II Environmental Site Assessment 
conducted by AECOM (AECOM 2022b) in September 2022, and included as Appendix F. 
 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to hazards and hazardous materials in Section 5.9. TOP 2050 
SEIR determined that impacts related to hazardous waste transport, use, and/or disposal that would occur 
upon the buildout of TOP 2050 would be less than significant with adherence to the current federal and 
state regulations, City ordinances, and TOP 2050 policies. Additionally, TOP 2050 SEIR determined 
implementation of TOP 2050 would not create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through 
the reasonably foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into 
the environment with adherence to the current federal and state regulations, City ordinances, and TOP 2050 
policies. TOP 2050 SEIR does not discuss impacts related to emitting hazardous emissions or handling 
hazardous materials within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school. 
 

Item E - 110 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

90 

TOP 2050 SEIR also determined that while there are land uses within the City that are on a list of hazardous 
materials sites, implementation of Safety Element policies of TOP 2050 (including LU-2.1, LU-2.3, LU-2.9, S-
6.2, S-6.5, S-6.6, S-6.8, and S-6.9) in addition to existing regulations, would ensure that development would 
not expose people to substantial hazards from hazardous materials sites listed on environmental databases.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined that TOP 2050 would have a less than significant impact associated with 
consistency with the Ontario Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ONT ALUCP) and the Caltrans 2011 
California Airport Land Use Planning Handbook for Chino Airport. TOP 2050 SEIR determined that buildout 
of TOP 2050 would not interfere with an emergency evacuation plan all development applications are 
reviewed by the Ontario Fire Department to ensure that adequate emergency accessibility is provided 
based on local and state guidance. TOP 2050 SEIR found that TOP 2050 would result in less than significant 
risks from wildfire hazards as Ontario is outside of the state responsibility area, and CAL FIRE has determined 
that the City contains no areas subject to very high wildfire risk. Adherence to the CAL FIRE 2019 Strategic 
Fire Plan for California, the California Fire Code, County of San Bernardino Multi-jurisdiction Hazard 
Management Plan, the Ontario LHMP, and fire services from the Ontario Fire Department, TOP 2050 would 
not exacerbate risk or result in post-wildfire hazards (e.g., landslides, mudflows, and flooding). 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

None.  
 
Existing Condition 
The Project site is currently developed with one large structure located at the southeastern portion of the 
subject property with six annex structures/canopies (cement mixing plant, office, and former concrete batch 
plant), material storage areas throughout the subject property and asphalt paved parking areas. The site is 
being used to produce bagged concrete, sand, and pre-cast concrete forms. Historical research indicates 
that the Project site was undeveloped from at least 1897 until at least 1903. Historical aerials show that the 
Project site was used as orchards from at least 1938 through 1948. In 1953, the orchards were replaced 
by agricultural land and remained as such through 1966. By 1974, Keystone Concrete Block Co. occupied 
the eastern portion of the site as a cement and concrete mixing facility while the northeastern corner of the 
site appeared as disturbed land with unidentifiable objects/material laydown yard. In 1984, the western 
portion of the site was acquired by Patio Industries to be used for building materials and aggregate storage. 
By 1985 a structure was located on the southeastern corner of the site while the remainder of the site 
appeared to be improved with asphalt parking areas and material lay down yards. Western States 
Wholesale operated the site from 1995 to 2022 (AECOM 2022a). 
 
The Phase I ESA identified the following recognized environmental concerns (RECs) relative to the Project site: 

• The former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility is located approximately one mile 
northeast of the Project site. Between 1974 and 1980, industrial wastewater containing chlorinated 
solvents were discharged to the property impacting groundwater with volatile organic compounds 
(VOCs), primarily trichloroethylene (TCE). Multiple investigations conducted indicated that the TCE in 
the soil contaminated the groundwater and migrated off-site, in a southwesterly direction, toward 
the Project site. Conceptual modeling conducted in 2019 identified isoconcentrations for TCE at the 
Project site to include 50 micrograms per liter (μg/l) and 100 μg/l. Vapor intrusion assessments 
conducted at the source area have shown a low likelihood of possible vapor intrusion. Depths to 
groundwater at the Project site and locale have been measured at greater than 250 feet below 
ground surface. Groundwater remediation is being completed by natural attenuation. Based on the 
potential for groundwater impacted with VOCs to be located at the Project site represents a REC 
to the subject property. Based on the identified responsible party, the remediation by natural 
attenuation, and the continued monitoring, no further action is warranted for this REC. 

 
The Phase I ESA identified the following historical REC (HREC) relative to the Project site: 

• The release of diesel fuel to the Project site soils was discovered during the removal of an 
underground storage tank (UST) on December 15, 1998. Information obtained in the San Bernardino 

Item E - 111 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

91 

County Fire Department (County Fire Department) files indicated that a release of petroleum was 
reported in the vicinity of a fuel dispenser during the UST closure activities and not in the UST 
excavation. Notifications of the release were submitted to the County Fire Department in January 
1999. In January 1999, soils in the vicinity of the dispenser were excavated to a depth of 18 feet 
below ground surface (bgs) and 59.93 tons of impacted soil were excavated. A work plan for 
subsurface soil investigation in the vicinity of the dispenser was submitted on June 17, 1999. 
Additional soil excavation and sampling was conducted in the vicinity of the dispenser in August 
1999. Concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons (diesel) were detected at 2,000 parts per 
million (ppm) prior to excavation and were detected at 28 ppm post excavation. Xylene and 
ethylbenzene were detected at low concentrations prior to excavation and were not detected after 
excavation. Several correspondences with the County Fire Department requesting waste manifests 
occurred in the Fall of 1999. The County Fire Department issued a receipt of submittal on January 
20, 2000, and Landowner Notification Requirements on May 9, 2000. The County Fire Department 
issued a Remedial Action Completion Certification for this release on May 9, 2000, indicating that 
there was no further action. 

 
The Phase I ESA identified no evidence of Controlled RECs (CRECs) or further historical RECs (HRECs) in 
connection with the Project site. 

a) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine transport, 
use, or disposal of hazardous materials?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. A hazardous material is defined as any material that, due to its quantity, concentration, or 
physical or chemical characteristics, poses a significant present or potential hazard to human health and 
safety or to the environment if released into the environment. Hazardous materials include, but are not limited 
to, hazardous substances, hazardous wastes, and any material that regulatory agencies have a reasonable 
basis for believing would be injurious to the health and safety of persons or harmful to the environment if 
released into the home, workplace, or environment. Hazardous wastes require special handling and disposal 
because of their potential to damage public health and the environment. TOP 2050 SEIR determined that 
impacts related to hazardous waste transport, use, and/or disposal that would occur upon the buildout of 
TOP 2050 would be less than significant with adherence to the existing regulations. 

Construction 
Construction activities for the proposed Project would involve routine transport, use, and disposal of 
hazardous materials such as paints, solvents, oils, grease, and calking. In addition, routine hazardous 
materials would be used for fueling and serving construction equipment onsite. These types of hazardous 
materials routinely used during construction are not acutely hazardous, and all storage, handling, use, and 
disposal of these materials are regulated by existing state and federal laws that the Project is required to 
strictly adhere to including, but not limited to: South Coast Air Quality Management District’s Rule 1403; 
California Health and Safety Code (Section 39650 et seq.); California Code of Regulations (Title 8, Section 
1529); California Occupational Safety and Health Administration regulations (California Code of 
Regulations, Title 8, Section 1529 [Asbestos] and Section 1532.1 [Lead]); and Code of Federal Regulations 
(Title 40, Part 61 [asbestos], Title 40, Part 763 [asbestos], and Title 29, Part 1926 [asbestos and lead]). As 
a result, the routine transport, use or disposal of hazardous materials during construction activities for the 
proposed Project would be less than significant. 
 
Operation  
In 2018, the City of Ontario prepared a local hazard mitigation plan (LHMP) to identify the City’s hazards, 
review and assess past disaster occurrences, estimate the probability of future occurrences, and set goals to 
reduce or eliminate long-term risk to people and property from natural and man-made hazards. 
Additionally, the City has prepared an Emergency Operations Plan to address the City’s planned response 
to natural disasters, technological incidents, and national security emergencies. 

Item E - 112 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

92 

 
The proposed Project would operate a new warehouse building. Depending on the type of business 
occupying the warehouses, operations could require the use of various types and quantities of hazardous 
materials, including lubricants, solvents, cleaning agents, wastes, paints and related wastes, petroleum, 
wastewater, batteries, (lead acid, nickel cadmium, nickel, iron, carbonate), scrap metal, and used tires. These 
hazardous materials would be used, stored, and disposed of in accordance with applicable regulations and 
standards (such as CFR, Title 49, Chapter I; CCR, Title 8; CFR, Title 40, Part 263) that are enforced by the 
USEPA, USDOT, CalEPA, CalOSHA, DTSC, and County of San Bernardino Environmental Health Division. 
 
Under California Health and Safety Code Section 25531 et seq., CalEPA requires businesses operating with 
a regulated substance that exceeds a specified threshold quantity to register with a managing local agency, 
known as the Certified Unified Program Agency (CUPA). Additionally, businesses are required to provide 
workers with training on the safe use, handling, and storage of hazardous materials. Businesses are also 
required to maintain equipment and supplies for containing and cleaning up spills of hazardous materials 
that can be safely contained and cleaned by onsite workers and to immediately notify emergency response 
agencies in the event of a hazardous materials release that cannot be safely contained and cleaned up by 
onsite personnel. Therefore, compliance with existing laws and regulations governing hazards and hazardous 
materials would result in less than significant impacts related the routine transport, use, and disposal of the 
hazardous materials. 
  
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

b) Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably foreseeable 
upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the 
environment? 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact.  

Construction 
As described previously, construction of the Project would involve the limited use and disposal of hazardous 
materials. Equipment that would be used in construction of the project has the potential to release gas, oils, 
greases, solvents, and spills of paint and other finishing substances. However, the amount of hazardous 
materials onsite would be limited, and construction activities would be required to adhere to all applicable 
regulations regarding hazardous materials storage and handling, as well as to implement construction BMPs 
(through implementation of a required SWPPP implemented by City conditions of approval, and included 
as RR HYD-1) to prevent a hazardous materials release and to promptly contain and clean up any spills, 
which would minimize the potential for harmful exposures. With compliance to existing laws and regulations, 
which is mandated by the City through construction permitting, the Project’s construction-related impacts 
would be less than significant. 
 
Accidental Releases. The routine use, storage, transport, and disposal of hazardous materials in accordance 
with applicable regulations during construction activities would not pose health risks or result in significant 
impacts. To avoid an impact related to an accidental release, the use of best management practices (BMPs) 
during construction are implemented as part of a SWPPP as required by the National Pollution Discharge 
Elimination System General Construction Permit (and included as RR HYD-1). Implementation of an SWPPP 
would minimize potential adverse effects to workers, the public, and the environment. Construction contract 
specifications would include strict on-site handling rules and BMPs that include, but are not limited to: 

• Establishing a dedicated area for fuel storage and refueling and construction dewatering activities 
that includes secondary containment protection measures and spill control supplies; 

Item E - 113 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

93 

• Following manufacturers’ recommendations on the use, storage, and disposal of chemical products 
used in construction; 

• Avoiding overtopping construction equipment fuel tanks; 
• Properly containing and removing grease and oils during routine maintenance of equipment; and 
• Properly disposing of discarded containers of fuels and other chemicals. 

In September 2022, AECOM completed a Phase I Environmental Assessment (Phase I ESA) for the proposed 
Project (Appendix F). The 2022 Phase I ESA identified one REC and one HREC related to the Project site as 
described above. 

AECOM performed a limited Phase II ESA (Appendix F) to determine if there was potential for the existing 
UST and dispenser to have environmentally impact the Project site. During the assessment, six borings in the 
vicinity of the UST and dispenser were advanced to a depth of 15 feet bgs. Borings from the Phase II ESA 
identified that Project site soils at the contain diesel range organics (DRO) at a concentration of 5.1 milligrams 
per kilogram (mg/Kg). This concentration is below the RWQCB’s Tier 1 Environmental Screening Level (ESL) 
of 250 mg/Kg for petroleum-diesel constituents. Based on the results of the Phase II ESA, the UST has not 
caused an environmental impact at the Project site and no further investigation is needed (AECOM 2022b). 

Further, the Phase I ESA did not identify CRECs or De Minimis Conditions8 related to the Project site.  

Operation  
As described previously, operation of the proposed warehouse building includes use of limited hazardous 
materials, such as: cleaning agents, paints, pesticides, batteries, and aerosol cans. These types of hazardous 
materials are not acutely hazardous and regulated by existing laws that have been implemented to reduce 
risks related to the use of these substances. Should future uses of the building utilize or store substantial 
amounts or acute types of hazardous materials, both federal and state governments require all businesses 
that handle more than specified amounts of hazardous materials to submit a business plan to regulating 
agencies. With adherence of existing regulations, impacts would be less than significant.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

c) Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous materials, substances, or waste within one-
quarter mile of an existing or proposed school? 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. There are no schools within one quarter mile of the Project site. The closest school to the 
Project site is Bon View Elementary School, located 1.1-miles southwest. While Bon View Elementary School 
is greater than one quarter mile from the Project site, it is located along a designated truck route (E 
Philadelphia St) which could be used by the proposed Project’s truck traffic. However, as noted in Sections 
5.9(a) and 5.9(b), the proposed Project is not anticipated to release hazardous emissions or handle 
hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or wastes in significant quantities. Therefore, the 
proposed Project would not emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous materials, substances, or waste 
within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school. As such, impacts would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with those 
identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
  

 
8 A de minimis condition is defined in the ASTM E-1527-13 Standard as “… a condition that does not. represent a threat to human 
health or the environment; and a condition that would not be subject to. enforcement action if brought to the attention of a regulatory 
agency.” 

Item E - 114 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

94 

d) Be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled 
pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a significant 
hazard to the public or the environment?  

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. The Phase I ESA conducted for the Project site included a review of federal, state, and 
local regulatory databases to evaluate the Project site and known or suspected sites of environmental 
contamination pursuant to ASTM Standard E 1527-13.  
 
The Site was identified on the following databases: 

• Facility Index System (FINDS)  
• Enforcement and Compliance History (ECHO) 
• Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA)-Small Quantity Generator (SQG) 
• RCRA Non-generator/No Longer Regulated (RCRA Nongen/NLR) 
• Underground Storage Tank (UST) 
• Leaking UST (LUST) 
• CERS Storage Tanks (CERS Tanks) 
• State Facility Inventory Database (CA FID UST)  
• Recovered Government Archive LUST (RGA LUST)  
• Statewide Environmental Evaluation and Planning System (SWEEPS UST)  
• Hazardous Waste and Substances Sites Lists (CORTESE)  
• California Environmental Reporting System (CERS)  
• Emissions Inventory Data (EMI)  
• National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)  
• California Integrated Water Quality System (CIWQS)  
• San Bernardino County Hazardous Material Permits (San Bern Co. Permit)  
• Facility and Manifest Data (Haznet)  
• Hazardous Waste Tracking System (HWTS)  

 
The UST, CERS Tanks, and CA FID UST databases identified Patio Industries (a previous use) with an UST 
permit issued by San Bernardino County. The LUST database indicated a release from a diesel UST that 
impacted soils was discovered in 1998 and was reported in 1999. The Geotracker database indicated the 
case was closed in 2000. The Project site was identified on the RGA LUST database from 2001 through 
2012 under Patio Industries. The SWEEPS UST database identified an UST at the Project site in 1988. The 
CORTESE database identified the Project site as a LUST cleanup site with a cleanup status of case closed. 
The CERS database identified multiple violations related to recordkeeping requirements. The EMI database 
indicated Patio Industries emitted particulate matter and carbon monoxide. Based on the closed regulatory 
status of the LUST case, the UST does not represent a REC to the subject property (AECOM 2022a). 

 
The FINDS database identified Western States Wholesale (WSW) as a cement manufacturing facility 
enrolled in multiple compliance-based programs. The ECHO database identified WSW as a Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) generator. No violations were identified in the past five years. The 
Project site was a non-generator of hazardous waste from 1995 until 2000 when WSW was designated as 
a small quantity generator (SQG). During this period, no violations were identified. According to the NPDES 
and CIWQS databases, WSW was issued an industrial stormwater permit in 2007 that was set to expire in 
2020. WSW was also identified on the San Bern Co Permits database as an active facility with permits for 
an UST and SQG handling activities that expired in October 2021. The Haznet and HWTS databases 
identified shipments of waste oil and unidentified organic liquids between 1998 and 2007. These database 
listings are compliance based. Based on the lack of contamination related databases identified, these listings 
do not represent a REC to the Project site (AECOM 2022a). 

Item E - 115 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

95 

 
Based on the results of the assessment, the historical uses at the site and surrounding area activities have not 
resulted in RECs. Thus, no additional assessment or mitigation is necessary. Additionally, with adherence to 
existing federal and state regulations regarding the handling of hazardous materials, impacts related to 
former onsite uses would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

e) For a project within an airport land use plan, or where such a plan has not been adopted, 
within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project result in a safety 
hazard for people residing or working in the project area?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 
No New Impact. The Project site is located approximately one mile south of Ontario International Airport. 
The Project site is within the Airport Influence Area of the Ontario International Airport Land Use 
Compatibility Plan (ONT ALUCP). The Project site is also within the ONT ALUCP 60-65 dB CNEL Noise Impact 
Zone, Recorded Overflight Notification Zone, and Airspace Protection Zone. The Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA) reviewed the Project and issued a Consistency Determination Report for the proposed 
warehouse building on March 2, 2023. The FAA determined the Project would be consistent with the ONT 
ALUCP. Therefore, the Project would not result in a safety hazard for people residing or working in the 
Project area. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

f) Impair implementation of an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation 
plan?  

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact.  
 
Construction 
The proposed construction activities, including equipment and supply staging and storage, would occur within 
the Project site, and would not restrict access of emergency vehicles to the Project site or adjacent areas. The 
installation of new driveways and connections to existing and proposed infrastructure systems that would be 
implemented during construction of the proposed Project would not require closure of East Francis Street. 
Any temporary lane closures needed for utility connections, or driveway construction would be required to 
implement appropriate measures to facilitate vehicle circulation, as included within construction permits. Thus, 
implementation of the Project through the City’s permitting process would ensure existing regulations are 
adhered to and would reduce potential construction related emergency access or evacuation impacts to a 
less than significant level.  
 
Operation  
As discussed above, the City prepared a LHMP to identify the City’s hazards, review and assess past disaster 
occurrences, estimate the probability of future occurrences, and set goals to reduce or eliminate long-term 
risk to people and property from natural and man-made hazards. According to the City’s LHMP, interstate 
highways would serve as major emergency response and evacuation routes (see TOP 2050 SEIR Figure 5.17-
6, Evacuation Routes). Access to the proposed Project would be provided via two driveways on East Francis 
Street. The Project driveways and internal circulation would be required to meet the City’s design standards 
through the City’s permitting procedures to ensure adequate emergency access and evacuation. The Project 

Item E - 116 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

96 

is also required to provide fire suppression facilities (e.g., hydrants and sprinklers). Additionally, the Ontario 
Fire Department and Public Works Department would review the development plans as part of the 
permitting procedures to ensure adequate emergency access pursuant to the requirements in Section 503 of 
the California Fire Code (Title 24, California Code of Regulations, Part 9), included as Municipal Code 
Section 4-4.01. Therefore, operation of the proposed Project would not physically interfere with an adopted 
emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

g) Expose people or structures, either directly or indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury 
or death involving wildland fires? 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact.  
 
The Project site is fully developed and is within an urbanized area and not adjacent to any wildland areas. 
Additionally, according to the CAL FIRE Fire Hazard Severity Zone map, the Project site is not within a Very 
High Fire Hazard Severity Zone (VHFHSZ) (CAL FIRE 2022). Further, Ontario Fire Department already 
provides service to the site and surrounding area and would continue to provide fire protection and response. 
Ontario Fire Department Station 3 is the closest station to the Project site, located approximately 0.4 miles 
east of the Project site. As a result, the Project would not expose people or structures, either directly or 
indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury, or death involving wildland fires. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the proposed Project when 
compared to those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the proposed Project would be consistent with 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 

 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding hazards and hazardous materials. There 
have not been 1) changes related to development of the Project site that involve new significant 
environmental effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial 
changes with respect to the circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that 
require major revisions of TOP 2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or 
a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information 
of substantial importance relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not 
known and could not have been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
RR HYD-1: Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan. As listed in Section 5.10, Hydrology and Water Quality.  
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe hazards and hazardous materials impacts would result from 
the Project; therefore, no new mitigation measures are required for hazards and hazardous materials.   

Item E - 117 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

97 

5.10 HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project: Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Violate any water quality standards or waste 
discharge requirements or otherwise substantially 
degrade surface or groundwater quality?  

     

b) Substantially decrease groundwater supplies or 
interfere substantially with groundwater recharge 
such that the project may impede sustainable 
groundwater management of the basin? 

     

c) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern 
of the site or area, including through the alteration 
of the course of a stream or river or through the 
addition of impervious surfaces, in a manner which 
would: 

     

i) result in substantial erosion or siltation on- 
or off-site; 

     

ii) substantially increase the rate or amount 
of surface runoff in a manner which would 
result in flooding on- or offsite; 

     

iii) create or contribute runoff water which 
would exceed the capacity of existing or 
planned stormwater drainage systems or 
provide substantial additional sources of 
polluted runoff; or 

     

iv) impede or redirect flood flows?      

d) In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk 
release of pollutants due to project inundation?  

     

e) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water 
quality control plan or sustainable groundwater 
management plan?  

     

 
The discussion below is based on Preliminary WQMP prepared by the City of Ontario provided as Appendix 
G and the Preliminary Hydrology Report prepared by Tait & Associates, Inc., dated December 20, 2022, 
provided as Appendix H.  
 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to hydrology and water quality in Section 5.10. TOP 2050 SEIR 
determined implementation of TOP 2050 would not violate any water quality standards or waste discharge 
requirements or otherwise substantially degrade surface or groundwater quality. TOP 2050 would continue 
policies of the TOP 2010 to reduce pollutants from entering the City’s stormwater system, and future 
development projects associated with TOP 2050 Projects would be required to submit required permits and 
implement a SWPPP and erosion control plan throughout the construction phase of the project. During 
operation, future projects would be required to control pollutants in discharges of stormwater from post-
construction activities through WQMP preparation and implementation. Therefore, water quality standards 

Item E - 118 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

98 

and waste discharge requirements would not be exceeded, and surface water and groundwater quality 
would not be degraded.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined TOP 2050 would not substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere 
substantially with groundwater recharge such that implementation may impede sustainable groundwater 
management of the basin. The City’s groundwater supplies are from the Chino Groundwater Basin, which is 
adjudicated and is considered by the Department of Water Resources (DWR) to be a very low priority 
groundwater basin. Each water purveyor has an allotted amount of water that can be pumped from the 
basin so that the safe yield is not exceeded. The City has access to additional water supplies that can 
accommodate the proposed increase in growth with buildout of TOP and would not interfere with sustainable 
management of the groundwater basin. Therefore, TOP 2050 SEIR determined that with the implementation 
of City policies that promote low impact development (LID) and infiltration for new development projects 
and compliance with the Chino Basin Watermaster’s safe yield restrictions, the potential for the project to 
substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater recharge such that 
the project may impede sustainable groundwater management of the basin is considered less than significant.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined TOP 2050 would increase impervious surfaces but would not substantially 
increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner which would impact water quality or cause 
flooding. Implementation of best management practices (BMPs) outlined in Storm Water Pollution Prevention 
Plans (SWPPP), erosion and sediment control plans, Water Quality Management Plans (WQMP), and TOP 
2050 policies would address anticipated erosion and siltation impacts. Therefore, TOP 2050 would not result 
in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site. Additionally, TOP 2050 would reduce the potential for on- 
and off-site flooding during the operational phase of future development projects. Therefore, the project 
would not result in flooding on- or off-site. Because new development in the City would be required to 
prepare a hydrology study and drainage analysis in accordance with the San Bernardino County Hydrology 
Manual, no significant impacts related to surface runoff and capacity of storm drain systems would occur. 
The City requires that all new structures in a special flood hazard area have elevations above the base 
flood elevation. Therefore, with implementation of existing policies, the potential for TOP 2050 to impede 
or redirect flood flows is considered less than significant.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR identified less than significant impacts related to flood hazards, tsunamis, seiches, or dam 
inundation. Only small portions of the City are in the 100-year floodplain, adjacent to flood control channels, 
detention basins, and creeks. The western and southern portions of the City are in the dam inundation zone 
of San Antonio Dam. Additionally, there are several debris basins in the surrounding areas that impact the 
northern and eastern parts of the City. The probability of dam failure is very low, and Ontario has never 
been impacted by a major dam failure. In addition, dam owners are required to maintain emergency action 
plans that include procedures for damage assessment and emergency warnings. There are no large bodies 
of water that would result in a seiche during seismic activity. Additionally, the reservoirs/aboveground water 
tanks within the City are enclosed, thereby minimizing the possibility of a seiche. The project site is inland 
and approximately 30 miles from the ocean and is not at risk of flooding due to tsunamis. Therefore, impacts 
associated with the release of pollutants due to inundation would be less than significant. 
  
TOP 2050 SEIR determined implementation of TOP 2050 would not obstruct or conflict with the 
implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable groundwater management plan. Adherence 
to the State Construction General Permit (CGP), implementation of the SWPPP, and adherence to the City’s 
Erosion and Sediment Control Plan requirements would ensure that surface and groundwater quality are not 
adversely impacted during construction.  Projects approved under TOP 2050 would be required to comply 
with the Santa Ana River Basin Plan and to control pollutants in discharges of stormwater from 
postconstruction activities under National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit No. 
CAS618036 through preparation of a WQMP identifying BMPs for prevention of stormwater pollution 
during the post-construction phase, including site-design, source-control, and/or treatment BMPs. Therefore, 
the project would not obstruct or conflict with the Regional Water Quality Control Board’s (RWQCB) Basin 
Plan or any groundwater management plan, and impacts would be less than significant. Therefore, the 

Item E - 119 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

99 

project would result in less than significant impacts related to consistency with a water quality control plan 
or sustainable groundwater management plan. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

None.  
 

a) Violate any water quality standards or waste discharge requirements or otherwise 
substantially degrade surface or groundwater quality? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact.  

Construction 
Construction of the Project would require grading and excavation of soils, which would loosen sediment, and 
then have the potential to mix with surface water runoff and degrade water quality. Pollutants of concern 
during Project construction include sediments, trash, petroleum products, concrete waste (dry and wet), 
sanitary waste, and chemicals. During construction activities, excavated soil would be exposed, and there 
would be an increased potential for soil erosion and transport of sediment downstream compared to existing 
conditions. During a storm event, soil erosion could occur at an accelerated rate. In addition, construction-
related pollutants, such as chemicals, liquid and petroleum products (e.g., paints, solvents, and fuels), and 
concrete-related waste, could be spilled, leaked, or transported via stormwater runoff into adjacent 
drainages and into downstream receiving waters.  
 
These types of water quality impacts during construction of the Project would be prevented through 
implementation of a SWPPP, which is required to identify all potential sources of pollution that are 
reasonably expected to affect the quality of storm water discharges from the construction site (see RR HYD-
1 and RR HYD-4). Construction of the Project would disturb more than one acre of soil; therefore, the 
proposed project would be required to obtain coverage under the NPDES General Permit for Discharges of 
Storm Water Associated with Construction Activity (see RR HYD-2). Construction activity subject to this permit 
includes clearing, grading, and ground disturbances such as trenching, stockpiling, or excavation. The 
Construction General Permit requires implementation of a SWPPP that is required to identify all potential 
sources of pollution that are reasonably expected to affect the quality of storm water discharges from the 
construction site. The SWPPP would generally contain a site map showing the construction perimeter, 
proposed buildings, stormwater collection and discharge points, general pre- and post-construction 
topography, drainage patterns across the site, and adjacent roadways. The SWPPP would also include 
construction BMPs. The SWPPP would include construction BMPs such as: 
 

• Prompt revegetation of proposed landscaped/grassed swale areas;   
• Perimeter gravel bags or silt fences to prevent off-site transport of sediment;   
• Storm drain inlet protection (filter fabric gravel bags and straw wattles), with gravel bag check 

dams within paved roadways;   
• Regular sprinkling of exposed soils to control dust during construction and soil binders for forecasted 

wind storms;  
• Specifications for construction waste handling and disposal;   
• Contained equipment wash-out and vehicle maintenance areas;   
• Erosion control measures including soil binders, hydro mulch, geotextiles, and hydro seeding of 

disturbed areas ahead of forecasted storms;   
• Construction of stabilized construction entry/exits to prevent trucks from tracking sediment on City 

roadways;   
• Construction timing to minimize soil exposure to storm events; and  

Item E - 120 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

100 

• Training of subcontractors on general site housekeeping.  

With adherence to the existing requirements and implementation of the appropriate BMPs as ensured 
through the City’s construction permitting process, which would ensure that the Project would not violate any 
water quality standards or waste discharge requirements, potential water quality degradation associated 
with construction activities would be minimized, and impacts would be less than significant. 
 
Operation  
The Project includes the operation of a new warehouse building, which would introduce the potential for 
pollutants such as chemicals from cleaners, pesticides and sediment from landscaping, trash and debris, and 
oil and grease from vehicles and trucks. These pollutants could potentially discharge into surface waters and 
result in degradation of water quality. However, the Project would be required to incorporate a WQMP 
with post-construction (or permanent) Low Impact Development (LID) site design, source control, and treatment 
control BMPs (see RR HYD-3). Consistent with TOP 2050 Policy ER-1.6, the Project’s LID site design would 
minimize impervious surfaces and provide infiltration of runoff into landscaped areas.  
 
The source control BMPs would minimize the introduction of pollutants that may result in water quality impacts; 
and treatment control BMPs that would treat stormwater runoff. The Project would install an onsite storm 
drain system that would convey runoff to infiltration-based underground storm detention chambers. Under 
proposed conditions the site would be 10 percent pervious. 
 
With implementation of the operational source and treatment control BMPs that are outlined in the 
Preliminary WQMP prepared for the Project (Appendix G) that would be reviewed and approved by the 
City during the permitting and approval process, potential pollutants would be reduced to the maximum 
extent feasible, and implementation of the Project would not substantially degrade water quality. Therefore, 
impacts would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 

b) Substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater 
recharge such that the project may impede sustainable groundwater management of the 
basin? 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts related to groundwater supplies would be less than 
significant with implementation of City policies that promote LID and infiltration for new development projects 
and compliance with the Chino Basin Watermaster’s safe yield restrictions.  
 
The proposed Project would not deplete groundwater supplies. The City currently draws all of its 
groundwater supply from the Chino Groundwater Basin (Chino Basin) (UWMP 2020). Pursuant to the 
Sustainable Groundwater Management Act of 2014 (SGMA), the Chino Basin was named as an adjudicated 
groundwater basin and is exempt from the requirements of developing a Groundwater Sustainability Plan 
(GSP) and subsequently was designated a very-low priority basin in Department of Water Resources (DWR) 
2019 SGMA Basin Prioritization report. Based on the adjudication provisions in the Chino Basin, the City is 
able to produce groundwater without limitation, provided any amount produced in excess of the production 
rights is replenished (UWMP 2020). Because the Project would not pump water from the Project area (as 
water supplies would be provided by the Ontario Municipal Utilities Company [OMUC]), the proposed 
Project would not result in a substantial depletion of groundwater supplies. 
 
The Project site is developed and is not meaningfully contributing to groundwater recharge, as it is fully 
impervious with hardscape and buildings. The Project would redevelop the site with slightly less impervious 

Item E - 121 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

101 

area (10 percent of site area would be impervious), which would not substantially change groundwater 
recharge or impede management of the basin.  
 
Impacts would be less than significant with compliance with regulatory requirement as identified above, and 
no mitigation is required. As a result, the Project would not decrease groundwater supplies or interfere 
substantially with groundwater recharge; and the Project would not impede sustainable groundwater 
management of the basin. Thus, the Project would have a less than significant impact.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 

c) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern or the site or area, including through the 
alteration of the course of a stream or river or through the addition of impervious surfaces, 
in a manner which would: 

i. Result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site? 
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that impacts related to runoff increases would be less than 
significant. 

Construction 
As described previously, existing City regulations require the Project to implement a SWPPP during 
construction activities, which would outline erosion control BMPs, such as silt fencing, fiber rolls, or gravel 
bags, stabilized construction entrance/exit, hydroseeding, that would be implemented during construction to 
reduce the potential for siltation or erosion. With adherence to the existing requirements and implementation 
of the appropriate BMPs as ensured through the City’s construction permitting process, potential erosion and 
siltation onsite or offsite associated with construction activities would be minimized, and impacts would be 
less than significant. 
 
Operation 
Under the proposed Project conditions the site would be 90 percent impervious. The 10 percent pervious 
surfaces remaining on the site would be landscaped and would not generate soils that could erode. There 
would be no substantial areas of bare or disturbed soil onsite subject to erosion. In addition, the proposed 
drainage infrastructure would slow and retain stormwater, which would also limit the potential for erosion or 
siltation. Finally, the Project is required by the City to implement a WQMP that would provide operational 
BMPs to ensure that operation of the warehouse buildings would not result in erosion or siltation. As a result, 
stormwater runoff and the potential for erosion and siltation would not increase with implementation of the 
Project. With implementation of these regulations, impacts related to erosion or siltation onsite or off-site 
would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

ii. Substantially increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner that would result in 
flooding on- or off-site? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that impacts related to runoff increases would be less than 
significant. 
 

Item E - 122 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

102 

As discussed in Section 5.10 (c) above, during construction, a SWPPP would be implemented to control 
drainage and maintain drainage patterns across the Project. Also, as discussed in the Preliminary WQMP 
prepared for the Project (see Appendix G), drainage runoff from the Project site would be adequately 
handled by the Project’s drainage system. The Project would include onsite storm drain lines to convey onsite 
runoff to various inlets and conveyed to an underground infiltration system located beneath the drive aisle 
in the western portion of the site to provide the appropriate design capture volume, and the Project would 
not result in flooding on- or off-site. Therefore, impacts would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

iii. Create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned 
stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial additional sources of polluted runoff? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that impacts related to runoff increases would be less than 
significant. See response to Section 5.10(c)(ii), above.  
 
Site design BMPs would minimize the impacts associated with impervious surfaces. Existing regulations require 
an onsite storm drain system that would accommodate 2-year, 24-hour flows, in accordance with the San 
Bernardino County MS4 Permit. Development of the Project site would not create or contribute runoff water 
that would exceed the capacity of existing or planned stormwater drainage systems.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

iv. Impede or redirect flood flows? 
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that impacts related to flood flows would be less than significant.  
 
According to TOP 2050 SEIR Figure 5.10-2, Flood Hazard Zones, the Project site is not within a flood zone. 
Further, as discussed in the Hydrology Report (Appendix H), the underground infiltration basin has been 
designed to fully capture and infiltrate the WQMP design capture volume as well as provide additional 
storage volume to provide flood protection of the structure up to the 100-year storm event and eliminate 
flooding to the adjacent property to the east. Additionally, when stormwater within the basin exceeds the 
WQMP volume, additional runoff would flow to a pump which would discharge stormwater at a maximum 
flow rate of 2 cubic feet per second (cfs) to Francis Street. Therefore, the Project would not impede or 
redirect flood flows and impacts would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 

d) In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk release of pollutants due to project 
inundation? 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR identified less than significant impacts related to flood hazards, tsunamis, 
seiches, or dam inundation. 
 

Item E - 123 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

103 

As discussed in Response 5.10 (c)(iv), the Project site is within Flood Zone X, or an area with 0.2 percent 
annual chance flood hazard. However, proper storage requirements for hazardous materials, such as fuels 
and oils, would be followed in order to limit the risk of release of pollutants due to site inundation from the 
San Antonio Dam. Therefore, implementation of the Project would not risk the release of pollutants due to 
inundation in a flood hazard zone. Further, the Project site is located over 30 miles inland from the Pacific 
Ocean and is not located within a tsunami zone. Thus, impacts related to tsunamis would not occur.  
 
A seiche is the sloshing of a closed body of water from earthquake shaking. Seiches are of concern relative 
to water storage facilities because inundation from a seiche can occur if the wave overflows a containment 
wall, such as the wall of a reservoir, water storage tank, dam, or other artificial body of water. However, 
there is no large body of water upstream of the site that may be subject to seiche and that could result in 
potential flooding on the Project site. Therefore, impacts related to seiche would not occur. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 

e) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable 
groundwater management plan? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts related to conflict/obstruction of a water quality 
control plan or sustainable groundwater management plan would be less than significant. 
 
As described previously, the Project would be required to have an approved SWPPP, which would include 
construction BMPs to minimize the potential for construction related sources of pollution. For operations, the 
Project would be required to implement source control BMPs to minimize the introduction of pollutants; and 
treatment control BMPs to treat runoff. With implementation of the operational source and treatment control 
BMPs that would be required by the City during the permitting and approval process, potential pollutants 
would be reduced to the maximum extent feasible, and implementation of the Project would not obstruct 
implementation of a water quality control plan. 
  
There are no groundwater wells on the Project site, and no wells are proposed as part of the Project. As 
discussed in Checklist Response threshold 5.10(a), the Project would not involve direct withdrawals of 
groundwater, nor would it interfere with groundwater recharge such that it would result in a net deficit in 
aquifer volume or lowering of the local groundwater table levels. The Project site is within the Chino 
Groundwater Basin and is exempt from legislative requirements under the Sustainable Groundwater 
Management Act (SGMA) because it is an adjudicated basin and is not required to prepare a groundwater 
sustainability plan. Each water purveyor has an assigned individual pumping allocation to limit groundwater 
production to the safe yield. Because pumping in the groundwater basin is managed, which limits the 
allowable withdrawal of water from the basin by water purveyors, and the Project does not involve 
groundwater pumping (as water supplies would be provided by the OMUC), impacts would be less than 
significant. As detailed in Section 5.19(b), Utilities and Service Systems, and as anticipated in TOP 2050 SEIR, 
the demand for water supplies is expected to be met by the City’s available water supply. Additionally, 
according to the City’s 2020 Urban Water Management Plan, increased demands from further development 
in the City are expected to be met by projected water supplies. Overall, the Project would not conflict with 
or obstruct a water quality control plan or sustainable groundwater management plan, and no impacts would 
occur. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

Item E - 124 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

104 

Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding hydrology and water quality. There have 
not been 1) changes related to the development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental 
effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with 
respect to the circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major 
revisions of TOP 2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial 
importance relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and 
could not have been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
RR HYD‐1 Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan. Prior to the issuance of any grading or building permits, 
the Project Applicant shall prepare a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) utilizing the model 
form contained in Appendix B of the 2013 CASQA Stormwater Best Management Practices (BMP) Handbook 
for Construction, and submit a copy of the plan to the City of Ontario Engineering Department for review 
and approval. A copy of the approved SWPPP shall be maintained in the construction site office at all times 
during construction, and the Site Superintendent shall use the plan to train all construction site contractors and 
supervisory personnel in construction site BMP, prior to commencing work on the site 
 
RR HYD‐2 General Waste Discharge Requirements. Prior to the issuance of any grading or building permits, 
the Project Applicant is required to obtain coverage under the State Water Resources Control Board 
(SWRCB) General Permit for Storm Water Discharges Associated with Construction Activity. Proof of filing 
a Notice of Intent (NOI) with the SWRCB for coverage under this permit is required prior to Grading Plan 
approval and issuance of a grading permit. The Applicant shall submit a copy of the Waste Dischargers 
Identification Number (WDlD) for coverage under the General Construction Permit to the Engineering 
Department. 
 
RR HYD‐3 Water Quality Management Plan. Prior to Grading Plan approval and the issuance of a grading 
permit, a completed Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP) shall be submitted to, and approved by, 
the Engineering Department. The WQMP shall be submitted on the San Bernardino County Stormwater 
Program's model form, and shall identify all Post Construction, Site Design, Source Control, and Treatment 
Control Best Management Practices (BMPs), that will be incorporated into the Project, in order to minimize 
the adverse effects on receiving waters.  

 
RR HYD‐4 Grading and Erosion Control Plans. Prior to Grading Plan approval and the issuance of a 
grading permit, an Erosion and Sediment Control Plan shall be submitted to, and approved by, the 
Engineering Department. The Erosion and Sediment Control Plan shall specifically identify the Best 
Management Practices (BMPs) that will be implemented on the Project during construction, to reduce the 
discharge of sediment and other pollutants into the City's storm drain system. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe hydrology and water quality impacts would result from 
implementation of the Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required for hydrology 
and water quality.   

Item E - 125 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

105 

5.11 LAND USE AND PLANNING Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project: Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Physically divide an established community?       

b) Cause a significant environmental impact due to 
conflict with any land use plan, policy, or regulation 
adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating 
an environmental effect?  

     

 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to land use in section 5.11. TOP 2050 SEIR found that the project’s 
land use plan would not divide an established community and would cause a significant environmental impact 
due to conflict with an applicable plan adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigation an environmental 
effect. Overall, TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts related to land use would be less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

None. 

a) Physically divide an established community?  
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. As stated previously, the Project site is currently partially developed by Western States 
Wholesale with the western portion of the site functioning as a storage yard, while the eastern portion 
contains building area and a storage area. The Project would demolish the existing buildings, surface 
parking, and related infrastructure and redevelop the site with a new single-story warehouse building and 
associated infrastructure. No residential uses currently occur on the site that would be impacted or divided 
by development of the Project. 
 
The project is surrounded by industrial uses to the north, south, east, and west. The project site would 
be compatible with the adjacent land uses. Therefore, the Project would not divide or disrupt the 
physical arrangement of the existing adjacent uses and would serve as an extension of the existing 
industrial area. Furthermore, access to the site would be provided via two driveways on the existing 
roadway of East Francis Street. Thus, impacts related to physically dividing an established community 
would not occur from the Project.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
  

Item E - 126 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

106 

b) Cause a significant environmental impact due to a conflict with any land use plan, policy, 
or regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. The documents regulating land use for the Project site and immediate vicinity are the City’s 
Policy Plan (General Plan), the Ontario Municipal Code, SCAG's RTP/SCS and the Ontario ALUCP. The 
proposed Project’s relationship to these planning documents is described below.  
 
Policy Plan 
The City’s Policy Plan serves as the General Plan. The Policy Plan states long-term goals, principles, and 
policies for achieving Ontario’s Vision. It guides growth and development to achieve optimum results from 
the City’s physical, economic, environmental, and human resources. The Policy Plan consists of nine elements 
including Land Use, Housing, Parks & Recreation, Environmental Resources, Community Economics, Safety 
Mobility, Community Design, and Social Resources. An evaluation of the Project’s consistency with applicable 
goals and policies of the General Plan is provide in Table LU-1.  
 

Table LU-1: Project Consistency with Policy Plan 

Policy Plan Goals and Policies Project Consistency 

Land Use Element 

Policy LU 1.3: Adequate Capacity. We require 
adequate infrastructure and services for all 
development. 

Consistent. As discussed throughout this document, 
the proposed Project would be adequately served 
by existing infrastructure within the Project site 
vicinity and will construct improvements to 
infrastructure 3.2, Project Features. 

Policy LU-1.5 Jobs-Housing Balance. We 
coordinate land use, infrastructure, and 
transportation planning and analysis with regional, 
county, and other local agencies to further regional 
and subregional goals for jobs-housing balance. 

Consistent. The Project would contribute to the 
jobs-housing balance by providing new high quality 
industrial jobs in the City. As described in Section 
5.14, Population and Housing, operation of the 
proposed Project is estimated to require a 
permanent workforce of approximately 140 
employees. 

Policy LU-2.1 Land Use Decisions. We minimize 
adverse impacts on adjacent properties when 
considering land use and zoning requests. 

Not Applicable. The proposed Project does not 
include a land use or zone change. Adjacent 
properties also share land use and zoning 
designations of IND and IG. 

Policy LU-2.3 Hazardous Uses. We regulate the 
development of industrial and similar uses that use, 
store, produce, or transport toxic substances, air 
emissions, other pollutants, or hazardous materials. 
Policy LU-2.4 Regulation of Nuisances. We 
regulate the location, concentration, and operation 
of potential nuisances. 
Policy LU-2.5 Regulation of Uses. We regulate 
the location, concentration, and operation of uses 
that have impacts on surrounding land uses. 

Consistent. The Project would be consistent with the 
development standards for the IG designation, as 
currently zoned, as well as the surrounding land 
uses. 

Item E - 127 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

107 

Policy LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We 
require infrastructure to be aesthetically pleasing 
and in context with the community character. 

Consistent. As described in Section 3.1, Project 
Overview, the proposed Project would be consistent 
with the development standards for the IG zoning 
designation 

Policy LU-5.7 ALUCP Consistency with Land 
Use Regulations. We comply with state law that 
requires general plans, specific plans, and all new 
development to be consistent with the policies and 
criteria set forth within an Airport Land Use 
Compatibility Plan for any public-use airport. 

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.9, Hazards and 
Hazardous Materials, The proposed Project would 
comply with the ONT ALUCP as being part of the 
Airport Influence Area.  

Environmental Resources Element 

Policy ER-1.6 Urban Run-off Quantity. We 
encourage the use of low impact development 
strategies, including green infrastructure, to 
intercept run-off, slow the discharge rate, increase 
infiltration, and ultimately reduce discharge 
volumes to traditional storm drain systems. 

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.10, Hydrology 
and Water Quality, the Project would be required 
to incorporate a WQMP with post-construction (or 
permanent) Low Impact Development (LID) site 
design, source control, and treatment control BMPs 
(see RR HYD-3). The LID site design would minimize 
impervious surfaces and provide infiltration of 
runoff into landscaped areas. 

Policy ER-1.7 Urban Run-off Quality. We 
require the control and management of urban run-
off, consistent with Regional Water Quality Control 
Board regulations. 

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.10, Hydrology 
and Water Quality, The Project would comply with 
applicable NPDES permit requirements, and 
development of a SWPPP, to ensure Project 
construction would not result in impacts related to 
stormwater runoff. The Project would be required 
to incorporate a WQMP with post-construction (or 
permanent) LID site design, source control, and 
treatment control BMPs. The LID site design would 
minimize impervious surfaces and provide 
infiltration of runoff into landscaped areas. 

Policy ER-1.8 Wastewater Management. We 
require the management of wastewater discharge 
and collection consistent with waste discharge 
requirements adopted by the Regional Water 
Quality Control Board. 

Consistent. The Project would install a new 2-inch 
water line connection to the existing 12-inch 
diameter water line in East Francis Street, as well 
as install a new 6-inch sewer connection to the 
existing 30-inch sewer line in East Francis Street. 
Installation of the onsite sewer infrastructure is part 
of construction of the proposed Project and would 
not result in any physical environmental effects 
beyond those described throughout this document. 

Policy ER-2.1 Waste Diversion. We shall meet 
or exceed AB 939 requirements. 

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.19, Utilities 
and Service Systems, the proposed Project would be 
consistent with County Solid Waste and State 
requirements for waste reduction by adhering to 
Solid Waste Handling Plans. 

Policy ER-3.3 Building and Site Design. We 
require new construction to incorporate energy 
efficient building and site design strategies, which 
could include appropriate solar orientation, 

Consistent. The proposed Project would be 
required to comply with California Title 24 Building 
Energy Efficiency Standards which are designed to 
ensure new and existing buildings achieve energy 

Item E - 128 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

108 

maximum use of natural daylight, passive solar, and 
natural ventilation. 

efficiency and preserve outdoor and indoor 
environmental quality. 

Policy ER-4.3 Greenhouse Gases (GHG) 
Emissions Reductions. We will reduce GHG 
emissions in accordance with regional, state, and 
federal regulations. 

Consistent. GHG Emissions generated by 
construction and operation of the proposed Project 
would not exceed SCAQMD thresholds, and the 
Project would not conflict with an applicable plan, 
policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of 
reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases. 

Policy ER-4.6 Particulate Matter. We support 
efforts to reduce particulate matter to meet State 
and Federal Clean Air Standards. 

Consistent. Air emissions from construction and 
operation of the Project would be below SCAQMD 
emissions thresholds and would not result in an 
increase in the frequency or severity of existing air 
quality violations or cause a new violation. 

Policy ER-4.8 Tree Planting. We protect healthy 
trees within the City and plant new trees to increase 
carbon sequestration and help the regional/local 
air quality. We expand the tree canopy in 
environmental justice areas to enhance air quality 
and reduce the “heat island” effect. 

Consistent. The Project site is semi developed and 
contains few trees or shrubbery on site as shown in 
Figure 3, Aerial View. Should the proposed Project 
result in the removal or planting of trees, it would 
be required to comply with Municipal Code Article 
10, Chapter 2 (RR BIO-2). 

Policy ER-4.9 New Localized Air Pollution 
Sources Near Existing Sensitive Receptors. We 
require new developments to conduct a Health Risk 
Assessment for land uses that generate more than 
100 trucks per day or 40 trucks per day by trucks 
operating transportation refrigeration units (TRU's) 
within 1,000 feet from sensitive land uses 
(California Health and Safety Code § 
42705.5(a)(5)). If the health risk assessment 
determines the new development poses health 
hazards that increase the incremental cancer risk 
above the threshold established by the South Coast 
Air Quality Management District (AQMD), we will 
only approve permits upon the condition that 
adequate mitigation measures are proposed and 
implemented for potential impacts on the sensitive 
uses around the site and along the route within 
Ontario taken by the trucks to and from freeways. 
We require new developments that must perform a 
health risk assessment to conduct additional public 
outreach by sending notifications in multiple 
languages to all residents living within 500 feet, 
and encourage hosting a public meeting. 

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.3, Air Quality, 
the proposed Project includes a construction and 
operational Health Risk Assessment which found the 
Project would not create a significant health hazard 
to nearby sensitive uses.  

Policy ER-5.2 Entitlement and Permitting 
Process. We comply with state and federal 
regulations regarding protected species. 

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.4, Biological 
Resources, the proposed Project would comply with 
state and federal regulations and therefore would 
not have an impact on any protected plant or 
wildlife species. 

Community Economics Element 

Policy CE-1.1 Jobs-Housing Balance. We 
pursue improvement to the Inland Empire’s balance 

Consistent. The Project would contribute positively 
to the jobs-housing balance by providing new high 

Item E - 129 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

109 

between jobs and housing by promoting job growth 
that reduces the regional economy’s reliance on out-
commuting. 
CE-1.2 Jobs and Workforce Skills. We use our 
economic development resources to:  

1. attract jobs suited for the skills and 
education of current and future City 
residents; 

2. work with regional partners to provide 
opportunities for the labor force to improve 
its skills and education; and 

3. attract businesses that increase Ontario’s 
stake and participation in growing sectors 
of the regional and global economy. 

quality industrial jobs in the City. As described in 
Section 5.14, Population and Housing, operation of 
the proposed Project is estimated to require a 
permanent workforce of approximately 140 
employees.  

Policy CE-2.1 Development Projects. We 
require new development and redevelopment to 
create unique, high-quality places that add value to 
the community. (Link to Community Design Element) 
Policy CE-2.2 Development Review. We 
require those proposing new development and 
redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects 
will create appropriately unique, functional, and 
sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
Policy CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We 
require that new development and redevelopment 
protect existing investment by providing 
architecture and urban design of equal or greater 
quality. 
Policy CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require 
adequate maintenance, upkeep, and investment in 
private property because proper maintenance on 
private property protects property values. 

Consistent. As described in Section 3.2, Project 
Features and as shown in Figure 6, Site elevations 
the proposed Project would establish an 
architectural presence through emphasis on building 
finish materials and consistent material usage and 
color scheme. The proposed building would be gray 
and white. Cutouts and decorative window facades 
would be implemented to create a variety in scale 
and texture. The building layout and use of 
landscaping, finish materials, and accents on the 
Project site would create a quality architectural 
presence along East Francis Street and layout of the 
surrounding area. 

Safety Element  

Policy S-1.2 Entitlement and Permitting 
Process. We follow state guidelines and the 
California Building Code to determine when 
development proposals must conduct geotechnical 
and geological investigations. 

Consistent. As discussed throughout this document, 
the Project would comply with the CBC. 

Policy S-2.1 Entitlement and Permitting 
Process. We require hydrological studies prepared 
by a state-certified engineer when new 
development is located in a 100-year or 500-year 
floodplain to assess the impact that the new 
development will have on the flooding potential of 
existing development down-gradient. 
Policy S-2.2 Floodplain Mapping. We require 
any new development partially or entirely in 100-
year flood zones to provide detailed floodplain 

Not Applicable. As discussed in Section 5.10, 
Hydrology and Water Quality, The Project site is 
within Flood Zone X, or an area with 0.2 percent 
annual chance flood hazard. As discussed in the 
Hydrology Report (Appendix H), the underground 
infiltration basin has been designed to fully capture 
and infiltrate the WQMP design capture volume as 
well as provide additional storage volume to 
provide flood protection of the structure up to the 
100-year storm event and eliminate flooding to the 
adjacent property to the east. Additionally, when 

Item E - 130 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

110 

mapping for 100- and 200-year storm events as 
part of the development approval process. 
Policy S-2.3 Facilities that Use Hazardous 
Materials. We comply with state and federal law 
and do not permit facilities using, storing, or 
otherwise involved with substantial quantities of 
onsite hazardous materials to be located in the 
100-year flood zone or 500-year flood zone unless 
all standards of elevation, floodproofing, and 
storage have been implemented to the satisfaction 
of the Building Department. 

stormwater within the basin exceeds the WQMP 
volume, additional runoff would flow to a pump 
which would discharge stormwater at a maximum 
flow rate of 2 cubic feet per second (cfs) to Francis 
Street.  
 

Policy S-2.5 Stormwater Management. We 
maintain the storm drain system to convey a 100-
year storm, when feasible, and encourage 
environmental site design practices to minimize 
flooding and increase groundwater recharge, 
including natural drainage, green infrastructure, 
and permeable ground surfaces. 

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.10, Hydrology 
and Water Quality, the Project would be required 
to incorporate a WQMP with post-construction (or 
permanent) Low Impact Development (LID) site 
design, source control, and treatment control BMPs 
(see RR HYD-3). The LID site design would minimize 
impervious surfaces and provide infiltration of 
runoff into landscaped areas.  

Policy S-3.1 Prevention Services. We 
proactively mitigate or reduce the negative effects 
of fire, hazardous materials release, and structural 
collapse by implementing the regularly adopted 
California Fire Code and California Building Code. 
Policy S-3.8 Fire Prevention through 
Environmental Design. We require new 
development to incorporate fire prevention 
consideration in the design of streetscapes, sites, 
open spaces, and buildings. 

Consistent. As part of the permitting process, the 
Project plans would be reviewed by the City’s Fire 
Department and the Building Department to ensure 
that the Project plans meet the fire protection 
requirements. Additionally, the proposed facility 
would be required to comply with City fire 
suppression standards including current CBC and 
would provide adequate fire access.  

Policy S-4.1 Noise Mitigation. We utilize the 
City’s Noise Ordinance, building codes, and 
subdivision and development codes to mitigate 
noise impacts. 

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.13, Noise, the 
proposed Project would result in less than significant 
impacts related to noise. Therefore, the Project 
would not require noise mitigation. 

Policy S-4.6 Airport Noise Compatibility. We 
utilize information from Airport Land Use 
Compatibility Plans to prevent the construction of 
new noise-sensitive land uses within airport noise 
impact zones. 

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.9, Hazards and 
Hazardous Materials, the Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA) reviewed the Project and 
issued a ALUCP consistency determination on March 
2, 2023, that determined the Project would be 
consistent with the ONT ALUCP.  

Policy S-5.1 Dust Control Measures. We 
require the implementation of Best Management 
Practices for dust control at all excavation and 
grading projects. 

Consistent. The proposed Project would include a 
SWPPP (RR HYD-1) which includes BMPs that 
require dust control through regular sprinkling of 
exposed soils to control dust during construction and 
soil binders for forecasted wind storms.  

 

Policy S-6.4 Safe Storage and Maintenance 
Practices. We require that the users of hazardous 
materials be adequately prepared to prevent and 
mitigate hazardous materials releases. 

Consistent. Under California Health and Safety 
Code Section 25531 et seq., CalEPA requires 
businesses operating with a regulated substance 
that exceeds a specified threshold quantity to 

Item E - 131 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

111 

register with a managing local agency, known as 
the Certified Unified Program Agency (CUPA).  
Additionally, businesses are required to provide 
workers with training on the safe use, handling, and 
storage of hazardous materials. Businesses are also 
required to maintain equipment and supplies for 
containing and cleaning up spills of hazardous 
materials that can be safely contained and cleaned 
by onsite workers and to immediately notify 
emergency response agencies in the event of a 
hazardous materials release that cannot be safely 
contained and cleaned up by onsite personnel. 
Compliance with existing laws and regulations 
governing hazard and hazardous materials would 
ensure safe storage of hazardous materials 
present. 

Policy S-7.4 Crime Prevention through 
Environmental Design (CPTED). We require new 
development to incorporate CPTED in the design of 
streetscapes, sites, open spaces, and buildings. 

Consistent. The Project would incorporate multiple 
crime prevention strategies. The building would 
include a 14-foot-high concrete screen wall and a 
10-foot-high sliding gate at the entrance of the 
truck court. The building would also include 10-foot-
high concrete screen walls along the west, south, 
and east perimeter of the site. Additionally, the 
Project would provide nighttime security lighting 
throughout the site and along East Francis Street 
frontage. Furthermore, Project plans would be 
reviewed by the Ontario Police Department to 
ensure that proper measures are incorporated into 
the Project design.  

Mobility Element 

Policy M-1.2 Mitigation of Impacts. We require 
development to mitigate its traffic impacts. 

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.17, 
Transportation, the proposed Project is anticipated 
to generate 54 net new trips per day compared to 
the VMT baseline, which is below the threshold of 
110 additional vehicle trips per day. Thus, the Low 
Trip Generating Uses Screening criteria is met. 
Therefore, since the proposed Project would 
generate fewer than 110 additional vehicle trips 
per day and is consistent with the City’s screening 
criteria, the Project screens from additional VMT 
analysis and would have a less than significant 
impact on VMT. 

Policy M-1.5 Level of Service. Maintain a peak 
hour Level of Service (LOS) E or better at all 
intersections. Maintain Level of Service D or better 
on arterial streets in the City. Develop and maintain 
a list of locations where LOS E or LOS F are 
considered acceptable and would be exempt from 
this level of service policy. Considerations for LOS 
exemption include being restricted by 
environmental constraints, lacking available right-

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.17, 
Transportation, the Project would not result in 
impacts related to traffic level of service.  

Item E - 132 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

112 

of-way, deterring an increase in VMT, or 
degrading other modes of travel (such as bicycle or 
pedestrian infrastructure). 

Policy M-1.6 Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled. 
We will strive to reduce VMT through a combination 
of land use, transportation projects, travel demand 
management strategies, and other trip reduction 
measures in coordination with development projects 
and public capital improvement projects. 

Consistent. As discussed in Section 5.17, 
Transportation, the proposed Project would include 
measures to reduce VMT to a less than significant 
level if necessary. 

Community Design Element 

Policy CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and 
Architecture. We encourage all development 
projects to convey visual interest and character 
through: 

1. Building volume, massing, and height to 
provide context-appropriate scale and 
proportion;     

2. A true architectural style which is carried 
out in plan, section, and elevation through 
all aspects of the building and site design 
and appropriate for its setting; and  

3. Exterior building materials that are 
articulated, high quality, durable, and 
appropriate for the architectural style. 

Consistent. As described in Section 3.2 Project 
Features and as shown in Figure 6 Site elevations, 
the proposed Project would establish an 
architectural presence through emphasis on building 
finish materials and consistent material usage and 
color scheme. The proposed building would be gray 
and white. Cutouts and decorative window facades 
would be implemented to create a variety in scale 
and texture. The building layout and use of 
landscaping, finish materials, and accents on the 
Project site would create a quality architectural 
presence along East Francis Street. layout of the 
surrounding area. 

Policy CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We 
encourage durable, sustainable, and drought-
tolerant landscaping materials and designs that 
enhance the aesthetics of structures, create and 
define public and private spaces, and provide 
shade and environmental benefits. 

Consistent. As shown on Figure 7 Conceptual 
Landscape Plan, the proposed Project would include 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials. Proposed 
landscaping would include 24-inch and 36-inch box 
trees, various shrubs, and ground covers to screen 
the proposed building, and parking and loading 
areas from off-site viewpoints. Proposed 
landscaping extends around the perimeter of the 
warehouse building and in between the parking 
areas. Landscaping plans shall meet all 
requirements of the Landscape Development 
Guidelines and shall be submitted to OMUC for 
review.  

 
Ontario Municipal Code/Development Code 
The Project site has a zoning designation of IG. According to Division 5.01 of the Ontario Development Code, 
the IG zone is intended to accommodate a wide range of manufacturing and assembly activities, storage 
and warehousing activities, and other similar uses developed at a maximum FAR of 0.55. As detailed 
previously in Table AES-1, the proposed Project would be consistent with the development standards for the 
IG zoning district. Thus, the proposed Project would not conflict with any applicable zoning regulations 
adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect. No impacts would occur. 
 
Regional Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy 
SCAG’s RTP/SCS identifies that land use strategies that focus on new housing and job growth in areas served 
by high quality transit and other opportunity areas would be consistent with a land use development pattern 
that supports and complements the proposed transportation network. The core vision in the 2020–2045 
RTP/SCS is to better manage the existing transportation system through design management strategies, 

Item E - 133 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

113 

integrate land use decisions and technological advancements, create complete streets that are safe to all 
roadway users, preserve the transportation system, and expand transit and foster development in transit-
oriented communities. The Project would be required to comply with the goals and policies of SCAG’s 
Regional Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy (RTP/SCS). As shown in Table LU-2, the 
proposed Project would be consistent with the goals and policies of the plan. As such, no impact related to 
regional plan inconsistency would occur. 
 

Table LU-2: RTP/SCS Consistency 

RTP/SCS Policy Proposed Project Consistency with Policy 
RTP/SCS G1: Encourage regional economic 
prosperity and global competitiveness. 

Consistent. The Project would include development 
of an industrial site that would benefit regional 
economics by providing increased employment and 
providing additional goods and services. As an 
individual development, the Project is limited in its 
ability to directly contribute to regional economic 
prosperity and global competitiveness. 

RTP/SCS G2: Improve mobility, accessibility, 
reliability, and travel safety for people ang goods. 

Consistent. As an individual development, the 
Project is limited in its ability to maximize mobility 
and access for people and goods in the SCAG 
region. However, the Project would not create 
substantial traffic impediments that would affect the 
accessibility of goods in the region and it would 
provide added mobility in the immediate vicinity of 
the Project through the incorporation of sidewalks. 

RTP/SCS G3: Ensure the preservation, security, and 
resilience of the regional transportation system.  

Not Applicable. As an individual development, the 
Project is limited in its ability to ensure security and 
resilience of the regional transportation system. 
There are no components of the Project that would 
result in the deterioration of the transportation 
system. 

RTP/SCS G4: Increase person and goods movement 
and travel choices within the transportation system.  

Not Applicable. As an individual development, the 
Project is limited in its ability to maximize the goods 
movement and travel choices within the SCAG 
region. The Project would not create substantial 
traffic impediments and would not affect the 
accessibility of goods to the surrounding area. The 
Project would support the overall distribution and 
movements of goods in the region through industrial 
distribution services. 

RTP/SCS G5. Reduce greenhouse gas emissions and 
improve air quality. 

Consistent. While the Project would not improve air 
quality or reduce greenhouse gas emissions, it 
would not prevent SCAG from implementing actions 
that would improve air quality within the region and 
the Project would incorporate various measures 
related to building design, landscaping, and 
energy systems to promote the efficient use of 
energy, pursuant to Title 24 CALGreen Code and 
Building Energy Efficiency Standards and Consistent 
with Policy NR-1.9. 

RTP/SCS G6: Support healthy and equitable 
communities.  

Consistent. The Project would comply with Citywide 
goal and policies to support healthy and equitable 
communities. Additionally, the Project would 
construct frontage improvements along with 

Item E - 134 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

114 

sidewalks and painted curbs which would 
encourage walking in the Project area. 

RTP/SCS G7: Adapt to a changing climate and 
support an integrated regional development 
pattern and transportation network.  

Consistent. This policy would be implemented by 
cities and the counties within the SCAG region as 
part of their overall planning efforts; the Project 
however is consistent with industrial use planned for 
the area. 

RTP/SCS G8: Leverage new transportation 
technologies and data-driven solutions that result in 
more efficient travel.  

Not Applicable.  This policy would be implemented 
by cities and the counties within the SCAG region as 
part of the overall planning and maintenance of the 
regional transportation system. The Project would 
not conflict with this goal. 

RTP/SCS G9: Encourage development of diverse 
housing types in areas that are supported by 
multiple transportation options.  

Not Applicable. The proposed Project would 
develop a single-story industrial warehouse 
building in an area that is designated and zoned 
for industrial development.  

RTP/SCS G10: Promote conservation of natural and 
agricultural lands and restoration of habitats. 

Consistent. The proposed Project would be 
consistent with goals and policies of the City’s 
General Plan and would not cause significant 
environmental impacts to agricultural lands or 
biological resources.   

 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding land use and planning. There have not been 
1) changes related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects or a 
substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect to the 
circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions of TOP 
2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the 
severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial importance 
relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and could not have 
been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
None. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe land use and planning impacts would result from 
implementation of the Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required regarding land 
use and planning.   

Item E - 135 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

115 

5.12 MINERAL RESOURCES Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project: Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Result in the loss of availability of a known mineral 
resource that would be of value to the region and 
the residents of the state?  

     

b) Result in the loss of availability of a locally-
important mineral resource recovery site delineated 
on a local general plan, specific plan or other land 
use plan?  

     

 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to mineral resources in Section 5.12. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded 
that the project would not result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource due to existing 
regulations and land uses. Upon implementation of regulatory requirements and standard conditions of 
approval, impacts of the project were determined to be less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

None. 

a) Result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the 
region and the residents of the state?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. According to TOP 2050 SEIR, the Project site is identified as within Mineral Resource Zone 
(MRZ) 3 which is defined as an area where the significance of mineral deposits is unknown. The Project site 
has a land use designation of IND and is planned for general industrial uses. Furthermore, the Project site is 
currently developed and occupied by Western States Wholesale which is a manufacturer, distributor, and 
wholesaler of building materials. The Project site has not recently been used for mineral extractions. Thus, 
there are no available mineral resources that would be affected by the Project, and impacts would be less 
than significant.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 

b) Result in the loss of availability of a locally-important mineral resource recovery site 
delineated on the general plan, specific plan or other land use plan?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. As discussed above, no known valuable mineral resources exist on or near the Project site, 
and no mineral resource extraction activities occur on the site. The Project site is developed and occupied by 
Western States Wholesale which is a manufacturer, distributor, and wholesaler of building materials. Thus, 

Item E - 136 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

116 

the Project would not result in the loss of availability of locally important mineral resources. Accordingly, no 
impact would occur. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding mineral resources. There have not been 1) 
changes related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects or a 
substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect to the 
circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions of TOP 
2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the 
severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial importance 
relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and could not have 
been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
None. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe mineral resources impacts would result from implementation 
of the Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required regarding mineral resources.  
  

Item E - 137 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

117 

5.13 NOISE Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project result in: Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Generation of a substantial temporary or 
permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the 
vicinity of the project in excess of standards 
established in the local general plan or noise 
ordinance, or applicable standards of other 
agencies? 

     

b) Generation of excessive groundborne vibration or 
groundborne noise levels?  

     

c) For a project located within the vicinity of a private 
airstrip or an airport land use plan or, where such a 
plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a 
public airport or public use airport, would the project 
expose people residing or working in the project 
area to excessive noise levels? 

     

 
This section is based on the Noise Impact Analysis, prepared by Vista Environmental, dated March 2023, 
provided as Appendix I. 
 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to noise in Section 5.13. TOP 2050 SEIR found development in 
accordance with TOP 2050 could generate a substantial temporary increase in noise levels in the vicinity of 
future projects in excess of established standards. TOP 2050 SEIR identified that construction-related noise 
impacts from buildout of TOP 2050 would be significant and unavoidable even with mitigation. TOP 2050 
SEIR determined implementation of TOP 2050 would not result in substantial long-term operation-related 
noise that would exceed established thresholds. TOP 2050 SEIR determined stationary noise sources would 
not increase substantially compared to existing conditions and impacts would be less than significant. 
Additionally, TOP 2050 SEIR determined transportation related noise would increase more substantially than 
stationary-source noise, however impacts related to transportation noise increases would be less than 
significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR found development in accordance with TOP 2050 could create groundborne vibration and 
groundborne noise during construction activities in excess of established standards. TOP 2050 SEIR 
determined impacts related to construction related vibration would be significant and unavoidable, even 
with mitigation. However, operational related vibration impacts would be less than significant. TOP 2050 
SEIR also determined that implementation of TOP 2050 could expose noise sensitive uses to excessive noise 
levels from the Ontario International Airport and that impacts would be significant and unavoidable, even 
after mitigation. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

Mitigation Measure 12-1 Prior to the issuance of building permits for any project that involves a noise-
sensitive use within the 65 dBA CNEL contour of the Ontario International Airport, the project property 

Item E - 138 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

118 

owner/developers shall retain an acoustical engineer to conduct an acoustic analysis and identify, where 
appropriate, site design features and/or required building acoustical improvements (e.g., sound transmission 
class rated windows, doors, and attic baffling), to ensure compliance with the City’s Noise Compatibility 
Criteria and the California State Building Code and California Noise Insulation Standards (Titles 24 and 21 
of the California Code of Regulations). 
 
Mitigation Measure 12-2 Prior to issuance of a building permit, individual projects that involve vibration-
intensive construction activities, such as pile drivers, jack hammers, and vibratory rollers near sensitive 
receptors shall be evaluated for potential vibration impacts. For construction within 135 feet of fragile 
structures, such as historical resources, within 100 feet of nonengineered timber and masonry buildings (e.g., 
most residential buildings), or within 75 feet of engineered concrete and masonry (no plaster); or a vibratory 
roller within 25 feet of any structure, the project applicant shall prepare a noise and vibration analysis to 
assess and mitigate potential noise and vibration impacts related to these activities. This noise and vibration 
analysis shall be conducted by a qualified and experienced acoustical consultant or engineer. The vibration 
levels shall not exceed Federal Transit Administration (FTA) architectural damage thresholds (e.g., 0.12 inches 
per second [in/sec] peak particle velocity [PPV] for fragile or historical resources, 0.2 in/sec PPV for 
nonengineered timber and masonry buildings, and 0.3 in/sec PPV for engineered concrete and masonry). If 
vibration levels would exceed this threshold, alternative uses shall be used, such as drilling piles as opposed 
to pile driving and static rollers as opposed to vibratory rollers. If necessary, construction vibration monitoring 
shall be conducted to ensure vibration thresholds are not exceeded. 
 
Mitigation Measure 12-4 Construction activities associated with new development that occurs near sensitive 
receptors shall be evaluated for potential noise impacts. Construction contractors shall implement the 
following measures for construction activities in the City of Ontario. Construction plans submitted to the City 
shall identify these measures on demolition, grading, and construction plans. The City of Ontario Planning 
and Building Departments shall verify that grading, demolition, and/or construction plans submitted include 
these notations prior to issuance of demolition, grading, and/or building permits.  

• Construction activity is limited to the hours between 7:00 am and 6:00 pm Monday through Friday 
and 9:00 am to 6:00 pm Saturdays and Sundays, as prescribed in Municipal Code Section 5-29.09. 

• During the entire active construction period, equipment and trucks used for project construction shall 
use the best-available noise control techniques wherever feasible (e.g., improved mufflers, 
equipment re-design, use of intake silencers, ducts, engine enclosures, and acoustically attenuating 
shields or shrouds). 

• Impact tools (e.g., jack hammers and hoe rams) shall be hydraulically or electrically powered 
wherever possible. Where the use of pneumatic tools is unavoidable, an exhaust muffler on the 
compressed air exhaust shall be used along with external noise jackets on the tools. 

• Stationary equipment such as generators and air compressors shall be located as far as feasible 
from nearby noise-sensitive uses. 

• Stockpiling shall be located as far as feasible from nearby noise-sensitive receptors.  
• Construction traffic shall be limited, to the extent feasible, to approved haul routes established by 

the City’s Engineering Department. 
• At least 10 days prior to the start of construction activities, a sign shall be posted at the entrance(s) 

to the job site, clearly visible to the public, that includes permitted construction days and hours as 
well as the telephone numbers of the City’s and contractor’s authorized representatives that are 
assigned to respond in the event of a noise or vibration complaint. If the authorized contractor’s 
representative receives a complaint, he/she shall investigate, take appropriate corrective action, 
and report the action to the City.   

• Signs shall be posted at the job site entrance(s), within the on-site construction zones, and along 
queueing lanes (if any) to reinforce the prohibition of unnecessary engine idling. All other equipment 
shall be turned off if not in use for more than 5 minutes. 

• During the entire active construction period and to the extent feasible, the use of noise producing 
signals, including horns, whistles, alarms, and bells, shall be for safety warning purposes only. The 

Item E - 139 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

119 

construction manager shall use smart back-up alarms, which automatically adjust the alarm level 
based on the background noise level or switch off back-up alarms and replace with human spotters 
in compliance with all safety requirements and laws. 

• Erect temporary noise barriers (at least as high as the exhaust of equipment and breaking line-of-
sight between noise sources and sensitive receptors), as necessary and feasible, to maintain 
construction noise levels at or below the performance standard of 80 dBA Leq. Barriers shall be 
constructed with a solid material that has a density of at least 1.5 pounds per square foot with no 
gaps from the ground to TOP of the barrier and may be lined on the construction side with an 
acoustical blanket, curtain, or equivalent absorptive material. 

 
Existing Ambient Noise Levels 
Three short-term (24-hour) noise level measurement were conducted on February 9, 2023. Table N-1 
provides a summary of the measured hourly noise levels and calculated CNEL level from the long-term noise 
level measurement. As shown in Table N-1, ambient noise levels at the surrounding uses range between 56.2 
dBA Leq and 65.7 dBA Leq. 

Table N-1: Existing Ambient Noise Measurements 

Location Primary Noise 
Source 

Measured Noise Level 
dBA Leq dBA Lmax 

1 
Located on the northern portion of the Project 
site on the center driveway, approximately 80 
feet south of Francis Street centerline. 

Vehicles on 
Francis Street 61.9 73.3 

2 
Located northeast of the project site, in front of 
home at 1731 E Locust Street, approximately 
45 feet north of Locust Street centerline. 

Vehicles on Locust 
Street 56.2 75.1 

3 

Located south of the project site in front of 
home at 2201 S Pinehurst Place, 
approximately 75 feet south of Philadelphia 
Street centerline and 25 feet east of Pinehurst 
Place centerline. 

Vehicles on 
Philadelphia 

Street 
65.7 81.5 

Note: Noise measurements taken with a Larson‐Davis Model 831 Type 1 precision sound level meter on Thursday, February 9, 
2023 between 4:49 p.m. and 5:50 p.m. 
dBA = A-weighted decibels 
Leq = equivalent sound level 
Lmax = maximum noise level 
Source: Noise and Vibration Impact Analysis (Appendix I) 

 
City of Ontario General Plan 
The City of Ontario establishes land use compatibility standards in the Safety Element of the City of Ontario 
General Plan (2010). According to the noise standards, up to 80 dBA CNEL is considered to be the “normally 
acceptable” noise level for industrial land uses. Additionally, noise levels of up to 65 dBA CNEL are 
considered “normally acceptable” for residential uses. 
 
City of Ontario Noise Ordinance 
Noise generated in the City of Ontario is regulated under Chapter 29 (Noise) of the City’s Municipal Code. 
The allowable exterior noise levels are listed in Table N-2. 
 

Table N-2: Municipal Code Exterior Noise Standards 

Land Use 
Allowed Equivalent Noise Level Leq 

Daytime (7:00 a.m. to 
10:00 p.m.) 

Nighttime (10:00 p.m. to 
7:00 a.m.) 

Single-Family Residential 65 dBA 45 dBA 
Multi-Family Residential 65 dBA 50 dBA 
Commercial Property 65 dBA 60 dBA 
Residential Portion of Mixed Used 70 dBA 70 dBA 

Item E - 140 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

120 

Manufacturing and Industrial, Other Uses 70 dBA 70 dBA 
Source: City of Ontario Municipal Code Section 5-29.04 

 
Additionally, Municipal Code Section 5-29.09 (Construction activity noise regulations) states that no person, 
while engaged in construction, remodeling, digging, grading, demolition or any other related building 
activity, shall operate any tool, equipment, or machine in a manner that produces loud noise that disturbs a 
person of normal sensitivity who works or resides in the vicinity, or a police or code enforcement officer, on 
any weekday except between the hours of 7:00 am and 6:00 pm or on Saturday or Sunday between the 
hours of 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. 
 
Federal Transit Administration 
Because the City does not have construction noise level limits, construction noise for the Project was assessed 
using criteria from the Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment 
Manual (FTA 2018). Table N-3 presents the FTA’s general assessment daytime construction noise criteria. 
 

Table N-3: Federal Transit Administration Daytime Construction Noise Criteria 

 
Land Use Daytime 1-hour Leq (dBA) Nighttime 1-hour Leq (dBA) 

Residential 80 70 
Commercial 85 85 
Industrial 90 90 
Source: Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Manual (FTA 2018)  

 
Vibration Thresholds 
 
The vibration levels shall not exceed FTA architectural damage thresholds (e.g., 0.12 inches per second 
[in/sec] peak particle velocity [PPV] for fragile or historical resources, 0.2 in/sec PPV for nonengineered 
timber and masonry buildings, and 0.3 in/sec PPV for engineered concrete and masonry). 
 

a) Generation of substantial temporary or permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the 
vicinity of the project in excess of standards established in the local general plan or noise 
ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined that construction related noise would be significant and 
unavoidable and operational noise would be less than significant.  
 
Construction Noise 
Noise generated by construction equipment would include a combination of trucks, power tools, concrete 
mixers, and portable generators that when combined can reach high levels. Construction is expected to occur 
in the following stages: demolition, site preparation, grading, building construction, architectural coating, 
paving.  
 
Table N-4 below provides a list of the construction equipment anticipated to be used for each phase of 
construction for the proposed project. Table N-4 also shows the associated measured noise emissions for 
each piece of equipment from the Federal Highway Administration’s (FHWA) Roadway Construction Noise 
Model (RCNM) and measured percentage of typical equipment use per day.  
 
  

Item E - 141 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

121 

Table N-4: Construction Equipment Noise Emissions and Usage Factors 

Equipment Description 
Number of 
Equipment 

Acoustical Use 
Factor1 (percent) 

Spec 721.560 Lmax at 
50 feet2 (dBA, slow3) 

Actual Measured Lmax 
at 50 feet4 (dBA, slow3) 

Demolition 
Concreter/Industrial Saw 1 40 85 83 
Excavators 3 40 85 81 
Rubber Tired Dozers 2 40 85 83 
Site Preparation 
Rubber Tired Dozer 3 40 85 83 
Tractors 2 40 84 N/A 
Front End Loader 1 40 80 79 
Backhoe 1 40 80 78 
Grading 
Excavator 2 40 85 81 
Grader 1 40 85 83 
Rubber Tired Dozer 1 40 85 82 
Tractor 1 40 84 N/A 
Front End Loader 1 40 80 79 
Backhoe 1 40 80 78 
Building Construction 
Crane 1 16 85 81 
Forklift (Gradall) 3 40 85 83 
Generator 1 50 82 81 
Tractor 1 40 84 N/A 
Front End Loader 1 40 80 79 
Backhoe 1 40 80 78 
Welder 1 40 73 74 
Paving 
Paver 2 50 85 77 
Paving Equipment 2 50 85 77 
Rollers 2 20 85 80 
Architectural Coating 
Air Compressor 1 40 80 78 
Notes: 
1 Acoustical use factor is the percentage of time each piece of equipment is operational during a typical workday. 
2  Spec 721.560 is the equipment noise level utilized by the RCNM program. 
3  The “slow” response averages sound levels over 1-second increments. A “fast” response averages sound levels over 0.125-
second increments.  
4 Actual Measured is the average noise level measured of each piece of equipment during the Central Artery/Tunnel project in 
Boston, Massachusetts primarily during the 1990s. 
Source: Federal Highway Administration, 2006 and CalEEMod default equipment mix. 

 
Construction noise impacts to the nearby sensitive receptors were calculated according to the equipment 
noise levels and usage factors listed in Table N-4 and through use of the RCNM. In order to provide a worst‐
case analysis, all equipment was placed at the shortest distance from the Project site to the nearest sensitive 
receptor. Table N-5 below shows the noise levels expected during construction at the nearest sensitive uses 
to the Project site.  
 
  

Item E - 142 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

122 

Table N-5: Construction Noise Levels at Nearest Sensitive Receptors 

Construction Phase 
Construction Noise Level (dBA Lmax) at: 

Nearest Homes to Northeast1 Nearest Homes to South2 

Demolition  56 54 
Site Preparation 55 54 
Grading 56 54 
Building Construction 56 55 
Paving 51 50 
Architectural Coatings 43 42 
Construction Noise Threshold3 80 80 

Exceed Thresholds? No No 
Notes: 
1 The nearest home to the northeast are located as near as 1,700 feet from the project site.  
2 The nearest homes to south are located as near as 2,000 feet from the project site.  
3 The construction noise threshold obtained from Section 5.13.2.1 of the TOP 2050 SEIR. 
Source: Noise Impact Analysis (Appendix I) 

 
As shown in Table N-5, it is expected that construction noise levels would be as high as 56 dBA Leq at the 
nearest homes to the northeast and as high as 55 dBA Leq at the nearest homes to the south. However, noise 
generated from construction activities is temporary in nature and would cease upon completion of 
construction. Furthermore, construction-related noise impacts would remain below the 80 dBA 1-hour 
construction noise level criteria for daytime construction noise level criteria as established by the Federal 
Transit Administration (FTA) for residential land uses, respectively, and therefore Project construction noise 
would be less than significant.  
 
Additionally, as described above, Municipal Code Section 5-29.09 exempts construction noise between the 
hours of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on weekdays and between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on 
Saturdays and Sundays. The Project would comply with the City’s construction hours regulations.  
 
Operational Noise 
Long term off-site stationary noise impacts from the Project could include noise levels from the truck loading 
area, rooftop mechanical equipment, forklift activities, and automobile parking lot activities. Table N-6 
shows the combined hourly noise levels generated by these activities at the closest off-site land uses. 
 

Table N-6: Operational Noise Levels at Nearby Sensitive Receptors 

Noise Source 

Reference Measurements Industrial to West Homes to Northeast 
Distance - 
Source to 

Measurement 
(feet) 

Noise 
Level 
(dBA 
Leq) 

Distance - 
Source to 
Industrial 

(feet) 

Noise 
Level 

(dBA Leq) 

Distance - 
Source to 
Homes 
(feet) 

Noise 
Level 

(dBA Leq) 
Rooftop Equipment 10 66.6 145 43 1,750 22 
Auto Parking Lot 5 52.1 470 13 1,700 1 
Truck Loading Area 10 63.3 70 46 1,900 18 
Forklift 10 74.4 70 57 1,900 29 

Combined Noise Levels  58  30 
City Noise Standards (Day/Night)1  70/70  65/45 

Exceed City Noise Standard?  No/No  No/No 
1 City Noise Standards obtained from Section 5-29.04 of the Municipal Code. 
Source: Noise Impact Analysis (Appendix I) 

 
As shown in Table N-6, operation of the Project would generate a noise level of 58 dBA Leq at the industrial 
property to the west and 30 dBA at the nearest homes to the northeast. These levels would be below the 
City’s noise standard of 65 dBA Leq at the residential land uses and below the noise standard of 70 dBA 

Item E - 143 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

123 

Leq for industrial land uses. Because Project noise levels would not exceed the maximum permissible noise 
levels, the impact would be less than significant. 
 
Long-Term Off-Site Traffic Noise Impacts 
According to TOP 2050 Section 5.13.2.2, Transportation Noise Thresholds, a project would have a significant 
effect on the environment related to traffic noise if it were to substantially increase the ambient noise levels 
for adjoining areas. A significant impact would occur if the traffic noise increase would exceed: 

• 1.5 dBA for ambient noise environments of 65 dBA CNEL and higher. 
• 3 dBA for ambient noise environments of 60 to 64 CNEL. 
• 5 dBA for ambient noise environments of less than 60 dBA CNEL. 

 
According to Table T-1 in Section 5.17, Transportation, the proposed Project would generate a total of 286 
average daily trips (ADT) (54 net new trips per day compared to the existing use). According to TOP 2050 
SEIR, Francis Street east of Euclid Avenue currently has 4,894 ADT. Thus, the proposed Project would 
contribute up to 5.8 percent of the ADT on Francis Street. However, in order for Project‐generated vehicular 
traffic to increase the noise level on any of the nearby roadways by 3 dB, the ADT would have to double. 
Similarly, in order for Project-generated vehicular traffic to increase the noise level on any of the nearby 
roadways by 1.5 dBA, the ADT would have to increase by 50 percent. As such, the proposed Project’s 
roadway noise impacts would be well below a 1.5 dB roadway noise increase, which is the most restrictive 
of the three thresholds listed above from TOP 2050 SEIR. Therefore, operational roadway noise impacts 
would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 

b) Generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels?  
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts related to construction related vibration would be 
significant and unavoidable, however, impacts related to operational vibration would be less than significant. 

Construction  
Construction activity can cause varying degrees of ground vibration, depending on the equipment and 
methods used, the distance to receptors, and soil type. Construction vibrations are intermittent, localized 
intrusions. The use of heavy construction equipment, particularly large bulldozers, and large loaded trucks 
hauling materials to or from the site generate construction-period vibration impacts. Buildings in the vicinity 
of the construction site respond to these vibrations with varying results ranging from no perceptible effects 
at the low levels to slight damage at the highest levels. Table N-7 lists approximate vibration levels for 
particular construction activities. The data in Table N-7 provides a reasonable estimate for a wide range of 
soil conditions.  
 

Table N-7: Vibration Source Amplitudes for Construction Equipment 

Equipment Peak Particle Velocity 
(inches/second) 

Approximate Vibration 
Level 

(Lv)at 25 feet 

Pile driver (impact) 1.518 (Upper Range) 
0.644 (Typical Range) 

112 (Upper Range) 
104 (Typical Range) 

Pile driver (sonic) 0.734 (Upper Range) 
0.170 (Typical Range) 

105 (Upper Range) 
93 (Typical Range) 

Clam shovel drop 
(slurry wall) 0.202 94 

Item E - 144 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

124 

Vibratory Roller 0.210 94 
Hoe Ram 0.089 87 
Large bulldozer 0.089 87 
Caisson drill 0.089 87 
Loaded trucks 0.076 86 
Jackhammer 0.035 79 
Small bulldozer 0.003 58 
Source: Noise Impact Analysis (Appendix I) 

 
As shown in Table N-7 above, the most vibration-intensive construction activities would occur from the use of 
a large bulldozer. A large bulldozer would create a vibration level of 0.089 inch per second PPV at 25 
feet. The closest structures to the Project site are the industrial uses immediately to the east and west of the 
site. It is possible that a large bulldozer could operate as close as 10 feet from the adjacent industrial 
buildings.  Construction‐related vibration impacts were calculated using the vibration levels shown in Table 
N-8 and through typical vibration propagation rates. Based on typical propagation rates, the vibration level 
at the nearest industrial building would be would be 0.24 inch per second PPV, which is within the 0.3 inch 
per second PPV threshold for engineered concrete and masonry (Appendix I).  
 
Additionally, as discussed above, construction activities are regulated by the City’s Municipal Code, which 
states that temporary construction, maintenance, or demolition activities are not allowed between 6:00 p.m. 
and 7:00 a.m. on weekdays, including Saturday and Sunday. As such, vibration impacts would not occur 
during sensitive nighttime hours. Therefore, impacts related to groundborne vibration as a result of 
construction would be less than significant. 
 
Operation 
Once operational, the Project would not be a significant source of groundborne vibration. Groundborne 
vibration surrounding the Project currently result from heavy-duty vehicular travel (e.g., refuse trucks, heavy 
duty trucks, delivery trucks, and transit buses) on the nearby local roadways. Operations of the Project would 
include passenger cars and trucks. It is possible that trucks from the proposed Project would operate as close 
as 20 feet to the adjacent industrial buildings.  
 
Caltrans has done extensive research on vibration level created along freeways and State Routes and their 
vibration measurements of roads have never exceeded 0.08 inches per second PPV at 15 feet from the 
center of the nearest lane, with the worst combinations of heavy trucks (Appendix I). Based on typical 
propagation rates, the vibration level at the industrial buildings to the west would be 0.058 inch per second 
PPV. Therefore, vibration created from operation of the proposed Project would be well below the 0.3 inch 
per second PPV threshold for engineered concrete and masonry. 
 
Additionally, due to the rapid drop-off rate of ground-borne vibration and the short duration of the 
associated events, vehicular traffic-induced ground-borne vibration would not be perceptible beyond the 
roadway right-of-way, and would not result in vibration levels that could cause damage to buildings in the 
vicinity. Therefore, the Project would result in no new impacts related to ground born vibration. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
  

Item E - 145 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

125 

c) For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, 
where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use 
airport, would the project expose people residing or working in the project area to excessive 
noise levels? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts related to exposing sensitive receptors to airport noise 
would be significant and unavoidable. 
 
Airport-related noise levels are primarily associated with aircraft engine noise made while aircraft are 
taking off, landing, or running their engines while still on the ground. The Project site is located approximately 
0.5-mile west of Ontario International Airport (ONT). According to TOP 2050 Figure S-06c, Airport Noise 
Contours, the Project site is located within the 60-65 dBA CNEL contours. Therefore, the proposed Project 
would not be subject to excessive noise levels. Additionally, there are no helipads or private airstrips within 
2 miles from the Project area. Therefore, impacts would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding noise. There have not been 1) changes 
related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect to the 
circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions of TOP 
2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the 
severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial importance 
relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and could not have 
been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
RR N-1: Municipal Code Section 5-29.09 (Construction activity noise regulations). Noise sources 
associated with construction, repair, remodeling, or grading of any real property, shall not take place on 
any weekday except between the hours of 7:00 am and 6:00 pm or on Saturday or Sunday between the 
hours of 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe noise and vibration related impacts would result from the 
Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required for noise or vibration.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures Applicable to the Project 

None. 
  

Item E - 146 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

126 

5.14 POPULATION AND HOUSING Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project: Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Induce substantial unplanned population growth in 
an area, either directly (for example, by proposing 
new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for 
example, through extension of roads or other 
infrastructure)?  

     

b) Displace substantial numbers of existing people or 
housing, necessitating the construction of replacement 
housing elsewhere?  

     

 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to population growth and housing in Section 5.14. TOP 2050 SEIR 
determined that the project would directly result in population growth in Ontario. TOP 2050 SEIR determined 
that building of TOP 2050 would not displace people or housing and would not necessitate the construction 
of replacement housing. Overall, TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts related to population and housing 
would be less than significant upon implementation of regulatory requirements and standard conditions of 
approval. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

None. 

a) Induce substantial unplanned population growth in an area, either directly (for example, by 
proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of 
roads or other infrastructure)? 

Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that buildout of TOP 2050 would directly result in population 
growth, however TOP 2050 would accommodate future growth by providing for infrastructure and 
associated public services. Therefore, impacts would be less than significant.  
 
The Project would involve the demolition of the existing structures onsite and development of a new 
warehouse building totaling 167,174 SF. According to SCAG, the generation rate for employees required 
for operation of an industrial project is 1 employee for every 1,195 SF of industrial space. As the Project 
would build and operate one warehouse building totaling 167,174 SF, operation of the Project would 
generate approximately 140 employees. TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed the development of approximately 
167,227 SF of general industrial uses on the Project site. As such, TOP 2050 assumed approximately 140 
employees would be needed to operate 167,227 SF of general industrial uses. 
 
According to SCAG’s 2020-2045 RTP/SCS population and household growth forecast for Ontario, between 
2016 and 2045, SCAG anticipates an employment increase of 55,400 additional jobs (from 113,900 to 
169,300), yielding a 48.6 percent growth rate. SCAG also anticipates a population increase of 96,600 
between 2016 and 2045 (from 172,200 to 269,100). The proposed Project would generate approximately 
199 new employees, which represents approximately 0.14 percent of the forecasted population growth 

Item E - 147 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

127 

between 2016 and 2045 and approximately 0.25 percent of the forecasted employment growth between 
2016 and 2045 for the City. 
 
The employees that would fill these roles are anticipated to come from the region, as the unemployment rate 
of the City of Ontario in August 2022 was 3.6 percent, the City of Upland was 3.6 percent, and the City of 
Chino was at 3.5 percent (State Employment Development Department 2022). Due to these levels of 
unemployment, it is anticipated that new employees at the Project site would already reside within commuting 
distance and would not generate needs for any housing. In addition, should the Project require employees 
to relocate to the area for work, there is sufficient vacant housing available within the region. The City of 
Ontario has a vacancy rate of 3.6 percent. Ontario has a total of 54,918 housing units; 52,950 of which 
are occupied (California Department of Finance 2022). Therefore, impacts related to unplanned population 
growth from the Project would be less than significant. 
 
Furthermore, the Project is located in an urbanized area of Ontario and is surrounded by industrial and uses. 
The Project does not propose to expand surrounding utility infrastructure (e.g., water, electricity, cell tower, 
gas, sanitary sewer, and stormwater drains) in the Project vicinity. All onsite systems would be provided and 
maintained by the property owner, as well as connect to existing and planned infrastructure within adjacent 
roadways. Because the Project proposes development in an already built-out portion of the city, it would 
not indirectly induce population growth through the extension of roads or other infrastructure and impacts 
would be considered less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Displace substantial numbers of existing people or housing, necessitating the construction 
of replacement housing elsewhere? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that impacts related to displacement of housing would be less 
than significant.  
 
The Project site is currently partially developed with the western portion of the site functioning as a storage 
yard and eastern portion containing approximately 29,400 SF of building area and a storage area. The 
Project site has a TOP 2050 land use designation of IND and is zoned as IG, which do not provide for 
residential development. Therefore, the Project would not displace any housing and would not necessitate 
the construction of replacement housing. As a result, no impact would occur. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding population and housing. There have not 
been 1) changes related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects 
or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect 
to the circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions 
of TOP 2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial 

Item E - 148 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

128 

importance relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and 
could not have been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
None. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe population and housing impacts would result from 
implementation of the Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required for population 
and housing.   

Item E - 149 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

129 

5.15 PUBLIC SERVICES Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

a) Would the project result in substantial adverse 
physical impacts associated with the provision of new 
or physically altered governmental facilities, need 
for new or physically altered governmental facilities, 
the construction of which could cause significant 
environmental impacts, in order to maintain 
acceptable service ratios, response times or other 
performance objectives for any of the public 
services: 

Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

Fire protection?      
Police protection?      
Schools?      
Parks?      
Other public facilities?      
 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to public services were analyzed in Section 5.15. TOP 2050 SEIR 
determined that buildout of the project would result in an increase in development and population, which 
would result in increased demand on fire protection and police services. However, without a definitive 
location for the development of future facilities, the analysis of potential impacts is too speculative to conduct. 
Future projects would be reviewed by the City and Ontario Fire Department on an individual basis and 
would be required to comply with requirements in effect at the time building permits are issued, including 
the payment of development impact fees that contribute to funding for additional staffing, facilities, and 
equipment. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that the need for additional structures and personnel would be 
financed through the City’s development impact fee program, and the impacts of the project on fire and 
police services would be less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined buildout of the project would generate new students who would impact the 
school enrollment capacities of area schools, and construction of new schools and/or classroom facilities for 
additional students generated by buildout of the project would be accommodated through assessment of 
school impact fees. Therefore, impacts to school services would be less than significant with the payment of 
school impact fees. 
 
TOP 2050 determined that buildout of the project would result in an increase in demand for library services 
in the City of Ontario based on an increase in population and that new facilities, books, and personnel would 
be necessary to maintain and reach adequate levels of service. However, since the payment of development 
impact fees would offset the costs associated with new library services, impacts on library services would be 
less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

None.  
  

Item E - 150 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

130 

a) Result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new or 
physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered governmental 
facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order 
to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times, or other performance objectives for 
any of the public services: 

 
i. Fire Protection and Emergency Services 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that the need for additional structures and personnel would be 
financed through the City’s development impact fee program, and the impacts of the project on fire services 
would be less than significant. 
 
Fire protections services would be provided by the City of Ontario Fire Department (OFD), which operates 
ten fire stations throughout the City. Ontario Fire Department, located at 425 East B Street, is 3.3 miles north 
of the project site. Ontario Fire Department Station 3 is the closest station to the Project site, located 
approximately 0.4 miles east from the Project site. As discussed previously, TOP 2050 SEIR assumed 
operation of approximately 167,227 SF of general industrial uses on site that would require 140 employees 
while operation of the proposed warehouse buildings totaling 167,174 SF would require 140 employees 
as well. Thus, the proposed warehouse buildings would require the same number of employees that was 
assumed in TOP 2050 SEIR. Therefore, implementation of the proposed Project would not increase demand 
for fire protection and emergency medical services as compared to TOP 2050 SEIR. Additionally, there are 
two fire stations two miles of the Project site that currently serve the Project vicinity.  
 
As part of the permitting process, the Project plans would be reviewed by the City’s Fire Department and 
the Building Department to ensure that the Project plans meet the fire protection requirements. Additionally, 
the proposed facility would be required to comply with City fire suppression standards including current CBC 
and would provide adequate fire access. As such, the increase in fire service demands from the Project would 
not require construction of a new or physically altered fire station that could cause environmental impacts. 
Therefore, impacts related to fire protection services would be less than significant.   In addition, as a matter 
of information, development impact fees (DIF) would also be collected in order to build and supply necessary 
infrastructure for fire protection services, as necessary.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 

ii. Police Protection 
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that the need for additional structures and personnel would be 
financed through the City’s development impact fee program, and the impacts of the project on police 
services would be less than significant. 
 
Police protection services for the city of Ontario and the Project are provided by the Ontario Police 
Department (OPD). The station, which would serve the Project site, is located approximately 2.4 miles away 
from the Project at 2500 S Archibald Ave, Ontario, CA 91761. The Project would result in additional onsite 
employees and goods that could create the need for police services. Crime and safety issues during Project 
construction may include theft of building materials and construction equipment, malicious mischief, graffiti, 
and vandalism. Operation of the proposed warehouse building would generate a typical range of police 
service calls such as burglaries, thefts, and employee disturbances, similar to the use analyzed in TOP 2050 
SEIR and the existing use. The Project would include security lighting and other security measures. The 

Item E - 151 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

131 

additional need for law enforcement services from the Project would not be significant compared to the use 
analyzed in TOP 2050 SEIR and the existing use and would not result in the need for new or physically 
altered police facilities. Thus, impacts related to police services would be less than significant.  In addition, 
as a matter of information, DIF would also be collected in order to build and supply necessary infrastructure 
for police protection services, as necessary.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 

iii. School Services 
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts to school services would be less than significant with 
the payment of school impact fees (SB 50). 
 
The Project consists of one warehouse building that would not directly generate students. As described 
previously, the Project is not anticipated to generate a new population, as the employees needed to operate 
the Project are anticipated to come from within the Project region and substantial in-migration of employees 
that could generate new students is not anticipated to occur. Additionally, the Project, like any other new 
development, would be required to pay the impact fees levied by each school district, set within the limits 
of SB 50.Thus, the Project would not generate the need for new or physically altered school facilities and 
impacts would be less than significant.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 

iv. Parks 
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts related to parks would be less than significant. 
 
The Project would build a single-story warehouse building on a site that is currently partially developed with 
the western portion of the site functioning as a storage yard, while the eastern portion contains 
approximately 29,400 SF of building area and a storage area. The Project would not construct any 
residential facilities, nor create an additional need for housing. Additionally, the employees needed to 
operate the project are anticipated to come from the labor force in the region. While employees may use 
public recreational facilities in the area, the Project would not generate a significant increase in use of the 
existing neighborhood or regional parks or other recreational facilities such that substantial physical 
deterioration of the facility would occur or be accelerated. The Project does not include or require the 
construction or expansion of recreational facilities which could negatively impact the environment. In addition, 
no offsite parks or recreational improvements are proposed or required as part of the Project. Thus, impacts 
would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 
  

Item E - 152 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

132 

v. Other Public Facilities  
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined impacts to library services would be less than significant with 
the payment of development impact fees. 
 
As previously discussed, development of the Project would not result in a direct increase in the population of 
the Project area and would not increase the demand for public services, including public health services and 
library services which would require the construction of new or expanded public facilities. As described 
previously, the employees needed to operate the Project are anticipated to come from the Project region 
and commute to the Project site and substantial in-migration of employees that could generate substantial 
usage of other public facilities is not anticipated to occur. Therefore, impacts related to other public services 
would be less than significant.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding public services. There have not been 1) 
changes related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects or a 
substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect to the 
circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions of TOP 
2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the 
severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial importance 
relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and could not have 
been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
None. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe public services impacts would result from implementation of 
the Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required for public services.  
 
  

Item E - 153 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

133 

 
5.16 RECREATION Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project: Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Would the project increase the use of existing 
neighborhood and regional parks or other 
recreational facilities such that substantial physical 
deterioration of the facility would occur or be 
accelerated? 

     

b) Does the project include recreational facilities or 
require the construction or expansion of recreational 
facilities which might have an adverse physical effect 
on the environment? 

     

 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to recreation in Section 5.16. TOP 2050 SEIR determined that 
implementation of TOP 2050 would generate additional residents that would increase the use of existing 
park and recreational facilities, but park dedications and payment of in-lieu fees would ensure impacts are 
less than significant. TOP 2050 SEIR also determined that project implementation would result in 
environmental impacts to provide new and/or expanded recreational facilities but would not result in a 
significant impact as subsequent environmental review would be required for development of park projects 
under TOP 2050 Land Use Plan. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

None.  

a) Increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities 
such that physical deterioration of the facility would be accelerated?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. The Project would build a single-story warehouse building on a site that is currently partially 
developed with the western portion of the site functioning as a storage yard, while the eastern portion 
contains approximately 29,400 SF of building area and a storage area. As previously discussed, the Project 
does not propose any residential facilities, and would not cause an increase in residential population. 
Additionally, the employees needed to operate the Project are anticipated to come from the labor force in 
the region. The closest parks to the Project site are South Bon View Park and Ontario Soccer Complex Park, 
both located approximately 2 miles from the Project site. Project employees may use the parks for breaks 
or recreation; however, the use of the parks by Project employees would not lead to a physical deterioration 
of the park. Thus, there would be no increase in residents which would cause any increase in demand for 
existing parks or other recreational facilities, and the Project would not cause nor accelerate physical 
deterioration of these facilities.  
 

Item E - 154 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

134 

No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Require the construction or expansion of recreational facilities which might have an adverse 
physical effect on the environment?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. The Project would build a single-story warehouse building on a site that is currently partially 
developed. The western portion of the site functioning as a storage yard, while the eastern portion contains 
approximately 29,400 SF of building area and a storage area. The Project would not directly increase the 
residential population of the City or generate additional need for parkland. The Project does not include or 
require the construction or expansion of recreational facilities which could negatively impact the environment, 
and no offsite parks or recreational improvements are proposed or required as part of the Project. 
Additionally, payment of in-lieu fees would ensure no negative impacts to the environment. Thus, no impacts 
would occur. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. Impacts from the Project would be consistent with those identified in TOP 
2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding recreation. There have not been 1) changes 
related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect to the 
circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions of TOP 
2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the 
severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial importance 
relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and could not have 
been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
None. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe recreation impacts would result from implementation of the 
Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required for recreation.  
 
  

Item E - 155 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

135 

5.17 TRANSPORTATION Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Would the project: 

Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Conflict with a program, plan, ordinance or policy 
addressing the circulation system, including transit, 
roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities? 

     

b) Would the project conflict or be inconsistent with 
CEQA Guidelines section 15064.3, subdivision (b)? 

     

c) Substantially increase hazards due to a design 
feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous 
intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm 
equipment)? 

     

d) Result in inadequate emergency access?      
 
This section is based on the Vehicle Miles Traveled Analysis prepared by EPD Solutions, Inc., in January 2023 
and included as Appendix J.  

Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR discussed impacts related to traffic and circulation in Section 5.17. TOP 2050 SEIR 
determined implementation of TOP 2050 would not conflict with a program, plan, ordinance, or policy 
addressing the circulation system, including transit, roadway, bicycle, and pedestrian facilities. Impacts would 
be less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR determined implementation of TOP 2050 would generate an increase in total Vehicle Miles 
Traveled (VMT) compared to TOP 2010. TOP 2050 includes goals and policies to offset VMT impacts by 
creating greater access to transit and enhanced alternative transportation modes. However, even with the 
additional goals, policies, and actions related to VMT reduction, TOP 2050 is not anticipated to reduce the 
impact of increased total VMT, even with mitigation. Impacts would be significant and unavoidable.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR found that future development in accordance with TOP 2050 would not substantially increase 
hazards due to a design feature nor would it result in inadequate emergency access. TOP 2050 SEIR 
determined the Mobility Element adequately addresses potentially hazardous conditions, potential 
conflicting uses, and emergency access. Additionally, future projects are required to be reviewed by the 
Ontario Fire Department to determine adequate emergency access is provided based on local and state 
guidance. Impacts would be less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

Mitigation Measure T-1. Prior to approval of discretionary projects subject to VMT reduction analysis, 
applicants shall demonstrate compliance with the City’s VMT Guidelines for CEQA assessment of VMT 
impacts. For projects with VMT per Service Population exceeding the County’s significance threshold, a 
mitigation plan shall be developed and implemented. Mitigation should consist of Transportation Demand 
Management (TDM) measures analyzed under a VMT-reduction methodology consistent with the California 
Air Pollution Control Officers Association’s (CAPCOA) Final Handbook for Analyzing Greenhouse Gas 
Emission Reductions, Assessing Climate Vulnerabilities, and Advancing Health and Equity (2021) and 
approved by the City of Ontario (if applicable). Examples of measures include but are not limited to: 

Item E - 156 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

136 

• Pedestrian Network Improvements: constructing new sidewalks and/or improving damaged or 
substandard sidewalks that connect to a larger pedestrian network. 

• Construct or Improve Bike Facilities: constructing new or enhancing a single existing Class I, II or IV 
bike facility that connects to a larger bike network. 

• Construct or Improve Bike Boulevards: implementing a Class III bike boulevard on a local or collector 
street that is one travel lane in each direction, has a design speed of 25 mph or less and a design 
volume of 5,000 ADT or less. 

• Expand Bikeway Networks: constructing a network of interconnected new Class I, II, or IV bike 
facilities. 

• Provide End of Trip Bicycle Facilities: constructing facilities that support cyclists such as bike parking, 
lockers, and showers. 

• Implement Transit-Supportive Roadway Treatments: funding infrastructure improvements such as 
traffic signal modifications and roadway signing and striping that are dedicated to improving transit 
travel times and reliability. 

• Transit Passes: proving discounted or free transit fare to a specific geographic area, population 
group, or to the general public. 

• Vanpool Program: providing groups of 5 to 15 people with direct shuttle service between their 
workplace and residence. 

• Carshare Program (conventional or EV): providing access to a shared fleet of on-demand vehicles 
for short-term use/rental. Best practice is to discount carshare membership and provide priority 
parking for carshare vehicles to encourage use of the service. 

• Bikeshare Program (conventional or EV): providing access to a shared fleet of on-demand bicycles 
for short-term use/rental. Best practice is to discount bikeshare membership and dedicate bikeshare 
parking to encourage use of the service. 

• Rideshare Program: providing access to and encouraging the use of a ridesharing platform or 
service. This could be an app, website, or other service that provides ride-matching coordination 
services.  

• Community-Based Travel Planning (CBTP): CBTP is a residential based approach to outreach, 
performed by trained advisors, that provides households within a targeted geographic area with 
customized information, incentives, and support to encourage the use of transportation alternatives 
in place of single occupancy vehicles. 

• Commute Trip Reduction (CTR) Program: CTR programs can be mandatory or voluntary, and involve 
providing information, coordination, services, infrastructure, and/or incentives for alternative modes 
such as ridesharing, vanpool, transit passes, and cycling. 

a) Conflict with a program, plan, ordinance or policy addressing the circulation system, 
including transit, roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined implementation of TOP 2050 would not conflict with a 
program, plan, ordinance, or policy addressing the circulation system, including transit, roadway, bicycle, 
and pedestrian facilities. Impacts would be less than significant. 
 
Vehicular access to the proposed Project would be provided via two driveways on East Francis Street. 
Vehicular traffic to and from the Project site would utilize the existing network of regional and local 
roadways that currently serve the Project area. The Project would construct internal roadways that would 
provide employee access to the building. In addition, final design plans would be subject to review and 
approval by the City’s Public Works Department prior to the issuance of building permits.  

Item E - 157 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

137 

 
Additionally, as shown in Table LU-1 in Section 5.11, Land Use and Planning, the Project would be consistent 
with circulation goals and policies included as part of TOP 2050. As such, the Project would not introduce 
any new roadways or land uses that would interfere with adopted plans, programs, ordinances, or policies 
regarding roadway facilities. 
 
Alternative Transportation 
Sidewalks currently exist along the Project site’s East Francis Street frontage and would not be changed with 
implementation of the Project. According to TOP Figure M-02, Multipurpose Trails and Bikeways, a Class I 
bike route exists approximately 300 feet west of the Project site. Additionally, Class II bike routes are 
proposed along Francis Avenue and buffered Class II bike lanes are proposed along South Vineyard 
Avenue. The proposed Project would not interfere with existing bike routes or future implementation of the 
proposed bike routes. The Metrolink Riverside Line is located adjacent to Mission Boulevard. East Ontario 
Metrolink Station is located approximately 2.2 miles east. Additionally, Omnitrans Bus Route 87 exists along 
Mission Boulevard, just north of the Project site. The Project would not disrupt service of the Metrolink Line 
nor Omnitrans Route 87. Therefore, the Project would not conflict with alternative transportation and Project 
impacts to transit, bicycle, and pedestrian facilities would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Would the project conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines section 15064.3, 
subdivision (b)? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined implementation of TOP 2050 would generate an increase in 
total VMT compared to TOP 2010 and impacts would remain significant an unavoidable even after 
implementation of mitigation.  
 
Changes to CEQA Guidelines were adopted in December 2018, which require all lead agencies to adopt 
VMT as a replacement for automobile delay-based level of service (LOS) as the measure for identifying 
transportation impacts for land use projects. This statewide mandate went into effect July 1, 2020. To aid in 
this transition, the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research (OPR) released a Technical Advisory on 
Evaluating Transportation Impacts in CEQA (December of 2018) (Technical Advisory). Based on OPR’s 
Technical Advisory and its specific procedures for complying with the new CEQA requirements for VMT 
analysis, the City of Ontario has developed and adopted their own VMT methodologies and thresholds, 
which were adopted by City Council in June 2020 (City Guidelines). 
 
The City Guidelines describe specific “screening thresholds” that can be used to identify when a proposed 
land use project is anticipated to result in a less than significant impact without conducting a more detailed 
project level VMT analysis. Consistent with City Guidelines, a land use project needs only to satisfy one of 
the following four screening thresholds to result in a less than significant impact. Project consistency with 
screening thresholds is described below. 
 

1. Transit Priority Area (TPA) Screening 
City Guidelines state that projects located within a TPA (i.e. within one-half mile of an existing “major 
transit stop” or an existing stop along a “high-quality transit corridor”) may be presumed to have a 
less than significant impact unless one of the following conditions is met: 

• Has a Floor Area Ratio (FAR) of less than 0.75; 

Item E - 158 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

138 

• Includes more parking for use by residents, customers, or employees of the project than 
required by the jurisdiction (if the jurisdiction requires the project to supply parking); 

• Is inconsistent with the applicable Sustainable Communities Strategy (as determined by the 
lead agency, with input from the Metropolitan Planning Organization); or 

• Replaces affordable residential units with a smaller number of moderate- or high-income 
residential units. 

 
The Project site is not located within a TPA, thus this screening criteria is not met. 

 
2. Low VMT Area Screening  

City Guidelines state that projects located in an already low VMT generating traffic analysis zone 
(TAZ) may be presumed to have a less than significant VMT impact. TAZs that generate a VMT per 
service population (SP) that is 15 percent below the County of San Bernardino Baseline VMT per SP 
(33.3 VMT per SP) are considered low VMT. 
 
The Project is located in TAZ 53663201 and was found to have a VMT per service population of 
56.7. Thus, the Project’s VMT per SP would exceed the threshold of 28.3 VMT per SP. Accordingly, 
the Project is not located within a low VMT generating zone. Thus, this screening criteria is not met. 
 

3. Project Type Screening 
City Guidelines identify local serving retail with buildings less than 50,000 square feet or other local 
serving essential services as having a less than significant VMT impact. The proposed Project would 
not develop any local serving retail or essential land use services. Thus, this screening criteria is not 
met. 

 
4. Low Trip Generating Uses Screening 

City Guidelines state that land use projects generating 110 or fewer daily vehicle trips are assumed 
to cause a less than significant impact on VMT.  

 
Table T-1 shows the trip generation comparison between the VMT baseline (29,400 SF of IG consistent uses) 
and proposed Project (167,174 SF of warehouse uses). 

 
Table T-1: Trip Generation Comparison 

        AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Land Use   Units Daily In Out Total In Out Total 

Trip Rates                    

          
General Light Industrial1  TSF 4.87 0.65 0.09 0.74 0.09 0.56 0.65 

Warehousing2  TSF 1.71 0.13 0.04 0.17 0.05 0.13 0.18 
                    
Existing Vehicle Trip Generation          

General Light Industrial1 29.400 TSF 143 19 3 22 3 16 19 

Vehicle Mix3          

Passenger Vehicles   72.50% 104 14 2 16 2 12 14 

2-Axle Trucks  4.60% 7 1 0 1 0 1 1 

3-Axle Trucks  5.70% 8 1 0 1 0 1 1 

Item E - 159 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

139 

4+-Axle Trucks  17.20% 25 3 1 4 0 3 3 

   143 19 3 22 3 16 19 

          
Proposed Vehicle Trip Generation          

Warehouse2 167.174 TSF 286 21 7 28 8 22 30 

Vehicle Mix4  Percent        

Passenger Vehicles   55.30% 158 12 4 16 5 12 17 
2-Axle Trucks  15.50% 44 3 1 4 1 3 4 
3-Axle Trucks  4.90% 14 1 0 1 0 1 1 
4+-Axle Trucks  24.30% 69 5 2 7 2 6 8 

    100% 286 21 7 28 8 22 30 

Total Net Trip Generation     54 -2 2 0 3 0 3 

TSF = Thousand Square Feet 
1 Trip rates from the Institute of Transportation Engineers, Trip Generation Manual,11th Edition, 2021. Land Use Code 110 - General Light 
Industrial. 
2 Trip rates from the Institute of Transportation Engineers, Trip Generation Manual,11th Edition, 2021. Land Use Code 150 - Warehousing. 
3 Vehicle Mix from the High-Cube Warehouse Vehicle Trip Generation Analysis (2016) Table A1 SCAQMD. SCAQMD Truck Trip Study Data 
Results and Usage, July 17, 2014 without cold storage 
4 Vehicle Mix from the High-Cube Warehouse Vehicle Trip Generation Analysis (2016) Table A1 SCAQMD. SCAQMD Truck Trip Study Data 
Results and Usage, July 17, 2014 with cold storage 
Source: Vehicle Miles Traveled Screening Memo (Appendix J). 

 
As shown, the proposed Project is anticipated to generate 54 net new trips per day compared to the VMT 
baseline, which is below the threshold of 110 additional vehicle trips per day. Thus, the Low Trip Generating 
Uses Screening criteria is met.  
 
Therefore, since the proposed Project would generate fewer than 110 additional vehicle trips per day and 
is consistent with the City’s screening criteria, the Project screens from additional VMT analysis and would 
have a less than significant impact on VMT. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 

c) Substantially increase hazards due to a design feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous 
intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that impacts related to an increase in hazards due to design 
features would be less than significant.  
 
Vehicular access to the proposed building would be provided via two driveways on East Francis Street. 
Vehicular traffic to and from the Project site would utilize the existing network of regional and local 
roadways that currently serve the Project area. The Project would not introduce any new roadways or 
introduce a land use that would conflict with existing urban land uses in the surrounding area. Design of the 
Project, including the internal circulation, is subject to the City’s development standards. The proposed 
Project’s design has been reviewed to ensure fire engine accessibility and turn around area is provided to 
the fire code standards. As a result, impacts related to vehicular circulation design features would be less 
than significant.  
 

Item E - 160 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

140 

No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 

d) Result in inadequate emergency access? 
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact.  

Construction 
The proposed construction activities, including equipment and supply staging and storage, would occur within 
the Project site, and would not restrict access of emergency vehicles to the Project site or adjacent areas. The 
repaving of existing driveways, connections to existing infrastructure systems, and construction of new 
infrastructure that would be implemented during construction of the Project could require the temporary 
closure of one side or portions of Bon View Avenue, Ontario Boulevard, and/or California Street for a short 
period of time (i.e., hours or a few days). However, the construction activities would be required to ensure 
emergency access in accordance with Section 503 of the California Fire Code (Title 24, California Code of 
Regulations, Part 9), which would be ensured through the City’s permitting process. Thus, implementation of 
the Project through the City’s permitting process would ensure existing regulations are adhered to and would 
reduce potential construction related emergency access impacts to a less than significant level. 
 
Operation 
As described previously, vehicle access to the proposed building would be provided via two driveways on 
East Francis Street. The construction permitting process would provide adequate and safe circulation to, from, 
and through the Project area, and would provide routes for emergency responders to access different 
portions of the Project site. The Fire Department and the Public Works Department would review the 
development plans as part of the permitting procedures to ensure adequate emergency access pursuant to 
the requirements in Section 503 of the California Fire Code (Title 24, California Code of Regulations, Part 
9), included as Municipal Code Section 4-4.0. Because the Project is required to comply with all applicable 
City codes, as verified by the City’s permitting process, potential impacts related to inadequate emergency 
access would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding transportation and traffic. There have not 
been 1) changes related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects 
or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect 
to the circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions 
of TOP 2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial 
importance relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and 
could not have been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 

Item E - 161 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

141 

Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
None. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe transportation impacts would result from implementation of 
the Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required for transportation.  
 
 
 
  

Item E - 162 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

142 

5.18 TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

Would the project cause a substantial adverse 
change in the significance of a tribal cultural 
resource, defined in Public Resources Code section 
21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural 
landscape that is geographically defined in terms of 
the size and scope of the landscape, sacred place, 
or object with cultural value to a California Native 
American tribe, and that is: 

Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Listed or eligible for listing in the California 
Register of Historical Resources, or in a local register 
of historical resources as defined in Public Resources 
Code section 5020.1(k), or 

     

b) A resource determined by the lead agency, in its 
discretion and supported by substantial evidence, to 
be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in 
subdivision (c) of Public Resources Code Section 
5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in 
subdivision (c) of Public Resources Code Section 
5024.1, the lead agency shall consider the 
significance of the resource to a California Native 
American tribe. 

     

 

Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR  

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to tribal cultural resources in Section 5.18.  TOP 2050 SEIR 
determined impacts related to tribal cultural resources would be less than significant with implementation of 
Mitigation Measures 5-3, 5-4, TCR-1 and TCR-2. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures  

Mitigation Measure 5-3. Upon receipt of an application for a proposed project subject to CEQA and within 
the City’s jurisdiction, the City’s representative shall consult with the relevant tribe(s)’ representative(s) to 
determine if the proposed project is within a culturally sensitive area to the tribe. If sufficient evidence is 
provided to reasonably ascertain that the site is within a tribal culturally sensitive area, an archaeologist 
shall prepare a cultural resources assessment. The findings of the cultural resources assessment shall be 
incorporated into the CEQA documentation. A copy of the report shall be forwarded to the tribe(s). If 
mitigation is recommended in the CEQA document, the procedure described in Mitigation Measure 5-4 shall 
be followed. 
 
Mitigation Measure 5-4. Prior to the issuance of grading permits for a proposed project which the CEQA 
document defines cultural resource mitigation for potential tribal resources, the project applicant shall contact 
the designated tribe(s) to notify them of the grading, excavation, and monitoring program. The applicant 
shall coordinate with the City of Ontario and the tribal representative(s) to develop mitigation measures that 
address the designation, responsibilities, and participation of tribal monitors during grading, excavation, 
and ground-disturbing activities; scheduling; terms of compensation; and treatment and final disposition of 
any cultural resources, sacred sites, and human remains discovered on the site. The City of Ontario shall be 
the final arbiter of the conditions for projects within the City’s jurisdiction. 
 
Mitigation Measure TCR-1 Tribal Cultural Resources Monitoring. The project archaeologist, in consultation 
with interested tribes, the developer, and the City of Ontario, shall develop an archaeological monitoring 
plan (AMP) to address the details, timing, and responsibility of archaeological and cultural activities that will 
occur on the project site. Details in the AMP shall include:  

Item E - 163 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

143 

1. Project-related ground disturbance (including, but not limited to, brush clearing, grading, trenching, 
etc.) and development scheduling; 

2. The development of a rotating or simultaneous schedule in coordination with the developer and the 
project archeologist for designated Native American Tribal Monitors from the consulting tribes 
during grading, excavation and ground disturbing activities on the site: including the scheduling, 
safety requirements, duties, scope of work, and Native American Tribal Monitors’ authority to stop 
and redirect grading activities in coordination with all project archaeologists (if the tribes cannot 
come to an agreement on the rotating or simultaneous schedule of tribal monitoring, the Native 
American Heritage Commission shall designate the schedule for the onsite Native American Tribal 
Monitor for the proposed project); 

3. The protocols and stipulations that the developer, City, Tribes, and project archaeologist will follow 
in the event of inadvertent cultural resources discoveries, including any newly discovered cultural 
resource deposits that shall be subject to a cultural resources evaluation. 

At least 30 days prior to application for a grading permit and before any brush clearance, grading, 
excavation, and/or ground disturbing activities on the site, the developer shall retain a tribal cultural monitor 
to monitor all ground-disturbing activities in an effort to identify any unknown archaeological resources. 
Pursuant to the AMP, a tribal monitor from the consulting tribe shall be present during the initial grading 
activities. If tribal resources are found during grubbing activities, the tribal monitoring shall be present during 
site grading activities. 
 
Mitigation Measure TCR-2: Treatment and Disposition of Cultural Resources. In the event that Native 
American cultural resources are inadvertently discovered during the course of any ground-disturbing 
activities, including but not limited to brush clearance, grading, trenching, etc., for the proposed project, the 
following procedures will be carried out for treatment and disposition of the discoveries: 

1. Temporary Curation and Storage: During the course of construction, all discovered resources shall 
be temporarily curated in a secure location on-site or at the offices of the project archaeologist. The 
removal of any artifacts from the project site will need to be thoroughly inventoried with tribal 
monitor oversight of the process;  

2. Treatment and Final Disposition: The landowner(s) shall relinquish ownership of all cultural resources, 
including sacred items, burial goods, and all archaeological artifacts and nonhuman remains as part 
of the required mitigation for impacts to cultural resources. The applicant shall relinquish the artifacts 
through one or more of the following methods and provide the City of Ontario with evidence of 
same:  

a) Accommodate the process for on-site reburial of the discovered items with the consulting 
Native American tribes or bands. This shall include measures and provisions to protect the 
future reburial area from any future impacts. Reburial shall not occur until all cataloging, 
basic analysis, other analyses as recommended by the project archaeologist and approved 
by consulting tribes, and basic recordation have been completed; all documentation should 
be at a level of standard professional practice to allow the writing of a report of 
professional quality; 

b) A curation agreement with an appropriate qualified repository in San Bernardino County 
that meets federal standards per 36 CFR Part 79, and therefore the resource would be 
professionally curated and made available to other archaeologists/researchers for further 
study. The collections and associated records shall be transferred, including title, to an 
appropriate curation facility in San Bernardino County, to be accompanied by payment of 
the fees necessary for permanent curation; 

c) For purposes of conflict resolution, if more than one Native American tribe or band is 
involved with the project and cannot come to an agreement as to the disposition of cultural 
materials, materials shall be curated at the San Bernardino County Museum by default; 

d) At the completion of grading, excavation, and ground-disturbing activities on the site, a 
Phase IV Monitoring Report shall be submitted to the City documenting monitoring activities 

Item E - 164 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

144 

conducted by the project archaeologist and Native Tribal Monitors within 60 days of 
completion of grading. This report shall document the impacts to the known resources on the 
property; describe how each mitigation measure was fulfilled; document the type of cultural 
resources recovered and the disposition of such resources; provide evidence of the required 
cultural sensitivity training for the construction staff held during the required pregrade 
meeting; and, in a confidential appendix, include the daily/weekly monitoring notes from 
the archaeologist. All reports produced will be submitted to the City, County Museum, and 
consulting tribes. 

 
a) Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural 

resource, defined in Public Resources Code section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, 
cultural landscape that is geographically defined in terms of the size and scope of the 
landscape, sacred place, or object with cultural value to a California Native American tribe, 
and that is Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources, or 
in a local register of historical resources as defined in Public Resources Code section 
5020.1(k)?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. Assembly Bill (AB) 52 (Chapter 532, Statutes of 2014) establishes a formal consultation 
process for California tribes as part of the CEQA process and equates significant impacts on “tribal cultural 
resources” with significant environmental impacts (Public Resources Code [PRC] § 21084.2). AB 52 requires 
that lead agencies undertaking CEQA review evaluate, just as they do for other historical and archeological 
resources, a project’s potential impact to a tribal cultural resource. In addition, AB 52 requires that lead 
agencies, upon request of a California Native American tribe, begin consultation prior to the release of a 
negative declaration, mitigated negative declaration, or EIR for a project. AB 52 does not apply to a Notice 
of Exemption or Addendum.  
 
On September 15, 2022, a Sacred Lands File (SLF) search was requested from the Native American Heritage 
Commission (NAHC). On November 6, 2022, the NACH responded stating the results of the search were 
negative for known tribal cultural resources within the Project site or vicinity. 
 
The Project site is currently developed and occupied by Western States Wholesale, a manufacturer, 
distributor, and wholesaler of building materials. The Project site soils have been previously disturbed from 
past grading, building construction and installation of utility infrastructure for the existing buildings. Because 
the site has previously been disturbed, there is reduced potential for the Project to impact tribal cultural 
resources. However, the Project may result in excavation into the underlying alluvial sediments where 
undiscovered tribal cultural resources could exist. TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measure TCR-2 requires that in 
the event Native American cultural resources are inadvertently discovered during the course of any ground-
disturbing activities, the resource shall be stored in a secure location until a qualified archaeologist with tribal 
monitor oversight can evaluate the resource. With implementation of TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measure 
TCR-2, the Project would not cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural 
resource, defined in Public Resources Code section 21074 that is a historical resource as defined in Section 
15064.5 of the State CEQA Guidelines or PRC Section 5020.1(k) and no new substantial environmental 
impacts would occur in comparison to the EIR. 
 
The Project site has been previously disturbed, as described above, and has not been previously used as a 
cemetery. There are no known tribal cultural resources on the site. It is not anticipated that implementation 
of the Project would result in the disturbance of human remains. However, in the unlikely event that human 
remains are encountered during earth removal or disturbance activities, the California Health and Safety 
Code Section 7050.5 (included as RR CUL-1) requires that disturbance of the site shall halt until the coroner 
has conducted an investigation into the circumstances, manner, and cause of any death, and the 
recommendations concerning the treatment and disposition of the human remains have been made to the 
person responsible for the excavation or to his or her authorized representative. The Coroner would also be 

Item E - 165 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

145 

contacted pursuant to Sections 5097.98 and 5097.99 of the Public Resources Code relative to Native 
American remains. In the event the Coroner determines the human remains to be of Native American descent, 
the coroner has 24 hours to notify the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC). The NAHC would then 
be required to contact the most likely descendant of the deceased Native American, who would then serve 
as a consultant on how to proceed with the remains. Compliance with the established regulatory framework 
(i.e., California Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5 and Public Resources Code Section 5097.98) would 
reduce potential impacts involving disturbance to human remains would be less than significant. 
 
With implementation of TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measure TCR-2 and regulatory requirements, the Project 
would not cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource. Therefore, the 
Project would not cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource, defined 
in Public Resources Code section 21074 that is a historical resource as defined in Section 15064.5 of the 
State CEQA Guidelines or PRC Section 5020.1(k) and no new substantial environmental impacts would occur 
in comparison to TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural 
resource, defined in Public Resources Code section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, 
cultural landscape that is geographically defined in terms of the size and scope of the 
landscape, sacred place, or object with cultural value to a California Native American tribe, 
and that is a resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by 
substantial evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of 
Public Resources Code Section 5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of 
Public Resources Code Section 5024.1, the lead agency shall consider the significance of 
the resource to a California Native American tribe. 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. As discussed above, there are no known tribal cultural resources that would be affected 
by the Project. The Project site is currently developed and occupied by Western States Wholesale, a 
manufacturer, distributor, and wholesaler of building materials and site soils have been previously disturbed 
from past grading, building construction and installation of utility infrastructure for the existing building. As 
discussed previously in Section 5.5, Cultural Resources, due to past grading and construction activities at the 
Project site, it is likely that any tribal cultural resources have already been destroyed or removed. However, 
the Project may result in excavation into the underlying alluvial sediments where undiscovered tribal cultural 
resources could exist. TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measure TCR-2 requires that in the event Native American 
cultural resources are inadvertently discovered during the course of any ground-disturbing activities, the 
resource shall be stored in a secure location until a qualified archaeologist with tribal monitor oversight can 
evaluate the resource. With implementation of TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measure TCR-2, the Project would 
not cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource defined in Public 
Resources Code section 21074 determined to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision (c) of 
Public Resources Code Section 5024.1 and no new substantial environmental impacts would occur in 
comparison to the EIR. 
 
Additionally, the California Health and Safety Code, Section 7050.5 requires that if human remains are 
discovered in the Project site, disturbance of the site shall halt and remain halted until the coroner has 
conducted an investigation. If the coroner determines that the remains are those of a Native American, they 
shall contact, by telephone within 24 hours, the Native American Heritage Commission. Therefore, impacts to 
tribal cultural resources would be less than significant and no new substantial environmental impacts would 
occur in comparison to TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 

Item E - 166 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

146 

evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding tribal cultural resources. There have not 
been 1) changes related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects 
or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect 
to the circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions 
of TOP 2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial 
importance relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and 
could not have been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
(See RR CUL-1 in Section 5.5) 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe tribal cultural resources impacts would result from 
implementation of the Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required for tribal 
cultural resources.  
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures Applicable to the Project 

Mitigation Measure 5-2 as listed previously in Section 5.5, Cultural Resources.  
 
Mitigation Measure TCR-2: Treatment and Disposition of Cultural Resources. In the event that Native 
American cultural resources are inadvertently discovered during the course of any ground-disturbing 
activities, including but not limited to brush clearance, grading, trenching, etc., for the proposed project, the 
following procedures will be carried out for treatment and disposition of the discoveries: 

3. Temporary Curation and Storage: During the course of construction, all discovered resources shall 
be temporarily curated in a secure location on-site or at the offices of the project archaeologist. The 
removal of any artifacts from the project site will need to be thoroughly inventoried with tribal 
monitor oversight of the process;  

4. Treatment and Final Disposition: The landowner(s) shall relinquish ownership of all cultural resources, 
including sacred items, burial goods, and all archaeological artifacts and nonhuman remains as part 
of the required mitigation for impacts to cultural resources. The applicant shall relinquish the artifacts 
through one or more of the following methods and provide the City of Ontario with evidence of 
same:  

e) Accommodate the process for on-site reburial of the discovered items with the consulting 
Native American tribes or bands. This shall include measures and provisions to protect the 
future reburial area from any future impacts. Reburial shall not occur until all cataloging, 
basic analysis, other analyses as recommended by the project archaeologist and approved 
by consulting tribes, and basic recordation have been completed; all documentation should 
be at a level of standard professional practice to allow the writing of a report of 
professional quality; 

f) A curation agreement with an appropriate qualified repository in San Bernardino County 
that meets federal standards per 36 CFR Part 79, and therefore the resource would be 
professionally curated and made available to other archaeologists/researchers for further 
study. The collections and associated records shall be transferred, including title, to an 
appropriate curation facility in San Bernardino County, to be accompanied by payment of 
the fees necessary for permanent curation; 

Item E - 167 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

147 

g) For purposes of conflict resolution, if more than one Native American tribe or band is 
involved with the project and cannot come to an agreement as to the disposition of cultural 
materials, materials shall be curated at the San Bernardino County Museum by default; 

h) At the completion of grading, excavation, and ground-disturbing activities on the site, a 
Phase IV Monitoring Report shall be submitted to the City documenting monitoring activities 
conducted by the project archaeologist and Native Tribal Monitors within 60 days of 
completion of grading. This report shall document the impacts to the known resources on the 
property; describe how each mitigation measure was fulfilled; document the type of cultural 
resources recovered and the disposition of such resources; provide evidence of the required 
cultural sensitivity training for the construction staff held during the required pregrade 
meeting; and, in a confidential appendix, include the daily/weekly monitoring notes from 
the archaeologist. All reports produced will be submitted to the City, County Museum, and 
consulting tribes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Item E - 168 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

148 

5.19 UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Would the project: 

Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Require or result in the construction of new or 
expanded water, wastewater treatment or storm 
water drainage, electric power, natural gas, or 
telecommunications facilities, the construction or 
relocation of which could cause significant 
environmental effects? 

     

b) Have sufficient water supplies available to serve 
the project and reasonably foreseeable future 
development during normal, dry, and multiple dry 
years? 

     

c) Result in a determination by the wastewater 
treatment provider which serves or may serve the 
project that it has adequate capacity to serve the 
project’s projected demand in addition to the 
provider’s existing commitments? 

     

d) Generate solid waste in excess of State or local 
standards, or in excess of the capacity of local 
infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of 
solid waste reduction goals? 

     

e) Comply with federal, state, and local statutes and 
regulations related to solid waste? 

     

 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR 

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed impacts related to utilities and service systems in Section 5.19.  
 
Water Supply and Distribution: TOP 2050 SEIR determined water supply and delivery systems in the City 
of Ontario are adequate to meet the needs of buildout in accordance with TOP 2050 and that impacts 
related to water supply and distribution would be less than significant. The Ontario Municipal Utilities 
Company (OMUC) provides water service to residents, businesses, and other users in the city. According to 
TOP 2050 SEIR, full implementation of TOP 2050 has the potential to increase water demand by 3 mgd in 
the City overall. This accounts for an increase of approximately 6 percent from the current TOP to TOP 
2050. Therefore, the City and the IEUA have made plans for infrastructure expansion and improvement. 
Additionally, as part of the land development approval process, the City determines a project’s fair-share 
costs and connection fees. Through the use of connection fees and agreements, the City maintains and 
expands its water distribution system as necessary and is able to ensure that new developments pay their 
fair-share costs. The City has the discretion to require water capacity studies associated with new 
development and currently requires site-specific studies to determine a project’s impact throughout the water 
system. Therefore, impacts related to infrastructure expansion and improvement caused by the 
implementation of TOP 2050 would be less than significant. 
 
Additionally, although TOP 2050 at buildout is estimated to generate a 6 percent increase in water demand 
using conservative water demand factors, new State requirements and City policies and code requirements 
would result in enhanced water efficiency and conservation. Applying these measures to the current water 

Item E - 169 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

149 

demand estimates would result in total water demand below the projections in the 2020 UWMP for year 
2045. Therefore, there would be sufficient water supplies to meet the demand for TOP 2050 buildout. 
 
Wastewater: TOP 2050 SEIR determined wastewater generated by projects built in accordance with TOP 
2050 could be adequately treated by the wastewater service provider for the project and would not require 
the construction of new wastewater treatment facilities or the expansion of existing facilities or exceed 
wastewater treatment requirements of the Regional Water Quality Control Board. The City of Ontario 
conveys its wastewater via regional trunk sewers to regional wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) 
operated by the Inland Empire Utilities Agency (IEUA). According to TOP 2050 SEIR, the City’s wastewater 
collection system is adequate to convey the additional 2.55 million gallons per day (mgd) that would occur 
with implementation of TOP 2050 Update. Wastewater treatment in Ontario is provided by two IEUA 
facilities: RP-1 and RP-5. The current combined capacity of these two facilities is 60.3 mgd and would 
increase to 66.5 mgd once the expansion project that is currently under construction at RP-5 is completed. In 
2020, RP-1 treated an average wastewater flow of 25 mgd, and RP-2 treated an average wastewater 
flow of 8 mgd (IEUA 2020). Therefore, these two WWTPs have a current combined treatment rate of 33 
mgd. Additionally, there are additional plans to increase the treatment capacity of RP-5 to 30 mgd by 
2040; the combined treatment capacity of both WWTPs would be 74 mgd (IEUA 2020). Therefore, TOP 
2050 SEIR determined wastewater generated by TOP 2050 update could be adequately treated by the 
IEUA and would not require the construction of new wastewater treatment facilities or the expansion of 
existing facilities or exceed wastewater treatment requirements of the Regional Water Quality Control 
Board.   
 
Stormwater Drainage: TOP 2050 SEIR found that existing and or proposed storm drainage systems are 
adequate to serve the drainage requirements of TOP 2050 and determined impacts related to stormwater 
drainage would be less than significant. TOP 2050 SEIR determined compliance with the City’s policies and 
programs that ensure adequate infrastructure and the regulatory provisions in the MS4 permit that limit 
runoff from new development would ensure that implementation of TOP 2050 would not result in significant 
increases in runoff that would contribute to the construction or expansion of new storm drains beyond what 
is already planned. In addition, the City would continue to repair, rehabilitate, and upgrade the storm drain 
system through implementation of the CIP program, and potential future development would be required to 
pay storm drainage fees per the City’s municipal code. Therefore, impacts with respect to stormwater 
infrastructure would be less than significant. 
 
Solid Waste: TOP 2050 SEIR determined existing and/or proposed solid waste facilities would be able to 
accommodate Project-generated solid waste and comply with related solid waste regulations and impacts 
would be less than significant. TOP 2050 determined that buildout of TOP 2050 would generate an increase 
in solid waste of 45,204 tons/year. TOP 2050 SEIR determined solid waste generated through 
implementation of TOP 2050 would be adequately accommodated by the Badlands Sanitary Landfill and 
the El Sobrante Landfill. Furthermore, future development pursuant to TOP 2050 would comply with Section 
4.408 of the 2019 CALGreen building code, which requires that at least 65 percent of nonhazardous 
construction and demolition waste from nonresidential construction operations be recycled and/or salvaged 
for reuse. Development would also comply with AB 341, which mandates recycling for commercial and 
multifamily residential land uses. Additionally, future businesses that generate organic waste in amounts over 
a certain threshold would be mandated to recycle organic matter in accordance with AB 1826. Therefore, 
solid waste facilities would be able to accommodate project-generated solid waste associated with the 
Proposed Project and impacts would be less than significant. 
 
TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measures 
 
None.  
 

a) Require or result in the construction of new or expanded water, wastewater treatment or 
storm water drainage, electric power, natural gas, or telecommunications facilities, the 
construction or relocation of which could cause significant environmental effects? 

Item E - 170 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

150 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that impacts related to the construction or expansion of water, 
wastewater treatment or storm water drainage, electric power, natural gas, or telecommunications facilities 
would be less than significant. 
 
Water 
The Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (OMUC) provides water service to residents, businesses, and other 
users in the City, including to the Project site. The Project would install a new 2-inch water line connection to 
the existing 12-inch diameter water line in East Francis Street. Installation of the onsite water infrastructure 
and connection to the existing water supply lines is part of construction of the proposed Project would not 
result in any physical environmental effects beyond those described throughout this document. 
 
Wastewater 
Wastewater generated by the City of Ontario is treated by the Inland Empire Utilities Agency (IEUA). The 
Project would install a new 6-inch sewer connection to the existing 30-inch sewer line in East Francis Street. 
Installation of the onsite sewer infrastructure is part of construction of the proposed Project would not result 
in any physical environmental effects beyond those described throughout this document. 
 
Storm Drainage 
The Project would install a new storm drain and mimic the existing drainage pattern of the site. The Project 
site’s stormwater flows would be collected by various inlets and conveyed to an underground infiltration 
system located underneath the drive aisle in the western portion of the site. Curbs and gutters would also be 
installed around the perimeter of the Project site. The existing off-site drainage system is designed and sized 
appropriately and would be able to accommodate the proposed Project. Thus, the Project would not require 
or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded offsite drainage systems. The proposed onsite 
stormwater drainage infrastructure is included as part of the construction of the proposed Project and would 
not result in any physical environmental effects beyond those identified in other sections of this document. 
Therefore, impacts related to drainage infrastructure would be less than significant. 
 
Electricity 
Electricity would be provided to the Project by Southern California Edison (SCE). Adequate commercial 
electricity supplies are presently available to meet the incremental increase in demand attributed to the 
Project. Provision of electricity to the Project site is not anticipated to require or result in the construction of 
new facilities or the expansion of existing facilities, the construction or relocation of which would cause 
significant environmental impacts to electricity. Impacts would be less than significant. 
 
Natural Gas 
Natural gas service would be provided by Southern California Gas (SoCal Gas). Adequate commercial gas 
supplies are presently available to meet the incremental increase in demand attributed to the Project. The 
proposed Project would not require or result in the construction, expansion, or relocation of natural gas 
facilities that could result in a significant environmental impact. Impacts related to natural gas would be less 
than significant. 
 
Telecommunication 
Telecommunications service is provided by private companies in the City, including Verizon and AT&T. The 
utility provider currently serving the Project site is Verizon. Private communications company’s provide 
connection to the communication system on an as needed basis. As such, the proposed Project is not 
anticipated to require or result in the construction of new communications facilities or the expansion of existing 
facilities. Impacts would be less than significant. 
 
Under existing conditions, the western portion of the Project site functions as a storage yard, while the eastern 
portion contains approximately 29,400 SF of building area and a storage area. Water, sewer, storm drain, 

Item E - 171 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

151 

and dry utilities currently service the Project site and connection points are site adjacent. The proposed new 
warehouse building would utilize the site adjacent connection points, resulting in no greater physical impacts 
than otherwise studied throughout this document for on-site construction. The Project would not create a 
substantially different water, wastewater treatment, storm water discharge, or dry utility demands that have 
occurred for the property since it was developed with the existing building and storage area. Therefore, the 
Project would not require or result in the construction or expansion of new facilities, and impacts would be 
less than significant.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project and reasonably foreseeable 
future development during normal, dry, and multiple dry years? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR concluded that water supply and delivery systems are adequate to meet 
projected requirements and impacts would be less than significant.  
 
The Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (OMUC) provides water service to residents, businesses, and other 
users in the City, including the Project site. The primary source of Ontario’s water supply (approximately 46 
percent) is groundwater pumped by the City from the Chino Groundwater Basin, which is adjudicated and 
managed by the Chino Basin Watermaster. Additional water supplies include treated groundwater from the 
Chino Basin Desalter Authority (CDA), recycled water from Inland Empire Utilities Agency (IEUA), imported 
water from the Water Facilities Authority (WFA), and purchased water from the San Antonio Water 
Company (SAWCo). The City operates 12 active reservoirs that store a total of 75 million gallons. 
Additionally, the City has 6 booster pump stations and 17 groundwater wells with a total production capacity 
of about 56 million gallons per day. According to TOP 2050 SEIR, the City provides an average supply of 
33.14 mgd of water to its service area. 
 
Based on Table 4‐8, Domestic Water Unit Demand Factors, of the City of Ontario Water Master Plan (2020), 
the Project site currently results, and would continue result in, a total water demand of approximately 15.64 
acre-feet per year (based on a rate of 2,000 gpd/ac for the 6.98-acre site). Table UT-1 shows the 
projected water supply and demand totals for normal, single dry, and multiple dry years from 2020 to 
2045. 
 

Table UT-1: Water Supply and Demand Comparison 

 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 
Normal Year (afy) 
Supply Totals 52,550  58,513  63,838  73,668  73,668 
Demand Totals 52,550  58,513  63,838  73,668  73,668 
Single Dry Year (afy) 
Supply Totals 57,058  63,534  68,847  79,989  79,989 
Demand Totals 57,058  63,534  68,847  79,989  79,989 
Multiple Dry Years (afy) – First Year 
Supply Totals 56,080  62,445  67,667  78,618  78,618 
Demand Totals 56,080  62,445  67,667  78,618  78,618 
Multiple Dry Years (afy) – Second Year 
Supply Totals 56,248  62,632  67,870  78,853  78,853 
Demand Totals 56,248  62,632  67,870  78,853  78,853 
Multiple Dry Years (afy) – Third Year 
Supply Totals 59,493  66,246  71,786  83,403  83,403 

Item E - 172 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

152 

Demand Totals 59,493  66,246  71,786  83,403  83,403 
Multiple Dry Years (afy) – Fourth Year 
Supply Totals 54,268  60,428  65,481  76,078  76,078 
Demand Totals 54,268  60,428  65,481  76,078  76,078 
Multiple Dry Years (afy) – Fifth Year 
Supply Totals 47,436  52,820  57,237  66,500  66,500 
Demand Totals 47,436  52,820  57,237  66,500  66,500 
Source: Ontario UWMP 2021 
Note: afy: acre-feet per year 

 
Based on the City’s UWMP supply and demand data, and consistent with the findings of TOP 2050 SEIR, 
the City would have continued water supplies available to serve the Project site. Additionally. development 
of the Project site would also be required to comply with CALGreen/Title 24 requirements for low-flow 
plumbing fixtures and irrigation, which would provide for efficient water use. Therefore, the City has 
sufficient water supplies available to serve the Project during normal, dry, and multiple dry years, and 
impacts would be less than significant.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

c) Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider which serves or may serve 
the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project’s projected demand in addition 
to the provider’s existing commitments? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined wastewater generated by TOP 2050 could be adequately 
treated by the wastewater service provider for the project and would not require the construction of new 
wastewater treatment facilities or the expansion of existing facilities or exceed wastewater treatment 
requirements of the Regional Water Quality Control Board. Impacts would be less than significant. 
 
Wastewater generated by the City of Ontario is treated by the Inland Empire Utilities Agency (IEUA). IEUA 
operates four wastewater treatment plants that provide recycled water to the western part of San 
Bernardino County. IEUA also maintains a series of regional trunk lines that transport wastewater flows from 
Ontario to one of IEUA’s one of two regional treatment plants located in Ontario: Regional Water Recycling 
Plan #-1 (RP-1) and Regional Water Recycling Plant #5 (RP-5). The current combined capacity of these two 
facilities is 60.3 mgd and would increase to 66.5 mgd once the expansion project that is currently under 
construction at RP-5 is completed. IEUA can route flows to either of the two facilities as needed. In 2020, RP-
1 treated an average wastewater flow of 25 mgd, and RP-2 treated an average wastewater flow of 8 
mgd (IEUA 2020). Therefore, these two wastewater treatment plants have a current combined treatment 
rate of 33 mgd. 
 
As described in section 5.14, Population and Housing, the proposed Project is expected to generate 
approximately 140 employees. Based on IEUA’s wastewater generation rate of 25 gallons per day per 
employee9 for industrial uses, the Project would conservatively generate a total of 3,500 gpd (0.0035 mgd) 
of wastewater. As such, the remaining capacity of IEUA’s treatment plants is adequate to serve the Project 
and the Project would not result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider that it has 
inadequate capacity to serve the Project’s projected demand in addition to the provider’s existing 
commitments. As such, impacts would be less than significant.  
 

 
9 Wastewater generation rate obtained from the IEUA Wastewater Facilities Master Plan Update Report (2015). Available at 
https://www.ieua.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/IEUA_WFMP_Volume2_FINAL_06032015.pdf 

Item E - 173 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

153 

No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

d) Generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards, or in excess of the capacity of 
local infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste reduction goals? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. TOP 2050 SEIR determined existing and/or proposed facilities would be able to 
accommodate solid waste generated by TOP 2050 and impacts would be less than significant. 
 
The City of Ontario provides its own solid waste collection service. According to the most recent CalRecycle 
data, over 98 percent of the solid waste collected from the City was taken to either Badlands Sanitary 
Landfill or El Sobrante Landfill. The Badlands Sanitary Landfill is permitted to accept 4,800 tons of solid 
waste per day and is permitted to operate through 2026. The Badlands Sanitary Landfill has a remaining 
capacity of 7,800,000 tons. As of August 2022, Badlands Landfill had an average disposal of 2,656 tons 
per day. Thus, on average the facility has an additional capacity of 2,144 tons per day (CalRecycle 2022).  
The El Sobrante Landfill is permitted to accept 16,054 tons of solid waste per day and is permitted to 
operate through 2051. The El Sobrante Landfill has a remaining capacity of 143,977,170 tons. As of August 
2022, El Sobrante Landfill had an average disposal of 10,710 tons per day. Thus, on average, the facility 
had an additional capacity of 5,344 tons per day (CalRecycle 2022).  
 
Construction 
Construction of the Project would require demolition of the existing buildings and paved areas totaling 
29,400 SF of building area and 244,000 of paved area. Demolition of the paved areas on site would 
generate approximately 5,897 tons of waste and approximately 1,352 tons of debris would be generated 
from building material for a total of 7,249 tons of debris (Vista Environmental Air Quality, Energy, and 
GHG Impact Analysis 2023). However, Section 5.408.1 of the 2016 California Green Building Standards 
Code requires demolition and construction activities to recycle or reuse a minimum of 65 percent of the 
nonhazardous construction and demolition waste. Thus, the demolition and construction solid waste that would 
be disposed of at the landfill would be approximately 35 percent of the waste generated. Therefore, 
demolition activities, which would generate the most solid waste, would require disposal of approximately 
2,537 tons of solid waste. As described in the Air Quality Analysis, demolition is expected occur over one 
month in September 2023. As such this would equate to approximately 84.57 tons of solid waste per day. 
 
As described above, the Badlands Landfill has additional capacity of approximately 2,144 tons per day 
and El Sobrante Landfill has additional capacity of approximately 5,344 tons per day. Therefore, the 
facilities would be able to accommodate the addition of 84.57 tons of waste per day during demolition of 
the Project. Therefore, the Badlands Sanitary Landfill and EL Sobrante Landfill would be able to 
accommodate solid waste from construction of the Project. 

Operation 
The CalEEMod solid waste generation rate for general light industrial land use is 1.24 tons per year per 
1,000 square feet. Thus, the proposed warehouse building totaling 167,174 SF would generate a total of 
207.3 tons of solid waste per year, or 3.98 tons per week. As such, construction of the proposed industrial 
warehouse building would generate approximately the same amount of solid waste per year compared to 
the 167,227 SF project analyzed in TOP 2050 SEIR. At least 75 percent of the solid waste is required by 
AB 341 to be recycled, thus the Project would require disposal of approximately 0.99 tons of solid waste 
per week.  
 
As the Badlands Landfill has additional capacity of approximately 2,144 tons per day and El Sobrante 
Landfill has additional capacity of approximately 5,344 tons per day, the facilities would be able to 
accommodate the addition of 0.99 tons of waste per day from the Project. Therefore, the Badlands Sanitary 

Item E - 174 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

154 

Landfill and EL Sobrante Landfill would be able to accommodate solid waste from operation of the Project, 
and impacts related to landfill capacity would be less than significant. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

e) Comply with federal, state, and local statutes and regulations related to solid waste? 
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impacts. TOP 2050 SEIR determined TOP 2050 would comply with related solid waste regulations 
and impacts would be less than significant. 
 
The Project would result in new development that would generate an increased amount of solid waste. All 
solid waste-generating activities within the city are subject to the requirements set forth in the 2019 
California Green Building Standards Code that requires demolition and construction activities to recycle or 
reuse a minimum of 65 percent of the nonhazardous construction and demolition waste, and AB 341 that 
requires diversion of a minimum of 75 percent of operational solid waste. Development of the Project would 
be consistent with all state regulations, as ensured through the City’s permitting process; and impacts would 
not occur. Therefore, the Project would result in less than significant impacts related to potential conflicts with 
federal, State, and local management and reduction statutes and regulations pertaining to solid waste. 
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. The Project is consistent with the impacts identified in TOP 2050 SEIR and 
the level of impact remains unchanged from that cited in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding utilities and service systems. There have not 
been 1) changes related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects 
or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect 
to the circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions 
of TOP 2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial 
importance relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and 
could not have been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed. 
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
None. 
 
Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe utilities and service systems impacts would result from 
implementation of the Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required regarding 
utilities and service systems.  
  

Item E - 175 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

155 

5.20 WILDFIRE Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

If located in or near state responsibility areas or 
lands classified as very high fire hazard severity 
zones, would the project: 

Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Substantially impair an adopted emergency 
response plan or emergency evacuation plan? 

     

b) Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, 
exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby expose 
project occupants to, pollution concentrations from a 
wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire? 

     

c) Require the installation or maintenance of 
associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, 
emergency water sources, power lines, or other 
utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that may 
result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the 
environment? 

     

d) Expose people or structures to significant risks, 
including downslope or downstream flooding or 
landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope 
instability, or drainage changes? 

     

 
Summary of Impacts Identified in TOP 2050 SEIR 

TOP 2050 SEIR evaluated impacted related to wildfire in section 5.20. TOP 2050 SEIR determined buildout 
of TOP 2050 would not substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation 
plan. TOP 2050 SEIR also found buildout of TOP 2050 would not result exacerbate wildfire risks or expose 
people or structures to significant risks that may occur following a wildfire (e.g., landslides, mudflows, and 
flooding). TOP 2050 SEIR discusses that the City is outside of the State Responsibility Area (SRA), and CAL 
FIRE has determined that the City contains no areas subject to very high wildfire risk. TOP 2050 SEIR 
identified that even though fuel loading is light in Ontario and fire risk comes primarily from urban fires, 
there is still some risk related to wildfires. TOP 2050 SEIR determined that wildfire impacts would be less 
than significant with adherence to existing regulations and TOP 2050 wildfire policies. 
 
Final EIR Mitigation Measures  

None. 
 

a) Substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan? 
 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. According to the CAL FIRE Fire Hazard Severity Zone map, the Project site is not within an 
area identified as a Fire Hazard Area that may contain substantial fire risk or a VHFHSZ (CAL FIRE 2022). 
The City is outside of the State Responsibility Area (SRA) and CAL FIRE has determined that the City contains 
no areas subject to very high wildfire risk (TOP 2050 SEIR). As stated in Section 5.9 of this Addendum, the 
Project would not physically interfere with an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation 
plan. The Project driveways and internal access would be required to meet the City’s design standards to 
ensure adequate emergency access and evacuation pursuant to the requirements in Section 503 of the 
California Fire Code (Title 24, California Code of Regulations, Part 9). Additionally, the Project does not 

Item E - 176 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

156 

include any characteristics (e.g., permanent road closures or long-term blocking of road access) that would 
substantially impair or otherwise conflict with an emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. 
Therefore, impacts related to emergency response and evacuation plans associated with construction of the 
Project would be less than significant. 
 
Access to the Project site would be provided via two proposed driveways on East Francis Street. The Project 
does not include any changes to public or private roadways that would physically impair or otherwise conflict 
with an emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. Further, the Project would not obstruct or 
alter any transportation routes that could be used as evacuation routes during emergency events. Further, a 
review of emergency access is included as part of the City’s Design Review process to ensure the Project is 
compliant with all applicable codes and ordinances for emergency vehicle access. Therefore, impacts to 
emergency plans and emergency evacuation plans would be less than significant.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

b) Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby 
expose project occupants to, pollution concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled 
spread of a wildfire?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. As stated previously, the Project site is not located within a fire hazard area. Additionally, 
the Project area is currently fully developed with general industrial uses. The areas on and surrounding the 
site lack extensive combustible materials and vegetation necessary for the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire. 
 
The Project site is flat and there are limited elevation changes in the Project vicinity. The Project proposes 
development of a warehouse use in an urban area. As such, the Project itself would not exacerbate wildfire 
risks as compared to existing conditions because it is representative of existing development in the area. 
Conversely, removal of the aged building and fire suppression system and installation of new construction 
and fire suppression systems may reduce fire risks. Thus, no impact related to other factors that would expose 
Project occupants to pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire would 
occur from the Project.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

c) Require the installation or maintenance of associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel 
breaks, emergency water sources, power lines, or other utilities) that may exacerbate fire 
risk or that may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. As stated previously, the Project site is not located within a fire hazard area. The Project 
does not require the installation or maintenance of associated infrastructure (including roads, fuel breaks, 
emergency water sources, power lines, or other utilities) that would exacerbate fire risk or that would result 
in impacts to the environment. Although the Project includes new driveways and fire access lanes within the 
Project site, the Project does not include any changes to public or private roadways that would exacerbate 
fire risk or that would result in impacts to the environment. Although utility improvements, including domestic 
water, recycled water, sanitary sewer, and storm drain lines proposed as part of the Project would be 
extended throughout the Project site, these utility improvements would be underground and would not 
exacerbate fire risk. As described by TOP 2050 SEIR, adherence to existing regulations would reduce risks 
from urban and wildland fire threats to the City to a less than significant level. The utility improvements that 
are part of development of the Project site would be reviewed and approved by the City part of the Project 
approval process to ensure compliance. Therefore, the Project would not include infrastructure (such as roads, 

Item E - 177 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

157 

fuel breaks, emergency water sources, power lines, or other utilities), that would exacerbate fire risk or that 
would result in impacts to the environment.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 

d) Expose people or structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream 
flooding or landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage changes? 

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact.  As stated previously, the Project site is not located within a fire hazard area. According 
to TOP 2050 SEIR Figure 5.10-2, Flood Hazard Zones, the Project site is not within a flood zone. Additionally, 
as discussed in Section, 5.7, Geology and Soils, the Project site has relatively flat topography and is not 
subject to landslides or slope instabilities. 
 
As established in Section 5.10 of this Addendum, soil would be compacted and drainage patterns would be 
temporarily altered due to grading during Project construction, and there would be an increased potential 
for flooding compared to existing conditions. However, construction BMPs would be identified and 
implemented as part of the SWPPP required for the Project. Implementation of construction BMPs would 
control and direct surface runoff to prevent flooding. As such, Project construction would not expose people 
or structures to significant risks related to downslope and downstream flooding. During operation, the Project 
would not substantially alter the existing onsite drainage patterns. Compliance with the proposed 
operational BMPs would ensure onsite storm drain facilities would be sized to accommodate stormwater 
runoff from the Project site so that onsite flooding would not occur. Further, projects in the City are required 
to comply with the CBC, which would include the incorporation of: 1) seismic safety features to minimize the 
potential for significant effects as a result of earthquakes; 2) proper building footings and foundations; and 
3) construction of the building structures so that it would withstand the effects of strong ground shaking. These 
features would reduce potential impacts related to landslides to a less than significant level.  
 
No new or substantially greater impacts would occur with implementation of the Project when compared to 
those identified in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist regarding wildfire. There have not been 1) changes 
related to development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect to the 
circumstances under which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions of TOP 
2050 SEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the 
severity of previously identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial importance 
relating to significant effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and could not have 
been known when TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed.  
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
 
None. 
 

Item E - 178 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

158 

Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
No new impacts nor substantially more severe wildfire impacts would result from implementation of the 
Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required regarding wildfires.  
  

Item E - 179 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

159 

5.21 MANDATORY FINDINGS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE 

Subsequent or Supplemental EIR Addendum to EIR 

 Substantial 
Change in 
Project or 
Circumstances 
Resulting in 
New 
Significant 
Effects 

New 
Information 
Showing 
Greater 
Significant 
Effects than 
Previous EIR 

New 
Information 
Identifying 
New 
Mitigation 
or 
Alternative 
to Reduce 
Significant 
Effect is 
Declined 

Minor 
Technical 
Changes 
or 
Additions 

No 
New 
Impact/
No 
Impact 

a) Does the project have the potential to degrade 
the quality of the environment, substantially reduce 
the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish 
or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining 
levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal 
community, substantially reduce the number or 
restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or 
animal or eliminate important examples of the major 
periods of California history or prehistory? 

     

b) Does the project have impacts that are 
individually limited, but cumulatively considerable? 
("Cumulatively considerable" means that the 
incremental effects of a project are considerable 
when viewed in connection with the effects of past 
projects, the effects of other current projects, and the 
effects of probable future projects)? 

     

c) Does the project have environmental effects which 
will cause substantial adverse effects on human 
beings, either directly or indirectly? 

     

 
 

a) Does the project have the potential to degrade the quality of the environment, substantially 
reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop 
below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, reduce the 
number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal or eliminate important 
examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. As discussed in Section 5.4, Biological Resources, the Project site is completely developed 
and located within an urban area that does not contain any native habitats. Due to the disturbed status of 
the site, it does not provide habitat that could be utilized by species listed or candidates for listing by 
USFWS, CDFW, or the CNPS. There is existing ornamental landscaping and trees on the site that have the 
potential to provide habitat for nesting migratory birds. With adherence to RR BIO-1 and RR BIO-2, potential 
impacts to nesting migratory birds would be reduced to a less than significant level. Therefore, there would 
be less than significant impacts related to fish and wildlife species or plant community, which is consistent 
with analysis within TOP 2050 SEIR. 
 
As discussed in Section 5.5, Cultural Resources, there are no historic resources located with the Project site. In 
addition, because the site has previously been disturbed, there is reduced potential for the Project to impact 
archeological resources. However, the Project may result in excavation into the underlying older alluvium 
where undiscovered archaeological resources could exist, including archeological resources that are also 

Item E - 180 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

160 

tribal cultural resources. As such, the Project would implement TOP 2050 SEIR Mitigation Measure 5-2, which 
would reduce impacts to less than significant. Therefore, the Project would not eliminate important examples 
of the major periods of California history or prehistory, and impacts would be less than significant with 
mitigation. 
 

b) Does the project have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulatively considerable? 
("Cumulatively considerable" means that the incremental effects of a project are 
considerable when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the effects of other 
current projects, and the effects of probable future projects)?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project  

No New Impact. The Project’s potential cumulative impacts were analyzed in TOP 2050 SEIR as part of 
build out of the Project and would not result in new impacts beyond those analyzed in TOP 2050 SEIR. 
Therefore, the Project would not result in new or substantially more severe cumulatively considerable impact 
under any impact area, including aesthetics, air quality, cultural resources, GHG emissions, hazards and 
hazardous materials, land use and planning, noise, population and housing, public services, recreation, 
transportation and traffic, tribal cultural resources, utilities and service systems, or wildfires. With 
implementation of existing regulations and the relevant TOP 2050 SEIR mitigation measures, the Project 
would not result in any new significant impacts. 
 

c) Does the project have environmental effects which will cause substantial adverse effects on 
human beings, either directly or indirectly?  

 
Impacts Associated with the Proposed Project 

No New Impact. As described throughout Section 5, above, the Project has no new or substantially more 
severe potentially significant impacts and no new mitigation measures would be required. The 
implementation of TOP 2050 SEIR mitigation measures, City standards, and City guidelines would ensure 
that there would be no substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or indirectly. There would 
be no new impacts. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 that 
would trigger the need to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to 
evaluate Project impacts or mitigation measures exist. There have not been 1) changes related to 
development of the Project site that involve new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in 
the severity of previously identified effects; 2) substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which development of the Project site is undertaken that require major revisions of TOP 2050 SEIR due to 
the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously 
identified effects; or 3) the availability of new information of substantial importance relating to significant 
effects or mitigation measures or alternatives that were not known and could not have been known when 
TOP 2050 SEIR was certified as completed.  
 
Because none of the conditions identified in State CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 would trigger the need 
to prepare a subsequent or supplemental EIR or other environmental document to evaluate Project impacts, 
State CEQA Guidelines 15168 also does not require additional environmental review. 
 
Regulatory Requirements (RRs) 
As outlined in Sections 5.1 through 5.20, above. 
  

Item E - 181 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

161 

Mitigation/Monitoring Required 
 
As detailed previously, TOP 2050 SEIR mitigation measures that are applicable to the Project would be 
implemented for the Project as intended by TOP 2050 SEIR. Upon implementation of applicable EIR 
mitigation measures, no new impacts nor substantially more adverse impacts would result from the 
implementation of the Project; therefore, no new or revised mitigation measures are required. No refinements 
related to the Project are necessary to TOP 2050 SEIR mitigation measures and no new mitigation measures 
are required.  
  

Item E - 182 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

162 

6 Document Preparers and Contributors 
 
Lead Agency: 
City of Ontario 
Planning Department 
303 East B Street 
Ontario, CA 91764 
 
CEQA Document Preparer: 
EPD Solutions, Inc. 
Konnie Dobreva, JD 
Danielle Thayer 
Megan Rupard 
Sam Kelley  

Item E - 183 of 2173



  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

163 

7 References 
 
 
AECOM. (AECOM 2022a). Phase I Environmental Site Assessment of 1600 East Francis Street Ontario, 
California, prepared September 2022. (Appendix E). 
 
AECOM. (AECOM 2022b). Limited Phase II Environmental Site Assessment, prepared September 2022. 
(Appendix F). 
 
Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. (BFSA 2022a). Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street 
Project, prepared February 2023, Appendix B. 
 
Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. (BFSA 2022b). Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street 
Project, prepared October 2022, Appendix D. 
 
California Department of Conservation. 2022. California Important Farmland Finder. Accessed: 
https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/DLRP/CIFF/ 
 
California Department of Conservation. 2021. Earthquake Zones of Required Investigation. Accessed: 
https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/EQZApp/app/ 
 
California Department of Conservation. 2022. Mineral Land Classification. Accessed: 
https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/informationwarehouse/index.html?map=mlc 
 
California Department of Finance. 2023. E-5 Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the 
State. Accessed: https://dof.ca.gov/forecasting/demographics/estimates/ 
 
California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE). 2022. Fire Hazard Severity Zone Maps. 
Accessed: https://osfm.fire.ca.gov/divisions/community-wildfire-preparedness-and-mitigation/wildland-
hazards-building-codes/fire-hazard-severity-zones-maps/ 
 
California Department of Toxic Substances Control. 2023. Envirostor. Accessed: 
https://www.envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov/public/ 
 
California Employment Development Department. 2023. Unemployment Rate and Labor Force. Accessed: 
https://www.labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/data/unemployment-and-labor-force.html 
 
California Environmental Protection Agency and California Air Resources Board. 2005. Air Quality and Land 
Use Handbook: A Community Health Perspective.  
 
CalRecycle Landfill Tonnage Reports. 2022. Accessed: https://www2.calrecycle.ca.gov/LandfillTipFees/ 
 
CalRecycle SWIS Facility/Site Activity Details. Badlands Sanitary Landfill (33-AA-0006). 2023. Accessed: 
https://www2.calrecycle.ca.gov/SolidWaste/SiteActivity/Details/2245?siteID=2367 
 
CalRecycle SWIS Facility/Site Activity Details. El Sobrante Landfill (33-AA-0217). 2023. Accessed: 
https://www2.calrecycle.ca.gov/SolidWaste/Site/Summary/2402 
 
Caltrans. 2018. California State Scenic Highway System Map. Accessed: 
https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=465dfd3d807c46cc8e8057116f1
aacaa 
 

Item E - 184 of 2173

https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/DLRP/CIFF/
https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/EQZApp/app/
https://dof.ca.gov/forecasting/demographics/estimates/
https://www.labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/data/unemployment-and-labor-force.html
https://www2.calrecycle.ca.gov/LandfillTipFees/
https://www2.calrecycle.ca.gov/SolidWaste/SiteActivity/Details/2245?siteID=2367
https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=465dfd3d807c46cc8e8057116f1aacaa
https://caltrans.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=465dfd3d807c46cc8e8057116f1aacaa


  Addendum to The Ontario Plan 2050 Final SEIR 
City of Ontario   1600 East Francis Street Redevelopment Project 
   

164 

Caltrans Vibration Guidance Manual, April 2020. https://dot.ca.gov/programs/environmental-
analysis/noise-vibration/guidance-manuals 
 
City of Ontario. 2022. Development Code. Accessed: https://www.ontarioca.gov/Planning/Applications  
 
City of Ontario. 2022. The Ontario Plan 2050. Accessed: https://www.ontarioca.gov/OntarioPlan 
 
City of Ontario. 2022. The Ontario Plan 2050 Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Report State 
Clearinghouse No. 2021070364. Accessed: https://www.ontarioca.gov/sites/default/files/Ontario-
Files/Planning/The%20Ontario%20Plann/EIR/Final_DraftSEIR_TOP2050.pdf 
 
City of Ontario. 2022. Municipal Code. Accessed: 
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/ontarioca/latest/ontario_ca/0-0-0-35678 
 
City of Ontario. 2022. Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan. Appendix G. 
 
City of Ontario. 2020 Urban Water Management Plan. Accessed: 
https://www.ontarioca.gov/sites/default/files/Ontario-Files/Municipal-Utilities-
Company/Final%20Draft%20Ontario%202020%20Ontario%20UWMP.pdf 
 
EPD Solutions, Inc. 2023. Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) Screening Memo. Appendix J. 
 
Federal Transit Administration. 2018. Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Manual. Accessed: 
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/research-innovation/118131/transit-noise-and-
vibration-impact-assessment-manual-fta-report-no-0123_0.pdf 
 
Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 2018. Accessed: https://www.ont-
iac.com/airport-land-use-compatibility-plan/ont-alucp-chapter-1/  
 
Omnitrans. 2023. Routes and Schedules. Accessed: https://omnitrans.org/plan-a-trip/routes-schedules/ 
 
South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD). 2008. Final Localized Significance Threshold 
Methodology. Accessed: http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/localized-
significance-thresholds/final-lst-methodology-document.pdf  
 
Southern California Geotechnical. 2022. Geotechnical Investigation Proposed Industrial Building 1600 East 
Francis Street. Appendix C. 
 
Tait & Associates, Inc. 2022. Preliminary Hydrology Report. (Appendix H). 
 
Vista Environmental. 2023. Air Quality, Energy, and Greenhouse Gas Impact Analysis. Appendix A. 
 
Vista Environmental. 2023. Noise Impact Analysis. Appendix I. 
 
 
 
 

Item E - 185 of 2173



 
 

 

 

AIR QUALITY, ENERGY, AND GREENHOUSE GAS 
EMISSIONS IMPACT ANALYSIS 

1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET INDUSTRIAL PROJECT 

CITY OF ONTARIO 

 
 

Lead Agency:  
 

City of Ontario 
303 East B Street 

Ontario, CA 91765 
 
  

 
Prepared by:  

 
Vista Environmental  
1021 Didrickson Way 

Laguna Beach, California 92651 
949 510 5355 

Greg Tonkovich, AICP 
 
 

Project No. 22037 

 

April 26, 2023 

Item E - 186 of 2173



 
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Page i 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0  Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 1 

1.1 Purpose of Analysis and Study Objectives ................................................................................. 1 
1.2 Site Location and Study Area ..................................................................................................... 1 
1.3 Proposed Project Description .................................................................................................... 2 
1.4 Executive Summary .................................................................................................................... 2 
1.5 Project Design Features Incorporated into the Proposed Project ............................................. 3 
1.6 Mitigation Measures for the Proposed Project ......................................................................... 4 

2.0  Air Pollutants ........................................................................................................................... 7 

2.1 Criteria Pollutants and Ozone Precursors .................................................................................. 7 
2.2 Other Pollutants of Concern ...................................................................................................... 9 

3.0  Greenhouse Gases ................................................................................................................. 11 

3.1 Greenhouse Gases ................................................................................................................... 11 
3.2 Global Warming Potential ........................................................................................................ 13 
3.3 Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory ...................................................................................... 14 

4.0  Air Quality Management ....................................................................................................... 15 

4.1 Federal – United States Environmental Protection Agency..................................................... 15 
4.2 State – California Air Resources Board .................................................................................... 18 
4.3 Regional – Southern California ................................................................................................ 19 
4.4 Local – City of Ontario .............................................................................................................. 22 

5.0  Energy Conservation Management ........................................................................................ 24 

5.1 State ......................................................................................................................................... 24 
5.2 Local ‐ City of Ontario .............................................................................................................. 27 

6.0  Global Climate Change Management ..................................................................................... 28 

6.1 International ............................................................................................................................ 28 
6.2 Federal – United States Environmental Protection Agency..................................................... 28 
6.3 State ......................................................................................................................................... 29 
6.4 Regional – Southern California ................................................................................................ 34 
6.5 Local – City of Ontario .............................................................................................................. 34 

7.0  Atmospheric Setting .............................................................................................................. 36 

7.1 South Coast Air Basin ............................................................................................................... 36 
7.2 Local Climate ............................................................................................................................ 36 
7.3 Monitored Local Air Quality ..................................................................................................... 37 
7.4 Toxic Air Contaminant Levels in the Air Basin ......................................................................... 39 

8.0  Modeling Parameters and Assumptions ................................................................................. 41 

8.1 CalEEMod Model Input Parameters ........................................................................................ 41 
8.2 Energy Use Calculations ........................................................................................................... 45 

Item E - 187 of 2173



 
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Page ii 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS CONTINUED 

9.0  Thresholds of Significance ...................................................................................................... 51 

9.1 Regional Air Quality ................................................................................................................. 51 
9.2 Local Air Quality ....................................................................................................................... 51 
9.3 Toxic Air Contaminants ............................................................................................................ 53 
9.4 Odor Impacts ............................................................................................................................ 53 
9.5 Energy Conservation ................................................................................................................ 54 
9.6 Greenhouse Gas Emissions ...................................................................................................... 54 

10.0  Impact Analysis ..................................................................................................................... 55 

10.1 CEQA Thresholds of Significance ........................................................................................... 55 
10.2 Air Quality Compliance .......................................................................................................... 55 
10.3 Cumulative Net Increase in Non‐Attainment Pollution ......................................................... 57 
10.4 Sensitive Receptors ................................................................................................................ 62 
10.5 Odor Emissions ...................................................................................................................... 65 
10.6 Energy Consumption .............................................................................................................. 66 
10.7 Energy Plan Consistency ........................................................................................................ 70 
10.8 Generation of Greenhouse Gas Emissions ............................................................................. 72 
10.9 Greenhouse Gas Plan Consistency ......................................................................................... 74 

11.0  References ............................................................................................................................. 81 
  

 

APPENDIX 

Appendix A – Proposed Project CalEEMod Model  Printouts 

Appendix B – TOP 2050 SEIR Project CalEEMod Model  Printouts 

Appendix C – EMFAC2021 Model Printouts 

Appendix D – City of Ontario Climate Action Plan Screening Tables 

 

 
 
 
 

Item E - 188 of 2173



 
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Page iii 

 

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 1 – Project Local Study Area .............................................................................................................. 5 

Figure 2 – Proposed Site Plan ....................................................................................................................... 6 

 

LIST OF TABLES 

Table A – Global Warming Potentials, Atmospheric Lifetimes and Abundances of GHGs ......................... 13 

Table B – State and Federal Criteria Pollutant Standards ........................................................................... 15 

Table C – National Air Quality Standards Attainment Status – South Coast Air Basin ............................... 17 

Table D – California Ambient Air Quality Standards Attainment Status – South Coast Air Basin .............. 18 

Table E – The Ontario Plan 2050 Air Quality Policies .................................................................................. 23 

Table F – The Ontario Plan 2050 Energy Conservation Policies .................................................................. 27 

Table G – Monthly Climate Data ................................................................................................................. 37 

Table H – Local Area Air Quality Monitoring Summary .............................................................................. 38 

Table I – CalEEMod Land Use Parameters .................................................................................................. 41 

Table J – Inventory of Vehicle Trips During Operation of Proposed Project .............................................. 44 

Table K – Fleet Mix During Operation of Proposed Project ........................................................................ 44 

Table L – Off‐Road Equipment and Diesel Fuel Use from Construction of Both Projects .......................... 46 

Table M – On‐Road Vehicle Trips and Fuel Consumption from Construction of Proposed Project ........... 47 

Table N – On‐Road Vehicle Trips and Fuel Consumption from Construction of TOP 2050 SEIR Project .... 48 

Table O – SCAQMD Regional Criteria Pollutant Emission Thresholds of Significance ................................ 51 

Table P – Construction Equipment Modeled in CalEEMod and Acres Disturbed per Day .......................... 52 

Table Q – SCAQMD Local Air Quality Thresholds of Significance ............................................................... 53 

Table R – Construction‐Related Criteria Pollutant Emissions ..................................................................... 58 

Table S – Operational Regional Criteria Pollutant Emissions ...................................................................... 59 

Table T – Operations‐Related Local Criteria Pollutant Emissions ............................................................... 62 

Table U – Project Compliance with City General Plan Energy Policies ....................................................... 70 

Table V – Project Related Greenhouse Gas Annual Emissions ................................................................... 73 

Table W – Project Consistency with the 2022 Scoping Plan ....................................................................... 74 

Table X – Project Consistency with the Connect SoCal ............................................................................... 78 

 

Item E - 189 of 2173



 
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Page iv 

 

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 

AB    Assembly Bill 

Air Basin  South Coast Air Basin 

AQMP    Air Quality Management Plan  

BACT    Best Available Control Technology 

BSFC    Brake Specific Fuel Consumption 

CAAQS    California Ambient Air Quality Standards 

CalEEMod  California Emissions Estimator Model 

CalEPA    California Environmental Protection Agency 

CAPCOA  California Air Pollution Control Officers Association 

CARB    California Air Resources Board 

CCAA    California Clean Air Act 

CEC    California Energy Commission 

CEQA    California Environmental Quality Act 

CFCs    chlorofluorocarbons 

Cf4    tetrafluoromethane 

C2F6    hexafluoroethane 

C2H6    ethane 

CH4    Methane 

CO    Carbon monoxide 

CO2    Carbon dioxide 

CO2e    Carbon dioxide equivalent 

City    City of Ontario 

CPUC    California Public Utilities Commission 

DPM    Diesel particulate matter  

EPA    Environmental Protection Agency  

ºF    Fahrenheit 

FTIP    Federal Transportation Improvement Program 

GHG    Greenhouse gas  

GWP    Global warming potential 

HAP    Hazardous Air Pollutants 

HFCs    Hydrofluorocarbons 

Item E - 190 of 2173



 
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Page v 

 

IPCC    International Panel on Climate Change 

kWhr    kilowatt‐hour 

LCFS    Low Carbon Fuel Standard 

LST    Localized Significant Thresholds  

MATES    Multiple Air Toxics Exposure Study 

MMTCO2e  Million metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent 

MPO    Metropolitan Planning Organization 

MSAT    Mobile Source Air Toxics 

MWh    Megawatt‐hour 

NAAQS    National Ambient Air Quality Standards 

NOx    Nitrogen oxides 

NO2    Nitrogen dioxide  

O3    Ozone 

OPR    Office of Planning and Research 

Pfc    Perfluorocarbons 

PM    Particle matter 

PM10    Particles that are less than 10 micrometers in diameter 

PM2.5    Particles that are less than 2.5 micrometers in diameter 

PPM    Parts per million 

PPB    Parts per billion 

PPT    Parts per trillion 

RTIP    Regional Transportation Improvement Plan 

RTP/SCS  Regional Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy 

SB    Senate Bill 

SCAQMD  South Coast Air Quality Management District 

SCAG    Southern California Association of Governments 

SF6    Sulfur Hexafluoride 

SIP    State Implementation Plan 

SOx    Sulfur oxides 

TAC    Toxic air contaminants 

UNFCCC  United Nations’ Framework Convention on Climate Change 

VOC    Volatile organic compounds 

Item E - 191 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 1 

 

1.0  INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Purpose of Analysis and Study Objectives 

This Air Quality, Energy, and Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions  Impact Analysis has been completed to 
determine the air quality, energy, and GHG emissions  impacts associated with the proposed 1600 East 
Francis Street Industrial project (proposed project).  The following is provided in this report: 

 A description of the proposed project;  

 A description of the atmospheric setting; 

 A description of the criteria pollutants and GHGs; 

 A description of the air quality regulatory framework;  

 A description of the energy conservation regulatory framework; 

 A description of the GHG emissions regulatory framework; 

 A description of the air quality, energy, and GHG emissions thresholds  including  the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) significance thresholds; 

 An  analysis  of  the  conformity  of  the  proposed  project  with  the  South  Coast  Air  Quality 
Management District (SCAQMD) Air Quality Management Plan (AQMP);  

 An analysis of the short‐term construction related and long‐term operational air quality, energy, 
and GHG emissions impacts; and  

 An  analysis  of  the  conformity  of  the  proposed  project  with  all  applicable  energy  and  GHG 
emissions reduction plans and policies. 

1.2 Site Location and Study Area 

The project site is located at 1600 East Francis Street in the City of Ontario (City).  The approximately 6.98 
acre project site  is currently partially developed and occupied by Western States Wholesale which  is a 
manufacturer, distributor and wholesaler of building materials.  The western portion of the project site 
functions  as  a  storage  yard, while  the  eastern portion  contains  approximately  29,400  square  feet of 
building area and a storage area.  The project site is bounded by Francis Street and industrial uses to the 
north and industrial uses to the east, south and west sides of the project site.  The project local study area 
is shown in Figure 1. 

Previous Environmental Documentation  
The Project site was previously analyzed in The Ontario Plan (TOP) 2050 Final Supplemental Environmental 
Impact Report (SEIR) (State Clearinghouse No. 2021070364) (TOP 2050 SEIR) certified by the City in August 
2022. TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed  the environmental  impacts associated with  the  implementation of  the 
update to The Ontario Plan (TOP), adopted in 2010. 

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed the Project site as having a land use designation of Industrial (IND) and a zoning 
designation  of  General  Industrial  (IG).  The  IG  zoning  designation  allows  for  development  of  general 
industrial uses at a floor area ratio (FAR) of 0.55. As such, TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed the development of 
approximately 167,227 SF of general industrial uses on the project site. 

Item E - 192 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 2 

 

Sensitive Receptors in Project Vicinity 
The nearest sensitive receptors to the project site are homes located near the intersection of Locust Street 
and Sacramento Avenue, which are as near as 1,700 feet northeast of the project site.   There are also 
homes located near the intersection of Philadelphia Street and Pinehurst Place, which are as near as 2,000 
feet south of the project site.  The nearest school is Bon View Elementary School, which is located as near 
as a mile southwest of the project site. 

1.3 Proposed Project Description 

The  proposed  project  consists  of  demolition  of  the  existing  buildings,  surface  parking  and  related 
infrastructure and to redevelop the site with a new single‐story, approximately 42 foot tall warehouse 
building totaling 167,174 square feet of building space of which 161,174 square feet would be warehouse 
space and 6,000 square feet would be office space.   The proposed project also assumes 15 percent of 
floor space would be dedicated to cold storage.   The proposed project  includes approximately 32,137 
square feet of ornamental landscaping.  Operation of the proposed warehouse is assumed to be 24 hours 
per day, 7 days a week.  The proposed site plan is shown in Figure 2. 

The proposed warehouse would  include 20  loading dock doors and five trailer parking stalls along the 
west side of the building.  Additionally the proposed warehouse would provide 94 vehicle parking stalls 
inclusive of four accessible stalls, two accessible electric vehicle charging stations, two standard electric 
vehicle charging stations, and 14 electric vehicle spaces located on the east side of the building. 

1.4 Executive Summary 

Standard Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Regulatory Conditions 
The  proposed  project  will  be  required  to  comply  with  the  following  regulatory  conditions  from  the 
SCAQMD and State of California (State).   

South Coast Air Quality Management District Rules 

The following lists the SCAQMD rules that are applicable, but not limited to the proposed project.   

 Rule 402 Nuisance – Controls the emissions of odors and other air contaminants;  

 Rule 403 Fugitive Dust – Controls the emissions of fugitive dust; 

 Rules 1108 and 1108.1 Cutback and Emulsified Asphalt – Controls the VOC content in asphalt; 

 Rule 1113 Architectural Coatings – Controls the VOC content in paints and solvents;  

 Rule 1143 Paint Thinners – Controls the VOC content in paint thinners; and 

 Rule 1403 Asbestos Removal – Regulates asbestos emissions from demolition activities. 

State of California Rules 

The  following  lists the State of California Code of Regulations  (CCR) air quality emission rules that are 
applicable, but not limited to the proposed project.  

 CCR Title 13, Article 4.8, Chapter 9, Section 2449 – In use Off‐Road Diesel Vehicles;  

 CCR Title 13, Section 2025 – On‐Road Diesel Truck Fleets;  

Item E - 193 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 3 

 

 CCR Title 24 Part 6 – California Building Energy Standards; and 

 CCR Title 24 Part 11 – California Green Building Standards. 

Summary of Analysis Results 
The following is a summary of the proposed project’s impacts with regard to the State CEQA Guidelines 
air quality, energy, and GHG emissions checklist questions. 

Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan? 

Less than significant impact. 

Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the project region is 
non‐attainment under an applicable Federal or State ambient air quality standard? 

Less than significant impact. 

Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations? 

Less than significant impact. 

Result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting a substantial number of 
people? 

Less than significant impact. 

Result in potentially significant environmental impact due to wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary 
consumption of energy resources, during project construction or operation; 

Less than significant impact. 

Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy; 

Less than significant impact. 

Generate GHG emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the 
environment? 

Less than significant impact. 

Conflict with any applicable plan, policy or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing 
the emissions of GHGs? 

Less than significant impact. 

1.5 Project Design Features Incorporated into the Proposed Project 

This  analysis  was  based  on  implementation  of  the  following  project  design  feature  that  the  project 
applicant has committed to implementing. According to Forklift Market Analysis, 2016‐2027, prepared by 
Grand View Research, 2019, currently two‐thirds of all new forklifts sold will be electric‐powered and by 
2027 three‐quarter of all new forklifts will be electric‐powered. As such Project Design Feature 1 is based 
on current market trends, as it would not be cost‐effective to install the diesel tanks onsite for the limited 
duration of use of diesel‐powered equipment onsite. 

Item E - 194 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 4 

 

Project Design Feature 1: 
All off‐road equipment (non‐street  legal), such as forklifts and street sweepers, used onsite for 
warehouse  operations  shall  be  powered  by  alternative  fuels,  electrical  batteries  or  other 
alternative/non‐diesel  fuels  (e.g., propane or compressed natural gas  [CNG])  that do not emit 
diesel particulate matter, and that are low or zero emission.  

1.6 Mitigation Measures for the Proposed Project 

This analysis found that implementation of the State and SCAQMD air quality, energy, and GHG emissions 
reductions regulations, the criteria pollutants, toxic air contaminants, odors, and GHG emissions from the 
proposed project would be reduced to less than significant levels.   

 

 

 

Item E - 195 of 2173



Fi
gu

re
 1

Pr
oj

ec
t L

oc
al

 S
tu

dy
 A

re
a

SO
U

RC
E:

 S
an

 B
er

na
rd

in
o 

Co
un

ty
 G

IS
.

N

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ite

Item E - 196 of 2173



Figure 2
Proposed Site Plan

SOURCE: HPA Architecture.

N

Item E - 197 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 7 

 

2.0  AIR POLLUTANTS  

Air  pollutants  are  generally  classified  as  either  criteria  pollutants  or  non‐criteria  pollutants.    Federal 
ambient air quality standards have been established for criteria pollutants, whereas no ambient standards 
have been established for non‐criteria pollutants.  For some criteria pollutants, separate standards have 
been  set  for  different  periods.    Most  standards  have  been  set  to  protect  public  health.    For  some 
pollutants,  standards  have  been  based  on  other  values  (such  as  protection  of  crops,  protection  of 
materials, or avoidance of nuisance  conditions).   A  summary of  federal and  state ambient air quality 
standards is provided in the Regulatory Framework section. 

2.1 Criteria Pollutants and Ozone Precursors 

The  criteria  pollutants  consist  of:  ozone,  nitrogen  oxides  (NOx),  CO,  sulfur  oxides  (SOx),  lead,  and 
particulate matter (PM). The ozone precursors consist of NOx and VOC. These pollutants can harm your 
health and the environment, and cause property damage.  The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
calls  these pollutants “criteria” air pollutants because  it  regulates  them by developing human health‐
based  and/or  environmentally‐based  criteria  for  setting  permissible  levels.    The  following  provides 
descriptions of each of the criteria pollutants and ozone precursors.  

Nitrogen Oxides 
NOx  is the generic term for a group of highly reactive gases which contain nitrogen and oxygen. While 
most NOx are colorless and odorless, concentrations of nitrogen dioxide  (NO2) can often be seen as a 
reddish‐brown layer over many urban areas.  NOx form when fuel is burned at high temperatures, as in a 
combustion process. The primary manmade sources of NOx are motor vehicles, electric utilities, and other 
industrial, commercial, and residential sources that burn fuel.  NOx reacts with other pollutants to form, 
ground‐level ozone, nitrate particles, acid aerosols, as well as NO2, which cause respiratory problems. NOx 
and the pollutants formed from NOx can be transported over  long distances, following the patterns of 
prevailing winds.  Therefore, controlling NOx is often most effective if done from a regional perspective, 
rather than focusing on the nearest sources. 

Ozone 
Ozone is not usually emitted directly into the air, instead it is created by a chemical reaction between NOx 
and  VOC  in  the  presence  of  sunlight.  Motor  vehicle  exhaust,  industrial  emissions,  gasoline  vapors, 
chemical solvents as well as natural sources emit NOx and VOC that help form ozone.  Ground‐level ozone 
is the primary constituent of smog.  Sunlight and hot weather cause ground‐level ozone to form with the 
greatest concentrations usually occurring downwind from urban areas.  Ozone is subsequently considered 
a  regional  pollutant.    Ground‐level  ozone  is  a  respiratory  irritant  and  an  oxidant  that  increases 
susceptibility  to  respiratory  infections  and  can  cause  substantial  damage  to  vegetation  and  other 
materials.  Because NOx and VOC are ozone precursors, the health effects associated with ozone are also 
indirect health effects associated with significant levels of NOx and VOC emissions. 

Carbon Monoxide 
Carbon monoxide  (CO)  is  a  colorless, odorless  gas  that  is  formed when  carbon  in  fuel  is not burned 
completely.  It is a component of motor vehicle exhaust, which contributes approximately 56 percent of 
all CO emissions nationwide.  In cities, 85 to 95 percent of all CO emissions may come from motor vehicle 
exhaust.   Other  sources of CO emissions  include  industrial processes  (such  as metals processing  and 
chemical manufacturing), residential wood burning, and natural sources such as forest fires.  Woodstoves, 

Item E - 198 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 8 

 

gas stoves, cigarette smoke, and unvented gas and kerosene space heaters are indoor sources of CO.  The 
highest levels of CO in the outside air typically occur during the colder months of the year when inversion 
conditions are more frequent.   The air pollution becomes trapped near the ground beneath a  layer of 
warm  air.  CO  is  described  as  having  only  a  local  influence  because  it  dissipates  quickly.    Since  CO 
concentrations are strongly associated with motor vehicle emissions, high CO concentrations generally 
occur in the immediate vicinity of roadways with high traffic volumes and traffic congestion, active parking 
lots,  and  in  automobile  tunnels.   Areas  adjacent  to heavily  traveled  and  congested  intersections  are 
particularly susceptible to high CO concentrations. 

CO is a public health concern because it combines readily with hemoglobin and thus reduces the amount 
of oxygen transported in the bloodstream.  The health threat from lower levels of CO is most serious for 
those who suffer from heart disease such as angina, clogged arteries, or congestive heart failure.  For a 
person with heart disease, a single exposure to CO at low levels may cause chest pain and reduce that 
person’s ability  to exercise;  repeated exposures may contribute  to other cardiovascular effects.   High 
levels of CO can affect even healthy people.   People who breathe high  levels of CO can develop vision 
problems, reduced ability to work or learn, reduced manual dexterity, and difficulty performing complex 
tasks.  At extremely high levels, CO is poisonous and can cause death. 

Sulfur Oxides 
SOx gases are  formed when  fuel containing sulfur, such as coal and oil  is burned, as well as  from  the 
refining of gasoline.  SOx dissolves easily in water vapor to form acid and interacts with other gases and 
particles in the air to form sulfates and other products that can be harmful to people and the environment.  

Lead 
Lead is a metal found naturally in the environment as well as manufactured products.  The major sources 
of lead emissions have historically been motor vehicles and industrial sources.  Due to the phase out of 
leaded gasoline, metal processing is now the primary source of lead emissions to the air.  High levels of 
lead  in  the air are  typically only  found near  lead  smelters, waste  incinerators, utilities, and  lead‐acid 
battery manufacturers. Exposure of fetuses, infants and children to low levels of lead can adversely affect 
the development and function of the central nervous system, leading to learning disorders, distractibility, 
inability to follow simple commands, and lower intelligence quotient. In adults, increased lead levels are 
associated with increased blood pressure. 

Particulate Matter 
PM  is the term for a mixture of solid particles and  liquid droplets found  in the air. PM  is made up of a 
number of components including acids (such as nitrates and sulfates), organic chemicals, metals, and soil 
or dust particles.   The size of particles  is directly  linked to their potential for causing health problems. 
Particles  that  are  less  than  10  micrometers  in  diameter  (PM10)  that  are  also  known  as  Respirable 
Particulate Matter are the particles that generally pass through the throat and nose and enter the lungs.  
Once inhaled, these particles can affect the heart and lungs and cause serious health effects.  Particles 
that are  less than 2.5 micrometers  in diameter (PM2.5) that are also known as Fine Particulate Matter 
have been designated as a subset of PM10 due to their increased negative health impacts and its ability 
to remain suspended in the air longer and travel further.   

Volatile Organic Compounds  
Hydrocarbons  are  organic  gases  that  are  formed  from  hydrogen  and  carbon  and  sometimes  other 
elements. Hydrocarbons that contribute to formation of ozone are referred to and regulated as VOCs (also 

Item E - 199 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 9 

 

referred to as reactive organic gases). Combustion engine exhaust, oil refineries, and fossil‐fueled power 
plants  are  the  sources  of  hydrocarbons.  Other  sources  of  hydrocarbons  include  evaporation  from 
petroleum fuels, solvents, dry cleaning solutions, and paint. 

VOC is not classified as a criteria pollutant, since VOCs by themselves are not a known source of adverse 
health effects. The primary health effects of VOCs result from the formation of ozone and its related health 
effects. High levels of VOCs in the atmosphere can interfere with oxygen intake by reducing the amount 
of available oxygen  through displacement. Carcinogenic  forms of hydrocarbons,  such as benzene, are 
considered TACs. There are no separate health standards for VOCs as a group.  

2.2 Other Pollutants of Concern 

Toxic Air Contaminants  
In addition to the above‐listed criteria pollutants, TACs are another group of pollutants of concern.  TACs 
is a term that is defined under the California Clean Air Act and consists of the same substances that are 
defined as Hazardous Air Pollutants  (HAPs)  in  the Federal Clean Air Act.   There are over 700 hundred 
different types of TACs with varying degrees of toxicity.  Sources of TACs include industrial processes such 
as petroleum refining and chrome plating operations, commercial operations such as gasoline stations 
and  dry  cleaners,  and motor  vehicle  exhaust.    Cars  and  trucks  release  at  least  40  different  toxic  air 
contaminants.  The most important of these TACs, in terms of health risk, are diesel particulates, benzene, 
formaldehyde, 1,3‐butadiene, and acetaldehyde.  Public exposure to TACs can result from emissions from 
normal operations as well as from accidental releases.  Health effects of TACs include cancer, birth defects, 
neurological damage, and death. 

TACs are less pervasive in the urban atmosphere than criteria air pollutants, however they are linked to 
short‐term  (acute)  or  long‐term  (chronic  or  carcinogenic)  adverse  human  health  effects.    There  are 
hundreds of different types of TACs with varying degrees of toxicity.  Sources of TACs include industrial 
processes, commercial operations (e.g., gasoline stations and dry cleaners), and motor vehicle exhaust. 

According  to  The  California  Almanac  of  Emissions  and  Air Quality  2013  Edition,  the  majority  of  the 
estimated health risk from TACs can be attributed to relatively few compounds, the most  important of 
which is DPM.  DPM is a subset of PM2.5 because the size of diesel particles are typically 2.5 microns and 
smaller.  The identification of DPM as a TAC in 1998 led the California Air Resources Board (CARB) to adopt 
the Risk Reduction Plan to Reduce Particulate Matter Emissions from Diesel‐fueled Engines and Vehicles 
in September 2000.   The plan’s goals are a 75‐percent  reduction  in DPM by 2010 and an 85‐percent 
reduction by 2020  from  the 2000 baseline.   Diesel engines emit a  complex mixture of air pollutants, 
composed of gaseous and solid material.  The visible emissions in diesel exhaust are known as particulate 
matter or PM, which includes carbon particles or “soot.”  Diesel exhaust also contains a variety of harmful 
gases  and  over  40  other  cancer‐causing  substances.    California’s  identification  of DPM  as  a  toxic  air 
contaminant was based on its potential to cause cancer, premature deaths, and other health problems.  
Exposure  to DPM  is a health hazard, particularly  to children whose  lungs are  still developing and  the 
elderly who may have other serious health problems.  Overall, diesel engine emissions are responsible for 
the majority of California’s potential airborne cancer risk from combustion sources.   

Asbestos  
Asbestos  is  listed  as  a TAC by CARB  and  as  a HAP by  the EPA.   Asbestos occurs naturally  in mineral 
formations  and  crushing  or  breaking  these  rocks,  through  construction  or  other means,  can  release 

Item E - 200 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 10 

 

asbestiform fibers into the air.  Asbestos emissions can result from the sale or use of asbestos‐containing 
materials, road surfacing with such materials, grading activities, and surface mining.  The risk of disease is 
dependent upon the intensity and duration of exposure.  When inhaled, asbestos fibers may remain in 
the lungs and with time may be linked to such diseases as asbestosis, lung cancer, and mesothelioma.  The 
nearest  likely  locations of naturally occurring asbestos, as  identified  in  the General Location Guide  for 
Ultramafic Rocks  in California, prepared by  the California Division of Mines and Geology,  is  located  in 
Santa Barbara County.  The nearest historic asbestos mine to the project site, as identified in the Reported 
Historic  Asbestos Mines,  Historic  Asbestos  Prospects,  and  Other  Natural  Occurrences  of  Asbestos  in 
California, prepared by U.S. Geological Survey, is located at Asbestos Mountain, which is approximately 
72 miles east of the project site in the San Jacinto Mountains.  Due to the distance to the nearest natural 
occurrences of asbestos, the project site is not likely to contain asbestos. 

In addition to naturally occurring asbestos, asbestos was used extensively in building construction from 
the early 1940s through the 1970s as highly‐effective and inexpensive fire‐retardant material and thermal 
and acoustic insulator. Asbestos is most commonly found as thermal insulation on pipes, but also may be 
found  in  certain  types of  floor and  ceiling  tiles. There are  two  types of asbestos:  “friable” and  "non‐
friable.” Friable asbestos generally contains more than 1 percent asbestos by weight or area, and can be 
crumbled, pulverized, or reduced to powder by the pressure of an ordinary human hand, which releases 
fibers. Non friable asbestos generally contains more than 1 percent asbestos but cannot be pulverized 
under hand pressure and generally does not release asbestos fibers.  Due to the age of the existing onsite 
structures, the project site has a potential to contain asbestos, which is analyzed below in Section 10.4 of 
this Report. 

 

 

Item E - 201 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 11 

 

3.0  GREENHOUSE GASES 

3.1 Greenhouse Gases  

Constituent gases of the Earth’s atmosphere, called atmospheric GHGs, play a critical role in the Earth’s 
radiation amount by trapping  infrared radiation from the Earth’s surface, which otherwise would have 
escaped to space.  Prominent greenhouse gases contributing to this process include carbon dioxide (CO2), 
methane  (CH4),  ozone,  water  vapor,  nitrous  oxide  (N2O),  and  chlorofluorocarbons  (CFCs).    This 
phenomenon,  known  as  the  Greenhouse  Effect,  is  responsible  for  maintaining  a  habitable  climate.  
Anthropogenic (caused or produced by humans) emissions of these greenhouse gases in excess of natural 
ambient concentrations are responsible for the enhancement of the Greenhouse Effect and have led to a 
trend of unnatural warming of the Earth’s natural climate, known as global warming or climate change.  
Emissions  of  gases  that  induce  global  warming  are  attributable  to  human  activities  associated  with 
industrial/manufacturing, agriculture, utilities, transportation, and residential land uses.  Emissions of CO2 
and N2O are byproducts of fossil fuel combustion.  Methane, a potent greenhouse gas, results from off‐
gassing associated with agricultural practices and landfills.  Sinks of CO2, where CO2 is stored outside of 
the atmosphere, include uptake by vegetation and dissolution into the ocean.  The following provides a 
description of each of the greenhouse gases and their global warming potential. 

Water Vapor  
Water vapor is the most abundant, important, and variable GHG in the atmosphere.  Water vapor is not 
considered  a  pollutant;  in  the  atmosphere  it  maintains  a  climate  necessary  for  life.    Changes  in  its 
concentration  are  primarily  considered  a  result  of  climate  feedbacks  related  to  the  warming  of  the 
atmosphere rather than a direct result of industrialization.  The feedback loop in which water is involved 
is critically important to projecting future climate change.  As the temperature of the atmosphere rises, 
more water is evaporated from ground storage (rivers, oceans, reservoirs, soil).  Because the air is warmer, 
the relative humidity can be higher (in essence, the air is able to “hold” more water when it is warmer), 
leading to more water vapor in the atmosphere.  As a GHG, the higher concentration of water vapor is 
then able  to absorb more  thermal  indirect energy  radiated  from  the Earth,  thus  further warming  the 
atmosphere.   The warmer atmosphere can  then hold more water vapor and so on and so on.   This  is 
referred to as a “positive feedback loop.”  The extent to which this positive feedback loop will continue is 
unknown as there is also dynamics that put the positive feedback loop in check.  As an example, when 
water vapor increases in the atmosphere, more of it will eventually also condense into clouds, which are 
more able to reflect incoming solar radiation (thus allowing less energy to reach the Earth’s surface and 
heat it up).  

Carbon Dioxide  
The natural production and absorption of CO2 is achieved through the terrestrial biosphere and the ocean.  
However, humankind has altered the natural carbon cycle by burning coal, oil, natural gas, and wood.  
Since the industrial revolution began in the mid 1700s, each of these activities has increased in scale and 
distribution.  CO2 was the first GHG demonstrated to be increasing in atmospheric concentration with the 
first conclusive measurements being made  in  the  last half of  the 20th century.   Prior  to  the  industrial 
revolution, concentrations were fairly stable at 280 parts per million (ppm).  The International Panel on 
Climate Change (IPCC) indicates that concentrations were 379 ppm in 2005, an increase of more than 30 
percent.   Left unchecked, the  IPCC projects that concentration of carbon dioxide  in the atmosphere  is 
projected to increase to a minimum of 540 ppm by 2100 as a direct result of anthropogenic sources.  This 

Item E - 202 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 12 

 

could  result  in  an  average  global  temperature  rise  of  at  least  two  degrees  Celsius  or  3.6  degrees 
Fahrenheit.   

Methane 
CH4 is an extremely effective absorber of radiation, although its atmospheric concentration is less than 
that of CO2.  Its lifetime in the atmosphere is brief (10 to 12 years), compared to some other GHGs (such 
as CO2, N2O, and CFCs).   CH4 has both natural and anthropogenic sources.   It  is released as part of the 
biological processes in low oxygen environments, such as in swamplands or in rice production (at the roots 
of the plants).  Over the last 50 years, human activities such as growing rice, raising cattle, using natural 
gas, and mining coal have added to the atmospheric concentration of methane.  Other anthropocentric 
sources include fossil‐fuel combustion and biomass burning. 

Nitrous Oxide 
Concentrations of N2O also began to rise at the beginning of the industrial revolution.  In 1998, the global 
concentration of this GHG was documented at 314 parts per billion (ppb).  N2O is produced by microbial 
processes  in soil and water,  including  those reactions which occur  in  fertilizer containing nitrogen.    In 
addition  to  agricultural  sources,  some  industrial  processes  (fossil  fuel‐fired  power  plants,  nylon 
production, nitric acid production, and vehicle emissions) also contribute to its atmospheric load.  N2O is 
also commonly used as an aerosol spray propellant (i.e., in whipped cream bottles, in potato chip bags to 
keep chips fresh, and in rocket engines and race cars). 

Chlorofluorocarbons  
CFCs are gases formed synthetically by replacing all hydrogen atoms  in methane or ethane (C2H6) with 
chlorine and/or fluorine atoms.  CFCs are nontoxic, nonflammable, insoluble, and chemically unreactive 
in the troposphere (the level of air at the Earth’s surface).  CFCs have no natural source, but were first 
synthesized in 1928.  They were used for refrigerants, aerosol propellants, and cleaning solvents.  Due to 
the discovery that they are able to destroy stratospheric ozone, a global effort to halt their production 
was undertaken and  in 1989  the European Community agreed  to ban CFCs by 2000 and  subsequent 
treaties banned CFCs worldwide by 2010.  This effort was extremely successful, and the levels of the major 
CFCs are now remaining level or declining.  However, their long atmospheric lifetimes mean that some of 
the CFCs will remain in the atmosphere for over 100 years. 

Hydrofluorocarbons  
HFCs are synthetic man‐made chemicals that are used as a substitute for CFCs.  Out of all the GHGs, they 
are one of three groups with the highest global warming potential.  The HFCs with the largest measured 
atmospheric abundances are  (in order), HFC‐23  (CHF3), HFC‐134a  (CF3CH2F), and HFC‐152a  (CH3CHF2).  
Prior to 1990, the only significant emissions were HFC‐23.  HFC‐134a use is increasing due to its use as a 
refrigerant.  Concentrations of HFC‐23 and HFC‐134a in the atmosphere are now about 10 parts per trillion 
(ppt) each.   Concentrations of HFC‐152a are about 1 ppt.   HFCs are manmade for applications such as 
automobile air conditioners and refrigerants. 

Perfluorocarbons 
Perfluorocarbons (PFCs) have stable molecular structures and do not break down through the chemical 
processes  in  the  lower  atmosphere.   High‐energy  ultraviolet  rays  about  60  kilometers  above  Earth’s 
surface are able  to destroy  the compounds.   Because of  this, PFCs have very  long  lifetimes, between 
10,000 and 50,000 years.  Two common PFCs are tetrafluoromethane (CF4) and hexafluoroethane (C2F6).  

Item E - 203 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 13 

 

Concentrations of CF4  in  the atmosphere are over 70 ppt.   The  two main sources of PFCs are primary 
aluminum production and semiconductor manufacturing. 

Sulfur Hexafluoride 
Sulfur Hexafluoride  (SF6)  is an  inorganic, odorless, colorless, nontoxic, nonflammable gas.   SF6 has  the 
highest global warming potential of any gas evaluated; 23,900 times that of CO2.  Concentrations in the 
1990s were about 4 ppt.   Sulfur hexafluoride  is used  for  insulation  in electric power transmission and 
distribution equipment, in the magnesium industry, in semiconductor manufacturing, and as a tracer gas 
for leak detection. 

Aerosols 
Aerosols  are particles  emitted  into  the  air  through burning biomass  (plant material)  and  fossil  fuels.  
Aerosols can warm  the atmosphere by absorbing and emitting heat and  can cool  the atmosphere by 
reflecting light.  Cloud formation can also be affected by aerosols.  Sulfate aerosols are emitted when fuel 
containing  sulfur  is  burned.    Black  carbon  (or  soot)  is  emitted  during  biomass  burning  due  to  the 
incomplete  combustion  of  fossil  fuels.    Particulate  matter  regulation  has  been  lowering  aerosol 
concentrations in the United States; however, global concentrations are likely increasing. 

3.2 Global Warming Potential 

GHGs have varying global warming potential (GWP).  The GWP is the potential of a gas or aerosol to trap 
heat in the atmosphere; it is the cumulative radiative forcing effects of a gas over a specified time horizon 
resulting from the emission of a unit mass of gas relative to the reference gas, CO2.  The GHGs listed by 
the IPCC and the CEQA Guidelines are discussed in this section in order of abundance in the atmosphere.  
Water vapor, the most abundant GHG, is not included in this list because its natural concentrations and 
fluctuations far outweigh its anthropogenic (human‐made) sources.  To simplify reporting and analysis, 
GHGs are commonly defined in terms of their GWP.  The IPCC defines the GWP of various GHG emissions 
on a normalized scale that recasts all GHG emissions in terms of CO2e.  As such, the GWP of CO2 is equal 
to 1.  The GWP values used in this analysis are based on the 2007 IPCC Fourth Assessment Report, which 
are used in CalEEMod Model Version 2022.1 and are detailed in Table A.  The IPCC has updated the Global 
Warming Potentials of some gases in their Fifth Assessment Report, however the new values have not yet 
been incorporated into the CalEEMod model that has been utilized in this analysis. 

Table A – Global Warming Potentials, Atmospheric Lifetimes and Abundances of GHGs 

Gas 
Atmospheric Lifetime 

(years)1 
Global Warming Potential 

(100 Year Horizon)2 
Atmospheric 
Abundance 

Carbon Dioxide (CO2)  50‐200  1  379 ppm 
Methane (CH4)  9‐15  25  1,774 ppb 
Nitrous Oxide (N2O)  114  298  319 ppb 
HFC‐23   270  14,800  18 ppt 
HFC‐134a  14  1,430  35 ppt 
HFC‐152a  1.4  124  3.9 ppt 
PFC: Tetrafluoromethane (CF4)  50,000  7,390  74 ppt 
PFC:  Hexafluoroethane (C2F6)  10,000  12,200  2.9 ppt 
Sulfur Hexafluoride (SF6)  3,200  22,800  5.6 ppt 
Notes: 
1 Defined as the half‐life of the gas. 

Item E - 204 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 14 

 

2 Compared to the same quantity of CO2 emissions and is based on the Intergovernmental Panel On Climate Change (IPCC) 2007 standard, which 
is utilized in CalEEMod (Version 2022.1),that is used in this report (CalEEMod User Guide: April 2022). 
Definitions: ppm = parts per million; ppb = parts per billion; ppt = parts per trillion 
Source: IPCC 2007, EPA 2015 

 

3.3 Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory 

According to the Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center1, 9,855 million metric tons (MMT) of CO2e 
emissions were  created globally  in  the year 2014. According  to  the Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA), the breakdown of global GHG emissions by sector consists of: 25 percent from electricity and heat 
production; 21 percent from industry; 24 percent from agriculture, forestry and other land use activities; 
14 percent from transportation; 6 percent from building energy use; and 10 percent from all other sources 
of energy use2.  

According to Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks 1990‐2020, prepared by EPA, in 2020 
total U.S. GHG emissions were 5,981.4 million metric tons (MMT) of CO2e emissions.  Total U.S. emissions 
have decreased by 7.3 percent between 1990 and 2020, which is down from a high of 15.7 percent above 
1990 levels in 2007. Emissions decreased from 2019 to 2020 by 9.0 percent. The sharp decline in emissions 
from 2019 to 2020  is  largely due  to the  impacts of  the coronavirus pandemic on travel and economic 
activity. 

According  to  California  Greenhouse  Gas  Emissions  for  2000  to  2019  Trends  of  Emissions  and  Other 
Indicators, prepared by CARB, July 28, 2021, the State of California created 418.2 million metric tons of 
carbon dioxide equivalent (MMTCO2e) in 2019. The 2019 emissions were 7.2 MMTCO2e lower than 2018 
levels and almost 13 MMTCO2e below the State adopted year 2020 GHG  limit of 431 MMTCO2e.   The 
breakdown of California GHG emissions by  sector  consists of: 39.7 percent  from  transportation; 21.1 
percent  from  industrial;  14.1  percent  from  electricity  generation;  7.6  percent  from  agriculture;  10.5 
percent  from  residential  and  commercial  buildings;  4.9  percent  from  high  global  warming  potential 
sources, and 2.1 percent from waste.   

   

 

                                                                 
1 Obtained from: https://cdiac.ess‐dive.lbl.gov/trends/emis/tre_glob_2014.html  
2 Obtained from: https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/global‐greenhouse‐gas‐emissions‐data 

Item E - 205 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 15 

 

4.0  AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT 

The air quality at the project site is addressed through the efforts of various federal, state, regional, and 
local government agencies.   These agencies work  jointly, as well as  individually, to  improve air quality 
through  legislation,  regulations,  planning,  policy‐making,  education,  and  a  variety  of  programs.    The 
agencies responsible for improving the air quality are discussed below. 

4.1 Federal – United States Environmental Protection Agency 

The Clean Air Act, first passed in 1963 with major amendments in 1970, 1977 and 1990, is the overarching 
legislation covering regulation of air pollution in the United States. The Clean Air Act has established the 
mandate for requiring regulation of both mobile and stationary sources of air pollution at the state and 
federal  level. The Environmental Protection Agency  (EPA) was created  in 1970  in order  to consolidate 
research, monitoring, standard‐setting and enforcement authority into a single agency. 

The EPA is responsible for setting and enforcing the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) for 
atmospheric pollutants.  It regulates emission sources that are under the exclusive authority of the federal 
government,  such as aircraft,  ships, and  certain  locomotives. NAAQS pollutants were  identified using 
medical evidence and are shown below in Table B. 

Table B – State and Federal Criteria Pollutant Standards 

Air 
Pollutant 

Concentration / Averaging Time 

Most Relevant Effects 
California 
Standards 

Federal Primary 
Standards 

Ozone (O3) 
0.09 ppm / 1‐hour 

 
0.07 ppm / 8‐hour 

0.070 ppm, / 8‐hour 

a) Pulmonary function decrements and localized lung injury in 
humans  and  animals;  (b)  asthma  exacerbation;  (c)  chronic 
obstructive  pulmonary  disease  (COPD)  exacerbation;  (d) 
respiratory  infection;  (e)  increased  school  absences,  and 
hospital admissions and emergency department (ED) visits for 
combined  respiratory  diseases;  (e)  increased  mortality;  (f) 
possible metabolic effects. 
Vegetation damage; property damage 

Carbon 
Monoxide 

(CO) 

20.0 ppm / 1‐hour 
 

9.0 ppm / 8‐hour 

35.0 ppm / 1‐hour 
 

9.0 ppm / 8‐hour 

Visibility  reduction  (a)  Aggravation  of  angina  pectoris  and 
other  aspects  of  coronary  heart  disease;  (b)  decreased 
exercise tolerance in persons with peripheral vascular disease 
and  lung disease; (c) possible  impairment of central nervous 
system  functions;  (d)  possible  increased  risk  to  fetuses;  (f) 
possible  increased  risk  of  pulmonary  disease;  (g)  possible 
emergency department visits for respiratory diseases overall 
and visits for asthma. 

Nitrogen 
Dioxide 
(NO2) 

0.18 ppm / 1‐hour 
0.030 ppm / annual 

100 ppb / 1‐hour 
0.053 ppm / annual  

Short‐term (a) asthma exacerbations (“asthma attacks”) 
Long‐term  (a)  asthma  development;  (b)  higher  risk  of  all‐
cause, cardiovascular, and respiratory mortality. 
Both short and long term NO2 exposure is also associated with 
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) risk. 
Potential  impacts  on  cardiovascular  health,  mortality  and 
cancer, aggravate chronic respiratory disease. 
Contribution to atmospheric discoloration 

Item E - 206 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 16 

 

Air 
Pollutant 

Concentration / Averaging Time 

Most Relevant Effects 
California 
Standards 

Federal Primary 
Standards 

Sulfur 
Dioxide      

(SO2) 

0.25 ppm / 1‐hour 
 

0.04 ppm / 24‐hour 
75 ppb / 1‐hour 

Respiratory  symptoms  (bronchoconstriction,  possible 
wheezing or shortness of breath) during exercise or physical 
activity in persons with asthma. 
Possible  allergic  sensitization,  airway  inflammation,  asthma 
development. 

Respirable 
Particulate 

Matter 
(PM10) 

50 µg/m3 / 24‐hour 
20 µg/m3 / annual 

150 µg/m3 / 24‐
hour 

Short  ‐term (a)  increase  in mortality rates; (b)  increase  in 
respiratory infections; (c) increase in number and severity 
of asthma attacks;  (d) COPD exacerbation;  (e)  increase  in 
combined  respiratory‐diseases  and  number  of  hospital 
admissions; (f) increased mortality due to cardiovascular or 
respiratory diseases; (g) increase in hospital admissions for 
acute  respiratory  conditions;  (h)  increase  in  school 
absences;  (i)  increase  in  lost  work  days;  (j)  decrease  in 
respiratory function in children; (k) increase medication use 
in children and adults with asthma.  
Long‐term (a) reduced lung function growth in children; (b) 
changes  in  lung development; (c) development of asthma 
in children; (d) increased risk of cardiovascular diseases; (e) 
increased  total mortality  from  lung  cancer;  (f)  increased 
risk of premature death.  
Possible  link  to  metabolic,  nervous  system,  and 
reproductive and developmental effects for short‐term and 
long‐term exposure to PM2.5.  

Suspended 
Particulate 

Matter 
(PM2.5) 

12 µg/m3 / annual 
35 µg/m3 / 24‐hour 
12 µg/m3 / annual 

Sulfates  25 µg/m3 / 24‐hour  No Federal 
Standards 

(a)  Decrease  in  lung  function;  (b)  aggravation  of  asthmatic 
symptoms;  (c)  vegetation  damage;  (d)  Degradation  of 
visibility; (e) property damage 

Lead  1.5 µg/m3 / 30‐day   0.15 µg/m3 /3‐ 
month rolling 

(a)  Learning  disabilities;  (b)  impairment  of  blood  formation 
and  nerve  function;  (c)  cardiovascular  effects,  including 
coronary heart disease and hypertension 
Possible male reproductive system effects 

Hydrogen 
Sulfide  0.03 ppm / 1‐hour  No Federal 

Standards 

Exposure to lower ambient concentrations above the standard 
may result in objectionable odor and may be accompanied by 
symptoms  such  as  headaches,  nausea,  dizziness,  nasal 
irritation, cough, and shortness of breath 

Source: 2022 AQMP, SCAQMD, 2022. 

 

As part of its enforcement responsibilities, the EPA requires each state with federal nonattainment areas 
to prepare and  submit a  State  Implementation Plan  (SIP)  that demonstrates  the means  to attain  the 
national  standards.    The  SIP must  integrate  federal,  state,  and  local  components  and  regulations  to 
identify specific measures to reduce pollution, using a combination of performance standards and market‐
based programs within the timeframe identified in the SIP.  The CARB defines attainment as the category 
given to an area with no violations in the past three years. As indicated below in Table C, the Air Basin has 
been designated by EPA for the national standards as a non‐attainment area for ozone and PM2.5 and 
partial non‐attainment for lead.   Currently, the Air Basin  is  in attainment with the national ambient air 
quality standards for CO, PM10, SO2, and NO2.     

Item E - 207 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 17 

 

Table C – National Air Quality Standards Attainment Status – South Coast Air Basin 

Criteria Pollutant  Averaging Time  Designationa  Attainment Dateb 

Ozone 

1979 1‐Hour (0.12 ppm)  Nonattainment (Extreme)  2/6/2023 
(revised deadline) 

2015 8‐Hour (0.07 ppm)d  Nonattainment (Extreme)  8/3/2038 
2008 8‐Hour (0.075 ppm)d  Nonattainment (Extreme)  7/20/2032 
1997 8‐Hour (0.08 ppm)d  Nonattainment (Extreme)  6/15/2024 

PM2.5e  

2006 24‐Hour (35 μg/m3)  Nonattainment (Serious)  12/31/2019 
2012 Annual (12 μg/m3)  Nonattainment (Serious)  12/31/2021 

1997 Annual (15 μg/m3)  Attainment (final determination 
pending) 

4/5/2015 
(attained 2013) 

PM10f  1987 24‐Hour (150 μg/m3)  Attainment (Maintenance) 
7/26/2013 
(attained) 

Leadg 
2008 3‐Months Rolling 

(0.15 μg/m3) 

Nonattainment (Partial) 
(Attainment determination 

requested) 
12/31/2015 

CO 
1971 1‐Hour (35 ppm)  Attainment (Maintenance)  6/11/2007 
1971 8‐Hour (9 ppm)  Attainment (Maintenance)  6/11/2007 

NO2
h  2010 1‐Hour (100 ppb)  Unclassifiable/Attainment  N/A (attained) 

1971 Annual (0.053 ppm)  Attainment (Maintenance)  9/22/1998 (attained) 

SO2
i  2010 1‐Hour (75 ppb)  Unclassifiable/Attainment  1/9/2018 

1971 24‐Hour (0.14 ppm)  Unclassifiable/Attainment  3/19/1979 
Source: SCAQMD, 2022 
Notes: 
a) U.S. EPA often only declares Nonattainment areas; everywhere else is listed as Unclassifiable/Attainment or Unclassifiable. 
b) A design value below the NAAQS for data through the full year or smog season prior to the attainment date is typically required for attainment 
demonstration. 
c) The 1979 1‐hour ozone NAAQS  (0.12 ppm) was  revoked, effective  June 15, 2005; however,  the Basin has not attained  this  standard and 
therefore has some continuing obligations with respect to the revoked standard; original attainment date was 11/15/2010; the revised attainment 
date is 2/6/2023. 
d) The 2008 8‐hour ozone NAAQS (0.075 ppm) was revised to 0.070 ppm, effective 12/28/20115 with classifications and implementation goals to 
be finalized by 10/1/2017; the 1997 8‐hour ozone NAAQS (0.08 ppm) was revoked in the 2008 ozone implementation rule, effective 4/6/2015; 
there are continuing obligations under the revoked 1997 and revised 2008 ozone NAAQS until they are attained. 
e) The attainment deadline  for  the 2006 24‐Hour PM2.5 NAAQS was 12/31/15  for  the  former  “moderate”  classification;  the EPA approved 
reclassification to “serious”, effective 2/12/16 with an attainment deadline of 12/31/2019; the 2012 (proposal year) annual PM2.5 NAAQS was 
revised on  1/15/2013,  effective  3/18/2013,  from  15  to  12  μg/m3; new  annual designations were  final  1/15/2015,  effective  4/15/2015;  on 
7/25/2016  the EPA  finalized a determination  that  the Basin attained  the 1997 annual  (15.0  μg/m3) and 24‐hour PM2.5  (65  μg/m3) NAAQS, 
effective 8/24/2016. 
f) The annual PM10 standard was revoked, effective 12/18/2006; the 24‐hour PM10 NAAQS deadline was 12/31/2006; the Basin’s Attainment 
Re‐designation  Request  and  PM10  Maintenance  Plan  was  approved  by  the  EPA  on  6/26/2103,  effective  7/26/2013. 
g) Partial Nonattainment designation – Los Angeles County portion of the Basin only for near‐source monitors; expect to remain in attainment 
based on current monitoring data; attainment re‐designation request pending. 
h) New 1‐hour NO2 NAAQS became effective 8/2/2010, with attainment designations 1/20/2012; annual NO2 NAAQS retained. 
i) The 1971 annual and 24‐hour SO2 NAAQS were revoked, effective 8/23/2010. 

 
Despite substantial improvements in air quality over the past few decades, some air monitoring stations 
in the Air Basin still exceed the NAAQS and frequently record the highest ozone levels in the United States. 
In 2020, monitoring stations in the Air Basin exceeded the most current federal standards on a total of 
181 days (49 percent of the year), including: 8‐hour ozone (157 days over the 2015 ozone NAAQS), 24‐
hour PM2.5 (39 days), PM10 (3 days), and NO2 (1 day). Nine of the top 10 stations  in the nation most 
frequently exceeding the 2015 8‐hour ozone NAAQS in 2020 were located within the Air Basin, including 
stations in San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties  (SCAQMD, 2022). 

Item E - 208 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 18 

 

PM2.5  levels  in  the  Air  Basin  have  improved  significantly  in  recent  years.  Since  2015,  none  of  the 
monitoring stations  in the Air Basin have recorded violations of the former 1997 annual PM2.5 NAAQS 
(15.0 μg/m3). On July 25, 2016 the U.S. EPA finalized a determination that the Air Basin attained the 1997 
annual (15.0 μg/m3) and 24‐hour PM2.5 (65 μg/m3) NAAQS, effective August 24, 2016. However, the Air 
Basin does not meet the 2012 annual PM2.5 NAAQS  (12.0 μg/m3), with six monitoring stations having 
design values above the standard for the 2018‐2020 period (SCAQMD, 2022). 

4.2 State – California Air Resources Board 

The  CARB, which  is  a  part  of  the  California  Environmental  Protection Agency,  is  responsible  for  the 
coordination and administration of both federal and state air pollution control programs within California.  
In this capacity, the CARB conducts research, sets the California Ambient Air Quality Standards (CAAQS), 
compiles  emission  inventories,  develops  suggested  control  measures,  provides  oversight  of  local 
programs, and prepares the SIP.  The CAAQS for criteria pollutants in the Air Basin are shown in Table D.  
In  addition,  the CARB  establishes  emission  standards  for motor  vehicles  sold  in California,  consumer 
products  (e.g. hairspray, aerosol paints, and barbeque  lighter  fluid), and various  types of  commercial 
equipment.  It also sets fuel specifications to further reduce vehicular emissions. 

Table D – California Ambient Air Quality Standards Attainment Status – South Coast Air Basin 

Criteria Pollutant  Averaging Time  Levela  Designationb 

Ozone  1‐Hour  0.09 ppm  Nonattainment 
8‐Hour  0.070 ppm  Nonattainment 

PM2.5   Annual  12 μg/m3  Nonattainment 

PM10 
24‐Hour  50 μg/m3  Nonattainment 
Annual  20 μg/m3  Nonattainment 

Lead  30‐Day Average  1.5 μg/m3  Attainment 

CO 
1‐Hour  20 ppm  Attainment 
8‐Hour  9.0 ppm  Attainment 

NO2
 

1‐Hour  0.18 ppm  Attainment 

Annual  0.030 
Nonattainmentc (CA 60 Near‐road portion of San 
Bernardino, Riverside and Los Angeles Counties) 

Attainment (remainder of Basin) 

SO2
  1‐Hour  0.25 ppm  Attainment 

24‐Hour  0.04 ppm  Attainment 
Sulfates  24‐Hour  25 μg/m3  Attainment 

Hydrogen Sulfide  1‐Hour  0.03 ppm  Unclassified 
Source: SCAQMD, 2022 
Notes: 
a) CA State standards, or CAAQS, for ozone, SO2, NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 are values not to be exceeded; lead, sulfates and H2S standards are values 
not to be equaled or exceeded; CAAQS are listed in the Table of Standards in Section 70200 of Title 17 of the California Code of Regulations. 
b) CA State designations shown were updated by CARB in 2019, based on the 2016‐2018 3‐year period; stated designations are based on a 3‐year 
data period after consideration of outliers and exceptional events. 
c) While this region is currently in Nonattainment, the CARB approved a redesignation to attainment to attainment based on 2018‐2020 data on 
February 24, 2022. 
 
 

As shown in Table D, the Air Basin has been designated by the CARB as a non‐attainment area for ozone, 
PM10 and PM2.5 and partial nonattainment for NO2.  Currently, the Air Basin is in attainment with the 
ambient air quality standards for lead, CO, SO2 and sulfates, and is unclassified for Hydrogen Sulfide. 

Item E - 209 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 19 

 

The  following  lists the State of California Code of Regulations  (CCR) air quality emission rules that are 
applicable, but not limited to commercial retail projects in the State.  

Assembly Bill 2588 
The Air Toxics “Hot Spots” Information and Assessment Act (Assembly Bill [AB] 2588, 1987, Connelly) was 
enacted in 1987 as a means to establish a formal air toxics emission inventory risk quantification program. 
AB 2588,  as  amended,  establishes  a process  that  requires  stationary  sources  to  report  the  type  and 
quantities of certain substances their facilities routinely release in California.  The data is ranked by high, 
intermediate, and low categories, which are determined by: the potency, toxicity, quantity, volume, and 
proximity of the facility to nearby receptors. 

CARB Regulation for In‐Use Off‐Road Diesel Vehicles 
On July 26, 2007, the CARB adopted California Code of Regulations Title 13, Article 4.8, Chapter 9, Section 
2449 to reduce DPM and NOx emissions from in‐use off‐road heavy‐duty diesel vehicles in California.  Such 
vehicles are used  in construction, mining, and  industrial operations.   The regulation  limits  idling to no 
more  than  five  consecutive  minutes,  requires  reporting  and  labeling,  and  requires  disclosure  of  the 
regulation upon vehicle sale.  Performance requirements of the rule are based on a fleet’s average NOx 
emissions, which  can be met by  replacing older  vehicles with newer,  cleaner  vehicles or by  applying 
exhaust retrofits.  The regulation was amended in 2010 to delay the original timeline of the performance 
requirement  making  the  first  compliance  deadline  January  1,  2014  for  large  fleets  (over  5,000 
horsepower),  2017  for  medium  fleets  (2,501‐5,000  horsepower),  and  2019  for  small  fleets  (2,500 
horsepower or less).  As of January 1, 2023, no commercial operation is allowed to add Tier 0, Tier 1, or 
Tier 2 engines to their fleets.  It should be noted that commercial fleets may continue to use their existing 
Tiers 0, 1, and 2 equipment, if they can demonstrate that the average emissions from their entire fleet 
emissions meet the NOx emissions targets.  

CARB Resolution 08‐43 for On‐Road Diesel Truck Fleets   
On December 12, 2008 the CARB adopted Resolution 08‐43, which limits NOx, PM10 and PM2.5 emissions 
from on‐road diesel truck fleets that operate in California. On October 12, 2009 Executive Order R‐09‐010 
was  adopted  that  codified  Resolution  08‐43  into  Section  2025,  title  13  of  the  California  Code  of 
Regulations.  This regulation requires that by the year 2023 all commercial diesel trucks that operate in 
California shall meet model year 2010  (Tier 4 Final) or  latter emission standards.   This  regulation also 
provides  a  few  exemptions  including  a  onetime  per  year  3‐day  pass  for  trucks  registered  outside  of 
California.  All on‐road diesel trucks utilized during construction of the proposed project will be required 
to comply with Resolution 08‐43. 

4.3 Regional – Southern California  

The SCAQMD is the agency principally responsible for comprehensive air pollution control in the South 
Coast Air Basin.  To that end, as a regional agency, the SCAQMD works directly with the Southern California 
Association  of Governments  (SCAG),  county  transportation  commissions,  and  local  governments  and 
cooperates actively with all federal and state agencies. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District 
SCAQMD  develops  rules  and  regulations,  establishes  permitting  requirements  for  stationary  sources, 
inspects emission  sources, and enforces  such measures  through educational programs or  fines, when 
necessary.  SCAQMD is directly responsible for reducing emissions from stationary, mobile, and indirect 

Item E - 210 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 20 

 

sources.   It has responded to this requirement by preparing a sequence of AQMPs.   The Final 2022 Air 
Quality Management Plan (2022 AQMP) and has been submitted to the ARB for adoption before submittal 
to  the U.S. EPA  for  final approval, which are anticipated  to occur sometime  this year.   After  the 2022 
AQMP  has  been  adopted  by ARB  and U.S.  EPA,  the  2022 AQMP will  be  incorporated  into  the  State 
Implementation Plan (SIP).  The 2022 AQMP establishes actions and strategies to reduce ozone levels to 
the U.S. EPA 2015 ozone standard of 70 ppb by 2037.  The 2022 AQMP promotes extensive use of zero‐
emission  technologies  across  all  stationary  and  mobile  sources  coupled  with  rules  and  regulations, 
investment strategies, and incentives. 

Although SCAQMD is responsible for regional air quality planning efforts, it does not have the authority 
to directly regulate air quality issues associated with plans and new development projects throughout the 
Air  Basin.    Instead,  this  is  controlled  through  local  jurisdictions  in  accordance  to  the  California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  In order to assist local jurisdictions with air quality compliance issues 
the CEQA Air Quality Handbook (SCAQMD CEQA Handbook), prepared by SCAQMD, 1993, with the most 
current updates found at http://www.aqmd.gov/ceqa/hdbk.html, was developed in accordance with the 
projections and programs detailed  in  the AQMPs.   The purpose of the SCAQMD CEQA Handbook  is to 
assist Lead Agencies, as well as consultants, project proponents, and other interested parties in evaluating 
a proposed project’s potential air quality impacts.  Specifically, the SCAQMD CEQA Handbook explains the 
procedures that SCAQMD recommends be  followed for the environmental review process required by 
CEQA.  The SCAQMD CEQA Handbook provides direction on how to evaluate potential air quality impacts, 
how  to  determine  whether  these  impacts  are  significant,  and  how  to  mitigate  these  impacts.    The 
SCAQMD  intends  that  by  providing  this  guidance,  the  air  quality  impacts  of  plans  and  development 
proposals will be analyzed accurately and consistently throughout the Air Basin, and adverse impacts will 
be minimized. 

The following lists the SCAQMD rules that are applicable but not limited to warehouse projects in the Air 
Basin.   

Rule 402 ‐ Nuisance  

Rule  402  prohibits  a  person  from  discharging  from  any  source  whatsoever  such  quantities  of  air 
contaminants  or  other  material  which  causes  injury,  detriment,  nuisance,  or  annoyance  to  any 
considerable number of persons or to the public, or which endanger the comfort, repose, health or safety 
of any such persons or the public, or which cause, or have a natural tendency to cause, injury or damage 
to business or property. Compliance with Rule 402 will reduce local air quality and odor impacts to nearby 
sensitive receptors. 

Rule 403‐ Fugitive Dust 

Rule 403 governs emissions of fugitive dust during construction activities and requires that no person shall 
cause or allow the emissions of fugitive dust such that dust remains visible in the atmosphere beyond the 
property  line or  the dust emission exceeds 20 percent opacity,  if  the dust  is  from  the operation of a 
motorized vehicle. Compliance with this rule is achieved through application of standard Best Available 
Control Measures, which include but are not limited to the measures below.  Compliance with these rules 
would reduce local air quality impacts to nearby sensitive receptors.  

 Utilize either a pad of washed gravel 50 feet long, 100 feet of paved surface, a wheel shaker, or a 
wheel washing device to remove material from vehicle tires and undercarriages before  leaving 
project site. 

Item E - 211 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 21 

 

 Do not allow any track out of material to extend more than 25 feet onto a public roadway and 
remove all track out at the end of each workday. 

 Water all exposed areas on active sites at least three times per day and pre‐water all areas prior 
to clearing and soil moving activities. 

 Apply nontoxic chemical stabilizers according to manufacturer specifications to all construction 
areas that will remain inactive for 10 days or longer.   

 Pre‐water all material to be exported prior to loading, and either cover all loads or maintain at 
least 2 feet of freeboard in accordance with the requirements of California Vehicle Code Section 
23114. 

 Replant all disturbed area as soon as practical. 

 Suspend all grading activities when wind speeds (including wind gusts) exceed 25 miles per hour. 

 Restrict traffic speeds on all unpaved roads to 15 miles per hour or less.  

Rules 1108 and 1108.1 – Cutback and Emulsified Asphalt 

Rules 1108 and 1108.1 govern the sale, use, and manufacturing of asphalt and limits the VOC content in 
asphalt.  This rule regulates the VOC contents of asphalt used during construction as well as any on‐going 
maintenance during operations.   Therefore, all asphalt used during construction and operation of  the 
proposed project must comply with SCAQMD Rules 1108 and 1108.1. 

Rule 1113 – Architectural Coatings 

Rule 1113 governs the sale, use, and manufacturing of architectural coatings and limits the VOC content 
in sealers, coatings, paints and solvents.  This rule regulates the VOC contents of paints available during 
construction.  Therefore, all paints and solvents used during construction and operation of the proposed 
project must comply with SCAQMD Rule 1113. 

Rule 1143 – Paint Thinners 

Rule 1143 governs the sale, use, and manufacturing of paint thinners and multi‐purpose solvents that are 
used  in  thinning  of  coating  materials,  cleaning  of  coating  application  equipment,  and  other  solvent 
cleaning operations.  This rule regulates the VOC content of solvents used during construction.  Solvents 
used during construction and operation of the proposed project must comply with SCAQMD Rule 1143. 

Rule 1403 – Asbestos Removal 

Rule 1403 governs asbestos emissions from demolition and renovation activities.  The existing structures 
on the project site shall be surveyed for asbestos prior to demolition activities.  If asbestos is found within 
the  existing  structures,  the  asbestos  shall be  removed  through utilization of  the  removal procedures 
detailed in Rule 1403. 

Southern California Association of Governments 
The SCAG  is the regional planning agency for Los Angeles, Orange, Ventura, Riverside, San Bernardino, 
and Imperial Counties and addresses regional issues relating to transportation, the economy, community 
development and the environment.  SCAG is the federally designated Metropolitan Planning Organization 
(MPO) for the majority of the southern California region and is the largest MPO in the nation.  With respect 
to  air  quality  planning,  SCAG  has  prepared  the  2020‐2045  Regional  Transportation  Plan/Sustainable 

Item E - 212 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 22 

 

Communities Strategy (Connect SoCal), adopted September 3, 2020 and the 2019 Federal Transportation 
Improvement Program (2019 FTIP), adopted September 2018, which addresses regional development and 
growth forecasts.  Although the Connect SoCal and 2019 FTIP are primarily planning documents for future 
transportation  projects  a  key  component  of  these  plans  are  to  integrate  land  use  planning  with 
transportation planning  that promotes higher density  infill development  in close proximity  to existing 
transit service.  These plans form the basis for the land use and transportation components of the AQMP, 
which are utilized in the preparation of air quality forecasts and in the consistency analysis included in the 
AQMP.  The Connect SoCal, 2019 FTIP, and AQMP are based on projections originating within the City and 
County General Plans.   

4.4 Local – City of Ontario 

Local jurisdictions, such as the City of Ontario, have the authority and responsibility to reduce air pollution 
through  its  police  power  and  decision‐making  authority.    Specifically,  the  City  is  responsible  for  the 
assessment  and  mitigation  of  air  emissions  resulting  from  its  land  use  decisions.    The  City  is  also 
responsible  for  the  implementation  of  transportation  control  measures  as  outlined  in  the  AQMPs.  
Examples of such measures  include bus turnouts, energy‐efficient streetlights, and synchronized traffic 
signals.  In accordance with CEQA requirements and the CEQA review process, the City assesses the air 
quality  impacts of new development projects,  requires mitigation of potentially  significant air quality 
impacts  by  conditioning  discretionary  permits,  and  monitors  and  enforces  implementation  of  such 
mitigation. 

The Ontario Plan 2050, adopted August 16, 2022 sets forth the vision, governance, policy plan, priorities, 
implementation, and tacking that will direct the orderly and sustained future development of the City. 
The policy plan contains an Environmental Resources Element of which Air Quality is a component. The 
Air Quality Goal and supporting policies are shown below in Table E. 

Item E - 213 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 23 

 

Table E – The Ontario Plan 2050 Air Quality Policies 

Air Quality 
Resources  Description 

Goals   
ER‐4  Improved indoor and outdoor air quality and reduced locally generated pollutant emissions  
Policies   
ER‐4.1  Land Use.  We reduce GHG and other local pollutant emissions through compact, mixed use, and 

transit‐oriented development and development that improves the regional jobs‐housing balance.  
ER‐4.2  Sensitive Land Uses. We prohibit the future siting of sensitive land uses, within the distances 

defined by the California Air Resources Board for specific source categories, without sufficient 
mitigation  

ER‐4.3  Greenhouse Gases (GHG) Emissions Reductions. We will reduce GHG emissions in accordance 
with regional, state, and federal regulations.  

ER‐4.4  Indoor Air Quality. We will comply with State Green Building Codes relative to indoor air quality. 
We seek funding to improve indoor air quality for households with poor indoor air quality, with 
priority for lower income households in environmental justice areas.  

ER‐4.5  Transportation. We promote mass transit and non‐motorized mobility options (e.g. walking, 
biking) to reduce air pollutant emissions. 

ER‐4.6  Particulate Matter. We support efforts to reduce particulate matter to meet State and Federal 
Clean Air Standards.  

ER‐4.7  Other Agency Collaboration. We collaborate with other agencies within the South Coast Air Basin 
to improve regional air quality at the emission source.  

ER‐4.8  Tree Planting. We protect healthy trees within the City and plant new trees to increase carbon 
sequestration and help the regional/local air quality.  

ER‐4.9  New Localized Air Pollution Sources Near Existing Sensitive Receptors. We require new 
developments to conduct a Health Risk Assessment for land uses that generate more than 100 
trucks per day or 40 trucks per day by trucks operating transportation refrigeration units (TRU's) 
within 1,000 feet from sensitive land uses (California Health and Safety Code § 42705.5(a)(5)). If 
the health risk assessment determines the new development poses health hazards that increase 
the incremental cancer risk above the threshold established by the South Coast Air Quality 
Management District (AQMD), we will only approve permits upon the condition that adequate 
mitigation measures are proposed and implemented for potential impacts on the sensitive uses 
around the site and along the route within Ontario taken by the trucks to and from freeways. We 
require new developments that must perform a health risk assessment to conduct additional 
public outreach by sending notifications in multiple languages to all residents living within 500 
feet, and encourage hosting a public meeting. 

Source: The Ontario Plan 2050 (City of Ontario 2022) 

 

   

Item E - 214 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 24 

 

5.0  ENERGY CONSERVATION MANAGEMENT 

The  regulatory  setting  related  to  energy  conservation  is  primarily  addressed  through  State  and  City 
regulations, which are discussed below.  

5.1 State  

Energy conservation management  in  the State was  initiated by  the 1974 Warren‐Alquist State Energy 
Resources Conservation and Development Act that created the California Energy Resource Conservation 
and  Development  Commission  (currently  named  California  Energy  Commission  [CEC]),  which  was 
originally tasked with certifying new electric generating plants based on the need for the plant and the 
suitability  of  the  site  of  the  plant.    In  1976  the  Warren‐Alquist  Act  was  expanded  to  include  new 
restrictions on nuclear generating plants, that effectively resulted  in a moratorium of any new nuclear 
generating plants in the State. The following details specific regulations adopted by the State in order to 
reduce the consumption of energy. 

California Code of Regulations (CCR) Title 20  
On November 3, 1976 the CEC adopted the Regulations  for Appliance Efficiency Standards Relating to 
Refrigerators,  Refrigerator‐Freezers  and  Freezers  and  Air  Conditioners,  which  were  the  first  energy‐
efficiency standards for appliances.  The appliance efficiency regulations have been updated several times 
by the Commission and the most current version is the 2016 Appliance Efficiency Regulations, adopted 
January 2017 and now includes almost all types of appliances and lamps that use electricity, natural gas 
as well as plumbing fixtures. The authority for the CEC to control the energy‐efficiency of appliances  is 
detailed in California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 20, Division 2, Chapter 4, Article 4, Sections 1601‐
1609. 

California Code of Regulations (CCR) Title 24, Part 6  
CCR Title 24, Part 6: California’s Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and Nonresidential Buildings 
(Title 24) were first established in 1978 in response to a legislative mandate to reduce California’s energy 
consumption.  The California Energy Commission (CEC) is the agency responsible for the standards that 
are  updated  periodically  to  allow  consideration  and  possible  incorporation  of  new  energy  efficiency 
technologies and methods.  In 2008 the State set an energy‐use reduction goal of zero‐net‐energy use of 
all new homes by 2020 and the CEC was mandated to meet this goal through revisions to the Title 24, Part 
6 regulations. 

The Title 24 standards are updated on a three‐year schedule and since 2008 the standards have been 
incrementally moving to the 2020 goal of the zero‐net‐energy use.  The 2022 Title 24 standards are the 
current standards that went into effect on January 1, 2023.    

According  to  the  Title  24  Part  6  Fact  Sheet,  the CEC  estimates  that over  30  years  the  2022  Title  24 
standards will reduce GHG emissions by 16,230 MMTCO2e per year, when compared to the 2019 Title 24 
standards, which is equivalent of taking 3,641 gas cars off the road each year.  The 2022 Title 24 standards 
will: (1) Increase onsite renewable energy generation; (2) Increases electric load flexibility to support grid 
reliability; (3) Reduces emissions from newly constructed buildings; (4) Reduces air pollution for improved 
public health; and (5) Encourages adoption of environmentally beneficial efficient electric technologies. 

Item E - 215 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 25 

 

California Code of Regulations (CCR) Title 24, Part 11 
CCR Title 24, Part 11: California Green Building Standards (CalGreen Code) was developed in response to 
continued efforts to reduce GHG emissions associated with energy consumption. The CalGreen Code is 
also updated every three years and the current version is the 2022 CalGreen Code that went into effect 
on January 1, 2023. 

The CalGreen Code  contains  requirements  for  construction  site  selection;  storm water  control during 
construction;  construction  waste  reduction;  indoor  water  use  reduction;  material  selection;  natural 
resource  conservation;  site  irrigation  conservation;  and  more.  The  code  provides  for  design  options 
allowing the designer to determine how best to achieve compliance for a given site or building condition. 
The code also requires building commissioning, which is a process for verifying that all building systems 
(e.g., heating and cooling equipment and lighting systems) are functioning at their maximum efficiency. 

The CalGreen Code provides standards for bicycle parking, carpool/vanpool/electric vehicle spaces, light 
and  glare  reduction,  grading  and  paving,  energy  efficient  appliances,  renewable  energy,  graywater 
systems, water efficient plumbing fixtures, recycling and recycled materials, pollutant controls (including 
moisture control and indoor air quality), acoustical controls, storm water management, building design, 
insulation, flooring, and framing, among others. Implementation of the CalGreen Code measures reduces 
energy consumption and vehicle trips and encourages the use of alternative‐fuel vehicles, which reduces 
pollutant emissions.  

Some  of  the  notable  changes  in  the  2022  CalGreen  Code  over  the  prior  2019  CalGreen  Code  for 
nonresidential development mandatory requirements include repeal of the designated parking spaces for 
clean air vehicles, an  increase  in  the number of electric vehicle  (EV)  ready parking  spaces and a new 
requirement for installed Level 2 or DCFC EV charging stations for autos and added EV charging readiness 
requirements  to  loading docks, enhanced  thermal  insulation  requirements, and acoustical ceilings are 
now required.  

Executive Order N‐79‐20 
The California Governor  issued Executive Order N‐79‐20 on September 23, 2020  that requires all new 
passenger cars and trucks and commercial drayage trucks sold in California to be zero‐emissions by the 
year 2035 and all medium‐ heavy‐duty vehicles (commercial trucks) sold in the state to be zero‐emission 
by 2045 for all operations where feasible.  Executive Order N‐79‐20 also requires all off‐road vehicles and 
equipment to transition to 100 percent zero‐emission equipment, where feasible by 2035. 

Senate Bill 100  
Senate Bill 100 (SB 100) was adopted September 2018 and requires that by December 1, 2045 that 100 
percent of retail sales of electricity to be generated from renewable or zero‐carbon emission sources of 
electricity.  SB 100 supersedes the renewable energy requirements set by SB 350, SB 1078, SB 107, and 
SB  X1‐2.  However,  the  interim  renewable  energy  thresholds  from  the  prior  Bills  of  44  percent  by 
December 31, 2024, 52 percent by December 31, 2027, and 60 percent by December 31, 2030, will remain 
in effect. 

Executive Order B‐48‐18 and Assembly Bill 2127 
The California Governor issued Executive Order B‐48‐18 on January 26, 2018 that orders all state entities 
to work with the private sector to put at least five million zero‐emission vehicles on California roads by 
2030 and to install 200 hydrogen fueling stations and 250,000 electric vehicle chargers by 2025.  Currently 

Item E - 216 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 26 

 

there are approximately 350,000 electric vehicles operating in California, which represents approximately 
1.5 percent of the 24 million vehicles total currently operating in California.  Implementation of Executive 
Order B‐48‐18 would result in approximately 20 percent of all vehicles in California to be zero emission 
electric vehicles.   Assembly Bill 2127  (AB 2127) was codified  into statute on September 13, 2018 and 
requires  that  the  California  Energy  Commission working with  the  State Air Resources Board  prepare 
biannual assessments of  the  statewide electric vehicle  charging  infrastructure needed  to  support  the 
levels of zero emission vehicle adoption required for the State to meet its goals of putting at least 5 million 
zero‐emission vehicles on California roads by 2030. 

Assembly Bill 1109 
California Assembly Bill 1109 (AB 1109) was adopted October 2007, also known as the Lighting Efficiency 
and Toxics Reduction Act, prohibits the manufacturing of lights after January 1, 2010 that contain levels 
of hazardous substances prohibited by the European Union pursuant to the RoHS Directive.  AB 1109 also 
requires reductions in energy usage for lighting and is structured to reduce lighting electrical consumption 
by: (1) At least 50 percent reduction from 2007 levels for indoor residential lighting; and (2) At least 25 
percent  reduction  from 2007  levels  for  indoor commercial and all outdoor  lighting by 2018.   AB 1109 
would reduce GHG emissions  through  reducing  the amount of electricity required  to be generated by 
fossil fuels in California. 

Assembly Bill 1493 
California Assembly Bill 1493 (also known as the Pavley Bill, in reference to its author Fran Pavley) was 
enacted on July 22, 2002 and required CARB to develop and adopt regulations that reduce GHGs emitted 
by passenger vehicles and light duty trucks.  In 2004, CARB approved the “Pavley I” regulations limiting 
the amount of GHGs that may be released from new passenger automobiles that are being phased  in 
between model years 2009 through 2016.   These regulations will reduce GHG emissions by 30 percent 
from 2002  levels by 2016.  In  June 2009,  the EPA granted California  the authority  to  implement GHG 
emission  reduction standards  for  light duty vehicles,  in September 2009, amendments  to  the Pavley  I 
regulations were adopted by CARB and implementation of the “Pavley I” regulations started in 2009. 

The second set of regulations “Pavley II” was developed in 2010, and is being phased in between model 
years 2017 through 2025 with the goal of reducing GHG emissions by 45 percent by the year 2020 as 
compared to the 2002 fleet.  The Pavley II standards were developed by linking the GHG emissions and 
formerly separate toxic tailpipe emissions standards previously known as the “LEV III” (third stage of the 
Low Emission Vehicle standards) into a single regulatory framework. The new rules reduce emissions from 
gasoline‐powered  cars  as  well  as  promote  zero‐emissions  auto  technologies  such  as  electricity  and 
hydrogen, and through increasing the infrastructure for fueling hydrogen vehicles. In 2009, the U.S. EPA 
granted California the authority to implement the GHG standards for passenger cars, pickup trucks and 
sport utility vehicles and these GHG emissions standards are currently being implemented nationwide.  

The EPA has performed a midterm evaluation of the longer‐term standards for model years 2022‐2025, 
and based on the findings of this midterm evaluation, the EPA proposed The Safer Affordable Fuel Efficient 
(SAFE)  Vehicles  Proposed  Rule  for  Model  Years  2021‐2026  that  amends  the  corporate  average  fuel 
economy (CAFE) and GHG emissions standards for light vehicles for model years 2021 through 2026.  The 
SAFE Vehicles Rule was published on April 30, 2020 and made effective on June 29, 2020.  

Item E - 217 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 27 

 

5.2 Local ‐ City of Ontario 

The Ontario Plan 2050, adopted August 16, 2022, establishes energy conservation policies  in both the 
Environmental  Resources  Element  and  the  Safety  Element.    The  Environmental  Resources  Element 
purpose  states  that  support  system  integration,  resource  conservation  and  regeneration,  energy 
independence,  environmental  justice,  and  healthy  communities.    The  Safety  Element  purpose  is  to 
maintain an efficient and resilient energy supply for Ontario’s residents and businesses and helps ensure 
continuity of economic drivers and City operations.   Ontario attains energy resiliency through creating 
local, renewable energy and battery storage systems, constructing new buildings and retrofitting existing 
ones to use  less electricity and natural gas.   The applicable energy‐related goals and policies from The 
Ontario Plan 2050 are shown in Table F. 

Table F – The Ontario Plan 2050 Energy Conservation Policies 

Goal/Policy  Description 
Environmental Resources Element 
Goals   
ER3  Cost‐effective and reliable energy system sustained through a combination of low impact 

buildings, site and neighborhood energy conservation, and diverse sources of energy generation 
that collectively helps to minimize the region’s carbon footprint. 

Policies   
ER‐3.1  Conservation Strategy. We require conservation as the first strategy to be employed to meet 

applicable energy‐saving standards. 
ER‐3.2  Green Development– Communities. We encourage the use of the LEED Neighborhood 

Development rating system, or similar mechanism, to guide the planning and development of all 
new communities. 

ER‐3.3  Building and Site Design. We require new construction to incorporate energy efficient building 
and site design strategies, which could include appropriate solar orientation, maximum use of 
natural daylight, passive solar, and natural ventilation. 

ER‐3.4  Green Development– Public Buildings. We require all new and substantially renovated City 
buildings in excess of 10,000 square feet achieve a LEED Silver Certification standard, as 
determined by the U.S. Green Building Council. 

ER‐3.5  Fuel‐Efficient and Alternative Energy Vehicles and Equipment. We require purchase and use 
vehicles and equipment that are fuel efficient and meet or surpass state emissions requirements 
and/or use renewable sources of energy. 

ER‐3.6  Generation‐ Renewable Sources. We promote the use of renewable energy sources (e.g., solar, 
wind, biomass) in public and private sector development. 

Safety Element 
Goals 
S‐9  Incorporate energy efficient practices and renewable energy systems to improve air quality, 

comfort, and energy reliability during temporary power outages.  
Policies   
S‐9.1  Solar Energy. We support and may incentivize the installation of residential and commercial solar 

panels and battery storage systems that can provide electricity during power outages. 
S‐9.2  Renewable Energy. Renovate existing city‐owned facilities and plan future facilities to include 

renewable energy generation capacity and battery storage as part of an effort to make public 
facilities and services greener and more resilient to power outages. 

S‐9.3  Energy Efficiency Retrofits. We support and may incentivize retrofits to residential and 
commercial buildings that improve energy efficiency and insulation from extreme temperatures, 
giving priority towards low‐income applicants. 

Source: The Ontario Plan 2050 (City of Ontario 2022) 

Item E - 218 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 28 

 

6.0  GLOBAL CLIMATE CHANGE MANAGEMENT 

The  regulatory  setting  related  to  global  climate  change  is  addressed  through  the  efforts  of  various 
international, federal, state, regional, and local government agencies.  These agencies work jointly, as well 
as  individually,  to  reduce  GHG  emissions  through  legislation,  regulations,  planning,  policy‐making, 
education, and a variety of programs.  The agencies responsible for global climate change regulations are 
discussed below. 

6.1 International 

In 1988, the United Nations established the IPCC to evaluate the impacts of global climate change and to 
develop strategies that nations could  implement to curtail global climate change.    In 1992, the United 
States joined other countries around the world in signing the United Nations’ Framework Convention on 
Climate Change  (UNFCCC) agreement with  the goal of  controlling GHG emissions.   The parties of  the 
UNFCCC  adopted  the  Kyoto  Protocol,  which  set  binding  GHG  reduction  targets  for  37  industrialized 
countries, the objective of reducing their collective GHG emissions by five percent below 1990 levels by 
2012.   The Kyoto Protocol has been ratified by 182 countries, but has not been ratified by the United 
States.    It should be noted that Japan and Canada opted out of the Kyoto Protocol and the remaining 
developed countries that ratified the Kyoto Protocol have not met their Kyoto targets. The Kyoto Protocol 
expired in 2012 and the amendment for the second commitment period from 2013 to 2020 has not yet 
entered into legal force.  The Parties to the Kyoto Protocol negotiated the Paris Agreement in December 
2015, agreeing to set a goal of limiting global warming to less than 2 degrees Celsius compared with pre‐
industrial levels. The Paris Agreement has been adopted by 195 nations with 147 ratifying it, including the 
United States by President Obama, who ratified it by Executive Order on September 3, 2016.  On June 1, 
2017, President Trump announced that the United States is withdrawing from the Paris Agreement and 
on January 21, 2021 President Biden signed an executive order rejoining the Paris Agreement. 

Additionally, the Montreal Protocol was originally signed in 1987 and substantially amended in 1990 and 
1992.  The Montreal Protocol stipulates that the production and consumption of compounds that deplete 
ozone  in  the  stratosphere—CFCs,  halons,  carbon  tetrachloride,  and  methyl  chloroform—were  to  be 
phased out, with the first three by the year 2000 and methyl chloroform by 2005. 

6.2 Federal – United States Environmental Protection Agency 

The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is responsible for implementing federal policy 
to address global climate change.   The Federal government administers a wide array of public‐private 
partnerships to reduce U.S. GHG intensity.  These programs focus on energy efficiency, renewable energy, 
methane, and other non‐CO2 gases, agricultural practices and implementation of technologies to achieve 
GHG  reductions.    EPA  implements  several  voluntary  programs  that  substantially  contribute  to  the 
reduction of GHG emissions. 

In Massachusetts v. Environmental Protection Agency (Docket No. 05–1120), argued November 29, 2006 
and decided April 2, 2007,  the U.S.  Supreme Court held  that not only did  the EPA have authority  to 
regulate greenhouse gases, but the EPA's reasons  for not regulating this area did not  fit the statutory 
requirements.  As such, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that the EPA should be required to regulate CO2 
and other greenhouse gases as pollutants under the federal Clean Air Act (CAA). 

Item E - 219 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 29 

 

In  response  to  the  FY2008  Consolidations  Appropriations  Act  (H.R.  2764;  Public  Law  110‐161),  EPA 
proposed  a  rule on March 10, 2009  that  requires mandatory  reporting of GHG emissions  from  large 
sources in the United States.  On September 22, 2009, the Final Mandatory Reporting of GHG Rule was 
signed and published in the Federal Register on October 30, 2009.  The rule became effective on December 
29, 2009.   This rule requires suppliers of fossil fuels or  industrial GHGs, manufacturers of vehicles and 
engines, and facilities that emit 25,000 metric tons or more per year of GHG emissions to submit annual 
reports to EPA. 

On December 7, 2009,  the EPA Administrator signed  two distinct  findings under section 202(a) of  the 
Clean Air Act.  One is an endangerment finding that finds concentrations of the six GHGs in the atmosphere 
threaten  the  public  health  and  welfare  of  current  and  future  generations.    The  other  is  a  cause  or 
contribute  finding,  that  finds  emissions  from  new  motor  vehicles  and  new  motor  vehicle  engines 
contribute to the GHG pollution which threatens public health and welfare.  These actions did not impose 
any requirements on  industry or other entities, however, since 2009 the EPA has been providing GHG 
emission standards for vehicles and other stationary sources of GHG emissions that are regulated by the 
EPA. On September 13, 2013 the EPA Administrator signed 40 CFR Part 60, that limits emissions from new 
sources to 1,100 pounds of CO2 per MWh for fossil fuel‐fired utility boilers and 1,000 pounds of CO2 per 
MWh for large natural gas‐fired combustion units.   

On August 3, 2015, the EPA announced the Clean Power Plan, emissions guidelines for U.S. states to follow 
in developing plans to reduce GHG emissions from existing fossil fuel‐fired power plants (Federal Register 
Vol. 80, No. 205, October 23 2015).   On October 11, 2017, the EPA issued a formal proposal to repeal the 
Clean Power Plan and on June 19, 2019 the EPA replaced the Clean Power Plan with the Affordable Clean 
Energy rule that is anticipated to lower power sector GHG emissions by 11 million tons by the year 2030. 

On April 30, 2020, the EPA and the National Highway Safety Administration published the Final Rule for 
the Safer Affordable Fuel‐Efficient (SAFE) Vehicles Rule for Model Years 2021‐2026 Passenger Cars and 
Light Trucks (SAFE Vehicles Rule). Part One of the Rule revokes California’s authority to set its own GHG 
emissions  standards  and  zero‐emission  vehicle mandates  in California, which  results  in one  emission 
standard to be used nationally for all passenger cars and light trucks that is set by the EPA. 

6.3 State  

The CARB has the primary responsible for  implementing state policy to address global climate change, 
however  there  are  State  regulations  related  to  global  climate  change  that  affect  a  variety  of  State 
agencies.  CARB, which is a part of the California Environmental Protection Agency, is responsible for the 
coordination  and  administration  of  both  the  federal  and  state  air  pollution  control  programs within 
California.    In  this  capacity,  the CARB  conducts  research,  sets CAAQS,  compiles emission  inventories, 
develops  suggested control measures, provides oversight of  local programs, and prepares  the SIP.    In 
addition,  the  CARB  establishes  emission  standards  for  motor  vehicles  sold  in  California,  consumer 
products  (e.g. hairspray, aerosol paints, and barbeque  lighter  fluid), and various  types of  commercial 
equipment.  It also sets fuel specifications to further reduce vehicular emissions. 

In 2008, CARB approved a Climate Change Scoping Plan that proposes a “comprehensive set of actions 
designed  to  reduce overall carbon GHG emissions  in California,  improve our environment,  reduce our 
dependence on oil, diversify our energy sources, save energy, create new jobs, and enhance public health” 
(CARB 2008). The Climate Change Scoping Plan has a range of GHG reduction actions which include direct 
regulations;  alternative  compliance  mechanisms;  monetary  and  non‐monetary  incentives;  voluntary 

Item E - 220 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 30 

 

actions; market‐based mechanisms such as a cap‐and‐trade system.  In 2014, CARB approved  the First 
Update  to  the Climate Change Scoping Plan  (CARB, 2014)  that  identifies additional  strategies moving 
beyond the 2020 targets to the year 2050. On December 14, 2017 CARB adopted the California’s 2017 
Climate Change Scoping Plan, November 2017 (CARB, 2017) that provides specific statewide policies and 
measures to achieve the 2030 GHG reduction target of 40 percent below 1990  levels by 2030 and the 
aspirational 2050 GHG reduction target of 80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050.  On December 15, 2022, 
CARB adopted the 2022 Scoping Plan for Achieving Carbon Neutrality, November 16, 2022 (CARB, 2022) 
that lays out a path to achieve targets for carbon neutrality and reduce anthropogenic GHG emissions by 
85 percent below 1990 levels no later than 2045, as directed by Assembly Bill 1279. 

In addition to the Scoping Plans, the State has passed the following laws directing CARB to develop actions 
to reduce GHG emissions, which are listed below in chronological order, with the most current first. 

Executive Order B‐55‐18 and Assembly Bill 1279 
The  California  Governor  issued  Executive  Order  B‐55‐18  in  September  2018  that  establishes  a  new 
statewide goal to achieve carbon neutrality as soon as possible, but no later than 2045.  This executive 
order directs CARB to work with relevant State agencies to develop a framework for implementation and 
accounting  that  tracks progress  toward  this goal as well as ensuring  future scoping plans  identify and 
recommend measures  to  achieve  this  carbon  neutrality  goal. Assembly  Bill  1279 was  passed  by  the 
legislature in September 2022 that codifies the carbon neutrality targets provided in Executive Order B‐
55‐18.  The 2022 Scoping Plan for Achieving Carbon Neutrality, adopted by CARB on December 16, 2022, 
was prepared in order to meet the carbon neutrality goal targets developed in Executive Order B‐55‐18 
and codified in Assembly Bill 1279. 

Executive Order N‐79‐20 
EO N‐79‐20 establish targets for when all new vehicles and equipment are zero‐emission and is described 
in more detail above in Section 5.1 under Energy Conservation Management. 

California Code of Regulations (CCR) Title 24, Part 6  
The Title 24 Part 6 standards have been developed by the CEC primarily for energy conservation and is 
described in more detail above in Section 5.1 under Energy Conservation Management.  It should be noted 
that implementation of the Title 24 Part 6 building standards would also reduce GHG emissions, since as 
detailed  above  in  Section  3.3  Greenhouse  Gas  Emissions  Inventory,  energy  use  for  residential  and 
commercial buildings creates 9.7 percent of the GHG emissions in the State. 

California Code of Regulations (CCR) Title 24, Part 11 
The CalGreen Building standards have been developed by the CEC primarily for energy conservation and 
is described in more detail above in Section 5.1 under Energy Conservation Management.  It should be 
noted that implementation of the CalGreen Building standards would also reduce GHG emissions, since 
as detailed above under Title 24, Part 6, energy usage from buildings creates 9.7 percent of GHG emissions 
in the State. 

Senate Bill 100  
SB 100 requires that by December 1, 2045 that 100 percent of retail sales of electricity to be generated 
from renewable or zero‐carbon emission sources of electricity and is described in more detail above in 
Section 5.1 under Energy Conservation Management. 

Item E - 221 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 31 

 

Executive Order B‐48‐18 and Assembly Bill 2127 
Executive Order B‐48‐18 and AB 2127 provides measures to put at least five million zero‐emission vehicles 
on California  roads by 2030 and  to  install 200 hydrogen  fueling  stations and 250,000 electric vehicle 
chargers  by  2025  and  is  described  in  more  detail  above  in  Section  5.1  under  Energy  Conservation 
Management. 

Executive Order B‐30‐15, Senate Bill 32 and Assembly Bill 197 
The California Governor issued Executive Order B‐30‐15 on April 29, 2015 that aims to reduce California’s 
GHG  emissions  40  percent  below  1990  levels  by  2030.    This  executive  order  aligns  California’s GHG 
reduction targets with those of other international governments, such as the European Union that set the 
same target for 2030  in October, 2014.   This target will make  it possible to reach the ultimate goal of 
reducing GHG emissions 80 percent under 1990 levels by 2050 that is based on scientifically established 
levels needed in the U.S.A to limit global warming below 2 degrees Celsius – the warming threshold at 
which scientists say there will likely be major climate disruptions such as super droughts and rising sea 
levels.  Assembly Bill 197 (AB 197) (September 8, 2016) and Senate Bill 32 (SB 32) (September 8, 2016) 
codified into statute the GHG emissions reduction targets of at least 40 percent below 1990 levels by 2030 
as detailed in Executive Order B‐30‐15.  AB 197 also requires additional GHG emissions reporting that is 
broken down to sub‐county levels and requires CARB to consider the social costs of emissions impacting 
disadvantaged communities. 

Executive Order B‐29‐15 
The California Governor  issued Executive Order B‐29‐15 on April 1, 2015 and directed the State Water 
Resources Control Board  to  impose  restrictions  to achieve a  statewide 25%  reduction  in urban water 
usage and directed the Department of Water Resources to replace 50 million square feet of  lawn with 
drought  tolerant  landscaping  through  an  update  to  the  State’s  Model  Water  Efficient  Landscape 
Ordinance. The Ordinance also  requires  installation of more efficient  irrigation systems, promotion of 
greywater usage and onsite stormwater capture, and limits the turf planted in new residential landscapes 
to 25 percent of the total area and restricts turf from being planted in median strips or in parkways unless 
the parkway is next to a parking strip and a flat surface is required to enter and exit vehicles. Executive 
Order B‐29‐15 would reduce GHG emissions associated with the energy used to transport and filter water. 

Assembly Bill 341 and Senate Bills 939 and 1374 
Senate Bill 939  (SB 939) requires that each  jurisdiction  in California to divert at  least 50 percent of  its 
waste away from landfills, whether through waste reduction, recycling or other means.  Senate Bill 1374 
(SB 1374) requires the California Integrated Waste Management Board to adopt a model ordinance by 
March  1,  2004  suitable  for  adoption  by  any  local  agency  to  require  50  to  75  percent  diversion  of 
construction and demolition of waste materials from landfills.  Assembly Bill 341 (AB 341) was adopted in 
2011 and builds upon the waste reduction measures of SB 939 and 1374, and sets a new target of a 75 
percent reduction in solid waste generated by the year 2020. 

Senate Bill 375 
Senate Bill 375 (SB 375) was adopted September 2008 in order to support the State’s climate action goals 
to  reduce  GHG  emissions  from  transportation  sources  through  coordinated  regional  transportation 
planning efforts, regional GHG emission reduction targets, and land use and housing allocation.  SB 375 
requires CARB to set regional targets for GHG emissions reductions from passenger vehicle use. In 2010, 
CARB established targets for 2020 and 2035 for each Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPO) within 

Item E - 222 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 32 

 

the State. It was up to each MPO to adopt a sustainable communities strategy (SCS) that will prescribe 
land use allocation in that MPOs Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) to meet CARB’s 2020 and 2035 GHG 
emission reduction targets.  These reduction targets are required to be updated every eight years and the 
most  current  targets  are  detailed  at:  https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our‐work/programs/sustainable‐
communities‐program/regional‐plan‐targets, which provides GHG emissions reduction targets for SCAG 
of 8 percent by 2020 and 19 percent by 2035.   

The Connect SoCal (SCAG, 2020) provides a 2035 GHG emission reduction target of 19 percent reduction 
over  the  2005  per  capita  emissions  levels.    The  Connect  SoCal  include  new  initiatives  of  land  use, 
transportation and technology to meet the 2035 new 19 percent GHG emission reduction target for 2035.  
CARB is also charged with reviewing SCAG’s RTP/SCS for consistency with its assigned targets.     

City and County land use policies, including General Plans, are not required to be consistent with the RTP 
and  associated  SCS.    However,  new  provisions  of  CEQA  incentivize,  through  streamlining  and  other 
provisions, qualified projects that are consistent with an approved SCS and categorized as “transit priority 
projects.” 

Assembly Bill 1109 
AB 1109 requires reductions in energy usage for lighting and is described in more detail above in Section 
5.1 under Energy Conservation Management. 

Executive Order S‐1‐07 
Executive Order S‐1‐07 was issued in 2007 and proclaims that the transportation sector is the main source 
of GHG emissions in the State, since it generates more than 40 percent of the State’s GHG emissions.  It 
establishes a goal to reduce the carbon intensity of transportation fuels sold in the State by at least ten 
percent by 2020.   This Executive Order also directs CARB  to determine whether  this Low Carbon Fuel 
Standard (LCFS) could be adopted as a discrete early‐action measure as part of the effort to meet the 
mandates in AB 32. 

In 2009 CARB approved the proposed regulation to implement the LCFS.  The standard was challenged in 
the courts, but has been  in effect  since 2011 and was  re‐approved by  the CARB  in 2015. The LCFS  is 
anticipated to reduce GHG emissions by about 16 MMT per year by 2020.  The LCFS is designed to provide 
a framework that uses market mechanisms to spur the steady introduction of  lower carbon fuels.   The 
framework establishes performance standards that  fuel producers and  importers must meet annually.  
Reformulated gasoline mixed with corn‐derived ethanol and low‐sulfur diesel fuel represent the baseline 
fuels.    Lower  carbon  fuels may be ethanol, biodiesel,  renewable diesel, or blends of  these  fuels with 
gasoline  or  diesel.  Compressed  natural  gas  and  liquefied  natural  gas  also  may  be  low‐carbon  fuels.  
Hydrogen and electricity, when used in fuel cells or electric vehicles, are also considered as low‐carbon 
fuels. 

Senate Bill 97 
Senate Bill 97 (SB 97) was adopted August 2007 and acknowledges that climate change  is a prominent 
environmental issue that requires analysis under CEQA.  SB 97 directed the Governor’s Office of Planning 
and  Research  (OPR), which  is  part  of  the  State Natural  Resources Agency,  to  prepare,  develop,  and 
transmit to CARB guidelines for the feasible mitigation of GHG emissions or the effects of GHG emissions, 
as required by CEQA, by July 1, 2009.  The Natural Resources Agency was required to certify and adopt 
those guidelines by January 1, 2010. 

Item E - 223 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 33 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of SB 97 as stated above, on December 30, 2009 the Natural Resources 
Agency adopted amendments to the State CEQA guidelines that addresses GHG emissions.   The CEQA 
Guidelines Amendments changed 14 sections of  the CEQA Guidelines and  incorporated GHG  language 
throughout the Guidelines.  However, no GHG emissions thresholds of significance were provided and no 
specific mitigation measures were identified.  The GHG emission reduction amendments went into effect 
on March 18, 2010 and are summarized below: 

 Climate Action Plans and other greenhouse gas reduction plans can be used to determine whether 
a project has significant impacts, based upon its compliance with the plan. 

 Local governments are encouraged to quantify the GHG emissions of proposed projects, noting 
that they have the freedom to select the models and methodologies that best meet their needs 
and circumstances.  The section also recommends consideration of several qualitative factors that 
may be used in the determination of significance, such as the extent to which the given project 
complies with state, regional, or  local GHG reduction plans and policies.   OPR does not set or 
dictate  specific  thresholds  of  significance.    Consistent  with  existing  CEQA  Guidelines,  OPR 
encourages  local governments  to develop and publish  their own  thresholds of significance  for 
GHG impacts assessment. 

 When  creating  their  own  thresholds  of  significance,  local  governments  may  consider  the 
thresholds of significance adopted or recommended by other public agencies, or recommended 
by experts. 

 New amendments  include guidelines  for determining methods  to mitigate  the effects of GHG 
emissions in Appendix F of the CEQA Guidelines. 

 OPR is clear to state that “to qualify as mitigation, specific measures from an existing plan must 
be identified and incorporated into the project; general compliance with a plan, by itself, is not 
mitigation.” 

 OPR’s emphasizes the advantages of analyzing GHG  impacts on an  institutional, programmatic 
level.  OPR therefore approves tiering of environmental analyses and highlights some benefits of 
such an approach. 

 Environmental  impact  reports  must  specifically  consider  a  project's  energy  use  and  energy 
efficiency potential. 

Assembly Bill 32 
In 2006, the California State Legislature adopted AB 32, the California Global Warming Solutions Act of 
2006.  AB 32 requires CARB, to adopt rules and regulations that would achieve GHG emissions equivalent 
to statewide levels in 1990 by 2020 through an enforceable statewide emission cap.  Emission reductions 
include  carbon  sequestration  projects  that  remove  carbon  from  the  atmosphere  and  utilize  best 
management practices that are technologically feasible and cost effective. 

In  2007  CARB  released  the  calculated  Year  1990 GHG  emissions  of  431 million metric  tons  of  CO2e 
(MMTCO2e).  The 2020 target of 431 MMTCO2e requires the reduction of 78 MMTCO2e, or approximately 
16 percent from the State’s projected 2020 business as usual emissions of 509 MMTCO2e (CARB, 2014).  
Under AB 32, CARB was required to adopt regulations by January 1, 2011 to achieve reductions in GHGs 
to meet the 1990 cap by 2020.   Early measures CARB took to  lower GHG emissions  included requiring 
operators of the largest industrial facilities that emit 25,000 metric tons of CO2 in a calendar year to submit 
verification of GHG emissions by December 1, 2010.  The CARB Board also approved nine discrete early 

Item E - 224 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 34 

 

action measures that include regulations affecting landfills, motor vehicle fuels, refrigerants in cars, port 
operations and other sources, all of which became enforceable by January 1, 2010. 

Assembly Bill 1493 
AB 1493 or the Pavley Bill sets tailpipe GHG emissions limits for passenger vehicles in California as well as 
fuel economy standards and is described in more detail above in Section 5.1 under Energy Conservation 
Management. 

6.4 Regional – Southern California  

The SCAQMD is the agency principally responsible for comprehensive air pollution control in the South 
Coast Air Basin.  To that end, as a regional agency, the SCAQMD works directly with the Southern California 
Association  of Governments  (SCAG),  county  transportation  commissions,  and  local  governments  and 
cooperates actively with all federal and state agencies. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District 
SCAQMD  develops  rules  and  regulations,  establishes  permitting  requirements  for  stationary  sources, 
inspects emission  sources, and enforces  such measures  through educational programs or  fines, when 
necessary.  SCAQMD is directly responsible for reducing emissions from stationary, mobile, and indirect 
sources.   The SCAQMD  is also responsible  for GHG emissions  for projects where  it  is  the  lead agency. 
However, for other projects in the SCAB where it is not the lead agency, it is limited to providing resources 
to other lead agencies in order to assist them in determining GHG emission thresholds and GHG reduction 
measures.  In 2008 SCAQMD adopted a 10,000 MTCO2e annual threshold for  industrial projects, where 
SCAQMD is the lead agency. 

Southern California Association of Governments 
The SCAG  is the regional planning agency for Los Angeles, Orange, Ventura, Riverside, San Bernardino, 
and Imperial Counties and addresses regional issues relating to transportation, the economy, community 
development and the environment.  SCAG is the federally designated Metropolitan Planning Organization 
(MPO) for the majority of the southern California region and is the largest MPO in the nation.  With respect 
to  air  quality  planning,  SCAG  has  prepared  the  Connect  SoCal  and  2019  FTIP  addresses  regional 
development and growth forecasts.   Although the Connect SoCal and 2019 FTIP are primarily planning 
documents for future transportation projects a key component of these plans are to integrate land use 
planning with transportation planning that promotes higher density infill development in close proximity 
to existing transit service.  These plans form the basis for the land use and transportation components of 
the AQMP, which are utilized  in the preparation of air quality forecasts and  in the consistency analysis 
included  in the AQMP.   The Connect SoCal, 2019FTIP, and AQMP are based on projections originating 
within the City and County General Plans. 

6.5 Local – City of Ontario 

On August 16, 2022, the City of Ontario adopted the Ontario Community Climate Action Plan (2022 CCAP) 
in order to update the community’s strategic path to reducing GHG emissions beyond 2020, consistent 
with  the  State  requirements  provided  in  Senate  Bill  32,  Executive  Orders  S‐3‐05  and  B‐55‐18,  and 
California Public Resources Code Section 21083.3. The 2022 CCAP provides strategies to meet or exceed 
the State targets of reducing emissions 40 percent below 1990 levels by 2030 and 80 percent below 1990 
levels by 2050.  The 2022 CCAP is summarized in Section 5.8 of the Supplemental Environmental Impact 
Report for The Ontario Plan 2050.  The 2022 CCAP details that the measures provided are not substantially 

Item E - 225 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 35 

 

different than those of the 2014 CCAP, and therefore there  is no change  in the environmental  impacts 
associated with the 2022 CCAP.   

The 2014 CCAP includes local measures in addition to existing state measures that would result in GHG 
emissions reductions. To supplement statewide  initiatives, the City has  identified a series of reduction 
measures that are either currently being implemented or would be implemented by the City before 2020. 
The  reduction measures are grouped  into nine broad  sectors  that would affect emissions  throughout 
community activities. The measures include programs that improve building energy efficiency, increase 
use of public and active transit and decrease VMT, increase use of alternative‐fueled vehicles, increase 
use of renewable energy, reduce water consumption, and reduce waste.   

 

   

Item E - 226 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 36 

 

7.0  ATMOSPHERIC SETTING 

7.1 South Coast Air Basin 

The project site  is  located within western San Bernardino County, which  is part of the South Coast Air 
Basin  (Air Basin)  that  includes  the non‐desert portions of Riverside, San Bernardino, and  Los Angeles 
Counties and all of Orange County.   The Air Basin  is  located on a coastal plain with connecting broad 
valleys and low hills to the east.  Regionally, the Air Basin is bounded by the Pacific Ocean to the southwest 
and high mountains to the east forming the inland perimeter.     

7.2 Local Climate 

The  climate of western San Bernardino County,  technically  called an  interior valley  subclimate of  the 
Southern  California’s  Mediterranean‐type  climate,  is  characterized  by  hot  dry  summers,  mild  moist 
winters with  infrequent  rainfall, moderate afternoon breezes, and generally  fair weather.   Occasional 
periods of strong Santa Ana winds and winter storms interrupt the otherwise mild weather pattern.  The 
clouds and fog that form along the area’s coastline rarely extend as far inland as western San Bernardino 
County.   When morning  clouds and  fog  form,  they  typically burn off quickly after  sunrise.   The most 
important weather pattern from an air quality perspective  is associated with the warm season airflow 
across the densely populated areas located west of the project site.  This airflow brings polluted air into 
western  San Bernardino County  late  in  the afternoon.   This  transport pattern  creates unhealthful air 
quality that may extend to the project site particularly during the summer months.   

Winds are an important parameter in characterizing the air quality environment of a project site because 
they both determine the regional pattern of air pollution transport and control the rate of dispersion near 
a source.  Daytime winds in western San Bernardino County are usually light breezes from off the coast as 
air moves regionally onshore from the cool Pacific Ocean to the warm Mojave Desert interior of Southern 
California. These winds allow  for good  local mixing, but as discussed above,  these coastal winds carry 
significant  amounts  of  industrial  and  automobile  air  pollutants  from  the  densely  urbanized  western 
portion of the Air Basin into the interior valleys which become trapped by the mountains that border the 
eastern and northern edges of the Air Basin.  

In the summer, strong temperature inversions may occur that limit the vertical depth through which air 
pollution can be dispersed.   Air pollutants concentrate because they cannot rise through the  inversion 
layer and disperse.  These inversions are more common and persistent during the summer months.  Over 
time,  sunlight  produces  photochemical  reactions  within  this  inversion  layer  that  creates  ozone,  a 
particularly harmful air pollutant.   Occasionally, strong thermal convections occur which allows the air 
pollutants to rise high enough to pass over the mountains and ultimately dilute the smog cloud.   

In the winter, light nocturnal winds result mainly from the drainage of cool air off of the mountains toward 
the valley floor while the air aloft over the valley remains warm. This forms a type of inversion known as 
a  radiation  inversion.    Such  winds  are  characterized  by  stagnation  and  poor  local  mixing  and  trap 
pollutants such as automobile exhaust near their source.  While these inversions may lead to air pollution 
“hot spots” in heavily developed coastal areas of the Air Basin, there is not enough traffic in inland valleys 
to cause any winter air pollution problems.  Despite light wind conditions, especially at night and in the 
early morning, winter is generally a period of good air quality in the project vicinity. 

Item E - 227 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 37 

 

The temperature and precipitation levels for Upland Station, which is the nearest weather station to the 
project site with historical data  is shown below  in Table G.   Table G shows that August  is typically the 
warmest  month  and  December  is  typically  the  coolest  month.    Rainfall  in  the  project  area  varies 
considerably in both time and space.  Almost all the annual rainfall comes from the fringes of mid‐latitude 
storms from late November to early April, with summers being almost completely dry.   

Table G – Monthly Climate Data 

Month 
Average Maximum 
Temperature (°F) 

Average Minimum 
Temperature (°F) 

Average Total Precipitation 
(inches) 

January  63.7  39.9  4.46 
February  66.6  41.3  4.29 
March  67.8  41.8  3.57 
April  72.5  43.9  1.43 
May  77.0  48.6  0.51 
June  84.4  52.8  0.08 
July  92.4  57.7  0.05 
August  91.9  58.5  0.13 
September  88.0  56.3  0.46 
October  80.1  50.8  0.97 
November  70.1  44.7  2.20 
December  64.3  40.2  2.75 
Annual  76.6  48.0  20.30 
Source: https://wrcc.dri.edu/cgi‐bin/cliMAIN.pl?ca9158 

 

7.3 Monitored Local Air Quality 

The air quality at any site is dependent on the regional air quality and local pollutant sources.  Regional 
air quality is determined by the release of pollutants throughout the Air Basin.  Estimates of the existing 
emissions  in  the Air Basin provided  in  the 2022 AQMP,  found  that 80 percent of NOx emissions  are 
generated from heavy‐duty trucks, ships, airplanes, locomotives and construction equipment.  

SCAQMD has divided the Air Basin into 38 air‐monitoring areas with a designated ambient air monitoring 
station representative of each area.  The project site is located on the northwestern edge of air monitoring 
area 33, which covers the southwestern portion of San Bernardino County. The nearest air monitoring 
station  to  the  project  site  is  the  Upland  Monitoring  Station  (Upland  Station),  which  is  located 
approximately 4.4 miles north of  the project site at 1350 San Bernardino Rd, Upland, CA 91786.   The 
monitoring data is presented in Table H and shows the most recent three years of monitoring data from 
CARB.   

 

 

 

 

Item E - 228 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 38 

 

Table H – Local Area Air Quality Monitoring Summary 

Pollutant  (Standard) 
Year1 

2019  2020  2021 

Ozone:      

Maximum 1‐Hour Concentration (ppm)  0.131  0.158  0.124 

  Days > CAAQS (0.09 ppm)  31  82  42 

Maximum 8‐Hour Concentration (ppm)  0.107  0.123  0.100 

  Days > NAAQS (0.070 ppm)  52  116  78 

  Days > CAAQs (0.070 ppm)  54  118  81 

Nitrogen Dioxide:        

Maximum 1‐Hour Concentration (ppb)  57.9  55.4  64.6 

  Days > NAAQS (100 ppb)  0  0  0 

  Days > CAAQS (180 ppb)  0  0  0 

Inhalable Particulates (PM10) :       

Maximum 24‐Hour National Measurement (ug/m3)  125.9  174.8  124.3 

  Days > NAAQS (150 ug/m3)  0  1  0 

  Days > CAAQS (50 ug/m3)  ND  ND  ND 

Annual Arithmetic Mean (AAM) (ug/m3)  29.0  33.5  32.6 

  Annual > NAAQS (50 ug/m3)  No  No  No 

  Annual > CAAQS (20 ug/m3)  Yes  Yes  Yes 

Ultra‐Fine Particulates (PM2.5):       

Maximum 24‐Hour National Measurement (ug/m3)  91.1  74.0  83.8 

  Days > NAAQS (35 ug/m3)   ND  ND  ND 

Annual Arithmetic Mean (AAM) (ug/m3)  ND  ND  ND 

  Annual > NAAQS and CAAQS (12 ug/m3)  ND  ND  ND 
Notes: Exceedances are listed in bold.  CAAQS = California Ambient Air Quality Standard; NAAQS = National Ambient Air Quality Standard; ppm = 
parts per million; ppb = parts per billion; ND = no data available. 
1  Data obtained from the Upland Station. 
Source: http://www.arb.ca.gov/adam/ 

 

Ozone  
The State 1‐hour concentration standard for ozone has been exceeded between 31 and 82 days each year 
over the past three years at the Upland Station.   The State 8‐hour ozone standard has been exceeded 
between 54 and 118 days each year over the past three years at the Upland Station.  The Federal 8‐hour 
ozone standard has been exceeded between 52 and 116 days each year over the past three years at the 
Upland Station. 

Ozone  is a  secondary pollutant as  it  is not directly emitted. Ozone  is  the  result of chemical  reactions 
between other pollutants, most importantly hydrocarbons and NO2, which occur only in the presence of 
bright sunlight. Pollutants emitted from upwind cities react during transport downwind to produce the 
oxidant concentrations experienced  in  the area.   Many areas of Southern California contribute  to  the 

Item E - 229 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 39 

 

ozone levels experienced at this monitoring station, with the more significant areas being those directly 
upwind. 

Nitrogen Dioxide 
The Upland Station did not record an exceedance of either the Federal or State 1‐hour NO2 standards for 
the last three years. 

Particulate Matter 
No data was available for the number of days of exceedance of the State 24‐hour concentration standard 
for PM10 at the Upland Station for the past three years.  Over the past three years the Federal 24‐hour 
standard for PM10 has been exceeded for only one day in 2020 at the Upland Station.  The annual PM10 
concentration at the Upland Station has exceeded the State standard for the past three years and has not 
exceeded the Federal standard for the past three years.   

No data was available for the number of days of exceedance of the State or federal 24‐hour and annual 
concentration standards for PM2.5 at the Upland Station for the past three years.  There does not appear 
to be a noticeable  trend  for PM10 or PM2.5  in either maximum particulate concentrations or days of 
exceedances in the area.  Particulate levels in the area are due to natural sources, grading operations, and 
motor vehicles. 

According to the EPA, some people are much more sensitive than others to breathing fine particles (PM10 
and PM2.5).  People with influenza, chronic respiratory and cardiovascular diseases, and the elderly may 
suffer worsening illness and premature death due to breathing these fine particles.  People with bronchitis 
can expect aggravated symptoms from breathing  in fine particles.   Children may experience decline  in 
lung function due to breathing in PM10 and PM2.5.  Other groups considered sensitive are smokers and 
people who cannot breathe well through their noses.  Exercising athletes are also considered sensitive, 
because many breathe through their mouths during exercise. 

7.4 Toxic Air Contaminant Levels in the Air Basin 

In order to determine the Air Basin‐wide risks associated with major airborne carcinogens, the SCAQMD 
conducted  the Multiple Air Toxics Exposure Study  (MATES)  studies.   According  to  the MATES V  study 
(SCAQMD, 2021), the northern portion of the project site has an estimated cancer risk of 580 per million 
persons chance of cancer and the southern portion of the project site has an estimated cancer risk of 639 
per million persons.  In comparison, the average cancer risk for the Air Basin is 455 per million persons.  
The MATES V study monitored air toxins between May 1, 2018 to April 30, 2019, found that cancer risk 
from air toxics has declined significantly in the Air Basin with a 40 percent decrease in cancer risk since 
the monitoring for the MATES IV study that occurred between July 1, 2012 and June 30, 2013 and an 84 
percent decrease in cancer risk since the monitoring for the MATES II study that occurred between April 
1, 1998 and March 31, 1999. 

The  MATES  V  study  also  analyzed  impacts  specific  to  the  communities  experiencing  environmental 
injustices  (EJ communities)  that were evaluated using  the Senate Bill 535 definition of disadvantaged 
communities, which found that between MATES IV and MATES V, the cancer risk from air toxics decreased 
by 57 percent in EJ communities overall, compared to a 53 percent reduction in non‐EJ communities.  

In order to provide a perspective of risk, it is often estimated that the incidence in cancer over a lifetime 
for the U.S. population ranges between 1 in 3 to 4 and 1 in 3, or a risk of about 300,000 per million persons. 

Item E - 230 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 40 

 

The MATES‐III study referenced a Harvard Report on Cancer Prevention, which estimated that of cancers 
associated with known risk factors, about 30 percent were related to tobacco, about 30 percent were 
related to diet and obesity, and about 2 percent were associated with environmental pollution related 
exposures that includes hazardous air pollutants.  

Item E - 231 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 41 

 

8.0  MODELING PARAMETERS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

8.1 CalEEMod Model Input Parameters  

The criteria air pollution and GHG emissions impacts created by the proposed project have been analyzed 
through  use  of  CalEEMod  Version  2022.1.1.5,  CalEEMod  Version  2022.1.1.5  is  a  computer  model 
published by the California Air Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA) for estimating air pollutant 
and GHG  emissions.    The CalEEMod  2022.1.1.5 program uses  the  EMFAC2021  computer program  to 
calculate the emission rates specific for the South Coast Air Basin portion of San Bernardino County for 
employee,  vendor  and  haul  truck  vehicle  trips  and  the  OFFROAD2007  and  OFFROAD2011  computer 
programs to calculate emission rates for heavy equipment operations.  EMFAC2021, OFFROAD2007 and 
OFFROAD2011 are computer programs generated by CARB that calculates composite emission rates for 
vehicles.  Emission rates are reported by the program in grams per trip and grams per mile or grams per 
running hour.   

The project characteristics in the CalEEMod model were set to a project location of South Coast Air Basin 
portion of San Bernardino County, a Climate Zone of 10, utility companies of Southern California Edison 
and Southern California Gas (with 2025 forecast factors), and a project opening year of 2025.  

Land Use Parameters 
In order  to determine  the project  impacts and  to compare  the  impacts  to what was analyzed  for  the 
project  site  in  the  TOP  2050  SEIR,  two  CalEEMod  model  runs  have  been  performed.    The  land  use 
parameters that were entered into the CalEEMod model for both analyzed projects are shown in Table I.  
Appendix A  contains  the CalEEMod model  run output  files  for  the proposed project  and Appendix B 
contains the CalEEMod model run output files for the TOP 2050 SEIR project.  

Table I – CalEEMod Land Use Parameters 

Proposed Land Use 
Land Use Subtype in 

CalEEMod  Land Use Size1 
Lot 

Acreage2 
Landscaped Area 
(square feet) 

Building Area  
(square feet) 

Proposed Project           
Unrefrigerated 
Warehouse 

Unrefrigerated 
Warehouse‐No Rail  137 TSF   3.89  16,197  136,998 

Refrigerated 
Warehouse 

Refrigerated 
Warehouse‐No Rail  24 TSF  0.55  2,858  24,176 

Office Space  General Office Building  6 TSF  0.14  709  6,000 
Paved Area  Parking Lot  2 AC  2.40  12,372  ‐‐ 
TOP 2050 SEIR Project           
General Light 
Industrial  Industrial Park  167 TSF  4.58  19,765  167,277 

Paved Area  Parking Lot  2 AC  2.40  12,372  ‐‐ 
Notes:  
1 TSF = Thousand Square Feet; AC = Acre 
2  Lot acreage calculated based on the total project site of 6.98‐acres. 
 

Construction Parameters 
Construction of both analyzed projects were modeled as starting in September 2023 and being completed 
by November 2024, which is based on the CalEEMod model default timing.  The construction‐related GHG 

Item E - 232 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 42 

 

emissions were based on a 30‐year amortization rate as recommended  in  the SCAQMD GHG Working 
Group meeting on November 19, 2009.  The phases of construction activities that have been analyzed are 
detailed below and  include: 1) Demolition; 2) Site preparation; 3) Grading, 4) Building construction, 5) 
Paving; and Application of architectural coatings. Water all exposed areas three times per day was chosen 
in order to account for the fugitive dust reduction that would occur through adhering to SCAQMD Rule 
403, which requires that the Best Available Control Measures be utilized to reduce fugitive dust emissions. 

Demolition 

The demolition phase would consist of demolishing approximately 29,400 square feet of existing building 
space and approximately 244,000  square  feet of paved area.   The paved area was assumed  to be an 
average of 4‐inches thick and weigh 145 pounds per square foot, which results in 5,897 tons of pavement 
debris  that would be  removed  from  the project site.   For  the structures  to be demolished, CalEEMod 
utilizes a factor of 0.046 tons of debris of building material per building square foot.  This results in 1,352 
tons of debris  that would be generated  from demolition of  the 29,400  square  feet of building  space.  
Therefore, the combined demolition of the structures and pavement would require the removal of 7,249 
tons of debris from the project site.  This would generate 90.7 haul truck trips per day. 

For both projects, the demolition phase has been modeled as starting in September 2023 and occurring 
over one month.  The demolition activities would require 15 worker trips per day.  In order to account for 
water  truck  emissions,  three  onsite  truck  trips  per  day  with  a  one  mile  length  were  added  to  the 
demolition phase.  The onsite equipment would consist of one concrete/industrial saw, three excavators, 
and two rubber tired dozers, which is based on the CalEEMod default equipment mix.   

Site Preparation 

For both projects, the site preparation phase would consist of removing any vegetation, tree stumps, and 
stones onsite prior to grading.  The site preparation phase is anticipated to start at the conclusion of the 
demolition phase and was modeled as occurring over two weeks.  The site preparation activities would 
generate 17.5 worker trips per day.  In order to account for water truck emissions, three onsite truck trips 
per day with a one mile length were added to the site preparation.  The onsite equipment would consist 
of  three  rubber  tired dozers and  four of either  tractors,  loaders, or backhoes, which  is based on  the 
CalEEMod default equipment mix.   

Grading 

For both projects, the grading phase would occur after completion of the site preparation phase and was 
modeled as occurring over one month.  In order to account for the export of 4,900 cubic yards of dirt. The 
export of dirt would generate an average of 30.6 haul truck trips per day over duration of grading phase.  
The grading activities would require 15 worker trips per day.  In order to account for water truck emissions, 
three onsite  truck  trips per day with a one mile  length were added  to  the grading phase.   The onsite 
equipment would  consist  of  one  excavator,  one  grader,  one  rubber‐tired  dozer,  and  three  of  either 
tractors, loaders, or backhoes, which is based on the CalEEMod default equipment mix. 

Building Construction 

The building construction would occur after the completion of the grading phase and was modeled as 
occurring over 11 months.  The building construction phase would generate 69.6 worker trips and 27.4 
vendor trips per day for the proposed project and would generate 70.3 worker trips and 27.4 vendor trips 
per day for the TOP 2050 SEIR project. The onsite equipment would consist of the simultaneous operation 

Item E - 233 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 43 

 

of one crane, three forklifts, one generator, one welder, and three of either tractors, loaders, or backhoes, 
which is based on the CalEEMod default equipment mix. 

Paving 

For both projects, the paving phase would occur after the completion of the building construction phase 
and was modeled as occurring over one month.  The paving phase would generate 15 worker trips per 
day.    The onsite  equipment would  consist of  the  simultaneous operation of  two pavers,  two paving 
equipment, and two rollers, which is based on the CalEEMod default equipment mix. 

Architectural Coating 

The application of architectural coatings was modeled as occurring after the completion of the paving 
phase and was modeled as occurring over one month.  The architectural coating phase would generate 
13.9 worker trips per day for the proposed project and 14.1 worker trips per day for the TOP 2050 SEIR 
project.   The onsite equipment would consist of one air compressor, which  is based on the CalEEMod 
default equipment mix.  The Non‐residential interior VOC was changed to 50 grams per liter per SCAQMD 
Rule 1113 minimum requirements. 

Operational Emissions Modeling 
The  operations‐related  criteria  air  pollutant  emissions  and  GHG  emissions  created  by  the  proposed 
project have been analyzed  through use of  the CalEEMod model.   Both projects were analyzed  in  the 
CalEEMod model based on the land use parameters provided above and the parameters entered for each 
operational emission source is described below.       

Mobile Sources 

Mobile sources include emissions generated from the additional vehicle trips that would occur through 
implementation of the proposed project.   The vehicle trips associated with the proposed project were 
obtained from Table 1 – 1600 E Francis, Ontario Trip Generation, prepared by EPD Solutions, Inc.   that 
found  the proposed project would  generate  a  total of 285 daily  trips, of which would  consist of  the 
following breakdown: 158 passenger cars, 44 2‐axle trucks, 14 3‐axle trucks, and 69 4+ axle trucks. The 
TOP 2050 SEIR project would generate a total of 814 daily trips, of which would consist of the following 
breakdown: 591 passenger cars, 37 2‐axle trucks, 46 3‐axle trucks, and 140 4+ axle trucks. 

According  to Review of SCAQMD Staff Comments and Testimony on Warehouse Projects, prepared by 
Southern California Leadership Council, March 14, 2014, the SCAQMD details that truck trip length should 
be set to 40 miles in CalEEMod. In order to account for the longer truck trip length in CalEEMod, the daily 
truck  trips were analyzed under  the “Refrigerated Warehouse”  land use  for  the proposed project and 
under the “Parking Lot” land use for the TOP 2050 SEIR project, where the trip length was set to 40 miles. 
The passenger car daily trips were analyzed under the “Unrefrigerated Warehouse” land use in CalEEMod. 
The passenger car trip lengths were based on the default trip lengths.  The vehicle trips rate utilized in the 
two CalEEMod model runs are provided in Table J.   

 

 

 

Item E - 234 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 44 

 

Table J – Operational Inventory of Vehicle Trips  

Land Use Type in CalEEMod  Vehicle Type  Land Use Size1 
Daily Trip Generation Rates 
Trips Rates  Total Daily Trips 

Proposed Project          
Unrefrigerated Warehouse  Passenger Cars  137 TSF   1.15 per TSF  158 
Refrigerated Warehouse  Trucks  24 TSF  5.29 per TSF  127 
TOP 2050 SEIR Project         
Industrial Park  Passenger Cars  167 TSF  3.54 per TSF  591 
Parking Lot  Trucks  2 AC  111.50 per AC  223 
Notes:  
1 TSF = Thousand Square Foot; AC = Acre  
Source: EPD Solutions, Inc. 2023 

 

In order to account for the trucks that were analyzed under the Refrigerated Warehouse land use for the 
proposed project and Parking Lot for the TOP 2050 SEIR project, the vehicle mix utilized in CalEEMod was 
adjusted  to match  the  truck generation  rates provided  in  the Trip Generation Table.    In addition,  the 
vehicle mix for the passenger cars were also adjusted to remove the truck trips from these land uses. The 
vehicle mixes utilized in CalEEMod are shown in Table K.  No other changes were made to the CalEEMod 
default mobile source parameters. 

Table K – Operational Fleet Mixes 

Land Use  LDA  LDT1  LDT2  MDV  LHD2  MHD  HHD  MCY 
Proposed Project                 
Unrefrigerated Warehouse No Rail 
(Passenger Cars)  54.42%  4.40%  22.18%  16.72%  0%  0%  0%  2.28% 

Refrigerated Warehouse No Rail (Trucks)  0%  0%  0%  0%  34.65%  11.02%  54.33%  0% 
TOP 2050 SEIR Project                 
Industrial Park (Passenger Cars)  54.42%  4.40%  22.18%  16.72%  0%  0%  0%  2.28% 
Parking Lot (Trucks)  0%  0%  0%  0%  16.59%  20.63%  62.78%  0% 
Notes:  
LDA = Light Duty Auto; LDT1 = Light‐Duty Trucks (less than 3,750 pounds gross vehicle weight rating [GVWR]); LDT2 = Light‐Duty Trucks (3,751 
to 6,000 pounds GVWR); MDV = Medium‐Duty Trucks (6,000 to 8,500 pounds GVWR); LHD2 = Light‐Heavy‐Duty Trucks 2 (GVWR 10,001 to 14,000 
pounds); MHD = Medium‐Heavy‐Duty Trucks (GVWR 19,501 to 33,000 pounds); HHD = Heavy‐Heavy‐Duty Trucks (GVWR 33,000+ pounds); and 
MCY = motorcycles. 
1  The Truck fleet mixes were based on the Truck Fleet Mix provided in the Trip Generation Table (EPD Solutions, Inc., 2023), with 2‐axle trucks 
analyzed as LHD2, 3‐axle trucks analyzed as MHD, and 4+‐axle trucks analyzed as HHD. 

 

Area Sources 

Area  sources  include  emissions  from  consumer  products,  landscape  equipment,  and  architectural 
coatings.   The area  source emissions were based on  the on‐going use of  the proposed project  in  the 
CalEEMod model.    No changes were made to the default area source parameters in the CalEEMod model. 

Energy Usage 

Energy usage includes emissions from electricity and natural gas used onsite.  The energy usage was based 
on the ongoing use of the proposed project in the CalEEMod Model.  No changes were made to the default 
energy usage parameters in the CalEEMod model. 

Item E - 235 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 45 

 

Solid Waste 

Waste includes the GHG emissions associated with the processing of waste from the proposed project as 
well as the GHG emissions from the waste once it is interred into a landfill. The analysis was based on the 
default CalEEMod waste generation rates of 157 tons of solid waste per year for the proposed project and 
207 tons of solid waste per year for the TOP 2050 SEIR project.   No changes were made to the default 
solid waste parameters or mitigation measures in the CalEEMod model. 

Water and Wastewater 

Water includes the water used for the interior of the buildings as well as for landscaping and is based on 
the GHG emissions associated with the energy used to transport and filter the water.  The analysis was 
based on the default CalEEMod water usage rates of 38,297,652 gallons per year of indoor water use and 
516,076 gallons per year of outdoor water use for the proposed project and 38,618,750 gallons per year 
of indoor water use and 516,092 gallons per year of outdoor water use for the TOP 2050 SEIR project.  No 
changes were made to the default water and wastewater parameters in the CalEEMod model.   

Off‐Road Equipment 

The primary activity that would require the use of off‐road equipment would be associated with forklifts 
unloading/loading of truck deliveries.  As detailed above, operation of the proposed project is anticipated 
to generate 127 daily truck trips and the TOP 2050 SEIR project is anticipated to generate 223 daily truck 
trips.  Based on 15 minutes of unloading/loading activities per truck trip, this would result in 31.75 hours 
of  forklift activities per day  for  the proposed project and 55.75 hours per day  for  the TOP 2050 SEIR 
project, which were analyzed  in CalEEMod as four forklifts operating 8 hours per day for the proposed 
project and seven forklifts operating 8 hours per day for the TOP 2050 SEIR project.  In order to account 
for Project Design Feature 1, that restricts the operation of diesel‐powered off‐road equipment on the 
project site during long‐term operations of the project, the forklifts were analyzed as being powered with 
CNG. 

8.2 Energy Use Calculations  

The proposed project  is anticipated to consume energy during both construction and operation of the 
proposed project and the parameters utilized to calculate energy use from construction and operation of 
the proposed project are detailed separately below. 

Construction‐Related Energy Use 
Construction of the proposed project is anticipated to use energy in the forms of petroleum fuel for both 
off‐road equipment as well as from the transport of workers and materials to and from the project site 
and the calculations for each source are described below.   

Off‐Road Construction Equipment 

The off‐road construction equipment  fuel usage was calculated  through use of  the CalEEMod model’s 
default  off‐road  equipment  assumptions  detailed  above  in  Section  8.1.  For  each  piece  of  off‐road 
equipment,  the  fuel  usage was  calculated  through  use  of  the  2017 Off‐road Diesel  Emission  Factors 
spreadsheet, prepared by CARB (https://ww3.arb.ca.gov/msei/ordiesel.htm).  The Spreadsheet provides 
the following formula to calculate fuel usage from off‐road equipment: 

Fuel Used = Load Factor x Horsepower x Total Operational Hours x BSFC / Unit Conversion 

Item E - 236 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 46 

 

  Where: 
  Load Factor ‐ Obtained from CalEEMod default values  
  Horsepower – Obtained from CalEEMod default values 

Total Operational Hours – Calculated by multiplying CalEEMod default daily hours by CalEEMod 
default number of working days for each phase of construction 
BSFC  –  Brake  Specific  Fuel  Consumption  (pounds  per  horsepower‐hour)  –  If  less  than  100 
Horsepower = 0.408, if greater than 100 Horsepower = 0.367 
Unit Conversion – Converts pounds to gallons = 7.109 

Table L shows the off‐road construction equipment diesel fuel calculations based on the above formula 
for both projects, which were found to utilize the same off‐road equipment.  Table L shows that the off‐
road equipment utilized during construction would consume 35,485 gallons of diesel fuel. 

Table L – Off‐Road Equipment and Diesel Fuel Use from Construction of Both Projects 

Equipment Type 
Equipment 
Quantity 

Horse‐
power 

Load 
Factor 

Operating Hours 
per Day 

Total  Operational 
Hours1 

Fuel Used 
(gallons) 

Demolition 
Concreter/Industrial Saw  1  33  0.73  8  160  221 
Excavators  3  36  0.38  8  480  377 
Rubber Tired Dozers  2  367  0.4  8  320  2,425 
Site Preparation 
Rubber Tired Dozers  3  367  0.4  8  240  1,819 
Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes  4  84  0.37  8  320  571 
Grading              
Excavators  1  36  0.38  8  160  126 
Graders  1  148  0.41  8  160  501 
Rubber Tired Dozer  1  367  0.4  8  160  1,213 
Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes  3  84  0.37  8  480  856 
Building Construction 
Cranes  1  367  0.29  7  1,610  8,846 
Forklifts  3  82  0.2  8  5,520  5,196 
Generator Sets  1  14  0.74  8  1,840  1,094 
Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes  3  84  0.37  7  4,830  8,615 
Welders  1  46  0.45  8  1,840  2,186 
Paving 
Pavers  2  81  0.42  8  320  625 
Paving Equipment  2  89  0.36  8  240  441 
Rollers  2  36  0.38  8  320  251 
Architectural Coating 
Air Compressor  1  37  0.48  6  120  122 

Total Off‐Road Equipment Diesel Fuel Used during Construction (gallons)  35,485 
Notes: 
1 Based on: 20 days for Demolition; 10 days for Sit Preparation, 20 days for Grading; 230 days for Building Construction; 20 days for Paving; 
and 20 days for Architectural Coating.  
Source: CalEEMod Version 2022.1 (see Appendix A); CARB, 2017. 

Item E - 237 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 47 

 

On‐Road Construction‐Related Vehicle Trips 
The on‐road construction‐related vehicle trips fuel usage was calculated through use of the construction 
vehicle trip assumptions from the CalEEMod model run as detailed above in Section 8.1. The calculated 
total construction miles was then divided by the fleet average for all of Southern California miles per gallon 
rates  for  the  year  2023  calculated  through  use  of  the  EMFAC2017  model 
(https://www.arb.ca.gov/emfac/2017/) and the EMFAC2017 model printouts are shown in Appendix C.  It 
should be noted that the EMFAC2021 model was not utilized, since it does not provide the information 
required to calculate the fleet average miles per gallon rates. The worker trips were based on the entire 
fleet average miles per gallon rate for gasoline powered vehicles and the vendor trips were based on the 
Heavy‐Heavy Duty Truck (HHDT), Medium Duty Vehicle (MDV), and Medium Heavy Duty Vehicle (MHDV) 
fleet average miles per gallon rate for diesel‐powered vehicles.   Table M shows the on‐road construction 
vehicle trips modeled in CalEEMod and the fuel usage calculations for the Proposed Project. 

Table M – On‐Road Vehicle Trips and Fuel Consumption from Construction of Proposed Project  

Vehicle Trip Types / 
Fuel Type  Daily Trips 

Trip Length 
(miles) 

Total Miles 
per Day 

Total Miles 
per Phase1 

Fleet Average 
Miles per Gallon2 

Fuel Used 
(gallons) 

Demolition 
Worker (Gasoline)  15  18.5  278  5,550  26.8  207 
Haul (Diesel)  90.7  20  1,814  36,280  8.7  4,170 
Water Trucks (Diesel)  3  1  3  60  8.7  7 
Site Preparation 
Worker (Gasoline)  17.5  18.5  324  3,238  26.8  121 
Water Trucks (Diesel)  3  1  3  30  8.7  3 
Grading             
Worker (Gasoline)  15  18.5  278  5,550  26.8  207 
Haul (Diesel)  30.6  20  612  12,240  8.7  1,407 
Water Trucks (Diesel)  3  1  3  60  8.7  7 
Building Construction 
Worker (Gasoline)  69.6  18.5  1,288  296,148  26.8  11,065 
Vendor (Diesel)  27.4  10.2  279  64,280  8.7  7,389 
Paving 
Worker (Gasoline)  15  18.5  278  5,550  26.8  207 
Architectural Coating 
Worker (Gasoline)  13.9  18.5  257  5,143  26.8  192 

Total Gasoline Fuel Used from On‐Road Construction Vehicles (gallons)  12,001 

Total Diesel Fuel Used from On‐Road Construction Vehicles (gallons)  12,984 
Notes: 
1 Based on: 20 days for Demolition; 10 days for Sit Preparation, 20 days for Grading; 230 days for Building Construction; 20 days for Paving; 
and 20 days for Architectural Coating.  
2 From EMFAC 2017 model (see Appendix C). Worker Trips based on entire fleet of gasoline vehicles and Vendor Trips based on only truck 
fleet of diesel vehicles.  
Source: CalEEMod Version 2022.1; CARB, 2018. 

 

Table M  shows  that  the on‐road  construction‐related  vehicle  trips would  consume 12,001  gallons of 
gasoline  and  12,984  gallons  of  diesel  fuel.    As  detailed  above  in  Table  L,  shows  that  the  off‐road 
construction  equipment would  consume 35,485  gallons of diesel  fuel.    This would  result  in  the  total 

Item E - 238 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 48 

 

consumption of 12,001 gallons of gasoline and 48,469 gallons of diesel  fuel  from  construction of  the 
proposed project.    

Table N shows the on‐road construction vehicle trips modeled in CalEEMod and the fuel usage calculations 
for the TOP 2050 SEIR Project. 

Table N – On‐Road Vehicle Trips and Fuel Consumption from Construction of TOP 2050 SEIR 
Project  

Vehicle Trip Types / 
Fuel Type  Daily Trips 

Trip Length 
(miles) 

Total Miles 
per Day 

Total Miles 
per Phase1 

Fleet Average 
Miles per Gallon2 

Fuel Used 
(gallons) 

Demolition 
Worker (Gasoline)  15  18.5  278  5,550  26.8  207 
Haul (Diesel)  90.7  20  1,814  36,280  8.7  4,170 
Water Trucks (Diesel)  3  1  3  60  8.7  7 
Site Preparation 
Worker (Gasoline)  17.5  18.5  324  3,238  26.8  121 
Water Trucks (Diesel)  3  1  3  30  8.7  3 
Grading             
Worker (Gasoline)  15  18.5  278  5,550  26.8  207 
Haul (Diesel)  30.6  20  612  12,240  8.7  1,407 
Water Trucks (Diesel)  3  1  3  60  8.7  7 
Building Construction 
Worker (Gasoline)  70.3  18.5  1,301  299,127  26.8  11,177 
Vendor (Diesel)  27.4  10.2  279  64,280  8.7  7,389 
Paving 
Worker (Gasoline)  15  18.5  278  5,550  26.8  207 
Architectural Coating 
Worker (Gasoline)  14.1  18.5  261  5,217  26.8  195 

Total Gasoline Fuel Used from On‐Road Construction Vehicles (gallons)  12,115 

Total Diesel Fuel Used from On‐Road Construction Vehicles (gallons)  12,984 
Notes: 
1 Based on: 20 days for Demolition; 10 days for Sit Preparation, 20 days for Grading; 230 days for Building Construction; 20 days for Paving; 
and 20 days for Architectural Coating.  
2 From EMFAC 2017 model (see Appendix C). Worker Trips based on entire fleet of gasoline vehicles and Vendor Trips based on only truck 
fleet of diesel vehicles.  
Source: CalEEMod Version 2022.1; CARB, 2018. 

 

Table N  shows  that  the  on‐road  construction‐related  vehicle  trips would  consume  12,115  gallons  of 
gasoline  and  12,984  gallons  of  diesel  fuel.    As  detailed  above  in  Table  L,  shows  that  the  off‐road 
construction  equipment would  consume 35,485  gallons of diesel  fuel.    This would  result  in  the  total 
consumption of 12,115 gallons of gasoline and 48,469 gallons of diesel fuel from construction of the TOP 
2050 SEIR project.    

Operations‐Related Energy Use 
The  operation  of  the  proposed  project  is  anticipated  to  use  energy  in  the  forms  of  petroleum  fuel, 
electricity, and natural gas, and the calculations for each source are described below.   

Item E - 239 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 49 

 

Operational Petroleum Fuel  

The on‐road operations‐related vehicle trips fuel usage was calculated through use of the total annual 
vehicle miles traveled assumptions from the CalEEMod model run as detailed above in Section 8.1, which 
found that operation of the proposed project would generate 808,077 vehicle miles traveled (VMT) per 
year from autos and 1,853,616 VMT per year from trucks.   The TOP 2050 SEIR project would generate 
3,032,174 VMT per year from autos and 3,255,800 VMT per year from trucks.   

The calculated VMTs were then divided by the Southern California fleet average rates of 26.8 miles per 
gallon for gasoline and 8.7 miles per gallon for diesel, which was calculated through use of the EMFAC2017 
model and based on the year 2023.  The EMFAC2017 model printouts are shown in Appendix C.  Based on 
the above calculation methodology, operational vehicle trips generated from the proposed project would 
consume 30,193 gallons per year of gasoline and 213,075 gallons per year of diesel and the TOP 2050 SEIR 
project would consume 113,294 gallons per year of gasoline and 374,258 gallons per year of diesel. 

Operational Electricity Use  

The operations‐related electricity usage was calculated in the CalEEMod model, that depicts the electricity 
use from each land use provided in kilo‐watt hours (kWh) per year.  The electricity usage from operation 
of the proposed project is shown below.  

 Unrefrigerated Warehouse – 632,753 kWh/year; 

 Refrigerated Warehouse – 529,344 kWh/year; 

 Office Space – 104,711 kWh/year; and 

 Parking Lot (Truck Loading Area, Driveways, and Parking Lots) – 91,581 kWh/year 

Based on the above, it is anticipated that operation of the proposed project would consume 1,358,389 
kWh per year of electricity. 

The electricity usage from operation of the TOP 2050 SEIR project is shown below.  

 Industrial Park – 2,919,299 kWh/year; and 

 Parking Lot (Truck Loading Area, Driveways, and Parking Lots) – 91,581 kWh/year 

Based on the above, it is anticipated that operation of the proposed project would consume 3,010,880 
kWh per year of electricity. 

Operational Natural Gas Use  

The operations‐related natural gas usage was calculated in the CalEEMod model that depicts the natural 
gas use from each land use that are shown below in kilo British Thermal Units (kBTU) per year. The natural 
gas usage from operation of the proposed project is shown below. 

 Unrefrigerated Warehouse – 2,604,425 kBTU/year; 

 Refrigerated Warehouse – 636,898 kBTU/year; 

 Office Space – 164,640 kBTU/year; and 

 Parking Lot (Truck Loading Area, Driveways, and Parking Lots) – 0 kBTU/year 

Item E - 240 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 50 

 

Based on the above, it is anticipated that the proposed project would use approximately 3,405,963 kBTU 
per year, which is equivalent to 3,406 mega‐British Thermal units (MBTU) per year of natural gas. 

The natural gas usage from operation of the TOP 2050 SEIR project is shown below. 

 Industrial Park – 4,590,084 kBTU/year; and 

 Parking Lot (Truck Loading Area, Driveways, and Parking Lots) – 0 kBTU/year 

Based on the above, it is anticipated that the TOP 2050 SEIR project would use approximately 4,590,084 
kBTU per year, which is equivalent to 3,406 MBTU per year of natural gas. 

 

 

 

Item E - 241 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 51 

 

9.0  THRESHOLDS OF SIGNIFICANCE 

9.1 Regional Air Quality  

Many air quality  impacts that derive from dispersed mobile sources, which are the dominant pollution 
generators in the Air Basin, often occurs hours later and miles away after photochemical processes have 
converted  primary  exhaust  pollutants  into  secondary  contaminants  such  as  ozone.    The  incremental 
regional  air  quality  impact  of  an  individual  project  is  generally  very  small  and  difficult  to  measure.  
Therefore, SCAQMD has developed  significance  thresholds based on  the volume of pollution emitted 
rather  than  on  actual  ambient  air  quality  because  the  direct  air  quality  impact  of  a  project  is  not 
quantifiable on a regional scale.  The SCAQMD CEQA Handbook states that any project in the Air Basin 
with daily emissions  that exceed any of  the  identified significance  thresholds should be considered as 
having an individually and cumulatively significant air quality impact.  For the purposes to this air quality 
impact analysis, a  regional air quality  impact would be  considered  significant  if emissions exceed  the 
SCAQMD significance thresholds identified in Table O.   

Table O – SCAQMD Regional Criteria Pollutant Emission Thresholds of Significance 

  Pollutant Emissions (pounds/day) 
  VOC  NOx  CO  SOx  PM10  PM2.5  Lead 

Construction  75  100  550  150  150  55  3 
Operation  55  55  550  150  150  55  3 
Source: http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default‐source/ceqa/handbook/scaqmd‐air‐quality‐significance‐thresholds.pdf?sfvrsn=2 
 

9.2 Local Air Quality 

Project‐related construction air emissions may have  the potential  to exceed  the State and Federal air 
quality standards  in the project vicinity, even though these pollutant emissions may not be significant 
enough  to  create a  regional  impact  to  the Air Basin.    In order  to assess  local air quality  impacts  the 
SCAQMD has developed Localized Significant Thresholds (LSTs) to assess the project‐related air emissions 
in the project vicinity.   SCAQMD has also provided Final Localized Significance Threshold Methodology 
(LST Methodology), July 2008, which details the methodology to analyze local air emission impacts. The 
LST Methodology found that the primary emissions of concern are NO2, CO, PM10, and PM2.5. 

The LST Methodology provides Look‐Up Tables with different thresholds based on the location and size of 
the project site and distance  to the nearest sensitive receptors.   As detailed above  in Section 6.1,  the 
project site is located in Air Monitoring Area 33, which covers the southwest San Bernardino Valley area. 

The Look‐Up Tables include site acreage sizes of 1‐acre, 2‐acres and 5‐acres. The Fact Sheet for Applying 
CalEEMod to Localized Significance Thresholds, prepared by SCAQMD, 2015, provides guidance on how to 
determine the appropriate site acreage size to utilize for a project.  The Fact Sheet details the site acreage 
should be based on  the maximum number of acres disturbed on  the peak day of construction  that  is 
calculated on the construction equipment  list utilized  in the CalEEMod model, where crawler tractors, 
graders, and rubber tired dozers are all assumed to disturb 0.5‐acre  in an 8‐hour day and scrapers are 
assumed to disturb 1.0‐acre in an 8‐hour day. It should be noted that the methodology in the Fact Sheet 
was developed from the CalEEMod User Guide Appendix A, page 9, where the same acres disturbed per 
equipment type is detailed and is utilized in the CalEEMod model in order to determine the acres per day 
disturbed during site preparation and grading phases. 

Item E - 242 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 52 

 

Table P lists all of the construction equipment modeled in CalEEMod and utilizes the methodology in the 
Fact Sheet to calculate the acres disturbed per day.   As shown in Table P, the maximum disturbed per day 
would occur during the site preparation phase when 1.5 acres would be disturbed.  As such, the 1‐acre 
and 2‐acre thresholds were interpolated in order to develop the threshold for the 1.5‐acre thresholds. 

Table P – Construction Equipment Modeled in CalEEMod and Acres Disturbed per Day 

Construction 
Activity  Equipment Type 

Equipment 
Quantity 

Acres Disturbed per 
piece of Equipment 

per Day1 

Operating 
Hours per 

Day 

Acres 
Disturbed 
per Day 

Demolition 

Concrete Saw  1  0  8  0 
Excavators  3  0  8  0 
Rubber Tired Dozers  2  0.5  8  1.0 

Total Acres Disturbed per Day During Demolition  1.0 

Site 
Preparation 

Rubber Tired Dozers  3  0.5  8  1.5 
Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes  4  0  8  0 

Total Acres Disturbed per Day During Site Preparation  1.5 

Grading 

Excavators  1  0  8  0 
Graders  1  0.5  8  0.5 
Rubber Tired Dozers  1  0.5  8  0.5 
Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes  3  0  8  0 

Total Acres Disturbed per Day During Grading   1.0 

Building 
Construction 

Cranes  1  0  7  0 
Forklifts  3  0  8  0 
Generator Sets  1  0  8  0 
Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes  3  0  7  0 
Welders  1  0  8  0 

Total Acres Disturbed per Day During Building Construction   0 

Paving 

Pavers  2  0  8  0 
Paving Equipment  2  0  8  0 
Rollers  2  0  8  0 

Total Acres Disturbed per Day During Paving   0 
Architectural 
Coating 

Air Compressor  1  0  6  0 
Total Acres Disturbed per Day During Architectural Coating  0 

Maximum Acres Disturbed during All Construction Activities   1.5 
Notes: 
1 Based on the Fact Sheet for Applying CalEEMod to Localized Significance Thresholds where crawler tractors, graders, and rubber tired dozers 
disturb 0.5‐acre in an 8‐hour day and scrapers disturb 1.0‐acre in an 8‐hour day.  All other equipment disturb 0 acres per 8‐hour day.  
Source: CalEEMod Version 2022.1; SCAQMD, 2015. 

 

For PM10 and PM2.5, which are based on a 24‐hour standard, the nearest sensitive receptors are the 
homes  located as near as 1,700 feet  (518 meters) northeast of the project site.    In order to provide a 
conservative analysis the 500 meter thresholds were utilized  for PM10 and PM2.5.   For NOx, which  is 
based  on  a  1‐hour  threshold  and  CO,  which  is  based  on  an  8‐hour  threshold,  the  nearest  sensitive 
receptors  are  the  offsite  workers  that  are  located  adjacent  to  the  project  site.    According  to  LST 
Methodology,  any  receptor  located  closer  than  25 meters  (82  feet)  shall  be  based  on  the  25 meter 

Item E - 243 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 53 

 

thresholds, which was utilized for NOx and CO.  Table Q below shows the LSTs for NOx, CO, PM10 and 
PM2.5 for both construction and operational activities. 

Table Q – SCAQMD Local Air Quality Thresholds of Significance  

Activity 
Allowable Emissions (pounds/day) 

NOx1  CO1  PM102  PM2.52 

Construction  144  1,048  220  146 
Operation  144  1,048  54  35 
Notes: 
1  For  NOx  and  CO  the  thresholds  are  based  on  the  nearest  offsite  workers  that  are  adjacent  to  the  project  site.  According  to  SCAQMD 
methodology, all receptors closer than 25 meters are based on the 25 meter threshold.   
2 For PM10 and PM2.5 the thresholds are based on the nearest homes 518 meters northeast of the project site.  In order to provide a conservative 
analysis, the 500 meter thresholds were utilized. 
Source: Calculated from SCAQMD’s Mass Rate Look‐up Tables for 1.5 acres in Air Monitoring Area 33 Southwest San Bernardino Valley. 

 

9.3 Toxic Air Contaminants 

According to the SCAQMD CEQA Handbook, any project that has the potential to expose the public to 
toxic air contaminants in excess of the following thresholds would be considered to have a significant air 
quality impact:  

 If the Maximum Incremental Cancer Risk is 10 in one million or greater; or 
 Toxic air contaminants from the proposed project would result in a Hazard Index increase of 1 or 

greater. 

In  order  to  determine  if  the  proposed  project  may  have  a  significant  impact  related  to  toxic  air 
contaminants (TACs), the Health Risk Assessment Guidance for analyzing Cancer Risks from Mobile Source 
Diesel Idling Emissions for CEQA Air Quality Analysis, (Diesel Analysis) prepared by SCAQMD, August 2003, 
recommends  that  if  the proposed project  is anticipated  to  create TACs  through  stationary  sources or 
regular operations of diesel trucks on the project site, then the proximity of the nearest receptors to the 
source of  the TAC and  the  toxicity of  the hazardous air pollutant  (HAP) should be analyzed  through a 
comprehensive facility‐wide health risk assessment (HRA). 

9.4 Odor Impacts 

The SCAQMD CEQA Handbook states that an odor impact would occur if the proposed project creates an 
odor nuisance pursuant to SCAQMD Rule 402, which states: 

“A person shall not discharge from any source whatsoever such quantities of air contaminants or 
other material which cause injury, detriment, nuisance, or annoyance to any considerable number 
of persons to the public, or which endanger the comfort, repose, health or safety of any such 
persons or the public, or which cause, or have a natural tendency to cause, injury or damage to 
business or property. 

The  provisions  of  this  rule  shall  not  apply  to  odors  emanating  from  agricultural  operations 
necessary for the growing of crops or the raising of fowl or animals.” 

If the proposed project results in a violation of Rule 402 with regards to odor impacts, then the proposed 
project would create a significant odor impact. 

Item E - 244 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 54 

 

9.5 Energy Conservation 

The 2022 CEQA California Environmental Quality Act Statutes & Guidelines (2022 CEQA Guidelines) include 
an Energy Section that analyzes the proposed project’s energy consumption in order to avoid or reduce 
inefficient, wasteful or unnecessary consumption of energy.  Appendix F of the 2022 CEQA Statute and 
Guidelines, states the following: 

The goal of conserving energy implies the wise and efficient use of energy.  The means of achieving 
this goal include: 

(1) Decreasing overall per capita energy consumption, 

(2) Decreasing reliance on fossil fuels such as coal, natural gas and oil, and 

(3) Increasing reliance on renewable energy sources. 

Since the Energy Section was recently added, no state or local agencies have adopted specific criteria or 
thresholds to be utilized in an energy impact analysis.  However, Appendix F, Subsection II.C of the 2022 
CEQA Guidelines provides the following criteria for determining significance.  

1. The project’s energy requirements and  its energy use efficiencies by amount and fuel type for 
each  stage  of  the  project  life  cycle  including  construction,  operation,  maintenance  and/or 
removal.  If appropriate, the energy intensiveness of materials may be discussed. 

2. The effects of the project on local and regional energy supplies and on requirement for additional 
capacity. 

3. The effects of the project on peak and base period demands for electricity and other forms of 
energy. 

4. The degree to which the project complies with existing energy standards. 

5. The effects of the project on energy resources. 

6. The project’s projected transportation energy use requirements and  its overall use of efficient 
transportation alternatives. 

If  the  proposed  project  creates  inefficient,  wasteful  or  unnecessary  consumption  of  energy  during 
construction or operation activities or conflicts with a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy 
efficiency, then the proposed project would create a significant energy impact. 

9.6 Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

On August 16, 2022, the City of Ontario adopted the Ontario Community Climate Action Plan (2022 CCAP) 
in order to update the community’s strategic path to reducing GHG emissions beyond 2020, consistent 
with  the  State  requirements  provided  in  Senate  Bill  32,  Executive  Orders  S‐3‐05  and  B‐55‐18,  and 
California Public Resources Code Section 21083.3. The 2022 CCAP provides strategies to meet or exceed 
the State targets of reducing emissions 40 percent below 1990 levels by 2030 and 80 percent below 1990 
levels by 2050.  The 2022 CCAP is summarized in Section 5.8 of the Supplemental Environmental Impact 
Report for The Ontario Plan 2050.  Since the 2022 CCAP does not provide any quantitative thresholds for 
GHG emissions, this analysis has determined significance with GHG emissions through compliance with 
applicable Plans for reducing GHG emissions, that includes the 2022 CCAP, the 2022 CARB Scoping Plan, 
and the Connect SoCal.  The GHG emissions analysis for both construction and operation of the proposed 
project can be found below in Sections 10.8 and 10.9. 

Item E - 245 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 55 

 

10.0  IMPACT ANALYSIS 

10.1 CEQA Thresholds of Significance  

Consistent with CEQA and the State CEQA Guidelines, a significant impact related to air quality, energy, 
and GHG emissions would occur if the proposed project is determined to: 

 Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan; 

 Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the project 
region is in non‐attainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air quality standard; 

 Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations;  

 Result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting a substantial number 
of people; 

 Result in potentially significant environmental impact due to wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary 
consumption of energy resources, during project construction or operation; 

 Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy; 

 Generate GHG emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a significant impact on the 
environment; or 

 Conflict with any applicable plan, policy or regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose of 
reducing the emissions of GHGs. 

10.2 Air Quality Compliance 

The proposed project would not conflict with or obstruct  implementation of  the SCAQMD Air Quality 
Management Plan (AQMP).  The following section discusses the proposed project’s consistency with the 
SCAQMD AQMP. 

SCAQMD Air Quality Management Plan 
The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires a discussion of any inconsistencies between a 
proposed project and applicable General Plans and regional plans (CEQA Guidelines Section 15125).  The 
regional plan that applies to the proposed project includes the SCAQMD AQMP. Therefore, this section 
discusses any potential inconsistencies of the proposed project with the AQMP. 

The purpose of this discussion is to set forth the issues regarding consistency with the assumptions and 
objectives of the AQMP and discuss whether the proposed project would interfere with the region’s ability 
to  comply  with  Federal  and  State  air  quality  standards.  If  the  decision‐makers  determine  that  the 
proposed  project  is  inconsistent,  the  lead  agency may  consider  project modifications  or  inclusion  of 
mitigation to eliminate the inconsistency. 

The SCAQMD CEQA Handbook states that "New or amended GP Elements (including land use zoning and 
density amendments), Specific Plans, and significant projects must be analyzed for consistency with the 
AQMP." Strict consistency with all aspects of the plan is usually not required. A proposed project should 
be considered to be consistent with the AQMP if it furthers one or more policies and does not obstruct 
other policies. The SCAQMD CEQA Handbook identifies two key indicators of consistency: 

Item E - 246 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 56 

 

(1)  Whether the project will result in an increase in the frequency or severity of existing air quality 
violations  or  cause  or  contribute  to  new  violations,  or  delay  timely  attainment  of  air  quality 
standards or the interim emission reductions specified in the AQMP. 

(2)   Whether the project will exceed the assumptions in the AQMP or increments based on the year 
of project buildout and phase. 

Both of these criteria are evaluated in the following sections. 

Criterion 1 ‐ Increase in the Frequency or Severity of Violations? 

Based on the air quality modeling analysis contained in this report, short‐term regional construction air 
emissions would not result  in significant  impacts based on SCAQMD regional thresholds of significance 
discussed above  in Section 9.1 or  local  thresholds of significance discussed above  in Section 9.2.   The 
ongoing  operation  of  the  proposed  project  would  generate  air  pollutant  emissions  that  are 
inconsequential  on  a  regional  basis  and  would  not  result  in  significant  impacts  based  on  SCAQMD 
thresholds of  significance discussed above  in Section 9.1.   The analysis  for  long‐term  local air quality 
impacts  showed  that  local pollutant  concentrations would not be projected  to exceed  the air quality 
standards.  Therefore, a less than significant long‐term impact would occur and no mitigation would be 
required. 

Therefore, based on the information provided above, the proposed project would be consistent with the 
first criterion.   

Criterion 2 ‐ Exceed Assumptions in the AQMP? 

Consistency with the AQMP assumptions is determined by performing an analysis of the proposed project 
with the assumptions in the AQMP.  The emphasis of this criterion is to insure that the analyses conducted 
for the proposed project are based on the same forecasts as the AQMP. The AQMP is developed through 
use  of  the  planning  forecasts  provided  in  the  RTP/SCS  and  FTIP.    The  RTP/SCS  is  a  major  planning 
document for the regional transportation and land use network within Southern California.  The RTP/SCS 
is a  long‐range plan that  is required by federal and state requirements placed on SCAG and  is updated 
every four years.  The FTIP provides long‐range planning for future transportation improvement projects 
that are constructed with state and/or federal funds within Southern California.  Local governments are 
required  to use  these plans as  the basis of  their plans  for  the purpose of consistency with applicable 
regional plans under CEQA.  For this project, the City of Ontario General Plan’s Land Use Plan defines the 
assumptions that are represented in AQMP. 

The project site is currently designated as Industrial in the General Plan and is zoned General Industrial 
(IG).  The proposed industrial building project is an allowed use under the Industrial General Plan land use 
designation  and  zoning.    Since  the  proposed  project would  not  require  a General  Plan Amendment, 
implementation of the proposed project would not result in an inconsistency with the current land use 
designations with respect to the regional forecasts utilized by the AQMPs.  As such, the proposed project 
is not anticipated to exceed the AQMP assumptions for the project site and is found to be consistent with 
the AQMP for the second criterion.   

Based on the above, the proposed project will not result  in an  inconsistency with the SCAQMD AQMP.  
Therefore, a less than significant impact will occur in relation to implementation of the AQMP. 

Item E - 247 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 57 

 

Level of Significance  
Less than significant impact. 

10.3 Cumulative Net Increase in Non‐Attainment Pollution 

The proposed project would not result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant 
for which the project region is non‐attainment under an applicable Federal or State ambient air quality 
standard.   

The SCAQMD has published a report on how  to address cumulative  impacts  from air pollution: White 
Paper  on  Potential  Control  Strategies  to  Address  Cumulative  Impacts  from  Air  Pollution 
(http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default‐source/Agendas/Environmental‐Justice/cumulative‐impacts‐
working‐group/cumulative‐impacts‐white‐paper.pdf). In this report the AQMD clearly states (Page D‐3): 

“…the AQMD uses the same significance thresholds for project specific and cumulative impacts for 
all environmental topics analyzed in an Environmental Assessment or Environmental Impact Report 
(EIR).   The only case where the significance thresholds for project specific and cumulative  impacts 
differ is the Hazard Index (HI) significance threshold for TAC emissions.  The project specific (project 
increment) significance threshold is HI > 1.0 while the cumulative (facility‐ wide) is HI > 3.0. It should 
be noted  that  the HI  is only one of  three TAC emission  significance  thresholds considered  (when 
applicable) in a CEQA analysis. The other two are the maximum individual cancer risk (MICR) and the 
cancer burden, both of which use the same significance thresholds (MICR of 10 in 1 million and cancer 
burden of 0.5) for project specific and cumulative impacts. Projects that exceed the project‐specific 
significance thresholds are considered by the SCAQMD to be cumulatively considerable. This is the 
reason project‐specific and cumulative significance thresholds are the same.     Conversely, projects 
that do not exceed   the   project‐specific thresholds are generally not considered to be cumulatively 
significant.” 

Therefore, this analysis assumes that individual projects that do not generate operational or construction 
emissions that exceed the SCAQMD’s recommended daily thresholds for project‐specific impacts would 
also not cause a cumulatively considerable increase in emissions for those pollutants for which the Basin 
is in nonattainment, and, therefore, would not be considered to have   a significant, adverse air quality 
impact.    Alternatively,  individual  project‐related  construction  and  operational  emissions  that  exceed 
SCAQMD  thresholds  for project‐specific  impacts would be considered cumulatively considerable.   The 
following section calculates the potential air emissions associated with the construction and operations 
of the proposed project and compares the emissions to the SCAQMD standards. 

Construction Emissions 
The construction activities for the proposed project are anticipated to include demolition of the existing 
buildings, surface parking and related infrastructure, site preparation and grading of the 6.98‐acre project 
site, building construction of the warehouse, paving of the truck loading area, driveways, and parking lots, 
and  application  of  architectural  coatings.    The  CalEEMod  model  has  been  utilized  to  calculate  the 
construction‐related emissions from the proposed project and the TOP 2050 SEIR project and the input 
parameters utilized  in  this analysis have been detailed  in  Section 8.1.   The daily  construction‐related 
criteria pollutant emissions from the proposed project and the TOP 2050 SEIR project are shown below in 
Table R. 

 

Item E - 248 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 58 

 

Table R – Construction‐Related Criteria Pollutant Emissions  

   Maximum Daily Pollutant Emissions (pounds/day) 

Season and Year of Construction  VOC  NOx  CO  SO2  PM10  PM2.5 
Proposed Project             
Summer 2023  4.05  39.9  37.1  0.07  12.4  4.76 
Winter 2023  4.04  39.9  36.7  0.05  11.3  4.76 
Summer 2024  1.59  12.5  19.5  0.03  1.65  0.75 
Winter 2024  50.1  12.6  18.1  0.03  1.65  0.75 
Proposed Project Maximum Daily Emissions  50.1  39.9  37.1  0.07  12.4  4.76 
TOP 2050 SEIR Project             
Summer 2023  4.05  39.9  37.1  0.07  12.4  4.76 
Winter 2023  4.04  39.9  36.7  0.05  11.3  4.76 
Summer 2024  1.59  12.5  19.6  0.03  1.66  0.75 
Winter 2024  50.1  12.6  18.1  0.03  1.66  0.75 
TOP 2050 SEIR Maximum Daily Emissions  50.1  39.9  37.1  0.07  12.4  4.76 
Project Emissions over TOP 2050 SEIR 
Emissions  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0 

SCQAMD Regional Thresholds  75  100  550  150  150  55 
SCAQMD Local Thresholds1  ‐‐  144  1,048  ‐‐  220  146 
Exceeds Thresholds?  No  No  No  No  No  No 
Notes: 
1 For NOx and CO  the  thresholds are based on  the nearest offsite workers  that are adjacent  to  the project  site. According  to SCAQMD 
methodology, all receptors closer than 25 meters are based on the 25 meter threshold.  For PM10 and PM2.5 the thresholds are based on the 
nearest homes 518 meters northeast of the project site.  In order to provide a conservative analysis, the 500 meter thresholds were utilized. 
Calculated from SCAQMD’s Mass Rate Look‐up Tables for 1.5 acres in Air Monitoring Area 33 Southwest San Bernardino Valley. 
Source: CalEEMod Version 2022.1. 

 

Table R shows  that none of  the analyzed criteria pollutants would exceed either  the  regional or  local 
emissions thresholds during construction of both the proposed project and the TOP 2050 SEIR project.  
Therefore, a less than significant regional or local air quality impact would occur from construction of the 
proposed project. 

Operational Emissions 
The  on‐going  operation  of  the  proposed  project  would  result  in  a  long‐term  increase  in  air  quality 
emissions.  This increase would be due to emissions from the project‐generated vehicle trips, emissions 
from energy usage, onsite area source emissions created from the on‐going use of the proposed project.  
The following section provides an analysis of potential long‐term air quality impacts due to regional air 
quality and local air quality impacts with the on‐going operations of the proposed project.  

Operations‐Related Regional Criteria Pollutant Analysis 

The operations‐related regional criteria air quality  impacts created by the proposed project have been 
analyzed through use of the CalEEMod model and the input parameters utilized in this analysis have been 
detailed  in Section 8.1.   The worst‐case summer or winter VOC, NOx, CO, SO2, PM10, and PM2.5 daily 
emissions created from the proposed project and TOP 2050 SEIR project long‐term operations have been 
calculated and are summarized below in Table S and the CalEEMod daily emissions printouts are shown 
in Appendix A for the proposed project and Appendix B for the TOP 2050 SEIR project. 

 

Item E - 249 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 59 

 

Table S – Operational Regional Criteria Pollutant Emissions 

   Pollutant Emissions (pounds/day) 
Activity  VOC  NOx  CO  SO2  PM10  PM2.5 
Proposed Project             
Area Sources1  5.21  0.06  7.27  <0.01  0.01  0.01 
Energy Usage2  0.05  0.91  0.77  0.01  0.07  0.07 
Mobile Sources3  1.11  16.40  16.10  0.14  3.19  0.89 
Off‐Road Equipment4  <0.01  3.53  35.20  <0.01  <0.01  <0.01 
Proposed Project Total Operational Emissions  6.37  20.90  59.34  0.15  3.27  0.97 
TOP 2050 SEIR Project             
Area Sources1  5.21  0.06  7.27  <0.01  0.01  0.01 
Energy Usage2  0.07  1.23  1.04  0.01  0.09  0.09 
Mobile Sources3  2.94  29.50  42.30  0.29  6.72  1.75 
Off‐Road Equipment4  <0.01  7.91  78.90  <0.01  <0.01  <0.01 
TOP 2050 SEIR Total Operational Emissions  8.22  38.70  129.51  0.30  6.82  1.85 
Project Emissions over TOP 2050 SEIR Emissions  ‐1.85  ‐17.80  ‐70.17  ‐0.15  ‐3.55  ‐0.88 
SCQAMD Regional Thresholds  55  55  550  150  150  55 
Exceeds Threshold?  No  No  No  No  No  No 
Notes: 
1 Area sources consist of emissions from consumer products, architectural coatings, and landscaping equipment. 
2 Energy usage consist of emissions from natural gas usage. 
3 Mobile sources consist of emissions from vehicles and road dust. 
4 Off‐road equipment consists of emissions from forklifts utilized onsite (Project Design Feature 1 restricts the operation of diesel‐powered 
forklifts, so forklifts have been analyzed as CNG‐powered.   
Source: Calculated from CalEEMod Version 2022.1. 

 

The data provided in Table S shows that none of the analyzed criteria pollutants would exceed the regional 
emissions thresholds for both the proposed project and the TOP 2050 SEIR project.  Therefore, a less than 
significant regional air quality impact would occur from operation of the proposed project. 

Friant Ranch Case 

The operations‐related  regional criteria air quality  impacts  In Sierra Club v. County of Fresno  (2018) 6 
Cal.5th 502  (also  referred  to as  “Friant Ranch”),  the California Supreme Court held  that when an EIR 
concluded that when a project would have significant impacts to air quality impacts, an EIR should “make 
a reasonable effort to substantively connect a project’s air quality impacts to likely health consequences.” 
In order to determine compliance with this Case, the Court developed a multi‐part test that includes the 
following:  

1) The  air  quality  discussion  shall  describe  the  specific  health  risks  created  from  each  criteria 
pollutant, including diesel particulate matter.   

This Analysis details the specific health risks created from each criteria pollutant above in Section 4.1 and 
specifically  in Table B.    In addition,  the  specific health  risks  created  from diesel particulate matter  is 
detailed above in Section 2.2 of this analysis.  As such, this analysis meets the part 1 requirements of the 
Friant Ranch Case. 

2) The analysis shall identify the magnitude of the health risks created from the Project.  The Ruling 
details how to identify the magnitude of the health risks.  Specifically, on page 24 of the ruling it 
states  “The  Court  of Appeal  identified  several ways  in which  the  EIR  could  have  framed  the 
analysis so as to adequately  inform  the public and decision makers of possible adverse health 

Item E - 250 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 60 

 

effects.    The  County  could  have,  for  example,  identified  the  Project’s  impact  on  the  days  of 
nonattainment per year.”   

The Friant Ranch Case found that an EIR's air quality analysis must meaningfully connect the identified air 
quality  impacts to the human health consequences of those  impacts, or meaningfully explain why that 
analysis cannot be provided.  As noted in the Brief of Amicus Curiae by the SCAQMD in the  Friant  Ranch  
case (https://www.courts.ca.gov/documents/9‐s219783‐ac‐south‐coast‐air‐quality‐mgt‐dist‐041315.pdf)  
(Brief), SCAQMD has among the most sophisticated air quality modeling and health  impact evaluation  
capability of any of the air districts in the State, and thus it is uniquely situated to express an opinion on 
how  lead agencies  should  correlate air quality  impacts with  specific health outcomes.   The  SCAQMD 
discusses  that  it may be  infeasible  to quantify health  risks caused by projects similar  to  the proposed 
Project, due to many factors.    It  is necessary to have data regarding the sources and types of air toxic 
contaminants, location of emission points, velocity of emissions, the meteorology and topography of the 
area, and the location of receptors (worker and residence).   The Brief states that it may not be feasible 
to perform a health risk assessment for airborne toxics that will be emitted by a generic industrial building 
that was built on "speculation"  (i.e., without knowing  the  future  tenant(s)).   Even where a health risk 
assessment can be prepared, however, the resulting maximum health risk value is only a calculation of 
risk, it does not necessarily mean anyone will contract cancer as a result of the Project. The Brief also cites 
the author of the CARB methodology, which reported that a PM2.5 methodology is not suited for small 
projects and may yield unreliable results.  Similarly, SCAQMD staff does not currently know of a way to 
accurately quantify ozone‐related health impacts caused by NOX or VOC emissions from relatively small 
projects, due to photochemistry and regional model limitations. The Brief concludes, with respect to the 
Friant Ranch EIR, that although it may have been technically possible to plug the data into a methodology, 
the results would not have been reliable or meaningful.   

On the other hand, for extremely large regional projects (unlike the proposed project), the SCAQMD states 
that it has been able to correlate potential health outcomes for very large emissions sources – as part of 
their rulemaking activity, specifically 6,620 pounds per day of NOx and 89,180 pounds per day of VOC 
were expected to result in approximately 20 premature deaths per year and 89,947 school absences due 
to ozone.  As shown above in Table R, project‐related construction activities would generate a maximum 
of 50.1 pounds per day of VOC and 39.9 pounds per day of NOx and as shown above in Table S, operation 
of the proposed project would generate 6.37 pounds per day of VOC and 20.9 pounds per day NOx. The 
proposed project would not generate anywhere near  these  levels of 6,620 pounds per day of NOx or 
89,190 pounds per day of VOC emissions. Therefore, the proposed project’s emissions are not sufficiently 
high enough to use a regional modeling program to correlate health effects on a basin‐wide level.  

Notwithstanding,  this analysis does evaluate  the proposed project’s  localized  impact  to air quality  for 
emissions of CO, NOX, PM10, and PM2.5 by comparing the proposed project’s onsite emissions to the 
SCAQMD’s applicable LST thresholds.  As evaluated in this analysis, the proposed project would not result 
in emissions that exceeded the SCAQMD’s LSTs. Therefore, the proposed project would not be expected 
to exceed the most stringent applicable federal or state ambient air quality standards for emissions of CO, 
NOX, PM10, and PM2.5. 

Operations‐Related Local Air Quality Impacts 

Project‐related air emissions may have the potential to exceed the State and Federal air quality standards 
in the project vicinity, even though these pollutant emissions may not be significant enough to create a 
regional  impact  to  the Air Basin.   The proposed project has been analyzed  for  the potential  local CO 
emission  impacts  from  the  project‐generated  vehicular  trips  and  from  the  potential  local  air  quality 

Item E - 251 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 61 

 

impacts  from on‐site operations. The  following analyzes  the vehicular CO emissions and  local  impacts 
from on‐site operations. 

Local CO Hotspot Impacts from Project‐Generated Vehicular Trips 

CO  is the pollutant of major concern along roadways because the most notable source of CO  is motor 
vehicles.  For this reason, CO concentrations are usually indicative of the local air quality generated by a 
roadway network and are used as an  indicator of potential  local air quality  impacts.   Local air quality 
impacts can be assessed by comparing future without and with project CO levels to the State and Federal 
CO standards of 20 ppm over one hour or 9 ppm over eight hours.   

At the time of the 1993 Handbook, the Air Basin was designated nonattainment under the CAAQS and 
NAAQS for CO. With the turnover of older vehicles, introduction of cleaner fuels, and implementation of 
control technology on industrial facilities, CO concentrations in the Air Basin and in the state have steadily 
declined. In 2007, the Air Basin was designated in attainment for CO under both the CAAQS and NAAQS. 
SCAQMD conducted a CO hot  spot analysis  for attainment at  the busiest  intersections  in Los Angeles 
during the peak morning and afternoon periods and did not predict a violation of CO standards3.  Since 
the nearby intersections to the proposed project are much smaller with less traffic than what was analyzed 
by the SCAQMD, no local CO Hotspot are anticipated to be created from the proposed project and no CO 
Hotspot modeling was  performed.    Therefore,  a  less  than  significant  long‐term  air  quality  impact  is 
anticipated to local air quality with the on‐going use of the proposed project. 

Local Criteria Pollutant Impacts from Onsite Operations  

Project‐related air emissions from onsite sources such as architectural coatings, landscaping equipment, 
and onsite usage of natural gas appliances may have the potential to create emissions areas that exceed 
the State and Federal air quality standards in the project vicinity, even though these pollutant emissions 
may not be significant enough to create a regional impact to the Air Basin.   

The local air quality emissions from onsite operations were analyzed using the SCAQMD’s Mass Rate LST 
Look‐up Tables and the methodology described in LST Methodology. The Look‐up Tables were developed 
by the SCAQMD in order to readily determine if the daily emissions of CO, NOx, PM10, and PM2.5 from 
the proposed project could result in a significant impact to the local air quality.  Table N shows the onsite 
emissions from the CalEEMod model runs for both the proposed project and the 2050 TOP SEIR project 
that includes area sources, energy usage, off‐road equipment, and vehicles operating in the immediate 
vicinity of the project site and the calculated emissions thresholds. 

 

 

 

 

                                                                 
3 The four intersections analyzed by the SCAQMD were: Long Beach Boulevard and Imperial Highway; Wilshire 
Boulevard and Veteran Avenue; Sunset Boulevard and Highland Avenue; and La Cienega Boulevard and Century 
Boulevard.  The busiest intersection evaluated (Wilshire and Veteran) had a daily traffic volume of approximately 
100,000 vehicles per day with LOS E in the morning and LOS F in the evening peak hour. 

Item E - 252 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 62 

 

Table T – Operations‐Related Local Criteria Pollutant Emissions 

  Pollutant Emissions (pounds/day) 
Onsite Emission Source  NOx  CO  PM10  PM2.5 

Proposed Project         
Area Sources  0.06  7.27  0.01  0.01 
Energy Usage  0.91  0.77  0.07  0.07 
Mobile Sources1  2.05  2.01  0.40  0.11 
Off‐Road Equipment2  3.53  35.20  <0.01  <0.01 
Proposed Project Total Onsite Emissions  6.55  45.25  0.48  0.19 
TOP 2050 SEIR Project         
Area Sources  0.06  7.27  0.01  0.01 
Energy Usage  1.23  1.04  0.09  0.09 
Mobile Sources1  3.69  5.29  0.84  0.22 
Off‐Road Equipment2  7.91  78.90  <0.01  <0.01 
TOP 2050 SEIR Total Onsite Emissions  12.89  92.50  0.94  0.32 
Project Emissions over TOP 2050 SEIR Emissions  ‐6.34  ‐47.25  ‐0.46  ‐0.13 
SCAQMD Local Operational Thresholds3  144  1,048  54  35 
Exceeds Threshold?  No  No  No  No 
Notes: 
1 Mobile sources based on 1/8 of the gross vehicular emissions, which is the estimated portion of vehicle emissions occurring within a quarter 
mile of the project site. 
2 Off‐road equipment consists of emissions from forklifts utilized onsite (Project Design Feature 1 restricts the operation of diesel‐powered 
forklifts, so forklifts have been analyzed as CNG‐powered.   
3 For NOx and CO  the  thresholds are based on  the nearest offsite workers  that are adjacent  to  the project  site. According  to SCAQMD 
methodology, all receptors closer than 25 meters are based on the 25 meter threshold.  For PM10 and PM2.5 the thresholds are based on the 
nearest homes 518 meters northeast of the project site.  In order to provide a conservative analysis, the 500 meter thresholds were utilized.    
Source: Calculated from SCAQMD’s Mass Rate Look‐up Tables for 1.5 acres in Air Monitoring Area 33 Southwest San Bernardino Valley. 

 
The data provided in Table N shows that the on‐going operations of both the proposed project and TOP 
2050  SEIR  project would  not  exceed  the  local NOx,  CO,  PM10  and  PM2.5  thresholds  of  significance 
discussed above in Section 9.2.  Therefore, the on‐going operations of the proposed project would create 
a  less  than  significant  operations‐related  impact  to  local  air  quality  due  to  onsite  emissions  and  no 
mitigation would be required. 

Therefore,  the proposed project would not  result  in  a  cumulatively  considerable net  increase of  any 
criteria pollutant. 

Level of Significance 
Less than significant impact. 

10.4 Sensitive Receptors 

The proposed project would not expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations.  The 
local  concentrations  of  criteria  pollutant  emissions  produced  in  the  nearby  vicinity  of  the  proposed 
project, which may expose sensitive receptors to substantial concentrations have been calculated above 
in  Section  10.3  for  both  construction  and  operations,  which  are  discussed  separately  below.    The 
discussion below also includes an analysis of the potential impacts from toxic air contaminant emissions.  
The nearest sensitive receptors to the project site are homes located near the intersection of Locust Street 
and Sacramento Avenue, which are as near as 1,700 feet northeast of the project site. 

Item E - 253 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 63 

 

Construction‐Related Sensitive Receptor Impacts 
The construction activities for the proposed project are anticipated to include demolition of the existing 
buildings, surface parking and related infrastructure, site preparation and grading of the 6.98‐acre project 
site, building construction of the warehouse, paving of the truck loading area, driveways, and parking lots, 
and  application  of  architectural  coatings.    Construction  activities  may  expose  sensitive  receptors  to 
substantial  pollutant  concentrations  of  localized  criteria  pollutant  concentrations  and  from  toxic  air 
contaminant emissions created from onsite construction equipment, which are described below. 

Local Criteria Pollutant Impacts from Construction  

The local air quality impacts from construction of the proposed project has been analyzed above in Section 
10.3 and found that the construction of the proposed project would not exceed the local NOx, CO, PM10 
and PM2.5  thresholds of  significance discussed  above  in  Section 9.2.    Therefore,  construction of  the 
proposed project would create a less than significant construction‐related impact to local air quality and 
no mitigation would be required. 

Toxic Air Contaminants Impacts from Construction  

Construction activities are anticipated to generate TAC emissions from diesel particulate matter (DPM) 
associated  with  the  operation  of  trucks  and  off‐road  equipment  and  from  possible  asbestos  in  the 
structures to be demolished. 

Diesel Particulate Matter Emissions 

The greatest potential for toxic air contaminant emissions would be related to DPM emissions associated 
with heavy equipment operations during construction of the proposed project.   According to SCAQMD 
methodology, health effects  from  carcinogenic air  toxics are usually described  in  terms of  “individual 
cancer risk”.  “Individual Cancer Risk” is the likelihood that a person exposed to concentrations of toxic air 
contaminants over a 70‐year lifetime will contract cancer, based on the use of standard risk‐assessment 
methodology. It should be noted that the most current cancer risk assessment methodology recommends 
analyzing a 30‐year exposure period for the nearby sensitive receptors (OEHHA, 2015). 

Given  the  relatively  limited number of heavy‐duty construction equipment,  the varying distances  that 
construction equipment would operate to the nearby sensitive receptors, and the short‐term construction 
schedule, the proposed project would not result in a long‐term (i.e., 30 or 70 years) substantial source of 
toxic air contaminant emissions and corresponding individual cancer risk.  In addition, California Code of 
Regulations  Title  13,  Article  4.8,  Chapter  9,  Section  2449  regulates  emissions  from  off‐road  diesel 
equipment in California.  This regulation limits idling of equipment to no more than five minutes, requires 
equipment operators to label each piece of equipment and provide annual reports to CARB of their fleet’s 
usage and emissions.  This regulation also requires systematic upgrading of the emission Tier level of each 
fleet, and currently no commercial operator is allowed to purchase Tier 0, Tier 1 or Tier 2 equipment.  In 
addition to the purchase restrictions, equipment operators need to meet fleet average emissions targets 
that become more stringent each year between years 2014 and 2023.  Therefore, due to the limitations 
in off‐road construction equipment DPM emissions  from  implementation of Section 2448, a  less  than 
significant short‐term TAC impacts would occur during construction of the proposed project from DPM 
emissions.   

 

Item E - 254 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 64 

 

Asbestos Emissions 

It is possible that the existing onsite structures to be demolished contains asbestos.  According to SCAQMD 
Rule 1403 requirements, prior to the start of demolition activities, the existing structures located onsite 
shall be thoroughly surveyed for the presence of asbestos by a person that is certified by Cal/OSHA for 
asbestos surveys.   Rule 1403 requires that the SCAQMD be notified a minimum of 10 days before any 
demolition activities begin with specific details of all asbestos to be removed, start and completion dates 
of demolition, work practices and engineering controls  to be used  to contain  the asbestos emissions, 
estimates on  the amount of asbestos  to be  removed,  the name of  the waste disposal  site where  the 
asbestos will be taken, and names and addresses of all contractors and transporters that will be involved 
in the asbestos removal process.  Therefore, through adherence to the asbestos removal requirements, 
detailed in SCAQMD Rule 1403, a less than significant asbestos impact would occur during construction 
of the proposed project. 

Operations‐Related Sensitive Receptor Impacts 
The on‐going operations of the proposed project may expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant 
concentrations of  local CO emission  impacts  from  the project‐generated vehicular  trips and  from  the 
potential  local  air  quality  impacts  from  onsite  operations.  The  following  analyzes  the  vehicular  CO 
emissions. Local criteria pollutant impacts from onsite operations, and toxic air contaminant impacts.   

Local CO Hotspot Impacts from Project‐Generated Vehicle Trips 

CO  is the pollutant of major concern along roadways because the most notable source of CO  is motor 
vehicles.  For this reason, CO concentrations are usually indicative of the local air quality generated by a 
roadway network and are used as an indicator of potential impacts to sensitive receptors.  The analysis 
provided above  in Section 10.3 shows  that no  local CO Hotspots are anticipated  to be created at any 
nearby intersections from the vehicle traffic generated by the proposed project.  Therefore, operation of 
the proposed project would  result  in a  less  than  significant exposure of offsite  sensitive  receptors  to 
substantial pollutant concentrations. 

Local Criteria Pollutant Impacts from Onsite Operations  

The local air quality impacts from the operation of the proposed project would occur from onsite sources 
such as architectural coatings,  landscaping equipment, and onsite usage of natural gas appliances. The 
analysis provided above  in Section 10.3  found  that  the operation of  the proposed project would not 
exceed  the  local NOx, CO, PM10 and PM2.5  thresholds of significance discussed above  in Section 9.2.  
Therefore,  the  on‐going  operations  of  the  proposed  project  would  create  a  less  than  significant 
operations‐related  impact  to  local  air  quality  due  to  on‐site  emissions  and  no  mitigation  would  be 
required. 

Operations‐Related Toxic Air Contaminant Impacts 

Particulate matter (PM) from diesel exhaust is the predominant TAC in most areas and according to The 
California Almanac of Emissions and Air Quality 2013 Edition, prepared by CARB, about 80 percent of the 
outdoor TAC cancer risk is from diesel exhaust.  Some chemicals in diesel exhaust, such as benzene and 
formaldehyde have been  listed as carcinogens by State Proposition 65 and  the Federal Hazardous Air 
Pollutants  program.  The  Ontario  Plan  2050  includes  Policy  ER‐4.9  (provided  below)  that  details  the 
parameters for when a project is required to prepare a quantitative HRA. 

Item E - 255 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 65 

 

New  Localized  Air  Pollution  Sources  Near  Existing  Sensitive  Receptors.  We  require  new 
developments to conduct a Health Risk Assessment for land uses that generate more than 100 
trucks per day or 40 trucks per day by trucks operating transportation refrigeration units (TRU's) 
within 1,000 feet from sensitive land uses (California Health and Safety Code § 42705.5(a)(5)). If 
the health risk assessment determines the new development poses health hazards that increase 
the  incremental  cancer  risk  above  the  threshold  established  by  the  South  Coast  Air  Quality 
Management District (AQMD), we will only approve permits upon the condition that adequate 
mitigation measures are proposed and implemented for potential impacts on the sensitive uses 
around the site and along the route within Ontario taken by the trucks to and from freeways. We 
require new developments  that must perform a health  risk assessment  to  conduct additional 
public outreach by sending notifications  in multiple  languages to all residents  living within 500 
feet, and encourage hosting a public meeting. 

The nearest sensitive receptors to the project site are homes located near the intersection of Locust Street 
and Sacramento Avenue, which are as near as 1,700 feet northeast of the project site.  As such, since the 
distance to the nearest sensitive receptor is greater than 1,000 feet, a quantitative HRA is not required to 
be prepared for the proposed project, and it can be reasonably assumed that a less than significant impact 
would be created from DPM emissions associated with the operation of the proposed project. 

Therefore, operation of the proposed project would result in a less than significant exposure of sensitive 
receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations. 

Level of Significance 
Less than significant impact. 

10.5 Odor Emissions  

The proposed project would not create objectionable odors affecting a substantial number of people.  
Individual responses  to odors are highly variable and can result  in a variety of effects.   Generally,  the 
impact of an odor results from a variety of factors such as frequency, duration, offensiveness, location, 
and sensory perception.  The frequency is a measure of how often an individual is exposed to an odor in 
the  ambient  environment.    The  intensity  refers  to  an  individual’s  or  group’s  perception  of  the  odor 
strength or concentration.   The duration of an odor  refers  to  the elapsed  time over which an odor  is 
experienced.  The offensiveness of the odor is the subjective rating of the pleasantness or unpleasantness 
of an odor.  The location accounts for the type of area in which a potentially affected person lives, works, 
or visits; the type of activity in which he or she is engaged; and the sensitivity of the impacted receptor.   

Sensory perception has four major components: detectability, intensity, character, and hedonic tone.  The 
detection (or threshold) of an odor is based on a panel of responses to the odor.  There are two types of 
thresholds: the odor detection threshold and the recognition threshold.  The detection threshold is the 
lowest concentration of an odor that will elicit a response in a percentage of the people that live and work 
in the immediate vicinity of the project site and is typically presented as the mean (or 50 percent of the 
population).   The  recognition  threshold  is  the minimum  concentration  that  is  recognized  as having a 
characteristic odor quality, this is typically represented by recognition by 50 percent of the population.  
The intensity refers to the perceived strength of the odor.  The odor character is what the substance smells 
like.   The hedonic tone  is a  judgment of the pleasantness or unpleasantness of the odor.   The hedonic 
tone varies  in subjective experience, frequency, odor character, odor  intensity, and duration. Potential 
odor impacts have been analyzed separately for construction and operations below. 

Item E - 256 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 66 

 

Construction‐Related Odor Impacts 
Potential sources that may emit odors during construction activities include the application of coatings 
such as asphalt pavement, paints and  solvents and  from emissions  from diesel equipment.   Standard 
construction requirements that  limit the time of day when construction may occur as well as SCAQMD 
Rule 1108 that  limits VOC content  in asphalt and Rule 1113  that  limits the VOC content  in paints and 
solvents would minimize odor impacts from construction.  As such, the objectionable odors that may be 
produced during  the construction process would be  temporary and would not  likely be noticeable  for 
extended periods of time beyond the project site’s boundaries.  Through compliance with the applicable 
regulations  that  reduce  odors  and  due  to  the  transitory  nature  of  construction  odors,  a  less  than 
significant odor impact would occur and no mitigation would be required. 

Operations‐Related Odor Impacts 
The proposed project would consist of  the development of a warehouse.   Operation of  the proposed 
project may create odors from diesel‐powered truck emissions, and from trash storage bins.  Pursuant to 
City  regulations,  permanent  trash  enclosures  that  protect  trash  bins  from  rain  as  well  as  limit  air 
circulation  would  be  required  for  the  trash  storage  areas.    Diesel  truck  emissions  odors  would  be 
generated  intermittently  from truck  loading and unloading activities at the project site and would not 
likely be noticeable for extended periods of time beyond the project site boundaries.  Due to the distance 
of the nearest receptors from the project site and through compliance with SCAQMD’s Rule 402 and City 
trash  storage  regulations,  no  significant  impact  related  to  odors  would  occur  during  the  on‐going 
operations of the proposed project.  Therefore, a less than significant odor impact would occur and no 
mitigation would be required. 

Level of Significance  
Less than significant impact. 

10.6 Energy Consumption 

The  proposed  project  would  impact  energy  resources  during  construction  and  operation.    Energy 
resources that would be potentially impacted include electricity, natural gas, and petroleum based fuel 
supplies and distribution systems.   This analysis includes a discussion of the potential energy impacts of 
the  proposed  projects,  with  particular  emphasis  on  avoiding  or  reducing  inefficient,  wasteful,  and 
unnecessary consumption of energy.  A general definition of each of these energy resources are provided 
below. 

Electricity,  a  consumptive  utility,  is  a man‐made  resource.  The  production  of  electricity  requires  the 
consumption or conversion of energy resources, including water, wind, oil, gas, coal, solar, geothermal, 
and nuclear resources, into energy. The delivery of electricity involves a number of system components, 
including substations and transformers that lower transmission line power (voltage) to a level appropriate 
for on‐site distribution and use. The electricity generated is distributed through a network of transmission 
and distribution lines commonly called a power grid. Conveyance of electricity through transmission lines 
is typically responsive to market demands.  The TOP 2050 SEIR, provides Table 5.6‐1 that shows in 2019 
the City consumed 1,558,836,470 kWh per year of electricity. 

Natural gas is a combustible mixture of simple hydrocarbon compounds (primarily methane) that is used 
as a fuel source.  Natural gas consumed in California is obtained from naturally occurring reservoirs, mainly 
located outside the State, and delivered through high‐pressure transmission pipelines. The natural gas 

Item E - 257 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 67 

 

transportation  system  is a nationwide network and,  therefore,  resource availability  is  typically not an 
issue. Natural  gas  satisfies  almost  one‐third  of  the  State’s  total  energy  requirements  and  is  used  in 
electricity generation, space heating, cooking, water heating, industrial processes, and as a transportation 
fuel.  Natural gas is measured in terms of cubic feet.   The TOP 2050 SEIR provides Table 5.6‐2 that shows 
in 2019 the City consumed 43,113,540 Therms of natural gas. 

Petroleum‐based fuels currently account for a majority of the California’s transportation energy sources 
and primarily  consist of diesel and gasoline  types of  fuels.   However,  the  state has been working on 
developing strategies to reduce petroleum use. Over the last decade California has implemented several 
policies,  rules,  and  regulations  to  improve  vehicle  efficiency,  increase  the  development  and  use  of 
alternative  fuels, reduce air pollutants and GHG emissions  from the transportation sector, and reduce 
vehicle miles traveled (VMT).  Accordingly, petroleum‐based fuel consumption in California has declined.  
The TOP 2050 SEIR provides Table 5.6‐3  that shows  in 2019  the City consumed 81,600,029 gallons of 
gasoline and 21,679,763 gallons of diesel. 

The following section calculates the potential energy consumption associated with the construction and 
operations of the proposed project and provides a determination if any energy utilized by the proposed 
project is wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy resources. 

Construction Energy  
The construction activities for the proposed project are anticipated to include demolition of the structures 
and pavement onsite, site preparation and grading of the 35.8‐acre project site, building construction of 
the  self‐storage  structures,  caretaker  residence  and  office,  paving  of  the  RV  parking  spaces,  onsite 
driveways and adjacent  road  improvements, and application of architectural  coatings.   The proposed 
project would consume energy resources during construction in three (3) general forms:  

1. Petroleum‐based  fuels  used  to  power  off‐road  construction  vehicles  and  equipment  on  the 
Project Site, construction worker travel to and from the Project Site, as well as delivery and haul 
truck trips (e.g. hauling of demolition material to off‐site reuse and disposal facilities);  

2. Electricity  associated  with  the  conveyance  of  water  that  would  be  used  during  Project 
construction  for dust  control  (supply and  conveyance) and electricity  to power any necessary 
lighting during construction, electronic equipment, or other construction activities necessitating 
electrical power; and, 

3. Energy used in the production of construction materials, such as asphalt, steel, concrete, pipes, 
and manufactured or processed materials such as lumber and glass. 

Construction‐Related Electricity  

During  construction  the  proposed  project  would  consume  electricity  to  construct  the  proposed 
warehouse and  infrastructure. Electricity would be  supplied  to  the project  site by Southern California 
Edison (SCE) and would be obtained from the existing electrical lines in the vicinity of the project site.  The 
use of electricity from existing power lines rather than temporary diesel or gasoline powered generators 
would minimize  impacts on energy use.   Electricity consumed during project construction would vary 
throughout  the  construction  period  based  on  the  construction  activities  being  performed.  Various 
construction activities  include electricity associated with  the conveyance of water  that would be used 
during  project  construction  for  dust  control  (supply  and  conveyance)  and  electricity  to  power  any 
necessary  lighting  during  construction,  electronic  equipment,  or  other  construction  activities 
necessitating electrical power.  Such electricity demand would be temporary, nominal, and would cease 

Item E - 258 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 68 

 

upon the completion of construction. Overall, construction activities associated with the proposed project 
would require limited electricity consumption that would not be expected to have an adverse impact on 
available  electricity  supplies  and  infrastructure.  Therefore,  the  use  of  electricity  during  project 
construction would not be wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary. 

Since  there  is  currently  power  lines  that  run  to  the  project  site,  it  is  anticipated  that  only  nominal 
improvements would  be  required  to  SCE  distribution  lines  and  equipment with  development  of  the 
proposed project.  Compliance with City’s guidelines and requirements would ensure that the proposed 
project  fulfills  its  responsibilities  relative  to  infrastructure  installation,  coordinates  any  electrical 
infrastructure removals or relocations, and limits any impacts associated with construction of the project.  
Construction of the project’s electrical infrastructure is not anticipated to adversely affect the electrical 
infrastructure serving the surrounding uses or utility system capacity. 

Construction‐Related Natural Gas  

Construction of the proposed project typically would not involve the consumption of natural gas.  Natural 
gas would not be supplied to support construction activities, thus there would be no demand generated 
by construction. Since the project site is currently developed that currently has natural gas service to the 
project  site,  construction of  the proposed project would be  limited  to  installation of new natural gas 
connections  within  the  project  site.    Development  of  the  proposed  project would  likely  not  require 
extensive  infrastructure  improvements  to  serve  the  project  site.    Construction‐related  energy  usage 
impacts  associated  with  the  installation  of  natural  gas  connections  are  expected  to  be  confined  to 
trenching in order to place the lines below surface.  In addition, prior to ground disturbance, the proposed 
project would notify and coordinate with SoCal Gas to identify the locations and depth of all existing gas 
lines and avoid disruption of gas service.  Therefore, construction‐related impacts to natural gas supply 
and infrastructure would be less than significant. 

Construction‐Related Petroleum Fuel Use  

Petroleum‐based  fuel  usage  represents  the  highest  amount  of  transportation  energy  potentially 
consumed during construction, which would be utilized by both off‐road equipment operating on  the 
project site and on‐road automobiles transporting workers to and from the project site and on‐road trucks 
transporting equipment and supplies to the project site.  The off‐road construction equipment fuel usage 
was  calculated  through use of  the off‐road equipment assumptions and  fuel use assumptions  shown 
above  in  Section 8.2, which  found  that  construction of  the proposed project would  consume 12,001 
gallons of gasoline and 48,469 gallons of diesel and construction of  the TOP 2050 SEIR project would 
consume 12,115 gallons of gasoline and 48,469 gallons of diesel.   This equates to 0.014 percent of the 
gasoline and 0.22 percent of the diesel consumed annually in the City for the proposed project and 0.015 
percent of the gasoline and 0.22 percent of the diesel consumed annually  in the City for the TOP 2050 
SEIR project. As  such,  the  construction‐related petroleum use would be nominal, when  compared  to 
current petroleum usage rates. 

Construction activities associated with the proposed project would be required to adhere to all State and 
SCAQMD regulations for off‐road equipment and on‐road trucks, which provide minimum fuel efficiency 
standards.   As such, construction activities  for  the proposed project would not  result  in  the wasteful, 
inefficient, and unnecessary consumption of energy resources.  Impacts regarding transportation energy 
would be less than significant.  Development of the project would not result in the need to manufacture 
construction  materials  or  create  new  building  material  facilities  specifically  to  supply  the  proposed 
project.    It  is difficult to measure  the energy used  in the production of construction materials such as 

Item E - 259 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 69 

 

asphalt, steel, and concrete, it is reasonable to assume that the production of building materials such as 
concrete,  steel,  etc.,  would  employ  all  reasonable  energy  conservation  practices  in  the  interest  of 
minimizing the cost of doing business. 

Operational Energy 
The on‐going operation of the proposed project would require the use of energy resources for multiple 
purposes including, but not limited to, heating/ventilating/air conditioning (HVAC), refrigeration, lighting, 
appliances, and electronics.  Energy would also be consumed during operations related to water usage, 
solid waste disposal, landscape equipment and vehicle trips. 

Operations‐Related Electricity 

Operation of  the proposed project would  result  in  consumption of electricity  at  the project  site.   As 
detailed above in Section 8.3, the proposed project would consume 1,358,389 kilowatt‐hours per year of 
electricity, which equates to 0.087 percent of the electricity consumed annually by the City.  The TOP 2050 
SEIR  project would  consume  3,010,880  kilowatt‐hours  per  year  of  electricity, which  equates  to  0.19 
percent of the electricity consumed annually by the City.  As such, the operations‐related electricity use 
would be nominal, when compared to current electricity usage rates in the area. 

It should be noted that, the proposed project would comply with all Federal, State, and City requirements 
related  to  the consumption of electricity,  that  includes CCR Title 24, Part 6 Building Energy Efficiency 
Standards and CCR Title 24, Part 11: California Green Building Standards.  The CCR Title 24, Part 6 and Part 
11  standards  require  numerous  energy  efficiency  measures  to  be  incorporated  into  the  proposed 
warehouse,  including  enhanced  insulation,  use  of  energy  efficient  lighting  and  appliances  as well  as 
requiring  a  variety  of  other  energy‐efficiency  measures  to  be  incorporated  into  all  of  the  proposed 
structure.    Therefore,  it  is  anticipated  the  proposed  project  will  be  designed  and  built  to  minimize 
electricity use and that existing and planned electricity capacity and electricity supplies would be sufficient 
to support the proposed project’s electricity demand. Thus, impacts with regard to electrical supply and 
infrastructure capacity would be less than significant and no mitigation measures would be required. 

Operations‐Related Natural Gas  

Operation of  the proposed project would  result  in consumption of natural gas at  the project site.   As 
detailed above in Section 8.3, the proposed project would consume 34,068 Therms per year of natural 
gas, which equates to 0.079 percent of the natural gas consumed annually in the City.  The TOP 2050 SEIR 
project would consume 45,912 Therms per year of natural gas, which equates  to 0.11 percent of  the 
natural gas  consumed annually  in  the City. As  such,  the operations‐related natural gas use would be 
nominal, when compared to current natural gas usage rates in the City.   

It should be noted that, the proposed project would comply with all Federal, State, and City requirements 
related to the consumption of natural gas, that  includes CCR Title 24, Part 6 Building Energy Efficiency 
Standards and CCR Title 24, Part 11: California Green Building Standards.  The CCR Title 24, Part 6 and Part 
11  standards  require  numerous  energy  efficiency  measures  to  be  incorporated  into  the  proposed 
warehouse,  including enhanced  insulation as well as use of efficient natural gas appliances and HVAC 
units.  Therefore, it is anticipated the proposed project will be designed and built to minimize natural gas 
use and that existing and planned natural gas capacity and natural gas supplies would be sufficient to 
support the proposed project’s natural gas demand.  Thus, impacts with regard to natural gas supply and 
infrastructure capacity would be less than significant and no mitigation measures would be required 

Item E - 260 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 70 

 

Operations‐Related Vehicular Petroleum Fuel Usage 

Operation  of  the  proposed  project would  result  in  increased  consumption  of  petroleum‐based  fuels 
related to vehicular travel to and from the project site.  As detailed above in Section 8.2, the proposed 
project would consume 30,193 gallons of gasoline and 213,075 gallons of diesel per year from vehicle 
travel, which equates to 0.037 percent of the gasoline and 0.98 percent of the diesel consumed in the City 
annually.  The TOP 2050 SEIR project would consume 113,294 gallons of gasoline and 374,258 gallons of 
diesel per year from vehicle travel, which equates to 0.14 percent of the gasoline and 1.73 percent of the 
diesel  consumed  in  the  City  annually.   As  such,  the operations‐related petroleum  fuel  use would  be 
nominal, when compared to current natural gas usage rates in the City. 

As such, the operations‐related petroleum use would be nominal, when compared to current petroleum 
usage  rates.  Therefore,  it  is  anticipated  the proposed project will be designed  and built  to minimize 
transportation  energy  and  it  is  anticipated  that  existing  and  planned  capacity  and  supplies  of 
transportation fuels would be sufficient to support the proposed project’s demand. Thus, impacts with 
regard  transportation energy supply and  infrastructure capacity would be  less  than significant and no 
mitigation measures would be required. 

In conclusion, the proposed project would comply with regulatory compliance measures outlined by the 
State and County related to Air Quality, Greenhouse Gas Emissions (GHG), Transportation/Circulation, and 
Water Supply.  Additionally, the proposed project would be constructed in accordance with all applicable 
County  Building  and  Fire  Codes.    Therefore,  the  proposed  project would  not  result  in  the wasteful, 
inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy resources during project construction or operation.  
Impacts would be less than significant. 

Level of Significance  
Less than significant impact. 

10.7 Energy Plan Consistency 

The proposed project would not conflict with or obstruct a state or  local plan for renewable energy or 
energy efficiency.   The applicable energy plan  for the proposed project  is The Ontario Plan 2050, that 
establishes energy conservation policies  in both  the Environmental Resources Element and  the Safety 
Element.  The proposed project’s consistency with the applicable energy‐related policies in the General 
Plan are shown in Table U.  

Table U – Project Compliance with City General Plan Energy Policies 

Air Quality 
Resources  Description 

Proposed Project Consistency with 
General Plan Policies 

Environmental Resources Element   
Goals     
ER3  Cost‐effective and reliable energy system sustained through 

a combination of low impact buildings, site and 
neighborhood energy conservation, and diverse sources of 
energy generation that collectively helps to minimize the 
region’s carbon footprint. 

Consistent.  The proposed project would 
consist of the development of a low impact 
warehouse as it will be designed to meet 
the most current Title 24 Parts 6 and 11 
energy efficiency standards. 

Policies     

Item E - 261 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 71 

 

Air Quality 
Resources  Description 

Proposed Project Consistency with 
General Plan Policies 

ER‐3.1  Conservation Strategy. We require conservation as the first 
strategy to be employed to meet applicable energy‐saving 
standards. 

Consistent.  The proposed project will  be 
designed to conserve energy through 
adherence to the most current Title 24 
Parts 6 and 11 energy efficiency standards 
that require numerous energy efficiency 
measures to be incorporated into the 
project. 

ER‐3.2  Green Development– Communities. We encourage the use 
of the LEED Neighborhood Development rating system, or 
similar mechanism, to guide the planning and development 
of all new communities. 

Consistent.  The proposed project has 
been designed to meet green building 
standards. 

ER‐3.3  Building and Site Design. We require new construction to 
incorporate energy efficient building and site design 
strategies, which could include appropriate solar orientation, 
maximum use of natural daylight, passive solar, and natural 
ventilation. 

Consistent.  The proposed project will be 
constructed using the most current design 
and technologies including appropriate 
solar orientation and natural ventilation. 

ER‐3.4  Green Development– Public Buildings. We require all new 
and substantially renovated City buildings in excess of 10,000 
square feet achieve a LEED Silver Certification standard, as 
determined by the U.S. Green Building Council. 

Not Applicable. This is a City requirement, 
however the project will be designed to 
meet green building standards. 

ER‐3.5  Fuel‐Efficient and Alternative Energy Vehicles and 
Equipment. We require purchase and use vehicles and 
equipment that are fuel efficient and meet or surpass state 
emissions requirements and/or use renewable sources of 
energy. 

Not Applicable. This is a City requirement 
related to fuel efficient and alternative 
energy vehicles. 

ER‐3.6  Generation‐ Renewable Sources. We promote the use of 
renewable energy sources (e.g., solar, wind, biomass) in 
public and private sector development. 

Consistent.  The proposed project has 
been designed to meet green building 
standards related to renewable sources. 

Safety Element   
Goals     
S‐9  Incorporate energy efficient practices and renewable energy 

systems to improve air quality, comfort, and energy 
reliability during temporary power outages. 

Consistent.  The proposed project will be 
designed to meet the most current Title 24 
Parts 6 and 11 energy efficiency standards, 
which require the installation of solar PV 
systems as well as energy efficient building 
design. 

Policies     
S‐9.1  Solar Energy. We support and may incentivize the 

installation of residential and commercial solar panels and 
battery storage systems that can provide electricity during 
power outages. 

Consistent.  The proposed project will be 
designed to meet the most current Title 24 
Parts 6 and 11 energy efficiency standards, 
which require the installation of solar PV 
systems. 

S‐9.2  Renewable Energy. Renovate existing city‐owned facilities 
and plan future facilities to include renewable energy 
generation capacity and battery storage as part of an effort 
to make public facilities and services greener and more 
resilient to power outages. 

Not Applicable.  This is a City requirement 
for renovating existing City owned 
structures. 

Item E - 262 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 72 

 

Air Quality 
Resources  Description 

Proposed Project Consistency with 
General Plan Policies 

S‐9.3  Energy Efficiency Retrofits. We support and may incentivize 
retrofits to residential and commercial buildings that 
improve energy efficiency and insulation from extreme 
temperatures, giving priority towards low‐income applicants. 

Not Applicable.  No existing structures will 
be renovated as part of the proposed 
project. 

Source: The Ontario Plan 2050 (City of Ontario 2022) 

 
As shown in Table U, the proposed project would be consistent with all applicable energy‐related policies 
provided in the City’s General Plan.  Therefore, the proposed project would not conflict with or obstruct 
a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy efficiency. Impacts would be less than significant. 

Level of Significance  
Less than significant impact. 

10.8 Generation of Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

The proposed project would not generate GHG emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a 
significant impact on the environment.  The proposed project consists of development of a warehouse.  
The proposed project is anticipated to generate GHG emissions from area sources, energy usage, mobile 
sources, waste disposal, water usage, refrigeration, and construction equipment.   On August 16, 2022, 
the  City  of  Ontario  adopted  the  2022  CCAP  that  details  measures  for  the  City  that  includes  new 
development within the City in order to meet the State targets of reducing emissions 40 percent below 
1990 levels by 2030 and 80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050. 

In order to show consistency with the GHG Reduction Plan, quantification of the proposed project’s GHG 
emissions  are not  required.   As  such,  the proposed project’s GHG emissions have been provided  for 
informational purposes only. The proposed project and TOP 2050 SEIR project GHG emissions have been 
calculated with  the CalEEMod model based on  the  construction and operational parameters detailed 
above in Section 8.1.  A summary of the results is shown below in Table V. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item E - 263 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 73 

 

Table V – Project Related Greenhouse Gas Annual Emissions 

  Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Metric Tons per Year) 

Category  CO2  CH4  N2O  CO2e 
Proposed Project         
Mobile Sources1  2,479.00  0.18  0.33  2,587.00 
Area Sources2  3.39  <0.01  <0.01  3.49 
Energy Usage3  396.00  0.04  <0.01  397.00 
Water and Wastewater4  53.80  1.25  0.03  94.00 
Solid Waste5  14.00  1.40  0.00  49.00 
Refrigeration6  ‐‐  ‐‐  ‐‐  107.00 
Off‐Road Equipment7  92.10  <0.01  <0.01  92.20 
Construction8  20.77  <0.01  <0.01  21.13 
Proposed Project Total GHG Emissions  3,059.06  2.87  0.36  3,350.82 
TOP 2050 SEIR Project         
Mobile Sources1  5,192.00  0.36  0.67  5,408.00 
Area Sources2  3.39  <0.01  <0.01  3.40 
Energy Usage3  720.00  0.07  0.01  723.00 
Water and Wastewater4  54.30  1.26  0.03  94.80 
Solid Waste5  18.50  1.85  0.00  64.60 
Refrigeration6  ‐‐  ‐‐  ‐‐  7.21 
Off‐Road Equipment7  206.00  <0.01  <0.01  206.00 
Construction8  20.80  <0.01  <0.01  21.17 
TOP 2050 SEIR Total GHG Emissions  6,214.99  3.54  0.71  6,528.18 
Project Emissions over TOP 2050 SEIR 
Emissions 

‐3,155.93  ‐0.67  ‐0.35  ‐3,177.35 

Notes: 
1 Mobile sources consist of GHG emissions from vehicles. 
2 Area sources consist of GHG emissions from consumer products, architectural coatings, and landscaping equipment. 
3 Energy usage consists of GHG emissions from electricity and natural gas usage.  
4 Water includes GHG emissions from electricity used for transport of water and processing of wastewater. 
5 Solid Waste includes the CO2 and CH4 emissions created from the solid waste placed in landfills. 
6 Refrigeration includes GHG emissions from refrigerants (maximum 10 percent of self‐storage space refrigerated).  
7 Off‐road equipment consists of emissions  from  forklifts utilized onsite  (Project Design Feature 1  restricts  the operation of diesel‐powered 
forklifts, so forklifts have been analyzed as CNG‐powered.  
8 Construction emissions amortized over 30 years as recommended in the SCAQMD GHG Working Group on November 19, 2009. 
Source: CalEEMod Version 2022.1. 
 

The data provided in Table V shows that the proposed project would create 3,350.82 MTCO2e per year 
and  the  TOP  2050  SEIR  project  would  create  6,528.18.  Since  the  2022  CCAP  does  not  provide  any 
quantitative  GHG  emissions  thresholds  to  determine  significance,  this  analysis  has  determined 
significance through a determination if the proposed project would not conflict with any applicable plan 
for reducing GHG emissions. As detailed below in Section 10.9, the proposed project would be consistent 
with the applicable measures in the 2022 CCAP as well as the 2022 CARB Scoping Plan and the Connect 
SoCal.  Therefore,  a  less  than  significant  generation  of  greenhouse  gas  emissions  would  occur  from 
development of the proposed project.  

Level of Significance  
Less than significant impact. 

Item E - 264 of 2173



1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 74 

10.9 Greenhouse Gas Plan Consistency 

The  proposed  project  would  not  conflict  with  any  applicable  plan,  policy  or  regulation  of  an  agency  
adopted  for  the  purpose  of  reducing  GHG  emissions.   The  applicable  plans  for  the  proposed  project 
include  the 2022 CCAP, the 2022 CARB Scoping Plan, and the Connect SoCal.   The project consistency 
analysis to each of these Plans is detailed below. 

Consistency with the 2022 CCAP 
On August 16, 2022,  the  City of  Ontario adopted  the 2022 CCAP  in order  to update  the  community’s  
strategic path to reducing GHG emissions beyond 2020, consistent with the State requirements provided 
in  Senate  Bill  32,  Executive  Orders  S‐3‐05  and  B‐55‐18,  and  California  Public  Resources  Code  Section  
21083.3. The 2022 CCAP provides strategies to meet or exceed the State targets of reducing emissions 40 
percent  below  1990  levels  by  2030  and  80  percent  below  1990  levels  by  2050.     The  2022  CCAP  is  
summarized in Section 5.8 of the Supplemental Environmental Impact Report for The Ontario Plan 2050.  
The 2022 CCAP includes Screening Tables that require the project applicant to commit to implement 100 
points of mitigation measures into the proposed project in order for the project to be consistent with the 
CAP.   The project applicant has reviewed the Screening Tables and selected 103 points of mitigation to 
implement into the proposed project, which goes above and beyond the minimum 100 points required.  
The  Screening  Tables  and  selected  mitigation  measures  are  shown  in  Appendix  D.     Therefore,  the  
proposed project would not conflict with the City’s GHG reduction measures that includes the 2022 CCAP. 

Consistency with the 2022 CARB Scoping Plan 
The 2022 Scoping Plan identifies additional GHG reduction actions and strategies necessary to achieve the 
AB 1279 target of 85 percent below 1990 levels by 2045. These actions and strategies build upon those 
identified  in the first update to the Scoping Plan  (2013) and  in the second update to the Scoping Plan 
(2017). Although a number of these measures are currently established as statewide regulations, some 
measures have not yet been formally proposed or adopted. It is expected that these measures or similar 
actions to reduce GHG emissions will be adopted as required to achieve statewide GHG emissions targets.  
Provided  in Table W, Consistency with the 2022 Scoping Plan,  is an evaluation of applicable reduction 
actions/strategies  by  emissions  source  category  to  determine  how  the  proposed  project  would  be  
consistent with or exceed reduction actions/strategies outlined in the 2022 Scoping Plan.  

Table W – Project Consistency with the 2022 Scoping Plan 

AB 32 GHG Inventory Sector (shown in Bold) 
and Scoping Plan Action  Proposed Project Consistency with Scoping Plan Actions  

GHG Emissions Reductions Relative to the SB 32 Target 
40% below 1990 levels by 2030.  No Conflict. Senate Bill 32 and Assembly Bill 197 have codified 

this emission target into statute that requires emissions 
reductions for sources covered by the AB 32 inventory, which 
includes new non‐residential building construction.  In order to 
achieve these emissions reduction targets the CEC has increased 
the energy‐efficiency standards in the most current 2022 Title 
24, Part 6 building energy requirements that increases the 
onsite renewable energy generation requirements as well as 
requires the use of greater insulation and more efficient 
appliances that will reduce GHG emissions.   

Smart Growth / Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) 

Item E - 265 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 75 

 

AB 32 GHG Inventory Sector (shown in Bold) 
and Scoping Plan Action  Proposed Project Consistency with Scoping Plan Actions  

VMT per capita reduced 25% below 2019 levels 
by 2030, and 30% below 2019 levels by 2045. 

No Conflict. Senate Bill 375 directs each regional MPO (SCAG is 
MPO for project area) to adopt a SCS/RTP that meet this 
reduction target.  The Connect SoCal was prepared to meet 
these reduction targets.  Table X, below details how the 
proposed project would not conflict with the Connect SoCal. As 
such, the proposed project would not conflict with this Strategy. 
 

Light‐Duty Vehicle (LDV) Zero‐Emission Vehicles (ZEVs) 
100% of LDV sales are ZEV by 2035.  No Conflict. Executive Order N‐79‐20 requires all new LDVs sold 

in California to be zero‐emission by the year 2035.    The 
proposed project will be designed to meet the 2022 Title 24, 
Part 6 and Part 11 requirements that require the proposed 
parking lot to include designated spaces for ZEVs and include 
ZEV charging stations.  As such, the proposed project would not 
conflict with this Strategy. 

Truck ZEVs   
100% of medium‐duty (MDV)/HDC sales are ZEV 
by 2040 (AB 74 University of California Institute 
of Transportation Studies [ITS] report). 

No Conflict. Executive Order N‐79‐20 requires all new LDVs sold 
in California to be zero‐emission by the year 2045.    The freight 
trucks associated with the proposed project would be primarily 
limited to trucks making deliveries to the project site during 
construction and operation of the project.  No trucks would be 
maintained by the proposed project or potentially charged on 
the project site.   As such, the proposed Project would not 
conflict with this Strategy.  

Aviation 
20% of aviation fuel demand is met by electricity 
(batteries) or hydrogen (fuel cells) in 2045. 
Sustainable aviation fuel meets most or the rest 
of the aviation fuel demand that has not already 
transitioned to hydrogen or batteries. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not utilize any 
aviation fuel. 

Ocean‐going Vessels (OGV)   
2020 OGV At‐Berth regulation fully 
implemented, with most OGVs utilizing shore 
power by 2027. 
25% of OGVs utilize hydrogen fuel cell electric 
technology by 2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not utilize any 
OGVs. 

Port Operations   
100% of cargo handling equipment is zero‐
emission by 2037. 
100% of drayage trucks are zero emission by 
2035. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not impact any 
operations at any ports. 

Freight and Passenger Rail   
100% of passenger and other locomotive sales 
are ZEV by 2030. 
100% of line haul locomotive sales are ZEV by 
2035. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not impact any 
freight or passenger rail operations. 

Item E - 266 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 76 

 

AB 32 GHG Inventory Sector (shown in Bold) 
and Scoping Plan Action  Proposed Project Consistency with Scoping Plan Actions  

Line haul and passenger rail rely primarily on 
hydrogen fuel cell technology, and others 
primarily utilize electricity. 
Oil and Gas Extraction   
Reduce oil and gas extraction operations in line 
with petroleum demand by 2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not impact any oil 
and gas extraction activities. 

Petroleum Refining   
CCS on majority of operations by 2030, 
beginning in 2028. 
Production reduced in line with petroleum 
demand. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not impact any 
petroleum refining activities. 

Electricity Generation   
Sector GHG target of 38 million metric tons of 
carbon dioxide equivalent (MMTCO2e) in 2030 
and 30 MMTCO2e in 2035. 
Retail sales load coverage134 
20 gigawatts (GW) of offshore wind by 2045. 
Meet increased demand for electrification 
without new fossil gas‐fired resources. 

No Conflict. Senate Bill 100 requires that 100 percent of retail 
sales of electricity be generated by renewable or zero‐carbon 
source of electricity by December 1, 2045.  The proposed 
project would be designed to meet the most current 2022 Title 
24, Part 6 building energy requirements that increases the 
onsite renewable energy generation requirements as well as 
requires the use of greater insulation and more efficient 
appliances that will reduce the proposed structures electrical 
usage.   

New Residential and Commercial Buildings   
All electric appliances beginning 2026 
(residential) and 2029 (commercial), 
contributing to 6 million heat pumps installed 
statewide by 2030. 

No Conflict.  The new 2022 Title 24, Part 6 building energy 
requirements detail that all new structures with built‐in 
appliances to be wired for electric appliances, regardless if 
natural gas appliances are initially installed.  As such, the 
proposed project would not conflict with this Strategy. 

Existing Residential Buildings   
80% of appliance sales are electric by 2030 and 
100% of appliance sales are electric by 2035. 
Appliances are replaced at end of life such that 
by 2030 there are 3 million all‐electric and 
electric‐ready homes—and by 2035, 7 million 
homes—as well as contributing to 6 million heat 
pumps installed statewide by 2030. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include any 
existing residential buildings. 

Existing Commercial Buildings   
80% of appliance sales are electric by 2030, and 
100% of appliance sales are electric by 2045. 
Appliances are replaced at end of life, 
contributing to 6 million heat pumps installed 
statewide by 2030. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include any 
existing commercial buildings. 

Food Products   
7.5% of energy demand electrified directly 
and/or indirectly by 2030; 75% by 2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include any 
commercial food production activities. 
 

Construction Equipment   

Item E - 267 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 77 

 

AB 32 GHG Inventory Sector (shown in Bold) 
and Scoping Plan Action  Proposed Project Consistency with Scoping Plan Actions  

25% of energy demand electrified by 2030 and 
75% electrified by 2045. 

No Conflict.  Executive Order N‐79‐20 requires all off‐road 
vehicles and equipment to transition to 100 percent zero‐
emission equipment, where feasible, by 2035.  All construction 
equipment fleets utilized during construction of the proposed 
project are required to be registered with CARB and meet 
CARB’s current emission reductions regulations, which are 
anticipated to be updated to meet Executive Order N‐79‐20 
requirements.  As such, the proposed project would not conflict 
with this Strategy. 

Chemicals and Allied Products; Pulp and Paper   
Electrify 0% of boilers by 2030 and 100% of 
boilers by 2045. 
Hydrogen for 25% of process heat by 2035 and 
100% by 2045. 
Electrify 100% of other energy demand by 2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include any 
pulp and paper production activities.  

Stone, Clay, Glass, and Cement   
CCS on 40% of operations by 2035 and on all 
facilities by 2045. 
Process emissions reduced through alternative 
materials and CCS. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include any 
stone, clay, glass and cement production activities.   

Other Industrial Manufacturing   
0% energy demand electrified by 2030 and 50% 
by 2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include any 
other industrial manufacturing activities.   

Combined Heat and Power   
Facilities retire by 2040.  Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include any 

existing combined heat and power facilities. 
Agriculture Energy Use   
25% energy demand electrified by 2030 and 75% 
by 2045. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include any 
commercial agriculture activities. 

Low Carbon Fuels for Transportation   
Biomass supply is used to produce conventional 
and advanced biofuels, as well as hydrogen. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include any 
production of fuels for transportation. 

Low Carbon Fuels for Buildings and Industry   
In 2030s, biomethane135 blended in pipeline 
Renewable hydrogen blended in fossil gas 
pipeline at 7% energy (~20% by volume), 
ramping up between 2030 and 2040. 
In 2030s, dedicated hydrogen pipelines 
constructed to serve certain industrial clusters. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include any 
production of fuels for buildings and industry. 

Non‐combustion Methane Emissions   
Increase landfill and dairy digester methane 
capture. 
Some alternative manure management 
deployed for smaller dairies. 
Moderate adoption of enteric strategies by 
2030. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include the 
operation of any landfill or dairy. 
 

Item E - 268 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 78 

 

AB 32 GHG Inventory Sector (shown in Bold) 
and Scoping Plan Action  Proposed Project Consistency with Scoping Plan Actions  

Divert 75% of organic waste from landfills by 
2025. 
Oil and gas fugitive methane emissions reduced 
50% by 2030 and further reductions as 
infrastructure components retire in line with 
reduced fossil gas demand. 
High GWP Potential Emissions   
Low GWP refrigerants introduced as building 
electrification increases, mitigating HFC 
emissions. 

Not Applicable. The proposed project would not include the 
manufacturing of appliances that use low GWP refrigerants.   

Source: CARB, 2022. 
 
 
As shown above in Table W, the proposed project would not conflict with any proposed action or strategy 
in the 2022 CARB Scoping Plan.  Therefore, the proposed project would be consistent with the 2022 CARB 
Scoping Plan and potential impacts would be less than significant in this regard. 

Consistency with Connect SoCal  
SB 375 requires CARB to set regional targets for GHG emissions reductions from passenger vehicle use. It 
is up to each MPO  in the State  (SCAG  is the MPO for Southern California) to adopt a SCS to meet the 
reduction target set by CARB for the Southern California region.  The Connect SoCal is the most current 
SCS adopted by SCAG that was prepared to meet a 2035 GHG emission reduction target of 19 percent 
reduction over the 2005 per capita emissions  levels through new  initiatives of  land use, transportation 
and technology.  Provided in Table X, Consistency with the Connect SoCal, is an evaluation of applicable 
goals and strategies to determine how the proposed project would be consistent with or exceed reduction 
strategies outlined in the Connect SoCal.  

Table X – Project Consistency with the Connect SoCal 

Goals and Strategies  Consistency Assessment 
Connect SoCal Goals 
Goal 1: Encourage regional economic 
prosperity and global competitiveness. 

Not Applicable. This Goal is directed at SCAG and the City and does 
not apply to the proposed project. This strategy calls on 
encouraging regional economic prosperity and global 
competitiveness. The proposed project would not interfere with 
such policymaking. 

Goal 2:  Improve mobility, accessibility, 
reliability, and travel safety for people and 
goods. 

Consistent. The project proposes to construct a new warehouse in 
an infill development area that will provide jobs to nearby residents 
in an area where there is more housing than jobs and is therefore 
consistent with this Goal. 

Goal 3: Enhance the preservation, security, 
and resilience of the regional transportation 
system. 

Consistent. The project would install sidewalks on the project site, 
adjacent to Francis Street that would be lighted.  The project would 
improve public safety infrastructure in the vicinity of the project 
site by providing new lighting within the project site and around the 
perimeter.   

Item E - 269 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 79 

 

Goals and Strategies  Consistency Assessment 
Goal 4: Increase person and goods 
movement and travel choices within the 
transportation system. 

Not Applicable. This strategy calls on SCAG to increase person and 
goods movement and travel choices across the transportation 
system. The proposed project would not interfere with this goal. 

Goal 5: Reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
and improve air quality.  

Consistent. The project would result in criteria air pollutant and 
GHG emissions during construction and operation. However, 
emissions would not exceed the SCAQMD significance thresholds 
and would be consistent with the 2022 CCAP. 

Goal 6: Support healthy and equitable 
communities.  

Consistent. The project would be consistent with this Goal by 
facilitating the use of alternative modes of transportation, which 
would aid in reducing car trips and positively impact air quality. The 
project includes bicycle parking spaces for the employees and 
customers. The project would encourage pedestrian travel by 
providing a sidewalk on the project site adjacent to Francis Street.  

Goal 7: Adapt to a changing climate and 
support an integrated regional development 
pattern and transportation network. 

Not Applicable. This goal is directed towards SCAG and does not 
apply to individual development projects.  

Goal 8: Leverage new transportation 
technologies and data‐driven solutions that 
result in more efficient travel. 

Not Applicable. This Goal is directed towards SCAG and does not 
apply to the proposed Project. This strategy calls on SCAG to use 
new transportation technologies and data‐driven solutions to 
increase efficiency. The proposed Project would not interfere with 
this goal. 

Goal 9: Encourage development of diverse 
housing types in areas that are supported by 
multiple transportation options. 

Not Applicable. This Goal does not apply to warehouse 
development projects. 

Goal 10: Promote conservation of natural 
and agricultural lands and restoration of 
habitats. 

Consistent. The project site does not include any agricultural lands. 
As such, the proposed project would not interfere with this goal. 

Connect SoCal Strategies   
Strategy 1: Focus growth near destinations 
and mobility options. 

Consistent. The proposed project would construct a new 
warehouse in an infill development area. The project would provide 
pedestrian and bicycle connectivity to encourage use of alternative 
transportation. 

Strategy 2: Promote diverse housing choices.  Not Applicable. This Strategy does not apply to warehouse 
development projects. 

Strategy 3: Leverage technology innovations.  Not Applicable. This strategy is directed to SCAG and jurisdictions 
and does not apply to the proposed project. This strategy aims to 
promote low emission technologies, improve access to services 
through technology, and identify ways to incorporate micro power 
grids into communities. The proposed project would not interfere 
with this strategy. 

Strategy 4: Support implementation of 
sustainability policies. 

Consistent. The proposed project would incorporate Green Building 
Measures, including water efficient landscaping, efficient lighting, 
low‐flush toilets, and energy efficient appliances. 

Strategy 5: Promote a Green Region.  Consistent. The proposed project would include 32,137 square feet 
of landscaped area Additionally, the development would emphasize 
sustainable landscaping features that promote more resource 
efficient development.  

Item E - 270 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 80 

 

Source: SCAG, 2020. 
 
 
As shown above in Table W, the proposed project would not conflict with any proposed goal or strategy 
in the Connect SoCal.  Therefore, the proposed project would be consistent with the Connect SoCal plan 
and potential impacts would be less than significant in this regard. 

As detailed above, the proposed project would not conflict with any applicable plan, policy or regulation 
of an agency adopted for the purpose of reducing GHG emissions, and impacts related to GHG emissions 
would be less than significant. 

Level of Significance  
Less than significant impact. 

 

Item E - 271 of 2173



1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 81 

11.0  REFERENCES   

California  Air  Pollution  Control  Officers  Association,  California  Emissions  Estimator  Model  (CalEEMod)  
version 2022.1  

California Air Resources Board, 2017 Off‐Road Diesel Emission Factor Update for NOx and PM, 2017. 

California Air Resources Board, 2022 Scoping Plan for Achieving Carbon Neutrality, November 16, 2022. 

California Air Resources Board, Appendix VII Risk Characterization Scenarios, October 2000. 

California Air Resources Board, California’s 2017 Climate Change Scoping Plan, November 2017. 

California Air Resources Board, California Greenhouse Gas Emissions for 2000 to 2019 Trends of Emissions 
and Other Indicators, July 28, 2021. 

California Air Resources Board, Resolution 08‐43, December 12, 2008. 

California Air Resources Board, Final Staff Report Proposed Update to the SB 375 Greenhouse Gas Emission 
Reduction Targets, October 2017. 

California Air Resources Board, The California Almanac of Emissions and Air Quality 2013 Edition. 

California Department of Conservation, A General Guide for Ultramafic Rocks in California – Areas More 
Likely to Contain Naturally Occurring Asbestos, August, 2000. 

California  Energy  Commission,  2022  Building  Energy  Efficiency  Standards  for  Residential  and  
Nonresidential Buildings, August 2022. 

California  Natural  Resources  Agency,  2022  California  Environmental  Quality  Act  (CEQA)  Statute  and  
Guidelines, Association of Environmental Professionals, 2022. 

City of Ontario, Community Climate Action Plan, November 2014. 

City of Ontario, Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Report The Ontario Plan 2050, August, 2022. 

City of Ontario, Greenhouse Gas Emissions Screening Tables, March 2023. 

City of Ontario, The Ontario Plan 2050, August 16, 2022. 

City of Ontario, Ontario Community Climate Action Plan, August 16, 2022. 

Environmental Protection Agency, Nonattainment Major New Source Review  Implementation Under 8‐
Hour Ozone National Ambient Air Quality Standard: Reconsideration, June 30, 2005. 

Environmental Protection Agency, Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks 1990‐2020, April 
15, 2022.  

EPD Solutions, Inc., Table 1 – 1600 E Francis, Ontario Trip Generation, 2023. 

Item E - 272 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 82 

 

Office  of  Environmental  Health  Hazard  Assessment  (OEHHA),  Air  Toxics  Hot  Spots  Program  Risk 
Assessment Guidelines Guidance Manual for Preparation of Health Risk Assessments, February 2015 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, CEQA Air Quality Handbook, April 1993. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, 2022 Air Quality Management Plan, December 2, 2022. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, Final 2016 Air Quality Management Plan, March, 2017.  

South Coast Air Quality Management District, Final Localized Significance Threshold Methodology, Revised 
July 2008. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, Rule 402 Nuisance, Adopted May 7, 1976. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, Rule 403 Fugitive Dust, Amended June 3, 2005. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, Rule 1108 Cutback Asphalt, Amended February 1, 1985. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, Rule 1108.1 Emulsified Asphalt, Amended November 4, 
1983. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, Rule 1113 Architectural Coatings, Amended September 6, 
2013. 

South  Coast  Air  Quality  Management  District,  Rule  1143  Consumer  Paint  Thinners  & Multi‐Purpose 
Solvents, Amended December 3, 2010. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, Rule 1403 Asbestos Emissions from Demolition/ Renovation 
Activities, Amended October 5, 2007 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, SCAQMD Air Quality Significance Thresholds, March 2015. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, Draft Report Multiple Air Toxics Exposure Study in the South 
Coast Air Basin, MATES III, January 2008. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, Draft Report Multiple Air Toxics Exposure Study in the South 
Coast Air Basin, MATES‐IV, October 2014. 

South Coast Air Quality Management District, MATES V Multiple Air Toxics Exposure Study  in the South 
Coast AQMD Final Report, August 2021. 

Southern California Association of Governments, 2020‐2045 Regional Transportation Plan/Sustainable 
Communities Strategy (Connect SoCal), September 3, 2020. 

Southern  California Association  of Governments,  2019  Federal  Transportation  Improvement  Program 
(FTIP) Guidelines, September 2018. 

University of California, Davis, Transportation Project‐Level Carbon Monoxide Protocol, December 1997. 

U.S. Geological Survey, Reported Historic Asbestos Mines, Historic Asbestos Prospects, and Other Natural 
Occurrences of Asbestos in California, 2011. 

Item E - 273 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Appendix  A 

 
 
 

APPENDIX A 

 

Proposed Project CalEEMod Model Printouts 

 

 

Item E - 274 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

1 
/5

3

16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t

Ta
bl

e
of

C
on

te
nt

s

1.
B

as
ic

P
ro

je
ct

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

1.
1.

B
as

ic
P

ro
je

ct
In

fo
rm

at
io

n

1.
2.

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

s

1.
3.

U
se

r-
S

el
ec

te
d

E
m

is
si

on
R

ed
uc

tio
n

M
ea

su
re

s
by

E
m

is
si

on
s

S
ec

to
r

2.
E

m
is

si
on

s
S

um
m

ar
y

2.
1.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

m
is

si
on

s
C

om
pa

re
d

A
ga

in
st

T
hr

es
ho

ld
s

2.
2.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

Ye
ar

,U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

2.
4.

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
E

m
is

si
on

s
C

om
pa

re
d

A
ga

in
st

T
hr

es
ho

ld
s

2.
5.

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
ec

to
r,

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

3.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
m

is
si

on
s

D
et

ai
ls

3.
1.

D
em

ol
iti

on
(2

02
3)

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

3.
3.

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

3.
5.

G
ra

di
ng

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

3.
7.

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

Item E - 275 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

2 
/5

3

3.
9.

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

(2
02

4)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

3.
11

.P
av

in
g

(2
02

4)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

3.
13

.A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
(2

02
4)

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

E
m

is
si

on
s

D
et

ai
ls

4.
1.

M
ob

ile
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
1.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
2.

E
ne

rg
y

4.
2.

1.
E

le
ct

ric
ity

E
m

is
si

on
s

B
y

La
nd

U
se

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
2.

3.
N

at
ur

al
G

as
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
La

nd
U

se
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

4.
3.

A
re

a
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
ou

rc
e

4.
3.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
4.

W
at

er
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
4.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
5.

W
as

te
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
5.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
6.

R
ef

rig
er

an
tE

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
6.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

Item E - 276 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

3 
/5

3

4.
7.

O
ffr

oa
d

E
m

is
si

on
s

B
y

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

4.
7.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
8.

S
ta

tio
na

ry
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
E

qu
ip

m
en

tT
yp

e

4.
8.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
9.

U
se

r
D

ef
in

ed
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
E

qu
ip

m
en

tT
yp

e

4.
9.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
10

.S
oi

lC
ar

bo
n

A
cc

um
ul

at
io

n
B

y
V

eg
et

at
io

n
Ty

pe

4.
10

.1
.S

oi
lC

ar
bo

n
A

cc
um

ul
at

io
n

B
y

V
eg

et
at

io
n

Ty
pe

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
10

.2
.A

bo
ve

an
d

B
el

ow
gr

ou
nd

C
ar

bo
n

A
cc

um
ul

at
io

n
by

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
10

.3
.A

vo
id

ed
an

d
S

eq
ue

st
er

ed
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
pe

ci
es

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
A

ct
iv

ity
D

at
a

5.
1.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
S

ch
ed

ul
e

5.
2.

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t

5.
2.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
3.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
V

eh
ic

le
s

5.
3.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
4.

V
eh

ic
le

s

Item E - 277 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

4 
/5

3

5.
4.

1.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

V
eh

ic
le

C
on

tr
ol

S
tr

at
eg

ie
s

5.
5.

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

gs

5.
6.

D
us

tM
iti

ga
tio

n

5.
6.

1.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
ar

th
m

ov
in

g
A

ct
iv

iti
es

5.
6.

2.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
ar

th
m

ov
in

g
C

on
tr

ol
S

tr
at

eg
ie

s

5.
7.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
P

av
in

g

5.
8.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

le
ct

ric
ity

C
on

su
m

pt
io

n
an

d
E

m
is

si
on

s
Fa

ct
or

s

5.
9.

O
pe

ra
tio

na
lM

ob
ile

S
ou

rc
es

5.
9.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
10

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lA

re
a

S
ou

rc
es

5.
10

.1
.H

ea
rt

hs

5.
10

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

5.
10

.2
.A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

C
oa

tin
gs

5.
10

.3
.L

an
ds

ca
pe

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

5.
11

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lE

ne
rg

y
C

on
su

m
pt

io
n

5.
11

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
12

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lW

at
er

an
d

W
as

te
w

at
er

C
on

su
m

pt
io

n

Item E - 278 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

5 
/5

3

5.
12

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
13

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lW

as
te

G
en

er
at

io
n

5.
13

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
14

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lR

ef
rig

er
at

io
n

an
d

A
ir

C
on

di
tio

ni
ng

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

5.
14

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
15

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lO

ff-
R

oa
d

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

5.
15

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
16

.S
ta

tio
na

ry
S

ou
rc

es

5.
16

.1
.E

m
er

ge
nc

y
G

en
er

at
or

s
an

d
F

ire
P

um
ps

5.
16

.2
.P

ro
ce

ss
B

oi
le

rs

5.
17

.U
se

r
D

ef
in

ed

5.
18

.V
eg

et
at

io
n

5.
18

.1
.L

an
d

U
se

C
ha

ng
e

5.
18

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

5.
18

.1
.B

io
m

as
s

C
ov

er
Ty

pe

5.
18

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

5.
18

.2
.S

eq
ue

st
ra

tio
n

Item E - 279 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

6 
/5

3

5.
18

.2
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

6.
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

D
et

ai
le

d
R

ep
or

t

6.
1.

C
lim

at
e

R
is

k
S

um
m

ar
y

6.
2.

In
iti

al
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

S
co

re
s

6.
3.

A
dj

us
te

d
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

S
co

re
s

6.
4.

C
lim

at
e

R
is

k
R

ed
uc

tio
n

M
ea

su
re

s

7.
H

ea
lth

an
d

E
qu

ity
D

et
ai

ls

7.
1.

C
al

E
nv

iro
S

cr
ee

n
4.

0
S

co
re

s

7.
2.

H
ea

lth
y

P
la

ce
s

In
de

x
S

co
re

s

7.
3.

O
ve

ra
ll

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
S

co
re

s

7.
4.

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
M

ea
su

re
s

7.
5.

E
va

lu
at

io
n

S
co

re
ca

rd

7.
6.

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
C

us
to

m
M

ea
su

re
s

8.
U

se
r

C
ha

ng
es

to
D

ef
au

lt
D

at
a

Item E - 280 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

7 
/5

3

1.
B

as
ic

P
ro

je
ct

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

1.
1.

B
as

ic
P

ro
je

ct
In

fo
rm

at
io

n

D
at

a
F

ie
ld

V
al

ue

P
ro

je
ct

N
am

e
16

00
E

Fr
an

ci
s

-
P

ro
po

se
d

P
ro

je
ct

Le
ad

A
ge

nc
y

—

La
nd

U
se

S
ca

le
P

ro
je

ct
/s

ite

A
na

ly
si

s
Le

ve
lf

or
D

ef
au

lts
C

ou
nt

y

W
in

ds
pe

ed
(m

/s
)

2.
80

P
re

ci
pi

ta
tio

n
(d

ay
s)

20
.8

Lo
ca

tio
n

34
.0

40
81

02
55

10
68

9,
-1

17
.6

18
30

59
65

22
59

4

C
ou

nt
y

S
an

B
er

na
rd

in
o-

S
ou

th
C

oa
st

C
ity

O
nt

ar
io

A
ir

D
is

tr
ic

t
S

ou
th

C
oa

st
A

Q
M

D

A
ir

B
as

in
S

ou
th

C
oa

st

TA
Z

52
96

E
D

F
Z

10

E
le

ct
ric

U
til

ity
S

ou
th

er
n

C
al

ifo
rn

ia
E

di
so

n

G
as

U
til

ity
S

ou
th

er
n

C
al

ifo
rn

ia
G

as

1.
2.

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

s

La
nd

U
se

S
ub

ty
pe

S
iz

e
U

ni
t

Lo
tA

cr
ea

ge
B

ui
ld

in
g

A
re

a
(s

q
ft)

La
nd

sc
ap

e
A

re
a

(s
q

ft)
S

pe
ci

al
La

nd
sc

ap
e

A
re

a
(s

q
ft)

P
op

ul
at

io
n

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

U
nr

ef
rig

er
at

ed
W

ar
eh

ou
se

-N
o

R
ai

l
13

7
10

00
sq

ft
3.

89
13

6,
99

8
16

,1
97

—
—

—

R
ef

rig
er

at
ed

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

24
.0

10
00

sq
ft

0.
55

24
,1

76
2,

85
8

—
—

—

Item E - 281 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

8 
/5

3

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

6.
00

10
00

sq
ft

0.
14

6,
00

0
70

9
—

—
—

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

2.
00

A
cr

e
2.

40
0.

00
12

,3
72

—
—

—

1.
3.

U
se

r-
S

el
ec

te
d

E
m

is
si

on
R

ed
uc

tio
n

M
ea

su
re

s
by

E
m

is
si

on
s

S
ec

to
r

N
o

m
ea

su
re

s
se

le
ct

ed

2.
E

m
is

si
on

s
S

um
m

ar
y

2.
1.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

m
is

si
on

s
C

om
pa

re
d

A
ga

in
st

T
hr

es
ho

ld
s

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

U
n/

M
it.

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nm

it.
4.

05
39

.9
37

.1
0.

07
1.

81
11

.1
12

.4
1.

66
3.

10
4.

76
10

,1
40

0.
90

1.
07

14
.5

10
,4

94

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nm

it.
50

.1
39

.9
36

.7
0.

05
1.

81
9.

51
11

.3
1.

66
3.

10
4.

76
5,

54
7

0.
39

0.
38

0.
18

5,
56

9

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
(M

ax
)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nm

it.
3.

65
7.

27
10

.5
0.

02
0.

30
1.

35
1.

57
0.

27
0.

29
0.

50
2,

35
7

0.
12

0.
10

1.
52

2,
39

1

A
nn

ua
l

(M
ax

)
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
0.

67
1.

33
1.

92
<

0.
00

5
0.

05
0.

25
0.

29
0.

05
0.

05
0.

09
39

0
0.

02
0.

02
0.

25
39

6

E
xc

ee
ds

(D
ai

ly
M

ax
)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

T
hr

es
ho

ld
75

.0
10

0
55

0
15

0
—

—
15

0
—

—
55

.0
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
N

o
N

o
N

o
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 282 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

9 
/5

3

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
E

xc
ee

ds
(A

ve
ra

ge
D

ai
ly

)

T
hr

es
ho

ld
75

.0
10

0
55

0
15

0
—

—
15

0
—

—
55

.0
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
N

o
N

o
N

o
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
—

—
—

2.
2.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

Ye
ar

,U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Ye
ar

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
-

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

20
23

4.
05

39
.9

37
.1

0.
07

1.
81

11
.1

12
.4

1.
66

3.
10

4.
76

10
,1

40
0.

90
1.

07
14

.5
10

,4
94

20
24

1.
59

12
.5

19
.5

0.
03

0.
51

1.
14

1.
65

0.
47

0.
28

0.
75

4,
25

9
0.

21
0.

18
6.

40
4,

32
5

D
ai

ly
-

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

20
23

4.
04

39
.9

36
.7

0.
05

1.
81

9.
51

11
.3

1.
66

3.
10

4.
76

5,
54

7
0.

39
0.

38
0.

18
5,

56
9

20
24

50
.1

12
.6

18
.1

0.
03

0.
51

1.
14

1.
65

0.
47

0.
28

0.
75

4,
17

6
0.

21
0.

18
0.

17
4,

23
5

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

20
23

0.
55

5.
61

5.
64

0.
01

0.
23

1.
35

1.
57

0.
21

0.
29

0.
50

1,
40

5
0.

10
0.

10
0.

77
1,

43
8

20
24

3.
65

7.
27

10
.5

0.
02

0.
30

0.
63

0.
92

0.
27

0.
15

0.
43

2,
35

7
0.

12
0.

10
1.

52
2,

39
1

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

20
23

0.
10

1.
02

1.
03

<
0.

00
5

0.
04

0.
25

0.
29

0.
04

0.
05

0.
09

23
3

0.
02

0.
02

0.
13

23
8

20
24

0.
67

1.
33

1.
92

<
0.

00
5

0.
05

0.
11

0.
17

0.
05

0.
03

0.
08

39
0

0.
02

0.
02

0.
25

39
6

2.
4.

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
E

m
is

si
on

s
C

om
pa

re
d

A
ga

in
st

T
hr

es
ho

ld
s

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Item E - 283 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

10
 /

53

U
n/

M
it.

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nm

it.
6.

37
20

.2
59

.4
0.

14
0.

32
2.

95
3.

27
0.

31
0.

67
0.

98
18

,6
92

17
.3

2.
22

69
7

20
,4

83

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nm

it.
5.

14
20

.9
50

.5
0.

14
0.

31
2.

95
3.

26
0.

30
0.

67
0.

96
18

,5
31

17
.3

2.
22

64
6

20
,2

71

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
(M

ax
)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nm

it.
5.

95
20

.1
45

.7
0.

14
0.

31
2.

95
3.

27
0.

30
0.

67
0.

97
18

,3
47

17
.3

2.
22

66
7

20
,1

09

A
nn

ua
l

(M
ax

)
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
1.

09
3.

67
8.

33
0.

03
0.

06
0.

54
0.

60
0.

06
0.

12
0.

18
3,

03
8

2.
87

0.
37

11
0

3,
32

9

E
xc

ee
ds

(D
ai

ly
M

ax
)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

T
hr

es
ho

ld
55

.0
55

.0
55

0
15

0
—

—
15

0
—

—
55

.0
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
N

o
N

o
N

o
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
—

—
—

E
xc

ee
ds

(A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

T
hr

es
ho

ld
55

.0
55

.0
55

0
15

0
—

—
15

0
—

—
55

.0
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
N

o
N

o
N

o
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
—

—
—

E
xc

ee
ds

(A
nn

ua
l)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

T
hr

es
ho

ld
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
3,

00
0

U
nm

it.
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
Ye

s

2.
5.

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
ec

to
r,

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Item E - 284 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

11
 /

53

S
ec

to
r

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

M
ob

ile
1.

11
15

.7
16

.1
0.

14
0.

24
2.

95
3.

19
0.

23
0.

67
0.

89
15

,0
83

1.
09

2.
01

53
.2

15
,7

64

A
re

a
5.

21
0.

06
7.

27
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
29

.9
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

30
.8

E
ne

rg
y

0.
05

0.
91

0.
77

0.
01

0.
07

—
0.

07
0.

07
—

0.
07

2,
38

9
0.

22
0.

02
—

2,
40

0

W
at

er
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
32

5
7.

55
0.

18
—

56
8

W
as

te
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
84

.6
8.

45
0.

00
—

29
6

R
ef

rig
.

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
64

4
64

4

O
ff-

R
oa

d
0.

00
3.

53
35

.2
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
78

1
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

78
1

To
ta

l
6.

37
20

.2
59

.4
0.

14
0.

32
2.

95
3.

27
0.

31
0.

67
0.

98
18

,6
92

17
.3

2.
22

69
7

20
,4

83

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

M
ob

ile
1.

07
16

.4
14

.6
0.

14
0.

24
2.

95
3.

19
0.

23
0.

67
0.

89
14

,9
52

1.
09

2.
02

1.
38

15
,5

82

A
re

a
4.

02
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

E
ne

rg
y

0.
05

0.
91

0.
77

0.
01

0.
07

—
0.

07
0.

07
—

0.
07

2,
38

9
0.

22
0.

02
—

2,
40

0

W
at

er
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
32

5
7.

55
0.

18
—

56
8

W
as

te
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
84

.6
8.

45
0.

00
—

29
6

R
ef

rig
.

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
64

4
64

4

O
ff-

R
oa

d
0.

00
3.

53
35

.2
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
78

1
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

78
1

To
ta

l
5.

14
20

.9
50

.5
0.

14
0.

31
2.

95
3.

26
0.

30
0.

67
0.

96
18

,5
31

17
.3

2.
22

64
6

20
,2

71

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

M
ob

ile
1.

07
16

.6
14

.8
0.

14
0.

24
2.

95
3.

19
0.

23
0.

67
0.

89
14

,9
72

1.
09

2.
02

23
.0

15
,6

24

A
re

a
4.

84
0.

04
4.

98
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
20

.5
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

21
.1

E
ne

rg
y

0.
05

0.
91

0.
77

0.
01

0.
07

—
0.

07
0.

07
—

0.
07

2,
38

9
0.

22
0.

02
—

2,
40

0

W
at

er
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
32

5
7.

55
0.

18
—

56
8

Item E - 285 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

12
 /

53

W
as

te
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
84

.6
8.

45
0.

00
—

29
6

R
ef

rig
.

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
64

4
64

4

O
ff-

R
oa

d
0.

00
2.

51
25

.1
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
55

6
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

55
7

To
ta

l
5.

95
20

.1
45

.7
0.

14
0.

31
2.

95
3.

27
0.

30
0.

67
0.

97
18

,3
47

17
.3

2.
22

66
7

20
,1

09

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

M
ob

ile
0.

19
3.

04
2.

71
0.

03
0.

04
0.

54
0.

58
0.

04
0.

12
0.

16
2,

47
9

0.
18

0.
33

3.
80

2,
58

7

A
re

a
0.

88
0.

01
0.

91
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
3.

39
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

3.
49

E
ne

rg
y

0.
01

0.
17

0.
14

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

—
0.

01
0.

01
—

0.
01

39
6

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

—
39

7

W
at

er
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
53

.8
1.

25
0.

03
—

94
.0

W
as

te
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
14

.0
1.

40
0.

00
—

49
.0

R
ef

rig
.

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
10

7
10

7

O
ff-

R
oa

d
0.

00
0.

46
4.

58
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
92

.1
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

92
.2

To
ta

l
1.

09
3.

67
8.

33
0.

03
0.

06
0.

54
0.

60
0.

06
0.

12
0.

18
3,

03
8

2.
87

0.
37

11
0

3,
32

9

3.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
m

is
si

on
s

D
et

ai
ls

3.
1.

D
em

ol
iti

on
(2

02
3)

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
2.

84
27

.3
23

.5
0.

03
1.

20
—

1.
20

1.
10

—
1.

10
3,

42
5

0.
14

0.
03

—
3,

43
7

D
em

ol
iti

on
—

—
—

—
—

5.
06

5.
06

—
0.

77
0.

77
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

0.
05

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

4.
17

4.
17

<
0.

00
5

0.
42

0.
42

15
.9

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

16
.8

Item E - 286 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

13
 /

53

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
D

ai
ly

,
W

in
te

r
(M

ax
)

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

16
1.

50
1.

29
<

0.
00

5
0.

07
—

0.
07

0.
06

—
0.

06
18

8
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

18
8

D
em

ol
iti

on
—

—
—

—
—

0.
28

0.
28

—
0.

04
0.

04
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
23

0.
23

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

0.
87

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
92

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

03
0.

27
0.

23
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
31

.1
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

31
.2

D
em

ol
iti

on
—

—
—

—
—

0.
05

0.
05

—
0.

01
0.

01
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
04

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
14

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
15

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
08

0.
08

1.
39

0.
00

0.
00

0.
20

0.
20

0.
00

0.
05

0.
05

22
0

0.
01

0.
01

0.
94

22
4

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
14

8.
17

4.
55

0.
04

0.
08

1.
68

1.
76

0.
08

0.
46

0.
54

6,
47

8
0.

75
1.

03
13

.5
6,

81
6

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
06

0.
00

0.
00

0.
01

0.
01

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

11
.2

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

11
.4

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
01

0.
47

0.
25

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
09

0.
10

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
03

35
5

0.
04

0.
06

0.
32

37
3

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

Item E - 287 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

14
 /

53

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
00

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
86

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
88

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

<
0.

00
5

0.
09

0.
05

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

58
.8

0.
01

0.
01

0.
05

61
.8

3.
3.

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
3.

95
39

.7
35

.5
0.

05
1.

81
—

1.
81

1.
66

—
1.

66
5,

29
5

0.
21

0.
04

—
5,

31
4

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
5.

11
5.

11
—

2.
63

2.
63

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

0.
05

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

4.
17

4.
17

<
0.

00
5

0.
42

0.
42

15
.9

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

16
.8

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
3.

95
39

.7
35

.5
0.

05
1.

81
—

1.
81

1.
66

—
1.

66
5,

29
5

0.
21

0.
04

—
5,

31
4

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
5.

11
5.

11
—

2.
63

2.
63

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

0.
06

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

4.
17

4.
17

<
0.

00
5

0.
42

0.
42

16
.0

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

16
.8

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

11
1.

09
0.

97
<

0.
00

5
0.

05
—

0.
05

0.
05

—
0.

05
14

5
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

14
6

Item E - 288 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

15
 /

53

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
0.

14
0.

14
—

0.
07

0.
07

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
11

0.
11

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
01

0.
44

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
46

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

02
0.

20
0.

18
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
24

.0
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

24
.1

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
0.

03
0.

03
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
07

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
08

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
10

0.
09

1.
62

0.
00

0.
00

0.
23

0.
23

0.
00

0.
05

0.
05

25
7

0.
01

0.
01

1.
10

26
1

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
09

0.
11

1.
22

0.
00

0.
00

0.
23

0.
23

0.
00

0.
05

0.
05

23
6

0.
01

0.
01

0.
03

23
8

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
04

0.
00

0.
00

0.
01

0.
01

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

6.
55

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

6.
64

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

Item E - 289 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

16
 /

53

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
00

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
08

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
10

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

3.
5.

G
ra

di
ng

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
2.

04
20

.0
19

.7
0.

03
0.

94
—

0.
94

0.
87

—
0.

87
2,

95
8

0.
12

0.
02

—
2,

96
8

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
1.

85
1.

85
—

0.
89

0.
89

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

0.
06

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

4.
17

4.
17

<
0.

00
5

0.
42

0.
42

16
.0

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

16
.8

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

11
1.

09
1.

08
<

0.
00

5
0.

05
—

0.
05

0.
05

—
0.

05
16

2
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

16
3

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
0.

10
0.

10
—

0.
05

0.
05

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
23

0.
23

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

0.
87

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
92

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

Item E - 290 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

17
 /

53

26
.9

—
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
26

.8
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
0.

20
0.

20
0.

02
O

ff-
R

oa
d

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
0.

02
0.

02
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
04

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
14

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
15

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
08

0.
09

1.
04

0.
00

0.
00

0.
20

0.
20

0.
00

0.
05

0.
05

20
2

0.
01

0.
01

0.
02

20
4

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
04

2.
88

1.
55

0.
01

0.
03

0.
57

0.
60

0.
03

0.
16

0.
18

2,
19

1
0.

25
0.

35
0.

12
2,

30
1

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
06

0.
00

0.
00

0.
01

0.
01

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

11
.2

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

11
.4

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

<
0.

00
5

0.
16

0.
08

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
03

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
01

12
0

0.
01

0.
02

0.
11

12
6

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
00

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
86

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
88

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

<
0.

00
5

0.
03

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

19
.9

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

20
.9

3.
7.

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

Item E - 291 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

18
 /

53

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
1.

26
11

.8
13

.2
0.

02
0.

55
—

0.
55

0.
51

—
0.

51
2,

39
7

0.
10

0.
02

—
2,

40
6

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

12
1.

13
1.

26
<

0.
00

5
0.

05
—

0.
05

0.
05

—
0.

05
23

0
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

23
1

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

02
0.

21
0.

23
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
38

.1
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

38
.2

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
36

0.
43

4.
85

0.
00

0.
00

0.
91

0.
91

0.
00

0.
21

0.
21

93
7

0.
05

0.
03

0.
11

94
9

V
en

do
r

0.
02

1.
07

0.
56

0.
01

0.
01

0.
23

0.
25

0.
01

0.
06

0.
08

86
9

0.
07

0.
13

0.
06

90
9

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Item E - 292 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

19
 /

53

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
A

ve
ra

ge
D

ai
ly

W
or

ke
r

0.
03

0.
04

0.
49

0.
00

0.
00

0.
09

0.
09

0.
00

0.
02

0.
02

91
.1

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
18

92
.4

V
en

do
r

<
0.

00
5

0.
10

0.
05

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
01

83
.3

0.
01

0.
01

0.
10

87
.2

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
01

0.
01

0.
09

0.
00

0.
00

0.
02

0.
02

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

15
.1

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
03

15
.3

V
en

do
r

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

13
.8

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

14
.4

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

3.
9.

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

(2
02

4)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
1.

20
11

.2
13

.1
0.

02
0.

50
—

0.
50

0.
46

—
0.

46
2,

39
8

0.
10

0.
02

—
2,

40
6

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
1.

20
11

.2
13

.1
0.

02
0.

50
—

0.
50

0.
46

—
0.

46
2,

39
8

0.
10

0.
02

—
2,

40
6

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 293 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

20
 /

53

1,
29

0
—

0.
01

0.
05

1,
28

6
0.

25
—

0.
25

0.
27

—
0.

27
0.

01
7.

03
6.

02
0.

64
O

ff-
R

oa
d

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

12
1.

10
1.

28
<

0.
00

5
0.

05
—

0.
05

0.
04

—
0.

04
21

3
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

21
4

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
36

0.
34

5.
89

0.
00

0.
00

0.
91

0.
91

0.
00

0.
21

0.
21

1,
00

2
0.

04
0.

03
4.

01
1,

01
8

V
en

do
r

0.
02

0.
99

0.
53

0.
01

0.
01

0.
23

0.
25

0.
01

0.
06

0.
08

85
9

0.
07

0.
13

2.
40

90
1

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
34

0.
40

4.
45

0.
00

0.
00

0.
91

0.
91

0.
00

0.
21

0.
21

91
9

0.
04

0.
03

0.
10

93
0

V
en

do
r

0.
02

1.
03

0.
54

0.
01

0.
01

0.
23

0.
25

0.
01

0.
06

0.
08

85
9

0.
07

0.
13

0.
06

89
9

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

0.
18

0.
21

2.
51

0.
00

0.
00

0.
48

0.
48

0.
00

0.
11

0.
11

50
0

0.
02

0.
02

0.
93

50
7

V
en

do
r

0.
01

0.
55

0.
29

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
12

0.
13

0.
01

0.
03

0.
04

46
1

0.
04

0.
07

0.
55

48
3

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
03

0.
04

0.
46

0.
00

0.
00

0.
09

0.
09

0.
00

0.
02

0.
02

82
.7

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
15

83
.9

V
en

do
r

<
0.

00
5

0.
10

0.
05

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
01

76
.3

0.
01

0.
01

0.
09

79
.9

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Item E - 294 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

21
 /

53

3.
11

.P
av

in
g

(2
02

4)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

85
7.

81
10

.0
0.

01
0.

39
—

0.
39

0.
36

—
0.

36
1,

51
2

0.
06

0.
01

—
1,

51
7

P
av

in
g

0.
31

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

05
0.

43
0.

55
<

0.
00

5
0.

02
—

0.
02

0.
02

—
0.

02
82

.8
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

83
.1

P
av

in
g

0.
02

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

01
0.

08
0.

10
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
13

.7
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

13
.8

P
av

in
g

<
0.

00
5

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

Item E - 295 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

22
 /

53

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
07

0.
09

0.
96

0.
00

0.
00

0.
20

0.
20

0.
00

0.
05

0.
05

19
8

0.
01

0.
01

0.
02

20
0

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
06

0.
00

0.
00

0.
01

0.
01

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

11
.0

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

11
.2

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
00

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
82

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
85

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

3.
13

.A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
(2

02
4)

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

14
0.

91
1.

15
<

0.
00

5
0.

03
—

0.
03

0.
03

—
0.

03
13

4
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

13
4

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

49
.9

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 296 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

23
 /

53

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

01
0.

05
0.

06
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
7.

32
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

7.
34

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

2.
73

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
1.

21
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

1.
22

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

0.
50

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
07

0.
08

0.
89

0.
00

0.
00

0.
18

0.
18

0.
00

0.
04

0.
04

18
4

0.
01

0.
01

0.
02

18
6

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
05

0.
00

0.
00

0.
01

0.
01

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

10
.2

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

10
.4

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Item E - 297 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

24
 /

53

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
00

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
69

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
71

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

4.
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

E
m

is
si

on
s

D
et

ai
ls

4.
1.

M
ob

ile
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
1.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

0.
66

0.
41

8.
09

0.
02

0.
01

0.
59

0.
60

0.
01

0.
10

0.
11

1,
66

5
0.

06
0.

04
6.

53
1,

68
5

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

0.
45

15
.3

8.
02

0.
12

0.
23

2.
36

2.
59

0.
22

0.
57

0.
79

13
,4

18
1.

03
1.

97
46

.6
14

,0
79

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

To
ta

l
1.

11
15

.7
16

.1
0.

14
0.

24
2.

95
3.

19
0.

23
0.

67
0.

89
15

,0
83

1.
09

2.
01

53
.2

15
,7

64

Item E - 298 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

25
 /

53

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
D

ai
ly

,
W

in
te

r
(M

ax
)

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

0.
62

0.
46

6.
55

0.
02

0.
01

0.
59

0.
60

0.
01

0.
10

0.
11

1,
53

2
0.

06
0.

04
0.

17
1,

54
7

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

0.
45

16
.0

8.
02

0.
12

0.
23

2.
36

2.
59

0.
22

0.
57

0.
79

13
,4

20
1.

03
1.

98
1.

21
14

,0
36

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

To
ta

l
1.

07
16

.4
14

.6
0.

14
0.

24
2.

95
3.

19
0.

23
0.

67
0.

89
14

,9
52

1.
09

2.
02

1.
38

15
,5

82

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

0.
11

0.
09

1.
25

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
11

0.
11

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

25
7

0.
01

0.
01

0.
47

26
0

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

0.
08

2.
95

1.
46

0.
02

0.
04

0.
43

0.
47

0.
04

0.
10

0.
14

2,
22

2
0.

17
0.

33
3.

33
2,

32
7

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

To
ta

l
0.

19
3.

04
2.

71
0.

03
0.

04
0.

54
0.

58
0.

04
0.

12
0.

16
2,

47
9

0.
18

0.
33

3.
80

2,
58

7

Item E - 299 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

26
 /

53

4.
2.

E
ne

rg
y

4.
2.

1.
E

le
ct

ric
ity

E
m

is
si

on
s

B
y

La
nd

U
se

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

60
4

0.
06

0.
01

—
60

8

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

50
6

0.
05

0.
01

—
50

9

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

10
0

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

—
10

1

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

87
.5

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

—
88

.0

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
1,

29
7

0.
12

0.
01

—
1,

30
5

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

60
4

0.
06

0.
01

—
60

8

Item E - 300 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

27
 /

53

50
9

—
0.

01
0.

05
50

6
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
R

ef
rig

er
at

e
d W

ar
eh

ou
se

-N
o

R
ai

l

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

10
0

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

—
10

1

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

87
.5

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

—
88

.0

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
1,

29
7

0.
12

0.
01

—
1,

30
5

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

10
0

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

—
10

1

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

83
.7

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

—
84

.2

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

16
.6

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
16

.7

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

14
.5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
14

.6

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
21

5
0.

02
<

0.
00

5
—

21
6

4.
2.

3.
N

at
ur

al
G

as
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
La

nd
U

se
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

Item E - 301 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

28
 /

53

83
7

—
<

0.
00

5
0.

07
83

5
0.

05
—

0.
05

0.
05

—
0.

05
<

0.
00

5
0.

59
0.

70
0.

04
U

nr
ef

rig
er

a
te

d

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

0.
01

0.
17

0.
14

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

—
0.

01
0.

01
—

0.
01

20
4

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

—
20

5

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

<
0.

00
5

0.
04

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

52
.8

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
52

.9

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

To
ta

l
0.

05
0.

91
0.

77
0.

01
0.

07
—

0.
07

0.
07

—
0.

07
1,

09
2

0.
10

<
0.

00
5

—
1,

09
5

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

0.
04

0.
70

0.
59

<
0.

00
5

0.
05

—
0.

05
0.

05
—

0.
05

83
5

0.
07

<
0.

00
5

—
83

7

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

0.
01

0.
17

0.
14

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

—
0.

01
0.

01
—

0.
01

20
4

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

—
20

5

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

<
0.

00
5

0.
04

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

52
.8

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
52

.9

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

To
ta

l
0.

05
0.

91
0.

77
0.

01
0.

07
—

0.
07

0.
07

—
0.

07
1,

09
2

0.
10

<
0.

00
5

—
1,

09
5

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

0.
01

0.
13

0.
11

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

—
0.

01
0.

01
—

0.
01

13
8

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

—
13

9

Item E - 302 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

29
 /

53

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

<
0.

00
5

0.
03

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

33
.8

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
33

.9

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

8.
74

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
8.

76

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

To
ta

l
0.

01
0.

17
0.

14
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
18

1
0.

02
<

0.
00

5
—

18
1

4.
3.

A
re

a
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
ou

rc
e

4.
3.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

S
ou

rc
e

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

C
on

su
m

er
P

ro
du

ct
s

3.
59

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

0.
43

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

La
nd

sc
ap

e
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
1.

19
0.

06
7.

27
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
29

.9
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

30
.8

To
ta

l
5.

21
0.

06
7.

27
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
29

.9
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

30
.8

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

C
on

su
m

er
P

ro
du

ct
s

3.
59

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

0.
43

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 303 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

30
 /

53

To
ta

l
4.

02
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

C
on

su
m

er
P

ro
du

ct
s

0.
65

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

0.
08

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

La
nd

sc
ap

e
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

15
0.

01
0.

91
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
3.

39
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

3.
49

To
ta

l
0.

88
0.

01
0.

91
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
3.

39
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

3.
49

4.
4.

W
at

er
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
4.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

26
8

6.
24

0.
15

—
46

9

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

47
.0

1.
09

0.
03

—
82

.1

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

9.
04

0.
21

0.
01

—
15

.8

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

1.
01

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
1.

01

Item E - 304 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

31
 /

53

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
32

5
7.

55
0.

18
—

56
8

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

26
8

6.
24

0.
15

—
46

9

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

47
.0

1.
09

0.
03

—
82

.1

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

9.
04

0.
21

0.
01

—
15

.8

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

1.
01

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
1.

01

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
32

5
7.

55
0.

18
—

56
8

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

44
.4

1.
03

0.
02

—
77

.6

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

7.
77

0.
18

<
0.

00
5

—
13

.6

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

1.
50

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

—
2.

62

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

0.
17

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
0.

17

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
53

.8
1.

25
0.

03
—

94
.0

Item E - 305 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

32
 /

53

4.
5.

W
as

te
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
5.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

69
.4

6.
94

0.
00

—
24

3

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

12
.2

1.
22

0.
00

—
42

.5

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

3.
01

0.
30

0.
00

—
10

.5

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
84

.6
8.

45
0.

00
—

29
6

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

69
.4

6.
94

0.
00

—
24

3

Item E - 306 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

33
 /

53

42
.5

—
0.

00
1.

22
12

.2
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
R

ef
rig

er
at

e
d W

ar
eh

ou
se

-N
o

R
ai

l

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

3.
01

0.
30

0.
00

—
10

.5

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
84

.6
8.

45
0.

00
—

29
6

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

11
.5

1.
15

0.
00

—
40

.2

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

2.
01

0.
20

0.
00

—
7.

04

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

0.
50

0.
05

0.
00

—
1.

74

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
14

.0
1.

40
0.

00
—

49
.0

4.
6.

R
ef

rig
er

an
tE

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
6.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

Item E - 307 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

34
 /

53

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
D

ai
ly

,
S

um
m

er
(M

ax
)

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
0.

00
0.

00

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
64

4
64

4

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
0.

01
0.

01

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

64
4

64
4

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nr

ef
rig

er
a

te
d

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
0.

00
0.

00

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
64

4
64

4

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
0.

01
0.

01

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

64
4

64
4

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

Item E - 308 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

35
 /

53

0.
00

0.
00

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
U

nr
ef

rig
er

a
te

d
W

ar
eh

ou
se

R
ai

l

R
ef

rig
er

at
e

d W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
10

7
10

7

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

10
7

10
7

4.
7.

O
ffr

oa
d

E
m

is
si

on
s

B
y

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

4.
7.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

Ty
pe

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

F
or

kl
ift

s
0.

00
3.

53
35

.2
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
78

1
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

78
1

To
ta

l
0.

00
3.

53
35

.2
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
78

1
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

78
1

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

F
or

kl
ift

s
0.

00
3.

53
35

.2
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
78

1
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

78
1

To
ta

l
0.

00
3.

53
35

.2
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
78

1
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

78
1

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

F
or

kl
ift

s
0.

00
0.

46
4.

58
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
92

.1
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

92
.2

To
ta

l
0.

00
0.

46
4.

58
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
92

.1
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

92
.2

Item E - 309 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

36
 /

53

4.
8.

S
ta

tio
na

ry
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
E

qu
ip

m
en

tT
yp

e

4.
8.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

Ty
pe

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

4.
9.

U
se

r
D

ef
in

ed
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
E

qu
ip

m
en

tT
yp

e

4.
9.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

Ty
pe

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 310 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

37
 /

53

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

4.
10

.S
oi

lC
ar

bo
n

A
cc

um
ul

at
io

n
B

y
V

eg
et

at
io

n
Ty

pe

4.
10

.1
.S

oi
lC

ar
bo

n
A

cc
um

ul
at

io
n

B
y

V
eg

et
at

io
n

Ty
pe

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

V
eg

et
at

io
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

4.
10

.2
.A

bo
ve

an
d

B
el

ow
gr

ou
nd

C
ar

bo
n

A
cc

um
ul

at
io

n
by

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 311 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

38
 /

53

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

4.
10

.3
.A

vo
id

ed
an

d
S

eq
ue

st
er

ed
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
pe

ci
es

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

S
pe

ci
es

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

A
vo

id
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

S
eq

ue
st

er
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

R
em

ov
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

A
vo

id
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

S
eq

ue
st

er
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

R
em

ov
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

Item E - 312 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

39
 /

53

A
vo

id
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

S
eq

ue
st

er
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

R
em

ov
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

5.
A

ct
iv

ity
D

at
a

5.
1.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
S

ch
ed

ul
e

P
ha

se
N

am
e

P
ha

se
Ty

pe
S

ta
rt

D
at

e
E

nd
D

at
e

D
ay

s
P

er
W

ee
k

W
or

k
D

ay
s

pe
r

P
ha

se
P

ha
se

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

D
em

ol
iti

on
D

em
ol

iti
on

9/
1/

20
23

9/
29

/2
02

3
5.

00
20

.0
—

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

9/
30

/2
02

3
10

/1
4/

20
23

5.
00

10
.0

—

G
ra

di
ng

G
ra

di
ng

10
/1

5/
20

23
11

/1
2/

20
23

5.
00

20
.0

—

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

11
/1

3/
20

23
9/

30
/2

02
4

5.
00

23
0

—

P
av

in
g

P
av

in
g

10
/1

/2
02

4
10

/2
9/

20
24

5.
00

20
.0

—

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

C
oa

tin
g

10
/3

0/
20

24
11

/2
7/

20
24

5.
00

20
.0

—

5.
2.

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t

5.
2.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

P
ha

se
N

am
e

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

F
ue

lT
yp

e
E

ng
in

e
T

ie
r

N
um

be
r

pe
r

D
ay

H
ou

rs
P

er
D

ay
H

or
se

po
w

er
Lo

ad
Fa

ct
or

D
em

ol
iti

on
C

on
cr

et
e/

In
du

st
ria

l
S

aw
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

8.
00

33
.0

0.
73

D
em

ol
iti

on
E

xc
av

at
or

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
3.

00
8.

00
36

.0
0.

38

Item E - 313 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

40
 /

53

D
em

ol
iti

on
R

ub
be

r
T

ire
d

D
oz

er
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

2.
00

8.
00

36
7

0.
40

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

R
ub

be
r

T
ire

d
D

oz
er

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
3.

00
8.

00
36

7
0.

40

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

Tr
ac

to
rs

/L
oa

de
rs

/B
ac

kh
oe

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
4.

00
8.

00
84

.0
0.

37

G
ra

di
ng

E
xc

av
at

or
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

8.
00

36
.0

0.
38

G
ra

di
ng

G
ra

de
rs

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

8.
00

14
8

0.
41

G
ra

di
ng

R
ub

be
r

T
ire

d
D

oz
er

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
1.

00
8.

00
36

7
0.

40

G
ra

di
ng

Tr
ac

to
rs

/L
oa

de
rs

/B
ac

kh
oe

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
3.

00
8.

00
84

.0
0.

37

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

C
ra

ne
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

7.
00

36
7

0.
29

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

F
or

kl
ift

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
3.

00
8.

00
82

.0
0.

20

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

G
en

er
at

or
S

et
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

8.
00

14
.0

0.
74

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

Tr
ac

to
rs

/L
oa

de
rs

/B
ac

kh
oe

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
3.

00
7.

00
84

.0
0.

37

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

W
el

de
rs

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

8.
00

46
.0

0.
45

P
av

in
g

P
av

er
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

2.
00

8.
00

81
.0

0.
42

P
av

in
g

P
av

in
g

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

2.
00

8.
00

89
.0

0.
36

P
av

in
g

R
ol

le
rs

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

2.
00

8.
00

36
.0

0.
38

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
A

ir
C

om
pr

es
so

rs
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
1.

00
6.

00
37

.0
0.

48

5.
3.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
V

eh
ic

le
s

5.
3.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

P
ha

se
N

am
e

Tr
ip

Ty
pe

O
ne

-W
ay

Tr
ip

s
pe

r
D

ay
M

ile
s

pe
r

Tr
ip

V
eh

ic
le

M
ix

D
em

ol
iti

on
—

—
—

—

D
em

ol
iti

on
W

or
ke

r
15

.0
18

.5
LD

A
,L

D
T

1,
LD

T
2

D
em

ol
iti

on
V

en
do

r
—

10
.2

H
H

D
T,

M
H

D
T

D
em

ol
iti

on
H

au
lin

g
90

.7
20

.0
H

H
D

T

Item E - 314 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

41
 /

53

D
em

ol
iti

on
O

ns
ite

tr
uc

k
3.

00
1.

00
H

H
D

T

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

—
—

—
—

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

W
or

ke
r

17
.5

18
.5

LD
A

,L
D

T
1,

LD
T

2

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

V
en

do
r

—
10

.2
H

H
D

T,
M

H
D

T

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

20
.0

H
H

D
T

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

3.
00

1.
00

H
H

D
T

G
ra

di
ng

—
—

—
—

G
ra

di
ng

W
or

ke
r

15
.0

18
.5

LD
A

,L
D

T
1,

LD
T

2

G
ra

di
ng

V
en

do
r

—
10

.2
H

H
D

T,
M

H
D

T

G
ra

di
ng

H
au

lin
g

30
.6

20
.0

H
H

D
T

G
ra

di
ng

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

3.
00

1.
00

H
H

D
T

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

—
—

—
—

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

W
or

ke
r

69
.6

18
.5

LD
A

,L
D

T
1,

LD
T

2

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

V
en

do
r

27
.4

10
.2

H
H

D
T,

M
H

D
T

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

20
.0

H
H

D
T

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

—
—

H
H

D
T

P
av

in
g

—
—

—
—

P
av

in
g

W
or

ke
r

15
.0

18
.5

LD
A

,L
D

T
1,

LD
T

2

P
av

in
g

V
en

do
r

—
10

.2
H

H
D

T,
M

H
D

T

P
av

in
g

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

20
.0

H
H

D
T

P
av

in
g

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

—
—

H
H

D
T

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
—

—
—

—

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
W

or
ke

r
13

.9
18

.5
LD

A
,L

D
T

1,
LD

T
2

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
V

en
do

r
—

10
.2

H
H

D
T,

M
H

D
T

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
H

au
lin

g
0.

00
20

.0
H

H
D

T

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
O

ns
ite

tr
uc

k
—

—
H

H
D

T

Item E - 315 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

42
 /

53

5.
4.

V
eh

ic
le

s

5.
4.

1.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

V
eh

ic
le

C
on

tr
ol

S
tr

at
eg

ie
s

N
on

-a
pp

lic
ab

le
.N

o
co

nt
ro

ls
tr

at
eg

ie
s

ac
tiv

at
ed

by
us

er
.

5.
5.

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

gs

P
ha

se
N

am
e

R
es

id
en

tia
lI

nt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

R
es

id
en

tia
lE

xt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

N
on

-R
es

id
en

tia
lI

nt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

N
on

-R
es

id
en

tia
lE

xt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

P
ar

ki
ng

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
0.

00
0.

00
25

0,
76

1
83

,5
87

6,
27

3

5.
6.

D
us

tM
iti

ga
tio

n

5.
6.

1.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
ar

th
m

ov
in

g
A

ct
iv

iti
es

P
ha

se
N

am
e

M
at

er
ia

lI
m

po
rt

ed
(c

y)
M

at
er

ia
lE

xp
or

te
d

(c
y)

A
cr

es
G

ra
de

d
(a

cr
es

)
M

at
er

ia
lD

em
ol

is
he

d
(T

on
of

D
eb

ris
)

A
cr

es
P

av
ed

(a
cr

es
)

D
em

ol
iti

on
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
7,

24
9

—

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

—
—

15
.0

0.
00

—

G
ra

di
ng

—
4,

90
0

20
.0

0.
00

—

P
av

in
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

2.
40

5.
6.

2.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
ar

th
m

ov
in

g
C

on
tr

ol
S

tr
at

eg
ie

s

C
on

tr
ol

S
tr

at
eg

ie
s

A
pp

lie
d

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y
(p

er
da

y)
P

M
10

R
ed

uc
tio

n
P

M
2.

5
R

ed
uc

tio
n

W
at

er
E

xp
os

ed
A

re
a

3
74

%
74

%

W
at

er
D

em
ol

is
he

d
A

re
a

2
36

%
36

%

5.
7.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
P

av
in

g

La
nd

U
se

A
re

a
P

av
ed

(a
cr

es
)

%
A

sp
ha

lt

Item E - 316 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

43
 /

53

U
nr

ef
rig

er
at

ed
W

ar
eh

ou
se

-N
o

R
ai

l
0.

00
0%

R
ef

rig
er

at
ed

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

0.
00

0%

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

0.
00

0%

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

2.
40

10
0%

5.
8.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

le
ct

ric
ity

C
on

su
m

pt
io

n
an

d
E

m
is

si
on

s
Fa

ct
or

s

kW
h

pe
r

Ye
ar

an
d

E
m

is
si

on
Fa

ct
or

(lb
/M

W
h)

Ye
ar

kW
h

pe
r

Ye
ar

C
O

2
C

H
4

N
2O

20
23

0.
00

53
2

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

20
24

0.
00

53
2

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

5.
9.

O
pe

ra
tio

na
lM

ob
ile

S
ou

rc
es

5.
9.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

Tr
ip

s/
W

ee
kd

ay
Tr

ip
s/

S
at

ur
da

y
Tr

ip
s/

S
un

da
y

Tr
ip

s/
Ye

ar
V

M
T

/W
ee

kd
ay

V
M

T
/S

at
ur

da
y

V
M

T
/S

un
da

y
V

M
T

/Y
ea

r

U
nr

ef
rig

er
at

ed
W

ar
eh

ou
se

-N
o

R
ai

l
15

8
15

8
15

8
57

,5
06

2,
21

4
2,

21
4

2,
21

4
80

8,
07

7

R
ef

rig
er

at
ed

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

12
7

12
7

12
7

46
,3

40
5,

07
8

5,
07

8
5,

07
8

1,
85

3,
61

6

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

5.
10

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lA

re
a

S
ou

rc
es

5.
10

.1
.H

ea
rt

hs

5.
10

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

Item E - 317 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

44
 /

53

5.
10

.2
.A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

C
oa

tin
gs

R
es

id
en

tia
lI

nt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

R
es

id
en

tia
lE

xt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

N
on

-R
es

id
en

tia
lI

nt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

N
on

-R
es

id
en

tia
lE

xt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

P
ar

ki
ng

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

0
0.

00
25

0,
76

1
83

,5
87

6,
27

3

5.
10

.3
.L

an
ds

ca
pe

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

S
ea

so
n

U
ni

t
V

al
ue

S
no

w
D

ay
s

da
y/

yr
0.

00

S
um

m
er

D
ay

s
da

y/
yr

25
0

5.
11

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lE

ne
rg

y
C

on
su

m
pt

io
n

5.
11

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

E
le

ct
ric

ity
(k

W
h/

yr
)

an
d

C
O

2
an

d
C

H
4

an
d

N
2O

an
d

N
at

ur
al

G
as

(k
B

T
U

/y
r)

La
nd

U
se

E
le

ct
ric

ity
(k

W
h/

yr
)

C
O

2
C

H
4

N
2O

N
at

ur
al

G
as

(k
B

T
U

/y
r)

U
nr

ef
rig

er
at

ed
W

ar
eh

ou
se

-N
o

R
ai

l
63

2,
75

3
34

9
0.

03
30

0.
00

40
2,

60
4,

42
5

R
ef

rig
er

at
ed

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

52
9,

34
4

34
9

0.
03

30
0.

00
40

63
6,

89
8

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

10
4,

71
1

34
9

0.
03

30
0.

00
40

16
4,

64
0

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

91
,5

81
34

9
0.

03
30

0.
00

40
0.

00

5.
12

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lW

at
er

an
d

W
as

te
w

at
er

C
on

su
m

pt
io

n

5.
12

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

La
nd

U
se

In
do

or
W

at
er

(g
al

/y
ea

r)
O

ut
do

or
W

at
er

(g
al

/y
ea

r)

U
nr

ef
rig

er
at

ed
W

ar
eh

ou
se

-N
o

R
ai

l
31

,6
81

,2
50

26
0,

11
0

R
ef

rig
er

at
ed

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

5,
55

0,
00

0
45

,8
97

Item E - 318 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

45
 /

53

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

1,
06

6,
40

2
11

,3
86

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

19
8,

68
3

5.
13

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lW

as
te

G
en

er
at

io
n

5.
13

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

La
nd

U
se

W
as

te
(t

on
/y

ea
r)

C
og

en
er

at
io

n
(k

W
h/

ye
ar

)

U
nr

ef
rig

er
at

ed
W

ar
eh

ou
se

-N
o

R
ai

l
12

9
0.

00

R
ef

rig
er

at
ed

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

22
.6

0.
00

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

5.
58

0.
00

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

5.
14

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lR

ef
rig

er
at

io
n

an
d

A
ir

C
on

di
tio

ni
ng

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

5.
14

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

R
ef

rig
er

an
t

G
W

P
Q

ua
nt

ity
(k

g)
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

Le
ak

R
at

e
S

er
vi

ce
Le

ak
R

at
e

T
im

es
S

er
vi

ce
d

U
nr

ef
rig

er
at

ed
W

ar
eh

ou
se

-N
o

R
ai

l
C

ol
d

st
or

ag
e

R
-4

04
A

3,
92

2
0.

00
7.

50
7.

50
25

.0

R
ef

rig
er

at
ed

W
ar

eh
ou

se
-N

o
R

ai
l

C
ol

d
st

or
ag

e
R

-4
04

A
3,

92
2

7.
50

7.
50

7.
50

25
.0

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

H
ou

se
ho

ld
re

fr
ig

er
at

or
s

an
d/

or
fr

ee
ze

rs
R

-1
34

a
1,

43
0

0.
02

0.
60

0.
00

1.
00

G
en

er
al

O
ffi

ce
B

ui
ld

in
g

O
th

er
co

m
m

er
ci

al
A

/C
an

d
he

at
pu

m
ps

R
-4

10
A

2,
08

8
<

0.
00

5
4.

00
4.

00
18

.0

5.
15

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lO

ff-
R

oa
d

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

5.
15

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

F
ue

lT
yp

e
E

ng
in

e
T

ie
r

N
um

be
r

pe
r

D
ay

H
ou

rs
P

er
D

ay
H

or
se

po
w

er
Lo

ad
Fa

ct
or

Item E - 319 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

46
 /

53

F
or

kl
ift

s
C

N
G

A
ve

ra
ge

4.
00

8.
00

82
.0

0.
20

5.
16

.S
ta

tio
na

ry
S

ou
rc

es

5.
16

.1
.E

m
er

ge
nc

y
G

en
er

at
or

s
an

d
F

ire
P

um
ps

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

F
ue

lT
yp

e
N

um
be

r
pe

r
D

ay
H

ou
rs

pe
r

D
ay

H
ou

rs
pe

r
Ye

ar
H

or
se

po
w

er
Lo

ad
Fa

ct
or

5.
16

.2
.P

ro
ce

ss
B

oi
le

rs

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

F
ue

lT
yp

e
N

um
be

r
B

oi
le

r
R

at
in

g
(M

M
B

tu
/h

r)
D

ai
ly

H
ea

tI
np

ut
(M

M
B

tu
/d

ay
)

A
nn

ua
lH

ea
tI

np
ut

(M
M

B
tu

/y
r)

5.
17

.U
se

r
D

ef
in

ed

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

F
ue

lT
yp

e

—
—

5.
18

.V
eg

et
at

io
n

5.
18

.1
.L

an
d

U
se

C
ha

ng
e

5.
18

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

V
eg

et
at

io
n

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

V
eg

et
at

io
n

S
oi

lT
yp

e
In

iti
al

A
cr

es
F

in
al

A
cr

es

5.
18

.1
.B

io
m

as
s

C
ov

er
Ty

pe

5.
18

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

B
io

m
as

s
C

ov
er

Ty
pe

In
iti

al
A

cr
es

F
in

al
A

cr
es

Item E - 320 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

47
 /

53

5.
18

.2
.S

eq
ue

st
ra

tio
n

5.
18

.2
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

Tr
ee

Ty
pe

N
um

be
r

E
le

ct
ric

ity
S

av
ed

(k
W

h/
ye

ar
)

N
at

ur
al

G
as

S
av

ed
(b

tu
/y

ea
r)

6.
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

D
et

ai
le

d
R

ep
or

t

6.
1.

C
lim

at
e

R
is

k
S

um
m

ar
y

C
al

-A
da

pt
m

id
ce

nt
ur

y
20

40
–2

05
9

av
er

ag
e

pr
oj

ec
tio

ns
fo

r
fo

ur
ha

za
rd

s
ar

e
re

po
rt

ed
be

lo
w

fo
r

yo
ur

pr
oj

ec
tl

oc
at

io
n.

T
he

se
ar

e
un

de
r

R
ep

re
se

nt
at

io
n

C
on

ce
nt

ra
tio

n
P

at
hw

ay
(R

C
P

)
8.

5
w

hi
ch

as
su

m
es

G
H

G
em

is
si

on
s

w
ill

co
nt

in
ue

to
ris

e
st

ro
ng

ly
th

ro
ug

h
20

50
an

d
th

en
pl

at
ea

u
ar

ou
nd

21
00

.

C
lim

at
e

H
az

ar
d

R
es

ul
tf

or
P

ro
je

ct
Lo

ca
tio

n
U

ni
t

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

an
d

E
xt

re
m

e
H

ea
t

20
.0

an
nu

al
da

ys
of

ex
tr

em
e

he
at

E
xt

re
m

e
P

re
ci

pi
ta

tio
n

3.
95

an
nu

al
da

ys
w

ith
pr

ec
ip

ita
tio

n
ab

ov
e

20
m

m

S
ea

Le
ve

lR
is

e
0.

00
m

et
er

s
of

in
un

da
tio

n
de

pt
h

W
ild

fir
e

0.
00

an
nu

al
he

ct
ar

es
bu

rn
ed

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

an
d

E
xt

re
m

e
H

ea
td

at
a

ar
e

fo
r

gr
id

ce
ll

in
w

hi
ch

yo
ur

pr
oj

ec
ta

re
lo

ca
te

d.
T

he
pr

oj
ec

tio
n

is
ba

se
d

on
th

e
98

th
hi

st
or

ic
al

pe
rc

en
til

e
of

da
ily

m
ax

im
um

/m
in

im
um

te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

s
fr

om
ob

se
rv

ed
hi

st
or

ic
al

da
ta

(3
2

cl
im

at
e

m
od

el
en

se
m

bl
e

fr
om

C
al

-A
da

pt
,2

04
0–

20
59

av
er

ag
e

un
de

r
R

C
P

8.
5)

. 
E

ac
h

gr
id

ce
ll

is
6

ki
lo

m
et

er
s

(k
m

)
by

6
km

,o
r

3.
7

m
ile

s
(m

i)
by

3.
7

m
i.

E
xt

re
m

e
P

re
ci

pi
ta

tio
n

da
ta

ar
e

fo
r

th
e

gr
id

ce
ll

in
w

hi
ch

yo
ur

pr
oj

ec
ta

re
lo

ca
te

d.
T

he
th

re
sh

ol
d

of
20

m
m

is
eq

ui
va

le
nt

to
ab

ou
t¾

an
in

ch
of

ra
in

,w
hi

ch
w

ou
ld

be
lig

ht
to

m
od

er
at

e
ra

in
fa

ll
if

re
ce

iv
ed

ov
er

a
fu

ll
da

y
or

he
av

y
ra

in
if

re
ce

iv
ed

ov
er

a
pe

rio
d

of
2

to
4

ho
ur

s.
E

ac
h

gr
id

ce
ll

is
6

ki
lo

m
et

er
s

(k
m

)
by

6
km

,o
r

3.
7

m
ile

s
(m

i)
by

3.
7

m
i.

S
ea

Le
ve

lR
is

e
da

ta
ar

e
fo

r
th

e
gr

id
ce

ll
in

w
hi

ch
yo

ur
pr

oj
ec

ta
re

lo
ca

te
d.

T
he

pr
oj

ec
tio

ns
ar

e
fr

om
R

ad
ke

et
al

.(
20

17
),

as
re

po
rt

ed
in

C
al

-A
da

pt
(2

04
0–

20
59

av
er

ag
e

un
de

r
R

C
P

8.
5)

,a
nd

co
ns

id
er

di
ffe

re
nt

in
cr

em
en

ts
of

se
a

le
ve

lr
is

e
co

up
le

d
w

ith
ex

tr
em

e
st

or
m

ev
en

ts
.U

se
rs

m
ay

se
le

ct
fr

om
fo

ur
m

od
el

si
m

ul
at

io
ns

to
vi

ew
th

e
ra

ng
e

in
po

te
nt

ia
li

nu
nd

at
io

n
de

pt
h

fo
r

th
e

gr
id

ce
ll.

T
he

fo
ur

si
m

ul
at

io
ns

m
ak

e
di

ffe
re

nt
as

su
m

pt
io

ns
ab

ou
te

xp
ec

te
d

ra
in

fa
ll

an
d

te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

ar
e:

W
ar

m
er

/d
rie

r
(H

ad
G

E
M

2-
E

S
),

C
oo

le
r/

w
et

te
r

(C
N

R
M

-C
M

5)
,A

ve
ra

ge
co

nd
iti

on
s

(C
an

E
S

M
2)

,R
an

ge
of

di
ffe

re
nt

ra
in

fa
ll

an
d

te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

po
ss

ib
ili

tie
s

(M
IR

O
C

5)
.E

ac
h

gr
id

ce
ll

is
50

m
et

er
s

(m
)

by
50

m
,o

r
ab

ou
t1

64
fe

et
(f

t)
by

16
4

ft.
W

ild
fir

e
da

ta
ar

e
fo

r
th

e
gr

id
ce

ll
in

w
hi

ch
yo

ur
pr

oj
ec

ta
re

lo
ca

te
d.

T
he

pr
oj

ec
tio

ns
ar

e
fr

om
U

C
D

av
is

,a
s

re
po

rt
ed

in
C

al
-A

da
pt

(2
04

0–
20

59
av

er
ag

e
un

de
r

R
C

P
8.

5)
,a

nd
co

ns
id

er
hi

st
or

ic
al

da
ta

of
cl

im
at

e,
ve

ge
ta

tio
n,

po
pu

la
tio

n
de

ns
ity

,a
nd

la
rg

e
(>

40
0

ha
)

fir
e

hi
st

or
y.

U
se

rs
m

ay
se

le
ct

fr
om

fo
ur

m
od

el
si

m
ul

at
io

ns
to

vi
ew

th
e

ra
ng

e
in

po
te

nt
ia

lw
ild

fir
e

pr
ob

ab
ili

tie
s

fo
r

th
e

gr
id

ce
ll.

T
he

fo
ur

si
m

ul
at

io
ns

m
ak

e
di

ffe
re

nt
as

su
m

pt
io

ns
ab

ou
te

xp
ec

te
d

ra
in

fa
ll

an
d

te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

ar
e:

W
ar

m
er

/d
rie

r
(H

ad
G

E
M

2-
E

S
),

C
oo

le
r/

w
et

te
r

(C
N

R
M

-C
M

5)
,A

ve
ra

ge
co

nd
iti

on
s

(C
an

E
S

M
2)

,R
an

ge
of

di
ffe

re
nt

ra
in

fa
ll

an
d

te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

po
ss

ib
ili

tie
s

(M
IR

O
C

5)
.E

ac
h

gr
id

ce
ll

is
6

ki
lo

m
et

er
s

(k
m

)
by

6
km

,o
r

3.
7

m
ile

s
(m

i)
by

3.
7

m
i.

6.
2.

In
iti

al
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

S
co

re
s

C
lim

at
e

H
az

ar
d

E
xp

os
ur

e
S

co
re

S
en

si
tiv

ity
S

co
re

A
da

pt
iv

e
C

ap
ac

ity
S

co
re

V
ul

ne
ra

bi
lit

y
S

co
re

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

an
d

E
xt

re
m

e
H

ea
t

2
0

0
N

/A

Item E - 321 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

48
 /

53

E
xt

re
m

e
P

re
ci

pi
ta

tio
n

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

S
ea

Le
ve

lR
is

e
1

0
0

N
/A

W
ild

fir
e

1
0

0
N

/A

F
lo

od
in

g
N

/A
N

/A
N

/A
N

/A

D
ro

ug
ht

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

S
no

w
pa

ck
R

ed
uc

tio
n

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

A
ir

Q
ua

lit
y

D
eg

ra
da

tio
n

0
0

0
N

/A

T
he

se
ns

iti
vi

ty
sc

or
e

re
fle

ct
s

th
e

ex
te

nt
to

w
hi

ch
a

pr
oj

ec
tw

ou
ld

be
ad

ve
rs

el
y

af
fe

ct
ed

by
ex

po
su

re
to

a
cl

im
at

e
ha

za
rd

.E
xp

os
ur

e
is

ra
te

d
on

a
sc

al
e

of
1

to
5,

w
ith

a
sc

or
e

of
5

re
pr

es
en

tin
g

th
e

gr
ea

te
st

ex
po

su
re

.
T

he
ad

ap
tiv

e
ca

pa
ci

ty
of

a
pr

oj
ec

tr
ef

er
s

to
its

ab
ili

ty
to

m
an

ag
e

an
d

re
du

ce
vu

ln
er

ab
ili

tie
s

fr
om

pr
oj

ec
te

d
cl

im
at

e
ha

za
rd

s.
A

da
pt

iv
e

ca
pa

ci
ty

is
ra

te
d

on
a

sc
al

e
of

1
to

5,
w

ith
a

sc
or

e
of

5
re

pr
es

en
tin

g
th

e
gr

ea
te

st
ab

ili
ty

to
ad

ap
t.

T
he

ov
er

al
lv

ul
ne

ra
bi

lit
y

sc
or

es
ar

e
ca

lc
ul

at
ed

ba
se

d
on

th
e

po
te

nt
ia

li
m

pa
ct

s
an

d
ad

ap
tiv

e
ca

pa
ci

ty
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
fo

r
ea

ch
ha

za
rd

.S
co

re
s

do
no

ti
nc

lu
de

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n
of

cl
im

at
e

ris
k

re
du

ct
io

n
m

ea
su

re
s.

6.
3.

A
dj

us
te

d
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

S
co

re
s

C
lim

at
e

H
az

ar
d

E
xp

os
ur

e
S

co
re

S
en

si
tiv

ity
S

co
re

A
da

pt
iv

e
C

ap
ac

ity
S

co
re

V
ul

ne
ra

bi
lit

y
S

co
re

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

an
d

E
xt

re
m

e
H

ea
t

2
1

1
3

E
xt

re
m

e
P

re
ci

pi
ta

tio
n

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

S
ea

Le
ve

lR
is

e
1

1
1

2

W
ild

fir
e

1
1

1
2

F
lo

od
in

g
N

/A
N

/A
N

/A
N

/A

D
ro

ug
ht

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

S
no

w
pa

ck
R

ed
uc

tio
n

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

A
ir

Q
ua

lit
y

D
eg

ra
da

tio
n

1
1

1
2

T
he

se
ns

iti
vi

ty
sc

or
e

re
fle

ct
s

th
e

ex
te

nt
to

w
hi

ch
a

pr
oj

ec
tw

ou
ld

be
ad

ve
rs

el
y

af
fe

ct
ed

by
ex

po
su

re
to

a
cl

im
at

e
ha

za
rd

.E
xp

os
ur

e
is

ra
te

d
on

a
sc

al
e

of
1

to
5,

w
ith

a
sc

or
e

of
5

re
pr

es
en

tin
g

th
e

gr
ea

te
st

ex
po

su
re

.
T

he
ad

ap
tiv

e
ca

pa
ci

ty
of

a
pr

oj
ec

tr
ef

er
s

to
its

ab
ili

ty
to

m
an

ag
e

an
d

re
du

ce
vu

ln
er

ab
ili

tie
s

fr
om

pr
oj

ec
te

d
cl

im
at

e
ha

za
rd

s.
A

da
pt

iv
e

ca
pa

ci
ty

is
ra

te
d

on
a

sc
al

e
of

1
to

5,
w

ith
a

sc
or

e
of

5
re

pr
es

en
tin

g
th

e
gr

ea
te

st
ab

ili
ty

to
ad

ap
t.

T
he

ov
er

al
lv

ul
ne

ra
bi

lit
y

sc
or

es
ar

e
ca

lc
ul

at
ed

ba
se

d
on

th
e

po
te

nt
ia

li
m

pa
ct

s
an

d
ad

ap
tiv

e
ca

pa
ci

ty
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
fo

r
ea

ch
ha

za
rd

.S
co

re
s

in
cl

ud
e

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n
of

cl
im

at
e

ris
k

re
du

ct
io

n
m

ea
su

re
s.

6.
4.

C
lim

at
e

R
is

k
R

ed
uc

tio
n

M
ea

su
re

s

Item E - 322 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

49
 /

53

7.
H

ea
lth

an
d

E
qu

ity
D

et
ai

ls

7.
1.

C
al

E
nv

iro
S

cr
ee

n
4.

0
S

co
re

s

T
he

m
ax

im
um

C
al

E
nv

iro
S

cr
ee

n
sc

or
e

is
10

0.
A

hi
gh

sc
or

e
(i.

e.
,g

re
at

er
th

an
50

)
re

fle
ct

s
a

hi
gh

er
po

llu
tio

n
bu

rd
en

co
m

pa
re

d
to

ot
he

r
ce

ns
us

tr
ac

ts
in

th
e

st
at

e.

In
di

ca
to

r
R

es
ul

tf
or

P
ro

je
ct

C
en

su
s

Tr
ac

t

E
xp

os
ur

e
In

di
ca

to
rs

—

A
Q

-O
zo

ne
84

.6

A
Q

-P
M

98
.2

A
Q

-D
P

M
94

.5

D
rin

ki
ng

W
at

er
93

.3

Le
ad

R
is

k
H

ou
si

ng
22

.4

P
es

tic
id

es
34

.9

To
xi

c
R

el
ea

se
s

83
.5

Tr
af

fic
85

.4

E
ffe

ct
In

di
ca

to
rs

—

C
le

an
U

p
S

ite
s

88
.1

G
ro

un
dw

at
er

60
.6

H
az

W
as

te
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s/

G
en

er
at

or
s

93
.9

Im
pa

ire
d

W
at

er
B

od
ie

s
43

.8

S
ol

id
W

as
te

83
.3

S
en

si
tiv

e
P

op
ul

at
io

n
—

A
st

hm
a

61
.6

C
ar

di
o-

va
sc

ul
ar

82
.1

Lo
w

B
ir

th
W

ei
gh

ts
56

.1

S
oc

io
ec

on
om

ic
Fa

ct
or

In
di

ca
to

rs
—

E
du

ca
tio

n
71

.6

H
ou

si
ng

51
.4

Item E - 323 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

50
 /

53

Li
ng

ui
st

ic
58

.2

P
ov

er
ty

47
.3

U
ne

m
pl

oy
m

en
t

92
.6

7.
2.

H
ea

lth
y

P
la

ce
s

In
de

x
S

co
re

s

T
he

m
ax

im
um

H
ea

lth
P

la
ce

s
In

de
x

sc
or

e
is

10
0.

A
hi

gh
sc

or
e

(i.
e.

,g
re

at
er

th
an

50
)

re
fle

ct
s

he
al

th
ie

r
co

m
m

un
ity

co
nd

iti
on

s
co

m
pa

re
d

to
ot

he
r

ce
ns

us
tr

ac
ts

in
th

e
st

at
e.

In
di

ca
to

r
R

es
ul

tf
or

P
ro

je
ct

C
en

su
s

Tr
ac

t

E
co

no
m

ic
—

A
bo

ve
P

ov
er

ty
42

.0
76

22
22

5

E
m

pl
oy

ed
49

.3
00

65
44

3

M
ed

ia
n

H
I

32
.6

06
18

50
4

E
du

ca
tio

n
—

B
ac

he
lo

r's
or

hi
gh

er
10

.8
81

56
03

7

H
ig

h
sc

ho
ol

en
ro

llm
en

t
10

0

P
re

sc
ho

ol
en

ro
llm

en
t

1.
87

34
76

19
7

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n
—

A
ut

o
A

cc
es

s
33

.7
73

89
96

5

A
ct

iv
e

co
m

m
ut

in
g

11
.8

95
29

06
5

S
oc

ia
l

—

2-
pa

re
nt

ho
us

eh
ol

ds
89

.7
72

87
30

9

V
ot

in
g

48
.3

51
08

43
1

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d
—

A
lc

oh
ol

av
ai

la
bi

lit
y

44
.1

80
67

49
6

P
ar

k
ac

ce
ss

9.
70

10
13

73

R
et

ai
ld

en
si

ty
93

.0
45

04
04

2

S
up

er
m

ar
ke

ta
cc

es
s

21
.1

21
51

93
1

Tr
ee

ca
no

py
18

.4
26

79
32

8

Item E - 324 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

51
 /

53

H
ou

si
ng

—

H
om

eo
w

ne
rs

hi
p

49
.8

90
92

77
6

H
ou

si
ng

ha
bi

ta
bi

lit
y

60
.2

07
87

88
7

Lo
w

-in
c

ho
m

eo
w

ne
r

se
ve

re
ho

us
in

g
co

st
bu

rd
en

26
.4

33
97

92
1

Lo
w

-in
c

re
nt

er
se

ve
re

ho
us

in
g

co
st

bu
rd

en
91

.8
13

16
56

6

U
nc

ro
w

de
d

ho
us

in
g

22
.8

28
17

91
4

H
ea

lth
O

ut
co

m
es

—

In
su

re
d

ad
ul

ts
47

.3
24

52
20

1

A
rt

hr
iti

s
11

.9

A
st

hm
a

E
R

A
dm

is
si

on
s

41
.5

H
ig

h
B

lo
od

P
re

ss
ur

e
31

.6

C
an

ce
r

(e
xc

lu
di

ng
sk

in
)

22
.7

A
st

hm
a

34
.7

C
or

on
ar

y
H

ea
rt

D
is

ea
se

12
.2

C
hr

on
ic

O
bs

tr
uc

tiv
e

P
ul

m
on

ar
y

D
is

ea
se

20
.5

D
ia

gn
os

ed
D

ia
be

te
s

27
.5

Li
fe

E
xp

ec
ta

nc
y

at
B

ir
th

37
.4

C
og

ni
tiv

el
y

D
is

ab
le

d
80

.8

P
hy

si
ca

lly
 D

is
ab

le
d

10
.4

H
ea

rt
A

tta
ck

E
R

A
dm

is
si

on
s

2.
5

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

N
ot

G
oo

d
42

.4

C
hr

on
ic

K
id

ne
y

D
is

ea
se

20
.1

O
be

si
ty

41
.7

P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

In
ju

rie
s

68
.3

P
hy

si
ca

lH
ea

lth
N

ot
G

oo
d

35
.8

S
tr

ok
e

22
.5

H
ea

lth
R

is
k

B
eh

av
io

rs
—

Item E - 325 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

52
 /

53

B
in

ge
D

rin
ki

ng
48

.9

C
ur

re
nt

S
m

ok
er

43
.7

N
o

Le
is

ur
e

T
im

e
fo

r
P

hy
si

ca
lA

ct
iv

ity
41

.3

C
lim

at
e

C
ha

ng
e

E
xp

os
ur

es
—

W
ild

fir
e

R
is

k
0.

0

S
LR

In
un

da
tio

n
A

re
a

0.
0

C
hi

ld
re

n
62

.5

E
ld

er
ly

16
.2

E
ng

lis
h

S
pe

ak
in

g
89

.3

F
or

ei
gn

-b
or

n
46

.0

O
ut

do
or

W
or

ke
rs

59
.3

C
lim

at
e

C
ha

ng
e

A
da

pt
iv

e
C

ap
ac

ity
—

Im
pe

rv
io

us
S

ur
fa

ce
C

ov
er

33
.2

Tr
af

fic
D

en
si

ty
84

.7

Tr
af

fic
A

cc
es

s
23

.0

O
th

er
In

di
ce

s
—

H
ar

ds
hi

p
63

.9

O
th

er
D

ec
is

io
n

S
up

po
rt

—

20
16

V
ot

in
g

63
.4

7.
3.

O
ve

ra
ll

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
S

co
re

s

M
et

ric
R

es
ul

tf
or

P
ro

je
ct

C
en

su
s

Tr
ac

t

C
al

E
nv

iro
S

cr
ee

n
4.

0
S

co
re

fo
r

P
ro

je
ct

Lo
ca

tio
n

(a
)

96
.0

H
ea

lth
y

P
la

ce
s

In
de

x
S

co
re

fo
r

P
ro

je
ct

Lo
ca

tio
n

(b
)

30
.0

P
ro

je
ct

Lo
ca

te
d

in
a

D
es

ig
na

te
d

D
is

ad
va

nt
ag

ed
C

om
m

un
ity

(S
en

at
e

B
ill

53
5)

Ye
s

P
ro

je
ct

Lo
ca

te
d

in
a

Lo
w

-I
nc

om
e

C
om

m
un

ity
(A

ss
em

bl
y

B
ill

15
50

)
Ye

s

P
ro

je
ct

Lo
ca

te
d

in
a

C
om

m
un

ity
A

ir
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
P

ro
gr

am
C

om
m

un
ity

(A
ss

em
bl

y
B

ill
61

7)
N

o

Item E - 326 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
-

P
ro

po
se

d
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
6/

20
23

53
 /

53

a:
T

he
m

ax
im

um
C

al
E

nv
iro

S
cr

ee
n

sc
or

e
is

10
0.

A
hi

gh
sc

or
e

(i.
e.

,g
re

at
er

th
an

50
)

re
fle

ct
s

a
hi

gh
er

po
llu

tio
n

bu
rd

en
co

m
pa

re
d

to
ot

he
r

ce
ns

us
tr

ac
ts

in
th

e
st

at
e.

b:
T

he
m

ax
im

um
H

ea
lth

P
la

ce
s

In
de

x
sc

or
e

is
10

0.
A

hi
gh

sc
or

e
(i.

e.
,g

re
at

er
th

an
50

)
re

fle
ct

s
he

al
th

ie
r

co
m

m
un

ity
co

nd
iti

on
s

co
m

pa
re

d
to

ot
he

r
ce

ns
us

tr
ac

ts
in

th
e

st
at

e.

7.
4.

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
M

ea
su

re
s

N
o

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
M

ea
su

re
s

se
le

ct
ed

.

7.
5.

E
va

lu
at

io
n

S
co

re
ca

rd

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
E

va
lu

at
io

n
S

co
re

ca
rd

no
tc

om
pl

et
ed

.

7.
6.

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
C

us
to

m
M

ea
su

re
s

N
o

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
C

us
to

m
M

ea
su

re
s

cr
ea

te
d.

8.
U

se
r

C
ha

ng
es

to
D

ef
au

lt
D

at
a

S
cr

ee
n

Ju
st

ifi
ca

tio
n

La
nd

U
se

To
ta

lP
ro

je
ct

S
ite

6.
98

ac
re

s

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
:R

ef
rig

er
an

ts
N

o
R

ef
rig

er
at

io
n

w
ill

be
pr

ov
id

ed
fo

r
th

e
un

re
fr

ig
er

at
ed

po
rt

io
n

of
w

ar
eh

ou
se

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n:
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

C
oa

tin
gs

N
on

R
es

id
en

tia
lV

O
C

ch
an

ge
d

to
50

gr
am

s
pe

r
lit

er
to

ac
co

un
tf

or
S

C
A

Q
M

D
R

ul
e

11
13

m
in

im
um

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
:V

eh
ic

le
D

at
a

A
ll

A
ut

os
an

al
yz

ed
un

de
r

U
nr

ef
rig

er
at

ed
W

ar
eh

ou
se

an
d

al
lt

ru
ck

s
an

al
yz

ed
un

de
r

R
ef

rig
er

at
ed

W
ar

eh
ou

se
an

d
se

tt
o

40
m

ile
tr

ip
le

ng
th

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
:F

le
et

M
ix

V
eh

ic
le

M
ix

ch
an

ge
d.

O
nl

y
au

to
s

an
al

yz
ed

un
de

r
U

nr
ef

rig
er

at
ed

W
ar

eh
ou

se
an

d
tr

uc
ks

an
al

yz
ed

un
de

r
re

fr
ig

er
at

ed
w

ar
eh

ou
se

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
:O

ff-
R

oa
d

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

4
C

N
G

P
ow

er
ed

F
or

kl
ift

s
op

er
at

in
g

8
ho

ur
s

pe
r

da
y

Item E - 327 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Appendix  B 

 
 
 

APPENDIX B 

 

TOP 2050 SEIR Project CalEEMod Model Printouts 

 

 

Item E - 328 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

1 
/4

7

16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t

Ta
bl

e
of

C
on

te
nt

s

1.
B

as
ic

P
ro

je
ct

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

1.
1.

B
as

ic
P

ro
je

ct
In

fo
rm

at
io

n

1.
2.

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

s

1.
3.

U
se

r-
S

el
ec

te
d

E
m

is
si

on
R

ed
uc

tio
n

M
ea

su
re

s
by

E
m

is
si

on
s

S
ec

to
r

2.
E

m
is

si
on

s
S

um
m

ar
y

2.
1.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

m
is

si
on

s
C

om
pa

re
d

A
ga

in
st

T
hr

es
ho

ld
s

2.
2.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

Ye
ar

,U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

2.
4.

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
E

m
is

si
on

s
C

om
pa

re
d

A
ga

in
st

T
hr

es
ho

ld
s

2.
5.

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
ec

to
r,

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

3.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
m

is
si

on
s

D
et

ai
ls

3.
1.

D
em

ol
iti

on
(2

02
3)

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

3.
3.

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

3.
5.

G
ra

di
ng

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

3.
7.

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

Item E - 329 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

2 
/4

7

3.
9.

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

(2
02

4)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

3.
11

.P
av

in
g

(2
02

4)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

3.
13

.A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
(2

02
4)

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

E
m

is
si

on
s

D
et

ai
ls

4.
1.

M
ob

ile
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
1.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
2.

E
ne

rg
y

4.
2.

1.
E

le
ct

ric
ity

E
m

is
si

on
s

B
y

La
nd

U
se

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
2.

3.
N

at
ur

al
G

as
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
La

nd
U

se
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

4.
3.

A
re

a
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
ou

rc
e

4.
3.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
4.

W
at

er
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
4.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
5.

W
as

te
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
5.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
6.

R
ef

rig
er

an
tE

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
6.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

Item E - 330 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

3 
/4

7

4.
7.

O
ffr

oa
d

E
m

is
si

on
s

B
y

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

4.
7.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
8.

S
ta

tio
na

ry
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
E

qu
ip

m
en

tT
yp

e

4.
8.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
9.

U
se

r
D

ef
in

ed
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
E

qu
ip

m
en

tT
yp

e

4.
9.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
10

.S
oi

lC
ar

bo
n

A
cc

um
ul

at
io

n
B

y
V

eg
et

at
io

n
Ty

pe

4.
10

.1
.S

oi
lC

ar
bo

n
A

cc
um

ul
at

io
n

B
y

V
eg

et
at

io
n

Ty
pe

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
10

.2
.A

bo
ve

an
d

B
el

ow
gr

ou
nd

C
ar

bo
n

A
cc

um
ul

at
io

n
by

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

4.
10

.3
.A

vo
id

ed
an

d
S

eq
ue

st
er

ed
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
pe

ci
es

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
A

ct
iv

ity
D

at
a

5.
1.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
S

ch
ed

ul
e

5.
2.

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t

5.
2.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
3.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
V

eh
ic

le
s

5.
3.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
4.

V
eh

ic
le

s

Item E - 331 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

4 
/4

7

5.
4.

1.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

V
eh

ic
le

C
on

tr
ol

S
tr

at
eg

ie
s

5.
5.

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

gs

5.
6.

D
us

tM
iti

ga
tio

n

5.
6.

1.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
ar

th
m

ov
in

g
A

ct
iv

iti
es

5.
6.

2.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
ar

th
m

ov
in

g
C

on
tr

ol
S

tr
at

eg
ie

s

5.
7.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
P

av
in

g

5.
8.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

le
ct

ric
ity

C
on

su
m

pt
io

n
an

d
E

m
is

si
on

s
Fa

ct
or

s

5.
9.

O
pe

ra
tio

na
lM

ob
ile

S
ou

rc
es

5.
9.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
10

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lA

re
a

S
ou

rc
es

5.
10

.1
.H

ea
rt

hs

5.
10

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

5.
10

.2
.A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

C
oa

tin
gs

5.
10

.3
.L

an
ds

ca
pe

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

5.
11

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lE

ne
rg

y
C

on
su

m
pt

io
n

5.
11

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
12

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lW

at
er

an
d

W
as

te
w

at
er

C
on

su
m

pt
io

n

Item E - 332 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

5 
/4

7

5.
12

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
13

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lW

as
te

G
en

er
at

io
n

5.
13

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
14

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lR

ef
rig

er
at

io
n

an
d

A
ir

C
on

di
tio

ni
ng

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

5.
14

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
15

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lO

ff-
R

oa
d

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

5.
15

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

5.
16

.S
ta

tio
na

ry
S

ou
rc

es

5.
16

.1
.E

m
er

ge
nc

y
G

en
er

at
or

s
an

d
F

ire
P

um
ps

5.
16

.2
.P

ro
ce

ss
B

oi
le

rs

5.
17

.U
se

r
D

ef
in

ed

5.
18

.V
eg

et
at

io
n

5.
18

.1
.L

an
d

U
se

C
ha

ng
e

5.
18

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

5.
18

.1
.B

io
m

as
s

C
ov

er
Ty

pe

5.
18

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

5.
18

.2
.S

eq
ue

st
ra

tio
n

Item E - 333 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

6 
/4

7

5.
18

.2
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

6.
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

D
et

ai
le

d
R

ep
or

t

6.
1.

C
lim

at
e

R
is

k
S

um
m

ar
y

6.
2.

In
iti

al
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

S
co

re
s

6.
3.

A
dj

us
te

d
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

S
co

re
s

6.
4.

C
lim

at
e

R
is

k
R

ed
uc

tio
n

M
ea

su
re

s

7.
H

ea
lth

an
d

E
qu

ity
D

et
ai

ls

7.
1.

C
al

E
nv

iro
S

cr
ee

n
4.

0
S

co
re

s

7.
2.

H
ea

lth
y

P
la

ce
s

In
de

x
S

co
re

s

7.
3.

O
ve

ra
ll

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
S

co
re

s

7.
4.

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
M

ea
su

re
s

7.
5.

E
va

lu
at

io
n

S
co

re
ca

rd

7.
6.

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
C

us
to

m
M

ea
su

re
s

8.
U

se
r

C
ha

ng
es

to
D

ef
au

lt
D

at
a

Item E - 334 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

7 
/4

7

1.
B

as
ic

P
ro

je
ct

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

1.
1.

B
as

ic
P

ro
je

ct
In

fo
rm

at
io

n

D
at

a
F

ie
ld

V
al

ue

P
ro

je
ct

N
am

e
16

00
E

Fr
an

ci
s

In
du

st
ria

l-
TO

P
20

50
S

E
IR

P
ro

je
ct

Le
ad

A
ge

nc
y

—

La
nd

U
se

S
ca

le
P

ro
je

ct
/s

ite

A
na

ly
si

s
Le

ve
lf

or
D

ef
au

lts
C

ou
nt

y

W
in

ds
pe

ed
(m

/s
)

2.
80

P
re

ci
pi

ta
tio

n
(d

ay
s)

20
.8

Lo
ca

tio
n

34
.0

40
69

23
30

69
61

46
,-

11
7.

61
82

74
73

49
50

4

C
ou

nt
y

S
an

B
er

na
rd

in
o-

S
ou

th
C

oa
st

C
ity

O
nt

ar
io

A
ir

D
is

tr
ic

t
S

ou
th

C
oa

st
A

Q
M

D

A
ir

B
as

in
S

ou
th

C
oa

st

TA
Z

52
96

E
D

F
Z

10

E
le

ct
ric

U
til

ity
S

ou
th

er
n

C
al

ifo
rn

ia
E

di
so

n

G
as

U
til

ity
S

ou
th

er
n

C
al

ifo
rn

ia
G

as

1.
2.

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

s

La
nd

U
se

S
ub

ty
pe

S
iz

e
U

ni
t

Lo
tA

cr
ea

ge
B

ui
ld

in
g

A
re

a
(s

q
ft)

La
nd

sc
ap

e
A

re
a

(s
q

ft)
S

pe
ci

al
La

nd
sc

ap
e

A
re

a
(s

q
ft)

P
op

ul
at

io
n

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

In
du

st
ria

lP
ar

k
16

7
10

00
sq

ft
4.

58
16

7,
27

7
19

,7
65

—
—

—

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

2.
00

A
cr

e
2.

40
0.

00
12

,3
72

—
—

—

Item E - 335 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

8 
/4

7

1.
3.

U
se

r-
S

el
ec

te
d

E
m

is
si

on
R

ed
uc

tio
n

M
ea

su
re

s
by

E
m

is
si

on
s

S
ec

to
r

N
o

m
ea

su
re

s
se

le
ct

ed

2.
E

m
is

si
on

s
S

um
m

ar
y

2.
1.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

m
is

si
on

s
C

om
pa

re
d

A
ga

in
st

T
hr

es
ho

ld
s

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

U
n/

M
it.

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nm

it.
4.

05
39

.9
37

.1
0.

07
1.

81
11

.1
12

.4
1.

66
3.

10
4.

76
10

,1
40

0.
90

1.
07

14
.5

10
,4

94

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nm

it.
50

.1
39

.9
36

.7
0.

05
1.

81
9.

51
11

.3
1.

66
3.

10
4.

76
5,

54
7

0.
39

0.
38

0.
18

5,
56

9

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
(M

ax
)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nm

it.
3.

66
7.

27
10

.6
0.

02
0.

30
1.

35
1.

57
0.

27
0.

29
0.

50
2,

36
2

0.
12

0.
10

1.
53

2,
39

6

A
nn

ua
l

(M
ax

)
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
0.

67
1.

33
1.

93
<

0.
00

5
0.

05
0.

25
0.

29
0.

05
0.

05
0.

09
39

1
0.

02
0.

02
0.

25
39

7

E
xc

ee
ds

(D
ai

ly
M

ax
)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

T
hr

es
ho

ld
75

.0
10

0
55

0
15

0
—

—
15

0
—

—
55

.0
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
N

o
N

o
N

o
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
—

—
—

E
xc

ee
ds

(A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

T
hr

es
ho

ld
75

.0
10

0
55

0
15

0
—

—
15

0
—

—
55

.0
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
N

o
N

o
N

o
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 336 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

9 
/4

7

2.
2.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

Ye
ar

,U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Ye
ar

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
-

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

20
23

4.
05

39
.9

37
.1

0.
07

1.
81

11
.1

12
.4

1.
66

3.
10

4.
76

10
,1

40
0.

90
1.

07
14

.5
10

,4
94

20
24

1.
59

12
.5

19
.6

0.
03

0.
51

1.
15

1.
66

0.
47

0.
28

0.
75

4,
26

9
0.

21
0.

18
6.

44
4,

33
5

D
ai

ly
-

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

20
23

4.
04

39
.9

36
.7

0.
05

1.
81

9.
51

11
.3

1.
66

3.
10

4.
76

5,
54

7
0.

39
0.

38
0.

18
5,

56
9

20
24

50
.1

12
.6

18
.1

0.
03

0.
51

1.
15

1.
66

0.
47

0.
28

0.
75

4,
18

5
0.

21
0.

18
0.

17
4,

24
4

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

20
23

0.
55

5.
61

5.
65

0.
01

0.
23

1.
35

1.
57

0.
21

0.
29

0.
50

1,
40

6
0.

10
0.

10
0.

77
1,

43
9

20
24

3.
66

7.
27

10
.6

0.
02

0.
30

0.
63

0.
93

0.
27

0.
15

0.
43

2,
36

2
0.

12
0.

10
1.

53
2,

39
6

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

20
23

0.
10

1.
02

1.
03

<
0.

00
5

0.
04

0.
25

0.
29

0.
04

0.
05

0.
09

23
3

0.
02

0.
02

0.
13

23
8

20
24

0.
67

1.
33

1.
93

<
0.

00
5

0.
05

0.
12

0.
17

0.
05

0.
03

0.
08

39
1

0.
02

0.
02

0.
25

39
7

2.
4.

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
E

m
is

si
on

s
C

om
pa

re
d

A
ga

in
st

T
hr

es
ho

ld
s

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

U
n/

M
it.

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nm

it.
8.

22
37

.3
13

0
0.

30
0.

52
6.

30
6.

83
0.

51
1.

35
1.

85
38

,3
33

21
.4

4.
26

14
0

40
,2

78

Item E - 337 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

10
 /

47

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
D

ai
ly

,
W

in
te

r
(M

ax
)

U
nm

it.
6.

89
38

.6
11

7
0.

29
0.

51
6.

30
6.

82
0.

49
1.

35
1.

84
37

,8
23

21
.4

4.
27

46
.0

39
,6

78

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
(M

ax
)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

U
nm

it.
7.

70
36

.8
10

0
0.

30
0.

52
6.

30
6.

82
0.

50
1.

35
1.

85
37

,4
14

21
.4

4.
28

85
.3

39
,3

08

A
nn

ua
l

(M
ax

)
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
1.

40
6.

71
18

.3
0.

05
0.

10
1.

15
1.

25
0.

09
0.

25
0.

34
6,

19
4

3.
54

0.
71

14
.1

6,
50

8

E
xc

ee
ds

(D
ai

ly
M

ax
)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

T
hr

es
ho

ld
55

.0
55

.0
55

0
15

0
—

—
15

0
—

—
55

.0
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
N

o
N

o
N

o
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
—

—
—

E
xc

ee
ds

(A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

T
hr

es
ho

ld
55

.0
55

.0
55

0
15

0
—

—
15

0
—

—
55

.0
—

—
—

—
—

U
nm

it.
N

o
N

o
N

o
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
N

o
—

—
—

—
—

2.
5.

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
ec

to
r,

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

S
ec

to
r

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

M
ob

ile
2.

94
28

.1
42

.3
0.

29
0.

42
6.

30
6.

72
0.

40
1.

35
1.

75
31

,7
68

2.
18

4.
04

96
.6

33
,1

23

A
re

a
5.

21
0.

06
7.

27
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
29

.9
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

30
.0

E
ne

rg
y

0.
07

1.
23

1.
04

0.
01

0.
09

—
0.

09
0.

09
—

0.
09

4,
34

7
0.

40
0.

04
—

4,
36

8

W
at

er
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
32

8
7.

61
0.

18
—

57
3

Item E - 338 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

11
 /

47

W
as

te
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
11

2
11

.2
0.

00
—

39
0

R
ef

rig
.

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
43

.5
43

.5

O
ff-

R
oa

d
0.

00
7.

91
78

.9
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
1,

74
9

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

—
1,

75
1

To
ta

l
8.

22
37

.3
13

0
0.

30
0.

52
6.

30
6.

83
0.

51
1.

35
1.

85
38

,3
33

21
.4

4.
26

14
0

40
,2

78

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

M
ob

ile
2.

80
29

.5
37

.0
0.

29
0.

42
6.

30
6.

72
0.

40
1.

35
1.

75
31

,2
88

2.
19

4.
05

2.
51

32
,5

53

A
re

a
4.

02
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

E
ne

rg
y

0.
07

1.
23

1.
04

0.
01

0.
09

—
0.

09
0.

09
—

0.
09

4,
34

7
0.

40
0.

04
—

4,
36

8

W
at

er
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
32

8
7.

61
0.

18
—

57
3

W
as

te
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
11

2
11

.2
0.

00
—

39
0

R
ef

rig
.

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
43

.5
43

.5

O
ff-

R
oa

d
0.

00
7.

91
78

.9
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
1,

74
9

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

—
1,

75
1

To
ta

l
6.

89
38

.6
11

7
0.

29
0.

51
6.

30
6.

82
0.

49
1.

35
1.

84
37

,8
23

21
.4

4.
27

46
.0

39
,6

78

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

M
ob

ile
2.

79
29

.8
37

.9
0.

29
0.

42
6.

30
6.

72
0.

40
1.

35
1.

75
31

,3
61

2.
19

4.
05

41
.7

32
,6

66

A
re

a
4.

84
0.

04
4.

98
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
20

.5
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

20
.6

E
ne

rg
y

0.
07

1.
23

1.
04

0.
01

0.
09

—
0.

09
0.

09
—

0.
09

4,
34

7
0.

40
0.

04
—

4,
36

8

W
at

er
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
32

8
7.

61
0.

18
—

57
3

W
as

te
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
11

2
11

.2
0.

00
—

39
0

R
ef

rig
.

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
43

.5
43

.5

O
ff-

R
oa

d
0.

00
5.

64
56

.2
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
1,

24
6

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

—
1,

24
7

To
ta

l
7.

70
36

.8
10

0
0.

30
0.

52
6.

30
6.

82
0.

50
1.

35
1.

85
37

,4
14

21
.4

4.
28

85
.3

39
,3

08

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

M
ob

ile
0.

51
5.

45
6.

93
0.

05
0.

08
1.

15
1.

23
0.

07
0.

25
0.

32
5,

19
2

0.
36

0.
67

6.
91

5,
40

8

A
re

a
0.

88
0.

01
0.

91
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
3.

39
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

3.
40

E
ne

rg
y

0.
01

0.
23

0.
19

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

—
0.

02
0.

02
—

0.
02

72
0

0.
07

0.
01

—
72

3

Item E - 339 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

12
 /

47

W
at

er
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
54

.3
1.

26
0.

03
—

94
.8

W
as

te
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
18

.5
1.

85
0.

00
—

64
.6

R
ef

rig
.

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
7.

21
7.

21

O
ff-

R
oa

d
0.

00
1.

03
10

.3
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
20

6
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

20
6

To
ta

l
1.

40
6.

71
18

.3
0.

05
0.

10
1.

15
1.

25
0.

09
0.

25
0.

34
6,

19
4

3.
54

0.
71

14
.1

6,
50

8

3.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
m

is
si

on
s

D
et

ai
ls

3.
1.

D
em

ol
iti

on
(2

02
3)

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
2.

84
27

.3
23

.5
0.

03
1.

20
—

1.
20

1.
10

—
1.

10
3,

42
5

0.
14

0.
03

—
3,

43
7

D
em

ol
iti

on
—

—
—

—
—

5.
06

5.
06

—
0.

77
0.

77
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

0.
05

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

4.
17

4.
17

<
0.

00
5

0.
42

0.
42

15
.9

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

16
.8

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

16
1.

50
1.

29
<

0.
00

5
0.

07
—

0.
07

0.
06

—
0.

06
18

8
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

18
8

D
em

ol
iti

on
—

—
—

—
—

0.
28

0.
28

—
0.

04
0.

04
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
23

0.
23

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

0.
87

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
92

Item E - 340 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

13
 /

47

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

03
0.

27
0.

23
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
31

.1
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

31
.2

D
em

ol
iti

on
—

—
—

—
—

0.
05

0.
05

—
0.

01
0.

01
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
04

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
14

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
15

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
08

0.
08

1.
39

0.
00

0.
00

0.
20

0.
20

0.
00

0.
05

0.
05

22
0

0.
01

0.
01

0.
94

22
4

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
14

8.
17

4.
55

0.
04

0.
08

1.
68

1.
76

0.
08

0.
46

0.
54

6,
47

8
0.

75
1.

03
13

.5
6,

81
6

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
06

0.
00

0.
00

0.
01

0.
01

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

11
.2

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

11
.4

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
01

0.
47

0.
25

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
09

0.
10

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
03

35
5

0.
04

0.
06

0.
32

37
3

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
00

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
86

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
88

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

<
0.

00
5

0.
09

0.
05

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

58
.8

0.
01

0.
01

0.
05

61
.8

3.
3.

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 341 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

14
 /

47

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
3.

95
39

.7
35

.5
0.

05
1.

81
—

1.
81

1.
66

—
1.

66
5,

29
5

0.
21

0.
04

—
5,

31
4

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
5.

11
5.

11
—

2.
63

2.
63

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

0.
05

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

4.
17

4.
17

<
0.

00
5

0.
42

0.
42

15
.9

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

16
.8

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
3.

95
39

.7
35

.5
0.

05
1.

81
—

1.
81

1.
66

—
1.

66
5,

29
5

0.
21

0.
04

—
5,

31
4

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
5.

11
5.

11
—

2.
63

2.
63

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

0.
06

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

4.
17

4.
17

<
0.

00
5

0.
42

0.
42

16
.0

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

16
.8

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

11
1.

09
0.

97
<

0.
00

5
0.

05
—

0.
05

0.
05

—
0.

05
14

5
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

14
6

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
0.

14
0.

14
—

0.
07

0.
07

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
11

0.
11

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
01

0.
44

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
46

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

02
0.

20
0.

18
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
24

.0
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

24
.1

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
0.

03
0.

03
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
—

—
—

—

Item E - 342 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

15
 /

47

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
07

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
08

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
10

0.
09

1.
62

0.
00

0.
00

0.
23

0.
23

0.
00

0.
05

0.
05

25
7

0.
01

0.
01

1.
10

26
1

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
09

0.
11

1.
22

0.
00

0.
00

0.
23

0.
23

0.
00

0.
05

0.
05

23
6

0.
01

0.
01

0.
03

23
8

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
04

0.
00

0.
00

0.
01

0.
01

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

6.
55

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

6.
64

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
00

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
08

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
10

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

3.
5.

G
ra

di
ng

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 343 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

16
 /

47

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
2.

04
20

.0
19

.7
0.

03
0.

94
—

0.
94

0.
87

—
0.

87
2,

95
8

0.
12

0.
02

—
2,

96
8

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
1.

85
1.

85
—

0.
89

0.
89

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

0.
06

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

4.
17

4.
17

<
0.

00
5

0.
42

0.
42

16
.0

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

16
.8

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

11
1.

09
1.

08
<

0.
00

5
0.

05
—

0.
05

0.
05

—
0.

05
16

2
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

16
3

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
0.

10
0.

10
—

0.
05

0.
05

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
23

0.
23

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

0.
87

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
92

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

02
0.

20
0.

20
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
26

.8
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

26
.9

D
us

tF
ro

m
M

at
er

ia
l

M
ov

em
en

t

—
—

—
—

—
0.

02
0.

02
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
—

—
—

—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
04

0.
04

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
14

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
15

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

Item E - 344 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

17
 /

47

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
D

ai
ly

,
W

in
te

r
(M

ax
)

W
or

ke
r

0.
08

0.
09

1.
04

0.
00

0.
00

0.
20

0.
20

0.
00

0.
05

0.
05

20
2

0.
01

0.
01

0.
02

20
4

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
04

2.
88

1.
55

0.
01

0.
03

0.
57

0.
60

0.
03

0.
16

0.
18

2,
19

1
0.

25
0.

35
0.

12
2,

30
1

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
06

0.
00

0.
00

0.
01

0.
01

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

11
.2

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

11
.4

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

<
0.

00
5

0.
16

0.
08

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
03

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
01

12
0

0.
01

0.
02

0.
11

12
6

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
00

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
86

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
88

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

<
0.

00
5

0.
03

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

19
.9

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

20
.9

3.
7.

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

(2
02

3)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
1.

26
11

.8
13

.2
0.

02
0.

55
—

0.
55

0.
51

—
0.

51
2,

39
7

0.
10

0.
02

—
2,

40
6

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Item E - 345 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

18
 /

47

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

12
1.

13
1.

26
<

0.
00

5
0.

05
—

0.
05

0.
05

—
0.

05
23

0
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

23
1

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

02
0.

21
0.

23
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
38

.1
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

38
.2

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
36

0.
43

4.
89

0.
00

0.
00

0.
92

0.
92

0.
00

0.
22

0.
22

94
6

0.
05

0.
03

0.
12

95
7

V
en

do
r

0.
02

1.
07

0.
56

0.
01

0.
01

0.
23

0.
25

0.
01

0.
06

0.
08

86
9

0.
07

0.
13

0.
06

90
9

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

0.
03

0.
04

0.
50

0.
00

0.
00

0.
09

0.
09

0.
00

0.
02

0.
02

92
.0

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
18

93
.3

V
en

do
r

<
0.

00
5

0.
10

0.
05

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
01

83
.3

0.
01

0.
01

0.
10

87
.3

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
01

0.
01

0.
09

0.
00

0.
00

0.
02

0.
02

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

15
.2

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
03

15
.4

V
en

do
r

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

13
.8

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

14
.4

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Item E - 346 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

19
 /

47

3.
9.

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

(2
02

4)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
1.

20
11

.2
13

.1
0.

02
0.

50
—

0.
50

0.
46

—
0.

46
2,

39
8

0.
10

0.
02

—
2,

40
6

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
1.

20
11

.2
13

.1
0.

02
0.

50
—

0.
50

0.
46

—
0.

46
2,

39
8

0.
10

0.
02

—
2,

40
6

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

64
6.

02
7.

03
0.

01
0.

27
—

0.
27

0.
25

—
0.

25
1,

28
6

0.
05

0.
01

—
1,

29
0

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

12
1.

10
1.

28
<

0.
00

5
0.

05
—

0.
05

0.
04

—
0.

04
21

3
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

21
4

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 347 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

20
 /

47

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
D

ai
ly

,
S

um
m

er
(M

ax
)

W
or

ke
r

0.
37

0.
34

5.
94

0.
00

0.
00

0.
92

0.
92

0.
00

0.
22

0.
22

1,
01

1
0.

04
0.

03
4.

04
1,

02
7

V
en

do
r

0.
02

0.
99

0.
53

0.
01

0.
01

0.
23

0.
25

0.
01

0.
06

0.
08

86
0

0.
07

0.
13

2.
40

90
2

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
35

0.
40

4.
49

0.
00

0.
00

0.
92

0.
92

0.
00

0.
22

0.
22

92
7

0.
04

0.
03

0.
10

93
9

V
en

do
r

0.
02

1.
03

0.
54

0.
01

0.
01

0.
23

0.
25

0.
01

0.
06

0.
08

86
0

0.
07

0.
13

0.
06

90
0

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

0.
18

0.
22

2.
53

0.
00

0.
00

0.
49

0.
49

0.
00

0.
11

0.
11

50
4

0.
02

0.
02

0.
94

51
1

V
en

do
r

0.
01

0.
55

0.
29

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
12

0.
13

0.
01

0.
03

0.
04

46
1

0.
04

0.
07

0.
55

48
3

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
03

0.
04

0.
46

0.
00

0.
00

0.
09

0.
09

0.
00

0.
02

0.
02

83
.5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
15

84
.6

V
en

do
r

<
0.

00
5

0.
10

0.
05

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
01

76
.3

0.
01

0.
01

0.
09

80
.0

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

3.
11

.P
av

in
g

(2
02

4)
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

Item E - 348 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

21
 /

47

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
D

ai
ly

,
W

in
te

r
(M

ax
)

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

85
7.

81
10

.0
0.

01
0.

39
—

0.
39

0.
36

—
0.

36
1,

51
2

0.
06

0.
01

—
1,

51
7

P
av

in
g

0.
31

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

05
0.

43
0.

55
<

0.
00

5
0.

02
—

0.
02

0.
02

—
0.

02
82

.8
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

83
.1

P
av

in
g

0.
02

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

01
0.

08
0.

10
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
13

.7
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

13
.8

P
av

in
g

<
0.

00
5

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
07

0.
09

0.
96

0.
00

0.
00

0.
20

0.
20

0.
00

0.
05

0.
05

19
8

0.
01

0.
01

0.
02

20
0

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 349 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

22
 /

47

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
06

0.
00

0.
00

0.
01

0.
01

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

11
.0

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

11
.2

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
00

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
82

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
85

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

3.
13

.A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
(2

02
4)

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

Lo
ca

tio
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

O
ns

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

14
0.

91
1.

15
<

0.
00

5
0.

03
—

0.
03

0.
03

—
0.

03
13

4
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
—

13
4

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

49
.9

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

01
0.

05
0.

06
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
7.

32
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

7.
34

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

2.
73

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 350 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

23
 /

47

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
0.

01
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
1.

21
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

1.
22

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

0.
50

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

O
ffs

ite
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

0.
07

0.
08

0.
90

0.
00

0.
00

0.
18

0.
18

0.
00

0.
04

0.
04

18
5

0.
01

0.
01

0.
02

18
8

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
ve

ra
ge

D
ai

ly
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
05

0.
00

0.
00

0.
01

0.
01

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

10
.3

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

10
.4

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

W
or

ke
r

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
01

0.
00

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

0.
00

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
71

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

1.
73

V
en

do
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Item E - 351 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

24
 /

47

4.
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

E
m

is
si

on
s

D
et

ai
ls

4.
1.

M
ob

ile
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
1.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

2.
36

1.
42

28
.5

0.
06

0.
03

2.
21

2.
24

0.
02

0.
38

0.
40

6,
09

3
0.

21
0.

14
21

.9
6,

16
3

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
58

26
.7

13
.8

0.
23

0.
39

4.
09

4.
48

0.
38

0.
97

1.
35

25
,6

75
1.

97
3.

89
74

.7
26

,9
59

To
ta

l
2.

94
28

.1
42

.3
0.

29
0.

42
6.

30
6.

72
0.

40
1.

35
1.

75
31

,7
68

2.
18

4.
04

96
.6

33
,1

23

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

2.
24

1.
58

23
.1

0.
06

0.
03

2.
21

2.
24

0.
02

0.
38

0.
40

5,
60

9
0.

22
0.

16
0.

57
5,

66
2

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
56

27
.9

13
.9

0.
23

0.
39

4.
09

4.
48

0.
38

0.
97

1.
35

25
,6

79
1.

97
3.

90
1.

94
26

,8
91

To
ta

l
2.

80
29

.5
37

.0
0.

29
0.

42
6.

30
6.

72
0.

40
1.

35
1.

75
31

,2
88

2.
19

4.
05

2.
51

32
,5

53

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

0.
41

0.
30

4.
40

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

0.
40

0.
41

<
0.

00
5

0.
07

0.
07

94
1

0.
04

0.
03

1.
57

95
1

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
10

5.
15

2.
53

0.
04

0.
07

0.
75

0.
82

0.
07

0.
18

0.
25

4,
25

1
0.

33
0.

65
5.

34
4,

45
7

To
ta

l
0.

51
5.

45
6.

93
0.

05
0.

08
1.

15
1.

23
0.

07
0.

25
0.

32
5,

19
2

0.
36

0.
67

6.
91

5,
40

8

4.
2.

E
ne

rg
y

4.
2.

1.
E

le
ct

ric
ity

E
m

is
si

on
s

B
y

La
nd

U
se

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

Item E - 352 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

25
 /

47

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

2,
78

8
0.

26
0.

03
—

2,
80

5

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

87
.5

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

—
88

.0

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
2,

87
6

0.
27

0.
03

—
2,

89
3

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

2,
78

8
0.

26
0.

03
—

2,
80

5

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

87
.5

0.
01

<
0.

00
5

—
88

.0

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
2,

87
6

0.
27

0.
03

—
2,

89
3

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

46
2

0.
04

0.
01

—
46

4

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

14
.5

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
14

.6

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
47

6
0.

05
0.

01
—

47
9

4.
2.

3.
N

at
ur

al
G

as
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
La

nd
U

se
-

U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

0.
07

1.
23

1.
04

0.
01

0.
09

—
0.

09
0.

09
—

0.
09

1,
47

1
0.

13
<

0.
00

5
—

1,
47

5

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

Item E - 353 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

26
 /

47

To
ta

l
0.

07
1.

23
1.

04
0.

01
0.

09
—

0.
09

0.
09

—
0.

09
1,

47
1

0.
13

<
0.

00
5

—
1,

47
5

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

0.
07

1.
23

1.
04

0.
01

0.
09

—
0.

09
0.

09
—

0.
09

1,
47

1
0.

13
<

0.
00

5
—

1,
47

5

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

To
ta

l
0.

07
1.

23
1.

04
0.

01
0.

09
—

0.
09

0.
09

—
0.

09
1,

47
1

0.
13

<
0.

00
5

—
1,

47
5

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

0.
01

0.
23

0.
19

<
0.

00
5

0.
02

—
0.

02
0.

02
—

0.
02

24
4

0.
02

<
0.

00
5

—
24

4

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

To
ta

l
0.

01
0.

23
0.

19
<

0.
00

5
0.

02
—

0.
02

0.
02

—
0.

02
24

4
0.

02
<

0.
00

5
—

24
4

4.
3.

A
re

a
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
ou

rc
e

4.
3.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

S
ou

rc
e

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

C
on

su
m

er
P

ro
du

ct
s

3.
59

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

0.
43

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

La
nd

sc
ap

e
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
1.

19
0.

06
7.

27
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
29

.9
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

30
.0

To
ta

l
5.

21
0.

06
7.

27
<

0.
00

5
0.

01
—

0.
01

0.
01

—
0.

01
29

.9
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

30
.0

Item E - 354 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

27
 /

47

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
D

ai
ly

,
W

in
te

r
(M

ax
)

C
on

su
m

er
P

ro
du

ct
s

3.
59

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

0.
43

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

To
ta

l
4.

02
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

C
on

su
m

er
P

ro
du

ct
s

0.
65

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al C
oa

tin
gs

0.
08

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

La
nd

sc
ap

e
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
0.

15
0.

01
0.

91
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
3.

39
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

3.
40

To
ta

l
0.

88
0.

01
0.

91
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
<

0.
00

5
3.

39
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

3.
40

4.
4.

W
at

er
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
4.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

32
7

7.
61

0.
18

—
57

2

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

1.
01

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
1.

01

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
32

8
7.

61
0.

18
—

57
3

Item E - 355 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

28
 /

47

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
D

ai
ly

,
W

in
te

r
(M

ax
)

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

32
7

7.
61

0.
18

—
57

2

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

1.
01

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
1.

01

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
32

8
7.

61
0.

18
—

57
3

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

54
.1

1.
26

0.
03

—
94

.6

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

0.
17

<
0.

00
5

<
0.

00
5

—
0.

17

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
54

.3
1.

26
0.

03
—

94
.8

4.
5.

W
as

te
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
5.

2.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

11
2

11
.2

0.
00

—
39

0

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
11

2
11

.2
0.

00
—

39
0

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

11
2

11
.2

0.
00

—
39

0

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

Item E - 356 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

29
 /

47

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
11

2
11

.2
0.

00
—

39
0

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

18
.5

1.
85

0.
00

—
64

.6

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
18

.5
1.

85
0.

00
—

64
.6

4.
6.

R
ef

rig
er

an
tE

m
is

si
on

s
by

La
nd

U
se

4.
6.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
43

.5
43

.5

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

43
.5

43
.5

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
43

.5
43

.5

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

43
.5

43
.5

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

In
du

st
ria

l
P

ar
k

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
7.

21
7.

21

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

7.
21

7.
21

4.
7.

O
ffr

oa
d

E
m

is
si

on
s

B
y

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

Item E - 357 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

30
 /

47

4.
7.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

Ty
pe

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

F
or

kl
ift

s
0.

00
7.

91
78

.9
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
1,

74
9

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

—
1,

75
1

To
ta

l
0.

00
7.

91
78

.9
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
1,

74
9

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

—
1,

75
1

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

F
or

kl
ift

s
0.

00
7.

91
78

.9
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
1,

74
9

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

—
1,

75
1

To
ta

l
0.

00
7.

91
78

.9
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
1,

74
9

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

—
1,

75
1

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

F
or

kl
ift

s
0.

00
1.

03
10

.3
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
20

6
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

20
6

To
ta

l
0.

00
1.

03
10

.3
0.

00
0.

00
—

0.
00

0.
00

—
0.

00
20

6
<

0.
00

5
<

0.
00

5
—

20
6

4.
8.

S
ta

tio
na

ry
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
E

qu
ip

m
en

tT
yp

e

4.
8.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

Ty
pe

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

Item E - 358 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

31
 /

47

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

4.
9.

U
se

r
D

ef
in

ed
E

m
is

si
on

s
B

y
E

qu
ip

m
en

tT
yp

e

4.
9.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

Ty
pe

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

4.
10

.S
oi

lC
ar

bo
n

A
cc

um
ul

at
io

n
B

y
V

eg
et

at
io

n
Ty

pe

4.
10

.1
.S

oi
lC

ar
bo

n
A

cc
um

ul
at

io
n

B
y

V
eg

et
at

io
n

Ty
pe

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

V
eg

et
at

io
n

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 359 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

32
 /

47

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

4.
10

.2
.A

bo
ve

an
d

B
el

ow
gr

ou
nd

C
ar

bo
n

A
cc

um
ul

at
io

n
by

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

La
nd

U
se

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

To
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

4.
10

.3
.A

vo
id

ed
an

d
S

eq
ue

st
er

ed
E

m
is

si
on

s
by

S
pe

ci
es

-
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

C
rit

er
ia

P
ol

lu
ta

nt
s

(lb
/d

ay
fo

r
da

ily
,t

on
/y

r
fo

r
an

nu
al

)
an

d
G

H
G

s
(lb

/d
ay

fo
r

da
ily

,M
T

/y
r

fo
r

an
nu

al
)

S
pe

ci
es

R
O

G
N

O
x

C
O

S
O

2
P

M
10

E
P

M
10

D
P

M
10

T
P

M
2.

5E
P

M
2.

5D
P

M
2.

5T
C

O
2T

C
H

4
N

2O
R

C
O

2e

D
ai

ly
,

S
um

m
er

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

A
vo

id
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Item E - 360 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

33
 /

47

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
S

eq
ue

st
er

ed S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

R
em

ov
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

D
ai

ly
,

W
in

te
r

(M
ax

)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

A
vo

id
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

S
eq

ue
st

er
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

R
em

ov
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

A
nn

ua
l

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

A
vo

id
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

S
eq

ue
st

er
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

R
em

ov
ed

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

S
ub

to
ta

l
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

5.
A

ct
iv

ity
D

at
a

Item E - 361 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

34
 /

47

5.
1.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
S

ch
ed

ul
e

P
ha

se
N

am
e

P
ha

se
Ty

pe
S

ta
rt

D
at

e
E

nd
D

at
e

D
ay

s
P

er
W

ee
k

W
or

k
D

ay
s

pe
r

P
ha

se
P

ha
se

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

D
em

ol
iti

on
D

em
ol

iti
on

9/
1/

20
23

9/
29

/2
02

3
5.

00
20

.0
—

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

9/
30

/2
02

3
10

/1
4/

20
23

5.
00

10
.0

—

G
ra

di
ng

G
ra

di
ng

10
/1

5/
20

23
11

/1
2/

20
23

5.
00

20
.0

—

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

11
/1

3/
20

23
9/

30
/2

02
4

5.
00

23
0

—

P
av

in
g

P
av

in
g

10
/1

/2
02

4
10

/2
9/

20
24

5.
00

20
.0

—

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

C
oa

tin
g

10
/3

0/
20

24
11

/2
7/

20
24

5.
00

20
.0

—

5.
2.

O
ff-

R
oa

d
E

qu
ip

m
en

t

5.
2.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

P
ha

se
N

am
e

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

F
ue

lT
yp

e
E

ng
in

e
T

ie
r

N
um

be
r

pe
r

D
ay

H
ou

rs
P

er
D

ay
H

or
se

po
w

er
Lo

ad
Fa

ct
or

D
em

ol
iti

on
C

on
cr

et
e/

In
du

st
ria

l
S

aw
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

8.
00

33
.0

0.
73

D
em

ol
iti

on
E

xc
av

at
or

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
3.

00
8.

00
36

.0
0.

38

D
em

ol
iti

on
R

ub
be

r
T

ire
d

D
oz

er
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

2.
00

8.
00

36
7

0.
40

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

R
ub

be
r

T
ire

d
D

oz
er

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
3.

00
8.

00
36

7
0.

40

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

Tr
ac

to
rs

/L
oa

de
rs

/B
ac

kh
oe

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
4.

00
8.

00
84

.0
0.

37

G
ra

di
ng

E
xc

av
at

or
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

8.
00

36
.0

0.
38

G
ra

di
ng

G
ra

de
rs

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

8.
00

14
8

0.
41

G
ra

di
ng

R
ub

be
r

T
ire

d
D

oz
er

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
1.

00
8.

00
36

7
0.

40

G
ra

di
ng

Tr
ac

to
rs

/L
oa

de
rs

/B
ac

kh
oe

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
3.

00
8.

00
84

.0
0.

37

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

C
ra

ne
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

7.
00

36
7

0.
29

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

F
or

kl
ift

s
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
3.

00
8.

00
82

.0
0.

20

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

G
en

er
at

or
S

et
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

8.
00

14
.0

0.
74

Item E - 362 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

35
 /

47

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

Tr
ac

to
rs

/L
oa

de
rs

/B
ac

kh
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
3.

00
7.

00
84

.0
0.

37

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

W
el

de
rs

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

1.
00

8.
00

46
.0

0.
45

P
av

in
g

P
av

er
s

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

2.
00

8.
00

81
.0

0.
42

P
av

in
g

P
av

in
g

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

2.
00

8.
00

89
.0

0.
36

P
av

in
g

R
ol

le
rs

D
ie

se
l

A
ve

ra
ge

2.
00

8.
00

36
.0

0.
38

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
A

ir
C

om
pr

es
so

rs
D

ie
se

l
A

ve
ra

ge
1.

00
6.

00
37

.0
0.

48

5.
3.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
V

eh
ic

le
s

5.
3.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

P
ha

se
N

am
e

Tr
ip

Ty
pe

O
ne

-W
ay

Tr
ip

s
pe

r
D

ay
M

ile
s

pe
r

Tr
ip

V
eh

ic
le

M
ix

D
em

ol
iti

on
—

—
—

—

D
em

ol
iti

on
W

or
ke

r
15

.0
18

.5
LD

A
,L

D
T

1,
LD

T
2

D
em

ol
iti

on
V

en
do

r
—

10
.2

H
H

D
T,

M
H

D
T

D
em

ol
iti

on
H

au
lin

g
90

.7
20

.0
H

H
D

T

D
em

ol
iti

on
O

ns
ite

tr
uc

k
3.

00
1.

00
H

H
D

T

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

—
—

—
—

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

W
or

ke
r

17
.5

18
.5

LD
A

,L
D

T
1,

LD
T

2

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

V
en

do
r

—
10

.2
H

H
D

T,
M

H
D

T

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

20
.0

H
H

D
T

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

3.
00

1.
00

H
H

D
T

G
ra

di
ng

—
—

—
—

G
ra

di
ng

W
or

ke
r

15
.0

18
.5

LD
A

,L
D

T
1,

LD
T

2

G
ra

di
ng

V
en

do
r

—
10

.2
H

H
D

T,
M

H
D

T

G
ra

di
ng

H
au

lin
g

30
.6

20
.0

H
H

D
T

G
ra

di
ng

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

3.
00

1.
00

H
H

D
T

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

—
—

—
—

Item E - 363 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

36
 /

47

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

W
or

ke
r

70
.3

18
.5

LD
A

,L
D

T
1,

LD
T

2

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

V
en

do
r

27
.4

10
.2

H
H

D
T,

M
H

D
T

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

20
.0

H
H

D
T

B
ui

ld
in

g
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

—
—

H
H

D
T

P
av

in
g

—
—

—
—

P
av

in
g

W
or

ke
r

15
.0

18
.5

LD
A

,L
D

T
1,

LD
T

2

P
av

in
g

V
en

do
r

—
10

.2
H

H
D

T,
M

H
D

T

P
av

in
g

H
au

lin
g

0.
00

20
.0

H
H

D
T

P
av

in
g

O
ns

ite
tr

uc
k

—
—

H
H

D
T

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
—

—
—

—

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
W

or
ke

r
14

.1
18

.5
LD

A
,L

D
T

1,
LD

T
2

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
V

en
do

r
—

10
.2

H
H

D
T,

M
H

D
T

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
H

au
lin

g
0.

00
20

.0
H

H
D

T

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
O

ns
ite

tr
uc

k
—

—
H

H
D

T

5.
4.

V
eh

ic
le

s

5.
4.

1.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

V
eh

ic
le

C
on

tr
ol

S
tr

at
eg

ie
s

N
on

-a
pp

lic
ab

le
.N

o
co

nt
ro

ls
tr

at
eg

ie
s

ac
tiv

at
ed

by
us

er
.

5.
5.

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

gs

P
ha

se
N

am
e

R
es

id
en

tia
lI

nt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

R
es

id
en

tia
lE

xt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

N
on

-R
es

id
en

tia
lI

nt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

N
on

-R
es

id
en

tia
lE

xt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

P
ar

ki
ng

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
C

oa
tin

g
0.

00
0.

00
25

0,
84

1
83

,6
14

6,
27

3

5.
6.

D
us

tM
iti

ga
tio

n

5.
6.

1.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
ar

th
m

ov
in

g
A

ct
iv

iti
es

Item E - 364 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

37
 /

47

P
ha

se
N

am
e

M
at

er
ia

lI
m

po
rt

ed
(c

y)
M

at
er

ia
lE

xp
or

te
d

(c
y)

A
cr

es
G

ra
de

d
(a

cr
es

)
M

at
er

ia
lD

em
ol

is
he

d
(T

on
of

D
eb

ris
)

A
cr

es
P

av
ed

(a
cr

es
)

D
em

ol
iti

on
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
7,

24
9

—

S
ite

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

—
—

15
.0

0.
00

—

G
ra

di
ng

—
4,

90
0

20
.0

0.
00

—

P
av

in
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

2.
40

5.
6.

2.
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

E
ar

th
m

ov
in

g
C

on
tr

ol
S

tr
at

eg
ie

s

C
on

tr
ol

S
tr

at
eg

ie
s

A
pp

lie
d

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y
(p

er
da

y)
P

M
10

R
ed

uc
tio

n
P

M
2.

5
R

ed
uc

tio
n

W
at

er
E

xp
os

ed
A

re
a

3
74

%
74

%

W
at

er
D

em
ol

is
he

d
A

re
a

2
36

%
36

%

5.
7.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
P

av
in

g

La
nd

U
se

A
re

a
P

av
ed

(a
cr

es
)

%
A

sp
ha

lt

In
du

st
ria

lP
ar

k
0.

00
0%

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

2.
40

10
0%

5.
8.

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
E

le
ct

ric
ity

C
on

su
m

pt
io

n
an

d
E

m
is

si
on

s
Fa

ct
or

s

kW
h

pe
r

Ye
ar

an
d

E
m

is
si

on
Fa

ct
or

(lb
/M

W
h)

Ye
ar

kW
h

pe
r

Ye
ar

C
O

2
C

H
4

N
2O

20
23

0.
00

53
2

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

20
24

0.
00

53
2

0.
03

<
0.

00
5

5.
9.

O
pe

ra
tio

na
lM

ob
ile

S
ou

rc
es

5.
9.

1.
U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

Item E - 365 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

38
 /

47

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

Tr
ip

s/
W

ee
kd

ay
Tr

ip
s/

S
at

ur
da

y
Tr

ip
s/

S
un

da
y

Tr
ip

s/
Ye

ar
V

M
T

/W
ee

kd
ay

V
M

T
/S

at
ur

da
y

V
M

T
/S

un
da

y
V

M
T

/Y
ea

r

In
du

st
ria

lP
ar

k
59

1
59

1
59

1
21

5,
78

1
8,

30
7

8,
30

7
8,

30
7

3,
03

2,
17

4

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

22
3

22
3

22
3

81
,3

95
8,

92
0

8,
92

0
8,

92
0

3,
25

5,
80

0

5.
10

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lA

re
a

S
ou

rc
es

5.
10

.1
.H

ea
rt

hs

5.
10

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

5.
10

.2
.A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

C
oa

tin
gs

R
es

id
en

tia
lI

nt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

R
es

id
en

tia
lE

xt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

N
on

-R
es

id
en

tia
lI

nt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

N
on

-R
es

id
en

tia
lE

xt
er

io
r

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

P
ar

ki
ng

A
re

a
C

oa
te

d
(s

q
ft)

0
0.

00
25

0,
91

6
83

,6
39

6,
27

3

5.
10

.3
.L

an
ds

ca
pe

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

S
ea

so
n

U
ni

t
V

al
ue

S
no

w
D

ay
s

da
y/

yr
0.

00

S
um

m
er

D
ay

s
da

y/
yr

25
0

5.
11

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lE

ne
rg

y
C

on
su

m
pt

io
n

5.
11

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

E
le

ct
ric

ity
(k

W
h/

yr
)

an
d

C
O

2
an

d
C

H
4

an
d

N
2O

an
d

N
at

ur
al

G
as

(k
B

T
U

/y
r)

La
nd

U
se

E
le

ct
ric

ity
(k

W
h/

yr
)

C
O

2
C

H
4

N
2O

N
at

ur
al

G
as

(k
B

T
U

/y
r)

In
du

st
ria

lP
ar

k
2,

91
9,

29
9

34
9

0.
03

30
0.

00
40

4,
59

0,
08

4

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

91
,5

81
34

9
0.

03
30

0.
00

40
0.

00

Item E - 366 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

39
 /

47

5.
12

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lW

at
er

an
d

W
as

te
w

at
er

C
on

su
m

pt
io

n

5.
12

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

La
nd

U
se

In
do

or
W

at
er

(g
al

/y
ea

r)
O

ut
do

or
W

at
er

(g
al

/y
ea

r)

In
du

st
ria

lP
ar

k
38

,6
18

,7
50

31
7,

40
9

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

19
8,

68
3

5.
13

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lW

as
te

G
en

er
at

io
n

5.
13

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

La
nd

U
se

W
as

te
(t

on
/y

ea
r)

C
og

en
er

at
io

n
(k

W
h/

ye
ar

)

In
du

st
ria

lP
ar

k
20

7
0.

00

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
t

0.
00

0.
00

5.
14

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lR

ef
rig

er
at

io
n

an
d

A
ir

C
on

di
tio

ni
ng

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

5.
14

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

R
ef

rig
er

an
t

G
W

P
Q

ua
nt

ity
(k

g)
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

Le
ak

R
at

e
S

er
vi

ce
Le

ak
R

at
e

T
im

es
S

er
vi

ce
d

In
du

st
ria

lP
ar

k
O

th
er

co
m

m
er

ci
al

A
/C

an
d

he
at

pu
m

ps
R

-4
10

A
2,

08
8

0.
30

4.
00

4.
00

18
.0

5.
15

.O
pe

ra
tio

na
lO

ff-
R

oa
d

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

5.
15

.1
.U

nm
iti

ga
te

d

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

F
ue

lT
yp

e
E

ng
in

e
T

ie
r

N
um

be
r

pe
r

D
ay

H
ou

rs
P

er
D

ay
H

or
se

po
w

er
Lo

ad
Fa

ct
or

F
or

kl
ift

s
C

N
G

A
ve

ra
ge

7.
00

8.
00

70
.0

0.
30

Item E - 367 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

40
 /

47

5.
16

.S
ta

tio
na

ry
S

ou
rc

es

5.
16

.1
.E

m
er

ge
nc

y
G

en
er

at
or

s
an

d
F

ire
P

um
ps

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

F
ue

lT
yp

e
N

um
be

r
pe

r
D

ay
H

ou
rs

pe
r

D
ay

H
ou

rs
pe

r
Ye

ar
H

or
se

po
w

er
Lo

ad
Fa

ct
or

5.
16

.2
.P

ro
ce

ss
B

oi
le

rs

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

F
ue

lT
yp

e
N

um
be

r
B

oi
le

r
R

at
in

g
(M

M
B

tu
/h

r)
D

ai
ly

H
ea

tI
np

ut
(M

M
B

tu
/d

ay
)

A
nn

ua
lH

ea
tI

np
ut

(M
M

B
tu

/y
r)

5.
17

.U
se

r
D

ef
in

ed

E
qu

ip
m

en
tT

yp
e

F
ue

lT
yp

e

—
—

5.
18

.V
eg

et
at

io
n

5.
18

.1
.L

an
d

U
se

C
ha

ng
e

5.
18

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

V
eg

et
at

io
n

La
nd

U
se

Ty
pe

V
eg

et
at

io
n

S
oi

lT
yp

e
In

iti
al

A
cr

es
F

in
al

A
cr

es

5.
18

.1
.B

io
m

as
s

C
ov

er
Ty

pe

5.
18

.1
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

B
io

m
as

s
C

ov
er

Ty
pe

In
iti

al
A

cr
es

F
in

al
A

cr
es

5.
18

.2
.S

eq
ue

st
ra

tio
n

Item E - 368 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

41
 /

47

5.
18

.2
.1

.U
nm

iti
ga

te
d

Tr
ee

Ty
pe

N
um

be
r

E
le

ct
ric

ity
S

av
ed

(k
W

h/
ye

ar
)

N
at

ur
al

G
as

S
av

ed
(b

tu
/y

ea
r)

6.
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

D
et

ai
le

d
R

ep
or

t

6.
1.

C
lim

at
e

R
is

k
S

um
m

ar
y

C
al

-A
da

pt
m

id
ce

nt
ur

y
20

40
–2

05
9

av
er

ag
e

pr
oj

ec
tio

ns
fo

r
fo

ur
ha

za
rd

s
ar

e
re

po
rt

ed
be

lo
w

fo
r

yo
ur

pr
oj

ec
tl

oc
at

io
n.

T
he

se
ar

e
un

de
r

R
ep

re
se

nt
at

io
n

C
on

ce
nt

ra
tio

n
P

at
hw

ay
(R

C
P

)
8.

5
w

hi
ch

as
su

m
es

G
H

G
em

is
si

on
s

w
ill

co
nt

in
ue

to
ris

e
st

ro
ng

ly
th

ro
ug

h
20

50
an

d
th

en
pl

at
ea

u
ar

ou
nd

21
00

.

C
lim

at
e

H
az

ar
d

R
es

ul
tf

or
P

ro
je

ct
Lo

ca
tio

n
U

ni
t

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

an
d

E
xt

re
m

e
H

ea
t

20
.0

an
nu

al
da

ys
of

ex
tr

em
e

he
at

E
xt

re
m

e
P

re
ci

pi
ta

tio
n

3.
95

an
nu

al
da

ys
w

ith
pr

ec
ip

ita
tio

n
ab

ov
e

20
m

m

S
ea

Le
ve

lR
is

e
0.

00
m

et
er

s
of

in
un

da
tio

n
de

pt
h

W
ild

fir
e

0.
00

an
nu

al
he

ct
ar

es
bu

rn
ed

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

an
d

E
xt

re
m

e
H

ea
td

at
a

ar
e

fo
r

gr
id

ce
ll

in
w

hi
ch

yo
ur

pr
oj

ec
ta

re
lo

ca
te

d.
T

he
pr

oj
ec

tio
n

is
ba

se
d

on
th

e
98

th
hi

st
or

ic
al

pe
rc

en
til

e
of

da
ily

m
ax

im
um

/m
in

im
um

te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

s
fr

om
ob

se
rv

ed
hi

st
or

ic
al

da
ta

(3
2

cl
im

at
e

m
od

el
en

se
m

bl
e

fr
om

C
al

-A
da

pt
,2

04
0–

20
59

av
er

ag
e

un
de

r
R

C
P

8.
5)

. 
E

ac
h

gr
id

ce
ll

is
6

ki
lo

m
et

er
s

(k
m

)
by

6
km

,o
r

3.
7

m
ile

s
(m

i)
by

3.
7

m
i.

E
xt

re
m

e
P

re
ci

pi
ta

tio
n

da
ta

ar
e

fo
r

th
e

gr
id

ce
ll

in
w

hi
ch

yo
ur

pr
oj

ec
ta

re
lo

ca
te

d.
T

he
th

re
sh

ol
d

of
20

m
m

is
eq

ui
va

le
nt

to
ab

ou
t¾

an
in

ch
of

ra
in

,w
hi

ch
w

ou
ld

be
lig

ht
to

m
od

er
at

e
ra

in
fa

ll
if

re
ce

iv
ed

ov
er

a
fu

ll
da

y
or

he
av

y
ra

in
if

re
ce

iv
ed

ov
er

a
pe

rio
d

of
2

to
4

ho
ur

s.
E

ac
h

gr
id

ce
ll

is
6

ki
lo

m
et

er
s

(k
m

)
by

6
km

,o
r

3.
7

m
ile

s
(m

i)
by

3.
7

m
i.

S
ea

Le
ve

lR
is

e
da

ta
ar

e
fo

r
th

e
gr

id
ce

ll
in

w
hi

ch
yo

ur
pr

oj
ec

ta
re

lo
ca

te
d.

T
he

pr
oj

ec
tio

ns
ar

e
fr

om
R

ad
ke

et
al

.(
20

17
),

as
re

po
rt

ed
in

C
al

-A
da

pt
(2

04
0–

20
59

av
er

ag
e

un
de

r
R

C
P

8.
5)

,a
nd

co
ns

id
er

di
ffe

re
nt

in
cr

em
en

ts
of

se
a

le
ve

lr
is

e
co

up
le

d
w

ith
ex

tr
em

e
st

or
m

ev
en

ts
.U

se
rs

m
ay

se
le

ct
fr

om
fo

ur
m

od
el

si
m

ul
at

io
ns

to
vi

ew
th

e
ra

ng
e

in
po

te
nt

ia
li

nu
nd

at
io

n
de

pt
h

fo
r

th
e

gr
id

ce
ll.

T
he

fo
ur

si
m

ul
at

io
ns

m
ak

e
di

ffe
re

nt
as

su
m

pt
io

ns
ab

ou
te

xp
ec

te
d

ra
in

fa
ll

an
d

te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

ar
e:

W
ar

m
er

/d
rie

r
(H

ad
G

E
M

2-
E

S
),

C
oo

le
r/

w
et

te
r

(C
N

R
M

-C
M

5)
,A

ve
ra

ge
co

nd
iti

on
s

(C
an

E
S

M
2)

,R
an

ge
of

di
ffe

re
nt

ra
in

fa
ll

an
d

te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

po
ss

ib
ili

tie
s

(M
IR

O
C

5)
.E

ac
h

gr
id

ce
ll

is
50

m
et

er
s

(m
)

by
50

m
,o

r
ab

ou
t1

64
fe

et
(f

t)
by

16
4

ft.
W

ild
fir

e
da

ta
ar

e
fo

r
th

e
gr

id
ce

ll
in

w
hi

ch
yo

ur
pr

oj
ec

ta
re

lo
ca

te
d.

T
he

pr
oj

ec
tio

ns
ar

e
fr

om
U

C
D

av
is

,a
s

re
po

rt
ed

in
C

al
-A

da
pt

(2
04

0–
20

59
av

er
ag

e
un

de
r

R
C

P
8.

5)
,a

nd
co

ns
id

er
hi

st
or

ic
al

da
ta

of
cl

im
at

e,
ve

ge
ta

tio
n,

po
pu

la
tio

n
de

ns
ity

,a
nd

la
rg

e
(>

40
0

ha
)

fir
e

hi
st

or
y.

U
se

rs
m

ay
se

le
ct

fr
om

fo
ur

m
od

el
si

m
ul

at
io

ns
to

vi
ew

th
e

ra
ng

e
in

po
te

nt
ia

lw
ild

fir
e

pr
ob

ab
ili

tie
s

fo
r

th
e

gr
id

ce
ll.

T
he

fo
ur

si
m

ul
at

io
ns

m
ak

e
di

ffe
re

nt
as

su
m

pt
io

ns
ab

ou
te

xp
ec

te
d

ra
in

fa
ll

an
d

te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

ar
e:

W
ar

m
er

/d
rie

r
(H

ad
G

E
M

2-
E

S
),

C
oo

le
r/

w
et

te
r

(C
N

R
M

-C
M

5)
,A

ve
ra

ge
co

nd
iti

on
s

(C
an

E
S

M
2)

,R
an

ge
of

di
ffe

re
nt

ra
in

fa
ll

an
d

te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

po
ss

ib
ili

tie
s

(M
IR

O
C

5)
.E

ac
h

gr
id

ce
ll

is
6

ki
lo

m
et

er
s

(k
m

)
by

6
km

,o
r

3.
7

m
ile

s
(m

i)
by

3.
7

m
i.

6.
2.

In
iti

al
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

S
co

re
s

C
lim

at
e

H
az

ar
d

E
xp

os
ur

e
S

co
re

S
en

si
tiv

ity
S

co
re

A
da

pt
iv

e
C

ap
ac

ity
S

co
re

V
ul

ne
ra

bi
lit

y
S

co
re

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

an
d

E
xt

re
m

e
H

ea
t

2
0

0
N

/A

E
xt

re
m

e
P

re
ci

pi
ta

tio
n

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

S
ea

Le
ve

lR
is

e
1

0
0

N
/A

Item E - 369 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

42
 /

47

W
ild

fir
e

1
0

0
N

/A

F
lo

od
in

g
N

/A
N

/A
N

/A
N

/A

D
ro

ug
ht

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

S
no

w
pa

ck
R

ed
uc

tio
n

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

A
ir

Q
ua

lit
y

D
eg

ra
da

tio
n

0
0

0
N

/A

T
he

se
ns

iti
vi

ty
sc

or
e

re
fle

ct
s

th
e

ex
te

nt
to

w
hi

ch
a

pr
oj

ec
tw

ou
ld

be
ad

ve
rs

el
y

af
fe

ct
ed

by
ex

po
su

re
to

a
cl

im
at

e
ha

za
rd

.E
xp

os
ur

e
is

ra
te

d
on

a
sc

al
e

of
1

to
5,

w
ith

a
sc

or
e

of
5

re
pr

es
en

tin
g

th
e

gr
ea

te
st

ex
po

su
re

.
T

he
ad

ap
tiv

e
ca

pa
ci

ty
of

a
pr

oj
ec

tr
ef

er
s

to
its

ab
ili

ty
to

m
an

ag
e

an
d

re
du

ce
vu

ln
er

ab
ili

tie
s

fr
om

pr
oj

ec
te

d
cl

im
at

e
ha

za
rd

s.
A

da
pt

iv
e

ca
pa

ci
ty

is
ra

te
d

on
a

sc
al

e
of

1
to

5,
w

ith
a

sc
or

e
of

5
re

pr
es

en
tin

g
th

e
gr

ea
te

st
ab

ili
ty

to
ad

ap
t.

T
he

ov
er

al
lv

ul
ne

ra
bi

lit
y

sc
or

es
ar

e
ca

lc
ul

at
ed

ba
se

d
on

th
e

po
te

nt
ia

li
m

pa
ct

s
an

d
ad

ap
tiv

e
ca

pa
ci

ty
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
fo

r
ea

ch
ha

za
rd

.S
co

re
s

do
no

ti
nc

lu
de

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n
of

cl
im

at
e

ris
k

re
du

ct
io

n
m

ea
su

re
s.

6.
3.

A
dj

us
te

d
C

lim
at

e
R

is
k

S
co

re
s

C
lim

at
e

H
az

ar
d

E
xp

os
ur

e
S

co
re

S
en

si
tiv

ity
S

co
re

A
da

pt
iv

e
C

ap
ac

ity
S

co
re

V
ul

ne
ra

bi
lit

y
S

co
re

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

an
d

E
xt

re
m

e
H

ea
t

2
1

1
3

E
xt

re
m

e
P

re
ci

pi
ta

tio
n

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

S
ea

Le
ve

lR
is

e
1

1
1

2

W
ild

fir
e

1
1

1
2

F
lo

od
in

g
N

/A
N

/A
N

/A
N

/A

D
ro

ug
ht

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

S
no

w
pa

ck
R

ed
uc

tio
n

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

A
ir

Q
ua

lit
y

D
eg

ra
da

tio
n

1
1

1
2

T
he

se
ns

iti
vi

ty
sc

or
e

re
fle

ct
s

th
e

ex
te

nt
to

w
hi

ch
a

pr
oj

ec
tw

ou
ld

be
ad

ve
rs

el
y

af
fe

ct
ed

by
ex

po
su

re
to

a
cl

im
at

e
ha

za
rd

.E
xp

os
ur

e
is

ra
te

d
on

a
sc

al
e

of
1

to
5,

w
ith

a
sc

or
e

of
5

re
pr

es
en

tin
g

th
e

gr
ea

te
st

ex
po

su
re

.
T

he
ad

ap
tiv

e
ca

pa
ci

ty
of

a
pr

oj
ec

tr
ef

er
s

to
its

ab
ili

ty
to

m
an

ag
e

an
d

re
du

ce
vu

ln
er

ab
ili

tie
s

fr
om

pr
oj

ec
te

d
cl

im
at

e
ha

za
rd

s.
A

da
pt

iv
e

ca
pa

ci
ty

is
ra

te
d

on
a

sc
al

e
of

1
to

5,
w

ith
a

sc
or

e
of

5
re

pr
es

en
tin

g
th

e
gr

ea
te

st
ab

ili
ty

to
ad

ap
t.

T
he

ov
er

al
lv

ul
ne

ra
bi

lit
y

sc
or

es
ar

e
ca

lc
ul

at
ed

ba
se

d
on

th
e

po
te

nt
ia

li
m

pa
ct

s
an

d
ad

ap
tiv

e
ca

pa
ci

ty
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
fo

r
ea

ch
ha

za
rd

.S
co

re
s

in
cl

ud
e

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n
of

cl
im

at
e

ris
k

re
du

ct
io

n
m

ea
su

re
s.

6.
4.

C
lim

at
e

R
is

k
R

ed
uc

tio
n

M
ea

su
re

s

7.
H

ea
lth

an
d

E
qu

ity
D

et
ai

ls

Item E - 370 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

43
 /

47

7.
1.

C
al

E
nv

iro
S

cr
ee

n
4.

0
S

co
re

s

T
he

m
ax

im
um

C
al

E
nv

iro
S

cr
ee

n
sc

or
e

is
10

0.
A

hi
gh

sc
or

e
(i.

e.
,g

re
at

er
th

an
50

)
re

fle
ct

s
a

hi
gh

er
po

llu
tio

n
bu

rd
en

co
m

pa
re

d
to

ot
he

r
ce

ns
us

tr
ac

ts
in

th
e

st
at

e.

In
di

ca
to

r
R

es
ul

tf
or

P
ro

je
ct

C
en

su
s

Tr
ac

t

E
xp

os
ur

e
In

di
ca

to
rs

—

A
Q

-O
zo

ne
84

.6

A
Q

-P
M

98
.2

A
Q

-D
P

M
94

.5

D
rin

ki
ng

W
at

er
93

.3

Le
ad

R
is

k
H

ou
si

ng
22

.4

P
es

tic
id

es
34

.9

To
xi

c
R

el
ea

se
s

83
.5

Tr
af

fic
85

.4

E
ffe

ct
In

di
ca

to
rs

—

C
le

an
U

p
S

ite
s

88
.1

G
ro

un
dw

at
er

60
.6

H
az

W
as

te
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s/

G
en

er
at

or
s

93
.9

Im
pa

ire
d

W
at

er
B

od
ie

s
43

.8

S
ol

id
W

as
te

83
.3

S
en

si
tiv

e
P

op
ul

at
io

n
—

A
st

hm
a

61
.6

C
ar

di
o-

va
sc

ul
ar

82
.1

Lo
w

B
ir

th
W

ei
gh

ts
56

.1

S
oc

io
ec

on
om

ic
Fa

ct
or

In
di

ca
to

rs
—

E
du

ca
tio

n
71

.6

H
ou

si
ng

51
.4

Li
ng

ui
st

ic
58

.2

P
ov

er
ty

47
.3

Item E - 371 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

44
 /

47

U
ne

m
pl

oy
m

en
t

92
.6

7.
2.

H
ea

lth
y

P
la

ce
s

In
de

x
S

co
re

s

T
he

m
ax

im
um

H
ea

lth
P

la
ce

s
In

de
x

sc
or

e
is

10
0.

A
hi

gh
sc

or
e

(i.
e.

,g
re

at
er

th
an

50
)

re
fle

ct
s

he
al

th
ie

r
co

m
m

un
ity

co
nd

iti
on

s
co

m
pa

re
d

to
ot

he
r

ce
ns

us
tr

ac
ts

in
th

e
st

at
e.

In
di

ca
to

r
R

es
ul

tf
or

P
ro

je
ct

C
en

su
s

Tr
ac

t

E
co

no
m

ic
—

A
bo

ve
P

ov
er

ty
42

.0
76

22
22

5

E
m

pl
oy

ed
49

.3
00

65
44

3

M
ed

ia
n

H
I

32
.6

06
18

50
4

E
du

ca
tio

n
—

B
ac

he
lo

r's
or

hi
gh

er
10

.8
81

56
03

7

H
ig

h
sc

ho
ol

en
ro

llm
en

t
10

0

P
re

sc
ho

ol
en

ro
llm

en
t

1.
87

34
76

19
7

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n
—

A
ut

o
A

cc
es

s
33

.7
73

89
96

5

A
ct

iv
e

co
m

m
ut

in
g

11
.8

95
29

06
5

S
oc

ia
l

—

2-
pa

re
nt

ho
us

eh
ol

ds
89

.7
72

87
30

9

V
ot

in
g

48
.3

51
08

43
1

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d
—

A
lc

oh
ol

av
ai

la
bi

lit
y

44
.1

80
67

49
6

P
ar

k
ac

ce
ss

9.
70

10
13

73

R
et

ai
ld

en
si

ty
93

.0
45

04
04

2

S
up

er
m

ar
ke

ta
cc

es
s

21
.1

21
51

93
1

Tr
ee

ca
no

py
18

.4
26

79
32

8

H
ou

si
ng

—

H
om

eo
w

ne
rs

hi
p

49
.8

90
92

77
6

Item E - 372 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

45
 /

47

H
ou

si
ng

ha
bi

ta
bi

lit
y

60
.2

07
87

88
7

Lo
w

-in
c

ho
m

eo
w

ne
r

se
ve

re
ho

us
in

g
co

st
bu

rd
en

26
.4

33
97

92
1

Lo
w

-in
c

re
nt

er
se

ve
re

ho
us

in
g

co
st

bu
rd

en
91

.8
13

16
56

6

U
nc

ro
w

de
d

ho
us

in
g

22
.8

28
17

91
4

H
ea

lth
O

ut
co

m
es

—

In
su

re
d

ad
ul

ts
47

.3
24

52
20

1

A
rt

hr
iti

s
11

.9

A
st

hm
a

E
R

A
dm

is
si

on
s

41
.5

H
ig

h
B

lo
od

P
re

ss
ur

e
31

.6

C
an

ce
r

(e
xc

lu
di

ng
sk

in
)

22
.7

A
st

hm
a

34
.7

C
or

on
ar

y
H

ea
rt

D
is

ea
se

12
.2

C
hr

on
ic

O
bs

tr
uc

tiv
e

P
ul

m
on

ar
y

D
is

ea
se

20
.5

D
ia

gn
os

ed
D

ia
be

te
s

27
.5

Li
fe

E
xp

ec
ta

nc
y

at
B

ir
th

37
.4

C
og

ni
tiv

el
y

D
is

ab
le

d
80

.8

P
hy

si
ca

lly
 D

is
ab

le
d

10
.4

H
ea

rt
A

tta
ck

E
R

A
dm

is
si

on
s

2.
5

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

N
ot

G
oo

d
42

.4

C
hr

on
ic

K
id

ne
y

D
is

ea
se

20
.1

O
be

si
ty

41
.7

P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

In
ju

rie
s

68
.3

P
hy

si
ca

lH
ea

lth
N

ot
G

oo
d

35
.8

S
tr

ok
e

22
.5

H
ea

lth
R

is
k

B
eh

av
io

rs
—

B
in

ge
D

rin
ki

ng
48

.9

C
ur

re
nt

S
m

ok
er

43
.7

Item E - 373 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

46
 /

47

N
o

Le
is

ur
e

T
im

e
fo

r
P

hy
si

ca
lA

ct
iv

ity
41

.3

C
lim

at
e

C
ha

ng
e

E
xp

os
ur

es
—

W
ild

fir
e

R
is

k
0.

0

S
LR

In
un

da
tio

n
A

re
a

0.
0

C
hi

ld
re

n
62

.5

E
ld

er
ly

16
.2

E
ng

lis
h

S
pe

ak
in

g
89

.3

F
or

ei
gn

-b
or

n
46

.0

O
ut

do
or

W
or

ke
rs

59
.3

C
lim

at
e

C
ha

ng
e

A
da

pt
iv

e
C

ap
ac

ity
—

Im
pe

rv
io

us
S

ur
fa

ce
C

ov
er

33
.2

Tr
af

fic
D

en
si

ty
84

.7

Tr
af

fic
A

cc
es

s
23

.0

O
th

er
In

di
ce

s
—

H
ar

ds
hi

p
63

.9

O
th

er
D

ec
is

io
n

S
up

po
rt

—

20
16

V
ot

in
g

63
.4

7.
3.

O
ve

ra
ll

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
S

co
re

s

M
et

ric
R

es
ul

tf
or

P
ro

je
ct

C
en

su
s

Tr
ac

t

C
al

E
nv

iro
S

cr
ee

n
4.

0
S

co
re

fo
r

P
ro

je
ct

Lo
ca

tio
n

(a
)

96
.0

H
ea

lth
y

P
la

ce
s

In
de

x
S

co
re

fo
r

P
ro

je
ct

Lo
ca

tio
n

(b
)

30
.0

P
ro

je
ct

Lo
ca

te
d

in
a

D
es

ig
na

te
d

D
is

ad
va

nt
ag

ed
C

om
m

un
ity

(S
en

at
e

B
ill

53
5)

Ye
s

P
ro

je
ct

Lo
ca

te
d

in
a

Lo
w

-I
nc

om
e

C
om

m
un

ity
(A

ss
em

bl
y

B
ill

15
50

)
Ye

s

P
ro

je
ct

Lo
ca

te
d

in
a

C
om

m
un

ity
A

ir
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
P

ro
gr

am
C

om
m

un
ity

(A
ss

em
bl

y
B

ill
61

7)
N

o

a:
T

he
m

ax
im

um
C

al
E

nv
iro

S
cr

ee
n

sc
or

e
is

10
0.

A
hi

gh
sc

or
e

(i.
e.

,g
re

at
er

th
an

50
)

re
fle

ct
s

a
hi

gh
er

po
llu

tio
n

bu
rd

en
co

m
pa

re
d

to
ot

he
r

ce
ns

us
tr

ac
ts

in
th

e
st

at
e.

b:
T

he
m

ax
im

um
H

ea
lth

P
la

ce
s

In
de

x
sc

or
e

is
10

0.
A

hi
gh

sc
or

e
(i.

e.
,g

re
at

er
th

an
50

)
re

fle
ct

s
he

al
th

ie
r

co
m

m
un

ity
co

nd
iti

on
s

co
m

pa
re

d
to

ot
he

r
ce

ns
us

tr
ac

ts
in

th
e

st
at

e.

Item E - 374 of 2173



16
00

E
Fr

an
ci

s
In

du
st

ria
l-

TO
P

20
50

S
E

IR
P

ro
je

ct
D

et
ai

le
d

R
ep

or
t,

3/
15

/2
02

3

47
 /

47

7.
4.

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
M

ea
su

re
s

N
o

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
M

ea
su

re
s

se
le

ct
ed

.

7.
5.

E
va

lu
at

io
n

S
co

re
ca

rd

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
E

va
lu

at
io

n
S

co
re

ca
rd

no
tc

om
pl

et
ed

.

7.
6.

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
C

us
to

m
M

ea
su

re
s

N
o

H
ea

lth
&

E
qu

ity
C

us
to

m
M

ea
su

re
s

cr
ea

te
d.

8.
U

se
r

C
ha

ng
es

to
D

ef
au

lt
D

at
a

S
cr

ee
n

Ju
st

ifi
ca

tio
n

La
nd

U
se

To
ta

lP
ro

je
ct

S
ite

6.
98

ac
re

s

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n:
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

C
oa

tin
gs

N
on

-R
es

id
en

tia
lI

nt
er

io
r

V
O

C
ch

an
ge

d
to

50
gr

am
s/

lit
er

pe
r

S
C

A
Q

M
D

R
ul

e
11

13
m

in
im

um
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
:V

eh
ic

le
D

at
a

A
ut

os
an

al
yz

ed
un

de
r

In
du

st
ria

lP
ar

k
&

Tr
uc

ks
an

al
yz

ed
un

de
r

P
ar

ki
ng

Lo
ta

nd
se

tt
o

40
m

ile
tr

ip
le

ng
th

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
:F

le
et

M
ix

A
ut

os
an

al
yz

ed
un

de
r

In
du

st
ria

lP
ar

k
an

d
Tr

uc
ks

an
al

yz
ed

un
de

r
P

ar
ki

ng
Lo

t

Item E - 375 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Appendix  C 

 
 
 

APPENDIX C 

 

EMFAC2017 Model Printouts 

 

Item E - 376 of 2173



EM
FA

C2
01

7 
(v
1.
0.
2)
 E
m
is
si
on

s I
nv
en

to
ry

Re
gi

on
 T

yp
e:
 A

ir 
Ba

sin
Re

gi
on

: S
O

U
TH

 C
O

AS
T

Ca
le

nd
ar
 Y

ea
r: 

20
23

Se
as

on
: A

nn
ua

l
Ve

hi
cl

e 
Cl

as
sif

ic
at

io
n:
 E

M
FA

C2
00

7 
Ca

te
go

rie
s

U
ni

ts
: m

ile
s/

da
y 

fo
r V

M
T,
 tr

ip
s/

da
y 

fo
r T

rip
s,
 to

ns
/d

ay
 fo

r E
m

iss
io

ns
, 1

00
0 

ga
llo

ns
/d

ay
 fo

r F
ue

l C
on

su
m

pt
io

n.
 N

ot
e 

'd
ay

' i
n 

th
e 

un
it 

is 
op

er
at

io
n 

da
y.

Re
gi

on
Ca

le
nd

ar
  YV

eh
ic

le
 C

aM
od

el
 Y

ea
r

Sp
ee

d
Fu

el
Po

pu
la

tio
n

VM
T

Tr
ip

s
Fu

el
 C

on
su

m
pt

io
n

SO
U

TH
 C

O
A

20
23

HH
DT

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

GA
S

74
.3

7
80

47
.2

3
14

87
.9

3
1.

89
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
LD

A
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
GA

S
64

59
70

0.
68

24
68

07
53

7.
84

30
52

20
37

.6
3

77
86

.0
5

SO
U

TH
 C

O
A

20
23

LD
T1

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

GA
S

73
73

58
.3

8
27

05
92

95
.0

5
34

07
41

8.
81

99
5.

76
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
LD

T2
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
GA

S
22

19
22

8.
89

82
87

50
46

.1
5

10
41

40
97

.5
4

32
44

.2
1

SO
U

TH
 C

O
A

20
23

LH
DT

1
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
GA

S
17

03
72

.5
0

60
57

75
9.

01
25

38
29

6.
34

56
8.

77
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
LH

DT
2

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

GA
S

29
15

3.
37

10
03

75
9.

33
43

43
41

.7
1

10
8.

29
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
M

CY
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
GA

S
29

76
00

.1
8

20
24

75
3.

66
59

52
00

.3
6

55
.8

0
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
M

DV
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
GA

S
15

40
53

8.
65

53
90

23
20

.5
3

71
27

89
4.

33
26

07
.4

5
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
M

H
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
GA

S
33

69
1.

87
32

11
44

.1
7

33
70

.5
3

61
.5

7
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
M

HD
T

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

GA
S

24
92

8.
02

13
10

04
3.

21
49

87
59

.8
5

25
4.

98
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
O

BU
S

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

GA
S

58
26

.4
2

23
59

91
.1

9
11

65
74

.9
2

46
.2

1
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
SB

U
S

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

GA
S

27
11

.8
5

10
72

97
.3

1
10

84
7.

42
11

.6
8

SO
U

TH
 C

O
A

20
23

U
BU

S
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
GA

S
95

7.
77

89
78

2.
63

38
31

.0
7

17
.6

2

ve
hi

cl
e 

m
ile

s p
er
 d

ay
 (A

ll 
Ca

te
go

rie
s)

42
18

02
77

7
15

,7
60

   
   
   
   

1,
00

0 
ga

ll 
pe

r d
ay

15
,7

60
,2

71
   
 

ga
llo

ns
 p

er
 d

ay

Fl
ee

t A
vg
 M

ile
s p

er
 g

al
lo

n
26

.8
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

Item E - 377 of 2173



EM
FA

C2
01

7 
(v
1.
0.
2)
 E
m
is
si
on

s I
nv
en

to
ry

Re
gi

on
 T

yp
e:
 A

ir 
Ba

sin
Re

gi
on

: S
O

U
TH

 C
O

AS
T

Ca
le

nd
ar
 Y

ea
r: 

20
23

Se
as

on
: A

nn
ua

l
Ve

hi
cl

e 
Cl

as
sif

ic
at

io
n:
 E

M
FA

C2
00

7 
Ca

te
go

rie
s

U
ni

ts
: m

ile
s/

da
y 

fo
r V

M
T,
 tr

ip
s/

da
y 

fo
r T

rip
s,
 to

ns
/d

ay
 fo

r E
m

iss
io

ns
, 1

00
0 

ga
llo

ns
/d

ay
 fo

r F
ue

l C
on

su
m

pt
io

n.
 N

ot
e 

'd
ay

' i
n 

th
e 

un
it 

is 
op

er
at

io
n 

da
y.

Re
gi

on
Ca

le
nd

ar
 Y

eV
eh

ic
le
 C

at
M

od
el
 Y

ea
r

Sp
ee

d
Fu

el
Po

pu
la

tio
n

VM
T

Tr
ip

s
Fu

el
 C

on
su

m
pt

io
n

SO
U

TH
 C

O
A

20
23

HH
DT

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

DS
L

99
86

2.
0

12
04

33
23

.4
10

08
08

6.
8

16
96

.5
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
LD

A
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
DS

L
60

89
0.

6
24

12
43

2.
1

28
94

13
.5

48
.3

SO
U

TH
 C

O
A

20
23

LD
T1

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

DS
L

35
2.

4
81

96
.1

12
29

.5
0.

4
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
LD

T2
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
DS

L
15

17
2.

5
63

36
08

.1
74

55
1.

8
17

.3
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
LH

DT
1

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

DS
L

12
18

35
.8

48
55

93
7.

3
15

32
54

0.
9

22
1.

8
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
LH

DT
2

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

DS
L

48
52

5.
6

18
81

22
4.

0
61

03
91

.4
95

.2
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
M

DV
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
DS

L
35

10
6.

9
13

83
74

7.
2

17
15

65
.7

49
.2

SO
U

TH
 C

O
A

20
23

M
H

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

DS
L

12
56

0.
1

11
95

09
.1

12
56

.0
11

.2
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
M

HD
T

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

DS
L

11
86

81
.0

78
94

09
5.

0
11

92
35

3.
2

70
5.

1
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
O

BU
S

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

DS
L

41
58

.7
32

39
08

.7
40

36
7.

2
37

.2
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
SB

U
S

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

DS
L

63
93

.3
20

20
53

.5
73

77
7.

5
26

.3
SO

U
TH

 C
O

A
20

23
U

BU
S

Ag
gr

eg
at

ed
Ag

gr
eg

at
ed

DS
L

13
.0

14
16

.6
52

.0
0.

2

Di
es

el
 T

ru
ck
 (H

HD
T,
 M

DV
, M

HD
T)
 v

eh
ic

le
 m

ile
s p

er
 d

ay
21

,3
21

,1
66

   
 

2,
45

1
   
   
   
   
  

1,
00

0 
ga

ll 
pe

r d
ay

24
50

89
3.

90
2

ga
llo

ns
 p

er
 d

ay

Di
es

el
 T

ru
ck
 F

le
et
 A

vg
 M

ile
s p

er
 g

al
lo

n
8.

7
   
   
   
   
   
   

Item E - 378 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Emissions Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Appendix  D 

 
 
 

APPENDIX D 

 

City of Ontario Climate Action Plan Screening Tables 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Item E - 379 of 2173



City of Ontario 

19  

Table 5. Screening Table for Implementing GHG Performance Standards for 
Warehouse Non-residential Development, 2030 (Circle Applicable Project Points, 
100 points minimum) 

Description Feature Project 
Points 

Reduction Measure 1: Building Electrification 
Replacement of gas 
appliance with electric 
appliance (select all 
that apply) 

Electric space heater 5 
Electric water heater 8 

Electric stove (if applicable) 2 

Lack of natural gas 
infrastructure  

Project site does not have any natural gas 
infrastructure  

8 

 Total for measure 23 
Reduction Measure 2: Solar Energy Systems for New Warehouse Development only (solar 
energy system required for warehouse development) 
Installation of rooftop 
solar energy systems at 
new 
warehouse/logistics 
facilities. (select one 
option) 

Installation of rooftop solar energy system which 
generates enough electricity to meet 45% of annual 
warehouse electricity demand. 

22 

Installation of rooftop solar energy system which 
generates enough electricity to meet 90% of annual 
warehouse electricity demand. 

44 

Installation of rooftop solar energy system which 
generates enough electricity to meet 100% of 
annual warehouse electricity demand. 

 
48 

Installation of battery 
storage at new 
warehouse/logistics 
facilities (select one 
option) 

Solar battery storage installation with a capacity of 
200-599 kW (DC). 

3 

Solar battery storage installation with a capacity of 
600-799 kW (DC). 

6 

Solar battery storage installation with a capacity of 
800-1200 kW (DC). 

11 

 Total for measure 59 
Reduction Measure 3: Green Roofs 
Installation of a roof 
with a planted layer of 
vegetation over a 
waterproof surface for 
non-residential 
buildings (select one 
option) 

Medium Green Roof – Total vegetated area makes 
up 50% of combined non-residential floor area (in 
square feet). 

1 

Large Green Roof – Total vegetated area makes up 
100% or more of combined non-residential floor area 
(in square feet). 

2 

 Total for measure 2 
Reduction Measure 4: Urban Cooling 
On-site tree planting 1 tree per each required on-site employee/visitor 

vehicle parking space. 
4 

2 trees per each required on-site employee/visitor 
vehicle parking space. 

8 

Item E - 380 of 2173

JAIME
Ellipse

JAIME
Ellipse

BrettTeare
Ellipse

BrettTeare
Ellipse



Greenhouse Gas Emissions Screening Tables 

20 

Description Feature Project 
Points 

(select one option)13 3 trees per each required on-site employee/visitor 
vehicle parking space. 

15 

 Total for measure 15 
Reduction Measure 5: Transit Oriented Communities (TOCs) 
New development is 
located in a transit-
oriented community 
(TOC) 

The development site is located within ½ mile radius 
of one or more of the following: a Bus Rapid Transit 
(BRT) stop, bus transit center, light rail station, the 
intersection of two or more major bus routes with a 
frequency of service interval of 15 minutes or less 
during the morning and afternoon peak commute 
periods, and/or High-Quality Transit Corridor defined 
as a corridor with fixed route bus service with service 
intervals no longer than 15 minutes during peak 
commute hours.14 

7 

 Total for measure 7 
Reduction Measure 6: Increase Transit Ridership  
Provision of free transit 
passes in a quantity 
equivalent to the 
expected number of 
employees at the non-
residential building. 
Transit passes shall be 
provided for a period 
of 5 years after 
completion of 
construction.  15   

One free annual transit pass for every employee. 6 

 
13 This strategy specifies the ratio of additional trees per required employee/visitor vehicle 
parking spaces. Based upon total on-site vehicle parking spaces required per the City of Ontario 
Development Code for the project, the Applicant will calculate the number of trees required to 
meet this measure and obtain points. The landscape plan will show onsite trees and the tree 
matrix shall identify all trees associated with the Urban Cooling Measure compliance. The City 
code requires trees onsite and within paved areas to reduce the associated heat build-up from 
development. The Landscape Planning Division will consider these trees in the calculation to be 
counted toward the Urban Cooling Measure. 
14 A project shall be considered to be within one-half mile of a major transit stop or high-quality 
transit corridor if all parcels within the project have no more than 25 percent of their area farther 
than one-half mile from the stop or corridor and if not more than 10 percent of the residential 
units or 100 units, whichever is less, in the project are farther than one-half mile from the stop or 
corridor. 
15 Provision for annual transit passes to be incorporated into CC&R’s bylaws, as appropriate. 

Item E - 381 of 2173

JAIME
Ellipse



City of Ontario 

21  

Description Feature Project 
Points 

 Total for measure 6 
Reduction Measure 7: Vehicle Electrification16 
Installation of EV 
charging stations for 
truck parking spaces 
(select one option)17 

Installation of Level 2 or higher EV charging stations 
at a rate of 5-9% of planned truck parking spaces.  

2 

Installation of Level 2 or higher EV charging stations 
at a rate of 10-19% of planned truck parking spaces.  

4 

Installation of Level 2 or higher EV charging stations 
at a rate of 20-29% of planned truck parking spaces.  

6 

Installation of Level 2 or higher EV charging stations 
at a rate of 30-49% of planned truck parking spaces. 

10 

Installation of Level 2 or higher EV charging stations 
at a rate of 50% or more of planned truck parking 
spaces. 

15 

 Total for measure 15 
Reduction Measure 8: Active Transportation 
Installation or 
improvement of 
bicycle facilities (select 
all that apply) 

Bicycle parking facilities with 1:20 ratio of bicycle 
parking to employee vehicle parking space. 

2 

Construct or improve a single bicycle lane facility 
(only Class I, II, or IV) that 1) connects to a larger 
existing bikeway network or 2) closes an existing 
bikeway network gap that is at least 0.5 miles long. 

3 

Installation or 
improvement of 
pedestrian facilities 
(select one option) 

Two or three pedestrian infrastructure improvements 
to street design on private streets, including, but not 
limited to curb extensions, raised crosswalks, speed 
humps/bumps, street tree plantings in parkways or 
street medians, and elevated pavement markings. 

2 

Four or more pedestrian infrastructure improvements 
to street design on private streets, including, but not 
limited to private property curb extensions, raised 
crosswalks, speed humps/bumps, elevated 
pavement markings, and public property street tree 
plantings in parkways or street medians. 

4 

 Total for measure 9 

 
16 EV charging station levels 1-3 are defined in the California Green Building Standards or 
CALGreen Code, accessed at https://www.dgs.ca.gov/BSC/CALGreen. 
17 Reduction Measure 7 refers to EV charging stations for two-axle trucks. 

Item E - 382 of 2173

JAIME
Ellipse

JAIME
Ellipse



Greenhouse Gas Emissions Screening Tables 

22 

Description Feature Project 
Points 

Reduction Measure 9: Parking Policy 
Require that employee 
vehicle parking spaces 
be purchased at an 
additional cost. This 
does not include 
client/visitor vehicle 
parking spaces 18 

Unbundle, or separate, 100% of non-residential 
project’s parking costs from property costs, requiring 
those who wish to purchase parking spaces to do so 
at an additional cost. 

1 

 Total for measure 1 
Reduction Measure 10: Electric construction equipment19 
Use electric 
construction 
equipment for a 
portion of the 
construction project 
(select one option) 

One-third (33%) of construction equipment used for 
construction (during building phase, not including 
grading phase), measured by number of hours of 
operation, is zero emission equipment. 

3 

Half (50%) of construction equipment used for 
construction (during the building phase, not 
including the grading phase), measured by the 
number of hours of operation, is zero emission 
equipment. 

5 

Two-thirds (66%) or more of construction equipment 
used for construction (during the building phase, not 
including the grading phase), measured by number 
of hours of operation, is zero emission equipment. 

8 

 Total for measure 8 
Reduction Measure 11: Waste diversion 
Site design for non-
residential warehouse 
development includes 
site(s) for green waste/ 
organics and recycling 
collection bins 

Site design allocates sufficient space for storage and 
collection of green waste, organic waste, and 
recyclables.  

20 

 Total for measure 20 
Reduction Measure 12: Water conservation 
Implement indoor 
water efficiency 
measures (select all 

Install water-efficient faucets and showerheads. 1 
Install on-demand water circulators on commercial 
sinks or dishwashing equipment.20 

2 

 
18 Provision for unbundling parking to be incorporated into CC&R’s bylaws or separate parking 
agreement, as appropriate.   
19 Electric construction equipment includes electric compact excavators, electric motors, 
electric generators, and mobile charging equipment. 
20 According to CALGreen, a hot water recirculation system is one which includes “a thermostat 
that will automatically shut off the recirculation pump when the water temperature reaches a 
preset level at the point of use.” 

Item E - 383 of 2173

JAIME
Ellipse

JAIME
Ellipse

BrettTeare
Ellipse

BrettTeare
Ellipse



City of Ontario 

23  

Description Feature Project 
Points 

that apply) 
Incorporate outdoor 
water efficiency 
measures  

Design and plan outdoor landscapes planted with 
drought-tolerant, low maintenance plants with a 1) 
drip irrigation system or 2) sprinkler irrigation system 
with a weather-based irrigation controller. 

4 

 Total for measure 7 
Warehouse Total for measures 172 

Warehouse Project Points Subtotal  
Additional Recommended Measures  
AR-1: Charging stations 
for large trucks (select 
one option) 

Installation of conduit for charging stations for zero 
emission trucks larger than two-axles (class 8 and 9, 
and semi-trucks) so that facilities are prepared for 
the transition to electric trucks. 

4 

Installation of 1-4 charging stations for zero emission 
trucks larger than two-axles (class 8 and 9, and semi-
trucks) 

8 

Installation of 5-9 charging stations for zero emission 
trucks larger than two-axles (class 8 and 9, and semi-
trucks) 

12 

Installation of 10 or more charging stations zero 
emission trucks larger than two-axles (class 8 and 9, 
and semi-trucks) 

24 

AR-2: Meet CalGreen 
voluntary tiers (select 
one option) 

CalGreen Tier 1 compliance 5 
CalGreen Tier 2 compliance 10 

AR-3: Installation of EV 
charging stations for 
employee vehicle 
parking spaces (select 
one option) 

Installation of Level 2 or higher EV charging stations 
at a rate of 5-9% of planned employee vehicle 
parking spaces. 

4 

Installation of Level 2 or higher EV charging stations 
at a rate of 10-19% of planned employee vehicle 
parking spaces with Level 2 EV charging stations. 

6 

Installation of Level 2 or higher EV charging stations 
at a rate of 20% or more of planned employee 
vehicle parking spaces Level 2 EV charging stations. 

12 

AR-4: Recycled Water Use recycled water for at least 80% of outdoor water 
needs. 

2 

AR-5: Reflective Paving Use high-reflectivity pavement for all hardscaped 
areas, including parking areas, walking paths, and 
patios. 

4 

AR-6: Zero Emission 
Cargo Equipment 

Use of zero emission cargo handling equipment for a 
minimum of 50% of all operations. 

4 

AR-7: Alternative 
Fueling 

Installation of alternative fuel facilities, such as CNG, 
biofuels, or hydrogen fueling stations. 

10 

 Total additional recommended measures 66 

Item E - 384 of 2173

JAIME
Ellipse

JAIME
Ellipse

JAIME
Ellipse

JAIME
Typewritten Text
83

JAIME
Ellipse

BrettTeare
Ellipse



Greenhouse Gas Emissions Screening Tables 

24 

Description Feature Project 
Points 

  Warehouse Project Points Subtotal  
   

Total Warehouse Points Possible 238 
  

WAREHOUSE PROJECT POINTS TOTAL  
 

  

Item E - 385 of 2173

JAIME
Typewritten Text
20

JAIME
Typewritten Text
103



 CULTURAL RESOURCES STUDY FOR 
THE 1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET 

PROJECT 
 

ONTARIO, CALIFORNIA 
 

APNs 0113-381-03, -04, -05, and -06 
 
 

Lead Agency: 
City of Ontario 

303 East B Street 
Ontario, California  91764 

 
 

Preparer: 
Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. 

14010 Poway Road, Suite A 
Poway, California  92064 

 
 

___________________ 
Signature 

 
 

Project Proponent: 
EPD Solutions 

2355 Main Street, Suite 100 
Irvine, California  92614 

 
 
 

 
 
 

October 20, 2022; Revised February 22, 2023  

Item E - 386 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

 
 
i 

Archaeological Database Information 
 
 
 Authors: Andrew J. Garrison, M.A., RPA and Brian F. Smith, M.A. 
 
 Consulting Firm: Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. 
  14010 Poway Road, Suite A 
  Poway, California  92064 
  (858) 679-8218 
 
Client/Project Proponent: EPD Solutions 
  2355 Main Street, Suite 100 
  Irvine, California  92614 
 
 Report Date: October 20, 2022; Revised February 22, 2023 
 
 Report Title: Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street, 

Ontario, San Bernardino County, California 
 

Type of Study: Phase I Cultural Resources Survey 
 
 USGS Quadrangle: Section 33, Township 1 South, Range 7 West of the Guasti, 

California (7.5-minute) USGS Quadrangle  
 
 Acreage: 7.01 acres  
 
 Key Words: Survey; no cultural resources identified; Guasti USGS 

Quadrangle; no further archaeological study recommended. 
 

 
  

Item E - 387 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

 
 

ii 

Table of Contents 
 

Section       Description Page 
 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY/ABSTRACT ........................................................................ iv 
1.0 INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................. 1.0–1 
 1.1  Project Description ........................................................................................... 1.0–1 
 1.2  Environmental Setting ..................................................................................... 1.0–1 
 1.3  Cultural Setting ................................................................................................ 1.0–5 

 1.3.1  Prehistoric Period ................................................................................... 1.0–5 
 1.3.2  Historic Period ........................................................................................ 1.0–10 

 1.4  Results of the Archaeological Records Search ................................................ 1.0–15 
 1.5  Applicable Regulations .................................................................................... 1.0–17 

 1.5.1  California Environmental Quality Act .................................................... 1.0–17 
2.0 RESEARCH DESIGN ............................................................................................ 2.0–1 
3.0 ANALYSIS OF PROJECT EFFECTS ................................................................... 3.0–1 

3.1  Survey Methods ............................................................................................... 3.0–1 
 3.2  Results of the Field Survey .............................................................................. 3.0–1 
4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS ........................................................................................ 4.0–1 
5.0 LIST OF PREPARERS AND ORGANIZATIONS CONTACTED ...................... 5.0–1 
6.0 REFERENCES CITED ........................................................................................... 6.0–1 
 
 

List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Resumes of Key Personnel 
Appendix B – Archaeological Records Search Results* 
Appendix C – NAHC Sacred Lands File Search* 
*Deleted for public review and bound separately in the Confidential Appendix 

 
 

List of Figures 
 

Figure       Description Page 
 
Figure 1.1–1  General Location Map .................................................................................. 1.0–2 
Figure 1.1–2  Project Location Map (USGS) ..................................................................... 1.0–3 
Figure 1.1–3  Site Plan ........................................................................................................ 1.0–4 

 

Item E - 388 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

 
 

iii 

List of Plates 
 

Plate         Description Page 
 
Plate 1.3–1  George Chaffey ............................................................................................... 1.0–14 
Plate 1.3–2  William Chaffey .............................................................................................. 1.0–14 
Plate 1.3–3  1887 View of the town of Ontario drawn by H.S. Crocker Co. ..................... 1.0–15 
Plate 3.2–1  Overview of the project, facing south ............................................................. 3.0–2 
Plate 3.2–2  Overview of the project, facing southeast ....................................................... 3.0–2 
Plate 3.2–3  Overview of the project, showing the prefabricated office building 
 (background), facing east ................................................................................ 3.0–3 
Plate 3.2–4  View of the concrete manufacturing plant on the property, facing southeast 3.0–3 
Plate 3.2–5  View of the entrance to the property, showing the maintained landscaping 
 and planters along East Francis Street, facing southwest ................................ 3.0–4 
 
 

List of Tables 
 

Table         Description Page 
 
Table 1.4–1  Cultural Resources Within a One-Mile Radius of the Project ....................... 1.0–16 
 
 

 

Item E - 389 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

 iv 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY/ABSTRACT  
 

In response to a request from EPD Solutions, a cultural resources study was conducted by 
Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. (BFSA) for the proposed 1600 East Francis Street Project 
located within the city of Ontario, in San Bernardino County, California.  The project is situated 
between Walker and Baker avenues at 1600 East Francis Street.  The project consists of 7.01 acres 
which includes Assessor’s Parcel Numbers (APNs) 0113-381-03, -04, -05, and -06.  Further, the 
project is located within Section 33, Township 1 South, Range 7 West as shown on the U.S. 
Geological Survey (7.5-minute), 1:24,000-scale Guasti, California topographic quadrangle map.  
At present, the subject property contains multiple commercial/industrial structures and storage 
yards utilized by Western States Wholesale Manufacturer and Distributor.  The project proposes 
to clear the property of all existing improvements for the construction of a new warehouse building 
with associated parking and landscaping. 

The purpose of this investigation was to locate and record any cultural resources within the 
project, and subsequently evaluate any resources as part of the City’s environmental review 
process conducted in compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  The 
archaeological investigation of the project also included the review of an archaeological records 
search.  A records search was conducted by BFSA at the South Central Coastal Information Center 
(SCCIC) at California State University, Fullerton (CSU Fullerton).  This search did not identify 
any resources within the project but did identify one previously recorded resource, a historic 
residence, within one mile of the project.  A Sacred Lands File (SLF) search was also requested 
from the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC).   

Historically, the property was utilized for agriculture; however, currently, it is entirely 
developed with structures and a storage yard utilized for Western States Wholesale Manufacturer 
and Distributor.  Based on historic aerial photographs and the County of San Bernardino Property 
Information Management System (PIMS) records, all improvements to the property occurred after 
1975.  As such, none of the improvements meet the age threshold (50 years) to be considered as 
historic resources under CEQA criteria. 

The survey for the 1600 East Francis Street Project did not locate any cultural resources.  
During the survey, ground visibility was limited; however, based on the review of aerial imagery 
and noted construction history, the property has been completely cleared and graded since the mid-
1970s.  Coupled with the available records search results, there is minimal potential for 
archaeological resources to be encountered by the proposed project and monitoring of grading is 
not recommended.  In the event a discovery is made during the grading of this property, the 
applicant shall direct grading to stop at the discovery site, notify the City of Ontario, and contact 
a qualified archaeologist to evaluate the discovery.  A copy of this report will be permanently filed 
with the SCCIC at CSU Fullerton.  All notes, photographs, and other materials related to this 
project will be curated at the archaeological laboratory of BFSA in Poway, California. 

Item E - 390 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–1 

1.0 INTRODUCTION  
 
 1.1  Project Description 

The archaeological survey program for the proposed 1600 East Francis Street Project was 
conducted in order to comply with the CEQA and City of Ontario environmental compliance 
procedures. The property is located in the city of Ontario, in San Bernardino County, California 
(Figure 1.1–1), at 1600 East Francis Street, between Walker and Baker avenues.  The project 
consists of 7.01 acres (APNs 0113-381-03, -04, -05, and -06) located within Section 33, Township 
1 South, Range 7 West as shown on the U.S. Geological Survey (7.5-minute), 1:24,000-scale 
Guasti, California topographic quadrangle map (Figure 1.1–2).  At present, the subject property 
contains multiple commercial/industrial structures and storage yards utilized by Western States 
Wholesale Manufacturer and Distributor.  The project proposes to clear the property of all existing 
improvements for the construction of a new warehouse building, with associated parking and 
landscaping (Figure 1.1–3). 

The decision to request this investigation was based upon cultural resource sensitivity of 
the locality as suggested by known site density and predictive modeling.  Sensitivity for prehistoric 
cultural resources in a given area is usually indicated by known settlement patterns, which in 
southwestern San Bernardino County were focused around freshwater resources and a food supply.   
Within the city of Ontario, historic resources tend to be associated with the historic agricultural, 
industrial, or residential development of the region.   

 
 1.2  Environmental Setting 
The 1600 East Francis Street Project is situated in the Peninsular Ranges Geologic Province 

of southern California.  The Peninsular Ranges are a series of northwest- to southeast-trending 
mountain ranges separated by similarly trending valleys, which make up the southernmost segment 
of a chain of North American Mesozoic batholiths that extend from Alaska to the southern tip of 
Baja California. 

The project is located in the middle of the Pomona Valley, the surface of which is mostly 
covered by Holocene to late Pleistocene-aged, alluvial-fan deposits formed from sediments 
deposited by the Santa Ana River and its tributaries, such as Chino Creek and Cucamonga Creek.  
Geologically the area is characterized as slightly to moderately consolidated silt, sand, and coarse-
grained sand to bouldery alluvial-fan deposits having moderately dissected surfaces (Morton and 
Miller 2006).  The project’s southeastern area is mapped as middle Holocene-aged young alluvial-
fan deposits, “Unit 3,” composed of slightly to moderately consolidated sandy deposits having 
slightly to moderately dissected surfaces.  Nearby, artificial fill deposits indicate the footprint of 
the Ontario International Airport north of the project and to the west, the north-south oriented 
Cucamonga Creek is lined with late Holocene young alluvial-fan deposits (Wirths 2022).  The 
specific soil type found within the project is the Tujunga loamy sand, 0 to 5 percent slopes (TuB).  
Elevations within the project range between approximately 860 and 855 feet above mean sea level.  

Item E - 391 of 2173



Item E - 392 of 2173



Item E - 393 of 2173



Item E - 394 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–5 

Historically the property was utilized for agriculture; however, it is now entirely developed.  
At the present, the property contains six structures of varying sizes and a storage yard associated 
with the current operations of Western States Wholesale Manufacturer and Distributor.  As such, 
the vegetation found within and surrounding the property primarily consists of maintained shrubs 
and trees located at the entrance to the property along East Francis Street.  Aerial photographs 
show the property under cultivation as early as 1938 through the early 1970s.  According to the 
County of San Bernardino PIMS records, all improvements to the property occurred after 1975.   

 
1.3  Cultural Setting  

  1.3.1  Prehistoric Period 
Paleo Indian, Archaic Period Milling Stone Horizon, and the Late Prehistoric Shoshonean 

groups are the three general cultural periods represented in San Bernardino County.  The following 
discussion of the cultural history of San Bernardino County references the San Dieguito Complex, 
the Encinitas Tradition, the Milling Stone Horizon, the La Jolla Complex, the Pauma Complex, 
and the San Luis Rey Complex, since these culture sequences have been used to describe 
archaeological manifestations in the region.  The Late Prehistoric component in the southwestern 
area of San Bernardino County was represented by the Gabrielino and Serrano Indians.  According 
to Kroeber (1976), the Serrano probably owned a stretch of the Sierra Madre from Cucamonga 
east to above Mentone and halfway up to San Timoteo Canyon, including the San Bernardino 
Valley and just missing Riverside County.  However, Kroeber (1976) also states that this area has 
been assigned to the Gabrielino, “which would be a more natural division of topography, since it 
would leave the Serrano pure mountaineers.”   

Absolute chronological information, where possible, will be incorporated into this 
discussion to examine the effectiveness of continuing to use these terms interchangeably.  
Reference will be made to the geologic framework that divides the culture chronology of the area 
into four segments: late Pleistocene (20,000 to 10,000 years before the present [YBP]), early 
Holocene (10,000 to 6,650 YBP), middle Holocene (6,650 to 3,350 YBP), and late Holocene 
(3,350 to 200 YBP). 
 
Paleo Indian Period (Late Pleistocene: 11,500 to circa 9,000 YBP) 

The Paleo Indian Period is associated with the terminus of the late Pleistocene (12,000 to 
10,000 YBP).  The environment during the late Pleistocene was cool and moist, which allowed for 
glaciation in the mountains and the formation of deep, pluvial lakes in the deserts and basin lands 
(Moratto 1984).  However, by the terminus of the late Pleistocene, the climate became warmer, 
which caused glaciers to melt, sea levels to rise, greater coastal erosion, large lakes to recede and 
evaporate, extinction of Pleistocene megafauna, and major vegetation changes (Moratto 1984; 
Martin 1967, 1973; Fagan 1991).  The coastal shoreline at 10,000 YBP, depending upon the 
particular area of the coast, was near the 30-meter isobath, or two to six kilometers further west 
than its present location (Masters 1983). 

Item E - 395 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–6 

 Paleo Indians were likely attracted to multiple habitat types, including mountains, 
marshlands, estuaries, and lakeshores.  These people likely subsisted using a more generalized 
hunting, gathering, and collecting adaptation, utilizing a variety of resources including birds, 
mollusks, and both large and small mammals (Erlandson and Colten 1991; Moratto 1984; Moss 
and Erlandson 1995). 
 
Archaic Period (Early and Middle Holocene: circa 9000 to 1300 YBP) 
 The Archaic Period of prehistory began with the onset of the Holocene around 9,000 YBP.  
The transition from the Pleistocene to the Holocene was a period of major environmental change 
throughout North America (Antevs 1953; Van Devender and Spaulding 1979).  The general 
warming trend caused sea levels to rise, lakes to evaporate, and drainage patterns to change.  In 
southern California, the general climate at the beginning of the early Holocene was marked by 
cool/moist periods and an increase in warm/dry periods and sea levels.  The coastal shoreline at 
8,000 YBP, depending upon the particular area of the coast, was near the 20-meter isobath, or one 
to four kilometers further west than its present location (Masters 1983). 
 The rising sea level during the early Holocene created rocky shorelines and bays along the 
coast by flooding valley floors and eroding the coastline (Curray 1965; Inman 1983).  Shorelines 
were primarily rocky with small littoral cells, as sediments were deposited at bay edges but rarely 
discharged into the ocean (Reddy 2000).  These bays eventually evolved into lagoons and 
estuaries, which provided a rich habitat for mollusks and fish.  The warming trend and rising sea 
levels generally continued until the late Holocene (4,000 to 3,500 YBP). 
 At the beginning of the late Holocene, sea levels stabilized, rocky shores declined, lagoons 
filled with sediment, and sandy beaches became established (Gallegos 1985; Inman 1983; Masters 
1994; Miller 1966; Warren and Pavesic 1963).  Many former lagoons became saltwater marshes 
surrounded by coastal sage scrub by the late Holocene (Gallegos 2002).  The sedimentation of the 
lagoons was significant in that it had profound effects upon the types of resources available to 
prehistoric peoples.  Habitat was lost for certain large mollusks, namely Chione and Argopecten, 
but habitat was gained for other small mollusks, particularly Donax (Gallegos 1985; Reddy 2000).  
The changing lagoon habitats resulted in the decline of larger shellfish, the loss of drinking water, 
and the loss of Torrey Pine nuts, causing a major depopulation of the coast as people shifted inland 
to reliable freshwater sources and intensified their exploitation of terrestrial small game and plants, 
including acorns (originally proposed by Rogers 1929; Gallegos 2002). 
 The Archaic Period in southern California is associated with a number of different cultures, 
complexes, traditions, and horizons, including San Dieguito, La Jolla, Encinitas, Milling Stone, 
and Pauma, as well as the Intermediate Period. 
 
Late Prehistoric Period (Late Holocene: 1,300 YBP to 1790) 
 Approximately 1,350 YBP, a Shoshonean-speaking group from the Great Basin region 
moved into San Bernardino County, marking the transition to the Late Prehistoric Period.  This 

Item E - 396 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–7 

period has been characterized by higher population densities and elaborations in social, political, 
and technological systems.  Economic systems diversified and intensified during this period, with 
the continued elaboration of trade networks, the use of shell-bead currency, and the appearance of 
more labor-intensive, yet effective, technological innovations.  Technological developments 
during this period included the introduction of the bow and arrow between A.D. 400 and 600 and 
the introduction of ceramics.  Atlatl darts were replaced by smaller arrow darts, including the 
Cottonwood series points.  Other hallmarks of the Late Prehistoric Period include extensive trade 
networks as far reaching as the Colorado River Basin and cremation of the dead. 
 
Protohistoric Period (Late Holocene: 1790 to Present) 
Gabrielino 

At the time of Spanish contact, the territory of the Gabrielino, also known ethnographically 
as the Tongva, covered much of present-day Los Angeles and Orange counties.  The southern 
extent of this culture area is bounded by Aliso Creek, the eastern extent is located east of present-
day San Bernardino along the Santa Ana River, the northern extent includes the San Fernando 
Valley, and the western extent includes portions of the Santa Monica Mountains.  The Gabrielino 
also occupied several Channel Islands including Santa Barbara Island, Santa Catalina Island, San 
Nicholas Island, and San Clemente Island.  Because of their access to certain resources, including 
a steatite source from Santa Catalina Island, this group was among the wealthiest and most 
populous aboriginal groups in all of southern California.  Trade of materials and resources 
controlled by the Gabrielino extended as far north as the San Joaquin Valley, as far east as the 
Colorado River, and as far south as Baja California (Bean and Smith 1978a; Kroeber 1976).   

The Gabrielino lived in permanent villages and smaller resource gathering camps occupied 
at various times of the year depending upon the seasonality of the resource.  Larger villages were 
comprised of several families or clans, while smaller, seasonal camps typically housed smaller 
family units.  The coastal area between San Pedro and Topanga Canyon was the location of 
primary subsistence villages, while secondary sites were located near inland sage stands, oak 
groves, and pine forests.  Permanent villages were located along rivers and streams, as well as in 
sheltered areas along the coast.  As previously mentioned, the Channel Islands were also the 
locations of relatively large settlements (Bean and Smith 1978a; Kroeber 1976).  

Resources procured along the coast and on the islands were primarily marine in nature and 
included tuna, swordfish, ray and shark, California sea lion, Stellar sea lion, harbor seal, northern 
elephant seal, sea otter, dolphin and porpoise, various waterfowl species, numerous fish species, 
purple sea urchin, and mollusks such as rock scallop, California mussel, and limpet.  Inland 
resources included oak acorn, pine nut, Mohave yucca, cacti, sage, grass nut, deer, rabbit, hare, 
rodent, quail, duck, and a variety of reptiles such as western pond turtle and several different 
species of snakes (Bean and Smith 1978a; Kroeber 1976).  

The social structure of the Gabrielino is little known; however, there appears to have been 
at least three social classes: 1) the elite, which included the rich, chiefs, and their immediate family; 

Item E - 397 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–8 

2) a middle class, which included people of relatively high economic status or long-established 
lineages; and 3) a class of people that included most other individuals in the society.  Villages were 
politically autonomous units comprised of several lineages.  During times of the year when certain 
seasonal resources were available, the village would divide into lineage groups and move out to 
exploit them, returning to the village between forays (Bean and Smith 1978a; Kroeber 1976). 

Each lineage had its own leader, with the village chief coming from the dominant lineage.  
Several villages might be allied under a paramount chief.  Chiefly positions were of an ascribed 
status, most often passed to the eldest son.  Chiefly duties included providing village cohesion, 
leading warfare and peace negotiations with other groups, collecting village tributes, and 
arbitrating disputes within the village(s).  The status of the chief was legitimized by safekeeping 
of the sacred bundle, a representation of the link between the material and spiritual realms and the 
embodiment of power (Bean and Smith 1978a; Kroeber 1976).   

Shamans were leaders in the spirit realm.  The duties of the shaman included conducting 
healing and curing ceremonies, guarding the sacred bundle, locating lost items, identifying and 
collecting poisons for arrows, and making rain (Bean and Smith 1978a; Kroeber 1976). 

Marriages were made between individuals of equal social status and, in the case of 
powerful lineages, marriages were arranged to establish political ties between the lineages (Bean 
and Smith 1978a; Kroeber 1976).   

Men conducted the majority of the heavy labor, hunting, fishing, and trading with other 
groups.  Women’s duties included gathering and preparing plant and animal resources, and making 
baskets, pots, and clothing (Bean and Smith 1978a; Kroeber 1976).   

Gabrielino houses were domed, circular structures made of thatched vegetation.  Houses 
varied in size and could house from one to several families.  Sweathouses (semicircular, earth-
covered buildings) were public structures used in male social ceremonies.  Other structures 
included menstrual huts and a yuvar, an open-air, ceremonial structure built near the chief’s house 
(Bean and Smith 1978a; Kroeber 1976).   

Clothing was minimal; men and children most often went naked, while women wore 
deerskin or bark aprons.  In cold weather, deerskin, rabbit fur, or bird skin (with feathers intact) 
cloaks were worn.  Island and coastal groups used sea otter fur for cloaks.  In areas of rough terrain, 
yucca fiber sandals were worn.  Women often used red ochre on their faces and skin for adornment 
or protection from the sun.  Adornment items included feathers, fur, shells, and beads (Bean and 
Smith 1978a; Kroeber 1976). 

Hunting implements included wood clubs, sinew-backed bows, slings, and throwing clubs.  
Maritime implements included rafts, harpoons, spears, hook and line, and nets.  A variety of other 
tools included deer scapulae saws, bone and shell needles, bone awls, scrapers, bone or shell 
flakers, wedges, stone knives and drills, metates, mullers, manos, shell spoons, bark platters, and 
wooden paddles and bowls.  Baskets were made from rush, deer grass, and skunkbush.  Baskets 
were fashioned for hoppers, plates, trays, and winnowers for leaching, straining, and gathering.  
Baskets were also used for storing, preparing, and serving food, and for keeping personal and 

Item E - 398 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–9 

ceremonial items (Bean and Smith 1978a; Kroeber 1976).   
The Gabrielino had exclusive access to soapstone, or steatite, procured from Santa Catalina 

Island quarries.  This highly prized material was used for making pipes, animal carvings, ritual 
objects, ornaments, and cooking utensils.  The Gabrielino profited well from trading steatite since 
it was valued so much by groups throughout southern California (Bean and Smith 1978a; Kroeber 
1976). 
 
Serrano 

Aboriginally, the Serrano occupied an area east of present-day Los Angeles.  According to 
Bean and Smith (1978b), definitive boundaries are difficult to place for the Serrano due to their 
sociopolitical organization and a lack of reliable data: 
 

The Serrano were organized into autonomous localized lineages occupying 
definite, favored territories, but rarely claiming any territory far removed from the 
lineage’s home base.  Since the entire dialectical group was neither politically 
united nor amalgamated into supralineage groups, as many of their neighbors were, 
one must speak in terms of generalized areas of usage rather than pan-tribal 
holdings. (Strong [1971] in Bean and Smith 1978b) 
 

However, researchers place the Serrano in the San Bernardino Mountains east of Cajon Pass and 
at the base of and north of the mountains near Victorville, east to Twentynine Palms, and south to 
the Yucaipa Valley (Bean and Smith 1978b).  Serrano has been used broadly for languages in the 
Takic family including Serrano, Kitanemuk, Vanyume, and Tataviam. 

The Serrano were part of “exogamous clans, which in turn were affiliated with one of two 
exogamous moieties, tukwutam (Wildcat) and wahiʔiam (Coyote)” (Bean and Smith 1978b).  
According to Strong (1971), details such as number, structure, and function of the clans are 
unknown.  Instead, he states that clans were not political, but were rather structured based upon 
“economic, marital, or ceremonial reciprocity, a pattern common throughout Southern California” 
(Bean and Smith 1978b).  The Serrano formed alliances amongst their own clans and with 
Cahuilla, Chemehuevi, Gabrielino, and Cupeño clans (Bean and Smith 1978b).  Clans were large, 
autonomous political and landholding units formed patrilineally, with all males descending from 
a common male ancestor, including all wives and descendants of the males.  However, even after 
marriage, women would still keep their original lineage, and would still participate in those 
ceremonies (Bean and Smith 1978b). 

According to Bean and Smith (1978b), the cosmogony and cosmography of the Serrano 
are very similar to those of the Cahuilla: 

 
There are twin creator gods, a creation myth told in “epic poem” style, each local 
group having its own origin story, water babies whose crying foretells death, 

Item E - 399 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–10 

supernatural beings of various kinds and on various hierarchically arranged power-
access levels, an Orpheus-like myth, mythical deer that no one can kill, and tales 
relating the adventures (and misadventures) of Coyote, a tragicomic trickster-
transformer culture hero. (Bean [1962-1972] and Benedict [1924] in Bean and 
Smith 1978b)   

 
The Serrano had a shaman who acquired powers through dreams, which were induced through 
ingestion of the hallucinogen datura.  The shaman was mostly a curer/healer, using herbal remedies 
and “sucking out the disease-causing agents” (Bean and Smith 1978b). 

Serrano village locations were typically located near water sources.  Individual family 
dwellings were likely circular, domed structures.  Daily household activities would either take 
place outside of the house out in the open, or under a ramada constructed of a thatched willow pole 
roof held up by four or more poles inserted into the ground.  Families could consist of a husband, 
wife/wives, unmarried female children, married male children, the husband’s parents, and/or 
widowed aunts and uncles.  Rarely, an individual would occupy his own house, typically in the 
mountains.  Serrano villages also included a large ceremonial house where the lineage leader 
would live, which served as the religious center for lineages or lineage-sets, granaries, and 
sweathouses (Bean and Smith 1978b).  

The Serrano were primarily hunter/gatherers.  Vegetal staples varied with locality.  Acorns 
and piñon nuts were found in the foothills, and mesquite, yucca roots, cacti fruits, and piñon nuts 
were found in or near the desert regions.  Diets were supplemented with other roots, bulbs, shoots, 
and seeds (Heizer 1978).  Deer, mountain sheep, antelopes, rabbits, and other small rodents were 
among the principal food packages.  Various game birds, especially quail, were also hunted.  The 
bow and arrow was used for large game, while smaller game and birds were killed with curved 
throwing sticks, traps, and snares.  Occasionally, game was hunted communally, often during 
mourning ceremonies (Benedict 1924; Drucker 1937; Heizer 1978).  Earth ovens were used to 
cook meat, bones were boiled to extract marrow, and blood was either drunk cold or cooked to a 
thicker consistency and then eaten.  Some meat and vegetables were sun-dried and stored.  Food 
acquisition and processing required the manufacture of additional items such as knives, stone or 
bone scrapers, pottery trays and bowls, bone or horn spoons, and stirrers.  Mortars, made of either 
stone or wood, and metates were also manufactured (Strong 1971; Drucker 1937; Benedict 1924).    

The Serrano were very similar technologically to the Cahuilla.  In general, manufactured 
goods included baskets, some pottery, rabbit-skin blankets, awls, arrow straighteners, sinew-
backed bows, arrows, fire drills, stone pipes, musical instruments (rattles, rasps, whistles, bull-
roarers, and flutes), feathered costumes, mats for floor and wall coverings, bags, storage pouches, 
cordage (usually comprised of yucca fiber), and nets (Heizer 1978).  

  
  1.3.2  Historic Period  

Traditionally, the history of the state of California has been divided into three general 

Item E - 400 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–11 

periods: the Spanish Period (1769 to 1821), the Mexican Period (1822 to 1846), and the American 
Period (1848 to present) (Caughey 1970).  The American Period is often further subdivided into 
additional phases: the nineteenth century (1848 to 1900), the early twentieth century (1900 to 
1950), and the Modern Period (1950 to present).  From an archaeological standpoint, all of these 
phases can be referred to together as the Ethnohistoric Period.  This provides a valuable tool for 
archaeologists, as ethnohistory is directly concerned with the study of indigenous or non-Western 
peoples from a combined historical/anthropological viewpoint, which employs written documents, 
oral narrative, material culture, and ethnographic data for analysis. 

European exploration along the California coast began in 1542 with the landing of Juan 
Rodriguez Cabrillo and his men at San Diego Bay.  Sixty years after the Cabrillo expeditions, an 
expedition under Sebastian Viscaíno made an extensive and thorough exploration of the Pacific 
coast.  Although the voyage did not extend beyond the northern limits of the Cabrillo track, 
Viscaíno had the most lasting effect upon the nomenclature of the coast.  Many of his place names 
have survived, whereas practically every one of the names created by Cabrillo have faded from 
use.  For instance, Cabrillo named the first (now) United States port he stopped at “San Miguel”; 
60 years later, Viscaíno changed it to “San Diego” (Rolle 1969).  The early European voyages 
observed Native Americans living in villages along the coast but did not make any substantial, 
long-lasting impact.  At the time of contact, the Luiseño population was estimated to have ranged 
from 4,000 to as many as 10,000 individuals (Bean and Shipek 1978; Kroeber 1976).   
 The historic background of the project area began with the Spanish colonization of Alta 
California.  The first Spanish colonizing expedition reached southern California in 1769 with the 
intention of converting and civilizing the indigenous populations, as well as expanding the 
knowledge of and access to new resources in the region (Brigandi 1998).  As a result, by the late 
eighteenth century, a large portion of southern California was overseen by Mission San Luis Rey 
(San Diego County), Mission San Juan Capistrano (Orange County), and Mission San Gabriel 
(Los Angeles County), who began colonizing the region and surrounding areas (Chapman 1921). 

Native Californians may have first coalesced with Europeans around 1769 when the first 
Spanish mission was established in San Diego.  In 1771, Friar Francisco Garces first searched the 
Californian desert for potential mission sites.  Interactions between local tribes and Franciscan 
priests occurred by 1774 when Juan Bautista De Anza made an exploration of Alta California. 

Serrano contact with the Europeans may have occurred as early as 1771 or 1772, but it was 
not until approximately 1819 that the Spanish directly influenced the culture.  The Spanish 
established asistencias in San Bernardino, Pala, and Santa Ysabel.  Between the founding of the 
asistencia and secularization in 1834, most of the Serranos in the San Bernardino Mountains were 
removed to the nearby missions (Beattie and Beattie 1951:366) while the Cahuilla maintained a 
high level of autonomy from Spain (Bean 1978).   

Each mission gained power through the support of a large, subjugated Native American 
workforce.  As the missions grew, livestock holdings increased and became increasingly 
vulnerable to theft.  In order to protect their interests, the southern California missions began to 

Item E - 401 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–12 

expand inland to try and provide additional security (Beattie and Beattie 1939; Caughey 1970).  In 
order to meet their needs, the Spaniards embarked upon a formal expedition in 1806 to find 
potential locations within what is now the San Bernardino Valley.  As a result, by 1810, Father 
Francisco Dumetz of Mission San Gabriel had succeeded in establishing a religious site, or capilla, 
at a Cahuilla rancheria called Guachama (Beattie and Beattie 1939).  San Bernardino Valley 
received its name from this site, which was dedicated to San Bernardino de Siena by Father 
Dumetz.  The Guachama rancheria was located in present-day Bryn Mawr in San Bernardino 
County. 

These early colonization efforts were followed by the establishment of estancias at Puente 
(circa 1816) and San Bernardino (circa 1819) near Guachama (Beattie and Beattie 1939).  These 
efforts were soon mirrored by the Spaniards from Mission San Luis Rey, who in turn established 
a presence in what is now Lake Elsinore, Temecula, and Murrieta (Chapman 1921).  The 
indigenous groups who occupied these lands were recruited by missionaries, converted, and put to 
work in the missions (Pourade 1961).  Throughout this period, the Native American populations 
were decimated by introduced diseases, a drastic shift in diet resulting in poor nutrition, and social 
conflicts due to the introduction of an entirely new social order (Cook 1976).   

Mexico achieved independence from Spain in 1822 and became a federal republic in 1824.  
As a result, both Baja and Alta California became classified as territories (Rolle 1969).  Shortly 
thereafter, the Mexican Republic sought to grant large tracts of private land to its citizens to begin 
to encourage immigration to California and to establish its presence in the region.  Part of the 
establishment of power and control included the desecularization of the missions circa 1832.  
These same missions were also located on some of the most fertile land in California and, as a 
result, were considered highly valuable.  The resulting land grants, known as “ranchos,” covered 
expansive portions of California and by 1846, more than 600 land grants had been issued by the 
Mexican government.  Rancho Jurupa was the first rancho to be established and was issued to Juan 
Bandini in 1838.  Although Bandini primarily resided in San Diego, Rancho Jurupa was located 
in what is now Riverside County (Pourade 1963).  A review of Riverside County place names 
quickly illustrates that many of the ranchos in Riverside County lent their names to present-day 
locations, including Jurupa, El Rincon, La Sierra, El Sobrante de San Jacinto, La Laguna (Lake 
Elsinore), Santa Rosa, Temecula, Pauba, San Jacinto Nuevo y Potrero, and San Jacinto Viejo 
(Gunther 1984).  As was typical of many ranchos, these were all located in the valley environments 
within western Riverside County.   

The treatment of Native Americans grew worse during the Rancho Period.  Most of the 
Native Americans were forced off of their land or put to work on the now privately-owned ranchos, 
most often as slave labor.  In light of the brutal ranchos, the degree to which Native Americans 
had become dependent upon the mission system is evident when, in 1838, a group of Native 
Americans from Mission San Luis Rey petitioned government officials in San Diego to relieve 
suffering at the hands of the rancheros: 
 

Item E - 402 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–13 

We have suffered incalculable losses, for some of which we are in part to be blamed 
for because many of us have abandoned the Mission … We plead and beseech you 
… to grant us a Rev. Father for this place.  We have been accustomed to the Rev. 
Fathers and to their manner of managing the duties.  We labored under their 
intelligent directions, and we were obedient to the Fathers according to the 
regulations, because we considered it as good for us.  (Brigandi 1998:21) 

 
 Native American culture had been disrupted to the point where they could no longer rely 
upon prehistoric subsistence and social patterns.  Not only does this illustrate how dependent the 
Native Americans had become upon the missionaries, but it also indicates a marked contrast in the 
way the Spanish treated the Native Americans as compared to the Mexican and United States 
ranchers.  Spanish colonialism (missions) is based upon utilizing human resources while 
integrating them into their society.  The ranchers, both Mexican and American, did not accept 
Native Americans into their social order and used them specifically for the extraction of labor, 
resources, and profit.  Rather than being incorporated, they were either subjugated or exterminated 
(Cook 1976).  

By 1846, tensions between the United States and Mexico had escalated to the point of war 
(Rolle 1969).  In order to reach a peaceful agreement, the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo was put 
into effect in 1848, which resulted in the annexation of California to the United States.  Once 
California opened to the United States, waves of settlers moved in searching for gold mines, 
business opportunities, political opportunities, religious freedom, and adventure (Rolle 1969; 
Caughey 1970).  By 1850, California had become a state and was eventually divided into 27 
separate counties.  While a much larger population was now settling in California, this was 
primarily in the central valley, San Francisco, and the Gold Rush region of the Sierra Nevada 
mountain range (Rolle 1969; Caughey 1970).  During this time, southern California grew at a much 
slower pace than northern California and was still dominated by the cattle industry that was 
established during the earlier rancho period.    

Although the first orange trees were planted in Riverside County circa 1871, it was not 
until a few years later when a small number of Brazilian navel orange trees were established that 
the citrus industry truly began in the region (Patterson 1971).  The Brazilian navel orange was well 
suited to the climate of Riverside County and thrived with assistance from several extensive 
irrigation projects.  At the close of 1882, an estimated half a million citrus trees were present in 
California, nearly half of which were estimated to be in Riverside County.  Population growth and 
1880s tax revenue from the booming citrus industry prompted the official formation of Riverside 
County in 1893 out of portions of what was once San Bernardino County (Patterson 1971). 
 
General History of the City of Ontario 

In late 1881, Canadian brothers George and William Chaffey (Plates 1.3–1 and 1.3–2) 
purchased 6,218 acres of land in the Cucamonga Desert known as the “San Antonio lands.”  The 

Item E - 403 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–14 

Chaffey brothers soon expanded to the Southern Pacific Railroad tracks on the south and into the 
San Antonio Canyon to the north (City of Ontario n.d.).  The Chaffey brothers intended to establish 
a “model colony” for migrants coming to the region and named the area “Ontario” after their 
hometown.  Before the land could be used, however, water had to be found and brought into the 
town.  Because of this, George Chaffey laid miles of cement pipe leading from San Antonio 
Canyon, which was later tapped into by the San Antonio Water Company.  The need for electric 
power to lift the water from the deep wells in San Antonio Canyon led to the establishment of the 
first commercially successful hydroelectric plant in the country, the Ontario Power Company (City 
of Ontario n.d.).   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

During the late nineteenth century, anyone purchasing land within the Ontario Colony 
automatically received shares in the water company, which ensured that water would be pumped 
to their property.  This development aided in establishing agricultural properties, primarily citrus 
groves, within Ontario (Plate 1.3–3).  The Ontario Colony was officially incorporated as a city in 
1891 and continued to grow throughout the twentieth century (City of Ontario n.d.).  The city 
became known for air flight after Judge Archie Mitchell, Waldo Waterman, and other airplane 
enthusiasts established Latimer Field in 1923.  Urban growth pushed the airfield further and further 
east until it reached its present location, which currently functions as the Ontario International 
Airport.  During World War II, the airport served as a busy training center for fighter jet pilots 
(City of Ontario n.d.). 

Plate 1.3–1: George Chaffey.  (Photograph 
courtesy of Ontario City Library, Robert E. 
Ellingwood Model Colony History Room) 

Plate 1.3–2: William Chaffey.   
(Photograph courtesy of  
the City of Ontario 2013) 

Item E - 404 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–15 

 
 

 
The dairy industry flourished in the agricultural areas surrounding Ontario from the 1950s 

through the 1980s.  Concerned with what many viewed as a decline in suitable agricultural land, 
the County of San Bernardino Board of Supervisors designated 14,000 acres of agricultural land 
south and west of the city of Ontario as an “agricultural preserve” (City of Ontario 2006).  With 
the dairy-friendly zoning in the southwest corner of San Bernardino County, many Dutch, Basque, 
and Portuguese families relocated to the region and became the cornerstone of the dairy industry.  
By the 1980s, the area was recognized as having more cows per acre and higher milk yields than 
anywhere else in the world (City of Ontario 2006).  Starting in the late twentieth century, much of 
the preserve began to be annexed by neighboring cities due to a housing boom and increased 
operating costs for dairies.  In 1999, 8,200 acres were annexed by the City of Ontario with the 
remaining land annexed by the either the City of Chino or Chino Hills.  The portion annexed by 
the City of Ontario was labeled the “New Model Colony,” creating a connection with the Chaffey 
brothers’ original “Model Colony of Ontario” (Galvin and Associates 2004; City of Ontario 2006). 
 

1.4  Results of the Archaeological Records Search 
An archaeological records search was conducted by BFSA at the SCCIC (Appendix B).  

The search did not identify any resources within the subject property.  However, the records search 
did identify one resource (a historic single-family residence [Site P-36-013944]) within one-mile 
of the project (Table 1.4–1).  The search also identified 14 previous studies which have been 

Plate 1.3–3: 1887 view of the town of Ontario drawn by H.S. Crocker Co.   
(Illustration courtesy of Vintage City Maps) 

Item E - 405 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–16 

conducted within one mile of the subject property, none of which overlap any portion of the 
project.   

 
Table 1.4–1 

Cultural Resources Within a One-Mile Radius of the Project  
 

Site Number Site Type 

P-36-013944 Historic single-family residence 
 
BFSA also requested a SLF search from the NAHC to search for the presence of any 

recorded Native American sacred sites or locations of religious or ceremonial importance within 
one mile of the project.  This request is not part of any Assembly Bill (AB) 52 Native American 
consultation. The SLF search returned negative results.  All correspondence is provided in 
Appendix C.  

The following historic sources were also reviewed by BFSA: 
 
• The National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) Index 
• The Office of Historic Preservation (OHP), Archaeological Determinations of 

Eligibility (ADOE) 
• The OHP, Built Environment Resources Directory (BERD) 
• Historic USGS topographic maps (1897 through 1982) 
• Historic aerial photographs (1938 through 2022) 
• San Bernardino County PIMS data  

 
The NRHP index, ADOE, and BERD did not identify any potential resources within the 

subject property.  Further, historic maps and aerial photographs do not show any buildings 
historically within the project.  Rather, the property appears to be an agricultural field through the 
early 1970s.  A 1976 aerial photograph shows the eastern half of the project having been graded 
and structures within the subject property.  The next available photograph from 1980 shows the 
eastern half of the property had been completely developed for industrial use.  By 1985, the western 
half of the property appears to have been cleared and graded with structures added to this half of 
the property.  According to the County of San Bernardino PIMS, all improvements in the property 
occurred after 1975.   

The aerial photographs and literature review suggest that there is almost no potential for 
prehistoric sites or historic sites to be contained within the boundaries of the project due to the 
extensive nature of past ground disturbances on the property. The extensive disturbance to the 
property strongly indicates that if cultural resources were ever located within the project, they have 
been removed through the continued disturbances on the property. Given the historic and 

Item E - 406 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–17 

prehistoric settlement of the region, disturbances to the property, and the low frequency of cultural 
resources known to be surrounding the project parcels, the potential for archaeological discoveries 
on the property is extremely low. 

 
1.5  Applicable Regulations 
Resource importance is assigned to districts, sites, buildings, structures, and objects that 

possess exceptional value or quality illustrating or interpreting the heritage of San Bernardino 
County in history, architecture, archaeology, engineering, and culture.  A number of criteria are 
used in demonstrating resource importance.  Specifically, the criteria outlined in CEQA, provide 
the guidance for making such a determination.  The following sections detail the criteria that a 
resource must meet in order to be determined important. 
 

1.5.1  California Environmental Quality Act 
According to CEQA (§15064.5a), the term “historical resource” includes the following: 
 
1) A resource listed in or determined to be eligible by the State Historical Resources 

Commission for listing in the California Register of Historic Resources (CRHR) 
(Public Resources Code SS5024.1, Title 14 CCR. Section 4850 et seq.). 

2) A resource included in a local register of historical resources, as defined in Section 
5020.1(k) of the Public Resources Code, or identified as significant in a historical 
resource survey meeting the requirements of Section 5024.1(g) of the Public Resources 
Code, shall be presumed to be historically or culturally significant.  Public agencies 
must treat any such resource as significant unless the preponderance of evidence 
demonstrates that it is not historically or culturally significant. 

3) Any object, building, structure, site, area, place, record, or manuscript, which a lead 
agency determines to be historically significant or significant in the architectural, 
engineering, scientific, economic, agricultural, educational, social, political, military, 
or cultural annals of California may be considered a historical resource, provided the 
lead agency’s determination is supported by substantial evidence in light of the whole 
record.  Generally, a resource shall be considered by the lead agency to be “historically 
significant” if the resource meets the criteria for listing on the CRHR (Public Resources 
Code SS5024.1, Title 14, Section 4852) including the following: 

 
a) Is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad 

patterns of California’s history and cultural heritage; 
b) Is associated with the lives of persons important in our past; 
c) Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of 

construction, or represents the work of an important creative individual, or 
possesses high artistic values; or 

Item E - 407 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–18 

d) Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in prehistory or 
history. 
 

4) The fact that a resource is not listed in, or determined eligible for listing in the CRHR, 
not included in a local register of historical resources (pursuant to Section 5020.1[k] of 
the Public Resources Code), or identified in a historical resources survey (meeting the 
criteria in Section 5024.1(g) of the Public Resources Code) does not preclude a lead 
agency from determining that the resource may be a historical resource as defined in 
Public Resources Code Section 5020.1(j) or 5024.1. 

 
According to CEQA (§15064.5b), a project with an effect that may cause a substantial 

adverse change in the significance of a historical resource is a project that may have a significant 
effect on the environment.  CEQA defines a substantial adverse change as: 

 
1) Substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource means physical 

demolition, destruction, relocation, or alteration of the resource or its immediate 
surroundings such that the significance of a historical resource would be materially 
impaired. 

2) The significance of a historical resource is materially impaired when a project: 
 
a) Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical 

characteristics of a historical resource that convey its historical significance and 
that justify its inclusion in, or eligibility for inclusion in the CRHR; or 

b) Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical 
characteristics that account for its inclusion in a local register of historical 
resources pursuant to Section 5020.1(k) of the Public Resources Code or its 
identification in a historical resources survey meeting the requirements of 
Section 5024.1(g) of the Public Resources Code, unless the public agency 
reviewing the effects of the project establishes by a preponderance of evidence 
that the resource is not historically or culturally significant; or, 

c) Demolishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical 
characteristics of a historical resource that convey its historical significance and 
that justify its eligibility for inclusion in the CRHR as determined by a lead 
agency for purposes of CEQA.   

 
Section 15064.5(c) of CEQA applies to effects on archaeological sites and contains the 

following additional provisions regarding archaeological sites: 
 
1) When a project will impact an archaeological site, a lead agency shall first determine 

Item E - 408 of 2173



                                                                                                                              Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1.0–19 

whether the site is a historical resource, as defined in subsection (a). 
2) If a lead agency determines that the archaeological site is a historical resource, it shall 

refer to the provisions of Section 21084.1 of the Public Resources Code, Section 
15126.4 of the guidelines, and the limits contained in Section 21083.2 of the Public 
Resources Code do not apply. 

3) If an archaeological site does not meet the criteria defined in subsection (a), but does 
meet the definition of a unique archaeological resource in Section 21083.2 of the Public 
Resources Code, the site shall be treated in accordance with the provisions of Section 
21083.2.  The time and cost limitations described in Public Resources Code Section 
21083.2 (c-f) do not apply to surveys and site evaluation activities intended to 
determine whether the project location contains unique archaeological resources. 

4) If an archaeological resource is neither a unique archaeological nor historical resource, 
the effects of the project on those resources shall not be considered a significant effect 
on the environment.  It shall be sufficient that both the resource and the effect on it are 
noted in the Initial Study or Environmental Impact Report, if one is prepared to address 
impacts on other resources, but they need not be considered further in the CEQA 
process.   

 
Section 15064.5(d) and (e) contain additional provisions regarding human remains.  

Regarding Native American human remains, paragraph (d) states: 
 
(d) When an Initial Study identifies the existence of, or the probable likelihood of, Native 

American human remains within the project, a lead agency shall work with the 
appropriate Native Americans as identified by the NAHC as provided in Public 
Resources Code SS5097.98.  The applicant may develop an agreement for treating or 
disposing of, with appropriate dignity, the human remains and any items associated 
with Native American burials with the appropriate Native Americans as identified by 
the NAHC.  Action implementing such an agreement is exempt from: 

 
1) The general prohibition on disinterring, disturbing, or removing human remains 

from any location other than a dedicated cemetery (Health and Safety Code 
Section 7050.5). 

2) The requirements of CEQA and the Coastal Act. 

Item E - 409 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

 
 
 

2.0–1 

2.0 RESEARCH DESIGN  
 

The primary goal of the research design is to attempt to understand the way in which 
humans have used the land and resources within the project through time, as well as to aid in the 
determination of resource significance.  For the current project, the study area under investigation 
is southwestern San Bernardino County.  The scope of work for the cultural resources study 
conducted for the 1600 East Francis Street Project included the survey of a 7.01-acre study area.  
Given the area involved, the research design for this project was focused upon realistic study 
options.  Since the main objective of the investigation was to identify the presence of and potential 
impacts to cultural resources, the goal here is not necessarily to answer wide-reaching theories 
regarding the development of early southern California, but to investigate the role and importance 
of identified resources.  The assessment of the significance of a resource must take into 
consideration a variety of factors, as well as the ability of a resource to address regional research 
topics and issues. 
 Although elementary resource evaluation programs are limited in terms of the amount of 
information available, several specific research questions were developed that could be used to 
guide the initial investigations of any observed cultural resources.  The following research 
questions consider the small size and location of the project discussed above.  
 
Research Questions: 
 

• Can located cultural resources be associated with a specific time period, population, or 
individual? 

• Do the types of any located cultural resources allow a site activity/function to be 
determined from a preliminary investigation?  What are the site activities?  What is the 
site function?  What resources were exploited? 

• How do located sites compare to others reported from different surveys conducted in 
the area? 

• How do located sites fit existing models of settlement and subsistence for mountainous 
environments of the region? 

 
Data Needs 

At the survey level, the principal research objective is a generalized investigation of 
changing settlement patterns in both the prehistoric and historic periods within the study area.  The 
overall goal is to understand settlement and resource procurement patterns of the project 
occupants.  Therefore, adequate information on site function, context, and chronology from an 
archaeological perspective is essential for the investigation.  The fieldwork and archival research 
were undertaken with the following primary research goals in mind: 

 

Item E - 410 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

 
 
 

2.0–2 

1) To identify cultural resources occurring within the project; 
2) To determine, if possible, site type and function, context of the resource(s), and 

chronological placement of each cultural resource identified; 
3) To place each cultural resource identified within a regional perspective; and 
4) To provide recommendations for the treatment of each cultural resources identified. 

 
 

Item E - 411 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

3.0–1 

3.0 ANALYSIS OF PROJECT EFFECTS  
 

The cultural resources study of the project site consisted of an institutional records search, 
archival research, an intensive cultural resource survey of the 7.01-acre study area, and the 
preparation of this technical report.  This study was conducted in conformance with Section 
21083.2 of the California Public Resources Code, and CEQA.  Statutory requirements of CEQA 
(Section 15064.5) were followed for the identification and evaluation of resources.  Specific 
definitions for archaeological resource type(s) used in this report are those established by the State 
Historic Preservation Office (SHPO 1995). 
 
 3.1  Survey Methods 

The survey methodology employed during the current investigation followed standard 
archaeological field procedures and was sufficient to accomplish a thorough assessment of the 
project.  The field methodology employed for the project included walking evenly spaced survey 
transects set approximately 10-meters apart while visually inspecting the ground surface.  
Photographs documenting survey areas and overall survey conditions were taken frequently.   

 
3.2  Results of the Field Survey 
Director of Field Operations Clarence Hoff conducted the archaeological survey for 1600 

East Francis Street Project on October 11, 2022.  At the time of the survey, the property was 
primarily characterized as previously developed with structures noted throughout the project.  At 
the time of the survey, the project area was fully developed and used for the daily operations of 
Western States Wholesale Manufacturer and Distributor.  Generally, the property appears to have 
been completely cleared and graded for the industrial development that occupies the property 
(Plate 3.2–1).  Buildings, hardscape, and commercial landscaping cover the entirety of the project.  
Due the existing development, the natural ground surface was not visible.  Collectively, six 
structures were noted within the project, in addition to a storage yard containing commercial 
building material, primarily concrete block of various sizes (Plate 3.2–2).  The structures within 
the property consist of a prefabricated office structure on a concrete block foundation, a concrete 
manufacturing plant, and various covered storage and manufacturing areas (Plates 3.2–3 and 3.2–
4).  Vegetation primarily consists of maintained planters and commercial landscaping located at 
the entrance of the project along East Francis Street (Plate 3.2–5).   

The survey did not result in the identification of any historic or prehistoric cultural 
resources within the project.  As previously noted, all structures and improvements found on the 
property were constructed no earlier than 1975, and, therefore, do not meet the age threshold (50 
years) for consideration as historic resources under CEQA criteria.   

 
 
 

Item E - 412 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

3.0–2 

 
 

 
 

Plate 3.2–1: Overview of the project, facing south. 

Plate 3.2–2: Overview of the project, facing southeast. 

Item E - 413 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

3.0–3 

 
 

 
 

Plate 3.2–3: Overview of the project, showing the prefabricated office 
building (background), facing east. 

Plate 3.2–4: View of the concrete manufacturing plant on the property, 
facing southeast. 

Item E - 414 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

3.0–4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Plate 3.2–5: View of the entrance to the property, showing the maintained 
landscaping and planters along East Francis Street, facing southwest. 

Item E - 415 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 

 
 
 

 
 

4.0–1 

4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
The Phase I archaeological assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project did not 

locate any cultural resources.  A review of historic maps, aerial photographs, and PIMS data shows 
that the property did not contain any structures until 1975.  As such, due to the modern 
development, the property is entirely disturbed, having been completely cleared and graded since 
the mid-1970s.  Therefore, although development on the subject property restricted visibility of 
the natural ground surface, based upon the documentation of past ground disturbance through the 
historic agricultural land-use of the property, there is little potential for cultural resources to be 
present/disturbed by the proposed project.  As such, site-specific mitigation measures will not be 
required for this project, and no further archaeological study is recommended as a condition of 
permit approval. 

Although no site-specific mitigation measures for cultural resources are recommended, in 
the event that any historic or prehistoric cultural resources are inadvertently discovered, all 
construction work in the immediate vicinity of the discovery shall stop and a qualified 
archaeologist shall be engaged to discuss the discovery and determine if further mitigation 
measures are warranted.  Should human remains be discovered, treatment of these remains shall 
follow California Public Resources Code 5097.9.  Any human remains that are determined to be 
Native American shall be reported to the San Bernardino County sheriff-coroner and subsequently 
to the NAHC. 

 

Item E - 416 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

5.0–1 

5.0 LIST OF PREPARERS AND ORGANIZATIONS CONTACTED 
 

The archaeological survey program for the 1600 East Francis Street Project was directed 
by Principal Investigator Brian F. Smith.  The archaeological fieldwork was conducted Director 
of Field Operations Clarence Hoff.  The report text was prepared by Andrew Garrison and Brian 
Smith and report graphics were prepared by Emily Soong.   Technical editing and report production 
were conducted by Courtney McNair.  The archaeological records search was provided by the 
SCCIC at CSU Fullerton. 
 

Item E - 417 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

6.0–1 

6.0 REFERENCES CITED 
 
Antevs, Ernst 

1953 The Postpluvial or the Neothermal.  University of California Archaeological Survey 
Reports 22:9–23.  Berkeley, California. 

 
Bean, Lowell John 

1978 Cahuilla.  In California, edited by R.F. Heizer, pp. 575–587.  Handbook of North 
American Indians, Vol. 8. William C. Sturtevant, general editor, Smithsonian 
Institution, Washington, D.C. 

 
Bean, Lowell John and Charles R. Smith 

1978a Gabrielino.  In California, edited by R.F. Heizer.  Handbook of North American 
Indians, Vol. 8.  William C. Sturtevant, general editor, Smithsonian Institution, 
Washington, D.C. 

 
1978b Serrano.  In California, edited by R.F. Heizer, pp. 570–574.  Handbook of North 

American Indians, Vol. 8.  William C. Sturtevant, general editor, Smithsonian 
Institution, Washington, D.C.  

 
Bean, Lowell John and Florence C. Shipek 

1978 Luiseño.  In California, edited by Robert F. Heizer, pp. 550–563.  Handbook of North 
American Indians, Vol. 8.  William C. Sturtevant, general editor, Smithsonian 
Institution, Washington, D.C. 

 
Beattie, George W. and Helen P. Beattie  

1951 Heritage of the Valley: San Bernardino’s First Century.  Biobooks, Oakland, 
California.  

 
Benedict, Ruth Fulton 

1924 A Brief Sketch of Serrano Culture.  American Anthropologist 26(3).  
 
Brigandi, Phil 

1998 Temecula: At the Crossroads of History.  Heritage Media Corporation, Encinitas, 
California. 

 
Caughey, John W. 

1970 California: A Remarkable State's Life History.  3rd ed.  Prentice-Hall, Englewood 
Cliffs, New Jersey. 

 
Chapman, Charles E. 

1921 A History of California: The Spanish Period.  The Macmillan Company, New York 
 
City of Ontario 

N.d.  Facts &History.  Electronic document, https://www.ontarioca.gov/FactsAndHistory, 

Item E - 418 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

6.0–2 

accessed February 8, 2021. 
 
2006 Environmental Impact Report for Subarea 29 (Hettinga) Specific Plan, City of Ontario, 

San Bernardino County, California.  City of Ontario with Albert A. Webb Associates.  
Unpublished report on file at the City of Ontario, California.   

 
Cook, Sherburne F. 

1976 The Conflict Between the California Indian and White Civilization.  University of 
California Press, Berkeley and Los Angeles, California.  

 
Curray, Joseph R.  

1965 Late Quaternary History: Continental Shelves of the United States.  Quaternary of the 
United States, edited by H.E. Wright Jr. and D.G. Frey, pp. 723–735.  Princeton 
University Press, New Jersey. 

 
Drucker, Philip 

1937 Culture Element Distributions: V.  Southern California.  Anthropological Records 
1(1):1–52.  University of California, Berkeley.  

 
Erlandson, John M. and Roger H. Colten (editors) 

1991 An Archaeological Context for Archaeological Sites on the California Coast.  In 
Hunter-Gatherers of Early Holocene Coastal California, edited by J.M. Erlandson and 
R.H. Colten.  Perspectives in California Archaeology, Volume 1, Institute of 
Archaeology, University of California, Los Angeles. 

 
Fagan, Brian M. 

1991 Ancient North America: The Archaeology of a Continent.  Thames and Hudson, 
London. 

 
Gallegos, Dennis 

1985 Batiquitos Lagoon Revisited.   In Cultural Resource Management Casual Papers 2(1).  
Department of Anthropology, San Diego State University. 

 
2002 Southern California in Transition:  Late Holocene Occupation of Southern San Diego 

County.  In Catalysts to Complexity: Late Holocene Societies of the California Coast, 
edited by Jon M. Erlandson and Terry Jones.  Cotsen Institute of Archaeology, 
University of California, Los Angeles.  

 
Galvin and Associates  

2004 The City of Ontario’s Historic Context for the New Model Colony Area.  Unpublished 
report on file at the City of Ontario, Ontario, California.   

 
Gunther, Jane Davies 

1984 Riverside County, California, Place Names: Their Origins and Their Stories.  
Rubidoux Printing, Riverside, California. 

Item E - 419 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

6.0–3 

Heizer, Robert F. 
1978 Trade and Trails.  In California, edited by Robert F. Heizer, pp. 690–693.  Handbook 

of North American Indians, Vol. 8.  William C. Sturtevant, general editor, Smithsonian 
Institution, Washington, D.C. 

 
Inman, Douglas L. 

1983 Application of Coastal Dynamics to the Reconstruction of Paleocoastlines in the 
Vicinity of La Jolla, California.  Quaternary Coastlines and Marine Archaeology, 
edited by Patricia M. Masters and N.C. Flemming, pp. 1–49.  Academic Press, Inc., 
Orlando, Florida. 

 
Kroeber, Alfred L. 

1976 Handbook of the Indians of California.  Reprinted.  Dover Editions, Dover 
Publications, Inc., New York.  Originally published 1925, Bulletin No. 78, U.S. 
Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.  

 
Martin, Paul S. 

1967 Prehistoric Overkill.  In Pleistocene Extinctions: The Search for a Cause, edited by 
Paul S. Martin and H.E. Wright.  Yale University Press, New Haven, Connecticut. 

 
1973 The Discovery of America.  Science 179(4077):969-974. 

 
Masters, Patricia M.  

1983 Detection and Assessment of Prehistoric Artifact Sites off the Coast of Southern 
California.  In Quaternary Coastlines and Marine Archaeology: Towards the 
Prehistory of Land Bridges and Continental Shelves, edited by Patricia M. Masters and 
Nicholas C. Fleming, pp. 189–213. Academic Press, London. 

 
1994 Archaeological Investigations at Five Sites on the Lower San Luis Rey River, San 

Diego County, California, edited by Michael Moratto, pp. A1-A19.  INFOTEC 
Research, Inc., Fresno, California and Gallegos and Associates, Pacific Palisades, 
California.  

 
Miller, Jaquelin Neva 

1966 The Present and Past Molluscan Faunas and Environments of Four Southern 
California Coastal Lagoons.  Master’s thesis, Scripps Institution of Oceanography, 
University of California at San Diego. 

 
Moratto, Michael J. 

1984 California Archaeology.  Academic Press, New York. 
 
Morton, D.M. and F.K. Miller  

2006 Geologic map of the San Bernardino and Santa Ana 30' x 60' quadrangles, California: 
U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 06-1217, scale 1:100,000. 

 

Item E - 420 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

6.0–4 

Moss, Madonna L. and Jon M. Erlandson  
1995  Reflections on North American Pacific Coast Prehistory.  Journal of World Prehistory 
 

Patterson, Tom 
1971 A Colony for California: Riverside’s First Hundred Years.  Press-Enterprise, Riverside, 

California. 
 
Pourade, Richard F. 

1961 Time of the Bells.  The History of San Diego Volume 2.  Union-Tribune Publishing 
Company, San Diego, California.  

 
1963 The Silver Dons.  In The History of San Diego (Volume 3).  Union-Tribune Publishing 

Company, San Diego, California. 
 

Reddy, Seetha 
2000 Settling the Highlands:  Late Holocene Highland Adaptations on Camp Pendleton, San 

Diego County California.  Prepared for the Army Corps of Engineers by ASM 
Affiliates.  Manuscript on file at South Coastal Information Center at San Diego State 
University, San Diego, California. 

 
Rogers, Malcolm 

1929 Archaeological Field Work in North America During 1928, California.  American 
Anthropologist 31(2):340–341. 

 
Rolle, Andrew F. 

1969 California: A History.  2nd ed.  Thomas Y. Crowell Company, New York. 
 
State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) 

1995 Instructions for Recording Historical Resources.  Office of Historic Preservation, 
Sacramento. 

 
Strong, William Duncan 

1971 Aboriginal Society in Southern California.  Reprint of 1929 Publications in American 
Archaeology and Ethnology No. 26, University of California, Berkeley.  

 
Van Devender, Thomas R. and W. Geoffrey Spaulding 

1979 Development of Vegetation and Climate in the Southwestern United States.  Science 
204(4394):701–710. 

 
Warren, Claude N. and M.G. Pavesic  

1963 Shell Midden Analysis of Site SDI-603 and Ecological Implications for Cultural 
Development of Batiquitos Lagoon, San Diego County, Los Angeles.  University of 
California, Los Angeles, Archaeological Survey Annual Report 1960-1961:246–338. 

 
 

Item E - 421 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project  
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

6.0–5 

Wirths, Todd A. 
2022 Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Projecy, City of Ontario, 

San Bernardino County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.  Report in 
progress.  

 

Item E - 422 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

Resumes of Key Personnel 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Item E - 423 of 2173



Brian F. Smith, MA 

Owner, Principal Investigator 
Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. 
14010 Poway Road � Suite A �  
Phone: (858) 679-8218 � Fax: (858) 679-9896 � E-Mail: bsmith@bfsa-ca.com  

 
 

Education 

Master of Arts, History, University of San Diego, California      1982 

Bachelor of Arts, History, and Anthropology, University of San Diego, California   1975 

Professional Memberships 

Society for California Archaeology  

Experience 

Principal Investigator                                                                                                              1977–Present 
Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.                                                                                Poway, California  

Brian F. Smith is the owner and principal historical and archaeological consultant for Brian F. Smith and 
Associates.  Over the past 32 years, he has conducted over 2,500 cultural resource studies in California, 
Arizona, Nevada, Montana, and Texas.  These studies include every possible aspect of archaeology 
from literature searches and large-scale surveys to intensive data recovery excavations.  Reports 
prepared by Mr. Smith have been submitted to all facets of local, state, and federal review agencies, 
including the US Army Corps of Engineers, the Bureau of Land Management, the Bureau of 
Reclamation, the Department of Defense, and the Department of Homeland Security.  In addition, Mr. 
Smith has conducted studies for utility companies (Sempra Energy) and state highway departments 
(CalTrans).  

Professional Accomplishments 

These selected major professional accomplishments represent research efforts that have added 
significantly to the body of knowledge concerning the prehistoric life ways of cultures once present in 
the southern California area and historic settlement since the late 18th century. Mr. Smith has been 
principal investigator on the following select projects, except where noted. 

Downtown San Diego Mitigation and Monitoring Reporting Programs: Large numbers of downtown San 
Diego mitigation and monitoring projects, some of which included Broadway Block (2019), 915 Grape 
Street (2019), 1919 Pacific Highway (2018), Moxy Hotel (2018), Makers Quarter Block D (2017), Ballpark 
Village (2017), 460 16th Street (2017), Kettner and Ash (2017), Bayside Fire Station (2017), Pinnacle on the 
Park (2017), IDEA1 (2016), Blue Sky San Diego (2016), Pacific Gate (2016), Pendry Hotel (2015), Cisterra 
Sempra Office Tower (2014), 15th and Island (2014), Park and G (2014), Comm 22 (2014), 7th and F Street 
Parking (2013), Ariel Suites (2013), 13th and Marker (2012), Strata (2008), Hotel Indigo (2008), Lofts at 707 
10th Avenue Project (2007), Breeza (2007), Bayside at the Embarcadero (2007), Aria (2007), Icon (2007), 
Vantage Pointe (2007), Aperture (2007), Sapphire Tower (2007), Lofts at 655 Sixth Avenue (2007), 
Metrowork (2007), The Legend (2006), The Mark (2006), Smart Corner (2006), Lofts at 677 7th Avenue 
(2005), Aloft on Cortez Hill (2005), Front and Beech Apartments (2003), Bella Via Condominiums (2003), 
Acqua Vista Residential Tower (2003), Northblock Lofts (2003), Westin Park Place Hotel (2001), Parkloft 

Item E - 424 of 2173



Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.  2 

 
 
Apartment Complex (2001), Renaissance Park (2001), and Laurel Bay Apartments (2001). 

1900 and 1912 Spindrift Drive: An extensive data recovery and mitigation monitoring program at the 
Spindrift Site, an important prehistoric archaeological habitation site stretching across the La Jolla 
area.  The project resulted in the discovery of over 20,000 artifacts and nearly 100,000 grams of bulk 
faunal remains and marine shell, indicating a substantial occupation area (2013-2014). 

San Diego Airport Development Project: An extensive historic assessment of multiple buildings at the 
San Diego International Airport and included the preparation of Historic American Buildings Survey 
documentation to preserve significant elements of the airport prior to demolition (2017-2018).  

Citracado Parkway Extension: A still-ongoing project in the city of Escondido to mitigate impacts to an 
important archaeological occupation site.  Various archaeological studies have been conducted by 
BFSA resulting in the identification of a significant cultural deposit within the project area.   

Westin Hotel and Timeshare (Grand Pacific Resorts): Data recovery and mitigation monitoring program 
in the city of Carlsbad consisted of the excavation of 176 one-square-meter archaeological data 
recovery units which produced thousands of prehistoric artifacts and ecofacts, and resulted in the 
preservation of a significant prehistoric habitation site.  The artifacts recovered from the site presented 
important new data about the prehistory of the region and Native American occupation in the area 
(2017).   

The Everly Subdivision Project: Data recovery and mitigation monitoring program in the city of El Cajon 
resulted in the identification of a significant prehistoric occupation site from both the Late Prehistoric 
and Archaic Periods, as well as producing historic artifacts that correspond to the use of the property 
since 1886.  The project produced an unprecedented quantity of artifacts in comparison to the area 
encompassed by the site, but lacked characteristics that typically reflect intense occupation, indicating 
that the site was used intensively for food processing (2014-2015).   

Ballpark Village: A mitigation and monitoring program within three city blocks in the East Village area of 
San Diego resulting in the discovery of a significant historic deposit.  Nearly 5,000 historic artifacts and 
over 500,000 grams of bulk historic building fragments, food waste, and other materials representing an 
occupation period between 1880 and 1917 were recovered (2015-2017).  

Archaeology at the Padres Ballpark: Involved the analysis of historic resources within a seven-block area 
of the “East Village” area of San Diego, where occupation spanned a period from the 1870s to the 
1940s. Over a period of two years, BFSA recovered over 200,000 artifacts and hundreds of pounds of 
metal, construction debris, unidentified broken glass, and wood. Collectively, the Ballpark Project and 
the other downtown mitigation and monitoring projects represent the largest historical archaeological 
program anywhere in the country in the past decade (2000-2007). 

4S Ranch Archaeological and Historical Cultural Resources Study: Data recovery program consisted of 
the excavation of over 2,000 square meters of archaeological deposits that produced over one million 
artifacts, containing primarily prehistoric materials. The archaeological program at 4S Ranch is the 
largest archaeological study ever undertaken in the San Diego County area and has produced data 
that has exceeded expectations regarding the resolution of long-standing research questions and 
regional prehistoric settlement patterns. 

Charles H. Brown Site: Attracted international attention to the discovery of evidence of the antiquity of 
man in North America. Site located in Mission Valley, in the city of San Diego. 

Del Mar Man Site: Study of the now famous Early Man Site in Del Mar, California, for the San Diego 
Science Foundation and the San Diego Museum of Man, under the direction of Dr. Spencer Rogers and 
Dr. James R. Moriarty. 

 

Item E - 425 of 2173



Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.  3 

 
 
Old Town State Park Projects: Consulting Historical Archaeologist. Projects completed in the Old Town 
State Park involved development of individual lots for commercial enterprises.  The projects completed 
in Old Town include Archaeological and Historical Site Assessment for the Great Wall Cafe (1992), 
Archaeological Study for the Old Town Commercial Project (1991), and Cultural Resources Site Survey at 
the Old San Diego Inn (1988). 

Site W-20, Del Mar, California: A two-year-long investigation of a major prehistoric site in the Del Mar 
area of the city of San Diego. This research effort documented the earliest practice of 
religious/ceremonial activities in San Diego County (circa 6,000 years ago), facilitated the projection of 
major non-material aspects of the La Jolla Complex, and revealed the pattern of civilization at this site 
over a continuous period of 5,000 years. The report for the investigation included over 600 pages, with 
nearly 500,000 words of text, illustrations, maps, and photographs documenting this major study. 

City of San Diego Reclaimed Water Distribution System: A cultural resource study of nearly 400 miles of 
pipeline in the city and county of San Diego. 

Master Environmental Assessment Project, City of Poway: Conducted for the City of Poway to produce 
a complete inventory of all recorded historic and prehistoric properties within the city. The information 
was used in conjunction with the City’s General Plan Update to produce a map matrix of the city 
showing areas of high, moderate, and low potential for the presence of cultural resources. The effort 
also included the development of the City’s Cultural Resource Guidelines, which were adopted as City 
policy. 

Draft of the City of Carlsbad Historical and Archaeological Guidelines: Contracted by the City of 
Carlsbad to produce the draft of the City’s historical and archaeological guidelines for use by the 
Planning Department of the City. 

The Mid-Bayfront Project for the City of Chula Vista: Involved a large expanse of undeveloped 
agricultural land situated between the railroad and San Diego Bay in the northwestern portion of the 
city. The study included the analysis of some potentially historic features and numerous prehistoric 
 
Cultural Resources Survey and Test of Sites Within the Proposed Development of the Audie Murphy  
Ranch, Riverside  County, California:  Project manager/director of the  investigation  of 1,113.4  acres 
and 43 sites, both prehistoric and historic—included project coordination; direction of field crews; 
evaluation of sites for significance based on County of Riverside and CEQA guidelines; assessment of 
cupule, pictograph, and rock shelter sites, co-authoring  of  cultural  resources  project  report.  
February- September 2002. 

Cultural Resources Evaluation of Sites Within the Proposed Development of the Otay Ranch Village 13 
Project, San Diego County, California:  Project manager/director of the  investigation  of 1,947  acres 
and  76 sites, both prehistoric and historic—included project coordination and budgeting; direction  of  
field crews; assessment of sites for significance based on County of San Diego and CEQA guidelines; co- 
authoring of cultural resources project report. May-November 2002. 

Cultural Resources Survey for the Remote Video Surveillance Project, El Centro Sector, Imperial County: 
Project manager/director for a survey of 29 individual sites near the U.S./Mexico Border for proposed 
video surveillance camera locations associated with the San Diego Border barrier Project—project 
coordination and budgeting; direction of field crews; site identification and recordation; assessment of 
potential impacts to cultural resources; meeting and coordinating with U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 
U.S. Border Patrol, and other government agencies involved; co-authoring of cultural resources project 
report. January, February, and July 2002. 

Cultural Resources Survey and Test of Sites Within the Proposed Development of the Menifee West GPA, 
Riverside County, California:  Project manager/director of the investigation of nine sites, both prehistoric  
and historic—included project coordination and budgeting; direction of field crews; assessment of sites    

Item E - 426 of 2173



Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.  4 

 
 
for significance based on County of Riverside and CEQA guidelines; historic research; co-authoring of 
cultural resources project report. January-March 2002. 

Cultural Resources Survey and Test of Sites Within the Proposed French Valley Specific Plan/EIR, Riverside 
County, California: Project manager/director of the investigation of two prehistoric and three historic 
sites—included project coordination and budgeting; survey of project area; Native American 
consultation; direction of field crews; assessment of sites for significance based on CEQA guidelines; 
cultural resources project report in prep. July-August 2000. 

Cultural Resources Survey and Test of Sites Within the Proposed Development of the Menifee Ranch, 
Riverside County, California: Project manager/director of the investigation of one prehistoric and five  
historic sites—included project coordination and budgeting;  direction  of  field  crews;  feature 
recordation; historic structure assessments; assessment of sites for significance based on CEQA 
guidelines; historic research; co-authoring of cultural resources project report. February-June 2000. 

Salvage Mitigation of a Portion of the San Diego Presidio Identified During Water Pipe Construction for 
the City of San Diego, California:  Project archaeologist/director—included direction of field crews; 
development and completion of data recovery program;  management  of  artifact  collections 
cataloging and curation; data synthesis and authoring of cultural resources project report in prep. April 
2000. 

Enhanced Cultural Resource Survey and Evaluation for the Tyrian 3 Project, La Jolla, California: Project 
manager/director of the investigation of a single-dwelling parcel—included project coordination; 
assessment of parcel for potentially buried cultural deposits; authoring of cultural resources project 
report. April 2000. 

Enhanced Cultural Resource Survey and Evaluation for the Lamont 5 Project, Pacific Beach, California: 
Project manager/director of the investigation of a single-dwelling parcel—included project 
coordination; assessment of parcel for potentially buried cultural deposits; authoring of cultural 
resources project report. April 2000. 

Enhanced Cultural Resource Survey and Evaluation for the Reiss Residence Project, La Jolla, California: 
Project manager/director of the investigation of a single-dwelling parcel—included project 
coordination; assessment of parcel for potentially buried cultural deposits; authoring of cultural 
resources project report. March-April 2000. 

Salvage Mitigation of a Portion of Site SDM-W-95 (CA-SDI-211) for the Poinsettia Shores Santalina 
Development Project and Caltrans, Carlsbad, California: Project archaeologist/ director—included 
direction of field crews; development and completion of data recovery program; management of 
artifact collections cataloging and curation; data synthesis and authoring of cultural resources project 
report in prep. December 1999-January 2000. 

Survey and Testing of Two Prehistoric Cultural Resources for the Airway Truck Parking Project, Otay Mesa, 
California:  Project archaeologist/director—included direction of field crews; development and 
completion of testing recovery program; assessment of site for significance based on CEQA guidelines; 
authoring of cultural resources project report, in prep. December 1999-January 2000. 

Cultural Resources Phase I and II Investigations for the Tin Can Hill Segment of the Immigration and 
Naturalization Services Triple Fence Project Along the International Border, San Diego County, California: 
Project manager/director for a survey and testing of a prehistoric quarry site along the border—NRHP 
eligibility assessment; project coordination and budgeting; direction of field crews; feature recordation; 
meeting and coordinating with U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; co-authoring of cultural resources project 
report. December 1999-January 2000. 

 

Item E - 427 of 2173



Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.  5 

 
 
Mitigation of a Prehistoric Cultural Resource for the Westview High School Project for the City of San 
Diego, California:  Project archaeologist/ director—included direction of field crews; development and 
completion of data recovery program including collection of material for specialized faunal and 
botanical analyses; assessment of sites for significance based on CEQA guidelines; management of 
artifact collections cataloging and curation; data synthesis; co-authoring of cultural resources project 
report, in prep. October 1999-January 2000. 

Mitigation of a Prehistoric Cultural Resource for the Otay Ranch SPA-One West Project for the City of 
Chula Vista, California:  Project archaeologist/director—included direction of field crews; development 
of data recovery program; management of artifact collections cataloging and curation; assessment of 
site for significance based on CEQA guidelines; data synthesis; authoring of cultural resources project 
report, in prep. September 1999-January 2000. 

Monitoring of Grading for the Herschel Place Project, La Jolla, California:  Project archaeologist/ monitor—
included monitoring of grading activities associated with the development of a single- dwelling parcel. 
September 1999. 

Survey and Testing of a Historic Resource for the Osterkamp Development Project, Valley Center, 
California:  Project archaeologist/ director—included direction of field crews; development and 
completion of data recovery program; budget development; assessment of site for significance based 
on CEQA guidelines; management of artifact collections cataloging and curation; data synthesis; 
authoring of cultural resources project report. July-August 1999. 

Survey and Testing of a Prehistoric Cultural Resource for the Proposed College Boulevard Alignment 
Project, Carlsbad, California: Project manager/director —included direction of  field  crews; 
development and completion of testing recovery program; assessment of site for significance based on 
CEQA guidelines; management of artifact collections cataloging and curation; data synthesis;   
authoring of cultural resources project report, in prep. July-August 1999. 

Survey and Evaluation of Cultural Resources for the Palomar Christian Conference Center Project, 
Palomar Mountain, California: Project archaeologist—included direction of field crews; assessment of 
sites for significance based on CEQA guidelines; management of artifact collections cataloging and 
curation; data synthesis; authoring of cultural resources project report. July-August 1999. 

Survey and Evaluation of Cultural Resources at the Village 2 High School Site, Otay Ranch, City of Chula 
Vista, California: Project manager/director —management of artifact collections cataloging and 
curation; assessment of site for significance based on CEQA guidelines; data synthesis; authoring of 
cultural resources project report. July 1999. 

Cultural Resources Phase I, II, and III Investigations for the Immigration and Naturalization Services Triple 
Fence Project Along  the  International Border, San  Diego  County, California:  Project 
manager/director for the survey, testing, and mitigation of sites along border—supervision of multiple 
field crews, NRHP eligibility assessments, Native American consultation, contribution to Environmental 
Assessment document, lithic and marine shell analysis, authoring of cultural resources project report. 
August 1997- January 2000. 

Phase I, II, and II Investigations for the Scripps Poway Parkway East Project, Poway California: Project 
archaeologist/project director—included recordation and assessment of multicomponent prehistoric 
and historic sites; direction of Phase II and III investigations; direction of laboratory analyses including 
prehistoric and historic collections; curation of collections; data synthesis; coauthorship of final cultural 
resources report. February 1994; March-September 1994; September-December 1995. 

 

 

Item E - 428 of 2173



Andrew J. Garrison, MA, RPA 

Project Archaeologist 
Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. 
14010 Poway Road � Suite A �  
Phone: (858) 679-8218 � Fax: (858) 679-9896 � E-Mail: agarrison@bfsa-ca.com  

 
 

 

Education 

Master of Arts, Public History, University of California, Riverside                        2009 

Bachelor of Science, Anthropology, University of California, Riverside        2005 

Bachelor of Arts, History, University of California, Riverside          2005  

Professional Memberships 

Register of Professional Archaeologists 
Society for California Archaeology 
Society for American Archaeology 
California Council for the Promotion of History 

Society of Primitive Technology 
Lithic Studies Society 
California Preservation Foundation 
Pacific Coast Archaeological Society  

Experience 

Project Archaeologist                                                                                               June 2017–Present 
Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.                                                                                       Poway, California  

Project management of all phases of archaeological investigations for local, state, and federal 
agencies including National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) and California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) level projects interacting with clients, sub-consultants, and lead agencies.  Supervise and 
perform fieldwork including archaeological survey, monitoring, site testing, comprehensive site records 
checks, and historic building assessments.  Perform and oversee technological analysis of prehistoric 
lithic assemblages. Author or co-author cultural resource management reports submitted to private 
clients and lead agencies.  
 

Senior Archaeologist and GIS Specialist                                                                                          2009–2017  
Scientific Resource Surveys, Inc.                                                                                         Orange, California 

Served as Project Archaeologist or Principal Investigator on multiple projects, including archaeological 
monitoring, cultural resource surveys, test excavations, and historic building assessments.  Directed 
projects from start to finish, including budget and personnel hours proposals, field and laboratory 
direction, report writing, technical editing, Native American consultation, and final report submittal. 
Oversaw all GIS projects including data collection, spatial analysis, and map creation. 
 

Preservation Researcher                                                                                                                              2009 
City of Riverside Modernism Survey                                                                                 Riverside, California 

Completed DPR Primary, District, and Building, Structure and Object Forms for five sites for a grant-
funded project to survey designated modern architectural resources within the City of Riverside.  

Item E - 429 of 2173



Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.  2 

 

Information Officer                                                                                                                    2005, 2008–2009  
Eastern Information Center (EIC), University of California, Riverside                             Riverside, California 

Processed and catalogued restricted and unrestricted archaeological and historical site record forms.  
Conducted research projects and records searches for government agencies and private cultural 
resource firms.  

Reports/Papers 

2019 Cultural Resource Monitoring Report for the Pipeline Rehabilitation AP-1 Project, City of San 
Diego, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   

 
2019 Cultural Resources Study for the Pioneer Redlands Project, San Bernardino County, California.  

Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 Cultural Resource Report for the U.S. Allied Carriers Project, City of Riverside, Riverside County, 

California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 Phase I Cultural Resources Survey for the Go Fresh Gas Station Project, City of Moreno Valley, 

Riverside County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Negative Cultural Resources Survey Report for the Barnaba Soccer Fields and Event Space 

Project, San Diego County, California. 
 
2019 Phase I Cultural Resource Survey for the 2608 South Escondido Boulevard Project, City of 

Escondido.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Negative Cultural Resources Survey Report for the Quail Ridge Project, San Diego County, 

California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resource Study for the Eastvale Self Storage Project, Eastvale, California.  Brian 

F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Class III Archaeological Study for the Tuscany Valley (TM 33725) Project National Historic 

Preservation Act Section 106 Compliance, Lake Elsinore, Riverside County, California.  
Contributing author.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   

 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment for the Dudley Pomona Project, Pomona, California.  

Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I and II Cultural Resources Assessment for the Jack Rabbit Trail Logistics Center Project, 

City of Beaumont, Riverside County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment for the 10575 Foothill Boulevard Project, Rancho 

Cucamonga, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resources Survey for the IDI Rider 2 & 4 High Cube Warehouses and PVSD 

Channel Improvement Project, Perris, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 Cultural Resources Study for the County Road and East End Avenue Project, City of Chino, San 

Bernardino County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   

Item E - 430 of 2173



Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.  3 

 

 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resources Survey for the IPT Perris DC III Western/Nandina Project, Perris, 

California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 Phase II Cultural Resource Study for the McElwain Project, City of Murrieta, California.  

Contributing author.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Section 106 (NHPA) Historic Resources Study for the McElwain Project, City of Murrieta, 

Riverside County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resources Survey Report for the Commercial/Retail NWC Mountain and Lake 

Streets Project, City of Lake Elsinore, Riverside County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, 
Inc.   

 
2019 A Section 106 (NHPA) Historic Resources Study for the Twin Channel Project, City of San 

Bernardino, San Bernardino County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 Cultural Resources Study for the 10407 Elm Avenue Project, City of Fontana, San Bernardino 

County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resource Study for the Olivenhain Apartments Project, Encinitas, California.  

Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resource Study for the Sanctuary Project, Encinitas, California.  Brian F. Smith 

and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Cultural Resources Survey Report for the Borrego Springs 141 Project, San Diego County, 

California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resources Survey for the Natwar Project, Perris, California.  Brian F. Smith and 

Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resources Survey for the Morningstar Marguerite Project, Mission Viejo, 

California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment for the Anza Baptist Church Project, Riverside County.  

Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment for the Inland Propane Project, Riverside County, 

California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2019 A Phase I Cultural Resources Survey for the First Industrial Wilson Avenue Project, Perris, California.  

Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2018 A Class III Historic Resource Study for Phase 2 of the Atwell Project for Section 106 Compliance, 

Banning, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2018 Cultural Resource Monitoring Report for the Sewer Group 818 Project, City of San Diego.  Brian F. 

Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2018 Phase I Cultural Resource Survey for the Stone Residence Project, 1525 Buckingham Drive, La 

Jolla, California  92037.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 

Item E - 431 of 2173



Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.  4 

 

2018 A Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment for the Hanna Banning Project, Banning, California.  
Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   

2018 Cultural Resources Negative Findings for the SNC Mixed Use Project, San Diego County, 
California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   

 
2018 Cultural Resources Study for the Perrin Oak Ranch Winery Project, San Diego County, California.  

Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2018 Phase I Cultural Resource Survey for the Stemley 42nd Street Project, San Diego, California.  Brian 

F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2018 Cultural Resource Monitoring Report for the 320 West Cedar Street Project, San Diego, California.  

Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2018 Cultural Resource Monitoring Report for the 8352 La Jolla Shores Drive Project, San Diego, 

California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2018 Phase I Cultural Resources Survey of APNs 316-210-032 and -033, City of Moreno Valley, County 

of Riverside.  Contributing author.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2018 A Cultural Resources Assessment for TR 37177, City of Riverside, Riverside County, California.  

Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2018 A Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment for the Seaton Commerce Center Project, Riverside 

County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2017 A Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment for the Marbella Villa Project, City of Desert Hot Springs, 

Riverside County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2017 Phase I Cultural Resources Survey for TTM 37109, City of Jurupa Valley, County of Riverside.  Brian 

F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2017 A Phase I Cultural Resources Survey for the Jefferson & Ivy Project, City of Murrieta, California.  

Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2017 A Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment for the Nuevo Dollar General Store Project, Riverside 

County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2017 A Phase I Cultural Resource Study for the Westmont Project, Encinitas, California.  Brian F. Smith 

and Associates, Inc.   
 
2017 A Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment for the Winchester Dollar General Store Project, 

Riverside County, California.  Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.   
 
2017 Phase I Cultural Resource Assessment for TTM 31810 (42.42 acres) Predico Properties Olive Grove 

Project.  Scientific Resource Surveys, Inc.   
 
2016 John Wayne Airport Jet Fuel Pipeline and Tank Farm Archaeological Monitoring Plan.  Scientific 

Resource Surveys, Inc.   On file at the County of Orange, California.   
 
2016 Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment: All Star Super Storage City of Menifee Project, 2015-156.  

Scientific Resource Surveys, Inc.  On file at the Eastern Information Center, University of California, 
Riverside. 

Item E - 432 of 2173



Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.  5 

 

 
2016 Historic Resource Assessment for 220 South Batavia Street, Orange, CA  92868 Assessor’s Parcel 

Number 041-064-4.  Scientific Resource Surveys, Inc.  Submitted to the City of Orange as part of 
Mills Act application.   

 
2015 Historic Resource Report: 807-813 Harvard Boulevard, Los Angeles.  Scientific Resource Surveys, 

Inc.  On file at the South Central Coastal Information Center, California State University, Fullerton. 
 
2015 Exploring a Traditional Rock Cairn: Test Excavation at CA-SDI-13/RBLI-26: The Rincon Indian 

Reservation, San Diego County, California.  Scientific Resource Surveys, Inc.   
 
2015 Class III Scientific Resource Surveys, Inc. Survey for The Lynx Cat Granite Quarry and Water Valley 

Road Widening Project County of San Bernardino, California, Near the Community of Hinkley.  
Scientific Resource Surveys, Inc.  On file at the South Central Coastal Information Center, 
California State University, Fullerton. 

 
2014 Archaeological Phase I: Cultural Resource Survey of the South West Quadrant of Fairview Park, 

Costa Mesa.  Scientific Resource Surveys, Inc.  On file at the South Central Coastal Information 
Center, California State University, Fullerton. 

 
2014 Archaeological Monitoring Results: The New Los Angeles Federal Courthouse.  Scientific 

Resource Surveys, Inc.  On file at the South Central Coastal Information Center, California State 
University, Fullerton. 

 
2012 Bolsa Chica Archaeological Project Volume 7, Technological Analysis of Stone Tools, Lithic 

Technology at Bolsa Chica: Reduction Maintenance and Experimentation.  Scientific Resource 
Surveys, Inc.   

 
2010 Phase II Cultural Resources Report Site CA-RIV-2160 PM No. 35164.  Scientific Resource Surveys, 

Inc.   On file at the Eastern Information Center, University of California, Riverside.  
 
2009 Riverside Modernism Context Survey, contributing author.  Available online at the City of 

Riverside.   

Presentations 

2017 “Repair and Replace: Lithic Production Behavior as Indicated by the Debitage Assemblage from 
CA-MRP-283 the Hackney Site.”  Presented at the Society for California Archaeology Annual 
Meeting, Fish Camp, California.  

 
2016 “Bones, Stones, and Shell at Bolsa Chica: A Ceremonial Relationship?”  Presented at the Society 

for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, Ontario, California. 
 
2016 “Markers of Time: Exploring Transitions in the Bolsa Chica Assemblage.”  Presented at the Society 

for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, Ontario, California. 
 
2016 “Dating Duress: Understanding Prehistoric Climate Change at Bolsa Chica.”  Presented at the 

Society for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, Ontario, California. 
 
2015  “Successive Cultural Phasing Of Prehistoric Northern Orange County, California.”  Presented at 

the Society for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, Redding, California. 
 

Item E - 433 of 2173



Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.  6 

 

2015  “Southern California Cogged Stone Replication: Experimentation and Results.”  Presented at the 
Society for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, Redding, California. 

 
2015  “Prehistoric House Keeping: Lithic Analysis of an Intermediate Horizon House Pit.”  Presented at 

the Society for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, Redding, California. 
 
2015  “Pits and Privies: The Use and Disposal of Artifacts from Historic Los Angeles.”  Presented at the 

Society for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, Redding, California. 
 
2015  “Grooving in the Past: A Demonstration of the Manufacturing of OGR beads and a look at Past 

SRS, Inc. Replicative Studies.”  Demonstration of experimental manufacturing techniques at the 
January meeting of The Pacific Coast Archaeological Society, Irvine, California. 

 
2014  “From Artifact to Replication: Examining Olivella Grooved Bead Manufacturing.”  Presented at 

the Society for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, Visalia, California. 
 
2014 “New Discoveries from an Old Collection: Comparing Recently Identified OGR Beads to Those 

Previously Analyzed from the Encino Village Site.”  Presented at the Society for California 
Archaeology Annual Meeting, Visalia, California. 

 
2012  Bolsa Chica Archaeology: Part Seven: Culture and Chronology.  Lithic demonstration of 

experimental manufacturing techniques at the April meeting of The Pacific Coast 
Archaeological Society, Irvine, California. 

 
2012  “Expedient Flaked Tools from Bolsa Chica: Exploring the Lithic Technological Organization.”  

Presented at the Society for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, San Diego, California. 
 
2012  “Utilitarian and Ceremonial Ground Stone Production at Bolsa Chica Identified Through 

Production Tools.”  Presented at the Society for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, San 
Diego, California. 

 
2012  “Connecting Production Industries at Bolsa Chica: Lithic Reduction and Bead Manufacturing.”  

Presented at the Society for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, San Diego, California. 
 
2011  Bolsa Chica Archaeology: Part Four: Mesa Production Industries.  Co-presenter at the April 

meeting of The Pacific Coast Archaeological Society, Irvine, California. 
 
2011  “Hammerstones from Bolsa Chica and Their Relationship towards Site Interpretation.”  Presented 

at the Society for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, Rohnert Park, California. 
 
2011  “Exploring Bipolar Reduction at Bolsa Chica: Debitage Analysis and Replication.”  Presented at 

the Society for California Archaeology Annual Meeting, Rohnert Park, California. 
 
 

Item E - 434 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

Archaeological Records Search Results  
 

(Deleted for Public Review; Bound Separately) 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item E - 435 of 2173



Cultural Resources Study for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C 
 

NAHC Sacred Lands File Search  
 

(Deleted for Public Review; Bound Separately) 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item E - 436 of 2173



  

 

 

 

 

GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION  
PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL BUILDING  

1600 East Francis Street 
Ontario, California 

for 
Dermody Properties 

 

 

Item E - 437 of 2173



 
 

22885 Savi Ranch Parkway    Suite E    Yorba Linda   California   92887 
voice: (714) 685-1115    fax: (714) 685-1118   www.socalgeo.com 

September 21, 2022 
 
Dermody Properties 
530 Technology Drive, Suite 100 
Irvine, California 92618 
 
Attention: Scott Strine 

Senior Vice President – Capital Development 
 
Project No.:  22G233-1 
 
Subject:  Geotechnical Investigation  
    Proposed Industrial Building 
    1600 East Francis Street 
    Ontario, California  
 
Gentlemen: 

 
In accordance with your request, we have conducted a geotechnical investigation at the subject 
site. We are pleased to present this report summarizing the conclusions and recommendations 
developed from our investigation.  
 
We sincerely appreciate the opportunity to be of service on this project. We look forward to 
providing additional consulting services during the course of the project. If we may be of further 
assistance in any manner, please contact our office. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GEOTECHNICAL, INC. 
 
 
 

 
Joseph Lozano Leon      
Staff Engineer       
 
 
 
 
Robert G. Trazo, GE 2655  
Principal Engineer 
 
Distribution: (1) Addressee   

 

Item E - 438 of 2173

http://www.socalgeo.com/


 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1 

2.0 SCOPE OF SERVICES 3 

3.0 SITE AND PROJECT DESCRIPTION 4 

3.1 Site Conditions 4 
3.2 Proposed Development 4 
3.3 Previous Study 5 

4.0 SUBSURFACE EXPLORATION 7 

4.1 Scope of Exploration/Sampling Methods 7 
4.2 Geotechnical Conditions 7 

5.0 LABORATORY TESTING 9 

6.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 11 

6.1 Seismic Design Considerations 11 
6.2 Geotechnical Design Considerations 13 
6.3 Site Grading Recommendations 15 
6.4 Construction Considerations 19 
6.5 Foundation Design and Construction 19 
6.6 Floor Slab Design and Construction 21 
6.7  Exterior Flatwork Design and Construction 22 
6.8 Retaining Wall Design and Construction 22 
6.9 Pavement Design Parameters 24 

7.0 GENERAL COMMENTS 27 

APPENDICES            
 
A Plate 1: Site Location Map 
 Plate 2: Boring Location Plan 
B Boring Logs 
C Laboratory Test Results 
D Grading Guide Specifications 
E Seismic Design Parameters 
F Excerpts from Previous Study

Item E - 439 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 1 
 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY         

Presented below is a brief summary of the conclusions and recommendations of this investigation. 
Since this summary is not all inclusive, it should be read in complete context with the entire 
report.  
 
Geotechnical Design Considerations 
• Artificial fill soils were encountered at all of the borings, extending from beneath the existing 

pavements to depths of 3 to 6½± feet. These soils are considered to be undocumented fill 
materials.  

• The fill soils and near-surface alluvial soils possess varying strengths and densities. In their 
present condition, these materials are not considered suitable for support of the foundation 
loads of the new structure. 

• Demolition of the existing pavements and structures is expected to cause extensive 
disturbance to the near-surface soils. 

• Liquefaction is not a design concern for this project.  
 

Site Preparation Recommendations 
• Demolition of existing structures and asphaltic concrete pavements will be necessary prior to 

construction of the proposed development.  Debris resultant from demolition should be 
disposed of off-site. Alternatively, asphalt debris may be pulverized to a maximum 2-inch 
particle size, well mixed with the sandy on-site soils, and incorporated into new structural fills. 
It may also be processed into crushed miscellaneous base (CMB), if desired. 

• Initial site stripping should include removal of any surficial vegetation from any demolished 
landscape planters. Stripping should include any weeds, grasses, and any organic top soils.  
Removal of any trees should include the associated root masses. 

• We recommend that remedial grading be performed within the proposed building area in 
order to remove all of the artificial fill soils, any soils disturbed during demolition, and a portion 
of the near-surface alluvium. The soils present within the proposed building area should be 
overexcavated to a depth of 5 feet below existing grade and to a depth of at least 4 feet 
below proposed building pad subgrade elevation. The proposed foundation influence zones 
should also be overexcavated to a depth of at least 3 feet below proposed foundation bearing 
grade.  

• After overexcavation has been completed, the resulting subgrade soils should be evaluated 
by the geotechnical engineer to identify any additional soils that should be overexcavated. 
The resulting soils should be scarified and moisture conditioned to 0 to 4 percent above the 
optimum moisture content, to a depth of at least 12 inches. The overexcavation subgrade 
soils should then be recompacted under the observation of the geotechnical engineer. The 
previously excavated soils may then be replaced as compacted structural fill. 

• The new pavement and flatwork subgrade soils are recommended to be scarified to a depth 
of 12± inches, thoroughly moisture conditioned and recompacted to at least 90 percent of 
the ASTM D-1557 maximum dry density. 
 

Foundation Design Recommendations 
• Conventional shallow foundations, supported in newly placed compacted fill.  
• Maximum, net allowable soil bearing pressure: 2,500 lbs/ft2.  

Item E - 440 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 2 
 

• Maximum, net allowable soil bearing pressure: 1,500 lbs/ft2 for new footings if the full lateral 
extent of remedial grading cannot be achieved. 

• Reinforcement consisting of at least two (2) No. 5 rebars (1 top and 1 bottom) in strip footings. 
Additional reinforcement may be necessary for structural considerations. 
 

Building Floor Slab Design Recommendations 
• Conventional Slab-on-Grade: minimum 6-inch thickness. 
• Modulus of Subgrade Reaction: k = 150 psi/in. 
• Reinforcement is not expected to be necessary for geotechnical considerations.  
• The actual thickness and reinforcement of the floor slab should be determined by the 

structural engineer. 
 
Pavement Design Recommendations 

ASPHALT PAVEMENTS (R=50) 

 
Materials 

Thickness (inches) 
Auto Parking and 

Auto Drive Lanes 
(TI = 4.0 to 5.0) 

Truck Traffic 

TI = 6.0 TI = 7.0 TI = 8.0 TI = 9.0 

Asphalt Concrete 3 3½ 4 5  5½ 

Aggregate Base 3 4 5 5 7 

Compacted Subgrade  12 12 12 12 12 

 

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PAVEMENTS (R=50) 

Materials 

Thickness (inches) 
Autos and Light 

Truck Traffic  

(TI = 6.0) 

Truck Traffic 

TI = 7.0 TI = 8.0 TI = 9.0 

PCC 5 5½ 6½ 8 

Compacted Subgrade 
(95% minimum compaction) 

12 12 12 12 

Item E - 441 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 3 
 

2.0 SCOPE OF SERVICES         

The scope of services performed for this project was in accordance with our Proposal No. 22P344, 
dated August 17, 2022. The scope of services included the review of the previous geotechnical 
investigation performed for the project site, subsurface exploration, field and laboratory testing, 
and geotechnical engineering analysis to provide criteria for preparing the design of the building 
foundations, building floor slab, and parking lot pavements along with site preparation 
recommendations and construction considerations for the proposed development. The evaluation 
of the environmental aspects of this site was beyond the scope of services for this geotechnical 
investigation. 

 

Item E - 442 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 4 
 

3.0 SITE AND PROJECT DESCRIPTION      

3.1 Site Conditions 

The site is located on the south side of East Francis Street, 540± feet west of the intersection 
with South Baker Avenue, in Ontario, California. The site is bounded to the north by East Francis 
Street and to the west, south, and east by existing commercial/industrial developments. The 
general location of the site is illustrated on the Site Location Map, enclosed as Plate 1 in Appendix 
A of this report. 
 
The site is a rectangularly-shaped area, 7.0± acres in size. The site is presently operated as a 
yard for Western States Building Materials. Most of the site is used for storage of building materials 
such as tile, concrete blocks, pipe, sand and gravel, and reinforcing steel. Several at-grade sand 
and gravel storage bins are present in the central region of the property. A small batch plant 
incorporating bins and silos is present in the southern region of the site.  Finished products are 
palletized and stored throughout the site.  Several structures are present at the site, including 
small office buildings, canopies over the storage areas, and buildings housing manufacturing 
operations. Most of the areas surrounding the buildings are paved with asphaltic concrete 
pavements that are in fair to good condition.  Some isolated areas of distressed pavements were 
noted.  
 
A fuel pump is present in the northern region of the site, adjacent to Francis Street.  It is unknown 
whether the UST associated with this pump is still present on the property. 
 
Detailed topographic information was not available at the time of this report. Based on elevations 
obtained from Google Earth, and visual observations made at the time of the subsurface 
investigation, the overall site topography slopes downward to the south at a gradient of less than 
2 percent. 

3.2 Proposed Development 

A conceptual site plan, identified as Scheme 2 and prepared by HPA, Inc., for the proposed 
development was provided to our office by the client. Based on this plan, the subject site will be 
developed with a 167,850± ft² industrial building, located in the eastern region of the site. Dock-
high doors will be constructed along the west building wall. The proposed building is expected to 
be surrounded by asphaltic concrete (AC) pavements in the parking and drive areas, Portland 
cement concrete (PCC) pavements in the loading dock area, and concrete flatwork and 
landscaped planters throughout the site. 
 
Detailed structural information has not been provided. It is assumed that the new building will be 
a single-story structure of tilt-up concrete construction, supported on a conventional shallow 
foundation system with a concrete slab-on-grade floor. Based on the assumed construction, 
maximum column and wall loads are expected to be on the order of 100 kips and 4 to 7 kips per 
linear foot, respectively. 

Item E - 443 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 5 
 

 
No significant amounts of below-grade construction, such as basements or crawl spaces, are 
expected to be included in the proposed development. Based on the assumed topography, cuts 
and fills of up to 3 to 4± feet are expected to be necessary to achieve the proposed site grades. 
It should be noted that this estimate does not include any remedial grading, recommendations 
for which are presented in a subsequent section of this report.  

3.3 Previous Study  

Southern California Geotechnical, Inc. (SCG) previously performed a geotechnical investigation at 
the subject site for the previously proposed development. The previously proposed development 
consisted of a 155,992± ft2 industrial building located in the eastern region of the project site. 
The results of this investigation are presented in the report referenced as follows:  
  

   Geotechnical Investigation, Proposed Industrial Building, 1600 East Francis Street, 
Ontario, California, prepared by SCG for Bridge Industrial, SCG Project No. 22G180-1, 
dated May 25, 2022. 
 

As part of this investigation, five (5) borings (identified as Boring Nos. B-1 through B-5) were 
advanced to depths of 10 to 25± feet below existing site grades. The approximate locations of 
the previous borings are indicated on the Boring Location Plan, included as Plate 2 in Appendix A 
of this report. 
 
AC pavements were encountered at the ground surface at all of the previous boring locations. At 
these locations, the pavement sections consist of 6 to 12± inches of AC with no discernible layer 
of underlying aggregate base (AB). Artificial fill soils were encountered beneath the AC pavements 
at all of the boring locations, extending to depths of 3 to 6½± feet below the existing site grades. 
The artificial fill soils generally consist of very loose to medium dense silty fine sands and fine to 
coarse sands with occasional fine gravel content. Native alluvium was encountered beneath the 
artificial fill soils at all of the boring locations, extending to at least the maximum depth explored 
of 25± feet. The alluvial soils generally consist of loose to medium dense silty sands, fine sands, 
fine to medium sands and occasional dense fine to coarse sands with some fine to coarse gravel 
content. 
 
Free water was not encountered during the drilling of any of the exploratory borings. Based on 
the moisture content of the recovered soil samples, the static groundwater table was determined 
to exist at a depth greater than 25± feet below existing site grades. 
 
Laboratory testing performed by SCG for this study included density/moisture content, 
consolidation/collapse testing, maximum density/optimum moisture, soluble content, and 
corrosivity testing. 
 
Based upon the identified subsurface conditions, remedial grading was recommended to be 
performed within the previously proposed building pad area in order to remove the existing 
undocumented fill soils. The previously proposed building area was recommended to be 
overexcavated to a depth of at least 5 feet below existing grade and to a depth of at least 4 feet 
below proposed pad grade. It was also recommended to extend the overexcavation to a depth 
of at least 3 feet below foundation bearing grade within the foundation influence zones. The 

Item E - 444 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 6 
 

foundations were recommended to be designed for a maximum allowable soil bearing pressure 
of 2,500 lbs/ft2. Excerpts from the previous study, including the boring logs, along with the results 
of laboratory testing, are included in Appendix F of this report. 

Item E - 445 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 7 
 

4.0 SUBSURFACE EXPLORATION        

4.1 Scope of Exploration/Sampling Methods 

The subsurface exploration conducted for this project consisted of two (2) borings (identified as 
Boring Nos. B-2A, and B-3A), advanced to depths of 15 to 25± feet below the existing site grades. 
Both of the borings were logged during drilling by a member of our staff. As indicated in Section 
3.3 of this report, a total of seven (7) borings were drilled for the project site. 
 
The borings were advanced with hollow-stem augers, by a conventional truck-mounted drilling 
rig. Representative bulk and relatively undisturbed soil samples were taken during drilling. 
Relatively undisturbed soil samples were taken with a split barrel “California Sampler” containing 
a series of one inch long, 2.416± inch diameter brass rings. This sampling method is described 
in ASTM Test Method D-3550. In-situ samples were also taken using a 1.4± inch inside diameter 
split spoon sampler, in general accordance with ASTM D-1586. Both of these samplers are driven 
into the ground with successive blows of a 140-pound weight falling 30 inches. The blow counts 
obtained during driving are recorded for further analysis. Bulk samples were collected in plastic 
bags to retain their original moisture content. The relatively undisturbed ring samples were placed 
in molded plastic sleeves that were then sealed and transported to our laboratory. 
 
The approximate locations of the borings from this investigation are indicated on the Boring 
Location Plan, included as Plate 2 in Appendix A of this report. The Boring Logs, which illustrate 
the conditions encountered at the boring locations, as well as the results of some of the laboratory 
testing, are included in Appendix B.   

4.2 Geotechnical Conditions 

Pavements 

AC pavements were encountered at the ground surface at both of the boring locations. At these 
boring locations, the pavement sections consist of 12± inches of AC with no discernible layer of 
underlying AB. 

Artificial Fill 

Artificial fill soils were encountered beneath the AC pavements at both of the boring locations, 
extending to depths of 4½ to 6½± feet below the existing site grades. The artificial fill soils 
generally consist of loose to medium dense silty sands with varying fine gravel content. The fill 
soils possess variable strengths and a disturbed appearance, resulting in their classification as 
artificial fill. 

Item E - 446 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 8 
 

Alluvium 

Native alluvium was encountered beneath the artificial fill soils at both of the boring locations, 
extending to at least the maximum depth explored of 25± below the existing site grades. The 
alluvial soils generally consist of loose to medium dense sands and silty sands with varying fine 
gravel content. 

Groundwater 

Free water was not encountered during the drilling of any of the borings. Based on the lack of 
any water within the borings, and the moisture contents of the recovered soil samples, the static 
groundwater is considered to have existed at a depth in excess of 25± feet at the time of the 
subsurface exploration.  
 
As part of our research, we reviewed available groundwater data in order to determine the historic 
high groundwater level for the site. The primary reference used to determine the groundwater 
depths in this area is the California Department of Water Resources website, 
https://wdl.water.ca.gov/waterdatalibrary/. The nearest monitoring well with available data in 
this database is located approximately 0.8 miles northeast of the site. Water level readings within 
this monitoring well indicate a high groundwater level of 290± feet below the ground surface in 
January 1989.   
 
The GeoTracker website, maintained by the State Water Resources Control Board, contains data 
for monitoring wells that have been installed, primarily for environmental investigations.  This 
website identifies a monitoring well located approximately 760 feet east-northeast of the subject 
site, with a high water level of 236± feet below the ground surface. 

Item E - 447 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 9 
 

5.0 LABORATORY TESTING         

The soil samples recovered from the subsurface exploration were returned to our laboratory for 
further testing to determine selected physical and engineering properties of the soils. The tests 
are briefly discussed below. It should be noted that the test results are specific to the actual 
samples tested, and variations could be expected at other locations and depths. Test results from 
the previous study are denoted using the SCG project number 22G180-1. The test results from 
the previous study are included in Appendix F. 

Classification 

All recovered soil samples were classified using the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS), in 
accordance with ASTM D-2488. The field identifications were then supplemented with additional 
visual classifications and/or by laboratory testing. The USCS classifications are shown on the 
Boring Logs and are periodically referenced throughout this report. 

Density and Moisture Content 

The density has been determined for selected relatively undisturbed ring samples. These densities 
were determined in general accordance with the method presented in ASTM D-2937. The results 
are recorded as dry unit weight in pounds per cubic foot. The moisture contents are determined 
in accordance with ASTM D-2216, and are expressed as a percentage of the dry weight. These 
test results are presented on the Boring Logs. The results of additional testing performed during 
the previous studies are included in Appendix F of this report. 

Consolidation  

Selected soil samples were tested to determine their consolidation potential, in accordance with 
ASTM D-2435. The testing apparatus is designed to accept either natural or remolded samples in 
a one-inch high ring, approximately 2.416 inches in diameter. Each sample is then loaded 
incrementally in a geometric progression and the resulting deflection is recorded at selected time 
intervals. Porous stones are in contact with the top and bottom of the sample to permit the 
addition or release of pore water. The samples are typically inundated with water at an 
intermediate load to determine their potential for collapse or heave. The results of the 
consolidation testing are plotted on Plates C-1 through C-4 in Appendix C of this report. Additional 
consolidation test results performed during the previous studies are included in Appendix F. 

Maximum Dry Density and Optimum Moisture Content  

One representative bulk sample has been tested for its maximum dry density and optimum 
moisture content. The results have been obtained using the Modified Proctor procedure, per ASTM 
D-1557 and are presented on Plate C-5 in Appendix C of this report. This test is generally used 
to compare the in-situ densities of undisturbed field samples, and for later compaction testing. 
Additional testing of other soil types or soil mixes may be necessary at a later date. 
 

Item E - 448 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 10 
 

One representative bulk sample of the on-site soils, from the previous study, was tested for its 
maximum dry density and optimum moisture content. The results have been obtained using the 
Modified Proctor procedure, per ASTM D-1557 and are included in Appendix F of this report. 

Soluble Sulfates 

Representative samples of the near-surface soils were submitted to a subcontracted analytical 
laboratory for determination of soluble sulfate content. Soluble sulfates are naturally present in 
soils, and if the concentration is high enough, can result in degradation of concrete which comes 
into contact with these soils. The results of the soluble sulfate testing are presented below, and 
are discussed further in a subsequent section of this report.  
 

Sample Identification Soluble Sulfates (%) ACI Classification 

B-3 @ 0 to 5 feet (22G180-1) 0.010 Not Applicable (S0) 

B-3A @ 0 to 5 feet 0.033 Not Applicable (S0) 

Corrosivity Testing 

Representative bulk samples of the near-surface soils were submitted to a subcontracted 
corrosion engineering laboratory for determination of electrical resistivity, pH, and chloride 
concentrations. The resistivity of the soils is a measure of their potential to attack buried metal 
improvements such as utility lines. The results of some of these tests are presented below. 
 

Sample  
Identification 

Saturated 
Resistivity 
(ohm-cm) 

pH Chlorides 
(mg/kg) 

Nitrates 
(mg/kg) 

Sulfides 
(mg/kg) 

Redox 
Potential 

(mV) 
B-3 @ 0 to 5 feet 

(22G180-1) 
3,618 9.1 28.8 136.8 0.30 143 

B-3A @ 0 to 5 

feet  
2,680 8.3 12.2 174.9 0.27 170 

 
 

Item E - 449 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 11 
 

6.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS     

Based on the results of our review, field exploration, laboratory testing and geotechnical analysis, 
the proposed development is considered feasible from a geotechnical standpoint. The 
recommendations contained in this report should be taken into the design, construction, and 
grading considerations. 
 
The recommendations are contingent upon all grading and foundation construction activities 
being monitored by the geotechnical engineer of record. The recommendations are provided with 
the assumption that an adequate program of client consultation, construction monitoring, and 
testing will be performed during the final design and construction phases to verify compliance 
with these recommendations. Maintaining SCG as the geotechnical consultant from the beginning 
to the end of the project will provide continuity of services. The geotechnical engineering firm 
providing testing and observation services shall assume the responsibility of Geotechnical 
Engineer of Record.  
 
The Grading Guide Specifications, included as Appendix D, should be considered part of this 
report, and should be incorporated into the project specifications. The contractor and/or owner 
of the development should bring to the attention of the geotechnical engineer any conditions that 
differ from those stated in this report, or which may be detrimental for the development. 

6.1 Seismic Design Considerations 

The subject site is located in an area which is subject to strong ground motions due to 
earthquakes. The performance of a site-specific seismic hazards analysis was beyond the scope 
of this investigation. However, numerous faults capable of producing significant ground motions 
are located near the subject site. Due to economic considerations, it is not generally considered 
reasonable to design a structure that is not susceptible to earthquake damage. Therefore, 
significant damage to structures may be unavoidable during large earthquakes. The proposed 
structure should, however, be designed to resist structural collapse and thereby provide 
reasonable protection from serious injury, catastrophic property damage and loss of life.  

Faulting and Seismicity 

Research of available maps indicates that the subject site is not located within an Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zone. Furthermore, SCG did not identify any evidence of faulting during the 
previous and current geotechnical investigations. Therefore, the possibility of significant fault 
rupture on the site is considered to be low.  
 
The potential for other geologic hazards such as seismically induced settlement, lateral spreading, 
tsunamis, inundation, seiches, flooding, and subsidence affecting the site is considered low.  

Seismic Design Parameters 

The 2019 California Building Code (CBC) provides procedures for earthquake resistant structural 
design that include considerations for on-site soil conditions, occupancy, and the configuration of 

Item E - 450 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 12 
 

the structure including the structural system and height. The seismic design parameters 
presented below are based on the soil profile and the proximity of known faults with respect to 
the subject site.  Based on standards in place at the time of this report, the proposed development 
is expected to be designed in accordance with the requirements of the 2019 edition of the 
California Building Code (CBC), which was adopted on January 1, 2020. 
 
The 2019 CBC Seismic Design Parameters have been generated using the SEAOC/OSHPD Seismic 
Design Maps Tool, a web-based software application available at the website 
www.seismicmaps.org. This software application calculates seismic design parameters in 
accordance with several building code reference documents, including ASCE 7-16, upon which 
the 2019 CBC is based. The application utilizes a database of risk-targeted maximum considered 
earthquake (MCER) site accelerations at 0.01-degree intervals for each of the code documents. 
The tables below were created using data obtained from the application. The output generated 
from this program is included as Plate E-1 in Appendix E of this report. 
 
The 2019 CBC requires that a site-specific ground motion study be performed in accordance with 
Section 11.4.8 of ASCE 7-16 for Site Class D sites with a mapped S1 value greater than 0.2. 
However, Section 11.4.8 of ASCE 7-16 also indicates an exception to the requirement for a site-
specific ground motion hazard analysis for certain structures on Site Class D sites. The 
commentary for Section 11 of ASCE 7-16 (Page 534 of Section C11 of ASCE 7-16) indicates that 
“In general, this exception effectively limits the requirements for site-specific hazard analysis to 
very tall and or flexible structures at Site Class D sites.” Based on our understanding of the 
proposed development, the seismic design parameters presented below were 
calculated assuming that the exception in Section 11.4.8 applies to the proposed 
structure at this site. However, the structural engineer should verify that this 
exception is applicable to the proposed structure. Based on the exception, the spectral 
response accelerations presented below were calculated using the site coefficients (Fa and Fv) 
from Tables 1613.2.3(1) and 1613.2.3(2) presented in Section 16.4.4 of the 2019 CBC. 
 

2019 CBC SEISMIC DESIGN PARAMETERS 
Parameter Value 

Mapped MCER Acceleration at 0.2 sec Period SS 1.585 

Mapped MCER Acceleration at 1.0 sec Period S1 0.578 

Site Class --- D 

Site Modified Spectral Acceleration at 0.2 sec Period SMS 1.585 

Site Modified Spectral Acceleration at 1.0 sec Period SM1 0.995 

Design Spectral Acceleration at 0.2 sec Period SDS 1.057 

Design Spectral Acceleration at 1.0 sec Period SD1 0.664 

 
It should be noted that the site coefficient Fv and the parameters SM1 and SD1 were not included 
in the SEAOC/OSHPD Seismic Design Maps Tool output for the 2019 CBC. We calculated these 
parameters-based on Table 1613.2.3(2) in Section 16.4.4 of the 2019 CBC using the value of S1 
obtained from the Seismic Design Maps Tool, assuming that a site-specific ground motion hazards 
analysis is not required for the proposed building at this site. 

Item E - 451 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 13 
 

Liquefaction 

Liquefaction is the loss of strength in generally cohesionless, saturated soils when the pore-water 
pressure induced in the soil by a seismic event becomes equal to or exceeds the overburden 
pressure. The primary factors which influence the potential for liquefaction include groundwater 
table elevation, soil type and grain size characteristics, relative density of the soil, initial confining 
pressure, and intensity and duration of ground shaking. The depth within which the occurrence 
of liquefaction may impact surface improvements is generally identified as the upper 50 feet 
below the existing ground surface. Liquefaction potential is greater in saturated, loose, poorly 
graded fine sands with a mean (d50) grain size in the range of 0.075 to 0.2 mm (Seed and Idriss, 
1971). Clayey (cohesive) soils or soils which possess clay particles (d<0.005mm) in excess of 20 
percent (Seed and Idriss, 1982) are generally not considered to be susceptible to liquefaction, 
nor are those soils which are above the historic static groundwater table. 
 
The California Geological Survey (CGS) has not yet conducted detailed seismic hazards mapping 
in the area of the subject site. The general liquefaction susceptibility of the site was determined 
by research of the San Bernardino County Land Use Plan, General Plan, Geologic Hazard Overlays. 
The site is located in the Guasti Quadrangle (Map FH28).  There are no mapped liquefaction 
hazard zones within this quadrangle. Based on the mapping performed by the county of San 
Bernardino and the subsurface conditions encountered at the boring locations, liquefaction is not 
considered to be a design concern for this project.  

6.2 Geotechnical Design Considerations 

General 

The near-surface soils encountered at the boring locations consist of artificial fill soils and native 
alluvium. The artificial fill soils were encountered at all of the boring locations, extending to depths 
of 3 to 6½± feet below grade at the boring locations. The fill soils possess variable strengths and 
densities. The upper portion of the fill soils also possesses unfavorable collapse characteristics.  
Based on these considerations, and a lack of documentation of the placement and compaction of 
these soils, the existing fill materials are considered to consist of undocumented fill, unsuitable 
for the support of the proposed structure. The near-surface alluvium also possesses variable 
strengths and densities. Soils tested from greater depths generally possess higher strengths and 
favorable collapse characteristics. Based on these considerations, remedial grading is considered 
necessary within the proposed building area in order to remove all of the undocumented fill soils 
in their entirety as well as the upper portion of the near-surface native alluvial soils, and replace 
these materials as compacted fill soils. 

Settlement 

The recommended remedial grading will remove the existing undocumented fill soils and a portion 
of the near-surface native alluvial soils and replace these materials as compacted structural fill. 
The native soils that will remain in place below the recommended depth of overexcavation will 
not be subject to significant stress increases from the foundations of the new structure. Therefore, 
following completion of the recommended grading, post-construction settlements are expected 
to be within tolerable limits. 

Item E - 452 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 14 
 

Expansion 

The near-surface soils encountered at the boring locations consist of silty sands, fine sands, and 
well graded sands. The results of laboratory testing indicates that these materials are non-
expansive. Therefore, no design considerations related to expansive soils are considered 
warranted for this site.  

Soluble Sulfates 

The results of the soluble sulfate testing indicate that the selected samples of the on-site soils 
possess a level of soluble sulfates that is considered to be “not applicable” (S0) with respect to 
the American Concrete Institute (ACI) Publication 318-14 Building Code Requirements for 
Structural Concrete and Commentary, Section 4.3. Therefore, specialized concrete mix designs 
are not considered to be necessary, with regard to sulfate protection purposes. It is, however, 
recommended that additional soluble sulfate testing be conducted at the completion of rough 
grading to verify the soluble sulfate concentrations of the soils which are present at pad grade 
within the building area. 

Corrosion Potential 

The results of laboratory testing from the previous and current investigations, indicate that the 
tested samples of the near-surface on-site soils possess saturated resistivity values of 2,680 and 
3,618 ohm-cm, and pH values of 8.3 and 9.1. The soils possess redox potentials of 143 and 170 
mV and only trace sulfide concentrations of less than 1 part per million. These test results have 
been evaluated in accordance with guidelines published by the Ductile Iron Pipe Research 
Association (DIPRA). The DIPRA guidelines consist of a point system by which characteristics of 
the soils are used to quantify the corrosivity characteristics of the site. Resistivity, pH, sulfide 
concentration, redox potential, and moisture content are the five factors that enter into the 
evaluation procedure. Based on these factors, the on-site soils are considered to be mildly 
corrosive to ferrous pipes. Therefore, corrosion protection is expected to be required for cast iron 
or ductile iron pipes. 
 
Based on American Concrete Institute (ACI) Publication 318 Building Code Requirements for 
Structural Concrete and Commentary, reinforced concrete that is exposed to external sources of 
chlorides requires corrosion protection for the steel reinforcement contained within the concrete. 
ACI 318 defines concrete exposed to moisture and an external source of chlorides as “severe” or 
exposure category C2. ACI 318 does not clearly define a specific chloride concentration at which 
contact with the adjacent soil will constitute a “C2” or severe exposure. However, the Caltrans 
Memo to Designers 10-5, Protection of Reinforcement Against Corrosion Due to Chlorides, Acids 
and Sulfates, dated June 2010, indicates that soils possessing chloride concentrations greater 
than 500 mg/kg are considered to be corrosive to reinforced concrete. The results of the 
laboratory testing indicate chloride concentrations ranging from 12.2 to 28.8 mg/kg. Although the 
soils contain some chlorides, we do not expect that the chloride concentrations of the tested soils 
are high enough to constitute a “severe” or C2 chloride exposure. Therefore, a chloride exposure 
category of C1 is considered appropriate for this site.  
 
Nitrates present in soil can be corrosive to copper tubing at concentrations greater than 50 mg/kg. 
The tested samples possess nitrate concentrations ranging from 136.8 to 174.9 mg/kg. Based 
on this test result, the on-site soils are considered to be corrosive to copper pipe. 

Item E - 453 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 15 
 

Since SCG does not practice in the area of corrosion engineering, we recommend that 
the client contact a corrosion engineer to provide a more thorough evaluation of these 
test results. 

Shrinkage/Subsidence 

Based on the results of the laboratory testing, removal and recompaction near-surface soils, 
extending to depths of 3 to 6± feet, is estimated to result in an average shrinkage of 10 to 18 
percent. This estimate assumes 92 percent compaction within the new structural fill soils.  It 
should be noted that this shrinkage estimate is based on the results of dry density testing 
performed on small-diameter samples of the existing soils taken at the boring locations. If a more 
accurate and precise shrinkage estimate is desired, SCG can perform a shrinkage study involving 
several excavated test-pits where in-place densities are determined using in-situ testing methods 
instead of laboratory density testing on small-diameter samples. Please contact SCG for details 
and a cost estimate regarding a shrinkage study, if desired. 
 
Minor ground subsidence is expected to occur in the soils below the zone of removal, due to 
settlement and machinery working. The subsidence is estimated to be 0.1± feet. This estimate 
may be used for grading in areas that are underlain by native alluvial soils. 
 
These estimates are based on previous experience in the area of the subject site and the 
subsurface conditions encountered at the boring locations. The actual amount of subsidence is 
expected to be variable and will be dependent on the type of machinery used, repetitions of use, 
and dynamic effects, all of which are difficult to assess precisely. 

Grading and Foundation Plan Review 

Grading and foundation plans were unavailable at the time of this report. It is therefore 
recommended that we be provided with copies of the preliminary grading and foundation plans, 
when they become available, for review with regard to the conclusions, recommendations, and 
assumptions contained within this report. 

6.3 Site Grading Recommendations 

The grading recommendations presented below are based on the subsurface conditions 
encountered at the boring locations, and our understanding of the proposed development. We 
recommend that all grading activities be completed in accordance with the Grading Guide 
Specifications included as Appendix D of this report, unless superseded by site-specific 
recommendations presented below. 

Site Stripping and Demolition  

Demolition of the existing structures and pavements will be required in order to allow for 
construction of the new development. The demolition should include removal of all concrete floor-
slabs, foundations, pavements, and any existing subsurface improvements which will not be 
utilized with the new development. Debris resultant from demolition should be disposed of off-
site. Alternatively, the asphalt and concrete debris may be crushed to a maximum 2-inch particle 
size, well mixed with the sandy on-site soils, and incorporated into new structural fills. Any soils 

Item E - 454 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 16 
 

disturbed during demolition should be removed during demolition or site grading. On-site soils 
may be reused as compacted structural fill, provided they are cleaned of any debris to the 
satisfaction of the geotechnical engineer. 
 
The existing fuel pump as well as any associated USTs and piping should be removed in 
accordance with appropriate environmental protocols and any applicable regulations.  An 
environmental consultant should supervise the UST removal, and ensure that any petroleum-
impacted soils are removed. 
 
If any of the landscaped planters are demolished, initial site stripping should include removal of  
any grass and weed growth as well as any organic top soils. Removal of any trees should include 
their root masses in their entirety. The actual extent of site stripping should be determined in the 
field by the geotechnical engineer, based on the organic content and stability of the materials 
encountered. 

Treatment of Existing Soils: Building Pad 

Remedial grading should be performed within the proposed building pad area in order to remove 
any soils disturbed during demolition, the existing undocumented fill soils, and the upper portion 
of the near-surface native alluvium. Based on conditions encountered at the boring locations, we 
recommend that the existing soils within the proposed building area be overexcavated to a depth 
of at least 5 feet below existing grade and to a depth of at least 4 feet below proposed building 
pad subgrade elevations, whichever is greater. The depth of the overexcavation should also 
extend to a depth sufficient to remove all undocumented fill soils, which were present to depths 
of up to 6½± feet in the southeastern portion of the site. Additional overexcavation should be 
performed within the influence zones of the new foundations, to provide for a new layer of 
compacted structural fill extending to a depth of at least 3 feet below proposed bearing grades. 
  
The overexcavation areas should extend at least 5 feet beyond the building and foundation 
perimeters, and to an extent equal to the depth of fill below the new foundations. If the proposed 
structure incorporates any exterior columns (such as for a canopy or overhang) the area of 
overexcavation should also encompass these areas.  
 
Following completion of the overexcavation, the subgrade soils within the overexcavation areas 
should be evaluated by the geotechnical engineer to verify their suitability to serve as the 
structural fill subgrade, as well as to support the foundation loads of the new structure. This 
evaluation should include proofrolling and probing to identify any soft, loose or otherwise unstable 
soils that must be removed. Some localized areas of deeper excavation may be required 
if additional fill materials or loose, porous, or low density native soils are encountered 
at the base of the overexcavation. 
 
After a suitable overexcavation subgrade has been achieved, the exposed soils should be scarified 
to a depth of at least 12 inches and moisture treated to 0 to 4 percent above optimum moisture 
content. The subgrade soils should then be recompacted to at least 90 percent of the ASTM D-
1557 maximum dry density. The previously excavated soils may then be replaced as compacted 
structural fill. 

Item E - 455 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 17 
 

Treatment of Existing Soils: Retaining Walls and Site Walls 

The existing soils within the areas of proposed retaining and non-retaining site walls should be 
overexcavated to a depth of at least 3 feet below foundation bearing grade and replaced as 
compacted structural fill as discussed above for the proposed building pad. Any undocumented 
fill soils within any of these foundation areas should be removed in their entirety. The 
overexcavation areas should extend at least 3 feet beyond the foundation perimeters, and to an 
extent equal to the depth of fill below the new foundations. Any erection pads for tilt-up concrete 
walls are considered to be part of the foundation system. Therefore, these overexcavation 
recommendations are applicable to erection pads. The overexcavation subgrade soils should be 
evaluated by the geotechnical engineer prior to scarifying, moisture conditioning, and 
recompacting the upper 12 inches of exposed subgrade soils, as discussed for the building areas. 
The previously excavated soils may then be replaced as compacted structural fill. 
 
If the recommended remedial grading cannot be completed for walls located along property lines, 
such walls should be designed for a reduced allowable bearing pressure. The allowable bearing 
pressure will be determined based on the actual extent of remedial grading that can be 
accomplished.  In this case the geotechnical engineer should be contacted for supplementary 
recommendations. 

Treatment of Existing Soils: Flatwork, Parking and Drive Areas 

Based on economic considerations, overexcavation of the existing near-surface existing soils in 
the new flatwork, parking and drive areas is not considered warranted, with the exception of 
areas where lower strength or unstable soils are identified by the geotechnical engineer during 
grading. Subgrade preparation in the new flatwork, parking and drive areas should initially consist 
of removal of all soils disturbed during stripping and demolition operations. 

 
The geotechnical engineer should then evaluate the subgrade to identify any areas of additional 
unsuitable soils. Any such materials should be removed to a level of firm and unyielding soil. The 
exposed subgrade soils should then be scarified to a depth of 12± inches, moisture conditioned 
to 0 to 4 percent above the optimum moisture content, and recompacted to at least 90 percent 
of the ASTM D-1557 maximum dry density. Based on the presence of variable strength surficial 
soils throughout the site, it is expected that some isolated areas of additional overexcavation may 
be required to remove zones of lower strength, unsuitable soils. 

 
The grading recommendations presented above for the proposed flatwork, parking and drive 
areas assume that the owner and/or developer can tolerate minor amounts of settlement within 
the proposed flatwork, parking and drive areas. The grading recommendations presented above 
do not completely mitigate the extent of existing fill soils that may be present in the flatwork, 
parking and drive areas. As such, some settlement and associated pavement distress could occur. 
Typically, repair of such distressed areas involves significantly lower costs than completely 
mitigating these soils at the time of construction. If the owner cannot tolerate the risk of such 
settlements, the flatwork, parking and drive areas should be overexcavated to a depth of 2 feet 
below proposed pavement subgrade elevation, with the resulting soils replaced as compacted 
structural fill. 

Item E - 456 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 18 
 

Fill Placement 

• Fill soils should be placed in thin (6 inches), near-horizontal lifts, moisture conditioned 

to 0 to 4 percent above the optimum moisture content, and compacted. 
• On-site soils may be used for fill provided they are cleaned of any debris to the satisfaction 

of the geotechnical engineer. 
• All grading and fill placement activities should be completed in accordance with the 

requirements of the 2019 CBC and the grading code of the city of Ontario. 
• All fill soils should be compacted to at least 90 percent of the ASTM D-1557 maximum dry 

density. Fill soils should be well mixed. 
• Compaction tests should be performed periodically by the geotechnical engineer as 

random verification of compaction and moisture content. These tests are intended to aid 
the contractor. Since the tests are taken at discrete locations and depths, they may not 
be indicative of the entire fill and therefore should not relieve the contractor of his 
responsibility to meet the job specifications. 

Imported Structural Fill 

All imported structural fill should consist of very low expansive (EI < 20), well graded soils 
possessing at least 10 percent fines (that portion of the sample passing the No. 200 sieve). 
Additional specifications for structural fill are presented in the Grading Guide Specifications, 
included as Appendix D. 

Utility Trench Backfill 

In general, all utility trench backfill soils should be compacted to at least 90 percent of the ASTM 
D-1557 maximum dry density. It is recommended that materials in excess of 3 inches in size not 
be used for utility trench backfill. Compacted trench backfill should conform to the requirements 
of the local grading code, and more restrictive requirements may be indicated by the city of 
Ontario.  All utility trench backfills should be witnessed by the geotechnical engineer. The trench 
backfill soils should be compaction tested where possible; probed and visually evaluated 
elsewhere. 
 
Utility trenches which parallel a footing, and extending below a 1h:1v (horizontal to vertical) plane 
projected from the outside edge of the footing should be backfilled with structural fill soils, 
compacted to at least 90 percent of the ASTM D-1557 standard. Pea gravel backfill should not be 
used for these trenches.  
 
Any soils used to backfill voids around subsurface utility structures, such as manholes or vaults, 
should be placed as compacted structural fill. If it is not practical to place compacted fill in these 
areas, then such void spaces may be backfilled with lean concrete slurry. Uncompacted pea gravel 
or sand is not recommended for backfilling these voids since these materials have a potential to 
settle and thereby cause distress of pavements placed around these subterranean structures. 

Item E - 457 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 19 
 

6.4 Construction Considerations 

Excavation Considerations 

The near-surface soils are predominately granular in nature. These materials will likely be subject 
to caving within shallow excavations. Where caving occurs within shallow excavations, flattened 
excavation slopes may be sufficient to provide excavation stability. On a preliminary basis, the 
inclination of temporary slopes should not exceed 2h:1v. Maintaining adequate moisture content 
within the near-surface soils will improve excavation stability. All excavation activities on this site 
should be conducted in accordance with Cal-OSHA regulations. 

Moisture Sensitive Subgrade Soils 

Based on their granular content, some of the on-site soils will also be susceptible to erosion. The 
site should, therefore, be graded to prevent ponding of surface water and to prevent water from 
running into excavations. 

Groundwater 

The static groundwater table is considered to have existed at a depth in excess of 25± feet at 
the time of the subsurface exploration. Therefore, groundwater is not expected to impact the 
grading or foundation construction activities. 

6.5 Foundation Design and Construction 

Based on the preceding grading recommendations, it is assumed that the new building pad will 
be underlain by structural fill soils used to replace existing undocumented fill soils and a portion 
of the near-surface alluvial soils. These new structural fill soils are expected to extend to a depth 
of at least 3 feet below proposed foundation bearing grade, underlain by 1± foot of additional 
soil that has been densified and moisture conditioned in place. Based on this subsurface profile, 
the proposed structure may be supported on conventional shallow foundations. 

Foundation Design Parameters 

New square and rectangular footings may be designed as follows: 
 

• Maximum, net allowable soil bearing pressure: 2,500 lbs/ft2. 
 

• Maximum, net allowable soil bearing pressure: 1,500 lbs/ft2 if the full recommended lateral 
extent of remedial grading cannot be achieved, typically for new footings along the 
property lines. 
 

• Minimum wall/column footing width: 14 inches/24 inches. 
 

• Minimum longitudinal steel reinforcement within strip footings: Two (2) No. 5 rebars (1 
top and 1 bottom). 

 

Item E - 458 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 20 
 

• Minimum foundation embedment: 12 inches into suitable structural fill soils, and at least 
18 inches below adjacent exterior grade. Interior column footings may be placed 
immediately beneath the floor slab. 

 
• It is recommended that the perimeter building foundations be continuous across all 

exterior doorways. Any flatwork adjacent to the exterior doors should be doweled into the 
perimeter foundations in a manner determined by the structural engineer. 

 
The allowable bearing pressures presented above may be increased by 1/3 when considering 
short duration wind or seismic loads. The minimum steel reinforcement recommended above is 
based on geotechnical considerations; additional reinforcement may be necessary for structural 
considerations. The actual design of the foundations should be determined by the structural 
engineer. 

Foundation Construction 

The foundation subgrade soils should be evaluated at the time of overexcavation, as discussed 
in Section 6.3 of this report. It is further recommended that the foundation subgrade soils be 
evaluated by the geotechnical engineer immediately prior to steel or concrete placement. Soils 
suitable for direct foundation support should consist of newly placed structural fill, compacted to 
at least 90 percent of the ASTM D-1557 maximum dry density. Any unsuitable materials should 
be removed to a depth of suitable bearing compacted structural fill or suitable native alluvium 
(where reduced bearing pressures are utilized), with the resulting excavations backfilled with 
compacted fill soils. As an alternative, lean concrete slurry (500 to 1,500 psi) may be used to 
backfill such isolated overexcavations. 
 
The foundation subgrade soils should also be properly moisture conditioned to 0 to 4 percent 
above the Modified Proctor optimum, to a depth of at least 12 inches below bearing grade. Since 
it is typically not feasible to increase the moisture content of the floor slab and foundation 
subgrade soils once rough grading has been completed, care should be taken to maintain the 
moisture content of the building pad subgrade soils throughout the construction process. 

Estimated Foundation Settlements 

Post-construction total and differential settlements of shallow foundations designed and 
constructed in accordance with the previously presented recommendations are estimated to be 
less than 1.0 and 0.5 inches, respectively. Differential movements are expected to occur over a 
30-foot span, thereby resulting in an angular distortion of less than 0.002 inches per inch. 

Lateral Load Resistance 

Lateral load resistance will be developed by a combination of friction acting at the base of 
foundations and slab and the passive earth pressure developed by footings below grade. The 
following friction and passive pressure may be used to resist lateral forces:  

 
• Passive Earth Pressure: 300 lbs/ft3 
• Friction Coefficient: 0.30 

 

Item E - 459 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 21 
 

These are allowable values, and include a factor of safety. When combining friction and passive 
resistance, the passive pressure component should be reduced by one-third. These values assume 
that footings will be poured directly against compacted structural fill soils. The maximum allowable 
passive pressure is 3,000 lbs/ft2. 

6.6 Floor Slab Design and Construction 

Subgrades which will support the new floor slab should be prepared in accordance with the 
recommendations contained in the Site Grading Recommendations section of this report. 
Based on the anticipated grading which will occur at this site, the floor of the proposed structure 
may be constructed as a conventional slab-on-grade supported on newly placed structural fill (or 
densified existing soils), extending to a depth of at least 4 feet below finished pad grades. Based 
on geotechnical considerations, the floor slab may be designed as follows: 
 

• Minimum slab thickness: 6 inches. 
 

• Modulus of Subgrade Reaction: k = 150 psi/in.  
 

• Minimum slab reinforcement: Reinforcement is not considered necessary from a 
geotechnical standpoint. The actual floor slab reinforcement should be determined by the 
structural engineer, based on the imposed slab loading.  
 

• Slab underlayment: If moisture sensitive floor coverings will be used then minimum slab 
underlayment should consist of a moisture vapor barrier constructed below the entire area 
of the proposed slab where such moisture sensitive floor coverings are anticipated. The 
moisture vapor barrier should meet or exceed the Class A rating as defined by ASTM E 
1745-97 and have a permeance rating less than 0.01 perms as described in ASTM E 96-
95 and ASTM E 154-88. A polyolefin material such as Stego® Wrap Vapor Barrier or 
equivalent will meet these specifications. The moisture vapor barrier should be properly 
constructed in accordance with all applicable manufacturer specifications. Given that a 
rock free subgrade is anticipated and that a capillary break is not required, sand below 
the barrier is not required. The need for sand and/or the amount of sand above the 
moisture vapor barrier should be specified by the structural engineer or concrete 
contractor. The selection of sand above the barrier is not a geotechnical engineering issue 
and hence outside our purview. Where moisture sensitive floor coverings are not 
anticipated, the vapor barrier may be eliminated.  

 
• Moisture condition the floor slab subgrade soils to 0 to 4 percent above the Modified 

Proctor optimum moisture content, to a depth of 12 inches. The moisture content of the 
floor slab subgrade soils should be verified by the geotechnical engineer within 24 hours 
prior to concrete placement. 

 
• Proper concrete curing techniques should be utilized to reduce the potential for slab 

curling or the formation of excessive shrinkage cracks. 
 
The actual design of the floor slab should be completed by the structural engineer to verify 
adequate thickness and reinforcement. 

Item E - 460 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 22 
 

6.7  Exterior Flatwork Design and Construction 

Subgrades which will support new exterior slabs-on-grade for sidewalks, patios, and other 
concrete flatwork, should be prepared in accordance with the recommendations contained in the 
Grading Recommendations section of this report. Based on geotechnical considerations, 
exterior slabs on grade may be designed as follows: 
 

• Minimum slab thickness: 4½ inches. 
 

• Minimum slab reinforcement: No. 3 bars at 18 inches on center, in both directions. 
 

• The flatwork at building entry areas should be structurally connected to the perimeter 
foundation that is recommended to span across the door opening. This recommendation 
is designed to reduce the potential for differential movement at this joint. 

 
• Moisture condition the slab subgrade soils to at least 0 to 4 percent of optimum moisture 

content, to a depth of at least 12 inches. Adequate moisture conditioning should be 
verified by the geotechnical engineer 24 hours prior to concrete placement.  

 
• Proper concrete curing techniques should be utilized to reduce the potential for slab 

curling or the formation of excessive shrinkage cracks. 
 
• Control joints should be provided at a maximum spacing of 8 feet on center in two 

directions for slabs and at 6 feet on center for sidewalks. Control joints are intended to 
direct cracking. Minor cracking of exterior concrete slabs on grade should be expected. 

 
Expansion or felt joints should be used at the interface of exterior slabs on grade and any fixed 
structures to permit relative movement. 

6.8 Retaining Wall Design and Construction 

Although not indicated on the site plan, some small (less than 6 feet in height) retaining walls 
may be required to facilitate the new site grades. The parameters recommended for use in the 
design of these walls are presented below. 

Retaining Wall Design Parameters 

Based on the soil conditions encountered at the boring locations, the following parameters may 
be used in the design of new retaining walls for this site. The following parameters assume that 
only the on-site soils will be utilized for retaining wall backfill. The near-surface soils generally 
consist of silty sands and sands. Based on their classifications, the on-site soils are expected to 
possess a friction angle of at least 30 degrees when compacted to 90 percent of the ASTM-1557 
maximum dry density. 
 
If desired, SCG could provide design parameters for an alternative select backfill material behind 
the retaining walls. The use of select backfill material could result in lower lateral earth pressures. 
In order to use the design parameters for the imported select fill, this material must be placed 

Item E - 461 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 23 
 

within the entire active failure wedge. This wedge is defined as extending from the heel of the 
retaining wall upwards at an angle of approximately 60° from horizontal. If select backfill material 
behind the retaining wall is desired, SCG should be contacted for supplementary 
recommendations. 
 

RETAINING WALL DESIGN PARAMETERS 

 
Design Parameter 

Soil Type 
On-site Silty Sands and Sands 

Internal Friction Angle () 30 

Unit Weight 130 lbs/ft3 

Equivalent 

Fluid Pressure: 

Active Condition 

(level backfill) 44 lbs/ft3 

Active Condition 

(2h:1v backfill) 70 lbs/ft3 

At-Rest Condition 
(level backfill) 65 lbs/ft3 

 
The walls should be designed using a soil-footing coefficient of friction of 0.30 and an equivalent 
passive pressure of 300 lbs/ft3. The structural engineer should incorporate appropriate factors of 
safety in the design of the retaining walls. 
 
The active earth pressure may be used for the design of retaining walls that do not directly 
support structures or support soils that in turn support structures and which will be allowed to 
deflect. The at-rest earth pressure should be used for walls that will not be allowed to deflect 
such as those which will support foundation bearing soils, or which will support foundation loads 
directly.  
 
Where the soils on the toe side of the retaining wall are not covered by a "hard" surface such as 
a structure or pavement, the upper 1 foot of soil should be neglected when calculating passive 
resistance due to the potential for the material to become disturbed or degraded during the life 
of the structure. 

Seismic Lateral Earth Pressures  

In accordance with the 2019 CBC, any retaining walls more than 6 feet in height must be designed 
for seismic lateral earth pressures. If walls 6 feet or more are required for this site, the 
geotechnical engineer should be contacted for supplementary seismic lateral earth pressure 
recommendations. 

Retaining Wall Foundation Design 

The retaining wall foundations should be supported within newly placed compacted structural fill, 
extending to a depth of at least 3 feet below proposed foundation bearing grade. Foundations to 
support new retaining walls should be designed in accordance with the general Foundation Design 
Parameters presented in a previous section of this report. 

Item E - 462 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 24 
 

Backfill Material 

On-site soils may be used to backfill the retaining walls. However, all backfill material placed 
within 3 feet of the back wall face should have a particle size no greater than 3 inches. The 
retaining wall backfill materials should be well graded.  

 
It is recommended that a properly installed prefabricated drainage composite such as the 
MiraDRAIN 6000XL (or approved equivalent), which is specifically designed for use behind 
retaining walls be used. If the drainage composite material is not covered by an impermeable 
surface, such as a structure or pavement, a 12-inch thick layer of a low permeability soil should 
be placed over the backfill to reduce surface water migration to the underlying soils. The drainage 
composite should be separated from the backfill soils by a suitable geotextile, approved by the 
geotechnical engineer.  
 
All retaining wall backfill should be placed and compacted under engineering controlled conditions 
in the necessary layer thicknesses to ensure an in-place density between 90 and 93 percent of 
the maximum dry density as determined by the Modified Proctor test (ASTM D1557). Care should 
be taken to avoid over-compaction of the soils behind the retaining walls, and the use of heavy 
compaction equipment should be avoided.  

Subsurface Drainage 

As previously indicated, the retaining wall design parameters are based upon drained backfill 
conditions. Consequently, some form of permanent drainage system will be necessary in 
conjunction with the appropriate backfill material. Subsurface drainage may consist of either: 
 

• A weep hole drainage system typically consisting of a series of 2-inch diameter holes in 
the wall situated slightly above the ground surface elevation on the exposed side of the 
wall and at an approximate 10-foot on-center spacing. Alternatively, 4-inch diameter holes 
at an approximate 20-foot on-center spacing can be used for this type of drainage system. 
In addition, the weep holes should include a 2 cubic foot pocket of open graded gravel, 
surrounded by an approved geotextile fabric, at each weep hole location. 

 
• A 4-inch diameter perforated pipe surrounded by 2 cubic feet of gravel per linear foot of 

drain placed behind the wall, above the retaining wall footing. The gravel layer should be 
wrapped in a suitable geotextile fabric to reduce the potential for migration of fines. The 
footing drain should be extended to daylight or tied into a storm drainage system. The 
actual design of this type of system should be determined by the civil engineer to verify 
that the drainage system possesses the adequate capacity and slope for its intended use.  

6.9 Pavement Design Parameters 

Site preparation in the pavement area should be completed as previously recommended in the 
Site Grading Recommendations section of this report. The subsequent pavement 
recommendations assume proper drainage and construction monitoring, and are based on either 
PCA or CALTRANS design parameters for a twenty (20) year design period. However, these 
designs also assume a routine pavement maintenance program to obtain the anticipated 20-year 
pavement service life. 

Item E - 463 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 25 
 

Pavement Subgrades 

It is anticipated that the new pavements will be primarily supported on a layer of compacted 
structural fill, consisting of scarified, thoroughly moisture conditioned and recompacted existing 
soils. The near-surface soils generally consist of silty sands and sands. These soils are generally 
considered to possess excellent pavement support characteristics, with R-values in the range of 
50 to 60. Since R-value testing was not included in the scope of services for this project, the 
subsequent pavement design is based upon an assumed R-value of 50. Any fill material imported 
to the site should have support characteristics equal to or greater than that of the on-site soils 
and be placed and compacted under engineering controlled conditions. It is recommended that 
R-value testing be performed after completion of rough grading to verify that the pavement 
design recommendations presented herein are valid. 

Asphaltic Concrete 

Presented below are the recommended thicknesses for new flexible pavement structures 
consisting of asphaltic concrete over a granular base. The pavement designs are based on the 
traffic indices (TI’s) indicated. The client and/or civil engineer should verify that these TI’s are 
representative of the anticipated traffic volumes. If the client and/or civil engineer determine that 
the expected traffic volume will exceed the applicable traffic index, we should be contacted for 
supplementary recommendations. The design traffic indices equate to the following approximate 
daily traffic volumes over a 20-year design life, assuming six operational traffic days per week. 
 

Traffic Index No. of Heavy Trucks per Day 
4.0 0 

5.0 1 

6.0 3 

7.0 11 

8.0 35 

9.0 93 

 
For the purpose of the traffic volumes indicated above, a truck is defined as a 5-axle tractor trailer 
unit with one 8-kip axle and two 32-kip tandem axles. All of the traffic indices allow for 1,000 
automobiles per day. 
 

ASPHALT PAVEMENTS (R=50) 

 
Materials 

Thickness (inches) 
Auto Parking and 
Auto Drive Lanes 

(TI = 4.0 to 5.0) 

Truck Traffic 

TI = 6.0 TI = 7.0 TI = 8.0 TI = 9.0 

Asphalt Concrete 3 3½ 4 5  5½ 

Aggregate Base 3 4 5 5 7 

Compacted Subgrade  12 12 12 12 12 

 

Item E - 464 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 26 
 

The aggregate base course should be compacted to at least 95 percent of the ASTM D-1557 
maximum dry density. The asphaltic concrete should be compacted to at least 95 percent of the 
batch plant-reported maximum density. The aggregate base course may consist of crushed 
aggregate base (CAB) or crushed miscellaneous base (CMB), which is a recycled gravel, asphalt 
and concrete material. The gradation, R-Value, Sand Equivalent, and Percentage Wear of the CAB 
or CMB should comply with appropriate specifications contained in the current edition of the 
“Greenbook” Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction. 

Portland Cement Concrete 

The preparation of the subgrade soils within concrete pavement areas should be performed as 
previously described for proposed asphalt pavement areas. The minimum recommended 
thicknesses for the Portland Cement Concrete pavement sections are as follows: 
 

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PAVEMENTS (R=50) 

Materials 

Thickness (inches) 
Autos and Light 

Truck Traffic  

(TI = 6.0) 

Truck Traffic 

TI = 7.0 TI = 8.0 TI = 9.0 

PCC 5 5½ 6½ 8 

Compacted Subgrade 
(95% minimum compaction) 

12 12 12 12 

 
The concrete should have a 28-day compressive strength of at least 3,000 psi. Any reinforcement 
within the PCC pavements should be determined by the project structural engineer. The maximum 
joint spacing within all of the PCC pavements is recommended to be equal to or less than 30 
times the pavement thickness. 

Item E - 465 of 2173



 Proposed Industrial Building– Ontario, CA 
Project No. 22G233-1 

Page 27 
 

7.0 GENERAL COMMENTS         

This report has been prepared as an instrument of service for use by the client, in order to aid in 
the evaluation of this property and to assist the architects and engineers in the design and 
preparation of the project plans and specifications. This report may be provided to the 
contractor(s) and other design consultants to disclose information relative to the project. 
However, this report is not intended to be utilized as a specification in and of itself, without 
appropriate interpretation by the project architect, civil engineer, and/or structural engineer. The 
reproduction and distribution of this report must be authorized by the client and Southern 
California Geotechnical, Inc. Furthermore, any reliance on this report by an unauthorized third 
party is at such party’s sole risk, and we accept no responsibility for damage or loss which may 
occur. The client(s)’ reliance upon this report is subject to the Engineering Services Agreement, 
incorporated into our proposal for this project. 

 
The analysis of this site was based on a subsurface profile interpolated from limited discrete soil 
samples. While the materials encountered in the project area are considered to be representative 
of the total area, some variations should be expected between boring locations and sample 
depths. If the conditions encountered during construction vary significantly from those detailed 
herein, we should be contacted immediately to determine if the conditions alter the 
recommendations contained herein. 

 
This report has been based on assumed or provided characteristics of the proposed development. 
It is recommended that the owner, client, architect, structural engineer, and civil engineer 
carefully review these assumptions to ensure that they are consistent with the characteristics of 
the proposed development. If discrepancies exist, they should be brought to our attention to 
verify that they do not affect the conclusions and recommendations contained herein. We also 
recommend that the project plans and specifications be submitted to our office for review to 
verify that our recommendations have been correctly interpreted. 

 
The analysis, conclusions, and recommendations contained within this report have been 
promulgated in accordance with generally accepted professional geotechnical engineering 
practice. No other warranty is implied or expressed. 

 
 

Item E - 466 of 2173



 

Item E - 467 of 2173



SITE

PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL BUILDING

SCALE: 1" = 2000'

DRAWN: JLL
CHKD:  RGT

SCG PROJECT
22G233-1

PLATE 1

SITE LOCATION MAP

ONTARIO, CALIFORNIA
SOURCE: USGS TOPOGRAPHIC MAP OF THE GUASTI

QUADRANGLE, SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA, 2021.

Item E - 468 of 2173



B-2A

B-3A

BUILDING AREA
167,850 S.F.

N.A.P.

N.A.P.

N.A.P.

EAST FRANCIS STREET

W
ES

T 
C

U
C

AM
O

N
G

A 
C

R
EE

K 
TR

AI
L

B-1B-2

B-3

B-4

B-5

SCALE: 1" = 80'

DRAWN:  OS
CHKD:  RGT

PLATE 2

SCG PROJECT
22G233-1

ONTARIO, CALIFORNIA
PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL BUILDING

BORING LOCATION PLAN

N
O
R
T
H

So
Ca

lG
eo

NOTE: SITE PLAN PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT. AERIAL PHOTO
OBTAINED FROM GOOGLE EARTH (2021).

GEOTECHNICAL LEGEND

APPROXIMATE BORING LOCATION

APPROXIMATE BORING LOCATION FROM
PREVIOUS STUDY (SCG PROJECT NO. 22G180-1)

Item E - 469 of 2173



 

Item E - 470 of 2173



  BORING LOG LEGEND 
SAMPLE TYPE GRAPHICAL 

SYMBOL SAMPLE DESCRIPTION 

AUGER 
 

SAMPLE COLLECTED FROM AUGER CUTTINGS, NO FIELD 
MEASUREMENT OF SOIL STRENGTH. (DISTURBED) 

CORE 
 ROCK CORE SAMPLE: TYPICALLY TAKEN WITH A 

DIAMOND-TIPPED CORE BARREL. TYPICALLY USED 
ONLY IN HIGHLY CONSOLIDATED BEDROCK.  

GRAB  

SOIL SAMPLE TAKEN WITH NO SPECIALIZED 
EQUIPMENT, SUCH AS FROM A STOCKPILE OR THE 
GROUND SURFACE. (DISTURBED) 

CS 
 CALIFORNIA SAMPLER: 2-1/2 INCH I.D. SPLIT BARREL 

SAMPLER, LINED WITH 1-INCH HIGH BRASS RINGS. 
DRIVEN WITH SPT HAMMER. (RELATIVELY 
UNDISTURBED) 

 
NSR 

 NO RECOVERY: THE SAMPLING ATTEMPT DID NOT 
RESULT IN RECOVERY OF ANY SIGNIFICANT SOIL OR 
ROCK MATERIAL. 

SPT  
STANDARD PENETRATION TEST: SAMPLER IS A 1.4 
INCH INSIDE DIAMETER SPLIT BARREL, DRIVEN 18 
INCHES WITH THE SPT HAMMER. (DISTURBED) 

SH  
SHELBY TUBE: TAKEN WITH A THIN WALL SAMPLE 
TUBE, PUSHED INTO THE SOIL AND THEN EXTRACTED. 
(UNDISTURBED) 

VANE 
 VANE SHEAR TEST: SOIL STRENGTH OBTAINED USING 

A 4 BLADED SHEAR DEVICE. TYPICALLY USED IN SOFT 
CLAYS-NO SAMPLE RECOVERED. 

 
COLUMN DESCRIPTIONS 
 
DEPTH:    Distance in feet below the ground surface. 

SAMPLE:    Sample Type as depicted above. 

BLOW COUNT:   Number of blows required to advance the sampler 12 inches using a 140 lb   

    hammer with a 30-inch drop. 50/3” indicates penetration refusal (>50 blows)  
    at 3 inches. WH indicates that the weight of the hammer was sufficient to   
    push the sampler 6 inches or more.  

POCKET PEN.:   Approximate shear strength of a cohesive soil sample as measured by pocket  
    penetrometer.  

GRAPHIC LOG:   Graphic Soil Symbol as depicted on the following page. 

DRY DENSITY:   Dry density of an undisturbed or relatively undisturbed sample in lbs/ft3. 

MOISTURE CONTENT:  Moisture content of a soil sample, expressed as a percentage of the dry weight. 

LIQUID LIMIT:   The moisture content above which a soil behaves as a liquid. 

PLASTIC LIMIT:   The moisture content above which a soil behaves as a plastic.  

PASSING #200 SIEVE:  The percentage of the sample finer than the #200 standard sieve.  

UNCONFINED SHEAR:  The shear strength of a cohesive soil sample, as measured in the unconfined state.  

Item E - 471 of 2173



SM

SP

COARSE
GRAINED

SOILS

SW

TYPICAL
DESCRIPTIONS

WELL-GRADED GRAVELS, GRAVEL -
SAND MIXTURES, LITTLE OR NO
FINES

SILTY GRAVELS, GRAVEL - SAND -
SILT MIXTURES

LETTERGRAPH

POORLY-GRADED GRAVELS,
GRAVEL - SAND MIXTURES, LITTLE
OR NO FINES

GC

GM

GP

GW

POORLY-GRADED SANDS,
GRAVELLY SAND, LITTLE OR NO
FINES

SILTS
AND

CLAYS

MORE THAN 50%
OF MATERIAL IS
LARGER THAN
NO. 200 SIEVE

SIZE

MORE THAN 50%
OF MATERIAL IS
SMALLER THAN
NO. 200 SIEVE

SIZE

MORE THAN 50%
OF COARSE
FRACTION

PASSING ON NO.
4 SIEVE

MORE THAN 50%
OF COARSE
FRACTION

RETAINED ON NO.
4 SIEVE CLAYEY GRAVELS, GRAVEL - SAND -

CLAY MIXTURES

FINE
GRAINED

SOILS

SYMBOLSMAJOR DIVISIONS

SOIL CLASSIFICATION CHART

PT

OH

CH

MH

OL

CL

ML

CLEAN SANDS

SC

SILTY SANDS, SAND - SILT
MIXTURES

CLAYEY SANDS, SAND - CLAY
MIXTURES

INORGANIC SILTS AND VERY FINE
SANDS, ROCK FLOUR, SILTY OR
CLAYEY FINE SANDS OR CLAYEY
SILTS WITH SLIGHT PLASTICITY

INORGANIC CLAYS OF LOW TO
MEDIUM PLASTICITY, GRAVELLY
CLAYS, SANDY CLAYS, SILTY CLAYS,
LEAN CLAYS

ORGANIC SILTS AND ORGANIC
SILTY CLAYS OF LOW PLASTICITY

INORGANIC SILTS, MICACEOUS OR
DIATOMACEOUS FINE SAND OR
SILTY SOILS

INORGANIC CLAYS OF HIGH
PLASTICITY

ORGANIC CLAYS OF MEDIUM TO
HIGH PLASTICITY, ORGANIC SILTS

PEAT, HUMUS, SWAMP SOILS WITH
HIGH ORGANIC CONTENTS

SILTS
AND

CLAYS

GRAVELS WITH
FINES

SAND
AND

SANDY
SOILS (LITTLE OR NO FINES)

SANDS WITH
FINES

LIQUID LIMIT
LESS THAN 50

LIQUID LIMIT
GREATER THAN 50

HIGHLY ORGANIC SOILS

NOTE:  DUAL SYMBOLS ARE USED TO INDICATE BORDERLINE SOIL CLASSIFICATIONS

GRAVEL
AND

GRAVELLY
SOILS

(APPRECIABLE
AMOUNT OF FINES)

(APPRECIABLE
AMOUNT OF FINES)

(LITTLE OR NO FINES)

WELL-GRADED SANDS, GRAVELLY
SANDS, LITTLE OR NO FINES

CLEAN
GRAVELS

Item E - 472 of 2173



13

11

20

24

42

16

ASPHALT: 12±-inches Asphaltic Concrete, no discernible
Aggregate Base
FILL: Dark Gray Brown Silty fine Sand, trace medium to coarse
Sand, trace fine Gravel, loose-damp

FILL: Brown to Dark Brown Silty fine Sand, trace medium Sand,
medium dense-damp

ALLUVIUM: Brown Silty fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand,
trace fine Gravel, medium dense-damp

Brown fine to coarse Sand, trace fine to coarse Gravel, medium
dense-damp

Boring Terminated at 15'

104

107

106

104

107

4

4

6

7

3

4

SURFACE ELEVATION:   ---  MSL LI
Q

U
ID

LI
M

IT

P
LA

S
T

IC
LI

M
IT

S
A

M
P

LE

FIELD RESULTS

WATER DEPTH:   Dry
CAVE DEPTH:   13 feet
READING TAKEN:   At Completion

D
R

Y
 D

E
N

S
IT

Y
(P

C
F

)

O
R

G
A

N
IC

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
 (

%
)

LABORATORY RESULTS

P
A

S
S

IN
G

#2
00

 S
IE

V
E

 (
%

)

B
LO

W
 C

O
U

N
T

DESCRIPTION

D
E

P
T

H
 (

F
E

E
T

)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E
C

O
N

T
E

N
T

 (
%

)

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

EXCAVATION DATE:   8/23/22
EXCAVATION METHOD:   Hollow Stem Auger
LOGGED BY:  Michelle Krizek

JOB NO.:   22G233-1
PROJECT:   Proposed Industrial Building
LOCATION:   Ontario, California

PLATE  B-1

5

10

15

G
R

A
P

H
IC

 L
O

G

P
O

C
K

E
T

 P
E

N
.

(T
S

F
)

TRENCH NO.
B-2A

TEST TRENCH LOG

T
B

L 
 2

2
G

23
3-

1.
G

P
J 

 S
O

C
A

LG
E

O
.G

D
T

  9
/2

1/
22

Item E - 473 of 2173



12

14

10

18

15

9

24

29

ASPHALT: 12±-inches Asphaltic Concrete, no discernible
Aggregate Base
FILL: Dark Brown Silty fine Sand, trace medium Sand, trace fine
Gravel, loose-damp

FILL: Gray Brown Silty fine Sand, loose-moist

ALLUVIUM: Brown Silty fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand,
loose to medium dense-damp

Dark Brown Silty fine Sand, trace medium Sand, loose-moist

Brown Silty fine to medium Sand, trace Iron oxide staining,
medium dense-very moist

Brown fine to coarse Sand, trace fine Gravel, trace Silt, medium
dense-damp

Boring Terminated at 25'

104

102

105

110

105

5

8

4

5

7

10

17

4

SURFACE ELEVATION:   ---  MSL LI
Q

U
ID

LI
M

IT

P
LA

S
T

IC
LI

M
IT

S
A

M
P

LE

FIELD RESULTS

WATER DEPTH:   Dry
CAVE DEPTH:   24 feet
READING TAKEN:   At Completion

D
R

Y
 D

E
N

S
IT

Y
(P

C
F

)

O
R

G
A

N
IC

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
 (

%
)

LABORATORY RESULTS

P
A

S
S

IN
G

#2
00

 S
IE

V
E

 (
%

)

B
LO

W
 C

O
U

N
T

DESCRIPTION

D
E

P
T

H
 (

F
E

E
T

)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E
C

O
N

T
E

N
T

 (
%

)

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

EXCAVATION DATE:   8/23/22
EXCAVATION METHOD:   Hollow Stem Auger
LOGGED BY:  Michelle Krizek

JOB NO.:   22G233-1
PROJECT:   Proposed Industrial Building
LOCATION:   Ontario, California

PLATE  B-2

5

10

15

20

25

G
R

A
P

H
IC

 L
O

G

P
O

C
K

E
T

 P
E

N
.

(T
S

F
)

TRENCH NO.
B-3A

TEST TRENCH LOG

T
B

L 
 2

2
G

23
3-

1.
G

P
J 

 S
O

C
A

LG
E

O
.G

D
T

  9
/2

1/
22

Item E - 474 of 2173



 

Item E - 475 of 2173



Classification: FILL: Gray Brown Silty fine Sand

Boring Number: B-3A Initial Moisture Content (%) 8

Sample Number: --- Final Moisture Content (%) 19

Depth (ft) 3 to 4 Initial Dry Density (pcf) 101.6

Specimen Diameter (in) 2.4 Final Dry Density (pcf) 105.4

Specimen Thickness (in) 1.0 Percent Collapse (%) 0.29

Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, California
Project No. 22G233-1

PLATE C- 1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20
0.1 1 10 100

C
o

n
s
o

li
d

a
ti

o
n

S
tr

a
in

(%
)

Load (ksf)

Consolidation/Collapse Test Results

Water Added
at 1600 psf

Item E - 476 of 2173



Classification: Brown Silty fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand

Boring Number: B-3A Initial Moisture Content (%) 4

Sample Number: --- Final Moisture Content (%) 18

Depth (ft) 5 to 6 Initial Dry Density (pcf) 104.8

Specimen Diameter (in) 2.4 Final Dry Density (pcf) 107.5

Specimen Thickness (in) 1.0 Percent Collapse (%) 0.10

Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, California
Project No. 22G233-1

PLATE C- 2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20
0.1 1 10 100

C
o

n
s
o

li
d

a
ti

o
n

S
tr

a
in

(%
)

Load (ksf)

Consolidation/Collapse Test Results

Water Added
at 1600 psf

Item E - 477 of 2173



Classification: Brown Silty fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand

Boring Number: B-3A Initial Moisture Content (%) 5

Sample Number: --- Final Moisture Content (%) 17

Depth (ft) 7 to 8 Initial Dry Density (pcf) 110.2

Specimen Diameter (in) 2.4 Final Dry Density (pcf) 114.4

Specimen Thickness (in) 1.0 Percent Collapse (%) 0.31

Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, California
Project No. 22G233-1

PLATE C- 3

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20
0.1 1 10 100

C
o

n
s
o

li
d

a
ti

o
n

S
tr

a
in

(%
)

Load (ksf)

Consolidation/Collapse Test Results

Water Added
at 1600 psf

Item E - 478 of 2173



Classification: Brown Silty fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand

Boring Number: B-3A Initial Moisture Content (%) 7

Sample Number: --- Final Moisture Content (%) 16

Depth (ft) 9 to 10 Initial Dry Density (pcf) 104.6

Specimen Diameter (in) 2.4 Final Dry Density (pcf) 110.4

Specimen Thickness (in) 1.0 Percent Collapse (%) 0.44

Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, California
Project No. 22G233-1

PLATE C- 4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20
0.1 1 10 100

C
o

n
s
o

li
d

a
ti

o
n

S
tr

a
in

(%
)

Load (ksf)

Consolidation/Collapse Test Results

Water Added
at 1600 psf

Item E - 479 of 2173



Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, California
Project No. 22G233-1

PLATE C- 5

116

118

120

122

124

126

128

130

132

134

136

138

2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16

D
ry

D
e

n
s

it
y

(l
b

s
/f

t3
)

Moisture Content (%)

Moisture/Density Relationship
ASTM D-1557

Soil ID Number B-2A @ 0-5'
Optimum Moisture (%) 9

Maximum Dry Density (pcf) 128

Soil
Classification

Gray Brown Silty fine Sand, trace
medium to coarse Sand

Zero Air Voids Curve:
Specific Gravity = 2.7

Item E - 480 of 2173



 

Item E - 481 of 2173



Grading Guide Specifications Page 1 
 
 

 GRADING GUIDE SPECIFICATIONS 

 

These grading guide specifications are intended to provide typical procedures for grading operations. 

They are intended to supplement the recommendations contained in the geotechnical investigation 

report for this project. Should the recommendations in the geotechnical investigation report conflict 

with the grading guide specifications, the more site specific recommendations in the geotechnical 

investigation report will govern. 

 

 General 
 

• The Earthwork Contractor is responsible for the satisfactory completion of all earthwork in 
accordance with the plans and geotechnical reports, and in accordance with city, county, 
and applicable building codes. 

 
• The Geotechnical Engineer is the representative of the Owner/Builder for the purpose of 

implementing the report recommendations and guidelines.  These duties are not intended to 
relieve the Earthwork Contractor of any responsibility to perform in a workman-like manner, 
nor is the Geotechnical Engineer to direct the grading equipment or personnel employed by 
the Contractor. 

 
• The Earthwork Contractor is required to notify the Geotechnical Engineer of the anticipated 

work and schedule so that testing and inspections can be provided.  If necessary, work may 
be stopped and redone if personnel have not been scheduled in advance. 

 
• The Earthwork Contractor is required to have suitable and sufficient equipment on the job-

site to process, moisture condition, mix and compact the amount of fill being placed to the 
approved compaction.  In addition, suitable support equipment should be available to 
conform with recommendations and guidelines in this report. 

 
• Canyon cleanouts, overexcavation areas, processed ground to receive fill, key excavations, 

subdrains and benches should be observed by the Geotechnical Engineer prior to placement 
of any fill.  It is the Earthwork Contractor's responsibility to notify the Geotechnical Engineer 
of areas that are ready for inspection. 

 
• Excavation, filling, and subgrade preparation should be performed in a manner and 

sequence that will provide drainage at all times and proper control of erosion.  Precipitation, 
springs, and seepage water encountered shall be pumped or drained to provide a suitable 
working surface.  The Geotechnical Engineer must be informed of springs or water seepage 
encountered during grading or foundation construction for possible revision to the 
recommended construction procedures and/or installation of subdrains. 

 
 Site Preparation 
 

• The Earthwork Contractor is responsible for all clearing, grubbing, stripping and site 
preparation for the project in accordance with the recommendations of the Geotechnical 
Engineer. 

 
• If any materials or areas are encountered by the Earthwork Contractor which are suspected 

of having toxic or environmentally sensitive contamination, the Geotechnical Engineer and 
Owner/Builder should be notified immediately. 

 

Item E - 482 of 2173



Grading Guide Specifications Page 2 
 
 

• Major vegetation should be stripped and disposed of off-site.  This includes trees, brush, 
heavy grasses and any materials considered unsuitable by the Geotechnical Engineer.  

 
• Underground structures such as basements, cesspools or septic disposal systems, mining 

shafts, tunnels, wells and pipelines should be removed under the inspection of the 
Geotechnical Engineer and recommendations provided by the Geotechnical Engineer and/or 
city, county or state agencies.  If such structures are known or found, the Geotechnical 
Engineer should be notified as soon as possible so that recommendations can be 
formulated. 

 
• Any topsoil, slopewash, colluvium, alluvium and rock materials which are considered 

unsuitable by the Geotechnical Engineer should be removed prior to fill placement. 
 

• Remaining voids created during site clearing caused by removal of trees, foundations 
basements, irrigation facilities, etc., should be excavated and filled with compacted fill. 

 
• Subsequent to clearing and removals, areas to receive fill should be scarified to a depth of 

10 to 12 inches, moisture conditioned and compacted 
 
• The moisture condition of the processed ground should be at or slightly above the optimum 

moisture content as determined by the Geotechnical Engineer.  Depending upon field 
conditions, this may require air drying or watering together with mixing and/or discing. 

 
 Compacted Fills 
 

• Soil materials imported to or excavated on the property may be utilized in the fill, provided 
each material has been determined to be suitable in the opinion of the Geotechnical 
Engineer.  Unless otherwise approved by the Geotechnical Engineer, all fill materials shall be 
free of deleterious, organic, or frozen matter, shall contain no chemicals that may result in 
the material being classified as “contaminated,” and shall be very low to non-expansive with 
a maximum expansion index (EI) of 50.  The top 12 inches of the compacted fill should 
have a maximum particle size of 3 inches, and all underlying compacted fill material a 
maximum 6-inch particle size, except as noted below. 

 
• All soils should be evaluated and tested by the Geotechnical Engineer.  Materials with high 

expansion potential, low strength, poor gradation or containing organic materials may 
require removal from the site or selective placement and/or mixing to the satisfaction of the 
Geotechnical Engineer. 

 
• Rock fragments or rocks less than 6 inches in their largest dimensions, or as otherwise 

determined by the Geotechnical Engineer, may be used in compacted fill, provided the 
distribution and placement is satisfactory in the opinion of the Geotechnical Engineer. 

 
• Rock fragments or rocks greater than 12 inches should be taken off-site or placed in 

accordance with recommendations and in areas designated as suitable by the Geotechnical 
Engineer.  These materials should be placed in accordance with Plate D-8 of these Grading 
Guide Specifications and in accordance with the following recommendations:  

 
• Rocks 12 inches or more in diameter should be placed in rows at least 15 feet apart, 15 

feet from the edge of the fill, and 10 feet or more below subgrade. Spaces should be 
left between each rock fragment to provide for placement and compaction of soil 
around the fragments.  

 
• Fill materials consisting of soil meeting the minimum moisture content requirements and 

free of oversize material should be placed between and over the rows of rock or 

Item E - 483 of 2173



Grading Guide Specifications Page 3 
 
 

concrete. Ample water and compactive effort should be applied to the fill materials as 
they are placed in order that all of the voids between each of the fragments are filled 
and compacted to the specified density.  

 
• Subsequent rows of rocks should be placed such that they are not directly above a row 

placed in the previous lift of fill. A minimum 5-foot offset between rows is 
recommended.   

 
• To facilitate future trenching, oversized material should not be placed within the range 

of foundation excavations, future utilities or other underground construction unless 
specifically approved by the soil engineer and the developer/owner representative.  

 
• Fill materials approved by the Geotechnical Engineer should be placed in areas previously 

prepared to receive fill and in evenly placed, near horizontal layers at about 6 to 8 inches in 
loose thickness, or as otherwise determined by the Geotechnical Engineer for the project. 

 
• Each layer should be moisture conditioned to optimum moisture content, or slightly above, 

as directed by the Geotechnical Engineer.  After proper mixing and/or drying, to evenly 
distribute the moisture, the layers should be compacted to at least 90 percent of the 
maximum dry density in compliance with ASTM D-1557-78 unless otherwise indicated. 

 
• Density and moisture content testing should be performed by the Geotechnical Engineer at 

random intervals and locations as determined by the Geotechnical Engineer.  These tests 
are intended as an aid to the Earthwork Contractor, so he can evaluate his workmanship, 
equipment effectiveness and site conditions.  The Earthwork Contractor is responsible for 
compaction as required by the Geotechnical Report(s) and governmental agencies. 

 
 

• Fill areas unused for a period of time may require moisture conditioning, processing and 
recompaction prior to the start of additional filling.  The Earthwork Contractor should notify 
the Geotechnical Engineer of his intent so that an evaluation can be made. 

 
• Fill placed on ground sloping at a 5-to-1 inclination (horizontal-to-vertical) or steeper should 

be benched into bedrock or other suitable materials, as directed by the Geotechnical 
Engineer.  Typical details of benching are illustrated on Plates D-2, D-4, and D-5. 

 
• Cut/fill transition lots should have the cut portion overexcavated to a depth of at least 3 feet 

and rebuilt with fill (see Plate D-1), as determined by the Geotechnical Engineer. 
 

• All cut lots should be inspected by the Geotechnical Engineer for fracturing and other 
bedrock conditions.  If necessary, the pads should be overexcavated to a depth of 3 feet 
and rebuilt with a uniform, more cohesive soil type to impede moisture penetration. 

 
• Cut portions of pad areas above buttresses or stabilizations should be overexcavated to a 

depth of 3 feet and rebuilt with uniform, more cohesive compacted fill to impede moisture 
penetration. 

 
• Non-structural fill adjacent to structural fill should typically be placed in unison to provide 

lateral support.  Backfill along walls must be placed and compacted with care to ensure that 
excessive unbalanced lateral pressures do not develop.  The type of fill material placed 
adjacent to below grade walls must be properly tested and approved by the Geotechnical 
Engineer with consideration of the lateral earth pressure used in the design.  

 
 

 

Item E - 484 of 2173



Grading Guide Specifications Page 4 
 
 

 Foundations 
 

• The foundation influence zone is defined as extending one foot horizontally from the outside 
edge of a footing, and proceeding downward at a ½ horizontal to 1 vertical (0.5:1) 
inclination. 

 
• Where overexcavation beneath a footing subgrade is necessary, it should be conducted so 

as to encompass the entire foundation influence zone, as described above. 
 

• Compacted fill adjacent to exterior footings should extend at least 12 inches above 
foundation bearing grade.  Compacted fill within the interior of structures should extend to 
the floor subgrade elevation. 

 Fill Slopes 
 

• The placement and compaction of fill described above applies to all fill slopes.  Slope 
compaction should be accomplished by overfilling the slope, adequately compacting the fill 
in even layers, including the overfilled zone and cutting the slope back to expose the 
compacted core 

 
• Slope compaction may also be achieved by backrolling the slope adequately every 2 to 4 

vertical feet during the filling process as well as requiring the earth moving and compaction 
equipment to work close to the top of the slope.  Upon completion of slope construction, 
the slope face should be compacted with a sheepsfoot connected to a sideboom and then 
grid rolled.  This method of slope compaction should only be used if approved by the 
Geotechnical Engineer. 

 
• Sandy soils lacking in adequate cohesion may be unstable for a finished slope condition and 

therefore should not be placed within 15 horizontal feet of the slope face. 
 

• All fill slopes should be keyed into bedrock or other suitable material.  Fill keys should be at 
least 15 feet wide and inclined at 2 percent into the slope.  For slopes higher than 30 feet, 
the fill key width should be equal to one-half the height of the slope (see Plate D-5). 

 
• All fill keys should be cleared of loose slough material prior to geotechnical inspection and 

should be approved by the Geotechnical Engineer and governmental agencies prior to filling. 
 

• The cut portion of fill over cut slopes should be made first and inspected by the 
Geotechnical Engineer for possible stabilization requirements.  The fill portion should be 
adequately keyed through all surficial soils and into bedrock or suitable material.  Soils 
should be removed from the transition zone between the cut and fill portions (see Plate D-
2). 

 
 Cut Slopes 
 

• All cut slopes should be inspected by the Geotechnical Engineer to determine the need for 
stabilization.  The Earthwork Contractor should notify the Geotechnical Engineer when slope 
cutting is in progress at intervals of 10 vertical feet.  Failure to notify may result in a delay 
in recommendations. 

 
• Cut slopes exposing loose, cohesionless sands should be reported to the Geotechnical 

Engineer for possible stabilization recommendations. 
 

• All stabilization excavations should be cleared of loose slough material prior to geotechnical 
inspection.  Stakes should be provided by the Civil Engineer to verify the location and 
dimensions of the key. A typical stabilization fill detail is shown on Plate D-5. 

Item E - 485 of 2173



Grading Guide Specifications Page 5 
 
 

 
• Stabilization key excavations should be provided with subdrains.  Typical subdrain details 

are shown on Plates D-6. 
 
 Subdrains 
 

• Subdrains may be required in canyons and swales where fill placement is proposed.  Typical 
subdrain details for canyons are shown on Plate D-3.  Subdrains should be installed after 
approval of removals and before filling, as determined by the Soils Engineer. 

 
• Plastic pipe may be used for subdrains provided it is Schedule 40 or SDR 35 or equivalent.  

Pipe should be protected against breakage, typically by placement in a square-cut 
(backhoe) trench or as recommended by the manufacturer. 

 
• Filter material for subdrains should conform to CALTRANS Specification 68-1.025 or as 

approved by the Geotechnical Engineer for the specific site conditions.  Clean ¾-inch 
crushed rock may be used provided it is wrapped in an acceptable filter cloth and approved 
by the Geotechnical Engineer.  Pipe diameters should be 6 inches for runs up to 500 feet 
and 8 inches for the downstream continuations of longer runs.  Four-inch diameter pipe 
may be used in buttress and stabilization fills. 

Item E - 486 of 2173



Item E - 487 of 2173



GRADING GUIDE SPECIFICATIONS

NOT TO SCALE

DRAWN:  JAS
CHKD:  GKM

PLATE D-2

FILL ABOVE CUT SLOPE DETAIL

9' MIN.

4' TYP.

MINIMUM 1' TILT BACK
OR 2% SLOPE
(WHICHEVER IS GREATER)

REMOVE UNSUITABLE MATERIAL

BENCHING DIMENSIONS IN ACCORDANCE
WITH PLAN OR AS RECOMMENDED
BY THE GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

CUT SLOPE TO BE CONSTRUCTED
PRIOR TO PLACEMENT OF FILL

BEDROCK OR APPROVED
COMPETENT MATERIAL

CUT SLOPE

NATURAL GRADE

CUT/FILL CONTACT TO BE
SHOWN ON "AS-BUILT"

COMPETENT MATERIAL
CUT/FILL CONTACT SHOWN
ON GRADING PLAN

NEW COMPACTED FILL

10' TYP.

KEYWAY IN COMPETENT MATERIAL
MINIMUM WIDTH OF 15 FEET OR AS
RECOMMENDED BY THE GEOTECHNICAL
ENGINEER.  KEYWAY MAY NOT BE
REQUIRED IF FILL SLOPE IS LESS THAN 5
FEET IN HEIGHT AS RECOMMENDED BY
THE GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER.

Item E - 488 of 2173



Item E - 489 of 2173



GRADING GUIDE SPECIFICATIONS

NOT TO SCALE

DRAWN:  JAS
CHKD:  GKM

PLATE D-4

FILL ABOVE NATURAL SLOPE DETAIL

10' TYP.
4' TYP.

(WHICHEVER IS GREATER)
OR 2% SLOPE
MINIMUM 1' TILT BACK

REMOVE UNSUITABLE MATERIAL

NEW COMPACTED FILL

COMPETENT MATERIAL

KEYWAY IN COMPETENT MATERIAL.

RECOMMENDED BY THE GEOTECHNIAL
ENGINEER.  KEYWAY MAY NOT BE REQUIRED
IF FILL SLOPE IS LESS THAN 5' IN HEIGHT
AS RECOMMENDED BY THE GEOTECHNICAL
ENGINEER.

2' MINIMUM
KEY DEPTH

OVERFILL REQUIREMENTS
PER GRADING GUIDE SPECIFICATIONS

TOE OF SLOPE SHOWN
ON GRADING PLAN

BACKCUT - VARIES

PLACE COMPACTED BACKFILL
TO ORIGINAL GRADE

PROJECT SLOPE GRADIENT
(1:1 MAX.)

NOTE:
BENCHING SHALL BE REQUIRED
WHEN NATURAL SLOPES ARE
EQUAL TO OR STEEPER THAN 5:1
OR WHEN RECOMMENDED BY
THE GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER.

FINISHED SLOPE FACE

MINIMUM WIDTH OF 15 FEET OR AS

BENCHING DIMENSIONS IN ACCORDANCE
WITH PLAN OR AS RECOMMENDED
BY THE GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

Item E - 490 of 2173



GRADING GUIDE SPECIFICATIONS

NOT TO SCALE

DRAWN:  JAS
CHKD:  GKM

PLATE D-5

STABILIZATION FILL DETAIL

FACE OF FINISHED SLOPE

COMPACTED FILL

MINIMUM 1' TILT BACK
OR 2% SLOPE
(WHICHEVER IS GREATER)

10' TYP.

2' MINIMUM
KEY DEPTH

3' TYPICAL
BLANKET FILL IF RECOMMENDED
BY THE GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

COMPETENT MATERIAL ACCEPTABLE
TO THE SOIL ENGINEER

KEYWAY WIDTH, AS SPECIFIED
BY THE GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

TOP WIDTH OF FILL
AS SPECIFIED BY THE
GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

BENCHING DIMENSIONS IN ACCORDANCE
WITH PLAN OR AS RECOMMENDED
BY THE GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER

4' TYP.

Item E - 491 of 2173



Item E - 492 of 2173



Item E - 493 of 2173



Item E - 494 of 2173



 

Item E - 495 of 2173



PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL BUILDING

DRAWN:  JLL
CHKD:  RGT

SCG PROJECT
22G233-1

PLATE E-1

SEISMIC DESIGN PARAMETERS - 2019 CBC

ONTARIO, CALIFORNIA
SOURCE: SEAOC/OSHPD Seismic Design Maps Tool

<https://seismicmaps.org/>

Item E - 496 of 2173



 

Item E - 497 of 2173



3

3

3

3

3

1

15

6± inches Asphaltic Concrete; No Discernible Aggregate Base
FILL: Gray Brown fine Sand, trace medium Sand, trace Silt,
loose-damp

@ 3½ feet, very loose

ALLUVIUM: Brown fine Sand, trace medium to coarse Sand, trace
Silt, medium dense-damp

Light Gray Brown fine to coarse Sand, trace fine to coarse Gravel,
dense-dry

Red Brown Silty fine Sand, trace to little Clay, light Iron Oxide
Staining, medium dense-moist to very moist

 Boring Terminated at 25'

7

4

14

13

27

34

29

FIELD RESULTS

WATER DEPTH:   Dry
CAVE DEPTH:   18 feet
READING TAKEN:   At Completion

G
R

A
P

H
IC

 L
O

G

BORING NO.
B-1

P
O

C
K

E
T

 P
E

N
.

(T
S

F
)

DRILLING DATE:   4/29/22
DRILLING METHOD:   Hollow Stem Auger
LOGGED BY:  Ryan Bremer

O
R

G
A

N
IC

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
 (

%
)

D
R

Y
 D

E
N

S
IT

Y
(P

C
F

)

D
E

P
T

H
 (

F
E

E
T

)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E
C

O
N

T
E

N
T

 (
%

)

JOB NO.:   22G180-1
PROJECT:   Proposed Industrial Building
LOCATION:   Ontario, California

PLATE  B-1

5

10

15

20

25

LABORATORY RESULTS

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

P
A

S
S

IN
G

#2
00

 S
IE

V
E

 (
%

)

B
LO

W
 C

O
U

N
T

DESCRIPTION

SURFACE ELEVATION:   ---  MSL LI
Q

U
ID

LI
M

IT

P
LA

S
T

IC
LI

M
IT

S
A

M
P

LE

TEST BORING LOG

T
B

L 
 2

2
G

18
0-

1.
G

P
J 

 S
O

C
A

LG
E

O
.G

D
T

  5
/2

5/
22

Item E - 498 of 2173



97

104

101

103

92

5

5

3

9

12

19

6± inches Asphaltic Concrete; No Discernible Aggregate Base
FILL: Gray to Gray Brown fine Sand, trace Silt, loose to medium
dense-damp

ALLUVIUM: Gray Brown fine Sand, trace to little medium to
coarse Sand, trace fine to coarse Gravel, medium dense-damp

Brown Silty fine Sand to fine Sandy Silt, trace medium to  coarse
Sand, Iron Oxide staining, medium dense-damp to very moist

@ 9 feet, little Iron Oxide staining

 Boring Terminated at 15'

@ 9 feet,
Disturbed Sample

23

14

20

18

16

20

FIELD RESULTS

WATER DEPTH:   Dry
CAVE DEPTH:   12 feet
READING TAKEN:   At Completion

G
R

A
P

H
IC

 L
O

G

BORING NO.
B-2

P
O

C
K

E
T

 P
E

N
.

(T
S

F
)

DRILLING DATE:   4/29/22
DRILLING METHOD:   Hollow Stem Auger
LOGGED BY:  Ryan Bremer

O
R

G
A

N
IC

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
 (

%
)

D
R

Y
 D

E
N

S
IT

Y
(P

C
F

)

D
E

P
T

H
 (

F
E

E
T

)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E
C

O
N

T
E

N
T

 (
%

)

JOB NO.:   22G180-1
PROJECT:   Proposed Industrial Building
LOCATION:   Ontario, California

PLATE  B-2

5

10

15

LABORATORY RESULTS

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

P
A

S
S

IN
G

#2
00

 S
IE

V
E

 (
%

)

B
LO

W
 C

O
U

N
T

DESCRIPTION

SURFACE ELEVATION:   ---  MSL LI
Q

U
ID

LI
M

IT

P
LA

S
T

IC
LI

M
IT

S
A

M
P

LE

TEST BORING LOG

T
B

L 
 2

2
G

18
0-

1.
G

P
J 

 S
O

C
A

LG
E

O
.G

D
T

  5
/2

5/
22

Item E - 499 of 2173



100

103

96

106

100

7

4

5

5

5

3

3

8± inches Asphaltic Concrete; no discernible Aggregate Base
FILL: Brown to Gray Brown Silty fine Sand, trace medium to
coarse Sand, loose to medium dense-damp

@ 3 feet, loose

ALLUVIUM: Light Brown fine Sand, little Silt, little medium to
coarse Sand, medium dense-damp

@ 9 feet, Brown fine Sand, trace Silt

Gray fine to medium Sand, medium-dense-damp

@ 18½ feet, trace coarse Sand, trace fine Gravel

 Boring Terminated at 20'

EI = 0 @ 0 to 5
feet

15

12

11

16

18

14

25

FIELD RESULTS

WATER DEPTH:   Dry
CAVE DEPTH:   18 feet
READING TAKEN:   At Completion

G
R

A
P

H
IC

 L
O

G

BORING NO.
B-3

P
O

C
K

E
T

 P
E

N
.

(T
S

F
)

DRILLING DATE:   4/29/22
DRILLING METHOD:   Hollow Stem Auger
LOGGED BY:  Ryan Bremer

O
R

G
A

N
IC

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
 (

%
)

D
R

Y
 D

E
N

S
IT

Y
(P

C
F

)

D
E

P
T

H
 (

F
E

E
T

)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E
C

O
N

T
E

N
T

 (
%

)

JOB NO.:   22G180-1
PROJECT:   Proposed Industrial Building
LOCATION:   Ontario, California

PLATE  B-3

5

10

15

20

LABORATORY RESULTS

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

P
A

S
S

IN
G

#2
00

 S
IE

V
E

 (
%

)

B
LO

W
 C

O
U

N
T

DESCRIPTION

SURFACE ELEVATION:   ---  MSL LI
Q

U
ID

LI
M

IT

P
LA

S
T

IC
LI

M
IT

S
A

M
P

LE

TEST BORING LOG

T
B

L 
 2

2
G

18
0-

1.
G

P
J 

 S
O

C
A

LG
E

O
.G

D
T

  5
/2

5/
22

Item E - 500 of 2173



2

6

6

6

3

4

3

6± Asphaltic Concrete; No Discernible Aggregate Base
FILL: Gray fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand, trace fine
Gravel, slightly mottled, medium dense-dry to damp

FILL: Gray Silty fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand, very
loose to loose-damp

ALLUVIUM: Brown Silty fine Sand, trace medium Sand, medium
dense-damp

Gray Brown fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand, little fine
Gravel, dense-damp

Brown fine Sand, trace medium to coarse Sand, medium
dense-damp

Gray Brown fine to coarse Sand, trace to little fine Gravel,
dense-damp

 Boring Terminated at 25'

14

4

12

27

36

23

40

FIELD RESULTS

WATER DEPTH:   Dry
CAVE DEPTH:   22 feet
READING TAKEN:   At Completion

G
R

A
P

H
IC

 L
O

G

BORING NO.
B-4

P
O

C
K

E
T

 P
E

N
.

(T
S

F
)

DRILLING DATE:   4/29/22
DRILLING METHOD:   Hollow Stem Auger
LOGGED BY:  Ryan Bremer

O
R

G
A

N
IC

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
 (

%
)

D
R

Y
 D

E
N

S
IT

Y
(P

C
F

)

D
E

P
T

H
 (

F
E

E
T

)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E
C

O
N

T
E

N
T

 (
%

)

JOB NO.:   22G180-1
PROJECT:   Proposed Industrial Building
LOCATION:   Ontario, California

PLATE  B-4

5

10

15

20

25

LABORATORY RESULTS

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

P
A

S
S

IN
G

#2
00

 S
IE

V
E

 (
%

)

B
LO

W
 C

O
U

N
T

DESCRIPTION

SURFACE ELEVATION:   ---  MSL LI
Q

U
ID

LI
M

IT

P
LA

S
T

IC
LI

M
IT

S
A

M
P

LE

TEST BORING LOG

T
B

L 
 2

2
G

18
0-

1.
G

P
J 

 S
O

C
A

LG
E

O
.G

D
T

  5
/2

5/
22

Item E - 501 of 2173



3

2

3

2

12± inches Asphaltic Concrete; No Discernible Aggregate Base

FILL: Gray fine Sand, trace medium to coarse Sand, medium
dense-damp

ALLUVIUM: Gray fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand, trace
fine Gravel, medium dense-dry

Brown fine Sand, trace medium to coarse Sand, trace fine Gravel,
medium dense-dry to damp

@ 8½ feet, trace coarse Gravel

Boring Terminated at 10'

12

16

14

23

FIELD RESULTS

WATER DEPTH:   Dry
CAVE DEPTH:   5 feet
READING TAKEN:   At Completion

G
R

A
P

H
IC

 L
O

G

BORING NO.
B-5

P
O

C
K

E
T

 P
E

N
.

(T
S

F
)

DRILLING DATE:   4/29/22
DRILLING METHOD:   Hollow Stem Auger
LOGGED BY:  Ryan Bremer

O
R

G
A

N
IC

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
 (

%
)

D
R

Y
 D

E
N

S
IT

Y
(P

C
F

)

D
E

P
T

H
 (

F
E

E
T

)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E
C

O
N

T
E

N
T

 (
%

)

JOB NO.:   22G180-1
PROJECT:   Proposed Industrial Building
LOCATION:   Ontario, California

PLATE  B-5

5

10

LABORATORY RESULTS

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

P
A

S
S

IN
G

#2
00

 S
IE

V
E

 (
%

)

B
LO

W
 C

O
U

N
T

DESCRIPTION

SURFACE ELEVATION:   ---  MSL LI
Q

U
ID

LI
M

IT

P
LA

S
T

IC
LI

M
IT

S
A

M
P

LE

TEST BORING LOG

T
B

L 
 2

2
G

18
0-

1.
G

P
J 

 S
O

C
A

LG
E

O
.G

D
T

  5
/2

5/
22

Item E - 502 of 2173



Classification: FILL: Gray Brown Silty fine Sand, trace medium to coarse Sand

Boring Number: B-3 Initial Moisture Content (%) 5

Sample Number: --- Final Moisture Content (%) 19

Depth (ft) 3 to 4 Initial Dry Density (pcf) 103.0

Specimen Diameter (in) 2.4 Final Dry Density (pcf) 110.0

Specimen Thickness (in) 1.0 Percent Collapse (%) 2.26

Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, CA
Project No. 22G180-1

PLATE C- 1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20
0.1 1 10 100

C
o

n
s
o

li
d

a
ti

o
n

S
tr

a
in

(%
)

Load (ksf)

Consolidation/Collapse Test Results

Water Added
at 1600 psf

Item E - 503 of 2173



Classification: FILL: Gray Brown Silty fine Sand, trace medium to coarse Sand

Boring Number: B-3 Initial Moisture Content (%) 5

Sample Number: --- Final Moisture Content (%) 21

Depth (ft) 5 to 6 Initial Dry Density (pcf) 96.8

Specimen Diameter (in) 2.4 Final Dry Density (pcf) 102.6

Specimen Thickness (in) 1.0 Percent Collapse (%) 0.46

Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, CA
Project No. 22G180-1

PLATE C- 2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20
0.1 1 10 100

C
o

n
s
o

li
d

a
ti

o
n

S
tr

a
in

(%
)

Load (ksf)

Consolidation/Collapse Test Results

Water Added
at 1600 psf

Item E - 504 of 2173



Classification: Brown fine Sand, little Silt and medium to coarse Sand

Boring Number: B-3 Initial Moisture Content (%) 5

Sample Number: --- Final Moisture Content (%) 17

Depth (ft) 7 to 8 Initial Dry Density (pcf) 105.8

Specimen Diameter (in) 2.4 Final Dry Density (pcf) 111.2

Specimen Thickness (in) 1.0 Percent Collapse (%) 0.74

Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, CA
Project No. 22G180-1

PLATE C- 3

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20
0.1 1 10 100

C
o

n
s
o

li
d

a
ti

o
n

S
tr

a
in

(%
)

Load (ksf)

Consolidation/Collapse Test Results

Water Added
at 1600 psf

Item E - 505 of 2173



Classification: Brown fine Sand, little Silt and medium to coarse Sand

Boring Number: B-3 Initial Moisture Content (%) 5

Sample Number: --- Final Moisture Content (%) 21

Depth (ft) 9 to 10 Initial Dry Density (pcf) 98.5

Specimen Diameter (in) 2.4 Final Dry Density (pcf) 103.3

Specimen Thickness (in) 1.0 Percent Collapse (%) 0.41

Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, CA
Project No. 22G180-1

PLATE C- 4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20
0.1 1 10 100

C
o

n
s
o

li
d

a
ti

o
n

S
tr

a
in

(%
)

Load (ksf)

Consolidation/Collapse Test Results

Water Added
at 1600 psf

Item E - 506 of 2173



Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, CA
Project No. 22G180-1

PLATE C- 5

110

112

114

116

118

120

122

124

126

128

130

132

4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18

D
ry

D
e

n
s

it
y

(l
b

s
/f

t3
)

Moisture Content (%)

Moisture/Density Relationship
ASTM D-1557

Soil ID Number B-3 @ 0-5 feet
Optimum Moisture (%) 9

Maximum Dry Density (pcf) 127

Soil Brown to Gray Brown

Classification Silty fine to coarse Sand

Zero Air Voids Curve:
Specific Gravity = 2.7

Item E - 507 of 2173



PALEONTOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT  
FOR THE  

1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET PROJECT 
 

CITY OF ONTARIO, 
SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

 
APNs 0113-381-03, -04, -05, and -06 

 

 
Prepared for: 

EPD Solutions 
2355 Main Street, Suite 100 

Irvine, California  92614 
 
 

Submitted to: 

City of Ontario 
Planning Department 

303 East B Street 
Ontario, California  91764 

 
 

Prepared by: 
Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. 

14010 Poway Road, Suite A 
Poway, California  92064 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

October 18, 2022 

Item E - 508 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

Paleontological Database Information 
 
 

 Author: Todd A. Wirths, M.S., Senior Paleontologist, California 
Professional Geologist No. 7588  

 
 Consulting Firm: Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. 

   14010 Poway Road, Suite A 
   Poway, California 92064 
   (858) 679-8218 

 
 Report Date: October 18, 2022 

 
 Report Title: Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street 

Project, City of Ontario, San Bernardino County, California  
 

  Prepared for: EPD Solutions 
   2355 Main Street, Suite 100 
   Irvine, California  92614 
 
  Submitted to: City of Ontario 
   Planning Department 
   303 East B Street 
   Ontario, California  91764 

 
  Prepared by: Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. 

  14010 Poway Road, Suite A 
  Poway, California  92064 

 
 USGS Quadrangle: USGS Ontario, California (7.5-minute), Section 33, Township 1 

South, Range 7 West 
 

 Study Area: 7.01 acres 
 
 Assessor’s Parcel Numbers: 0113-381-03, -04, -05, and -06 

 
 Key Words:  Paleontological assessment; Pleistocene alluvial fan deposits; 

High sensitivity; City of Ontario. 
 
 
 
  

Item E - 509 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

Table of Contents 

Section Page 
 
  I.   INTRODUCTION AND LOCATION ...................................................................... 1 
  II.   REGULATORY SETTING ...................................................................................... 1 
   State of California .................................................................................................... 1 

City of Ontario ........................................................................................................... 4 
  III. GEOLOGY ................................................................................................................ 5 
  IV.  PALEONTOLOGICAL RESOURCES ..................................................................... 7 

Definition ................................................................................................................... 7 
Fossil Locality Search ............................................................................................... 7 
Project Survey ........................................................................................................... 7 

  V.   PALEONTOLOGICAL SENSITIVITY ................................................................... 8 
Overview .................................................................................................................... 8 
Professional Standards ............................................................................................. 8 
City of Ontario Assessment of Paleontological Sensitivity ...................................... 9 

  VI.  CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS ...................................................... 9 
  VII. CERTIFICATION ................................................................................................... 11 
  VIII. REFERENCES ....................................................................................................... 11 

 
 

Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Qualifications of Key Personnel 
Appendix B – Fossil Locality Search Report 
 
 

List of Figures 
Figure Page 
  
Figure 1 General Location Map ................................................................................ 2 
Figure 2 Project Location Map .................................................................................. 3 
Figure 3 Geologic Map .............................................................................................. 6 
  

Item E - 510 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

1 

I. INTRODUCTION AND LOCATION 
 

A paleontological resource assessment has been completed for the 1600 East Francis Street 
Project located on the south side of East Francis Street between Walker and Baker avenues in the 
city of Ontario, San Bernardino County, California (Figures 1 and 2).  The project consists of four 
parcels (Assessor’s Parcel Number [APN] 0113-381-03, -04, -05, and -06) totaling 7.01 acres.  On 
the U.S. Geological Survey 7.5-minute, 1:24,000-scale Guasti, California topographic quadrangle 
map, the project is situated within Section 33, Township 1 South, Range 7 West, of the San 
Bernardino Baseline and Meridian (see Figure 2).  The property, which is entirely developed for 
commercial/industrial use, is being considered for re-development as a 167,850 square-foot 
commercial warehouse. 

As the lead agency, the City of Ontario has required the preparation of a paleontological 
assessment to evaluate the project’s potential to yield paleontological resources.  The 
paleontological assessment of the project included a review of paleontological literature and fossil 
locality records for a previous project in the area; a review of the underlying geology; and 
recommendations to mitigate impacts to potential paleontological resources.    
 
II. REGULATORY SETTING 
 
 The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), which is patterned after the National 
Environmental Policy Act, is the overriding environmental regulation that sets the requirement for 
protecting California’s paleontological resources.  CEQA mandates that governing permitting 
agencies (lead agencies) set their own guidelines for the protection of nonrenewable 
paleontological resources under their jurisdiction. 
 
State of California 

Under “Guidelines for Implementation of the California Environmental Quality Act,” as 
amended in December 2018 (California Code of Regulations [CCR] Title 14, Division 6, Chapter 
3, Sections 15000 et seq.), procedures define the types of activities, persons, and public agencies 
required to comply with CEQA.  Section 15063 of the CCR provides a process by which a lead 
agency may review a project’s potential impact to the environment, whether the impacts are 
significant, and provide recommendations, if necessary.   

Item E - 511 of 2173



Item E - 512 of 2173



Item E - 513 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

4 

In CEQA’s Environmental Checklist Form, one of the questions to answer is, “Would the 
project directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic 
feature?” (Appendix G, Section VII, Part f).  This is to ensure compliance with California Public 
Resources Code Section 5097.5, the law that protects nonrenewable resources, including fossils, 
which is paraphrased below: 
 

a) A person shall not knowingly and willfully excavate upon, or remove, destroy, 
injure or deface any historic or prehistoric ruins, burial grounds, archaeological 
or vertebrate paleontological site, including fossilized footprints, inscriptions 
made by human agency, rock art, or any other archaeological, paleontological 
or historical feature, situated on public lands, except with the express 
permission of the public agency having jurisdiction over such lands.   

b) As used in this section, “public lands” means lands owned by, or under the 
jurisdiction of, the state, or any city, county, district, authority, or public 
corporation, or any agency thereof. 

c) A violation of this section is a misdemeanor. 
 
City of Ontario 

The Ontario Plan Draft Environmental Impact Report (EIR) sets forth goals and policies 
for the City to manage future growth and land uses.  According to Impact 5.5-2 of the Ontario Plan 
Draft EIR: 
 

The City of Ontario is underlain by deposits of Quaternary and upper-Pleistocene 
sediments deposited during Pliocene and early Pleistocene time.  Quaternary Older 
Alluvial sediments may contain significant, nonrenewable, paleontological 
resources and are therefore considered to have high sensitivity.  Older Pleistocene 
alluvial sediments can yield fossil remains, often found at depths of 10 feet or more 
below existing ground surface.  In addition, there has been one paleontological 
resource (SBCM 5.1.8) discovered within the City’s boundaries [mammoth 
remains west of Fontana approximately 20 feet below the surface].  As a result, the 
possibility of finding additional paleontological resources within City boundaries 
is moderate to high at depths of 10 feet or more below ground surface.  (The 
Planning Center 2009) 

 
To mitigate the potential impacts identified in Impact 5.5-2, the Ontario Plan Draft EIR 

proposes the following mitigation measures: 
 
In areas of documented or inferred archaeological and/or paleontological resource 
presence, City staff shall require applicants for development permits to provide 

Item E - 514 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

5 

studies to document the presence/absence of such resources.  On properties where 
resources are identified, such studies shall provide a detailed mitigation plan, 
including a monitoring program and recovery and/or in situ preservation plan, 
based on the recommendations of a qualified cultural preservation expert.  The 
mitigation plan shall include the following requirements: 
 
a) Archaeologists and/or paleontologists shall be retained for the project and 

will be on call during grading and other significant ground-disturbing 
activities. 

b) Should any cultural/scientific resources be discovered, no further grading 
shall occur in the area of the discovery until the Planning Director is 
satisfied that adequate provisions are in place to protect these resources. 

c) Unanticipated discoveries shall be evaluated for significance by a San 
Bernardino County Certified Professional Archaeologist/Paleontologist.  If 
significance criteria are met, then the project shall be required to perform 
data recovery, professional identification, radiocarbon dates, and other 
special studies; submit materials to a museum for permanent curation; and 
provide a comprehensive final report including catalog with museum 
numbers.  (The Planning Center 2009) 

 
III. GEOLOGY 
 

The project is located in the middle of the Pomona Valley, the surface of which is mostly 
covered by Holocene to late Pleistocene-aged, alluvial-fan deposits, characterized as slightly to 
moderately consolidated silt, sand, and coarse-grained sand to bouldery alluvial-fan deposits 
having moderately dissected surfaces (yellow areas labeled “Qyf1” on Figure 3, after Morton and 
Miller 2006).  The project’s southeastern area is mapped as middle Holocene-aged young alluvial-
fan deposits, “Unit 3,” composed of slightly to moderately consolidated sandy deposits having 
slightly to moderately dissected surfaces (gray areas labeled “Qyf3a” on Figure 3).  Nearby, 
artificial fill deposits indicate the footprint of the Ontario International Airport north of the project 
(brown area labeled “Qaf”), and to the west, a north-south oriented drainage (Cucamonga Creek) 
is lined with late Holocene young alluvial-fan deposits, “Unit 5” (pale yellow lineament labeled 
“Qyf5”).   

 
  

Item E - 515 of 2173



Item E - 516 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

7 

IV. PALEONTOLOGICAL RESOURCES 
 
Definition 
 Paleontological resources are the remains of prehistoric life that have been preserved in 
geologic strata.  These remains are called fossils and include bones, shells, teeth, and plant remains 
(including their impressions, casts, and molds) in the sedimentary matrix, as well as trace fossils 
such as footprints and burrows.  Fossils are considered older than 5,000 years of age (Society of 
Vertebrate Paleontology 2010) but may include younger remains (subfossils) when viewed in the 
context of local extinction of the organism or habitat, for example.  Fossils are considered a 
nonrenewable resource under state and local guidelines (see Section II of this report). 
 
Fossil Locality Search 

A paleontological literature review and collections and records search was performed for 
the project by the Division of Geological Sciences at the San Bernardino County Museum (SBCM; 
Kottcamp 2022, attached).  The record search indicated that no known fossils are recorded within 
the subject property or in the immediate vicinity of the project.  The closest fossil localities held 
by the SBCM are situated approximately 3.5 miles to southeast, consisting of the likely 
Pleistocene-aged bones from a mastodon and a camel (SBCM localities [locs.] 5.1.23 – 5.1.27).   
Mammoth remains were found farther to the east, probably along Champagne Avenue (SBCM loc. 
5.1.8; The Planning Center 2009; Jefferson 2009).  Kottcamp (2022) describes this locality as six 
feet deep, but the City’s Plan Draft EIR lists the locality as 20 feet deep (The Planning Center 
2009).  In addition, Kottcamp (2022) indicated that the deposits mapped at the surface of the 
project are unlikely to yield fossils, but the underlying, older deposits “have been found to be 
highly fossiliferous in the local area.” 

A paleontological literature review and collections and records search was performed for 
the project with collection and locality records searches using reports obtained for prior nearby 
projects from the Los Angeles County Museum of Natural History (LACM), the Western Science 
Center (WSC), and finally, with data from published and unpublished paleontological literature 
(i.e., Jefferson 2009).  Prior record searches indicated that the LACM has no known fossil localities 
near the project.  Holdings at the WSC record a locality approximately 4.5 miles to the south, near 
Merrill Avenue, yielding sparse mammalian remains that include a large bovid-like artiodactyl 
(even-toed grazer) from about five to seven feet deep (WSC locality no. WSC-2021-197; Wirths 
2021).  Several other fossil localities held by the SBCM were recovered nearby in southwestern 
Fontana.  All of these localities are late Pleistocene in age. 

 
Project Survey 

On October 11, 2022, BFSA staff, under the supervision of Principal Investigator Todd A. 
Wirths, conducted a field survey of the property to determine if any paleontological resources were 
visible.  The field methodology employed for the project included walking evenly spaced survey 

Item E - 517 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

8 

transects set approximately 10 meters apart while visually inspecting the ground surface, when 
possible.  All potentially sensitive areas where paleontological resources might be located were 
closely inspected.  The property was entirely paved and developed with buildings.  No bedrock 
outcrops were exposed that might indicate the presence of fossils.  No paleontological resources, 
or evidence of paleontological resources, were observed during the survey. 

 
V. PALEONTOLOGICAL SENSITIVITY 
 
Overview 

The degree of paleontological sensitivity of any particular area is based on a number of 
factors, including the documented presence of fossiliferous resources on a site or in nearby areas, 
the presence of documented fossils within a particular geologic formation or lithostratigraphic unit, 
and whether or not the original depositional environment of the sediments is one that might have 
been conducive to the accumulation of organic remains that might have become fossilized over 
time.  Holocene alluvium is generally considered to be geologically too young to contain 
significant nonrenewable paleontological resources (i.e., fossils) and is thus typically assigned a 
low paleontological sensitivity.  Pleistocene (over 11,700 years old) alluvial and alluvial fan 
deposits in the Inland Empire, such as those that are mapped at the project (“Qyf1” on Figure 3), 
however, often yield important terrestrial vertebrate fossils, such as extinct mammoths, mastodons, 
giant ground sloths, extinct species of horse, bison, camel, saber-toothed cats, and others (Jefferson 
2009).  These Pleistocene sediments are thus accorded a High paleontological resource sensitivity.   
 
Professional Standards 
 The Society of Vertebrate Paleontology (2010) has drafted guidelines that include four 
categories of paleontological sensitivity for geologic units (formations) that might be impacted by 
a proposed project, summarized below: 
 

• High Potential:  Rock units from which vertebrate or significant invertebrate, plant, or 
trace fossils have been recovered.   

• Undetermined Potential:  Rock units for which little information is available 
concerning their paleontological content, geologic age, and depositional environment, 
and further study is needed to determine the potential of the rock unit. 

• Low Potential:  Rock units that are poorly represented by fossil specimens in 
institutional collections or based on a general scientific consensus that only preserve 
fossils in rare circumstances. 

• No Potential:  Rock units that have no potential to contain significant paleontological 
resources, such as high-grade metamorphic rocks and plutonic igneous rocks. 

 
 

Item E - 518 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

9 

Using these criteria, based on the presence of buried, age-appropriate geologic deposits at 
the project that likely yielded the fossils in southern and eastern Ontario, the alluvial fan deposits 
at the surface of the project may be considered to have a low potential for paleontological 
resources, but increase to an undetermined to high potential for yielding significant paleontological 
resources with increasing depth and older age.   
 
City of Ontario Assessment of Paleontological Sensitivity 

The City of Ontario considers strata at depths of 10 feet or greater as having a moderate to 
high paleontological sensitivity.  As such, the potential to uncover undiscovered paleontological 
resources is considered high (The Planning Center 2009: p. 5.5-20). 
 
VI. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Research has confirmed the existence of potentially fossiliferous late Pleistocene alluvial 
fan deposits (“Qyf1” on Figure 3) at the project.  These deposits also likely underlie the Holocene 
young alluvial-fan sediments mapped at the surface (“Qyf3a” on Figure 3) of the southeast corner 
of the project.  The occurrence of terrestrial vertebrate fossils at shallow depths from Pleistocene 
alluvial-fan sediments across the Inland Empire is well documented.  The “High” paleontological 
sensitivity rating typically assigned to Pleistocene alluvial-fan sediments for yielding 
paleontological resources supports the recommendation that paleontological monitoring be 
implemented during mass grading and excavation activities in undisturbed Pleistocene alluvial-
fan sediments to mitigate any adverse impacts (loss or destruction) to potential nonrenewable 
paleontological resources.  Full-time monitoring of undisturbed alluvial-fan deposits at the project 
is warranted starting at a depth of five feet below the surface.   

If a fossil(s) is found at shallower depths, earth disturbance activities should be halted 
within a radius of 50 feet from the location of the fossil, and a qualified, project-level 
paleontologist shall be consulted to determine the significance of the fossilized remains.  If the 
fossil is deemed significant by the paleontologist, full-time monitoring should be initiated at the 
project. 

Based on the conclusions and recommendations outlined above, a Paleontological 
Resources Impact Mitigation Program (PRIMP) is recommended prior to approval of the grading 
permit.  A suggested PRIMP is outlined below.  When implemented with the provisions of CEQA, 
the City of Ontario (The Planning Center 2009), and the guidelines of the Society of Vertebrate 
Paleontology (2010), this PRIMP would mitigate any adverse impacts (loss or destruction) to 
potential nonrenewable paleontological resources (fossils), if present, to a level below significant: 

 
1. Monitoring of mass grading and excavation activities shall be performed by a qualified 

paleontologist or paleontological monitor.  Starting at a depth of five feet, monitoring 
will be conducted full-time in areas of grading or excavation in undisturbed sediments 

Item E - 519 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

10 

of alluvial-fan deposits (“Qyf1” on Figure 3).  
2. If a fossil(s) is found at a shallower depth, earth disturbance activities should be halted 

within a radius of 50 feet from the location of the fossil, and a project-level 
paleontologist shall be consulted to determine the significance of the fossilized 
remains.  If the fossil is deemed significant by the project-level paleontologist, full-
time monitoring should be initiated at the project. 

3. Paleontological monitors will be equipped to salvage fossils as they are unearthed to 
avoid construction delays.  The monitor must be empowered to temporarily halt or 
divert equipment to allow removal of abundant or large specimens in a timely manner.  
Monitoring may be reduced if the potentially fossiliferous units are not present in the 
subsurface, or, if present, are determined on exposure and examination by qualified 
paleontological personnel to have low potential to contain fossil resources.  The 
monitor shall notify the project paleontologist, who will then notify the concerned 
parties of the discovery. 

4. Paleontological salvage during trenching and boring activities is typically from the 
generated spoils and does not delay the trenching or drilling activities.  Fossils will be 
collected and placed in cardboard flats or plastic buckets and identified by field 
number, collector, and date collected.  Notes will be taken on the map location and 
stratigraphy of the site, which will be photographed before it is vacated, and the fossils 
are removed to a safe place.  On mass grading projects, discovered fossil sites will be 
protected by flagging to prevent them from being overrun by earthmovers (scrapers) 
before salvage begins.  Fossils will be collected in a similar manner, with notes and 
photographs being taken before removing the fossils.  Precise location of the site is 
determined with the use of handheld GPS units.  If the site involves remains from a 
large terrestrial vertebrate, such as large bone(s) or a mammoth tusk, that is/are too 
large to be easily removed by a single monitor, a fossil recovery crew shall excavate 
around the find, encase the find within a plaster and burlap jacket, and remove it after 
the plaster is set.  For large fossils, use of the contractor’s construction equipment may 
be solicited to help remove the jacket to a safe location. 

5. In accordance with the “Microfossil Salvage” section of the Society of Vertebrate 
Paleontology guidelines (2010:7), bulk sampling and screening of fine-grained 
sedimentary deposits (including carbonate-rich paleosols) must be performed if the 
deposits are identified to possess indications of producing fossil “microvertebrates” to 
test the feasibility of the deposit to yield fossil bones and teeth.  

6. In the laboratory, individual fossils will be cleaned of extraneous matrix, any breaks 
will be repaired, and the specimen, if needed, will be stabilized by soaking in an 
archivally approved acrylic hardener (e.g., a solution of acetone and Paraloid B-72). 

7. Recovered specimens will be prepared to a point of identification and permanent 
preservation (not display), including screen-washing sediments to recover small 

Item E - 520 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

11 

invertebrates and vertebrates.  Preparation of individual vertebrate fossils is often more 
time-consuming than for accumulations of invertebrate fossils. 

8. Identification and curation of specimens into a professional, accredited public museum 
repository with a commitment to archival conservation and permanent retrievable 
storage (e.g., SBCM) shall be conducted.  The paleontological program should include 
a written repository agreement prior to the initiation of mitigation activities.  Prior to 
curation, the lead agency (e.g., the City of Ontario) will be consulted on the 
repository/museum to receive the fossil material.   

9. A final report of findings and significance will be prepared, including lists of all fossils 
recovered and necessary maps and graphics to accurately record their original 
location(s).  The report, when submitted to and accepted by the appropriate lead 
agency, will signify satisfactory completion of the project program to mitigate impacts 
to any potential nonrenewable paleontological resources (i.e., fossils) that might have 
been lost or otherwise adversely affected without such a program in place.    

 
VII. CERTIFICATION 
 
 I hereby certify that the statements furnished above and in the attached exhibits present the 
data and information required for this paleontological report, and that the facts, statements, and 
information presented are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief, and have been 
compiled in accordance with CEQA criteria.   
 
 
         October 18, 2022 
 Todd A. Wirths      Date 
 Senior Paleontologist 
 California Professional Geologist No. 7588 
 
VIII. REFERENCES 
 
Jefferson, G.T.  2009.  [A] Catalogue of late Quaternary vertebrates from California.  Unpublished 

draft manuscript dated 11 March 2009, revised from the 1991 Natural History Museum of 
Los Angeles County publication: Technical Reports, no. 7: i-v + 1-129. 

 
Kottcamp, S.  2022.  Paleontology records review for proposed site of 1600 East Francis Street 

project, Ontario, San Bernardino County, California.  Unpublished letter for Brian F. Smith 
and Associates, Inc., Poway, California, by the San Bernardino County Museum, Redlands, 
California.  (attached) 

 

Item E - 521 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

12 

Morton, D.M. and Miller, F.K.  2006.  Geologic map of the San Bernardino and Santa Ana 30' x 
60' quadrangles, California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 06-1217, scale 
1:100,000. 

 
Society of Vertebrate Paleontology.  2010.  Standard procedures for the assessment and mitigation 

of adverse impacts to paleontological resources; by the SVP Impact Mitigation Guidelines 
Revision Committee.  Electronic document, https://vertpaleo.org/wp-
content/uploads/2021/01/SVP_Impact_Mitigation_Guidelines-1.pdf. 

 
The Planning Center.  2009.  Chapter 5.  Environmental Analysis.  The Ontario Plan Draft 

Environmental Impact Report, SCH No. 2008101140, Volume I.  Prepared for the City of 
Ontario by The Planning Center, Costa Mesa, California.  https://www.ontarioplan.org/wp-
content/uploads/sites/4/2016/05/31692.pdf. 

 
Wirths, T.A.  2021.  Paleontological Monitoring Report for the Ontario 432 Project, City of 

Ontario, San Bernardino County, California (TR 18929 and 18930).  Unpublished 
consulting report for Landsea Homes, Irvine, California, by Brian F. Smith and Associates, 
Inc., Poway, California. 

Item E - 522 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

Qualifications of Key Personnel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Item E - 523 of 2173



Todd A. Wirths, MS, PG No. 7588 

Senior Paleontologist 
Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc. 
14010 Poway Road � Suite A �  
Phone: (858) 679-8218 � Fax: (858) 679-9896 � E-Mail: twirths@bfsa-ca.com  

 
 

Education 

Master of Science, Geological Sciences, San Diego State University, California                         1995 

Bachelor of Arts, Earth Sciences, University of California, Santa Cruz                     1992 

Professional Certifications 

California Professional Geologist #7588, 2003 
Riverside County Approved Paleontologist 
San Diego County Qualified Paleontologist 
Orange County Certified Paleontologist 
OSHA HAZWOPER 40-hour trained; current 8-hour annual refresher 

Professional Memberships 

Board member, San Diego Geological Society 
San Diego Association of Geologists; past President (2012) and Vice President (2011) 
South Coast Geological Society 
Southern California Paleontological Society 

Experience 

Mr. Wirths has more than a dozen years of professional experience as a senior-level paleontologist 
throughout southern California.  He is also a certified California Professional Geologist.  At BFSA, Mr. 
Wirths conducts on-site paleontological monitoring, trains and supervises junior staff, and performs all 
research and reporting duties for locations throughout Los Angeles, Ventura, San Bernardino, Riverside, 
Orange, San Diego, and Imperial Counties.  Mr. Wirths was formerly a senior project manager 
conducting environmental investigations and remediation projects for petroleum hydrocarbon-
impacted sites across southern California. 

Selected Recent Reports 

2019	 Paleontological	Assessment	for	the	10575	Foothill	Boulevard	Project,	City	of	Rancho	Cucamonga,	
San	Bernardino	County,	California.	 	Prepared	for	T&B	Planning,	Inc.	 	Report	on	file	at	Brian	F.	
Smith	and	Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2019	 Paleontological	 Assessment	 for	 the	 MorningStar	 Marguerite	 Project,	 Mission	 Viejo,	 Orange	

County,	California.		Prepared	for	T&B	Planning.		Report	on	file	at	Brian	F.	Smith	and	Associates,	
Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	

Item E - 524 of 2173



Brian F. Smith and Associates, Inc.  2 

2019	 Paleontological	Monitoring	Report	for	the	Nimitz	Crossing	Project,	City	of	San	Diego.	 	Prepared	
for	Voltaire	24,	LP.		Report	on	file	at	Brian	F.	Smith	and	Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2019	 Paleontological	Resource	Impact	Mitigation	Program	(PRIMP)	for	the	Jack	Rabbit	Trail	Logistics	

Center	 Project,	 City	 of	 Beaumont,	 Riverside	 County,	 California.	 	 Prepared	 for	 JRT	 BP	 1,	 LLC.		
Report	on	file	at	Brian	F.	Smith	and	Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2020	 Paleontological	Monitoring	Report	 for	 the	Oceanside	Beachfront	Resort	Project,	Oceanside,	San	

California.		Prepared	for	S.D.	Malkin	Properties.		Report	on	file	at	Brian	F.	Smith	and	Associates,	
Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2020	 Paleontological	Resource	Impact	Mitigation	Program	for	the	Nakase	Project,	Lake	Forest,	Orange	

County,	 San	 California.	 	Prepared	 for	Glenn	Lukos	Associates,	 Inc.	 	 Report	 on	 file	 at	Brian	 F.	
Smith	and	Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2020		 Paleontological	Resource	Impact	Mitigation	Program	for	the	Sunset	Crossroads	Project,	Banning,	

Riverside	County.		Prepared	for NP	Banning	Industrial,	LLC.		Report	on	file	at	Brian	F.	Smith	and	
Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2020	 Paleontological	 Assessment	 for	 the	 Ortega	 Plaza	 Project,	 Lake	 Elsinore,	 Riverside	 County.		

Prepared	 for	 Empire	 Design	 Group.	 	 Report	 on	 file	 at	 Brian	 F.	 Smith	 and	 Associates,	 Inc.,	
Poway,	California.	

	
2020	 Paleontological	Resource	Record	Search	Update	for	the	Green	River	Ranch	III	Project,	Green	River	

Ranch	Specific	Plan	SP00-001,	City	of	Corona,	California.		Prepared	for	Western	Realco.		Report	
on	file	at	Brian	F.	Smith	and	Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2020	 Paleontological	Assessment	for	the	Cypress/Slover	Industrial	Center	Project,	City	of	Fontana,	San	

Bernardino	County,	California.		Prepared	for	T&B	Planning,	Inc.		Report	on	file	at	Brian	F.	Smith	
and	Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2020	 Paleontological	 Monitoring	 Report	 for	 the	 Imperial	 Landfill	 Expansion	 Project	 (Phase	 VI,	

Segment	C-2),	Imperial	County,	California.		Prepared	for	Republic	Services,	Inc.		Report	on	file	at	
Brian	F.	Smith	and	Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2021	 Paleontological	Assessment	for	the	Manitou	Court	Logistics	Center	Project,	City	of	Jurupa	Valley,	

Riverside	County,	California.		Prepared	for	Link	Industrial.		Report	on	file	at	Brian	F.	Smith	and	
Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2021	 Paleontological	 Resource	 Impact	 Mitigation	 Program	 for	 the	 Del	 Oro	 (Tract	 36852)	 Project,	

Menifee,	 Riverside	 County.	 	 Prepared	 for	 D.R.	 Horton.	 	 Report	 on	 file	 at	 Brian	 F.	 Smith	 and	
Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2021	 Paleontological	Assessment	for	the	Alessandro	Corporate	Center	Project	(Planning	Case	PR-2020-

000519),	 City	 of	 Riverside,	 Riverside	 County,	 California.	 	 Prepared	 for	 OZI	 Alessandro,	 LLC.		
Report	on	file	at	Brian	F.	Smith	and	Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

	
2021	 Paleontological	 Monitoring	 Report	 for	 the	 Boardwalk	 Project,	 La	 Jolla,	 City	 of	 San	 Diego.		

Prepared	 for	 Project	 Management	 Advisors,	 Inc.	 	 Report	 on	 file	 at	 Brian	 F.	 Smith	 and	
Associates,	Inc.,	Poway,	California.	

Item E - 525 of 2173



Paleontological Assessment for the 1600 East Francis Street Project 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

Fossil Locality Search Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Item E - 526 of 2173



 

 

 

          

22 September, 2022  

Brian F. Smith & Associates, Inc. 

Attn: Todd Wirths 

14010 Poway Road, Suite A 

Poway, CA 92064  

PALEONTOLOGY RECORDS REVIEW for proposed site of 1600 East Francis 

Street project, Ontario, San Bernardino County, California 

Dear Mr. Wirths,  

The Division of Earth Science of the San Bernardino County Museum (SBCM) has 

completed a records search for the above-named project in San Bernardino County, California. 

The proposed project site (1600 East Francis Street) is in the City of Ontario, California as shown 

on the United States Geological Survey (USGS) 7.5 minute Guasti, California quadrangle.  

Geologic mapping of that region done by Morton and Miller (2006) indicates the entire 

project area is located atop two distinct recent alluvial surficial deposits of Holocene age (Qa): 

Qyf1 and Qyf3. Surficial Qyf1 is situated on the west side of the project site, as part of a thin stretch 

of sediment that roughly runs alongside the west bank of Cucamonga Creek. By contrast, Qyf3 

has a wide surface distribution spreading from west of Cucamonga creek to the Puente Hills, 

north to the foothills of the San Gabriel Mountains, and south as far as Chino Airport. Qyf1 is older 

than Qyf3, with the former being of late Pleistocene to early Holocene age while the latter dates 

to the middle Holocene. Qyf1 is a slightly-to-moderately consolidated, indistinctly stratified, 

mixture of silt, medium-to-coarse grained sand, and boulders – the unit is much coarser in the 

region south of the San Gabriel Mountains than elsewhere (Morton and Miller 2006). Qyf3 

consists of slightly-to-moderately consolidated silt and sand, with incipient soil development and 

pebbly inclusions. Qyf3 is often brown in color and pebbles may regionally form lenses (Morton 

and Miller 2006). Qyf1 and Qyf3 are unlikely to be fossiliferous, but directly overlie ~1.8 million to 

Museum 
Division of Earth Science 

Scott  Kottkamp 
Curator of Earth Science 

 

 

2024 Orange Tree Lane, Redlands, California 92374   |   Phone: 909.798.8608    

Item E - 527 of 2173



1600 East Francis Street Project, Ontario, CA 
September 23rd, 2022 
PAGE 2 of 3 
 

 
 

~11,000 year old Pleistocene alluvial deposits (Qoa) that are (Reynolds and Reynolds 1991). Qoa 

is variable in its precise lithology, and often appears similar to Qa units except more consolidated. 

Such older alluvial deposits have been found to be highly fossiliferous in the local area, yielding 

the remains of mastodons, mammoths, camels, horses, bison, and ground sloths, as well as 

microfossils including rodents (Reynolds and Reynolds 1991). 

For this review, I conducted a search of the Regional Paleontological Locality Inventory 

(RPLI) at the SBCM. The results of this search indicate that no paleontological resources have 

been discovered within the proposed project site, nor within 1 mile of its perimeter. The nearest 

fossil localities, SBCM 5.1.23 – 5.1.27, are located 3.5 miles southeast of the project site within a 

fenced off detention basin. Sediments range from a light brownish to gray silty fine sand at SBCM 

5.1.23 to a pale yellow siltstone at SBCM 5.1.24, with other localities exhibiting slight deviations 

of the former. The various silty sandstones are indistinct in their stratification, but the contact 

with the yellow siltstone is better defined. Several isolated permineralized bones of Camelops sp. 

and a permineralized Mammut pacificus rib fragment were found at these localities. The M. 

pacificus rib fragment, found at SBCM 5.1.27 in a grey and very fine silty sand, was misidentified 

as a Bison sp. horn core in the preliminary mitigation report. The next closest fossil locality to the 

project site is SBCM 5.1.8, 3.9 miles east of the project site. SBCM 5.1.8 was discovered in Qoa 

underlying Holocene age eolian clay and sand (Qye; Morton et al. 2003) during the excavation of 

a borrow pit for the Cal Trans I-15 project in 1985. This sediment in this pit has since been partially 

replaced with artificial fill (Qaf). Premineralized Mammuthus columbi bones were collected from 

the southwest corner of the borrow pit at a depth of approximately six feet, after being 

uncovered by an equipment operator. No other SBCM paleontological localities were recorded 

within a radius of 5 miles from the project site’s perimeter. 

This records search covers only the paleontological records of the San Bernardino County 

Museum.  It is not intended to be a thorough paleontological survey of the proposed project area 

covering other institutional records, a literature survey, or any potential on-site survey. 

Please do not hesitate to contact us with any further questions that you may have. 

Sincerely, 

 
Scott Kottkamp, Curator of Earth Science 
Division of Earth Science 
San Bernardino County Museum 
 

Item E - 528 of 2173



1600 East Francis Street Project, Ontario, CA 
September 23rd, 2022 
PAGE 3 of 3 
 

 
 

Literature Cited 
Morton, D.M., and F.K. Miller. 2006. Geologic map of the San Bernardino and Santa Ana 30’ x 60’ 

quadrangles, California. U.S. Geological Survey. Open-File Report OF-2006-1217. Scale 
1:100,000. Available at:  

 https://ngmdb.usgs.gov/Prodesc/proddesc_78686.htm (Accessed September 22nd, 2022) 
 
Morton, D.M., F.K. Miller, P.M. Cossette, and K.R. Bovard. 2003. Preliminary geologic map of the San 

Bernardino 30’ x 60’ quadrangle, California. U.S. Geological Survey. Open-File Report OF-2003-
293. Scale 1:100,000. Available at:  

 https://ngmdb.usgs.gov/Prodesc/proddesc_58935.htm (accessed June 23rd 2022). 
 
Reynolds, R. E., and Reynolds, R. L. 1991. The Pleistocene Beneath our Feet: Near-surface Pleistocene 

Fossils from Inland Southern California Basins. San Bernardino County Museum Association 
Quarterly 38(3 & 4): 41-43.  

Item E - 529 of 2173

https://ngmdb.usgs.gov/Prodesc/proddesc_78686.htm
https://ngmdb.usgs.gov/Prodesc/proddesc_58935.htm


 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Phase I Environmental Site 
Assessment of  
1600 East Francis Street 
Ontario, California 

 
 
 
DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway, LLC 
 
 
Project Number: 60691179 
 
 
September 2022 
 

  

Item E - 530 of 2173



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment of 1600 East Francis Street in Ontario, CA 
 
  

  
  

 

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
 

 

Quality Information 
Prepared by  Checked by  Approved by 

 

 

 

 

 

Kaitlin Rundle 
Environmental Scientist 
kaitlin.rundle@aecom.com 
412-789-8229 

 Tracey Gillespie 
Senior Environmental Scientist 
tracey.gillespie@aecom.com  
717-608-2436 

 George Keil 
Vice President, Environment 
george.keil@aecom.com 
484-553-8571 

 

 
Revision History 
Revision Revision date Details Authorized Name Position 

      

      

      

      

 
 
Distribution List 
# Hard Copies  PDF Required Association / Company Name 

   

   

   

   

 
 

Prepared for: 
DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway, LLC  
5500 Equity Avenue 
Reno, NV 89502 
 

Prepared by: 
AECOM 
Conshohocken, PA 
USA 
www.aecom.com 
 
 
 
 
Copyright © 2022 by AECOM 

All rights reserved. No part of this copyrighted work may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any 
form or by any means without the prior written permission of AECOM.  

Item E - 531 of 2173

mailto:kaitlin.rundle@aecom.com
mailto:tracey.gillespie@aecom.com
mailto:george.keil@aecom.com
http://www.aecom.com/


Phase I Environmental Site Assessment of 1600 East Francis Street in Ontario, CA 
 
  

  
  

 

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
 

 

Table of Contents 
Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................................... 1 

 Introduction ...................................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.1 Purpose ................................................................................................................................................ 1-1 
1.2 Scope of Work ...................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.3 Study Limitations .................................................................................................................................. 1-2 
1.4 Site-Related Limiting Conditions ........................................................................................................... 1-3 
1.5 Data Gaps/Data Failure ........................................................................................................................ 1-3 

 Site Description ................................................................................................................................................ 2-1 
2.1 Site Location and Parcel Description .................................................................................................... 2-1 
2.2 Site Ownership ..................................................................................................................................... 2-1 
2.3 Site Visit ................................................................................................................................................ 2-1 
2.3.1 Site and Facility Description ................................................................................................................. 2-1 
2.3.2 Surrounding Properties ......................................................................................................................... 2-2 
2.3.3 Petroleum Products and Hazardous Materials ..................................................................................... 2-2 
2.3.4 Hazardous Waste ................................................................................................................................. 2-2 
2.3.5 Polychlorinated Biphenyls ..................................................................................................................... 2-2 
2.3.6 Aboveground Storage Tanks ................................................................................................................ 2-3 
2.3.7 Underground Storage Tanks ................................................................................................................. 2-3 
2.3.8 Solid Waste........................................................................................................................................... 2-3 
2.3.9 Water .................................................................................................................................................... 2-3 
2.3.10 Wastewater ........................................................................................................................................... 2-3 
2.3.11 Stormwater ........................................................................................................................................... 2-3 
2.3.12 Heating and Cooling ............................................................................................................................. 2-4 
2.3.13 Other Observations .............................................................................................................................. 2-4 

 Environmental Setting ...................................................................................................................................... 3-1 
3.1 Topography ........................................................................................................................................... 3-1 
3.2 Soil/Geology ......................................................................................................................................... 3-1 
3.3 Groundwater/Hydrology ........................................................................................................................ 3-1 

 Site and Area History ....................................................................................................................................... 4-1 
4.1 Subject Property ................................................................................................................................... 4-1 
4.2 Off-site Properties ................................................................................................................................. 4-2 
4.3 Previously Prepared Environmental Reports ........................................................................................ 4-2 

 Database and Records Review ....................................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.1 User Provided Information .................................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.2 Title Records/Environmental Liens ....................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.3 Database Information ........................................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.3.1 Subject Property ................................................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.3.2 Surrounding Sites ................................................................................................................................. 5-2 
5.4 Vapor Encroachment Screening ........................................................................................................... 5-3 
5.4.1 Subject Property ................................................................................................................................... 5-3 
5.4.2 Off-site .................................................................................................................................................. 5-3 
5.5 Agency File Review .............................................................................................................................. 5-4 
5.5.1 Local ..................................................................................................................................................... 5-4 
5.5.2 State ..................................................................................................................................................... 5-5 
5.5.3 Federal ................................................................................................................................................. 5-5 

 Findings and Opinions ..................................................................................................................................... 6-1 

Item E - 532 of 2173



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment of 1600 East Francis Street in Ontario, CA 
 
  

  
  

 

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
 

 

6.1 Recognized Environmental Conditions ................................................................................................. 6-1 
6.2 Historical Recognized Environmental Conditions ................................................................................. 6-1 
6.3 Controlled Recognized Environmental Conditions ................................................................................ 6-2 
6.4 De Minimis Conditions .......................................................................................................................... 6-2 

 Conclusions and Recommendations................................................................................................................ 7-1 
 Environmental Professional Statement ............................................................................................................ 8-1 
 References ...................................................................................................................................................... 9-1 

9.1 Persons Interviewed ............................................................................................................................. 9-1 
9.2 Agencies Contacted ............................................................................................................................. 9-1 
9.3 Documents Reviewed ........................................................................................................................... 9-2 

 

List of Appendices 
Appendix A Representative Site Photographs 
Appendix B Environmental Lien Search and Database Reports 
Appendix C Prior Reports 
Appendix D Qualifications of Environmental Professional 
 

List of Figures 
1. Site Location Map 
2. Site Plan 
 

Item E - 533 of 2173



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 
1600 East Francis Street in Ontario, CA 

September 2022 AECOM 
ES-1 

Executive Summary 
AECOM Technical Services, Inc. (AECOM) performed a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (Phase I 
ESA) of the multi-parcel property located at 1600 East Francis Street in Ontario, San Bernardino County, 
California (subject property) on behalf of DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway, LLC (the Client).  This Phase I 
ESA was performed in general conformance with the scope and limitations of ASTM International, 
Designation: E1527-13, Standard Practice for Environmental Site Assessments: Phase I Environmental 
Site Assessment Process (ASTM E1527-13).  Exceptions to, or deletions from, this practice are described 
in this report. 

Mr. Matt Anonsen with AECOM’s Phoenix, Arizona office conducted a site reconnaissance of the subject 
property on September 7, 2022.  The approximately seven-acre subject property currently consists of a 
large commercial operation surrounded by a chain-link fence.  The subject property consists of one large 
structure used as a storage building and located at the southeastern portion of the subject property with six 
annex structures/canopies (cement mixing plant, office, and former concrete batch plant), material storage 
areas throughout the subject property and asphalt paved parking areas.  The northern subject property 
boundary consisted of a strip of landscaped vegetation.  The subject property was reported to have been 
utilized to produce bagged concrete, sand, and pre-cast concrete forms.   

A 10,000-gallon diesel underground storage tank (UST) is located on the northern portion of the subject 
property.  Soil sampling in the vicinity of the UST and fuel dispenser conducted in September 2022 did not 
detect any elevated petroleum constituents.  During the site visit, no visual evidence of potable or irrigation 
water wells, monitoring wells, dry wells, oil/gas wells, clarifiers, or septic tank systems was identified on the 
subject property.  No visual evidence of discolored soil, water, or unusual vegetative conditions or odors 
was identified during the site visit.   

The subject property is surrounded by a variety of commercial and light industrial facilities.  AECOM 
identified no gasoline service stations or dry cleaners in the immediate vicinity (i.e., 500 feet) of the subject 
property.  In addition, no sensitive receptors (i.e., day care centers, schools, hospitals, surface water bodies) 
were identified as located adjacent to the subject property.  Based on AECOM’s site reconnaissance of the 
surrounding areas, no off-site sources of environmental concern were identified. 

Historical research indicates that the subject property was undeveloped land from at least 1897 until at 
least 1903.  The eastern most portion of the subject property is depicted as orchards from at least 1938 
through 1948.  The remainder of the subject property consisted of agricultural land.  The orchards were 
replaced by agricultural land by 1953.  The subject property remained as agricultural land through at least 
1966.  By 1974, Keystone Concrete Block Co., predecessor to Patio Industries and Western States 
Wholesale (WSW), occupied the eastern portion of the subject property as a cement and concrete mixing 
facility and the northeastern corner of the subject property appeared as disturbed land with unidentifiable 
objects/material laydown yard on the 1975 aerial photograph.  The western portion of the subject property 
remained as undeveloped in 1975.  In 1984, the western portion of the subject property was acquired by 
Patio Industries and the subject property was used for building materials and aggregate storage.  By 1985 
a structure was located on the southeastern corner of the subject property and the remainder of the subject 
property appeared to be improved with asphalt parking areas and material lay down yards.  Several other 
smaller structures appear to be located throughout the subject property.  The subject property remains 
relatively unchanged through 2002.  By 2006, four additional structures are visible centrally located on the 
subject property, north of the original structure.  The subject property has remained relatively unchanged 
since 2006.  WSW operated at the subject property from 1995 until at least May 2022.  The historical use 
of the subject property as orchards from at least 1938 through 1948 indicates a potential for residual 
concentrations of herbicides, insecticides, and pesticides may be present on-site.  AECOM collected seven 
soil samples in the vicinity of the former orchards and agricultural land at depths of approximately 15 feet 
below ground surface on September 15, 2022.  No detections of herbicides or pesticides were detected at 
the subject property, moreover the subject property has been redeveloped with structures and parking lots 
therefore the historical orchard/agricultural use does not represent a recognized environmental condition 
(REC) to the subject property.   

Item E - 534 of 2173



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  
1600 East Francis Street in Ontario, CA 
 

 
  

  
  

 

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
ES-2 

 

The subject property was identified on the Facility Index System (FINDS), Enforcement and Compliance 
History (ECHO), Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA)-Small Quantity Generator (SQG), 
RCRA Non-generator/No Longer Regulated (RCRA Nongen/NLR), UST, Leaking UST (LUST), Recovered 
Government Archive LUST (RGA LUST), Statewide Environmental Evaluation and Planning System 
(SWEEPS UST), Hazardous Waste and Substances Sites Lists (CORTESE), California Environmental 
Reporting System (CERS), CERS Storage Tanks (CERS Tanks), State Facility Inventory Database (CA FID 
UST), Emissions Inventory Data (EMI), National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES), 
California Integrated Water Quality System (CIWQS), and San Bernardino County Hazardous Material 
Permits (San Bern Co. Permit), Facility and Manifest Data (Haznet), and Hazardous Waste Tracking System 
(HWTS) databases in the site-specific environmental database report searched by EDR.  The LUST was 
issued a no further action (NFA) from the San Bernardino County Fire Department for the LUST on May 9, 
2000.  Based on the nature and regulatory status none of these database listings are representative of a 
REC.  

According to the environmental database report, six sites were identified within their respective ASTM 
E1527-13 and/or Environmental Data Resources (EDR) search distances from the subject property.  Based 
on AECOM’s review of these database listings, with the exception of the General Electric Engine Services 
facility summarized below in the findings, none of these facilities are expected to present a REC to the 
subject property based on their distance from the subject property (i.e., greater than 500 feet), regulatory 
status (i.e., closed, no violations found), media impacted (i.e., soil only), and/or topographical position from 
the subject property (i.e., down-gradient or cross-gradient). 

In addition, no vapor encroachment conditions (VECs) were identified during completion of a Tier 1 vapor 
encroachment screening (VES) following ASTM International, Designation: E2600-15, Standard Guide for 
Vapor Encroachment Screening on Property Involved in Real Estate Transactions dated October 2015 
(ASTM E2600-15). 

Based on the above-described activities, the following REC was identified for the subject property. 

• The former General Electric Engine Services (GEES) Test Cell Facility is located approximately 
one-mile northeast of the subject property.  Between 1974 and 1980, industrial wastewater 
containing chlorinated solvents were discharged to the property impacting groundwater with volatile 
organic compounds (VOCs), primarily trichloroethylene (TCE).  Multiple investigations conducted 
indicated that the TCE in the soil contaminated the groundwater and migrated off-site, in a 
southwesterly direction, toward the subject property.  Conceptual modeling conducted in 2019 
identified isoconcentrations for TCE at the subject property to include 50 micrograms per liter (µg/l) 
and 100 µg/l.  Vapor intrusion assessments conducted at the source area have shown a low 
likelihood of possible vapor intrusion.  Depths to groundwater at the subject property and locale 
have been measured at greater than 250 feet below ground surface.  Groundwater remediation is 
being completed by natural attenuation.  Based on the potential for groundwater impacted with 
VOCs to be located at the subject property represents a REC to the subject property.  Based on 
the identified responsible party, the remediation by natural attenuation, and the continued 
monitoring, no further action is warranted for this REC.   

The following historical REC (HREC)was identified in connection with the subject property: 

• A release of diesel fuel to the subject property soils was discovered during the removal of an UST on 
December 15, 1998.  Information obtained in the San Bernadino County Fire Department (County Fire 
Department) files indicated that a release of petroleum was reported in the vicinity of a fuel dispenser 
during the UST closure activities and not in the UST excavation.  Notifications of the release were 
submitted to the County Fire Department in January 1999.  The County Fire Department 
acknowledged the submittals on February 3, 1999.  Soils in the vicinity of the dispenser were 
excavated to a depth of 18 feet below ground surface and 59.93 tons of impacted soil was excavated 
in January 1999.  A work plan for subsurface soil investigation in the vicinity of the dispenser was 
submitted on June 17, 1999.  Additional soil excavation and sampling was conducted in the vicinity of 
the dispenser in August 1999.  Concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons (diesel) were detected 
at 2,000 parts per million (ppm) prior to excavation and were detected at 28 ppm post excavation.  

Item E - 535 of 2173



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment  
1600 East Francis Street in Ontario, CA 
 

 
  

  
  

 

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
ES-3 

 

Xylene and ethylbenzene were detected at low concentrations prior to excavation and were not 
detected after excavation.  Several correspondences with the County Fire Department requesting 
waste manifests occurred in the Fall of 1999.  The County Fire Department issued a receipt of submittal 
on January 20, 2000 and Landowner Notification Requirements on May 9, 2000.  The County Fire 
Department issued a Remedial Action Completion Certification for this release on May 9, 2000 
indicating that there was no further action (NFA).   

No controlled RECs (CRECs) or de minimis conditions (DMCs) were identified in connection with the subject 
property at this time. 

Based on the results of this assessment, AECOM further environmental investigation is not warranted. 

 

Item E - 536 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
1-1 

 

 Introduction 

1.1 Purpose 
This Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (Phase I ESA) was performed pursuant to AECOM 
Technical Services, Inc. (AECOM’s) written proposal, dated August 16, 2022.  This assessment was 
performed in advance of the acquisition of the subject property.  The purpose of this Phase I ESA is 
to provide the Client with information for use in evaluating recognized environmental conditions 
(RECs) associated with the subject property. 

Per ASTM International, Designation: E1527-13, Standard Practice for Environmental Site 
Assessments: Phase I Environmental Site Assessment Process (ASTM E1527-13), potential findings 
can include RECs, historical RECs (HRECs), controlled RECs (CRECs), and de minimis conditions 
(DMCs). A REC is defined by the ASTM standard as “the presence or likely presence of any 
hazardous substances or petroleum products in, on, or at a property: (1) due to any release to the 
environment; (2) under conditions indicative of a release to the environment; or (3) under conditions 
that pose a material threat of a future release to the environment.”  The term includes hazardous 
substances or petroleum products even under conditions in compliance with laws.  HRECs are a past 
release of any hazardous substances or petroleum products that has occurred in connection with the 
property and has been addressed to the satisfaction of the applicable regulatory authority or meeting 
unrestricted use criteria established by a regulatory authority, without subjecting the property to any 
required controls.  CRECs are a recognized environmental condition resulting from a past release of 
hazardous substances or petroleum products that has been addressed to the satisfaction of the 
applicable regulatory authority, with hazardous substances or petroleum products allowed to remain 
in place subject to the implementation of required controls.  DMCs are those situations that do not 
present a material risk of harm to public health or the environment and generally would not be subject 
to enforcement action if brought to the attention of the regulating authority.  

In addition, a Tier 1 vapor encroachment screening (VES) is completed as part of this assessment. 
This screening is conducted in general accordance with the ASTM International, Designation: E2600-
15, Standard Guide for Vapor Encroachment Screening on Property Involved in Real Estate 
Transactions dated October 2015 (ASTM E2600-15).  The objective of the VES is to evaluate if a 
vapor encroachment condition (VEC) exists or if a VEC does not exist. 

This assessment for the Phase I ESA is based on a review of existing conditions, reported pre-existing 
conditions, and observed operations at the subject property and adjacent properties. 

1.2 Scope of Work 
The Phase I ESA included a site visit, regulatory research, historical review, and a review and an 
environmental database analysis of the subject property.  In conducting the Phase I ESA, AECOM 
assessed the subject property for visible signs of possible contamination, researched public records 
for the subject property and adjacent properties (as applicable), and conducted interviews with 
persons knowledgeable about the subject property.  

This project was performed in general accordance with ASTM E1527-13 and AECOM’s proposal, 
dated August 16, 2022.  Conclusions reached in this report are based upon the assessment 
performed and are subject to limitations set forth in Sections 1.3, 1.4, and 1.5 below. 

Item E - 537 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
1-2 

 

1.3 Study Limitations 
This report describes the results of AECOM's Phase I ESA to identify the presence of conditions 
materially affecting the subject facility and/or property within the limits of the established scope of 
work as described in our proposal.  

As with any due diligence assessment, there is a certain degree of dependence upon oral information 
provided by facility or site representatives, which is not readily verifiable through visual observations 
or supported by any available written documentation.  AECOM shall not be held responsible for 
conditions or consequences arising from relevant facts that were concealed, withheld, or not fully 
disclosed by facility or site representatives at the time this assessment was performed.  In addition, 
the findings and opinions expressed in this report are subject to certain conditions and assumptions, 
which are noted in the report.  Any party reviewing the findings of the report must carefully review and 
consider all such conditions and assumptions. 

This report and all field data and notes were gathered and/or prepared by AECOM in accordance with 
the agreed upon scope of work and generally accepted engineering and scientific practice in effect at 
the time of AECOM's assessment of the subject property.  The statements, findings and opinions 
contained in this report are only intended to give approximations of the environmental conditions at 
the subject property. 

As specified in ASTM E1527-13, it is incumbent that the client and any other parties who review and 
rely upon this report understand the following inherent conditions surrounding any Phase I ESA: 

• Uncertainty Not Eliminated - No Phase I ESA can wholly eliminate uncertainty regarding the 
potential for REC in connection with a property. Performance of this practice is intended to 
reduce, but not eliminate, uncertainty regarding the potential for REC in connection with a 
property, and this practice recognizes reasonable limits of time and costs. (Section 4.5.1 of 
ASTM E1527-13) 

• Not Exhaustive - "All appropriate inquiry" does not mean an exhaustive assessment of a clean 
property. There is a point at which the cost of information obtained outweighs the usefulness of 
the information and, in fact, may be a material detriment to the orderly completion of 
transactions. One of the purposes of this practice is to identify a balance between the competing 
goals of limiting the costs and time demands inherent in performing a Phase I ESA and the 
reduction of uncertainty about unknown conditions resulting from additional information. 
(Section 4.5.2 of ASTM E1527-13) 

• Comparison with Subsequent Inquiry – Phase I ESAs must be evaluated based on the 
reasonableness of judgments made at the time and under the circumstances in which they 
were made. Subsequent Phase I ESAs should not be considered valid standards to judge the 
appropriateness of any prior assessment based on hindsight, new information, use of 
developing technology or analytical techniques, or other factors. (Section 4.5.4 of ASTM E1527-
13) 

A similar set of inherent limitations exist in cases where the Phase I ESA included a screening-level 
assessment of vapor migration or vapor encroachment; such an assessment is a required part of a 
Phase I ESA when ASTM E1527-13 is employed.  According to ASTM E2600-15, the following 
limitations apply: 

Item E - 538 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
1-3 

 

• Uncertainty Not Eliminated in Screening - No VES can wholly eliminate uncertainty regarding 
the identifications of VECs in connection with the target property. (Section 4.5.1 of ASTM 
E2600-15) 

• Not Exhaustive - The guide is not meant to be an exhaustive screening.  There is a point at 
which the cost of information obtained outweighs the usefulness of the information and, in fact, 
may be a material detriment to the orderly completion of real estate transactions.  One of the 
purposes of this guide is to identify a balance between the competing goals of limiting the costs 
and time demands inherent in performing a VES and the reduction of uncertainty about 
unknown conditions resulting from additional information. (Section 4.5.2 of ASTM E2600-15) 

• Comparison with Subsequent Investigations - It should not be concluded or assumed that an 
investigation was not adequate because the investigation did not identify any VECs in 
connection with a property.  The VES must be evaluated based on the reasonableness of 
judgments made at the time and under the circumstances in which they were made.  
Subsequent VESs should not be considered valid bases to judge the appropriateness of any 
prior screening if based on hindsight, new information, use of developing technology or 
analytical techniques, or similar factors. (Section 4.5.4 of ASTM E2600-15) 

This report was prepared pursuant to the proposal dated August 16, 2022 between DPIF3 Acquisition 
Co LLC and AECOM and is for the exclusive use of the DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway, LLC (the 
Client).  No other party is entitled to rely on the conclusions, observations, specifications, or data 
contained herein without first obtaining AECOM's written consent and provided any such party signs 
an AECOM-generated Reliance Letter.  A third party's signing of the AECOM Reliance Letter and 
AECOM's written consent are conditions precedent to any additional use or reliance on this report. 

The passage of time may result in changes in technology, economic conditions, site variations, or 
regulatory provisions, which would render the report inaccurate. Reliance on this report after the date 
of issuance as an accurate representation of current site conditions shall be at the user's sole risk.  

1.4 Site-Related Limiting Conditions 
The following site-specific limitation condition was encountered during the course of this assessment: 

• Due to the size of the subject property and number of structures, it was not possible to 
inspect all areas of the subject property and subject property buildings during the site visit.  
AECOM traversed and visually observed portions of the subject property where hazardous 
materials where known or suspected to have been stored.  Based on the additional 
information obtained through the research of the subject property, AECOM does not expect 
this limitation to represent a significant limitation to this assessment. 

1.5 Data Gaps/Data Failure 
The following data failure/data gaps were encountered during the course of this assessment: 

• It should be noted that not all standard historical sources, as defined per ASTM, were reviewed 
as part of this assessment.  Sanborn fire insurance maps were not available for the subject 
property area.  Based on information provided from the remaining standard historical sources, 
additional historical information obtained other historical records would not likely have assisted 
in meeting the historical use requirement; therefore, this data gap is not expected to impact the 
results of this assessment. 

Item E - 539 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
1-4 

 

• Per ASTM E1527-13, past owners, operators, and occupants of the subject property who are 
likely to have material information regarding the potential for contamination at the subject 
property shall be contacted to the extent that they can be identified and that the information 
likely to be obtained is not duplicative of information already obtained from other sources. 
AECOM was unable to interview past owners and/or operators of the subject property. 
However, based upon information provided by the current property ownership’s representation, 
historical data collected from other sources, this data gap is not expected to impact the results 
of this assessment. 

 

Item E - 540 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
2-1 

 

 Site Description 

2.1 Site Location and Parcel Description 
The subject property is located at 1600 East Francis Street, west of the intersection of East Francis 
Street and South Baker Avenue in Ontario, San Bernardino County, California.  The subject property 
is accessed from East Francis Street (northern property boundary).  The approximate location of the 
subject property is illustrated on Figure 1 - Site Location Map. 

According to the San Bernardino County records reviewed online, the subject property encompasses 
approximately seven acres of land consisting of four tax parcels which are designated by the San 
Bernadino County Assessor’s office as Parcel Numbers (APNs): 0113-381-03 (1.75 acres), 0113-381-
04 (1.75 acres), 0113-381-05 (1.75 acres) and 0113-381-06 (1.75 acres).  

2.2 Site Ownership 
According to the San Bernardino County Recorder’s Office Records and Warranty Deed dated 
December 13, 2011, parcels 0113-381-03, 0113-381-05, 0113-381-04 and 0113-381-06 are owned 
by Western States Holding Co Inc.  

2.3 Site Visit 
Mr. Matt Anonsen with AECOM’s Phoenix, Arizona office conducted a site reconnaissance of the 
subject property on September 7, 2022.  During the site visit, Mr. Anonsen was accompanied by Mr. 
Gordon Kelly of Western State Wholesale (WSW).  Mr. Kelly reported to AECOM that WSW was in 
the process of vacating the subject property and that the onsite UST was emptied of the diesel fuel 
in July 2022.  Site-related limiting conditions encountered during this assessment were previously 
summarized in Section 1.4. 

The site visit methodology consisted of walking over accessible areas of the subject property, the 
perimeter, and the portions of the surrounding area.  The following sections summarize the results of 
the site visit. 

2.3.1 Site and Facility Description 

The approximately seven-acre subject property currently consists of a large commercial operation 
surrounded by a chain-link fence.  The subject property consists of one large structure located at the 
southeastern portion of the subject property with six annex structures/canopies (cement mixing plant, 
office, and former concrete batch plant), material storage areas throughout the subject property and 
asphalt paved parking areas.  The northern subject property boundary consisted of a strip of 
landscaped vegetation.  The subject property was reported to have been utilized to produce bagged 
concrete, sand, and pre-cast concrete forms. 

During the site visit, no visual evidence of potable or irrigation water wells, monitoring wells, dry wells, 
oil/gas wells, clarifiers, or septic tank systems was identified on the subject property.  No visual 
evidence of discolored soil, water, or unusual vegetative conditions or odors was identified during the 
site visit.  The general layout of the subject property is illustrated on Figure 2 - Site Plan and 
Representative Site Photographs are provided in Appendix A. 

Item E - 541 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
2-2 

 

2.3.2 Surrounding Properties 

The subject property is bordered by the following properties: 

• North - East Francis Street followed by two distribution buildings operated by US Logistics 
(1521 East Francis Street).  

• Northeast - A mixed office/industrial building (1621 East Francis Street) and Brothers Ice 
Cream (1726 South Baker Avenue). 

• Northwest – Bergandi Machinery (1643 South Parco Avenue) and TE Connectivity (1689 
South Parco Avenue. 

• East – A multi-tenant building occupied by Grafix Design and Printing, West Jones 
Automotive, California Collision Center, and Diamond Air Services (1616, 1630 and 1642 
East Francis Street).   

• South - By multiple commercial properties including Rexco Aluminum (1912 August Court) 
and Haringa Compressor (1939 South August Court).   

• West - Commercial properties including Sandochem (1522 East Francis Street), Dongrun 
Construction Material (1520 East Francis Street), Linde Welding Gas & Equipment Center 
(1524 East Francis Street).   

• Southwest - R&R Tire and Rubber – Diesel UST Group (1648 East Francis Street) and 
Nguyen Works (1942 South August Avenue).   

AECOM identified no gasoline service stations or dry cleaners in the immediate vicinity (i.e., 500 feet) 
of the subject property.  In addition, no sensitive receptors (i.e., day care centers, schools, hospitals, 
surface water bodies) were identified as located adjacent to the subject property.  Based on AECOM’s 
site reconnaissance of the surrounding areas, no off-site sources of environmental concern were 
identified. 

2.3.3 Petroleum Products and Hazardous Materials 

The current site occupant, WSW was in the process of vacating the subject property at the time of 
the site reconnaissance therefore petroleum products or hazardous materials was limited to 
approximately six cans of spray paint located along the southern side of the site building.  No other 
chemicals were observed onsite.  Additionally, AECOM observed an empty, approximately 500-gallon 
tote of diesel exhaust fluid (DEF) at the northeastern exit gate.  No evidence of chemical spills or 
releases was observed in the chemical storage areas. 

2.3.4 Hazardous Waste 

No hazardous wastes were generated at the subject property.  AECOM conducted a file review at the 
San Bernadino County Fire Department.  Used oil generated from maintenance of equipment was 
reported to be taken to the WSW shop located offsite. 

2.3.5 Polychlorinated Biphenyls 

Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)-containing dielectric fluids have been widely used as coolants and 
lubricants in transformers, capacitors, and other electric equipment due to their insulating and 

Item E - 542 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
2-3 

 

nonflammable properties.  PCB containing equipment was limited to one utility owned pad-mounted 
transformer located to the east of the southeastern subject building and one transformer, reportedly 
owned by WSW located to the southwest of the office building.  No labels indicating PCB content 
were observed on the transformers.  No evidence of oil or leaks was observed in the vicinity of the 
transformers.  AECOM observed approximately 12 battery powered forklifts inside the southeastern 
subject building.  No evidence of staining was observed in the vicinity of the charging stations located 
in the western side of the southeastern subject building or in the annex building located to the west 
of the office building.  No evidence of staining was observed in the area of the battery charging 
stations.  No hydraulic or electrical equipment (i.e., compactors, elevators, lifts, transformers) was 
identified on the subject property at the time of AECOM’s site reconnaissance.  

2.3.6 Aboveground Storage Tanks 

One approximately 500-gallon tote of DEF was observed within secondary containment on the 
northeastern portion of the subject property, near the exit.  No evidence of any other ASTs was 
observed at the subject property during the site reconnaissance. 

2.3.7 Underground Storage Tanks 

One, double-walled, 10,000-gallon diesel UST and one dispenser pump was observed on the 
northern portion of the subject property.  The UST was installed in January 1999.  AECOM reviewed 
tank tightness testing conducted in June 2020 which indicated that the tank was not leaking.  
Additional information regarding the UST is included below in Sections 4.3 and 5.5.1. 

2.3.8 Solid Waste 

Solid waste generated at the subject property consisted of general packaging, cardboard, wood 
pallets, and scrap metal.  Four dumpsters and three trash cans are located onsite.  It was reported 
that dumpsters were hauled by WSW on an as needed basis.  Cardboard was reported to be recycled 
at Main Street Recycling.  Scrap metal was recycled at SA Recycling.  Wood pallets are recycled by 
Apollo, and miscellaneous trash was disposed of at Agua Mansa Transfer Station/MRF (Riverside).  
No evidence of improper waste disposal was observed during the site reconnaissance.  

2.3.9 Water 

The City of Ontario provides municipal water service to the subject property.  Bottled water was 
supplied to the subject property for drinking water.  During the site reconnaissance, no evidence of 
groundwater monitoring wells, potable, or irrigation water wells were observed at the subject property.  

2.3.10 Wastewater 

The City of Ontario currently provides municipal sanitary sewer services to the subject property locale 
however portable toilets were provided for sanitary wastes at the time of the site reconnaissance.  No 
wastewater discharges are currently generated at the subject property.  During the site visit, no 
evidence of septic systems was observed at the subject property.   

2.3.11 Stormwater 

Stormwater is managed at the subject property a stormwater channel located on the eastern side of 
the subject property and four sumps located along the southern portion of the subject property.  The 

Item E - 543 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
2-4 

 

stormwater run-off from the sumps and drains is directed into pipe along the western side of the 
subject property which discharged out onto East Francis Street.  It was reported that the subject 
property operated under a General NPDES permit (8 36I020616) and Frog Environmental conducted 
stormwater sampling. 

2.3.12 Heating and Cooling 

Heating was not provided to the subject property buildings.  AECOM observed a window unit air 
conditioner in the office structure. 

Southern California Edison (SCE) provides electricity to the subject property.  

2.3.13 Other Observations 

AECOM observed three, 55-gallon drums, along the northeastern fence at the subject property.  The 
drums were labeled as non-hazardous.  The site contact indicated that the drums likely contained soil 
cuttings from the previous soil sampling that was conducted in the vicinity of the UST and dispenser 
prior to September 2022 by another consultant.  AECOM observed several patches, typical size of a 
geoprobe boring, in the asphalt in the vicinity of the UST and dispenser.  Additionally, four poly drums 
were observed adjacent to the diesel dispenser.  The site contact reported that the four drums 
contained spill kits and that they should all contain clean, unused materials. 

Item E - 544 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
3-1 

 

 Environmental Setting 

3.1 Topography 
According to the United States Geological Survey (USGS) topographic map of the subject property 
area (Guasti, California quadrangle) and the Google Earth application, the elevation of the subject 
property is situated at approximately 870 feet above mean sea level (amsl).  Based on AECOM’s site 
visit, the subject property appears to be generally flat with a local topographic gradient gently sloping 
to the south.  

3.2 Soil/Geology 
According to the environmental database report, the subject property area is underlain by Tujunga 
gravelly loamy sand and Delhi fine sand.  The Tujunga soils are described as having high infiltration 
rates and well drained to excessively drained sands and gravels.  The upper-most layer down to 18 
inches is characterized as gravelly, loamy sand and the layer from 18 to 59 inches is characterized 
as loamy sand.  The Delhi soils are described as having high infiltration rates and well drained to 
excessively drained sands and gravels.  The upper-most layer down to 18 inches is characterized as 
fine sand and the layer from 18 to 59 inches is characterized as sand.  

According to geologic information provided in the environmental database report, the bedrock geology 
of the subject property is of the Cenozoic Era, Quaternary System, Quaternary Series and consists 
of a stratified sequence. 

3.3 Groundwater/Hydrology 
Site-specific hydrologic information was not identified during the course of this assessment.  Based 
upon site observations and a review of the topographic maps, the inferred direction of shallow 
groundwater flow beneath the subject property is to the south.  It should be noted that the actual 
depth and flow direction of groundwater beneath the subject property cannot be determined without 
site-specific groundwater monitoring well data. 

 

Item E - 545 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
4-1 

 

 Site and Area History 
Historical information for the subject property and surrounding properties is based on AECOM’s 
review and analysis of the following historical sources: 

• Aerial photographs dated 1938, 1946, 1948, 1953, 1959, 1966, 1975, 1985, 1989, 1990, 1994, 
2002, 2006, 2009, 2012, and 2016; 

• Google Earth images dated 1994, 2002, 2005, 2009, 2011, 2012, 2014, 2016, and 2021; 

• Topographic maps dated 1897, 1900, 1903, 1933, 1941, 1944, 1953, 1954, 1966, 1973, 1976, 
1981, 2012, 2015, and 2018; and 

• City directories searched at approximate five year intervals for the years 1980 to 2017. 

According to EDR, Sanborn® Fire Insurance Maps and Building Permit coverage were not available 
for the subject property area. In addition, a limited interview was conducted with Mr. Gordon Kelly of 
WSW.  Information from the interview has been incorporated, as appropriate, throughout this report. 

4.1 Subject Property 
Historical research indicates that the subject property was undeveloped land from at least 1897 until 
at least 1903.  The eastern most portion of the subject property is depicted as orchards from at least 
1938 through 1948.  The remainder of the subject property consisted of agricultural land. The 
orchards were replaced by agricultural land by 1953.  The subject property remained as agricultural 
land through at least 1966.  By 1974, Keystone Concrete Block Co., predecessor to Patio Industries 
and Western States Wholesale (WSW), occupied the eastern portion of the subject property as a 
cement and concrete mixing facility and the northeastern corner of the subject property appeared as 
disturbed land with unidentifiable objects/material laydown yard on the 1975 aerial photograph.  The 
western portion of the subject property remained as undeveloped in 1975.  In 1984, the western 
portion of the subject property was acquired by Patio Industries and the subject property was used 
for building materials and aggregate storage.  By1985 a structure was located on the southeastern 
corner of the subject property and the remainder of the subject property appeared to be improved 
with asphalt parking areas and material lay down yards.  Several other smaller structures appear to 
be located throughout the subject property.  The subject property remains relatively unchanged 
through 2002.  By 2006, four additional structures are visible centrally located on the subject property, 
north of the original structure.  The subject property has remained relatively unchanged since 2006.  
WSW operated at the subject property from 1995 until at least May 2022.  The historical use of the 
subject property as orchards from at least 1938 through 1948 indicates a potential for residual 
concentrations of herbicides, insecticides, and pesticides may be present on-site.  AECOM collected 
seven soil samples in the vicinity of the former orchards and agricultural land at depths of 
approximately 15 feet below ground surface on September 15, 2022.  No detections of herbicides or 
pesticides were detected at the subject property moreover the subject property has been redeveloped 
with structures and parking lots therefore the historical orchard/agricultural use does not represent a 
REC to the subject property.   

The subject property address, 1600 East Francis Street, was identified in the historical city directories 
searched by EDR as Randall S. Humphreys in 2003 and Wallace Computers in 2004.  No other city 
directory listings were identified associated with the subject property. 

Item E - 546 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
4-2 

 

4.2 Off-site Properties 
Historical research indicates that the surrounding area consisted of undeveloped land from 1897 
through at least 1903.  Surrounding properties are depicted as agricultural land (row crops and 
orchards) from at least 1938 through 1966.  One commercial property is depicted east of the subject 
property in the 1966 historical aerial photograph.  Improved roads are visible north and east of the 
subject property.  The remaining surrounding properties consist of agricultural land.  By 1985, 
commercial properties have been constructed in the vicinity, except for the northern and southeastern 
adjacent properties.  Commercial development has been expanded by 1989 to include the 
southeastern adjacent property.  The northern adjacent property was developed by 2002.  
Surrounding properties have remained consistent since 2002.  No historical off-site sources of 
environmental concern were identified.  

4.3 Previously Prepared Environmental Reports 
AECOM was provided with previously prepared environmental reports for the subject property and 
for a nearby property and summaries are provided below.  Pertinent copies of the below reports are 
included in Appendix C. 

Limited Phase II Environmental Site Assessment of 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, 
California, prepared by AECOM for DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway, LLC, dated September 30, 
2022. 

AECOM conducted Limited Phase II sampling at the subject property on September 15, 2022 in the 
vicinity of the 10,000-gallon UST and fuel dispenser.  Utilizing direct-push technology (DPT) drilling 
equipment six soil borings were advanced to 15 feet bgs adjacent to the UST and fuel dispenser.  
One soil boring was advanced with a hand auger to a depth of five feet bgs downgradient of an 
anomaly detected during the geophysical survey conducted prior to the advancement of borings.  
Recovered soils were screened with a photoionization detector (PID) for volatile organic compounds 
(VOCs) and characterized for lithology and the visual presence of contamination.  No VOCs were 
detected with the PID.  No visual, olfactory, or detected contamination was observed.  In the absence 
of contamination indicators, the soil interval at the borehole termination was selected for laboratory 
analysis.  The samples were submitted to Eurofins Calscience for analysis of target compound list 
(TCL) VOCs via United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) Method 8260B, TCL semi-
volatile organic compounds (SVOCs) via USEPA Method 8270, and Diesel Range Organics (DRO) 
via USEPA Method 8015B.  Due to an error on the chain-of-custody the samples were additionally 
analyzed for herbicides via USEPA Method 8151A and pesticides via USEPA Method 8081A. 

Analytical results identified DRO at a concentration of 5.1 milligrams per kilogram (mg/Kg) at B-6, 
collected to the south of the dispenser.  This concentration is below the established screen level of 
260 mg/Kg for petroleum-diesel constituents. 

No VOCs, SVOCs, herbicides, or pesticides were detected in the soil samples collected from the 
subject property above the method detection limits. 

AECOM concluded that no further investigations were warranted at this time. 

 

 

Item E - 547 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
4-3 

 

Draft Phase I Environmental Site Assessment of 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California, 
prepared by Ardent Environmental Group, Inc. for California Acquisition, LLC, dated May 23, 
2022. 

Ardent Environmental Group, Inc. (Ardent) conducted a Phase I ESA of the subject property in May 
2022.  At that time the subject property was used as a cement and concrete product manufacturing, 
storage, and distribution facility. 

Based on historical research it was reported that the subject property was agricultural land from at 
least 1938 through at least 1973.  By 1974, Keystone Concrete Block Co., predecessor to Patio 
Industries and Western States Wholesale, occupied the eastern portion of the subject property as a 
cement and concrete mixing facility.  In 1984, the western portion of the subject property was acquired 
by Patio Industries and the subject property was used for building materials and aggregate storage.  
Western States Wholesale (WSW) operated at the subject property from 1995 until at least May 2022.  
A 10,000-gallon diesel UST and associated dispenser island were reported to have been installed in 
1999. 

Ardent identified the following REC and HREC in relation with the subject property: 

• The subject property maintained an active 10,000-gallon diesel UST as part of an on-site truck 
fueling station including one dispenser island.  The UST was installed in 1999, as a replacement 
to a previous diesel UST that was removed from the same location in 1998.  During the 1998 
UST removal, diesel impacted soil was discovered and subsequently remediated with oversight 
from the San Bernardino County Fire Department (SBCFD).  Laboratory results of confirmation 
soil samples detected only low concentrations of residual petroleum chemicals.  Based on these 
results, the SBCFD subsequently issued a no further action (NFA) letter and allowed the existing 
replacement tank to be installed.  Ardent identified the closed Leaking Underground Storage 
Tank (LUST) case associated with the initial diesel UST as an HREC.  No additionally 
investigations had been conducted to determine if the integrity of the replacement 10,000-gallon 
diesel UST and associated dispenser island and therefore Ardent considered the current UST 
as a REC.   

Ardent identified the following CREC on relation to the subject property: 

• The former General Electric Engine Services (GEES) Test Cell Facility is located approximately 
one-mile northeast of the subject property.  General Electric (GE) historically operated this facility 
as a military jet engine testing and maintenance facility.  During its operations, industrial 
wastewater containing chlorinated solvents were discharged to the property impacting 
groundwater with volatile organic compounds (VOCs), primarily trichloroethylene (TCE).  
Several groundwater monitoring wells were installed by GE to monitor the TCE in groundwater, 
which had migrated beneath the subject property.  Soil and groundwater remediation is being 
completed under the direction of the California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Santa Ana 
Region (SARWQCB).  Groundwater has been measured in the subject property vicinity at a 
depth of approximately 247 feet below the ground surface (bgs) and flows in a southwesterly 
direction.  Analytical results of groundwater samples collected from wells indicated TCE at 
concentrations in excess of 100 micrograms per liter (µg/l).  Vapor intrusion assessments at the 
source area have shown a low likelihood of possible vapor intrusion, and groundwater 
remediation is being completed by natural attenuation.  Ardent determined that the groundwater 
TCE release associated with the GEES Test Cell Facility is considered a CREC.  AECOM 
disagrees and has determined that this release represents a REC as this case is still on-going 
and has not yet been closed.  Based on the depth to groundwater and results of the vapor 

Item E - 548 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
4-4 

 

intrusion studies completed at the source area, there is a low likelihood for a vapor intrusion 
issue at the subject property.  Furthermore, based on the lack of chlorinated solvent uses at the 
subject property, there is a low likelihood that historical or current land use at the subject property 
has contributed to this localized groundwater issue.   

Ardent recommended the removal of the UST and associated dispenser if there were no plans to use 
the equipment in future development of the subject property. 

Second Quarter 2022 Groundwater Monitoring Report, Former General Electric Engine 
Services Test Cell Facility, 2264 Avion Place, Ontario, California.  Prepared by Wood 
Environment & Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. (Wood), For the General Electric Company, dated 
July 22, 2022. 

Monitoring well OW-9P was mapped approximately 650 feet to the east of the subject property and 
OW-10 is mapped approximately 600 feet to the southeast of the subject property.  The most recent 
sampling from May 9, 2022 indicated that TCE was detected at 3.5 µg/l and other VOCs of concern 
were detected less than their method detection limits in OW-9P.  Concentrations of TCE and other 
VOCs of concern were generally less than the method detection limit in OW-10 with the exception of 
chloroform, detected at 1.2 µg/l.  Concentrations of TCE appear to be decreasing in OW-9P from 
concentrations of 42 µg/l, 24 µg/l, 1.3 µg/l, <0.35 µg/l, and 3.5 µg/l for the second, third, and fourth 
quarterly sampling in 2021 and first and second quarterly sampling in 2022, respectively.  
Concentrations of TCE in OW-10 have remained less than the method detection limit since the second 
quarterly sampling in 2021.   
 

Conceptual Site Model, Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility, 2264 Avion 
Place, Ontario, California. Prepared by Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. 
(Wood), For the General Electric Company, dated November 5, 2019. 

This report indicated that four soil vapor extraction treatment systems were installed at the former GE 
facility in 1996 and were operated until 2005.  Soil remediation was conducted and groundwater 
monitoring wells were located on and offsite.  It was reported that based on groundwater fate and 
transport modelling, active groundwater pump and treat would not reduce groundwater VOC 
concentrations to less than the maximum contaminant limit (MCL) in a shorter period than would 
natural attenuation.  Based on information from the TCE Concentration in Groundwater, Third Quarter 
2019, map isoconcentrations for TCE at the subject property have been mapped as 50 µg/l and 100 
µg/l.    

Second Quarter 2018 Groundwater Monitoring Report, GE Engine Services Test Cell Facility 
2264 Avion Place, Ontario, California. Prepared by Geosyntec Consultants for GE Global 
Operations, Environment, Health and Safety, dated July 31, 2018. 

Groundwater monitoring figures from the Second Quarter 2018 Groundwater Monitoring Report 
indicated that monitoring well OW-9P was located approximately 650 feet to the east of the subject 
property and OW-10 is located approximately 600 feet to the southeast of the subject property.  
Concentrations of TCE in OW-9P have ranged from below method detection limit to 94 µg/l from 2000 
through 2018 with the highest concentration detected on April 16, 2018.  Concentrations of TCE were 
generally less than the method detection limit in OW-10 from 2000 through 2018 with slight detections 
(less than 1.0 µg/l) periodically being detected.  Remediation and monitoring are on-going and a third 
quarter sampling event was planned for July 2018.  
 
 
 

Item E - 549 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
5-1 

 

 Database and Records Review 

5.1 User Provided Information 
On October 3, 2022, Mr. Scott Strine with DPIF3 CA 40 at 60 Freeway, LLC (the Client) provided 
AECOM with a completed ASTM E1527-13 User Questionnaire which summarized his knowledge of 
title records, environmental liens, specialized knowledge, and/or real estate value reduction issues 
associated with the subject property. Mr. Strine was not aware of any environmental liens or activity 
use limitations having been placed on the subject property.  Mr. Strine stated that he did not have 
specialized knowledge or experience that is material to RECs in connection with the subject property 
other than the potential for impact from an offsite source.  Mr. Strine indicated that there is no known 
indication that the purchase price of the subject property would not be fair market value.  

5.2 Title Records/Environmental Liens 
Per the agreed upon scope of work, an Environmental Lien and Activity and Use Limitation (AUL) 
Search Report was ordered from EDR as a part of this assessment.  The subject property was 
identified as parcels 011338103, 011338105, 011338104, and 011338106.  The subject property is 
currently owned by Western States Holding Co. LLC who acquired the subject property from Western 
States Holding Company, Inc. on December 13, 2011.  According to the report, no environmental liens 
are recorded on the subject property.  A copy of the Environmental Lien and AUL Search Report is 
provided in Appendix B. 

5.3 Database Information 
In accordance with the scope of work and ASTM E1527-13, a search of various governmental 
databases was conducted by EDR.  The site-specific environmental database report was reviewed 
to evaluate if soil and or groundwater from on-site and/or off-site sources of concern has the potential 
to impact the subject property.  The database abbreviations are provided in the site-specific 
environmental database report.  

The database report includes various reports detailing database information for each of the sites 
identified/geocoded within the specified radius.  Additional sites were identified within the database 
report; however, EDR was not able to map them to specific locations due to insufficient/ contradicting 
address information.  These sites were included in the database report as "orphan" sites.  Based 
upon AECOM's review, there does not appear to be significant concerns associated with the orphan 
sites.  A summary of AECOM’s review and analysis of the site-specific environmental database report 
is presented below.  A copy of the database report is provided in Appendix B. 

Based on AECOM’s research, the subject property is not located on or within a one-mile radius of 
tribal lands.  

5.3.1 Subject Property 

The subject property was identified on the Facility Index System (FINDS), Enforcement and 
Compliance History (ECHO), Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA)-Small Quantity 
Generator (SQG), RCRA Non-generator/No Longer Regulated (RCRA Nongen/NLR), UST, Leaking 
UST (LUST), Recovered Government Archive LUST (RGA LUST), Statewide Environmental 

Item E - 550 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
5-2 

 

Evaluation and Planning System (SWEEPS UST), Hazardous Waste and Substances Sites Lists 
(CORTESE), California Environmental Reporting System (CERS), CERS Storage Tanks (CERS 
Tanks), State Facility Inventory Database (CA FID UST), Emissions Inventory Data (EMI), National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES), California Integrated Water Quality System 
(CIWQS), and San Bernardino County Hazardous Material Permits (San Bern Co. Permit), Facility 
and Manifest Data (Haznet), and Hazardous Waste Tracking System (HWTS) databases in the site-
specific environmental database report searched by EDR. 

The UST, CERS Tanks, and CA FID UST databases identified Patio Industries at the subject property 
address, with a UST permit issued by San Bernardino County.  The LUST database indicated a 
release from a diesel UST that impacted soils was discovered in 1998 and was reported in 1999. The 
Geotracker database indicated the case was closed in 2000.  The subject property address was 
identified on the RGA LUST database from 2001 through 2012 under Patio Industries.  The SWEEPS 
UST database identified a UST at the subject property in 1988.  The CORTESE database identified 
the subject property as a LUST cleanup site with a cleanup status of case closed.  No other 
information was reported.  The CERS database identified multiple violations related to recordkeeping 
requirements.  The EMI database indicated Patio Industries emitted particulate matter and carbon 
monoxide.  Based on the closed regulatory status of the LUST case, the UST does not represent a 
REC to the subject property. 

The FINDS database identified Western States Wholesale (WSW) as a cement manufacturing facility 
enrolled in multiple compliance based programs.  The ECHO database identified WSW as a RCRA 
generator.  No violations were identified in the past five years.  The subject property address was a 
non-generator of hazardous waste from 1995 until 2000 when WSW was designated as an SQG.  No 
violations were identified.  According to the NPDES and CIWQS databases, WSW was issued an 
industrial stormwater permit in 2007 that was set to expire in 2020.  WSW was also identified on the 
San Bern Co Permits database as an active facility with permits for an UST and SQG handling 
activities that expired in October 2021.  The Haznet and HWTS databases identified shipments of 
waste oil and unidentified organic liquids between 1998 and 2007.  These database listings are 
compliance based.  Based on the lack of contamination related databases identified, these listings do 
not represent a REC to the subject property. 

5.3.2 Surrounding Sites 

According to the environmental database report, six sites were identified within their respective ASTM 
E1527-13 and/or EDR search distances from the subject property.  Based on AECOM’s review of 
these database listings, none of these sites are expected to present a REC to the subject property 
based on their distance from the subject property (i.e., greater than 500 feet), regulatory status (i.e., 
closed, no violations found), media impacted (i.e., soil only), and/or topographical position from the 
subject property (i.e., down-gradient or cross-gradient).  Due to their proximity to the subject property, 
the following sites are discussed in additional detail: 

• Sierra Lathing Co Inc. located at 1504 East Francis Street, approximately 160 feet west of the 
subject property, was listed on the Historical UST (Hist UST), SWEEPS UST, and CA FID UST 
databases.  These database listings are compliance related and not indicative of releases or 
other environmental concerns.  Based on the nature of the listings (i.e., compliance, non-
contamination related) and lack of listings in a contamination-related database, this site is no 
representative of a REC to the subject property. 

• Western Fan Clutch and One Stop located at 1616 Francis Street is located east adjacent to 
the subject property and is listed on the EDR Historical Auto Service Stations (EDR Hist Auto) 

Item E - 551 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
5-3 

 

database as an automotive repair shop in 1982 and a gasoline service station in 2010.  The 
facility address was not identified on any contamination related databases.  AECOM did not 
observe a gasoline station at this facility.  Based on the lack of releases reported at the facility, 
this site does not represent a REC to the subject property. 

5.4 Vapor Encroachment Screening 
AECOM conducted a Tier 1 VES as part of this assessment.  This screening was conducted in general 
accordance with the ASTM E2600-15.  The objective of the VES was to determine if a VEC exists or 
if a VEC does not exist. 

5.4.1 Subject Property 

The subject property was identified on the LUST database for a release from a diesel UST in 1999.  
However, the case was closed by in 2000.  Based on the regulatory status of the database listing, a 
VEC concern does not exist. 

A 10,000-gallon UST is currently located onsite, the UST and piping are double-walled and the tank 
tightness testing from June 2020 and soil sampling conducted on September 15, 2022 indicated the 
UST has not impacted the subject property and a VEC at the subject property due to an on-site source 
does not appear to exist. 

5.4.2 Off-site 

To conduct the VES of the nearby area, AECOM conducted a detailed review and analysis of the site-
specific environmental database report with particular focus on the follow two types of sites: 

1. Off-site properties that are impacted by chlorinated volatile organic compounds (CVOCs) 
and/or semi-volatile-organic compounds (SVOCs) and are located within approximately 
1,750 feet of the subject property, and 

2. Off-site properties that are impacted by petroleum hydrocarbons and are located within 
approximately 525 feet of the subject property.  

The following paragraph summarizes the results of AECOM’s VES of the nearby area. 

A review of the site-specific environmental database report indicates that no CVOC/SVOC or 
petroleum hydrocarbon impacted site are located with the above-described radii of the subject 
property. Based on this information, it is AECOM’s opinion that a VEC at the subject property due to 
an off-site source does not appear to exist.  

The former GEES Test Cell Facility, discussed in further detail in Section 4.3, is located approximately 
one-mile northeast of the subject property.  Between 1974 and 1980, industrial wastewater containing 
chlorinated solvents were discharged to the property impacting groundwater with VOCs, primarily 
TCE.  Multiple investigations conducted indicated that the TCE in the soil contaminated the 
groundwater and migrated off-site, in a southwesterly direction.  Vapor intrusion assessments at the 
source area have shown a low likelihood of possible vapor intrusion, and groundwater remediation is 
being completed by natural attenuation.  Based on the ongoing remediation and the depth of the 
contamination reported (247 feet below ground surface), an off-site VEC concern does not exist.  

 

Item E - 552 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
5-4 

 

5.5 Agency File Review 

5.5.1 Local 

AECOM submitted a public records request to the City of Ontario for records related to environmental 
records and code violations related to the subject property.  The City Clerk responded that there were 
no files pertaining to the requests that was submitted within the City of Ontario files.  Two building 
department permits were provided to AECOM for review.  Permits to remove and replace fire 
damaged AMP service and replace two existing 200 AMP sub-panel boards were issued in 2015. 

AECOM reviewed property information from the San Bernardino County Assessor-Recorder-Clerk 
Property Information Management System (PIMS) and the San Bernardino County Public Parcel 
Viewer websites.  Information on the subject property has been incorporated throughout this report 
where appropriate. 

AECOM submitted a public records search request with the San Bernardino County for records 
pertaining to the hazardous materials, hazardous wastes, ASTs, and USTs at the subject property.  
AECOM conducted a file review at the San Bernardino County Fire Department, Hazmat Records & 
Information Section (the County Fire Department).  The files are summarized as follows and pertinent 
files are included in Appendix C. 

A 10,000-gallon, single-walled UST was estimated to have been installed at the subject property in 
1980 and was removed from the subject property on January 14, 1999.  A new, 10,000-gallon Joor 
double walled tank, pressurized fuel system was reported to have been installed on January 14, 1999 
in the same location.  The vent lines were also reported as doubled walled.  The tank monitoring 
system includes a Veeder root monitor, two tank top sumps, one annular and one UDC stand alone. 

A release of diesel fuel to the subject property soils was discovered during on December 15, 1998.  
Information obtained in the County Fire Department files identified a Case Closure Summary – 
Leaking Underground Storage Tank Program dated January 20, 2000.  The subject property was 
historically operated as Patio Industries and was owned by Randall Humphreys and Robert 
Humphreys.  Groundwater was reported to be located between 250 feet and 350 feet deep at the 
subject property.  A release of petroleum was identified in the dispenser area and the impacted soils 
were excavated to a depth of 18 feet below ground surface.  Soils were reported to have been 
environmentally impacted and 59.93 tons of impacted soil was excavated in 1999.  Concentrations of 
total petroleum hydrocarbons (diesel) were detected at 2,000 parts per million (ppm) prior to 
excavation and were detected at 28 ppm post excavation.  Xylene and ethylbenzene were detected 
at low concentrations prior to excavation and were not detected after excavation.  A Remedial Action 
Completion Certification was issued by the County Fire Department on June 21, 2000 which 
confirmed the completion of the site investigation and remedial action.  

Various hazardous waste generator inspector forms were included within the files.  The most recent 
Certified Unified Program Agency (CUPA) Compliance Inspection Report available for review was 
conducted March 23, 2020.  The subject property was occupied by Western State Wholesale as a 
manufacturer and distributor of bricks, parking lot barriers, and other cement products.  Various 
bagged cements and aggregates were also distributed from the subject property.  On-site vehicle 
maintenance of fleet vehicles had ceased by 2020 and the fleet vehicles were serviced offsite.  Oil 
generated from production equipment is transferred to their shop located at 1512 Bon View for 
disposal.  Hazardous materials and hazardous wastes onsite during this inspection included 16, 55-
gallon drums of unknown material, four, 55-gallon drums of waste absorbent, two, 282-cubic foot 

Item E - 553 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
5-5 

 

cylinders of oxygen, three, 110-cubic foot cylinders of acetylene, two, 110-cubic foot cylinders of 
argon, 14 pieces of electrical equipment, one, 275-gallon container of concrete, and one, 10,000-
gallon diesel UST.  Violations were issued to the subject property for general record keeping and 
documentation.  Noteworthy findings from the inspection reports indicated that three ASTs were 
located onsite in 1994.  Two ASTs were empty and were reported to have contained concrete glue.  
The third AST was reported to have contained calcium chloride. 

Violations identified at the subject property have included missing UST monitoring and maintenance 
records, UST permit application was not submitted, failure to properly monitor the UST, pressurized 
piping not maintained or tested, secondary containment components not tested, visual/audible alarms 
not operational, and failure to submit a business plan.  

Permits that were issued to the subject property have included a Small Quantity Generator Permit 
FA0005249, a Hazardous Materials 4-10 Chemicals Handler Permit #86009962, and an UST permit 
CERS ID 10042990.  The last CERS submission was dated February 28, 2022.  Permits to make 
modifications to the UST were issued and dated September 10, 1998 for the removal of one UST and 
the installation of one UST, July 12, 2011, March 9, 2018, and April 15, 2019. 

5.5.2 State 

AECOM researched the CalEPA Regulated Site Portal database.  The database combines 
information from the CERS, EnviroStor, GeoTracker, CIWQS, and the federal Toxics Release 
Inventory (TRI) database.  The subject property was identified on the online CalEPA Regulated Site 
Portal database as Patio Industries and Western States Wholesale as an industrial stormwater and 
LUST cleanup site facility.  

AECOM researched the California Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC) online EnviroStor 
database for California Cleanup Sites involving the DTSC.  The EnviroStor database consists of 
federal National Priorities List (NPL) sites, state response sites, voluntary cleanup sites, and school 
cleanup sites.  The subject property was not identified on the online EnviroStor database.  However, 
GE Engine Services Test Cell Facility, previously discussed in Section 4.3, was identified 
approximately one mile northeast of the subject property.  

AECOM researched the CalEPA’s SWRCB online GeoTracker database.  The GeoTracker database 
contains contaminated property investigations consisting of LUST, Cleanup Program, Land Disposal, 
Military, Waste Disposal Registry (WDR), Irrigated Lands Regulatory Program, Permitted UST 
Facilities, Oil and Gas Programs, DTSC Cleanup and DTSC Hazardous Waste Permit sites 
throughout California.  The subject property was identified on the online GeoTracker database for the 
LUST cleanup case previously mentioned throughout this report.  

AECOM searched the California Department of Conservation Geologic Energy Management Division 
(CalGEM) online WellSTAR Well Finder database.  No oil/gas wells were depicted on the subject 
property in the online WellSTAR database.  The subject property is not depicted as located in an 
oil/gas field.  

5.5.3 Federal 

AECOM searched the U.S. EPA’s Envirofacts and Superfund Enterprise Management System 
(SEMS) online databases. The SEMS database replaced the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Information System (CERCLIS) which has since been retired. 
SEMS includes the same data fields and content as CERCLIS. The Envirofacts database retrieves 

Item E - 554 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
5-6 

 

information obtained from 17 national systems, including the CERCLIS, Superfund program (NPL 
sites), hazardous waste sites, and potentially hazardous waste sites. The subject property was not 
listed on the SEMS or Envirofacts databases. 

AECOM performed a review of online records available on the National Pipeline Mapping System 
(NPMS) public map viewer maintained by the U.S. DOT’s Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety 
Administration (PHMSA), for natural gas transmission or hazardous liquid [petroleum] pipelines on or 
adjacent to the subject property.  No natural gas transmissions or crude oil pipelines were identified 
on or adjacent to the subject property that are within the PHMSA’s jurisdiction.  

Item E - 555 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
6-1 

 

 Findings and Opinions 
AECOM performed a Phase I ESA of the subject property in conformance with the scope and 
limitations of ASTM E1527-13, which meets the requirements of Title 40, Code of Federal Regulations 
Part 312 and is intended to constitute all appropriate inquiry for purposes of the landowner liability 
protections. Any exceptions to, or deletions from, this practice are described in Section 1.3 through 
1.5 of this report.  

The following sections summarize the findings and opinions of this Phase I ESA of the subject 
property. 

6.1 Recognized Environmental Conditions 
The former General Electric Engine Services (GEES) Test Cell Facility is located approximately one-
mile northeast of the subject property.  Between 1974 and 1980, industrial wastewater containing 
chlorinated solvents were discharged to the property impacting groundwater with volatile organic 
compounds (VOCs), primarily trichloroethylene (TCE).  Multiple investigations conducted indicated 
that the TCE in the soil contaminated the groundwater and migrated off-site, in a southwesterly 
direction, toward the subject property.  Conceptual modeling conducted in 2019 identified 
isoconcentrations for TCE at the subject property to include 50 micrograms per liter (µg/l) and 100 
µg/l.  Vapor intrusion assessments conducted at the source area have shown a low likelihood of 
possible vapor intrusion.  Depths to groundwater at the subject property and locale have been 
measured at greater than 250 feet below ground surface.  Groundwater remediation is being 
completed by natural attenuation.  Based on the potential for groundwater impacted with VOCs to be 
located at the subject property represents a REC to the subject property.  Based on the identified 
responsible party, the remediation by natural attenuation, and the continued monitoring, no further 
action is warranted for this REC.   

6.2 Historical Recognized Environmental Conditions 
Based on the above-described activities, the following HREC was identified in connection with the 
subject property: 

A release of diesel fuel to the subject property soils was discovered during the removal of an UST on 
December 15, 1998.  Information obtained in the San Bernadino County Fire Department (County 
Fire Department) files indicated that a release of petroleum was reported in the vicinity of a fuel 
dispenser during the UST closure activities and not in the UST excavation.  Notifications of the release 
were submitted to the County Fire Department in January 1999.  The County Fire Department 
acknowledged the submittals on February 3, 1999.  Soils in vicinity of the dispenser were excavated 
to a depth of 18 feet below ground surface and 59.93 tons of impacted soil was excavated in January 
1999.  A work plan for subsurface soil investigation in the vicinity of the dispenser was submitted on 
June 17, 1999.  Additional soil excavation and sampling was conducted in the vicinity of the dispenser 
in August 1999.  Concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons (diesel) were detected at 2,000 parts 
per million (ppm) prior to excavation and were detected at 28 ppm post excavation.  Xylene and 
ethylbenzene were detected at low concentrations prior to excavation and were not detected after 
excavation.  Several correspondences with the County Fire Department requesting waste manifests 
occurred in the Fall of 1999.  The County Fire Department issued a receipt of submittal on January 
20, 2000 and Landowner Notification Requirements on May 9, 2000.  The County Fire Department 

Item E - 556 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
6-2 

 

issued a Remedial Action Completion Certification for this release on May 9, 2000 indicating that 
there was no further action (NFA).   

6.3 Controlled Recognized Environmental Conditions 
Based on the above-described activities, no CRECs were identified for the subject property. 

6.4 De Minimis Conditions 
No DMCs were identified in connection with the subject property at this time.  

Item E - 557 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
7-1 

 

 Conclusions and Recommendations 
We have performed a Phase I ESA in conformance with the scope and limitations of ASTM E1527-
13 of the multi-parcel property located 1600 East Francis Street in Ontario, San Bernardino County, 
California, the property. Any exceptions to, or deletions from, this practice are described in Sections 
1.3 through 1.5 of this report. This assessment has revealed the following in connection with the 
subject property. 

The following REC was identified in connection with the subject property: 

• The former General Electric Engine Services (GEES) Test Cell Facility is located approximately 
one-mile northeast of the subject property.  Between 1974 and 1980, industrial wastewater 
containing chlorinated solvents were discharged to the property impacting groundwater with 
volatile organic compounds (VOCs), primarily trichloroethylene (TCE).  Multiple investigations 
conducted indicated that the TCE in the soil contaminated the groundwater and migrated off-
site, in a southwesterly direction, toward the subject property.  Conceptual modeling conducted 
in 2019 identified isoconcentrations for TCE at the subject property to include 50 micrograms 
per liter (µg/l) and 100 µg/l.  Vapor intrusion assessments conducted at the source area have 
shown a low likelihood of possible vapor intrusion.  Depths to groundwater at the subject property 
and locale have been measured at greater than 250 feet below ground surface.  Groundwater 
remediation is being completed by natural attenuation.  Based on the potential for groundwater 
impacted with VOCs to be located at the subject property represents a REC to the subject 
property.  Based on the identified responsible party, the remediation by natural attenuation, and 
the continued monitoring, no further action is warranted for this REC.  

The following HREC/CREC was identified in connection with the subject property: 

• A release of diesel fuel to the subject property soils was discovered during the removal of an 
UST on December 15, 1998.  Information obtained in the San Bernadino County Fire 
Department (County Fire Department) files indicated that a release of petroleum was 
reported in the vicinity of a fuel dispenser during the UST closure activities and not in the 
UST excavation.  Notifications of the release were submitted to the County Fire Department 
in January 1999.  The County Fire Department acknowledged the submittals on February 3, 
1999.  Soils in vicinity of the dispenser were excavated to a depth of 18 feet below ground 
surface and 59.93 tons of impacted soil was excavated in January 1999.  A work plan for 
subsurface soil investigation in the vicinity of the dispenser was submitted on June 17, 1999.  
Additional soil excavation and sampling was conducted in the vicinity of the dispenser in 
August 1999.  Concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons (diesel) were detected at 
2,000 parts per million (ppm) prior to excavation and were detected at 28 ppm post 
excavation.  Xylene and ethylbenzene were detected at low concentrations prior to 
excavation and were not detected after excavation.  Several correspondences with the 
County Fire Department requesting waste manifests occurred in the Fall of 1999.  The County 
Fire Department issued a receipt of submittal on January 20, 2000 and Landowner 
Notification Requirements on May 9, 2000.  The County Fire Department issued a Remedial 
Action Completion Certification for this release on May 9, 2000 indicating that there was no 
further action (NFA).  Based on the NFA, this HREC is representative of a CREC.  

Based on the results of this assessment, AECOM further environmental investigation is not 
warranted. 

 

Item E - 558 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
8-1 

 

 Environmental Professional Statement 
Ms. Tracey Gillespie was the Environmental Professional (EP) for this project.  Ms. Gillespie’s EP 
statement is below, and her resume is provided in Appendix D. 

I declare that, to the best of my professional knowledge and belief, I meet the definition of an EP as 
defined in §312.10 of 40 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) and that I have the specific qualifications 
based on education, training, and experience to assess a property of the nature, history, and setting 
of the subject property. I have developed and performed all the appropriate inquiries in conformance 
with the standards and practices set forth in 40 CFR Part 312.  

 
Signature: ___________________________ Date: October 4, 2022 

Item E - 559 of 2173



AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
9-1 

 

 References 

9.1 Persons Interviewed 
Mr. Scott Strine, Senior Vice President –Capital Deployment, Dermody Properties, 
sstrine@dermody.com.   

9.2 Agencies Contacted 
City of Ontario, Public Records Request, via email ontarioca@govqa.us 

San Bernardino County Assessor-Recorder-Clerk, Property Information Management System 
(PIMS), www.sbcounty.gov/assessor/pims 

San Bernardino County Fire Protection District, 620 South “E” Street, San Bernardino, CA 92415-
0179, Public Records Request via email hazmatrecords@sbcfire.org, 
https://sbcfire.org/publicrecords/ 

San Bernardino County Public Parcel Viewer, 
https://www.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=87e70bb9b6994559ba7512792588d57a 

State, California Department of Conservation, Well Statewide Tracking and Reporting System 
(WellSTAR) Well Finder, https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/doggr/wellfinder/#openModal/-
118.94276/37.12009/6 

State, California Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC), EnviroStor online database, 
http://www.envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov/public/ 

State, California Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Site Portal online database, 
https://siteportal.calepa.ca.gov 

State, California Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB), GeoTracker online database, 
http://GeoTracker.swrcb.ca.gov/ 

State, California Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB), GeoTracker Groundwater Ambient 
Monitoring Assessment (GAMA) online database, 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/gama/online_tools.html  

United States Department of Transportation (DOT), Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety 
Administration (PHMSA), National Pipeline Mapping System (NPMS) public map viewer, 
https://pvnpms.phmsa.dot.gov/PublicViewer/ 

United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Envirofacts Multisystem online search, 
https://www3.epa.gov/enviro/facts/multisystem.html  

United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Superfund Enterprise Management System 
(SEMS) online search, https://www.epa.gov/enviro/sems-search 

Item E - 560 of 2173

mailto:sstrine@dermody.com
mailto:ontarioca@govqa.us
http://www.sbcounty.gov/assessor/pims
mailto:hazmatrecords@sbcfire.org
https://sbcfire.org/publicrecords/
https://www.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=87e70bb9b6994559ba7512792588d57a
https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/doggr/wellfinder/#openModal/-118.94276/37.12009/6
https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/doggr/wellfinder/#openModal/-118.94276/37.12009/6
http://www.envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov/public/
https://siteportal.calepa.ca.gov/
http://geotracker.swrcb.ca.gov/
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/gama/online_tools.html
https://pvnpms.phmsa.dot.gov/PublicViewer/
https://www3.epa.gov/enviro/facts/multisystem.html
https://www.epa.gov/enviro/sems-search


AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
9-2 

 

9.3 Documents Reviewed 
AECOM, 2022. Limited Phase II Environmental Site Assessment of 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, 
California, prepared by AECOM for DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway, LLC, dated September 30, 2022. 

ASTM E1527-13, Standard Practice for Environmental Site Assessments: Phase I Environmental Site 
Assessment Process, dated November 2013. www.astm.org 

ASTM E2600-15, Standard Guide for Vapor Encroachment Screening on Property Involved in Real 
Estate Transactions, dated October 2015. www.astm.org 

Draft Phase I Environmental Site Assessment of 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California, 
prepared by Ardent Environmental Group, Inc. for California Acquisition, LLC, dated May 23, 2022. 

EDR Aerial Photo Decade Package prepared for 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California, 91761, 
dated August 23, 2022. Inquiry number 7095824.11. Aerial photographs dated 1938, 1946, 1948, 
1953, 1966, 1975, 1985, 1989, 1990, 1994, 2002, 2006, 2009, 2012, and 2016. Report prepared by 
Environmental Data Resources Inc., 6 Armstrong Road, Shelton, Connecticut 06484, (800) 352-0050, 
www.edrnet.com.  

EDR Building Permit Report prepared for 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California, 91761, dated 
August 23, 2022. Inquiry number 7095824.8. Report prepared by Environmental Data Resources Inc., 
6 Armstrong Road, Shelton, Connecticut 06484, (800) 352-0050, www.edrnet.com.  

EDR City Directory Abstract prepared for 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California, 91761, dated 
August 24, 2022. Inquiry number 7095824.5. City directories reviewed dated 1980 to 2017 at 
approximate 5-year intervals. Report prepared by Environmental Data Resources Inc., 6 Armstrong 
Road, Shelton, Connecticut 06484, (800) 352-0050, www.edrnet.com.  

EDR Environmental Lien and AUL Search prepared for 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California, 
91761, dated August 29, 2022. Inquiry number 7095824.7. Report prepared by Environmental Data 
Resources Inc., 6 Armstrong Road, Shelton, Connecticut 06484, (800) 352-0050, www.edrnet.com. 

EDR Historical Topo Map Report prepared for t1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California, 91761, 
dated August 23, 2022. Inquiry number 7095824.4. Topographic Maps dated 1897, 1900, 1903, 1933, 
1941, 1944, 1953, 1954, 1966, 1973, 1976, 1981, 2012, 2015, and 2018. Report prepared by 
Environmental Data Resources Inc., 6 Armstrong Road, Shelton, Connecticut 06484, (800) 352-0050, 
www.edrnet.com. 

EDR Property Tax Map prepared for 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California, 91761, dated 
August 23, 2022. Inquiry number 7095824.6. Report prepared by Environmental Data Resources Inc., 
6 Armstrong Road, Shelton, Connecticut 06484, (800) 352-0050, www.edrnet.com. 

EDR Radius Map™ with GeoCheck® Report prepared for 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, 
California, 91761, dated August 23, 2022. Inquiry number 7095824.2s. Report prepared by 
Environmental Data Resources Inc., 6 Armstrong Road, Shelton, Connecticut 06484, (800) 352-0050, 
www.edrnet.com. 

EDR Sanborn Map “No Coverage” Report prepared for 1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California, 
91761, dated August 23, 2022. Inquiry number 7095824.3. Report prepared by Environmental Data 
Resources Inc., 6 Armstrong Road, Shelton, Connecticut 06484, (800) 352-0050, www.edrnet.com. 

Item E - 561 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/
http://www.edrnet.com/
http://www.edrnet.com/
http://www.edrnet.com/
http://www.edrnet.com/
http://www.edrnet.com/
http://www.edrnet.com/
http://www.edrnet.com/


AECOM    

 
September 2022 
 

AECOM 
9-3 

 

Google Earth Pro, www.google.earth.com.  

Second Quarter 2018 Groundwater Monitoring Report, GE Engine Services Test Cell Facility 2264 
Avion Place, Ontario, California. Prepared by Geosyntec Consultants for GE Global Operations, 
Environment, Health and Safety, dated July 31, 2018. 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Technical Guide For Addressing Petroleum Vapor Intrusion At 
Leaking Underground Storage Tank Sites dated June 2015, 
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-06/documents/pvi-guide-final-6-10-15.pdf 

Wood, 2022.  Second Quarter 2022 Groundwater Monitoring Report, Former General Electric Engine 
Services Test Cell Facility, 2264 Avion Place, Ontario, California.  Prepared by Wood Environment & 
Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. (Wood), For the General Electric Company, dated July 22, 2022. 

 

Item E - 562 of 2173

http://www.google.earth.com/
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-06/documents/pvi-guide-final-6-10-15.pdf


AECOM 

September 2022 AECOM 

Figures

Item E - 563 of 2173



Job: 60691179

Prepared by: TPG

Checked by: TPG

FIGURE 1
Site Location Map

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, San Bernardino County, California

625 West Ridge Pike, Suite E-100
Conshohocken, PA 19428
Phone: (610) 832-3500 Fax: (610) 832-3501

References: Guast, CA Topographic Quadrangle, 2018 
and West Ontario, CA Topographic Quadrangle, 2018

San
Bernardino

San Diego

Ventura

Santa Barbara

Los Angeles

Riverside

Kern

Imperial

Orange

O

Date: 9/29/2022

Site

Item E - 564 of 2173

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line



Job: 60691179

Prepared by: TPG

Checked by: TPG

FIGURE 2
Site Location Map

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, San Bernardino County, California

625 West Ridge Pike, Suite E-100
Conshohocken, PA 19428
Phone: (610) 832-3500 Fax: (610) 832-3501

San
Bernardino

San Diego

Ventura

Santa Barbara

Los Angeles

Riverside

Kern

Imperial

Orange

O

Date: 9/29/2022

Imagery: Google Earth, Image Date 5/14/2019

UST Dispenser
AST

Stormwater Outlet

Office

3-Drums

Paint/Pallets

Forklift 
Charging

Spill 
Cleanup 
Drums

Truck 
Scale

Scrap Metal

Cardboard 
Dumpster

Transformer

Dryer

Forklift 
Charging

Wood 
Dumpster

Compressor

Sumps

Compressor
Transformer

Approximate Subject Property Boundary  

Not to Scale

East Francis Street

Storage 
Building

Concrete 
Batch Plant

Cement 
Mixing 
Plant

Item E - 565 of 2173

tracey.gillespie
Polygonal Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Oval

tracey.gillespie
Oval

tracey.gillespie
Oval

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line



AECOM

September 2022 AECOM

Appendix A
Representative Site 
Photographs

Item E - 566 of 2173



PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

Photo No. 
1 

Date: 
9/7/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

West  

Description: 

The northern property 
boundary and entrance 
off East Francis Street 
located to the north of 
the subject property. 

Photo No. 
2

Date: 
9/7/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

East 

Description: 

A typical view of the 
subject property 
laydown yards and 
structures located at 
the subject property. 

Item E - 567 of 2173



 PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

 

Photo No. 
3 

Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
East 
 

Description: 
 
The area located at the 
northeastern portion of 
the subject property. 

 
Photo No. 

4 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
South 
 

Description: 
 
A typical view of the 
subject property and 
the material laydown 
yard/parking located 
along the western side 
of the subject property. 

 
  

Item E - 568 of 2173



 PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

 

 
Photo No. 

5 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
East 
 

Description: 
 
The location of a 
10,000-gallon diesel 
UST dispenser, spill 
cleanup drums, and 
drums potentially soil 
cuttings from a prior 
investigation located at 
the northern portion of 
the subject property. 

 
Photo No. 

6 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
 
East 
 

Description: 
 
The diesel fuel 
dispense, with spill 
cleanup materials, and 
a diesel exhaust fluid 
tank/dispenser in the 
background located at 
the northern portion of 
the subject property. 

 
  

Item E - 569 of 2173



 PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

 

Photo No. 
7 

Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
East 

Description: 
 
The empty diesel 
exhaust fluid tank and 
dispenser located at the 
northeastern portion of 
the subject property 
near the exit gate.  
Note the adjacent 
properties located to 
the east of the subject 
property. 

 
Photo No. 

8 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
 
South 
 

Description: 
 
The area located to the 
east of the diesel 
dispenser, a scale, and 
the subject property 
buildings centrally 
located on the subject 
property.  Remnants of 
the former concrete 
batch plant are in the 
background. 

 
  

Item E - 570 of 2173



 PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

 

Photo No. 
9 

Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
Southwest 
 

Description: 
 
The northwestern 
portion of the subject 
property used as a 
materials laydown yard 
followed by a canopy. 

 
Photo No. 

10 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
Southeast 

Description: 
 
 
The north-central 
portion of the subject 
property. 

 
  

Item E - 571 of 2173



 PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

 

Photo No. 
11 

Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
North 
 

Description: 
 
The interior of an annex 
structure depicted in 
photograph 11 and 
forklift charging station. 

 
Photo No. 

12 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
West 
 

Description: 
 
The cement mixing 
building located on the 
northern portion of the 
subject property. 

 
  

Item E - 572 of 2173



 PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

 

 
Photo No. 

13 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
Northwest 
 

Description: 
 
The cement mixing 
plant located on the 
eastern side of the 
subject property. 

 
Photo No. 

14 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
North 
 

Description: 
 
A view of a gas burning 
dryer located in the 
southwestern corner of 
the cement mixing 
plant. 

 
  

Item E - 573 of 2173



 PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

 

Photo No. 
15 

Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
Northwest 

Description: 
 
The office building and 
a compressor room 
located in the central-
eastern portion of the 
subject property to the 
west of the building in 
photograph12. 

 
Photo No. 

16 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
Southwest 
 

Description: 
 
The northern side of the 
storage building located 
on the southeastern 
portion of the subject 
property. 

 
  

Item E - 574 of 2173



 PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

 

Photo No. 
17 

Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
Southwest 
 

Description: 
 
A dumpster for 
cardboard and a utility-
owned pad mounted 
transformer located 
along the east side the 
storage building. 

 
Photo No. 

18 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
West 
 

Description: 
 
The southern side of 
the storage building 
located at the 
southeastern portion of 
the subject property.  
Pallet storage, 
dumpster for scrap 
wood, and the adjoining 
property located to the 
south (white building). 

 
  

Item E - 575 of 2173



 PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

 

Photo No. 
19 

Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
East 
 

Description: 
 
A wooden pallet 
painting area located 
along the southern side 
of the storage building. 

 
Photo No. 

20 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
West 
 

Description: 
 
A sump and collection 
basin located at the 
southwestern side of 
the storage building. 

 
  

Item E - 576 of 2173



 PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

 

Photo No. 
21 

Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
Northeast 
 

Description: 
 
A forklift charging and 
storage area located 
within the western side 
of the storage building.  

 
Photo No. 

22 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
South 
 

Description: 
 
The northwestern 
portion of the 
southeastern subject 
building with a sump 
located along the wall. 

 
  

Item E - 577 of 2173



 PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA  

Project No. 
60681593 

 

 
Photo No. 

23 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
East 
 

Description: 
 
East Francis Street and 
the entrance into the 
subject property.  Note 
the pipe used as an 
outlet for the 
stormwater sump at the 
subject property. 

 
Photo No. 

24 
Date: 
9/7/22 

 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 
 
South 
 

Description: 
 
The entrance at the 
northwestern corner of 
the subject property 
facing south to the 
western side of the 
subject property.  Note 
the pipe for stormwater 
outlet.   

 

Item E - 578 of 2173



AECOM

September 2022 AECOM

Appendix B
Environmental Database Resources Files 

Item E - 579 of 2173



The EDR Aerial Photo Decade Package

Commercial Property

1600 East Francis Street

Ontario, CA 91761

Inquiry Number:

August 23, 2022

7095824.11

6 Armstrong Road, 4th floor
Shelton, CT 06484
Toll Free: 800.352.0050
www.edrnet.com

Item E - 580 of 2173



2016 1"=500' Flight Year: 2016 USDA/NAIP

2012 1"=500' Flight Year: 2012 USDA/NAIP

2009 1"=500' Flight Year: 2009 USDA/NAIP

2006 1"=500' Flight Year: 2006 USDA/NAIP

2002 1"=500' Acquisition Date: January 01, 2002 USGS/DOQQ

1994 1"=500' Acquisition Date: June 01, 1994 USGS/DOQQ

1990 1"=500' Flight Date: August 29, 1990 USDA

1989 1"=500' Flight Date: August 03, 1989 USDA

1985 1"=500' Flight Date: July 28, 1985 USDA

1975 1"=500' Flight Date: August 01, 1975 USGS

1966 1"=500' Flight Date: April 21, 1966 USGS

1953 1"=500' Flight Date: March 03, 1953 USDA

1948 1"=500' Flight Date: July 10, 1948 USGS

1946 1"=500' Flight Date: December 29, 1946 USGS

1938 1"=500' Flight Date: June 03, 1938 USDA

EDR Aerial Photo Decade Package 08/23/22

Commercial Property

Site Name: Client Name:

AECOM
1600 East Francis Street 335 Commerce Drive
Ontario, CA 91761 Ft. Washington, PA 19034
EDR Inquiry # 7095824.11 Contact: Tracey Gillespie

Environmental Data Resources, Inc. (EDR) Aerial Photo Decade Package is a screening tool designed to assist
environmental professionals in evaluating potential liability on a target property resulting from past activities. EDR’s
professional researchers provide digitally reproduced historical aerial photographs, and when available, provide one photo
per decade.

Search Results:

Year Scale Details Source

When delivered electronically by EDR, the aerial photo images included with this report are for ONE TIME USE
ONLY. Further reproduction of these aerial photo images is prohibited without permission from EDR. For more
information contact your EDR Account Executive.

Disclaimer - Copyright and Trademark Notice
This Report contains certain information obtained from a variety of public and other sources reasonably available to Environmental Data Resources, Inc. It cannot
be concluded from this Report that coverage information for the target and surrounding properties does not exist from other sources. NO WARRANTY
EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, IS MADE WHATSOEVER IN CONNECTION WITH THIS REPORT. ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. SPECIFICALLY
DISCLAIMS THE MAKING OF ANY SUCH WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE
OR PURPOSE. ALL RISK IS ASSUMED BY THE USER. IN NO EVENT SHALL ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. BE LIABLE TO ANYONE,
WHETHER ARISING OUT OF ERRORS OR OMISSIONS, NEGLIGENCE, ACCIDENT OR ANY OTHER CAUSE, FOR ANY LOSS OF DAMAGE, INCLUDING,
WITHOUT LIMITATION, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES. ANY LIABILITY ON THE PART OF ENVIRONMENTAL
DATA RESOURCES, INC. IS STRICTLY LIMITED TO A REFUND OF THE AMOUNT PAID FOR THIS REPORT. Purchaser accepts this Report "AS IS". Any
analyses, estimates, ratings, environmental risk levels or risk codes provided in this Report are provided for illustrative purposes only, and are not intended to
provide, nor should they be interpreted as providing any facts regarding, or prediction or forecast of, any environmental risk for any property. Only a Phase I
Environmental Site Assessment performed by an environmental professional can provide information regarding the environmental risk for any property.
Additionally, the information provided in this Report is not to be construed as legal advice.

Copyright 2022 by Environmental Data Resources, Inc. All rights reserved. Reproduction in any media or format, in whole or in part, of any report or map of
Environmental Data Resources, Inc., or its affiliates, is prohibited without prior written permission.

EDR and its logos (including Sanborn and Sanborn Map) are trademarks of Environmental Data Resources, Inc. or its affiliates. All other trademarks used herein are
the property of their respective owners.

7095824 11- page 2Item E - 581 of 2173



7095824.11

2016

= 500'
Item E - 582 of 2173





7095824.11

2012

= 500'
Item E - 583 of 2173





7095824.11

2009

= 500'
Item E - 584 of 2173





7095824.11

2006

= 500'
Item E - 585 of 2173





7095824.11

2002

= 500'
Item E - 586 of 2173





7095824.11

1994

= 500'
Item E - 587 of 2173





7095824.11

1990

= 500'
Item E - 588 of 2173





7095824.11

1989

= 500'
Item E - 589 of 2173





7095824.11

1985

= 500'
Item E - 590 of 2173





7095824.11

1975

= 500'
Item E - 591 of 2173





7095824.11

1966

= 500'
Item E - 592 of 2173





7095824.11

1953

= 500'
Item E - 593 of 2173





7095824.11

1948

= 500'
Item E - 594 of 2173





7095824.11

1946

= 500'
Item E - 595 of 2173





7095824.11

1938

= 500'
Item E - 596 of 2173





EDR Historical Topo Map Report

Inquiry Number:

6 Armstrong Road, 4th floor 
Shelton, CT 06484
Toll Free: 800.352.0050 
www.edrnet.com

with QuadMatch™

Commercial Property

1600 East Francis Street

Ontario, CA 91761

August 23, 2022

7095824.4

Item E - 597 of 2173



EDR Historical Topo Map Report 

EDR Inquiry # 

Search Results:

P.O.#  
Project:

Maps Provided:

Disclaimer - Copyright and Trademark Notice

EDR and its logos (including Sanborn and Sanborn Map) are trademarks of Environmental Data Resources, Inc. or its affiliates. All other trademarks used herein 
are the property of their respective owners.

page-

Coordinates:

Latitude: 
Longitude: 
UTM Zone: 
UTM X Meters: 
UTM Y Meters: 
Elevation:

Contact:

Site Name: Client Name:

2018

2015

2012

1981

1976

1973

1966, 1967

1954

1953, 1954

1944

1941, 1942

1933

1903

1900

1897

08/23/22

Commercial Property AECOM
1600 East Francis Street 335 Commerce Drive
Ontario, CA 91761 Ft. Washington, PA 19034

7095824.4 Tracey Gillespie

EDR Topographic Map Library has been searched by EDR and maps covering the target property location as provided by
AECOM were identified for the years listed below. EDR’s Historical Topo Map Report is designed to assist professionals in
evaluating potential liability on a target property resulting from past activities. EDRs Historical Topo Map Report includes a
search of a collection of public and private color historical topographic maps, dating back to the late 1800s.

60691179 34.040303 34° 2' 25" North

Ontario, CA Phase I -117.618202 -117° 37' 6" West
Zone 11 North
442936.94
3766797.04
865.00' above sea level

This Report contains certain information obtained from a variety of public and other sources reasonably available to Environmental Data Resources, Inc. It cannot
be concluded from this Report that coverage information for the target and surrounding properties does not exist from other sources. NO WARRANTY
EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, IS MADE WHATSOEVER IN CONNECTION WITH THIS REPORT. ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. SPECIFICALLY
DISCLAIMS THE MAKING OF ANY SUCH WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE
OR PURPOSE. ALL RISK IS ASSUMED BY THE USER. IN NO EVENT SHALL ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. BE LIABLE TO ANYONE,
WHETHER ARISING OUT OF ERRORS OR OMISSIONS, NEGLIGENCE, ACCIDENT OR ANY OTHER CAUSE, FOR ANY LOSS OF DAMAGE, INCLUDING,
WITHOUT LIMITATION, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES. ANY LIABILITY ON THE PART OF ENVIRONMENTAL
DATA RESOURCES, INC. IS STRICTLY LIMITED TO A REFUND OF THE AMOUNT PAID FOR THIS REPORT. Purchaser accepts this Report "AS IS". Any
analyses, estimates, ratings, environmental risk levels or risk codes provided in this Report are provided for illustrative purposes only, and are not intended to
provide, nor should they be interpreted as providing any facts regarding, or prediction or forecast of, any environmental risk for any property. Only a Phase I
Environmental Site Assessment performed by an environmental professional can provide information regarding the environmental risk for any property.
Additionally, the information provided in this Report is not to be construed as legal advice.
Copyright 2022 by Environmental Data Resources, Inc. All rights reserved. Reproduction in any media or format, in whole or in part, of any report or map of
Environmental Data Resources, Inc., or its affiliates, is prohibited without prior written permission.

7095824 4 2Item E - 598 of 2173



page

Topo Sheet Key
This EDR Topo Map Report is based upon the following USGS topographic map sheets.

-

2018 Source Sheets

2018
Guasti

7.5-minute, 24000
2018
Ontario

7.5-minute, 24000

2015 Source Sheets

2015
Guasti

7.5-minute, 24000
2015
Ontario

7.5-minute, 24000

2012 Source Sheets

2012
Guasti

7.5-minute, 24000
2012
Ontario

7.5-minute, 24000

1981 Source Sheets

1981
Guasti

7.5-minute, 24000
Aerial Photo Revised 1978

1981
Ontario

7.5-minute, 24000
Aerial Photo Revised 1978

7095824 4 3Item E - 599 of 2173



page

Topo Sheet Key
This EDR Topo Map Report is based upon the following USGS topographic map sheets.

-

1976 Source Sheets

1976
ONTARIO

15-minute, 50000

1973 Source Sheets

1973
Guasti

7.5-minute, 24000
Aerial Photo Revised 1973

1973
Ontario

7.5-minute, 24000
Aerial Photo Revised 1973

1966, 1967 Source Sheets

1966
Guasti

7.5-minute, 24000
Aerial Photo Revised 1966

1967
Ontario

7.5-minute, 24000
Aerial Photo Revised 1966

1954 Source Sheets

1954
Ontario

15-minute, 62500
Aerial Photo Revised 1952

7095824 4 4Item E - 600 of 2173



page

Topo Sheet Key
This EDR Topo Map Report is based upon the following USGS topographic map sheets.

-

1953, 1954 Source Sheets

1953
Guasti

7.5-minute, 24000
Aerial Photo Revised 1952

1944 Source Sheets

1944
CUCAMONGA

15-minute, 50000

1941, 1942 Source Sheets

1941
GUASTI VICINITY

7.5-minute, 31680
1942
Ontario and Vicinity

7.5-minute, 31680

1933 Source Sheets

1933
Ontario

7.5-minute, 31680

7095824 4 5Item E - 601 of 2173



page

Topo Sheet Key
This EDR Topo Map Report is based upon the following USGS topographic map sheets.

-

1903 Source Sheets

1903
Cucamonga

15-minute, 62500

1900 Source Sheets

1900
Cucamonga

15-minute, 62500

1897 Source Sheets

1897
Cucamonga

15-minute, 62500

7095824 4 6Item E - 602 of 2173



Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

2018

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, Guasti, 2018, 7.5-minute
W, Ontario, 2018, 7.5-minute

7095824 4 7Item E - 603 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

2015

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, Guasti, 2015, 7.5-minute
W, Ontario, 2015, 7.5-minute

7095824 4 8Item E - 604 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

2012

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, Guasti, 2012, 7.5-minute
W, Ontario, 2012, 7.5-minute

7095824 4 9Item E - 605 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1981

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, Guasti, 1981, 7.5-minute
W, Ontario, 1981, 7.5-minute

7095824 4 10Item E - 606 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1976

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, ONTARIO, 1976, 15-minute

7095824 4 11Item E - 607 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1973

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, Guasti, 1973, 7.5-minute
W, Ontario, 1973, 7.5-minute

7095824 4 12Item E - 608 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1966, 1967

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, Guasti, 1966, 7.5-minute
W, Ontario, 1967, 7.5-minute

7095824 4 13Item E - 609 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1954

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, Ontario, 1954, 15-minute

7095824 4 14Item E - 610 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1953, 1954

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, Guasti, 1953, 7.5-minute
W, Ontario, 1954, 7.5-minute

7095824 4 15Item E - 611 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1944

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, CUCAMONGA, 1944, 15-minute

7095824 4 16Item E - 612 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1941, 1942

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, GUASTI VICINITY, 1941, 7.5-minute
NW, Ontario and Vicinity, 1942, 7.5-minute

7095824 4 17Item E - 613 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1933

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

NW, Ontario, 1933, 7.5-minute

7095824 4 18Item E - 614 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1903

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, Cucamonga, 1903, 15-minute

7095824 4 19Item E - 615 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1900

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, Cucamonga, 1900, 15-minute

7095824 4 20Item E - 616 of 2173





Historical Topo Map

page

SITE NAME:
 ADDRESS:

CLIENT:

This report includes information from the 
following map sheet(s).

-

EW

SW      S       SE

NW      N        NE

1897

0 Miles 0.25 0.5 1 1.5

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761
AECOM

TP, Cucamonga, 1897, 15-minute

7095824 4 21Item E - 617 of 2173





Certified Sanborn® Map Report

Inquiry Number:

6 Armstrong Road, 4th floor 
Shelton, CT 06484
Toll Free: 800.352.0050 
www.edrnet.com

Commercial Property

1600 East Francis Street

Ontario, CA 91761

August 23, 2022

7095824.3

Item E - 618 of 2173



Certified Sanborn® Map Report 

Certified Sanborn Results:

Disclaimer - Copyright and Trademark Notice

EDR and its logos (including Sanborn and Sanborn Map) are trademarks of Environmental Data Resources, Inc. or its affiliates. All other trademarks used herein 
are the property of their respective owners.

page-

The Sanborn Library includes more than 1.2 million
fire insurance maps from Sanborn, Bromley, Perris &
Browne, Hopkins, Barlow and others which track
historical property usage in approximately 12,000
American cities and towns.  Collections searched:

Library of Congress

University Publications of America

EDR Private Collection

The Sanborn Library LLC Since 1866™

Limited Permission To Make Copies

Sanborn® Library search results 

Contact:EDR Inquiry # 

Site Name: Client Name:

 Certification #

PO #

Project

08/23/22

1600 East Francis Street
Commercial Property AECOM

335 Commerce Drive
Ontario, CA 91761

7095824.3
Ft. Washington, PA 19034

Tracey Gillespie
The Sanborn Library has been searched by EDR and maps covering the target property location as provided by AECOM were identified for
the years listed below. The Sanborn Library is the largest, most complete collection of fire insurance maps. The collection includes maps
from Sanborn, Bromley, Perris & Browne, Hopkins, Barlow, and others.  Only Environmental Data Resources Inc. (EDR) is authorized to
grant rights for commercial reproduction of maps by the Sanborn Library LLC, the copyright holder for the collection.  Results can be
authenticated by visiting www.edrnet.com/sanborn.

The Sanborn Library is continually enhanced with newly identified map archives. This report accesses all maps in the collection as of the
day this report was generated.

0065-4779-8F1B
60691179

UNMAPPED PROPERTY

Ontario, CA Phase I

This report certifies that the complete holdings of the Sanborn Library,
LLC collection have been searched based on client supplied target
property information, and fire insurance maps covering the target property
were not found.

Certification #: 0065-4779-8F1B

AECOM  (the client) is permitted to make up to FIVE photocopies of this Sanborn Map transmittal and each fire insurance map accompanying this report solely for the
limited use of its customer. No one other than the client is authorized to make copies. Upon request made directly to an EDR Account Executive, the client may be
permitted to make a limited number of additional photocopies. This permission is conditioned upon compliance by the client, its customer and their agents with EDR's
copyright policy; a copy of which is available upon request.

This Report contains certain information obtained from a variety of public and other sources reasonably available to Environmental Data Resources, Inc. It cannot
be concluded from this Report that coverage information for the target and surrounding properties does not exist from other sources. NO WARRANTY
EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, IS MADE WHATSOEVER IN CONNECTION WITH THIS REPORT. ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. SPECIFICALLY
DISCLAIMS THE MAKING OF ANY SUCH WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE
OR PURPOSE. ALL RISK IS ASSUMED BY THE USER. IN NO EVENT SHALL ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. BE LIABLE TO ANYONE,
WHETHER ARISING OUT OF ERRORS OR OMISSIONS, NEGLIGENCE, ACCIDENT OR ANY OTHER CAUSE, FOR ANY LOSS OF DAMAGE, INCLUDING,
WITHOUT LIMITATION, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES. ANY LIABILITY ON THE PART OF ENVIRONMENTAL
DATA RESOURCES, INC. IS STRICTLY LIMITED TO A REFUND OF THE AMOUNT PAID FOR THIS REPORT. Purchaser accepts this Report "AS IS". Any
analyses, estimates, ratings, environmental risk levels or risk codes provided in this Report are provided for illustrative purposes only, and are not intended to
provide, nor should they be interpreted as providing any facts regarding, or prediction or forecast of, any environmental risk for any property. Only a Phase I
Environmental Site Assessment performed by an environmental professional can provide information regarding the environmental risk for any property.
Additionally, the information provided in this Report is not to be construed as legal advice.
Copyright 2022 by Environmental Data Resources, Inc. All rights reserved. Reproduction in any media or format, in whole or in part, of any report or map of
Environmental Data Resources, Inc., or its affiliates, is prohibited without prior written permission.

7095824 3 2Item E - 619 of 2173



Commercial Property

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761

Inquiry Number: 7095824.5

August 24, 2022

The EDR-City Directory Abstract

6 Armstrong Road
Shelton, CT 06484
800.352.0050
www.edrnet.comEnvironmental Data Resources IncEnvironmental Data Resources IncEnvironmental Data Resources IncEnvironmental Data Resources Inc

Item E - 620 of 2173



TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION

Executive Summary

Findings

City Directory Images

Thank you for your business. 
Please contact EDR at  1-800-352-0050 

with any questions or comments.

Disclaimer - Copyright and Trademark Notice

This Report contains certain information obtained from a variety of public and other sources reasonably available to 

Environmental Data Resources, Inc. It cannot be concluded from this Report that coverage information for the target and 

surrounding properties does not exist from other sources. NO WARRANTY EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, IS MADE WHATSOEVER 

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS REPORT. ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS THE MAKING 

OF ANY SUCH WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 

USE OR PURPOSE. ALL RISK IS ASSUMED BY THE USER. IN NO EVENT SHALL ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. 

BE LIABLE TO ANYONE, WHETHER ARISING OUT OF ERRORS OR OMISSIONS, NEGLIGENCE, ACCIDENT OR ANY OTHER 

CAUSE, FOR ANY LOSS OR DAMAGE, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR 

EXEMPLARY DAMAGES. ANY LIABILITY ON THE PART OF ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. IS STRICTLY 

LIMITED TO A REFUND OF THE AMOUNT PAID FOR THIS REPORT. Purchaser accepts this Report "AS IS". Any analyses, 

estimates, ratings, environmental risk levels or risk codes provided in this Report are provided for illustrative purposes only, and

are not intended to provide, nor should they be interpreted as providing any facts regarding, or prediction orforecast of, any 

environmental risk for any property. Only a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment performed by an environmental professional 

can provide information regarding the environmental risk for any property. Additionally, the information provided in this Report is 

not to be construed as legal advice.

Copyright 2020 by Environmental Data Resources, Inc.  All rights reserved.  Reproduction in any media or format, in whole or in 
part, of any report or map of Environmental Data Resources, Inc. or its affiliates is prohibited without prior written permission.  

EDR and its logos (including Sanborn and Sanborn Map) are trademarks of Environmental Data Resources, Inc. or its affiliates. 
All other trademarks used herein are the property of their respective owners.

Item E - 621 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

DESCRIPTION

Environmental Data Resources, Inc.’s (EDR) City Directory Abstract is a screening tool designed to assist 
environmental professionals in evaluating potential liability on a target property resulting f rom past activities.  
EDR’s City Directory Abstract includes a search and abstract of  available city directory data.  For each 
address, the directory lists the name of  the corresponding occupant at f ive year intervals.

Bus iness directories including city, cross reference and telephone directories were reviewed, if  available, at 
approximately f ive year intervals for the years spanning 1922 through 2017.  This report compiles 
information gathered in this review by geocoding the latitude and longitude of  properties identif ied and 
gathering information about properties within 660 feet of  the target property.

A summary of  the information obtained is provided in the text of  this report.

RECORD SOURCES

EDR's Digital Archive combines historical directory listings f rom sources such as Cole Information and Dun 
& Bradstreet. These standard sources of  property information complement and enhance each other to 
provide a more comprehensive report.

EDR is l icensed to reproduce certain City Directory works by the copyright holders of  those works. The 
purchaser of  this EDR City Directory Report may include it in report(s) delivered to a customer. Reproduction 
of  City Directories without permission of  the publisher or licensed vendor may be a violation of  copyright.

RESEARCH SUMMARY

The following research sources were consulted in the preparation of  this report. An "X" indicates where 
information was identif ied in the source and provided in this report.

Source TPYear Adjoining Text Abstract Source Image

2017 Cole Information Services - X X -

2014 Cole Information Services - X X -

2009 Cole Information Services - X X -

2008 Haines  Company, Inc. - X X -

Haines  Company, Inc. X X X -

2004 Cole Information Services X X X -

2003 Haines & Co Publishers - X X -

Haines & Co Publishers X X X -

2002 Cole Information Services - - - -

1999 Cole Information Services - X X -

7095824- 5 Page 1

Item E - 622 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Source TPYear Adjoining Text Abstract Source Image

1996 GTE - - - -

1995 GTE Directories - X X -

1994 Cole Information Services - X X -

1991 GTE California Incorporated - - - -

1990 GTE - X X -

1985 GTE - X X -

1981 General Telephone Company of 
California

- - - -

1980 GTE General Telephone Company of 
California

- X X -

1975 Pacific Telephone Co - - - -

1970 General Telephone Company of 
California

- - - -

1965 GTE - - - -

1964 Luskey Brothers & Co - - - -

1961 Luskey Brothers& Co Publishers - - - -

1960 Luskey Brothers & Co Publishers - - - -

1956 General Telephone Company Publishers - - - -

1955 Luskey Brothers Co Publishers - - - -

1951 Los Angeles Directory Co Publishers - - - -

1950 The Pacific Telephone and Telegraph Co - - - -

1949 San Bernardino Directory Co. Publishers - - - -

1946 Los Angeles Directory Company 
Publishers

- - - -

1945 Southern Califronia Telephone Company - - - -

1942 San Bernardino Directory Co Publisher - - - -

1941 Associated Telephone Company Limited - - - -

1940 Los Angeles Directory Co. - - - -

1938 Los Angeles Directory Co. - - - -

1936 San Bernardino Directory Co Publisher - - - -

1934 Los Angeles Directory Co. - - - -

1931 Los Angeles Directory Co. - - - -

1930 San Bernardino Directory Co Publisher - - - -

1926 Los Angeles Directory Co. - - - -

1923 Los Angeles Directory Company - - - -

1922 R.L. Polk & Co Publishers - - - -

7095824- 5 Page 2

Item E - 623 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SELECTED ADDRESSES

The following addresses were selected by the client, for EDR to research.  An "X" indicates where 
information was identif ied.

Address Type Findings

1521 East Francis Street Client Entered X

1524 East Francis Street Client Entered X

1616 East Francis Street Client Entered X

1621 East Francis Street Client Entered X

1912 South Augusta Street Client Entered X

1916 South Augusta Street Client Entered X

Item E - 624 of 2173



FINDINGS

TARGET PROPERTY INFORMATION

ADDRESS

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA   91761

FINDINGS DETAIL

Target Property research detail.

E FRANCIS ST

1600  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2008 XXXX Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

WALLACE COMPUTERS Cole Information Services

FRANCIS ST E

1600  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 HUMPHREYS Randall Haines & Co Publishers

7095824- 5 Page 2

Item E - 625 of 2173



FINDINGS

ADJOINING PROPERTY DETAIL

The following Adjoining Property addresses were researched for this report.  Detailed f indings are provided 
for each address.

E FRANCIS

1504  E FRANCIS

Year Uses Source

1990 I T & E SUPPLIES GTE

T E Loucas Internatl GTE

1508  E FRANCIS

Year Uses Source

1990 A G Engineering GTE

S & K Engineering GTE

1510  E FRANCIS

Year Uses Source

1990 Stencil Systems Inc GTE

1514  E FRANCIS

Year Uses Source

1990 VCELLA KILNS GTE

1522  E FRANCIS

Year Uses Source

1990 Seico Precision Die Inc GTE

1524  E FRANCIS

Year Uses Source

1990 Quality Insulators GTE

1616  E FRANCIS

Year Uses Source

1990 Etchmark GTE

Purfect Packaging GTE

Stepdrill Specialties GTE

Systems Design GTE

7095824- 5 Page 3

Item E - 626 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

1990 & W Sales Co GTE

Pacif ic Chemical GTE

AT & T COMPANY Business Telephone 

Systems & Facsimile

GTE

1630  E FRANCIS

Year Uses Source

1990 Visart Industries GTE

In Store Directory GTE

Neon Controls Inc GTE

Ronco Dryw all GTE

Visart GTE

1642  E FRANCIS

Year Uses Source

1990 Classic & Customs GTE

Allison Auto Sales GTE

1650  E FRANCIS

Year Uses Source

1990 G & H Woodw orks GTE

E FRANCIS ST

1496  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 CONGO PLAY LLC Cole Information Services

HENKEL CORPORATION Cole Information Services

2014 CONGO PLAY LLC Cole Information Services

2009 ACHESON COLLOIDS CO Cole Information Services

ACHESON INDUSTRIES INC Cole Information Services

2008 ACHESON COLLOIDS CO Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 ACHESON INDUSTRIES INC Cole Information Services

1999 ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY Cole Information Services

1995 ACHESON COLLOIDS CO GTE Directories

1994 OLIN HUNT MATERIALS Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 4

Item E - 627 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

1503  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2008 GARCIA Daniel Haines  Company, Inc.

1504  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 PEPPERLONELY Cole Information Services

2014 PEPPERLONELY Cole Information Services

2009 DEL MAR WIRE & PRODUCTS Cole Information Services

2008 DEL MAR WIRE & PRODUCTS INC Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 DEL MAR WIRE & PRODUCT Cole Information Services

OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

1999 DEL MAR WIRE & PRODUCTS 

INCORPORATED

Cole Information Services

1995 DEL MAR WIRE & PRODUCTS GTE Directories

1994 DEL MAR WIRE & PRODUCTS INC Cole Information Services

1506  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2014 PACIFIC AUTOMOTIVE PARTS INC Cole Information Services

2008 ACCURATE MOBILE WELDING Haines  Company, Inc.

1508  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2009 N B T MACHINING INC Cole Information Services

2008 N B T MACHINING INC Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 CTC MACHINING Cole Information Services

MANUELS CUSTOM UPHOLSTERY Cole Information Services

NBT MACHINING INC Cole Information Services

1995 Building GTE Directories

B CUSTOM FURNITURE DESIGNS GTE Directories

1994 MANUELS CUSTOM UPHOLSTERY Cole Information Services

1510  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 COVENANT INSTALLATION INC Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 5

Item E - 628 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

2014 COVENANT INSTALLATIONS INC Cole Information Services

2008 XXXX Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 ONTARIO BUSINESS PARK Cole Information Services

1999 ARTEMIS USA INCORPORATED Cole Information Services

1995 TONY S FORKLIFT GTE Directories

1512  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 ELITE SHEET METAL INC Cole Information Services

Q SCREW MACHINE PRODUCTS Cole Information Services

2014 ELITE SHEET METAL INC Cole Information Services

Q SCREW MACHINE PRODUCTS Cole Information Services

2009 NUFORMZ INC Cole Information Services

2008 XXXX Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

1995 Building GTE Directories

A REGAL CATERING BODIES INC GTE Directories

1994 REGAL CATERING BODIES INC Cole Information Services

1514  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 ARC COATINGS INC Cole Information Services

ALTAIR GASES & EQUIPMENT Cole Information Services

2014 ALTAIR GASES & EQUIPMENT Cole Information Services

K & K ENTERPRISES Cole Information Services

ARC COATINGS INC Cole Information Services

2009 K & K ENTERPRISES Cole Information Services

K & K FORGE DIE INC Cole Information Services

2008 ALTAIR GASES & EQUIPMENT Haines  Company, Inc.

K & K ENTERPRISES Haines  Company, Inc.

ONSITE FLEET SERVICES Haines  Company, Inc.

1999 K & K ENTERPRISES Cole Information Services

ALTAIR GASES & EQUIPMENT Cole Information Services

ANDERSON EQUIPMENT COMPANY Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 6

Item E - 629 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

1999 ACCUFAB Cole Information Services

1995 Building GTE Directories

K & K ENTERPRISES GTE Directories

A ANDERSON EQUIPMENT CO GTE Directories

B ACCUFAB GTE Directories

1994 AEROSPACE & COMMERCIAL TOOLING Cole Information Services

1985 BUILDING GTE

A VCELLA KILNS GTE

B VAN DYK DIESEL SVC GTE

1980 A VCELLA KILNS GTE General Telephone Company of 
California

MALCOLM  WM C GTE General Telephone Company of 
California

BUILDING GTE General Telephone Company of 
California

1516  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISSION Cole Information Services

ACCUFAB Cole Information Services

2014 DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISSION Cole Information Services

2009 DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISSION Cole Information Services

2008 DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISSION Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 ACCUFAB INC Cole Information Services

1999 SHOOK BUILDING SYSTEMS Cole Information Services

1995 SHOOK BUILDING SYSTEMS GTE Directories

1994 SHOOK BUILDING SYSTEMS Cole Information Services

1518  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2014 EXTREME CUSTOM SHEET METAL INC Cole Information Services

2009 B B WELDING Cole Information Services

2008 GENES CUSTOM WELDING Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 ADVANCED ENGINEERING WEST Cole Information Services

1999 BELDING THREAD GROUP Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 7

Item E - 630 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

1999 ADVANCED ENGINEERING WEST Cole Information Services

AEW PERFORMANCE PARTS Cole Information Services

1520  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 DIESEL EMISSIONS SERVICE Cole Information Services

2014 DIESEL EMISSIONS SERV Cole Information Services

2009 NORREN MFG INC Cole Information Services

2008 NORREN MANUFACTURING INC Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 NORREN MFG INC Cole Information Services

1999 MANUCOMP Cole Information Services

INTERNATIONAL RITE WAY Cole Information Services

1995 INTERNATIONAL RITE  WAY GTE Directories

1994 REGAL CATERING BODIES INC Cole Information Services

1521  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 NEOVIA LOGISTICS SERVICES LLC Cole Information Services

GENERA CORP Cole Information Services

USF LOGISTICS Cole Information Services

NEOVIA LOGISTICS SERVICES LLC Cole Information Services

GENERA CORP Cole Information Services

USF LOGISTICS Cole Information Services

2014 USF LOGISTICS Cole Information Services

GENERA CORPORATION Cole Information Services

USF LOGISTICS Cole Information Services

GENERA CORPORATION Cole Information Services

2009 GENERA CORP Cole Information Services

USF LOGISTICS Cole Information Services

GENERA CORP Cole Information Services

USF LOGISTICS Cole Information Services

2008 GENERA INCORPORATED Haines  Company, Inc.

USF LOGISTICS Haines  Company, Inc.

7095824- 5 Page 8

Item E - 631 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

1522  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2014 REDLINE MECHANICAL Cole Information Services

REDLINE AIR Cole Information Services

WESTERN PRECISION INC Cole Information Services

2009 TESTEL SYSTEMS CORP Cole Information Services

CORTEK ENGINEERING Cole Information Services

NUFORMZ INC Cole Information Services

2008 TESTEL SYSTEMS CORP Haines  Company, Inc.

CORTEK ENGINEERING INC Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 DANKAT INDUSTRIES Cole Information Services

NUFORMZ INC Cole Information Services

1999 PACIFIC WIND SCREENS Cole Information Services

M C WALK INS Cole Information Services

1995 Building A  M C WALK INS GTE Directories

1994 SPRING WORKS Cole Information Services

PROGRESSIVE PACKAGING Cole Information Services

SOLID ROCK PACKAGING GROUP Cole Information Services

1524  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 PRAXAIR WELDING GAS & SUPPLY CENTE Cole Information Services

GEM LITHOGRAPHICS INC Cole Information Services

PRAXAIR WELDING GAS & SUPPLY CENTE Cole Information Services

GEM LITHOGRAPHICS INC Cole Information Services

2014 GEM LITHOPGRAPHICS INC Cole Information Services

GEM LITHOPGRAPHICS INC Cole Information Services

2009 AL MOORADIAN PERFORMANCE Cole Information Services

PRAXAIR INC Cole Information Services

AL MOORADIAN PERFORMANCE Cole Information Services

PRAXAIR INC Cole Information Services

2008 XXXX Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 MILL PRO Cole Information Services

MILL PRO Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 9

Item E - 632 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

1999 ARTS FORKLIFT REPAIR Cole Information Services

ARTS FORKLIFT REPAIR Cole Information Services

1994 ANDERSON EQUIPMENT CO Cole Information Services

ANDERSON EQUIPMENT CO Cole Information Services

1616  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 ELEMENTS OF STYLE Cole Information Services

MARBLELIFE Cole Information Services

L J F INDUSTRIES INC Cole Information Services

BRIAN COHEN Cole Information Services

NEMO INTERNATIONAL INC Cole Information Services

ADVANCED MATERIAL TECHNOLOGY Cole Information Services

MINEZ TIRES Cole Information Services

MARBLELIFE STONE & TILE RESTORATION Cole Information Services

ABCO SCALE INC Cole Information Services

SIEMPRE FRESH PRODUCE Cole Information Services

ROBERT RICHARDSON Cole Information Services

ELEMENTS OF STYLE Cole Information Services

MARBLELIFE Cole Information Services

L J F INDUSTRIES INC Cole Information Services

BRIAN COHEN Cole Information Services

NEMO INTERNATIONAL INC Cole Information Services

ADVANCED MATERIAL TECHNOLOGY Cole Information Services

MINEZ TIRES Cole Information Services

MARBLELIFE STONE & TILE RESTORATION Cole Information Services

ABCO SCALE INC Cole Information Services

SIEMPRE FRESH PRODUCE Cole Information Services

ROBERT RICHARDSON Cole Information Services

2014 UNITED ROADSIDE SERVICES Cole Information Services

ADVANCED ANALYTICAL TESTING INC Cole Information Services

MARBLELIFE Cole Information Services

BRIAN COHEN Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 10

Item E - 633 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

2014 L J F INDUSTRIES INC Cole Information Services

MINEZ TIRES Cole Information Services

NEW IMAGE PLIER SERVICE Cole Information Services

BRIAN COHEN Cole Information Services

NEW IMAGE PLIER SERVICE Cole Information Services

ADVANCED ANALYTICAL TESTING INC Cole Information Services

MARBLELIFE Cole Information Services

BRIAN COHEN Cole Information Services

L J F INDUSTRIES INC Cole Information Services

MINEZ TIRES Cole Information Services

UNITED ROADSIDE SERVICES Cole Information Services

BRIAN COHEN Cole Information Services

2009 Q SCREW PRODUCTS Cole Information Services

ELEMENTS OF STYLE Cole Information Services

BOBS STAINLESS FASTENER Cole Information Services

NEW IMAGE PLIER SERVICE Cole Information Services

J N S INDUSTRIES INC Cole Information Services

Q SCREW PRODUCTS Cole Information Services

ELEMENTS OF STYLE Cole Information Services

BOBS STAINLESS FASTENER Cole Information Services

NEW IMAGE PLIER SERVICE Cole Information Services

J N S INDUSTRIES INC Cole Information Services

2008 NEW IMAGE PLIER SERVICE Haines  Company, Inc.

MINEZ TIRES Haines  Company, Inc.

L J F INDUSTRIES INC Haines  Company, Inc.

ELEMENTS OF STYLE Haines  Company, Inc.

CREATIVE REAL ESTATE GROUP Haines  Company, Inc.

BOBS TRI OAK CABINETS Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 JNS INDUSTRIES Cole Information Services

APRIL MFG INC Cole Information Services

PRECISION ENGINEERING Cole Information Services

BOBS STAINLESS FASTENER Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 11

Item E - 634 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

2004 BOBS TRI OAK CABINETS Cole Information Services

Q SCREW PRODUCTS Cole Information Services

DIVERSIFAB Cole Information Services

MINEZ TIRES INC Cole Information Services

JNS INDUSTRIES Cole Information Services

APRIL MFG INC Cole Information Services

PRECISION ENGINEERING Cole Information Services

BOBS STAINLESS FASTENER Cole Information Services

Q SCREW PRODUCTS Cole Information Services

DIVERSIFAB Cole Information Services

BOBS TRI OAK CABINETS Cole Information Services

MINEZ TIRES INC Cole Information Services

1999 MINEZ TIRES Cole Information Services

POWER SOURCE ELECTRIC Cole Information Services

KUNZLER'S Cole Information Services

APRIL MANUFACTURING Cole Information Services

MAGANUCO CONSTRUCTION SERVICES Cole Information Services

WOOD MEMORIES BY MIKE BARRETT Cole Information Services

DIVERSIFAB Cole Information Services

PLAN IT INK Cole Information Services

GUCHI GRAPHICS Cole Information Services

BOBS TRI OAK CABINETS Cole Information Services

JNS INDUSTRIES Cole Information Services

MINEZ TIRES Cole Information Services

POWER SOURCE ELECTRIC Cole Information Services

KUNZLER'S Cole Information Services

APRIL MANUFACTURING Cole Information Services

MAGANUCO CONSTRUCTION SERVICES Cole Information Services

WOOD MEMORIES BY MIKE BARRETT Cole Information Services

DIVERSIFAB Cole Information Services

PLAN IT INK Cole Information Services

GUCHI GRAPHICS Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 12

Item E - 635 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

1999 BOBS TRI OAK CABINETS Cole Information Services

JNS INDUSTRIES Cole Information Services

1995 Q IN STORE DIRECTORY GTE Directories

Building L  WOOD MEMORIES BY GTE Directories

1994 WOOD MEMORIES Cole Information Services

ALL N ONE ENTERPRISES INC Cole Information Services

VERNON BATES Cole Information Services

MAGANUCO CONSTRUCTION SVC Cole Information Services

J VERONIN CABINETS Cole Information Services

IN STORE DIRECTORY Cole Information Services

IPT INC Cole Information Services

STEPDRILL SPECIALITIES Cole Information Services

JBS EQUIPMENT SVC Cole Information Services

BATES, VERNON Cole Information Services

WOOD MEMORIES Cole Information Services

ALL N ONE ENTERPRISES INC Cole Information Services

VERNON BATES Cole Information Services

MAGANUCO CONSTRUCTION SVC Cole Information Services

J VERONIN CABINETS Cole Information Services

IN STORE DIRECTORY Cole Information Services

JBS EQUIPMENT SVC Cole Information Services

STEPDRILL SPECIALITIES Cole Information Services

IPT INC Cole Information Services

BATES, VERNON Cole Information Services

1990 I P T MARBLE SERVICE GTE

1985 BUILDING GTE

B ARROW CONTRACTING GTE

E TRI BEST CHALKBOARD GTE

F c CREATIVE SHOWER DOOR GTE

G O EXACTA DIE CUTTING GTE

QI J E K INC GTE

J VERONIN CABINETS GTE

7095824- 5 Page 13

Item E - 636 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

1985 N INLAND OVRHD OOR CO GTE

M HI TECH CO GTE

L RAYS CUSTOM WD WRKS GTE

K GILLETT INS AGENCY GTE

1621  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 BORG PRODUCE Cole Information Services

BORG PRODUCE Cole Information Services

2014 BORG PRODUCE Cole Information Services

BORG PRODUCE Cole Information Services

2008 BORG PRODUCE Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 CARDENAS MARKETS INC Cole Information Services

JESUS CARDENAS Cole Information Services

CARDENAS MARKETS INC Cole Information Services

JESUS CARDENAS Cole Information Services

1630  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 MASTER BUILDING Cole Information Services

ACTIVE DESIGN & DIES Cole Information Services

GRAFIX DESIGNS Cole Information Services

GUCHI GRAPHICS Cole Information Services

PRO Cole Information Services

BEST HOME HEALTH CARE INC Cole Information Services

RICHARDSON MANGEMENT GROUP INC Cole Information Services

2014 RICHARDSON MANGEMENT GROUP INC Cole Information Services

XTREME XPRESS Cole Information Services

MASTER BUILDING Cole Information Services

EXODO Cole Information Services

CALIFORNIA DIESEL COMPLIANCE INC Cole Information Services

BEST HOME HEALTH CARE INC Cole Information Services

DND RIBBON & LASER Cole Information Services

DELEON MARIA Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 14

Item E - 637 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

2014 CHINO VALLEY BREWERY Cole Information Services

ACTIVE DESIGN & DIES Cole Information Services

2009 EXODOPKG Cole Information Services

GUCHI GRAPHICS Cole Information Services

PARKVIEW LANDSCAPE Cole Information Services

2008 CHERRY PRODUCTS Haines  Company, Inc.

P & B CONCRETE CONSTRUCTION Haines  Company, Inc.

DND RIBBON & LASER COMPANY Haines  Company, Inc.

GUCHI GRAPHICS Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 GUCHI GRAPHICS INC Cole Information Services

RDI SERVICES Cole Information Services

LAMB ENGINEERING INC Cole Information Services

PHILLIPS CARBIDE INDUSTRIES Cole Information Services

HOME AGAIN ONLINE Cole Information Services

PRO AIR LLC Cole Information Services

1999 PHILLIPS REAL ESTATE Cole Information Services

ET BONDING Cole Information Services

D & D RIBBON & LASER COMPANY Cole Information Services

PHILS CARPET SERVICE Cole Information Services

PHILLIPS CARBIDE INDUSTRIES Cole Information Services

DANE ENGINEERING Cole Information Services

DND RIBBON & LASER COMPANY Cole Information Services

INDUSTRIAL TELDATA INCORPORATED Cole Information Services

HARVEST WINGS MINISTRIES Cole Information Services

GENERATIONS CONSTRUCTION Cole Information Services

LORHNETTE ASSOCIATES Cole Information Services

1995 Q STARR ENTERPRISES GTE Directories

PRESSURE RESEARCH GTE Directories

o BOLDT CONSTRUCTION GTE Directories

K PHILLIP S CARBIDE GTE Directories

J CLOSE PRECSN MCHNING GTE Directories

F PHIL S CARPET SERVICE GTE Directories

7095824- 5 Page 15

Item E - 638 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

1995 B R & G MACHINE SERVICES GTE Directories

Building GTE Directories

1994 NEOSHO CONSTRUCTION CO Cole Information Services

BRETIN ENGINEERING Cole Information Services

PRESSURE RESEARCH Cole Information Services

CLOSE PRECISION MACHINING Cole Information Services

R & G MACHINE SVC Cole Information Services

PHILLIPS CARBIDE INDUSTRIES Cole Information Services

G & R FLAME SPRAY INC Cole Information Services

1985 Q B & H FURNITURE GTE

P MECHANIX HYTECH CORP GTE

N AZTECA FEED SUPPLMNT GTE

J BAG A SALT INC GTE

G $A MACS PLUMBING SYC GTE

F KASBON GEO MOLD CO GTE

D CHEVRON CONST CO INC GTE

C CHEVRON CONST CO INC GTE

B IWILLIAMSON & SCHMID GTE

BUILDING GTE

1640  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 FEAL SUSPENSION INC Cole Information Services

PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVE Cole Information Services

2014 FEAL SUSPENSION INC Cole Information Services

2009 PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVE Cole Information Services

2008 PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVE Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVE Cole Information Services

OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

1999 PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVE Cole Information Services

1995 PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVE GTE Directories

1994 PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVE Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 16

Item E - 639 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

1642  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER Cole Information Services

2014 CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER Cole Information Services

2009 CALIFORNIA CUSTOM PAINT & BODY Cole Information Services

2008 CALIFORNIA CUSTOM PAINT & BODY Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 CALIFORNIA CUSTOM PAINT & BODY Cole Information Services

DAVID PEAT Cole Information Services

1999 CALIFORNIA CUSTOM PAINT & BODY Cole Information Services

1995 CALIFORNIA CUSTOM PAINT GTE Directories

1644  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2009 TARGET DIESEL INC Cole Information Services

2008 V & M AUTOMOTIVE REPAIR Haines  Company, Inc.

TARGET DIESEL Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 TARGET DIESEL Cole Information Services

1999 TARGET DIESEL Cole Information Services

1995 TARGET DIESEL GTE Directories

1994 TARGET DIESEL Cole Information Services

1646  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 GUCHI GRAPHICS Cole Information Services

2014 GUCHI GRAPHICS Cole Information Services

2009 INDUSTRIAL METAL FINISH Cole Information Services

MPC & ABRASIVES Cole Information Services

2008 INDSTRL METAL FINISH Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 LAURA WALLE Cole Information Services

1999 ACD Cole Information Services

1994 A C D Cole Information Services

ACD Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 17

Item E - 640 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

1648  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2017 R & R TIRE & RUBBER CO Cole Information Services

2014 R & R TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY Cole Information Services

2009 R & R TIRE Cole Information Services

2008 XXXX Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 R & R TIRE & RUBBER CO Cole Information Services

1650  E FRANCIS ST

Year Uses Source

2009 V & M AUTOMOTIVE REPAIR Cole Information Services

2008 XXXX Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 SAFARI SOLID SURFACE INC Cole Information Services

East Francis Street

1521  East Francis Street

Year Uses Source

2008 GENERA INCORPORATED Haines  Company, Inc.

USF LOGISTICS Haines  Company, Inc.

2003 GENERA INCORPORATED Haines & Co Publishers

PROKIA USA CORP USF LOGISTICS Haines & Co Publishers

1524  East Francis Street

Year Uses Source

2008 XXXX Haines  Company, Inc.

2003 MILL PRO Haines & Co Publishers

WILLETT Wilbur Haines & Co Publishers

1990 Quality Insulators GTE

1616  East Francis Street

Year Uses Source

2008 BOBS TRI OAK CABINETS Haines  Company, Inc.

CREATIVE REAL ESTATE GROUP Haines  Company, Inc.

ELEMENTS OF STYLE Haines  Company, Inc.

L J F INDUSTRIES INC Haines  Company, Inc.

7095824- 5 Page 18

Item E - 641 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

2008 MINEZ TIRES Haines  Company, Inc.

NEW IMAGE PLIER SERVICE Haines  Company, Inc.

2003 APRIL MANUFACTURING Haines & Co Publishers

BOBS TRI OAK CABINETS Haines & Co Publishers

DIVERSIFAB Haines & Co Publishers

JNS INDUSTRIES Haines & Co Publishers

MAGANUCO CONSTR SV Haines & Co Publishers

MINEZ TIRES Haines & Co Publishers

NEW IMAGE PLIER SERVICE Haines & Co Publishers

1995 Building L  WOOD MEMORIES BY GTE Directories

Q IN STORE DIRECTORY GTE Directories

1990 I P T MARBLE SERVICE GTE

AT & T COMPANY Business Telephone 

Systems & Facsimile

GTE

& W Sales Co GTE

Etchmark GTE

Pacif ic Chemical GTE

Purfect Packaging GTE

Stepdrill Specialties GTE

Systems Design GTE

1985 BUILDING GTE

B ARROW CONTRACTING GTE

E TRI BEST CHALKBOARD GTE

F c CREATIVE SHOWER DOOR GTE

G O EXACTA DIE CUTTING GTE

K GILLETT INS AGENCY GTE

L RAYS CUSTOM WD WRKS GTE

M HI TECH CO GTE

N INLAND OVRHD OOR CO GTE

J VERONIN CABINETS GTE

QI J E K INC GTE

7095824- 5 Page 19

Item E - 642 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

1621  East Francis Street

Year Uses Source

2008 BORG PRODUCE Haines  Company, Inc.

FRANCIS ST E

1496  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 ACHESON COLLOIDS CO Haines & Co Publishers

1503  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 GARCIA Danie Haines & Co Publishers

1504  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 WILLETT Wilbur Haines & Co Publishers

DEL MAR WIRE & PRODUCTS INC Haines & Co Publishers

1508  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 N B T MACHINING INC Haines & Co Publishers

1510  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 XXXX Haines & Co Publishers

1512  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 XXXX Haines & Co Publishers

1513  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 MACIAS Juan Haines & Co Publishers

1514  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 ALTAIR GASES & EQUIPMENT Haines & Co Publishers

K & K ENTERPRISES Haines & Co Publishers

7095824- 5 Page 20

Item E - 643 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

1516  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 ACCUFAB Haines & Co Publishers

1518  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 ADVANCED ENGINEERING WEST Haines & Co Publishers

GENES CUSTOM WELDING Haines & Co Publishers

1520  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 XXXX Haines & Co Publishers

1521  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 GENERA INCORPORATED Haines & Co Publishers

PROKIA USA CORP USF LOGISTICS Haines & Co Publishers

1522  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 DANKAT INDUSTRIES Haines & Co Publishers

1524  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 MILL PRO Haines & Co Publishers

WILLETT Wilbur Haines & Co Publishers

1616  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 BOBS TRI OAK CABINETS Haines & Co Publishers

APRIL MANUFACTURING Haines & Co Publishers

DIVERSIFAB Haines & Co Publishers

JNS INDUSTRIES Haines & Co Publishers

MAGANUCO CONSTR SV Haines & Co Publishers

MINEZ TIRES Haines & Co Publishers

NEW IMAGE PLIER SERVICE Haines & Co Publishers

7095824- 5 Page 21

Item E - 644 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

1630  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 RDI SERVICES Haines & Co Publishers

CHALLENGER PEST CONTROL Haines & Co Publishers

PRO AIR INC Haines & Co Publishers

PHILLIPS CARBIDE INDUSTRIES Haines & Co Publishers

PEPPERS SMALL ENGINE REPAIR Haines & Co Publishers

DND RIBBON & LASER COMPANY Haines & Co Publishers

GUCHI GRAPHICS Haines & Co Publishers

L & R CONSTRUCTION Haines & Co Publishers

D & D RIBBON & LASER COMPANY Haines & Co Publishers

1640  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVE Haines & Co Publishers

1642  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 CALIFORNIA CUSTOM PAINT & BODY Haines & Co Publishers

1644  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 TARGET DIESEL Haines & Co Publishers

1646  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 INDSTRL METAL FINISH Haines & Co Publishers

1648  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 XXXX Haines & Co Publishers

1650  FRANCIS ST E

Year Uses Source

2003 XXXX Haines & Co Publishers

7095824- 5 Page 22

Item E - 645 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

LAKE PL

1810  LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

1985 MANES MACHNE/ENGNRNG GTE

1825  LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

1985 R 8 R WOODWORKING GTE

1852  LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

1985 R C B MACHINE CORP GTE

1866  LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

1985 SHELTON CONSTR CO GTE

LAKE PL S

1810  LAKE PL S

Year Uses Source

2003 COR Judith Haines & Co Publishers

ONTARIO AUTO EXCHANGE Haines & Co Publishers

1811  LAKE PL S

Year Uses Source

2003 QUALITY STAINLESS & CNTRLS INC Haines & Co Publishers

1824  LAKE PL S

Year Uses Source

2003 COR Rick Haines & Co Publishers

G & K SERVICES Haines & Co Publishers

1825  LAKE PL S

Year Uses Source

2003 COR Judith Haines & Co Publishers

SPECIALTY SCREW MANUFACTURING Haines & Co Publishers

7095824- 5 Page 23

Item E - 646 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

1838  LAKE PL S

Year Uses Source

2003 REGAL CATERING BODIES INC Haines & Co Publishers

1839  LAKE PL S

Year Uses Source

2003 IGA PRINTING Haines & Co Publishers

1852  LAKE PL S

Year Uses Source

2003 BORELLO Oscar Haines & Co Publishers

RELIABLE EDM Haines & Co Publishers

1855  LAKE PL S

Year Uses Source

2003 BEAUMONT Edw ard Haines & Co Publishers

CONTINENTAL MARBLE & TILE CO Haines & Co Publishers

1866  LAKE PL S

Year Uses Source

2003 BORELLO Oscar Haines & Co Publishers

AEROSPACE & COMMERCIAL TOOLING Haines & Co Publishers

1871  LAKE PL S

Year Uses Source

2003 DUROUSSEAU Sherman Haines & Co Publishers

POLYMER COMPOSITES INC Haines & Co Publishers

S AUGUSTA AVE

1912  S AUGUSTA AVE

Year Uses Source

2017 REXCO Cole Information Services

HEGA INC Cole Information Services

2014 HEGA INC Cole Information Services

REXCO Cole Information Services

2009 HEGA INC Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 24

Item E - 647 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

2009 REXCO Cole Information Services

2004 HEGA INC Cole Information Services

OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

REXCO Cole Information Services

1999 HEGA INCORPORATED Cole Information Services

REXCO Cole Information Services

1994 IMAGE MEDIA GROUP Cole Information Services

1916  S AUGUSTA AVE

Year Uses Source

2017 PERRY BUILDERS INC Cole Information Services

2009 JM SOLUTIONS INC Cole Information Services

2004 SACK DOG Cole Information Services

FANTASY ISLANDS Cole Information Services

1999 ALCHEMCO Cole Information Services

BAYER PRODUCTS COMPANY 

INCORPORATED

Cole Information Services

EMPIRE PRODUCTS 2002 Cole Information Services

S LAKE PL

1810  S LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

2017 BRICENO HACER LLAVES Cole Information Services

SAFARI SOLID SURFACING Cole Information Services

2014 SAFARI SOLID SURFACING Cole Information Services

2009 SAFARI SOLID SURFACES Cole Information Services

2008 SAFARI SOLID SURFACING Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

ONTARIO AUTO EXCHANGE Cole Information Services

1994 MANES MACHINE & ENGINEERING CO Cole Information Services

1990 Manes Machine & Engineering Co GTE

7095824- 5 Page 25

Item E - 648 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

1811  S LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

2009 MYRIAD TRADING INC Cole Information Services

2008 MYRIAD TRADING INC Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

QUALITY STAINLESS & CONTROLS INC Cole Information Services

1995 A A A STAMPING INC GTE Directories

LAKE PL S CONT GTE Directories

1994 AAA STAMPING INC Cole Information Services

1990 AAA Stamping Inc GTE

1824  S LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

2017 ANAHEIM INFRARED TECHNOLOGIES INC Cole Information Services

2014 ANAHEIM INFRARED TECHNOLOGIES INC Cole Information Services

2008 ANAHEIM INFRARED TCHNLGS INC Haines  Company, Inc.

1995 J R MACHINE & TOOL CO GTE Directories

1994 J R MACHINE & TOOL CO Cole Information Services

1990 New  Wave Converting Inc GTE

1825  S LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

2017 MT RACING Cole Information Services

2014 MAICO ONLY RACING Cole Information Services

2008 PERFRMNC DIFFERENTIAL Haines  Company, Inc.

MAICO ONLY RACING Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

1994 COR SCREW MFR Cole Information Services

1838  S LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

2017 AEROSPACE COMMERICAL TOOLING Cole Information Services

2014 SHELTON & SON INC PROFIT SHARING PLA Cole Information Services

WAI KAY DISTRUBUTION INC Cole Information Services

2009 UNITED SCALE & CONTROL Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 26

Item E - 649 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

2009 ABCO SCALE CO INC Cole Information Services

2008 UNITD SCALE & CONTROL Haines  Company, Inc.

ABCO SCALE INC Haines  Company, Inc.

ABCO SCALE Haines  Company, Inc.

ABCO SCALE Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

UNITED SCALE & CONTROL Cole Information Services

1999 REGAL CATERING BODIES INCORPORATED Cole Information Services

1995 TECH INC GTE Directories

AMERi CAil N CHEM GTE Directories

1994 AMERICAN CHEM TECH INC Cole Information Services

1990 Williams Sheet Metal GTE

1839  S LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

2017 LIEDER DEVELOPMENT Cole Information Services

2014 LIEDER DEVELOPMENT Cole Information Services

2009 SANTUCI RALPH Cole Information Services

SEXTON WELDING Cole Information Services

2008 LIEDER DEVELOPMENT Haines  Company, Inc.

SEXTON G & SON WELDING Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 WEST COAST PRINTING INC Cole Information Services

FABRIC BUILDING SYSTEMS INC Cole Information Services

IGA PRINTING Cole Information Services

RALPH SANTUCI Cole Information Services

1999 FABRIC BUILDING SYSTEMS Cole Information Services

IGA PRINTING Cole Information Services

1994 FAB ACCESS PRODUCTS Cole Information Services

CHC GENERAL CONTRACTING Cole Information Services

1852  S LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

2017 RELIABLE EDM Cole Information Services

2014 RELIABLE EDM Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 27

Item E - 650 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

2009 RELIABLE EDM Cole Information Services

2008 RELIABLE EDM Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

1999 R C B MACHINE CORPORATION Cole Information Services

1995 R C B MACHINE CORP GTE Directories

1994 RCB MACHINE CORP Cole Information Services

J & L INJECTION MOLDING Cole Information Services

1990 R C B Machine Corp GTE

1855  S LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

2008 XXXX Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

CONTINENTAL MARBLE & TILE Cole Information Services

1999 CONTINENTAL MARBLE & TILE COMPANY Cole Information Services

1994 CONTINENTAL MARBLE & TILE CO Cole Information Services

1990 Continental Marble & Tile Co GTE

1866  S LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

2017 AEROSPACE & COMMERCIAL TOOLING Cole Information Services

2014 AEROSPACE & COMMERCIAL TOOLING Cole Information Services

2008 AEROSPACE & COMMERCIAL TOOLING Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 AEROSPACE & CML TOOLING Cole Information Services

OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

1999 AEROSPACE & COMMERCIAL TOOLING Cole Information Services

1994 TUB MASTER Cole Information Services

1990 Tub Master GTE

1871  S LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

2017 POLYMER COMPOSITES INC Cole Information Services

2014 POLYMER COMPOSITES Cole Information Services

2009 POLYMER COMPOSITES INC Cole Information Services

7095824- 5 Page 28

Item E - 651 of 2173



Year Uses Source

FINDINGS

Year Uses Source

2008 POLYMER COMPOSITES INC Haines  Company, Inc.

2004 OCCUPANT UNKNOWN Cole Information Services

POLYMER COMPOSITES INC Cole Information Services

1999 RELIABLE EDM Cole Information Services

1994 EAGLE POWER SYSTEMS Cole Information Services

1893  S LAKE PL

Year Uses Source

2009 DEE ENGINEERING INC Cole Information Services

2004 DEE ENGINEERING INC Cole Information Services

1994 DEE ENGINEERING Cole Information Services

South Augusta Street

1912  South Augusta Street

Year Uses Source

2008 HEGA INC Haines  Company, Inc.

REXCO ALUMINUM Haines  Company, Inc.

2003 AN How ard Haines & Co Publishers

HEGA INC Haines & Co Publishers

REXCO Haines & Co Publishers

1995 Building B  REXCO GTE Directories

1985 ENVIROTRONICS INC GTE

1916  South Augusta Street

Year Uses Source

2003 XXXX Haines & Co Publishers

1995 BAYER CHEMICAL PRODUCTS GTE Directories

1990 Bausman & Co GTE

1985 BAUSMAN & CO GTE

7095824- 5 Page 29

Item E - 652 of 2173



FINDINGS

ADJOINING PROPERTY: ADDRESSES NOT IDENTIFIED IN RESEARCH SOURCE

The following Adjoining Property addresses were researched for this report, and the addresses were not 
identif ied in research source.

Address Researched Address Not Identified in Research Source

1496 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1496 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1496 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1503 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1503 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1504 E FRANCIS 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1504 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1504 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1504 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1506 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1506 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1508 E FRANCIS 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1508 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1508 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

Item E - 653 of 2173



FINDINGS

Address Researched Address Not Identified in Research Source

1508 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1510 E FRANCIS 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1510 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1510 E FRANCIS ST 2009, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975,  
1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942,  
1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1510 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1512 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1512 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970,  
1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941,  
1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1512 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1513 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1514 E FRANCIS 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1514 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1981, 1975,  
1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942,  
1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1514 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970,  
1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941,  
1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1514 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1516 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1516 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1516 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

Item E - 654 of 2173



FINDINGS

Address Researched Address Not Identified in Research Source

1518 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1518 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975,  
1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942,  
1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1518 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1520 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1520 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1520 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1521 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1521 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1521 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1521 East Francis Street 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1521 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1522 E FRANCIS 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1522 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1522 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970,  
1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941,  
1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1522 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1524 E FRANCIS 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

Item E - 655 of 2173



FINDINGS

Address Researched Address Not Identified in Research Source

1524 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1524 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1524 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1524 East Francis Street 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1524 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1616 E FRANCIS 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1616 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1981, 1980, 1975,  
1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942,  
1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1616 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1616 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1616 East Francis Street 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970,  
1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941,  
1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1616 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1621 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1621 E FRANCIS ST 2009, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1621 E FRANCIS ST 2009, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1621 East Francis Street 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1630 E FRANCIS 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

Item E - 656 of 2173



FINDINGS

Address Researched Address Not Identified in Research Source

1630 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1630 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1630 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1640 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1640 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1640 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1642 E FRANCIS 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1642 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1642 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970,  
1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941,  
1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1642 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1644 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1644 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975,  
1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942,  
1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1644 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1646 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1646 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1646 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

Item E - 657 of 2173



FINDINGS

Address Researched Address Not Identified in Research Source

1648 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1648 E FRANCIS ST 2008, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975,  
1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942,  
1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1648 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1650 E FRANCIS 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1650 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1650 E FRANCIS ST 2017, 2014, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1650 FRANCIS ST E 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1810 LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1810 LAKE PL S 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1810 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1810 S LAKE PL 2008, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970,  
1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941,  
1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1811 LAKE PL S 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1811 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1811 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1824 LAKE PL S 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1824 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

Item E - 658 of 2173



FINDINGS

Address Researched Address Not Identified in Research Source

1824 S LAKE PL 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1825 LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1825 LAKE PL S 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1825 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1825 S LAKE PL 2009, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975,  
1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942,  
1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1838 LAKE PL S 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1838 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1838 S LAKE PL 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1839 LAKE PL S 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1839 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1839 S LAKE PL 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1852 LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1852 LAKE PL S 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1852 S LAKE PL 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1852 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1855 LAKE PL S 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

Item E - 659 of 2173



FINDINGS

Address Researched Address Not Identified in Research Source

1855 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1855 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1866 LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1866 LAKE PL S 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1866 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1985, 1981,  
1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946,  
1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1866 S LAKE PL 2009, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970,  
1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941,  
1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1871 LAKE PL S 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1871 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985,  
1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949,  
1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1871 S LAKE PL 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1893 S LAKE PL 2017, 2014, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980,  
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,  
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1912 S AUGUSTA AVE 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975, 1970, 1965,  
1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942, 1941, 1940,  
1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1912 South Augusta Street 2017, 2014, 2009, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1981, 1980, 1975,  
1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942,  
1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1916 S AUGUSTA AVE 2014, 2008, 2003, 2002, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980, 1975,  
1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942,  
1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

1916 South Augusta Street 2017, 2014, 2009, 2008, 2004, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1994, 1991, 1981, 1980, 1975,  
1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945, 1942,  
1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

Item E - 660 of 2173



TARGET PROPERTY: ADDRESS NOT IDENTIFIED IN RESEARCH SOURCE

The following Target Property addresses were researched for this report, and the addresses were not 
identif ied in the research source.

Address Researched Address Not Identified in Research Source

1600 East Francis Street 2017, 2014, 2009, 2002, 1999, 1996, 1995, 1994, 1991, 1990, 1985, 1981, 1980,
1975, 1970, 1965, 1964, 1961, 1960, 1956, 1955, 1951, 1950, 1949, 1946, 1945,
1942, 1941, 1940, 1938, 1936, 1934, 1931, 1930, 1926, 1923, 1922

Item E - 661 of 2173



Commercial Property

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA 91761

Inquiry Number: 7095824.7

August 29, 2022

EDR Environmental Lien and AUL Search

6 Armstrong Road
Shelton, CT 06484
800.352.0050
www.edrnet.comEnvironmental Data Resources IncEnvironmental Data Resources IncEnvironmental Data Resources IncEnvironmental Data Resources Inc

Item E - 662 of 2173



EDR Environmental Lien and AUL Search

The EDR Environmental Lien and AUL Search Report provides results from a search of available current land title 
records for environmental cleanup liens and other activity and use limitations, such as engineering controls and 
institutional controls.

A network of professional, trained researchers, following established procedures, uses client supplied address 
information to:
      •   search for parcel information and/or legal description;
      •   search for ownership information;
      •   research official land title documents recorded at jurisdictional agencies such as recorders' offices,
          registries of deeds, county clerks' offices, etc.;
      •   access a copy of the deed;
      •   search for environmental encumbering instrument(s) associated with the deed;
      •   provide a copy of any environmental encumbrance(s) based upon a review of key words in the
          instrument(s) (title, parties involved, and description); and
      •   provide a copy of the deed or cite documents reviewed.

Thank you for your business. 
Please contact EDR at  1-800-352-0050 

with any questions or comments.

Disclaimer - Copyright and Trademark Notice

This Report contains certain information obtained from a variety of public and other sources reasonably available to 

Environmental Data Resources, Inc. It cannot be concluded from this Report that coverage information for the target and 

surrounding properties does not exist from other sources. NO WARRANTY EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, IS MADE WHATSOEVER 

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS REPORT. ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS THE MAKING 

OF ANY SUCH WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 

USE OR PURPOSE. ALL RISK IS ASSUMED BY THE USER. IN NO EVENT SHALL ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. 

BE LIABLE TO ANYONE, WHETHER ARISING OUT OF ERRORS OR OMISSIONS, NEGLIGENCE, ACCIDENT OR ANY OTHER 

CAUSE, FOR ANY LOSS OR DAMAGE, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR 

EXEMPLARY DAMAGES. ANY LIABILITY ON THE PART OF ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. IS STRICTLY 

LIMITED TO A REFUND OF THE AMOUNT PAID FOR THIS REPORT. Purchaser accepts this Report "AS IS". Any analyses, 

estimates, ratings, environmental risk levels or risk codes provided in this Report are provided for illustrative purposes only, and

are not intended to provide, nor should they be interpreted as providing any facts regarding, or prediction orforecast of, any 

environmental risk for any property. Only a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment performed by an environmental professional 

can provide information regarding the environmental risk for any property. Additionally, the information provided in this Report is 

not to be construed as legal advice.

Copyright 2017 by Environmental Data Resources, Inc.  All rights reserved.  Reproduction in any media or format, in whole or in 
part, of any report or map of Environmental Data Resources, Inc. or its affiliates is prohibited without prior written permission.  

EDR and its logos (including Sanborn and Sanborn Map) are trademarks of Environmental Data Resources, Inc. or its affiliates. 
All other trademarks used herein are the property of their respective owners.

Item E - 663 of 2173



EDR Environmental Lien and AUL Search

TARGET PROPERTY INFORMATION_______________________________

ADDRESS

1600 East Francis Street
Commercial Property

Ontario, CA  91761

ENVIRONMENTAL LIEN

 Environmental Lien: Found Not Found

OTHER ACTIVITY AND USE LIMITATIONS (AULs)

 AULs: Found Not Found

7095824.7     Page 1

Item E - 664 of 2173



RESEARCH SOURCE

Source 1:

San Bernardino Recorder
San Bernardino, CA

Item E - 665 of 2173



PROPERTY INFORMATION

Deed 1:

Type of Deed: deed

Title is vested in: Western States Holding Co LLC

Title received from: Western States Holding Co Inc

Deed Dated 12/13/2011

Deed Recorded: 12/27/2011

Book: NA

Page: na

Volume: na

Instrument: na

Docket: NA

Land Record Comments:

Miscellaneous Comments:

Legal Description: See Exhibit

Legal Current Owner: Western States Holding Co LLC

Parcel # / Property Identifier: 011338103, 011338105, 011338104, 011338106

Comments: See Exhibit

Item E - 666 of 2173



Deed Exhibit 1

Item E - 667 of 2173



Item E - 668 of 2173



Item E - 669 of 2173



FORM-LBB-KXG

®kcehCoeG htiw tropeR  ™paM suidaR RDE ehT

6 Armstrong Road, 4th floor
Shelton, CT 06484
Toll Free: 800.352.0050
www.edrnet.com

Commercial Property
1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA  91761

Inquiry Number: 7095824.2s
August 23, 2022

Item E - 670 of 2173



SECTION PAGE

Executive Summary ES1

Overview Map 2

Detail Map 3

Map Findings Summary 4

Map Findings 9

Orphan Summary 741

Government Records Searched/Data Currency Tracking GR-1

GEOCHECK ADDENDUM

Physical Setting Source Addendum A-1

Physical Setting Source Summary A-2

Physical Setting SSURGO Soil Map A-5

Physical Setting Source Map A-9

Physical Setting Source Map Findings A-11

Physical Setting Source Records Searched PSGR-1

TC7095824.2s   Page 1

Thank you for your business.
Please contact EDR at 1-800-352-0050

with any questions or comments.

Disclaimer - Copyright and Trademark Notice

This Report contains certain information obtained from a variety of public and other sources reasonably available to Environmental Data
Resources, Inc. It cannot be concluded from this Report that coverage information for the target and surrounding properties does not exist from
other sources. NO WARRANTY EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, IS MADE WHATSOEVER IN CONNECTION WITH THIS REPORT. ENVIRONMENTAL
DATA RESOURCES, INC. SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS THE MAKING OF ANY SUCH WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION,
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE. ALL RISK IS ASSUMED BY THE USER. IN NO EVENT SHALL
ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. BE LIABLE TO ANYONE, WHETHER ARISING OUT OF ERRORS OR OMISSIONS, NEGLIGENCE,
ACCIDENT OR ANY OTHER CAUSE, FOR ANY LOSS OF DAMAGE, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL,
CONSEQUENTIAL, OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES. ANY LIABILITY ON THE PART OF ENVIRONMENTAL DATA RESOURCES, INC. IS STRICTLY
LIMITED TO A REFUND OF THE AMOUNT PAID FOR THIS REPORT. Purchaser accepts this Report "AS IS". Any analyses, estimates, ratings,
environmental risk levels or risk codes provided in this Report are provided for illustrative purposes only, and are not intended to provide, nor
should they be interpreted as providing any facts regarding, or prediction or forecast of, any environmental risk for any property. Only a Phase I
Environmental Site Assessment performed by an environmental professional can provide information regarding the environmental risk for any
property. Additionally, the information provided in this Report is not to be construed as legal advice.

Copyright 2020 by Environmental Data Resources, Inc. All rights reserved. Reproduction in any media or format, in whole
or in part, of any report or map of Environmental Data Resources, Inc., or its affiliates, is prohibited without prior written permission.

EDR and its logos (including Sanborn and Sanborn Map) are trademarks of Environmental Data Resources, Inc. or its affiliates. All other
trademarks used herein are the property of their respective owners.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Item E - 671 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1

A search of available environmental records was conducted by Environmental Data Resources, Inc (EDR).
The report was designed to assist parties seeking to meet the search requirements of EPA’s Standards
and Practices for All Appropriate Inquiries (40 CFR Part 312), the ASTM Standard Practice for
Environmental Site Assessments (E1527-21), the ASTM Standard Practice for Environmental Site
Assessments for Forestland or Rural Property (E 2247-16), the ASTM Standard Practice for Limited
Environmental Due Diligence: Transaction Screen Process (E 1528-14) or custom requirements developed
for the evaluation of environmental risk associated with a parcel of real estate.

TARGET PROPERTY INFORMATION

ADDRESS

1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET
ONTARIO, CA 91761

COORDINATES

34.0403030 - 34ˆ  2’ 25.09’’Latitude (North): 
117.6182020 - 117ˆ  37’ 5.52’’Longitude (West): 
Zone 11Universal Tranverse Mercator: 
442935.7UTM X (Meters): 
3766602.5UTM Y (Meters): 
865 ft. above sea levelElevation:

USGS TOPOGRAPHIC MAP ASSOCIATED WITH TARGET PROPERTY

12015973 GUASTI, CATarget Property Map:
2018Version Date:

12016009 ONTARIO, CAWest Map:
2018Version Date:

AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHY IN THIS REPORT

20140603Portions of Photo from:
USDASource:

Item E - 672 of 2173



7095824.2s   Page  2

C39 J & W FINISHING INC 1602 FREMONT CT CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS Lower 328, 0.062, SSE

B38 CALIFORNIA COLLISION 1642 E FRANCIS ST CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co.... Higher 325, 0.062, ENE

B37 CALIFORNIA COLLISION 1642 E FRANCIS ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 325, 0.062, ENE

C36 FINE GOLD 1610 FREMONT CT RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 304, 0.058, SE

C35 FINE GOLD 1610 FREMONT CT CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS Lower 304, 0.058, SE

C34 PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSE 1610 FREMONT CT RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 304, 0.058, SE

C33 ADVANCE TRADING CORP 1610 FREMONT CT RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 304, 0.058, SE

B32 FEAL SUSPENSION 1640 E FRANCIS ST CA HAULERS, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA... Higher 302, 0.057, ENE

B31 FEAL SUSPENSION, INC 1640 E FRANCIS ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 302, 0.057, ENE

B30 FEAL SUSPENSION 1640 E FRANCIS ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 302, 0.057, ENE

F29 KOMATSU FORKLIFT USA 1625 FREMONT CT RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 293, 0.055, SE

F28 NOBLELIFT NORTH AMER 1625 FREMONT CT CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS Lower 293, 0.055, SE

E27 EVANS FOOD WEST, INC 1920 AUGUSTA CT CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 265, 0.050, SSW

E26 AIR 2000 INC. 1939 S AUGUSTA AVE CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 255, 0.048, SSW

E25 AIR 2000 INC 1939 S AUGUSTA AVE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 255, 0.048, SSW

C24 C H OFFICE SPECIALTI 1615 FREMONT CT RCRA NonGen / NLR, FINDS, ECHO Lower 188, 0.036, SE

B23 CALIFORNIA DIESEL CO 1630 E FRANCIS ST ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 183, 0.035, ENE

B22 LAMB ENGINEERING, IN 1630 E FRANCIS ST UN CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 183, 0.035, ENE

B21 PHILLIPS CAR BITE IN 1630 E FRANCIS ST ST CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA... Higher 183, 0.035, ENE

B20 SIMMS SERVICE & REPA 1630 E FRANCIS ST UN RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 183, 0.035, ENE

D19 SIERRA LATHING CO IN 1504 E FRANCIS CA HIST UST Lower 168, 0.032, West

D18 SIERRA LATHING CO IN 1504 E FRANCIS CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST Lower 168, 0.032, West

B17 BORG PRODUCE 1621 E FRANCIS CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 142, 0.027, NE

C16 EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC 1601 FREMONT COURT CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co.... Lower 100, 0.019, SE

C15 EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC 1601 FREMONT CT RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 100, 0.019, SE

B14 WESTERN FAN CLUTCH 1616 FRANCIS EDR Hist Auto Higher 60, 0.011, NE

B13 ELEMENTS OF STYLE 1616 E FRANCIS ST ST CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 60, 0.011, NE

B12 DIVERSIFAB, INC 1616 E FRANCIS ST UN CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 60, 0.011, NE

A11 PATIO INDUSTRIES 1600 E FRANCIS ST CA RGA LUST TP

A10 WESTERN STATES WHOLE 1600 E FRANCIS AVE CA UST TP

A9 PATIO INDUSTRIES 1600 FRANCIS ST CA RGA LUST TP

A8 GREAT WESTERN STATE 1600 E FRANCIS RCRA-SQG, FINDS TP

A7 GREAT WESTERN STATE 1600 E FRANCIS CA HWTS TP

A6 PATIO INDUSTRIES 1600 FRANCIS ST CA LUST, CA NPDES, CA CIWQS, CA CERS TP

A5 WESTERN STATES WHOLE 1600 E FRANCIS ST CA EMI, CA HAZNET, CA HWTS TP

A4 PATIO INDUSTRIES 1600 E FRANCIS ST CA UST TP

A3 WESTERN STATES WHOLE 1600 E FRANCIS ST RCRA NonGen / NLR TP

A2 WESTERN STATES WHOLE 1600 E FRANCIS ECHO TP

A1 PATIO INDUSTRIES 1600 E FRANCIS CA LUST, CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST, CA CERS TANKS,... TP

MAPPED SITES SUMMARY

Target Property Address:
1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET
ONTARIO, CA  91761

Click on Map ID to see full detail.

MAP RELATIVE DIST (ft. & mi.)
ID DATABASE ACRONYMS ELEVATION DIRECTIONSITE NAME ADDRESS

Item E - 673 of 2173



7095824.2s   Page  3

N78 IGA PRINTING 1839 LAKE PL CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 708, 0.134, West

J77 DBA INTERNATIONAL MA 1546 CEDAR ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 705, 0.134, South

J76 INTERNATIONAL MACHIN 1546 E CEDAR ST CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HIST CORTESE, CA San Bern.... Lower 705, 0.134, South

O75 ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, 1921 BAKER ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 698, 0.132, ESE

N74 POLYMER COMPOSITES, 1871 LAKE PL CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS Lower 691, 0.131, WSW

K73 INLINE PLASTICS INC 1950 S BAKER AVE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 681, 0.129, SE

M72 BROTHERS 4 X 4 1726 S BAKER CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 665, 0.126, NE

M71 CONTINENTAL COATINGS 1726 S BAKER ST RCRA NonGen / NLR, FINDS, ECHO, CA HAZNET, CA HWTS Higher 665, 0.126, NE

L70 TERMINIX INTERNATION 1710 GREVILLEA CT CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 662, 0.125, East

K69 METROCELL CONSTRUCTI 1635 E CEDAR STREET RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 661, 0.125, SE

K68 RYCOLINE PRODUCTS IN 1635 E CEDAR ST CA EMI, CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA... Lower 661, 0.125, SE

K67 METROCELL CONSTRUCTI 1635 E CEDAR STREET RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 661, 0.125, SE

K66 METROCELL CONSTRUCTI 1635 E CEDAR STREET RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 661, 0.125, SE

J65 PARAMOUNT PANELS, IN 1531 E. CEDAR RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 593, 0.112, South

J64 PARAMOUNT PANELS INC 1531 E CEDAR CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA EMI, CA San Bern. Co.... Lower 593, 0.112, South

I63 DELICIAS DE MICHOACA 1545 E CEDAR ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS Lower 588, 0.111, South

I62 SHALIMAR INC 1621 E CEDAR ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 584, 0.111, SSE

I61 H & L CHARTER CO INC 1621 E CEDAR ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 584, 0.111, SSE

I60 CLASSIC FENCE COMPAN 1621 E CEDAR ST CA LUST, CA Cortese, CA CERS Lower 584, 0.111, SSE

I59 SHALIMAR INC 1621 E CEDAR ST CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS Lower 584, 0.111, SSE

I58 CLASSIC FENCE COMPAN 1621 CA LUST, CA HIST CORTESE Lower 584, 0.111, SSE

E57 PAUL SMOOT 1942 S AUGUSTA AVE S RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 468, 0.089, SSW

E56 PARTS ON TIME 1942 AUGUSTA AVE STE CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 468, 0.089, SSW

E55 APC MACHINE INC 1942 AUGUSTA AVE SUI RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 468, 0.089, SSW

D54 SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO 1486 E FRANCIS ST ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 412, 0.078, West

E53 KAUF KAR INC 1943 S AUGUSTA RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO Lower 394, 0.075, SSW

H52 ANTISTA DIESEL REPAI 1652 E FRANCIS ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 388, 0.073, ENE

E51 PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDU 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA... Lower 381, 0.072, SSW

E50 V.L. AUTO BODY 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 381, 0.072, SSW

E49 APC MACHINE INC 1942 AUGUSTA CT STE CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 381, 0.072, SSW

E48 DISCOUNT SAW SERVICE 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 381, 0.072, SSW

H47 A GROWING CONCERN LA 1648 E FRANCES ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 378, 0.072, ENE

E46 CUES INC 1943 SOUTH AUGUSTA C RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 377, 0.071, SSW

G45 ESSEX BOATS 1830 S BAKER AVE RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 374, 0.071, East

G44 BOATS BY ESSEX DBA E 1830 S BAKER AVE RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 374, 0.071, East

G43 WESTAIR GASES & EQUI 1830 BAKER ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 374, 0.071, East

E42 LOOMIS FARGO & CO 1939 S AUGUSTA CT CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 356, 0.067, SSW

B41 TARGET DIESEL,INC. 1644 E FRANCIS ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 349, 0.066, ENE

C40 J & W FINISHING INC. 1602 FREMONT COURT RCRA-SQG Lower 328, 0.062, SSE

MAPPED SITES SUMMARY

Target Property Address:
1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET
ONTARIO, CA  91761

Click on Map ID to see full detail.

MAP RELATIVE DIST (ft. & mi.)
ID DATABASE ACRONYMS ELEVATION DIRECTIONSITE NAME ADDRESS

Item E - 674 of 2173



7095824.2s   Page  4

P117 ACCUFAB 1514 E FRANCIS UNIT RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO Higher 864, 0.164, WNW

P116 WEST COAST MACHINE 1514 E FRANCIS ST A CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 864, 0.164, WNW

P115 DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISS 1516 E FRANCIS ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 852, 0.161, WNW

N114 AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL 1866 S LAKE PL RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 848, 0.161, WSW

N113 AEROSPACE COMM TOOLI 1866 S LAKE PL CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA San... Lower 848, 0.161, WSW

O112 PUMPING SOLUTIONS IN 1906 S QUAKER RIDGE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 847, 0.160, ESE

P111 MANES MACHIE & ENGR 1810 LAKE PL RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO Higher 842, 0.159, WNW

P110 TK SYSTEMS 1810 S LAKE PL CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CIWQS, CA... Higher 842, 0.159, WNW

P109 EXTREME CUSTOM SHEET 1518 E FRANCIS ST. S RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 839, 0.159, WNW

M108 PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHC 1700 SOUTH BAKER AVE RCRA-LQG Higher 837, 0.159, NE

M107 WESTSIDE PACKING INC 1700 S BAKER AVE CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA CHMIRS, CA San Bern. Co.... Higher 837, 0.159, NE

M106 DISCUS DENTAL LLC 1700 S BAKER AVE RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 837, 0.159, NE

R105 CEPA OPERATIONS INC. 1939 S LAKE PL CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 837, 0.159, SW

M104 DEMERT & DOUGHERTY I 1705 S BAKER AV CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA EMI, CA NPDES, CA San Bern.... Higher 834, 0.158, NE

M103 NET SHAPES INC 1705 S BAKER AVE RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 834, 0.158, NE

M102 DE MERT & DOUGHERTY 1705 S BAKER RCRA-SQG, CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA CIWQS, CA CERS,...Higher 834, 0.158, NE

S101 RJ INDUSTRIES 1961 S. BAKER AVE. RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 813, 0.154, SE

P100 GEM LITHOGRAPHICS 1524 E FRANCIS ST CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS, CA... Higher 803, 0.152, WNW

L99 RDS PRINTING & GRAPH 1714 GRIVELLA CRT RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 793, 0.150, East

L98 RDS PRINTING AND GRA 1714 EAST GREVILLEA CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co.... Higher 793, 0.150, East

N97 DEE ENGINEERING INC 1893 LAKE PL CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 774, 0.147, WSW

R96 JASPER ENGINE EXCHAN 1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 768, 0.145, SW

R95 JASPER ENGINE EXCHAN 1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA San... Lower 768, 0.145, SW

R94 JASPER ENGINES 1477 E CEDAR ST # D RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 768, 0.145, SW

N93 BOCK MACHINE COMPANY 1911 S LAKE PL CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 737, 0.140, WSW

J92 STEWART PRODUCTS INC 1552 E CEDAR ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 722, 0.137, South

M91 FREEFLOW PRODUCTS IN 1735 S BAKER ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 722, 0.137, NE

O90 PEAK TOOLWORKS (NAP 1941 S BAKER AVE CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 721, 0.137, SE

O89 1X ONTARIO DIE OF CA 1941 S BAKER AVE CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HAZNET, CA CERS, CA HWTS Lower 721, 0.137, SE

O88 NAP ASSET HOLDINGS L 1941 S BAKER AVE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 721, 0.137, SE

I87 HORIZON PRINTING INK 1558 E CEDAR ST CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co.... Lower 718, 0.136, South

I86 HORIZON PRINTING INK 1558 E CEDAR ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 718, 0.136, South

Q85 GENERA CORPORATION 1521 E FRANCIS ST ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 714, 0.135, North

Q84 USF LOGISTICS 1521 E FRANCIS ST B CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA WDS, CA... Higher 714, 0.135, North

Q83 MIQ LOGISTICS LLC 1521 FRANCIS ST STE CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 714, 0.135, North

P82 LAMB ENGINEERING INC 1811 S LAKE PL RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 712, 0.135, WNW

P81 LAMB ENGINEERING, IN 1811 S LAKE PL CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA... Higher 712, 0.135, WNW

P80 MAICO ONLY RACING - 1825 SOUTH LAKE PLAC CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 709, 0.134, West

N79 LIEDER DEVELOPMENT 1839 S. LAKE PL RCRA-SQG Higher 708, 0.134, West

MAPPED SITES SUMMARY

Target Property Address:
1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET
ONTARIO, CA  91761

Click on Map ID to see full detail.

MAP RELATIVE DIST (ft. & mi.)
ID DATABASE ACRONYMS ELEVATION DIRECTIONSITE NAME ADDRESS

Item E - 675 of 2173



7095824.2s   Page  5

Y156 SUNCOAST POST-TENSIO 1528 E CEDAR ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 1203, 0.228, South

155 MERCURY PLASTICS 1740 S SACRAMENTO RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co.... Higher 1178, 0.223, ENE

Y154 PREFERRED PAPERBOX I 1516 CEDAR ST RCRA NonGen / NLR, FINDS, ECHO, CA EMI, CA HAZNET,... Lower 1177, 0.223, South

V153 ALTAQUIP LLC 1961 S QUAKER RIDGE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 1163, 0.220, ESE

152 ONE STOP LABEL 1641 S BAKER AVE CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS Higher 1130, 0.214, NE

151 ISMENIA CAMPOS 1440 E CEDAR ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 1115, 0.211, SW

U150 AMERIWEST INDUSTRIES 1455 E FRANCIS CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 1101, 0.209, WNW

U149 CALIFORNIA EXOTIC NO 1455 E FRANCIS ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS Higher 1101, 0.209, WNW

X148 ROTARY CORP 1722 E GREVILLEA CT CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS Higher 1091, 0.207, East

X147 WARREN PACKAGING INC 1722 E. GREVILLEA CT RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 1091, 0.207, East

V146 GERBCO INC 1961 QUAKER RIDGE PL RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co.... Lower 1084, 0.205, ESE

W145 SOUTH COAST EMERGENC 2020 S BAKER AVE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 1065, 0.202, SSE

W144 SOUTH COAST EVS 2020 S BAKER CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA... Lower 1065, 0.202, SSE

V143 EUBANKS ENGINEERING 1921 S QUAKER RIDGE CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA... Lower 1064, 0.202, ESE

V142 EUBANKS ENGINEERING 1921 S QUAKER RIDGE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 1064, 0.202, ESE

V141 WORLD MOTORS INC 1960 S QUAKER RIDGE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 1050, 0.199, SE

V140 WORLD MOTORS INC 1960 QUAKER RIDGE PL CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA... Lower 1047, 0.198, ESE

S139 NATIONAL TRANSMISSIO 1927 E CEDAR ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 1037, 0.196, SE

T138 G & L CABINETS 1950 S LAKE PL CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 1013, 0.192, SW

U137 GOLD STANDARD SERVIC 1492 E FRANCIS ST B CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 1001, 0.190, WNW

V136 ZODIAC AEROSPACE - Q 1940 S QUAKER RIDGE CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS Lower 983, 0.186, ESE

V135 ZODIAC AEROSPACE - Q 1940 S QUAKER RIDGE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 983, 0.186, ESE

U134 ELITE FORKLIFT SERVI 1496 E FRANCIS ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 976, 0.185, WNW

U133 ELITE FORKLIFT SERVI 1478 E FRANCIS ST UN CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 976, 0.185, WNW

U132 ELITE FORKLIFT SERVI 1496 E FRANCIS ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS Higher 976, 0.185, WNW

U131 ACHESON COLLOIDS CO 1496 EAST FRANCIS ST PA MANIFEST Higher 976, 0.185, WNW

U130 ACHESON COLLOIDS COM 1496 E. FRANCIS ST. RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO, RI MANIFEST Higher 976, 0.185, WNW

T129 KINEMATICS MANUFACTU 1936 S LAKE PL RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO Lower 951, 0.180, SW

T128 LARRY RAMONEDA 1936 S. LAKE PL. RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 951, 0.180, SW

O127 ROYALWOOD FURNITURE 1920 QUAKER RIDGE PL CA EMI, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA... Lower 936, 0.177, ESE

O126 SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENT 1920 S QUAKER RIDGE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 936, 0.177, ESE

O125 ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, 1920 S QUAKER RIDGE CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 936, 0.177, ESE

K124 FIRE BANN CORP 2006 S BAKER AVE CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST, CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA...Lower 927, 0.176, SE

K123 ABLE INDUSTRIAL PROD 2006 S BAKER AVE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 927, 0.176, SE

S122 CEDAR 1710 E. CEDAR ST RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 912, 0.173, SE

S121 SMITH MANAGEMENT COR 1710 E CEDAR ST CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST, CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 912, 0.173, SE

R120 CALDEX CRAFT PRODUCT 1953 S LAKE PL CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 907, 0.172, SW

T119 BAYOU AQUATIC FOODS 1922 LAKE PL CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 901, 0.171, WSW

R118 RAMA FOOD CEDAR 1486 E CEDAR ST CA CHMIRS, CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA... Lower 865, 0.164, SSW

MAPPED SITES SUMMARY

Target Property Address:
1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET
ONTARIO, CA  91761

Click on Map ID to see full detail.

MAP RELATIVE DIST (ft. & mi.)
ID DATABASE ACRONYMS ELEVATION DIRECTIONSITE NAME ADDRESS

Item E - 676 of 2173



7095824.2s   Page  6

AC175 GENERAL ELECTRIC ENG 1923 EAST AVION STRE CA BOND EXP. PLAN Higher 4176, 0.791, NNE

AC174 GENERAL ELECTRIC CO- 1923 EAST AVION CA ENVIROSTOR, CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HIST UST, CA...Higher 4176, 0.791, NNE

AC173 GE ENGINE SERVICES I 1923 E AVION ST SEMS-ARCHIVE, CORRACTS, RCRA-TSDF, RCRA NonGen /...Higher 4176, 0.791, NNE

172 ONTARIO A.N.G. TRAIN CA ENVIROSTOR Higher 3727, 0.706, NNW

171 GOE ENGINEERING 1425 S VINEYARD AVE CA ENVIROSTOR, CA VCP, CA EMI, CA NPDES, CA San... Higher 3072, 0.582, NE

170 DANCO 1750 MONTICELLO CT CA ENVIROSTOR, CA EMI, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA... Lower 2576, 0.488, SSE

AB169 SMITHFORD PRODUCTS C 1401 SO BAKER AVE CA LUST, CA HIST UST, CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 2519, 0.477, NNE

AB168 SMITHFORD PRODUCTS C 1401 S BAKER AVE CA Cortese, CA HAZNET, CA HWTS Higher 2519, 0.477, NNE

AB167 SMITHFORD PRODUCTS C 1401 BAKER AVE CA LUST, CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST, CA HIST... Higher 2519, 0.477, NNE

166 HALLKRAFT CONTAINER 2044 VINEYARD AVE CA LUST, CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA SWEEPS UST, CA CERS...Lower 2087, 0.395, ESE

AA165 ONTARIO SERVICE CENT 1351 FRANCIS ST CA LUST, CA SWEEPS UST, CA HIST UST, CA FID UST,... Higher 1889, 0.358, WNW

AA164 ONTARIO SERVICE CENT 1351 E FRANCIS ST CA HIST UST, CA Cortese Higher 1889, 0.358, WNW

Z163 HHW SATELLITE ONTARI 1408 E FRANCIS ST CA LUST, CA CPS-SLIC, CA Cortese, CA San Bern. Co.... Higher 1524, 0.289, West

Z162 ONTARIO CITY FIRE DE 1408 EAST FRANCIS CA CPS-SLIC, CA CERS Higher 1524, 0.289, West

Z161 ONTARIO FIRE STATION 1408 FRANCIS ST CA LUST, CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST, CA HIST... Higher 1524, 0.289, West

W160 DYNAMIC SUPPLY INC 2049 S BAKER AVE RCRA NonGen / NLR Lower 1294, 0.245, SSE

W159 DARRAS FREIGHT SERVI 2050 S BAKER AVE CA San Bern. Co. Permit Lower 1263, 0.239, SSE

U158 MENGDELI USA, LLC MD 1450 E FRANCIS ST CA San Bern. Co. Permit Higher 1263, 0.239, WNW

U157 WEG ELECTRIC CORP. 1450 E FRANCIS STREE RCRA NonGen / NLR Higher 1263, 0.239, WNW

MAPPED SITES SUMMARY

Target Property Address:
1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET
ONTARIO, CA  91761

Click on Map ID to see full detail.

MAP RELATIVE DIST (ft. & mi.)
ID DATABASE ACRONYMS ELEVATION DIRECTIONSITE NAME ADDRESS

Item E - 677 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 7

TARGET PROPERTY SEARCH RESULTS

The target property was identified in the following records. For more information on this
property see page 9 of the attached EDR Radius Map report:

 EPA IDDatabase(s)Site

PATIO INDUSTRIES
1600 E FRANCIS
ONTARIO, CA  91761

   N/ACA LUST
Database: LUST, Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Global Id: T0607100542
Status: Completed - Case Closed

CA SWEEPS UST
Status: A
Tank Status: A
Comp Number: 9962

CA FID UST
Facility Id: 36008511
Status: A

CA CERS TANKS
CA Cortese
Cleanup Status: COMPLETED - CASE CLOSED

CA EMI
Facility Id: 23202

CA San Bern. Co. Permit
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0005249

CA CERS

WESTERN STATES WHOLE
1600 E FRANCIS
ONTARIO, CA  91761

   N/AECHO
Registry ID: 110002935049

WESTERN STATES WHOLE
1600 E FRANCIS ST
ONTARIO, CA  91761

CAL000152015RCRA NonGen / NLR
EPA ID:: CAL000152015

PATIO INDUSTRIES
1600 E FRANCIS ST
ONTARIO, CA  91761

   N/ACA UST
Database: UST, Date of Government Version: 03/07/2022
Facility Id: 86009962

WESTERN STATES WHOLE
1600 E FRANCIS ST
ONTARIO, CA  91761

   N/ACA EMI
Facility Id: 23202

CA HAZNET
GEPAID: CAL000152015

CA HWTS

Item E - 678 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 8

PATIO INDUSTRIES
1600 FRANCIS ST
ONTARIO, CA  91761

   N/ACA LUST
Database: LUST REG 8, Date of Government Version: 02/14/2005
Facility Status: Leak being confirmed
Global ID: T0607100542

CA NPDES
Facility Status: Active

CA CIWQS
CA CERS

GREAT WESTERN STATE 
1600 E FRANCIS
ONTARIO, CA  91761

   N/ACA HWTS

GREAT WESTERN STATE 
1600 E FRANCIS
ONTARIO, CA  91761

CAR000070128RCRA-SQG
EPA ID:: CAR000070128

FINDS
Registry ID:: 110002935049

PATIO INDUSTRIES
1600 FRANCIS ST
ONTARIO, CA  

   N/ACA RGA LUST

WESTERN STATES WHOLE
1600 E FRANCIS AVE
ONTARIO, CA  91761

   N/ACA UST
Database: UST, Date of Government Version: 03/07/2022
Facility Id: FA0005249

PATIO INDUSTRIES
1600 E FRANCIS ST
ONTARIO, CA  

   N/ACA RGA LUST

DATABASES WITH NO MAPPED SITES

No mapped sites were found in EDR’s search of available ("reasonably ascertainable ") government
records either on the target property or within the search radius around the target property for the
following databases:

STANDARD ENVIRONMENTAL RECORDS

Lists of Federal NPL (Superfund) sites

NPL National Priority List
Proposed NPL Proposed National Priority List Sites

Item E - 679 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 9

NPL LIENS Federal Superfund Liens

Lists of Federal Delisted NPL sites

Delisted NPL National Priority List Deletions

Lists of Federal sites subject to CERCLA removals and CERCLA orders

FEDERAL FACILITY Federal Facility Site Information listing
SEMS Superfund Enterprise Management System

Lists of Federal RCRA generators

RCRA-VSQG RCRA - Very Small Quantity Generators (Formerly Conditionally Exempt Small Quantity
                                                Generators)

Federal institutional controls / engineering controls registries

LUCIS Land Use Control Information System
US ENG CONTROLS Engineering Controls Sites List
US INST CONTROLS Institutional Controls Sites List

Federal ERNS list

ERNS Emergency Response Notification System

Lists of state- and tribal (Superfund) equivalent sites

CA RESPONSE State Response Sites

Lists of state and tribal landfills and solid waste disposal facilities

CA SWF/LF Solid Waste Information System

Lists of state and tribal leaking storage tanks

INDIAN LUST Leaking Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land

Lists of state and tribal registered storage tanks

FEMA UST Underground Storage Tank Listing
CA AST Aboveground Petroleum Storage Tank Facilities
INDIAN UST Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land

Lists of state and tribal voluntary cleanup sites

INDIAN VCP Voluntary Cleanup Priority Listing

Lists of state and tribal brownfield sites

CA BROWNFIELDS Considered Brownfieds Sites Listing

ADDITIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL RECORDS

Local Brownfield lists

US BROWNFIELDS A Listing of Brownfields Sites

Item E - 680 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 10

Local Lists of Landfill / Solid Waste Disposal Sites

CA WMUDS/SWAT Waste Management Unit Database
CA SWRCY Recycler Database
INDIAN ODI Report on the Status of Open Dumps on Indian Lands
DEBRIS REGION 9 Torres Martinez Reservation Illegal Dump Site Locations
ODI Open Dump Inventory
IHS OPEN DUMPS Open Dumps on Indian Land

Local Lists of Hazardous waste / Contaminated Sites

US HIST CDL Delisted National Clandestine Laboratory Register
CA HIST Cal-Sites Historical Calsites Database
CA SCH School Property Evaluation Program
CA CDL Clandestine Drug Labs
CA Toxic Pits Toxic Pits Cleanup Act Sites
US CDL National Clandestine Laboratory Register
CA AQUEOUS FOAM Former Fire Training Facility Assessments Listing
CA PFAS PFAS Contamination Site Location Listing

Local Land Records

CA LIENS Environmental Liens Listing
LIENS 2 CERCLA Lien Information
CA DEED Deed Restriction Listing

Records of Emergency Release Reports

HMIRS Hazardous Materials Information Reporting System
CA LDS Land Disposal Sites Listing
CA MCS Military Cleanup Sites Listing
CA SPILLS 90 SPILLS 90 data from FirstSearch

Other Ascertainable Records

FUDS Formerly Used Defense Sites
DOD Department of Defense Sites
SCRD DRYCLEANERS State Coalition for Remediation of Drycleaners Listing
US FIN ASSUR Financial Assurance Information
EPA WATCH LIST EPA WATCH LIST
2020 COR ACTION 2020 Corrective Action Program List
TSCA Toxic Substances Control Act
TRIS Toxic Chemical Release Inventory System
SSTS Section 7 Tracking Systems
ROD Records Of Decision
RMP Risk Management Plans
RAATS RCRA Administrative Action Tracking System
PRP Potentially Responsible Parties
PADS PCB Activity Database System
ICIS Integrated Compliance Information System
FTTS FIFRA/ TSCA Tracking System - FIFRA (Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, & Rodenticide
                                                Act)/TSCA (Toxic Substances Control Act)
MLTS Material Licensing Tracking System
COAL ASH DOE Steam-Electric Plant Operation Data

Item E - 681 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 11

COAL ASH EPA Coal Combustion Residues Surface Impoundments List
PCB TRANSFORMER PCB Transformer Registration Database
RADINFO Radiation Information Database
HIST FTTS FIFRA/TSCA Tracking System Administrative Case Listing
DOT OPS Incident and Accident Data
CONSENT Superfund (CERCLA) Consent Decrees
INDIAN RESERV Indian Reservations
FUSRAP Formerly Utilized Sites Remedial Action Program
UMTRA Uranium Mill Tailings Sites
LEAD SMELTERS Lead Smelter Sites
US AIRS Aerometric Information Retrieval System Facility Subsystem
US MINES Mines Master Index File
ABANDONED MINES Abandoned Mines
DOCKET HWC Hazardous Waste Compliance Docket Listing
UXO Unexploded Ordnance Sites
FUELS PROGRAM EPA Fuels Program Registered Listing
CA CUPA Listings CUPA Resources List
CA DRYCLEANERS Cleaner Facilities
CA ENF Enforcement Action Listing
CA Financial Assurance Financial Assurance Information Listing
CA ICE ICE
CA HWT Registered Hazardous Waste Transporter Database
CA MINES Mines Site Location Listing
CA MWMP Medical Waste Management Program Listing
CA PEST LIC Pesticide Regulation Licenses Listing
CA PROC Certified Processors Database
CA Notify 65 Proposition 65 Records
CA UIC UIC Listing
CA UIC GEO UIC GEO (GEOTRACKER)
CA WASTEWATER PITS Oil Wastewater Pits Listing
CA WIP Well Investigation Program Case List
CA MILITARY PRIV SITES MILITARY PRIV SITES (GEOTRACKER)
CA PROJECT PROJECT (GEOTRACKER)
CA WDR Waste Discharge Requirements Listing
CA NON-CASE INFO NON-CASE INFO (GEOTRACKER)
CA OTHER OIL GAS OTHER OIL & GAS (GEOTRACKER)
CA PROD WATER PONDS PROD WATER PONDS (GEOTRACKER)
CA SAMPLING POINT SAMPLING POINT (GEOTRACKER)
CA WELL STIM PROJ Well Stimulation Project (GEOTRACKER)
MINES MRDS Mineral Resources Data System

EDR HIGH RISK HISTORICAL RECORDS

EDR Exclusive Records

EDR MGP EDR Proprietary Manufactured Gas Plants
EDR Hist Cleaner EDR Exclusive Historical Cleaners

EDR RECOVERED GOVERNMENT ARCHIVES

Exclusive Recovered Govt. Archives

CA RGA LF Recovered Government Archive Solid Waste Facilities List

Item E - 682 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 12

SURROUNDING SITES: SEARCH RESULTS

Surrounding sites were identified in the following databases.

Elevations have been determined from the USGS Digital Elevation Model and should be evaluated on
a relative (not an absolute) basis. Relative elevation information between sites of close proximity
should be field verified. Sites with an elevation equal to or higher than the target property have been
differentiated below from sites with an elevation lower than the target property.
Page numbers and map identification numbers refer to the EDR Radius Map report where detailed
data on individual sites can be reviewed.

Sites listed in bold italics are in multiple databases.

Unmappable (orphan) sites are not considered in the foregoing analysis.

STANDARD ENVIRONMENTAL RECORDS

Lists of Federal RCRA facilities undergoing Corrective Action

CORRACTS: CORRACTS is a list of handlers with RCRA Corrective Action Activity. This report shows
which nationally-defined corrective action core events have occurred for every handler that has had corrective
action activity.

     A review of the CORRACTS list, as provided by EDR, and dated 06/20/2022 has revealed that there is 1
     CORRACTS site  within approximately 1 mile of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     GE ENGINE SERVICES I   1923 E AVION ST NNE 1/2 - 1 (0.791 mi.) AC173 673
EPA ID:: CAD009542721

Lists of Federal RCRA generators

RCRA-LQG: RCRAInfo is EPA’s comprehensive information system, providing access to data supporting
the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 and the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA)
of 1984.  The database includes selective information on sites which generate, transport, store, treat and/or
dispose of hazardous waste as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA).  Large quantity
generators (LQGs) generate over 1,000 kilograms (kg) of hazardous waste, or over 1 kg of acutely hazardous
waste per month.

     A review of the RCRA-LQG list, as provided by EDR, and dated 06/20/2022 has revealed that there is 1
     RCRA-LQG site  within approximately  0.25 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHC   1700 SOUTH BAKER AVE NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.159 mi.) M108 384
EPA ID:: CAR000265025

Item E - 683 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 13

RCRA-SQG: RCRAInfo is EPA’s comprehensive information system, providing access to data supporting
the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 and the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA)
of 1984.  The database includes selective information on sites which generate, transport, store, treat and/or
dispose of hazardous waste as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA).  Small quantity
generators (SQGs) generate between 100 kg and 1,000 kg of hazardous waste per month.

     A review of the RCRA-SQG list, as provided by EDR, and dated 06/20/2022 has revealed that there are
     10 RCRA-SQG sites within approximately  0.25 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     LIEDER DEVELOPMENT   1839 S. LAKE PL W 1/8 - 1/4 (0.134 mi.) N79 264
EPA ID:: CAL000313583

     DE MERT & DOUGHERTY   1705 S BAKER NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.158 mi.) M102 339
EPA ID:: CAD028829018

     MANES MACHIE & ENGR   1810 LAKE PL WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.159 mi.) P111 392
EPA ID:: CAD074956467

     ACCUFAB   1514 E FRANCIS UNIT WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.164 mi.) P117 422
EPA ID:: CAR000080242

     ACHESON COLLOIDS COM   1496 E. FRANCIS ST. WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.185 mi.) U130 470
EPA ID:: CAD982052136

     MERCURY PLASTICS   1740 S SACRAMENTO ENE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.223 mi.) 155 587
EPA ID:: CAR000094045

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Lower Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     J & W FINISHING INC.   1602 FREMONT COURT SSE 0 - 1/8 (0.062 mi.) C40 162
EPA ID:: CAL000171073

     KAUF KAR INC   1943 S AUGUSTA SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.075 mi.) E53 183
EPA ID:: CAD981373814

     KINEMATICS MANUFACTU   1936 S LAKE PL SW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.180 mi.) T129 467
EPA ID:: CAR000064683

     GERBCO INC   1961 QUAKER RIDGE PL ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.205 mi.) V146 533
EPA ID:: CAR000070482

Lists of state- and tribal hazardous waste facilities

CA ENVIROSTOR: The Department of Toxic Substances Control’s (DTSC’s) Site Mitigation and Brownfields
Reuse Program’s (SMBRP’s) EnviroStor database identifes sites that have known contamination or sites for which
there may be reasons to investigate further.  The database includes the following site types: Federal
Superfund sites (National Priorities List (NPL)); State Response, including Military Facilities and State
Superfund; Voluntary Cleanup; and School sites.  EnviroStor provides similar information to the information
that was available in CalSites, and provides additional site information, including, but not limited to,
identification of formerly-contaminated properties that have been released for reuse, properties where
environmental deed restrictions have been recorded to prevent inappropriate land uses, and risk
characterization information that is used to assess potential impacts to public health and the environment at
contaminated sites.

     A review of the CA ENVIROSTOR list, as provided by EDR, and dated 04/25/2022 has revealed that there
     are 4 CA ENVIROSTOR sites within approximately 1 mile of the target property.

Item E - 684 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 14

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     GOE ENGINEERING   1425 S VINEYARD AVE NE 1/2 - 1 (0.582 mi.) 171 662
Facility Id: 60002476
Status: Active

     ONTARIO A.N.G. TRAIN    NNW 1/2 - 1 (0.706 mi.) 172 672
Facility Id: 80000415
Status: Inactive - Needs Evaluation

     GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-   1923 EAST AVION NNE 1/2 - 1 (0.791 mi.) AC174 706
Facility Id: 80001638
Facility Id: 80000416
Facility Id: 71002298
Status: Inactive - Needs Evaluation
Status: No Further Action

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Lower Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     DANCO   1750 MONTICELLO CT SSE 1/4 - 1/2 (0.488 mi.) 170 657
Facility Id: 71004100
Status: Inactive - Needs Evaluation

Lists of state and tribal leaking storage tanks

CA LUST: Leaking Underground Storage Tank (LUST) Sites included in GeoTracker.  GeoTracker is the
Water Boards data management system for sites that impact, or have the potential to impact, water quality in
California, with emphasis on groundwater.

     A review of the CA LUST list, as provided by EDR, has revealed that there are 8 CA LUST sites within
     approximately  0.5 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     ONTARIO FIRE STATION   1408 FRANCIS ST W 1/4 - 1/2 (0.289 mi.) Z161 613
Database: LUST REG 8, Date of Government Version: 02/14/2005
Facility Status: Case Closed
Global ID: T0607100427

     HHW SATELLITE ONTARI   1408 E FRANCIS ST W 1/4 - 1/2 (0.289 mi.) Z163 618
Database: LUST, Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Global Id: T0607100427
Status: Completed - Case Closed

     ONTARIO SERVICE CENT   1351 FRANCIS ST WNW 1/4 - 1/2 (0.358 mi.) AA165 622
Database: LUST REG 8, Date of Government Version: 02/14/2005
Database: LUST, Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Global Id: T0607100036
Status: Completed - Case Closed
Facility Status: Case Closed
Global ID: T0607100036

     SMITHFORD PRODUCTS C   1401 BAKER AVE NNE 1/4 - 1/2 (0.477 mi.) AB167 643
Database: LUST REG 8, Date of Government Version: 02/14/2005
Facility Status: Case Closed
Global ID: T0607100041

     SMITHFORD PRODUCTS C   1401 SO BAKER AVE NNE 1/4 - 1/2 (0.477 mi.) AB169 655
Database: LUST, Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022

Item E - 685 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 15

Global Id: T0607100041
Status: Completed - Case Closed

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Lower Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     CLASSIC FENCE COMPAN   1621 SSE 0 - 1/8 (0.111 mi.) I58 192
Database: LUST REG 8, Date of Government Version: 02/14/2005
Facility Status: Case Closed
Global ID: T0607100333

     CLASSIC FENCE COMPAN   1621 E CEDAR ST SSE 0 - 1/8 (0.111 mi.) I60 196
Database: LUST, Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Global Id: T0607100333
Status: Completed - Case Closed

     HALLKRAFT CONTAINER   2044 VINEYARD AVE ESE 1/4 - 1/2 (0.395 mi.) 166 631
Database: LUST REG 8, Date of Government Version: 02/14/2005
Database: LUST, Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Global Id: T0607100311
Status: Completed - Case Closed
Facility Status: Case Closed
Global ID: T0607100311

CA CPS-SLIC: Cleanup Program Sites (CPS; also known as Site Cleanups [SC] and formerly known as Spills,
Leaks, Investigations, and Cleanups [SLIC] sites) included in GeoTracker.  GeoTracker is the Water Boards data
management system for sites that impact, or have the potential to impact, water quality in California, with
emphasis on groundwater.

     A review of the CA CPS-SLIC list, as provided by EDR, has revealed that there are 2 CA CPS-SLIC sites
     within approximately  0.5 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     ONTARIO CITY FIRE DE   1408 EAST FRANCIS W 1/4 - 1/2 (0.289 mi.) Z162 617
Database: CPS-SLIC, Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Global Id: SLT8R0483932
Facility Status: Completed - Case Closed

     HHW SATELLITE ONTARI   1408 E FRANCIS ST W 1/4 - 1/2 (0.289 mi.) Z163 618
Database: SLIC REG 8, Date of Government Version: 04/03/2008
Facility Status: Closed

ADDITIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL RECORDS

Local Lists of Hazardous waste / Contaminated Sites

CA CERS HAZ WASTE: List of sites in the California Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) Regulated Site
Portal which fall under the Hazardous Chemical Management, Hazardous Waste Onsite Treatment, Household
Hazardous Waste Collection, Hazardous Waste Generator, and RCRA LQ HW Generator programs.

     A review of the CA CERS HAZ WASTE list, as provided by EDR, and dated 04/18/2022 has revealed that

Item E - 686 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 16

     there are 15 CA CERS HAZ WASTE sites within approximately  0.25 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     CALIFORNIA COLLISION   1642 E FRANCIS ST ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.062 mi.) B38 142
     LAMB ENGINEERING, IN   1811 S LAKE PL WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.135 mi.) P81 269
     RDS PRINTING AND GRA   1714 EAST GREVILLEA E 1/8 - 1/4 (0.150 mi.) L98 323
     DEMERT & DOUGHERTY I   1705 S BAKER AV NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.158 mi.) M104 366
     WESTSIDE PACKING INC   1700 S BAKER AVE NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.159 mi.) M107 377

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Lower Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC   1601 FREMONT COURT SE 0 - 1/8 (0.019 mi.) C16 85
     PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDU   1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.072 mi.) E51 177
     PARAMOUNT PANELS INC   1531 E CEDAR S 0 - 1/8 (0.112 mi.) J64 207
     INTERNATIONAL MACHIN   1546 E CEDAR ST S 1/8 - 1/4 (0.134 mi.) J76 256
     HORIZON PRINTING INK   1558 E CEDAR ST S 1/8 - 1/4 (0.136 mi.) I87 289
     1X ONTARIO DIE OF CA   1941 S BAKER AVE SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.137 mi.) O89 306
     JASPER ENGINE EXCHAN   1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT SW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.145 mi.) R95 314
     AEROSPACE COMM TOOLI   1866 S LAKE PL WSW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.161 mi.) N113 398
     WORLD MOTORS INC   1960 QUAKER RIDGE PL ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.198 mi.) V140 506
     SOUTH COAST EVS   2020 S BAKER SSE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.202 mi.) W144 522

Local Lists of Registered Storage Tanks

CA SWEEPS UST: Statewide Environmental Evaluation and Planning System.  This underground storage tank
listing was updated and maintained by a company contacted by the SWRCB in the early 1990’s.  The listing is no
longer updated or maintained.  The local agency is the contact for more information  on a site on the SWEEPS
list.

     A review of the CA SWEEPS UST list, as provided by EDR, and dated 06/01/1994 has revealed that there
     are 3 CA SWEEPS UST sites within approximately  0.25 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Lower Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     SIERRA LATHING CO IN   1504 E FRANCIS W 0 - 1/8 (0.032 mi.) D18 99
Status: A
Tank Status: A
Comp Number: 6013

     SMITH MANAGEMENT COR   1710 E CEDAR ST SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.173 mi.) S121 438
Status: A
Tank Status: A
Comp Number: 14979

     FIRE BANN CORP   2006 S BAKER AVE SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.176 mi.) K124 444
Status: A
Comp Number: 9982

CA HIST UST: Historical UST Registered Database.

     A review of the CA HIST UST list, as provided by EDR, and dated 10/15/1990 has revealed that there is
     1 CA HIST UST site  within approximately  0.25 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Lower Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     SIERRA LATHING CO IN   1504 E FRANCIS W 0 - 1/8 (0.032 mi.) D19 100

Item E - 687 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 17

Facility Id: 00000006013

CA FID UST: The Facility Inventory Database contains active and inactive underground storage tank
locations. The source is the State Water Resource Control Board.

     A review of the CA FID UST list, as provided by EDR, and dated 10/31/1994 has revealed that there are
     3 CA FID UST sites within approximately  0.25 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Lower Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     SIERRA LATHING CO IN   1504 E FRANCIS W 0 - 1/8 (0.032 mi.) D18 99
Facility Id: 36001611
Status: A

     SMITH MANAGEMENT COR   1710 E CEDAR ST SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.173 mi.) S121 438
Facility Id: 36001797
Status: A

     FIRE BANN CORP   2006 S BAKER AVE SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.176 mi.) K124 444
Facility Id: 36006412
Status: A

Other Ascertainable Records

RCRA NonGen / NLR: RCRAInfo is EPA’s comprehensive information system, providing access to data supporting
the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 and the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA)
of 1984.  The database includes selective information on sites which generate, transport, store, treat and/or
dispose of hazardous waste as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA).  Non-Generators do
not presently generate hazardous waste.

     A review of the RCRA NonGen / NLR list, as provided by EDR, and dated 06/20/2022 has revealed that
     there are 56 RCRA NonGen / NLR sites within approximately  0.25 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     SIMMS SERVICE & REPA   1630 E FRANCIS ST UN ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.035 mi.) B20 101
EPA ID:: CAL000425778

     CALIFORNIA DIESEL CO   1630 E FRANCIS ST ST ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.035 mi.) B23 106
EPA ID:: CAL000386884

     FEAL SUSPENSION   1640 E FRANCIS ST ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.057 mi.) B30 123
EPA ID:: CAL000389751

     CALIFORNIA COLLISION   1642 E FRANCIS ST ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.062 mi.) B37 140
EPA ID:: CAL000381841

     BOATS BY ESSEX DBA E   1830 S BAKER AVE E 0 - 1/8 (0.071 mi.) G44 166
EPA ID:: CAL000374531

     ESSEX BOATS   1830 S BAKER AVE E 0 - 1/8 (0.071 mi.) G45 169
EPA ID:: CAC003128704

     A GROWING CONCERN LA   1648 E FRANCES ST ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.072 mi.) H47 174
EPA ID:: CAL000420172

     CONTINENTAL COATINGS   1726 S BAKER ST NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.126 mi.) M71 232

Item E - 688 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 18

EPA ID:: CAD083595769

     LAMB ENGINEERING INC   1811 S LAKE PL WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.135 mi.) P82 280
EPA ID:: CAL000358367

     RDS PRINTING & GRAPH   1714 GRIVELLA CRT E 1/8 - 1/4 (0.150 mi.) L99 330
EPA ID:: CAL000224252

     NET SHAPES INC   1705 S BAKER AVE NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.158 mi.) M103 363
EPA ID:: CAL000443096

     DISCUS DENTAL LLC   1700 S BAKER AVE NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.159 mi.) M106 375
EPA ID:: CAL000399507

     EXTREME CUSTOM SHEET   1518 E FRANCIS ST. S WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.159 mi.) P109 387
EPA ID:: CAC003177917

     DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISS   1516 E FRANCIS ST WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.161 mi.) P115 419
EPA ID:: CAL000324721

     ELITE FORKLIFT SERVI   1496 E FRANCIS ST WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.185 mi.) U134 485
EPA ID:: CAL000434358

     WARREN PACKAGING INC   1722 E. GREVILLEA CT E 1/8 - 1/4 (0.207 mi.) X147 555
EPA ID:: CAL000431263

     WEG ELECTRIC CORP.   1450 E FRANCIS STREE WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.239 mi.) U157 607
EPA ID:: CAC003031933

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Lower Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC   1601 FREMONT CT SE 0 - 1/8 (0.019 mi.) C15 83
EPA ID:: CAL000390237

     C H OFFICE SPECIALTI   1615 FREMONT CT SE 0 - 1/8 (0.036 mi.) C24 109
EPA ID:: CAD982520892

     AIR 2000 INC   1939 S AUGUSTA AVE SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.048 mi.) E25 112
EPA ID:: CAL000412802

     KOMATSU FORKLIFT USA   1625 FREMONT CT SE 0 - 1/8 (0.055 mi.) F29 121
EPA ID:: CAL000356892

     ADVANCE TRADING CORP   1610 FREMONT CT SE 0 - 1/8 (0.058 mi.) C33 130
EPA ID:: CAL000463951

     PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSE   1610 FREMONT CT SE 0 - 1/8 (0.058 mi.) C34 132
EPA ID:: CAL000464045

     FINE GOLD   1610 FREMONT CT SE 0 - 1/8 (0.058 mi.) C36 137
EPA ID:: CAC003024627

     CUES INC   1943 SOUTH AUGUSTA C SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.071 mi.) E46 171
EPA ID:: CAL000453106

     APC MACHINE INC   1942 AUGUSTA AVE SUI SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.089 mi.) E55 186
EPA ID:: CAC002989735

     PAUL SMOOT   1942 S AUGUSTA AVE S SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.089 mi.) E57 189
EPA ID:: CAL000348024

     H & L CHARTER CO INC   1621 E CEDAR ST SSE 0 - 1/8 (0.111 mi.) I61 198
EPA ID:: CAL000465090

     SHALIMAR INC   1621 E CEDAR ST SSE 0 - 1/8 (0.111 mi.) I62 201
EPA ID:: CAL000309503

     PARAMOUNT PANELS, IN   1531 E. CEDAR S 0 - 1/8 (0.112 mi.) J65 214

Item E - 689 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 19

EPA ID:: CAD009631490

     METROCELL CONSTRUCTI   1635 E CEDAR STREET SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.125 mi.) K66 217
EPA ID:: CAC003014843

     METROCELL CONSTRUCTI   1635 E CEDAR STREET SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.125 mi.) K67 219
EPA ID:: CAC003062772

     METROCELL CONSTRUCTI   1635 E CEDAR STREET SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.125 mi.) K69 226
EPA ID:: CAC003146402
EPA ID:: CAC003107202

     INLINE PLASTICS INC   1950 S BAKER AVE SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.129 mi.) K73 248
EPA ID:: CAL000322258

     DBA INTERNATIONAL MA   1546 CEDAR ST S 1/8 - 1/4 (0.134 mi.) J77 262
EPA ID:: CAL000255917

     HORIZON PRINTING INK   1558 E CEDAR ST S 1/8 - 1/4 (0.136 mi.) I86 286
EPA ID:: CAL000354263

     NAP ASSET HOLDINGS L   1941 S BAKER AVE SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.137 mi.) O88 303
EPA ID:: CAL000431050

     JASPER ENGINES   1477 E CEDAR ST # D SW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.145 mi.) R94 311
EPA ID:: CAL000282471

     JASPER ENGINE EXCHAN   1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT SW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.145 mi.) R96 320
EPA ID:: CAL000443350

     RJ INDUSTRIES   1961 S. BAKER AVE. SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.154 mi.) S101 337
EPA ID:: CAC003022146

     PUMPING SOLUTIONS IN   1906 S QUAKER RIDGE ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.160 mi.) O112 395
EPA ID:: CAL000429978

     AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL   1866 S LAKE PL WSW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.161 mi.) N114 417
EPA ID:: CAL000387347

     CEDAR   1710 E. CEDAR ST SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.173 mi.) S122 439
EPA ID:: CAC003146907

     ABLE INDUSTRIAL PROD   2006 S BAKER AVE SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.176 mi.) K123 442
EPA ID:: CAL000390427

     SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENT   1920 S QUAKER RIDGE ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.177 mi.) O126 458
EPA ID:: CAL000426798

     LARRY RAMONEDA   1936 S. LAKE PL. SW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.180 mi.) T128 465
EPA ID:: CAC003147482

     ZODIAC AEROSPACE - Q   1940 S QUAKER RIDGE ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.186 mi.) V135 488
EPA ID:: CAL000338243

     NATIONAL TRANSMISSIO   1927 E CEDAR ST SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.196 mi.) S139 503
EPA ID:: CAL000465347

     WORLD MOTORS INC   1960 S QUAKER RIDGE SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.199 mi.) V141 514
EPA ID:: CAL000255573

     EUBANKS ENGINEERING   1921 S QUAKER RIDGE ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.202 mi.) V142 516
EPA ID:: CAL000447779

     SOUTH COAST EMERGENC   2020 S BAKER AVE SSE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.202 mi.) W145 531
EPA ID:: CAL000317062

     ISMENIA CAMPOS   1440 E CEDAR ST SW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.211 mi.) 151 563
EPA ID:: CAC003065739

     ALTAQUIP LLC   1961 S QUAKER RIDGE ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.220 mi.) V153 571

Item E - 690 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 20

EPA ID:: CAL000413219

     PREFERRED PAPERBOX I   1516 CEDAR ST S 1/8 - 1/4 (0.223 mi.) Y154 573
EPA ID:: CAD983644774

     SUNCOAST POST-TENSIO   1528 E CEDAR ST S 1/8 - 1/4 (0.228 mi.) Y156 604
EPA ID:: CAL000224045

     DYNAMIC SUPPLY INC   2049 S BAKER AVE SSE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.245 mi.) W160 610
EPA ID:: CAL000442047

CA BOND EXP. PLAN: Department of Health Services developed a site-specific expenditure plan as the basis for
an appropriation of Hazardous Substance Cleanup Bond Act funds. It is not updated.

     A review of the CA BOND EXP. PLAN list, as provided by EDR, and dated 01/01/1989 has revealed that
     there is 1 CA BOND EXP. PLAN site  within approximately 1 mile of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     GENERAL ELECTRIC ENG   1923 EAST AVION STRE NNE 1/2 - 1 (0.791 mi.) AC175 739

CA Cortese: The sites for the list are designated by the State Water Resource Control Board (LUST),
the Integrated Waste Board (SWF/LS), and the Department of Toxic Substances Control (Cal-Sites).

     A review of the CA Cortese list, as provided by EDR, and dated 03/21/2022 has revealed that there are
     5 CA Cortese sites within approximately  0.5 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     HHW SATELLITE ONTARI   1408 E FRANCIS ST W 1/4 - 1/2 (0.289 mi.) Z163 618
Cleanup Status: COMPLETED - CASE CLOSED

     ONTARIO SERVICE CENT   1351 E FRANCIS ST WNW 1/4 - 1/2 (0.358 mi.) AA164 621
Cleanup Status: COMPLETED - CASE CLOSED

     SMITHFORD PRODUCTS C   1401 S BAKER AVE NNE 1/4 - 1/2 (0.477 mi.) AB168 647
Cleanup Status: COMPLETED - CASE CLOSED

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Lower Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     CLASSIC FENCE COMPAN   1621 E CEDAR ST SSE 0 - 1/8 (0.111 mi.) I60 196
Cleanup Status: COMPLETED - CASE CLOSED

     HALLKRAFT CONTAINER   2044 VINEYARD AVE ESE 1/4 - 1/2 (0.395 mi.) 166 631
Cleanup Status: COMPLETED - CASE CLOSED

CA HIST CORTESE: The sites for the list are designated by the State Water Resource Control Board [LUST],
the Integrated Waste Board [SWF/LS], and the Department of Toxic Substances Control [CALSITES].    This
listing is no longer updated by the state agency.

     A review of the CA HIST CORTESE list, as provided by EDR, and dated 04/01/2001 has revealed that
     there are 6 CA HIST CORTESE sites within approximately  0.5 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     ONTARIO FIRE STATION   1408 FRANCIS ST W 1/4 - 1/2 (0.289 mi.) Z161 613

Item E - 691 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 21

Reg Id: 083602902T

     ONTARIO SERVICE CENT   1351 FRANCIS ST WNW 1/4 - 1/2 (0.358 mi.) AA165 622
Reg Id: 083600303T

     SMITHFORD PRODUCTS C   1401 BAKER AVE NNE 1/4 - 1/2 (0.477 mi.) AB167 643
Reg Id: 083600376T

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Lower Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     CLASSIC FENCE COMPAN   1621 SSE 0 - 1/8 (0.111 mi.) I58 192
Reg Id: 083602472T

     INTERNATIONAL MACHIN   1546 E CEDAR ST S 1/8 - 1/4 (0.134 mi.) J76 256
Reg Id: 083602703T

     HALLKRAFT CONTAINER   2044 VINEYARD AVE ESE 1/4 - 1/2 (0.395 mi.) 166 631
Reg Id: 083602381T

CA HWP: Detailed information on permitted hazardous waste facilities and corrective action
("cleanups") tracked in EnviroStor.

     A review of the CA HWP list, as provided by EDR, and dated 05/16/2022 has revealed that there is 1 CA
     HWP site  within approximately 1 mile of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     GE ENGINE SERVICES I   1923 E AVION ST NNE 1/2 - 1 (0.791 mi.) AC173 673
EPA ID: CAD009542721
Cleanup Status: CLOSED

PA MANIFEST: Hazardous waste manifest information.

     A review of the PA MANIFEST list, as provided by EDR, and dated 06/30/2018 has revealed that there is
     1 PA MANIFEST site  within approximately  0.25 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     ACHESON COLLOIDS CO   1496 EAST FRANCIS ST WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.185 mi.) U131 481
Generator EPA Id: CAD982052136

RI MANIFEST: Hazardous waste manifest information

     A review of the RI MANIFEST list, as provided by EDR, and dated 12/31/2020 has revealed that there is
     1 RI MANIFEST site  within approximately  0.25 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     ACHESON COLLOIDS COM   1496 E. FRANCIS ST. WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.185 mi.) U130 470
EPA Id: CAD982052136
Manifest Document Number: RIH0017174

Item E - 692 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 22

San Bernardino County Fire Department Hazardous Materials Division.

     A review of the CA San Bern. Co. Permit list, as provided by EDR, and dated 05/12/2022 has revealed
     that there are 77 CA San Bern. Co. Permit sites within approximately  0.25 miles of the target
     property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     DIVERSIFAB, INC   1616 E FRANCIS ST UN NE 0 - 1/8 (0.011 mi.) B12 81
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0010275

     ELEMENTS OF STYLE   1616 E FRANCIS ST ST NE 0 - 1/8 (0.011 mi.) B13 82
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0005761

     BORG PRODUCE   1621 E FRANCIS NE 0 - 1/8 (0.027 mi.) B17 99
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0012981
Facility Id: FA0008417

     PHILLIPS CAR BITE IN   1630 E FRANCIS ST ST ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.035 mi.) B21 103
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: FEE EXEMPT
Facility Id: FA0016592
Facility Id: FA0017554

     LAMB ENGINEERING, IN   1630 E FRANCIS ST UN ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.035 mi.) B22 106
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0004370

     FEAL SUSPENSION, INC   1640 E FRANCIS ST ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.057 mi.) B31 126
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0016608

     FEAL SUSPENSION   1640 E FRANCIS ST ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.057 mi.) B32 127
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0005437

     CALIFORNIA COLLISION   1642 E FRANCIS ST ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.062 mi.) B38 142
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0015361
Facility Id: FA0001725

     TARGET DIESEL,INC.   1644 E FRANCIS ST ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.066 mi.) B41 165
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0006584

     WESTAIR GASES & EQUI   1830 BAKER ST E 0 - 1/8 (0.071 mi.) G43 166
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0013441

     ANTISTA DIESEL REPAI   1652 E FRANCIS ST ENE 0 - 1/8 (0.073 mi.) H52 182
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0000974

     TERMINIX INTERNATION   1710 GREVILLEA CT E 1/8 - 1/4 (0.125 mi.) L70 231
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0013356

     BROTHERS 4 X 4   1726 S BAKER NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.126 mi.) M72 248
Facility Status: INACTIVE

Item E - 693 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 23

Facility Id: FA0001579

     IGA PRINTING   1839 LAKE PL W 1/8 - 1/4 (0.134 mi.) N78 264
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0003913

     MAICO ONLY RACING -   1825 SOUTH LAKE PLAC W 1/8 - 1/4 (0.134 mi.) P80 268
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0015236

     LAMB ENGINEERING, IN   1811 S LAKE PL WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.135 mi.) P81 269
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0013166
Facility Id: FA0008453

     MIQ LOGISTICS LLC   1521 FRANCIS ST STE N 1/8 - 1/4 (0.135 mi.) Q83 282
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0011172

     USF LOGISTICS   1521 E FRANCIS ST B N 1/8 - 1/4 (0.135 mi.) Q84 283
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0018077
Facility Id: FA0008413

     GENERA CORPORATION   1521 E FRANCIS ST ST N 1/8 - 1/4 (0.135 mi.) Q85 286
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0015018

     FREEFLOW PRODUCTS IN   1735 S BAKER ST NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.137 mi.) M91 310
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0003343

     RDS PRINTING AND GRA   1714 EAST GREVILLEA E 1/8 - 1/4 (0.150 mi.) L98 323
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0007593

     GEM LITHOGRAPHICS   1524 E FRANCIS ST WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.152 mi.) P100 333
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0005382

     DEMERT & DOUGHERTY I   1705 S BAKER AV NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.158 mi.) M104 366
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0014960

     WESTSIDE PACKING INC   1700 S BAKER AVE NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.159 mi.) M107 377
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: FEE EXEMPT
Facility Id: FA0014610

     TK SYSTEMS   1810 S LAKE PL WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.159 mi.) P110 390
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008442

     WEST COAST MACHINE   1514 E FRANCIS ST A WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.164 mi.) P116 422
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0004187

     ELITE FORKLIFT SERVI   1496 E FRANCIS ST WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.185 mi.) U132 483
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0000242

     ELITE FORKLIFT SERVI   1478 E FRANCIS ST UN WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.185 mi.) U133 485

Item E - 694 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 24

Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0015364

     GOLD STANDARD SERVIC   1492 E FRANCIS ST B WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.190 mi.) U137 503
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0016682

     ROTARY CORP   1722 E GREVILLEA CT E 1/8 - 1/4 (0.207 mi.) X148 557
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0005811

     CALIFORNIA EXOTIC NO   1455 E FRANCIS ST WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.209 mi.) U149 559
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0016680

     AMERIWEST INDUSTRIES   1455 E FRANCIS WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.209 mi.) U150 563
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008227

     ONE STOP LABEL   1641 S BAKER AVE NE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.214 mi.) 152 565
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0009340

     MERCURY PLASTICS   1740 S SACRAMENTO ENE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.223 mi.) 155 587
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0010587
Facility Id: FA0006487

     MENGDELI USA, LLC MD   1450 E FRANCIS ST WNW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.239 mi.) U158 609
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0012697
Facility Id: FA0007610

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Lower Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC   1601 FREMONT COURT SE 0 - 1/8 (0.019 mi.) C16 85
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0015315

     AIR 2000 INC.   1939 S AUGUSTA AVE SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.048 mi.) E26 114
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0017289

     EVANS FOOD WEST, INC   1920 AUGUSTA CT SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.050 mi.) E27 115
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008425

     NOBLELIFT NORTH AMER   1625 FREMONT CT SE 0 - 1/8 (0.055 mi.) F28 115
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0009328

     FINE GOLD   1610 FREMONT CT SE 0 - 1/8 (0.058 mi.) C35 136
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0003217

     J & W FINISHING INC   1602 FREMONT CT SSE 0 - 1/8 (0.062 mi.) C39 149
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0004049

     LOOMIS FARGO & CO   1939 S AUGUSTA CT SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.067 mi.) E42 166
Facility Status: INACTIVE

Item E - 695 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 25

Facility Id: FA0004477

     DISCOUNT SAW SERVICE   1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.072 mi.) E48 176
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008428

     APC MACHINE INC   1942 AUGUSTA CT STE SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.072 mi.) E49 177
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008430

     V.L. AUTO BODY   1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.072 mi.) E50 177
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008427

     PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDU   1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.072 mi.) E51 177
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0012879
Facility Id: FA0008429

     SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO   1486 E FRANCIS ST ST W 0 - 1/8 (0.078 mi.) D54 186
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0006160

     PARTS ON TIME   1942 AUGUSTA AVE STE SSW 0 - 1/8 (0.089 mi.) E56 189
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008426

     SHALIMAR INC   1621 E CEDAR ST SSE 0 - 1/8 (0.111 mi.) I59 193
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008543

     DELICIAS DE MICHOACA   1545 E CEDAR ST S 0 - 1/8 (0.111 mi.) I63 203
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0002677

     PARAMOUNT PANELS INC   1531 E CEDAR S 0 - 1/8 (0.112 mi.) J64 207
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0005225

     RYCOLINE PRODUCTS IN   1635 E CEDAR ST SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.125 mi.) K68 222
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0016475
Facility Id: FA0005834

     POLYMER COMPOSITES,   1871 LAKE PL WSW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.131 mi.) N74 251
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008445

     ENVIRONMENTAL INKS,   1921 BAKER ST ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.132 mi.) O75 255
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0002927

     INTERNATIONAL MACHIN   1546 E CEDAR ST S 1/8 - 1/4 (0.134 mi.) J76 256
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0004001

     HORIZON PRINTING INK   1558 E CEDAR ST S 1/8 - 1/4 (0.136 mi.) I87 289
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0013369

     PEAK TOOLWORKS (NAP   1941 S BAKER AVE SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.137 mi.) O90 309
Facility Status: ACTIVE

Item E - 696 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 26

Facility Id: FA0018689

     STEWART PRODUCTS INC   1552 E CEDAR ST S 1/8 - 1/4 (0.137 mi.) J92 310
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0006473

     BOCK MACHINE COMPANY   1911 S LAKE PL WSW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.140 mi.) N93 311
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008546

     JASPER ENGINE EXCHAN   1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT SW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.145 mi.) R95 314
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008566

     DEE ENGINEERING INC   1893 LAKE PL WSW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.147 mi.) N97 322
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0002668

     CEPA OPERATIONS INC.   1939 S LAKE PL SW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.159 mi.) R105 374
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008564

     AEROSPACE COMM TOOLI   1866 S LAKE PL WSW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.161 mi.) N113 398
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0000321

     RAMA FOOD CEDAR   1486 E CEDAR ST SSW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.164 mi.) R118 425
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0016718
Facility Id: FA0007343

     BAYOU AQUATIC FOODS   1922 LAKE PL WSW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.171 mi.) T119 437
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0001368

     CALDEX CRAFT PRODUCT   1953 S LAKE PL SW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.172 mi.) R120 438
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0008567

     SMITH MANAGEMENT COR   1710 E CEDAR ST SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.173 mi.) S121 438
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0009700

     FIRE BANN CORP   2006 S BAKER AVE SE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.176 mi.) K124 444
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0015174

     ENVIRONMENTAL INKS,   1920 S QUAKER RIDGE ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.177 mi.) O125 457
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0013938

     ROYALWOOD FURNITURE   1920 QUAKER RIDGE PL ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.177 mi.) O127 461
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0005344

     ZODIAC AEROSPACE - Q   1940 S QUAKER RIDGE ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.186 mi.) V136 490
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0013385

     G & L CABINETS   1950 S LAKE PL SW 1/8 - 1/4 (0.192 mi.) T138 503

Item E - 697 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 27

Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0003369

     WORLD MOTORS INC   1960 QUAKER RIDGE PL ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.198 mi.) V140 506
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0007335

     EUBANKS ENGINEERING   1921 S QUAKER RIDGE ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.202 mi.) V143 519
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0018516

     SOUTH COAST EVS   2020 S BAKER SSE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.202 mi.) W144 522
Facility Status: ACTIVE
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0011207
Facility Id: FA0005323

     GERBCO INC   1961 QUAKER RIDGE PL ESE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.205 mi.) V146 533
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0003463

     DARRAS FREIGHT SERVI   2050 S BAKER AVE SSE 1/8 - 1/4 (0.239 mi.) W159 610
Facility Status: INACTIVE
Facility Id: FA0015126

EDR HIGH RISK HISTORICAL RECORDS

EDR Exclusive Records

EDR Hist Auto: EDR has searched selected national collections of business directories and has collected
listings of potential gas station/filling station/service station sites that were available to EDR
researchers.  EDR’s review was limited to those categories of sources that might, in EDR’s opinion, include
gas station/filling station/service station establishments. The categories reviewed included, but were not
limited to gas, gas station, gasoline station, filling station, auto, automobile repair, auto service station,
service station, etc. This database falls within a category of information EDR classifies as "High Risk
Historical Records", or HRHR.  EDR’s HRHR effort presents unique and sometimes proprietary data about past
sites and operations that typically create environmental concerns, but may not show up in current government
records searches.

     A review of the EDR Hist Auto list, as provided by EDR, has revealed that there is 1 EDR Hist Auto
     site  within approximately  0.125 miles of the target property.

PageMap IDDirection / Distance     Address     Equal/Higher Elevation     ____________________      ________  ___________________ _____ _____

     WESTERN FAN CLUTCH   1616 FRANCIS NE 0 - 1/8 (0.011 mi.) B14 83

Item E - 698 of 2173



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TC7095824.2s  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 28

Due to poor or inadequate address information, the following sites were not mapped. Count: 3 records. 

Site Name  Database(s)____________  ____________

 CA CDL
SO CAL GAS/ONTARIO MGP  EDR MGP
MILLIKEN SANITARY LANDFILL  CA ENVIROSTOR

Item E - 699 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4QH4HeQ.AHbK2oUHWxe9F9Tu.L3Ave38tbxvKE22HzoJQUc538.WwnxLw32B9qdF3J3yUTsyuUy9L9LDF3XsBvKvEpe2z4VpQzVHYb2y9H5kei.8Tc.49AYJ2PCb8pKYHA5LoGNUsb4X8W2Nxni6t69TaFf.4QrTCGuwB4hFLBB3At4L9Q3JHhf3UfHaxegK2Kd.yeAgl9h.bN.KOx2iuo8hUmtBfMWUDxQQ79i9fjFhKAVRTFeufS4WOLfR3Rd6XOvDFe7A1ak87ftU34AvxQWvlIuVqE3z2fC464QARH7c3r.HOVewv2YJ.QeAIVUb0breKE23yoorLUUu2biWhxxtc98Q9MpFa875uTqLuV05nWLFB38XAikvF.ekN5Vn8XYtjsBjMxqLv2nAQTESM2Pd2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4QH4HeQ.AHbK2oUHWxe9F9Tu.L3Ave38tbxvKE22HzoJQUc538.WwnxLw32B9qdF3J3yUTsyuUy9L9LDF3XsBvKvEpe2z4VpQzVHYb2y9H5kei.8Tc.49AYJ2PCb8pKYHA5LoGNUsb4X8W2Nxni6t69TaFf.4QrTCGuwB4hFLBB3At4L9Q3JHhf3UfHaxegK2Kd.yeAgl9h.bN.KOx2iuo8hUmtBfMWUDxQQ79i9fjFhKAVRTFeufS4WOLfR3Rd6XOvDFe7A1ak87ftU34AvxQWvlIuVqE3z2fC464QARH7c3r.HOVewv2YJ.QeAIV3b0breKE22yoorLUUu2biWhxxtcB8Q9MpFa875uTqLuV02nWLFB38XAikvF.ekN7Vn8XYtjsAjMxqLv2n8QTESM2Pd2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4QH4HeQ.AHbK2oUHWxe9F9Tu.L3Ave38tbxvKE22HzoJQUc538.WwnxLw32B9qdF3J3yUTsyuUy9L9LDF3XsBvKvEpe2z4VpQzVHYb2y9H5kei.8Tc.49AYJ2PCb8pKYHA5LoGNUsb4X8W2Nxni6t69TaFf.4QrTCGuwB4hFLBB3At4L9Q3JHhf3UfHaxegK2Kd.yeAgl9h.bN.KOx2iuo8hUmtBfMWUDxQQ79i9fjFhKAVRTFeufS4WOLfR3Rd6XOvDFe7A1ak87ftU34AvxQWvlIuVqE3z2fC464QARH7c3r.HOVewv2YJ.QeAIVUb0breKE23yoorLUUu2biWhxxtc38Q9MpFa865uTqLuV0AnWLFB38X3ikvF.ekNBVn8XYtjs6jMxqLv2n3QTESM2Pd2


EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.

60 kV

920

880

8 40

8 0

920

9 2 0

9
2

0

8 8 0

880

8 8 0

840

8 4 0

8 0 0

8 0 0

Item E - 700 of 2173



EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.

880

Item E - 701 of 2173



MAP FINDINGS SUMMARY

Search
TargetDistance Total

Database Property(Miles) < 1/8 1/8 - 1/4 1/4 - 1/2 1/2 - 1 > 1 Plotted

STANDARD ENVIRONMENTAL RECORDS

Lists of Federal NPL (Superfund) sites

    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000NPL
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000Proposed NPL
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000NPL LIENS

Lists of Federal Delisted NPL sites

    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000Delisted NPL

Lists of Federal sites subject to
CERCLA removals and CERCLA orders

    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500FEDERAL FACILITY
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500SEMS

Lists of Federal CERCLA sites with NFRAP

    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500SEMS-ARCHIVE

Lists of Federal RCRA facilities
undergoing Corrective Action

    1  NR     1      0      0    0 1.000CORRACTS

Lists of Federal RCRA TSD facilities

    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500RCRA-TSDF

Lists of Federal RCRA generators

    1  NR   NR    NR      1    0 0.250RCRA-LQG
   11  NR   NR    NR      8    2 0.250          1RCRA-SQG
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250RCRA-VSQG

Federal institutional controls /
engineering controls registries

    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500LUCIS
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500US ENG CONTROLS
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500US INST CONTROLS

Federal ERNS list

    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPERNS

Lists of state- and tribal
(Superfund) equivalent sites

    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000CA RESPONSE

Lists of state- and tribal
hazardous waste facilities

    4  NR     3      1      0    0 1.000CA ENVIROSTOR

Lists of state and tribal landfills
and solid waste disposal facilities

    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500CA SWF/LF

TC7095824.2s   Page 4

Item E - 702 of 2173



MAP FINDINGS SUMMARY

Search
TargetDistance Total

Database Property(Miles) < 1/8 1/8 - 1/4 1/4 - 1/2 1/2 - 1 > 1 Plotted

Lists of state and tribal leaking storage tanks

   10  NR   NR      6      0    2 0.500          2CA LUST
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500INDIAN LUST
    2  NR   NR      2      0    0 0.500CA CPS-SLIC

Lists of state and tribal registered storage tanks

    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250FEMA UST
    2  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250          2CA UST
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250CA AST
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250INDIAN UST

Lists of state and tribal voluntary cleanup sites

    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500CA VCP
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500INDIAN VCP

Lists of state and tribal brownfield sites

    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500CA BROWNFIELDS

ADDITIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL RECORDS

Local Brownfield lists

    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500US BROWNFIELDS

Local Lists of Landfill / Solid
Waste Disposal Sites

    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500CA WMUDS/SWAT
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500CA SWRCY
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA HAULERS
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500INDIAN ODI
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500DEBRIS REGION 9
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500ODI
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500IHS OPEN DUMPS

Local Lists of Hazardous waste /
Contaminated Sites

    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPUS HIST CDL
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000CA HIST Cal-Sites
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250CA SCH
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA CDL
   15  NR   NR    NR     11    4 0.250CA CERS HAZ WASTE
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000CA Toxic Pits
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPUS CDL
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA AQUEOUS FOAM
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500CA PFAS

Local Lists of Registered Storage Tanks

    4  NR   NR    NR      2    1 0.250          1CA SWEEPS UST
    1  NR   NR    NR      0    1 0.250CA HIST UST
    1  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250          1CA CERS TANKS

TC7095824.2s   Page 5

Item E - 703 of 2173



MAP FINDINGS SUMMARY

Search
TargetDistance Total

Database Property(Miles) < 1/8 1/8 - 1/4 1/4 - 1/2 1/2 - 1 > 1 Plotted

    4  NR   NR    NR      2    1 0.250          1CA FID UST

Local Land Records

    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA LIENS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPLIENS 2
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500CA DEED

Records of Emergency Release Reports

    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPHMIRS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA CHMIRS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA LDS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA MCS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA SPILLS 90

Other Ascertainable Records

   57  NR   NR    NR     36   20 0.250          1RCRA NonGen / NLR
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000FUDS
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000DOD
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500SCRD DRYCLEANERS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPUS FIN ASSUR
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPEPA WATCH LIST
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.2502020 COR ACTION
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPTSCA
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPTRIS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPSSTS
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000ROD
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPRMP
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPRAATS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPPRP
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPPADS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPICIS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPFTTS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPMLTS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCOAL ASH DOE
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500COAL ASH EPA
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPPCB TRANSFORMER
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPRADINFO
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPHIST FTTS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPDOT OPS
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000CONSENT
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000INDIAN RESERV
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000FUSRAP
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500UMTRA
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPLEAD SMELTERS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPUS AIRS
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250US MINES
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250ABANDONED MINES
    1  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TP          1FINDS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPDOCKET HWC
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000UXO
    1  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TP          1ECHO

TC7095824.2s   Page 6

Item E - 704 of 2173



MAP FINDINGS SUMMARY

Search
TargetDistance Total

Database Property(Miles) < 1/8 1/8 - 1/4 1/4 - 1/2 1/2 - 1 > 1 Plotted

    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250FUELS PROGRAM
    1  NR     1      0      0    0 1.000CA BOND EXP. PLAN
    6  NR   NR      4      0    1 0.500          1CA Cortese
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250CA CUPA Listings
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250CA DRYCLEANERS
    2  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TP          2CA EMI
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA ENF
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA Financial Assurance
    1  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TP          1CA HAZNET
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA ICE
    6  NR   NR      4      1    1 0.500CA HIST CORTESE
    1  NR     1      0      0    0 1.000CA HWP
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250CA HWT
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250NY MANIFEST
    1  NR   NR    NR      1    0 0.250PA MANIFEST
    1  NR   NR    NR      1    0 0.250RI MANIFEST
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250CA MINES
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250CA MWMP
    1  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TP          1CA NPDES
   78  NR   NR    NR     50   27 0.250          1CA San Bern. Co. Permit
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA PEST LIC
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500CA PROC
    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000CA Notify 65
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA UIC
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA UIC GEO
    0  NR   NR      0      0    0 0.500CA WASTEWATER PITS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA WDS
    0  NR   NR    NR      0    0 0.250CA WIP
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA MILITARY PRIV SITES
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA PROJECT
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA WDR
    1  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TP          1CA CIWQS
    2  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TP          2CA CERS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA NON-CASE INFO
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA OTHER OIL GAS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA PROD WATER PONDS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA SAMPLING POINT
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA WELL STIM PROJ
    2  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TP          2CA HWTS
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPMINES MRDS

EDR HIGH RISK HISTORICAL RECORDS

EDR Exclusive Records

    0  NR     0      0      0    0 1.000EDR MGP
    1  NR   NR    NR    NR    1 0.125EDR Hist Auto
    0  NR   NR    NR    NR    0 0.125EDR Hist Cleaner

EDR RECOVERED GOVERNMENT ARCHIVES

Exclusive Recovered Govt. Archives

    0  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TPCA RGA LF

TC7095824.2s   Page 7

Item E - 705 of 2173



MAP FINDINGS SUMMARY

Search
TargetDistance Total

Database Property(Miles) < 1/8 1/8 - 1/4 1/4 - 1/2 1/2 - 1 > 1 Plotted

    2  NR   NR    NR    NR  NR   TP          2CA RGA LUST

  221    0    6   17  113   61   24- Totals --

NOTES:

   TP = Target Property

   NR = Not Requested at this Search Distance

   Sites may be listed in more than one database

TC7095824.2s   Page 8

Item E - 706 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                         Leak StoppedAction:
                         12/15/1998Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100542Global Id:

                         Leak ReportedAction:
                         02/05/1999Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100542Global Id:

LUST:

                         9517823238Phone Number:
                         miguel.oviedo@waterboards.ca.govEmail:
                         RIVERSIDECity:
                         3737 Main Street, Suite 500Address:
                         SANTA ANA RWQCB (REGION 8)Organization Name:
                         MIGUEL OVIEDOContact Name:
                         Regional Board CaseworkerContact Type:
                         T0607100542Global Id:

                         9093868419Phone Number:
                         crichards@sbcfire.orgEmail:
                         SAN BERNARDINOCity:
                         620 SOUTH E STREETAddress:
                         SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYOrganization Name:
                         CATHERINE RICHARDSContact Name:
                         Local Agency CaseworkerContact Type:
                         T0607100542Global Id:

LUST:

                              Not reportedSite History:
                              DieselPotential Contaminants of Concern:
                              SoilPotential Media Affect:
                              99016Local Case Number:
                              Local AgencyFile Location:
                              SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYLocal Agency:
                              083603374TRB Case Number:
                              CR2Case Worker:
                              06/21/2000Status Date:
                              Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                              -117.617776Longitude:
                              34.0403Latitude:
                              T0607100542Global Id:
                              http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?global_id=T0607100542Geo Track:
                              LUST Cleanup SiteCase Type:
                              SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYLead Agency:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1600 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

LUST:

CA CERS
CA San Bern. Co. Permit

CA EMI
CA CorteseSite 1 of 11 in cluster A

CA CERS TANKS

Actual:
865 ft.

 

Property CA FID USTONTARIO, CA  91761
Target CA SWEEPS UST1600 E FRANCIS    N/A
A1 CA LUSTPATIO INDUSTRIES S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 9

Item E - 707 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

     Not reportedEPA ID:
     Not reportedNPDES Number:
     Not reportedDUNs Number:
     Not reportedContact Phone:
     Not reportedContact:
     ONTARIO 91761Mailing City,St,Zip:
     Not reportedMailing Address 2:
     FRONT STMailing Address:
     Not reportedMail To:
     Not reportedFacility Phone:
     Not reportedSIC Code:
     Not reportedCortese Code:
     Not reportedRegulated ID:
     UTNKARegulated By:
     36008511Facility ID:

CA FID UST:

          1Number Of Tanks:
          UNKNOWNContent:
          PSTG:
          UNKNOWNTank Use:
          09-09-88Active Date:
          1Capacity:
          ATank Status:
          36-000-009962-000001SWRCB Tank Id:
          Not reportedOwner Tank Id:
          09-09-88Created Date:
          09-04-91Action Date:
          09-04-91Referral Date:
          44-020237Board Of Equalization:
          9Number:
          9962Comp Number:
          ActiveStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1600 E FRANCISAddress:
          PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

SWEEPS UST:

                         06/21/2000Status Date:
                         Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                         T0607100542Global Id:

                         12/15/1998Status Date:
                         Open - Site AssessmentStatus:
                         T0607100542Global Id:

                         12/15/1998Status Date:
                         Open - Case Begin DateStatus:
                         T0607100542Global Id:

LUST:

                         Leak DiscoveryAction:
                         12/15/1998Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100542Global Id:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 10

Item E - 708 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                              2Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              0Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              0Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              1442SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              23202Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1987Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1600 E FRANCISAddress:
                                              PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

EMI:

                              Active OpenFile Name:
                              Not reportedWaste Management Uit Name:
                              Not reportedSolid Waste Id No:
                              Not reportedWID Id:
                              Not reportedRegion 2:
                              Not reportedEffective Date:
                              Not reportedWaste Discharge System No:
                              Not reportedOrder No:
                              activeFlag:
                              Not reportedSwat R:
                              Not reportedEnf Type:
                              Not reportedOwner:
                              Not reportedLongitude:
                              Not reportedLatitude:
                              Not reportedSite Code:
                              Not reportedStatus Date:
                              COMPLETED - CASE CLOSEDCleanup Status:
                              LUST CLEANUP SITESite/Facility Type:
                              T0607100542Global ID:
                              Not reportedEnvirostor Id:
                              CORTESERegion:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1600 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

CORTESE:

                              Underground Storage TankCERS Description:
                              10042990CERS ID:
                              85627Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1600 E FRANCIS AVEAddress:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALEName:

CERS TANKS:

     ActiveStatus:
     Not reportedComments:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 11

Item E - 709 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

10/31/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0002677Permit Number:
HUMPHREYS, RANDALL & ROBERTOwner:
FA0005249Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1600 E FRANCIS AVEAddress:
WESTERN STATES WHOLESALEName:

10/31/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0002676Permit Number:
HUMPHREYS, RANDALL & ROBERTOwner:
FA0005249Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1600 E FRANCIS AVEAddress:
WESTERN STATES WHOLESALEName:

10/31/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
REGULAR UST ANNUAL INSPECTION (PER TANK)Permit Category:
PT0011554Permit Number:
HUMPHREYS, RANDALL & ROBERTOwner:
FA0005249Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1600 E FRANCIS AVEAddress:
WESTERN STATES WHOLESALEName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                              1Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              2Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              2NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              2Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              0Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              0Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              5039SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              23202Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1990Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1600 E FRANCISAddress:
                                              PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

                                              2Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 12

Item E - 710 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              HSC 6.7 25286(a) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              04-17-2014Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              annually.
                              1/4/19. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Review and certify the business plan
                              inspection, the last complete Business Plan was submitted to CERS on
                              Returned to compliance on 04/16/2020. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              03-23-2020Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10042990CERS ID:
                              85627Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1600 E FRANCIS AVEAddress:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALEName:

                              9517823238,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              RIVERSIDEAffiliation City:
                              3737 Main Street, Suite 500Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              MIGUEL OVIEDO - SANTA ANA RWQCB (REGION 8)Entity Name:
                              Regional Board CaseworkerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              9093868419,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              SAN BERNARDINOAffiliation City:
                              620 SOUTH E STREETAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              CATHERINE RICHARDS - SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYEntity Name:
                              Local Agency CaseworkerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              Leaking Underground Storage Tank Cleanup SiteCERS Description:
                              T0607100542CERS ID:
                              200142Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1600 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

CERS:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 13

Item E - 711 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING SYSTEM (CERS) COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT: SUBMIT
                              DOCUMENTATION( UST Monitoring Site Plan) TO THE CALIFORNIA
                              2632(d)) OBSERVATION: FACILITY HAS NOT SUBMITTED THE REQUIRED UST
                              monitoring program with monitoring procedures and response plan. (CCR
                              Returned to compliance on 04/24/2015. Failure to have a writtenViolation Notes:
                              Ordinance only
                              UST Program - Administration/Documentation - For use of LocalViolation Description:
                              Un-SpecifiedCitation:
                              04-14-2015Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              permits at OFM within 7 days.
                              inspection. Submit as built plans, apply and pay for applicable
                              CORRECTIVE ACTION: Clean Air Testing replaced the drop tube during the
                              tube was tested and failed during the Overfill Prevention inspection.
                              Returned to compliance on 04/15/2019. OBSERVATION: The Flapper dropViolation Notes:
                              prevention equipment inspection for 36 months.
                              by a certified UST service technician. Maintain records of overfill
                              standards, or a method approved by a professional engineer. Inspected
                              an applicable manufacturer guidelines, industry codes, engineering
                              after a repair to the overfill prevention equipment. Inspected using
                              installation and every 36 months thereafter. Inspected within 30 days
                              USTs installed on and after October 1, 2018, perform an inspection at
                              inspection by October 13, 2018 and every 36 months thereafter. For
                              October 1, 2018. For USTs installed before October 1, 2018, perform an
                              prevention equipment is installed, repaired, or replaced on and after
                              overfill prevention equipment requirements when the overfill
                              equipment that does not use flow restrictors on vent piping to meet
                              product due to overfilling. Install/retrofit overfill prevention
                              none of the fittings located on the top of the tank are exposed to
                              capacity; or Provide positive shut-off of flow to the tank so that
                              flow to the tank when the tank is filled to no more than 95 percent of
                              minutes before the tank overfills; or Provide positive shut-off of
                              percent of capacity; and activate an audible alarm at least five
                              the restriction occurs when the tank is filled to no more than 95
                              to the tank at least 30 minutes before the tank overfills, provided
                              triggering an audible and visual alarm; or Restrict delivery of flow
                              the tank is 90 percent full by restricting the flow into the tank or
                              prevention equipment requirements: Alert the transfer operator when
                              Failure to comply with one or more of the following overfillViolation Description:
                              Chapter 16, Section(s) 2712(b)(1)(G)
                              23 CCR 16 2712(b)(1)(G) - California Code of Regulations, Title 23,Citation:
                              04-12-2019Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 04/14/2015. UPLOAD CORRECTIONS IN CERSViolation Notes:
                              Permit Application for Facility information and/or Tank information.
                              Failure to prepare, maintain, and submit accurate CUPA UST OperatingViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25286(a)

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 14

Item E - 712 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Failure of the UST system to be designed and constructed with aViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25291(b)
                              HSC 6.7 25291(b) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              04-10-2018Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              submitted on 5/10/2018. CB
                              DEFICIENCY; PIPING RUNS ARE NOT LISTED ON THE SITE PLAN. "CERS" update
                              Returned to compliance on 05/10/2018. MONITORING SITE PLAN HAS AViolation Notes:
                              Failure to submit a current UST Response Plan available on site.Violation Description:
                              2634(e), 2641(h)
                              Regulations, Title 23, Chapter 16, Section(s) 2712(i), 2632(d)(2),
                              23 CCR 16 2712(i), 2632(d)(2), 2634(e), 2641(h) - California Code ofCitation:
                              04-10-2018Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              letter on CERS within 30 days.
                              Certificate of Financial Responsibility and Chief Financial Officer
                              04/07/2020 and are expired. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Provide a current
                              Responsibility and Chief Financial Officer letter were both dated
                              document review, observed that the Certificate of Financial
                              Returned to compliance on 04/19/2021. OBSERVATION: At the time ofViolation Notes:
                              Financial Responsibility or other mechanism of financial assurance.
                              Failure to submit and maintain complete and current Certification ofViolation Description:
                              Chapter 6.75, Section(s) 25299.30-25299.34
                              HSC 6.75 25299.30-25299.34 - California Health and Safety Code,Citation:
                              04-16-2021Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              review submitted to CERS.
                              Returned to compliance on 03/22/2017. Incomplete Business Plan annualViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              02-22-2017Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              SIGN DATE AND SUBMIT
                              UST DOCUMENTATION( UST Monitoring Site Plan) TO CERS WITHIN 30 DAYS.

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 15

Item E - 713 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ACTION: Submit 3 years worth of manifests to this Division.
                              inspection, manifests were not made available for review. CORRECTIVE
                              Returned to compliance on 04/16/2020. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              designated facility which received the waste.
                              for transport shall be kept until receiving a signed copy from the
                              transporter. The manifest signed at the time the waste was accepted
                              three years from the date the waste was accepted by the initial
                              Failure to keep a copy of each properly signed manifest for at leastViolation Description:
                              Chapter 12, Section(s) 66262.40(a)
                              22 CCR 12 66262.40(a) - California Code of Regulations, Title 22,Citation:
                              03-23-2020Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              2632(d)) UPLOAD CORRECTIONS IN CERS
                              monitoring program with monitoring procedures and response plan. (CCR
                              Returned to compliance on 04/14/2015. Failure to have a writtenViolation Notes:
                              UST Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.7, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.7 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              04-17-2014Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              The ICC information on the Designated UST Compliance Form was expired.
                              TLS-350. 3) Provide an updated Designated UST Compliance Form on CERS.
                              map needs to indicate the Veeder Root panel as TLS-300C instead of
                              updated site map under the UST Monitoring Site Plan section. The new
                              Corrosion Protection section, say Yes to Isolation. 2) Provide an
                              CORRECTIVE ACTION: 1) In the UST Tank Information on CERS, under the
                              changes/updates need to be made on CERS. See Corrective Action.
                              Returned to compliance on 05/13/2019. OBSERVATION: The followingViolation Notes:
                              operate a UST, or for renewal of the permit.
                              Failure to submit a complete and accurate application for a permit toViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25284, 25286
                              HSC 6.7 25284, 25286 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              04-12-2019Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              the repairs had occurred on 4/13/2018. CB
                              Compliance documentation received on 6/26/2018 by email, stating that
                              RETEST DOCUMENTATION TO THIS AGENCY WITHIN THE SPECIFIED TIME.
                              DAMAGED BUCKET, LIKE FOR LIKE, AND SUBMIT THE WORK ORDER REPAIR AND
                              DURING TESTING; THE BUCKET HAS A TEAR IN THE LINING. REPLACE THE
                              Returned to compliance on 04/13/2018. THE FILL SPILL BUCKET FAILEDViolation Notes:
                              substance into the secondary containment.
                              monitoring system capable of detecting the entry of the hazardous

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 16

Item E - 714 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              HSC 6.75 25299.30-25299.34 - California Health and Safety Code,Citation:
                              04-12-2019Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              results received. Violation abated.
                              test results must be submitted within 30 days of testing. SB989 test
                              submitted on 09/19/2020. CORRECTIVE ACTION: The Secondary Containment
                              Containment test results were conducted on 06/08/2020 and were
                              Returned to compliance on 06/18/2021. OBSERVATION: The SecondaryViolation Notes:
                              days after the test.
                              the Secondary Containment Testing report Form to the UPA within 30
                              Failure to submit a copy of the secondary containment test results onViolation Description:
                              16, Section(s) 2637(f)
                              23 CCR 16 2637(f) - California Code of Regulations, Title 23, ChapterCitation:
                              06-18-2021Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              sensor correct to indicate VR 208 UPLOAD TO CERS
                              CORRECT THE FOLLOWING IN CERS WITHIN 30 DAYS: Piping monitoring leak
                              25286(a)) RTC- Verify correction in CERS TC ----MONITORING PLAN
                              monitoring program with monitoring procedures and response plan (CHSC
                              Returned to compliance on 05/06/2016. Failure to have a writtenViolation Notes:
                              Ordinance only
                              UST Program - Administration/Documentation - For use of LocalViolation Description:
                              Un-SpecifiedCitation:
                              04-11-2016Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              manifests to this Division.
                              available for review. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit 3 years worth of
                              inspection, 3 years worth of consolidated manifests were not made
                              Returned to compliance on 04/16/2020. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              of receipts for three years.
                              of the required consolidated manifesting procedures and retain copies
                              be transported on a consolidated manifest to comply with one or more
                              Failure of a generator of hazardous waste that meets the conditions toViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25160.2
                              HSC 6.5 25160.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              03-23-2020Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 17

Item E - 715 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Financial Responsibility or other mechanism of financial assurance.
                              Failure to submit and maintain complete and current Certification ofViolation Description:
                              Chapter 6.75, Section(s) 25299.30-25299.34
                              HSC 6.75 25299.30-25299.34 - California Health and Safety Code,Citation:
                              04-10-2018Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              disposal records from a licensed hazardous waste hauler.
                              remove the hazardous waste within 30 days and submit copies of
                              this inspection. If the waste is determined to be hazardous waste,
                              waste determination made with respect to the wastes identified during
                              documentation, including laboratory analysis (if appropriate) of the
                              manufacturing process. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit written
                              facility does not use this particular product as part of the
                              what the exact contents was inside the drums and confirmed that this
                              information on the drum. At time of inspection, Mr. Kelly did not know
                              the drums had a hazardous waste label, however there was no
                              other. Some of the drums were labeled as Rovene, a polymer. Some of
                              inspection, observed (16) 55 gal poly drums stacked on top of each
                              Returned to compliance on 04/16/2020. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              generator knowledge or applying testing method.
                              Failure to determine if wastes generated are hazardous waste by usingViolation Description:
                              12, Section(s) 66262.11
                              22 CCR 12 66262.11 - California Code of Regulations, Title 22, ChapterCitation:
                              03-23-2020Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              submitted on 5/10/2018. CB
                              INCORRECT; 1/14/1999 IS THE CORRECT INSTALL DATE. "CERS" update
                              Returned to compliance on 05/10/2018. UST INSTALLATION DATE WASViolation Notes:
                              operate a UST, or for renewal of the permit.
                              Failure to submit a complete and accurate application for a permit toViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25284, 25286
                              HSC 6.7 25284, 25286 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              04-10-2018Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              the expired forms.
                              Responsibility and Chief Financial Officer Letter on CERS. CERS had
                              CORRECTIVE ACTION: Provide an updated Certificate of Financial
                              changes/updates need to be made on CERS. See Corrective Action.
                              Returned to compliance on 05/13/2019. OBSERVATION: The followingViolation Notes:
                              Financial Responsibility or other mechanism of financial assurance.
                              Failure to submit and maintain complete and current Certification ofViolation Description:
                              Chapter 6.75, Section(s) 25299.30-25299.34

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 18

Item E - 716 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-10-2018Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              02-22-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              certification testing.
                              inspection. Inspection was conducted during the annual monitoring
                              On-site to conduct an Annual Underground Storage Tank (UST)Eval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-16-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              days.
                              the inspection. Advised tester to submit "as built" plans within 7
                              inspection. Clean Air Testing replaced the flapper drop tube during
                              Witnessed the OPE inspection. Flapper drop tube failed during theEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-12-2019Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              moisture from the annular space within 7 days. Provide a work order.
                              causing the sensor to go into alarm. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Remove
                              inspection, there was a small amount of moisture in the annular space
                              Returned to compliance on 05/14/2021. OBSERVATION: At the time ofViolation Notes:
                              installed on or after July 1, 2003.
                              Failure to keep water out of the secondary containment of UST systemsViolation Description:
                              Code, Chapter 6.7, Section(s) 25290.1(c)(3),25290.2(c)(3)
                              HSC 6.7 25290.1(c)(3),25290.2(c)(3) - California Health and SafetyCitation:
                              04-16-2021Violation Date:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              EXPIRED DATES (10/28/2017). "CERS" update submitted on 5/10/2018. CB
                              Returned to compliance on 05/10/2018. CFR AND CFO DOCUMENTS HAVEViolation Notes:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 19

Item E - 717 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-16-2021Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              WHOLESALE- UST INSPECTION ONLYEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-14-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              certification testing.
                              inspection. Inspection was conducted during the annual monitoring
                              On-site to conduct an Annual Underground Storage Tank (UST)Eval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-12-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-23-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              SB989 TESTEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              06-11-2014Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Western States Wholesale UST inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-17-2014Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 20

Item E - 718 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              NON INSPECTION RELATED REPORTEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              06-18-2021Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE- UST MONITORING CERTIFICATIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-14-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              CUPA UST INSPECTION WESTERN STATES WITH EMILY GRIMESEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-11-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-10-2018Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-23-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              02-22-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              inspection.
                              On-site to conduct an Annual Underground Storage Tank (UST)Eval Notes:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 21

Item E - 719 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              USTEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              04-17-2014Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1600 E FRANCIS AVESite Address:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              USTEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              04-14-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1600 E FRANCIS AVESite Address:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              USTEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              04-11-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1600 E FRANCIS AVESite Address:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              02-22-2017Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1600 E FRANCIS AVESite Address:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALESite Name:
                              85627Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 22

Item E - 720 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CaAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              P.O. Box 3340Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Western States WholesaleEntity Name:
                              UST Tank OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-0028,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              western States Wholesale, Inc.Entity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              AdminEntity Title:
                              Cindy JonesEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-0028,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CaAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              P.O. Box 3340Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Western States Wholesale IncEntity Name:
                              UST Property Owner NameAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              western States Wholesale, Inc.Entity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Cindy JonesEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 23

Item E - 721 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Randall & Robert HumphreysEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-0028,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 3340Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              HUMPHREYS, RANDALL & ROBERTEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 3340Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 3340Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              CINDY JONESEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-0028,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CaAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              P.O. Box 3340Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Western States Wholesale INc.Entity Name:
                              UST Tank OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-0028,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

TC7095824.2s   Page 24

Item E - 722 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (909) 947-0028,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              P.O. Box 3340Affiliation Address:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S101591618

                                   ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                   1600 E FRANCISAddress:
                                   WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIESName:
                                   http://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110002935049DFR URL:
                                   110002935049Registry ID:
                                   1024659444Envid:

ECHO:

Site 2 of 11 in cluster A

Actual:
865 ft.

 

Property ONTARIO, CA  91761
Target 1600 E FRANCIS    N/A
A2 ECHOWESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES 1024659444

                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              CINDY JONES ENVTL CLERKOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE SHOPOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                PO BOX 3340Mailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                CINDY.J@WSWCORP.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-947-0758Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-947-0028Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1420 S BON VIEW AVEContact Address:
                                                                                CINDY JONES ENVTL CLERKContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000152015EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5720Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1600 E FRANCIS STHandler Address:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIESHandler Name:
                                                                                19950313Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

Site 3 of 11 in cluster A

Actual:
865 ft.

 

Property ONTARIO, CA  91761
Target 1600 E FRANCIS ST CAL000152015
A3 RCRA NonGen / NLRWESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES 1024794616

TC7095824.2s   Page 25

Item E - 723 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) 1024794616

TC7095824.2s   Page 26

Item E - 724 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              BRICK, STONE, AND RELATED CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL WHOLESALERSNAICS Description:
                              42132NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIESHandler Name:
                                                            19950313Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-0028Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1420 S BON VIEW AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          CINDY JONES ENVTL CLERKOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-938-6506Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1512 S BON VIEW STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE SHOPOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) 1024794616

TC7095824.2s   Page 27

Item E - 725 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    -117.616427Longitude:
                    34.041649Latitude:
                    Not reportedCERSID:
                    SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYPermitting Agency:
                    86009962Facility ID:
                    ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                    1600 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                    PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

UST:

Site 4 of 11 in cluster A

Actual:
865 ft.

 

Property ONTARIO, CA  91761
Target 1600 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
A4 CA USTPATIO INDUSTRIES U003784853

                                        0.442Tons:
                                        01 -Disposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAL000113451TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000152015Gepaid:
                                        2007Year:

                                        PO BOX 3340Mailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099470028Telephone:
                                        CINDY JONES-ADMINContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917615720City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1600 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

HAZNET:

                                              0.0334875Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0.03525Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0.00282SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0.611NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0.1645Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              0.0329Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              0.077925153955Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              5039SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              23202Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              2012Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1600 E FRANCISAddress:
                                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE, INCName:

EMI:

Site 5 of 11 in cluster A

Actual:
865 ft.

 

Property CA HWTSONTARIO, CA  91761
Target CA HAZNET1600 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
A5 CA EMIWESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 28

Item E - 726 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        2003Year:

                                        1.445Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAL000113451TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000152015Gepaid:
                                        2004Year:

                                        0.627Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080033681TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000152015Gepaid:
                                        2004Year:

                                        0.2Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080033681TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000152015Gepaid:
                                        2004Year:

                                        0.0375Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        213 - Hydrocarbon solvents (benzene, hexane, Stoddard, Etc.)CA Waste Code:
                                        KYD053348108TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000152015Gepaid:
                                        2004Year:

                                        1.785Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAL000113451TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000152015Gepaid:
                                        2005Year:

                                        0.51Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAL000113451TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000152015Gepaid:
                                        2006Year:

                                        0.425Tons:
                                        -Disposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAL000113451TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000152015Gepaid:
                                        2006Year:

                                        0.34Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD009452657TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000152015Gepaid:
                                        2006Year:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 29

Item E - 727 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        90Waste Quantity:
                                        0.306Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22267905Manifest ID:
                                        20021216Receipt Date:
                                        3/27/2003 18:31:27Creation Date:
                                        20021216Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        34Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1428Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        22207262Manifest ID:
                                        20021220Receipt Date:
                                        4/2/2003 18:31:15Creation Date:
                                        20021220Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000152015Gen EPA ID:
                                        2002Year:

Additional Info:

17 additional CA HAZNET: record(s) in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

                                        0.1428Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        CAT000613927TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000152015Gepaid:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 30

Item E - 728 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=6tqQ6Rh1th4Sqe1HQMRW3LgiR4szh0FI1YyKAMg0hu8K4F9USc3C45Ibef7W1zdyHGZj3rZqM4NIRN.EWYwE4UdtLKoKgEUjihRf4kkr4p.ssZo9zuJ14aWb0HfeFNToI0SrAAcAYCsgyxJiK1w5CIF.Ms3fgWKE0ySs6Vc.tuhDqyUuQUz13jpnRFFehiR9154M9XkfhB.x4RprSI5s3cPEeIaC1PIzHcPWBF5CMXn6RCXiWjxz54COLeRqgtMWiJoH6tE94xGZsVxIz5wg5MSc0YP.F8lSIzwY5AZGYPH4ycEkKIW.63e8tnc7qajPQosu4a91R5eVh.Fb15aj39NohMgM4pdJSoa7AeqFehvq1pUOHSW736ynMEVgRKdpWKvCCx5TL6O0g0OxiEf98KB44y9UsTE4zaNsBKQP0yQaFCfTIvNk55DKYtKvyapPKR3z7K3KMpoUgWR805tp2UFjuUmV8UZ7KJGI5frnF0TB9Ux8UAdQvYOMcThD3KlyCPMK6AiNte6Dql86Q88g4eZPRBL4huho1uny3TWKh3He4n80Si5CVZHheHO71VK3Hb8J4WlDMN9CR0EYWV5.4h1VLkwJgi.0iR9x6.wr4chMsmrJzTkK3yK40QFuFIbxI7FNBC9wYzq.y0p0KwBn5WPGMF39ge0e0RD46TfEuNCv8ZaEKWTB3MK0FGHB9xkrUkIA9nW8c0x535ZNCyB.3
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=6tqQ6Rh1th4Sqe1HQMRW3LgiR4szh0FI1YyKAMg0hu8K4F9USc3C45Ibef7W1zdyHGZj3rZqM4NIRN.EWYwE4UdtLKoKgEUjihRf4kkr4p.ssZo9zuJ14aWb0HfeFNToI0SrAAcAYCsgyxJiK1w5CIF.Ms3fgWKE0ySs6Vc.tuhDqyUuQUz13jpnRFFehiR9154M9XkfhB.x4RprSI5s3cPEeIaC1PIzHcPWBF5CMXn6RCXiWjxz54COLeRqgtMWiJoH6tE94xGZsVxIz5wg5MSc0YP.F8lSIzwY5AZGYPH4ycEkKIW.63e8tnc7qajPQosu4a91R5eVh.Fb15aj39NohMgM4pdJSoa7AeqFehvq1pUOHSW736ynMEVgRKdpWKvCCx5TL6O0g0OxiEf98KB44y9UsTE4zaNsBKQP0yQaFCfTIvNk55DKYtKvyapPKR3z7K3KMpoUgWR805tp2UFjuUmV8UZ7KJGI5frnF0TB9Ux8UAdQvYOMcThD3KlyCPMK6AiNte6Dql86Q88g4eZPRBL4huho1uny3TWKh3He4n80Si5CVZHheHO71VK3Hb8J4WlDMN9CR0EYWV5.4h1VLkwJgi.0iR9x6.wr4chMsmrJzTkK3yK40QFuFIbxI7FNBC9wYzq.y0p0KwBn5WPGMF39ge0e0RD46TfEuNCv8ZaEKWTB3MK0FGHB9xkrUkIA9nW8c0x535ZNCyB.3


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        20021001Receipt Date:
                                        1/28/2003 18:31:46Creation Date:
                                        20021001Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        34Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1428Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        22192186Manifest ID:
                                        20021004Receipt Date:
                                        2/11/2003 18:31:24Creation Date:
                                        20021004Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        75Waste Quantity:
                                        0.255Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22268782Manifest ID:
                                        20021101Receipt Date:
                                        2/21/2003 10:41:38Creation Date:
                                        20021101Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 31

Item E - 729 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21737145Manifest ID:
                                        20020717Receipt Date:
                                        9/18/2002 18:31:39Creation Date:
                                        20020717Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        0.136Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        21438394Manifest ID:
                                        20020905Receipt Date:
                                        1/31/2003 15:02:08Creation Date:
                                        20020905Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        65Waste Quantity:
                                        0.221Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22268621Manifest ID:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 32

Item E - 730 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        0.136Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        21434708Manifest ID:
                                        20020612Receipt Date:
                                        7/19/2002 15:57:28Creation Date:
                                        20020612Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        70Waste Quantity:
                                        0.238Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        21354464Manifest ID:
                                        20020710Receipt Date:
                                        2/7/2003 18:31:14Creation Date:
                                        20020710Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        20Waste Quantity:
                                        0.084Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 33

Item E - 731 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        7/13/2007 18:30:12Creation Date:
                                        20061019Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        50Waste Quantity:
                                        0.17Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        001320051JJKManifest ID:
                                        20061221Receipt Date:
                                        10/24/2007 18:30:14Creation Date:
                                        20061221Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000152015Gen EPA ID:
                                        2006Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        60Waste Quantity:
                                        0.204Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        21434593Manifest ID:
                                        20020529Receipt Date:
                                        7/19/2002 15:54:46Creation Date:
                                        20020529Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 34

Item E - 732 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        24465001Manifest ID:
                                        20060413Receipt Date:
                                        12/21/2006 18:30:38Creation Date:
                                        20060413Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        70Waste Quantity:
                                        0.238Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        24458655Manifest ID:
                                        20060714Receipt Date:
                                        9/13/2006 18:30:23Creation Date:
                                        20060714Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        75Waste Quantity:
                                        0.255Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        001322269JJKManifest ID:
                                        20061019Receipt Date:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 35

Item E - 733 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        0.255Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        97427930Manifest ID:
                                        19991214Receipt Date:
                                        2/1/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19991214Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000152015Gen EPA ID:
                                        1999Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.34Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        24456953Manifest ID:
                                        20060209Receipt Date:
                                        5/5/2006 18:31:14Creation Date:
                                        20060209Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        80Waste Quantity:
                                        0.272Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 36

Item E - 734 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        19991012Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        90Waste Quantity:
                                        0.306Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        97427673Manifest ID:
                                        19991103Receipt Date:
                                        1/4/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19991103Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.102Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        97427876Manifest ID:
                                        19991201Receipt Date:
                                        1/19/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19991201Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        75Waste Quantity:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 37

Item E - 735 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        96294412Manifest ID:
                                        19990818Receipt Date:
                                        10/12/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19990818Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        0.136Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        99453989Manifest ID:
                                        19990913Receipt Date:
                                        10/26/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19990913Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        50Waste Quantity:
                                        0.17Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        99452185Manifest ID:
                                        19991012Receipt Date:
                                        11/22/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 38

Item E - 736 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        75Waste Quantity:
                                        0.255Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        97427634Manifest ID:
                                        19990630Receipt Date:
                                        8/16/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19990630Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.231Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD028409019TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000063809Trans EPA ID:
                                        99105838Manifest ID:
                                        19990729Receipt Date:
                                        9/21/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19990727Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        50Waste Quantity:
                                        0.17Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 39

Item E - 737 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAL000152015Gen EPA ID:
                                        2004Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        48Waste Quantity:
                                        0.2016Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        ILD984908202Trans EPA ID:
                                        98809359Manifest ID:
                                        19990511Receipt Date:
                                        7/7/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19990511Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        50Waste Quantity:
                                        0.17Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        96878538Manifest ID:
                                        19990601Receipt Date:
                                        7/19/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19990601Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 40

Item E - 738 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        23562635Manifest ID:
                                        20040804Receipt Date:
                                        11/5/2004 18:32:00Creation Date:
                                        20040804Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        65Waste Quantity:
                                        0.221Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        NONERCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        23564952Manifest ID:
                                        20040930Receipt Date:
                                        1/6/2005 18:32:03Creation Date:
                                        20040930Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        60Waste Quantity:
                                        0.204Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        NONERCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        23565120Manifest ID:
                                        20041208Receipt Date:
                                        2/17/2005 18:31:05Creation Date:
                                        20041208Shipment Date:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 41

Item E - 739 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        400Waste Quantity:
                                        0.2Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        NONERCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT080033681TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        DKE ENVIRONMENTALTrans Name:
                                        CAT080033681TSDF EPA ID:
                                        ERTTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000108209Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        WORLDWIDE RECOVERY SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000118455Trans EPA ID:
                                        23888187Manifest ID:
                                        20040803Receipt Date:
                                        1/11/2005 18:31:27Creation Date:
                                        20040721Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        110Waste Quantity:
                                        0.418Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        NONERCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT080033681TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        DKE ENVIRONMENTALTrans Name:
                                        CAT080033681TSDF EPA ID:
                                        ERTTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000108209Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        WORLDWIDE RECOVERY SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000118455Trans EPA ID:
                                        23888187Manifest ID:
                                        20040803Receipt Date:
                                        1/11/2005 18:31:27Creation Date:
                                        20040721Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        60Waste Quantity:
                                        0.204Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        NONERCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 42

Item E - 740 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        20040408Receipt Date:
                                        10/14/2004 7:35:58Creation Date:
                                        20040408Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        80Waste Quantity:
                                        0.272Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        23562424Manifest ID:
                                        20040610Receipt Date:
                                        10/29/2004 7:40:51Creation Date:
                                        20040610Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.209Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        NONERCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT080033681TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        DKE ENVIRONMENTALTrans Name:
                                        CAT080033681TSDF EPA ID:
                                        ERTTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000108209Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        WORLDWIDE RECOVERY SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000118455Trans EPA ID:
                                        23888187Manifest ID:
                                        20040803Receipt Date:
                                        1/11/2005 18:31:27Creation Date:
                                        20040721Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 43

Item E - 741 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        23563250Manifest ID:
                                        20040205Receipt Date:
                                        8/19/2004 11:23:49Creation Date:
                                        20040205Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        75Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0375Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        213 - Hydrocarbon solvents (benzene, hexane, Stoddard, etc.Waste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        KYD053348108TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        KYD053348108TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIAD TRANSPORT INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        OKD981588791Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        23009861Manifest ID:
                                        20040311Receipt Date:
                                        1/5/2007 18:31:00Creation Date:
                                        20040223Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        60Waste Quantity:
                                        0.204Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        23566127Manifest ID:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 44

Item E - 742 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        60Waste Quantity:
                                        0.204Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        20514199Manifest ID:
                                        20011016Receipt Date:
                                        12/17/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20011016Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        50Waste Quantity:
                                        0.17Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        21435748Manifest ID:
                                        20011129Receipt Date:
                                        1/16/2002 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20011129Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000152015Gen EPA ID:
                                        2001Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.34Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 45

Item E - 743 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        10/3/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010820Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        25Waste Quantity:
                                        0.105Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21116359Manifest ID:
                                        20010824Receipt Date:
                                        10/3/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010823Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        800Waste Quantity:
                                        0.4Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD004778742Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        TNR000009183Trans EPA ID:
                                        21073000Manifest ID:
                                        20010924Receipt Date:
                                        12/17/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010917Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 46

Item E - 744 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21130461Manifest ID:
                                        20010606Receipt Date:
                                        7/30/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010605Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        60Waste Quantity:
                                        0.204Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        20514007Manifest ID:
                                        20010712Receipt Date:
                                        8/24/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010712Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        80Waste Quantity:
                                        0.272Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        20508351Manifest ID:
                                        20010820Receipt Date:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 47

Item E - 745 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        60Waste Quantity:
                                        0.204Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        20508419Manifest ID:
                                        20010328Receipt Date:
                                        6/12/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010328Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        0.136Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        20508607Manifest ID:
                                        20010516Receipt Date:
                                        7/10/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010516Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        25Waste Quantity:
                                        0.105Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 48

Item E - 746 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        20051006Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.34Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        24456969Manifest ID:
                                        20051118Receipt Date:
                                        1/2/2007 18:30:08Creation Date:
                                        20051118Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000152015Gen EPA ID:
                                        2005Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        24Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1008Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20614720Manifest ID:
                                        20010315Receipt Date:
                                        5/16/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010314Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 49

Item E - 747 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        24460848Manifest ID:
                                        20050513Receipt Date:
                                        8/24/2005 7:27:35Creation Date:
                                        20050513Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.34Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        24464182Manifest ID:
                                        20050728Receipt Date:
                                        10/11/2005 18:32:36Creation Date:
                                        20050728Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.34Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        24458298Manifest ID:
                                        20051006Receipt Date:
                                        3/12/2006 18:30:40Creation Date:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 50

Item E - 748 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        25Waste Quantity:
                                        0.085Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        NONERCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        23565298Manifest ID:
                                        20050106Receipt Date:
                                        3/16/2005 18:31:03Creation Date:
                                        20050106Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        110Waste Quantity:
                                        0.374Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        NONERCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        24067086Manifest ID:
                                        20050316Receipt Date:
                                        6/2/2005 18:30:59Creation Date:
                                        20050316Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        90Waste Quantity:
                                        0.306Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        NONERCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 51

Item E - 749 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        95Waste Quantity:
                                        0.323Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981694664Trans EPA ID:
                                        98048646Manifest ID:
                                        19981119Receipt Date:
                                        1/13/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19981119Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        35Waste Quantity:
                                        0.119Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981694664Trans EPA ID:
                                        98836947Manifest ID:
                                        19981221Receipt Date:
                                        2/8/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19981221Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000152015Gen EPA ID:
                                        1998Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 52

Item E - 750 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981694664Trans EPA ID:
                                        98047910Manifest ID:
                                        19980827Receipt Date:
                                        11/2/1998 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19980827Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        50Waste Quantity:
                                        0.17Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981694664Trans EPA ID:
                                        98047841Manifest ID:
                                        19980916Receipt Date:
                                        11/5/1998 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19980916Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        50Waste Quantity:
                                        0.17Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981694664Trans EPA ID:
                                        96871559Manifest ID:
                                        19981013Receipt Date:
                                        12/8/1998 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19981013Shipment Date:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 53

Item E - 751 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        0.136Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981694664Trans EPA ID:
                                        98050312Manifest ID:
                                        19980707Receipt Date:
                                        9/3/1998 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19980707Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        70Waste Quantity:
                                        0.238Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981694664Trans EPA ID:
                                        98050032Manifest ID:
                                        19980731Receipt Date:
                                        10/1/1998 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19980731Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        75Waste Quantity:
                                        0.255Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 54

Item E - 752 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        19980603Receipt Date:
                                        8/3/1998 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19980603Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        225Waste Quantity:
                                        0.765Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981694664Trans EPA ID:
                                        96870714Manifest ID:
                                        19980619Receipt Date:
                                        9/3/1998 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19980619Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.102Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981694664Trans EPA ID:
                                        96870774Manifest ID:
                                        19980629Receipt Date:
                                        9/3/1998 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19980629Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 55

Item E - 753 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        20498662Manifest ID:
                                        20001120Receipt Date:
                                        1/9/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20001120Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        24Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1008Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20381135Manifest ID:
                                        20001220Receipt Date:
                                        3/5/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20001220Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000152015Gen EPA ID:
                                        2000Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.34Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981694664Trans EPA ID:
                                        96870578Manifest ID:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 56

Item E - 754 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        21Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0882Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        SCR000074591Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20523377Manifest ID:
                                        20000925Receipt Date:
                                        12/8/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000925Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.102Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        20515073Manifest ID:
                                        20001012Receipt Date:
                                        12/8/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20001012Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.34Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 57

Item E - 755 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        8/28/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000719Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        24Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1008Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20022908Manifest ID:
                                        20000814Receipt Date:
                                        10/23/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000814Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.187Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        20514818Manifest ID:
                                        20000911Receipt Date:
                                        10/23/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000911Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 58

Item E - 756 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        99447091Manifest ID:
                                        20000609Receipt Date:
                                        8/1/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000609Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.102Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        96294714Manifest ID:
                                        20000630Receipt Date:
                                        8/14/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000630Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        0.136Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        96294674Manifest ID:
                                        20000719Receipt Date:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 59

Item E - 757 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        0.238Quantity Tons:
                                        01 - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        001986222JJKManifest ID:
                                        20070723Receipt Date:
                                        2/5/2008 18:30:06Creation Date:
                                        20070723Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000152015Gen EPA ID:
                                        2007Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        25Waste Quantity:
                                        0.105Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        ILD984908202Trans EPA ID:
                                        20003985Manifest ID:
                                        20000524Receipt Date:
                                        7/12/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000524Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        25Waste Quantity:
                                        0.085Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 60

Item E - 758 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        70Waste Quantity:
                                        0.238Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22268133Manifest ID:
                                        20031230Receipt Date:
                                        8/30/2004 14:52:16Creation Date:
                                        20031230Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000152015Gen EPA ID:
                                        2003Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        60Waste Quantity:
                                        0.204Quantity Tons:
                                        01 - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        001981839JJKManifest ID:
                                        20070404Receipt Date:
                                        12/10/2007 18:30:24Creation Date:
                                        20070404Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        70Waste Quantity:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 61

Item E - 759 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22274417Manifest ID:
                                        20030827Receipt Date:
                                        7/28/2004 10:48:03Creation Date:
                                        20030827Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.34Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22274707Manifest ID:
                                        20031008Receipt Date:
                                        8/3/2004 7:33:04Creation Date:
                                        20031008Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        70Waste Quantity:
                                        0.238Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ROMIC ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22269366Manifest ID:
                                        20031112Receipt Date:
                                        8/20/2004 8:27:39Creation Date:
                                        20031112Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 62

Item E - 760 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22268976Manifest ID:
                                        20030627Receipt Date:
                                        7/22/2004 7:51:02Creation Date:
                                        20030627Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        35Waste Quantity:
                                        0.119Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22269081Manifest ID:
                                        20030718Receipt Date:
                                        7/23/2004 9:16:48Creation Date:
                                        20030718Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        50Waste Quantity:
                                        0.17Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 63

Item E - 761 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        34Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1428Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        22437676Manifest ID:
                                        20030313Receipt Date:
                                        3/16/2007 18:30:41Creation Date:
                                        20030313Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        90Waste Quantity:
                                        0.306Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22271865Manifest ID:
                                        20030424Receipt Date:
                                        7/12/2003 18:31:23Creation Date:
                                        20030424Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        80Waste Quantity:
                                        0.272Quantity Tons:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 64

Item E - 762 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        03/13/1995Create Date:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        CAL000152015EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1600 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

HWTS:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        90Waste Quantity:
                                        0.306Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22272212Manifest ID:
                                        20030205Receipt Date:
                                        5/18/2003 14:28:17Creation Date:
                                        20030205Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        90Waste Quantity:
                                        0.306Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000113451Trans EPA ID:
                                        22272370Manifest ID:
                                        20030306Receipt Date:
                                        5/18/2003 14:34:25Creation Date:
                                        20030306Shipment Date:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

TC7095824.2s   Page 65

Item E - 763 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        917615720Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1600 E FRANCIS STFacility Address:
                                        WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIESFacility Name:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        1995-03-13 00:00:00Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Brick, Stone, and Related Construction Material WholesalersNAICS Description:
                                        42132NAICS Code:
                                        2006-11-27 18:30:15.000Create Date:
                                        CAL000152015EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.619816Longitude:
                                        34.041272Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1420 S BON VIEW AVEContact Address:
                                        CINDY JONES   ENVTL CLERKContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1420 S. BON VIEW AVENUEOwner Address:
                                        WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE SHOPOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1420 S. BON VIEW AVENUEMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S113082306

                                                  Tank ClosureHow Discovered:
                                                  Not reportedFunding:
                                                  Not reportedEnf Type:
                                                  BAKERCross Street:
                                                  Not reportedAbate Method:
                                                  Not reportedQty Leaked:
                                                  DieselSubstance:
                                                  Soil onlyCase Type:
                                                  99016Local Case Num:
                                                  083603374TCase Number:
                                                  Leak being confirmedFacility Status:
                                                  Santa Ana RegionRegional Board:
                                                  San BernardinoCounty:
                                                  8Region:
                                                  ONTARIOCity:
                                                  1600 FRANCIS STAddress:
                                                  PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

LUST REG 8:

Site 6 of 11 in cluster A
CA CERS

Actual:
865 ft.

 

Property CA CIWQSONTARIO, CA  91761
Target CA NPDES1600 FRANCIS ST    N/A
A6 CA LUSTPATIO INDUSTRIES S106784797

TC7095824.2s   Page 66

Item E - 764 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I020616WDID:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        317780Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        8Region:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1600 FRANCISAddress:
                                        WESTERN STATES WHOLESALEName:

NPDES:

Not reportedSummary:
                                                  Not reportedWork Suspended:
                                                  Not reportedCleanup Fund Id:
                                                  Not reportedPriority:
                                                  Not reportedBeneficial:
                                                  UPPER SANTA ANA VALLHydr Basin #:
                                                  36000LLocal Agency:
                                                  Local AgencyLead Agency:
                                                  CR2Staff Initials:
                                                  TMEStaff:
                                                  *MTBE Class:
                                                  Not Required to be Tested.MTBE Tested:
                                                  0MTBE Fuel:
                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE Soil:
                                                  0MTBE Concentration:
                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE GW:
                                                  Not reportedMTBE Date:
                                                  -117.6183685Longitude:
                                                  34.0411858Latitude:
                                                  LUSTOversite Program:
                                                  Not reportedInterim:
                                                  Not reportedFacility Contact:
                                                  Not reportedOperator:
                                                  Not reportedSoil Qualifies:
                                                  Not reportedGW Qualifies:
                                                  3/19/1999Enter Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Post Remedial Action Monitoring:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remedial Action Underway:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remediation Plan Submitted:
                                                  Not reportedDate Pollution Characterization Began:
                                                  Not reportedDate Prelim Assessment Workplan Submitted:
                                                  Not reportedClose Date:
                                                  Not reportedEnforcement Date:
                                                  12/15/1998Discover Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Preliminary Assessment Began:
                                                  12/15/1998Date Confirmation of Leak Began:
                                                  3/19/1999Enter Date:
                                                  12/15/1998How Stopped Date:
                                                  T0607100542Global ID:
                                                  Other SourceLeak Source:
                                                  UNKLeak Cause:
                                                  Not reportedHow Stopped:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S106784797

TC7095824.2s   Page 67

Item E - 765 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Cindy.j@wswcorp.comOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-0028Operator Contact Phone:
                                        adminOperator Contact Title:
                                        Cindy Jones JonesOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        PO Box 3340Operator Address:
                                        Western States WholesaleOperator Name:
                                        Cindy.J@wswcorp.comContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-0028Contact Phone:
                                        Environmental DirectorContact Title:
                                        Dewayne SmithContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        5Place Size:
                                        01/02/2007Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        01/02/2007Processed Date:
                                        05/09/2008Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36I020616WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        317780Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        Western States WholesaleDischarge Name:
                                        PO Box 3340Discharge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        01/02/2007Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S106784797

TC7095824.2s   Page 68

Item E - 766 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        PO Box 3340Discharge Address:
                                        Western States WholesaleDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        01/02/2007Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        8 36I020616WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        317780Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        3272-Concrete Products, Except Block and BrickPrimary Sic:
                                        22-JUN-15Certification Date:
                                        AdminCertifier Title:
                                        Cindy Jones JonesCertifier:
                                        Santa Ana RiverReceiving Water Name:
                                        NDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-0028Emergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S106784797

TC7095824.2s   Page 69

Item E - 767 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        WESTERN STATES WHOLESALEName:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S106784797

TC7095824.2s   Page 70

Item E - 768 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        909-947-0028Contact Phone:
                                        Environmental DirectorContact Title:
                                        Dewayne SmithContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        5Place Size:
                                        01/02/2007Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        01/02/2007Processed Date:
                                        05/09/2008Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36I020616WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        317780Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        PO Box 3340Operator Address:
                                        Western States WholesaleOperator Name:
                                        01/02/2007Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I020616WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1600 FRANCISAddress:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S106784797

TC7095824.2s   Page 71

Item E - 769 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        8 36I020616WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        317780Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        3272-Concrete Products, Except Block and BrickPrimary Sic:
                                        22-JUN-15Certification Date:
                                        AdminCertifier Title:
                                        Cindy Jones JonesCertifier:
                                        Santa Ana RiverReceiving Water Name:
                                        NDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-0028Emergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        Cindy.j@wswcorp.comOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-0028Operator Contact Phone:
                                        adminOperator Contact Title:
                                        Cindy Jones JonesOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        PO Box 3340Operator Address:
                                        Western States WholesaleOperator Name:
                                        Cindy.J@wswcorp.comContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S106784797

TC7095824.2s   Page 72

Item E - 770 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        PO Box 3340Discharge Address:
                                        Western States WholesaleDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        01/02/2007Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S106784797

TC7095824.2s   Page 73

Item E - 771 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        11/04/2002Termination Date:
                                        02/02/1996Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36I012126WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        TerminatedRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        3272SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Concrete Products, Except Block and BrickPlace/Project Type:
                                        PO Box 3340, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        Humphreys, Randall & RobertAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1600 FRANCISAddress:
                                        WESTERN STATES WHOLESALEName:

                                        -117.61981Longitude:
                                        34.04127Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date:
                                        01/02/2007Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36I020616WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        ActiveRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        3272SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Concrete Products, Except Block and BrickPlace/Project Type:
                                        PO Box 3340, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        Western States WholesaleAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1600 FRANCISAddress:
                                        WESTERN STATES WHOLESALEName:

CIWQS:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S106784797

TC7095824.2s   Page 74

Item E - 772 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1600 FRANCISSite Address:
                              Western States WholesaleSite Name:
                              546666Site ID:

                              SMARTS,Enf Action Source:
                              INDSTWEnf Action Program:
                              Water BoardsEnf Action Division:
                              13385-FTS ANNUAL REPORTEnf Action Notes:
                              Industrial Storm Water EnforcementEnf Action Description:
                              Industrial Storm Water EnforcementEnf Action Type:
                              02-02-1998Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1600 FRANCISSite Address:
                              Western States WholesaleSite Name:
                              546666Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              SMARTS,Violation Source:
                              INDSTWViolation Program:
                              Water BoardsViolation Division:
                              Non-submittal of Annual Report. Due 7//1/1999Violation Notes:
                              SW - Deficient ReportViolation Description:
                              2014-0057-DWQ - Industrial General PermitCitation:
                              07-02-1999Violation Date:
                              Western States WholesaleSite Name:
                              546666Site ID:

                              SMARTS,Violation Source:
                              INDSTWViolation Program:
                              Water BoardsViolation Division:
                              No SWPPP onsite.Violation Notes:
                              SW - Deficient BMP ImplementationViolation Description:
                              2014-0057-DWQ - Industrial General PermitCitation:
                              05-17-2001Violation Date:
                              Western States WholesaleSite Name:
                              546666Site ID:

Violations:

                              Industrial Facility Storm WaterCERS Description:
                              259122CERS ID:
                              546666Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1600 FRANCISAddress:
                              WESTERN STATES WHOLESALEName:

CERS:

                                        -117.61981Longitude:
                                        34.04127Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S106784797

TC7095824.2s   Page 75

Item E - 773 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              PO Box 3340Affiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              Western States WholesaleEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              PO Box 3340Affiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              Humphreys, Randall & RobertEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              SMARTS,Enf Action Source:
                              INDSTWEnf Action Program:
                              Water BoardsEnf Action Division:
                              N/AEnf Action Notes:
                              Staff Enforcement LetterEnf Action Description:
                              Staff Enforcement LetterEnf Action Type:
                              07-19-2001Enf Action Date:

PATIO INDUSTRIES  (Continued) S106784797

                                        ONTARIO, CACity,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1600 E FRANCISContact Address:
                                        GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALERContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CAOwner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1600 E FRANCISOwner Address:
                                        GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALEROwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1420 S BON VIEWMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        06/18/2004Create Date:
                                        06/30/2004Inactive Date:
                                        CAR000070128EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1600 E FRANCISAddress:
                                        GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALERName:

HWTS:

Site 7 of 11 in cluster A

Actual:
865 ft.

 

Property ONTARIO, CA  91761
Target 1600 E FRANCIS    N/A
A7 CA HWTSGREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALER S124944723

TC7095824.2s   Page 76

Item E - 774 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        -117.619816Longitude:
                                        34.041272Latitude:
                                        FEDERALCategory:
                                        TEMPORARYFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:

GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALER  (Continued) S124944723

                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                Not reportedOperator Type:
                              Not reportedOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALEROwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1420 S BON VIEWMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                PrivateLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-673-0366Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1420 S BON VIEWContact Address:
                                                                                BRIAN BAMBORERContact Name:
                                                                                CAR000070128EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1600 E FRANCISHandler Address:
                              GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALERHandler Name:
                                                                                20000411Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-SQG:

Site 8 of 11 in cluster A

Actual:
865 ft.

 

Property ONTARIO, CA  91761
Target FINDS1600 E FRANCIS CAR000070128
A8 RCRA-SQGGREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALER 1001967523

TC7095824.2s   Page 77

Item E - 775 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            1420 S BON VIEWOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALEROwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                              TETRACHLOROETHYLENEWaste Description:
                              D039Waste Code:

                              BENZENEWaste Description:
                              D018Waste Code:

                              Not DefinedWaste Description:
                              D000Waste Code:

Hazardous Waste Summary:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20021007Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:

GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALER  (Continued) 1001967523

TC7095824.2s   Page 78

Item E - 776 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

OSHA ESTABLISHMENT
discharge does not adversely affect water quality.
requirements, and include other provisions to ensure that the
limits on what can be discharged, impose monitoring and reporting
States are required to obtain a permit. The permit will likely contain
discharge pollutants from any point source into waters of the United
issued under the Clean Water Act. Under NPDES, all facilities that
the Compliance Information System (ICIS) tracks surface water permits
US National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) module of
corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of
RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource
facilities.
generators, transporters, and treatment, storage, and disposal
provides California with information on hazardous waste shipments for
California Hazardous Waste Tracking System - Datamart (HWTS-DATAMART)

Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110002935049Registry ID:
FINDS:

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                                                            No NAICS Codes FoundNAICS Codes:
List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALERHandler Name:
                                                            20000411Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-0028Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:

GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALER  (Continued) 1001967523

TC7095824.2s   Page 79

Item E - 777 of 2173

https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110002935049


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

additional FINDS: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

STATE MASTER

GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALER  (Continued) 1001967523

2001     PATIO INDUSTRIES     1600 FRANCIS ST
ONTARIOState:
ONTARIOCity:
1600 FRANCIS STAddress:
PATIO INDUSTRIESName:
2002     PATIO INDUSTRIES     1600 FRANCIS ST
ONTARIOState:
ONTARIOCity:
1600 FRANCIS STAddress:
PATIO INDUSTRIESName:
2003     PATIO INDUSTRIES     1600 FRANCIS ST
ONTARIOState:
ONTARIOCity:
1600 FRANCIS STAddress:
PATIO INDUSTRIESName:
2005     PATIO INDUSTRIES     1600 FRANCIS ST
ONTARIOState:
ONTARIOCity:
1600 FRANCIS STAddress:
PATIO INDUSTRIESName:
2006     PATIO INDUSTRIES     1600 FRANCIS ST
ONTARIOState:
ONTARIOCity:
1600 FRANCIS STAddress:
PATIO INDUSTRIESName:
2007     PATIO INDUSTRIES     1600 FRANCIS ST
ONTARIOState:
ONTARIOCity:
1600 FRANCIS STAddress:
PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

RGA LUST:

Site 9 of 11 in cluster A

Actual:
865 ft.

 

Property ONTARIO, CA  
Target 1600 FRANCIS ST    N/A
A9 CA RGA LUSTPATIO INDUSTRIES S114667468

                    34.040306Latitude:
                    10042990CERSID:
                    San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentPermitting Agency:
                    FA0005249Facility ID:
                    ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                    1600 E FRANCIS AVEAddress:
                    WESTERN STATES WHOLESALEName:

UST:

Site 10 of 11 in cluster A

Actual:
865 ft.

 

Property ONTARIO, CA  91761
Target 1600 E FRANCIS AVE    N/A
A10 CA USTWESTERN STATES WHOLESALE U004263876

TC7095824.2s   Page 80

Item E - 778 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=60sC6KSN0T1jsEdVCy583wFHKZEASaWwNuFwAzxXT4o41iaujVMq4C6fEQKXdQb5VvVL3PkkyTPx5OA.80Zw4LbZwa4JFarEHvi.4zEBZKJaE9bqAg634cuwap4LWfgrw8zjAiLjuvtxFeGOwwCpCtYazdpcxYIAXVkJ6Jka0ennsBveCMJe3jULKZPnSDnMNhHz9hVJTKza1FPNjiTN3jhQEVEudJjwVNKfBSHFybuv5pmn8zzW5d.WwKOfFJYYH17G6itQZB1SEDGNA9kl51DwaRPeW0NUwBik5SERu1KYFlMQwyKW6hjD0v0vsU0QC4vP4oHhK4caScDBNL6P3s1zTvc51V5Oj98DAjUcECY1diymVUiz3oBbyi6H5LpG8mUyCZ.mwmHEFx3nHw6N8YDoZtYfE5dfAY9ABJYbaimiW7x0wlNi5n5BuLYlFLHswIrp7OXDzkPIxtsLX.982Sjp4mgloLi44I.q5GgWiH8Pa8szu4Jdv53WVeDIM9nYqJ8D6mae0CT3sBJDCDGx4iqSK116SVPvNVt83wK6T6XT1FTVjEWp4eZ6EqfidSZDVsnE3kCGykvv5NO38rtc3BFtwE3vFdORH6EW4KnuZy0LEGpoAGt3Cn45aWUtWj6RwnVV94hVurQSFBLvwtnnAB90z4qTxbOzXH6O8kGh4yUEoWJC4rTu5OWeieijadGWuhNh60KwVUCRMEuGq5mn3
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=60sC6KSN0T1jsEdVCy583wFHKZEASaWwNuFwAzxXT4o41iaujVMq4C6fEQKXdQb5VvVL3PkkyTPx5OA.80Zw4LbZwa4JFarEHvi.4zEBZKJaE9bqAg634cuwap4LWfgrw8zjAiLjuvtxFeGOwwCpCtYazdpcxYIAXVkJ6Jka0ennsBveCMJe3jULKZPnSDnMNhHz9hVJTKza1FPNjiTN3jhQEVEudJjwVNKfBSHFybuv5pmn8zzW5d.WwKOfFJYYH17G6itQZB1SEDGNA9kl51DwaRPeW0NUwBik5SERu1KYFlMQwyKW6hjD0v0vsU0QC4vP4oHhK4caScDBNL6P3s1zTvc51V5Oj98DAjUcECY1diymVUiz3oBbyi6H5LpG8mUyCZ.mwmHEFx3nHw6N8YDoZtYfE5dfAY9ABJYbaimiW7x0wlNi5n5BuLYlFLHswIrp7OXDzkPIxtsLX.982Sjp4mgloLi44I.q5GgWiH8Pa8szu4Jdv53WVeDIM9nYqJ8D6mae0CT3sBJDCDGx4iqSK116SVPvNVt83wK6T6XT1FTVjEWp4eZ6EqfidSZDVsnE3kCGykvv5NO38rtc3BFtwE3vFdORH6EW4KnuZy0LEGpoAGt3Cn45aWUtWj6RwnVV94hVurQSFBLvwtnnAB90z4qTxbOzXH6O8kGh4yUEoWJC4rTu5OWeieijadGWuhNh60KwVUCRMEuGq5mn3


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    -117.61779Longitude:

WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE  (Continued) U004263876

2008     PATIO INDUSTRIES     1600 E FRANCIS ST
ONTARIOState:
ONTARIOCity:
1600 E FRANCIS STAddress:
PATIO INDUSTRIESName:
2009     PATIO INDUSTRIES     1600 E FRANCIS ST
ONTARIOState:
ONTARIOCity:
1600 E FRANCIS STAddress:
PATIO INDUSTRIESName:
2010     PATIO INDUSTRIES     1600 E FRANCIS ST
ONTARIOState:
ONTARIOCity:
1600 E FRANCIS STAddress:
PATIO INDUSTRIESName:
2011     PATIO INDUSTRIES     1600 E FRANCIS ST
ONTARIOState:
ONTARIOCity:
1600 E FRANCIS STAddress:
PATIO INDUSTRIESName:
2012     PATIO INDUSTRIES     1600 E FRANCIS ST
ONTARIOState:
ONTARIOCity:
1600 E FRANCIS STAddress:
PATIO INDUSTRIESName:

RGA LUST:

Site 11 of 11 in cluster A

Actual:
865 ft.

 

Property ONTARIO, CA  
Target 1600 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
A11 CA RGA LUSTPATIO INDUSTRIES S114667467

03/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0017459Permit Number:
LOPEZ JAMESOwner:
FA0010275Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1616 E FRANCIS ST UNIT BAddress:
DIVERSIFAB, INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

60 ft. Site 1 of 14 in cluster B
0.011 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
NE 1616 E FRANCIS ST UNIT B    N/A
B12 CA San Bern. Co. PermitDIVERSIFAB, INC S107592093

TC7095824.2s   Page 81

Item E - 779 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

04/30/1997Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0008462Permit Number:
ROBERT BARRETT ENTERPOwner:
FA0005761Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1616 E FRANCIS STAddress:
ROBERT BARRETT ENTERPName:

04/30/1997Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:
PT0008461Permit Number:
ROBERT BARRETT ENTERPOwner:
FA0005761Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1616 E FRANCIS STAddress:
ROBERT BARRETT ENTERPName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        ONTARIOOperator City:
                                        1616 E FRANCIS ST STE DOperator Address:
                                        ELEMENTS OF STYLEOperator Name:
                                        03/09/2020Status Date:
                                        NONA SubmittedStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36NNA000519WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1616 E FRANCIS ST STE DAddress:
                                        ELEMENTS OF STYLEName:

NPDES:

60 ft. Site 2 of 14 in cluster B
0.011 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
NE CA San Bern. Co. Permit1616 E FRANCIS ST STE D    N/A
B13 CA NPDESELEMENTS OF STYLE S102681285

TC7095824.2s   Page 82

Item E - 780 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Gasoline Service Stations2010     ONE STOP
                                                            Automotive Repair Shops, NEC1982     WESTERN FAN CLUTCH
                                                            Type:Year:    Name:

EDR Hist Auto

60 ft. Site 3 of 14 in cluster B
0.011 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
NE 1616 FRANCIS    N/A
B14 EDR Hist AutoWESTERN FAN CLUTCH 1020138728

                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              LARRY GILLIAMOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              LARRY GILLIAMOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-8309Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1601 FREMONT CTMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                LARRYDGILLIAM@VERIZON.NETContact Email:
                                                                                909-947-0100Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-947-4867Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1601 FREMONT CTContact Address:
                                                                                LARRY GILLIAMContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000390237EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-8309Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1601 FREMONT CTHandler Address:
                              EXCEL INDUSTRIES INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20131015Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

100 ft. Site 1 of 9 in cluster C
0.019 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
863 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1601 FREMONT CT CAL000390237
C15 RCRA NonGen / NLREXCEL INDUSTRIES INC 1024840917

TC7095824.2s   Page 83

Item E - 781 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-4867Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1601 FREMONT CTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          LARRY GILLIAMOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180906Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC  (Continued) 1024840917

TC7095824.2s   Page 84

Item E - 782 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              SURGICAL AND MEDICAL INSTRUMENT MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              339112NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          EXCEL INDUSTRIES INCHandler Name:
                                                            20131015Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-4867Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-8309Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1601 FREMONT CTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          LARRY GILLIAMOwner/Operator Name:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC  (Continued) 1024840917

                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1601 FREMONT COURTAddress:
                                        EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.Name:

NPDES:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10487821CERS ID:
                              29031Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1601 FREMONT CTAddress:
                              EXCEL INDUSTRIES, INC.Name:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

100 ft. CA CERSSite 2 of 9 in cluster C
0.019 mi. CA CIWQS

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
863 ft.

 

< 1/8 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
SE CA NPDES1601 FREMONT COURT    N/A
C16 CA CERS HAZ WASTEEXCEL INDUSTRIES INC. S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 85

Item E - 783 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        EXCEL INDUSTRIES INCOperator Name:
                                        EXCELIND@VERIZON.NETContact Email:
                                        223Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-4867Contact Phone:
                                        PRESIDENTContact Title:
                                        LARRY GILLIAMContact:
                                        SqFtPlace Size Unit:
                                        32428Place Size:
                                        07/08/2016Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        07/08/2016Processed Date:
                                        06/30/2016Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36NEC002240WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        474757Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        ONTARIOOperator City:
                                        1601 FREMONT COURTOperator Address:
                                        EXCEL INDUSTRIES INCOperator Name:
                                        07/08/2016Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36NEC002240WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 86

Item E - 784 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        07/08/2016Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        8 36NEC002240WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        474757Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        3469-Metal Stamping, NECPrimary Sic:
                                        30-JUN-16Certification Date:
                                        SECT TREASCertifier Title:
                                        KATHY GILLIAMCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        951-212-9177Emergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        EXCELIND@VERIZON.NETOperator Contact Email:
                                        223Operator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-4867Operator Contact Phone:
                                        PRESIDENTOperator Contact Title:
                                        LARRY GILLIAMOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        ONTARIOOperator City:
                                        1601 FREMONT COURTOperator Address:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 87

Item E - 785 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        ONTARIODischarge City:
                                        1601 FREMONT COURTDischarge Address:
                                        EXCEL INDUSTRIES INCDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 88

Item E - 786 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36NEC002240WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        474757Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        ONTARIODischarge City:
                                        EXCEL INDUSTRIES INCDischarge Name:
                                        1601 FREMONT COURTDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        07/08/2016Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36NEC002240WDID:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        474757Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        8Region:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1601 FREMONT COURTAddress:
                                        EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.Name:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 89

Item E - 787 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        3469-Metal Stamping, NECPrimary Sic:
                                        30-JUN-16Certification Date:
                                        SECT TREASCertifier Title:
                                        KATHY GILLIAMCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        951-212-9177Emergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        EXCELIND@VERIZON.NETOperator Contact Email:
                                        223Operator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-4867Operator Contact Phone:
                                        PRESIDENTOperator Contact Title:
                                        LARRY GILLIAMOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        ONTARIOOperator City:
                                        1601 FREMONT COURTOperator Address:
                                        EXCEL INDUSTRIES INCOperator Name:
                                        EXCELIND@VERIZON.NETContact Email:
                                        223Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-4867Contact Phone:
                                        PRESIDENTContact Title:
                                        LARRY GILLIAMContact:
                                        SqFtPlace Size Unit:
                                        32428Place Size:
                                        07/08/2016Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        07/08/2016Processed Date:
                                        06/30/2016Received Date:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 90

Item E - 788 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        ONTARIODischarge City:
                                        1601 FREMONT COURTDischarge Address:
                                        EXCEL INDUSTRIES INCDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        07/08/2016Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        8 36NEC002240WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        474757Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 91

Item E - 789 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        ActiveRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        3469SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Metal Stamping, NECPlace/Project Type:
                                        1601 FREMONT COURT, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        EXCEL INDUSTRIES INCAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1601 FREMONT COURTAddress:
                                        EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.Name:

CIWQS:

03/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0030499Permit Number:
LARRY GILLLIAMOwner:
FA0015315Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1601 FREMONT CTAddress:
EXCEL INDUSTRIES, INC.Name:

03/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0030497Permit Number:
LARRY GILLLIAMOwner:
FA0015315Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1601 FREMONT CTAddress:
EXCEL INDUSTRIES, INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 92

Item E - 790 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              manifest receipts for waste coolant and used oil were observed missing
                              Returned to compliance on 03/27/2020. OBSERVATION: ConsolidatedViolation Notes:
                              of receipts for three years.
                              of the required consolidated manifesting procedures and retain copies
                              be transported on a consolidated manifest to comply with one or more
                              Failure of a generator of hazardous waste that meets the conditions toViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25160.2
                              HSC 6.5 25160.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              03-03-2020Violation Date:
                              Excel Industries, Inc.Site Name:
                              29031Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              ID 10487821.
                              an updated hazardous materials inventory via CERS within 30 days. CERS
                              inventory submitted via CERS on 2-27-2019. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit
                              drum of waste coolant which was not indicated on hazardous materials
                              inspection, observed (1) 30 gallon drum of used oil and (1) 30 gallon
                              Returned to compliance on 03/27/2020. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              requires modification to any portion of the business plan.
                              business name. A substantial change in the handler’s operations that
                              quantities. A change of business address, business ownership, or
                              previously undisclosed hazardous materials at or above reportable
                              quantity of a previously disclosed material. Any handling of a
                              one of the following events: A 100 percent or more increase in the
                              Failure to electronically update business plan within 30 days of anyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508.1(a)-(f)
                              HSC 6.95 25508.1(a)-(f) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              03-03-2020Violation Date:
                              Excel Industries, Inc.Site Name:
                              29031Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10487821CERS ID:
                              29031Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1601 FREMONT CTAddress:
                              EXCEL INDUSTRIES, INC.Name:

CERS:

                                        -117.616978Longitude:
                                        34.038917Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date:
                                        07/08/2016Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36NEC002240WDID:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 93

Item E - 791 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              corrected within 30 days.
                              time limit and provide documentation that the violation has been
                              Dispose of hazardous waste that has been stored over the applicable
                              Accumulation time of 90 days has been exceeded. CORRECTIVE ACTION:
                              accumulation start date of 11-1-19 on hazardous waste label.
                              hazardous waste label and (1) 30 gallon drum of waste coolant with an
                              gallon drum of used oil with an accumulation start date of 9-1-19 on
                              accumulation start date of 11-12-14 on hazardous waste label, (1) 30
                              inspection, observed (1) 30 gallon drum of waste absorbent with an
                              Returned to compliance on 03/27/2020. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              greater than one kilogram for more than 90 days.
                              hold acutely hazardous waste or extremely hazardous waste in an amount
                              Regulations section 262.34(d), (e) and (f). (3) The generator does not
                              The generator complies with the requirements of 40 Code of Federal
                              hazardous waste accumulated onsite never exceeds 6,000 kilograms. (2)
                              if all of the following conditions are met: (1) The quantity of
                              miles) for a generator who generates less than 1000 kilogram per month
                              disposal within 180 days (or 270 days if waste is transported over 200
                              Failure to send hazardous waste offsite for treatment, storage, orViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) 25123.3(h)(1)
                              HSC 6.5 25123.3(h)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              03-03-2020Violation Date:
                              Excel Industries, Inc.Site Name:
                              29031Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Contingency Plan (CCR 66265.51(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/20/2014. Failure to establish aViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              02-26-2014Violation Date:
                              Excel Industries, Inc.Site Name:
                              29031Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              facility to prevent a fire, spill or release (CCR 66265.31)
                              Returned to compliance on 03/25/2014. Failure to operate and maintainViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              02-26-2014Violation Date:
                              Excel Industries, Inc.Site Name:
                              29031Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              has been corrected.
                              consolidated manifest receipt for the next pick up documenting this
                              generators site address and generators EPA ID number. Submit a copy of
                              CORRECTIVE ACTION: Consolidated manifests must include the correct
                              the correct generators site address and generators EPA ID number.

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 94

Item E - 792 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              NoViolations Found:
                              01-30-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-03-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-EXCEL INDEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              02-26-2014Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTION-EXCEL INDEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              02-26-2014Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              01-30-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 07/20/2014.Violation Notes:
                              thresholds quantities of 55 gallons/500 lbs/200 cubic feet.
                              Business Plan when storing hazardous materials at or above the
                              Owner/Operator failed to complete and/or submit a Hazardous MaterialsViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25505(a)
                              HSC 6.95 25505(a) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              02-26-2014Violation Date:
                              Excel Industries, Inc.Site Name:
                              29031Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 95

Item E - 793 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              KATHY GILLIAMEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.617300Longitude:
                              34.039180Latitude:
                              Center of a facility or station.,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10487821Program ID:
                              HWGEnv Int Type Code:
                              Excel Industries, Inc.Facility Name:
                              29031Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              02-26-2014Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1601 FREMONT CTSite Address:
                              Excel Industries, Inc.Site Name:
                              29031Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              02-26-2014Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1601 FREMONT CTSite Address:
                              Excel Industries, Inc.Site Name:
                              29031Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-03-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 96

Item E - 794 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91766Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1601 E Fremont CourtAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Excel Industries, Inc.Entity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-4867,Affiliation Phone:
                              91766Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1601 E FREMONT COURTAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              LARRY and KATHY GILLIAMEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91766Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1601 E FREMONT COURTAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              LARRY GILLIAMEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 97

Item E - 795 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1601 FREMONT COURTAffiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              EXCEL INDUSTRIES INCEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              Industrial Facility Storm WaterCERS Description:
                              847747CERS ID:
                              531624Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1601 FREMONT COURTAddress:
                              EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.Name:

                              (949) 633-5399,Affiliation Phone:
                              92651Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              Laguna BeachAffiliation City:
                              98 Vista del solAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Angelina KirkpatrickEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-4867,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Excel Industries Inc.Entity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              SECT./TREASEntity Title:
                              KATHY GILLIAMEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC.  (Continued) S119085006

TC7095824.2s   Page 98

Item E - 796 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

05/31/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 11-25 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0014693Permit Number:
Cardenas Markets, LLC.Owner:
FA0008417Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1621 E FRANCIS STAddress:
CARDENAS MARKETS, INC.Name:

01/31/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0022755Permit Number:
BORG CONSOLIDATIONS LLCOwner:
FA0012981Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1621 E FRANCISAddress:
BORG PRODUCEName:

01/31/2021Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALS SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0022754Permit Number:
BORG CONSOLIDATIONS LLCOwner:
FA0012981Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1621 E FRANCISAddress:
BORG PRODUCEName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

142 ft. Site 4 of 14 in cluster B
0.027 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
870 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
NE 1621 E FRANCIS    N/A
B17 CA San Bern. Co. PermitBORG PRODUCE S110168976

          ATank Status:
          36-000-006013-000001SWRCB Tank Id:
          H782437Owner Tank Id:
          02-29-88Created Date:
          09-04-91Action Date:
          09-04-91Referral Date:
          44-019918Board Of Equalization:
          9Number:
          6013Comp Number:
          ActiveStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1504 E FRANCISAddress:
          SIERRA LATHING CO INCName:

SWEEPS UST:

168 ft. Site 1 of 3 in cluster D
0.032 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
864 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
West CA FID UST1504 E FRANCIS    N/A
D18 CA SWEEPS USTSIERRA LATHING CO INC S101618983

TC7095824.2s   Page 99

Item E - 797 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

     ActiveStatus:
     Not reportedComments:
     Not reportedEPA ID:
     Not reportedNPDES Number:
     Not reportedDUNs Number:
     Not reportedContact Phone:
     Not reportedContact:
     ONTARIO 91761Mailing City,St,Zip:
     Not reportedMailing Address 2:
     14838  BOYLE AVEMailing Address:
     Not reportedMail To:
     Not reportedFacility Phone:
     Not reportedSIC Code:
     Not reportedCortese Code:
     00006013Regulated ID:
     UTNKARegulated By:
     36001611Facility ID:

CA FID UST:

          1Number Of Tanks:
          REG UNLEADEDContent:
          PSTG:
          M.V. FUELTank Use:
          08-26-88Active Date:
          3000Capacity:

SIERRA LATHING CO INC  (Continued) S101618983

                              Stock InventorLeak Detection:
                              3/8Container Construction Thickness:
                              UNLEADEDType of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00003000Tank Capacity:
                              1980Year Installed:
                              H782437Container Num:
                              001Tank Num:

                              0001Total Tanks:
                              FONTANA, CA 92335Owner City,St,Zip:
                              14838 BOYLE AVEOwner Address:
                              SIERRA LATHING CO INCOwner Name:
                              7148226067Telephone:
                              GARY WALDRONContact Name:
                              LATHING CO.Other Type:
                              OtherFacility Type:
                              00000006013Facility ID:
                              STATERegion:
                              http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/ustpdfs/pdf/0002A65A.pdfURL:
                              0002A65AFile Number:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1504 E FRANCISAddress:
                              SIERRA LATHING CO INCName:

HIST UST:

168 ft. Site 2 of 3 in cluster D
0.032 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
864 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
West 1504 E FRANCIS    N/A
D19 CA HIST USTSIERRA LATHING CO INC U001570079

TC7095824.2s   Page 100

Item E - 798 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

Click here for Geo Tracker PDF:

SIERRA LATHING CO INC  (Continued) U001570079

                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              TODD SIMMS (PRESIDENT)Operator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              SIMMS SERVICE & REPAIROwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1630 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                SIMMSSERVICEANDREPAIR@GMAIL.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-261-1738Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1630 E FRANCIS STContact Address:
                                                                                TODD SIMMS (PRESIDENT)Contact Name:
                                                                                CAL000425778EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91730Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1630 E FRANCIS ST UNIT JHandler Address:
                              SIMMS SERVICE & REPAIRHandler Name:
                                                                                20170315Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

183 ft. Site 5 of 14 in cluster B
0.035 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91730
ENE 1630 E FRANCIS ST UNIT J CAL000425778
B20 RCRA NonGen / NLRSIMMS SERVICE & REPAIR 1026054901

TC7095824.2s   Page 101

Item E - 799 of 2173

http://www.web.edrnet.com/ordering/switchboard/redirect.aspx?s=GRR_CA_HISTUST_PDF&img_id=0002A65A


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-261-1738Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1630 E FRANCIS STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          TODD SIMMS (PRESIDENT)Owner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-261-1738Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1630 E FRANCIS STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          SIMMS SERVICE & REPAIROwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20200210Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:

SIMMS SERVICE & REPAIR  (Continued) 1026054901

TC7095824.2s   Page 102

Item E - 800 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              OTHER PERSONAL AND HOUSEHOLD GOODS REPAIR AND MAINTENANCENAICS Description:
                              81149NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          SIMMS SERVICE & REPAIRHandler Name:
                                                            20170315Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:

SIMMS SERVICE & REPAIR  (Continued) 1026054901

                                        CAC002604333Gen EPA ID:
                                        2006Year:

Additional Info:

                                        0.175Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        223 - Unspecified oil-containing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD097030993TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAC002604333Gepaid:
                                        2006Year:

                                        1630 E FRANCIS ST STE KMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099479737Telephone:
                                        DON TAGARMOContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917615786City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1630 E FRANCIS ST STE KAddress:
                                        PHILLIPS CAR BITE INDUSTRIES LLCName:

HAZNET:

183 ft. Site 6 of 14 in cluster B
0.035 mi. CA HWTS

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

< 1/8 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
ENE CA NPDES1630 E FRANCIS ST STE K    N/A
B21 CA HAZNETPHILLIPS CAR BITE INDUSTRIES LLC S112953940

TC7095824.2s   Page 103

Item E - 801 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1630 E. Francis St Unit NOperator Address:
                                        Pro Air LLCOperator Name:
                                        07/15/2010Status Date:
                                        UndeterminedStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36IN600448WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1630 E. FRANCIS ST UNIT NAddress:
                                        PRO AIR LLCName:

NPDES:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        350Waste Quantity:
                                        0.175Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        223 - Unspecified oil-containing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        US FILTERTrans Name:
                                        CAD097030993TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        PFR ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAD982440364Trans EPA ID:
                                        21987976Manifest ID:
                                        20060605Receipt Date:
                                        8/25/2006 18:36:07Creation Date:
                                        20060531Shipment Date:

PHILLIPS CAR BITE INDUSTRIES LLC  (Continued) S112953940

TC7095824.2s   Page 104

Item E - 802 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        ONTARIO, CA 917615786Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1630 E FRANCIS ST STE KMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        05/31/2006Create Date:
                                        11/28/2006Inactive Date:
                                        CAC002604333EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1630 E FRANCIS ST STE KAddress:
                                        PHILLIPS CAR BITE INDUSTRIES LLCName:

HWTS:

09/30/2018Expiration Date:
FEE EXEMPTFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER GENERAL ACT.(NB)Permit Category:
PT0038077Permit Number:
Todd SimmsOwner:
FA0017554Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1630 E FRANCIS ST JAddress:
SIMMS SERVICE & REPAIRName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATOR SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0037782Permit Number:
Todd SimmsOwner:
FA0017554Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1630 E FRANCIS ST JAddress:
SIMMS SERVICE & REPAIRName:

02/28/2017Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0035764Permit Number:
BARENG, LESLIE A. & PAULA M.Owner:
FA0016592Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1630 E FRANCIS ST JAddress:
PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVEName:

02/28/2017Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0035765Permit Number:
BARENG, LESLIE A. & PAULA M.Owner:
FA0016592Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1630 E FRANCIS ST JAddress:
PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVEName:

PHILLIPS CAR BITE INDUSTRIES LLC  (Continued) S112953940

TC7095824.2s   Page 105

Item E - 803 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        -117.618482Longitude:
                                        34.041282Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        TEMPORARYFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917615786City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1630 E FRANCIS ST STE KContact Address:
                                        DON TAGARMOContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917615786Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1630 E FRANCIS ST STE KOwner Address:
                                        PHILLIPS CAR BITE INDUSTRIESOwner Name:

PHILLIPS CAR BITE INDUSTRIES LLC  (Continued) S112953940

05/31/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0007525Permit Number:
LAMB, RICHARD R.Owner:
FA0004370Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1630 E FRANCIS ST UNIT PAddress:
LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Name:

05/31/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:
PT0007524Permit Number:
LAMB, RICHARD R.Owner:
FA0004370Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1630 E FRANCIS ST UNIT PAddress:
LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

183 ft. Site 7 of 14 in cluster B
0.035 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ENE 1630 E FRANCIS ST UNIT P    N/A
B22 CA San Bern. Co. PermitLAMB ENGINEERING, INC. S102040245

                                                                                TODD WELLSContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000386884EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5784Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1630 E FRANCIS ST STE CHandler Address:
                              CALIFORNIA DIESEL COMPLIANCE INC DBA THE DPF SHOPHandler Name:
                                                                                20130701Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

183 ft. Site 8 of 14 in cluster B
0.035 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ENE 1630 E FRANCIS ST STE C CAL000386884
B23 RCRA NonGen / NLRCALIFORNIA DIESEL COMPLIANCE INC DBA THE DPF SHOP 1024839183

TC7095824.2s   Page 106

Item E - 804 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              TODD WELLSOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              TODD WELLSOwner Name:
                                                                                EL CAJON, CA 92020-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1985 FRIENDSHIP DR SUITE LMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                TODD.DPF@GMAIL.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-923-8244Contact Fax:
                                                                                619-987-0711Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1609 S GROVE AVEContact Address:

CALIFORNIA DIESEL COMPLIANCE INC DBA THE DPF SHOP  (Continued) 1024839183

TC7095824.2s   Page 107

Item E - 805 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          CALIFORNIA DIESEL COMPLIANCE INC DBA THE DPF SHOPHandler Name:
                                                            20130701Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            619-987-0711Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-5784Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1609 S GROVE AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          TODD WELLSOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            619-987-0711Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1609 S GROVE AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          TODD WELLSOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180906Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:

CALIFORNIA DIESEL COMPLIANCE INC DBA THE DPF SHOP  (Continued) 1024839183

TC7095824.2s   Page 108

Item E - 806 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              GENERAL AUTOMOTIVE REPAIRNAICS Description:
                              811111NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:

CALIFORNIA DIESEL COMPLIANCE INC DBA THE DPF SHOP  (Continued) 1024839183

                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                PrivateOperator Type:
                              NOT REQUIREDOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              JOHN HERRINGOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1615 FREMONT CTMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                OtherLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-296-1430Contact Telephone:
                                                                                TEMECULA, CA 92590Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                27480 COLT CTContact Address:
                                                                                JOHN HERRINGContact Name:
                                                                                CAD982520892EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1615 FREMONT CTHandler Address:
                              C H OFFICE SPECIALTIES INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20000327Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

188 ft. Site 3 of 9 in cluster C
0.036 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
862 ft.

 

< 1/8 ECHOONTARIO, CA  91761
SE FINDS1615 FREMONT CT CAD982520892
C24 RCRA NonGen / NLRC H OFFICE SPECIALTIES INC 1000125507

TC7095824.2s   Page 109

Item E - 807 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20020627Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:

C H OFFICE SPECIALTIES INC  (Continued) 1000125507

TC7095824.2s   Page 110

Item E - 808 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of
RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource

Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110002840668Registry ID:
FINDS:

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                                                            No NAICS Codes FoundNAICS Codes:
List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          C H OFFICE SPECIALTIES INCHandler Name:
                                                            20000327Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          JOHN HERRINGOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:

C H OFFICE SPECIALTIES INC  (Continued) 1000125507

TC7095824.2s   Page 111

Item E - 809 of 2173

https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110002840668


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                   ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                   1615 FREMONT CTAddress:
                                   C H OFFICE SPECIALTIES INCName:
                                   http://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110002840668DFR URL:
                                   110002840668Registry ID:
                                   1000125507Envid:

ECHO:

additional FINDS: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

C H OFFICE SPECIALTIES INC  (Continued) 1000125507

                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              SCOTT BATHURSTOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              AIR 2000 INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5702Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1939 S AUGUSTA AVEMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                PrivateLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                SCOTT@HARINGACOMPRESSOR.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-947-5062Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-393-5588Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1939 S AUGUSTA AVEContact Address:
                                                                                SCOTT BATHURSTContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000412802EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5702Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1939 S AUGUSTA AVEHandler Address:
                              AIR 2000 INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20190816Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

255 ft. Site 1 of 13 in cluster E
0.048 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
860 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW 1939 S AUGUSTA AVE CAL000412802
E25 RCRA NonGen / NLRAIR 2000 INC 1024853227

TC7095824.2s   Page 112

Item E - 810 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4mu4kcmRXuyx2ktkLRcEq9s8RLQX2Q3VgyWGx6l2flkzXtN93X7LSjRoy3buECmqxF33DsYH8EM9W2LazQjzBlP2T3QtI4M.m0uuc42nmkZBctG8CSRiHXoO2UpyDgxjBA5dkhZtvs4iFL5SRM25UmEHpqqR4U0sBD8Fi4o4LAhQbJ425mD3uZJ3COkylc8.2R6Rp8X2T9KDyJSxBk26CkWjtQ9BEVLTbRbP7qME2PqYlAsxskL8xz4naL7qQLg6TM2grQD616aVjvgUX40mWamGjmup96valzF4kqmByu753l7kqXckL2vLRF4XDt3vFy33x4l2eXk3Jtns2VZL7GRGx24UEvpqAo33Is2x8Y.4sFL2zQ407CL2dHQOa7DnVKogWU2zpWSYGLg9LM6jIlfH2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4mu4kcmRXuyx2ktkLRcEq9s8RLQX2Q3VgyWGx6l2flkzXtN93X7LSjRoy3buECmqxF33DsYH8EM9W2LazQjzBlP2T3QtI4M.m0uuc42nmkZBctG8CSRiHXoO2UpyDgxjBA5dkhZtvs4iFL5SRM25UmEHpqqR4U0sBD8Fi4o4LAhQbJ425mD3uZJ3COkylc8.2R6Rp8X2T9KDyJSxBk26CkWjtQ9BEVLTbRbP7qME2PqYlAsxskL8xz4naL7qQLg6TM2grQD616aVjvgUX40mWamGjmup96valzF4kqmByu753l7kqXckL2vLRF4XDt3vFy33x4l2eXk3Jtns2VZL7GRGx24UEvpqAo33Is2x8Y.4sFL2zQ407CL2dHQOa7DnVKogWU2zpWSYGLg9LM6jIlfH2


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-393-5588Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1939 S AUGUSTA AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          SCOTT BATHURSTOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20190827Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:

AIR 2000 INC  (Continued) 1024853227

TC7095824.2s   Page 113

Item E - 811 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              OTHER PERSONAL AND HOUSEHOLD GOODS REPAIR AND MAINTENANCENAICS Description:
                              81149NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          AIR 2000 INCHandler Name:
                                                            20190816Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-393-5588Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-5702Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1939 S AUGUSTA AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          AIR 2000 INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

AIR 2000 INC  (Continued) 1024853227

AIR 2000 INC.Name:

03/31/2022Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0036748Permit Number:
SCOTT BATHURSTOwner:
FA0017289Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1939 S AUGUSTA AVEAddress:
AIR 2000 INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

255 ft. Site 2 of 13 in cluster E
0.048 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
860 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW 1939 S AUGUSTA AVE    N/A
E26 CA San Bern. Co. PermitAIR 2000 INC. S119102930

TC7095824.2s   Page 114

Item E - 812 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

03/31/2022Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0036759Permit Number:
SCOTT BATHURSTOwner:
FA0017289Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1939 S AUGUSTA AVEAddress:

AIR 2000 INC.  (Continued) S119102930

05/31/2021Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALS SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0014704Permit Number:
Jose Luis PradoOwner:
FA0008425Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1920 AUGUSTA CTAddress:
EVANS FOOD WEST, INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

265 ft. Site 3 of 13 in cluster E
0.050 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
858 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW 1920 AUGUSTA CT    N/A
E27 CA San Bern. Co. PermitEVANS FOOD WEST, INC S106446644

11/30/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0015979Permit Number:
KOMATSU FORKLIFT USA LLCOwner:
FA0009328Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1625 FREMONT CTAddress:
KOMATSU FORKLIFTName:

11/30/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0015980Permit Number:
KOMATSU FORKLIFT USA LLCOwner:
FA0009328Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1625 FREMONT CTAddress:
KOMATSU FORKLIFTName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

293 ft. Site 1 of 2 in cluster F
0.055 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
862 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE CA CERS1625 FREMONT CT    N/A
F28 CA San Bern. Co. PermitNOBLELIFT NORTH AMERICA S108211358

TC7095824.2s   Page 115

Item E - 813 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              08-15-2019Violation Date:
                              Noblelift North AmericaSite Name:
                              42049Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              are being properly managed.
                              certificate of compliance to indicate the used oil and fuel filters
                              labeled as a hazardous waste. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit a signed
                              cartridges are separated from the metal filters. Cartridges should be
                              oil filters were found without proper labeling. Ensure that filter
                              Returned to compliance on 08/19/2019. OBSERVATION: Two drums of usedViolation Notes:
                              with the requirements.
                              Failure to properly manage used oil and/or fuel filters in accordanceViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25250.22
                              HSC 6.5 25250.22 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              08-15-2019Violation Date:
                              Noblelift North AmericaSite Name:
                              42049Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              missing on the waste solid/absorbent
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2)) Accumulation start date
                              Returned to compliance on 07/07/2016. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-06-2016Violation Date:
                              Noblelift North AmericaSite Name:
                              42049Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              manifests not available for review. Only the 2016 manifests available.
                              Waste Manifests for at least 3 years (CCR 66262.40(a)) Hazardous waste
                              Returned to compliance on 09/07/2016. Failure to retain HazardousViolation Notes:
                              General
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation -Violation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-06-2016Violation Date:
                              Noblelift North AmericaSite Name:
                              42049Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10049827CERS ID:
                              42049Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1625 FREMONT CTAddress:
                              NOBLELIFT NORTH AMERICAName:

CERS:

NOBLELIFT NORTH AMERICA  (Continued) S108211358

TC7095824.2s   Page 116

Item E - 814 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              07-06-2016Violation Date:
                              Noblelift North AmericaSite Name:
                              42049Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              on the drained used oil filters.
                              Returned to compliance on 07/07/2016. Accumulation start date missingViolation Notes:
                              with the requirements.
                              Failure to properly manage used oil and/or fuel filters in accordanceViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25250.22
                              HSC 6.5 25250.22 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-06-2016Violation Date:
                              Noblelift North AmericaSite Name:
                              42049Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              compliance to indicated the inspection is being conducted.
                              CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit a signed copy of the certificate of
                              of the waste storage area does not appear to have been conducted.
                              Returned to compliance on 08/19/2019. OBSERVATION: A weekly inspectionViolation Notes:
                              look for leaking and deteriorating containers.
                              Failure to inspect hazardous waste storage areas at least weekly andViolation Description:
                              1, Section(s) 265.174
                              40 CFR 1 265.174 - U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, ChapterCitation:
                              08-15-2019Violation Date:
                              Noblelift North AmericaSite Name:
                              42049Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste label for the waste solid/absorbent
                              waste labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(3)) Missing information on the hazardous
                              Returned to compliance on 07/07/2016. Failure to complete hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-06-2016Violation Date:
                              Noblelift North AmericaSite Name:
                              42049Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Environmental Reporting System (CERS).
                              the updated business plan information into the California
                              requirements. Mark "no" to this activity . CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit
                              it was indicated that the site is subject to financial assurance
                              Returned to compliance on 08/19/2019. On the business activities pageViolation Notes:
                              Page and/or Business Owner Operator Identification Page.
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit the Business ActivitiesViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)

NOBLELIFT NORTH AMERICA  (Continued) S108211358

TC7095824.2s   Page 117

Item E - 815 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              08-15-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              08-15-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              07-06-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              07-06-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste solid/absorbent
                              containers (CCR 66262.34(f)(3)) Hazardous waste label missing on the
                              Returned to compliance on 07/07/2016. Failure to label hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-06-2016Violation Date:
                              Noblelift North AmericaSite Name:
                              42049Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Plan to CERS.
                              Returned to compliance on 08/20/2019. Facility did not submit BusinessViolation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)

NOBLELIFT NORTH AMERICA  (Continued) S108211358

TC7095824.2s   Page 118

Item E - 816 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1625 FREMONT CTAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Noblelift North AmericaEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Branch ManagerEntity Title:
                              Don HwangEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.616341Longitude:
                              34.039219Latitude:
                              Unknown,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10049827Program ID:
                              HMBPEnv Int Type Code:
                              Noblelift North AmericaFacility Name:
                              42049Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              07-06-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1625 FREMONT CTSite Address:
                              Noblelift North AmericaSite Name:
                              42049Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              07-06-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1625 FREMONT CTSite Address:
                              Noblelift North AmericaSite Name:
                              42049Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:

NOBLELIFT NORTH AMERICA  (Continued) S108211358

TC7095824.2s   Page 119

Item E - 817 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Don HwangEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761-8309Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1625 FREMONT CTAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Don HwangEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761-8309Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1625 FREMONT CTAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Don HwangEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (847) 595-7100,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761-8309Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1625 FREMONT CTAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Noblelift North AmericaEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 212-1962,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761-8309Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:

NOBLELIFT NORTH AMERICA  (Continued) S108211358

TC7095824.2s   Page 120

Item E - 818 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Noblelift North AmericaEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 212-1962,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:

NOBLELIFT NORTH AMERICA  (Continued) S108211358

                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              ROBERT INGERSOLLOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              KOMATSU AMERICA CORPOwner Name:
                                                                                LONG BEACH, CA 90810-1135Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                20434 S SUSANA RDMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                RINGERSOLL@KOMATSUFORKLIFT.COMContact Email:
                                                                                310-884-1663Contact Fax:
                                                                                310-631-5438Contact Telephone:
                                                                                LONG BEACH, CA 90810Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                20434 S SUSANA RDContact Address:
                                                                                ROBERT INGERSOLLContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000356892EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-8309Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1625 FREMONT CTHandler Address:
                              KOMATSU FORKLIFT USA LLC DBA NATIONWIDE MAT’L HANDLINGHandler Name:
                                                                                20100914Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

293 ft. Site 2 of 2 in cluster F
0.055 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
862 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1625 FREMONT CT CAL000356892
F29 RCRA NonGen / NLRKOMATSU FORKLIFT USA LLC DBA NATIONWIDE MAT’L HAND 1024827398

TC7095824.2s   Page 121

Item E - 819 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ROBERT INGERSOLLOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:

KOMATSU FORKLIFT USA LLC DBA NATIONWIDE MAT’L HANDLING  (Continued) 1024827398

TC7095824.2s   Page 122

Item E - 820 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER TRANSPORTATION EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              336999NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          KOMATSU FORKLIFT USA LLC DBA NATIONWIDE MAT’L HANDLINGHandler Name:
                                                            20100914Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            770-938-5071Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            STONE MOUNTAIN, GA 30083-1505Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1475 ROCK MOUNTAIN BLVDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          KOMATSU AMERICA CORPOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            310-631-5438Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            LONG BEACH, CA 90810Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            20434 S SUSANA RDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:

KOMATSU FORKLIFT USA LLC DBA NATIONWIDE MAT’L HANDLING  (Continued) 1024827398

                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1640 E FRANCIS STHandler Address:
                              FEAL SUSPENSIONHandler Name:
                                                                                20130927Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

302 ft. Site 9 of 14 in cluster B
0.057 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
870 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ENE 1640 E FRANCIS ST CAL000389751
B30 RCRA NonGen / NLRFEAL SUSPENSION 1024840670

TC7095824.2s   Page 123

Item E - 821 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              AURIMAS BAKCHISOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              FEAL SUSPENSION INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1640 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                AMY@FEALSUSPENSION.COMContact Email:
                                                                                999-999-9999Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-930-1300Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1640 E FRANCIS STContact Address:
                                                                                AURIMAS BAKCHISContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000389751EPA ID:

FEAL SUSPENSION  (Continued) 1024840670

TC7095824.2s   Page 124

Item E - 822 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          FEAL SUSPENSIONHandler Name:
                                                            20130927Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-1300Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1640 E FRANCIS STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          FEAL SUSPENSION INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-1300Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1640 E FRANCIS STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          AURIMAS BAKCHISOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180906Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:

FEAL SUSPENSION  (Continued) 1024840670

TC7095824.2s   Page 125

Item E - 823 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:

FEAL SUSPENSION  (Continued) 1024840670

02/28/2019Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER GENERAL ACT.(NB)Permit Category:
PT0038787Permit Number:
Feal Suspension, Inc.Owner:
FA0016608Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1640 E FRANCIS STAddress:
FEAL SUSPENSION, INC.Name:

02/28/2020Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATOR SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0035770Permit Number:
Feal Suspension, Inc.Owner:
FA0016608Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1640 E FRANCIS STAddress:
FEAL SUSPENSION, INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

302 ft. Site 10 of 14 in cluster B
0.057 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
870 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ENE 1640 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
B31 CA San Bern. Co. PermitFEAL SUSPENSION, INC. S118497002

TC7095824.2s   Page 126

Item E - 824 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAL000389751Gen EPA ID:
                                        2017Year:

Additional Info:

                                        0.4Tons:
                                        Landfill( To Include On-Site Treatment And/Or Stabilization)
                                        H132 - Landfill Or Surface Impoundment That Will Be Closed AsDisposal Method:
                                        151 - Asbestos containing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982042475TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000389751Gepaid:
                                        2013Year:

                                        0.105Tons:
                                        Regeneration, Organics Recovery Ect
                                        H039 - Other Recovery Of Reclamation For Reuse Including AcidDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080013352TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000389751Gepaid:
                                        2017Year:

                                        1640 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099301300Telephone:
                                        AURIMAS BAKCHISContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1640 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        FEAL SUSPENSIONName:

HAZNET:

                                        Not reportedBusiness Types:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Status Last Changed:
                                        Not reportedAccepting Tires From Public:
                                        Not reportedCurrent Hauler Status:
                                        ActiveCurrent Status:
                                        Not reportedMailing Phone:
                                        Not reportedMailing County:
                                        91761Mailing Zip:
                                        CAMailing State:
                                        OntarioMailing City:
                                        1640 East Francis StreetMailing Address:
                                        Sean PieterszContact Person:
                                        Not reportedBusiness Email Address:
                                        (909) 624-4333Facility Phone:
                                        1950623Facility ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1640 EAST FRANCIS STREETAddress:
                                        AUTO KOUTUREName:

HAULERS:

302 ft. Site 11 of 14 in cluster B
0.057 mi. CA HWTS

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
870 ft.

 

< 1/8 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
ENE CA HAZNET1640 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
B32 CA HAULERSFEAL SUSPENSION S102040428

TC7095824.2s   Page 127

Item E - 825 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVEName:
San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        YQuantity Unit:
                                        1Waste Quantity:
                                        0.4Quantity Tons:
                                        Landfill( To Include On-Site Treatment And/Or Stabilization)
                                        H132 - Landfill Or Surface Impoundment That Will Be Closed AsMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        151 - Asbestos-containing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        RECOLOGY HAY ROAD LANDFILLTrans Name:
                                        CAD982042475TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        LD TRANSPORTATION LLCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000183152Trans EPA ID:
                                        008812565JJKManifest ID:
                                        20131024Receipt Date:
                                        11/25/2013 22:15:16Creation Date:
                                        20131023Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000389751Gen EPA ID:
                                        2013Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        25Waste Quantity:
                                        0.105Quantity Tons:
                                        Regeneration, Organics Recovery Ect
                                        H039 - Other Recovery Of Reclamation For Reuse Including AcidMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        DEMENNO/KERDOONTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        NIETO AND SONS TRUCKING, INC.Trans 2 Name:
                                        CAT080016116Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        BELSHIRETrans Name:
                                        CAR000183913Trans EPA ID:
                                        005763528FLEManifest ID:
                                        20170126Receipt Date:
                                        5/17/2017 18:31:13Creation Date:
                                        20170125Shipment Date:

FEAL SUSPENSION  (Continued) S102040428

TC7095824.2s   Page 128

Item E - 826 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        1640 E FRANCIS STFacility Address:
                                        FEAL SUSPENSIONFacility Name:
                                        2020-06-30 00:00:00Inactive Date:
                                        2013-09-27 11:06:43.13700Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Not Otherwise SpecifiedNAICS Description:
                                        99999NAICS Code:
                                        2013-09-27 11:06:43.143Create Date:
                                        CAL000389751EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.61619768Longitude:
                                        34.04120184Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        WRIGHTWOOD, CA 92397City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        PO BOX 282Contact Address:
                                        AURIMAS BAKCHISContact Name:
                                        WRIGHTWOOD, CA 923970000Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        PO BOX 282Owner Address:
                                        FEAL SUSPENSION INCOwner Name:
                                        WRIGHTWOOD, CA 923970000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        PO BOX 282Mailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        09/27/2013Create Date:
                                        06/30/2020Inactive Date:
                                        CAL000389751EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1640 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        FEAL SUSPENSIONName:

HWTS:

09/30/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0005473Permit Number:
BARENG, LESLIE A. & PAULA M.Owner:
FA0005437Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1640 E FRANCIS AVEAddress:
PRO 2 AUTOMOTIVEName:

09/30/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0005474Permit Number:
BARENG, LESLIE A. & PAULA M.Owner:
FA0005437Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1640 E FRANCIS AVEAddress:

FEAL SUSPENSION  (Continued) S102040428

TC7095824.2s   Page 129

Item E - 827 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        91761Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:

FEAL SUSPENSION  (Continued) S102040428

                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              PETER CHERNOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              ADVANCE TRADING CORPOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91764Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1610 FREMONT CTMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                PETERC.ADVTRDCORP@GMAIL.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                818-318-7128Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91764Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1610 FREMONT CTContact Address:
                                                                                PETER CHERNContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000463951EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91764Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1610 FREMONT CTHandler Address:
                              ADVANCE TRADING CORPHandler Name:
                                                                                20210712Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

304 ft. Site 4 of 9 in cluster C
0.058 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
861 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91764
SE 1610 FREMONT CT CAL000463951
C33 RCRA NonGen / NLRADVANCE TRADING CORP 1026828947

TC7095824.2s   Page 130

Item E - 828 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          PETER CHERNOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            818-318-7128Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            DIAMOND BAR, CA 91765Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            324 S DIAMOND BAR BLVDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ADVANCE TRADING CORPOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20210812Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:

ADVANCE TRADING CORP  (Continued) 1026828947

TC7095824.2s   Page 131

Item E - 829 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              NATURAL GAS DISTRIBUTIONNAICS Description:
                              221210NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          ADVANCE TRADING CORPHandler Name:
                                                            20210712Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            818-318-7128Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91764Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1610 FREMONT CTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:

ADVANCE TRADING CORP  (Continued) 1026828947

                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                JORGEB.PRUDENTITTECH@GMAIL.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-930-5657Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                FREMONT CTContact Address:
                                                                                JORGE BRISENOContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000464045EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1610 FREMONT CTHandler Address:
                              PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20211102Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

304 ft. Site 5 of 9 in cluster C
0.058 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
861 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1610 FREMONT CT CAL000464045
C34 RCRA NonGen / NLRPRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INC 1026829038

TC7095824.2s   Page 132

Item E - 830 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INCOperator Name:
                                                                                Not reportedOwner Type:
                              Not reportedOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                FREMONT CTMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:

PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INC  (Continued) 1026829038

TC7095824.2s   Page 133

Item E - 831 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INCHandler Name:
                                                            20210715Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-5657Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1610 FREMONT CTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            818-318-7128Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            DIAMOND BAR, CA 91765Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            324 S DIAMOND BAR BLVDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            818-318-7128Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1610 FREMONT COURTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          PETER CHERNOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20211108Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:

PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INC  (Continued) 1026829038

TC7095824.2s   Page 134

Item E - 832 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              Not reportedEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            Not reportedCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Enforcement Action:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedDate Violation was Determined:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Short Description:
                                                            Not reportedAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            NoFound Violation:

Facility Has Received Notices of Violation:

                              NATURAL GAS DISTRIBUTIONNAICS Description:
                              221210NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INCHandler Name:
                                                            20211102Receive Date:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:

PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INC  (Continued) 1026829038

TC7095824.2s   Page 135

Item E - 833 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            FOCUSED COMPLIANCE INSPECTIONEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            NoFound Violation:
                                                            StateEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            20210928Evaluation Date:

Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:

PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INC  (Continued) 1026829038

PT0015061Permit Number:
KEITH WEINSTEIN INC.Owner:
FA0003217Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1610 FREMONT CTAddress:
FINE GOLDName:

09/30/2020Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0007322Permit Number:
KEITH WEINSTEIN INC.Owner:
FA0003217Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1610 FREMONT CTAddress:
FINE GOLDName:

09/30/2020Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0007323Permit Number:
KEITH WEINSTEIN INC.Owner:
FA0003217Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1610 FREMONT CTAddress:
FINE GOLDName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

304 ft. Site 6 of 9 in cluster C
0.058 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
861 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE CA HWTS1610 FREMONT CT    N/A
C35 CA San Bern. Co. PermitFINE GOLD S102040095

TC7095824.2s   Page 136

Item E - 834 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        -117.616842Longitude:
                                        34.038832Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        TEMPORARYFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1610 FREMONT CTContact Address:
                                        ROBERT LUMABAOContact Name:
                                        LOS ANGELES, CA 900141725Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        608 S. HILL ST. STE 407Owner Address:
                                        KEITH WEINSTEIN, INCOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1610 FREMONT CTMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        01/19/2015Create Date:
                                        04/20/2015Inactive Date:
                                        CAC002800586EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1610 FREMONT CTAddress:
                                        FINE GOLDName:

HWTS:

09/30/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CE ANNUAL FEEPermit Category:

FINE GOLD  (Continued) S102040095

                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                KEISHA@CHEMPACKENVIRONMENTAL.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                213-689-4872Contact Telephone:
                                                                                LOS ANGELES, CA 90014Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                213608 S. HLL STContact Address:
                                                                                DAN BALLARDContact Name:
                                                                                CAC003024627EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1610 FREMONT CTHandler Address:
                              FINE GOLDHandler Name:
                                                                                20190718Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

304 ft. Site 7 of 9 in cluster C
0.058 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
861 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1610 FREMONT CT CAC003024627
C36 RCRA NonGen / NLRFINE GOLD 1025845008

TC7095824.2s   Page 137

Item E - 835 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20190729Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              DAN BALLARDOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              KEISHA WEINSTEIN DBA FINE GOLDOwner Name:
                                                                                LOS ANGELES, CA 90014Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                608 S. HILL STREET #407Mailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:

FINE GOLD  (Continued) 1025845008

TC7095824.2s   Page 138

Item E - 836 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          FINE GOLDHandler Name:
                                                            20190718Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            213-689-4872Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1610 FREMONT CTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          KEISHA WEINSTEIN DBA FINE GOLDOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            213-689-4872Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            LOS ANGELES, CA 90014Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            213608 S. HLL STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          DAN BALLARDOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:

FINE GOLD  (Continued) 1025845008

TC7095824.2s   Page 139

Item E - 837 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

FINE GOLD  (Continued) 1025845008

                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              DANIEL IANNETTAOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTEROwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1642 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                CALIFORNIACOLLISIONCENTER@YAHOO.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-927-4604Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-947-3000Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1642 E FRANCIS STContact Address:
                                                                                DANIEL IANNETTAContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000381841EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1642 E FRANCIS STHandler Address:
                              CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTERHandler Name:
                                                                                20130123Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

325 ft. Site 12 of 14 in cluster B
0.062 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
870 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ENE 1642 E FRANCIS ST CAL000381841
B37 RCRA NonGen / NLRCALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER 1024837106

TC7095824.2s   Page 140

Item E - 838 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            1642 E FRANCIS STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          DANIEL IANNETTAOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-3000Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTEROwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTEROwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180906Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:

CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER  (Continued) 1024837106

TC7095824.2s   Page 141

Item E - 839 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              AUTOMOTIVE BODY, PAINT, AND INTERIOR REPAIR AND MAINTENANCENAICS Description:
                              811121NAICS Code:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTERHandler Name:
                                                            20130123Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-3000Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:

CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER  (Continued) 1024837106

                                        9099473000Telephone:
                                        DANIEL IANNETTAContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1642 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTERName:

HAZNET:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10490029CERS ID:
                              101854Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1642 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTERName:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

325 ft. CA HWTSSite 13 of 14 in cluster B
0.062 mi. CA CERS

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
870 ft.

 

< 1/8 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
ENE CA HAZNET1642 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
B38 CA CERS HAZ WASTECALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER S102680989

TC7095824.2s   Page 142

Item E - 840 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        D001Additional Code 2:
                                        F003Additional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.108Quantity Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteMeth Code:
                                        F005RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC RESOURCE RECOVERY SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC RESOURCE RECOVERY SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        014539498JJKManifest ID:
                                        20151006Receipt Date:
                                        5/4/2016 22:15:36Creation Date:
                                        20151006Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000381841Gen EPA ID:
                                        2015Year:

Additional Info:

                                        0.108Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteDisposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000381841Gepaid:
                                        2015Year:

                                        0.15480Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteDisposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000381841Gepaid:
                                        2018Year:

                                        0.12510Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteDisposal Method:
                                        133 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues 10 percent or moreCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000381841Gepaid:
                                        2018Year:

                                        0.10800Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteDisposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000381841Gepaid:
                                        2019Year:

                                        1642 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:

CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER  (Continued) S102680989

TC7095824.2s   Page 143

Item E - 841 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(3)) C of C received
                              Returned to compliance on 07/03/2014. Failure to complete hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              04-01-2014Violation Date:
                              California Collision CenterSite Name:
                              101854Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10490029CERS ID:
                              101854Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1642 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTERName:

CERS:

09/30/2014Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0005472Permit Number:
NEVAREZ, JESSEOwner:
FA0001725Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1642 E FRANCIS STAddress:
CALIFORNIA CUSTOM PAINT & BODYName:

04/30/2018Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER GENERAL ACT.(NB)Permit Category:
PT0038100Permit Number:
Daniel IannettaOwner:
FA0015361Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1642 E FRANCIS STAddress:
CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTERName:

04/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATOR SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0032879Permit Number:
Daniel IannettaOwner:
FA0015361Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1642 E FRANCIS STAddress:
CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTERName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:

CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER  (Continued) S102680989

TC7095824.2s   Page 144

Item E - 842 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              is 10490029.
                              phone number above as the Local Unified Program Agency. Your CERS ID
                              upload a completed site map as well as contingency plan listing the
                              CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit and certify the business plan via CERS and
                              contingency plan did list the CUPA phone number of (909)386-8425.
                              with missing evacuation staging area and adjacent streets. Also the
                              submittal was done on 04/21/2017 as well as the site map was found
                              OBSERVATION: At the time of the inspection the last business planViolation Notes:
                              General Local Ordinance
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation -Violation Description:
                              Un-SpecifiedCitation:
                              03-24-2020Violation Date:
                              California Collision CenterSite Name:
                              101854Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Permit (SBCC 23.0602(b)(1))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/03/2014. Failure to obtain a CUPAViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              04-01-2014Violation Date:
                              California Collision CenterSite Name:
                              101854Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Contingency Plan (CCR 66265.51(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/22/2014. Failure to establish aViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              04-01-2014Violation Date:
                              California Collision CenterSite Name:
                              101854Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              that the training was conducted.
                              management and submit a signed Certificate of Compliance demonstrating
                              ACTION: Conduct initial and annual training on hazardous waste
                              hazardous waste management training has been conducted. CORRECTIVE
                              OBSERVATION: At the time of the inspection Per Mr. Iannetta, noViolation Notes:
                              responsibilities during normal facility operations and emergencies.
                              proper waste handling and emergency procedures, relevant to their
                              Failure to ensure that all employees are thoroughly familiar withViolation Description:
                              40, Chapter 1, Section(s) 262.34(d)(5)(iii)
                              40 CFR 1 262.34(d)(5)(iii) - U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, TitleCitation:
                              03-24-2020Violation Date:
                              California Collision CenterSite Name:
                              101854Site ID:

CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER  (Continued) S102680989

TC7095824.2s   Page 145

Item E - 843 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

Affiliation:

                              -117.616920Longitude:
                              34.041230Latitude:
                              Center of a facility or station.,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10490029Program ID:
                              HWGEnv Int Type Code:
                              California Collision CenterFacility Name:
                              101854Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              04-01-2014Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1642 E FRANCIS STSite Address:
                              California Collision CenterSite Name:
                              101854Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              03-07-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              New facility inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-01-2014Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-24-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:

CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER  (Continued) S102680989

TC7095824.2s   Page 146

Item E - 844 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (562) 881-8780,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Daniel IannettaEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (562) 881-8780,Affiliation Phone:
                              91763Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              MontclairAffiliation City:
                              11180 Fremont AvAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Daniel IannettaEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Daniel IannettaEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Daniel IannettaEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1642 E Francis StAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Daniel IannettaEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER  (Continued) S102680989

TC7095824.2s   Page 147

Item E - 845 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1642 E FRANCIS STContact Address:
                                        DANIEL IANNETTAContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTEROwner Address:
                                        CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTEROwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1642 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        01/23/2013Create Date:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        CAL000381841EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1642 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTERName:

HWTS:

                              (909) 428-9200,Affiliation Phone:
                              92336Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              FontanaAffiliation City:
                              14550 Miller AveAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              G & V PropertiesEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              California Collision centerEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1642 E Francis StAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:

CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER  (Continued) S102680989

TC7095824.2s   Page 148

Item E - 846 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        91761Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1642 E FRANCIS STFacility Address:
                                        CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTERFacility Name:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        2013-01-23 12:22:56.70300Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Not Otherwise SpecifiedNAICS Description:
                                        99999NAICS Code:
                                        2013-01-23 12:22:56.720Create Date:
                                        CAL000381841EPA ID:

                                        91761Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1642 E FRANCIS STFacility Address:
                                        CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTERFacility Name:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        2013-01-23 12:22:56.70300Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Automotive Body, Paint, and Interior Repair and MaintenanceNAICS Description:
                                        811121NAICS Code:
                                        2014-12-16 05:37:50.997Create Date:
                                        CAL000381841EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.616922Longitude:
                                        34.041219Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:

CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER  (Continued) S102680989

                                        2007Year:

                                        1.452Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteDisposal Method:
                                        212 - Oxygenated solvents (acetone, butanol, ethyl acetate, etc.)CA Waste Code:
                                        CAD028409019TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000171073Gepaid:
                                        2008Year:

                                        1602 FREMONT CTMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099233611Telephone:
                                        DAVE TIPPLEContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917618319City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1602 FREMONT CTAddress:
                                        J & W FINISHING INCName:

HAZNET:

328 ft. Site 8 of 9 in cluster C
0.062 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
860 ft.

 

< 1/8 CA HWTSONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE CA San Bern. Co. Permit1602 FREMONT CT    N/A
C39 CA HAZNETJ & W FINISHING INC S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 149

Item E - 847 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAL000171073Gepaid:
                                        2002Year:

                                        1.887Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000171073Gepaid:
                                        2002Year:

                                        2.15Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000171073Gepaid:
                                        2002Year:

                                        1.87Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000171073Gepaid:
                                        2003Year:

                                        2.55Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000171073Gepaid:
                                        2005Year:

                                        0.561Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000171073Gepaid:
                                        2005Year:

                                        0.187Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000171073Gepaid:
                                        2006Year:

                                        2Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000171073Gepaid:
                                        2006Year:

                                        1.089Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteDisposal Method:
                                        212 - Oxygenated solvents (acetone, butanol, ethyl acetate, etc.)CA Waste Code:
                                        CAD028409019TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000171073Gepaid:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 150

Item E - 848 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        212 - Oxygenated solvents (acetone, butanol, ethyl acetate, etc.Waste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        CROSBY & OVERTON INCTrans Name:
                                        CAD028409019TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        AVALON ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000293418Trans EPA ID:
                                        000203774GBFManifest ID:
                                        20070312Receipt Date:
                                        8/11/2007 18:30:05Creation Date:
                                        20070309Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000171073Gen EPA ID:
                                        2007Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        165Waste Quantity:
                                        0.561Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        20273684Manifest ID:
                                        20010405Receipt Date:
                                        6/20/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010405Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000171073Gen EPA ID:
                                        2001Year:

Additional Info:

3 additional CA HAZNET: record(s) in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

                                        Not reportedTons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        -CA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008252405TSD EPA ID:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 151

Item E - 849 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4Xy4pOXwDyzt2H3p3uOUc97qwy3D093Mnz.5tJJ2t2H2Y3iV32Y3KZuba3t7Uptc.f35Y70yqYE9Dgywl3W5B7R0o69m34nCXSGy9b2mTpleOsK8sxwhvDoV2QVzJ3tokA7BHzj32g46K30Zucc5ksUERcJ.42Q7c4qZl4oHyIL34K4wdX9wyfs36VpjQOeD2bXwEdDFe9YDz8ZtKZ2PhHmb3f3BVp3ytutM7dUUgRcPYAOi7okqum4DtyVk3p36lG0Zz9Lp1nqMCanU74Yv.B259hu0VJqcJQO4jzXVXy4d3Z2pRiOMU26CwIjDUNUCUzldtyL3YdHNg3ZR2wO3sduZb66IU8TcQ77g8740q36AMCyoI3ZQ2LZ05v9R652jMe7n9M6vg.qj50lA.WJ.WJfX2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4Xy4pOXwDyzt2H3p3uOUc97qwy3D093Mnz.5tJJ2t2H2Y3iV32Y3KZuba3t7Uptc.f35Y70yqYE9Dgywl3W5B7R0o69m34nCXSGy9b2mTpleOsK8sxwhvDoV2QVzJ3tokA7BHzj32g46K30Zucc5ksUERcJ.42Q7c4qZl4oHyIL34K4wdX9wyfs36VpjQOeD2bXwEdDFe9YDz8ZtKZ2PhHmb3f3BVp3ytutM7dUUgRcPYAOi7okqum4DtyVk3p36lG0Zz9Lp1nqMCanU74Yv.B259hu0VJqcJQO4jzXVXy4d3Z2pRiOMU26CwIjDUNUCUzldtyL3YdHNg3ZR2wO3sduZb66IU8TcQ77g8740q36AMCyoI3ZQ2LZ05v9R652jMe7n9M6vg.qj50lA.WJ.WJfX2


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        110Waste Quantity:
                                        0.374Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        98727950Manifest ID:
                                        20000420Receipt Date:
                                        6/21/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000420Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        165Waste Quantity:
                                        0.561Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        98727837Manifest ID:
                                        20000502Receipt Date:
                                        7/12/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000502Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000171073Gen EPA ID:
                                        2000Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        D001Additional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        330Waste Quantity:
                                        1.089Quantity Tons:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 152

Item E - 850 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        20080314Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000171073Gen EPA ID:
                                        2008Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        110Waste Quantity:
                                        0.374Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        98727997Manifest ID:
                                        20000321Receipt Date:
                                        5/30/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000321Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        275Waste Quantity:
                                        0.935Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        98727366Manifest ID:
                                        20000405Receipt Date:
                                        6/7/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000405Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 153

Item E - 851 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        98408486Manifest ID:
                                        19991026Receipt Date:
                                        1/11/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19991026Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        385Waste Quantity:
                                        1.309Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        98408186Manifest ID:
                                        19991103Receipt Date:
                                        1/11/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19991103Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000171073Gen EPA ID:
                                        1999Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        D001Additional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        440Waste Quantity:
                                        1.452Quantity Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        212 - Oxygenated solvents (acetone, butanol, ethyl acetate, etc.Waste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        CROSBY & OVERTON INCTrans Name:
                                        CAD028409019TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        AVALON ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAL000293418Trans EPA ID:
                                        000327638GBFManifest ID:
                                        20080318Receipt Date:
                                        5/16/2008 18:30:07Creation Date:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 154

Item E - 852 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        98407720Manifest ID:
                                        19991008Receipt Date:
                                        1/4/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19991008Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        330Waste Quantity:
                                        1.122Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        98408579Manifest ID:
                                        19991019Receipt Date:
                                        1/11/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19991019Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        385Waste Quantity:
                                        1.309Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 155

Item E - 853 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        1600Waste Quantity:
                                        0.8Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC RESOURCE RECOVERYTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC COAST LACQUERTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        21953020Manifest ID:
                                        20051025Receipt Date:
                                        7/12/2006 18:31:35Creation Date:
                                        20051025Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.187Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC RESOURCE RECOVERYTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC COAST LACQUERTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        21953049Manifest ID:
                                        20051102Receipt Date:
                                        7/12/2006 18:30:47Creation Date:
                                        20051102Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000171073Gen EPA ID:
                                        2005Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        385Waste Quantity:
                                        1.309Quantity Tons:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 156

Item E - 854 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        20030916Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000171073Gen EPA ID:
                                        2003Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        110Waste Quantity:
                                        0.374Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC RESOURCE RECOVERYTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC COAST LACQUERTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        22900116Manifest ID:
                                        20050113Receipt Date:
                                        6/3/2005 18:31:06Creation Date:
                                        20050113Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        3500Waste Quantity:
                                        1.75Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC RESOURCE RECOVERYTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC COAST LACQUERTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        22900116Manifest ID:
                                        20050113Receipt Date:
                                        6/3/2005 18:31:06Creation Date:
                                        20050113Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 157

Item E - 855 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        21644791Manifest ID:
                                        20020809Receipt Date:
                                        3/14/2003 18:31:30Creation Date:
                                        20020809Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        555Waste Quantity:
                                        1.887Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        21644791Manifest ID:
                                        20020809Receipt Date:
                                        3/14/2003 18:31:30Creation Date:
                                        20020809Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000171073Gen EPA ID:
                                        2002Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        550Waste Quantity:
                                        1.87Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC RESOURCE RECOVERYTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC COAST LACQUERTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        21952411Manifest ID:
                                        20030916Receipt Date:
                                        8/3/2004 15:00:31Creation Date:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 158

Item E - 856 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL921764910Trans EPA ID:
                                        21645100Manifest ID:
                                        20020712Receipt Date:
                                        1/21/2003 18:31:48Creation Date:
                                        20020711Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        Not reportedQuantity Unit:
                                        Not reportedWaste Quantity:
                                        Not reportedQuantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        - Not reportedWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL921764910Trans EPA ID:
                                        21645100Manifest ID:
                                        20020712Receipt Date:
                                        1/21/2003 18:31:48Creation Date:
                                        20020711Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        2800Waste Quantity:
                                        1.4Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 159

Item E - 857 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        4000Waste Quantity:
                                        2Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC RESOURCE RECOVERYTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC COAST LACQUERTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        25087386Manifest ID:
                                        20060222Receipt Date:
                                        6/22/2006 18:34:40Creation Date:
                                        20060222Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.187Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC RESOURCE RECOVERYTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        PACIFIC COAST LACQUERTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405Trans EPA ID:
                                        25087386Manifest ID:
                                        20060222Receipt Date:
                                        6/22/2006 18:34:40Creation Date:
                                        20060222Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000171073Gen EPA ID:
                                        2006Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        1500Waste Quantity:
                                        0.75Quantity Tons:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 160

Item E - 858 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        2002-03-14 16:36:28.000Create Date:
                                        CAL000171073EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.617212Longitude:
                                        34.038877Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917618319City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1602 FREMONT CTContact Address:
                                        DAVE TIPPLEContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917618319Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1602 FREMONT CTOwner Address:
                                        J & W FINISHING INCOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917618319Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1602 FREMONT CTMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        07/29/1999Create Date:
                                        06/30/2008Inactive Date:
                                        CAL000171073EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1602 FREMONT CTAddress:
                                        J & W FINISHING INCName:

HWTS:

05/31/2008Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0007959Permit Number:
J & W FINISHING INCOwner:
FA0004049Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1602 FREMONT CTAddress:
J & W FINISHING INCName:

05/31/2008Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0007960Permit Number:
J & W FINISHING INCOwner:
FA0004049Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1602 FREMONT CTAddress:
J & W FINISHING INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

TC7095824.2s   Page 161

Item E - 859 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        917618319Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1602 FREMONT CTFacility Address:
                                        J & W FINISHING INCFacility Name:
                                        2008-06-30 00:00:00Inactive Date:
                                        1999-07-29 00:00:00Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Carpentry ContractorsNAICS Description:
                                        23551NAICS Code:

J & W FINISHING INC  (Continued) S104580348

                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                PrivateOperator Type:
                              J & W FINISHING, INC.Operator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              J & W FINISHING, INC.Owner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1602 FREMONT COURTMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                PrivateLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                DAVE_FINISHING@HOTMAIL.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-923-3611Contact Telephone:
                                                                                Not reportedContact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Address:
                                                                                DAVID TIPPLEContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000171073EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1602 FREMONT COURTHandler Address:
                              J & W FINISHING INC.Handler Name:
                                                                                20060606Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-SQG:

328 ft. Site 9 of 9 in cluster C
0.062 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
860 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE 1602 FREMONT COURT CAL000171073
C40 RCRA-SQGJ & W FINISHING INC. 1010313136

TC7095824.2s   Page 162

Item E - 860 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:
Handler - Owner Operator:

                              IGNITABLE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D001Waste Code:

Hazardous Waste Summary:

Click Here for Biennial Reporting System Data:

                                        2005Year:
Biennial: List of Years

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20070305Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:

J & W FINISHING INC.  (Continued) 1010313136

TC7095824.2s   Page 163

Item E - 861 of 2173

https://enviro.epa.gov/enviro/brs_report_v2.get_data?hand_id=CAL000171073&rep_year=2005


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          J & W FINISHING INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20060606Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1602 FREMONT COURTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19900801Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          J & W FINISHING, INC.Owner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19900801Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          J & W FINISHING, INC.Owner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1602 FREMONT COURTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19900801Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          J & W FINISHING, INC.Owner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19900801Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          J & W FINISHING, INC.Owner/Operator Name:

J & W FINISHING INC.  (Continued) 1010313136

TC7095824.2s   Page 164

Item E - 862 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              FRAMING CONTRACTORSNAICS Description:
                              23813NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          J & W FINISHING INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20060606Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:

J & W FINISHING INC.  (Continued) 1010313136

05/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0005471Permit Number:
DRUKE, EDWARDOwner:
FA0006584Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1644 E FRANCIS STAddress:
TARGET DIESEL,INC.Name:

05/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:
PT0005470Permit Number:
DRUKE, EDWARDOwner:
FA0006584Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1644 E FRANCIS STAddress:
TARGET DIESEL,INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

349 ft. Site 14 of 14 in cluster B
0.066 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
870 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ENE 1644 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
B41 CA San Bern. Co. PermitTARGET DIESEL,INC. S104770896

TC7095824.2s   Page 165

Item E - 863 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

05/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:
PT0007848Permit Number:
LOOMIS FARGO & COMPANYOwner:
FA0004477Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1939 S AUGUSTA CTAddress:
LOOMIS FARGO & COName:

05/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0007847Permit Number:
LOOMIS FARGO & COMPANYOwner:
FA0004477Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1939 S AUGUSTA CTAddress:
LOOMIS FARGO & COName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

356 ft. Site 4 of 13 in cluster E
0.067 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
857 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW 1939 S AUGUSTA CT    N/A
E42 CA San Bern. Co. PermitLOOMIS FARGO & CO S105047413

09/30/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0023780Permit Number:
WestAir Gases and Equipment, Inc.Owner:
FA0013441Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1830 BAKER STAddress:
WESTAIR GASES & EQUIP INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

374 ft. Site 1 of 3 in cluster G
0.071 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
866 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
East 1830 BAKER ST    N/A
G43 CA San Bern. Co. PermitWESTAIR GASES & EQUIP INC S110656335

                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1830 S BAKER AVEHandler Address:
                              BOATS BY ESSEX DBA ESSEX BOATSHandler Name:
                                                                                20120515Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

374 ft. Site 2 of 3 in cluster G
0.071 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
866 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
East 1830 S BAKER AVE CAL000374531
G44 RCRA NonGen / NLRBOATS BY ESSEX DBA ESSEX BOATS 1025868572

TC7095824.2s   Page 166

Item E - 864 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                YesRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              CYNTHIA SANCHEZOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              CYNTHIA SANCHEZOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1830 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                ESSEX@ESSEXBOATS.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-930-1966Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-923-7739Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1830 S BAKER AVEContact Address:
                                                                                CYNTHIA SANCHEZContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000374531EPA ID:

BOATS BY ESSEX DBA ESSEX BOATS  (Continued) 1025868572

TC7095824.2s   Page 167

Item E - 865 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            Not reportedRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          BOATS BY ESSEX DBA ESSEX BOATSHandler Name:
                                                            20120515Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-7739Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1830 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          CYNTHIA SANCHEZOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-7739Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1830 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          CYNTHIA SANCHEZOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20190628Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:

BOATS BY ESSEX DBA ESSEX BOATS  (Continued) 1025868572

TC7095824.2s   Page 168

Item E - 866 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              OTHER PERSONAL AND HOUSEHOLD GOODS REPAIR AND MAINTENANCENAICS Description:
                              81149NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            Not reportedSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            Not reportedSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:

BOATS BY ESSEX DBA ESSEX BOATS  (Continued) 1025868572

                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              CINDY SANCHEZOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              ESSEX BOATSOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1830 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                CINDY@ESSEXBOATS.OMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-923-7739Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1830 S BAKER AVEContact Address:
                                                                                CINDY SANCHEZContact Name:
                                                                                CAC003128704EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1830 S BAKER AVEHandler Address:
                              ESSEX BOATSHandler Name:
                                                                                20210709Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

374 ft. Site 3 of 3 in cluster G
0.071 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
866 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
East 1830 S BAKER AVE CAC003128704
G45 RCRA NonGen / NLRESSEX BOATS 1026816012

TC7095824.2s   Page 169

Item E - 867 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          CINDY SANCHEZOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20210709Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:

ESSEX BOATS  (Continued) 1026816012

TC7095824.2s   Page 170

Item E - 868 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              BOAT BUILDINGNAICS Description:
                              336612NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          ESSEX BOATSHandler Name:
                                                            20210709Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-7739Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1830 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ESSEX BOATSOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-7739Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1830 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:

ESSEX BOATS  (Continued) 1026816012

                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1943 SOUTH AUGUSTA CTHandler Address:
                              CUES INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20200227Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

377 ft. Site 5 of 13 in cluster E
0.071 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
857 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW 1943 SOUTH AUGUSTA CT CAL000453106
E46 RCRA NonGen / NLRCUES INC 1026056914

TC7095824.2s   Page 171

Item E - 869 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              JULIE JAMESOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              CUES INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1943 SOUTH AUGUSTA CTMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                JULIEJ@CUESINC.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-923-2091Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-923-2001Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1943 SOUTH AUGUSTA CTContact Address:
                                                                                JULIE JAMESContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000453106EPA ID:

CUES INC  (Continued) 1026056914

TC7095824.2s   Page 172

Item E - 870 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          CUES INCHandler Name:
                                                            20200227Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-2001Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1943 SOUTH AUGUSTA CTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JULIE JAMESOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            407-849-0190Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ORLANDO, FL 32805Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            3600 RIO VISTA AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          CUES INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20200306Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:

CUES INC  (Continued) 1026056914

TC7095824.2s   Page 173

Item E - 871 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              APPLIANCE REPAIR AND MAINTENANCENAICS Description:
                              811412NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:

CUES INC  (Continued) 1026056914

                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              GREG NOVOSEL - G.M.Operator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              DOUG NEALOwner Name:
                                                                                HUNTINGTON BEACH, CA 92647-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                17382 GOTHARD STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                GNOVOSEL@GROWINGCONCERN.COMContact Email:
                                                                                714-843-5138Contact Fax:
                                                                                714-843-5137Contact Telephone:
                                                                                HUNTINGTON BEACH, CA 92647Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                17382 GOTHARD STContact Address:
                                                                                GREG NOVOSEL - G.M.Contact Name:
                                                                                CAL000420172EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91760Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1648 E FRANCES STHandler Address:
                              A GROWING CONCERN LANDSCAPESHandler Name:
                                                                                20160913Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

378 ft. Site 1 of 2 in cluster H
0.072 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
870 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91760
ENE 1648 E FRANCES ST CAL000420172
H47 RCRA NonGen / NLRA GROWING CONCERN LANDSCAPES 1024856334

TC7095824.2s   Page 174

Item E - 872 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          DOUG NEALOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180907Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:

A GROWING CONCERN LANDSCAPES  (Continued) 1024856334

TC7095824.2s   Page 175

Item E - 873 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              OTHER SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL CONSULTING SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              54169NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          A GROWING CONCERN LANDSCAPESHandler Name:
                                                            20160913Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            714-843-5137Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            HUNTINGTON BEACH, CA 92647Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            17382 GOTHARD STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          GREG NOVOSEL - G.M.Owner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            714-843-5137Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            HUNTINGTON BEACH, CA 92647-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            17382 GOTHARD STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:

A GROWING CONCERN LANDSCAPES  (Continued) 1024856334

SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT JAddress:
DISCOUNT SAW SERVICEName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

381 ft. Site 6 of 13 in cluster E
0.072 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
857 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT J    N/A
E48 CA San Bern. Co. PermitDISCOUNT SAW SERVICE S106446648

TC7095824.2s   Page 176

Item E - 874 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

05/31/2008Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0014708Permit Number:
MOHLER, TIMOTHY & DEBBIEOwner:
FA0008428Facility ID:

DISCOUNT SAW SERVICE  (Continued) S106446648

05/31/2014Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0014710Permit Number:
APC MACHINE INC.Owner:
FA0008430Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1942 AUGUSTA CT STE CAddress:
APC MACHINE INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

381 ft. Site 7 of 13 in cluster E
0.072 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
857 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW 1942 AUGUSTA CT STE C    N/A
E49 CA San Bern. Co. PermitAPC MACHINE INC S106446650

05/31/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0014707Permit Number:
V.L. AUTO BODYOwner:
FA0008427Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT PAddress:
V.L. AUTO BODYName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

381 ft. Site 8 of 13 in cluster E
0.072 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
857 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT P    N/A
E50 CA San Bern. Co. PermitV.L. AUTO BODY S106446645

                              10119421CERS ID:
                              55787Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT PAddress:
                              PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDUAL (PSI)Name:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

381 ft. Site 9 of 13 in cluster E
0.072 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
857 ft.

 

< 1/8 CA CERSONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW CA San Bern. Co. Permit1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT P    N/A
E51 CA CERS HAZ WASTEPAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDUAL (PSI) S106446649

TC7095824.2s   Page 177

Item E - 875 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              55787Site ID:
Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10119421CERS ID:
                              55787Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT PAddress:
                              PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDUAL (PSI)Name:

CERS:

05/31/2005Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0014709Permit Number:
DARBY, JOHNOwner:
FA0008429Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1942 AUGUSTA CT GAddress:
INLAND VALLEY PRECISION MFGName:

05/31/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0014958Permit Number:
DARBY, JOHNOwner:
FA0008429Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1942 AUGUSTA CT GAddress:
INLAND VALLEY PRECISION MFGName:

11/30/2018Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER GENERAL ACT.(NB)Permit Category:
PT0038355Permit Number:
PAUL SMOOTOwner:
FA0012879Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT PAddress:
PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDUAL (PSI)Name:

11/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATOR SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0022505Permit Number:
PAUL SMOOTOwner:
FA0012879Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT PAddress:
PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDUAL (PSI)Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:

PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDUAL (PSI)  (Continued) S106446649

TC7095824.2s   Page 178

Item E - 876 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              03-01-2016Violation Date:
                              Paul Smoot- Individual (PSI)Site Name:
                              55787Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              FOR 3 YEARS
                              disposal receipts for at least 3 years (CHSC 25160.2(b)(3)) MAINTAIN
                              Returned to compliance on 08/23/2017. Failure to maintain used oilViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              03-01-2016Violation Date:
                              Paul Smoot- Individual (PSI)Site Name:
                              55787Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              facility’s EPA ID number.
                              signed certificate of compliance to indicate you have reactivated the
                              waste without an active EPA ID number. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit a
                              store, dispose of, transport or offer for transportation, hazardous
                              ID number is inactive. A hazardous waste generator shall not treat,
                              Returned to compliance on 05/16/2019. OBSERVATION: The generator’s EPAViolation Notes:
                              hazardous waste.
                              disposing of, transporting or offering for transportation any
                              Failure to obtain an Identification Number prior to treating, storing,Violation Description:
                              12, Section(s) 66262.12
                              22 CCR 12 66262.12 - California Code of Regulations, Title 22, ChapterCitation:
                              04-01-2019Violation Date:
                              Paul Smoot- Individual (PSI)Site Name:
                              55787Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste lawfully (CHSC 25154) CONDUCT WEEKLY INSPECTIONS
                              Returned to compliance on 08/23/2017. Failure to manage hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              03-01-2016Violation Date:
                              Paul Smoot- Individual (PSI)Site Name:
                              55787Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers (CCR 66262.34(f)(3)) WASTE SOLVENT NOT LABELED
                              Returned to compliance on 08/23/2017. Failure to label hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              03-01-2016Violation Date:
                              Paul Smoot- Individual (PSI)Site Name:

PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDUAL (PSI)  (Continued) S106446649

TC7095824.2s   Page 179

Item E - 877 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Returned to compliance on 10/06/2016. Failure to obtain an EPA IDViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              03-01-2016Violation Date:
                              Paul Smoot- Individual (PSI)Site Name:
                              55787Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              YEARS
                              Waste Manifests for at least 3 years (CCR 66262.40(a)) MAINTAIN FOR 3
                              Returned to compliance on 08/23/2017. Failure to retain HazardousViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              03-01-2016Violation Date:
                              Paul Smoot- Individual (PSI)Site Name:
                              55787Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2)) WASTE SOLVENT NOT LABELED
                              Returned to compliance on 08/23/2017. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              03-01-2016Violation Date:
                              Paul Smoot- Individual (PSI)Site Name:
                              55787Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              being activated.
                              Submit a signed certificate of compliance with proof of the EPA ID
                              assigned to the facility was found to be inactive. CORRECTIVE ACTION:
                              Returned to compliance on 02/18/2022. OBSERVATION: The EPA ID numberViolation Notes:
                              hazardous waste.
                              disposing of, transporting or offering for transportation any
                              Failure to obtain an Identification Number prior to treating, storing,Violation Description:
                              12, Section(s) 66262.12
                              22 CCR 12 66262.12 - California Code of Regulations, Title 22, ChapterCitation:
                              02-03-2022Violation Date:
                              Paul Smoot- Individual (PSI)Site Name:
                              55787Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(3)) WASTE SOLVENT NOT LABELED
                              Returned to compliance on 08/23/2017. Failure to complete hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:

PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDUAL (PSI)  (Continued) S106446649

TC7095824.2s   Page 180

Item E - 878 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1942 AUGUSTA ST, STE PAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PAUL SMOOTEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PSIEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-01-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              HAZARDOUS WASTE INSPECTION FOR PAUL SMOOTEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-01-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              02-03-2022Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Number (CCR 66262.12(a)) EPA ID INACTIVE

PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDUAL (PSI)  (Continued) S106446649

TC7095824.2s   Page 181

Item E - 879 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (909) 709-8053,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PAUL SMOOTEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 709-8053,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1942 AUGUST CT, UNIT PAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PAUL SMOOTEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91701Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ALTA LOMAAffiliation City:
                              8849 HAMILTON STAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:

PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDUAL (PSI)  (Continued) S106446649

ANTISTA DIESEL REPAIR INCName:

05/31/2008Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:
PT0005475Permit Number:
ANTISTA, TIMOwner:
FA0000974Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1652 E FRANCIS STAddress:
ANTISTA DIESEL REPAIR INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

388 ft. Site 2 of 2 in cluster H
0.073 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
870 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ENE 1652 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
H52 CA San Bern. Co. PermitANTISTA DIESEL REPAIR INC S102039866

TC7095824.2s   Page 182

Item E - 880 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

05/31/2008Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0005476Permit Number:
ANTISTA, TIMOwner:
FA0000974Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1652 E FRANCIS STAddress:

ANTISTA DIESEL REPAIR INC  (Continued) S102039866

                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                PrivateOperator Type:
                              NOT REQUIREDOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              RE CAPOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                S AUGUSTAMailing Address:
                                                                                4State District:
                                                                                CAState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                714-947-2330Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1943 S AUGUSTAContact Address:
                                                                                ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGERContact Name:
                                                                                CAD981373814EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1943 S AUGUSTAHandler Address:
                              KAUF KAR INCHandler Name:
                                                                                19860128Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-SQG:

394 ft. Site 10 of 13 in cluster E
0.075 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
857 ft.

 

< 1/8 ECHOONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW FINDS1943 S AUGUSTA CAD981373814
E53 RCRA-SQGKAUF KAR INC 1000227000

TC7095824.2s   Page 183

Item E - 881 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          RE CAPOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20000915Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:

KAUF KAR INC  (Continued) 1000227000

TC7095824.2s   Page 184

Item E - 882 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                   KAUF KAR INCName:
                                   http://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110002684998DFR URL:
                                   110002684998Registry ID:
                                   1000227000Envid:

ECHO:

additional FINDS: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of
RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource

Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110002684998Registry ID:
FINDS:

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                                                            No NAICS Codes FoundNAICS Codes:
List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            CAState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          KAUF KAR INCHandler Name:
                                                            19860128Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Name:

KAUF KAR INC  (Continued) 1000227000

TC7095824.2s   Page 185

Item E - 883 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=49.4cI9C3.Fr2X9ce8IcG9GRCX83WV3XMFHGrfa2VfXI39sh3mWem.8Vu3XkcdxGHs36SG.5RDA9JlX8e8v7BlTWUsVjB4VX9Qw.QL2mpc88Id78DCCiE3no2e6F6kraXA8DXtX9a64nceEc8j957PcR.G2X4J7GaERz243sX7P8p64Pf97t.CA33ncrWIuK2hkCfN37z9ACFI8r8k25iX9o9HGB8zei382L7GocFxGMSAsqGbxR7Q4PmXSh8Zz6RzWlYVPv1dzXw9Mle44VHzgGM9uqvf28afh4io9fp.IP3TkcjnIuI2CsCZ33tr3qMFNgrA72kRX2r9DU2Q4e.J8FQ28ScDYG0W4VYGq2RJ94LQXwx85s9PBWYzVDb2CxXJIMho2eMHmoGsI2abfdMafB2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=49.4cI9C3.Fr2X9ce8IcG9GRCX83WV3XMFHGrfa2VfXI39sh3mWem.8Vu3XkcdxGHs36SG.5RDA9JlX8e8v7BlTWUsVjB4VX9Qw.QL2mpc88Id78DCCiE3no2e6F6kraXA8DXtX9a64nceEc8j957PcR.G2X4J7GaERz243sX7P8p64Pf97t.CA33ncrWIuK2hkCfN37z9ACFI8r8k25iX9o9HGB8zei382L7GocFxGMSAsqGbxR7Q4PmXSh8Zz6RzWlYVPv1dzXw9Mle44VHzgGM9uqvf28afh4io9fp.IP3TkcjnIuI2CsCZ33tr3qMFNgrA72kRX2r9DU2Q4e.J8FQ28ScDYG0W4VYGq2RJ94LQXwx85s9PBWYzVDb2CxXJIMho2eMHmoGsI2abfdMafB2
https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110002684998


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                   ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                   1943 S AUGUSTAAddress:

KAUF KAR INC  (Continued) 1000227000

09/30/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEES (W/GEN PRMT)Permit Category:
PT0009192Permit Number:
The Sherwin-Williams Co.Owner:
FA0006160Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1486 E FRANCIS ST STE 10Address:
SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO #8133Name:

09/30/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS WASTE GENERATOR - 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0018436Permit Number:
The Sherwin-Williams Co.Owner:
FA0006160Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1486 E FRANCIS ST STE 10Address:
SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO #8133Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

412 ft. Site 3 of 3 in cluster D
0.078 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
863 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
West 1486 E FRANCIS ST STE 10    N/A
D54 CA San Bern. Co. PermitSHERWIN WILLIAMS CO #8133 S103369344

                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                APC1942@GMAIL.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-930-1222Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1942 AUGUSTA AVE SUITE CContact Address:
                                                                                ANNA HERRERAContact Name:
                                                                                CAC002989735EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1942 AUGUSTA AVE SUITE CHandler Address:
                              APC MACHINE INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20181116Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

468 ft. Site 11 of 13 in cluster E
0.089 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
855 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW 1942 AUGUSTA AVE SUITE C CAC002989735
E55 RCRA NonGen / NLRAPC MACHINE INC 1024769836

TC7095824.2s   Page 186

Item E - 884 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              ANNA HERRERAOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              ANNA HERRERAOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1942 AUGUSTA AVE SUITE CMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:

APC MACHINE INC  (Continued) 1024769836

TC7095824.2s   Page 187

Item E - 885 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          APC MACHINE INCHandler Name:
                                                            20181116Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-1222Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1942 AUGUSTA AVE SUITE COwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ANNA HERRERAOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-1222Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1942 AUGUSTA AVE SUITE COwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ANNA HERRERAOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20181120Handler Date of Last Change:

APC MACHINE INC  (Continued) 1024769836

TC7095824.2s   Page 188

Item E - 886 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

APC MACHINE INC  (Continued) 1024769836

05/31/2013Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0014706Permit Number:
KEMMER, TOMOwner:
FA0008426Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1942 AUGUSTA AVE STE AAddress:
PARTS ON TIMEName:

05/31/2014Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0014705Permit Number:
KEMMER, TOMOwner:
FA0008426Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1942 AUGUSTA AVE STE AAddress:
PARTS ON TIMEName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

468 ft. Site 12 of 13 in cluster E
0.089 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
855 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW 1942 AUGUSTA AVE STE A    N/A
E56 CA San Bern. Co. PermitPARTS ON TIME S106446646

                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                SMOOTYBUILT@YAHOO.COMContact Email:
                                                                                866-902-0580Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-709-8053Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ALTA LOMA, CA 91701Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                8849 HAMILTON STContact Address:
                                                                                PAUL SMOOTContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000348024EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-8317Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1942 S AUGUSTA AVE STE PHandler Address:
                              PAUL SMOOTHandler Name:
                                                                                20091117Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

468 ft. Site 13 of 13 in cluster E
0.089 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
855 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW 1942 S AUGUSTA AVE STE P CAL000348024
E57 RCRA NonGen / NLRPAUL SMOOT 1027090954

TC7095824.2s   Page 189

Item E - 887 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              PAUL SMOOTOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              PAUL SMOOTOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1942 S AUGUSTA AVE STE PMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:

PAUL SMOOT  (Continued) 1027090954

TC7095824.2s   Page 190

Item E - 888 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              AUTOMOTIVE BODY, PAINT, AND INTERIOR REPAIR AND MAINTENANCENAICS Description:
                              811121NAICS Code:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            Not reportedSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            Not reportedSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            Not reportedRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            Not reportedRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          PAUL SMOOTHandler Name:
                                                            20091117Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-709-8053Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ALTA LOMA, CA 91701Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            8849 HAMILTON STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          PAUL SMOOTOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-709-8053Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            RANCHO CUCAMONGA, CA 91701-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            8849 HAMILTON STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          PAUL SMOOTOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20220223Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:

PAUL SMOOT  (Continued) 1027090954

TC7095824.2s   Page 191

Item E - 889 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

PAUL SMOOT  (Continued) 1027090954

                                                  Not reportedMTBE Date:
                                                  -117.6166865Longitude:
                                                  34.0377859Latitude:
                                                  LUSTOversite Program:
                                                  Not reportedInterim:
                                                  Not reportedFacility Contact:
                                                  Not reportedOperator:
                                                  Not reportedSoil Qualifies:
                                                  Not reportedGW Qualifies:
                                                  Not reportedEnter Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Post Remedial Action Monitoring:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remedial Action Underway:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remediation Plan Submitted:
                                                  Not reportedDate Pollution Characterization Began:
                                                  3/24/1993Date Prelim Assessment Workplan Submitted:
                                                  6/15/1993Close Date:
                                                  Not reportedEnforcement Date:
                                                  Not reportedDiscover Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Preliminary Assessment Began:
                                                  Not reportedDate Confirmation of Leak Began:
                                                  Not reportedEnter Date:
                                                  Not reportedHow Stopped Date:
                                                  T0607100333Global ID:
                                                  UNKLeak Source:
                                                  UNKLeak Cause:
                                                  Not reportedHow Stopped:
                                                  Not reportedHow Discovered:
                                                  Not reportedFunding:
                                                  CLOSEnf Type:
                                                  Not reportedCross Street:
                                                  Not reportedAbate Method:
                                                  Not reportedQty Leaked:
                                                  HydrocarbonsSubstance:
                                                  Soil onlyCase Type:
                                                  87021Local Case Num:
                                                  083602472TCase Number:
                                                  Case ClosedFacility Status:
                                                  Santa Ana RegionRegional Board:
                                                  San BernardinoCounty:
                                                  8Region:
                                                  ONTARIOCity:
                                                  1621 CEDAR STAddress:
                                                  CLASSIC FENCE COMPANYName:

LUST REG 8:

584 ft. Site 1 of 8 in cluster I
0.111 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE CA HIST CORTESE1621    N/A
I58 CA LUSTCLASSIC FENCE COMPANY S102428126

TC7095824.2s   Page 192

Item E - 890 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    083602472TReg Id:
                    LTNKAReg By:
                    36Facility County Code:
                    CORTESERegion:
                    ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                    1621edr_fadd1:
                    CLASSIC FENCE COMPANYedr_fname:

HIST CORTESE:

Not reportedSummary:
                                                  Not reportedWork Suspended:
                                                  Not reportedCleanup Fund Id:
                                                  Not reportedPriority:
                                                  Not reportedBeneficial:
                                                  UPPER SANTA ANA VALLHydr Basin #:
                                                  36000LLocal Agency:
                                                  Local AgencyLead Agency:
                                                  LH6Staff Initials:
                                                  VJJStaff:
                                                  *MTBE Class:
                                                  Not Required to be Tested.MTBE Tested:
                                                  0MTBE Fuel:
                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE Soil:
                                                  0MTBE Concentration:
                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE GW:

CLASSIC FENCE COMPANY  (Continued) S102428126

                                        Regeneration, Organics Recovery Ect
                                        H039 - Other Recovery Of Reclamation For Reuse Including AcidDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080013352TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000309503Gepaid:
                                        2016Year:

                                        0.07500Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000520478TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000309503Gepaid:
                                        2019Year:

                                        1621 E CEDAR STMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099231100Telephone:
                                        ERIN CROSBYContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917617718City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1621 E CEDAR STAddress:
                                        SHALIMAR INCName:

HAZNET:

584 ft. Site 2 of 8 in cluster I
0.111 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

< 1/8 CA HWTSONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE CA San Bern. Co. Permit1621 E CEDAR ST    N/A
I59 CA HAZNETSHALIMAR INC S113143675

TC7095824.2s   Page 193

Item E - 891 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

PT0014852Permit Number:
H & L Charter Co., Inc.Owner:
FA0008543Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1621 E CEDAR STAddress:
H & L CHARTER CO., INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        1500Waste Quantity:
                                        0.75Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SIEMENS WATER TECHNOLOGIES CORPTrans Name:
                                        CAD097030993TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ASBURY ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD028277036Trans EPA ID:
                                        008149975JJKManifest ID:
                                        20110519Receipt Date:
                                        7/8/2011 18:30:12Creation Date:
                                        20110511Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000309503Gen EPA ID:
                                        2011Year:

Additional Info:

                                        0.75Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD097030993TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000309503Gepaid:
                                        2011Year:

                                        0.05Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000501510TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000309503Gepaid:
                                        2016Year:

                                        0.756Tons:

SHALIMAR INC  (Continued) S113143675

TC7095824.2s   Page 194

Item E - 892 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1621 E CEDAR STOwner Address:
                                        JASON CROSBYOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917617718Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1621 E CEDAR STMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        07/25/2006Create Date:
                                        06/30/2021Inactive Date:
                                        CAL000309503EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1621 E CEDAR STAddress:
                                        SHALIMAR INCName:

                                        -117.617136Longitude:
                                        34.03802798Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1621 E CEDAR STContact Address:
                                        JODI MERRITTContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1621 E CEDAR STOwner Address:
                                        H&L CHARTER CO INCOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1621 E CEDAR STMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        08/26/2021Create Date:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        CAL000465090EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1621 E CEDAR STAddress:
                                        H & L CHARTER CO INCName:

HWTS:

08/31/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0014851Permit Number:
H & L Charter Co., Inc.Owner:
FA0008543Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1621 E CEDAR STAddress:
H & L CHARTER CO., INC.Name:

08/31/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:

SHALIMAR INC  (Continued) S113143675

TC7095824.2s   Page 195

Item E - 893 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        917617718Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1621 E CEDAR STFacility Address:
                                        SHALIMAR INCFacility Name:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        2006-07-25 15:25:35.96000Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Ambulance ServicesNAICS Description:
                                        62191NAICS Code:
                                        2006-07-25 15:25:36.023Create Date:
                                        CAL000309503EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.616722Longitude:
                                        34.037694Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1621 E CEDAR STContact Address:
                                        ERIN CROSBYContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Owner City,State,Zip:

SHALIMAR INC  (Continued) S113143675

                         SANTA ANA RWQCB (REGION 8)Organization Name:
                         VALERIE JAHN-BULLContact Name:
                         Regional Board CaseworkerContact Type:
                         T0607100333Global Id:

LUST:

                              Not reportedSite History:
                              Other Solvent or Non-Petroleum HydrocarbonPotential Contaminants of Concern:
                              SoilPotential Media Affect:
                              87021Local Case Number:
                              Local AgencyFile Location:
                              Not reportedLocal Agency:
                              083602472TRB Case Number:
                              Not reportedCase Worker:
                              06/15/1993Status Date:
                              Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                              -117.617136Longitude:
                              34.038029Latitude:
                              T0607100333Global Id:
                              http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?global_id=T0607100333Geo Track:
                              LUST Cleanup SiteCase Type:
                              SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYLead Agency:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1621 E CEDAR STAddress:
                              CLASSIC FENCE COMPANYName:

LUST:

584 ft. Site 3 of 8 in cluster I
0.111 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

< 1/8 CA CERSONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE CA Cortese1621 E CEDAR ST    N/A
I60 CA LUSTCLASSIC FENCE COMPANY S106446661

TC7095824.2s   Page 196

Item E - 894 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Active OpenFile Name:
                              Not reportedWaste Management Uit Name:
                              Not reportedSolid Waste Id No:
                              Not reportedWID Id:
                              Not reportedRegion 2:
                              Not reportedEffective Date:
                              Not reportedWaste Discharge System No:
                              Not reportedOrder No:
                              activeFlag:
                              Not reportedSwat R:
                              Not reportedEnf Type:
                              Not reportedOwner:
                              Not reportedLongitude:
                              Not reportedLatitude:
                              Not reportedSite Code:
                              Not reportedStatus Date:
                              COMPLETED - CASE CLOSEDCleanup Status:
                              LUST CLEANUP SITESite/Facility Type:
                              T0607100333Global ID:
                              Not reportedEnvirostor Id:
                              CORTESERegion:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1621 E CEDAR STAddress:
                              CLASSIC FENCE COMPANYName:

CORTESE:

                         06/15/1993Status Date:
                         Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                         T0607100333Global Id:

                         03/24/1993Status Date:
                         Open - Site AssessmentStatus:
                         T0607100333Global Id:

                         02/23/1993Status Date:
                         Open - Case Begin DateStatus:
                         T0607100333Global Id:

LUST:

                         Leak ReportedAction:
                         03/24/1993Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100333Global Id:

                         Closure/No Further Action LetterAction:
                         06/15/1993Date:
                         ENFORCEMENTAction Type:
                         T0607100333Global Id:

LUST:

                         9517824903Phone Number:
                         valerie.jahn-bull@waterboards.ca.govEmail:
                         RIVERSIDECity:
                         3737 MAIN STREET, SUITE 500Address:

CLASSIC FENCE COMPANY  (Continued) S106446661

TC7095824.2s   Page 197

Item E - 895 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              9517824903,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              RIVERSIDEAffiliation City:
                              3737 MAIN STREET, SUITE 500Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              VALERIE JAHN-BULL - SANTA ANA RWQCB (REGION 8)Entity Name:
                              Regional Board CaseworkerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              Leaking Underground Storage Tank Cleanup SiteCERS Description:
                              T0607100333CERS ID:
                              226392Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1621 E CEDAR STAddress:
                              CLASSIC FENCE COMPANYName:

CERS:

CLASSIC FENCE COMPANY  (Continued) S106446661

                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              JODI MERRITTOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              H&L CHARTER CO INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1621 E CEDAR STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                JODI.MERRITT@HLCHARTER.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-466-3984Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-466-3984Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1621 E CEDAR STContact Address:
                                                                                JODI MERRITTContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000465090EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1621 E CEDAR STHandler Address:
                              H & L CHARTER CO INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20210826Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

584 ft. Site 4 of 8 in cluster I
0.111 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE 1621 E CEDAR ST CAL000465090
I61 RCRA NonGen / NLRH & L CHARTER CO INC 1027091608

TC7095824.2s   Page 198

Item E - 896 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          H&L CHARTER CO INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20211011Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:

H & L CHARTER CO INC  (Continued) 1027091608

TC7095824.2s   Page 199

Item E - 897 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              CHARTER BUS INDUSTRYNAICS Description:
                              485510NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          H & L CHARTER CO INCHandler Name:
                                                            20210826Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-466-3984Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1621 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JODI MERRITTOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-466-3984Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1621 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:

H & L CHARTER CO INC  (Continued) 1027091608

TC7095824.2s   Page 200

Item E - 898 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              ERIN CROSBYOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              JASON CROSBYOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-7718Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1621 E CEDAR STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                ERIN@CALIFORNIABUSSERVICE.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-923-4412Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-923-1100Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1621 E CEDAR STContact Address:
                                                                                ERIN CROSBYContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000309503EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-7718Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1621 E CEDAR STHandler Address:
                              SHALIMAR INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20060725Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

584 ft. Site 5 of 8 in cluster I
0.111 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE 1621 E CEDAR ST CAL000309503
I62 RCRA NonGen / NLRSHALIMAR INC 1024814549

TC7095824.2s   Page 201

Item E - 899 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-1100Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1621 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JASON CROSBYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-1100Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1621 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ERIN CROSBYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

SHALIMAR INC  (Continued) 1024814549

TC7095824.2s   Page 202

Item E - 900 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              AMBULANCE SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              62191NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          SHALIMAR INCHandler Name:
                                                            20060725Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

SHALIMAR INC  (Continued) 1024814549

                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              08-01-2016Violation Date:
                              DELICIAS DE MICHOACANSite Name:
                              110860Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10038490CERS ID:
                              110860Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1545 E CEDAR STAddress:
                              DELICIAS DE MICHOACANName:

CERS:

08/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0008473Permit Number:
MORA, GUSTAVO & MARCELLAOwner:
FA0002677Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1545 E CEDAR STAddress:
DELICIAS DE MICHOACANName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

588 ft. Site 6 of 8 in cluster I
0.111 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
South CA CERS1545 E CEDAR ST    N/A
I63 CA San Bern. Co. PermitDELICIAS DE MICHOACAN S102681346

TC7095824.2s   Page 203

Item E - 901 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              30 days from date of inspection.
                              CORRECTIVE ACTION: Update hazardous material inventory via CERS within
                              hazardous materials inventory submitted via CERS on 7-3-2019.
                              tank was 100 percent more in quantity than what was indicated on
                              on 7-3-2019. In addition, observed the capacity of calcium chloride
                              inconsistent with the hazardous materials inventory submitted via CERS
                              inspection, observed hazardous materials inventory on site was
                              Returned to compliance on 10/25/2019. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              requires modification to any portion of the business plan.
                              business name. A substantial change in the handler’s operations that
                              quantities. A change of business address, business ownership, or
                              previously undisclosed hazardous materials at or above reportable
                              quantity of a previously disclosed material. Any handling of a
                              one of the following events: A 100 percent or more increase in the
                              Failure to electronically update business plan within 30 days of anyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508.1(a)-(f)
                              HSC 6.95 25508.1(a)-(f) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              10-23-2019Violation Date:
                              DELICIAS DE MICHOACANSite Name:
                              110860Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              record within 30 days from this inspection date.
                              records for a minimum of three years. Submit a copy of the training
                              hazardous materials training to all employees and maintain training
                              being conducted. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Provide initial and annual
                              inspection, Mr. Lopez indicated hazardous materials training is not
                              Returned to compliance on 10/30/2019. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              records for a minimum of three years.
                              hazardous material or failure to document and maintain training
                              safety procedures in the event of a release or threatened release of a
                              Failure to provide initial and annual training to all employees inViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25505(a)(4)
                              HSC 6.95 25505(a)(4) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              10-23-2019Violation Date:
                              DELICIAS DE MICHOACANSite Name:
                              110860Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              appear to accurately reflect the current inventory.
                              sanitizing chemicals used on site. The provided inventory does not
                              yearly by this date. Also update the quantity and type of cleaning and
                              March 1st. Ensure that all three sections of the plan is updated
                              submitted in CERS on 6/12/2015. The plan must be updated yearly by
                              Returned to compliance on 08/01/2016. The last business plan wasViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)

DELICIAS DE MICHOACAN  (Continued) S102681346

TC7095824.2s   Page 204

Item E - 902 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.617943Longitude:
                              34.038044Latitude:
                              Unknown,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10038490Program ID:
                              HMBPEnv Int Type Code:
                              DELICIAS DE MICHOACANFacility Name:
                              110860Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              08-01-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1545 E CEDAR STSite Address:
                              DELICIAS DE MICHOACANSite Name:
                              110860Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-23-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              DELICIAS MICHOACANEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              08-01-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

DELICIAS DE MICHOACAN  (Continued) S102681346

TC7095824.2s   Page 205

Item E - 903 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              DELICIAS DE MICHOACANEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1545 EAST CEDAR STREETAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 238-3737,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              GUSTAVO MORAEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 930-1392,Affiliation Phone:
                              91701Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ALTA LOMAAffiliation City:
                              9113 ORANGE STREETAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              MORA, GUSTAVO & MARCELLAEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91737Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ALTA LOMAAffiliation City:
                              5419 RAM CTAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              GUSTAVO MORAEntity Name:

DELICIAS DE MICHOACAN  (Continued) S102681346

TC7095824.2s   Page 206

Item E - 904 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                              2005Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1531 E CEDARAddress:
                                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              1Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              1Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2759SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              82518Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1990Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1531 E CEDARAddress:
                                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INC, GRANER TName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              0Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              0Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2753SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              35275Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1987Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1531 E CEDARAddress:
                                              PARAMOUNT ENGRAVERS INCName:

EMI:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10042933CERS ID:
                              141650Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1531 E CEDAR STAddress:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCName:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

593 ft. Site 1 of 5 in cluster J
0.112 mi. CA CERS

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
855 ft.

 

< 1/8 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
South CA EMI1531 E CEDAR    N/A
J64 CA CERS HAZ WASTEPARAMOUNT PANELS INC, GRANER T S102040394

TC7095824.2s   Page 207

Item E - 905 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              1.82033722Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              2.3839275159Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              3724SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              82518Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              2015Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1531 E CEDARAddress:
                                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              1.2063999999999999Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              1.34367415201442Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              9999SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              82518Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              2010Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1531 E CEDARAddress:
                                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              .605340524Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              .866795Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2759SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              82518Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:

PARAMOUNT PANELS INC, GRANER T  (Continued) S102040394

TC7095824.2s   Page 208

Item E - 906 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Failure to complete and electronically submit hazardous materialViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              04-30-2019Violation Date:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCSite Name:
                              141650Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10042933CERS ID:
                              141650Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1531 E CEDAR STAddress:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCName:

CERS:

12/31/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0004594Permit Number:
PARAMOUNT PANELS INCOwner:
FA0005225Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1531 E CEDAR STAddress:
PARAMOUNT PANELS INCName:

12/31/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0004593Permit Number:
PARAMOUNT PANELS INCOwner:
FA0005225Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1531 E CEDAR STAddress:
PARAMOUNT PANELS INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                              Not reportedPart. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedParticulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedSOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedNOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedCarbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              1.37082Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              1.8797793034Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              3724SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              82518Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              2016Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1531 E CEDARAddress:

PARAMOUNT PANELS INC, GRANER T  (Continued) S102040394

TC7095824.2s   Page 209

Item E - 907 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Returned to compliance on 07/15/2016. The current submission on CERSViolation Notes:
                              business name.
                              quantities. A change of business address, business ownership, or
                              previously undisclosed hazardous materials at or above reportable
                              quantity of a previously disclosed material. Any handling of a
                              one of the following events: A 100 percent or more increase in the
                              Failure to electronically update business plan within 30 days of anyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508.1(a)-(e)
                              HSC 6.95 25508.1(a)-(e) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              05-26-2016Violation Date:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCSite Name:
                              141650Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              training records are maintained for a minimum of three years.
                              indicating that initial and annual training is conducted and that
                              available for review. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit a signed statement
                              related to hazardous materials and hazardous waste handling were not
                              Returned to compliance on 05/22/2019. OBSERVATION: Training documentsViolation Notes:
                              records for a minimum of three years.
                              hazardous material or failure to document and maintain training
                              safety procedures in the event of a release or threatened release of a
                              Failure to provide initial and annual training to all employees inViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25505(a)(4)
                              HSC 6.95 25505(a)(4) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              04-30-2019Violation Date:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCSite Name:
                              141650Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              time of inspection.
                              CORRECTED ON SITE: A complete site map was uploaded into CERS at the
                              staging area and hazardous materials/hazardous waste storage area.
                              uploaded into CERS is missing the following information: evacuation
                              Returned to compliance on 04/30/2019. OBSERVATION: The site mapViolation Notes:
                              required content.
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit a site map with allViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              04-30-2019Violation Date:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCSite Name:
                              141650Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              updated at the time of inspection.
                              more details. CORRECTED ON SITE: The hazardous materials inventory was
                              lesser quantities. Refer to the inventory section of this report for
                              were observed on site that were not reported into CERS or reported in
                              Returned to compliance on 04/30/2019. OBSERVATION: Hazardous materialsViolation Notes:
                              at or above reportable quantities.
                              inventory information for all reportable hazardous materials on site

PARAMOUNT PANELS INC, GRANER T  (Continued) S102040394

TC7095824.2s   Page 210

Item E - 908 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-30-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              05-26-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              05-26-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-30-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              submitted within 12 months. The last submission was dated 03/05/13.
                              Returned to compliance on 07/15/2016. Updated Business Plan was notViolation Notes:
                              business plan is complete, accurate, and up-to-date.
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508.2
                              HSC 6.95 25508.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              05-26-2016Violation Date:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCSite Name:
                              141650Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Response plans were never submitted on CERS.
                              daily amounts are not entered correctly. The Training and Emergency
                              does not list waste paint under the Inventory section and the maximum

PARAMOUNT PANELS INC, GRANER T  (Continued) S102040394

TC7095824.2s   Page 211

Item E - 909 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 262-3370,Affiliation Phone:
                              93427Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              BuelltonAffiliation City:
                              7820 Santa Rosa RoadAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              John Thorne and Karey ThorneEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              HR/AccountingEntity Title:
                              Kate HammondEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1531 E CEDAR STAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              JOHN THORNEEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.618590Longitude:
                              34.037980Latitude:
                              Unknown,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10042933Program ID:
                              HWGEnv Int Type Code:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCFacility Name:
                              141650Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              05-26-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1531 E CEDAR STSite Address:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCSite Name:
                              141650Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

PARAMOUNT PANELS INC, GRANER T  (Continued) S102040394

TC7095824.2s   Page 212

Item E - 910 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Paramount Panels, Inc.Entity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Kate HammondEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1531 E CEDAR STAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-8008,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1531 E CEDAR STAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCEntity Name:

PARAMOUNT PANELS INC, GRANER T  (Continued) S102040394

TC7095824.2s   Page 213

Item E - 911 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1531 E CEDAR STAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              JOHN THORNEEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              US EPA Air Emission Inventory System (EIS)CERS Description:
                              110037995756CERS ID:
                              486095Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761-5762City,State,Zip:
                              1531 E CEDARAddress:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS INCName:

                              (909) 947-8008,Affiliation Phone:

PARAMOUNT PANELS INC, GRANER T  (Continued) S102040394

                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              JOHN THORNEOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              ARTHUR G THORNE PRESIDENTOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1531 E CEDAR STREETMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                JOHNTHORNE@PARAMOUNTPANELS.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-947-8012Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-947-8008Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1531 E CEDAR STContact Address:
                                                                                JOHN THORNEContact Name:
                                                                                CAD009631490EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1531 E. CEDARHandler Address:
                              PARAMOUNT PANELS, INCHandler Name:
                                                                                19830315Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

593 ft. Site 2 of 5 in cluster J
0.112 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
855 ft.

 

< 1/8 ONTARIO, CA  91761
South 1531 E. CEDAR CAD009631490
J65 RCRA NonGen / NLRPARAMOUNT PANELS, INC 1024782523

TC7095824.2s   Page 214

Item E - 912 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:
Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180831Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:

PARAMOUNT PANELS, INC  (Continued) 1024782523

TC7095824.2s   Page 215

Item E - 913 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              NONFERROUS (EXCEPT ALUMINUM) DIE-CASTING FOUNDRIESNAICS Description:
                              331522NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          PARAMOUNT PANELS, INCHandler Name:
                                                            19830315Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-8008Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1531 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JOHN THORNEOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-8008Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1531 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ARTHUR G THORNE PRESIDENTOwner/Operator Name:

PARAMOUNT PANELS, INC  (Continued) 1024782523

TC7095824.2s   Page 216

Item E - 914 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              LISA SERRANOOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              JAMES CULWELLOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STREETMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                LISA.SERRANO@METROCELL.ORGContact Email:
                                                                                909-627-1095Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-627-1502Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STREETContact Address:
                                                                                LISA SERRANOContact Name:
                                                                                CAC003014843EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STREETHandler Address:
                              METROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC.Handler Name:
                                                                                20190514Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

661 ft. Site 1 of 7 in cluster K
0.125 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1635 E CEDAR STREET CAC003014843
K66 RCRA NonGen / NLRMETROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC. 1025835259

TC7095824.2s   Page 217

Item E - 915 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-627-1502Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1635 E CEDAR STREETOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          LISA SERRANOOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            562-881-9070Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1635 E CEDAR STREETOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JAMES CULWELLOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20190627Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

METROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC.  (Continued) 1025835259

TC7095824.2s   Page 218

Item E - 916 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              COMMERCIAL AND INSTITUTIONAL BUILDING CONSTRUCTIONNAICS Description:
                              236220NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          METROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20190514Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

METROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC.  (Continued) 1025835259

                              JAMES CULWELLOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STREETMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                LISA.SERRANO@METROCELL.ORGContact Email:
                                                                                909-627-1095Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-627-1502Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-7718Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STContact Address:
                                                                                LISA SERRANOContact Name:
                                                                                CAC003062772EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STREETHandler Address:
                              METROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC.Handler Name:
                                                                                20200408Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

661 ft. Site 2 of 7 in cluster K
0.125 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1635 E CEDAR STREET CAC003062772
K67 RCRA NonGen / NLRMETROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC. 1026162784

TC7095824.2s   Page 219

Item E - 917 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20200408Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              LISA SERRANOOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:

METROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC.  (Continued) 1026162784

TC7095824.2s   Page 220

Item E - 918 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              OTHER BUILDING EQUIPMENT CONTRACTORSNAICS Description:
                              238290NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          METROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20200408Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-627-1502Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-7718Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1635 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          LISA SERRANOOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-627-1502Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1635 E CEDAR STREETOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JAMES CULWELLOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:

METROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC.  (Continued) 1026162784

TC7095824.2s   Page 221

Item E - 919 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        ONTARIOOperator City:
                                        1635 E CEDAR STOperator Address:
                                        KOCHOperator Name:
                                        11/09/2016Status Date:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36NEC001450WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1635 E CEDAR STAddress:
                                        KOCHName:

NPDES:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              0Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              0Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2841SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              55915Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1990Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1635 E CEDAR STAddress:
                                              RYCOLINE PRODUCTS INCName:

EMI:

661 ft. Site 3 of 7 in cluster K
0.125 mi. CA CIWQS

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
SE CA NPDES1635 E CEDAR ST    N/A
K68 CA EMIRYCOLINE PRODUCTS INC S106838601

TC7095824.2s   Page 222

Item E - 920 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        ONTARIODischarge City:
                                        1635 E CEDAR STDischarge Address:
                                        KOCHDischarge Name:
                                        11/09/2016Termination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        11/03/2015Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        8 36NEC001450WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        466077Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

RYCOLINE PRODUCTS INC  (Continued) S106838601

TC7095824.2s   Page 223

Item E - 921 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        626-581-6803Operator Contact Phone:
                                        Production ManagerOperator Contact Title:
                                        Stankey TsangOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        ONTARIOOperator City:
                                        1635 E CEDAR STOperator Address:
                                        KOCHOperator Name:
                                        hotshades2005@gmail.comContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        626-581-6803Contact Phone:
                                        Production ManagerContact Title:
                                        Stankey TsangContact:
                                        SqFtPlace Size Unit:
                                        8449Place Size:
                                        11/09/2016Status Date:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        11/03/2015Processed Date:
                                        10/26/2015Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        11/09/2016Termination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36NEC001450WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        466077Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:

RYCOLINE PRODUCTS INC  (Continued) S106838601

TC7095824.2s   Page 224

Item E - 922 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

RYCOLINE PRODUCTS LLCOwner:
FA0005834Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1635 E CEDAR STAddress:
RYCOLINE PRODUCTS INCName:

10/31/2017Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALS SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0035564Permit Number:
JEFFERY WUOwner:
FA0016475Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1635 E CEDAR STAddress:
KOCHName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        3229-Pressed and Blown Glass and Glassware, NECPrimary Sic:
                                        26-OCT-15Certification Date:
                                        ownerCertifier Title:
                                        jeffrey wuCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        626-581-6803Emergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        hotshades2005@gmail.comOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:

RYCOLINE PRODUCTS INC  (Continued) S106838601

TC7095824.2s   Page 225

Item E - 923 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        -117.61632Longitude:
                                        34.03749Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        11/09/2016Termination Date:
                                        11/03/2015Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36NEC001450WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        TerminatedRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        3229SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Pressed and Blown Glass and Glassware, NECPlace/Project Type:
                                        1635 E CEDAR ST, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        KOCHAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1635 E CEDAR STAddress:
                                        KOCHName:

CIWQS:

04/30/2003Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS WASTE GENERATOR - 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0004897Permit Number:
RYCOLINE PRODUCTS LLCOwner:
FA0005834Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1635 E CEDAR STAddress:
RYCOLINE PRODUCTS INCName:

04/30/2003Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEES (W/GEN PRMT)Permit Category:
PT0004896Permit Number:

RYCOLINE PRODUCTS INC  (Continued) S106838601

                                                                                METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INC.Contact Name:
                                                                                CAC003146402EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STREETHandler Address:
                              METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20211102Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

661 ft. Site 4 of 7 in cluster K
0.125 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1635 E CEDAR STREET CAC003107202
K69 RCRA NonGen / NLRMETROCELL CONSTRUCTION INC 1026718608

TC7095824.2s   Page 226

Item E - 924 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INC.Operator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              JAMES CULWELLOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STREETMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                LISA.SERRANO@METROCELL.ORGContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-627-1502Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STREETContact Address:

METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INC  (Continued) 1026718608

TC7095824.2s   Page 227

Item E - 925 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INCHandler Name:
                                                            20211102Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-627-1502Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1635 E CEDAR STREETOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INC.Owner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-627-1502Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1635 E CEDAR STREETOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JAMES CULWELLOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20211102Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:

METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INC  (Continued) 1026718608

TC7095824.2s   Page 228

Item E - 926 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              LISA SERRANOOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              JAMES CULWELLOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STREETMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                LISA.SERRANO@METROCELL.ORGContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-627-1502Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STREETContact Address:
                                                                                LISA SERRANOContact Name:
                                                                                CAC003107202EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1635 E CEDAR STREETHandler Address:
                              METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20210224Date Form Received by Agency:

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              COMMERCIAL AND INSTITUTIONAL BUILDING CONSTRUCTIONNAICS Description:
                              236220NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:

METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INC  (Continued) 1026718608

TC7095824.2s   Page 229

Item E - 927 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-627-1502Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1635 E CEDAR STREETOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          LISA SERRANOOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20210226Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:

METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INC  (Continued) 1026718608

TC7095824.2s   Page 230

Item E - 928 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INCHandler Name:
                                                            20210224Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            562-881-9070Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1635 E CEDAR STREETOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JAMES CULWELLOwner/Operator Name:

METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INC  (Continued) 1026718608

09/30/2016Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALS SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0023639Permit Number:
The Terminix International Co. L.P.Owner:
FA0013356Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1710 GREVILLEA CTAddress:
TERMINIX INTERNATIONALName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

662 ft. Site 1 of 3 in cluster L
0.125 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
865 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
East 1710 GREVILLEA CT    N/A
L70 CA San Bern. Co. PermitTERMINIX INTERNATIONAL S110497031

TC7095824.2s   Page 231

Item E - 929 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                PrivateOperator Type:
                              NOT REQUIREDOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              NOT REQUIREDOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                S BAKER STMailing Address:
                                                                                4State District:
                                                                                CAState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                714-947-6117Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1726 S BAKER STContact Address:
                                                                                ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGERContact Name:
                                                                                CAD083595769EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1726 S BAKER STHandler Address:
                              CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INCHandler Name:
                                                                                19810824Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

665 ft. CA HWTSSite 1 of 9 in cluster M
0.126 mi. CA HAZNET

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
874 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ECHOONTARIO, CA  91761
NE FINDS1726 S BAKER ST CAD083595769
M71 RCRA NonGen / NLRCONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 232

Item E - 930 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20000915Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 233

Item E - 931 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        --Telephone:
                                        UNDELIVERABLE PER 93 FEE FORMContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1726 S BAKER STAddress:
                                        CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INCName:

HAZNET:

                                   ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                   1726 S BAKER STAddress:
                                   CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INCName:
                                   http://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110002661209DFR URL:
                                   110002661209Registry ID:
                                   1000412834Envid:

ECHO:

additional FINDS: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of
RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource

Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110002661209Registry ID:
FINDS:

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                                                            No NAICS Codes FoundNAICS Codes:
List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            CAState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INCHandler Name:
                                                            19810824Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 234

Item E - 932 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=22242w1S4w84w22FSq1OwT2p4.2f262kFB8qqUA3O221211i4C7Nwr1YS69Zwp3i4z4N253lFC3oqw232X284Z11wd8CSv1swBAx466w299nFa3Eqk5VOx0gT43Xpet3.o2w2i2b4j1rwC25SM1xwk1u4g1B2I5DFG2MqU3mOP9PTf4Gp45V.F1
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=22242w1S4w84w22FSq1OwT2p4.2f262kFB8qqUA3O221211i4C7Nwr1YS69Zwp3i4z4N253lFC3oqw232X284Z11wd8CSv1swBAx466w299nFa3Eqk5VOx0gT43Xpet3.o2w2i2b4j1rwC25SM1xwk1u4g1B2I5DFG2MqU3mOP9PTf4Gp45V.F1
https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110002661209


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        513 - Empty containers less than 30 gallonsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982444481TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD083595769Gepaid:
                                        1995Year:

                                        18.72Tons:
                                        -Disposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD044429835TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD083595769Gepaid:
                                        1995Year:

                                        101.136Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982444481TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD083595769Gepaid:
                                        1995Year:

                                        0Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        -CA Waste Code:
                                        CAD044429835TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD083595769Gepaid:
                                        1995Year:

                                        67.424Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        513 - Empty containers less than 30 gallonsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982444481TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD083595769Gepaid:
                                        1996Year:

                                        67.424Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982444481TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD083595769Gepaid:
                                        1996Year:

                                        11.76Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982444481TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD083595769Gepaid:
                                        1997Year:

                                        9.6Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982444481TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD083595769Gepaid:
                                        1997Year:

                                        1726 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 235

Item E - 933 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        96724618Manifest ID:
                                        19970224Receipt Date:
                                        6/26/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19970224Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        2000Waste Quantity:
                                        1Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        96724614Manifest ID:
                                        19970224Receipt Date:
                                        6/26/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19970224Shipment Date:

                                        CAD083595769Gen EPA ID:
                                        1997Year:

Additional Info:

10 additional CA HAZNET: record(s) in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

                                        20.1869Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        741 - Liquids with halogenated organic compounds >= 1,000 Mg./LCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD009452657TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD083595769Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        33.712Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982444481TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD083595769Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        67.424Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 236

Item E - 934 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=22242w1S4w84w22FSq1OwT2p4.2f262kFB8qqUA3O221211i4C7Nwr1YS69Zwp3i4z4N253lFC3oqw232X284Z11wd8CSv1swBAx466w299nFa3Eqk5VOx0gT43Xpet3.o2w2i2b4j1rwC25SM1xwk1u4g1B2I5DFG2MqU3mOP9PTf4Gp45V.F1
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=22242w1S4w84w22FSq1OwT2p4.2f262kFB8qqUA3O221211i4C7Nwr1YS69Zwp3i4z4N253lFC3oqw232X284Z11wd8CSv1swBAx466w299nFa3Eqk5VOx0gT43Xpet3.o2w2i2b4j1rwC25SM1xwk1u4g1B2I5DFG2MqU3mOP9PTf4Gp45V.F1


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        96528768Manifest ID:
                                        19961029Receipt Date:
                                        5/21/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19961029Shipment Date:

                                        CAD083595769Gen EPA ID:
                                        1996Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        17200Waste Quantity:
                                        8.6Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        96724617Manifest ID:
                                        19970224Receipt Date:
                                        6/26/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19970224Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        2800Waste Quantity:
                                        11.76Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 237

Item E - 935 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        YQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        33.712Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        513 - Empty containers less than 30 gallonsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        95910730Manifest ID:
                                        19960418Receipt Date:
                                        10/16/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19960417Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        YQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        33.712Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        96295467Manifest ID:
                                        19960725Receipt Date:
                                        5/20/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19960724Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        YQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        33.712Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 238

Item E - 936 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        19931014Receipt Date:
                                        9/13/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19931014Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        2167Waste Quantity:
                                        7.8012Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        92524000Manifest ID:
                                        19931208Receipt Date:
                                        9/14/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19931207Shipment Date:

                                        CAD083595769Gen EPA ID:
                                        1993Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        YQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        33.712Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        513 - Empty containers less than 30 gallonsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        95910504Manifest ID:
                                        19960222Receipt Date:
                                        10/4/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19960221Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 239

Item E - 937 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009661844Trans EPA ID:
                                        93257145Manifest ID:
                                        19930910Receipt Date:
                                        9/13/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19930909Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        1600Waste Quantity:
                                        0.8Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        F002RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009661844Trans EPA ID:
                                        93257145Manifest ID:
                                        19930910Receipt Date:
                                        9/13/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19930909Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        2782Waste Quantity:
                                        10.0152Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        92523989Manifest ID:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 240

Item E - 938 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        2033Waste Quantity:
                                        7.3188Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        91682240Manifest ID:
                                        19930518Receipt Date:
                                        9/7/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19930518Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        2550Waste Quantity:
                                        9.18Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000624247Trans EPA ID:
                                        91681554Manifest ID:
                                        19930831Receipt Date:
                                        9/12/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19930830Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        5600Waste Quantity:
                                        2.8Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        F002RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 241

Item E - 939 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        7/26/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19950929Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        YQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        33.712Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        95573924Manifest ID:
                                        19951201Receipt Date:
                                        7/26/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19951130Shipment Date:

                                        CAD083595769Gen EPA ID:
                                        1995Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        3061Waste Quantity:
                                        11.0196Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        91682201Manifest ID:
                                        19930219Receipt Date:
                                        9/15/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19930218Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 242

Item E - 940 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        95014273Manifest ID:
                                        19950503Receipt Date:
                                        4/2/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19950503Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        YQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        33.712Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        95573669Manifest ID:
                                        19950807Receipt Date:
                                        4/2/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19950804Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        YQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        33.712Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        513 - Empty containers less than 30 gallonsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        95573774Manifest ID:
                                        19950929Receipt Date:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 243

Item E - 941 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        5200Waste Quantity:
                                        18.72Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD044429835TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD044429835TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000027724Trans EPA ID:
                                        95289208Manifest ID:
                                        19950422Receipt Date:
                                        4/2/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19950417Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        Not reportedQuantity Unit:
                                        0Waste Quantity:
                                        0Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        - Not reportedWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD044429835TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD044429835TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000027724Trans EPA ID:
                                        95289208Manifest ID:
                                        19950422Receipt Date:
                                        4/2/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19950417Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        0Waste Quantity:
                                        0Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        513 - Empty containers less than 30 gallonsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 244

Item E - 942 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        19941213Shipment Date:

                                        CAD083595769Gen EPA ID:
                                        1994Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        YQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        33.712Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        95014170Manifest ID:
                                        19950116Receipt Date:
                                        3/29/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19950116Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        YQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        33.712Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        513 - Empty containers less than 30 gallonsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481Trans EPA ID:
                                        95014226Manifest ID:
                                        19950302Receipt Date:
                                        3/29/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19950302Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 245

Item E - 943 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD980887475Trans EPA ID:
                                        93231141Manifest ID:
                                        19940713Receipt Date:
                                        3/26/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940713Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        4841Waste Quantity:
                                        20.1869Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        741 - Liquids with halogenated organic compounds > 1000 mg/lWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        92522528Manifest ID:
                                        19940830Receipt Date:
                                        3/26/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940830Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        4567Waste Quantity:
                                        16.4412Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        93162277Manifest ID:
                                        19941214Receipt Date:
                                        3/28/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 246

Item E - 944 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedContact Address:
                                        UNDELIVERABLE PER 93 FEE FORMContact Name:
                                        Not reportedOwner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address:
                                        Not reportedOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917617707Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1726 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        04/10/1987Create Date:
                                        06/30/1993Inactive Date:
                                        CAD083595769EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1726 S BAKER STAddress:
                                        CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INCName:

HWTS:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        4862Waste Quantity:
                                        17.5032Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD009452657Trans EPA ID:
                                        92063432Manifest ID:
                                        19940420Receipt Date:
                                        3/25/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940419Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        YQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        33.712Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

TC7095824.2s   Page 247

Item E - 945 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        -117.615397Longitude:
                                        34.043084Latitude:
                                        FEDERALCategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        Not reportedCity,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:

CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC  (Continued) 1000412834

09/30/2010Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:
PT0022207Permit Number:
BROTHERS 4 x 4Owner:
FA0001579Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1726 S BAKERAddress:
BROTHERS 4 X 4Name:

09/30/2010Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0005639Permit Number:
BROTHERS 4 x 4Owner:
FA0001579Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1726 S BAKERAddress:
BROTHERS 4 X 4Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

665 ft. Site 2 of 9 in cluster M
0.126 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
874 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
NE 1726 S BAKER    N/A
M72 CA San Bern. Co. PermitBROTHERS 4 X 4 S102039938

                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                RICHARD@INLINEPLASTICSINC.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-923-9913Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-923-1033Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1950 S BAKER AVEContact Address:
                                                                                RICHARD RIVASContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000322258EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-7755Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1950 S BAKER AVEHandler Address:
                              INLINE PLASTICS INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20070713Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

681 ft. Site 5 of 7 in cluster K
0.129 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
858 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1950 S BAKER AVE CAL000322258
K73 RCRA NonGen / NLRINLINE PLASTICS INC 1024817684

TC7095824.2s   Page 248

Item E - 946 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              RICHARD RIVASOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              INLINE PLASTICS INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-7755Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1950 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:

INLINE PLASTICS INC  (Continued) 1024817684

TC7095824.2s   Page 249

Item E - 947 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              326121NAICS Code:
List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          INLINE PLASTICS INCHandler Name:
                                                            20070713Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-1033Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1950 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          RICHARD RIVASOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-1033Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-7755Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1950 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          INLINE PLASTICS INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:

INLINE PLASTICS INC  (Continued) 1024817684

TC7095824.2s   Page 250

Item E - 948 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              UNLAMINATED PLASTICS PROFILE SHAPE MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:

INLINE PLASTICS INC  (Continued) 1024817684

                              found to be blank. Upload a completed emergency response plan.
                              Returned to compliance on 03/31/2017. The response plan template wasViolation Notes:
                              hazardous material.
                              response plan and procedures for a release or threatened release of a
                              Failure to establish and electronically submit an adequate emergencyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              02-28-2017Violation Date:
                              POLYMER COMPOSITES, INCSite Name:
                              58108Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10048624CERS ID:
                              58108Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1871 LAKE PLAddress:
                              POLYMER COMPOSITES, INCName:

CERS:

05/31/2014Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
EPCRA FACILITYPermit Category:
PT0024111Permit Number:
POLYMER COMPOSITES, INC.Owner:
FA0008445Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1871 LAKE PLAddress:
POLYMER COMPOSITES, INCName:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 11-30 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0014738Permit Number:
POLYMER COMPOSITES, INC.Owner:
FA0008445Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1871 LAKE PLAddress:
POLYMER COMPOSITES, INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

691 ft. Site 1 of 7 in cluster N
0.131 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
863 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WSW CA CERS1871 LAKE PL    N/A
N74 CA San Bern. Co. PermitPOLYMER COMPOSITES, INC S106446697

TC7095824.2s   Page 251

Item E - 949 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Routine inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              02-28-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              03-11-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              adjacent buildings and road.
                              adjacent street or you can upload the old site map that shows the
                              gallons or 500 pounds. The map also needs to be updated to include an
                              pigment and any other hazardous materials on site at or above 55
                              agents and emulsions as the common name. Also add the pallet of black
                              the inventory items be updated to be listed as Epoxy resin, curing
                              maximum quantity on site at any one time. Its also recommended that
                              March 1st. The plan inventory needs to be updated to reflect the
                              updated on 9/16/2014. Ensure that the plan is updated yearly before
                              Returned to compliance on 03/31/2017. The business plan was lastViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              02-28-2017Violation Date:
                              POLYMER COMPOSITES, INCSite Name:
                              58108Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 02/28/2014.Violation Notes:
                              thresholds quantities of 55 gallons/500 lbs/200 cubic feet.
                              Business Plan when storing hazardous materials at or above the
                              Owner/Operator failed to complete and/or submit a Hazardous MaterialsViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25505(a)
                              HSC 6.95 25505(a) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              10-16-2013Violation Date:
                              POLYMER COMPOSITES, INCSite Name:
                              58108Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:

POLYMER COMPOSITES, INC  (Continued) S106446697

TC7095824.2s   Page 252

Item E - 950 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (909) 952-2241,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Gerald LapuzEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-16-2013Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1871 LAKE PLSite Address:
                              POLYMER COMPOSITES, INCSite Name:
                              58108Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              02-28-2017Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1871 LAKE PLSite Address:
                              POLYMER COMPOSITES, INCSite Name:
                              58108Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-POLYMER COMPEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-16-2013Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

POLYMER COMPOSITES, INC  (Continued) S106446697

TC7095824.2s   Page 253

Item E - 951 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1871 LAKE PLACEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1871 S LAKE PLACEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              RAYMOND LAPUZEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 952-2241,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1871 LAKE PLACEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              POLYMER COMPOSITES, INC.Entity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              VPEntity Title:
                              Raymond LapuzEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Raymond LapuzEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              POLYMER COMPOSITES, INCEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

POLYMER COMPOSITES, INC  (Continued) S106446697

TC7095824.2s   Page 254

Item E - 952 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (909) 762-9737,Affiliation Phone:
                              91789Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              WalnutAffiliation City:
                              755 Penarth AveAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Al Du RousseauEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:

POLYMER COMPOSITES, INC  (Continued) S106446697

08/31/2008Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0019302Permit Number:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPOwner:
FA0002927Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1921 BAKER STAddress:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPName:

08/31/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 11-25 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0006038Permit Number:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPOwner:
FA0002927Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1921 BAKER STAddress:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPName:

08/31/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
EPCRA FACILITYPermit Category:
PT0020010Permit Number:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPOwner:
FA0002927Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1921 BAKER STAddress:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

698 ft. Site 1 of 8 in cluster O
0.132 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
861 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE 1921 BAKER ST    N/A
O75 CA San Bern. Co. PermitENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUP S102040064

TC7095824.2s   Page 255

Item E - 953 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              12-09-2015Violation Date:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYSite Name:
                              124566Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10040704CERS ID:
                              124566Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1546 E CEDAR STAddress:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYName:

CERS:

12/31/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0000036Permit Number:
INTERMACHINE CORP.Owner:
FA0004001Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1546 E CEDAR STAddress:
INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYName:

12/31/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0021577Permit Number:
INTERMACHINE CORP.Owner:
FA0004001Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1546 E CEDAR STAddress:
INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                    083602703TReg Id:
                    LTNKAReg By:
                    36Facility County Code:
                    CORTESERegion:
                    ONTARIO, CA 91762City,State,Zip:
                    1546edr_fadd1:
                    POSTUM FARMedr_fname:

HIST CORTESE:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10040704CERS ID:
                              124566Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1546 E CEDAR STAddress:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYName:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

705 ft. Site 3 of 5 in cluster J
0.134 mi. CA CERS

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
854 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
South CA HIST CORTESE1546 E CEDAR ST    N/A
J76 CA CERS HAZ WASTEINTERNATIONAL MACHINERY S104905320

TC7095824.2s   Page 256

Item E - 954 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              storage areas shall be inspected weekly to ensure that containers are
                              Waste container storage areas weekly (CCR 66265.174) Hazardous waste
                              Returned to compliance on 01/07/2016. Failure to inspect HazardousViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-09-2015Violation Date:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYSite Name:
                              124566Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              the Business Plan elements into CERS.
                              Returned to compliance on 01/07/2016. This facility has not submittedViolation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to complete and/or electronically submit a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508(d)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(d) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              12-09-2015Violation Date:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYSite Name:
                              124566Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              and that training records are maintained for a minimum of three years.
                              Submit a signed statement indicating that annual training is conducted
                              to hazardous materials and hazardous waste safety. CORRECTIVE ACTION:
                              inspection, facility did not provide annual training documents related
                              Returned to compliance on 12/04/2018. OBSERVATION: At the time ofViolation Notes:
                              records for a minimum of three years.
                              hazardous material or failure to document and maintain training
                              safety procedures in the event of a release or threatened release of a
                              Failure to provide initial and annual training to all employees inViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25505(a)(4)
                              HSC 6.95 25505(a)(4) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              11-26-2018Violation Date:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYSite Name:
                              124566Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              showing that the containers have been properly labeled.
                              accumulation start dates. Compliance requirement: -Submit photographs
                              date. Observed drums of used oil and waste mineral spirits with 2009
                              composition & physical state of the waste, and the accumulation start
                              generator name and address, hazardous properties of the waste,
                              includes the following information: the words Hazardous Waste,
                              holding a hazardous waste must be properly labeled. Proper labeling
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2)) Any tank or container
                              Returned to compliance on 02/22/2016. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:

INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY  (Continued) S104905320

TC7095824.2s   Page 257

Item E - 955 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              received the training).
                              plan/syllabus with signature of employees showing that they have
                              of hazardous materials and waste have been properly trained (training
                              Requirement: -Submit proof that employees responsible for the handling
                              jobs. Training documentation was not available. Compliance
                              regarding hazardous materials and hazardous waste relevant to their
                              Employees are required to be trained annually on safety procedures
                              personnel in hazardous waste management procedures (CCR 66265.16)
                              Returned to compliance on 01/07/2016. Failure to train facilityViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Training - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              12-09-2015Violation Date:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYSite Name:
                              124566Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              the containers have been properly labeled.
                              information. Compliance requirement: -Submit photographs showing that
                              used oil and waste mineral spirits with hazardous waste labels missing
                              state of the waste, and the accumulation start date. Observed drums of
                              address, hazardous properties of the waste, composition & physical
                              following information: the words Hazardous Waste, generator name and
                              hazardous waste must be properly labeled. Proper labeling includes the
                              waste labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(3)) Any tank or container holding a
                              Returned to compliance on 02/22/2016. Failure to complete hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-09-2015Violation Date:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYSite Name:
                              124566Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              submitted by this facility is dated 1/18/2013.
                              Returned to compliance on 01/07/2016. The last Business Plan updateViolation Notes:
                              business plan is complete, accurate, and up-to-date.
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508.2
                              HSC 6.95 25508.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              12-09-2015Violation Date:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYSite Name:
                              124566Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              completed weekly inspection checklists to this office.
                              not being conducted. Compliance Requirement: -Submit three consecutive
                              kept closed, labeled, and in good condition. Weekly inspections are

INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY  (Continued) S104905320

TC7095824.2s   Page 258

Item E - 956 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              YesViolations Found:
                              12-09-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              10-21-2021Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              10-21-2021Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              11-26-2018Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              11-26-2018Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              removal of all hazardous wastes.
                              Requirement: -Submit a copy of a hazardous waste manifest for the
                              stored on site past the accumulation time limit. Compliance
                              accumulation. Observed drums of used oil and waste mineral spirits
                              from the facility under the appropriate manifest within 180 days of
                              time exceeded (CCR 66262.34(a)) All hazardous waste shall be removed
                              Returned to compliance on 02/22/2016. Hazardous waste accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-09-2015Violation Date:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYSite Name:
                              124566Site ID:

INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY  (Continued) S104905320

TC7095824.2s   Page 259

Item E - 957 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.618134Longitude:
                              34.037562Latitude:
                              Unknown,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10040704Program ID:
                              HWGEnv Int Type Code:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYFacility Name:
                              124566Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              12-09-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1546 E CEDAR STSite Address:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYSite Name:
                              124566Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              12-09-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1546 E CEDAR STSite Address:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYSite Name:
                              124566Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTION-INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              12-09-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:

INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY  (Continued) S104905320

TC7095824.2s   Page 260

Item E - 958 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (909) 947-8888,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1546 CEDAR STAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              INTERMACHINE CORP.Entity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              INTERNATIONAL MACHINERYEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-8888,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              International Machinery Co.Entity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1546 E CEDAR STAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              JOHNNY IKNADOSSIANEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1546 E. CEDAR STAffiliation Address:

INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY  (Continued) S104905320

TC7095824.2s   Page 261

Item E - 959 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              JOHNNY IKNADOSSIAN/PRESOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              INTERMACHINE CORPOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1546 CEDAR STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                JOHNNY@LIONLATHES.COMContact Email:
                                                                                000-000-0000Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-947-8888Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1546 E. CEDAR STContact Address:
                                                                                JOHNNY IKNADOSSIAN/PRESContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000255917EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1546 CEDAR STHandler Address:
                              DBA INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY COHandler Name:
                                                                                20020717Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

705 ft. Site 4 of 5 in cluster J
0.134 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
854 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
South 1546 CEDAR ST CAL000255917
J77 RCRA NonGen / NLRDBA INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY CO 1024804003

TC7095824.2s   Page 262

Item E - 960 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-8888Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1546 CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          INTERMACHINE CORPOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-8888Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1546 E. CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JOHNNY IKNADOSSIAN/PRESOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

DBA INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY CO  (Continued) 1024804003

TC7095824.2s   Page 263

Item E - 961 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              OTHER METALWORKING MACHINERY MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              333518NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          DBA INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY COHandler Name:
                                                            20020717Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

DBA INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY CO  (Continued) 1024804003

12/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0000044Permit Number:
IGA PRINTINGOwner:
FA0003913Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1839 LAKE PLAddress:
IGA PRINTINGName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

708 ft. Site 2 of 7 in cluster N
0.134 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
865 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
West 1839 LAKE PL    N/A
N78 CA San Bern. Co. PermitIGA PRINTING S104905319

                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5789Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1839 S. LAKE PLHandler Address:
                              LIEDER DEVELOPMENTHandler Name:
                                                                                20180918Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-SQG:

708 ft. Site 3 of 7 in cluster N
0.134 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
865 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
West 1839 S. LAKE PL CAL000313583
N79 RCRA-SQGLIEDER DEVELOPMENT 1024815453

TC7095824.2s   Page 264

Item E - 962 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                PrivateOperator Type:
                              LIEDER DEVELOPMENT, INC.Operator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              LIEDER DEVELOPMENT, INC.Owner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                S LAKE PLMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                2017Biennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                PrivateLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                CEOContact Title:
                                                                                K.CHASE@LIEDERDEV.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-947-7782Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-947-7722 x131Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                S LAKE PLContact Address:
                                                                                KIMBALL D CHASEContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000313583EPA ID:

LIEDER DEVELOPMENT  (Continued) 1024815453

TC7095824.2s   Page 265

Item E - 963 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            20060601Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          LIEDER DEVELOPMENT, INC.Owner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                              SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES.
                              F005; AND STILL BOTTOMS FROM THE RECOVERY OF THESE SPENT SOLVENTS AND
                              ABOVE HALOGENATED SOLVENTS OR THOSE SOLVENTS LISTED IN F001, F004, AND
                              USE, A TOTAL OF TEN PERCENT OR MORE (BY VOLUME) OF ONE OR MORE OF THE
                              TRICHLOROETHANE; ALL SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES/BLENDS CONTAINING, BEFORE
                              ORTHO-DICHLOROBENZENE, TRICHLOROFLUOROMETHANE, AND 1,1,2,
                              CHLOROBENZENE, 1,1,2-TRICHLORO-1,2,2-TRIFLUOROETHANE,
                              METHYLENE CHLORIDE, TRICHLOROETHYLENE, 1,1,1-TRICHLOROETHANE,
                              THE FOLLOWING SPENT HALOGENATED SOLVENTS: TETRACHLOROETHYLENE,Waste Description:
                              F002Waste Code:

                              LEADWaste Description:
                              D008Waste Code:

                              CHROMIUMWaste Description:
                              D007Waste Code:

                              CORROSIVE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D002Waste Code:

                              IGNITABLE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D001Waste Code:

Hazardous Waste Summary:

Click Here for Biennial Reporting System Data:

                                        2017Year:
Biennial: List of Years

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20181126Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:

LIEDER DEVELOPMENT  (Continued) 1024815453

TC7095824.2s   Page 266

Item E - 964 of 2173

https://enviro.epa.gov/enviro/brs_report_v2.get_data?hand_id=CAL000313583&rep_year=2017


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURING
                              RADIO AND TELEVISION BROADCASTING AND WIRELESS COMMUNICATIONSNAICS Description:
                              334220NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          LIEDER DEVELOPMENTHandler Name:
                                                            20180918Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            K.CHASE@LIEDERDEV.COMOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            909-947-7782Owner/Operator Fax:
                                                            131Owner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-7722Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1839 S LAKE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            20060601Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          LIEDER DEVELOPMENT, INC.Owner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            K.CHASE@LIEDERDEV.COMOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            909-947-7782Owner/Operator Fax:
                                                            131Owner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-7722Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-5789Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1839 S. LAKE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:

LIEDER DEVELOPMENT  (Continued) 1024815453

TC7095824.2s   Page 267

Item E - 965 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

02/28/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0026540Permit Number:
Eric CookOwner:
FA0015236Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1825 S LAKE PLAddress:
MOR-PFR, INCName:

02/28/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0026541Permit Number:
Eric CookOwner:
FA0015236Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1825 S LAKE PLAddress:
MOR-PFR, INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1825 South Lake PlaceOperator Address:
                                        Maico Only Racing - PFROperator Name:
                                        09/18/2017Status Date:
                                        No Action RequiredStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36IN603692WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1825 SOUTH LAKE PLACEAddress:
                                        MAICO ONLY RACING - PFRName:

NPDES:

709 ft. Site 1 of 10 in cluster P
0.134 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
866 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
West CA San Bern. Co. Permit1825 SOUTH LAKE PLACE    N/A
P80 CA NPDESMAICO ONLY RACING - PFR S116287688

TC7095824.2s   Page 268

Item E - 966 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10311208CERS ID:
                              43327Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1811 S LAKE PLAddress:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Name:

CERS:

05/31/2006Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0014744Permit Number:
QUALITY STAINLESS & CONTROLSOwner:
FA0008453Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1811 S LAKE PLAddress:
QUALITY STAINLESS & CONTROLSName:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0023171Permit Number:
LAMB, RICHARD R.Owner:
FA0013166Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1811 S LAKE PLAddress:
LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Name:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0023170Permit Number:
LAMB, RICHARD R.Owner:
FA0013166Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1811 S LAKE PLAddress:
LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10311208CERS ID:
                              43327Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1811 S LAKE PLAddress:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Name:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

712 ft. Site 2 of 10 in cluster P
0.135 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
867 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA CERSONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW CA San Bern. Co. Permit1811 S LAKE PL    N/A
P81 CA CERS HAZ WASTELAMB ENGINEERING, INC. S106446696

TC7095824.2s   Page 269

Item E - 967 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              missing from hazardous waste containers.
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2)) Accumulation start date
                              Returned to compliance on 10/18/2016. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              10-18-2016Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              records not available for review.
                              disposal receipts for at least 3 years (CHSC 25160.2(b)(3)) Disposal
                              Returned to compliance on 09/12/2017. Failure to maintain used oilViolation Notes:
                              General
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation -Violation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              10-18-2016Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              the drum at the time of inspection.
                              ON SITE: Mr. Joshua Olagues placed a complete hazardous waste label on
                              55-gallon drum of used oil missing a hazardous waste label. CORRECTED
                              Returned to compliance on 12/13/2019. OBSERVATION: Observed (1)Violation Notes:
                              date.
                              characteristics of the Hazardous Waste, and starting accumulation
                              name and address of the generator, physical and chemical
                              portable tanks with the following requirements: "Hazardous Waste",
                              Failure to properly label hazardous waste accumulation containers andViolation Description:
                              Chapter 12, Section(s) 66262.34(f)
                              22 CCR 12 66262.34(f) - California Code of Regulations, Title 22,Citation:
                              12-13-2019Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              missing from the hazardous waste label.
                              waste labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(3)) The hazardous properties were
                              Returned to compliance on 10/18/2016. Failure to complete hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              10-18-2016Violation Date:

LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.  (Continued) S106446696

TC7095824.2s   Page 270

Item E - 968 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              hazardous material.
                              response plan and procedures for a release or threatened release of a
                              Failure to establish and electronically submit an adequate emergencyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-13-2019Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              at the time of inspection.
                              Mr. Hector Muller updated the hazardous materials inventory via CERS
                              the CERS submittal on 2/28/2019. CERS ID#10311208. CORRECTED ON SITE:
                              incorrect max daily amount on the hazardous materials inventory from
                              55-gallon drums of soluble oil on site. Soluble oil was listed in the
                              Returned to compliance on 12/13/2019. OBSERVATION: Observed (3)Violation Notes:
                              requires modification to any portion of the business plan.
                              business name. A substantial change in the handler’s operations that
                              quantities. A change of business address, business ownership, or
                              previously undisclosed hazardous materials at or above reportable
                              quantity of a previously disclosed material. Any handling of a
                              one of the following events: A 100 percent or more increase in the
                              Failure to electronically update business plan within 30 days of anyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508.1(a)-(f)
                              HSC 6.95 25508.1(a)-(f) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-13-2019Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              yearly update via CERS.
                              Returned to compliance on 07/27/2017. Facility has not submittedViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              10-18-2016Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              manifests not available for review.
                              Waste Manifests for at least 3 years (CCR 66262.40(a)) Hazardous waste
                              Returned to compliance on 09/12/2017. Failure to retain HazardousViolation Notes:
                              General
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation -Violation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              10-18-2016Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:

LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.  (Continued) S106446696

TC7095824.2s   Page 271

Item E - 969 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              43327Site ID:
Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              12-13-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              12-13-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-18-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-18-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              SMARTS,Eval Source:
                              INDSTWEval Program:
                              Water BoardsEval Division:
                              No exposure observed at site.Eval Notes:
                              Construction Storm Water Compliance EvaluationEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-01-2020Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              emergency response plan via CERS at the time of inspection.
                              2/28/2019. CORRECTED ON SITE: Mr. Hector Muller submitted a complete
                              emergency response/contingency plan was submitted via CERS on
                              Returned to compliance on 12/13/2019. OBSERVATION: An incompleteViolation Notes:

LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.  (Continued) S106446696

TC7095824.2s   Page 272

Item E - 970 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (909) 947-5745,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1811 S LAKE PLACEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              LAMB, RICHARD R.Entity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 3488Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.621120Longitude:
                              34.040940Latitude:
                              Center of a facility or station.,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10311208Program ID:
                              HWGEnv Int Type Code:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Facility Name:
                              43327Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-18-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1811 S LAKE PLSite Address:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-18-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1811 S LAKE PLSite Address:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:

LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.  (Continued) S106446696

TC7095824.2s   Page 273

Item E - 971 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Industrial Facility Storm WaterCERS Description:
                              880259CERS ID:
                              43327Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1811 S LAKE PLAddress:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Name:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1811 S Lake PlAffiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              Lamb Engineering IncEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 702-3124,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Lamb EngineeringEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 3488Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              HECTOR MULLEREntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Entity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.  (Continued) S106446696

TC7095824.2s   Page 274

Item E - 972 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              missing from hazardous waste containers.
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2)) Accumulation start date
                              Returned to compliance on 10/18/2016. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              10-18-2016Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              records not available for review.
                              disposal receipts for at least 3 years (CHSC 25160.2(b)(3)) Disposal
                              Returned to compliance on 09/12/2017. Failure to maintain used oilViolation Notes:
                              General
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation -Violation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              10-18-2016Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              the drum at the time of inspection.
                              ON SITE: Mr. Joshua Olagues placed a complete hazardous waste label on
                              55-gallon drum of used oil missing a hazardous waste label. CORRECTED
                              Returned to compliance on 12/13/2019. OBSERVATION: Observed (1)Violation Notes:
                              date.
                              characteristics of the Hazardous Waste, and starting accumulation
                              name and address of the generator, physical and chemical
                              portable tanks with the following requirements: "Hazardous Waste",
                              Failure to properly label hazardous waste accumulation containers andViolation Description:
                              Chapter 12, Section(s) 66262.34(f)
                              22 CCR 12 66262.34(f) - California Code of Regulations, Title 22,Citation:
                              12-13-2019Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              missing from the hazardous waste label.
                              waste labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(3)) The hazardous properties were
                              Returned to compliance on 10/18/2016. Failure to complete hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              10-18-2016Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

Violations:

LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.  (Continued) S106446696

TC7095824.2s   Page 275

Item E - 973 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-13-2019Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              at the time of inspection.
                              Mr. Hector Muller updated the hazardous materials inventory via CERS
                              the CERS submittal on 2/28/2019. CERS ID#10311208. CORRECTED ON SITE:
                              incorrect max daily amount on the hazardous materials inventory from
                              55-gallon drums of soluble oil on site. Soluble oil was listed in the
                              Returned to compliance on 12/13/2019. OBSERVATION: Observed (3)Violation Notes:
                              requires modification to any portion of the business plan.
                              business name. A substantial change in the handler’s operations that
                              quantities. A change of business address, business ownership, or
                              previously undisclosed hazardous materials at or above reportable
                              quantity of a previously disclosed material. Any handling of a
                              one of the following events: A 100 percent or more increase in the
                              Failure to electronically update business plan within 30 days of anyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508.1(a)-(f)
                              HSC 6.95 25508.1(a)-(f) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-13-2019Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              yearly update via CERS.
                              Returned to compliance on 07/27/2017. Facility has not submittedViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              10-18-2016Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              manifests not available for review.
                              Waste Manifests for at least 3 years (CCR 66262.40(a)) Hazardous waste
                              Returned to compliance on 09/12/2017. Failure to retain HazardousViolation Notes:
                              General
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation -Violation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              10-18-2016Violation Date:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:

LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.  (Continued) S106446696

TC7095824.2s   Page 276

Item E - 974 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              12-13-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              12-13-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-18-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-18-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              SMARTS,Eval Source:
                              INDSTWEval Program:
                              Water BoardsEval Division:
                              No exposure observed at site.Eval Notes:
                              Construction Storm Water Compliance EvaluationEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-01-2020Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              emergency response plan via CERS at the time of inspection.
                              2/28/2019. CORRECTED ON SITE: Mr. Hector Muller submitted a complete
                              emergency response/contingency plan was submitted via CERS on
                              Returned to compliance on 12/13/2019. OBSERVATION: An incompleteViolation Notes:
                              hazardous material.
                              response plan and procedures for a release or threatened release of a
                              Failure to establish and electronically submit an adequate emergencyViolation Description:

LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.  (Continued) S106446696

TC7095824.2s   Page 277

Item E - 975 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1811 S LAKE PLACEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              LAMB, RICHARD R.Entity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 3488Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.621120Longitude:
                              34.040940Latitude:
                              Center of a facility or station.,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10311208Program ID:
                              HWGEnv Int Type Code:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Facility Name:
                              43327Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-18-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1811 S LAKE PLSite Address:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-18-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1811 S LAKE PLSite Address:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Site Name:
                              43327Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.  (Continued) S106446696

TC7095824.2s   Page 278

Item E - 976 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1811 S Lake PlAffiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              Lamb Engineering IncEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 702-3124,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Lamb EngineeringEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 3488Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              HECTOR MULLEREntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.Entity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-5745,Affiliation Phone:

LAMB ENGINEERING, INC.  (Continued) S106446696

TC7095824.2s   Page 279

Item E - 977 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              HECTOR MULLEROperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                PO BOX 3488Mailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                HECTORMULLER@LAMBENGINEERING.NETContact Email:
                                                                                909-947-8309Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-702-3124Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                PO BOX 3488Contact Address:
                                                                                HECTOR MULLERContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000358367EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5789Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1811 S LAKE PLHandler Address:
                              LAMB ENGINEERING INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20101102Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

712 ft. Site 3 of 10 in cluster P
0.135 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
867 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW 1811 S LAKE PL CAL000358367
P82 RCRA NonGen / NLRLAMB ENGINEERING INC 1024827825

TC7095824.2s   Page 280

Item E - 978 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-702-3124Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            PO BOX 3488Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          HECTOR MULLEROwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-5745Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-5789Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1811 S LAKE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          LAMB ENGINEERING INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

LAMB ENGINEERING INC  (Continued) 1024827825

TC7095824.2s   Page 281

Item E - 979 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

                              MACHINE SHOPSNAICS Description:
                              33271NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          LAMB ENGINEERING INCHandler Name:
                                                            20101102Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

LAMB ENGINEERING INC  (Continued) 1024827825

09/30/2018Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALS SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0019224Permit Number:
Neovia Logistics Distrubution LLCOwner:
FA0011172Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1521 FRANCIS ST STE BAddress:
MIQ LOGISTICS LLCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

714 ft. Site 1 of 3 in cluster Q
0.135 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
875 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
North 1521 FRANCIS ST STE B    N/A
Q83 CA San Bern. Co. PermitMIQ LOGISTICS LLC S117388320

TC7095824.2s   Page 282

Item E - 980 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        8831Discharge Zip:
                                        New JerseyDischarge State:
                                        MONROEDischarge City:
                                        US ELOGISTICS SERVICE CORPDischarge Name:
                                        1100 CRANBURY SOUTH RIVER RDDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        07/31/2018Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36NEC004358WDID:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        499842Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        8Region:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1521 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        US ELOGISTICS SERVICE CORPName:

                                        08831Operator Zip:
                                        New JerseyOperator State:
                                        MONROEOperator City:
                                        1100 CRANBURY SOUTH RIVER RDOperator Address:
                                        US ELOGISTICS SERVICE CORPOperator Name:
                                        07/31/2018Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36NEC004358WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1521 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        US ELOGISTICS SERVICE CORPName:

NPDES:

714 ft. CA CERSSite 2 of 3 in cluster Q
0.135 mi. CA CIWQS

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
875 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA WDSONTARIO, CA  91761
North CA San Bern. Co. Permit1521 E FRANCIS ST B    N/A
Q84 CA NPDESUSF LOGISTICS S106105350

TC7095824.2s   Page 283

Item E - 981 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

          0SIC Code:
          PrivateAgency Type:
          9095914949Agency Telephone:
          KAUFMAN CHARLOTTEAgency Contact:
          Chino 917109328Agency City,St,Zip:
          4980 Eucalyptus AveAgency Address:
          USF LOGISTICS CHINOAgency Name:
          CIMINO BRIANFacility Contact:
          9096731766Facility Telephone:
          8Subregion:
          are assigned by the Regional Board
          CAS000001 The 1st 2 characters designate the state. The remaining 7NPDES Number:
          under Waste Discharge Requirements.
          Active - Any facility with a continuous or seasonal discharge that isFacility Status:
          pumping.
          repairing, oil production, storage and disposal operations, water
          washing, geothermal operations, air conditioning, ship building and
          processing operation of whatever nature, including mining, gravel
          semisolid wastes from any servicing, producing, manufacturing or
          Industrial - Facility that treats and/or disposes of liquid orFacility Type:
          Santa Ana River  36I017120Facility ID:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1521 E FRANCIS ST BAddress:
          USF LOGISTICSName:

WDS:

05/31/2004Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 11-25 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0014688Permit Number:
USF LOGISTIC SERVICES, INC.Owner:
FA0008413Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1521 E FRANCIS ST STE BAddress:
USF LOGISTICSName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALS SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0039051Permit Number:
GONG, SIMONOwner:
FA0018077Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1521 E FRANCIS ST STE AAddress:
ECPP INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:

USF LOGISTICS  (Continued) S106105350

TC7095824.2s   Page 284

Item E - 982 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              1521 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              US ELOGISTICS SERVICE CORPName:

CERS:

                                        -117.62156Longitude:
                                        34.04125Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        08/22/2005Termination Date:
                                        03/11/2002Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36I017120WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        TerminatedRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        4225SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - General Warehousing and StoragePlace/Project Type:
                                        14485 Monte Vista Ave, Chino, CA 91710Agency Address:
                                        USF LogisticsAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1521 E FRANCIS ST STE BAddress:
                                        USF LOGISTICSName:

CIWQS:

          dairy waste ponds.
          dischargers having waste storage systems with land disposal such as
          disposal systems, such as septic systems with subsurface disposal, or
          management practices, facilities with passive waste treatment and
          cooling water dischargers or thosewho must comply through best
          Category C - Facilities having no waste treatment systems, such asComplexity:
          represent no threat to water quality.
          Level. A Zero (0) may be used to code those NURDS that are found to
          considered a minor threat to water quality unless coded at a higher
          to a major or minor threat. Not: All nurds without a TTWQ will be
          should cause a relatively minor impairment of beneficial uses compared
          Minor Threat to Water Quality. A violation of a regional board orderTreat To Water:
          Not reportedPOTW:
          Not reportedReclamation:
          0Baseline Flow:
          0Design Flow:
          Not reportedSecondary Waste Type:
          Not reportedSecondary Waste:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste Type:
          Not reportedWaste2:
          Not reportedWaste Type2:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste Type:
          Not reportedSIC Code 2:

USF LOGISTICS  (Continued) S106105350

TC7095824.2s   Page 285

Item E - 983 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              08831Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              NJAffiliation State:
                              MONROEAffiliation City:
                              1100 CRANBURY SOUTH RIVER RDAffiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              US ELOGISTICS SERVICE CORPEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              Industrial Facility Storm WaterCERS Description:
                              865693CERS ID:
                              545638Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:

USF LOGISTICS  (Continued) S106105350

08/31/2019Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALS SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0026160Permit Number:
DAVID F. BOLGER REVOCABLE TRUSTOwner:
FA0015018Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1521 E FRANCIS ST STE AAddress:
GENERA CORPORATIONName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

714 ft. Site 3 of 3 in cluster Q
0.135 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
875 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
North 1521 E FRANCIS ST STE A    N/A
Q85 CA San Bern. Co. PermitGENERA CORPORATION S113663481

                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                CLAY@HORIZONPRINTINGINK.COMContact Email:
                                                                                000-000-0000Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-947-4500Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1558 E CEDAR STContact Address:
                                                                                CLAYTON GRAHAMContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000354263EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1558 E CEDAR STHandler Address:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP.Handler Name:
                                                                                20100701Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

718 ft. Site 7 of 8 in cluster I
0.136 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
855 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
South 1558 E CEDAR ST CAL000354263
I86 RCRA NonGen / NLRHORIZON PRINTING INK CORP. 1024826487

TC7095824.2s   Page 286

Item E - 984 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              CLAYTON GRAHAMOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              HARIZON PRINTING INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1558 E CEDAR STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP.  (Continued) 1024826487

TC7095824.2s   Page 287

Item E - 985 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP.Handler Name:
                                                            20100701Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-4500Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1558 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          CLAYTON GRAHAMOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-4500Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-5761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1558 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          HARIZON PRINTING INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP.  (Continued) 1024826487

TC7095824.2s   Page 288

Item E - 986 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP.  (Continued) 1024826487

                                        2012Year:

                                        0.175Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT000613893TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000354263Gepaid:
                                        2012Year:

                                        1.617Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000501510TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000354263Gepaid:
                                        2012Year:

                                        3.129Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000501510TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000354263Gepaid:
                                        2013Year:

                                        1558 E CEDAR STMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099424500Telephone:
                                        CLAYTN GRAHAMContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917615761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1558 E CEDAR STAddress:
                                        HARIZON PRINTING INCName:

HAZNET:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10311553CERS ID:
                              123244Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1558 E CEDAR STAddress:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPName:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

718 ft. CA HWTSSite 8 of 8 in cluster I
0.136 mi. CA CERS

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
855 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
South CA HAZNET1558 E CEDAR ST    N/A
I87 CA CERS HAZ WASTEHORIZON PRINTING INK CORP S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 289

Item E - 987 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ENVIRONMENTAL LOGISTICS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000172460Trans EPA ID:
                                        009215903JJKManifest ID:
                                        20111212Receipt Date:
                                        3/13/2012 20:30:22Creation Date:
                                        20111209Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000354263Gen EPA ID:
                                        2011Year:

Additional Info:

                                        0.2Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteDisposal Method:
                                        perchloroethylene, etc)
                                        211 - Halogenated solvents (chloroforms, methyl chloride,CA Waste Code:
                                        TXD077603371TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000354263Gepaid:
                                        2010Year:

                                        0.05Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteDisposal Method:
                                        -CA Waste Code:
                                        TXD077603371TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000354263Gepaid:
                                        2011Year:

                                        0.075Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteDisposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        TXD077603371TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000354263Gepaid:
                                        2011Year:

                                        0.125Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT000613893TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000354263Gepaid:
                                        2011Year:

                                        2.1Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982444481TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000354263Gepaid:
                                        2011Year:

                                        1.89Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982444481TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000354263Gepaid:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 290

Item E - 988 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        002855101SKSManifest ID:
                                        20110830Receipt Date:
                                        2/7/2012 20:30:12Creation Date:
                                        20110823Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.05Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        002855182SKSManifest ID:
                                        20111122Receipt Date:
                                        4/16/2012 20:30:13Creation Date:
                                        20111115Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        200Waste Quantity:
                                        0.84Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        FILTER RECYCLING SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 291

Item E - 989 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.05Quantity Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        - Not reportedWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXD077603371TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIAD TRANSPORT INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        OKD981588791Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        002597068SKSManifest ID:
                                        20110609Receipt Date:
                                        11/8/2011 18:30:21Creation Date:
                                        20110525Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        300Waste Quantity:
                                        1.26Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        FILTER RECYCLING SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ENVIRONMENTAL LOGISTICS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000172460Trans EPA ID:
                                        008894675JJKManifest ID:
                                        20110815Receipt Date:
                                        10/19/2011 18:30:39Creation Date:
                                        20110812Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        150Waste Quantity:
                                        0.075Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 292

Item E - 990 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        20130816Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        330Waste Quantity:
                                        1.386Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATION INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ENVIRONMENTAL & CHEMICAL CONSULTING INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000241448Trans EPA ID:
                                        011356414JJKManifest ID:
                                        20140107Receipt Date:
                                        6/9/2014 22:15:05Creation Date:
                                        20131230Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000354263Gen EPA ID:
                                        2013Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        150Waste Quantity:
                                        0.075Quantity Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXD077603371TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIAD TRANSPORT INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        OKD981588791Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        003347390FLEManifest ID:
                                        20110324Receipt Date:
                                        8/25/2011 18:30:35Creation Date:
                                        20110311Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 293

Item E - 991 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        003714666FLEManifest ID:
                                        20101227Receipt Date:
                                        5/24/2011 18:30:22Creation Date:
                                        20101216Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000354263Gen EPA ID:
                                        2010Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        165Waste Quantity:
                                        0.693Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATIONTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        J&R ENVIRONMENTALTrans Name:
                                        CAR000203109Trans EPA ID:
                                        011042307JJKManifest ID:
                                        20130401Receipt Date:
                                        8/16/2013 22:15:19Creation Date:
                                        20130327Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        250Waste Quantity:
                                        1.05Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATION INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        J&R ENVIRONMENTAL INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000208109Trans EPA ID:
                                        011000982JJKManifest ID:
                                        20130828Receipt Date:
                                        12/27/2013 22:15:07Creation Date:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 294

Item E - 992 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ENVIRONMENTAL LOGISTICS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000172460Trans EPA ID:
                                        010615089JJKManifest ID:
                                        20121009Receipt Date:
                                        12/20/2012 22:15:24Creation Date:
                                        20121005Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        385Waste Quantity:
                                        1.617Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATIONTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        J&R ENVIRONMENTALTrans Name:
                                        CAR000203109Trans EPA ID:
                                        009695448JJKManifest ID:
                                        20130104Receipt Date:
                                        5/8/2013 22:15:17Creation Date:
                                        20121220Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000354263Gen EPA ID:
                                        2012Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        400Waste Quantity:
                                        0.2Quantity Tons:
                                        H061 - Fuel Blending Prior To Energy Recovery At Another SiteMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        perchloroethylene, etc.
                                        211 - Halogenated solvents (chloroform, methyl chloride,Waste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXD077603371TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIAD TRANSPORT INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        OKD981588791Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 295

Item E - 993 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        003156900SKSManifest ID:
                                        20120503Receipt Date:
                                        10/19/2012 22:15:28Creation Date:
                                        20120430Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.05Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        003227481SKSManifest ID:
                                        20120723Receipt Date:
                                        6/1/2013 22:15:05Creation Date:
                                        20120719Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        150Waste Quantity:
                                        0.63Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        FILTER RECYCLING SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 296

Item E - 994 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.05Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        002989943SKSManifest ID:
                                        20120214Receipt Date:
                                        7/16/2012 20:30:17Creation Date:
                                        20120208Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        300Waste Quantity:
                                        1.26Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        FILTER RECYCLING SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAD982444481TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ENVIRONMENTAL LOGISTICS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000172460Trans EPA ID:
                                        009945443JJKManifest ID:
                                        20120426Receipt Date:
                                        6/1/2012 20:30:08Creation Date:
                                        20120425Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        150Waste Quantity:
                                        0.075Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 297

Item E - 995 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              10-25-2016Violation Date:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPSite Name:
                              123244Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Business Plan via CERS within 30 days. CERS ID 10311553.
                              certified. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Review and electronically certify
                              11-7-2017. Business Plan must be annually reviewed and electronically
                              inspection, observed Business Plan was last submitted via CERS on
                              Returned to compliance on 12/23/2019. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-09-2019Violation Date:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPSite Name:
                              123244Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10311553CERS ID:
                              123244Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1558 E CEDAR STAddress:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPName:

CERS:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0023594Permit Number:
HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPOwner:
FA0013369Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1558 E CEDAR STAddress:
HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPName:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0023593Permit Number:
HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPOwner:
FA0013369Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1558 E CEDAR STAddress:
HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 298

Item E - 996 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              thresholds quantities of 55 gallons/500 lbs/200 cubic feet.
                              Business Plan when storing hazardous materials at or above the
                              Owner/Operator failed to complete and/or submit a Hazardous MaterialsViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25505(a)
                              HSC 6.95 25505(a) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              08-21-2013Violation Date:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPSite Name:
                              123244Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              phone number via CERS within 30 days. CERS ID 10311553.
                              plan with the correct Local Unified Program Agency emergency response
                              CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit an updated Emergency Response/Contingency
                              Agency (UPA/CUPA) emergency response phone number is (909) 386-8425.
                              (UPA/CUPA) emergency response phone number. The Local Unified Program
                              on 11-7-2017 did not indicate the Local Unified Program Agency
                              inspection, the Emergency Response/Contingency plan submitted via CERS
                              Returned to compliance on 12/23/2019. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              hazardous material.
                              response plan and procedures for a release or threatened release of a
                              Failure to establish and electronically submit an adequate emergencyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-09-2019Violation Date:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPSite Name:
                              123244Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              within 30 days. CERS ID 10311553.
                              Submit an updated and accurate Business Activities page via CERS
                              closure/removal of a hazardous waste tank on site. CORRECTIVE ACTION:
                              information is inaccurate, this facility does not need to report the
                              that was classified as hazardous waste and cleaned on-site. This
                              indicated this facility needs to report the closure/removal of a tank
                              inspection, Business Activities page submitted via CERS of 11-7-2017
                              Returned to compliance on 12/09/2019. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              Page and/or Business Owner Operator Identification Page.
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit the Business ActivitiesViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-09-2019Violation Date:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPSite Name:
                              123244Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Plan via CERS.
                              Returned to compliance on 12/23/2019. Facility did not update BusinessViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 299

Item E - 997 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              12-09-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-25-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Routine inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              08-21-2013Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              12-09-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              10-25-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              inks are re-introduced in the process since they are still useable.
                              Routine inspection, review haz waste generating process and how someEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              08-21-2013Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 08/26/2013.Violation Notes:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 300

Item E - 998 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              CLAYTON GRAHAMEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1558 E CEDAR STAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.617820Longitude:
                              34.037260Latitude:
                              Center of a facility or station.,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10311553Program ID:
                              HWGEnv Int Type Code:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPFacility Name:
                              123244Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-25-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1558 E CEDAR STSite Address:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPSite Name:
                              123244Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              08-21-2013Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1558 E CEDAR STSite Address:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPSite Name:
                              123244Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 301

Item E - 999 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        07/01/2010Create Date:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        CAL000354263EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1558 E CEDAR STAddress:
                                        HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP.Name:

HWTS:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-4500,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1558 E CEDAR STAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              HORIZON PRINTING INK CORPEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1558 E CEDAR STAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              CLAYTON GRAHAMEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-4500,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

TC7095824.2s   Page 302

Item E - 1000 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        917615761Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1558 E CEDAR STFacility Address:
                                        HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP.Facility Name:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        2010-07-01 10:18:41.66000Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Not Otherwise SpecifiedNAICS Description:
                                        99999NAICS Code:
                                        2010-07-01 10:18:41.660Create Date:
                                        CAL000354263EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.617793Longitude:
                                        34.037675Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1558 E CEDAR STContact Address:
                                        CLAYTON GRAHAMContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917615761Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1558 E CEDAR STOwner Address:
                                        HARIZON PRINTING INCOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917615761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1558 E CEDAR STMailing Address:

HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP  (Continued) S110496986

                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                RWENTLER@NAPGLADU.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-930-5996Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-930-5990Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1941 S BAKER AVEContact Address:
                                                                                RAY WENTLERContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000431050EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1941 S BAKER AVEHandler Address:
                              NAP ASSET HOLDINGS LTD DBA NAP GLADUHandler Name:
                                                                                20170927Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

721 ft. Site 2 of 8 in cluster O
0.137 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
858 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1941 S BAKER AVE CAL000431050
O88 RCRA NonGen / NLRNAP ASSET HOLDINGS LTD DBA NAP GLADU 1024862534

TC7095824.2s   Page 303

Item E - 1001 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                20180907Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              RAY WENTLEROperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              NAP ASSET HOLDINGS LTDOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1941 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:

NAP ASSET HOLDINGS LTD DBA NAP GLADU  (Continued) 1024862534

TC7095824.2s   Page 304

Item E - 1002 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              CUTTING TOOL AND MACHINE TOOL ACCESSORY MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              333515NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          NAP ASSET HOLDINGS LTD DBA NAP GLADUHandler Name:
                                                            20170927Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-5990Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1941 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          RAY WENTLEROwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            812-482-2000Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            JASPER, IN 47546Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1180 WERNSING RDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          NAP ASSET HOLDINGS LTDOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:

NAP ASSET HOLDINGS LTD DBA NAP GLADU  (Continued) 1024862534

TC7095824.2s   Page 305

Item E - 1003 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

NAP ASSET HOLDINGS LTD DBA NAP GLADU  (Continued) 1024862534

                              oil, waste oil, waste simple green, waste diamond filters, oxygen,
                              thresholds and need to be added to the inventory: waste transgrind
                              was found to be incomplete. The following items are above reporting
                              Returned to compliance on 02/18/2021. OBSERVATION: The CERS inventoryViolation Notes:
                              at or above reportable quantities.
                              inventory information for all reportable hazardous materials on site
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit hazardous materialViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(3)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(3) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              02-01-2021Violation Date:
                              Peak Toolworks (NAP Asset Holdings, Ltd.)Site Name:
                              567849Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10849933CERS ID:
                              567849Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1941 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                              PEAK TOOLWORKS (NAP ASSET HOLDINGS, LTD.)Name:

CERS:

                                        1.0425Tons:
                                        T01 - Treatment, TankDisposal Method:
                                        791 - Liquids with pH <= 2CA Waste Code:
                                        CAD097030993TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAC000690240Gepaid:
                                        1992Year:

                                        --Mailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        7149471010Telephone:
                                        DAWN ALBER/OFFICE SECContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1941 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                                        1X ONTARIO DIE OF CALIFORNIAName:

HAZNET:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10849933CERS ID:
                              567849Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1941 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                              PEAK TOOLWORKS (NAP ASSET HOLDINGS, LTD.)Name:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

721 ft. Site 3 of 8 in cluster O
0.137 mi. CA HWTS

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
858 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA CERSONTARIO, CA  91761
SE CA HAZNET1941 S BAKER AVE    N/A
O89 CA CERS HAZ WASTE1X ONTARIO DIE OF CALIFORNIA S123744705

TC7095824.2s   Page 306

Item E - 1004 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Service Center ManagerEntity Title:
                              Rick ButschEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.614730Longitude:
                              34.038580Latitude:
                              Center of a facility or station.,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10849933Program ID:
                              HMBPEnv Int Type Code:
                              Peak Toolworks (NAP Asset Holdings, Ltd.)Facility Name:
                              567849Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              02-01-2021Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              02-01-2021Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              inventory in CERs.
                              acetylene, and new oils. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit an updated

1X ONTARIO DIE OF CALIFORNIA  (Continued) S123744705

TC7095824.2s   Page 307

Item E - 1005 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Peak Toolworks (NAP Asset Holdings, Ltd.)Entity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (812) 482-2000,Affiliation Phone:
                              47546Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              INAffiliation State:
                              JasperAffiliation City:
                              1180 Wernsing Rd.Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Kerry BaskinsEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Rick ButschEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Peak Toolworks (NAP Asset Holdings, Ltd.)Entity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1941 S. Baker Ave.Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1941 S. Baker Ave.Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Rick ButschEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

1X ONTARIO DIE OF CALIFORNIA  (Continued) S123744705

TC7095824.2s   Page 308

Item E - 1006 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        -117.61535Longitude:
                                        34.028124Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        TEMPORARYFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        Not reportedCity,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        Not reportedContact Address:
                                        DAWN ALBER/OFFICE SECContact Name:
                                        Not reportedOwner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address:
                                        MARTIN LEVENEOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        04/01/1992Create Date:
                                        10/25/2000Inactive Date:
                                        CAC000690240EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1941 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                                        1X ONTARIO DIE OF CALIFORNIAName:

HWTS:

                              (909) 930-5990,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:

1X ONTARIO DIE OF CALIFORNIA  (Continued) S123744705

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0040351Permit Number:
PEAK TOOLWORKS (NAP ASSET HOLDINGS, LTD.)Owner:
FA0018689Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1941 S BAKER AVEAddress:
PEAK TOOLWORKS (NAP ASSET HOLDINGS, LTD)Name:

11/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0040352Permit Number:
PEAK TOOLWORKS (NAP ASSET HOLDINGS, LTD.)Owner:
FA0018689Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1941 S BAKER AVEAddress:
PEAK TOOLWORKS (NAP ASSET HOLDINGS, LTD)Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

721 ft. Site 4 of 8 in cluster O
0.137 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
858 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1941 S BAKER AVE    N/A
O90 CA San Bern. Co. PermitPEAK TOOLWORKS (NAP ASSET HOLDINGS, LTD) S127020239

TC7095824.2s   Page 309

Item E - 1007 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

11/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:

PEAK TOOLWORKS (NAP ASSET HOLDINGS, LTD)  (Continued) S127020239

10/31/2013Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 11-25 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0008307Permit Number:
FREEFLOW PRODUCTS INCOwner:
FA0003343Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1735 S BAKER STAddress:
FREEFLOW PRODUCTS INCName:

10/31/2013Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0023913Permit Number:
FREEFLOW PRODUCTS INCOwner:
FA0003343Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1735 S BAKER STAddress:
FREEFLOW PRODUCTS INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

722 ft. Site 3 of 9 in cluster M
0.137 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
874 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
NE 1735 S BAKER ST    N/A
M91 CA San Bern. Co. PermitFREEFLOW PRODUCTS INC S104766350

04/30/2005Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 11-25 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0000806Permit Number:
JOHN STEWARTOwner:
FA0006473Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1552 E CEDAR STAddress:
STEWART PRODUCTS INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

722 ft. Site 5 of 5 in cluster J
0.137 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
854 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
South 1552 E CEDAR ST    N/A
J92 CA San Bern. Co. PermitSTEWART PRODUCTS INC. S105047766

TC7095824.2s   Page 310

Item E - 1008 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

05/31/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0014880Permit Number:
BOCK MACHINE INCOPORATEDOwner:
FA0008546Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1911 S LAKE PLAddress:
BOCK MACHINE COMPANY INCName:

05/31/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:
PT0014881Permit Number:
BOCK MACHINE INCOPORATEDOwner:
FA0008546Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1911 S LAKE PLAddress:
BOCK MACHINE COMPANY INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

737 ft. Site 4 of 7 in cluster N
0.140 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
859 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WSW 1911 S LAKE PL    N/A
N93 CA San Bern. Co. PermitBOCK MACHINE COMPANY INC S108199431

                              JASPER ENGINESOwner Name:
                                                                                UNION CITY, CA 94587-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1699 ATLANTIC ST BLDG 4Mailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                BEN.SCHWENK@JASPERENGINES.COMContact Email:
                                                                                812-634-1820Contact Fax:
                                                                                812-482-1041Contact Telephone:
                                                                                JASPER, IN 47547-0650Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                P.0. BOX 650Contact Address:
                                                                                BENJAMIN SCHWENKContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000282471EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1477 E CEDAR ST # DHandler Address:
                              JASPER ENGINESHandler Name:
                                                                                20040525Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

768 ft. Site 1 of 6 in cluster R
0.145 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
854 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SW 1477 E CEDAR ST # D CAL000282471
R94 RCRA NonGen / NLRJASPER ENGINES 1024808954

TC7095824.2s   Page 311

Item E - 1009 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              BENJAMIN SCHWENKOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:

JASPER ENGINES  (Continued) 1024808954

TC7095824.2s   Page 312

Item E - 1010 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              AUTOMOTIVE PARTS AND ACCESSORIES STORESNAICS Description:
                              44131NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          JASPER ENGINESHandler Name:
                                                            20040525Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            812-482-1041Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            JASPER, IN 47547-0650Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            P.0. BOX 650Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          BENJAMIN SCHWENKOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            812-482-1041Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            JASPER, IN 47547-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            PO BOX 650Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JASPER ENGINESOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:

JASPER ENGINES  (Continued) 1024808954

TC7095824.2s   Page 313

Item E - 1011 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36IN601832WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1477 EAST CEDAR STREET SUITE BAddress:
                                        PILOT FREIGHT SERVICESName:

NPDES:

                                        0.04Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD097030993TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000282471Gepaid:
                                        2016Year:

                                        0.10000Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000515924TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000282471Gepaid:
                                        2018Year:

                                        815Mailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        8124821041Telephone:
                                        BENJAMIN SCHWENKContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 47546City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1477 E CEDAR ST # DAddress:
                                        JASPER ENGINESName:

HAZNET:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10048798CERS ID:
                              39477Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT DAddress:
                              JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INCName:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

CA HWTS
768 ft. CA CERSSite 2 of 6 in cluster R
0.145 mi. CA San Bern. Co. Permit

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
854 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA NPDESONTARIO, CA  91761
SW CA HAZNET1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT D    N/A
R95 CA CERS HAZ WASTEJASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INC S109849228

TC7095824.2s   Page 314

Item E - 1012 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATOR SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0014887Permit Number:
JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INCOwner:
FA0008566Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT DAddress:
JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1477 East Cedar Street Suite BOperator Address:
                                        David GillilandOperator Name:
                                        03/08/2012Status Date:
                                        UndeterminedStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36IN601830WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1477 EAST CEDAR STREET SUITE BAddress:
                                        PILOT FREIGHT SERVICESName:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1477 East Cedar Street Suite BOperator Address:
                                        David GillilandOperator Name:
                                        03/15/2012Status Date:
                                        UndeterminedStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:

JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INC  (Continued) S109849228

TC7095824.2s   Page 315

Item E - 1013 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              03-18-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              HAZARDOUS MATERIALS INSPECTION FOR JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INCEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-18-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 03/30/2016.Violation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to complete and/or electronically submit a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508(d)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(d) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              03-18-2016Violation Date:
                              JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INCSite Name:
                              39477Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              hazardous waste (CCR 66262.11)
                              Returned to compliance on 03/31/2016. Failure to determine if waste isViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              03-18-2016Violation Date:
                              JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INCSite Name:
                              39477Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10048798CERS ID:
                              39477Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT DAddress:
                              JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INCName:

CERS:

05/31/2016Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER GENERAL ACT.(NB)Permit Category:
PT0014888Permit Number:
JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INCOwner:
FA0008566Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT DAddress:
JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INCName:

JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INC  (Continued) S109849228

TC7095824.2s   Page 316

Item E - 1014 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Benjamin SchwenkEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              03-18-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT DSite Address:
                              JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INCSite Name:
                              39477Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              03-18-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT DSite Address:
                              JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INCSite Name:
                              39477Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-18-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              HAZARDOUS WASTE GENERATOR INSPECTION FOR JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGEEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:

JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INC  (Continued) S109849228

TC7095824.2s   Page 317

Item E - 1015 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1477 EAST CEDAR STREET, UNIT DAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 923-8810,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INCEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1477 E CEDAR ST, UNIT DAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Zach PobanzEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Benjamin SchwenkEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (800) 827-7455,Affiliation Phone:
                              47547Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              INAffiliation State:
                              JASPERAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 650Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INCEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              ENVIRONMENTAL MGR.Entity Title:

JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INC  (Continued) S109849228

TC7095824.2s   Page 318

Item E - 1016 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        91761Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1477 E CEDAR ST # DFacility Address:
                                        JASPER ENGINESFacility Name:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        2004-05-25 11:23:14.35300Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Automotive Parts and Accessories StoresNAICS Description:
                                        44131NAICS Code:
                                        2004-05-25 11:23:14.493Create Date:
                                        CAL000282471EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.628971Longitude:
                                        34.038959Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        JASPER, IN 475470650City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        P.0. BOX 650Contact Address:
                                        BENJAMIN SCHWENKContact Name:
                                        JASPER, IN 475470000Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        PO BOX 650Owner Address:
                                        JASPER ENGINESOwner Name:
                                        JASPER, IN 47546Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        815Mailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        05/25/2004Create Date:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        CAL000282471EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1477 E CEDAR ST # DAddress:
                                        JASPER ENGINESName:

HWTS:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Jasper EngineEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INC  (Continued) S109849228

TC7095824.2s   Page 319

Item E - 1017 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              ZACH POBANZOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT DMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                ZACH.PORBANZ@IASPERENGINES.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-923-8810Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT DContact Address:
                                                                                ZACH POBANZContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000443350EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT DHandler Address:
                              JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20190207Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

768 ft. Site 3 of 6 in cluster R
0.145 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
854 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SW 1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT D CAL000443350
R96 RCRA NonGen / NLRJASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INC 1024874694

TC7095824.2s   Page 320

Item E - 1018 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-8810Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT DOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ZACH POBANZOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            812-482-1041Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            JASPER, IN 47547Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            PO BOX 650Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20190222Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INC  (Continued) 1024874694

TC7095824.2s   Page 321

Item E - 1019 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              AUTOMOTIVE PARTS AND ACCESSORIES STORESNAICS Description:
                              441310NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INCHandler Name:
                                                            20190207Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INC  (Continued) 1024874694

05/31/2017Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0019525Permit Number:
DEE ENGINEERING INCOwner:
FA0002668Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1893 LAKE PLAddress:
DEE ENGINEERING INCName:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0007449Permit Number:
DEE ENGINEERING INCOwner:
FA0002668Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1893 LAKE PLAddress:
DEE ENGINEERING INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

774 ft. Site 5 of 7 in cluster N
0.147 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
861 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WSW 1893 LAKE PL    N/A
N97 CA San Bern. Co. PermitDEE ENGINEERING INC S122499335

TC7095824.2s   Page 322

Item E - 1020 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36NEC007966WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1714 EAST GREVILLEA COURTAddress:
                                        RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTERName:

                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTERDischarge Name:
                                        1714 E Grevillea CourtDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        11/18/2020Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36NEC007966WDID:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        528210Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        8Region:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1714 EAST GREVILLEA COURTAddress:
                                        RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTERName:

NPDES:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10047187CERS ID:
                              146912Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1714 E GREVILLEA CTAddress:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSName:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

793 ft. CA CERSSite 2 of 3 in cluster L
0.150 mi. CA CIWQS

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
865 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
East CA NPDES1714 EAST GREVILLEA COURT    N/A
L98 CA CERS HAZ WASTERDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTER S106803257

TC7095824.2s   Page 323

Item E - 1021 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        11/18/2020Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36NEC007966WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        ActiveRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        2759SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Commercial Printing, NECPlace/Project Type:
                                        1714 E Grevillea Court, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTERAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1714 EAST GREVILLEA COURTAddress:
                                        RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTERName:

CIWQS:

01/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0018400Permit Number:
Robert SaizOwner:
FA0007593Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1714 E GREVILLEA CTAddress:
RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSName:

01/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0013046Permit Number:
Robert SaizOwner:
FA0007593Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1714 E GREVILLEA CTAddress:
RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1714 E Grevillea CourtOperator Address:
                                        RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTEROperator Name:
                                        11/18/2020Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:

RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTER  (Continued) S106803257

TC7095824.2s   Page 324

Item E - 1022 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              10-02-2019Violation Date:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSSite Name:
                              146912Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              personnel in hazardous waste management procedures (CCR 66265.16)
                              Returned to compliance on 10/02/2019. Failure to train facilityViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Training - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-25-2016Violation Date:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSSite Name:
                              146912Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10047187CERS ID:
                              146912Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1714 E GREVILLEA CTAddress:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSName:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1714 E Grevillea CourtAffiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTEREntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              Industrial Facility Storm WaterCERS Description:
                              887646CERS ID:
                              587719Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1714 EAST GREVILLEA COURTAddress:
                              RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTERName:

CERS:

                                        -117.6145Longitude:
                                        34.0397Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date:

RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTER  (Continued) S106803257

TC7095824.2s   Page 325

Item E - 1023 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              146912Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Hazardous waste accumulation time exceeded (CCR 66262.34(a))Violation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-25-2016Violation Date:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSSite Name:
                              146912Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers closed when not in active use (CCR 66265.173(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/25/2016. Failure to keep hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-25-2016Violation Date:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSSite Name:
                              146912Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              and provide a copy of the hazardous waste manifest.
                              hazardous waste that has been stored over the applicable time limit
                              time limit has been exceeded. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Dispose of all
                              parts washer were also found in this area. The 180 day accumulation
                              were found in the truck dock area. Two 15 gallon drums of solvent
                              OBSERVATION: Two 55 gallon drums of waste ink with 2013 start datesViolation Notes:
                              greater than one kilogram for more than 90 days.
                              hold acutely hazardous waste or extremely hazardous waste in an amount
                              Regulations section 262.34(d), (e) and (f). (3) The generator does not
                              The generator complies with the requirements of 40 Code of Federal
                              hazardous waste accumulated onsite never exceeds 6,000 kilograms. (2)
                              if all of the following conditions are met: (1) The quantity of
                              miles) for a generator who generates less than 1000 kilogram per month
                              disposal within 180 days (or 270 days if waste is transported over 200
                              Failure to send hazardous waste offsite for treatment, storage, orViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) 25123.3(h)(1)
                              HSC 6.5 25123.3(h)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              10-02-2019Violation Date:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSSite Name:
                              146912Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              within 30 days and annually there after.
                              annually before March 1. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Review and update the plan
                              plan was last updated on 4/27/2017. The plan is required to be updated
                              Returned to compliance on 12/30/2019. OBSERVATION: The CERS businessViolation Notes:
                              date.

RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTER  (Continued) S106803257

TC7095824.2s   Page 326

Item E - 1024 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              10-02-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-02-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTION-RDS PRINTINGEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              07-25-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 12/30/2019.Violation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              07-25-2016Violation Date:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSSite Name:
                              146912Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Failure to manage hazardous waste lawfully (CHSC 25154)Violation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-25-2016Violation Date:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSSite Name:
                              146912Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 12/30/2019.Violation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              07-25-2016Violation Date:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSSite Name:

RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTER  (Continued) S106803257

TC7095824.2s   Page 327

Item E - 1025 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              SaizEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.614548Longitude:
                              34.039738Latitude:
                              Unknown,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10047187Program ID:
                              HMBPEnv Int Type Code:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSFacility Name:
                              146912Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              07-25-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1714 E GREVILLEA CTSite Address:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSSite Name:
                              146912Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              07-25-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1714 E GREVILLEA CTSite Address:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSSite Name:
                              146912Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-RDS PRINTINGEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              07-25-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:

RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTER  (Continued) S106803257

TC7095824.2s   Page 328

Item E - 1026 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (909) 923-8831,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Robert SaizEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 923-8831,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1714 E GREVILLEAAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Robert SaizEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1714 EAST GREVILLEA CTAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1714 E GREVILLEA CTAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:

RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTER  (Continued) S106803257

TC7095824.2s   Page 329

Item E - 1027 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (909) 923-8831,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              SaizEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Robert SaizEntity Title:
                              Robert SaizEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTER  (Continued) S106803257

                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                RSAIZ@SBCGLOBAL.NETContact Email:
                                                                                000-000-0000Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-923-8831Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1714 E GREVILLEA COURTContact Address:
                                                                                ROBERT SAIZ/OWNERContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000224252EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1714 GRIVELLA CRTHandler Address:
                              RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSHandler Name:
                                                                                20010607Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

793 ft. Site 3 of 3 in cluster L
0.150 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
865 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
East 1714 GRIVELLA CRT CAL000224252
L99 RCRA NonGen / NLRRDS PRINTING & GRAPHICS 1024801052

TC7095824.2s   Page 330

Item E - 1028 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              ROBERT SAIZ/OWNEROperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              ROBERT D SAIZOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1714 E GREVILLEA COURTMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:

RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICS  (Continued) 1024801052

TC7095824.2s   Page 331

Item E - 1029 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              COMMERCIAL SCREEN PRINTINGNAICS Description:
                              323113NAICS Code:

                              COMMERCIAL FLEXOGRAPHIC PRINTINGNAICS Description:
                              323112NAICS Code:

                              PRINTINGNAICS Description:
                              32311NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICSHandler Name:
                                                            20010607Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-8831Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1714 E GREVILLEA COURTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ROBERT D SAIZOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-8831Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1714 E GREVILLEA COURTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ROBERT SAIZ/OWNEROwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:

RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICS  (Continued) 1024801052

TC7095824.2s   Page 332

Item E - 1030 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

                              OTHER COMMERCIAL PRINTINGNAICS Description:
                              323119NAICS Code:

RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICS  (Continued) 1024801052

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0007969Permit Number:
PRAXAIR, INC.Owner:
FA0005382Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1524 E FRANCIS STAddress:
LINDE GAS & EQUIPMENT INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        0.126Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000515924TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAC002877700Gepaid:
                                        2016Year:

                                        0.528Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        331 - Off-specification, aged or surplus organicsCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000515924TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAC002877700Gepaid:
                                        2016Year:

                                        1524 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099475522Telephone:
                                        GEORGE MENDELContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1524 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        GEM LITHOGRAPHICSName:

HAZNET:

803 ft. Site 4 of 10 in cluster P
0.152 mi. CA HWTS

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA CERSONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW CA San Bern. Co. Permit1524 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
P100 CA HAZNETGEM LITHOGRAPHICS S123606083

TC7095824.2s   Page 333

Item E - 1031 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1524 E Francis StAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Linde Gas & Equipment Inc.Entity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Hector AguilarEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.619019Longitude:
                              34.040295Latitude:
                              Unknown,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10043212Program ID:
                              HMBPEnv Int Type Code:
                              Linde Gas & Equipment Inc.Facility Name:
                              399819Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-PRAXAIR DISTEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              07-25-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              07-25-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10043212CERS ID:
                              399819Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1524 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              LINDE GAS & EQUIPMENT INC.Name:

CERS:

11/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:

GEM LITHOGRAPHICS  (Continued) S123606083

TC7095824.2s   Page 334

Item E - 1032 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Linde Gas & Equipment Inc.Entity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 923-3426,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Linde Gas & Equipment Inc.Entity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              SH&E ManagerEntity Title:
                              Hector AguilarEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              92705Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              SANTA ANAAffiliation City:
                              1545 E EDINGER AVEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              HECTOR AGUILAREntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1524 E Francis StAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (203) 837-2400,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:

GEM LITHOGRAPHICS  (Continued) S123606083

TC7095824.2s   Page 335

Item E - 1033 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        91761Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1524 E FRANCIS STFacility Address:
                                        GEM LITHOGRAPHICSFacility Name:
                                        2016-12-14 03:00:40.99700Inactive Date:
                                        2016-09-13 13:58:07.49700Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Commercial Lithographic PrintingNAICS Description:
                                        323110NAICS Code:
                                        2016-09-13 13:58:07.487Create Date:
                                        CAC002877700EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        180Longitude:
                                        -90Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        TEMPORARYFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1524 E FRANCIS STContact Address:
                                        GEORGE MENDELContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1524 E FRANCIS STOwner Address:
                                        GEORGE MENDELOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1524 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        09/13/2016Create Date:
                                        12/14/2016Inactive Date:
                                        CAC002877700EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1524 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        GEM LITHOGRAPHICSName:

HWTS:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:

GEM LITHOGRAPHICS  (Continued) S123606083

TC7095824.2s   Page 336

Item E - 1034 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              ROBERT CORNETTOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              ROBERT CORBETTOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1961 S. BAKER AVE.Mailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                RJINDUSTRIESBOB@AOL.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                951-452-9725Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1961 S. BAKER AVE.Contact Address:
                                                                                ROBERT CORNETTContact Name:
                                                                                CAC003022146EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1961 S. BAKER AVE.Handler Address:
                              RJ INDUSTRIESHandler Name:
                                                                                20190701Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

813 ft. Site 1 of 4 in cluster S
0.154 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1961 S. BAKER AVE. CAC003022146
S101 RCRA NonGen / NLRRJ INDUSTRIES 1025842536

TC7095824.2s   Page 337

Item E - 1035 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            951-452-9725Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1961 S. BAKER AVE.Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ROBERT CORBETTOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            951-452-9725Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1961 S. BAKER AVE.Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ROBERT CORNETTOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20190729Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

RJ INDUSTRIES  (Continued) 1025842536

TC7095824.2s   Page 338

Item E - 1036 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              MACHINE SHOPSNAICS Description:
                              33271NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          RJ INDUSTRIESHandler Name:
                                                            20190701Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

RJ INDUSTRIES  (Continued) 1025842536

                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                S BAKERMailing Address:
                                                                                4State District:
                                                                                CAState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Telephone:
                                                                                Not reportedContact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Address:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Name:
                                                                                CAD028829018EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1705 S BAKERHandler Address:
                              DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INCHandler Name:
                                                                                19960901Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-SQG:

CA HWTS
834 ft. CA CERSSite 4 of 9 in cluster M
0.158 mi. CA CIWQS

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
875 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA NPDESONTARIO, CA  91761
NE CA HAZNET1705 S BAKER CAD028829018
M102 RCRA-SQGDE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 339

Item E - 1037 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20060905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                PrivateOperator Type:
                              NOT REQUIREDOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              LEONARD B DRELLOwner Name:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 340

Item E - 1038 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

          DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INCHandler Name:
                                                            19960901Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          LEONARD B DRELLOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          LEONARD B DRELLOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 341

Item E - 1039 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              Not reportedEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            Not reportedCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Enforcement Action:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedDate Violation was Determined:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Short Description:
                                                            Not reportedAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            NoFound Violation:

Facility Has Received Notices of Violation:

                              TOILET PREPARATION MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              32562NAICS Code:

                              PAINT AND COATING MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              32551NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            CAState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INCHandler Name:
                                                            19960901Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            CAState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 342

Item E - 1040 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            NoFound Violation:
                                                            State Contractor/GranteeEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            19940728Evaluation Date:

Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              Not reportedEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            Not reportedCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Enforcement Action:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedDate Violation was Determined:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Short Description:
                                                            Not reportedAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            NoFound Violation:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 343

Item E - 1041 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAD000088252TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD028829018Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        0.0072Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        791 - Liquids with pH <= 2CA Waste Code:
                                        CAD000088252TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD028829018Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        9Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080011059TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD028829018Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        0.3496Tons:
                                        -Disposal Method:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080025711TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD028829018Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        1705 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        --Telephone:
                                        UNDELIVERABLE 1996 FEES FORMContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1705 S BAKERAddress:
                                        DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INCName:

HAZNET:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9Evaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            NoFound Violation:
                                                            State Contractor/GranteeEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            19940114Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9Evaluation Responsible Person Identifier:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 344

Item E - 1042 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        19940810Receipt Date:
                                        10/17/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940804Shipment Date:

                                        CAD028829018Gen EPA ID:
                                        1994Year:

Additional Info:

22 additional CA HAZNET: record(s) in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

                                        15.318Tons:
                                        -Disposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD089446710TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD028829018Gepaid:
                                        1993Year:

                                        12.6036Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008302903TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD028829018Gepaid:
                                        1993Year:

                                        0.0084Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD000088252TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD028829018Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        0.594Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD000088252TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD028829018Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        1.2705Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        331 - Off-specification, aged or surplus organicsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD000088252TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD028829018Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        0.0135Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        551 - Laboratory waste chemicalsCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD000088252TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD028829018Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        0.002Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        122 - Alkaline solution without metals pH >= 12.5CA Waste Code:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 345

Item E - 1043 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=2B2DBN1RDC8GNp25R91oCV2TGf2rpF2H5U8i9SAKou2KBn12DU7CNx1FRx9cCd3dGB4hpI3s5g3M9e2cBb2RDR1bND8lRL1tCUAdGb6Ip39i543R9a5bom0YVJ3BTktmf82KB22sDg17N.21RY1NCV17Gf1Fpm3D5MAJ9.9hoK5sVlAsT46df11
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=2B2DBN1RDC8GNp25R91oCV2TGf2rpF2H5U8i9SAKou2KBn12DU7CNx1FRx9cCd3dGB4hpI3s5g3M9e2cBb2RDR1bND8lRL1tCUAdGb6Ip39i543R9a5bom0YVJ3BTktmf82KB22sDg17N.21RY1NCV17Gf1Fpm3D5MAJ9.9hoK5sVlAsT46df11


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD000088252TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93026928Manifest ID:
                                        19940810Receipt Date:
                                        10/17/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940804Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        3.25Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0135Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        551 - Laboratory waste chemicals 561 Detergent and soapWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD000088252TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93026928Manifest ID:
                                        19940810Receipt Date:
                                        10/17/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940804Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        2Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0084Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD000088252TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93026928Manifest ID:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 346

Item E - 1044 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        2500Waste Quantity:
                                        9Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT080011059TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080011059TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93026841Manifest ID:
                                        19940629Receipt Date:
                                        3/26/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940629Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        0.5Waste Quantity:
                                        0.002Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D002RCRA Code:
                                        122 - Alkaline solution without metals (pH > 12.5Waste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD000088252TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93026928Manifest ID:
                                        19940810Receipt Date:
                                        10/17/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940804Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        1.75Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0072Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D002RCRA Code:
                                        791 - Liquids with pH < 2 792 Liquids with pH < 2 with metalsWaste Code Description:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 347

Item E - 1045 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93330800Manifest ID:
                                        19940125Receipt Date:
                                        9/15/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940120Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        385Waste Quantity:
                                        1.2705Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        331 - Off-specification, aged, or surplus organicsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD000088252TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93330800Manifest ID:
                                        19940125Receipt Date:
                                        9/15/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940120Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        92Waste Quantity:
                                        0.3496Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080025711TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93330807Manifest ID:
                                        Not reportedReceipt Date:
                                        9/14/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940121Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 348

Item E - 1046 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93030321Manifest ID:
                                        19931213Receipt Date:
                                        9/14/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19931213Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        1300Waste Quantity:
                                        4.68Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD089446710TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93030320Manifest ID:
                                        19931213Receipt Date:
                                        9/14/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19931213Shipment Date:

                                        CAD028829018Gen EPA ID:
                                        1993Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        165Waste Quantity:
                                        0.594Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD000088252TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 349

Item E - 1047 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        4255Waste Quantity:
                                        15.318Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD089446710TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93030277Manifest ID:
                                        Not reportedReceipt Date:
                                        9/12/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19931130Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        1000Waste Quantity:
                                        3.3Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        331 - Off-specification, aged, or surplus organicsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD087169686Trans EPA ID:
                                        93030283Manifest ID:
                                        19931203Receipt Date:
                                        9/14/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19931203Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        165Waste Quantity:
                                        0.693Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 350

Item E - 1048 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1705 S BAKER AVENUEAddress:
                                        NET SHAPES INCName:

NPDES:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        1778Waste Quantity:
                                        6.4008Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008302903TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008302903TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008302903Trans EPA ID:
                                        92448166Manifest ID:
                                        19930311Receipt Date:
                                        9/6/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19930311Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        1723Waste Quantity:
                                        6.2028Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD008302903TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008302903TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008302903Trans EPA ID:
                                        93156842Manifest ID:
                                        19930614Receipt Date:
                                        9/9/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19930614Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 351

Item E - 1049 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        1336 E Francis StDischarge Address:
                                        Net Shapes IncDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        07/02/2013Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        8 36I024335WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        439291Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        Net Shapes IncDischarge Name:
                                        1336 E Francis StDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        07/02/2013Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I024335WDID:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        439291Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        8Region:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 352

Item E - 1050 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36I024335WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        439291Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 353

Item E - 1051 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Cucamonga CreekReceiving Water Name:
                                        NDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-3231Operator Contact Phone:
                                        ControllerOperator Contact Title:
                                        Patricia SchwentOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1336 E Francis StOperator Address:
                                        Net Shapes IncOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-3231Contact Phone:
                                        ControllerContact Title:
                                        Patricia SchwentContact:
                                        AcresPlace Size Unit:
                                        3.89Place Size:
                                        07/02/2013Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        07/02/2013Processed Date:
                                        07/02/2013Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 354

Item E - 1052 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        1336 E Francis StDischarge Address:
                                        Net Shapes IncDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        07/02/2013Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        8 36I024335WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        439291Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1336 E Francis StOperator Address:
                                        Net Shapes IncOperator Name:
                                        07/02/2013Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I024335WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1705 S BAKER AVENUEAddress:
                                        NET SHAPES INCName:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        3324-Steel Investment FoundriesPrimary Sic:
                                        09-JUN-15Certification Date:
                                        ControllerCertifier Title:
                                        Patricia SchwentCertifier:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 355

Item E - 1053 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 356

Item E - 1054 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-3231Operator Contact Phone:
                                        ControllerOperator Contact Title:
                                        Patricia SchwentOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1336 E Francis StOperator Address:
                                        Net Shapes IncOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-3231Contact Phone:
                                        ControllerContact Title:
                                        Patricia SchwentContact:
                                        AcresPlace Size Unit:
                                        3.89Place Size:
                                        07/02/2013Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        07/02/2013Processed Date:
                                        07/02/2013Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36I024335WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        439291Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 357

Item E - 1055 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Industrial Facility Storm WaterCERS Description:
                              824314CERS ID:
                              537764Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1705 S BAKER AVENUEAddress:
                              NET SHAPES INCName:

CERS:

                                        -117.61424Longitude:
                                        34.04269Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date:
                                        07/02/2013Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36I024335WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        ActiveRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        3324SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Steel Investment FoundriesPlace/Project Type:
                                        1336 E Francis St, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        Net Shapes IncAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1705 S BAKER AVENUEAddress:
                                        NET SHAPES INCName:

CIWQS:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        3324-Steel Investment FoundriesPrimary Sic:
                                        09-JUN-15Certification Date:
                                        ControllerCertifier Title:
                                        Patricia SchwentCertifier:
                                        Cucamonga CreekReceiving Water Name:
                                        NDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 358

Item E - 1056 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              1705 S BAKER AVENUESite Address:
                              Net Shapes IncSite Name:
                              537764Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              SMARTS,Eval Source:
                              INDSTWEval Program:
                              Water BoardsEval Division:
                              of the SSO and were working with the City to clean it up.
                              off-site into the street gutter. Jesus indicated that they were aware
                              indications of a SSO at the site (toilet paper) indicating flow
                              were present in the uploaded edition of the SWPPP. There was
                              referenced but no details regarding sample collection and analyses
                              the required Monitoring Implementation Plan. Storm water sampling is
                              during storm events. In addition, the SWPPP does not appear to contain
                              non-stormwater observations and visual observations when sampling
                              observations in Section 8.8. The new permit requires monthly visual
                              shows some revisions but it still references quarterly visual
                              for the new permit per Jane Lawrence. However, review of the SWPPP
                              at the main site at 1346 Frances, Ontario, CA. The SWPPP was updated
                              The SWPPP and site map have been uploaded into SMARTS and was locatedEval Notes:
                              Industrial Storm Water Compliance EvaluationEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              08-27-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              SMARTS,Violation Source:
                              INDSTWViolation Program:
                              Water BoardsViolation Division:
                              SWPPP.
                              collection and analyses were present in the uploaded edition of the
                              water sampling is referenced but no details regarding sample
                              appear to contain the required Monitoring Implementation Plan. Storm
                              when sampling during storm events. In addition, the SWPPP does not
                              monthly visual non-stormwater observations and visual observations
                              quarterly visual observations in Section 8.8. The new permit requires
                              Review of the SWPPP shows some revisions but it still referencesViolation Notes:
                              SWPPPViolation Description:
                              2014-0057-DWQ - Industrial General PermitCitation:
                              08-27-2015Violation Date:
                              Net Shapes IncSite Name:
                              537764Site ID:

                              SMARTS,Violation Source:
                              INDSTWViolation Program:
                              Water BoardsViolation Division:
                              aware of the SSO and were working with the City to clean it up.
                              flow off-site into the street gutter. Jesus indicated that they were
                              There was indications of a SSO at the site (toilet paper) indicatingViolation Notes:
                              Unauthorized DischargeViolation Description:
                              2014-0057-DWQ - Industrial General PermitCitation:
                              08-27-2015Violation Date:
                              Net Shapes IncSite Name:
                              537764Site ID:

Violations:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 359

Item E - 1057 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              537764Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1705 S BAKER AVENUEAddress:
                              NET SHAPES INCName:

                              9099472131,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PATRICIA SCHWENTEntity Name:
                              Public ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              3109660342,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Albert ChungEntity Name:
                              Technical ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1336 E Francis StAffiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              Net Shapes IncEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              ConsultantEntity Title:
                              Ronald HayesEntity Name:
                              Company OfficialAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              SMARTS,Enf Action Source:
                              INDSTWEnf Action Program:
                              Water BoardsEnf Action Division:
                              current IGP.
                              Requested the site update their SWPPP to be consistent with theEnf Action Notes:
                              Industrial Storm Water EnforcementEnf Action Description:
                              Industrial Storm Water EnforcementEnf Action Type:
                              08-27-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 360

Item E - 1058 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              537764Site ID:
Enforcement Action:

                              SMARTS,Eval Source:
                              INDSTWEval Program:
                              Water BoardsEval Division:
                              of the SSO and were working with the City to clean it up.
                              off-site into the street gutter. Jesus indicated that they were aware
                              indications of a SSO at the site (toilet paper) indicating flow
                              were present in the uploaded edition of the SWPPP. There was
                              referenced but no details regarding sample collection and analyses
                              the required Monitoring Implementation Plan. Storm water sampling is
                              during storm events. In addition, the SWPPP does not appear to contain
                              non-stormwater observations and visual observations when sampling
                              observations in Section 8.8. The new permit requires monthly visual
                              shows some revisions but it still references quarterly visual
                              for the new permit per Jane Lawrence. However, review of the SWPPP
                              at the main site at 1346 Frances, Ontario, CA. The SWPPP was updated
                              The SWPPP and site map have been uploaded into SMARTS and was locatedEval Notes:
                              Industrial Storm Water Compliance EvaluationEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              08-27-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              SMARTS,Violation Source:
                              INDSTWViolation Program:
                              Water BoardsViolation Division:
                              SWPPP.
                              collection and analyses were present in the uploaded edition of the
                              water sampling is referenced but no details regarding sample
                              appear to contain the required Monitoring Implementation Plan. Storm
                              when sampling during storm events. In addition, the SWPPP does not
                              monthly visual non-stormwater observations and visual observations
                              quarterly visual observations in Section 8.8. The new permit requires
                              Review of the SWPPP shows some revisions but it still referencesViolation Notes:
                              SWPPPViolation Description:
                              2014-0057-DWQ - Industrial General PermitCitation:
                              08-27-2015Violation Date:
                              Net Shapes IncSite Name:
                              537764Site ID:

                              SMARTS,Violation Source:
                              INDSTWViolation Program:
                              Water BoardsViolation Division:
                              aware of the SSO and were working with the City to clean it up.
                              flow off-site into the street gutter. Jesus indicated that they were
                              There was indications of a SSO at the site (toilet paper) indicatingViolation Notes:
                              Unauthorized DischargeViolation Description:
                              2014-0057-DWQ - Industrial General PermitCitation:
                              08-27-2015Violation Date:
                              Net Shapes IncSite Name:
                              537764Site ID:

Violations:

                              Toxic Release InventoryCERS Description:
                              9176WNTSHP175SBCERS ID:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 361

Item E - 1059 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

HWTS:

                              9099472131,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PATRICIA SCHWENTEntity Name:
                              Public ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              3109660342,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Albert ChungEntity Name:
                              Technical ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1336 E Francis StAffiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              Net Shapes IncEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              ConsultantEntity Title:
                              Ronald HayesEntity Name:
                              Company OfficialAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              SMARTS,Enf Action Source:
                              INDSTWEnf Action Program:
                              Water BoardsEnf Action Division:
                              current IGP.
                              Requested the site update their SWPPP to be consistent with theEnf Action Notes:
                              Industrial Storm Water EnforcementEnf Action Description:
                              Industrial Storm Water EnforcementEnf Action Type:
                              08-27-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1705 S BAKER AVENUESite Address:
                              Net Shapes IncSite Name:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

TC7095824.2s   Page 362

Item E - 1060 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        917610000Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1705 S BAKERFacility Address:
                                        DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INCFacility Name:
                                        1996-06-30 00:00:00Inactive Date:
                                        1982-07-23 00:00:00Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Toilet Preparation ManufacturingNAICS Description:
                                        32562NAICS Code:
                                        2002-03-14 16:36:26.000Create Date:
                                        CAD028829018EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.615358Longitude:
                                        34.043526Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        Not reportedCity,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        Not reportedContact Address:
                                        UNDELIVERABLE 1996 FEES FORMContact Name:
                                        WESTCHESTER, IL 601540000Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        SUITE 900Owner Address:
                                        LEONARD DRELL FIVE WESTBROOK COwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1705 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        07/23/1982Create Date:
                                        06/30/1996Inactive Date:
                                        CAD028829018EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1705 S BAKERAddress:
                                        DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INCName:

DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) 1000298495

                                                                                909-947-3231Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1336 E FRANCIS STContact Address:
                                                                                JESUS GRACIANOContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000443096EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1705 S BAKER AVEHandler Address:
                              NET SHAPES INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20190205Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

834 ft. Site 5 of 9 in cluster M
0.158 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
875 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
NE 1705 S BAKER AVE CAL000443096
M103 RCRA NonGen / NLRNET SHAPES INC 1024874440

TC7095824.2s   Page 363

Item E - 1061 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              JESUS GRACIANOOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              JOSEPH CANNONEOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1336 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                PATRICIA@NETSHAPES.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-947-2596Contact Fax:

NET SHAPES INC  (Continued) 1024874440

TC7095824.2s   Page 364

Item E - 1062 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          NET SHAPES INCHandler Name:
                                                            20190205Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-3231Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1336 E FRANCIS STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JOSEPH CANNONEOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-947-3231Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1336 E FRANCIS STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JESUS GRACIANOOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20190222Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:

NET SHAPES INC  (Continued) 1024874440

TC7095824.2s   Page 365

Item E - 1063 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              STEEL INVESTMENT FOUNDRIESNAICS Description:
                              331512NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

NET SHAPES INC  (Continued) 1024874440

                                              2844SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              10779Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1990Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1705 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                                              DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INCName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              195Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              195Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2844SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              10779Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1987Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1705 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                                              DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INCName:

EMI:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10648666CERS ID:
                              360033Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1705 S BAKER AVE.Address:
                              NET SHAPES, INC.Name:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

CA CERS
834 ft. CA CIWQSSite 6 of 9 in cluster M
0.158 mi. CA San Bern. Co. Permit

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
875 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA NPDESONTARIO, CA  91761
NE CA EMI1705 S BAKER AV    N/A
M104 CA CERS HAZ WASTEDEMERT & DOUGHERTY INC S105937489

TC7095824.2s   Page 366

Item E - 1064 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1705 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                                        DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INCName:

NPDES:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              9Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              10Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2844SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              10779Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1995Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1705 S BAKER AVAddress:
                                              DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INCName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              9Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              10Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2844SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              10779Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1993Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1705 S BAKER AVAddress:
                                              DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INCName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              1NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              1Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              88Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              107Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:

DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) S105937489

TC7095824.2s   Page 367

Item E - 1065 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        1705 S Baker AveOperator Address:
                                        Demert & Dougherty IncOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        714-947-3961Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Keith MoormanContact:
                                        AcresPlace Size Unit:
                                        4Place Size:
                                        11/24/1992Status Date:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        11/24/1992Processed Date:
                                        05/09/2008Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36I009467WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        288154Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1705 S Baker AveOperator Address:
                                        Demert & Dougherty IncOperator Name:
                                        11/24/1992Status Date:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I009467WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:

DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) S105937489

TC7095824.2s   Page 368

Item E - 1066 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

08/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0039231Permit Number:
JOSEPH CANNONEOwner:
FA0014960Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1705 S BAKER AVEAddress:
NET SHAPES, INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        2844-Perfumes, Cosmetics, and Other Toilet PreparationsPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Cucamonga Creek ChannelReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        714-947-3961Emergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        714-947-3961Operator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Keith MoormanOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:

DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) S105937489

TC7095824.2s   Page 369

Item E - 1067 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              10648666CERS ID:
                              360033Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1705 S BAKER AVE.Address:
                              NET SHAPES, INC.Name:

CERS:

                                        -117.61533Longitude:
                                        34.04302Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date:
                                        11/24/1992Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36I009467WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        TerminatedRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        2844SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Perfumes, Cosmetics, and Other Toilet PreparationsPlace/Project Type:
                                        1705 S Baker Ave, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        Demert & Dougherty IncAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1705 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                                        DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INCName:

CIWQS:

08/31/2019Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
NON-WASTE GENERATING RECYCLER (OFFSITE)Permit Category:
PT0038104Permit Number:
JOSEPH CANNONEOwner:
FA0014960Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1705 S BAKER AVEAddress:
NET SHAPES, INC.Name:

08/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0037722Permit Number:
JOSEPH CANNONEOwner:
FA0014960Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1705 S BAKER AVEAddress:
NET SHAPES, INC.Name:

DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) S105937489

TC7095824.2s   Page 370

Item E - 1068 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              NET SHAPES, INC.Site Name:
                              360033Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers listed above has been properly labeled.
                              waste labels. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit photos demonstrating that the
                              label. Four totes of bag house waste were found missing hazardous
                              was found missing an accumulation start date on the hazardous waste
                              Returned to compliance on 05/21/2020. OBSERVATION: A drum of oil ragsViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              characteristics of the Hazardous Waste, and starting accumulation
                              name and address of the generator, physical and chemical
                              portable tanks with the following requirements: "Hazardous Waste",
                              Failure to properly label hazardous waste accumulation containers andViolation Description:
                              Chapter 12, Section(s) 66262.34(f)
                              22 CCR 12 66262.34(f) - California Code of Regulations, Title 22,Citation:
                              03-03-2020Violation Date:
                              NET SHAPES, INC.Site Name:
                              360033Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              requirement.
                              certificate of compliance to indicate compliance with this
                              2020 hazardous waste manifests to the DTSC and submit a signed
                              400 Sacramento, CA 95812-0400 CORRECTIVE ACTION: Send a copy of all
                              the DTSC within 30 days of shipment. DTSC Generator Manifests P.O. Box
                              not sent a legible copy of each Uniform Hazardous Waste Manifest to
                              Returned to compliance on 05/22/2020. OBSERVATION: The generator hasViolation Notes:
                              Department within 30 days of each shipment of hazardous waste.
                              Failure to send a legible copy of each hazardous waste manifest to theViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) 25160(b)(1)(C)
                              HSC 6.5 25160(b)(1)(C) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              03-03-2020Violation Date:
                              NET SHAPES, INC.Site Name:
                              360033Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              hazardous materials inventory via CERS.
                              incomplete. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit an accurate and complete
                              materials inventory as submitted in CERS on 2/11/2020 was found to be
                              Returned to compliance on 05/21/2020. OBSERVATION: The hazardousViolation Notes:
                              at or above reportable quantities.
                              inventory information for all reportable hazardous materials on site
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit hazardous materialViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              03-03-2020Violation Date:
                              NET SHAPES, INC.Site Name:
                              360033Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:

DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) S105937489

TC7095824.2s   Page 371

Item E - 1069 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-03-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              12-01-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              photograph showing compliance with this requirement.
                              hazardous material/waste containers closed when not in use. Submit a
                              the hot parts washer was observed. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Maintain all
                              hazardous material/waste. An open container of caustic solution from
                              being maintained in a manner to prevent a spill or release of a
                              Returned to compliance on 05/22/2020. OBSERVATION: The facility is notViolation Notes:
                              the environment.
                              to air, soil, or surface water which could threaten human health or
                              non-sudden release of hazardous waste or hazardous waste constituents
                              possibility of a fire, explosion, or any unplanned sudden or
                              Failure to maintain and operate the facility to minimize theViolation Description:
                              1, Section(s) 265.31
                              40 CFR 1 265.31 - U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, ChapterCitation:
                              03-03-2020Violation Date:
                              NET SHAPES, INC.Site Name:
                              360033Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              the TSDF signed manifests have been obtained for all 2020 manifests.
                              CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit a signed statement indicating that copies of
                              shipment within 35 days from the date the waste was shipped.
                              to determine the status of a uniform hazardous waste manifested
                              Returned to compliance on 05/22/2020. Observation: The facility failedViolation Notes:
                              initial transporter.
                              received within 60 days of the date the waste was accepted by the
                              Exception Report to DTSC if a signed copy of the manifest isn t
                              waste was accepted by the initial transporter and/or to submit an
                              copy of the manifest isn t received within 35 days of the date the
                              Failure to determine the status of any hazardous waste if a signedViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) 25123.3(h)(2)
                              HSC 6.5 25123.3(h)(2) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              03-03-2020Violation Date:

DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) S105937489

TC7095824.2s   Page 372

Item E - 1070 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1336 E. Francis AvenueAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Joseph CannoneEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-3231,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              JOSEPH CANNONEEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-3231,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1336 E. Francis AvenueAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              JOSEPH CANNONEEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1336 E. Francis AvenueAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PATRICIA SCHWENTEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Jane LawrenceEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-03-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) S105937489

TC7095824.2s   Page 373

Item E - 1071 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              NET SHAPES, INC.Entity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              ControllerEntity Title:
                              Patricia SchwentEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1336 E. Francis AvenueAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 947-3231,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:

DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INC  (Continued) S105937489

PT0014884Permit Number:
CEPAOwner:
FA0008564Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1939 S LAKE PLAddress:
CEPA OPERATIONS INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

837 ft. Site 4 of 6 in cluster R
0.159 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SW 1939 S LAKE PL    N/A
R105 CA San Bern. Co. PermitCEPA OPERATIONS INC. S109598504

TC7095824.2s   Page 374

Item E - 1072 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

05/31/2010Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0014883Permit Number:
CEPAOwner:
FA0008564Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1939 S LAKE PLAddress:
CEPA OPERATIONS INC.Name:

05/31/2010Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:

CEPA OPERATIONS INC.  (Continued) S109598504

                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              DAVID ESTRADAOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              PHILLIPS ORAL HEALTHCAREOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1700 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                DAVID.L.ESTRADA@PHILIPS.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-570-3576Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1700 S BAKER AVEContact Address:
                                                                                DAVID ESTRADAContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000399507EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1700 S BAKER AVEHandler Address:
                              DISCUS DENTAL LLCHandler Name:
                                                                                20140805Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

837 ft. Site 7 of 9 in cluster M
0.159 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
877 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
NE 1700 S BAKER AVE CAL000399507
M106 RCRA NonGen / NLRDISCUS DENTAL LLC 1024845944

TC7095824.2s   Page 375

Item E - 1073 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            909-570-3500Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1700 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          PHILLIPS ORAL HEALTHCAREOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180906Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:

DISCUS DENTAL LLC  (Continued) 1024845944

TC7095824.2s   Page 376

Item E - 1074 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          DISCUS DENTAL LLCHandler Name:
                                                            20140805Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-570-3576Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1700 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          DAVID ESTRADAOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:

DISCUS DENTAL LLC  (Continued) 1024845944

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10313428CERS ID:
                              399542Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1700 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                              PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIAName:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

837 ft. CA CERSSite 8 of 9 in cluster M
0.159 mi. CA WDS

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
877 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
NE CA CHMIRS1700 S BAKER AVE    N/A
M107 CA CERS HAZ WASTEWESTSIDE PACKING INC S105092450

TC7095824.2s   Page 377

Item E - 1075 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                             100Evacuations:
                                             Not reportedSubstance #3:
                                             Not reportedSubstance #2:
                                             0.000000Unknown:
                                             2Pounds:
                                             peroxide mixed with metal based catalystSubstance:
                                             Not reportedE Date:
                                             Merchant/BusinessSite Type:
                                             YesContained:
                                             Not reportedAmount:
                                             San Bernardino County Health DepartmentAdmin Agency:
                                             10/18/200112:00:00 AMIncident Date:
                                             Ontario FDAgency:
                                             2001Year:
                                             Not reportedDate/Time:
                                             Not reportedOther:
                                             Not reportedMeasure:
                                             Not reportedType:
                                             Not reportedWhat Happened:
                                             Not reportedContainment:
                                             ContractorCleanup By:
                                             Not reportedSpill Site:
                                             Not reportedWaterway:
                                             NoWaterway Involved:
                                             Not reportedFacility Telephone:
                                             Not reportedReport Date:
                                             Not reportedReporting Officer Name/ID:
                                             Not reportedCompany Name:
                                             Not reportedCA DOT PUC/ICC Number:
                                             Not reportedVehicle Id Number:
                                             Not reportedVehicle State:
                                             Not reportedVehicle License Number:
                                             Not reportedVehicle Make/year:
                                             Not reportedOthers Number Of Fatalities:
                                             Not reportedOthers Number Of Injuries:
                                             Not reportedOthers Number Of Decontaminated:
                                             Not reportedResponding Agency Personel # Of Fatalities:
                                             Not reportedResponding Agency Personel # Of Injuries:
                                             Not reportedResp Agncy Personel # Of Decontaminated:
                                             Not reportedMore Than Two Substances Involved?:
                                             Not reportedProperty Management:
                                             Not reportedEstimated Temperature:
                                             Not reportedSurrounding Area:
                                             Not reportedTime Completed:
                                             Not reportedTime Notified:
                                             Not reportedAgency Incident Number:
                                             Not reportedAgency Id Number:
                                             Not reportedProperty Use:
                                             Not reportedDate Completed:
                                             Not reportedOES Time:
                                             Not reportedOES Date:
                                             10/19/2001OES notification:
                                             1-5975OES Incident Number:
                                             ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                         1700 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                                             Not reportedName:

CHMIRS:

WESTSIDE PACKING INC  (Continued) S105092450

TC7095824.2s   Page 378

Item E - 1076 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

          semisolid wastes from any servicing, producing, manufacturing or
          Industrial - Facility that treats and/or disposes of liquid orFacility Type:
          Santa Ana River  36I016547Facility ID:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1700 S BAKER AVEAddress:
          WESTSIDE PACKING INCName:

WDS:

05/31/2018Expiration Date:
FEE EXEMPTFacility Status:
RCRA LQG GENERAL ACTIVITY(NB)Permit Category:
PT0037735Permit Number:
PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIAOwner:
FA0014610Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1700 S BAKER AVEAddress:
PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIAName:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 11-30 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0025533Permit Number:
PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIAOwner:
FA0014610Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1700 S BAKER AVEAddress:
PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIAName:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0025534Permit Number:
PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIAOwner:
FA0014610Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1700 S BAKER AVEAddress:
PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIAName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                             substances caused the release.
                                             Historical spill: Improper handling of the twoDescription:
                                             Not reportedComments:
                                             Not reportedFatals:
                                             Not reportedInjuries:
                                             Not reportedEvacs:
                                             Not reported#3 Vessel >= 300 Tons:
                                             Not reported#2 Vessel >= 300 Tons:
                                             Not reported#1 Vessel >= 300 Tons:
                                             Not reported#3 Pipeline:
                                             Not reported#2 Pipeline:
                                             Not reported#1 Pipeline:
                                             0Number of Fatalities:
                                             2Number of Injuries:

WESTSIDE PACKING INC  (Continued) S105092450

TC7095824.2s   Page 379

Item E - 1077 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Section(s) 25508.2
                              HSC 6.95 25508.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              03-08-2016Violation Date:
                              PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIASite Name:
                              399542Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10313428CERS ID:
                              399542Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1700 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                              PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIAName:

CERS:

          dairy waste ponds.
          dischargers having waste storage systems with land disposal such as
          disposal systems, such as septic systems with subsurface disposal, or
          management practices, facilities with passive waste treatment and
          cooling water dischargers or thosewho must comply through best
          Category C - Facilities having no waste treatment systems, such asComplexity:
          represent no threat to water quality.
          Level. A Zero (0) may be used to code those NURDS that are found to
          considered a minor threat to water quality unless coded at a higher
          to a major or minor threat. Not: All nurds without a TTWQ will be
          should cause a relatively minor impairment of beneficial uses compared
          Minor Threat to Water Quality. A violation of a regional board orderTreat To Water:
          Not reportedPOTW:
          Not reportedReclamation:
          0Baseline Flow:
          0Design Flow:
          Not reportedSecondary Waste Type:
          Not reportedSecondary Waste:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste Type:
          Not reportedWaste2:
          Not reportedWaste Type2:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste Type:
          Not reportedSIC Code 2:
          0SIC Code:
          PrivateAgency Type:
          9099478181Agency Telephone:
          Scott R MejiaAgency Contact:
          Ontario 917618081Agency City,St,Zip:
          1700 S Baker AveAgency Address:
          WESTSIDE PACKING INC.Agency Name:
          MARIA DE ROSASFacility Contact:
          9099478181Facility Telephone:
          8Subregion:
          are assigned by the Regional Board
          CAS000001 The 1st 2 characters designate the state. The remaining 7NPDES Number:
          under Waste Discharge Requirements.
          Active - Any facility with a continuous or seasonal discharge that isFacility Status:
          pumping.
          repairing, oil production, storage and disposal operations, water
          washing, geothermal operations, air conditioning, ship building and
          processing operation of whatever nature, including mining, gravel

WESTSIDE PACKING INC  (Continued) S105092450

TC7095824.2s   Page 380

Item E - 1078 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-24-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              PHILLIPS INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-08-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-24-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              PHILLIPS INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-08-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Number (CCR 66262.12(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 06/17/2016. Failure to obtain an EPA IDViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              03-08-2016Violation Date:
                              PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIASite Name:
                              399542Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 06/23/2016.Violation Notes:
                              business plan is complete, accurate, and up-to-date.
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:

WESTSIDE PACKING INC  (Continued) S105092450

TC7095824.2s   Page 381

Item E - 1079 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1700 S BAKER AVENUEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Tanesha CoronadoEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              TANESHA CORONADOEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.616580Longitude:
                              34.043020Latitude:
                              Center of a facility or station.,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10313428Program ID:
                              HMBPEnv Int Type Code:
                              PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIAFacility Name:
                              399542Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              03-08-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1700 S BAKER AVESite Address:
                              PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIASite Name:
                              399542Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              03-08-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1700 S BAKER AVESite Address:
                              PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIASite Name:
                              399542Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

WESTSIDE PACKING INC  (Continued) S105092450

TC7095824.2s   Page 382

Item E - 1080 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (949) 655-8229,Affiliation Phone:
                              92651-1342Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              Laguna BeachAffiliation City:
                              1140 N. Coast HighwayAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Thoroughbred Properties Inc.Entity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 570-3500,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              DISCUS DENTAL LLCEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 570-3500,Affiliation Phone:
                              90094Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              LOS ANGELESAffiliation City:
                              12121 W. BLUFF CREEK DR., STE 100Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIAEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE CALIFORNIAEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              EHS MANAGEREntity Title:
                              Tanesha CoronadoEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:

WESTSIDE PACKING INC  (Continued) S105092450

TC7095824.2s   Page 383

Item E - 1081 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1700 S BAKER AVENUEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:

WESTSIDE PACKING INC  (Continued) S105092450

                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                PrivateOperator Type:
                              PHILIPS ORAL HEALTH CAREOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              DISCUS DENTAL INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                SOUTH BAKER AVENUEMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                PrivateLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN IIIContact Title:
                                                                                DAJJA.WEISSNER@PHILIPS.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-570-3540Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                SOUTH BAKER AVENUEContact Address:
                                                                                DAJJA WIESSNERContact Name:
                                                                                CAR000265025EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1700 SOUTH BAKER AVENUEHandler Address:
                              PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCAREHandler Name:
                                                                                20160628Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-LQG:

837 ft. Site 9 of 9 in cluster M
0.159 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
877 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
NE 1700 SOUTH BAKER AVENUE CAR000265025
M108 RCRA-LQGPHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE 1019322786

TC7095824.2s   Page 384

Item E - 1082 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              D007Waste Code:

                              CORROSIVE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D002Waste Code:

                              IGNITABLE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D001Waste Code:

Hazardous Waste Summary:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20160808Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:

PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE  (Continued) 1019322786

TC7095824.2s   Page 385

Item E - 1083 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            20160628Receive Date:
Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            20140101Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          PHILIPS ORAL HEALTH CAREOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-570-3540Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1700 S BAKER STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            20101201Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          DISCUS DENTAL INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                              CHLOROFORM (OR) METHANE, TRICHLORO-Waste Description:
                              U044Waste Code:

                              MIXTURES.
                              BOTTOMS FROM THE RECOVERY OF THESE SPENT SOLVENTS AND SPENT SOLVENT
                              MORE OF THOSE SOLVENTS LISTED IN F001, F002, F004, AND F005; AND STILL
                              SOLVENTS, AND A TOTAL OF TEN PERCENT OR MORE (BY VOLUME) OF ONE OR
                              CONTAINING, BEFORE USE, ONE OR MORE OF THE ABOVE NONHALOGENATED
                              NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS; AND ALL SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES/BLENDS
                              MIXTURES/BLENDS CONTAINING, BEFORE USE, ONLY THE ABOVE SPENT
                              ALCOHOL, CYCLOHEXANONE, AND METHANOL; ALL SPENT SOLVENT
                              ACETATE, ETHYL BENZENE, ETHYL ETHER, METHYL ISOBUTYL KETONE, N-BUTYL
                              THE FOLLOWING SPENT NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS: XYLENE, ACETONE, ETHYLWaste Description:
                              F003Waste Code:

                              TETRACHLOROETHYLENEWaste Description:
                              D039Waste Code:

                              METHYL ETHYL KETONEWaste Description:
                              D035Waste Code:

                              CHLOROFORMWaste Description:
                              D022Waste Code:

                              BENZENEWaste Description:
                              D018Waste Code:

                              CHROMIUMWaste Description:

PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE  (Continued) 1019322786

TC7095824.2s   Page 386

Item E - 1084 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              DENTAL EQUIPMENT AND SUPPLIES MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              339114NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCAREHandler Name:

PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE  (Continued) 1019322786

                              ROBERTO ZAMORANOOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              ROBERTO ZAMORANOOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1518 E FRANCIS ST. SUITE BMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                BRUCEKSTOUT@GMAIL.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-472-7750Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1518 E FRANCIS ST. SUITE BContact Address:
                                                                                ROBERTO ZAMORANOContact Name:
                                                                                CAC003177917EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1518 E FRANCIS ST. SUITE BHandler Address:
                              EXTREME CUSTOM SHEET METAL, INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20220525Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

839 ft. Site 5 of 10 in cluster P
0.159 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW 1518 E FRANCIS ST. SUITE B CAC003177917
P109 RCRA NonGen / NLREXTREME CUSTOM SHEET METAL, INC 1027213346

TC7095824.2s   Page 387

Item E - 1085 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20220602Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:

EXTREME CUSTOM SHEET METAL, INC  (Continued) 1027213346

TC7095824.2s   Page 388

Item E - 1086 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              INDUSTRIAL REFRIGERATION EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURING
                              AIR-CONDITIONING AND WARM AIR HEATING EQUIPMENT AND COMMERCIAL ANDNAICS Description:
                              333415NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          EXTREME CUSTOM SHEET METAL, INCHandler Name:
                                                            20220525Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-472-7750Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1518 E FRANCIS ST. SUITE BOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ROBERTO ZAMORANOOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-472-7750Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1518 E FRANCIS ST. SUITE BOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ROBERTO ZAMORANOOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

EXTREME CUSTOM SHEET METAL, INC  (Continued) 1027213346

TC7095824.2s   Page 389

Item E - 1087 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I028979WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1810 S LAKE PLAddress:
                                        TK SYSTEMS INCName:

                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        Tk Systems IncDischarge Name:
                                        1810 S Lake PlDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        11/25/2020Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I028979WDID:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        527589Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        8Region:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1810 S LAKE PLAddress:
                                        TK SYSTEMS INCName:

NPDES:

842 ft. Site 6 of 10 in cluster P
0.159 mi. CA CERS

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
868 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA CIWQSONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW CA San Bern. Co. Permit1810 S LAKE PL    N/A
P110 CA NPDESTK SYSTEMS S106446695

TC7095824.2s   Page 390

Item E - 1088 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        1810 S Lake Pl, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        Tk Systems IncAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1810 S LAKE PLAddress:
                                        TK SYSTEMS INCName:

CIWQS:

05/31/2005Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0014733Permit Number:
ONTARIO AUTO EXCHANGEOwner:
FA0008442Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1810 S LAKE PLAddress:
ONTARIO AUTO EXCHANGEName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1810 S Lake PlOperator Address:
                                        TK Systems DBA AMFIOperator Name:
                                        10/20/2019Status Date:
                                        ReturnedStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedWDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1810 S LAKE PLAddress:
                                        TK SYSTEMSName:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1810 S Lake PlOperator Address:
                                        Tk Systems IncOperator Name:
                                        11/25/2020Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:

TK SYSTEMS  (Continued) S106446695

TC7095824.2s   Page 391

Item E - 1089 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1810 S Lake PlAffiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              Tk Systems IncEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              Industrial Facility Storm WaterCERS Description:
                              887350CERS ID:
                              590672Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1810 S LAKE PLAddress:
                              TK SYSTEMS INCName:

CERS:

                                        -117.62171Longitude:
                                        34.04085Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date:
                                        11/25/2020Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36I028979WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        ActiveRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        3441SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Fabricated Structural MetalPlace/Project Type:

TK SYSTEMS  (Continued) S106446695

                                                                                Not reportedContact Telephone:
                                                                                Not reportedContact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Address:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Name:
                                                                                CAD074956467EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1810 LAKE PLHandler Address:
                              MANES MACHIE & ENGR COHandler Name:
                                                                                19960901Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-SQG:

842 ft. Site 7 of 10 in cluster P
0.159 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
868 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ECHOONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW FINDS1810 LAKE PL CAD074956467
P111 RCRA-SQGMANES MACHIE & ENGR CO 1000221222

TC7095824.2s   Page 392

Item E - 1090 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                PrivateOperator Type:
                              NOT REQUIREDOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              MACK MANES AND ALAN MANESOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                LAKE PLMailing Address:
                                                                                4State District:
                                                                                CAState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:

MANES MACHIE & ENGR CO  (Continued) 1000221222

TC7095824.2s   Page 393

Item E - 1091 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            CAState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          MANES MACHIE & ENGR COHandler Name:
                                                            19960901Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          MACK MANES AND ALAN MANESOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20000915Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:

MANES MACHIE & ENGR CO  (Continued) 1000221222

TC7095824.2s   Page 394

Item E - 1092 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                   ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                   1810 LAKE PLAddress:
                                   MANES MACHIE & ENGR COName:
                                   http://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110002657697DFR URL:
                                   110002657697Registry ID:
                                   1000221222Envid:

ECHO:

additional FINDS: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of
RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource

Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110002657697Registry ID:
FINDS:

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                                                            No NAICS Codes FoundNAICS Codes:
List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

MANES MACHIE & ENGR CO  (Continued) 1000221222

                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                NAN@APUMPSTORE.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-923-7115Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-635-0828Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1906 S QUAKER RIDGE PLContact Address:
                                                                                NAN LEWISContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000429978EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1906 S QUAKER RIDGE PLHandler Address:
                              PUMPING SOLUTIONS INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20170810Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

847 ft. Site 5 of 8 in cluster O
0.160 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
862 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE 1906 S QUAKER RIDGE PL CAL000429978
O112 RCRA NonGen / NLRPUMPING SOLUTIONS INC 1024861500

TC7095824.2s   Page 395

Item E - 1093 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=6yIy6FFTytXiIWFyySgW3VdNFy5oFTqtTDmjAY1ftz0hX9CGiW0y4NjaWV3mFcq8yLWL3yw0StYRgf9eWEyD4.ciV7vhdMl0N6zD4eCvyorJ5186oQUp4wuJTAhkqaNgtyWRArC6DJNZmbkyjcDZCrn7YGh01Rnsf7XY6J8vyRS0IPDrygMH3jxiFJwgFFMkTTHS9cFZtzcAXTzgidxx3bRZWrNzFJuHy1LVBaliS1WbgJoQWLXh5KVXVvhFdCZrNSPi61G9ycCY5LjAoVQa5aJnTJnnqaPatAzn5xDjDasEmBr9jreM6.kIyJZjIhZJyL9H4AI0Fdy7FqmhTyeL3fvPtoCpXcFDiqAOAOUxW9TnF0t5yM9W3OpuSzpGg7tlWCyyCp1PVUCZddUPNAbf8lKwyBl85srgokLrBwTLTl3BqT3pt0wO5o5lDUzFmbUIj4947dY6YTCp11gJfnZh2NVKz6jY0AsHh5s65lZ099bdCkJlGFqMvaSiWeqc050TyjH56AA3yTnjIWxVy6uH4gbbF.s7F47VT1Nm3B6lteVVXqnTidBq4P9BWy87FN5NyaMA3vJsSvyzgpQ3W5U835rrVtgPd7idNVzx3ld6yQU65YdUoetb5.fhTLRgqA6jtrvu5xkVDxxNmW7CjKHE4nFOYaKF1j4Tfvre5RjJzJsX0xDdh6XY5hsX9UsfCgauGVwZ5ORfWKCb0XoMyoy83
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=6yIy6FFTytXiIWFyySgW3VdNFy5oFTqtTDmjAY1ftz0hX9CGiW0y4NjaWV3mFcq8yLWL3yw0StYRgf9eWEyD4.ciV7vhdMl0N6zD4eCvyorJ5186oQUp4wuJTAhkqaNgtyWRArC6DJNZmbkyjcDZCrn7YGh01Rnsf7XY6J8vyRS0IPDrygMH3jxiFJwgFFMkTTHS9cFZtzcAXTzgidxx3bRZWrNzFJuHy1LVBaliS1WbgJoQWLXh5KVXVvhFdCZrNSPi61G9ycCY5LjAoVQa5aJnTJnnqaPatAzn5xDjDasEmBr9jreM6.kIyJZjIhZJyL9H4AI0Fdy7FqmhTyeL3fvPtoCpXcFDiqAOAOUxW9TnF0t5yM9W3OpuSzpGg7tlWCyyCp1PVUCZddUPNAbf8lKwyBl85srgokLrBwTLTl3BqT3pt0wO5o5lDUzFmbUIj4947dY6YTCp11gJfnZh2NVKz6jY0AsHh5s65lZ099bdCkJlGFqMvaSiWeqc050TyjH56AA3yTnjIWxVy6uH4gbbF.s7F47VT1Nm3B6lteVVXqnTidBq4P9BWy87FN5NyaMA3vJsSvyzgpQ3W5U835rrVtgPd7idNVzx3ld6yQU65YdUoetb5.fhTLRgqA6jtrvu5xkVDxxNmW7CjKHE4nFOYaKF1j4Tfvre5RjJzJsX0xDdh6XY5hsX9UsfCgauGVwZ5ORfWKCb0XoMyoy83
https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110002657697


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              NAN LEWISOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              PUMPING SOLUTIONS INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1906 S QUAKER RIDGE PLMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:

PUMPING SOLUTIONS INC  (Continued) 1024861500

TC7095824.2s   Page 396

Item E - 1094 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          PUMPING SOLUTIONS INCHandler Name:
                                                            20170810Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-6600Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1906 S QUAKER RIDGE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          PUMPING SOLUTIONS INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-635-0828Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1906 S QUAKER RIDGE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          NAN LEWISOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180907Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:

PUMPING SOLUTIONS INC  (Continued) 1024861500

TC7095824.2s   Page 397

Item E - 1095 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:

PUMPING SOLUTIONS INC  (Continued) 1024861500

                                        CAL000387347Gen EPA ID:
                                        2014Year:

Additional Info:

                                        0.21Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000501510TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000387347Gepaid:
                                        2013Year:

                                        0.21Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000501510TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000387347Gepaid:
                                        2014Year:

                                        1866 S LAKE PLMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099305780Telephone:
                                        TERRY THOMPSONContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917615788City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1866 S LAKE PLAddress:
                                        AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGName:

HAZNET:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10034557CERS ID:
                              3375Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1866 S LAKE PLAddress:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGName:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

CA HWTS
CA CERS

CA CIWQS
848 ft. CA WDSSite 6 of 7 in cluster N
0.161 mi. CA San Bern. Co. Permit

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
863 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA NPDESONTARIO, CA  91761
WSW CA HAZNET1866 S LAKE PL    N/A
N113 CA CERS HAZ WASTEAEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 398

Item E - 1096 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INCName:
NPDES:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        50Waste Quantity:
                                        0.21Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATION INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        FRS ENVIRONMENTAL INCTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        002177290GBFManifest ID:
                                        20131018Receipt Date:
                                        2/24/2014 22:15:16Creation Date:
                                        20131009Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000387347Gen EPA ID:
                                        2013Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        50Waste Quantity:
                                        0.21Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATION INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        FRS ENVIRONMENTAL INCTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        002506032GBFManifest ID:
                                        20140916Receipt Date:
                                        2/13/2015 22:15:12Creation Date:
                                        20140903Shipment Date:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 399

Item E - 1097 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        909-930-5780Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Terry ThompsonContact:
                                        SqFtPlace Size Unit:
                                        14000Place Size:
                                        08/11/2004Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        08/11/2004Processed Date:
                                        05/09/2008Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36I018958WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        213774Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1866 S Lake PlOperator Address:
                                        Aerospace Commercial Tooling IncOperator Name:
                                        08/11/2004Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I018958WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1866 S LAKE PLAddress:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 400

Item E - 1098 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        8 36I018958WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        213774Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

                                        3728-Aircraft Parts and Auxiliary Equipment, NECTertiary Sic:
                                        3724-Aircraft Engines and Engine PartsSecondary Sic:
                                        3721-AircraftPrimary Sic:
                                        08-JUN-15Certification Date:
                                        BuyerCertifier Title:
                                        Terry ThompsonCertifier:
                                        Ely Basin 1Receiving Water Name:
                                        NDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        909-930-5780Emergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        actooling@hotmail.comOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-930-5780Operator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Terry ThompsonOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1866 S Lake PlOperator Address:
                                        Aerospace Commercial Tooling IncOperator Name:
                                        actooling@hotmail.comContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 401

Item E - 1099 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        1866 S Lake PlDischarge Address:
                                        Aerospace Commercial Tooling IncDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        08/11/2004Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 402

Item E - 1100 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36I018958WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        213774Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        Aerospace Commercial Tooling IncDischarge Name:
                                        1866 S Lake PlDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        08/11/2004Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I018958WDID:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        213774Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        8Region:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1866 S LAKE PLAddress:
                                        AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INCName:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 403

Item E - 1101 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        3721-AircraftPrimary Sic:
                                        08-JUN-15Certification Date:
                                        BuyerCertifier Title:
                                        Terry ThompsonCertifier:
                                        Ely Basin 1Receiving Water Name:
                                        NDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        909-930-5780Emergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        actooling@hotmail.comOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-930-5780Operator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Terry ThompsonOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1866 S Lake PlOperator Address:
                                        Aerospace Commercial Tooling IncOperator Name:
                                        actooling@hotmail.comContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        909-930-5780Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Terry ThompsonContact:
                                        SqFtPlace Size Unit:
                                        14000Place Size:
                                        08/11/2004Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        08/11/2004Processed Date:
                                        05/09/2008Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 404

Item E - 1102 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        1866 S Lake PlDischarge Address:
                                        Aerospace Commercial Tooling IncDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        08/11/2004Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        8 36I018958WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        213774Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

                                        3728-Aircraft Parts and Auxiliary Equipment, NECTertiary Sic:
                                        3724-Aircraft Engines and Engine PartsSecondary Sic:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 405

Item E - 1103 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

          repairing, oil production, storage and disposal operations, water
          washing, geothermal operations, air conditioning, ship building and
          processing operation of whatever nature, including mining, gravel
          semisolid wastes from any servicing, producing, manufacturing or
          Industrial - Facility that treats and/or disposes of liquid orFacility Type:
          Santa Ana River  36I018958Facility ID:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1866 S Lake PlAddress:
          AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INCName:

WDS:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0008063Permit Number:
BORELLO, OSCAROwner:
FA0000321Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1866 S LAKE PLAddress:
AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGName:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0008062Permit Number:
BORELLO, OSCAROwner:
FA0000321Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1866 S LAKE PLAddress:
AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 406

Item E - 1104 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        08/11/2004Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36I018958WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        ActiveRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        3721(+)SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - AircraftPlace/Project Type:
                                        1866 S Lake Pl, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        Aerospace Commercial Tooling IncAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1866 S LAKE PLAddress:
                                        AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INCName:

CIWQS:

          dairy waste ponds.
          dischargers having waste storage systems with land disposal such as
          disposal systems, such as septic systems with subsurface disposal, or
          management practices, facilities with passive waste treatment and
          cooling water dischargers or thosewho must comply through best
          Category C - Facilities having no waste treatment systems, such asComplexity:
          represent no threat to water quality.
          Level. A Zero (0) may be used to code those NURDS that are found to
          considered a minor threat to water quality unless coded at a higher
          to a major or minor threat. Not: All nurds without a TTWQ will be
          should cause a relatively minor impairment of beneficial uses compared
          Minor Threat to Water Quality. A violation of a regional board orderTreat To Water:
          Not reportedPOTW:
          Not reportedReclamation:
          0Baseline Flow:
          0Design Flow:
          Not reportedSecondary Waste Type:
          Not reportedSecondary Waste:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste Type:
          Not reportedWaste2:
          Not reportedWaste Type2:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste Type:
          3724SIC Code 2:
          3721SIC Code:
          PrivateAgency Type:
          9099305780Agency Telephone:
          Charles ThompsonAgency Contact:
          Ontario 91761Agency City,St,Zip:
          1866 S Lake PlAgency Address:
          AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INCAgency Name:
          Charles ThompsonFacility Contact:
          9099305780Facility Telephone:
          8Subregion:
          are assigned by the Regional Board
          CAS000001 The 1st 2 characters designate the state. The remaining 7NPDES Number:
          under Waste Discharge Requirements.
          Active - Any facility with a continuous or seasonal discharge that isFacility Status:
          pumping.

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 407

Item E - 1105 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Water BoardsEval Division:
                              was observed in outdoor storage areas.
                              operations was observed in outdoor storage aeas. - Fine metal debris
                              Benchmark Values for pH. - White debris from outdoor sanding
                              runoff coming from your facility are below Regional Board Parameter
                              from leaking equipment. - Levels of pollutants in the stormwater
                              open. - Stains/leaks/spills were observed in outdoor storage areas
                              water. - Trash containers are missing lids. - Trash containers are
                              equipment/vehicle parts are stored outdoors and exposed to storm
                              outside of a covered and contained area. - Contaminated industrial
                              6-6.208 or 6-6.404): - Industrial process activities are conducted
                              Failure to implement Storm Water Best Management Practices (SectionEval Notes:
                              Construction Storm Water Compliance EvaluationEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              10-02-2008Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              SMARTS,Violation Source:
                              INDSTWViolation Program:
                              Water BoardsViolation Division:
                              City of Ontario’’s report of violationsViolation Notes:
                              SW - Deficient BMP ImplementationViolation Description:
                              2014-0057-DWQ - Industrial General PermitCitation:
                              10-02-2008Violation Date:
                              Aerospace Comm Tooling IncSite Name:
                              525579Site ID:

                              SMARTS,Violation Source:
                              INDSTWViolation Program:
                              Water BoardsViolation Division:
                              Failure to submit 2019 - 2020 Annual Report by due dateViolation Notes:
                              SW - Late ReportViolation Description:
                              2014-0057-DWQ - Industrial General PermitCitation:
                              07-16-2020Violation Date:
                              Aerospace Comm Tooling IncSite Name:
                              525579Site ID:

Violations:

                              Industrial Facility Storm WaterCERS Description:
                              207135CERS ID:
                              525579Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1866 S LAKE PLAddress:
                              AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INCName:

CERS:

                                        -117.62139Longitude:
                                        34.04036Latitude:
                                        1Violations within 5 years:
                                        1Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 408

Item E - 1106 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-10-2013Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              update to CERS.
                              Returned to compliance on 11/29/2016. Facility did not submit a yearlyViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              11-01-2016Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10034557CERS ID:
                              3375Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1866 S LAKE PLAddress:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGName:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1866 S Lake PlAffiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              Aerospace Commercial Tooling IncEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              SMARTS,Enf Action Source:
                              INDSTWEnf Action Program:
                              Water BoardsEnf Action Division:
                              received on 8/21/20
                              Failure to submit 2019-2020 Annual Report by due date. Return receiptEnf Action Notes:
                              Industrial Storm Water EnforcementEnf Action Description:
                              Industrial Storm Water EnforcementEnf Action Type:
                              08-17-2020Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1866 S LAKE PLSite Address:
                              Aerospace Comm Tooling IncSite Name:
                              525579Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              SMARTS,Eval Source:
                              INDSTWEval Program:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 409

Item E - 1107 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              containers (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/10/2013. Failure to label hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-10-2013Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              violation by adding a hazardous waste label during the inspection.
                              hazardous waste label. CORRECTED ON SITE: Operator corrected the
                              inspection, observed (2) 55 gallon drums of used oil missing a
                              Returned to compliance on 01/21/2020. OBSERVATION: At the time of theViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              characteristics of the Hazardous Waste, and starting accumulation
                              name and address of the generator, physical and chemical
                              portable tanks with the following requirements: "Hazardous Waste",
                              Failure to properly label hazardous waste accumulation containers andViolation Description:
                              Chapter 12, Section(s) 66262.34(f)
                              22 CCR 12 66262.34(f) - California Code of Regulations, Title 22,Citation:
                              01-07-2020Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers closed when not in active use (CCR 66265.173(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/10/2013. Failure to keep hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-10-2013Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              time exceeded (CCR 66262.34(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 10/10/2013. Hazardous waste accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-10-2013Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Number (CCR 66262.12(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/10/2013. Failure to obtain an EPA IDViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 410

Item E - 1108 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              facility to prevent a fire, spill or release (CCR 66265.31)
                              Returned to compliance on 10/10/2013. Failure to operate and maintainViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-10-2013Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              inventory via CERS. CERS ID # 10034557.
                              inventory via CERS. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Update the hazardous materials
                              inspection, the Federal Hazard Categories had not been updated on the
                              Returned to compliance on 01/13/2020. OBSERVATION: At the time of theViolation Notes:
                              at or above reportable quantities.
                              inventory information for all reportable hazardous materials on site
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit hazardous materialViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              01-07-2020Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Division.
                              days. Submit copies of the hazardous waste disposal records to this
                              waste that has been stored over the accumulation time limit within 30
                              disposal records. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Properly dispose of hazardous
                              accumulation start date of 11/17/2016, verified by the provided
                              inspection, observed (2) 55 gallon drums of used oil with an
                              Returned to compliance on 01/21/2020. OBSERVATION: At the time of theViolation Notes:
                              greater than one kilogram for more than 90 days.
                              hold acutely hazardous waste or extremely hazardous waste in an amount
                              Regulations section 262.34(d), (e) and (f). (3) The generator does not
                              The generator complies with the requirements of 40 Code of Federal
                              hazardous waste accumulated onsite never exceeds 6,000 kilograms. (2)
                              if all of the following conditions are met: (1) The quantity of
                              miles) for a generator who generates less than 1000 kilogram per month
                              disposal within 180 days (or 270 days if waste is transported over 200
                              Failure to send hazardous waste offsite for treatment, storage, orViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) 25123.3(h)(1)
                              HSC 6.5 25123.3(h)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              01-07-2020Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 411

Item E - 1109 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              hazardous material.
                              response plan and procedures for a release or threatened release of a
                              Failure to establish and electronically submit an adequate emergencyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              01-07-2020Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              in sound containers (CCR 66265.171)
                              Returned to compliance on 07/10/2013. Failure to store hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-10-2013Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste lawfully (CHSC 25154)
                              Returned to compliance on 10/10/2013. Failure to manage hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-10-2013Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/10/2013. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-10-2013Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 09/07/2013.Violation Notes:
                              thresholds quantities of 55 gallons/500 lbs/200 cubic feet.
                              Business Plan when storing hazardous materials at or above the
                              Owner/Operator failed to complete and/or submit a Hazardous MaterialsViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25505(a)
                              HSC 6.95 25505(a) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              07-10-2013Violation Date:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 412

Item E - 1110 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              YesViolations Found:
                              11-01-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              11-01-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              01-07-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-AEROSPACEEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              07-10-2013Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTION-AEROSPACEEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              07-10-2013Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              01-07-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              plan with the CUPA phone number (909)386-8425. CERS ID # 10034557.
                              CUPA phone number. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Update the emergency response
                              inspection, the consolidated emergency response plan was missing the
                              Returned to compliance on 01/13/2020. OBSERVATION: At the time of theViolation Notes:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 413

Item E - 1111 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              -117.621651Longitude:
                              34.039646Latitude:
                              Unknown,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10034557Program ID:
                              HWGEnv Int Type Code:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGFacility Name:
                              3375Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              11-01-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1866 S LAKE PLSite Address:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              07-10-2013Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1866 S LAKE PLSite Address:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              07-10-2013Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1866 S LAKE PLSite Address:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGSite Name:
                              3375Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 414

Item E - 1112 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1866 S LAKE PLACEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              OSCAR G BORELLOEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              AEROSPACE & COMMERCIAL TOOLINEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (760) 360-6467,Affiliation Phone:
                              91701Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ALTA LOMAAffiliation City:
                              5131 MOONSTONE AVEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Oscar BorelloEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1866 S. LAKE PLACEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 930-5780,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              OSCAR G BORELLOEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 415

Item E - 1113 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        917615788Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1866 S LAKE PLFacility Address:
                                        AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGFacility Name:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        2013-07-11 09:25:00.52000Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        All Other Motor Vehicle Parts ManufacturingNAICS Description:
                                        336399NAICS Code:
                                        2013-07-11 09:25:00.520Create Date:
                                        CAL000387347EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.62164Longitude:
                                        34.03964Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1866 S LAKE PLContact Address:
                                        TERRY THOMPSONContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917615788Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1866 S LAKE PLOwner Address:
                                        OSCAR BORELLOOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917615788Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1866 S LAKE PLMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        07/11/2013Create Date:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        CAL000387347EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1866 S LAKE PLAddress:
                                        AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGName:

HWTS:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:

AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC  (Continued) S106800885

TC7095824.2s   Page 416

Item E - 1114 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              TERRY THOMPSONOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              OSCAR BORELLOOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5788Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1866 S LAKE PLMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                THOMPSONTERRY@SBCGLOBAL.NETContact Email:
                                                                                909-930-5782Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-930-5780Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1866 S LAKE PLContact Address:
                                                                                TERRY THOMPSONContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000387347EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5788Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1866 S LAKE PLHandler Address:
                              AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGHandler Name:
                                                                                20130711Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

848 ft. Site 7 of 7 in cluster N
0.161 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
863 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WSW 1866 S LAKE PL CAL000387347
N114 RCRA NonGen / NLRAEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLING 1024839414

TC7095824.2s   Page 417

Item E - 1115 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-5780Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-5788Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1866 S LAKE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          OSCAR BORELLOOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-5780Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1866 S LAKE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          TERRY THOMPSONOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180906Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLING  (Continued) 1024839414

TC7095824.2s   Page 418

Item E - 1116 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLINGHandler Name:
                                                            20130711Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLING  (Continued) 1024839414

                              DAVE FOLTSOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5792Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1516 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                DFOLTS@DFOLTSTRANS.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-923-5971Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-923-5970Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1516 E FRANCIS STContact Address:
                                                                                DAVE FOLTSContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000324721EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5792Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1516 E FRANCIS STHandler Address:
                              DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISSIONSHandler Name:
                                                                                20070911Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

852 ft. Site 8 of 10 in cluster P
0.161 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW 1516 E FRANCIS ST CAL000324721
P115 RCRA NonGen / NLRDAVE FOLTS TRANSMISSIONS 1024818202

TC7095824.2s   Page 419

Item E - 1117 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              DAVE FOLTSOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:

DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISSIONS  (Continued) 1024818202

TC7095824.2s   Page 420

Item E - 1118 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISSIONSHandler Name:
                                                            20070911Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-5970Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1516 E FRANCIS STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          DAVE FOLTSOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-5970Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-5792Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1516 E FRANCIS STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          DAVE FOLTSOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:

DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISSIONS  (Continued) 1024818202

TC7095824.2s   Page 421

Item E - 1119 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

09/30/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0018388Permit Number:
K & K FORGE DIE INC.Owner:
FA0004187Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1514 E FRANCIS ST AAddress:
WEST COAST MACHINEName:

09/30/2010Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0009193Permit Number:
K & K FORGE DIE INC.Owner:
FA0004187Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1514 E FRANCIS ST AAddress:
WEST COAST MACHINEName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

864 ft. Site 9 of 10 in cluster P
0.164 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW 1514 E FRANCIS ST A    N/A
P116 CA San Bern. Co. PermitWEST COAST MACHINE S103368640

                              ACCUFABOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1514 E FRANCIS UNIT BMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                PrivateLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-930-1751Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1514 E FRANCIS UNIT BContact Address:
                                                                                JOHN MIHOVETZContact Name:
                                                                                CAR000080242EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1514 E FRANCIS UNIT BHandler Address:
                              ACCUFABHandler Name:
                                                                                20000811Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-SQG:

864 ft. Site 10 of 10 in cluster P
0.164 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ECHOONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW FINDS1514 E FRANCIS UNIT B CAR000080242
P117 RCRA-SQGACCUFAB 1004676044

TC7095824.2s   Page 422

Item E - 1120 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20021007Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                Not reportedOperator Type:
                              Not reportedOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:

ACCUFAB  (Continued) 1004676044

TC7095824.2s   Page 423

Item E - 1121 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

California Hazardous Waste Tracking System - Datamart (HWTS-DATAMART)
Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110002941862Registry ID:
FINDS:

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                                                            No NAICS Codes FoundNAICS Codes:
List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          ACCUFABHandler Name:
                                                            20000811Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-1751Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1514 E FRANCIS UNIT BOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          ACCUFABOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                              TETRACHLOROETHYLENEWaste Description:
                              D039Waste Code:

                              IGNITABLE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D001Waste Code:

Hazardous Waste Summary:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:

ACCUFAB  (Continued) 1004676044

TC7095824.2s   Page 424

Item E - 1122 of 2173

https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110002941862


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                   ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                   1514 E FRANCIS UNIT BAddress:
                                   ACCUFABName:
                                   http://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110002941862DFR URL:
                                   110002941862Registry ID:
                                   1004676044Envid:

ECHO:

additional FINDS: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of
RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource
facilities.
generators, transporters, and treatment, storage, and disposal
provides California with information on hazardous waste shipments for

ACCUFAB  (Continued) 1004676044

                                             JOEL DENTONReporting Officer Name/ID:
                                             Not reportedCompany Name:
                                             Not reportedCA DOT PUC/ICC Number:
                                             Not reportedVehicle Id Number:
                                             Not reportedVehicle State:
                                             Not reportedVehicle License Number:
                                             Not reportedVehicle Make/year:
                                             0Others Number Of Fatalities:
                                             0Others Number Of Injuries:
                                             0Others Number Of Decontaminated:
                                             0Responding Agency Personel # Of Fatalities:
                                             0Responding Agency Personel # Of Injuries:
                                             0Resp Agncy Personel # Of Decontaminated:
                                             NMore Than Two Substances Involved?:
                                             CProperty Management:
                                             76Estimated Temperature:
                                             600Surrounding Area:
                                             1454Time Completed:
                                             1405Time Notified:
                                             OE2181Agency Incident Number:
                                             36170Agency Id Number:
                                             962Property Use:
                                             14-MAR-89Date Completed:
                                             Not reportedOES Time:
                                             Not reportedOES Date:
                                             Not reportedOES notification:
                                             905256OES Incident Number:
                                             ONTARIO, CA 91761-8300City,State,Zip:
                         1486 E CEDARAddress:
                                             Not reportedName:

CHMIRS:

865 ft. CA CERSSite 5 of 6 in cluster R
0.164 mi. CA CIWQS

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
853 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
SSW CA NPDES1486 E CEDAR ST    N/A
R118 CA CHMIRSRAMA FOOD CEDAR S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 425

Item E - 1123 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=46J4j86UnJeU2U5jpB8ZJ97bUARnSQ3y0eZ2U422LAUnA59g3Q6pdfBPJ3bSZXdJlF3m07ohbzv9QWA7tRlaBbgSoPQ954uK6YNJNA2ghj6z8JE8YsUfinIe2WbeQmUCFAqxUHd5i64QrpZEB525IOZveJ0t4pH7DdbVT4ISA5ARzR4Tw6koJeo3U6jkz8gY2abUdbn.B9MDebGUda2oiUiv55TBZlpyCB6Z7mGZ0BJ3KAwi7ilbZ.4gBAqDRFm6dmSSkQ5b1Qvy2y04Y4DsZI927duab4ls2Ah4gr6tPJKx3R0j.E82D2ejUa6nhm3uwe.7ULk2ykUrP5CN2hKpyKBzS6r9ZLMJuy8W57JpbZB9lNAvfR8u8BRSjkQkd2.NyYZ0sd6XGZgH2gg6xS47n2d52
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=46J4j86UnJeU2U5jpB8ZJ97bUARnSQ3y0eZ2U422LAUnA59g3Q6pdfBPJ3bSZXdJlF3m07ohbzv9QWA7tRlaBbgSoPQ954uK6YNJNA2ghj6z8JE8YsUfinIe2WbeQmUCFAqxUHd5i64QrpZEB525IOZveJ0t4pH7DdbVT4ISA5ARzR4Tw6koJeo3U6jkz8gY2abUdbn.B9MDebGUda2oiUiv55TBZlpyCB6Z7mGZ0BJ3KAwi7ilbZ.4gBAqDRFm6dmSSkQ5b1Qvy2y04Y4DsZI927duab4ls2Ah4gr6tPJKx3R0j.E82D2ejUa6nhm3uwe.7ULk2ykUrP5CN2hKpyKBzS6r9ZLMJuy8W57JpbZB9lNAvfR8u8BRSjkQkd2.NyYZ0sd6XGZgH2gg6xS47n2d52


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        05/01/2020Termination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        06/12/2017Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I027208WDID:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        485675Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        8Region:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        TerminatedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1486 E CEDAR STAddress:
                                        RAMA FOOD CEDARName:

NPDES:

                                             Not reportedDescription:
                                             Not reportedComments:
                                             Not reportedFatals:
                                             Not reportedInjuries:
                                             Not reportedEvacs:
                                             Not reported#3 Vessel >= 300 Tons:
                                             Not reported#2 Vessel >= 300 Tons:
                                             Not reported#1 Vessel >= 300 Tons:
                                             Not reported#3 Pipeline:
                                             Not reported#2 Pipeline:
                                             Not reported#1 Pipeline:
                                             Not reportedNumber of Fatalities:
                                             Not reportedNumber of Injuries:
                                             Not reportedEvacuations:
                                             Not reportedSubstance #3:
                                             Not reportedSubstance #2:
                                             Not reportedUnknown:
                                             Not reportedSubstance:
                                             07-MAY-90E Date:
                                             Not reportedSite Type:
                                             Not reportedContained:
                                             Not reportedAmount:
                                             Not reportedAdmin Agency:
                                             14-MAR-89Incident Date:
                                             Not reportedAgency:
                                             88-92Year:
                                             Not reportedDate/Time:
                                             Not reportedOther:
                                             Not reportedMeasure:
                                             Not reportedType:
                                             Not reportedWhat Happened:
                                             Not reportedContainment:
                                             Not reportedCleanup By:
                                             Not reportedSpill Site:
                                             Not reportedWaterway:
                                             Not reportedWaterway Involved:
                                             714 986-4579Facility Telephone:
                                             14-MAR-89Report Date:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 426

Item E - 1124 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        michael@ramafood.comOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-230-4335Operator Contact Phone:
                                        VP of OperationsOperator Contact Title:
                                        Michael YinOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1486 E Cedar StOperator Address:
                                        Rama Food Manufacture CorporationOperator Name:
                                        michael@ramafood.comContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        909-230-4335Contact Phone:
                                        VP of OperationsContact Title:
                                        Michael YInContact:
                                        SqFtPlace Size Unit:
                                        90000Place Size:
                                        06/12/2017Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        06/12/2017Processed Date:
                                        05/18/2017Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36I027208WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        485675Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        Rama Food Manufacture CorporationDischarge Name:
                                        1486 E Cedar StDischarge Address:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 427

Item E - 1125 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        1486 E Cedar StDischarge Address:
                                        Rama Food Manufacture CorporationDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        06/12/2017Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        8 36I027208WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        485675Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        2098-Macaroni, Spaghetti, Vermicelli, and NoodlesPrimary Sic:
                                        18-MAY-17Certification Date:
                                        VP of OperationsCertifier Title:
                                        Michael YinCertifier:
                                        Cedar drainReceiving Water Name:
                                        NDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 428

Item E - 1126 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1486 E CEDAR STAddress:
                                        RAMA FOOD CEDARName:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 429

Item E - 1127 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        1486 E Cedar StOperator Address:
                                        Rama Food Manufacture CorporationOperator Name:
                                        michael@ramafood.comContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        909-230-4335Contact Phone:
                                        VP of OperationsContact Title:
                                        Michael YInContact:
                                        SqFtPlace Size Unit:
                                        90000Place Size:
                                        06/12/2017Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        06/12/2017Processed Date:
                                        05/18/2017Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36I027208WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        485675Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1486 E Cedar StOperator Address:
                                        Rama Food Manufacture CorporationOperator Name:
                                        02/05/2021Status Date:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I027208WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 430

Item E - 1128 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        06/12/2017Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        8 36I027208WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        485675Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        2098-Macaroni, Spaghetti, Vermicelli, and NoodlesPrimary Sic:
                                        18-MAY-17Certification Date:
                                        VP of OperationsCertifier Title:
                                        Michael YinCertifier:
                                        Cedar drainReceiving Water Name:
                                        NDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        michael@ramafood.comOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-230-4335Operator Contact Phone:
                                        VP of OperationsOperator Contact Title:
                                        Michael YinOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 431

Item E - 1129 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        1486 E Cedar StDischarge Address:
                                        Rama Food Manufacture CorporationDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 432

Item E - 1130 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36I027208WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        TerminatedRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        2098SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Macaroni, Spaghetti, Vermicelli, and NoodlesPlace/Project Type:
                                        1486 E Cedar St, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        Rama Food Manufacture CorporationAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1486 E CEDAR STAddress:
                                        RAMA FOOD CEDARName:

CIWQS:

08/31/2006Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:
PT0007607Permit Number:
WURTH USAOwner:
FA0007343Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1486 E CEDAR STAddress:
WURTH CALIFORNIA INCName:

08/31/2006Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0007608Permit Number:
WURTH USAOwner:
FA0007343Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1486 E CEDAR STAddress:
WURTH CALIFORNIA INCName:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0035883Permit Number:
RAMA FOOD MFG CORPOwner:
FA0016718Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1486 E CEDAR STAddress:
RAMA FOOD - CEDARName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 433

Item E - 1131 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Section(s) 25507
                              HSC 6.95 25507 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              04-12-2016Violation Date:
                              Rama Food CedarSite Name:
                              378094Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Your CERS ID number is 10690282
                              business plan via CERS within 30 days and yearly before March 1st.
                              yearly before March 1st. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Review and certify the
                              plan was last updated on 2/23/2018. The plan is required to be updated
                              Returned to compliance on 05/08/2019. OBSERVATION: The CERS businessViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              04-25-2019Violation Date:
                              Rama Food CedarSite Name:
                              378094Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 04/14/2017.Violation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to complete and/or electronically submit a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508(d)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(d) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              04-12-2016Violation Date:
                              Rama Food CedarSite Name:
                              378094Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10690282CERS ID:
                              378094Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1486 E CEDAR STAddress:
                              RAMA FOOD CEDARName:

CERS:

                                        -117.62038Longitude:
                                        34.03711Latitude:
                                        1Violations within 5 years:
                                        1Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        05/01/2020Termination Date:
                                        06/12/2017Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 434

Item E - 1132 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Rama Food CedarFacility Name:
                              378094Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              04-12-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1486 E CEDAR STSite Address:
                              Rama Food CedarSite Name:
                              378094Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-25-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-RAMA FOODEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-12-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Hazardous Materials Handler permit (SBCC 23.0602(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 04/14/2017. Failure to obtain a CUPAViolation Notes:
                              Business Plan Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.95 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              04-12-2016Violation Date:
                              Rama Food CedarSite Name:
                              378094Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 04/14/2017.Violation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to adequately establish and implement a business plan whenViolation Description:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 435

Item E - 1133 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              ManagerEntity Title:
                              Jonathan VingEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 4045Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Jonathan VingEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 923-5305,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Jonathan VingEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Jonathan VingEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.620380Longitude:
                              34.037110Latitude:
                              Center of a facility or station.,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10690282Program ID:
                              HMBPEnv Int Type Code:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

TC7095824.2s   Page 436

Item E - 1134 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (909) 230-4335,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 4045Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Karen VingEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 903-5305,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1486 E Cedar StAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              RAMA FOOD MFG CORPEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 4045Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Rama Food Manufacture CorpEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

RAMA FOOD CEDAR  (Continued) S100279252

08/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:
PT0008469Permit Number:
BAYOU AQUATIC FOODSOwner:
FA0001368Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1922 LAKE PLAddress:
BAYOU AQUATIC FOODSName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

901 ft. Site 1 of 4 in cluster T
0.171 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
858 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WSW 1922 LAKE PL    N/A
T119 CA San Bern. Co. PermitBAYOU AQUATIC FOODS S104764210

TC7095824.2s   Page 437

Item E - 1135 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

08/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0008470Permit Number:
BAYOU AQUATIC FOODSOwner:
FA0001368Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1922 LAKE PLAddress:
BAYOU AQUATIC FOODSName:

BAYOU AQUATIC FOODS  (Continued) S104764210

05/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0014889Permit Number:
CALDEX CRAFT PRODUCTS, INCOwner:
FA0008567Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1953 S LAKE PLAddress:
CALDEX CRAFT PRODUCTS, INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

907 ft. Site 6 of 6 in cluster R
0.172 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
855 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SW 1953 S LAKE PL    N/A
R120 CA San Bern. Co. PermitCALDEX CRAFT PRODUCTS, INC S106446702

          1Number Of Tanks:
          UNKNOWNContent:
          PSTG:
          UNKNOWNTank Use:
          09-13-88Active Date:
          1Capacity:
          ATank Status:
          36-000-014979-000001SWRCB Tank Id:
          Not reportedOwner Tank Id:
          09-13-88Created Date:
          09-04-91Action Date:
          09-04-91Referral Date:
          44-020589Board Of Equalization:
          1Number:
          14979Comp Number:
          ActiveStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1710 E CEDAR STAddress:
          SMITH MANAGEMENT CORPName:

SWEEPS UST:

912 ft. Site 2 of 4 in cluster S
0.173 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
854 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
SE CA FID UST1710 E CEDAR ST    N/A
S121 CA SWEEPS USTSMITH MANAGEMENT CORP S101591137

TC7095824.2s   Page 438

Item E - 1136 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

05/31/2006Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0016531Permit Number:
GLOBAL FREIGHT SOLUTIONS, INC.Owner:
FA0009700Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1710 E CEDAR STAddress:
GLOBAL FREIGHT SOLUTIONS, INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

     ActiveStatus:
     Not reportedComments:
     Not reportedEPA ID:
     Not reportedNPDES Number:
     Not reportedDUNs Number:
     Not reportedContact Phone:
     Not reportedContact:
     ONTARIO 91761Mailing City,St,Zip:
     Not reportedMailing Address 2:
     PO BOX 30550Mailing Address:
     Not reportedMail To:
     Not reportedFacility Phone:
     Not reportedSIC Code:
     Not reportedCortese Code:
     Not reportedRegulated ID:
     UTNKARegulated By:
     36001797Facility ID:

CA FID UST:

SMITH MANAGEMENT CORP  (Continued) S101591137

                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                ZFLORES@MAB-RE.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                951-734-7510Contact Telephone:
                                                                                CORONA, CA 92882Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                325 S MAIN ST STE CContact Address:
                                                                                MARTIN ASSOCIATES ATT. CEDAR BLDGContact Name:
                                                                                CAC003146907EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1710 E. CEDAR STHandler Address:
                              CEDARHandler Name:
                                                                                20211104Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

912 ft. Site 3 of 4 in cluster S
0.173 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
854 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1710 E. CEDAR ST CAC003146907
S122 RCRA NonGen / NLRCEDAR 1027075184

TC7095824.2s   Page 439

Item E - 1137 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20211104Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              MARTIN ASSOCIATES ATT. CEDAR BLDGOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              CEDAR ERIN CONNEALYOwner Name:
                                                                                CORONA, CA 92882Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                325 S MAIN ST STE CMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:

CEDAR  (Continued) 1027075184

TC7095824.2s   Page 440

Item E - 1138 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              SUPPORT ACTIVITIES FOR OIL AND GAS OPERATIONSNAICS Description:
                              213112NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          CEDARHandler Name:
                                                            20211104Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            951-734-7510Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            CORONA, CA 92882Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            325 S MAIN ST STE COwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          MARTIN ASSOCIATES ATT. CEDAR BLDGOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            951-734-7510Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            CORONA, CA 92882Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            325 S. MAIN ST STE. COwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          CEDAR ERIN CONNEALYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:

CEDAR  (Continued) 1027075184

TC7095824.2s   Page 441

Item E - 1139 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

CEDAR  (Continued) 1027075184

                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              CONNIE GALLEGOOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              GLORIA MARTINEZOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-7709Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                2006 SOUTH BAKER STREETMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                CONNIEG@ABLE123.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-930-1587Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-930-1585Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                2006 S BAKER AVEContact Address:
                                                                                CONNIE GALLEGOContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000390427EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-7709Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                2006 S BAKER AVEHandler Address:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSHandler Name:
                                                                                20131024Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

927 ft. Site 6 of 7 in cluster K
0.176 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
853 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 2006 S BAKER AVE CAL000390427
K123 RCRA NonGen / NLRABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS 1024840997

TC7095824.2s   Page 442

Item E - 1140 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            1830 COUNTRY KNOLL PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          GLORIA MARTINEZOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-1585Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            2006 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          CONNIE GALLEGOOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180906Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:

ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS  (Continued) 1024840997

TC7095824.2s   Page 443

Item E - 1141 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSHandler Name:
                                                            20131024Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-560-2655Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            HACIENDA HEIGHTS, CA 91745-3251Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:

ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS  (Continued) 1024840997

          Not reportedActive Date:
          Not reportedCapacity:
          Not reportedTank Status:
          Not reportedSWRCB Tank Id:
          Not reportedOwner Tank Id:
          09-14-88Created Date:
          09-04-91Action Date:
          09-04-91Referral Date:
          Not reportedBoard Of Equalization:
          1Number:
          9982Comp Number:
          ActiveStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          2006 S BAKER AVEAddress:
          FIRE BANN CORPName:

SWEEPS UST:

CA HWTS
CA CERS

CA CIWQS
927 ft. CA San Bern. Co. PermitSite 7 of 7 in cluster K
0.176 mi. CA NPDES

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
853 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA HAZNETONTARIO, CA  91761
SE CA FID UST2006 S BAKER AVE    N/A
K124 CA SWEEPS USTFIRE BANN CORP S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 444

Item E - 1142 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAD008302903TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        OCEAN BLUE ENVIRONMENTAL SVCSTrans Name:
                                        CAD983608258Trans EPA ID:
                                        015612110JJKManifest ID:
                                        20170601Receipt Date:
                                        5/30/2018 18:33:22Creation Date:
                                        20170524Shipment Date:

                                        CAC002911751Gen EPA ID:
                                        2017Year:

Additional Info:

                                        0.005Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008302903TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAC002911751Gepaid:
                                        2017Year:

                                        900 BUSH AVENUE, BLDG. 21-1E-02Mailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        6517331110Telephone:
                                        HOWARD WITHAMContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        2006 S. BAKER AVENUEAddress:
                                        3MName:

HAZNET:

     ActiveStatus:
     Not reportedComments:
     Not reportedEPA ID:
     Not reportedNPDES Number:
     Not reportedDUNs Number:
     Not reportedContact Phone:
     Not reportedContact:
     ONTARIO 91761Mailing City,St,Zip:
     Not reportedMailing Address 2:
     2727  CORONADO STMailing Address:
     Not reportedMail To:
     Not reportedFacility Phone:
     Not reportedSIC Code:
     Not reportedCortese Code:
     Not reportedRegulated ID:
     UTNKARegulated By:
     36006412Facility ID:

CA FID UST:

          Not reportedNumber Of Tanks:
          Not reportedContent:
          Not reportedSTG:
          Not reportedTank Use:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 445

Item E - 1143 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        2009-0009-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        496926Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        8Region:
                                        CAS000002NPDES Number:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        2006 SOUTH BAKER AVENUEAddress:
                                        ABLE INDUSTRIESName:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        ONTARIOOperator City:
                                        2006 SOUTH BAKER AVENUEOperator Address:
                                        ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS INCOperator Name:
                                        05/22/2018Status Date:
                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        ConstructionRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36C383435WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        2006 SOUTH BAKER AVENUEAddress:
                                        ABLE INDUSTRIESName:

NPDES:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        10Waste Quantity:
                                        0.005Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        VEOLIA ES TECHNICAL SOLUTIONS LLCTrans Name:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 446

Item E - 1144 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        2009-0009-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water constructionRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        ActiveRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        CONSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedSIC/NAICS:
                                        Construction - IndustrialPlace/Project Type:
                                        2006 SOUTH BAKER AVENUE, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS INCAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        2006 SOUTH BAKER AVENUEAddress:
                                        ABLE INDUSTRIESName:

CIWQS:

12/31/2020Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0026454Permit Number:
GLORIA MARTINEZOwner:
FA0015174Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2006 S BAKER AVEAddress:
ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSName:

12/31/2021Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALS SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0026455Permit Number:
GLORIA MARTINEZOwner:
FA0015174Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2006 S BAKER AVEAddress:
ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        ONTARIODischarge City:
                                        ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS INCDischarge Name:
                                        2006 SOUTH BAKER AVENUEDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        05/22/2018Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        ConstructionProgram Type:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36C383435WDID:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 447

Item E - 1145 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              12-19-2016Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10651519CERS ID:
                              415930Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              2006 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSName:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              2006 SOUTH BAKER AVENUEAffiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS INCEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              SMARTS,Eval Source:
                              CONSTWEval Program:
                              Water BoardsEval Division:
                              facility; no equipment, trailer, personnel, or activity observable.
                              Drive-by inspection. Weather was sunny. Site is active industrialEval Notes:
                              Construction Storm Water Compliance EvaluationEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-30-2020Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              Construction Storm WaterCERS Description:
                              863442CERS ID:
                              525345Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              2006 SOUTH BAKER AVENUEAddress:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIESName:

CERS:

                                        -117.615921Longitude:
                                        34.037351Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date:
                                        05/22/2018Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000002NPDES Number:
                                        8 36C383435WDID:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 448

Item E - 1146 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Contingency Plan (CCR 66265.51(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 01/30/2017. Failure to establish aViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-11-2013Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Contingency Plan (CCR 66265.51(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 01/30/2017. Failure to establish aViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              12-19-2016Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 01/30/2017.Violation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-19-2016Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/19/2016. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              12-19-2016Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/19/2016. Failure to complete hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 449

Item E - 1147 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/19/2016. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-11-2013Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Hazardous Materials Handler permit (SBCC 23.0602(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 04/15/2014. Failure to obtain a CUPAViolation Notes:
                              Business Plan Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.95 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              10-11-2013Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/19/2016. Failure to label hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-11-2013Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Permit (SBCC 23.0602(b)(1))
                              Returned to compliance on 04/15/2014. Failure to obtain a CUPAViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-11-2013Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 01/30/2017.Violation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-19-2016Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 450

Item E - 1148 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 01/30/2017.Violation Notes:
                              thresholds quantities of 55 gallons/500 lbs/200 cubic feet.
                              Business Plan when storing hazardous materials at or above the
                              Owner/Operator failed to complete and/or submit a Hazardous MaterialsViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25505(a)
                              HSC 6.95 25505(a) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              10-11-2013Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 01/30/2017.Violation Notes:
                              thresholds quantities of 55 gallons/500 lbs/200 cubic feet.
                              Business Plan when storing hazardous materials at or above the
                              Owner/Operator failed to establish and implement a Hazardous MaterialsViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25503.5(a)
                              HSC 6.95 25503.5(a) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              10-11-2013Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/19/2016. Failure to label hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              12-19-2016Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Number (CCR 66262.12(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/30/2016. Failure to obtain an EPA IDViolation Notes:
                              General
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation -Violation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              12-19-2016Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 451

Item E - 1149 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to adequately establish and implement a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25507
                              HSC 6.95 25507 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              12-19-2016Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              time exceeded (CCR 66262.34(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/19/2016. Hazardous waste accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-11-2013Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Business Plan via CERS within 30 days. CERS ID 10651519.
                              certified. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Review and electronically certify
                              6-11-2018. Business Plan must be annually reviewed and electronically
                              inspection, observed Business Plan was last submitted via CERS on
                              Returned to compliance on 01/29/2020. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-09-2019Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              inventory via CERS within 30 days. CERS ID 10651519.
                              on 6-11-2018. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit an updated hazardous materials
                              amount indicated on hazardous materials inventory submitted via CERS
                              propane which are more than 100 percent increase in quantity than
                              (1) 100 gallon container of propane and (6) 8 gallon containers of
                              inspection, observed approximately 23,000 pounds of various silicone,
                              Returned to compliance on 01/29/2020. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              requires modification to any portion of the business plan.
                              business name. A substantial change in the handler’s operations that
                              quantities. A change of business address, business ownership, or
                              previously undisclosed hazardous materials at or above reportable
                              quantity of a previously disclosed material. Any handling of a
                              one of the following events: A 100 percent or more increase in the
                              Failure to electronically update business plan within 30 days of anyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508.1(a)-(f)
                              HSC 6.95 25508.1(a)-(f) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-09-2019Violation Date:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 452

Item E - 1150 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              12-19-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              12-09-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              NEW FACILITY GENERATOR INSPECTION-ABLE INDEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-11-2013Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              INSPECTION - HWEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              12-19-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              12-09-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste lawfully (CHSC 25154)
                              Returned to compliance on 12/19/2016. Failure to manage hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-11-2013Violation Date:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 01/30/2017.Violation Notes:
                              quantities.

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 453

Item E - 1151 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              12-19-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              2006 S BAKER AVESite Address:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-11-2013Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              2006 S BAKER AVESite Address:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-11-2013Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              2006 S BAKER AVESite Address:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:
                              415930Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              NEW FACILITY HANDLER INSPECTION-ABLE INDEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-11-2013Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              INSPECTION - BPEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 454

Item E - 1152 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 560-2655,Affiliation Phone:
                              91745Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              HACIENDA HEIGHTSAffiliation City:
                              1830 COUNTRY KNOLL PLACEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              GLORIA MARTINEZEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              HR MGR.Entity Title:
                              CONNIE GALLEGOEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              CONNIE GALLEGOEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              12-19-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              2006 S BAKER AVESite Address:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTSSite Name:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 455

Item E - 1153 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        05/24/2017Create Date:
                                        08/24/2017Inactive Date:
                                        CAC002911751EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        2006 S. BAKER AVENUEAddress:
                                        3MName:

HWTS:

                              (909) 930-1585,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS, INC.Entity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              2006 SOUTH BAKER AVENUEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              2006 S BAKER AVEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              CONNIE GALLEGOEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 560-2655,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              2006 S BAKER AVEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              GLORIA FARFAN MARTINEZEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

TC7095824.2s   Page 456

Item E - 1154 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        91761Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        2006 S. BAKER AVENUEFacility Address:
                                        3MFacility Name:
                                        2017-08-24 03:00:23.06300Inactive Date:
                                        2017-05-24 15:33:34.24700Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Not Otherwise SpecifiedNAICS Description:
                                        99999NAICS Code:
                                        2017-05-24 15:33:34.240Create Date:
                                        CAC002911751EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        180Longitude:
                                        -90Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        TEMPORARYFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ST. PAUL, MN 55106City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        900 BUSH AVENUE, BLDG. 21-1E-02Contact Address:
                                        HOWARD WITHAMContact Name:
                                        ST. PAUL, MN 55106Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        900 BUSH AVENUE, BLDG. 21-1E-02Owner Address:
                                        HOWARD WITHAMOwner Name:
                                        ST. PAUL, MN 55106Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        900 BUSH AVENUE, BLDG. 21-1E-02Mailing Address:

FIRE BANN CORP  (Continued) S101591407

PT0037053Permit Number:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPOwner:
FA0013938Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0024500Permit Number:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPOwner:
FA0013938Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

936 ft. Site 6 of 8 in cluster O
0.177 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
861 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE 1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PL    N/A
O125 CA San Bern. Co. PermitENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUP S109934062

TC7095824.2s   Page 457

Item E - 1155 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

09/30/2013Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
EPCRA FACILITYPermit Category:
PT0024501Permit Number:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPOwner:
FA0013938Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUPName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:

ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUP  (Continued) S109934062

                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              SIEGWERK EIC LLCOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              SIEGWERK EIC LLCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                MICHAEL.MICHEL@SIEGWERK.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-519-2403Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEContact Address:
                                                                                MICHAEL MICHELContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000426798EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEHandler Address:
                              SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENTAL INKS & COATINGS LLCHandler Name:
                                                                                20210927Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

936 ft. Site 7 of 8 in cluster O
0.177 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
861 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE 1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACE CAL000426798
O126 RCRA NonGen / NLRSIEGWERK ENVIRONMENTAL INKS & COATINGS LLC 1026490205

TC7095824.2s   Page 458

Item E - 1156 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            515-471-2131Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            DES MOINES, IA 50321Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            3535 SW 56TH STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          SIEGWERK EIC LLCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20211001Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:

SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENTAL INKS & COATINGS LLC  (Continued) 1026490205

TC7095824.2s   Page 459

Item E - 1157 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENTAL INKS & COATINGS LLCHandler Name:
                                                            20170413Receive Date:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENTAL INKS & COATINGS LLCHandler Name:
                                                            20210927Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            515-471-2131Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            DES MOINES, IA 50321Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            3535 SW 56TH STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          SIEGWERK EIC LLCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            515-471-2131Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            DES MOINES, IA 50321Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            3535 SW 56TH STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          SIEGWERK EIC LLCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-519-2403Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          MICHAEL MICHELOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:

SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENTAL INKS & COATINGS LLC  (Continued) 1026490205

TC7095824.2s   Page 460

Item E - 1158 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              PRINTING INK MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              32591NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:

SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENTAL INKS & COATINGS LLC  (Continued) 1026490205

                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099309656Telephone:
                                        MICHAEL MICHELContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1920 QUAKER RIDGE PLACEAddress:
                                        SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENTAL INKS & COATINGS LLCName:

HAZNET:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              8Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              8Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              9999SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              56977Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1987Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                              1920 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
                                              ROYALWOOD FURNITURE INCName:

EMI:

936 ft. Site 8 of 8 in cluster O
0.177 mi. CA HWTS

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
861 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE CA HAZNET1920 QUAKER RIDGE PL    N/A
O127 CA EMIROYALWOOD FURNITURE INC S106838545

TC7095824.2s   Page 461

Item E - 1159 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        US ECOLOGYTrans Name:
                                        NVT330010000TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT TECHNOLOGIESTrans Name:
                                        CAR000183574Trans EPA ID:
                                        016092312JJKManifest ID:
                                        20170712Receipt Date:
                                        7/12/2018 18:30:29Creation Date:
                                        20170703Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000426798Gen EPA ID:
                                        2017Year:

Additional Info:

                                        1.155Tons:
                                        Regeneration, Organics Recovery Ect
                                        H039 - Other Recovery Of Reclamation For Reuse Including AcidDisposal Method:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionCA Waste Code:
                                        NVT330010000TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000426798Gepaid:
                                        2017Year:

                                        1Tons:
                                        Landfill( To Include On-Site Treatment And/Or Stabilization)
                                        H132 - Landfill Or Surface Impoundment That Will Be Closed AsDisposal Method:
                                        181 - Other inorganic solid wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        NVT330010000TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000426798Gepaid:
                                        2017Year:

                                        1.74300Tons:
                                        Regeneration, Organics Recovery Ect
                                        H039 - Other Recovery Of Reclamation For Reuse Including AcidDisposal Method:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionCA Waste Code:
                                        NVT330010000TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000426798Gepaid:
                                        2018Year:

                                        1.50000Tons:
                                        Landfill( To Include On-Site Treatment And/Or Stabilization)
                                        H132 - Landfill Or Surface Impoundment That Will Be Closed AsDisposal Method:
                                        181 - Other inorganic solid wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        NVT330010000TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000426798Gepaid:
                                        2018Year:

                                        1.50000Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        141 - Off-specification, aged or surplus inorganicsCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000520478TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000426798Gepaid:
                                        2019Year:

                                        1920 S. QUAKER RIDGE PLACEMailing Address:

ROYALWOOD FURNITURE INC  (Continued) S106838545

TC7095824.2s   Page 462

Item E - 1160 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

FA0005344Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1920 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
PLASTICS MATERIAL INCName:

08/31/2004Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:
PT0008474Permit Number:
TODD GRECOOwner:
FA0005344Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1920 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
PLASTICS MATERIAL INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        275Waste Quantity:
                                        1.155Quantity Tons:
                                        Regeneration, Organics Recovery Ect
                                        H039 - Other Recovery Of Reclamation For Reuse Including AcidMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        US ECOLOGYTrans Name:
                                        NVT330010000TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT TECHNOLOGIESTrans Name:
                                        CAR000183574Trans EPA ID:
                                        016092312JJKManifest ID:
                                        20170712Receipt Date:
                                        7/12/2018 18:30:29Creation Date:
                                        20170703Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        2000Waste Quantity:
                                        1Quantity Tons:
                                        Landfill( To Include On-Site Treatment And/Or Stabilization)
                                        H132 - Landfill Or Surface Impoundment That Will Be Closed AsMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        181 - Other inorganic solid waste OrganicsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:

ROYALWOOD FURNITURE INC  (Continued) S106838545

TC7095824.2s   Page 463

Item E - 1161 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        91761Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEFacility Address:
                                        SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENTAL INKS & COATINGS LLCFacility Name:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        2017-04-13 16:09:32.16300Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Printing Ink ManufacturingNAICS Description:
                                        32591NAICS Code:
                                        2017-04-13 16:09:32.223Create Date:
                                        CAL000426798EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.614421Longitude:
                                        34.038837Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEContact Address:
                                        MICHAEL MICHELContact Name:
                                        DES MOINES, IA 50321Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        3535 SW 56TH STOwner Address:
                                        SIEGWERK EIC LLCOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        04/13/2017Create Date:
                                        09/27/2021Inactive Date:
                                        CAL000426798EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEAddress:
                                        SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENTAL INKS & COATINGS LLCName:

HWTS:

08/31/2004Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0008475Permit Number:
TODD GRECOOwner:

ROYALWOOD FURNITURE INC  (Continued) S106838545

TC7095824.2s   Page 464

Item E - 1162 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              LARRY RAMONEDAOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              LARRY RAMONEDAOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1936 S. LAKE PL.Mailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                RAMCOSHEETMETAL@VERIZON.NETContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-917-4679Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1936 S. LAKE PL.Contact Address:
                                                                                LARRY RAMONEDAContact Name:
                                                                                CAC003147482EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1936 S. LAKE PL.Handler Address:
                              LARRY RAMONEDAHandler Name:
                                                                                20211109Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

951 ft. Site 2 of 4 in cluster T
0.180 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SW 1936 S. LAKE PL. CAC003147482
T128 RCRA NonGen / NLRLARRY RAMONEDA 1027075727

TC7095824.2s   Page 465

Item E - 1163 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-917-4679Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1936 S. LAKE PL.Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          LARRY RAMONEDAOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-917-4679Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1936 S. LAKE PL.Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          LARRY RAMONEDAOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20211109Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

LARRY RAMONEDA  (Continued) 1027075727

TC7095824.2s   Page 466

Item E - 1164 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              OTHER BUILDING FINISHING CONTRACTORSNAICS Description:
                              238390NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          LARRY RAMONEDAHandler Name:
                                                            20211109Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

LARRY RAMONEDA  (Continued) 1027075727

                              ED KRAGHTOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1936 S LAKE PLMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                PrivateLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-930-5992Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1936 S LAKE PLContact Address:
                                                                                MORGAN BRENTContact Name:
                                                                                CAR000064683EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1936 S LAKE PLHandler Address:
                              KINEMATICS MANUFACTURINGHandler Name:
                                                                                20000119Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-SQG:

951 ft. Site 3 of 4 in cluster T
0.180 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ECHOONTARIO, CA  91761
SW FINDS1936 S LAKE PL CAR000064683
T129 RCRA-SQGKINEMATICS MANUFACTURING 1001959811

TC7095824.2s   Page 467

Item E - 1165 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20021007Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                Not reportedOperator Type:
                              Not reportedOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:

KINEMATICS MANUFACTURING  (Continued) 1001959811

TC7095824.2s   Page 468

Item E - 1166 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource
Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110002932104Registry ID:
FINDS:

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                                                            No NAICS Codes FoundNAICS Codes:
List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          KINEMATICS MANUFACTURINGHandler Name:
                                                            20000119Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-5992Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1936 S LAKE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          ED KRAGHTOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                              IGNITABLE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D001Waste Code:

                              Not DefinedWaste Description:
                              D000Waste Code:

Hazardous Waste Summary:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:

KINEMATICS MANUFACTURING  (Continued) 1001959811

TC7095824.2s   Page 469

Item E - 1167 of 2173

https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110002932104


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                   ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                   1936 S LAKE PLAddress:
                                   KINEMATICS MANUFACTURINGName:
                                   http://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110002932104DFR URL:
                                   110002932104Registry ID:
                                   1001959811Envid:

ECHO:

additional FINDS: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of
RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource

Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110071185502Registry ID:
corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of

KINEMATICS MANUFACTURING  (Continued) 1001959811

                              HENKEL CORPOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1496 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                PrivateLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                GLEN.ATKINSON@US.HENKEL.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-947-2228Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1496 E FRANCIS STContact Address:
                                                                                GLEN S ATKINSONContact Name:
                                                                                CAD982052136EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1496 E FRANCIS STHandler Address:
                              HENKEL ONTARIOHandler Name:
                                                                                20090811Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-SQG:

976 ft. Site 1 of 10 in cluster U
0.185 mi. RI MANIFEST

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ECHOONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW FINDS1496 E. FRANCIS ST. CAD982052136
U130 RCRA-SQGACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY 1000305240

TC7095824.2s   Page 470

Item E - 1168 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4LM4ouLzUMAQ2.FoYeuq59sozn5Uwd3J8AarQHZ2Zx.KBFTY3uXYVWeCv3Ngq9l5nB3JLslvoJn989nTf5YBBQEw8Sd2q4LWL.jMuB2fOopyuIo8kszALUmk2SIAXdQGpAsV.5HFIQ4owYzKeK653TqsG5xS4Ngs8UoLW4Ienio5zS4N.LghMjN3sCozfugl2FYz25UDq9aDAvNQFw28j.RKFpMBK5YTUeO.73OqfD5udAwTsmAoWn4aUnEe5F96ShwMNdDo17hJ.78a74j2atQrX2uFyHfuZ7q4fzLDSMnW3kwobPuep2pZzdlUyH3BBAiCQEo2sq.hmFyx2e8YjCeJZ3PSq2.5AlB9vsLNo4H7Fqnhy5dKBnfwBOdneApJJsP8zV3Tca4SrNF3ccHtUZ7L2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4LM4ouLzUMAQ2.FoYeuq59sozn5Uwd3J8AarQHZ2Zx.KBFTY3uXYVWeCv3Ngq9l5nB3JLslvoJn989nTf5YBBQEw8Sd2q4LWL.jMuB2fOopyuIo8kszALUmk2SIAXdQGpAsV.5HFIQ4owYzKeK653TqsG5xS4Ngs8UoLW4Ienio5zS4N.LghMjN3sCozfugl2FYz25UDq9aDAvNQFw28j.RKFpMBK5YTUeO.73OqfD5udAwTsmAoWn4aUnEe5F96ShwMNdDo17hJ.78a74j2atQrX2uFyHfuZ7q4fzLDSMnW3kwobPuep2pZzdlUyH3BBAiCQEo2sq.hmFyx2e8YjCeJZ3PSq2.5AlB9vsLNo4H7Fqnhy5dKBnfwBOdneApJJsP8zV3Tca4SrNF3ccHtUZ7L2
https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110071185502


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20090814Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                PrivateOperator Type:
                              HENKEL OF AMERICA INCOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:

ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY  (Continued) 1000305240

TC7095824.2s   Page 471

Item E - 1169 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            20080401Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          HENKEL OF AMERICA INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            415-555-1212Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            NOT REQUIRED, ME 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          NOT REQUIREDOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                              MIXTURES.
                              BOTTOMS FROM THE RECOVERY OF THESE SPENT SOLVENTS AND SPENT SOLVENT
                              MORE OF THOSE SOLVENTS LISTED IN F001, F002, F004, AND F005; AND STILL
                              SOLVENTS, AND A TOTAL OF TEN PERCENT OR MORE (BY VOLUME) OF ONE OR
                              CONTAINING, BEFORE USE, ONE OR MORE OF THE ABOVE NONHALOGENATED
                              NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS; AND ALL SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES/BLENDS
                              MIXTURES/BLENDS CONTAINING, BEFORE USE, ONLY THE ABOVE SPENT
                              ALCOHOL, CYCLOHEXANONE, AND METHANOL; ALL SPENT SOLVENT
                              ACETATE, ETHYL BENZENE, ETHYL ETHER, METHYL ISOBUTYL KETONE, N-BUTYL
                              THE FOLLOWING SPENT NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS: XYLENE, ACETONE, ETHYLWaste Description:
                              F003Waste Code:

                              SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES.
                              F005; AND STILL BOTTOMS FROM THE RECOVERY OF THESE SPENT SOLVENTS AND
                              ABOVE HALOGENATED SOLVENTS OR THOSE SOLVENTS LISTED IN F001, F004, AND
                              USE, A TOTAL OF TEN PERCENT OR MORE (BY VOLUME) OF ONE OR MORE OF THE
                              TRICHLOROETHANE; ALL SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES/BLENDS CONTAINING, BEFORE
                              ORTHO-DICHLOROBENZENE, TRICHLOROFLUOROMETHANE, AND 1,1,2,
                              CHLOROBENZENE, 1,1,2-TRICHLORO-1,2,2-TRIFLUOROETHANE,
                              METHYLENE CHLORIDE, TRICHLOROETHYLENE, 1,1,1-TRICHLOROETHANE,
                              THE FOLLOWING SPENT HALOGENATED SOLVENTS: TETRACHLOROETHYLENE,Waste Description:
                              F002Waste Code:

                              METHYL ETHYL KETONEWaste Description:
                              D035Waste Code:

                              SILVERWaste Description:
                              D011Waste Code:

                              IGNITABLE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D001Waste Code:

Hazardous Waste Summary:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:

ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY  (Continued) 1000305240

TC7095824.2s   Page 472

Item E - 1170 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          HENKEL ONTARIOHandler Name:
                                                            20090811Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            CAState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          ACHESON COLLOIDS CO ONTARIOHandler Name:
                                                            19941222Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            800-255-1908Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            PORT HURON, MI 48061-1747Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            PO BOX 611747Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          ACHESON COLLOIDS COOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ROCKY HILL, CT 06067Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            ONE HENKEL WAYOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            20080401Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          HENKEL CORPOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:

ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY  (Continued) 1000305240

TC7095824.2s   Page 473

Item E - 1171 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            20020404Date of Enforcement Action:
                                                            500Enforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            StateViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            DocumentedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            20020321Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            20020313Date Violation was Determined:
                                                            Generators - GeneralViolation Short Description:
                                                            StateAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            YesFound Violation:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              WRITTEN INFORMALEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            NoCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            StateEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            20020313Date of Enforcement Action:
                                                            200Enforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            StateViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            DocumentedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            20020321Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            20020313Date Violation was Determined:
                                                            Generators - GeneralViolation Short Description:
                                                            StateAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            YesFound Violation:

Facility Has Received Notices of Violation:

                              ALL OTHER MISCELLANEOUS CHEMICAL PRODUCT AND PREPARATION MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              325998NAICS Code:

                              PRINTING INK MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              32591NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY  (Continued) 1000305240

TC7095824.2s   Page 474

Item E - 1172 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            20020321Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            YesFound Violation:
                                                            StateEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            20020313Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            20020321Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            YesFound Violation:
                                                            StateEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            20020313Evaluation Date:

Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              Not reportedEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            NoCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            StateEnforcement Responsible Agency:

ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY  (Continued) 1000305240

TC7095824.2s   Page 475

Item E - 1173 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedWaste Code3:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code2:
                                        D011Waste Code1:
                                        Not reportedContainer Type:
                                        0Number Of Containers:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Receipt Date:
                                        NYD980769947Transporter EPAID:
                                        HAZMAT ENV GROUP INCTransporter Name 2:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 Name:
                                        0Item Number:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 Id:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Date:
                                        PWT/Vol Units:
                                        692Qty:
                                        BOLIDEN METECH INCTSDF Name:
                                        RID063890214TSDF Id:
                                        PAINT MATWaste Description:
                                        RIH0017174Manifest Document Number:
                                        8/29/2002GEN Cert Date:
                                        CAD982052136EPA Id:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1496 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        Not reportedName:

RI MANIFEST:

                                   ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                   1496 E. FRANCIS ST.Address:
                                   ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANYName:
                                   http://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110000478206DFR URL:
                                   110000478206Registry ID:
                                   1000305240Envid:

ECHO:

additional FINDS: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of
RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource
transported off-site.
these facilities release directly to air, water, land, or that are
from facilities on the amounts of over 300 listed toxic chemicals that
US EPA TRIS (Toxics Release Inventory System) contains information
facilities.
generators, transporters, and treatment, storage, and disposal
provides California with information on hazardous waste shipments for
California Hazardous Waste Tracking System - Datamart (HWTS-DATAMART)
AIR EMISSIONS CLASSIFICATION UNKNOWN

Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110000478206Registry ID:
FINDS:

ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY  (Continued) 1000305240

TC7095824.2s   Page 476

Item E - 1174 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4UO4bnUFJOvO2HLb9tnyj9VPFMAJRz3UhvLWOdq2haH7gL7E3ez9xwt6j30Iyyoj4O3KGVG0Pyj9kEMf2AxDBbFRIEzVS43rUyPOAR2ekbCSn3b857FffJI32AsvqKO28At0HzbLrq4.E9iOtR95v0y5ojgz4eNV6ePFm4YFM0sADi4KWUeeOHf3pUb7lnvs2plFzqJZh9BCvbwO4a2oDHoWLR3BSF9E8tXz7hCyFkjK0AxaVZtPFR4INMfbA.46bPR3Rzlv1xJUFChqf4FcLh3Wk.uaOdrwqqA4ApUOjO0I3eebuUnid2vGFO5JNl3p4vokOw72a8HMxLcz2cI9rNtyO2wcyd5jIA5ULVcOPKK2EYMpcA8m7snReSz4e4zWUX3h3R6CHL.YWEm2ChdWrqdy2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4UO4bnUFJOvO2HLb9tnyj9VPFMAJRz3UhvLWOdq2haH7gL7E3ez9xwt6j30Iyyoj4O3KGVG0Pyj9kEMf2AxDBbFRIEzVS43rUyPOAR2ekbCSn3b857FffJI32AsvqKO28At0HzbLrq4.E9iOtR95v0y5ojgz4eNV6ePFm4YFM0sADi4KWUeeOHf3pUb7lnvs2plFzqJZh9BCvbwO4a2oDHoWLR3BSF9E8tXz7hCyFkjK0AxaVZtPFR4INMfbA.46bPR3Rzlv1xJUFChqf4FcLh3Wk.uaOdrwqqA4ApUOjO0I3eebuUnid2vGFO5JNl3p4vokOw72a8HMxLcz2cI9rNtyO2wcyd5jIA5ULVcOPKK2EYMpcA8m7snReSz4e4zWUX3h3R6CHL.YWEm2ChdWrqdy2
https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110000478206


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedFee:
                                        Not reportedFacility Receipt Date:
                                        8/29/2002GEN Cert Date:
                                        Not reportedTime Paid:
                                        Not reportedDate Paid:
                                        NYD980769947Transporter EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedBilling Name:
                                        HAZMAT ENV GROUP INCTransporter Name:
                                        0Item Number:
                                        Not reportedTotal Fee:
                                        Not reportedFiling Date:
                                        PWT/Vol Units:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Email:
                                        692Quantity:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Name:
                                        PAINT MATWaste Description:
                                        Not reportedQuarter:
                                        RIH0017174Manifest Docket Number:
                                        CAD982052136EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedYear:
                                        Not reportedCompany Permit Number:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Name 2:
                                        RID063890214TSDF Id:
                                        BOLIDEN METECH INCTSDF Name:
                                        Not reportedFee Exempt Code:
                                        Not reportedComment:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code6:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code5:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code4:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code3:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code2:
                                        D011Waste Code1:
                                        Not reportedContainer Type:
                                        0Number Of Containers:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Receipt Date:

RI MANIFEST:

                                        Not reportedManifest Updated Date:
                                        Not reportedManifest Created Date:
                                        Not reportedFee:
                                        Not reportedFacility Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedPaid Time:
                                        Not reportedPaid Date:
                                        Not reportedBilling Name:
                                        Not reportedTotal Fee:
                                        Not reportedFiling Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Name:
                                        Not reportedQuarter:
                                        Not reportedYear:
                                        Not reportedCompany Permit Number:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Name 2:
                                        Not reportedComment:
                                        Not reportedFee Exempt Code:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code6:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code5:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code4:

ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY  (Continued) 1000305240

TC7095824.2s   Page 477

Item E - 1175 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedFee Exempt Code:
                                        Not reportedComment:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code6:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code5:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code4:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code3:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code2:
                                        D011Waste Code1:
                                        Not reportedContainer Type:
                                        0Number Of Containers:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Receipt Date:

                                        Not reportedManifest Updated Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 ID:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedManifest Created Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedFee:
                                        Not reportedFacility Receipt Date:
                                        4/12/2002GEN Cert Date:
                                        Not reportedTime Paid:
                                        Not reportedDate Paid:
                                        NYD980769947Transporter EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedBilling Name:
                                        HAZMAT ENV GROUP INCTransporter Name:
                                        2Item Number:
                                        Not reportedTotal Fee:
                                        Not reportedFiling Date:
                                        PWT/Vol Units:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Email:
                                        80Quantity:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Name:
                                        FLAM SOLWaste Description:
                                        Not reportedQuarter:
                                        RIH0017165Manifest Docket Number:
                                        CAD982052136EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedYear:
                                        Not reportedCompany Permit Number:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Name 2:
                                        RID063890214TSDF Id:
                                        BOLIDEN METECH INCTSDF Name:
                                        Not reportedFee Exempt Code:
                                        Not reportedComment:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code6:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code5:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code4:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code3:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code2:
                                        D011Waste Code1:
                                        Not reportedContainer Type:
                                        0Number Of Containers:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Receipt Date:

                                        Not reportedManifest Updated Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 ID:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedManifest Created Date:

ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY  (Continued) 1000305240

TC7095824.2s   Page 478

Item E - 1176 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        2Item Number:
                                        Not reportedTotal Fee:
                                        Not reportedFiling Date:
                                        PWT/Vol Units:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Email:
                                        80Quantity:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Name:
                                        FLAM SOLWaste Description:
                                        Not reportedQuarter:
                                        RIH0017165Manifest Docket Number:
                                        CAD982052136EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedYear:
                                        Not reportedCompany Permit Number:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Name 2:
                                        RID063890214TSDF Id:
                                        BOLIDEN METECH INCTSDF Name:
                                        Not reportedFee Exempt Code:
                                        Not reportedComment:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code6:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code5:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code4:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code3:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code2:
                                        D011Waste Code1:
                                        Not reportedContainer Type:
                                        0Number Of Containers:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Receipt Date:

                                        Not reportedManifest Updated Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 ID:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedManifest Created Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedFee:
                                        Not reportedFacility Receipt Date:
                                        8/29/2002GEN Cert Date:
                                        Not reportedTime Paid:
                                        Not reportedDate Paid:
                                        NYD980769947Transporter EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedBilling Name:
                                        HAZMAT ENV GROUP INCTransporter Name:
                                        0Item Number:
                                        Not reportedTotal Fee:
                                        Not reportedFiling Date:
                                        PWT/Vol Units:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Email:
                                        692Quantity:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Name:
                                        PAINT MATWaste Description:
                                        Not reportedQuarter:
                                        RIH0017174Manifest Docket Number:
                                        CAD982052136EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedYear:
                                        Not reportedCompany Permit Number:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Name 2:
                                        RID063890214TSDF Id:
                                        BOLIDEN METECH INCTSDF Name:

ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY  (Continued) 1000305240

TC7095824.2s   Page 479

Item E - 1177 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        0Number Of Containers:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Receipt Date:

                                        Not reportedManifest Updated Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 ID:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedManifest Created Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedFee:
                                        Not reportedFacility Receipt Date:
                                        4/12/2002GEN Cert Date:
                                        Not reportedTime Paid:
                                        Not reportedDate Paid:
                                        NYD980769947Transporter EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedBilling Name:
                                        HAZMAT ENV GROUP INCTransporter Name:
                                        1Item Number:
                                        Not reportedTotal Fee:
                                        Not reportedFiling Date:
                                        PWT/Vol Units:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Email:
                                        1570Quantity:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Name:
                                        PAINT MATWaste Description:
                                        Not reportedQuarter:
                                        RIH0017165Manifest Docket Number:
                                        CAD982052136EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedYear:
                                        Not reportedCompany Permit Number:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Name 2:
                                        RID063890214TSDF Id:
                                        BOLIDEN METECH INCTSDF Name:
                                        Not reportedFee Exempt Code:
                                        Not reportedComment:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code6:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code5:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code4:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code3:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code2:
                                        D011Waste Code1:
                                        Not reportedContainer Type:
                                        0Number Of Containers:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Receipt Date:

                                        Not reportedManifest Updated Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 ID:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedManifest Created Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedFee:
                                        Not reportedFacility Receipt Date:
                                        4/12/2002GEN Cert Date:
                                        Not reportedTime Paid:
                                        Not reportedDate Paid:
                                        NYD980769947Transporter EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedBilling Name:
                                        HAZMAT ENV GROUP INCTransporter Name:

ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY  (Continued) 1000305240

TC7095824.2s   Page 480

Item E - 1178 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedManifest Updated Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 ID:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedManifest Created Date:
                                        Not reportedTransporter 2 Receipt Date:
                                        Not reportedFee:
                                        Not reportedFacility Receipt Date:
                                        4/12/2002GEN Cert Date:
                                        Not reportedTime Paid:
                                        Not reportedDate Paid:
                                        NYD980769947Transporter EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedBilling Name:
                                        HAZMAT ENV GROUP INCTransporter Name:
                                        1Item Number:
                                        Not reportedTotal Fee:
                                        Not reportedFiling Date:
                                        PWT/Vol Units:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Email:
                                        1570Quantity:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Contact Name:
                                        PAINT MATWaste Description:
                                        Not reportedQuarter:
                                        RIH0017165Manifest Docket Number:
                                        CAD982052136EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedYear:
                                        Not reportedCompany Permit Number:
                                        Not reportedTransporter Name 2:
                                        RID063890214TSDF Id:
                                        BOLIDEN METECH INCTSDF Name:
                                        Not reportedFee Exempt Code:
                                        Not reportedComment:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code6:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code5:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code4:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code3:
                                        Not reportedWaste Code2:
                                        D011Waste Code1:
                                        Not reportedContainer Type:

ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY  (Continued) 1000305240

                    Not reportedTSD Date:
                    NCD095119210TSD EPA Id:
                    909-947-2228Contact Phone:
                    Not reportedContact Name:
                    Not reportedMailing City,St,Zip:
                    Not reportedMailing Address:
                    04/29/2008Generator Date:
                    CAD982052136Generator EPA Id:
                    TSD CopyManifest Type:
                    002783606JJKManifest Number:
                    2008Year:

Manifest Details:

976 ft. Site 2 of 10 in cluster U
0.185 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW 1496 EAST FRANCIS STREET    N/A
U131 PA MANIFESTACHESON COLLOIDS CO ONTARIO S110048450

TC7095824.2s   Page 481

Item E - 1179 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    GREENVILLETSD Facility City:
                    251 INDUSTRIAL BLVDTSD Facility Address:
                    METALLIX REFINING INCTSD Facility Name:
                    Not reportedTSD Date:
                    NCD095119210TSD EPA Id:
                    909-947-2228Contact Phone:
                    Not reportedContact Name:
                    Not reportedMailing City,St,Zip:
                    Not reportedMailing Address:
                    04/29/2008Generator Date:
                    CAD982052136Generator EPA Id:
                    TSD CopyManifest Type:
                    002783606JJKManifest Number:
                    2008Year:

                    Not reportedDate TSP Sig:
                    Not reportedTSP EPA Id:
                    Not reportedHandling Code:
                    PoundsUnit:
                    550Waste Quantity:
                    Fiberboard or plastic drums, barrels, kegsContainer Type:
                    15Container Number:
                    D035Waste Number:
                    1Line Number:
                    1Page Number:
                    Not reportedFacility Telephone:
                    NCTSD Facility State:
                    GREENVILLETSD Facility City:
                    251 INDUSTRIAL BLVDTSD Facility Address:
                    METALLIX REFINING INCTSD Facility Name:
                    Not reportedTSD Date:
                    NCD095119210TSD EPA Id:
                    909-947-2228Contact Phone:
                    Not reportedContact Name:
                    Not reportedMailing City,St,Zip:
                    Not reportedMailing Address:
                    04/29/2008Generator Date:
                    CAD982052136Generator EPA Id:
                    TSD CopyManifest Type:
                    002783606JJKManifest Number:
                    2008Year:

                    Not reportedDate TSP Sig:
                    Not reportedTSP EPA Id:
                    Not reportedHandling Code:
                    PoundsUnit:
                    550Waste Quantity:
                    Fiberboard or plastic drums, barrels, kegsContainer Type:
                    15Container Number:
                    D001Waste Number:
                    1Line Number:
                    1Page Number:
                    Not reportedFacility Telephone:
                    NCTSD Facility State:
                    GREENVILLETSD Facility City:
                    251 INDUSTRIAL BLVDTSD Facility Address:
                    METALLIX REFINING INCTSD Facility Name:

ACHESON COLLOIDS CO ONTARIO  (Continued) S110048450

TC7095824.2s   Page 482

Item E - 1180 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    Not reportedDate TSP Sig:
                    Not reportedTSP EPA Id:
                    Not reportedHandling Code:
                    PoundsUnit:
                    550Waste Quantity:
                    Fiberboard or plastic drums, barrels, kegsContainer Type:
                    15Container Number:
                    D011Waste Number:
                    1Line Number:
                    1Page Number:
                    Not reportedFacility Telephone:
                    NCTSD Facility State:

ACHESON COLLOIDS CO ONTARIO  (Continued) S110048450

FA0000242Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1496 E FRANCIS STAddress:
ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC.Name:

02/28/2021Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
EPCRA FACILITYPermit Category:
PT0022246Permit Number:
MICHAEL PATTISONOwner:
FA0000242Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1496 E FRANCIS STAddress:
ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC.Name:

02/28/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0004926Permit Number:
MICHAEL PATTISONOwner:
FA0000242Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1496 E FRANCIS STAddress:
ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC.Name:

02/28/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0004927Permit Number:
MICHAEL PATTISONOwner:
FA0000242Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1496 E FRANCIS STAddress:
ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

976 ft. Site 3 of 10 in cluster U
0.185 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW CA HWTS1496 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
U132 CA San Bern. Co. PermitELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC. S124921312

TC7095824.2s   Page 483

Item E - 1181 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1496 E FRANCIS STFacility Address:
                                        ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INCFacility Name:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        2018-03-19 15:04:59.70700Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        General Automotive RepairNAICS Description:
                                        811111NAICS Code:
                                        2018-03-19 15:04:59.720Create Date:
                                        CAL000434358EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.61989944Longitude:
                                        34.04118079Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        JURUPA VALLEY, CA 91752City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        11398 ANTIGUA DRContact Address:
                                        MICHAEL PATTISONContact Name:
                                        JURUPA VALLEY, CA 91752Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        11398 ANTIGUA DROwner Address:
                                        ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INCOwner Name:
                                        JURUPA VALLEY, CA 91752Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        11398 ANTIGUA DRMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        03/19/2018Create Date:
                                        01/04/2022Inactive Date:
                                        CAL000434358EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1496 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                                        ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INCName:

HWTS:

09/30/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
REGULAR UST ANNUAL INSPECTION (PER TANK)Permit Category:
PT0024279Permit Number:
MICHAEL PATTISONOwner:
FA0000242Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1496 E FRANCIS STAddress:
ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC.Name:

09/30/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
REGULAR UST ANNUAL INSPECTION (PER TANK)Permit Category:
PT0024278Permit Number:
MICHAEL PATTISONOwner:

ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC.  (Continued) S124921312

TC7095824.2s   Page 484

Item E - 1182 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        91761Facility Zip:

ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC.  (Continued) S124921312

04/30/2020Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0032968Permit Number:
MICHAEL PATTISONOwner:
FA0015364Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1478 E FRANCIS ST UNIT BAddress:
ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC.Name:

04/30/2020Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0032970Permit Number:
MICHAEL PATTISONOwner:
FA0015364Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1478 E FRANCIS ST UNIT BAddress:
ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC.Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

976 ft. Site 4 of 10 in cluster U
0.185 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW 1478 E FRANCIS ST UNIT B    N/A
U133 CA San Bern. Co. PermitELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC. S116676329

                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                GINA@ELITEFORKLIFTSERVICE.COMContact Email:
                                                                                866-515-5810Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-510-2242Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1496 E FRANCIS STContact Address:
                                                                                GINA PATTISONContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000434358EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1496 E FRANCIS STHandler Address:
                              ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20180319Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

976 ft. Site 5 of 10 in cluster U
0.185 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW 1496 E FRANCIS ST CAL000434358
U134 RCRA NonGen / NLRELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC 1024865780

TC7095824.2s   Page 485

Item E - 1183 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              GINA PATTISONOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR IOwner Name:
                                                                                JURUPA VALLEY, CA 91752Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                11398 ANTIGUA DRMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:

ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC  (Continued) 1024865780

TC7095824.2s   Page 486

Item E - 1184 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              GENERAL AUTOMOTIVE REPAIRNAICS Description:
                              811111NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INCHandler Name:
                                                            20180319Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-510-2242Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1496 E FRANCIS STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          GINA PATTISONOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-519-9033Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            JURUPA VALLEY, CA 91752Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            11398 ANTIGUA DROwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR IOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180907Handler Date of Last Change:

ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC  (Continued) 1024865780

TC7095824.2s   Page 487

Item E - 1185 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC  (Continued) 1024865780

                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              JAMES SMARGIASSIOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              C&D ZODIAC INC.Owner Name:
                                                                                HUNTINGTON BEACH, CA 92647-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                5701 BOLSA AVE.Mailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                JAMES.SMARGIASSI@ZODIACAEROSPACE.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                714-642-3486Contact Telephone:
                                                                                HUNTINGTON BEACH, CA 92647Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                5701 BOLSA AVE.Contact Address:
                                                                                JAMES SMARGIASSIContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000338243EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-8041Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1940 S QUAKER RIDGE PLHandler Address:
                              ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGEHandler Name:
                                                                                20081125Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

983 ft. Site 1 of 8 in cluster V
0.186 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
859 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE 1940 S QUAKER RIDGE PL CAL000338243
V135 RCRA NonGen / NLRZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE 1024821715

TC7095824.2s   Page 488

Item E - 1186 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            5701 BOLSA AVE.Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JAMES SMARGIASSIOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            714-934-0000Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            HUNTINGTON BEACH, CA 92647-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            5701 BOLSA AVE.Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          C&D ZODIAC INC.Owner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) 1024821715

TC7095824.2s   Page 489

Item E - 1187 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              SCIENCES
                              RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT IN THE PHYSICAL, ENGINEERING, AND LIFENAICS Description:
                              54171NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGEHandler Name:
                                                            20081125Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            714-642-3486Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            HUNTINGTON BEACH, CA 92647Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) 1024821715

                                        0.08400Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000520304TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000338243Gepaid:
                                        2018Year:

                                        5701 BOLSA AVE.Mailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        7146423486Telephone:
                                        JAMES SMARGIASSIContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 926470000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1940 S QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
                                        ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGEName:

HAZNET:

983 ft. Site 2 of 8 in cluster V
0.186 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
859 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA HWTSONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE CA San Bern. Co. Permit1940 S QUAKER RIDGE PL    N/A
V136 CA HAZNETZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 490

Item E - 1188 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAL000338243Gepaid:
                                        2014Year:

                                        0.03Tons:
                                        -Disposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000501510TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000338243Gepaid:
                                        2015Year:

                                        Not reportedTons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        -CA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000501510TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000338243Gepaid:
                                        2015Year:

                                        0.13Tons:
                                        Blending)
                                        H050 - Energy Recovery At This Site--Use As Fuel(Includes On-Site FuelDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        MXC130619001TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000338243Gepaid:
                                        2015Year:

                                        0.085Tons:
                                        Blending)
                                        H050 - Energy Recovery At This Site--Use As Fuel(Includes On-Site FuelDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        MXC130619001TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000338243Gepaid:
                                        2016Year:

                                        0.075Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000501510TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000338243Gepaid:
                                        2016Year:

                                        0.03500Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000520304TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000338243Gepaid:
                                        2018Year:

                                        0.04000Tons:
                                        Blending)
                                        H050 - Energy Recovery At This Site--Use As Fuel(Includes On-Site FuelDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        MXC130619001TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000338243Gepaid:
                                        2018Year:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 491

Item E - 1189 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATIONTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        008838135JJKManifest ID:
                                        20110909Receipt Date:
                                        2/11/2012 20:30:14Creation Date:
                                        20110901Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.126Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATIONTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        008838135JJKManifest ID:
                                        20110909Receipt Date:
                                        2/11/2012 20:30:14Creation Date:
                                        20110901Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000338243Gen EPA ID:
                                        2011Year:

Additional Info:

10 additional CA HAZNET: record(s) in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

                                        0.0036Tons:
                                        H020 - Solvents RecoveryDisposal Method:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        MXC130619001TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000338243Gepaid:
                                        2014Year:

                                        0.08Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsCA Waste Code:
                                        AZR000501510TSD EPA ID:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 492

Item E - 1190 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4UO4bnUFJOvO2HLb9tnyj9VPFMAJRz3UhvLWOdq2haH7gL7E3ez9xwt6j30Iyyoj4O3KGVG0Pyj9kEMf2AxDBbFRIEzVS43rUyPOAR2ekbCSn3b857FffJI32AsvqKO28At0HzbLrq4.E9iOtR95v0y5ojgz4eNV6ePFm4YFM0sADi4KWUeeOHf3pUb7lnvs2plFzqJZh9BCvbwO4a2oDHoWLR3BSF9E8tXz7hCyFkjK0AxaVZtPFR4INMfbA.46bPR3Rzlv1xJUFChqf4FcLh3Wk.uaOdrwqqA4ApUOjO0I3eebuUnid2vGFO5JNlUp4vokOw73a8HMxLcz3cI9rNtyO5wcyd5jIA3ULVcOPKK7EYMpcA8m6snReSz4e8zWUX3h3R8CHL.YWEm3ChdWrqdy2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4UO4bnUFJOvO2HLb9tnyj9VPFMAJRz3UhvLWOdq2haH7gL7E3ez9xwt6j30Iyyoj4O3KGVG0Pyj9kEMf2AxDBbFRIEzVS43rUyPOAR2ekbCSn3b857FffJI32AsvqKO28At0HzbLrq4.E9iOtR95v0y5ojgz4eNV6ePFm4YFM0sADi4KWUeeOHf3pUb7lnvs2plFzqJZh9BCvbwO4a2oDHoWLR3BSF9E8tXz7hCyFkjK0AxaVZtPFR4INMfbA.46bPR3Rzlv1xJUFChqf4FcLh3Wk.uaOdrwqqA4ApUOjO0I3eebuUnid2vGFO5JNlUp4vokOw73a8HMxLcz3cI9rNtyO5wcyd5jIA3ULVcOPKK7EYMpcA8m6snReSz4e8zWUX3h3R8CHL.YWEm3ChdWrqdy2


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL, LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATION INC.Trans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES, INC.Trans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        009498676JJKManifest ID:
                                        20120507Receipt Date:
                                        6/11/2013 22:15:20Creation Date:
                                        20120419Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.126Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL, LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATION INC.Trans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES, INC.Trans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        009498676JJKManifest ID:
                                        20120507Receipt Date:
                                        6/11/2013 22:15:20Creation Date:
                                        20120419Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000338243Gen EPA ID:
                                        2012Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        140Waste Quantity:
                                        0.07Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 493

Item E - 1191 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        160Waste Quantity:
                                        0.08Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATIONTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        012886575JJKManifest ID:
                                        20140416Receipt Date:
                                        8/17/2014 22:15:17Creation Date:
                                        20140403Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        D001Additional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        1Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0036Quantity Tons:
                                        H020 - Solvents RecoveryMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        RECICLADORA TEMARRY DE MEXICO SA DE CVTrans Name:
                                        MXC130619001TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIMSA USA INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000163824Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        012886574JJKManifest ID:
                                        20140411Receipt Date:
                                        9/12/2014 22:15:05Creation Date:
                                        20140403Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000338243Gen EPA ID:
                                        2014Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        95Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0475Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 494

Item E - 1192 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        D001Additional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        150Waste Quantity:
                                        0.075Quantity Tons:
                                        Blending)
                                        H050 - Energy Recovery At This Site--Use As Fuel(Includes On-Site FuelMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        RECICLADORA TEMARRY DE MEXICO SA DE CVTrans Name:
                                        MXC130619001TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIMSA USA INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000163824Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        012886574JJKManifest ID:
                                        20140411Receipt Date:
                                        9/12/2014 22:15:05Creation Date:
                                        20140403Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.05Quantity Tons:
                                        Blending)
                                        H050 - Energy Recovery At This Site--Use As Fuel(Includes On-Site FuelMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        RECICLADORA TEMARRY DE MEXICO SA DE CVTrans Name:
                                        MXC130619001TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIMSA USA INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000163824Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        012886574JJKManifest ID:
                                        20140411Receipt Date:
                                        9/12/2014 22:15:05Creation Date:
                                        20140403Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 495

Item E - 1193 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        20150121Receipt Date:
                                        6/26/2015 22:15:41Creation Date:
                                        20150108Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.05Quantity Tons:
                                        Blending)
                                        H050 - Energy Recovery At This Site--Use As Fuel(Includes On-Site FuelMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        RECICLADORA TEMARRY DE MEXICO SA DE CVTrans Name:
                                        MXC130619001TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIMSA USA INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000163824Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        013713025JJKManifest ID:
                                        20150121Receipt Date:
                                        6/26/2015 22:15:41Creation Date:
                                        20150108Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        Not reportedQuantity Unit:
                                        Not reportedWaste Quantity:
                                        Not reportedQuantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        - Not reportedWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATIONTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        013713024JJKManifest ID:
                                        20150121Receipt Date:
                                        9/22/2015 22:15:09Creation Date:
                                        20150108Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000338243Gen EPA ID:
                                        2015Year:

Additional Info:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 496

Item E - 1194 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        013713024JJKManifest ID:
                                        20150121Receipt Date:
                                        9/22/2015 22:15:09Creation Date:
                                        20150108Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000338243Gen EPA ID:
                                        2016Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        60Waste Quantity:
                                        0.03Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATIONTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        013713024JJKManifest ID:
                                        20150121Receipt Date:
                                        9/22/2015 22:15:09Creation Date:
                                        20150108Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        D001Additional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        160Waste Quantity:
                                        0.08Quantity Tons:
                                        Blending)
                                        H050 - Energy Recovery At This Site--Use As Fuel(Includes On-Site FuelMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        RECICLADORA TEMARRY DE MEXICO SA DE CVTrans Name:
                                        MXC130619001TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIMSA USA INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000163824Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        013713025JJKManifest ID:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 497

Item E - 1195 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        RECICLADORA TEMARRY DE MEXICO SA DE CVTrans Name:
                                        MXC130619001TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIMSA USA INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000163824Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        013713025JJKManifest ID:
                                        20150121Receipt Date:
                                        6/26/2015 22:15:41Creation Date:
                                        20150108Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        100Waste Quantity:
                                        0.05Quantity Tons:
                                        Blending)
                                        H050 - Energy Recovery At This Site--Use As Fuel(Includes On-Site FuelMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        RECICLADORA TEMARRY DE MEXICO SA DE CVTrans Name:
                                        MXC130619001TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIMSA USA INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000163824Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        013713025JJKManifest ID:
                                        20150121Receipt Date:
                                        6/26/2015 22:15:41Creation Date:
                                        20150108Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        Not reportedQuantity Unit:
                                        Not reportedWaste Quantity:
                                        Not reportedQuantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        - Not reportedWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATIONTrans 2 Name:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 498

Item E - 1196 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        5Waste Quantity:
                                        0.021Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATIONTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        011268532JJKManifest ID:
                                        20130501Receipt Date:
                                        9/15/2013 22:15:19Creation Date:
                                        20130418Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000338243Gen EPA ID:
                                        2013Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        60Waste Quantity:
                                        0.03Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATIONTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        013713024JJKManifest ID:
                                        20150121Receipt Date:
                                        9/22/2015 22:15:09Creation Date:
                                        20150108Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        D001Additional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        160Waste Quantity:
                                        0.08Quantity Tons:
                                        Blending)
                                        H050 - Energy Recovery At This Site--Use As Fuel(Includes On-Site FuelMeth Code:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 499

Item E - 1197 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        20130412Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        130Waste Quantity:
                                        0.065Quantity Tons:
                                        Blending)
                                        H050 - Energy Recovery At This Site--Use As Fuel(Includes On-Site FuelMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        181 - Other inorganic solid waste OrganicsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        RECICLADORA TEMARRY DE MEXICO SA DE CVTrans Name:
                                        02-IV-99-10TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIMSA USA INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000163824Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        011268487JJKManifest ID:
                                        20130424Receipt Date:
                                        9/15/2013 22:15:19Creation Date:
                                        20130412Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        D001Additional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        10Waste Quantity:
                                        0.036Quantity Tons:
                                        H020 - Solvents RecoveryMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        RECICLADORA TEMARRY DE MEXICO SA DE CVTrans Name:
                                        02-IV-99-10TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIMSA USA INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000163824Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        011268487JJKManifest ID:
                                        20130424Receipt Date:
                                        9/15/2013 22:15:19Creation Date:
                                        20130412Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 500

Item E - 1198 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

PT0023673Permit Number:
SAFRAN CABIN INC.Owner:
FA0013385Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1940 S QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
SAFRANName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        D001Additional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        110Waste Quantity:
                                        0.055Quantity Tons:
                                        Blending)
                                        H050 - Energy Recovery At This Site--Use As Fuel(Includes On-Site FuelMeth Code:
                                        F003RCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        RECICLADORA TEMARRY DE MEXICO SA DE CVTrans Name:
                                        02-IV-99-10TSDF EPA ID:
                                        TRIMSA USA INCTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAR000163824Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        011268487JJKManifest ID:
                                        20130424Receipt Date:
                                        9/15/2013 22:15:19Creation Date:
                                        20130412Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        130Waste Quantity:
                                        0.065Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        352 - Other organic solidsWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        AA SYDCOL LLCTrans Name:
                                        AZR000501510TSDF EPA ID:
                                        INDUSTRIAL WASTE UTILIZATIONTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD980585293Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES INCTrans Name:
                                        CAR000129759Trans EPA ID:
                                        011268486JJKManifest ID:
                                        20130425Receipt Date:
                                        8/23/2013 22:15:06Creation Date:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 501

Item E - 1199 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        917618041Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1940 S QUAKER RIDGE PLFacility Address:
                                        ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGEFacility Name:
                                        2020-06-30 00:00:00Inactive Date:
                                        2008-11-25 15:11:55.24000Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Sciences
                                        Research and Development in the Physical, Engineering, and LifeNAICS Description:
                                        54171NAICS Code:
                                        2008-11-25 15:11:55.273Create Date:
                                        CAL000338243EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.614076Longitude:
                                        34.038558Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        HUNTINGTON BEACH, CA 92647City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        5701 BOLSA AVE.Contact Address:
                                        JAMES SMARGIASSIContact Name:
                                        HUNTINGTON BEACH, CA 926470000Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        5701 BOLSA AVE.Owner Address:
                                        C&D ZODIAC INC.Owner Name:
                                        HUNTINGTON BEACH, CA 926470000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        5701 BOLSA AVE.Mailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        11/25/2008Create Date:
                                        06/30/2020Inactive Date:
                                        CAL000338243EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1940 S QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
                                        ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGEName:

HWTS:

09/30/2021Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0023674Permit Number:
SAFRAN CABIN INC.Owner:
FA0013385Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1940 S QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
SAFRANName:

09/30/2021Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:

ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE  (Continued) S113154661

TC7095824.2s   Page 502

Item E - 1200 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

04/30/2017Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0035854Permit Number:
GOLD STANDARD SERVICEOwner:
FA0016682Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1492 E FRANCIS ST BAddress:
GOLD STANDARD SERVICEName:

04/30/2017Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0035853Permit Number:
GOLD STANDARD SERVICEOwner:
FA0016682Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1492 E FRANCIS ST BAddress:
GOLD STANDARD SERVICEName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

1001 ft. Site 6 of 10 in cluster U
0.190 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW 1492 E FRANCIS ST B    N/A
U137 CA San Bern. Co. PermitGOLD STANDARD SERVICE S118648367

05/31/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0007447Permit Number:
FUSTON, GEORGE VOwner:
FA0003369Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1950 S LAKE PLAddress:
G & L CABINETSName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

1013 ft. Site 4 of 4 in cluster T
0.192 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
855 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SW 1950 S LAKE PL    N/A
T138 CA San Bern. Co. PermitG & L CABINETS S108747652

                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1927 E CEDAR STHandler Address:
                              NATIONAL TRANSMISSION PRODUCTS LLCHandler Name:
                                                                                20210909Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

1037 ft. Site 4 of 4 in cluster S
0.196 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
853 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1927 E CEDAR ST CAL000465347
S139 RCRA NonGen / NLRNATIONAL TRANSMISSION PRODUCTS LLC 1027091850

TC7095824.2s   Page 503

Item E - 1201 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              CHADD LESTEROperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              NATIONAL TRANSMISSION PRODUCTS LLCOwner Name:
                                                                                MONTEBELLO, CA 90640Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                6909 E WASHINGTON BLVDMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                CHADD.LESTER@NATPRONET.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-443-5920Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1927 E CEDAR STContact Address:
                                                                                CHADD LESTERContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000465347EPA ID:

NATIONAL TRANSMISSION PRODUCTS LLC  (Continued) 1027091850

TC7095824.2s   Page 504

Item E - 1202 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          NATIONAL TRANSMISSION PRODUCTS LLCHandler Name:
                                                            20210909Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            323-562-2111Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            MONTEBELLO, CA 90640Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            6909 E WASHINGTON BLVDOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          NATIONAL TRANSMISSION PRODUCTS LLCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-443-5920Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1927 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          CHADD LESTEROwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20211011Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:

NATIONAL TRANSMISSION PRODUCTS LLC  (Continued) 1027091850

TC7095824.2s   Page 505

Item E - 1203 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              AUTOMOTIVE PARTS AND ACCESSORIES STORESNAICS Description:
                              441310NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            NoElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            NoNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:

NATIONAL TRANSMISSION PRODUCTS LLC  (Continued) 1027091850

CERS:

08/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0008652Permit Number:
ARIEL VERNAOwner:
FA0007335Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1960 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
WORLD MOTORS INCName:

08/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0008651Permit Number:
ARIEL VERNAOwner:
FA0007335Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1960 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
WORLD MOTORS INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10046746CERS ID:
                              86605Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1960 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCName:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

1047 ft. Site 3 of 8 in cluster V
0.198 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
858 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA CERSONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE CA San Bern. Co. Permit1960 QUAKER RIDGE PL    N/A
V140 CA CERS HAZ WASTEWORLD MOTORS INC S109254310

TC7095824.2s   Page 506

Item E - 1204 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers closed when not in active use (CCR 66265.173(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/24/2017. Failure to keep hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              05-26-2015Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste lawfully (CHSC 25154)
                              Returned to compliance on 08/30/2017. Failure to manage hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-24-2017Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Permit (SBCC 23.0602(b)(1))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/14/2016. Failure to obtain a CUPAViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              05-26-2015Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Permit (SBCC 23.0602(b)(1))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/24/2017. Failure to obtain a CUPAViolation Notes:
                              General
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation -Violation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-24-2017Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10046746CERS ID:
                              86605Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1960 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCName:

WORLD MOTORS INC  (Continued) S109254310

TC7095824.2s   Page 507

Item E - 1205 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-24-2017Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Number (CCR 66262.12(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/24/2017. Failure to obtain an EPA IDViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              05-26-2015Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              facility to prevent a fire, spill or release (CCR 66265.31)
                              Returned to compliance on 07/24/2017. Failure to operate and maintainViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              05-26-2015Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              ID Number has been obtained. (CCR 66262.12(a))
                              transport, or offer for transportation a Hazardous Waste unless an EPA
                              Number. A facility or individual shall not treat, store, dispose of,
                              Number (CCR 66262.12(a)) Failure to obtain/maintain an active EPA ID
                              Returned to compliance on 07/24/2017. Failure to obtain an EPA IDViolation Notes:
                              General
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Administration/Documentation -Violation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-24-2017Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 08/30/2017.Violation Notes:
                              business plan is complete, accurate, and up-to-date.
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508.2
                              HSC 6.95 25508.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              05-26-2015Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:

WORLD MOTORS INC  (Continued) S109254310

TC7095824.2s   Page 508

Item E - 1206 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              plan via CERS.
                              inventory item. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Review and certify the business
                              yearly. Also ensure that the federal hazard class is updated for each
                              plan was last updated on 9.22.2017. The plan is required to be updated
                              Returned to compliance on 06/08/2020. OBSERVATION: The CERS businessViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              06-08-2020Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/24/2017. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-24-2017Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Hazardous Materials Handler permit (SBCC 23.0602(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/14/2016. Failure to obtain a CUPAViolation Notes:
                              Business Plan Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.95 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              05-26-2015Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 08/30/2017.Violation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to complete and/or electronically submit a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508(d)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(d) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              05-26-2015Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/24/2017. Failure to complete hazardousViolation Notes:

WORLD MOTORS INC  (Continued) S109254310

TC7095824.2s   Page 509

Item E - 1207 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              CERS ENFORCEMENT PROJECT - ENTER VIOLATIONEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              08-28-2017Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              06-08-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 07/24/2017. Failure to label hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              07-24-2017Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 09/22/2017. NON INSPECTION RELATED VIOLATIONViolation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              08-28-2017Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 08/31/2017.Violation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              07-24-2017Violation Date:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:

WORLD MOTORS INC  (Continued) S109254310

TC7095824.2s   Page 510

Item E - 1208 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              05-26-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1960 QUAKER RIDGE PLSite Address:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              06-08-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              07-24-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              07-24-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              INSPECTION OF WORLD MOTORS INC. IN ONTARIO WITH MARK.Eval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              05-26-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              INSPECTION OF WORLD MOTORS INC. IN ONTARIO WITH MARK.Eval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              05-26-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:

WORLD MOTORS INC  (Continued) S109254310

TC7095824.2s   Page 511

Item E - 1209 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1960 S. QUAKER RIDGE PLACEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              ARIEL VERNAEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1960 SOUTH QUAKER RIDGE PLAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              BIZI STEINEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              05-26-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1960 QUAKER RIDGE PLSite Address:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCSite Name:
                              86605Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:

WORLD MOTORS INC  (Continued) S109254310

TC7095824.2s   Page 512

Item E - 1210 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1960 QUAKER RIDGE PLAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              ARIEL VERNAEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 930-5211,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1960 QUAKERIDGE PLACEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              ARIEL VERNAEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 930-5211,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              ARIEL VERNAEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              OWNER/OPERATOREntity Title:
                              ARIEL VERNAEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 930-5211,Affiliation Phone:

WORLD MOTORS INC  (Continued) S109254310

TC7095824.2s   Page 513

Item E - 1211 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              ARIEL VERNA / OWNEROperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              LUIS VERNAOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-8041Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1960 S QUAKER RIDGE PLMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-930-5211Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-8041Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1960 S QUAKER RIDGE PLContact Address:
                                                                                ARIEL VERNA / OWNERContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000255573EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-8041Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1960 S QUAKER RIDGE PLHandler Address:
                              WORLD MOTORS INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20020712Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

1050 ft. Site 4 of 8 in cluster V
0.199 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SE 1960 S QUAKER RIDGE PL CAL000255573
V141 RCRA NonGen / NLRWORLD MOTORS INC 1024803934

TC7095824.2s   Page 514

Item E - 1212 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-5211Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-8041Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1960 S QUAKER RIDGE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ARIEL VERNA / OWNEROwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-5211Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-8041Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1960 S QUAKER RIDGE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          LUIS VERNAOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

WORLD MOTORS INC  (Continued) 1024803934

TC7095824.2s   Page 515

Item E - 1213 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              USED CAR DEALERSNAICS Description:
                              44112NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          WORLD MOTORS INCHandler Name:
                                                            20020712Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

WORLD MOTORS INC  (Continued) 1024803934

                              EUBANKS ENGINEERING COOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                GARY@EUBANKS.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-483-2498Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-483-2456Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLContact Address:
                                                                                GARY TAYLORContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000447779EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLHandler Address:
                              EUBANKS ENGINEERING CO.Handler Name:
                                                                                20190726Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

1064 ft. Site 5 of 8 in cluster V
0.202 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
861 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE 1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PL CAL000447779
V142 RCRA NonGen / NLREUBANKS ENGINEERING CO. 1025874647

TC7095824.2s   Page 516

Item E - 1214 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20190729Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              GARY TAYLOROperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:

EUBANKS ENGINEERING CO.  (Continued) 1025874647

TC7095824.2s   Page 517

Item E - 1215 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          EUBANKS ENGINEERING CO.Handler Name:
                                                            20190726Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-483-2456Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          EUBANKS ENGINEERING COOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-483-2456Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          GARY TAYLOROwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:

EUBANKS ENGINEERING CO.  (Continued) 1025874647

TC7095824.2s   Page 518

Item E - 1216 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        ActiveStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36NEC008547WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEAddress:
                                        EUBANKS ENGINEERING COMPANYName:

NPDES:

                                        0.01250Tons:
                                        Landfill( To Include On-Site Treatment And/Or Stabilization)
                                        H132 - Landfill Or Surface Impoundment That Will Be Closed AsDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        UTD991301748TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000447779Gepaid:
                                        2019Year:

                                        0.02500Tons:
                                        Landfill( To Include On-Site Treatment And/Or Stabilization)
                                        H132 - Landfill Or Surface Impoundment That Will Be Closed AsDisposal Method:
                                        491 - Unspecified sludge wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD980675276TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000447779Gepaid:
                                        2019Year:

                                        1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9094832456Telephone:
                                        GARY TAYLORContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
                                        EUBANKS ENGINEERING CO.Name:

HAZNET:

CA HWTS
1064 ft. CA CERSSite 6 of 8 in cluster V
0.202 mi. CA CIWQS

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
861 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE CA NPDES1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACE    N/A
V143 CA HAZNETEUBANKS ENGINEERING COMPANY S125544360

TC7095824.2s   Page 519

Item E - 1217 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Industrial - Special Industry Machinery, NECPlace/Project Type:
                                        1921 S Quaker Ridge Place, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        Eubanks Engineering CompanyAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEAddress:
                                        EUBANKS ENGINEERING COMPANYName:

CIWQS:

03/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATOR SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0039992Permit Number:
Eubanks Engineering Co.Owner:
FA0018516Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
EUBANKS ENGINEERING COName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        Eubanks Engineering CompanyDischarge Name:
                                        1921 S Quaker Ridge PlaceDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        02/08/2021Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36NEC008547WDID:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        518114Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        8Region:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        ActiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEAddress:
                                        EUBANKS ENGINEERING COMPANYName:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1921 S Quaker Ridge PlaceOperator Address:
                                        Eubanks Engineering CompanyOperator Name:
                                        02/08/2021Status Date:

EUBANKS ENGINEERING COMPANY  (Continued) S125544360

TC7095824.2s   Page 520

Item E - 1218 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLOwner Address:
                                        EUBANKS ENGINEERING COOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        07/26/2019Create Date:
                                        06/30/2021Inactive Date:
                                        CAL000447779EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
                                        EUBANKS ENGINEERING CO.Name:

HWTS:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1921 S Quaker Ridge PlaceAffiliation Address:
                              OperatorEntity Title:
                              Eubanks Engineering CompanyEntity Name:
                              Owner/OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              Industrial Facility Storm WaterCERS Description:
                              879874CERS ID:
                              581995Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACEAddress:
                              EUBANKS ENGINEERING COMPANYName:

CERS:

                                        -117.61332Longitude:
                                        34.03875Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date:
                                        02/08/2021Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36NEC008547WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        ActiveRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        3559(+)SIC/NAICS:

EUBANKS ENGINEERING COMPANY  (Continued) S125544360

TC7095824.2s   Page 521

Item E - 1219 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        91761Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLFacility Address:
                                        EUBANKS ENGINEERING CO.Facility Name:
                                        Not reportedInactive Date:
                                        2019-07-26 08:54:42.28000Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Other Commercial and Service Industry Machinery ManufacturingNAICS Description:
                                        333319NAICS Code:
                                        2019-07-26 08:54:42.280Create Date:
                                        CAL000447779EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.613521Longitude:
                                        34.038837Latitude:
                                        FEDERALCategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLContact Address:
                                        GARY TAYLORContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner City,State,Zip:

EUBANKS ENGINEERING COMPANY  (Continued) S125544360

FA0011207Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2020 S BAKERAddress:
SOUTH COAST EVSName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0019276Permit Number:
SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLEOwner:
FA0011207Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2020 S BAKERAddress:
SOUTH COAST EVSName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10052467CERS ID:
                              69137Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              2020 S BAKERAddress:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSName:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

1065 ft. Site 1 of 4 in cluster W
0.202 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
851 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA CERSONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE CA San Bern. Co. Permit2020 S BAKER    N/A
W144 CA CERS HAZ WASTESOUTH COAST EVS S108724382

TC7095824.2s   Page 522

Item E - 1220 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Returned to compliance on 02/28/2020. OBSERVATION: The facilityViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              01-09-2020Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10052467CERS ID:
                              69137Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              2020 S BAKERAddress:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSName:

CERS:

05/31/2008Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS WASTE GENERATOR - 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0000333Permit Number:
PIERCE MANUFACTURING INCOwner:
FA0005323Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2020 S BAKER AVEAddress:
PIERCE WESTERN REFURBISHName:

05/31/2008Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEES (W/GEN PRMT)Permit Category:
PT0000332Permit Number:
PIERCE MANUFACTURING INCOwner:
FA0005323Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2020 S BAKER AVEAddress:
PIERCE WESTERN REFURBISHName:

09/30/2013Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
UW HANDLER WITH ANOTHER CUPA PERMITPermit Category:
PT0019277Permit Number:
SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLEOwner:
FA0011207Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2020 S BAKERAddress:
SOUTH COAST EVSName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 11-30 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0019275Permit Number:
SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLEOwner:

SOUTH COAST EVS  (Continued) S108724382

TC7095824.2s   Page 523

Item E - 1221 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              HSC 6.95 25508.1(a)-(f) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-20-2016Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              of inspection.
                              each drum of waste absorbent and waste non metal filters at the time
                              waste non metal filters. CORRECTED ON SITE: Mr. Fred Reinhard closed
                              55-gallon drums of waste absorbent and (1) open 55-gallon drum of
                              Returned to compliance on 01/09/2020. OBSERVATION: Observed (2) openViolation Notes:
                              leak.
                              stored in a manner which may rupture the container or cause it to
                              container holding hazardous waste must not be opened, handled, or
                              storage, except when it is necessary to add or remove waste. (b) A
                              container holding hazardous waste must always be closed during
                              Failure to meet the following container management requirements: (a) AViolation Description:
                              1, Section(s) 265.173
                              40 CFR 1 265.173 - U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, ChapterCitation:
                              01-09-2020Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2))
                              Returned to compliance on 10/01/2013. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-01-2013Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              time exceeded (CCR 66262.34(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 10/03/2013. Hazardous waste accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-01-2013Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              plan has been resubmitted.
                              of Compliance (CofC) to this Division indicating that the cusiness
                              business plan and resubmit via CERS. Submit the completed Certificate
                              ID#10052467. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Review and certify the facility
                              business plan was last submitted via CERS on 1/6/2017. CERS

SOUTH COAST EVS  (Continued) S108724382

TC7095824.2s   Page 524

Item E - 1222 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers closed when not in active use (CCR 66265.173(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 10/03/2013. Failure to keep hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-01-2013Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              label on the drum of waste paint at the time of inspection.
                              CORRECTED ON SITE: Mr. Fred Reinhard placed a complete hazardous waste
                              55-gallon drum of waste paint missing a hazardous waste label.
                              Returned to compliance on 01/09/2020. OBSERVATION: Observed (1)Violation Notes:
                              date.
                              characteristics of the Hazardous Waste, and starting accumulation
                              name and address of the generator, physical and chemical
                              portable tanks with the following requirements: "Hazardous Waste",
                              Failure to properly label hazardous waste accumulation containers andViolation Description:
                              Chapter 12, Section(s) 66262.34(f)
                              22 CCR 12 66262.34(f) - California Code of Regulations, Title 22,Citation:
                              01-09-2020Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 01/06/2017.Violation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              12-20-2016Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 01/06/2017.Violation Notes:
                              requires modification to any portion of the business plan.
                              business name. A substantial change in the handler’s operations that
                              quantities. A change of business address, business ownership, or
                              previously undisclosed hazardous materials at or above reportable
                              quantity of a previously disclosed material. Any handling of a
                              one of the following events: A 100 percent or more increase in the
                              Failure to electronically update business plan within 30 days of anyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508.1(a)-(f)

SOUTH COAST EVS  (Continued) S108724382

TC7095824.2s   Page 525

Item E - 1223 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Returned to compliance on 12/20/2016. Failure to complete hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              12-20-2016Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              inspection.
                              Reinhard closed the drum of used oil filters at the time of
                              55-gallon drum of used oil filters. CORRECTED ON SITE: Mr. Fred
                              Returned to compliance on 01/09/2020. OBSERVATION: Observed (1) openViolation Notes:
                              with the requirements.
                              Failure to properly manage used oil and/or fuel filters in accordanceViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25250.22
                              HSC 6.5 25250.22 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              01-09-2020Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/20/2016. Failure to label hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              12-20-2016Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 10/01/2013. Failure to label hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-01-2013Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2))
                              Returned to compliance on 12/20/2016. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              12-20-2016Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:

SOUTH COAST EVS  (Continued) S108724382

TC7095824.2s   Page 526

Item E - 1224 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              INSPECTION - BPEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              12-20-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTION-SOUTH COASTEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-01-2013Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 10/01/2013.Violation Notes:
                              thresholds quantities of 55 gallons/500 lbs/200 cubic feet.
                              Business Plan when storing hazardous materials at or above the
                              Owner/Operator failed to complete and/or submit a Hazardous MaterialsViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25505(a)
                              HSC 6.95 25505(a) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              10-01-2013Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 12/20/2016.Violation Notes:
                              with the requirements.
                              Failure to properly manage used oil and/or fuel filters in accordanceViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25250.22
                              HSC 6.5 25250.22 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              12-20-2016Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 10/01/2013. Failure to complete hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-01-2013Violation Date:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))

SOUTH COAST EVS  (Continued) S108724382

TC7095824.2s   Page 527

Item E - 1225 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              2020 S BAKERSite Address:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-01-2013Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              2020 S BAKERSite Address:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-SOUTH COASTEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-01-2013Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              01-09-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              01-09-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              INSPECTION - HWEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              12-20-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:

SOUTH COAST EVS  (Continued) S108724382

TC7095824.2s   Page 528

Item E - 1226 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Human Resources / SafetyEntity Title:
                              Tina AguilarEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              12-20-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              2020 S BAKERSite Address:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              12-20-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              2020 S BAKERSite Address:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSSite Name:
                              69137Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-01-2013Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:

SOUTH COAST EVS  (Continued) S108724382

TC7095824.2s   Page 529

Item E - 1227 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              2020 S BAKERAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Kevin NewellEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 930-2278,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              2020 S. BAKERAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLEEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              SOUTH COAST EVSEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 930-2278,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              TINA AGUILAREntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              2020 S BAKERAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              2020 S. BAKER AVEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              TINA AGUILAREntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

SOUTH COAST EVS  (Continued) S108724382

TC7095824.2s   Page 530

Item E - 1228 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (909) 930-2278,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:

SOUTH COAST EVS  (Continued) S108724382

                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              TINA AGUILAROperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              SO COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SVCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                2020 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                TAGUILAR@SOUTHCOASTFIRE.NETContact Email:
                                                                                909-930-5258Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-930-2278Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                2020 S BAKER AVEContact Address:
                                                                                TINA AGUILARContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000317062EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                2020 S BAKER AVEHandler Address:
                              SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SERVICEHandler Name:
                                                                                20070302Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

1065 ft. Site 2 of 4 in cluster W
0.202 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
851 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE 2020 S BAKER AVE CAL000317062
W145 RCRA NonGen / NLRSOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SERVICE 1024816268

TC7095824.2s   Page 531

Item E - 1229 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            2020 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          SO COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SVCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-2278Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            2020 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          TINA AGUILAROwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:

SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SERVICE  (Continued) 1024816268

TC7095824.2s   Page 532

Item E - 1230 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              GENERAL AUTOMOTIVE REPAIRNAICS Description:
                              811111NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SERVICEHandler Name:
                                                            20070302Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-2278Owner/Operator Telephone:

SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SERVICE  (Continued) 1024816268

                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                PrivateLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                800-400-6444Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLContact Address:
                                                                                TIM ENHELDERContact Name:
                                                                                CAR000070482EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLHandler Address:
                              GERBCO INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20000411Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-SQG:

CA HWTS
1084 ft. CA San Bern. Co. PermitSite 7 of 8 in cluster V
0.205 mi. CA HAZNET

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
858 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ECHOONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE FINDS1961 QUAKER RIDGE PL CAR000070482
V146 RCRA-SQGGERBCO INC 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 533

Item E - 1231 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                20021007Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                Not reportedOperator Type:
                              Not reportedOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              C E I GERBCO INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 534

Item E - 1232 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                                                            No NAICS Codes FoundNAICS Codes:
List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GERBCO INCHandler Name:
                                                            20000411Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            800-400-6444Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          C E I GERBCO INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                              TRICHLORETHYLENEWaste Description:
                              D040Waste Code:

                              TETRACHLOROETHYLENEWaste Description:
                              D039Waste Code:

                              BENZENEWaste Description:
                              D018Waste Code:

                              IGNITABLE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D001Waste Code:

Hazardous Waste Summary:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 535

Item E - 1233 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        -CA Waste Code:
                                        CAD981696420TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000070482Gepaid:
                                        2004Year:

                                        0.0504Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        CAT000613927TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000070482Gepaid:
                                        2005Year:

                                        1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099305444Telephone:
                                        ENVIRONMENTAL MGRContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
                                        GERBCO INCName:

HAZNET:

                                   ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                   1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
                                   GERBCO INCName:
                                   http://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110002935290DFR URL:
                                   110002935290Registry ID:
                                   1001967555Envid:

ECHO:

additional FINDS: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of
RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource
facilities.
generators, transporters, and treatment, storage, and disposal
provides California with information on hazardous waste shipments for
California Hazardous Waste Tracking System - Datamart (HWTS-DATAMART)

Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110002935290Registry ID:
FINDS:

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 536

Item E - 1234 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4FR4A6Fk.RRK2nVArp6EV9G8kTn.Ri3qKRLqKqN2vrn9hVRa38PrpmpuL3JVE4wV7p3MaGDj8Ib9vsT0pnEJBQHRdHiOD4U3FPlRhS2dxAuv62f8IbkAI.IA25ZRwhK6iAwZnHFVye4Opr8UpCD5h6E2wV8Y4gHG0V8ZJ4XRTfWnCj4laFaXRME3jaAsQ6Rb2UCkOK.mL9tiRQ4KDw27En4OVfTBj5rDRpJw7yKEsmVBKATLGdI8Cj4CgT3WnTR6QKRx4ite1eZqDLKqE4mlLIoqePuGEqmTNon49xFhIRyq3SZA096Kl26akRE.eF37JR0oKKB2zEnCpVOZ2Z7rcFpI23UQEqiVYUB7AGfS8pQ8i.Tbvn9C900R65i797oTqrtKAJ788LuiquL7rrqnZN7i2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4FR4A6Fk.RRK2nVArp6EV9G8kTn.Ri3qKRLqKqN2vrn9hVRa38PrpmpuL3JVE4wV7p3MaGDj8Ib9vsT0pnEJBQHRdHiOD4U3FPlRhS2dxAuv62f8IbkAI.IA25ZRwhK6iAwZnHFVye4Opr8UpCD5h6E2wV8Y4gHG0V8ZJ4XRTfWnCj4laFaXRME3jaAsQ6Rb2UCkOK.mL9tiRQ4KDw27En4OVfTBj5rDRpJw7yKEsmVBKATLGdI8Cj4CgT3WnTR6QKRx4ite1eZqDLKqE4mlLIoqePuGEqmTNon49xFhIRyq3SZA096Kl26akRE.eF37JR0oKKB2zEnCpVOZ2Z7rcFpI23UQEqiVYUB7AGfS8pQ8i.Tbvn9C900R65i797oTqrtKAJ788LuiquL7rrqnZN7i2
https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110002935290


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        CAT000613927TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000070482Gepaid:
                                        2001Year:

                                        0.627Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080013352TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000070482Gepaid:
                                        2002Year:

                                        0.3024Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        CAT000613927TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000070482Gepaid:
                                        2002Year:

                                        0.171Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD981696420TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000070482Gepaid:
                                        2003Year:

                                        0.2562Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        CAT000613927TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000070482Gepaid:
                                        2003Year:

                                        0.43785Tons:
                                        -Disposal Method:
                                        223 - Unspecified oil-containing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD981696420TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000070482Gepaid:
                                        2004Year:

                                        0.22935Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        223 - Unspecified oil-containing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD981696420TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000070482Gepaid:
                                        2004Year:

                                        0.2142Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        CAT000613927TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000070482Gepaid:
                                        2004Year:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 537

Item E - 1235 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        14Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0588Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20382752Manifest ID:
                                        20001208Receipt Date:
                                        1/24/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20001208Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        6Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0252Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        SCR000074591Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20382751Manifest ID:
                                        20001212Receipt Date:
                                        1/24/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20001208Shipment Date:

                                        CAR000070482Gen EPA ID:
                                        2000Year:

Additional Info:

6 additional CA HAZNET: record(s) in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

                                        0.1932Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 538

Item E - 1236 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=2r2Srv1ySz8KvC2ly31azx23KM28Cr2il18r3PAXaz2rrb1USA7dv21UyP9Cza3lKr4NCG3hln3d3w27rs2zSN11vr8TyB1ozwAWKW6QCg9hlc3K3a5Iam02xK3K3BtNMM2QrT2hS81nvG2OyG1Rzc1pKd2bCGASlI7e3E8NaO6Uxw643A6ZMV1
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=2r2Srv1ySz8KvC2ly31azx23KM28Cr2il18r3PAXaz2rrb1USA7dv21UyP9Cza3lKr4NCG3hln3d3w27rs2zSN11vr8TyB1ozwAWKW6QCg9hlc3K3a5Iam02xK3K3BtNMM2QrT2hS81nvG2OyG1Rzc1pKd2bCGASlI7e3E8NaO6Uxw643A6ZMV1


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        SCR000074591Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20523559Manifest ID:
                                        20000928Receipt Date:
                                        12/13/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000921Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        16Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0672Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        SCR000074591Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20023571Manifest ID:
                                        20000926Receipt Date:
                                        11/14/2000 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20000921Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        46Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1748Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD028277036Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000195716Trans EPA ID:
                                        20170587Manifest ID:
                                        20001130Receipt Date:
                                        3/6/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20001117Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 539

Item E - 1237 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        22188716Manifest ID:
                                        20021002Receipt Date:
                                        2/11/2003 18:31:24Creation Date:
                                        20021002Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        22207256Manifest ID:
                                        20021218Receipt Date:
                                        4/2/2003 18:31:15Creation Date:
                                        20021218Shipment Date:

                                        CAR000070482Gen EPA ID:
                                        2002Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        25Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1042Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D001RCRA Code:
                                        741 - Liquids with halogenated organic compounds > 1000 mg/lWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613976TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 540

Item E - 1238 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        13Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0546Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21738895Manifest ID:
                                        20020709Receipt Date:
                                        2/7/2003 18:31:14Creation Date:
                                        20020709Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.209Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        21805606Manifest ID:
                                        20020801Receipt Date:
                                        3/14/2003 18:31:30Creation Date:
                                        20020730Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 541

Item E - 1239 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21487230Manifest ID:
                                        20020125Receipt Date:
                                        3/7/2002 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20020125Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.209Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        21543621Manifest ID:
                                        20020424Receipt Date:
                                        7/29/2002 18:38:23Creation Date:
                                        20020411Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        13Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0546Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21583106Manifest ID:
                                        20020416Receipt Date:
                                        1/8/2003 18:31:12Creation Date:
                                        20020416Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 542

Item E - 1240 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        23653798Manifest ID:
                                        20050104Receipt Date:
                                        3/16/2005 18:31:03Creation Date:
                                        20050104Shipment Date:

                                        CAR000070482Gen EPA ID:
                                        2005Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.209Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        21283691Manifest ID:
                                        20020219Receipt Date:
                                        7/17/2002 18:32:08Creation Date:
                                        20020121Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        12Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0504Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 543

Item E - 1241 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        0.0588Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21110680Manifest ID:
                                        20010820Receipt Date:
                                        10/3/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010814Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        20Waste Quantity:
                                        0.084Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21372281Manifest ID:
                                        20011031Receipt Date:
                                        1/16/2002 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20011031Shipment Date:

                                        CAR000070482Gen EPA ID:
                                        2001Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        12Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0504Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 544

Item E - 1242 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        20010530Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        16Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0672Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20652245Manifest ID:
                                        20010531Receipt Date:
                                        7/20/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010530Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        50Waste Quantity:
                                        0.19Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD028277036Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        20756106Manifest ID:
                                        20010709Receipt Date:
                                        10/1/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010612Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        14Waste Quantity:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 545

Item E - 1243 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        SCR000074591Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20368006Manifest ID:
                                        20010313Receipt Date:
                                        4/30/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010306Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        10Waste Quantity:
                                        0.042Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20368007Manifest ID:
                                        20010307Receipt Date:
                                        4/30/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010306Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        9Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0378Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20652244Manifest ID:
                                        20010605Receipt Date:
                                        7/30/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 546

Item E - 1244 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        NARCRA Code:
                                        223 - Unspecified oil-containing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        EVERGREEN ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        FRS ENVIRONMENTAL INCTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        23873346Manifest ID:
                                        20040830Receipt Date:
                                        1/6/2005 18:30:52Creation Date:
                                        20040819Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        Not reportedQuantity Unit:
                                        Not reportedWaste Quantity:
                                        Not reportedQuantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        - Not reportedWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        EVERGREEN ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        FRS ENVIRONMENTAL INCTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        23873346Manifest ID:
                                        20040830Receipt Date:
                                        1/6/2005 18:30:52Creation Date:
                                        20040819Shipment Date:

                                        CAR000070482Gen EPA ID:
                                        2004Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        12Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0504Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF Alt EPA ID:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 547

Item E - 1245 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.22935Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        223 - Unspecified oil-containing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        EVERGREEN ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        FRS ENVIRONMENTAL INCTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        23574683Manifest ID:
                                        20040604Receipt Date:
                                        10/15/2004 15:16:06Creation Date:
                                        20040601Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        23508823Manifest ID:
                                        20040726Receipt Date:
                                        11/1/2004 12:36:11Creation Date:
                                        20040726Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.22935Quantity Tons:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 548

Item E - 1246 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAD981696420TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        FRS ENVIRONMENTAL INCTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        22799478Manifest ID:
                                        20020212Receipt Date:
                                        8/20/2004 9:31:41Creation Date:
                                        20040209Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        Not reportedQuantity Unit:
                                        Not reportedWaste Quantity:
                                        Not reportedQuantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        - Not reportedWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        EVERGREEN ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        FRS ENVIRONMENTAL INCTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        22799478Manifest ID:
                                        20020212Receipt Date:
                                        8/20/2004 9:31:41Creation Date:
                                        20040209Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        23476615Manifest ID:
                                        20040421Receipt Date:
                                        10/14/2004 7:49:48Creation Date:
                                        20040421Shipment Date:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 549

Item E - 1247 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        22579526Manifest ID:
                                        20040204Receipt Date:
                                        8/19/2004 11:23:49Creation Date:
                                        20040203Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        25Waste Quantity:
                                        0.10425Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        223 - Unspecified oil-containing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        EVERGREEN ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        FRS ENVIRONMENTAL INCTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        22799478Manifest ID:
                                        Not reportedReceipt Date:
                                        8/31/2004 18:30:52Creation Date:
                                        20040203Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        25Waste Quantity:
                                        0.10425Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        223 - Unspecified oil-containing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        EVERGREEN ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICESTrans Name:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 550

Item E - 1248 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        22874603Manifest ID:
                                        20030821Receipt Date:
                                        7/28/2004 10:48:03Creation Date:
                                        20030821Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        SAFETY-KLEEN SYSTEMS INCTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        22515498Manifest ID:
                                        20031112Receipt Date:
                                        8/20/2004 8:27:39Creation Date:
                                        20031112Shipment Date:

                                        CAR000070482Gen EPA ID:
                                        2003Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 551

Item E - 1249 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        22437669Manifest ID:
                                        20030313Receipt Date:
                                        3/16/2007 18:30:41Creation Date:
                                        20030313Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        10Waste Quantity:
                                        0.042Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        TXR000050930Trans EPA ID:
                                        22674990Manifest ID:
                                        20030530Receipt Date:
                                        6/23/2004 9:59:25Creation Date:
                                        20030530Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        10Waste Quantity:
                                        0.038Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        22700799Manifest ID:
                                        20030703Receipt Date:
                                        7/22/2004 9:56:39Creation Date:
                                        20030702Shipment Date:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 552

Item E - 1250 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

GERBCO INCOwner:
FA0003463Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
GERBCO INCName:

05/31/2006Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL HANDLERPermit Category:
PT0007546Permit Number:
GERBCO INCOwner:
FA0003463Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
GERBCO INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        35Waste Quantity:
                                        0.133Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981696420TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAL000224539Trans EPA ID:
                                        22048602Manifest ID:
                                        20030120Receipt Date:
                                        5/21/2003 18:32:18Creation Date:
                                        20030116Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 553

Item E - 1251 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        917610000Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLFacility Address:
                                        GERBCO INCFacility Name:
                                        2005-06-30 10:00:59.99700Inactive Date:
                                        2001-08-14 00:00:00Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Building Equipment and Other Machinery Installation ContractorsNAICS Description:
                                        23595NAICS Code:
                                        2005-03-04 14:26:28.070Create Date:
                                        CAR000070482EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.613958Longitude:
                                        34.038265Latitude:
                                        FEDERALCategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLContact Address:
                                        ENVIRONMENTAL MGRContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLOwner Address:
                                        GERBCO INCOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        08/14/2001Create Date:
                                        06/30/2005Inactive Date:
                                        CAR000070482EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1961 QUAKER RIDGE PLAddress:
                                        GERBCO INCName:

HWTS:

05/31/2006Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0007547Permit Number:

GERBCO INC  (Continued) 1001967555

TC7095824.2s   Page 554

Item E - 1252 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              LUIS NAVARROOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              PHIL WARRENOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1722 E. GREVILLEA CTMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                LUIS@WARRENPKG.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-923-9310Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-923-0613Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1722 E. GREVILLEA CTContact Address:
                                                                                LUIS NAVARROContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000431263EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1722 E. GREVILLEA CTHandler Address:
                              WARREN PACKAGING INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20171005Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

1091 ft. Site 1 of 2 in cluster X
0.207 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
865 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
East 1722 E. GREVILLEA CT CAL000431263
X147 RCRA NonGen / NLRWARREN PACKAGING INC 1024862740

TC7095824.2s   Page 555

Item E - 1253 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-0613Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1722 E. GREVILLEA CTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          PHIL WARRENOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-923-0613Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1722 E. GREVILLEA CTOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          LUIS NAVARROOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180907Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

WARREN PACKAGING INC  (Continued) 1024862740

TC7095824.2s   Page 556

Item E - 1254 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          WARREN PACKAGING INCHandler Name:
                                                            20171005Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

WARREN PACKAGING INC  (Continued) 1024862740

                                        20170321Shipment Date:

                                        CAC002901342Gen EPA ID:
                                        2017Year:

Additional Info:

                                        0.2Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoDisposal Method:
                                        213 - Hydrocarbon solvents (benzene, hexane, Stoddard, Etc.)CA Waste Code:
                                        CAD044429835TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAC002901342Gepaid:
                                        2017Year:

                                        1722 E. GREVILLEA CTMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099230613Telephone:
                                        MIKE DITTENBERContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1722 E. GREVILLEA CTAddress:
                                        WARREN PACKAGING INC.Name:

HAZNET:

1091 ft. Site 2 of 2 in cluster X
0.207 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
865 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 CA HWTSONTARIO, CA  91761
East CA San Bern. Co. Permit1722 E GREVILLEA CT    N/A
X148 CA HAZNETROTARY CORP S102284894

TC7095824.2s   Page 557

Item E - 1255 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        1722 E. GREVILLEA CTContact Address:
                                        MIKE DITTENBERContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1722 E. GREVILLEA CTOwner Address:
                                        PHIL WARRENOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1722 E. GREVILLEA CTMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        03/14/2017Create Date:
                                        08/04/2017Inactive Date:
                                        CAC002901342EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1722 E. GREVILLEA CTAddress:
                                        WARREN PACKAGING INC.Name:

HWTS:

05/31/2005Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0007961Permit Number:
ROTARY CORPORATIONOwner:
FA0005811Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1722 E GREVILLEA CTAddress:
ROTARY CORPName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        PQuantity Unit:
                                        400Waste Quantity:
                                        0.2Quantity Tons:
                                        Treatment/Reovery (H010-H129) Or (H131-H135)
                                        H141 - Storage, Bulking, And/Or Transfer Off Site--NoMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        213 - Hydrocarbon solvents (benzene, hexane, Stoddard, etc.Waste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        CLEAN HARBORS WILMINGTON LLCTrans Name:
                                        CAD044429835TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        CLEAN HARBORS ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICE INCTrans Name:
                                        MAD039322250Trans EPA ID:
                                        010340977FLEManifest ID:
                                        20170323Receipt Date:
                                        5/4/2018 18:31:04Creation Date:

ROTARY CORP  (Continued) S102284894

TC7095824.2s   Page 558

Item E - 1256 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        91761Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1722 E. GREVILLEA CTFacility Address:
                                        WARREN PACKAGING INC.Facility Name:
                                        2017-08-04 11:46:08.46700Inactive Date:
                                        2017-03-14 09:14:32.44000Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Commercial Flexographic PrintingNAICS Description:
                                        323112NAICS Code:
                                        2017-03-14 09:14:32.430Create Date:
                                        CAC002901342EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.61504Longitude:
                                        34.039992Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        TEMPORARYFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:

ROTARY CORP  (Continued) S102284894

                              at or above reportable quantities.
                              inventory information for all reportable hazardous materials on site
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit hazardous materialViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              01-31-2018Violation Date:
                              California Exotic Novelties, LLCSite Name:
                              424669Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10740796CERS ID:
                              424669Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1455 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              CALIFORNIA EXOTIC NOVELTIES, LLCName:

CERS:

05/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALS SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0035852Permit Number:
Susan ColvinOwner:
FA0016680Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1455 E FRANCIS STAddress:
CALIFORNIA EXOTIC NOVELTIES, LLCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

1101 ft. Site 7 of 10 in cluster U
0.209 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
870 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW CA CERS1455 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
U149 CA San Bern. Co. PermitCALIFORNIA EXOTIC NOVELTIES, LLC S118648366

TC7095824.2s   Page 559

Item E - 1257 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              01-31-2018Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              the locations of the battery acid and propane storage areas.
                              Returned to compliance on 03/12/2018. Update the facility map to showViolation Notes:
                              required content.
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit a site map with allViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              01-31-2018Violation Date:
                              California Exotic Novelties, LLCSite Name:
                              424669Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              submit an updated business plan in CERS within 30 days.
                              error. Guidance documents were provided. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Review and
                              updated chemical description page for the propane to eliminate the
                              inventory was rejected due to a reporting class error. Submit an
                              plan was last submitted on 3/12/2018. The hazardous materials
                              Returned to compliance on 03/09/2021. OBSERVATION: The CERS businessViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508.2
                              HSC 6.95 25508.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              02-22-2021Violation Date:
                              California Exotic Novelties, LLCSite Name:
                              424669Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              number was blank on the emergency response plan. Add 909.386.8425.
                              Returned to compliance on 03/12/2018. The local unified agency phoneViolation Notes:
                              hazardous material.
                              response plan and procedures for a release or threatened release of a
                              Failure to establish and electronically submit an adequate emergencyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              01-31-2018Violation Date:
                              California Exotic Novelties, LLCSite Name:
                              424669Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              batteries needs to be added to the plan inventory.
                              Returned to compliance on 03/12/2018. Sulfuric acid in equipmentViolation Notes:

CALIFORNIA EXOTIC NOVELTIES, LLC  (Continued) S118648366

TC7095824.2s   Page 560

Item E - 1258 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Don MaEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              P.O. Box 50400Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Jared ColvinEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              CFOEntity Title:
                              Don MaEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.622450Longitude:
                              34.042190Latitude:
                              Center of a facility or station.,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10740796Program ID:
                              HMBPEnv Int Type Code:
                              California Exotic Novelties, LLCFacility Name:
                              424669Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              02-22-2021Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:

CALIFORNIA EXOTIC NOVELTIES, LLC  (Continued) S118648366

TC7095824.2s   Page 561

Item E - 1259 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (562) 576-1230,Affiliation Phone:
                              90601Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              WhittierAffiliation City:
                              10005 Mission Mill RoadAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Geary-Telegraph InvestmentEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 495-4951,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Don MaEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              P.O. Box 50400Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              CALIFORNIA EXOTIC NOVELTIES, LLCEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 606-1950,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1455 E FrancisAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Susan ColvinEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:

CALIFORNIA EXOTIC NOVELTIES, LLC  (Continued) S118648366

TC7095824.2s   Page 562

Item E - 1260 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

03/31/2013Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 11-25 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0014406Permit Number:
AMERIWEST INDUSTRIES, INCOwner:
FA0008227Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1455 E FRANCISAddress:
AMERIWEST INDUSTRIES, INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

1101 ft. Site 8 of 10 in cluster U
0.209 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
870 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW 1455 E FRANCIS    N/A
U150 CA San Bern. Co. PermitAMERIWEST INDUSTRIES, INC S106230085

                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              ISMENIA SCHERBAOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              EDWARD CHOUOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-8300Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1440 E CEDAR STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                ICAMPOS@SENTRYTIRE.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-230-5552Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-8300Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1440 E CEDAR STContact Address:
                                                                                ISMENIA SCHERBAContact Name:
                                                                                CAC003065739EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-8300Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1440 E CEDAR STHandler Address:
                              ISMENIA CAMPOSHandler Name:
                                                                                20200506Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

1115 ft.
0.211 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
854 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SW 1440 E CEDAR ST CAC003065739
151 RCRA NonGen / NLRISMENIA CAMPOS 1026165712

TC7095824.2s   Page 563

Item E - 1261 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-8300Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1440 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          EDWARD CHOUOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20200515Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:

ISMENIA CAMPOS  (Continued) 1026165712

TC7095824.2s   Page 564

Item E - 1262 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              TIRE MANUFACTURING (EXCEPT RETREADING)NAICS Description:
                              326211NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          ISMENIA CAMPOSHandler Name:
                                                            20200506Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-230-5552Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-8300Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1440 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ISMENIA SCHERBAOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-230-5552Owner/Operator Telephone:

ISMENIA CAMPOS  (Continued) 1026165712

PT0015988Permit Number:
Jorge NavarroOwner:
FA0009340Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1641 S BAKER AVEAddress:
ONE STOP LABELName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

1130 ft.
0.214 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
880 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
NE CA CERS1641 S BAKER AVE    N/A
152 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONE STOP LABEL S112964263

TC7095824.2s   Page 565

Item E - 1263 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              previously undisclosed hazardous materials at or above reportable
                              quantity of a previously disclosed material. Any handling of a
                              one of the following events: A 100 percent or more increase in the
                              Failure to electronically update business plan within 30 days of anyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508.1(a)-(f)
                              HSC 6.95 25508.1(a)-(f) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              11-14-2019Violation Date:
                              One Stop LabelSite Name:
                              140057Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste lawfully (CHSC 25154)
                              Returned to compliance on 09/26/2013. Failure to manage hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-16-2013Violation Date:
                              One Stop LabelSite Name:
                              140057Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2))
                              Returned to compliance on 10/03/2013. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-16-2013Violation Date:
                              One Stop LabelSite Name:
                              140057Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10467415CERS ID:
                              140057Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1641 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                              ONE STOP LABELName:

CERS:

11/30/2013Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0023859Permit Number:
Jorge NavarroOwner:
FA0009340Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1641 S BAKER AVEAddress:
ONE STOP LABELName:

11/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:

ONE STOP LABEL  (Continued) S112964263

TC7095824.2s   Page 566

Item E - 1264 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              07-16-2013Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 10/03/2013. Failure to label hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-16-2013Violation Date:
                              One Stop LabelSite Name:
                              140057Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              time exceeded (CCR 66262.34(a))
                              Returned to compliance on 09/26/2013. Hazardous waste accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              07-16-2013Violation Date:
                              One Stop LabelSite Name:
                              140057Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              listed.
                              emergency contact numbers (909-386-8425 or 800-33-TOXIC) were not
                              Returned to compliance on 11/16/2016. In the Plans section, the CUPAViolation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              10-06-2016Violation Date:
                              One Stop LabelSite Name:
                              140057Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              hazardous materials inventory via CERS within 30 days.
                              submitted via CERS on 2-20-2019. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit the updated
                              label coating which was not indicated on hazardous materials inventory
                              CERS on 2-20-2019. In addition, observed (1) 55 gallon container of
                              than amount indicated on hazardous material inventory submitted via
                              water based inks which is more than 100 percent increase in quantity
                              inspection, observed approximately (1,300) 1 gallon containers of
                              Returned to compliance on 12/02/2019. OBSERVATION: At time ofViolation Notes:
                              requires modification to any portion of the business plan.
                              business name. A substantial change in the handler’s operations that
                              quantities. A change of business address, business ownership, or

ONE STOP LABEL  (Continued) S112964263

TC7095824.2s   Page 567

Item E - 1265 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              07-16-2013Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1641 S BAKER AVESite Address:
                              One Stop LabelSite Name:
                              140057Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTION-ONE STOP LABELEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              07-16-2013Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              11-14-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              PERMIT INVESTIGATION-ONE STOP LABELEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              10-30-2013Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-ONE STOP LABELEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-06-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-ONE STOP LABELEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:

ONE STOP LABEL  (Continued) S112964263

TC7095824.2s   Page 568

Item E - 1266 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1641 S Baker AveAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Maria NavarroEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 721-5260,Affiliation Phone:
                              91765Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              Diamond BarAffiliation City:
                              2677 Wagon Train LaneAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Maria & Jorge NavarroEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.614770Longitude:
                              34.043730Latitude:
                              Center of a facility or station.,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10467415Program ID:
                              HMBPEnv Int Type Code:
                              One Stop LabelFacility Name:
                              140057Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-06-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1641 S BAKER AVESite Address:
                              One Stop LabelSite Name:
                              140057Site ID:

ONE STOP LABEL  (Continued) S112964263

TC7095824.2s   Page 569

Item E - 1267 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              One Stop LabelEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              PresidentEntity Title:
                              Maria NavarroEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 721-5260,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1641 S. Baker AveAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Jorge NavarroEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Maria NavarroEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 261-9752,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Lance OrtizEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1641 S Baker AveAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:

ONE STOP LABEL  (Continued) S112964263

TC7095824.2s   Page 570

Item E - 1268 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              JOSE RODRIGUEZOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              ALTAQUIP LLCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1961 S QUAKER RIDGE PLMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                LAESTIMATES@ALTAQUIP.COMContact Email:
                                                                                909-930-0702Contact Fax:
                                                                                909-930-0681Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1961 S QUAKER RIDGE PLContact Address:
                                                                                JOSE RODRIGUEZContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000413219EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1961 S QUAKER RIDGE PLHandler Address:
                              ALTAQUIP LLCHandler Name:
                                                                                20151215Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

1163 ft. Site 8 of 8 in cluster V
0.220 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
856 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE 1961 S QUAKER RIDGE PL CAL000413219
V153 RCRA NonGen / NLRALTAQUIP LLC 1024853434

TC7095824.2s   Page 571

Item E - 1269 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-0681Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1961 S QUAKER RIDGE PLOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          JOSE RODRIGUEZOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-930-0681Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            HARRISON, OH 45030Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            100 PRODUCTION DROwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          ALTAQUIP LLCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180906Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

ALTAQUIP LLC  (Continued) 1024853434

TC7095824.2s   Page 572

Item E - 1270 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              OTHER PERSONAL AND HOUSEHOLD GOODS REPAIR AND MAINTENANCENAICS Description:
                              81149NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          ALTAQUIP LLCHandler Name:
                                                            20151215Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

ALTAQUIP LLC  (Continued) 1024853434

                                                                                1516 CEDAR STMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                PrivateLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-923-2053Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1493 E PHILADELPHIAContact Address:
                                                                                ROBERT MCMILLANContact Name:
                                                                                CAD983644774EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1516 CEDAR STHandler Address:
                              PREFERRED BOXES INCHandler Name:
                                                                                19980527Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

CA HWTS
CA CERS

1177 ft. CA HAZNETSite 1 of 2 in cluster Y
0.223 mi. CA EMI

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
849 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ECHOONTARIO, CA  91761
South FINDS1516 CEDAR ST CAD983644774
Y154 RCRA NonGen / NLRPREFERRED PAPERBOX INC 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 573

Item E - 1271 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20020627Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                Not reportedOperator Type:
                              Not reportedOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              ROBERT ZENSOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 574

Item E - 1272 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of
RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource
AIR EMISSIONS CLASSIFICATION UNKNOWN

Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110040972061Registry ID:
FINDS:

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                                                            No NAICS Codes FoundNAICS Codes:
List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          PREFERRED BOXES INCHandler Name:
                                                            19980527Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            714-623-2053Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1516 CEDAROwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          ROBERT ZENSOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 575

Item E - 1273 of 2173

https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110040972061


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                              1999Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                              1516 CEDAR STAddress:
                                              PREFERRED PAPERBOX INCName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              6Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              6Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2652SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              85451Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1998Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                              1516 CEDAR STAddress:
                                              PREFERRED PAPERBOX INCName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              6Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              6Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2652SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              85451Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1997Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                              1516 CEDAR STAddress:
                                              PREFERRED PAPERBOX INCName:

EMI:

                                   ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                   1516 CEDAR STAddress:
                                   PREFERRED PAPERBOX INCName:
                                   http://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110040972061DFR URL:
                                   110040972061Registry ID:
                                   1000818595Envid:

ECHO:

additional FINDS: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 576

Item E - 1274 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4.V4jt.lgVTk2qBjaItVn9VKlaxguv3BRTMfk3P2f8qgEBlS3cqai9Ihy35FVh4nfl3tPVBwKcT9dWasbx0OBFKuxLvHy4Rj.K7VkS28Ajdtt0E8z5l9QgmG20FT24kBIAybq5PB5T4muaYaISG5wCVz4na74EgVTMKtq4XdanAxCk4B8.WRVRI37hj76tRp2AclnpgzW97DTkfkpl2RjqnnBQMBUOaijIbt7FRVWon2dATaVhiK8W4cyaRQxSo6EFuqCv0r1pLBC.RMo4IvMt5f3ouRb3AWPFw4e6..rVRu3mUjcKtwN2kQlUsgRj3PYTjPkEF2tLqWCB982WwaO6I7g2WEVXMnonAGUVh.KKV3CwaNFxebAeFuXDvAe7ePBBCRmCB3TMJPf6Q7.V33mP7y2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4.V4jt.lgVTk2qBjaItVn9VKlaxguv3BRTMfk3P2f8qgEBlS3cqai9Ihy35FVh4nfl3tPVBwKcT9dWasbx0OBFKuxLvHy4Rj.K7VkS28Ajdtt0E8z5l9QgmG20FT24kBIAybq5PB5T4muaYaISG5wCVz4na74EgVTMKtq4XdanAxCk4B8.WRVRI37hj76tRp2AclnpgzW97DTkfkpl2RjqnnBQMBUOaijIbt7FRVWon2dATaVhiK8W4cyaRQxSo6EFuqCv0r1pLBC.RMo4IvMt5f3ouRb3AWPFw4e6..rVRu3mUjcKtwN2kQlUsgRj3PYTjPkEF2tLqWCB982WwaO6I7g2WEVXMnonAGUVh.KKV3CwaNFxebAeFuXDvAe7ePBBCRmCB3TMJPf6Q7.V33mP7y2


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              6Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              6Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2652SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              85451Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              2001Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                              1516 CEDAR STAddress:
                                              PREFERRED PAPERBOX INCName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              6Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              6Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2652SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              85451Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              2000Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                              1516 CEDAR STAddress:
                                              PREFERRED PAPERBOX INCName:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              6Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              6Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              2652SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              85451Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 577

Item E - 1275 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD981402522TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD983644774Gepaid:
                                        1996Year:

                                        0.418Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080031628TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD983644774Gepaid:
                                        1996Year:

                                        0.209Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080013352TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD983644774Gepaid:
                                        1997Year:

                                        0.2293Tons:
                                        T01 - Treatment, TankDisposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD008364432TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD983644774Gepaid:
                                        1997Year:

                                        0.2293Tons:
                                        -Disposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD981402522TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD983644774Gepaid:
                                        1997Year:

                                        0.2293Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        223 - Unspecified oil-containing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080013352TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD983644774Gepaid:
                                        1999Year:

                                        1.386Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080013352TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD983644774Gepaid:
                                        1999Year:

                                        1493 E PHILADELPHIA STMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099232053Telephone:
                                        ROBERT C MCMILLINContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1516 CEDAR STAddress:
                                        PREFERRED BOXES INCName:

HAZNET:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 578

Item E - 1276 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        12/4/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19970514Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.2293Quantity Tons:
                                        T01 - Treatment, TankMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008364432TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        96767839Manifest ID:
                                        19970723Receipt Date:
                                        12/4/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19970716Shipment Date:

                                        CAD983644774Gen EPA ID:
                                        1997Year:

Additional Info:

2 additional CA HAZNET: record(s) in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

                                        0.462Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD000088252TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD983644774Gepaid:
                                        1995Year:

                                        0.418Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilCA Waste Code:
                                        CAT080013352TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD983644774Gepaid:
                                        1996Year:

                                        0.187Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD000088252TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAD983644774Gepaid:
                                        1996Year:

                                        0.4586Tons:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 579

Item E - 1277 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4.V4jt.lgVTk2qBjaItVn9VKlaxguv3BRTMfk3P2f8qgEBlS3cqai9Ihy35FVh4nfl3tPVBwKcT9dWasbx0OBFKuxLvHy4Rj.K7VkS28Ajdtt0E8z5l9QgmG20FT24kBIAybq5PB5T4muaYaISG5wCVz4na74EgVTMKtq4XdanAxCk4B8.WRVRI37hj76tRp2AclnpgzW97DTkfkpl2RjqnnBQMBUOaijIbt7FRVWon2dATaVhiK8W4cyaRQxSo6EFuqCv0r1pLBC.RMo4IvMt5f3ouRb3AWPFw4e6..rVRu3mUjcKtwN2kQlUsgRj3PYTjPkEF2tLqWCB982WwaO6I7g2WEVXMnonAGUVh.KKV3CwaNFxebAeFuXDvAe7ePBBCRmCB3TMJPf6Q7.V33mP7y2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4.V4jt.lgVTk2qBjaItVn9VKlaxguv3BRTMfk3P2f8qgEBlS3cqai9Ihy35FVh4nfl3tPVBwKcT9dWasbx0OBFKuxLvHy4Rj.K7VkS28Ajdtt0E8z5l9QgmG20FT24kBIAybq5PB5T4muaYaISG5wCVz4na74EgVTMKtq4XdanAxCk4B8.WRVRI37hj76tRp2AclnpgzW97DTkfkpl2RjqnnBQMBUOaijIbt7FRVWon2dATaVhiK8W4cyaRQxSo6EFuqCv0r1pLBC.RMo4IvMt5f3ouRb3AWPFw4e6..rVRu3mUjcKtwN2kQlUsgRj3PYTjPkEF2tLqWCB982WwaO6I7g2WEVXMnonAGUVh.KKV3CwaNFxebAeFuXDvAe7ePBBCRmCB3TMJPf6Q7.V33mP7y2


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        99492774Manifest ID:
                                        19990927Receipt Date:
                                        11/22/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19990913Shipment Date:

                                        CAD983644774Gen EPA ID:
                                        1999Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.2293Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        96656629Manifest ID:
                                        Not reportedReceipt Date:
                                        7/17/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19970514Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.209Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        96656628Manifest ID:
                                        19970522Receipt Date:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 580

Item E - 1278 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        0.2293Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        223 - Unspecified oil-containing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        99492601Manifest ID:
                                        19990927Receipt Date:
                                        12/16/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19990907Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        220Waste Quantity:
                                        0.924Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        99492774Manifest ID:
                                        19990927Receipt Date:
                                        11/22/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19990913Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        110Waste Quantity:
                                        0.462Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 581

Item E - 1279 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        110Waste Quantity:
                                        0.418Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080031628TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD028277036Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        96048792Manifest ID:
                                        19961004Receipt Date:
                                        5/20/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19960918Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.2293Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        96048793Manifest ID:
                                        19960923Receipt Date:
                                        5/20/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19960918Shipment Date:

                                        CAD983644774Gen EPA ID:
                                        1996Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 582

Item E - 1280 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        96194484Manifest ID:
                                        19960403Receipt Date:
                                        10/16/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19960326Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.2293Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        96194348Manifest ID:
                                        19960531Receipt Date:
                                        5/20/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19960521Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.187Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        343 - Unspecified organic liquid mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD000088252TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        96194347Manifest ID:
                                        19960524Receipt Date:
                                        5/20/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19960521Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 583

Item E - 1281 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD000088252TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        95381451Manifest ID:
                                        19951204Receipt Date:
                                        7/26/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19951201Shipment Date:

                                        CAD983644774Gen EPA ID:
                                        1995Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.209Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD028277036Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CA0000970392Trans EPA ID:
                                        95796968Manifest ID:
                                        19960105Receipt Date:
                                        10/9/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19960102Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:
                                        0.209Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        221 - Waste oil and mixed oilWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT080013352TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD028277036Trans 2 EPA ID:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 584

Item E - 1282 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        0.198Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        F007RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD983615287Trans EPA ID:
                                        90715534Manifest ID:
                                        19930219Receipt Date:
                                        9/15/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19930215Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        110Waste Quantity:
                                        0.396Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        F001RCRA Code:
                                        214 - Unspecified solvent mixtureWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD008252405TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981376213Trans EPA ID:
                                        92661888Manifest ID:
                                        19930722Receipt Date:
                                        9/11/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19930722Shipment Date:

                                        CAD983644774Gen EPA ID:
                                        1993Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        110Waste Quantity:
                                        0.462Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        135 - Unspecified aqueous solutionWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 585

Item E - 1283 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        -117.618112Longitude:
                                        34.037877Latitude:
                                        FEDERALCategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        INACTIVE PER VQ00 - BMIContact Address:
                                        ROBERT C MCMILLINContact Name:
                                        MISSION VIEJO, CAOwner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        25841 SANTO DR HOUSEOwner Address:
                                        ROBERT D ZENSOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1493 E PHILADELPHIA STMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        08/04/1992Create Date:
                                        06/30/2000Inactive Date:
                                        CAD983644774EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1516 CEDAR STAddress:
                                        PREFERRED BOXES INCName:

HWTS:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              1493 E PHILADELPHIAAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              ROBERT MCMILLANEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              US EPA Air Emission Inventory System (EIS)CERS Description:
                              110040972061CERS ID:
                              487987Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761-5761City,State,Zip:
                              1516 CEDAR STAddress:
                              PREFERRED PAPERBOX INCName:

CERS:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        55Waste Quantity:

PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC  (Continued) 1000818595

TC7095824.2s   Page 586

Item E - 1284 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                Not reportedOperator Type:
                              Not reportedOperator Name:
                                                                                PrivateOwner Type:
                              MERCURY PLASTICS INCOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1740 S SACRAMENTOMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                PrivateLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-947-3993Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1740 S SACRAMENTOContact Address:
                                                                                MICHAEL HUNTContact Name:
                                                                                CAR000094045EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1740 S SACRAMENTOHandler Address:
                              MERCURY PLASTICSHandler Name:
                                                                                20010326Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA-SQG:

CA HWTS
CA CERS

1178 ft. CA San Bern. Co. Permit
0.223 mi. CA HAZNET

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
873 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ECHOONTARIO, CA  91761
ENE FINDS1740 S SACRAMENTO CAR000094045
155 RCRA-SQGMERCURY PLASTICS 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 587

Item E - 1285 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Small Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          MERCURY PLASTICSHandler Name:
                                                            20010326Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            626-961-0165Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            CITY OF INDUSTRY, CA 91746Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            14849 SALT LAKE AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          MERCURY PLASTICS INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                              TETRACHLOROETHYLENEWaste Description:
                              D039Waste Code:

Hazardous Waste Summary:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20021007Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 588

Item E - 1286 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAT000613927TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000094045Gepaid:
                                        2002Year:

                                        14825 SALT LAKE AVENUEMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        6269610165Telephone:
                                        ANNA RABCEHV/CFOContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1740 S SACRAMENTOAddress:
                                        MERCURY PLASTICSName:

HAZNET:

                                   ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                   1740 S SACRAMENTOAddress:
                                   MERCURY PLASTICSName:
                                   http://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-report?fid=110012243777DFR URL:
                                   110012243777Registry ID:
                                   1004677171Envid:

ECHO:

additional FINDS: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

corrective action activities required under RCRA.
program staff to track the notification, permit, compliance, and
and treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. RCRAInfo allows RCRA
events and activities related to facilities that generate, transport,
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) program through the tracking of
RCRAInfo is a national information system that supports the Resource

Environmental Interest/Information System:

Click Here for FRS Facility Detail Report:

          110012243777Registry ID:
FINDS:

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                                                            No NAICS Codes FoundNAICS Codes:
List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 589

Item E - 1287 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=2c2WcU1lWU8VUE2il61kUg2WVc2uE62uie8V6OAGkr2zc61pWO7fUG1klS9jUu37Vp4nEd3Yia3G6i2KcU26WP1xUt8ol811UGAOVi63E29xiP3P6P5Kk605gD35W8tZcn2mc.2iW71zUT2rll1UUp1KV85iEG7YiE8p6K8kkw24gy8cWy2Dcc1
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=2c2WcU1lWU8VUE2il61kUg2WVc2uE62uie8V6OAGkr2zc61pWO7fUG1klS9jUu37Vp4nEd3Yia3G6i2KcU26WP1xUt8ol811UGAOVi63E29xiP3P6P5Kk605gD35W8tZcn2mc.2iW71zUT2rll1UUp1KV85iEG7YiE8p6K8kkw24gy8cWy2Dcc1
https://ofmpub.epa.gov/frs_public2/fii_query_detail.disp_program_facility?p_registry_id=110012243777


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21313916Manifest ID:
                                        20011120Receipt Date:
                                        1/16/2002 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20011120Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        6Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0252Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21327450Manifest ID:
                                        20011217Receipt Date:
                                        2/13/2002 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20011212Shipment Date:

                                        CAR000094045Gen EPA ID:
                                        2001Year:

Additional Info:

                                        0.2982Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        CAT000613893TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000094045Gepaid:
                                        2001Year:

                                        0.3066Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:
                                        CAT000613927TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAR000094045Gepaid:
                                        2001Year:

                                        0.5922Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationDisposal Method:
                                        percent
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with total organic residues less than 10CA Waste Code:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 590

Item E - 1288 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        0.0546Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21456677Manifest ID:
                                        20010926Receipt Date:
                                        12/17/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010926Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        16Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0672Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21386338Manifest ID:
                                        20011106Receipt Date:
                                        12/17/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20011026Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        16Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0672Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 591

Item E - 1289 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        20010710Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        12Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0504Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21105746Manifest ID:
                                        20010803Receipt Date:
                                        10/1/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010802Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        13Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0546Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21115088Manifest ID:
                                        20010910Receipt Date:
                                        10/23/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010906Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        13Waste Quantity:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 592

Item E - 1290 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20642774Manifest ID:
                                        20010529Receipt Date:
                                        7/20/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010518Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        20Waste Quantity:
                                        0.084Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20649188Manifest ID:
                                        20010612Receipt Date:
                                        7/30/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010611Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        16Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0672Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21135701Manifest ID:
                                        20010716Receipt Date:
                                        10/1/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 593

Item E - 1291 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21939179Manifest ID:
                                        20021111Receipt Date:
                                        2/13/2003 18:31:35Creation Date:
                                        20021111Shipment Date:

                                        CAR000094045Gen EPA ID:
                                        2002Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        12Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0504Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        20630407Manifest ID:
                                        20010419Receipt Date:
                                        6/20/2001 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20010418Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        20Waste Quantity:
                                        0.084Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        D039RCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613893TSDF Alt EPA ID:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 594

Item E - 1292 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        22188552Manifest ID:
                                        20020918Receipt Date:
                                        1/27/2003 18:32:25Creation Date:
                                        20020918Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21939179Manifest ID:
                                        20021111Receipt Date:
                                        2/13/2003 18:31:35Creation Date:
                                        20021111Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        13Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0546Quantity Tons:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 595

Item E - 1293 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21594944Manifest ID:
                                        20020530Receipt Date:
                                        1/14/2003 18:31:21Creation Date:
                                        20020530Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21743371Manifest ID:
                                        20020722Receipt Date:
                                        1/21/2003 18:31:48Creation Date:
                                        20020722Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        22188552Manifest ID:
                                        20020918Receipt Date:
                                        1/27/2003 18:32:25Creation Date:
                                        20020918Shipment Date:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 596

Item E - 1294 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        17Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0714Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21579705Manifest ID:
                                        20020404Receipt Date:
                                        7/17/2002 18:34:07Creation Date:
                                        20020404Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        13Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0546Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21579705Manifest ID:
                                        20020404Receipt Date:
                                        7/17/2002 18:34:07Creation Date:
                                        20020404Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        15Waste Quantity:
                                        0.063Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 597

Item E - 1295 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1740 S SACRAMENTO AVEAddress:
MERCURY PLASTICS INC.Name:

09/30/2015Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SM QTY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0028255Permit Number:
Mike ShinozakiOwner:
FA0010587Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1740 S SACRAMENTO AVEAddress:
POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALS SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0018007Permit Number:
Mike ShinozakiOwner:
FA0010587Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1740 S SACRAMENTO AVEAddress:
POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        15Waste Quantity:
                                        0.063Quantity Tons:
                                        H01 - Transfer StationMeth Code:
                                        Not reportedRCRA Code:
                                        134 - Aqueous solution with <10% total organic residuesWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAT000613927TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        SCR000075150Trans EPA ID:
                                        21483369Manifest ID:
                                        20020117Receipt Date:
                                        3/7/2002 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        20020117Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 598

Item E - 1296 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Returned to compliance on 09/04/2015. This facility has not submittedViolation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to complete and/or electronically submit a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508(d)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(d) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              03-13-2015Violation Date:
                              POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCSite Name:
                              144412Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              certificate of compliance within 30 days.
                              Federal Hazard class for each inventory item. Submit a signed
                              alcohol and to add the 55 gallon drum of chlorine. Also update the
                              CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit an updated CERS inventory to remove the
                              "obsolete" Federal hazard class and select from the new options.
                              error on the 2019 CERS submittal. Remove the check mark next to the
                              use. It was also found that there is a Federal Hazard classification
                              uses alcohol as a sanitizer. A 55 gallon drum of chlorine was found in
                              Returned to compliance on 02/05/2021. OBSERVATION: The site no longerViolation Notes:
                              at or above reportable quantities.
                              inventory information for all reportable hazardous materials on site
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit hazardous materialViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(3)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(3) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              01-07-2021Violation Date:
                              POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCSite Name:
                              144412Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10051480CERS ID:
                              144412Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1740 S SACRAMENTO AVEAddress:
                              POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCName:

CERS:

04/30/2003Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0006403Permit Number:
MERCURY PLASTICS INCOwner:
FA0006487Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1740 S SACRAMENTO AVEAddress:
MERCURY PLASTICS INC.Name:

04/30/2003Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEES (W/GEN PRMT)Permit Category:
PT0006410Permit Number:
MERCURY PLASTICS INCOwner:
FA0006487Facility ID:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 599

Item E - 1297 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              HSC 6.95 25508.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              01-07-2021Violation Date:
                              POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCSite Name:
                              144412Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              submitted by this facility is dated 2/28/2013.
                              Returned to compliance on 09/04/2015. The last Business Plan updateViolation Notes:
                              business plan is complete, accurate, and up-to-date.
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508.2
                              HSC 6.95 25508.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              03-13-2015Violation Date:
                              POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCSite Name:
                              144412Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              current Business Plan inventory or are listed in lesser quantities.
                              observed on site during the inspection that are not listed in the most
                              Returned to compliance on 09/04/2015. Hazardous materials wereViolation Notes:
                              business name.
                              quantities. A change of business address, business ownership, or
                              previously undisclosed hazardous materials at or above reportable
                              quantity of a previously disclosed material. Any handling of a
                              one of the following events: A 100 percent or more increase in the
                              Failure to electronically update business plan within 30 days of anyViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508.1(a)-(e)
                              HSC 6.95 25508.1(a)-(e) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              03-13-2015Violation Date:
                              POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCSite Name:
                              144412Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              number must be updated to 909-386-8425.
                              not list the correct emergency contact number for the local CUPA; the
                              area, and any adjacent streets. Also, the emergency response plan does
                              does not show North orientation, the emergency evacuation staging
                              Returned to compliance on 02/25/2019. The site map submitted in CERSViolation Notes:
                              quantities.
                              storing/handling a hazardous material at or above reportable
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit a business plan whenViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              04-05-2018Violation Date:
                              POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCSite Name:
                              144412Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              the Business Plan elements into CERS.

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 600

Item E - 1298 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE GENERATOR INSPECTION-POPLAEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              03-13-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              01-07-2021Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-POPLAEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              03-13-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              01-07-2021Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE HANDLER INSPECTION-POPLAEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-05-2018Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              CERS within 30 days.
                              annually before March 1. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit an annual update to
                              plan was last updated on 2/15/2019. The plan is required to be updated
                              Returned to compliance on 02/05/2021. OBSERVATION: The CERS businessViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              business plan is complete and accurate on or before the annual due
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508.2

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 601

Item E - 1299 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 720-1788,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              MIKE SHINOZAKIEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Miki AkimotoEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1740 S. Sacramento Ave.Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              MIKI AKIMOTOEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.613876Longitude:
                              34.041862Latitude:
                              Unknown,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10051480Program ID:
                              HMBPEnv Int Type Code:
                              POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCFacility Name:
                              144412Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              03-13-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1740 S SACRAMENTO AVESite Address:
                              POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCSite Name:
                              144412Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 602

Item E - 1300 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1740 S. Sacramento Ave.Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mike ShinozakiEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              POPLA INTERNATIONAL, INCEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 720-1788,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1740 S. Sacramento Ave.Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              MIKE SHINOZAKIEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Miki AkimotoEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1740 S. Sacramento Ave.Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

TC7095824.2s   Page 603

Item E - 1301 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        -117.613146Longitude:
                                        34.042376Latitude:
                                        FEDERALCategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        CITY OF INDUSTRY, CA 917460000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        Not reportedContact Address:
                                        ANNA RABCEHV/CFOContact Name:
                                        CITY OF INDUSTRY, CA 917460000Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        14825 SALT LAKE AVENUEOwner Address:
                                        MERCURY PLASTICS INCOwner Name:
                                        CITY OF INDUSTRY, CA 917460000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        14825 SALT LAKE AVENUEMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        04/03/2001Create Date:
                                        06/30/2003Inactive Date:
                                        CAR000094045EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1740 S SACRAMENTOAddress:
                                        MERCURY PLASTICSName:

HWTS:

                              (909) 923-6899,Affiliation Phone:

MERCURY PLASTICS  (Continued) 1004677171

                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                SAFETY@SUNCOAST-PT.COMContact Email:
                                                                                281-754-4745Contact Fax:
                                                                                281-668-1872Contact Telephone:
                                                                                HOUSTON, TX 77060Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                509 N SAM HOUSTON PKWY E STE 400Contact Address:
                                                                                DAVID RODRIGUEZContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000224045EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761-5761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1528 E CEDAR STHandler Address:
                              SUNCOAST POST-TENSION, LTD.Handler Name:
                                                                                20010330Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

1203 ft. Site 2 of 2 in cluster Y
0.228 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
850 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
South 1528 E CEDAR ST CAL000224045
Y156 RCRA NonGen / NLRSUNCOAST POST-TENSION, LTD. 1024801024

TC7095824.2s   Page 604

Item E - 1302 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20180905Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              DAVID RODRIGUEZOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              SUNCOAST POST-TENSION, LTDOwner Name:
                                                                                HOUSTON, TX 77060-4130Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                509 N SAM HOUSTON PKWY EMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:

SUNCOAST POST-TENSION, LTD.  (Continued) 1024801024

TC7095824.2s   Page 605

Item E - 1303 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              POWER AND COMMUNICATION TRANSMISSION LINE CONSTRUCTIONNAICS Description:
                              23492NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          SUNCOAST POST-TENSION, LTD.Handler Name:
                                                            20010330Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            281-668-1872Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            HOUSTON, TX 77060Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            509 N SAM HOUSTON PKWY E STE 400Owner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          DAVID RODRIGUEZOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-673-0490Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761-5761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1528 E CEDAR STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          SUNCOAST POST-TENSION, LTDOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:

SUNCOAST POST-TENSION, LTD.  (Continued) 1024801024

TC7095824.2s   Page 606

Item E - 1304 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              SCOTT BOURNIVALOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              WEG ELECTRIC CORP.Owner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1450 E FRANCIS STREET UNIT AMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                SBOURNIVAL@WEG.NETContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                678-512-8360Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1450 E FRANCIS STREET UNIT AContact Address:
                                                                                SCOTT BOURNIVALContact Name:
                                                                                CAC003031933EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1450 E FRANCIS STREET UNIT AHandler Address:
                              WEG ELECTRIC CORP.Handler Name:
                                                                                20190830Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

1263 ft. Site 9 of 10 in cluster U
0.239 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW 1450 E FRANCIS STREET UNIT A CAC003031933
U157 RCRA NonGen / NLRWEG ELECTRIC CORP. 1025851803

TC7095824.2s   Page 607

Item E - 1305 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            678-512-8360Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1450 E FRANCIS STREET UNIT AOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          WEG ELECTRIC CORP.Owner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            678-512-8360Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1450 E FRANCIS STREET UNIT AOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          SCOTT BOURNIVALOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20190910Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:

WEG ELECTRIC CORP.  (Continued) 1025851803

TC7095824.2s   Page 608

Item E - 1306 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              ALL OTHER WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICESNAICS Description:
                              56299NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          WEG ELECTRIC CORP.Handler Name:
                                                            20190830Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

WEG ELECTRIC CORP.  (Continued) 1025851803

1450 E FRANCIS STAddress:
AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTS, INC.Name:

09/30/2010Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0022134Permit Number:
MENGDELI USA, LLCOwner:
FA0012697Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1450 E FRANCIS STAddress:
MENGDELI USA, LLC MDL POWERSPORTSName:

09/30/2010Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CONDITIONALLY EXEMPT SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0022135Permit Number:
MENGDELI USA, LLCOwner:
FA0012697Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1450 E FRANCIS STAddress:
MENGDELI USA, LLC MDL POWERSPORTSName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

1263 ft. Site 10 of 10 in cluster U
0.239 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW 1450 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
U158 CA San Bern. Co. PermitMENGDELI USA, LLC MDL POWERSPORTS S104767986

TC7095824.2s   Page 609

Item E - 1307 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

08/31/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 11-25 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0013076Permit Number:
AQUARIUS BRANDS, INC.Owner:
FA0007610Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1450 E FRANCIS STAddress:
AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTS, INC.Name:

08/31/2009Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0013077Permit Number:
AQUARIUS BRANDS, INC.Owner:
FA0007610Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:

MENGDELI USA, LLC MDL POWERSPORTS  (Continued) S104767986

10/31/2015Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1-3 CHEMICALS SPECIALPermit Category:
PT0026366Permit Number:
DARRAS FREIGHT SERVICES INCOwner:
FA0015126Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2050 S BAKER AVEAddress:
DARRAS FREIGHT SERVICES INCName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

1263 ft. Site 3 of 4 in cluster W
0.239 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
849 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE 2050 S BAKER AVE    N/A
W159 CA San Bern. Co. PermitDARRAS FREIGHT SERVICES INC S114401459

                                                                                DAMIAN@DYNAMICSPS.COMContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                909-459-0080Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                2049 S BAKER AVEContact Address:
                                                                                DAMIAN HOBSONContact Name:
                                                                                CAL000442047EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                2049 S BAKER AVEHandler Address:
                              DYNAMIC SUPPLY INCHandler Name:
                                                                                20181226Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

1294 ft. Site 4 of 4 in cluster W
0.245 mi.

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
850 ft.

 

1/8-1/4 ONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE 2049 S BAKER AVE CAL000442047
W160 RCRA NonGen / NLRDYNAMIC SUPPLY INC 1024873396

TC7095824.2s   Page 610

Item E - 1308 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                N/AGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                N/AHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                NoSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                NoCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                YesUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                OtherOperator Type:
                              DAMIAN HOBSONOperator Name:
                                                                                OtherOwner Type:
                              GERALD SHIRLEYOwner Name:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                2049 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Handler ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                Not reportedLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:

DYNAMIC SUPPLY INC  (Continued) 1024873396

TC7095824.2s   Page 611

Item E - 1309 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          DYNAMIC SUPPLY INCHandler Name:
                                                            20181226Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-261-9225Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            2049 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          GERALD SHIRLEYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-459-0080Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            2049 S BAKER AVEOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            OtherLegal Status:
          DAMIAN HOBSONOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                NoManifest Broker:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20190222Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:

DYNAMIC SUPPLY INC  (Continued) 1024873396

TC7095824.2s   Page 612

Item E - 1310 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            No Evaluations FoundEvaluations:
Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            No Violations FoundViolations:
Facility Has Received Notices of Violations:

                              PRINTING INK MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              325910NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

DYNAMIC SUPPLY INC  (Continued) 1024873396

                                                  Not reportedFacility Contact:
                                                  Not reportedOperator:
                                                  Not reportedSoil Qualifies:
                                                  Not reportedGW Qualifies:
                                                  10/23/1996Enter Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Post Remedial Action Monitoring:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remedial Action Underway:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remediation Plan Submitted:
                                                  Not reportedDate Pollution Characterization Began:
                                                  Not reportedDate Prelim Assessment Workplan Submitted:
                                                  7/18/1997Close Date:
                                                  Not reportedEnforcement Date:
                                                  9/19/1996Discover Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Preliminary Assessment Began:
                                                  9/19/1996Date Confirmation of Leak Began:
                                                  10/23/1996Enter Date:
                                                  9/19/1996How Stopped Date:
                                                  T0607100427Global ID:
                                                  UNKLeak Source:
                                                  UNKLeak Cause:
                                                  Not reportedHow Stopped:
                                                  Tank ClosureHow Discovered:
                                                  Not reportedFunding:
                                                  CLOSEnf Type:
                                                  Not reportedCross Street:
                                                  Not reportedAbate Method:
                                                  Not reportedQty Leaked:
                                                  GasolineSubstance:
                                                  Soil onlyCase Type:
                                                  96051Local Case Num:
                                                  083602902TCase Number:
                                                  Case ClosedFacility Status:
                                                  Santa Ana RegionRegional Board:
                                                  San BernardinoCounty:
                                                  8Region:
                                                  ONTARIOCity:
                                                  1408 FRANCIS STAddress:
                                                  ONTARIO FIRE STATION #3Name:

LUST REG 8:

1524 ft. CA CERSSite 1 of 3 in cluster Z
0.289 mi. CA HIST CORTESE

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/4-1/2 CA FID USTONTARIO, CA  91761
West CA SWEEPS UST1408 FRANCIS ST    N/A
Z161 CA LUSTONTARIO FIRE STATION #3 1000155454

TC7095824.2s   Page 613

Item E - 1311 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

          4000Capacity:
          Not reportedTank Status:
          36-000-023339-000003SWRCB Tank Id:
          Not reportedOwner Tank Id:
          Not reportedCreated Date:
          Not reportedAction Date:
          Not reportedReferral Date:
          44-020778Board Of Equalization:
          Not reportedNumber:
          23339Comp Number:
          Not reportedStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
          ONTARIO FIRE DEPARTMENTName:

          4Number Of Tanks:
          DIESELContent:
          PRODUCTSTG:
          M.V. FUELTank Use:
          Not reportedActive Date:
          4000Capacity:
          Not reportedTank Status:
          36-000-023339-000002SWRCB Tank Id:
          Not reportedOwner Tank Id:
          Not reportedCreated Date:
          Not reportedAction Date:
          Not reportedReferral Date:
          44-020778Board Of Equalization:
          Not reportedNumber:
          23339Comp Number:
          Not reportedStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
          ONTARIO FIRE DEPARTMENTName:

SWEEPS UST:

Not reportedSummary:
                                                  Not reportedWork Suspended:
                                                  Not reportedCleanup Fund Id:
                                                  Not reportedPriority:
                                                  Not reportedBeneficial:
                                                  UPPER SANTA ANA VALLHydr Basin #:
                                                  36000LLocal Agency:
                                                  Local AgencyLead Agency:
                                                  CB5Staff Initials:
                                                  VJJStaff:
                                                  *MTBE Class:
                                                  MTBE Detected. Site tested for MTBE & MTBE detectedMTBE Tested:
                                                  1MTBE Fuel:
                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE Soil:
                                                  2MTBE Concentration:
                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE GW:
                                                  Not reportedMTBE Date:
                                                  -117.6238717Longitude:
                                                  34.0411108Latitude:
                                                  LUSTOversite Program:
                                                  Not reportedInterim:

ONTARIO FIRE STATION #3  (Continued) 1000155454

TC7095824.2s   Page 614

Item E - 1312 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

          1Owner Tank Id:
          02-29-88Created Date:
          09-04-91Action Date:
          09-04-91Referral Date:
          44-020778Board Of Equalization:
          4Number:
          23339Comp Number:
          ActiveStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
          ONTARIO FIRE DEPARTMENTName:

          Not reportedNumber Of Tanks:
          DIESELContent:
          PRODUCTSTG:
          M.V. FUELTank Use:
          Not reportedActive Date:
          6000Capacity:
          Not reportedTank Status:
          36-000-023339-000005SWRCB Tank Id:
          Not reportedOwner Tank Id:
          Not reportedCreated Date:
          Not reportedAction Date:
          Not reportedReferral Date:
          44-020778Board Of Equalization:
          Not reportedNumber:
          23339Comp Number:
          Not reportedStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
          ONTARIO FIRE DEPARTMENTName:

          Not reportedNumber Of Tanks:
          DIESELContent:
          PRODUCTSTG:
          M.V. FUELTank Use:
          Not reportedActive Date:
          6000Capacity:
          Not reportedTank Status:
          36-000-023339-000004SWRCB Tank Id:
          Not reportedOwner Tank Id:
          Not reportedCreated Date:
          Not reportedAction Date:
          Not reportedReferral Date:
          44-020778Board Of Equalization:
          Not reportedNumber:
          23339Comp Number:
          Not reportedStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
          ONTARIO FIRE DEPARTMENTName:

          Not reportedNumber Of Tanks:
          DIESELContent:
          PRODUCTSTG:
          M.V. FUELTank Use:
          Not reportedActive Date:

ONTARIO FIRE STATION #3  (Continued) 1000155454

TC7095824.2s   Page 615

Item E - 1313 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

     Not reportedMail To:
     7149864579Facility Phone:
     Not reportedSIC Code:
     Not reportedCortese Code:
     00023339Regulated ID:
     UTNKARegulated By:
     36002648Facility ID:

CA FID UST:

          Not reportedNumber Of Tanks:
          REG UNLEADEDContent:
          PSTG:
          M.V. FUELTank Use:
          08-26-88Active Date:
          1000Capacity:
          ATank Status:
          36-000-023339-000007SWRCB Tank Id:
          6-FD3Owner Tank Id:
          02-29-88Created Date:
          09-04-91Action Date:
          09-04-91Referral Date:
          44-020778Board Of Equalization:
          4Number:
          23339Comp Number:
          ActiveStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
          ONTARIO FIRE DEPARTMENTName:

          Not reportedNumber Of Tanks:
          DIESELContent:
          PSTG:
          M.V. FUELTank Use:
          08-26-88Active Date:
          1000Capacity:
          ATank Status:
          36-000-023339-000006SWRCB Tank Id:
          5-FD3Owner Tank Id:
          02-29-88Created Date:
          09-04-91Action Date:
          09-04-91Referral Date:
          44-020778Board Of Equalization:
          4Number:
          23339Comp Number:
          ActiveStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
          ONTARIO FIRE DEPARTMENTName:

          3Number Of Tanks:
          Not reportedContent:
          PSTG:
          UNKNOWNTank Use:
          08-26-88Active Date:
          1Capacity:
          ATank Status:
          36-000-023339-000001SWRCB Tank Id:

ONTARIO FIRE STATION #3  (Continued) 1000155454

TC7095824.2s   Page 616

Item E - 1314 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              US EPA Air Emission Inventory System (EIS)CERS Description:
                              110020814127CERS ID:
                              481718Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1408 FRANCIS ST.Address:
                              MONITORS LOCATED AT THE REAR OF THE FIRE STATION.Name:

CERS:

                    083602902TReg Id:
                    LTNKAReg By:
                    36Facility County Code:
                    CORTESERegion:
                    ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                    1408edr_fadd1:
                    ONTARIO FIRE STATION #3edr_fname:

HIST CORTESE:

     ActiveStatus:
     Not reportedComments:
     Not reportedEPA ID:
     Not reportedNPDES Number:
     Not reportedDUNs Number:
     Not reportedContact Phone:
     Not reportedContact:
     ONTARIO 91761Mailing City,St,Zip:
     Not reportedMailing Address 2:
     1408 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:

ONTARIO FIRE STATION #3  (Continued) 1000155454

Click here to access the California GeoTracker records for this facility:

                              Not reportedSite History:
                              Tetrachloroethylene (PCE), Waste Oil / Motor / Hydraulic / LubricatingPotential Contaminants of Concern:
                              SoilPotential Media Affected:
                              Not reportedFile Location:
                              SLT8R048RB Case Number:
                              Not reportedLocal Agency:
                              Not reportedCase Worker:
                              Cleanup Program SiteCase Type:
                              -117.623272Longitude:
                              34.041205Latitude:
                              Not reportedLead Agency Case Number:
                              SANTA ANA RWQCB (REGION 8)Lead Agency:
                              SLT8R0483932Global Id:
                              07/20/2010Status Date:
                              Completed - Case ClosedFacility Status:
                              STATERegion:
                              ONTARIO, CACity,State,Zip:
                              1408 EAST FRANCISAddress:
                              ONTARIO CITY FIRE DEPARTMENTName:

CPS-SLIC:

1524 ft. Site 2 of 3 in cluster Z
0.289 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/4-1/2 ONTARIO, CA  
West CA CERS1408 EAST FRANCIS    N/A
Z162 CA CPS-SLICONTARIO CITY FIRE DEPARTMENT S106486922

TC7095824.2s   Page 617

Item E - 1315 of 2173

http://www.web.edrnet.com/ordering/switchboard/redirect.aspx?s=GRR_CA_SLIC_ST&global_id=SLT8R0483932


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Cleanup Program SiteCERS Description:
                              SLT8R0483932CERS ID:
                              235167Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CACity,State,Zip:
                              1408 EAST FRANCISAddress:
                              ONTARIO CITY FIRE DEPARTMENTName:

CERS:

ONTARIO CITY FIRE DEPARTMENT  (Continued) S106486922

                         ENFORCEMENTAction Type:
                         T0607100427Global Id:

LUST:

                         9517824903Phone Number:
                         valerie.jahn-bull@waterboards.ca.govEmail:
                         RIVERSIDECity:
                         3737 MAIN STREET, SUITE 500Address:
                         SANTA ANA RWQCB (REGION 8)Organization Name:
                         VALERIE JAHN-BULLContact Name:
                         Regional Board CaseworkerContact Type:
                         T0607100427Global Id:

                         Not reportedPhone Number:
                         cbrundage@sbcfire.orgEmail:
                         SAN BERNARDINOCity:
                         620 S. E STREETAddress:
                         SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYOrganization Name:
                         CURTIS BRUNDAGEContact Name:
                         Local Agency CaseworkerContact Type:
                         T0607100427Global Id:

LUST:

                              Not reportedSite History:
                              GasolinePotential Contaminants of Concern:
                              SoilPotential Media Affect:
                              96051Local Case Number:
                              Local AgencyFile Location:
                              SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYLocal Agency:
                              083602902TRB Case Number:
                              CBCase Worker:
                              07/18/1997Status Date:
                              Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                              -117.6237918Longitude:
                              34.0411826Latitude:
                              T0607100427Global Id:
                              http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?global_id=T0607100427Geo Track:
                              LUST Cleanup SiteCase Type:
                              SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYLead Agency:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              ONTARIO FIRE STATION #3Name:

LUST:

1524 ft. CA CERSSite 3 of 3 in cluster Z
0.289 mi. CA San Bern. Co. Permit

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
869 ft.

 

1/4-1/2 CA CorteseONTARIO, CA  91761
West CA CPS-SLIC1408 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
Z163 CA LUSTHHW SATELLITE ONTARIO S103986224

TC7095824.2s   Page 618

Item E - 1316 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ONTARIO FIRE STATION #3Name:
CORTESE:

          Not reportedThomas Bros Code:
          Not reportedLocation Code:
          Regional BoardLead Agency:
          TPH, PCESubstance:
          Kamron Saremi, Tel 909-782-4303, SLICStaff:
          ClosedFacility Status:
          SoilType:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1408 E FRANCISAddress:
          ONTARIO FIRE DEPTName:

SLIC REG 8:

                         07/18/1997Status Date:
                         Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                         T0607100427Global Id:

                         09/19/1996Status Date:
                         Open - Site AssessmentStatus:
                         T0607100427Global Id:

                         09/19/1996Status Date:
                         Open - Case Begin DateStatus:
                         T0607100427Global Id:

LUST:

                         Leak DiscoveryAction:
                         09/19/1996Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100427Global Id:

                         Closure/No Further Action LetterAction:
                         06/19/1997Date:
                         ENFORCEMENTAction Type:
                         T0607100427Global Id:

                         Leak StoppedAction:
                         09/19/1996Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100427Global Id:

                         ExcavationAction:
                         09/19/1996Date:
                         REMEDIATIONAction Type:
                         T0607100427Global Id:

                         Leak ReportedAction:
                         09/20/1996Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100427Global Id:

                         Closure/No Further Action LetterAction:
                         07/18/1997Date:

HHW SATELLITE ONTARIO  (Continued) S103986224

TC7095824.2s   Page 619

Item E - 1317 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

12/31/2004Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
PBR - HHW ANNUAL FEEPermit Category:
PT0008371Permit Number:
HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTEOwner:
FA0002305Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
HHW SATELLITE ONTARIOName:

12/31/2005Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
UW HANDLER WITH ANOTHER CUPA PERMITPermit Category:
PT0016787Permit Number:
HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTEOwner:
FA0002305Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
HHW SATELLITE ONTARIOName:

12/31/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEES (W/GEN PRMT)Permit Category:
PT0008365Permit Number:
HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTEOwner:
FA0002305Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
HHW SATELLITE ONTARIOName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                              Active OpenFile Name:
                              Not reportedWaste Management Uit Name:
                              Not reportedSolid Waste Id No:
                              Not reportedWID Id:
                              Not reportedRegion 2:
                              Not reportedEffective Date:
                              Not reportedWaste Discharge System No:
                              Not reportedOrder No:
                              activeFlag:
                              Not reportedSwat R:
                              Not reportedEnf Type:
                              Not reportedOwner:
                              Not reportedLongitude:
                              Not reportedLatitude:
                              Not reportedSite Code:
                              Not reportedStatus Date:
                              COMPLETED - CASE CLOSEDCleanup Status:
                              LUST CLEANUP SITESite/Facility Type:
                              T0607100427Global ID:
                              Not reportedEnvirostor Id:
                              CORTESERegion:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:

HHW SATELLITE ONTARIO  (Continued) S103986224

TC7095824.2s   Page 620

Item E - 1318 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              9517824903,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              RIVERSIDEAffiliation City:
                              3737 MAIN STREET, SUITE 500Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              VALERIE JAHN-BULL - SANTA ANA RWQCB (REGION 8)Entity Name:
                              Regional Board CaseworkerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              SAN BERNARDINOAffiliation City:
                              620 S. E STREETAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              CURTIS BRUNDAGE - SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYEntity Name:
                              Local Agency CaseworkerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              Leaking Underground Storage Tank Cleanup SiteCERS Description:
                              T0607100427CERS ID:
                              187527Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              ONTARIO FIRE STATION #3Name:

CERS:

12/31/2004Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS WASTE GENERATOR - 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0008366Permit Number:
HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTEOwner:
FA0002305Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1408 E FRANCIS STAddress:
HHW SATELLITE ONTARIOName:

HHW SATELLITE ONTARIO  (Continued) S103986224

                              Not reportedContact Name:
                              ELECTRIC UTILITYOther Type:
                              OtherFacility Type:
                              00000022196Facility ID:
                              STATERegion:
                              Not reportedURL:
                              Not reportedFile Number:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1351 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              ONTARIO SERVICE CENTERName:

HIST UST:

1889 ft. Site 1 of 2 in cluster AA
0.358 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
873 ft.

 

1/4-1/2 ONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW CA Cortese1351 E FRANCIS ST    N/A
AA164 CA HIST USTONTARIO SERVICE CENTER U001570056

TC7095824.2s   Page 621

Item E - 1319 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Active OpenFile Name:
                              Not reportedWaste Management Uit Name:
                              Not reportedSolid Waste Id No:
                              Not reportedWID Id:
                              Not reportedRegion 2:
                              Not reportedEffective Date:
                              Not reportedWaste Discharge System No:
                              Not reportedOrder No:
                              activeFlag:
                              Not reportedSwat R:
                              Not reportedEnf Type:
                              Not reportedOwner:
                              Not reportedLongitude:
                              Not reportedLatitude:
                              Not reportedSite Code:
                              Not reportedStatus Date:
                              COMPLETED - CASE CLOSEDCleanup Status:
                              LUST CLEANUP SITESite/Facility Type:
                              T0607100036Global ID:
                              Not reportedEnvirostor Id:
                              CORTESERegion:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1351 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              ONTARIO SERVICE CENTERName:

CORTESE:

                              Stock InventorLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              UNLEADEDType of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00010000Tank Capacity:
                              Not reportedYear Installed:
                              230Container Num:
                              001Tank Num:

                              0001Total Tanks:
                              ROSEMEAD, CA 91770Owner City,St,Zip:
                              2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUEOwner Address:
                              SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON CO.Owner Name:
                              8185721801Telephone:

ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER  (Continued) U001570056

                              http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?global_id=T0607100036Geo Track:
                              LUST Cleanup SiteCase Type:
                              SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYLead Agency:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1351 E FRANCIS STAddress:
                              ONTARIO SERVICE CENTERName:

LUST:

CA CIWQS
CA NPDES

CA HIST CORTESE
1889 ft. CA CHMIRSSite 2 of 2 in cluster AA
0.358 mi. CA FID UST

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
873 ft.

 

1/4-1/2 CA HIST USTONTARIO, CA  91761
WNW CA SWEEPS UST1351 FRANCIS ST    N/A
AA165 CA LUSTONTARIO SERVICE CENTER S101618972

TC7095824.2s   Page 622

Item E - 1320 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                  ONTARIO SERVICE CENTERName:
LUST REG 8:

                         11/14/1986Status Date:
                         Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                         T0607100036Global Id:

                         07/01/1986Status Date:
                         Open - Site AssessmentStatus:
                         T0607100036Global Id:

                         05/27/1986Status Date:
                         Open - Case Begin DateStatus:
                         T0607100036Global Id:

LUST:

                         Leak DiscoveryAction:
                         05/27/1986Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100036Global Id:

                         Leak ReportedAction:
                         06/04/1986Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100036Global Id:

                         Closure/No Further Action LetterAction:
                         11/14/1986Date:
                         ENFORCEMENTAction Type:
                         T0607100036Global Id:

LUST:

                         Not reportedPhone Number:
                         patricia.hannon@waterboards.ca.govEmail:
                         RIVERSIDECity:
                         3737 MAIN STREET, SUITE 500Address:
                         SANTA ANA RWQCB (REGION 8)Organization Name:
                         PATRICIA HANNONContact Name:
                         Regional Board CaseworkerContact Type:
                         T0607100036Global Id:

LUST:

                              Not reportedSite History:
                              GasolinePotential Contaminants of Concern:
                              SoilPotential Media Affect:
                              87023Local Case Number:
                              Local AgencyFile Location:
                              Not reportedLocal Agency:
                              083600303TRB Case Number:
                              Not reportedCase Worker:
                              11/14/1986Status Date:
                              Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                              -117.624973Longitude:
                              34.042633Latitude:
                              T0607100036Global Id:

ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER  (Continued) S101618972

TC7095824.2s   Page 623

Item E - 1321 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                  Not reportedWork Suspended:
                                                  Not reportedCleanup Fund Id:
                                                  Not reportedPriority:
                                                  Not reportedBeneficial:
                                                  UPPER SANTA ANA VALLHydr Basin #:
                                                  36000LLocal Agency:
                                                  Local AgencyLead Agency:
                                                  RR1Staff Initials:
                                                  PAHStaff:
                                                  *MTBE Class:
                                                  Site NOT Tested for MTBE.Includes Unknown and Not Analyzed.MTBE Tested:
                                                  1MTBE Fuel:
                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE Soil:
                                                  0MTBE Concentration:
                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE GW:
                                                  Not reportedMTBE Date:
                                                  -117.6250397Longitude:
                                                  34.0413398Latitude:
                                                  LUSTOversite Program:
                                                  Not reportedInterim:
                                                  Not reportedFacility Contact:
                                                  Not reportedOperator:
                                                  Not reportedSoil Qualifies:
                                                  Not reportedGW Qualifies:
                                                  Not reportedEnter Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Post Remedial Action Monitoring:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remedial Action Underway:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remediation Plan Submitted:
                                                  7/1/1986Date Pollution Characterization Began:
                                                  Not reportedDate Prelim Assessment Workplan Submitted:
                                                  11/14/1986Close Date:
                                                  Not reportedEnforcement Date:
                                                  5/27/1986Discover Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Preliminary Assessment Began:
                                                  Not reportedDate Confirmation of Leak Began:
                                                  Not reportedEnter Date:
                                                  Not reportedHow Stopped Date:
                                                  T0607100036Global ID:
                                                  TankLeak Source:
                                                  UNKLeak Cause:
                                                  Not reportedHow Stopped:
                                                  Tank ClosureHow Discovered:
                                                  Not reportedFunding:
                                                  CLOSEnf Type:
                                                  PARCOCross Street:
                                                  Not reportedAbate Method:
                                                  Not reportedQty Leaked:
                                                  Unleaded GasolineSubstance:
                                                  Soil onlyCase Type:
                                                  87023Local Case Num:
                                                  083600303TCase Number:
                                                  Case ClosedFacility Status:
                                                  Santa Ana RegionRegional Board:
                                                  San BernardinoCounty:
                                                  8Region:
                                                  ONTARIOCity:
                                                  1351 FRANCIS STAddress:

ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER  (Continued) S101618972

TC7095824.2s   Page 624

Item E - 1322 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedOwner Name:
                              Not reportedTelephone:
                              Not reportedContact Name:
                              Not reportedOther Type:
                              Not reportedFacility Type:
                              Not reportedFacility ID:
                              Not reportedRegion:
                              http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/ustpdfs/pdf/0002A6C9.pdfURL:
                              0002A6C9File Number:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1351 E FRANCISAddress:
                              ONTARIO SERVICES CENTERName:

HIST UST:

          Not reportedNumber Of Tanks:
          WASTE OILContent:
          WSTG:
          OILTank Use:
          07-01-85Active Date:
          Not reportedCapacity:
          ATank Status:
          36-000-066320-000002SWRCB Tank Id:
          459Owner Tank Id:
          02-29-88Created Date:
          09-04-91Action Date:
          09-04-91Referral Date:
          44-020770Board Of Equalization:
          9Number:
          66320Comp Number:
          ActiveStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1351 E FRANCISAddress:
          ONTARIO SERVICE CENTERName:

          2Number Of Tanks:
          DIESELContent:
          PSTG:
          M.V. FUELTank Use:
          07-01-85Active Date:
          10000Capacity:
          ATank Status:
          36-000-066320-000001SWRCB Tank Id:
          458Owner Tank Id:
          02-29-88Created Date:
          09-04-91Action Date:
          09-04-91Referral Date:
          44-020770Board Of Equalization:
          9Number:
          66320Comp Number:
          ActiveStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1351 E FRANCISAddress:
          ONTARIO SERVICE CENTERName:

SWEEPS UST:

Not reportedSummary:

ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER  (Continued) S101618972

TC7095824.2s   Page 625

Item E - 1323 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

     Not reportedNPDES Number:
     Not reportedDUNs Number:
     Not reportedContact Phone:
     Not reportedContact:
     ONTARIO 91761Mailing City,St,Zip:
     Not reportedMailing Address 2:
     P O BOXMailing Address:
     Not reportedMail To:
     8185721801Facility Phone:
     Not reportedSIC Code:
     Not reportedCortese Code:
     00022196Regulated ID:
     UTNKARegulated By:
     36003050Facility ID:

     ActiveStatus:
     Not reportedComments:
     Not reportedEPA ID:
     Not reportedNPDES Number:
     Not reportedDUNs Number:
     Not reportedContact Phone:
     Not reportedContact:
     ONTARIO 91761Mailing City,St,Zip:
     Not reportedMailing Address 2:
     1351 E FRANCIS STMailing Address:
     Not reportedMail To:
     Not reportedFacility Phone:
     Not reportedSIC Code:
     Not reportedCortese Code:
     Not reportedRegulated ID:
     UTNKARegulated By:
     36003050Facility ID:

CA FID UST:

Click here for Geo Tracker PDF:

                              Not reportedLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              Not reportedTank Used for:
                              Not reportedTank Capacity:
                              Not reportedYear Installed:
                              Not reportedContainer Num:
                              Not reportedTank Num:

                              Not reportedLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              Not reportedTank Used for:
                              Not reportedTank Capacity:
                              Not reportedYear Installed:
                              Not reportedContainer Num:
                              Not reportedTank Num:

                              Not reportedTotal Tanks:
                              Not reportedOwner City,St,Zip:
                              Not reportedOwner Address:

ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER  (Continued) S101618972

TC7095824.2s   Page 626

Item E - 1324 of 2173

http://www.web.edrnet.com/ordering/switchboard/redirect.aspx?s=GRR_CA_HISTUST_PDF&img_id=0002A6AA


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                             NoWaterway:
                                             NoWaterway Involved:
                                             Not reportedFacility Telephone:
                                             Not reportedReport Date:
                                             Not reportedReporting Officer Name/ID:
                                             Not reportedCompany Name:
                                             Not reportedCA DOT PUC/ICC Number:
                                             Not reportedVehicle Id Number:
                                             Not reportedVehicle State:
                                             Not reportedVehicle License Number:
                                             Not reportedVehicle Make/year:
                                             Not reportedOthers Number Of Fatalities:
                                             Not reportedOthers Number Of Injuries:
                                             Not reportedOthers Number Of Decontaminated:
                                             Not reportedResponding Agency Personel # Of Fatalities:
                                             Not reportedResponding Agency Personel # Of Injuries:
                                             Not reportedResp Agncy Personel # Of Decontaminated:
                                             Not reportedMore Than Two Substances Involved?:
                                             Not reportedProperty Management:
                                             Not reportedEstimated Temperature:
                                             Not reportedSurrounding Area:
                                             Not reportedTime Completed:
                                             Not reportedTime Notified:
                                             Not reportedAgency Incident Number:
                                             Not reportedAgency Id Number:
                                             Not reportedProperty Use:
                                             Not reportedDate Completed:
                                             Not reportedOES Time:
                                             Not reportedOES Date:
                                             08/20/2014OES notification:
                                             4-4670OES Incident Number:
                                             ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                         1351 EAST FRANCIS STREETAddress:
                                             Not reportedName:

CHMIRS:

     ActiveStatus:
     Not reportedComments:
     Not reportedEPA ID:
     Not reportedNPDES Number:
     Not reportedDUNs Number:
     Not reportedContact Phone:
     Not reportedContact:
     ONTARIO 91761Mailing City,St,Zip:
     Not reportedMailing Address 2:
     1351 E FRANCISMailing Address:
     Not reportedMail To:
     8183021801Facility Phone:
     Not reportedSIC Code:
     Not reportedCortese Code:
     00066320Regulated ID:
     UTNKARegulated By:
     36003050Facility ID:

     ActiveStatus:
     Not reportedComments:
     Not reportedEPA ID:

ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER  (Continued) S101618972

TC7095824.2s   Page 627

Item E - 1325 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1351 EAST FRANCIS STREETAddress:
                                        ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER PAVINGName:

NPDES:

                    083600303TReg Id:
                    LTNKAReg By:
                    36Facility County Code:
                    CORTESERegion:
                    ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                    1351 FRANCISedr_fadd1:
                    ONTARIO SERVICE CENTERedr_fname:

HIST CORTESE:

                                             be provided.
                                             if natural gas is being released. An update will
                                             an underground pipe during an excavation. Unknown
                                             Caller states a contracter came in contact withDescription:
                                             Not reportedComments:
                                             NoFatals:
                                             Human ErrorInjuries:
                                             NoEvacs:
                                             No#3 Vessel >= 300 Tons:
                                             No#2 Vessel >= 300 Tons:
                                             No#1 Vessel >= 300 Tons:
                                             No#3 Pipeline:
                                             No#2 Pipeline:
                                             No#1 Pipeline:
                                             Not reportedNumber of Fatalities:
                                             Not reportedNumber of Injuries:
                                             Not reportedEvacuations:
                                             Not reportedSubstance #3:
                                             Not reportedSubstance #2:
                                             Not reportedUnknown:
                                             N/AQuantity Released:
                                             Threathened Release of Natural GasSubstance:
                                             Not reportedE Date:
                                             NoSite Type:
                                             UnknownContained:
                                             Not reportedAmount:
                                             Not reportedAdmin Agency:
                                             8/20/2014Incident Date:
                                             Southern California EdisonAgency:
                                             2014Year:
                                             1040Date/Time:
                                             Not reportedOther:
                                             N/AMeasure:
                                             VAPORType:
                                             Not reportedOther:
                                             Not reportedMeasure:
                                             Not reportedType:
                                             Not reportedWhat Happened:
                                             Not reportedContainment:
                                             NoCleanup By:
                                             OtherSpill Site:

ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER  (Continued) S101618972

TC7095824.2s   Page 628

Item E - 1326 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER PAVINGName:

                                        91770Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        RosemeadOperator City:
                                        2244 Walnut Grove Ave GO 1 Quad 2COperator Address:
                                        Southern California EdisonOperator Name:
                                        06/14/2013Status Date:
                                        ExpiredStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        ConstructionRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36W001152WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1351 EAST FRANCIS STREETAddress:
                                        ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER PAVINGName:

                                        91770Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        RosemeadOperator City:
                                        2244 Walnut Grove Ave GO 1 Quad 2COperator Address:
                                        Southern California EdisonOperator Name:
                                        11/08/2013Status Date:
                                        ExpiredStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        ConstructionRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36W001380WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER  (Continued) S101618972

TC7095824.2s   Page 629

Item E - 1327 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        -117.62502Longitude:
                                        34.04266Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        12/26/2013Termination Date:
                                        11/07/2013Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000002NPDES Number:
                                        8 36C368193WDID:
                                        2009-0009-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water constructionRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        TerminatedRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        CONSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedSIC/NAICS:
                                        Construction - ReconstructionPlace/Project Type:
                                        2244 Walnut Grove Ave GO 1 Quad 2C, Rosemead, CA 91770Agency Address:
                                        Southern California EdisonAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91770City,State,Zip:
                                        1351 EAST FRANCIS STREETAddress:
                                        ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER PAVINGName:

CIWQS:

                                        91770Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        RosemeadOperator City:
                                        2244 Walnut Grove Ave GO 1 Quad 2COperator Address:
                                        Southern California EdisonOperator Name:
                                        11/16/2012Status Date:
                                        ExpiredStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        ConstructionRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36W000935WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1351 EAST FRANCIS STREETAddress:

ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER  (Continued) S101618972

TC7095824.2s   Page 630

Item E - 1328 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                         Open - Case Begin DateStatus:
                         T0607100311Global Id:

LUST:

                         Leak DiscoveryAction:
                         07/30/1993Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100311Global Id:

                         Leak StoppedAction:
                         07/30/1993Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100311Global Id:

                         Leak ReportedAction:
                         10/04/1993Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100311Global Id:

LUST:

                         9517824495Phone Number:
                         carl.bernhardt@waterboards.ca.govEmail:
                         RIVERSIDECity:
                         3737 MAIN STREET, SUITE 500Address:
                         SANTA ANA RWQCB (REGION 8)Organization Name:
                         CARL BERNHARDTContact Name:
                         Regional Board CaseworkerContact Type:
                         T0607100311Global Id:

LUST:

                              Not reportedSite History:
                              GasolinePotential Contaminants of Concern:
                              SoilPotential Media Affect:
                              93052Local Case Number:
                              Local AgencyFile Location:
                              Not reportedLocal Agency:
                              083602381TRB Case Number:
                              Not reportedCase Worker:
                              11/09/1995Status Date:
                              Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                              -117.6111973Longitude:
                              34.036909Latitude:
                              T0607100311Global Id:
                              http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?global_id=T0607100311Geo Track:
                              LUST Cleanup SiteCase Type:
                              SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYLead Agency:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              2044 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
                              HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.Name:

LUST:

CA CERS
CA San Bern. Co. Permit

CA HIST CORTESE
2087 ft. CA Cortese
0.395 mi. CA CERS TANKS

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
850 ft.

 

1/4-1/2 CA SWEEPS USTONTARIO, CA  91761
ESE CA CERS HAZ WASTE2044 VINEYARD AVE    N/A
166 CA LUSTHALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP. S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 631

Item E - 1329 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                  *MTBE Class:
                                                  Site NOT Tested for MTBE.Includes Unknown and Not Analyzed.MTBE Tested:
                                                  1MTBE Fuel:
                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE Soil:
                                                  0MTBE Concentration:
                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE GW:
                                                  Not reportedMTBE Date:
                                                  -117.6111973Longitude:
                                                  34.036909Latitude:
                                                  LUSTOversite Program:
                                                  Not reportedInterim:
                                                  Not reportedFacility Contact:
                                                  Not reportedOperator:
                                                  Not reportedSoil Qualifies:
                                                  Not reportedGW Qualifies:
                                                  1/14/1994Enter Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Post Remedial Action Monitoring:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remedial Action Underway:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remediation Plan Submitted:
                                                  Not reportedDate Pollution Characterization Began:
                                                  Not reportedDate Prelim Assessment Workplan Submitted:
                                                  11/9/1995Close Date:
                                                  Not reportedEnforcement Date:
                                                  7/30/1993Discover Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Preliminary Assessment Began:
                                                  Not reportedDate Confirmation of Leak Began:
                                                  1/14/1994Enter Date:
                                                  7/30/1993How Stopped Date:
                                                  T0607100311Global ID:
                                                  UNKLeak Source:
                                                  UNKLeak Cause:
                                                  Not reportedHow Stopped:
                                                  Tank ClosureHow Discovered:
                                                  Federal FundsFunding:
                                                  Not reportedEnf Type:
                                                  PHILADEPHIACross Street:
                                                  Not reportedAbate Method:
                                                  Not reportedQty Leaked:
                                                  GasolineSubstance:
                                                  Soil onlyCase Type:
                                                  93052Local Case Num:
                                                  083602381TCase Number:
                                                  Case ClosedFacility Status:
                                                  Santa Ana RegionRegional Board:
                                                  San BernardinoCounty:
                                                  8Region:
                                                  ONTARIOCity:
                                                  2044 VINEYARD AVEAddress:
                                                  HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.Name:

LUST REG 8:

                         11/09/1995Status Date:
                         Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                         T0607100311Global Id:

                         07/30/1993Status Date:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 632

Item E - 1330 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

          M.V. FUELTank Use:
          Not reportedActive Date:
          1500Capacity:
          Not reportedTank Status:
          36-000-016814-000002SWRCB Tank Id:
          Not reportedOwner Tank Id:
          Not reportedCreated Date:
          Not reportedAction Date:
          Not reportedReferral Date:
          Not reportedBoard Of Equalization:
          Not reportedNumber:
          16814Comp Number:
          Not reportedStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          2044 VINEYARDAddress:
          HALLKRAFT CONTAINERSName:

          2Number Of Tanks:
          REG UNLEADEDContent:
          PRODUCTSTG:
          M.V. FUELTank Use:
          Not reportedActive Date:
          1000Capacity:
          Not reportedTank Status:
          36-000-016814-000001SWRCB Tank Id:
          Not reportedOwner Tank Id:
          Not reportedCreated Date:
          Not reportedAction Date:
          Not reportedReferral Date:
          Not reportedBoard Of Equalization:
          Not reportedNumber:
          16814Comp Number:
          Not reportedStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          2044 VINEYARDAddress:
          HALLKRAFT CONTAINERSName:

SWEEPS UST:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10645036CERS ID:
                              358935Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              2044 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Name:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

THIS SITE IS ALSO LISTED ON THE SLIC LIST.Summary:
                                                  Not reportedWork Suspended:
                                                  Not reportedCleanup Fund Id:
                                                  Not reportedPriority:
                                                  Not reportedBeneficial:
                                                  UPPER SANTA ANA VALLHydr Basin #:
                                                  36000LLocal Agency:
                                                  Local AgencyLead Agency:
                                                  LH6Staff Initials:
                                                  CABStaff:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 633

Item E - 1331 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

PT0035156Permit Number:
Nixon-Egli Equipment Company Inc,Owner:
FA0016357Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2044 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Name:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                    083602381TReg Id:
                    LTNKAReg By:
                    36Facility County Code:
                    CORTESERegion:
                    ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                    2044 VINEYARDedr_fadd1:
                    HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORPedr_fname:

HIST CORTESE:

                              Active OpenFile Name:
                              Not reportedWaste Management Uit Name:
                              Not reportedSolid Waste Id No:
                              Not reportedWID Id:
                              Not reportedRegion 2:
                              Not reportedEffective Date:
                              Not reportedWaste Discharge System No:
                              Not reportedOrder No:
                              activeFlag:
                              Not reportedSwat R:
                              Not reportedEnf Type:
                              Not reportedOwner:
                              Not reportedLongitude:
                              Not reportedLatitude:
                              Not reportedSite Code:
                              Not reportedStatus Date:
                              COMPLETED - CASE CLOSEDCleanup Status:
                              LUST CLEANUP SITESite/Facility Type:
                              T0607100311Global ID:
                              Not reportedEnvirostor Id:
                              CORTESERegion:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              2044 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
                              HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.Name:

CORTESE:

                              Aboveground Petroleum StorageCERS Description:
                              10645036CERS ID:
                              358935Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              2044 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Name:

CERS TANKS:

          Not reportedNumber Of Tanks:
          REG UNLEADEDContent:
          PRODUCTSTG:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 634

Item E - 1332 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10645036CERS ID:
                              358935Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              2044 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Name:

CERS:

08/31/2003Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 0-10 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0004040Permit Number:
CROCKETT CONTAINEROwner:
FA0003684Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2044 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
CROCKETT CONTAINERName:

08/31/2003Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS WASTE GENERATOR - 11-25 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0004039Permit Number:
CROCKETT CONTAINEROwner:
FA0003684Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2044 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
CROCKETT CONTAINERName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
SMALL QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0035155Permit Number:
Nixon-Egli Equipment Company Inc,Owner:
FA0016357Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2044 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Name:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0035154Permit Number:
Nixon-Egli Equipment Company Inc,Owner:
FA0016357Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
2044 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Name:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
APSA 1,320-10,000 GAL FAC CAPACITYPermit Category:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 635

Item E - 1333 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              the signature page.
                              management. Submit a signed certificate of compliance and a copy of
                              After the 5 year review is completed ensure that the plan is signed by
                              did not have a signature for management approval. CORRECTIVE ACTION:
                              Returned to compliance on 02/10/2022. OBSERVATION: The 2015 SPCC planViolation Notes:
                              requirements.
                              Failure to prepare an SPCC Plan that meets all applicableViolation Description:
                              6.67, Section(s) 25270.4.5(a)
                              HSC 6.67 25270.4.5(a) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              02-03-2022Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              waste labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 10/22/2015. Failure to complete hazardousViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              10-20-2015Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              start date on labels (CCR 66262.34(f)(2))
                              Returned to compliance on 10/22/2015. Failure to note accumulationViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              10-20-2015Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              inventory via CERS.
                              CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit an accurate and complete hazardous materials
                              -update the used oil quantity to 500 gallons -add the parts washer
                              new motor oils. -update the maximum quantity of absorbent waste
                              -update the maximum quantity of new oils to reflect the hydraulic and
                              March 1st. The following updates to the inventory are required.
                              of the plan are updated within 30 days and submitted yearly before
                              inventory was last submitted on 11/22/2016. Ensure that all portions
                              Returned to compliance on 02/05/2019. OBSERVATION: The CERS planViolation Notes:
                              at or above reportable quantities.
                              inventory information for all reportable hazardous materials on site
                              Failure to complete and electronically submit hazardous materialViolation Description:
                              6.95, Section(s) 25508(a)(1)
                              HSC 6.95 25508(a)(1) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              01-23-2019Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 636

Item E - 1334 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              containers (CCR 66262.34(f)(3))
                              Returned to compliance on 10/22/2015. Failure to label hazardous wasteViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              10-20-2015Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 10/22/2015.Violation Notes:
                              fuel filters.
                              Failure to properly handle, manage, label, and recycle used oil andViolation Description:
                              Chapter 16, Section(s) 66266.130
                              22 CCR 16 66266.130 - California Code of Regulations, Title 22,Citation:
                              10-20-2015Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              weekly.
                              indicate that the hazardous waste storage area is being inspected
                              was provided. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit a certificate of compliance to
                              of the hazardous waste storage area is not being conducted. A template
                              Returned to compliance on 02/05/2019. OBSERVATION: A weekly inspectionViolation Notes:
                              look for leaking and deteriorating containers.
                              Failure to inspect hazardous waste storage areas at least weekly andViolation Description:
                              1, Section(s) 265.174
                              40 CFR 1 265.174 - U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Title 40, ChapterCitation:
                              01-23-2019Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              APSAViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              compliance.
                              the 5 year review documentation page and a signed certificate of
                              ACTION: Review and amend the SPCC Plan if necessary. Submit a copy of
                              last reviewed in 2015. A 5 year review has not occurred. CORRECTIVE
                              Returned to compliance on 02/10/2022. OBSERVATION: The SPCC plan wasViolation Notes:
                              a statement as to whether the SPCC Plan will be amended.
                              once every five years, document the completion of the review, and sign
                              Failure to complete a review and evaluation of the SPCC Plan at leastViolation Description:
                              6.67, Section(s) 25270.4.5 (a)
                              HSC 6.67 25270.4.5 (a) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              02-03-2022Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              APSAViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 637

Item E - 1335 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Chapter 12, Section(s) 66262.34(f)
                              22 CCR 12 66262.34(f) - California Code of Regulations, Title 22,Citation:
                              01-23-2019Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              APSAViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 10/22/2015.Violation Notes:
                              APSA Program - Administration/Documentation - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.67 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.67,Citation:
                              10-20-2015Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              APSAViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              compliance to indicate they have been closed.
                              maintained closed. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit a certificate of
                              diesel secondary containment tanks were found open. These must be
                              Returned to compliance on 02/05/2019. OBSERVATION: The drain port onViolation Notes:
                              bypass valves under responsible supervision.
                              sealed closed. 2. Inspect the retained rainwater 3. Open and reseal
                              bypassing the facility treatment system: 1. Keep bypass valve normally
                              discharge of an effluent into an open watercourse, lake, or pond,
                              uncontaminated rainwater from diked area into a storm drain or
                              Failure to ensure the following before allowing drainage ofViolation Description:
                              6.67, Section(s) 25270.4.5(a)
                              HSC 6.67 25270.4.5(a) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              01-23-2019Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              APSAViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              inspections will be conducted and documented.
                              ACTION: Submit a signed certificate of compliance to indicate the
                              the petroleum storage containers has not been documented. CORRECTIVE
                              Returned to compliance on 02/05/2019. Records for the inspection ofViolation Notes:
                              3. Keep comparison records.
                              records of inspections and integrity tests for at least three years.
                              appropriate supervisor or inspector. 2. Keep written procedures and
                              Have record of inspections and integrity tests signed by the
                              Failure to comply with one or more of the following requirements: 1.Violation Description:
                              6.67, Section(s) 25270.4.5(a)
                              HSC 6.67 25270.4.5(a) - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              01-23-2019Violation Date:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 638

Item E - 1336 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              New facility inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-20-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              New facility inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              10-20-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              APSAEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              02-03-2022Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              02-03-2022Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              APSAEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              01-23-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              labeled.
                              to indicate that the containers listed above has been properly
                              labeling. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit a signed certificate of compliance
                              absorbent and oil filter cartridges were found lacking hazardous waste
                              Returned to compliance on 02/05/2019. OBSERVATION: Drums of wasteViolation Notes:
                              date.
                              characteristics of the Hazardous Waste, and starting accumulation
                              name and address of the generator, physical and chemical
                              portable tanks with the following requirements: "Hazardous Waste",
                              Failure to properly label hazardous waste accumulation containers andViolation Description:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 639

Item E - 1337 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              2044 S VINEYARD AVESite Address:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              APSAEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-20-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              2044 S VINEYARD AVESite Address:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Site Name:
                              358935Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              02-03-2022Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              New facility inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              10-20-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              01-23-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              01-23-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              APSAEval Program:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 640

Item E - 1338 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Dana RandallEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENTEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              VP Product SupportEntity Title:
                              Dana RandallEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.612190Longitude:
                              34.036540Latitude:
                              Center of a facility or station.,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10645036Program ID:
                              HWGEnv Int Type Code:
                              NIXON-EGLI EQUIPMENT (ONTARIO, CA)Facility Name:
                              358935Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              10-20-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 641

Item E - 1339 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              2044 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
                              HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.Name:

                              (909) 930-1822,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              2044 S Vineyard AveAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Nixon-Egli Equipment Company Inc,Entity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ONTARIOAffiliation City:
                              2044 S VINEYARD AVEAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 930-1822,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              2044 S Vineyard AveAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Nixon-Egli Equipment Company Inc.Entity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 930-1822,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Nixon-Egli Equipment Company Inc.Entity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              2044 S Vineyard AveAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Dana RandallEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

TC7095824.2s   Page 642

Item E - 1340 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Leaking Underground Storage Tank Cleanup SiteCERS Description:
                              T0607100311CERS ID:
                              250596Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:

HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP.  (Continued) S100936578

                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE GW:
                                                  Not reportedMTBE Date:
                                                  -117.6152525Longitude:
                                                  34.0483756Latitude:
                                                  LUSTOversite Program:
                                                  Not reportedInterim:
                                                  Not reportedFacility Contact:
                                                  Not reportedOperator:
                                                  Not reportedSoil Qualifies:
                                                  Not reportedGW Qualifies:
                                                  5/20/1987Enter Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Post Remedial Action Monitoring:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remedial Action Underway:
                                                  Not reportedDate Remediation Plan Submitted:
                                                  1/28/1987Date Pollution Characterization Began:
                                                  Not reportedDate Prelim Assessment Workplan Submitted:
                                                  6/12/1987Close Date:
                                                  Not reportedEnforcement Date:
                                                  Not reportedDiscover Date:
                                                  Not reportedDate Preliminary Assessment Began:
                                                  Not reportedDate Confirmation of Leak Began:
                                                  5/20/1987Enter Date:
                                                  Not reportedHow Stopped Date:
                                                  T0607100041Global ID:
                                                  Not reportedLeak Source:
                                                  Not reportedLeak Cause:
                                                  Not reportedHow Stopped:
                                                  Not reportedHow Discovered:
                                                  Not reportedFunding:
                                                  CLOSEnf Type:
                                                  ACACIACross Street:
                                                  Not reportedAbate Method:
                                                  Not reportedQty Leaked:
                                                  GasolineSubstance:
                                                  Soil onlyCase Type:
                                                  87020Local Case Num:
                                                  083600376TCase Number:
                                                  Case ClosedFacility Status:
                                                  Santa Ana RegionRegional Board:
                                                  San BernardinoCounty:
                                                  8Region:
                                                  ONTARIOCity:
                                                  1401 BAKER AVEAddress:
                                                  SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANYName:

LUST REG 8:

CA CERS
CA CIWQS

2519 ft. CA WDSSite 1 of 3 in cluster AB
0.477 mi. CA HIST CORTESE

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
898 ft.

 

1/4-1/2 CA FID USTONTARIO, CA  91761
NNE CA SWEEPS UST1401 BAKER AVE    N/A
AB167 CA LUSTSMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY S101618984

TC7095824.2s   Page 643

Item E - 1341 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

     ActiveStatus:
     Not reportedComments:
     Not reportedEPA ID:
     Not reportedNPDES Number:
     Not reportedDUNs Number:
     Not reportedContact Phone:
     Not reportedContact:
     ONTARIO 91761Mailing City,St,Zip:
     Not reportedMailing Address 2:
     SAMEMailing Address:
     Not reportedMail To:
     Not reportedFacility Phone:
     Not reportedSIC Code:
     Not reportedCortese Code:
     00013177Regulated ID:
     UTNKARegulated By:
     36000481Facility ID:

CA FID UST:

          1Number Of Tanks:
          REG UNLEADEDContent:
          PSTG:
          M.V. FUELTank Use:
          07-01-85Active Date:
          3000Capacity:
          ATank Status:
          36-000-013177-000001SWRCB Tank Id:
          1Owner Tank Id:
          02-29-88Created Date:
          09-04-91Action Date:
          09-04-91Referral Date:
          Not reportedBoard Of Equalization:
          9Number:
          13177Comp Number:
          ActiveStatus:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1401 S BAKER AVEAddress:
          SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANYName:

SWEEPS UST:

Not reportedSummary:
                                                  Not reportedWork Suspended:
                                                  Not reportedCleanup Fund Id:
                                                  Not reportedPriority:
                                                  Not reportedBeneficial:
                                                  UPPER SANTA ANA VALLHydr Basin #:
                                                  36000LLocal Agency:
                                                  Local AgencyLead Agency:
                                                  RR1Staff Initials:
                                                  PAHStaff:
                                                  *MTBE Class:
                                                  Site NOT Tested for MTBE.Includes Unknown and Not Analyzed.MTBE Tested:
                                                  1MTBE Fuel:
                                                  Not reportedMax MTBE Soil:
                                                  0MTBE Concentration:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S101618984

TC7095824.2s   Page 644

Item E - 1342 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

          disposal systems, such as septic systems with subsurface disposal, or
          management practices, facilities with passive waste treatment and
          cooling water dischargers or thosewho must comply through best
          Category C - Facilities having no waste treatment systems, such asComplexity:
          represent no threat to water quality.
          Level. A Zero (0) may be used to code those NURDS that are found to
          considered a minor threat to water quality unless coded at a higher
          to a major or minor threat. Not: All nurds without a TTWQ will be
          should cause a relatively minor impairment of beneficial uses compared
          Minor Threat to Water Quality. A violation of a regional board orderTreat To Water:
          Not reportedPOTW:
          Not reportedReclamation:
          0Baseline Flow:
          0Design Flow:
          Not reportedSecondary Waste Type:
          Not reportedSecondary Waste:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste Type:
          Not reportedWaste2:
          Not reportedWaste Type2:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste Type:
          Not reportedSIC Code 2:
          0SIC Code:
          PrivateAgency Type:
          9099473783Agency Telephone:
          FREDDY A CRUZAgency Contact:
          Ontario 917617749Agency City,St,Zip:
          1401 S Baker AveAgency Address:
          SMITHFORD PROD COAgency Name:
          FREDDY A CRUZFacility Contact:
          9099473783Facility Telephone:
          8Subregion:
          are assigned by the Regional Board
          CAS000001 The 1st 2 characters designate the state. The remaining 7NPDES Number:
          under Waste Discharge Requirements.
          Active - Any facility with a continuous or seasonal discharge that isFacility Status:
          pumping.
          repairing, oil production, storage and disposal operations, water
          washing, geothermal operations, air conditioning, ship building and
          processing operation of whatever nature, including mining, gravel
          semisolid wastes from any servicing, producing, manufacturing or
          Industrial - Facility that treats and/or disposes of liquid orFacility Type:
          Santa Ana River  36I000403Facility ID:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1401 S Baker AveAddress:
          SMITHFORD PROD COName:

WDS:

                    083600376TReg Id:
                    LTNKAReg By:
                    36Facility County Code:
                    CORTESERegion:
                    ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                    1401 BAKERedr_fadd1:
                    SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANedr_fname:

HIST CORTESE:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S101618984

TC7095824.2s   Page 645

Item E - 1343 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              RIVERSIDEAffiliation City:
                              3737 MAIN STREET, SUITE 500Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              PATRICIA HANNON - SANTA ANA RWQCB (REGION 8)Entity Name:
                              Regional Board CaseworkerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              Leaking Underground Storage Tank Cleanup SiteCERS Description:
                              T0607100041CERS ID:
                              219809Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1401 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                              SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANYName:

CERS:

                                        -117.61529Longitude:
                                        34.04851Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        04/01/2008Termination Date:
                                        03/11/1992Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36I000403WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        TerminatedRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        3365SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Aluminum FoundriesPlace/Project Type:
                                        1401 S Baker Ave, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        Smithford Product CoAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1401 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                                        SMITHFORD PROD COName:

CIWQS:

          dairy waste ponds.
          dischargers having waste storage systems with land disposal such as

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S101618984

TC7095824.2s   Page 646

Item E - 1344 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAD981402522TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000068709Gepaid:
                                        1997Year:

                                        0.1876Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD981402522TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000068709Gepaid:
                                        1998Year:

                                        0.1876Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD981402522TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000068709Gepaid:
                                        1999Year:

                                        1401 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        9099473783Telephone:
                                        PETER WHITE, PRESIDENTContact:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1401 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                                        SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANYName:

HAZNET:

                              Active OpenFile Name:
                              Not reportedWaste Management Uit Name:
                              Not reportedSolid Waste Id No:
                              Not reportedWID Id:
                              Not reportedRegion 2:
                              Not reportedEffective Date:
                              Not reportedWaste Discharge System No:
                              Not reportedOrder No:
                              activeFlag:
                              Not reportedSwat R:
                              Not reportedEnf Type:
                              Not reportedOwner:
                              Not reportedLongitude:
                              Not reportedLatitude:
                              Not reportedSite Code:
                              Not reportedStatus Date:
                              COMPLETED - CASE CLOSEDCleanup Status:
                              LUST CLEANUP SITESite/Facility Type:
                              T0607100041Global ID:
                              Not reportedEnvirostor Id:
                              CORTESERegion:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1401 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                              SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANYName:

CORTESE:

2519 ft. Site 2 of 3 in cluster AB
0.477 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
898 ft.

 

1/4-1/2 CA HWTSONTARIO, CA  91761
NNE CA HAZNET1401 S BAKER AVE    N/A
AB168 CA CorteseSMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY S113048129

TC7095824.2s   Page 647

Item E - 1345 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

additional CA HAZNET: detail in the EDR Site Report.
Click this hyperlink while viewing on your computer to access 

                                        0.1584Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982524613TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000068709Gepaid:
                                        1992Year:

                                        0.0834Tons:
                                        -Disposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982524613TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000068709Gepaid:
                                        1993Year:

                                        0.1251Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982524613TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000068709Gepaid:
                                        1993Year:

                                        0.1251Tons:
                                        -Disposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982524613TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000068709Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        0.1876Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD982524613TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000068709Gepaid:
                                        1994Year:

                                        0.1876Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD981402522TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000068709Gepaid:
                                        1995Year:

                                        0.2293Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:
                                        CAD981402522TSD EPA ID:
                                        CAL000068709Gepaid:
                                        1996Year:

                                        0.2919Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerDisposal Method:
                                        541 - Photochemicals/photoprocessing wasteCA Waste Code:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S113048129

TC7095824.2s   Page 648

Item E - 1346 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=2W2bWM1xbF8XMV2cxt1.Fz2DX12KVU2EcJ8DtNAp.N2fWN1obw7TMd1Bxl9FFO39X34gVx3ocn3Cte2AWP2Ibi1bMR83xb1pFFACXW6mVa9cc53XtP5N.70uzZ3SDHt61g2IWn2zb512MYTKxy2rFr23X84gVG1Scr5ctk9H.I2xz23gDAAB1I1
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=2W2bWM1xbF8XMV2cxt1.Fz2DX12KVU2EcJ8DtNAp.N2fWN1obw7TMd1Bxl9FFO39X34gVx3ocn3Cte2AWP2Ibi1bMR83xb1pFFACXW6mVa9cc53XtP5N.70uzZ3SDHt61g2IWn2zb512MYTKxy2rFr23X84gVG1Scr5ctk9H.I2xz23gDAAB1I1


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAL000068709Gen EPA ID:
                                        1994Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        15Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0625Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        97243378Manifest ID:
                                        19980205Receipt Date:
                                        4/16/1998 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19980126Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1251Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        97243594Manifest ID:
                                        19980420Receipt Date:
                                        6/26/1998 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19980416Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000068709Gen EPA ID:
                                        1998Year:

Additional Info:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S113048129

TC7095824.2s   Page 649

Item E - 1347 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        96809462Manifest ID:
                                        19971006Receipt Date:
                                        7/23/1998 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19970930Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000068709Gen EPA ID:
                                        1997Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1251Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982524613TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        93356740Manifest ID:
                                        Not reportedReceipt Date:
                                        9/14/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940125Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        45Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1876Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982524613TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        93630566Manifest ID:
                                        19940915Receipt Date:
                                        3/26/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19940912Shipment Date:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S113048129

TC7095824.2s   Page 650

Item E - 1348 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        95692187Manifest ID:
                                        19951106Receipt Date:
                                        7/26/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19951101Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000068709Gen EPA ID:
                                        1995Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        40Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1668Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        96811735Manifest ID:
                                        19970407Receipt Date:
                                        6/26/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19970331Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1251Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S113048129

TC7095824.2s   Page 651

Item E - 1349 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982495608Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans EPA ID:
                                        98468824Manifest ID:
                                        19990304Receipt Date:
                                        5/4/1999 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19990301Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000068709Gen EPA ID:
                                        1999Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        15Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0625Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        95276164Manifest ID:
                                        19950310Receipt Date:
                                        3/29/1996 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19950302Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1251Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S113048129

TC7095824.2s   Page 652

Item E - 1350 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        25Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1042Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        96209952Manifest ID:
                                        19960531Receipt Date:
                                        5/21/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19960521Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1251Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD981402522TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        CAD982433575Trans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        96385342Manifest ID:
                                        19961118Receipt Date:
                                        5/20/1997 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19961114Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000068709Gen EPA ID:
                                        1996Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        45Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1876Quantity Tons:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S113048129

TC7095824.2s   Page 653

Item E - 1351 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        30Waste Quantity:
                                        0.1251Quantity Tons:
                                        R01 - RecyclerMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982524613TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        92469989Manifest ID:
                                        19930401Receipt Date:
                                        9/6/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19930331Shipment Date:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 2:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 1:
                                        GQuantity Unit:
                                        20Waste Quantity:
                                        0.0834Quantity Tons:
                                        - Not reportedMeth Code:
                                        D011RCRA Code:
                                        541 - Photochemicals / photo processing wasteWaste Code Description:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt Name:
                                        Not reportedTSDF Alt EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD982524613TSDF EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 Name:
                                        Not reportedTrans 2 EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedTrans Name:
                                        CAD131838849Trans EPA ID:
                                        93071966Manifest ID:
                                        Not reportedReceipt Date:
                                        9/12/1995 0:00:00Creation Date:
                                        19931028Shipment Date:

                                        CAL000068709Gen EPA ID:
                                        1993Year:

Additional Info:

                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 5:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 4:
                                        Not reportedAdditional Code 3:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S113048129

TC7095824.2s   Page 654

Item E - 1352 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        917610000Facility Zip:
                                        CAFacility State:
                                        Not reportedFacility County:
                                        ONTARIOFacility City:
                                        Not reportedFacility Address 2:
                                        1401 S BAKER AVEFacility Address:
                                        SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANYFacility Name:
                                        2008-06-30 00:00:00Inactive Date:
                                        1992-05-07 00:00:00Issued EPA ID Date:
                                        Aluminum Foundries (except Die-Casting)NAICS Description:
                                        331524NAICS Code:
                                        2002-03-14 16:36:27.000Create Date:
                                        CAL000068709EPA ID:

NAICS:

                                        -117.615168Longitude:
                                        34.048567Latitude:
                                        STATECategory:
                                        PERMANENTFacility Type:
                                        InactiveFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedContact Address 2:
                                        PO BOX 433Contact Address:
                                        PETER WHITE, PRESIDENTContact Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Owner City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedOwner Address 2:
                                        1401 S BAKER AVEOwner Address:
                                        SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANYOwner Name:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 917610000Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                                        1401 S BAKER AVEMailing Address:
                                        Not reportedMailing Name:
                                        Not reportedLast Act Date:
                                        05/07/1992Create Date:
                                        06/30/2008Inactive Date:
                                        CAL000068709EPA ID:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1401 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                                        SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANYName:

HWTS:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S113048129

                              34.047853Latitude:
                              T0607100041Global Id:
                              http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?global_id=T0607100041Geo Track:
                              LUST Cleanup SiteCase Type:
                              SAN BERNARDINO COUNTYLead Agency:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1401 S BAKER AVEAddress:
                              SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANYName:

LUST:

2519 ft. Site 3 of 3 in cluster AB
0.477 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
898 ft.

 

1/4-1/2 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
NNE CA HIST UST1401 SO BAKER AVE    N/A
AB169 CA LUSTSMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY S105033466

TC7095824.2s   Page 655

Item E - 1353 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1401 SO BAKER AVEAddress:
                              SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANYName:

HIST UST:

                         06/12/1987Status Date:
                         Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                         T0607100041Global Id:

                         01/28/1987Status Date:
                         Open - Site AssessmentStatus:
                         T0607100041Global Id:

                         01/27/1987Status Date:
                         Open - Case Begin DateStatus:
                         T0607100041Global Id:

LUST:

                         Not reportedAction:
                         06/26/1987Date:
                         REMEDIATIONAction Type:
                         T0607100041Global Id:

                         Leak ReportedAction:
                         01/27/1987Date:
                         OtherAction Type:
                         T0607100041Global Id:

                         Closure/No Further Action LetterAction:
                         06/12/1987Date:
                         ENFORCEMENTAction Type:
                         T0607100041Global Id:

LUST:

                         Not reportedPhone Number:
                         patricia.hannon@waterboards.ca.govEmail:
                         RIVERSIDECity:
                         3737 MAIN STREET, SUITE 500Address:
                         SANTA ANA RWQCB (REGION 8)Organization Name:
                         PATRICIA HANNONContact Name:
                         Regional Board CaseworkerContact Type:
                         T0607100041Global Id:

LUST:

                              Not reportedSite History:
                              GasolinePotential Contaminants of Concern:
                              SoilPotential Media Affect:
                              87020Local Case Number:
                              Local AgencyFile Location:
                              Not reportedLocal Agency:
                              083600376TRB Case Number:
                              Not reportedCase Worker:
                              06/12/1987Status Date:
                              Completed - Case ClosedStatus:
                              -117.61466Longitude:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S105033466

TC7095824.2s   Page 656

Item E - 1354 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

09/30/2008Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 11-25 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0005643Permit Number:
SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COOwner:
FA0006229Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1401 S BAKERAddress:
SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COName:

09/30/2008Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
SPECIAL GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0019350Permit Number:
SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COOwner:
FA0006229Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1401 S BAKERAddress:
SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

Click here for Geo Tracker PDF:

                              Not reportedLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              Not reportedTank Used for:
                              Not reportedTank Capacity:
                              Not reportedYear Installed:
                              Not reportedContainer Num:
                              Not reportedTank Num:

                              Not reportedTotal Tanks:
                              Not reportedOwner City,St,Zip:
                              Not reportedOwner Address:
                              Not reportedOwner Name:
                              Not reportedTelephone:
                              Not reportedContact Name:
                              Not reportedOther Type:
                              Not reportedFacility Type:
                              Not reportedFacility ID:
                              Not reportedRegion:
                              http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/ustpdfs/pdf/0002A66B.pdfURL:
                              0002A66BFile Number:

SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY  (Continued) S105033466

            ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
            1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
            DANCOName:

ENVIROSTOR:

2576 ft.
0.488 mi. CA CERS

Relative:
Lower

Actual:
833 ft.

 

1/4-1/2 CA San Bern. Co. PermitONTARIO, CA  91761
SSE CA EMI1750 MONTICELLO CT    N/A
170 CA ENVIROSTORDANCO S106830070

TC7095824.2s   Page 657

Item E - 1355 of 2173

http://www.web.edrnet.com/ordering/switchboard/redirect.aspx?s=GRR_CA_HISTUST_PDF&img_id=0002A66B


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              61110Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1990Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 91786City,State,Zip:
                                              1750 MONTICELLO COURTAddress:
                                              DIMAD METAL FINISHINGName:

EMI:

                    Not reportedSchedule Revised Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Due Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Document Type:
                    Not reportedSchedule Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedSchedule Area Name:
                    Not reportedFuture Due Date:
                    Not reportedFuture Document Type:
                    Not reportedFuture Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedFuture Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    Not reportedCompleted Date:
                    Not reportedCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedCompleted Area Name:

Completed Info:

                    Envirostor ID NumberAlias Type:
                    71004100Alias Name:
                    EPA Identification NumberAlias Type:
                    CAL000070402Alias Name:
            NONE SPECIFIEDPotential Description:
            NONE SPECIFIEDConfirmed COC:
            NONE SPECIFIEDPotential COC:
            NONE SPECIFIEDPast Use:
            NONE SPECIFIEDAPN:
            -117.6145Longitude:
            34.03279Latitude:
            Not reportedFunding:
            NONE SPECIFIEDSite Mgmt Req:
            NORestricted Use:
            Not reportedSpecial Program:
            20Senate:
            52Assembly:
            Cleanup CypressDivision Branch:
            Not reportedSupervisor:
            Not reportedProgram Manager:
            NONE SPECIFIEDLead Agency:
            NONE SPECIFIEDRegulatory Agencies:
            NONPL:
            Not reportedAcres:
            Tiered PermitSite Type Detailed:
            Tiered PermitSite Type:
            Not reportedSite Code:
            Not reportedStatus Date:
            Inactive - Needs EvaluationStatus:
            71004100Facility ID:

DANCO  (Continued) S106830070

TC7095824.2s   Page 658

Item E - 1356 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 11-30 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0004871Permit Number:
DANCO ANODIZINGOwner:
FA0002630Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
DANCO METAL SURFACINGName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
WASTE-GENERATING RECYCLER (ONSITE)Permit Category:
PT0026349Permit Number:
DANCO ANODIZINGOwner:
FA0002630Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
DANCO METAL SURFACINGName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
RCRA LARGE QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0004870Permit Number:
DANCO ANODIZINGOwner:
FA0002630Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
DANCO METAL SURFACINGName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
CA UNIT (NB)Permit Category:
PT0018595Permit Number:
DANCO ANODIZINGOwner:
FA0002630Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
DANCO METAL SURFACINGName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              0Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              2Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              3471SIC Code:

DANCO  (Continued) S106830070

TC7095824.2s   Page 659

Item E - 1357 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
DANCO METAL SURFACINGName:

09/30/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS WASTE GENERATOR RCRA LQGPermit Category:
PT0017061Permit Number:
DANCO ANODIZINGOwner:
FA0002630Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
DANCO METAL SURFACINGName:

09/30/2013Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
RMP INSPECTION - PROGRAM 1Permit Category:
PT0023568Permit Number:
DANCO ANODIZINGOwner:
FA0002630Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
DANCO METAL SURFACINGName:

09/30/2013Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
CALARP FACILITY PERMITPermit Category:
PT0004873Permit Number:
DANCO ANODIZINGOwner:
FA0002630Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
DANCO METAL SURFACINGName:

09/30/2019Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
RCRA LARGE QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0037566Permit Number:
DANCO ANODIZINGOwner:
FA0002630Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
DANCO METAL SURFACINGName:

09/30/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
PBR ANNUAL FEEPermit Category:
PT0004869Permit Number:
DANCO ANODIZINGOwner:
FA0002630Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
DANCO METAL SURFACINGName:

DANCO  (Continued) S106830070

TC7095824.2s   Page 660

Item E - 1358 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ARCADIAAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 660727Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              DANCO ANODIZINGEntity Name:
                              Parent CompanyAffiliation Type Desc:

                              9099230562,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ARCADIAAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 660727Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Jeff ClarkEntity Name:
                              Public ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              9099230562,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ARCADIAAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 660727Affiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Jeff ClarkEntity Name:
                              Technical ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              ARCADIAAffiliation City:
                              PO BOX 660727Affiliation Address:
                              EHS ManagerEntity Title:
                              Jeffrey ClarkEntity Name:
                              Company OfficialAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              Toxic Release InventoryCERS Description:
                              91761NMLDB1750MCERS ID:
                              110164Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1750 MONTICELLO CTAddress:
                              DANCO ANODIZING (DBA DANCO METAL SURFACING)Name:

CERS:

09/30/2011Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
UW HANDLER WITH ANOTHER CUPA PERMITPermit Category:
PT0018671Permit Number:
DANCO ANODIZINGOwner:
FA0002630Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:

DANCO  (Continued) S106830070

TC7095824.2s   Page 661

Item E - 1359 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    assessment report. DTSC concurs. Deadlines to be extended to
                    RP recommends step out sampling before submission of final siteComments:
                    04/01/2020Completed Date:
                    FieldworkCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    01/14/2019Completed Date:
                    Preliminary Endangerment Assessment ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

Completed Info:

                    Envirostor ID NumberAlias Type:
                    60002476Alias Name:
                    Project Code (Site Code)Alias Type:
                    401776Alias Name:
                    APNAlias Type:
                    011339405Alias Name:
                    APNAlias Type:
                    0113-394-050-0000Alias Name:
            SVPotential Description:
            Tetrachloroethylene (PCEConfirmed COC:
            Tetrachloroethylene (PCEPotential COC:
            METAL FINISHINGPast Use:
            0113-394-050-0000, 011339405APN:
            -117.6104Longitude:
            34.04728Latitude:
            Responsible PartyFunding:
            NONE SPECIFIEDSite Mgmt Req:
            NORestricted Use:
            Voluntary Agreement - Standard Voluntary AgreementSpecial Program:
            , 20Senate:
            , 52Assembly:
            Southern California Schools & Brownfields OutreachDivision Branch:
            Emad YemutSupervisor:
            Angela TurnerProgram Manager:
            SMBRPLead Agency:
            SMBRPRegulatory Agencies:
            NONPL:
            2.11Acres:
            Voluntary AgreementSite Type Detailed:
            Voluntary CleanupSite Type:
            401776Site Code:
            08/22/2018Status Date:
            ActiveStatus:
            60002476Facility ID:
            ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
            1425 S. VINEYARD AVENUEAddress:
            1425 S. VINEYARD AVENUEName:

ENVIROSTOR:

CA CIWQS
CA WDS

3072 ft. CA San Bern. Co. Permit
0.582 mi. CA NPDES

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
894 ft.

 

1/2-1 CA EMIONTARIO, CA  91761
NE CA VCP1425 S VINEYARD AVE    N/A
171 CA ENVIROSTORGOE ENGINEERING S102040134

TC7095824.2s   Page 662

Item E - 1360 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    Not reportedComments:
                    11/14/2019Completed Date:
                    Annual Oversight Cost EstimateCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Fully Executed VCA. Advance Payment of $18,298 received by DTSC.Comments:
                    09/26/2018Completed Date:
                    Standard Voluntary AgreementCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    .Comments:
                    11/09/2021Completed Date:
                    Annual Oversight Cost EstimateCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Annual Oversight Cost Estimate completed.Comments:
                    09/03/2020Completed Date:
                    Annual Oversight Cost EstimateCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    fiscal year is completeComments:
                    06/30/2021Completed Date:
                    Project ManagementCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    meeting to discuss scope for additional assessment
                    DTSC waiting for RP to provide figure with AOCs and schedule aComments:
                    04/15/2019Completed Date:
                    CorrespondenceCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    VCA Application received.Comments:
                    08/22/2018Completed Date:
                    ApplicationCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    09/09/2020Completed Date:
                    Site Characterization ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    .completed.Comments:
                    01/03/2020Completed Date:
                    Site Characterization WorkplanCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    accommodate additional field effort. ajdt

GOE ENGINEERING  (Continued) S102040134

TC7095824.2s   Page 663

Item E - 1361 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    Envirostor ID NumberAlias Type:
                    60002476Alias Name:
                    Project Code (Site Code)Alias Type:
                    401776Alias Name:
                    APNAlias Type:
                    011339405Alias Name:
                    APNAlias Type:
                    0113-394-050-0000Alias Name:
                    SVPotential Description:
                    30022Confirmed COC:
                    30022Potential COC:
                    METAL FINISHINGPast Use:
                    0113-394-050-0000, 011339405APN:
                    34.04728 / -117.6104Lat/Long:
                    Responsible PartyFunding:
                    NORestricted Use:
                    08/22/2018Status Date:
                    ActiveStatus:
                    Voluntary Agreement - Standard Voluntary AgreementSpecial Programs Code:
                    , 20Senate:
                    , 52Assembly:
                    401776Site Code:
                    Southern California Schools & Brownfields OutreachDivision Branch:
                    Emad YemutSupervisor:
                    Angela TurnerProject Manager:
                    DTSC - Site Cleanup ProgramLead Agency Description:
                    SMBRPLead Agency:
                    SMBRPCleanup Oversight Agencies:
                    NONational Priorities List:
                    2.11Acres:
                    NONE SPECIFIEDSite Mgmt. Req.:
                    Voluntary AgreementSite Type Detail:
                    Voluntary CleanupSite Type:
                    60002476Facility ID:
                    ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                    1425 S. VINEYARD AVENUEAddress:
                    1425 S. VINEYARD AVENUEName:

VCP:

                    Not reportedSchedule Revised Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Due Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Document Type:
                    Not reportedSchedule Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedSchedule Area Name:
                    2024Future Due Date:
                    CertificationFuture Document Type:
                    Not reportedFuture Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDEFuture Area Name:
                    2024Future Due Date:
                    Land Use RestrictionFuture Document Type:
                    Not reportedFuture Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDEFuture Area Name:
                    2022Future Due Date:
                    Removal Action WorkplanFuture Document Type:
                    Not reportedFuture Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDEFuture Area Name:

GOE ENGINEERING  (Continued) S102040134

TC7095824.2s   Page 664

Item E - 1362 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    .Comments:
                    11/09/2021Completed Date:
                    Annual Oversight Cost EstimateCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Annual Oversight Cost Estimate completed.Comments:
                    09/03/2020Completed Date:
                    Annual Oversight Cost EstimateCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    fiscal year is completeComments:
                    06/30/2021Completed Date:
                    Project ManagementCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    meeting to discuss scope for additional assessment
                    DTSC waiting for RP to provide figure with AOCs and schedule aComments:
                    04/15/2019Completed Date:
                    CorrespondenceCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    VCA Application received.Comments:
                    08/22/2018Completed Date:
                    ApplicationCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    09/09/2020Completed Date:
                    Site Characterization ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    .completed.Comments:
                    01/03/2020Completed Date:
                    Site Characterization WorkplanCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    accommodate additional field effort. ajdt
                    assessment report. DTSC concurs. Deadlines to be extended to
                    RP recommends step out sampling before submission of final siteComments:
                    04/01/2020Completed Date:
                    FieldworkCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    01/14/2019Completed Date:
                    Preliminary Endangerment Assessment ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

Completed Info:

GOE ENGINEERING  (Continued) S102040134

TC7095824.2s   Page 665

Item E - 1363 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1990Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 917618063City,State,Zip:
                                              1425 S VINEYARDAddress:
                                              GOE ENGINEERINGName:

                                              3Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              3Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              29Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              36Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              3451SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              56399Facility ID:
                                              SCAir Basin:
                                              36County Code:
                                              1987Year:
                                              ONTARIO, CA 917618063City,State,Zip:
                                              1425 S VINEYARDAddress:
                                              GOE ENGINEERING CO INCName:

EMI:

                    Not reportedSchedule Revised Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Due Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Document Type:
                    Not reportedSchedule Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedSchedule Area Name:
                    2024Future Due Date:
                    CertificationFuture Document Type:
                    Not reportedFuture Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDEFuture Area Name:
                    2024Future Due Date:
                    Land Use RestrictionFuture Document Type:
                    Not reportedFuture Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDEFuture Area Name:
                    2022Future Due Date:
                    Removal Action WorkplanFuture Document Type:
                    Not reportedFuture Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDEFuture Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    11/14/2019Completed Date:
                    Annual Oversight Cost EstimateCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Fully Executed VCA. Advance Payment of $18,298 received by DTSC.Comments:
                    09/26/2018Completed Date:
                    Standard Voluntary AgreementCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

GOE ENGINEERING  (Continued) S102040134

TC7095824.2s   Page 666

Item E - 1364 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36I018205WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        213709Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1425 S Vineyard AveOperator Address:
                                        Metric Machining CorpOperator Name:
                                        06/02/2016Status Date:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I018205WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1425 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
                                        METRIC MACHINING CORPName:

NPDES:

                                              0Part. Matter 10 Micrometers and Smllr Tons/Yr:
                                              0Particulate Matter Tons/Yr:
                                              0SOX - Oxides of Sulphur Tons/Yr:
                                              0NOX - Oxides of Nitrogen Tons/Yr:
                                              0Carbon Monoxide Emissions Tons/Yr:
                                              0Reactive Organic Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              3Total Organic Hydrocarbon Gases Tons/Yr:
                                              Not reportedConsolidated Emission Reporting Rule:
                                              Not reportedCommunity Health Air Pollution Info System:
                                              SOUTH COAST AQMDAir District Name:
                                              3451SIC Code:
                                              SCAir District Name:
                                              56399Facility ID:

GOE ENGINEERING  (Continued) S102040134

TC7095824.2s   Page 667

Item E - 1365 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        NDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-9222Emergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Private BusinessOperator Type:
                                        bstahlke@metricorp.comOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-9222Operator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Bill StahlkeOperator Contact:
                                        91761Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        1425 S Vineyard AveOperator Address:
                                        Metric Machining CorpOperator Name:
                                        rstahlke@metricorp.comContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        909-947-9222Contact Phone:
                                        MaintenanceContact Title:
                                        Rick StahlkeContact:
                                        AcresPlace Size Unit:
                                        2Place Size:
                                        06/02/2016Status Date:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        06/20/2003Processed Date:
                                        05/09/2008Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        05/31/2016Termination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:

GOE ENGINEERING  (Continued) S102040134

TC7095824.2s   Page 668

Item E - 1366 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        91761Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        1425 S Vineyard AveDischarge Address:
                                        Metric Machining CorpDischarge Name:
                                        05/31/2016Termination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        06/20/2003Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        8 36I018205WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        213709Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        3451-Screw Machine ProductsPrimary Sic:
                                        18-FEB-15Certification Date:
                                        Director of EngineeringCertifier Title:
                                        William StahlkeCertifier:
                                        Santa Ana RiverReceiving Water Name:

GOE ENGINEERING  (Continued) S102040134

TC7095824.2s   Page 669

Item E - 1367 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

METRIC MACHININGOwner:
FA0003488Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1425 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
METRIC MACHININGName:

09/30/2017Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 4-10 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0002798Permit Number:
METRIC MACHININGOwner:
FA0003488Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1425 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
METRIC MACHININGName:

09/30/2017Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
APSA 1,320-10,000 GAL FAC CAPACITYPermit Category:
PT0014357Permit Number:
METRIC MACHININGOwner:
FA0003488Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1425 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
METRIC MACHININGName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:

GOE ENGINEERING  (Continued) S102040134

TC7095824.2s   Page 670

Item E - 1368 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

CIWQS:

          dairy waste ponds.
          dischargers having waste storage systems with land disposal such as
          disposal systems, such as septic systems with subsurface disposal, or
          management practices, facilities with passive waste treatment and
          cooling water dischargers or thosewho must comply through best
          Category C - Facilities having no waste treatment systems, such asComplexity:
          represent no threat to water quality.
          Level. A Zero (0) may be used to code those NURDS that are found to
          considered a minor threat to water quality unless coded at a higher
          to a major or minor threat. Not: All nurds without a TTWQ will be
          should cause a relatively minor impairment of beneficial uses compared
          Minor Threat to Water Quality. A violation of a regional board orderTreat To Water:
          Not reportedPOTW:
          Not reportedReclamation:
          0Baseline Flow:
          0Design Flow:
          Not reportedSecondary Waste Type:
          Not reportedSecondary Waste:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste Type:
          Not reportedWaste2:
          Not reportedWaste Type2:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste:
          Not reportedPrimary Waste Type:
          Not reportedSIC Code 2:
          0SIC Code:
          ?Agency Type:
          9099479222Agency Telephone:
          Harry SmithAgency Contact:
          Ontario 917618063Agency City,St,Zip:
          1425 S Vineyard AveAgency Address:
          GOE ENGINEERING CO INCAgency Name:
          Harry SmithFacility Contact:
          9099479222Facility Telephone:
          8Subregion:
          are assigned by the Regional Board
          CAS000001 The 1st 2 characters designate the state. The remaining 7NPDES Number:
          under Waste Discharge Requirements.
          Active - Any facility with a continuous or seasonal discharge that isFacility Status:
          pumping.
          repairing, oil production, storage and disposal operations, water
          washing, geothermal operations, air conditioning, ship building and
          processing operation of whatever nature, including mining, gravel
          semisolid wastes from any servicing, producing, manufacturing or
          Industrial - Facility that treats and/or disposes of liquid orFacility Type:
          Santa Ana River  36I018205Facility ID:
          ONTARIOCity:
          1425 S Vineyard AveAddress:
          GOE ENGINEERINGName:

WDS:

09/30/2017Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
LARGE QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0002799Permit Number:

GOE ENGINEERING  (Continued) S102040134

TC7095824.2s   Page 671

Item E - 1369 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        -117.61094Longitude:
                                        34.04815Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        05/31/2016Termination Date:
                                        06/20/2003Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36I018205WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        TerminatedRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        3451SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Screw Machine ProductsPlace/Project Type:
                                        1425 S Vineyard Ave, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        Metric Machining CorpAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1425 S VINEYARD AVEAddress:
                                        METRIC MACHINING CORPName:

GOE ENGINEERING  (Continued) S102040134

            -117.625Longitude:
            34.05Latitude:
            DERAFunding:
            NONE SPECIFIEDSite Mgmt Req:
            NORestricted Use:
            Not reportedSpecial Program:
            20Senate:
            52Assembly:
            Cleanup CypressDivision Branch:
            Douglas BautistaSupervisor:
            Not reportedProgram Manager:
            SMBRPLead Agency:
            SMBRPRegulatory Agencies:
            NONPL:
            38Acres:
            FUDSSite Type Detailed:
            Military EvaluationSite Type:
            Not reportedSite Code:
            07/01/2005Status Date:
            Inactive - Needs EvaluationStatus:
            80000415Facility ID:
            ONTARIO, CACity,State,Zip:
            Not reportedAddress:
            ONTARIO A.N.G. TRAINING SITEName:

ENVIROSTOR:

3727 ft.
0.706 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
913 ft.

 

1/2-1 ONTARIO, CA  
NNW    N/A
172 CA ENVIROSTORONTARIO A.N.G. TRAINING SITE S107736959

TC7095824.2s   Page 672

Item E - 1370 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    Not reportedSchedule Revised Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Due Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Document Type:
                    Not reportedSchedule Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedSchedule Area Name:
                    Not reportedFuture Due Date:
                    Not reportedFuture Document Type:
                    Not reportedFuture Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedFuture Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    Not reportedCompleted Date:
                    Not reportedCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedCompleted Area Name:

Completed Info:

                    Envirostor ID NumberAlias Type:
                    80000415Alias Name:
                    INPRAlias Type:
                    J09CA0522Alias Name:
                    Federal Facility IDAlias Type:
                    CA99799F554300Alias Name:
                    Alternate NameAlias Type:
                    ONTARIO ANG TNG SITEAlias Name:
            NONE SPECIFIEDPotential Description:
            NONE SPECIFIEDConfirmed COC:
            NONE SPECIFIEDPotential COC:
            NONE SPECIFIEDPast Use:
            NONE SPECIFIEDAPN:

ONTARIO A.N.G. TRAINING SITE  (Continued) S107736959

                                        00OU:
                                        NFF:
                                        NNPL:
                                        GENERAL ELECTRIC AVIATION SERVS OPSSite Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        0901222Site ID:
                                        09Region:

SEMS Archive Detail:

                         NFRAP-Site does not qualify for the NPL based on existing informationNon NPL Status:
                         Not on the NPLNPL:
                         NFF:
                         06071FIPS Code:
                         35Cong District:
                         ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                         Not reportedAddress 2:
                         1923 E AVION STAddress:
                         GENERAL ELECTRIC AVIATION SERVS OPSName:
                         CAD009542721EPA ID:
                         0901222Site ID:

SEMS Archive:

NY MANIFEST
4176 ft. CA HWPSite 1 of 3 in cluster AC
0.791 mi. RCRA NonGen / NLR

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
909 ft.

 

1/2-1 RCRA-TSDFONTARIO, CA  91761
NNE CORRACTS1923 E AVION ST CAD009542721
AC173 SEMS-ARCHIVEGE ENGINE SERVICES INC. 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 673

Item E - 1371 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        1923 E AVION STAddress:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Name:

CORRACTS:

                                        St PerfCurrent Action Lead:
                                        LQual:
                                        1985-07-01 05:00:00Finish Date:
                                        1985-03-01 06:00:00Start Date:
                                        2SEQ:
                                        PAAction Name:
                                        PAAction Code:
                                        00OU:
                                        NFF:
                                        NNPL:
                                        GENERAL ELECTRIC AVIATION SERVS OPSSite Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        0901222Site ID:
                                        09Region:

                                        EPA PerfCurrent Action Lead:
                                        Not reportedQual:
                                        1980-07-01 04:00:00Finish Date:
                                        1980-07-01 04:00:00Start Date:
                                        1SEQ:
                                        DISCVRYAction Name:
                                        DSAction Code:
                                        00OU:
                                        NFF:
                                        NNPL:
                                        GENERAL ELECTRIC AVIATION SERVS OPSSite Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        0901222Site ID:
                                        09Region:

                                        EPA PerfCurrent Action Lead:
                                        NQual:
                                        1988-11-14 05:00:00Finish Date:
                                        Not reportedStart Date:
                                        1SEQ:
                                        PAAction Name:
                                        PAAction Code:
                                        00OU:
                                        NFF:
                                        NNPL:
                                        GENERAL ELECTRIC AVIATION SERVS OPSSite Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        0901222Site ID:
                                        09Region:

                                        EPA Perf In-HseCurrent Action Lead:
                                        Not reportedQual:
                                        1988-11-14 05:00:00Finish Date:
                                        Not reportedStart Date:
                                        1SEQ:
                                        ARCH SITEAction Name:
                                        VSAction Code:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 674

Item E - 1372 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedSurface Water Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedSoil Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedGroundwater Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedAir Release Indicator:
                                        19880913Actual Date:
                         RFA COMPLETEDCorrective Action:
                                        ENTIRE FACILITYArea Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1923 E AVION STAddress:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Name:

                                        Not reportedSurface Water Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedSoil Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedGroundwater Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedAir Release Indicator:
                                        19911227Actual Date:
                         INVESTIGATION WORKPLAN APPROVEDCorrective Action:
                                        SOILSArea Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1923 E AVION STAddress:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Name:

                                        Not reportedSurface Water Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedSoil Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedGroundwater Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedAir Release Indicator:
                                        19900601Actual Date:
                         INVESTIGATION COMPLETECorrective Action:
                                        SOILSArea Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1923 E AVION STAddress:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Name:

                                        Not reportedSurface Water Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedSoil Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedGroundwater Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedAir Release Indicator:
                                        19930630Actual Date:
                         CMS COMPLETECorrective Action:
                                        SOILSArea Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1923 E AVION STAddress:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Name:

                                        Not reportedSurface Water Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedSoil Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedGroundwater Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedAir Release Indicator:
                                        19930630Actual Date:
                         INVESTIGATION COMPLETECorrective Action:
                                        SOILSArea Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 675

Item E - 1373 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                TAMI NORWOODContact Name:
                                                                                CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1923 E AVION STHandler Address:
                              GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Handler Name:
                                                                                20071116Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

                                        Not reportedSurface Water Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedSoil Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedGroundwater Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedAir Release Indicator:
                                        19961009Actual Date:
                         REMEDY CONSTRUCTION-REMEDY CONSTRUCTEDCorrective Action:
                                        ENTIRE FACILITYArea Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1923 E AVION STAddress:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Name:

                                        Not reportedSurface Water Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedSoil Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedGroundwater Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedAir Release Indicator:
                                        19940916Actual Date:
                         REMEDY DECISIONCorrective Action:
                                        ENTIRE FACILITYArea Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1923 E AVION STAddress:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Name:

                                        Not reportedSurface Water Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedSoil Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedGroundwater Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedAir Release Indicator:
                                        19971203Actual Date:
                         DEFINITION
                         RELEASE TO GW CONTROLLED DETERMINATION-FACILITY DOES NOT MEETCorrective Action:
                                        ENTIRE FACILITYArea Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1923 E AVION STAddress:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Name:

                                        Not reportedSurface Water Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedSoil Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedGroundwater Release Indicator:
                                        Not reportedAir Release Indicator:
                                        19971203Actual Date:
                         DATE
                         HUMAN EXPOSURES CONTROLLED DETERMINATION-YES, APPLICABLE AS OF THISCorrective Action:
                                        ENTIRE FACILITYArea Name:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                        Not reportedAddress 2:
                                        1923 E AVION STAddress:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Name:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 676

Item E - 1374 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                YesTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                YesSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                YesCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:
                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Storage, TreatmentPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Storage, TreatmentTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                PrivateOperator Type:
                              GE COMPANYOperator Name:
                                                                                MunicipalOwner Type:
                              CITY OF LOS ANGELESOwner Name:
                                                                                ARKANSAS CITY, KS 67005Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                PO BOX 797Mailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Corrective Action ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                MunicipalLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                620-442-3600 4331Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ARKANSAS CITY, KS 67005Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                PO BOX 797Contact Address:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 677

Item E - 1375 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ACETATE, ETHYL BENZENE, ETHYL ETHER, METHYL ISOBUTYL KETONE, N-BUTYL
                              THE FOLLOWING SPENT NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS: XYLENE, ACETONE, ETHYLWaste Description:
                              F003Waste Code:

                              METHYL ETHYL KETONEWaste Description:
                              D035Waste Code:

                              LEADWaste Description:
                              D008Waste Code:

                              CHROMIUMWaste Description:
                              D007Waste Code:

                              BARIUMWaste Description:
                              D005Waste Code:

                              REACTIVE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D003Waste Code:

                              CORROSIVE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D002Waste Code:

                              IGNITABLE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D001Waste Code:

Hazardous Waste Summary:

Click Here for Biennial Reporting System Data:

                                        2001Year:
Click Here for Biennial Reporting System Data:

                                        2003Year:
Click Here for Biennial Reporting System Data:

                                        2005Year:
Biennial: List of Years

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20071120Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                NoGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                YesHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 678

Item E - 1376 of 2173

https://enviro.epa.gov/enviro/brs_report_v2.get_data?hand_id=CAD009542721&rep_year=2001
https://enviro.epa.gov/enviro/brs_report_v2.get_data?hand_id=CAD009542721&rep_year=2003
https://enviro.epa.gov/enviro/brs_report_v2.get_data?hand_id=CAD009542721&rep_year=2005


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            CINCINNATI, OH 45215Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1 NEUMANN WAYOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19530101Date Became Current:
                                                            MunicipalLegal Status:
          CITY OF LOS ANGELESOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            513-243-5194Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            CITY NOT REPORTED, OH 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            I-75 & NEUMANN WAYOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                              ALUMINUM.
                              PLATING ON CARBON STEEL; AND (6) CHEMICAL ETCHING AND MILLING OF
                              STEEL; (5) CLEANING/STRIPPING ASSOCIATED WITH TIN, ZINC, AND ALUMINUM
                              ON CARBON STEEL; (4) ALUMINUM OR ZINC-ALUMINUM PLATING ON CARBON
                              (2) TIN PLATING ON CARBON STEEL; (3) ZINC PLATING (SEGREGATED BASIS)
                              FROM THE FOLLOWING PROCESSES: (1) SULFURIC ACID ANODIZING OF ALUMINUM;
                              WASTEWATER TREATMENT SLUDGES FROM ELECTROPLATING OPERATIONS, EXCEPTWaste Description:
                              F006Waste Code:

                              THESE SPENT SOLVENTS AND SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES.
                              LISTED IN F001, F002, OR F004; AND STILL BOTTOMS FROM THE RECOVERY OF
                              ONE OR MORE OF THE ABOVE NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS OR THOSE SOLVENTS
                              CONTAINING, BEFORE USE, A TOTAL OF TEN PERCENT OR MORE (BY VOLUME) OF
                              2-ETHOXYETHANOL, AND 2-NITROPROPANE; ALL SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES/BLENDS
                              KETONE, CARBON DISULFIDE, ISOBUTANOL, PYRIDINE, BENZENE,
                              THE FOLLOWING SPENT NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS: TOLUENE, METHYL ETHYLWaste Description:
                              F005Waste Code:

                              MIXTURES.
                              BOTTOMS FROM THE RECOVERY OF THESE SPENT SOLVENTS AND SPENT SOLVENT
                              MORE OF THOSE SOLVENTS LISTED IN F001, F002, F004, AND F005; AND STILL
                              SOLVENTS, AND A TOTAL OF TEN PERCENT OR MORE (BY VOLUME) OF ONE OR
                              CONTAINING, BEFORE USE, ONE OR MORE OF THE ABOVE NONHALOGENATED
                              NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS; AND ALL SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES/BLENDS
                              MIXTURES/BLENDS CONTAINING, BEFORE USE, ONLY THE ABOVE SPENT
                              ALCOHOL, CYCLOHEXANONE, AND METHANOL; ALL SPENT SOLVENT

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 679

Item E - 1377 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

          GE COMPANYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            CINCINNATI, OH 45215Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1 NEUMANN WAYOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19530101Date Became Current:
                                                            MunicipalLegal Status:
          CITY OF LOS ANGELESOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            CINCINNATI, OH 45215Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1 NEUMANN WAYOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19530101Date Became Current:
                                                            MunicipalLegal Status:
          CITY OF LOS ANGELESOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19550101Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          GE COMPANYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19550101Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          GE COMPANYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-986-6731Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1923 E AVION STOwner/Operator Address:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 680

Item E - 1378 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GENERAL ELECTRIC ONTARIO AIRPORTHandler Name:
                                                            19900412Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20071116Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            CAState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INCHandler Name:
                                                            19970123Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            CAState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INCHandler Name:
                                                            19940304Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19550101Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 681

Item E - 1379 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES, INC.Handler Name:
                                                            19990304Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES - WEST COAST OPERATIOHandler Name:
                                                            19960229Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES/ W COAST OPERATIONSHandler Name:
                                                            19940331Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE AIRCRAFT ENGINES ENGINE MAINTENANCE CHandler Name:
                                                            19920227Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 682

Item E - 1380 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              336411NAICS Code:

                              ELECTROPLATING, PLATING, POLISHING, ANODIZING, AND COLORINGNAICS Description:
                              332813NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20060228Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES, INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20040218Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INCHandler Name:
                                                            20020227Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINEE SERVICES, INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20001012Receive Date:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 683

Item E - 1381 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedDate of Enforcement Action:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedDate Violation was Determined:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Short Description:
                                                            Not reportedAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            NoFound Violation:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9STAEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              WRITTEN INFORMALEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            NoCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            StateEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            19880523Date of Enforcement Action:
                                                            001Enforcement Identifier:
                                                            19880615Scheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            StateViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            ObservedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            19880628Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            19880510Date Violation was Determined:
                                                            TSD - GeneralViolation Short Description:
                                                            StateAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            YesFound Violation:

Facility Has Received Notices of Violation:

                              OTHER PERSONAL AND HOUSEHOLD GOODS REPAIR AND MAINTENANCENAICS Description:
                              81149NAICS Code:

                              AIRCRAFT ENGINE AND ENGINE PARTS MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              336412NAICS Code:

                              AIRCRAFT MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 684

Item E - 1382 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              WRITTEN INFORMALEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            NoCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            StateEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            20051006Date of Enforcement Action:
                                                            501Enforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            StateViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            ObservedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            20051209Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            20051006Date Violation was Determined:
                                                            Generators - GeneralViolation Short Description:
                                                            StateAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            YesFound Violation:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              Not reportedEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            Not reportedCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Agency:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 685

Item E - 1383 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedDate of Enforcement Action:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            EPAViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            ObservedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            19921215Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            19921201Date Violation was Determined:
                                                            TSD - Financial RequirementsViolation Short Description:
                                                            EPAAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            YesFound Violation:

                                                            5500Final Amount:
                                                            1Final Count:
                                                            5500Paid Amount:
                                                            5500Final Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9STAEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              FINAL 3008(A) COMPLIANCE ORDEREnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            NoCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            StateEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            19900605Date of Enforcement Action:
                                                            002Enforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            StateViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            ObservedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            19900909Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            19900427Date Violation was Determined:
                                                            TSD - GeneralViolation Short Description:
                                                            StateAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            YesFound Violation:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 686

Item E - 1384 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              Not reportedEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            Not reportedCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Enforcement Action:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedDate Violation was Determined:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Short Description:
                                                            Not reportedAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            NoFound Violation:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              Not reportedEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            Not reportedCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Agency:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 687

Item E - 1385 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            19900909Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9STAEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            YesFound Violation:
                                                            StateEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            19900427Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            20051209Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            YesFound Violation:
                                                            State Contractor/GranteeEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            20051006Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            NoFound Violation:
                                                            LocalEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            20060928Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            19880615Scheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            19880628Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9STAEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            YesFound Violation:
                                                            StateEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            19880510Evaluation Date:

Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 688

Item E - 1386 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9STAEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            FINANCIAL RECORD REVIEWEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            NoFound Violation:
                                                            StateEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            19880519Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            19921215Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9EPAEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            FINANCIAL RECORD REVIEWEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            YesFound Violation:
                                                            EPA Contractor/GranteeEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            19920514Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 689

Item E - 1387 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                                                Not reportedClosure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPost-Closure Workload Universe:
                                                                                Storage, TreatmentPermit Progress Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedPermit Renewals Workload Universe:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Renewals Baseline:
                                                                                Not on the Baseline2018 GPRA Permit Baseline:
                                                                                Storage, TreatmentTreatment Storage and Disposal Type:
                                                                                NoCommercial TSD Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedSub-Part K Indicator:
                                                                                NNHazardous Secondary Material Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedFederal Facility Indicator:
                                                                                ---Active Site State-Reg Handler:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site State-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Converter Treatment storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                Not reportedActive Site Fed-Reg Treatment Storage and Disposal Facility:
                                                                                NoFederal Universal Waste:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Destination Facility:
                                                                                NoUniversal Waste Indicator:
                                                                                NoOff-Site Waste Receipt:
                                                                                NoUnderground Injection Control:
                                                                                NoSmelting Melting and Refining Furnace Exemption:
                                                                                NoSmall Quantity On-Site Burner Exemption:
                                                                                NoRecycler Activity with Storage:
                                                                                NoTransfer Facility Activity:
                                                                                NoTransporter Activity:
                                                                                NoMixed Waste Generator:
                                                                                NoImporter Activity:
                                                                                NoShort-Term Generator Activity:
                                                                                PrivateOperator Type:
                              GE COMPANYOperator Name:
                                                                                MunicipalOwner Type:
                              CITY OF LOS ANGELESOwner Name:
                                                                                ARKANSAS CITY, KS 67005Mailing City,State,Zip:
                                                                                PO BOX 797Mailing Address:
                                                                                Not reportedState District:
                                                                                Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                                                Corrective Action ActivitiesActive Site Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedAccessibility:
                                                                                Not reportedBiennial Report Cycle:
                                                                                Not reportedNon-Notifier:
                                                                                Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
                                                                                MunicipalLand Type:
                                                                                09EPA Region:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Title:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Email:
                                                                                Not reportedContact Fax:
                                                                                620-442-3600 4331Contact Telephone:
                                                                                ARKANSAS CITY, KS 67005Contact City,State,Zip:
                                                                                PO BOX 797Contact Address:
                                                                                TAMI NORWOODContact Name:
                                                                                CAD009542721EPA ID:
                                                                                ONTARIO, CA 91761Handler City,State,Zip:
                                                                                1923 E AVION STHandler Address:
                              GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Handler Name:
                                                                                20071116Date Form Received by Agency:

RCRA NonGen / NLR:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 690

Item E - 1388 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              LEADWaste Description:
                              D008Waste Code:

                              CHROMIUMWaste Description:
                              D007Waste Code:

                              BARIUMWaste Description:
                              D005Waste Code:

                              REACTIVE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D003Waste Code:

                              CORROSIVE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D002Waste Code:

                              IGNITABLE WASTEWaste Description:
                              D001Waste Code:

Hazardous Waste Summary:

Click Here for Biennial Reporting System Data:

                                        2001Year:
Click Here for Biennial Reporting System Data:

                                        2003Year:
Click Here for Biennial Reporting System Data:

                                        2005Year:
Biennial: List of Years

                                                                                NoSub-Part P Indicator:
                                                                                Not reportedManifest Broker:
                                                                                Not reportedRecycler Activity Without Storage:
                                                                                NoExporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoImporter of Spent Lead Acid Batteries:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Exporter:
                                                                                NoRecognized Trader-Importer:
                                                                                20071120Handler Date of Last Change:
                                                                                Not reportedFinancial Assurance Required:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier With a Compliance Schedule Universe:
                                                                                NoAddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoUnaddressed Significant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                NoSignificant Non-Complier Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedFull Enforcement Universe:
                                                                                Not reportedOperating TSDF Universe:
                                                                                NoGroundwater Controls Indicator:
                                                                                YesHuman Exposure Controls Indicator:
                                                                                NoInstitutional Control Indicator:
                                                                                NoEnvironmental Control Indicator:
                                                                                No NCAPS rankingCorrective Action Priority Ranking:
                                                                                YesTSDFs Only Subject to CA under Discretionary Auth Universe:
                                                                                NoTSDFs Potentially Subject to CA Under 3004 (u)/(v) Universe:
                                                                                NoNon-TSDFs Where RCRA CA has Been Imposed Universe:
                                                                                YesSubject to Corrective Action Universe:
                                                                                YesCorrective Action Workload Universe:
                                                                                No202 GPRA Corrective Action Baseline:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 691

Item E - 1389 of 2173

https://enviro.epa.gov/enviro/brs_report_v2.get_data?hand_id=CAD009542721&rep_year=2001
https://enviro.epa.gov/enviro/brs_report_v2.get_data?hand_id=CAD009542721&rep_year=2003
https://enviro.epa.gov/enviro/brs_report_v2.get_data?hand_id=CAD009542721&rep_year=2005


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            CINCINNATI, OH 45215Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1 NEUMANN WAYOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19530101Date Became Current:
                                                            MunicipalLegal Status:
          CITY OF LOS ANGELESOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            513-243-5194Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            CITY NOT REPORTED, OH 99999Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            I-75 & NEUMANN WAYOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

Handler - Owner Operator:

                              ALUMINUM.
                              PLATING ON CARBON STEEL; AND (6) CHEMICAL ETCHING AND MILLING OF
                              STEEL; (5) CLEANING/STRIPPING ASSOCIATED WITH TIN, ZINC, AND ALUMINUM
                              ON CARBON STEEL; (4) ALUMINUM OR ZINC-ALUMINUM PLATING ON CARBON
                              (2) TIN PLATING ON CARBON STEEL; (3) ZINC PLATING (SEGREGATED BASIS)
                              FROM THE FOLLOWING PROCESSES: (1) SULFURIC ACID ANODIZING OF ALUMINUM;
                              WASTEWATER TREATMENT SLUDGES FROM ELECTROPLATING OPERATIONS, EXCEPTWaste Description:
                              F006Waste Code:

                              THESE SPENT SOLVENTS AND SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES.
                              LISTED IN F001, F002, OR F004; AND STILL BOTTOMS FROM THE RECOVERY OF
                              ONE OR MORE OF THE ABOVE NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS OR THOSE SOLVENTS
                              CONTAINING, BEFORE USE, A TOTAL OF TEN PERCENT OR MORE (BY VOLUME) OF
                              2-ETHOXYETHANOL, AND 2-NITROPROPANE; ALL SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES/BLENDS
                              KETONE, CARBON DISULFIDE, ISOBUTANOL, PYRIDINE, BENZENE,
                              THE FOLLOWING SPENT NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS: TOLUENE, METHYL ETHYLWaste Description:
                              F005Waste Code:

                              MIXTURES.
                              BOTTOMS FROM THE RECOVERY OF THESE SPENT SOLVENTS AND SPENT SOLVENT
                              MORE OF THOSE SOLVENTS LISTED IN F001, F002, F004, AND F005; AND STILL
                              SOLVENTS, AND A TOTAL OF TEN PERCENT OR MORE (BY VOLUME) OF ONE OR
                              CONTAINING, BEFORE USE, ONE OR MORE OF THE ABOVE NONHALOGENATED
                              NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS; AND ALL SPENT SOLVENT MIXTURES/BLENDS
                              MIXTURES/BLENDS CONTAINING, BEFORE USE, ONLY THE ABOVE SPENT
                              ALCOHOL, CYCLOHEXANONE, AND METHANOL; ALL SPENT SOLVENT
                              ACETATE, ETHYL BENZENE, ETHYL ETHER, METHYL ISOBUTYL KETONE, N-BUTYL
                              THE FOLLOWING SPENT NONHALOGENATED SOLVENTS: XYLENE, ACETONE, ETHYLWaste Description:
                              F003Waste Code:

                              METHYL ETHYL KETONEWaste Description:
                              D035Waste Code:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 692

Item E - 1390 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            CINCINNATI, OH 45215Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1 NEUMANN WAYOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19530101Date Became Current:
                                                            MunicipalLegal Status:
          CITY OF LOS ANGELESOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            CINCINNATI, OH 45215Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1 NEUMANN WAYOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19530101Date Became Current:
                                                            MunicipalLegal Status:
          CITY OF LOS ANGELESOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19550101Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          GE COMPANYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19550101Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          GE COMPANYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            909-986-6731Owner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            ONTARIO, CA 91761Owner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            1923 E AVION STOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            Not reportedDate Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INCOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OwnerOwner/Operator Indicator:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 693

Item E - 1391 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

          GENERAL ELECTRIC ONTARIO AIRPORTHandler Name:
                                                            19900412Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            YesCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Not a generator, verifiedFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20071116Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            CAState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INCHandler Name:
                                                            19970123Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            CAState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INCHandler Name:
                                                            19940304Receive Date:

Historic Generators:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone Ext:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Telephone:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator City,State,Zip:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Address:
                                                            Not reportedDate Ended Current:
                                                            19550101Date Became Current:
                                                            PrivateLegal Status:
          GE COMPANYOwner/Operator Name:
                                                            OperatorOwner/Operator Indicator:

                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Email:
                                                            Not reportedOwner/Operator Fax:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 694

Item E - 1392 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES, INC.Handler Name:
                                                            19990304Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES - WEST COAST OPERATIOHandler Name:
                                                            19960229Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES/ W COAST OPERATIONSHandler Name:
                                                            19940331Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE AIRCRAFT ENGINES ENGINE MAINTENANCE CHandler Name:
                                                            19920227Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 695

Item E - 1393 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20060228Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES, INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20040218Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINE SERVICES INCHandler Name:
                                                            20020227Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Exporter:
                                                            NoRecognized Trader Importer:
                                                            NoLarge Quantity Handler of Universal Waste:
                                                            Not reportedState District Owner:
                                                            Large Quantity GeneratorFederal Waste Generator Description:
          GE ENGINEE SERVICES, INC.Handler Name:
                                                            20001012Receive Date:

                                                            Not reportedElectronic Manifest Broker:
                                                            Not reportedNon Storage Recycler Activity:
                                                            NoCurrent Record:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Exporter:
                                                            NoSpent Lead Acid Battery Importer:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 696

Item E - 1394 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedDate Violation was Determined:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Short Description:
                                                            Not reportedAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            NoFound Violation:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9STAEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              WRITTEN INFORMALEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            NoCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            StateEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            19880523Date of Enforcement Action:
                                                            001Enforcement Identifier:
                                                            19880615Scheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            StateViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            ObservedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            19880628Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            19880510Date Violation was Determined:
                                                            TSD - GeneralViolation Short Description:
                                                            StateAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            YesFound Violation:

Facility Has Received Notices of Violation:

                              OTHER PERSONAL AND HOUSEHOLD GOODS REPAIR AND MAINTENANCENAICS Description:
                              81149NAICS Code:

                              AIRCRAFT ENGINE AND ENGINE PARTS MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              336412NAICS Code:

                              AIRCRAFT MANUFACTURINGNAICS Description:
                              336411NAICS Code:

                              ELECTROPLATING, PLATING, POLISHING, ANODIZING, AND COLORINGNAICS Description:
                              332813NAICS Code:

List of NAICS Codes and Descriptions:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 697

Item E - 1395 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              WRITTEN INFORMALEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            NoCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            StateEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            20051006Date of Enforcement Action:
                                                            501Enforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            StateViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            ObservedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            20051209Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            20051006Date Violation was Determined:
                                                            Generators - GeneralViolation Short Description:
                                                            StateAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            YesFound Violation:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              Not reportedEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            Not reportedCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Enforcement Action:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 698

Item E - 1396 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            19921201Date Violation was Determined:
                                                            TSD - Financial RequirementsViolation Short Description:
                                                            EPAAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            YesFound Violation:

                                                            5500Final Amount:
                                                            1Final Count:
                                                            5500Paid Amount:
                                                            5500Final Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9STAEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              FINAL 3008(A) COMPLIANCE ORDEREnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            NoCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            StateEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            19900605Date of Enforcement Action:
                                                            002Enforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            StateViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            ObservedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            19900909Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            19900427Date Violation was Determined:
                                                            TSD - GeneralViolation Short Description:
                                                            StateAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            YesFound Violation:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 699

Item E - 1397 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            Not reportedCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Enforcement Action:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedDate Violation was Determined:
                                                            Not reportedViolation Short Description:
                                                            Not reportedAgency Which Determined Violation:
                                                            NoFound Violation:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:
                              Not reportedEnforcement Type:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Lead Agency:
                                                            Not reportedConsent/Final Order Respondent Name:
                                   Not reportedConsent/Final Order Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Description:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status:
                                                            Not reportedDisposition Status Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Resolution Date:
                                                            Not reportedAppeal Initiated Date:
                                                            Not reportedCorrective Action Component:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Attorney:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Docket Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Enforcement Action:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Identifier:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            EPAViolation Responsible Agency:
                                                            ObservedReturn to Compliance Qualifier:
                                                            19921215Actual Return to Compliance Date:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 700

Item E - 1398 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            StateEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            19900427Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            20051209Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            YesFound Violation:
                                                            State Contractor/GranteeEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            20051006Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            NoFound Violation:
                                                            LocalEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            20060928Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            19880615Scheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            19880628Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9STAEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            YesFound Violation:
                                                            StateEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            19880510Evaluation Date:

Evaluation Action Summary:

                                                            Not reportedFinal Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Count:
                                                            Not reportedPaid Amount:
                                                            Not reportedFinal Monetary Amount:
                                                            Not reportedProposed Amount:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type Description:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Type:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Defaulted Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Actual Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Scheduled Completion Date:
                                                            Not reportedSEP Expenditure Amount:
                                   Not reportedSEP Sequence Number:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            Not reportedEnforcement Responsible Person:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 701

Item E - 1399 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedActual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9STAEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            FINANCIAL RECORD REVIEWEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            NoFound Violation:
                                                            StateEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            19880519Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            19921215Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9EPAEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            FINANCIAL RECORD REVIEWEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            YesFound Violation:
                                                            EPA Contractor/GranteeEvaluation Responsible Agency:
                                                            19920514Evaluation Date:

                                                            Not reportedFormer Citation:
                                                            Not reportedRequest Agency:
                                                            Not reportedDate Response Received:
                                                            Not reportedDate of Request:
                                                            Not reportedScheduled Compliance Date:
                                                            19900909Actual Return to Compliance Date:
                                                            Not reportedEvaluation Responsible Sub-Organization:
                                                            R9STAEvaluation Responsible Person Identifier:
                                                            COMPLIANCE EVALUATION INSPECTION ON-SITEEvaluation Type Description:
                                                            YesFound Violation:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 702

Item E - 1400 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedProject Manager:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INCFacility Name:
                                        Historical - Non-OperatingFacility Type:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:

Activities:

                                        Not reportedTotal Actual Hours:
                                        Not reportedTotal Planned Amount:
                                        Not reportedTotal Planned Hours:
                                        96-100% (highest scores)Calenviroscreen Score:
                                        Not reportedPermit Expiration Date:
                                        Not reportedPermit Effective Date:
                                        RCRA Interim Status PermitPermit Type:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager Lead:
                                        obtained to evaluate rebound data.
                                        maintained in operational condition until sufficient data can be
                                        levels. The shallow extraction wells in areas A, B, and C will be
                                        soils in areas A, B, and C at the site have reached acceptable closure
                                        DTSC since commencing remediation. Concentrations of VOCs in shallow
                                        Quarterly reports on the status of operation have been submitted to
                                        and Maintenance was signed by DTSC and GE on August 28, 1998.
                                        B and C began on May 17, 1996. An Enforceable Agreement for Operation
                                        System operation of the vapor extraction treatment systems in areas A,
                                        DTSC approved the final Remedial Action Plan on September 16, 1994.
                                        Feasibility Study was done in 1993 to fully characterize the site.
                                        groundwater and soil remediation. A Remedial Investigation /
                                        General Electric and DHS was signed September 28, 1988, for both
                                        identify contaminated areas on the facility. A Consent Order between
                                        performed preliminary assessment soil sampling in 1984 and 1987 to
                                        subsurface soils are excavated or disturbed. General Electric
                                        may be exposed to volatile organic compounds if contaminated
                                        and contaminate drinking water supplies. The workers on the facility
                                        substances disposed of in dry wells may potentially enter groundwater
                                        toluene, ethylbenzene) in soils near the dry wells. Hazardous
                                        naphthalene, 2-methylnaph- thalene, and volatile aromatic (xylene,
                                        1,1,1-trichloroethane (TCA), tetrachloroethene (PCE), chloroform,
                                        a preliminary investigation in 1987 indicated the presence of
                                        600 cubic yards of waste and contaminated soil on the site. Results of
                                        hazardous waste were disposed of in dry wells. There is an estimated
                                        that has operated from 1956 to the present. About 6,000 gallons of
                                        The site is a test facility for commercial and military jet enginesQuarterly Update:
                                        Not reportedCommercial Offsite Facility Types:
                                        Not reportedPublic Information Officer:
                                        52Assembly District:
                                        20Senate District:
                                        400359Site Code:
                                        Not reportedSupervisor:
                                        Not reportedFacility Size:
                                        Historical - Non-OperatingFacility Type:
                                        -117.6069Longitude:
                                        34.05695Latitude:
                                        CLOSEDCleanup Status:
                                        ONTARIO INT’L AIRPORTAddress:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INCName:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:

HWP:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 703

Item E - 1401 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedProject Manager:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INCFacility Name:
                                        Historical - Non-OperatingFacility Type:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:

                                        11/20/1990Actual Date:
                                        Closure - CLOSURE PLAN RECEIVEDEvent Description:
                                        TANKSTR1, TANKSTR2, TANKTRT1Unit Names:
                                        Not reportedComments:
                                        Not reportedDue Date:
                                        Imported 12/2011:CLOSURE1Title Description:
                                        Not reportedType:
                                        Not reportedFinal Date:
                                        ClosureActivity Type:
                                        CLOSEDFacility Status:
                                        Not reportedFacility Size:
                                        Not reportedSupervisor:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager Lead:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INCFacility Name:
                                        Historical - Non-OperatingFacility Type:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:

Closure:

                                        11/18/1980Actual Date:
                                        New Operating Permit - APPLICATION PART A RECEIVEDEvent Description:
                                        Not reportedUnit Names:
                                        Not reportedComments:
                                        Not reportedDue Date:
                                        Imported 12/2011:PERMIT1Title Description:
                                        Not reportedType:
                                        Not reportedFinal Date:
                                        Not reportedPermit Being Modified:
                                        Not reportedPermit Being Renewed:
                                        New Operating PermitActivity Type:
                                        CLOSEDFacility Status:
                                        Not reportedSupervisor:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager Lead:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INCFacility Name:
                                        Historical - Non-OperatingFacility Type:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:

                                        03/23/1983Actual Date:
                                        New Operating Permit - CALL-IN LETTER ISSUEDEvent Description:
                                        Not reportedUnit Names:
                                        Not reportedComments:
                                        Not reportedDue Date:
                                        Imported 12/2011:PERMIT1Title Description:
                                        Not reportedType:
                                        Not reportedFinal Date:
                                        Not reportedPermit Being Modified:
                                        Not reportedPermit Being Renewed:
                                        New Operating PermitActivity Type:
                                        CLOSEDFacility Status:
                                        Not reportedSupervisor:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager Lead:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 704

Item E - 1402 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                         ONTARIOLocation City:
                         Not reportedTotal Tanks:
                         Not reportedLocation Address 2:
                         BPCode:
                         1923 EAST AVION STREETLocation Address 1:
                         Not reportedFacility Status:
                         CAD009542721EPA ID:
                         USACountry:
                         ONTARIO, CA 91761-0000City,State,Zip:
                         1923 E. AVION STREETAddress:
                         GENERAL ELECTRICName:

NY MANIFEST:

                                        400359Alias:
                                        Project Code (Site Code)Alias Type:
                                        Not reportedSupervisor:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager Lead:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager:
                                        CLOSEDFacility Status:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INCFacility Name:
                                        Historical - Non-OperatingFacility Type:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:

Alias:

                                        02/06/1992Actual Date:
                                        Closure - 1ST NOTICE OF DEFICIENCY ISSUEDEvent Description:
                                        TANKSTR1, TANKSTR2, TANKTRT1Unit Names:
                                        Not reportedComments:
                                        Not reportedDue Date:
                                        Imported 12/2011:CLOSURE1Title Description:
                                        Not reportedType:
                                        Not reportedFinal Date:
                                        ClosureActivity Type:
                                        CLOSEDFacility Status:
                                        Not reportedFacility Size:
                                        Not reportedSupervisor:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager Lead:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager:
                                        GE ENGINE SERVICES INCFacility Name:
                                        Historical - Non-OperatingFacility Type:
                                        CAD009542721EPA ID:

                                        10/17/1994Actual Date:
                                        Closure - ISSUE CLOSURE VERIFICATIONEvent Description:
                                        TANKSTR1, TANKSTR2, TANKTRT1Unit Names:
                                        Not reportedComments:
                                        Not reportedDue Date:
                                        Imported 12/2011:CLOSURE1Title Description:
                                        Not reportedType:
                                        Not reportedFinal Date:
                                        ClosureActivity Type:
                                        CLOSEDFacility Status:
                                        Not reportedFacility Size:
                                        Not reportedSupervisor:
                                        Not reportedProject Manager Lead:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

TC7095824.2s   Page 705

Item E - 1403 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                         7143915424Mailing Phone:
                         USAMailing Country:
                         Not reportedMailing Zip 4:
                         91761Mailing Zip:
                         VAMailing State:
                         ONTARIOMailing City:
                         Not reportedMailing Address 2:
                         1923 EAST AVION STREETMailing Address 1:
                         ROBERTMailing Contact:
                         GENERAL ELECTRICMailing Name:
                         CAD009542721EPAID:

NY MANIFEST:

                         Not reportedLocation Zip 4:
                         91761Location Zip:
                         CALocation State:

GE ENGINE SERVICES INC.  (Continued) 1000213808

            Toluene Xylenes Chloroform
            Tetrachloroethylene (PCE 1,1,1-Trichloroethane (TCA EthylbenzeneConfirmed COC:
            Ethylbenzene Toluene Xylenes
            Tetrachloroethylene (PCE 1,1,1-Trichloroethane (TCA ChloroformPotential COC:
            AEROSPACE ROCKET TESTING/LAUNCH, JET FUEL STORAGE/REFUELINGPast Use:
            NONE SPECIFIEDAPN:
            -117.6069Longitude:
            34.05695Latitude:
            Not reportedFunding:
            NONE SPECIFIEDSite Mgmt Req:
            NORestricted Use:
            Not reportedSpecial Program:
            20Senate:
            52Assembly:
            Cleanup CypressDivision Branch:
            John ScanduraSupervisor:
            Katherine GouldProgram Manager:
            MBRLead Agency:
            SMBRPRegulatory Agencies:
            NONPL:
            3Acres:
            Corrective ActionSite Type Detailed:
            Corrective ActionSite Type:
            400359Site Code:
            03/20/2013Status Date:
            Inactive - Needs EvaluationStatus:
            80001638Facility ID:
            ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
            1923 E. AVION PLACEAddress:
            GE ENGINE SERVICES INCName:

ENVIROSTOR:

CA CERS
CA CIWQS

CA San Bern. Co. Permit
4176 ft. CA NPDESSite 2 of 3 in cluster AC
0.791 mi. CA CERS TANKS

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
909 ft.

 

1/2-1 CA HIST USTONTARIO, CA  91761
NNE CA CERS HAZ WASTE1923 EAST AVION    N/A
AC174 CA ENVIROSTORGENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 706

Item E - 1404 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    09/28/1988Completed Date:
                    Consent OrderCompleted Document Type:
                    SOILSCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    Sites With No Operable UnitCompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    01/01/1990Completed Date:
                    Consent OrderCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    12/03/1997Completed Date:
                    Interim Measures QuestionnaireCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    12/03/1997Completed Date:
                    Human Exposure ControlledCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    09/16/1994Completed Date:
                    * Remedy SelectedCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    10/09/1996Completed Date:
                    Remedy Construction CompleteCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    12/03/1997Completed Date:
                    Groundwater Migration ControlledCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    09/13/1988Completed Date:
                    RCRA Facility Assessment ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

Completed Info:

                    Envirostor ID NumberAlias Type:
                    80001638Alias Name:
                    Project Code (Site Code)Alias Type:
                    400359Alias Name:
                    EPA Identification NumberAlias Type:
                    CAD009542721Alias Name:
            OTH, SOILPotential Description:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 707

Item E - 1405 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    Not reportedComments:
                    07/01/1985Completed Date:
                    Preliminary Assessment ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    will be conducted by the RWQCB.
                    Remedial Design approved. Groundwater investigation and remediationComments:
                    01/10/1996Completed Date:
                    Design/Implementation WorkplanCompleted Document Type:
                    SOILSCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    Sites With No Operable UnitCompleted Area Name:

                    chronology.
                    Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study Approved per fileComments:
                    06/30/1993Completed Date:
                    RFI ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    SOILSCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    Sites With No Operable UnitCompleted Area Name:

                    chronology.
                    Phase IIb Remedial Investigation Workplan Approved per fileComments:
                    12/27/1991Completed Date:
                    RFI WorkplanCompleted Document Type:
                    SOILSCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    Sites With No Operable UnitCompleted Area Name:

                    Approval of Phase I Remedial InvestigationComments:
                    06/01/1990Completed Date:
                    RFI ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    SOILSCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    Sites With No Operable UnitCompleted Area Name:

                    treatment system.
                    Remedial Action Completion per Site Mit database. O&M of 3 SVE andComments:
                    10/09/1996Completed Date:
                    Remedy Constructed: Operating Properly & SuccessfullyCompleted Document Type:
                    SOILSCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    Sites With No Operable UnitCompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    11/14/1988Completed Date:
                    Preliminary Assessment ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Final Remedial Action plan approval. Per file chronology.Comments:
                    09/16/1994Completed Date:
                    Remedy Selection and Statement of BasisCompleted Document Type:
                    SOILSCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    Sites With No Operable UnitCompleted Area Name:

                    Reassessment of GE PAComments:
                    09/13/1988Completed Date:
                    RCRA Facility Assessment ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 708

Item E - 1406 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                    401330Alias Name:
                    Federal Facility IDAlias Type:
                    CA99799F686800Alias Name:
                    Alternate NameAlias Type:
                    ONTARIO AAFAlias Name:
            SOILPotential Description:
            30011-NO 32000-NOConfirmed COC:
            Explosives (UXO, MEC Munitions Debris (MDPotential COC:
            FIRING RANGE - SMALL ARMS ETC...Past Use:
            NONE SPECIFIEDAPN:
            -117.6083Longitude:
            34.05833Latitude:
            DERAFunding:
            NONE SPECIFIEDSite Mgmt Req:
            NORestricted Use:
            Not reportedSpecial Program:
            20Senate:
            52Assembly:
            Cleanup CypressDivision Branch:
            Manny AlonzoSupervisor:
            Daniel CorderoProgram Manager:
            SMBRPLead Agency:
            SMBRPRegulatory Agencies:
            NONPL:
            875Acres:
            FUDSSite Type Detailed:
            Military EvaluationSite Type:
            401330Site Code:
            03/05/2012Status Date:
            No Further ActionStatus:
            80000416Facility ID:
            ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
            1923 E AVION DRAddress:
            ONTARIO ARMY AIRFIELDName:

                    Not reportedSchedule Revised Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Due Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Document Type:
                    Not reportedSchedule Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedSchedule Area Name:
                    Not reportedFuture Due Date:
                    Not reportedFuture Document Type:
                    Not reportedFuture Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedFuture Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    08/01/1994Completed Date:
                    Interim Measures WorkplanCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    chronology.
                    Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study Approved per fileComments:
                    06/30/1993Completed Date:
                    Corrective Measures Study ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    SOILSCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    Sites With No Operable UnitCompleted Area Name:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 709

Item E - 1407 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

            Not reportedFunding:
            NONE SPECIFIEDSite Mgmt Req:
            NORestricted Use:
            Not reportedSpecial Program:
            20Senate:
            52Assembly:
            Cleanup CypressDivision Branch:
            Not reportedSupervisor:
            Not reportedProgram Manager:
            NONE SPECIFIEDLead Agency:
            NONE SPECIFIEDRegulatory Agencies:
            NONPL:
            Not reportedAcres:
            Tiered PermitSite Type Detailed:
            Tiered PermitSite Type:
            Not reportedSite Code:
            Not reportedStatus Date:
            Inactive - Needs EvaluationStatus:
            71002298Facility ID:
            ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
            1923 E. AVION STREETAddress:
            GENERAL ELECTRIC, MAIN FACILITYName:

                    Not reportedSchedule Revised Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Due Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Document Type:
                    Not reportedSchedule Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedSchedule Area Name:
                    Not reportedFuture Due Date:
                    Not reportedFuture Document Type:
                    Not reportedFuture Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedFuture Area Name:

                    DTSC comments incorporated into final document.Comments:
                    10/12/2011Completed Date:
                    Preliminary Assessment/Site Inspection Report (PA/SI)Completed Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    program.
                    INPR concluded that site is eligible the Formerly Used Defense SitesComments:
                    02/10/1992Completed Date:
                    Inventory Project Report (INPR)Completed Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    01/03/2011Completed Date:
                    Preliminary Endangerment Assessment ReportCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    PROJECT WIDECompleted Area Name:

Completed Info:

                    Envirostor ID NumberAlias Type:
                    J09CA0531Alias Name:
                    Envirostor ID NumberAlias Type:
                    80000416Alias Name:
                    Project Code (Site Code)Alias Type:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 710

Item E - 1408 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              1981Year Installed:
                              ASO/06Container Num:
                              001Tank Num:

                              0017Total Tanks:
                              FAIRFIELD, CT 06431Owner City,St,Zip:
                              3135 EASTON TURNPIKEOwner Address:
                              GENERAL ELECTRIC CO.Owner Name:
                              7149866731Telephone:
                              Not reportedContact Name:
                              JET ENGINE OVERHAULOther Type:
                              OtherFacility Type:
                              00000000186Facility ID:
                              STATERegion:
                              http://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/ustpdfs/pdf/00029F0E.pdfURL:
                              00029F0EFile Number:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1923 EAST AVIONAddress:
                              GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATIONName:

HIST UST:

                              Hazardous Waste GeneratorCERS Description:
                              10037323CERS ID:
                              398642Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1923 E AVION STAddress:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

CERS HAZ WASTE:

                    Not reportedSchedule Revised Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Due Date:
                    Not reportedSchedule Document Type:
                    Not reportedSchedule Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedSchedule Area Name:
                    Not reportedFuture Due Date:
                    Not reportedFuture Document Type:
                    Not reportedFuture Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedFuture Area Name:

                    Not reportedComments:
                    Not reportedCompleted Date:
                    Not reportedCompleted Document Type:
                    Not reportedCompleted Sub Area Name:
                    Not reportedCompleted Area Name:

Completed Info:

                    Envirostor ID NumberAlias Type:
                    71002298Alias Name:
                    EPA Identification NumberAlias Type:
                    CAD009542721Alias Name:
            NONE SPECIFIEDPotential Description:
            NONE SPECIFIEDConfirmed COC:
            NONE SPECIFIEDPotential COC:
            NONE SPECIFIEDPast Use:
            NONE SPECIFIEDAPN:
            -117.6084Longitude:
            34.05034Latitude:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 711

Item E - 1409 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              WASTE OILType of Fuel:
                              WASTETank Used for:
                              00002000Tank Capacity:
                              1970Year Installed:
                              ASO/01Container Num:
                              007Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              06Type of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00004000Tank Capacity:
                              1960Year Installed:
                              ASO/02Container Num:
                              006Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00008000Tank Capacity:
                              1980Year Installed:
                              ASO/03Container Num:
                              005Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              WASTE OILType of Fuel:
                              WASTETank Used for:
                              00008000Tank Capacity:
                              1980Year Installed:
                              ASO/04Container Num:
                              004Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00006000Tank Capacity:
                              1981Year Installed:
                              ASO/05Container Num:
                              003Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              DIESELType of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00006000Tank Capacity:
                              1981Year Installed:
                              ASO/07Container Num:
                              002Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              DIESELType of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00006000Tank Capacity:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 712

Item E - 1410 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              WASTETank Used for:
                              00002000Tank Capacity:
                              Not reportedYear Installed:
                              ASO/10Container Num:
                              013Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              06Type of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00002000Tank Capacity:
                              1963Year Installed:
                              ASO/11Container Num:
                              012Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              06Type of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00002000Tank Capacity:
                              1964Year Installed:
                              ASO/12Container Num:
                              011Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              06Type of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00002000Tank Capacity:
                              1964Year Installed:
                              ASO/13Container Num:
                              010Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              Not reportedTank Used for:
                              00000500Tank Capacity:
                              1970Year Installed:
                              ASO/14Container Num:
                              009Tank Num:

                              Visual, Vapor Sniff WellLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              WASTETank Used for:
                              00008000Tank Capacity:
                              1984Year Installed:
                              SPO/01Container Num:
                              008Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              8Container Construction Thickness:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 713

Item E - 1411 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        1923 EAST AVION STREETAddress:
                                        SOUTH CARGO RAMP REHABILITATIONName:

NPDES:

                              Underground Storage TankCERS Description:
                              10037323CERS ID:
                              398642Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1923 E AVION STAddress:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

                              Aboveground Petroleum StorageCERS Description:
                              10037323CERS ID:
                              398642Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1923 E AVION STAddress:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

CERS TANKS:

Click here for Geo Tracker PDF:

                              Visual, Vapor Sniff WellLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00004000Tank Capacity:
                              1984Year Installed:
                              SPO03Container Num:
                              017Tank Num:

                              Visual, Vapor Sniff WellLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00004000Tank Capacity:
                              1984Year Installed:
                              SPO02Container Num:
                              016Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              WASTETank Used for:
                              00000250Tank Capacity:
                              1968Year Installed:
                              ASO/08Container Num:
                              015Tank Num:

                              VisualLeak Detection:
                              Not reportedContainer Construction Thickness:
                              Not reportedType of Fuel:
                              PRODUCTTank Used for:
                              00007000Tank Capacity:
                              Not reportedYear Installed:
                              ASO/09Container Num:
                              014Tank Num:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 714

Item E - 1412 of 2173

http://www.web.edrnet.com/ordering/switchboard/redirect.aspx?s=GRR_CA_HISTUST_PDF&img_id=00029F0E


MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        90045Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        Los AngelesOperator City:
                                        7301 World Way WestOperator Address:
                                        Los Angeles World AirportsOperator Name:
                                        11/03/2016Status Date:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36I004993WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1923 E AVION STAddress:
                                        ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        91764Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        OntarioDischarge City:
                                        Ontario International Airport AuthorityDischarge Name:
                                        303 E B StreetDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        02/24/2020Termination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        10/12/2018Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        ConstructionProgram Type:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36C384883WDID:
                                        2009-0009-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        502337Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        8Region:
                                        CAS000002NPDES Number:
                                        TerminatedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 715

Item E - 1413 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        Not reportedOperator Type:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact:
                                        Not reportedOperator Zip:
                                        Not reportedOperator State:
                                        Not reportedOperator City:
                                        Not reportedOperator Address:
                                        Not reportedOperator Name:
                                        Not reportedContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone:
                                        Not reportedContact Title:
                                        Not reportedContact:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size Unit:
                                        Not reportedPlace Size:
                                        Not reportedStatus Date:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedProcessed Date:
                                        Not reportedReceived Date:
                                        90045Discharge Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDischarge State:
                                        Los AngelesDischarge City:
                                        7301 World Way WestDischarge Address:
                                        Los Angeles World AirportsDischarge Name:
                                        11/01/2016Termination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        04/08/1992Effective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        IndustrialProgram Type:
                                        8 36I004993WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        EnrolleeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        97-03-DWQOrder Number:
                                        213197Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        0Agency Number:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:

NPDES as of 03/2018:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 716

Item E - 1414 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Airport Environmental ManagerOperator Contact Title:
                                        Robert FreemanOperator Contact:
                                        90045Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        Los AngelesOperator City:
                                        7301 World Way WestOperator Address:
                                        Los Angeles World AirportsOperator Name:
                                        rfreeman@lawa.orgContact Email:
                                        Not reportedContact Phone Ext:
                                        646-424-6474Contact Phone:
                                        Airport Environmental ManagerContact Title:
                                        Robert FreemanContact:
                                        AcresPlace Size Unit:
                                        1463Place Size:
                                        11/03/2016Status Date:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        04/08/1992Processed Date:
                                        05/09/2008Received Date:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        11/01/2016Termination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        8 36I004993WDID:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        IndustrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        213197Regulatory Measure ID:
                                        8Region:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedStatus:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        Not reportedPrimary Sic:
                                        Not reportedCertification Date:
                                        Not reportedCertifier Title:
                                        Not reportedCertifier:
                                        Not reportedReceiving Water Name:
                                        Not reportedDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 717

Item E - 1415 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedExpiration Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedEffective Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date Of Regulatory Measure:
                                        Not reportedProgram Type:
                                        ConstructionRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        8 36C384883WDID:
                                        Not reportedOrder Number:
                                        Not reportedPlace ID:
                                        Not reportedRegulatory Measure ID:
                                        Not reportedAgency Number:
                                        Not reportedRegion:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedFacility Status:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1923 EAST AVION STREETAddress:
                                        SOUTH CARGO RAMP REHABILITATIONName:

                                        Not reportedTertiary Sic:
                                        Not reportedSecondary Sic:
                                        4581-Airports, Flying Fields, and Airport Terminal ServicesPrimary Sic:
                                        22-JUN-15Certification Date:
                                        Airport Environmental ManagerCertifier Title:
                                        Robert FreemanCertifier:
                                        Santa Ana RiverReceiving Water Name:
                                        NDir Discharge Uswater Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Water Sewer Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Utility Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Transport Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Residential Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Recons Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Other Description:
                                        Not reportedConstype Industrial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Gas Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Electrical Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Commertial Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Comm Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Cable Line Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Below Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedConstype Above Ground Ind:
                                        Not reportedEmergency Phone Ext:
                                        310-908-1495Emergency Phone:
                                        Not reportedConstype Linear Utility Ind:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact Title:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Contact:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Zip:
                                        CaliforniaDeveloper State:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper City:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper Address:
                                        Not reportedDeveloper:
                                        City/Town AgencyOperator Type:
                                        rfreeman@lawa.orgOperator Contact Email:
                                        Not reportedOperator Contact Phone Ext:
                                        424-646-6474Operator Contact Phone:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 718

Item E - 1416 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

10/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
LARGE QUANTITY GENERATORPermit Category:
PT0002689Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

10/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
REGULAR UST ANNUAL INSPECTION (PER TANK)Permit Category:
PT0016537Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

10/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
APSA 10,001-100,000 GAL FAC CAPACITYPermit Category:
PT0016535Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

10/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
UW HANDLER WITH ANOTHER CUPA PERMITPermit Category:
PT0016534Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

San Bern. Co. Permit:

                                        91764Operator Zip:
                                        CaliforniaOperator State:
                                        OntarioOperator City:
                                        303 E B StreetOperator Address:
                                        Ontario International Airport AuthorityOperator Name:
                                        03/11/2020Status Date:
                                        TerminatedStatus:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Zip:
                                        Not reportedDischarge State:
                                        Not reportedDischarge City:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Name:
                                        Not reportedDischarge Address:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 719

Item E - 1417 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

10/31/2013Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
EPCRA FACILITYPermit Category:
PT0016536Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

10/31/2013Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
REGULAR UST ANNUAL INSPECTION (PER TANK)Permit Category:
PT0021720Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

10/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 31-50 CHEMICALSPermit Category:
PT0002690Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

10/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
REGULAR UST ANNUAL INSPECTION (PER TANK)Permit Category:
PT0011565Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

10/31/2022Expiration Date:
ACTIVEFacility Status:
REGULAR UST ANNUAL INSPECTION (PER TANK)Permit Category:
PT0011564Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 720

Item E - 1418 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
G E ENGINE SERVICES INCName:

07/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS WASTE GENERATOR - 101-250 EMPLOYEESPermit Category:
PT0002120Permit Number:
GE AVIATION SERVICESOwner:
FA0003388Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
G E ENGINE SERVICES INCName:

07/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZMAT HANDLER 101-250 EMPLOYEES (W/GEN PRMT)Permit Category:
PT0002119Permit Number:
GE AVIATION SERVICESOwner:
FA0003388Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
G E ENGINE SERVICES INCName:

07/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
PBR ANNUAL FEEPermit Category:
PT0002121Permit Number:
GE AVIATION SERVICESOwner:
FA0003388Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
G E ENGINE SERVICES INCName:

10/31/2010Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
REGULAR UST ANNUAL INSPECTION (PER TANK)Permit Category:
PT0010665Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

10/31/2010Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
REGULAR UST ANNUAL INSPECTION (PER TANK)Permit Category:
PT0010664Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 721

Item E - 1419 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                                        Not reportedLongitude:
                                        Not reportedLatitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        Not reportedTermination Date:
                                        03/20/2019Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        Not reportedNPDES Number:
                                        Not reportedWDID:
                                        2019-0005-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Co-PermiteeRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        ActiveRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        SLICProgram:
                                        SBRegion:
                                        Not reportedSIC/NAICS:
                                        OtherPlace/Project Type:
                                        1923 East Avion Street, Ontario, CA 91761Agency Address:
                                        Ontario International Airport AuthorityAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1923 EAST AVION STREETAddress:
                                        ONTARIO INTL AIRPORTName:

CIWQS:

10/31/2005Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
REGULAR UST ANNUAL INSPECTION (PER TANK)Permit Category:
PT0011567Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

10/31/2005Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
REGULAR UST ANNUAL INSPECTION (PER TANK)Permit Category:
PT0011566Permit Number:
Ontario International Airport AuthorityOwner:
FA0002014Facility ID:
SAN BERNARDINORegion:
ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
1923 E AVION STAddress:
ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

07/31/2007Expiration Date:
INACTIVEFacility Status:
HAZARDOUS WASTE GENERATOR RCRA LQGPermit Category:
PT0017053Permit Number:
GE AVIATION SERVICESOwner:
FA0003388Facility ID:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 722

Item E - 1420 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Failure of the leak detection equipment to be installed, calibrated,Violation Description:
                              16, Section(s) 2641(j)
                              23 CCR 16 2641(j) - California Code of Regulations, Title 23, ChapterCitation:
                              04-23-2021Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              on CERS.
                              ACTION: Provide a UST Statement of Understanding and Compliance form
                              changes/updates are needed on CERS. See corrective action. CORRECTIVE
                              Returned to compliance on 05/07/2021. OBSERVATION: The followingViolation Notes:
                              Understanding and Compliance Form.
                              Failure to submit the Underground Storage Tank Statement ofViolation Description:
                              Chapter 16, Section(s) 2715(a)(2)
                              23 CCR 16 2715(a)(2) - California Code of Regulations, Title 23,Citation:
                              04-23-2021Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

Violations:

                              Chemical Storage FacilitiesCERS Description:
                              10037323CERS ID:
                              398642Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                              1923 E AVION STAddress:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

CERS:

                                        -117.60845Longitude:
                                        34.05169Latitude:
                                        0Violations within 5 years:
                                        0Enforcement Actions within 5 years:
                                        Not reportedTTWQ:
                                        Not reportedComplexity:
                                        Not reportedMajor/Minor:
                                        Not reportedDesign Flow:
                                        Not reportedExpiration/Review Date:
                                        11/01/2016Termination Date:
                                        04/08/1992Effective Date:
                                        Not reportedAdoption Date:
                                        CAS000001NPDES Number:
                                        8 36I004993WDID:
                                        2014-0057-DWQOrder Number:
                                        Storm water industrialRegulatory Measure Type:
                                        TerminatedRegulatory Measure Status:
                                        INDSTWProgram:
                                        8Region:
                                        4581SIC/NAICS:
                                        Industrial - Airports, Flying Fields, and Airport Terminal ServicesPlace/Project Type:
                                        7301 World Way West Rm 312, Los Angeles, CA 90045Agency Address:
                                        Los Angeles World AirportsAgency:
                                        ONTARIO, CA 91761City,State,Zip:
                                        1923 E AVION STAddress:
                                        ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTName:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 723

Item E - 1421 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              monitoring system capable of detecting the entry of the hazardous
                              Failure of the UST system to be designed and constructed with aViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 29291(b)
                              HSC 6.7 29291(b) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              08-18-2017Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              both tanks within 30 days. (REPEAT VIOLATION-CLASS 1)
                              plans and apply for a permit for replacement of the spill buckets for
                              requirement. (REPEAT VIOLATION-CLASS 1). CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit
                              inspection, the spill buckets did not meet the 5-gallon capacity
                              Returned to compliance on 05/21/2021. OBSERVATION: At the time ofViolation Notes:
                              records of spill containment testing for 36 months. "
                              engineer. Tested by a certified UST service technician. Maintain
                              engineering standards, or a method approved by a professional
                              Tested using applicable manufacturer guidelines, industry codes,
                              thereafter, or within 30 days after a repair to the spill container.
                              corrosion. Perform a tightness test at installation, every 12 months
                              removal of liquid from the spill container. Be resistant to galvanic
                              five gallons. Have a functional drain valve or other method for the
                              maintain a liquid-tight spill container. Have a minimum capacity of
                              "Failure to meet one or more of the following requirements: Install orViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25284.2
                              HSC 6.7 25284.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              04-23-2021Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              components, re-tested and passed. Violation abated.
                              annular sensor (VR 409) for the generator tank with like for like
                              properly. CORRECTIVE ACTION: The Service Technician replaced the
                              inspection, the annular sensor for the generator tank was not working
                              Returned to compliance on 04/29/2020. OBSERVATION: At the time ofViolation Notes:
                              operated, and/or maintained properly.
                              Failure of the leak detection equipment to be installed, calibrated,Violation Description:
                              16, Section(s) 2641(j)
                              23 CCR 16 2641(j) - California Code of Regulations, Title 23, ChapterCitation:
                              04-29-2020Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              diesel generator tank, re-tested and passed. Violation abated.
                              the annular sensor (VR 409) with like for like components for the
                              working properly. CORRECTIVE ACTION: The Service Technician replaced
                              inspection, the annular sensor for the diesel generator tank was not
                              Returned to compliance on 04/23/2021. OBSERVATION: At the time ofViolation Notes:
                              operated, and/or maintained properly.

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 724

Item E - 1422 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              of water to verify if a leak exists.
                              Conduct the necessary inspection and/or testing to verify the source
                              technician indicated water was also in the annular space today.
                              water is entering the interstitial space of the Terminal 4 tank. The
                              Returned to compliance on 09/27/2018. As indicated in previous months,Violation Notes:
                              installed on or after July 1, 2003.
                              Failure to keep water out of the secondary containment of UST systemsViolation Description:
                              Code, Chapter 6.7, Section(s) 25290.1(c)(3),25290.2(c)(3)
                              HSC 6.7 25290.1(c)(3),25290.2(c)(3) - California Health and SafetyCitation:
                              08-17-2018Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              department. Upload the current statement to the CERS website.
                              to show the current operator certification and submit a copy to this
                              Statement has an expired operator certification. Update the statement
                              Returned to compliance on 09/12/2018. The Designated OperatorViolation Notes:
                              identification and/or change of the DO within 30 days.
                              Failure to submit the UPA. of the designated operator (DO)Violation Description:
                              16, Section(s) 2715(a)
                              23 CCR 16 2715(a) - California Code of Regulations, Title 23, ChapterCitation:
                              08-17-2018Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              DEPARTMENT WITHIN 30 DAYS.
                              REPAIR/REPLACEMENT OF SPILL BUCKET WITH PASSING TEST RESULTS TO THIS
                              FAILED SPILL BUCKET AND RETEST. PROVIDE DOCUMENTATION OF
                              Returned to compliance on 04/30/2014. IMMEDIATELY REPAIR/REPLACEViolation Notes:
                              containment.
                              substance stored in the primary containment into the secondary
                              monitoring system capable of detecting the entry of the hazardous
                              Failure of the UST system to be designed and constructed with aViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 29291(b)
                              HSC 6.7 29291(b) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              04-17-2014Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              AND RE-TESTED ANNULAR SENSOR ( VR 409)-PASSED
                              MONITORING CERTIFICATION. COMPLIANCE MET ON SITE: TECHNICIAN REPLACED
                              INSPECTION, TERMINAL 4 TANK’S ANNULAR SENSOR FAILED DURING THE
                              Returned to compliance on 08/18/2017. OBSERVATION: DURING THEViolation Notes:
                              substance into the secondary containment.

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 725

Item E - 1423 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              SYSTEM.
                              30-DAYS, CALL FOR A WITNESSED TEST OF THE DIESEL’S ESO & FAILSAFE
                              COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT: TROUBLESHOOT SIPHON OPERATION PROBLEMS. WITHIN
                              MONITORING CERTIFICATION. ESO & THE FAIL SAFE SYSTEMS WERE NOT TESTED.
                              SYSTEM--- FLEET MAINTENANCE AREA--- STOP OPERATING DURING THE
                              TOOK PLACE ON 08/29/17 BY SHANE BARBAO OBSERVATION: THE DIESEL SIPHON
                              Returned to compliance on 08/29/2017. 09/25/17 : WITNESSED INSPECTIONViolation Notes:
                              automatic tank gauge (ATG), etc.).
                              hydrostatic (VPH) system, sensors, line-leak detectors (LLD),
                              detection equipment as required every 12 months (vapor, pressure,
                              Failure to have a properly qualified service technician test leakViolation Description:
                              16, Section(s) 2715(i)
                              23 CCR 16 2715(i) - California Code of Regulations, Title 23, ChapterCitation:
                              08-18-2017Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              RE-TESTED- PASSED
                              TECHNICIAN REPLACED LIGHT BULB IN THE EXTERNAL OVERFILL ALARM AND
                              EXTERNAL OVERFILL ALARM FAILED WHEN TESTED. COMPLIANCE MET ON SITE:
                              Returned to compliance on 04/17/2015. OBSERVATION: THE LIGHT IN THEViolation Notes:
                              product due to overfilling.
                              none of the fittings located on the top of the tank are exposed to
                              capacity; or 4. Provide positive shut-off of flow to the tank so that
                              the tank when the tank is filled to no more than 95 percent of
                              before the tank overfills; or 3. Provide positive shut-off of flow to
                              of capacity; and activate an audible alarm at least five minutes
                              restriction occurs when the tank is filled to no more than 95 percent
                              at least 30 minutes before the tank overfills, provided the
                              audible and visual alarm; or 2. Restrict delivery of flow to the tank
                              percent full by restricting the flow into the tank or triggering an
                              requirements: 1. Alert the transfer operator when the tank is 90
                              Failure of the overfill prevention system to meet one of the followingViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 2665
                              23 CCR 16 2665 - California Code of Regulations, Title 23, Chapter 16,Citation:
                              04-17-2015Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Waste tank (CCR 66265.195)
                              Returned to compliance on 11/14/2017. Failure to inspect HazardousViolation Notes:
                              Hazardous Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              Section(s) Multiple
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.5,Citation:
                              11-01-2017Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 726

Item E - 1424 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              the tank at Terminal 4 indicates that the annular space will not hold
                              Returned to compliance on 04/04/2019. Testing of the annular space ofViolation Notes:
                              capable of detecting water intrusion into the secondary containment.
                              stored in the primary containment into the secondary containment and
                              the entry of the liquid or vapor-phase of the hazardous substance
                              designed and constructed with a monitoring system capable of detecting
                              Failure of a UST system installed on or after July 1, 2004 to beViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25290.1(d)
                              HSC 6.7 25290.1(d) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              09-27-2018Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              DETECTOR AND SCHEDULE RETEST WITH THIS DEPARTMENT WITHIN 15 DAYS.
                              DETECTOR FAILED WHEN TESTED. IMMEDIATELY REPAIR/REPLACE FAILED
                              Returned to compliance on 04/30/2014. LD2000 VMI MECHANICAL LINE LEAKViolation Notes:
                              Failure to install line leak detector on pressurized piping system.Violation Description:
                              Section(s) 25292(e)
                              HSC 6.7 25292(e) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              04-17-2014Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              fees will apply.
                              days. The SB989 failure was noted on report dated 03/19/2019. Penalty
                              SB989 repairs to the turbine sump for the unleaded tank within 30
                              permits. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit plans and apply for a permit for
                              replaced inside the turbine sump for the unleaded tank without
                              Returned to compliance on 05/06/2020. OBSERVATION: Penetrations wereViolation Notes:
                              containment testing).
                              Failure to maintain secondary containment (e.g., failure of secondaryViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25291(a)(2)
                              HSC 6.7 25291(a)(2) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              04-29-2020Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              space within 7 days. Provide a work order.
                              annular space. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Remove moisture from the annular
                              inspection the following was observed that there was moisture in the
                              Returned to compliance on 04/30/2021. OBSERVATION: At the time ofViolation Notes:
                              installed on or after July 1, 2003.
                              Failure to keep water out of the secondary containment of UST systemsViolation Description:
                              Code, Chapter 6.7, Section(s) 25290.1(c)(3),25290.2(c)(3)
                              HSC 6.7 25290.1(c)(3),25290.2(c)(3) - California Health and SafetyCitation:
                              04-23-2021Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 727

Item E - 1425 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              diesel) within 30 days.
                              for replacement of the spill buckets for both tanks (unleaded and
                              requirement. CORRECTIVE ACTION: Submit plans and apply for a permit
                              inspection, the spill buckets did not meet the 5-gallon capacity
                              Returned to compliance on 05/21/2021. OBSERVATION: At the time ofViolation Notes:
                              records of spill containment testing for 36 months. "
                              engineer. Tested by a certified UST service technician. Maintain
                              engineering standards, or a method approved by a professional
                              Tested using applicable manufacturer guidelines, industry codes,
                              thereafter, or within 30 days after a repair to the spill container.
                              corrosion. Perform a tightness test at installation, every 12 months
                              removal of liquid from the spill container. Be resistant to galvanic
                              five gallons. Have a functional drain valve or other method for the
                              maintain a liquid-tight spill container. Have a minimum capacity of
                              "Failure to meet one or more of the following requirements: Install orViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25284.2
                              HSC 6.7 25284.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              04-29-2020Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HMRRPViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Returned to compliance on 06/29/2015.Violation Notes:
                              business plan is complete, accurate, and up-to-date.
                              Failure to annually review and electronically certify that theViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 25508.2
                              HSC 6.95 25508.2 - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.95,Citation:
                              04-29-2015Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              this office.
                              days and submit a signed Certificate of Financial Responsibility to
                              Responsibility expired on 11/04/17. Update the certificate within 30
                              Returned to compliance on 09/12/2018. Certificate of FinancialViolation Notes:
                              Financial Responsibility or other mechanism of financial assurance.
                              Failure to submit and maintain complete and current Certification ofViolation Description:
                              Chapter 6.75, Section(s) 25299.30-25299.34
                              HSC 6.75 25299.30-25299.34 - California Health and Safety Code,Citation:
                              08-17-2018Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              within 30 days.
                              drop. Submit plans for repair of the annular space to this office
                              the vacuum level dropped from -10.0 to -9.4 inHg and continued to
                              a vacuum of -10.0 in Hg for 60 minutes. After 17 minutes of testing

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 728

Item E - 1426 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              MET ON SITE: TECHNICIAN REPLACED AND RE-TESTED ALARM- PASSED
                              BULB) IN THE EXTERNAL OVERFILL ALARM FAILED WHEN TESTED. COMPLIANCE
                              Returned to compliance on 08/18/2017. OBSERVATION: THE VISUAL ( LIGHTViolation Notes:
                              overfilling.
                              located on the top of the tank are exposed to product due to
                              positive shut-off of flow to the tank so that none of the fittings
                              tank is filled to no more than 95 percent of capacity; or Provide
                              overfills; or Provide positive shut-off of flow to the tank when the
                              activate an audible alarm at least five minutes before the tank
                              when the tank is filled to no more than 95 percent of capacity; and
                              minutes before the tank overfills, provided the restriction occurs
                              and visual alarm; or Restrict delivery of flow to the tank at least 30
                              full by restricting the flow into the tank or triggering an audible
                              requirements: Alert the transfer operator when the tank is 90 percent
                              Failure of the overfill prevention system to meet one of the followingViolation Description:
                              Section(s) 2665
                              23 CCR 16 2665 - California Code of Regulations, Title 23, Chapter 16,Citation:
                              08-18-2017Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              WITH CURRENT INFORMATION.
                              INSPECTION, VR 323 WERE OBSERVED. COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT: UPDATE CERS
                              HELP. 2) LIQUID SENSORS WERE NOTED TO BE VR 208-- DURING THE
                              VALID-- OBTAIN A VAILD NUMBER-contact BOE at 800-400-7115 IF YOU NEED
                              ITEMS LISTED IN CERS MUST BE UPDATED. 1) THE CURRENT BOE NUMBER IS NOT
                              Returned to compliance on 09/17/2017. OBSERVATION: THE FOLLOWING USTViolation Notes:
                              operate a UST, or for renewal of the permit.
                              Failure to submit a complete and accurate application for a permit toViolation Description:
                              Chapter 6.7, Section(s) 25284, 25286
                              23 CCR 6.7 25284, 25286 - California Code of Regulations, Title 23,Citation:
                              08-18-2017Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              Responsibility on CERS.
                              02/24/2020 and is expired. Provide a current Certificate of Financial
                              ACTION: The Certificate of Financial Responsibility is dated
                              changes/updates are needed on CERS. See corrective action. CORRECTIVE
                              Returned to compliance on 05/07/2021. OBSERVATION: The followingViolation Notes:
                              Financial Responsibility or other mechanism of financial assurance.
                              Failure to submit and maintain complete and current Certification ofViolation Description:
                              Chapter 6.75, Section(s) 25299.30-25299.34
                              HSC 6.75 25299.30-25299.34 - California Health and Safety Code,Citation:
                              04-23-2021Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 729

Item E - 1427 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-28-2014Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

Evaluation:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              HWViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              containers lawfully (CCR 66261.7)
                              Returned to compliance on 07/02/2015. Failure to manage contaminatedViolation Notes:
                              Haz Waste Generator Program - Operations/Maintenance - GeneralViolation Description:
                              6.5, Section(s) Multiple Sections
                              HSC 6.5 Multiple Sections - California Health and Safety Code, ChapterCitation:
                              04-29-2015Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              re-tested and passed. Violation abated.
                              leak detector for the unleaded tank with like for like components,
                              testing. CORRECTIVE ACTION: The service technician replaced the line
                              inspection, the line leak detector for the unleaded tank failed
                              Returned to compliance on 04/29/2020. OBSERVATION: At the time of theViolation Notes:
                              detected.
                              or shut off the flow of product through the piping when a leak is
                              of 3.0 gallons per hour leak at 10 pounds per square inch and restrict
                              Monitored at least hourly with the capability of detecting a release
                              pressurized piping to meet one or more of the following requirements:
                              Failure of the functional line leak detector (LLD) monitoringViolation Description:
                              Chapter 16, Section(s) 2636(f)(2)
                              23 CCR 16 2636(f)(2) - California Code of Regulations, Title 23,Citation:
                              04-29-2020Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:
                              USTViolation Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentViolation Division:
                              A PERMIT WILL BE REQUIRED FOR PENETRATION REPAIRS.
                              10 DAYS, COMPLETE AND SUBMIT THE REPAIR PLAN FOR THE DIESEL UDC. NOTE:
                              YET TO BE SUBMITTED TO THIS DEPARTMENT FOR REVIEW. REQUIREMENT: WITHIN
                              THE ON-SITE CONTRACTOR, PLANS FOR REPAIR HAVE BEEN DRAWN UP, BUT HAVE
                              LOCATED AT APPROXIMATELY THE SAME HEIGHT WITHIN THE CONTAINMENT. PER
                              HAS YET TO BE IDENTIFIED AS ALL PENETRATIONS (PIPING AND CONDUIT) ARE
                              WITHIN THE DIESEL UDC (MAINTENANCE YARD). THE EXACT POINT OF FAILURE
                              CONTAINMENT (SB989) TESTING PERFORMED ON 3/22/16 REVEALED A FAILURE
                              Returned to compliance on 04/19/2016. THE TRIENNIAL SECONDARYViolation Notes:
                              Failure to operate the UST system to prevent spills and/or overfills.Violation Description:
                              Section(s) 25292.1(a)
                              HSC 6.7 25292.1(a) - California Health and Safety Code, Chapter 6.7,Citation:
                              04-12-2016Violation Date:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Violation Source:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 730

Item E - 1428 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              YesViolations Found:
                              08-18-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Routine inspection with monitoring certificationEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              08-17-2018Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              AIRPORTS REPRESENTATIVES.
                              PRESENT FOR STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD AND LOS ANGELES WORLDEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              07-26-2013Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ON SITE FOR A FINAL PLAN CHECK INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              07-09-2021Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ON SITE TO CONDUCT A FINAL PLAN CHECK INSPECTION FOR SB989 REPAIRS.Eval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              06-15-2020Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              certification testing.
                              inspection. Inspection was conducted during the annual monitoring
                              On-site to conduct an Annual Underground Storage Tank (UST)Eval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-29-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              UST REINSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 731

Item E - 1429 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-09-2019Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Unleaded STP sump.
                              On-site to witness the SB989 6-month post repairs test for theEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              12-17-2020Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              the Diesel generator at Terminal 4.
                              On-site to conduct a final plan check inspection for repairs made toEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              11-18-2020Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              APSAEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              11-12-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              APSAEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              11-01-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ONTARIO AIR PORT- UST- RE---INSPECTIONEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              08-29-2017Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              CERTIFICATION--TRAINING W/ K.A & J.H.
                              ONTARIO AIRPORT- UST INSPECTION & UST MONITORINGEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 732

Item E - 1430 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              11-12-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              11-01-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Special inspection of the annular spaceEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              09-27-2018Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Routine inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-29-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              inspection.
                              On-site to conduct an Annual Underground Storage Tank (UST)Eval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-23-2021Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              UST ANNUAL INSPECTION WITH MONITORING SYSTEM CERTIFICATIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-17-2014Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Routine inspection with monitoring certificationEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 733

Item E - 1431 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ROUTINE INSPECTION.Eval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-29-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              permit at the UST Maintenance Yard located at 2132 E. Avion St.
                              On-site to conduct a plan check inspection for a dispenser upgradeEval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              04-23-2021Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              ONTARIO WORLD AIRPORTS- UST MONITORING CERTIFICATIONEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-17-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              PANELS)W/ STEVEN GRAHAM
                              UST FIELD INSPECTION-ANNUAL MONITORING SYSTEM CERTIFICATION (3 TANKS/2Eval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-12-2016Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              USTEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Pre-UST removal site meeting with contractor.Eval Notes:
                              Other, not routine, done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              11-19-2013Eval Date:
                              Other/UnknownEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Routine inspectionEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              04-29-2015Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HMRRPEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 734

Item E - 1432 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              04-17-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1923 E AVION STSite Address:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              USTEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              04-17-2014Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1923 E AVION STSite Address:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              USTEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              04-12-2016Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1923 E AVION STSite Address:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

Enforcement Action:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              NoViolations Found:
                              11-12-2020Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              HWEval Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEval Division:
                              Not reportedEval Notes:
                              Routine done by local agencyEval Type:
                              YesViolations Found:
                              11-01-2017Eval Date:
                              Compliance Evaluation InspectionEval General Type:

                              CERS,Eval Source:
                              APSAEval Program:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 735

Item E - 1433 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1923 E Avion StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mailing AddressEntity Name:
                              Facility Mailing AddressAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Isabel EspinozaEntity Name:
                              Document PreparerAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              -117.610160Longitude:
                              34.050979Latitude:
                              Unknown,Ref Point Type Desc:
                              Not reportedCoord Name:
                              10037323Program ID:
                              APSAEnv Int Type Code:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTFacility Name:
                              398642Site ID:

Coordinates:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HWEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              04-29-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1923 E AVION STSite Address:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              HMRRPEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:
                              Not reportedEnf Action Notes:
                              Notice of Violation Issued by the Inspector at the Time of InspectionEnf Action Description:
                              Notice of Violation (Unified Program)Enf Action Type:
                              04-29-2015Enf Action Date:
                              91761Site Zip:
                              ONTARIOSite City:
                              1923 E AVION STSite Address:
                              ONTARIO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORTSite Name:
                              398642Site ID:

                              CERS,Enf Action Source:
                              USTEnf Action Program:
                              San Bernardino County Fire DepartmentEnf Action Division:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 736

Item E - 1434 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              San Bernardino County FireEntity Name:
                              CUPA DistrictAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 395-2400,Affiliation Phone:
                              90761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1923 E Avion StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Ontario International Airport AuthoritiesEntity Name:
                              Property OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 395-2400,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1923 E Avion StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Ontario International Airport AuthorityEntity Name:
                              Legal OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              2132 E Avion StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Kristy Monji-ChungEntity Name:
                              Environmental ContactAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 395-2400,Affiliation Phone:
                              91764Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1923 E Avion StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Ontario International Airport AuthorityEntity Name:
                              UST Tank OwnerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 395-2400,Affiliation Phone:
                              91764Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1923 E Avion StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Ontario Airport AuthorityEntity Name:
                              UST Property Owner NameAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 737

Item E - 1435 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              (909) 544-5372,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Executive Services AdministratorEntity Title:
                              Anh NguyenEntity Name:
                              UST Permit ApplicantAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Ontario International Airport AuthorityEntity Name:
                              Parent CorporationAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 544-5426,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mark ThorpeEntity Name:
                              OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 544-5426,Affiliation Phone:
                              91761Affiliation Zip:
                              United StatesAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              OntarioAffiliation City:
                              1923 E Avion StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Mark ThropeEntity Name:
                              UST Tank OperatorAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Environmental ConsultantEntity Title:
                              Kristy MonjiEntity Name:
                              Identification SignerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              (909) 386-8401,Affiliation Phone:
                              92415-0153Affiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              CAAffiliation State:
                              San BernardinoAffiliation City:
                              620 South E StreetAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

TC7095824.2s   Page 738

Item E - 1436 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              Katherine GouldEntity Name:
                              Lead Project ManagerAffiliation Type Desc:

                              ,Affiliation Phone:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Zip:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Country:
                              Not reportedAffiliation State:
                              Not reportedAffiliation City:
                              Not reportedAffiliation Address:
                              Not reportedEntity Title:
                              John ScanduraEntity Name:
                              SupervisorAffiliation Type Desc:

Affiliation:

                              Corrective ActionCERS Description:
                              80001638CERS ID:
                              607546Site ID:
                              ONTARIO, CA 917610000City,State,Zip:
                              1923 E. AVION PLACEAddress:
                              GE ENGINE SERVICES IName:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION  (Continued) U001569990

                              beneath an asphalt orcement cover, are excavated or disturbed.
                              be exposed to volatile organic compounds if contaminated soils, currently
                              water and contaminate drinking water supplies. The workers on the facility may
                              Hazardous substances disposed of in dry wells may potentially enter groundThreat To Public Health & Env:
                              wells.
                              and volatile aromatics (xylene, toluene, ethylbenzene) in soils near the dry
                              (TCA), tetrachloroethene (PCE), chloroform, naphthalene, 2- methylnaphthalene,
                              Results of a 1987 investigation indicated the presence of 1,1,1-trichloroethane
                              an estimated 600 cubic yards of waste and contaminated soil on the site.
                              About 6,000 gallons of hazardous waste were disposed of in dry wells. There isHazardous Waste Desc:
                              disposed of onsite have contaminated soils.
                              This facility maintains and overhauls aircraft engines. Hazardous wastesSite Description:
                              cost of investigation and remedial action.
                              plus staff costs and overhead related to the project. The PRPs will pay for the
                              oversight/monitoring of cleanup activities. DHS will recover its direct costs,
                              with the PRPs on September 28, 1988. DHS has budgeted $50,000 for
                              City of Los Angeles Department of Airports. DHS entered into a consent order
                              The potentially responsible parties (PRPs) include General Electric and theProject Revenue Source Desc:
                              Not reportedProject Revenue Source City,St,Zip:
                              Not reportedProject Revenue Source Addr:
                              Not reportedProject Revenue Source Company:
                              RESPONSIBLE PARTY LEAD SITE CLEANUP WORKPLANReponsible Party:

CA BOND EXP. PLAN:

4176 ft. Site 3 of 3 in cluster AC
0.791 mi.

Relative:
Higher

Actual:
909 ft.

 

1/2-1 ONTARIO, CA  91761
NNE 1923 EAST AVION STREET    N/A
AC175 CA BOND EXP. PLANGENERAL ELECTRIC ENGINE MAINTENANCE CENTER S100833313

TC7095824.2s   Page 739

Item E - 1437 of 2173



MAP FINDINGSMap ID
Direction

EDR ID NumberDistance
EPA ID NumberDatabase(s)SiteElevation

                              investigation in order to fully characterize the site.
                              contaminated areas on the facility. General Electric is proceeding with site
                              General Electric performed soil sampling in 1984 and 1987 to identifySite Activity Status:

GENERAL ELECTRIC ENGINE MAINTENANCE CENTER  (Continued) S100833313

TC7095824.2s   Page 740

Item E - 1438 of 2173



ORPHAN SUMMARY

City EDR ID Site Name Site Address Zip Database(s)

Count: 3 records.

ONTARIO             1009508586 SO CAL GAS/ONTARIO MGP CORNER OF CAMPUS, MARTLAND, MO 91761 EDR MGP
ONTARIO             S107538398 EAST FRANCIS/W OF CAMPUS/400-5      CA CDL
ONTARIO             S101481941 MILLIKEN SANITARY LANDFILL INTERSECTION: MILLIKEN AVE & M 91761 CA ENVIROSTOR

TC7095824.2s   Page 741

Item E - 1439 of 2173

http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4QH4HeQ.AHbK2oUHWxe9F9Tu.L3Ave38tbxvKE22HzoJQUc538.WwnxLw32B9qdF3J3yUTsyuUy9L9LDF3XsBvKvEpe2z4VpQzVHYb2y9H5kei.8Tc.49AYJ2PCb8pKYHA5LoGNUsb4X8W2Nxni6t69TaFf.4QrTCGuwB4hFLBB3At4L9Q3JHhf3UfHaxegK2Kd.yeAgl9h.bN.KOx2iuo8hUmtBfMWUDxQQ79i9fjFhKAVRTFeufS4WOLfR3Rd6XOvDFe7A1ak87ftU34AvxQWvlIuVqE3z2fC464QARH7c3r.HOVewv2YJ.QeAIV3b0breKE22yoorLUUu2biWhxxtcB8Q9MpFa875uTqLuV02nWLFB38XAikvF.ekN7Vn8XYtjsAjMxqLv2n8QTESM2Pd2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4QH4HeQ.AHbK2oUHWxe9F9Tu.L3Ave38tbxvKE22HzoJQUc538.WwnxLw32B9qdF3J3yUTsyuUy9L9LDF3XsBvKvEpe2z4VpQzVHYb2y9H5kei.8Tc.49AYJ2PCb8pKYHA5LoGNUsb4X8W2Nxni6t69TaFf.4QrTCGuwB4hFLBB3At4L9Q3JHhf3UfHaxegK2Kd.yeAgl9h.bN.KOx2iuo8hUmtBfMWUDxQQ79i9fjFhKAVRTFeufS4WOLfR3Rd6XOvDFe7A1ak87ftU34AvxQWvlIuVqE3z2fC464QARH7c3r.HOVewv2YJ.QeAIVUb0breKE23yoorLUUu2biWhxxtc98Q9MpFa875uTqLuV05nWLFB38XAikvF.ekN5Vn8XYtjsBjMxqLv2nAQTESM2Pd2
http://www.edrnet.com/srf2/FinalSiteReport.aspx?ID=4QH4HeQ.AHbK2oUHWxe9F9Tu.L3Ave38tbxvKE22HzoJQUc538.WwnxLw32B9qdF3J3yUTsyuUy9L9LDF3XsBvKvEpe2z4VpQzVHYb2y9H5kei.8Tc.49AYJ2PCb8pKYHA5LoGNUsb4X8W2Nxni6t69TaFf.4QrTCGuwB4hFLBB3At4L9Q3JHhf3UfHaxegK2Kd.yeAgl9h.bN.KOx2iuo8hUmtBfMWUDxQQ79i9fjFhKAVRTFeufS4WOLfR3Rd6XOvDFe7A1ak87ftU34AvxQWvlIuVqE3z2fC464QARH7c3r.HOVewv2YJ.QeAIVUb0breKE23yoorLUUu2biWhxxtc38Q9MpFa865uTqLuV0AnWLFB38X3ikvF.ekNBVn8XYtjs6jMxqLv2n3QTESM2Pd2


To maintain currency of the following federal and state databases, EDR contacts the appropriate governmental agency
on a monthly or quarterly basis, as required.

Number of Days to Update: Provides confirmation that EDR is reporting records that have been updated within 90 days
from the date the government agency made the information available to the public.

STANDARD ENVIRONMENTAL RECORDS

Lists of Federal NPL (Superfund) sites

NPL:  National Priority List
National Priorities List (Superfund). The NPL is a subset of CERCLIS and identifies over 1,200 sites for priority
cleanup under the Superfund Program. NPL sites may encompass relatively large areas. As such, EDR provides polygon
coverage for over 1,000 NPL site boundaries produced by EPA’s Environmental Photographic Interpretation Center
(EPIC) and regional EPA offices.

Date of Government Version: 07/26/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/02/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/22/2022
Number of Days to Update: 20

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

NPL Site Boundaries

Sources:

EPA’s Environmental Photographic Interpretation Center (EPIC)
Telephone: 202-564-7333

EPA Region 1 EPA Region 6
Telephone 617-918-1143 Telephone: 214-655-6659

EPA Region 3 EPA Region 7
Telephone 215-814-5418 Telephone: 913-551-7247

EPA Region 4 EPA Region 8
Telephone 404-562-8033 Telephone: 303-312-6774

EPA Region 5 EPA Region 9
Telephone 312-886-6686 Telephone: 415-947-4246

EPA Region 10
Telephone 206-553-8665

Proposed NPL:  Proposed National Priority List Sites
A site that has been proposed for listing on the National Priorities List through the issuance of a proposed rule
in the Federal Register. EPA then accepts public comments on the site, responds to the comments, and places on
the NPL those sites that continue to meet the requirements for listing.

Date of Government Version: 07/26/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/02/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/22/2022
Number of Days to Update: 20

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

NPL LIENS:  Federal Superfund Liens
Federal Superfund Liens. Under the authority granted the USEPA by CERCLA of 1980, the USEPA has the authority
to file liens against real property in order to recover remedial action expenditures or when the property owner
received notification of potential liability. USEPA compiles a listing of filed notices of Superfund Liens.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-1

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1440 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 10/15/1991
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/02/1994
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/30/1994
Number of Days to Update: 56

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-564-4267
Last EDR Contact: 08/15/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

Lists of Federal Delisted NPL sites

Delisted NPL:  National Priority List Deletions
The National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan (NCP) establishes the criteria that the
EPA uses to delete sites from the NPL. In accordance with 40 CFR 300.425.(e), sites may be deleted from the
NPL where no further response is appropriate.

Date of Government Version: 07/26/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/02/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/22/2022
Number of Days to Update: 20

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

Lists of Federal sites subject to CERCLA removals and CERCLA orders

FEDERAL FACILITY:  Federal Facility Site Information listing
A listing of National Priority List (NPL) and Base Realignment and Closure (BRAC) sites found in the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Information System (CERCLIS) Database where EPA Federal Facilities
Restoration and Reuse Office is involved in cleanup activities.

Date of Government Version: 05/25/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/24/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/20/2021
Number of Days to Update: 88

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  703-603-8704
Last EDR Contact: 06/27/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

SEMS:  Superfund Enterprise Management System
SEMS (Superfund Enterprise Management System) tracks hazardous waste sites, potentially hazardous waste sites,
and remedial activities performed in support of EPA’s Superfund Program across the United States. The list was
formerly know as CERCLIS, renamed to SEMS by the EPA in 2015. The list contains data on potentially hazardous
waste sites that have been reported to the USEPA by states, municipalities, private companies and private persons,
pursuant to Section 103 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA).
This dataset also contains sites which are either proposed to or on the National Priorities List (NPL) and the
sites which are in the screening and assessment phase for possible inclusion on the NPL.

Date of Government Version: 07/26/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/02/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/22/2022
Number of Days to Update: 20

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  800-424-9346
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

Lists of Federal CERCLA sites with NFRAP

SEMS-ARCHIVE:  Superfund Enterprise Management System Archive

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-2

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1441 of 2173



SEMS-ARCHIVE (Superfund Enterprise Management System Archive) tracks sites that have no further interest under
the Federal Superfund Program based on available information. The list was formerly known as the CERCLIS-NFRAP,
renamed to SEMS ARCHIVE by the EPA in 2015. EPA may perform a minimal level of assessment work at a site while
it is archived if site conditions change and/or new information becomes available. Archived sites have been removed
and archived from the inventory of SEMS sites. Archived status indicates that, to the best of EPA’s knowledge,
assessment at a site has been completed and that EPA has determined no further steps will be taken to list the
site on the National Priorities List (NPL), unless information indicates this decision was not appropriate or
other considerations require a recommendation for listing at a later time. The decision does not necessarily mean
that there is no hazard associated with a given site; it only means that. based upon available information, the
location is not judged to be potential NPL site.

Date of Government Version: 07/26/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/02/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/22/2022
Number of Days to Update: 20

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  800-424-9346
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

Lists of Federal RCRA facilities undergoing Corrective Action

CORRACTS:  Corrective Action Report
CORRACTS identifies hazardous waste handlers with RCRA corrective action activity.

Date of Government Version: 06/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 7

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  800-424-9346
Last EDR Contact: 06/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

Lists of Federal RCRA TSD facilities

RCRA-TSDF:  RCRA - Treatment, Storage and Disposal
RCRAInfo is EPA’s comprehensive information system, providing access to data supporting the Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 and the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA) of 1984. The database
includes selective information on sites which generate, transport, store, treat and/or dispose of hazardous waste
as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). Transporters are individuals or entities that
move hazardous waste from the generator offsite to a facility that can recycle, treat, store, or dispose of the
waste. TSDFs treat, store, or dispose of the waste.

Date of Government Version: 06/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 7

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  (415) 495-8895
Last EDR Contact: 06/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

Lists of Federal RCRA generators

RCRA-LQG:  RCRA - Large Quantity Generators
RCRAInfo is EPA’s comprehensive information system, providing access to data supporting the Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 and the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA) of 1984. The database
includes selective information on sites which generate, transport, store, treat and/or dispose of hazardous waste
as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). Large quantity generators (LQGs) generate
over 1,000 kilograms (kg) of hazardous waste, or over 1 kg of acutely hazardous waste per month.

Date of Government Version: 06/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 7

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  (415) 495-8895
Last EDR Contact: 06/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-3

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1442 of 2173



RCRA-SQG:  RCRA - Small Quantity Generators
RCRAInfo is EPA’s comprehensive information system, providing access to data supporting the Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 and the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA) of 1984. The database
includes selective information on sites which generate, transport, store, treat and/or dispose of hazardous waste
as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). Small quantity generators (SQGs) generate
between 100 kg and 1,000 kg of hazardous waste per month.

Date of Government Version: 06/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 7

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  (415) 495-8895
Last EDR Contact: 06/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

RCRA-VSQG:  RCRA - Very Small Quantity Generators (Formerly Conditionally Exempt Small Quantity Generators)
RCRAInfo is EPA’s comprehensive information system, providing access to data supporting the Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 and the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA) of 1984. The database
includes selective information on sites which generate, transport, store, treat and/or dispose of hazardous waste
as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). Very small quantity generators (VSQGs) generate
less than 100 kg of hazardous waste, or less than 1 kg of acutely hazardous waste per month.

Date of Government Version: 06/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 7

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  (415) 495-8895
Last EDR Contact: 06/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

Federal institutional controls / engineering controls registries

LUCIS:  Land Use Control Information System
LUCIS contains records of land use control information pertaining to the former Navy Base Realignment and Closure
properties.

Date of Government Version: 05/16/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/19/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/29/2022
Number of Days to Update: 71

Source:  Department of the Navy
Telephone:  843-820-7326
Last EDR Contact: 08/03/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/21/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

US ENG CONTROLS:  Engineering Controls Sites List
A listing of sites with engineering controls in place. Engineering controls include various forms of caps, building
foundations, liners, and treatment methods to create pathway elimination for regulated substances to enter environmental
media or effect human health.

Date of Government Version: 05/16/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/24/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/29/2022
Number of Days to Update: 66

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  703-603-0695
Last EDR Contact: 08/17/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

US INST CONTROLS:  Institutional Controls Sites List
A listing of sites with institutional controls in place. Institutional controls include administrative measures,
such as groundwater use restrictions, construction restrictions, property use restrictions, and post remediation
care requirements intended to prevent exposure to contaminants remaining on site. Deed restrictions are generally
required as part of the institutional controls.

Date of Government Version: 05/16/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/24/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/29/2022
Number of Days to Update: 66

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  703-603-0695
Last EDR Contact: 08/17/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-4

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1443 of 2173



Federal ERNS list

ERNS:  Emergency Response Notification System
Emergency Response Notification System. ERNS records and stores information on reported releases of oil and hazardous
substances.

Date of Government Version: 06/14/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/15/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/21/2022
Number of Days to Update: 6

Source:  National Response Center, United States Coast Guard
Telephone:  202-267-2180
Last EDR Contact: 06/15/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

Lists of state- and tribal (Superfund) equivalent sites

RESPONSE:  State Response Sites
Identifies confirmed release sites where DTSC is involved in remediation, either in a lead or oversight capacity.
These confirmed release sites are generally high-priority and high potential risk.

Date of Government Version: 04/25/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/26/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/15/2022
Number of Days to Update: 80

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  916-323-3400
Last EDR Contact: 07/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

Lists of state- and tribal hazardous waste facilities

ENVIROSTOR:  EnviroStor Database
The Department of Toxic Substances Control’s (DTSC’s) Site Mitigation and Brownfields Reuse Program’s (SMBRP’s)
EnviroStor database identifes sites that have known contamination or sites for which there may be reasons to investigate
further. The database includes the following site types: Federal Superfund sites (National Priorities List (NPL));
State Response, including Military Facilities and State Superfund; Voluntary Cleanup; and School sites. EnviroStor
provides similar information to the information that was available in CalSites, and provides additional site information,
including, but not limited to, identification of formerly-contaminated properties that have been released for
reuse, properties where environmental deed restrictions have been recorded to prevent inappropriate land uses,
and risk characterization information that is used to assess potential impacts to public health and the environment
at contaminated sites.

Date of Government Version: 04/25/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/26/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/15/2022
Number of Days to Update: 80

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  916-323-3400
Last EDR Contact: 07/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

Lists of state and tribal landfills and solid waste disposal facilities

SWF/LF (SWIS):  Solid Waste Information System
Active, Closed and Inactive Landfills. SWF/LF records typically contain an inve ntory of solid waste disposal
facilities or landfills. These may be active or i nactive facilities or open dumps that failed to meet RCRA Section
4004 criteria for solid waste landfills or disposal sites.

Date of Government Version: 05/09/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/09/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/29/2022
Number of Days to Update: 81

Source:  Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery
Telephone:  916-341-6320
Last EDR Contact: 08/08/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/21/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

Lists of state and tribal leaking storage tanks

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-5

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1444 of 2173



LUST REG 2:  Fuel Leak List
Leaking Underground Storage Tank locations. Alameda, Contra Costa, Marin, Napa, San Francisco, San Mateo, Santa
Clara, Solano, Sonoma counties.

Date of Government Version: 09/30/2004
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 10/20/2004
Date Made Active in Reports: 11/19/2004
Number of Days to Update: 30

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board San Francisco Bay Region (2)
Telephone:  510-622-2433
Last EDR Contact: 09/19/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 01/02/2012
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LUST REG 3:  Leaking Underground Storage Tank Database
Leaking Underground Storage Tank locations. Monterey, San Benito, San Luis Obispo, Santa Barbara, Santa Cruz counties.

Date of Government Version: 05/19/2003
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/19/2003
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2003
Number of Days to Update: 14

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board Central Coast Region (3)
Telephone:  805-542-4786
Last EDR Contact: 07/18/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LUST:  Leaking Underground Fuel Tank Report (GEOTRACKER)
Leaking Underground Storage Tank (LUST) Sites included in GeoTracker. GeoTracker is the Water Boards data management
system for sites that impact, or have the potential to impact, water quality in California, with emphasis on groundwater.

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/24/2022
Number of Days to Update: 1

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  see region list
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

LUST REG 6V:  Leaking Underground Storage Tank Case Listing
Leaking Underground Storage Tank locations.  Inyo, Kern, Los Angeles, Mono, San Bernardino counties.

Date of Government Version: 06/07/2005
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/07/2005
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/29/2005
Number of Days to Update: 22

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board Victorville Branch Office (6)
Telephone:  760-241-7365
Last EDR Contact: 09/12/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/26/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LUST REG 1:  Active Toxic Site Investigation
Del Norte, Humboldt, Lake, Mendocino, Modoc, Siskiyou, Sonoma, Trinity counties. For more current information,
please refer to the State Water Resources Control Board’s LUST database.

Date of Government Version: 02/01/2001
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/28/2001
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/29/2001
Number of Days to Update: 29

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board North Coast (1)
Telephone:  707-570-3769
Last EDR Contact: 08/01/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LUST REG 6L:  Leaking Underground Storage Tank Case Listing
For more current information, please refer to the State Water Resources Control Board’s LUST database.

Date of Government Version: 09/09/2003
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/10/2003
Date Made Active in Reports: 10/07/2003
Number of Days to Update: 27

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board Lahontan Region (6)
Telephone:  530-542-5572
Last EDR Contact: 09/12/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/26/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LUST REG 9:  Leaking Underground Storage Tank Report
Orange, Riverside, San Diego counties. For more current information, please refer to the State Water Resources
Control Board’s LUST database.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-6

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1445 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 03/01/2001
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/23/2001
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/21/2001
Number of Days to Update: 28

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board San Diego Region (9)
Telephone:  858-637-5595
Last EDR Contact: 09/26/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 01/09/2012
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LUST REG 8:  Leaking Underground Storage Tanks
California Regional Water Quality Control Board Santa Ana Region (8). For more current information, please refer
to the State Water Resources Control Board’s LUST database.

Date of Government Version: 02/14/2005
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/15/2005
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/28/2005
Number of Days to Update: 41

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board Santa Ana Region (8)
Telephone:  909-782-4496
Last EDR Contact: 08/15/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LUST REG 7:  Leaking Underground Storage Tank Case Listing
Leaking Underground Storage Tank locations.  Imperial, Riverside, San Diego, Santa Barbara counties.

Date of Government Version: 02/26/2004
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/26/2004
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/24/2004
Number of Days to Update: 27

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board Colorado River Basin Region (7)
Telephone:  760-776-8943
Last EDR Contact: 08/01/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LUST REG 5:  Leaking Underground Storage Tank Database
Leaking Underground Storage Tank locations. Alameda, Alpine, Amador, Butte, Colusa, Contra Costa, Calveras, El
Dorado, Fresno, Glenn, Kern, Kings, Lake, Lassen, Madera, Mariposa, Merced, Modoc, Napa, Nevada, Placer, Plumas,
Sacramento, San Joaquin, Shasta, Solano, Stanislaus, Sutter, Tehama, Tulare, Tuolumne, Yolo, Yuba counties.

Date of Government Version: 07/01/2008
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/22/2008
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/31/2008
Number of Days to Update: 9

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board Central Valley Region (5)
Telephone:  916-464-4834
Last EDR Contact: 07/01/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LUST REG 4:  Underground Storage Tank Leak List
Los Angeles, Ventura counties. For more current information, please refer to the State Water Resources Control
Board’s LUST database.

Date of Government Version: 09/07/2004
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/07/2004
Date Made Active in Reports: 10/12/2004
Number of Days to Update: 35

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board Los Angeles Region (4)
Telephone:  213-576-6710
Last EDR Contact: 09/06/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/19/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

INDIAN LUST R7:  Leaking Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
LUSTs on Indian land in Iowa, Kansas, and Nebraska

Date of Government Version: 04/14/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA Region 7
Telephone:  913-551-7003
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN LUST R6:  Leaking Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
LUSTs on Indian land in New Mexico and Oklahoma.

Date of Government Version: 04/28/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA Region 6
Telephone:  214-665-6597
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-7

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1446 of 2173



INDIAN LUST R5:  Leaking Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
Leaking underground storage tanks located on Indian Land in Michigan, Minnesota and Wisconsin.

Date of Government Version: 04/11/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA, Region 5
Telephone:  312-886-7439
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN LUST R8:  Leaking Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
LUSTs on Indian land in Colorado, Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota, Utah and Wyoming.

Date of Government Version: 04/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA Region 8
Telephone:  303-312-6271
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN LUST R4:  Leaking Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
LUSTs on Indian land in Florida, Mississippi and North Carolina.

Date of Government Version: 05/28/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/22/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/20/2021
Number of Days to Update: 90

Source:  EPA Region 4
Telephone:  404-562-8677
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN LUST R9:  Leaking Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
LUSTs on Indian land in Arizona, California, New Mexico and Nevada

Date of Government Version: 04/08/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  415-972-3372
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN LUST R1:  Leaking Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
A listing of leaking underground storage tank locations on Indian Land.

Date of Government Version: 04/28/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/11/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/07/2021
Number of Days to Update: 88

Source:  EPA Region 1
Telephone:  617-918-1313
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN LUST R10:  Leaking Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
LUSTs on Indian land in Alaska, Idaho, Oregon and Washington.

Date of Government Version: 04/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA Region 10
Telephone:  206-553-2857
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

CPS-SLIC:  Statewide SLIC Cases (GEOTRACKER)
Cleanup Program Sites (CPS; also known as Site Cleanups [SC] and formerly known as Spills, Leaks, Investigations,
and Cleanups [SLIC] sites) included in GeoTracker. GeoTracker is the Water Boards data management system for
sites that impact, or have the potential to impact, water quality in California, with emphasis on groundwater.

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/24/2022
Number of Days to Update: 1

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-8

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1447 of 2173



SLIC REG 1:  Active Toxic Site Investigations
The SLIC (Spills, Leaks, Investigations and Cleanup) program is designed to protect and restore water quality
from spills, leaks, and similar discharges.

Date of Government Version: 04/03/2003
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/07/2003
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/25/2003
Number of Days to Update: 18

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board, North Coast Region (1)
Telephone:  707-576-2220
Last EDR Contact: 08/01/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SLIC REG 2:  Spills, Leaks, Investigation & Cleanup Cost Recovery Listing
The SLIC (Spills, Leaks, Investigations and Cleanup) program is designed to protect and restore water quality
from spills, leaks, and similar discharges.

Date of Government Version: 09/30/2004
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 10/20/2004
Date Made Active in Reports: 11/19/2004
Number of Days to Update: 30

Source:  Regional Water Quality Control Board San Francisco Bay Region (2)
Telephone:  510-286-0457
Last EDR Contact: 09/19/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 01/02/2012
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SLIC REG 3:  Spills, Leaks, Investigation & Cleanup Cost Recovery Listing
The SLIC (Spills, Leaks, Investigations and Cleanup) program is designed to protect and restore water quality
from spills, leaks, and similar discharges.

Date of Government Version: 05/18/2006
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/18/2006
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/15/2006
Number of Days to Update: 28

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board Central Coast Region (3)
Telephone:  805-549-3147
Last EDR Contact: 07/18/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SLIC REG 4:  Spills, Leaks, Investigation & Cleanup Cost Recovery Listing
The SLIC (Spills, Leaks, Investigations and Cleanup) program is designed to protect and restore water quality
from spills, leaks, and similar discharges.

Date of Government Version: 11/17/2004
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 11/18/2004
Date Made Active in Reports: 01/04/2005
Number of Days to Update: 47

Source:  Region Water Quality Control Board Los Angeles Region (4)
Telephone:  213-576-6600
Last EDR Contact: 07/01/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SLIC REG 5:  Spills, Leaks, Investigation & Cleanup Cost Recovery Listing
The SLIC (Spills, Leaks, Investigations and Cleanup) program is designed to protect and restore water quality
from spills, leaks, and similar discharges.

Date of Government Version: 04/01/2005
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/05/2005
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/21/2005
Number of Days to Update: 16

Source:  Regional Water Quality Control Board Central Valley Region (5)
Telephone:  916-464-3291
Last EDR Contact: 09/12/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/26/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SLIC REG 6V:  Spills, Leaks, Investigation & Cleanup Cost Recovery Listing
The SLIC (Spills, Leaks, Investigations and Cleanup) program is designed to protect and restore water quality
from spills, leaks, and similar discharges.

Date of Government Version: 05/24/2005
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/25/2005
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/16/2005
Number of Days to Update: 22

Source:  Regional Water Quality Control Board, Victorville Branch
Telephone:  619-241-6583
Last EDR Contact: 08/15/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-9

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1448 of 2173



SLIC REG 6L:  SLIC Sites
The SLIC (Spills, Leaks, Investigations and Cleanup) program is designed to protect and restore water quality
from spills, leaks, and similar discharges.

Date of Government Version: 09/07/2004
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/07/2004
Date Made Active in Reports: 10/12/2004
Number of Days to Update: 35

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Lahontan Region
Telephone:  530-542-5574
Last EDR Contact: 08/15/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SLIC REG 7:  SLIC List
The SLIC (Spills, Leaks, Investigations and Cleanup) program is designed to protect and restore water quality
from spills, leaks, and similar discharges.

Date of Government Version: 11/24/2004
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 11/29/2004
Date Made Active in Reports: 01/04/2005
Number of Days to Update: 36

Source:  California Regional Quality Control Board, Colorado River Basin Region
Telephone:  760-346-7491
Last EDR Contact: 08/01/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SLIC REG 8:  Spills, Leaks, Investigation & Cleanup Cost Recovery Listing
The SLIC (Spills, Leaks, Investigations and Cleanup) program is designed to protect and restore water quality
from spills, leaks, and similar discharges.

Date of Government Version: 04/03/2008
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/03/2008
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/14/2008
Number of Days to Update: 11

Source:  California Region Water Quality Control Board Santa Ana Region (8)
Telephone:  951-782-3298
Last EDR Contact: 09/12/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/26/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SLIC REG 9:  Spills, Leaks, Investigation & Cleanup Cost Recovery Listing
The SLIC (Spills, Leaks, Investigations and Cleanup) program is designed to protect and restore water quality
from spills, leaks, and similar discharges.

Date of Government Version: 09/10/2007
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/11/2007
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/28/2007
Number of Days to Update: 17

Source:  California Regional Water Quality Control Board San Diego Region (9)
Telephone:  858-467-2980
Last EDR Contact: 08/08/2011
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/21/2011
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

Lists of state and tribal registered storage tanks

FEMA UST:  Underground Storage Tank Listing
A listing of all FEMA owned underground storage tanks.

Date of Government Version: 10/14/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 11/05/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/01/2022
Number of Days to Update: 88

Source:  FEMA
Telephone:  202-646-5797
Last EDR Contact: 06/29/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

MILITARY UST SITES:  Military UST Sites (GEOTRACKER)
Military ust sites

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 10

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-10

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1449 of 2173



UST:  Active UST Facilities
Active UST facilities gathered from the local regulatory agencies

Date of Government Version: 03/07/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/08/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 86

Source:  SWRCB
Telephone:  916-341-5851
Last EDR Contact: 06/07/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

UST CLOSURE:  Proposed Closure of Underground Storage Tank (UST) Cases
UST cases that are being considered for closure by either the State Water Resources Control Board or the Executive
Director have been posted for a 60-day public comment period. UST Case Closures being proposed for consideration
by the State Water Resources Control Board. These are primarily UST cases that meet closure criteria under the
decisional framework in State Water Board Resolution No. 92-49 and other Board orders. UST Case Closures proposed
for consideration by the Executive Director pursuant to State Water Board Resolution No. 2012-0061. These are
cases that meet the criteria of the Low-Threat UST Case Closure Policy. UST Case Closure Review Denials and Approved
Orders.

Date of Government Version: 03/07/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/08/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/03/2022
Number of Days to Update: 87

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  916-327-7844
Last EDR Contact: 06/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

AST:  Aboveground Petroleum Storage Tank Facilities
A listing of aboveground storage tank petroleum storage tank locations.

Date of Government Version: 07/06/2016
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/12/2016
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/19/2016
Number of Days to Update: 69

Source:  California Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  916-327-5092
Last EDR Contact: 06/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/26/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN UST R4:  Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
The Indian Underground Storage Tank (UST) database provides information about underground storage tanks on Indian
land in EPA Region 4 (Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee
and Tribal Nations)

Date of Government Version: 05/28/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/22/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/20/2021
Number of Days to Update: 90

Source:  EPA Region 4
Telephone:  404-562-9424
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN UST R1:  Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
The Indian Underground Storage Tank (UST) database provides information about underground storage tanks on Indian
land in EPA Region 1 (Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, Rhode Island, Vermont and ten Tribal
Nations).

Date of Government Version: 04/07/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA, Region 1
Telephone:  617-918-1313
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN UST R10:  Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
The Indian Underground Storage Tank (UST) database provides information about underground storage tanks on Indian
land in EPA Region 10 (Alaska, Idaho, Oregon, Washington, and Tribal Nations).

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-11

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1450 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 04/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA Region 10
Telephone:  206-553-2857
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN UST R7:  Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
The Indian Underground Storage Tank (UST) database provides information about underground storage tanks on Indian
land in EPA Region 7 (Iowa, Kansas, Missouri, Nebraska, and 9 Tribal Nations).

Date of Government Version: 04/14/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA Region 7
Telephone:  913-551-7003
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN UST R8:  Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
The Indian Underground Storage Tank (UST) database provides information about underground storage tanks on Indian
land in EPA Region 8 (Colorado, Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota, Utah, Wyoming and 27 Tribal Nations).

Date of Government Version: 04/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA Region 8
Telephone:  303-312-6137
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN UST R9:  Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
The Indian Underground Storage Tank (UST) database provides information about underground storage tanks on Indian
land in EPA Region 9 (Arizona, California, Hawaii, Nevada, the Pacific Islands, and Tribal Nations).

Date of Government Version: 04/08/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA Region 9
Telephone:  415-972-3368
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN UST R6:  Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
The Indian Underground Storage Tank (UST) database provides information about underground storage tanks on Indian
land in EPA Region 6 (Louisiana, Arkansas, Oklahoma, New Mexico, Texas and 65 Tribes).

Date of Government Version: 04/28/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA Region 6
Telephone:  214-665-7591
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN UST R5:  Underground Storage Tanks on Indian Land
The Indian Underground Storage Tank (UST) database provides information about underground storage tanks on Indian
land in EPA Region 5 (Michigan, Minnesota and Wisconsin and Tribal Nations).

Date of Government Version: 04/11/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/13/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/16/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA Region 5
Telephone:  312-886-6136
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

Lists of state and tribal voluntary cleanup sites

INDIAN VCP R7:  Voluntary Cleanup Priority Lisitng
A listing of voluntary cleanup priority sites located on Indian Land located in Region 7.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-12

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1451 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 03/20/2008
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/22/2008
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/19/2008
Number of Days to Update: 27

Source:  EPA, Region 7
Telephone:  913-551-7365
Last EDR Contact: 07/08/2021
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 07/20/2009
Data Release Frequency: Varies

VCP:  Voluntary Cleanup Program Properties
Contains low threat level properties with either confirmed or unconfirmed releases and the project proponents
have request that DTSC oversee investigation and/or cleanup activities and have agreed to provide coverage for
DTSC’s costs.

Date of Government Version: 04/25/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/26/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/15/2022
Number of Days to Update: 80

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  916-323-3400
Last EDR Contact: 07/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

INDIAN VCP R1:  Voluntary Cleanup Priority Listing
A listing of voluntary cleanup priority sites located on Indian Land located in Region 1.

Date of Government Version: 07/27/2015
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/29/2015
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/18/2016
Number of Days to Update: 142

Source:  EPA, Region 1
Telephone:  617-918-1102
Last EDR Contact: 06/15/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

Lists of state and tribal brownfield sites

BROWNFIELDS:  Considered Brownfieds Sites Listing
A listing of sites the SWRCB considers to be Brownfields since these are sites have come to them through the MOA
Process.

Date of Government Version: 03/21/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/14/2022
Number of Days to Update: 85

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  916-323-7905
Last EDR Contact: 06/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

ADDITIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL RECORDS

Local Brownfield lists

US BROWNFIELDS:  A Listing of Brownfields Sites
Brownfields are real property, the expansion, redevelopment, or reuse of which may be complicated by the presence
or potential presence of a hazardous substance, pollutant, or contaminant. Cleaning up and reinvesting in these
properties takes development pressures off of undeveloped, open land, and both improves and protects the environment.
Assessment, Cleanup and Redevelopment Exchange System (ACRES) stores information reported by EPA Brownfields
grant recipients on brownfields properties assessed or cleaned up with grant funding as well as information on
Targeted Brownfields Assessments performed by EPA Regions. A listing of ACRES Brownfield sites is obtained from
Cleanups in My Community. Cleanups in My Community provides information on Brownfields properties for which information
is reported back to EPA, as well as areas served by Brownfields grant programs.

Date of Government Version: 02/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/10/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/10/2022
Number of Days to Update: 0

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  202-566-2777
Last EDR Contact: 08/08/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/26/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

Local Lists of Landfill / Solid Waste Disposal Sites

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-13

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1452 of 2173



WMUDS/SWAT:  Waste Management Unit Database
Waste Management Unit Database System. WMUDS is used by the State Water Resources Control Board staff and the
Regional Water Quality Control Boards for program tracking and inventory of waste management units. WMUDS is composed
of the following databases: Facility Information, Scheduled Inspections Information, Waste Management Unit Information,
SWAT Program Information, SWAT Report Summary Information, SWAT Report Summary Data, Chapter 15 (formerly Subchapter
15) Information, Chapter 15 Monitoring Parameters, TPCA Program Information, RCRA Program Information, Closure
Information, and Interested Parties Information.

Date of Government Version: 04/01/2000
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/10/2000
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/10/2000
Number of Days to Update: 30

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  916-227-4448
Last EDR Contact: 07/19/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SWRCY:  Recycler Database
A listing of recycling facilities in California.

Date of Government Version: 03/07/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/08/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 86

Source:  Department of Conservation
Telephone:  916-323-3836
Last EDR Contact: 06/07/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

HAULERS:  Registered Waste Tire Haulers Listing
A listing of registered waste tire haulers.

Date of Government Version: 02/15/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/24/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/25/2022
Number of Days to Update: 90

Source:  Integrated Waste Management Board
Telephone:  916-341-6422
Last EDR Contact: 08/16/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/21/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INDIAN ODI:  Report on the Status of Open Dumps on Indian Lands
Location of open dumps on Indian land.

Date of Government Version: 12/31/1998
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 12/03/2007
Date Made Active in Reports: 01/24/2008
Number of Days to Update: 52

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  703-308-8245
Last EDR Contact: 07/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

ODI:  Open Dump Inventory
An open dump is defined as a disposal facility that does not comply with one or more of the Part 257 or Part 258
Subtitle D Criteria.

Date of Government Version: 06/30/1985
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/09/2004
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/17/2004
Number of Days to Update: 39

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  800-424-9346
Last EDR Contact: 06/09/2004
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

DEBRIS REGION 9:  Torres Martinez Reservation Illegal Dump Site Locations
A listing of illegal dump sites location on the Torres Martinez Indian Reservation located in eastern Riverside
County and northern Imperial County, California.

Date of Government Version: 01/12/2009
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/07/2009
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/21/2009
Number of Days to Update: 137

Source:  EPA, Region 9
Telephone:  415-947-4219
Last EDR Contact: 07/12/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-14

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1453 of 2173



IHS OPEN DUMPS:  Open Dumps on Indian Land
A listing of all open dumps located on Indian Land in the United States.

Date of Government Version: 04/01/2014
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/06/2014
Date Made Active in Reports: 01/29/2015
Number of Days to Update: 176

Source:  Department of Health & Human Serivces, Indian Health Service
Telephone:  301-443-1452
Last EDR Contact: 07/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

Local Lists of Hazardous waste / Contaminated Sites

US HIST CDL:  National Clandestine Laboratory Register
A listing of clandestine drug lab locations that have been removed from the DEAs National Clandestine Laboratory
Register.

Date of Government Version: 04/30/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/24/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/29/2022
Number of Days to Update: 66

Source:  Drug Enforcement Administration
Telephone:  202-307-1000
Last EDR Contact: 08/18/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

HIST CAL-SITES:  Calsites Database
The Calsites database contains potential or confirmed hazardous substance release properties. In 1996, California
EPA reevaluated and significantly reduced the number of sites in the Calsites database. No longer updated by the
state agency. It has been replaced by ENVIROSTOR.

Date of Government Version: 08/08/2005
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/03/2006
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/24/2006
Number of Days to Update: 21

Source:  Department of Toxic Substance Control
Telephone:  916-323-3400
Last EDR Contact: 02/23/2009
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 05/25/2009
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SCH:  School Property Evaluation Program
This category contains proposed and existing school sites that are being evaluated by DTSC for possible hazardous
materials contamination. In some cases, these properties may be listed in the CalSites category depending on the
level of threat to public health and safety or the environment they pose.

Date of Government Version: 04/25/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/26/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/15/2022
Number of Days to Update: 80

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  916-323-3400
Last EDR Contact: 07/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

CDL:  Clandestine Drug Labs
A listing of drug lab locations. Listing of a location in this database does not indicate that any illegal drug
lab materials were or were not present there, and does not constitute a determination that the location either
requires or does not require additional cleanup work.

Date of Government Version: 12/31/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/20/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/08/2021
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  916-255-6504
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

CERS HAZ WASTE:  CERS HAZ WASTE
List of sites in the California Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) Regulated Site Portal which fall under
the Hazardous Chemical Management, Hazardous Waste Onsite Treatment, Household Hazardous Waste Collection, Hazardous
Waste Generator, and RCRA LQ HW Generator programs.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-15

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1454 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 04/18/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/19/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/12/2022
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  CalEPA
Telephone:  916-323-2514
Last EDR Contact: 07/18/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

TOXIC PITS:  Toxic Pits Cleanup Act Sites
Toxic PITS Cleanup Act Sites. TOXIC PITS identifies sites suspected of containing hazardous substances where cleanup
has not yet been completed.

Date of Government Version: 07/01/1995
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/30/1995
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/26/1995
Number of Days to Update: 27

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  916-227-4364
Last EDR Contact: 01/26/2009
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 04/27/2009
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

US CDL:  Clandestine Drug Labs
A listing of clandestine drug lab locations. The U.S. Department of Justice ("the Department") provides this
web site as a public service. It contains addresses of some locations where law enforcement agencies reported
they found chemicals or other items that indicated the presence of either clandestine drug laboratories or dumpsites.
In most cases, the source of the entries is not the Department, and the Department has not verified the entry
and does not guarantee its accuracy. Members of the public must verify the accuracy of all entries by, for example,
contacting local law enforcement and local health departments.

Date of Government Version: 04/30/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/24/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/29/2022
Number of Days to Update: 66

Source:  Drug Enforcement Administration
Telephone:  202-307-1000
Last EDR Contact: 08/18/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

PFAS:  PFAS Contamination Site Location Listing
A listing of PFAS contaminated sites included in the GeoTracker database.

Date of Government Version: 03/07/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/08/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 86

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 06/07/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

AQUEOUS FOAM:  Former Fire Training Facility Assessments Listing
Airports shown on this list are those believed to use Aqueous Film Forming Foam (AFFF), and certified by the
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) under Title 14, Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), Part 139 (14 CFR
Part 139). This list was created by SWRCB using information available from the FAA. Location points shown are
from the latitude and longitude listed on the FAA airport master record.

Date of Government Version: 02/20/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 12/10/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/25/2022
Number of Days to Update: 77

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  916-341-5455
Last EDR Contact: 06/10/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

Local Lists of Registered Storage Tanks

SWEEPS UST:  SWEEPS UST Listing
Statewide Environmental Evaluation and Planning System. This underground storage tank listing was updated and
maintained by a company contacted by the SWRCB in the early 1990’s. The listing is no longer updated or maintained.
The local agency is the contact for more information on a site on the SWEEPS list.

Date of Government Version: 06/01/1994
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/07/2005
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/11/2005
Number of Days to Update: 35

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 06/03/2005
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-16

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1455 of 2173



HIST UST:  Hazardous Substance Storage Container Database
The Hazardous Substance Storage Container Database is a historical listing of UST sites. Refer to local/county
source for current data.

Date of Government Version: 10/15/1990
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/25/1991
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/12/1991
Number of Days to Update: 18

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  916-341-5851
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2001
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SAN FRANCISCO AST:  Aboveground Storage Tank Site Listing
Aboveground storage tank sites

Date of Government Version: 05/05/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/06/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/21/2022
Number of Days to Update: 76

Source:  San Francisco County Department of Public Health
Telephone:  415-252-3896
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

CERS TANKS:  California Environmental Reporting System (CERS) Tanks
List of sites in the California Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) Regulated Site Portal which fall under
the Aboveground Petroleum Storage and Underground Storage Tank regulatory programs.

Date of Government Version: 04/18/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/19/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/12/2022
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  California Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  916-323-2514
Last EDR Contact: 07/18/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

CA FID UST:  Facility Inventory Database
The Facility Inventory Database (FID) contains a historical listing of active and inactive underground storage
tank locations from the State Water Resource Control Board. Refer to local/county source for current data.

Date of Government Version: 10/31/1994
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/05/1995
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/29/1995
Number of Days to Update: 24

Source:  California Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  916-341-5851
Last EDR Contact: 12/28/1998
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

Local Land Records

LIENS:  Environmental Liens Listing
A listing of property locations with environmental liens for California where DTSC is a lien holder.

Date of Government Version: 05/25/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/26/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/11/2022
Number of Days to Update: 77

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  916-323-3400
Last EDR Contact: 05/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

LIENS 2:  CERCLA Lien Information
A Federal CERCLA (’Superfund’) lien can exist by operation of law at any site or property at which EPA has spent
Superfund monies. These monies are spent to investigate and address releases and threatened releases of contamination.
CERCLIS provides information as to the identity of these sites and properties.

Date of Government Version: 07/26/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/02/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/22/2022
Number of Days to Update: 20

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  202-564-6023
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-17

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1456 of 2173



DEED:  Deed Restriction Listing
Site Mitigation and Brownfields Reuse Program Facility Sites with Deed Restrictions & Hazardous Waste Management
Program Facility Sites with Deed / Land Use Restriction. The DTSC Site Mitigation and Brownfields Reuse Program
(SMBRP) list includes sites cleaned up under the program’s oversight and generally does not include current
or former hazardous waste facilities that required a hazardous waste facility permit. The list represents deed
restrictions that are active. Some sites have multiple deed restrictions. The DTSC Hazardous Waste Management
Program (HWMP) has developed a list of current or former hazardous waste facilities that have a recorded land
use restriction at the local county recorder’s office. The land use restrictions on this list were required by
the DTSC HWMP as a result of the presence of hazardous substances that remain on site after the facility (or
part of the facility) has been closed or cleaned up. The types of land use restriction include deed notice, deed
restriction, or a land use restriction that binds current and future owners.

Date of Government Version: 05/31/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/31/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/18/2022
Number of Days to Update: 79

Source:  DTSC and SWRCB
Telephone:  916-323-3400
Last EDR Contact: 05/31/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

Records of Emergency Release Reports

HMIRS:  Hazardous Materials Information Reporting System
Hazardous Materials Incident Report System. HMIRS contains hazardous material spill incidents reported to DOT.

Date of Government Version: 03/21/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/14/2022
Number of Days to Update: 85

Source:  U.S. Department of Transportation
Telephone:  202-366-4555
Last EDR Contact: 06/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

CHMIRS:  California Hazardous Material Incident Report System
California Hazardous Material Incident Reporting System. CHMIRS contains information on reported hazardous material
incidents (accidental releases or spills).

Date of Government Version: 04/03/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/19/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/12/2022
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  Office of Emergency Services
Telephone:  916-845-8400
Last EDR Contact: 07/18/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

LDS:  Land Disposal Sites Listing (GEOTRACKER)
Land Disposal sites (Landfills) included in GeoTracker. GeoTracker is the Water Boards data management system
for sites that impact, or have the potential to impact, water quality in California, with emphasis on groundwater.

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/24/2022
Number of Days to Update: 1

Source:  State Water Qualilty Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

MCS:  Military Cleanup Sites Listing (GEOTRACKER)
Military sites (consisting of: Military UST sites; Military Privatized sites; and Military Cleanup sites [formerly
known as DoD non UST]) included in GeoTracker. GeoTracker is the Water Boards data management system for sites
that impact, or have the potential to impact, water quality in California, with emphasis on groundwater.

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/24/2022
Number of Days to Update: 1

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-18

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1457 of 2173



SPILLS 90:  SPILLS90 data from FirstSearch
Spills 90 includes those spill and release records available exclusively from FirstSearch databases. Typically,
they may include chemical, oil and/or hazardous substance spills recorded after 1990. Duplicate records that are
already included in EDR incident and release records are not included in Spills 90.

Date of Government Version: 06/06/2012
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/03/2013
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/22/2013
Number of Days to Update: 50

Source:  FirstSearch
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 01/03/2013
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

Other Ascertainable Records

RCRA NonGen / NLR:  RCRA - Non Generators / No Longer Regulated
RCRAInfo is EPA’s comprehensive information system, providing access to data supporting the Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 and the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA) of 1984. The database
includes selective information on sites which generate, transport, store, treat and/or dispose of hazardous waste
as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). Non-Generators do not presently generate hazardous
waste.

Date of Government Version: 06/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 7

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  (415) 495-8895
Last EDR Contact: 06/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

FUDS:  Formerly Used Defense Sites
The listing includes locations of Formerly Used Defense Sites properties where the US Army Corps of Engineers
is actively working or will take necessary cleanup actions.

Date of Government Version: 05/11/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/17/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/29/2022
Number of Days to Update: 73

Source:  U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
Telephone:  202-528-4285
Last EDR Contact: 08/11/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

DOD:  Department of Defense Sites
This data set consists of federally owned or administered lands, administered by the Department of Defense, that
have any area equal to or greater than 640 acres of the United States, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands.

Date of Government Version: 06/07/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/13/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/09/2022
Number of Days to Update: 239

Source:  USGS
Telephone:  888-275-8747
Last EDR Contact: 07/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

FEDLAND:  Federal and Indian Lands
Federally and Indian administrated lands of the United States. Lands included are administrated by: Army Corps
of Engineers, Bureau of Reclamation, National Wild and Scenic River, National Wildlife Refuge, Public Domain Land,
Wilderness, Wilderness Study Area, Wildlife Management Area, Bureau of Indian Affairs, Bureau of Land Management,
Department of Justice, Forest Service, Fish and Wildlife Service, National Park Service.

Date of Government Version: 04/02/2018
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/11/2018
Date Made Active in Reports: 11/06/2019
Number of Days to Update: 574

Source:  U.S. Geological Survey
Telephone:  888-275-8747
Last EDR Contact: 07/08/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: N/A

SCRD DRYCLEANERS:  State Coalition for Remediation of Drycleaners Listing
The State Coalition for Remediation of Drycleaners was established in 1998, with support from the U.S. EPA Office
of Superfund Remediation and Technology Innovation. It is comprised of representatives of states with established
drycleaner remediation programs. Currently the member states are Alabama, Connecticut, Florida, Illinois, Kansas,
Minnesota, Missouri, North Carolina, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, and Wisconsin.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-19

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1458 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 01/01/2017
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/03/2017
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/07/2017
Number of Days to Update: 63

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  615-532-8599
Last EDR Contact: 08/03/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/21/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

US FIN ASSUR:  Financial Assurance Information
All owners and operators of facilities that treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste are required to provide
proof that they will have sufficient funds to pay for the clean up, closure, and post-closure care of their facilities.

Date of Government Version: 03/21/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/14/2022
Number of Days to Update: 85

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  202-566-1917
Last EDR Contact: 06/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

EPA WATCH LIST:  EPA WATCH LIST
EPA maintains a "Watch List" to facilitate dialogue between EPA, state and local environmental agencies on enforcement
matters relating to facilities with alleged violations identified as either significant or high priority. Being
on the Watch List does not mean that the facility has actually violated the law only that an investigation by
EPA or a state or local environmental agency has led those organizations to allege that an unproven violation
has in fact occurred. Being on the Watch List does not represent a higher level of concern regarding the alleged
violations that were detected, but instead indicates cases requiring additional dialogue between EPA, state and
local agencies - primarily because of the length of time the alleged violation has gone unaddressed or unresolved.

Date of Government Version: 08/30/2013
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/21/2014
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/17/2014
Number of Days to Update: 88

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  617-520-3000
Last EDR Contact: 07/29/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

2020 COR ACTION:  2020 Corrective Action Program List
The EPA has set ambitious goals for the RCRA Corrective Action program by creating the 2020 Corrective Action
Universe. This RCRA cleanup baseline includes facilities expected to need corrective action. The 2020 universe
contains a wide variety of sites. Some properties are heavily contaminated while others were contaminated but
have since been cleaned up. Still others have not been fully investigated yet, and may require little or no remediation.
Inclusion in the 2020 Universe does not necessarily imply failure on the part of a facility to meet its RCRA obligations.

Date of Government Version: 09/30/2017
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/08/2018
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/20/2018
Number of Days to Update: 73

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  703-308-4044
Last EDR Contact: 08/04/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TSCA:  Toxic Substances Control Act
Toxic Substances Control Act. TSCA identifies manufacturers and importers of chemical substances included on the
TSCA Chemical Substance Inventory list. It includes data on the production volume of these substances by plant
site.

Date of Government Version: 12/31/2016
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/17/2020
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/10/2020
Number of Days to Update: 85

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-260-5521
Last EDR Contact: 06/14/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/26/2022
Data Release Frequency: Every 4 Years

TRIS:  Toxic Chemical Release Inventory System
Toxic Release Inventory System. TRIS identifies facilities which release toxic chemicals to the air, water and
land in reportable quantities under SARA Title III Section 313.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-20

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1459 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 12/31/2018
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/14/2020
Date Made Active in Reports: 11/04/2020
Number of Days to Update: 82

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-566-0250
Last EDR Contact: 08/11/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

SSTS:  Section 7 Tracking Systems
Section 7 of the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act, as amended (92 Stat. 829) requires all
registered pesticide-producing establishments to submit a report to the Environmental Protection Agency by March
1st each year. Each establishment must report the types and amounts of pesticides, active ingredients and devices
being produced, and those having been produced and sold or distributed in the past year.

Date of Government Version: 07/18/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/18/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/29/2022
Number of Days to Update: 11

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-564-4203
Last EDR Contact: 07/18/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

ROD:  Records Of Decision
Record of Decision. ROD documents mandate a permanent remedy at an NPL (Superfund) site containing technical
and health information to aid in the cleanup.

Date of Government Version: 07/26/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/02/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/22/2022
Number of Days to Update: 20

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  703-416-0223
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

RMP:  Risk Management Plans
When Congress passed the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990, it required EPA to publish regulations and guidance
for chemical accident prevention at facilities using extremely hazardous substances. The Risk Management Program
Rule (RMP Rule) was written to implement Section 112(r) of these amendments. The rule, which built upon existing
industry codes and standards, requires companies of all sizes that use certain flammable and toxic substances
to develop a Risk Management Program, which includes a(n): Hazard assessment that details the potential effects
of an accidental release, an accident history of the last five years, and an evaluation of worst-case and alternative
accidental releases; Prevention program that includes safety precautions and maintenance, monitoring, and employee
training measures; and Emergency response program that spells out emergency health care, employee training measures
and procedures for informing the public and response agencies (e.g the fire department) should an accident occur.

Date of Government Version: 04/27/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/04/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/10/2022
Number of Days to Update: 6

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  202-564-8600
Last EDR Contact: 07/14/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

RAATS:  RCRA Administrative Action Tracking System
RCRA Administration Action Tracking System. RAATS contains records based on enforcement actions issued under RCRA
pertaining to major violators and includes administrative and civil actions brought by the EPA. For administration
actions after September 30, 1995, data entry in the RAATS database was discontinued. EPA will retain a copy of
the database for historical records. It was necessary to terminate RAATS because a decrease in agency resources
made it impossible to continue to update the information contained in the database.

Date of Government Version: 04/17/1995
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/03/1995
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/07/1995
Number of Days to Update: 35

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-564-4104
Last EDR Contact: 06/02/2008
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/01/2008
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-21

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1460 of 2173



PRP:  Potentially Responsible Parties
A listing of verified Potentially Responsible Parties

Date of Government Version: 01/25/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/03/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/25/2022
Number of Days to Update: 22

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-564-6023
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

PADS:  PCB Activity Database System
PCB Activity Database. PADS Identifies generators, transporters, commercial storers and/or brokers and disposers
of PCB’s who are required to notify the EPA of such activities.

Date of Government Version: 01/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/20/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/25/2022
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-566-0500
Last EDR Contact: 07/08/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

ICIS:  Integrated Compliance Information System
The Integrated Compliance Information System (ICIS) supports the information needs of the national enforcement
and compliance program as well as the unique needs of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)
program.

Date of Government Version: 11/18/2016
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 11/23/2016
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/10/2017
Number of Days to Update: 79

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  202-564-2501
Last EDR Contact: 06/28/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

FTTS:  FIFRA/ TSCA Tracking System - FIFRA (Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, & Rodenticide Act)/TSCA (Toxic Substances Control Act)
FTTS tracks administrative cases and pesticide enforcement actions and compliance activities related to FIFRA,
TSCA and EPCRA (Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act). To maintain currency, EDR contacts the
Agency on a quarterly basis.

Date of Government Version: 04/09/2009
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/16/2009
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/11/2009
Number of Days to Update: 25

Source:  EPA/Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances
Telephone:  202-566-1667
Last EDR Contact: 08/18/2017
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/04/2017
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

FTTS INSP:  FIFRA/ TSCA Tracking System - FIFRA (Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, & Rodenticide Act)/TSCA (Toxic Substances Control Act)
A listing of FIFRA/TSCA Tracking System (FTTS) inspections and enforcements.

Date of Government Version: 04/09/2009
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/16/2009
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/11/2009
Number of Days to Update: 25

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-566-1667
Last EDR Contact: 08/18/2017
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/04/2017
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

MLTS:  Material Licensing Tracking System
MLTS is maintained by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission and contains a list of approximately 8,100 sites which
possess or use radioactive materials and which are subject to NRC licensing requirements. To maintain currency,
EDR contacts the Agency on a quarterly basis.

Date of Government Version: 06/10/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/14/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/22/2022
Number of Days to Update: 69

Source:  Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Telephone:  301-415-7169
Last EDR Contact: 07/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-22

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1461 of 2173



COAL ASH DOE:  Steam-Electric Plant Operation Data
A listing of power plants that store ash in surface ponds.

Date of Government Version: 12/31/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 11/30/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/22/2022
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  Department of Energy
Telephone:  202-586-8719
Last EDR Contact: 06/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

COAL ASH EPA:  Coal Combustion Residues Surface Impoundments List
A listing of coal combustion residues surface impoundments with high hazard potential ratings.

Date of Government Version: 01/12/2017
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/05/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 11/11/2019
Number of Days to Update: 251

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 05/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

PCB TRANSFORMER:  PCB Transformer Registration Database
The database of PCB transformer registrations that includes all PCB registration submittals.

Date of Government Version: 09/13/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 11/06/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/10/2020
Number of Days to Update: 96

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  202-566-0517
Last EDR Contact: 08/04/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

RADINFO:  Radiation Information Database
The Radiation Information Database (RADINFO) contains information about facilities that are regulated by U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) regulations for radiation and radioactivity.

Date of Government Version: 07/01/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/01/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/23/2019
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  202-343-9775
Last EDR Contact: 06/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

HIST FTTS:  FIFRA/TSCA Tracking System Administrative Case Listing
A complete administrative case listing from the FIFRA/TSCA Tracking System (FTTS) for all ten EPA regions. The
information was obtained from the National Compliance Database (NCDB). NCDB supports the implementation of FIFRA
(Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act) and TSCA (Toxic Substances Control Act). Some EPA regions
are now closing out records. Because of that, and the fact that some EPA regions are not providing EPA Headquarters
with updated records, it was decided to create a HIST FTTS database. It included records that may not be included
in the newer FTTS database updates. This database is no longer updated.

Date of Government Version: 10/19/2006
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/01/2007
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/10/2007
Number of Days to Update: 40

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  202-564-2501
Last EDR Contact: 12/17/2007
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 03/17/2008
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

HIST FTTS INSP:  FIFRA/TSCA Tracking System Inspection & Enforcement Case Listing
A complete inspection and enforcement case listing from the FIFRA/TSCA Tracking System (FTTS) for all ten EPA
regions. The information was obtained from the National Compliance Database (NCDB). NCDB supports the implementation
of FIFRA (Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act) and TSCA (Toxic Substances Control Act). Some
EPA regions are now closing out records. Because of that, and the fact that some EPA regions are not providing
EPA Headquarters with updated records, it was decided to create a HIST FTTS database. It included records that
may not be included in the newer FTTS database updates. This database is no longer updated.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-23

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1462 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 10/19/2006
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/01/2007
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/10/2007
Number of Days to Update: 40

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  202-564-2501
Last EDR Contact: 12/17/2008
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 03/17/2008
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

DOT OPS:  Incident and Accident Data
Department of Transporation, Office of Pipeline Safety Incident and Accident data.

Date of Government Version: 01/02/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/28/2020
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/17/2020
Number of Days to Update: 80

Source:  Department of Transporation, Office of Pipeline Safety
Telephone:  202-366-4595
Last EDR Contact: 07/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

CONSENT:  Superfund (CERCLA) Consent Decrees
Major legal settlements that establish responsibility and standards for cleanup at NPL (Superfund) sites. Released
periodically by United States District Courts after settlement by parties to litigation matters.

Date of Government Version: 03/31/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/14/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/12/2022
Number of Days to Update: 89

Source:  Department of Justice, Consent Decree Library
Telephone:  Varies
Last EDR Contact: 06/29/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

BRS:  Biennial Reporting System
The Biennial Reporting System is a national system administered by the EPA that collects data on the generation
and management of hazardous waste. BRS captures detailed data from two groups: Large Quantity Generators (LQG)
and Treatment, Storage, and Disposal Facilities.

Date of Government Version: 12/31/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/02/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/25/2022
Number of Days to Update: 23

Source:  EPA/NTIS
Telephone:  800-424-9346
Last EDR Contact: 06/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Biennially

INDIAN RESERV:  Indian Reservations
This map layer portrays Indian administered lands of the United States that have any area equal to or greater
than 640 acres.

Date of Government Version: 12/31/2014
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/14/2015
Date Made Active in Reports: 01/10/2017
Number of Days to Update: 546

Source:  USGS
Telephone:  202-208-3710
Last EDR Contact: 07/08/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

FUSRAP:  Formerly Utilized Sites Remedial Action Program
DOE established the Formerly Utilized Sites Remedial Action Program (FUSRAP) in 1974 to remediate sites where
radioactive contamination remained from Manhattan Project and early U.S. Atomic Energy Commission (AEC) operations.

Date of Government Version: 07/26/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/27/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 10/22/2021
Number of Days to Update: 87

Source:  Department of Energy
Telephone:  202-586-3559
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

UMTRA:  Uranium Mill Tailings Sites
Uranium ore was mined by private companies for federal government use in national defense programs. When the mills
shut down, large piles of the sand-like material (mill tailings) remain after uranium has been extracted from
the ore. Levels of human exposure to radioactive materials from the piles are low; however, in some cases tailings
were used as construction materials before the potential health hazards of the tailings were recognized.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-24

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1463 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 08/30/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 11/15/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 01/28/2020
Number of Days to Update: 74

Source:  Department of Energy
Telephone:  505-845-0011
Last EDR Contact: 08/10/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

LEAD SMELTER 1:  Lead Smelter Sites
A listing of former lead smelter site locations.

Date of Government Version: 07/26/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/02/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/22/2022
Number of Days to Update: 20

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  703-603-8787
Last EDR Contact: 08/01/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

LEAD SMELTER 2:  Lead Smelter Sites
A list of several hundred sites in the U.S. where secondary lead smelting was done from 1931and 1964. These sites
may pose a threat to public health through ingestion or inhalation of contaminated soil or dust

Date of Government Version: 04/05/2001
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 10/27/2010
Date Made Active in Reports: 12/02/2010
Number of Days to Update: 36

Source:  American Journal of Public Health
Telephone:  703-305-6451
Last EDR Contact: 12/02/2009
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

US AIRS (AFS):  Aerometric Information Retrieval System Facility Subsystem (AFS)
The database is a sub-system of Aerometric Information Retrieval System (AIRS). AFS contains compliance data
on air pollution point sources regulated by the U.S. EPA and/or state and local air regulatory agencies. This
information comes from source reports by various stationary sources of air pollution, such as electric power plants,
steel mills, factories, and universities, and provides information about the air pollutants they produce. Action,
air program, air program pollutant, and general level plant data. It is used to track emissions and compliance
data from industrial plants.

Date of Government Version: 10/12/2016
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 10/26/2016
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/03/2017
Number of Days to Update: 100

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-564-2496
Last EDR Contact: 09/26/2017
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 01/08/2018
Data Release Frequency: Annually

US AIRS MINOR:  Air Facility System Data
A listing of minor source facilities.

Date of Government Version: 10/12/2016
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 10/26/2016
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/03/2017
Number of Days to Update: 100

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-564-2496
Last EDR Contact: 09/26/2017
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 01/08/2018
Data Release Frequency: Annually

MINES VIOLATIONS:  MSHA Violation Assessment Data
Mines violation and assessment information. Department of Labor, Mine Safety & Health Administration.

Date of Government Version: 03/21/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/22/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/25/2022
Number of Days to Update: 3

Source:  DOL, Mine Safety & Health Admi
Telephone:  202-693-9424
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

US MINES:  Mines Master Index File
Contains all mine identification numbers issued for mines active or opened since 1971. The data also includes
violation information.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-25

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1464 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 05/02/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/25/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/29/2022
Number of Days to Update: 65

Source:  Department of Labor, Mine Safety and Health Administration
Telephone:  303-231-5959
Last EDR Contact: 08/17/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

US MINES 2:  Ferrous and Nonferrous Metal Mines Database Listing
This map layer includes ferrous (ferrous metal mines are facilities that extract ferrous metals, such as iron
ore or molybdenum) and nonferrous (Nonferrous metal mines are facilities that extract nonferrous metals, such
as gold, silver, copper, zinc, and lead) metal mines in the United States.

Date of Government Version: 05/06/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/27/2020
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/13/2020
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  USGS
Telephone:  703-648-7709
Last EDR Contact: 08/17/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

US MINES 3:  Active Mines & Mineral Plants Database Listing
Active Mines and Mineral Processing Plant operations for commodities monitored by the Minerals Information Team
of the USGS.

Date of Government Version: 04/14/2011
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/08/2011
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/13/2011
Number of Days to Update: 97

Source:  USGS
Telephone:  703-648-7709
Last EDR Contact: 08/17/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

ABANDONED MINES:  Abandoned Mines
An inventory of land and water impacted by past mining (primarily coal mining) is maintained by OSMRE to provide
information needed to implement the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977 (SMCRA). The inventory
contains information on the location, type, and extent of AML impacts, as well as, information on the cost associated
with the reclamation of those problems. The inventory is based upon field surveys by State, Tribal, and OSMRE
program officials. It is dynamic to the extent that it is modified as new problems are identified and existing
problems are reclaimed.

Date of Government Version: 06/14/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/15/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/22/2022
Number of Days to Update: 68

Source:  Department of Interior
Telephone:  202-208-2609
Last EDR Contact: 06/14/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

FINDS:  Facility Index System/Facility Registry System
Facility Index System. FINDS contains both facility information and ’pointers’ to other sources that contain more
detail. EDR includes the following FINDS databases in this report: PCS (Permit Compliance System), AIRS (Aerometric
Information Retrieval System), DOCKET (Enforcement Docket used to manage and track information on civil judicial
enforcement cases for all environmental statutes), FURS (Federal Underground Injection Control), C-DOCKET (Criminal
Docket System used to track criminal enforcement actions for all environmental statutes), FFIS (Federal Facilities
Information System), STATE (State Environmental Laws and Statutes), and PADS (PCB Activity Data System).

Date of Government Version: 05/13/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/18/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/31/2022
Number of Days to Update: 13

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  (415) 947-8000
Last EDR Contact: 05/18/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

DOCKET HWC:  Hazardous Waste Compliance Docket Listing
A complete list of the Federal Agency Hazardous Waste Compliance Docket Facilities.

Date of Government Version: 05/06/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/21/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/11/2021
Number of Days to Update: 82

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  202-564-0527
Last EDR Contact: 08/22/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-26

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1465 of 2173



UXO:  Unexploded Ordnance Sites
A listing of unexploded ordnance site locations

Date of Government Version: 12/31/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/11/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/14/2022
Number of Days to Update: 34

Source:  Department of Defense
Telephone:  703-704-1564
Last EDR Contact: 07/07/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

ECHO:  Enforcement & Compliance History Information
ECHO provides integrated compliance and enforcement information for about 800,000 regulated facilities nationwide.

Date of Government Version: 04/02/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/05/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  202-564-2280
Last EDR Contact: 07/01/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

FUELS PROGRAM:  EPA Fuels Program Registered Listing
This listing includes facilities that are registered under the Part 80 (Code of Federal Regulations) EPA Fuels
Programs. All companies now are required to submit new and updated registrations.

Date of Government Version: 05/16/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/17/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/29/2022
Number of Days to Update: 73

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  800-385-6164
Last EDR Contact: 08/11/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

CA BOND EXP. PLAN:  Bond Expenditure Plan
Department of Health Services developed a site-specific expenditure plan as the basis for an appropriation of
Hazardous Substance Cleanup Bond Act funds. It is not updated.

Date of Government Version: 01/01/1989
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/27/1994
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/02/1994
Number of Days to Update: 6

Source:  Department of Health Services
Telephone:  916-255-2118
Last EDR Contact: 05/31/1994
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

CORTESE:  "Cortese" Hazardous Waste & Substances Sites List
The sites for the list are designated by the State Water Resource Control Board (LUST), the Integrated Waste
Board (SWF/LS), and the Department of Toxic Substances Control (Cal-Sites).

Date of Government Version: 03/21/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/14/2022
Number of Days to Update: 85

Source:  CAL EPA/Office of Emergency Information
Telephone:  916-323-3400
Last EDR Contact: 06/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

CUPA LIVERMORE-PLEASANTON:  CUPA Facility Listing
list of facilities associated with the various CUPA programs in Livermore-Pleasanton

Date of Government Version: 12/07/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/09/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/17/2022
Number of Days to Update: 8

Source:  Livermore-Pleasanton Fire Department
Telephone:  925-454-2361
Last EDR Contact: 08/11/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/21/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

DRYCLEAN SOUTH COAST:  South Coast Air Quality Management District Drycleaner Listing
A listing of dry cleaners in the South Coast Air Quality Management District

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-27

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1466 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 05/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/20/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/09/2022
Number of Days to Update: 81

Source:  South Coast Air Quality Management District
Telephone:  909-396-3211
Last EDR Contact: 08/16/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

DRYCLEANERS:  Cleaner Facilities
A list of drycleaner related facilities that have EPA ID numbers. These are facilities with certain SIC codes:
power laundries, family and commercial; garment pressing and cleaner’s agents; linen supply; coin-operated laundries
and cleaning; drycleaning plants, except rugs; carpet and upholster cleaning; industrial launderers; laundry and
garment services.

Date of Government Version: 08/27/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/01/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 11/19/2021
Number of Days to Update: 79

Source:  Department of Toxic Substance Control
Telephone:  916-327-4498
Last EDR Contact: 06/01/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

DRYCLEAN AVAQMD:  Antelope Valley Air Quality Management District Drycleaner Listing
A listing of dry cleaners in the Antelope Valley Air Quality Management District.

Date of Government Version: 05/25/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/26/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/11/2022
Number of Days to Update: 77

Source:  Antelope Valley Air Quality Management District
Telephone:  661-723-8070
Last EDR Contact: 05/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

EMI:  Emissions Inventory Data
Toxics and criteria pollutant emissions data collected by the ARB and local air pollution agencies.

Date of Government Version: 12/31/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/10/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/27/2021
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  California Air Resources Board
Telephone:  916-322-2990
Last EDR Contact: 06/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/26/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

ENF:  Enforcement Action Listing
A listing of Water Board Enforcement Actions. Formal is everything except Oral/Verbal Communication, Notice of
Violation, Expedited Payment Letter, and Staff Enforcement Letter.

Date of Government Version: 04/12/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/19/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/31/2022
Number of Days to Update: 42

Source:  State Water Resoruces Control Board
Telephone:  916-445-9379
Last EDR Contact: 07/18/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

Financial Assurance 1:  Financial Assurance Information Listing
Financial Assurance information

Date of Government Version: 04/19/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/29/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/15/2022
Number of Days to Update: 77

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  916-255-3628
Last EDR Contact: 07/21/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

Financial Assurance 2:  Financial Assurance Information Listing
A listing of financial assurance information for solid waste facilities. Financial assurance is intended to ensure
that resources are available to pay for the cost of closure, post-closure care, and corrective measures if the
owner or operator of a regulated facility is unable or unwilling to pay.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-28

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1467 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 02/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/24/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/18/2022
Number of Days to Update: 83

Source:  California Integrated Waste Management Board
Telephone:  916-341-6066
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/21/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

HAZNET:  Facility and Manifest Data
Facility and Manifest Data. The data is extracted from the copies of hazardous waste manifests received each year
by the DTSC. The annual volume of manifests is typically 700,000 - 1,000,000 annually, representing approximately
350,000 - 500,000 shipments. Data are from the manifests submitted without correction, and therefore many contain
some invalid values for data elements such as generator ID, TSD ID, waste category, and disposal method. This
database begins with calendar year 1993.

Date of Government Version: 12/31/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/15/2020
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/02/2020
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  California Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  916-255-1136
Last EDR Contact: 07/05/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

ICE:  ICE
Contains data pertaining to the Permitted Facilities with Inspections / Enforcements sites tracked in Envirostor.

Date of Government Version: 05/16/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/17/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/03/2022
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  Department of Toxic Subsances Control
Telephone:  877-786-9427
Last EDR Contact: 08/11/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

HIST CORTESE:  Hazardous Waste & Substance Site List
The sites for the list are designated by the State Water Resource Control Board [LUST], the Integrated Waste Board
[SWF/LS], and the Department of Toxic Substances Control [CALSITES]. This listing is no longer updated by the
state agency.

Date of Government Version: 04/01/2001
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/22/2009
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/08/2009
Number of Days to Update: 76

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  916-323-3400
Last EDR Contact: 01/22/2009
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

HWP:  EnviroStor Permitted Facilities Listing
Detailed information on permitted hazardous waste facilities and corrective action ("cleanups") tracked in EnviroStor.

Date of Government Version: 05/16/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/17/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/03/2022
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  916-323-3400
Last EDR Contact: 08/11/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

HWT:  Registered Hazardous Waste Transporter Database
A listing of hazardous waste transporters. In California, unless specifically exempted, it is unlawful for any
person to transport hazardous wastes unless the person holds a valid registration issued by DTSC. A hazardous
waste transporter registration is valid for one year and is assigned a unique registration number.

Date of Government Version: 04/05/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/05/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/27/2022
Number of Days to Update: 83

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  916-440-7145
Last EDR Contact: 07/05/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-29

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1468 of 2173



MINES:  Mines Site Location Listing
A listing of mine site locations from the Office of Mine Reclamation.

Date of Government Version: 03/07/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/08/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/01/2022
Number of Days to Update: 85

Source:  Department of Conservation
Telephone:  916-322-1080
Last EDR Contact: 06/07/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

MWMP:  Medical Waste Management Program Listing
The Medical Waste Management Program (MWMP) ensures the proper handling and disposal of medical waste by permitting
and inspecting medical waste Offsite Treatment Facilities (PDF) and Transfer Stations (PDF) throughout the
state. MWMP also oversees all Medical Waste Transporters.

Date of Government Version: 05/06/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/31/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/18/2022
Number of Days to Update: 79

Source:  Department of Public Health
Telephone:  916-558-1784
Last EDR Contact: 05/31/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

NPDES:  NPDES Permits Listing
A listing of NPDES permits, including stormwater.

Date of Government Version: 05/09/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/09/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/29/2022
Number of Days to Update: 81

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  916-445-9379
Last EDR Contact: 08/08/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/21/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

PEST LIC:  Pesticide Regulation Licenses Listing
A listing of licenses and certificates issued by the Department of Pesticide Regulation. The DPR issues licenses
and/or certificates to: Persons and businesses that apply or sell pesticides; Pest control dealers and brokers;
Persons who advise on agricultural pesticide applications.

Date of Government Version: 05/31/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/31/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/18/2022
Number of Days to Update: 79

Source:  Department of Pesticide Regulation
Telephone:  916-445-4038
Last EDR Contact: 05/31/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

PROC:  Certified Processors Database
A listing of certified processors.

Date of Government Version: 03/07/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/08/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 86

Source:  Department of Conservation
Telephone:  916-323-3836
Last EDR Contact: 06/07/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

NOTIFY 65:  Proposition 65 Records
Listings of all Proposition 65 incidents reported to counties by the State Water Resources Control Board and the
Regional Water Quality Control Board. This database is no longer updated by the reporting agency.

Date of Government Version: 03/11/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/15/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/08/2022
Number of Days to Update: 85

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  916-445-3846
Last EDR Contact: 06/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/26/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-30

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1469 of 2173



UIC:  UIC Listing
A listing of wells identified as underground injection wells, in the California Oil and Gas Wells database.

Date of Government Version: 03/07/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/08/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 86

Source:  Deaprtment of Conservation
Telephone:  916-445-2408
Last EDR Contact: 06/07/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

UIC GEO:  Underground Injection Control Sites (GEOTRACKER)
Underground control injection sites

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 10

Source:  State Water Resource Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

WASTEWATER PITS:  Oil Wastewater Pits Listing
Water officials discovered that oil producers have been dumping chemical-laden wastewater into hundreds of unlined
pits that are operating without proper permits. Inspections completed by the Central Valley Regional Water Quality
Control Board revealed the existence of previously unidentified waste sites. The water boards review found that
more than one-third of the region’s active disposal pits are operating without permission.

Date of Government Version: 02/11/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/01/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/29/2021
Number of Days to Update: 90

Source:  RWQCB, Central Valley Region
Telephone:  559-445-5577
Last EDR Contact: 07/08/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

WDS:  Waste Discharge System
Sites which have been issued waste discharge requirements.

Date of Government Version: 06/19/2007
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/20/2007
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/29/2007
Number of Days to Update: 9

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  916-341-5227
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

WIP:  Well Investigation Program Case List
Well Investigation Program case in the San Gabriel and San Fernando Valley area.

Date of Government Version: 07/03/2009
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/21/2009
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/03/2009
Number of Days to Update: 13

Source:  Los Angeles Water Quality Control Board
Telephone:  213-576-6726
Last EDR Contact: 06/14/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

MILITARY PRIV SITES:  Military Privatized Sites (GEOTRACKER)
Military privatized sites

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 10

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

PROJECT:  Project Sites (GEOTRACKER)
Projects sites

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-31

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1470 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 10

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

WDR:  Waste Discharge Requirements Listing
In general, the Waste Discharge Requirements (WDRs) Program (sometimes also referred to as the "Non Chapter
15 (Non 15) Program") regulates point discharges that are exempt pursuant to Subsection 20090 of Title 27 and
not subject to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act. Exemptions from Title 27 may be granted for nine categories
of discharges (e.g., sewage, wastewater, etc.) that meet, and continue to meet, the preconditions listed for
each specific exemption. The scope of the WDRs Program also includes the discharge of wastes classified as inert,
pursuant to section 20230 of Title 27.

Date of Government Version: 03/07/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/08/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/03/2022
Number of Days to Update: 87

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  916-341-5810
Last EDR Contact: 06/07/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

CIWQS:  California Integrated Water Quality System
The California Integrated Water Quality System (CIWQS) is a computer system used by the State and Regional Water
Quality Control Boards to track information about places of environmental interest, manage permits and other orders,
track inspections, and manage violations and enforcement activities.

Date of Government Version: 08/16/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/17/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/18/2022
Number of Days to Update: 1

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-794-4977
Last EDR Contact: 08/17/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

CERS:  CalEPA Regulated Site Portal Data
The CalEPA Regulated Site Portal database combines data about environmentally regulated sites and facilities in
California into a single database. It combines data from a variety of state and federal databases, and provides
an overview of regulated activities across the spectrum of environmental programs for any given location in California.
These activities include hazardous materials and waste, state and federal cleanups, impacted ground and surface
waters, and toxic materials

Date of Government Version: 04/18/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/19/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/12/2022
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  California Environmental Protection Agency
Telephone:  916-323-2514
Last EDR Contact: 07/18/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

NON-CASE INFO:  Non-Case Information Sites (GEOTRACKER)
Non-Case Information sites

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 10

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

OTHER OIL GAS:  Other Oil & Gas Projects Sites (GEOTRACKER)
Other Oil & Gas Projects sites

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 10

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-32

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1471 of 2173



PROD WATER PONDS:  Produced Water Ponds Sites (GEOTRACKER)
Produced water ponds sites

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 10

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

SAMPLING POINT:  Sampling Point ? Public Sites (GEOTRACKER)
Sampling point - public sites

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 10

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

WELL STIM PROJ:  Well Stimulation Project (GEOTRACKER)
Includes areas of groundwater monitoring plans, a depiction of the monitoring network, and the facilities, boundaries,
and subsurface characteristics of the oilfield and the features (oil and gas wells, produced water ponds, UIC
wells, water supply wells, etc?) being monitored

Date of Government Version: 05/23/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/23/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 10

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  866-480-1028
Last EDR Contact: 05/23/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

PCS:  Permit Compliance System
PCS is a computerized management information system that contains data on National Pollutant Discharge Elimination
System (NPDES) permit holding facilities. PCS tracks the permit, compliance, and enforcement status of NPDES
facilities.

Date of Government Version: 07/14/2011
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/05/2011
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/29/2011
Number of Days to Update: 55

Source:  EPA, Office of Water
Telephone:  202-564-2496
Last EDR Contact: 06/28/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

PCS INACTIVE:  Listing of Inactive PCS Permits
An inactive permit is a facility that has shut down or is no longer discharging.

Date of Government Version: 11/05/2014
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/06/2015
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/06/2015
Number of Days to Update: 120

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-564-2496
Last EDR Contact: 06/28/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

HWTS:  Hazardous Waste Tracking System
DTSC maintains the Hazardous Waste Tracking System that stores ID number information since the early 1980s and
manifest data since 1993. The system collects both manifest copies from the generator and destination facility.

Date of Government Version: 04/05/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/05/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/26/2022
Number of Days to Update: 21

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  916-324-2444
Last EDR Contact: 07/06/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-33

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1472 of 2173



MINES MRDS:  Mineral Resources Data System
Mineral Resources Data System

Date of Government Version: 04/06/2018
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 10/21/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 10/24/2019
Number of Days to Update: 3

Source:  USGS
Telephone:  703-648-6533
Last EDR Contact: 08/17/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

PCS ENF:  Enforcement data
No description is available for this data

Date of Government Version: 12/31/2014
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/05/2015
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/06/2015
Number of Days to Update: 29

Source:  EPA
Telephone:  202-564-2497
Last EDR Contact: 06/28/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

EDR HIGH RISK HISTORICAL RECORDS

EDR Exclusive Records

EDR MGP:  EDR Proprietary Manufactured Gas Plants
The EDR Proprietary Manufactured Gas Plant Database includes records of coal gas plants (manufactured gas plants)
compiled by EDR’s researchers. Manufactured gas sites were used in the United States from the 1800’s to 1950’s
to produce a gas that could be distributed and used as fuel. These plants used whale oil, rosin, coal, or a mixture
of coal, oil, and water that also produced a significant amount of waste. Many of the byproducts of the gas production,
such as coal tar (oily waste containing volatile and non-volatile chemicals), sludges, oils and other compounds
are potentially hazardous to human health and the environment. The byproduct from this process was frequently
disposed of directly at the plant site and can remain or spread slowly, serving as a continuous source of soil
and groundwater contamination.

Date of Government Version: N/A
Date Data Arrived at EDR: N/A
Date Made Active in Reports: N/A
Number of Days to Update: N/A

Source:  EDR, Inc.
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: N/A
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

EDR Hist Auto:  EDR Exclusive Historical Auto Stations
EDR has searched selected national collections of business directories and has collected listings of potential
gas station/filling station/service station sites that were available to EDR researchers. EDR’s review was limited
to those categories of sources that might, in EDR’s opinion, include gas station/filling station/service station
establishments. The categories reviewed included, but were not limited to gas, gas station, gasoline station,
filling station, auto, automobile repair, auto service station, service station, etc. This database falls within
a category of information EDR classifies as "High Risk Historical Records", or HRHR. EDR’s HRHR effort presents
unique and sometimes proprietary data about past sites and operations that typically create environmental concerns,
but may not show up in current government records searches.

Date of Government Version: N/A
Date Data Arrived at EDR: N/A
Date Made Active in Reports: N/A
Number of Days to Update: N/A

Source:  EDR, Inc.
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: N/A
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: Varies

EDR Hist Cleaner:  EDR Exclusive Historical Cleaners
EDR has searched selected national collections of business directories and has collected listings of potential
dry cleaner sites that were available to EDR researchers. EDR’s review was limited to those categories of sources
that might, in EDR’s opinion, include dry cleaning establishments. The categories reviewed included, but were
not limited to dry cleaners, cleaners, laundry, laundromat, cleaning/laundry, wash & dry etc. This database falls
within a category of information EDR classifies as "High Risk Historical Records", or HRHR. EDR’s HRHR effort
presents unique and sometimes proprietary data about past sites and operations that typically create environmental
concerns, but may not show up in current government records searches.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-34

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1473 of 2173



Date of Government Version: N/A
Date Data Arrived at EDR: N/A
Date Made Active in Reports: N/A
Number of Days to Update: N/A

Source:  EDR, Inc.
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: N/A
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: Varies

EDR RECOVERED GOVERNMENT ARCHIVES

Exclusive Recovered Govt. Archives

RGA LF:  Recovered Government Archive Solid Waste Facilities List
The EDR Recovered Government Archive Landfill database provides a list of landfills derived from historical databases
and includes many records that no longer appear in current government lists. Compiled from Records formerly available
from the Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery in California.

Date of Government Version: N/A
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/01/2013
Date Made Active in Reports: 01/13/2014
Number of Days to Update: 196

Source:  Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 06/01/2012
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: Varies

RGA LUST:  Recovered Government Archive Leaking Underground Storage Tank
The EDR Recovered Government Archive Leaking Underground Storage Tank database provides a list of LUST incidents
derived from historical databases and includes many records that no longer appear in current government lists.
Compiled from Records formerly available from the State Water Resources Control Board in California.

Date of Government Version: N/A
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/01/2013
Date Made Active in Reports: 12/30/2013
Number of Days to Update: 182

Source:  State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 06/01/2012
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: N/A
Data Release Frequency: Varies

COUNTY RECORDS

ALAMEDA COUNTY:

CS ALAMEDA:  Contaminated Sites
A listing of contaminated sites overseen by the Toxic Release Program (oil and groundwater contamination from
chemical releases and spills) and the Leaking Underground Storage Tank Program (soil and ground water contamination
from leaking petroleum USTs).

Date of Government Version: 01/09/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/11/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/05/2019
Number of Days to Update: 53

Source:  Alameda County Environmental Health Services
Telephone:  510-567-6700
Last EDR Contact: 06/28/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

UST ALAMEDA:  Underground Tanks
Underground storage tank sites located in Alameda county.

Date of Government Version: 06/29/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/29/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/21/2022
Number of Days to Update: 22

Source:  Alameda County Environmental Health Services
Telephone:  510-567-6700
Last EDR Contact: 06/29/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

AMADOR COUNTY:

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-35

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1474 of 2173



CUPA AMADOR:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa Facility List

Date of Government Version: 07/22/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/27/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/01/2022
Number of Days to Update: 5

Source:  Amador County Environmental Health
Telephone:  209-223-6439
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

BUTTE COUNTY:

CUPA BUTTE:  CUPA Facility Listing
Cupa facility list.

Date of Government Version: 04/21/2017
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/25/2017
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/09/2017
Number of Days to Update: 106

Source:  Public Health Department
Telephone:  530-538-7149
Last EDR Contact: 06/28/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

CALVERAS COUNTY:

CUPA CALVERAS:  CUPA Facility Listing
Cupa Facility Listing

Date of Government Version: 03/17/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/18/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/08/2022
Number of Days to Update: 82

Source:  Calveras County Environmental Health
Telephone:  209-754-6399
Last EDR Contact: 06/14/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

COLUSA COUNTY:

CUPA COLUSA:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa facility list.

Date of Government Version: 04/06/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/23/2020
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/10/2020
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  Health & Human Services
Telephone:  530-458-0396
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY:

SL CONTRA COSTA:  Site List
List includes sites from the underground tank, hazardous waste generator and business plan/2185 programs.

Date of Government Version: 04/21/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/22/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/12/2022
Number of Days to Update: 81

Source:  Contra Costa Health Services Department
Telephone:  925-646-2286
Last EDR Contact: 07/19/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

DEL NORTE COUNTY:

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-36

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1475 of 2173



CUPA DEL NORTE:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa Facility list

Date of Government Version: 05/04/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/06/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 83

Source:  Del Norte County Environmental Health Division
Telephone:  707-465-0426
Last EDR Contact: 07/19/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

EL DORADO COUNTY:

CUPA EL DORADO:  CUPA Facility List
CUPA facility list.

Date of Government Version: 02/16/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/17/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/10/2022
Number of Days to Update: 82

Source:  El Dorado County Environmental Management Department
Telephone:  530-621-6623
Last EDR Contact: 07/20/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

FRESNO COUNTY:

CUPA FRESNO:  CUPA Resources List
Certified Unified Program Agency. CUPA’s are responsible for implementing a unified hazardous materials and hazardous
waste management regulatory program. The agency provides oversight of businesses that deal with hazardous materials,
operate underground storage tanks or aboveground storage tanks.

Date of Government Version: 06/28/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 12/21/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/03/2022
Number of Days to Update: 72

Source:  Dept. of Community Health
Telephone:  559-445-3271
Last EDR Contact: 07/01/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

GLENN COUNTY:

CUPA GLENN:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa facility list

Date of Government Version: 01/22/2018
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/24/2018
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/14/2018
Number of Days to Update: 49

Source:  Glenn County Air Pollution Control District
Telephone:  830-934-6500
Last EDR Contact: 07/12/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

HUMBOLDT COUNTY:

CUPA HUMBOLDT:  CUPA Facility List
CUPA facility list.

Date of Government Version: 08/12/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/12/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 11/08/2021
Number of Days to Update: 88

Source:  Humboldt County Environmental Health
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

IMPERIAL COUNTY:

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-37

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1476 of 2173



CUPA IMPERIAL:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa facility list.

Date of Government Version: 04/18/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/19/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/12/2022
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  San Diego Border Field Office
Telephone:  760-339-2777
Last EDR Contact: 07/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

INYO COUNTY:

CUPA INYO:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa facility list.

Date of Government Version: 04/02/2018
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/03/2018
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/14/2018
Number of Days to Update: 72

Source:  Inyo County Environmental Health Services
Telephone:  760-878-0238
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

KERN COUNTY:

CUPA KERN:  CUPA Facility List
A listing of sites included in the Kern County Hazardous Material Business Plan.

Date of Government Version: 05/06/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/12/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/01/2022
Number of Days to Update: 81

Source:  Kern County Public Health
Telephone:  661-321-3000
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

UST KERN:  Underground Storage Tank Sites & Tank Listing
Kern County Sites and Tanks Listing.

Date of Government Version: 05/06/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/12/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/01/2022
Number of Days to Update: 81

Source:  Kern County Environment Health Services Department
Telephone:  661-862-8700
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

KINGS COUNTY:

CUPA KINGS:  CUPA Facility List
A listing of sites included in the county’s Certified Unified Program Agency database. California’s Secretary
for Environmental Protection established the unified hazardous materials and hazardous waste regulatory program
as required by chapter 6.11 of the California Health and Safety Code. The Unified Program consolidates the administration,
permits, inspections, and enforcement activities.

Date of Government Version: 12/03/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/26/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/14/2021
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  Kings County Department of Public Health
Telephone:  559-584-1411
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

LAKE COUNTY:

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-38

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1477 of 2173



CUPA LAKE:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa facility list

Date of Government Version: 02/10/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/11/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/04/2022
Number of Days to Update: 82

Source:  Lake County Environmental Health
Telephone:  707-263-1164
Last EDR Contact: 07/07/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

LASSEN COUNTY:

CUPA LASSEN:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa facility list

Date of Government Version: 07/31/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/21/2020
Date Made Active in Reports: 11/09/2020
Number of Days to Update: 80

Source:  Lassen County Environmental Health
Telephone:  530-251-8528
Last EDR Contact: 07/12/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

LOS ANGELES COUNTY:

AOCONCERN:  Key Areas of Concerns in Los Angeles County
San Gabriel Valley areas where VOC contamination is at or above the MCL as designated by region 9 EPA office. Date
of Government Version: 3/30/2009 Exide Site area is a cleanup plan of lead-impacted soil surrounding the former
Exide Facility as designated by the DTSC. Date of Government Version: 7/17/2017

Date of Government Version: 03/30/2009
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/31/2009
Date Made Active in Reports: 10/23/2009
Number of Days to Update: 206

Source:  N/A
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 06/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/26/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

HMS LOS ANGELES:  HMS: Street Number List
Industrial Waste and Underground Storage Tank Sites.

Date of Government Version: 04/04/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/05/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/13/2022
Number of Days to Update: 8

Source:  Department of Public Works
Telephone:  626-458-3517
Last EDR Contact: 06/29/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

LF LOS ANGELES:  List of Solid Waste Facilities
Solid Waste Facilities in Los Angeles County.

Date of Government Version: 04/11/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/12/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/05/2022
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  La County Department of Public Works
Telephone:  818-458-5185
Last EDR Contact: 07/11/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

LF LOS ANGELES CITY:  City of Los Angeles Landfills
Landfills owned and maintained by the City of Los Angeles.

Date of Government Version: 01/01/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/11/2022
Number of Days to Update: 80

Source:  Engineering & Construction Division
Telephone:  213-473-7869
Last EDR Contact: 07/06/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-39

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1478 of 2173



LOS ANGELES AST:  Active & Inactive AST Inventory
A listing of active & inactive above ground petroleum storage tank site locations, located in the City of Los
Angeles.

Date of Government Version: 06/01/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/25/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/22/2019
Number of Days to Update: 58

Source:  Los Angeles Fire Department
Telephone:  213-978-3800
Last EDR Contact: 06/14/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

LOS ANGELES CO LF METHANE:  Methane Producing Landfills
This data was created on April 30, 2012 to represent known disposal sites in Los Angeles County that may produce
and emanate methane gas. The shapefile contains disposal sites within Los Angeles County that once accepted degradable
refuse material. Information used to create this data was extracted from a landfill survey performed by County
Engineers (Major Waste System Map, 1973) as well as historical records from CalRecycle, Regional Water Quality
Control Board, and Los Angeles County Department of Public Health

Date of Government Version: 01/10/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/12/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/04/2022
Number of Days to Update: 82

Source:  Los Angeles County Department of Public Works
Telephone:  626-458-6973
Last EDR Contact: 07/06/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LOS ANGELES HM:  Active & Inactive Hazardous Materials Inventory
A listing of active & inactive hazardous materials facility locations, located in the City of Los Angeles.

Date of Government Version: 01/13/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/15/2022
Number of Days to Update: 86

Source:  Los Angeles Fire Department
Telephone:  213-978-3800
Last EDR Contact: 06/24/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

LOS ANGELES UST:  Active & Inactive UST Inventory
A listing of active & inactive underground storage tank site locations and underground storage tank historical
sites, located in the City of Los Angeles.

Date of Government Version: 01/13/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/15/2022
Number of Days to Update: 86

Source:  Los Angeles Fire Department
Telephone:  213-978-3800
Last EDR Contact: 06/24/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

SITE MIT LOS ANGELES:  Site Mitigation List
Industrial sites that have had some sort of spill or complaint.

Date of Government Version: 05/26/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/09/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/29/2021
Number of Days to Update: 82

Source:  Community Health Services
Telephone:  323-890-7806
Last EDR Contact: 07/14/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

UST EL SEGUNDO:  City of El Segundo Underground Storage Tank
Underground storage tank sites located in El Segundo city.

Date of Government Version: 01/21/2017
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/19/2017
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/10/2017
Number of Days to Update: 21

Source:  City of El Segundo Fire Department
Telephone:  310-524-2236
Last EDR Contact: 07/06/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-40

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1479 of 2173



UST LONG BEACH:  City of Long Beach Underground Storage Tank
Underground storage tank sites located in the city of Long Beach.

Date of Government Version: 04/22/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/23/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/27/2019
Number of Days to Update: 65

Source:  City of Long Beach Fire Department
Telephone:  562-570-2563
Last EDR Contact: 07/12/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

UST TORRANCE:  City of Torrance Underground Storage Tank
Underground storage tank sites located in the city of Torrance.

Date of Government Version: 04/20/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/21/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/12/2022
Number of Days to Update: 82

Source:  City of Torrance Fire Department
Telephone:  310-618-2973
Last EDR Contact: 07/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

MADERA COUNTY:

CUPA MADERA:  CUPA Facility List
A listing of sites included in the county’s Certified Unified Program Agency database. California’s Secretary
for Environmental Protection established the unified hazardous materials and hazardous waste regulatory program
as required by chapter 6.11 of the California Health and Safety Code. The Unified Program consolidates the administration,
permits, inspections, and enforcement activities.

Date of Government Version: 08/10/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 08/12/2020
Date Made Active in Reports: 10/23/2020
Number of Days to Update: 72

Source:  Madera County Environmental Health
Telephone:  559-675-7823
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

MARIN COUNTY:

UST MARIN:  Underground Storage Tank Sites
Currently permitted USTs in Marin County.

Date of Government Version: 09/26/2018
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 10/04/2018
Date Made Active in Reports: 11/02/2018
Number of Days to Update: 29

Source:  Public Works Department Waste Management
Telephone:  415-473-6647
Last EDR Contact: 06/22/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

MENDOCINO COUNTY:

UST MENDOCINO:  Mendocino County UST Database
A listing of underground storage tank locations in Mendocino County.

Date of Government Version: 09/22/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 11/18/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 11/22/2021
Number of Days to Update: 4

Source:  Department of Public Health
Telephone:  707-463-4466
Last EDR Contact: 08/16/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

MERCED COUNTY:

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-41

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1480 of 2173



CUPA MERCED:  CUPA Facility List
CUPA facility list.

Date of Government Version: 02/15/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/17/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/11/2022
Number of Days to Update: 83

Source:  Merced County Environmental Health
Telephone:  209-381-1094
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

MONO COUNTY:

CUPA MONO:  CUPA Facility List
CUPA Facility List

Date of Government Version: 02/22/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/02/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/19/2021
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  Mono County Health Department
Telephone:  760-932-5580
Last EDR Contact: 08/15/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

MONTEREY COUNTY:

CUPA MONTEREY:  CUPA Facility Listing
CUPA Program listing from the Environmental Health Division.

Date of Government Version: 10/04/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 10/06/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 12/29/2021
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  Monterey County Health Department
Telephone:  831-796-1297
Last EDR Contact: 08/16/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

NAPA COUNTY:

LUST NAPA:  Sites With Reported Contamination
A listing of leaking underground storage tank sites located in Napa county.

Date of Government Version: 01/09/2017
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/11/2017
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/02/2017
Number of Days to Update: 50

Source:  Napa County Department of Environmental Management
Telephone:  707-253-4269
Last EDR Contact: 08/15/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

UST NAPA:  Closed and Operating Underground Storage Tank Sites
Underground storage tank sites located in Napa county.

Date of Government Version: 09/05/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/09/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 10/31/2019
Number of Days to Update: 52

Source:  Napa County Department of Environmental Management
Telephone:  707-253-4269
Last EDR Contact: 08/15/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

NEVADA COUNTY:

CUPA NEVADA:  CUPA Facility List
CUPA facility list.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-42

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1481 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 07/21/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/25/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 3

Source:  Community Development Agency
Telephone:  530-265-1467
Last EDR Contact: 07/19/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

ORANGE COUNTY:

IND_SITE ORANGE:  List of Industrial Site Cleanups
Petroleum and non-petroleum spills.

Date of Government Version: 04/08/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/09/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 80

Source:  Health Care Agency
Telephone:  714-834-3446
Last EDR Contact: 07/29/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

LUST ORANGE:  List of Underground Storage Tank Cleanups
Orange County Underground Storage Tank Cleanups (LUST).

Date of Government Version: 04/08/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/18/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/03/2022
Number of Days to Update: 77

Source:  Health Care Agency
Telephone:  714-834-3446
Last EDR Contact: 07/29/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

UST ORANGE:  List of Underground Storage Tank Facilities
Orange County Underground Storage Tank Facilities (UST).

Date of Government Version: 04/08/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/03/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/20/2022
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  Health Care Agency
Telephone:  714-834-3446
Last EDR Contact: 08/01/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

PLACER COUNTY:

MS PLACER:  Master List of Facilities
List includes aboveground tanks, underground tanks and cleanup sites.

Date of Government Version: 05/25/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/26/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/01/2022
Number of Days to Update: 6

Source:  Placer County Health and Human Services
Telephone:  530-745-2363
Last EDR Contact: 05/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

PLUMAS COUNTY:

CUPA PLUMAS:  CUPA Facility List
Plumas County CUPA Program facilities.

Date of Government Version: 03/31/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/23/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/26/2019
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  Plumas County Environmental Health
Telephone:  530-283-6355
Last EDR Contact: 07/12/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

RIVERSIDE COUNTY:

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-43

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1482 of 2173



LUST RIVERSIDE:  Listing of Underground Tank Cleanup Sites
Riverside County Underground Storage Tank Cleanup Sites (LUST).

Date of Government Version: 03/31/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/31/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/08/2022
Number of Days to Update: 8

Source:  Department of Environmental Health
Telephone:  951-358-5055
Last EDR Contact: 06/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/26/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

UST RIVERSIDE:  Underground Storage Tank Tank List
Underground storage tank sites located in Riverside county.

Date of Government Version: 03/31/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/31/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/08/2022
Number of Days to Update: 8

Source:  Department of Environmental Health
Telephone:  951-358-5055
Last EDR Contact: 06/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/26/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

SACRAMENTO COUNTY:

CS SACRAMENTO:  Toxic Site Clean-Up List
List of sites where unauthorized releases of potentially hazardous materials have occurred. 

Date of Government Version: 06/18/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/28/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 12/14/2021
Number of Days to Update: 77

Source:  Sacramento County Environmental Management
Telephone:  916-875-8406
Last EDR Contact: 06/30/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

ML SACRAMENTO:  Master Hazardous Materials Facility List
Any business that has hazardous materials on site - hazardous material storage sites, underground storage tanks,
waste generators.

Date of Government Version: 05/04/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/30/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/05/2022
Number of Days to Update: 5

Source:  Sacramento County Environmental Management
Telephone:  916-875-8406
Last EDR Contact: 06/30/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

SAN BENITO COUNTY:

CUPA SAN BENITO:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa facility list

Date of Government Version: 04/29/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/29/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/05/2022
Number of Days to Update: 6

Source:  San Benito County Environmental Health
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY:

PERMITS SAN BERNARDINO:  Hazardous Material Permits
This listing includes underground storage tanks, medical waste handlers/generators, hazardous materials handlers,
hazardous waste generators, and waste oil generators/handlers.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-44

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1483 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 05/12/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/12/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/18/2022
Number of Days to Update: 6

Source:  San Bernardino County Fire Department Hazardous Materials Division
Telephone:  909-387-3041
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

SAN DIEGO COUNTY:

HMMD SAN DIEGO:  Hazardous Materials Management Division Database
The database includes: HE58 - This report contains the business name, site address, business phone number, establishment
’H’ permit number, type of permit, and the business status. HE17 - In addition to providing the same information
provided in the HE58 listing, HE17 provides inspection dates, violations received by the establishment, hazardous
waste generated, the quantity, method of storage, treatment/disposal of waste and the hauler, and information
on underground storage tanks. Unauthorized Release List - Includes a summary of environmental contamination cases
in San Diego County (underground tank cases, non-tank cases, groundwater contamination, and soil contamination
are included.)

Date of Government Version: 05/31/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/31/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/18/2022
Number of Days to Update: 79

Source:  Hazardous Materials Management Division
Telephone:  619-338-2268
Last EDR Contact: 05/31/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

LF SAN DIEGO:  Solid Waste Facilities
San Diego County Solid Waste Facilities.

Date of Government Version: 10/27/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/04/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/31/2022
Number of Days to Update: 88

Source:  Department of Health Services
Telephone:  619-338-2209
Last EDR Contact: 07/12/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

SAN DIEGO CO LOP:  Local Oversight Program Listing
A listing of all LOP release sites that are or were under the County of San Diego’s jurisdiction. Included are
closed or transferred cases, open cases, and cases that did not have a case type indicated. The cases without
a case type are mostly complaints; however, some of them could be LOP cases.

Date of Government Version: 07/22/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 10/19/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 01/13/2022
Number of Days to Update: 86

Source:  Department of Environmental Health
Telephone:  858-505-6874
Last EDR Contact: 07/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

SAN DIEGO CO SAM:  Environmental Case Listing
The listing contains all underground tank release cases and projects pertaining to properties contaminated with
hazardous substances that are actively under review by the Site Assessment and Mitigation Program.

Date of Government Version: 03/23/2010
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/15/2010
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/09/2010
Number of Days to Update: 24

Source:  San Diego County Department of Environmental Health
Telephone:  619-338-2371
Last EDR Contact: 05/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY:

CUPA SAN FRANCISCO CO:  CUPA Facility Listing
Cupa facilities

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-45

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1484 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 05/05/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/06/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 83

Source:  San Francisco County Department of Environmental Health
Telephone:  415-252-3896
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

LUST SAN FRANCISCO:  Local Oversite Facilities
A listing of leaking underground storage tank sites located in San Francisco county.

Date of Government Version: 09/19/2008
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/19/2008
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/29/2008
Number of Days to Update: 10

Source:  Department Of Public Health San Francisco County
Telephone:  415-252-3920
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

UST SAN FRANCISCO:  Underground Storage Tank Information
Underground storage tank sites located in San Francisco county.

Date of Government Version: 05/05/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/06/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/20/2022
Number of Days to Update: 75

Source:  Department of Public Health
Telephone:  415-252-3920
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

SAN FRANCISO COUNTY:

SAN FRANCISCO MAHER:  Maher Ordinance Property Listing
a listing of properties that fall within a Maher Ordinance, for all of San Francisco

Date of Government Version: 01/18/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/20/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/27/2022
Number of Days to Update: 97

Source:  San Francisco Planning
Telephone:  628-652-7483
Last EDR Contact: 07/05/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY:

UST SAN JOAQUIN:  San Joaquin Co. UST
A listing of underground storage tank locations in San Joaquin county.

Date of Government Version: 06/22/2018
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/26/2018
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/11/2018
Number of Days to Update: 15

Source:  Environmental Health Department
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 06/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/26/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY:

CUPA SAN LUIS OBISPO:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa Facility List.

Date of Government Version: 05/16/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/18/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/04/2022
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  San Luis Obispo County Public Health Department
Telephone:  805-781-5596
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

SAN MATEO COUNTY:

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-46

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1485 of 2173



BI SAN MATEO:  Business Inventory
List includes Hazardous Materials Business Plan, hazardous waste generators, and underground storage tanks.

Date of Government Version: 02/20/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/20/2020
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/24/2020
Number of Days to Update: 64

Source:  San Mateo County Environmental Health Services Division
Telephone:  650-363-1921
Last EDR Contact: 06/10/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

LUST SAN MATEO:  Fuel Leak List
A listing of leaking underground storage tank sites located in San Mateo county.

Date of Government Version: 03/29/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/29/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/29/2019
Number of Days to Update: 61

Source:  San Mateo County Environmental Health Services Division
Telephone:  650-363-1921
Last EDR Contact: 06/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

SANTA BARBARA COUNTY:

CUPA SANTA BARBARA:  CUPA Facility Listing
CUPA Program Listing from the Environmental Health Services division.

Date of Government Version: 09/08/2011
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/09/2011
Date Made Active in Reports: 10/07/2011
Number of Days to Update: 28

Source:  Santa Barbara County Public Health Department
Telephone:  805-686-8167
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

SANTA CLARA COUNTY:

CUPA SANTA CLARA:  Cupa Facility List
Cupa facility list

Date of Government Version: 05/16/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/18/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/04/2022
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  Department of Environmental Health
Telephone:  408-918-1973
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

HIST LUST SANTA CLARA:  HIST LUST - Fuel Leak Site Activity Report
A listing of open and closed leaking underground storage tanks. This listing is no longer updated by the county.
Leaking underground storage tanks are now handled by the Department of Environmental Health.

Date of Government Version: 03/29/2005
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/30/2005
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/21/2005
Number of Days to Update: 22

Source:  Santa Clara Valley Water District
Telephone:  408-265-2600
Last EDR Contact: 03/23/2009
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 06/22/2009
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LUST SANTA CLARA:  LOP Listing
A listing of leaking underground storage tanks located in Santa Clara county.

Date of Government Version: 03/03/2014
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/05/2014
Date Made Active in Reports: 03/18/2014
Number of Days to Update: 13

Source:  Department of Environmental Health
Telephone:  408-918-3417
Last EDR Contact: 08/15/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 12/05/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-47

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1486 of 2173



SAN JOSE HAZMAT:  Hazardous Material Facilities
Hazardous material facilities, including underground storage tank sites.

Date of Government Version: 11/03/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 11/05/2020
Date Made Active in Reports: 01/26/2021
Number of Days to Update: 82

Source:  City of San Jose Fire Department
Telephone:  408-535-7694
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY:

CUPA SANTA CRUZ:  CUPA Facility List
CUPA facility listing.

Date of Government Version: 01/21/2017
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/22/2017
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/23/2017
Number of Days to Update: 90

Source:  Santa Cruz County Environmental Health
Telephone:  831-464-2761
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

SHASTA COUNTY:

CUPA SHASTA:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa Facility List.

Date of Government Version: 06/15/2017
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/19/2017
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/09/2017
Number of Days to Update: 51

Source:  Shasta County Department of Resource Management
Telephone:  530-225-5789
Last EDR Contact: 08/09/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

SOLANO COUNTY:

LUST SOLANO:  Leaking Underground Storage Tanks
A listing of leaking underground storage tank sites located in Solano county.

Date of Government Version: 06/04/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/06/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/13/2019
Number of Days to Update: 68

Source:  Solano County Department of Environmental Management
Telephone:  707-784-6770
Last EDR Contact: 05/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

UST SOLANO:  Underground Storage Tanks
Underground storage tank sites located in Solano county.

Date of Government Version: 09/15/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 09/16/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 12/09/2021
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  Solano County Department of Environmental Management
Telephone:  707-784-6770
Last EDR Contact: 05/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

SONOMA COUNTY:

CUPA SONOMA:  Cupa Facility List
Cupa Facility list

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-48

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1487 of 2173



Date of Government Version: 07/02/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/06/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/14/2021
Number of Days to Update: 8

Source:  County of Sonoma Fire & Emergency Services Department
Telephone:  707-565-1174
Last EDR Contact: 06/14/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/03/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

LUST SONOMA:  Leaking Underground Storage Tank Sites
A listing of leaking underground storage tank sites located in Sonoma county.

Date of Government Version: 06/30/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/30/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/24/2021
Number of Days to Update: 86

Source:  Department of Health Services
Telephone:  707-565-6565
Last EDR Contact: 06/14/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/04/2021
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

STANISLAUS COUNTY:

CUPA STANISLAUS:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa facility list

Date of Government Version: 02/08/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 02/10/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/04/2022
Number of Days to Update: 83

Source:  Stanislaus County Department of Ennvironmental Protection
Telephone:  209-525-6751
Last EDR Contact: 07/11/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

SUTTER COUNTY:

UST SUTTER:  Underground Storage Tanks
Underground storage tank sites located in Sutter county.

Date of Government Version: 05/03/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/27/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 08/11/2022
Number of Days to Update: 76

Source:  Sutter County Environmental Health Services
Telephone:  530-822-7500
Last EDR Contact: 05/25/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/12/2022
Data Release Frequency: Semi-Annually

TEHAMA COUNTY:

CUPA TEHAMA:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa facilities

Date of Government Version: 01/13/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 01/14/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 04/06/2021
Number of Days to Update: 82

Source:  Tehama County Department of Environmental Health
Telephone:  530-527-8020
Last EDR Contact: 07/26/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TRINITY COUNTY:

CUPA TRINITY:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa facility list

Date of Government Version: 04/18/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/19/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/12/2022
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  Department of Toxic Substances Control
Telephone:  760-352-0381
Last EDR Contact: 07/13/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TULARE COUNTY:

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-49

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1488 of 2173



CUPA TULARE:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa program facilities

Date of Government Version: 04/26/2021
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/28/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/13/2021
Number of Days to Update: 76

Source:  Tulare County Environmental Health Services Division
Telephone:  559-624-7400
Last EDR Contact: 07/12/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/14/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

TUOLUMNE COUNTY:

CUPA TUOLUMNE:  CUPA Facility List
Cupa facility list

Date of Government Version: 04/23/2018
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/25/2018
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/25/2018
Number of Days to Update: 61

Source:  Divison of Environmental Health
Telephone:  209-533-5633
Last EDR Contact: 07/12/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

VENTURA COUNTY:

BWT VENTURA:  Business Plan, Hazardous Waste Producers, and Operating Underground Tanks
The BWT list indicates by site address whether the Environmental Health Division has Business Plan (B), Waste
Producer (W), and/or Underground Tank (T) information.

Date of Government Version: 03/28/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/28/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/15/2022
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  Ventura County Environmental Health Division
Telephone:  805-654-2813
Last EDR Contact: 07/18/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

LF VENTURA:  Inventory of Illegal Abandoned and Inactive Sites
Ventura County Inventory of Closed, Illegal Abandoned, and Inactive Sites.

Date of Government Version: 12/01/2011
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 12/01/2011
Date Made Active in Reports: 01/19/2012
Number of Days to Update: 49

Source:  Environmental Health Division
Telephone:  805-654-2813
Last EDR Contact: 06/22/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

LUST VENTURA:  Listing of Underground Tank Cleanup Sites
Ventura County Underground Storage Tank Cleanup Sites (LUST).

Date of Government Version: 05/29/2008
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/24/2008
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/31/2008
Number of Days to Update: 37

Source:  Environmental Health Division
Telephone:  805-654-2813
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/21/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

MED WASTE VENTURA:  Medical Waste Program List
To protect public health and safety and the environment from potential exposure to disease causing agents, the
Environmental Health Division Medical Waste Program regulates the generation, handling, storage, treatment and
disposal of medical waste throughout the County.

Date of Government Version: 03/28/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/28/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/15/2022
Number of Days to Update: 78

Source:  Ventura County Resource Management Agency
Telephone:  805-654-2813
Last EDR Contact: 07/18/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/31/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-50

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1489 of 2173



UST VENTURA:  Underground Tank Closed Sites List
Ventura County Operating Underground Storage Tank Sites (UST)/Underground Tank Closed Sites List.

Date of Government Version: 02/28/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/08/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/02/2022
Number of Days to Update: 86

Source:  Environmental Health Division
Telephone:  805-654-2813
Last EDR Contact: 06/07/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

YOLO COUNTY:

UST YOLO:  Underground Storage Tank Comprehensive Facility Report
Underground storage tank sites located in Yolo county.

Date of Government Version: 03/24/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 03/31/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 06/27/2022
Number of Days to Update: 88

Source:  Yolo County Department of Health
Telephone:  530-666-8646
Last EDR Contact: 06/22/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/10/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

YUBA COUNTY:

CUPA YUBA:  CUPA Facility List
CUPA facility listing for Yuba County.

Date of Government Version: 05/03/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/05/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 84

Source:  Yuba County Environmental Health Department
Telephone:  530-749-7523
Last EDR Contact: 08/02/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Varies

OTHER DATABASE(S)

Depending on the geographic area covered by this report, the data provided in these specialty databases may or may not be
complete.  For example, the existence of wetlands information data in a specific report does not mean that all wetlands in the
area covered by the report are included.  Moreover, the absence of any reported wetlands information does not necessarily
mean that wetlands do not exist in the area covered by the report.

CT MANIFEST:  Hazardous Waste Manifest Data
Facility and manifest data. Manifest is a document that lists and tracks hazardous waste from the generator through
transporters to a tsd facility.

Date of Government Version: 05/08/2022
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 05/09/2022
Date Made Active in Reports: 07/28/2022
Number of Days to Update: 80

Source:  Department of Energy & Environmental Protection
Telephone:  860-424-3375
Last EDR Contact: 08/08/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/21/2022
Data Release Frequency: No Update Planned

NJ MANIFEST:  Manifest Information
Hazardous waste manifest information.

Date of Government Version: 12/31/2018
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 04/10/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 05/16/2019
Number of Days to Update: 36

Source:  Department of Environmental Protection
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 06/28/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/17/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-51

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1490 of 2173



NY MANIFEST:  Facility and Manifest Data
Manifest is a document that lists and tracks hazardous waste from the generator through transporters to a TSD
facility.

Date of Government Version: 01/01/2019
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 10/29/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 01/19/2022
Number of Days to Update: 82

Source:  Department of Environmental Conservation
Telephone:  518-402-8651
Last EDR Contact: 07/29/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/07/2022
Data Release Frequency: Quarterly

PA MANIFEST:  Manifest Information
Hazardous waste manifest information.

Date of Government Version: 06/30/2018
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 07/19/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/10/2019
Number of Days to Update: 53

Source:  Department of Environmental Protection
Telephone:  717-783-8990
Last EDR Contact: 07/06/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 10/24/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

RI MANIFEST:  Manifest information
Hazardous waste manifest information

Date of Government Version: 12/31/2020
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 11/30/2021
Date Made Active in Reports: 02/18/2022
Number of Days to Update: 80

Source:  Department of Environmental Management
Telephone:  401-222-2797
Last EDR Contact: 08/10/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 11/28/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

WI MANIFEST:  Manifest Information
Hazardous waste manifest information.

Date of Government Version: 05/31/2018
Date Data Arrived at EDR: 06/19/2019
Date Made Active in Reports: 09/03/2019
Number of Days to Update: 76

Source:  Department of Natural Resources
Telephone:  N/A
Last EDR Contact: 06/03/2022
Next Scheduled EDR Contact: 09/19/2022
Data Release Frequency: Annually

Oil/Gas Pipelines
Source:  Endeavor Business Media
Petroleum Bundle (Crude Oil, Refined Products, Petrochemicals, Gas Liquids (LPG/NGL), and Specialty
Gases (Miscellaneous)) N = Natural Gas Bundle (Natural Gas, Gas Liquids (LPG/NGL), and Specialty Gases
(Miscellaneous)). This map includes information copyrighted by Endeavor Business Media. This information
is provided on a best effort basis and Endeavor Business Media does not guarantee its accuracy nor warrant its
fitness for any particular purpose. Such information has been reprinted with the permission of Endeavor Business
Media.

Electric Power Transmission Line Data
Source:  Endeavor Business Media
This map includes information copyrighted by Endeavor Business Media. This information is provided on a best
effort basis and Endeavor Business Media does not guarantee its accuracy nor warrant its fitness for any
particular purpose. Such information has been reprinted with the permission of Endeavor Business Media.

Sensitive Receptors: There are individuals deemed sensitive receptors due to their fragile immune systems and special sensitivity
to environmental discharges.  These sensitive receptors typically include the elderly, the sick, and children.  While the location of all
sensitive receptors cannot be determined, EDR indicates those buildings and facilities - schools, daycares, hospitals, medical centers,
and nursing homes - where individuals who are sensitive receptors are likely to be located.

AHA Hospitals:
Source: American Hospital Association, Inc.
Telephone: 312-280-5991
The database includes a listing of hospitals based on the American Hospital Association’s annual survey of hospitals.

Medical Centers: Provider of Services Listing
Source: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
Telephone: 410-786-3000
A listing of hospitals with Medicare provider number, produced by Centers of Medicare & Medicaid Services,
a federal agency within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-52

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1491 of 2173



Nursing Homes
Source: National Institutes of Health
Telephone: 301-594-6248
Information on Medicare and Medicaid certified nursing homes in the United States.

Public Schools
Source: National Center for Education Statistics
Telephone: 202-502-7300
The National Center for Education Statistics’ primary database on elementary
and secondary public education in the United States.  It is a comprehensive, annual, national statistical
database of all public elementary and secondary schools and school districts, which contains data that are
comparable across all states.

Private Schools
Source: National Center for Education Statistics
Telephone: 202-502-7300
The National Center for Education Statistics’ primary database on private school locations in the United States. 

Daycare Centers: Licensed Facilities
Source: Department of Social Services
Telephone: 916-657-4041

Flood Zone Data: This data was obtained from the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). It depicts 100-year and
500-year flood zones as defined by FEMA. It includes the National Flood Hazard Layer (NFHL) which incorporates Flood
Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) data and Q3 data from FEMA in areas not covered by NFHL.

Source: FEMA
Telephone: 877-336-2627
Date of Government Version: 2003, 2015

NWI: National Wetlands Inventory.  This data, available in select counties across the country, was obtained by EDR
in 2002, 2005 and 2010 from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.

State Wetlands Data: Wetland Inventory
Source: Department of Fish and Wildlife
Telephone: 916-445-0411

Current USGS 7.5 Minute Topographic Map
Source: U.S. Geological Survey

STREET AND ADDRESS INFORMATION

Â© 2015 TomTom North America, Inc. All rights reserved.  This material is proprietary and the subject of copyright protection
and other intellectual property rights owned by or licensed to Tele Atlas North America, Inc.  The use of this material is subject
to the terms of a license agreement.  You will be held liable for any unauthorized copying or disclosure of this material.

TC7095824.2s     Page GR-53

GOVERNMENT RECORDS SEARCHED / DATA CURRENCY TRACKING

Item E - 1492 of 2173



TC7095824.2s   Page A-1

geologic strata.
of the soil, and nearby wells.  Groundwater flow velocity is generally impacted by the nature of the
Groundwater flow direction may be impacted by surface topography, hydrology, hydrogeology, characteristics

  2.  Groundwater flow velocity.
  1.  Groundwater flow direction, and

Assessment of the impact of contaminant migration generally has two principle investigative components:

forming an opinion about the impact of potential contaminant migration.
EDR’s GeoCheck Physical Setting Source Addendum is provided to assist the environmental professional in

2018Version Date:
12016009 ONTARIO, CAWest Map:

2018Version Date:
12015973 GUASTI, CATarget Property Map:

USGS TOPOGRAPHIC MAP

865 ft. above sea levelElevation:
3766602.5UTM Y (Meters): 
442935.7UTM X (Meters): 
Zone 11Universal Tranverse Mercator: 
117.618202 - 117ˆ  37’ 5.53’’Longitude (West): 
34.040303 - 34ˆ  2’ 25.09’’Latitude (North): 

TARGET PROPERTY COORDINATES

ONTARIO, CA 91761
1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET
COMMERCIAL PROPERTY

TARGET PROPERTY ADDRESS

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE ADDENDUM®

Item E - 1493 of 2173



TC7095824.2s   Page A-2

should be field verified.
on a relative (not an absolute) basis. Relative elevation information between sites of close proximity
Source: Topography has been determined from the USGS 7.5’ Digital Elevation Model and should be evaluated

SURROUNDING TOPOGRAPHY: ELEVATION PROFILES

E
le

va
tio

n 
(f

t)
E

le
va

tio
n 

(f
t)

TP

TP
0 1/2 1 Miles

✩Target Property Elevation: 865 ft.

North South

West East

808

813

818

824

831

842

847

853

860

865

872

878

885

894

904

911

920

925

934
874

874

873

874

871

868

866

865

863

865

866

867

866

864

862

861

862

863

863

General SouthGeneral Topographic Gradient:
TARGET PROPERTY TOPOGRAPHY

should contamination exist on the target property, what downgradient sites might be impacted.
assist the environmental professional in forming an opinion about the impact of nearby contaminated properties or,
Surface topography may be indicative of the direction of surficial groundwater flow.  This information can be used to
TOPOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

collected on nearby properties, and regional groundwater flow information (from deep aquifers).
sources of information, such as surface topographic information, hydrologic information, hydrogeologic data
using site-specific well data. If such data is not reasonably ascertainable, it may be necessary to rely on other
Groundwater flow direction for a particular site is best determined by a qualified environmental professional
GROUNDWATER FLOW DIRECTION INFORMATION

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE SUMMARY®

Item E - 1494 of 2173



TC7095824.2s   Page A-3

For additional site information, refer to Physical Setting Source Map Findings.

S1/4 - 1/2 Mile ESE1G
S1/4 - 1/2 Mile ESE8

GENERAL DIRECTIONLOCATION
GROUNDWATER FLOWFROM TPMAP ID

hydrogeologically, and the depth to water table.
authorities at select sites and has extracted the date of the report, groundwater flow direction as determined
flow at specific points. EDR has reviewed reports submitted by environmental professionals to regulatory
EDR has developed the AQUIFLOW Information System to provide data on the general direction of groundwater

AQUIFLOW®

 Search Radius: 1.000 Mile.

Not found     Status:
1.25 miles     Search Radius:

Site-Specific Hydrogeological Data*:

* ©1996 Site−specific hydrogeological data gathered by CERCLIS Alerts, Inc., Bainbridge Island, WA.  All rights reserved.  All of the information and opinions presented are those of the cited EPA report(s), which were completed under
a Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Information System (CERCLIS) investigation.

contamination exist on the target property, what downgradient sites might be impacted.
environmental professional in forming an opinion about the impact of nearby contaminated properties or, should
of groundwater flow direction in the immediate area.  Such hydrogeologic information can be used to assist the
Hydrogeologic information obtained by installation of wells on a specific site can often be an indicator
HYDROGEOLOGIC INFORMATION

YES - refer to the Overview Map and Detail MapGUASTI

NATIONAL WETLAND INVENTORY
NWI Electronic
Data CoverageNWI Quad at Target Property

 FEMA FIRM Flood data06071C8638H  
 FEMA FIRM Flood data06071C8620H  
 FEMA FIRM Flood data06071C8617J  
 FEMA FIRM Flood data06037C1750F  

Additional Panels in search area: FEMA Source Type

 FEMA FIRM Flood data06071C8636J  

Flood Plain Panel at Target Property FEMA Source Type

FEMA FLOOD ZONE

and bodies of water).
Refer to the Physical Setting Source Map following this summary for hydrologic information (major waterways

contamination exist on the target property, what downgradient sites might be impacted.
the environmental professional in forming an opinion about the impact of nearby contaminated properties or, should
Surface water can act as a hydrologic barrier to groundwater flow.  Such hydrologic information can be used to assist
HYDROLOGIC INFORMATION

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE SUMMARY®

Item E - 1495 of 2173



TC7095824.2s   Page A-4

Map, USGS Digital Data Series DDS - 11 (1994).
of the Conterminous U.S. at 1:2,500,000 Scale - a digital representation of the 1974 P.B. King and H.M. Beikman
Geologic Age and Rock Stratigraphic Unit Source: P.G. Schruben, R.E. Arndt and W.J. Bawiec, Geology

ROCK STRATIGRAPHIC UNIT GEOLOGIC AGE IDENTIFICATION

Stratifed SequenceCategory:CenozoicEra:
QuaternarySystem:
QuaternarySeries:
QCode:    (decoded above as Era, System & Series)

at which contaminant migration may be occurring.
Geologic information can be used by the environmental professional in forming an opinion about the relative speed
GEOLOGIC INFORMATION IN GENERAL AREA OF TARGET PROPERTY

move more quickly through sandy-gravelly types of soils than silty-clayey types of soils.
characteristics data collected on nearby properties and regional soil information. In general, contaminant plumes
to rely on other sources of information, including geologic age identification, rock stratigraphic unit and soil
using site specific geologic and soil strata data. If such data are not reasonably ascertainable, it may be necessary
Groundwater flow velocity information for a particular site is best determined by a qualified environmental professional
GROUNDWATER FLOW VELOCITY INFORMATION

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE SUMMARY®

Item E - 1496 of 2173



EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.

1

2

0   1/16   1/8   1/4 Miles

Item E - 1497 of 2173



TC7095824.2s   Page A-6

Min: 6.1
Max: 7.8

Min: 42
Max: 141   

Silty Sand.
Sands with fines,
SOILS, Sands,
COARSE-GRAINED

Sand.
Gravel and
Fragments,
200), Stone
passing No.
pct. or less
materials (35
Granularloamy sand59 inches18 inches 2

Min: 6.1
Max: 7.8

Min: 42
Max: 141   

Silty Sand.
Sands with fines,
SOILS, Sands,
COARSE-GRAINED

Sand.
Gravel and
Fragments,
200), Stone
passing No.
pct. or less
materials (35
Granular

sand
gravelly loamy18 inches 0 inches 1

Soil Layer Information           

Boundary Classification Saturated
hydraulic
conductivity
micro m/sec

Layer Upper Lower Soil Texture Class AASHTO Group Unified Soil Soil Reaction
(pH)

 
> 0 inchesDepth to Watertable Min:

> 0 inchesDepth to Bedrock Min:

ModerateCorrosion Potential - Uncoated Steel:

Hydric Status: Not hydric

Somewhat excessively drainedSoil Drainage Class:

excessively drained sands and gravels.
Class A - High infiltration rates. Soils are deep, well drained toHydrologic Group:

gravelly loamy sandSoil Surface Texture:

TUJUNGASoil Component Name:

Soil Map ID: 1

in a landscape. The following information is based on Soil Conservation Service SSURGO data.
for privately owned lands in the United States. A soil map in a soil survey is a representation of soil patterns
Survey (NCSS) and is responsible for collecting, storing, maintaining and distributing soil survey information
The U.S. Department of Agriculture’s (USDA) Soil Conservation Service (SCS) leads the National Cooperative Soil

DOMINANT SOIL COMPOSITION IN GENERAL AREA OF TARGET PROPERTY

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE SUMMARY®

Item E - 1498 of 2173



TC7095824.2s   Page A-7

opinion about the impact of contaminant migration on nearby drinking water wells.
professional in assessing sources that may impact ground water flow direction, and in forming an
EDR Local/Regional Water Agency records provide water well information to assist the environmental

LOCAL / REGIONAL WATER AGENCY RECORDS

Min: 6.1
Max: 7.8

Min: 42
Max: 141   

Silty Sand.
Sands with fines,
SOILS, Sands,
COARSE-GRAINED

and Sand.
Clayey Gravel
200), Silty, or
passing No.
pct. or less
materials (35
Granularsand59 inches18 inches 2

Min: 6.1
Max: 7.8

Min: 42
Max: 141   

Silty Sand.
Sands with fines,
SOILS, Sands,
COARSE-GRAINED

and Sand.
Clayey Gravel
200), Silty, or
passing No.
pct. or less
materials (35
Granularfine sand18 inches 0 inches 1

Soil Layer Information           

Boundary Classification Saturated
hydraulic
conductivity
micro m/sec

Layer Upper Lower Soil Texture Class AASHTO Group Unified Soil Soil Reaction
(pH)

 
> 0 inchesDepth to Watertable Min:

> 0 inchesDepth to Bedrock Min:

ModerateCorrosion Potential - Uncoated Steel:

Hydric Status: Not hydric

Somewhat excessively drainedSoil Drainage Class:

excessively drained sands and gravels.
Class A - High infiltration rates. Soils are deep, well drained toHydrologic Group:

fine sandSoil Surface Texture:

DELHISoil Component Name:

Soil Map ID: 2

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE SUMMARY®

Item E - 1499 of 2173



TC7095824.2s   Page A-8

1/2 - 1 Mile NECAEDF0000035764   26
1/2 - 1 Mile NNECADWR0000004958   25
1/2 - 1 Mile SSWCADWR0000001509   23
1/2 - 1 Mile ENECAEDF0000128329   22
1/2 - 1 Mile SSECADWR0000030198   21
1/2 - 1 Mile NNECADDW0000006865   D20
1/2 - 1 Mile WSWCAEDF0000050678   19
1/2 - 1 Mile North1091   C18
1/2 - 1 Mile North1090   C17
1/2 - 1 Mile SECAUSGS000001946   B16
1/2 - 1 Mile SECAUSGSN00011732   B15
1/2 - 1 Mile SSWCADWR0000033731   14
1/2 - 1 Mile SSECADWR0000026604   A13
1/2 - 1 Mile SSECADWR0000019477   A12
1/2 - 1 Mile WestCAEDF0000084094   11
1/2 - 1 Mile ENECAEDF0000079868   10
1/4 - 1/2 Mile ENECAEDF0000138963   9
1/4 - 1/2 Mile SWCAEDF0000098332   7
1/4 - 1/2 Mile WNWCADWR0000024181   6
1/4 - 1/2 Mile ESECADWR0000024109   5
1/8 - 1/4 Mile NECAEDF0000112258   4
1/8 - 1/4 Mile SECAEDF0000122488   3
1/8 - 1/4 Mile ENECAEDF0000073906   2
1/8 - 1/4 Mile NNWCAEDF0000078162   1

STATE DATABASE WELL INFORMATION

LOCATION
FROM TPWELL IDMAP ID

Note: PWS System location is not always the same as well location.

No PWS System Found

FEDERAL FRDS PUBLIC WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM INFORMATION

LOCATION
FROM TPWELL IDMAP ID

1/2 - 1 Mile WNWUSGS40000140077   29
1/2 - 1 Mile NNEUSGS40000140133   D24

FEDERAL USGS WELL INFORMATION

LOCATION
FROM TPWELL IDMAP ID

1.000State Database
Nearest PWS within 1 mileFederal FRDS PWS
1.000Federal USGS

WELL SEARCH DISTANCE INFORMATION

SEARCH DISTANCE (miles)DATABASE

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE SUMMARY®

Item E - 1500 of 2173



TC7095824.2s   Page A-9

1/2 - 1 Mile NNWCADWR0000036123   33
1/2 - 1 Mile ENECAEDF0000102872   32
1/2 - 1 Mile SSECAUSGS000001212   E31
1/2 - 1 Mile SSECAUSGSN00006293   E30
1/2 - 1 Mile SSWCADWR0000008690   28
1/2 - 1 Mile SWCADWR0000006178   27

STATE DATABASE WELL INFORMATION

LOCATION
FROM TPWELL IDMAP ID

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE SUMMARY®

Item E - 1501 of 2173



EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.EDR Inc.

9 6 0

9 2 0

880

8 4 0

8 4 0

8 0 0

800

960

920

9 2 0

9
2

0

8 8 0

8 8 0
8 8 0

8 4 0

8 4 0

8 0 0

8 0 0

CA

Item E - 1502 of 2173



TC7095824.2s   Page A-11

          gned_name=OW-8
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-8&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-8Other Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-8Well ID:

4
NE
1/8 - 1/4 Mile
Higher

CAEDF0000112258CA WELLS

          gned_name=OW-10
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-10&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-10Other Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-10Well ID:

3
SE
1/8 - 1/4 Mile
Lower

CAEDF0000122488CA WELLS

          gned_name=OW-9P
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-9P&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-9POther Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-9PWell ID:

2
ENE
1/8 - 1/4 Mile
Higher

CAEDF0000073906CA WELLS

          gned_name=OW-14
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-14&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-14Other Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-14Well ID:

1
NNW
1/8 - 1/4 Mile
Higher

CAEDF0000078162CA WELLS

Map ID
Direction
Distance
Elevation EDR ID NumberDatabase

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE MAP FINDINGS®

Item E - 1503 of 2173

https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-8
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-8&store_num=
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-10
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-10&store_num=
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-9P
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-9P&store_num=
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-14
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-14&store_num=


TC7095824.2s   Page A-12

          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-4&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-4Other Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-4Well ID:

9
ENE
1/4 - 1/2 Mile
Higher

CAEDF0000138963CA WELLS

Date: 09/18/1995
Average Water Depth: Not Reported
Deep Water Depth: 300
Shallow Water Depth: 250
Groundwater Flow: S
Site ID: 083602381T8

ESE
1/4 - 1/2 Mile
Lower

50218AQUIFLOW

          gned_name=OW-12
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-12&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-12Other Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-12Well ID:

7
SW
1/4 - 1/2 Mile
Lower

CAEDF0000098332CA WELLS

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=01S07W33E001S&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          01S07W33E001SOther Name:
          Department of Water ResourcesSource:

          UNKWell Type:          01S07W33E001SWell ID:

6
WNW
1/4 - 1/2 Mile
Lower

CADWR0000024181CA WELLS

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=01S07W33J001S&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          01S07W33J001SOther Name:
          Department of Water ResourcesSource:

          UNKWell Type:          01S07W33J001SWell ID:

5
ESE
1/4 - 1/2 Mile
Lower

CADWR0000024109CA WELLS

Map ID
Direction
Distance
Elevation EDR ID NumberDatabase

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE MAP FINDINGS®

Item E - 1504 of 2173

https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-4&store_num=
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-12
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-12&store_num=
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=01S07W33E001S&store_num=
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=01S07W33J001S&store_num=


TC7095824.2s   Page A-13

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04B001S&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          02S07W04B001SOther Name:
          Department of Water ResourcesSource:

          UNKWell Type:          02S07W04B001SWell ID:

A13
SSE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CADWR0000026604CA WELLS

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04B002S&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          02S07W04B002SOther Name:
          Department of Water ResourcesSource:

          UNKWell Type:          02S07W04B002SWell ID:

A12
SSE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CADWR0000019477CA WELLS

          gned_name=OW-13
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-13&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-13Other Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-13Well ID:

11
West
1/2 - 1 Mile
Higher

CAEDF0000084094CA WELLS

          gned_name=OW-16-D
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-16-D&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-16-DOther Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-16-DWell ID:

10
ENE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Higher

CAEDF0000079868CA WELLS

          gned_name=OW-4
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE MAP FINDINGS®

Item E - 1505 of 2173

https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04B001S&store_num=
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04B002S&store_num=
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-13
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-13&store_num=
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-16-D
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-16-D&store_num=
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-4


TC7095824.2s   Page A-14

ONTARIO CITYArea serve:
30927Connection:140000Pop serv:
Not ReportedZip ext:91764Zip:
CAState:ONTARIOCity:
303 EAST B STREETAddress:Not ReportedHqname:
Ontario, City OfSystem nam:3610034System no:

Not ReportedComment 7:
Not ReportedComment 6:Not ReportedComment 5:
Not ReportedComment 4:Not ReportedComment 3:
Not ReportedComment 2:Not ReportedComment 1:
ARStatus:8Precision:
1173700.0Longitude:340300.0Latitude:
WELL/AMBNT/MUN/INTAKE/SUPPLYStation ty:WELL 11Source nam:
GWater type:3610034System no:
TANUser id:13District:
36County:3610034010Frds no:
01S/07W-28M02 SPrim sta c:1090Seq:

C17
North
1/2 - 1 Mile
Higher

1090CA WELLS

B16
SE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CAUSGS000001946CA WELLS

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          amp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=USGS-340200117360001&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=USGSNEW&sGroundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          USGS-340200117360001Other Name:
          United States Geological SurveySource:

          UNKWell Type:          USGS-340200117360001Well ID:

B15
SE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CAUSGSN00011732CA WELLS

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04C001S&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          02S07W04C001SOther Name:
          Department of Water ResourcesSource:

          UNKWell Type:          02S07W04C001SWell ID:

14
SSW
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CADWR0000033731CA WELLS

Map ID
Direction
Distance
Elevation EDR ID NumberDatabase

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE MAP FINDINGS®

Item E - 1506 of 2173

https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=USGSNEW&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=USGS-340200117360001&store_num=
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04C001S&store_num=


TC7095824.2s   Page A-15

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=3610034-013&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DHS&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:
          WELL 16 - DESTROYED 9/5/13Other Name:
          Department of Health ServicesSource:

          MUNICIPALWell Type:          3610034-013Well ID:

D20
NNE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Higher

CADDW0000006865CA WELLS

          gned_name=OW-11
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-11&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-11Other Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-11Well ID:

19
WSW
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CAEDF0000050678CA WELLS

ONTARIO CITYArea serve:
30927Connection:140000Pop serv:
Not ReportedZip ext:91764Zip:
CAState:ONTARIOCity:
303 EAST B STREETAddress:Not ReportedHqname:
Ontario, City OfSystem nam:3610034System no:

Not ReportedComment 7:
Not ReportedComment 6:Not ReportedComment 5:
Not ReportedComment 4:Not ReportedComment 3:
Not ReportedComment 2:Not ReportedComment 1:
ARStatus:8Precision:
1173700.0Longitude:340300.0Latitude:
WELL/AMBNT/MUN/INTAKE/SUPPLYStation ty:WELL 16Source nam:
GWater type:3610034System no:
TANUser id:13District:
36County:3610034013Frds no:
01S/07W-28R02 SPrim sta c:1091Seq:

C18
North
1/2 - 1 Mile
Higher

1091CA WELLS

Map ID
Direction
Distance
Elevation EDR ID NumberDatabase

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE MAP FINDINGS®

Item E - 1507 of 2173

https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DHS&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=3610034-013&store_num=
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-11
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-11&store_num=


TC7095824.2s   Page A-16

          Not ReportedWell Hole Depth Units:
          Not ReportedWell Hole Depth:          ftWell Depth Units:
          631Well Depth:          Not ReportedConstruction Date:
          Not ReportedAquifer Type:          Not ReportedFormation Type:

          California Coastal Basin aquifersAquifer:
          Not ReportedContrib Drainage Area Unts:          Not ReportedContrib Drainage Area:
          Not ReportedDrainage Area Units:          Not ReportedDrainage Area:
          18070203HUC:          Not ReportedDescription:
          WellType:          001S007W28R002SMonitor Location:

          USGS California Water Science CenterOrganization Name:
          USGS-CAOrganization ID:

D24
NNE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Higher

USGS40000140133FED USGS

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04D001S&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          02S07W04D001SOther Name:
          Department of Water ResourcesSource:

          UNKWell Type:          02S07W04D001SWell ID:

23
SSW
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CADWR0000001509CA WELLS

          gned_name=OW-5
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-5&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-5Other Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-5Well ID:

22
ENE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Higher

CAEDF0000128329CA WELLS

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04A001S&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          02S07W04A001SOther Name:
          Department of Water ResourcesSource:

          UNKWell Type:          02S07W04A001SWell ID:

21
SSE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CADWR0000030198CA WELLS

Map ID
Direction
Distance
Elevation EDR ID NumberDatabase

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE MAP FINDINGS®

Item E - 1508 of 2173

https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04D001S&store_num=
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-5
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-5&store_num=
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04A001S&store_num=


TC7095824.2s   Page A-17

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04E002S&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          02S07W04E002SOther Name:
          Department of Water ResourcesSource:

          UNKWell Type:          02S07W04E002SWell ID:

28
SSW
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CADWR0000008690CA WELLS

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W05A001S&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          02S07W05A001SOther Name:
          Department of Water ResourcesSource:

          UNKWell Type:          02S07W05A001SWell ID:

27
SW
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CADWR0000006178CA WELLS

          gned_name=OW-6
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-6&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-6Other Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-6Well ID:

26
NE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Higher

CAEDF0000035764CA WELLS

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=01S07W28R001S&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          01S07W28R001SOther Name:
          Department of Water ResourcesSource:

          UNKWell Type:          01S07W28R001SWell ID:

25
NNE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Higher

CADWR0000004958CA WELLS

Map ID
Direction
Distance
Elevation EDR ID NumberDatabase

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE MAP FINDINGS®

Item E - 1509 of 2173

https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W04E002S&store_num=
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=02S07W05A001S&store_num=
https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-6
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-6&store_num=
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=01S07W28R001S&store_num=


TC7095824.2s   Page A-18

          gned_name=OW-7
          https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assiGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-7&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:
          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:

          OW-7Other Name:          EDFSource:
          MONITORINGWell Type:          SL208133868-OW-7Well ID:

32
ENE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Higher

CAEDF0000102872CA WELLS

E31
SSE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CAUSGS000001212CA WELLS

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          amp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=USGS-340100117360001&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=USGSNEW&sGroundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          USGS-340100117360001Other Name:
          United States Geological SurveySource:

          UNKWell Type:          USGS-340100117360001Well ID:

E30
SSE
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CAUSGSN00006293CA WELLS

          Not ReportedWell Hole Depth Units:
          Not ReportedWell Hole Depth:          ftWell Depth Units:
          428Well Depth:          Not ReportedConstruction Date:
          Not ReportedAquifer Type:          Not ReportedFormation Type:

          California Coastal Basin aquifersAquifer:
          Not ReportedContrib Drainage Area Unts:          Not ReportedContrib Drainage Area:
          Not ReportedDrainage Area Units:          Not ReportedDrainage Area:
          18070203HUC:          Not ReportedDescription:
          WellType:          001S007W32A002SMonitor Location:

          USGS California Water Science CenterOrganization Name:
          USGS-CAOrganization ID:

29
WNW
1/2 - 1 Mile
Higher

USGS40000140077FED USGS

Map ID
Direction
Distance
Elevation EDR ID NumberDatabase

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE MAP FINDINGS®

Item E - 1510 of 2173

https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?cmd=MWEDFResults&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-7
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=EDF&samp_date=&global_id=SL208133868&assigned_name=OW-7&store_num=
https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=USGSNEW&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=USGS-340100117360001&store_num=


TC7095824.2s   Page A-19

Date: 09/18/1995
Average Water Depth: Not Reported
Deep Water Depth: 300
Shallow Water Depth: 250
Groundwater Flow: S
Site ID: 083602381T1G

ESE
1/4 - 1/2 Mile
Lower

50218AQUIFLOW

          Not ReportedGeoTracker Data:
          date=&global_id=&assigned_name=01S07W28M002S&store_num=
          https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_Groundwater Quality Data:

          Not ReportedGAMA PFAS Testing:          01S07W28M002SOther Name:
          Department of Water ResourcesSource:

          UNKWell Type:          01S07W28M002SWell ID:

33
NNW
1/2 - 1 Mile
Lower

CADWR0000036123CA WELLS

Map ID
Direction
Distance
Elevation EDR ID NumberDatabase

®GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE MAP FINDINGS®

Item E - 1511 of 2173

https://gamagroundwater.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/gamamap/public/GamaDataDisplay.asp?dataset=DWR&samp_date=&global_id=&assigned_name=01S07W28M002S&store_num=


TC7095824.2s   Page A-20

Not ReportedNot ReportedNot ReportedNot ReportedBasement
Not ReportedNot ReportedNot ReportedNot ReportedLiving Area - 2nd Floor
0%0%100%0.678 pCi/LLiving Area - 1st Floor

% >20 pCi/L% 4-20 pCi/L% <4 pCi/LAverage ActivityArea

Number of sites tested: 18

Federal Area Radon Information for SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY, CA

             : Zone 3 indoor average level < 2 pCi/L.
             : Zone 2 indoor average level >= 2 pCi/L and <= 4 pCi/L.
     Note: Zone 1 indoor average level > 4 pCi/L.

Federal EPA Radon Zone for SAN BERNARDINO County:  2 

0791761

______________________
> 4 pCi/LNum TestsZipcode

Radon Test Results                                                                                 

State Database: CA Radon                                                                           

AREA RADON INFORMATION

GEOCHECK   - PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE MAP FINDINGS
RADON

®

Item E - 1512 of 2173



TOPOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

USGS 7.5’ Digital Elevation Model (DEM)
Source: United States Geologic Survey
EDR acquired the USGS 7.5’ Digital Elevation Model in 2002 and updated it in 2006. The 7.5 minute DEM corresponds
to the USGS 1:24,000- and 1:25,000-scale topographic quadrangle maps. The DEM provides elevation data
with consistent elevation units and projection.

Current USGS 7.5 Minute Topographic Map
Source: U.S. Geological Survey

HYDROLOGIC INFORMATION

Flood Zone Data: This data was obtained from the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). It depicts 100-year and
500-year flood zones as defined by FEMA. It includes the National Flood Hazard Layer (NFHL) which incorporates Flood
Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) data and Q3 data from FEMA in areas not covered by NFHL.

Source: FEMA
Telephone: 877-336-2627
Date of Government Version: 2003, 2015

NWI: National Wetlands Inventory.  This data, available in select counties across the country, was obtained by EDR
in 2002, 2005 and 2010 from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.

State Wetlands Data: Wetland Inventory
Source: Department of Fish and Wildlife
Telephone: 916-445-0411

HYDROGEOLOGIC INFORMATION

AQUIFLOW       Information SystemR

Source:  EDR proprietary database of groundwater flow information
EDR has developed the AQUIFLOW Information System (AIS) to provide data on the general direction of groundwater

flow at specific points. EDR has reviewed reports submitted to regulatory authorities at select sites and has
extracted the date of the report, hydrogeologically determined groundwater flow direction and depth to water table
information.

GEOLOGIC INFORMATION

Geologic Age and Rock Stratigraphic Unit
Source: P.G. Schruben, R.E. Arndt and W.J. Bawiec, Geology of the Conterminous U.S. at 1:2,500,000 Scale - A digital
representation of the 1974 P.B. King and H.M. Beikman Map, USGS Digital Data Series DDS - 11 (1994).

STATSGO: State Soil Geographic Database
Source:  Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS)
The U.S. Department of Agriculture’s (USDA) Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) leads the national
Conservation Soil Survey (NCSS) and is responsible for collecting, storing, maintaining and distributing soil
survey information for privately owned lands in the United States. A soil map in a soil survey is a representation
of soil patterns in a landscape. Soil maps for STATSGO are compiled by generalizing more detailed (SSURGO)
soil survey maps.

SSURGO: Soil Survey Geographic Database
Source:  Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS)
Telephone:  800-672-5559
SSURGO is the most detailed level of mapping done by the Natural Resources Conservation Service, mapping
scales generally range from 1:12,000 to 1:63,360. Field mapping methods using national standards are used to
construct the soil maps in the Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) database. SSURGO digitizing duplicates the
original soil survey maps. This level of mapping is designed for use by landowners, townships and county
natural resource planning and management.

TC7095824.2s     Page PSGR-1

PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE RECORDS SEARCHED

Item E - 1513 of 2173



LOCAL / REGIONAL WATER AGENCY RECORDS

FEDERAL WATER WELLS

PWS: Public Water Systems
Source:  EPA/Office of Drinking Water
Telephone:  202-564-3750
Public Water System data from the Federal Reporting Data System.  A PWS is any water system which provides water to at

least 25 people for at least 60 days annually.  PWSs provide water from wells, rivers and other sources.

PWS ENF: Public Water Systems Violation and Enforcement Data
Source:  EPA/Office of Drinking Water
Telephone:  202-564-3750
Violation and Enforcement data for Public Water Systems from the Safe Drinking Water Information System (SDWIS) after

August 1995.  Prior to August 1995, the data came from the Federal Reporting Data System (FRDS).

USGS Water Wells: USGS National Water Inventory System (NWIS)
This database contains descriptive information on sites where the USGS collects or has collected data on surface
water and/or groundwater. The groundwater data includes information on wells, springs, and other sources of groundwater.

OTHER STATE DATABASE INFORMATION

Groundwater Ambient Monitoring & Assessment Program
State Water Resources Control Board
Telephone: 916-341-5577
The GAMA Program is Californias comprehensive groundwater quality monitoring program. GAMA collects data by testing

the untreated, raw water in different types of wells for naturally-occurring and man-made chemicals.  The GAMA
data includes Domestic, Monitoring and Municipal well types from the following sources, Department of Water Resources,
Department of Heath Services, EDF, Agricultural Lands, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, Department of Pesticide
Regulation,  United States Geological Survey, Groundwater Ambient Monitoring and Assessment Program and Local
Groundwater Projects.

Water Well Database
Source:  Department of Water Resources
Telephone:  916-651-9648

California Drinking Water Quality Database
Source:  Department of Public Health
Telephone:  916-324-2319
The database includes all drinking water compliance and special studies monitoring for the state of California

since 1984. It consists of over 3,200,000 individual analyses along with well and water system information.

California Oil and Gas Well Locations
Source: Dept of Conservation, Geologic Energy Management Division
Telephone:  916-323-1779
Oil and Gas well locations in the state.

California Earthquake Fault Lines
Source:  California Division of Mines and Geology
The fault lines displayed on EDR’s Topographic map are digitized quaternary fault lines prepared in 1975 by the

United State Geological Survey. Additional information (also from 1975) regarding activity at specific fault
lines comes from California’s Preliminary Fault Activity Map prepared by the California Division of Mines and
Geology.

RADON

State Database: CA Radon
Source: Department of Public Health
Telephone: 916-210-8558
Radon Database for California

TC7095824.2s     Page PSGR-2

PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE RECORDS SEARCHED

Item E - 1514 of 2173



Area Radon Information
Source: USGS
Telephone:  703-356-4020
The National Radon Database has been developed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
(USEPA) and is a compilation of the EPA/State Residential Radon Survey and the National Residential Radon Survey.
The study covers the years 1986 - 1992. Where necessary data has been supplemented by information collected at
private sources such as universities and research institutions.

EPA Radon Zones
Source:  EPA
Telephone:  703-356-4020
Sections 307 & 309 of IRAA directed EPA to list and identify areas of U.S. with the potential for elevated indoor
radon levels.

OTHER

Airport Landing Facilities: Private and public use landing facilities
Source:  Federal Aviation Administration, 800-457-6656

Epicenters: World earthquake epicenters, Richter 5 or greater
Source:  Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration

California Earthquake Fault Lines: The fault lines displayed on EDR’s Topographic map are digitized quaternary fault lines,
prepared in 1975 by the United State Geological Survey.  Additional information (also from 1975) regarding activity at specific fault
lines comes from California’s Preliminary Fault Activity Map prepared by the California Division of Mines and Geology.

STREET AND ADDRESS INFORMATION

Â© 2015 TomTom North America, Inc. All rights reserved.  This material is proprietary and the subject of copyright protection
and other intellectual property rights owned by or licensed to Tele Atlas North America, Inc.  The use of this material is subject
to the terms of a license agreement.  You will be held liable for any unauthorized copying or disclosure of this material.

TC7095824.2s     Page PSGR-3

PHYSICAL SETTING SOURCE RECORDS SEARCHED

Item E - 1515 of 2173



AECOM 

September 2022 AECOM 

Appendix C

 Prior Reports 

Item E - 1516 of 2173



Page 1 of 5 

September 30, 2022 Via Electronic Mail 

Mr. Scott Strine 
Senior Vice President - Capital Deployment 
DPIF3 CA 40 LC At 60 Freeway, LLC 
5500 Equity Avenue 
Reno, NV 89502 

Re: Limited Phase II Environmental Site Assessment 
1600 East Francis Street 
Ontario, California, 91761 
AECOM Project No. 60691179 

Dear Mr. Strine: 

AECOM Technical Services, Inc. (AECOM) is pleased to present DPIF3 CA 40 At 60 Freeway, 
LLC with the findings of the Limited Phase II Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) completed at 
the northern portion of the property located at 1600 East Francis Street in Ontario, San Bernardino 
County, California (the subject property).  This letter report includes a summary of field activities, 
analytical results, and conclusions.  Figure 1-Site Location Map and Figure 2-Soil Sample 
Locations Map are provided as attachments. 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

AECOM completed a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) of the subject property in 
September 2022.  A 10,000-gallon diesel fuel underground storage tank (UST) was installed on 
the northern portion of the subject property in 1999 as replacement to a previous diesel UST and 
was in operation until July 2022.  The site contact reported that the UST was emptied and that 
the line to the dispenser was drained in July 2022.  Findings from the environmental database 
review identified the subject property on the Leaking Underground Storage Tank (LUST) 
database.  During the  December 1998 UST removal, diesel impacted soil was discovered by the 
old fuel dispenser and subsequently remediated with oversight from the San Bernardino County 
Fire Department (SBCFD).  There was no release from the prior UST.  Laboratory results of 
confirmation soil samples from the excavated area detected only low concentrations of residual 
petroleum chemicals.  Based on these results, the SBCFD subsequently issued a no further action 
(NFA) letter.  The existing steel, doubled wall UST was installed on January 14, 1999.  
Groundwater flow direction is presumed to be south based on a review of topographic maps. 

AECOM completed the following scope to determine the potential for the existing UST and 
dispenser to have environmentally impacted the subject property. 

2.0 SITE INVESTIGATION 

Limited Phase II sampling was conducted on September 15, 2022 under field oversight by 
Danielle Whitfield from AECOM’s Orange, California office and Edgar Ruiz, from AECOM’s San 
Diego, California office.  The project was supervised by Tracey Gillespie from AECOM’s 
Conshohocken, Pennsylvania office.  Ben Loebner (a California licensed Professional Geologist) 
from AECOM’s San Jose, California office reviewed this report. 

Item E - 1517 of 2173



Page 2 of 5 

2.1 Health and Safety Plan 

AECOM reviewed the subject property conditions and task objectives to identify potential hazards, 
particularly those that would increase the risk of an incident affecting people or property (i.e., 
underground utilities, aboveground utilities, terrain, and contamination).  The identified risks and 
associated abatement measures were included in a site-specific health and safety plan (HASP) 
that clearly defined task-specific control or prevention procedures, along with the roles and 
responsibilities of members of the project team.  Health and safety meetings were conducted with 
all subcontractors and AECOM personnel prior to starting the day’s work. The HASP and all 
applicable task-specific safety analysis procedures were reviewed and signed prior to initiating 
field activities. 

2.2 Underground Utility Clearance and Geophysical Investigation 

AECOM completed the required Underground Service Alert (Dig Alert) notification more than 72 
hours prior to the commencement of drilling at the subject property.   

To assist in underground utility clearance, a geophysical investigation, consisting of a ground 
penetrating radar (GPR) and electromagnetic (EM) survey, was conducted by Ground Penetrating 
Radar Services (GPRS) on September 9, 2022, prior to the initiation of intrusive investigation 
activities.   

The survey was conducted over portions of the Site where the soil borings were to be advanced 
using electromagnetic equipment and 400 MHz antenna radar equipment.  GPRS located and 
marked-out electrical, water, and gas lines within the vicinity of the UST.  GPRS identified the 
extents of the existing 10,000-gallon UST.  An anomaly approximately two-foot by four-foot wide 
roughly two feet below ground surface (bgs) was identified by GPRS located to the south-
southwest of the UST.  No other anomalies indicative of buried tanks, oil-water separators, 
hydraulic lifts, or other appurtenances were identified in the northern portion of the subject 
property in the vicinity of the UST.  AECOM conducted a file review at the San Bernardino County 
Fire Department on September 16, 2022.  The file review indicated that this anomaly was 
associated with the Veeder Root system for the UST.  A copy of the GPRS’ summary report is 
provided in Appendix A. 

2.3 Limited Soil and Groundwater Sampling 

AECOM contacted the San Bernardino County Environmental Health Services (EHS) office prior 
to the commencement of field activities.  A representative from the EHS office indicated that a 
well permit was not required since the borings were to be advanced to depths of less than 20 feet 
bgs and it was unlikely that groundwater would be encountered.   

AECOM contracted with Cascade Drilling of Richmond, California (a California licensed driller) to 
advance seven soil borings (B-1 through B-7) on September 15, 2022 using a combination of 
hand auger and GeoProbe® 7700 truck mounted direct-push technology (DPT) drilling equipment 
to advance soil borings to 15 feet bgs.  All the soil borings were cleared to depths of five feet bgs 
using a hand auger.  Soils encountered in the borings included fill materials consisting of asphalt 
and gravel before transitioning to silty sand to sand.  All borings in the vicinity of the UST and 
dispenser were advanced to the target depth of 15 feet bgs.  One boring location, B-7, located 
downgradient of the anomaly identified by GPRS, was advanced to a depth of five feet bgs with 

Item E - 1518 of 2173



Page 3 of 5 

a hand auger since the location was not marked-out at the time of Dig Alert’s utility locating.  
AECOM did not encounter any groundwater bearing zones in any of the borings and therefore 
groundwater was not sampled.  The locations of the soil borings are described below and depicted 
on the attached Figure 2 – Soil Sample Locations Map.  

AECOM focused the Limited Phase II ESA on the area in the vicinity of the 10,000-gallon UST, 
the dispenser, and the anomaly identified to the south-southwest of the UST.  The study areas 
include: 

 B-1: west of the UST; 
 B-2: south of the UST; 
 B-3: east of the UST; 
 B-4: north of the UST; 
 B-5: east of the dispenser; 
 B-6: south of the dispenser and; 
 B-7: south of the anomaly. 
 

Recovered soils were screened with a photoionization detector (PID) for volatile organic 
compounds (VOCs) and characterized for lithology and the visual presence of contamination.  No 
VOCs were detected with the PID.  No visual, olfactory, or detected contamination was observed.  
In the absence of contamination indicators, the soil interval at the borehole termination was 
selected for laboratory analysis.  Soil boring location photos and soil boring logs are provided in 
this report as Appendix B.  

Undisturbed soil samples in acetate liners were capped, labeled, stored under iced conditions, 
and were transported under chain-of-custody documentation to Eurofins Calscience.  The 
samples were analyzed for target compound list (TCL) VOCs via United States Environmental 
Protection Agency (USEPA) Method 8260B, TCL semi-volatile organic compounds (SVOCs) via 
USEPA Method 8270, and Diesel Range Organics (DRO) via USEPA Method 8015B.  Due to an 
error on the chain-of-custody the samples were additionally analyzed for herbicides via USEPA 
Method 8151A and pesticides via USEPA Method 8081A. 

As directed by the San Bernardino County EHS Department, recovered soil was drummed and 
one 55-gallon drums were labeled and left onsite for disposal at a later date by the Client.  It 
should be noted that AECOM observed three 55-gallon drums located to the east of the dispenser 
were observed and were likely from the previous investigation.  Additionally, AECOM observed 
four 55-gallon drums to the south of the dispenser which were labeled as hazmat cleanup 
materials. 

Upon completion of soil sampling, boreholes B-1 through B-6 were filled with cement grout from 
0.5-feet bgs to 15 feet bgs and from 0.5-feet bgs to grade were filled with cement dyed black to 
match the asphalt.  B-7 was filled with cement grout from 0.5-feet bgs to five feet bgs and from 
0.5-feet bgs to grade with cement dyed black.  

3.0 LABORTORY ANALYSIS 

Soil analytical results were reviewed and compared to the San Francisco Regional Water Quality 
Control Board (RWQCB) Tier 1 Environmental Screening Levels (Tier 1 ESLs), Final Risk Based 

Item E - 1519 of 2173



Page 4 of 5 

Screening Levels (Table S-1), updated July 25, 2019.  The Certified Laboratory Analytical Reports 
are provided in Appendix C. 
 
Analytical results identified DRO at a concentration of 5.1 milligrams per kilogram (mg/Kg) at B-
6, collected to the south of the dispenser.  This concentration is below the RWQCB Tier 1 ESL of 
260 mg/Kg for petroleum-diesel constituents. 

No VOCs, SVOCs, herbicides, or pesticides were detected in the soil samples collected from the 
subject property above the method detection limits. 

4.0 CONCLUSIONS 

Based on the results of the Limited Phase II Environmental Assessment, AECOM concludes that 
no obvious impact from the UST and/or dispenser was encountered at the subject property in 
exceedance of the Tier 1 ESLs.  No further investigations are warranted at this time. 

5.0 LIMITATIONS 

AECOM has performed the scope of work set forth in the proposal dated August 16, 2022  related 
to this project, as it may have been amended (the "Proposal"), in specific reliance on the 
understandings and agreements reached between DPFI3 Acquisitions Co LLC/DPIF3 CA 40 LLC 
at 60 Freeway, LLC (Client) as reflected in the Proposal and the written agreement between them 
(the "Agreement").  AECOM’s scope of work was limited to that stated in the Proposal.  

Opinions, Judgments and Third Party Rights: Opinions and judgments expressed herein, which 
are based on our understanding and interpretation of current regulatory standards, should not be 
construed as legal opinions.  No third party shall have the right to rely on this report or other 
related project documentation without written consent from AECOM and DPIF3 CA 40 LLC at 60 
Freeway, LLC. 

AECOM’s services in the development of this report were conducted, within the limits prescribed 
by the Agreement, in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by 
members of the same professions currently practicing in the same locality under similar conditions 
and no other guaranty, warranty, or representation, either express or implied, is included or 
intended herein. 

Client recognizes and agrees that:  

 The information in the Report relates only to the property specifically described in the Proposal 
and Report;  

 The information and conclusions provided in the Report applies only to the subject property 
as it existed at the time of AECOM’s site examination.  Changes in applicable standards may 
occur because of changing environmental regulations or additional knowledge gained 
regarding a specific parameter.  Accordingly, the findings of this report may be invalidated, 
wholly or in part, by changes beyond our control. 

 The Report is intended to be used in it’s entirety and no excerpts may be taken to be 
representative of the findings of this investigation. 

Item E - 1520 of 2173



Page 5 of 5 

Please feel free to contact us if you have any questions regarding the results or this report.  We 
appreciate your continued confidence in AECOM.  Please contact me at 717-608-2436 with 
questions or comments regarding the findings of this report. 

Sincerely, 
AECOM 

 
  
      
 
Tracey P. Gillespie George H. Keil, PG 
Senior Environmental Scientist Vice President, Environment 
  

 
 
  

Ben Loebner, P.G. 
Senior Geologist/Project Manager, Remediation Practices 
 
Attachments: 
 
Figure 1 – Site Location Map 
Figure 2 – Boring Location Map 
 
Appendix A – GPR Summary Report 
Appendix B – Soil Boring Photos and Soil Boring Logs 
Appendix C – Laboratory Analytical Reports 
Appendix D – UST Installation – January 14, 1999 

Item E - 1521 of 2173



Job: 60691179

Prepared by: TPG

Checked by: TPG

FIGURE 1
Site Location Map

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, San Bernardino County, California

625 West Ridge Pike, Suite E-100
Conshohocken, PA 19428
Phone: (610) 832-3500 Fax: (610) 832-3501

References: Guast, CA Topographic Quadrangle, 2018 
and West Ontario, CA Topographic Quadrangle, 2018

San
Bernardino

San Diego

Ventura

Santa Barbara

Los Angeles

Riverside

Kern

Imperial

Orange

O

Date: 9/29/2022

Site

Item E - 1522 of 2173

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line



Job: 60691179.2

Prepared by: BSF

Checked by: TG

FIGURE 2
Soil Sample Locations Map

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, San Bernardino County, California

625 West Ridge Pike, Suite E-100
Conshohocken, PA 19428
Phone: (610) 832-3500 Fax: (610) 832-3501

NAD 1983 State Plane California V
Lambert Conformal Conic
Linear Unit: U.S. Foot

References:

!(

!(

!(

!( !(

!(

!(

E Francis St

B-4

B-1
B-2

B-3 B-5

B-6
B-7

San
Bernardino

San Diego

Ventura

Santa Barbara

Los Angeles

Riverside

Kern

Imperial

Orange

O

Path: L:\DCS\Projects\IMS\DUE_DLGNCE\DERMODY\Maps\Ontario CA\E Francis St - Soil Sample Location Map.mxd

Date: 9/29/2022

0 50 10025
Feet

Legend
!( Soil Sample Location

UST

Dispenser

Item E - 1523 of 2173

tracey.gillespie
Line



APPENDIX A 

GPR Summary Report 

Item E - 1524 of 2173



AECOMCustomer Phone Number (626) 979-4780

625 W RIDGE PIKE

Job Details

City

CONSHOHOCKEN

State 

PA

Zip

19428

City ONTARIO
State CA

Jobsite Location 1600 EAST FRANCIS ST

383643

Job Num 60691179.1
PO Num

WA Number

147662.GPRS_FE

Lead Technician RICHBURG, MAZI Phone 484-886-9826 Email mazi.richburg@gprsinc.com

Thank you for using GPRS on your project. We appreciate the opportunity to work with you. If you have questions 
regarding the results of this scanning, please contact the lead GPRS technician on this project.

Billing Address

EQUIPMENT USED

The following equipment was used on this project:

·  Underground Scanning GPR antenna. Typically capable of detecting objects up to 8' deep or more in ideal conditions
but maximum effective depth can vary widely and depends on site and soil conditions.  Depth penetration is most
commonly limited by moisture and clay/conductive soils. Depths provided should always be treated as estimates as
their accuracy can be affected by multiple factors.

·  Electromagnetic Pipe and Cable Locator. Detects electromagnetic fields. Used to actively trace conductive pipes and
tracer wires, or passively detect power and radio signals traveling along conductive pipes and utilities. Depths
provided should always be treated as estimates as their accuracy can be affected by multiple factors.

Work Performed 
Ground Penetrating Radar Systems performed the following work on this project:
Underground Utility
The scope of work included scanning the specified area to locate underground utilities. A tracer signal was sent along any 
accessible metallic utility or tracer wire, and the area was scanned with GPR to locate any additional targets. The locations 
of any detected utilities and anomalies were marked directly at the site with paint, flags, stakes, or other appropriate 
means, and results were reviewed with onsite personnel unless otherwise noted.

·  Clear a large area for unknowns and utilities.

·  The effective depth of GPR will vary throughout a site depending on surface and soil conditions. In this area, the
maximum effective GPR depth was approximately 0-4 feet.

·  Located electrical, water, and gas lines within the scope. No signal on one electrical conduit and a couple of water
surface features. Unable to verify some unknowns that have been marked out. Job site employee mentioned that
there is a water that has been hit before near the gas pump. Unable to find this water line with my equipment.
Recommend hand digging near the gas pump.

Page 1 of 3

Job Date : 9/9/2022

Job Summary

Item E - 1525 of 2173



Underground Tanks
The scope of work included scanning the designated area to attempt to locate evidence of underground storage tanks 
and/or UST removal excavations.  The locations of any UST's, associated piping, or excavations detected were marked with 
paint, flags, or other appropriate means, and results were reviewed with onsite personnel unless otherwise noted.  The 
ability to locate these objects depends on the maximum depth penetration and soil conditions and non-metallic tanks can 
be especially difficult to locate. 

·  Clear a large area for any potential USTs.
Submittal letter and pictures will be sent with formal report

·  The effective depth of GPR will vary throughout a site depending on surface and soil conditions. In this area, the
maximum effective GPR depth was approximately 0-5 feet.

·  Found two areas for potential USTs. Need to send data to corporate for they can evaluate the GPR data. Results will
be within the formal report. Pictures will also be in the formal report. Submittal letter that withholds the map will
come with the formal report deliverable.

Extras
·  In addition to this job summary report, a formal report of findings will be submitted. Unless otherwise negotiated,

this report will be submitted within one week of project completion.
Pictures

TERMS & CONDITIONS

https://www.gp-radar.com/legal/terms-conditions?utm_source=jobsummary&utm_medium=referral

SIGNATURE

Contact Name
Danielle Whitfield     (626) 979-4780     Danielle.whitfield@aecom.com

Page 2 of 3

Job Date : 9/9/2022

Job Summary

Item E - 1526 of 2173



Page 3 of 3

Job Date : 9/9/2022

Job Summary

Item E - 1527 of 2173



APPENDIX B 

Soil Boring Photographs 

and Boring Logs 

Item E - 1528 of 2173



PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California 91761 

Project No. 
60691179 

Photo No. 
1 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

Southwest  

Description: 

The location of the 
10,000-gallon UST.  A 
typical view of the utility 
mark-outs and the boring 
mark-outs for the Dig Alert 
notification. 

Photo No. 
2

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

North-northeast 

Description: 

The dispenser located to 
the east of the 10,000-
gallon UST.  Note the 
drums were labeled as 
haz mat cleanup. 

Item E - 1529 of 2173



PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California 91761 

Project No. 
60691179 

Photo No. 
3 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

Northwest 

Description: 

The east side of the 
dispenser and three 
drums located to the east 
of the dispenser at the 
time of AECOM’s arrival.  
The drums at the 
dispenser contain spill 
kits.

Photo No. 
4 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

West 

Description: 

The location of B-1 to 
the west of the 10,000-
gallon UST. 

Item E - 1530 of 2173



PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California 91761 

Project No. 
60691179 

Photo No. 
5 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

East 

Description: 

The location of B-2 
located to the south of the 
10,000-gallon UST. 

Photo No. 
6 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

Southwest 

Description: 

The location of B-3 
located to the east of the 
10,000-gallon UST. 

Item E - 1531 of 2173



PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California 91761 

Project No. 
60691179 

Photo No. 
7 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

East 

Description: 

The location of B-4 to the 
north of the 10,000-gallon 
UST.  Note the utility 
mark-outs in the vicinity of 
the UST.  

Photo No. 
8 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

East 

Description: 

The location of B-5 
located to the east of the 
dispenser. 

Item E - 1532 of 2173



PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California 91761 

Project No. 
60691179 

Photo No. 
9 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

North 

Description: 

The location of B-6 
located to the south of the 
dispenser. 

Photo No. 
10 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

East 

Description: 

The location of B-7 
located to the south of an 
anomaly located to the 
southwest of the 10,000-
gallon UST. 

Item E - 1533 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor component(s), 

moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, odor, and 
Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base)

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose

3

4

5 0.0

6

7 5-10 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose

8

9

10 0.1

11 Dark, yellowish brown (10 YR 4/6), fine to coarse sand, sub-round to sub-angular, dry,

loose, moderately graded.

12

10-15 60

13

14

Fine to coarse silty sand. B-1  (15')

15

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-1

Item E - 1534 of 2173

tracey.gillespie
Line



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor 

component(s), moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, 
odor, and Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/3), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose. Traces of coarse sand

3 sub-round to sub-angular.

4

5 0.1

6

7 5-10 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/3), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose. Traces of coarse sand

sub-round to sub-angular.

8

9

10 0.1

11 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to coarse sand, sub-round to sub-angular, dry,

loose, moderately graded.

12

10-15 60

13

14

0.4 Fine to coarse silty sand. B-2  (15')

15

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-2

Item E - 1535 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed:  No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0'

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor 

component(s), moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, 
odor, and Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/3), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose. 

3 sub-round to sub-angular.

4

5 0.5

6

7 5-10 60 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to coarse sand, gravel, sub-angular to sub-round, 

dry, loose, poorly graded.

8

9

10 0.4

11 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to coarse sand, sub-round to sub-angular, dry,

loose, poorly graded.

12

10-15 60

13

14

0.3 B-3  (15')

15

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-3

Item E - 1536 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor 

component(s), moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, 
odor, and Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/3), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose, well graded.

3

4

5 0.4

6

7 5-10 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to coarse sand, gravel, sub-angular to sub-round, 

8

9

10 0.2

11 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to medium sand, trace amounts of gravel, sub-round to

sub-angular, dry, loose, moderately sorted.

12

10-15 60

13

14

0.3 Transitions to fine to coarse sand, gravel sub-angular to sub-round. B-4  (15')

15

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-4

Item E - 1537 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor 

component(s), moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, 
odor, and Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine silty sand, dry, loose, well graded. 

3

4

5 0.4

6

7 5-10 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine silty sand, dry, loose, well graded. 

8

9

10 0.3

11 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/3), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose, and well graded.

12

10-15 60

13

14

0.5 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to medium silty sand, gravel sub-round to sub-angular, B-5  (15')

15 dry and loose.

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-5

Item E - 1538 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor component(s), 

moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, odor, and Geologic 
Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine to medium fine silty sand, dry, loose and well graded.

0.6

5-10 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine to medium fine silty sand, dry, loose and well graded.

0.7

Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/3), fine to coarse sand, gravel, sub-round to sub-angular, dry,

loose, poorly graded.

10-15 60

0.7 B-6 (15')

Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling
OTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-6

Item E - 1539 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Hand Auger Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  3.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  5'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor 

component(s), moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, 
odor, and Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose, well graded. 

3

4

0.2

5 B7 (5')

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @5'

BORING ID: B-7

Item E - 1540 of 2173



APPENDIX C 

Laboratory Analytical Results 

Item E - 1541 of 2173



ANALYTICAL REPORT
Eurofins Calscience
2841 Dow Avenue, Suite 100
Tustin, CA 92780
Tel: (714)895-5494

Laboratory Job ID: 570-109999-2
Client Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

For:
AECOM
625 West Ridge Pike
Suite E-100
Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428

Attn: Tracey Gillespie

Authorized for release by:
9/28/2022 9:29:21 AM

Vikas Patel, Project Manager I
(714)895-5494
Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com

The test results in this report meet all 2003 NELAC, 2009 TNI, and 2016 TNI
requirements for accredited parameters, exceptions are noted in this report. This
report may not be reproduced except in full, and with written approval from the
laboratory. For questions please contact the Project Manager at the e-mail address or
telephone number listed on this page.

This report has been electronically signed and authorized by the signatory. Electronic
signature is intended to be the legally binding equivalent of a traditionally handwritten
signature.

Results relate only to the items tested and the sample(s) as received by the laboratory.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1542 of 2173

https://eol.et.eurofinsus.com/myEOL/
https://www.eurofinsus.com/environment-testing/ask-the-expert/
http://www.eurofinsus.com/Env
mailto:Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com


Table of Contents

Client: AECOM
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Laboratory Job ID: 570-109999-2

Page 2 of 37
Eurofins Calscience

9/28/2022

Cover Page . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

Table of Contents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

Definitions/Glossary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Case Narrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4

Detection Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Client Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

Surrogate Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20

QC Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21

QC Association Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27

Lab Chronicle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29

Certification Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31

Method Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32

Sample Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33

Chain of Custody . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34

Receipt Checklists . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1543 of 2173



Definitions/Glossary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Qualifiers

GC/MS Semi VOA
Qualifier Description

F1 MS and/or MSD recovery exceeds control limits.

Qualifier

Glossary

These commonly used abbreviations may or may not be present in this report.

¤ Listed under the "D" column to designate that the result is reported on a dry weight basis

Abbreviation

%R Percent Recovery

CFL Contains Free Liquid

CFU Colony Forming Unit

CNF Contains No Free Liquid

DER Duplicate Error Ratio (normalized absolute difference)

Dil Fac Dilution Factor

DL Detection Limit (DoD/DOE)

DL, RA, RE, IN Indicates a Dilution, Re-analysis, Re-extraction, or additional Initial metals/anion analysis of the sample

DLC Decision Level Concentration (Radiochemistry)

EDL Estimated Detection Limit (Dioxin)

LOD Limit of Detection (DoD/DOE)

LOQ Limit of Quantitation (DoD/DOE)

MCL EPA recommended "Maximum Contaminant Level"

MDA Minimum Detectable Activity (Radiochemistry)

MDC Minimum Detectable Concentration (Radiochemistry)

MDL Method Detection Limit

ML Minimum Level (Dioxin)

MPN Most Probable Number

MQL Method Quantitation Limit

NC Not Calculated

ND Not Detected at the reporting limit (or MDL or EDL if shown)

NEG Negative / Absent

POS Positive / Present

PQL Practical Quantitation Limit

PRES Presumptive

QC Quality Control

RER Relative Error Ratio (Radiochemistry)

RL Reporting Limit or Requested Limit (Radiochemistry)

RPD Relative Percent Difference, a measure of the relative difference between two points

TEF Toxicity Equivalent Factor (Dioxin)

TEQ Toxicity Equivalent Quotient (Dioxin)

TNTC Too Numerous To Count

Eurofins Calscience

Page 3 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1544 of 2173



Case Narrative
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-2
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Job ID: 570-109999-2

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience

Narrative

Job Narrative

570-109999-2

Comments

No additional comments. 

Receipt 

The samples were received on 9/15/2022 2:30 PM.  Unless otherwise noted below, the samples arrived in good condition, and where 
required, properly preserved and on ice.  The temperature of the cooler at receipt was 4.3º C.

GC/MS Semi VOA 

No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

GC Semi VOA 
No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

Organic Prep 
No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 4 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1545 of 2173



Detection Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-1-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-2-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-3-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-4-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-5-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-6-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28]

RL

4.9 mg/Kg

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA15.1 8015B

Client Sample ID: B-7-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7

 No Detections.

Eurofins Calscience

This Detection Summary does not include radiochemical test results.

Page 5 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1546 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzidine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 6 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1547 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Dibenzofuran ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Phenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 82 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 79 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 91 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 87 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 74 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 92 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 7 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1548 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2-Chlorophenol ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzidine ND F1

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Naphthalene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 8 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1549 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Nitrobenzene ND 2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Phenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 77 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 64 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 48 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 47 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 76 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 65 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14-Nitroaniline ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 9 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1550 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4-Nitrophenol ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzidine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Phenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 58 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 58 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 70 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 64 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 110 - 129

Eurofins Calscience

Page 10 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1551 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 51 31 - 139 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 68 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzidine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzyl alcohol ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 11 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1552 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Phenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 76 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 71 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 82 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 77 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 66 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 81 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 12 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1553 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4-Dichlorophenol ND 0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Methylphenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

0.99 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Acenaphthene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Aniline ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Anthracene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Azobenzene ND

4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzidine ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzoic acid ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Chrysene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Fluoranthene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Fluorene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 13 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1554 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND 0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Isophorone ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Phenanthrene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Phenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Pyrene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 74 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 72 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 84 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 79 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 64 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 80 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 14 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1555 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

3-Nitroaniline ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzidine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Phenol ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 15 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1556 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Pyrene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 84 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 81 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 93 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 89 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 74 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 92 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzidine ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 16 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1557 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Benzo[a]anthracene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Phenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 66 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 63 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 78 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 70 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 60 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 76 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 110 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 17 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1558 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8015B - Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 09:28 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 106 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 09:28 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 09:48 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 107 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 09:48 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 10:09 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 106 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 10:09 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 10:29 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 104 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 10:29 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 11:30 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 104 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 11:30 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] 5.1 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 11:51 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 106 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 11:51 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 18 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1559 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8015B - Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 12:12 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 95 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 12:12 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 19 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1560 of 2173



Surrogate Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (10-134) (14-142) (10-123) (10-129) (31-139) (10-120)

TBP FBP 2FP NBZ TPHd14 PHL6

82 79 91 87 74 92570-109999-1

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-1-15

77 64 48 7647 65570-109999-2 B-2-15

73 67 78 7068 80570-109999-2 MS B-2-15

74 70 80 6969 83570-109999-2 MSD B-2-15

58 58 70 5164 68570-109999-3 B-3-15

76 71 82 6677 81570-109999-4 B-4-15

74 72 84 6479 80570-109999-5 B-5-15

84 81 93 7489 92570-109999-6 B-6-15

66 63 78 6070 76570-109999-7 B-7-15

88 86 98 8784 102LCS 570-267007/2-A Lab Control Sample

88 85 95 8581 96LCSD 570-267007/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup

90 99 104 94103 102MB 570-267007/1-A Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

TBP = 2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr)

FBP = 2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr)

2FP = 2-Fluorophenol (Surr)

NBZ = Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr)

TPHd14 = p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr)

PHL6 = Phenol-d6 (Surr)

Method: 8015B - Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (60-138)

OTCSN1

106570-109999-1

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-1-15

106570-109999-1 MS B-1-15

105570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15

107570-109999-2 B-2-15

106570-109999-3 B-3-15

104570-109999-4 B-4-15

104570-109999-5 B-5-15

106570-109999-6 B-6-15

95570-109999-7 B-7-15

108LCS 570-266939/2-A Lab Control Sample

110LCSD 570-266939/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup

110MB 570-266939/1-A Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

OTCSN = n-Octacosane (Surr)

Eurofins Calscience

Page 20 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1561 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-267007/1-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 11,2-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 11,3-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 11,4-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 11-Methylnaphthalene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4-Dichlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4-Dimethylphenol

ND 2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4-Dinitrophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4-Dinitrotoluene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,6-Dichlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,6-Dinitrotoluene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Chloronaphthalene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Chlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Methylnaphthalene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Methylphenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Nitroaniline

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Nitrophenol

ND 2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine

ND 1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 13 & 4 Methylphenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 13-Nitroaniline

ND 2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Chloroaniline

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Nitroaniline

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Nitrophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Acenaphthene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Acenaphthylene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Aniline

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Anthracene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Azobenzene

ND 5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzidine

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzo[a]anthracene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzo[a]pyrene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene

ND 2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzoic acid

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzyl alcohol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane

ND 2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Butyl benzyl phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Chrysene

Eurofins Calscience

Page 21 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1562 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-267007/1-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

RL

Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Dibenzofuran

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Diethyl phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Dimethyl phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Di-n-butyl phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Di-n-octyl phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Fluoranthene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Fluorene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Hexachlorobenzene

ND 1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Hexachloroethane

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Isophorone

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Naphthalene

ND 2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Nitrobenzene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine

ND 2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Pentachlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Phenanthrene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Phenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Pyrene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Pyridine

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 90 10 - 134 09/26/22 17:51 1

MB MB

Surrogate

09/23/22 18:19

Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

99 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 14 - 142

104 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Fluorophenol (Surr) 10 - 123

103 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 10 - 129

94 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 31 - 139

102 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Phenol-d6 (Surr) 10 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-267007/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene 5.00 3.562 mg/Kg 71 59 - 120

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

1,4-Dichlorobenzene 5.00 4.285 mg/Kg 86 64 - 120

2,4-Dinitrotoluene 5.00 5.092 mg/Kg 102 64 - 120

2-Chlorophenol 5.00 4.983 mg/Kg 100 65 - 121

4-Chloro-3-methylphenol 5.00 4.533 mg/Kg 91 54 - 120

4-Nitrophenol 5.00 5.796 mg/Kg 116 52 - 121

Acenaphthene 5.00 4.515 mg/Kg 90 71 - 120

Acenaphthylene 5.00 4.762 mg/Kg 95 77 - 125

Butyl benzyl phthalate 5.00 4.631 mg/Kg 93 58 - 120

Dimethyl phthalate 5.00 4.706 mg/Kg 94 58 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 22 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1563 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-267007/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

Fluorene 5.00 4.576 mg/Kg 92 72 - 120

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

Naphthalene 5.00 3.959 mg/Kg 79 60 - 120

N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine 5.00 5.548 mg/Kg 111 61 - 123

Pentachlorophenol 5.00 4.073 mg/Kg 81 27 - 120

Phenol 5.00 5.043 mg/Kg 101 61 - 127

Pyrene 5.00 4.679 mg/Kg 94 70 - 124

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 10 - 134

Surrogate

88

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

862-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 14 - 142

982-Fluorophenol (Surr) 10 - 123

84Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 10 - 129

87p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 31 - 139

102Phenol-d6 (Surr) 10 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-267007/3-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene 5.00 3.606 mg/Kg 72 59 - 120 1 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,4-Dichlorobenzene 5.00 4.210 mg/Kg 84 64 - 120 2 20

2,4-Dinitrotoluene 5.00 5.074 mg/Kg 101 64 - 120 0 20

2-Chlorophenol 5.00 4.760 mg/Kg 95 65 - 121 5 20

4-Chloro-3-methylphenol 5.00 4.358 mg/Kg 87 54 - 120 4 20

4-Nitrophenol 5.00 5.827 mg/Kg 117 52 - 121 1 20

Acenaphthene 5.00 4.455 mg/Kg 89 71 - 120 1 20

Acenaphthylene 5.00 4.887 mg/Kg 98 77 - 125 3 20

Butyl benzyl phthalate 5.00 4.545 mg/Kg 91 58 - 120 2 20

Dimethyl phthalate 5.00 4.743 mg/Kg 95 58 - 120 1 20

Fluorene 5.00 4.556 mg/Kg 91 72 - 120 0 20

Naphthalene 5.00 3.955 mg/Kg 79 60 - 120 0 20

N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine 5.00 5.359 mg/Kg 107 61 - 123 3 20

Pentachlorophenol 5.00 4.072 mg/Kg 81 27 - 120 0 20

Phenol 5.00 4.830 mg/Kg 97 61 - 127 4 20

Pyrene 5.00 4.551 mg/Kg 91 70 - 124 3 20

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 10 - 134

Surrogate

88

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

852-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 14 - 142

952-Fluorophenol (Surr) 10 - 123

81Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 10 - 129

85p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 31 - 139

96Phenol-d6 (Surr) 10 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 23 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1564 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-2-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2 MS
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 4.95 3.115 mg/Kg 63 50 - 125

Analyte

MS MS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits

1,4-Dichlorobenzene ND 4.95 3.527 mg/Kg 71 45 - 125

2,4-Dinitrotoluene ND 4.95 4.294 mg/Kg 87 47 - 125

2-Chlorophenol ND 4.95 4.123 mg/Kg 83 49 - 125

4-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND 4.95 3.848 mg/Kg 78 53 - 125

4-Nitrophenol ND 4.95 4.491 mg/Kg 91 22 - 134

Acenaphthene ND 4.95 3.617 mg/Kg 73 51 - 125

Acenaphthylene ND 4.95 3.841 mg/Kg 78 54 - 125

Butyl benzyl phthalate ND 4.95 3.682 mg/Kg 74 58 - 125

Dimethyl phthalate ND 4.95 3.883 mg/Kg 79 52 - 125

Fluorene ND 4.95 3.809 mg/Kg 77 54 - 125

Naphthalene ND 4.95 3.337 mg/Kg 67 39 - 127

N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND 4.95 4.620 mg/Kg 93 47 - 125

Pentachlorophenol ND 4.95 3.479 mg/Kg 70 10 - 125

Phenol ND 4.95 4.137 mg/Kg 84 45 - 125

Pyrene ND 4.95 3.697 mg/Kg 75 56 - 125

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 10 - 134

Surrogate

73

MS MS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

672-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 14 - 142

782-Fluorophenol (Surr) 10 - 123

68Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 10 - 129

70p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 31 - 139

80Phenol-d6 (Surr) 10 - 120

Client Sample ID: B-2-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 4.92 3.089 mg/Kg 63 50 - 125 1 20

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,4-Dichlorobenzene ND 4.92 3.541 mg/Kg 72 45 - 125 0 24

2,4-Dinitrotoluene ND 4.92 4.143 mg/Kg 84 47 - 125 4 20

2-Chlorophenol ND 4.92 4.153 mg/Kg 84 49 - 125 1 20

4-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND 4.92 3.800 mg/Kg 77 53 - 125 1 20

4-Nitrophenol ND 4.92 4.573 mg/Kg 93 22 - 134 2 21

Acenaphthene ND 4.92 3.714 mg/Kg 76 51 - 125 3 20

Acenaphthylene ND 4.92 3.878 mg/Kg 79 54 - 125 1 20

Butyl benzyl phthalate ND 4.92 3.645 mg/Kg 74 58 - 125 1 20

Dimethyl phthalate ND 4.92 3.915 mg/Kg 80 52 - 125 1 20

Fluorene ND 4.92 3.734 mg/Kg 76 54 - 125 2 20

Naphthalene ND 4.92 3.348 mg/Kg 68 39 - 127 0 20

N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND 4.92 4.719 mg/Kg 96 47 - 125 2 20

Pentachlorophenol ND 4.92 3.442 mg/Kg 70 10 - 125 1 20

Phenol ND 4.92 4.236 mg/Kg 86 45 - 125 2 20

Pyrene ND 4.92 3.730 mg/Kg 76 56 - 125 1 20

Eurofins Calscience

Page 24 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1565 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-2-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 10 - 134

Surrogate

74

MSD MSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

702-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 14 - 142

802-Fluorophenol (Surr) 10 - 123

69Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 10 - 129

69p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 31 - 139

83Phenol-d6 (Surr) 10 - 120

Method: 8015B - Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-266939/1-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/23/22 20:48 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 110 60 - 138 09/23/22 20:48 1

MB MB

Surrogate

09/23/22 15:51

Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-266939/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

Diesel Range Organics 

[C10-C28]

400 405.0 mg/Kg 101 80 - 130

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

n-Octacosane (Surr) 60 - 138

Surrogate

108

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-266939/3-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

Diesel Range Organics 

[C10-C28]

400 391.1 mg/Kg 98 80 - 130 3 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

n-Octacosane (Surr) 60 - 138

Surrogate

110

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: B-1-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1 MS
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

Diesel Range Organics 

[C10-C28]

ND 399 396.1 mg/Kg 99 43 - 165

Analyte

MS MS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits

Eurofins Calscience

Page 25 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1566 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8015B - Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-1-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1 MS
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

n-Octacosane (Surr) 60 - 138

Surrogate

106

MS MS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: B-1-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

Diesel Range Organics 

[C10-C28]

ND 387 399.2 mg/Kg 103 43 - 165 1 35

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

n-Octacosane (Surr) 60 - 138

Surrogate

105

MSD MSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 26 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1567 of 2173



QC Association Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

GC/MS Semi VOA

Prep Batch: 267007

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 3546570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546MB 570-267007/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 3546LCS 570-267007/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 3546LCSD 570-267007/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-2 MS B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-2 MSD B-2-15 Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 267420

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007MB 570-267007/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007LCS 570-267007/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007LCSD 570-267007/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-2 MS B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-2 MSD B-2-15 Total/NA

GC Semi VOA

Prep Batch: 266939

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 3550C570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550CMB 570-266939/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 3550CLCS 570-266939/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 3550CLCSD 570-266939/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-1 MS B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15 Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 266951

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Eurofins Calscience

Page 27 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1568 of 2173



QC Association Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

GC Semi VOA (Continued)

Analysis Batch: 266951 (Continued)

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939MB 570-266939/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939LCS 570-266939/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939LCSD 570-266939/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-1 MS B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15 Total/NA

Eurofins Calscience

Page 28 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1569 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-2
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-1-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 19.96 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/26/22 22:42 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.29 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 09:28 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-2-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 20.03 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/26/22 23:01 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.18 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 09:48 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-3-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 19.99 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/26/22 23:19 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.06 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 10:09 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-4-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 20.00 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/26/22 23:37 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.14 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 10:29 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Eurofins Calscience

Page 29 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1570 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-2
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-5-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 20.25 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/26/22 23:55 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.28 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 11:30 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-6-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 19.99 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/27/22 00:13 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.19 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 11:51 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-7-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 20.06 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/27/22 00:31 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.22 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 12:12 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Laboratory References:

EET CAL 4 = Eurofins Calscience  Tustin, 2841 Dow Avenue, Tustin, CA 92780, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 30 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1571 of 2173



Accreditation/Certification Summary
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-2
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience
The accreditations/certifications listed below are applicable to this report.

Authority Program Identification Number Expiration Date

Oregon NELAP 4175 02-02-23

Eurofins Calscience

Page 31 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1572 of 2173



Method Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method Method Description LaboratoryProtocol

SW8468270C Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) EET CAL 4

SW8468015B Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC) EET CAL 4

SW8463546 Microwave Extraction EET CAL 4

SW8463550C Ultrasonic Extraction EET CAL 4

Protocol References:

SW846 = "Test Methods For Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods", Third Edition, November 1986 And Its Updates.

Laboratory References:

EET CAL 4 = Eurofins Calscience  Tustin, 2841 Dow Avenue, Tustin, CA 92780, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 32 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1573 of 2173



Sample Summary
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-2
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Matrix Collected Received

570-109999-1 B-1-15 Solid 09/15/22 08:05 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-2 B-2-15 Solid 09/15/22 08:35 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-3 B-3-15 Solid 09/15/22 09:45 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-4 B-4-15 Solid 09/15/22 09:25 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-5 B-5-15 Solid 09/15/22 10:45 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-6 B-6-15 Solid 09/15/22 11:05 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-7 B-7-15 Solid 09/15/22 11:40 09/15/22 14:30

Eurofins Calscience
Page 33 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1574 of 2173



1

Ovalle, Erick

From: Gillespie, Tracey <tracey.gillespie@aecom.com>
Sent: Friday, September 23, 2022 10:27 AM
To: Ovalle, Erick
Subject: FW: Eurofins Calscience report and EDD files from 570-109999-1 Ontario soil / 

606872380-1

EXTERNAL EMAIL* 

  

  

 
 

From: Gillespie, Tracey  
Sent: Friday, September 23, 2022 1:25 PM 
To: Vikas Patel <Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com> 
Subject: RE: Eurofins Calscience report and EDD files from 570-109999-1 Ontario soil / 606872380-1 
 
Hi Vik, 
 
The analyses on the COC were not correct.  We actually needed these run for target compound list (TCL) volatile 
organic compounds (VOCs) via USEPA Method 8260, TCL semi-volatile organic compounds (SVOCs) via 
USEPA Method 8270, and RCRA Metals via USEPA Method 6010 and DRO. 
 
Is it possible to get these samples run for these and how quickly can you do them? 
 
Thanks, 
Tracey 
 
 
Tracey Gillespie 
Senior Environmental Scientist 
Cell 1-717-608-2436  
tracey.gillespie@aecom.com 
  
AECOM 
625 West Ridge Pike, Suite E-100, Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428   
www.aecom.com 
 
 
 
 
 

From: Vikas Patel <Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com>  
Sent: Thursday, September 22, 2022 7:10 PM 
To: Gillespie, Tracey <tracey.gillespie@aecom.com> 
Subject: Eurofins Calscience report and EDD files from 570-109999-1 Ontario soil / 606872380-1 
 
Hello, Attached please find the report and EDD files for job 570-10 9999-1; O ntario so il / 606872 380-1 Please feel free to contact me if you have any quest ions. T hank you. V ikas Patel Pro ject Manager Eurofins Calscience Phone: 7 14-895-5494   
 

Page 34 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1575 of 2173



2

 
Hello, 
 
Attached please find the report and EDD files for job 570-109999-1; Ontario soil / 606872380-1 
 
Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions. 
 
Thank you. 
 
 
Vikas Patel 
Project Manager 
 
Eurofins Calscience 
Phone: 714-895-5494 
 
E-mail: Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com 
www.eurofinsus.com/env 
 

   
 
Reference: [570-366967] 
Attachments: 2 
 
 
 
 
> > Bank information has changed, please refer to remittance information on invoice. < < 

  

  

  

* WARNING - EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of Eurofins Environment Testing America. Do not click 
any links or open any attachments unless you trust the sender and know that the content is safe! 

 

Page 35 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1576 of 2173



Page 36 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1577 of 2173



Login Sample Receipt Checklist

Client: AECOM Job Number: 570-109999-2

Login Number: 109999

Question Answer Comment

Creator: Cortez Diaz, Antonio

List Source: Eurofins Calscience

List Number: 1

N/ARadioactivity wasn't checked or is </= background as measured by a survey 
meter.

TrueThe cooler's custody seal, if present, is intact.

TrueSample custody seals, if present, are intact.

TrueThe cooler or samples do not appear to have been compromised or 
tampered with.

TrueSamples were received on ice.

TrueCooler Temperature is acceptable.

TrueCooler Temperature is recorded.

TrueCOC is present.

TrueCOC is filled out in ink and legible.

TrueCOC is filled out with all pertinent information.

TrueIs the Field Sampler's name present on COC?

TrueThere are no discrepancies between the containers received and the COC.

TrueSamples are received within Holding Time (excluding tests with immediate 
HTs)

TrueSample containers have legible labels.

TrueContainers are not broken or leaking.

TrueSample collection date/times are provided.

TrueAppropriate sample containers are used.

TrueSample bottles are completely filled.

TrueSample Preservation Verified.

TrueThere is sufficient vol. for all requested analyses, incl. any requested 
MS/MSDs

TrueContainers requiring zero headspace have no headspace or bubble is 
<6mm (1/4").

TrueMultiphasic samples are not present.

TrueSamples do not require splitting or compositing.

N/AResidual Chlorine Checked.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 37 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1578 of 2173



ANALYTICAL REPORT
Eurofins Calscience
2841 Dow Avenue, Suite 100
Tustin, CA 92780
Tel: (714)895-5494

Laboratory Job ID: 570-109999-1
Client Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

For:
AECOM
625 West Ridge Pike
Suite E-100
Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428

Attn: Tracey Gillespie

Authorized for release by:
9/22/2022 4:08:41 PM

Vikas Patel, Project Manager I
(714)895-5494
Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com

The test results in this report meet all 2003 NELAC, 2009 TNI, and 2016 TNI
requirements for accredited parameters, exceptions are noted in this report. This
report may not be reproduced except in full, and with written approval from the
laboratory. For questions please contact the Project Manager at the e-mail address or
telephone number listed on this page.

This report has been electronically signed and authorized by the signatory. Electronic
signature is intended to be the legally binding equivalent of a traditionally handwritten
signature.

Results relate only to the items tested and the sample(s) as received by the laboratory.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1579 of 2173

https://eol.et.eurofinsus.com/myEOL/
https://www.eurofinsus.com/environment-testing/ask-the-expert/
http://www.eurofinsus.com/Env
mailto:Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com


Table of Contents

Client: AECOM
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Laboratory Job ID: 570-109999-1

Page 2 of 47
Eurofins Calscience

9/22/2022

Cover Page . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

Table of Contents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

Definitions/Glossary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Case Narrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4

Detection Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Client Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

Surrogate Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26

QC Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

QC Association Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38

Lab Chronicle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40

Certification Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43

Method Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44

Sample Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45

Chain of Custody . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46

Receipt Checklists . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1580 of 2173



Definitions/Glossary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Qualifiers

GC Semi VOA
Qualifier Description

F1 MS and/or MSD recovery exceeds control limits.

Qualifier

F2 MS/MSD RPD exceeds control limits

p The %RPD between the primary and confirmation column/detector is >40%. The lower value has been reported.

Glossary
These commonly used abbreviations may or may not be present in this report.

¤ Listed under the "D" column to designate that the result is reported on a dry weight basis

Abbreviation

%R Percent Recovery

CFL Contains Free Liquid

CFU Colony Forming Unit

CNF Contains No Free Liquid

DER Duplicate Error Ratio (normalized absolute difference)

Dil Fac Dilution Factor

DL Detection Limit (DoD/DOE)

DL, RA, RE, IN Indicates a Dilution, Re-analysis, Re-extraction, or additional Initial metals/anion analysis of the sample

DLC Decision Level Concentration (Radiochemistry)

EDL Estimated Detection Limit (Dioxin)

LOD Limit of Detection (DoD/DOE)

LOQ Limit of Quantitation (DoD/DOE)

MCL EPA recommended "Maximum Contaminant Level"

MDA Minimum Detectable Activity (Radiochemistry)

MDC Minimum Detectable Concentration (Radiochemistry)

MDL Method Detection Limit

ML Minimum Level (Dioxin)

MPN Most Probable Number

MQL Method Quantitation Limit

NC Not Calculated

ND Not Detected at the reporting limit (or MDL or EDL if shown)

NEG Negative / Absent

POS Positive / Present

PQL Practical Quantitation Limit

PRES Presumptive

QC Quality Control

RER Relative Error Ratio (Radiochemistry)

RL Reporting Limit or Requested Limit (Radiochemistry)

RPD Relative Percent Difference, a measure of the relative difference between two points

TEF Toxicity Equivalent Factor (Dioxin)

TEQ Toxicity Equivalent Quotient (Dioxin)

TNTC Too Numerous To Count

Eurofins Calscience

Page 3 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1581 of 2173



Case Narrative
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Job ID: 570-109999-1

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience

Narrative

Job Narrative

570-109999-1

Comments

No additional comments. 

Receipt 

The samples were received on 9/15/2022 2:30 PM.  Unless otherwise noted below, the samples arrived in good condition, and where 
required, properly preserved and on ice.  The temperature of the cooler at receipt was 4.3º C.

GC/MS VOA 

Method 8260B: The initial calibration curve analyzed in batch 570-264953 was outside method criteria for the following analyte(s): 

Bromomethane.  As indicated in the reference method, sample analysis may proceed; however, any detection or non-detection for the 
affected analyte(s) is considered an estimated concentration.

Method 8260B: Insufficient sample volume was available to perform a matrix spike/matrix spike duplicate (MS/MSD) associated with 
analytical batch 570-264953. The laboratory control sample (LCS) was performed in duplicate (LCSD) to provide precision data for this 
batch.

No additional analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described above or in the Definitions/Glossary page.

GC Semi VOA 
Method 8151A: The continuing calibration verification (CCV) associated with batch 570-265746 recovered above the upper control limit for 
2,4,5-T, 2,4-DB and Dichlorprop.  The samples associated with this CCV were non-detects for the affected analytes; therefore, the data 

have been reported.  The associated samples are impacted: B-4-15 (570-109999-4), B-5-15 (570-109999-5), B-6-15 (570-109999-6) and 
B-7-15 (570-109999-7). 

Method 8151A: The matrix spike / matrix spike duplicate (MS/MSD) recoveries for preparation batch 570-264959 and analytical batch 
570-265746 were outside control limits.  Sample matrix interference and/or non-homogeneity are suspected because the associated 

laboratory control sample (LCS) recovery was within acceptance limits.

No additional analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described above or in the Definitions/Glossary page.

Organic Prep 

No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

VOA Prep 

No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 4 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1582 of 2173



Detection Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-1-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-2-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-3-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-4-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-5-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-6-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-7-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7

 No Detections.

Eurofins Calscience

This Detection Summary does not include radiochemical test results.

Page 5 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1583 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

4.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 12-Butanone ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 12-Chlorotoluene ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 12-Hexanone ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 14-Chlorotoluene ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Acetone ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Benzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Bromobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Bromochloromethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Bromodichloromethane ND

4.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Bromoform ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Bromomethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Chlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Chloroethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Chloroform ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Chloromethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Dibromochloromethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Dibromomethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

230 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Ethanol ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Ethylbenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 6 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1584 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Isopropylbenzene ND 0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Naphthalene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1N-Propylbenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1o-Xylene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1m,p-Xylene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Styrene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Tetrachloroethene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Toluene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Trichloroethene ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 100 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 100 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 98 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 103 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 7 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1585 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND 2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 12-Butanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 12-Chlorotoluene ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 12-Hexanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 14-Chlorotoluene ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Acetone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Benzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Bromobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Bromoform ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Bromomethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Carbon disulfide ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Chlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Chloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Chloroform ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Chloromethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Dibromomethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

260 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Ethanol ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Isopropylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Methylene Chloride ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Naphthalene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1n-Butylbenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1o-Xylene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Styrene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Tetrachloroethene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 8 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1586 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Toluene ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Trichloroethene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Vinyl acetate ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 101 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 12-Butanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 12-Chlorotoluene ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 12-Hexanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 14-Chlorotoluene ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Acetone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Benzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Bromobenzene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Bromoform ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Bromomethane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 9 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1587 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Carbon disulfide ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Chlorobenzene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Chloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Chloroform ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Chloromethane ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Dibromomethane ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

280 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Ethanol ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Isopropylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Methylene Chloride ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Naphthalene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1n-Butylbenzene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1o-Xylene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Styrene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Toluene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Trichloroethene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Vinyl acetate ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 102 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 99 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 10 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1588 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

4.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 12-Butanone ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 12-Chlorotoluene ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 12-Hexanone ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 14-Chlorotoluene ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Acetone ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Benzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Bromochloromethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Bromodichloromethane ND

4.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Bromoform ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Bromomethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Chlorobenzene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Chloroethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Chloroform ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Dibromochloromethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Dibromomethane ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Ethanol ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Ethylbenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Isopropylbenzene ND

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Methylene Chloride ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 11 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1589 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Naphthalene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1n-Butylbenzene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1N-Propylbenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1m,p-Xylene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Styrene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Tetrachloroethene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Toluene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Trichloroethene ND

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 100 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 99 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 103 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 12 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1590 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,3-Dichloropropane ND 0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

4.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 12-Butanone ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 12-Chlorotoluene ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 12-Hexanone ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 14-Chlorotoluene ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Acetone ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Benzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Bromobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Bromochloromethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Bromodichloromethane ND

4.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Bromoform ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Bromomethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Chlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Chloroethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Chloroform ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Chloromethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Dibromochloromethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Dibromomethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

240 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Ethanol ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Ethylbenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Isopropylbenzene ND

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Naphthalene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1N-Propylbenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1o-Xylene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1m,p-Xylene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Styrene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Tetrachloroethene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Toluene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Trichloroethene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 13 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1591 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Trichlorofluoromethane ND 9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 100 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 99 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

6.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 12-Butanone ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 12-Chlorotoluene ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 12-Hexanone ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 14-Chlorotoluene ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Acetone ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Benzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Bromobenzene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Bromodichloromethane ND

6.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Bromoform ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Bromomethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 14 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1592 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Carbon disulfide ND 12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Chlorobenzene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Chloroethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Chloroform ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Chloromethane ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Dibromomethane ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

310 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Ethanol ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Isopropylbenzene ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Methylene Chloride ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Naphthalene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1n-Butylbenzene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1o-Xylene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Styrene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Toluene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Trichloroethene ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Vinyl acetate ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 98 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 15 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1593 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,2-Trichloroethane ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 12-Butanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 12-Chlorotoluene ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 12-Hexanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 14-Chlorotoluene ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Acetone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Benzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Bromobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Bromoform ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Bromomethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Carbon disulfide ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Chlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Chloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Chloroform ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Chloromethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Dibromomethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

260 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Ethanol ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Isopropylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Methylene Chloride ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Naphthalene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 16 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1594 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

n-Butylbenzene ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1o-Xylene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Styrene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Toluene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Trichloroethene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Vinyl acetate ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 103 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 17 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1595 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Heptachlor ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Heptachlor epoxide ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 53 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 54 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 137 - 151

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Heptachlor ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 18 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1596 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Heptachlor epoxide ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 59 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 59 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 137 - 151

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Heptachlor ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Heptachlor epoxide ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 63 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 66 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 137 - 151

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1beta-BHC ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 19 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1597 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Chlordane ND 25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Heptachlor ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Heptachlor epoxide ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 57 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 56 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 137 - 151

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Heptachlor ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Heptachlor epoxide ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 58 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 57 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 137 - 151

Eurofins Calscience

Page 20 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1598 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Heptachlor ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Heptachlor epoxide ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 60 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 62 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 137 - 151

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Heptachlor ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 21 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1599 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Heptachlor epoxide ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 58 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 55 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 137 - 151

Eurofins Calscience

Page 22 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1600 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 12,4-D ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 12,4-DB ND F1 F2

250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1Dalapon ND

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1Dicamba ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1Dichlorprop ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1Dinoseb ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1MCPA ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1MCPP ND F2

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 68 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 9.6 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.6 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

96 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 12,4-D ND

96 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 12,4-DB ND

240 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1Dalapon ND

9.6 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1Dicamba ND

96 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1Dichlorprop ND

96 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1Dinoseb ND

9600 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1MCPA ND

9600 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 74 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 12,4-D ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 12,4-DB ND

260 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1Dalapon ND

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1Dicamba ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1Dichlorprop ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1Dinoseb ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1MCPA ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 52 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 23 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1601 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 12,4-D ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 12,4-DB ND

260 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1Dalapon ND

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1Dicamba ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1Dichlorprop ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1Dinoseb ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1MCPA ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 65 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 9.8 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.8 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

98 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 12,4-D ND

98 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 12,4-DB ND

250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1Dalapon ND

9.8 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1Dicamba ND

98 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1Dichlorprop ND

98 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1Dinoseb ND

9800 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1MCPA ND

9800 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 48 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 12,4-D ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 12,4-DB ND

260 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1Dalapon ND

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1Dicamba ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1Dichlorprop ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1Dinoseb ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1MCPA ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 49 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 24 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1602 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 12,4-D ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 12,4-DB ND

250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1Dalapon ND

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1Dicamba ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1Dichlorprop ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1Dinoseb ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1MCPA ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 51 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 25 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1603 of 2173



Surrogate Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (80-142) (80-120) (80-123) (80-120)

DCA BFB DBFM TOL

100 100 98 103570-109999-1

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-1-15

101 101 102 101570-109999-2 B-2-15

102 99 101 102570-109999-3 B-3-15

100 102 99 103570-109999-4 B-4-15

100 99 101 102570-109999-5 B-5-15

98 101 101 102570-109999-6 B-6-15

103 101 102 102570-109999-7 B-7-15

91 96 96 100LCS 570-264953/4 Lab Control Sample

93 94 97 101LCSD 570-264953/5 Lab Control Sample Dup

91 99 97 102MB 570-264953/7 Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

DCA = 1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr)

BFB = 4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr)

DBFM = Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr)

TOL = Toluene-d8 (Surr)

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (38-148) (37-151)

TCX1 DCB1

53 54570-109999-1

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-1-15

59 59570-109999-2 B-2-15

63 66570-109999-3 B-3-15

57 56570-109999-4 B-4-15

58 57570-109999-5 B-5-15

60 62570-109999-6 B-6-15

61 64570-109999-6 MS B-6-15

58 62570-109999-6 MSD B-6-15

58 55570-109999-7 B-7-15

71 71LCS 570-265820/2-A Lab Control Sample

74 77LCSD 570-265820/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup

70 71MB 570-265820/1-A Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

TCX = Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr)

DCB = DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr)

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (20-163)

DCPAA1

68570-109999-1

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-1-15

80 p570-109999-1 MS B-1-15

80570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15

74570-109999-2 B-2-15

52570-109999-3 B-3-15

Eurofins Calscience

Page 26 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1604 of 2173



Surrogate Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC) (Continued)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (20-163)

DCPAA1

65570-109999-4

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-4-15

48570-109999-5 B-5-15

49570-109999-6 B-6-15

51570-109999-7 B-7-15

83LCS 570-264959/2-A Lab Control Sample

87LCSD 570-264959/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup

43MB 570-264959/1-A Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

DCPAA = 2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid

Eurofins Calscience

Page 27 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1605 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-264953/7
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1,1-Trichloroethane

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1,2-Trichloroethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1-Dichloroethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1-Dichloroethene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1-Dichloropropene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2,3-Trichloropropane

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2-Dibromoethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2-Dichlorobenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2-Dichloroethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2-Dichloropropane

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,3-Dichlorobenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,3-Dichloropropane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,4-Dichlorobenzene

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 12,2-Dichloropropane

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 12-Butanone

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 12-Chlorotoluene

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 12-Hexanone

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 14-Chlorotoluene

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 14-Methyl-2-pentanone

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Acetone

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Benzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Bromobenzene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Bromochloromethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Bromodichloromethane

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Bromoform

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Bromomethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Carbon disulfide

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Carbon tetrachloride

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Chlorobenzene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Chloroethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Chloroform

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Chloromethane

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Dibromochloromethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Dibromomethane

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Dichlorodifluoromethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE)

ND 250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Ethanol

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Ethylbenzene

Eurofins Calscience

Page 28 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1606 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-264953/7
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

RL

Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Isopropylbenzene

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Methylene Chloride

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE)

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Naphthalene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1n-Butylbenzene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1N-Propylbenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1o-Xylene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1m,p-Xylene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1p-Isopropyltoluene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1sec-Butylbenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Styrene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME)

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA)

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1tert-Butylbenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Tetrachloroethene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Toluene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Trichloroethene

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Trichlorofluoromethane

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Vinyl acetate

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Vinyl chloride

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 91 80 - 142 09/16/22 21:42 1

MB MB

Surrogate Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

99 09/16/22 21:42 14-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

97 09/16/22 21:42 1Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 80 - 123

102 09/16/22 21:42 1Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-264953/4
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane 50.0 48.37 ug/Kg 97 80 - 127

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

1,1,1-Trichloroethane 50.0 46.99 ug/Kg 94 80 - 127

1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane 50.0 50.43 ug/Kg 101 80 - 126

1,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroetha

ne

50.0 49.45 ug/Kg 99 78 - 121

1,1,2-Trichloroethane 50.0 48.04 ug/Kg 96 80 - 120

1,1-Dichloroethane 50.0 48.89 ug/Kg 98 75 - 128

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 48.91 ug/Kg 98 70 - 131

1,1-Dichloropropene 50.0 50.56 ug/Kg 101 80 - 124

1,2,3-Trichlorobenzene 50.0 53.34 ug/Kg 107 80 - 124

1,2,3-Trichloropropane 50.0 45.67 ug/Kg 91 80 - 125

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene 50.0 55.32 ug/Kg 111 80 - 131

1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene 50.0 51.48 ug/Kg 103 80 - 126

1,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane 50.0 41.12 ug/Kg 82 65 - 127

Eurofins Calscience

Page 29 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1607 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-264953/4
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 51.06 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 52.54 ug/Kg 105 80 - 120

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 46.27 ug/Kg 93 80 - 120

1,2-Dichloropropane 50.0 50.27 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120

1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene 50.0 50.45 ug/Kg 101 80 - 123

1,3-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 53.36 ug/Kg 107 80 - 120

1,3-Dichloropropane 50.0 50.75 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120

1,4-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 52.34 ug/Kg 105 80 - 120

2,2-Dichloropropane 50.0 46.15 ug/Kg 92 65 - 150

2-Butanone 50.0 47.75 ug/Kg 96 73 - 129

2-Chlorotoluene 50.0 50.03 ug/Kg 100 80 - 120

2-Hexanone 50.0 49.04 ug/Kg 98 80 - 121

4-Chlorotoluene 50.0 50.08 ug/Kg 100 80 - 120

4-Methyl-2-pentanone 50.0 46.85 ug/Kg 94 80 - 120

Acetone 50.0 43.48 ug/Kg 87 55 - 142

Benzene 50.0 50.99 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120

Bromobenzene 50.0 51.44 ug/Kg 103 80 - 126

Bromochloromethane 50.0 48.78 ug/Kg 98 80 - 120

Bromodichloromethane 50.0 46.15 ug/Kg 92 80 - 120

Bromoform 50.0 40.95 ug/Kg 82 80 - 131

Bromomethane 50.0 45.29 ug/Kg 91 68 - 131

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 50.0 48.44 ug/Kg 97 80 - 122

cis-1,3-Dichloropropene 50.0 49.06 ug/Kg 98 80 - 125

Carbon disulfide 50.0 48.12 ug/Kg 96 70 - 130

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 42.12 ug/Kg 84 80 - 131

Chlorobenzene 50.0 52.27 ug/Kg 105 80 - 120

Chloroethane 50.0 53.42 ug/Kg 107 80 - 124

Chloroform 50.0 47.19 ug/Kg 94 80 - 120

Chloromethane 50.0 47.45 ug/Kg 95 68 - 135

Dibromochloromethane 50.0 47.59 ug/Kg 95 80 - 124

Dibromomethane 50.0 47.20 ug/Kg 94 80 - 120

Dichlorodifluoromethane 50.0 48.92 ug/Kg 98 60 - 166

Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) 50.0 50.08 ug/Kg 100 77 - 130

Ethanol 500 562.9 ug/Kg 113 66 - 129

Ethylbenzene 50.0 51.71 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120

Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) 50.0 50.44 ug/Kg 101 80 - 135

Isopropylbenzene 50.0 51.33 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120

Methylene Chloride 50.0 49.22 ug/Kg 98 80 - 120

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 49.50 ug/Kg 99 80 - 122

Naphthalene 50.0 51.35 ug/Kg 103 77 - 120

n-Butylbenzene 50.0 51.65 ug/Kg 103 80 - 127

N-Propylbenzene 50.0 51.84 ug/Kg 104 80 - 120

o-Xylene 50.0 50.61 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120

m,p-Xylene 100 101.7 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120

p-Isopropyltoluene 50.0 51.79 ug/Kg 104 80 - 122

sec-Butylbenzene 50.0 51.81 ug/Kg 104 80 - 124

Styrene 50.0 51.14 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120

trans-1,2-Dichloroethene 50.0 47.64 ug/Kg 95 80 - 121

trans-1,3-Dichloropropene 50.0 50.63 ug/Kg 101 80 - 130

Eurofins Calscience

Page 30 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1608 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-264953/4
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) 50.0 50.36 ug/Kg 101 80 - 122

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) 250 252.7 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120

tert-Butylbenzene 50.0 52.01 ug/Kg 104 80 - 120

Tetrachloroethene 50.0 54.02 ug/Kg 108 80 - 121

Toluene 50.0 50.26 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120

Trichloroethene 50.0 50.73 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120

Trichlorofluoromethane 50.0 57.06 ug/Kg 114 75 - 131

Vinyl acetate 50.0 49.32 ug/Kg 99 80 - 133

Vinyl chloride 50.0 54.58 ug/Kg 109 80 - 129

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 80 - 142

Surrogate

91

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

964-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

96Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 80 - 123

100Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-264953/5
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane 50.0 47.61 ug/Kg 95 80 - 127 2 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,1,1-Trichloroethane 50.0 48.36 ug/Kg 97 80 - 127 3 20

1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane 50.0 49.75 ug/Kg 100 80 - 126 1 20

1,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroetha

ne

50.0 50.48 ug/Kg 101 78 - 121 2 20

1,1,2-Trichloroethane 50.0 48.01 ug/Kg 96 80 - 120 0 20

1,1-Dichloroethane 50.0 49.70 ug/Kg 99 75 - 128 2 20

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 49.27 ug/Kg 99 70 - 131 1 20

1,1-Dichloropropene 50.0 51.60 ug/Kg 103 80 - 124 2 20

1,2,3-Trichlorobenzene 50.0 52.70 ug/Kg 105 80 - 124 1 20

1,2,3-Trichloropropane 50.0 46.11 ug/Kg 92 80 - 125 1 20

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene 50.0 55.00 ug/Kg 110 80 - 131 1 20

1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene 50.0 50.83 ug/Kg 102 80 - 126 1 20

1,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane 50.0 40.99 ug/Kg 82 65 - 127 0 20

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 50.54 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120 1 20

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 51.49 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 2 20

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 46.09 ug/Kg 92 80 - 120 0 20

1,2-Dichloropropane 50.0 50.84 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120 1 20

1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene 50.0 50.92 ug/Kg 102 80 - 123 1 20

1,3-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 52.47 ug/Kg 105 80 - 120 2 20

1,3-Dichloropropane 50.0 50.40 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120 1 20

1,4-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 51.26 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 2 20

2,2-Dichloropropane 50.0 46.81 ug/Kg 94 65 - 150 1 20

2-Butanone 50.0 48.45 ug/Kg 97 73 - 129 1 20

2-Chlorotoluene 50.0 50.20 ug/Kg 100 80 - 120 0 20

2-Hexanone 50.0 49.34 ug/Kg 99 80 - 121 1 20

4-Chlorotoluene 50.0 49.21 ug/Kg 98 80 - 120 2 20

4-Methyl-2-pentanone 50.0 49.61 ug/Kg 99 80 - 120 6 20

Eurofins Calscience

Page 31 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1609 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-264953/5
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

Acetone 50.0 44.47 ug/Kg 89 55 - 142 2 22

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

Benzene 50.0 51.12 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120 0 20

Bromobenzene 50.0 51.87 ug/Kg 104 80 - 126 1 20

Bromochloromethane 50.0 48.53 ug/Kg 97 80 - 120 1 20

Bromodichloromethane 50.0 46.75 ug/Kg 94 80 - 120 1 20

Bromoform 50.0 40.26 ug/Kg 81 80 - 131 2 20

Bromomethane 50.0 43.54 ug/Kg 87 68 - 131 4 20

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 50.0 48.75 ug/Kg 97 80 - 122 1 20

cis-1,3-Dichloropropene 50.0 48.75 ug/Kg 98 80 - 125 1 20

Carbon disulfide 50.0 49.04 ug/Kg 98 70 - 130 2 20

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 43.84 ug/Kg 88 80 - 131 4 20

Chlorobenzene 50.0 52.09 ug/Kg 104 80 - 120 0 20

Chloroethane 50.0 53.32 ug/Kg 107 80 - 124 0 20

Chloroform 50.0 47.68 ug/Kg 95 80 - 120 1 20

Chloromethane 50.0 47.41 ug/Kg 95 68 - 135 0 20

Dibromochloromethane 50.0 47.64 ug/Kg 95 80 - 124 0 20

Dibromomethane 50.0 48.13 ug/Kg 96 80 - 120 2 20

Dichlorodifluoromethane 50.0 48.14 ug/Kg 96 60 - 166 2 20

Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) 50.0 49.63 ug/Kg 99 77 - 130 1 20

Ethanol 500 539.9 ug/Kg 108 66 - 129 4 22

Ethylbenzene 50.0 51.53 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 0 20

Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) 50.0 50.80 ug/Kg 102 80 - 135 1 20

Isopropylbenzene 50.0 51.28 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 0 20

Methylene Chloride 50.0 49.52 ug/Kg 99 80 - 120 1 20

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 49.89 ug/Kg 100 80 - 122 1 20

Naphthalene 50.0 51.05 ug/Kg 102 77 - 120 1 20

n-Butylbenzene 50.0 52.28 ug/Kg 105 80 - 127 1 20

N-Propylbenzene 50.0 52.31 ug/Kg 105 80 - 120 1 20

o-Xylene 50.0 50.65 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120 0 20

m,p-Xylene 100 101.8 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120 0 20

p-Isopropyltoluene 50.0 51.74 ug/Kg 103 80 - 122 0 20

sec-Butylbenzene 50.0 51.60 ug/Kg 103 80 - 124 0 20

Styrene 50.0 51.34 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 0 20

trans-1,2-Dichloroethene 50.0 48.36 ug/Kg 97 80 - 121 2 20

trans-1,3-Dichloropropene 50.0 51.04 ug/Kg 102 80 - 130 1 20

Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) 50.0 50.41 ug/Kg 101 80 - 122 0 20

tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) 250 250.0 ug/Kg 100 80 - 120 1 20

tert-Butylbenzene 50.0 51.28 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 1 20

Tetrachloroethene 50.0 53.78 ug/Kg 108 80 - 121 0 20

Toluene 50.0 50.73 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120 1 20

Trichloroethene 50.0 51.98 ug/Kg 104 80 - 120 2 20

Trichlorofluoromethane 50.0 56.01 ug/Kg 112 75 - 131 2 20

Vinyl acetate 50.0 49.37 ug/Kg 99 80 - 133 0 20

Vinyl chloride 50.0 53.95 ug/Kg 108 80 - 129 1 20

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 80 - 142

Surrogate

93

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

944-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 32 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1610 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-264953/5
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 80 - 123

Surrogate

97

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

101Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-265820/1-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 14,4'-DDE

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 14,4'-DDT

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Aldrin

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1alpha-BHC

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1alpha-Chlordane

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1beta-BHC

ND 25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Chlordane

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1delta-BHC

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Dieldrin

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endosulfan I

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endosulfan II

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endosulfan sulfate

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endrin

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endrin aldehyde

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endrin ketone

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1gamma-Chlordane

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1gamma-BHC

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Heptachlor

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Heptachlor epoxide

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Methoxychlor

ND 25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Toxaphene

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 70 38 - 148 09/22/22 02:30 1

MB MB

Surrogate

09/20/22 17:10

Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

71 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 37 - 151

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-265820/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

4,4'-DDD 25.0 20.70 ug/Kg 83 54 - 154

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

4,4'-DDE 25.0 19.98 ug/Kg 80 51 - 149

4,4'-DDT 25.0 20.26 ug/Kg 81 39 - 152

Aldrin 25.0 18.03 ug/Kg 72 52 - 138

alpha-BHC 25.0 19.22 ug/Kg 77 51 - 140

alpha-Chlordane 25.0 19.16 ug/Kg 77 53 - 141

Eurofins Calscience

Page 33 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1611 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-265820/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

beta-BHC 25.0 18.13 ug/Kg 73 53 - 141

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

delta-BHC 25.0 18.20 ug/Kg 73 20 - 132

Dieldrin 25.0 19.39 ug/Kg 78 52 - 144

Endosulfan I 25.0 18.74 ug/Kg 75 49 - 139

Endosulfan II 25.0 20.00 ug/Kg 80 51 - 150

Endosulfan sulfate 25.0 19.73 ug/Kg 79 45 - 139

Endrin 25.0 19.51 ug/Kg 78 53 - 151

Endrin aldehyde 25.0 18.00 ug/Kg 72 31 - 146

gamma-Chlordane 25.0 18.86 ug/Kg 75 46 - 156

gamma-BHC 25.0 18.73 ug/Kg 75 53 - 141

Heptachlor 25.0 19.43 ug/Kg 78 52 - 144

Heptachlor epoxide 25.0 18.97 ug/Kg 76 54 - 141

Methoxychlor 25.0 21.71 ug/Kg 87 47 - 148

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 38 - 148

Surrogate

71

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

71DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 37 - 151

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-265820/3-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

4,4'-DDD 25.0 20.83 ug/Kg 83 54 - 154 1 30

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

4,4'-DDE 25.0 19.88 ug/Kg 80 51 - 149 1 28

4,4'-DDT 25.0 20.55 ug/Kg 82 39 - 152 1 31

Aldrin 25.0 18.16 ug/Kg 73 52 - 138 1 30

alpha-BHC 25.0 19.29 ug/Kg 77 51 - 140 0 29

alpha-Chlordane 25.0 19.15 ug/Kg 77 53 - 141 0 28

beta-BHC 25.0 18.34 ug/Kg 73 53 - 141 1 29

delta-BHC 25.0 18.41 ug/Kg 74 20 - 132 1 40

Dieldrin 25.0 19.56 ug/Kg 78 52 - 144 1 28

Endosulfan I 25.0 18.74 ug/Kg 75 49 - 139 0 28

Endosulfan II 25.0 20.52 ug/Kg 82 51 - 150 3 29

Endosulfan sulfate 25.0 20.15 ug/Kg 81 45 - 139 2 30

Endrin 25.0 19.74 ug/Kg 79 53 - 151 1 29

Endrin aldehyde 25.0 18.46 ug/Kg 74 31 - 146 3 40

gamma-Chlordane 25.0 19.18 ug/Kg 77 46 - 156 2 39

gamma-BHC 25.0 19.18 ug/Kg 77 53 - 141 2 29

Heptachlor 25.0 19.91 ug/Kg 80 52 - 144 2 29

Heptachlor epoxide 25.0 18.92 ug/Kg 76 54 - 141 0 29

Methoxychlor 25.0 21.71 ug/Kg 87 47 - 148 0 29

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 38 - 148

Surrogate

74

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

77DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 37 - 151

Eurofins Calscience

Page 34 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1612 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-6-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6 MS
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

4,4'-DDD ND 24.9 16.67 ug/Kg 67 27 - 144

Analyte

MS MS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits

4,4'-DDE ND 24.9 15.85 ug/Kg 64 28 - 141

4,4'-DDT ND 24.9 17.28 ug/Kg 69 10 - 154

Aldrin ND 24.9 14.68 ug/Kg 59 26 - 125

alpha-BHC ND 24.9 15.39 ug/Kg 62 24 - 125

alpha-Chlordane ND 24.9 15.09 ug/Kg 61 17 - 144

beta-BHC ND 24.9 16.10 ug/Kg 65 28 - 125

delta-BHC ND 24.9 14.56 ug/Kg 58 10 - 125

Dieldrin ND 24.9 15.52 ug/Kg 62 19 - 145

Endosulfan I ND 24.9 15.38 ug/Kg 62 25 - 125

Endosulfan II ND 24.9 16.11 ug/Kg 65 13 - 142

Endosulfan sulfate ND 24.9 16.23 ug/Kg 65 14 - 126

Endrin ND 24.9 16.12 ug/Kg 65 28 - 139

Endrin aldehyde ND 24.9 15.75 ug/Kg 63 12 - 125

gamma-Chlordane ND 24.9 15.04 ug/Kg 60 10 - 160

gamma-BHC ND 24.9 15.20 ug/Kg 61 24 - 125

Heptachlor ND 24.9 15.94 ug/Kg 64 19 - 127

Heptachlor epoxide ND 24.9 15.35 ug/Kg 62 33 - 123

Methoxychlor ND 24.9 19.38 ug/Kg 78 19 - 128

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 38 - 148

Surrogate

61

MS MS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

64DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 37 - 151

Client Sample ID: B-6-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

4,4'-DDD ND 24.9 16.06 ug/Kg 64 27 - 144 4 40

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

4,4'-DDE ND 24.9 15.06 ug/Kg 60 28 - 141 5 32

4,4'-DDT ND 24.9 16.34 ug/Kg 66 10 - 154 6 40

Aldrin ND 24.9 14.00 ug/Kg 56 26 - 125 5 40

alpha-BHC ND 24.9 14.89 ug/Kg 60 24 - 125 3 40

alpha-Chlordane ND 24.9 14.31 ug/Kg 57 17 - 144 5 40

beta-BHC ND 24.9 13.48 ug/Kg 54 28 - 125 18 39

delta-BHC ND 24.9 13.88 ug/Kg 56 10 - 125 5 40

Dieldrin ND 24.9 14.75 ug/Kg 59 19 - 145 5 39

Endosulfan I ND 24.9 14.25 ug/Kg 57 25 - 125 8 39

Endosulfan II ND 24.9 15.00 ug/Kg 60 13 - 142 7 40

Endosulfan sulfate ND 24.9 15.81 ug/Kg 63 14 - 126 3 38

Endrin ND 24.9 15.33 ug/Kg 62 28 - 139 5 40

Endrin aldehyde ND 24.9 14.92 ug/Kg 60 12 - 125 5 40

gamma-Chlordane ND 24.9 13.87 ug/Kg 56 10 - 160 8 40

gamma-BHC ND 24.9 14.51 ug/Kg 58 24 - 125 5 40

Heptachlor ND 24.9 14.92 ug/Kg 60 19 - 127 7 40

Heptachlor epoxide ND 24.9 14.15 ug/Kg 57 33 - 123 8 34

Methoxychlor ND 24.9 17.46 ug/Kg 70 19 - 128 10 40

Eurofins Calscience

Page 35 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1613 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-6-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 38 - 148

Surrogate

58

MSD MSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

62DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 37 - 151

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-264959/1-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 265746 Prep Batch: 264959

RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 12,4,5-TP (Silvex)

ND 100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 12,4-D

ND 100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 12,4-DB

ND 250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1Dalapon

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1Dicamba

ND 100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1Dichlorprop

ND 100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1Dinoseb

ND 10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1MCPA

ND 10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1MCPP

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 43 20 - 163 09/20/22 19:26 1

MB MB

Surrogate

09/16/22 19:42

Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-264959/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 265746 Prep Batch: 264959

2,4,5-T 20.0 12.06 ug/Kg 60 36 - 125

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

2,4-D 200 298.9 ug/Kg 149 10 - 177

2,4-DB 200 215.5 ug/Kg 108 35 - 180

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 20 - 163

Surrogate

83

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-264959/3-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 265746 Prep Batch: 264959

2,4,5-T 20.0 11.74 p ug/Kg 59 36 - 125 3 35

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

2,4-D 200 296.8 ug/Kg 148 10 - 177 1 40

2,4-DB 200 212.3 ug/Kg 106 35 - 180 2 40

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 20 - 163

Surrogate

87

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 36 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1614 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-1-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1 MS
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 265746 Prep Batch: 264959

2,4,5-T ND 20.0 11.64 p ug/Kg 58 10 - 190

Analyte

MS MS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits

2,4-D ND 200 233.5 ug/Kg 117 10 - 178

2,4-DB ND F1 F2 200 213.3 p ug/Kg 107 10 - 190

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid p 20 - 163

Surrogate

80

MS MS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: B-1-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 265746 Prep Batch: 264959

2,4,5-T ND 20.0 16.12 p ug/Kg 81 10 - 190 32 40

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

2,4-D ND 200 265.1 ug/Kg 133 10 - 178 13 40

2,4-DB ND F1 F2 200 226.0 p ug/Kg 113 10 - 190 6 40

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 20 - 163

Surrogate

80

MSD MSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 37 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1615 of 2173



QC Association Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

GC/MS VOA

Prep Batch: 264927

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 5035570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 264953

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260BMB 570-264953/7 Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8260BLCS 570-264953/4 Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8260BLCSD 570-264953/5 Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

GC Semi VOA

Prep Batch: 264959

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8151A570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151AMB 570-264959/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8151ALCS 570-264959/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8151ALCSD 570-264959/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-1 MS B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15 Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 265746

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959MB 570-264959/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959LCS 570-264959/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959LCSD 570-264959/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-1 MS B-1-15 Total/NA

Eurofins Calscience

Page 38 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1616 of 2173



QC Association Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

GC Semi VOA (Continued)

Analysis Batch: 265746 (Continued)

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15 Total/NA

Prep Batch: 265820

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 3546570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546MB 570-265820/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 3546LCS 570-265820/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 3546LCSD 570-265820/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-6 MS B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-6 MSD B-6-15 Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 266298

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820MB 570-265820/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820LCS 570-265820/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820LCSD 570-265820/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-6 MS B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-6 MSD B-6-15 Total/NA

Eurofins Calscience

Page 39 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1617 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-1-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5.355 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/16/22 22:24 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 19.98 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 05:42 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 49.99 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 21:18 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-2-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 4.758 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/16/22 22:45 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 20.01 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 05:57 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 51.93 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 21:40 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-3-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 4.4 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/16/22 23:06 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 20.03 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 06:12 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 48.22 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 22:03 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Eurofins Calscience

Page 40 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1618 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-4-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5.064 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/16/22 23:27 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 20.04 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 06:27 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 48.89 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 22:48 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-5-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5.309 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/16/22 23:47 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 20.11 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 06:41 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 50.89 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 23:10 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-6-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 4.093 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/17/22 00:08 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 20.02 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 06:56 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 48.53 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 23:32 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Eurofins Calscience

Page 41 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1619 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-7-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 4.734 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/17/22 00:29 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 19.91 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 07:11 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 49.78 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 23:55 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Laboratory References:

EET CAL 4 = Eurofins Calscience  Tustin, 2841 Dow Avenue, Tustin, CA 92780, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 42 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1620 of 2173



Accreditation/Certification Summary
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience
The accreditations/certifications listed below are applicable to this report.

Authority Program Identification Number Expiration Date

Oregon NELAP 4175 02-02-23

Eurofins Calscience

Page 43 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1621 of 2173



Method Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method Method Description LaboratoryProtocol

SW8468260B Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) EET CAL 4

SW8468081A Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) EET CAL 4

SW8468151A Herbicides (GC) EET CAL 4

SW8463546 Microwave Extraction EET CAL 4

SW8465035 Closed System Purge and Trap EET CAL 4

SW8468151A Extraction (Herbicides) EET CAL 4

Protocol References:

SW846 = "Test Methods For Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods", Third Edition, November 1986 And Its Updates.

Laboratory References:

EET CAL 4 = Eurofins Calscience  Tustin, 2841 Dow Avenue, Tustin, CA 92780, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 44 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1622 of 2173



Sample Summary
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Matrix Collected Received

570-109999-1 B-1-15 Solid 09/15/22 08:05 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-2 B-2-15 Solid 09/15/22 08:35 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-3 B-3-15 Solid 09/15/22 09:45 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-4 B-4-15 Solid 09/15/22 09:25 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-5 B-5-15 Solid 09/15/22 10:45 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-6 B-6-15 Solid 09/15/22 11:05 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-7 B-7-15 Solid 09/15/22 11:40 09/15/22 14:30

Eurofins Calscience
Page 45 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1623 of 2173



Page 46 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1624 of 2173



Login Sample Receipt Checklist

Client: AECOM Job Number: 570-109999-1

Login Number: 109999

Question Answer Comment

Creator: Cortez Diaz, Antonio

List Source: Eurofins Calscience

List Number: 1

N/ARadioactivity wasn't checked or is </= background as measured by a survey 
meter.

TrueThe cooler's custody seal, if present, is intact.

TrueSample custody seals, if present, are intact.

TrueThe cooler or samples do not appear to have been compromised or 
tampered with.

TrueSamples were received on ice.

TrueCooler Temperature is acceptable.

TrueCooler Temperature is recorded.

TrueCOC is present.

TrueCOC is filled out in ink and legible.

TrueCOC is filled out with all pertinent information.

TrueIs the Field Sampler's name present on COC?

TrueThere are no discrepancies between the containers received and the COC.

TrueSamples are received within Holding Time (excluding tests with immediate 
HTs)

TrueSample containers have legible labels.

TrueContainers are not broken or leaking.

TrueSample collection date/times are provided.

TrueAppropriate sample containers are used.

TrueSample bottles are completely filled.

TrueSample Preservation Verified.

TrueThere is sufficient vol. for all requested analyses, incl. any requested 
MS/MSDs

TrueContainers requiring zero headspace have no headspace or bubble is 
<6mm (1/4").

TrueMultiphasic samples are not present.

TrueSamples do not require splitting or compositing.

N/AResidual Chlorine Checked.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 47 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1625 of 2173



 

 
 

APPENDIX D 
 

UST Installation – January 14, 1999 
 

 

Item E - 1626 of 2173



Item E - 1627 of 2173



• 

, San Bernardino County Fire D_cpartme
.. ------·-

--·--· -·-· __ ... "'"-·---· .. ---

PHOTO NARRATIVE 

Date Taken: /.,. !'{ f t/ By: ,/w;/U<.---....Jt/" A�

...... _. 

REMARKS: _____ --:--------�---------

�����•�;,�am��l9)A-=,. � 
Photo Narrative - Page _L of _L 

" ..... .,..,,.v -- . 

• 

I 
( 
( 
C 

Item E - 1628 of 2173



Item E - 1629 of 2173



Item E - 1630 of 2173



Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 

1600 East Francis Street 
Ontario, California 

Prepared for: 
California Acquisition, LLC 

11100 Santa Monica Boulevard, Suite 700 
Los Angeles, California 90025 

Prepared by: 
Ardent Environmental Group, Inc. 

1827 Capital Street, Suite 103 
Corona, California 92880 

May 23, 2022 
Project No. 101358001 

Item E - 1631 of 2173



May 23, 2022 
Project No. 101358001 

Mr. Tuckley Williams 
California Acquisition, LLC  
11100 Santa Monica Boulevard, Suite 700 
Los Angeles, California 90025 

Subject: Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 
1600 East Francis Street 
Ontario, California 

Dear Mr. Williams: 

Ardent Environmental Group, Inc. (Ardent) has performed a Phase I Environmental Site 

Assessment of the above-referenced property (“site” or “subject property”). Work was completed 

in general accordance with the proposal dated April 13, 2022, between California Acquisition, LLC 

and Ardent. The attached report presents our methodology, findings, opinions, and conclusions 

regarding the environmental conditions at the site. We appreciate the opportunity to be of service 

to you on this project. If there are any questions, please feel free to call the undersigned at your 

convenience. 

Sincerely,  

Ardent Environmental Group, Inc. 

 PAR/TA/aw 

 Distribution: (1) Addressee 

Tahsin Annoor 
Senior Staff Geologist 

Paul A. Roberts, P.G. 
Principal Geologist 

Item E - 1632 of 2173



1600 East Francis Street May 23, 2022 
Ontario, California Project No. 101358001 
 

101358001 Phase I ESA 1 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
Ardent Environmental Group, Inc. (Ardent) was retained by California Acquisition, LLC to perform 

a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) for the property located at 1600 East Francis 

Street in the city of Ontario, California (“site” or “subject property”). The site has been historically 

and is currently being used for cement and concrete product manufacturing, storage, and 

distribution. California Acquisition, LLC is considering purchasing the site for commercial 

redevelopment. Document review and site assessment activities for this report were conducted 

between April 27, 2022, and May 21, 2022. 

In summary, the following items were noted:  

• From at least 1938 through 1973, the site was used for agricultural purposes. By 1974, 
Keystone Concrete Block Co. (Keystone), the predecessor to Patio Industries and Western 
States Wholesale (WSW) occupied the eastern portion of the site for use as a cement and 
concrete mixing facility (i.e., a concrete batch plant). By 1984, Keystone, doing business as 
Patio Industries, had acquired the western portion of the site which was generally used as a 
building materials and aggregate storage yard. Patio Industries began doing business as 
WSW since 1995 and has continued to operate as a cement and concrete product 
manufacturing, storage, and distribution facility. The site has historically maintained an 
underground storage tank (UST) used to store diesel, and still currently maintains an active 
10,000-gallon diesel UST. With the exception of diesel, no additional use of liquid chemicals 
(e.g., chlorinated solvents) or truck maintenance activities were completed on site. The current 
and historic USTs are further discussed below.  

• The former General Electric Engine Services (GEES) Test Cell Facility is located 
approximately 1-mile northeast of the site. This facility was operated by General Electric (GE) 
as a military jet engine testing and maintenance facility. During its operations, industrial 
wastewater containing chlorinated solvents were discharged to the property impacting 
groundwater with volatile organic compounds (VOCs), namely trichloroethylene (TCE). 
Several groundwater monitoring wells were installed by GE to monitor the TCE in 
groundwater, which has migrated beneath the site. Soil and groundwater remediation is being 
completed under the direction of the California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Santa 
Ana Region (SARWQCB). Groundwater has been measured in the site vicinity at a depth of 
approximately 247 feet below the ground surface (bgs) and flows in a southwesterly direction. 

• Laboratory results of groundwater samples collected from wells in the site vicinity indicated 
TCE at concentrations in excess of 100 micrograms per liter (ug/l). Vapor intrusion 
assessments at the source area have shown a low likelihood of possible vapor intrusion, and 
groundwater remediation is being completed by natural attenuation. Based on this 
information, the groundwater TCE release associated with the GEES Test Cell Facility would 
be considered a controlled recognized environmental condition (CREC). Based on the depth 
to groundwater (i.e., 247 feet bgs) and results of the vapor intrusion studies completed at the 
source area, there is a low likelihood that off-gassing VOCs would produce a vapor intrusion 
issue at the site. Furthermore, based on the lack of chlorinated solvent uses at the site, there 
is a low likelihood that historical or current land use at the site has contributed to this localized 
groundwater issue.  

Item E - 1633 of 2173



1600 East Francis Street May 23, 2022 
Ontario, California Project No. 101358001 
 

101358001 Phase I ESA 2 

• As previously stated, the site maintains an active 10,000-gallon diesel UST. The UST is part 
of the on-site truck fueling station including one dispenser island. The 10,000-gallon diesel 
UST was installed in 1999, as a replacement to a previous diesel UST that was removed from 
the same location in 1998. During the 1998 UST removal, diesel impacted soil was discovered 
and subsequently remediated with oversight from the San Bernardino County Fire Department 
(SBCFD). Laboratory results of confirmation soil samples indicated low concentrations of 
residual chemicals. Based on these results, the SBCFD subsequently issued a no further 
action (NFA) letter for the initial diesel UST in 2000 and allowed the existing replacement tank 
to be installed. The closed Leaking Underground Storage Tank (LUST) case associated with 
the initial diesel UST would be considered a historical-REC (HREC). Since no investigations 
have been completed over the past 22 years associated with the replacement UST, the current 
replacement 10,000-gallon diesel UST and associated dispenser island would be considered 
a recognized environmental condition (REC).   

• Based on the age of the buildings (at least 1974), asbestos containing building materials 
(ACMs) and lead-based paint (LBP) are likely present. Based on this information, a 
comprehensive pre-demolition asbestos and lead survey is currently being completed by 
Ardent. The results of the survey will be provided in a separate report.  

• No other on- or off-site environmental concerns were noted. 

CONCLUSIONS 
Ardent has performed this Phase I ESA in general conformance with the scope and limitations of 

the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) Practice E-1527-21, ASTM Standard E-

2600-15, and the EPA Standards and Practices for All Appropriate Inquiries (AAI), Final Rule (40 

CFR, Part 312), for the property located at 1600 East Francis Street in the city of Ontario, 

California. Any limitations or exceptions encountered during completion of this report are stated 

in Section 1.4. Based on the information received to date, no evidence or indication of RECs, 

HRECs, CRECs, de minimis environmental conditions (i.e., conditions that generally do not 

present a material risk of harm to public health or the environment), or conditions indicative of 

releases or threatened releases of hazardous substances on, at, in, or the site has been revealed, 

except for the following: 

RECs 
• The existing 10,000-gallon diesel UST and associated dispenser would be considered an 

REC. 
HRECs 

• The closed LUST case associated with the initial diesel UST would be considered an 
HREC. 

CRECs 
• The groundwater TCE release associated with the GEES Test Cell Facility would be 

considered a CREC. 

Item E - 1634 of 2173



1600 East Francis Street May 23, 2022 
Ontario, California Project No. 101358001 

101358001 Phase I ESA 3 

De-Minimis Conditions 
• No de-minimis conditions have been identified.

Non-ASTM Condition 
• Although not considered an REC in accordance with ASTM Standards, possible ACMs

and LBP would be considered a non-ASTM condition.

RECOMMENDATIONS 
Based on the results of this Phase I ESA, Ardent has the following recommendations: 

• If the existing 10,000-gallon diesel UST is not planned to be used, the tank and associated
dispenser island should be removed in accordance with current regulatory guidelines. If
opted, a subsurface investigation should be completed during the due diligence time
frame to assess whether a significant release is present in the vicinity of these features.

• Asbestos and LBP, if present, should be removed (ACMs) or stabilized (LBP) by a licensed
abatement contractor prior to demolition of the on-site buildings.

Item E - 1635 of 2173



Item E - 1636 of 2173



Item E - 1637 of 2173



Item E - 1638 of 2173



Item E - 1639 of 2173



Item E - 1640 of 2173



Item E - 1641 of 2173



Item E - 1642 of 2173



Item E - 1643 of 2173



Item E - 1644 of 2173



Item E - 1645 of 2173



Item E - 1646 of 2173



Item E - 1647 of 2173



Item E - 1648 of 2173



Item E - 1649 of 2173



Item E - 1650 of 2173



Item E - 1651 of 2173



Item E - 1652 of 2173



Item E - 1653 of 2173



Item E - 1654 of 2173



Item E - 1655 of 2173



Item E - 1656 of 2173



Item E - 1657 of 2173



Item E - 1658 of 2173



Item E - 1659 of 2173



Item E - 1660 of 2173



Item E - 1661 of 2173



Item E - 1662 of 2173



Item E - 1663 of 2173



Item E - 1664 of 2173



Item E - 1665 of 2173



Item E - 1666 of 2173



Item E - 1667 of 2173



Item E - 1668 of 2173



Item E - 1669 of 2173



Item E - 1670 of 2173



Item E - 1671 of 2173



Item E - 1672 of 2173



Item E - 1673 of 2173



Item E - 1674 of 2173



Item E - 1675 of 2173



Item E - 1676 of 2173



Item E - 1677 of 2173



Item E - 1678 of 2173



Item E - 1679 of 2173



Item E - 1680 of 2173



Item E - 1681 of 2173



Item E - 1682 of 2173



Item E - 1683 of 2173



Item E - 1684 of 2173



Item E - 1685 of 2173



Item E - 1686 of 2173



Item E - 1687 of 2173



Item E - 1688 of 2173



Item E - 1689 of 2173



Item E - 1690 of 2173



Item E - 1691 of 2173



Item E - 1692 of 2173



Item E - 1693 of 2173



Item E - 1694 of 2173



Item E - 1695 of 2173



������������	
��
��������������� ����
��������
�������������
��
�������� ������!�"#���$%�&�'�(	�)��*� � ����&�'�(	��*� �"""#��"&��+%��&"%,�������-���������������������
��� �������-���������������-����
���������.//����
������������
�0��������1.������2�
��
��������- 
��������������������
��������
�����
��������2�*�
3#���(�&�,������+����'�4��%,&��",�,&5�6�%7��%,���,������3"#�'"��%3��	4�(�&���,&�����������
8��2�8�������� � ����������9�
����������������:� � �����9�
��������;<=��>?@ABC� ����
������������������������������������:� ��������������� ����
�����������3""#��%����4�������
�����������
8������DECB� ��������������
8�������<=<?F<�������
8������
����������3"""#������&	$�������-��������?G>"H#�����'"�+���&"%,��
�������������������
��H#�I�,���+��%���,&��H"#����&"7"��&"%, "�J���(	����&"7	�&J�&�&J��",7%���&"%,���$%�&�'�J���",�"��&�����,'�������&��&%�&J��(��&�%7��	�K,%L+�'I�#

M
Item E - 1696 of 2173



����������	 
�������������������������� ����������
��������� 
�	����������������������
�������

�  !�"#$%&'()"*�%+#�),&*-.
�-��/01
2�
��0�1�3�04�����55�67 40/8.1�-��.�49�
��0�1�3�04������:;7�;;<=�&)>'&�'$#,>*
.1��
��1�30�����
��?04810�48
?�49� 818�8�-�����
4� .4/�18@��8.1A1�30���1��041�4981.�
.�1�2 03�8-��9940���������������B������C����9940�������7����.��?�0���400����1��041�4981.D�
����5�=6EF�6E;� 
.1��
��90�
48��8.1�����GH),#�(*G# GH),#�,%IJ#" #�(#,+ ),�?.10 K5�5LF;:7F:=65M�N K5�5LF;:7F:=7�"#$ ),'&�J)'"O
.1��
��1�30�����38/�0-�.P809. 818�8�-�����3�. .4/�18@��8.1A1�30���1����1��4QR
��K40/8.1�:L 03�8-��9940�������S�T��C�����BU����������C��C����9940�������;<;<�3���������D��T���E���48P04�890D�
����5�E�6� 
.1��
��90�
48��8.1�����GH),#�(*G# GH),#�,%IJ#" #�(#,+ ),�?.10 K5E6LF<:�F;�;:
Item E - 1697 of 2173



First Quarter 2022 
Groundwater Monitoring Report 
Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility 
2264 East Avion Place 
Ontario, California 

Prepared for: 

General Electric Company April 21, 2022 
Schenectady, New York  Project WDC13028 

Item E - 1698 of 2173



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-047.docx 

Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. 
1281 East Alluvial Avenue, Suite 101 

Fresno, California 93720 
USA 

T: 559-264-2535 
www.woodplc.com 

 

April 21, 2022 
Project WDC13028 
 
 
 
Mr. Edward Kolodziej 
c/o Angelica Todd 
General Electric Company 
1 River Road, Building 5-7W 
Schenectady, New York 12345-6000 
 
Subject: First Quarter 2022 Groundwater Monitoring Report 
 Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility 
 2264 East Avion Place, Ontario, California 
 
Dear Mr. Kolodziej: 
 
Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. (Wood), has prepared the First Quarter 2022 
Groundwater Monitoring Report on behalf of General Electric Company (GE) for the former General Electric 
Engine Services Test Cell Facility located at 2264 East Avion Place in Ontario, California, for submittal 
to the Santa Ana Regional Water Quality Control Board located in Riverside, California. This report 
summarizes groundwater monitoring activities conducted at the former General Electric Engine Services 
Test Cell Facility during the first quarter 2022 (January 1 through March 31) monitoring period. 
 
Wood is pleased to be of continuing service to GE. Please call if you have any questions or if we may 
provide additional information. 
 
Sincerely, 
Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. 
 
 
 
Paul C. Deutsch David M. Bean, PG, CHg 
Principal Environmental Scientist Principal Hydrogeologist 
 
cc: Alan Kuoch, Santa Ana Regional Water Quality Control Board 
 Mark Thorpe, Ontario International Airport Authority 
 Peter Kavounas, Chino Basin Watermaster 
 Scott Burton, City of Ontario Public Works Department 
 

Item E - 1699 of 2173



 
 

I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-047.docx 

First Quarter 2022 
Groundwater Monitoring Report 
Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility 
2264 East Avion Place, Ontario, California 
 
Prepared for: 
General Electric Company 
1 River Road, Building 5-7W 
Schenectady, New York 12345-6000 
 
Prepared by: 
Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. 
1281 East Alluvial Avenue, Suite 101 
Fresno, California 93720 
T: 559-264-2535 
 
April 21, 2022 
Project WDC13028 
 
Copyright and non-disclosure notice 
The contents and layout of this document are subject to copyright owned by Wood (© Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions, 
Inc.) to the extent that copyright has been legally assigned by us to another party or is used by Wood under license. To the extent that 
we own the copyright in this document, it may not be copied or used without our prior written agreement for any purpose other than 
the purpose indicated in this document. The methodology (if any) contained in this document is provided to you in confidence and must 
not be disclosed or copied to third parties without the prior written agreement of Wood. Disclosure of that information may constitute 
an actionable breach of confidence or may otherwise prejudice our commercial interests. Any third party who obtains access to this 
document by any means will, in any event, be subject to the Third-Party Disclaimer set out below. 

Third-party disclaimer 
Any disclosure of this document to a third party is subject to this disclaimer. The document was prepared by Wood at the instruction of, 
and for use by, our client named on the front of the document. It does not in any way constitute advice to any third party who is able to 
access it by any means. Wood excludes to the fullest extent lawfully permitted all liability whatsoever for any loss or damage howsoever 
arising from reliance on the contents of this document. We do not however exclude our liability (if any) for personal injury or death 
resulting from our negligence, for fraud or any other matter in relation to which we cannot legally exclude liability. 

Professional declaration 
This document was prepared by Wood staff under the supervision of the Geologist whose seal and signature appear hereon. 
The findings, recommendations, specifications, or professional opinions presented in this document were prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted professional geologic practice and within the scope of the project. No other warranty, express or implied, 
is provided. 

 
 
______________________________________________________ 
David M. Bean, PG, CHg 
Principal Hydrogeologist 
 

Item E - 1700 of 2173



First Quarter 2022 Groundwater Monitoring Report 
Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility 

2264 Avion Place, Ontario, California 
 

i I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-047.docx 

Table of contents 
1.0 Introduction and Background ......................................................................................................................................... 1 
2.0 Activities and Methods ...................................................................................................................................................... 1 

2.1 Depth-to-Groundwater Measurements ..................................................................................................... 1 
2.2 Monitoring Well Sampling .............................................................................................................................. 1 

3.0 Results ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 2 
3.1 Field Observations .............................................................................................................................................. 2 
3.2 Sample Analysis ................................................................................................................................................... 3 

4.0 Discussion ............................................................................................................................................................................... 3 
 
 

List of tables 
Table 1 Well Construction Details and First Quarter 2022 Sampling Details 
Table 2 Field Parameter Data for Wells with Dedicated Pumps 
Table 3 Groundwater Measurements 
Table 4 Volatile Organic Compound Detections in Groundwater – First Quarter 2022 
Table 5 Trichloroethylene Concentrations in Groundwater 
 

List of figures 
Figure 1 Site Location Map 
Figure 2 Facility Layout Map 
Figure 3 Monitoring Well and Piezometer Locations 
Figure 4 Water Table Map, First Quarter 2022 
Figure 5 Trichloroethylene in Groundwater, First Quarter 2022  
Figure 6 Generalized Lithologic Cross Section A-A’, First Quarter 2022 
 

List of appendices 
Appendix A Laboratory Analytical Reports 
 

Item E - 1701 of 2173



First Quarter 2022 Groundwater Monitoring Report 
Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility 

2264 East Avion Place, Ontario, California 

1 I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-047.docx 

1.0 Introduction and Background 
On behalf of General Electric Company (GE), Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. (Wood), 
prepared this First Quarter 2022 Groundwater Monitoring Report to summarize the results of the first 
quarter 2022 (January 1 through March 31) groundwater monitoring event conducted at the former 
General Electric Engine Services (GEES) Test Cell Facility located in Ontario, San Bernardino County, 
California (Figure 1). The Santa Ana Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB) provides regulatory 
oversight of groundwater monitoring activities conducted at the former GEES Test Cell Facility.  
 
Groundwater monitoring began in 1991 and has been on-going on a quarterly basis since first quarter 
2000. The RWQCB became the lead agency for groundwater investigations in 1994. The Department of 
Toxic Substances Control, formerly the State of California Department of Health Services, subsequently 
released investigation of all media to the RWQCB in May 2019. The groundwater monitoring program 
consists of measuring depth to groundwater (DTW) and collecting groundwater samples from up to 
35 on-site and off-site monitoring wells (Table 1; Figures 2 and 3). Additionally, four piezometers located 
adjacent to Ely Basins (Figure 3) owned by San Bernardino County are included in the groundwater 
monitoring program. The primary constituent of concern in groundwater is the volatile organic compound 
(VOC) trichloroethylene (TCE).  
 

2.0 Activities and Methods 
The first quarter 2022 groundwater monitoring event was performed by Wood staff and our subcontractor, 
Blaine Tech Services, Inc. The DTW was measured in on-site and off-site monitoring wells and Ely Basin 
piezometers on January 18. Due to access limitations, DTW at monitoring wells OW-11/OW-11p and 
OW-13/OW-13p and piezometer PZ-2 were measured on January 19 and piezometers PZ-3 and PZ-4 on 
January 21. Groundwater sampling from monitoring wells was conducted January 18 through 20. During 
this monitoring event, DTW was measured and groundwater samples were collected from the monitoring 
locations listed in Table 1. The groundwater samples were analyzed for VOCs.  
 
2.1 Depth-to-Groundwater Measurements 
Groundwater is measured at various depth intervals1 within the water table aquifer. The DTW was 
measured in each well to the nearest 1/100th of a foot using an electric water level sounder. The electric 
sounder was cleaned between each location by washing with an anionic detergent solution followed by 
two separate rinses with deionized water. Decontamination water was temporarily containerized and 
removed for off-site disposal at the end of the monitoring event.  
 
2.2 Monitoring Well Sampling 
The use of passive diffusion bag (PDB) samplers was approved by the RWQCB on November 14, 2005, 
via email. New PDBs were deployed in monitoring wells during October 2021, except for well MW-5 
(PDB installed on November 24, 2021) and well OW-13 (PDB installed on January 4, 2022). Starting fourth 
quarter 2021, samples from piezometers OW-4p and OW-8p are no longer collected because the PDBs 
were found torn upon retrieval during the second and third quarter 2021 monitoring events. Overall, 
groundwater samples were successfully collected from 35 of the 37 wells sampled. 
 

 
1 As indicated in the footnotes of Table 1 and shown on Figure 6, co-located monitoring wells were generally 
designated as being in shallow (s), intermediate (i), and deep (d) zones to distinguish between relative screen depths. 
This convention is not intended to identify distinct aquifer units. “Shallow” wells are screened near the water table. 

Item E - 1702 of 2173



First Quarter 2022 Groundwater Monitoring Report 
Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility 

2264 East Avion Place, Ontario, California 

2 I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-047.docx 

Groundwater samples were collected from monitoring wells OW-6 and OW-10 by purging the wells using 
dedicated low-flow bladder pumps. Wells OW-6 and OW-10 were purged using the low-flow method 
until the field parameters temperature, pH, electrical conductivity, turbidity, dissolved oxygen, and 
oxidation-reduction potential had stabilized (Table 2). 
 
The remaining wells were sampled using PDB samplers. The previously positioned PDBs were retrieved, 
opened, and water from the PDBs immediately decanted into 40-milliliter volatile organic vials with 
Teflon-lined septa lids. After samples were collected from each monitoring well, a new PDB was filled with 
deionized water supplied by the laboratory and deployed into the monitoring well for sample collection 
during the next quarterly monitoring event.  
 
The quality control program included the collection of duplicate samples from wells MW-8-s (DUP-02) 
and OW-16-s (DUP-01) and three field blank samples (sample ID begins with FB), one for each day of 
sampling. The groundwater samples, including quality control samples and trip blank samples, were 
submitted to Eurofins Calscience, LLC, a California-accredited analytical laboratory located in Garden 
Grove, California, for VOC analysis by U.S Environmental Protection Agency Method 8260B.  
 

3.0 Results 
This section summarizes results of the first quarter 2022 groundwater monitoring event. 
 
3.1 Field Observations 
Field parameters were collected during the low-flow purging of wells OW-06 and OW-10 (Table 2). 
The wells were purged at low-flow rates until measurements of field parameters indicated that the field 
parameters had stabilized. Groundwater samples were collected once parameters had stabilized. 
 
The DTW measurements and groundwater elevations are shown in Table 3. Figure 4 depicts the 
potentiometric contours that were developed from these data from wells and piezometers screened near 
the water table. The general direction of groundwater flow from the former GEES Test Cell Facility was to 
the southwest. The hydraulic gradient as calculated between wells MW-9-s and OW-11p was 
approximately 0.0013, or about 6.9 feet per mile. Groundwater elevation differences in nested/clustered 
wells indicate a generally downward hydraulic gradient. 
 
DTW measurements in piezometers OW-4p and OW-8p, which are small-diameter piezometers, were 
about 21 and 6.0 feet higher than the adjacent wells OW-4 and OW-8, respectively. The piezometer 
OW-4p measurement was inconsistent with previous measurements and is considered an anomaly and 
was rejected. The piezometer OW-8p measurement was consistent with previous measurements. 
The water level in well MW-05 was measured at about 3 feet above the bottom of the well screen while 
the water levels in wells OW-1 and OW-2 were measured at about 2 feet above the bottom of the well 
screen. This is discussed further in the following subsection. All other wells had 8 feet or more of 
groundwater above the bottom of the well screen.   
 
During February 2022, the PDB harness in each well was measured and compared to the DTW in the well 
and the bottom of the well screens. PDB harnesses that were corroded were replaced with temporary 
polyester rope. Where necessary, the PDBs were lowered to sit within the screen interval. The temporary 
tethers will be replaced during the second quarter 2022 sampling event.   
 

Item E - 1703 of 2173



First Quarter 2022 Groundwater Monitoring Report 
Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility 

2264 East Avion Place, Ontario, California 

3 I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-047.docx 

3.2 Sample Analysis 
Analytical results for groundwater samples collected from 35 wells indicated the presence of detectable 
concentration of 13 VOCs with TCE having the highest concentrations in most wells (Table 4). Analytical 
results indicated TCE concentrations greater than the California Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) of 
5 micrograms per liter (µg/L) for 19 of the 35 wells sampled. Results from eight wells were non-detect for 
TCE. The TCE results are summarized in Table 5 and depicted in plan view on Figure 5 and in cross-section 
view on Figure 6. The laboratory analytical reports and chain-of-custody records for this monitoring event 
are provided in Appendix A. 
 
The reported TCE detections at wells OW-6 (480 µg /L) and OW-8 (29 µg /L) are inconsistent with previous 
samples from these wells, and the data are rejected (Tables 4 and 5). The analytical laboratory reviewed the 
data and re-ran each sample. The re-run sample results confirmed the reported TCE concentrations. Wood 
believes the well OW-6 and OW-8 samples were inadvertently mislabeled when collected.  
 
The reported TCE detection at well OW-13 (18 µg/L) is an order of magnitude lower than the previous four 
quarters (120 to 170 µg/L), and the data are rejected (Tables 4 and 5). The analytical laboratory reviewed 
the data and re-ran the sample. The re-run sample result confirmed the reported TCE concentration. 
The validity of this sample will be re-evaluated following the next sample event. 
 
As noted in Section 3.1, Wood determined that water levels during the period of third quarter 2021 
through first quarter 2022 were significantly lower and some PDBs may not have been sufficiently 
submerged. A review of water level measurements and sampling results during this timeframe identified 
the need to qualify selected sampling results, based on low water levels and a determination that detected 
concentrations were inconsistent (much lower) compared with historical results. Accordingly, the analytical 
results associated with the following sampling events and locations were qualified as indicated: 
 

• Third and fourth quarter 2021 analytical results from wells OW-1, OW-2, and MW-5 were qualified 
as rejected. 

• First quarter 2022 analytical results from wells OW-1 and OW-2 were qualified as rejected.  

• First quarter 2022 analytical results from well MW-5 were determined to meet data quality 
objectives and the data were not qualified. 

 
The relative percent differences (RPDs) between the primary and duplicate groundwater samples collected 
from wells MW-8-s and OW-16-s were less than 30 percent for VOCs detected above the reporting limit. 
The RPDs indicate good analytical precision for groundwater samples. Except for PCE, which was detected 
(J-value) in one field blank and one trip blank (January 20), no other VOCs were detected above the 
reporting limits in the remaining field or trip blank samples. 
 

4.0 Discussion 
Highlights of the first quarter 2022 groundwater monitoring event are summarized as follows: 
 

• Generally, groundwater elevations are within historical ranges. Higher elevations were observed 
closer to the Ely Basins, indicating recharge was likely occurring at the Ely Basins at the time of 
water level monitoring and sample collection.   

• The general groundwater flow direction in the monitored area continues to be to the southwest.  

Item E - 1704 of 2173



First Quarter 2022 Groundwater Monitoring Report 
Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility 

2264 East Avion Place, Ontario, California 

4 I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-047.docx 

• The water levels in wells MW-05, OW-1, and OW-2, which are on and next to the former GEES 
Test Cell Facility, are very close to the bottom of the screen interval. It is likely the PDBs in wells 
OW-1 and OW-2 were not fully submerged during third and fourth quarter 2021 and first quarter 
2022 resulting in mostly non-detect values. It is likely the PDB in well MW-5 was not fully 
submerged during third and fourth quarter 2021. These values were included in Tables 4 and 5 
and designated “rejected.”  

• The detected TCE concentrations in wells on and next to the former GEES Test Cell Facility 
generally remain low, with a maximum TCE concentration of 11 µg/L at well MW-8s. 

• The highest detected TCE concentrations in groundwater are located approximately 3,000 feet 
downgradient of the former GEES Test Cell Facility boundary in a sample from well OW-16-i. 

 
 

Item E - 1705 of 2173



 
 

 

Tables 

 

Item E - 1706 of 2173



Table 1

Well Construction Details and First Quarter 2022 Sampling Details 

2264 East Avion Place

Borehole Well Top Bottom

OW-1 02/25/95 1839843.73 6682050.395 893.13 390.00 277.00 276.30 X PDB 252.00 272.00 Shallow SCH 40 PVC/ss 4

OW-2 03/16/95 1839731.712 6682000.238 891.18 350.00 275.10 274.48 X PDB 250.20 270.20 Shallow SCH 40 PVC/ss 4

OW-4 11/28/95 1838675.313 6679566.348 879.37 395.00 384.30 383.51 X PDB 370.00 380.00 Deep SCH 80 PVC/SCH 5 ss/SCH 10 ss 4.5/4

OW-4p9 11/28/95 1838675.313 6679566.348 879.16 395.00 268.00 267.44 --10 -- unknown 268.00 Shallow Steel 1.25

OW-5 01/29/96 1838035.454 6680895.618 868.01 342.00 259.60 259.50 X PDB 230.00 254.70 Shallow SCH 40 PVC/ss 4

OW-6 01/31/96 1839916.234 6680836.721 889.75 353.00 283.10 281.50 X Low Flow 251.10 276.10 Shallow SCH 40 PVC/ss 4

OW-7 06/25/96 1838977.838 6682177.50 877.73 350.10 270.10 268.91 X PDB 240.10 265.10 Shallow SCH 40 PVC/ss 4

OW-8 07/25/96 1838207.693 6678222.227 873.78 400.00 331.20 325.17 X PDB 316.20 326.20 Intermediate SCH 40 PVC/SCH 5 ss 4

OW-8p9 07/25/96 1838207.693 6678222.227 873.58 400.00 267.00 250.15 -- -- 237.00 267.00 Shallow --- 1

OW-9p 09/10/96 1837533.186 6678222.693 864.40 357.00 254.40 248.40 X PDB 234.00 254.00 Shallow SCH 40 PVC/ss 2

OW-10 09/10/96 1836632.34 6678221.97 855.80 347.00 259.60 259.30 X Low Flow 224.48 249.48 Shallow SCH 40 PVC/ss 4

OW-11 09/10/96 1835428.022 6674270.40 850.06 349.00 336.50 330.30 X PDB 323.50 333.40 Intermediate SCH 80 PVC/ss 4

OW-11p 09/10/96 1835428.022 6674270.40 850.04 349.00 250.10 249.45 X PDB 220.00 250.10 Shallow --- 2

OW-12 12/31/97 1835608.662 6675853.707 844.84 420.00 358.30 357.00 X PDB 343.40 353.10 Deep SCH 80 PVC/ss 5

OW-12p 12/31/97 1835608.662 6675853.707 844.83 420.00 266.00 264.50 X PDB 225.70 266.00 Shallow --- 2

OW-13 12/31/97 1836829.484 6674254.647 865.05 413.00 390.70 389.60 X PDB 375.30 385.50 Deep SCH 80 PVC/SCH 5 ss 5

OW-13p 12/31/97 1836829.484 6674254.647 864.87 413.00 272.80 271.65 X PDB 242.50 272.80 Shallow --- 2

OW-14 03/03/98 1838071.91 6676910.388 872.31 410.00 347.90 347.05 X PDB 332.50 342.70 Intermediate SCH 80 PVC/ss 5

OW-14p 03/03/98 1838071.91 6676910.388 872.20 410.00 271.90 271.70 X PDB 241.70 271.90 Shallow --- 2

OW-15p-s 11/20/01 1838023.718 6678885.927 872.54 405.00 285.00 282.79 X PDB 245.00 285.00 Shallow SCH 40 ss (screen) 2

OW-15p-i 11/20/01 1838023.718 6678885.927 872.59 405.00 340.00 338.11 X PDB 300.00 340.00 Intermediate SCH 40 ss (screen) 2

OW-15p-d 11/20/01 1838023.718 6678885.927 872.54 405.00 396.00 388.21 X PDB 356.00 396.00 Deep SCH 40 ss (screen) 2

OW-16-s 10/03/02 1838593.688 6680019.891 879.58 322.90 278.40 277.27 X PDB 248.00 278.00 Shallow SCH 80 PVC (screen) 3

OW-16-i 10/03/02 1838593.688 6680019.891 879.61 322.90 320.40 319.17 X PDB 295.00 320.00 Intermediate --- 3

OW-16-d 09/27/02 1838605.794 6680029.154 878.94 400.00 368.40 367.50 X PDB 328.00 368.00 Deep --- 5.75

OW-17-s 09/03/09 1839452.28 6680889.22 882.38 302.00 295.00 292.90 X PDB 260.00 290.00 Shallow SCH 80 PVC 4

OW-17-i 09/10/09 1839406.11 6680889.56 882.05 349.00 336.50 334.30 X PDB 314.00 334.00 Intermediate SCH 80 PVC 4

OW-17-d 08/14/09 1839427.66 6680890.15 882.31 388.00 383.00 373.91 X PDB 343.00 378.00 Deep SCH 80 PVC 4

OW-18-s 09/15/09 1838579.90 6680893.32 874.29 296.00 292.50 291.80 X PDB 260.00 290.00 Shallow SCH 80 PVC 4

OW-18-i 09/18/09 1838491.23 6680893.87 872.88 328.00 326.50 326.50 X PDB 304.00 324.00 Intermediate SCH 80 PVC 4

Measured

Total Depth
4

(feet btoc)

(January 2022)

Northing
3

(feet)

Easting
3

(feet)

Top of Casing

Elevation
3

(feet)

Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility

Ontario, California

Screen Depth
6

(feet bgs)

Well

Diameter
8

(inches)Well Material
7

Well Name
1

Total Depth
2

(feet bgs)Date of Well

Completion
2

Screen 

Interval

Groundwater 

Sample 

Collected

(January 2022)

Sample Method
5

(January 2022)

Page 1 of 2
I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-048

Item E - 1707 of 2173



Table 1

Well Construction Details and First Quarter 2022 Sampling Details 

Borehole Well Top Bottom

Measured

Total Depth
4

(feet btoc)

(January 2022)

Northing
3

(feet)

Easting
3

(feet)

Top of Casing

Elevation
3

(feet)

Screen Depth
6

(feet bgs)

Well

Diameter
8

(inches)Well Material
7

Well Name
1

Total Depth
2

(feet bgs)Date of Well

Completion
2

Screen 

Interval

Groundwater 

Sample 

Collected

(January 2022)

Sample Method
5

(January 2022)

OW-18-d 08/05/09 1838553.60 6680892.65 873.90 380.00 375.00 367.10 X PDB 350.00 370.00 Deep SCH 80 PVC 4

MW-5 02/03/92 1839979.40 6682721.179 889.64 270.00 269.00 269.70 X PDB 229.00 269.00 Shallow SCH 80 PVC/316 ss 5

MW-8-s 09/25/09 1839838.95 6682426.50 889.04 308.00 305.10 305.75 X PDB 278.00 303.00 Shallow SCH 80 PVC 4

MW-8-i 09/30/09 1839853.31 6682390.50 889.32 350.00 347.80 345.40 X PDB 325.20 345.20 Intermediate SCH 80 PVC 4

MW-8-d 08/25/09 1839844.61 6682408.99 889.14 405.00 399.00 395.90 X PDB 374.00 394.00 Deep SCH 80 PVC 4

MW-9-s 02/05/14 1839892.34 6682269.30 890.42 286.00 280.42 279.00 X PDB 250.00 280.00 Shallow SCH 80 PVC 4

MW-9-i 02/05/14 1839898.21 6682255.26 890.76 340.00 325.42 325.10 X PDB 295.00 325.00 Intermediate SCH 80 PVC 4

PZ-01 Feb 1999 1835547.79 6677495.58 852.17 -- 91.64 91.29 -- -- 84.07 94.07 Vadose -- 2

PZ-02 Feb 1999 1835164.45 6678783.08 850.12 -- 74.50 74.65 -- -- 64.92 74.92 Vadose -- 2

PZ-03 March 1999 1835538.55 6680122.96 852.13 -- 83.90 84.00 -- -- 78.43 88.03 Vadose -- 2

PZ-04 March 1999 1835539.42 6680162.24 848.00 -- 64.10 62.91 -- -- 54.30 64.10 Vadose -- 2

1.  OW = observation well, MW = monitoring well, PZ = piezometer, p = piezometer, s = shallow, i = intermediate, and d = deep.

2.  Date well was completed and total depth are based on well construction diagrams and boring logs. Completion date was not recorded for wells OW-4, OW-4p, OW-6, OW-7, OW-9p, OW-10, OW-11, OW-11p, OW-13 and OW-13p;

     therefore, the start date was used. Borehole total depth was recorded as "approximate" for wells OW-8, OW-8p, and OW-10. Well total depth was recorded as "approximate" for wells OW-4p, OW-16-s, OW-16-i, and OW-16-d.

     PZ information is from a database received from Geosyntec Consultants in 2019.  bgs = below ground surface.

3.  Elevations and northings and eastings for MWs and OWs surveyed by Calvada Land Surveying on April 30, May 1, and October 9, 2009; May 16, 2012; and February 11, 2014.  MW and OW elevations are referenced to North American

     Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD88). PZ elevations are referenced to mean sea level (MSL) and it is unknown what datum was used at the time of surveying; northings and eastings for PZ are approximate.

4.  btoc = below top of casing, ( ) = measurement appears erroneous, and NM = not measured. Except for OW-14 and OW-14p, total depth of well as measured on October 18, 2021. Due to access, total depth of wells OW-14 and OW-14p were measured on October 20, 2021. 

5.  PDB = passive diffusive bag.

6.  Screen depths are based on well construction diagrams for MWs and OWs. Screen depths for OW-16-s, OW-16-i, and OW-16-d are approximate.  Screen depths for PZ were calculated based on subtracting screen elevations in

     feet MSL from top of casing elevation in MSL; these data were obtained from a database provided by Geosyntec Consultants in 2019, and the datum used to measure MSL is unknown. 

7.  SCH = schedule, PVC = polyvinyl chloride, and ss = stainless steel. "SCH 80 PVC/ss" = the well is constructed with multiple types of material.  Generally, the PVC is placed in the unsaturated zone and the ss is situated in the saturated zone. 

8.  4.5/4 =  well diameter reduces with depth.

9.  Prior to July 2021, piezometers OW-4p and OW-8p were not previously monitored: piezometer OW-4p due to inconsistent measurements collected for 3 years and piezometer OW-8p due to numerous unsuccessful attempts to remove sediment inside the well.

     During the July 2021 event (3Q), OW-4p was not sampled due to sliced PDB.  During the October 2021 event (4Q), OW-4p and OW-8p were not sampled due to sliced PDBs.  Due to the reoccurrence of sliced PDBs, OW-4p and OW-8p are no longer sampled.   

10.  "--" = information unknown or not applicable.

Page 2 of 2
I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-048

Item E - 1708 of 2173



Table 2

Field Parameter Data for Wells with Dedicated Pumps

Well 

Name
1

Date Time

Approximate

Cumulative

Purge 

Volume
2

(gallons)

Temp
3

(°C)

pH
4

(s.u.)

EC
5

(mS/cm)

Turbidity
6

(NTU)

DO
7

(mg/L)

ORP
8

(mV)

9:13 0.40 21.4 8.18 0.581 3 7.55 75.0

9:16 0.79 21.1 8.08 0.580 2 7.54 76.6

9:18 1.19 21.1 7.96 0.551 2 7.32 78.9

9:21 1.59 21.1 7.89 0.554 2 7.30 80.1

9:24 1.98 21.1 7.86 0.553 2 7.27 80.9

9:27 2.38 21.1 7.84 0.552 1 7.25 81.7

9:30 2.77 21.1 7.82 0.553 1 7.26 82.1

9:33 3.17 21.1 7.81 0.554 1 7.27 83.8

11:33 0.40 20.3 7.39 0.760 3 7.40 89.1

11:36 0.79 20.7 7.38 0.758 3 7.38 89.5

11:39 1.19 21.0 7.35 0.755 2 7.35 89.9

11:42 1.59 21.0 7.33 0.751 2 7.34 90.8

11:45 1.98 21.0 7.32 0.750 2 7.33 91.3

11:48 2.38 21.0 7.31 0.749 2 7.32 91.7

11:51 2.77 21.0 7.30 0.748 2 7.31 92.3

1.  OW = observation well.

2.  Cumulative volume of water purged prior to sampling.

3.  Field Temperature (Temp) reported in degrees Celsius (°C).

4.  Field pH reported in standard units (s.u.).

5.  Field specific conductivity (EC)  reported in milliSiemens per centimeter (mS/cm).

6.  Field turbidity reported in nephelometric turbidity units (NTU).

7.  Field dissolved oxygen reported in milligrams per liter (mg/L).

8.  Field oxidation- reduction potential (ORP) reported in millivolts (mV).

Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility

Ontario, California

OW-6

OW-10

01/20/22

01/20/22

2264 East Avion Place

Page 1 of 1
I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-048

Item E - 1709 of 2173



Table 3

Groundwater Measurements

DTW GWE DTW GWE DTW GWE DTW GWE DTW GWE

OW-1 893.13 268.53 624.60 267.96 625.17 269.15 623.98 271.69 621.44 270.00 623.13

OW-2 891.18 266.71 624.47 265.97 625.21 267.07 624.11 269.74 621.44 268.18 623.00

OW-4 879.37 256.80 622.57 256.75 622.62 259.03 620.34 260.64 618.73 258.83 620.54

OW-4p
4 879.16 NM -- NM -- 250.20 628.96 250.60 628.56 237.70

7 641.46

OW-5 868.01 244.32 623.69 244.01 624.00 246.00 622.01 247.74 620.27 245.93 622.08

OW-6 889.75 264.73 625.02 264.56 625.19 266.53 623.22 268.12 621.63 266.82 622.93

OW-7 877.73 253.62 624.11 252.94 624.79 254.84 622.89 256.74 620.99 255.23 622.50

OW-8 873.78 250.83 622.95 250.97 622.81 252.74 621.04 254.24 619.54 253.80 619.98

OW-8p
4 873.58 NM -- NM -- 247.74 625.84 247.76 625.82 247.73 625.85

OW-9p 864.40 241.52 622.88 241.46 622.94 243.07 621.33 244.95 619.45 244.12 620.28

OW-10 855.80 232.33 623.47 232.16 623.64 233.83 621.97 236.12 619.68 235.10 620.70

OW-11 850.06 235.40 614.66 236.12 613.94 236.13 613.93 237.50 612.56 238.70
8 611.36

OW-11p 850.04 235.52 614.52 236.02 614.02 236.23 613.81 237.43 612.61 238.76
8 611.28

OW-12 844.84 228.71 616.13 229.24 615.60 230.40 614.44 231.85 612.99 230.42 614.42

OW-12p 844.83 226.70 618.13 228.78 616.05 229.77 615.06 231.32 613.51 230.13 614.70

OW-13 865.05 248.30 616.75 248.93 616.12 249.31 615.74 250.70 614.35 251.60
8 613.45

OW-13p 864.87 248.14 616.73 248.77 616.10 248.98 615.89 250.25 614.62 251.50
8 613.37

OW-14 872.31 250.73 621.58 251.97 620.34 252.50 619.81 254.12
6 618.19 252.84 619.47

OW-14p 872.20 250.49 621.71 250.65 621.55 251.57 620.63 253.03
6 619.17 251.72 620.48

OW-15p-s 872.54 249.69 622.85 248.97 623.57 250.83 621.71 252.51 620.03 252.42 620.12

OW-15p-i 872.59 249.07 623.52 249.76 622.83 251.68 620.91 253.32 619.27 252.33 620.26

OW-15p-d 872.54 249.93 622.61 250.07 622.47 252.08 620.46 253.66 618.88 252.80 619.74

OW-16-s 879.58 255.84 623.74 255.52 624.06 257.52 622.06 259.25 620.33 258.42 621.16

OW-16-i 879.61 255.88 623.73 255.58 624.03 257.60 622.01 259.30 620.31 258.42 621.19

OW-16-d 878.94 255.47 623.47 255.17 623.77 257.30 621.64 259.03 619.91 257.87 621.07

OW-17-s 882.38 257.98 624.40 257.72 624.66 259.79 622.59 261.45 620.93 260.60 621.78

OW-17-i 882.05 257.88 624.17 257.64 624.41 259.74 622.31 261.34 620.71 259.94 622.11

OW-17-d 882.31 258.27 624.04 257.91 624.40 260.17 622.14 261.76 620.55 260.18 622.13

OW-18-s 874.29 250.57 623.72 250.21
5 624.08 252.35 621.94 253.92 620.37 252.18 622.11

OW-18-i 872.88 249.34 623.54 249.04
5 623.84 251.26 621.62 252.76 620.12 251.36 621.52

OW-18-d 873.90 250.42 623.48 250.06
5 623.84 252.43 621.47 253.83 620.07 252.15 621.75

MW-5 889.64 264.79 624.85 263.85 625.79 265.91 623.73 267.99 621.65 265.94 623.70

MW-8-s 889.04 264.65 624.39 263.82 625.22 266.19 622.85 268.03 621.01 266.00 623.04

MW-8-i 889.32 264.97 624.35 264.26 625.06 266.61 622.71 268.30 621.02 266.67 622.65

MW-8-d 889.14 264.77 624.37 264.28 624.86 266.63 622.51 268.20 620.94 260.56 628.58

MW-9-s 890.42 265.89 624.53 264.96 625.46 267.14 623.28 268.98 621.44 267.18 623.24

MW-9-i 890.76 266.08 624.68 265.33 625.43 267.66 623.10 269.38 621.38 268.12 622.64

PZ-01 852.17 78.23 773.94 91.63 760.54 79.06 773.11 DRY -- 75.54 776.63

PZ-02 850.12 69.03 781.09 73.22 776.90 70.15 779.97 DRY -- 60.78
8

789.34

PZ-03 852.13 DRY -- 84.06 768.07 84.05 768.08 DRY -- 82.72
8

769.41

PZ-04 848.00 DRY -- 62.93 785.07 62.94 785.06 DRY -- 55.88
8

792.12

1.  OW = observation well, MW = monitoring well, PZ = piezometer, p = piezometer, s = shallow, i = intermediate, and d = deep.

2.  OW and MW elevations surveyed by Calvada Land Surveying on April 30, May 1, and October 9, 2009, May 16, 2012, and

     February 11, 2014; elevations are referenced to North American Vertical Datum of 1988. PZ elevations are referenced to

     mean sea level and were obtained from a database received from Geosyntec Consultants in 2019; it is unknown what

     datum was used.

3.  btoc = below top of casing and DRY = well was dry at time of measurement.

4.  Prior to July 2021, piezometers OW-4p and OW-8p were not monitored.  NM = not measured and "--" = not applicable.

5.  During second quarter 2021, well cluster OW-18 was measured on April 20 due to well access.

6.  During fourth quarter 2021, wells OW-14 and OW-14p were measured on October 20 due to well access.

7.  The first quarter 2022 depth-to-water measurement at well OW-4p was recorded on January 18 and confirmed on January 20.  

     The reading is inconsistent with previous readings and is considered anomalous. 

8.  During first quarter 2022, wells OW-11, OW-11p, OW-13, and OW-13p and piezometer PZ-2 were measured on January 19

     and piezometers PZ-3 and PZ-4 were measured on January 21 due to well access.

Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility

Ontario, California

Groundwater Measurements
3

2264 East Avion Place

Well Name
1

Top of Casing

Elevation
2

(feet)

01/19/21 01/18/2204/19/21 07/20/21 10/18/21

Page 1 of 1
I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-048

Item E - 1710 of 2173



Table 4

Volatile Organic Compound Detections in Groundwater - First Quarter 2022

1
,1

-D
ic

h
lo

ro
e
th

a
n

e

1
,1

-D
ic

h
lo

ro
e
th

e
n

e

1
,2

-D
ic

h
lo

ro
e
th

a
n

e

1
,2

-D
ic

h
lo

ro
p

ro
p

a
n

e

c
is

-1
,2

-D
ic

h
lo

ro
e
th

e
n

e

C
h

lo
ro

fo
rm

tr
a
n

s-
1

,2
-D

ic
h

lo
ro

e
th

e
n

e

T
e
tr

a
c
h

lo
ro

e
th

y
le

n
e

T
ri

c
h

lo
ro

e
th

y
le

n
e

A
c
e
to

n
e

B
ro

m
o

d
ic

h
lo

ro
m

e
th

a
n

e

C
a
rb

o
n

 T
e
tr

a
c
h

lo
ri

d
e

T
ri

c
h

lo
ro

fl
u

o
ro

m
e
th

a
n

e

D
ic

h
lo

ro
d

if
lu

o
ro

m
e
th

a
n

e

OW-1 01/21/22 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R

OW-2 01/21/22 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R

OW-4 01/19/22 <0.37 1.1 <0.22 <0.39 0.85 J 4.9 <0.31 10 78 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-4p 01/19/22 NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS

OW-5 01/20/22 <0.37 1.8 <0.22 <0.39 4.6 0.65 J <0.31 2.7 13 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-6 01/20/22 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R

OW-7 01/21/22 <0.37 0.98 J <0.22 <0.39 0.78 J 0.76 J <0.31 7.5 2.1 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-8 01/20/22 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R

OW-8p 01/18/22 NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS NS

OW-9p 01/20/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 <0.51 <0.50 <0.31 <0.35 <0.35 13 J <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-10 01/20/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 <0.51 1.2 <0.31 <0.35 <0.35 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-11 01/19/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 <0.51 <0.50 <0.31 1.2 2.1 <10 <0.28 <0.34 8.2 J 2.7 J

OW-11p 01/19/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 <0.51 <0.50 <0.31 <0.35 <0.35 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-12 01/19/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 <0.51 0.55 J <0.31 <0.35 0.97 J <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-12p 01/19/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 <0.51 2.2 <0.31 <0.35 1.8 <10 0.47 J <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-13 01/19/22 R R R R R R R R R R R R R R

OW-13p 01/19/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 <0.51 <0.50 <0.31 <0.35 <0.35 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-14 01/19/22 <0.37 0.46 J <0.22 2.3 <0.51 4.6 <0.31 7.7 97 <10 <0.28 <0.34 0.70 J <0.56

OW-14p 01/19/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 <0.51 <0.50 <0.31 <0.35 0.59 J <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-15p-s 01/20/22 <3.7 4.7 J <2.2 <3.9 <5.1 <5.0 <3.1 <3.5 960 <100 <2.8 <3.4 <3.6 <5.6

Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility

2264 East Avion Place

Ontario, California

Well ID
1

Sample

Date

Constituent and Result (µg/L)
2

Page 1 of 2
I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-048

Item E - 1711 of 2173



Table 4

Volatile Organic Compound Detections in Groundwater - First Quarter 2022

1
,1

-D
ic

h
lo

ro
e
th

a
n

e

1
,1

-D
ic

h
lo

ro
e
th

e
n

e

1
,2

-D
ic

h
lo

ro
e
th

a
n

e

1
,2

-D
ic

h
lo

ro
p

ro
p

a
n

e

c
is

-1
,2

-D
ic

h
lo

ro
e
th

e
n

e

C
h

lo
ro

fo
rm

tr
a
n

s-
1

,2
-D

ic
h

lo
ro

e
th

e
n

e

T
e
tr

a
c
h

lo
ro

e
th

y
le

n
e

T
ri

c
h

lo
ro

e
th

y
le

n
e

A
c
e
to

n
e

B
ro

m
o

d
ic

h
lo

ro
m

e
th

a
n

e

C
a
rb

o
n

 T
e
tr

a
c
h

lo
ri

d
e

T
ri

c
h

lo
ro

fl
u

o
ro

m
e
th

a
n

e

D
ic

h
lo

ro
d

if
lu

o
ro

m
e
th

a
n

e

Well ID
1

Sample

Date

Constituent and Result (µg/L)
2

OW-15p-i 01/20/22 <3.7 8.0 J <2.2 <3.9 <5.1 <5.0 <3.1 <3.5 1,000 <100 <2.8 <3.4 <3.6 <5.6

OW-15p-d 01/20/22 <0.74 5.3 <0.43 <0.78 2.9 1.8 J <0.63 3.9 170 <20 <0.57 <0.69 <0.72 <1.1

OW-16-s 01/19/22 <1.8 8.3 <1.1 <1.9 <2.5 <2.5 <1.6 <1.7 1,100 <50 <1.4 <1.7 <1.8 <2.8

OW-16-s-D 01/19/22 <1.8 9.2 <1.1 <1.9 <2.5 <2.5 <1.6 <1.7 1,100 <50 <1.4 <1.7 <1.8 <2.8

OW-16-i 01/19/22 <7.4 14 J <4.3 <7.8 <10 <10 <6.3 <7.0 1,600 <200 <5.7 <6.9 <7.2 <11

OW-16-d 01/19/22 <0.37 1.2 <0.22 <0.39 0.64 J 5.9 <0.31 7.1 72 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-17-s 01/19/22 <1.8 12 <1.1 <1.9 <2.5 3.4 J <1.6 <1.7 490 <50 <1.4 1.8 J <1.8 <2.8

OW-17-i 01/19/22 <0.37 0.67 J 0.47 J 1.6 0.77 J 11 <0.31 6.7 34 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-17-d 01/19/22 <0.37 <0.33 0.28 J <0.39 0.84 J 7.1 <0.31 15 3.5 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-18-s 01/19/22 <0.37 0.83 J 0.27 J <0.39 0.51 J 2.9 <0.31 1.6 5.7 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-18-i 01/19/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 <0.51 <0.50 <0.31 <0.35 2.6 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

OW-18-d 01/19/22 2.1 25 <0.22 <0.39 23 1.7 0.60 J 5.5 120 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

MW-5 01/21/22 <0.37 0.93 J <0.22 <0.39 0.65 J <0.50 <0.31 1.9 1.2 36 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

MW-8-s 01/21/22 <0.37 2.0 <0.22 <0.39 1.9 0.69 J <0.31 28 11 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

MW-8-s D 01/21/22 <0.37 2.2 <0.22 <0.39 2.2 0.71 J <0.31 32 11 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

MW-8-i 01/21/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 3.3 0.85 J <0.31 52 8.7 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 0.94 J

MW-8-d 01/21/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 5.3 0.96 J <0.31 50 10 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 0.66 J

MW-9-s 01/21/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 <0.51 <0.50 <0.31 <0.35 <0.35 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

MW-9-i 01/21/22 <0.37 <0.33 <0.22 <0.39 <0.51 <0.50 <0.31 0.38 J <0.35 <10 <0.28 <0.34 <0.36 <0.56

1.  OW = observation well, MW = monitoring well, PZ = piezometer, p = piezometer, s = shallow, i = intermediate, d = deep, and D = indicates duplicate sample.

2.  µg/L = micrograms per liter, < = less than the method detection limit, J = trace or estimated concentration, R = result rejected due to insufficient submergence or

     inconsistent value, and NS = not sampled.

Page 2 of 2
I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-048

Item E - 1712 of 2173



Table 5

Trichloroethylene Concentrations in Groundwater

1st Quarter 2021 2nd Quarter 2021 3rd Quarter 2021 4th Quarter 2021 1st Quarter 2022

OW-1 10 9.1 R R R

OW-2 9.2 8.8 R R R

OW-4 85 100 110 100 78

OW-4p
3 NS NS --

4
--

4
NS

OW-5 7.8 8.8 7.0 8.3 13

OW-6 27 22 13 20 R

OW-7 1.9 3.7 2.4 1.8 2.1

OW-8 420 480 440 380 R

OW-8p
3 NS NS <1.0 --

4
NS

OW-9p 34 42 24 1.3 <1.0

OW-10 0.64 J <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0

OW-11 2.8 2.5 2.6 2.2 2.1

OW-11p
3 NS NS <1.0 <1.0 <1.0

OW-12 1.1 1.3 1.5 1.3 0.97 J

OW-12p
3 NS NS 1.3 1.5 1.8

OW-13 120 150 170 150 R

OW-13p
3 NS NS <1.0 <1.0 <1.0

OW-14 88 100 100 100 97

OW-14p
3 NS NS 1.0 0.94 J 0.59 J

OW-15p-s 870 750 480 780 960

OW-15p-i 1,000 970 850 930 1,000

OW-15p-d 590 290 <1.0 670 170

OW-16-s 140 680 250 360 1,100

OW-16-s-D 140 680 280 400 1,100

OW-16-i 1,400 1,300 2,200 1,900 1,600

OW-16-d 11 14 28 49 72

OW-17-s 330 330 430 510 490

OW-17-i 38 35 130 36 34

OW-17-d 4.0 3.7 5.1 4.4 3.5

OW-18-s 13 9.0 9.6 6.3 5.7

OW-18-i 6.4 1.5 2.0 2.3 2.6

OW-18-d 150 140 180 150 120

MW-5 3.0 4.7 R R 1.2

MW-8-s 23 20 25 27 11

MW-8-s-D 23 23 25 27 11

MW-8-i 8.2 8.0 8.5 9.4 8.7

MW-8-d 8.4 9.4 10 11 10

MW-9-s 1.6 <1.0 0.62 J <1.0 <1.0

MW-9-i 0.38 J <1.0 0.39 J <1.0 <1.0

1.  OW = observation well, MW = monitoring well, PZ = piezometer, p = piezometer, s = shallow, i = intermediate, d = deep, and

     D = indicates duplicate sample.

2.  µg/L = micrograms per liter, < = less than the laboratory reporting limit, J = trace or estimated concentration, R = result rejected

     due to insufficient submergence or inconsistent value, and NS = not sampled.

3.  Monitoring was added during third quarter 2021 at the following piezometers:  OW-4p, OW-8p, OW-11p, OW-12p, OW-13p, and OW-14p.

     Prior to July 2021, these piezometer locations were not sampled.   

4.  The passive diffusive bags installed during third quarter 2021 were found sliced upon retrieving at piezometer OW-4p, and during fourth

     quarter 2021 at piezometers OW-4p and OW-8p.  "--" = samples were unable to be collected.  Starting first quarter 2022, OW-4p and

     OW-8p are no longer sampled (NS).

Well Name
1

Trichloroethylene Concentration
2
 (μg/L)

Former General Electric Engine Services Test Cell Facility

Ontario, California

2264 East Avion Place

Page 1 of 1
I:\GE\WDC13028 Test Cell\Archive\WDC13028-048

Item E - 1713 of 2173



 
 

 

Figures 

 

Item E - 1714 of 2173



Basemap modified from ESRI World Topographic Map dataset.

N
:\G

E
\W

D
C

13
02

8 
Te

st
 C

el
l\g

is
\m

ap
s\

20
22

\G
W

M
_R

ep
or

ts
\_

fig
01

_S
LM

.m
xd

Ely Basins
W

est Cucamonga Channel
¸ ¹ º

G
R

O
V

E
 A

V
E

V
IN

E
YA

R
D

 A
V

E

Cucamonga Creek

Ontario International Airport

UV60UV60

§̈¦10

Former 
GE Engine Services

Test Cell Facility

SITE

)

0 1,000 2,000500
Approximate Scale in Feet

0 300 600150
Approximate Scale in Meters

Site Location Map
Former GE Engine Services Test Cell Facility

2264 East Avion Place
Ontario, California

1
Project No.: WDC13028

Figure

Date: 3/31/2022By: DB

Item E - 1715 of 2173



Facility Layout Map
Former GE Engine Services Test Cell Facility

2264 East Avion Place
Ontario, California

2
Project No.: WDC13028

Figure

Date: 3/31/2022By: DB

N:\
GE

\W
DC

13
02

8 T
est

 Ce
ll\g

is\
ma

ps
\_f

ig0
2_F

aci
lity

Lay
ou

t.m
xd

&

&

&

&

&

&

&

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

&

&
&

&
&

&

&

&

<

<
<

<
<

<

<

<

E Avion Pl

E Mission Blvd

E Jurupa St

Equipment
Storage Canopy

Office

A.C Pavement
Parking

A.C.
Pavement

Former
Drywell A
(Area A)

Former
Area J
VETS

Former 
Area C VETS

Control
Room

Cu
ca

mo
ng

a C
ree

k

MW-8-i

MW-8-s
MW-8-d

MW-9-i
MW-9-s

MW-1

MW-2

MW-3

MW-4

MW-5
MW-6

MW-7

OW-1

OW-2

OW-3

OfficeFormer Prep to Test Building

Former Test Cell Building

Former Test Cell Building

Former
Drywell B
(Area B)

Former
Area B VETS

Storage
Area

Former Above Ground
JFST Area

Basemap modified from ESRI online shared content; 
DigitalGlobe imagery dated Oct 2017.

MW-5

MW-1

Explanation
Groundwater monitorning well
Destroyed groundwater monitoring well&<

&<

Facility boundary

Facility buildings

Fence line

0 10 205
APPROXIMATE SCALE IN METERS

0 35 7017.5
APPROXIMATE SCALE IN FEET

Notes:
VETS = vapor extraction treatment system.
JFST = Jet Fuel Storage Tank area

Item E - 1716 of 2173



Monitoring Well and Piezometer Locations
Former GE Engine Services Test Cell Facility

2264 East Avion Place
Ontario, California

3
Project No.: WDC13028

Figure

Date: 3/31/2022By: DB

N:\
GE

\W
DC

13
02

8 T
est

 Ce
ll\g

is\
ma

ps
\20

22
\G

WM
_Re

po
rts

\_f
ig0

3_M
WL

oc
ati

on
s.m

xd

&

&
&

&

&

&

&

!H

!H !H!H

<

<
<

<

<

<

<

&

&&

&
&

&

&&&

&&
&

&

&

&

&

&

& &&&

&&&

&

&

&

&

&

&

&

<

<<

<
<

<

<<<

<<
<

<

<

<

<

<

<
<<<

<<<

<

<

<

<

<

<

<

Gr
ov

e A
ve

Pa
rco

 Av
e

Philadelphia St

Francis St

Ba
ke

r A
ve

Vin
ey

ard
 Av

e

Ca
rlo

s A
ve

Acacia St

Locust St

He
llm

an
 Av

e

Francis St

Philadelphia St

Mission Blvd

Ely Basins

West Cucamonga Channel Cucamonga Creek

Ontario International Airport

PZ-01
PZ-02

PZ-04PZ-03
A

A'

MW-8-s/i/d

OW-18-s/i/d

OW-17-s/i/d
MW-9-s/i

MW-1

MW-2

MW-3

MW-4

MW-5MW-6

MW-7

OW-1

OW-10

OW-11p
OW-11

OW-12p
OW-12

OW-13
OW-13p

OW-14p
OW-14 OW-15p-s/i/d

OW-16-s/i/d

OW-2

OW-3

OW-4p
OW-4

OW-5

OW-6

OW-7
OW-8p
OW-8

OW-9p

Explanation
Groundwater Monitoring Well
Destroyed Groundwater Monitoring Well
Ely Basin Piezometer
A-A' Cross-Section Trace 
(see Figure 4 for cross-section)
Facility boundary
Nested or clustered monitoring well
s = shallow
i = intermediate
d = deep

Basemap modified from ESRI online shared
content; DigitalGlobe imagery dated Oct 2017.

&<

&<

OW-16s/i/d

0 1,000 2,000500
APPROXIMATE SCALE IN FEET

0 300 600150
APPROXIMATE SCALE IN METERS

UV60

&H

¸

¹

º

Item E - 1717 of 2173



4
Project No.:  WDC13028

Figure

Date: 3/8/2022By: DB

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!H

!H !H!H

(
(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

(
(

(

(
(

&
&

&

<
<

<

E l y  B a s i n s
1 2 3

OW-8p: (625.85)
OW-8: 619.98

Francis

Baker

Grove

Locust

Acacia

 
Carlos

Hellman

Vineyard

Elm

Lynx

Airport

Sacramento

Augusta

Fremont

Grevillea

Elm

 

Acacia

Locust

Locust

Parco

Cedar

OW-7: 622.50

OW-4p: (641.46)
OW-4: 620.54

OW-9p: 620.28

OW-14p:  620.48
OW-14:  619.47

OW-10: 620.70

OW-13p: 613.37
OW-13: 613.45

OW-12p: 614.70
OW-12: 614.42

OW-11p: 611.28
OW-11: 611.36

OW-16-s: 621.16
OW-16-i: 621.19
OW-16-d: 621.07

OW-17-s: 621.78
OW-17-i: 622.11
OW-17-d: 622.13

OW-15p-s: 620.12
OW-15p-i: 620.26
OW-15p-d: 619.74

OW-6: 622.93 OW-1: 623.13

OW-2: 623.00

MW-5: 623.70

OW-5: 622.08

OW-18-s: 622.11
OW-18-i: 621.52
OW-18-d: 621.75

MW-9-s: 623.24
MW-9-i: 622.64

MW-8-s: 623.04
MW-8-i: 622.65
MW-8-d: 628.58

PZ-01: 776.63

PZ-02: 789.34
PZ-03: 769.41 PZ-04: 792.12

621

62
0

619

623

618
617

616

615

622

614

613

612

621

Explanation
Groundwater monitoring well 
Ely Basin piezometer

!U

_General groundwater flow direction based 
on groundwater elevation measurements 
collected January 18-20, 2022

 611.28
0 700 1,400350

Approximate Scale in Feet

0 200 400100
Approximate Scale in Meters

N:\
GE

\W
DC

13
02

8 T
est

 Ce
ll\g

is\
ma

ps
\20

22
\G

WM
_R

ep
or

ts\
_fig

04
_W

LEc
on

tou
rs_

22
Q1

.m
xd

Grad
ien

t = 0.0
013

 SSW

Groundwater elevation in feet referenced
to North American Datum of 1988 (NAVD88)

Water Table Map
First Quarter 2022

Former GE Engine Services Test Cell Facility
2264 East Avion Place

Ontario, California!H

620 Groundwater elevation equipotential line 
in feet (NAVD88)

 776.63
Facility boundary

_

Groundwater elevation in feet referenced
to mean sea level; not used in contouring
Water levels appear anomalous; not used 
in contouring

 (625.85)

Item E - 1718 of 2173



5
Project No.:  WDC13028

Figure

Notes:
1.  TCE = Trichloroethylene.
2.  µg/L = micrograms per liter.
3.  < = less than reporting limit.
4.  J = result is less than the reporting limit but greater than
     or equal to the method detection limit.
5.  NS = not sampled. 
6.  R = reported TCE detections were rejected; not used in contouring.  

Date: 4/11/2022By: DB

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>
>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

&
&

&

<
<

<

Francis

Baker

Grove

Locust

Acacia

 
Carlos

Hellman

Vineyard

Mission

Elm

Lynx

Airport

Balboa

Sacramento

Augusta

Fremont

Grevillea

Quaker Ridge

Elm

 

Acacia

Locust

Locust

Locust

Parco

Cedar

OW-5: 13

OW-4p: NS
OW-4: 78

OW-8p NS
OW-8: R

OW-7: 2.1

OW-6: R

OW-2: R

OW-14p 0.59 J
OW-14: 97

OW-13p:
OW-13: R

OW-1: R MW-5: 1.2

OW-9p: 

OW-11p:  
OW-11:  2.1

OW-16-s: 1,100
OW-16-i:  1,600
OW-16-d: 72

MW-8-s: 11
MW-8-i: 8.7
MW-8-d: 10

OW-18-s: 5.7
OW-18-i: 2.6
OW-18-d: 120

OW-17-s: 490
OW-17-i: 34
OW-17-d: 3.5

OW-15p-s: 960
OW-15p-i: 1,000
OW-15p-d 170

OW-12p: 1.8
OW-12: 0.97 J

MW-9-s: 
MW-9-i: 

<1.0

OW-10: 

<1.0

<1.0

<1.0

<1.0

<1.0

Explanation
Onsite Groundwater Monitoring Well
Offsite Groundwater Monitoring Well
TCE concentration (µg/L) in Shallow Zone
TCE concentration (µg/L) in Intermediate Zone
TCE concentration (µg/L) in Deep Zone

!U

E l y  B a s i n s
1 2 3

1.8

Trichloroethylene in Groundwater
First Quarter 2022

Former GE Engine Services Test Cell Facility
2264 East Avion Place

Ontario, California
0 700 1,400350

Approximate Scale in Feet

0 200 400100
Approximate Scale in Meters

N:\
GE

\W
DC

13
02

8 T
est

 Ce
ll\g

is\
ma

ps
\20

22
\G

WM
_Re

po
rts

\_f
ig0

5_T
CE

co
nto

urs
_22

Q1
.m

xd

2.1
2.1

5.0 100
500

100

5.0

Water Conveyance

Facility boundary

100
!>

1000

Inferred Composite TCE Isoconcentration 
in all depth intervals (µg/L)

500

50

50

?
? ?

? ?
?

Item E - 1719 of 2173



Generalized Lithologic Cross Section A-A’  
First Quarter 2022 

Former GE Engine Services Test Cell Facility
2264 East Avion Place

Ontario, California

6
Project No.: WDC13028

Figure

Date: 02/07/2022By: TAGt

OW-11p
OW-11

OW-13p
OW-13

OW-12p
OW-12

OW-14p
OW-14

OW-10
OW-9p

OW-8
OW-15p-s
OW-15p-i
OW-15p-d

OW-16-s
OW-16-i
OW-16-d

OW-17-s
OW-17-i
OW-17-dOW-18-s

OW-18-i
OW-18-d

MW-8-s
MW-8-i
MW-8-d

OW-4 OW-6
OW-5

OW-7

OW-2

OW-1

MW-9-s
MW-9-i

MW-5

Regional Aquitard

Below 5 μg/L
5 to 10 μg/L
10 to 50 μg/L
50 to 100 μg/L
> 100 μg/L

N
:\G

E\
W

DC
13

02
8 

Te
st

 C
el

l\a
i\2

02
2\

1Q
20

22

SCALE
400 ft

80 ft

0 ft
0 ft

A
SOUTHWEST

Clay with Sand/Silt, Sandy/Silty Clay, or Sand/Silt with Cl
ay

Sandy Silt/Silty Sand with Lenses of Sand

Sandy/Silty Gravel or Gravelly Sand/Silt

Regional Aquitard

Well Riser

Well Screen TCE Concentration (μg/L) = Primary Sample / Duplicate Sample

TCE Concentration

Approximate Water Table (January 18-20, 2022)

3. Monitoring wells projected onto plane of cross-section
4. Correlation of litholgy between borings is inferred and uncertain

600

800

900

400

700

500

A'
NORTHEAST

600

800

900

400

700

500

1,100/1,100

1. J = estimated value between the method detection limit and the
        reporting limit
2. μg/L = micrograms per liter

Explanation
Notes:

5. TCE = trichloroethylene

El
ev

at
io

n 
(F

ee
t r

ef
er

en
ce

d 
to

 N
AV

D8
8)

Elevation (Feet referenced to N
AVD88)

6. See Figure 3 for cross section trace
7. NAVD88 = North American Vertical Datum of 1988
8. TCE data collected January 2022
9. NS = not sampled

OW-16-s = shallow groundwater zone
OW-16-I = intermediate groundwater zone
OW-16-d = deep groundwater zone

Site

OW-8p
OW-4p

 1,100/1,100
11/11

2.1

18
1.8

29

78

97

10

8.7

<1.0

<1.0

1.2

72

1,000

960
<1.0

2.1
<1.0

1,600
2.6

<1.0
<1.0

120

5.7

34

3.5

13 480
490NS<1.0

0.97J
<1.0 0.59J

170

NS

Item E - 1720 of 2173



 
 

 

Appendix A 

Laboratory Analytical Reports 
 

Item E - 1721 of 2173



ANALYTICAL REPORT
Eurofins Calscience
2841 Dow Avenue, Suite 100
Tustin, CA 92780
Tel: (714)895-5494

Laboratory Job ID: 570-82341-1
Client Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

WDC13028.400.402
Revision: 1

For:
Wood E&I Solutions Inc
1281 E Alluvial Ave, Ste 101
Fresno, California 93720

Attn: Mr. Dave Bean

Authorized for release by:
4/14/2022 4:15:18 PM

Tina Nguyen, Project Manager
(657)210-6301
Tina.Nguyen@et.eurofinsus.com

The test results in this report meet all 2003 NELAC, 2009 TNI, and 2016 TNI requirements for
accredited parameters, exceptions are noted in this report. This report may not be reproduced
except in full, and with written approval from the laboratory. For questions please contact the
Project Manager at the e-mail address or telephone number listed on this page.

This report has been electronically signed and authorized by the signatory. Electronic signature is
intended to be the legally binding equivalent of a traditionally handwritten signature.

Results relate only to the items tested and the sample(s) as received by the laboratory.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1722 of 2173

https://secure.testamericainc.com/TotalAccess/login.aspx
http://www.testamericainc.com/services-we-offer/ask-the-expert
http://www.eurofinsus.com/Env
mailto:Tina.Nguyen@et.eurofinsus.com


Table of Contents

Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Laboratory Job ID: 570-82341-1

Page 2 of 36
Eurofins Calscience

4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

Cover Page . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

Table of Contents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

Definitions/Glossary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Case Narrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4

Detection Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Client Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

Surrogate Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18

QC Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19

QC Association Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

Lab Chronicle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29

Certification Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31

Method Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32

Sample Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33

Chain of Custody . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34

Receipt Checklists . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1723 of 2173



Definitions/Glossary
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Qualifiers

GC/MS VOA
Qualifier Description

*+ LCS and/or LCSD is outside acceptance limits, high biased.

Qualifier

J Result is less than the RL but greater than or equal to the MDL and the concentration is an approximate value.

me LCS Recovery is within Marginal Exdeedance (ME) control limit range (± 4 SD from the mean).

Glossary
These commonly used abbreviations may or may not be present in this report.

¤ Listed under the "D" column to designate that the result is reported on a dry weight basis

Abbreviation

%R Percent Recovery

CFL Contains Free Liquid

CFU Colony Forming Unit

CNF Contains No Free Liquid

DER Duplicate Error Ratio (normalized absolute difference)

Dil Fac Dilution Factor

DL Detection Limit (DoD/DOE)

DL, RA, RE, IN Indicates a Dilution, Re-analysis, Re-extraction, or additional Initial metals/anion analysis of the sample

DLC Decision Level Concentration (Radiochemistry)

EDL Estimated Detection Limit (Dioxin)

LOD Limit of Detection (DoD/DOE)

LOQ Limit of Quantitation (DoD/DOE)

MCL EPA recommended "Maximum Contaminant Level"

MDA Minimum Detectable Activity (Radiochemistry)

MDC Minimum Detectable Concentration (Radiochemistry)

MDL Method Detection Limit

ML Minimum Level (Dioxin)

MPN Most Probable Number

MQL Method Quantitation Limit

NC Not Calculated

ND Not Detected at the reporting limit (or MDL or EDL if shown)

NEG Negative / Absent

POS Positive / Present

PQL Practical Quantitation Limit

PRES Presumptive

QC Quality Control

RER Relative Error Ratio (Radiochemistry)

RL Reporting Limit or Requested Limit (Radiochemistry)

RPD Relative Percent Difference, a measure of the relative difference between two points

TEF Toxicity Equivalent Factor (Dioxin)

TEQ Toxicity Equivalent Quotient (Dioxin)

TNTC Too Numerous To Count

Eurofins Calscience

Page 3 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1724 of 2173



Case Narrative
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82341-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Job ID: 570-82341-1

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience

Narrative

Job Narrative

570-82341-1

Comments

No additional comments. 

Revision

The report being provided is a revision of the original report sent on 1/27/2022.  The report (revision 1) is being revised due to: Revisd to 
remove samples OW-6 and OW-8 from report/EDD (refer to email).

Receipt 

The samples were received on 1/20/2022 6:45 PM.  Unless otherwise noted below, the samples arrived in good condition, and where 

required, properly preserved and on ice.  The temperature of the cooler at receipt was 3.0º C.

GC/MS VOA 

Method 8260B: The following analyte(s)  recovered outside control limits for the LCS associated with analytical batch 570-209288: Vinyl 
chloride.  This is not indicative of a systematic control problem because these were random marginal exceedances.  Qualified results 
have been reported.

Method 8260B: The following analyte(s)  recovered outside control limits for the LCSD associated with analytical batch 570-209288: 
Chloroethane.  This is not indicative of a systematic control problem because these were random marginal exceedances.  Qualified 
results have been reported.

Method 8260B: The laboratory control sample (LCS) for analytical batch 570-209288 recovered outside control limits for the following 

analyte: Chloroethane.  This analyte was biased high in the LCS and was not detected in the associated samples; therefore, the data have 
been reported.

Method 8260B: The matrix spike / matrix spike duplicate (MS/MSD) associated with analytical batch 570-209288 were analyzed outside of 
the 12-hour tune window. The associated laboratory control sample and duplicate (LCS/LCSD) were analyzed within the 12-hour tune 

window and recovery and precision met acceptance criteria. (570-82194-A-2 MS) and (570-82194-A-2 MSD)

Method 8260B: The matrix spike / matrix spike duplicate (MS/MSD) recoveries and precision for analytical batch 570-209288 were outside 
control limits.  Sample matrix interference and/or non-homogeneity are suspected because the associated laboratory control sample / 
laboratory sample control duplicate (LCS/LCSD) precision was within acceptance limits.

Method 8260B: Insufficient sample volume was available to perform a matrix spike/matrix spike duplicate (MS/MSD) associated with 
analytical batch 570-209509. The laboratory control sample (LCS) was performed in duplicate (LCSD) to provide precision data for this 

batch.

No additional analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described above or in the Definitions/Glossary page.

VOA Prep 

No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 4 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1725 of 2173



Detection Summary
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Client Sample ID: TB-02 Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-1

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: OW-5 Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-2

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.33

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA11.8 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.51 Total/NA14.6 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA10.65 J 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA12.7 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA113 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-10 Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-5

Chloroform

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.50

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA11.2 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-9p Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-6

Acetone

RL

20 ug/L

MDL

10

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J13 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-15p-d Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-7

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

2.0 ug/L

MDL

0.66

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA25.3 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 2.0 ug/L1.0 Total/NA22.9 8260B

Chloroform 2.0 ug/L1.0 Total/NA21.8 J 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 2.0 ug/L0.70 Total/NA23.9 8260B

Trichloroethene 2.0 ug/L0.70 Total/NA2170 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-15p-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-8

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

10 ug/L

MDL

3.3

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA10J8.0 8260B

Trichloroethene 10 ug/L3.5 Total/NA101000 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-15p-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-9

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

10 ug/L

MDL

3.3

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA10J4.7 8260B

Trichloroethene 10 ug/L3.5 Total/NA10960 8260B

Client Sample ID: FB-02 Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-10

 No Detections.

Eurofins Calscience

This Detection Summary does not include radiochemical test results.

Page 5 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1726 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-1Client Sample ID: TB-02
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 07:30

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 6 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1727 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-1Client Sample ID: TB-02
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 07:30

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 02:35 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 108 70 - 123 01/25/22 02:35 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 98 01/25/22 02:35 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 01/25/22 02:35 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/25/22 02:35 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-2Client Sample ID: OW-5
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 07:55

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,1-Dichloroethene 1.8

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 7 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1728 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-2Client Sample ID: OW-5
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 07:55

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 4.6

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Chloroform 0.65 J

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Tetrachloroethene 2.7

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Trichloroethene 13

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 04:07 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 108 70 - 123 01/25/22 04:07 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 100 01/25/22 04:07 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/25/22 04:07 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 01/25/22 04:07 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 8 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1729 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-5Client Sample ID: OW-10
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 11:52

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Chloroform 1.2

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 9 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1730 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-5Client Sample ID: OW-10
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 11:52

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 04:30 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 105 70 - 123 01/25/22 04:30 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 98 01/25/22 04:30 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 01/25/22 04:30 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 01/25/22 04:30 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-6Client Sample ID: OW-9p
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 12:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 10 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1731 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-6Client Sample ID: OW-9p
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 12:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Acetone 13 J

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 04:52 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 106 70 - 123 01/25/22 04:52 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 99 01/25/22 04:52 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 100 01/25/22 04:52 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 01/25/22 04:52 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 11 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1732 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-7Client Sample ID: OW-15p-d
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 13:05

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 4.0 0.66 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

2.0 0.64 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

2.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

20 1.2 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

2.0 0.59 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

2.0 0.74 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,1-Dichloroethane ND

2.0 0.66 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,1-Dichloroethene 5.3

2.0 0.91 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,1-Dichloropropene ND

2.0 1.1 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

10 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

2.0 1.1 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.0 0.69 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

20 3.0 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

2.0 0.76 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,2-Dibromoethane ND

2.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.43 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,2-Dichloroethane ND

2.0 0.78 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,2-Dichloropropane ND

2.0 0.68 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

2.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

2.0 0.59 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,3-Dichloropropane ND

2.0 0.49 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 21,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

2.0 1.1 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 22,2-Dichloropropane ND

40 7.1 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 22-Butanone ND

2.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 22-Chlorotoluene ND

20 6.3 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 22-Hexanone ND

2.0 0.64 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 24-Chlorotoluene ND

20 5.9 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 24-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

40 20 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Acetone ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Benzene ND

2.0 0.60 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Bromobenzene ND

4.0 0.60 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Bromochloromethane ND

2.0 0.57 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Bromodichloromethane ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Bromoform ND

50 30 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Bromomethane ND

2.0 1.0 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 2.9

1.0 0.46 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

20 0.79 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Carbon disulfide ND

1.0 0.69 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Carbon tetrachloride ND

2.0 0.42 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Chlorobenzene ND

10 4.8 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Chloroethane ND *+

2.0 1.0 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Chloroform 1.8 J

20 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Chloromethane ND

4.0 0.68 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Dibromochloromethane ND

2.0 0.75 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Dibromomethane ND

10 1.1 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

2.0 0.66 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Ethylbenzene ND

2.0 0.74 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Isopropylbenzene ND

20 8.0 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Methylene Chloride ND

2.0 0.68 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 12 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1733 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-7Client Sample ID: OW-15p-d
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 13:05

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

2.0 1.0 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2n-Butylbenzene ND

2.0 0.83 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2N-Propylbenzene ND

2.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2o-Xylene ND

4.0 0.97 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2m,p-Xylene ND

2.0 0.76 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2p-Isopropyltoluene ND

2.0 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2sec-Butylbenzene ND

2.0 0.75 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Styrene ND

2.0 0.63 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.60 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

2.0 0.71 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2tert-Butylbenzene ND

2.0 0.70 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Tetrachloroethene 3.9

2.0 0.68 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Toluene ND

2.0 0.70 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Trichloroethene 170

20 0.72 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Trichlorofluoromethane ND

20 9.2 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Vinyl acetate ND

1.0 0.53 ug/L 01/25/22 16:59 2Vinyl chloride ND *+

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 101 70 - 123 01/25/22 16:59 2

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 98 01/25/22 16:59 280 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/25/22 16:59 278 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 98 01/25/22 16:59 280 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-8Client Sample ID: OW-15p-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 13:45

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 20 3.3 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 3.2 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

10 2.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

100 5.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

10 3.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

10 3.7 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,1-Dichloroethane ND

10 3.3 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,1-Dichloroethene 8.0 J

10 4.5 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,1-Dichloropropene ND

10 5.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

50 2.7 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

10 5.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

10 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

100 15 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

10 3.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,2-Dibromoethane ND

10 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.2 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,2-Dichloroethane ND

10 3.9 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,2-Dichloropropane ND

10 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 2.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

10 3.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,3-Dichloropropane ND

10 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 101,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

10 5.5 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 102,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 13 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1734 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-8Client Sample ID: OW-15p-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 13:45

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 200 36 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 2.7 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 102-Chlorotoluene ND

100 31 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 102-Hexanone ND

10 3.2 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 104-Chlorotoluene ND

100 29 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 104-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

200 100 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Acetone ND

5.0 2.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Benzene ND

10 3.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Bromobenzene ND

20 3.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Bromochloromethane ND

10 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Bromodichloromethane ND

50 15 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Bromoform ND

250 150 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Bromomethane ND

10 5.1 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

5.0 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

100 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Carbon disulfide ND

5.0 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Carbon tetrachloride ND

10 2.1 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Chlorobenzene ND

50 24 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Chloroethane ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Chloroform ND

100 23 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Chloromethane ND

20 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Dibromochloromethane ND

10 3.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Dibromomethane ND

50 5.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

10 3.3 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Ethylbenzene ND

10 3.7 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Isopropylbenzene ND

100 40 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Methylene Chloride ND

10 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

100 50 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Naphthalene ND

10 5.2 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10n-Butylbenzene ND

10 4.1 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10N-Propylbenzene ND

10 2.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10o-Xylene ND

20 4.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10m,p-Xylene ND

10 3.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10p-Isopropyltoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10sec-Butylbenzene ND

10 3.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Styrene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

5.0 3.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10tert-Butylbenzene ND

10 3.5 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Tetrachloroethene ND

10 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Toluene ND

10 3.5 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Trichloroethene 1000

100 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Trichlorofluoromethane ND

100 46 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Vinyl acetate ND

5.0 2.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:32 10Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 109 70 - 123 01/25/22 07:32 10

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 98 01/25/22 07:32 1080 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 100 01/25/22 07:32 1078 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/25/22 07:32 1080 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 14 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1735 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-9Client Sample ID: OW-15p-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 14:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 20 3.3 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 3.2 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

10 2.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

100 5.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

10 3.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

10 3.7 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,1-Dichloroethane ND

10 3.3 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,1-Dichloroethene 4.7 J

10 4.5 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,1-Dichloropropene ND

10 5.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

50 2.7 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

10 5.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

10 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

100 15 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

10 3.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,2-Dibromoethane ND

10 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.2 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,2-Dichloroethane ND

10 3.9 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,2-Dichloropropane ND

10 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 2.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

10 3.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,3-Dichloropropane ND

10 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 101,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

10 5.5 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 102,2-Dichloropropane ND

200 36 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 102-Butanone ND

10 2.7 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 102-Chlorotoluene ND

100 31 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 102-Hexanone ND

10 3.2 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 104-Chlorotoluene ND

100 29 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 104-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

200 100 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Acetone ND

5.0 2.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Benzene ND

10 3.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Bromobenzene ND

20 3.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Bromochloromethane ND

10 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Bromodichloromethane ND

50 15 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Bromoform ND

250 150 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Bromomethane ND

10 5.1 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

5.0 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

100 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Carbon disulfide ND

5.0 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Carbon tetrachloride ND

10 2.1 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Chlorobenzene ND

50 24 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Chloroethane ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Chloroform ND

100 23 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Chloromethane ND

20 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Dibromochloromethane ND

10 3.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Dibromomethane ND

50 5.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

10 3.3 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Ethylbenzene ND

10 3.7 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Isopropylbenzene ND

100 40 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Methylene Chloride ND

10 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 15 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1736 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-9Client Sample ID: OW-15p-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 14:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 100 50 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 5.2 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10n-Butylbenzene ND

10 4.1 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10N-Propylbenzene ND

10 2.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10o-Xylene ND

20 4.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10m,p-Xylene ND

10 3.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10p-Isopropyltoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10sec-Butylbenzene ND

10 3.8 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Styrene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

5.0 3.0 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10tert-Butylbenzene ND

10 3.5 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Tetrachloroethene ND

10 3.4 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Toluene ND

10 3.5 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Trichloroethene 960

100 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Trichlorofluoromethane ND

100 46 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Vinyl acetate ND

5.0 2.6 ug/L 01/25/22 07:55 10Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 107 70 - 123 01/25/22 07:55 10

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 99 01/25/22 07:55 1080 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 01/25/22 07:55 1078 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/25/22 07:55 1080 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-10Client Sample ID: FB-02
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 14:40

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 16 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1737 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-10Client Sample ID: FB-02
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 14:40

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 03:44 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 109 70 - 123 01/25/22 03:44 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 100 01/25/22 03:44 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/25/22 03:44 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 100 01/25/22 03:44 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 17 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1738 of 2173



Surrogate Summary
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Water

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (70-123) (80-120) (78-120) (80-120)

DCA BFB DBFM TOL

99 100 101 101570-82194-A-2 MS

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

Matrix Spike

101 100 103 100570-82194-A-2 MSD Matrix Spike Duplicate

108 98 101 101570-82341-1 TB-02

108 100 102 102570-82341-2 OW-5

105 101 103 101570-82341-2 MS OW-5

107 101 103 101570-82341-2 MSD OW-5

105 98 101 102570-82341-5 OW-10

106 99 100 102570-82341-6 OW-9p

101 98 102 98570-82341-7 OW-15p-d

109 98 100 101570-82341-8 OW-15p-i

107 99 101 101570-82341-9 OW-15p-s

109 100 102 100570-82341-10 FB-02

105 102 104 100LCS 570-209230/4 Lab Control Sample

105 99 107 100LCS 570-209288/4 Lab Control Sample

106 103 103 100LCSD 570-209230/5 Lab Control Sample Dup

100 99 100 101LCSD 570-209288/5 Lab Control Sample Dup

108 100 100 102MB 570-209230/8 Method Blank

101 99 104 99MB 570-209288/8 Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

DCA = 1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr)

BFB = 4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr)

DBFM = Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr)

TOL = Toluene-d8 (Surr)

Eurofins Calscience

Page 18 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1739 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209230/8
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1,1-Trichloroethane

ND 0.201.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane

ND 0.5810 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1,2-Trichloroethane

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1-Dichloroethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1-Dichloroethene

ND 0.451.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1-Dichloropropene

ND 0.541.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.275.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2,3-Trichloropropane

ND 0.561.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene

ND 1.510 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2-Dibromoethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.220.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2-Dichloroethane

ND 0.391.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2-Dichloropropane

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,3-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,3-Dichloropropane

ND 0.241.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,4-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.551.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 12,2-Dichloropropane

ND 3.620 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 12-Butanone

ND 0.271.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 12-Chlorotoluene

ND 3.110 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 12-Hexanone

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 14-Chlorotoluene

ND 2.910 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 14-Methyl-2-pentanone

ND 1020 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Acetone

ND 0.200.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Benzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Bromobenzene

ND 0.302.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Bromochloromethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Bromodichloromethane

ND 1.55.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Bromoform

ND 1525 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Bromomethane

ND 0.511.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.230.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.4010 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Carbon disulfide

ND 0.340.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Carbon tetrachloride

ND 0.211.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Chlorobenzene

ND 2.45.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Chloroethane

ND 0.501.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Chloroform

ND 2.310 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Chloromethane

ND 0.342.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Dibromochloromethane

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Dibromomethane

ND 0.565.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Dichlorodifluoromethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Ethylbenzene

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Isopropylbenzene

ND 4.010 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Methylene Chloride

Eurofins Calscience

Page 19 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1740 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209230/8
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

RL MDL

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND 1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 5.010 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Naphthalene

ND 0.521.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1n-Butylbenzene

ND 0.411.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1N-Propylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1o-Xylene

ND 0.482.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1m,p-Xylene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1p-Isopropyltoluene

ND 0.291.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1sec-Butylbenzene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Styrene

ND 0.311.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.300.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.361.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1tert-Butylbenzene

ND 0.351.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Tetrachloroethene

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Toluene

ND 0.351.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Trichloroethene

ND 0.3610 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Trichlorofluoromethane

ND 4.610 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Vinyl acetate

ND 0.260.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Vinyl chloride

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 108 70 - 123 01/25/22 02:12 1

MB MB

Surrogate Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

100 01/25/22 02:12 14-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

100 01/25/22 02:12 1Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

102 01/25/22 02:12 1Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-209230/4
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 52.97 ug/L 106 64 - 121

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 53.31 ug/L 107 80 - 120

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 51.75 ug/L 104 80 - 120

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 52.04 ug/L 104 76 - 120

Benzene 50.0 50.20 ug/L 100 76 - 120

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 51.94 ug/L 104 80 - 127

Chlorobenzene 50.0 50.43 ug/L 101 80 - 120

Ethylbenzene 50.0 50.95 ug/L 102 80 - 120

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 52.56 ug/L 105 64 - 120

o-Xylene 50.0 51.69 ug/L 103 80 - 121

m,p-Xylene 100 102.5 ug/L 102 74 - 122

Toluene 50.0 49.39 ug/L 99 76 - 120

Trichloroethene 50.0 52.20 ug/L 104 80 - 122

Vinyl chloride 50.0 57.03 ug/L 114 70 - 124

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

105

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1024-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 20 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1741 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-209230/4
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

Surrogate

104

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

100Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-209230/5
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 52.23 ug/L 104 64 - 121 1 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 52.65 ug/L 105 80 - 120 1 20

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 50.98 ug/L 102 80 - 120 2 20

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 51.79 ug/L 104 76 - 120 0 20

Benzene 50.0 49.60 ug/L 99 76 - 120 1 20

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 52.00 ug/L 104 80 - 127 0 20

Chlorobenzene 50.0 49.90 ug/L 100 80 - 120 1 20

Ethylbenzene 50.0 50.44 ug/L 101 80 - 120 1 20

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 51.08 ug/L 102 64 - 120 3 20

o-Xylene 50.0 50.62 ug/L 101 80 - 121 2 20

m,p-Xylene 100 101.0 ug/L 101 74 - 122 1 20

Toluene 50.0 49.05 ug/L 98 76 - 120 1 20

Trichloroethene 50.0 51.05 ug/L 102 80 - 122 2 20

Vinyl chloride 50.0 56.32 ug/L 113 70 - 124 1 20

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

106

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1034-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

103Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

100Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: OW-5Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-2 MS
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

1,1-Dichloroethene 1.8 50.0 51.80 ug/L 100 57 - 135

Analyte

MS MS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits

1,2-Dibromoethane ND 50.0 51.28 ug/L 103 75 - 125

1,2-Dichlorobenzene ND 50.0 47.55 ug/L 95 75 - 125

1,2-Dichloroethane ND 50.0 51.41 ug/L 103 75 - 127

Benzene ND 50.0 48.55 ug/L 97 75 - 125

Carbon tetrachloride ND 50.0 47.61 ug/L 95 68 - 137

Chlorobenzene ND 50.0 47.84 ug/L 96 75 - 125

Ethylbenzene ND 50.0 47.58 ug/L 95 75 - 127

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND 50.0 50.85 ug/L 102 65 - 125

o-Xylene ND 50.0 48.71 ug/L 97 75 - 128

m,p-Xylene ND 100 95.81 ug/L 96 75 - 128

Toluene ND 50.0 47.92 ug/L 96 75 - 125

Trichloroethene 13 50.0 58.89 ug/L 93 68 - 128

Vinyl chloride ND 50.0 55.25 ug/L 111 58 - 140

Eurofins Calscience

Page 21 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1742 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: OW-5Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-2 MS
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

105

MS MS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1014-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

103Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

101Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: OW-5Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-2 MSD
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

1,1-Dichloroethene 1.8 50.0 52.01 ug/L 100 57 - 135 0 20

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,2-Dibromoethane ND 50.0 53.09 ug/L 106 75 - 125 3 20

1,2-Dichlorobenzene ND 50.0 49.38 ug/L 99 75 - 125 4 20

1,2-Dichloroethane ND 50.0 53.40 ug/L 107 75 - 127 4 20

Benzene ND 50.0 49.44 ug/L 99 75 - 125 2 20

Carbon tetrachloride ND 50.0 49.93 ug/L 100 68 - 137 5 20

Chlorobenzene ND 50.0 48.16 ug/L 96 75 - 125 1 20

Ethylbenzene ND 50.0 48.95 ug/L 98 75 - 127 3 20

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND 50.0 52.34 ug/L 105 65 - 125 3 20

o-Xylene ND 50.0 49.04 ug/L 98 75 - 128 1 20

m,p-Xylene ND 100 96.53 ug/L 97 75 - 128 1 20

Toluene ND 50.0 48.45 ug/L 97 75 - 125 1 20

Trichloroethene 13 50.0 59.16 ug/L 93 68 - 128 0 20

Vinyl chloride ND 50.0 55.17 ug/L 110 58 - 140 0 20

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

107

MSD MSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1014-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

103Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

101Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209288/8
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209288

RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,1,1-Trichloroethane

ND 0.201.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane

ND 0.5810 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,1,2-Trichloroethane

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,1-Dichloroethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,1-Dichloroethene

ND 0.451.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,1-Dichloropropene

ND 0.541.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.275.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,2,3-Trichloropropane

ND 0.561.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene

Eurofins Calscience

Page 22 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1743 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209288/8
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209288

RL MDL

1,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND 10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,2-Dibromoethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,2-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.220.50 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,2-Dichloroethane

ND 0.391.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,2-Dichloropropane

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,3-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,3-Dichloropropane

ND 0.241.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 11,4-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.551.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 12,2-Dichloropropane

ND 3.620 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 12-Butanone

ND 0.271.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 12-Chlorotoluene

ND 3.110 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 12-Hexanone

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 14-Chlorotoluene

ND 2.910 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 14-Methyl-2-pentanone

ND 1020 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Acetone

ND 0.200.50 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Benzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Bromobenzene

ND 0.302.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Bromochloromethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Bromodichloromethane

ND 1.55.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Bromoform

ND 1525 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Bromomethane

ND 0.511.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.230.50 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.4010 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Carbon disulfide

ND 0.340.50 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Carbon tetrachloride

ND 0.211.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Chlorobenzene

ND 2.45.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Chloroethane

ND 0.501.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Chloroform

ND 2.310 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Chloromethane

ND 0.342.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Dibromochloromethane

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Dibromomethane

ND 0.565.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Dichlorodifluoromethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Ethylbenzene

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Isopropylbenzene

ND 4.010 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Methylene Chloride

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE)

ND 5.010 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Naphthalene

ND 0.521.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1n-Butylbenzene

ND 0.411.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1N-Propylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1o-Xylene

ND 0.482.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1m,p-Xylene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1p-Isopropyltoluene

ND 0.291.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1sec-Butylbenzene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Styrene

ND 0.311.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.300.50 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.361.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1tert-Butylbenzene

ND 0.351.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Tetrachloroethene

Eurofins Calscience

Page 23 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1744 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209288/8
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209288

RL MDL

Toluene ND 1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.351.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Trichloroethene

ND 0.3610 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Trichlorofluoromethane

ND 4.610 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Vinyl acetate

ND 0.260.50 ug/L 01/25/22 13:37 1Vinyl chloride

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 101 70 - 123 01/25/22 13:37 1

MB MB

Surrogate Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

99 01/25/22 13:37 14-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

104 01/25/22 13:37 1Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

99 01/25/22 13:37 1Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-209288/4
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209288

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 56.17 ug/L 112 64 - 121

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 52.32 ug/L 105 80 - 120

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 52.62 ug/L 105 80 - 120

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 51.11 ug/L 102 76 - 120

Benzene 50.0 50.13 ug/L 100 76 - 120

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 51.74 ug/L 103 80 - 127

Chlorobenzene 50.0 52.78 ug/L 106 80 - 120

Ethylbenzene 50.0 52.00 ug/L 104 80 - 120

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 52.46 ug/L 105 64 - 120

o-Xylene 50.0 51.57 ug/L 103 80 - 121

m,p-Xylene 100 105.6 ug/L 106 74 - 122

Toluene 50.0 52.19 ug/L 104 76 - 120

Trichloroethene 50.0 50.47 ug/L 101 80 - 122

Vinyl chloride 50.0 63.36 *+ me ug/L 127 70 - 124

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

105

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

994-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

107Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

100Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-209288/5
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209288

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 54.82 ug/L 110 64 - 121 2 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 53.23 ug/L 106 80 - 120 2 20

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 53.46 ug/L 107 80 - 120 2 20

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 51.82 ug/L 104 76 - 120 1 20

Benzene 50.0 50.45 ug/L 101 76 - 120 1 20

Eurofins Calscience

Page 24 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1745 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-209288/5
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209288

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 49.38 ug/L 99 80 - 127 5 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

Chlorobenzene 50.0 52.79 ug/L 106 80 - 120 0 20

Ethylbenzene 50.0 52.33 ug/L 105 80 - 120 1 20

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 51.39 ug/L 103 64 - 120 2 20

o-Xylene 50.0 51.91 ug/L 104 80 - 121 1 20

m,p-Xylene 100 108.1 ug/L 108 74 - 122 2 20

Toluene 50.0 52.58 ug/L 105 76 - 120 1 20

Trichloroethene 50.0 51.10 ug/L 102 80 - 122 1 20

Vinyl chloride 50.0 59.90 ug/L 120 70 - 124 6 20

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

100

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

994-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

100Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

101Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Matrix SpikeLab Sample ID: 570-82194-A-2 MS
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209288

1,1-Dichloroethene ND 2000 2011 ug/L 101 57 - 135

Analyte

MS MS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits

1,2-Dibromoethane ND 2000 2055 ug/L 103 75 - 125

1,2-Dichlorobenzene ND 2000 2027 ug/L 101 75 - 125

1,2-Dichloroethane ND 2000 2019 ug/L 101 75 - 127

Benzene ND 2000 1926 ug/L 96 75 - 125

Carbon tetrachloride ND 2000 1807 ug/L 90 68 - 137

Chlorobenzene ND 2000 1984 ug/L 99 75 - 125

Ethylbenzene ND 2000 1959 ug/L 98 75 - 127

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND 2000 1981 ug/L 99 65 - 125

o-Xylene ND 2000 1936 ug/L 97 75 - 128

m,p-Xylene ND 4000 4019 ug/L 100 75 - 128

Toluene ND 2000 2006 ug/L 100 75 - 125

Trichloroethene ND 2000 1982 ug/L 99 68 - 128

Vinyl chloride ND *+ 2000 2130 ug/L 107 58 - 140

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

99

MS MS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1004-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

101Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

101Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Matrix Spike DuplicateLab Sample ID: 570-82194-A-2 MSD
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209288

1,1-Dichloroethene ND 2000 2148 ug/L 107 57 - 135 7 20

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

Eurofins Calscience

Page 25 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1746 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Matrix Spike DuplicateLab Sample ID: 570-82194-A-2 MSD
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209288

1,2-Dibromoethane ND 2000 2065 ug/L 103 75 - 125 1 20

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,2-Dichlorobenzene ND 2000 2102 ug/L 105 75 - 125 4 20

1,2-Dichloroethane ND 2000 2061 ug/L 103 75 - 127 2 20

Benzene ND 2000 1985 ug/L 99 75 - 125 3 20

Carbon tetrachloride ND 2000 1944 ug/L 97 68 - 137 7 20

Chlorobenzene ND 2000 2078 ug/L 104 75 - 125 5 20

Ethylbenzene ND 2000 2061 ug/L 103 75 - 127 5 20

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND 2000 2002 ug/L 100 65 - 125 1 20

o-Xylene ND 2000 2022 ug/L 101 75 - 128 4 20

m,p-Xylene ND 4000 4202 ug/L 105 75 - 128 4 20

Toluene ND 2000 2056 ug/L 103 75 - 125 2 20

Trichloroethene ND 2000 2025 ug/L 101 68 - 128 2 20

Vinyl chloride ND *+ 2000 2570 ug/L 128 58 - 140 19 20

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

101

MSD MSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1004-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

103Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

100Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 26 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1747 of 2173



Marginal Exceedance (ME) Summary
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-209288/4
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 56.17 ug/L 112 64 - 121

Analyte

LCS LCS

UnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec.

Limits

ME %Rec.

Limits

55 - 131

Marginal Exceedance

Status

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 52.32 ug/L 105 80 - 120 73 127-

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 52.62 ug/L 105 80 - 120 73 127-

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 51.11 ug/L 102 76 - 120 69 127-

Benzene 50.0 50.13 ug/L 100 76 - 120 69 127-

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 51.74 ug/L 103 80 - 127 72 135-

Chlorobenzene 50.0 52.78 ug/L 106 80 - 120 73 127-

Ethylbenzene 50.0 52.00 ug/L 104 80 - 120 73 127-

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 52.46 ug/L 105 64 - 120 55 129-

o-Xylene 50.0 51.57 ug/L 103 80 - 121 73 128-

m,p-Xylene 100 105.6 ug/L 106 74 - 122 66 130-

Toluene 50.0 52.19 ug/L 104 76 - 120 69 127-

Trichloroethene 50.0 50.47 ug/L 101 80 - 122 73 129-

Vinyl chloride 50.0 63.36 *+ me ug/L 127 70 - 124 61 133- ME

Summary

Number of

Analytes Reported

14

Number of Marginal

Exceedances Allowed

1

Number of Marginal

Exceedances Found

1

ME = Marginal Exceedance

Eurofins Calscience

Page 27 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1748 of 2173



QC Association Summary
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

GC/MS VOA

Analysis Batch: 209230

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Water 8260B570-82341-1 TB-02 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82341-2 OW-5 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82341-5 OW-10 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82341-6 OW-9p Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82341-8 OW-15p-i Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82341-9 OW-15p-s Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82341-10 FB-02 Total/NA

Water 8260BMB 570-209230/8 Method Blank Total/NA

Water 8260BLCS 570-209230/4 Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Water 8260BLCSD 570-209230/5 Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82341-2 MS OW-5 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82341-2 MSD OW-5 Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 209288

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Water 8260B570-82341-7 OW-15p-d Total/NA

Water 8260BMB 570-209288/8 Method Blank Total/NA

Water 8260BLCS 570-209288/4 Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Water 8260BLCSD 570-209288/5 Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82194-A-2 MS Matrix Spike Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82194-A-2 MSD Matrix Spike Duplicate Total/NA

Eurofins Calscience

Page 28 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1749 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82341-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Client Sample ID: TB-02 Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-1
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 07:30

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 02:351 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Client Sample ID: OW-5 Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-2
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 07:55

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 04:071 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Client Sample ID: OW-10 Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-5
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 11:52

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 04:301 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Client Sample ID: OW-9p Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-6
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 12:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 04:521 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Client Sample ID: OW-15p-d Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-7
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 13:05

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B OH101/25/22 16:592 ECL 2209288

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSJJ

Client Sample ID: OW-15p-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-8
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 13:45

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 07:3210 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Eurofins Calscience

Page 29 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1750 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82341-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Client Sample ID: OW-15p-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-9
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 14:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 07:5510 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Client Sample ID: FB-02 Lab Sample ID: 570-82341-10
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/20/22 14:40

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 03:441 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Laboratory References:

 = , , ,  

ECL 2 = Eurofins Calscience  Lampson, 7445 Lampson Ave, Garden Grove, CA 92841, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 30 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1751 of 2173



Accreditation/Certification Summary
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82341-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience
The accreditations/certifications listed below are applicable to this report.

Authority Program Identification Number Expiration Date

California State 2944 09-30-22

Oregon NELAP CA300001 01-30-22

Eurofins Calscience

Page 31 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1752 of 2173



Method Summary
Job ID: 570-82341-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method Method Description LaboratoryProtocol

SW8468260B Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) ECL 2

SW8465030C Purge and Trap

Protocol References:

SW846 = "Test Methods For Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods", Third Edition, November 1986 And Its Updates.

Laboratory References:

 = , , ,  

ECL 2 = Eurofins Calscience  Lampson, 7445 Lampson Ave, Garden Grove, CA 92841, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 32 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1753 of 2173



Sample Summary
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82341-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Matrix Collected Received

570-82341-1 TB-02 Water 01/20/22 07:30 01/20/22 18:45

570-82341-2 OW-5 Water 01/20/22 07:55 01/20/22 18:45

570-82341-5 OW-10 Water 01/20/22 11:52 01/20/22 18:45

570-82341-6 OW-9p Water 01/20/22 12:20 01/20/22 18:45

570-82341-7 OW-15p-d Water 01/20/22 13:05 01/20/22 18:45

570-82341-8 OW-15p-i Water 01/20/22 13:45 01/20/22 18:45

570-82341-9 OW-15p-s Water 01/20/22 14:20 01/20/22 18:45

570-82341-10 FB-02 Water 01/20/22 14:40 01/20/22 18:45

Eurofins CalsciencePage 33 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1754 of 2173



Page 34 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1755 of 2173



1

Nguyen, Tina

From: Babshoff, Diana <diana.babshoff@woodplc.com>
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2022 8:57 AM
To: Nguyen, Tina
Subject: GE Jet Engine Project - Request for Revised Deliverables from 1Q22 (January)
Attachments: Eurofins Environment Testing Southwest, LLC report and EDD files from 570-82341-1 GE 

Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402; Eurofins Environment Testing Southwest, 
LLC report and EDD files from 570-82342-1 GE Ontario Engine Services 
WDC13028.400.402

EXTERNAL EMAIL* 

  

  

Hi Tina – can you please generate revised deliverable sets for job 570-82341-1 (without OW-6 and OW-8 data) and job 
570-82342-1 (OW-13 data)?  After a thorough review, Wood (and our client) have concluded that the reported data at 
these three wells are inconsistent with previous and outside historical concentrations for these wells, and therefore the 
data are considered suspect.  The client has asked us to reject the data in our quarterly report.       

Report #82341 – need OW-6 and OW-8 data removed.   
Report #82342 – need OW-13 data removed.   
 
Let me know if questions or concerns.  Thank you.   
 
Diana Babshoff 
Technical Professional - GIS Analyst 
Mobile: +1 (559) 779-9609 
www.woodplc.com 

 

 
 
 

 
 
This message is the property of John Wood Group PLC and/or its subsidiaries and/or affiliates and is intended only for the 
named recipient(s). Its contents (including any attachments) may be confidential, legally privileged or otherwise protected 
from disclosure by law. Unauthorized use, copying, distribution or disclosure of any of it may be unlawful and is strictly 
prohibited. We assume no responsibility to persons other than the intended named recipient(s) and do not accept liability 
for any errors or omissions which are a result of email transmission. If you have received this message in error, please 
notify us immediately by reply email to the sender and confirm that the original message and any attachments and copies 
have been destroyed and deleted from your system. 
 
 
 
If you do not wish to receive future unsolicited commercial electronic messages from us, please forward this email to: 

Page 35 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1756 of 2173



Login Sample Receipt Checklist

Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job Number: 570-82341-1

Login Number: 82341

Question Answer Comment

Creator: Ramos, Maribel

List Source: Eurofins Calscience

List Number: 1

N/ARadioactivity wasn't checked or is </= background as measured by a survey 
meter.

TrueThe cooler's custody seal, if present, is intact.

TrueSample custody seals, if present, are intact.

TrueThe cooler or samples do not appear to have been compromised or 
tampered with.

TrueSamples were received on ice.

TrueCooler Temperature is acceptable.

TrueCooler Temperature is recorded.

TrueCOC is present.

TrueCOC is filled out in ink and legible.

TrueCOC is filled out with all pertinent information.

TrueIs the Field Sampler's name present on COC?

TrueThere are no discrepancies between the containers received and the COC.

TrueSamples are received within Holding Time (excluding tests with immediate 
HTs)

TrueSample containers have legible labels.

TrueContainers are not broken or leaking.

TrueSample collection date/times are provided.

TrueAppropriate sample containers are used.

TrueSample bottles are completely filled.

TrueSample Preservation Verified.

TrueThere is sufficient vol. for all requested analyses, incl. any requested 
MS/MSDs

TrueContainers requiring zero headspace have no headspace or bubble is 
<6mm (1/4").

TrueMultiphasic samples are not present.

TrueSamples do not require splitting or compositing.

N/AResidual Chlorine Checked.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 36 of 36 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1757 of 2173



ANALYTICAL REPORT
Eurofins Calscience
2841 Dow Avenue, Suite 100
Tustin, CA 92780
Tel: (714)895-5494

Laboratory Job ID: 570-82342-1
Client Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

WDC13028.400.402
Revision: 1

For:
Wood E&I Solutions Inc
1281 E Alluvial Ave, Ste 101
Fresno, California 93720

Attn: Mr. Dave Bean

Authorized for release by:
4/14/2022 4:34:22 PM

Tina Nguyen, Project Manager
(657)210-6301
Tina.Nguyen@et.eurofinsus.com

The test results in this report meet all 2003 NELAC, 2009 TNI, and 2016 TNI requirements for
accredited parameters, exceptions are noted in this report. This report may not be reproduced
except in full, and with written approval from the laboratory. For questions please contact the
Project Manager at the e-mail address or telephone number listed on this page.

This report has been electronically signed and authorized by the signatory. Electronic signature is
intended to be the legally binding equivalent of a traditionally handwritten signature.

Results relate only to the items tested and the sample(s) as received by the laboratory.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1758 of 2173

https://secure.testamericainc.com/TotalAccess/login.aspx
http://www.testamericainc.com/services-we-offer/ask-the-expert
http://www.eurofinsus.com/Env
mailto:Tina.Nguyen@et.eurofinsus.com


Table of Contents

Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Laboratory Job ID: 570-82342-1

Page 2 of 65
Eurofins Calscience

4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

Cover Page . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

Table of Contents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

Definitions/Glossary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Case Narrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4

Detection Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Client Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8

Surrogate Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39

QC Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40

QC Association Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49

Lab Chronicle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50

Certification Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54

Method Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55

Sample Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56

Chain of Custody . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57

Receipt Checklists . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1759 of 2173



Definitions/Glossary
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Qualifiers

GC/MS VOA
Qualifier Description

*- LCS and/or LCSD is outside acceptance limits, low biased.

Qualifier

*+ LCS and/or LCSD is outside acceptance limits, high biased.

J Result is less than the RL but greater than or equal to the MDL and the concentration is an approximate value.

Glossary
These commonly used abbreviations may or may not be present in this report.

¤ Listed under the "D" column to designate that the result is reported on a dry weight basis

Abbreviation

%R Percent Recovery

CFL Contains Free Liquid

CFU Colony Forming Unit

CNF Contains No Free Liquid

DER Duplicate Error Ratio (normalized absolute difference)

Dil Fac Dilution Factor

DL Detection Limit (DoD/DOE)

DL, RA, RE, IN Indicates a Dilution, Re-analysis, Re-extraction, or additional Initial metals/anion analysis of the sample

DLC Decision Level Concentration (Radiochemistry)

EDL Estimated Detection Limit (Dioxin)

LOD Limit of Detection (DoD/DOE)

LOQ Limit of Quantitation (DoD/DOE)

MCL EPA recommended "Maximum Contaminant Level"

MDA Minimum Detectable Activity (Radiochemistry)

MDC Minimum Detectable Concentration (Radiochemistry)

MDL Method Detection Limit

ML Minimum Level (Dioxin)

MPN Most Probable Number

MQL Method Quantitation Limit

NC Not Calculated

ND Not Detected at the reporting limit (or MDL or EDL if shown)

NEG Negative / Absent

POS Positive / Present

PQL Practical Quantitation Limit

PRES Presumptive

QC Quality Control

RER Relative Error Ratio (Radiochemistry)

RL Reporting Limit or Requested Limit (Radiochemistry)

RPD Relative Percent Difference, a measure of the relative difference between two points

TEF Toxicity Equivalent Factor (Dioxin)

TEQ Toxicity Equivalent Quotient (Dioxin)

TNTC Too Numerous To Count

Eurofins Calscience

Page 3 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1760 of 2173



Case Narrative
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82342-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Job ID: 570-82342-1

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience

Narrative

Job Narrative

570-82342-1

Comments

No additional comments. 

Revision

The report being provided is a revision of the original report sent on 1/27/2022.  The report (revision 1) is being revised due to: Revisd to 
remove sample OW-13 from report/EDD (refer to email).

Receipt 

The samples were received on 1/20/2022 6:45 PM.  Unless otherwise noted below, the samples arrived in good condition, and where 

required, properly preserved and on ice.  The temperature of the cooler at receipt was 3.0º C.

GC/MS VOA 

Method 8260B: The laboratory control sample (LCS) for analytical batch 570-209311 recovered outside control limits for the following 
analytes: Bromomethane.  These analytes were biased high in the LCS and were not detected in the associated samples; therefore, the 
data have been reported.

Method 8260B: Insufficient sample volume was available to perform a matrix spike/matrix spike duplicate (MS/MSD) associated with 

analytical batch 570-209311. The laboratory control sample (LCS) was performed in duplicate to provide precision data for this batch.

Method 8260B: Insufficient sample volume was available to perform a matrix spike/matrix spike duplicate (MS/MSD) associated with 
analytical batch 570-209424.The laboratory control sample (LCS) was performed in duplicate (LCSD) to provide precision data for this 

batch.

Method 8260B: The laboratory control sample (LCS) and / or laboratory control sample duplicate (LCSD) for analytical batch 570-209424 
recovered outside control limits for the following analytes: Bromomethane.  These analytes were biased high in the LCS/LCSD and were 
not detected in the associated samples; therefore, the data have been reported.

No additional analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described above or in the Definitions/Glossary page.

VOA Prep 
No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 4 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1761 of 2173



Detection Summary
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Client Sample ID: OW-18-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-1

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.33

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J0.83 8260B

1,2-Dichloroethane 0.50 ug/L0.22 Total/NA10.27 J 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.51 Total/NA10.51 J 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA12.9 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA11.6 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA15.7 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-17-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-2

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.33

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J0.67 8260B

1,2-Dichloroethane 0.50 ug/L0.22 Total/NA10.47 J 8260B

1,2-Dichloropropane 1.0 ug/L0.39 Total/NA11.6 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.51 Total/NA10.77 J 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA111 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA16.7 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA134 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-17-d Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-3

1,2-Dichloroethane

RL

0.50 ug/L

MDL

0.22

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J0.28 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.51 Total/NA10.84 J 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA17.1 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA115 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA13.5 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-17-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-4

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

5.0 ug/L

MDL

1.7

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA512 8260B

Carbon tetrachloride 2.5 ug/L1.7 Total/NA51.8 J 8260B

Chloroform 5.0 ug/L2.5 Total/NA53.4 J 8260B

Trichloroethene 5.0 ug/L1.7 Total/NA5490 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-16-d Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-5

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.33

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA11.2 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.51 Total/NA10.64 J 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA15.9 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA17.1 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA172 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-16-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-6

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

20 ug/L

MDL

6.6

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA20J14 8260B

Trichloroethene 20 ug/L7.0 Total/NA201600 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-16-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-7

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

5.0 ug/L

MDL

1.7

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA58.3 8260B

Eurofins Calscience

This Detection Summary does not include radiochemical test results.

Page 5 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1762 of 2173



Detection Summary
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Client Sample ID: OW-16-s (Continued) Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-7

Trichloroethene - DL

RL

40 ug/L

MDL

14

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA401100 8260B

Client Sample ID: DUP-01 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-8

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

5.0 ug/L

MDL

1.7

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA59.2 8260B

Trichloroethene - DL 40 ug/L14 Total/NA401100 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-12 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-9

Chloroform

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.50

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J0.55 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA10.97 J 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-12p Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-10

Bromodichloromethane

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.28

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J0.47 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA12.2 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA11.8 8260B

Client Sample ID: TB-01 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-11

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: OW-14 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-12

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.33

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J0.46 8260B

1,2-Dichloropropane 1.0 ug/L0.39 Total/NA12.3 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA14.6 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA17.7 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA197 8260B

Trichlorofluoromethane 10 ug/L0.36 Total/NA10.70 J 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-14p Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-13

Trichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.35

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J0.59 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-11 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-14

Dichlorodifluoromethane

RL

5.0 ug/L

MDL

0.56

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J2.7 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA11.2 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA12.1 8260B

Trichlorofluoromethane 10 ug/L0.36 Total/NA18.2 J 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-11p Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-15

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: OW-13p Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-17

 No Detections.

Eurofins Calscience

This Detection Summary does not include radiochemical test results.

Page 6 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1763 of 2173



Detection Summary
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Client Sample ID: OW-4 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-18

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.33

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA11.1 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.51 Total/NA10.85 J 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA14.9 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA110 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA178 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-18-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-19

Trichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.35

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA12.6 8260B

Client Sample ID: OW-18-d Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-20

1,1-Dichloroethane

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.37

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA12.1 8260B

1,1-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.33 Total/NA125 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.51 Total/NA123 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA11.7 8260B

trans-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.31 Total/NA10.60 J 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA15.5 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA1120 8260B

Client Sample ID: FB-01 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-21

 No Detections.

Eurofins Calscience

This Detection Summary does not include radiochemical test results.

Page 7 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1764 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-1Client Sample ID: OW-18-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 12:15

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,1-Dichloroethene 0.83 J

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,2-Dichloroethane 0.27 J

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 0.51 J

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Chloroform 2.9

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 8 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1765 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-1Client Sample ID: OW-18-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 12:15

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Tetrachloroethene 1.6

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Trichloroethene 5.7

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 05:15 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 107 70 - 123 01/25/22 05:15 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 100 01/25/22 05:15 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 99 01/25/22 05:15 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/25/22 05:15 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-2Client Sample ID: OW-17-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 12:35

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,1-Dichloroethene 0.67 J

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,2-Dichloroethane 0.47 J

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,2-Dichloropropane 1.6

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 9 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1766 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-2Client Sample ID: OW-17-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 12:35

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 0.77 J

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Chloroform 11

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Tetrachloroethene 6.7

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Trichloroethene 34

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 09:04 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 109 70 - 123 01/25/22 09:04 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 100 01/25/22 09:04 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 01/25/22 09:04 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/25/22 09:04 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 10 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1767 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-3Client Sample ID: OW-17-d
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 12:50

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,2-Dichloroethane 0.28 J

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 0.84 J

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Chloroform 7.1

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 11 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1768 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-3Client Sample ID: OW-17-d
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 12:50

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Tetrachloroethene 15

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Trichloroethene 3.5

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 05:38 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 105 70 - 123 01/25/22 05:38 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 98 01/25/22 05:38 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 100 01/25/22 05:38 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 100 01/25/22 05:38 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-4Client Sample ID: OW-17-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 13:05

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 10 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

5.0 1.0 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

50 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

5.0 1.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,1-Dichloroethane ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,1-Dichloroethene 12

5.0 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,1-Dichloropropene ND

5.0 2.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

25 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

5.0 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

50 7.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,2-Dibromoethane ND

5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

2.5 1.1 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,2-Dichloroethane ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,2-Dichloropropane ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

5.0 1.3 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,3-Dichloropropane ND

5.0 1.2 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 51,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 52,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 12 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1769 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-4Client Sample ID: OW-17-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 13:05

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 100 18 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 52-Chlorotoluene ND

50 16 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 52-Hexanone ND

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 54-Chlorotoluene ND

50 15 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 54-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

100 50 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Acetone ND

2.5 0.99 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Benzene ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Bromobenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Bromochloromethane ND

5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Bromodichloromethane ND

25 7.3 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Bromoform ND

130 75 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Bromomethane ND

5.0 2.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.5 1.2 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

50 2.0 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Carbon disulfide ND

2.5 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Carbon tetrachloride 1.8 J

5.0 1.0 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Chlorobenzene ND

25 12 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Chloroethane ND

5.0 2.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Chloroform 3.4 J

50 12 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Chloromethane ND

10 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Dibromochloromethane ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Dibromomethane ND

25 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Ethylbenzene ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Isopropylbenzene ND

50 20 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Methylene Chloride ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

50 25 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Naphthalene ND

5.0 2.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5n-Butylbenzene ND

5.0 2.1 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5N-Propylbenzene ND

5.0 1.3 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5o-Xylene ND

10 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5m,p-Xylene ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5p-Isopropyltoluene ND

5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5sec-Butylbenzene ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Styrene ND

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.5 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

5.0 1.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5tert-Butylbenzene ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Tetrachloroethene ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Toluene ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Trichloroethene 490

50 1.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Trichlorofluoromethane ND

50 23 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Vinyl acetate ND

2.5 1.3 ug/L 01/25/22 06:24 5Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 108 70 - 123 01/25/22 06:24 5

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 100 01/25/22 06:24 580 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/25/22 06:24 578 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/25/22 06:24 580 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 13 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1770 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-5Client Sample ID: OW-16-d
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 13:46

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,1-Dichloroethene 1.2

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 0.64 J

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Chloroform 5.9

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 14 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1771 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-5Client Sample ID: OW-16-d
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 13:46

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Tetrachloroethene 7.1

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Trichloroethene 72

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 06:01 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 109 70 - 123 01/25/22 06:01 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 101 01/25/22 06:01 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 103 01/25/22 06:01 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 103 01/25/22 06:01 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-6Client Sample ID: OW-16-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 13:55

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 40 6.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

20 6.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

20 4.1 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

200 12 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

20 5.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

20 7.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,1-Dichloroethane ND

20 6.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,1-Dichloroethene 14 J

20 9.1 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,1-Dichloropropene ND

20 11 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

100 5.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

20 11 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

20 6.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

200 30 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

20 7.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,2-Dibromoethane ND

20 5.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

10 4.3 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,2-Dichloroethane ND

20 7.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 6.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

20 5.2 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

20 5.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,3-Dichloropropane ND

20 4.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 201,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

20 11 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 202,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 15 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1772 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-6Client Sample ID: OW-16-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 13:55

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 400 71 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

20 5.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 202-Chlorotoluene ND

200 63 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 202-Hexanone ND

20 6.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 204-Chlorotoluene ND

200 59 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 204-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

400 200 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Acetone ND

10 3.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Benzene ND

20 6.0 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Bromobenzene ND

40 6.0 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Bromochloromethane ND

20 5.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Bromodichloromethane ND

100 29 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Bromoform ND

500 300 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Bromomethane ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

200 7.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Carbon disulfide ND

10 6.9 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Carbon tetrachloride ND

20 4.2 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Chlorobenzene ND

100 48 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Chloroethane ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Chloroform ND

200 46 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Chloromethane ND

40 6.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Dibromochloromethane ND

20 7.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Dibromomethane ND

100 11 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

20 6.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Ethylbenzene ND

20 7.4 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Isopropylbenzene ND

200 80 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Methylene Chloride ND

20 6.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

200 100 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Naphthalene ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20n-Butylbenzene ND

20 8.3 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20N-Propylbenzene ND

20 5.1 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20o-Xylene ND

40 9.7 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20m,p-Xylene ND

20 7.6 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20p-Isopropyltoluene ND

20 5.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20sec-Butylbenzene ND

20 7.5 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Styrene ND

20 6.3 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

10 6.0 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

20 7.1 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20tert-Butylbenzene ND

20 7.0 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Tetrachloroethene ND

20 6.8 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Toluene ND

20 7.0 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Trichloroethene 1600

200 7.2 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Trichlorofluoromethane ND

200 92 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Vinyl acetate ND

10 5.3 ug/L 01/25/22 06:47 20Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 106 70 - 123 01/25/22 06:47 20

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 101 01/25/22 06:47 2080 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 99 01/25/22 06:47 2078 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 01/25/22 06:47 2080 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 16 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1773 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-7Client Sample ID: OW-16-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 14:15

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 10 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

5.0 1.0 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

50 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

5.0 1.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,1-Dichloroethane ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,1-Dichloroethene 8.3

5.0 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,1-Dichloropropene ND

5.0 2.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

25 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

5.0 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

50 7.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,2-Dibromoethane ND

5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

2.5 1.1 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,2-Dichloroethane ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,2-Dichloropropane ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

5.0 1.3 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,3-Dichloropropane ND

5.0 1.2 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 51,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 52,2-Dichloropropane ND

100 18 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 52-Butanone ND

5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 52-Chlorotoluene ND

50 16 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 52-Hexanone ND

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 54-Chlorotoluene ND

50 15 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 54-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

100 50 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Acetone ND

2.5 0.99 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Benzene ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Bromobenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Bromochloromethane ND

5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Bromodichloromethane ND

25 7.3 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Bromoform ND

130 75 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Bromomethane ND *+

5.0 2.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.5 1.2 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

50 2.0 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Carbon disulfide ND

2.5 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Carbon tetrachloride ND

5.0 1.0 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Chlorobenzene ND

25 12 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Chloroethane ND

5.0 2.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Chloroform ND

50 12 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Chloromethane ND

10 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Dibromochloromethane ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Dibromomethane ND

25 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Ethylbenzene ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Isopropylbenzene ND

50 20 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Methylene Chloride ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 17 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1774 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-7Client Sample ID: OW-16-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 14:15

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 50 25 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 2.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5n-Butylbenzene ND

5.0 2.1 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5N-Propylbenzene ND

5.0 1.3 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5o-Xylene ND

10 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5m,p-Xylene ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5p-Isopropyltoluene ND

5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5sec-Butylbenzene ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Styrene ND

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.5 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

5.0 1.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5tert-Butylbenzene ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Tetrachloroethene ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Toluene ND

50 1.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Trichlorofluoromethane ND

50 23 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Vinyl acetate ND

2.5 1.3 ug/L 01/25/22 14:57 5Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 93 70 - 123 01/25/22 14:57 5

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 93 01/25/22 14:57 580 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/25/22 14:57 578 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 01/25/22 14:57 580 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-8Client Sample ID: DUP-01
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 00:00

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 10 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

5.0 1.0 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

50 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

5.0 1.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,1-Dichloroethane ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,1-Dichloroethene 9.2

5.0 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,1-Dichloropropene ND

5.0 2.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

25 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

5.0 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

50 7.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,2-Dibromoethane ND

5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

2.5 1.1 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,2-Dichloroethane ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,2-Dichloropropane ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

5.0 1.3 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,3-Dichloropropane ND

5.0 1.2 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 51,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 52,2-Dichloropropane ND

100 18 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 52-Butanone ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 18 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1775 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-8Client Sample ID: DUP-01
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 00:00

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Chlorotoluene ND 5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

50 16 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 52-Hexanone ND

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 54-Chlorotoluene ND

50 15 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 54-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

100 50 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Acetone ND

2.5 0.99 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Benzene ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Bromobenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Bromochloromethane ND

5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Bromodichloromethane ND

25 7.3 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Bromoform ND

130 75 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Bromomethane ND *+

5.0 2.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.5 1.2 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

50 2.0 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Carbon disulfide ND

2.5 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Carbon tetrachloride ND

5.0 1.0 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Chlorobenzene ND

25 12 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Chloroethane ND

5.0 2.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Chloroform ND

50 12 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Chloromethane ND

10 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Dibromochloromethane ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Dibromomethane ND

25 2.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Ethylbenzene ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Isopropylbenzene ND

50 20 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Methylene Chloride ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

50 25 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Naphthalene ND

5.0 2.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5n-Butylbenzene ND

5.0 2.1 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5N-Propylbenzene ND

5.0 1.3 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5o-Xylene ND

10 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5m,p-Xylene ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5p-Isopropyltoluene ND

5.0 1.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5sec-Butylbenzene ND

5.0 1.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Styrene ND

5.0 1.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.5 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

5.0 1.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5tert-Butylbenzene ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Tetrachloroethene ND

5.0 1.7 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Toluene ND

50 1.8 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Trichlorofluoromethane ND

50 23 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Vinyl acetate ND

2.5 1.3 ug/L 01/25/22 14:30 5Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 93 70 - 123 01/25/22 14:30 5

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 95 01/25/22 14:30 580 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 01/25/22 14:30 578 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/25/22 14:30 580 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 19 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1776 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-9Client Sample ID: OW-12
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 14:50

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Bromomethane ND *+

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Chloroform 0.55 J

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 20 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1777 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-9Client Sample ID: OW-12
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 14:50

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Trichloroethene 0.97 J

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 11:19 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 97 70 - 123 01/25/22 11:19 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 96 01/25/22 11:19 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 106 01/25/22 11:19 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 103 01/25/22 11:19 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-10Client Sample ID: OW-12p
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 15:15

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 21 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1778 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-10Client Sample ID: OW-12p
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 15:15

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Bromodichloromethane 0.47 J

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Bromomethane ND *+

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Chloroform 2.2

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Trichloroethene 1.8

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 11:46 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 94 70 - 123 01/25/22 11:46 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 96 01/25/22 11:46 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/25/22 11:46 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/25/22 11:46 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 22 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1779 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-11Client Sample ID: TB-01
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 07:30

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Bromomethane ND *+

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 23 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1780 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-11Client Sample ID: TB-01
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 07:30

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Vinyl acetate ND *-

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 10:24 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 97 70 - 123 01/25/22 10:24 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 95 01/25/22 10:24 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 103 01/25/22 10:24 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/25/22 10:24 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-12Client Sample ID: OW-14
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 08:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,1-Dichloroethene 0.46 J

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,2-Dichloropropane 2.3

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 24 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1781 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-12Client Sample ID: OW-14
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 08:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Chloroform 4.6

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Tetrachloroethene 7.7

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Trichloroethene 97

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Trichlorofluoromethane 0.70 J

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 09:27 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 106 70 - 123 01/25/22 09:27 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 99 01/25/22 09:27 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 01/25/22 09:27 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 01/25/22 09:27 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 25 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1782 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-13Client Sample ID: OW-14p
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 08:10

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Bromomethane ND *+

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 26 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1783 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-13Client Sample ID: OW-14p
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 08:10

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Trichloroethene 0.59 J

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 12:13 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 97 70 - 123 01/25/22 12:13 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 95 01/25/22 12:13 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/25/22 12:13 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 01/25/22 12:13 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-14Client Sample ID: OW-11
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 09:35

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 27 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1784 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-14Client Sample ID: OW-11
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 09:35

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Bromomethane ND *+

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Dichlorodifluoromethane 2.7 J

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Tetrachloroethene 1.2

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Trichloroethene 2.1

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Trichlorofluoromethane 8.2 J

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 12:40 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 95 70 - 123 01/25/22 12:40 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 94 01/25/22 12:40 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/25/22 12:40 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/25/22 12:40 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 28 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1785 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-15Client Sample ID: OW-11p
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 09:45

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Bromomethane ND *+

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 29 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1786 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-15Client Sample ID: OW-11p
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 09:45

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 13:08 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 96 70 - 123 01/25/22 13:08 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 96 01/25/22 13:08 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 103 01/25/22 13:08 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 104 01/25/22 13:08 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-17Client Sample ID: OW-13p
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 10:40

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 30 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1787 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-17Client Sample ID: OW-13p
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 10:40

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Bromomethane ND *+

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 13:35 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 95 70 - 123 01/25/22 13:35 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 92 01/25/22 13:35 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 01/25/22 13:35 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/25/22 13:35 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 31 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1788 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-18Client Sample ID: OW-4
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 11:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,1-Dichloroethene 1.1

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 0.85 J

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Chloroform 4.9

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 32 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1789 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-18Client Sample ID: OW-4
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 11:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Tetrachloroethene 10

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Trichloroethene 78

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 09:50 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 108 70 - 123 01/25/22 09:50 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 98 01/25/22 09:50 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/25/22 09:50 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 01/25/22 09:50 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-19Client Sample ID: OW-18-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 11:45

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 33 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1790 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-19Client Sample ID: OW-18-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 11:45

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Bromomethane ND *+

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Trichloroethene 2.6

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 14:03 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 95 70 - 123 01/25/22 14:03 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 97 01/25/22 14:03 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 105 01/25/22 14:03 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 01/25/22 14:03 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 34 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1791 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-20Client Sample ID: OW-18-d
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 11:55

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,1-Dichloroethane 2.1

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,1-Dichloroethene 25

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Bromomethane ND *+

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 23

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Chloroform 1.7

10 2.3 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 35 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1792 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-20Client Sample ID: OW-18-d
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 11:55

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene 0.60 J

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Tetrachloroethene 5.5

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Trichloroethene 120

10 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 05:01 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 96 70 - 123 01/26/22 05:01 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 95 01/26/22 05:01 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 01/26/22 05:01 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 103 01/26/22 05:01 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-21Client Sample ID: FB-01
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 15:30

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 36 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1793 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-21Client Sample ID: FB-01
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 15:30

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Bromomethane ND *+

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Chloroethane ND

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Vinyl acetate ND *-

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/25/22 10:51 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 97 70 - 123 01/25/22 10:51 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 96 01/25/22 10:51 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 103 01/25/22 10:51 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 103 01/25/22 10:51 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 37 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1794 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) - DL

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-7Client Sample ID: OW-16-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 14:15

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Trichloroethene 1100 40 14 ug/L 01/26/22 02:20 40

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 96 70 - 123 01/26/22 02:20 40

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 94 01/26/22 02:20 4080 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 104 01/26/22 02:20 4078 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 104 01/26/22 02:20 4080 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-8Client Sample ID: DUP-01
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 00:00

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45
RL MDL

Trichloroethene 1100 40 14 ug/L 01/26/22 02:46 40

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 93 70 - 123 01/26/22 02:46 40

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 96 01/26/22 02:46 4080 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/26/22 02:46 4078 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 103 01/26/22 02:46 4080 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 38 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1795 of 2173



Surrogate Summary
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Water

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (70-123) (80-120) (78-120) (80-120)

DCA BFB DBFM TOL

105 101 103 101570-82341-A-2 MS

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

Matrix Spike

107 101 103 101570-82341-A-2 MSD Matrix Spike Duplicate

107 100 99 101570-82342-1 OW-18-s

109 100 101 101570-82342-2 OW-17-i

105 98 100 100570-82342-3 OW-17-d

108 100 102 101570-82342-4 OW-17-s

109 101 103 103570-82342-5 OW-16-d

106 101 99 102570-82342-6 OW-16-i

93 93 102 102570-82342-7 OW-16-s

96 94 104 104570-82342-7 - DL OW-16-s

93 95 101 101570-82342-8 DUP-01

93 96 102 103570-82342-8 - DL DUP-01

97 96 106 103570-82342-9 OW-12

94 96 102 101570-82342-10 OW-12p

97 95 103 101570-82342-11 TB-01

106 99 101 102570-82342-12 OW-14

97 95 102 102570-82342-13 OW-14p

95 94 102 101570-82342-14 OW-11

96 96 103 104570-82342-15 OW-11p

95 92 101 101570-82342-17 OW-13p

108 98 102 102570-82342-18 OW-4

95 97 105 102570-82342-19 OW-18-i

96 95 101 103570-82342-20 OW-18-d

97 96 103 103570-82342-21 FB-01

105 102 104 100LCS 570-209230/4 Lab Control Sample

105 96 104 103LCS 570-209311/4 Lab Control Sample

100 95 100 101LCS 570-209424/4 Lab Control Sample

106 103 103 100LCSD 570-209230/5 Lab Control Sample Dup

101 97 102 102LCSD 570-209311/27 Lab Control Sample Dup

98 96 101 101LCSD 570-209424/5 Lab Control Sample Dup

108 100 100 102MB 570-209230/8 Method Blank

93 95 100 101MB 570-209311/11 Method Blank

94 95 102 102MB 570-209424/11 Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

DCA = 1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr)

BFB = 4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr)

DBFM = Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr)

TOL = Toluene-d8 (Surr)

Eurofins Calscience

Page 39 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1796 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209230/8
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1,1-Trichloroethane

ND 0.201.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane

ND 0.5810 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1,2-Trichloroethane

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1-Dichloroethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1-Dichloroethene

ND 0.451.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,1-Dichloropropene

ND 0.541.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.275.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2,3-Trichloropropane

ND 0.561.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene

ND 1.510 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2-Dibromoethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.220.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2-Dichloroethane

ND 0.391.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,2-Dichloropropane

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,3-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,3-Dichloropropane

ND 0.241.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 11,4-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.551.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 12,2-Dichloropropane

ND 3.620 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 12-Butanone

ND 0.271.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 12-Chlorotoluene

ND 3.110 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 12-Hexanone

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 14-Chlorotoluene

ND 2.910 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 14-Methyl-2-pentanone

ND 1020 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Acetone

ND 0.200.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Benzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Bromobenzene

ND 0.302.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Bromochloromethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Bromodichloromethane

ND 1.55.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Bromoform

ND 1525 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Bromomethane

ND 0.511.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.230.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.4010 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Carbon disulfide

ND 0.340.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Carbon tetrachloride

ND 0.211.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Chlorobenzene

ND 2.45.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Chloroethane

ND 0.501.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Chloroform

ND 2.310 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Chloromethane

ND 0.342.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Dibromochloromethane

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Dibromomethane

ND 0.565.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Dichlorodifluoromethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Ethylbenzene

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Isopropylbenzene

ND 4.010 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Methylene Chloride

Eurofins Calscience

Page 40 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1797 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209230/8
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

RL MDL

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND 1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 5.010 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Naphthalene

ND 0.521.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1n-Butylbenzene

ND 0.411.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1N-Propylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1o-Xylene

ND 0.482.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1m,p-Xylene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1p-Isopropyltoluene

ND 0.291.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1sec-Butylbenzene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Styrene

ND 0.311.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.300.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.361.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1tert-Butylbenzene

ND 0.351.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Tetrachloroethene

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Toluene

ND 0.351.0 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Trichloroethene

ND 0.3610 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Trichlorofluoromethane

ND 4.610 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Vinyl acetate

ND 0.260.50 ug/L 01/25/22 02:12 1Vinyl chloride

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 108 70 - 123 01/25/22 02:12 1

MB MB

Surrogate Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

100 01/25/22 02:12 14-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

100 01/25/22 02:12 1Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

102 01/25/22 02:12 1Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-209230/4
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 52.97 ug/L 106 64 - 121

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 53.31 ug/L 107 80 - 120

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 51.75 ug/L 104 80 - 120

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 52.04 ug/L 104 76 - 120

Benzene 50.0 50.20 ug/L 100 76 - 120

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 51.94 ug/L 104 80 - 127

Chlorobenzene 50.0 50.43 ug/L 101 80 - 120

Ethylbenzene 50.0 50.95 ug/L 102 80 - 120

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 52.56 ug/L 105 64 - 120

o-Xylene 50.0 51.69 ug/L 103 80 - 121

m,p-Xylene 100 102.5 ug/L 102 74 - 122

Toluene 50.0 49.39 ug/L 99 76 - 120

Trichloroethene 50.0 52.20 ug/L 104 80 - 122

Vinyl chloride 50.0 57.03 ug/L 114 70 - 124

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

105

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1024-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 41 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1798 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-209230/4
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

Surrogate

104

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

100Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-209230/5
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 52.23 ug/L 104 64 - 121 1 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 52.65 ug/L 105 80 - 120 1 20

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 50.98 ug/L 102 80 - 120 2 20

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 51.79 ug/L 104 76 - 120 0 20

Benzene 50.0 49.60 ug/L 99 76 - 120 1 20

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 52.00 ug/L 104 80 - 127 0 20

Chlorobenzene 50.0 49.90 ug/L 100 80 - 120 1 20

Ethylbenzene 50.0 50.44 ug/L 101 80 - 120 1 20

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 51.08 ug/L 102 64 - 120 3 20

o-Xylene 50.0 50.62 ug/L 101 80 - 121 2 20

m,p-Xylene 100 101.0 ug/L 101 74 - 122 1 20

Toluene 50.0 49.05 ug/L 98 76 - 120 1 20

Trichloroethene 50.0 51.05 ug/L 102 80 - 122 2 20

Vinyl chloride 50.0 56.32 ug/L 113 70 - 124 1 20

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

106

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1034-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

103Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

100Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Matrix SpikeLab Sample ID: 570-82341-A-2 MS
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

1,1-Dichloroethene 1.8 50.0 51.80 ug/L 100 57 - 135

Analyte

MS MS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits

1,2-Dibromoethane ND 50.0 51.28 ug/L 103 75 - 125

1,2-Dichlorobenzene ND 50.0 47.55 ug/L 95 75 - 125

1,2-Dichloroethane ND 50.0 51.41 ug/L 103 75 - 127

Benzene ND 50.0 48.55 ug/L 97 75 - 125

Carbon tetrachloride ND 50.0 47.61 ug/L 95 68 - 137

Chlorobenzene ND 50.0 47.84 ug/L 96 75 - 125

Ethylbenzene ND 50.0 47.58 ug/L 95 75 - 127

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND 50.0 50.85 ug/L 102 65 - 125

o-Xylene ND 50.0 48.71 ug/L 97 75 - 128

m,p-Xylene ND 100 95.81 ug/L 96 75 - 128

Toluene ND 50.0 47.92 ug/L 96 75 - 125

Trichloroethene 13 50.0 58.89 ug/L 93 68 - 128

Vinyl chloride ND 50.0 55.25 ug/L 111 58 - 140

Eurofins Calscience

Page 42 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1799 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Matrix SpikeLab Sample ID: 570-82341-A-2 MS
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

105

MS MS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1014-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

103Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

101Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Matrix Spike DuplicateLab Sample ID: 570-82341-A-2 MSD
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209230

1,1-Dichloroethene 1.8 50.0 52.01 ug/L 100 57 - 135 0 20

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,2-Dibromoethane ND 50.0 53.09 ug/L 106 75 - 125 3 20

1,2-Dichlorobenzene ND 50.0 49.38 ug/L 99 75 - 125 4 20

1,2-Dichloroethane ND 50.0 53.40 ug/L 107 75 - 127 4 20

Benzene ND 50.0 49.44 ug/L 99 75 - 125 2 20

Carbon tetrachloride ND 50.0 49.93 ug/L 100 68 - 137 5 20

Chlorobenzene ND 50.0 48.16 ug/L 96 75 - 125 1 20

Ethylbenzene ND 50.0 48.95 ug/L 98 75 - 127 3 20

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND 50.0 52.34 ug/L 105 65 - 125 3 20

o-Xylene ND 50.0 49.04 ug/L 98 75 - 128 1 20

m,p-Xylene ND 100 96.53 ug/L 97 75 - 128 1 20

Toluene ND 50.0 48.45 ug/L 97 75 - 125 1 20

Trichloroethene 13 50.0 59.16 ug/L 93 68 - 128 0 20

Vinyl chloride ND 50.0 55.17 ug/L 110 58 - 140 0 20

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

107

MSD MSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1014-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

103Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

101Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209311/11
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209311

RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,1,1-Trichloroethane

ND 0.201.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane

ND 0.5810 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,1,2-Trichloroethane

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,1-Dichloroethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,1-Dichloroethene

ND 0.451.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,1-Dichloropropene

ND 0.541.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.275.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,2,3-Trichloropropane

ND 0.561.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene

Eurofins Calscience

Page 43 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1800 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209311/11
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209311

RL MDL

1,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND 10 1.5 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,2-Dibromoethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,2-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.220.50 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,2-Dichloroethane

ND 0.391.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,2-Dichloropropane

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,3-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,3-Dichloropropane

ND 0.241.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 11,4-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.551.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 12,2-Dichloropropane

ND 3.620 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 12-Butanone

ND 0.271.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 12-Chlorotoluene

ND 3.110 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 12-Hexanone

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 14-Chlorotoluene

ND 2.910 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 14-Methyl-2-pentanone

ND 1020 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Acetone

ND 0.200.50 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Benzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Bromobenzene

ND 0.302.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Bromochloromethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Bromodichloromethane

ND 1.55.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Bromoform

ND 1525 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Bromomethane

ND 0.511.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.230.50 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.4010 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Carbon disulfide

ND 0.340.50 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Carbon tetrachloride

ND 0.211.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Chlorobenzene

ND 2.45.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Chloroethane

ND 0.501.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Chloroform

ND 2.310 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Chloromethane

ND 0.342.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Dibromochloromethane

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Dibromomethane

ND 0.565.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Dichlorodifluoromethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Ethylbenzene

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Isopropylbenzene

ND 4.010 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Methylene Chloride

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE)

ND 5.010 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Naphthalene

ND 0.521.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1n-Butylbenzene

ND 0.411.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1N-Propylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1o-Xylene

ND 0.482.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1m,p-Xylene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1p-Isopropyltoluene

ND 0.291.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1sec-Butylbenzene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Styrene

ND 0.311.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.300.50 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.361.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1tert-Butylbenzene

ND 0.351.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Tetrachloroethene

Eurofins Calscience

Page 44 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1801 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209311/11
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209311

RL MDL

Toluene ND 1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.351.0 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Trichloroethene

ND 0.3610 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Trichlorofluoromethane

ND 4.610 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Vinyl acetate

ND 0.260.50 ug/L 01/25/22 08:37 1Vinyl chloride

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 93 70 - 123 01/25/22 08:37 1

MB MB

Surrogate Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

95 01/25/22 08:37 14-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

100 01/25/22 08:37 1Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

101 01/25/22 08:37 1Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-209311/4
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209311

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 53.77 ug/L 108 64 - 121

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 46.56 ug/L 93 80 - 120

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 51.34 ug/L 103 80 - 120

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 51.46 ug/L 103 76 - 120

Benzene 50.0 49.22 ug/L 98 76 - 120

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 49.07 ug/L 98 80 - 127

Chlorobenzene 50.0 49.01 ug/L 98 80 - 120

Ethylbenzene 50.0 47.58 ug/L 95 80 - 120

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 47.62 ug/L 95 64 - 120

o-Xylene 50.0 48.20 ug/L 96 80 - 121

m,p-Xylene 100 94.72 ug/L 95 74 - 122

Toluene 50.0 51.07 ug/L 102 76 - 120

Trichloroethene 50.0 51.34 ug/L 103 80 - 122

Vinyl chloride 50.0 58.96 ug/L 118 70 - 124

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

105

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

964-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

104Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

103Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-209311/27
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209311

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 50.41 ug/L 101 64 - 121 6 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 48.56 ug/L 97 80 - 120 4 20

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 51.26 ug/L 103 80 - 120 0 20

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 50.69 ug/L 101 76 - 120 2 20

Benzene 50.0 47.79 ug/L 96 76 - 120 3 20

Eurofins Calscience

Page 45 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1802 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-209311/27
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209311

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 46.75 ug/L 93 80 - 127 5 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

Chlorobenzene 50.0 50.54 ug/L 101 80 - 120 3 20

Ethylbenzene 50.0 47.73 ug/L 95 80 - 120 0 20

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 46.17 ug/L 92 64 - 120 3 20

o-Xylene 50.0 48.11 ug/L 96 80 - 121 0 20

m,p-Xylene 100 94.89 ug/L 95 74 - 122 0 20

Toluene 50.0 50.20 ug/L 100 76 - 120 2 20

Trichloroethene 50.0 50.66 ug/L 101 80 - 122 1 20

Vinyl chloride 50.0 55.41 ug/L 111 70 - 124 6 20

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

101

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

974-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

102Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

102Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209424/11
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209424

RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,1,1-Trichloroethane

ND 0.201.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane

ND 0.5810 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,1,2-Trichloroethane

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,1-Dichloroethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,1-Dichloroethene

ND 0.451.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,1-Dichloropropene

ND 0.541.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.275.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,2,3-Trichloropropane

ND 0.561.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene

ND 1.510 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,2-Dibromoethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,2-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.220.50 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,2-Dichloroethane

ND 0.391.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,2-Dichloropropane

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,3-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,3-Dichloropropane

ND 0.241.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 11,4-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.551.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 12,2-Dichloropropane

ND 3.620 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 12-Butanone

ND 0.271.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 12-Chlorotoluene

ND 3.110 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 12-Hexanone

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 14-Chlorotoluene

ND 2.910 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 14-Methyl-2-pentanone

Eurofins Calscience

Page 46 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1803 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209424/11
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209424

RL MDL

Acetone ND 20 10 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.200.50 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Benzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Bromobenzene

ND 0.302.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Bromochloromethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Bromodichloromethane

ND 1.55.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Bromoform

ND 1525 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Bromomethane

ND 0.511.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.230.50 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.4010 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Carbon disulfide

ND 0.340.50 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Carbon tetrachloride

ND 0.211.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Chlorobenzene

ND 2.45.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Chloroethane

ND 0.501.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Chloroform

ND 2.310 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Chloromethane

ND 0.342.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Dibromochloromethane

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Dibromomethane

ND 0.565.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Dichlorodifluoromethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Ethylbenzene

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Isopropylbenzene

ND 4.010 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Methylene Chloride

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE)

ND 5.010 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Naphthalene

ND 0.521.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1n-Butylbenzene

ND 0.411.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1N-Propylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1o-Xylene

ND 0.482.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1m,p-Xylene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1p-Isopropyltoluene

ND 0.291.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1sec-Butylbenzene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Styrene

ND 0.311.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.300.50 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.361.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1tert-Butylbenzene

ND 0.351.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Tetrachloroethene

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Toluene

ND 0.351.0 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Trichloroethene

ND 0.3610 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Trichlorofluoromethane

ND 4.610 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Vinyl acetate

ND 0.260.50 ug/L 01/25/22 21:24 1Vinyl chloride

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 94 70 - 123 01/25/22 21:24 1

MB MB

Surrogate Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

95 01/25/22 21:24 14-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

102 01/25/22 21:24 1Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

102 01/25/22 21:24 1Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 47 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1804 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-209424/4
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209424

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 49.85 ug/L 100 64 - 121

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 46.73 ug/L 93 80 - 120

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 50.28 ug/L 101 80 - 120

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 48.96 ug/L 98 76 - 120

Benzene 50.0 46.88 ug/L 94 76 - 120

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 46.93 ug/L 94 80 - 127

Chlorobenzene 50.0 48.75 ug/L 98 80 - 120

Ethylbenzene 50.0 46.27 ug/L 93 80 - 120

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 45.93 ug/L 92 64 - 120

o-Xylene 50.0 47.10 ug/L 94 80 - 121

m,p-Xylene 100 92.71 ug/L 93 74 - 122

Toluene 50.0 49.50 ug/L 99 76 - 120

Trichloroethene 50.0 48.84 ug/L 98 80 - 122

Vinyl chloride 50.0 55.38 ug/L 111 70 - 124

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

100

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

954-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

100Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

101Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-209424/5
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209424

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 52.31 ug/L 105 64 - 121 5 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 48.94 ug/L 98 80 - 120 5 20

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 53.63 ug/L 107 80 - 120 6 20

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 50.46 ug/L 101 76 - 120 3 20

Benzene 50.0 47.90 ug/L 96 76 - 120 2 20

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 47.68 ug/L 95 80 - 127 2 20

Chlorobenzene 50.0 50.38 ug/L 101 80 - 120 3 20

Ethylbenzene 50.0 48.44 ug/L 97 80 - 120 5 20

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 46.54 ug/L 93 64 - 120 1 20

o-Xylene 50.0 48.74 ug/L 97 80 - 121 3 20

m,p-Xylene 100 96.65 ug/L 97 74 - 122 4 20

Toluene 50.0 50.13 ug/L 100 76 - 120 1 20

Trichloroethene 50.0 50.69 ug/L 101 80 - 122 4 20

Vinyl chloride 50.0 57.67 ug/L 115 70 - 124 4 20

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

98

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

964-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

101Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

101Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 48 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1805 of 2173



QC Association Summary
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

GC/MS VOA

Analysis Batch: 209230

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Water 8260B570-82342-1 OW-18-s Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-2 OW-17-i Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-3 OW-17-d Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-4 OW-17-s Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-5 OW-16-d Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-6 OW-16-i Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-12 OW-14 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-18 OW-4 Total/NA

Water 8260BMB 570-209230/8 Method Blank Total/NA

Water 8260BLCS 570-209230/4 Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Water 8260BLCSD 570-209230/5 Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82341-A-2 MS Matrix Spike Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82341-A-2 MSD Matrix Spike Duplicate Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 209311

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Water 8260B570-82342-7 OW-16-s Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-8 DUP-01 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-9 OW-12 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-10 OW-12p Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-11 TB-01 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-13 OW-14p Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-14 OW-11 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-15 OW-11p Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-17 OW-13p Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-19 OW-18-i Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-21 FB-01 Total/NA

Water 8260BMB 570-209311/11 Method Blank Total/NA

Water 8260BLCS 570-209311/4 Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Water 8260BLCSD 570-209311/27 Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 209424

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Water 8260B570-82342-7 - DL OW-16-s Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-8 - DL DUP-01 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82342-20 OW-18-d Total/NA

Water 8260BMB 570-209424/11 Method Blank Total/NA

Water 8260BLCS 570-209424/4 Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Water 8260BLCSD 570-209424/5 Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Eurofins Calscience

Page 49 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1806 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82342-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Client Sample ID: OW-18-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-1
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 12:15

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 05:151 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Client Sample ID: OW-17-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-2
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 12:35

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 09:041 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Client Sample ID: OW-17-d Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-3
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 12:50

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 05:381 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Client Sample ID: OW-17-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-4
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 13:05

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 06:245 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Client Sample ID: OW-16-d Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-5
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 13:46

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 06:011 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Client Sample ID: OW-16-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-6
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 13:55

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 06:4720 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Eurofins Calscience

Page 50 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1807 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82342-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Client Sample ID: OW-16-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-7
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 14:15

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B KHF201/25/22 14:575 ECL 2209311

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Analysis 8260B DL 40 209424 01/26/22 02:20 N1A ECL 2Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSWInstrument ID:

Client Sample ID: DUP-01 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-8
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 00:00

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B KHF201/25/22 14:305 ECL 2209311

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Analysis 8260B DL 40 209424 01/26/22 02:46 N1A ECL 2Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSWInstrument ID:

Client Sample ID: OW-12 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-9
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 14:50

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B KHF201/25/22 11:191 ECL 2209311

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Client Sample ID: OW-12p Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-10
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 15:15

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B KHF201/25/22 11:461 ECL 2209311

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Client Sample ID: TB-01 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-11
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 07:30

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B KHF201/25/22 10:241 ECL 2209311

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Client Sample ID: OW-14 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-12
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 08:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 09:271 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Eurofins Calscience

Page 51 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1808 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82342-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Client Sample ID: OW-14p Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-13
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 08:10

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B KHF201/25/22 12:131 ECL 2209311

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Client Sample ID: OW-11 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-14
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 09:35

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B KHF201/25/22 12:401 ECL 2209311

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Client Sample ID: OW-11p Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-15
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 09:45

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B KHF201/25/22 13:081 ECL 2209311

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Client Sample ID: OW-13p Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-17
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 10:40

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B KHF201/25/22 13:351 ECL 2209311

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Client Sample ID: OW-4 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-18
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 11:20

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/25/22 09:501 ECL 2209230

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSQQ

Client Sample ID: OW-18-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-19
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 11:45

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B KHF201/25/22 14:031 ECL 2209311

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Eurofins Calscience

Page 52 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1809 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82342-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Client Sample ID: OW-18-d Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-20
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 11:55

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B N1A01/26/22 05:011 ECL 2209424

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Client Sample ID: FB-01 Lab Sample ID: 570-82342-21
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/19/22 15:30

Date Received: 01/20/22 18:45

Analysis 8260B KHF201/25/22 10:511 ECL 2209311

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSW

Laboratory References:

 = , , ,  

ECL 2 = Eurofins Calscience  Lampson, 7445 Lampson Ave, Garden Grove, CA 92841, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 53 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1810 of 2173



Accreditation/Certification Summary
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82342-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience
The accreditations/certifications listed below are applicable to this report.

Authority Program Identification Number Expiration Date

California State 2944 09-30-22

Oregon NELAP CA300001 01-30-22

Eurofins Calscience

Page 54 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1811 of 2173



Method Summary
Job ID: 570-82342-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Method Method Description LaboratoryProtocol

SW8468260B Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) ECL 2

SW8465030C Purge and Trap

Protocol References:

SW846 = "Test Methods For Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods", Third Edition, November 1986 And Its Updates.

Laboratory References:

 = , , ,  

ECL 2 = Eurofins Calscience  Lampson, 7445 Lampson Ave, Garden Grove, CA 92841, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 55 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1812 of 2173



Sample Summary
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82342-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Matrix Collected Received

570-82342-1 OW-18-s Water 01/19/22 12:15 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-2 OW-17-i Water 01/19/22 12:35 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-3 OW-17-d Water 01/19/22 12:50 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-4 OW-17-s Water 01/19/22 13:05 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-5 OW-16-d Water 01/19/22 13:46 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-6 OW-16-i Water 01/19/22 13:55 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-7 OW-16-s Water 01/19/22 14:15 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-8 DUP-01 Water 01/19/22 00:00 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-9 OW-12 Water 01/19/22 14:50 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-10 OW-12p Water 01/19/22 15:15 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-11 TB-01 Water 01/19/22 07:30 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-12 OW-14 Water 01/19/22 08:20 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-13 OW-14p Water 01/19/22 08:10 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-14 OW-11 Water 01/19/22 09:35 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-15 OW-11p Water 01/19/22 09:45 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-17 OW-13p Water 01/19/22 10:40 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-18 OW-4 Water 01/19/22 11:20 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-19 OW-18-i Water 01/19/22 11:45 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-20 OW-18-d Water 01/19/22 11:55 01/20/22 18:45

570-82342-21 FB-01 Water 01/19/22 15:30 01/20/22 18:45

Eurofins CalsciencePage 56 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1813 of 2173



Page 57 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1814 of 2173



Page 58 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1815 of 2173



Page 59 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1816 of 2173



Page 60 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1817 of 2173



Page 61 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1818 of 2173



Page 62 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1819 of 2173



Page 63 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1820 of 2173



1

Nguyen, Tina

From: Babshoff, Diana <diana.babshoff@woodplc.com>
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2022 8:57 AM
To: Nguyen, Tina
Subject: GE Jet Engine Project - Request for Revised Deliverables from 1Q22 (January)
Attachments: Eurofins Environment Testing Southwest, LLC report and EDD files from 570-82341-1 GE 

Ontario Engine Services WDC13028.400.402; Eurofins Environment Testing Southwest, 
LLC report and EDD files from 570-82342-1 GE Ontario Engine Services 
WDC13028.400.402

EXTERNAL EMAIL* 

  

  

Hi Tina – can you please generate revised deliverable sets for job 570-82341-1 (without OW-6 and OW-8 data) and job 
570-82342-1 (OW-13 data)?  After a thorough review, Wood (and our client) have concluded that the reported data at 
these three wells are inconsistent with previous and outside historical concentrations for these wells, and therefore the 
data are considered suspect.  The client has asked us to reject the data in our quarterly report.       

Report #82341 – need OW-6 and OW-8 data removed.   
Report #82342 – need OW-13 data removed.   
 
Let me know if questions or concerns.  Thank you.   
 
Diana Babshoff 
Technical Professional - GIS Analyst 
Mobile: +1 (559) 779-9609 
www.woodplc.com 

 

 
 
 

 
 
This message is the property of John Wood Group PLC and/or its subsidiaries and/or affiliates and is intended only for the 
named recipient(s). Its contents (including any attachments) may be confidential, legally privileged or otherwise protected 
from disclosure by law. Unauthorized use, copying, distribution or disclosure of any of it may be unlawful and is strictly 
prohibited. We assume no responsibility to persons other than the intended named recipient(s) and do not accept liability 
for any errors or omissions which are a result of email transmission. If you have received this message in error, please 
notify us immediately by reply email to the sender and confirm that the original message and any attachments and copies 
have been destroyed and deleted from your system. 
 
 
 
If you do not wish to receive future unsolicited commercial electronic messages from us, please forward this email to: 

Page 64 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1821 of 2173



Login Sample Receipt Checklist

Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job Number: 570-82342-1

Login Number: 82342

Question Answer Comment

Creator: Ramos, Maribel

List Source: Eurofins Calscience

List Number: 1

N/ARadioactivity wasn't checked or is </= background as measured by a survey 
meter.

TrueThe cooler's custody seal, if present, is intact.

TrueSample custody seals, if present, are intact.

TrueThe cooler or samples do not appear to have been compromised or 
tampered with.

TrueSamples were received on ice.

TrueCooler Temperature is acceptable.

TrueCooler Temperature is recorded.

TrueCOC is present.

TrueCOC is filled out in ink and legible.

TrueCOC is filled out with all pertinent information.

TrueIs the Field Sampler's name present on COC?

TrueThere are no discrepancies between the containers received and the COC.

TrueSamples are received within Holding Time (excluding tests with immediate 
HTs)

TrueSample containers have legible labels.

TrueContainers are not broken or leaking.

TrueSample collection date/times are provided.

TrueAppropriate sample containers are used.

TrueSample bottles are completely filled.

TrueSample Preservation Verified.

TrueThere is sufficient vol. for all requested analyses, incl. any requested 
MS/MSDs

TrueContainers requiring zero headspace have no headspace or bubble is 
<6mm (1/4").

TrueMultiphasic samples are not present.

TrueSamples do not require splitting or compositing.

N/AResidual Chlorine Checked.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 65 of 65 4/14/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1822 of 2173



ANALYTICAL REPORT
Eurofins Calscience
2841 Dow Avenue, Suite 100
Tustin, CA 92780
Tel: (714)895-5494

Laboratory Job ID: 570-82496-1
Client Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services
Revision: 1

For:
Wood E&I Solutions Inc
1281 E Alluvial Ave, Ste 101
Fresno, California 93720

Attn: Mr. Dave Bean

Authorized for release by:
3/11/2022 10:21:01 AM

Tina Nguyen, Project Manager
(657)210-6301
tina.nguyen@eurofinset.com

The test results in this report meet all 2003 NELAC, 2009 TNI, and 2016 TNI requirements for
accredited parameters, exceptions are noted in this report. This report may not be reproduced
except in full, and with written approval from the laboratory. For questions please contact the
Project Manager at the e-mail address or telephone number listed on this page.

This report has been electronically signed and authorized by the signatory. Electronic signature is
intended to be the legally binding equivalent of a traditionally handwritten signature.

Results relate only to the items tested and the sample(s) as received by the laboratory.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1823 of 2173

https://secure.testamericainc.com/TotalAccess/login.aspx
http://www.testamericainc.com/services-we-offer/ask-the-expert
http://www.eurofinsus.com/Env
mailto:tina.nguyen@eurofinset.com


Table of Contents

Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Laboratory Job ID: 570-82496-1

Page 2 of 36
Eurofins Calscience

3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

Cover Page . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

Table of Contents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

Definitions/Glossary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Case Narrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4

Detection Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Client Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7

Surrogate Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22

QC Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23

QC Association Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27

Lab Chronicle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

Certification Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30

Method Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31

Sample Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32

Chain of Custody . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33

Receipt Checklists . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1824 of 2173



Definitions/Glossary
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Qualifiers

GC/MS VOA
Qualifier Description

*+ LCS and/or LCSD is outside acceptance limits, high biased.

Qualifier

B Compound was found in the blank and sample.

J Result is less than the RL but greater than or equal to the MDL and the concentration is an approximate value.

me LCS Recovery is within Marginal Exdeedance (ME) control limit range (± 4 SD from the mean).

Glossary
These commonly used abbreviations may or may not be present in this report.

¤ Listed under the "D" column to designate that the result is reported on a dry weight basis

Abbreviation

%R Percent Recovery

CFL Contains Free Liquid

CFU Colony Forming Unit

CNF Contains No Free Liquid

DER Duplicate Error Ratio (normalized absolute difference)

Dil Fac Dilution Factor

DL Detection Limit (DoD/DOE)

DL, RA, RE, IN Indicates a Dilution, Re-analysis, Re-extraction, or additional Initial metals/anion analysis of the sample

DLC Decision Level Concentration (Radiochemistry)

EDL Estimated Detection Limit (Dioxin)

LOD Limit of Detection (DoD/DOE)

LOQ Limit of Quantitation (DoD/DOE)

MCL EPA recommended "Maximum Contaminant Level"

MDA Minimum Detectable Activity (Radiochemistry)

MDC Minimum Detectable Concentration (Radiochemistry)

MDL Method Detection Limit

ML Minimum Level (Dioxin)

MPN Most Probable Number

MQL Method Quantitation Limit

NC Not Calculated

ND Not Detected at the reporting limit (or MDL or EDL if shown)

NEG Negative / Absent

POS Positive / Present

PQL Practical Quantitation Limit

PRES Presumptive

QC Quality Control

RER Relative Error Ratio (Radiochemistry)

RL Reporting Limit or Requested Limit (Radiochemistry)

RPD Relative Percent Difference, a measure of the relative difference between two points

TEF Toxicity Equivalent Factor (Dioxin)

TEQ Toxicity Equivalent Quotient (Dioxin)

TNTC Too Numerous To Count

Eurofins Calscience

Page 3 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1825 of 2173



Case Narrative
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82496-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Job ID: 570-82496-1

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience

Narrative

Job Narrative

570-82496-1

Comments

No additional comments. 

Revision

The report being provided is a revision of the original report sent on 1/28/2022.  The report (revision 1) is being revised due to: Removed 
sample OW-1 and OW-2 (refer to email).

Receipt 

The samples were received on 1/21/2022 8:00 PM.  Unless otherwise noted below, the samples arrived in good condition, and where 

required, properly preserved and on ice.  The temperature of the cooler at receipt was 2.6º C.

GC/MS VOA 

Method 8260B: The laboratory control sample duplicate (LCSD) for analytical batch 570-209448 recovered outside control limits for the 
following analytes: Chloroethane and Vinyl chloride.  These analytes were biased high in the LCSD and were not detected in the 
associated samples; therefore, the data have been reported.

Method 8260B: The laboratory control sample (LCS) for analytical batch 570-209448 recovered outside control limits for the following 
analytes: Chloroethane.  These analytes were biased high in the LCS and were not detected in the associated samples; therefore, the 
data have been reported.

Method 8260B: Insufficient sample volume was available to perform a matrix spike/matrix spike duplicate (MS/MSD) associated with 

analytical batch 570-209448.The laboratory control sample (LCS) was performed in duplicate (LCSD) to provide precision data for this 
batch.

Method 8260B: The method blank for analytical batch 570-209448 contained Tetrachloroethene above the method detection limit.  This 

target analyte concentration was less than the reporting limit (RL); therefore, re-extraction and/or re-analysis of samples was not 
performed.

No additional analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described above or in the Definitions/Glossary page.

VOA Prep 
No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 4 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1826 of 2173



Detection Summary
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Client Sample ID: TB-03 Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-1

Tetrachloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.35

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J B0.50 8260B

Client Sample ID: MW-9-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-4

Tetrachloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.35

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J B0.38 8260B

Client Sample ID: MW-9-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-5

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: MW-8-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-6

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.51

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA13.3 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA10.85 J 8260B

Dichlorodifluoromethane 5.0 ug/L0.56 Total/NA10.94 J 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA152 B 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA18.7 8260B

Client Sample ID: MW-8-d Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-7

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.51

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA15.3 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA10.96 J 8260B

Dichlorodifluoromethane 5.0 ug/L0.56 Total/NA10.66 J 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA150 B 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA110 8260B

Client Sample ID: MW-8-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-8

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.33

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA12.0 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.51 Total/NA11.9 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA10.69 J 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA128 B 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA111 8260B

Client Sample ID: DUP-02 Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-9

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.33

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA12.2 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.51 Total/NA12.2 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA10.71 J 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA132 B 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA111 8260B

Client Sample ID: MW-5 Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-10

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.33

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J0.93 8260B

Acetone 20 ug/L10 Total/NA136 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.51 Total/NA10.65 J 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA11.9 B 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA11.2 8260B

Eurofins Calscience

This Detection Summary does not include radiochemical test results.

Page 5 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1827 of 2173



Detection Summary
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Client Sample ID: OW-7 Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-11

1,1-Dichloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.33

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J0.98 8260B

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.51 Total/NA10.78 J 8260B

Chloroform 1.0 ug/L0.50 Total/NA10.76 J 8260B

Tetrachloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA17.5 B 8260B

Trichloroethene 1.0 ug/L0.35 Total/NA12.1 8260B

Client Sample ID: FB-03 Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-12

Tetrachloroethene

RL

1.0 ug/L

MDL

0.35

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA1J B0.45 8260B

Eurofins Calscience

This Detection Summary does not include radiochemical test results.

Page 6 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1828 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-1Client Sample ID: TB-03
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 07:30

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Chloroethane ND *+

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 7 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1829 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-1Client Sample ID: TB-03
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 07:30

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Tetrachloroethene 0.50 J B

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 04:59 1Vinyl chloride ND *+

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 104 70 - 123 01/26/22 04:59 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 96 01/26/22 04:59 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 104 01/26/22 04:59 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/26/22 04:59 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-4Client Sample ID: MW-9-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 08:40

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 8 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1830 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-4Client Sample ID: MW-9-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 08:40

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Chloroethane ND *+

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Tetrachloroethene 0.38 J B

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 06:52 1Vinyl chloride ND *+

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 104 70 - 123 01/26/22 06:52 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 98 01/26/22 06:52 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 106 01/26/22 06:52 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 97 01/26/22 06:52 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 9 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1831 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-5Client Sample ID: MW-9-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 09:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Chloroethane ND *+

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 10 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1832 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-5Client Sample ID: MW-9-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 09:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 07:20 1Vinyl chloride ND *+

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 104 70 - 123 01/26/22 07:20 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 99 01/26/22 07:20 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 100 01/26/22 07:20 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 100 01/26/22 07:20 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-6Client Sample ID: MW-8-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 09:20

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 11 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1833 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-6Client Sample ID: MW-8-i
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 09:20

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 3.3

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Chloroethane ND *+

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Chloroform 0.85 J

10 2.3 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Dichlorodifluoromethane 0.94 J

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Tetrachloroethene 52 B

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Trichloroethene 8.7

10 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 07:49 1Vinyl chloride ND *+

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 101 70 - 123 01/26/22 07:49 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 96 01/26/22 07:49 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/26/22 07:49 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 99 01/26/22 07:49 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 12 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1834 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-7Client Sample ID: MW-8-d
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 09:40

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 5.3

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Chloroethane ND *+

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Chloroform 0.96 J

10 2.3 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Dichlorodifluoromethane 0.66 J

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 13 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1835 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-7Client Sample ID: MW-8-d
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 09:40

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Tetrachloroethene 50 B

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Trichloroethene 10

10 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 08:17 1Vinyl chloride ND *+

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 103 70 - 123 01/26/22 08:17 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 98 01/26/22 08:17 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 104 01/26/22 08:17 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/26/22 08:17 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-8Client Sample ID: MW-8-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 10:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,1-Dichloroethene 2.0

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 14 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1836 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-8Client Sample ID: MW-8-s
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 10:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 1.9

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Chloroethane ND *+

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Chloroform 0.69 J

10 2.3 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Tetrachloroethene 28 B

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Trichloroethene 11

10 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 08:45 1Vinyl chloride ND *+

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 99 70 - 123 01/26/22 08:45 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 100 01/26/22 08:45 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 01/26/22 08:45 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 99 01/26/22 08:45 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 15 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1837 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-9Client Sample ID: DUP-02
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 00:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,1-Dichloroethene 2.2

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 2.2

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Chloroethane ND *+

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Chloroform 0.71 J

10 2.3 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 16 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1838 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-9Client Sample ID: DUP-02
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 00:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Tetrachloroethene 32 B

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Trichloroethene 11

10 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 09:14 1Vinyl chloride ND *+

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 108 70 - 123 01/26/22 09:14 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 96 01/26/22 09:14 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 106 01/26/22 09:14 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 99 01/26/22 09:14 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-10Client Sample ID: MW-5
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 10:25

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,1-Dichloroethene 0.93 J

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 17 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1839 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-10Client Sample ID: MW-5
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 10:25

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Acetone 36

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 0.65 J

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Chloroethane ND *+

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Tetrachloroethene 1.9 B

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Trichloroethene 1.2

10 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 09:43 1Vinyl chloride ND *+

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 105 70 - 123 01/26/22 09:43 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 98 01/26/22 09:43 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 107 01/26/22 09:43 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 98 01/26/22 09:43 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 18 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1840 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-11Client Sample ID: OW-7
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 11:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,1-Dichloroethene 0.98 J

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 3.6 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 12-Butanone ND

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 0.78 J

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Chloroethane ND *+

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Chloroform 0.76 J

10 2.3 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 19 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1841 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-11Client Sample ID: OW-7
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 11:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

Naphthalene ND 10 5.0 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Tetrachloroethene 7.5 B

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Trichloroethene 2.1

10 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 10:12 1Vinyl chloride ND *+

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 101 70 - 123 01/26/22 10:12 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 98 01/26/22 10:12 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 104 01/26/22 10:12 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 01/26/22 10:12 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-12Client Sample ID: FB-03
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 12:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

10 0.58 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.0 0.45 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.54 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

5.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

10 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 0.22 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.0 0.39 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.0 0.24 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.0 0.55 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 20 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1842 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-12Client Sample ID: FB-03
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 12:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00
RL MDL

2-Butanone ND 20 3.6 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.0 0.27 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 12-Chlorotoluene ND

10 3.1 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 12-Hexanone ND

1.0 0.32 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 14-Chlorotoluene ND

10 2.9 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 10 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Acetone ND

0.50 0.20 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Benzene ND

1.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.28 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.0 1.5 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Bromoform ND

25 15 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Bromomethane ND

1.0 0.51 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.23 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

10 0.40 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.50 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.0 0.21 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Chlorobenzene ND

5.0 2.4 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Chloroethane ND *+

1.0 0.50 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Chloroform ND

10 2.3 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Dibromomethane ND

5.0 0.56 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.0 0.37 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Isopropylbenzene ND

10 4.0 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

10 5.0 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Naphthalene ND

1.0 0.52 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.41 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.0 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 0.48 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.0 0.29 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.38 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Styrene ND

1.0 0.31 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.50 0.30 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.0 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Tetrachloroethene 0.45 J B

1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Toluene ND

1.0 0.35 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Trichloroethene ND

10 0.36 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

10 4.6 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.50 0.26 ug/L 01/26/22 05:27 1Vinyl chloride ND *+

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 103 70 - 123 01/26/22 05:27 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 96 01/26/22 05:27 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 108 01/26/22 05:27 178 - 120

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 100 01/26/22 05:27 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 21 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1843 of 2173



Surrogate Summary
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Water

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (70-123) (80-120) (78-120) (80-120)

DCA BFB DBFM TOL

104 96 104 101570-82496-1

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

TB-03

104 98 106 97570-82496-4 MW-9-i

104 99 100 100570-82496-5 MW-9-s

101 96 102 99570-82496-6 MW-8-i

103 98 104 101570-82496-7 MW-8-d

99 100 102 99570-82496-8 MW-8-s

108 96 106 99570-82496-9 DUP-02

105 98 107 98570-82496-10 MW-5

101 98 104 101570-82496-11 OW-7

103 96 108 100570-82496-12 FB-03

101 100 104 98LCS 570-209448/4 Lab Control Sample

102 100 106 101LCSD 570-209448/5 Lab Control Sample Dup

101 98 103 99MB 570-209448/8 Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

DCA = 1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr)

BFB = 4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr)

DBFM = Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr)

TOL = Toluene-d8 (Surr)

Eurofins Calscience

Page 22 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1844 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209448/8
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209448

RL MDL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 0.33 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,1,1-Trichloroethane

ND 0.201.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane

ND 0.5810 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,1,2-Trichloroethane

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,1-Dichloroethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,1-Dichloroethene

ND 0.451.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,1-Dichloropropene

ND 0.541.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.275.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,2,3-Trichloropropane

ND 0.561.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene

ND 1.510 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,2-Dibromoethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,2-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.220.50 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,2-Dichloroethane

ND 0.391.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,2-Dichloropropane

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,3-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,3-Dichloropropane

ND 0.241.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 11,4-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.551.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 12,2-Dichloropropane

ND 3.620 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 12-Butanone

ND 0.271.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 12-Chlorotoluene

ND 3.110 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 12-Hexanone

ND 0.321.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 14-Chlorotoluene

ND 2.910 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 14-Methyl-2-pentanone

ND 1020 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Acetone

ND 0.200.50 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Benzene

ND 0.301.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Bromobenzene

ND 0.302.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Bromochloromethane

ND 0.281.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Bromodichloromethane

ND 1.55.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Bromoform

ND 1525 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Bromomethane

ND 0.511.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.230.50 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.4010 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Carbon disulfide

ND 0.340.50 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Carbon tetrachloride

ND 0.211.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Chlorobenzene

ND 2.45.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Chloroethane

ND 0.501.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Chloroform

ND 2.310 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Chloromethane

ND 0.342.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Dibromochloromethane

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Dibromomethane

ND 0.565.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Dichlorodifluoromethane

ND 0.331.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Ethylbenzene

ND 0.371.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Isopropylbenzene

ND 4.010 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Methylene Chloride

Eurofins Calscience

Page 23 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1845 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-209448/8
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209448

RL MDL

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND 1.0 0.34 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 5.010 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Naphthalene

ND 0.521.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1n-Butylbenzene

ND 0.411.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1N-Propylbenzene

ND 0.261.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1o-Xylene

ND 0.482.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1m,p-Xylene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1p-Isopropyltoluene

ND 0.291.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1sec-Butylbenzene

ND 0.381.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Styrene

ND 0.311.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 0.300.50 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 0.361.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1tert-Butylbenzene

0.7113 J 0.351.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Tetrachloroethene

ND 0.341.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Toluene

ND 0.351.0 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Trichloroethene

ND 0.3610 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Trichlorofluoromethane

ND 4.610 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Vinyl acetate

ND 0.260.50 ug/L 01/26/22 03:05 1Vinyl chloride

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 101 70 - 123 01/26/22 03:05 1

MB MB

Surrogate Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

98 01/26/22 03:05 14-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

103 01/26/22 03:05 1Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

99 01/26/22 03:05 1Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-209448/4
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209448

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 53.54 ug/L 107 64 - 121

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec.

Limits

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 51.90 ug/L 104 80 - 120

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 53.21 ug/L 106 80 - 120

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 50.34 ug/L 101 76 - 120

Benzene 50.0 50.39 ug/L 101 76 - 120

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 48.43 ug/L 97 80 - 127

Chlorobenzene 50.0 53.13 ug/L 106 80 - 120

Ethylbenzene 50.0 52.06 ug/L 104 80 - 120

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 51.07 ug/L 102 64 - 120

o-Xylene 50.0 51.17 ug/L 102 80 - 121

m,p-Xylene 100 106.3 ug/L 106 74 - 122

Toluene 50.0 52.20 ug/L 104 76 - 120

Trichloroethene 50.0 50.33 ug/L 101 80 - 122

Vinyl chloride 50.0 64.61 *+ me ug/L 129 70 - 124

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

101

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1004-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 24 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1846 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-209448/4
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209448

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

Surrogate

104

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

98Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-209448/5
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 209448

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 57.61 ug/L 115 64 - 121 7 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec.

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 53.98 ug/L 108 80 - 120 4 20

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 56.44 ug/L 113 80 - 120 6 20

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 53.77 ug/L 108 76 - 120 7 20

Benzene 50.0 53.54 ug/L 107 76 - 120 6 20

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 52.75 ug/L 106 80 - 127 9 20

Chlorobenzene 50.0 55.50 ug/L 111 80 - 120 4 20

Ethylbenzene 50.0 54.76 ug/L 110 80 - 120 5 20

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 54.11 ug/L 108 64 - 120 6 20

o-Xylene 50.0 54.27 ug/L 109 80 - 121 6 20

m,p-Xylene 100 111.7 ug/L 112 74 - 122 5 20

Toluene 50.0 54.81 ug/L 110 76 - 120 5 20

Trichloroethene 50.0 54.13 ug/L 108 80 - 122 7 20

Vinyl chloride 50.0 67.97 *+ ug/L 136 70 - 124 5 20

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 70 - 123

Surrogate

102

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

1004-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

106Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 78 - 120

101Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 25 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1847 of 2173



Marginal Exceedance (ME) Summary
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-209448/4
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 53.54 ug/L 107 64 - 121

Analyte

LCS LCS

UnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec.

Limits

ME %Rec.

Limits

55 - 131

Marginal Exceedance

Status

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 51.90 ug/L 104 80 - 120 73 127-

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 53.21 ug/L 106 80 - 120 73 127-

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 50.34 ug/L 101 76 - 120 69 127-

Benzene 50.0 50.39 ug/L 101 76 - 120 69 127-

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 48.43 ug/L 97 80 - 127 72 135-

Chlorobenzene 50.0 53.13 ug/L 106 80 - 120 73 127-

Ethylbenzene 50.0 52.06 ug/L 104 80 - 120 73 127-

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 51.07 ug/L 102 64 - 120 55 129-

o-Xylene 50.0 51.17 ug/L 102 80 - 121 73 128-

m,p-Xylene 100 106.3 ug/L 106 74 - 122 66 130-

Toluene 50.0 52.20 ug/L 104 76 - 120 69 127-

Trichloroethene 50.0 50.33 ug/L 101 80 - 122 73 129-

Vinyl chloride 50.0 64.61 *+ me ug/L 129 70 - 124 61 133- ME

Summary

Number of

Analytes Reported

14

Number of Marginal

Exceedances Allowed

1

Number of Marginal

Exceedances Found

1

ME = Marginal Exceedance

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-209448/5
Matrix: Water Prep Type: Total/NA

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 57.61 ug/L 115 64 - 121

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

UnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec.

Limits

ME %Rec.

Limits

55 - 131

Marginal Exceedance

Status

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 53.98 ug/L 108 80 - 120 73 127-

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 56.44 ug/L 113 80 - 120 73 127-

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 53.77 ug/L 108 76 - 120 69 127-

Benzene 50.0 53.54 ug/L 107 76 - 120 69 127-

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 52.75 ug/L 106 80 - 127 72 135-

Chlorobenzene 50.0 55.50 ug/L 111 80 - 120 73 127-

Ethylbenzene 50.0 54.76 ug/L 110 80 - 120 73 127-

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 54.11 ug/L 108 64 - 120 55 129-

o-Xylene 50.0 54.27 ug/L 109 80 - 121 73 128-

m,p-Xylene 100 111.7 ug/L 112 74 - 122 66 130-

Toluene 50.0 54.81 ug/L 110 76 - 120 69 127-

Trichloroethene 50.0 54.13 ug/L 108 80 - 122 73 129-

Vinyl chloride 50.0 67.97 *+ ug/L 136 70 - 124 61 133- X

Summary

Number of

Analytes Reported

14

Number of Marginal

Exceedances Allowed

1

Number of Marginal

Exceedances Found

0

X = % Recovery is greater than widest possible limit

Eurofins Calscience

Page 26 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1848 of 2173



QC Association Summary
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

GC/MS VOA

Analysis Batch: 209448

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Water 8260B570-82496-1 TB-03 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82496-4 MW-9-i Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82496-5 MW-9-s Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82496-6 MW-8-i Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82496-7 MW-8-d Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82496-8 MW-8-s Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82496-9 DUP-02 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82496-10 MW-5 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82496-11 OW-7 Total/NA

Water 8260B570-82496-12 FB-03 Total/NA

Water 8260BMB 570-209448/8 Method Blank Total/NA

Water 8260BLCS 570-209448/4 Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Water 8260BLCSD 570-209448/5 Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Eurofins Calscience

Page 27 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1849 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82496-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Client Sample ID: TB-03 Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-1
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 07:30

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00

Analysis 8260B N1A01/26/22 04:591 ECL 2209448

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSJJ

Client Sample ID: MW-9-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-4
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 08:40

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00

Analysis 8260B N1A01/26/22 06:521 ECL 2209448

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSJJ

Client Sample ID: MW-9-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-5
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 09:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00

Analysis 8260B N1A01/26/22 07:201 ECL 2209448

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSJJ

Client Sample ID: MW-8-i Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-6
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 09:20

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00

Analysis 8260B N1A01/26/22 07:491 ECL 2209448

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSJJ

Client Sample ID: MW-8-d Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-7
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 09:40

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00

Analysis 8260B N1A01/26/22 08:171 ECL 2209448

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSJJ

Client Sample ID: MW-8-s Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-8
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 10:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00

Analysis 8260B N1A01/26/22 08:451 ECL 2209448

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSJJ

Eurofins Calscience

Page 28 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1850 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82496-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Client Sample ID: DUP-02 Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-9
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 00:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00

Analysis 8260B N1A01/26/22 09:141 ECL 2209448

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSJJ

Client Sample ID: MW-5 Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-10
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 10:25

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00

Analysis 8260B N1A01/26/22 09:431 ECL 2209448

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSJJ

Client Sample ID: OW-7 Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-11
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 11:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00

Analysis 8260B N1A01/26/22 10:121 ECL 2209448

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSJJ

Client Sample ID: FB-03 Lab Sample ID: 570-82496-12
Matrix: WaterDate Collected: 01/21/22 12:00

Date Received: 01/21/22 20:00

Analysis 8260B N1A01/26/22 05:271 ECL 2209448

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

Instrument ID: GCMSJJ

Laboratory References:

 = , , ,  

ECL 2 = Eurofins Calscience  Lampson, 7445 Lampson Ave, Garden Grove, CA 92841, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 29 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1851 of 2173



Accreditation/Certification Summary
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82496-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience
The accreditations/certifications listed below are applicable to this report.

Authority Program Identification Number Expiration Date

California State 2944 09-30-22

Oregon NELAP CA300001 01-30-22

Eurofins Calscience

Page 30 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1852 of 2173



Method Summary
Job ID: 570-82496-1Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc

Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Method Method Description LaboratoryProtocol

SW8468260B Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) ECL 2

SW8465030C Purge and Trap

Protocol References:

SW846 = "Test Methods For Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods", Third Edition, November 1986 And Its Updates.

Laboratory References:

 = , , ,  

ECL 2 = Eurofins Calscience  Lampson, 7445 Lampson Ave, Garden Grove, CA 92841, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 31 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1853 of 2173



Sample Summary
Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job ID: 570-82496-1
Project/Site: GE Ontario Engine Services

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Matrix Collected Received

570-82496-1 TB-03 Water 01/21/22 07:30 01/21/22 20:00

570-82496-4 MW-9-i Water 01/21/22 08:40 01/21/22 20:00

570-82496-5 MW-9-s Water 01/21/22 09:00 01/21/22 20:00

570-82496-6 MW-8-i Water 01/21/22 09:20 01/21/22 20:00

570-82496-7 MW-8-d Water 01/21/22 09:40 01/21/22 20:00

570-82496-8 MW-8-s Water 01/21/22 10:00 01/21/22 20:00

570-82496-9 DUP-02 Water 01/21/22 00:00 01/21/22 20:00

570-82496-10 MW-5 Water 01/21/22 10:25 01/21/22 20:00

570-82496-11 OW-7 Water 01/21/22 11:00 01/21/22 20:00

570-82496-12 FB-03 Water 01/21/22 12:00 01/21/22 20:00

Eurofins CalsciencePage 32 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1854 of 2173



1

Nguyen, Tina

From: Babshoff, Diana <diana.babshoff@woodplc.com>
Sent: Friday, March 11, 2022 8:17 AM
To: Nguyen, Tina
Subject: FW: Eurofins Environment Testing Southwest, LLC report and EDD files from 

570-82496-1 GE Ontario Engine Services
Attachments: J82496-1 UDS Level 2 Report Final Report.pdf; 570-82496-1_28 Jan 22 1728_EDF.zip; 

570-82496-1_GeoSyntec_Calsci .xlsx

EXTERNAL EMAIL* 

  

  

Hi Tina – can you please generate a revised deliverable set for job 570-82496-1 with OW-1 and OW-2 data 
removed?  After a thorough review, Wood has concluded that the PDB bags at these two wells was set above the screen 
interval and are therefore, not representative samples.  We need to report the data with OW-1 and OW-2 excluded from 
the dataset.     
 
Let me know if questions or concerns.  Thank you.   
 
 
Diana Babshoff 
Technical Professional - GIS Analyst 
Mobile: +1 (559) 779-9609 
www.woodplc.com 

 

 
 
 
 

From: Tina Nguyen <tina.nguyen@eurofinset.com>  
Sent: Friday, January 28, 2022 4:36 PM 
To: Bean, David <david.bean@woodplc.com>; Babshoff, Diana <diana.babshoff@woodplc.com>; Spink, Joshua 
<joshua.spink@woodplc.com>; Deutsch, Paul <paul.deutsch@woodplc.com> 
Subject: Eurofins Environment Testing Southwest, LLC report and EDD files from 570-82496-1 GE Ontario Engine 
Services 
 
CAUTION: External email. Please do not click on links/attachments unless you know the content is genuine and safe. 

 
Hello, 
 
Attached please find the report and EDD files for job 570-82496-1; GE Ontario Engine Services 
 

Page 33 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1855 of 2173



Page 34 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1856 of 2173



Page 35 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1857 of 2173



Login Sample Receipt Checklist

Client: Wood E&I Solutions Inc Job Number: 570-82496-1

Login Number: 82496

Question Answer Comment

Creator: Ramos, Maribel

List Source: Eurofins Calscience

List Number: 1

N/ARadioactivity wasn't checked or is </= background as measured by a survey 
meter.

TrueThe cooler's custody seal, if present, is intact.

TrueSample custody seals, if present, are intact.

TrueThe cooler or samples do not appear to have been compromised or 
tampered with.

TrueSamples were received on ice.

TrueCooler Temperature is acceptable.

TrueCooler Temperature is recorded.

TrueCOC is present.

TrueCOC is filled out in ink and legible.

TrueCOC is filled out with all pertinent information.

TrueIs the Field Sampler's name present on COC?

TrueThere are no discrepancies between the containers received and the COC.

TrueSamples are received within Holding Time (excluding tests with immediate 
HTs)

TrueSample containers have legible labels.

TrueContainers are not broken or leaking.

TrueSample collection date/times are provided.

TrueAppropriate sample containers are used.

TrueSample bottles are completely filled.

TrueSample Preservation Verified.

TrueThere is sufficient vol. for all requested analyses, incl. any requested 
MS/MSDs

TrueContainers requiring zero headspace have no headspace or bubble is 
<6mm (1/4").

TrueMultiphasic samples are not present.

TrueSamples do not require splitting or compositing.

N/AResidual Chlorine Checked.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 36 of 36 3/11/2022 (Rev. 1)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1858 of 2173



AECOM 

September 2022 AECOM 

Appendix D 

Qualifications of 
Environmental Professional 

Item E - 1859 of 2173



Kaitlin Rundle 
Environmental Compliance Specialist 

Professional History 
08/2018 - Present, AECOM, 
Environmental Compliance 
Specialist 

10/2015 - 08/2018, Printing 
Industries of America, EHS 
Specialist 

Education 
BS, Environmental Science, Slippery 
Rock University of Pennsylvania, 
2014 

Certifications 
40-HR Hazwoper 
30-HR OSHA 
Permit Required Confined Space 
Asbestos Building Inspector 
Asbestos Management Planner  

Skills 
Microsoft Word, Excel and 
PowerPoint, Hazardous Waste 
Management, Air Emission Data 
Analysis, Air Permitting, Compliance 
Auditing   

Years of Experience 
With AECOM:  0 
With Other Firms:  3 

Summary 

Kaitlin is an environmental compliance specialist. She has 
previous environmental, health, and safety experience. Over the 
past three years she has prepared environmental assessments 
reports, permit calculations and applications. She has managed 
monthly air emission calculations as well as annual compliance 
reports.  

She also performed OSHA compliance audits for companies 
throughout the printing industry based on general industry 
standards such as walking-working surfaces, lockout/tagout and 
electrical safety. Operations would be analyzed and provided 
solutions to their compliance violations. 

She has also developed various resources and training materials 
related to solvent contaminated wipes, proper hazardous and 
universal waste management based on the Federal regulations. 

Project Experience 

Range Resources, 2018 
Ms. Rundle is the Profession Engineer’s agent for the 
preparation of SPCC plans, she conducts site visits documenting 
the terrain and equipment present for multiple oil & Gas sites in 
Washington County, PA. 

EP Graphics, 2016-2018 
Kaitlin was the lead safety consultant who prepared and 
managed their overall safety and environmental program. 

Newspaper Printers throughout US, 2016-2018 
Kaitlin participated in safety and environmental audits in Seattle, 
WA, New York, NY, Beaumont, TX, and White Oak, MD. 

Printer in Greensboro, NC, 2017 
As the lead safety consultant Kaitlin prepared a safety 
compliance report for their printing and packaging operation. 

Printer in Bedford Park, IL, 2016 
Kaitlin performed a safety and environmental audit. Ms. Rundle 
maintained the safety and environmental compliance 
requirements for three years. 

Item E - 1860 of 2173



1 

Tracey Gillespie 
Senior Environmental Scientist 

Education  
BS/GeoEnvironmental Studies/1998 
Shippensburg University 

Years of Experience: 17 

Registrations  
Certified Project Manager 
Environmental Professional 
Pennsylvania Asbestos Building Inspector 
Pennsylvania Lead Risk Assessor 
40-hour OSHA Hazardous Waste Site 
Worker 

Technical Specialties  
Phase I Environmental Site Assessments 
Phase II Subsurface Investigations 
Asbestos Inspections 
Asbestos Air Monitoring 
Lead-based Paint Inspections 
Radon Surveys 
Microbial Inspections 

Contact Information 
625 West Ridge Pike, Suite E-100 
Conshohocken, PA 19428 
Tel/610.832.3500 
Fax/610.832.3501 
tracey.gillespie@aecom.com 

Ms. Gillespie is an environmental professional and with over 17 years of 
experience in a variety of environmental disciplines. Ms. Gillespie is an 
Environmental Professional (defined at 40 C.F.R. § 312.10) and has 
conducted and managed and performed numerous Phase I Environmental 
Site Assessment (ESA) projects in accordance with the American Society of 
Testing Materials (ASTM) Standard E 1527-13 and all appropriate inquiry 
(AAI).  Ms. Gillespie has also conducted Preliminary Site Assessments 
(PARs), Transaction Screens, Phase II Subsurface Investigations, Asbestos 
Inspections, Asbestos Air Monitoring, Radon Surveys, Mold Surveys, Lead-
based Paint Inspections, and Preliminary Hydrogeologic Studies.  Ms. 
Gillespie has completed these assessments for various commercial, 
industrial, transmission, and residential type properties and with various 
clients throughout the United States. 

Project Experience 

Senior Environmental Scientist, Confidential Client, Phase I and II ESA 
and Asbestos Survey, Bedford, Pennsylvania.  Performed a Phase I 
ESA in accordance with ASTM E-1527 of multi-building industrial property 
developed in the 1950s.  Oversaw Phase II activities which consisted of 
locating underground storage tanks via ground penetrating radar, the 
advancement of soil borings and temporary well points via a geoprobe drill 
rig.  Conducted building inspections and sampled a variety of potential 
asbestos containing building materials following USEPA Asbestos Hazards 
Emergency Response Act (AHERA) standards.  All activities followed by a 
review of analytical data and preparation of reports. 

Senior Environmental Scientist, Confidential Client, Phase I and II ESA, 
Charleston, South Carolina.  Performed a Phase I ESA in accordance with 
ASTM E-1527 Phase I ESA.  Oversaw Phase II activities which consisted of 
the advancement of soil borings and temporary well points via a geoprobe 
drill rig.  Followed by a review of analytical data and report reviews.   

Senior Environmental Scientist, Liberty Property Trust, Phase I and II 
ESA, Redlands, California.  Performed a Phase I ESA in accordance with 
ASTM E-1527 Phase I ESA. Oversaw Phase II activities which consisted of 
the advancement of soil borings via a hand auger, followed by a review of 
analytical data and report reviews.   

Senior Environmental Scientist, Confidential Client, Phase I ESA and 
Environmental Health and Safety Survey, Gettysburg, Pennsylvania.  
Performed a Phase I ESA in accordance with ASTM E-1527 Phase I ESA.  
Conducted a Material Environmental Compliance evaluation identifying 
policies and permits regarding hazardous waste, universal waste, used oil, 
underground storage tanks, aboveground storage tanks, air permitting, 
SPCC, and potable water/waste water. 

Item E - 1861 of 2173



2 

Senior Environmental Scientist, Webster Bank, Phase I ESAs, Desktop 
Reviews, Peer Reviews, Multi-state.  Conducted desktop reviews, and 
peer reviews for various properties (multi-tenant residential, commercial, 
and industrial) which were going through bank processes. 

Senior Environmental Scientist, Confidential Client, Phase I and Indoor 
Air Sampling, Industrial Property, Kansas.  Performed a Phase I ESA in 
accordance with ASTM E-1527 Phase I ESA of a 700+ acre industrial 
property with 35 various buildings.  Additional work included a multi-building 
indoor air assessment.   

Environmental Scientist, Confidential Client, UST Removal and 
Closure, Various Locations in Pennsylvania.  Oversaw the removal and 
closure of an underground storage tank under the jurisdiction of the 
Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection. 

Senior Environmental Scientist, Multiple Clients, Asbestos Surveys, in 
various locations in Pennsylvania.  Managed numerous asbestos 
containing material surveys completed at commercial, multi-family type 
facilities, industrial, and public transportation stations following USEPA 
AHERA guidelines. 

Senior Environmental Scientist, Multiple Clients, Lead Based Paint 
Surveys, Pennsylvania.  Oversaw the performance of multiple lead based 
paint surveys following USEPA, U. S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD), and Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
(OSHA) regulations at multiple facilities in Pennsylvania.  Surveys included 
both paint chip sampling and testing via an X-ray fluorescence (XRF) 
analyzer. 

Environmental Scientist, Confidential Clients, in Pennsylvania. 
Completed inspections of facilities in preparation of creating Preparedness, 
Prevention, & Contingency (PPC) Plans, Spill Prevention Control and 
Countermeasure (SPCC) Plans, and Integrated Contingency Plans and 
established procedures, methods, and equipment to prevent the discharge 
of oil and other potentially polluting materials that may cause environmental 
degradation or endangerment of public health and safety through the 
accidental release of petroleum products. 

Senior Environmental Scientist, Multiple Clients, Phase I 
Environmental Site Assessments, Various States.  Completed over 400 
Phase I ESAs in more than  15 different states for property management 
firms, commercial property owners, lending institutions, and state 
government agencies at nursing homes, warehouse distribution facilities, 
office buildings, industrial facilities, medical facilities, apartment buildings, 
schools, hotels, automotive dealerships, gas stations, self-storage facilities, 
and undeveloped/agricultural land. 

Item E - 1862 of 2173



George H. Keil, CEM 
Principal Geoscientist 
Harrisburg Office Manager 

Overview 
Mr. Keil has over twenty-eight years of experience in regulatory 
compliance, permitting, remedial investigations and action, hazardous 
waste management, site assessment, and due diligence.  He has 
participated in projects located in over 20 states and focused on due 
diligence, regulatory compliance, permitting, remedial investigation and 
remedial action, waste characterization and classification, waste 
minimization and waste disposal issues.  He was responsible for all 
regulatory compliance and permitting at an East coast hazardous waste 
treatment facility (TSDF) as well as permitting at other RCRA facilities. 

Project Specific Experience 
• Managed due diligence and environmental remediation projects

associated with the divestiture of power generating facilities for a
New York utility.  Based on results of the environmental due
diligence (Phase I ESA), managed Phase II ESA and Phase III
remediation, including a former manufactured gas plant site and
PCB contaminated soil and concrete at a generating substation.

• Conducted and managed Phase I and Phase II environmental site
assessments on multi-site projects:

 One-hundred and sixty eight oil and gas wells,
fourteen compressor stations and five maintenance
facilities in Pennsylvania;

 Fourteen sites for New Jersey and Pennsylvania
utility company;

 Nine sites for New York utility company;
 Sixty-four sites for Pennsylvania based oil and gas

company;
 Forty-seven sites throughout United States for Texas

based chemical manufacturer; and
 Seventeen sites throughout Eastern and Southern

United States for Dupont Nylon Division.

• Conducted and managed Phase I and Phase II environmental site
assessments for multi-national firms:

 Seven sites located in Canada, Mexico, Poland,
Spain, Australia, India and China for a pipe fitting
foundry company;

 Thirty-eight sites located in 17 countries associated
with an acquisition of a multi-national chemical
manufacturing company; and

 Site located in Brazil for a multi-national chemical
company as part of an expansion program.

Areas of Expertise 
Due Diligence/Mergers Acquisitions 
EHS/Construction Permitting 
Remedial Investigation and Action 
Environmental Compliance Audits 
Hazardous Waste Management 
Waste Classification 
Waste Disposal Services 
Environmental Site Assessments 

Years of Experience 
With URS/AECOM: 15 Years 
With Other Firms: 13 Years 

Education 
Bachelor of Arts Degree - Geoscience 
(1983), Stony Brook University 
(SUNY) 

Certification 
Environmental Assessment 
Association – Certified Environmental 
Manager; Certified Remediation 
Specialist - Certification #12233 

Item E - 1863 of 2173



 
George H. Keil 

• Conducted and managed environmental compliance audits at 
various manufacturing and commercial facilities throughout 
United States, North America, Asia, Europe and Australia. 
Facilities audited include: steel mini-mills; oil refinery; shale-gas 
drilling operations, co-generation facility; chemical manufacturer; 
pigment and ink manufacturers; electronic control manufacturer 
and ceramics manufacturer. 

 
• Performed environmental compliance audits as part of a due-

diligence team for a west coast utility for the purchase of a multi-
facility Chicago utility.  As part of the due-diligence, Mr. Keil 
prepared an environmental (financial) risk profile utilizing Monte-
Carlo simulation. 

 
• Managed permitting activities for a number of facilities, including 

a New York TSDF, New Jersey RCRA facility, linear 
construction for pipeline and power utility clients (PA/NJ), 
compressor stations (PA/NY), unconventional gas wells (PA), 
chemical and manufacturing facilities (various states). 
 

• Managed and conducted investigation and closure activities at 
various sites in Pennsylvania under the Act 2 Land Recycling 
Program.  Developed site specific standards, for numerous sites, 
using risk assessments to show remediation was protective of 
human health and the environment.  Managed the preparation of 
Act 2 Program documents, such as Remedial Investigation 
Report, Clean-Up Plan, Request for Reduction of Monitoring 
Rounds, Risk Assessment Report, Final Report and Post-
Remediation Care Plan.  Coordinated and negotiated with 
PADEP to achieve site closure.  Sites included former 
manufactured gas plants, retail shopping centers and various 
industrial properties. 
 

• Conducted compliance audits at RCRA hazardous waste and 
solid waste disposal facilities including wastewater treatment, fuel 
blending, Subtitle C (hazardous) landfills, Subtitle D landfills, 
incineration, land-farming, E-waste, recycling and TSCA waste 
facilities; 

 
• Managed site investigation at a former GATX rail car 

maintenance facility in northern New Jersey.  Investigation 
included soil, soil vapor and groundwater both on and off site.  
As part of the investigation, a study of the fractured bedrock and 
fate and transport of constituents of concern was conducted as 
well as a forensic study of constituents to determine the potential 
age of impact.  The project included regular communications and 
meetings with NJDEP under a voluntary Memorandum of 
Agreement. 
 

 

   2 
Item E - 1864 of 2173



 
George H. Keil 

 
• Managed activities associated with the remediation/removal of 

sediment at the bottom of a stream in northeast Pennsylvania.  
The stream is classified as a Class A trout stream by the PADNR 
and as such, stream diversion included the removal of native 
trout to a downstream location.  Access to the stream was 
through one-quarter mile of heavy brush and forested area.  
Developed remediation strategy that incorporated a sediment 
removal pump system, excavation using mini-excavating 
equipment and hand removal. 

 
 
Specialized Training 
• Certified OSHA 1910.120 40-hour Training with 8-hour updates. 
• HAZWOPER 
• HM – 181 USDOT Hazardous Material Training 
• Confined Space Entry / Level "B" Training 
• OSHA Site Supervisor 
• Hazardous Waste Treatment Chemistry 
• Advanced RCRA topics, McCoy & Associates 
• Emergency Spill Response Training 
 
Chronology 
2007 – Present  URS Corporation/AECOM 
2000 - 2007  Environmental Waste Minimization, Inc. 
   Senior Technical Manager 
1999 - 2000  Hampton–Clark, Inc. 
   Director of Remediation 
1992 - 1999  Woodward-Clyde/URS Corporation 

Asst. Project Scientist to Project Scientist 
1988 - 1992  Stout Environmental/Republic 

Environmental Coordinator to Technical 
Compliance Manager 

1986 - 1988  Rogers & Taylor, Inc. 
   Site Assessor 
1984 - 1986  Magnetico, Inc. 
   Design Engineer 
 
Contact Information 
4507 North Front Street 
Harrisburg, PA  
Tel/717.635.7901 
Direct/717.635.7944 
Cell/484.553.8571 
george.keil@aecom.com 

   3 
Item E - 1865 of 2173



Page 1 of 5 

September 30, 2022 Via Electronic Mail 
 
Mr. Scott Strine 
Senior Vice President - Capital Deployment 
DPIF3 CA 40 LC At 60 Freeway, LLC 
5500 Equity Avenue 
Reno, NV 89502 
 
Re: Limited Phase II Environmental Site Assessment 

1600 East Francis Street 
Ontario, California, 91761 
AECOM Project No. 60691179 

 
Dear Mr. Strine: 

AECOM Technical Services, Inc. (AECOM) is pleased to present DPIF3 CA 40 At 60 Freeway, 
LLC with the findings of the Limited Phase II Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) completed at 
the northern portion of the property located at 1600 East Francis Street in Ontario, San Bernardino 
County, California (the subject property).  This letter report includes a summary of field activities, 
analytical results, and conclusions.  Figure 1-Site Location Map and Figure 2-Soil Sample 
Locations Map are provided as attachments. 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

AECOM completed a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) of the subject property in 
September 2022.  A 10,000-gallon diesel fuel underground storage tank (UST) was installed on 
the northern portion of the subject property in 1999 as replacement to a previous diesel UST and 
was in operation until July 2022.  The site contact reported that the UST was emptied and that 
the line to the dispenser was drained in July 2022.  Findings from the environmental database 
review identified the subject property on the Leaking Underground Storage Tank (LUST) 
database.  During the  December 1998 UST removal, diesel impacted soil was discovered by the 
old fuel dispenser and subsequently remediated with oversight from the San Bernardino County 
Fire Department (SBCFD).  There was no release from the prior UST.  Laboratory results of 
confirmation soil samples from the excavated area detected only low concentrations of residual 
petroleum chemicals.  Based on these results, the SBCFD subsequently issued a no further action 
(NFA) letter.  The existing steel, doubled wall UST was installed on January 14, 1999.  
Groundwater flow direction is presumed to be south based on a review of topographic maps. 

AECOM completed the following scope to determine the potential for the existing UST and 
dispenser to have environmentally impacted the subject property. 

2.0 SITE INVESTIGATION 

Limited Phase II sampling was conducted on September 15, 2022 under field oversight by 
Danielle Whitfield from AECOM’s Orange, California office and Edgar Ruiz, from AECOM’s San 
Diego, California office.  The project was supervised by Tracey Gillespie from AECOM’s 
Conshohocken, Pennsylvania office.  Ben Loebner (a California licensed Professional Geologist) 
from AECOM’s San Jose, California office reviewed this report. 

Item E - 1866 of 2173



Page 2 of 5 

2.1 Health and Safety Plan 

AECOM reviewed the subject property conditions and task objectives to identify potential hazards, 
particularly those that would increase the risk of an incident affecting people or property (i.e., 
underground utilities, aboveground utilities, terrain, and contamination).  The identified risks and 
associated abatement measures were included in a site-specific health and safety plan (HASP) 
that clearly defined task-specific control or prevention procedures, along with the roles and 
responsibilities of members of the project team.  Health and safety meetings were conducted with 
all subcontractors and AECOM personnel prior to starting the day’s work. The HASP and all 
applicable task-specific safety analysis procedures were reviewed and signed prior to initiating 
field activities. 

2.2 Underground Utility Clearance and Geophysical Investigation 

AECOM completed the required Underground Service Alert (Dig Alert) notification more than 72 
hours prior to the commencement of drilling at the subject property.   

To assist in underground utility clearance, a geophysical investigation, consisting of a ground 
penetrating radar (GPR) and electromagnetic (EM) survey, was conducted by Ground Penetrating 
Radar Services (GPRS) on September 9, 2022, prior to the initiation of intrusive investigation 
activities.   

The survey was conducted over portions of the Site where the soil borings were to be advanced 
using electromagnetic equipment and 400 MHz antenna radar equipment.  GPRS located and 
marked-out electrical, water, and gas lines within the vicinity of the UST.  GPRS identified the 
extents of the existing 10,000-gallon UST.  An anomaly approximately two-foot by four-foot wide 
roughly two feet below ground surface (bgs) was identified by GPRS located to the south-
southwest of the UST.  No other anomalies indicative of buried tanks, oil-water separators, 
hydraulic lifts, or other appurtenances were identified in the northern portion of the subject 
property in the vicinity of the UST.  AECOM conducted a file review at the San Bernardino County 
Fire Department on September 16, 2022.  The file review indicated that this anomaly was 
associated with the Veeder Root system for the UST.  A copy of the GPRS’ summary report is 
provided in Appendix A. 

2.3 Limited Soil and Groundwater Sampling 

AECOM contacted the San Bernardino County Environmental Health Services (EHS) office prior 
to the commencement of field activities.  A representative from the EHS office indicated that a 
well permit was not required since the borings were to be advanced to depths of less than 20 feet 
bgs and it was unlikely that groundwater would be encountered.   

AECOM contracted with Cascade Drilling of Richmond, California (a California licensed driller) to 
advance seven soil borings (B-1 through B-7) on September 15, 2022 using a combination of 
hand auger and GeoProbe® 7700 truck mounted direct-push technology (DPT) drilling equipment 
to advance soil borings to 15 feet bgs.  All the soil borings were cleared to depths of five feet bgs 
using a hand auger.  Soils encountered in the borings included fill materials consisting of asphalt 
and gravel before transitioning to silty sand to sand.  All borings in the vicinity of the UST and 
dispenser were advanced to the target depth of 15 feet bgs.  One boring location, B-7, located 
downgradient of the anomaly identified by GPRS, was advanced to a depth of five feet bgs with 

Item E - 1867 of 2173



Page 3 of 5 

a hand auger since the location was not marked-out at the time of Dig Alert’s utility locating.  
AECOM did not encounter any groundwater bearing zones in any of the borings and therefore 
groundwater was not sampled.  The locations of the soil borings are described below and depicted 
on the attached Figure 2 – Soil Sample Locations Map.  

AECOM focused the Limited Phase II ESA on the area in the vicinity of the 10,000-gallon UST, 
the dispenser, and the anomaly identified to the south-southwest of the UST.  The study areas 
include: 

 B-1: west of the UST; 
 B-2: south of the UST; 
 B-3: east of the UST; 
 B-4: north of the UST; 
 B-5: east of the dispenser; 
 B-6: south of the dispenser and; 
 B-7: south of the anomaly. 
 

Recovered soils were screened with a photoionization detector (PID) for volatile organic 
compounds (VOCs) and characterized for lithology and the visual presence of contamination.  No 
VOCs were detected with the PID.  No visual, olfactory, or detected contamination was observed.  
In the absence of contamination indicators, the soil interval at the borehole termination was 
selected for laboratory analysis.  Soil boring location photos and soil boring logs are provided in 
this report as Appendix B.  

Undisturbed soil samples in acetate liners were capped, labeled, stored under iced conditions, 
and were transported under chain-of-custody documentation to Eurofins Calscience.  The 
samples were analyzed for target compound list (TCL) VOCs via United States Environmental 
Protection Agency (USEPA) Method 8260B, TCL semi-volatile organic compounds (SVOCs) via 
USEPA Method 8270, and Diesel Range Organics (DRO) via USEPA Method 8015B.  Due to an 
error on the chain-of-custody the samples were additionally analyzed for herbicides via USEPA 
Method 8151A and pesticides via USEPA Method 8081A. 

As directed by the San Bernardino County EHS Department, recovered soil was drummed and 
one 55-gallon drums were labeled and left onsite for disposal at a later date by the Client.  It 
should be noted that AECOM observed three 55-gallon drums located to the east of the dispenser 
were observed and were likely from the previous investigation.  Additionally, AECOM observed 
four 55-gallon drums to the south of the dispenser which were labeled as hazmat cleanup 
materials. 

Upon completion of soil sampling, boreholes B-1 through B-6 were filled with cement grout from 
0.5-feet bgs to 15 feet bgs and from 0.5-feet bgs to grade were filled with cement dyed black to 
match the asphalt.  B-7 was filled with cement grout from 0.5-feet bgs to five feet bgs and from 
0.5-feet bgs to grade with cement dyed black.  

3.0 LABORTORY ANALYSIS 

Soil analytical results were reviewed and compared to the San Francisco Regional Water Quality 
Control Board (RWQCB) Tier 1 Environmental Screening Levels (Tier 1 ESLs), Final Risk Based 

Item E - 1868 of 2173



Page 4 of 5 

Screening Levels (Table S-1), updated July 25, 2019.  The Certified Laboratory Analytical Reports 
are provided in Appendix C. 
 
Analytical results identified DRO at a concentration of 5.1 milligrams per kilogram (mg/Kg) at B-
6, collected to the south of the dispenser.  This concentration is below the RWQCB Tier 1 ESL of 
260 mg/Kg for petroleum-diesel constituents. 

No VOCs, SVOCs, herbicides, or pesticides were detected in the soil samples collected from the 
subject property above the method detection limits. 

4.0 CONCLUSIONS 

Based on the results of the Limited Phase II Environmental Assessment, AECOM concludes that 
no obvious impact from the UST and/or dispenser was encountered at the subject property in 
exceedance of the Tier 1 ESLs.  No further investigations are warranted at this time. 

5.0 LIMITATIONS 

AECOM has performed the scope of work set forth in the proposal dated August 16, 2022  related 
to this project, as it may have been amended (the "Proposal"), in specific reliance on the 
understandings and agreements reached between DPFI3 Acquisitions Co LLC/DPIF3 CA 40 LLC 
at 60 Freeway, LLC (Client) as reflected in the Proposal and the written agreement between them 
(the "Agreement").  AECOM’s scope of work was limited to that stated in the Proposal.  

Opinions, Judgments and Third Party Rights: Opinions and judgments expressed herein, which 
are based on our understanding and interpretation of current regulatory standards, should not be 
construed as legal opinions.  No third party shall have the right to rely on this report or other 
related project documentation without written consent from AECOM and DPIF3 CA 40 LLC at 60 
Freeway, LLC. 

AECOM’s services in the development of this report were conducted, within the limits prescribed 
by the Agreement, in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by 
members of the same professions currently practicing in the same locality under similar conditions 
and no other guaranty, warranty, or representation, either express or implied, is included or 
intended herein. 

Client recognizes and agrees that:  

 The information in the Report relates only to the property specifically described in the Proposal 
and Report;  

 The information and conclusions provided in the Report applies only to the subject property 
as it existed at the time of AECOM’s site examination.  Changes in applicable standards may 
occur because of changing environmental regulations or additional knowledge gained 
regarding a specific parameter.  Accordingly, the findings of this report may be invalidated, 
wholly or in part, by changes beyond our control. 

 The Report is intended to be used in it’s entirety and no excerpts may be taken to be 
representative of the findings of this investigation. 

Item E - 1869 of 2173



Page 5 of 5 

Please feel free to contact us if you have any questions regarding the results or this report.  We 
appreciate your continued confidence in AECOM.  Please contact me at 717-608-2436 with 
questions or comments regarding the findings of this report. 

Sincerely, 
AECOM 

 
  
      
 
Tracey P. Gillespie George H. Keil, PG 
Senior Environmental Scientist Vice President, Environment 
  

 
 
  

Ben Loebner, P.G. 
Senior Geologist/Project Manager, Remediation Practices 
 
Attachments: 
 
Figure 1 – Site Location Map 
Figure 2 – Boring Location Map 
 
Appendix A – GPR Summary Report 
Appendix B – Soil Boring Photos and Soil Boring Logs 
Appendix C – Laboratory Analytical Reports 
Appendix D – UST Installation – January 14, 1999 

Item E - 1870 of 2173



Job: 60691179

Prepared by: TPG

Checked by: TPG

FIGURE 1
Site Location Map

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, San Bernardino County, California

625 West Ridge Pike, Suite E-100
Conshohocken, PA 19428
Phone: (610) 832-3500 Fax: (610) 832-3501

References: Guast, CA Topographic Quadrangle, 2018 
and West Ontario, CA Topographic Quadrangle, 2018

San
Bernardino

San Diego

Ventura

Santa Barbara

Los Angeles

Riverside

Kern

Imperial

Orange

O

Date: 9/29/2022

Site

Item E - 1871 of 2173

tracey.gillespie
Line

tracey.gillespie
Line



Job: 60691179.2

Prepared by: BSF

Checked by: TG

FIGURE 2
Soil Sample Locations Map

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, San Bernardino County, California

625 West Ridge Pike, Suite E-100
Conshohocken, PA 19428
Phone: (610) 832-3500 Fax: (610) 832-3501

NAD 1983 State Plane California V
Lambert Conformal Conic
Linear Unit: U.S. Foot

References:

!(

!(

!(

!( !(

!(

!(

E Francis St

B-4
B-1

B-2
B-3 B-5

B-6
B-7

San
Bernardino

San Diego

Ventura

Santa Barbara

Los Angeles

Riverside

Kern

Imperial

Orange

O

Path: L:\DCS\Projects\IMS\DUE_DLGNCE\DERMODY\Maps\Ontario CA\E Francis St - Soil Sample Location Map.mxd

Date: 9/29/2022

0 50 10025
Feet

Legend
!( Soil Sample Location

UST

Dispenser

Item E - 1872 of 2173

tracey.gillespie
Line



APPENDIX A 

GPR Summary Report 

Item E - 1873 of 2173



AECOMCustomer Phone Number (626) 979-4780

625 W RIDGE PIKE

Job Details

City

CONSHOHOCKEN

State 

PA

Zip

19428

City ONTARIO
State CA

Jobsite Location 1600 EAST FRANCIS ST

383643

Job Num 60691179.1
PO Num

WA Number

147662.GPRS_FE

Lead Technician RICHBURG, MAZI Phone 484-886-9826 Email mazi.richburg@gprsinc.com

Thank you for using GPRS on your project. We appreciate the opportunity to work with you. If you have questions 
regarding the results of this scanning, please contact the lead GPRS technician on this project.

Billing Address

EQUIPMENT USED

The following equipment was used on this project:

·  Underground Scanning GPR antenna. Typically capable of detecting objects up to 8' deep or more in ideal conditions
but maximum effective depth can vary widely and depends on site and soil conditions.  Depth penetration is most
commonly limited by moisture and clay/conductive soils. Depths provided should always be treated as estimates as
their accuracy can be affected by multiple factors.

·  Electromagnetic Pipe and Cable Locator. Detects electromagnetic fields. Used to actively trace conductive pipes and
tracer wires, or passively detect power and radio signals traveling along conductive pipes and utilities. Depths
provided should always be treated as estimates as their accuracy can be affected by multiple factors.

Work Performed 
Ground Penetrating Radar Systems performed the following work on this project:
Underground Utility
The scope of work included scanning the specified area to locate underground utilities. A tracer signal was sent along any 
accessible metallic utility or tracer wire, and the area was scanned with GPR to locate any additional targets. The locations 
of any detected utilities and anomalies were marked directly at the site with paint, flags, stakes, or other appropriate 
means, and results were reviewed with onsite personnel unless otherwise noted.

·  Clear a large area for unknowns and utilities.

·  The effective depth of GPR will vary throughout a site depending on surface and soil conditions. In this area, the
maximum effective GPR depth was approximately 0-4 feet.

·  Located electrical, water, and gas lines within the scope. No signal on one electrical conduit and a couple of water
surface features. Unable to verify some unknowns that have been marked out. Job site employee mentioned that
there is a water that has been hit before near the gas pump. Unable to find this water line with my equipment.
Recommend hand digging near the gas pump.

Page 1 of 3

Job Date : 9/9/2022

Job Summary

Item E - 1874 of 2173



Underground Tanks
The scope of work included scanning the designated area to attempt to locate evidence of underground storage tanks 
and/or UST removal excavations.  The locations of any UST's, associated piping, or excavations detected were marked with 
paint, flags, or other appropriate means, and results were reviewed with onsite personnel unless otherwise noted.  The 
ability to locate these objects depends on the maximum depth penetration and soil conditions and non-metallic tanks can 
be especially difficult to locate. 

·  Clear a large area for any potential USTs.
Submittal letter and pictures will be sent with formal report

·  The effective depth of GPR will vary throughout a site depending on surface and soil conditions. In this area, the
maximum effective GPR depth was approximately 0-5 feet.

·  Found two areas for potential USTs. Need to send data to corporate for they can evaluate the GPR data. Results will
be within the formal report. Pictures will also be in the formal report. Submittal letter that withholds the map will
come with the formal report deliverable.

Extras
·  In addition to this job summary report, a formal report of findings will be submitted. Unless otherwise negotiated,

this report will be submitted within one week of project completion.
Pictures

TERMS & CONDITIONS

https://www.gp-radar.com/legal/terms-conditions?utm_source=jobsummary&utm_medium=referral

SIGNATURE

Contact Name
Danielle Whitfield     (626) 979-4780     Danielle.whitfield@aecom.com

Page 2 of 3

Job Date : 9/9/2022

Job Summary

Item E - 1875 of 2173



Page 3 of 3

Job Date : 9/9/2022

Job Summary

Item E - 1876 of 2173



APPENDIX B 

Soil Boring Photographs 

and Boring Logs 

Item E - 1877 of 2173



PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California 91761 

Project No. 
60691179 

Photo No. 
1 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

Southwest  

Description: 

The location of the 
10,000-gallon UST.  A 
typical view of the utility 
mark-outs and the boring 
mark-outs for the Dig Alert 
notification. 

Photo No. 

2
Date: 

9/15/22 
Direction Photo 
Taken: 

North-northeast 

Description: 

The dispenser located to 
the east of the 10,000-
gallon UST.  Note the 
drums were labeled as 
haz mat cleanup. 

Item E - 1878 of 2173



PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California 91761 

Project No. 
60691179 

Photo No. 
3 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

Northwest 

Description: 

The east side of the 
dispenser and three 
drums located to the east 
of the dispenser at the 
time of AECOM’s arrival.  
The drums at the 
dispenser contain spill 
kits.

Photo No. 
4 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

West 

Description: 

The location of B-1 to 
the west of the 10,000-
gallon UST. 

Item E - 1879 of 2173



PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California 91761 

Project No. 
60691179 

Photo No. 
5 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

East 

Description: 

The location of B-2 
located to the south of the 
10,000-gallon UST. 

Photo No. 
6 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

Southwest 

Description: 

The location of B-3 
located to the east of the 
10,000-gallon UST. 

Item E - 1880 of 2173



PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California 91761 

Project No. 
60691179 

Photo No. 
7 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

East 

Description: 

The location of B-4 to the 
north of the 10,000-gallon 
UST.  Note the utility 
mark-outs in the vicinity of 
the UST.  

Photo No. 
8 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

East 

Description: 

The location of B-5 
located to the east of the 
dispenser. 

Item E - 1881 of 2173



PHOTOGRAPH LOG 

Facility Name:  
Commercial Property 

Site Location: 
1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, California 91761 

Project No. 
60691179 

Photo No. 
9 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

North 

Description: 

The location of B-6 
located to the south of the 
dispenser. 

Photo No. 
10 

Date: 
9/15/22 

Direction Photo 
Taken: 

East 

Description: 

The location of B-7 
located to the south of an 
anomaly located to the 
southwest of the 10,000-
gallon UST. 

Item E - 1882 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor component(s), 

moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, odor, and 
Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base)

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose

3

4

5 0.0

6

7 5-10 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose

8

9

10 0.1

11 Dark, yellowish brown (10 YR 4/6), fine to coarse sand, sub-round to sub-angular, dry,

loose, moderately graded.

12

10-15 60

13

14

Fine to coarse silty sand. B-1  (15')

15

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-1

Item E - 1883 of 2173

tracey.gillespie
Line



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor 

component(s), moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, 
odor, and Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/3), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose. Traces of coarse sand

3 sub-round to sub-angular.

4

5 0.1

6

7 5-10 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/3), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose. Traces of coarse sand

sub-round to sub-angular.

8

9

10 0.1

11 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to coarse sand, sub-round to sub-angular, dry,

loose, moderately graded.

12

10-15 60

13

14

0.4 Fine to coarse silty sand. B-2  (15')

15

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-2

Item E - 1884 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed:  No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0'

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor 

component(s), moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, 
odor, and Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/3), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose. 

3 sub-round to sub-angular.

4

5 0.5

6

7 5-10 60 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to coarse sand, gravel, sub-angular to sub-round, 

dry, loose, poorly graded.

8

9

10 0.4

11 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to coarse sand, sub-round to sub-angular, dry,

loose, poorly graded.

12

10-15 60

13

14

0.3 B-3  (15')

15

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-3

Item E - 1885 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor 

component(s), moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, 
odor, and Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/3), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose, well graded.

3

4

5 0.4

6

7 5-10 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to coarse sand, gravel, sub-angular to sub-round, 

8

9

10 0.2

11 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to medium sand, trace amounts of gravel, sub-round to

sub-angular, dry, loose, moderately sorted.

12

10-15 60

13

14

0.3 Transitions to fine to coarse sand, gravel sub-angular to sub-round. B-4  (15')

15

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-4

Item E - 1886 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor 

component(s), moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, 
odor, and Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine silty sand, dry, loose, well graded. 

3

4

5 0.4

6

7 5-10 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine silty sand, dry, loose, well graded. 

8

9

10 0.3

11 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/3), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose, and well graded.

12

10-15 60

13

14

0.5 Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/4), fine to medium silty sand, gravel sub-round to sub-angular, B-5  (15')

15 dry and loose.

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-5

Item E - 1887 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Geoprobe Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  2.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  15'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor component(s), 

moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, odor, and Geologic 
Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine to medium fine silty sand, dry, loose and well graded.

0.6

5-10 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine to medium fine silty sand, dry, loose and well graded.

0.7

Light olive brown (2.5 Y 5/3), fine to coarse sand, gravel, sub-round to sub-angular, dry,

loose, poorly graded.

10-15 60

0.7 B-6 (15')

Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling
OTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @15'

BORING ID: B-6

Item E - 1888 of 2173



Client:  DPIF3

Project Number: 60691179

Site Location:  1600 East Francis Street, Ontario, CA

Coordinates: Elevation: Sheet:  1 of 1

Drilling Method:  Hand Auger Monitoring Well Installed: No

Sample Type(s):  Continuous Boring Diameter:  3.25" Screened Interval:  N/A

Weather:  Logged By:   DW Date/Time Started:  9/15/2022 Depth of Boring:  5'

Drilling Contractor:  Cascade Ground Elevation: Date/Time Finished:  9/15/2022 Water Level:  0

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

G
eo

lo
gi

c 
sa

m
pl

e 
ID

S
am

pl
e 

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

B
lo

w
s 

pe
r 

6"

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(i

nc
he

s)

H
ea

ds
pa

ce
 (

pp
m

)

U
.S

.C
.S MATERIALS: Color, size, range, MAIN COMPONENT, minor 

component(s), moisture content, structure, angularity, maximum grain size, 
odor, and Geologic Unit (If Known)

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e 

ID

L
ab

 S
am

pl
e

D
ep

th
 (

F
t.)

Asphalt and gravel (road base).

1

2

0-5 60 Olive brown (2.5 Y 4/4), fine to medium silty sand, dry, loose, well graded. 

3

4

0.2

5 B7 (5')

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
Date Time Depth to groundwater while drilling

NOTES:

Checked by ____________________________Date:________________

End of boring @5'

BORING ID: B-7

Item E - 1889 of 2173



APPENDIX C 

Laboratory Analytical Results 

Item E - 1890 of 2173



ANALYTICAL REPORT
Eurofins Calscience
2841 Dow Avenue, Suite 100
Tustin, CA 92780
Tel: (714)895-5494

Laboratory Job ID: 570-109999-2
Client Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

For:
AECOM
625 West Ridge Pike
Suite E-100
Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428

Attn: Tracey Gillespie

Authorized for release by:
9/28/2022 9:29:21 AM

Vikas Patel, Project Manager I
(714)895-5494
Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com

The test results in this report meet all 2003 NELAC, 2009 TNI, and 2016 TNI
requirements for accredited parameters, exceptions are noted in this report. This
report may not be reproduced except in full, and with written approval from the
laboratory. For questions please contact the Project Manager at the e-mail address or
telephone number listed on this page.

This report has been electronically signed and authorized by the signatory. Electronic
signature is intended to be the legally binding equivalent of a traditionally handwritten
signature.

Results relate only to the items tested and the sample(s) as received by the laboratory.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1891 of 2173

https://eol.et.eurofinsus.com/myEOL/
https://www.eurofinsus.com/environment-testing/ask-the-expert/
http://www.eurofinsus.com/Env
mailto:Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com


Table of Contents

Client: AECOM
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Laboratory Job ID: 570-109999-2

Page 2 of 37
Eurofins Calscience

9/28/2022

Cover Page . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

Table of Contents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

Definitions/Glossary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Case Narrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4

Detection Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Client Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

Surrogate Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20

QC Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21

QC Association Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27

Lab Chronicle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29

Certification Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31

Method Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32

Sample Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33

Chain of Custody . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34

Receipt Checklists . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1892 of 2173



Definitions/Glossary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Qualifiers

GC/MS Semi VOA
Qualifier Description

F1 MS and/or MSD recovery exceeds control limits.

Qualifier

Glossary

These commonly used abbreviations may or may not be present in this report.

¤ Listed under the "D" column to designate that the result is reported on a dry weight basis

Abbreviation

%R Percent Recovery

CFL Contains Free Liquid

CFU Colony Forming Unit

CNF Contains No Free Liquid

DER Duplicate Error Ratio (normalized absolute difference)

Dil Fac Dilution Factor

DL Detection Limit (DoD/DOE)

DL, RA, RE, IN Indicates a Dilution, Re-analysis, Re-extraction, or additional Initial metals/anion analysis of the sample

DLC Decision Level Concentration (Radiochemistry)

EDL Estimated Detection Limit (Dioxin)

LOD Limit of Detection (DoD/DOE)

LOQ Limit of Quantitation (DoD/DOE)

MCL EPA recommended "Maximum Contaminant Level"

MDA Minimum Detectable Activity (Radiochemistry)

MDC Minimum Detectable Concentration (Radiochemistry)

MDL Method Detection Limit

ML Minimum Level (Dioxin)

MPN Most Probable Number

MQL Method Quantitation Limit

NC Not Calculated

ND Not Detected at the reporting limit (or MDL or EDL if shown)

NEG Negative / Absent

POS Positive / Present

PQL Practical Quantitation Limit

PRES Presumptive

QC Quality Control

RER Relative Error Ratio (Radiochemistry)

RL Reporting Limit or Requested Limit (Radiochemistry)

RPD Relative Percent Difference, a measure of the relative difference between two points

TEF Toxicity Equivalent Factor (Dioxin)

TEQ Toxicity Equivalent Quotient (Dioxin)

TNTC Too Numerous To Count

Eurofins Calscience

Page 3 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1893 of 2173



Case Narrative
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-2
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Job ID: 570-109999-2

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience

Narrative

Job Narrative

570-109999-2

Comments

No additional comments. 

Receipt 

The samples were received on 9/15/2022 2:30 PM.  Unless otherwise noted below, the samples arrived in good condition, and where 
required, properly preserved and on ice.  The temperature of the cooler at receipt was 4.3º C.

GC/MS Semi VOA 

No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

GC Semi VOA 
No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

Organic Prep 
No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 4 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1894 of 2173



Detection Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-1-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-2-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-3-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-4-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-5-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-6-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28]

RL

4.9 mg/Kg

Analyte Result Qualifier Unit Dil Fac D Method Prep Type

Total/NA15.1 8015B

Client Sample ID: B-7-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7

 No Detections.

Eurofins Calscience

This Detection Summary does not include radiochemical test results.

Page 5 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1895 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzidine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 6 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1896 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Dibenzofuran ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Phenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 82 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 79 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 91 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 87 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 74 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 92 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 22:42 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 7 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1897 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2-Chlorophenol ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzidine ND F1

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Naphthalene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 8 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1898 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Nitrobenzene ND 2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Phenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 77 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 64 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 48 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 47 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 76 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 65 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:01 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 14-Nitroaniline ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 9 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1899 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4-Nitrophenol ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzidine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Phenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 58 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 58 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 70 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 64 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 110 - 129

Eurofins Calscience

Page 10 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1900 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 51 31 - 139 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 68 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:19 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzidine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Benzyl alcohol ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 11 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1901 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Phenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 76 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 71 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 82 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 77 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 66 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 81 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:37 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 12 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1902 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4-Dichlorophenol ND 0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Methylphenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

0.99 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Acenaphthene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Aniline ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Anthracene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Azobenzene ND

4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzidine ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzoic acid ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Chrysene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Fluoranthene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Fluorene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 13 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1903 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND 0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Isophorone ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Phenanthrene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Phenol ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Pyrene ND

0.49 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 74 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 72 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 84 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 79 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 64 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 80 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 23:55 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 14 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1904 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

3-Nitroaniline ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzidine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzo[a]anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Phenol ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 15 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1905 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Pyrene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 84 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 81 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 93 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 89 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 74 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 92 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:13 110 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 11-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4-Dimethylphenol ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4-Dinitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,4-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,6-Dichlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12,6-Dinitrotoluene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Chloronaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Chlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Methylnaphthalene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 12-Nitrophenol ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine ND

1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 13 & 4 Methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 13-Nitroaniline ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Chloroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Nitroaniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 14-Nitrophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Acenaphthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Acenaphthylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Aniline ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Azobenzene ND

5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzidine ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 16 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1906 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Benzo[a]anthracene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzo[a]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzoic acid ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Benzyl alcohol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Butyl benzyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Chrysene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Dibenzofuran ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Diethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Dimethyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Di-n-butyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Di-n-octyl phthalate ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Fluoranthene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Fluorene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Hexachlorobenzene ND

1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Hexachloroethane ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Isophorone ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Naphthalene ND

2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Nitrobenzene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine ND

2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Pentachlorophenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Phenanthrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Phenol ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Pyrene ND

0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1Pyridine ND

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 66 10 - 134 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 63 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 114 - 142

2-Fluorophenol (Surr) 78 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 110 - 123

Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 70 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 110 - 129

p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 60 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 131 - 139

Phenol-d6 (Surr) 76 09/23/22 18:19 09/27/22 00:31 110 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 17 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1907 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8015B - Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 09:28 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 106 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 09:28 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 09:48 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 107 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 09:48 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 10:09 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 106 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 10:09 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 10:29 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 104 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 10:29 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 11:30 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 104 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 11:30 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] 5.1 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 11:51 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 106 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 11:51 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 18 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1908 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8015B - Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 4.9 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 12:12 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 95 60 - 138 09/23/22 15:51 09/24/22 12:12 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 19 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1909 of 2173



Surrogate Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (10-134) (14-142) (10-123) (10-129) (31-139) (10-120)

TBP FBP 2FP NBZ TPHd14 PHL6

82 79 91 87 74 92570-109999-1

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-1-15

77 64 48 7647 65570-109999-2 B-2-15

73 67 78 7068 80570-109999-2 MS B-2-15

74 70 80 6969 83570-109999-2 MSD B-2-15

58 58 70 5164 68570-109999-3 B-3-15

76 71 82 6677 81570-109999-4 B-4-15

74 72 84 6479 80570-109999-5 B-5-15

84 81 93 7489 92570-109999-6 B-6-15

66 63 78 6070 76570-109999-7 B-7-15

88 86 98 8784 102LCS 570-267007/2-A Lab Control Sample

88 85 95 8581 96LCSD 570-267007/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup

90 99 104 94103 102MB 570-267007/1-A Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

TBP = 2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr)

FBP = 2-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr)

2FP = 2-Fluorophenol (Surr)

NBZ = Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr)

TPHd14 = p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr)

PHL6 = Phenol-d6 (Surr)

Method: 8015B - Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (60-138)

OTCSN1

106570-109999-1

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-1-15

106570-109999-1 MS B-1-15

105570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15

107570-109999-2 B-2-15

106570-109999-3 B-3-15

104570-109999-4 B-4-15

104570-109999-5 B-5-15

106570-109999-6 B-6-15

95570-109999-7 B-7-15

108LCS 570-266939/2-A Lab Control Sample

110LCSD 570-266939/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup

110MB 570-266939/1-A Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

OTCSN = n-Octacosane (Surr)

Eurofins Calscience

Page 20 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1910 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-267007/1-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

RL

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 11,2-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 11,3-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 11,4-Dichlorobenzene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 11-Methylnaphthalene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4,5-Trichlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4,6-Trichlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4-Dichlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4-Dimethylphenol

ND 2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4-Dinitrophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,4-Dinitrotoluene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,6-Dichlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12,6-Dinitrotoluene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Chloronaphthalene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Chlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Methylnaphthalene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Methylphenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Nitroaniline

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Nitrophenol

ND 2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 13,3'-Dichlorobenzidine

ND 1.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 13 & 4 Methylphenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 13-Nitroaniline

ND 2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14,6-Dinitro-2-methylphenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Bromophenyl phenyl ether

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Chloro-3-methylphenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Chloroaniline

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Nitroaniline

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 14-Nitrophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Acenaphthene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Acenaphthylene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Aniline

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Anthracene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Azobenzene

ND 5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzidine

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzo[a]anthracene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzo[a]pyrene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzo[b]fluoranthene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzo[g,h,i]perylene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzo[k]fluoranthene

ND 2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzoic acid

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Benzyl alcohol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Bis(2-chloroethoxy)methane

ND 2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Bis(2-chloroethyl)ether

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1bis (2-Chloroisopropyl) ether

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Butyl benzyl phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Chrysene

Eurofins Calscience

Page 21 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1911 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-267007/1-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

RL

Dibenz(a,h)anthracene ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Dibenzofuran

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Diethyl phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Dimethyl phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Di-n-butyl phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Di-n-octyl phthalate

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Fluoranthene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Fluorene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Hexachlorobenzene

ND 1.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Hexachlorocyclopentadiene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Hexachloroethane

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Isophorone

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Naphthalene

ND 2.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Nitrobenzene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1N-Nitrosodimethylamine

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1N-Nitrosodiphenylamine

ND 2.5 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Pentachlorophenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Phenanthrene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Phenol

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Pyrene

ND 0.50 mg/Kg 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Pyridine

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 90 10 - 134 09/26/22 17:51 1

MB MB

Surrogate

09/23/22 18:19

Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

99 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 14 - 142

104 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 12-Fluorophenol (Surr) 10 - 123

103 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 10 - 129

94 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 31 - 139

102 09/23/22 18:19 09/26/22 17:51 1Phenol-d6 (Surr) 10 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-267007/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene 5.00 3.562 mg/Kg 71 59 - 120

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

1,4-Dichlorobenzene 5.00 4.285 mg/Kg 86 64 - 120

2,4-Dinitrotoluene 5.00 5.092 mg/Kg 102 64 - 120

2-Chlorophenol 5.00 4.983 mg/Kg 100 65 - 121

4-Chloro-3-methylphenol 5.00 4.533 mg/Kg 91 54 - 120

4-Nitrophenol 5.00 5.796 mg/Kg 116 52 - 121

Acenaphthene 5.00 4.515 mg/Kg 90 71 - 120

Acenaphthylene 5.00 4.762 mg/Kg 95 77 - 125

Butyl benzyl phthalate 5.00 4.631 mg/Kg 93 58 - 120

Dimethyl phthalate 5.00 4.706 mg/Kg 94 58 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 22 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1912 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-267007/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

Fluorene 5.00 4.576 mg/Kg 92 72 - 120

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

Naphthalene 5.00 3.959 mg/Kg 79 60 - 120

N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine 5.00 5.548 mg/Kg 111 61 - 123

Pentachlorophenol 5.00 4.073 mg/Kg 81 27 - 120

Phenol 5.00 5.043 mg/Kg 101 61 - 127

Pyrene 5.00 4.679 mg/Kg 94 70 - 124

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 10 - 134

Surrogate

88

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

862-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 14 - 142

982-Fluorophenol (Surr) 10 - 123

84Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 10 - 129

87p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 31 - 139

102Phenol-d6 (Surr) 10 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-267007/3-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene 5.00 3.606 mg/Kg 72 59 - 120 1 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,4-Dichlorobenzene 5.00 4.210 mg/Kg 84 64 - 120 2 20

2,4-Dinitrotoluene 5.00 5.074 mg/Kg 101 64 - 120 0 20

2-Chlorophenol 5.00 4.760 mg/Kg 95 65 - 121 5 20

4-Chloro-3-methylphenol 5.00 4.358 mg/Kg 87 54 - 120 4 20

4-Nitrophenol 5.00 5.827 mg/Kg 117 52 - 121 1 20

Acenaphthene 5.00 4.455 mg/Kg 89 71 - 120 1 20

Acenaphthylene 5.00 4.887 mg/Kg 98 77 - 125 3 20

Butyl benzyl phthalate 5.00 4.545 mg/Kg 91 58 - 120 2 20

Dimethyl phthalate 5.00 4.743 mg/Kg 95 58 - 120 1 20

Fluorene 5.00 4.556 mg/Kg 91 72 - 120 0 20

Naphthalene 5.00 3.955 mg/Kg 79 60 - 120 0 20

N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine 5.00 5.359 mg/Kg 107 61 - 123 3 20

Pentachlorophenol 5.00 4.072 mg/Kg 81 27 - 120 0 20

Phenol 5.00 4.830 mg/Kg 97 61 - 127 4 20

Pyrene 5.00 4.551 mg/Kg 91 70 - 124 3 20

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 10 - 134

Surrogate

88

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

852-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 14 - 142

952-Fluorophenol (Surr) 10 - 123

81Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 10 - 129

85p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 31 - 139

96Phenol-d6 (Surr) 10 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 23 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1913 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-2-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2 MS
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 4.95 3.115 mg/Kg 63 50 - 125

Analyte

MS MS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits

1,4-Dichlorobenzene ND 4.95 3.527 mg/Kg 71 45 - 125

2,4-Dinitrotoluene ND 4.95 4.294 mg/Kg 87 47 - 125

2-Chlorophenol ND 4.95 4.123 mg/Kg 83 49 - 125

4-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND 4.95 3.848 mg/Kg 78 53 - 125

4-Nitrophenol ND 4.95 4.491 mg/Kg 91 22 - 134

Acenaphthene ND 4.95 3.617 mg/Kg 73 51 - 125

Acenaphthylene ND 4.95 3.841 mg/Kg 78 54 - 125

Butyl benzyl phthalate ND 4.95 3.682 mg/Kg 74 58 - 125

Dimethyl phthalate ND 4.95 3.883 mg/Kg 79 52 - 125

Fluorene ND 4.95 3.809 mg/Kg 77 54 - 125

Naphthalene ND 4.95 3.337 mg/Kg 67 39 - 127

N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND 4.95 4.620 mg/Kg 93 47 - 125

Pentachlorophenol ND 4.95 3.479 mg/Kg 70 10 - 125

Phenol ND 4.95 4.137 mg/Kg 84 45 - 125

Pyrene ND 4.95 3.697 mg/Kg 75 56 - 125

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 10 - 134

Surrogate

73

MS MS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

672-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 14 - 142

782-Fluorophenol (Surr) 10 - 123

68Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 10 - 129

70p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 31 - 139

80Phenol-d6 (Surr) 10 - 120

Client Sample ID: B-2-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND 4.92 3.089 mg/Kg 63 50 - 125 1 20

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,4-Dichlorobenzene ND 4.92 3.541 mg/Kg 72 45 - 125 0 24

2,4-Dinitrotoluene ND 4.92 4.143 mg/Kg 84 47 - 125 4 20

2-Chlorophenol ND 4.92 4.153 mg/Kg 84 49 - 125 1 20

4-Chloro-3-methylphenol ND 4.92 3.800 mg/Kg 77 53 - 125 1 20

4-Nitrophenol ND 4.92 4.573 mg/Kg 93 22 - 134 2 21

Acenaphthene ND 4.92 3.714 mg/Kg 76 51 - 125 3 20

Acenaphthylene ND 4.92 3.878 mg/Kg 79 54 - 125 1 20

Butyl benzyl phthalate ND 4.92 3.645 mg/Kg 74 58 - 125 1 20

Dimethyl phthalate ND 4.92 3.915 mg/Kg 80 52 - 125 1 20

Fluorene ND 4.92 3.734 mg/Kg 76 54 - 125 2 20

Naphthalene ND 4.92 3.348 mg/Kg 68 39 - 127 0 20

N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine ND 4.92 4.719 mg/Kg 96 47 - 125 2 20

Pentachlorophenol ND 4.92 3.442 mg/Kg 70 10 - 125 1 20

Phenol ND 4.92 4.236 mg/Kg 86 45 - 125 2 20

Pyrene ND 4.92 3.730 mg/Kg 76 56 - 125 1 20

Eurofins Calscience

Page 24 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1914 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8270C - Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-2-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 267420 Prep Batch: 267007

2,4,6-Tribromophenol (Surr) 10 - 134

Surrogate

74

MSD MSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

702-Fluorobiphenyl (Surr) 14 - 142

802-Fluorophenol (Surr) 10 - 123

69Nitrobenzene-d5 (Surr) 10 - 129

69p-Terphenyl-d14 (Surr) 31 - 139

83Phenol-d6 (Surr) 10 - 120

Method: 8015B - Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-266939/1-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

RL

Diesel Range Organics [C10-C28] ND 5.0 mg/Kg 09/23/22 15:51 09/23/22 20:48 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

n-Octacosane (Surr) 110 60 - 138 09/23/22 20:48 1

MB MB

Surrogate

09/23/22 15:51

Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-266939/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

Diesel Range Organics 

[C10-C28]

400 405.0 mg/Kg 101 80 - 130

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

n-Octacosane (Surr) 60 - 138

Surrogate

108

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-266939/3-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

Diesel Range Organics 

[C10-C28]

400 391.1 mg/Kg 98 80 - 130 3 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

n-Octacosane (Surr) 60 - 138

Surrogate

110

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: B-1-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1 MS
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

Diesel Range Organics 

[C10-C28]

ND 399 396.1 mg/Kg 99 43 - 165

Analyte

MS MS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits

Eurofins Calscience

Page 25 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1915 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8015B - Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-1-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1 MS
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

n-Octacosane (Surr) 60 - 138

Surrogate

106

MS MS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: B-1-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266951 Prep Batch: 266939

Diesel Range Organics 

[C10-C28]

ND 387 399.2 mg/Kg 103 43 - 165 1 35

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

n-Octacosane (Surr) 60 - 138

Surrogate

105

MSD MSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 26 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1916 of 2173



QC Association Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

GC/MS Semi VOA

Prep Batch: 267007

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 3546570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546MB 570-267007/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 3546LCS 570-267007/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 3546LCSD 570-267007/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-2 MS B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-2 MSD B-2-15 Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 267420

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007MB 570-267007/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007LCS 570-267007/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007LCSD 570-267007/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-2 MS B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8270C 267007570-109999-2 MSD B-2-15 Total/NA

GC Semi VOA

Prep Batch: 266939

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 3550C570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550CMB 570-266939/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 3550CLCS 570-266939/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 3550CLCSD 570-266939/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-1 MS B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 3550C570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15 Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 266951

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Eurofins Calscience

Page 27 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1917 of 2173



QC Association Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

GC Semi VOA (Continued)

Analysis Batch: 266951 (Continued)

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939MB 570-266939/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939LCS 570-266939/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939LCSD 570-266939/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-1 MS B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8015B 266939570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15 Total/NA

Eurofins Calscience

Page 28 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1918 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-2
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-1-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 19.96 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/26/22 22:42 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.29 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 09:28 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-2-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 20.03 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/26/22 23:01 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.18 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 09:48 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-3-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 19.99 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/26/22 23:19 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.06 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 10:09 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-4-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 20.00 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/26/22 23:37 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.14 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 10:29 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Eurofins Calscience

Page 29 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1919 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-2
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-5-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 20.25 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/26/22 23:55 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.28 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 11:30 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-6-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 19.99 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/27/22 00:13 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.19 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 11:51 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-7-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 3546 VB5S09/23/22 18:19 EET CAL 4267007

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 20.06 g 2 mL

Analysis 8270C 1 267420 09/27/22 00:31 N8CZ EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GCMSCCCInstrument ID:

Prep 3550C 266939 09/23/22 15:51 RY4P EET CAL 4Total/NA 10.22 g 10 mL

Analysis 8015B 1 266951 09/24/22 12:12 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 10 mL 10 mL

GC47Instrument ID:

Laboratory References:

EET CAL 4 = Eurofins Calscience  Tustin, 2841 Dow Avenue, Tustin, CA 92780, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 30 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1920 of 2173



Accreditation/Certification Summary
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-2
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience
The accreditations/certifications listed below are applicable to this report.

Authority Program Identification Number Expiration Date

Oregon NELAP 4175 02-02-23

Eurofins Calscience

Page 31 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1921 of 2173



Method Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-2Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method Method Description LaboratoryProtocol

SW8468270C Semivolatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) EET CAL 4

SW8468015B Diesel Range Organics (DRO) (GC) EET CAL 4

SW8463546 Microwave Extraction EET CAL 4

SW8463550C Ultrasonic Extraction EET CAL 4

Protocol References:

SW846 = "Test Methods For Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods", Third Edition, November 1986 And Its Updates.

Laboratory References:

EET CAL 4 = Eurofins Calscience  Tustin, 2841 Dow Avenue, Tustin, CA 92780, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 32 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1922 of 2173



Sample Summary
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-2
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Matrix Collected Received

570-109999-1 B-1-15 Solid 09/15/22 08:05 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-2 B-2-15 Solid 09/15/22 08:35 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-3 B-3-15 Solid 09/15/22 09:45 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-4 B-4-15 Solid 09/15/22 09:25 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-5 B-5-15 Solid 09/15/22 10:45 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-6 B-6-15 Solid 09/15/22 11:05 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-7 B-7-15 Solid 09/15/22 11:40 09/15/22 14:30

Eurofins Calscience
Page 33 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1923 of 2173



1

Ovalle, Erick

From: Gillespie, Tracey <tracey.gillespie@aecom.com>
Sent: Friday, September 23, 2022 10:27 AM
To: Ovalle, Erick
Subject: FW: Eurofins Calscience report and EDD files from 570-109999-1 Ontario soil / 

606872380-1

EXTERNAL EMAIL* 

  

  

 
 

From: Gillespie, Tracey  
Sent: Friday, September 23, 2022 1:25 PM 
To: Vikas Patel <Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com> 
Subject: RE: Eurofins Calscience report and EDD files from 570-109999-1 Ontario soil / 606872380-1 
 
Hi Vik, 
 
The analyses on the COC were not correct.  We actually needed these run for target compound list (TCL) volatile 
organic compounds (VOCs) via USEPA Method 8260, TCL semi-volatile organic compounds (SVOCs) via 
USEPA Method 8270, and RCRA Metals via USEPA Method 6010 and DRO. 
 
Is it possible to get these samples run for these and how quickly can you do them? 
 
Thanks, 
Tracey 
 
 
Tracey Gillespie 
Senior Environmental Scientist 
Cell 1-717-608-2436  
tracey.gillespie@aecom.com 
  
AECOM 
625 West Ridge Pike, Suite E-100, Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428   
www.aecom.com 
 
 
 
 
 

From: Vikas Patel <Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com>  
Sent: Thursday, September 22, 2022 7:10 PM 
To: Gillespie, Tracey <tracey.gillespie@aecom.com> 
Subject: Eurofins Calscience report and EDD files from 570-109999-1 Ontario soil / 606872380-1 
 
Hello, Attached please find the report and EDD files for job 570-10 9999-1; O ntario so il / 606872 380-1 Please feel free to contact me if you have any quest ions. T hank you. V ikas Patel Pro ject Manager Eurofins Calscience Phone: 7 14-895-5494   
 

Page 34 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1924 of 2173



2

 
Hello, 
 
Attached please find the report and EDD files for job 570-109999-1; Ontario soil / 606872380-1 
 
Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions. 
 
Thank you. 
 
 
Vikas Patel 
Project Manager 
 
Eurofins Calscience 
Phone: 714-895-5494 
 
E-mail: Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com 
www.eurofinsus.com/env 
 

   
 
Reference: [570-366967] 
Attachments: 2 
 
 
 
 
> > Bank information has changed, please refer to remittance information on invoice. < < 

  

  

  

* WARNING - EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of Eurofins Environment Testing America. Do not click 
any links or open any attachments unless you trust the sender and know that the content is safe! 

 

Page 35 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1925 of 2173



Page 36 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1926 of 2173



Login Sample Receipt Checklist

Client: AECOM Job Number: 570-109999-2

Login Number: 109999

Question Answer Comment

Creator: Cortez Diaz, Antonio

List Source: Eurofins Calscience

List Number: 1

N/ARadioactivity wasn't checked or is </= background as measured by a survey 
meter.

TrueThe cooler's custody seal, if present, is intact.

TrueSample custody seals, if present, are intact.

TrueThe cooler or samples do not appear to have been compromised or 
tampered with.

TrueSamples were received on ice.

TrueCooler Temperature is acceptable.

TrueCooler Temperature is recorded.

TrueCOC is present.

TrueCOC is filled out in ink and legible.

TrueCOC is filled out with all pertinent information.

TrueIs the Field Sampler's name present on COC?

TrueThere are no discrepancies between the containers received and the COC.

TrueSamples are received within Holding Time (excluding tests with immediate 
HTs)

TrueSample containers have legible labels.

TrueContainers are not broken or leaking.

TrueSample collection date/times are provided.

TrueAppropriate sample containers are used.

TrueSample bottles are completely filled.

TrueSample Preservation Verified.

TrueThere is sufficient vol. for all requested analyses, incl. any requested 
MS/MSDs

TrueContainers requiring zero headspace have no headspace or bubble is 
<6mm (1/4").

TrueMultiphasic samples are not present.

TrueSamples do not require splitting or compositing.

N/AResidual Chlorine Checked.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 37 of 37 9/28/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1927 of 2173



ANALYTICAL REPORT
Eurofins Calscience
2841 Dow Avenue, Suite 100
Tustin, CA 92780
Tel: (714)895-5494

Laboratory Job ID: 570-109999-1
Client Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

For:
AECOM
625 West Ridge Pike
Suite E-100
Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428

Attn: Tracey Gillespie

Authorized for release by:
9/22/2022 4:08:41 PM

Vikas Patel, Project Manager I
(714)895-5494
Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com

The test results in this report meet all 2003 NELAC, 2009 TNI, and 2016 TNI
requirements for accredited parameters, exceptions are noted in this report. This
report may not be reproduced except in full, and with written approval from the
laboratory. For questions please contact the Project Manager at the e-mail address or
telephone number listed on this page.

This report has been electronically signed and authorized by the signatory. Electronic
signature is intended to be the legally binding equivalent of a traditionally handwritten
signature.

Results relate only to the items tested and the sample(s) as received by the laboratory.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1928 of 2173

https://eol.et.eurofinsus.com/myEOL/
https://www.eurofinsus.com/environment-testing/ask-the-expert/
http://www.eurofinsus.com/Env
mailto:Vikas.Patel@et.eurofinsus.com


Table of Contents

Client: AECOM
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Laboratory Job ID: 570-109999-1

Page 2 of 47
Eurofins Calscience

9/22/2022

Cover Page . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

Table of Contents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

Definitions/Glossary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Case Narrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4

Detection Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Client Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

Surrogate Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26

QC Sample Results . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

QC Association Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38

Lab Chronicle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40

Certification Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43

Method Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44

Sample Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45

Chain of Custody . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46

Receipt Checklists . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1929 of 2173



Definitions/Glossary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Qualifiers

GC Semi VOA
Qualifier Description

F1 MS and/or MSD recovery exceeds control limits.

Qualifier

F2 MS/MSD RPD exceeds control limits

p The %RPD between the primary and confirmation column/detector is >40%. The lower value has been reported.

Glossary
These commonly used abbreviations may or may not be present in this report.

¤ Listed under the "D" column to designate that the result is reported on a dry weight basis

Abbreviation

%R Percent Recovery

CFL Contains Free Liquid

CFU Colony Forming Unit

CNF Contains No Free Liquid

DER Duplicate Error Ratio (normalized absolute difference)

Dil Fac Dilution Factor

DL Detection Limit (DoD/DOE)

DL, RA, RE, IN Indicates a Dilution, Re-analysis, Re-extraction, or additional Initial metals/anion analysis of the sample

DLC Decision Level Concentration (Radiochemistry)

EDL Estimated Detection Limit (Dioxin)

LOD Limit of Detection (DoD/DOE)

LOQ Limit of Quantitation (DoD/DOE)

MCL EPA recommended "Maximum Contaminant Level"

MDA Minimum Detectable Activity (Radiochemistry)

MDC Minimum Detectable Concentration (Radiochemistry)

MDL Method Detection Limit

ML Minimum Level (Dioxin)

MPN Most Probable Number

MQL Method Quantitation Limit

NC Not Calculated

ND Not Detected at the reporting limit (or MDL or EDL if shown)

NEG Negative / Absent

POS Positive / Present

PQL Practical Quantitation Limit

PRES Presumptive

QC Quality Control

RER Relative Error Ratio (Radiochemistry)

RL Reporting Limit or Requested Limit (Radiochemistry)

RPD Relative Percent Difference, a measure of the relative difference between two points

TEF Toxicity Equivalent Factor (Dioxin)

TEQ Toxicity Equivalent Quotient (Dioxin)

TNTC Too Numerous To Count

Eurofins Calscience

Page 3 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1930 of 2173



Case Narrative
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Job ID: 570-109999-1

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience

Narrative

Job Narrative

570-109999-1

Comments

No additional comments. 

Receipt 

The samples were received on 9/15/2022 2:30 PM.  Unless otherwise noted below, the samples arrived in good condition, and where 
required, properly preserved and on ice.  The temperature of the cooler at receipt was 4.3º C.

GC/MS VOA 

Method 8260B: The initial calibration curve analyzed in batch 570-264953 was outside method criteria for the following analyte(s): 

Bromomethane.  As indicated in the reference method, sample analysis may proceed; however, any detection or non-detection for the 
affected analyte(s) is considered an estimated concentration.

Method 8260B: Insufficient sample volume was available to perform a matrix spike/matrix spike duplicate (MS/MSD) associated with 
analytical batch 570-264953. The laboratory control sample (LCS) was performed in duplicate (LCSD) to provide precision data for this 
batch.

No additional analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described above or in the Definitions/Glossary page.

GC Semi VOA 
Method 8151A: The continuing calibration verification (CCV) associated with batch 570-265746 recovered above the upper control limit for 
2,4,5-T, 2,4-DB and Dichlorprop.  The samples associated with this CCV were non-detects for the affected analytes; therefore, the data 

have been reported.  The associated samples are impacted: B-4-15 (570-109999-4), B-5-15 (570-109999-5), B-6-15 (570-109999-6) and 
B-7-15 (570-109999-7). 

Method 8151A: The matrix spike / matrix spike duplicate (MS/MSD) recoveries for preparation batch 570-264959 and analytical batch 
570-265746 were outside control limits.  Sample matrix interference and/or non-homogeneity are suspected because the associated 

laboratory control sample (LCS) recovery was within acceptance limits.

No additional analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described above or in the Definitions/Glossary page.

Organic Prep 

No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

VOA Prep 

No analytical or quality issues were noted, other than those described in the Definitions/Glossary page.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 4 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1931 of 2173



Detection Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-1-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-2-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-3-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-4-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-5-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-6-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6

 No Detections.

Client Sample ID: B-7-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7

 No Detections.

Eurofins Calscience

This Detection Summary does not include radiochemical test results.

Page 5 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1932 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

4.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 12-Butanone ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 12-Chlorotoluene ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 12-Hexanone ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 14-Chlorotoluene ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Acetone ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Benzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Bromobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Bromochloromethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Bromodichloromethane ND

4.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Bromoform ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Bromomethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Chlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Chloroethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Chloroform ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Chloromethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Dibromochloromethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Dibromomethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

230 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Ethanol ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Ethylbenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 6 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1933 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Isopropylbenzene ND 0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Naphthalene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1N-Propylbenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1o-Xylene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1m,p-Xylene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Styrene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Tetrachloroethene ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Toluene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Trichloroethene ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

9.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.93 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 100 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 100 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 98 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 103 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:24 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 7 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1934 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND 2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 12-Butanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 12-Chlorotoluene ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 12-Hexanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 14-Chlorotoluene ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Acetone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Benzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Bromobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Bromoform ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Bromomethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Carbon disulfide ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Chlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Chloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Chloroform ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Chloromethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Dibromomethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

260 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Ethanol ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Isopropylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Methylene Chloride ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Naphthalene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1n-Butylbenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1o-Xylene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Styrene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Tetrachloroethene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 8 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1935 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Toluene ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Trichloroethene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Vinyl acetate ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 101 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 22:45 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 12-Butanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 12-Chlorotoluene ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 12-Hexanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 14-Chlorotoluene ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Acetone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Benzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Bromobenzene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Bromoform ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Bromomethane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 9 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1936 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Carbon disulfide ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Chlorobenzene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Chloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Chloroform ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Chloromethane ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Dibromomethane ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

280 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Ethanol ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Isopropylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Methylene Chloride ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Naphthalene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1n-Butylbenzene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1o-Xylene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Styrene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

23 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Toluene ND

2.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Trichloroethene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Vinyl acetate ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 102 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 99 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:06 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 10 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1937 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

4.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 12-Butanone ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 12-Chlorotoluene ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 12-Hexanone ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 14-Chlorotoluene ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Acetone ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Benzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Bromobenzene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Bromochloromethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Bromodichloromethane ND

4.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Bromoform ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Bromomethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Chlorobenzene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Chloroethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Chloroform ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Chloromethane ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Dibromochloromethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Dibromomethane ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Ethanol ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Ethylbenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Isopropylbenzene ND

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Methylene Chloride ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 11 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1938 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Naphthalene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1n-Butylbenzene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1N-Propylbenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1o-Xylene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1m,p-Xylene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Styrene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Tetrachloroethene ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Toluene ND

2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Trichloroethene ND

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

9.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.99 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 100 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 99 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 103 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:27 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 12 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1939 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,3-Dichloropropane ND 0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

4.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 12-Butanone ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 12-Chlorotoluene ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 12-Hexanone ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 14-Chlorotoluene ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Acetone ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Benzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Bromobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Bromochloromethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Bromodichloromethane ND

4.7 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Bromoform ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Bromomethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Carbon disulfide ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Chlorobenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Chloroethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Chloroform ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Chloromethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Dibromochloromethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Dibromomethane ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

240 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Ethanol ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Ethylbenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Isopropylbenzene ND

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Methylene Chloride ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Naphthalene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1n-Butylbenzene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1N-Propylbenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1o-Xylene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1m,p-Xylene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Styrene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

19 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Tetrachloroethene ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Toluene ND

1.9 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Trichloroethene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 13 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1940 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Trichlorofluoromethane ND 9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Vinyl acetate ND

0.94 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 100 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 99 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/16/22 23:47 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1,2-Trichloroethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

6.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 12-Butanone ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 12-Chlorotoluene ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 12-Hexanone ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 14-Chlorotoluene ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Acetone ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Benzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Bromobenzene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Bromodichloromethane ND

6.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Bromoform ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Bromomethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 14 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1941 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Carbon disulfide ND 12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Chlorobenzene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Chloroethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Chloroform ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Chloromethane ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Dibromomethane ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

310 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Ethanol ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Isopropylbenzene ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Methylene Chloride ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Naphthalene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1n-Butylbenzene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1o-Xylene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Styrene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

24 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Toluene ND

2.4 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Trichloroethene ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

12 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Vinyl acetate ND

1.2 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 98 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:08 180 - 120

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1,1-Trichloroethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 15 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1942 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

1,1,2-Trichloroethane ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1-Dichloroethene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,1-Dichloropropene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2,3-Trichloropropane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2-Dibromoethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2-Dichloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,2-Dichloropropane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,3-Dichlorobenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,3-Dichloropropane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 11,4-Dichlorobenzene ND

5.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 12,2-Dichloropropane ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 12-Butanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 12-Chlorotoluene ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 12-Hexanone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 14-Chlorotoluene ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 14-Methyl-2-pentanone ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Acetone ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Benzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Bromobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Bromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Bromodichloromethane ND

5.3 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Bromoform ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Bromomethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Carbon disulfide ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Carbon tetrachloride ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Chlorobenzene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Chloroethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Chloroform ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Chloromethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Dibromochloromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Dibromomethane ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Dichlorodifluoromethane ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) ND

260 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Ethanol ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Ethylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Isopropylbenzene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Methylene Chloride ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Naphthalene ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 16 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1943 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

n-Butylbenzene ND 1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1N-Propylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1o-Xylene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1m,p-Xylene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1p-Isopropyltoluene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1sec-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Styrene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) ND

21 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1tert-Butylbenzene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Tetrachloroethene ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Toluene ND

2.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Trichloroethene ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Trichlorofluoromethane ND

11 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Vinyl acetate ND

1.1 ug/Kg 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1Vinyl chloride ND

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 103 80 - 142 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 101 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 180 - 120

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 180 - 123

Toluene-d8 (Surr) 102 09/16/22 17:56 09/17/22 00:29 180 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 17 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1944 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Heptachlor ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Heptachlor epoxide ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 53 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 54 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:42 137 - 151

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Heptachlor ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 18 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1945 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Heptachlor epoxide ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 59 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 59 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 05:57 137 - 151

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Heptachlor ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Heptachlor epoxide ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 63 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 66 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:12 137 - 151

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1beta-BHC ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 19 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1946 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Chlordane ND 25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Heptachlor ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Heptachlor epoxide ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 57 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 56 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:27 137 - 151

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Heptachlor ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Heptachlor epoxide ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 58 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 57 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:41 137 - 151

Eurofins Calscience

Page 20 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1947 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Heptachlor ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Heptachlor epoxide ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 60 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 62 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 06:56 137 - 151

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 14,4'-DDE ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 14,4'-DDT ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Aldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1alpha-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1alpha-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1beta-BHC ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1delta-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Dieldrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endosulfan I ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endosulfan II ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endosulfan sulfate ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endrin ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endrin aldehyde ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Endrin ketone ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1gamma-Chlordane ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1gamma-BHC ND

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Heptachlor ND

Eurofins Calscience

Page 21 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1948 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

Heptachlor epoxide ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Methoxychlor ND

25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1Toxaphene ND

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 58 38 - 148 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 55 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 07:11 137 - 151

Eurofins Calscience

Page 22 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1949 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1Client Sample ID: B-1-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 12,4-D ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 12,4-DB ND F1 F2

250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1Dalapon ND

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1Dicamba ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1Dichlorprop ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1Dinoseb ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1MCPA ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1MCPP ND F2

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 68 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:18 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2Client Sample ID: B-2-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 9.6 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.6 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

96 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 12,4-D ND

96 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 12,4-DB ND

240 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1Dalapon ND

9.6 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1Dicamba ND

96 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1Dichlorprop ND

96 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1Dinoseb ND

9600 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1MCPA ND

9600 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 74 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 21:40 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3Client Sample ID: B-3-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 12,4-D ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 12,4-DB ND

260 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1Dalapon ND

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1Dicamba ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1Dichlorprop ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1Dinoseb ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1MCPA ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 52 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:03 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 23 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1950 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4Client Sample ID: B-4-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 12,4-D ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 12,4-DB ND

260 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1Dalapon ND

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1Dicamba ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1Dichlorprop ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1Dinoseb ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1MCPA ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 65 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 22:48 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5Client Sample ID: B-5-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 9.8 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

9.8 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

98 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 12,4-D ND

98 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 12,4-DB ND

250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1Dalapon ND

9.8 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1Dicamba ND

98 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1Dichlorprop ND

98 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1Dinoseb ND

9800 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1MCPA ND

9800 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 48 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:10 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6Client Sample ID: B-6-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 12,4-D ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 12,4-DB ND

260 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1Dalapon ND

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1Dicamba ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1Dichlorprop ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1Dinoseb ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1MCPA ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 49 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:32 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 24 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1951 of 2173



Client Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC)

Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7Client Sample ID: B-7-15
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30
RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedUnit DResult Qualifier

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 12,4,5-TP (Silvex) ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 12,4-D ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 12,4-DB ND

250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1Dalapon ND

10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1Dicamba ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1Dichlorprop ND

100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1Dinoseb ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1MCPA ND

10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1MCPP ND

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 51 20 - 163 09/16/22 19:45 09/20/22 23:55 1

Surrogate Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 25 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1952 of 2173



Surrogate Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (80-142) (80-120) (80-123) (80-120)

DCA BFB DBFM TOL

100 100 98 103570-109999-1

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-1-15

101 101 102 101570-109999-2 B-2-15

102 99 101 102570-109999-3 B-3-15

100 102 99 103570-109999-4 B-4-15

100 99 101 102570-109999-5 B-5-15

98 101 101 102570-109999-6 B-6-15

103 101 102 102570-109999-7 B-7-15

91 96 96 100LCS 570-264953/4 Lab Control Sample

93 94 97 101LCSD 570-264953/5 Lab Control Sample Dup

91 99 97 102MB 570-264953/7 Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

DCA = 1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr)

BFB = 4-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr)

DBFM = Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr)

TOL = Toluene-d8 (Surr)

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (38-148) (37-151)

TCX1 DCB1

53 54570-109999-1

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-1-15

59 59570-109999-2 B-2-15

63 66570-109999-3 B-3-15

57 56570-109999-4 B-4-15

58 57570-109999-5 B-5-15

60 62570-109999-6 B-6-15

61 64570-109999-6 MS B-6-15

58 62570-109999-6 MSD B-6-15

58 55570-109999-7 B-7-15

71 71LCS 570-265820/2-A Lab Control Sample

74 77LCSD 570-265820/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup

70 71MB 570-265820/1-A Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

TCX = Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr)

DCB = DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr)

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (20-163)

DCPAA1

68570-109999-1

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-1-15

80 p570-109999-1 MS B-1-15

80570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15

74570-109999-2 B-2-15

52570-109999-3 B-3-15

Eurofins Calscience

Page 26 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1953 of 2173



Surrogate Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC) (Continued)
Prep Type: Total/NAMatrix: Solid

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID (20-163)

DCPAA1

65570-109999-4

Percent Surrogate Recovery (Acceptance Limits)

B-4-15

48570-109999-5 B-5-15

49570-109999-6 B-6-15

51570-109999-7 B-7-15

83LCS 570-264959/2-A Lab Control Sample

87LCSD 570-264959/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup

43MB 570-264959/1-A Method Blank

Surrogate Legend

DCPAA = 2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid

Eurofins Calscience

Page 27 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1954 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-264953/7
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

RL

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1,1-Trichloroethane

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1,2-Trichloroethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1-Dichloroethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1-Dichloroethene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,1-Dichloropropene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2,3-Trichlorobenzene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2,3-Trichloropropane

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2,4-Trichlorobenzene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2,4-Trimethylbenzene

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2-Dibromoethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2-Dichlorobenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2-Dichloroethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,2-Dichloropropane

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,3,5-Trimethylbenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,3-Dichlorobenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,3-Dichloropropane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 11,4-Dichlorobenzene

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 12,2-Dichloropropane

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 12-Butanone

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 12-Chlorotoluene

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 12-Hexanone

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 14-Chlorotoluene

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 14-Methyl-2-pentanone

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Acetone

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Benzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Bromobenzene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Bromochloromethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Bromodichloromethane

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Bromoform

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Bromomethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1cis-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1cis-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Carbon disulfide

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Carbon tetrachloride

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Chlorobenzene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Chloroethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Chloroform

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Chloromethane

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Dibromochloromethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Dibromomethane

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Dichlorodifluoromethane

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE)

ND 250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Ethanol

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Ethylbenzene

Eurofins Calscience

Page 28 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1955 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-264953/7
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

RL

Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Isopropylbenzene

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Methylene Chloride

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE)

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Naphthalene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1n-Butylbenzene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1N-Propylbenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1o-Xylene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1m,p-Xylene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1p-Isopropyltoluene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1sec-Butylbenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Styrene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1trans-1,2-Dichloroethene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1trans-1,3-Dichloropropene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME)

ND 20 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA)

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1tert-Butylbenzene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Tetrachloroethene

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Toluene

ND 2.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Trichloroethene

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Trichlorofluoromethane

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Vinyl acetate

ND 1.0 ug/Kg 09/16/22 21:42 1Vinyl chloride

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 91 80 - 142 09/16/22 21:42 1

MB MB

Surrogate Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

99 09/16/22 21:42 14-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

97 09/16/22 21:42 1Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 80 - 123

102 09/16/22 21:42 1Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-264953/4
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane 50.0 48.37 ug/Kg 97 80 - 127

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

1,1,1-Trichloroethane 50.0 46.99 ug/Kg 94 80 - 127

1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane 50.0 50.43 ug/Kg 101 80 - 126

1,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroetha

ne

50.0 49.45 ug/Kg 99 78 - 121

1,1,2-Trichloroethane 50.0 48.04 ug/Kg 96 80 - 120

1,1-Dichloroethane 50.0 48.89 ug/Kg 98 75 - 128

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 48.91 ug/Kg 98 70 - 131

1,1-Dichloropropene 50.0 50.56 ug/Kg 101 80 - 124

1,2,3-Trichlorobenzene 50.0 53.34 ug/Kg 107 80 - 124

1,2,3-Trichloropropane 50.0 45.67 ug/Kg 91 80 - 125

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene 50.0 55.32 ug/Kg 111 80 - 131

1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene 50.0 51.48 ug/Kg 103 80 - 126

1,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane 50.0 41.12 ug/Kg 82 65 - 127

Eurofins Calscience

Page 29 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1956 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-264953/4
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 51.06 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 52.54 ug/Kg 105 80 - 120

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 46.27 ug/Kg 93 80 - 120

1,2-Dichloropropane 50.0 50.27 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120

1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene 50.0 50.45 ug/Kg 101 80 - 123

1,3-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 53.36 ug/Kg 107 80 - 120

1,3-Dichloropropane 50.0 50.75 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120

1,4-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 52.34 ug/Kg 105 80 - 120

2,2-Dichloropropane 50.0 46.15 ug/Kg 92 65 - 150

2-Butanone 50.0 47.75 ug/Kg 96 73 - 129

2-Chlorotoluene 50.0 50.03 ug/Kg 100 80 - 120

2-Hexanone 50.0 49.04 ug/Kg 98 80 - 121

4-Chlorotoluene 50.0 50.08 ug/Kg 100 80 - 120

4-Methyl-2-pentanone 50.0 46.85 ug/Kg 94 80 - 120

Acetone 50.0 43.48 ug/Kg 87 55 - 142

Benzene 50.0 50.99 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120

Bromobenzene 50.0 51.44 ug/Kg 103 80 - 126

Bromochloromethane 50.0 48.78 ug/Kg 98 80 - 120

Bromodichloromethane 50.0 46.15 ug/Kg 92 80 - 120

Bromoform 50.0 40.95 ug/Kg 82 80 - 131

Bromomethane 50.0 45.29 ug/Kg 91 68 - 131

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 50.0 48.44 ug/Kg 97 80 - 122

cis-1,3-Dichloropropene 50.0 49.06 ug/Kg 98 80 - 125

Carbon disulfide 50.0 48.12 ug/Kg 96 70 - 130

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 42.12 ug/Kg 84 80 - 131

Chlorobenzene 50.0 52.27 ug/Kg 105 80 - 120

Chloroethane 50.0 53.42 ug/Kg 107 80 - 124

Chloroform 50.0 47.19 ug/Kg 94 80 - 120

Chloromethane 50.0 47.45 ug/Kg 95 68 - 135

Dibromochloromethane 50.0 47.59 ug/Kg 95 80 - 124

Dibromomethane 50.0 47.20 ug/Kg 94 80 - 120

Dichlorodifluoromethane 50.0 48.92 ug/Kg 98 60 - 166

Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) 50.0 50.08 ug/Kg 100 77 - 130

Ethanol 500 562.9 ug/Kg 113 66 - 129

Ethylbenzene 50.0 51.71 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120

Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) 50.0 50.44 ug/Kg 101 80 - 135

Isopropylbenzene 50.0 51.33 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120

Methylene Chloride 50.0 49.22 ug/Kg 98 80 - 120

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 49.50 ug/Kg 99 80 - 122

Naphthalene 50.0 51.35 ug/Kg 103 77 - 120

n-Butylbenzene 50.0 51.65 ug/Kg 103 80 - 127

N-Propylbenzene 50.0 51.84 ug/Kg 104 80 - 120

o-Xylene 50.0 50.61 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120

m,p-Xylene 100 101.7 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120

p-Isopropyltoluene 50.0 51.79 ug/Kg 104 80 - 122

sec-Butylbenzene 50.0 51.81 ug/Kg 104 80 - 124

Styrene 50.0 51.14 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120

trans-1,2-Dichloroethene 50.0 47.64 ug/Kg 95 80 - 121

trans-1,3-Dichloropropene 50.0 50.63 ug/Kg 101 80 - 130

Eurofins Calscience

Page 30 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1957 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-264953/4
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) 50.0 50.36 ug/Kg 101 80 - 122

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) 250 252.7 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120

tert-Butylbenzene 50.0 52.01 ug/Kg 104 80 - 120

Tetrachloroethene 50.0 54.02 ug/Kg 108 80 - 121

Toluene 50.0 50.26 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120

Trichloroethene 50.0 50.73 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120

Trichlorofluoromethane 50.0 57.06 ug/Kg 114 75 - 131

Vinyl acetate 50.0 49.32 ug/Kg 99 80 - 133

Vinyl chloride 50.0 54.58 ug/Kg 109 80 - 129

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 80 - 142

Surrogate

91

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

964-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

96Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 80 - 123

100Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-264953/5
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane 50.0 47.61 ug/Kg 95 80 - 127 2 20

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

1,1,1-Trichloroethane 50.0 48.36 ug/Kg 97 80 - 127 3 20

1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane 50.0 49.75 ug/Kg 100 80 - 126 1 20

1,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroetha

ne

50.0 50.48 ug/Kg 101 78 - 121 2 20

1,1,2-Trichloroethane 50.0 48.01 ug/Kg 96 80 - 120 0 20

1,1-Dichloroethane 50.0 49.70 ug/Kg 99 75 - 128 2 20

1,1-Dichloroethene 50.0 49.27 ug/Kg 99 70 - 131 1 20

1,1-Dichloropropene 50.0 51.60 ug/Kg 103 80 - 124 2 20

1,2,3-Trichlorobenzene 50.0 52.70 ug/Kg 105 80 - 124 1 20

1,2,3-Trichloropropane 50.0 46.11 ug/Kg 92 80 - 125 1 20

1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene 50.0 55.00 ug/Kg 110 80 - 131 1 20

1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene 50.0 50.83 ug/Kg 102 80 - 126 1 20

1,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane 50.0 40.99 ug/Kg 82 65 - 127 0 20

1,2-Dibromoethane 50.0 50.54 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120 1 20

1,2-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 51.49 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 2 20

1,2-Dichloroethane 50.0 46.09 ug/Kg 92 80 - 120 0 20

1,2-Dichloropropane 50.0 50.84 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120 1 20

1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene 50.0 50.92 ug/Kg 102 80 - 123 1 20

1,3-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 52.47 ug/Kg 105 80 - 120 2 20

1,3-Dichloropropane 50.0 50.40 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120 1 20

1,4-Dichlorobenzene 50.0 51.26 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 2 20

2,2-Dichloropropane 50.0 46.81 ug/Kg 94 65 - 150 1 20

2-Butanone 50.0 48.45 ug/Kg 97 73 - 129 1 20

2-Chlorotoluene 50.0 50.20 ug/Kg 100 80 - 120 0 20

2-Hexanone 50.0 49.34 ug/Kg 99 80 - 121 1 20

4-Chlorotoluene 50.0 49.21 ug/Kg 98 80 - 120 2 20

4-Methyl-2-pentanone 50.0 49.61 ug/Kg 99 80 - 120 6 20

Eurofins Calscience

Page 31 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1958 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-264953/5
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

Acetone 50.0 44.47 ug/Kg 89 55 - 142 2 22

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

Benzene 50.0 51.12 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120 0 20

Bromobenzene 50.0 51.87 ug/Kg 104 80 - 126 1 20

Bromochloromethane 50.0 48.53 ug/Kg 97 80 - 120 1 20

Bromodichloromethane 50.0 46.75 ug/Kg 94 80 - 120 1 20

Bromoform 50.0 40.26 ug/Kg 81 80 - 131 2 20

Bromomethane 50.0 43.54 ug/Kg 87 68 - 131 4 20

cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 50.0 48.75 ug/Kg 97 80 - 122 1 20

cis-1,3-Dichloropropene 50.0 48.75 ug/Kg 98 80 - 125 1 20

Carbon disulfide 50.0 49.04 ug/Kg 98 70 - 130 2 20

Carbon tetrachloride 50.0 43.84 ug/Kg 88 80 - 131 4 20

Chlorobenzene 50.0 52.09 ug/Kg 104 80 - 120 0 20

Chloroethane 50.0 53.32 ug/Kg 107 80 - 124 0 20

Chloroform 50.0 47.68 ug/Kg 95 80 - 120 1 20

Chloromethane 50.0 47.41 ug/Kg 95 68 - 135 0 20

Dibromochloromethane 50.0 47.64 ug/Kg 95 80 - 124 0 20

Dibromomethane 50.0 48.13 ug/Kg 96 80 - 120 2 20

Dichlorodifluoromethane 50.0 48.14 ug/Kg 96 60 - 166 2 20

Di-isopropyl ether (DIPE) 50.0 49.63 ug/Kg 99 77 - 130 1 20

Ethanol 500 539.9 ug/Kg 108 66 - 129 4 22

Ethylbenzene 50.0 51.53 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 0 20

Ethyl-t-butyl ether (ETBE) 50.0 50.80 ug/Kg 102 80 - 135 1 20

Isopropylbenzene 50.0 51.28 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 0 20

Methylene Chloride 50.0 49.52 ug/Kg 99 80 - 120 1 20

Methyl-t-Butyl Ether (MTBE) 50.0 49.89 ug/Kg 100 80 - 122 1 20

Naphthalene 50.0 51.05 ug/Kg 102 77 - 120 1 20

n-Butylbenzene 50.0 52.28 ug/Kg 105 80 - 127 1 20

N-Propylbenzene 50.0 52.31 ug/Kg 105 80 - 120 1 20

o-Xylene 50.0 50.65 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120 0 20

m,p-Xylene 100 101.8 ug/Kg 102 80 - 120 0 20

p-Isopropyltoluene 50.0 51.74 ug/Kg 103 80 - 122 0 20

sec-Butylbenzene 50.0 51.60 ug/Kg 103 80 - 124 0 20

Styrene 50.0 51.34 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 0 20

trans-1,2-Dichloroethene 50.0 48.36 ug/Kg 97 80 - 121 2 20

trans-1,3-Dichloropropene 50.0 51.04 ug/Kg 102 80 - 130 1 20

Tert-amyl-methyl ether (TAME) 50.0 50.41 ug/Kg 101 80 - 122 0 20

tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA) 250 250.0 ug/Kg 100 80 - 120 1 20

tert-Butylbenzene 50.0 51.28 ug/Kg 103 80 - 120 1 20

Tetrachloroethene 50.0 53.78 ug/Kg 108 80 - 121 0 20

Toluene 50.0 50.73 ug/Kg 101 80 - 120 1 20

Trichloroethene 50.0 51.98 ug/Kg 104 80 - 120 2 20

Trichlorofluoromethane 50.0 56.01 ug/Kg 112 75 - 131 2 20

Vinyl acetate 50.0 49.37 ug/Kg 99 80 - 133 0 20

Vinyl chloride 50.0 53.95 ug/Kg 108 80 - 129 1 20

1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 (Surr) 80 - 142

Surrogate

93

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

944-Bromofluorobenzene (Surr) 80 - 120

Eurofins Calscience

Page 32 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1959 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8260B - Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-264953/5
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 264953

Dibromofluoromethane  (Surr) 80 - 123

Surrogate

97

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

101Toluene-d8 (Surr) 80 - 120

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-265820/1-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

RL

4,4'-DDD ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 14,4'-DDE

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 14,4'-DDT

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Aldrin

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1alpha-BHC

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1alpha-Chlordane

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1beta-BHC

ND 25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Chlordane

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1delta-BHC

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Dieldrin

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endosulfan I

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endosulfan II

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endosulfan sulfate

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endrin

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endrin aldehyde

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Endrin ketone

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1gamma-Chlordane

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1gamma-BHC

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Heptachlor

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Heptachlor epoxide

ND 5.0 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Methoxychlor

ND 25 ug/Kg 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1Toxaphene

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 70 38 - 148 09/22/22 02:30 1

MB MB

Surrogate

09/20/22 17:10

Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

71 09/20/22 17:10 09/22/22 02:30 1DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 37 - 151

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-265820/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

4,4'-DDD 25.0 20.70 ug/Kg 83 54 - 154

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

4,4'-DDE 25.0 19.98 ug/Kg 80 51 - 149

4,4'-DDT 25.0 20.26 ug/Kg 81 39 - 152

Aldrin 25.0 18.03 ug/Kg 72 52 - 138

alpha-BHC 25.0 19.22 ug/Kg 77 51 - 140

alpha-Chlordane 25.0 19.16 ug/Kg 77 53 - 141

Eurofins Calscience

Page 33 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1960 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-265820/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

beta-BHC 25.0 18.13 ug/Kg 73 53 - 141

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

delta-BHC 25.0 18.20 ug/Kg 73 20 - 132

Dieldrin 25.0 19.39 ug/Kg 78 52 - 144

Endosulfan I 25.0 18.74 ug/Kg 75 49 - 139

Endosulfan II 25.0 20.00 ug/Kg 80 51 - 150

Endosulfan sulfate 25.0 19.73 ug/Kg 79 45 - 139

Endrin 25.0 19.51 ug/Kg 78 53 - 151

Endrin aldehyde 25.0 18.00 ug/Kg 72 31 - 146

gamma-Chlordane 25.0 18.86 ug/Kg 75 46 - 156

gamma-BHC 25.0 18.73 ug/Kg 75 53 - 141

Heptachlor 25.0 19.43 ug/Kg 78 52 - 144

Heptachlor epoxide 25.0 18.97 ug/Kg 76 54 - 141

Methoxychlor 25.0 21.71 ug/Kg 87 47 - 148

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 38 - 148

Surrogate

71

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

71DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 37 - 151

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-265820/3-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

4,4'-DDD 25.0 20.83 ug/Kg 83 54 - 154 1 30

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

4,4'-DDE 25.0 19.88 ug/Kg 80 51 - 149 1 28

4,4'-DDT 25.0 20.55 ug/Kg 82 39 - 152 1 31

Aldrin 25.0 18.16 ug/Kg 73 52 - 138 1 30

alpha-BHC 25.0 19.29 ug/Kg 77 51 - 140 0 29

alpha-Chlordane 25.0 19.15 ug/Kg 77 53 - 141 0 28

beta-BHC 25.0 18.34 ug/Kg 73 53 - 141 1 29

delta-BHC 25.0 18.41 ug/Kg 74 20 - 132 1 40

Dieldrin 25.0 19.56 ug/Kg 78 52 - 144 1 28

Endosulfan I 25.0 18.74 ug/Kg 75 49 - 139 0 28

Endosulfan II 25.0 20.52 ug/Kg 82 51 - 150 3 29

Endosulfan sulfate 25.0 20.15 ug/Kg 81 45 - 139 2 30

Endrin 25.0 19.74 ug/Kg 79 53 - 151 1 29

Endrin aldehyde 25.0 18.46 ug/Kg 74 31 - 146 3 40

gamma-Chlordane 25.0 19.18 ug/Kg 77 46 - 156 2 39

gamma-BHC 25.0 19.18 ug/Kg 77 53 - 141 2 29

Heptachlor 25.0 19.91 ug/Kg 80 52 - 144 2 29

Heptachlor epoxide 25.0 18.92 ug/Kg 76 54 - 141 0 29

Methoxychlor 25.0 21.71 ug/Kg 87 47 - 148 0 29

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 38 - 148

Surrogate

74

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

77DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 37 - 151

Eurofins Calscience

Page 34 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1961 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-6-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6 MS
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

4,4'-DDD ND 24.9 16.67 ug/Kg 67 27 - 144

Analyte

MS MS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits

4,4'-DDE ND 24.9 15.85 ug/Kg 64 28 - 141

4,4'-DDT ND 24.9 17.28 ug/Kg 69 10 - 154

Aldrin ND 24.9 14.68 ug/Kg 59 26 - 125

alpha-BHC ND 24.9 15.39 ug/Kg 62 24 - 125

alpha-Chlordane ND 24.9 15.09 ug/Kg 61 17 - 144

beta-BHC ND 24.9 16.10 ug/Kg 65 28 - 125

delta-BHC ND 24.9 14.56 ug/Kg 58 10 - 125

Dieldrin ND 24.9 15.52 ug/Kg 62 19 - 145

Endosulfan I ND 24.9 15.38 ug/Kg 62 25 - 125

Endosulfan II ND 24.9 16.11 ug/Kg 65 13 - 142

Endosulfan sulfate ND 24.9 16.23 ug/Kg 65 14 - 126

Endrin ND 24.9 16.12 ug/Kg 65 28 - 139

Endrin aldehyde ND 24.9 15.75 ug/Kg 63 12 - 125

gamma-Chlordane ND 24.9 15.04 ug/Kg 60 10 - 160

gamma-BHC ND 24.9 15.20 ug/Kg 61 24 - 125

Heptachlor ND 24.9 15.94 ug/Kg 64 19 - 127

Heptachlor epoxide ND 24.9 15.35 ug/Kg 62 33 - 123

Methoxychlor ND 24.9 19.38 ug/Kg 78 19 - 128

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 38 - 148

Surrogate

61

MS MS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

64DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 37 - 151

Client Sample ID: B-6-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

4,4'-DDD ND 24.9 16.06 ug/Kg 64 27 - 144 4 40

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

4,4'-DDE ND 24.9 15.06 ug/Kg 60 28 - 141 5 32

4,4'-DDT ND 24.9 16.34 ug/Kg 66 10 - 154 6 40

Aldrin ND 24.9 14.00 ug/Kg 56 26 - 125 5 40

alpha-BHC ND 24.9 14.89 ug/Kg 60 24 - 125 3 40

alpha-Chlordane ND 24.9 14.31 ug/Kg 57 17 - 144 5 40

beta-BHC ND 24.9 13.48 ug/Kg 54 28 - 125 18 39

delta-BHC ND 24.9 13.88 ug/Kg 56 10 - 125 5 40

Dieldrin ND 24.9 14.75 ug/Kg 59 19 - 145 5 39

Endosulfan I ND 24.9 14.25 ug/Kg 57 25 - 125 8 39

Endosulfan II ND 24.9 15.00 ug/Kg 60 13 - 142 7 40

Endosulfan sulfate ND 24.9 15.81 ug/Kg 63 14 - 126 3 38

Endrin ND 24.9 15.33 ug/Kg 62 28 - 139 5 40

Endrin aldehyde ND 24.9 14.92 ug/Kg 60 12 - 125 5 40

gamma-Chlordane ND 24.9 13.87 ug/Kg 56 10 - 160 8 40

gamma-BHC ND 24.9 14.51 ug/Kg 58 24 - 125 5 40

Heptachlor ND 24.9 14.92 ug/Kg 60 19 - 127 7 40

Heptachlor epoxide ND 24.9 14.15 ug/Kg 57 33 - 123 8 34

Methoxychlor ND 24.9 17.46 ug/Kg 70 19 - 128 10 40

Eurofins Calscience

Page 35 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1962 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8081A - Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-6-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 266298 Prep Batch: 265820

Tetrachloro-m-xylene (Surr) 38 - 148

Surrogate

58

MSD MSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

62DCB Decachlorobiphenyl (Surr) 37 - 151

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC)

Client Sample ID: Method BlankLab Sample ID: MB 570-264959/1-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 265746 Prep Batch: 264959

RL

2,4,5-T ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1

MB MB

Analyte Dil FacAnalyzedPreparedDUnitResult Qualifier

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 12,4,5-TP (Silvex)

ND 100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 12,4-D

ND 100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 12,4-DB

ND 250 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1Dalapon

ND 10 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1Dicamba

ND 100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1Dichlorprop

ND 100 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1Dinoseb

ND 10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1MCPA

ND 10000 ug/Kg 09/16/22 19:42 09/20/22 19:26 1MCPP

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 43 20 - 163 09/20/22 19:26 1

MB MB

Surrogate

09/16/22 19:42

Dil FacPrepared AnalyzedQualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: Lab Control SampleLab Sample ID: LCS 570-264959/2-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 265746 Prep Batch: 264959

2,4,5-T 20.0 12.06 ug/Kg 60 36 - 125

Analyte

LCS LCS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits

2,4-D 200 298.9 ug/Kg 149 10 - 177

2,4-DB 200 215.5 ug/Kg 108 35 - 180

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 20 - 163

Surrogate

83

LCS LCS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: Lab Control Sample DupLab Sample ID: LCSD 570-264959/3-A
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 265746 Prep Batch: 264959

2,4,5-T 20.0 11.74 p ug/Kg 59 36 - 125 3 35

Analyte

LCSD LCSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

2,4-D 200 296.8 ug/Kg 148 10 - 177 1 40

2,4-DB 200 212.3 ug/Kg 106 35 - 180 2 40

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 20 - 163

Surrogate

87

LCSD LCSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 36 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1963 of 2173



QC Sample Results
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method: 8151A - Herbicides (GC) (Continued)

Client Sample ID: B-1-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1 MS
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 265746 Prep Batch: 264959

2,4,5-T ND 20.0 11.64 p ug/Kg 58 10 - 190

Analyte

MS MS

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits

2,4-D ND 200 233.5 ug/Kg 117 10 - 178

2,4-DB ND F1 F2 200 213.3 p ug/Kg 107 10 - 190

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid p 20 - 163

Surrogate

80

MS MS

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Client Sample ID: B-1-15Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1 MSD
Matrix: Solid Prep Type: Total/NA
Analysis Batch: 265746 Prep Batch: 264959

2,4,5-T ND 20.0 16.12 p ug/Kg 81 10 - 190 32 40

Analyte

MSD MSD

DUnitResult Qualifier %Rec

Spike

Added

Sample

Result

Sample

Qualifier

%Rec

Limits LimitRPD

RPD

2,4-D ND 200 265.1 ug/Kg 133 10 - 178 13 40

2,4-DB ND F1 F2 200 226.0 p ug/Kg 113 10 - 190 6 40

2,4-Dichlorophenylacetic acid 20 - 163

Surrogate

80

MSD MSD

Qualifier Limits%Recovery

Eurofins Calscience

Page 37 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1964 of 2173



QC Association Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

GC/MS VOA

Prep Batch: 264927

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 5035570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 5035570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 264953

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260B 264927570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8260BMB 570-264953/7 Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8260BLCS 570-264953/4 Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8260BLCSD 570-264953/5 Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

GC Semi VOA

Prep Batch: 264959

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8151A570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151AMB 570-264959/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8151ALCS 570-264959/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8151ALCSD 570-264959/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-1 MS B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15 Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 265746

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959MB 570-264959/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959LCS 570-264959/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959LCSD 570-264959/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-1 MS B-1-15 Total/NA

Eurofins Calscience

Page 38 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1965 of 2173



QC Association Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

GC Semi VOA (Continued)

Analysis Batch: 265746 (Continued)

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8151A 264959570-109999-1 MSD B-1-15 Total/NA

Prep Batch: 265820

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 3546570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546MB 570-265820/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 3546LCS 570-265820/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 3546LCSD 570-265820/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-6 MS B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 3546570-109999-6 MSD B-6-15 Total/NA

Analysis Batch: 266298

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Prep Type Matrix Method Prep Batch

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-1 B-1-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-2 B-2-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-3 B-3-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-4 B-4-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-5 B-5-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-6 B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-7 B-7-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820MB 570-265820/1-A Method Blank Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820LCS 570-265820/2-A Lab Control Sample Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820LCSD 570-265820/3-A Lab Control Sample Dup Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-6 MS B-6-15 Total/NA

Solid 8081A 265820570-109999-6 MSD B-6-15 Total/NA

Eurofins Calscience

Page 39 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1966 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-1-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-1
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5.355 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/16/22 22:24 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 19.98 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 05:42 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 49.99 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 21:18 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-2-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-2
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 08:35

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 4.758 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/16/22 22:45 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 20.01 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 05:57 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 51.93 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 21:40 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-3-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-3
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 4.4 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/16/22 23:06 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 20.03 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 06:12 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 48.22 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 22:03 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Eurofins Calscience

Page 40 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1967 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-4-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-4
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 09:25

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5.064 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/16/22 23:27 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 20.04 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 06:27 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 48.89 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 22:48 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-5-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-5
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 10:45

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 5.309 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/16/22 23:47 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 20.11 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 06:41 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 50.89 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 23:10 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Client Sample ID: B-6-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-6
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:05

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 4.093 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/17/22 00:08 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 20.02 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 06:56 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 48.53 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 23:32 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Eurofins Calscience

Page 41 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1968 of 2173



Lab Chronicle
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Client Sample ID: B-7-15 Lab Sample ID: 570-109999-7
Matrix: SolidDate Collected: 09/15/22 11:40

Date Received: 09/15/22 14:30

Prep 5035 ZH8D09/16/22 17:56 EET CAL 4264927

Type

Batch

Method

Batch

Prep Type LabAnalystRun

Prepared

or Analyzed

Initial

Amount Amount

Final Batch

NumberFactor

Dil

Total/NA 4.734 g 5 mL

Analysis 8260B 1 264953 09/17/22 00:29 N1A EET CAL 4Total/NA 5 mL 5 mL

GCMSQInstrument ID:

Prep 3546 265820 09/20/22 17:10 VB5S EET CAL 4Total/NA 19.91 g 10 mL

Analysis 8081A 1 266298 09/22/22 07:11 UJ3K EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC52AInstrument ID:

Prep 8151A 264959 09/16/22 19:45 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 49.78 g 5 mL

Analysis 8151A 1 265746 09/20/22 23:55 J7WE EET CAL 4Total/NA 1 mL 1 mL

GC41Instrument ID:

Laboratory References:

EET CAL 4 = Eurofins Calscience  Tustin, 2841 Dow Avenue, Tustin, CA 92780, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 42 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1969 of 2173



Accreditation/Certification Summary
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Laboratory: Eurofins Calscience
The accreditations/certifications listed below are applicable to this report.

Authority Program Identification Number Expiration Date

Oregon NELAP 4175 02-02-23

Eurofins Calscience

Page 43 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1970 of 2173



Method Summary
Job ID: 570-109999-1Client: AECOM

Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Method Method Description LaboratoryProtocol

SW8468260B Volatile Organic Compounds (GC/MS) EET CAL 4

SW8468081A Organochlorine Pesticides (GC) EET CAL 4

SW8468151A Herbicides (GC) EET CAL 4

SW8463546 Microwave Extraction EET CAL 4

SW8465035 Closed System Purge and Trap EET CAL 4

SW8468151A Extraction (Herbicides) EET CAL 4

Protocol References:

SW846 = "Test Methods For Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods", Third Edition, November 1986 And Its Updates.

Laboratory References:

EET CAL 4 = Eurofins Calscience  Tustin, 2841 Dow Avenue, Tustin, CA 92780, TEL (714)895-5494

Eurofins Calscience

Page 44 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1971 of 2173



Sample Summary
Client: AECOM Job ID: 570-109999-1
Project/Site: Ontario soil / 606872380-1

Lab Sample ID Client Sample ID Matrix Collected Received

570-109999-1 B-1-15 Solid 09/15/22 08:05 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-2 B-2-15 Solid 09/15/22 08:35 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-3 B-3-15 Solid 09/15/22 09:45 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-4 B-4-15 Solid 09/15/22 09:25 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-5 B-5-15 Solid 09/15/22 10:45 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-6 B-6-15 Solid 09/15/22 11:05 09/15/22 14:30

570-109999-7 B-7-15 Solid 09/15/22 11:40 09/15/22 14:30

Eurofins Calscience
Page 45 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1972 of 2173



Page 46 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1973 of 2173



Login Sample Receipt Checklist

Client: AECOM Job Number: 570-109999-1

Login Number: 109999

Question Answer Comment

Creator: Cortez Diaz, Antonio

List Source: Eurofins Calscience

List Number: 1

N/ARadioactivity wasn't checked or is </= background as measured by a survey 
meter.

TrueThe cooler's custody seal, if present, is intact.

TrueSample custody seals, if present, are intact.

TrueThe cooler or samples do not appear to have been compromised or 
tampered with.

TrueSamples were received on ice.

TrueCooler Temperature is acceptable.

TrueCooler Temperature is recorded.

TrueCOC is present.

TrueCOC is filled out in ink and legible.

TrueCOC is filled out with all pertinent information.

TrueIs the Field Sampler's name present on COC?

TrueThere are no discrepancies between the containers received and the COC.

TrueSamples are received within Holding Time (excluding tests with immediate 
HTs)

TrueSample containers have legible labels.

TrueContainers are not broken or leaking.

TrueSample collection date/times are provided.

TrueAppropriate sample containers are used.

TrueSample bottles are completely filled.

TrueSample Preservation Verified.

TrueThere is sufficient vol. for all requested analyses, incl. any requested 
MS/MSDs

TrueContainers requiring zero headspace have no headspace or bubble is 
<6mm (1/4").

TrueMultiphasic samples are not present.

TrueSamples do not require splitting or compositing.

N/AResidual Chlorine Checked.

Eurofins Calscience
Page 47 of 47 9/22/2022

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

Item E - 1974 of 2173



 

 
 

APPENDIX D 
 

UST Installation – January 14, 1999 
 

 

Item E - 1975 of 2173



Item E - 1976 of 2173



• 

, San Bernardino County Fire D_cpartme
.. ------·-

--·--· -·-· __ ... "'"-·---· .. ---

PHOTO NARRATIVE 

Date Taken: /.,. !'{ f t/ By: ,/w;/U<.---....Jt/" A�

...... _. 

REMARKS: _____ --:--------�---------

�����•�;,�am��l9)A-=,. � 
Photo Narrative - Page _L of _L 

" ..... .,..,,.v -- . 

• 

I 
( 
( 
C 

Item E - 1977 of 2173



Item E - 1978 of 2173



1 

 
 

Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan 
(PWQMP) 

 
For compliance with Santa Ana Regional Water Quality Control Board 

Order Number R8-2010-0036 (NPDES Permit No. CAS618036) 
 

Project Name: 1600 E. Francis Street 

Ontario Project #: 
 
PDEV22-050 

Applicant Name: DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway LLC 

Applicant Address: 530 Technology Drive, Suite 100, Irvine, CA 92618 

Project Address: 1600 E. Francis Street 

Project Size (acres): 6.98 ac 

Project Description: Redevelopment for distribution center 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Submittal Date: _________________  

Item E - 1979 of 2173



2 

Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan (PWQMP) 
 

1. Introduction 
 
The Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan (PWQMP) is a planning tool to improve 
integration of required water quality elements, stormwater management, water conservation, 
rainwater harvesting and re-use, and flood management in land use planning and the City’s 
development process. The Preliminary WQMP will assist project applicants and planners in 
properly designing and laying out project sites so that water quality may be incorporated in 
the most effective manner and at the lowest cost for the developer. 
 
The San Bernardino County Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System Permit (MS4 Permit) 
requires project-specific Water Quality Management plans (WQMP) to be prepared for all 
priority new development and significant redevelopment projects listed in Section 2 of this 
document. The MS4 Permit stipulates that the City of Ontario require priority project 
applicants to submit a Preliminary project-specific WQMP, as early as possible, during the 
environmental review or planning phase of a development project and that the Preliminary 
WQMP be approved prior to the issuance of land use entitlement.   

 
2. Priority Projects (requiring a Preliminary WQMP) 
 
Land Use entitlement shall not be issued for any of the listed projects, below, until a 
Preliminary WQMP has been approved by the City’s Engineering Department.  For 
construction projects not going through entitlement, a Preliminary and Final project specific 
WQMP shall be approved, prior to the issuance of construction permits: 
 
Check the appropriate project category below, for this project: 
 

Check 
below 

Project Categories 

 

1.   All significant re-development projects. Significant re-development is defined as the 
addition or replacement of 5,000 or more square feet of impervious surface on an already 
developed site subject to discretionary approval of the Permittee. Redevelopment does 
not include routine maintenance activities that are conducted to maintain original line and 
grade, hydraulic capacity, original purpose of the facility, or emergency redevelopment 
activity required to protect public health and safety. Where redevelopment results in an 
increase of less than fifty percent of the impervious surfaces of a previously existing 
developed site, and the existing development was not subject to WQMP requirements, 
the numeric sizing criteria discussed below applies only to the addition or replacement, 
and not to the entire developed site.  Where redevelopment results in an increase of fifty 
percent or more of the impervious surfaces of a previously existing developed site, the 
numeric sizing criteria applies to the entire development (new and existing). 

     X 

2.    New development projects that create 10,000 square feet or more of impervious surface 
(collectively over the entire project site) including commercial, industrial, residential 
housing subdivisions (i.e., detached single family home subdivisions, multi-family 
attached subdivisions or townhomes, condominiums, apartments, etc.), mixed-use, and 
public projects.  This category includes development projects on public and private land, 
which fall under the planning and building authority of the permitting agency. 

Item E - 1980 of 2173



3 

Check 
below 

Project Categories 

 3. Automotive repair shops (with SIC codes 5013, 5014, 5541, 7532- 7534, 7536-7539). 

 
4.    Restaurants and Food Service Establishments where the land area of development is 

5,000 square feet or more. 

 

5.    Developments of 2,500 square feet of impervious surface or more adjacent to (within 200 
feet) or discharging directly into environmentally sensitive areas (ESA’s) such as areas 
designated in the Ocean Plan as areas of special biological significance or waterbodies 
listed on the CWA Section 303(d) list of impaired waters. 

 
6.    Parking lots of 5,000 square feet or more exposed to storm water.  Parking lot is defined 

as land area or facility for the temporary storage of motor vehicles. 

 
7.    Retail Gasoline Outlets (RGOs) that are either 5,000 sq ft or more or have a projected 

average daily traffic of 100 or more vehicles per day. 

 8.    *This project is not covered under any of the categories listed above. 

 
* If the development is not covered under any of the project categories listed in Section 2, the 
project is not required to design and install Site Design/LID BMPs or Treatment Control BMPs 
to treat the design storm event (Design Capture Volume) described in Section 4. 

 
3. Preliminary WQMP Objectives 
 
Through a combination of Site Design/LID BMPs (where feasible), Source Control, and/or 
Treatment Control BMPs, project-specific WQMPs shall address all identified pollutants and 
hydrologic conditions of concern from new development and significant re-development 
projects for the categories of projects (priority projects) listed in Section 2.  Under each type 
of BMP, listed below, please indicate which BMPs are planned to be implemented and 
included in the Final WQMP for the project: 
 
 
A. Site Design/LID (Low Impact Design) for Reducing Stormwater Runoff: 
 
The MS4 Permit requires each priority development project to infiltrate, harvest and use, 
evapotranspire, or bio-treat the runoff from a 2-yr, 24-hour storm event (Design Capture 
Volume). If site conditions do not permit infiltration, harvest and use, evapotranspiration, 
and/or bio-treatment of the entire Design Capture Volume, at the project site, Site Design/LID 
techniques are required to be implemented to the Maximum Extent Practicable, at the project 
site, and the remainder of the DCV shall be infiltrated, harvested, bio-treated or treated by 
alternative measures. Project applicants shall submit a Preliminary WQMP that documents 
the LID/Site Design BMPs, proposed for the project.  Please indicate, in the table below, 
which Site Design/LID BMPs will be utilized on this project to accomplish this requirement: 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Item E - 1981 of 2173



4 

 
Site Design/LID Practice 

 
Planned 

 
Not 

Planned 
Provide at least the minimum effective area required for LID 
BMPs, to comply with the WQMP (see Table 3-1 below). 

X  

Grade parking lot areas/drive aisles/roof drains to sheet flow 
runoff into landscaped swales, via curb cuts or zero-face 
curbs or otherwise disconnect direct drainage from MS4. 

 X 

Design landscaped areas as swales and grade to accept 
runoff from building roofs, parking lots and project roadways. 

 X 

Install surface retention basins or infiltration trenches to 
receive impervious area runoff. 

 X 

Install pervious pavement in parking stalls, alleys, driveways, 
gutters, walkways, trails or patios. 

 X 

Install underground stormwater retention chambers where 
downstream landscaped areas are limited. 

X  

Install approved Stormwater Drywells in detention areas.  X 
Construct streets, sidewalks, and parking lot stalls to the 
minimum widths necessary. 

X  

Install on-site Biotreatment basins/trenches with underdrains, 
where soil type is poorly draining. 

 X 

Install “Engineered Soil” to increase uptake/soil storage 
capacity and/or evapotranspiration. 

 X 

Install Rainwater Harvesting/Use Equipment.  X 
Regional LID BMP facilities are installed, off-site, with the 
capacity and conveyances to accept post-development storm 
water runoff from this project and reserved capacity allocation 
credits have been assigned to the project, in a Certificate or 
other legally binding document, attached herein 

 X 

 
Table 3-1 Minimum Effective Area1 Required for LID BMPs (surface + subsurface facilities) 
for Project WQMP to Demonstrate Infeasibility2 (% of site) 
 

Project Type New 
Development 

Re-
Development 

SF/MF Residential < 7 du/ac 10% 5% 
SF/MF Residential < 7 - 18 du/ac 7% 3.5% 
SF/MF Residential > 18 du/ac 5% 2.5% 
Mixed Use, Commercial/Industrial w/FAR< 1.0 10% 5% 
Mixed Use, Commercial/Industrial w/FAR 1.0-2.0 7% 3.5% 
Mixed Use, Commercial/Industrial w/FAR> 2.0 5% 2.5% 
Podium (parking under > 75% of project) 3% 1.5% 
Zoning allowing development to property lines 2% 1% 
Transit Oriented Development3 5% 2.5% 
Parking 5% 2.5% 

Item E - 1982 of 2173



5 

1  “Effective area” is defined as land area which 1) is suitable for a retention/infiltration BMP 
(based on infeasibility criteria) and 2) is located down-gradient from building roof or paved 
areas, so that it may receive gravity flow runoff. 
2  Criteria only required if the project WQMP seeks to demonstrate that the full DCV cannot 
be feasibly managed on-site. 
3  Transit oriented development is defined as a project with development center within one 
half mile of a mass transit center. 
Key:  du/ac = dwelling units/acre, FAR = Floor Area Ratio = ratio of gross floor area of 
building to gross lot area, MF = Multi Family, SF = Single Family 

 
B. Source Control BMPs – The following BMPs are designed to control stormwater 

pollutants and runoff water at the location where it is generated. Please indicate which of 
the listed BMPs are planned to be implemented for the project: 
 

Source Control BMPs Planned Not 
Planned 

Minimize non-stormwater site runoff through efficient 
irrigation system design and controllers. 

X  

Minimize trash and debris in storm runoff through a regular 
parking lot, storage yard and roadway sweeping program. 

X  

Provide proper covers/roofs and secondary containment for 
outside material storage & work areas. 

X  

Provide solid roofs over all trash enclosures. X  
Site Owner(s)/Property Manager/HOA or POA will be 
familiar with the project WQMP and stormwater BMPs. 

X  

Owner or HOA or POA to provide Education/Training of site 
occupants and employees on stormwater BMPs. 

X  

Install stormwater placards/stenciled messages with a “No 
Dumping” message on all on-site/off-site storm drain inlets.  

X  

Provide contained equipment/vehicle wash rack areas that 
discharge to sanitary sewer. 

 X 

 
C. Treatment Control BMPs – The following BMPs are designed to control stormwater 

pollutants where it is not feasible to install on-site or off-site Site Design/LID BMPs, with 
the requisite capacity to treat the Design Capture Volume for identified Pollutants of 
Concern or where pretreatment of stormwater runoff is required, ahead of infiltration 
BMPs.  Please indicate which of the listed BMPs are planned to be implemented for the 
project: 

 
Treatment Control BMP Planned Not 

Planned 
Gravity Separator devices for pretreatment of sediment, 
trash/litter or Oil & Grease 

X  

Proprietary Biofiltration vaults/devices   X 
Media Cartridge Filtration Vaults  X 
Proprietary Filter Inserts for on-site storm drain inlets or 
retention basin/trench overflow drains 

X  

Item E - 1983 of 2173



6 

 
4. Volume-based calculation (approximate) for sizing on-site or off-site Stormwater 

Retention/Infiltration, Harvest & Re-Use or Biotreatment facilities 
 

1)  After calculating the “Watershed Imperviousness Ratio”, i, which is equal to the percent 
of impervious area in each Drainage Management Area, divided by 100, calculate the 
composite runoff coefficient CBMP for the Drainage Area above using the following 
equation:  

CBMP = 0.858i
3
 – 0.78i

2
 + 0.774i + 0.04  

where:  CBMP = composite runoff coefficient; and, 

i = watershed imperviousness ratio. 

 
3) Determine the area-averaged “6-hour Mean Storm Rainfall”, P6, for the Drainage Area. 

This is calculated by multiplying the area averaged 2-year 1-hour value (0.5”-0.6”) by 
the appropriate regression coefficient (1.4807).  The 2-yr, 1-hr value for southern 
Ontario is approximately to 0.5” (P6 = 0.5*1.4807 = 0.74 and northern Ontario is 
approximately 0.6” in/hr (P6 = 0.6*1.4807 = 0.89).   

4) Determine the appropriate drawdown time.  Use the regression constant a = 1.582 for 
24 hours and a = 1.963 for 48 hours. Note: Regression constants are provided for both 
24 hour and 48-hour drawdown times; however, 48-hour drawdown times should be 
used in most areas of California. Drawdown times in excess of 48 hours should be 
used with caution as vector breeding can be a problem after water has stood in excess 
of 72 hours. (Use of the 24-hour drawdown time should be limited to drainage areas 
with coarse soils (Class ‘A’ soils that readily drain.) 

5) Calculate the “Maximized Detention Volume”, P0, using the following equation:  

P0 = a · CBMP · P6  

where:  P0 = Maximized Detention Volume, in inches  

a = 1.582 for 24 hour and a = 1.963 for 48-hour drawdown,  

CBMP = composite runoff coefficient; and, 

P6 = 6-hour Mean Storm Rainfall, in inches  

6) Calculate the “Target Capture Volume”, V0, using the following equation:  

V0 = (P0 · A) / 12  

where:  V0 = Target Capture Volume, in acre-feet  

P0 = Maximized Detention Volume, in inches; and, 

A = BMP Drainage Area, in acres  
 
 

Item E - 1984 of 2173



7 

Project Volume-based calculation (approximate) for planned on-site or off-site 
Stormwater Retention/Infiltration, Harvest & Re-Use or Biotreatment facilities: 
 
Variable Factor/Formula DA1, 

DMA A 
DA1 

DMA B 
DA2 

DMA A 
DA2 

DMA B 
Impervious 
surface/total 
surface, ratio  

(i) 90%    

CBMP= runoff 
coefficient 

0.858i
3
–0.78i

2
+0.774i+ 

0.04 

0.73    

P6  **P6 = 2-yr,1-hr 
depth*1.4807 =  

0.89    

Detention Volume 
(acre inches) 

P0 = a * CBMP * P6   = 1.03    

Drawdown rate of 
basin/trench (a) 

1.963 for 48-hr 
drawdown = 

1.582    

Project Total Area 
(acre) 

(A) 6.98    

Design Capture  
Volume in cu. ft. 

V0 = [(P0 * A)/12] 
*43560 = 

26,098    

Runoff Volume 
infiltrated in first  
3 hours of storm 
(not applicable for 
underground systems) 

Vol= in/hr/12 x ft2 of 
infiltration area x 3 hrs    

N/A    

Retention Volume 
provided in cubic 
feet. 

Retention capacity of 
basins, trenches, 
underground storage or 
biotreatment basin 

26,098*    

*TOTAL STORAGE VOLUME OF BASIN PROVIDED IS 46,808 CF. A WEIR STRUCTURE 
WILL RETAIN THE DCV OF 26,098 AND THEN ALLOW RUNOFF EXCEEDING THE DCV 
TO DISCHARGE OVER THE WIER TO A PUMP FOR LARGER STORM EVENTS.  
**For P6 value, use site coordinates and NOAA website to determine project’s average 2-yr, 
1-hr rainfall depth, at: http://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/sa/sca_pfds.html . 
 
5. Flow-Based calculation (approximate) for sizing on-site or off-site Biotreatment 

facilities and proprietary treatment technology BMPs: 
 

1)  After calculating the “Watershed Imperviousness Ratio”, i, which is equal to the percent 
of impervious area in each Drainage Management Area divided by 100, calculate the 
composite runoff coefficient CBMP for the Drainage Area above using the following 
equation:  

CBMP = 0.858i
3
 – 0.78i

2
 + 0.774i + 0.04  

where:  CBMP = composite runoff coefficient; and, 

i = watershed imperviousness ratio. 

Item E - 1985 of 2173



8 

 
2) Determine BMP design rainfall intensity, IBMP, using the project site geo-coordinates 

and the NOAA website to determine project’s average 2-yr, 1-hr rainfall intensity, at: 
http://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/sa/sca_pfds.html .Multiply this value by 0.2787 
(regression coefficient for Ontario) and a minimum safety factor of 2.   

4) Calculate the target BMP flowrate, Q, using the following formula (for each DMA <50 
acres*):  

Q = CBMP · IBMP · A 

 Where: Q = flow in cfs (Cubic feet per second) 
   IBMP = BMP design rainfall intensity, in/hr 
   A = Drainage Area in acres 
 
*For DMAs >50 acres, with CBMP <0.5, the project applicant shall use the unit hydrograph 
method specified in the San Bernardino County Hydrology Manual, using the design storm 
pattern with rainfall return frequency such that the peak 1-hr rainfall intensity equals the 85th 
percentile 1-hr rainfall, multiplied by 2. 
 
Project Flow-based calculation (approximate) for planned on-site or off-site flow-based 
Biotreatment facilities or Stormwater Treatment BMPs: 
 
Variable Factor/Formula DA1 

DMA A 
DA1 

DMA B 
DA2 

DMA A 
DA2 

DMA B 
Impervious surface/ 
total surface, ratio  

(i) N/A    

CBMP= composite 
runoff coefficient 

0.858i
3
+0.78i

2
+0.774i 

+0.04 

N/A    

IBMP IBMP = 2-yr,1-hr storm 
intensity*0.2787*safety 
factor 

N/A    

Drainage area (ac) A = DMA sq ft/43,560 N/A    
Target BMP flowrate Q =  CBPM* IBMP * A 

   
N/A    

 
 

6. Hydrologic Conditions of Concern (HCOC) and use of the on-line San Bernardino 
County HCOC Map for determining necessary mitigation steps necessary if there 
are HCOCs downstream of a project: 

 
Project applicants may access the on-line HCOC Map at: 
http://permitrack.sbcounty.gov/WAP/. The map will indicate any hydrology concerns with 
downstream waterways that are hydraulically connected to the project and will indicate if 
there are any approved regional projects downstream that could be utilized for off-site 
mitigation of HCOCs.  Please indicate here if the project will or will not be able to 
retain/infilter, harvest and use or biotreat and detain the DCV, on-site, as calculated in 
Section 4 and if there are HCOCs identified downstream of the project: 

Item E - 1986 of 2173



9 

 
 

Retain or Harvest/Use the DCV on site? Yes X No  
Biotreat the DCV but not infilter the runoff? Yes  No X 
HCOCs identified downstream of site? Yes  No X 

If the entire DCV will not be retained on site, the DCV is biotreated but not infiltered or 
additional detention capacity is needed to address identified HCOCs, downstream of the site, 
please list here, what additional mitigation measures will be utilized (on-site or off-site) to 
address HCOCs (see Section 4.2.1-4.2.3 of the SB County WQMP Technical Guidance): 
 
  N/A 

 
 
7. Site Plan and Conceptual Grading/Drainage Plan requirements for submission with 

the Preliminary WQMP: 
 
Provide a Site Plan and Conceptual Grading/Drainage Plan along with this Preliminary 
WQMP, which conceptually shows the proposed locations of buildings, homes, parking lots, 
parks, new paved roadways, landscaped areas, drainage patterns and drainage sub-areas, 
methods of conveyance, proposed retention/infiltration, harvest & use or biotreatment 
facilities that are planned for installation. Where it is determined to be infeasible to capture 
and detain design storm runoff volumes, on-site, please include other design features, as 
described in Section 3, above. Include numbered or lettered notes on the Site Plan with a 
legend detailing other BMPs, as described in Section 3. 
 
8. BMP Maintenance and Funding Mechanism & Description: 
 
  Maintenance and funding to be provided by owner. 

 
 
9. Acknowledgment: 
  
As the property owner or developer, I understand that this project is required to install and 
implement permanent LID Storm Water Best Management Practices pursuant to the 
requirements of the San Bernardino County MS4 Permit and to document those BMPs in the 
submittal of a Water Quality Management Plan, which is binding on any current or successive 
owners of this property. 

 
10. Exemption Signature: 
  
As the property owner or developer, I understand that this project is not required by the San 
Bernardino County MS4 Permit to install and implement permanent LID Storm Water Best 
Management Practices and will not be required to submit a Water Quality Management Plan. 
 
 

   

 
Signature of Owner or Developer 

                                                             
Date 

 

 

Yes X No  

Item E - 1987 of 2173



TAIT JOB # 	
���  

 

 

 

Preliminary	Hydrology	Report 

 

1600 East Francis Street, Ontario 

 

Ontario,	CA 

December 20, 2022 

This Hydrology Report has been prepared by, and under the direction of, the undersigned, a duly Registered Civil 
Engineer in the State of California. Except as noted, the undersigned attests to the technical information contained 
herein, and has judged to be acceptable the qualifications of any technical specialists providing engineering data 
for this report, upon which findings, conclusions, and recommendations are based. 

 
_______________________________ 
Ryan Haskin, P.E. 
Registered Civil Engineer No. C84850 
Exp.: 3/31/24 

 

 

  Prepared for:    Prepared by: 
 

 
 
 

DPIF3 Acquisition Co LLC 

5500 Equity Avenue 
Reno, NV 89502 

 

  

 
Tait & Associates, Inc. 
701 N. Parkcenter Drive 

Santa Ana, CA 92705 
(714) 560-8200 

 
 

Item E - 1988 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

i 
 

Table	of	Contents	

Section 1 Purpose and Scope.................................................................................................... 1 

Section 2 Project Information ................................................................................................... 2 

2.1 Project Description ........................................................................................................... 2 

2.1.1 Project Location ............................................................................................................ 2 

2.2 Hydrologic Setting ............................................................................................................ 3 

2.2.1 Watershed .................................................................................................................... 3 

2.2.2 Existing Topography and Facilities ............................................................................... 3 

2.2.3 Adjacent Land Use ........................................................................................................ 3 

2.2.4 Soil Conditions .............................................................................................................. 3 

2.2.5 Downstream Conditions ............................................................................................... 3 

2.2.6 Existing Drainage Patterns ............................................................................................ 4 

2.2.7 Proposed Drainage Patterns ......................................................................................... 4 

2.2.8 Impervious Cover .......................................................................................................... 4 

Section 3 Design Criteria and Methodology ............................................................................. 5 

3.1 Design Criteria .................................................................................................................. 5 

3.1.1 Drainage Design Criteria ............................................................................................... 5 

3.1.2 Flow-Based Numeric Sizing ........................................................................................... 5 

3.1.3 Runoff Calculation Method .......................................................................................... 5 

3.1.4 Runoff and Detention ................................................................................................... 6 

3.1.5 Hydraulic Inlet Analysis ................................................................................................. 6 

Section 4 Hydrology and Drainage Analysis ............................................................................. 7 

4.1 Drainage Delineation ........................................................................................................ 7 

4.2 Summary of Results .......................................................................................................... 7 

Appendix A – Maps and Tables ....................................................................................................... A 

Appendix B – Hydrology Maps ........................................................................................................ B 

Appendix C – Pre-Development Runoff Analysis ............................................................................ C 

Appendix D – Post-Development Runoff Analysis .......................................................................... D 

Appendix E – Reference Plans ........................................................................................................ E 

Item E - 1989 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995  Page 1 
 

Section	1	 Purpose	and	Scope	

 
This hydrology study presents an analysis of the hydrologic effects of the development of a 6.98 
acre property for use as a warehouse distribution center. 

This hydrology study addresses runoff from the project site and its impact to the existing 
downstream storm drainage system.  The study includes calculations for the 10- and 100-year 
storm for both the existing and proposed condition.  The study also details the general project 
characteristics, the design, criteria and methodology applied to the analysis of the project.  The 
report provides a design analysis for the drainage facilities proposed as part of the project, with 
the drainage improvements being designed to mitigate all rainfall event frequencies up to a 24-
hour, 100-year storm event.   

This Hydrology Study fulfills the requirements of the San Bernardino Hydrology Manual. 

The plans and specifications in the Hydrology Study are not for construction purposes; the 
contractor shall refer to final approved construction documents for plans and specifications. 

Item E - 1990 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995  Page 2 
 

Section	2	 Project	Information	

2.1	 Project	Description	

 
The proposed construction involves the development of approximately 6.98 acres for use as a 
warehouse distribution center.   

 

2.1.1	 Project	Location	

 
The project is located in the City of Ontario, California, at the at 1600 East Francis Street. 

 

 

 

Item E - 1991 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995 Page  3 
 

2.2	 Hydrologic	Setting	

 
This section summarizes the project's size and location in the context of the larger watershed 
perspective, topography, soil and vegetation conditions, percent impervious area, natural and 
infrastructure drainage features, and other relevant hydrologic and environmental factors to be 
protected specific to the project area's watershed. 

 

2.2.1	 Watershed	

 
The project site is located within the Santa Ana River Watershed.  

 

2.2.2	 Existing	Topography	and	Facilities	

 
The existing topography of the project site is relatively flat with a consistent 1% to 2% slope to 
the south.  Site elevations range from 869 to 862 above Mean Sea Level. 

 

2.2.3	 Adjacent	Land	Use	

 
The project is bounded E. Francis Street to the north and Commercial/industrial parks to the 
east, south, and west.  

 

2.2.4	 Soil	Conditions	

 
The project soil consists of Delhi fine sand and Tujunga loamy sand with a hydrologic soil 
designation type A. See appendix A for Soil Map information. 

 

2.2.5	 Downstream	Conditions	

 
The project is located in the tributary area of the West Cucamonga Channel as seen on excerpt 
of the city’s master hydrology map located in Appendix E.  The channel is approximately 300 
feet west of the project and is designed to receive the total runoff from the site. 

Item E - 1992 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995 Page  4 
 

2.2.6	 Existing	Drainage	Patterns	

	

The existing drainage for the project consists of surface flow from the northeast to the 
southwest corner of the site where it enters one of two sump locations.  The two sump 
locations each have a pump that combines flow into a single 6” pipe where water is forced 
north up to Francis Street and discharges to the street gutter. 

In the existing condition, the southern portion of the site floods during large storm events.  The 
existing pumps send some runoff up to Francis Street, however the peak flow of medium to 
large storms well exceeds the flow of the pumps with stormwater overtopping the site 
perimeter to the east where it flows across the adjacent property and ultimately discharges to 
the West Cucamonga Channel. 

See Pre-Development Hydrology Map included in Appendix B. 

 

2.2.7	 Proposed	Drainage	Patterns	

 
The proposed drainage for the site will mimic the existing drainage pattern with the site sloping 
from the northeast to the southwest.  Various inlets will capture the runoff and convey 
stormwater to an underground infiltration basin.  

The underground infiltration basin is designed to fully capture and infiltrate the WQMP design 
capture volume as well as provide additional storage volume to provide flood protection of the 
structure up to the 100 year storm event and eliminate flooding to the adjacent property to the 
east.  When stormwater within the basin exceeds the WQMP volume, a weir structure will 
allow runoff to flow to a pump which will discharge stormwater at a maximum flow rate of 2 cfs 
to Francis Street. 

See Post-Development Hydrology Map included in Appendix D. 

 

2.2.8	 Impervious	Cover	

 
The site is currently developed with 100% impervious hardscape and buildings.  The proposed 
development consists of a single large building, parking lot, and landscape areas which results 
in approximately 90% impervious cover.    

 	

Item E - 1993 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995 Page  5 
 

Section	3	 Design	Criteria	and	Methodology	

 
This section summarizes the design criteria and methodology applied during the drainage 
analysis of the project site. The design criteria and methodology follow the San Bernardino 
County Hydrology Manual requirements.   

 

3.1	 Design	Criteria	

 

3.1.1	 Drainage	Design	Criteria	

 
The project storm drain facilities (inlets, culverts, detention, etc.) have been designed in 
accordance with the San Bernardino County Hydrology Manual. 

 

3.1.2	 Flow-Based	Numeric	Sizing	

 
The 100-year storm event was used to analyze the existing and proposed conditions. Also 
included in this report is the 10-year runoff analysis for reference. NOAA precipitation depth 
and intensity values were utilized to calculated peak runoff and hydrographs for the pre and 
post development conditions and are included in Appendix A.   

 

3.1.3	 Runoff	Calculation	Method	

 
Storm flows were calculated by using the Rational Hydrology Method described in the San 
Bernardino County hydrology Manual. Advanced Engineering Software (AES) was utilized to 
generate the 10-year and 100-year runoff.  Within rational method calculations, “commercial” 
land use cover was used for the developed condition which corresponds to 90% impervious 
cover in the Riverside County Hydrology Manual. 

 Pre- and Post-Development Runoff Calculations are in Appendix C and D.   

 

 

Item E - 1994 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995 Page  6 
 

3.1.4	 Runoff	and	Detention	

 
Hydrographs were created using Computation Hydraulics (CH1) within Advanced Engineering 
Software (AES) with Flow-through Detention Basin modeling is provided in Appendix D for the 
10- and 100-year storm events. The detention basin is oversized for a dual purpose of retaining 
the WQMP design capture volume as well as providing storage and a detention effect for 
storms beyond the WQMP volume.  A weir structure ensures that the WQMP design capture 
volume is retained for infiltration.  When the basin volume exceeds the WQMP volume, the 
weir structure will allow runoff to flow to a pump that will discharge at a maximum rate of 2 cfs 
to Francis Street.  The additional storage within the basin beyond the WQMP volume provides 
flood protection for the proposed structure up to the 100-year storm event. 

Discharge from the detention basin analysis includes an infiltration rate of 0.54 cfs and 2.0 cfs 
when the pump is engaged.   The infiltration rate was calculated by dividing the tested 
infiltration rate (7.1 inches per hour) by a safety factor of 3 for a design infiltration rate of 2.37 
inches per hour.  2.73 in/hr was then multiplied by the square footage of the basin and 
converted to 0.54 cubic feet per second. 

The provide analysis demonstrates the detention basin is adequately sized for the 100-year 
storm while infiltration the WQMP volume and reducing the peak flow to less than the existing 
site condition.   

 

3.1.5	 Hydraulic	Inlet	Analysis	

 
Hydraulic Inlet capacity analysis was performed using Hydraflow Express Extension for 
Autodesk Civil 3D and is provided in Appendix D.  Each of the on-site inlets were analyzed with 
the 100-year peak flows produced by the rational method analysis and show a full capture of 
the 100-year peak flows with an acceptable depth of flow at each inlet. 

 

 

 

 

 

Item E - 1995 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995 Page  7 
 

Section	4	 Hydrology	and	Drainage	Analysis	

 
This section summarizes the quantitative hydrologic analysis of the existing and proposed 
conditions of the site. 

 

4.1	 Drainage	Delineation	

 
The Appendix B section of this report contains the existing condition hydrology map, which 
shows the existing drainage.  A hydrology map for the proposed condition has also been 
provided in the Appendix B of this report.  

The degree to which the flooding and discharge to the adjacent property occurs in the existing 
condition is unknow and therefor not shown on the hydrology map.  During small storm events, 
the on-site pumps are assumed to take all flow to Francis Street.  During medium and large 
storms, the calculated peak discharge rate using the rational method is assumed to mostly 
overtop the property line and flow east across the adjacent property and into the West 
Cucamonga Channel with a small amount of runoff still being sent via the pumps to Francis 
Street. 

The provided hydrograph analysis demonstrates that the proposed basin will provide the site 
with enough stormwater capacity to eliminate flooding and discharge to the adjacent property 
while providing flood protection of the structure up to the 100-year storm event.   

	

4.2	 Summary	of	Results	

 
Site Runoff Summary Table  

  
Existing 

Runoff Peak 
Flow (cfs) 

Proposed Runoff Peak Flow (cfs) 

Without 
Detention Basin 

With Detention 
Basin + Pump 

10-yr 16.12 14.90 2.00 
100-yr 24.00 22.48 2.00 

 
 

Item E - 1996 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995 Page  8 
 

APPENDIX 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item E - 1997 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995 Appendix A 
 

	

Appendix	A	–	Maps	and	Tables	

Soil Map, NOAA intensity and precipitation depth data 
See Attached Exhibit 

 

 	

Item E - 1998 of 2173



���������������	 
��������������������������������

��������������������� ��������!����!��"������� ����#$%$��&�'�('(�)$��&*++,�-+.()����&�����)�����&�� $���)������&��� +�'

/01121345627892:;4<=>2?92:>@6A;B2C2
D;E53A;B2B5=>F20B35@A;92G54AH;@BA592IJ1K2
D53A3<L>F2M8NO8OPQ92D;BRA3<L>F2S77TN?7UQ2

V4>W53A;BF2U??NO72H3KK
X��������Y�Z[�	����
XX��������\�]�

0̂_/̀ 2̂aVG_̂_̀1̀ _0/2baVcIV/Gd2VJ̀ _e1̀ VJ

���f��
����������������g��������h��#��i�$$����h������j�g�� ��	�����������k�����	�������������

��$�����[������Z����l��$�m����$�n����$��\��������� $���o����	����$�o�n����m���p�����]��!!���

q������������$�q�������i�*l�����l�����m���
��g�k�n��r����o������

st����s������$�u�����������������$��������� ��	���$���


�"��k�$���v�
�" ������$�v�	���")"�����$�

b̂235w<45@

x̂JSw56>L2y;AB32y@>EAyA353A;B2H@>z<>BE{2>63A=53>62|A3}2~O�2E;BHAL>BE>2AB3>@W5462�AB2ABE}>6�7

x<@53A;B
1W>@5R>2@>E<@@>BE>2AB3>@W542�{>5@6�

7 C P 7O CP PO 7OO COO POO 7OOO

PS=AB ON77T
�(�(�.�(�+'��

ON7P8
�(�+���(�+.,�

ONCOO
�(�+--�(��'��

ONCM?
�(�+���(��.��

ONCUC
�(���'�(���.�

ONM7?
�(��'-�(�'(��

ONM8U
�(��-'�(�'-��

ONMUO
�(��.(�(���(�

ON8CO
�(���,�(�-(��

ON8PO
�(��(,�(�--.�

7OS=AB ON7?U
�(�+'(�(��(��

ONCC7
�(�+.'�(��-.�

ONCUT
�(�����(��'��

ONMMU
�(��,��(�'+��

ON8O8
�(�����(��+��

ON8PC
�(�����(��.,�

ON8~~
�(��,.�(�--'�

ONP88
�(�'(+�(�,'-�

ON?OM
�(�'���(�.-��

ON?8P
�(�'���(���,�

7PS=AB ONCOM
�(�+-��(��'-�

ONC?T
�(�����(���'�

ONM8T
�(��.��(�'���

ON8O~
�(���,�(��(��

ON8U~
�(��.��(�-�+�

ONP8T
�(�'�-�(�,+(�

ON?OM
�(�'�.�(�.(��

ON?PU
�(�'.��(��(��

ONTC~
�(��+'�+�('�

ONTUO
�(���+�+�+-�

MOS=AB ONM7O
�(���.�(��,��

ON8OU
�(��'(�(�'�'�

ONPC~
�(�''(�(�-''�

ON?C8
�(��+'�(�,-��

ONT8P
�(�����(��'-�

ONUM8
�(�-'��+�(.�

ON~CO
�(�-�.�+����

7NOO
�(�,'(�+��.�

7N77
�(�,.'�+����

7N7~
�(�.+(�+�,,�

?OS=AB ON8PT
�(��.+�(�����

ON?OC
�(��(+�(�,���

ONTUC
�(�-�(�(���(�

ON~C7
�(�,���+�+��

7N7O
�(�.,-�+�'(�

7NCM
�(���.�+�-(�

7NM?
�+�(��+�.+�

7N8U
�+�(����(��

7N?8
�+�+-������

7NT?
�+��(���-+�

CS}@ ON?T?
�(��-'�(�.+��

ONU~C
�(�,'��+�(.�

7N7?
�(��-��+�'+�

7NM?
�+�+��+�-,�

7N?M
�+������(-�

7NUC
�+�'+����-�

CNOO
�+������--�

CN7U
�+�-+������

CN87
�+�,(���'��

CNPU
�+�,����.��

MS}@ ONU87
�(�,(��+�(��

7N77
�(���'�+��'�

7N88
�+��(�+�,��

7N?~
�+������(,�

CNOC
�+�-+����-�

CNCP
�+�,�������

CN8U
�+�..����(�

CNTO
�+������,(�

CN~U
���++�'��,�

MN7~
���+,�'�,��

?S}@ 7N7U
�(��.'�+�'��

7NPP
�+����+�..�

CNO7
�+�-,���'��

CNMT
�+�������(�

CNUC
�����������

MN7?
���'-�'�(��

MN8T
���-'�'�-��

MNT~
���,����+��

8N7~
����-������

8N8U
���(��-�-��

7CS}@ 7NPC
�+��,�+�.'�

CNOO
�+�-,���'��

CN?O
���+-���+-�

MNO?
��������,��

MN??
����+�'�-'�

8NO~
���+�����+�

8NPC
���'��-�(+�

8N~M
���-��-�,-�

PN8T
���.-�,�.��

PNU?
������.�-��

C8S}@ CNOO
�+�,,����+�

CN?8
����'���(��

MN8P
���('�'�((�

8NO~
����,�'�,,�

8N~7
�'�+-������

PNPC
�'��.�-�,��

?N77
�'����,�,(�

?NT7
����.�.�-.�

TN8T
���-��+(�+�

UNOP
���..�++���

CSL5{ CNMP
���(.���,+�

MN7?
���,����-��

8NCO
���,(�'�.-�

PNOM
�'�'(���.,�

?N78
����(�,�'(�

?N~T
���,.�.��,�

TNUO
�-������.��

UN?P
�-�.+�++���

~NT?
�,����+����

7ON?
�,�,-�+'�.�

MSL5{ CN8~
����(���.,�

MNMU
���������(�

8NPP
�'�(+����-�

PN8~
�'�.+�-�'+�

?NTT
���,��.�+-�

TNTP
�-�'�����'�

UNT8
�,�(.�++�(�

~NTP
�,�-.�+��-�

77N7
�.�'+�+��(�

7CNC
�.��(�+,�(�

8SL5{ CN?M
��������('�

MN?7
���+��'�+-�

8NUU
�'��+���-��

PN~M
���+��-����

TNMP
�-����.�.-�

UN88
�,�((�+(�'�

~NP?
�,�,'�+��(�

7ONT
�.�''�+����

7CNM
����.�+-���

7MNP
���.-�+.�.�

TSL5{ MN7?
���.(���-��

8NM8
���.'���(+�

PN~O
����(�-�.��

TN7~
�-����.����

UN~P
�,��.�+(�.�

7ONM
�.��-�+��,�

77NT
���'��+'�.�

7MNC
�+(�'�+,�+�

7PNC
�++����(���

7?NT
�+���������

7OSL5{ MN8P
���(�����.�

8NTP
�'��(���'.�

?N8T
���,+�,�'��

TN~O
�-��+������

~NUT
�.����++���

77N8
���'-�+'�(�

7MNO
�+(���+-���

78N?
�++���+.���

7?N~
�+��.����.�

7UN?
�+��-��-�(�

COSL5{ 8NCO
���,��'�.'�

PNU?
���+.�-�,-�

UNO~
�,�+�����-�

~N~P
�.�,(�++�-�

7CNP
�+(�-�+��+�

78N?
�+��+�+,���

7?NT
�+�����+�(�

7UN~
�+'����'���

CCNO
�+-�,����,�

C8NP
�+,����'���

MOSL5{ 8NUC
�'��-����-�

?NT?
����.�,�.+�

~N8O
�.��.�+(���

77N?
�+(���+����

78NT
�+����+,�,�

7TNC
�+'����+�+�

7~NU
�+-�(��'���

CCNP
�+,�,����+�

C?NM
�+���������

C~N8
��+���'+�(�

8PSL5{ PNUC
���+��-�,+�

UN7?
�,��+���'��

77N8
�+(�(�+��+�

78N7
�+����+-�'�

7TN~
�+�����+�-�

C7NO
�+,�'����.�

C8NC
�+��-��(���

CTN?
��+�.����.�

MCNP
��'�-�'��.�

M?N8
��-�-��(�.�

?OSL5{ ?NUC
�-�('�,�.,�

~NPC
�.�'��++�(�

7MNC
�++�,�+����

7?N8
�+'���+��+�

CON~
�+,�,����+�

C8NP
��(����(�+�

CUNM
���������-�

MCN8
������'+���

MUNC
��.����+���

8CN~
��+�'������

+�
������������!���������
�������#���������������k$������k��������!�����������$������!�������$������������������
����

s�#k�����������������������
������#��������$���������������k�������!������(����!�������������$��m������k�k�$����������������������!������������#������!����
 ����������������������� ������������������$����$$�k�� ����������������������k���������$�������������$�����k�������������Y���#��������������k�������������
��n���� ���������k�k$��#���#�#���������������
	
������#���������#���k���� ���������������$����$���
	
���$����


$�������!������st�����$���+'����#����!���#������!��#������

q�n����m��

b̂2R@5y}AE54

Item E - 1999 of 2173



���������������	 
��������������������������������

��������������������� ��������!����!��"������� ����#$%$��&�'�('(�)$��&*++,�-+.()����&�����)�����&�� $���)������&��� ��'

/�0����1��

2345676389:3;5

<=3;;65>3;86?8993:@

Item E - 2000 of 2173



���������������	 
��������������������������������

��������������������� ��������!����!��"������� ����#$%$��&�'�('(�)$��&*++,�-+.()����&�����)�����&�� $���)������&��� ��'

/01234560734831109:

/01234560734;0<

/01234560734031907

=

>
?@;

A;9

=

>
BCC@;

DC;9

=

>
BCC@;

DC;9

Item E - 2001 of 2173



���������������	 
��������������������������������

��������������������� ��������!����!��"������� ����#$%$��&�'�('(�)$��&*++,�-+.()����&�����)�����&�� $���)������&��� '�'

�
/�0����1��

�
�
�

2��������#�����!�3�##����
4������$�5�����������#����������#������������

4������$�6��������������
4������$�6�����3������
+����7����6����8� �����
��$��������� ��	���(�+(�

9��������%��8��3�9��������:����� ���
�

���$��#���

;

<
=>>?@

A>@B

Item E - 2002 of 2173



Hydrologic Soil Group—San Bernardino County Southwestern Part, California

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

9/22/2022
Page 1 of 4

37
66

69
0

37
66

72
0

37
66

75
0

37
66

78
0

37
66

81
0

37
66

84
0

37
66

87
0

37
66

90
0

37
66

69
0

37
66

72
0

37
66

75
0

37
66

78
0

37
66

81
0

37
66

84
0

37
66

87
0

37
66

90
0

442880 442910 442940 442970 443000 443030

442880 442910 442940 442970 443000 443030

34°  2' 28'' N
11

7°
  3

7'
 8

'' W
34°  2' 28'' N

11
7°

  3
7'

 1
'' W

34°  2' 21'' N

11
7°

  3
7'

 8
'' W

34°  2' 21'' N

11
7°

  3
7'

 1
'' W

N

Map projection: Web Mercator   Corner coordinates: WGS84   Edge tics: UTM Zone 11N WGS84
0 50 100 200 300

Feet
0 15 30 60 90

Meters
Map Scale: 1:1,160 if printed on A portrait (8.5" x 11") sheet.

Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.

Item E - 2003 of 2173



MAP LEGEND MAP INFORMATION

Area of Interest (AOI)
Area of Interest (AOI)

Soils
Soil Rating Polygons

A

A/D

B

B/D

C

C/D

D

Not rated or not available

Soil Rating Lines
A

A/D

B

B/D

C

C/D

D

Not rated or not available

Soil Rating Points
A

A/D

B

B/D

C

C/D

D

Not rated or not available

Water Features
Streams and Canals

Transportation
Rails

Interstate Highways

US Routes

Major Roads

Local Roads

Background
Aerial Photography

The soil surveys that comprise your AOI were mapped at 
1:24,000.

Warning: Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.

Enlargement of maps beyond the scale of mapping can cause 
misunderstanding of the detail of mapping and accuracy of soil 
line placement. The maps do not show the small areas of 
contrasting soils that could have been shown at a more detailed 
scale.

Please rely on the bar scale on each map sheet for map 
measurements.

Source of Map: Natural Resources Conservation Service
Web Soil Survey URL: 
Coordinate System: Web Mercator (EPSG:3857)

Maps from the Web Soil Survey are based on the Web Mercator 
projection, which preserves direction and shape but distorts 
distance and area. A projection that preserves area, such as the 
Albers equal-area conic projection, should be used if more 
accurate calculations of distance or area are required.

This product is generated from the USDA-NRCS certified data as 
of the version date(s) listed below.

Soil Survey Area: San Bernardino County Southwestern Part, 
California
Survey Area Data: Version 13, Sep 13, 2021

Soil map units are labeled (as space allows) for map scales 
1:50,000 or larger.

Date(s) aerial images were photographed: Mar 17, 2022—Jun 
12, 2022

The orthophoto or other base map on which the soil lines were 
compiled and digitized probably differs from the background 
imagery displayed on these maps. As a result, some minor 
shifting of map unit boundaries may be evident.

Hydrologic Soil Group—San Bernardino County Southwestern Part, California

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

9/22/2022
Page 2 of 4Item E - 2004 of 2173



Hydrologic Soil Group

Map unit symbol Map unit name Rating Acres in AOI Percent of AOI

Db Delhi fine sand A 2.5 35.9%

TuB Tujunga loamy sand, 0 
to 5 percent slopes

A 4.4 64.1%

Totals for Area of Interest 6.9 100.0%

Description

Hydrologic soil groups are based on estimates of runoff potential. Soils are 
assigned to one of four groups according to the rate of water infiltration when the 
soils are not protected by vegetation, are thoroughly wet, and receive 
precipitation from long-duration storms.

The soils in the United States are assigned to four groups (A, B, C, and D) and 
three dual classes (A/D, B/D, and C/D). The groups are defined as follows:

Group A. Soils having a high infiltration rate (low runoff potential) when 
thoroughly wet. These consist mainly of deep, well drained to excessively 
drained sands or gravelly sands. These soils have a high rate of water 
transmission.

Group B. Soils having a moderate infiltration rate when thoroughly wet. These 
consist chiefly of moderately deep or deep, moderately well drained or well 
drained soils that have moderately fine texture to moderately coarse texture. 
These soils have a moderate rate of water transmission.

Group C. Soils having a slow infiltration rate when thoroughly wet. These consist 
chiefly of soils having a layer that impedes the downward movement of water or 
soils of moderately fine texture or fine texture. These soils have a slow rate of 
water transmission.

Group D. Soils having a very slow infiltration rate (high runoff potential) when 
thoroughly wet. These consist chiefly of clays that have a high shrink-swell 
potential, soils that have a high water table, soils that have a claypan or clay 
layer at or near the surface, and soils that are shallow over nearly impervious 
material. These soils have a very slow rate of water transmission.

If a soil is assigned to a dual hydrologic group (A/D, B/D, or C/D), the first letter is 
for drained areas and the second is for undrained areas. Only the soils that in 
their natural condition are in group D are assigned to dual classes.

Rating Options

Aggregation Method: Dominant Condition

Hydrologic Soil Group—San Bernardino County Southwestern Part, California

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

9/22/2022
Page 3 of 4

Item E - 2005 of 2173



Component Percent Cutoff: None Specified 

Tie-break Rule: Higher

Hydrologic Soil Group—San Bernardino County Southwestern Part, California

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

9/22/2022
Page 4 of 4

Item E - 2006 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995 Appendix B 
 

	

Appendix	B	–	Hydrology	Maps	

Pre-Development and Post-Development Hydrology Maps 
See Attached Exhibit 

	 	

 	

Item E - 2007 of 2173



T=12"
C=15'DIA.

T=30"
C=20'DIA.

T=30"
C=25'DIA.

T=10"
C=20'DIA.

T=12"
C=25'DIA.

E. FRANCIS STREET
℄

  OF 

JO
B 

NO
: 

DA
TE

: 
RE

VI
SI

O
N 

#:
  

CH
EC

KE
D:

 
DA

TE
: 

DR
AW

N:
 

DA
TE

: 

N
O

.  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
BY

   
 D

AT
E 

   
C

H
K

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

70
1 

N
. P

ar
kc

en
te

r D
riv

e
Sa

nt
a 

A
na

, C
A

 9
27

05

p:
 7

14
/5

60
/8

20
0 

   
   

f: 
71

4/
56

0/
82

11
w

w
w

.ta
it.

co
m

Si
nc

e 
19

64

Lo
s A

ng
el

es
O

nt
ar

io
Sa

cr
am

en
to

Sa
n 

D
ie

go
Sa

n 
Fr

an
ci

sc
o

Bo
ise

D
al

la
s

D
en

ve
r

Ph
oe

ni
x

Po
rtl

an
d

70
1 

N
. P

ar
kc

en
te

r D
riv

e
Sa

nt
a 

A
na

, C
A

 9
27

05

p:
 7

14
/5

60
/8

20
0 

   
   

f: 
71

4/
56

0/
82

11
w

w
w

.ta
it.

co
m

Si
nc

e 
19

64

Lo
s A

ng
el

es
O

nt
ar

io
Sa

cr
am

en
to

Sa
n 

D
ie

go
Sa

n 
Fr

an
ci

sc
o

Bo
ise

D
al

la
s

D
en

ve
r

Ph
oe

ni
x

Po
rtl

an
d

1

16
00

 E
. F

R
AN

C
IS

 S
TR

EE
T

O
NT

AR
IO

, C
A

D
PI

F3
 A

C
Q

U
IS

IT
IO

N
 C

O
. L

LC
55

00
 E

Q
UI

TY
 A

VE
NU

E
RE

NO
, N

V 
89

50
2

PR
E-

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T 

HY
DR

OL
OG

Y 
M

AP

Item E - 2008 of 2173

AutoCAD SHX Text
869.1 FS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.98

AutoCAD SHX Text
L=729' S=0.011

AutoCAD SHX Text
860.8 FS

AutoCAD SHX Text
K:\Drawings\SP\SP8995 - Ontario\ENG\Hydrology\SP8995 HYD-PRE.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOTTED: 9/30/2022 2:52:12 PM  BY Ryan Haskin  PAGESETUP: ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb 9/30/2022 2:52:12 PM  BY Ryan Haskin  PAGESETUP: ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb   BY Ryan Haskin  PAGESETUP: ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb Ryan Haskin  PAGESETUP: ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb   PAGESETUP: ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb   PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb Tait2014.ctb 

AutoCAD SHX Text
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text
9/22/22

AutoCAD SHX Text
SP8995

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 INCH =    FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERSHED BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
L=65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENGTH OF TRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACREAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uLEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
HYDROLOGY

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%% IMP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IMPERVIOUS PERCENTAGE FOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIBUTARY AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
H=5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION CHANGE PER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENGTH OF TRAVEL



E. FRANCIS STREET
℄

  OF 

JO
B 

NO
: 

DA
TE

: 
RE

VI
SI

O
N 

#:
  

CH
EC

KE
D:

 
DA

TE
: 

DR
AW

N:
 

DA
TE

: 

N
O

.  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
BY

   
 D

AT
E 

   
C

H
K

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

70
1 

N
. P

ar
kc

en
te

r D
riv

e
Sa

nt
a 

A
na

, C
A

 9
27

05

p:
 7

14
/5

60
/8

20
0 

   
   

f: 
71

4/
56

0/
82

11
w

w
w

.ta
it.

co
m

Si
nc

e 
19

64

Lo
s A

ng
el

es
O

nt
ar

io
Sa

cr
am

en
to

Sa
n 

D
ie

go
Sa

n 
Fr

an
ci

sc
o

Bo
ise

D
al

la
s

D
en

ve
r

Ph
oe

ni
x

Po
rtl

an
d

70
1 

N
. P

ar
kc

en
te

r D
riv

e
Sa

nt
a 

A
na

, C
A

 9
27

05

p:
 7

14
/5

60
/8

20
0 

   
   

f: 
71

4/
56

0/
82

11
w

w
w

.ta
it.

co
m

Si
nc

e 
19

64

Lo
s A

ng
el

es
O

nt
ar

io
Sa

cr
am

en
to

Sa
n 

D
ie

go
Sa

n 
Fr

an
ci

sc
o

Bo
ise

D
al

la
s

D
en

ve
r

Ph
oe

ni
x

Po
rtl

an
d

1

16
00

 E
. F

R
AN

C
IS

 S
TR

EE
T

O
NT

AR
IO

, C
A

D
PI

F3
 A

C
Q

U
IS

IT
IO

N
 C

O
. L

LC
55

00
 E

Q
UI

TY
 A

VE
NU

E
RE

NO
, N

V 
89

50
2

PO
ST

-D
EV

EL
OP

M
EN

T 
HY

DR
OL

OG
Y 

M
AP

Item E - 2009 of 2173

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
868.0 FS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
L=755' S=0.011

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
859.62FL

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 CFS MAX.PUMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
L=200' S=0.005

AutoCAD SHX Text
L=137' S=0.005

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEIR STRUCTURE. ALLOWS FLOW TO PUMP WHEN BASIN EXCEEDS WQMP DCV (26,098 CF)

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 CFS MAX. DISCHARGE TO STREET WHEN STORM EXCEEDS WQMP VOLUME.

AutoCAD SHX Text
K:\Drawings\SP\SP8995 - Ontario\ENG\Hydrology\SP8995 HYD-POST.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOTTED: 12/20/2022 4:43:29 PM  BY Ryan Haskin  PAGESETUP: ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb 12/20/2022 4:43:29 PM  BY Ryan Haskin  PAGESETUP: ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb   BY Ryan Haskin  PAGESETUP: ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb Ryan Haskin  PAGESETUP: ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb   PAGESETUP: ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb ----  PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb   PLOTSTYLE: Tait2014.ctb Tait2014.ctb 

AutoCAD SHX Text
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text
10/13/22

AutoCAD SHX Text
SP8995

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 INCH =    FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERSHED BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
L=65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENGTH OF TRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACREAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uLEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
HYDROLOGY

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%% IMP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IMPERVIOUS PERCENTAGE FOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIBUTARY AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
H=5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION CHANGE PER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENGTH OF TRAVEL



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995 Appendix C 
 

Appendix	C	–	Pre-Development	Runoff	Analysis	

Pre-Development Runoff Analysis 
 See Attached 10-, and 100-year Calculations 

	

 	

Item E - 2010 of 2173



 ____________________________________________________________________________ 

 **************************************************************************** 

              RATIONAL METHOD HYDROLOGY COMPUTER PROGRAM PACKAGE 

           (Reference: 1986 SAN BERNARDINO CO. HYDROLOGY CRITERION) 

          (c) Copyright 1983-2016 Advanced Engineering Software (aes) 

              Ver. 23.0  Release Date: 07/01/2016  License ID 1334 

 

                            Analysis prepared by: 

 

SP8995 - ONTARIO                                                                           EXISTING CONDITION - 100 YEAR STORM                                                                             

EXISTING CONDITION - 10 YEAR STORM                                                                              
                                                                              

 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   FILE NAME: 8995X10.DAT                                        

   TIME/DATE OF STUDY: 08:49 09/29/2022 

 ============================================================================ 

   USER SPECIFIED HYDROLOGY AND HYDRAULIC MODEL INFORMATION: 

 ============================================================================ 

                     --*TIME-OF-CONCENTRATION MODEL*-- 

 

   USER SPECIFIED STORM EVENT(YEAR) =   10.00 

   SPECIFIED MINIMUM PIPE SIZE(INCH) =   6.00 

   SPECIFIED PERCENT OF GRADIENTS(DECIMAL) TO USE FOR FRICTION SLOPE = 0.90 

   *USER-DEFINED LOGARITHMIC INTERPOLATION USED FOR RAINFALL* 

   10-YEAR STORM 60-MINUTE INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) =  0.921 

   100-YEAR STORM 60-MINUTE INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) =  1.360 

   COMPUTED RAINFALL INTENSITY DATA: 

   STORM EVENT =   10.00   1-HOUR INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) = 0.9302 

   SLOPE OF INTENSITY DURATION CURVE = 0.6000 

 

   *ANTECEDENT MOISTURE CONDITION (AMC) II ASSUMED FOR RATIONAL METHOD* 

 

   *USER-DEFINED STREET-SECTIONS FOR COUPLED PIPEFLOW AND STREETFLOW MODEL* 

      HALF-  CROWN TO   STREET-CROSSFALL:   CURB  GUTTER-GEOMETRIES:  MANNING 

      WIDTH  CROSSFALL  IN-  / OUT-/PARK-  HEIGHT  WIDTH  LIP   HIKE  FACTOR 

 NO.   (FT)     (FT)    SIDE / SIDE/ WAY    (FT)    (FT)  (FT)  (FT)    (n) 

 ===  =====  =========  =================  ======  ===== ====== ===== ======= 

   1   30.0     20.0    0.018/0.018/0.020   0.67    2.00 0.0312 0.167 0.0150 

 

   GLOBAL STREET FLOW-DEPTH CONSTRAINTS: 

     1. Relative Flow-Depth =  0.00 FEET 

        as (Maximum Allowable Street Flow Depth) - (Top-of-Curb) 

     2. (Depth)*(Velocity) Constraint =  6.0 (FT*FT/S) 

   *SIZE PIPE WITH A FLOW CAPACITY GREATER THAN 

    OR EQUAL TO THE UPSTREAM TRIBUTARY PIPE.* 

   *USER-SPECIFIED MINIMUM TOPOGRAPHIC SLOPE ADJUSTMENT NOT SELECTED 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     10.00 TO NODE     20.00 IS CODE =  21 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>RATIONAL METHOD INITIAL SUBAREA ANALYSIS<<<<< 

   >>USE TIME-OF-CONCENTRATION NOMOGRAPH FOR INITIAL SUBAREA<< 

Item E - 2011 of 2173



 ============================================================================ 

   INITIAL SUBAREA FLOW-LENGTH(FEET) =   729.00 

   ELEVATION DATA: UPSTREAM(FEET) =    869.10  DOWNSTREAM(FEET) =    860.80 

 

   Tc = K*[(LENGTH** 3.00)/(ELEVATION CHANGE)]**0.20 

   SUBAREA ANALYSIS USED MINIMUM Tc(MIN.) =   10.392 

   *  10 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY(INCH/HR) =  2.664 

   SUBAREA Tc AND LOSS RATE DATA(AMC  II): 

    DEVELOPMENT TYPE/      SCS SOIL   AREA      Fp         Ap     SCS   Tc 

        LAND USE            GROUP   (ACRES)  (INCH/HR)  (DECIMAL)  CN  (MIN.) 

   COMMERCIAL                 A        6.98      0.98     0.100    32   10.39 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS LOSS RATE, Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.98 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS AREA FRACTION, Ap =  0.100 

   SUBAREA RUNOFF(CFS) =     16.12 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES) =      6.98   PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS) =     16.12 

 ============================================================================ 

   END OF STUDY SUMMARY: 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES)     =        7.0  TC(MIN.) =     10.39 

   EFFECTIVE AREA(ACRES) =      6.98  AREA-AVERAGED Fm(INCH/HR)=  0.10 

   AREA-AVERAGED Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.98  AREA-AVERAGED Ap = 0.100 

   PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS)   =      16.12 

 ============================================================================ 

 ============================================================================ 

   END OF RATIONAL METHOD ANALYSIS 

 

   

Item E - 2012 of 2173



 ____________________________________________________________________________ 

 **************************************************************************** 

              RATIONAL METHOD HYDROLOGY COMPUTER PROGRAM PACKAGE 

           (Reference: 1986 SAN BERNARDINO CO. HYDROLOGY CRITERION) 

          (c) Copyright 1983-2016 Advanced Engineering Software (aes) 

              Ver. 23.0  Release Date: 07/01/2016  License ID 1334 

 

                            Analysis prepared by: 

 

                                                                              

  SP8995 - ONTARIO                                                                            PROPOSED CONDITION - 100 YEAR STORM                                                                             
  EXISTING CONDITION - 100 YEAR STORM                                                                             
                                                                              

 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   FILE NAME: 8995X100.DAT                                       

   TIME/DATE OF STUDY: 08:34 09/29/2022 

 ============================================================================ 

   USER SPECIFIED HYDROLOGY AND HYDRAULIC MODEL INFORMATION: 

 ============================================================================ 

                     --*TIME-OF-CONCENTRATION MODEL*-- 

 

   USER SPECIFIED STORM EVENT(YEAR) =  100.00 

   SPECIFIED MINIMUM PIPE SIZE(INCH) =   6.00 

   SPECIFIED PERCENT OF GRADIENTS(DECIMAL) TO USE FOR FRICTION SLOPE = 0.90 

   *USER-DEFINED LOGARITHMIC INTERPOLATION USED FOR RAINFALL* 

   10-YEAR STORM 60-MINUTE INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) =  0.921 

   100-YEAR STORM 60-MINUTE INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) =  1.360 

   COMPUTED RAINFALL INTENSITY DATA: 

   STORM EVENT =  100.00   1-HOUR INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) = 1.3600 

   SLOPE OF INTENSITY DURATION CURVE = 0.6000 

 

   *ANTECEDENT MOISTURE CONDITION (AMC) III ASSUMED FOR RATIONAL METHOD* 

 

   *USER-DEFINED STREET-SECTIONS FOR COUPLED PIPEFLOW AND STREETFLOW MODEL* 

      HALF-  CROWN TO   STREET-CROSSFALL:   CURB  GUTTER-GEOMETRIES:  MANNING 

      WIDTH  CROSSFALL  IN-  / OUT-/PARK-  HEIGHT  WIDTH  LIP   HIKE  FACTOR 

 NO.   (FT)     (FT)    SIDE / SIDE/ WAY    (FT)    (FT)  (FT)  (FT)    (n) 

 ===  =====  =========  =================  ======  ===== ====== ===== ======= 

   1   30.0     20.0    0.018/0.018/0.020   0.67    2.00 0.0312 0.167 0.0150 

 

   GLOBAL STREET FLOW-DEPTH CONSTRAINTS: 

     1. Relative Flow-Depth =  0.00 FEET 

        as (Maximum Allowable Street Flow Depth) - (Top-of-Curb) 

     2. (Depth)*(Velocity) Constraint =  6.0 (FT*FT/S) 

   *SIZE PIPE WITH A FLOW CAPACITY GREATER THAN 

    OR EQUAL TO THE UPSTREAM TRIBUTARY PIPE.* 

   *USER-SPECIFIED MINIMUM TOPOGRAPHIC SLOPE ADJUSTMENT NOT SELECTED 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     10.00 TO NODE     20.00 IS CODE =  21 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>RATIONAL METHOD INITIAL SUBAREA ANALYSIS<<<<< 

   >>USE TIME-OF-CONCENTRATION NOMOGRAPH FOR INITIAL SUBAREA<< 

Item E - 2013 of 2173



 ============================================================================ 

   INITIAL SUBAREA FLOW-LENGTH(FEET) =   729.00 

   ELEVATION DATA: UPSTREAM(FEET) =    869.10  DOWNSTREAM(FEET) =    860.80 

 

   Tc = K*[(LENGTH** 3.00)/(ELEVATION CHANGE)]**0.20 

   SUBAREA ANALYSIS USED MINIMUM Tc(MIN.) =   10.392 

   * 100 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY(INCH/HR) =  3.894 

   SUBAREA Tc AND LOSS RATE DATA(AMC III): 

    DEVELOPMENT TYPE/      SCS SOIL   AREA      Fp         Ap     SCS   Tc 

        LAND USE            GROUP   (ACRES)  (INCH/HR)  (DECIMAL)  CN  (MIN.) 

   COMMERCIAL                 A        6.98      0.74     0.100    52   10.39 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS LOSS RATE, Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.74 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS AREA FRACTION, Ap =  0.100 

   SUBAREA RUNOFF(CFS) =     24.00 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES) =      6.98   PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS) =     24.00 

 ============================================================================ 

   END OF STUDY SUMMARY: 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES)     =        7.0  TC(MIN.) =     10.39 

   EFFECTIVE AREA(ACRES) =      6.98  AREA-AVERAGED Fm(INCH/HR)=  0.07 

   AREA-AVERAGED Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.74  AREA-AVERAGED Ap = 0.100 

   PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS)   =      24.00 

 ============================================================================ 

 ============================================================================ 

   END OF RATIONAL METHOD ANALYSIS 

 

   

Item E - 2014 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995 Appendix D 
 

Appendix	D	–	Post-Development	Runoff	Analysis	

Post-Development Runoff Analysis  
See Attached 10-, and 100-year Calculations 

 
 

Inlet Capacity Analysis 
See Attached 100-year Calculations 

	

 	

Item E - 2015 of 2173



 ____________________________________________________________________________ 

 **************************************************************************** 

              RATIONAL METHOD HYDROLOGY COMPUTER PROGRAM PACKAGE 

           (Reference: 1986 SAN BERNARDINO CO. HYDROLOGY CRITERION) 

          (c) Copyright 1983-2016 Advanced Engineering Software (aes) 

              Ver. 23.0  Release Date: 07/01/2016  License ID 1334 

 

                            Analysis prepared by: 

 

                                                                              

   SP8995 - ONTARIO                                                                         

   PROPOSED CONDITION - 10 YEAR STORM                                                                          

                                                                              

 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   FILE NAME: 8995Q10.DAT                                        

   TIME/DATE OF STUDY: 15:20 12/20/2022 

 ============================================================================ 

   USER SPECIFIED HYDROLOGY AND HYDRAULIC MODEL INFORMATION: 

 ============================================================================ 

                     --*TIME-OF-CONCENTRATION MODEL*-- 

 

   USER SPECIFIED STORM EVENT(YEAR) =   10.00 

   SPECIFIED MINIMUM PIPE SIZE(INCH) =   6.00 

   SPECIFIED PERCENT OF GRADIENTS(DECIMAL) TO USE FOR FRICTION SLOPE = 0.90 

   *USER-DEFINED LOGARITHMIC INTERPOLATION USED FOR RAINFALL* 

   10-YEAR STORM 60-MINUTE INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) =  0.921 

   100-YEAR STORM 60-MINUTE INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) =  1.360 

   COMPUTED RAINFALL INTENSITY DATA: 

   STORM EVENT =   10.00   1-HOUR INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) = 0.9302 

   SLOPE OF INTENSITY DURATION CURVE = 0.6000 

 

   *ANTECEDENT MOISTURE CONDITION (AMC) II ASSUMED FOR RATIONAL METHOD* 

 

   *USER-DEFINED STREET-SECTIONS FOR COUPLED PIPEFLOW AND STREETFLOW MODEL* 

      HALF-  CROWN TO   STREET-CROSSFALL:   CURB  GUTTER-GEOMETRIES:  MANNING 

      WIDTH  CROSSFALL  IN-  / OUT-/PARK-  HEIGHT  WIDTH  LIP   HIKE  FACTOR 

 NO.   (FT)     (FT)    SIDE / SIDE/ WAY    (FT)    (FT)  (FT)  (FT)    (n) 

 ===  =====  =========  =================  ======  ===== ====== ===== ======= 

   1   30.0     20.0    0.018/0.018/0.020   0.67    2.00 0.0313 0.167 0.0150 

 

   GLOBAL STREET FLOW-DEPTH CONSTRAINTS: 

     1. Relative Flow-Depth =  0.00 FEET 

        as (Maximum Allowable Street Flow Depth) - (Top-of-Curb) 

     2. (Depth)*(Velocity) Constraint =  6.0 (FT*FT/S) 

   *SIZE PIPE WITH A FLOW CAPACITY GREATER THAN 

    OR EQUAL TO THE UPSTREAM TRIBUTARY PIPE.* 

   *USER-SPECIFIED MINIMUM TOPOGRAPHIC SLOPE ADJUSTMENT NOT SELECTED 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     10.00 TO NODE     20.00 IS CODE =  21 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>RATIONAL METHOD INITIAL SUBAREA ANALYSIS<<<<< 

   >>USE TIME-OF-CONCENTRATION NOMOGRAPH FOR INITIAL SUBAREA<< 

Item E - 2016 of 2173



 ============================================================================ 

   INITIAL SUBAREA FLOW-LENGTH(FEET) =   755.00 

   ELEVATION DATA: UPSTREAM(FEET) =    868.00  DOWNSTREAM(FEET) =    859.62 

 

   Tc = K*[(LENGTH** 3.00)/(ELEVATION CHANGE)]**0.20 

   SUBAREA ANALYSIS USED MINIMUM Tc(MIN.) =   10.592 

   *  10 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY(INCH/HR) =  2.633 

   SUBAREA Tc AND LOSS RATE DATA(AMC  II): 

    DEVELOPMENT TYPE/      SCS SOIL   AREA      Fp         Ap     SCS   Tc 

        LAND USE            GROUP   (ACRES)  (INCH/HR)  (DECIMAL)  CN  (MIN.) 

   COMMERCIAL                 A        2.75      0.98     0.100    32   10.59 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS LOSS RATE, Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.97 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS AREA FRACTION, Ap =  0.100 

   SUBAREA RUNOFF(CFS) =      6.28 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES) =      2.75   PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS) =      6.28 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     20.00 TO NODE     30.00 IS CODE =  41 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>COMPUTE PIPE-FLOW TRAVEL TIME THRU SUBAREA<<<<< 

   >>>>>USING USER-SPECIFIED PIPESIZE (EXISTING ELEMENT)<<<<< 

 ============================================================================ 

   REPRESENTATIVE SLOPE =  0.0050 

   FLOW LENGTH(FEET) =   200.00   MANNING'S N =  0.012 

   DEPTH OF FLOW IN  18.0 INCH PIPE IS  12.4 INCHES 

   PIPE-FLOW VELOCITY(FEET/SEC.) =   4.82 

   GIVEN PIPE DIAMETER(INCH) =  18.00    NUMBER OF PIPES =   1 

   PIPE-FLOW(CFS) =       6.28 

   PIPE TRAVEL TIME(MIN.) =   0.69    Tc(MIN.) =   11.28 

   LONGEST FLOWPATH FROM NODE     10.00 TO NODE     30.00 =     955.00 FEET. 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     30.00 TO NODE     30.00 IS CODE =  81 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>ADDITION OF SUBAREA TO MAINLINE PEAK FLOW<<<<< 

 ============================================================================ 

   MAINLINE Tc(MIN.) =   11.28 

   *  10 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY(INCH/HR) =  2.535 

   SUBAREA LOSS RATE DATA(AMC  II): 

    DEVELOPMENT TYPE/      SCS SOIL   AREA      Fp         Ap     SCS 

        LAND USE            GROUP   (ACRES)  (INCH/HR)  (DECIMAL)  CN 

   COMMERCIAL                 A        0.88      0.98     0.100    32 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS LOSS RATE, Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.98 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS AREA FRACTION, Ap =  0.100 

   SUBAREA AREA(ACRES) =    0.88      SUBAREA RUNOFF(CFS) =    1.93 

   EFFECTIVE AREA(ACRES) =      3.63   AREA-AVERAGED Fm(INCH/HR) =  0.10 

   AREA-AVERAGED Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.97  AREA-AVERAGED Ap =  0.10 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES) =        3.6       PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS) =       7.96 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     30.00 TO NODE     40.00 IS CODE =  41 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>COMPUTE PIPE-FLOW TRAVEL TIME THRU SUBAREA<<<<< 

   >>>>>USING USER-SPECIFIED PIPESIZE (EXISTING ELEMENT)<<<<< 

Item E - 2017 of 2173



 ============================================================================ 

   REPRESENTATIVE SLOPE =  0.0050 

   FLOW LENGTH(FEET) =   137.00   MANNING'S N =  0.012 

   ASSUME FULL-FLOWING PIPELINE 

   PIPE-FLOW VELOCITY(FEET/SEC.) =   4.51 

   PIPE FLOW VELOCITY = (TOTAL FLOW)/(PIPE CROSS SECTION AREA) 

   GIVEN PIPE DIAMETER(INCH) =  18.00    NUMBER OF PIPES =   1 

   PIPE-FLOW(CFS) =       7.96 

   PIPE TRAVEL TIME(MIN.) =   0.51    Tc(MIN.) =   11.79 

   LONGEST FLOWPATH FROM NODE     10.00 TO NODE     40.00 =    1092.00 FEET. 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     40.00 TO NODE     40.00 IS CODE =  81 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>ADDITION OF SUBAREA TO MAINLINE PEAK FLOW<<<<< 

 ============================================================================ 

   MAINLINE Tc(MIN.) =   11.79 

   *  10 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY(INCH/HR) =  2.469 

   SUBAREA LOSS RATE DATA(AMC  II): 

    DEVELOPMENT TYPE/      SCS SOIL   AREA      Fp         Ap     SCS 

        LAND USE            GROUP   (ACRES)  (INCH/HR)  (DECIMAL)  CN 

   COMMERCIAL                 A        3.35      0.98     0.100    32 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS LOSS RATE, Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.97 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS AREA FRACTION, Ap =  0.100 

   SUBAREA AREA(ACRES) =    3.35      SUBAREA RUNOFF(CFS) =    7.15 

   EFFECTIVE AREA(ACRES) =      6.98   AREA-AVERAGED Fm(INCH/HR) =  0.10 

   AREA-AVERAGED Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.97  AREA-AVERAGED Ap =  0.10 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES) =        7.0       PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS) =      14.90 

 ============================================================================ 

   END OF STUDY SUMMARY: 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES)     =        7.0  TC(MIN.) =     11.79 

   EFFECTIVE AREA(ACRES) =      6.98  AREA-AVERAGED Fm(INCH/HR)=  0.10 

   AREA-AVERAGED Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.97  AREA-AVERAGED Ap = 0.100 

   PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS)   =      14.90 

 ============================================================================ 

 ============================================================================ 

   END OF RATIONAL METHOD ANALYSIS 

 

   

Item E - 2018 of 2173



 ____________________________________________________________________________ 

 **************************************************************************** 

                       SMALL AREA UNIT HYDROGRAPH MODEL 

 ============================================================================ 

          (C) Copyright 1989-2016 Advanced Engineering Software (aes) 

              Ver. 23.0  Release Date: 07/01/2016  License ID 1334 

 

                            Analysis prepared by: 

 

                                                                              

                                                                              

                                                                              

                                                                              

 

 **************************************************************************** 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

  Problem Descriptions: 

    

    

    

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

     RATIONAL METHOD CALIBRATION COEFFICIENT = 0.90 

     TOTAL CATCHMENT AREA(ACRES) =    6.98 

     SOIL-LOSS RATE, Fm,(INCH/HR) =  0.100 

     LOW LOSS FRACTION = 0.150 

     TIME OF CONCENTRATION(MIN.) = 11.70 

     SMALL AREA PEAK Q COMPUTED USING PEAK FLOW RATE FORMULA 

     USER SPECIFIED RAINFALL VALUES ARE USED 

     RETURN FREQUENCY(YEARS) =  10 

        5-MINUTE POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  0.24 

       30-MINUTE POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  0.62 

        1-HOUR   POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  0.92 

        3-HOUR   POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  1.69 

        6-HOUR   POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  2.37 

       24-HOUR   POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  4.09 

 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

     TOTAL CATCHMENT   RUNOFF  VOLUME(ACRE-FEET) =     1.83 

     TOTAL CATCHMENT SOIL-LOSS VOLUME(ACRE-FEET) =     0.55 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   TIME     VOLUME       Q    0.        5.0      10.0      15.0      20.0 

  (HOURS)    (AF)      (CFS) 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   0.01      0.0000      0.00  Q         .         .         .         . 

   0.21      0.0029      0.36  Q         .         .         .         . 

   0.40      0.0087      0.36  Q         .         .         .         . 

   0.60      0.0145      0.36  Q         .         .         .         . 

Item E - 2019 of 2173



   0.79      0.0204      0.37  Q         .         .         .         . 

   0.99      0.0264      0.37  Q         .         .         .         . 

   1.18      0.0324      0.37  Q         .         .         .         . 

   1.38      0.0384      0.38  Q         .         .         .         . 

   1.57      0.0445      0.38  Q         .         .         .         . 

   1.77      0.0506      0.38  Q         .         .         .         . 

   1.96      0.0568      0.38  Q         .         .         .         . 

   2.16      0.0630      0.39  Q         .         .         .         . 

   2.35      0.0693      0.39  Q         .         .         .         . 

   2.55      0.0756      0.40  Q         .         .         .         . 

   2.74      0.0820      0.40  Q         .         .         .         . 

   2.94      0.0885      0.40  Q         .         .         .         . 

   3.13      0.0950      0.40  Q         .         .         .         . 

   3.33      0.1015      0.41  Q         .         .         .         . 

   3.52      0.1082      0.41  Q         .         .         .         . 

   3.72      0.1149      0.42  Q         .         .         .         . 

   3.91      0.1216      0.42  Q         .         .         .         . 

   4.11      0.1284      0.43  Q         .         .         .         . 

   4.30      0.1353      0.43  Q         .         .         .         . 

   4.50      0.1423      0.43  Q         .         .         .         . 

   4.69      0.1493      0.44  Q         .         .         .         . 

   4.89      0.1564      0.44  Q         .         .         .         . 

   5.08      0.1636      0.45  Q         .         .         .         . 

   5.28      0.1708      0.45  Q         .         .         .         . 

   5.47      0.1782      0.46  Q         .         .         .         . 

   5.67      0.1856      0.46  Q         .         .         .         . 

   5.86      0.1931      0.47  Q         .         .         .         . 

   6.06      0.2006      0.47  Q         .         .         .         . 

   6.25      0.2083      0.48  Q         .         .         .         . 

   6.45      0.2161      0.49  Q         .         .         .         . 

   6.64      0.2239      0.49  Q         .         .         .         . 

   6.84      0.2319      0.50  Q         .         .         .         . 

   7.03      0.2400      0.50  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   7.22      0.2481      0.51  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   7.42      0.2564      0.52  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   7.61      0.2648      0.53  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   7.81      0.2733      0.53  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   8.01      0.2819      0.54  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   8.20      0.2907      0.55  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   8.40      0.2995      0.56  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   8.59      0.3085      0.56  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   8.79      0.3177      0.57  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   8.98      0.3270      0.58  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   9.18      0.3365      0.59  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   9.37      0.3461      0.60  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   9.57      0.3559      0.61  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   9.76      0.3659      0.62  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   9.95      0.3760      0.64  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  10.15      0.3864      0.65  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  10.35      0.3969      0.66  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  10.54      0.4077      0.67  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  10.73      0.4187      0.69  .Q        .         .         .         . 

Item E - 2020 of 2173



  10.93      0.4299      0.70  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  11.12      0.4414      0.72  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  11.32      0.4532      0.74  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  11.52      0.4653      0.76  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  11.71      0.4776      0.77  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  11.90      0.4904      0.80  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  12.10      0.5034      0.82  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  12.30      0.5185      1.05  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  12.49      0.5356      1.07  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  12.68      0.5532      1.11  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  12.88      0.5712      1.13  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  13.07      0.5899      1.18  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  13.27      0.6091      1.21  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  13.47      0.6291      1.27  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  13.66      0.6498      1.30  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  13.85      0.6713      1.37  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  14.05      0.6938      1.42  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  14.24      0.7190      1.71  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  14.44      0.7470      1.77  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  14.63      0.7765      1.90  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  14.83      0.8077      1.98  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  15.02      0.8411      2.17  .   Q     .         .         .         . 

  15.22      0.8771      2.30  .   Q     .         .         .         . 

  15.41      0.9169      2.65  .    Q    .         .         .         . 

  15.61      0.9621      2.96  .    Q    .         .         .         . 

  15.80      1.0158      3.70  .      Q  .         .         .         . 

  16.00      1.0840      4.75  .        Q.         .         .         . 

  16.19      1.2149     11.50  .         .         .  Q      .         . 

  16.39      1.3342      3.30  .     Q   .         .         .         . 

  16.58      1.3806      2.45  .   Q     .         .         .         . 

  16.78      1.4170      2.07  .   Q     .         .         .         . 

  16.98      1.4483      1.83  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  17.17      1.4754      1.54  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  17.36      1.4986      1.34  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  17.56      1.5193      1.24  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  17.76      1.5386      1.16  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  17.95      1.5567      1.09  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  18.14      1.5734      0.99  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  18.34      1.5878      0.79  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  18.53      1.6001      0.75  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  18.73      1.6119      0.71  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  18.92      1.6232      0.68  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  19.12      1.6340      0.65  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  19.32      1.6443      0.63  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  19.51      1.6543      0.61  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  19.70      1.6639      0.59  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  19.90      1.6732      0.57  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  20.09      1.6822      0.55  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  20.29      1.6910      0.54  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  20.48      1.6995      0.52  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  20.68      1.7078      0.51  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  20.88      1.7158      0.49  Q         .         .         .         . 

Item E - 2021 of 2173



  21.07      1.7237      0.48  Q         .         .         .         . 

  21.27      1.7313      0.47  Q         .         .         .         . 

  21.46      1.7388      0.46  Q         .         .         .         . 

  21.66      1.7462      0.45  Q         .         .         .         . 

  21.85      1.7533      0.44  Q         .         .         .         . 

  22.05      1.7604      0.43  Q         .         .         .         . 

  22.24      1.7673      0.42  Q         .         .         .         . 

  22.43      1.7740      0.42  Q         .         .         .         . 

  22.63      1.7806      0.41  Q         .         .         .         . 

  22.83      1.7872      0.40  Q         .         .         .         . 

  23.02      1.7935      0.39  Q         .         .         .         . 

  23.22      1.7998      0.39  Q         .         .         .         . 

  23.41      1.8060      0.38  Q         .         .         .         . 

  23.61      1.8121      0.37  Q         .         .         .         . 

  23.80      1.8181      0.37  Q         .         .         .         . 

  23.99      1.8240      0.36  Q         .         .         .         . 

  24.19      1.8298      0.36  Q         .         .         .         . 

  24.39      1.8327      0.00  Q         .         .         .         . 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

    TIME DURATION(minutes) OF PERCENTILES OF ESTIMATED PEAK FLOW RATE: 

    (Note: 100% of Peak Flow Rate estimate assumed to have 

    an instantaneous time duration) 

 

    Percentile of Estimated                 Duration 

        Peak Flow Rate                      (minutes) 

    =======================                 ========= 

               0%                            1450.8 

              10%                             292.5 

              20%                              81.9 

              30%                              35.1 

              40%                              23.4 

              50%                              11.7 

              60%                              11.7 

              70%                              11.7 

              80%                              11.7 

              90%                              11.7 

 

  Problem Descriptions: 

    

    

    

 

 

 

============================================================================ 

     FLOW-THROUGH DETENTION BASIN MODEL 

 

     SPECIFIED BASIN CONDITIONS ARE AS FOLLOWS: 

     CONSTANT HYDROGRAPH TIME UNIT(MINUTES) =   11.700 

     DEAD STORAGE(AF) =       0.00 

     SPECIFIED DEAD STORAGE(AF) FILLED =       0.00 

Item E - 2022 of 2173



     ASSUMED INITIAL DEPTH(FEET) IN STORAGE BASIN =    0.00 

 

 

                    INFLOW 

                      | 

                      | 

                      | 

                      V               __effective depth 

                -------------         |   (and volume) 

                |           |    |    | 

                | detention |    |....V............. 

                |   basin   |<-->|          outflow 

                |           |    |........._________ 

                -------------    |         |   \  

                      |          | storage |     basin outlet 

                      V          ----------- 

                   OUTFLOW 

 

 

     DEPTH-VS.-STORAGE AND DEPTH-VS.-DISCHARGE INFORMATION: 

     TOTAL NUMBER OF BASIN DEPTH INFORMATION ENTRIES =   9 

     *BASIN-DEPTH  STORAGE    OUTFLOW  **BASIN-DEPTH  STORAGE    OUTFLOW  * 

     *   (FEET)  (ACRE-FEET)   (CFS)   **   (FEET)  (ACRE-FEET)   (CFS)   * 

     *      0.000      0.000      0.000**      0.050      0.004      0.540* 

     *      1.750      0.159      0.540**      4.110      0.599      0.540* 

     *      4.210      0.614      2.540**      6.750      0.984      2.540* 

     *      7.750      1.075      2.540**     10.000      1.110      2.540* 

     *     11.020      1.238      2.540** 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

     BASIN STORAGE, OUTFLOW AND DEPTH ROUTING VALUES: 

      INTERVAL   DEPTH   {S-O*DT/2}   {S+O*DT/2} 

       NUMBER   (FEET)   (ACRE-FEET)  (ACRE-FEET) 

           1     0.00       0.00000      0.00000 

           2     0.05       0.00015      0.00885 

           3     1.75       0.15415      0.16285 

           4     4.11       0.59475      0.60345 

           5     4.21       0.59323      0.63417 

           6     6.75       0.96353      1.00447 

           7     7.75       1.05413      1.09507 

           8    10.00       1.08953      1.13047 

           9    11.02       1.21733      1.25827 

     WHERE S=STORAGE(AF);O=OUTFLOW(AF/MIN.);DT=UNIT INTERVAL(MIN.) 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

     DETENTION BASIN ROUTING RESULTS: 

     NOTE: COMPUTED BASIN DEPTH, OUTFLOW, AND STORAGE QUANTITIES 

           OCCUR AT THE GIVEN TIME. BASIN INFLOW VALUES REPRESENT THE 

           AVERAGE INFLOW DURING THE RECENT HYDROGRAPH UNIT INTERVAL. 

 

        TIME  DEAD-STORAGE  INFLOW  EFFECTIVE  OUTFLOW  EFFECTIVE 

       (HRS)   FILLED(AF)    (CFS)  DEPTH(FT)   (CFS)   VOLUME(AF) 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

       0.010        0.000     0.00      0.00     0.00      0.000 

Item E - 2023 of 2173



       0.205        0.000     0.36      0.03     0.18      0.003 

       0.400        0.000     0.36      0.03     0.36      0.003 

       0.595        0.000     0.36      0.03     0.36      0.003 

       0.790        0.000     0.37      0.03     0.37      0.003 

       0.985        0.000     0.37      0.03     0.37      0.003 

       1.180        0.000     0.37      0.03     0.37      0.003 

       1.375        0.000     0.38      0.03     0.37      0.003 

       1.570        0.000     0.38      0.04     0.38      0.003 

       1.765        0.000     0.38      0.04     0.38      0.003 

       1.960        0.000     0.38      0.04     0.38      0.003 

       2.155        0.000     0.39      0.04     0.39      0.003 

       2.350        0.000     0.39      0.04     0.39      0.003 

       2.545        0.000     0.40      0.04     0.39      0.003 

       2.740        0.000     0.40      0.04     0.40      0.003 

       2.935        0.000     0.40      0.04     0.40      0.003 

       3.130        0.000     0.40      0.04     0.40      0.003 

       3.325        0.000     0.41      0.04     0.41      0.003 

       3.520        0.000     0.41      0.04     0.41      0.003 

       3.715        0.000     0.42      0.04     0.42      0.003 

       3.910        0.000     0.42      0.04     0.42      0.004 

       4.105        0.000     0.43      0.04     0.42      0.004 

       4.300        0.000     0.43      0.04     0.43      0.004 

       4.495        0.000     0.43      0.04     0.43      0.004 

       4.690        0.000     0.44      0.04     0.44      0.004 

       4.885        0.000     0.44      0.04     0.44      0.004 

       5.080        0.000     0.45      0.04     0.45      0.004 

       5.275        0.000     0.45      0.04     0.45      0.004 

       5.470        0.000     0.46      0.04     0.45      0.004 

       5.665        0.000     0.46      0.04     0.46      0.004 

       5.860        0.000     0.47      0.04     0.47      0.004 

       6.055        0.000     0.47      0.04     0.47      0.004 

       6.250        0.000     0.48      0.04     0.48      0.004 

       6.445        0.000     0.49      0.04     0.48      0.004 

       6.640        0.000     0.49      0.05     0.49      0.004 

       6.835        0.000     0.50      0.05     0.49      0.004 

       7.030        0.000     0.50      0.05     0.50      0.004 

       7.225        0.000     0.51      0.05     0.51      0.004 

       7.420        0.000     0.52      0.05     0.51      0.004 

       7.615        0.000     0.53      0.05     0.52      0.004 

       7.810        0.000     0.53      0.05     0.53      0.004 

       8.005        0.000     0.54      0.05     0.53      0.005 

       8.200        0.000     0.55      0.05     0.54      0.005 

       8.395        0.000     0.56      0.05     0.54      0.005 

       8.590        0.000     0.56      0.06     0.54      0.005 

       8.785        0.000     0.57      0.06     0.54      0.006 

       8.980        0.000     0.58      0.07     0.54      0.006 

       9.175        0.000     0.59      0.08     0.54      0.007 

       9.370        0.000     0.60      0.09     0.54      0.008 

       9.565        0.000     0.61      0.10     0.54      0.009 

       9.760        0.000     0.62      0.12     0.54      0.011 

       9.955        0.000     0.64      0.14     0.54      0.012 

      10.150        0.000     0.65      0.16     0.54      0.014 

Item E - 2024 of 2173



      10.345        0.000     0.66      0.18     0.54      0.016 

      10.540        0.000     0.67      0.20     0.54      0.018 

      10.735        0.000     0.69      0.23     0.54      0.021 

      10.930        0.000     0.70      0.26     0.54      0.023 

      11.125        0.000     0.72      0.29     0.54      0.026 

      11.320        0.000     0.74      0.33     0.54      0.029 

      11.515        0.000     0.76      0.36     0.54      0.033 

      11.710        0.000     0.77      0.41     0.54      0.037 

      11.905        0.000     0.80      0.45     0.54      0.041 

      12.100        0.000     0.82      0.50     0.54      0.046 

      12.295        0.000     1.05      0.59     0.54      0.054 

      12.490        0.000     1.07      0.69     0.54      0.062 

      12.685        0.000     1.11      0.79     0.54      0.072 

      12.880        0.000     1.13      0.90     0.54      0.081 

      13.075        0.000     1.18      1.01     0.54      0.091 

      13.270        0.000     1.21      1.13     0.54      0.102 

      13.465        0.000     1.27      1.26     0.54      0.114 

      13.660        0.000     1.30      1.39     0.54      0.126 

      13.855        0.000     1.37      1.54     0.54      0.140 

      14.050        0.000     1.42      1.70     0.54      0.154 

      14.245        0.000     1.71      1.83     0.54      0.173 

      14.440        0.000     1.77      1.93     0.54      0.192 

      14.635        0.000     1.90      2.05     0.54      0.214 

      14.830        0.000     1.98      2.17     0.54      0.237 

      15.025        0.000     2.17      2.31     0.54      0.264 

      15.220        0.000     2.30      2.46     0.54      0.292 

      15.415        0.000     2.65      2.65     0.54      0.326 

      15.610        0.000     2.96      2.86     0.54      0.365 

      15.805        0.000     3.70      3.13     0.54      0.416 

      16.000        0.000     4.75      3.49     0.54      0.484 

      16.195        0.000    11.50      4.42     1.54      0.644 

      16.390        0.000     3.30      4.50     2.54      0.657 

      16.585        0.000     2.45      4.49     2.54      0.655 

      16.780        0.000     2.07      4.44     2.54      0.647 

      16.975        0.000     1.83      4.36     2.54      0.636 

      17.170        0.000     1.54      4.25     2.54      0.620 

      17.365        0.000     1.34      4.17     2.11      0.607 

      17.560        0.000     1.24      4.14     1.44      0.604 

      17.755        0.000     1.16      4.14     1.18      0.604 

      17.950        0.000     1.09      4.14     1.12      0.603 

      18.145        0.000     0.99      4.13     1.03      0.602 

      18.340        0.000     0.79      4.12     0.88      0.601 

      18.535        0.000     0.75      4.12     0.76      0.601 

      18.730        0.000     0.71      4.12     0.73      0.600 

      18.925        0.000     0.68      4.12     0.70      0.600 

      19.120        0.000     0.65      4.12     0.67      0.600 

      19.315        0.000     0.63      4.11     0.64      0.600 

      19.510        0.000     0.61      4.11     0.62      0.600 

      19.705        0.000     0.59      4.11     0.60      0.599 

      19.900        0.000     0.57      4.11     0.58      0.599 

      20.095        0.000     0.55      4.11     0.56      0.599 

      20.290        0.000     0.54      4.11     0.55      0.599 

Item E - 2025 of 2173



      20.485        0.000     0.52      4.11     0.54      0.599 

      20.680        0.000     0.51      4.10     0.54      0.598 

      20.875        0.000     0.49      4.10     0.54      0.597 

      21.070        0.000     0.48      4.10     0.54      0.596 

      21.265        0.000     0.47      4.09     0.54      0.595 

      21.460        0.000     0.46      4.08     0.54      0.594 

      21.655        0.000     0.45      4.08     0.54      0.593 

      21.850        0.000     0.44      4.07     0.54      0.591 

      22.045        0.000     0.43      4.06     0.54      0.589 

      22.240        0.000     0.42      4.05     0.54      0.587 

      22.435        0.000     0.42      4.04     0.54      0.585 

      22.630        0.000     0.41      4.02     0.54      0.583 

      22.825        0.000     0.40      4.01     0.54      0.581 

      23.020        0.000     0.39      4.00     0.54      0.579 

      23.215        0.000     0.39      3.99     0.54      0.576 

      23.410        0.000     0.38      3.97     0.54      0.574 

      23.605        0.000     0.37      3.96     0.54      0.571 

      23.800        0.000     0.37      3.94     0.54      0.568 

      23.995        0.000     0.36      3.93     0.54      0.565 

      24.190        0.000     0.36      3.91     0.54      0.562 

      24.385        0.000     0.00      3.87     0.54      0.554 

      24.580        0.000     0.00      3.82     0.54      0.545 

      24.775        0.000     0.00      3.77     0.54      0.536 

      24.970        0.000     0.00      3.73     0.54      0.528 

      25.165        0.000     0.00      3.68     0.54      0.519 

      25.360        0.000     0.00      3.63     0.54      0.510 

      25.555        0.000     0.00      3.59     0.54      0.501 

      25.750        0.000     0.00      3.54     0.54      0.493 

      25.945        0.000     0.00      3.49     0.54      0.484 

      26.140        0.000     0.00      3.45     0.54      0.475 

      26.335        0.000     0.00      3.40     0.54      0.467 

      26.530        0.000     0.00      3.35     0.54      0.458 

      26.725        0.000     0.00      3.31     0.54      0.449 

      26.920        0.000     0.00      3.26     0.54      0.441 

      27.115        0.000     0.00      3.21     0.54      0.432 

      27.310        0.000     0.00      3.17     0.54      0.423 

      27.505        0.000     0.00      3.12     0.54      0.414 

      27.700        0.000     0.00      3.07     0.54      0.406 

      27.895        0.000     0.00      3.03     0.54      0.397 

      28.090        0.000     0.00      2.98     0.54      0.388 

      28.285        0.000     0.00      2.93     0.54      0.380 

      28.480        0.000     0.00      2.89     0.54      0.371 

      28.675        0.000     0.00      2.84     0.54      0.362 

      28.870        0.000     0.00      2.79     0.54      0.353 

      29.065        0.000     0.00      2.75     0.54      0.345 

      29.260        0.000     0.00      2.70     0.54      0.336 

      29.455        0.000     0.00      2.65     0.54      0.327 

      29.650        0.000     0.00      2.61     0.54      0.319 

      29.845        0.000     0.00      2.56     0.54      0.310 

      30.040        0.000     0.00      2.51     0.54      0.301 

      30.235        0.000     0.00      2.47     0.54      0.293 

      30.430        0.000     0.00      2.42     0.54      0.284 

Item E - 2026 of 2173



      30.625        0.000     0.00      2.37     0.54      0.275 

      30.820        0.000     0.00      2.33     0.54      0.266 

      31.015        0.000     0.00      2.28     0.54      0.258 

      31.210        0.000     0.00      2.23     0.54      0.249 

      31.405        0.000     0.00      2.19     0.54      0.240 

      31.600        0.000     0.00      2.14     0.54      0.232 

      31.795        0.000     0.00      2.10     0.54      0.223 

      31.990        0.000     0.00      2.05     0.54      0.214 

      32.185        0.000     0.00      2.00     0.54      0.206 

      32.380        0.000     0.00      1.96     0.54      0.197 

      32.575        0.000     0.00      1.91     0.54      0.188 

      32.770        0.000     0.00      1.86     0.54      0.179 

      32.965        0.000     0.00      1.82     0.54      0.171 

      33.160        0.000     0.00      1.77     0.54      0.162 

      33.355        0.000     0.00      1.69     0.54      0.153 

      33.550        0.000     0.00      1.60     0.54      0.145 

      33.745        0.000     0.00      1.50     0.54      0.136 

      33.940        0.000     0.00      1.40     0.54      0.127 

      34.135        0.000     0.00      1.31     0.54      0.119 

      34.330        0.000     0.00      1.21     0.54      0.110 

      34.525        0.000     0.00      1.12     0.54      0.101 

      34.720        0.000     0.00      1.02     0.54      0.092 

      34.915        0.000     0.00      0.92     0.54      0.084 

      35.110        0.000     0.00      0.83     0.54      0.075 

      35.305        0.000     0.00      0.73     0.54      0.066 

      35.500        0.000     0.00      0.64     0.54      0.058 

      35.695        0.000     0.00      0.54     0.54      0.049 

      35.890        0.000     0.00      0.44     0.54      0.040 

      36.085        0.000     0.00      0.35     0.54      0.031 

      36.280        0.000     0.00      0.25     0.54      0.023 

      36.475        0.000     0.00      0.16     0.54      0.014 

      36.670        0.000     0.00      0.06     0.54      0.005 

      36.865        0.000     0.00      0.01     0.30      0.001 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

Item E - 2027 of 2173



 ____________________________________________________________________________ 

 **************************************************************************** 

              RATIONAL METHOD HYDROLOGY COMPUTER PROGRAM PACKAGE 

           (Reference: 1986 SAN BERNARDINO CO. HYDROLOGY CRITERION) 

          (c) Copyright 1983-2016 Advanced Engineering Software (aes) 

              Ver. 23.0  Release Date: 07/01/2016  License ID 1334 

 

                            Analysis prepared by: 

 

                                                                              

   SP8995 - ONTARIO                                                                         

   PROPOSED CONDITION - 100 YEAR STORM                                                                          

                                                                              

 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   FILE NAME: 8995Q100.DAT                                       

   TIME/DATE OF STUDY: 15:48 12/20/2022 

 ============================================================================ 

   USER SPECIFIED HYDROLOGY AND HYDRAULIC MODEL INFORMATION: 

 ============================================================================ 

                     --*TIME-OF-CONCENTRATION MODEL*-- 

 

   USER SPECIFIED STORM EVENT(YEAR) =  100.00 

   SPECIFIED MINIMUM PIPE SIZE(INCH) =   6.00 

   SPECIFIED PERCENT OF GRADIENTS(DECIMAL) TO USE FOR FRICTION SLOPE = 0.90 

   *USER-DEFINED LOGARITHMIC INTERPOLATION USED FOR RAINFALL* 

   10-YEAR STORM 60-MINUTE INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) =  0.921 

   100-YEAR STORM 60-MINUTE INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) =  1.360 

   COMPUTED RAINFALL INTENSITY DATA: 

   STORM EVENT =  100.00   1-HOUR INTENSITY(INCH/HOUR) = 1.3600 

   SLOPE OF INTENSITY DURATION CURVE = 0.6000 

 

   *ANTECEDENT MOISTURE CONDITION (AMC) III ASSUMED FOR RATIONAL METHOD* 

 

   *USER-DEFINED STREET-SECTIONS FOR COUPLED PIPEFLOW AND STREETFLOW MODEL* 

      HALF-  CROWN TO   STREET-CROSSFALL:   CURB  GUTTER-GEOMETRIES:  MANNING 

      WIDTH  CROSSFALL  IN-  / OUT-/PARK-  HEIGHT  WIDTH  LIP   HIKE  FACTOR 

 NO.   (FT)     (FT)    SIDE / SIDE/ WAY    (FT)    (FT)  (FT)  (FT)    (n) 

 ===  =====  =========  =================  ======  ===== ====== ===== ======= 

   1   30.0     20.0    0.018/0.018/0.020   0.67    2.00 0.0313 0.167 0.0150 

 

   GLOBAL STREET FLOW-DEPTH CONSTRAINTS: 

     1. Relative Flow-Depth =  0.00 FEET 

        as (Maximum Allowable Street Flow Depth) - (Top-of-Curb) 

     2. (Depth)*(Velocity) Constraint =  6.0 (FT*FT/S) 

   *SIZE PIPE WITH A FLOW CAPACITY GREATER THAN 

    OR EQUAL TO THE UPSTREAM TRIBUTARY PIPE.* 

   *USER-SPECIFIED MINIMUM TOPOGRAPHIC SLOPE ADJUSTMENT NOT SELECTED 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     10.00 TO NODE     20.00 IS CODE =  21 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>RATIONAL METHOD INITIAL SUBAREA ANALYSIS<<<<< 

   >>USE TIME-OF-CONCENTRATION NOMOGRAPH FOR INITIAL SUBAREA<< 

Item E - 2028 of 2173



 ============================================================================ 

   INITIAL SUBAREA FLOW-LENGTH(FEET) =   755.00 

   ELEVATION DATA: UPSTREAM(FEET) =    868.00  DOWNSTREAM(FEET) =    859.62 

 

   Tc = K*[(LENGTH** 3.00)/(ELEVATION CHANGE)]**0.20 

   SUBAREA ANALYSIS USED MINIMUM Tc(MIN.) =   10.592 

   * 100 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY(INCH/HR) =  3.850 

   SUBAREA Tc AND LOSS RATE DATA(AMC III): 

    DEVELOPMENT TYPE/      SCS SOIL   AREA      Fp         Ap     SCS   Tc 

        LAND USE            GROUP   (ACRES)  (INCH/HR)  (DECIMAL)  CN  (MIN.) 

   COMMERCIAL                 A        2.75      0.74     0.100    52   10.59 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS LOSS RATE, Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.74 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS AREA FRACTION, Ap =  0.100 

   SUBAREA RUNOFF(CFS) =      9.34 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES) =      2.75   PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS) =      9.34 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     20.00 TO NODE     30.00 IS CODE =  41 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>COMPUTE PIPE-FLOW TRAVEL TIME THRU SUBAREA<<<<< 

   >>>>>USING USER-SPECIFIED PIPESIZE (EXISTING ELEMENT)<<<<< 

 ============================================================================ 

   REPRESENTATIVE SLOPE =  0.0050 

   FLOW LENGTH(FEET) =   200.00   MANNING'S N =  0.012 

   ASSUME FULL-FLOWING PIPELINE 

   PIPE-FLOW VELOCITY(FEET/SEC.) =   5.29 

   PIPE FLOW VELOCITY = (TOTAL FLOW)/(PIPE CROSS SECTION AREA) 

   GIVEN PIPE DIAMETER(INCH) =  18.00    NUMBER OF PIPES =   1 

   PIPE-FLOW(CFS) =       9.34 

   PIPE TRAVEL TIME(MIN.) =   0.63    Tc(MIN.) =   11.22 

   LONGEST FLOWPATH FROM NODE     10.00 TO NODE     30.00 =     955.00 FEET. 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     30.00 TO NODE     30.00 IS CODE =  81 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>ADDITION OF SUBAREA TO MAINLINE PEAK FLOW<<<<< 

 ============================================================================ 

   MAINLINE Tc(MIN.) =   11.22 

   * 100 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY(INCH/HR) =  3.719 

   SUBAREA LOSS RATE DATA(AMC III): 

    DEVELOPMENT TYPE/      SCS SOIL   AREA      Fp         Ap     SCS 

        LAND USE            GROUP   (ACRES)  (INCH/HR)  (DECIMAL)  CN 

   COMMERCIAL                 A        0.88      0.74     0.100    52 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS LOSS RATE, Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.74 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS AREA FRACTION, Ap =  0.100 

   SUBAREA AREA(ACRES) =    0.88      SUBAREA RUNOFF(CFS) =    2.89 

   EFFECTIVE AREA(ACRES) =      3.63   AREA-AVERAGED Fm(INCH/HR) =  0.07 

   AREA-AVERAGED Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.74  AREA-AVERAGED Ap =  0.10 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES) =        3.6       PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS) =      11.91 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     30.00 TO NODE     40.00 IS CODE =  41 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>COMPUTE PIPE-FLOW TRAVEL TIME THRU SUBAREA<<<<< 

Item E - 2029 of 2173



   >>>>>USING USER-SPECIFIED PIPESIZE (EXISTING ELEMENT)<<<<< 

 ============================================================================ 

   REPRESENTATIVE SLOPE =  0.0050 

   FLOW LENGTH(FEET) =   137.00   MANNING'S N =  0.012 

   ASSUME FULL-FLOWING PIPELINE 

   PIPE-FLOW VELOCITY(FEET/SEC.) =   6.74 

   PIPE FLOW VELOCITY = (TOTAL FLOW)/(PIPE CROSS SECTION AREA) 

   GIVEN PIPE DIAMETER(INCH) =  18.00    NUMBER OF PIPES =   1 

   PIPE-FLOW(CFS) =      11.91 

   PIPE TRAVEL TIME(MIN.) =   0.34    Tc(MIN.) =   11.56 

   LONGEST FLOWPATH FROM NODE     10.00 TO NODE     40.00 =    1092.00 FEET. 

 

 **************************************************************************** 

   FLOW PROCESS FROM NODE     40.00 TO NODE     40.00 IS CODE =  81 

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   >>>>>ADDITION OF SUBAREA TO MAINLINE PEAK FLOW<<<<< 

 ============================================================================ 

   MAINLINE Tc(MIN.) =   11.56 

   * 100 YEAR RAINFALL INTENSITY(INCH/HR) =  3.653 

   SUBAREA LOSS RATE DATA(AMC III): 

    DEVELOPMENT TYPE/      SCS SOIL   AREA      Fp         Ap     SCS 

        LAND USE            GROUP   (ACRES)  (INCH/HR)  (DECIMAL)  CN 

   COMMERCIAL                 A        3.35      0.74     0.100    52 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS LOSS RATE, Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.74 

   SUBAREA AVERAGE PERVIOUS AREA FRACTION, Ap =  0.100 

   SUBAREA AREA(ACRES) =    3.35      SUBAREA RUNOFF(CFS) =   10.79 

   EFFECTIVE AREA(ACRES) =      6.98   AREA-AVERAGED Fm(INCH/HR) =  0.07 

   AREA-AVERAGED Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.74  AREA-AVERAGED Ap =  0.10 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES) =        7.0       PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS) =      22.48 

 ============================================================================ 

   END OF STUDY SUMMARY: 

   TOTAL AREA(ACRES)     =        7.0  TC(MIN.) =     11.56 

   EFFECTIVE AREA(ACRES) =      6.98  AREA-AVERAGED Fm(INCH/HR)=  0.07 

   AREA-AVERAGED Fp(INCH/HR) =  0.74  AREA-AVERAGED Ap = 0.100 

   PEAK FLOW RATE(CFS)   =      22.48 

 ============================================================================ 

 ============================================================================ 

   END OF RATIONAL METHOD ANALYSIS 

 

   

Item E - 2030 of 2173



 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

**************************************************************************** 

            NON-HOMOGENEOUS WATERSHED AREA-AVERAGED LOSS RATE (Fm) 

                      AND LOW LOSS FRACTION ESTIMATIONS 

 

============================================================================ 

          (C) Copyright 1989-2016 Advanced Engineering Software (aes) 

              Ver. 23.0  Release Date: 07/01/2016  License ID 1334 

 

                            Analysis prepared by: 

 

                                                                              

                                                                              

                                                                              

                                                                              

 

 

**************************************************************************** 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

  Problem Descriptions: 

    

    

    

 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

     RATIONAL METHOD CALIBRATION COEFFICIENT = 0.90 

     TOTAL CATCHMENT AREA(ACRES) =    6.98 

     SOIL-LOSS RATE, Fm,(INCH/HR) =  0.070 

     LOW LOSS FRACTION = 0.040 

     TIME OF CONCENTRATION(MIN.) = 11.60 

     SMALL AREA PEAK Q COMPUTED USING PEAK FLOW RATE FORMULA 

     USER SPECIFIED RAINFALL VALUES ARE USED 

     RETURN FREQUENCY(YEARS) = 100 

        5-MINUTE POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  0.35 

       30-MINUTE POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  0.92 

        1-HOUR   POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  1.36 

        3-HOUR   POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  2.48 

        6-HOUR   POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  3.47 

       24-HOUR   POINT RAINFALL VALUE(INCHES) =  6.11 

 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

     TOTAL CATCHMENT   RUNOFF  VOLUME(ACRE-FEET) =     3.06 

     TOTAL CATCHMENT SOIL-LOSS VOLUME(ACRE-FEET) =     0.50 

 

Item E - 2031 of 2173



 

**************************************************************************** 

   TIME     VOLUME       Q    0.        5.0      10.0      15.0      20.0 

  (HOURS)    (AF)      (CFS) 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   0.15      0.0050      0.63  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   0.34      0.0151      0.63  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   0.53      0.0252      0.63  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   0.73      0.0354      0.64  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   0.92      0.0456      0.64  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   1.11      0.0560      0.65  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   1.31      0.0664      0.65  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   1.50      0.0769      0.66  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   1.69      0.0875      0.66  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   1.89      0.0982      0.67  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   2.08      0.1089      0.67  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   2.27      0.1197      0.68  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   2.47      0.1307      0.69  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   2.66      0.1417      0.69  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   2.85      0.1528      0.70  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   3.05      0.1640      0.71  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   3.24      0.1753      0.71  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   3.43      0.1868      0.72  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   3.63      0.1983      0.72  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   3.82      0.2099      0.73  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   4.01      0.2216      0.74  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   4.21      0.2335      0.75  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   4.40      0.2454      0.75  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   4.59      0.2575      0.76  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   4.79      0.2697      0.77  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   4.98      0.2820      0.78  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   5.17      0.2944      0.78  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   5.37      0.3070      0.79  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   5.56      0.3197      0.80  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   5.75      0.3326      0.81  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   5.95      0.3455      0.82  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   6.14      0.3587      0.83  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   6.33      0.3720      0.83  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   6.53      0.3854      0.85  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   6.72      0.3990      0.85  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   6.91      0.4128      0.87  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   7.11      0.4267      0.88  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   7.30      0.4408      0.89  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   7.49      0.4551      0.90  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   7.69      0.4696      0.91  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   7.88      0.4843      0.92  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   8.07      0.4992      0.94  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   8.27      0.5143      0.95  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   8.46      0.5296      0.97  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   8.65      0.5451      0.98  .Q        .         .         .         . 

   8.85      0.5609      1.00  .Q        .         .         .         . 

Item E - 2032 of 2173



   9.04      0.5770      1.01  . Q       .         .         .         . 

   9.23      0.5933      1.03  . Q       .         .         .         . 

   9.43      0.6098      1.04  . Q       .         .         .         . 

   9.62      0.6267      1.07  . Q       .         .         .         . 

   9.81      0.6439      1.08  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  10.01      0.6613      1.11  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  10.20      0.6791      1.12  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  10.39      0.6972      1.15  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  10.59      0.7157      1.17  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  10.78      0.7346      1.20  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  10.97      0.7539      1.22  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  11.17      0.7736      1.25  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  11.36      0.7938      1.27  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  11.55      0.8145      1.31  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  11.75      0.8357      1.34  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  11.94      0.8574      1.39  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  12.13      0.8798      1.42  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  12.33      0.9050      1.73  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  12.52      0.9330      1.77  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  12.71      0.9618      1.83  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  12.91      0.9914      1.87  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  13.10      1.0219      1.95  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  13.29      1.0534      1.99  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  13.49      1.0861      2.09  .   Q     .         .         .         . 

  13.68      1.1199      2.15  .   Q     .         .         .         . 

  13.87      1.1552      2.27  .   Q     .         .         .         . 

  14.07      1.1921      2.34  .   Q     .         .         .         . 

  14.26      1.2333      2.81  .    Q    .         .         .         . 

  14.45      1.2789      2.90  .    Q    .         .         .         . 

  14.65      1.3271      3.12  .     Q   .         .         .         . 

  14.84      1.3780      3.25  .     Q   .         .         .         . 

  15.03      1.4327      3.58  .      Q  .         .         .         . 

  15.23      1.4916      3.79  .      Q  .         .         .         . 

  15.42      1.5569      4.39  .       Q .         .         .         . 

  15.61      1.6313      4.92  .        Q.         .         .         . 

  15.81      1.7203      6.22  .         . Q       .         .         . 

  16.00      1.8323      7.79  .         .    Q    .         .         . 

  16.19      2.0341     17.47  .         .         .         .   Q     . 

  16.39      2.2175      5.50  .         Q         .         .         . 

  16.58      2.2938      4.05  .       Q .         .         .         . 

  16.77      2.3533      3.41  .     Q   .         .         .         . 

  16.97      2.4045      3.01  .     Q   .         .         .         . 

  17.16      2.4492      2.58  .    Q    .         .         .         . 

  17.35      2.4874      2.21  .   Q     .         .         .         . 

  17.55      2.5213      2.04  .   Q     .         .         .         . 

  17.74      2.5529      1.91  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  17.93      2.5825      1.80  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  18.13      2.6105      1.71  .  Q      .         .         .         . 

  18.32      2.6350      1.36  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  18.51      2.6562      1.29  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  18.71      2.6764      1.23  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  18.90      2.6957      1.18  . Q       .         .         .         . 

Item E - 2033 of 2173



  19.09      2.7142      1.13  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  19.29      2.7320      1.09  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  19.48      2.7492      1.05  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  19.67      2.7657      1.02  . Q       .         .         .         . 

  19.87      2.7818      0.99  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  20.06      2.7973      0.96  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  20.25      2.8124      0.93  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  20.45      2.8271      0.91  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  20.64      2.8414      0.88  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  20.83      2.8554      0.86  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  21.03      2.8690      0.84  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  21.22      2.8822      0.82  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  21.41      2.8952      0.80  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  21.61      2.9079      0.79  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  21.80      2.9204      0.77  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  21.99      2.9326      0.76  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  22.19      2.9445      0.74  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  22.38      2.9563      0.73  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  22.57      2.9678      0.71  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  22.77      2.9791      0.70  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  22.96      2.9902      0.69  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  23.15      3.0011      0.68  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  23.35      3.0119      0.67  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  23.54      3.0225      0.66  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  23.73      3.0329      0.65  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  23.93      3.0432      0.64  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  24.12      3.0533      0.63  .Q        .         .         .         . 

  24.31      3.0583      0.00  Q         .         .         .         . 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------

---- 

    TIME DURATION(minutes) OF PERCENTILES OF ESTIMATED PEAK FLOW RATE: 

    (Note: 100% of Peak Flow Rate estimate assumed to have 

    an instantaneous time duration) 

 

    Percentile of Estimated                 Duration 

        Peak Flow Rate                      (minutes) 

    =======================                 ========= 

               0%                            1450.0 

              10%                             336.4 

              20%                             104.4 

              30%                              46.4 

              40%                              23.2 

              50%                              11.6 

              60%                              11.6 

              70%                              11.6 

              80%                              11.6 

              90%                              11.6 

 

 

 

Item E - 2034 of 2173



============================================================================ 

     FLOW-THROUGH DETENTION BASIN MODEL 

 

     SPECIFIED BASIN CONDITIONS ARE AS FOLLOWS: 

     CONSTANT HYDROGRAPH TIME UNIT(MINUTES) =   11.600 

     DEAD STORAGE(AF) =       0.00 

     SPECIFIED DEAD STORAGE(AF) FILLED =       0.00 

     ASSUMED INITIAL DEPTH(FEET) IN STORAGE BASIN =    0.00 

 

 

                    INFLOW 

                      | 

                      | 

                      | 

                      V               __effective depth 

                -------------         |   (and volume) 

                |           |    |    | 

                | detention |    |....V............. 

                |   basin   |<-->|          outflow 

                |           |    |........._________ 

                -------------    |         |   \  

                      |          | storage |     basin outlet 

                      V          ----------- 

                   OUTFLOW 

 

 

     DEPTH-VS.-STORAGE AND DEPTH-VS.-DISCHARGE INFORMATION: 

     TOTAL NUMBER OF BASIN DEPTH INFORMATION ENTRIES =   9 

     *BASIN-DEPTH  STORAGE    OUTFLOW  **BASIN-DEPTH  STORAGE    OUTFLOW  * 

     *   (FEET)  (ACRE-FEET)   (CFS)   **   (FEET)  (ACRE-FEET)   (CFS)   * 

     *      0.000      0.000      0.000**      0.050      0.004      0.540* 

     *      1.750      0.159      0.540**      4.110      0.599      0.540* 

     *      4.210      0.614      2.540**      6.750      0.984      2.540* 

     *      7.750      1.075      2.540**     10.000      1.110      2.540* 

     *     11.020      1.238      2.540** 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

     BASIN STORAGE, OUTFLOW AND DEPTH ROUTING VALUES: 

      INTERVAL   DEPTH   {S-O*DT/2}   {S+O*DT/2} 

       NUMBER   (FEET)   (ACRE-FEET)  (ACRE-FEET) 

           1     0.00       0.00000      0.00000 

           2     0.05       0.00019      0.00881 

           3     1.75       0.15419      0.16281 

           4     4.11       0.59479      0.60341 

           5     4.21       0.59341      0.63399 

           6     6.75       0.96371      1.00429 

           7     7.75       1.05431      1.09489 

           8    10.00       1.08971      1.13029 

           9    11.02       1.21751      1.25809 

     WHERE S=STORAGE(AF);O=OUTFLOW(AF/MIN.);DT=UNIT INTERVAL(MIN.) 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

     DETENTION BASIN ROUTING RESULTS: 

     NOTE: COMPUTED BASIN DEPTH, OUTFLOW, AND STORAGE QUANTITIES 

Item E - 2035 of 2173



           OCCUR AT THE GIVEN TIME. BASIN INFLOW VALUES REPRESENT THE 

           AVERAGE INFLOW DURING THE RECENT HYDROGRAPH UNIT INTERVAL. 

 

        TIME  DEAD-STORAGE  INFLOW  EFFECTIVE  OUTFLOW  EFFECTIVE 

       (HRS)   FILLED(AF)    (CFS)  DEPTH(FT)   (CFS)   VOLUME(AF) 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

       0.147        0.000     0.63      0.06     0.27      0.006 

       0.340        0.000     0.63      0.08     0.54      0.007 

       0.533        0.000     0.63      0.10     0.54      0.009 

       0.727        0.000     0.64      0.11     0.54      0.010 

       0.920        0.000     0.64      0.13     0.54      0.012 

       1.113        0.000     0.65      0.15     0.54      0.014 

       1.307        0.000     0.65      0.17     0.54      0.016 

       1.500        0.000     0.66      0.19     0.54      0.017 

       1.693        0.000     0.66      0.22     0.54      0.019 

       1.887        0.000     0.67      0.24     0.54      0.022 

       2.080        0.000     0.67      0.26     0.54      0.024 

       2.273        0.000     0.68      0.29     0.54      0.026 

       2.467        0.000     0.69      0.31     0.54      0.028 

       2.660        0.000     0.69      0.34     0.54      0.031 

       2.853        0.000     0.70      0.37     0.54      0.033 

       3.047        0.000     0.71      0.40     0.54      0.036 

       3.240        0.000     0.71      0.43     0.54      0.039 

       3.433        0.000     0.72      0.46     0.54      0.042 

       3.627        0.000     0.72      0.49     0.54      0.044 

       3.820        0.000     0.73      0.52     0.54      0.047 

       4.013        0.000     0.74      0.56     0.54      0.051 

       4.207        0.000     0.75      0.60     0.54      0.054 

       4.400        0.000     0.75      0.63     0.54      0.057 

       4.593        0.000     0.76      0.67     0.54      0.061 

       4.787        0.000     0.77      0.71     0.54      0.064 

       4.980        0.000     0.78      0.75     0.54      0.068 

       5.173        0.000     0.78      0.80     0.54      0.072 

       5.367        0.000     0.79      0.84     0.54      0.076 

       5.560        0.000     0.80      0.89     0.54      0.080 

       5.753        0.000     0.81      0.93     0.54      0.085 

       5.947        0.000     0.82      0.98     0.54      0.089 

       6.140        0.000     0.83      1.03     0.54      0.094 

       6.333        0.000     0.83      1.08     0.54      0.098 

       6.527        0.000     0.85      1.14     0.54      0.103 

       6.720        0.000     0.85      1.19     0.54      0.108 

       6.913        0.000     0.87      1.25     0.54      0.113 

       7.107        0.000     0.88      1.31     0.54      0.119 

       7.300        0.000     0.89      1.37     0.54      0.124 

       7.493        0.000     0.90      1.44     0.54      0.130 

       7.687        0.000     0.91      1.50     0.54      0.136 

       7.880        0.000     0.92      1.57     0.54      0.142 

       8.073        0.000     0.94      1.64     0.54      0.149 

       8.267        0.000     0.95      1.71     0.54      0.155 

       8.460        0.000     0.97      1.77     0.54      0.162 

       8.653        0.000     0.98      1.81     0.54      0.169 

       8.847        0.000     1.00      1.85     0.54      0.176 

Item E - 2036 of 2173



       9.040        0.000     1.01      1.89     0.54      0.184 

       9.233        0.000     1.03      1.93     0.54      0.192 

       9.427        0.000     1.04      1.97     0.54      0.200 

       9.620        0.000     1.07      2.02     0.54      0.208 

       9.813        0.000     1.08      2.06     0.54      0.217 

      10.007        0.000     1.11      2.11     0.54      0.226 

      10.200        0.000     1.12      2.16     0.54      0.235 

      10.393        0.000     1.15      2.21     0.54      0.245 

      10.587        0.000     1.17      2.27     0.54      0.255 

      10.780        0.000     1.20      2.32     0.54      0.265 

      10.973        0.000     1.22      2.38     0.54      0.276 

      11.167        0.000     1.25      2.44     0.54      0.288 

      11.360        0.000     1.27      2.50     0.54      0.299 

      11.553        0.000     1.31      2.57     0.54      0.312 

      11.747        0.000     1.34      2.64     0.54      0.324 

      11.940        0.000     1.39      2.71     0.54      0.338 

      12.133        0.000     1.42      2.79     0.54      0.352 

      12.327        0.000     1.73      2.89     0.54      0.371 

      12.520        0.000     1.77      2.99     0.54      0.391 

      12.713        0.000     1.83      3.10     0.54      0.411 

      12.907        0.000     1.87      3.22     0.54      0.433 

      13.100        0.000     1.95      3.34     0.54      0.455 

      13.293        0.000     1.99      3.46     0.54      0.478 

      13.487        0.000     2.09      3.60     0.54      0.503 

      13.680        0.000     2.15      3.73     0.54      0.529 

      13.873        0.000     2.27      3.88     0.54      0.556 

      14.067        0.000     2.34      4.04     0.54      0.585 

      14.260        0.000     2.81      4.18     1.27      0.610 

      14.453        0.000     2.90      4.25     2.27      0.620 

      14.647        0.000     3.12      4.32     2.54      0.629 

      14.840        0.000     3.25      4.39     2.54      0.641 

      15.033        0.000     3.58      4.51     2.54      0.657 

      15.227        0.000     3.79      4.65     2.54      0.677 

      15.420        0.000     4.39      4.85     2.54      0.707 

      15.613        0.000     4.92      5.11     2.54      0.745 

      15.807        0.000     6.22      5.51     2.54      0.804 

      16.000        0.000     7.79      6.09     2.54      0.888 

      16.193        0.000    17.47     10.13     2.54      1.126 

      16.387        0.000     5.50     10.51     2.54      1.173 

      16.580        0.000     4.05     10.70     2.54      1.197 

      16.773        0.000     3.41     10.81     2.54      1.211 

      16.967        0.000     3.01     10.87     2.54      1.219 

      17.160        0.000     2.58     10.87     2.54      1.219 

      17.353        0.000     2.21     10.83     2.54      1.214 

      17.547        0.000     2.04     10.77     2.54      1.206 

      17.740        0.000     1.91     10.69     2.54      1.196 

      17.933        0.000     1.80     10.59     2.54      1.184 

      18.127        0.000     1.71     10.49     2.54      1.171 

      18.320        0.000     1.36     10.33     2.54      1.152 

      18.513        0.000     1.29     10.18     2.54      1.132 

      18.707        0.000     1.23     10.01     2.54      1.111 

      18.900        0.000     1.18      8.70     2.54      1.089 

Item E - 2037 of 2173



      19.093        0.000     1.13      7.67     2.54      1.067 

      19.287        0.000     1.09      7.41     2.54      1.044 

      19.480        0.000     1.05      7.15     2.54      1.020 

      19.673        0.000     1.02      6.88     2.54      0.996 

      19.867        0.000     0.99      6.66     2.54      0.971 

      20.060        0.000     0.96      6.49     2.54      0.946 

      20.253        0.000     0.93      6.31     2.54      0.920 

      20.447        0.000     0.91      6.13     2.54      0.894 

      20.640        0.000     0.88      5.95     2.54      0.868 

      20.833        0.000     0.86      5.77     2.54      0.841 

      21.027        0.000     0.84      5.58     2.54      0.814 

      21.220        0.000     0.82      5.39     2.54      0.786 

      21.413        0.000     0.80      5.20     2.54      0.758 

      21.607        0.000     0.79      5.01     2.54      0.730 

      21.800        0.000     0.77      4.82     2.54      0.702 

      21.993        0.000     0.76      4.62     2.54      0.674 

      22.187        0.000     0.74      4.42     2.54      0.645 

      22.380        0.000     0.73      4.23     2.54      0.616 

      22.573        0.000     0.71      4.12     1.66      0.601 

      22.767        0.000     0.70      4.12     0.74      0.600 

      22.960        0.000     0.69      4.12     0.69      0.600 

      23.153        0.000     0.68      4.12     0.68      0.600 

      23.347        0.000     0.67      4.12     0.67      0.600 

      23.540        0.000     0.66      4.12     0.66      0.600 

      23.733        0.000     0.65      4.12     0.65      0.600 

      23.927        0.000     0.64      4.11     0.64      0.600 

      24.120        0.000     0.63      4.11     0.63      0.600 

      24.313        0.000     0.00      4.06     0.58      0.590 

      24.507        0.000     0.00      4.02     0.54      0.582 

      24.700        0.000     0.00      3.97     0.54      0.573 

      24.893        0.000     0.00      3.92     0.54      0.565 

      25.087        0.000     0.00      3.88     0.54      0.556 

      25.280        0.000     0.00      3.83     0.54      0.547 

      25.473        0.000     0.00      3.79     0.54      0.539 

      25.667        0.000     0.00      3.74     0.54      0.530 

      25.860        0.000     0.00      3.69     0.54      0.521 

      26.053        0.000     0.00      3.65     0.54      0.513 

      26.247        0.000     0.00      3.60     0.54      0.504 

      26.440        0.000     0.00      3.56     0.54      0.496 

      26.633        0.000     0.00      3.51     0.54      0.487 

      26.827        0.000     0.00      3.46     0.54      0.478 

      27.020        0.000     0.00      3.42     0.54      0.470 

      27.213        0.000     0.00      3.37     0.54      0.461 

      27.407        0.000     0.00      3.32     0.54      0.452 

      27.600        0.000     0.00      3.28     0.54      0.444 

      27.793        0.000     0.00      3.23     0.54      0.435 

      27.987        0.000     0.00      3.19     0.54      0.426 

      28.180        0.000     0.00      3.14     0.54      0.418 

      28.373        0.000     0.00      3.09     0.54      0.409 

      28.567        0.000     0.00      3.05     0.54      0.401 

      28.760        0.000     0.00      3.00     0.54      0.392 

      28.953        0.000     0.00      2.95     0.54      0.383 

Item E - 2038 of 2173



      29.147        0.000     0.00      2.91     0.54      0.375 

      29.340        0.000     0.00      2.86     0.54      0.366 

      29.533        0.000     0.00      2.82     0.54      0.357 

      29.727        0.000     0.00      2.77     0.54      0.349 

      29.920        0.000     0.00      2.72     0.54      0.340 

      30.113        0.000     0.00      2.68     0.54      0.332 

      30.307        0.000     0.00      2.63     0.54      0.323 

      30.500        0.000     0.00      2.58     0.54      0.314 

      30.693        0.000     0.00      2.54     0.54      0.306 

      30.887        0.000     0.00      2.49     0.54      0.297 

      31.080        0.000     0.00      2.45     0.54      0.288 

      31.273        0.000     0.00      2.40     0.54      0.280 

      31.467        0.000     0.00      2.35     0.54      0.271 

      31.660        0.000     0.00      2.31     0.54      0.263 

      31.853        0.000     0.00      2.26     0.54      0.254 

      32.047        0.000     0.00      2.21     0.54      0.245 

      32.240        0.000     0.00      2.17     0.54      0.237 

      32.433        0.000     0.00      2.12     0.54      0.228 

      32.627        0.000     0.00      2.08     0.54      0.219 

      32.820        0.000     0.00      2.03     0.54      0.211 

      33.013        0.000     0.00      1.98     0.54      0.202 

      33.207        0.000     0.00      1.94     0.54      0.194 

      33.400        0.000     0.00      1.89     0.54      0.185 

      33.593        0.000     0.00      1.85     0.54      0.176 

      33.787        0.000     0.00      1.80     0.54      0.168 

      33.980        0.000     0.00      1.75     0.54      0.159 

      34.173        0.000     0.00      1.66     0.54      0.150 

      34.367        0.000     0.00      1.57     0.54      0.142 

      34.560        0.000     0.00      1.47     0.54      0.133 

      34.753        0.000     0.00      1.37     0.54      0.124 

      34.947        0.000     0.00      1.28     0.54      0.116 

      35.140        0.000     0.00      1.18     0.54      0.107 

      35.333        0.000     0.00      1.09     0.54      0.099 

      35.527        0.000     0.00      0.99     0.54      0.090 

      35.720        0.000     0.00      0.90     0.54      0.081 

      35.913        0.000     0.00      0.80     0.54      0.073 

      36.107        0.000     0.00      0.71     0.54      0.064 

      36.300        0.000     0.00      0.61     0.54      0.055 

      36.493        0.000     0.00      0.52     0.54      0.047 

      36.687        0.000     0.00      0.42     0.54      0.038 

      36.880        0.000     0.00      0.33     0.54      0.030 

      37.073        0.000     0.00      0.23     0.54      0.021 

      37.267        0.000     0.00      0.14     0.54      0.012 

      37.460        0.000     0.00      0.05     0.52      0.004 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

Item E - 2039 of 2173



Inlet Report

Hydraflow Express Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. Tuesday, Dec 20 2022

3.5 foot curb inlet analysis

Curb Inlet
Location =  Sag
Curb Length (ft) =  3.50
Throat Height (in) =  6.00
Grate Area (sqft) =  -0-
Grate Width (ft) =  -0-
Grate Length (ft) =  -0-

Gutter
Slope, Sw (ft/ft) =  0.080
Slope, Sx (ft/ft) =  0.020
Local Depr (in) =  2.00
Gutter Width (ft) =  4.00
Gutter Slope (%) =  -0-
Gutter n-value =  -0-

Calculations
Compute by: Known Q
Q (cfs) =  2.89

Highlighted
Q Total (cfs) =  2.89
Q Capt (cfs) =  2.89
Q Bypass (cfs) =  -0-
Depth at Inlet (in) =  7.76
Efficiency (%) =  100
Gutter Spread (ft) =  11.98
Gutter Vel (ft/s) =  -0-
Bypass Spread (ft) =  -0-
Bypass Depth (in) =  -0-

Item E - 2040 of 2173



Inlet Report

Hydraflow Express Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. Tuesday, Dec 20 2022

7.0 foot curb inlet analysis

Curb Inlet
Location =  Sag
Curb Length (ft) =  7.00
Throat Height (in) =  6.00
Grate Area (sqft) =  -0-
Grate Width (ft) =  -0-
Grate Length (ft) =  -0-

Gutter
Slope, Sw (ft/ft) =  0.080
Slope, Sx (ft/ft) =  0.020
Local Depr (in) =  2.00
Gutter Width (ft) =  4.00
Gutter Slope (%) =  -0-
Gutter n-value =  -0-

Calculations
Compute by: Known Q
Q (cfs) =  9.34

Highlighted
Q Total (cfs) =  9.34
Q Capt (cfs) =  9.34
Q Bypass (cfs) =  -0-
Depth at Inlet (in) =  10.09
Efficiency (%) =  100
Gutter Spread (ft) =  21.69
Gutter Vel (ft/s) =  -0-
Bypass Spread (ft) =  -0-
Bypass Depth (in) =  -0-

Item E - 2041 of 2173



Inlet Report

Hydraflow Express Extension for Autodesk® Civil 3D® by Autodesk, Inc. Tuesday, Dec 20 2022

48 inch square inlet analysis

Drop Grate Inlet
Location =  Sag
Curb Length (ft) =  -0-
Throat Height (in) =  -0-
Grate Area (sqft) =  16.00
Grate Width (ft) =  4.00
Grate Length (ft) =  4.00

Gutter
Slope, Sw (ft/ft) =  0.018
Slope, Sx (ft/ft) =  0.018
Local Depr (in) =  -0-
Gutter Width (ft) =  4.00
Gutter Slope (%) =  -0-
Gutter n-value =  -0-

Calculations
Compute by: Known Q
Q (cfs) =  10.79

Highlighted
Q Total (cfs) =  10.79
Q Capt (cfs) =  10.79
Q Bypass (cfs) =  -0-
Depth at Inlet (in) =  4.43
Efficiency (%) =  100
Gutter Spread (ft) =  45.06
Gutter Vel (ft/s) =  -0-
Bypass Spread (ft) =  -0-
Bypass Depth (in) =  -0-

Item E - 2042 of 2173



1600 East Francis St. 

Ontario, California 

Hydrology Study 

by TAIT & Associates 

 

 
TAIT JOB # SP8995 Appendix E 
 

Appendix	E	–	Reference	Plans	

Reference Plans 
See Attached Plans 

	

	

Item E - 2043 of 2173



Item E - 2044 of 2173

rhaskin
Snapshot

rhaskin
Text Box
CITY MASTER HYDROLOGY MAP

rhaskin
Callout
PROJECT IN YELLOW

rhaskin
Callout
WEST CUCAMONGA CHANNEL IN PURPLE



  22885 Savi Ranch Parkway    Suite E    Yorba Linda   California   92887  
voice: (714) 685-1115    fax: (714) 685-1118   www.socalgeo.com 

September 21, 2022 
 
Dermody Properties 
530 Technology Drive, Suite 100 
Irvine, California 92618 
 
Attention:  Scott Strine 

Senior Vice President – Capital Development 
 
Project No.: 22G233-2 
     
Subject: Results of Infiltration Testing 
    Proposed Industrial Building 
    1600 East Francis Street 
    Ontario, California 
  
Reference:  Geotechnical Investigation, Proposed Industrial Building, 1600 East Francis Street, 

Ontario, California, prepared by Southern California Geotechnical, Inc. (SCG) for 
Dermody Properties, SCG Project No. 22G233-1, dated September 21, 2022. 

    
Mr. Strine: 
 
In accordance with your request, we have conducted infiltration testing at the subject site. We 
are pleased to present this report summarizing the results of the infiltration testing and our design 
recommendations. 

Scope of Services 

The scope of services performed for this project was in general accordance with our Proposal No. 
22P344, dated August 17, 2022. The scope of services included site reconnaissance, subsurface 
exploration, field testing, and engineering analysis to determine the infiltration rates of the on-
site soils. The infiltration testing was performed in general accordance with the guidelines 
published in the Riverside County – Low Impact Development BMP Design Handbook – Section 
2.3 of Appendix A, prepared for the Riverside County Department of Environmental Health 
(RCDEH), dated December, 2013. The San Bernardino County standards defer to the guidelines 
published by the RCDEH. 

Site and Project Description 

The site is located on the south side of East Francis Street, 500± feet west of the intersection 
with South Baker Avenue, in Ontario, California.  The site is bounded to the north by Francis 
Street and to the west, south, and east by existing commercial and light industrial developments. 
The general location of the site is illustrated on the Site Location Map, included as Plate 1 of this 
report. 
 
The site is a rectangularly-shaped area, 7.0± acres in size. The site is presently operated as a 
yard for Western States Building Materials. Most of the site is used for storage of building materials 
such as tile, concrete blocks, pipe, sand and gravel, and reinforcing steel. Several at-grade sand 
and gravel storage bins are present in the central region of the property. A small batch plant 

Item E - 2045 of 2173

http://www.socalgeo.com/


 

  Proposed Industrial Building – Ontario, CA 
  Project No. 22G233-2 
  Page 2 
 

incorporating bins and silos is present in the southern region of the site.  Finished products are 
palletized and stored throughout the site.  Several structures are present at the site, including 
small office buildings, canopies over the storage areas, and buildings housing manufacturing 
operations. Most of the areas surrounding the buildings are paved with asphaltic concrete 
pavements that are in fair to good condition.  Some isolated areas of distressed pavements were 
noted.  
 
Detailed topographic information was not available at the time of this report. Based on elevations 
obtained from Google Earth, and visual observations made at the time of the subsurface 
investigation, the overall site topography slopes downward to the south at a gradient of less than 
2 percent. 

Proposed Development  

A conceptual site plan, identified as Scheme 2 and prepared by HPA, Inc., for the proposed 
development was provided to our office by the client. Based on this plan, the subject site will be 
developed with a 167,850± ft² industrial building, located in the eastern region of the site. Dock-
high doors will be constructed along the west building wall. The proposed building is expected to 
be surrounded by asphaltic concrete (AC) pavements in the parking and drive areas, Portland 
cement concrete (PCC) pavements in the loading dock area, and concrete flatwork and 
landscaped planters throughout the site. 
 
The proposed development will include on-site stormwater infiltration. The infiltration system will 
consist of a below-grade chamber system located in the southeastern area of the site. The bottom 
of the infiltration system will be 10± feet below the existing site grades. 

Concurrent Study 

SCG concurrently conducted a geotechnical investigation at the subject site, referenced above. 
As a part of this study, two (2) borings (identified as Boring Nos. B-2A through B-3A) were 
advanced to depths of 15 to 25± feet below the existing site grades. 
 
Artificial fill soils were encountered beneath the AC pavements at both of the boring locations, 
extending to depths of 4½ to 6½± feet below the existing site grades. The artificial fill soils 
generally consist of loose to medium dense silty sands with varying fine gravel content. The fill 
soils possess variable strengths and a disturbed appearance, resulting in their classification as 
artificial fill. Native alluvium was encountered beneath the artificial fill soils at all of the boring 
locations, extending to at least the maximum depth explored of 25± below the existing site 
grades. The alluvial soils generally consist of loose to medium dense sands and silty sands with 
varying fine gravel content. 

Groundwater 

Free water was not encountered during the drilling of any of the borings. Based on the lack of 
any water within the borings, and the moisture contents of the recovered soil samples, the static 
groundwater is considered to have existed at a depth in excess of 25± feet at the time of the 
subsurface exploration.  
 

Item E - 2046 of 2173



 

  Proposed Industrial Building – Ontario, CA 
  Project No. 22G233-2 
  Page 3 
 

As part of our research, we reviewed available groundwater data in order to determine the historic 
high groundwater level for the site. The primary reference used to determine the groundwater 
depths in this area is the California Department of Water Resources website, 
https://wdl.water.ca.gov/waterdatalibrary/. The nearest monitoring well with available data in 
this database is located approximately 0.8 miles northeast of the site. Water level readings within 
this monitoring well indicate a high groundwater level of 290± feet below the ground surface in 
January 1989.   
 
The GeoTracker website, maintained by the State Water Resources Control Board, contains data 
for monitoring wells that have been installed, primarily for environmental investigations.  This 
website identifies a monitoring well located approximately 760 feet east-northeast of the subject 
site, with a high water level of 236± feet below the ground surface. 

Subsurface Exploration 

Scope of Exploration 
 
The subsurface exploration conducted for the infiltration testing consisted of two (2) infiltration 
test borings, advanced to a depth of 10± feet below the existing site grades. The infiltration 
borings were advanced using a truck-mounted drilling rig, equipped with 8-inch-diameter hollow-
stem augers and were logged during drilling by a member of our staff. The approximate locations 
of the infiltration test borings (identified as I-1A and I-2A) are indicated on the Infiltration Test 
Location Plan, enclosed as Plate 2 of this report. 
 
Upon the completion of the infiltration borings, the bottom of each test boring was covered with 
2± inches of clean ¾-inch gravel. A sufficient length of 3-inch-diameter perforated PVC casing 
was then placed into each test hole so that the PVC casing extended from the bottom of the test 
hole to the ground surface. Clean ¾-inch gravel was then installed in the annulus surrounding 
the PVC casing. 

Geotechnical Conditions 

Artificial fill soils were encountered beneath the existing pavements at both boring locations 
extending to depths of 3 to 5½± feet. The fill soils consist of loose sands, silty sands and sandy 
silts with varying silt and medium to coarse sand content. Native alluvial soils were encountered 
beneath the fill soils at both infiltration test locations, extending to at least the maximum depth 
explored of 10± feet. The alluvium generally consists of loose to medium dense sands and silty 
sands with varying silt, gravel, and medium to coarse sand content. The Boring Logs, which 
illustrate the conditions encountered at the boring locations, are included with this report. 

Infiltration Testing 

The infiltration testing was performed in general accordance with the guidelines published in 
Riverside County – Low Impact Development BMP Design Handbook – Section 2.3 of Appendix 
A, which apply to San Bernardino County. 

Item E - 2047 of 2173



 

  Proposed Industrial Building – Ontario, CA 
  Project No. 22G233-2 
  Page 4 
 

Pre-soaking 

In accordance with the county infiltration standards for sandy soils, the infiltration test borings 
were pre-soaked 2 hours prior to the infiltration testing or until all of the water had percolated 
through the test holes. The pre-soaking process consisted of filling test borings by inverting a full 
5-gallon bottle of clear water supported over each hole so that the water flow into the hole holds 
constant at a level at least 5 times the hole’s radius above the gravel at the bottom of each hole. 
Pre-soaking was completed after all of the water had percolated through the test holes. 

Infiltration Testing 

Following the pre-soaking process of the infiltration test borings, SCG performed the infiltration 
testing. Each test hole was filled with water to a depth of at least 5 times the hole’s radius above 
the gravel at the bottom of the test holes. In accordance with the Riverside County guidelines, 
since “sandy soils” (where 6 inches of water infiltrated into the surrounding soils in less than 25 
minutes for two consecutive readings) were encountered at the bottom of the infiltration test 
borings, readings were taken at 10-minute intervals for a total of 1 hour. After each reading, 
water was added to the borings so that the depth of the water was at least 5 times the radius of 
the hole. The water level readings are presented on the spreadsheets enclosed with this report. 
The infiltration rates for each of the timed intervals are also tabulated on the spreadsheets.  

The infiltration rates from the tests are tabulated in inches per hour. In accordance with the 
typically accepted practice, it is recommended that the most conservative reading from the latter 
part of the infiltration tests be used as the design infiltration rate. The rates are summarized 
below: 

Infiltration 
Test No. 

Depth  
(feet) Soil Description Measured Infiltration 

Rate (inches/hour) 

I-1A 10 Brown fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand, little 
Silt, little fine Gravel 17.9 

I-2A 10 Brown Silty fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand 7.1 

Laboratory Testing 

Moisture Content 

The moisture contents for the recovered soil samples within the borings were determined in 
accordance with ASTM D-2216 and are expressed as a percentage of the dry weight. These test 
results are presented on the Boring Logs. 
 
Grain Size Analysis 

The grain size distribution of selected soils collected from the base of each infiltration test boring 
have been determined using a range of wire mesh screens. These tests were performed in general 
accordance with ASTM D-422 and/or ASTM D-1140. The weight of the portion of the sample 
retained on each screen is recorded and the percentage finer or coarser of the total weight is 
calculated. The results of these tests are presented on Plates C-1 and C-2 of this report. 

Item E - 2048 of 2173



 

  Proposed Industrial Building – Ontario, CA 
  Project No. 22G233-2 
  Page 5 
 

Design Recommendations 

Two (2) infiltration tests were performed at the subject site. As noted above, the infiltration rates 
at these locations vary from 7.1 to 17.9 inches per hour. The major factor affecting the difference 
in infiltration rates at the infiltration test locations is the presence of silt in the soils at the tested 
depths. Based on the infiltration test results, we recommend an infiltration rate of 7.1 inches per 
hour be used in the design of the infiltration system. 
 
The design of the storm water infiltration system should be performed by the project civil 
engineer, in accordance with the County of San Bernardino guidelines. It is recommended that 
the system be constructed so as to facilitate removal of silt and clay, or other deleterious materials 
from any water that may enter the system. The presence of such materials would decrease the 
effective infiltration rates. It is recommended that the project civil engineer apply an 
appropriate factor of safety. The infiltration rate recommended above is based on the 
assumption that only clean water will be introduced to the subsurface profile. Any 
fines, debris, or organic materials could significantly impact the infiltration rate. It 
should be noted that the recommended infiltration rate is based on infiltration testing at two (2) 
discrete locations and that the overall infiltration rate of the proposed infiltration system could 
vary considerably. 

Infiltration Rate Considerations 

The infiltration rate presented herein was determined in accordance with the San Bernardino 
County guidelines and is considered valid only for the time and place of the actual test. Varying 
subsurface conditions will exist in other areas of the site, which could alter the recommended 
infiltration rate presented above. The infiltration rate will decline over time between maintenance 
cycles as silt or clay particles accumulate on the BMP surface. The infiltration rate is highly 
dependent upon a number of factors, including density, silt and clay content, grainsize distribution 
throughout the range of particle sizes, and particle shape. Small changes in these factors can 
cause large changes in the infiltration rate. 
 
Infiltration rates are based on unsaturated flow. As water is introduced into soils by infiltration, 
the soils become saturated and the wetting front advances from the unsaturated zone to the 
saturated zone. Once the soils become saturated, infiltration rates become zero, and water can 
only move through soils by hydraulic conductivity at a rate determined by pressure head and soil 
permeability. Changes in soil moisture content will affect the infiltration rate. Infiltration rates 
should be expected to decrease until the soils become saturated. Soil permeability values will 
then govern groundwater movement. Permeability values may be on the order of 10 to 20 times 
less than infiltration rates. The system designer should incorporate adequate factors of safety 
and allow for overflow design into appropriate traditional storm drain systems, which would 
transport storm water off-site. 

Construction Considerations 

The infiltration rates presented in this report are specific to the tested locations and tested depths.  
Infiltration rates can be significantly reduced if the soils are exposed to excessive disturbance or 
compaction during construction. Compaction of the soils at the bottom of the infiltration system 
can significantly reduce the infiltration ability of the basins. Therefore, the subgrade soils within 

Item E - 2049 of 2173



 

  Proposed Industrial Building – Ontario, CA 
  Project No. 22G233-2 
  Page 6 
 

proposed infiltration system areas should not be over-excavated, undercut or compacted in any 
significant manner. It is recommended that a note to this effect be added to the project 
plans and/or specifications. 
 
We recommend that a representative from the geotechnical engineer be on-site during the 
construction of the proposed infiltration system to identify the soil classification at the base of the 
system. It should be confirmed that the soils at the base of the proposed infiltration system 
correspond with those presented in this report to ensure that the performance of the system will 
be consistent with the rate reported herein. 
 
We recommend that scrapers and other rubber-tired heavy equipment not be operated on the 
basin bottom, or at levels lower than 2 feet above the bottom of the system, particularly within 
basins. As such, the bottom 24 inches of the infiltration system should be excavated with non-
rubber-tired equipment, such as excavators. 

Chamber Maintenance 

The proposed project will include infiltration chambers.  Water flowing into these chambers will 
carry some level of sediment. This layer has the potential to significantly reduce the infiltration 
rate of the chamber subgrade soils. Therefore, a formal chamber maintenance program should 
be established to ensure that these silt and clay deposits are removed from the chamber on a 
regular basis.  

Location of Infiltration Systems 

The use of on-site storm water infiltration systems carries a risk of creating adverse geotechnical 
conditions. Increasing the moisture content of the soil can cause the soil to lose internal shear 
strength and increase its compressibility, resulting in a change in the designed engineering 
properties. Overlying structures and pavements in the infiltration area could potentially be 
damaged due to saturation of the subgrade soils. The proposed infiltration system for this 
site should be located at least 25 feet away from any structures, including retaining 
walls. Even with this provision of locating the infiltration system at least 25 feet from the 
building(s), it is possible that infiltrating water into the subsurface soils could have an adverse 
effect on the proposed or existing structures. It should also be noted that utility trenches which 
happen to collect storm water can also serve as conduits to transmit storm water toward the 
structure, depending on the slope of the utility trench. Therefore, consideration should also be 
given to the proposed locations of underground utilities which may pass near the proposed 
infiltration system. 
 
The infiltration system designer should also give special consideration to the effect that the 
proposed infiltration system may have on nearby subterranean structures, open excavations, or 
descending slopes. In particular, infiltration systems should not be located near the crest of 
descending slopes, particularly where the slopes are comprised of granular soils. Such systems 
will require specialized design and analysis to evaluate the potential for slope instability, piping 
failures and other phenomena that typically apply to earthen dam design. This type of analysis is 
beyond the scope of this infiltration test report, but these factors should be considered by the 
infiltration system designer when locating the infiltration systems.   

Item E - 2050 of 2173



 

  Proposed Industrial Building – Ontario, CA 
  Project No. 22G233-2 
  Page 7 
 

General Comments 

This report has been prepared as an instrument of service for use by the client in order to aid in 
the evaluation of this property and to assist the architects and engineers in the design and 
preparation of the project plans and specifications. This report may be provided to the 
contractor(s) and other design consultants to disclose information relative to the project. 
However, this report is not intended to be utilized as a specification in and of itself, without 
appropriate interpretation by the project architect, structural engineer, and/or civil engineer. The 
design of the proposed storm water infiltration system is the responsibility of the civil engineer. 
The role of the geotechnical engineer is limited to determination of infiltration rate only. By using 
the design infiltration rate contained herein, the civil engineer agrees to indemnify, defend, and 
hold harmless the geotechnical engineer for all aspects of the design and performance of the 
proposed storm water infiltration system. The reproduction and distribution of this report must 
be authorized by the client and Southern California Geotechnical, Inc. Furthermore, any reliance 
on this report by an unauthorized third party is at such party’s sole risk, and we accept no 
responsibility for damage or loss which may occur. 
 
The analysis of this site was based on a subsurface profile interpolated from limited discrete soil 
samples. While the materials encountered in the project area are considered to be representative 
of the total area, some variations should be expected between boring locations and testing 
depths. If the conditions encountered during construction vary significantly from those detailed 
herein, we should be contacted immediately to determine if the conditions alter the 
recommendations contained herein. 
 
This report has been based on assumed or provided characteristics of the proposed development. 
It is recommended that the owner, client, architect, structural engineer, and civil engineer 
carefully review these assumptions to ensure that they are consistent with the characteristics of 
the proposed development. If discrepancies exist, they should be brought to our attention to 
verify that they do not affect the conclusions and recommendations contained herein. We also 
recommend that the project plans and specifications be submitted to our office for review to 
verify that our recommendations have been correctly interpreted. The analysis, conclusions, and 
recommendations contained within this report have been promulgated in accordance with 
generally accepted professional geotechnical engineering practice. No other warranty is implied 
or expressed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item E - 2051 of 2173



 

  Proposed Industrial Building – Ontario, CA 
  Project No. 22G233-2 
  Page 8 
 

Closure 

We sincerely appreciate the opportunity to be of service on this project. We look forward to 
providing additional consulting services during the course of the project. If we may be of further 
assistance in any manner, please contact our office. 
 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GEOTECHNICAL, INC.  
 
 
 
 
Oscar Sandoval 
Staff Engineer 
 
 
 
 
Robert G. Trazo, GE 2655 
Principal Engineer      
   
Distribution: (1) Addressee 
 
Enclosures:  Plate 1 - Site Location Map 
  Plate 2 - Infiltration Test Location Plan 
  Boring Log Legend and Logs (4 pages)  

Infiltration Test Results Spreadsheets (2 pages) 
Grain Size Distribution Graphs (2 pages) 
 

 

Item E - 2052 of 2173



SITE

PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL BUILDING

SCALE: 1" = 2000'

DRAWN: JLL
CHKD:  RGT

SCG PROJECT
22G233-2

PLATE 1

SITE LOCATION MAP

ONTARIO, CALIFORNIA
SOURCE: USGS TOPOGRAPHIC MAP OF THE GUASTI

QUADRANGLE, SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA, 2021.

Item E - 2053 of 2173



B-2A

B-3A

I-1

I-2

BUILDING AREA
167,850 S.F.

N.A.P.

N.A.P.

N.A.P.

EAST FRANCIS STREET

W
ES

T 
C

U
C

AM
O

N
G

A 
C

R
EE

K 
TR

AI
L

B-1B-2

B-3

B-4

B-5

SCALE: 1" = 80'

DRAWN:  OS
CHKD:  RGT

PLATE 2

SCG PROJECT
22G233-2

ONTARIO, CALIFORNIA
PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL BUILDING

INFILTRATION TEST LOCATION PLAN

APPROXIMATE INFILTRATION TEST LOCATION 

N
O
R
T
H

So
Ca

lG
eo

NOTE: SITE PLAN PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT. AERIAL PHOTO
OBTAINED FROM GOOGLE EARTH (2021).

GEOTECHNICAL LEGEND

APPROXIMATE BORING LOCATION FROM

APPROXIMATE BORING LOCATION FROM
PREVIOUS STUDY (SCG PROJECT NO. 22G180-1)

CONCURRENT STUDY (SCG PROJECT NO.
22G233-1)

Item E - 2054 of 2173



  BORING LOG LEGEND 
SAMPLE TYPE GRAPHICAL 

SYMBOL SAMPLE DESCRIPTION 

AUGER 
 

SAMPLE COLLECTED FROM AUGER CUTTINGS, NO FIELD 
MEASUREMENT OF SOIL STRENGTH. (DISTURBED) 

CORE 
 ROCK CORE SAMPLE: TYPICALLY TAKEN WITH A 

DIAMOND-TIPPED CORE BARREL. TYPICALLY USED 
ONLY IN HIGHLY CONSOLIDATED BEDROCK.  

GRAB  
SOIL SAMPLE TAKEN WITH NO SPECIALIZED 
EQUIPMENT, SUCH AS FROM A STOCKPILE OR THE 
GROUND SURFACE. (DISTURBED) 

CS 
 CALIFORNIA SAMPLER: 2-1/2 INCH I.D. SPLIT BARREL 

SAMPLER, LINED WITH 1-INCH HIGH BRASS RINGS. 
DRIVEN WITH SPT HAMMER. (RELATIVELY 
UNDISTURBED) 

 
NSR 

 NO RECOVERY: THE SAMPLING ATTEMPT DID NOT 
RESULT IN RECOVERY OF ANY SIGNIFICANT SOIL OR 
ROCK MATERIAL. 

SPT  
STANDARD PENETRATION TEST: SAMPLER IS A 1.4 
INCH INSIDE DIAMETER SPLIT BARREL, DRIVEN 18 
INCHES WITH THE SPT HAMMER. (DISTURBED) 

SH  
SHELBY TUBE: TAKEN WITH A THIN WALL SAMPLE 
TUBE, PUSHED INTO THE SOIL AND THEN EXTRACTED. 
(UNDISTURBED) 

VANE 
 VANE SHEAR TEST: SOIL STRENGTH OBTAINED USING 

A 4 BLADED SHEAR DEVICE. TYPICALLY USED IN SOFT 
CLAYS-NO SAMPLE RECOVERED. 

 
COLUMN DESCRIPTIONS 
 
DEPTH:    Distance in feet below the ground surface. 

SAMPLE:    Sample Type as depicted above. 

BLOW COUNT:   Number of blows required to advance the sampler 12 inches using a 140 lb   
    hammer with a 30-inch drop. 50/3” indicates penetration refusal (>50 blows)  
    at 3 inches. WH indicates that the weight of the hammer was sufficient to   
    push the sampler 6 inches or more.  

POCKET PEN.:   Approximate shear strength of a cohesive soil sample as measured by pocket  
    penetrometer.  

GRAPHIC LOG:   Graphic Soil Symbol as depicted on the following page. 

DRY DENSITY:   Dry density of an undisturbed or relatively undisturbed sample in lbs/ft3. 

MOISTURE CONTENT:  Moisture content of a soil sample, expressed as a percentage of the dry weight. 

LIQUID LIMIT:   The moisture content above which a soil behaves as a liquid. 

PLASTIC LIMIT:   The moisture content above which a soil behaves as a plastic.  

PASSING #200 SIEVE:  The percentage of the sample finer than the #200 standard sieve.  

UNCONFINED SHEAR:  The shear strength of a cohesive soil sample, as measured in the unconfined state.  

Item E - 2055 of 2173



SM

SP

COARSE
GRAINED

SOILS

SW

TYPICAL
DESCRIPTIONS

WELL-GRADED GRAVELS, GRAVEL -
SAND MIXTURES, LITTLE OR NO
FINES

SILTY GRAVELS, GRAVEL - SAND -
SILT MIXTURES

LETTERGRAPH

POORLY-GRADED GRAVELS,
GRAVEL - SAND MIXTURES, LITTLE
OR NO FINES

GC

GM

GP

GW

POORLY-GRADED SANDS,
GRAVELLY SAND, LITTLE OR NO
FINES

SILTS
AND

CLAYS

MORE THAN 50%
OF MATERIAL IS
LARGER THAN
NO. 200 SIEVE

SIZE

MORE THAN 50%
OF MATERIAL IS
SMALLER THAN
NO. 200 SIEVE

SIZE

MORE THAN 50%
OF COARSE
FRACTION

PASSING ON NO.
4 SIEVE

MORE THAN 50%
OF COARSE
FRACTION

RETAINED ON NO.
4 SIEVE CLAYEY GRAVELS, GRAVEL - SAND -

CLAY MIXTURES

FINE
GRAINED

SOILS

SYMBOLSMAJOR DIVISIONS

SOIL CLASSIFICATION CHART

PT

OH

CH

MH

OL

CL

ML

CLEAN SANDS

SC

SILTY SANDS, SAND - SILT
MIXTURES

CLAYEY SANDS, SAND - CLAY
MIXTURES

INORGANIC SILTS AND VERY FINE
SANDS, ROCK FLOUR, SILTY OR
CLAYEY FINE SANDS OR CLAYEY
SILTS WITH SLIGHT PLASTICITY

INORGANIC CLAYS OF LOW TO
MEDIUM PLASTICITY, GRAVELLY
CLAYS, SANDY CLAYS, SILTY CLAYS,
LEAN CLAYS

ORGANIC SILTS AND ORGANIC
SILTY CLAYS OF LOW PLASTICITY

INORGANIC SILTS, MICACEOUS OR
DIATOMACEOUS FINE SAND OR
SILTY SOILS

INORGANIC CLAYS OF HIGH
PLASTICITY

ORGANIC CLAYS OF MEDIUM TO
HIGH PLASTICITY, ORGANIC SILTS

PEAT, HUMUS, SWAMP SOILS WITH
HIGH ORGANIC CONTENTS

SILTS
AND

CLAYS

GRAVELS WITH
FINES

SAND
AND

SANDY
SOILS (LITTLE OR NO FINES)

SANDS WITH
FINES

LIQUID LIMIT
LESS THAN 50

LIQUID LIMIT
GREATER THAN 50

HIGHLY ORGANIC SOILS

NOTE:  DUAL SYMBOLS ARE USED TO INDICATE BORDERLINE SOIL CLASSIFICATIONS

GRAVEL
AND

GRAVELLY
SOILS

(APPRECIABLE
AMOUNT OF FINES)

(APPRECIABLE
AMOUNT OF FINES)

(LITTLE OR NO FINES)

WELL-GRADED SANDS, GRAVELLY
SANDS, LITTLE OR NO FINES

CLEAN
GRAVELS

Item E - 2056 of 2173



5

7

6

3

ASPHALT: 7±-inches Asphaltic Concrete, no discernible
Aggregate Base
FILL: Gray Brown fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand, trace
fine Gravel, loose-damp

ALLUVIUM: Brown fine Sand, little Silt, trace medium Sand, loose
to medium dense-damp to moist

Brown fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand, trace Silt, little
fine Gravel, medium dense-damp

Boring Terminated at 10'

7

10

8

20 10

FIELD RESULTS

WATER DEPTH:   Dry
CAVE DEPTH:   ---
READING TAKEN:   At Completion

G
R

A
P

H
IC

 L
O

G

P
O

C
K

E
T

 P
E

N
.

(T
S

F
)

DRILLING DATE:   8/23/22
DRILLING METHOD:   Hollow Stem Auger
LOGGED BY:  Michelle Krizek

O
R

G
A

N
IC

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
 (

%
)

D
R

Y
 D

E
N

S
IT

Y
(P

C
F

)

D
E

P
T

H
 (

F
E

E
T

)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E
C

O
N

T
E

N
T

 (
%

)

JOB NO.:   22G233-2
PROJECT:   Proposed Industrial Building
LOCATION:   Ontario, California

PLATE  B-1

5

10

LABORATORY RESULTS

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

P
A

S
S

IN
G

#2
00

 S
IE

V
E

 (
%

)

B
LO

W
 C

O
U

N
T

DESCRIPTION

SURFACE ELEVATION:   ---  MSL LI
Q

U
ID

LI
M

IT

P
LA

S
T

IC
LI

M
IT

S
A

M
P

LE

BORING NO.
I-1A

TEST BORING LOG

T
B

L 
 2

2
G

23
3-

2.
G

P
J 

 S
O

C
A

LG
E

O
.G

D
T

  9
/2

1/
22

Item E - 2057 of 2173



7

20

4

5

ASPHALT: 16±-inches Asphaltic Concrete, no discernible
Aggregate Base

FILL: Gray Brown Silty fine to medium Sand, loose-damp to moist

FILL: Dark Gray Brown fine Sandy Silt, trace medium Sand,
loose-very moist

ALLUVIUM: Gray Brown fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand,
trace fine to coarse Gravel, trace Silt, medium dense-damp

Brown Silty fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand, medium
dense-damp

Boring Terminated at 10'

8

8

10

17 20

FIELD RESULTS

WATER DEPTH:   Dry
CAVE DEPTH:   ---
READING TAKEN:   At Completion

G
R

A
P

H
IC

 L
O

G

P
O

C
K

E
T

 P
E

N
.

(T
S

F
)

DRILLING DATE:   8/23/22
DRILLING METHOD:   Hollow Stem Auger
LOGGED BY:  Michelle Krizek

O
R

G
A

N
IC

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
 (

%
)

D
R

Y
 D

E
N

S
IT

Y
(P

C
F

)

D
E

P
T

H
 (

F
E

E
T

)

M
O

IS
T

U
R

E
C

O
N

T
E

N
T

 (
%

)

JOB NO.:   22G233-2
PROJECT:   Proposed Industrial Building
LOCATION:   Ontario, California

PLATE  B-2

5

10

LABORATORY RESULTS

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

P
A

S
S

IN
G

#2
00

 S
IE

V
E

 (
%

)

B
LO

W
 C

O
U

N
T

DESCRIPTION

SURFACE ELEVATION:   ---  MSL LI
Q

U
ID

LI
M

IT

P
LA

S
T

IC
LI

M
IT

S
A

M
P

LE

BORING NO.
I-2A

TEST BORING LOG

T
B

L 
 2

2
G

23
3-

2.
G

P
J 

 S
O

C
A

LG
E

O
.G

D
T

  9
/2

1/
22

Item E - 2058 of 2173



INFILTRATION CALCULATIONS

Project Name
Project Location
Project Number
Engineer

Test Hole Radius 4 (in)
Test Depth 10.00 (ft)

Infiltration Test Hole I-1

Interval

Number
Time

Time Interval

(min)

Water Depth

(ft)

Change in

Water Level

(in)

Did 6 inches of water

seep away in less than

25 minutes?

Sandy Soils or Non-

Sandy Soils?

Initial 1:31 PM 8.00

Final 1:56 PM 10.00

Initial 1:56 PM 8.00

Final 2:21 PM 10.00

Interval

Number
Time

Time Interval

(min)

Water Depth

(ft)

Change in

Water Level

(ft)

Average Head Height

(ft)

Infiltration Rate Q

(in/hr)

Initial 2:21 PM 8.00

Final 2:31 PM 9.95

Initial 2:31 PM 8.00

Final 2:41 PM 9.91

Initial 2:41 PM 8.00

Final 2:51 PM 9.88

Initial 2:51 PM 8.00

Final 3:01 PM 9.86

Initial 3:01 PM 8.00

Final 3:11 PM 9.85

Initial 3:11 PM 8.00
Final 3:21 PM 9.85

Per County Standards, Infiltration Rate calculated as follows:

Where: Q = Infiltration Rate (in inches per hour)

∆H = Change in Height (Water Level) over the time interval

r = Test Hole (Borehole) Radius

∆t = Time Interval

Havg = Average Head Height over the time interval

1 10.00 1.95 1.03 19.64

Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, California
22G233-2
Michelle Krizek

SANDY SOILS1 25.00 24.00 YES

2

Soil Criteria Test

SANDY SOILS25.00 24.00 YES

2 10.00 1.91 1.05 18.92

3 10.00 1.88 1.06 18.39

18.05

5 10.00 1.85 1.08 17.88

6 10.00 1.85 1.08 17.88

Test Data

4 10.00 1.86 1.07

)2Ht(r

H(60r)
Q

avg




Item E - 2059 of 2173



INFILTRATION CALCULATIONS

Project Name
Project Location
Project Number
Engineer

Test Hole Radius 4 (in)
Test Depth 10.00 (ft)

Infiltration Test Hole I-2

Interval

Number
Time

Time Interval

(min)

Water Depth

(ft)

Change in

Water Level

(in)

Did 6 inches of water

seep away in less than

25 minutes?

Sandy Soils or Non-

Sandy Soils?

Initial 9:42 AM 8.00

Final 10:07 AM 10.00

Initial 10:07 AM 8.00

Final 10:32 AM 9.87

Interval

Number
Time

Time Interval

(min)

Water Depth

(ft)

Change in

Water Level

(ft)

Average Head Height

(ft)

Infiltration Rate Q

(in/hr)

Initial 10:33 AM 8.00

Final 10:43 AM 9.19

Initial 10:43 AM 8.00

Final 10:53 AM 9.10

Initial 10:53 AM 8.00

Final 11:03 AM 9.02

Initial 11:03 AM 8.00

Final 11:13 AM 9.01

Initial 11:13 AM 8.00

Final 11:23 AM 8.99

Initial 11:23 AM 8.00
Final 11:33 AM 8.99

Per County Standards, Infiltration Rate calculated as follows:

Where: Q = Infiltration Rate (in inches per hour)

∆H = Change in Height (Water Level) over the time interval

r = Test Hole (Borehole) Radius

∆t = Time Interval

Havg = Average Head Height over the time interval

Proposed Industrial Building
Ontario, California
22G233-2
Michelle Krizek

Soil Criteria Test

1 25.00 24.00 YES SANDY SOILS

2 25.00 22.44 YES SANDY SOILS

Test Data

1 10.00 1.19 1.41 9.09

2 10.00 1.10 1.45 8.16

3 10.00 1.02 1.49 7.39

4 10.00 1.01 1.50 7.29

5 10.00 0.99 1.51 7.11

6 10.00 0.99 1.51 7.11

)2Ht(r

H(60r)
Q

avg




Item E - 2060 of 2173



Sample Description I-1A @ 8½ Feet
Soil Classification Brown fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand, little Silt, little fine Gravel

Proposed Industrial Building

Ontario, California

Project No. 22G233-2
PLATE C- 1

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.010.1110100

P
e
rc

e
n

t
P

a
s
s
in

g
b

y
W

e
ig

h
t

Grain Size in Millimeters

Grain Size Distribution

Sieve Analysis Hydrometer Analysis
US Standard Sieve Sizes

Coarse Gravel Fine Gravel Crs. Sand Med. Sand Fine Sand Fines (Silt and Clay)

2 1 3/4 1/2 3/8 1/4 #4 #8 #10 #16 #20 #30 #40 #50 #100 #200

Item E - 2061 of 2173



Sample Description I-2A @ 8½ Feet
Soil Classification Brown Silty fine to medium Sand, trace coarse Sand

Proposed Industrial Building

Ontario, California

Project No. 22G233-2
PLATE C- 2

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.010.1110100

P
e
rc

e
n

t
P

a
s
s
in

g
b

y
W

e
ig

h
t

Grain Size in Millimeters

Grain Size Distribution

Sieve Analysis Hydrometer Analysis
US Standard Sieve Sizes

Coarse Gravel Fine Gravel Crs. Sand Med. Sand Fine Sand Fines (Silt and Clay)

2 1 3/4 1/2 3/8 1/4 #4 #8 #10 #16 #20 #30 #40 #50 #100 #200

Item E - 2062 of 2173



FF:867.50

FF:864.79

PA
R

C
EL

 4 PARCEL 3

PARCEL 1

PA
R

C
EL

 2

N

SITE

S 
VI

N
EY

AR
D

 A
VE

N
U

E

60 FREEWAY

S 
G

R
O

VE
 A

VE
N

U
E

E PHILADELPHIA STREET

E FRANCIS STREET

S 
BA

KE
R

 A
VE

N
U

E

S 
PA

R
C

O
 A

VE
N

U
E

E CEDAR STREET

N

CITY OF ONTARIO, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PRELIMINARY CIVIL PLANS
PREPARED FOR:

DPIF3 CA 40 LC AT 60 FREEWAY LLC
530 TECHNOLOGY DRIVE, SUITE 100

IRVINE, CA 92618

1 OF 3

PRELIMINARY GRADING
& DRAINAGE PLAN

Owner:

Project:

Consultants:

Project Number:

Revision:

Date:

Drawn by:

Title:

Sheet:

SP8995
AG

1/4/2023

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA

DPIF3 CA 40 LC AT
60 FREEWAY LLC

O
ra

ng
e 

C
ou

nt
y

Sa
n 

Lu
is 

O
bi

sp
o

Sa
cr

am
en

to
Ri

ve
rs

id
e

D
en

ve
r

Bo
ise

D
al

la
s

A
tla

nt
a

70
1 

N
or

th
 P

ar
kc

en
te

r D
riv

e
Sa

nt
a 

A
na

, C
A

 9
27

05

p:
 7

14
.5

60
.8

20
0

w
w

w
.ta

it.
co

m

Si
nc

e 
19

64

EN
G

IN
EE

RI
NG

   
EN

VI
RO

NM
EN

TA
L  

 B
UI

LD
IN

G
   

LA
ND

AS
SO

C
IA

TE
S

&

FO
R 

RE
VI

EW
 O

NL
Y 

- N
OT

 F
OR

 C
ON

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

FOR REVIEW ONLY

NOT   F
OR

CONSTRUCTION

1600 EAST FRANCIS ST

PL
AN

S 
PR

EP
AR

ED
 B

Y:

530 Technology Drive, Suite 100
Irvine, CA  92618

C I V I L
STRUCTURAL
MECHANICAL
PLUMBING
ELECTRICAL
LANDSCAPE

SOILS ENGINEER
FIRE PROTECTION

-
HUNTER

-

Southern California

TAIT

-

-

Geotechnical

-

Dev. Plan App. #1             10/24/22

12/21/22Dev. Plan App. #2             

–

Item E - 2063 of 2173

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
EV CHARGING ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
EV CHARGING ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EV CHARGING ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EV CHARGING ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
E FRANCIS STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
FF SLOPES FROM NORTH TO SOUTH @ 0.5% 867.50FF TO 864.78FF

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE SHEET 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE SHEET 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE SHEET 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE SHEET 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
GB

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
GB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. C.B., L.D., & 18" S.D. LATERAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 18" S.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 18" S.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 10" S.D. FORCE MAIN TO DISCHARGE TO PARKWAY DRAIN AND THROUGH STREET CURB FACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEGIN CMU RETAIN WALL (R.H.=4' MAX.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. C.B., L.D., & 18" S.D. LATERAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. ACCESSIBLE SWITCHBACK RAMP W/HANDRAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. C&G (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.	COMM. DWY. APPROACH PER ONTARIO COMM. DWY. APPROACH PER ONTARIO STD. 1204 W/ACCENT PAVING AFTER R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. COMM. DWY. APPROACH PER ONTARIO STD. 1204 W/ACCENT PAVING AFTER R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 3' WIDE PARKWAY DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. PUMP DISCHARGE FLOW RATE OF 2 CFS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 12" S.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 12" S.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE DETAIL "A" HEREON FOR WATER QUALITY TREATMENT DESIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. WALL ALONG SOUTH P.L. TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. WALL ALONG EAST P.L. TO REMAIN & EX. FENCE ABOVE TO BE REMOVED AND REPLACED WITH WROUHT IRON FENCE (H=8')

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. STAIRS W/HANDRAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. ACCESSIBLE RAMP W/HANDRAILS ADJACENT TO TRUCK RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. ACCESSIBLE RAMP W/HANDRAILS ADJACENT TO TRUCK RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. STAIRS W/HANDRAILS (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. TRASH ENCLOSURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. S.D. CLEAN OUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 48"x48" PRE-CAST DROP INLET W/TRAFFIC RATED GRATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. S.D. M.H.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. ROOF DRAIN THROUGH C.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. ROOF DRAIN THROUGH C.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. ROOF DRAIN THROUGH C.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. EXT. ROOF DRAIN DOWNSPOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. EXT. ROOF DRAIN DOWNSPOUT (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. TRANSFORMER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. R/W & P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 2' OVERHANG (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 2' OVERHANG (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
END CMU RETAIN WALL (R.H.=4' MAX.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. TRASH ENCLOSURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 0113-381-04-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 0113-381-03-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 0113-381-05-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 0113-381-06-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. BLDG. TO BE REMOVED (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. BLDG. TO BE REMOVED (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. BLDG. (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. BLDG. (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. RETAIN WALL (RH=4' MAX) W/SECURITY FENCE ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. SCREEN WALL (H=10')

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. ROOF DRAIN THROUGH C.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. STAIRS (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE SHEET 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE SHEET 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. ROOF DRAIN THROUGH C.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
R16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. C&G (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. S.L. W/SMART NODE PER CITY STD. 5101-TYPE C & CITY APPROVED MATERIAL LIST (AML) LED LUMINAIRES (QTY. 2)

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" A.C. GRIND & OVERLAY AND RESTRIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. ROOF DRAIN THROUGH C.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
GB

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF SIGHT PER STD. 1309 W/L.U.A. (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. STEPOUT - 12" WIDE MONOLITHIC CURB (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. STEPOUT - 12" WIDE MONOLITHIC CURB (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. STEPOUT - 12" WIDE MONOLITHIC CURB (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. "NO STOPPING ANYTIME" SIGN (QTY. 2)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF SIGHT PER STD. 1309 W/L.U.A. (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. DIVERSION MANHOLE W/WEIR STRUCTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. UNDERGROUND INFILTRATION CHAMBERS W/OPEN BOTTOM (APPROX. 46,800 CF) (TREATMENT VOL. + DETENTION VOL.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED HYDRODYNAMIC SEPARATOR (PRE-TREATMENT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 24" STORM DRAIN TO TREATMENT/STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 12" STORM DRAIN TO PUMP (PEAK-FLOW)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 24" STORM DRAIN TO PRE-TREATMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 24" STORM DRAIN TO DIVERSION MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. SD CLEAN OUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 18" STORM DRAIN TO PRE-TREATMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICINITY MAP NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1" = 30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NUMBER: COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO: 0113-381-03-0-0000, 0113-381-04-0-0000, 0113-381-05-0-0000, 0113-381-06-0-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENCHMARK: DESIGNATION: ONTARIO P-22-1 DESCRIPTION: 2.5 IN. BRASS DISK STAMPED "CITY OF ONTARIO P-22-1." SET ON CONCRETE FOOTING OF BACK FLOW DEVICE @ AIRPORT SUPER STORAGE 1728 GROVE AVE. ELEVATION: 876.828 FEET (NAVD 1988, LEVELED IN 2018)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASIS OF BEARINGS: THE BEARINGS SHOWN HEREON IS BASED ON THE CENTERLINE OF WALKER AVENUE BEING NORTH 00°06'06" WEST PER TRACT NO. 10273,M.B. 182/35-36.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY PURVEYORS: WATER/SEWER: CITY OF ONTARIO TEL: 1-909-395-2678 1-909-395-2678 ELECTRIC: : SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON TEL: 1-800-611-1911 1-800-611-1911 GAS: SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS CO. 1-909-772-5844

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELEPHONE/CABLE: FRONTIER TEL: 1-323-795-2654 1-323-795-2654 CHARTER TEL: 1-714-591-4871 1-714-591-4871 COX COMMUNICATIONS TEL: 1-949-546-2750 1-949-546-2750 ATT TEL: 1-510-645-2929 1-510-645-2929 CITY OF ONTARIO TEL: 1-909-747-59531-909-747-5953

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA SUMMARY: GROSS/NET:  303,901   S.F. / 6.98   ACRES303,901 ± S.F. / 6.98 ± ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE ( )/RIGHT-OF-WAY (R/W) EASEMENT CENTER LINE ( ) PROPOSED CONTOUR EXISTING CONTOUR GRADE BREAK (GB) RIDGE LINE (R) FLOW (FL) PROPOSED STORM DRAIN LINE (12" DIA. OR LESS) PROPOSED STORM DRAIN LINE (18" DIA. OR GREATER) EXISTING STORM DRAIN LINE (12" DIA. OR LESS) EXISTING STORM DRAIN LINE (18" DIA. OR GREATER) EXISTING ELEVATION PROPOSED ELEVATION EXISTING SLOPE PROPOSED SLOPE PROPOSED ADA PATH PROPOSED STREET LIGHT (STD. 1204) PROPOSED SIGN 2" A.C. GRIND & OVERLAY LIMITED USE AREA (LUA - STD. 1309)

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(200')

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABBREVIATIONS: AC  ASPHALT CONCRETE ASPHALT CONCRETE ACP  ASBESTOS CONCRETE PIPE ASBESTOS CONCRETE PIPE BDLG  BUILDING BUILDING BOT  BOTTOM BOTTOM C&G  CURB AND GUTTER CURB AND GUTTER CB  CATCH BASIN CATCH BASIN CF  CUBIC FEET CUBIC FEET CI  CAST IRON CAST IRON DI  DRAIN INLET DRAIN INLET EG  EXISTING GRADE EXISTING GRADE EX  EXISTING EXISTING FF  FINISH FLOOR FINISH FLOOR FG  FINISH GRADE FINISH GRADE FS  FINISH SURFACE FINISH SURFACE FW  FIREWATER FIREWATER GB  GRADE BREAK GRADE BREAK HP  HIGH POINT HIGH POINT INV  INVERT INVERT PROP PROPOSED PROPOSED LD  LOCAL DEPRESSION LOCAL DEPRESSION LP  LOW POINT LOW POINT MH  MANHOLE MANHOLE PCC  PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PL  PROPERTY LINE PROPERTY LINE PROP PROPOSED PROPOSED PVC  POLYVYNYL CHLORIDE POLYVYNYL CHLORIDE SD  STORM DRAIN STORM DRAIN SMH  SEWER MANHOLE SEWER MANHOLE SF  SQUARE FEET SQUARE FEET SS  SANITARY SEWER SANITARY SEWER STD  STANDARD STANDARD SW  SIDEWALK SIDEWALK TYP  TYPICAL TYPICAL TC  TOP OF CURB TOP OF CURB TG  TOP OF GRATE TOP OF GRATE VCP  VITRIFIED CLAY PIPEVITRIFIED CLAY PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(X.X%)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(77.00)XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
X.X%

AutoCAD SHX Text
77.00XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
DETAIL "A" SCALE: 1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIVIL ENGINEER TAIT & ASSOCIATES, INC 701 N. PARKCENTER DRIVE SANTA ANA, CA 92705 (714) 560-8200 CONTACT: MICHAEL P. SILVEY, PE ARCHITECT HPA ARCHITECTURE 18831 BARDEEN AVENUE, SUITE 100 IRVINE, CA 92612 (949) 863-1770 CONTACT: JOSEPH KIM 

AutoCAD SHX Text
GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GEOTECHNICAL 22885 SAVI RANCH PARKWAY, SUITE E YORBA LINDA, CA 92887 (714) 685-1115 CONTACT: ROBERT G. TRAZO, GE OWNER/DEVELOPER DPIF3 CA 40 LC AT 60 FREEWAY, LLC 530 TECHNOLOGY DRIVE IRVINE, CA 92618 (203) 597-7573 CONTACT: BRETT TEARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: THE LAND REFERRED TO HEREIN BELOW IS SITUATED IN THE CITY OF ONTARIO, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  PARCEL 1:   THE EASTERLY 125.4 FEET OF LOT 26, HOLDSWORTH RANCH, IN THE CITY OF ONTARIO, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN BOOK 12, PAGE 43 OF MAPS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY.   EXCEPT THE INTEREST IN THAT PORTION OF SAID LAND WHICH WAS GRANTED FOR STREET PURPOSES TO THE CITY OF ONTARIO, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, BY DEED RECORDED APRIL 6, 1959, IN BOOK 4781, PAGE 363, OFFICIAL RECORDS, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:   THE NORTHERLY 17 FEET OF THE EASTERLY 125.4 FEET OF LOT 26, HOLDSWORTH RANCH, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN BOOK 12, PAGE 43 OF MAPS, RECORDS OF SAID COUNTY.   PARCEL 2:   THE WEST 123.2 FEET OF LOT 25, HOLDSWORTH RANCH, IN THE CITY OF ONTARIO, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN BOOK 12, PAGE 43 OF MAPS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY.  EXCEPT THE INTEREST IN THE NORTH 17 FEET OF SAID LAND WHICH WAS GRANTED FOR STREET AND OTHER MUNICIPAL PURPOSES TO THE CITY OF ONTARIO, BY DEED RECORDED APRIL 8, 1959, IN BOOK 4784, PAGE 279, OFFICIAL RECORDS.   PARCEL 3:   THE EAST 250.8 FEET OF LOT 26, HOLDSWORTH RANCH, IN THE CITY OF ONTARIO, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER PLAT RECORDED IN BOOK 12 OF MAPS, PAGE 43, RECORDS OF SAID COUNTY.   EXCEPT THEREFROM THE EASTERLY 125.4 FEET, ALSO EXCEPT THE INTEREST IN THE NORTH 17 FEET OF SAID LAND WHICH WAS GRANTED FOR STREET AND OTHER MUNICIPAL PURPOSES TO THE CITY OF ONTARIO, BY DEED RECORDED MAY 7, 1959, IN BOOK 4812, PAGE 309, OFFICIAL RECORDS.   PARCEL 4:   THE EAST 376.2 FEET OF LOT 26, HOLDSWORTH RANCH, IN THE CITY OF ONTARIO, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER PLAT RECORDED IN BOOK 12 OF MAPS, PAGE 43, RECORDS OF SAID COUNTY.   EXCEPT THE EASTERLY 250.8 FEET OF LOT 26.   ALSO EXCEPT THE INTEREST IN THE NORTH 17 FEET OF SAID LAND WHICH WAS GRANTED FOR STREET AND OTHER MUNICIPAL PURPOSES TO THE CITY OF ONTARIO, BY DEED RECORDED APRIL 27, 1959, IN BOOK 4801, PAGE 47, OFFICIAL RECORDS. FOR CONVEYANCING PURPOSES ONLY: APN 0113-381-03-0-000 (AFFECTS PARCEL 4);  0113-381-04-0-000 (AFFECTS PARCEL 3);  0113-381-05-0-000 (AFFECTS PARCEL 1) AND  0113-381-06-0-000 (AFFECTS PARCEL 2)  

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDICATES SHOWN HEREON. NUMBERED ACCORDING TO THE ABOVE REFERENCED   PRELIMINARY TITLE REPORT. 1  ANY DEFECT, LIEN, ENCUMBRANCE, ADVERSE CLAIM, OR OTHER MATTER THAT APPEARS  ANY DEFECT, LIEN, ENCUMBRANCE, ADVERSE CLAIM, OR OTHER MATTER THAT APPEARS FOR THE FIRST TIME IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OR IS CREATED, ATTACHES, OR IS DISCLOSED BETWEEN THE COMMITMENT DATE AND THE DATE ON WHICH ALL OF THE SCHEDULE B, PART I-REQUIREMENTS ARE MET. 2 PROPERTY TAXES OR LIENS. PROPERTY TAXES OR LIENS. 3 ANY FACTS, RIGHTS, INTERESTS, OR CLAIMS THAT ARE NOT SHOWN BY THE PUBLIC ANY FACTS, RIGHTS, INTERESTS, OR CLAIMS THAT ARE NOT SHOWN BY THE PUBLIC RECORDS BUT THAT COULD BE ASCERTAINED BY AN INSPECTION OF THE LAND OR THAT MAY BE ASSERTED BY PERSONS IN POSSESSION OF THE LAND.  4 EASEMENTS, LIENS OR ENCUMBRANCES, OR CLAIMS THEREOF, NOT SHOWN BY THE EASEMENTS, LIENS OR ENCUMBRANCES, OR CLAIMS THEREOF, NOT SHOWN BY THE PUBLIC RECORDS.  5 ANY ENCROACHMENT, ENCUMBRANCE, VIOLATION, VARIATION, OR ADVERSE ANY ENCROACHMENT, ENCUMBRANCE, VIOLATION, VARIATION, OR ADVERSE CIRCUMSTANCE AFFECTING THE TITLE THAT WOULD BE DISCLOSED BY AN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE LAND SURVEY OF THE LAND AND NOT SHOWN BY THE PUBLIC  RECORDS.  6 (a) UNPATENTED MINING CLAIMS; (b) RESERVATIONS OR EXCEPTIONS IN PATENTS OR IN (a) UNPATENTED MINING CLAIMS; (b) RESERVATIONS OR EXCEPTIONS IN PATENTS OR IN ACTS AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE THEREOF; (c) WATER RIGHTS, CLAIMS OR TITLE TO  WATER, WHETHER OR NOT THE MATTERS EXCEPTED UNDER (a), (b), OR (c) ARE SHOWN BY THE PUBLIC RECORDS. 7-8 GENERAL, SPECIAL AND SUPPLEMENTAL TAXES.  GENERAL, SPECIAL AND SUPPLEMENTAL TAXES.  9 AN EASEMENT FOR RAILROAD RIGHT OF WAY, INGRESS, EGRESS AND PUBLIC UTILITIES AN EASEMENT FOR RAILROAD RIGHT OF WAY, INGRESS, EGRESS AND PUBLIC UTILITIES AND INCIDENTAL PURPOSES RECORDED JANUARY 20, 1958 AS BOOK 4416, PAGE 542, O.R. 10 THIS ITEM HAS BEEN INTENTIONALLY DELETED. THIS ITEM HAS BEEN INTENTIONALLY DELETED. 11 AN EASEMENT FOR RAILROAD RIGHT OF WAY, INGRESS, EGRESS AND PUBLIC UTILITIES AN EASEMENT FOR RAILROAD RIGHT OF WAY, INGRESS, EGRESS AND PUBLIC UTILITIES AND INCIDENTAL PURPOSES RECORDED JANUARY 20, 1958 AS BOOK 4416, PAGE 544, O.R. 12 THIS ITEM HAS BEEN INTENTIONALLY DELETED. THIS ITEM HAS BEEN INTENTIONALLY DELETED. 13 AN EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF EWING AND ISLER, INCORPORATED, FOR INGRESS, EGRESS AN EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF EWING AND ISLER, INCORPORATED, FOR INGRESS, EGRESS AND PUBLIC UTILITIES AND INCIDENTAL PURPOSES RECORDED NOVEMBER 14, 1958 AS BOOK 4654, PAGE 298, O.R. 14 AN EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF THE CITY OF ONTARIO, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, FOR AN EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF THE CITY OF ONTARIO, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, FOR RAILROAD AND INCIDENTAL PURPOSES RECORDED JULY 20, 1959 AS BOOK 4879, PAGE 426, O.R. 15 AN EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF THE CITY OF ONTARIO, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, FOR AN EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF THE CITY OF ONTARIO, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, FOR RAILROAD AND INCIDENTAL PURPOSES RECORDED JULY 20, 1959 AS BOOK 4879, PAGE 427, O.R. 16 AN EASEMENT FOR RAILROAD AND INCIDENTAL PURPOSES RECORDED AUGUST 24, 1959 AN EASEMENT FOR RAILROAD AND INCIDENTAL PURPOSES RECORDED AUGUST 24, 1959 AS BOOK 4910, PAGE 455, O.R. 17 AN EASEMENT FOR RAILROAD AND INCIDENTAL PURPOSES RECORDED AUGUST 24, 1959 AN EASEMENT FOR RAILROAD AND INCIDENTAL PURPOSES RECORDED AUGUST 24, 1959 AS BOOK 4910, PAGE 456, O.R. 18 A DEED OF TRUST RECORDED FEBRUARY 3, 1982 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 1982-22482, A DEED OF TRUST RECORDED FEBRUARY 3, 1982 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 1982-22482, O.R. 19 A DEED OF TRUST RECORDED FEBRUARY 3, 1982 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 1982-22483, A DEED OF TRUST RECORDED FEBRUARY 3, 1982 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 1982-22483, O.R. 20 A DEED OF TRUST RECORDED JULY 6, 1995 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 1995-229937, O.R. A DEED OF TRUST RECORDED JULY 6, 1995 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 1995-229937, O.R. 21 A DEED OF TRUST RECORDED FEBRUARY 27, 2003 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 2003-128592, A DEED OF TRUST RECORDED FEBRUARY 27, 2003 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 2003-128592, O.R. MODIFICATION OF DEED RECORDED JANUARY 19, 2006 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 2006-38698, O.R. MODIFICATION OF DEED RECORDED DECEMBER 27, 2001 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 2011-544705, O.R. DEED OF TRUST RECORDED NOVEMBER 12, 2020 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 2020-0451949, O.R. 22 ANY FACTS, RIGHTS, INTERESTS OR CLAIMS WHICH WOULD BE DISCLOSED BY A ANY FACTS, RIGHTS, INTERESTS OR CLAIMS WHICH WOULD BE DISCLOSED BY A CORRECT ALTA/NSPS SURVEY. 23 WATER RIGHTS, CLAIMS OR TITLE TO WATER, WHETHER OR NOT SHOWN BY THE PUBLIC WATER RIGHTS, CLAIMS OR TITLE TO WATER, WHETHER OR NOT SHOWN BY THE PUBLIC RECORDS. 24 RIGHTS OF PARTIES IN POSSESSION. RIGHTS OF PARTIES IN POSSESSION. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TITLE EXCEPTIONS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
TITLE REPORT: TITLE COMPANY:  FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY  FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY  TITLE ORDER NO. : NCS-1143628-ONT1 NCS-1143628-ONT1 COMMITMENT DATE: AUGUST 02, 2022, AMENDED SEPTEMBER 2, 2022 AUGUST 02, 2022, AMENDED SEPTEMBER 2, 2022 TITLE OFFICER:  LIZ THYMIUS / NVART HOVSEPIAN LIZ THYMIUS / NVART HOVSEPIAN E-MAIL:     FACA-RA-TeamThymius@firstam.com FACA-RA-TeamThymius@firstam.com 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT CONTACT LIST:

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES: 1. SITE PLAN SHALL MEET ALL ENGINEERING & NPDES REQUIREMENTS. SITE PLAN SHALL MEET ALL ENGINEERING & NPDES REQUIREMENTS. 2. SITE IS NOT SUBJECT TO STORMWATER RUN-ON. SITE IS NOT SUBJECT TO STORMWATER RUN-ON. 3. ROOF DRAINS DO NOT DIRECTLY DISCHARGE OFF-SITE.ROOF DRAINS DO NOT DIRECTLY DISCHARGE OFF-SITE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED EARTHWORK QUANTITIES: CUT     24,000 CY  24,000 CY FILL     19,100 CY  19,100 CY NET EXPORT            4,900 CY (CUT)           4,900 CY (CUT) NOTE: THE QUANTITIES AS SHOWN HEREON ARE FOR PERMIT AND/OR BONDING PURPOSES ONLY. THE GRADING CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFICATION OF QUANTITIES PRIOR TO THE START OF GRADING AND ACCOUNT FOR DISTRIBUTING ANY EXCESS MATERIAL OR SUPPLYING AND DEFICIENCIES TO BRING SITE TO DESIGN GRADE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. C58651

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE NOTES: 1. LANDSCAPE AREAS WHERE COMPACTION HAS OCCURRED DUE TO GRADING LANDSCAPE AREAS WHERE COMPACTION HAS OCCURRED DUE TO GRADING ACTIVITIES AND WHERE TREES OR STORMWATER INFILTRATION AREAS ARE LOCATED SHALL BE LOOSENED BY SOIL FRACTURING. FOR TREES, A 12"X12"X18" DEEP AREA; FOR STORMWATER INFILTRATION, THE ENTIRE AREA SHALL BE LOOSENED. ADD THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION ON THE PLANS: THE BACKHOE METHOD OF SOIL FRACTURING SHALL BE USED TO BREAK UP COMPACTION. A 4" LAYER OF COMPOST IS SPREAD OVER THE SOIL SURFACE BEFORE FRACTURING IS BEGUN. THE BACKHOE SHALL DIG INTO THE SOIL LIFTING AND THEN DROP THE SOIL IMMEDIATELY BACK INTO THE HOLE. THE BUCKET THEN MOVES TO THE ADJACENT SOIL AND REPEATS. THE COMPOST FALLS INTO THE SPACES BETWEEN THE SOIL CHUNKS CREATED. FRACTURING SHALL LEAVE THE SOIL SURFACE QUITE ROUGH WITH LARGE SOIL CLODS. THESE MUST BE BROKEN BY ADDITIONAL TILLING. TILLING IN MORE COMPOST TO THE SURFACE AFTER FRACTURING PER THE SOIL REPORT WILL HELP CREATE AN A HORIZON SOIL. IMPORTED OR REUSED TOPSOIL CAN BE ADDED ON TOP OF THE FRACTURED SOIL AS NEEDED FOR GRADING. THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL BE PRESENT DURING THIS PROCESS AND PROVIDE CERTIFICATION OF THE SOIL FRACTURING. FOR ADDITIONAL REFERENCE, SEE URBAN TREE FOUNDATION – PLANTING SOIL SPECIFICATIONS.  PLANTING SOIL SPECIFICATIONS. 2. COMPACTION TO BE NO GREATER THAN 85% IN LANDSCAPE AREAS. ALL FINISHED COMPACTION TO BE NO GREATER THAN 85% IN LANDSCAPE AREAS. ALL FINISHED GRADES AT 1 " BELOW FINISHED SURFACES. SLOPES TO BE MAXIMUM 3:1.12" BELOW FINISHED SURFACES. SLOPES TO BE MAXIMUM 3:1.



2 OF 3

PRELIMINARY GRADING
& DRAINAGE PLAN

Owner:

Project:

Consultants:

Project Number:

Revision:

Date:

Drawn by:

Title:

Sheet:

SP8995
AG

1/4/2023

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA

DPIF3 CA 40 LC AT
60 FREEWAY LLC

O
ra

ng
e 

C
ou

nt
y

Sa
n 

Lu
is 

O
bi

sp
o

Sa
cr

am
en

to
Ri

ve
rs

id
e

D
en

ve
r

Bo
ise

D
al

la
s

A
tla

nt
a

70
1 

N
or

th
 P

ar
kc

en
te

r D
riv

e
Sa

nt
a 

A
na

, C
A

 9
27

05

p:
 7

14
.5

60
.8

20
0

w
w

w
.ta

it.
co

m

Si
nc

e 
19

64

EN
G

IN
EE

RI
NG

   
EN

VI
RO

NM
EN

TA
L  

 B
UI

LD
IN

G
   

LA
ND

AS
SO

C
IA

TE
S

&

FO
R 

RE
VI

EW
 O

NL
Y 

- N
OT

 F
OR

 C
ON

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

FOR REVIEW ONLY

NOT   F
OR

CONSTRUCTION

1600 EAST FRANCIS ST

PL
AN

S 
PR

EP
AR

ED
 B

Y:

530 Technology Drive, Suite 100
Irvine, CA  92618

C I V I L
STRUCTURAL
MECHANICAL
PLUMBING
ELECTRICAL
LANDSCAPE

SOILS ENGINEER
FIRE PROTECTION

-
HUNTER

-

Southern California

TAIT

-

-

Geotechnical

-

Dev. Plan App. #1             10/24/22

12/21/22Dev. Plan App. #2             

Item E - 2064 of 2173

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
5% MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2%

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. R/W PROP. RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FF SLOPES FROM NORTH TO SOUTH @ 0.5% 867.50FF TO 864.79FF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. G.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. G.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
±12%

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. AC PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
E FRANCIS STREET (EASTBOUND)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION "A-A" SCALE: N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. C/L

AutoCAD SHX Text
5% MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
FF SLOPES FROM NORTH TO SOUTH @ 0.5% 867.50FF TO 864.79FF

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.8%

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1.5%

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. A.C. PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CONC. GRAVITY WALL W/NEW WROUGHT IRON FENCE ABOVE. APPROX. 2' MAX. RETAIN HEIGHT & 8' MAX. FENCE HEIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
±5%

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION "B-B" SCALE: N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
FF SLOPES FROM NORTH TO SOUTH @ 0.5% 867.50FF TO 864.79FF

AutoCAD SHX Text
5% MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. A.C. PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CONC. WALL W/CMU SCREEN WALL ABOVE APPROX. 3' MAX. RETAIN HEIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION "C-C" SCALE: N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5% MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1.5%

AutoCAD SHX Text
±2%

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
FF SLOPES FROM NORTH TO SOUTH @ 0.5% 867.50FF TO 864.79FF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION "D-D" SCALE: N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FF SLOPES FROM NORTH TO SOUTH @ 0.5% 867.50FF TO 864.79FF

AutoCAD SHX Text
±2%

AutoCAD SHX Text
±2%

AutoCAD SHX Text
±5%

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1%

AutoCAD SHX Text
2%

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1%

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. G.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. F.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. G.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION "E-E" SCALE: N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5% MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FF SLOPES FROM NORTH TO SOUTH @ 0.5% 867.50FF TO 864.79FF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
±0.5%

AutoCAD SHX Text
4:1 MAX.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION "F-F" SCALE: N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CMU RETAIN WALL APPROX. 4' MAX. RETAIN HEIGHT W/SECURITY FENCE ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. CONC. LOW-WALL W/RETAIN HEIGHT OF 1' MAX.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOIN EX. F.S. ELVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
±1%

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. F.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. G.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. G.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
±2%

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. C58651

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A



PA
R

C
EL

 4

PARCEL 3 PARCEL 1

PA
R

C
EL

 2

Owner:

Project:

Consultants:

Project Number:

Revision:

Date:

Drawn by:

Title:

Sheet:

SP8995
AG

1/4/2023

1600 East Francis Street
Ontario, CA

DPIF3 CA 40 LC AT
60 FREEWAY LLC

O
ra

ng
e 

C
ou

nt
y

Sa
n 

Lu
is 

O
bi

sp
o

Sa
cr

am
en

to
Ri

ve
rs

id
e

D
en

ve
r

Bo
ise

D
al

la
s

A
tla

nt
a

70
1 

N
or

th
 P

ar
kc

en
te

r D
riv

e
Sa

nt
a 

A
na

, C
A

 9
27

05

p:
 7

14
.5

60
.8

20
0

w
w

w
.ta

it.
co

m

Si
nc

e 
19

64

EN
G

IN
EE

RI
NG

   
EN

VI
RO

NM
EN

TA
L  

 B
UI

LD
IN

G
   

LA
ND

AS
SO

C
IA

TE
S

&

FO
R 

RE
VI

EW
 O

NL
Y 

- N
OT

 F
OR

 C
ON

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

FOR REVIEW ONLY

NOT   F
OR

CONSTRUCTION

1600 EAST FRANCIS ST

PL
AN

S 
PR

EP
AR

ED
 B

Y:

530 Technology Drive, Suite 100
Irvine, CA  92618

C I V I L
STRUCTURAL
MECHANICAL
PLUMBING
ELECTRICAL
LANDSCAPE

SOILS ENGINEER
FIRE PROTECTION

-
HUNTER

-

Southern California

TAIT

-

-

Geotechnical

-

Dev. Plan App. #1             10/24/22

12/21/22Dev. Plan App. #2             

LEGEND:

ABBREVIATIONS:

VICINITY MAP
NOT TO SCALE

N

SITE

S 
VI

N
EY

AR
D

 A
VE

N
U

E

60 FREEWAY

S 
G

R
O

VE
 A

VE
N

U
E

E PHILADELPHIA STREET

E FRANCIS STREET

S 
BA

KE
R

 A
VE

N
U

E

S 
PA

R
C

O
 A

VE
N

U
E

E CEDAR STREET

CITY OF ONTARIO, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CONCEPTUAL UTILITIES SYSTEMS MAP
PREPARED FOR:

DPIF3 CA 40 LC AT 60 FREEWAY LLC
530 TECHNOLOGY DRIVE, SUITE 100

IRVINE, CA 92618

N

3 OF 3

CONCEPTUAL UTILITIES
SYSTEMS MAP

NOTE:

Item E - 2065 of 2173

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
EV CHARGING ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO

AutoCAD SHX Text
EV CHARGING ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EV CHARGING ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EV CHARGING ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
(850.65)INV JOIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
854.00INV FF-10.78'

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 0113-381-04-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1524 E FRANCIS ST ONTARIO, CA 91761 OWNER: DHI FRANCIS LLC APN: 0113-381-02-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 0113-381-03-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 0113-381-05-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 0113-381-06-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1916 S AUGUSTA AVE ONTARIO, CA 91761 OWNER: THREE SISTERS COMMERCIAL LLC APN: 0113-601-03-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1912 S AUGUSTA AVE ONTARIO, CA 91761 OWNER: SANG CHOL AN APN: 0113-601-04-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1601 S FREMONT CT ONTARIO, CA 91761 OWNER: ANGELINA KIRKPATRICK/   EXEMPTION TRUST APN: 0113-601-20-0000

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
(867.25)SMH RIM (850.95)INV

AutoCAD SHX Text
(867.57)SMH RIM (850.25)INV

AutoCAD SHX Text
FF SLOPES FROM NORTH TO SOUTH @ 0.5% 867.50FF TO 864.78FF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. R/W & P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. P.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONNECT TO EXISTING 30" SEWER AND INSTALL NEW 6" SEWER LATERAL W/WYE CONNECTION (S=2.0% MIN.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 3" DOMESTIC WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 8" FIRE WATER LATERAL TO PIV & RISER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 8" FIRE WATER LATERAL TO PIV & RISER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 8" FIRE WATER LATERAL TO PIV & RISER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 6" FIRE 6" FIRE WATER LATERAL TO HYDRANT PER CITY STD. 4111 (PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 6" FIRE WATER LATERAL TO HYDRANT PER CITY STD. 4111 (PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSTALL CUT IN TEE TO CONNECT TO EXISTING 12" WATER AND INSTALL NEW 10" FIREWATER SERVICE W/DCDA PER CITY STD. 4208 & FDC

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 12" CMLWS WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 30" VCP SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 6" GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 2" GAS SERVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ELEC

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 8" FIRE WATER LATERAL TO PIV & RISER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 10" FIRE WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 10" FIRE WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 10" FIRE WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 10" FIRE WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 10" FIRE WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 10" FIRE WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. SEWER M.H. MONITORING STATION PER CITY STD. 2205

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW 2" IRRIGATION SERVICE LINE W/METER PER CITY STD. 4202 & BACKFLOW PER CITY STD. 4206

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. IRRIGATION POC. SEE LANDSCAPE PLANS FOR CONTINUATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 6" FIRE WATER 6" FIRE WATER LATERAL TO HYDRANT PER CITY STD. 4111 (PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
UPGRADE EXISTING 6" FIRE HYDRANT TO CITY STD. 4111 (PUBLIC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.  6" FIRE WATER  6" FIRE WATER LATERAL TO HYDRANT PER CITY STD. 4111 (PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ELEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING TELE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. DIVERSION MANHOLE W/WEIR STRUCTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. UNDERGROUND INFILTRATION CHAMBERS W/OPEN BOTTOM (APPROX. 46,800 CF: TREATMENT+DETENTION)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED HYDRODYNAMIC SEPARATOR (PRE-TREATMENT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 24" STORM DRAIN TO TREATMENT/STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 12" STORM DRAIN TO PUMP (PEAK-FLOW)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 24" STORM DRAIN TO PRE-TREATMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 24" STORM DRAIN TO DIVERSION MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. SD CLEAN OUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. C.B., L.D., & 18" S.D. LATERAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 18" S.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 18" S.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 10" S.D. FORCE MAIN TO DISCHARGE TO PARKWAY DRAIN AND THROUGH STREET CURB FACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. C.B., L.D., & 18" S.D. LATERAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 3' WIDE PARKWAY DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. PUMP DISCHARGE FLOW RATE OF 2 CFS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 12" S.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. S.D. CLEAN OUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 48"x48" PRE-CAST DROP INLET W/TRAFFIC RATED GRATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. S.D. M.H.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 6" FIRE WATER 6" FIRE WATER LATERAL TO HYDRANT PER CITY STD. 4111 (PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CUT AND CAP EX. GAS SERVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. THRUST BLOCK PER CITY STD. 4004 (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. S.L. W/SMART NODE PER CITY STD. 5101-TYPE C & CITY APPROVED MATERIAL LIST (AML) LED LUMINAIRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 6" FIRE 6" FIRE WATER LATERAL TO HYDRANT PER CITY STD. 4111 (PRIVATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. THRUST BLOCK PER CITY STD. 4004 (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. 18" STORM DRAIN TO PRE-TREATMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABANDON EXISTING 2" WATER SERVICE AND  CONSTRUCT NEW 2" DOMESTIC WATER SERVICE WITH NEW 2" METER PER CITY STD. 4202 AND BACKFLOW PREVENTOR PER CITY STD. 4206

AutoCAD SHX Text
E FRANCIS STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. FIBER OPTIC (APPROX. LOCATION)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. TRANSFORMER

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSTALL CUT IN TEE TO CONNECT TO EXISTING 12" WATER AND INSTALL NEW 10" FIREWATER SERVICE W/DCDA PER CITY STD. 4208 & FDC

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. S.L. W/SMART NODE PER CITY STD. 5101-TYPE C & CITY APPROVED MATERIAL LIST (AML) LED LUMINAIRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. C58651

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE ( )/RIGHT-OF-WAY (R/W) EASEMENT CENTER LINE ( ) FLOW (FL) PROPOSED SEWER LINE PROPOSED POTABLE WATER LINE PROPOSED IRRIGATION WATER LINE PROPOSED FIREWATER LINE PROPOSED STORM DRAIN LINE (12" DIA. OR LESS) PROPOSED STORM DRAIN LINE (18" DIA. OR GREATER) PROPOSED FIBER OPTIC CONDUIT LINE EXISTING SEWER LINE EXISTING POTABLE WATER LINE EXISTING FIREWATER LINE EXISTING STORM DRAIN LINE (12" DIA. OR LESS) EXISTING STORM DRAIN LINE (18" DIA. OR GREATER) EXISTING TELE./ELEC. EXISTING GAS EXISTING ELEVATION PROPOSED ELEVATION SEWER CLEANOUT BACKFLOW PREVENTOR WATER METER FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION DOUBLE DETECTOR CHECK ASSEMBLY POST INDICATOR VALVE FIRE RISER FIRE HYDRANT GATE VALVE THRUST BLOCK STREETLIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AC  ASPHALT CONCRETE ASPHALT CONCRETE ACP  ASBESTOS CONCRETE PIPE ASBESTOS CONCRETE PIPE BDLG  BUILDING BUILDING C&G  CURB AND GUTTER CURB AND GUTTER CB  CATCH BASIN CATCH BASIN CI  CAST IRON CAST IRON DI  DRAIN INLET DRAIN INLET EX  EXISTING EXISTING FF  FINISH FLOOR FINISH FLOOR FG  FINISH GRADE FINISH GRADE FS  FINISH SURFACE FINISH SURFACE FW  FIREWATER FIREWATER HP  HIGH POINT HIGH POINT INV  INVERT INVERT PROP PROPOSED PROPOSED LP  LOW POINT LOW POINT PCC  PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PROP PROPOSED PROPOSED PVC  POLYVYNYL CHLORIDE POLYVYNYL CHLORIDE SD  STORM DRAIN STORM DRAIN SMH  SEWER MANHOLE SEWER MANHOLE SF  SQUARE FEET SQUARE FEET SL  STREET LIGHT STREET LIGHT SS  SANITARY SEWER SANITARY SEWER SW  SIDEWALK SIDEWALK TYP  TYPICAL TYPICAL TC  TOP OF CURB TOP OF CURB TG  TOP OF GRATE TOP OF GRATE VCP  VITRIFIED CLAY PIPEVITRIFIED CLAY PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(77.00)XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
77.00XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1" = 30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE CONCEPTUAL UTILITIES SYSTEM MAP IS NOT CONSIDERED FINAL DESIGN OR FOR CONSTRUCTION AND MAY CHANGE DURING THE DESIGN PHASE.



Advanced Drainage Systems, Inc.

FOR STORMTECH
INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS

VISIT OUR  APP

SiteAssist

IMPORTANT - NOTES FOR THE BIDDING AND INSTALLATION OF MC-7200 CHAMBER SYSTEM
1. STORMTECH MC-7200 CHAMBERS SHALL NOT BE INSTALLED UNTIL THE MANUFACTURER'S REPRESENTATIVE HAS COMPLETED A

PRE-CONSTRUCTION MEETING WITH THE INSTALLERS.

2. STORMTECH MC-7200 CHAMBERS SHALL BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE "STORMTECH MC-7200 CONSTRUCTION GUIDE".

3. CHAMBERS ARE NOT TO BE BACKFILLED WITH A DOZER OR EXCAVATOR SITUATED OVER THE CHAMBERS.
STORMTECH RECOMMENDS 3 BACKFILL METHODS:
· STONESHOOTER LOCATED OFF THE CHAMBER BED.
· BACKFILL AS ROWS ARE BUILT USING AN EXCAVATOR ON THE FOUNDATION STONE OR SUBGRADE.
· BACKFILL FROM OUTSIDE THE EXCAVATION USING A LONG BOOM HOE OR EXCAVATOR.

4. THE FOUNDATION STONE SHALL BE LEVELED AND COMPACTED PRIOR TO PLACING CHAMBERS.

5. JOINTS BETWEEN CHAMBERS SHALL BE PROPERLY SEATED PRIOR TO PLACING STONE.

6. MAINTAIN MINIMUM - 9" (230 mm) SPACING BETWEEN THE CHAMBER ROWS.

7. INLET AND OUTLET MANIFOLDS MUST BE INSERTED A MINIMUM OF 12" (300 mm) INTO CHAMBER END CAPS.

8. EMBEDMENT STONE SURROUNDING CHAMBERS MUST BE A CLEAN, CRUSHED, ANGULAR STONE MEETING THE AASHTO M43 DESIGNATION OF #3
OR #4.

9. STONE SHALL BE BROUGHT UP EVENLY AROUND CHAMBERS SO AS NOT TO DISTORT THE CHAMBER SHAPE. STONE DEPTHS SHOULD NEVER
DIFFER BY MORE THAN 12" (300 mm) BETWEEN ADJACENT CHAMBER ROWS.

10. STONE MUST BE PLACED ON THE TOP CENTER OF THE CHAMBER TO ANCHOR THE CHAMBERS IN PLACE AND PRESERVE ROW SPACING.

11. THE CONTRACTOR MUST REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES WITH CHAMBER FOUNDATION MATERIAL BEARING CAPACITIES TO THE SITE DESIGN
ENGINEER.

12. ADS RECOMMENDS THE USE OF "FLEXSTORM CATCH IT" INSERTS DURING CONSTRUCTION FOR ALL INLETS TO PROTECT THE SUBSURFACE
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM FROM CONSTRUCTION SITE RUNOFF.

NOTES FOR CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT
1. STORMTECH MC-7200 CHAMBERS SHALL BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE "STORMTECH MC-7200 CONSTRUCTION GUIDE".

2. THE USE OF EQUIPMENT OVER MC-7200 CHAMBERS IS LIMITED:
· NO EQUIPMENT IS ALLOWED ON BARE CHAMBERS.
· NO RUBBER TIRED LOADER, DUMP TRUCK, OR EXCAVATORS ARE ALLOWED UNTIL PROPER FILL DEPTHS ARE REACHED IN ACCORDANCE

WITH THE "STORMTECH MC-3500/MC-7200 CONSTRUCTION GUIDE".
· WEIGHT LIMITS FOR CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT CAN BE FOUND IN THE "STORMTECH MC-7200 CONSTRUCTION GUIDE".

3. FULL 36" (900 mm) OF STABILIZED COVER MATERIALS OVER THE CHAMBERS IS REQUIRED FOR DUMP TRUCK TRAVEL OR DUMPING.

USE OF A DOZER TO PUSH EMBEDMENT STONE BETWEEN THE ROWS OF CHAMBERS MAY CAUSE DAMAGE TO CHAMBERS AND IS NOT AN ACCEPTABLE
BACKFILL METHOD. ANY CHAMBERS DAMAGED BY USING THE "DUMP AND PUSH" METHOD ARE NOT COVERED UNDER THE STORMTECH STANDARD
WARRANTY.

CONTACT STORMTECH AT 1-888-892-2694 WITH ANY QUESTIONS ON INSTALLATION REQUIREMENTS OR WEIGHT LIMITS FOR CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT.

MC-7200 STORMTECH CHAMBER SPECIFICATIONS
1. CHAMBERS SHALL BE STORMTECH MC-7200.

2. CHAMBERS SHALL BE ARCH-SHAPED AND SHALL BE MANUFACTURED FROM VIRGIN, IMPACT-MODIFIED POLYPROPYLENE
COPOLYMERS.

3. CHAMBERS SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM F2418, "STANDARD SPECIFICATION FOR POLYPROPYLENE (PP) CORRUGATED
WALL STORMWATER COLLECTION CHAMBERS" CHAMBER CLASSIFICATION 60x101.

4. CHAMBER ROWS SHALL PROVIDE CONTINUOUS, UNOBSTRUCTED INTERNAL SPACE WITH NO INTERNAL SUPPORTS THAT WOULD
IMPEDE FLOW OR LIMIT ACCESS FOR INSPECTION.

5. THE STRUCTURAL DESIGN OF THE CHAMBERS, THE STRUCTURAL BACKFILL, AND THE INSTALLATION REQUIREMENTS SHALL ENSURE
THAT THE LOAD FACTORS SPECIFIED IN THE AASHTO LRFD BRIDGE DESIGN SPECIFICATIONS, SECTION 12.12, ARE MET FOR: 1)
LONG-DURATION DEAD LOADS AND 2) SHORT-DURATION LIVE LOADS, BASED ON THE AASHTO DESIGN TRUCK WITH CONSIDERATION
FOR IMPACT AND MULTIPLE VEHICLE PRESENCES.

6. CHAMBERS SHALL BE DESIGNED, TESTED AND ALLOWABLE LOAD CONFIGURATIONS DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM F2787,
"STANDARD PRACTICE FOR STRUCTURAL DESIGN OF THERMOPLASTIC CORRUGATED WALL STORMWATER COLLECTION CHAMBERS".
LOAD CONFIGURATIONS SHALL INCLUDE: 1) INSTANTANEOUS (<1 MIN) AASHTO DESIGN TRUCK LIVE LOAD ON MINIMUM COVER 2)
MAXIMUM PERMANENT (75-YR) COVER LOAD AND 3) ALLOWABLE COVER WITH PARKED (1-WEEK)  AASHTO DESIGN TRUCK.

7. REQUIREMENTS FOR HANDLING AND INSTALLATION:
· TO MAINTAIN THE WIDTH OF CHAMBERS DURING SHIPPING AND HANDLING, CHAMBERS SHALL HAVE INTEGRAL, INTERLOCKING

STACKING LUGS.
· TO ENSURE A SECURE JOINT DURING INSTALLATION AND BACKFILL, THE HEIGHT OF THE CHAMBER JOINT SHALL NOT BE LESS

THAN 3”.
· TO ENSURE THE INTEGRITY OF THE ARCH SHAPE DURING INSTALLATION, a) THE ARCH STIFFNESS CONSTANT SHALL BE

GREATER THAN OR EQUAL TO 450 LBS/FT/%. THE ASC IS DEFINED IN SECTION 6.2.8 OF ASTM F2418. AND b) TO RESIST CHAMBER
DEFORMATION DURING INSTALLATION AT ELEVATED TEMPERATURES (ABOVE 73° F / 23° C), CHAMBERS SHALL BE PRODUCED
FROM REFLECTIVE GOLD OR YELLOW COLORS.

8. ONLY CHAMBERS THAT ARE APPROVED BY THE SITE DESIGN ENGINEER WILL BE ALLOWED. UPON REQUEST BY THE SITE DESIGN
ENGINEER OR OWNER, THE CHAMBER MANUFACTURER SHALL SUBMIT A STRUCTURAL EVALUATION FOR APPROVAL BEFORE
DELIVERING CHAMBERS TO THE PROJECT SITE AS FOLLOWS:
· THE STRUCTURAL EVALUATION SHALL BE SEALED BY A REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER.
· THE STRUCTURAL EVALUATION SHALL DEMONSTRATE THAT THE SAFETY FACTORS ARE GREATER THAN OR EQUAL TO 1.95 FOR

DEAD LOAD AND 1.75 FOR LIVE LOAD, THE MINIMUM REQUIRED BY ASTM F2787 AND BY SECTIONS 3 AND 12.12 OF THE AASHTO
LRFD BRIDGE DESIGN SPECIFICATIONS FOR THERMOPLASTIC PIPE.

· THE TEST DERIVED CREEP MODULUS AS SPECIFIED IN ASTM F2418 SHALL BE USED FOR PERMANENT DEAD LOAD DESIGN
EXCEPT THAT IT SHALL BE THE 75-YEAR MODULUS USED FOR DESIGN.

9. CHAMBERS AND END CAPS SHALL BE PRODUCED AT AN ISO 9001 CERTIFIED MANUFACTURING FACILITY.

©2022 ADS, INC.

PROJECT INFORMATION

ADS SALES REP

PROJECT NO.

ENGINEERED PRODUCT
MANAGER

SP8995
ONTARIO, CA

Item E - 2066 of 2173



S
to
rm

T
ec

h

88
8-

89
2-

26
94

 |
 W

W
W

.S
TO

R
M

TE
C

H
.C

O
M

®

C
ha

m
be

r S
ys

te
m

46
40

 T
R

U
EM

AN
 B

LV
D

H
IL

LI
AR

D
, O

H
  4

30
26

1-
80

0-
73

3-
74

73

D
AT

E:
 

D
R

AW
N

: R
H

PR
O

JE
C

T 
#:

 
C

H
EC

KE
D

: N
/A

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 H

AS
 B

EE
N

 P
R

EP
AR

ED
 B

AS
ED

 O
N

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 P

R
O

VI
D

ED
 T

O
 A

D
S 

U
N

D
ER

 T
H

E 
D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
 O

F 
TH

E 
SI

TE
 D

ES
IG

N
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
 O

R
 O

TH
ER

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

R
EP

R
ES

EN
TA

TI
VE

. T
H

E 
SI

TE
 D

ES
IG

N
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
 S

H
AL

L 
R

EV
IE

W
 T

H
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 P

R
IO

R
 T

O
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N
. I

T 
IS

 T
H

E 
U

LT
IM

AT
E

R
ES

PO
N

SI
BI

LI
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

SI
TE

 D
ES

IG
N

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

 T
O

 E
N

SU
R

E 
TH

AT
 T

H
E 

PR
O

D
U

C
T(

S)
 D

EP
IC

TE
D

 A
N

D
 A

LL
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
D

 D
ET

AI
LS

 M
EE

T 
AL

L 
AP

PL
IC

AB
LE

 L
AW

S,
 R

EG
U

LA
TI

O
N

S,
 A

N
D

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

R
EQ

U
IR

EM
EN

TS
.

D
AT

E
D

R
W

C
H

K
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N

SP
89

95
O

N
TA

R
IO

, C
A

SHEET

OF2 5

NOTES
• MANIFOLD SIZE TO BE DETERMINED BY SITE DESIGN ENGINEER. SEE TECH NOTE #6.32 FOR MANIFOLD SIZING GUIDANCE.
• DUE TO THE ADAPTATION OF THIS CHAMBER SYSTEM TO SPECIFIC SITE AND DESIGN CONSTRAINTS, IT MAY BE NECESSARY TO CUT AND COUPLE ADDITIONAL PIPE TO STANDARD MANIFOLD
COMPONENTS IN THE FIELD.
• THE SITE DESIGN ENGINEER MUST REVIEW ELEVATIONS AND IF NECESSARY ADJUST GRADING TO ENSURE THE CHAMBER COVER REQUIREMENTS ARE MET.
• THIS CHAMBER SYSTEM WAS DESIGNED WITHOUT SITE-SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON SOIL CONDITIONS OR BEARING CAPACITY. THE SITE DESIGN ENGINEER IS RESPONSIBLE FOR
DETERMINING
THE SUITABILITY OF THE SOIL AND PROVIDING THE BEARING CAPACITY OF THE INSITU SOILS. THE BASE STONE DEPTH MAY BE INCREASED OR DECREASED ONCE THIS INFORMATION IS
PROVIDED.
• NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION: THIS LAYOUT IS FOR DIMENSIONAL PURPOSES ONLY TO PROVE CONCEPT & THE REQUIRED STORAGE VOLUME CAN BE ACHIEVED ON SITE.

CONCEPTUAL ELEVATIONS
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE GRADE (TOP OF PAVEMENT/UNPAVED): 13.75
MINIMUM ALLOWABLE GRADE (UNPAVED WITH TRAFFIC): 9.25
MINIMUM ALLOWABLE GRADE (UNPAVED NO TRAFFIC): 8.75
MINIMUM ALLOWABLE GRADE (TOP OF RIGID CONCRETE PAVEMENT): 8.75
MINIMUM ALLOWABLE GRADE (BASE OF FLEXIBLE PAVEMENT): 8.75
TOP OF STONE: 7.75
TOP OF MC-7200 CHAMBER: 6.75
24" x 24" BOTTOM MANIFOLD INVERT: 1.94
24" ISOLATOR ROW PLUS INVERT: 1.94
BOTTOM OF MC-7200 CHAMBER: 1.75
BOTTOM OF STONE: 0.00

PROPOSED LAYOUT
152 STORMTECH MC-7200 CHAMBERS

8 STORMTECH MC-7200 END CAPS
12 STONE ABOVE (in)
21 STONE BELOW (in)
40 STONE VOID

46808

INSTALLED SYSTEM VOLUME (CF)
(PERIMETER STONE INCLUDED)
(COVER STONE INCLUDED)
(BASE STONE INCLUDED)

9863 SYSTEM AREA (SF)
600.0 SYSTEM PERIMETER (ft)

*INVERT ABOVE BASE OF CHAMBER

MAX FLOWINVERT*DESCRIPTIONITEM ON
LAYOUTPART TYPE

2.26"24" BOTTOM PARTIAL CUT END CAP, PART#: MC7200IEPP24B / TYP OF ALL 24" BOTTOM
CONNECTIONS AND ISOLATOR PLUS ROWSAPREFABRICATED END CAP

INSTALL FLAMP ON 24" ACCESS PIPE / PART#: MC720024RAMPBFLAMP
2.26"24" x 24" BOTTOM MANIFOLD, ADS N-12CMANIFOLD

28.5 CFS IN(DESIGN BY ENGINEER / PROVIDED BY OTHERS)DCONCRETE STRUCTURE
W/WEIR

ISOLATOR ROW PLUS
(SEE DETAIL)

PLACE MINIMUM 17.50' OF ADSPLUS175 WOVEN GEOTEXTILE OVER BEDDING
STONE AND UNDERNEATH CHAMBER FEET FOR SCOUR PROTECTION AT ALL
CHAMBER INLET ROWS

BED LIMITS

40
'

20
'

0

262.44'

37
.5

8'

255.95'

35
.5

8'

B
C

A
D

Item E - 2067 of 2173



S
to
rm

T
ec

h

88
8-

89
2-

26
94

 |
 W

W
W

.S
TO

R
M

TE
C

H
.C

O
M

®

C
ha

m
be

r S
ys

te
m

ACCEPTABLE FILL MATERIALS: STORMTECH MC-7200 CHAMBER SYSTEMS

PLEASE NOTE:
1. THE LISTED AASHTO DESIGNATIONS ARE FOR GRADATIONS ONLY. THE STONE MUST ALSO BE CLEAN, CRUSHED, ANGULAR. FOR EXAMPLE, A SPECIFICATION FOR #4 STONE WOULD STATE: "CLEAN, CRUSHED, ANGULAR NO. 4 (AASHTO M43) STONE".
2. STORMTECH COMPACTION REQUIREMENTS ARE MET FOR 'A' LOCATION MATERIALS WHEN PLACED AND COMPACTED IN 9" (230 mm) (MAX) LIFTS USING TWO FULL COVERAGES WITH A VIBRATORY COMPACTOR.
3. WHERE INFILTRATION SURFACES MAY BE COMPROMISED BY COMPACTION, FOR STANDARD DESIGN LOAD CONDITIONS, A FLAT SURFACE MAY BE ACHIEVED BY RAKING OR DRAGGING WITHOUT COMPACTION EQUIPMENT. FOR SPECIAL LOAD DESIGNS, CONTACT STORMTECH FOR

COMPACTION REQUIREMENTS.
4. ONCE LAYER 'C' IS PLACED, ANY SOIL/MATERIAL CAN BE PLACED IN LAYER 'D' UP TO THE FINISHED GRADE. MOST PAVEMENT SUBBASE SOILS CAN BE USED TO REPLACE THE MATERIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAYER 'C' OR 'D' AT THE SITE DESIGN ENGINEER'S DISCRETION.

NOTES:
1. CHAMBERS SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM F2418, "STANDARD SPECIFICATION FOR POLYPROPYLENE (PP) CORRUGATED WALL STORMWATER COLLECTION CHAMBERS" CHAMBER CLASSIFICATION 60x101
2. MC-7200 CHAMBERS SHALL BE DESIGNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM F2787 "STANDARD PRACTICE FOR STRUCTURAL DESIGN OF THERMOPLASTIC CORRUGATED WALL STORMWATER COLLECTION CHAMBERS".
3. THE SITE DESIGN ENGINEER IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ASSESSING THE BEARING RESISTANCE (ALLOWABLE BEARING CAPACITY) OF THE SUBGRADE SOILS AND THE DEPTH OF FOUNDATION STONE WITH CONSIDERATION

FOR THE RANGE OF EXPECTED SOIL MOISTURE CONDITIONS.
4. PERIMETER STONE MUST BE EXTENDED HORIZONTALLY TO THE EXCAVATION WALL FOR BOTH VERTICAL AND SLOPED EXCAVATION WALLS.
5. REQUIREMENTS FOR HANDLING AND INSTALLATION:

· TO MAINTAIN THE WIDTH OF CHAMBERS DURING SHIPPING AND HANDLING, CHAMBERS SHALL HAVE INTEGRAL, INTERLOCKING STACKING LUGS.
· TO ENSURE A SECURE JOINT DURING INSTALLATION AND BACKFILL, THE HEIGHT OF THE CHAMBER JOINT SHALL NOT BE LESS THAN 3”.
· TO ENSURE THE INTEGRITY OF THE ARCH SHAPE DURING INSTALLATION, a) THE ARCH STIFFNESS CONSTANT SHALL BE GREATER THAN OR EQUAL TO 450 LBS/FT/%. THE ASC IS DEFINED IN SECTION 6.2.8 OF

ASTM F2418. AND b) TO RESIST CHAMBER DEFORMATION DURING INSTALLATION AT ELEVATED TEMPERATURES (ABOVE 73° F / 23° C), CHAMBERS SHALL BE PRODUCED FROM REFLECTIVE GOLD OR YELLOW
COLORS.

MATERIAL LOCATION DESCRIPTION AASHTO  MATERIAL
CLASSIFICATIONS COMPACTION / DENSITY REQUIREMENT

D

FINAL FILL: FILL MATERIAL FOR LAYER 'D' STARTS FROM THE
TOP OF THE 'C' LAYER TO THE BOTTOM OF FLEXIBLE
PAVEMENT OR UNPAVED FINISHED GRADE ABOVE. NOTE THAT
PAVEMENT SUBBASE MAY BE PART OF THE 'D' LAYER

ANY SOIL/ROCK MATERIALS, NATIVE SOILS, OR PER ENGINEER'S PLANS.
CHECK PLANS FOR PAVEMENT SUBGRADE REQUIREMENTS. N/A

PREPARE PER SITE DESIGN ENGINEER'S PLANS. PAVED
INSTALLATIONS MAY HAVE STRINGENT MATERIAL AND

PREPARATION REQUIREMENTS.

C

INITIAL FILL: FILL MATERIAL FOR LAYER 'C' STARTS FROM THE
TOP OF THE EMBEDMENT STONE ('B' LAYER) TO 24" (600 mm)
ABOVE THE TOP OF THE CHAMBER. NOTE THAT PAVEMENT
SUBBASE MAY BE A PART OF THE 'C' LAYER.

GRANULAR WELL-GRADED SOIL/AGGREGATE MIXTURES, <35% FINES OR
PROCESSED AGGREGATE.

 MOST PAVEMENT SUBBASE MATERIALS CAN BE USED IN LIEU OF THIS
LAYER.

AASHTO M145¹
A-1, A-2-4, A-3

OR

AASHTO M43¹
3, 357, 4, 467, 5, 56, 57, 6, 67, 68, 7, 78, 8, 89, 9, 10

BEGIN COMPACTIONS AFTER 24" (600 mm) OF MATERIAL OVER
THE CHAMBERS IS REACHED. COMPACT ADDITIONAL LAYERS IN
12" (300 mm) MAX LIFTS TO A MIN. 95% PROCTOR DENSITY FOR

WELL GRADED MATERIAL AND 95% RELATIVE DENSITY FOR
PROCESSED AGGREGATE MATERIALS.

B
EMBEDMENT STONE: FILL SURROUNDING THE CHAMBERS
FROM THE FOUNDATION STONE ('A' LAYER) TO THE 'C' LAYER
ABOVE.

CLEAN, CRUSHED, ANGULAR STONE AASHTO M43¹
3, 4

A
FOUNDATION STONE: FILL BELOW CHAMBERS FROM THE
SUBGRADE UP TO THE FOOT (BOTTOM) OF THE CHAMBER. CLEAN, CRUSHED, ANGULAR STONE AASHTO M43¹

3, 4 PLATE COMPACT OR ROLL TO ACHIEVE A FLAT SURFACE.2,3

24"
(600 mm) MIN*

7.0'
(2.1 m)
MAX

12" (300 mm) MIN100" (2540 mm)

12" (300 mm) MIN

12" (300 mm) MIN 9"
(230 mm) MIN

D
C

B

A

*TO BOTTOM OF FLEXIBLE PAVEMENT. FOR UNPAVED
INSTALLATIONS WHERE RUTTING FROM VEHICLES MAY OCCUR,

INCREASE COVER TO 30" (750 mm).

60"
(1525 mm)

DEPTH OF STONE TO BE DETERMINED
BY SITE DESIGN ENGINEER 9" (230 mm) MIN

EXCAVATION WALL
(CAN BE SLOPED OR VERTICAL)

MC-7200
END CAP

PAVEMENT LAYER (DESIGNED
BY SITE DESIGN ENGINEER)

PERIMETER STONE
(SEE NOTE 4)

SUBGRADE SOILS
(SEE NOTE 3)

NO COMPACTION REQUIRED.

ADS GEOSYNTHETICS 601T NON-WOVEN GEOTEXTILE ALL
AROUND CLEAN, CRUSHED, ANGULAR STONE IN A & B LAYERS

46
40

 T
R

U
EM

AN
 B

LV
D

H
IL

LI
AR

D
, O

H
  4

30
26

1-
80

0-
73

3-
74

73

D
AT

E:
 

D
R

AW
N

: R
H

PR
O

JE
C

T 
#:

 
C

H
EC

KE
D

: N
/A

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 H

AS
 B

EE
N

 P
R

EP
AR

ED
 B

AS
ED

 O
N

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 P

R
O

VI
D

ED
 T

O
 A

D
S 

U
N

D
ER

 T
H

E 
D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
 O

F 
TH

E 
SI

TE
 D

ES
IG

N
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
 O

R
 O

TH
ER

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

R
EP

R
ES

EN
TA

TI
VE

. T
H

E 
SI

TE
 D

ES
IG

N
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
 S

H
AL

L 
R

EV
IE

W
 T

H
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 P

R
IO

R
 T

O
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N
. I

T 
IS

 T
H

E 
U

LT
IM

AT
E

R
ES

PO
N

SI
BI

LI
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

SI
TE

 D
ES

IG
N

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

 T
O

 E
N

SU
R

E 
TH

AT
 T

H
E 

PR
O

D
U

C
T(

S)
 D

EP
IC

TE
D

 A
N

D
 A

LL
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
D

 D
ET

AI
LS

 M
EE

T 
AL

L 
AP

PL
IC

AB
LE

 L
AW

S,
 R

EG
U

LA
TI

O
N

S,
 A

N
D

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

R
EQ

U
IR

EM
EN

TS
.

D
AT

E
D

R
W

C
H

K
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N

SP
89

95
O

N
TA

R
IO

, C
A

SHEET

OF3 5
Item E - 2068 of 2173



S
to
rm

T
ec

h

88
8-

89
2-

26
94

 |
 W

W
W

.S
TO

R
M

TE
C

H
.C

O
M

®

C
ha

m
be

r S
ys

te
m

INSPECTION & MAINTENANCE
STEP 1) INSPECT ISOLATOR ROW PLUS FOR SEDIMENT

A. INSPECTION PORTS (IF PRESENT)
A.1. REMOVE/OPEN LID ON NYLOPLAST INLINE DRAIN
A.2. REMOVE AND CLEAN FLEXSTORM FILTER IF INSTALLED
A.3. USING A FLASHLIGHT AND STADIA ROD, MEASURE DEPTH OF SEDIMENT AND RECORD ON MAINTENANCE LOG
A.4. LOWER A CAMERA INTO ISOLATOR ROW PLUS FOR VISUAL INSPECTION OF SEDIMENT LEVELS (OPTIONAL)
A.5. IF SEDIMENT IS AT, OR ABOVE, 3" (80 mm) PROCEED TO STEP 2. IF NOT, PROCEED TO STEP 3.

B. ALL ISOLATOR PLUS ROWS
B.1. REMOVE COVER FROM STRUCTURE AT UPSTREAM END OF ISOLATOR ROW PLUS
B.2. USING A FLASHLIGHT, INSPECT DOWN THE ISOLATOR ROW PLUS THROUGH OUTLET PIPE

i) MIRRORS ON POLES OR CAMERAS MAY BE USED TO AVOID A CONFINED SPACE ENTRY
ii) FOLLOW OSHA REGULATIONS FOR CONFINED SPACE ENTRY IF ENTERING MANHOLE

B.3. IF SEDIMENT IS AT, OR ABOVE, 3" (80 mm) PROCEED TO STEP 2. IF NOT, PROCEED TO STEP 3.

STEP 2) CLEAN OUT ISOLATOR ROW PLUS USING THE JETVAC PROCESS
A. A FIXED CULVERT CLEANING NOZZLE WITH REAR FACING SPREAD OF 45" (1.1 m) OR MORE IS PREFERRED
B. APPLY MULTIPLE PASSES OF JETVAC UNTIL BACKFLUSH WATER IS CLEAN
C. VACUUM STRUCTURE SUMP AS REQUIRED

STEP 3) REPLACE ALL COVERS, GRATES, FILTERS, AND LIDS; RECORD OBSERVATIONS AND ACTIONS.

STEP 4) INSPECT AND CLEAN BASINS AND MANHOLES UPSTREAM OF THE STORMTECH SYSTEM.

NOTES
1. INSPECT EVERY 6 MONTHS DURING THE FIRST YEAR OF OPERATION. ADJUST THE INSPECTION INTERVAL BASED ON PREVIOUS

OBSERVATIONS OF SEDIMENT ACCUMULATION AND HIGH WATER ELEVATIONS.

2. CONDUCT JETTING AND VACTORING ANNUALLY OR WHEN INSPECTION SHOWS THAT MAINTENANCE IS NECESSARY.

CATCH BASIN
OR

MANHOLE

MC-7200 ISOLATOR ROW PLUS DETAIL
NTS

STORMTECH HIGHLY RECOMMENDS
FLEXSTORM INSERTS IN ANY UPSTREAM

STRUCTURES WITH OPEN GRATES

COVER PIPE CONNECTION TO END CAP WITH ADS
GEOSYNTHETICS 601T NON-WOVEN GEOTEXTILE

MC-7200 CHAMBER

OPTIONAL INSPECTION PORT

MC-7200 END CAP

24" (600 mm) HDPE ACCESS PIPE REQUIRED USE
FACTORY PARTIAL CUT END CAP PART #:
MC7200IEPP24B OR MC7200IEPP24BW

ONE LAYER OF ADSPLUS175 WOVEN GEOTEXTILE BETWEEN
FOUNDATION STONE AND CHAMBERS
10.3' (3.1 m) MIN WIDE CONTINUOUS FABRIC WITHOUT SEAMS

SUMP DEPTH TBD BY
SITE DESIGN ENGINEER

(24" [600 mm] MIN RECOMMENDED)

INSTALL FLAMP ON 24" (600 mm) ACCESS PIPE
PART #: MC720024RAMP

46
40

 T
R

U
EM

AN
 B

LV
D

H
IL

LI
AR

D
, O

H
  4

30
26

1-
80

0-
73

3-
74

73

D
AT

E:
 

D
R

AW
N

: R
H

PR
O

JE
C

T 
#:

 
C

H
EC

KE
D

: N
/A

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 H

AS
 B

EE
N

 P
R

EP
AR

ED
 B

AS
ED

 O
N

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 P

R
O

VI
D

ED
 T

O
 A

D
S 

U
N

D
ER

 T
H

E 
D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
 O

F 
TH

E 
SI

TE
 D

ES
IG

N
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
 O

R
 O

TH
ER

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

R
EP

R
ES

EN
TA

TI
VE

. T
H

E 
SI

TE
 D

ES
IG

N
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
 S

H
AL

L 
R

EV
IE

W
 T

H
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 P

R
IO

R
 T

O
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N
. I

T 
IS

 T
H

E 
U

LT
IM

AT
E

R
ES

PO
N

SI
BI

LI
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

SI
TE

 D
ES

IG
N

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

 T
O

 E
N

SU
R

E 
TH

AT
 T

H
E 

PR
O

D
U

C
T(

S)
 D

EP
IC

TE
D

 A
N

D
 A

LL
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
D

 D
ET

AI
LS

 M
EE

T 
AL

L 
AP

PL
IC

AB
LE

 L
AW

S,
 R

EG
U

LA
TI

O
N

S,
 A

N
D

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

R
EQ

U
IR

EM
EN

TS
.

D
AT

E
D

R
W

C
H

K
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N

SP
89

95
O

N
TA

R
IO

, C
A

SHEET

OF4 5
Item E - 2069 of 2173



S
to
rm

T
ec

h

88
8-

89
2-

26
94

 |
 W

W
W

.S
TO

R
M

TE
C

H
.C

O
M

®

C
ha

m
be

r S
ys

te
m

MC-SERIES END CAP INSERTION DETAIL
NTS

NOTE: MANIFOLD STUB MUST BE LAID HORIZONTAL
FOR A PROPER FIT IN END CAP OPENING.

MANIFOLD HEADER

MANIFOLD STUB

STORMTECH END CAP

MANIFOLD HEADER

MANIFOLD STUB

12" (300 mm)
MIN SEPARATION

12" (300 mm) MIN INSERTION

12" (300 mm)
MIN SEPARATION

12" (300 mm)
MIN INSERTION

MC-7200 TECHNICAL SPECIFICATION
NTS

PART # STUB B C
MC7200IEPP06T 6" (150 mm)

42.54" (1081 mm) ---
MC7200IEPP06B --- 0.86" (22 mm)
MC7200IEPP08T 8" (200 mm)

40.50" (1029 mm) ---
MC7200IEPP08B --- 1.01" (26 mm)
MC7200IEPP10T 10" (250 mm)

38.37" (975 mm) ---
MC7200IEPP10B --- 1.33" (34 mm)
MC7200IEPP12T 12" (300 mm)

35.69" (907 mm) ---
MC7200IEPP12B --- 1.55" (39 mm)
MC7200IEPP15T 15" (375 mm)

32.72" (831 mm) ---
MC7200IEPP15B --- 1.70" (43 mm)
MC7200IEPP18T

18" (450 mm)
29.36" (746 mm) ---

MC7200IEPP18TW
MC7200IEPP18B

--- 1.97" (50 mm)
MC7200IEPP18BW
MC7200IEPP24T

24" (600 mm)
23.05" (585 mm) ---

MC7200IEPP24TW
MC7200IEPP24B

--- 2.26" (57 mm)
MC7200IEPP24BW
MC7200IEPP30BW 30" (750 mm) --- 2.95" (75 mm)
MC7200IEPP36BW 36" (900 mm) --- 3.25" (83 mm)
MC7200IEPP42BW 42" (1050 mm) --- 3.55" (90 mm)

NOTE: ALL DIMENSIONS ARE NOMINAL

NOMINAL CHAMBER SPECIFICATIONS
SIZE (W X H X INSTALLED LENGTH) 100.0" X 60.0" X 79.1" (2540 mm X 1524 mm X 2010 mm)
CHAMBER STORAGE 175.9 CUBIC FEET (4.98 m³)
MINIMUM INSTALLED STORAGE* 267.3 CUBIC FEET (7.56 m³)
WEIGHT (NOMINAL) 205 lbs. (92.9 kg)

NOMINAL END CAP SPECIFICATIONS
SIZE (W X H X INSTALLED LENGTH) 90.0" X 61.0" X 32.8" (2286 mm X 1549 mm X 833 mm)
END CAP STORAGE 39.5 CUBIC FEET (1.12 m³)
MINIMUM INSTALLED STORAGE* 115.3 CUBIC FEET (3.26 m³)
WEIGHT (NOMINAL) 90 lbs. (40.8 kg)

*ASSUMES 12" (305 mm) STONE ABOVE, 9" (229 mm) STONE FOUNDATION AND BETWEEN CHAMBERS,
12" (305 mm) STONE PERIMETER IN FRONT OF END CAPS AND 40% STONE POROSITY.

PARTIAL CUT HOLES AT BOTTOM OF END CAP FOR PART NUMBERS ENDING WITH "B"
PARTIAL CUT HOLES AT TOP OF END CAP FOR PART NUMBERS ENDING WITH "T"
END CAPS WITH A PREFABRICATED WELDED STUB END WITH "W"

CUSTOM PREFABRICATED INVERTS
ARE AVAILABLE UPON REQUEST.
INVENTORIED MANIFOLDS INCLUDE
12-24" (300-600 mm) SIZE ON SIZE
AND 15-48" (375-1200 mm)
ECCENTRIC MANIFOLDS. CUSTOM
INVERT LOCATIONS ON THE MC-7200
END CAP CUT IN THE FIELD ARE NOT
RECOMMENDED FOR PIPE SIZES
GREATER THAN 10" (250 mm). THE
INVERT LOCATION IN COLUMN 'B'
ARE THE HIGHEST POSSIBLE FOR
THE PIPE SIZE.

UPPER JOINT
CORRUGATION

WEB
CREST

CREST
STIFFENING
RIB

VALLEY
STIFFENING RIB

BUILD ROW IN THIS DIRECTION

LOWER JOINT
 CORRUGATION

FOOT

83.4"
(2120 mm)

79.1"
(2010 mm)

INSTALLED

60.0"
(1524 mm)

100.0" (2540 mm) 90.0" (2286 mm)

61.0"
(1549 mm)

32.8"
(833 mm)

INSTALLED

38.0"
(965 mm)

B

C

46
40

 T
R

U
EM

AN
 B

LV
D

H
IL

LI
AR

D
, O

H
  4

30
26

1-
80

0-
73

3-
74

73

D
AT

E:
 

D
R

AW
N

: R
H

PR
O

JE
C

T 
#:

 
C

H
EC

KE
D

: N
/A

TH
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 H

AS
 B

EE
N

 P
R

EP
AR

ED
 B

AS
ED

 O
N

 IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
 P

R
O

VI
D

ED
 T

O
 A

D
S 

U
N

D
ER

 T
H

E 
D

IR
EC

TI
O

N
 O

F 
TH

E 
SI

TE
 D

ES
IG

N
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
 O

R
 O

TH
ER

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

R
EP

R
ES

EN
TA

TI
VE

. T
H

E 
SI

TE
 D

ES
IG

N
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
 S

H
AL

L 
R

EV
IE

W
 T

H
IS

 D
R

AW
IN

G
 P

R
IO

R
 T

O
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N
. I

T 
IS

 T
H

E 
U

LT
IM

AT
E

R
ES

PO
N

SI
BI

LI
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

SI
TE

 D
ES

IG
N

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

 T
O

 E
N

SU
R

E 
TH

AT
 T

H
E 

PR
O

D
U

C
T(

S)
 D

EP
IC

TE
D

 A
N

D
 A

LL
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
D

 D
ET

AI
LS

 M
EE

T 
AL

L 
AP

PL
IC

AB
LE

 L
AW

S,
 R

EG
U

LA
TI

O
N

S,
 A

N
D

 P
R

O
JE

C
T 

R
EQ

U
IR

EM
EN

TS
.

D
AT

E
D

R
W

C
H

K
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N

SP
89

95
O

N
TA

R
IO

, C
A

SHEET

OF5 5
Item E - 2070 of 2173



Item E - 2071 of 2173



Project:

Chamber Model - MC-7200
Units - Imperial
Number of Chambers - 152
Number of End Caps - 8
Voids in the stone (porosity) - 40 %
Base of Stone Elevation - 100.00 ft
Amount of Stone Above Chambers - 12 in
Amount of Stone Below Chambers - 21 in

Area of system - 9863 sf  Min. Area - 

Height of 
System 

Incremental Single 
Chamber

Incremental 
Single End Cap

Incremental 
Chambers

Incremental 
End Cap

Incremental 
Stone

Incremental Ch, 
EC and Stone

Cumulative 
System Elevation

(inches) (cubic feet) (cubic feet) (cubic feet) (cubic feet) (cubic feet) (feet) (cubic feet) (feet)

93 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 46807.37 107.75
92 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 46478.61 107.67
91 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 46149.84 107.58
90 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 45821.07 107.50
89 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 45492.31 107.42
88 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 45163.54 107.33
87 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 44834.77 107.25
86 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 44506.01 107.17
85 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 44177.24 107.08
84 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 43848.47 107.00
83 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 43519.71 106.92
82 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 328.77 328.77 43190.94 106.83
81 0.06 0.01 9.03 0.10 325.11 334.24 42862.17 106.75
80 0.19 0.03 28.91 0.27 317.10 346.27 42527.93 106.67
79 0.28 0.05 41.83 0.41 311.87 354.11 42181.66 106.58
78 0.36 0.07 54.30 0.53 306.83 361.66 41827.55 106.50
77 0.46 0.08 69.68 0.66 300.63 370.97 41465.88 106.42
76 0.74 0.11 112.73 0.84 283.34 396.91 41094.91 106.33
75 1.10 0.13 166.65 1.06 261.68 429.39 40698.00 106.25
74 1.32 0.16 200.41 1.29 248.09 449.79 40268.61 106.17
73 1.50 0.19 227.73 1.51 237.07 466.31 39818.82 106.08
72 1.65 0.22 251.48 1.75 227.47 480.71 39352.51 106.00
71 1.79 0.25 272.68 1.98 218.90 493.56 38871.81 105.92
70 1.92 0.28 291.79 2.20 211.17 505.16 38378.24 105.83
69 2.04 0.30 309.69 2.41 203.92 516.03 37873.08 105.75
68 2.15 0.33 326.09 2.62 197.28 525.99 37357.05 105.67
67 2.25 0.35 341.65 2.84 190.97 535.46 36831.06 105.58
66 2.34 0.38 356.16 3.07 185.08 544.30 36295.60 105.50
65 2.43 0.41 369.88 3.27 179.50 552.66 35751.30 105.42
64 2.52 0.44 382.90 3.53 174.20 560.62 35198.64 105.33
63 2.60 0.47 395.29 3.75 169.15 568.19 34638.02 105.25
62 2.68 0.50 407.12 3.96 164.33 575.42 34069.83 105.17
61 2.75 0.52 418.39 4.17 159.74 582.30 33494.41 105.08
60 2.82 0.54 429.16 4.36 155.36 588.88 32912.11 105.00
59 2.89 0.57 439.49 4.53 151.16 595.18 32323.24 104.92
58 2.96 0.59 449.37 4.71 147.14 601.21 31728.05 104.83
57 3.02 0.61 458.85 4.88 143.27 607.01 31126.84 104.75
56 3.08 0.63 467.95 5.06 139.56 612.57 30519.83 104.67
55 3.14 0.64 476.71 5.14 136.02 617.88 29907.26 104.58
54 3.19 0.68 485.15 5.42 132.54 623.11 29289.38 104.50
53 3.25 0.70 493.24 5.60 129.23 628.07 28666.27 104.42
52 3.30 0.72 501.04 5.78 126.04 632.86 28038.20 104.33
51 3.35 0.74 508.53 5.95 122.97 637.46 27405.34 104.25
50 3.39 0.76 515.75 6.12 120.02 641.89 26767.89 104.17
49 3.44 0.79 522.71 6.28 117.17 646.16 26126.00 104.08
48 3.48 0.80 529.40 6.42 114.44 650.26 25479.84 104.00
47 3.53 0.82 535.85 6.56 111.80 654.21 24829.58 103.92
46 3.57 0.84 542.06 6.71 109.26 658.03 24175.36 103.83
45 3.61 0.85 548.05 6.81 106.82 661.68 23517.34 103.75
44 3.64 0.86 553.81 6.88 104.49 665.18 22855.66 103.67
43 3.68 0.89 559.35 7.12 102.18 668.65 22190.48 103.58
42 3.71 0.90 564.68 7.23 100.00 671.91 21521.83 103.50
41 3.75 0.92 569.80 7.34 97.91 675.05 20849.92 103.42
40 3.78 0.92 574.71 7.36 95.94 678.01 20174.87 103.33
39 3.81 0.94 579.43 7.55 93.98 680.95 19496.86 103.25
38 3.84 0.96 583.94 7.65 92.13 683.72 18815.90 103.17
37 3.87 0.97 588.26 7.75 90.36 686.37 18132.18 103.08
36 3.90 0.98 592.41 7.85 88.66 688.92 17445.81 103.00
35 3.92 0.97 596.36 7.77 87.11 691.25 16756.89 102.92
34 3.95 1.00 600.14 8.03 85.50 693.66 16065.64 102.83
33 3.97 1.01 603.74 8.09 84.04 695.86 15371.98 102.75
32 3.99 1.02 607.17 8.16 82.63 697.97 14676.12 102.67
31 4.02 1.03 610.42 8.24 81.30 699.97 13978.15 102.58
30 4.04 1.04 613.50 8.31 80.04 701.85 13278.19 102.50
29 4.06 1.05 616.42 8.37 78.85 703.64 12576.33 102.42
28 4.07 1.05 619.18 8.43 77.72 705.33 11872.69 102.33

SP8995 Ontario

  

9372 sf  min. area

StormTech MC-7200 Cumulative Storage Volumes

Item E - 2072 of 2173



 
 

 

 

NOISE IMPACT ANALYSIS 

1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET INDUSTRIAL PROJECT 

CITY OF ONTARIO 

 
 

 

 

Lead Agency:  
 

City of Ontario 
303 East B Street 

Ontario, CA 91765 
 
  

 
Prepared by:  

 
Vista Environmental  
1021 Didrickson Way 

Laguna Beach, California 92651 
949 510 5355 

Greg Tonkovich, AICP 
 
 

Project No. 22037 

 

March 8, 2023 

Item E - 2073 of 2173



 
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Page i 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0  Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 1 

1.1 Purpose of Analysis and Study Objectives ................................................................................. 1 
1.2 Site Location and Study Area ..................................................................................................... 1 
1.3 Proposed Project Description .................................................................................................... 2 
1.4 Standard Noise Regulatory Conditions ...................................................................................... 2 
1.5 Summary of Analysis Results ..................................................................................................... 3 
1.6 Mitigation Measures for the Proposed Project ......................................................................... 3 

2.0  Noise Fundamentals ................................................................................................................ 6 

2.1 Noise Descriptors ....................................................................................................................... 6 
2.2 Tone Noise ................................................................................................................................. 6 
2.3 Noise Propagation ...................................................................................................................... 6 
2.4 Ground Absorption .................................................................................................................... 7 

3.0  Ground‐Borne Vibration Fundamentals ................................................................................... 8 

3.1 Vibration Descriptors ................................................................................................................. 8 
3.2 Vibration Perception .................................................................................................................. 8 
3.3 Vibration Propagation ................................................................................................................ 8 

4.0  Regulatory Setting ................................................................................................................... 9 

4.1 Federal Regulations ................................................................................................................... 9 
4.2 State Regulations ....................................................................................................................... 9 
4.3 Local Regulations ..................................................................................................................... 12 

5.0  Existing Noise Conditions ....................................................................................................... 16 

5.1 Noise Measurement Equipment .............................................................................................. 16 
5.2 Noise Measurement Results .................................................................................................... 16 

6.0  Modeling Parameters and Assumptions ................................................................................. 19 

6.1 Construction Noise ................................................................................................................... 19 
6.2 Vibration .................................................................................................................................. 20 

7.0  Impact Analysis ..................................................................................................................... 21 

7.1 CEQA Thresholds of Significance.............................................................................................. 21 
7.2 Generation of Noise Levels in Excess of Standards ................................................................. 21 
7.3 Generation of Excessive Groundborne Vibration .................................................................... 24 
7.4 Aircraft Noise ........................................................................................................................... 25 

8.0  References ............................................................................................................................. 27 
  

Item E - 2074 of 2173



 
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Page ii 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS CONTINUED 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A – Field Noise Measurements Photo Index 

Appendix B – Field Noise Measurements Printouts 

Appendix C – RCNM Model Construction Noise Calculations 

Appendix D – Operational Reference Noise Measurements Printouts 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Item E - 2075 of 2173



 
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Page iii 

 

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 1 – Project Location Map ................................................................................................................... 4 

Figure 2 – Proposed Site Plan ....................................................................................................................... 5 

Figure 3 – City of Ontario Land Use Compatibility Matrix .......................................................................... 10 

Figure 4 – Field Noise Measurements Locations ........................................................................................ 18 

Figure 5 – Ontario Airport Noise Contours ................................................................................................. 26 

 

LIST OF TABLES 

Table A – City of Ontario Exterior Noise Standards .................................................................................... 12 

Table B – City of Ontario Interior Noise Standards ..................................................................................... 13 

Table C – Existing (Ambient) Noise Measurement Results ......................................................................... 17 

Table D – Construction Equipment Noise Emissions and Usage Factors .................................................... 19 

Table E – Vibration Source Levels for Construction Equipment ................................................................. 20 

Table F – Construction Noise Levels at the Nearby Sensitive Receptors .................................................... 22 

Table G – Operational Noise Levels at the Nearby Sensitive Receptors ..................................................... 24 

 

Item E - 2076 of 2173



 
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Page iv 

 

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 

ANSI    American National Standards Institute 

Caltrans  California Department of Transportation 

CEQA    California Environmental Quality Act 

City     City of Ontario 

CNEL    Community Noise Equivalent Level 

dB    Decibel 

dBA    A‐weighted decibels 

DOT    Department of Transportation 

FHWA    Federal Highway Administration 

FTA    Federal Transit Administration 

EPA    Environmental Protection Agency  

Hz    Hertz 

Ldn    Day‐night average noise level 

Leq    Equivalent sound level 

Lmax    Maximum noise level 

ONAC    Federal Office of Noise Abatement and Control 

OSB    Oriented Strand Board 

OSHA    Occupational Safety and Health Administration 

PPV    Peak particle velocity 

RMS    Root mean square 

SEL    Single Event Level or Sound Exposure Level 

STC    Sound Transmission Class 

UMTA    Federal Urban Mass Transit Administration 

VdB    Vibration velocity level in decibels 

 
 

Item E - 2077 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 1 

 

1.0  INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Purpose of Analysis and Study Objectives 

This  Noise  Impact  Analysis  has  been  prepared  to  determine  the  noise  impacts  associated  with  the 
proposed 1600 East Francis Street Industrial project (proposed project).  The following is provided in this 
report: 

 A description of the study area and the proposed project;  

 Information regarding the fundamentals of noise;  

 Information regarding the fundamentals of vibration; 

 A description of the local noise guidelines and standards;  

 An evaluation of the current noise environment; 

 An analysis of  the potential  short‐term construction‐related noise  impacts  from  the proposed 
project; and, 

 An analysis of long‐term operations‐related noise impacts from the proposed project.   

1.2 Site Location and Study Area 

The project site is located at 1600 East Francis Street in the City of Ontario (City).  The approximately 6.98 
acre project site  is currently partially developed and occupied by Western States Wholesale which  is a 
manufacturer, distributor and wholesaler of building materials.  The western portion of the project site 
functions  as  a  storage  yard, while  the  eastern portion  contains  approximately  29,400  square  feet of 
building area and a storage area.  The project site is bounded by Francis Street and industrial uses to the 
north and industrial uses to the east, south and west sides of the project site.   The project study area is 
shown in Figure 1. 

Previous Environmental Documentation  
The Project site was previously analyzed in The Ontario Plan (TOP) 2050 Final Supplemental Environmental 
Impact Report (SEIR) (State Clearinghouse No. 2021070364) (TOP 2050 SEIR) certified by the City in August 
2022. TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed  the environmental  impacts associated with  the  implementation of  the 
update to The Ontario Plan (TOP), adopted in 2010. 

TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed the Project site as having a land use designation of Industrial (IND) and a zoning 
designation  of  General  Industrial  (IG).  The  IG  zoning  designation  allows  for  development  of  general 
industrial uses at a floor area ratio (FAR) of 0.55. As such, TOP 2050 SEIR analyzed the development of 
approximately 167,227 SF of general industrial uses on the project site. 

Sensitive Receptors in Project Vicinity 
The nearest sensitive receptors to the project site are homes located near the intersection of Locust Street 
and Sacramento Avenue, which are as near as 1,700 feet northeast of the project site.   There are also 
homes located near the intersection of Philadelphia Street and Pinehurst Place, which are as near as 2,000 
feet south of the project site.  The nearest school is Bon View Elementary School, which is located as near 
as a mile southwest of the project site. 

Item E - 2078 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 2 

 

1.3 Proposed Project Description 

The  proposed  project  consists  of  demolition  of  the  existing  buildings,  surface  parking  and  related 
infrastructure and to redevelop the site with a new single‐story, approximately 42 foot tall warehouse 
building totaling 167,174 square feet of building space of which 161,174 square feet would be warehouse 
space and 6,000 square feet would be office space.   The proposed project also assumes 15 percent of 
floor space would be dedicated to cold storage.   The proposed project  includes approximately 32,137 
square feet of ornamental landscaping.  Operation of the proposed warehouse is assumed to be 24 hours 
per day, 7 days a week.  The proposed site plan is shown in Figure 2. 

The proposed warehouse would  include 20  loading dock doors and five trailer parking stalls along the 
west side of the building.  Additionally the proposed warehouse would provide 94 vehicle parking stalls 
inclusive of four accessible stalls, two accessible electric vehicle charging stations, two standard electric 
vehicle charging stations, and 14 electric vehicle spaces located on the east side of the building. 

1.4 Standard Noise Regulatory Conditions 

The proposed project will be required to comply with the following regulatory conditions from the City of 
Ontario and State of California.  

City of Ontario Municipal Code 
The following lists the City of Ontario Municipal Code regulations that are applicable to all non‐residential 
projects in the City.   

Section 5‐29.04 Exterior Noise Standards 

Section 5‐29.04 of the City’s Municipal Code limits noise created on the project site from exceeding 65 
dBA Leq or 85 dBA Lmax between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. and 45 dBA Leq or 65 dBA Lmax 
between  the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. within  the private yards, patios, and balconies of  the 
nearby residential uses. 

Section 5‐29.06(d) & 5‐29.09 – Construction Noise Standards  

Section  5‐29.09(a) of  the  City’s Municipal Code  exempts  construction  activities  from  the  City’s noise 
standards provided construction activities are limited to between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on 
weekdays or between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on Saturday and Sunday. 

State of California Rules 
The following lists the State of California rules that are applicable to all commercial projects in the State. 

California Vehicle Code Section 27200‐27207 – On‐Road Vehicle Noise 

California Vehicle Code Section 27200‐27207 provides noise limits for vehicles operated in California.  For 
vehicles over 10,000 pounds noise is limited to 88 dB for vehicles manufactured before 1973, 86 dB for 
vehicles manufactured before 1975, 83 dB for vehicles manufactured before 1988, and 80 dB for vehicles 
manufactured after 1987.  All measurements are based at 50 feet from the vehicle. 

California Vehicle Section 38365‐38380 – Off‐Road Vehicle Noise   

California  Vehicle  Code  Section  38365‐38380  provides  noise  limits  for  off‐highway  motor  vehicles 
operated in California.  92 dBA for vehicles manufactured before 1973, 88 dBA for vehicles manufactured 

Item E - 2079 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 3 

 

before 1975, 86 dBA for vehicles manufactured before 1986, and 82 dBA for vehicles manufactured after 
December 31, 1985.  All measurements are based at 50 feet from the vehicle.   

1.5 Summary of Analysis Results 

The following is a summary of the proposed project’s impacts with regard to the State CEQA Guidelines 
noise checklist questions. 

Generation of a substantial temporary or permanent increase in ambient noise levels in the vicinity of 
the project in excess of standards established in the local general plan or noise ordinance, or 
applicable standards of other agencies? 
Less than significant impact.  

Generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels? 
Less than significant impact.  

For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, where such 
a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the 
project expose people residing or working in the project area to excessive noise levels? 
Less than significant impact.  

1.6 Mitigation Measures for the Proposed Project 

This analysis found that through adherence to the noise and vibration regulations detailed in Section 1.4 
above, the noise and vibration impacts would be reduced to less than significant levels. 

Item E - 2080 of 2173



Fi
gu

re
 1

Pr
oj

ec
t L

oc
at

io
n 

M
ap

SO
U

RC
E:

 S
an

 B
er

na
rd

in
o 

Co
un

ty
 G

IS
.

N

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ite

Item E - 2081 of 2173



Figure 2
Proposed Site Plan

SOURCE: HPA Architecture.

N

Item E - 2082 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 6 

 

2.0  NOISE FUNDAMENTALS  

Noise is defined as unwanted sound.  Sound becomes unwanted when it interferes with normal activities, 
when it causes actual physical harm or when it has adverse effects on health.  Sound is produced by the 
vibration of sound pressure waves in the air.  Sound pressure levels are used to measure the intensity of 
sound and are described in terms of decibels. The decibel (dB) is a logarithmic unit which expresses the 
ratio of the sound pressure level being measured to a standard reference level.  A‐weighted decibels (dBA) 
approximate  the  subjective  response  of  the  human  ear  to  a  broad  frequency  noise  source  by 
discriminating against very low and very high frequencies of the audible spectrum.  They are adjusted to 
reflect only those frequencies which are audible to the human ear.   

2.1 Noise Descriptors 

Noise Equivalent sound levels are not measured directly, but are calculated from sound pressure levels 
typically measured in A‐weighted decibels (dBA).  The equivalent sound level (Leq) represents a steady 
state sound level containing the same total energy as a time varying signal over a given sample period.  
The peak traffic hour Leq is the noise metric used by California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) 
for all traffic noise impact analyses. 

The Day‐Night Average Level (Ldn) is the weighted average of the intensity of a sound, with corrections 
for time of day, and averaged over 24 hours.   The  time of day corrections require  the addition of ten 
decibels to sound levels at night between 10 p.m. and 7 a.m.  While the Community Noise Equivalent Level 
(CNEL) is similar to the Ldn, except that it has another addition of 4.77 decibels to sound levels during the 
evening hours between 7 p.m. and 10 p.m.  These additions are made to the sound levels at these time 
periods because during the evening and nighttime hours, when compared to daytime hours, there  is a 
decrease in the ambient noise levels, which creates an increased sensitivity to sounds.  For this reason, 
the sound appears louder  in the evening and nighttime hours and is weighted accordingly.   The City of 
Ontario relies on the CNEL noise standard to assess transportation‐related impacts on noise sensitive land 
uses.   

2.2 Tone Noise  

A pure tone noise is a noise produced at a single frequency and laboratory tests have shown that humans 
are more perceptible to changes  in noise  levels of a pure tone.   For a noise source to contain a “pure 
tone,” there must be a significantly higher A‐weighted sound energy in a given frequency band than in the 
neighboring bands, thereby causing the noise source to “stand out” against other noise sources.  A pure 
tone occurs if the sound pressure level in the one‐third octave band with the tone exceeds the average of 
the sound pressure levels of the two contiguous one‐third octave bands by: 

 5 dB for center frequencies of 500 hertz (Hz) and above 
 8 dB for center frequencies between 160 and 400 Hz 
 15 dB for center frequencies of 125 Hz or less 

  
2.3 Noise Propagation 

From the noise source to the receiver, noise changes both  in  level and frequency spectrum.   The most 
obvious is the decrease in noise as the distance from the source increases.  The manner in which noise 
reduces  with  distance  depends  on  whether  the  source  is  a  point  or  line  source  as  well  as  ground 
absorption, atmospheric effects and refraction, and shielding by natural and manmade features.  Sound 

Item E - 2083 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 7 

 

from point sources, such as air conditioning condensers, radiate uniformly outward as it travels away from 
the source in a spherical pattern.  The noise drop‐off rate associated with this geometric spreading is 6 
dBA per each doubling of  the distance  (dBA/DD).   Transportation noise sources such as  roadways are 
typically analyzed as line sources, since at any given moment the receiver may be impacted by noise from 
multiple vehicles at various locations along the roadway.  Because of the geometry of a line source, the 
noise drop‐off rate associated with the geometric spreading of a line source is 3 dBA/DD.   

2.4 Ground Absorption 

The sound drop‐off rate is highly dependent on the conditions of the land between the noise source and 
receiver.   To account  for  this ground‐effect attenuation  (absorption),  two  types of site conditions are 
commonly used in traffic noise models, soft‐site and hard‐site conditions.  Soft‐site conditions account for 
the sound propagation loss over natural surfaces such as normal earth and ground vegetation.  For point 
sources,  a  drop‐off  rate  of  7.5  dBA/DD  is  typically  observed  over  soft  ground  with  landscaping,  as 
compared with a 6.0 dBA/DD drop‐off rate over hard ground such as asphalt, concrete, stone and very 
hard packed earth.  For line sources a 4.5 dBA/DD is typically observed for soft‐site conditions compared 
to the 3.0 dBA/DD drop‐off rate for hard‐site conditions.  Caltrans research has shown that the use of soft‐
site conditions  is more appropriate  for  the application of  the Federal Highway Administration  (FHWA) 
traffic noise prediction model used in this analysis. 

 

Item E - 2084 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 8 

 

3.0  GROUND‐BORNE VIBRATION FUNDAMENTALS 

Ground‐borne vibrations consist of rapidly fluctuating motions within the ground that have an average 
motion of zero. The effects of ground‐borne vibrations typically only cause a nuisance to people, but at 
extreme vibration  levels damage to buildings may occur.   Although ground‐borne vibration can be felt 
outdoors, it is typically only an annoyance to people indoors where the associated effects of the shaking 
of a building can be notable.  Ground‐borne noise is an effect of ground‐borne vibration and only exists 
indoors, since it is produced from noise radiated from the motion of the walls and floors of a room and 
may also consist of the rattling of windows or dishes on shelves.  

3.1 Vibration Descriptors  

There are several different methods that are used to quantify vibration amplitude such as the maximum 
instantaneous peak in the vibrations velocity, which  is known as the peak particle velocity (PPV) or the 
root mean  square  (rms) amplitude of  the vibration velocity.   Due  to  the  typically  small amplitudes of 
vibrations, vibration velocity is often expressed in decibels and is denoted as (Lv) and is based on the rms 
velocity amplitude.  A commonly used abbreviation is “VdB”, which in this text, is when Lv is based on the 
reference quantity of 1 micro inch per second.  

3.2 Vibration Perception  

Typically, developed areas are continuously affected by vibration velocities of 50 VdB or  lower.   These 
continuous vibrations are not noticeable to humans whose threshold of perception is around 65 VdB.  Off‐
site sources that may produce perceptible vibrations are usually caused by construction equipment, steel‐
wheeled trains, and traffic on rough roads, while smooth roads rarely produce perceptible ground‐borne 
noise or vibration.   

3.3 Vibration Propagation  

The propagation of ground‐borne vibration is not as simple to model as airborne noise.  This is due to the 
fact that noise in the air travels through a relatively uniform median, while ground‐borne vibrations travel 
through  the earth which may contain significant geological differences. There are three main types of 
vibration propagation; surface, compression, and shear waves.  Surface waves, or Rayleigh waves, travel 
along the ground’s surface.   These waves carry most of their energy along an expanding circular wave 
front, similar to ripples produced by throwing a rock into a pool of water.  P‐waves, or compression waves, 
are body waves that carry their energy along an expanding spherical wave front.  The particle motion in 
these waves  is  longitudinal  (i.e.,  in a  “push‐pull”  fashion).   P‐waves are analogous  to airborne  sound 
waves.  S‐waves, or shear waves, are also body waves that carry energy along an expanding spherical wave 
front.  However, unlike P‐waves, the particle motion is transverse or “side‐to‐side and perpendicular to 
the direction of propagation.” 

As vibration waves propagate from a source, the vibration energy decreases in a logarithmic nature and 
the vibration levels typically decrease by 6 VdB per doubling of the distance from the vibration source.  As 
stated above, this drop‐off rate can vary greatly depending on the soil but has been shown to be effective 
enough  for  screening purposes,  in order  to  identify potential  vibration  impacts  that may need  to be 
studied through actual field tests. 

Item E - 2085 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 9 

 

4.0  REGULATORY SETTING 

The project site is located in the City of Ontario. Noise regulations are addressed through the efforts of 
various federal, state, and local government agencies.  The agencies responsible for regulating noise are 
discussed below. 

4.1 Federal Regulations 

The adverse impact of noise was officially recognized by the federal government in the Noise Control Act 
of 1972, which serves three purposes: 

 Promulgating noise emission standards for interstate commerce 
 Assisting state and local abatement efforts 
 Promoting noise education and research 

The Federal Office of Noise Abatement and Control (ONAC) was  initially tasked with  implementing the 
Noise Control Act.   However, the ONAC has since been eliminated,  leaving the development of federal 
noise policies and programs  to other  federal agencies and  interagency committees.   For example,  the 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) agency prohibits exposure of workers to excessive 
sound levels.  The Department of Transportation (DOT) assumed a significant role in noise control through 
its various operating agencies.  The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) regulates noise of aircraft and 
airports.   Surface transportation system noise  is regulated by a host of agencies,  including the Federal 
Transit Administration (FTA), which regulates transit noise, while freeways that are part of the interstate 
highway  system  are  regulated  by  the  Federal  Highway  Administration  (FHWA).    Finally,  the  federal 
government actively advocates that local jurisdictions use their land use regulatory authority to arrange 
new development in such a way that “noise sensitive” uses are either prohibited from being sited adjacent 
to a highway or, alternately that the developments are planned and constructed in such a manner that 
potential noise impacts are minimized.  

Since the federal government has preempted the setting of standards for noise levels that can be emitted 
by transportation sources, the City is restricted to regulating noise generated by the transportation system 
through nuisance abatement ordinances and land use planning. 

4.2 State Regulations 

Noise Standards 
California Department of Health Services Office of Noise Control 

Established  in 1973,  the California Department of Health  Services Office of Noise Control  (ONC) was 
instrumental  in developing  regularity  tools  to control and abate noise  for use by  local agencies.   One 
significant model is the “Land Use Compatibility for Community Noise Environments Matrix,” which allows 
the local jurisdiction to clearly delineate compatibility of sensitive uses with various incremental levels of 
noise.  Figure LU‐07 Noise Level Exposure and Land Use Compatibility Guidelines from The Ontario Plan 
2050 that is shown below in Figure 4 provides the City’s adopted version of the Land Use Compatibility 
Matrix. 

 

 

Item E - 2086 of 2173



Figure 3
City of Ontario Land Use Compatibility Matrix

SOURCE: The Ontario Plan 2050, Figure LU-07.

Item E - 2087 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 11 

 

California Noise Insulation Standards 

Title 24, Chapter 1, Article 4 of the California Administrative Code (California Noise Insulation Standards) 
requires noise insulation in new hotels, motels, apartment houses, and dwellings (other than single‐family 
detached housing) that provides an annual average noise level of no more than 45 dBA CNEL.  When such 
structures are located within a 60‐dBA CNEL (or greater) noise contour, an acoustical analysis is required 
to ensure  that  interior  levels do not exceed  the 45‐dBA CNEL annual  threshold.    In addition, Title 21, 
Chapter 6, Article 1 of  the California Administrative Code  requires  that all habitable  rooms, hospitals, 
convalescent homes, and places of worship shall have an  interior CNEL of 45 dB or  less due to aircraft 
noise. 

Government Code Section 65302 

Government Code Section 65302 mandates that the legislative body of each county and city in California 
adopt a noise element as part of its comprehensive general plan.  The local noise element must recognize 
the  land  use  compatibility  guidelines  published  by  the  State  Department  of  Health  Services.    The 
guidelines rank noise  land use compatibility  in terms of normally acceptable, conditionally acceptable, 
normally unacceptable, and clearly unacceptable. 

California Vehicle Code Section 27200‐27207 – On‐Road Vehicle Noise 

California Vehicle Code Section 27200‐27207 provides noise limits for vehicles operated in California.  For 
vehicles over 10,000 pounds noise is limited to 88 dB for vehicles manufactured before 1973, 86 dB for 
vehicles manufactured before 1975, 83 dB for vehicles manufactured before 1988, and 80 dB for vehicles 
manufactured after 1987.  All measurements are based at 50 feet from the vehicle. 

California Vehicle Section 38365‐38380 – Off‐Road Vehicle Noise   

California  Vehicle  Code  Section  38365‐38380  provides  noise  limits  for  off‐highway  motor  vehicles 
operated in California.  92 dBA for vehicles manufactured before 1973, 88 dBA for vehicles manufactured 
before 1975, 86 dBA for vehicles manufactured before 1986, and 82 dBA for vehicles manufactured after 
December 31, 1985.  All measurements are based at 50 feet from the vehicle.   

Vibration Standards 
Title 14 of  the California Administrative Code Section 15000  requires  that all  state and  local agencies 
implement  the California Environmental Quality Act  (CEQA) Guidelines, which  requires  the analysis of 
exposure of persons to excessive groundborne vibration.  However, no statute has been adopted by the 
state that quantifies the level at which excessive groundborne vibration occurs.   

The  Transportation‐  and  Construction  Vibration Guidance Manual,  prepared  by  Caltrans,  April  2020, 
provides practical guidance to Caltrans engineers, planners, and consultants who must address vibration 
issues associated with the construction, operation, and maintenance of Caltrans projects.  However, this 
manual  is  also used  as  a  reference point  by many  lead  agencies  and CEQA  practitioners  throughout 
California,  as  it  provides  numeric  thresholds  for  vibration  impacts.    Thresholds  are  established  for 
continuous  (construction‐related)  and  transient  (transportation‐related)  sources  of  vibration,  which 
found that the human response becomes distinctly perceptible at 0.25 inch per second PPV for transient 
sources and 0.04 inch per second PPV for continuous sources.  

Item E - 2088 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 12 

 

4.3 Local Regulations 

The Ontario Plan 2050 and Municipal Code establishes the following applicable policies related to noise 
and vibration.   

City of Ontario – The Ontario Plan 2050 Safety Element 
The Safety Element of The Ontario Plan 2050 set forth goals, policies, and land use guidelines to protect 
residential neighborhoods and noise‐sensitive receptors from excessive noise levels.  

The following goals and policies from Safety Element are directly relevant to the proposed project: 

Goal S‐4:   An  environment  where  noise  does  not  adversely  affect  the  public’s  health,  safety,  and 
welfare. 

Policies 

S‐4.1   Noise Mitigation.  We  utilize  the  City’s  Noise  Ordinance,  building  codes  and  subdivision  and 
development codes to mitigate noise impacts. 

S‐4.2   Coordination  with  Transportation  Authorities.  We  collaborate  with  airport  owners,  FAA, 
Caltrans,  SBCTA,  SCAG,  neighboring  jurisdictions,  and  other  transportation  providers  in  the 
preparation and maintenance of, and updates to transportation‐related plans to minimize noise 
impacts and provide appropriate mitigation measures. 

S‐4.4  Truck Traffic. We manage truck traffic to minimize noise impacts on sensitive land uses. 

S‐4.6  Airport Noise Compatibility. We utilize information from Airport Land Use Compatibility Plans to 
prevent the construction of new noise‐sensitive land uses within airport noise impact zones. 

City of Ontario Municipal Code 
The City of Ontario Municipal Code establishes the following applicable standards related to noise.  

Section 5‐29.04. Exterior noise standards 

(a) The following exterior noise standards, unless otherwise specifically indicated, shall apply to all 
properties within a designated noise zone. 

Table A – City of Ontario Exterior Noise Standards 

Noise Zone  Type of Land Use 
Allowed Exterior Noise Level 

7 a.m. – 10 p.m. Leq  10 p.m. – 7 p.m. Leq 
I  Single‐Family Residential  65 dBA  45 dBA 
II  Multi‐Family Residential, Mobile Home Parks  65 dBA  50 dBA 
III  Commercial Property  65 dBA  60 dBA 
IV  Residential Portion of Mixed Use  70 dBA  70 dBA 
V  Manufacturing and Industrial, Other Uses  70 dBA  70 dBA 

Source: City of Ontario Municipal Code Section 5‐29.04. 
 

(1) If the ambient noise level exceeds the resulting standard, the ambient noise level shall be 
the standard. 

Item E - 2089 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 13 

 

(2) Measurement for compliance are made on the affected property pursuant to § 5‐29.15. 

(b) It  is unlawful for any person at any  location within the  incorporated area of the City to create 
noise, or to allow the creation of any noise on property owned,  leased, occupied or otherwise 
controlled by such person, which noise causes the noise level, when measured at any location on 
any other property, to exceed either of the following: 

(1) The noise standard for the applicable zone for any fifteen‐minute (15) period; and 

(2) A  maximum  instantaneous  (single  instance)  noise  level  equal  to  the  value  of  the  noise 
standard  plus  twenty  (20)  dBA  for  any  period  of  time  (measured  using A‐weighted  slow 
response) 

(c) In the event the ambient noise level exceeds the noise standard, the maximum allowable noise 
level under such category shall be increased to reflect the maximum ambient noise level. 

(d) If the measurement location is on a boundary between two (2) different noise zones, the lower 
noise level standard applicable to the noise zone shall apply. 

Section 5‐29.05. Interior noise standards 

(a) The following  interior noise standards, unless otherwise specifically  indicated, shall apply to all 
properties within a designated noise zone. 

Table B – City of Ontario Interior Noise Standards 

Noise Zone  Type of Land Use 
Allowed Interior Noise Level 

7 a.m. – 10 p.m. Leq  10 p.m. – 7 p.m. Leq 
I  Single‐Family Residential  45 dBA  40 dBA 
II  Multi‐Family Residential, Mobile Home Parks  45 dBA  40 dBA 
IV  Residential Portion of Mixed Use  45 dBA  40 dBA 

Source: City of Ontario Municipal Code Section 5‐29.04. 

 
(1) If the ambient noise level exceeds the resulting standard, the ambient noise level shall be the 

standard. 

(2) Measurements for compliance are made on the affected property pursuant to § 5‐29.15. 

(b) It  is unlawful for any person at any  location within the  incorporated area of the City to create 
noise, or to allow the creation of any noise on property owned,  leased, occupied or otherwise 
controlled by such person, which noise causes the noise level, when measured at any location on 
any other property, to exceed either of the following: 

(1) The noise standard for the applicable zone for any fifteen‐minute (15) period;  

(2) A  maximum  instantaneous  (single  instance)  noise  level  equal  to  the  value  of  the  noise 
standard  plus  twenty  (20)  dBA  for  any  period  of  time  (measured  using A‐weighted  slow 
response) 

(c) In the event the ambient noise level exceeds the noise standard, the maximum allowable noise 
level under such category shall be increased to reflect the maximum ambient noise level. 

(e) If the measurement location is on a boundary between two (2) different noise zones, the lower 
noise level standard applicable to the noise zone shall apply. 

Item E - 2090 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 14 

 

Section 5‐29.06. Exemptions. 

(c) Any mechanical device, apparatus or equipment used, related to or connected with emergency 
machinery, vehicle, work or warning alarm or bell, provided the sounding of any bell or alarm on 
any building or motor vehicle shall terminate its operation within forty‐five (45) minutes in any 
hour of its being activated; 

(d) Noise sources associated with construction, repair, remodeling, demolition or grading of any real 
property. Such activities shall instead be subject to the provisions of § 5‐29.09; 

(g) Noise sources associated with the maintenance of real property.  Such activities shall instead be 
subject to the provisions of § 5‐29.08; 

(h) Any activity to the extent regulation thereof has been preempted by state or federal law. 

Section 5‐29.08. Real property maintenance noise regulations. 

(a) No person, while engaged in maintenance of real property, shall operate any tool, equipment or 
machine in a manner that produces loud noise that disturbs a person of normal sensitivity who 
works or resides in the vicinity, or a Police or Code Enforcement Officer, except between the hours 
of 8:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. 

(b) Trimming  or  pruning  that  requires  the  use  of  chainsaws  or mulching machines  shall  only  be 
allowed between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on a weekday and between the hours of 
9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on Saturday or Sunday. 

(c) The use of electrical or gasoline powered blowers, such as commonly used by gardeners or other 
persons for cleaning  lawns, yards, driveways, gutters and other property shall only be allowed 
between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on a weekday and between the hours of 9:00 a.m. 
and 5:00 p.m. on Saturday or Sunday. 

Section 5‐29.09. Construction activity noise regulations. 

(a) No person, while engaged in construction, remodeling, digging, grading, demolition or any other 
related building activity, shall operate any tool, equipment or machine in a manner that produces 
loud noise that disturbs a person of normal sensitivity who works or resides in the vicinity, or a 
Police or Code Enforcement Officer, on any weekday except between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 
6:00 p.m. or on Saturday or Sunday between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. 

(b) No landowner, construction company owner, contractor, subcontractor, or employer shall permit 
or allow any person or persons working under their direction and control to operate any tool, 
equipment or machine in violation of the provisions of this section. 

Section 5‐29.15. Noise level measurement. 

(a) The location selected for measuring exterior noise levels in a residential area shall be at any part 
of a private yard, patio, deck or balcony normally used for human activity and identified by the 
owner or, if occupied by someone other than the owner, the occupant of the affected property 
as suspected of exceeding the noise level standard. This location may be the closest point in the 
private yard or patio, or on the deck or balcony, to the noise source, but should not be located in 

Item E - 2091 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 15 

 

nonhuman activity areas such as trash container storage areas, planter beds, above or contacting 
a property line fence, or other areas not normally used as part of the yard, patio, deck or balcony. 
The location selected for measuring exterior noise levels in a nonresidential area shall be at the 
closest point to the noise source. The measurement microphone height shall be five (5) feet above 
finish elevation or, in the case of a deck or balcony, the measurement microphone height shall be 
five (5) feet above the finished floor level. 

(b) The  location  selected  for  measuring  interior  noise  levels  shall  be  made  within  the  affected 
residential unit. The measurements shall be made at a point at least four (4) feet from the wall, 
ceiling  or  floor,  or  within  the  frame  of  a  window  opening,  nearest  the  noise  source.  The 
measurements shall be made with windows in an open position. 

(c) Any decibel measurement made pursuant to the provisions of this chapter shall be measured in 
decibels (dBAs) as measured with a sound level meter using the A‐weighted sound pressure level. 

Item E - 2092 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 16 

 

5.0  EXISTING NOISE CONDITIONS 

To determine the existing noise levels, noise measurements have been taken in the vicinity of the project 
site.   The  field survey noted  that noise within  the proposed project area  is generally characterized by 
vehicle traffic on the nearby roadways, from noise created by the nearby industrial uses, and from aircraft 
noise from Ontario Airport, where the nearest runway is as close as 0.9 mile north of the project site.  The 
following describes the measurement procedures, measurement locations, noise measurement results, 
and the modeling of the existing noise environment.   

5.1 Noise Measurement Equipment  

The noise measurements were taken using a Larson‐Davis Model 831 Type 1 precision sound level meter 
programmed  in  “slow”  mode  to  record  noise  levels  in  “A”  weighted  form  as  well  as  the  frequency 
spectrum of  the noise broken down  into 1/3 octaves.   The  sound  level meter and microphone were 
mounted  on  a  tripod  five  feet  above  the  ground  and  were  equipped  with  a  windscreen  during  all 
measurements.   The sound  level meter was calibrated before and after the monitoring using a Larson‐
Davis  calibrator,  Model  CAL  200.    The  accuracy  of  the  calibrator  is  maintained  through  a  program 
established through the manufacturer and is traceable to the National Bureau of Standards.  The noise 
level measurement  equipment meets American National  Standards  Institute  (ANSI)  specifications  for 
sound level meters (ANSI S1.4‐2014 standard). 

Noise Measurement Locations 
The noise monitoring locations were selected in order to obtain noise levels on the project site as well as 
in the vicinity of the nearest homes to the project site.   Descriptions of the noise monitoring sites are 
provided below in Table C and are shown in Figure 4.  Appendix A includes a photo index of the study area 
and noise level measurement locations. 

Noise Measurement Timing and Climate 
The noise measurements were recorded between 4:49 p.m. and 5:50 p.m. on Thursday, February 9, 2023.  
At the start of the noise measurements, the sky was clear (no clouds), the temperature was 79 degrees 
Fahrenheit, the humidity was 19 percent, barometric pressure was 29.19 inches of mercury, and the wind 
was blowing at an average rate of eight miles per hour.  At the conclusion of the noise measurements, the 
sky was clear,  the  temperature was 78 degrees Fahrenheit,  the humidity was 22 percent, barometric 
pressure was 29.18 inches of mercury, and the wind was blowing at an average rate of eight miles per 
hour. 

5.2 Noise Measurement Results 

The  results of  the noise  level measurements are presented  in Table C and  the noise monitoring data 
printouts are included in Appendix B.   

 

 

 

 

Item E - 2093 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 17 

 

Table C – Existing (Ambient) Noise Measurement Results 

Site 
No.  Description 

Primary Noise 
Source 

Start Time of 
Measurement 

Measured Noise Level 
dBA Leq  dBA Lmax 

1 
Located on the northern portion of the Project 
site on the center driveway, approximately 80 
feet south of Francis Street centerline. 

Vehicles on 
Francis Street  4:49 p.m.  61.9  73.3 

2 
Located northeast of the project site, in front of 
home at 1731 E Locust Street, approximately 45 
feet north of Locust Street centerline. 

Vehicles on 
Locust Street  5:12 p.m.  56.2  75.1 

2 

Located south of the project site in front of 
home at 2201 S Pinehurst Place, approximately 
75 feet south of Philadelphia Street centerline 
and 25 feet east of Pinehurst Place centerline. 

Vehicles on 
Philadelphia 
Street 

5:35 p.m.  65.7  81.5 

Notes:  Noise measurements taken with a Larson‐Davis Model 831 Type 1 precision sound level meter on Thursday, February 9, 2023. 

 

Item E - 2094 of 2173



Fi
gu

re
 4

Fi
el

d 
N

oi
se

 M
ea

su
re

m
en

ts
 L

oc
at

io
ns

SO
U

RC
E:

 S
an

 B
er

na
rd

in
o 

Co
un

ty
 G

IS
.

N
L

E
G

E
N

D

No
ise

 M
ea

su
re

me
nt 

Lo
ca

tio
n

3

2

1 3

Item E - 2095 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 19 

 

6.0  MODELING PARAMETERS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 Construction Noise 

The noise  impacts  from construction of  the proposed project have been analyzed  through use of  the 
FHWA’s Roadway Construction Noise Model  (RCNM).    The  FHWA  compiled noise measurement data 
regarding the noise generating characteristics of several different types of construction equipment used 
during  the Central Artery/Tunnel project  in Boston.   Table D below provides a  list of  the construction 
equipment anticipated to be used for each phase of construction for the proposed project as detailed in 
the Air Quality, Energy, and Greenhouse Gas Emissions Impact Analysis 1600 East Francis Street Industrial 
Project (Air Quality Analysis), prepared by Vista Environmental, March 8, 2023. 

Table D – Construction Equipment Noise Emissions and Usage Factors 

Equipment Description 
Number of 
Equipment 

Acoustical Use 
Factor1 (percent) 

Spec 721.560 Lmax at 
50 feet2 (dBA, slow3) 

Actual Measured Lmax 
at 50 feet4 (dBA, slow3) 

Demolition         
Concreter/Industrial Saw  1  40  85  83 
Excavators  3  40  85  81 
Rubber Tired Dozers  2  40  85  83 
Site Preparation         
Rubber Tired Dozer  3  40  85  83 
Tractors  2  40  84  N/A 
Front End Loader  1  40  80  79 
Backhoe  1  40  80  78 
Grading         
Excavator  2  40  85  81 
Grader  1  40  85  83 
Rubber Tired Dozer  1  40  85  82 
Tractor  1  40  84  N/A 
Front End Loader  1  40  80  79 
Backhoe  1  40  80  78 
Building Construction         
Crane  1  16  85  81 
Forklift (Gradall)  3  40  85  83 
Generator  1  50  82  81 
Tractor  1  40  84  N/A 
Front End Loader  1  40  80  79 
Backhoe  1  40  80  78 
Welder  1  40  73  74 
Paving         
Paver  2  50  85  77 
Paving Equipment  2  50  85  77 
Rollers  2  20  85  80 
Architectural Coating         
Air Compressor  1  40  80  78 
Notes: 

Item E - 2096 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 20 

 

1  Acoustical use factor is the percentage of time each piece of equipment is operational during a typical workday. 
2  Spec 721.560 is the equipment noise level utilized by the RCNM program. 
3  The “slow” response averages sound levels over 1‐second increments. A “fast” response averages sound levels over 0.125‐second increments.  
4 Actual Measured  is  the  average noise  level measured of  each piece  of  equipment during  the Central Artery/Tunnel project  in Boston, 
Massachusetts primarily during the 1990s. 
Source: Federal Highway Administration, 2006 and CalEEMod default equipment mix. 
 

Table D also shows the associated measured noise emissions for each piece of equipment from the RCNM 
model and measured percentage of typical equipment use per day.   Construction noise  impacts to the 
nearby  sensitive  receptors  have  been  calculated  according  to  the  equipment  noise  levels  and  usage 
factors  listed  in Table D and  through use of  the RCNM.    In order  to provide a worst‐case analysis, all 
equipment was placed at the shortest distance from the project site to the nearest sensitive receptor.  
The RCNM model printouts are provided in Appendix C. 

6.2 Vibration 

Construction activity can result in varying degrees of ground vibration, depending on the equipment used 
on  the  site.   Operation of  construction equipment  causes  ground  vibrations  that  spread  through  the 
ground and diminish in strength with distance.  Buildings in the vicinity of the construction site respond 
to  these vibrations with varying  results  ranging  from no perceptible effects at  the  low  levels  to slight 
damage  at  the  highest  levels.    Table  E  gives  approximate  vibration  levels  for  particular  construction 
activities.  The data in Table E provides a reasonable estimate for a wide range of soil conditions.  

Table E – Vibration Source Levels for Construction Equipment 

Equipment   
Peak Particle Velocity 

(inches/second) 
Approximate Vibration Level 

(Lv)at 25 feet 

Pile driver (impact)  Upper range 
typical 

1.518 
0.644 

112 
104 

Pile driver (sonic)  Upper range 
typical 

0.734 
0.170 

105 
93 

Clam shovel drop (slurry wall)    0.202  94 
Vibratory Roller    0.210  94 
Hoe Ram    0.089  87 
Large bulldozer    0.089  87 
Caisson drill    0.089  87 
Loaded trucks    0.076  86 
Jackhammer    0.035  79 
Small bulldozer    0.003  58 
Source: Federal Transit Administration, 2018. 

 

The  construction‐related  vibration  impacts  have  been  calculated  through  the  vibration  levels  shown 
above in Table E and through typical vibration propagation rates.  The equipment assumptions were based 
on the equipment lists provided above in Table D. 

Item E - 2097 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 21 

 

7.0  IMPACT ANALYSIS 

7.1 CEQA Thresholds of Significance  

Consistent  with  the  California  Environmental  Quality  Act  (CEQA)  and  the  State  CEQA  Guidelines,  a 
significant impact related to noise would occur if a proposed project is determined to result in: 

 Generation  of  a  substantial  temporary  or  permanent  increase  in  ambient  noise  levels  in  the 
vicinity  of  the  project  in  excess  of  standards  established  in  the  local  general  plan  or  noise 
ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies;  

 Generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels; or 

 For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, where 
such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would 
the project expose people residing or working in the project area to excessive noise levels. 

 
7.2 Generation of Noise Levels in Excess of Standards 

The proposed project would not generate a  substantial  temporary or permanent  increase  in ambient 
noise  levels  in the vicinity of the project  in excess of standards established  in the  local general plan or 
noise ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies.  The following section calculates the potential 
noise emissions associated with the temporary construction activities and  long‐term operations of the 
proposed project and compares the noise levels to the City standards. 

Construction‐Related Noise 
The construction activities for the proposed project are anticipated to include demolition of the existing 
buildings, surface parking and related infrastructure, site preparation and grading of the 6.98‐acre project 
site, building construction of the warehouse, paving of the truck loading area, driveways, and parking lots, 
and application of architectural coatings.  Noise impacts from construction activities associated with the 
proposed project would be a  function of  the noise generated by construction equipment, equipment 
location, sensitivity of nearby land uses, and the timing and duration of the construction activities.  The 
nearest sensitive receptors to the project site are homes located near the intersection of Locust Street 
and Sacramento Avenue, which are as near as 1,700 feet northeast of the project site.   There are also 
homes located near the intersection of Philadelphia Street and Pinehurst Place, which are as near as 2,000 
feet south of the project site.   

Sections 5‐29.06(d) and 5‐29.09 of  the City’s Municipal Code exempts construction activities  from  the 
City’s  noise  standards  provided  construction  activities  associated with  development  of  the  proposed 
project, do not take place between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. on weekdays or on weekends 
between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m..  However, the City construction noise standards do not 
provide any  limits  to  the noise  levels  that may be created  from construction activities and even with 
adherence  to  the  City  standards,  the  resultant  construction  noise  levels  may  result  in  a  significant 
substantial temporary noise increase to the nearby residents.  As such, the construction noise thresholds 
from The Ontario Plan 2050 Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (TOP 2050 SEIR), adopted 
August 2022, has been utilized in this analysis.  Section 5.13.2.1 Construction Noise Thresholds from the 
FSEIR states the following: 

The City of Ontario does not have an established construction noise  threshold;  therefore,  the 
FTA’s criteria for temporary construction noise is used. The FTA recommends a noise limit of 80 

Item E - 2098 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 22 

 

dBA Leq at property lines of receiving noise‐sensitive receptors. A significant impact would occur 
if construction noise would exceed 80 dBA Leq at noise‐sensitive receptors (e.g., residential). 

Construction noise impacts to the nearby homes have been calculated through use of the RCNM and the 
parameters  and  assumptions  detailed  in  Section  6.1  of  this  report  including  Table D  –  Construction 
Equipment Noise Emissions and Usage Factors. The results are shown below  in Table F and the RCNM 
printouts are provided in Appendix C. 

Table F – Construction Noise Levels at the Nearby Sensitive Receptors 

Construction Phase 
Construction Noise Level (dBA Lmax) at: 

Nearest Homes to Northeast1  Nearest Homes to South2 

Demolition   56  54 
Site Preparation  55  54 
Grading  56  54 
Building Construction  56  55 
Paving  51  50 
Architectural Coatings  43  42 
Construction Noise Threshold3  80  80 

Exceed Thresholds?  No  No 
Notes: 
1 The nearest home to the northeast are located as near as 1,700 feet from the project site.  
2 The nearest homes to south are located as near as 2,000 feet from the project site.  
3 The construction noise threshold obtained from Section 5.13.2.1 of the TOP 2050 SEIR. 
Source: RCNM, Federal Highway Administration, 2006 (See Appendix C, the highest of either Leq or Lmax is shown in Table D) 

  

Table F shows that greatest construction noise  impacts would be as high as 56 dBA Leq at the nearest 
homes  to  the northeast and as high as 55 dBA Leq at  the nearest homes  to  the south.   All calculated 
construction noise levels shown in Table F are within the TOP 2050 SEIR construction noise standard of 80 
dBA  Leq  at  noise‐sensitive  receptors.    Therefore,  through  adherence  to  the  limitation  of  allowable 
construction  times provided  in  Sections  5‐29.06(d)  and  5‐29.09  of  the Municipal Code,  construction‐
related noise levels would not exceed any standards established in the General Plan or Noise Ordinance 
nor would construction activities create a substantial temporary  increase  in ambient noise  levels from 
construction of the proposed project.  Impacts would be less than significant. 

Operational‐Related Noise 
The  proposed  project  would  consist  of  the  development  of  a  warehouse.    Potential  noise  impacts 
associated with the operations of the proposed project would be from project‐generated vehicular traffic 
on the nearby roadways and from onsite activities, which have been analyzed separately below. 

Roadway Vehicular Noise 

Vehicle noise is a combination of the noise produced by the engine, exhaust and tires.  The level of traffic 
noise depends on  three primary  factors  (1)  the volume of  traffic,  (2)  the  speed of  traffic, and  (3)  the 
number of trucks in the flow of traffic.  The proposed project does not propose any uses that would require 
a  substantial number of  truck  trips and  the proposed project would not alter  the  speed  limit on any 
existing roadway so the proposed project’s potential offsite noise impacts have been focused on the noise 
impacts  associated with  the  change  of  volume  of  traffic  that would  occur with  development  of  the 
proposed project. 

Item E - 2099 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 23 

 

Neither  the General Plan nor  the Municipal Code defines what  constitutes  a  “substantial permanent 
increase to ambient noise levels”.  As such, the transportation noise thresholds from the TOP 2050 SEIR, 
has been utilized in this analysis.  Section 5.13.2.2 Transportation Noise Thresholds from the TOP 2050 
SEIR states the following: 

A project will normally have a significant effect on the environment related to traffic noise if it would 
substantially increase the ambient noise levels for adjoining areas. Most people can detect changes 
in sound  levels of approximately 3 dBA under normal, quiet conditions, and changes of 1 to 3 dBA 
under quiet, controlled conditions. Changes of less than 1 dBA are usually indiscernible. A change of 
5 dBA is readily discernible to most people in an outdoor environment. Based on this, the following 
thresholds of significance, similar to those recommended by the Federal Aviation Administration, are 
used to assess traffic noise impacts at sensitive receptor locations. A significant impact would occur if 
the traffic noise increase would exceed: 

 1.5 dBA for ambient noise environments of 65 dBA CNEL and higher. 

 3 dBA for ambient noise environments of 60 to 64 CNEL. 

 5 dBA for ambient noise environments of less than 60 dBA CNEL. 

According  to Table 1 – 1600 E  Francis, Ontario Trip Generation, prepared by EPD  Solutions,  Inc.,  the 
proposed project would generate a total of 285 average daily trips (ADT).  According to the TOP 2050 SEIR, 
Francis Street east of Euclid Avenue currently has 4,894 ADT.  The proposed project would contribute up 
to 5.8 percent of the ADT on Francis Street.  In order for project‐generated vehicular traffic to increase 
the noise level on any of the nearby roadways by 3 dB, the ADT would have to double and to increase the 
noise by 1.5 dBA, the ADT would have to increase by 50 percent.  As such, the proposed project’s roadway 
noise impacts would be well below a 1.5 dB roadway noise increase, which is the most restrictive of the 
three thresholds  listed above from the TOP 2050 SEIR.   Therefore, operational roadway noise  impacts 
would be less than significant. 

Onsite Noise Sources 

The operation of the proposed warehouse building may create an increase in onsite noise levels from the 
truck loading area, rooftop mechanical equipment, forklift activities, and automobile parking lot activities. 
Section 5‐29.04 of the Municipal Code limits noise created onsite from exceeding 65 dBA Leq between 
7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. or 45 dBA Leq between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. at the nearby homes and 70 
dBA Leq at the nearby industrial properties. 

In order to determine the noise impacts from the operation of rooftop mechanical equipment, parking 
lots, and the truck loading area, reference noise measurements were taken of each noise source and are 
shown in Table G and the reference noise measurements are provided in Appendix D. Table G also shows 
the calculated noise  level at the  industrial uses to the west, which were chosen, since the most noise 
intensive activities would be located on the west side of the project site and at the onsite noise sources 
were calculated at the nearest homes to the project site, which are located as near as 1,700 feet northeast 
of the project site. 

 

 

Item E - 2100 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 24 

 

Table G – Operational Noise Levels at the Nearby Sensitive Receptors 

Noise Source 

Reference Measurements  Industrial to West  Homes to Northeast 
Distance ‐ Source 
to Measurement 

(feet) 

Noise 
Level 

(dBA Leq) 

Distance ‐ 
Source to 

Industrial (feet) 
Noise Level 
(dBA Leq) 

Distance ‐ 
Source to 

Homes (feet) 
Noise Level 
(dBA Leq) 

Rooftop Equipment  10  66.6  145  43  1,750  22 
Auto Parking Lot  5  52.1  470  13  1,700  1 
Truck Loading Area  10  63.3  70  46  1,900  18 
Forklift  10  74.4  70  57  1,900  29 

Combined Noise Levels    58    30 
City Noise Standards (Day/Night)1    70/70    65/45 

Exceed City Noise Standard?    No/No    No/No 
Notes: 
1  City Noise Standards obtained from Section 5‐29.04 of the Municipal Code. 

 

Table G shows that the proposed project’s worst‐case operational noise from the simultaneous operation 
of all noise sources on the project site would create a noise level of 58 dBA Leq at the industrial property 
to the west and 30 dBA at the nearest homes to the northeast.  The worst‐case operational noise levels 
are  within  the  City  noise  standards  provided  in  Section  5‐29.04  of  the  Municipal  Code.    Therefore, 
operational onsite noise impacts would be less than significant. 

Level of Significance  
Less than significant impact. 

7.3 Generation of Excessive Groundborne Vibration 

The proposed project would not expose persons to or generation of excessive groundborne vibration or 
groundborne noise levels.  The following section analyzes the potential vibration impacts associated with 
the construction and operations of the proposed project. 

Construction‐Related Vibration Impacts 
The construction activities for the proposed project are anticipated to include demolition of the existing 
buildings, surface parking and related infrastructure, site preparation and grading of the 6.98‐acre project 
site, building construction of the warehouse, paving of the truck loading area, driveways, and parking lots, 
and application of architectural coatings.  Vibration impacts from construction activities associated with 
the proposed project would typically be created from the operation of heavy off‐road equipment. 

Since Neither the City’s Municipal Code nor the General Plan provide a quantifiable vibration threshold, 
Mitigation Measure 12‐2 from the TOP 2050 SEIR has been utilized that states the following: 

12‐2  Prior to issuance of a building permit, individual projects that involve vibration‐intensive 
construction activities,  such as pile drivers,  jack hammers, and vibratory  rollers near  sensitive 
receptors shall be evaluated for potential vibration impacts. For construction within 135 feet of 
fragile  structures,  such  as  historical  resources, within  100  feet  of  nonengineered  timber  and 
masonry buildings (e.g., most residential buildings), or within 75 feet of engineered concrete and 
masonry (no plaster); or a vibratory roller within 25 feet of any structure, the project applicant 
shall prepare a noise and vibration analysis to assess and mitigate potential noise and vibration 

Item E - 2101 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 25 

 

impacts  related  to  these  activities.  This noise  and  vibration  analysis  shall  be  conducted  by  a 
qualified and experienced acoustical consultant or engineer. The vibration levels shall not exceed 
Federal Transit Administration (FTA) architectural damage thresholds (e.g., 0.12 inches per second 
[in/sec]  peak  particle  velocity  [PPV]  for  fragile  or  historical  resources,  0.2  in/sec  PPV  for 
nonengineered timber and masonry buildings, and 0.3  in/sec PPV for engineered concrete and 
masonry). If vibration levels would exceed this threshold, alternative uses shall be used, such as 
drilling  piles  as  opposed  to  pile  driving  and  static  rollers  as  opposed  to  vibratory  rollers.  If 
necessary, construction vibration monitoring shall be conducted to ensure vibration thresholds 
are not exceeded. 

As detailed above in Mitigation Measure 12‐2 from the TOP 2050 SEIR, the applicable vibration standards 
for the nearby industrial buildings that are constructed of engineered concrete is 0.3 inch per second PPV.  
From Table D above in Section 6.1, the most vibration‐intensive construction activities would occur from 
the use of a large bulldozer.  From Table E above in Section 6.3, a large bulldozer would create a vibration 
level of 0.089 inch per second PPV at 25 feet.  It is possible that a large bulldozer could operate as close 
as 10 feet from the nearby industrial buildings.  Based on typical propagation rates, the vibration level at 
the nearest industrial building would be would be 0.24 inch per second PPV, which is within the 0.3 inch 
per second PPV threshold described above.  Impacts would be less than significant. 

Operations‐Related Vibration Impacts 
The proposed project would consist of the development of a warehouse building.  The proposed project 
would result in trucks operating on the project site, which are a known source of vibration. The proposed 
project site plan shows that trucks would operate as near as 20 feet from the industrial buildings located 
on the west side of the project site.  

Caltrans has done extensive research on vibration level created along freeways and State Routes and their 
vibration measurements of roads have never exceeded 0.08 inches per second PPV at 15 feet from the 
center of the nearest lane, with the worst combinations of heavy trucks.   Based on typical propagation 
rates,  the vibration  level at  the  industrial buildings  to  the west would be 0.058  inch per  second PPV.  
Therefore, vibration created from operation of the proposed project would be well below the 0.3 inch per 
second PPV threshold detailed above.  Impacts would be less than significant. 

Level of Significance  
Less than significant impact. 

7.4 Aircraft Noise  

The proposed project would not expose people residing or working in the project area to excessive noise 
levels from aircraft. The nearest airport is Ontario Airport, where the nearest runway is located as near as 
0.9 mile north of the project site.  The Ontario Airport Noise Contours from The Ontario Plan 2050 are 
shown in Figure 5, which shows that the project site is located within the 60‐65 dBA CNEL noise contours.  
The proposed warehouse is an allowed use within the 60‐65 dBA CNEL noise contours.  Therefore, a less 
than significant impact would occur from aircraft noise. 

Level of Significance  
Less than significant impact. 

Item E - 2102 of 2173



Item E - 2103 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

Page 27 

 

8.0  REFERENCES   

California Department of Transportation, 2020 Annual Average Daily Truck Traffic on the California State 
Highway System, 2022. 

California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), Technical Noise Supplement to the Traffic Noise 
Analytics Protocol, September 2013. 

California Department of Transportation, Transportation and Construction Vibration Guidance Manual, 
April 2020. 

California  Natural  Resources  Agency,  2022  California  Environmental  Quality  Act  (CEQA)  Statute  and 
Guidelines, Association of Environmental Professionals, 2022.  

City of Ontario, Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Report The Ontario Plan 2050, August, 2022. 

City of Ontario, The Ontario Plan 2050, August 16, 2022. 

City of Ontario, Ontario Municipal Code Chapter 29: Noise, March 6, 2008. 

EPD Solutions, Inc., Table 1 – 1600 E Francis, Ontario Trip Generation, 2023. 

Federal Transit Administration, Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment, September 2018. 

U.S. Department of Transportation,  FHWA Roadway Construction Noise Model User’s Guide,  January, 
2006. 

Vista Environmental, Air Quality, Energy, and Greenhouse Gas Emissions Impact Analysis 1600 East Francis 
Street Industrial Project, March 8, 2023. 

 

Item E - 2104 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Appendix  A 

 
 
 

APPENDIX A 

 

Field Noise Measurements Photo Index 

 

Item E - 2105 of 2173



Noise Measurement Site 1 - looking north Noise Measurement Site 1 - looking northeast

Noise Measurement Site 1 - looking east Noise Measurement Site 1 - looking southeast

Noise Measurement Site 1 - looking south Noise Measurement Site 1 - looking southwest

Noise Measurement Site 1 - looking west Noise Measurement Site 1 - looking northwest

Item E - 2106 of 2173



Noise Measurement Site 2 - looking north Noise Measurement Site 2 - looking northeast

Noise Measurement Site 2 - looking east Noise Measurement Site 2 - looking southeast

Noise Measurement Site 2 - looking south Noise Measurement Site 2 - looking southwest

Noise Measurement Site 2 - looking west Noise Measurement Site 2 - looking northwest

Item E - 2107 of 2173



Noise Measurement Site 3 - looking north Noise Measurement Site 3 - looking northeast

Noise Measurement Site 3 - looking east Noise Measurement Site 3 - looking southeast

Noise Measurement Site 3 - looking south Noise Measurement Site 3 - looking southwest

Noise Measurement Site 3 - looking west Noise Measurement Site 3 - looking northwest

Item E - 2108 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Appendix  B 

 
 
 

APPENDIX B 

 

Field Noise Measurements Printouts 

 

Item E - 2109 of 2173



 General Information
 Serial Number 02509
 Model 831
 Firmware Version 2.403
 Filename 831_Data.004
 User  GT   
 Job Description  1600 E Francis St Warehouse   
 Location  On Project Site Middlle Driveway   

 Measurement Description   
 Start Time  Thursday, 2023 February 09 16:49:20   
 Stop Time  Thursday, 2023 February 09 17:04:20   
 Duration 00:15:00.0
 Run Time 00:15:00.0
 Pause 00:00:00.0
 Pre Calibration  Thursday, 2023 February 09 16:47:03   
 Post Calibration None
 Calibration Deviation ---

 Note
 Approx 80 feet south of Francis St centerline.   79F, 29.19 in Hg, 19% hu, 8 mph wind, clear sky

 Overall Data
 LAeq  61.9  dB
 LASmax  2023 Feb 09 16:55:56  73.3  dB
 LZpeak (max)  2023 Feb 09 17:02:08  114.8  dB
 LASmin  2023 Feb 09 16:50:11  51.0  dB
 LCeq  74.7  dB
 LAeq  61.9  dB
 LCeq - LAeq  12.8  dB
 LAIeq  64.2  dB
 LAeq  61.9  dB
 LAIeq - LAeq  2.3  dB
 Ldn  61.9  dB
 LDay 07:00-22:00  61.9  dB
 LNight 22:00-07:00  ---  dB
 Lden  61.9  dB
 LDay 07:00-19:00  61.9  dB
 LEvening 19:00-22:00  ---  dB
 LNight 22:00-07:00  ---  dB
 LAE  91.4  dB
 # Overloads 0
 Overload Duration  0.0  s
 # OBA Overloads 3
 OBA Overload Duration  6.2  s

 Statistics
 LAS5.00  66.9  dBA
 LAS10.00  65.6  dBA
 LAS33.30  61.9  dBA
 LAS50.00  59.6  dBA
 LAS66.60  57.4  dBA
 LAS90.00  53.8  dBA

 LAS > 65.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  48 / 176.1  s
 LAS > 85.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LZpeak > 135.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LZpeak > 137.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LZpeak > 140.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s

 Settings
 RMS Weight A Weighting
 Peak Weight Z Weighting
 Detector Slow
 Preamp PRM831
 Integration Method Linear
 OBA Range Low
 OBA Bandwidth 1/1 and 1/3
 OBA Freq. Weighting C Weighting
 OBA Max Spectrum Bin Max
 Gain  +0  dB

 Under Range Limit  26.8  dB
 Under Range Peak  79.3  dB
 Noise Floor  17.6  dB
 Overload  144.9  dB

 1/1 Spectra
 Freq. (Hz):  8.0  16.0  31.5  63.0  125  250  500  1k  2k  4k  8k  16k
 LCeq  64.0  67.5  67.8  68.2  67.0  61.4  58.9  57.9  51.5  42.5  36.5  25.8
 LCSmax  77.1  81.1  80.3  77.9  82.3  76.3  72.1  67.2  61.6  55.5  58.6  48.4
 LCSmin  35.1  49.3  57.2  60.5  58.0  52.4  47.4  44.6  36.0  23.1  13.3  6.7

Item E - 2110 of 2173



 1/3 Spectra
 Freq. (Hz):  6.3  8.0  10.0  12.5  16.0  20.0  25.0  31.5  40.0  50.0  63.0  80.0
 LCeq  57.6  59.0  60.8  62.2  62.9  63.2  63.0  62.8  63.4  63.3  64.7  61.9
 LCSmax  70.9  71.7  75.8  76.2  77.8  75.0  77.5  78.2  75.7  75.8  74.2  72.0
 LCSmin  24.2  28.7  32.3  36.6  41.0  45.9  49.3  51.1  53.1  52.6  55.5  52.3

 Freq. (Hz):  100  125  160  200  250  315  400  500  630  800  1k  1.25k
 LCeq  62.8  62.7  61.0  57.6  56.9  55.3  54.2  53.6  54.8  54.2  53.4  51.7
 LCSmax  82.4  77.8  79.0  69.8  75.1  74.7  71.5  67.9  70.1  65.0  62.4  60.1
 LCSmin  53.1  52.7  49.9  48.9  45.6  44.6  43.3  42.6  41.7  40.4  39.8  37.2

 Freq. (Hz):  1.6k  2k  2.5k  3.15k  4k  5k  6.3k  8k  10k  12.5k  16k  20k
 LCeq  48.7  46.4  43.1  40.3  36.8  33.4  31.7  33.9  25.3  23.9  20.3  12.5
 LCSmax  58.0  57.2  55.8  53.2  52.6  48.8  50.5  57.8  49.4  47.0  42.7  33.1
 LCSmin  34.1  29.6  25.4  21.2  16.5  12.9  10.3  8.2  5.8  3.7  1.7  -1.0

 Calibration History
 Preamp  Date  dB re. 1V/Pa
 PRM831  09 Feb 2023 16:47:00  -27.3
 PRM831  05 Jul 2022 17:12:35  -27.5
 PRM831  05 May 2022 10:41:39  -28.3
 PRM831  04 May 2022 07:15:39  -27.7
 PRM831  04 May 2022 07:06:45  -27.6
 PRM831  04 May 2022 07:04:39  -26.0
 PRM831  03 May 2022 17:46:32  -27.6
 PRM831  03 May 2022 15:49:53  -26.0
 PRM831  06 Apr 2022 08:40:52  -27.6
 PRM831  26 Mar 2022 10:22:02  -27.8
 PRM831  07 Mar 2022 12:13:34  -27.4

Item E - 2111 of 2173



 General Information
 Serial Number 02509
 Model 831
 Firmware Version 2.403
 Filename 831_Data.005
 User  GT   
 Job Description  1600 E Francis St Warehouse   
 Location  Northeast of Project Siite in front of home at 1731 Locust Ave   

 Measurement Description   
 Start Time  Thursday, 2023 February 09 17:12:30   
 Stop Time  Thursday, 2023 February 09 17:27:30   
 Duration 00:15:00.0
 Run Time 00:15:00.0
 Pause 00:00:00.0
 Pre Calibration  Thursday, 2023 February 09 16:47:00   
 Post Calibration None
 Calibration Deviation ---

 Note
 In front of nearest home to project site, approx 45 feet north of Locust Ave CL   79 F, 29.17 in Hg, 20% Hu, 7 
 mph wind, clear sky

 Overall Data
 LAeq  56.2  dB
 LASmax  2023 Feb 09 17:15:03  75.1  dB
 LZpeak (max)  2023 Feb 09 17:24:06  102.9  dB
 LASmin  2023 Feb 09 17:18:33  45.6  dB
 LCeq  67.7  dB
 LAeq  56.2  dB
 LCeq - LAeq  11.5  dB
 LAIeq  58.2  dB
 LAeq  56.2  dB
 LAIeq - LAeq  2.0  dB
 Ldn  56.2  dB
 LDay 07:00-22:00  56.2  dB
 LNight 22:00-07:00  ---  dB
 Lden  56.2  dB
 LDay 07:00-19:00  56.2  dB
 LEvening 19:00-22:00  ---  dB
 LNight 22:00-07:00  ---  dB
 LAE  85.8  dB
 # Overloads 0
 Overload Duration  0.0  s
 # OBA Overloads 0
 OBA Overload Duration  0.0  s

 Statistics
 LAS5.00  60.5  dBA
 LAS10.00  57.5  dBA
 LAS33.30  52.9  dBA
 LAS50.00  51.4  dBA
 LAS66.60  50.0  dBA
 LAS90.00  47.8  dBA

 LAS > 65.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  4 /  20.6  s
 LAS > 85.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LZpeak > 135.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LZpeak > 137.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LZpeak > 140.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s

 Settings
 RMS Weight A Weighting
 Peak Weight Z Weighting
 Detector Slow
 Preamp PRM831
 Integration Method Linear
 OBA Range Low
 OBA Bandwidth 1/1 and 1/3
 OBA Freq. Weighting C Weighting
 OBA Max Spectrum Bin Max
 Gain  +0  dB

 Under Range Limit  26.8  dB
 Under Range Peak  79.3  dB
 Noise Floor  17.6  dB
 Overload  144.9  dB

 1/1 Spectra
 Freq. (Hz):  8.0  16.0  31.5  63.0  125  250  500  1k  2k  4k  8k  16k
 LCeq  52.0  58.4  61.6  62.7  58.9  57.7  54.0  51.8  44.9  39.3  31.9  20.0
 LCSmax  69.6  80.9  82.7  80.5  72.3  77.3  73.9  71.7  63.0  55.5  48.7  39.6
 LCSmin  34.0  44.3  50.4  53.2  51.1  45.4  43.7  40.4  29.5  18.6  12.0  6.4

Item E - 2112 of 2173



 1/3 Spectra
 Freq. (Hz):  6.3  8.0  10.0  12.5  16.0  20.0  25.0  31.5  40.0  50.0  63.0  80.0
 LCeq  44.8  45.8  49.7  51.2  53.1  55.7  54.8  57.8  57.3  59.2  58.3  55.2
 LCSmax  62.4  62.0  69.4  73.2  71.6  80.3  76.2  79.9  78.2  76.4  78.8  70.8
 LCSmin  20.5  26.6  31.2  34.7  37.4  40.4  41.8  44.4  46.4  47.2  48.4  46.9

 Freq. (Hz):  100  125  160  200  250  315  400  500  630  800  1k  1.25k
 LCeq  55.3  53.7  53.2  54.6  53.1  50.1  48.9  49.8  49.1  48.3  47.2  44.9
 LCSmax  69.1  67.6  70.3  75.8  72.9  66.7  65.4  70.9  69.6  68.3  66.9  65.3
 LCSmin  46.4  45.8  44.5  43.1  40.8  33.6  38.9  38.5  31.7  37.2  35.4  31.9

 Freq. (Hz):  1.6k  2k  2.5k  3.15k  4k  5k  6.3k  8k  10k  12.5k  16k  20k
 LCeq  41.7  39.6  38.1  36.5  34.1  31.2  29.2  27.4  22.4  17.8  13.8  10.5
 LCSmax  59.8  57.8  55.7  53.4  50.0  46.5  47.1  47.3  38.9  36.2  34.2  36.7
 LCSmin  27.3  22.7  19.1  16.1  13.1  10.4  8.7  7.0  5.2  3.3  1.5  -1.2

 Calibration History
 Preamp  Date  dB re. 1V/Pa
 PRM831  09 Feb 2023 16:47:00  -27.3
 PRM831  05 Jul 2022 17:12:35  -27.5
 PRM831  05 May 2022 10:41:39  -28.3
 PRM831  04 May 2022 07:15:39  -27.7
 PRM831  04 May 2022 07:06:45  -27.6
 PRM831  04 May 2022 07:04:39  -26.0
 PRM831  03 May 2022 17:46:32  -27.6
 PRM831  03 May 2022 15:49:53  -26.0
 PRM831  06 Apr 2022 08:40:52  -27.6
 PRM831  26 Mar 2022 10:22:02  -27.8
 PRM831  07 Mar 2022 12:13:34  -27.4

Item E - 2113 of 2173



 General Information
 Serial Number 02509
 Model 831
 Firmware Version 2.403
 Filename 831_Data.006
 User  GT   
 Job Description  1600 E Francis St Warehouse   
 Location  South of Project Site at 2201 Pinehurst Pl   

 Measurement Description   
 Start Time  Thursday, 2023 February 09 17:35:55   
 Stop Time  Thursday, 2023 February 09 17:50:55   
 Duration 00:15:00.0
 Run Time 00:15:00.0
 Pause 00:00:00.0
 Pre Calibration  Thursday, 2023 February 09 16:47:00   
 Post Calibration None
 Calibration Deviation ---

 Note
 At nearest home South of Project Site, approx 75 ft south of Philadelphia St CL   78 F, 29.18 in Hg, 22% Hu, 8 
 mph wind, clear sky

 Overall Data
 LAeq  65.7  dB
 LASmax  2023 Feb 09 17:37:18  81.5  dB
 LZpeak (max)  2023 Feb 09 17:38:37  105.8  dB
 LASmin  2023 Feb 09 17:46:59  48.9  dB
 LCeq  72.4  dB
 LAeq  65.7  dB
 LCeq - LAeq  6.7  dB
 LAIeq  71.5  dB
 LAeq  65.7  dB
 LAIeq - LAeq  5.9  dB
 Ldn  65.7  dB
 LDay 07:00-22:00  65.7  dB
 LNight 22:00-07:00  ---  dB
 Lden  65.7  dB
 LDay 07:00-19:00  65.7  dB
 LEvening 19:00-22:00  ---  dB
 LNight 22:00-07:00  ---  dB
 LAE  95.2  dB
 # Overloads 0
 Overload Duration  0.0  s
 # OBA Overloads 0
 OBA Overload Duration  0.0  s

 Statistics
 LAS5.00  70.8  dBA
 LAS10.00  69.3  dBA
 LAS33.30  65.3  dBA
 LAS50.00  62.7  dBA
 LAS66.60  59.5  dBA
 LAS90.00  53.9  dBA

 LAS > 65.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  45 / 382.9  s
 LAS > 85.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LZpeak > 135.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LZpeak > 137.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LZpeak > 140.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s

 Settings
 RMS Weight A Weighting
 Peak Weight Z Weighting
 Detector Slow
 Preamp PRM831
 Integration Method Linear
 OBA Range Low
 OBA Bandwidth 1/1 and 1/3
 OBA Freq. Weighting C Weighting
 OBA Max Spectrum Bin Max
 Gain  +0  dB

 Under Range Limit  26.8  dB
 Under Range Peak  79.3  dB
 Noise Floor  17.6  dB
 Overload  144.9  dB

 1/1 Spectra
 Freq. (Hz):  8.0  16.0  31.5  63.0  125  250  500  1k  2k  4k  8k  16k
 LCeq  54.7  59.8  63.7  66.8  65.8  61.3  61.0  62.7  55.9  54.7  40.6  25.3
 LCSmax  72.8  74.3  79.6  83.0  85.1  77.5  76.2  77.8  65.7  79.6  66.1  43.6
 LCSmin  36.8  48.1  54.1  57.2  53.2  47.8  45.2  45.6  36.1  28.0  21.8  11.6

Item E - 2114 of 2173



 1/3 Spectra
 Freq. (Hz):  6.3  8.0  10.0  12.5  16.0  20.0  25.0  31.5  40.0  50.0  63.0  80.0
 LCeq  48.1  49.8  51.4  53.4  56.0  55.2  58.6  58.5  59.6  60.6  63.4  61.6
 LCSmax  64.7  66.0  70.7  69.5  73.5  69.5  78.9  71.2  73.1  72.8  82.9  75.7
 LCSmin  23.1  30.6  33.3  37.6  42.2  43.2  48.3  48.2  48.8  51.3  51.2  52.0

 Freq. (Hz):  100  125  160  200  250  315  400  500  630  800  1k  1.25k
 LCeq  62.6  61.1  58.5  57.5  56.8  54.8  55.7  56.2  56.9  58.5  58.4  56.6
 LCSmax  84.2  80.1  75.3  75.9  75.0  69.8  72.8  71.8  69.6  75.2  70.3  71.7
 LCSmin  47.9  48.6  45.1  43.1  42.0  43.0  39.4  40.2  41.2  41.7  41.2  37.8

 Freq. (Hz):  1.6k  2k  2.5k  3.15k  4k  5k  6.3k  8k  10k  12.5k  16k  20k
 LCeq  53.7  50.4  46.2  42.9  46.2  53.6  32.6  30.0  28.8  22.7  20.1  14.9
 LCSmax  63.4  60.5  57.9  59.5  71.2  79.2  46.2  44.0  51.3  36.0  39.9  38.0
 LCSmin  33.9  29.5  24.8  23.2  22.8  20.6  18.6  16.9  13.4  9.5  5.8  1.0

 Calibration History
 Preamp  Date  dB re. 1V/Pa
 PRM831  09 Feb 2023 16:47:00  -27.3
 PRM831  05 Jul 2022 17:12:35  -27.5
 PRM831  05 May 2022 10:41:39  -28.3
 PRM831  04 May 2022 07:15:39  -27.7
 PRM831  04 May 2022 07:06:45  -27.6
 PRM831  04 May 2022 07:04:39  -26.0
 PRM831  03 May 2022 17:46:32  -27.6
 PRM831  03 May 2022 15:49:53  -26.0
 PRM831  06 Apr 2022 08:40:52  -27.6
 PRM831  26 Mar 2022 10:22:02  -27.8
 PRM831  07 Mar 2022 12:13:34  -27.4

Item E - 2115 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Appendix  C 

 
 
 

APPENDIX C 

 

RCNM Model Construction Noise Calculations 

Item E - 2116 of 2173



Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM),Version 1.1

Report date: 3/7/2023
Case Description: 1600 E Francis St Industrial - Demolition

---- Receptor #1 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homes to Northeast Residential 56.2 56.2 56.2

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Concrete Saw No 20 89.6 1700 0
Excavator No 40 80.7 1700 0
Excavator No 40 80.7 1700 0
Excavator No 40 80.7 1700 0
Dozer No 40 81.7 1700 0
Dozer No 40 81.7 1700 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Concrete Saw 59.0 52.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Excavator 50.1 46.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Excavator 50.1 46.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Excavator 50.1 46.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dozer 51.0 47.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dozer 51.0 47.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 59 56 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

Item E - 2117 of 2173



Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM),Version 1.1

Report date: 3/7/2023
Case Description: 1600 E Francis St Industrial - Demolition

---- Receptor #2 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homest to South Residential 65.7 65.7 65.7

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Concrete Saw No 20 89.6 2000 0
Excavator No 40 80.7 2000 0
Excavator No 40 80.7 2000 0
Excavator No 40 80.7 2000 0
Dozer No 40 81.7 2000 0
Dozer No 40 81.7 2000 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Concrete Saw 57.5 51 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Excavator 48.7 44.7 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Excavator 48.7 44.7 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Excavator 48.7 44.7 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dozer 49.6 45.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dozer 49.6 45.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 58 54 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

Item E - 2118 of 2173



Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM),Version 1.1

Report date: 3/7/2023
Case Description: 1600 E Francis St Industrial - Site Preparation

---- Receptor #1 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homes to Northeast Residential 56.2 56.2 56.2

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Dozer No 40 81.7 1700 0
Dozer No 40 81.7 1700 0
Dozer No 40 81.7 1700 0
Backhoe No 40 77.6 1700 0
Front End Loader No 40 79.1 1700 0
Tractor No 40 84 1700 0
Backhoe No 40 77.6 1700 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Dozer 51.0 47.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dozer 51.0 47.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dozer 51.0 47.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Backhoe 46.9 43.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Front End Loader 48.5 44.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Tractor 53.4 49.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Backhoe 46.9 43.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 53 55 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

Item E - 2119 of 2173



Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM),Version 1.1

Report date: 3/7/2023
Case Description: 1600 E Francis St Industrial - Site Preparation

---- Receptor #2 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homest to South Residential 65.7 65.7 65.7

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Dozer No 40 81.7 2000 0
Dozer No 40 81.7 2000 0
Dozer No 40 81.7 2000 0
Backhoe No 40 77.6 2000 0
Front End Loader No 40 79.1 2000 0
Tractor No 40 84 2000 0
Backhoe No 40 77.6 2000 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Dozer 49.6 45.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dozer 49.6 45.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dozer 49.6 45.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Backhoe 45.5 41.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Front End Loader 47.1 43.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Tractor 52.0 48.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Backhoe 45.5 41.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 52 54 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

Item E - 2120 of 2173



Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM),Version 1.1

Report date: 3/7/2023
Case Description: 1600 E Francis St Industrial - Grading

---- Receptor #1 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homes to Northeast Residential 56.2 56.2 56.2

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Excavator No 40 80.7 1700 0
Excavator No 40 80.7 1700 0
Grader No 40 85 1700 0
Dozer No 40 81.7 1700 0
Backhoe No 40 77.6 1700 0
Front End Loader No 40 79.1 1700 0
Tractor No 40 84 1700 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Excavator 50.1 46.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Excavator 50.1 46.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Grader 54.4 50.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dozer 51.0 47.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Backhoe 46.9 43.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Front End Loader 48.5 44.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Tractor 53.4 49.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 54 56 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

Item E - 2121 of 2173



Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM),Version 1.1

Report date: 3/7/2023
Case Description: 1600 E Francis St Industrial - Grading

---- Receptor #2 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homest to South Residential 65.7 65.7 65.7

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Excavator No 40 80.7 2000 0
Excavator No 40 80.7 2000 0
Grader No 40 85 2000 0
Dozer No 40 81.7 2000 0
Backhoe No 40 77.6 2000 0
Front End Loader No 40 79.1 2000 0
Tractor No 40 84 2000 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Excavator 49.6 45.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Excavator 49.6 45.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Grader 49.6 45.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dozer 45.5 41.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Backhoe 47.1 43.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Front End Loader 52.0 48.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Tractor 45.5 41.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 52 54 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

Item E - 2122 of 2173



Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM),Version 1.1

Report date: 3/7/2023
Case Description: 1600 E Francis St Industrial - Building Construction

---- Receptor #1 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homes to Northeast Residential 56.2 56.2 56.2

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Crane No 16 80.6 1700 0
Gradall No 40 83.4 1700 0
Gradall No 40 83.4 1700 0
Gradall No 40 83.4 1700 0
Generator No 50 80.6 1700 0
Backhoe No 40 77.6 1700 0
Front End Loader No 40 79.1 1700 0
Tractor No 40 84 1700 0
Welder / Torch No 40 74 1700 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Crane 49.9 42.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Gradall 52.8 48.8 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Gradall 52.8 48.8 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Gradall 52.8 48.8 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Generator 50.0 47.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Backhoe 46.9 43.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Front End Loader 48.5 44.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Tractor 53.4 49.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Welder / Torch 43.4 39.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 53 56 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

Item E - 2123 of 2173



Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM),Version 1.1

Report date: 3/7/2023
Case Description: 1600 E Francis St Industrial - Building Construction

---- Receptor #2 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homest to South Residential 65.7 65.7 65.7

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Crane No 16 80.6 2000 0
Gradall No 40 83.4 2000 0
Gradall No 40 83.4 2000 0
Gradall No 40 83.4 2000 0
Generator No 50 80.6 2000 0
Backhoe No 40 77.6 2000 0
Front End Loader No 40 79.1 2000 0
Tractor No 40 84 2000 0
Welder / Torch No 40 74 2000 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Crane 48.5 40.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Gradall 51.4 47.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Gradall 51.4 47.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Gradall 51.4 47.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Generator 48.6 45.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Backhoe 45.5 41.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Front End Loader 47.1 43.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Tractor 52.0 48.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Welder / Torch 42.0 38.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 52 55 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

Item E - 2124 of 2173



Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM),Version 1.1

Report date: 3/7/2023
Case Description: 1600 E Francis St Industrial - Paving

---- Receptor #1 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homes to Northeast Residential 56.2 56.2 56.2

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Paver No 50 77.2 1700 0
Paver No 50 77.2 1700 0
Paver No 50 77.2 1700 0
Paver No 50 77.2 1700 0
Roller No 20 80 1700 0
Roller No 20 80 1700 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Paver 46.6 43.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Paver 46.6 43.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Paver 46.6 43.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Paver 46.6 43.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Roller 49.4 42.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Roller 49.4 42.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 49 51 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

Item E - 2125 of 2173



Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM),Version 1.1

Report date: 3/7/2023
Case Description: 1600 E Francis St Industrial - Paving

---- Receptor #2 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homest to South Residential 65.7 65.7 65.7

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Paver No 50 77.2 2000 0
Paver No 50 77.2 2000 0
Paver No 50 77.2 2000 0
Paver No 50 77.2 2000 0
Roller No 20 80 2000 0
Roller No 20 80 2000 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Paver 45.2 42 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Paver 45.2 42.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Paver 45.2 42.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Paver 45.2 42.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Roller 48.0 41.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Roller 48.0 41.0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 48 50 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

Item E - 2126 of 2173



Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM),Version 1.1

Report date: 3/7/2023
Case Description: 1600 E Francis St Industrial - Painting

---- Receptor #1 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homes to Northeast Residential 56.2 56.2 56.2

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Compressor (air) No 40 77.7 1700 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Compressor (air) 47.0 43.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 47 43 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

---- Receptor #2 ----
Baselines (dBA)

Description Land Use Daytime Evening Night
Nearest Homest to South Residential 65.7 65.7 65.7

Equipment
Spec Actual Receptor Estimated

Impact Lmax Lmax Distance Shielding
Description Device Usage(%) (dBA) (dBA) (feet) (dBA)
Compressor (air) No 40 77.7 2000 0

Results
Calculated (dBA) Noise Limits (dBA)

Day Evening
Equipment *Lmax Leq Lmax Leq Lmax Leq
Compressor (air) 45.6 41.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Total 46 42 N/A N/A N/A N/A
*Calculated Lmax is the Loudest value.

Item E - 2127 of 2173



    
 

 
1600 East Francis Street Industrial Project, Noise Impact Analysis 
City of Ontario 

 Appendix  D 

 
 
 

APPENDIX D 

 

Operational Reference Noise Measurements Printouts 

 

 

Item E - 2128 of 2173



 General Information
 Serial Number 02509
 Model 831
 Firmware Version 2.112
 Filename 831_Data.005
 User  GT   
 Job Description  Northwest Fresno Walmart Relocation   
 Location  Rooftop HVAC Unit   

 Measurement Description   
 Start Time  Saturday, 2013 July 27 18:31:43   
 Stop Time  Saturday, 2013 July 27 18:41:44   
 Duration 00:10:01.1
 Run Time 00:10:01.1
 Pause 00:00:00.0
 Pre Calibration  Saturday, 2013 July 27 17:53:07   
 Post Calibration None
 Calibration Deviation ---

 Note
 Located 10 feet southeast of rooftop HVAC Unit 14 located on western side of roof
 94 F, 30% Hu., 29.45 in Hg, no wind, partly cloudy

 Overall Data
 LAeq  66.6  dB
 LASmax  2013 Jul 27 18:33:16  67.6  dB
 LApeak (max)  2013 Jul 27 18:32:17  81.6  dB
 LASmin  2013 Jul 27 18:41:08  65.8  dB
 LCeq  75.8  dB
 LAeq  66.6  dB
 LCeq - LAeq  9.2  dB
 LAIeq  67.2  dB
 LAeq  66.6  dB
 LAIeq - LAeq  0.6  dB
 Ldn  66.6  dB
 LDay 07:00-23:00  66.6  dB
 LNight 23:00-07:00  ---  dB
 Lden  66.6  dB
 LDay 07:00-19:00  66.6  dB
 LEvening 19:00-23:00  ---  dB
 LNight 23:00-07:00  ---  dB
 LAE  94.4  dB
 # Overloads 0
 Overload Duration  0.0  s
 # OBA Overloads 0
 OBA Overload Duration  0.0  s

 Statistics
 LAS5.00  67.0  dBA
 LAS10.00  66.9  dBA
 LAS33.30  66.7  dBA
 LAS50.00  66.6  dBA
 LAS66.60  66.5  dBA
 LAS90.00  66.3  dBA

 LAS > 65.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  1 / 601.1  s
 LAS > 85.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LApeak > 135.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LApeak > 137.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s
 LApeak > 140.0 dB (Exceedence Counts / Duration)  0 /   0.0  s

 Settings
 RMS Weight A Weighting
 Peak Weight A Weighting
 Detector Slow
 Preamp PRM831
 Integration Method Linear
 OBA Range Normal
 OBA Bandwidth 1/1 and 1/3
 OBA Freq. Weighting Z Weighting
 OBA Max Spectrum Bin Max
 Gain  +0  dB

 Under Range Limit  26.2  dB
 Under Range Peak  75.8  dB
 Noise Floor  17.1  dB
 Overload  143.4  dB

 1/1 Spectra
 Freq. (Hz):  8.0  16.0  31.5  63.0  125  250  500  1k  2k  4k  8k  16k
 LZeq  70.9  64.4  61.4  74.2  68.2  64.9  66.3  61.7  55.1  49.9  44.3  44.0
 LZSmax  83.8  78.9  70.0  78.4  72.3  66.1  67.8  63.1  56.9  53.2  46.7  45.4
 LZSmin  53.2  56.5  56.7  67.7  66.1  63.5  65.0  60.7  53.9  48.4  43.2  43.7

Item E - 2129 of 2173



 1/3 Spectra
 Freq. (Hz):  6.3  8.0  10.0  12.5  16.0  20.0  25.0  31.5  40.0  50.0  63.0  80.0
 LZeq  68.1  65.7  63.2  61.0  58.0  59.3  56.0  57.8  55.8  69.7  72.0  59.3
 LZSmax  82.3  79.5  78.7  77.2  72.8  72.3  67.9  63.5  64.0  74.2  76.1  72.0
 LZSmin  41.9  46.3  48.8  48.7  46.5  49.7  50.1  51.8  41.2  63.9  67.9  54.5

 Freq. (Hz):  100  125  160  200  250  315  400  500  630  800  1k  1.25k
 LZeq  61.6  63.7  64.5  59.0  58.7  60.9  63.2  60.8  59.9  59.2  56.1  54.6
 LZSmax  71.3  68.0  67.3  61.6  61.7  64.1  65.5  64.2  62.0  60.7  57.6  58.6
 LZSmin  52.9  60.0  57.2  45.1  56.0  58.9  61.1  58.4  58.4  57.1  54.9  53.3

 Freq. (Hz):  1.6k  2k  2.5k  3.15k  4k  5k  6.3k  8k  10k  12.5k  16k  20k
 LZeq  52.0  49.8  48.4  46.4  45.4  42.8  41.1  38.6  38.5  38.4  39.0  40.2
 LZSmax  54.4  52.3  51.2  50.2  49.7  45.7  45.4  41.6  40.4  40.4  41.4  41.3
 LZSmin  50.9  48.4  46.9  45.0  43.7  41.4  39.6  37.5  37.9  38.0  38.7  39.9

 Calibration History
 Preamp  Date  dB re. 1V/Pa
 PRM831  27 Jul 2013 17:53:07  -25.9
 PRM831  27 Jul 2013 13:36:08  -25.6
 PRM831  28 Apr 2013 15:34:24  -25.9
 PRM831  23 Apr 2013 10:17:33  -25.0
 PRM831  27 Feb 2013 19:15:30  -25.7
 PRM831  24 Jan 2013 12:00:16  -25.6
 PRM831  15 Jan 2013 07:50:44  -26.2
 PRM831  04 Jan 2013 13:47:46  -26.5

Item E - 2130 of 2173



Summary

File Name 831_Data.002
Serial Number 0002509
Model Model 831
Firmware Version 2.301
User GT
Location At 7080 Mayten Ave ‐ Edge of MFR Parking Lot
Job Description Mayten & Foothill
Note

Measurement Description

Start 2015‐09‐10  15:54:09
Stop 2015‐09‐10  16:10:10
Duration 0:16:00.5
Run Time 0:16:00.5
Pause 0:00:00.0

Pre Calibration 2015‐09‐10  15:32:49
Post Calibration None
Calibration Deviation ‐‐‐

Overall Settings

RMS Weight A Weighting
Peak Weight A Weighting
Detector Slow
Preamp PRM831
Microphone Correction Off
Integration Method Linear
OBA Range High
OBA Bandwidth 1/1 and 1/3
OBA Freq. Weighting Z Weighting
OBA Max Spectrum Bin Max
Gain 0.0 dB
Overload 143.1 dB

A C Z

Under Range Peak 75.6 72.6 77.6 dB
Under Range Limit 26.1 26.4 31.8 dB
Noise Floor 17.0 17.3 22.5 dB

Results

LAeq 52.1 dB
LAE 81.9 dB
EA 17.242 µPa²h
LApeak (max) 2015‐09‐10  16:03:36 98.6 dB
LASmax 2015‐09‐10  16:03:36 74.6 dB
LASmin 2015‐09‐10  15:54:57 41.3 dB
SEA ‐99.9 dB

LAS > 65.0 dB (Exceedance Counts / Duration) 6 11.6 s

Item E - 2131 of 2173



LAS > 85.0 dB (Exceedance Counts / Duration) 0 0.0 s
LApeak > 135.0 dB (Exceedance Counts / Duration) 0 0.0 s
LApeak > 137.0 dB (Exceedance Counts / Duration) 0 0.0 s
LApeak > 140.0 dB (Exceedance Counts / Duration) 0 0.0 s

Community Noise Ldn7:00‐23:0023:00‐07:00 Lden

52.1 52.1 ‐99.9 52.1
LCeq 65.0 dB
LAeq 52.1 dB
LCeq ‐ LAeq 12.9 dB
LAIeq 61.6 dB
LAeq 52.1 dB
LAIeq ‐ LAeq 9.5 dB
# Overloads 0
Overload Duration 0.0 s
# OBA Overloads 0
OBA Overload Duration 0.0 s

Statistics

LAS5.00 55.0 dB
LAS10.00 53.4 dB
LAS33.30 49.1 dB
LAS50.00 47.1 dB
LAS66.60 45.8 dB
LAS90.00 43.9 dB

Calibration History

Preamp Date re. 1V/Pa 6.3

PRM831 2015‐09‐10  15:32:49 ‐25.6 73.9
PRM831 2015‐08‐14  17:54:36 ‐26.3 36.4
PRM831 2015‐08‐05  20:29:18 ‐24.7 64.2
PRM831 2015‐07‐24  14:47:10 ‐25.6 60.9
PRM831 2015‐05‐05  14:56:20 ‐25.8 61.2
PRM831 2015‐04‐22  8:42:55 ‐26.3 58.2
PRM831 2015‐04‐17  11:29:03 ‐26.3 21.3
PRM831 2015‐04‐17  9:59:48 ‐26.0 30.6
PRM831 2015‐04‐17  8:00:28 ‐26.0 9.4
PRM831 2061‐08‐11  15:40:00 ‐26.0 44.2
PRM831 2014‐10‐15  14:30:38 ‐26.0 72.4

Item E - 2132 of 2173



SLM & RTA Summary 13 Jul 2009, 09:50:31 Page 1

File Translated: Z:\Vista Env\2008\081101-Los Banos Wal-Mart\Noise Measurements\5.slmdl
Model/Serial Number: 824 / A3176
Firmware/Software Revs: 4.272 / 3.120
Name: Vista Environmental
Descr1: 1021 Didrikson Way
Descr2: Laguna Beach, CA 92651
Setup/Setup Descr: slm&rta.ssa / SLM & Real-Time Analyzer
Location:
Note1:
Note2:

Overall Any Data
Start Time: 20-Jan-2009 14:40:19
Elapsed Time: 00:10:00.6

A Weight C Weight Flat
Leq: 63.3 dBA 68.8 dBC 69.5 dBF
SEL: 91.1 dBA 96.6 dBC 97.3 dBF
Peak: 90.1 dBA 93.2 dBC 93.2 dBF

20-Jan-2009 14:43:19 20-Jan-2009 14:41:22 20-Jan-2009 14:41:22

Lmax (slow): 76.4 dBA 79.3 dBC 80.2 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:43:19 20-Jan-2009 14:43:19 20-Jan-2009 14:43:19

Lmin (slow): 41.0 dBA 58.0 dBC 59.7 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:41:35 20-Jan-2009 14:42:11 20-Jan-2009 14:42:11

Lmax (fast): 77.4 dBA 81.6 dBC 83.2 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:43:19 20-Jan-2009 14:43:19 20-Jan-2009 14:43:19

Lmin (fast): 39.8 dBA 56.9 dBC 58.8 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:42:33 20-Jan-2009 14:42:11 20-Jan-2009 14:42:08

Lmax (impulse): 78.8 dBA 84.7 dBC 85.3 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:44:25 20-Jan-2009 14:41:22 20-Jan-2009 14:41:22

Lmin (impulse): 41.1 dBA 58.5 dBC 61.0 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:42:11 20-Jan-2009 14:42:11 20-Jan-2009 14:42:08

Spectra
Date Time Run Time
20-Jan-2009 14:40:19 00:10:00.6

Hz HzLeq1/3 Leq1/3Leq1/1 Leq1/1Max1/3 Max1/3Max1/1 Max1/1Min1/3 Min1/3Min1/1 Min1/1
12.5 52.8 65.8 31.8 630 56.0 68.6 27.4
16.0 53.6 59.3 65.4 71.2 36.1 39.5 800 54.3 67.2 27.6
20.0 56.3 67.7 35.1 1000 52.9 58.3 67.4 72.1 26.7 31.6
25.0 56.1 77.1 39.3 1250 53.4 67.3 26.2
31.5 60.2 63.4 77.3 81.5 38.9 44.9 1600 53.8 69.4 25.0
40.0 58.8 75.6 41.6 2000 53.2 57.7 68.0 72.7 21.3 27.2
50.0 58.3 68.8 45.6 2500 51.6 65.7 18.9
63.0 58.5 64.0 67.2 73.0 44.9 49.8 3150 48.5 62.2 17.4
80.0 60.6 68.4 44.4 4000 45.9 51.7 59.8 65.8 15.8 21.0
100 57.5 67.8 40.1 5000 45.8 60.9 15.0
125 57.0 61.7 70.6 73.4 41.3 45.1 6300 43.6 58.4 14.7
160 56.3 66.2 39.5 8000 41.9 46.8 54.6 61.2 15.0 19.9
200 52.9 61.5 35.0 10000 39.9 55.3 15.5
250 52.8 56.9 62.3 66.4 34.4 38.4 12500 37.2 52.9 15.9
315 50.4 60.9 30.3 16000 33.0 38.9 48.9 54.7 17.3 22.4
400 52.0 63.8 30.8 20000 27.1 44.0 19.0
500 52.8 58.7 66.2 71.4 27.6 33.7

Ln Start Level: 15 dB
L1.00 0.0 dBA L50.00 0.0 dBA L95.00 0.0 dBA
L5.00 0.0 dBA L90.00 0.0 dBA L99.00 0.0 dBA

Detector: Slow
Weighting: A
SPL Exceedance Level 1:   85.0 dB Exceeded: 0 times
SPL Exceedance level 2:    120 dB Exceeded: 0 times
Peak-1 Exceedance Level:    105 dB Exceeded: 0 times
Peak-2 Exceedance Level:    100 dB Exceeded: 0 times
Hysteresis: 2
Overloaded: 0 time(s)
Paused: 0 times for 00:00:00.0

10 feet south of Walmart truck loading area
Noise from a truck unloading and trailer transfer and from  mechanical push sweeper

Item E - 2133 of 2173



SLM & RTA Summary 13 Jul 2009, 09:50:31 Page 2

File Translated: Z:\Vista Env\2008\081101-Los Banos Wal-Mart\Noise Measurements\5.slmdl
Model/Serial Number: 824 / A3176

Current Any Data
Start Time: 20-Jan-2009 14:40:19
Elapsed Time: 00:10:00.6

A Weight C Weight Flat
Leq: 63.3 dBA 68.8 dBC 69.5 dBF
SEL: 91.1 dBA 96.6 dBC 97.3 dBF
Peak: 90.1 dBA 93.2 dBC 93.2 dBF

20-Jan-2009 14:43:19 20-Jan-2009 14:41:22 20-Jan-2009 14:41:22

Lmax (slow): 76.4 dBA 79.3 dBC 80.2 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:43:19 20-Jan-2009 14:43:19 20-Jan-2009 14:43:19

Lmin (slow): 41.0 dBA 58.0 dBC 59.7 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:41:35 20-Jan-2009 14:42:11 20-Jan-2009 14:42:11

Lmax (fast): 77.4 dBA 81.6 dBC 83.2 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:43:19 20-Jan-2009 14:43:19 20-Jan-2009 14:43:19

Lmin (fast): 39.8 dBA 56.9 dBC 58.8 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:42:33 20-Jan-2009 14:42:11 20-Jan-2009 14:42:08

Lmax (impulse): 78.8 dBA 84.7 dBC 85.3 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:44:25 20-Jan-2009 14:41:22 20-Jan-2009 14:41:22

Lmin (impulse): 41.1 dBA 58.5 dBC 61.0 dBF
20-Jan-2009 14:42:11 20-Jan-2009 14:42:11 20-Jan-2009 14:42:08

Calibrated: 20-Jan-2009 08:31:09 Offset:  -49.2 dB
Checked: 20-Jan-2009 08:31:09 Level:   94.0 dB
Calibrator not set Level:   94.0 dB
Cal Records Count: 0

Interval Records: Disabled Number Interval Records:     0
History Records: Disabled Number History Records:     0
Run/Stop Records: Number Run/Stop Records:     2

Item E - 2134 of 2173



SLM & RTA Summary 22 May 2011, 15:14:22 Page 1

File Translated: V:\Vista Env\2010\10022-Fresno Walmart\Noise Measurements\LD\10.slmdl
Model/Serial Number: 824 / A3176
Firmware/Software Revs: 4.283 / 3.120
Name:                               
Descr1: 1021 Didrikson Way            
Descr2: Laguna Beach, CA 92651        
Setup/Setup Descr: slm&rta.ssa / SLM & Real-Time Analyzer      
Location: At pallet stacking area on north side of Walmart
Note1: Approx. 10' from operational forklift
Note2: 70F, 29.43 in Hg, 27% Humid., 4 mph wind, partly cloudy

Overall Any Data
Start Time: 18-May-2011 17:21:20
Elapsed Time: 00:04:00.7

A Weight C Weight Flat
Leq: 74.4 dBA 80.5 dBC 81.0 dBF
SEL: 98.2 dBA 104.3 dBC 104.8 dBF
Peak: 108.4 dBA 109.1 dBC 109.1 dBF

18-May-2011 17:24:51 18-May-2011 17:24:44 18-May-2011 17:24:48

Lmax (slow): 87.9 dBA 90.9 dBC 91.0 dBF
18-May-2011 17:24:49 18-May-2011 17:24:49 18-May-2011 17:24:49

Lmin (slow): 62.8 dBA 68.6 dBC 69.7 dBF
18-May-2011 17:21:34 18-May-2011 17:21:33 18-May-2011 17:21:33

Lmax (fast): 91.7 dBA 93.9 dBC 94.0 dBF
18-May-2011 17:24:48 18-May-2011 17:24:48 18-May-2011 17:24:48

Lmin (fast): 59.2 dBA 67.1 dBC 68.2 dBF
18-May-2011 17:21:28 18-May-2011 17:21:30 18-May-2011 17:21:30

Lmax (impulse): 94.3 dBA 96.2 dBC 96.3 dBF
18-May-2011 17:24:51 18-May-2011 17:24:44 18-May-2011 17:24:48

Lmin (impulse): 63.1 dBA 69.1 dBC 70.4 dBF
18-May-2011 17:23:23 18-May-2011 17:21:33 18-May-2011 17:21:33

Spectra
Date Time Run Time
18-May-2011 17:21:20 00:04:00.7

Hz HzLeq1/3 Leq1/3Leq1/1 Leq1/1Max1/3 Max1/3Max1/1 Max1/1Min1/3 Min1/3Min1/1 Min1/1
12.5 63.2 76.2 39.0 630 67.7 84.8 45.8
16.0 60.8 66.2 73.2 78.3 41.6 45.6 800 64.6 83.9 47.6
20.0 59.6 67.5 41.5 1000 63.1 68.6 82.1 86.9 46.7 52.4
25.0 62.7 70.0 44.6 1250 63.6 79.1 48.4
31.5 67.6 72.5 68.8 73.9 46.6 51.1 1600 63.8 79.9 48.8
40.0 70.0 68.5 47.3 2000 61.7 66.9 81.9 84.9 46.3 51.4
50.0 70.4 68.1 48.0 2500 60.1 77.6 42.6
63.0 71.6 76.2 83.2 86.2 51.8 55.4 3150 63.4 76.7 41.0
80.0 72.1 83.1 51.2 4000 53.5 64.2 73.4 79.7 36.6 43.3
100 68.5 73.7 51.0 5000 53.5 74.0 36.4
125 68.7 73.9 77.6 82.2 50.3 54.9 6300 49.8 69.2 32.9
160 70.1 79.2 48.9 8000 47.2 52.2 66.0 71.2 30.3 35.3
200 68.1 77.5 51.5 10000 42.4 59.4 25.8
250 63.4 69.9 73.7 80.0 46.3 53.3 12500 39.5 57.8 24.0
315 60.2 73.2 45.0 16000 34.8 41.1 52.6 59.4 23.0 27.7
400 65.6 78.8 48.7 20000 30.1 48.9 21.3
500 69.1 72.5 85.1 88.5 48.5 52.6

Ln Start Level: 15 dB
L1.00 0.0 dBA L50.00 0.0 dBA L95.00 0.0 dBA
L5.00 0.0 dBA L90.00 0.0 dBA L99.00 0.0 dBA

Detector: Slow
Weighting: A
SPL Exceedance Level 1:   85.0 dB Exceeded: 1 times
SPL Exceedance level 2:    120 dB Exceeded: 0 times
Peak-1 Exceedance Level:    105 dB Exceeded: 4 times
Peak-2 Exceedance Level:    100 dB Exceeded: 4 times
Hysteresis: 2
Overloaded: 0 time(s)
Paused: 0 times for 00:00:00.0

Item E - 2135 of 2173



SLM & RTA Summary 22 May 2011, 15:14:22 Page 2

File Translated: V:\Vista Env\2010\10022-Fresno Walmart\Noise Measurements\LD\10.slmdl
Model/Serial Number: 824 / A3176

Current Any Data
Start Time: 18-May-2011 17:21:20
Elapsed Time: 00:04:00.7

A Weight C Weight Flat
Leq: 74.4 dBA 80.5 dBC 81.0 dBF
SEL: 98.2 dBA 104.3 dBC 104.8 dBF
Peak: 108.4 dBA 109.1 dBC 109.1 dBF

18-May-2011 17:24:51 18-May-2011 17:24:44 18-May-2011 17:24:48

Lmax (slow): 87.9 dBA 90.9 dBC 91.0 dBF
18-May-2011 17:24:49 18-May-2011 17:24:49 18-May-2011 17:24:49

Lmin (slow): 62.8 dBA 68.6 dBC 69.7 dBF
18-May-2011 17:21:34 18-May-2011 17:21:33 18-May-2011 17:21:33

Lmax (fast): 91.7 dBA 93.9 dBC 94.0 dBF
18-May-2011 17:24:48 18-May-2011 17:24:48 18-May-2011 17:24:48

Lmin (fast): 59.2 dBA 67.1 dBC 68.2 dBF
18-May-2011 17:21:28 18-May-2011 17:21:30 18-May-2011 17:21:30

Lmax (impulse): 94.3 dBA 96.2 dBC 96.3 dBF
18-May-2011 17:24:51 18-May-2011 17:24:44 18-May-2011 17:24:48

Lmin (impulse): 63.1 dBA 69.1 dBC 70.4 dBF
18-May-2011 17:23:23 18-May-2011 17:21:33 18-May-2011 17:21:33

Calibrated: 18-May-2011 13:09:02 Offset:  -48.2 dB
Checked: 19-May-2011 06:46:08 Level:  113.9 dB
Calibrator not set Level:  114.0 dB
Cal Records Count: 0

Interval Records: Disabled Number Interval Records:     0
History Records: Disabled Number History Records:     0
Run/Stop Records: Number Run/Stop Records:     2

Item E - 2136 of 2173



 
 

 
Urban Planning ■ Due Diligence ■ Entitlements ■ CEQA/NEPA ■ Development Services ■ Management ■ Public Outreach 

2355 Main Street, Suite 100, Irvine, CA 92614 
 949.794.1180 ■ info@epdsolutions.com 

Date: January 20, 2023 

Prepared by: Daji Yuan, Ph.D.; Meghan Macias, TE  

To: City of Ontario 

Site: 1600 East Francis Street Warehouse Development 

Subject:   Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) Screening Memo 

This memo evaluates the potential vehicle miles traveled (VMT) for the 1600 East Francis Street 
Warehouse Development in the City of Ontario. The existing 6.98-acre site has a General Plan 
land use designation of Industrial and is zoned as General Industrial (IG). The site is currently 
developed with 29,400 square feet (SF) of industrial use with a storage yard. The project proposes 
to demolish the existing buildings and construct a 167,174 SF warehouse with 15% allocated for 
cold storage. The project site plan is shown in Figure 1 – Project Site Plan. Regional access to the 
project site is provided by SR-83 to the west of the project, and SR-60 to the south of the project. 
Both of these state routes connected to Francis Street which is located immediately north of the 
project site. This memo provides a Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) analysis based on the requirements 
of the City Council Resolution No. 2020-071, which provides methodology and thresholds for 
Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) analysis. 

Project Trip Generation 

The project trip generation was prepared using trip rates from the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE)1 Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition. The existing industrial use was analyzed using 
General Light Industrial (ITE Land Use Code 110) and the proposed warehouse use was analyzed 
using Warehousing (ITE Land Use Code 150). Project truck trips were determined using data from 
the South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD) Warehouse Truck Trip Study Data 
Results and Usage2. 

Table 1 presents the estimated trip generation for existing land use the proposed project. As shown 
in Table 1, the project is forecast to generate 54 net increase in daily passenger vehicle trips 
including 0 net increase in passenger vehicle trips during the AM peak hour and 3 net increase in 
passenger vehicle trips during the PM peak hour. 

Background 

Senate Bill (SB) 743 was signed by Governor Brown in 2013 and required the Governor’s Office 
of Planning and Research (OPR) to amend the CEQA Guidelines to provide an alternative to LOS 
for evaluating Transportation impacts. SB743 specified that the new criteria should promote the 
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, the development of multimodal transportation networks and 
a diversity of land uses. The bill also specified that delay-based level of service could no longer 
be considered an indicator of a significant impact on the environment. In response, Section 15064.3 
was added to the CEQA Guidelines beginning January 1, 2019. Section 15064.3 – Determining 

 
1 Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE). 2021. 
2 SCAQMD Warehouse Truck Trip Study Data Results and Usage, July 17, 2014. 

Item E - 2137 of 2173



1600 East Francis Street Warehouse 
Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) Screening Memo 

Page | 2 

the Significance of Transportation Impacts states that Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) is the most 
appropriate measure of transportation impacts and provides lead agencies with the discretion to 
choose the most appropriate methodology and thresholds for evaluating VMT. Section 15064.3I 
states that the provisions of the section shall apply statewide beginning on July 1, 2020. 

Vehicle Miles Traveled Screening Analysis 

The project is located in the City of Ontario. The City has adopted VMT guidelines in City Council 
Resolution No. 2020-071, which provides methodology and thresholds for Vehicle Miles Traveled 
(VMT) analysis. The City Council Resolution No. 2020-071 provides criteria for projects that would 
be considered to have a less-than significant impact on VMT and therefore could be screened out 
from further analysis. If a project meets one of the following criteria, then the VMT impact of the 
project is considered less-than significant and no further analysis of VMT would be required: 

1. The project is located within a Transit Priority Area (TPA). 
2. The project is located in a low VMT area. 
3. The project generates fewer than 110 daily vehicle trips. 
4. The project is a local-serving land use. 

The applicability of each criterion to the project is discussed below. 

Screening Criteria–1 - Transit Priority Area Screening (TPA): According to the City’s guidelines, 
projects located in a TPA may be presumed to have a less than significant impact. The project is not 
located in a TPA, therefore the project would not satisfy the requirements of Screening Criteria 1 – 
TPA screening. 

Screening Criteria–2 - Low VMT Area Screening: The City’s guidelines include a screening threshold 
for projects located in a low VMT generating area. Low VMT generating area is defined as traffic 
analysis zones (TAZs) with a total daily VMT/Service Population (employment plus population) that 
is 15% below County Baseline VMT/Service Population. The project’s site was evaluated using the 
SBCTA VMT Screening Tool (SBCTA VMT Screening Tool (arcgis.com)). As shown in Figure 3, the 
VMT/Service Population of the project area is 56.7, which is higher than the 28.3 threshold. 
Therefore, the project would not meet Screening Criteria 2 – Low-VMT Area Screening. 

Screening Criteria 3 –Project Type: According to the City’s guidelines, projects which generate 
fewer than 110 daily vehicle trips, propose local serving retail (retail projects less than 50,000 
square feet) or other local serving uses would have a less than significant impact on VMT. As shown 
in Table 1, the project would generate less than 110 daily passenger vehicle trips. Therefore, the 
project would meet Screening Criteria 3. 

Screening Criteria 4 – Local Serving Land Use: According to the City’s guidelines, projects which 
serve the local community would be assumed to have a negligible impact upon the City’s VMT and 
therefore would not be required to complete a VMT assessment. These types of projects include K-
12 schools, local serving retail, day care centers, gas station, banks, and student housing. The project 
does not propose a local-serving use as defined in the guidelines. Therefore, the project would not 
meet Screening Criteria 4. 

Because the proposed project would meet the City’s screening criteria 3, the project’s impact on 
VMT would be considered less than significant and no further analysis of VMT would be required. 

Item E - 2138 of 2173



1600 East Francis Street Warehouse 
Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) Screening Memo 

Page | 3 

Figure 1: Project Site Plan 

 
Source: HPA Inc 

Item E - 2139 of 2173



1600 East Francis Street Warehouse 
Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) Screening Memo 

Page | 4 

Table 1: Project Trip Generation 

 

Land Use Units Daily In Out Total In Out Total

Trip Rates 

General Light Industrial1 TSF 4.87 0.65 0.09 0.74 0.09 0.56 0.65

Warehousing2
TSF 1.71 0.13 0.04 0.17 0.05 0.13 0.18

Existing Vehicle Trip Generation

General Light Industrial1 29.400 TSF 143 19 3 22 3 16 19

Vehicle Mix 3

Passenger Vehicles 72.50% 104 14 2 16 2 12 14
2-Axle Trucks 4.60% 7 1 0 1 0 1 1
3-Axle Trucks 5.70% 8 1 0 1 0 1 1
4+-Axle Trucks 17.20% 25 3 1 4 0 3 3

143 19 3 22 3 16 19

Proposed Vehicle Trip Generation

Warehouse2 167.174 TSF 286 21 7 28 8 22 30

Vehicle Mix 4 Percent

Passenger Vehicles 55.30% 158 12 4 16 5 12 17
2-Axle Trucks 15.50% 44 3 1 4 1 3 4
3-Axle Trucks 4.90% 14 1 0 1 0 1 1
4+-Axle Trucks 24.30% 69 5 2 7 2 6 8

100% 286 21 7 28 8 22 30

Total Net Trip Generation 54 -2 2 0 3 0 3
TSF = Thousand Square Feet

3
 Vehicle Mix from the High-Cube Warehouse Vehicle Trip Generation Analysis (2016) Table A1 SCAQMD. SCAQMD Truck 

Trip Study Data Results and Usage, July 17, 2014 without cold storage
4
 Vehicle Mix from the High-Cube Warehouse Vehicle Trip Generation Analysis (2016) Table A1 SCAQMD. SCAQMD Truck 

Trip Study Data Results and Usage, July 17, 2014 with cold storage

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour

1
 Trip rates from the Institute of Transportation Engineers, Trip Generation Manual,11th Edition, 2021 . Land Use Code 110 - 

General Light Industrial.
2
 Trip rates from the Institute of Transportation Engineers, Trip Generation Manual,11th Edition, 2021 . Land Use Code 150 - 

Warehousing.

Item E - 2140 of 2173



1600 East Francis Street Warehouse 
Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) Screening Memo 

Page | 5 

Figure 2: Low VMT Screening 

 

Item E - 2141 of 2173



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment B – Conditions of Approval 

(Conditions of Approval to follow this page) 

Item E - 2142 of 2173



 

Page 1 of 5 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

LAND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
Date Prepared: 7/19/2023 
 
File No: PDEV22-050 
 
Project Description: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct one industrial 
building totaling 167,174 square feet on 6.98 acres of land located at 1600 East Francis Street, 
within the General Industrial (IG) zoning district. (APNs: 113-381-03, 113-381-04, 113-381-05 &  
113-381-06); submitted by DPIF3 CA 40 LC at 60 Freeway, LLC. 
 
Prepared By: Robert Morales, Assistant Planner 

Phone: 909.395.2432 (direct) 
Email: Rmorales@ontarioca.gov 

 
 

The Planning Department, Land Development Section, conditions of approval applicable 
to the above-described Project, are listed below. The Project shall comply with each condition of 
approval listed below: 
 
1.0 Standard Conditions of Approval. The project shall comply with the Standard Conditions 
for New Development, adopted by City Council Resolution No. 2017-027 on April 18, 2017. A copy 
of the Standard Conditions for New Development may be obtained from the Planning 
Department or City Clerk/Records Management Department. 
 
2.0 Special Conditions of Approval. In addition to the Standard Conditions for New 
Development identified in condition no. 1.0, above, the project shall comply with the following 
special conditions of approval: 
 

2.1 Time Limits. 
 

(a) Development Plan approval shall become null and void 2 years following 
the effective date of application approval, unless a building permit is issued and construction is 
commenced, and diligently pursued toward completion, or a time extension has been approved 
by the Planning Director. This condition does not supersede any individual time limits specified 
herein, or any other departmental conditions of approval applicable to the Project, for the 
performance of specific conditions or improvements. 
 

2.2 General Requirements. The Project shall comply with the following general 
requirements: 

 
(a) All construction documentation shall be coordinated for consistency, 

including, but not limited to, architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, landscape 
and irrigation, grading, utility and street improvement plans. All such plans shall be consistent with 
the approved entitlement plans on file with the Planning Department. 
 

Item E - 2143 of 2173



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-050 
 
 

Page 2 of 5 

(b) The project site shall be developed in conformance with the approved 
plans on file with the City. Any variation from the approved plans must be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Department prior to building permit issuance. 
 

(c) The herein-listed conditions of approval from all City departments shall be 
included in the construction plan set for project, which shall be maintained on site during project 
construction. 
 

2.3 Landscaping.  
 

(a) The Project shall provide and continuously maintain landscaping and 
irrigation systems in compliance with the provisions of Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping). 
 

(b) Comply with the conditions of approval of the Planning Department; 
Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(c) Landscaping shall not be installed until the Landscape and Irrigation 
Construction Documentation Plans required by Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping) have been approved by the Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(d) Changes to approved Landscape and Irrigation Construction 
Documentation Plans, which affect the character or quantity of the plant material or irrigation 
system design, shall be resubmitted for approval of the revision by the Landscape Planning 
Division, prior to the commencement of the changes. 
 

2.4 Walls and Fences. All Project walls and fences shall comply with the requirements 
of Ontario Development Code Division 6.02 (Walls, Fences and Obstructions). 
 

2.5 Parking, Circulation and Access. 
 

(a) The Project shall comply with the applicable off-street parking, loading and 
lighting requirements of City of Ontario Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading). 
 

(b) All drive approaches shall be provided with an enhanced pavement 
treatment. The enhanced paving shall extend from the back of the approach apron, into the site, 
to the first intersecting drive aisle or parking space. 

 
(c) Areas provided to meet the City’s parking requirements, including off-street 

parking and loading spaces, access drives, and maneuvering areas, shall not be used for the 
outdoor storage of materials and equipment, nor shall it be used for any other purpose than 
parking. 

 
(d) The required number of off-street parking spaces and/or loading spaces 

shall be provided at the time of site and/or building occupancy. All parking and loading spaces 
shall be maintained in good condition for the duration of the building or use. 

 

Item E - 2144 of 2173



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-050 
 
 

Page 3 of 5 

(e) Parking spaces specifically designated and conveniently located for use 
by the physically disabled shall be provided pursuant to current accessibility regulations 
contained in State law (CCR Title 24, Part 2, Chapters 2B71, and CVC Section 22507.8). 

 
(f) Bicycle parking facilities, including bicycle racks, lockers, and other secure 

facilities, shall be provided in conjunction with development projects pursuant to current 
regulations contained in CALGreen (CAC Title 24, Part 11). Final design and placement of bicycle 
parking facilities shall be subject to Planning Department review and approval. 

 
2.6 Outdoor Loading and Storage Areas. 

 
(a) Loading facilities shall be designed and constructed pursuant to 

Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and Loading). 
 

(b) Areas designated for off-street parking, loading, and vehicular circulation 
and maneuvering, shall not be used for the outdoor storage of materials or equipment. 
 

(c) Outdoor loading and storage areas, and loading doors, shall be screened 
from public view pursuant to the requirements of Development Code Paragraph 6.02.025.A.2 
(Screening of Outdoor Loading and Storage Areas, and Loading Doors) Et Seq. 
 

(d) Outdoor loading and storage areas shall be provided with gates that are 
view-obstructing by one of the following methods: 
 

(i) Construct gates with a perforated metal sheet affixed to the inside 
of the gate surface (50 percent screen); or 

(ii) Construct gates with minimum one-inch square tube steel pickets 
spaced at maximum 2-inches apart. 
 

(e) The minimum gate height for screen wall openings shall be established 
based upon the corresponding wall height, as follows: 
 

Screen Wall Height Minimum Gate Height 

14 feet: 10 feet 

12 feet: 9 feet 

10 feet: 8 feet 

8 feet: 8 feet 

6 feet: 6 feet 
 
  

Item E - 2145 of 2173



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-050 
 
 

Page 4 of 5 

2.7 Site Lighting. 
 

(a) All off-street parking facilities shall be provided with nighttime security 
lighting pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code Section 4-11.08 (Special Residential Building 
Provisions) and Section 4-11.09 (Special Commercial/Industrial Building Provisions), designed to 
confine emitted light to the parking areas. Parking facilities shall be lighted from sunset until sunrise, 
daily, and shall be operated by a photocell switch. 
 

(b) Unless intended as part of a master lighting program, no operation, activity, 
or lighting fixture shall create illumination on any adjacent property. 
 

2.8 Mechanical and Rooftop Equipment. 
 

(a) All exterior roof-mounted mechanical, heating and air conditioning 
equipment, and all appurtenances thereto, shall be completely screened from public view by 
parapet walls or roof screens that are architecturally treated so as to be consistent with the 
building architecture. 
 

(b) All ground-mounted utility equipment and structures, such as tanks, 
transformers, HVAC equipment, and backflow prevention devices, shall be located out of view 
from a public street, or adequately screened through the use of landscaping and/or decorative 
low garden walls. 
 

2.9 Security Standards. The Project shall comply with all applicable requirements of 
Ontario Municipal Code Title 4 (Public Safety), Chapter 11 (Security Standards for Buildings). 
 

2.10 Signs.  
 

(a) All Project signage shall comply with the requirements of Ontario 
Development Code Division 8.1 (Sign Regulations). 
 

2.11 Sound Attenuation. The Project shall be constructed and operated in a manner so 
as not to exceed the maximum interior and exterior noise levels set forth in Ontario Municipal Code 
Title 5 (Public Welfare, Morals, and Conduct), Chapter 29 (Noise). 
 

2.12 Disclosure Statements. 
 

(a) A copy of the Public Report from the Department of Real Estate, prepared 
for the subdivision pursuant to Business and Professions Code Section 11000 et seq., shall be 
provided to each prospective buyer of the residential units and shall include a statement to the 
effect that: 
 

(i) This tract is subject to noise from the Ontario International Airport 
and may be more severely impacted in the future. 
 

2.13 Environmental Requirements.  
 

(a) If human remains are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction activities, the area shall not be disturbed until any required 

Item E - 2146 of 2173



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-050 
 
 

Page 5 of 5 

investigation is completed by the County Coroner and Native American consultation has been 
completed (if deemed applicable). 
 

(b) If any archeological or paleontological resources are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction, the area shall not be disturbed until the significance of the 
resource is determined. If determined to be significant, the resource shall be recovered by a 
qualified archeologist or paleontologist consistent with current standards and guidelines, or other 
appropriate measures implemented. 
 

2.14 Indemnification. The applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, 
the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul 
any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by its City Council, Planning Commission or other 
authorized board or officer. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the applicant of any such 
claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

2.15 Additional Fees. 
 

(a) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of 
Determination (NOD) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be 
paid by check, made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded 
to the San Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable 
environmental forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA). Failure to provide said fee within the time specified may result in a 180-day extension 
to the statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit. 
 

(b) After the Project’s entitlement approval, and prior to issuance of final 
building permits, the Planning Department’s Plan Check and Inspection fees shall be paid at the 
rate established by resolution of the City Council. 
 

2.16 Final Occupancy. The Project Architect of record will certify that construction of 
each building site and the exterior elevations of each structure shall be completed in compliance 
with the approved plans. Any deviation to approved plans shall require a resubmittal to the 
Planning Department for review and approval prior to construction. The Occupancy Release 
Request Form/Architect Certificate of Compliance shall be provided prior to final occupancy. 
After the receipt of this Certification, the Planning Department will conduct a final site and exterior 
elevations inspection. The Owner’s Representative and Contractor shall be present. 

Item E - 2147 of 2173



Item E - 2148 of 2173



Item E - 2149 of 2173



Item E - 2150 of 2173



Item E - 2151 of 2173



Item E - 2152 of 2173



Item E - 2153 of 2173



Item E - 2154 of 2173



Item E - 2155 of 2173



Item E - 2156 of 2173



Item E - 2157 of 2173



Item E - 2158 of 2173



Item E - 2159 of 2173



Item E - 2160 of 2173



Item E - 2161 of 2173



\\ont-chfs02\shared\Engineering\Land Development\Project Files\PDEV\2022\PDEV22-050\Comments from OMUC\3rd\PDEV22-050 DPR#3 
COA(#9066).docx 

 

 CITY OF ONTARIO 
 MEMORANDUM   

 
DATE: March 16, 2023 
TO: Robert Morales, Planning    
CC: Trevor Rivero, Engineering 
FROM: Peter Tran, Utilities Engineering 
  

SUBJECT: DPR #3 – Conditons of Approval (COA) - Utilties Comments (#9066)   
PROJECT NO.: PDEV22-050 (A Development Plan to construct one industrial building) 

 
BRIEF DESCRIPTION 

A Development Plan 167174 A Development Plan to construct one industrial building totaling 167,174 square feet on 6.98 acres 
of land located at 1600 East Francis Street, within the General Industrial (IG) zoning district (APN(s): 113-381-03, -04, -05 & -06). 
Related File(s): N/A..

 

OMUC UTILITIES ENGINEERING DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: The Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (OMUC) Utilities Engineering Division 
recommends this application for approval subject to the Conditions of Approval outlined below and compliance with the 
City’s Design Development Guidelines, Specifications Design Criteria, and City Standards. The Applicant shall be 
responsible for the compliance with and the completion of all the following applicable Conditions of Approval prior to the 
following milestones and subject to compliance with City’s Design Development Guidelines, Specifications Design 
Criteria, and City Standards: 
 
1. Standard Conditions of Approval: Project shall comply with the requirements as set forth in the Amendment to the 

Standard Conditions of Approval for New Development Projects adopted by the City Council (Resolution No. 2017-
027) on April 18, 2017, or as amended or superseded by Council Resolution; as well as the project-specific 
conditions/requirements as outlined below. 

Prior to Issuance of Any Permits (Grading, Building, Demolition and Encroachment), unless other 
timeline milestones are specified by individual conditions below, the Applicant Shall:  

General Conditions (Section 2.A, Other conditions): The Applicant shall comply with the following: 

2. Final Utilities Systems Map (USM): Submit a Final Utilities Systems Map (FUSM) as part of the precise grading plan 
submittal that meets all the City’s USM requirements. These requirements include to show and label all existing and 
proposed utilities (including all appurtenances such as backflow devices, DCDAs, etc.), sizes, points of connection, 
and any easements. The final utility design shall comply with all Division of Drinking Water (CCR §64572) Separation 
Requirements. See Utility Systems Map (USM) Requirements document for details. 

a. The proposed utilities, utility alignments, and Public Rights-of-Way/Public Utility Easements shown on the 
Conceptual Utilities Systems Map (CUSM) and other Entitlement documents are not considered final and 
shall be revised during Final Design to meet all City Design Guidelines, Standards, City Requirements, and all 
of the Conditions of Approval contained in this document.  

 

Sanitary Sewer Conditions (Section 2.C): The Applicant shall comply with the following: 

3. Sanitary Sewer Mains Improvements:  

a. N/A. 

4. Sanitary Sewer Service:  

Item E - 2162 of 2173



\\ont-chfs02\shared\Engineering\Land Development\Project Files\PDEV\2022\PDEV22-050\Comments from OMUC\3rd\PDEV22-050 DPR#3 
COA(#9066).docx 

a. The proposed building and its onsite private sewer system shall discharge wastewater to the Public Sanitary 
Sewer System through a Public Sewer Lateral per Standard #2003. Proposed sewer laterals must be a 
minimum 10’ from all domestic water services. The quantity of Public Sewer Laterals for the proposed building 
shall be limited to the minimum necessary to meet all of the conditions of approval and as limited by the City. 

i. Use existing sewer lateral when possible, if not, then abandon back to sewer main per city latest 
standards and guidelines.  

b. For each Public Sewer Lateral Service to an existing sewer main: the existing sewer main being connected to 
shall be CCTV Inspected between the upstream and downstream manholes of the connection once before 
and once after the Sewer Lateral connections is made and any damage to the sewer main resulting from the 
installation of the Sewer Lateral shall be repaired to meet City Standards and Requirements prior to placing 
the Sewer Lateral in service. 

c. Public Sewer Laterals and Storm Water Quality Improvements: No storm water quality improvements 
(infiltration, detention, retention, bioswale, etc) shall be installed above or with 5 feet of any Public Sewer 
Lateral. 

5. Private Onsite Sewer System and Plumbing: The Onsite Sewer System shall be privately maintained by the property 
owner and shall meet the following requirements: 

a. For wastewater flows for non-residential uses: 

i. The Onsite sewer system and building plumbing shall be designed in such a way that the sanitary 
domestic wastewater flows leave the building separately from non-sanitary wastewater flows 
(industrial, process, or kitchen, etc.) and the line for non-sanitary wastewater flows can be upgraded 
in the future to have pretreatment equipment and devices on it, as required by a Wastewater 
Discharge Permit. 

ii. Each building and each connection from the Onsite Sewer System to the Public Sewer System shall 
have an onsite monitoring manhole prior to the point of connection with the Public Sewer System.  

b. Private Onsite Sewer and Storm Water Quality Improvements: No storm water quality improvements 
(infiltration, detention, retention, bioswale, etc) shall be installed above or with 5 feet of any Private Onsite 
Sewer pipes. 

6. Wastewater Discharge: For Non-Residential Uses: Once Occupant is known, each Occupant of the building, or units, 
as applicable, shall apply for a Wastewater Discharge Permit for their Establishment, and shall comply with all the 
requirements of their Wastewater Discharge Permit. Requirements of Wastewater Discharge Permit may include, but 
not limited to include installing a monitoring manhole, clarifier, interceptor, or other wastewater pretreatment 
equipment 

 

Potable Water Conditions (Section 2.D): The Applicant shall comply with the following: 

7. Potable Water Main Improvements: 

a. Potable Water Mains: N/A 

b. Fire Hydrants:  

i. Fire Hydrants along Potable Water Mains shall be spaced a maximum of 300 feet apart or per Fire 
Department Standards/Requirements, whichever is closer hence construct a new fire hydrant east of 
the project’s westerly driveway approach and five feet minimum beyond the ECR.  

ii. Any existing Fire Hydrants along the project frontages that do not meet current City Standards with a 
break away check valve shall be upgraded, therefore, upgrade the existing project’s easterly fire hydrant 
by abandoning the existing fire hydrant and construct a new one per city’s current standards. 

8. Potable Water Service:  
 

a. Domestic Water Service: Abandon the existing 2” domestic water main back to the public main and construct a new 
2” domestic water service with a back flow preventer (BFP) and BFP is to be on private property within 5’ back of 
the meter.  

 
b. Irrigation Service: Construct an irrigation service with a back flow preventer (BFP) and BFP is to be on private 

property within 5’ back of the meter.  
 

 

Item E - 2163 of 2173



\\ont-chfs02\shared\Engineering\Land Development\Project Files\PDEV\2022\PDEV22-050\Comments from OMUC\3rd\PDEV22-050 DPR#3 
COA(#9066).docx 

c. Fire Water Service: For onsite private Fire System uses: 

i. Where the domestic water service and meters connected to the Public Potable Water System that 
serves any use that is more than one (1) single family detached residential unit or any non-residential 
use: if an onsite private fire system is required, then a separate Fire Service with Double Check 
Detector Assembly (DCDA) per City Standard #4208 connected to the Public Potable Water System 
is required to serve the onsite private fire system; and, the onsite fire system and onsite domestic 
water plumbing system shall be separate. DCDAs are a type of Backflow prevention device. 

ii. Each building 100,000 square feet or more in size must have two DCDAs and the onsite fire system 
must be looped between the fire services. 

 
 

Item E - 2164 of 2173



CITY OF ONTARIO 
LANDSCAPE PLANNING DIVISION 

303 East “B” Street, Ontario, CA 91764 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Sign Off 

 
2/7/23 

Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Architect Date 

Reviewer’s Name:  
Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Architect 

Phone: 
(909) 395-2615 

 D.A.B. File No.:                                           
PDEV22-050   

Case Planner: 
Robert Morales 

Project Name and Location:  
Industrial Bldg. 
1600 East Francis Street 
Applicant/Representative: 
EPD Solutions – Betty Avila 
2355 Main Street, Suite 100 
Irvine, CA 92614 
 
 
 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated 1/10/23) meet the Standard Conditions for New 
Development and have been approved considering that the following conditions 
below are met upon the landscape construction documents submittal. 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated) have not been approved. Corrections noted below are 
required before Preliminary Landscape Plan approval. 

A RESPONSE SHEET IS REQUIRED WITH RESUBMITTAL OR PLANS WILL BE RETURNED AS 
INCOMPLETE. 
Landscape construction plans with plan check number may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 
DIGITAL SUBMITTALS MUST BE 10MB OR LESS.  
Civil/ Site Plans 
1. Replacement and mitigation for removed trees shall equal the trunk diameter of heritage 

trees removed per the Development Code Tree Preservation Policy and Protection 
Measures, section 6.05.020. The monetary value of the trees removed, as identified in the 
“Guide for Plant Appraisal,” approved certified arborist plant appraiser, may be equal to the 
value of the installation cost of planting, fertilizing, staking, and irrigating 15-gallon trees 
(100$ each) to the City of Ontario Historic Preservation Fund for city tree planting or city 
approved combination of the above items. The total mitigation fee is $12,300 for a total of 
123” of tree replacement.  

2. Before permit issuance, the Landscape Planning Division shall review stormwater infiltration 
devices located in landscape areas and approve plans. Any stormwater devices in parkway 
areas shall not displace street trees. 

3. Show and dimension transformers set back 5’ from paving all sides. Coordinate with 
landscape plans. 

4. Show and dimension backflow devices set back 4’ from paving on all sides. Locate on level 
grade 

5. Locate utilities, including light standards, fire hydrants, water, drain, and sewer lines to not 
conflict with required tree locations—coordinate civil plans with landscape plans. 

6. Dimension, show, and call out for step-outs at parking spaces adjacent to planters; a 12” 
wide monolithic concrete curb, DG paving, or pavers with edging.  

Landscape Plans 
7. Show and dimension backflow devices with 36” high strappy leaf shrub screening, trash 

enclosures, and transformers, and a 4’-5’ high evergreen hedge screening. Do not encircle 
utility; show as masses and duplicate masses in other locations at regular intervals. 

Item E - 2165 of 2173

mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


8. Locate light standards, fire hydrants, water, and sewer lines to not conflict with required tree 
locations. Coordinate civil plans with landscape plans 

9. Show all utilities on the landscape plans. Coordinate so utilities are clear of tree locations. 
10. Street trees for this project are Ulmus parvifolia ‘Drake’ per the Master Street Tree Plan; 

space 30’ on center. Use evergreen background trees to contrast with deciduous street trees 
and triangularly space between them. 

11. Call out all fences and walls, materials proposed, and heights. 
12. Landscape construction plans shall meet the requirements of the Landscape Development 

Guidelines. See http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards 
13. After a project’s entitlement approval, the applicant shall pay all applicable fees for landscape 

plan check and inspections at a rate established by resolution of the City Council. Landscape 
construction plans with building permit number for plan check may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 

Item E - 2166 of 2173

http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Project File No.:

Address:

APN:

Existing Land 
Use:

Proposed Land 
Use:

Site Acreage:

ONT-IAC Project Review:

This proposed Project is: Exempt from the ALUCP Consistent Consistent with Conditions Inconsistent

Reviewed By:

Date:

Contact Info:

Project Planner:

CD No.:

PALU No.:

The project is impacted by the following ONT ALUCP Compatibility Zones: 

Safety Noise Impact Airspace Protection

Zone 1

Zone 1A

Zone 2

Zone 3

Zone 4

Zone 5

75+ dB CNEL

70 - 75 dB CNEL

65 - 70 dB CNEL

60 - 65 dB CNEL

High Terrain Zone Avigation Easement 
Dedication

Real Estate Transaction

Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3 Zone 4 Zone 5

CONSISTENCY DETERMINATION

Airspace Avigation 
Easement Area

Allowable 
Height:

The project is impacted by the following Chino ALUCP Safety Zones: 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 1

Zone 6

Allowable Height:

PDEV22-050

1600 East Francis Street

113-381-03

Industrial Development

Development Plan to construct 1 industrial building totaling 167,174 SF

6.98

N/A

ONT

The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport (ONT) was evaluated 
and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP) for ONT.

✔

✔

Lorena Mejia

909-395-2276

Robert Morales

3/2/2023

2022-065

N/A

43 FT

200 FT +

Item E - 2167 of 2173



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
 
TO:  Robert Morales, Assistant Planner 
  Planning Department 
 
FROM:  Paul Ehrman, Sr. Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 
  Fire Department 
 
DATE:  November 16, 2022 
 
SUBJECT: PDEV22-050 - A Development Plan to construct one industrial building 

totaling 167,174 square feet on 6.98 acres of land located at 1600 East 
Francis Street, within the General Industrial (IG) zoning district (APN(s): 
113-381-03, -04, -05 & -06).  

 
 

   The plan does adequately address Fire Department requirements at this time.  

   Standard Conditions of Approval apply, as stated below. 

 
 
SITE AND BUILDING FEATURES: 
 

A. 2019 CBC Type of Construction:  Not listed. Assumed III-B 
 

B. Type of Roof Materials:  Panelized 
 

C. Ground Floor Area(s):  167,174 Sq. Ft.  
 

D. Number of Stories:  1 
 

E. Total Square Footage:  167,174 Sq. Ft.  
 

F. 2019 CBC Occupancy Classification(s):  S 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Item E - 2168 of 2173



 
2 of 5  

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 

1.0 GENERAL 
 

  1.1 The following are the Ontario Fire Department (“Fire Department”) requirements for this 
development project, based on the current edition of the California Fire Code (CFC), and the 
current versions of the Fire Prevention Standards (“Standards.”) It is recommended that the 
applicant or developer transmit a copy of these requirements to the on-site contractor(s) and 
that all questions or concerns be directed to the Bureau of Fire Prevention, at (909) 395-2029. 
For copies of Ontario Fire Department Standards please access the City of Ontario web site at 
www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention.  

 
  1.2 These Fire Department conditions of approval are to be included on any and all construction 

drawings.  
 
2.0 FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS 
 

  2.1 Fire Department vehicle access roadways shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all portions of 
the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved. Roadways 
shall be paved with an all-weather surface and shall be a minimum of twenty-four (24) ft. wide. 
See Standard #B-004.   

 
  2.2 In order to allow for adequate turning radius for emergency fire apparatus, all turns shall be 

designed to meet the minimum twenty five feet (25’) inside and forty-five feet (45’) outside 
turning radius per Standard #B-005.   

 
  2.3 Fire Department access roadways that exceed one hundred and fifty feet (150’) in length shall 

have an approved turn-around per Standard #B-002.   
 

  2.4 Access drive aisles which cross property lines shall be provided with CC&Rs, access 
easements, or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected 
properties, and copies of same shall be provided at the time of building plan check. 

 
  2.5 "No Parking-Fire Lane" signs and /or red painted curbs with lettering are required to be instal-

led in interior access roadways, in locations where vehicle parking would obstruct the 
minimum clear width requirement. Installation shall be per Standard #B-001.  

 
  2.6 Security gates or other barriers on fire access roadways shall be provided with a Knox brand 

key switch or padlock to allow Fire Department access.  See Standards #B-003, B-004 and H-
001. 

 
  2.7 Any time PRIOR to on-site combustible construction and/or storage, a minimum twenty-four 

(24) ft. wide circulating all weather access roads shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all 
portions of the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved by 
fire department and other emergency services. 
 

 
 

Item E - 2169 of 2173

http://www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention


 
3 of 5  

 

3.0 WATER SUPPLY 
 

  3.1 The required fire flow per Fire Department standards, based on the 2019 California Fire Code, 
Appendix B, is 4000  gallons per minute (g.p.m.) for 4 hours at a minimum of 20 pounds per 
square inch (p.s.i.) residual operating pressure. 

 
  3.2 Off-site (public) fire hydrants are required to be installed on all frontage streets, at a minimum 

spacing of three hundred foot (300’) apart, per Engineering Department specifications.  
 

  3.3 Buildings that exceed 100,000 square feet in floor area shall provide an onsite looped fire 
protection water line around the building(s.) The loops shall be required to have two or more 
points of connection from a public circulating water main. 
 

  3.4 The water supply, including water mains and fire hydrants, shall be tested and approved by the 
Engineering Department and Fire Department prior to combustible construction to assure 
availability and reliability for firefighting purposes.  

 
4.0 FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS 
 

  4.1 On-site private fire hydrants are required per Standard #D-005, and identified in accordance 
with Standard #D-002.  Installation and locations(s) are subject to the approval of the Fire 
Department. An application with detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit 
shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work being done.    

 
  4.2 Underground fire mains which cross property lines shall be provided with CC & R, easements, 

or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected properties, and 
copies of same shall be provided at the time of fire department plan check. The shared use of 
private fire mains or fire pumps is allowable only between immediately adjacent properties 
and shall not cross any public street. 

 
  4.3 An automatic fire sprinkler system is required.  The system design shall be in accordance with 

National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 13. All new fire sprinkler systems, 
except those in single family dwellings, which contain twenty (20) sprinkler heads or more 
shall be monitored by an approved listed supervising station. An application along with 
detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit shall be issued by the Fire 
Department, prior to any work being done.   

 
  4.5 Fire Department Connections (FDC) shall be located on the address side of the building within 

one hundred fifty feet (150’) of a public fire hydrant on the same side of the street.  Provide 
identification for all fire sprinkler control valves and fire department connections per Standard 
#D-007. Raised curbs adjacent to Fire Department connection(s) shall be painted red, five feet 
either side, per City standards. 

 
  4.6 A fire alarm system is required.  The system design shall be in accordance with National Fire 

Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 72. An application along with detailed plans shall be 
submitted, and a construction permit shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work 
being done.  

 

Item E - 2170 of 2173



 
4 of 5  

 

  4.7 Portable fire extinguishers are required to be installed prior to occupancy per Standard #C-001.  
Please contact the Fire Prevention Bureau to determine the exact number, type and placement 
required. 
  

5.0 BUILDING CONSTRUCTION FEATURES 
 

  5.1 The developer/general contractor is to be responsible for reasonable periodic cleanup of the 
development during construction to avoid hazardous accumulations of combustible trash and 
debris both on and off the site. 

 
  5.2 Approved numbers or addresses shall be placed on all new and existing buildings in such a 

position as to be plainly visible and legible from the street or road fronting the property.  Multi-
tenant or building projects shall have addresses and/or suite numbers provided on the rear of 
the building.  Address numbers shall contrast with their background. See Section 9-1 6.06 of 
the Ontario Municipal Code and Standards #H-003 and #H-002.  
 

  5.3 Single station smoke alarms and carbon monoxide alarms are required to be installed per the 
California Building Code and the California Fire Code.  

 
  5.6 Knox ® brand key-box(es) shall be installed in location(s) acceptable to the Fire Department. 

All Knox boxes shall be monitored for tamper by the building fire alarm system. See Standard 
#H-001 for specific requirements. 

 
  5.7  Placards shall be installed in acceptable locations on buildings that store, use or handle 

hazardous materials in excess of the quantities specified in the CFC. Placards shall meet the 
requirements of National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 704.  

 
6.0 OTHER SPECIAL USES 
 

  6.1 The storage, use, dispensing, or handling of any hazardous materials shall be approved by the 
Fire Department, and adequate fire protection features shall be required.  If hazardous materials 
are proposed, a Fire Department Hazardous Materials Information Packet, including 
Disclosure Form and Information Worksheet, shall be completed and submitted with Material 
Safety Data Sheets to the Fire Department along with building construction plans. 

 
  6.2 Any High Piled Storage, or storage of combustible materials greater than twelve (12’) feet in 

height for ordinary (Class I-IV) commodities or storage greater than six feet (6’) in height of 
high hazard (Group A plastics, rubber tires, flammable liquids, etc.) shall be approved by the 
Fire Department, and adequate fire protection features shall be required.  If High Piled Storage 
is proposed, a Fire Department High Piled Storage Worksheet shall be completed and detailed 
racking plans or floor plans submitted prior to occupancy of the building. 

 
  6.3 Underground fuel tanks, their associated piping and dispensers shall be reviewed, approved, 

and permitted by Ontario Building Department, Ontario Fire Department, and San Bernardino 
County Fire Department Hazardous Materials Division.  In fueling facilities, an exterior 
emergency pump shut-off switch shall be provided.  

 
 

Item E - 2171 of 2173



 
5 of 5  

 

7.0 PROJECT SPECIFIC CONDITIONS 
 

  7.1 NONE 
 
 
Note:    Due to the depth of the project off of Francis Street, private fire hydrants shall be required to 

the Southern portion of the project.  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item E - 2172 of 2173



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 

 

TO:  Robert Morales, Assistant Planner 

 

FROM:  Officer Tony Galban, Police Department 

 

DATE:  November 10, 2022 

 

SUBJECT: PDEV22-050 - A DEVELOPMENT PLAN TO CONSTRUCT ONE 

INDUSTRIAL BUILDING TOTALING 167,174 SQUARE FEET, 

LOCATED AT 1600 EAST FRANCIS STREET. 

 

 

The “Standard Conditions of Approval” contained in Resolution No. 2017-027 apply. The 

applicant shall read and be thoroughly familiar with these conditions, including, but not limited to, 

the requirements below. 

 

• Required lighting for all walkways, driveways, doorways, parking lots, hallways and other 

areas used by the public shall be provided. Lights shall operate via photosensor. 

Photometrics shall be provided to the Police Department and include the types of fixtures 

proposed and demonstrate that such fixtures meet the vandal-resistant requirement. 

Planned landscaping shall not obstruct lighting. 

• Rooftop addresses shall be installed on the buildings as stated in the Standard Conditions. 

The numbers shall be at a minimum 6 feet tall and 2 foot wide, in reflective white paint on 

a flat black background, and oriented with the bottom of the numbers towards the addressed 

street. Associated letters shall also be included.  

• First floor common stairwells shall be constructed to either allow for visibility through the 

stairwell risers or to prohibit public access to the areas behind stairwells 

• The Applicant shall comply with construction site security requirements as stated in the 

Standard Conditions. 

 

 

The Applicant is invited to contact Officer Tony Galban at (909) 408-1006 with any questions or 

concerns regarding these conditions.    

 

Item E - 2173 of 2173


	20230807 DAB Agenda
	AGENDA
	August 7, 2023
	Scott Murphy, Executive Director, Community Development Agency
	Jennifer McLain Hiramoto, Economic Development Director
	Fire Marshal Paul Ehrman, Fire Department


	20230807 Item A Minutes
	BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT
	BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT
	STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT
	PUBLIC COMMENTS
	CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS

	20230807 Item B PDEV21-041
	20230807 File No. PDEV21-041-Lennar Homes^01 AR 2nd Draft
	20230807 File No. PDEV21-041-Lennar Homes^02 COA

	20230807 Item C PMTT22-018_PDEV22-026
	20230807 PDEV22-026_PMTT22-018^01 AR
	20230807 PDEV22-026_PMTT22-018^02 COA_FD revised

	20230807 Item D PDEV22-027
	20230807 File No. PDEV22-027-Euclid Walnut Mixed Use DAB^01 AR - Addendum
	20230807 File No. PDEV22-027-Euclid Walnut Mixed Use DAB^02 Attach A - Addendum
	i. result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site;
	ii. substantially increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner which would result in flooding on- or offsite;
	iii. create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial additional sources of polluted runoff; or
	iv. impede or redirect flood flows?
	Discussion of Effects: According to TOP EIR, there are no active faults known on the site and the project site is located outside the Fault Rapture Hazard Zone (formerly Alquist-Priolo Zone). TOP EIR (Section 5.7/Figure 5.7-2) identifies eight active ...
	Given that the closest active fault zone is located over ten miles from the PUD project site, fault rupture within the project area is not likely. All development will comply with the CBC seismic design standards to reduce geologic hazard susceptibili...
	The PUD project will not result in any new, increased or substantially different impacts not previously considered and addressed in TOP EIR. No changes or additions to TOP EIR analyses are necessary.
	Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR determined TOP would result in an increase in development and population, which would result in increased demand on fire protection services. The EIR indicated that existing facilities and services would not be adequate...
	The PUD project site is in a developed area currently served by the Ontario Fire Department. The Project is consistent with TOP land use designations, and TOP EIR states the City will not require the construction of any new fire protection facilities ...
	Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.
	Discussion of Effects:  TOP EIR determined TOP would result in an increase in development and population, which would result in increased demand on police protection services. The EIR indicated that existing staffing would not be adequate to meet incr...
	The site was previously developed and is in a developed area currently served by the Ontario Police Department. It is not anticipated the project will contribute to the need for construction of any new police facilities or alteration of any existing f...
	Discussion of Effects: TOP EIR identified impacts to school facilities and services as less than significant upon payment of SB 50 school impact fees (SEIR p. 5.15-14).
	The PUD project proposes mixed uses (i.e., residential apartments and retail commercial uses) which are expected to generate school-aged students that require educational facilities or services. The project will be required to pay school fees as presc...
	Discussion of Effects: TOP would generate additional residents, increasing the use of existing park and recreational facilities. However, TOP EIR concluded this would not result in a significant impact as long as development of park facilities keeps p...
	The site is in a developed area currently served by the City in terms of parks and recreational services. The project has both a residential and commercial component and will provide onsite recreational amenities. Due to the size of the residential po...
	Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.
	Discussion of Effects: TOP would generate additional residents, increasing the use of existing public facilities (e.g., libraries).  TOP EIR identified less than significant impacts to library services and facilities (SEIR p. 5-15-18).
	The site is in a developed area currently served by the City. Typically, new public facilities are needed to serve additional population generated by new housing. The project will generate 369 new apartment units which will incrementally increase the ...
	Mitigation: No project specific mitigation is required.
	The project has both a residential and commercial component and will provide onsite recreational amenities. Due to the size of the residential portion of the project (369 apartments), the PUD project will not require the construction of any new park f...
	The project is mixed use with both residential and commercial components. The PUD indicates the project will also provide onsite recreational amenities (275 square feet of common amenities per unit). Due to the size of the residential portion of the p...

	20230807 File No. PDEV22-027-Euclid Walnut Mixed Use DAB^03 Addend Append A-D
	230628_EuclidWalnutPUD_PublicReviewDraft
	HRA with Apndx A and B
	Apndx-B_AERMOD-Output_20230224

	424-027 Prelim-Hydrology-April 2023
	424-027-Preliminary WQMP-June2023
	Appendix D - Trip Generation
	4563 F-1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	4563 F-1-Layout1


	4563 F-2.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	4563 F-2-Layout1




	20230807 File No. PDEV22-027-Euclid Walnut Mixed Use DAB^04 Addend Append B Backup Data
	Ontario_PUD_AREMOD-Output-TOG
	Ontario_PUD_AREMOD-Output-DPM

	20230807 File No. PDEV22-027-Euclid Walnut Mixed Use DAB^05 AR - PDEV
	20230807 File No. PDEV22-027-Euclid Walnut Mixed Use DAB^06 Attach A - Plans
	Ontario 5th Submittal Set - Resub 20230706
	21-544_A1.0 A1.1 Perspectives-A1.0 Conceptual Perspective
	A1.0 Conceptual Perspective

	21-544_A1.0 A1.1 Perspectives-A1.1 Conceptual Perspective
	A1.1 Conceptual Perspective

	21-544_A1.0 A1.1 Perspectives-A1.11 Conceptual Perspective
	A1.11 Conceptual Perspective


	21-544_A1.2 SITE PLAN-A1.2 Site Plan
	Ontario 5th Submittal Set - Resub 20230706
	21-544_A2.0 - A2.2 BUILDING A COMPOSITE PLANS
	21-544_A2.0 - A2.2 BUILDING A COMPOSITE PLANS-A2.0 BLDG A PLANS
	21-544_A2.0 - A2.2 BUILDING A COMPOSITE PLANS-A2.1 BLDG A PLANS
	21-544_A2.0 - A2.2 BUILDING A COMPOSITE PLANS-A2.2 BLDG A PLANS

	21-544_A2.3 - A2.4  BUILDING A ELEVATIONS-A2.3 Building A Elevations
	21-544_A2.3 - A2.4  BUILDING A ELEVATIONS-A2.4 Building A Elevations
	21-544_A2.5 - BUILDING B COMPOSITE PLANS
	21-544_A2.5 - BUILDING B COMPOSITE PLANS-A2.5 BLDG B PLANS

	21-544_A2.6 BUILDING B ELEVATIONS-A2.6 Building B Elevations
	21-544_A4.1 MaterialBoard
	21-544_A5.2 TRASH DETAILS
	21-544_A2.7 BUILDING C COMPOSITE PLANS-A2.7 BLDG C PLANS
	21-544_A3.0 - A3.1 UNIT PLANS-A3.0 Unit PLans
	21-544_A3.0 - A3.1 UNIT PLANS-A3.1 Unit PLans



	20230807 File No. PDEV22-027-Euclid Walnut Mixed Use DAB^07 Attach B Cover Sheet
	20230807 File No. PDEV22-027-Euclid Walnut Mixed Use DAB^08 Attach B - COAs
	20230807 File No. PDEV22-027-Euclid Walnut Mixed Use DAB^04 COAs (need PDF and combo with dept after EVH approval)2
	20230807 File No. PDEV22-027-Euclid Walnut Mixed Use DAB^04 COAs (needs to be combined with Planning COAs)
	COA - ENG ALL
	02-4 Dept PDEV COAs (Missing Eng Land, Env, Traff)
	COA - FIRE ATTACHMENT PDEV22-027 Fire Conditions 2022-07-07
	COA - PD PDEV22-027 MEMO
	COA - PD PDEV22-027 MIX USE WITH 346 DWELLINGS
	COA - LANDSC PDEV22-027 memo_Landscape Division_jr Rev3
	COA - LANDSC PDEV22-027_Landscape Planning_jr Rev3
	COA - BROADBAND Routing Sheet PDEV22-027 Rev. 3 - Broadband
	COA - ALUCP CD2022-051_PDEV22-027




	20230807 Item E PDEV22-050
	20230807 File No. PDEV22-050 DAB^01 AR
	20230807 File No. PDEV22-050^04 Addendum
	1 INTRODUCTION
	1.2 PURPOSE AND SCOPE
	2.2 ENVIRONMENTAL PROCEDURES
	2.3 PREVIOUS ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTATION

	2 ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING
	2.1 PROJECT LOCATION
	2.2 PREVIOUS ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTATION
	2.3 EXISTING PROJECT SITE
	2.4 EXISTING LAND USES AND ZONING DESIGNATION OF THE PROJECT SITE
	2.5 SURROUNDING TOP 2050 AND ZONING DESIGNATIONS

	3 PROJECT DESCRIPTION
	3.1 PROJECT OVERVIEW
	3.2 PROJECT FEATURES
	3.3 CONSTRUCTION AND PHASING
	3.4 OPERATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS
	3.5 DISCRETIONARY APPROVALS, PERMITS, AND STUDIES

	4 ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST
	4.1 BACKGROUND
	4.2 ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS POTENTIALLY AFFECTED
	4.3 DETERMINATION:
	4.4 EVALUATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS
	4.5 TERMINOLOGY USED IN THE CHECKLIST

	5 ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS
	5.1 AESTHETICS
	5.2 AGRICULTURE AND FOREST RESOURCES
	5.3 AIR QUALITY
	5.4 BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES
	5.5 CULTURAL RESOURCES
	5.6 ENERGY
	5.7 GEOLOGY AND SOILS
	5.8 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS
	5.9 HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS
	5.10 HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY
	5.11 LAND USE AND PLANNING
	5.12 MINERAL RESOURCES
	5.13 NOISE
	5.14 POPULATION AND HOUSING
	5.15 PUBLIC SERVICES
	5.16 RECREATION
	5.17 TRANSPORTATION
	5.18 TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES
	5.19 UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS
	5.20 WILDFIRE
	5.21 MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE
	6 Document Preparers and Contributors
	7 References

	20230807 File No. PDEV22-050^05 Appendices
	App A - Air Quality, Energy, and GHG Analysis
	App D - Screening Tables.pdf
	Screening Tables
	Instructions for Mixed-Use Projects
	Table 5. Screening Table for Implementing GHG Performance Standards for Warehouse Non-residential Development, 2030 (Circle Applicable Project Points, 100 points minimum)




	App B - Cultural Report
	App C - Geotechnical Investigation
	22G233-1 Plate 2-11X17.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	11X17


	22G233-1 Plate E-1 (Seismic Design Parameters) Class D-8.5x11.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	8.5x11


	22G233-1 Plate 1 (Site Location)-8.5X11.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	8.5X11



	App D - Paleontological Assessment
	App E - Phase I ESA
	Executive Summary
	1. Introduction
	1.1 Purpose
	1.2 Scope of Work
	1.3 Study Limitations
	1.4 Site-Related Limiting Conditions
	1.5 Data Gaps/Data Failure

	2. Site Description
	2.1 Site Location and Parcel Description
	2.2 Site Ownership
	2.3 Site Visit
	2.3.1 Site and Facility Description
	2.3.2 Surrounding Properties
	2.3.3 Petroleum Products and Hazardous Materials
	2.3.4 Hazardous Waste
	2.3.5 Polychlorinated Biphenyls
	2.3.6 Aboveground Storage Tanks
	2.3.7 Underground Storage Tanks
	2.3.8 Solid Waste
	2.3.9 Water
	2.3.10 Wastewater
	2.3.11 Stormwater
	2.3.12 Heating and Cooling
	2.3.13 Other Observations


	3. Environmental Setting
	3.1 Topography
	3.2 Soil/Geology
	3.3 Groundwater/Hydrology

	4. Site and Area History
	4.1 Subject Property
	4.2 Off-site Properties
	4.3 Previously Prepared Environmental Reports

	5. Database and Records Review
	5.1 User Provided Information
	5.2 Title Records/Environmental Liens
	5.3 Database Information
	5.3.1 Subject Property
	5.3.2 Surrounding Sites

	5.4 Vapor Encroachment Screening
	5.4.1 Subject Property
	5.4.2 Off-site

	5.5 Agency File Review
	5.5.1 Local
	5.5.2 State
	5.5.3 Federal


	6. Findings and Opinions
	6.1 Recognized Environmental Conditions
	6.2 Historical Recognized Environmental Conditions
	6.3 Controlled Recognized Environmental Conditions
	6.4 De Minimis Conditions

	7. Conclusions and Recommendations
	8. Environmental Professional Statement
	9. References
	9.1 Persons Interviewed
	9.2 Agencies Contacted
	9.3 Documents Reviewed

	1600 Francis Ave Appendices_.pdf
	Figures
	Appendix A - Site Photographs
	Appendix B Environmental Data Resources Files
	Historical Aerial Photographs
	Historical Topographic Maps
	Sanborn Coverage Sheet
	City Directory Abstract
	Lien and AUL Search
	EDR Database Report
	Database 7095824_2.pdf
	Property Location
	Commercial Property
	1600 East Francis Street
	Ontario, CA 91761
	Lat/Lon 34.040303 / 117.618202

	Executive Summary
	Target Property
	TP - A1 - PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST, CA CERS TANKS, CA...
	TP - A2 - WESTERN STATES WHOLE - 1600 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - ECHO
	TP - A3 - WESTERN STATES WHOLE - 1600 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	TP - A4 - PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA UST
	TP - A5 - WESTERN STATES WHOLE - 1600 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA EMI, CA HAZNET, CA HWTS...
	TP - A6 - PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA NPDES, CA CIWQS, CA CERS...
	TP - A7 - GREAT WESTERN STATE  - 1600 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HWTS
	TP - A8 - GREAT WESTERN STATE  - 1600 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG, FINDS...
	TP - A9 - PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA  - CA RGA LUST
	TP - A10 - WESTERN STATES WHOLE - 1600 E FRANCIS AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA UST
	TP - A11 - PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA  - CA RGA LUST

	Surrounding Sites
	CORRACTS
	AC173 - GE ENGINE SERVICES I - 1923 E AVION ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CORRACTS...

	RCRA-LQG
	M108 - PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHC - 1700 SOUTH BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-LQG

	RCRA-SQG
	N79 - LIEDER DEVELOPMENT - 1839 S. LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG
	M102 - DE MERT & DOUGHERTY  - 1705 S BAKER - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG...
	P111 - MANES MACHIE & ENGR  - 1810 LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG...
	P117 - ACCUFAB - 1514 E FRANCIS UNIT  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG...
	U130 - ACHESON COLLOIDS COM - 1496 E. FRANCIS ST. - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG...
	155   - MERCURY PLASTICS - 1740 S SACRAMENTO - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG...
	C40 - J & W FINISHING INC. - 1602 FREMONT COURT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG
	E53 - KAUF KAR INC - 1943 S AUGUSTA - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG...
	T129 - KINEMATICS MANUFACTU - 1936 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG...
	V146 - GERBCO INC - 1961 QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG...

	CA ENVIROSTOR
	171   - GOE ENGINEERING - 1425 S VINEYARD AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA ENVIROSTOR...
	172   - ONTARIO A.N.G. TRAIN -  - ONTARIO, CA  - CA ENVIROSTOR
	AC174 - GENERAL ELECTRIC CO- - 1923 EAST AVION - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA ENVIROSTOR...
	170   - DANCO - 1750 MONTICELLO CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA ENVIROSTOR...

	CA LUST
	Z161 - ONTARIO FIRE STATION - 1408 FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST...
	Z163 - HHW SATELLITE ONTARI - 1408 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST...
	AA165 - ONTARIO SERVICE CENT - 1351 FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST...
	AB167 - SMITHFORD PRODUCTS C - 1401 BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST...
	AB169 - SMITHFORD PRODUCTS C - 1401 SO BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST...
	I58 - CLASSIC FENCE COMPAN - 1621 - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST...
	I60 - CLASSIC FENCE COMPAN - 1621 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST...
	166   - HALLKRAFT CONTAINER  - 2044 VINEYARD AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST...

	CA CPS-SLIC
	Z162 - ONTARIO CITY FIRE DE - 1408 EAST FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA  - CA CPS-SLIC...
	Z163 - HHW SATELLITE ONTARI - 1408 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CPS-SLIC...

	CA CERS HAZ WASTE
	B38 - CALIFORNIA COLLISION - 1642 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	P81 - LAMB ENGINEERING, IN - 1811 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	L98 - RDS PRINTING AND GRA - 1714 EAST GREVILLEA  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	M104 - DEMERT & DOUGHERTY I - 1705 S BAKER AV - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	M107 - WESTSIDE PACKING INC - 1700 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	C16 - EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC - 1601 FREMONT COURT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	E51 - PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDU - 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	J64 - PARAMOUNT PANELS INC - 1531 E CEDAR - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	J76 - INTERNATIONAL MACHIN - 1546 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	I87 - HORIZON PRINTING INK - 1558 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	O89 - 1X ONTARIO DIE OF CA - 1941 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	R95 - JASPER ENGINE EXCHAN - 1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	N113 - AEROSPACE COMM TOOLI - 1866 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	V140 - WORLD MOTORS INC - 1960 QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...
	W144 - SOUTH COAST EVS - 2020 S BAKER - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE...

	CA SWEEPS UST
	D18 - SIERRA LATHING CO IN - 1504 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA SWEEPS UST...
	S121 - SMITH MANAGEMENT COR - 1710 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA SWEEPS UST...
	K124 - FIRE BANN CORP - 2006 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA SWEEPS UST...

	CA HIST UST
	D19 - SIERRA LATHING CO IN - 1504 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HIST UST

	CA FID UST
	D18 - SIERRA LATHING CO IN - 1504 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA FID UST...
	S121 - SMITH MANAGEMENT COR - 1710 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA FID UST...
	K124 - FIRE BANN CORP - 2006 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA FID UST...

	RCRA NonGen / NLR
	B20 - SIMMS SERVICE & REPA - 1630 E FRANCIS ST UN - ONTARIO, CA 91730 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	B23 - CALIFORNIA DIESEL CO - 1630 E FRANCIS ST ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	B30 - FEAL SUSPENSION - 1640 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	B37 - CALIFORNIA COLLISION - 1642 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	G44 - BOATS BY ESSEX DBA E - 1830 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	G45 - ESSEX BOATS - 1830 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	H47 - A GROWING CONCERN LA - 1648 E FRANCES ST - ONTARIO, CA 91760 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	M71 - CONTINENTAL COATINGS - 1726 S BAKER ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR...
	P82 - LAMB ENGINEERING INC - 1811 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	L99 - RDS PRINTING & GRAPH - 1714 GRIVELLA CRT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	M103 - NET SHAPES INC - 1705 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	M106 - DISCUS DENTAL LLC - 1700 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	P109 - EXTREME CUSTOM SHEET - 1518 E FRANCIS ST. S - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	P115 - DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISS - 1516 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	U134 - ELITE FORKLIFT SERVI - 1496 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	X147 - WARREN PACKAGING INC - 1722 E. GREVILLEA CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	U157 - WEG ELECTRIC CORP. - 1450 E FRANCIS STREE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	C15 - EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC - 1601 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	C24 - C H OFFICE SPECIALTI - 1615 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR...
	E25 - AIR 2000 INC - 1939 S AUGUSTA AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	F29 - KOMATSU FORKLIFT USA - 1625 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	C33 - ADVANCE TRADING CORP - 1610 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91764 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	C34 - PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSE - 1610 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	C36 - FINE GOLD - 1610 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	E46 - CUES INC - 1943 SOUTH AUGUSTA C - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	E55 - APC MACHINE INC - 1942 AUGUSTA AVE SUI - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	E57 - PAUL SMOOT - 1942 S AUGUSTA AVE S - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	I61 - H & L CHARTER CO INC - 1621 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	I62 - SHALIMAR INC - 1621 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	J65 - PARAMOUNT PANELS, IN - 1531 E. CEDAR - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	K66 - METROCELL CONSTRUCTI - 1635 E CEDAR STREET - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	K67 - METROCELL CONSTRUCTI - 1635 E CEDAR STREET - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	K69 - METROCELL CONSTRUCTI - 1635 E CEDAR STREET - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	K73 - INLINE PLASTICS INC - 1950 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	J77 - DBA INTERNATIONAL MA - 1546 CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	I86 - HORIZON PRINTING INK - 1558 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	O88 - NAP ASSET HOLDINGS L - 1941 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	R94 - JASPER ENGINES - 1477 E CEDAR ST # D - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	R96 - JASPER ENGINE EXCHAN - 1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	S101 - RJ INDUSTRIES - 1961 S. BAKER AVE. - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	O112 - PUMPING SOLUTIONS IN - 1906 S QUAKER RIDGE  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	N114 - AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL - 1866 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	S122 - CEDAR - 1710 E. CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	K123 - ABLE INDUSTRIAL PROD - 2006 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	O126 - SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENT - 1920 S QUAKER RIDGE  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	T128 - LARRY RAMONEDA - 1936 S. LAKE PL. - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	V135 - ZODIAC AEROSPACE - Q - 1940 S QUAKER RIDGE  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	S139 - NATIONAL TRANSMISSIO - 1927 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	V141 - WORLD MOTORS INC - 1960 S QUAKER RIDGE  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	V142 - EUBANKS ENGINEERING  - 1921 S QUAKER RIDGE  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	W145 - SOUTH COAST EMERGENC - 2020 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	151   - ISMENIA CAMPOS - 1440 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	V153 - ALTAQUIP LLC - 1961 S QUAKER RIDGE  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	Y154 - PREFERRED PAPERBOX I - 1516 CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR...
	Y156 - SUNCOAST POST-TENSIO - 1528 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	W160 - DYNAMIC SUPPLY INC - 2049 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR

	CA BOND EXP. PLAN
	AC175 - GENERAL ELECTRIC ENG - 1923 EAST AVION STRE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA BOND EXP. PLAN

	CA Cortese
	Z163 - HHW SATELLITE ONTARI - 1408 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA Cortese...
	AA164 - ONTARIO SERVICE CENT - 1351 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA Cortese...
	AB168 - SMITHFORD PRODUCTS C - 1401 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA Cortese...
	I60 - CLASSIC FENCE COMPAN - 1621 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA Cortese...
	166   - HALLKRAFT CONTAINER  - 2044 VINEYARD AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA Cortese...

	CA HIST CORTESE
	Z161 - ONTARIO FIRE STATION - 1408 FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HIST CORTESE...
	AA165 - ONTARIO SERVICE CENT - 1351 FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HIST CORTESE...
	AB167 - SMITHFORD PRODUCTS C - 1401 BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HIST CORTESE...
	I58 - CLASSIC FENCE COMPAN - 1621 - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HIST CORTESE...
	J76 - INTERNATIONAL MACHIN - 1546 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HIST CORTESE...
	166   - HALLKRAFT CONTAINER  - 2044 VINEYARD AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HIST CORTESE...

	CA HWP
	AC173 - GE ENGINE SERVICES I - 1923 E AVION ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HWP...

	PA MANIFEST
	U131 - ACHESON COLLOIDS CO  - 1496 EAST FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - PA MANIFEST

	RI MANIFEST
	U130 - ACHESON COLLOIDS COM - 1496 E. FRANCIS ST. - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RI MANIFEST...

	CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	B12 - DIVERSIFAB, INC - 1616 E FRANCIS ST UN - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	B13 - ELEMENTS OF STYLE - 1616 E FRANCIS ST ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	B17 - BORG PRODUCE - 1621 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	B21 - PHILLIPS CAR BITE IN - 1630 E FRANCIS ST ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	B22 - LAMB ENGINEERING, IN - 1630 E FRANCIS ST UN - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	B31 - FEAL SUSPENSION, INC - 1640 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	B32 - FEAL SUSPENSION - 1640 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	B38 - CALIFORNIA COLLISION - 1642 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	B41 - TARGET DIESEL,INC. - 1644 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	G43 - WESTAIR GASES & EQUI - 1830 BAKER ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	H52 - ANTISTA DIESEL REPAI - 1652 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	L70 - TERMINIX INTERNATION - 1710 GREVILLEA CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	M72 - BROTHERS 4 X 4 - 1726 S BAKER - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	N78 - IGA PRINTING - 1839 LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	P80 - MAICO ONLY RACING -  - 1825 SOUTH LAKE PLAC - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	P81 - LAMB ENGINEERING, IN - 1811 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	Q83 - MIQ LOGISTICS LLC - 1521 FRANCIS ST STE  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	Q84 - USF LOGISTICS - 1521 E FRANCIS ST B - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	Q85 - GENERA CORPORATION - 1521 E FRANCIS ST ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	M91 - FREEFLOW PRODUCTS IN - 1735 S BAKER ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	L98 - RDS PRINTING AND GRA - 1714 EAST GREVILLEA  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	P100 - GEM LITHOGRAPHICS - 1524 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	M104 - DEMERT & DOUGHERTY I - 1705 S BAKER AV - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	M107 - WESTSIDE PACKING INC - 1700 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	P110 - TK SYSTEMS - 1810 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	P116 - WEST COAST MACHINE - 1514 E FRANCIS ST A - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	U132 - ELITE FORKLIFT SERVI - 1496 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	U133 - ELITE FORKLIFT SERVI - 1478 E FRANCIS ST UN - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	U137 - GOLD STANDARD SERVIC - 1492 E FRANCIS ST B - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	X148 - ROTARY CORP - 1722 E GREVILLEA CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	U149 - CALIFORNIA EXOTIC NO - 1455 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	U150 - AMERIWEST INDUSTRIES - 1455 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	152   - ONE STOP LABEL - 1641 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	155   - MERCURY PLASTICS - 1740 S SACRAMENTO - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	U158 - MENGDELI USA, LLC MD - 1450 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	C16 - EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC - 1601 FREMONT COURT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	E26 - AIR 2000 INC. - 1939 S AUGUSTA AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E27 - EVANS FOOD WEST, INC - 1920 AUGUSTA CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	F28 - NOBLELIFT NORTH AMER - 1625 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	C35 - FINE GOLD - 1610 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	C39 - J & W FINISHING INC - 1602 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	E42 - LOOMIS FARGO & CO - 1939 S AUGUSTA CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E48 - DISCOUNT SAW SERVICE - 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E49 - APC MACHINE INC - 1942 AUGUSTA CT STE  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E50 - V.L. AUTO BODY - 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E51 - PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDU - 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	D54 - SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO  - 1486 E FRANCIS ST ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E56 - PARTS ON TIME - 1942 AUGUSTA AVE STE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	I59 - SHALIMAR INC - 1621 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	I63 - DELICIAS DE MICHOACA - 1545 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	J64 - PARAMOUNT PANELS INC - 1531 E CEDAR - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	K68 - RYCOLINE PRODUCTS IN - 1635 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	N74 - POLYMER COMPOSITES,  - 1871 LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	O75 - ENVIRONMENTAL INKS,  - 1921 BAKER ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	J76 - INTERNATIONAL MACHIN - 1546 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	I87 - HORIZON PRINTING INK - 1558 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	O90 - PEAK TOOLWORKS NAP  - 1941 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	J92 - STEWART PRODUCTS INC - 1552 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	N93 - BOCK MACHINE COMPANY - 1911 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	R95 - JASPER ENGINE EXCHAN - 1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	N97 - DEE ENGINEERING INC - 1893 LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	R105 - CEPA OPERATIONS INC. - 1939 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	N113 - AEROSPACE COMM TOOLI - 1866 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	R118 - RAMA FOOD CEDAR - 1486 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	T119 - BAYOU AQUATIC FOODS - 1922 LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	R120 - CALDEX CRAFT PRODUCT - 1953 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	S121 - SMITH MANAGEMENT COR - 1710 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	K124 - FIRE BANN CORP - 2006 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	O125 - ENVIRONMENTAL INKS,  - 1920 S QUAKER RIDGE  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	O127 - ROYALWOOD FURNITURE  - 1920 QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	V136 - ZODIAC AEROSPACE - Q - 1940 S QUAKER RIDGE  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	T138 - G & L CABINETS - 1950 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	V140 - WORLD MOTORS INC - 1960 QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	V143 - EUBANKS ENGINEERING  - 1921 S QUAKER RIDGE  - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	W144 - SOUTH COAST EVS - 2020 S BAKER - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	V146 - GERBCO INC - 1961 QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit...
	W159 - DARRAS FREIGHT SERVI - 2050 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit

	EDR Hist Auto
	B14 - WESTERN FAN CLUTCH - 1616 FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - EDR Hist Auto



	Site Summary
	Overview Map
	Detail Map
	Map Findings
	TP - A1 - PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST, CA CERS TANKS, CA...
	TP - A2 - WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - ECHO
	TP - A3 - WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	TP - A4 - PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA UST
	TP - A5 - WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE INC DBA PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA EMI, CA HAZNET, CA...
	TP - A6 - PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA NPDES, CA CIWQS, CA CERS
	TP - A7 - GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALER - 1600 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HWTS
	TP - A8 - GREAT WESTERN STATE WHOLESALER - 1600 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG, FINDS
	TP - A9 - PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA  - CA RGA LUST
	TP - A10 - WESTERN STATES WHOLESALE - 1600 E FRANCIS AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA UST
	TP - A11 - PATIO INDUSTRIES - 1600 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA  - CA RGA LUST
	B12 - DIVERSIFAB, INC - 1616 E FRANCIS ST UNIT B - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	B13 - ELEMENTS OF STYLE - 1616 E FRANCIS ST STE D - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	B14 - WESTERN FAN CLUTCH - 1616 FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - EDR Hist Auto
	C15 - EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC - 1601 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	C16 - EXCEL INDUSTRIES INC. - 1601 FREMONT COURT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co....
	B17 - BORG PRODUCE - 1621 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	D18 - SIERRA LATHING CO INC - 1504 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST
	D19 - SIERRA LATHING CO INC - 1504 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HIST UST
	B20 - SIMMS SERVICE & REPAIR - 1630 E FRANCIS ST UNIT J - ONTARIO, CA 91730 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	B21 - PHILLIPS CAR BITE INDUSTRIES LLC - 1630 E FRANCIS ST STE K - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA San Bern....
	B22 - LAMB ENGINEERING, INC. - 1630 E FRANCIS ST UNIT P - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	B23 - CALIFORNIA DIESEL COMPLIANCE INC DBA THE DPF SHOP - 1630 E FRANCIS ST STE C - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	C24 - C H OFFICE SPECIALTIES INC - 1615 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR, FINDS, ECHO
	E25 - AIR 2000 INC - 1939 S AUGUSTA AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	E26 - AIR 2000 INC. - 1939 S AUGUSTA AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E27 - EVANS FOOD WEST, INC - 1920 AUGUSTA CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	F28 - NOBLELIFT NORTH AMERICA - 1625 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS
	F29 - KOMATSU FORKLIFT USA LLC DBA NATIONWIDE MATL HANDLING - 1625 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	B30 - FEAL SUSPENSION - 1640 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	B31 - FEAL SUSPENSION, INC. - 1640 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	B32 - FEAL SUSPENSION - 1640 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HAULERS, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS
	C33 - ADVANCE TRADING CORP - 1610 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91764 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	C34 - PRUDENT IT-TECH ASSET RECOVERY INC - 1610 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	C35 - FINE GOLD - 1610 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS
	C36 - FINE GOLD - 1610 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	B37 - CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER - 1642 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	B38 - CALIFORNIA COLLISION CENTER - 1642 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co....
	C39 - J & W FINISHING INC - 1602 FREMONT CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS
	C40 - J & W FINISHING INC. - 1602 FREMONT COURT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG
	B41 - TARGET DIESEL,INC. - 1644 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E42 - LOOMIS FARGO & CO - 1939 S AUGUSTA CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	G43 - WESTAIR GASES & EQUIP INC - 1830 BAKER ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	G44 - BOATS BY ESSEX DBA ESSEX BOATS - 1830 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	G45 - ESSEX BOATS - 1830 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	E46 - CUES INC - 1943 SOUTH AUGUSTA CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	H47 - A GROWING CONCERN LANDSCAPES - 1648 E FRANCES ST - ONTARIO, CA 91760 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	E48 - DISCOUNT SAW SERVICE - 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT J - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E49 - APC MACHINE INC - 1942 AUGUSTA CT STE C - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E50 - V.L. AUTO BODY - 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT P - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E51 - PAUL SMOOT- INDIVIDUAL PSI - 1942 AUGUSTA CT UNIT P - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA San Bern. Co. Permit,...
	H52 - ANTISTA DIESEL REPAIR INC - 1652 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E53 - KAUF KAR INC - 1943 S AUGUSTA - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO
	D54 - SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO #8133 - 1486 E FRANCIS ST STE 10 - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E55 - APC MACHINE INC - 1942 AUGUSTA AVE SUITE C - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	E56 - PARTS ON TIME - 1942 AUGUSTA AVE STE A - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	E57 - PAUL SMOOT - 1942 S AUGUSTA AVE STE P - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	I58 - CLASSIC FENCE COMPANY - 1621 - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA HIST CORTESE
	I59 - SHALIMAR INC - 1621 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS
	I60 - CLASSIC FENCE COMPANY - 1621 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA Cortese, CA CERS
	I61 - H & L CHARTER CO INC - 1621 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	I62 - SHALIMAR INC - 1621 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	I63 - DELICIAS DE MICHOACAN - 1545 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS
	J64 - PARAMOUNT PANELS INC, GRANER T - 1531 E CEDAR - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA EMI, CA San Bern. Co....
	J65 - PARAMOUNT PANELS, INC - 1531 E. CEDAR - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	K66 - METROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC. - 1635 E CEDAR STREET - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	K67 - METROCELL CONSTRUCTION, INC. - 1635 E CEDAR STREET - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	K68 - RYCOLINE PRODUCTS INC - 1635 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA EMI, CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CIWQS
	K69 - METROCELL CONSTRUCTION INC - 1635 E CEDAR STREET - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	L70 - TERMINIX INTERNATIONAL - 1710 GREVILLEA CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	M71 - CONTINENTAL COATINGS CO INC - 1726 S BAKER ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR, FINDS, ECHO, CA HAZNET, CA HWTS
	M72 - BROTHERS 4 X 4 - 1726 S BAKER - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	K73 - INLINE PLASTICS INC - 1950 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	N74 - POLYMER COMPOSITES, INC - 1871 LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS
	O75 - ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUP - 1921 BAKER ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	J76 - INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY - 1546 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HIST CORTESE, CA San Bern. Co....
	J77 - DBA INTERNATIONAL MACHINERY CO - 1546 CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	N78 - IGA PRINTING - 1839 LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	N79 - LIEDER DEVELOPMENT - 1839 S. LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG
	P80 - MAICO ONLY RACING - PFR - 1825 SOUTH LAKE PLACE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	P81 - LAMB ENGINEERING, INC. - 1811 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS
	P82 - LAMB ENGINEERING INC - 1811 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	Q83 - MIQ LOGISTICS LLC - 1521 FRANCIS ST STE B - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	Q84 - USF LOGISTICS - 1521 E FRANCIS ST B - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA WDS, CA CIWQS, CA CERS
	Q85 - GENERA CORPORATION - 1521 E FRANCIS ST STE A - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	I86 - HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP. - 1558 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	I87 - HORIZON PRINTING INK CORP - 1558 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co....
	O88 - NAP ASSET HOLDINGS LTD DBA NAP GLADU - 1941 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	O89 - 1X ONTARIO DIE OF CALIFORNIA - 1941 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HAZNET, CA CERS, CA HWTS
	O90 - PEAK TOOLWORKS NAP ASSET HOLDINGS, LTD - 1941 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	M91 - FREEFLOW PRODUCTS INC - 1735 S BAKER ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	J92 - STEWART PRODUCTS INC. - 1552 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	N93 - BOCK MACHINE COMPANY INC - 1911 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	R94 - JASPER ENGINES - 1477 E CEDAR ST # D - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	R95 - JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE, INC - 1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT D - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA...
	R96 - JASPER ENGINE EXCHANGE INC - 1477 E CEDAR ST UNIT D - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	N97 - DEE ENGINEERING INC - 1893 LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	L98 - RDS PRINTING AND GRAPHICS CENTER - 1714 EAST GREVILLEA COURT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA NPDES, CA...
	L99 - RDS PRINTING & GRAPHICS - 1714 GRIVELLA CRT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	P100 - GEM LITHOGRAPHICS - 1524 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS, CA HWTS
	S101 - RJ INDUSTRIES - 1961 S. BAKER AVE. - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	M102 - DE MERT & DOUGHERTY INC - 1705 S BAKER - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG, CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA CIWQS, CA CERS, CA HWTS
	M103 - NET SHAPES INC - 1705 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	M104 - DEMERT & DOUGHERTY INC - 1705 S BAKER AV - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA EMI, CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co....
	R105 - CEPA OPERATIONS INC. - 1939 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	M106 - DISCUS DENTAL LLC - 1700 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	M107 - WESTSIDE PACKING INC - 1700 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA CHMIRS, CA San Bern. Co. Permit,...
	M108 - PHILIPS ORAL HEALTHCARE - 1700 SOUTH BAKER AVENUE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-LQG
	P109 - EXTREME CUSTOM SHEET METAL, INC - 1518 E FRANCIS ST. SUITE B - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	P110 - TK SYSTEMS - 1810 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CIWQS, CA CERS
	P111 - MANES MACHIE & ENGR CO - 1810 LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO
	O112 - PUMPING SOLUTIONS INC - 1906 S QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	N113 - AEROSPACE COMM TOOLING INC - 1866 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA San...
	N114 - AEROSPACE COMMERCIAL TOOLING - 1866 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	P115 - DAVE FOLTS TRANSMISSIONS - 1516 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	P116 - WEST COAST MACHINE - 1514 E FRANCIS ST A - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	P117 - ACCUFAB - 1514 E FRANCIS UNIT B - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO
	R118 - RAMA FOOD CEDAR - 1486 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CHMIRS, CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CIWQS, CA CERS
	T119 - BAYOU AQUATIC FOODS - 1922 LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	R120 - CALDEX CRAFT PRODUCTS, INC - 1953 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	S121 - SMITH MANAGEMENT CORP - 1710 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST, CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	S122 - CEDAR - 1710 E. CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	K123 - ABLE INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS - 2006 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	K124 - FIRE BANN CORP - 2006 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST, CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA San Bern....
	O125 - ENVIRONMENTAL INKS, A MEMBER OF THE SIEGWERK GROUP - 1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co....
	O126 - SIEGWERK ENVIRONMENTAL INKS & COATINGS LLC - 1920 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	O127 - ROYALWOOD FURNITURE INC - 1920 QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA EMI, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS
	T128 - LARRY RAMONEDA - 1936 S. LAKE PL. - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	T129 - KINEMATICS MANUFACTURING - 1936 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO
	U130 - ACHESON COLLOIDS COMPANY - 1496 E. FRANCIS ST. - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO, RI MANIFEST
	U131 - ACHESON COLLOIDS CO ONTARIO - 1496 EAST FRANCIS STREET - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - PA MANIFEST
	U132 - ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC. - 1496 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS
	U133 - ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC. - 1478 E FRANCIS ST UNIT B - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	U134 - ELITE FORKLIFT SERVICE AND REPAIR INC - 1496 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	V135 - ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE - 1940 S QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	V136 - ZODIAC AEROSPACE - QUAKER RIDGE - 1940 S QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit,...
	U137 - GOLD STANDARD SERVICE - 1492 E FRANCIS ST B - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	T138 - G & L CABINETS - 1950 S LAKE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	S139 - NATIONAL TRANSMISSION PRODUCTS LLC - 1927 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	V140 - WORLD MOTORS INC - 1960 QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS
	V141 - WORLD MOTORS INC - 1960 S QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	V142 - EUBANKS ENGINEERING CO. - 1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	V143 - EUBANKS ENGINEERING COMPANY - 1921 S QUAKER RIDGE PLACE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HAZNET, CA NPDES, CA San Bern. Co....
	W144 - SOUTH COAST EVS - 2020 S BAKER - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS
	W145 - SOUTH COAST EMERGENCY VEHICLE SERVICE - 2020 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	V146 - GERBCO INC - 1961 QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit,...
	X147 - WARREN PACKAGING INC - 1722 E. GREVILLEA CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	X148 - ROTARY CORP - 1722 E GREVILLEA CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA HWTS
	U149 - CALIFORNIA EXOTIC NOVELTIES, LLC - 1455 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS
	U150 - AMERIWEST INDUSTRIES, INC - 1455 E FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	151   - ISMENIA CAMPOS - 1440 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	152   - ONE STOP LABEL - 1641 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS
	V153 - ALTAQUIP LLC - 1961 S QUAKER RIDGE PL - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	Y154 - PREFERRED PAPERBOX INC - 1516 CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR, FINDS, ECHO, CA EMI, CA HAZNET, CA...
	155   - MERCURY PLASTICS - 1740 S SACRAMENTO - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA-SQG, FINDS, ECHO, CA HAZNET, CA San Bern. Co....
	Y156 - SUNCOAST POST-TENSION, LTD. - 1528 E CEDAR ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	U157 - WEG ELECTRIC CORP. - 1450 E FRANCIS STREET UNIT A - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	U158 - MENGDELI USA, LLC MDL POWERSPORTS - 1450 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	W159 - DARRAS FREIGHT SERVICES INC - 2050 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	W160 - DYNAMIC SUPPLY INC - 2049 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - RCRA NonGen / NLR
	Z161 - ONTARIO FIRE STATION #3 - 1408 FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST, CA HIST CORTESE,...
	Z162 - ONTARIO CITY FIRE DEPARTMENT - 1408 EAST FRANCIS - ONTARIO, CA  - CA CPS-SLIC, CA CERS
	Z163 - HHW SATELLITE ONTARIO - 1408 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA CPS-SLIC, CA Cortese, CA San Bern. Co....
	AA164 - ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER - 1351 E FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA HIST UST, CA Cortese
	AA165 - ONTARIO SERVICE CENTER - 1351 FRANCIS ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA SWEEPS UST, CA HIST UST, CA FID UST, CA...
	166   - HALLKRAFT CONTAINER CORP. - 2044 VINEYARD AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA SWEEPS UST, CA...
	AB167 - SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY - 1401 BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA SWEEPS UST, CA FID UST, CA HIST...
	AB168 - SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY - 1401 S BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA Cortese, CA HAZNET, CA HWTS
	AB169 - SMITHFORD PRODUCTS COMPANY - 1401 SO BAKER AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA LUST, CA HIST UST, CA San Bern. Co. Permit
	170   - DANCO - 1750 MONTICELLO CT - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA ENVIROSTOR, CA EMI, CA San Bern. Co. Permit, CA CERS
	171   - GOE ENGINEERING - 1425 S VINEYARD AVE - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA ENVIROSTOR, CA VCP, CA EMI, CA NPDES, CA San Bern....
	172   - ONTARIO A.N.G. TRAINING SITE -  - ONTARIO, CA  - CA ENVIROSTOR
	AC173 - GE ENGINE SERVICES INC. - 1923 E AVION ST - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - SEMS-ARCHIVE, CORRACTS, RCRA-TSDF, RCRA NonGen /...
	AC174 - GENERAL ELECTRIC CO-AVIATION - 1923 EAST AVION - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA ENVIROSTOR, CA CERS HAZ WASTE, CA HIST UST,...
	AC175 - GENERAL ELECTRIC ENGINE MAINTENANCE CENTER - 1923 EAST AVION STREET - ONTARIO, CA 91761 - CA BOND EXP. PLAN

	Orphans Summary
	Records Searched
	GeoCheck - Physical Setting
	Soil Map
	Physical Setting Map



	Appendix C Prior Reports
	Limited Phase II Francis St Ontairo CA Report FINAL.pdf
	Figures and Appendix Limited Phase IIFINAL.pdf
	Figures
	Appendix A - GPR Summary Report
	Appendix B - Soil Boring Photos and Boring Logs
	Photogrpahs
	Boring Logs


	Appendix C - Laboratory Reports
	J109999-2 UDS Level 2 Report Final Report.pdf
	1. Cover Page
	2. Table of Contents
	3. Definitions/Glossary
	4. Case Narrative
	5. Detection Summary
	6. Client Sample Results
	7. Surrogate Summary
	8. QC Sample Results
	9. QC Association Summary
	10. Lab Chronicle
	11. Certification Summary
	12. Method Summary
	13. Sample Summary
	14. Chain of Custody
	15. Receipt Checklists

	J109999-1 UDS Level 2 Report Final Report.pdf
	1. Cover Page
	2. Table of Contents
	3. Definitions/Glossary
	4. Case Narrative
	5. Detection Summary
	6. Client Sample Results
	7. Surrogate Summary
	8. QC Sample Results
	9. QC Association Summary
	10. Lab Chronicle
	11. Certification Summary
	12. Method Summary
	13. Sample Summary
	14. Chain of Custody
	15. Receipt Checklists


	Appendix D -New UST Installed - 1.14.99.pdf
	New UST Installed - 1.14.99
	Pages from 1600 E Francis UST Closure and Misc.pdf
	New UST Installed - 1.20.99

	Pages from 1600 E Francis UST Closure and Misc-7.pdf



	2020 Tank Tightness Testing
	Draft 2022 Phase I ESA
	UST and LUST Documents
	03 - Groundwater Report - 4.21.22.PDF
	First Quarter 2022 Groundwater Monitoring Report
	Wood Cover Letter
	Certification Page
	Table of contents
	1.0 Introduction and Background
	2.0 Activities and Methods
	2.1 Depth-to-Groundwater Measurements
	2.2 Monitoring Well Sampling

	3.0 Results
	3.1 Field Observations
	3.2 Sample Analysis

	4.0 Discussion
	Tables
	Table 1
	Table 2
	Table 3
	Table 4
	Table 5

	Figures
	Figure 1
	Figure 2
	Figure 3
	Figure 4
	Figure 5
	Figure 6

	Appendix A


	Appendix D Qualifications of Environmental Professional


	App F - Limited Phase II ESA
	Figures and Appendix Limited Phase IIFINAL.pdf
	Figures
	Appendix A - GPR Summary Report
	Appendix B - Soil Boring Photos and Boring Logs
	Photogrpahs
	Boring Logs


	Appendix C - Laboratory Reports
	J109999-2 UDS Level 2 Report Final Report.pdf
	1. Cover Page
	2. Table of Contents
	3. Definitions/Glossary
	4. Case Narrative
	5. Detection Summary
	6. Client Sample Results
	7. Surrogate Summary
	8. QC Sample Results
	9. QC Association Summary
	10. Lab Chronicle
	11. Certification Summary
	12. Method Summary
	13. Sample Summary
	14. Chain of Custody
	15. Receipt Checklists

	J109999-1 UDS Level 2 Report Final Report.pdf
	1. Cover Page
	2. Table of Contents
	3. Definitions/Glossary
	4. Case Narrative
	5. Detection Summary
	6. Client Sample Results
	7. Surrogate Summary
	8. QC Sample Results
	9. QC Association Summary
	10. Lab Chronicle
	11. Certification Summary
	12. Method Summary
	13. Sample Summary
	14. Chain of Custody
	15. Receipt Checklists


	Appendix D -New UST Installed - 1.14.99.pdf
	New UST Installed - 1.14.99
	Pages from 1600 E Francis UST Closure and Misc.pdf
	New UST Installed - 1.20.99

	Pages from 1600 E Francis UST Closure and Misc-7.pdf



	App G - Preliminary WQMP
	App H - Preliminary Hydrology Report
	App I - Noise and Vibration Analysis
	App J - VMT Screening Memo

	20230807 File No. PDEV22-050 Atachment B Sheet
	20230807 File No. PDEV22-050^02 PLA COA
	20230807 File No. PDEV22-050^03 DEPT COA


	Number: 
	Name: 
	Location: 
	ID: 
	Flow: 0.346
	Bypass: [       OFFLINE]
	Pipe Size 1: 
	Pipe Size 2: N/A
	Pipe Size 3: 
	Pipe Material 1: 
	Pipe Material 2: N/A
	Pipe Material 3: 
	Inlet1: 
	Inlet2: N/A
	Outlet: 
	Rim: 
	Surface Loading: [                             DIRECT TRAFFIC]
	Notes: 
	HGL: 3.395539
	PreLoading: 2.021937
	WetLoading: 1.0
	Flow1: 0.346
	Inlet1-1: 
	Outlet1-1: 
	ConstructNote: * PRELIMINARY NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION
	Rim1-1: 


